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PREFACE.

IN the compilation of this book two objects have been constantly kept in vieIV,-accuracy and

completeness. It hns been our conscientious aim to prepare an exhaustive and authentic his~ry of

Clermont County, from its earliest existence to the present time, as well as a brief consideration o(

the ..geology of the country and the aboriginal and prehistoric races which formerly inbabited this

territory. This has been a task of 110 easy accomplishment; indeed, the work has greatly exceeded

our expectations. The results of our efforts are before' us, and while we are conscious that our

history possesses much merit and approximates to our ideal in' its arrangement and narmtive, we

realize that unavoidable imperfection may attach to it. In our in\oestigatioDS we have unsparingly

endeavored to obtain the facls of bistory, and to exclude everJ·thing of doubtful authenticity. Tbe

imperfect condition of many records, and the entire absence of others, have made· 9ur researches

dillicult, uncertain, and, in cases where suwlemental knowledge could not be obtained, of necessity

-incomplete. Com.'erning other matters of historical interest it ·wns sometimes impossible to obtain

p(lSitive informntion, and ',:e were obliged to rely upon different (and often contradict.ory) personal

nccounts, and after carefully exercising our own discrimination as to t.heir truthfulness we must submit

them in this condition to the judgment of our readers. Shonld they prove to .be erroneous the

faet would cause us painful reg'!'t. Again, we have been much perplexed by tbe changes in ·the

orthography of family nnmes. In numerous instances names have been· spelled variously in the

different records (often five or six different IVai·s), and it is no unnsual thing to find different members

of tbe same family who have varied the orthography of tbeir surname to the extent of three differeut

ways. This will account fOf many npparent contradictions in spelling, seeming carelessness, and possible

~isconception of the right use of names. Errors of this nature, may we not rensonably think, should

eptitle the writers to tbe charity of all considerate readers.

We deem it unnecessary 11ere to outline the nature of our bistory. A .reference to the table

d{ contents on the following pages suffieiently indicates not only the general plan of the book, but will

a.lso convey a nleagre idea of the rieh and entertaining store. of matter we· bave garnered for. the

public, and which we now submit for its favorable consideration.

In conclusion, we desire to express aUf appreciation of the encouragement and interest which "the

people of Clermont have manifested in our efforts to perpetuate their history. In every township

from twe~ ~to tbirty· of the leadiu!; citizens have freely coutributed their knowledge of old-time

events, an~~~~,),.ve largely made that part of the book wbat it is. Iu grateful remembrance of their

services, tl}&publisher has united witil UCJ in placing t.heir recollections in a very attractive form as

the annals ·of the pioneer days of the county. Among those whose courteons assistance has been

of especial value in the compilation of other parts of the history are the Cowen Brothera, of the

Ctemum.l Sun; :Messrs. Pegg and Fairman, of the CleJ'1Ium.l Courier; James Robinson, of the Adva~;
3



4 PREFACE.

Winthrop Frazer, of the Ncw Richmond Independent; the Hons. L. W. Bishop and Ira Ferguson,

of the State Legislatnre; the Hon. H. V. Kerr, State Librarian; the Hon. J. P. Nichols, Probate

Judge; Gen. M. J. W. Holter and Alonzo W. Dimmitt, of the Auditor's Office; M. A. Wood,

Recorder; Henry B. Mattox, Clerk of the Oonrt; the clerks of the different townships and villages;

the- secretaries of school boards and civil societies, more than n. hundred in number;· the pastors. and

official memuers of the various religious societies; Judge Pllilip B. Swing; the Hons. John Shaw,

Samuel A. West, J. E. Myers, aud William Roudebush; and particularly my colaborel'll, R. J. Bancroft,

Esq., J. L. Roudebush, Byron Williams, and John A. Penn.
J. L. ROCKEY.
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OLERMONT OOUNTY, OHIO.

BY pJ. L. ROCKEY AND R. J. BANCROF'r.

CH.APT]~R 1.

THE OHIO VALLEY-GENERAL SITUATION AND
TOPOGRAPHY OF THE COUNTRY BETWEEN THE
SCIOTO AND LITTLE MIAMI RIVERS-GEOGRA­
PHY OF THE PRESENT COUNTY.

" Where the grand Ohio winds its lono way
Through jjelJ~ find flowers and herb:lge richly gay."

TIm Indians who lived in the beautiful Ohio Valley
applied ntrious titles to the st.ream fi'om which it takes its
name. 1'hc Slwwllecs called the Ohio River K/s.7.~e1)i-la·

sepe
1

that is, "Eagle" River. The lVyalldots were in the
val1cy gcneratiolls before the S!tawnees, and, consequently,
their name of the river is tllC prilllitive one, alld should be
gi"cn the preference above al1 others. "Ohio" may be
cal1ed an improvement on their expression, O-lw-zlllt, and
was, no douLt, adopted by the early French voyageurs in
their boat-songs, and is substantially the same word as used
by the lIyalldols, the meaning applied by the French­
"filiI' and beautiful," "La belle 1'iviere"-being precisely
the same as that meant by the Indians: " great, grand, and
filiI' to look upon." The imagination sug'gests with no diffi­
culty the picture of what the Ohio Valley must have been
fourscore years ago, with the Little Miami HiveI' rolling
duwll dark anti silent as to-day j the play of light and cloud­
shadow over the landscape j the transparent haze that hung
over the amethystine hills in the peaceful valleys of the
Scioto. Visions of it throng backward and make up the
picture as it was when

" Stout-hearted Louis Wetzel
Rode down the river-shore,

The wilderness behind him,
The wilderness before,

PltUsing at tiIlle~ to gather
The wild-fruit o\'erhClid

(For in this rarest of June days
The serdee-berrics were red)."

And w'o see, as on canvas, how he rode

"Into thc hCltl't of the greenwood,
Into the heart of the JUlle."

From Pittsburgh (the colonial Fort Duquesne) to its
mouth the Ohio Hiver is nine hundred and forty-nine

2

miles ·in length, and on Clermont is eighteen hundred feet,
or about one-third of a mile, wide, and its mean annual
range from low to high water is some fifty feet, the extreme
range being some fifteen more. Its greatest depressions
are generally in August, September, and October, and its
greatest rise in December, March, May, and June. The
upward navigation is usually suspended by floating ice sev­
eral weeks in the winter, and often in the summer rendered
difficult by low water. Its current at its mean height is
about three miles an hour j when rising and higher, it is
more j and when very low, it does not equal two miles. It
is uuiversally conceded that for beauty of scenery, salubrity
of climate, and adaptation to the purposes of commerce and
manufacture this Valley of the Ohio stands unrivaled in
America.

\Vinding its way from the junction of the Allegheny
and Monongahela through an extensive agricultural region,
the river's broad waters recei"e and distribute merchandise
and the products of the soil over an area of thousands of
miles, while from its contiguous shores are supplied fuel
and mining resources that have so largely built up our
country and enabled it to successfully compete ill its manu­
factured articles with the continental lands. Nearly a cen­
tury ago, on its banks and rich bottoms, extending back: fOl'
miles, the unaccustomed luxuriance of the vegetation and
the majestic size of the forest-trees, covered with thickest
foliage, astonished and delighted the eye of the Eastern
emigrant floating down its waters in search of a new home
in the far 'Nest. ]~ven in winter; when many settlements
were made, the scene, though divested of its summer glories,
was far from being unattractive or uninteresting. Game
of every description abounded in the woods, the noble river
teemed with fish, and the valley seemed a paradise to the
settler fresh from the barren Eastern settlements. 'Villiam
Dana Emerson-a poet of the Ohio Valley, bol'll in Mari­
etta in ISI3-paid rich poetic tribute to the changeful
beauty of the scenes of old and later times in this valley,
and one of his early rhythmic efforts was addressed to the
Ohio Hiver, and is as pretty an accompaniment to the
movement of the river as is 'Vordsworth's song to Yarrow.
One of the sweetest of his stanzas runs:

9



10 HISTORY OF CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO.

" How Spring bas decl,ed the forest!
That rurc~t Imeel~ to thee;

Au(l the long canoe and the croaking skiff
Arc steUlming thy current fr~e;

Thy placid margo is fringed with green,
Save where tho villas intervenc."

The territory between the Little Miami aIHlScioto Hivers,
embracing in whole or in part twenty-three counties, was the
"Virginia Military Heservation," and was the patriotic
tribute as partial reward to the sons of the old common­
wealth of Virginia for their services in the Hcvolutionary
war, rendered in the Virginia line on the Continental estab­
li~hment. 1'he word" Miami" in the Ottawa language is
said to signify" mother," and was originally the designation
of the tribe who anciently bore the name of Te-wig1lt-e-wee,
and which tribe were the original inhabitants of the Miami
Valley, and affirmed they were created in it. To the smaller
of the two Miami Hivers was very early given the name of
" Little Miami,"-the best known and richest in historical
incidents of any river in Ohio. The name "Scioto" was
originallyapplicd by the lVyandots to the river. But they,
however, called it Sci-on-to, meauing, no doubt, "on to the
Ohio;" and any other signification has never been found by
antiquarians. The surflwe of the country between the Little
Miami and Scioto, particularly in the ceutral and southern
townships, is highly diversified. The several tributaries of
the'Ohio have cut deep valleys, and descend them with a com­
paratively rapid fhll. The most considerable topographical
features of Adams and Brown Counties are the valleys of
Brush Creek and its outlying tributaries in the former
county, and those of White Oak, Straight, and Eagle
Creeks in the latter; aud particularly in Adams is the
ground hilly and broken, and in its eastern part mountainous
and not fertile. Scioto, Pike, Ross, and Highland Counties
are partly broken in surfiwe, having great hills, and some­
times mountains; while the reat of the" Virginia Heser­
vation," excluding Clermont, is comparati\'ely even, and less
varied in characteristics, with but few streams of water, and
being of almost similar features. In Clermont County the
surface is level or undulating, excepting the hills on the
Ohio River, 'Or on many inland streams or creeks; and,
while it is thus varied in character, ranging from the smooth
aud scarce undulating plain to hills of no feeble pretensions,
there is not a county in the State that has a smaller amount
of waste··lands within its borders. Though its hills might
by some be objected to, they not only add.to the richness of
the valleys that lie between them, but appear unquestion­
ably set apart by Nature to produce the most delicious
fruits; so that the husbandman can draw with confidence
on every acre to contribute its full share to his comfort and
support. It is the first fi'uit-and-berry county in Ol,lio in
the quantity and quality of its peaches, pears, quinces,
strawberries, and raspberries, and in tobacco is unsurpassed
on the coptinent for fiue leaf. Its peculiar situation and
immediate proximity to Cincinnati have made it, as it were,
a garden-spot for that great city, to the markets of which
it daily contributes such vast amounts of agricultural, horti­
cultural, dairy, and poultry products.

At an early day a portion of Clermont was regarded as
a land of interminable swamps, and was settled slowly; its
bottom-lands were shunned becaus~ of fever and ague,

which everywhere seemed to visit the settler· upon such
localities. These first impressions were erroneous, for,
wllile in a state of nature much of tlle land was swampy,
covered with water for miles in the spring season, without
any appearnnce of natural drains to bear off the water, or
of a~y easy method to effect the object by artificial means,
Jet, in truth, it was found to be easily reclaimed so as
to make fiue farming-sites by removing the fallen timber
and rubbish which encumbered the ground, stopping up all
the natural drains, and holding the water in ponds upon
the surface, until, by this slow process of soaking into the
earth, or the slower one of evaporation (since it was so
slwded with timber that the sun could hardly penetrate it),
the water finally di::;appeared. 'When farms began to be
opened and the fallen timber removed, and a passage for
the wuter made, it was seen that no permanent obstacle
by reason of swamps was to be regarded in making fine
tillublc farms. In the first quarter of the century of the
country's history, the" wet land," of which there was such .
a large proportion in the middle and northern part, was
considered almost worthless. But a. great change took
place in public opinion when it was ascertained t,hat, by
judicious druinage and cultivation, it improved rapidly in
fertility. At that time these bnds were covered with
water more than half the summer, and were called slashes,
but now the water leaves the surface in the woods early in
the spring. In the early settlement the evenings were cool
as soon as the sun went down, and it was a score of years
before warm nights came; and this coolness of the evenings
was a matter of gene'ral remark among the emigrants from
the old States. It is believed to have been owing to the
immense forests that covered the country and shut out the
rays and heat of' the sun from the surface of the ground,
for after sunset there was no warlll earth to impart heat to
the atmosphere.

No county in Ohio surpasses Clermont in the number and
characteristics of its fine streams and creeks, of which the
cast fork of the Little Miami is the longest and most noted.
Having its source near the Highland County boundary-line,
it flows through Perry township, in Brown County, and
enters Clermont on its eastern boundary-line, in Jackson
township, near Marathon, bears 'off south, passing through
Williamsburgh township, borders upon Tate, winds thr~)Ugh

the centre of Batavia, bounds upon Union, and, after run­
ning iuto Miami t6wnship, finally empties itself into the
Little Miami, near Milford. :From the mouth to the point
it first enters the county is probably twenty miles on a
straight line, but, following the course of the stream, is not
less than fifty. On one side or the other in its meandering
through the county spreads out a fine, rich bottom,and
sometimes on each, which contain the most fertile soils in
the State and make the best improved fimns in the West,
particularly adapted to the production of corn, and now
beginning to be planted with tobacco, of which is raised the
brightest leaf. Many of the smaller streams were valuable
at an early day for milling purposes, but as the country was
developed, the land cleared, the forests removed, and the
natural outlets for the water opened up, they poured out
their waters so rapidly that they ceased to pe reliable for
milling, and have most generally long since been abandoned.
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Of the creeks emptying into the Ohio in the county, Bull­
skin is the best known, from the fact that at its mouth
most of the early emigrants descending the Ohio landed
and therc tarricd a while-sometimcs a year or two-till
they bought them homes or located their lands.. It rises in
Brown County, in Clark township, and flows south to the
central part of Lewis, thence southwest into Clermont,
through Franklin township into. the Ohio at Rural, two
miles below the Brown county-line. A small tributary to
it is Paintcr's Crcek, rising in Tatc township. Bear Crcck,
having its source near Felicity, flows southwest, and emptics
into the Ohio in 'Washington township, about a mile above
Ncville; and Maple, rising near the central boundary-line
of Franklin and Washington townships, runs through the
lattcr southwesterly and seeks the Ohio just below Neville.
Big Indian Creek, rising in Tate, flows south into Franklin,
thence ·south and west into '\Vashington, and through it
westerl] into Monroe, thence southwest into the Ohio at
Point Pleasant. Boat H.un, having its source in the centre
of Monroe, runs southwest, emptying into the Ohio at Cler­
montville. Twelve-)lile Creek, rising in the northcrn part
of Monroe, flows southwest and' through Ohio township,
striking the Ohio just below New Richmond. 1'en-Mile
Creek, rising in the extreme eastern p'art of Pierce, flows
westwardly, and for over a mile parallel with the Ohio, and
then empties into Nine-Mile Creek (which has three forks),
which, having its source in Union township, flows rather
southwest, emptying into the Ohio at the boundary-line
point bctween Clermont and Hamilton Counties; in very
early times it was also called John's or :Muddy Creek.
Obannon Creek 1'ises in Wayne township and flows south­
westerly into Goshen, thence northwesterly into Miami
township and into 'Warren County, thence circles around
into Clermont again, and in Miami township discharges
itself into the Little Miami at Loveland. Stonelick Creek,
having its head in Clinton County, comes into Clermont
near '\Voodville, and flows southwest through Wayne and
Stonelick townships, and finds its mouth in the east fork,
just below East Liberty. Grassy Run, in Jackson town­
ship, riscs near Logtown, and joins the east fork below
Marathon and Plcasant Run; running through the centre
of same township, empties into east fork, in the Hutchinson
settlements. Shaler's Run has its headwaters ncar Wit.h­
amsville, and flows northeasterly through Union township
into the east fork a mile or more below East Libcrty.
Backbone Hun, in Batavia township, empties into the east
fork at Infirmary Farm; and Lucy's Hun, risin~ near
Amelia, finds the east fork just south of Batavia; while
Slab Camp Run, rising near Afton, empties into the cast
fork at Horseshoe Bend.. Ubrey's Run, with headwaters
in 1\1onroe township, flows north past "Bantam Fair­
Grounds" into Batavia township to the east fork. Poplar
Creek, rising in the eastern part of Tate, flows north­
westerly into Clover Creek, which, rising in Pike township,
in Brown County, flows southwest, and· thence northwest
into Clermont County, thence same course, and emptyiug
into the east fork about a mile southwest of Concord. I ...ittle
Indian rises in the southwestern part of Tate and flows
southwesterly into Big Indian7 in the northern part of
\Vashiugton.

The county contains four hundred f..nd thirty-eight square
miles, and is bounded on the north by the counties of War­
ren and Clinton, on the east by that of Brown, on the west
by that of Hamilton and the I ... ittle l\1iamLRiver, and on
the south by the Ohio Ri,·cr. 'fhcre are but two inland
townships, or ones not bordering on other counties,-viz.,
Batavia and Stonelick. Five townships, Wayne, Jackson,
'\Villiamsburgh, Tate, and Franklin, border on Brown
County; one, '\Vayne, on Clinton; three, Wayne, Goshen,
and Miami, on Warren; three, l\fiami, Union, and Pierce7

on Hamilton; and five, Pierce, Ohio, 1\1onroe, Washing­
ton, and Franklin, on the Ohio River. .On the east the
county is twenty-eight miles long; on the north, from
Loveland to the Brown county-line, the distance is thirteen
miles; on the south, from the Brown county-linc to Hamil­
ton county-line, by the river-road, is twenty-five and seven­
tenths miles; and from the Ohio River to Loveland, by" an
air-line on the west, is fifteen miles. From Point Pleasant
to the Brown county-line is nine miles; from New Rich­
mond to same, eleven and one-half miles; from the Hamilton
county-line, on the Ohio turnpike, to same, fourteen miles;
from Moscow to same, eight and three-fourths miles; and
from the mouth of the east fork, on the Hamilton county­
line, to same, fourteen miles. From New Richmond to
Loveland is eighteen and one-fourth miles; from Point
Pleasant to the Warren county-line is twenty-one miles;
from Moscow to same7 twenty-four miles; from Neville to
same, twenty.six and one-fourth miles; ,and from Chilo to
same, twenty-seven miles. From the court-house to the.
Ohio River at Palestine is seven and one-half miles; to it
at New Richmond, nine miles; to it at Point Pleasant, ten
and one-half miles; to it at Moscow, thirteen miles; to it
at Neville, fifteen and one-half miles; and to it at Chilo,
sixteen and one-half. From the court-house to the Hamil­
ton count.y-line is six and one-half miles; tq that of Brown
County, seven and three-quarter miles; to that of\Varren
County, eleven miles; and to that of Clinton County, thir­
teen and one-fourth miles.

The following table shows the fourteen townships of
Clermont, with their number of acres of land:
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Tate ................... 28,961 $733,660 ]0,538 10,300 8,123
Batavia.•..•••.•..•... 26,259 85a,472 ]U,440 8,376 7,44:l
Franklin............. 24,552 662,!i5S 17,942 1,850 4,760
l\li;\mi ................ 2a,U74 1,054,/l57 11,632 4,186 7,25li
Washington ......... 22,207 607,]71 11,286 6,280 4,6H
Goshen................ 20,:~30 6:~9,310 11,787 3,756 4,787
'Vayne ............... 20,146 472,62,') 9,11 S. 4,UOO 7,U28
:Monroc ............... 19,UOU 6U3,809 10,602 5,418 3,860
Stonelick ............ ] U~650 512,717 9,244 4,U87 5,419
Williamsburgb...•.• 18,6U6 501,119 U,365 3,331 3,000
Union ................. 18,354 691,835 9,891 3,792 4,671
JlIc\,son ............... 18,342 375,2~0 8,586 3,106 6,650
Pierce ................. 14,169 480,5:37 9,220 2,140 2,809
Ohio .................. 8,336 2U8,817 5,115 1,16G 2,U56

---- ------- --- ----
Totals................. 282,976 $8,487,977 147,786 62,0<38 72,502

Tate is the largest township ill territory, and Ohio the
smallest. Miami has the largest aggregate valuation, and
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the largest also per acre. Franklin has the largest number
of acres of plow-land, and Tate has the largest of meadow­
and pasture-land, as well as of woodland or uncultivated
land.

C HAP T E R 11.*

THE GEOLOGY AND MINERALOGY OF CLER­
MONT COUNTY.

TOPOGRAPHICALLY considered, there is nothing striking
in Clermont. Its surface is not so abrupt as that of Adams
County, on the east, nor lIas it the wave-like contour of
Warren County, on the north. Clermont lIas no high hills
or mountains elevated above the surrounding country, nor
deep and broad valleys caused by erosion. In a word, its
general surface forms a plateau or table-land with a mean
elevation of four hundred feet above low-water mark in
the Ohio at Cincinnati. Its highest elevation is five hun­
dred and forty-seven feet, in Goshen, near the Warren
county-line j the lowest is at Palestine, in Pierce, which is
only five feet above the general level of the river. This
table-land is bisected from east to west by the cast fork of
the Little Miami, whose course is so tortuous that its length
through the county is five times the distance of an air-line
between the point of entrance and its mouth, at the Little
Miami. With its tributaries it drains two-thirds of the
surface of the county. The channel of the east fork is

'about two hundred feet below the table-land through which
it flows. Clover Creek, on the south, has not as deep a
channel as some of its other tributaries. Its source is in
Tate township, where its channel has been modified by the
drift.

Stonelick, on the north, has its source in Clinton County,
and is a very rapid stream, and has cut a deep and narrow
channel through the blue limestone. Its channel has also
been modified by the drift, together with the slopes of its
hills. Rocky Uun, Brushy Fork, and other of Stonelick's
tributaries have made tlIe surface of Stonelick township
very uneven and angular in its outline. The Obannon, on
the northwest, drains quite an area in Goshen and Miami
townships. It is not so rapid a stream as Stonelick j and
has not cut so deep a channel.

The Ohio, on the south, through its principal tributaries,
-Bullskin, Indian, Bear, and Boat RUll, and Tw.elve-,
Ten-, and Nine-Mile Creeks,-drains one-third of the sur­
face of the county. These streams, as well as a large
majority of them in the county, flow in a southwesterly
direction. There are no stratified rocks to be seen in the
channels of the east fork, Stonelick, Obannon, Clover,
Indian, Bullskin, Twelve-Mile, and, in fact, all the streams
that empty into the Ohio, for some distance above their
mouths, showing that their channels at some time were
much lower than at present. The lowest point in which
the bed-rock in the channel of the east fork can be seen is
near Perin's Mills, which is about six miles above its
mouth. There are no great examples of the work of

iii This chnpter llnd tbo two that follow hll\"e been prepared by J.
L. Roudebush.

erosion in Clermont County besides the valley of the east
fork as compared with other counties in Southern Ohio.
Near Milford there is quite an area of' gravel terraces, and
several others exist on t.he east fork between its mouth and
Perin's Mills on a smaller scale. At Talley's Ford, three
miles above Batavia, there is a good example of an ancient
drift-filled channel of the east fork. This is only one out
of the numerous drift.fill~d chaimels of the various streams
found in the county. The east fork at one time ran north
of Batavia, striking its present channel at or near the
bridO'e across Backbone Run. Stonelick has had its chan­
nel ~haI)O'ed in several places, and so with almost every

0

1
,

stream of any size in the county. After carefu examma-
tion I have found over fifty drift-filled channels in Cler­
mon't County. Some of the smaller streams, especially
those flowing east and west, have had their channels en­
tirely filled up, and they are more numerous than the
casual observer would think. Good examples are seen on
Possum Hollow, in Stonelick township, where its chan.nel .
cuts throu<rh an ancient drift-filled at right angles, whICho
was much lower than the present one, and on Brushy
Fork, a short distance south of the residence of Michael
Yeager. In both the dr~ft is over one hundred and fifty
feet deep. There is one peculiarity in the topography of
that part of the county bordering on t.he Ohio Riv~r, and
it is this,-that the remains. of the anCIent plateau-lulls are
hin-her at their brows than at a distance of one or two
miles back. There is a good example of this to be seen
on the road lcading from New Richmond to Nicholsville,
where the table-land is. fifty feet lower at the distance of
two miles from the former place than at its brow. There
is. ample proof that at some time in the geological history
of the county a great many more of its streams flQwed
parallel with the Ohio River. In the northeaste~n part of
the county are extensive areas of swamp-land, which (once
considered worthless, but now the most productive in the
county, taken as a whole) are but the spurs of larger ones
in Brown, Highland, and Clinton Counties.

As a whole, the topography of Clermont County has
n-iYen its surfilCe a picturesque appearance. In the Palreo­
:oic Era at /lne time it was but !l vast inclined plane, with
as smooth a surface as a table, but by the convulsions of na­
ture and erosion it 11as been transformed into hill, dale,
plain, and valley, which have afforded homes for an ~ndus­

trious and energetic people. From the table 0rf. altItudes
given below the reader will have a better idea 0 Its topog­

raphy:
Feet.

Lovelnnd above low-water mark in the Ohio Rh-er at Cincinnati 130
B h Ilm ., " " " " " 120
~anc.., " " " " " " 115

MlllllllVlllo, " " " " " " 95
Milford, " " " " " " 510
Tobnsco, " " " " " t' 509
'Vitbamsville,,, " " " " " 478

.Bantam, " " " " " " 503
Bethol, """"" t' 408

Amelia, """"" 473
Olivo Brnnch,,, " " " " " 115
Perin'.s Mills, ,,""" 'I 137

BatavIll, " " " " " " 1-9
'Villinmsburgh," " " " " 'I 4:9
Goshen," """ 492
Euenton, " "
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Fo~t.

Wooddlle, above low-wnter mark in the Ohio River nt Cincinnati 511
Newtonville, " 465

Brownsville, " 472
Marathon, " " 397

l\Ionterc.y, " " 3li4

Boston, " " 349
Stone)iek, " " " 132
Palestine " " " " " 5
New Richmond, " " 10
Moscow, " " " 15
Utopia, " " 19

BEDDED ROCKS.

In Clermont County we have the oldest exposed bedded
rocks in the State, with no intervening geological formations
between the Cincinnati group and the drift, which in this
county assumes a different character from that found in any
other in the State. Of' the three general classes of rocks
that form the earth's crust,-viz., igneous, metamorp1lic,
and sedimentary,-they belong to the last. In order that
the reader may have a better idea of the bedded rocks of
Clermont County, they will be treated under the following
heads: 1. Geological Position and Equivalents j 2. Division
of the Series j 3. Lithographical Characters and Composi­
tion; 4. Palmontology and General History.

I.-GEOLOGICAL POSITION AND EQUIVALENTS.

In the geological scale they belong to the Palmozoic Era
(or" life-giving"), Silurian Age, and Lower Silurian Period j

the youngest strata of which the bedded rocks of Clermont
County belong has been christened by Meek and ·Worthen
as the Cincinnati group, and as an equivalent for the Hud­
son River group of New Y(;rk, though at the present time
there is a difference of opinion ~s to its equivalents. It is
bounded below by the Trenton limestone and above by the
Upper Silurian formations.

2.-DIVISION OF l'HE SERIES.

As has been previously stated, the oldest exposed rocks
in Ohio are found in Clermont County, and not at Cincin­
nati (as one would suppose from the name), from the fact
that the Cincinnati anticlinal or axis lies to the eastward
of Cincinnati, and that the dip of the strata at that place is
to the northward j the discussion of which will be left for
another more appropriate place.

At Point Pleasant the lowest rocks in the State are found,
and there present the best exposures and section, and hence
are called the Point Pleasant beds. Their vertical range,
from observation, is in the neighborhood of fifty feet, and
horizontal from very low-water mark in the Ohio River at
the southwest corner of the county to Chilo, and more
properly from New Richmond to the latter place.

In an ascending order, the Cincinnati beds proper come
next. They begin at the highest stratum of the Point
Pleasant beds and extend to the lowest of the Lebanon
beds, and constitute ninety-five per cent. of the bedded
rocks of Clermont County. On account of a difference in
their fossil contents, as well as their lithographical charac­
teristics, they are for convenience divided into three subdi­
visions,-viz., the river quarry-beds, the middle or Eden
shales, the hill quarry-beds. The vertical range of the
fhst division is fifty feet, with a horizontal one of limited

extent in the southern part of the county, where the alti­
tude is not above one hundred feet. The second has a ver­
tical range of two hundred and fifty feet, and a horizontal
one where the altitude is not over four hundred and fifty
feet.

The third general division is called the Lebanon beds.
It has a vertical range of fifty or sixty feet, and a horizon­
tal one of about one-third of Wayne township and a small
part of Goshen.

3.-LITHOGRAPHICAL CHARACTER AND COM­
POSITION OF THE CINCINNATI GROUP.

" ·This whole series is composed of alternating beds of
limestone and shale, most commonly called Uue cluy."
The limestone may in general terms be described as ·.an
even-bedded, firm, durable, semi-crystalline limestone, par­
tially, and sometimes almost entirely, made up of the fossil
remains of the invertebrates-viz., articulates, mollusks,
radiates, and protozoans-that once had an existence in the
old Silurian sea of which these rocks formed the bottom.
In color it varies from a light blue to a dark or gray shade,
but the prevailing color may be said to be a grayish blue.
The limestone in the Point Pleasant beds and the lower
strata of the river quarry-beds varies more than in any
of the other general subdivisions. They are lighter in
color j while in one place they are slaty in s~ructure, in an­
other they assume lenticular forms of concretionary origin,
-so much so as to entirely destroy their value as build­
ing-rock. The layers are also exceptionally heavy, attain­
ing a thic~.ness of sixteen to twenty inches, and are often
so free from fossils as to afford no indication of the
kinds of life from which they were derived. The courses
in the river quarry-beds vary in thickness from one to
twelve inches, and form a very compact limestone, which ·in
some places is almost entirely made up of crinoidal stems.
The thinner layers, when struck by a hammer, ring like
pot-metal. They are abundant in Twelve-Mile Creek,
in Ohio township. The courses in the middle or Eden
shales are not so thick and more fossiliferous, and constitute
what quarrymen call" shelly stone." The Lebanon beds ar~

very fossiliferous, and are of but little value in an economic
sense. The Lebanon beds and Eden shales, as to composi­
tion, are nearly uniform, about ninety per cent.· of them
being carbonate of lime. The river quarry- and Point
Pleasant beds are more silicious, some courses giving as
high as twenty-three and one-half per cent. of silicious
matter.

The shales, clays, or marlites which, with the limestones,
make up the Cincinnati group and constitute a large part of
the system,-certainly four-fifths of it in the two lower divis­
ions, and probably not less than three-fifths of the whole
extent. The proportions of limestone and shale do. not
appeal' altogether constant, it is to be observed, at the same
horizon, a larger amount of stone being found at one point
than at others. In color they are of a lighter blue than
the limestone, and weather into a drab, though it is shown
by analysis that they are different as to composition, drab
shale having a larger percentage of carbonate of lime.
Fully sixty-five per cent. of their mass, taken as a whole,
is silicious matter. On exposure to the elements they
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slake almost like lime, and furnish the materials for a fer­
tile soil. In some places-not confined to any division­
they are heavily charged with fossils, which is the case in
the trilobite and crenoid beds on Stonelick Creek and
Rocky Uun, in "~a)'ne and Stonelick townships. Where
such is the case, the fossils, as a general thing, are ill a
good state of preservation. The proportion of shale to
limestone ill the Point Pleasant beds is 1.5 to 1 ; river­
quarry, 4 to 1; Eden shales, 10 to 1 ; Lebanon beds, 2 to
1. Prof. Orton has called attention (though he lets it pass
as one of the unsolved geological problems) to a peculiar
feature of the blue limestone beds,-viz., a waved structure
of the solid limestone somewhat analogous in form to the
wave-lines aud ripple-marks of the higher series of the
State.

This peculiar structure was noticed by him in the upper
beds of the formation, but, fi'om personal observation, it
is found throughout the whole series. The rocks exhibit­
ing this structure are the most compact beds of fossilifei'ous
limestone. The bottom of the waved layer is generally
even, and beneath it is always found an even bed of shale.
Its upper surface is diversified with ridge sand furrows.
The distance between the ridges varies fi'om one to four
feet. The greatest thickness of the ridge is from four to
eight inches, while the stone at the bottom of the furrow is
reduced to one or two inches, and sometimes it entirely dis­
appears. The waved layers are overlain by shale in every
instance. They are often continuous for a considerable
extent, and in such cases the axes of the ridges and furrows
llave a uniform direction. This direction varies in different
localities. Not being the proper place for a discussion as
to the cause, I will only give the localities where they may
be seen. The most extensive bed that has come under the
writer's observation is near the residence of Frank \Vissel,
in Stonelick township, where it forms the bed-rock of Stone­
lick Cre·;k. In this bed the thickness of the layer is seven
inches and the height of the ridges four, with the distance
of two feet and a half between them. On a branch of
Coon Hollow, in Stonelick township, neur the residence of
Mrs. Josiah Willeg, is :mother layer, having a vertical
range of fifty feet above the one already given. In thick­
lless and height of ridges they are almost identical, but in
direction there is fifteen degrees' difference. . On the farm
of Joseph Smith, in Jackson township, i~ a layer that forms
a part of the south bank of the east fork at an elevation
of ten feet ubove low-water mark. This layer was noticed
for over two miles. In thickness it ranged from six to
nine inches, but the direction, height, and distance apart
of the grooves was constant. In this layer the axis of the
ridges and furrows was tcn degrees south of east.•

At least twenty other points where layers of this kind are
seen have been observed by the writer, though four or five
of them belonged to the same horizon undoubtedly. In
regard to what series they are the most abundant, the Eden °

shales must claim the preference. In an economic sense,
they are unfit for anything save burning into lime, though
they would make first-class building-stone if they had an
even surthce.

The economical products of tlie bedded 1'oclcs of Cler­
mont County are numerous, but -only a few have been util-

ized. Building-stone and lime are the only ones that .\11'0

of any importance, though the manufilCture of cement from
the concretionu?'y {ayer in the Poiltt Pleasant beds n~ust,

ill the course of time, become profilable. The above bed also
furnishes the most desirable building-stone. Its limostones
are compact, hard, and of a beautiful color, presenting, in
conj unction with the Dayton stone, an attractive appear­
ance.

4.-PAL...oEONTOLOGY AND GENERAL HISTORY.

That the discussion of this division of the subject may
be understood without using geological technicalities, the
topics discussed will be: 1. 1'he Origin of the Bedded
Hocks; 2. Theil' Palreontology or Vital History; 3. Their
Physical History.

I.-TIlE BEDDED ROCKS OF CLERl\WNT COUNTY,

like all of the great limestone strata that enter into the
structure of the earth, were fermed beneath the sea, as haS
already been hinted. Their beds, both of limestone and shale,
are wholly of marine origin. ~'his is determined by the
remains of plants and animals which the formation contains,
the plants being entirely confined to seaweeds and the ani­
mals belonging to the class heretofore mentioned, which are
only found in the sea.

There are occasional layers that have a solid and struc­
turcless character (especially those forming the Point Pleas­
ant beds), but in the great majority of them we can mark
the remains of the various living forms of which theyaOre
composed. Some of the layers are only ornamented with
the impressions or casts of bivalve shells. Others are al­
most, if not entirely, composed of shells and corals, though
in the heavy strata the latter are wanting.

The growth of the limestone layers seems to have been
interrupted at frequent intervals (notably in the Lebanon
beds, and for a greater length of time in the EdtJn shales)
by the deposition of shale. The clay and sand of the shales,
which constitute more than half of their mass, was derived
from the waste of the land that bounded the Silurian sea,
and were transported to their present location by oceanic
currents. The calcareous or lime portion had the 'same
origin as the limestones. On the East Fork and Shaylor's
Run, near East Liberty, Wissel's Hun, near its mouth, are
extensive layers of shale that are non-fossiliferous, showing
that they were formed when the oceanic CUl'l'ents were
strong. The layers are more abundant. in the middle part
of the Eden shalos, and not in the upper, as has been
claimed.

That the growth of the blue limestone beds, as repre­
sented in Clermont County, was slow there is an abundance
of proof. As all their calcareous (or lime) portions were
derived from matter that must have been fashioned
through the agency of the animal kingdom, it must have
been slow. As has been previously stated, the sUl'faces of
the limestone layers are generally covered with vulves of
sea shells, which arc well represented in the flagging-stone
found in Stonelick Creek, near the residence of Ira Wil.
liams, in Stonelick township, and also in a branch ofBrushy
Fork, on the farm of David Meek. Again, in some layers
the entire mass seems to be made up of shells that have
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in one scnse never solidified,-that is, they can be picked
out and gathered wit,h as little difficulty as the shells on
the seashore to-day. Good examples of these layers are
found at ,Voodville, 'Vayne township, on the Jackson
pikc, near Owensville, in Stonelick township,' and on the
farm of Charles 'Williams, in the same township. In
Cle:'mont County there are scveral sections ranging from
tcn to fifty feet in thickness, and contiguous to scctions of
non-fossiliferous layers of about the same thickness, show­
ing that, a great many local agents were at work in the
"old Silurian sea." Some of the shells found represent
tender youth, others vigorous manhood, while not a few
extreme old age. In some layers one genus had undis­
puted sway, while in otho.rs some two or three found an
abiding-place.

The valves of the St1'oplwmena alte1'nata form a greater
proportion of the fossil remains of the blue limestone rocks
of CI.ermont County than any other one species.

The shales, or at least some of their beds, are rich in
fossils, as has already been mentioned. Many of the most
delicate forms of the entire series are found only in these
deposits. Certain crinoids (as the Glyplttocrinlls decadac­
tyills) and trilobites (Culymene Lenuuaria), as noted in
some horizons, are rarely seen in other beds. They occur
in the shales in mature and well-grown forms, not at a
single horizon, but in repeated beds. These facts go to
prove that in those beds of shale the growth was as slow
as, if not slower than, in the limestone. And the reason
that they have not been found abundantly in all the lime­
stone and shale layers is that there was a too rapid depo­
sition of materials which destroyed such kinds of life.
On a branch of Coon Hollow the brachiopod shell Zygospia
11lodcsta (Hall) contributes to the blue limestone series
many successive layers several inches in thickness. There
are numerous examples in Clermont County where the
solid rock is built up by shells so minute that a microscope
must be called to the aid of the observer.

'On the farm of B. F. Ciark, in 'Vayne township, there
is a layer of shale, a natural section of which is shown by
Stonelick Creek, fully ninety-five per cent. of which is
made up of the heads, arms, bodies, etc., of the crinoid
Glyptocl"inlls decadacfylus. A section is also exposed on
the Obannon, near Goshen, where about the same per cent.
of the layer is made up of like remains. On !tocky Run,
near the residence of Peter Anderson, Esq., is a layer' of
shale almost entirely made up of perfect trilobites of the
spedes Clllymene Lenona1·ia. There are other examples,

.but these will suffice in this connection.

2.-PAL.iEONTOLOGY OR VITAL HISTORY.

The fossils of the bedded rocks of Clermont County, to
which reference has been frequently made in the preceding
pages, are very numerous and cannot fail to attract the
attention of the most thoughtless observer when viewed
aside from their value to the scientist, especially when it is
remembered that in them we have the well-preserved re­
mains of the first animal life that appeared on the globe,
though countless ages !lave intervened between their exist­
ence and ours. The Cincinnati group, which is all repre­
sented by the bedded rock of Clermont County, is to the'

geologist classical ground, as there is no other locality in
the world where there are so many well-preserved forms of
the inhabitants of that wonderful life-giving or producing
sea, und where they can behold represcntatives of the lower
divisions of the animal kingdom to a certainty. To give a
description of all the fossils of the animal and vegetable
kingdoms, as found represented in the' bedded rock of Cler­
mont County, would fill a volume of itself; so that only the
division, horizon, and locality of the various fossils will be
given. 'The remains of plants al'e less abundant and inter­
esting than the animal fossils already noted. The plants of
the blue limestone belong wholly to the lowest divisions of
the vegetable kingdom, and are in all cases of marine
origin. Fucoids (seaweeds) are quite numerous throughout
the whole series, and assume a gt'eat many different forms.
The most peculiar are the dumb-bell and arrowhead. The
latter was first noticed by that veteran palreontologist L. C.
Moore, Esq. It was found on Back Run, a branch of the
east fork, about two miles northeast, from Bata¥ia, ut a
horizon of one hundred and seventy-five feet, and associated
with the former. The cross-bone fucoid is found about
twenty feet below the trilobite horizon on the Obannon, at
Goshen, on Stonelick Creek, and on a branch of Coon
Hollow, near the residence of Thomas Daugherty, in Ba­
tavia township. The'writer has some found at the latter
place that are of an enormous siz~, being over six inches
in diameter and four feet long. In the same horizon very
diminutive ones a.re found. The beds at Goshen j Clark's,
and Daugherty's belong to the same horizon, and ha.ve a
vertical range of ten to twelve feet. There are several
other localities in the county where they can be found,. but
these are the most prominent. The corals of the' Cincin­
nati group are very numerous and interesting'. During the
past year the writer has discovered some five or six new
species. The star and bullhorn (common, names) are the
most interest.ing. The former is found in abundance on
the fill'll1 of Valentine Dellar, in Stonelick township; the
latter at least in four or five localities. The various forms
of the genus Ulu:ctetes are found almost in every horizon iu
the country.

The Gmptolite family is only represented by one species*
(Graptolithus grac£lis) , which was first discovered by L.
C. Moore, Esq., and is found in a single horizon in the bed
of the east furk a short distance above Batavia.

The most beautiful of all the fossils found in Clermont
County are the various genera of the crinoid family. Of
these the genus Glytocrin'lls decadactyills (Hall) is the
most abundant and interesting: It is found in only one
horizon in Clermont County, at an elevation of three hnn­
dred and twenty-five feet, with a vertical range of not to
exceed six feet, though stems are found to a greater alti­
tude. One peculiarity of this as well as other species is
that it is not found continuously, but in colonies, or, to use
a miner's term, in pockets. On Stonclick, near the resi­
dence 'of B. F. Clark, Elijah Cowen found over two hundred
in one colony, and in some ten or fifteen, over twelve hun­
dred perfect specimens. They were all large and well' pre­
served. The same horizon is found on the Obannon, ncar

;;1 Since writing tho abovo two othor specios have beon disco'"ered.
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Goshen, where similar colonies were found by Dr. A. B.
Anshutz, though in not so large a number. The specimens
obtained from this locality are the best in the State. A
great many have been mounted by Harry Anshutz, Esq.

There are only two other localities in the county where
this species is found,-viz., on Hocky Run, and near the
residence of W. South, deceased, on a branch of Brushy
Fork. The writer has a fine specimen of the species
(Anomalocriulls 1'UCW'VllS) , which was found at a much
lower horizon on the same stream where the M. & C. Turn­
pike crosses it.

Several other species have been noted by Dr. A. B. An­
shutz, J.J. C. :Moore, Esq., Dr. J. B. Thompson, Enoch
Johnston, Esq., and the writer, which space will forbid
mentiouing. Of the genus Agelacl'iJllls (Vanuxem), one
species (AgelacriJlllS vorticellata) has been noted, its horizon
being found near Batavia, in a natural section exposed by
the east fork. This genus is closely allied, as well as the.
other genera, to the crinoids. In the ascending scale the
next division of the animal kingdom that we come to is the
Mollusca. Of the five general divisions into which this family
is divided, all are well represented by forty-five genera and at
least one hundred and fifty species, and go to make up fully
nine·tenths of the fossils found in the bedded rocks of
Clermont County.

Of the division Cephalophoda, the genus Ortlwccms is
the most abundant,-at least is represented by several spe­
cies which reached a greater size than any of the inhab­
tants of the Lower Silurian Period.

The species Ortlwcems Tu£bidll1J1, is found in a dozen
different localities, representing at least. half that number of
horizons, but is generally found in the Eden s11ales. One
of the best localities known is on the farm of Thomas
Daugherty, in Batavia township. The species O. Dllseii
is also found in different localities, while it is generally
found in the shale, by no means always. Some two or three
specimens (typical) can be seen crystallized in the flagging
forming the sidewalks of Owensville. The largest specimens
of the former, some six inches in diameter and twenty in
length (but not representing all-only a part-of the speci­
men), belong to Dr. J. B. Thompson, of Bethel, and were
obtained near that place at an elevation of four hundrcd
feet.* (Enoch Johnson, L. C. 1\1oore, and the writ.er have
speeimcns of this and other species that are remarkably
large.) Of the latter P. T. Stuart, of Perin's Mills, has
the largest, which is eighteen inches long, and was fou'nd at
the horizon of one hundred and eighty feet. Of all the
species that have been examined by the writer, one in the
possession of L. C. 1\1oore, Esq., is the most interesting
from its peculiar shape, which might be nallled th~ .lJful'ii
(or jan) ol'tlwcems. It was found near Batavia in a cut
made by the Cincinnati and Erie Railroad, at the horizon
of one hundred and seventy-five feet. This specimen is
eleven inches long and two in diameter. The siphuncle is
plainly shown, and at the lateral end is a fan-like expansion;
hence the name.

Of the gasteropod shells of the group, at least fifteen
genera, with five times that number of species, are recog-

* The Ohio River at low-water mar1ul.t Cincinnati as the base.

nized. At the horizon of three hundred feet they are found
in abundance, associated with t.he brachiopods. On Stone­
lick CI'eek, near the residence of Elijah Cowen, on Still
Hun, near the residence of Jacob Balthizer, and on Coon
Hollow, near the residence of Josiah Pierce, they are found.
There are other localities in different horizons, but the one
of one hundred and fifty feet seems the most prolific.

The species Ortltis Mjorata is found throughout the
whole series, and is one of three out of sixty species repre­
senting twelve gcnera. This species, at t.he horizon of four
hundred feet, is very numerous. On a branch of Stonelick
Creek, near the residence of Mrs. Elizabeth 'Ware, they are
lying loose in the bed of the stream, where they can be
picked up by the hundred, of 1~1l sizes. The species Stro­
plwmena alternata has also a wide vertical range, but there
are not so Dlany varieties as has the first. Leptcena cel'icea
also has a great vertical as well as horizontal range, but does
not attain full size in the bedded rocks of Clermont County.
There are many species of the lamellibranch mollusks found­
in different horizons in the county. The genus Avicllla is
well represented by one species, tIle Avicula demissa, which
is found in the same horizon with the crinoid Glyptocrinus
decadactylus and trilobite Cloymenc Lenanm·ia.

Of the divisions of the animal kingdom, the branch Ar­
ticulata, to the masses as well as to the geologist, is the
most interesting. Not only are they interesting on account
of their beauty, but from the enormous size that some of the
species of trilobites have attained. There are only two spe­
cies found in Clermont County, representing that many gen­
era,-viz., Cloymene Lellalla1'ia and Asaplws gigas,-and,
so far as has been observed, are found in the same horizon,
that of four hundred feet,-probably less,-with the excep­
tion of two, which are four hundred and fifty. The first
species is the most abundant. The only localities in which
it has been found are on Hunter's Run (a branch of Stone­
lick Creek) and at Orebaugh's steam grist-mill, at Newton­
ville, in 'Vayne township, which are in the same horizon
as, and fifty feet higher thun, the following localities: At
Clark's saw-Dlill, on Stoneliek Creek; on Rocky Run, near
the residence of Peter Anderson; on a branch of Brushy
Fork, near the residence of William South, deceased, in
Stonelick township; on the farm of Thomas Daugherty,
in Batavia township; near Harlow's grist-mill, on the east
fork, in Jackson township; and on the Obannon, near
Goshen, in Goshen township. The vertical range of all
these beds, representing two horizons, is not to exceed ten
feet. On the farm of Thomas Daugherty the horizon is
within three feet of the surface of the table·land. The
sc:cond species has been found in connection with the first
at only two localities,-viz., at Clark's saw-mill, on Stone­
lick, and at Orebaugh's, at Newton,-where they were found
(and the horizon exposed) by the digging of a well. Here
it was struck at eight feet from the surface. It is a shale
about three feet in thickness. From this locality some
very fine specimens have been obtained, now in the posses­
sion of Dr...w. E. Anderson, of that place. At Clark's
mill at least two thousand have been found in the last
twenty years of the former, and twenty of the latter.t

t Not twenty thousand.
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The Asaplws gigas found here is larger than at Newton­
ville, but not so we)] preserved. Of the various species of
t11e star-fish, only one has been found so fhr in Clermont
County, which was the Paleaster illcomptlls, at Goshen, by
Harry Anshutz, Ef:q., which was unknown to the writer
until ~fter the preceding pages had been written j hence the
C<luse of its being noted in this connection.

3.-PIIYSICAL HISTORY OF THE CINCmNATI GROUP.

The third topic of this general division will be treated
under the following heads: 1. The Cincinnati Anticlinal,
including a discussion of the dip of its beds j 2. The Date
of its Uphea\ral, as determined by its relations to surround­
ing formations.

1. The gentle fold in the strata of the Mississippi Valley
which traverses the central regions of Tennessee and Ken­
tucky, and which afterwards enters Ohio in its southwest
corner, passing thence across the State to Canada in a direc­
tion little east of' north, has long been recognized under the
name of' the Cillci1l1wti anticlinal, or the C/lletll1wti axis,
and was one of the earliest folds that constitute the Appa­
lachian mountain system. The strata on both sides of the
Cincinnati anticlinal uxis dip in opposite directions; thus,
the strata that are formed on top of' the hills in Clermont
County can be followed to the eastern side of Brown, where
they disappear below the river with a marked easterly dip,
while on the west the sume beds are canied beneath the river
with u stronger westerly dip. In traveling east or west from
this uxis you strike the coal-fields of Ohio and Indiana at
about the same distunce tlHough the same intervening form­
ations. The real existence of these facts within the obser­
vation of the mediocre proves the proposition beJolld a
doubt. And that it pusses through Bethel is claimed by
Profcssor Orton, who has made a special study of it., though
we are inclined to think that it is several miles too fur east.

By measuring the height of the same stratum ut different
places would establish it somewhere in Clermont County
beyond a doubt. The easterly, westerly, and northerly dip
are respecti\Tely five, twelve, and forty-seven inches to the
mile, and t.hat it is continuous throughout the State has
been proven where artesian and other wells have been sunk
to a sufficient depth.

2. From thc multitudc of fossils found.in the rocks that
once formed the bottom of the Silurian sea, representing by
their appearance extreme agc, proves the fact that the Cin­
cinnati axis was of very slow growth. "It was only a
gentle flexure of thc earth's crust, involving the Lower and
Upper Silurian, and to some extent the Devonian, forma­
tions of Ohio." To the southward its emergence as an
island from tllat ancient seU. was probably of' earlier date
than in Ohio, and so wus it in Clermont County before
Franklin in the central part. Thus different portions of the
geological series of this general region known as an island
have been involved in the different stages of its history.
From the foregoing facts, and many more that might be
adduced, it appears that the Cincinnati axis in Clermont
County was raised above the sea just after the close of the
I.Jower Silurian pcriod, and that it underwent many oscilla­
tions, but those of elevation excecded those of depression,
and, too, that the rate of movement was excecdingly slow,

H

which is shown by the sma]] dip of the strata. that have
bcen elevated, by the want of any anticlinal fracture in the
Cincinnati beds j and, too, that the Lebanqn beds once
crowned all of the anticlinal axis in Clermont County there
is no doubt. The denuding llgencies to which the bedded
rocks of Clermont County have been exposed during tho
cycles of time since they were added to the dry land of the
globe would certainly appear a sufficient reason for tho loss
of the greater part of the C1·own.

pRIFT.

Nowhere in the State is the drift so interesting as in
Clermont County, where it has not only modified the to­
pography of the county by the filling up of ancient river
channels and causing new oncs to be made, but has reversed
the order of' glucial deposition as found elsewhere, where
local ugents have so destroyed its uniformity of composi­
tion, depth, and horizon as to perplex the student of.. geol­
ogy as to its history. Bl'inging, as it has, the pl'ecious
metals from the distant north, furnishing u soil which for
fertility cannot be excelled, and a horizon for springs so
important to a people given to stock-raising, it must neces­
sarily be treated of under the following heuds,-viz., 1.
Origin and General Hi::;tory; 2. Division of the Drift.

1. ORIGIN AND GENERAL HISTORY.

As has been before stated, there are no. records left in
Clermont County of the fifteen geological periods interven­
ing between the Lower Silurian and Quaternary, repre­
senting some of the most important epochs in geological
history and immense cycles of time. That such is the case
cvcry one will acknowlcdge wlten it is remembered that
this portion of tlte Silurian island was above the sca, while
other portions of the continent were below it._

At the close of the Tertiary (or third period) there was
a general upheaval of the northern part of the continent,
raising it scveral thousand feet above its previous or present
height. This phenomcnon was followed by intense cold
ana the formation of extensive continental glaciers, which,
in the course of' time, moved southward, down, as it were,
an inclined plane, grinding and crushing everything in
their path. 1.'hus it was that the basins of the Great
I..Jakes were formed, and the debris scattered all over the
Statc in the forUl of bow!dc'l' or Eric clay. This bowlder
clay, the oldest of the drift scries, is not universally found
in Clcrmont County, nor is it uniform in depth or stratifi­
cation. Immediately after the first,. phenomenon a second
one occurred, in which there was a general depression of
the central and northern portions of the continent and the
return of a mildcr climate, which melted the glaciers that
had found a resting-place, as it were, in the Buckeye State.
The result of thiS depression was the return of .a milder
climate, as has already been stated, and the appearance of
vegetaole 'life in Clermont County and elsewhere in the
central and southern portions of the State, as attested by
the numerous forest-beds found overlying the native soils
and bowlcltlr clay. This phcnomenon has been styled tItc
~'ntergl;cial stage. This stage was succeeded by another,
which might be culled the icebe1'g, the cause of which was
a partial ;e clcyution of the land and a. partial return of a
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cold climate, productive of local glaciers and icebergs, which
was followed by a partial subsidence, and is known us the
ten'ace epocll, the last geological phenomenon experienced
during the Quaternary Period.

2. DIVISION O:F TIlE SERIES.

Ul)der this head the following subdivisions will be made,
and treated of in the order in which they arc given: 1.
Bowlder Clay; 2. Forest-Beds; 3. Yellow and White
Clays; 4. Uiver-Terraces; 5. Alluvial Dept-sits.

1. Bowlder Clay.-The evidences of glacial action are
numerous in Clermont County, though but two terminal
moraines of small areas are found within its limits us
far south as the Ohio River. Of these, one is on Bull­
skin Creek, about two miles from its mouth, in Franklin
township; the other near Blairville, in Pierce township.
From natural and artificial sections it is probable that the
bowlder clay coversone-tcnth of the ancicnt floor or
bedded rocks in the county. It is not confined to any
definite llOrizon, it being in some places one hundred feet
below the surface, while in others it forms it. In some
localities it is stratified, while in others it is not. As to
structure and composition it is almost universally the same,
being a blue clay (the flour of limestones ulld shales that
have been ground by the glacial mills) intermixed with
small pebbles and bowlders of crystalline rocks and frag­
ments of limestone scratched and considerably worn by
attrition, all belonging to a higher series thun ours.

In Stonelick township, on the farm of Wm. Cook, are
some very heavy deposits, at least forty feet in thickness,
and covered by two or three feet of surface soil. Near
the residence of Elisha Williams it crosses the present bed
of Brushy Fork at right angles, showing that the channel
ran in another direction and at a lower horizon once in its
history. On the farm of John Rapp are also some very
heavy deposits. On the farm of A. J. Turner a heavy
deposit is shown by a natural scction of Possum Hollow.
It is at least fifty feet thick. This stream shows a section
of an ancient drift-filled channel, where the structure and
composition were different, being almost wholly'composed of
flat limestones set on edge and mixed with enough concre·
tionary matter to cement the whole together like grouting.
In Miami town::;hip are some heavy deposits, on the fimns
of Daniel Turner, E. ·W. Jones, John Armstrong, and
'rhos. Highlands... In Union township there are some very
heavy deposits on Salt Run. In Batavia township it is
shown along the Williamsburgh turnpike, on the Bata­
via Hill, where it has not so many bowlders, etc., in it,
and closely approximates to till. On Backbone ],lun, on
the farm of Thos. Marsh, a typical section is shown, where
it has been stratified, also at the mouth of Backbone Hun.
Some very heavy deposits are seen in Union and Pierce
townships, along the line of the Ohio River branch of
the C. & K Railroad. On the farm of John Shaw, one and
a half miles northeast of New Richmond, some of the
largest bowlders ever noticed by the writer in the bowlder
clay were seen, where it has completely filled up the chan­
nel of an ancient' rivulet.

In a great many places the bowJder clay is overlaid by a
greater or less thickness of fine laminated clay without

pebbles, which belongs to it, their composition being the
same, and ori~in identical. Again, at various places, it is
overlaid with stratified gravel and sand. Good examples
of this are seen at Turner's Hill, near Stonelick; on the
farm of Wm. Shumard, near Blairsville, in Pierce township j

and at least in a dozen other localities the same thing has
been noted. In every case the gravel and sand showed
that they had been deposited in water. In all the exam­
ples given there is more or less conglomerate.

2. FOl'est-Bt:(l,.;:-This name was givt!n to one of the
divisions of the drift which consists of a thin sheet of soil
that covers the bedded rocks and bowlder clay to a great
extent in Clermont County (the origin of which has already
been given), and was the product of a growth of vegctation
which after the retreat of the glaciers covered the greater
part of the morainic material left behind them. This was
for ages a land-surface which sustained a forest of arbores­
cent and herbaceous plants, the home of the mammoth,
mastodon, giant beaver, and doubtless many other animals.
It does not always overlay the bowlder clays, but sometimes
rests on the rocky floor of the county. It varies from five
to thirty-five feet in thickness so far as it has come under
the notice of the writer.

In some localities the logs, stumps, etc., are found in a
horizontal position," while in others they are vertical. Not
only have logs, stumps, etc., been found, but great masses
of leaves and vegetable matter, together with vivianite (or
sulphate of iron), seams of ochreous clays, and beds of bog­
iron ore. Near the residence of B. F. Clark, in Wayne
township, it was struck at five feet from the surface, in
which wood, leaves, and vivianite were. found to the depth
of thirty-five feet, at which point or depth the bcd-rock
was not reached. On the farm of Thomas Shumard, in
Stonelick township, at twenty-six feet from the surfilce logs
were struck, ulso leaves found. On the farm of A. G.
Hartman, at thirty-six feet from the surface logs were
struck, and at twenty-two feet a seam of bituminous coal
two feet in thickness was found, that looked as though it
had originated there. In Union township, on the farm of
John Avey, at the dept.h of twenty-five feet, coal wus found,
und at thirty feet from the surface leaves carbonized. In
the town of Batavia it has been found at twenty feet below
the surface, when leaves, wood, etc., have also been found
in a good state of preservation. In the town of New Rich­
mond, at thirty-six feet below the surface, limbs of trees
were found in a good state of preservation. These are only
a few out of a hundrcd that might be given. Some of'
these wells were at a higher elevation than the surrounding
country, while others seem to have been at one time in
swales.

There is only one locality in Clermont County where
these forest-beds arc found to cover any extent of country,
and that is in Tate township, where they are universally
found at fifteen to twenty feet below the surface. There
are several instances known to the writer where wells within
one hundred feet would show opposite drift formations. In
the one the bowlder clay would be found resting on a rocky
floor overlaid by a forest-bed of considerable thickness and
last by a stratum of clay, white; the other would have a
stratum of Jellow clay resting on the rocky floor, which
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was not over ten feet from the surface. As these beds can
only be seen by artificial sections, their horizontal extent
can never to a certainty be ascertained, but must ever con­
tinue to be the most intereMing division of the series.

3. Yellow ctnd White Cla!Js.-It will be remembered,
at tJlC close of the £ntel'gll1cill.l stage, that there was a par­
tial re-elevation of the bnd and a partial return of local
glaciers and icebergs. As the re-elevation was gradual,
the first phenomenon would be icebergs, followed by local
glaciers, which transported the waste of the bowlder clay
as far south as the Ohio River in Clermont County. In
composition the yellow is almost identical with the bowlder,
but in structure it has no scratched limestone of any series
imbedded in it, but has, to a greater or less extent, crys­
talline rocks well worn and of various sizes: Its vertical
range is, taken as a whole, about ,fifteen feet, with a hori­
zontal one of two-thirds of the surface of Clermont County,
aud forms the surface soils of a great portion'of it. This
clay, in an economic sense, is the most important of all the
series, as from it immense quantities of brick are annually
manufactured for home and foreign consumption. It
should have been remarked that in one or two localities it
only covers the bedded rocks to the depth of two or three
feet, as is the case in that portion of Stonelick and J ack­
son townships through which the Jackson pike runs, and
that all the heavy deposits of gravel and conglomerate are
overlaid by it, showing conclusively that those peculiar
formations could only be accounted for by the theory that
the stratified gravel and sand had been transported by ice­
bergs and deposited in a mass in quiet waters.

The white clays, which constitute the surface-soils of about
one-fourth of Clenllont County, are stratified and of a finer
structure, and have no limestone or crystalline rocks in them,
and are locally known as the swamp-lands of the county.
O\'er nearly all of Clermont County here and there bowlders
or erral'ic Moc7es are found on the surface, sometimcs resting
on the rocky floor of the county, but almost universaliy on
the clays. These bowlders are generally composed of
metamorphic and crystalline rocks, such as are found in
the Canadian highlands to· day, and which have been
brought to their present locality by icebergs. These bowl­
ders are more abundant in Stonelick township than in any
other part of the county. A few of the largest wiII be
mentioncd: Near the residence of Henry Long, on the
township road, is one that will weigh twelve tons j on the
farm of' Ezekiel Mitc.:hell are some three or four of' the
same dimensions; on the filrm of John Happ is one that
will weigh twenty tons, in which copper-ore has been dis­
covered; on the farm of J. L. Gerard is one, on the north
slope of the hill, one hundred feet above the bed of Stone­
lick, and about the same from the brow of the hill; on the
same farm are several others, some on the table-land and
two at the base of the hills of Still Run j near Perin's
Mills are some very large ones, on the farms of Daniel
Turner, E. VV. Jones, 'and Thomas Highlands; in the
towpships bordering on the Ohio River they are not so
numerous j on. the fitrm of John Shaw several were noticed j

near New Hichmond and Blah'ville a few have been also
noted by the writer. Mention has been made by Prof.
Orton of one at Bethel, on the farm of Col. Perrine. As

to kind, the gmnites are the most abundant, especially the
red, though greenstones and slate are occasionally seen.

4. River 1erl'aces.-These terraces belong to the terrace
epoch, the last phenomenon of' the Quateniary Period and
chapter of the drift. They are not numerous in Clermont
County, the most extensive one being near Milford. That
these gravel terraces were formed under a different order of
things than now exists there is not the lcast doubt, from
the fact.that they are elevated at least fifty feet above high­
water mark, and from their arrangement have been deposited
in still water j which isexplained by the following theory,­
viz., that the continent sank during the later stages of this
period considerably below its present level, and that it was
afterward re-elevuted. During the period of their forma­
tion a portion of' Clermont County was submerged and
covered by a large body of fresh water, in which these ter­
races were formed from the sand and gravel brought down
by the streams now found in the county. At the close of
this period there waS a gradual elevation of the continent,
as luis been previously stated, and a subsidence of the fresh
water, causing the deposits in the channels to be carried by
the force of their currents to lower levels, constituting the
upper portions of the river-bottoms of to-day, and filling and
changing the course of some of the small streams of the
county. These terraces in many cases changed the chan­
nels of the streams, as is to be observed at-Milford j for the
Miami at one time ran northeast of the town, with the
mouth of the east fork near tIle cemetery.

5. Alluvial Deposits.-That the present system of drain­
ing was but little affected by the drift in Clermont County is
ohvious, from the fact that not all of its surfitce was covered
by its deposits, and that they were not continuous and uni­
form, and that but few of the channels of the streams have
been changed from what they were at the beginning of that
most interesting of all periods,--viz., the Quaternary. In
the discussion of alluvial deposits, the writer takes the
liberty of going beyond the effects of surface erosion. J...et
it be understood that at the beginning ot' the glacial e.poch
the bed of the Ohio River, aR well as that of its tributaries,
was much lower than at the present time. The first de­
posit of the drift was the bowlder clay, which is found in
many of the channels of the lesser streams of the county,
and which is the lowest stratum of the deposits, resting as
it does, in most instances, on the bedded rocks. Next in
the ascending order. is the forest-Leds, which are found in
the Ohio Valley, at a distance of thirty to forty feet below
the present surface, and whichat one time constituted the
ancient soil of the valley, and were formed during the inter­
glacial stage, when the channel of the river was sixty feet
lower than at the present time and above high-water mark,
and not, as one would suppose, from sediment deposited by
annual overflows, together with the leaves, logs, etc., found
in that horizon. This forest-bed is covered by ochreous
clay, sand, gravel, etc., to a depth of fifteen to thirty feet.
As has been stated, at the close of the terrace epouh there
was a vast amount of deposits in the channels of the various
streams emptying into the Ohio east fork and Miami Hivcrs.
These deposits consisted of gravel and sand, with occasional
layers of clay, which at Blairville is manufactured into the
best of brick. During the time that has intervened between
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the last of the drift epoclls to the present erosion has been
actively at work, bl'inging sand, gravel, and rocks of con­
siderable size from higher altitudes, and depositing them on
the lowlands that bonler on the above-named streams. That
the reader lllay have a better idea of how the channel of
the east fork has been .filled up,-not only Its present, but
aneient,-a few sections will be given as obtained from the
digging and driving of wells. At the residence of T. C.
Teal, Esq., a drive-well was sunk to the depth of thirty-six
feet in the ancient channel without striking thc bedded
rocks, of which the following is a section: Two feet of soil,
ten feet of case gravel, four of fine sand, six of case river­
washed gravel, six of fine blue sand having phosphate of
iron in it, two of laminated blue clay, six of case sand.
The bottom of this weIl is twenty feet below the bottom of
the present channel of the east fork, which is solid lime­
stone. On the farm of James Gerning, on the opposite side
of the east fork, a well was sunk forty feet through gravel,
sand, etc.; on the farm of George Turner is a drive-well
twenty-six feet deep, where about the same order was ob­
served j at I>Cl"in's Mills are several which have been car­
ried to the depth of from twenty-six to forty-two feet, where
about the same order of deposits was obtained; and in every
instance the bedded rocks were not reached. That the
drift deposits of Clermont County will always continue to
be an interesting feature of its geology cannot be uenied,
but that they may be fully understood will require time, as
but little more can be known of them except by artificial
sections as furnished by railroad cuts and wells; and, too,
that the alluvial deposits, as represented by the valley of
the east fork, will, as they have in the past, be a source of
wealth to it which cannot be estimated in the future.

}IINERALOG Y.

In an economic sense, there are no minemls in Clermont
County besides the blue limestone rocks that are found all
over it at or near the sudhce to a great depth, and the
yellow clays, which are also found in abundance, from
which millions of brick arc annuulIy manufactured for home
and foreign consumption.

The blne limestone rocks vary as to composition and
thickness, and are chiefly quarried for burning into lime
and for building purposes. Those strata that are made up
of the remains of the various inhabitants of the Silurian
sea are not suitable for building-rock, being what quarry­
men call" shelly," and arc more readily affected by the ele­
ments, as they are not so compact in structure as those
having no fossils in them. Again, they are generaIly from
one to two inches in thickness, and cannot be so profitably
quarried as those from six to twelve. They do not yield as .
much lime by fifteen per cent. Among their many disad­
vantages they have one advantage overtheir thicker brethren,
being in ·demand for flagging. Good examples arc seen
in the bed of Stoneliek Creek, near the residences of Elijah
Cowen and Ira Williams, and in a branch of l3l'ushy Fork,
ncar the residence of William South, in Stonelick township,
where they arc quarried in large quantities.

The Cincinnati beds have no very heavy strata.in Cler­
mont County. The only stratum that is over twelve inches
in thickness is seen on u branch -of Salt Run, in Union

township, where one measures sixteen. From this stratum
bases for gravestones and rock for buildin~ purposes have
bcen quarried, and it would burn into a good lime for under­
ground masonry, abutments for bridges, etc. For plastering
the lime would set too quick, and be what plasterers call
"too hot." Its composition is ninety-five per cent. of
carbonate of lime, with only a trace of magnesia j and if
this stratum were ncar a railroad, with good nwilities· for
transportation, its limc would outsell the famous Springfield
for ruany things. 1Vhile it is true chat you find a layer
now and then of considerable thickness, as a general thing
tlley soon run out, being local.

The largest limekilns in the county are situated on Coon
Hollow, in Batavia township, where from three to five thou­
sand bushels are aunually burned for home consumption.
Ncar New ltichmond there are several small kilns. There
are several quarries located at different places in the county,
where more or less rock is quarried for home consumption,
but the only ones where they are for export are located in
the Point l>leasant beds, which arc exposed along the Ohio
HiveI' just above low water from New Richmond to Chilo.
They furnish a most desirable building. stone, being compact,
£l'ee from fossils, of a good color, and easily worked as com­
pared with the rocks of the Cincinnati beds. In thickness,
the strata range from eight to twenty inches, and are very
uniform. Several thousand perches are annually taken to
Cincinnati on flatboats.

The following persons have (Iuarries: Jerry Deleany, "'tV.
P. Flanigan, Bushman & Laycock, and J. A. Cox. The
foundation-stones of the piers of the Cincinnati suspension­
bridge were obtained from these quarries.

A heavy concretionary stratum is also found in the same
llOrizon, whicll is useless for buildiug purposes, but makes
a good article of hyul':lulic cement. To the geologist, as
well as the masses, these beds and quarries are the most
interesting and profitable of any found in the limits of the
couuty, and must continue to be a good investment to those
who have been so fortunate as to become the owuers of
them.

In the dl"ift deposits of Clermont County, which cover
two-thil'US of its surface, platinum, gold, and silver have
been found, together with the various ores of. iron, copper,
and lead.

l>latinum has only been found at one place in the county,
-viz., at lmk Lick,-and was first discovered in 1869 by
a German geologist from Vienna, Austria.

1'he existence of gold in the drift of Clermont County
was ihst discovered, in 1869, on the farm of Robert Wood,
nellr Elk Lick. A l:;hort, time after its discovery, Cupt.
Glass organized a company, and spent between two aud
three thousand dollars in the building of a flume to wash
the gravel in which the gold was found. After two hun·
dred rods had been built a freshet occurred, which washed

.it all away but one secti.on of sixteen feet, from which
twenty dollars in gold-dust was obtained.

After this unfortunate circumstance occurred, work was
discontinued. Ocher parties also prospected on the same
;"l.1rm and near Batavia, but without succe;s. In April,
1872, John and Joseph Dumford obtained fifteen dollars
in two hours by crevassing on 'Vissel's Run, in Stonelick
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township. In August of that year the "Stonelick Yalley
Mining Company" was organized. It leased the farm of
A. J. Turner, and commenced to tunnel through the hill
neal' his residence from the Possum Hollow sid~. After
spending one hundred dollars and penetrating the hill
ahout ,thirty-five feet, it was abandoned. These are the
only companies that were ever organized to develop the
Clermont County gold-mines, though every ravine and
gulch in it has been prospected for that precious metal.
From one to thirty colors can be found in a pan of dirt by
crevassing in the beds of any of the streams found in the
county.

The most prominent places besides those given are on
the farms of William Cook, George Smith, and Clemons
Groth, in StoneHck township. On the farm of the latter,
Clinton Hill found a piece worth fifty cents in a pocket in
the Erie clay. On the pike leading from Batavia to the
county i"nfirmary, at the spring east of the latter, colors
can be found by v.tshing the gravel. '.

In a word, the Clermont County gold-fields are wherever
you find bowlder or Erie clay and gravel. The gold found
is very pure, ranging from twenty-two to twenty-three
carats'in fineness, and is what miners call" fioat,"-that is,
gold that has been carried some distance from the drift
proper by erosion (or the force of running water or ice),
and deposited in the crevices of the rocks in the bed of
the streams and the pockets or holes in the Erie clay,
wherever that forms the bed-rock. Flint-gold has a bright
metallic lustre, like coins just from the mint. As gold is
always found in situ with the Primary rocks, of which
there are none exposed in Clermont County, it becomes an
undisputed fact that its origin is foreign.

Though gold is seldom found among our northern er­
ratics, there is where it came from, and, in fact, all the
minerals of Clermont County. William Cook and .Jasper
Dumford each had specimens of gold in quartz of great
purity, and worth about forty cents each. The writer has
a specimen of quartz with silver in it that was found on
Sugar-Camp Run in 1872. This is the only one that has
ever been found in the county, as now known.

Copper has been found in connection with lead near
Fux Rock, on Salt Run, in Union township, and at several
other places in the county. In 1871 a piece of galena·o're
(or sulphuret of. lead) WaS found on the farm of John
1\1oore, in Stonelick township, weighing cleven pounds.

It is claimed, with some authority, that the early
settlers obtained their lead from this locality. One thing
1'8 lmown,-that pieces of various sizes are found on it at
the present time. Not only has lead been found on the
Moore farm, but in Union, Batavia, and Pierce townships
in small quantities.

The only beds of iron-ore of any extent found in the
county are on the farm of Samuel Morehead, in Jackson
township, which have a surface area of about twenty acres
and a vertical range of two feet, and of the variety called
bog. Analysis shows that it contains about forty-one per
cent. of metallic ore.

On the fium of Jasper Dumford, in Stonelick townsllip,
red hematite ore has been found in considerable quantities
in the bed 'of a small brook. Oue of the best specimens of

that kind of ore ever seen by the writer WaS found on the
farm of Bertrand Fomarin, in the same township.

There are fifty places in Clermont County where some of
the numerous iron-ores can be found, e~pecially'bog and red
hematite. ArgiIlaceous ore is universally found in the yel­
low clays, and is a shell of iron inclosing a nodule of clay.
Sulphate of iron is found in the drift on the farms of A. J.
Turner, F. 'Wissel, and Clemens Grotte, in Stonelick town­
ship. In the tunnel on the farm of A. J. Turner, for four
inches above the bcd-rock, or bowlder-clay, it constitutes
ten per cent. of the mass..

Though sulphate of iron and argiIlaceous iron-ore are of
no practical value, they are not without scientific interest.
As before remarked, all the above orcs are found in the
drift" whose origin has been before given.

Bituminous coal has been found on the filrms of Dr. J.
B. Cline and John Avey, in Union township, twelve feet
below the surfhce, and was discovered by the digging of
wells. It has also been found on the surface. Tl~ough
having been exposed to the clements for ages, it burns
readily. In Jackson township, on the farm now owned by
Albert Hartman, a scam two feet thick was struck in the
drift twenty-six feet from the surface. This is the only
place yet known to the writer where it was not promiscu­
ously mixed with sand and pebbles, and sometimes logs and
leaves.

Near the residence of 1\1rs. :Maria Dumfqrd, in Stonelick
township, sulphate of lime (or plaster of Pari::;) is found
between the layers of limestone. It is very pure, and is
found in uneven sheets.

There was a time when the rnille1'al springs of Clermont
County Wffe not without value to the pioneer settlers. As
early as 1798 salt was made from brine obtained from a
well near 1Voodville (now claimed to be in Warren County).
It was twenty-eight feet deep, and sunk partly in the drift
and limestone. The stock of the wooden pump can still be
seen, though the brine in the well was exhausted over forty
years ago. There are several salt :springs in the vicinity,
but that was the only one ever utilized'. The salt manu­
factured from its brine was fit'st-class in every respect. It
is supposed to have been used by the Indians. Near Salt
Run, in Union township, brine was obtained from a well,
frOID which salt was manufactured at an early date. Sev­
eral springs existed years ago, but are now gone. Near
Elk Lick, in Butavia township, are several salt springs j

from them salt was manufiwtured by the "Jersey Settle­
ment," though the quantity was small as compared with the
amount made at 'Woodville. They are now hardly licks,
and in the course of time will entirely lose their mineral
ingredients. On the line between Clermont and Brown
.Counties, in Jackson township, there were several springs
fifty years ago, from the water of which salt was made.
They are now licks, ·whieh in Clermont County number
over fifty, and were the great resorts of the wild animals
before and during its early settlement. In Stonelick town­
ship tIlere are several wells that are brackish which have
been sunk in the salt horizon. These springs, though a
greater part of them are situated in the drift, certainly de­
rive their salt from the blue limestone rocks and shales.

There arc also several springs in the county that hold in
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solution sulphur, iron, and magnesia. On the fitrm of .John
Good, in Jackson township, is a spring, on the bank of
Pleasant Run, which is strongly impregnated with sulphur.
On the same stream and township, on the fill'lll of '1'. D.
Hartman, is a large spl'ing, the water of which holds in
solution sulphur, iron, and magnesia. There are many
springs that hold iron in solution in their water in this
county, but are of neither scientific nor medicinal value,
but only contribute their mite in making Clermont one of
the most peculiar counties, geologically speaking, in the
State.

FRESH-'VATER SUPPLY.

In an economic sense, we have now come to one of the
most important divisions of the geology of the county.
Those who ha\Te studied the structure of the blue limestone
rocks of the Cincinnati group (which have a thickness of
one thousand feet) well know that they form an impervious
strata, through which the water that falls on the surface'
cannot to any extent percolate and forms large underground
reser\"oirs in the shape of broad and shallow sheets or narrow
rills, and that but little of the watel'-supply comes from
wells or springs that are sunk and have their source of
supply in its bedded rocks, but that the greater portion
of it comes from wells and springs that have been sunk
and have their origin in the bowlder clay, which is the
horizon of nine-tenths of the springs in Clermont County.

On the farm of G. \Y. Boutell, neal' Charleston, in Go­
shen township, is a spring, having its source in the cowlder
clay, that furnishes that neighborhood with an abundance
of water. On the fitrmsof J. W. S. Robinson· and A. J. Tur­
ner are several large springs that have their origin in the
drift. On the farm of John Armstrong, in Miami town­
ship, are se\Teral that are of like origin and would make
a six-inch stream if confined to one waste-way. On the
f.'1rm of G. Swing, in the same townsllip, is one that runs
a four-inch stream, a part of which has been utilized by the
Cincinnati Turnpike Company for a watering-place. On
the farm of Ezekiel Edwards, in Union township, are
a series of springs, at the foot of the second bottoms, in
which the bowlder clay forms the bcd-rock. These springs
extend a distance of half a mile, and if collected would
make a stream two feet in diameter. There are .hundreds
of others that might be named of like character. On the
fllrm of A. 1\1. Marsh, in Stonclick township, is a well
thirteen feet deep that has its source of water-supply in the
bowlder clay, that in an ordinary sense. is inexhaustible.
On the farm of Daniel Long, in Jackson township, a
well w~s dug a few years ago that never could be walled
up all the way, the vein, which was also in the bowlder
clay, being too strong. On the farm of Harmon Cover,
in the same township, a well was dug some three years'
ago in which the bowlder clay was penetrated for some
distanc'e, and while the hands were· eating their dinner a
lond noise like the rushing of water was heard, and upon
examination it was found that a vein had burst out some
four feet from the bottom. This well furnishes an inex­
haustible supply of water during the most severe droughts.

\Vhile it is true that you do not always find water in the
bowlder clay, yet it serves a twofold purpose by being an
impervious stratum, so that where there are basins it holds

all the surface water, and by' haviu;! scams of sand and
gravel running through it, that arc like surface streams,
const,antly carrying their underground waste-water to a
lower level. By the clearing of the forests and the ditch­
ing of the swamp-lands the streams of Clermont County
do not fumish one-fifth the water-power they did fifty
years ago, and as the country grows so will it decrease in a
like ratio, so that in the course of time artificial lilCans
must be resorted to for stock and manufacturing purposr.s
by the digging of wells, cisterns, and reservoirs.

SOILS.

The surface soils of Clermont County may be divided
into two distinct classes as to origin,-viz., native and for­
eign. The native soils arc those which have been formed
,in sitlt from the disintegration of the surface or blue lime­
stone rocks and the decomposition of vegetable matter.
They are chiefly found on the southern slopes of the hills
of the Ohio and its tributaries, and constitute one-third of
the surface of the townships bordering on that river. As
the surface rocks arc a)) the samc, they do not differ much
as to composition. In color they vary from a light to a
dark brown, in proportion to the amount of organic matter
incorporated with them. Ncar the stratified rocks they are
generally of a greenish cast. In depth they vary from two
to ten inches, being the shallowest of all the soils. They
are very fertile, producing large crops for years in succession
without exhausting their fertility. They are tenacious and
do not pulverize as readily as the foreign, and are more liable
to bake if' stirred when wet. They hold moist.ure better
than any of the other soils, and corn especially seems to
stand a drought without firing, when it would have been
ruined on the others. They do 'lIot wash badly, being •
neither light, porous, nor friable. They are naturally adap­
ted to the growth of Indian corn, tobacco, alid wheat. The
famous tobacco- and wheat-lands of Franklin, 'Vashington,
Monroe, and Ohio townships belong to this class. All kinds
of fruits do well on them. The vine especially rewards the
husbandman with large crops, and in the course of time the
cultivation of the grape on these soils will become the lead­
ing interest, agriculturally, of Southern Clermont. They
are always covered with a large growth of timber, of which
buckeye, hackberry, black. and white-walnut, white- or blue­
ash, and red-elm are the most abundant. They have but
one disadvantage to offset their great excellences in part:
their slight depth in most places makes their tillage difficult..
A good example of them may be seen in the vineyard and
tobacco-field of \V. ,Y. Perkins, near Batavia.

The foreign soils are subdivided into fuur classes,-viz.,
yellow, white, and black clays, and alluvial. The yellow
clays constitute one-third of the soils of the county, and are
found on the northern slopes of the hills of the tributaries
of the Ohio River and all the rolling land not included
above. ·They are formed from the weathering of the drift
and the decomposition of vegetable matter. In depth they
range from two to ten feet. At the surfhce they are of a
dark·brown color to the depth of four to eight inches, owing
to the amount of organic matter pres~nt. At the depth of
six to eight inches from the surface there is a sub-soil, gen­
erally tell inches in thickness; from this brick are made,
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the oxide of iron in its composition gIvmg them a c11erry­
red appearance,-a color so desirable for brick. The yellow
clays are naturally adapted for the growth of corn, oats, grase,
and potatoes. For a few years after the forests that once
covered them are cleared off they produce magical crops
of almost everything. But, not having an abundance of
organi'c matter in their composition, they become worth­
less if cultivated for a number of years in succession. They
are very friable and porous at the surface, but the opposite
where not exposQd to the direct action of the elements.
They are not good for wheat, and the worst to wash of all
the clays. Though very tenacious, they readily yield to the
action of the elements, and after a hard freeze will melt
down like unslaked lime. The most productive as well as
profitable orchards in the county are found on the yellow
days. Their loose surfhce and hard, compact sub-soil seems
to be the normal one of a large majority of the fruits grown
in this btitude. They support a dense and luxuriant growth
of vegetation. The poplars, ashes, beeches, and sugars grow
to an enormous size in these clays. You seldom, if ever,
see a poplar or sugar on any soils save yellow clays and
alluvial.

The white clays constitute the connecting link between
the yellow and black clays in this county, and are the
famous oak-ridges long noted for their enormous growth of
vegetation. They have not the vegetable matter of either
of the other clays, but excel them in organic. They are,
taken as a whole, the poorest land, agriculturally, in the
county. They are of the same depth as the yellow, but
finer in sU'ucture, and have been undoubtedly formed in
water. They surpass the other clays for ~heat., as it does
not freeze out on them. The most prominent forest-trees
found growing on the white clays -are white- and burr-oak,
black-ash, white-beech, and white,- black,- and shellbark­
hickory.

The black clays are nothing more than the white ones
stained with vegetable matter, and are found in the maple­
and hickory-swamps of this county, and constitute about
one-fourth of the areas of Goshen, 'Vayne, Jackson, and
Williamsburgh townships. They are very fertile, but. must
be surface or underdrained to be productive. At the sur­
face their color is a deep black, and ranges in depth from
one to five feet. They do not pack or bake so readily as the
white, on account of the immense amount of vegetable mat­
ter present. 'rhey are particularly adapted to the growth
of the grasses, oats, and potatoes of the late varieties. The
timber found on them differs from that on any other of the
soils in this section of the State. Maple, sweet-gum, white­
elm, the hickories, Spanish-oak, red- and white-oak, and
gray-ash constitute the principal forest-trees. While the
different varieties of timber do not reach the enormous size
that they do in other soils, yet the fOI~ests are very dense.
A good example of the black clays may be seen on the farms
of James Turner and J. H. Burns, in Jackson township.

1'he alluvial soils are the combined result of dl'ift and
erosion. They are only found in the valley of the Ohio
River and its tributaries, and constitute about one-fortieth
part of the soils of the county. They are composed of
vegetable matter, clay, and silt. They are the most fertile
of the soils of the county~ having in their composition all of

the best elements of the others. Those which are below high­
water mark are the most fertile, being recuperated almost
annually by the overflow of the streams on which they
border. They are easily tilled, and produce 'remunerative
crops of all kinds. Oats is the only cereal that does not
flourish well on them. In depth they vary; on the gravel
terraces, the most ancient of the drift-soils, they are not over
two feet ill depth, with an underlying stratum of gravel.
On the overflowed lands they range from three to fifteen
feet in depth. The fruits do not flourish well on them.
Dry weather is their only enemy. In the early settlement
of the county they were' covered with a luxuriant forest­
vegetation which has long since disappeared before the axe
of the hardy yeomanry of this county. Huge sycamores,
widespreading elms, towering walnuts, and ashes are still
occasionally met with on the immediate borders of some of
the numerous streams of the county. These soils are well
represented in the east fork valley. Agriculturally speaking,
they arc the only ones that have not been almost entirely
exhausted by the past and present system of tillage.

1'he soils of Clermont County are naturally fertile, pro­
ducing large and remunerative crops of all the products of
this latitude, but they must be handled with judgment and
care; and when the masses know that the wealth of any
country is in its soil, as represented by its products, they
will no doubt take care of one of the greatest i.nterests of the
nation, viz., agriculture.

CHAPTER III.

METEOROLOGY.

THERE are three things that materially affect the tem­
perature and precipitation of any locality,-viz., proximity
to large bodies of water, high mountains, and elevation
above the sea.

In Clermont County the temperature and precipitation
are but little modified by the first two. The mean eleva­
tion of the county above the sea is nine hundred and
twenty-five feet, and, being a part of a vast plateau, though
of not great elevation, is su.bject to greater extremes of heat
and cold, moisture and dryness, than those places more ad­
jacent to the ocean or large lakes. The clearing off of the
forests has also materially affected the temperature and pre­
cipitation, as it is a well-known fact that in winter the wind,
passing over large areas of forestjl, is warmed much more
than over cleared land or prairies, as in the latter the rad­
iation of heat from the earth in early winter is so much
greater that their surface soon becomes as cold as the sur­
rounding air. In summer it is vice versa. The mean
height of the barometer is 29.75 j maximum, 30.25; and
minimum, 28.25.

TEMPERATURE.

The average temperature at Cincinnati for the eighty­
three years ending Jan. 1, 1880, was 57° 65', and for the
last ten years, 53° 65'·. During that time the temperature
of the spring months has been 53° 65'; summer, 76° 03' ;
autumn, 55° 35'; winter, 35° 57'. :Mean, 54° 67'.
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The difference of temperature between six A ..l\I. and one
P.l\I. is found to be 15° 50'.

It is said that the winters of 1792, 1793, 1705, 1799,
1800, 1805, 1806, 1809, and 1810 were very mild. The
winter of 1796-97 was one of the coldest ever experienced
at Cincinnati, the thermometer falling to eighteen degrees
below zero on the morning of the 8th of January, 1797.
This is the lowest that the thermometer has ever recorded
at Cincinnati. The wind blew from the northwest, and,
had it not been tempered and broken by the dense forests
that covered Ohio at that time, it would have reached a
much lower point. The wiuter of 1805, being unusually
mild, was followed by that of 1806-7, which was extremely
cold. On thc 7th of February, 1807, commonly called
c: Cold Friday," the thermc~lleter indicated eleven degrees
below zero. 1'he winters of 1855, 1856, and 1857 were
extremely cold, the thermometer being thirty-two times be~

low zero. The Ohio River was frozen over for two months, .
so that heavy-loaded wagons could cross over it on the ice
with safety. 1'he winter of' 1863-64 was very cold. On
the 1st day of January, 1864,-known as "Cold New
Year,"-the thermomcter indicated fourteen degrees below
zero. It was a great Arctic wave that swept over two-thirds
of the contincnt, and was unusually severe in the South
Atlantic States for that latitude. The winters of 1870,
1872, 1873, 1874, 1875, 1878, and 1879 were also very
cold. The winter of 1879-80 was unusually warm, being
the warmest, taken as a whole, of any since 1827, and ten
degrees warmer than any since 1835. On the 20th of'
December, 1877, the thermometer indicated sixty-nine de­
gree~ in the shade, and did not fall below sixty-three degrees
for several days. On the 18th of October, 1879, it stood
at seventy-three degrees, and the mean temperature for that
month was sixty-foul' degrees twenty-nille minutes.

FROSTS.

These generally occur as late as the 20th of April, and
as early as the 20th of September, depcnding on the direc­
tion of the winds. Northwest wirlds in April and Septem­
ber are sure to bring frost. On the night of the 9th of
August, 1809, there was a heavy frost, which damaged the
corn so that it would not germinate; and, had it. not been
protected by fogs along the valleys and by the timber in the
new lands, it would llave becn entirely destroyed. This is
the earliest frost ever recorded in the county. On the night
of the 28th of August, 1863, there was a hea\'y fi'ost,
which injured the late corn very much. Since 1835 there
have been fifteen Septembers in which no frost occurred.
In 1859 there was frost in every month in the year save
two. The one on the night of the 4th of June did a great
amount of damage to the wheat, corn, and vegetation in
general. Since 1835 there have been but two Aprils in
which there was not more or less frost.

PRECIPITATION:

During the last eighty-three years the average rainfall
has been 39.71 inches at Cincinnati, and for the last
twenty-four, 37.61. The least of any year was 1856, in
which but 22.88 inches fell; and the greatest was 69.42,
in 18!7, followed by 49.17 in I-858. Thirt.y-nine inches

may be considered as the average or mean rainfall of Cler­
mont County, though it is shown by one set of tables that
it has been 43.80 since 1840, which would make it
more. For thirty years, ending Jan. 1, 1880, the spring
precipitation has been 10.54 inches; summer, 10.33;
autumn, 8.76; winter, 7.98. It often occurs that one-half
of the rainfall is in one of the four divisions.

One of the greatest droughts ever experienced in· the
county was in 1806, when there was no rain from the 1tith
of June nntil thc 3d of September. The~wintel' of 1855­
56 was extremely dry, only two inches of rain falling from
the 1st of December until the 8th of May. The summers
of 1867, 1871, 1873, and 1874 were very dry, yet good
crops were rail:ied, as what rain fell came at the right time.
In 1875, during the mouths of June and July, seventeen
inches of rain fell. In June it rained all but ten days, and
in July all but four.

'Vet seasons are not so inj urious since the greater part of
the forests llave been cleared oft' as they were years ago, for·
the reason that the older the country gets and the less
forest-area, the more readily will the surface-water escape by
natural and artificial drainage. Again, soil t.hat is tilled for
any length of time becomes more compact in structure than
new land, which il:i, like a sponge, capable ofabsorbing or hold­
ing a large amoun t of moisture and giving it out as required.
Had it not been for this peculiarity of new land, vegetation
must have perished in the drought of 1806.

SNOW.

The average fall of snow for Cincinnati is not far from
twenty inches aiWlually, while one degree fill'ther north it is
almost thirty-five. On the 1st, 2d, and 3d of January,
1806, it fell to the depth of twenty-foul' inches. On the
19th of January, 1846, twenty-two inches fell, and on the
18th of January, 1862, twenty-eight, which was the greatest
fiill ever noted in Southern Ohio. During the winter of
1855-56 it fell to the depth of sixty-nine inches, and sixty­
four were recorded for the winter of 1865-66. Snow
seldom talls before the 20th of October, and not later than
the 10th of April. On the 20th of April, 1814, it fell to
the depth of ten inches, and 0.11 the 11th of the same month,
ill 1875, four were recorded. The latest one- ever noted in
Clermont County fell on the 14th of 1\1ay, 1864, to the
depth of one inch.

WINDS.

The most prevalent wind in this section of Ohio is the
southwest, frOID which direction it has blown two hundred
days out of three hundred and sixty five during the last
twenty-five years, and is the prevalent one nine out of the
twelve months. In December, January, and February the
northwest is the most prevalent, and ranks next to the south­
west, taken as a whole.

The west wind blows mostly during the winter months,
while the east, north, and south are nearly equal as to
prevalency. The southwest winds are of two classes, viz. :
humid and arid. The former is always followed by more
or less precipitation; the latter succeeds it. The one comes
before it is needed; the other is needed before it comes.
The southern winds are more prevalent than the northern,
and the western than the eastern.
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INDIAN SUMMER.

Generally in the autumn of every year we have a period
to which this appellation is affixed. It usually succeeds
fl:osts, rain, or snow, beginning in October, or the 1st of
November, continuing for one, two, and three weeks, and
sometimes longer, with occasional storms. But the pecu­
liarity, and from what it takes its name, is the atmosphere,
which is sinoky, dry, and serene, through which sun and
moon exhibit at morning and evening faces of darkened
crimson. During this period the verdure of the forests
fades away or passes into the countless varieties of brown,
red, and yellow, which givc to the surrounding scenery a
dull and sombre aspect. The occurrcnce of a min with a
northwest wind at length suddenly dispels the gloom, strips
the woods of its remaining foliage, and introduces winter
with a transparent and cheering atmosphere. The cause
of this smokiness' is supposed to be (or was formerly) the
burning by the Indians of the withered gl'ass and herbs on
the extensive prai~ies to the northwest, and hence the
name of the season, which in Clermont County is of un­
surpassed loveliness, and is probably caused by the same
conditions of the atmosphere as the November fogs of
England.

EARTHQUAKES.

The first shock ever experienced in Cler~ont County
was the one of May 5, 1804. Though this and successive
shocks were not attended by any of the appalling calami­
ties that have been noted in other parts of' the continent,
nor is it reasonable to suppose that'they ever will, yet their
history cannot fail to interest the reader. The next one
was felt Dec. 16, 1811, at twenty-four minutes after two
P.M. The motion was a quick oscillation or rocking from
east to west, and lasted for seven minutes. It was preceded
by a low rumbling or rushing noise. It was so violent as
to agitate the loose furniture, open partition-doors,-those
fastened with falIing.latches,-and throw off the tops of a.
few chimneys. The log house formerly occupied by Oscar
Johnston, in Union township, was noticed to shake violently
by its occupants, who expected it to be thrown down every
moment. One peculiarity aQ,9ut this shock was that it
varied so much in different localities. On the 17th, 18th,
and 31st slight shocks were felt. On the 3d of January
another one occurred. Again on the 23d and 27th, and
February 4th, 5th, and 6th. On the 17th, at, forty-five
minutes past three A.~I., there were alarming shocks in
succession, more violent than any before noted, throwing
down the tops of chimneys, making wide fissures in the
back-walls, and producing vertigo and nausea in a greater
number of people than those previously felt. On the 8th
there wJlre three shocks, and one on the 11th, 13th, 15th,
16th, 17th, 20th, 21st, 22d, and 23d. March 3d, one j

5th, threE!; 11th, one; April 30th, one. Shocks were
felt May 4th and lO'th, June 25th and 26th, September
15th, December 22d, March 6, 1813, and December 12th.
Theil' TOCUS was at New Madrid, Mo., and they were gener­
ally of a horizontal direction and moved south-southeast.
In 1859 a slight shock was felt in September, and again in
1864; but these were scarcely perceptible.

storms of violence have ever been noted that came from
those ~wo points.

CLOUDS.

From 1807 to 1879 in Clermont County the average
clear days out of the three hundred and sixty-five was one
hundred and seventy-two j cloudy, one hundred and four j

variable, eighty-ninc. July, August, and Septeoiber have
the greatest number of clear days, while November, Decem­
ber, and January have the most cloudy. The most preva­
lent clouds in summer are the nirnbus, curnulo-st1'atus, and
st1'utUS j in winter, st1'atus, cirro-stratus, and curnulo-st1·atus.

STORMS.

A majority of them come from the north and southwest.
If from any other direction, they are of a loflal nature j if
accompanied by wind, generally occur from one to five P.~!.

Before the settlement of the county a tornado passed near
the present site of WiIIiamsburgh, destroying immense quan­
tities of timber, not leaving a tree standing in a large area j

from that fact the locality took the name of the " Fallen
Timber." On the 15th of May, 1814, one of the most
terrific hailstorms ever recorded passed over the county.
Hailstones were found weighing eight to ten ounces and
measuring' fifteen to sixteen inches in circumference. In
connection with this storm was a singular phenomenon:
At the time the hail fell there was but a slight wind; but,
immediately after, a violent one from the 'southwest set in,
accompanied by waves of heated air, which caused the
leaves of many of the trees to wither which had not been
exposed to the fury of the storm. The first general tor­
nado that ever passed over the county occurred Sunday,
1\'lay 28, 1819. It originated in the northel"D part of Ten­
nessee and terminated in Pennsylvania, traveling in a north­
west direction, having a velocity of eighty miles per hour.
Its path was marked with destruction. Trees, fences,
houses, and buildings of all kinds were destroyed, and the
loss of life exceeded fifty. On the 10th of June, 1840,
the county was again visited by a tornado. It came from
the southwest, and did an immense amount of damage to
the growing crops, felling trees and unroofing buildings.
A few weeks after, the neighborhood of Boston was visited
by a hailstorm of unusual severity; but was loc~l, as they
generally, are. On the 21st of May, 1860, one of the
most violent windstorms ever experienced in this latitude
passed over Clermont County. It came from the northwest
and occurred at half-past two P.l\!., lasting one hour and
ten minutes. It destroyed over fifty thousand dollars'
worth of timber, besides doing an immense amount of
other damage. Its path was foul' hundred and fifty miles
long and one hundred and fifty wide, and its force was not
abated until it, reached the great lakes.. The storms on
Stonelick in 1866, and neal' Goshen in 1876, were very
severe. They had a vertical as well as a horizontal motion.
Storms of that character in this latitude are always local.
A great many storms have occurred in the county at differ­
ent dates of great violence, but local in their nature. A
careful stpdy of them shows that the most violent have
occurred irt the months of May, June, and September, and
that they have almost universally coine from the southwest.
In winter storms of continuous rain CODie from the north
and southeast, and seldom, if ever, from the west. No

4
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CHAPTEIt IV.

PREHISTORIC RACES.

IN Clermont County, as elsewhere in the Ohio Valley,
we find earthworks, in the form of mounds, elevated squares,
walls, and ditches, of which its inhabitants at the time it
was first explored by the whites knew nothing as to their
Ol'i~in or history. But by common consent they have been
decided to be tIle work of the Mound-Builders, a prehistoric
race whose works in Ohio number ten thousand mounds
and fifteen hundred inclosures. Of these, two hundred of
the former and seven of the latter are found in Clermont
County. Ethnologists have divided the period of prehistoric
man into two ages,-viz., Stone and Metal,-and the former
into three epochs. Of these epochs the Mound-Builders
belonged to the highest in the scale of civilization,-viz.,
the Polished Stone,-as attested by their implements of
peace and war, or, in other words, of the chase, of industry;
and of omament, which hate been found'in great numbers
in this country. Again, they have been subdivided, in
regard to pursuits, into three classes,-viz., agricultural,
military, effigy. Of these subdivisions, the Mound-Builders
in this county belonged to the first. As to their origin
and history, space will not admit of an ethnological discus­
sion, involving, as it would, man's origin and antiquity and
the merits and demerits of accepted biblical and geological
chronologies. But suffice to say they were a race that at
one time extended their rule over two·thirds of the Amer­
ican continent, having the tropics as a common centre, from
which they radiated north and south j and that they in the
course of time were either destroyed by pestilence or con­
quered by another people, who had not reached so high a
point in the scale of civilization, is an undisputed fact. As
to their antiquity, there are no proofs to be found in this
county, as in others, that they were contemporary with the
mammoth, mastodon, and other extinct animals, or that
there has been any change in its fauna or flora since their
advent, or that their works have been abandoned for a
longel' period thun a thousand years, which to some extt:nt
rival those of the Shepherd Kings. Constructed as they
have been of earth, the force of erosion would have almost
obliterated them, or at least<lthe lessel' ones, had they been
built .for a longer period than from one thousand to fifteen
hundred years. Again, the condition of the skeletons
flmnd in them, when the composition of the soil forming
these works is taken into consideration, shows that they are
not of as remote an origin as would be supposed.

That they were a numerous people cannot be doubted
when we think of the immense number of thefr inclosures,
mounds, and hearths or camping-places, and tl{e· numerous
implements of agriculture and manufacture. In this county
the e.vidences that they were an agricultural people are
abundant. Their pestles, mortars, and corn-mills are living
witnesses. They no doubt, from the lQcation of their works;
partly subsisted by fishing and hunting, which the valley
of the east fork in olden time was typical ground. That
they had a system of religion and worshiped the sun, moon,
and elements, especially fire, is a self-evident fact from the
number of sacrificial mounds found in the county (and if
they did not, they are an exception to the many prehistoric

races that have liad an existence since man's creation). Of
geometry they must have had some knowledge, from the
form of their works i for in their construction we find cir­
cles, squares, octagons, combs, triangles, and cones.

Their works, as to purpose, have been divided into two
general classes,-viz., inclosures and mounds. The first has
been subdivided into three classes,-viz" military, sacred,
and miscellaneous j the second into four,-viz., sacrificial,
temple-sites, sepulchral, and observation. Of the works
belonging to the first class, they are all constructed of earth
in this county j of the second, a few of earth and stone
combined. That there is some difficulty in giving the sub,.
class to which each of the works belong is plain when so
many of them have been despoiled, and others not a few
have not been examined internally. It being impossible to
give a detailed description of all of the numerous works in
the county, only typical ones under each head will be given.
In this connection mention should be made of the fact that
in this county t.here seems to have been a series of works
belonging together. Thus we have those of upper and
lower east fork, Upper Stonelick, Lower Twelve-Mile, and
Indian.

IN CLOSURES.

Of the inclosures, the one near Milford, on the farm of
Rev. George Gatch, deceased, is the largest found in the
county. Itf; form is nearer that of a trapezoid than of any
other geometrical figure, and may be said to consist of two
inclosures. The area inclosed by its walls is eighteen acres,
which are at the present time four feet in height (formerly.
eight) and truncated. At each angle there is an opening
about eight feet wide, and opposite that, at a distance of
twenty feet from the angle, is a low mound. The ditch is
on the inside of the parapet. This inclosure, from its to­
pographical sit.uation (being on the second bottoms, sur­
rounded on three sides by high hills, and no means of ob­
taining water save 'from the east fork and l\Iiami River,
distant one-half mile), leaves no doubt that it belongs to
that class regarded as sacred. Near Perin's Mills, on the
fhrms of Ira Perin, Esq., and William Malott, deceased, are
two inclosures of the same class. They inclose ten acres
each, and have the form of. perfect squares. Their walls,
when first seen by the whites, were five feet in height, but
at present are but three. 1?hey also have openings at each
angle, wit.h mounds opposite them on the outside. On the
farm of Ezekiel Edwards, near Elstun's Station, in Union
township, is another one, with the exception of its form
and area, similar to those described above. Its form is that
of a rhomboid, and its area fifteen acres. On the farm

. of E. C. Patchell, in Stonelick, is a circular one, situated
on both sides or the Cincinnati turnpike. Its walls are
from three to five feet in height, and inclose eight acres.
Its northern line borders on Stonelick Creek. On the
east side, a short distance from the wall, is a low mound,
three feet high and one hundred and eighty in circumfer­
ence, composed of· broken limestone and red sand and clay
mixed. On the farm of Jonathan Shaw, in 9hio town­
ship, is an inclosure covering an area of some extent. Its
shape is that of a triangle. When first discovered its walls
were five feet in height, wit4 a moat outside of the parapet
three feet deep, in which water stood during a greater por-
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tion of the year. This, unlike the preceding ones, is situ­
ated on a high table~land ovcrlooking the valley of Twelve­
Mile Creek, and was no doubt used as a fortress.

WALLS.

On the fhrm of Mrs. Elizabeth Hartman, in Jackson
township, is a wall some four feet in height, with the ditch
on the outside. Its shape is that of a crescent, and it is
some thirty rods in length. Whether this is part of an in­
tended inclosure or was made as a means of defense the
writer is unable to say.

MOUNDS.

Of the class sacrificial, they are numerous in this county.
Of these, the one on the farm of John Hadly, in Jackson
township, is the largest. It is twelve feet in height and
sixty in circumference. Though not fully examined, enough
was seeu to justify the assertion. 01;1 the farm of B. F.
Clark, in Wayne township, is one that has been closely
examined·; also one on the farm of G. 1. Irving, in Miami
township.

That the reader may have a general knowledge of their
contents, composition, etc., let it be said that they are gen­
erally stratified, the strata being convex layers of clay and
loam alternating above a layer of fine sand. They generally
contain ashes, charcoal, igneous stones, calcined bones, beads,
stone implements, and pottery. On the farms of B. F.
Clark and Elijah Cowen are three mounds unlike any
others examined by the writer, but probably belonging to
this class. They are situated on the northern slope of the
Stonelick hills, fifty feet above low-water mark in that
stream, are three feet in height and thirty in circumference,
and are composed of rock and earth. The rocks, which are
limestone, show that they have been subject to a great heat.
The earth, which is a tough clay, also shows the effects of
fire. All through the mass ashes, charcoal, and great quan­
tities of bones are found, some calcined and some not, and,
taken as a whole, indicates that the Mound-Bu£lders had a
knowledge of cremation.

Of the temple-mounds, there are none found in .this
county.

Of the sep'ulchral, they are very abundant in the county,
and number at least one hundred and twenty-five. They
are conical in shape and range from three to fifteen feet in
height, and always contain, so far as examined, from one to
five skeletons. In a majority you find evidences of fire from
the color of the earth and the finding of ashes and char­
coal. You also find in them implements of war, industry,
and ornament, such as mica, pottery, copper, brass, plum­
mets, flint knives, breastplates, and pipes, in close proximity
to the skeletons.

The largest of these is on the farm of Benjamin John­
ston, in Jackson township, and is situated. on the table-land,
distant two hundred yards from the east fork. It is fifteen
feet in height and sixty in diameter, and when first dis­
covered had slabs of limestone sitting perpendicular in its
apex. I~ is composed of a yellow sana, which has been
subjected to a great heat. Near Williamsburgh, on the farm
of Francis Leffingwell, are two of this class that are at least
six hundred years old, from. the s~zc of the trees growing

on them. ~rhey have been examincd and a great many
skeletons taken out; also pottery, pipes, and arrowheads
have been found. On the farm of Geary Hutchinson, in
Jackson township, are six low mounds on the north bank
of the east fork that have cists or stone chests in them,
inclosing a skeleton each. Thes,e cists are made by re­
moving the'surface-earth a few inches in dept~, over whic11
flat stones were laid. On the sides and ends the sallle kind
of stones were set on edge. In this the body was put in
a sit.ting position and the top covered with flat stones, and
over all earth was placed to the depth of from onc to
three feet. In size, the cists are from four to six feet in
length, two in width, and about the same in height. On
the farm of J. D. McKeever, in Williamsburgh township,
are two mounds entirely composed of stone. In these there
are cists, which radiate from the centre in all directions,
making their circumference from thirty to ninet.y feet.
Over these cists are loose stone, instead of earth, to the
height of four feet. On the farm of Ezekiel Hutchinson,
in Jackson township, in connection with a sepulchral mound,
is a circular depression two feet in depth and eighteen in
diameter.

In this connection it might be well to remark that there
are several prehistoric cemeteries in this county. The IDost ..
prominent ones are located near the Miami township ceme- t
tery, on the Cincinnati turnpike, on the farm of Oliver
Perin, in Union township, and on the farm of Moses
Elstun, Esq., in the same township. in all of these
implements are found in connection with the skeletons.
The one on the farm of Moses Elstun, Esq., is situated on
what is called" Sand Ridge," which runs at right angles
with the east fork. In this cemetery the skeletons are
found about two feet below the surface, in cista. On the
farm of Daniel Turner, at the mouth of Dry Rim, is one,
which, as to the number of skeletons found in it, is the
largest of any found so far in the county. It is situated on
the brow of the hill, overlooking the east fork valley, at an
elevation of two hundred feet above it. Its area is about
forty feet square, inclosed by flat stones set on edge. This
cemetery seems to be a large ditch, in which the bodies
have been buried, one on top of the other, to the depth of
five feet.,' and over which is a~tratum of earth two feet in
thickness. The immense number of skelctons found here
with no evidences of fire, and tlie finding of no imple­
ments, lends the writer to believe that it is not of prehistoric
origin.

In the skeletons found in the above mou,!ds, etc., therc
is a similarity. The forehead is. 'low, making thc facial
angle less than the negro, arid the maxillary bones are un­
usually large, and so are the femur, which would, in pro­
portion, make a lllan eight feet in height. One of the
largest skeletons noted by the writer was found in the Sand
l·tidge cemetery. The skull was in a good state of preser­
vation, together with the teeth; all the rest of the bones
were decompoEcd, with the exception of one of the feBlUrs,
which was unusually large. 1'he cranium, etc., are now in
the possession of thc Uhio Medical College, at Cincinnati,
Ohio.

Of the moullds of ouservation there are not a few in this
county, mo~tly situatcd upon eminences, appearing in
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chains or regular systems, and still bear traces of the
beacon-fires that once burned upon them. On the east
fork and the Ohio River hills they are the most abundant.
They vary in height from three to fifteen feet, and are com­
posed of loam. On the farms of Dr. 'Vood, near Chilo, of
John Shaw, near New Richmond, and of W. F. and G. M.
Roudebush, in Pierce township, are good examples of this
class. There are no animals, mounds, or effigies in Cler­
mont County.

It has been stated that the Mound-Builders in Clermont
County were an agricultural people, but part.ly subsisting
by the products of the chase and the inhabitants of the
various streams found in it or on its border. To till the
soil, manufacture cloth, hunt and fish, and ornament the
person all required specific implements, which, as to use,
have been divided into the following classes, viz., war,
hunting and fishing, agriculture, mauuf.'l.ctures, and orna­
ment.

These implements were made of stone, bone, and red
hematite iron-ore, in general terms.

The implements of 1Oa1' were grooved stone battle-axes,
arrowheads of the following forms,-triangular, indented,
stemmed, barbed, leaf-shaped, lozenge-shaped, disk-shaped,
and beveled,-spearheads, lance-points, and the bow and
arrow. In size the battle-axes vary from :five to fifteen
pounds in weight, with a cutting-surface from three to six
inches. A large majority of them were made from green­
stone and porphyry. Of the arrowheads, two inches in
length and one in breadth may be considered the average.
They were generally made of white quartz, chalcedony,
agate, and chert, the great.er portion being made of the
latter. The spearheads and lance-points were used both in
war and .in the chase~ and are from :five to eleven inches in
length and from one t(, two in breadth; in material they
are similar to the arrowheads. Of the bow and arrow but
little or nothing is known except that the heads of the
latter are very numerous.

Of fishing and hunting, spearheads, sinkers, cables, bows
and arrows, and lance-points. The sinkers are, as to shape,
double cones, with one end blunted sometimes, and the
other running to a point, through which a hole has been
drilled from both sides or _.with a small groov.e running
around it. But there, is a difference of opinion as to the
use of this class of implements. Some claim that they
were used for weaving in holding the threads taut. In

• size they are from two to three inches in length, and about
the same in circumference. As to composition, they are
generally made of white quartz, porphyry, and red hema­
tite iron-ore. The cables we~'e large stones weighing from
ten to fifty pounds, and of various materials gnd forms.
One was found a few years ago on the tarm of Joseph
Bickin~, in Jackson township, and is now in the collection
of the State Agricultural College, at Columbus, Ohio.

Of agricultltre the implements were axes, hoes, spades,­
and hatchets. It is hard to decide to which division the
various forms of axes belonged, but enough is known to
prove that they were used in felling trees, etc. From the
peculiar form of some of the implements found, they have
been given the name of hoes and spades, which were made
from chert and greenstone, an-d weigh from one to six

pounds. The hatchets were used for felli~g trees and
other purposes, and are distinguished from the axes in not
being grooved, of less size and different material, and, too,
that only the cutting-edge is polished, while the rest of the
surface is chipped. They are always of some kind of flint.

The implements of manufacturing are numerous. Celts,
pestles, corn-mills, chisels, grooves, scrapers, shuttles, plum­
mets, knives, and rimmers are among the most important.•
The celts are wedge-shaped and. polished, with a cutting­
surface of from three to six inches, and vary in length £I'om
four to twelve. They were used for cutting wood and as a
sort of battle-axe in time of war, and were made from
porphyry and greenstone. Pestles (or hominy-pounders)
are so well known as to shape and use that a further de- .
scription is nseless. As to material, those made of rose­
quartz, porphyry, and greenstone are the most abundant.
Corn-mills are generally found in $it'll, and are. usually
erratics, having an artificial depression, in which the corn
was placed, and by a rotary motion of the pestle, in the
hands of the good housewife, made into meal or hominy.
The use of the chisel is not known to a certainty, but is
supposed to have been for building canoes, etc., and so
with the groove. The scraper was used in the dressing of
skins, and in form is crescent-shaped (or a half-moon), with
the thickest part on the straight edge and the cutting on
the curved. From the peculiar form of a certain relic it
has been thought to have been used as a shuttle in weaving.
Its length is generally three inches, width two, and thick­
ness from an eighth to an inch. Near the ends are holes
that have been started from opposite sides. From the
manner in which their cloth was woven, it certainly would
have answered for that purpose. Of the knives there are
various shapes, but the most common one is that of an oval
with both edges chipped for cutting-surfaces. On Sand
Ridge twenty-four of this form were found in one grave.
Another shape is that of a dagger. Of this form one was
found a few years ago on the farm of OK M. Patchell, at
Stonelick. Their length varies from one to three inches,
and from one-half to one in width. -

In a great many implements found are one, two, and
sometimes more, holes, whic;h have been drilled with pre­
cision, and that they had some instrument fo; that purpose
is a self-evident fact. Great numbers of an instrument
such as would -make tl:~ose perforations have been found
and described, but in general, as to shape, they resemble
that instrument from which they have been named,-a
?·imme1'. They vary as to length, being from one to six
inches, barbed at one end, and chipped or polished to a

-sharp point at the other. In the collection of P. T. Stuart,
at Perin's Mills, are some of the largest ever seen by the
writer.

Under the head of 01'namental come breastplates, ban­
ner-stones, paint-cups, pipes, and pottery. To give a de­
scription of all these implements would be impossible in this
connection. First of the three, they are generally, as to
composition, of Huron slate,-a slate that takes.",and holds
a polish and is very beautiful in appearance, being alter­
nating bands of black and green. Of the pipes, they are
of various forms and composition; some are merely a
straight tnbe, while others approximate to those of the
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modern;. As to material, gray and red clay and Huron
slate are the most predominant. '

In the collections of Dr. J. H. Thompson, Enoch John­
ston, S. J. Rybolt, Dr. A. B. Anshutz, Frank Iuen, Miss
Nora Lee, L. C. Moore, G. M. Roudebush, Cary Hartman,
P. T. S~uart, and the writer, all· the above named and de­
scribed implements can be seen, aggregating ten thousand
arrowheads, five hundred axes, about the same number of
celts, spearheads, and lance-points, together with a large
number of ornamental and miscellaneous articles. To
these persons belongs the honor of making Clermont
County what it should be, what it was intended to be,­
viz., classical ground for the archreologist, To the pro­
found questions of the ethnologist who the Mound-Builders
were, whence they came, and whither they went, we can
only reply to a certainty that they once lived here; here
cultivated the soil; here worshiped,-perhaps with the
solemn rites of human sacrifice; here planned and executed
mighty works of organized labor; and then passed away.
We find their inclosures, their mounds, their burial-places
and sacrificial altars, in the distinctive character of which
they were as marked a people as the Pelasgi, whose pre­
historic works can yet be traced throughout Greece and
Italy,

Of the many prehistoric specimens found in Ohio the one
here figured, from its size, form, and probable use, is the
most interesting. .

PRE-HISTORIC STONE.

It was found on the farm now owned by Peter Gormen,
in Stonelick township, in 1818, by John Davidson, as he
in company with several others was blazing a road from
Batavia to Goshen, by way of Glancy's Mills. The mate­
rial is red granite, and is very compact in structure, its
height being thirty-five inches; circumference of base ninety
inches. In reply to the questions, Could it not have been
the work of attrition or of the white man? I would say that
its composition and structure is the same throughout, and
has no veins of quartz in it, and that its projections are the
same as to width and thickness, and their edges square and
not convex, as would be the case if made by attrition. To
the second question: There are no chisel marks on it, it
being so hard no one would have attempted to have worked
it into any form, especially the present one. At the time
of' its discovery it bore evidences of having been made for
a long time, which would preclude the idea of its being
made by the whites. If it had been worked 'by the whites,
after spending so much labor on it they would certainly
have removed it to their place of residence and not left· it
in the primitive forests. It is probable that it was a coun-

cil-stone, from which speeches were made. It is now in the
possession of Mrs. B. Blythe, of Boston, who uses it for
a horse-block.

CHAPTER V.

THE INDIANS - THEIR TRIBAL RELATIONS ­
PERILS AND ADVENTURES OF SAVAGE LIFE,
AND THE CONFLICTS. WHICH OPENED THE
WAY FOR THE WHITE SETTLERS-INDIAN·
BATTLE IN CLERMONT COUNTY - INCIDENTS
AND TRAILS.

THE territory that now constitutes Ohio was first of all,
so far as can be learned, in the full possession of the race of
Mound-Builders; afterwards (but still in prehistoric times)
its sole occupants and owners for some centuries were un-.
questionably Indian tribes or nations, many of whom, still
later, were subjected to expulsion or extermination from
internecine feuds. They, as well as the Mound-Builders,
held titles acquired probably by priority of discovery, by
conquest, by occupancy, or by possession.

Nothing reliable or authentic is known of the various
Indian tribes that occupied the vast territory that now
comprises the State of Ohio, from the time of the de­
parture or disappearance of t,he Mound-Builders until the
closing years of the first half of the eighteenth. century.

·Their history, therefore, anterior to the ye;tr 1750 is ex­
tremely meagre. They had no annalist, no historian, and

· perhaps had made but little history worthy of record during
many recurring generations, centuries, and ages. It is true
that we have traditions running b~ck to the year 1656 re­
lating to the destruction by the Iroquois of the once power­
ful Eries, who inhabited the southern shores of Lake Erie,
except a small remnant which ultimately intermingled with
the Senecas, but they are properly regarded as unverified
traditions, and nothing more.

· And equally unreliable and unauthenticated are many of
the' other traditions of the Indian tribes which bear date
before the middle of the last century. About the year
A.D. 1750,. or a little earlier, as .Professor Smucker has
well said and determined, some accurate knowledge of the
Ohio Indians began to be acquired through the Indian
traders operating among them and from explorers; but
little comparatively, however, was known of them with the
certainty of authentic history until after Col. Boquet's
expedition to the towns on the Tuscarawas and Muskin­
gum Rivers, in 1764. The intervening period between
those dates may, therefore, be regarded as the time of the
inauguration of the historic epoch of the Ohio Indians,
the principal tribes being the TVyandots (called HU1'ons by
the French), the Delawares and Shawanese (both of the
Algonquin group), tbe Miamis (also called TwigtU!ees), the
Mingos (an offshoot from the Iroquois or a fragment of the
Six Nations), and the Ottawas and Chippewas.

The Wyandots occupied the valleys and plains bordering
on the Sandusky River and some other points; the lJela­
·wa1'es possessed the valleys of the Tuscarawas and Muskin­
gum Rivers and a few other places between Lake Erie and
the Ohio River; the Mingos were in greatest force on the
Ohio River about Mingo Bottom, below Steubenville, and
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at other points on said river; also on the Scioto River, but
seldom ever getting as far down as Olermont; the Miamis
were the occupants of the valleys of the Little and Great
Miami Rivers, and disputed the possession of the north­
western part of Clermont; the Shawanese were principally
found in the valleys and lands between the Scioto and Mad
Rivers, and claimed the eastern part of Clermont and all
of Brown Connty; the Ottawas made their homes in the
valleys of the Maumee and Sandusky Rivers; and the
Chippewas, small in numbers, were chiefly confined to the
southern shores of Lake Erie.

By the treaty of Fort McIntosh, made in 1785, the Ot­
tawas, with the Wyandots and Cltippewas, were assigned
to the northern section of what is now the State of Ohio
and west of the Cuyahoga Hiver, having relinquished, by
the terms of said treaty, whatever of claims they had to
other portions of the territory now constituting our State.
The true name of the Delawm'e tribe was Wa-be-nuglt-lca,
-that is, " the people from the East" or " the sun rising."
The tradition among themselves was that they originally, at
some very remote period, emigrated from the West, crossed
the Mississippi, ascending the Ohio, fighting their way until
they reached the Delaware River near where Philadelphia
now stands, in which region of country they became fixed.
About this time they were so numerous that no enumeration
could be made of the nation, and when at the height of
their glory they welcomed to the shores of the New World
that great lawgiver William Penn, for whom and his follow­
ers they ever entertained a kind and grateful recollection. .

The name of the tribe M-iami, in the Ottawa language,
is said to signify" mother," and was originally the designa­
tion of the nation who anciently bore the name of Pe-wight­
e-wee. This tribe were the original inhabitants of the two
Miami Valleys and their tributary streams, and affirmed they
were created in it; hence they occupied, first of all the red
men, the county of Clermont.

The original country of the Wyandots was on the north
side of the St. Lawrence River, and the Senecas owned the
opposite side of the river and the island on which Montreal
now stands. They were both large tribes, consisting of
many thousands, and were blood-relations. A war originated
between them in this way: A man of the Wyandots wanted
a certain woman for his wife, but she objected, and said he
was no warrior and had never taken any scalps. To accom­
plish his object he raised a small war-party, and in their
scout they fell upon a party of Seneca hunters and killed and
scalped a number of them. This procedure began a war
between the nations that lasted more than a century. The
Wyandots, finding they were in danger of being extermi­
nated, concluded to leave their country and go far to tbe
West, and at last settled in Ohio.

Shau;anese means" the south" or" people from the south,"
and Black Hoof, an old warrior of this tribe in Ohio, who
died at the advanced age of one hundred and five years, .
used to say he remembered, when a boy, bathing in the salt
waters of Florida, where his nation then dwelt.

In the" French and Indian war," which ended with the
peace of 1763, the Miamis, HlJandots, Ottawas, and vari­
ous other tribes adhered to the French, while the Dela­
wares, Shawanese, and other nations clung to the liJnglish

side. The French and their allied Indians made' a stand
neal' the present city of Piqua, where, near the head-towns
of the Miamis, a fort had been erected, and were attacked
by English traders with British Indian allies. The siege
continued for more than a week; the fort stood out, and
could not be taken. Soon after this contest, the 1Jliamis
and their allies left this part of the country and removed
farther northwest, and never returned. The Shawanese
took their places, and were the Indians who afterwards
claimed Clermont,-subject, however, to the claims of the
Mingos; but the latter seldom ventured so far down the
Ohio HiveI' as to materially affect the possessory rights of
the former.

Rev. Christian Frederick Post, a native of Conitz, in Pol­
ish Prussia, came to America in 1742, and first exercised the
functions of a Moravian missionary in 1743, after having
acquired some knowledge of the language of the Indians..
In th e summer of 1758 he was appointed by the Governor
of Pennsylvania as a bearer of a message to the Delawa1'e;,
Shawanese, and Mingos of the Ohio Valley to persuade
them to withdraw from the French interest, and to return
to their allegiance to the English. The results were so
satisfactory as to secure Rev. Mr. Post's services for the
second time on a similar errand to those and other tribes
in the Ohio Valley and on the tributaries of the Ohio
River, including the Scioto and Little Miami. His jour­
nals of these several visits disclose the important fact that
he came very near establishing the quarters of his mission­
work near what is most probably now Bullskin Creek, of
this county, but, from some considerations and matters of
slight moment, was induced, at last, to locate his field of
labors in Tuscarawas County, where he failed in his efforts,
but where, nine years later, the Rev. David Zeisberger
succeeded in planting a mission, from which sprang, in a
few subsequent years, the prosperous and Christian Mora­
vian settlements. A very trifling circumstance, as judged
by Rev. Mr. Post's journals, must have been the means
of diverting his chosen site from this county to that of
Tuscarawas; but, whatever it was, it succeeded, and made
a grand history for the location he chose.

By the terms of the treaty of Fort Stanwix, concluded
with the Iroquois or Six Nations (Moltawlcs, Onondagas,
Senecas, Cayltgas, Tuscaroras, and Oneidas), Oct. 22,
1784, the indefinite claim of said confederacy to the greater
part of the valley of Ohio was extinguished. This was
followed, in January, 1785, by the treaty of Fort Mc­
Intosh, by which the Delawares, Chippewas, Wyandots,
and Ottawas relinquished all claim to the Ohio Valley,
and established the boundary-line between them and the
United States to be the Cuyahoga River and along the
main branch of the Tuscarawas to the forks of said river,
neal' Fort Laurens; thence westwardly to the portage be­
tween the headwaters of the Great Miami and the Mau­
mee or Miami of the Lakes; thence down said river to
Lake Erie, and along said lake to the mouth of Cuyahoga
River. A similar relinquishment was effected by the
treaty of Fort Finney (at the mouth of the Great Miami),
concluded with the Shawnees on Jan. 31, 1786. The
treaty of Fort Harmar, held by Gen. St. Clair, Jan. 9, 1789,
was mainly confirmatory of the treaties previously made.
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The rights and titles acquired by the Indians under the
foregoing treaties were extinguished by the general govern­
ment by purchase, in pursuance of various treaties subse­
quently made. From the time of the organization of the gov­
ernment of the" Northwest Territory," in 1788, until the
ratificati,on of the" treaty of Greenville," sometimes called
"Wayne's treaty," in 1795, the attitude of many of the
Western Indian tribes towards the white settlers in the new
Territory was that ofextreme, unrelenting hostility. The ag­
gressions of t.he red men were now frequent, and the native
tribes resented the settlement of the whites upon their soil,
although they came under the sanction of treaties, as an
intrusion. The bitter enmity which existed between them
and the people of Kentucky caused them to look upon all
Americans as enemies, and they were strongly stimulated
to deeds of violence by the influence of the garrisons of the
military posts retained by the British in open disregard of
the treaty'of 1783, and by renegade traders everywhere es­
tablished among them. The military organizations which
had marched against the savages before the establishment
of civil government in the great Northwest had signally
failed to subjugate them or secnre a permanent cessation of
hostilities. The disastrous expedition of Gen. Braddock,
in 1755, of Maj. Wilkins, in 1763, of Col. Bradstreet, in
1764, of Col. J.Jochry, in 1781, and of Col. Crawford, in
1782, and the disgraceful and murderous expedition
against the Moravian Indians on the Tuscarawas, in the
last-named year, only tended to inflame the hostile Indian
tribes and inspire them with greater courage in the forward
movements and aggressive measures against the white set­
tlers. The fruitless, if not abortive, attempts and cam­
paigns of Col. McDonald, in 1774, of Gen. McIntosh, in
1778, and of Gen. Broadhead, in 1781, of course led to no
salutary effects. Even the successful campaigns of Col.
Boquet, in 1763-64, of J.Jord Dunmore and Gen. Lewis, in
1774, and of Gen. George Rogers Clark, in 1778, failed to
secure a permanent peace with the Western Indian tribes.
The inhabitants of the Northwest Territory were, there­
fore,-from the 7th of' April, 1788, when the first immi­
grants arrived; at the mouth of the Muskingum, and the
previous fall and winter, when O'Bannon was surveying and
locating government entries in the southern townships of
Clermont, until the treaty of Greenville was concluded, in
August, 1795,-constantly liable to the stealthy but deadly
attacks of the perfidious, merciless savage tribes of the
Northwest. It does not appear that at this time the In­
dians had experienced any injuries at the hands of the im­
migrants, who, in general, were pacific but fearless men.
The settlers were disposed to deal justly and in good faith
with their savage neighbors and were averse to bloodshed,
but in the hour of danger and trial they.exhibited daring
courage and steady resolution. They were not hunters
who cared little whether their game were red men or wild
beasts, but they were men who preferred to be citizens,
stilI knew how to be soldiers, and they met their dastardly,
cruel, unrelenting foes in the spirit of genuine manhood,­
of true, determined, unflinching heroism. They were men
worthy of the heroic age of the West, and bravely did
they bear themselves during those seven years of' toil and
privations, of dread and apprehension, of suffering and sor-

row, of blood and carnage, and left a rich heritage to their
descendants and the more fortunat43 pioneers following in
their footsteps.

- To avert from the new settlements the da~gers which
threatened them, the government first resorted to negotia­
tions j but, these proving unavailing, Gen. Harmar, then
commander-in-chief of the military department of the
West, was ordered to attack the Indian towns. In pursu­
ance of his instructions, he marched from Fort Washington,
at Cincinnati, in September., 1790, with about thirteen.
hundred men, of whom less. th~n one-fourth were regulars,
the balance of his troops being Pennsylvania and Kentucky
volunteers, the former being under the immediate command
of Col. John Hardin, and the latter of Col. Trotter. When
near the Indian villages on the Miami an advanced detach­
ment of two hundred and ten men, consisting mostly of
militia, fell into an ambush, and was defeated Wit}! severe
loss. Notwithstanding this check, the villages on the Mi­
ami were reduced to ashes, and the standing corn and other
means of savage subsistence were entirely destroyed.

Having accomplished this set:vice, the army commenced
its march homewards, but had not proceeded far, however,
when Gen. Harmar received intelligence that the Indians
had returned to their ruined towns. He immediately de­
tached about one-third of his remaining force, under the
command of Col. Hardin, with orders to bring· them to an
engagement. Early the next morning this detachment
reached the confluence of' the St. Joseph and St. Mary's
Rivers, both tributaries of the Maumee, where they were
encountered by a large body of savages, and a terrible en­
gagement ensued. The Indians fought with all the fury
of savage vengeance, and the militia and regulars alike be­
haved with the most Spartan gallantry and bravery, but
suffered a most mortifying defeat. These battles were
fought on the 19th and 22d of October, 1790, "and in this
last and most fatal action more than one hundred of the
militia, and, except nine, all the regulars perished, and the
rest were driven back to the main body. Dispirited by this
final severe misfortune, Harmar attempted nothing further
against the enemy, but continued his march to Cincinnati,
and of course his campaign failed to give peace or relief
from apprehended barbarities. In fact, there had been a
signal failure of the expedition's accomplishing its objects,
and hence the audacity of savage aggression was not at all
restrained. The property of the settlers was now in con­
stant peril of destruction, and many persons were killed
and others carried into captivity, to- be adopted, sold, or
tortured at the pleasure of their captors. The settlements
on the purchase of the" Ohio Company" shared heavily in
these calamities, though in a less degree than those of the
Virginia Reservation, between the Little Miami and Scioto
Rivers, which latter acquired in Kentucky the significant
name of "the Miami Slaughter-house." The· land-surveys
by Obannon and other surveyors in Clermont County ceased
entirely, or were only secretly made on the lands ~ontiguous

to the Ohio River, and these in the greatest danger and
apprehension.

In the following year, 1791,· Cornelius Washburn, the
celebrated scout and Indian-fightel', was employed by gov­
ernment agents as a spy between Maysville, Ky., and the
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mouth of the IJittle Miami, to watch for Indians, who were
accustomed to eross the Ohio into Kentucky to steal and
murder. WhiI~ so engaged he had several encounters with
them, in which his unerring rifle dealt death to many of ~

the redskins. Two of these encounters were in Clermont,
-the county where this famous scout and hunter afterwards
resided for years. When scouting near what is now the
village of Cedron, in this county,-situate in Franklin
township, on Bullskin Creek, and some three miles from its
mouth, where it empties into the Ohio,-Washburn spied
five Indians, when he instantly fired and killed one~ The
four remaining savages pursued him, and, about half a mile
beyond,· one of them having got, in pursuit, within a few
steps, Washburn wheeled and shot, and then continued the
retreat. In less than a mile farther a second one came so
close to him that as he turned to fire he caught the muzzle
of his gun,· when, after a severe struggle, Washburn brought
it to his chest, and discharging it, bis antagonist fell dead.
He still continued on his course, pursued by the two Indians,
all three being pretty well fatigued, and often stopping and
treeing. After going something more than a mile, Washburn
took advantage of an open ground over which the Indians
were passing, and stopped suddenly to shoot the foremost,
who thereupon sprang behind a small sapling. 1Vashburn
fired and wounded him mortally, and the remaining sava~e

then gave a little yell and exclaimed, " No catch that man!
Gun always loaded!" and retreated back into the forest,
leaving Washburn to proceed to the Ohio further unmo­
lested. I.Jater in the season of the sam~ year, while returning
from the mouth of the Little l\1iami, he discovered an In­
dian on Twelve-Mile Creek, in Ohio township, a little over
a mile from the present town of New Richmond, and before
the redskin was probably aware of his being seen his life
was taken by the sure shot of the great spy's never-failing
rifle, which was the terror of his savage foes. This encoun­
ter bappened on what is now the farm of Christian Laub,
a worthy German, who suffers at this day less apprehension
from the red men than from the failure of his grape-fields
to yield a goodly vintage.

The alarming condition of affairs in the Territory inspired
President Washington with fresh anxiety for a more effec·
tive prosecution of the Indian war, and a new army, in
every respect superior to the former, was assembled at Cin­
cinnati in 1791, under the command of Gen. Arthur St.
Clair, the Governor of the Territory, and an officer who had
a Revolutionary record of patriotism and ability, and under
whozp. the speedy terminatiofl of the Indian atroCities was
expected to be secured. The regular force consisted of
three regiments of infantry, two companies of artillery, and
one of cavalry, and the militia numbered about six hdndred
men. With this army St. Clair began, on September 17th,
'his march from Ludlow's Station (six miles from Fort
Washington) towards the Indian towns on the Maumee.
Two forts, Hamilton and Jefferson, were established on the
route, at the distance of about forty miles from each other,
and garrisoned by pa~ties detached from the main army for
that purpose. Shortly after leaving Fort Jefferson a con­
siderable party of the militia mutinied arid deserted in a
body. The First Regiment, under Maj. Hamtranck, was
ordered to pursue them and to secure the advancing con-

voys of provisions, which, it was feared, they designed to
plunder. Thus weakened by desertion and division, St.
Clair approached the Indian towns. On the 3d of Novem·
ber, when within about forty-five miles of the towns, he
halted, intending to throw up some slight fortifications for
the protection of the baggage, and to await the return of
the absent regiment. Misfort.une seemed to have marked
the expedition almost from its commencement, and on the
following morning, about half an hou.r before. sunrise, the
American army was attacked with fiery impetuosity by the
whole force of the Northwestern tribes and totally defeated,
with the loss of more than six hundred officers and soldiers.
The site of this disastrous defeat was near the headwaters
of the Wabash, now in Mercer Co., Ohio, and the battle­
field is known as Fort Recovery. Engaged in this battle
were at least two thousand Indians and fifteen hundred
white men, and of the latter more than half were either
killed or wounded.

Nothing could have been more unexpected than this
severe disaster-this calamity-to the disheartened and
greatly-harassed pioneers of the Territory. Its effect was
deplorable, and the victorious tribes sent runners to the
southern and south western nations to stimulate them to
attacks upon the ~hite settlements j and, consequently, In­
dian outrages of every kind were multiplied, and emigration
was almost entirely suspended. The Federal government
now took the. preliminary steps to raise a large army to
operate against the hostile tribes, for the purpose of finally
and permanently subjugating them, and Congress passed
the necessary laws and the President hastened to carry
them into effect. In the mean time there occurred a battle
in Clermont County,-t,he only fight of any magnitude
known to have ever transpired between the Indians and
whites within its borders.

INDIAN BATTLE IN CLERMONT-TECUMSEH
AND KENTON ENGAGED-THE SAVAGES DE­
FEATED IN A SHARP CONFLICT.

In the month of March, 1792, some horses were stolen
by the Indians from the settlements back' of Maysville,
Mason Co., Ky., and a party of whites, to the number of
thirty-six, was immediately raised for the purpose of pur­
suing them. It embraced Simon Kenton, Cornelius Wash­
burn, Timothy Downing, Benjamin Whiteman, Anthony
Shane, Stephen Ruddell, Alexander McIntyre, John Barr,
-- Calvin, Isaac Ferguson, and several other experienced
woodsmen and famous scouts,-all noted marksmen and
familiar with pioneer hardships. Simon Kenton, the dis­
tinguished Indian-fighter, was placed in command, and next
in authority was the celebrated Cornelius Washburn,
marked in the early struggles with the red men for his
sagacity and courage. Over half a century ago, the prog­
ress of civilization being 800 rapid for him, he left his
'home and kindred in Clermont County for the wilds of the
far West, to pass his time in the congenial ·employment.of
hunting the bear and trapping the beaver, and of his ulti­
mate fate history is uncertain. The Hutchinsons, Har­
lowes, Woods, and Tates, of Jackson township, and the
wife of ex-County Treasurer Joseph Bicking, are grand­
children of Washburn, whose renowned exploits and hair-
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brcadth escapes from the Indians would fill a volume. The
third in command of this company was Timothy Downing,
one of the first settlers of 1Yashington, Ky., and who was'
once captured by the savages near Blue Licks and brought
a prisoner to Ohio by the Shawnees, but escaped by his
strategy and coolness, for which h.e was so noted. He has
a great-granddaughter in Batuvia in 1\1rs. R. J. Bancroft,
whose mother was a Downing, born in 'Vashington, Ky.

Drake, in his life of the celebrated Indian chief Tecum­
seh, says, the trail of the Indians being taken, iF WllS found
that they had crossed the Ohio River just below the mouth
of Lee's Creek, which was reached by the above-mentioned
pursuing-party towards evening. Having prepared rafts,
they crossed the Ohio that night and encamped. Early
the next morning the trail was again taken, and pursued
in a northerly course all day, the weather being bad and
the ground wet. On the ensuing morning twelve of the
men were unable to continue the pursuit, and were per­
mitted to return. The remainder followed the trail until
eleven o'clock in the forenoon, when a bell was heard, which
they supposed indicated their approach to an Indian camp.
A halt was called, all useless baggage and clothing laid
aside, and Benjamin Whiteman and two others sent ahead
as spies in different directions, each being followed by a
detachment of the party. After moving forward some dis­
tance, it was found the bell was appl'Oaching them, where­
upon they halted, and soon perceived a solitary Indian
riding towards them. When within one hundred and fifty
yards he was fired at and killed, whereupon Kenton ordered
the spies to proceed, being now satisfied that the camp of
the Indians was near at hand. They pushed on rapidly,
and after going about four miles found the red men en­
camped on the southeast side of the east fork of the J~ittle

Miami River, in Jackson township, Clermont Co., at Lime­
Kiln Ford, near the mouth of Grassy Run, and on what
are now the lands of Thomas Goldtrap, J. G. Hutchinson,
and Samuel Bicking's heirs,-about two miles south of
Marathon and five miles northeast of Williamsburgh.

The indications of a considerable body of Indians were
so strong that the expediency of an attack at that hour of
the day was doubted by Kenton. A hurried council was
held, in which it was determined to retire if it could be
done without discovery, and lie concealed until night, and
then assault the cam.p. This plan was carried into execu­
tion, and two of the spies were left to watch the Indians
and ascertain whether the pursuing-party had been discov­
ered. The others retreated for some .distance, and took a
commanding position on a ridge. The spies watched until
night, and then reported to their commander that they had
not been discovered by the enemy. The men being wet
and cold, they were now marched down into a hollow,
where they kindled fires, dried their clothes, and put their
rifles in order. The party was then divided into three
detachments, Kenton commanding the right, McIntyre the
centre, and Downing the left. By agreement, the three
divisions wel;e to move towards the camp sim.ultaneously,
and when they had approached as near as possible wit~out

giving an alarm were to be guided in the commencement
of' the attack by the fire from Kenton's party. .

When Downing and his detachment had approached close
5

to the camp an Indian arose upon his feet and began to stir
up the fire, which was dimly burning. Fearing a discovery,
Downing's party immediately shot him down. . This was
followed by a general fire from the three detachments upon
the Indians1 who were sleeping under some marquees and
bark tents, close upon the margin of the east fork. But
unfOl'tunatcly, as it proved in the sequel, Kenton's party
had take~ " Boone" as their watchword. This name, hap­
pening to be as nlmiliar to the enemy as themselves, led to
some confusion in the course of tIle engagement. When
fired upon, the savages, instead of retreating across the
stream, as had been anticipated, boldly stood upon their
arms, returned the fire of the assailants, and rushed upon
them. They were reinforced, moreover, from a camp on the
opposite side of the east fork, which until then had been
unperceived by the whites. In a few minutes the Indians
and Kentuckians were blended with each other, and the
cry of "Boone" and "Cite Boone" arose simultaneously
from each party. .

It was after midnight when the attack was made, and,
there being no moon, it was very dark. Kenton, perceiving
that his men were likely to be overpowered, ordered a re­
treat after the attack had lasted for a few minutes; this was
continued through the remainder of the night and part of
the next day, the redskins pursuing them, but without kill­
ing more than one of the retreating party. Tho"Kentuck­
ians lost but two men,-Alexander McIntyre and John
Barr,-but the loss. of the Indians was much greater, ac­
cording to the statement of some prisoners, who, after the
peace of 1795, were' released and returned to Kentucky.
They related that fou1·teen Indians were killed and seventeen
wounded. They further stated that there were in the camp
about one hundred warriors, among them several chiefs of
note, including Tecumseh, Battise, Black Snake, Wolf, and
Chinskau, and that the party had been formed for the
purpose of annoying the settlements in Kentucky, and of
attacking boats descending the Ohio Riv~r, but the severe
raid of the whites changed theil' intention and altered their
course.

The history of no battle with the Indians in pioneer
annals shows more valor than this fight on the part of' the
brave scouts and hunters-':"'twenty-four in all-who at­
tacked and fought over a hundred Indians, among whom
were several of their most celebrated chiefs on the continent,
and inflicted such chastisement upon the savages as to deter
them from future incursions into this and the county of
Brown, and from furt.her pred~tory raids upon the Ken­
tucky people. Kenton and his band were three days in
reaching Limestone (now Maysville, Ky.), going down near
the line of Clermont und Bl'Own Counties to the mouth of
BuIlskin Creek and thence up the Ohio, and were two days
without food, and destitute of a sufficient amount of clothing
to protect them from the cold winds and rains of March.

Some of the foregoing particulars of this expedition are
gathered from the writings of Gen. Benjamin Whiteman,
one of the early and gallant pioneers of Kent.ucky, and
who died many years ago in Xenia, Ohio, but some of
whose great-grandchildren still live in Tate and Franklin
townships, of this county.

The statements of Anthony Shane and Stephen Ruddell
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touching this fight vary in some particulars from that which
lIas been given above, and also from the narrative in Mc­
Donald's sketches. Ruddell states that at the beginning
of' the attack Tecumseh was lying by the fire, outside of
the tellts, and when the first g~n was heard he sprang to
his feet, and, calling upon Sinnamantha to follow his ex­
muple and charge, he rushed forward and killed one of the
whites (,John Barr) with his war-club. The other Indians,
raising the war-whoop, seized their arms, and, rushing upon
Kenton and his band, compelled them, after a severe COrl­
test, to retreat. One of the Indians, in the midst of the
engagement, fell into the river,and in the effort to get out
of the water made so much noise that it created a belief
on the minds of the whites that a reinforcement was cross­
ing the stream to aid Tecumseh. This is supposed to have
hastened the order from Kenton for llis men to retreat.
The afternoon prior to the battle one of Kenton's men, by
the nallle of McIntyre, succeeded in catching an Indian
horse, which he tied in the rear of the camp, and when a
retreat was ordered he mounted and rode off.

Early in the morning Tecumseh and four of his men
set off in pursuit of the retreating party, and, having fiLllen
upon the trail of McIntyre, they pursued it for some dis­
tnnce, and at length overtook him. He had struck a fire
and was cooking some meat, and when he discovered his
pursuers he instantly fled at full speed. Tecumseh alld
two others followed, and were filst gaining on him, when he
turned and raised his gun. Two of th.e Indians, who hap­
pened to be in advance of Tecumseh, sprang behind the
tFees, but he rushed upon McIntyre and made him prisoner.
He was tied and taken back to the battle-ground j upon
reaching which, Tecumseh decmed it prudent to draw off
the red men, lest the whites should rally and renew the
fight. He requested some of his complllions to catch the
horses, but, they hesitating, he undertook to do it by him­
self, assisted by one of the party, and when he returned to
camp with the horses he found that his men had killed
McIntyre. At this act of cruelty he was exceedingly in­
dignant, declaring that it was a cowardly act to kill a mall
when tied, and a prisoner.

The conduct of Tecumseh in this engagement and in
the events of the following morning is creditable alike to
his courage and humanity. Resolutely brave in battle, his
arm was never uplifted against a prisoncr. nor did he suffer
violence to be inflicted upon a capti\'e without promptly
rebuking it. McDonald, in speaking of this action, says
that the distinguished warrior, Tecumseh, cOlDmanded the
Indians, and that his cautious and fearless intrepidity made
him a host wherever he went.

In military tactics night-attacks are not allowable, l:!xcept
in cases like this, where the assailing party is far inferior
in numbers. Sometimes, in night-attacks, panic and con­
fusion are' created in the attacked party, which may rellder
them a prey to inferior numbers. Kenton trusted to some­
thing like this on the present occasion, but \V~s disappointed,
for when Tecumseh was present his influence ovcr the
minds of his followers infused that confidence in lJis tact
and courage that could only be defeated by force of num­
bers.

In the numerous accounts of this battle the 'principal

difference relates to tIle number of Indians in the <'ngage­
ment and the loss sustained by them, :md there is only one
that disputes the truth of the fact of the reflskins getting
reinforcen,lOllts fi'om the north side of the east fork.
Some writers have located this battle at Salt Lick, in Perry
township, Bmwn Co., nearly a mile from the site we have
given, but they are mistaken, as Cornelius 'Washburn, who
a few years subsequently settled nnd made llis home for
(}uite a while in the immediate vicinity of the site desig­
nutcd by us) often walked over the battle-ground and pointed
out. and described the particulars of the fight, and placed
its exact location as before mentioned by us.

In April, 1792, while Gen. Nathaniel Massie, with a
party of nine men, was engaged in surveying in Stonelick
township, they were suddenly attacked (while brcakfilst was
preparing) by a party of twenty-two Indians. So unex­
pected was the on~laught by this superior force tbat Gen.
Massie ordered his men to fall back after firing a few shots .
at the savages. The whites retreated to Geraul's Station,
at th~t time commaJ:!ded by Capt. Richard Hall. The In­
dians pursued them some distance, and slightly wounded
one of the men. Three of the Indians were seen to fall.
It is supposed that these were the same Indians that soon
after killed Maj. Covalt at Round Bottom.

A few yeal's lat~r Gen. William Lytle, while surveying
in Jackson township, was pursued by a small party of In­
dians. and in the hurry of the moment lost his pocket­
compass. This was found in a good state of preservation a
few years ago, and ·is highly prized as a memento of those
perilous times.

Various obstacles retarded the enlistment and organiza~

tion of the new army to meet the Indians, and military
preparations progressed slowly, owing to the distance for
transportation and the sparseness of population. Gen. An­
thony 'Wayne, a bold, energetic, and experienced officer of
the Revolution,-the immortal hero of "Stony Point,"­
was appointed to the command, and' arrived at Cincinnati
iii thc spring of.1793. The Kentucky volunteer riflemen
had become, from the experien~e of' frequent disasters,
averse to serving in concert with the regular troops, but
such was the confidence inspired by "Mad Anthony,
'Vayne" that they joined his standard with alacrity and in
great numbers. In the courSG of the following winter he
established a fort on a western branch of the Great Miami,
which he called Greenville, and, having taken possession of
the theatre of S,t. Clair's defeat, erected there a fort, to
which he gave the most appropriate name of " Fort Re- .
covery." In the spring of 1794 the new Americun army
a:;;sembled at Greenville, and consisted of fifteen hundred
mounted volunteers from Kentucky and a re~ular force of
about two thous~tnd men, all·of whom were wcll provided in
every respect and eager to be led against the insolent and
haughty- enemy. The Kentucky troops were commanded by
Gen. Charles Scott, of that State, who waS the second ranking
officer in this army, and who, us well as Gen. Henry Lee
(the "Light~Horse Harry" of the Revolution) and Gen.
'Villiulll Darke, had been favorably considered by President
'Vushington in connection with the chief command of this
great expedition. The choice, however, fell upon Gen.
'Vayne, the old companion-in-arms of the President, and to
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him is justly ascribed the honor of defeating the Indian
tribes commanded by the celebrated Shawnee chief Blue
Jacket on the Maumee, Aug. 20, 1794, and of perllla­
nently breaking the power of a very formidable Indian con­
federacy.

The sav~ges had collected theil· whole force, amounting
to over two thousand braves, Ileal' a British fort, erected
since the treaty of 1783, and in gross violation of its obli­
gations, at the foot of the rapids of the Maumee. 'Nayne
marched from Greenville towards the confluence of the
Auglaize with the lUaumee in July, 1794. Having arrived
there, he sent forward a messenger with his last pacific
overtures, but without waiting for his return continued
his march. On his route he met the envoy, who returned
with an evasive answer. On August 20th he encountered
the enemy, and the order of march was instantly converted
into the order of battle. The contest which ensued was
short and deadly, and successive charges impetuously made
with the bayonet dro\?e the Indians fro111 their coverts and
exposed them to a galling fire. Unable to sustain the onset,
they fled in the greatest confusion, "and wel·e pursued
under the guns of the British fort. In this well-fought
action-one of the severest defeats the American Indians
ever met-Gen. 'Vayne's zealous and efficieut aid-de-camp
Was a future President,-William Henry Harrison.•

This battle was fought at thc Maumee Rapids, neal'
Perrysburg and Fort Meigs, in 'Vood Co., Ohio, and is

"known as the battle of "Fallen Timbers," though some­
times called the" battle of the Maumee." The American
loss was thirty-three killed and one hundred wounded, in­
cluding in the former five officers and nineteen in the
latter, but the loss of the enemy was very large, as the
woods were strewed for a considerable distance with the
dead bodies of the Indians and their white auxiliaries, the
latter armed with British muskets and bayonets.

Cessation of hostilities followed this victory, and a peace
which the government had vainly sought by friendly nego­
tiation was secured,-a peace which cont.inued for many
years, even until after the "Northwest Territory" had
ceased to be and the important incidents and events con­
nected therewith had passed into history. The victory did
not at once reduce the savages. to submission, and it was
necessary to lay waste their whole country, and to ercct
forts in the heart of their territory, before they could be
entirely subdued. At length, however, they became thor­
oughly convinced of their inability to resist the American
arms, and sued for peace. A grand council was held at
Greenville, only a few miles distant from the unfortunate
scene of St. Clair's defeat of four years previous, where
eleven of the most powerful Northwestern tribes were
represented, to whom Gen. 'Vayne dictated the terms of
pacification.

The treaty thus negotiated with the "Thirteen Fires,"
as the savages called the Federal States, stipulated for the
mutual release of prisoners and confirmed the boundary­
line established by the treaty at Fort McIntosh, which ex­
tended westward from Loramies to Fort Hecovery, and
thence southward to the mouth of the Kentucky River.
All the territory eastward and southward of the line th us
established was ceded to the United States, and the In-

dians solemnly pledged themselves never again to make'
those lands, or any part of them, a cause or pretense of
war or injury to any of the American people.. Several
small tracts, important ~s sites for miiitary ~orts, were like­
wise ceded. The Indians also agreed- to acknowledge the
United States as their sole protector, and never to sell their
lands to any other power. Upon these conditions the
United States received the Indian nations into their pro­
tection, guaranteed their future security from wrong and
injury, and relinquished all claims to land not included

. within the treaty boundary. . A large quantity of goods
was also delivered on the spot, and perpetual annuities, pay­
able in merchandise or in domestic animals, implements of
husbandry, or other convenient utensils, at the pleasure of
the receivers, were promised to each tribe which became a
party to the treaty.

This treaty was the foundation of a permanent peace, and
was the act of all the tribes who had then any claims to th.e
territory east of the Wabash, and the observance of its con­
ditions was secured by the expectation of solid benefits, as
the rewards of good faith, and by the dread of severe retri­
bution as the consequence of infractions. Its effect upon
the prosperity and improvement of the \Yest was immense.:
Confidence in the disposition and ability of the government
to protect the Western settlers was universally restored, and
the emigrant no longer had the fear of the tomahawk and
the scalping-knife, of the midnight conflagration and the
noon-day ambush, before his eyes when he undertook the
conquest of the wilderness. Occasional aggressions, indeed,.
by both whites and Indians, still continued to occur, but no
combination of tribes, nor any single tribe, again lifted the
tomahawk against the United States until just before the
breaking out of the war of 1812 with Great Britain.

On the heels of 'Vayne's victory and treaty, th~ popula­
tion of Ohio began to increase and extend; the Virginia.
Reservation, between the Little Miami and Scioto, drew a
large number of Revolutionary veterans and others from
that State; the business of entering new surveys in Cler­
mont was resumed; and several settlements were begun in
the county, in WiIliamsburgh, l\'Ii~mi, and 'Vashington
townships. Many of these settlers had been with Wayne
in his victorious campaign, others had fought the savages in

. Kentucky and North Carolina, and all of them came feeling
secure under tile new peace and order of things, and ready
to reclaim the forest and open up farms, but also prepared,
in strong arms and stout hearts, to wield the musket should
Indian aggression ever again raise its bio~dy sceptre.

Near Smyrna graveyard, a short distance from Felicity,
in thc year 1786, an Indian squaw named "Sweet Lips"
was executed by the tomahawk of an Indian chief for her
alleged witchcraft and sorcery, that had impeded the suc­
cess of her tribe in the chase and defeated it in a fight.
'When O'Bannon was making his surveys in Franklin and
Washington to"wnships the fall and winter of the following
year, he observed and marked the fatal spot where the
w.eird woman of the silent race paid the forfeit of her life,
and had the particulars described to him by an Indian
guide who had witnessed the execution.

In early times the I.Jittle Miami Valley, between Bl'anch
Hill, ill this county, and Symmes, on the Hamilton Count.y
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. side, was a place of greater relative importance than at
present, and at one time was the rendezvous for travelers as
well as adventurers, and here was the trail of an Indian
tribe which cro.ssed at Three Islands on their way between
Columbia and Chillicothe.

In the fall of 1795, John 'Wood, David 'Vood, Jeriah
'Wood, John, Nathan, and Elisha Manning settled in
Washington township, about a mile from Calvary Church.
They had their families, and built what was called" 'Vood
and Manning's Station," afterwards called "l\li1ler"s Sta­
tion," and supposed to have been the first in ClernlOnt. •
These settlers lived in the" station," which was a residence
and fort combined, and several times the men were driven
into the station by passing predatory bands of Indians
going to Kentucky to steal horses or on their return from
that State by the way of the Neville crossing. They were
ne~er attacked by the savages or the station seriously dis- .
turbed, as the treaty held the redskins in check, though
they frequently violated its provisions in crossing the Ohio
River to steal horses from pioneers of the "Dark and
Bloody Ground." In 1796 and 1797, Simon Kenton,
while scouting between Cincinnati and the Scioto River,
spying for Indians violating the Greenville treaty, often
tarried over-night at this station and partook of its cordial
hospitality. Daniel Boone, when on his way to Missouri,
had sent his fltmily by flatboat down the Ohio River, and
stayed at this station several days with the Woods and
Buehanans,-old friends and neighbors. of that great In­
dian-fighter and hunter at Germantown and Washington,
Ky. Here for nearly a week he tarried, and took a hunt
up into the county to nearly the lleadwaters of the Stone­
lick, in which the party of cleven laid in an immense" sup­
ply of bear and deer-meat, with a dozen fine wild turkeys.

Through the site of what is now the flourishing village
of Williamsburgh (as we are assured by its eloquent his­
torian, Prof. Byron W'iIliams) passed a trail from the
"Dark and Bloody Ground" to the realms of the North
'Vind. A camping-spot was near the intersection of Third
or Second with Walnut and Mill Streets. Of all the wily
hunters that threaded that mazy trail, of all the valiant
chiefs and cunning braves that reposed in that camp, no
name is known.

"Of the mighty decds they have dOllC,
Of their battles bravely lost or won,"

history, tradition, and song are silent.

"The dusky maidens nnd their 10\'es nre alike forgotten nnd lost,
As a darkened torch in midnight ocean tossed."

Some have thought that there are indications th;t a great
conflict occurred (many years before any settlement in
Clermont) at the junction of the east fork and Kain Run.
Only this we know,-that their souls are in the spirit-land,
and that from beneath rough stone in rude ~ymmetry placed, .
on the loveliest knolls in that vicinity, truants and idlers
with curious thoughts and sacrilegious hands have ex­
humed the bones of stalwart men, and that there battle­
axes and arrowheads are to be found in profusion rich to
the studious antiquarian. _

The largest Indian camp in the county after its occupa-

tion by the whites, in 1795, was on the farm formerly
owned by 'V. T. Hartman, near Grassy Hun, in Jackson
township. It consisted of nine wigwams and forty-three
souls. Hemains of their fireplaces are still to be seen.
These Indians were Jl'yandofs, and subsisted chiefly by
hunting, fishing, and trapping, selling their furs to the
whites for corn and a little money. In their intercourse .with
the whites they were friendly and honest. Before that
period the Shawanese had a camp f:'lrther up the cast fork,
and between them and ~he IVj;andots there was much
enmity, which came near resulting in serious conflicts on
several occasions. The latter were called women and other
epithets offensive to an Indian's nature. The Shawanese
left in 1805, and thereafter the JVyandots were in undis­
turbed possession of the salt-licks in that part of the
country, which were greatly frequented by game. Among
their chieftains was one Logan, of very fine personal ap­
pearance, who was killed in the war of 1812. These Indians.
left the county in 1811 to join their northern brethren,
and never returned. They were the last to live within the'
bounds of Clermont, and more than half a century has
elapsed since the red man has set his foot on her soil.

CHAPTER VI.

LAND-GRANTS, TITLES, AND SURVEYS.

\: IN the third year of the Revolutionary war the State
of Virginia, which claimed the ownership of all the domain
west of the Alleghany Mountains, opened an office for the
sale of her Western lands. This act attracted the attention
of the other States, several of which regarded the vacant
region in the 'Vest as a ·common fund for the future pay­
ment of the expenses of the war for independence, in which
the confederacy was then involved. This claim, in behalf
of the United States, was asserted on the ground that the
Western lands had been the property of the Crown, and
naturally fell, on the declaration of independence, to the
opponent of the former sovereign. It was contended that
.it was manifestly unjust that a vast tract of unoccupied
country, acquired by the common efforts and at the com­
mon expense of" the whole Union, should be appropriated
for the exclusive benefit of particular States, while the rest
should be left to bear the unmitigated burden of a debt
contracted in asserting that independence by which this'
immense acquisition w~s wrested from Great Britain. On
the other hand Virginia, Massachusetts, and Connecticut
asserted separate, and in some degree conflicting, claims,
founded upon the construction of their respective colonial
charters, and New York also advanced some vague preten­
sions, grounded upon her jurisdiction over the Six Nations,
of whom the Northwestern tribes were the imagined tribu­
taries. Of these various claims, that of the United States
seems to have been the most rational and just, and, in oppo­
sition to the several pretensions, Congress, as a common
head of the people, maintained' its title to the Western
lands upon the solid ground that a vacant territory, wrested
from the common enemy by the united arms and at the
joint expense of all the States, ought of right to belong to
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Congress, in trust for the common use and benefit of the
whole Union. This controversy respecting the ~orth­

west territory for a long time darkened the prospects
of the American Union and retarded the ratification of the
Articles of Confederation j it greatly augmented the diffi­
culty ,and embarrassment experienced by Congress in carry­
ing on the war, and it cheered the enemies of America by
revealing a source of contentious discora' among the mem­
bers of the Union.

In these trying circumstances, Congress strongly appealed
to the several States which had asserted claims to the West­
ern domain to avert the danger that threatened the common
cause by liberal cessions for the common benefit. New
York was the first to listen to these appeals, by authorizing
her delegates in Congress, early in the year 1780, to re­
strict her western border by such limits as they should
deem expedient, which magnanimous example waS followed
by Virginia making a deed of cession of the territory
northwest of the Ohio on March 1, 1784 j by Massachu­
setts, in April, 1785, ceding all her claims to the United
States to territory west of the wcstern boundary of New
York j and by Connecticut, on Sept. 14, 1786, deeding all
her land lying one hundred and twenty miles west of the
western' boundary of Pennsylvania and bordering on Lake
Erie.

By the acceptance of these cessions Congress became the
trustee of the Confederacy, and, according to a resolve of
1780, the terms of these trusts were: first, that the ceded
territory should be formed into States, to be admitted, when
formed, into the Union upon an equal footing in all respects
with the original States j second, that the land should be
disposed of for the COlllmon benefit of all the States j and
third, that the manner and conditions of sale should be
exclusively regulated by Congress.

In the adjustment of this great controversy Massachu­
setts and New York made no reservations in their respective
cessions, but Virginia and Connect,icut were not so unmind­
ful of their individual interests, the latter reserving what

• is now the weIl·known Ohio Reserve, an area of about
three million eight hundred thousand acres, and the former
a large and undefined tract of some four million acres,
bctween the Little Miami and Scioto Rivers, embracing all
of Clermont and all or parts of twenty-three other coun­
ties.

The State of Virginia had raised, at an early period of
the Revolutionary war, two descriptions of troops, State
and Continental, 'to each of which bou~ties in lands were
promised.

The lands within the limits of the indefinite and vague
colonial charter of Virginia from James 1., King of Eng­
lund, situate to the northwest of the Ohio River, were with­
drawn from appropriation on treasury land-warrants, and
the lands on Cumberland River, and between Green and
Tennessee Rivers, on the southeasterly side of the Ohio,
were appropriated for these military bounties to the officers
and soldiers on the Continental establishment, in contradis­
tinction to the State soldiery, otherwise paid. But in her
cession Virginia stipulated that in case the quantity of
good land on the southeast of the Ohio, upon the waters
of Cumberland Hiver, and between Green and Tennessee

Rivers, should, from the North Carolina line bearing in
f<1rther upon the Cumberland lands than was expected,
prove insufficient for their legal bounties, the deficiency
sh?uld be made up to said troops in good la~ds, to be laid
off between the rivel'S Scioto and Little Miami, on the north­
west side of the Ohio River, in such proportions as have
been engaged to them by the laws of Virginia for their re­
spective services, proportional to their rank and time of (/
actual service.

The right of. the United States as against the civilized
world was now clear and, incontestable, the several States
having respectively relinquished their pretensions, and Great
Bl"itain and Spain, who had each disputed the western
boundary .of the Union, having conceded, by formal treaty,
the American claim to all the territory east of the l\1issis­
sippi and north of Florida and Louisiana. Congress, there­
fore, proceeded to perfect its title to the soil and jurisdiction
by negotiations with the Indian tribes, the original and only
rightful sovereigns and proprietors, and by a treaty concluded
at Fort McIntosh, Jan. 21, 1785, with the W,yalldofs,
J)elawa1'es, Chippewas, and Ottawas, it acquired the title
of all these tribes to about three-fourths of the present State
of Ohio.

By the ordinance of May, 1785, Congress had executed
in part the great national trust confided to it by providing
for the future surveys of the public domain in the West
the disposal of the vacunt lands for the compIOn good, and by
prescribing the manner. and terms of sale. On July la,
1787, Uongress adopted an ordinance that has passed into
hi8tory as the formal dedication of the great Northwest to
liberty and settlement,-in which provision was made for
successhTe forms of territorial government, adapted to suc­
cessive steps of advancement in the settling of the Western
country. It comprehended an intelligible system of law on
the descent and conveyance of real property "and the trans­
fer of personal goods, and contained five articles of compact
between the original States.and the people and States of th~

Territory, establishing certain great fundamental principles
of governmental duty and private right as the basis ot' all
future constitutions and legislation, unalterable and inde­
structible except by that final and common ruin, which, as
it has overtaken all former systems of human polity, may
yet overwhclm our American Union.

Never, probably, in the history of the world did a measure
of legislation so accurately fulfill, and yet so mightily ex­
ceed, the anticipations of the legislators, and this ordinance
has been well described as having. been a " pillur of cloud
by day and of fire by night" in the settlement and govern­
ment of the Northwestern States. When the settlers went
into the wilderness, they found the law already there, and
impressed upon the soil itself while it yet bore up nothing
but the forest j and the purchaser of land became, by that
'act, a party to the compact, and by its perpetual covenants
so far as its conditions did not conflict with the terms of the
cessions of the States.

According to the various ordinances of Congress and the
stipulations of Virginia's deed of ces!:iion, no lund in Cler­
mont County could be purchased, entered, or surveyed save
and except by the Continental troops of Virginia holding
the requisite land-warrants for their services as officers or
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privates, or by other persons to whom these necessary war­
rants had been duly assigned in pursuance of law and in
writing.

The lands in Clermont were taken up under a system
peculiar to this Virginia military district,-what were called
entries for survey. They were not surveyed into townships
or sections or any regular form, but a principal surveyor
was appointed, who selected deputies, and any individual
holding a land-warrant on the Virginia line in the Conti­
nental estabIisllment might locate it wherever he chose
within the district, and in such shape as he pleased,
wherever the land had not previously been located. 'When
the lau"ds were surveyed under the orders of the principal
or deputy surveyors, the proper entries returned to the
land-office, and the necessary papers deposited in the de­
partments, and, if everything was found regular, patents
signed by the President were issued.

In consequence of this deficiency of regular original
surveys and the irregularities with which the several loca­
tions were made, and the consequent interference and en­
croachment of some locations upon othcrs, more than
double the litigation has probably arisen between the hold­
ers of adverse titles in this county than in other eounties
of equal extent situate on congressional or other lands out­
side of the famous Virginia 1\1 ilitary ReseJ·vation. The
military district, between the Little 1\1 iami and Scioto
Rivers, embraces the counties in whole or part of Cler­
mont, Brown, Adams, Clinton, Highland, Fayette, Madi­
son, Union, Scioto, Pike, Ross, Pickaway, Franklin, Marion,
Dclaware, Hardin, Logan, Clark, Green, Champaign, 'Var­
ren, Hamilton, and Auglaize.

The time for making entries and returning surveys
thereon was repeatedly fixed by act of Congress and ex­
tended from time to time, and the first surveys in Ohio
under the provisions of the reservation and other acts fol­
lowed immediately after the passage of the ordinance of 1787,
and were made in Clermont County on November 13th
and 14th of that year,-the fall previous to the settlement
at. Marietta, and a year before the first settlers at Cincin­
nuti began their operations. The first land, therefore, sur­
veyed by a government officer in Ohio, was in this county,
as is subsequently herein detailed.

The unsurveyed and unappropriated Jands in the Vir­
ginia Reservation were, by an act of Congress of Feb. 18,
1871, ceded to the State of Ohio, coupled with a condition
that eaeh scttler on the lands should be entitled to pre-empt
any quantity of land not exceeding one hundred and sixty
acres, under such regulations as the General Assembly of
Ohio should provide. The State, by act of March 26,
1872, accepted said grant, and conveyed the Jand~ to the
Ohio Agricultural and Mechanical College. That as well
as tile subsequent act of April 3, ] 873, required the trus­
tees of that institution to survey, set off, and convey by
deed to each settler forty acres at the cost only of survey
and deed, and also authorized each settler to demand, and
requil'ed said trustees to survey and convey to every such
pcrson, onc hundred and twcnty acres additional for one
dollar per acre, or such portion thereof as such settler
might have had in actual posse_ssion. These lands-of
which there are four thousand two hundred and sixty-four

acres in Clermont-may be classified as follows: First,
unsurveyed lands; second, lands resting on entry alone;
third, fraudulent and voidable surveys; and fourth, lands
donate? to settlers. The lands designated as " unsurveyed"
include, as well as the tracts resting on more naked entries,
those unclaimed. An entry is simply a notice in writing
by the holder of a warrant to the principal surveyor of an
intention to survey and appropriate a particular tract, a~d
in order to make an entry available it must be followed by
a survey, which must be approved by the principal sur­
veyor, and by him certified to the commissioner of the
General Land-Office.

There are many Jands surveyed which have not been
carried into patent, the surveys of which are of two sorts,
-valid and fraudulent. The Agricultural College declares
its policy not to interfere with surveys long since made
which have not been carried into patent by reason of mere
technical defects, which are causes of most of t]le nonpat­
ented four thousand two hundred and sixty-four acres in
this count.y, but avows its purpose to get possession of the
fraudulent surveys, which stand upon a different footing,
but of which there are but a very few in Clermont.

In hundreds of instances lands are held in this county,
and have been for years, simply upon location and survey,
and in all of them there is what is calle,d ,. excess," but
this excess beyond the boundaries (}f the original survey
in measurement cannot now, by the settled policy of thc
govcrnment, be patcnted anew, or· the occupants thereon
be disturbed in their possession by any person claiming
under governmental title adverse to them. It is not the
policy of the general government that the homes where
the hardy pioneer built his cabin, cleared his fields, and
sowed and reaped for years, and where his children have
grown to manhood and womanhood,-where his children
and grandchildren in his old age return to the old farm,
" the dearest spot on earth," to cheer his declining years
and receive his fatherly blessing,-should be lost or deci­
mated by technicalities of patent or errors in boundary­
lines of surveys made when the country was wilderness. •
Humane statutes and equitable decisions will allo\v no
cloud to intervene whose darkness is more chilling to the
old pionecr than even the approach of that invisible reaper
whose sickle he knows to be near. Errors in olden metes
and bounds wiII not be permitted to shackle the old settler's
home or to bind his fields; and the very landmarks that
have grown mossy with age and peace shall not be thrust
asid~ by the despojler who would" cause the naked to
lodge without clothing," and who would violate the divine,
injunction, "Thou shalt not remove thy neighbor's land­
mark, which they of' old time have set in thine inheritance,
which thou shalt inhel'it in the land that the Lord thy
God giveth thee to possess it." vVe give below a synopti-
cal index to the laws relating to the Virginia military
bounty-lands in this county:

UNITED STATES LAWS.

B. and D,'8 Edition.
• . PAGE

1784, March I.-Lands set apart for satisfying, granted b.v Vir-
ginilt Vol. 1., 474

1788, July l7.-Act of old Congress. declaring locations nnd sur­
veys of Virginia military grunts between Scioto and
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PAGE

Little Miumi Rh'cl's invalid until lands on WlltCI'S of
Cumberland Ui\'er, in J~entucky, prove inndequllte

Vol. I., 572
L. and Bo's Ed,ition. '

1790, August 10.-Act above, of 1788, rC'pC'ILled; said lands
a~l;igned to sati:;!'y claims of Virgillia line of Hevolu-
tionary war Vol. I., '182

1794, 'June lJ.-Putents to i:;suc for Virginia boullty-Iands on
return of warrant and survey .......••.••..•..••....••. Vol. I., 394

1800, MllY la.-Further regulations for issuing patents..Vol. II., 80
1800, May 1:~.-Wllrrllnts for bnds IIlay he withdmwn in ea~es

of conflicting claims ....•..............••...•.•........ Vol. II., 80
1803, Mllrch l.-Il;suing patents whcre Jand-n-UiTants, etc., hllve

been lost Vol. 11., 237
1804, Murch 23.-Boundary of Military Reservation ascertained,

Vol. II., 274
]812, June 26.-We:itern boundary llscertained Vol. II., 764
1816, April Jl.-Thut boundary designated Vol. III., 423
] 804, March 23.-Such part of resen'ation as remains unlocated

in three yeal's rclC'ased from claim under Virginia war-
runts Vol. II., 275

1804, March 2a.-Wurrllnts to be located by March 23, 1807, and
sun'eys returned two years thereafter Vol. Ir., 275

1807, March 2:1.-Time extcnded four years Vol. II., 424
1810, l\Iu,rch J6.-Fi\·e years allolVed for obtaining aud locating

, warrants, and seven for returning surveys......Vol. II., 589
1814, Nov. 3.-Three years additional ullowed for Joeating war-

rants, and five for making returns Vol. III., 143
1818, April H.-Two :rears from ratification of any tre.aties ex­

tinguishing Indian titles to locate warrllDts, etc.,
Vol. III., 423

1821, Feb. 9.-Time of location extended to Jan. 4, 1823, and
return of surveys to JIW. 4, 1826 Vol. II!., 612

1823, March 3.-Two years allowed for loeation of warrants, and
four for returning sun·eys V01. III., 772

]823, March 3.-Warrants not to bc rcmoved afrer location, nor
to he locatcd on lands sold by United States...Vol. Hr., 773

1826, May 20.-Time of issuing warrants extended to June ]2,
1829, location to June, ISa2, and return of sun'cys to
June, l833 ; Vol. IV., 189

1824, May 26.-Terms to be ascertained on which holders under
purchase from United States of lands between Roberts'
and Ludlow's lines will relinquish title, it being found
these lands are in the Virginia Reservation .....Vol. IV., 70,

1826, May 20.-Restricrions imposed on issue of Jocation of war-
rants Vol. IV., 189

1826, May 20.-Withdl'llwal of loclltions of warrants prohibited,
exccpt in cascs of eviction or interlcrence with othcr
claims \'01. IV., 190

1807, March 3.-Lands may be sun'eyed and patentcd under
Vir~inia re~oJution warrants Vol. 11., 437

1815, Feb. 22.-Two ycars further allowed to complete surveys
undcr resolution warl'llnts Vol. IlL, 212

1818, April H.-Act of 1807, abo\'e, revised and continuell in
force Vol. III., 423

1821, Feb. 9.-Further provision for issuing patents for locations
under Virginia resolution warrants \'01. III., 612

1823, March 3.-Act of 1807 a.gain re\·ived Vol. III., 772
182lJ, Fcb. 24.-A surveyor .for Virginia l\IiIitary District to be

appointed Vol. IV., 335
18:30, April 23.-Time for issuing Virginilt Warrl1Dts extended to

January. 1832 VoJ. IV., 3U5
]8:30, April 2:3.-Nonc issued thcreafter to bc 10cated Vol. IV., 395
1830, May 30.-Scrip to be issued for Virginia. bounty-llllld,

Vol. IV., 422
18:32, March 31.-Act of May 30, 1830, not to extend to cases

where patents have issued Vol. IV., 500
1832, March 31.-Third section of act May 30, 1826, extended

for se\'en years Vol. IV., 500
1832, July 13.-Additional land or scrip granted for ViI'ginia

land-warrants Vol. IV., 578
1833, March 2.-Additional grunt of land to satisfy Virginia I

lund-warrants Vol. IV., 665
1835, March :~.-Furthcrgrant of land Vol. IV., 770
1838, July 7.-Time for Jocating Virginia land-warrants ex-

tended Vol. ·V., 262
l8·n, Aug. 19.-Time further extended Vol. V., 449
1846, July 29.-Time further extended to January, ]848,

Vol. IX., 41
1848, July 5.-Samo continued in force till Jan. 1, 1850,

Vol. IX., 244
]850, Feb. 20 -Further timo extender! to Jan. 1, 1852..Vol. IX., 421
1852, Aug. ;H.-Making further provisions for satisfaction of

,rirginia land-warrants Vol. X., 143
]854, Dec. IlJ.-Time extended for retiring sUl·\·eys Vol. X., 5\15
1855, March :~.-Time extended for retiring surveys Vol. X., 701
1860, Juno 22.-'1'0 declare menning of act of Augnst, 1852,

Vol. XII., 84
]871, Feb. 18.-Ccdes lands to State of Ohio 416
1878, -- -.-An act to allow thl'ee yellrs f.·om its date to mlt!,e

return of sUl·\·cys. entered before Jan. I, 1852 .
1872, Murch 26.-Stllte of Ohio ceded unsurro,Yed and un"old

. lands to the Ohiu Agl'ieultlll'lLl lwd Mechanical College,
O. L. Vol. 6lJ 52

The principal surveyor of the Virginia Military District
was Gen. Richard C. Auderson, of Kentucky, grandfather
of Maj. Robert Anderson, the heroic defender of Fort
Sumter, and of Governor Charles Anderson, 'of Ohio.' He
opened an office for the reception of locations and surveys
at Louisville, Ky., Aug. 1, 178.J., and on Aug. 1, 1787,
established in his office a separate bureau for the lands on
the north side of the Ohio River. Under Gen. Anderson
and his successors all of the lands in this county were sur­
,veyed by his deputy surveyors,-John 0' Bannon (the first
who made a survey in .the district), Gen. James Taylor,
Gen. William Lytle, Gen. Duncan McArthur, anCl Gen.
Nathaniel Massie (both afterwards Governors of the State),
Robert Todd, Joseph Kerr, Cadwulder 'Valluce, Timothy
Kirby, A. D. Kendrick, E. P. Kcnddck,John Hill, James
Denny, Peter McArthur, Allen Latham, James Galloway,
Jr., John Ell,ison, Jr., David Collins, Walter Dunn, Col.
.James Taylor, Jr., Geo!ge C. Light, David Collier, Col.
James Poage, and J ahn Bogges. l\Iost of the ~urveys
were made before the year 1800, under Anderson's admin­
istration and by l1is deputies, O'Bannon, Lytle, Taylor, Sr.,
Massie, Todd, and Wallace, who were exposed to incessant
dangers, suffered great privations, and were frequentlyat­
tacked by the Indians. ,The first locations of land warrants
in the county, in the fall of 1787 and succeeding winter,
were made by O'Bannon by stealth, as every creek which
was explored, every line that was run, w!ls' at the risk of
life from the savage Indians, whose courage and persever­
ance were only equaled by that of the whites to push for­
ward their settlements.

John O'Bannon, the pioneer deputy surveyor, had placed
in his hands a large number of land-warrants for surveys,
and as the risk of making entries was great, and as it was
desirable to possess the, best lands, the owners 'of warrants
in most cases made liberal contracts with him. One-fourth,
one-third, and sometimes as much as one-half acquired by
the entry of good lands were given by the proprietors to
the surveyors. If the owners preferred paying money, the
usual terms were ten pounds, Virginia currency, for each
thousand acres entered and surveyed, exclusive of chain­
men's expenses. These terms cannot appear extravagant
when we consider that at that time the danger encountered
was great, the exposure during the winter severe" and that
the priGe of first-rate land in the West was low, and an im­
mense quantity in market.

During the month of November, 1787, O'Bannon pre­
pared a party to enter largely iritu the surveying business
in Clermont, and caine down the Ohio Rive'r from Pitts­
burgh and landed at what is now the village of Neville,
where they hauled their boat out of the water and began
operations for the season. After surveyi ng several weeks
winter set in, and the ground was covered witli a sheet of
snow from six to ten inches deep; and their bread ran out,
save a little flour, a pint of which was distributed once a
day to each mess to mix witI?- the soup in which the m.eat
had been boiled. When night came, four fires were made
for cooking,-that is, one for each mess,-and around these,
till sleeping-time came, the company spent the hours in
most social glee, singing songs and telling stories, in which
O'Bannon, with his droll Irish wit, greatly excelled. When
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danger was not apparent or immediate, they were as merry
a set of men as ever assembled, and, resting-time arriving,
O'Bannon always gave the signal, and the whole party would
then leave theil' comfortable fires, caTl'ying with them their
blankets, their firearms, and their little baggage, walking
in perfect silence two or three hundred yards from the fire.
They would then scrape away the snow and huddle down
together for the night. Each mess formed one bed, and
they would spread down on the ground one-half of the
blankets, reserving the other half for covering. Thus pre­
pared, the whole party crouched down together with their
rifles in their arms and their pouches under their heads for
pillows, lying spoon-fashion, with three heads one way and
four the other, their feet extending to about the middle of
their bodies. 'Vhen one turned the whole Dless turned, or
else the close range would be broken and the cold let in;
and in this way they lay till broad daylight, no noise and
scarcely a whisper being uttered during the night. When
it was perfectly light, O'Bannon would call up two of the
men, in whom he had mo::;t confidence, and send them to
reconnoitre and make a circuit around the fires, lest an am­
buscade might be formed by the Indians to destroy the
party as they returned to the fires. Self-preservation re­
quired this circumspection, and it was an invariable cus­
tom in every variety of weather.

One time during the winter, when they were out in the
wilderness, in what is now Tate township, they were ex­
posed to a severe storm without hut, tent, or covering, and,
what was still more appalling, without provision and with­
out any road or track to retreat on; but on the third day
of the great snow-storm they luckily killed two wild
turkeys, which were boiled and divided into twenty-eight
parts, and devoured with great avidity, head::;, feet, entrails,

and all.
The first survey in the great Northwest was made in this

count.y, on what now includes the town of Neville, and was
made by O'Bannon on Nov. 1:~, 1787, for Col. John
Neville, a gallant officer of the Revolutionary stl'Uggle in
the Virginia line, for fourteen hundred acres, and was
numbered 388, and predicated on military warrant No.
9:37. John Williams, Sylvester ~Iontroney, and James
Blair were the chain-carriers; and so well was the· tract
surveyed, anu such was its perfect accuracy, that never to
this day, like SOlDe other surveys in the county, has its
lines or boundaries been questioned. The next day, No­
vember 14th, the survey of Richard C. Anderson, of one
thousand acres (No. 391), was entered and made, and
includes the present town of Moscow j and also was made
that of John McDougal (No. 1(83), of six hundred and
sixty-six and two-thirds acres. On Christmas following,
O'Bannon entered the surveys of Nicholas Carter (No.
1285), of four hundred acres, and of Morgan Bryan (No.

. 1724), of two hundred acres, on both of which is built the
enterprising town of Felicity j also that of William Smith,
(No. 866), of four hundred acres, on Bear Creek j Jarvin
Miller's, in Franklin township (No. 1080), of one thousand
acres; Benjamin Mosely's, in Franklin and Washington
townships (No. 1102), of one thousand acres j and John
Hamilton's, in Washington (No. 866), of four hundred
acres,-thus surveying three thousana four hundred acres

in seven different tracts, miles apart, all ill one day. On
the 26th he surveyed that of Alexander Parker (No. 834),
of seven hundred acres; the 27th, that of Robert Crad­
dock (No. 892), of nine hundred and sixty-four acres, and
John Hackley (No. 905), of six hundred and sixty-six and
two-thirds acres; the 28th, that of William Talliaferro
(No. 533), of five hundred and thirty-three acres, adjoin­
ing Chilo; and on Jan. 3, 1788, Robert Beal's (No. 847),
of one thousand acres, on which is the site of New Rich­
mond.

Gen. George 'Vashington, the Father of his Country
and first President of the United States, owned at one
time four large tracts of land in the county, aggregating
four thousand and fifty-one acres, for which he had four
separate surveys made and entered in his own name. The
first of these was made by John O'Bannon on Dec. 28,
1787, and is located in Franklin township, on the Felicity
-alld Rural free turnpike, and is numbered 1650 and for
eight hundred and thirty-nine acres; the second is No.
403, of one thousand acres, lying in Pierce township, on
the Ohio River: including the village of Palestine and
running down to the Hamilton county-line i the third lies
in Miami township, between the villages of Milford and
~Iiamiville, borders on the Little ~Iiami River, and is
directly opposite the famous Camp Dennison, so well known
in the late Rebellion j and the four.th, No. 1775, of nine
hundred and seventy-seven acres, situate in Union town­
ship: of this, and in Anderson township, of Hamilton
County, mostly, however, in this. All four of Washing­
ton's tracts arc splendid pieces of land,-three of choice
bottom-fie!ds, and the other of extremely.fertile upland.

Before Congress had passed the necessary legislation,
authorizing the issuing of patents by the President to the
holders of Virginia land-warrants upon a due entry and
location of same, by regularly-authorized government sur­
veyors and the .proper return of the surveys to the appro­
priate departments at the eapi tal, the Governors of Virginia,
under the laws of that old commonwealth, issued them to
satisfy the owners of the warrants; and of these only three
cover lands in this county, and are as follows: The 6r::;t, of
Beverly Randolph, Governor of Virginia, to William Fow­
ler, on Jand-warrant No. 145, for seven hundred and sixty­
five acres, being Fowler's survey No. 261, in Pierce town­
ship, between Palestine and New Richmond, and dated
August, 1789, and which patent being considered invalid
in law, the devisees and assignees of said Fowler took an­
other patcnt for said land from President Andrew Jackson,
on Sept. 28, 1830; and the other two were patents issued
and signed by Governor Henry Lee, to John Vaughn and
Peter January, assignees of John Nancarrollo, dated May
29, 1792, and respectively for surveys Nos. 1747 and 1748,
of eight hundred and twenty-two and one thousand acres
in Pierce township j but for these lands United States pat­
ents were subsequently issued to Gens. Lytle and Taylor.

NON-PATENTED SURVEYS,

The following are the surveys in the county for which
the government has issued no patents:

Bowman and Thomas, No. 4455, 20 ncres, May 7, 1807, BntM-in
township.
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John O'Bannon, No. 2378, 470 acres, June 20,1794, Frnnklin township.
Robertson and Nyly, No. 851, 75 acres, Oct. 2, 18i8, Washington

township.
.Mathew Grigg, No. 12,080,41 acres, Dec. 14,1822, Stonelick township.
Peter Casey, No. 5.72, 700 acres, Dec. 6, 17118, Tate t01vnship.
Wm. Mosley, No. 8976, 116 acres, Aug. 18, 1825, "Unionto1vnship.
John Hill, No. 13,535, 11 acres, May 23, 1834, Jackson township.
Nicholas Cm'roll's Heirs, No. 10,205, 500 acres, Stonelick township.

" " "No. 10,588, 200 acrcs, Batavia township.
" ,. "No. 10,304, 100 ncres, Stonelick township.

John Hill, No. f5,871, 50 acres, Jackson township.
" "No. 15,871, 15 acres, " "

" No. 15,79l1, 10 acres, " "
" No. 15,793,200 acres," "

Wright and Stark, Nos. 10,851, 10,244, 422 acres, Aug. 11, 1822,
Goshen township.

Wm. Lytle, No. 7363, 200 acres, Sept. 15,1817, Goshen township.
John Higgins, No. 3776,200 acres, April 10, 1808, Goshen township.
Thomas L. Shields, No. 13,530, 5Jj acres, May 23, 1834, Batavia

township.
Winter'S, No. 12,508, 15 acres, Tate township.
John Dimmitt, No. 14,516, 6 acres, April 25, 1840, Franklin township.
John Preston, No. 9802, 20 acres, . Jan. 28, 1819, Williamsburgh

township.
Wm. Mosley, No. 9545, 5 acres, Jnne 1, 1820, Batavia township.

" " No. 9546, 8 acres, "t< " "

Thomas S. Foote, No. 9040, 63 acres, Indian Creek township.
Allen Latham, No. 13,331, 682 acres, Feb. 5, 1833, Batl1via township.

It must not be understood that the lands in the foregoing
non-patented surveys are fatally defective in their titles, as
the government grant to Ohio for all unsurveyed and unsold
lands in the Virginia Military District does not include
those not carried into patents from loss of proper entries or
on mere technical grounds, but covers the unsurveyed, un­
sold, and all the tracts based on fraudulent surveys, of
which none have to this date been discovered in this
~ounty. Besides, patents can be procured for the above­
mentioned lands under the act of 1878, which says that
the officers ~nd soldiers .of the Virginia line on the Conti­
nental establishment, their heirs or assigns, entitled to
bounty-lands, which have, on or before Jan. 1, 1852, been
entered between the Little Miami and Scioto Rivers, for
satisfying the legal bounties to her officers and soldiers
aforesaid, shall be allowed three years froID: 1878 to make
and return their surveys for record to the office of the
principal surveyor of the district, and may file their plats
and certificates, warrants,.or certified copies of same, at the
General L~n~-Office, and receive patents for the same.

RECORDED PATENTS.

The following 'is a list of the United States patents for
lands in this county, on record in the Recorder's office, and
!3hows the name of the patentee, number of acres, date of
patent, naIQe ofthe President issuing the same, and when sur­
veyed:

Anderson, R. C., 1000 acres, Oct. 9,1804; surveyed Nov. 14,1787;
Jefferson.

Armstrong, L., 400 acres, Nov. 1, 1837; surveyed Dec. 25, 1787; Van
Buren.

Bibb, R., 1000 acre!!, March 3, 1797; surveyed Oct. 12, 1793; Wash­
ington.

Bourne, S., 170 acres, July 12, 1821; surveyed April 18, 1820; Monroe.
450 acres, June 1,1822 i_surveyed April 14, 1821; Monroe.

Breckenridge, J., 4666i acres, May 14, 1802; surveyed March 27,
1794; Jefferson.

Biggs, Benjamin, Jr., 907 acres, May 2, 1801; surveyed Feb. 6, 1798;
Jefferson•.

6

BayleR, Henry, 1000 acres, Jan. 24, 1812; surveyed May 11, 1794;
Madison.

Broadlvell, A., et al., 200 acres, May 2, 1854; surveyed June 27, 1794;
Pierce.

Catlett, John, 2000 acres, Nov. 2, 1801; surveyed April 18, 1788;
Jefferson.

Conn, Notley, 1000 acres, May 13, 1796; surveyed Jan. 6, 1788 ;
Wasliington.

Carneal and Lytle, 4500 acres, Dec. 2, 1802; surveyed Aug. 16, 1798;
Jefterson.

Carrington, J., 500 acres, .Tune 28, 1805; surveyed April 1, 1792; .
Jefferson.

Campbell, Wetal, 400 acres, Jan. 15, 1825; surveyed April 10, 1793;
Monroe. .

De Benneville, D., 400 acres, March 28, 1799; surveyed Aug. 1,
1798; John Adams.

De Benneville, D., 1500 acres, June 18, 1798; surveyed Nov. 25, 1796 ;
J. Adams.

De Bennevillc, D., 1000 acres, June 18,1798; surveyed ·No,·. 26, 1796;
J. Adams.

De Benneville, D., 1000 acres, June 18,1798; surveyed No,'. 26, 1796;
J. Adams.

Darby, N., 1444. acres, Feb. 5,1804; surveyed Oct. 7, "1793;' Jefferson.
Dyer, Samuel, 1000 a.cres, Aug. 4, 1801; sun'eyed Dec. 6, 1796; Jef­

ferson.
Dandridge, R., 666it acres, May 14,1796; surveyed April 17, 1788;

Washington.
Darby, N., 633! acres, Sept. 7, 1799; sUrI'eyed June 16,1797; J.

Adams.
Dickey, J., 35 acres, April 6, 1847; surveyel1 Dec. 4, 1837; Polk.

" 60 acres, Aug. 21, 18411; surveyed June 10, 1849; Taylor.
Dial, Shad., 100 ncres, March 16, 1815; surveyed Jan. 5, 1794; Madi­

son.
Eggleston, Joseph, 1000 acres, April 2, 1798; s'urveycd Jan. 2, 1798;

J. Adams.
Ely, George, 580 acres, July 2, 1812; surveyed Oct. 5,1810; Madison.
Finley, Samuel, 400 acres, Dec. 13, 1811; surveyed May 26, 1798;

Madison.
Finley, Samuel, 1295 acres, Oct. 9, 1804; surveyed May 7, 1798";

Jefferson.
Finley, J., et al., 1000 acres, Feb. 18, 1800; 'surveyed Feb. 8, 1798;

J. Adams.
Fowler and Taylor, 765 acres, Sept. 28, 1830; surveyed Jan. 6, 1788;

Jackson.
Graham, John, 1525 acres, May 13, 1796; surveyed March 8, 1794 ;

Washington.
Gernon, R., 2000 acres, June 1, 1799; surveyed Oct. 10, 1793; J.

Adams.
Gray, John, 1000 acres, March 6, 1810; surveyed May 7,1798; Madi­

son.
Gray, John, 311 acres, Feb. 19, 1814; surveyed April 13, 1809; Madi­

son.
Gray, John, 9 acres, Feb. 19, 1814; surveyed April 13, 1809; Madi­

son.
Gray, John, 95 acres, Aug. 24,1815; surveyed May 8, 1801 ; Madison.
William Smith's heirs, 666it acres, Feb. 12, 1807; surveyed March 10,

1795; Jefferson.
Gordon, 1'.,1500 acres, Oct. 20,1819 i surveyed March 14, 1795;

Monroe.
Higbee, Isaac, 4H acres, Oct. 14, 1818; surveyed Oct. 15, 1817;

Monroe.
Hodgdon, Samuel, 800 acres, Aug. 17, 1799; surveyed March 9, 1795;

J. Adams.
Humlong, G., et al., 533 acres, Nov. 4,1821; surveyed Dec. 28, 1787;

Monroe.
Hopkins, John, 1000 acres, April 2, 1803; surveyed Feb. 2, 1788;

Jefferson.
Hopkins, John, 1000 acres, May 2, 1801; surveyed Feh. 7, 1788;

Jefferson.
Humphries, D. ·C., 300 acres, Jan. 4, 1835; surveyed Feb: 17, 1818;

Jackson.
Howell, E., 800 .acres, June 14, 1798; surveyed April 1, 1793; J.

Adams.
Herron, James, 662i acres, July 1, 18Dl; surveyed April 17, 1800;

Jefferson. .
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Hamilton, Alex., 400 acres, March 10,1802; surveyed April 25, 1800;
Jefferson.

Hill, John, 138! acres, June g, 1836; surveyed May 1, 1834; Jack­
son.

Jacobs, R. C.,4000 acres, Feb. 25, 1804; surveyed April 14, 1788;
Jell·erson.

Johnson, James, 12411 acres, Sept. 9, 1799; surveyed Aug. 25,1798;
J. Adams.

Johnson, James, 1000 acres, Sept. 9, 1799; surveyed Aug. 25, 1798;
J. Adams.

Jackson, J. H., 20 acres, Feb. 10, 1837; surveyed Oct. 31, 1835; Jack­
son.

J ones, Joseph, 1000 acres, Dec. 6, 1800; surveyed April 10, 1788;
Jefferson.

.Jones, Joseph, 738 acres, l!'eb. 20,1798; surveyed Oct. 12,1793; J.
Adams.

Johnson, James,10331 acres, Aug. 30, 1799; surveyed June 17,1797;
J. Adams.

Kyle, Joseph, 200 acres, Aug. 14, 1805; sur\'eyed April 8, 1799; Jef­
ferson.

Kirby, Timothy, 94 acres, June 1, 1833; surveyed June 22, 1832;
Jackson.

• Lytle and Taylor, 860 ncres, July 22, 1812; surveyed May 21, 1811;
Madison.

Lytle, Wm., 1000 acres, July 5, 17119 j surveyed April 16,1788; .J.
Adams.

Lucas, N., 2045 acres, Oct. 14, 1801; surveyed :May 25, 1788; Jeffer­
son.

Lytle, William, 200 acres, Aug. 3, 1820; surveyed Sept. 15, 1815;
Monroe.

Linton, William, 1666~ ncres, May 22, 1801; surveyed Oct. 20, 1792;
Jefferson.

Lytle, William, 100 acres, June 9,1798; surveyed :May 25,1794 j J.
Adams.

Massie, H., 1000 acres, April 19, 1809; surveyed Oet. 10, 1805; Mad­
ison.

Matthews, G. and C. L., 1777i acres, April 29, 1800; surveyed April
9,1788; J. Adams.

McDougal. J., 573t acres, Jan. 5, 1847; surveyed March 27, 1802;
Polk.

Neville, P., 1400 acres, April 3, 1811; surveyed Nov. 13,1788; Madi­
son.

Nash, James, 100 acres, Dec. 29, 1815; surveyed May 7, 1807; Madi­
son.

O'Bannon, J., 1000 acres, Jan. 28, 1805; surveyed April 11, 1788 j

Jefferson.
Paxton, Thomas, 1000 acres, March l3, 1799; surveyed May 28,1788;

J. Adams.
Pa.rker, A., 1300 acres, Feb. 20, 1798; surveyed Jan. 2, 1788; J.

Adams.
Robinson, S., 11l0it acres, March 26,1806; surveyed May 27,1788;

Jefferson.
Sapp, John, 1000 acres, April 19, 1809; surveyed Oct. 10, 1805;

Madison.
Smith, Nick, 200 acres, Sept. 23, 1805; surveyed March 17, 1804;

Jefferson.
Springer, Levi, 600 acres, Feb. 27, 1824; surveyed April 2, 1820;

Monroe.
Selden Miles, 666ii acres, Oct. 29, 1804; slll"veyed May 2, 1794; J ef­

ferson.
Shields and Hill,498 acres, Jan. 12, 1837; sun'cyed May 9, 1834;

Jackson.
Sargent, --, 6661i acres, Aug. 15, 1805; surveyed Dec. 27, 1787; J.

Adams.

Stephens~n, D., 1200 acres, April 13, 1798; surveyed Jan. 7, 1788;
J. Adams.

Snider, Sarah, 3 acres, Dec. 10, 1847; surveyed Feb. 23, 1847; Polk.
Townsley, Robert, 43 acres, May 3, 1816; surveyed Jan. 15, 1816;

Madison.

Townsley, Robert, 62 acres, May 3, 1816; surveyed Jan. 14, 1816;
Madison.

Townsley, Robert, 35 acres, May 22, 1816; surveyed July 19, 1811;
Madison.

Taylor, Francis, 1000 acres, ~Iarch 27, L800; surveyed April 1, 1788;
J. Adams.

Todd, Robert, 400 acres, May 1, 1798; surveyed March 10, 1794; J.
Adams.•

Taylor, James, l50 acres, Dec. 31, 1830; surveyed April 9, 1808;
Jackson.

Taylor, James, 87 acres, Feb. 24, 1835; surveyed Jan. 20, 1833;
Jackson.

Taylor and Lytle, 1000 acres, May 13, 17116; surveyed April 17, 1788;
Wa.shington.

Taylor, James, Jr., 305 acres,July 20, 1837; surveyed June 13,1834;
'Van Buren.

Taylor, James, 200 acres, May 1, 1832; surveyed June 1, 1820; Jack­
son.

Tyler, Robert, 1333! acres, April 26, 1797; s'll'veyed Oct. 6, 1793;
J. Adams.

Towles, Oliver, 1310 acres, Feb. 27, 1812; surveyed April Hi, 1788;
Jefferson.

Taylor and Lytle, 300 acres, Feb. 24, 1835; surveyed Feb. 1, 1821;
Jackson.

Taylor, James, 2000 acres, June 18, 1805; surveyed March 18, 1804 ;
Jefferson.

1'aylor, James, 200 acres, Dec. 14, 1807; surveyed March 17, 1804;
Jefferson.

Warfield, W., 700 acres, July 16,1798; surveyed May 30, 1794; J.
Adams.

Wea\'er, John, '682 acres, Aug. 1, 1833; surveyed Feb. 5, 1833; Jack­
son.

Wilsoll, John, 6i acres, June 9,1836; surveyed May 23,1834; Jack­
son.

Washington, G. F., 1000 acres, Feb. 3, 1814; surveyed Jan. 5, 1788;
Madison.

Wallace, C., 200 acres, July 3, 1824; surveyed Jan. 11,1824; Monroe.
Witham, M., 1000 acres, Nov. 28, 1803; surveyed April 8, 1788; Jef­

ferson.
Wood and Armstrong, 100 acres, Feb. 5, 1837; surveyed Dec. 25,

1788; Van Buren.
Young, G. F., 500 acres, June 5,1820; surveyed Oct. 24, 1817; ,Monroe.

Thus, out of five hundred and twelve surveys iIi the
county, t.here are but one hundred and one patents recorded,
-in other words, but one in every five of the surveys.

SURVEYS OF THE COUNTY.

Theil' nrigillal }Jroprietors, lIwllbers, qll(U1tit!J of acres, alld ill l"ltat
totDlIsldps located.

Anderson, Richard C., No. 391, 1000 acres, Washington township.
Armstrong, John, No. 1651, 634 acres, Franklin township.
Allison, Richard, No. 1730, 434 acres," "
Anderson, Richard C., No. 1177, 454 acres, Picrce township.
Allison, Richard, No. 1773, 441 acres, Stonelick township.
Aldridge, John, No. 3878, 1QO acres,' Union township.
Anderson, Richard C., No. 2385, 560 acres, Goshen township.

lC " No. 3512, 125 acres, Franklin township.
" " No. 3513, 1000 acres, Tate township.
lC " No. 3066, 200 acres, Franklin township.
" " No. 3551, 1700 acres, Tate township.

Robert Beale, No. 847, 1000 acres, Ohio township.
Bowyer, Henry, No. 1067,657 acres, Franklin township.
Bryan, Morgan, No. 1724,200 acres," "
Butler, Lawrence, No. 415, 1000 acres, Monroe township.
Buckner, Thomas, No. 1087, 1000 acres, Washington township.
Baylor, Robert, No. 511, 1000 acres, Pierce township.
Bradshaw, John, No. 1772, 1159 acres, Union township.
Burton, John, No. 761, 1333! acres, Washington township.
Biggs, Benjamin, No. 1005, 907 acres, Monroe township.
Browne, Thomas, No. 723, 1000 acres, Washington township.
Broughton, William, No. 2193,400 acres, Goshen township.
Brownlee, William, No. 725,1000 acres, Washington township.
BranhlllD and Humphrey, No. 3777, 300 acres, Goshen township.
Britain, Mary, No. 2571, 200 acres, ""
Baldwin, Francis, No. 2570, 233!acres, Miami township.
Binns, John and Charles, No. 1499, 1500 acres, Goshen township.
Bowmu.n, Abraham, No. 7088, 860 acres, Washington township.
Boyer, Armet E., No. 15,526, 5 acres, Goshen township.
Brush and lIill, No. 13,645, 19 acres, Pierce township.
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Barrett, William, No. 710, 1000 acres, Goshen township.
Breckenridge, John, No. 2373,4000 acres, Tate township.
Butler, Lawrence, No. 1199, 1000 acres, :Monroc township.

" " No. 1199, 880 acres," "
Beasley, Benjamin, No. 9446, 356 acres, Pierce tow·nship.
Bourne, Sylvannus, No. 10,639,450 acres, Jackson township.
Boyce, William, No. 9550, 18 acres, Stonelick township.
Bowman, Abraham, Nos. 4455, 5957, 7090, 500 acres, Union town­

ship.
Bowman, Abraham, No. 7091, 485~ acres, Goshen township.

" It No. 7093, 200 acres, It If

" "No. 9386, 125 acres, Jackson townilhip.
Bayles, Henry, No. 1616, 1000 acres, Washington township.
Brown, Robert, No. 706, 100 acres, Union township.
Butler, Lawrence, No. 5258, 120 acres, Jackson township.

It No. 1357, 240 acres, Washington township.
Craddock, Robert, No. 892, 964 acres, " "
Carter, Nicholas, No. 1285, 400 acres, Franklin township.
Clark, Jonathan, No. 972, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Clay, Mathew, No. 674, 662 acres, Union township.
Catlett, John, No. 506, 2000 acres, Pierce township.
Carrington, Joseph, No. 631, 500 acres, Miami township.
Call, Richard, No. 524,1000 acres, Goshen township.
Clay, John, No. 2954, 500 acres, Tate township.
Chambers, William, No. 2947, 200 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Campbell, John, No. 866, 200 acres, Washington township.
Carrington, Edward, No. 2434, 1100 acres, Union township.
Cabell, Samuel J., No. 5229, 183S! acres, Wayne township.
Cabell, Taylor, et al., No. 12,079, 1980i acres, Wayne to\vnship.
Currie, James, Nos. 3339, 3340, 1466i acres, Wayne township.
Collins, William, No. 9608, 200 acres, Ohio township.
Clayton, Philip, No. 581, 966i acres, Batavia township.
CampbeJl, Robert, No. 2196, 400 acre!!, Goshen township.
Campbell, John, No. 866, 200 acres, Washington township.
Casey, Peter, No. 572, 700 acres, Tate township.
Coleman, Samuel, No. 2432, 100 acres, Goshen township.

It " No. 2194, 444! acres, Williamsburgh township.
Crawford, John, No. 1160, 525 acres, Ohio township.
Croghan, William, No. 1794, 250 acres, Batavia township.
Currie, James, No. 3338, 733! acres, Wayne township.
Dandridge, John, No. 437, 1000 acres, Ohio township.
Davies and O'Bannon, No. 1646, 1000 acres, Franklin township.

" It No. 1647, 1000 acres, It It

Davies, William, No. 514, 1000 acres, Pierce township.
Dix, Thomas, No. 992, 1000 acres, Miami township.
De Benneville, Daniel, No. 2957, 500 acres, Jackson township.

It It No. 5251, 100 acres, Batavia township.
Denny, Aaron, No. 1652, 500 acres, Stoneliek township.
Dandridge, Robert, No. 593, 666i acres, Batavia township.
De Benneville, Daniel, No. 2810,1500 acres, Williamsburgh township.

" " No. 2811, 1000 acres," "
" " No. 281, 1000 acres, " "

Dimmitt, Moses, No. 9126, 18 acres, St~nelick township.
Dudley, Ambrose, No. 2952, 773i acres, Tate township.
De Benneville, Daniel, No. 2810, 2000 acrcs, Williamsburgh town-

ship.
Dimmitt, Ezekiel, No. 13,536, 11 acres, Batayia township.
Dimmitt, John, No. 14,516, 6 acres, Franklin town!!hip.
Donnell, John, No. 4442, 666i acres, Stonelick township.
Donnell, Jonathan, No. 4444,200 acres, Stonelick township.
Dimmitt, John, Nos. 14,518, 14,533, 128 acres, Franklin township.
Dandridge, Robert, No. 564, 535 acres, Tate township.

" No. 564, 465 acres, It "

Davis, Jesse, Nos. 7105, 10,420, 13,934, 220 acres, Stonelick township.
Darby, Nathaniel, No. 2058, 1033! acres, Union to\vnship.

It It No. 2058, 633! acres, " "
Dltndridgo,. Robert, No. 564, 535 n.cres, Tate township.
Darby, Nathaniel, No. 2057, 1444 acres, Batavia township.
Eggleston, Joseph, No. 1197, 1000 acres, Monroe township.
Edwltrds, Leroy, No. 720, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Epple, Andrew, No. 764, 1000 acres, Wayne town!!hip.
Eddings, Samuel, No. 1366, 1000 acreE', Pierce township.
Fowler, William, No. 261, 765 acres, Pierce township.
Finley, Samuel, No. 1763,400 aores," It

Florence; Daniel, No. 1318, BOO aores, Washington township.

Fox, Thomas, and Taylor, Nos. 3805, 4235, f:\66i aores, Stonelick town­
!!hip.

Fenn, Thomas, No. 3341, 166i acres, Wayne township.
Finley, Samuel, No. 526, 856 acres, Stonelick township.

" • " No. 526, 144 acres, Batavia township.
Gibbon, Robert., No. 493, 1000 acrcs," "
Griffin, ..John T., No. 590, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Gunner, James, No. 3878, 100 acres, Union township.
Gray, James, No. 1242, 1000 acres, Batavia township.

" "No. 1116, 984aores, " "
Griffin, John T., No. 519, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Gerrard, Joseph, No. 2376, 300 acres, Goshen township.
Graham, Francis, No. 2405, 850 aores, Stonelick township.

" "No. 3624, 150 acres, Goshen township.
Gregory, Walter, No. 4463, 200 acres, Jackson township.

" "No. 4465, 1000cres, " "
Grigg, Matthe\v, No. 12,080, 41 acres, Stonelick township.
Gimbo, William, No. 4457, 200 acres, Batavia township.
Garrett, John, No. 1966, 20 acros, Miami township.

" No. 3832, 57 acres," "
" "No. 4825, 23 acres,

Graham, Felix Y., No. 9385, 500 acres, Wayne township~

Gist, Nathaniel, No. 964, 583! acres, Tate township.
Gordon, Ambrose, No. 969, 1500 acres, Jackson township.

" " No. 2528, 166i acres, Williamsburgh township.
Graham, John, No. 3552, 100 acres, Washington township.

" "No. 2745, 189 acres, Union township.
Green, John, No. 4919, 500 acres, Pierce township.

" "No. 5297, 250 acres, Tnte township.
Green, William, No. 27·4, 666 acres, Monroe township.
Gist, Nathaniel, No. 7747, 847! acres, Tate township.

t, No. 4454, 750 acres,
Hackley, John, No. !l05, 666i acres, Franklin township.
Hamilton, John, No. 866, 400 acres, Washington township.
Holt, Thomas, No. 973, 1000 acres, Miami town!!hip.
Higgins, Peter, No. 958, 910 acres," " .
Hardin, John, No. 2399, 200 acres, Union township.
Harrison, John, No. 1543, 515 acres, Monroe township.

" "No. 1543, 545 acres, " "
Hackley, John, No. 1089, 100 acres, Stonelick township.
Humphreys and Brashaw, No. 3777, 300 acres, Goshen .township.
Hill and Brush, No. 13,645,19 acres, Pierce township.
Hardin, John, No. 1935, 250 acres, Union township.
Hardin, Ma.rtin, No. 1988, 250 aores, Bata.via township.
Hill, John, No. 13,533, 6i acres, WilIiamsburgh township.
HilI, Baylor, No. 946, 283 acres, Tate township.

" " "230" " "
Hackley, John, No. 1089, 143 aores, Stonelick township.
Hawkins, John, No. 2955, 205 acres, Tate tow~ship.
Hill, John, No. 13,534, 21 aores, Union township.

" "No. 13,535, 11 acres, Jackson township.
Hawkins, Martin, No. 2950, 1100 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Heth, William, No. 3407, 133! acres, Batavia township.
Higgins, John, No. 3776, 200 acres, Goshen township.
Hite and Taylor, No. 6222, 300 acres, Monroe township.
Hawles, Samuel, No. 2800, 280 aores, Miami township.
Herron, James, No. 3814, 666* acres, Stonelick township.
Harvie, John, No. 3345, 833~ acres, )VilIiamsburgh township.

" "No. 3621, 560 acres, Miami township.
Harvie and Fenn, No. 3337,4500 acres, Wayne township.
Harvie, John, """
Hubbard, Green K., No. 6152, 100 acres, Miami township.
Humphreys, Alexander, No. 2946, 100 acres, WilIiamsburgh township.
Hill and Bryan, No. 13,758,24 acres, Stoneliok township.
Hammell, Enoch, No. 15,247, 20 acres, Goshen township.
Hinde, Thomas S., No. 9031, 1159 acres, Union township.
Howell, Ezekiel, No. 1767, 800 acrcs, Miami township.
Hogg and Davis, Nos. 10,420, 7] 05, 234 acres, Stonelick township.
Harvie, John, No. 3343, 2000 acres, Williamsburgh towns.hip.

" No. 3344, 1000 acre!l, " "
Innis, James, No. 1725, 1QOO acres, Franklin township.

" " No. 1655," " "
" "No. 1656, ""
" No. 1668, 1041 acres," "
It It No. 1726, 1000 acres, Tate township.
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"
"

Irwin!', John, Jr., No. 4445, 200 acres, Jackson township.
•Jackson, David, No. 1539, 333 acres, Ohio township.
Joncs, Cadwalder, No. 976, 1000 acres, l\Iiami township.
Johnson, John B., No. 981, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Joncs, Joscph, No. 991, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Jones, Churchill, No. 1134, 1000 acres, Union township.
Johnston, William, No. 1774, 1000 acres, Batavia township.

" "No.1705," " "
No. 1209, 1066ii acres, Jackson township.

Johnson, John W., No. 2;{84, 300 acres, Goshen township.
Jonitt, Robert, No. 1517,215 neres, Ohio township.
Johnson, John B., No. 937, 1000 acres, Monroe township.
Jones, Joseph, No. 934, 10nO acres, Batavia township.
Johnson, James, No. 3;~2!J, 124!Jii acres, Batavilt township.
Jones, Cadwalder, No. 714, 152511cres, Washington township.
Johnson, James, No. 5252, 682 acres, Batavia township.

" No. 3329, 1417 acres, J aekson township.
Jones, Joseph, No. 948,1000 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Jones, Shotha, No. 56q, 1000 acres, Tate township.
Jones, Albridgeton, No. 9450, 291i acres, Jackson township.

" . No. 10,774, 107 acres," "
Karr, James, No. 4784,200 acres, Jackson township.
Kerr, Joseph, No. 4845, 243 acres, Batavia township.

.. King, Miles, No. 9375, 71~ acres, Tate township.
Kendrick, E. P., No. 13,841, 50 acres, Washington township.
Knox, James, No. 4795, 888~ acres, Pierce township.

No. 366, 2000 acres, Tate township.
" No. 2737, 1300 acres," "

Kirby, Timothy, No. 13,197, 94 acres, Jackson township.
Keith, Isham, No. 1701, 944 acres, Batavia township.
King, Elisha, Nos. 1545, 2195,400 acres, Miami township.
Kirk, Robert, No. 735, 1000 acres, Franklin township.
Lytle and Tibbs, No. 5962, 45 acres, Goshen township.
Lytle, William, No. 5254, 100 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Lewis, George, No. 1769,200 acres, Monroe township.
Lucas, Nathaniel, No. 1753, 2045 acres, Pierce township.

" No. 1753, 1'000 acres," "
Lytle, William, No. 4781, 50 acres, WiIliamsburgh township.

" " No. 4801, 16i acres, Jackson township.
" No. 2377, 500 acres, Goshen township.
" No. 4248, 1500 acres, Miami township.
" No. 4780, 621 acres, Jackson township.
" No. 4782, 006~ acres," "

Lytic and Taylor, No. 478::1, 666i acres, Stonelick township.
Lytle, William, No. 7363, 200 acre~, Goshen township.
Lytic and Porter, No. 8289, 3i4 acres, WilIiamsburgh township.
Lee, George S., No. 13,347, 15 acres, :Franklin township.
Lytic, William, No. 3333, 629i acres, Williamsburgh township.

" No. 4247, 666! acres," "
" " No. 4440, 1500 acres, Stonelick township.
" No. 4249, 500 acres, WilIiamsburgh township.

" No. 4441, 300 acres, Stonelick township..
" No. 4458, 675 acres, Monroe township.

No. 4250, 307 acres, Jackson township.
" No. 2939, 1000 acres, Tate township.

Lytic and Stephenson, Nos. 2286, 2948, 356 acres, Miami township.
Lytic and Porter, No. 8289, 344 acres, Williamsburgh township.
LytIe, William, No. 2942, 1000 acres, " "

" No. 2949, 525 acres, Tate township.
" "No. 3331, 500 acres, Jackson township.

" No. 333·2, 500 acres, Miami township.
Ladd, Benjamin, ct ai., No. 10,232, 170 acres, Stonelick township.
Lawson, William, No. 957, 1000 acres, Jackson township.
Light, George C., No. 8909, 228 acres, Union township.
Lee, Charles, No. 3335, 300 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Linton, John, No. 681, 1666! acres, Stonelick township.
Lytle, William, No. 2019, 500 acres, Miami township.

" " No. 2190, 200 acres, Goshen township.
Light, George C., No. 8905, 20 acres, Ohio township.

" " No. 8904, 8 acres, Batavia township.
" "No. 8907, 15 acres, Ohiq township.
" ". No. 11,033,200 acres, Ohio township.

Lindsey, Joseph, No. 3623, 200 acres, Miami township.
Latham, Allen, No. 13,361, 682 acres;Batavia township.
Lytle, William, No. 3048, 200 acres, Williamsburgh township.

Lytle, William, No. 4464, 200 acres, Stonelick township.
McDougal, John, No. 1684, 573t acres, Washington township.

" "No. 1683, 510 acres," "
" "No. 1683, 666ii acres, "

Moslcy, Benjamin, No. 1102, 1000 acrcs, Franklin township.
Miller, Jarvin, No. 1080, 1000 acres, " "
Mathews, George, No. 1138, 1777ii acres, Union township.
Mosley, William, No. 1115, 1000 acres, " "
McDowell, John, No. 1480, 666ii acres. :Miami to\vnship.
Morrow, Robert, No. 666, 1000 acres, Union township.
Mcrriwethcr, James, No. 1136, 1000 acres, Union township.
McCra\v, Samuel, No. 1760, 1064 acres, Monroe township.
Massina and Lytle, No. 5248, 100 acres, Batavia township.
McCraw, Samuel, No. 1761,734 acres, Monroe township.
McDougal, John, No. 1767, 666ii acres," "
Massie, Henry, No. 10,712, 21 acres, Miami township.
McKinnie, James, No. 13,537, 152! acres, Stonelick township.
Mosley, Benjamin, No. 1102, 1000 acres, Franklin township.
Minnis, Holman, No. 1032, 1000 acres, Wayne township.
Massic, Thomas P., No. 3776, 150 acres, Goshen township.
Mountjoy, John, No. -1448, 2000 acres, Jackson township.

" No. 5582, 300 acres, Tate township.
Mosley, Willia.m, No. 1499, 1166ii acres, Jackson township.
Mosley and Robinson, No. 5992, 111~ acrcs, Miami township.
Mosley, William, No. 8976, 66 acres, Union township.
Maybone, .JalDcs, No. 998, 1000 acres, Batavia township.
Marlin, Thomas, No. 6878, 500 acres," "
Mosley, William, Nos. 6194, 7120,. 7121, 180 acres, Batavia township.
McDowell, John, No. 706, 200 acres, Union township.
:Morl"ison, James, No. 2940, 1250 acres, Tate township.
Morrow, Robcrt, No. 666, ] 000 aCl'CS, Union township.
Massic, Hcnry, No. 4862, 977 acres," "
Mosley, William, No. 5995, 320 acres, Miami to\vnship.

" "No. 7197, 17 acres, Batavia township.
" No. 10,159, 8 acres," "

" No. 6530, 108~ acres, Stonelick township.
McUardell, James, No. 2283, 100 acres, Goshen township.
McGeorge, Cormick, No. 10,495, 250 acres, Batavia township.
Mayo, Peter P., Nos. 12,304, 12,406, 200 acres, Jackson township.
Mitchell, James, No. 4401, 100 acres, Batavia township.
McDougal, John, No. 4400, 437 acres, Washington township.
Minzies, Samuel P., No. 3799, 816 acres, Goshen township.
Morrison, James, No. 4800, 100 acres, Jackson township.
Massie, Henry, No. 4841, 200 acres, Union township.
l\Iillcr, T. B. and L. J., No. 12,495, 450~ acres, Pierce township.
l\lorrison and Donnel, No. 3775, 516ii acres, Goshen township.
Morrison, James, No. 2940, 1250 acres, Tate township.
Mosley, William, No. 9545, 5 acres, Batavia township.

" No. 9546, 8 acres," "
Moss, Henry, No. 726, 1000 acres, Tate township.
Mountjoy, John, Nos. 4236,4447, '2000 acres, Stonelick township.
Morgan, Daniel, No. 659,2222 acres, WaRhington township.
Mosley, William, No. 949, 1333! acres,Jackson township.
Mayo, Peter P., No. 12,408, 100 acres, Franklin township.
Mcade, Richard K., No. 1665,1000 acres, Franklin township.

" " No. 1663, 1000 acres," "
Neville, John, No. 388, 1400 acres, Washington township.
Nancarrow, John, No. 1747, 822 acres, Pierce township.

No. 1748, 230 acres, Miami township.
" "No. 1748, 1000 acres, Pierce township.

Norvell, Lipscomb, No. 765, 1333! acres, Washington township.
Nancarrow, John, No. 9444, 300 acres, Tate township.
Nail, Martin, No. 2194, 300 acres, Miami township.
Neville, John, No. 4848, 1060ii acres, Miami township.

" "N~. 4847, 839 acres, Franklin township.
NaIl, William, No. 2192, 1100 acres, Miami and Goshen townships.
Nelson, William, No. 3825, 690 acres, Stonelick township.
Overton, Thomas, No. 949,260 acres, Batavia township.
O'Neal, Ferdinand, No. 913, 1000 acres, Monroe township.
Overton, John, No. 987, 890 acres, Stonelick township.

" "No. 987, 514 acres," "
" "No. 987, 376 acres," "

O'Bannon and Davies, No. 1646, 1000 acres, Franklin township.
" No. 1647, 1000 acres," "

Overton, Thomas, No. 2436, 1000 acrel:l, Batavia township..
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O'Neal, Ferdinand, No. 655, 902 acres, Pierce township.
Overton, Thomas, No. 502, 700 acres, Miami township.

U uNo. 2407, 765 acres, Monroe township.
O'Bannon, John, No. 2378, 480 acres, Franklin township.

U uNo. 2379, 590 acres," "
U "No. 2721, 290 acres, Union township.
It "No. 296.1, 672 acres, Franklin township.

UNo. 4031, 38S! acres, Blttavia township.
Parker, Alexandcr, No. 834, 700 acres, Washington township.

" "No. 646, 1300 acres, Monroe township.
" uNo. 508, 400 acres, Franklin township.

Powell, Robcrt, No. 430, 1000 acres, Miami township.
Parker, John, No. 2588, 50 acres, Jackson township.
Picrce, William, No. 9532, 550 acres, Goshcn township.
Parker, Alexander, No. 834, 700 acres, Washington township.
Payton, James, No. 706, 95 acrcs, Union township.
Patterson, Charles, No. 2937, 820 acrcs, Tate township.
Parsons, William, No. 585, 1000 acrcs, Williamsbul'gh township.
Pasky, Frederick, No. 910, 800 acres, " U

Peyton, Francis, No. 3856, 600 acres, Union township.
Pierson, Thomas, No. 928, 1333! acres, Tate township.
Pelham, Charles, No. 6551, 200 acres, Miami township.
Preston, John, No. 9802, 200 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Parker, Alexander, No. 834, 700 acres, Washington township.
Payne, John, No. 4446, 200 acres, Jackson township.
Porter, William, No. 8290, 444 acres, Tate township.
Peyton, Timothy, No. 954, 1000 acres, Jackson township.
Patterson, Charles, No. 2936, 1000 acres, Tatc township.
Quarles, Nathaniel, No. 4240, 200 acres, Stonclick township.
Roy, Beverly, No. 1064, 1000 acres, Washington township.

" ,t No. 1064, 1000 acres, Franklin township.
Rhea, Matthew, No. 2951, 88H acres, Tate township.
Ridley, Thomas, No. 3406, 166i acres, Batavia township.
Richardson, W. and G., No. 768,1000 acres, Tate township.
Robertson, James, No. 851, 200 acres, Washington township.
Robcrtson, George, No. 851, 75 acres, "
Ryley,John, No. 851, 200 acres, Washington township.
Robinson, W. H., No. 13,606, H acres, Union township.
Roy, Beverly, No. 939, 1500 acres, Tate township.

It No. 3778, 325 acres, u. "

Robertson, William, No. 639, 666!t acres, Williamsburgh township.
Roy, Beverly,·No. 4460, 175 acres, Tate township.
Smith, William, No. 866, 400 acres, Washington township.
Stephenson, David, No. 722, 1200 acres, Ohio township.
Starke, Lewil', No. 1349, 666!t acres, Monroe township.
Stevens, Edward, Nos. 1671, 1672, 1673, 2262 ac.rcs, Union township.

" "No. 1669, 1000 acres, Franklin township.
" "No. 1670,1000 acres," "
" "Nos. 1675, 1676, 1677, 1900 acres, Stonelick town-

ship.
Stevens, Edward, No. 3877, 123 acres, Batavia township.
Simpson, Edward, No. 1770, 200 acres, Miami township.
Straws, George F., No. 2938,1100 acres, Tate township.
Scott, Joseph, No. 586, 1000 acres, Batavia township.
Snider, Sarah, No. 15,171, 3 acres, Goshen township.
Shields, Thomas L., No. 13,530, 5!l acres, Batavia township.

" " U No. 13,532, 4! acres," "
Smith, James, No. 3776, 200 aores, Goshen township.
Stewart and Taylor, No. 13,388, 53 aores, Jackson township.

" "No. 13,389, 30:1 acres," "
Shackleford, Samuel, No. 2404, 100 acres, Goshen township.
Smith, William S., No. 950, 666i acres, Williamsburgh township.
Sneed, Smith, No. 2066, 1500 acres, Franklin township.
Starke, Lewis, No. 715,450 acres, Miami township.
Stiers, Ralph, No. 13,904, 25 acrcs, Franklin township.

U "No. 13,905, 10 acres," "
Stewart, James, No. 14,532, 6 acres, Washington township.
Shields, Thomas L., No. 14,523, 138! acres, Jackson township.

" U "No. 13,524, 498 acres, U ,t

Smith, Nicholas, No. 4457, 200 acres, Stonelick township.
Standard and Johnson, No. 4241, 200 acres, Jaokson township.
Stephenson and .Lytle, No. 2948, 390 acres, "Monroe township.
Smock, Jacob, No. 851, 156 acres, Washington townsb,ip.
Seldon, Samuel, No. 676, 666i acres, Union township.
Sewell, William, No. 3206, 300 acres, Tate township.

Singleton, Anthony, No. 4402, 86~ acres, Batavia township.
Stephenson, David, No. 630, 1110 acres, Franklin township.
Starke, Richard, No. 10,851,281:1 acres, Goshen township.
Talliaferro, William, No. 1066, 533 acres, Frlljnklin township.
Taylor, James, No. 4244, 100 acres, Stonelick township.

" "No. 5960, 400 acres, Goshen township.
Francis, No. 1654, 1000 acres, Franklin township.

It. "No. 1657, 1000 acres," "
" "No. 1658, 1000 acres, U U

" Reuben, No. 1652, 1000 acres," "
" No. 1653, iooo acres, "
" William, No. 637, 1000 acres, Union township.

Thomas, Lewis, No. 1762, 1000 acres, Batavia township.
Towles, Oliver, No. 1239, 1310 acres, Tate township.

" "No. 1239, 1000 acres, .Monroe township.
Todd, Robert, No. 1017, n10a acres, Miami township.
Tibbs and Lytle, No. 6952,45 acres, Goshen township•.
Taylor, James, No. 5958, 300 acres, Batavia township.

" "No. 5959, 800 acres, Goshen township.
Tibbs, William, No. 5256, 80 acres, Batavia township.
Trent, Lawrence, No. 728, 1000 acres, Washington t.ownship.
Thomas, Lewis, No. 4455, 200 acres, Batavia township.

" " No. 4455, 20 acres, " "
No. 6219, 311 acres, Monroe township.

" "No. 1989, 98 acres, " "
" "No. 1989,235 acres, B'atavia township.

Taylor, James, No. 15,435, 5 acres, Jackson township.
" tl No. 7092,500 acres, Goshen township.

1'aylor, Fmncis, No. 3050, 333k acres, Wayne township.
Taylor, Morrow, et al., No. 4449, 2115! acres, Stonelick township.
Taylor, James, No. 13,368, 28 acres, Batavia township.

" "No. 13,364, 109 acres," "
" "No. 13,363, 20 acres, t~

" No. 7103, 2 acres, " "
" No. 4450, 500 acres, Stonelick township.

" "No. 4791, 666i acres, Jackson township.
" No. 15,745, 60 acres," "
" "No. 3776, 150 acres, Goshen township.

Taylor and Hite, No. 6222, 300 acres, Monroe township.
Taylor and Stewart, No. 13,388, 53 acres, Jackson township.

" "No. 13,389, 301 acres," "
Taylor, Jamesl.No. 13,938, 35 acres, Jackson township.
Todd, Robert, No. 1550, '400 acres, Miami to.wnship.
Taylor, James, No. 13,367,87 acres, Jackson township.

" " No. 13,366, 66 acres, " t~

" "No. 15,837,40 acres," "
" "No. 13,369, 30 acres, "

Taylor, Francis, No. 4243, 188i acres, Pierce township.
Taylor, William, No. 42;)7, 889 acres, Stonelick township.
Temple, Benjamin, No. 4802, 200 acres, Batavia township.
Taylor, James; No. 12,464,24 acres, Goshen township.
Tibbs, John, No. 4252, 1000 acres, Jackson township.
Temple, Benjamin~ No. 4459, 1000 acres, Batavia township.
Townsley, Robert, No. 6948, 42 acres, Batavia township.

" "No. 7106, 43 acres, " ,t

" "No. 6949, 35 acres, it "

Thomas, Lewis, No. 5259, 365 acres, Jackson township.
Taylor, James, Jr., No. 5259, 305 acres, Jackson township.
Towles and Taylor, No. 3803, 1YOO acres, Wayne township.
Taylor, James, No. 3804, 666!t acres, Goshen township.
Taylor, Cabell, et al., No. 12,079, 1980i acres, Wayne township.
Taylor, Lytle, ct al., No. 3790, 1766i acres, Goshen township.
Taylor, James, Jr., No. 13,644, 20 acres, Goshen township.
Taylor and Kirk, No. 9385, 220 acres, Wayne township.
Taylor, Martins, et al., No. 5580, 350 acres, Ohio township.
Taylor, Francis, No. 1659, 1000 acres, Franklin township.
Vance, Andrew, No. 2406, 200 acres, Goshen township.
Voden, Henry, No. 2374, 100 acres, Goshen township.
Vowles, Henry, No. 3800, 1666i acres," "

" "No. 3801, 1000 acres, "
Vanderwall, Mark, No. 966, 666i acres, " "
Vansant and Meigs, No. 9383, 250 acres, Goshen t?wnship.
Washington, George, No. 403, 1000 acres, Pierce township.

" "No. 1650,839 acres, Franklin township.
" "No. 1765, 1235 acres, Miami township.
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Bunnel sold his tract to John Monroe, and that of Wil­
liam Huling was conveyed to Samuel Huling, and the two,
with the other original seven buyers above, lost every acre
they had bought with their silver dollars by Lytle's want of
title. It turned out that on Dec. 2, 1810, Oliver Towles,
Jr., the patentee of this land, had leased and demised the
whole survey for a term of fifty years to one Richard Smith,
who on Feb. 25, 1813, filed his declaration in the Common
Pleas Court for an ejectment of_George Brown from the
one hundred and fifty-seven and one-half acre piece, and at

Washingtun, George, No. 1775, !l77 acres, Union township.
Winlock, Juseph, No. 1771, 1295 acrcs, Union township.

" No. 1771, 1295 acres, "
Waters, Richard J., No. 921, 1000 acres, Ohiu township.
Whitc, John, No. 51l7, 6661i acres, Miami township.
Woodford, John, No. 1156,2475 acres, Monroc township.
Whiting, Henry, No. 561, 1000 acres, Tatc township.
Wallace, C., and others, No. 10,090, 375! acrcs, Jackson township.
Walden, George, No. '1452, 100 acres, Jackson township.
Wallace, W. B., No. 955, 1000 acres, Williamsburgh township.
Wallace and Young, No. 8171, 598 acres, Jackson township.
Wright and Starke, No. 10,244, 281! acres, Goshen township.
Watts, John, No. 4553, 44H acres, Batavia township.
Wilcox and Lytle, No. 12,232, 100 acres, Goshen township.
Watts, John, No. 12,483, 128 acres, Batavia township.

" " No. 5253, 222 acres," "
Waters, Richard J., No. 926, 2000 acres, Tate township.
Whitaker, William, No. 705, 666ii acres, Willi:unsburgh township.
Watts, John, No. 3780,620 acres, Tate township.
Watts and Smith, No. 3781, 6661i acres, Tate township.
Yancy and Wallace, No. 8171,598 acres, Jackson township.
Yancy and Layton, No. 8171, 83! acres, "
Young, Original, No. 2055, 600 acres, Stonelick township.
Zimmerman, William, No. 910, 200 acrcs, Williamsburgh township.

Many of the above surveys lie in two townships, but
the township is given in which the largest portion is io­
cated, and several are partly in this county and partly in
Brown, Hamilton, Warren, and Olinton Counties.

The early settlers, in their haste to enter and locate lands
and r~clairn from the woods the fertile acres they had
bought and make comfortable homes for their families, were
often careless about their titles, and frequently suffered
gross imposition. The records and tradition speak of
many who had to pay twice for their possessions, others
who had to give again half of the original price paid by
them years before, and some who lost their lunds entirely
and were compelled to leave their farms, already partly
cleared and on the swift road to improvement and cultiva­
tion. Oliver Towles' survey, No. 1239, of one thousand
acres, lying on Pond Run, or Oross Oreek, and situate in
Tate and Monroe townships, was surveyed by John O'Ban­
non, April 17,1788, on military warrant No. 855, and
patented to Oliver Towles, Jr., Feb. 27, 1802, by Presi­
dent Jefferson. Under some color of title, William Lytle
claimed this tract, one of the finest bodies of choice land
in the county, and sold it to the following parties. for. the
prices subjoined and in the years indicated:

Year. Purchll8ers. Acres.
1808. George Brown........•..•••••....•••.. 15H
1810. Joseph Dole...... ......•.• 80
1809. Jacob Fisher 100
1807. George Meal. 100
1812. John Reeves 196!

• 1809. Henry Fisher 100
1812. Abel Morgan 1I5!
1811. William Huling 100
1810. John BunneL........ 105

Price.
$315

200
250
300
389.50
200
347
300
300

the trial before a jury at the July term, Brown gained
the case; but at the May term of 1814 of the Supreme
Court of the county the verdict and judgment below was
reversed, and Brown ejected from the premises he had'
bought six years previous with his hard earnings, and he
had to go to another part of the county and begin life
anew.

At the June term, 1820, of the Supreme Court., the
verdicts of juries in the Common Pleas courts in favor
of Joseph Dole, Jacob Fisher, George Meal, John Reeves,
Henry Fisher, Abel Morgan, Samuel Huling, and John
Monroe were all reversed, and the titles of the broad
acres they had years before obtained from Lytle were
found to vest in Richard Smith, the lessee of Towles.
These men lost their land, and had saddled on them big
costs and lawyers' fees to pay. The court appointed a
commission of John Shaw, Shadrach Lane, and Robert.
Donham to go upon the lands to value all lasting and valu­
able improvements made thereon by the occupants prior to
their having had actual notice of the claim of Towles or
his lessee, and to view and assess all damages occasioned by
waste, and deduct the same from the value of said improve­
ments j also to value the said land in its natural state, and
also to assess and liquidate the rents and profits arising
from the occupancy of said lands by said occupants prior
to the bringing of this suit. The upshot was, most of
these men, who had been deceived and turned out of their
half-improved farms by the law's stern edicts, went else­
where in the county and started again on new lands, and
had to work the harder for long years, and their families
had t.o endure new privations to make up for t.he time and
treasures lost in bad titles.

Another sad investment to the pioneers was part of
Richard J. Waters survey, No. 921, in Ohio and Monroe
townships, which O'Bannon had surveyed for said Waters,

• assignee of Henry Banks, on Feb. 5, 1788, and, like the
ill-fated Towles tract, it was also on Pond Run or Cross
Creek. Waters had failed to carry his entry and survey
into a patent, and about the year 1805 one Samuel Grime~
sold five hundred acres of this survey to John Barrett, but
how, when, or where Grimes got his title the records are
silent. Here, again, was mischief to the hardy pioneers
coming with their wives and little ones to open up the
wilderness to improvement and civilization, and then, when
their homestead places became improved and their sur­
roundings pleasant, to have their titles upset and a new
journey began.

In 1807, Barrett sold to David White one hundred acres
at two hundred dollars, and to Edmund and Caleb Lindsey
one hundred and ninety-nine acres at t.hree hundred and
seventy dollars, and to Thomas Flinn one hundred acres
at three hundred dollars, who, three years later, conveyed it
to Joshua Porter. The facts were, this four hundred acres
had never been sold by the Waters heirs, and Grimes and
Barrett had no ~itles to convey to these seU.lers. So, on
April 4, 1821, R. D. Dawson, one of the Waters heirs, en­
tered into a bond,.agreeing, at a stated future day, to con­
vey to James Robb, Daniel Light, and David White all the
interests of tbe said Waters' heirs, and then went off, got
their assignments of the survey entries to himself, went to
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Washington, and on the said assignments had issued to
him a patent for the whole survey j all of which was legal.
Dawson then conveyed nine-tenths of the survey to James

. Robb and Daniel Light (being nine hundred acres and in­
cluding the Lindsey and Porter pieces) by deed dated Feb.
24, 1824. Then Robb and J.Jight sued Edmund Lindsey,
Joshua Porter, and David White to eject them. White
compromised and paid his two hundred dollars again, with
fifty dollars' additional, to keep his piece; but Lindsey and
Porter fought it in the courts, and finally Lindsey paid the
purchase price again. Porter died while the litigation was
pending, but his heirs at last compromised it. by having to
pay quite a sum, with large bills of costs, to keep the land.

Beverly Roys' survey, No. 1064, in Washington town­
ship; proved defective in title and a source of great trouble
and expense to those who early bought lands in its limit.s.
Philip Buckner, of Kentucky, claimed to be its owner, and
in- 1800 and 1801 sold one hundred and eight acres to
James Buchanan; two hundred and one to Alexander
Buchanan, Sr. j one hundred to Alexander Buchanan, Jr. j

fifty-three and a half to David Wood j one hundred .and
fifty-five to Adam Fisher (father of Hon. David Fisher,
member of the Thirtieth Congress from the Second Ohio
District,-Clinton County,-and into whose arms ex-Presi­
dent John Quincy Adams, then a member of the national
House, fell on Feb. 22, 1847, in the sudden prostration
that terminated his life) j and the residue of this survey
(one thousand acres) to various parties in smaller tracts.
Some twenty-five years later the heirs of Beverly Roys, or
his legal representatives, began suits to recover this survey,
claiming that Buckner had no title, and that his convey­
ances were therefore void. The Buchanans and other occu­
pants, who had long before paid their money for their farms,
employed Thomas Ewing and Gen. Hamer, who fought
with great desperation the non-resident claimants, but
finally the case was adjusted on a compromise which al­
lowed the occupants for their improvements and taxes, and
they therefore retained their possessions, but had to pay
a small sum per acre to get their titles quieted, besides
considerable attorney-fees.

The well-known Smith survey, No. 866, of four hun·
dred acres, also in Washington township, was a fruitful
one in trouble to those who located within its boundaries
and bought on title-bonds or promises of bonds from
Nathaniel Massie, the agent of the holder of the land­
warrant on which the entry was made. The Woods and
others who 'purchased in its confines had to bring suit in
chancery against the Massies and others to get deeds, and
then, not getting them, took special decrees operating as
deeds to quiet their titles. Thomas Morris went down to
see Leonard Armstrong, David Wood, and the heirs of
Absalom Wood about getting a patent to them from the
President. He offered to get one for sixty dollars. Arm­
strong and the heirs of Absalom Wood gave him forty dol­
lars, and for the other twenty dollars Morris took the
finest black mare on the place, said then to be the best in
the township. But he failed to get the patent, and at last
Gen. Hamer when in Congress in his last term succeeded
in' procuring one from President Van Buren, which settled
for ever the title to the then owners, but at co~siderable I

outlays of money for those days, when speci~ was scarce
and paper money not to be had easily.

Many people who had bought lands found, to their sor­
row, that these tracts were on the surplus of surveys, and
to keep from being turned out of house and home by other
persons who might any day enter them, they gathered to­
gether all their ready means, sold their last horse some­
times, often their only cow, and frequently the neighbors
t}lubbed together to raise the wherewith by disposing of
this 'and that article, by which they might journey to Chil­
licothe, buy land-warrants, and enter them on their own
homes, already years ago paid for, in order that no one else
might get a patent and dispossess them of their all in the
new country. In Chapter XIV., under" Notable Trials,"
the Cabell survey suit is narrated, whereby all the owners
of three thousand six hundred and sixty-six and two-tbird
acres were compelled only a few years ago to repay for two­
fifteenths of all the lands they had paid for yeal'S previous.
These all live in Wayne township, and we give'their names
and number of acres they owned (of two-fifteenths of which
they were despoiled by double payment): John B. Fry,
271 ; W. H. Cramer, 62f; Anne E. Pendry, 183; Oharles
Durham, 46t; Jonas Doughman, 50; J. H. Dickbrader,
156f; Daniel Hogan, 40; Walter Hogan, 26; Willillm
Ingle, 157 j S. F. Spurling, 188!; John Laymon, 3H;
Cornelius McNeilus, 60; Thomas D. ~cott, 58!; William
Snider, 106! j Catharine Scott, 38~· j and the heirs of
John Thoroughgood, 65.

Every township furnishes many and well-authenticated
instances, and the records of the courts for the first forty
years of tl:teir existence are replete with them~ where the
first occupants of the lands, having paid for their posses­
sions, earned by hard labor and exposure to. the fatigue of
the weather and dangers incident to frontier life, were com­
pelled, in order to get deeds or perfected titles, to bring
suits in chancery. 'fhis and similar litigation bore heavily
on the first· emigrants, but they pushed on, some having
to be dispossessed of their little farms, and others having to
make great sacrifices and pay twice for their tracts and set­
tle enormous costs and lawyers' fees. The sufferings of
many who were ruthlessly stripped of their all were great,
but their kind neighbors rallied to these squatters or settlers,
and assisted very generally in giving them a fresh start in
the rough and rugged journey of life.

On the subject of land-titles the late Hon. B. W. Clarke
wrote as follows:

" Most persons holding' the Virginia land-warrants never saw the
land upon which they were laid, as surveyors took them to locate,
and generally for a share of the land,-more or less, as they could
drive the bargain. Large tracts of a thousand acres or more were
often thus located; the surveyor, getting for his pay the larger half,
and being upon the ground, was enabled to secure the best portion.
SOIDe of the survey'S are large, calling for several thousand acres, and
invariably overrunning the quantity named. Breckenridge's survey
in Tate township, upon which Bethel is situated, called for four
thousand llcres, while in fact it contains over six: thousand; and thus
the government was cheated out of the surplus of the llurveyor. tt
was not unfrequently the case that 'holders of warrants could have
them laid upon well-chosen lands. by competent surveyors for the
surplus, and it often happened in such cases that the sun'eyor would
get the most land. About the year 1835 a land-speculator got a small
warrant, calling for about one hundred acres, located by a surveyor
who was a preaoher of the gospel, and who was to make the location
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for the surplus, and he did his work well; but the surplus was larger
than the quantity called for in the patent. By this method of locating
large tracts, to remai-n in the lllLnds of non-residents, living far away
from the lands, and often desccnding by death to heirs, and the title
becoming tangled and difficult to be gathered up into a perfect legal
conveyance; and, furthermorc, by the very bad practice of specu­
ltLtors selling lands to emigrants upon mere bond for title, without
themselves having perfected their right to such lands, 01', indeed, "
often without intending ever to do so,-the broad foundation for future
troublc wns laid. Land was sold very chcll}},-even so low ItS one
dollar per acre for choice selections, and for sometimes fifty cents,
twenty-five cents, and less, if morc could not bc had; but, chOltp as
it appeared to the unsuspecting purchaser, it often proved his ruin.
He would go upon his land, build his cabin, clear out his fields, nnd
just as he was beginning to realize some of the fruit,; of his hard
lahar a claimant with a better title would call upon him, and he would
have to surrender up all, without a return of his purChase-money or
pay for improvements. Sometimcs the occupants would hold on to
their shadow of a title and risk the chances of a lawsuit; but, of
course, the better title prevailed, and they lost not only their land,
but, as before narrated, were harassed with lawyers' fees and eost­
bills, which in many cases finished up the administration of the pOOl'
man's worldly efrects and left him almost as naked as when he came
into the world. Many bought their farms a second, and even a third,
time before they were quieted in their titles.

" Few men eontributcd more to this ruinons stnte of things tban
Gen. Lytle, who was extensively engaged in locating land-warrants
and selling lands and had many and influential friends, and all adven­
turers into the county who wanted land were recommended to Lytle.
lIe was a man of easy and affable address, not difficult to trade with,
and of coursc the all-confiding purchaser desired nothing but the
word and bond of Gen. Lytle for a deed, and felt secure that all was
right, and in this faith paid his money and expended his labor to im­
prove his possessions. Old pioneers say that any person wishing
land bad only to call on Gen. L;ytle, name the quantity and location,
and he would at once close tbe bargain, take the money, and give his
bond for a deed, although he had no particle of title whatever or
right to sell, but probably he intended to get in the title,-a thing not
difficult for him, but not always done,-and of course the consequence
was, the poor confiding settler lost his land and all his labor bestowed
u}}on it, as well as the purchase-money; for our information is very
few were ever fully indemnified by Lytle for their losses. Tradition
says Gen. Lytle made most of his surveys on horseback, and the well­
known historical fltCt that his surveys, more tban those of any other
early surveyors, overran in quantity, is to be attributed to this cir­
cumstance; for in the saddle he was not able, on account of the
thickets, ravines, underbrush, and othcr obstructions, to get around,
but stopped short or went beyond the required points to make his
surveying accurate; and, as land ,vas cheap as a song, and there was
never an expectation that it would all be taken up and farmed, Lytle
was not particular, but surveyed his tracts in wanton disregard of the
great future trouble and litigation to subsequcnt owners and occu­
pants."

On April 24,1795, Gen. James Taylor, of Newport, Ky.,
gave a power of attorney to Gen. William Lytle to sell and
convey by title-bond or deed, in such quantities and at
such prices as the latter wished, any .ot' the many thousands
of acres of the former's lands in Clermont to such persons
as might desire to purchase. The first sale by Lytle under
this power of attorney was in 1795, by title-bond, of Robert
Morrow's survey, No. 666, of one thousand acres, in Union
township (lying between 'robasco and Mount Carmel), to
RobE'rt Kyle, for two thousand five hundred dollars. The
next sale was Richard Taylor's survey, No. 637, of one
thousand acres in same township, and including Tobasco,
to Daniel Durham, at two· dollars per acre; and in same
year Lytle sold, as attorney of Taylor aforesaid, part of
William ,Johnson's survey, No. 1765, of one thousand acres,
adjoining Batavia, and including ~he Duckwall farms, to
Ezekiel Dimmitt, at two dollars and fifty Ctmts per acre.

Gen. Lytle, with a good deal of the carelessness charac­
terizing land business at an early day, in hundreds upon
hundreds of cases in making the deeds of conveyance did
not make them as the attorney in fact and of record of
Taylor; as he should llave done and was authorized to do,
but went ahead and made them as an individual owning
them in fee-simple, and his wife, Eliza N. Lytle, united in
the deeds with him and released her dower. But in after­
years, in searching titles, it could not be discovered whence
Lytle had acquired any title to the lands thus irregularly
conveyed, and his attention was called to it.. Whereupon,
to cure all these defects, he made a mammoth curative deed­
on July 23, 1821, in which he recited his power of attorney
as aforesaid; and in which, as attorney of Taylor, he again
conveyed all those pieces to the divers persons who had
years before had his individual deed for lands not his.
.This was put on Clermont records, and cured lip all the
defects clouding the titles of hundreds of unsuspecting
purchasers, who came near being the victims of Lytle's
carelessness.

On June 27, 1796, Obed Denham bought of John
Breckenridge the famous survey, No. 2373, of four thou­
sand acres (overrunning at least six hundred acres), by
title·bond; but, gett.ing no deed when he paid for it in full,
he brought suit against the Breckenridge heirs, and the
Clermont Supreme Oourt, at its October term of 1810, or­
dered said heirs to make him a deed, and in default thereof'
its decree was to operate as a conveyance.

CHAPTER VII,

THE FIRST WHITE SETTLERS - THEIR PRIVA­
TIONS, CUSTOMS, AND MANNERS - GENERAL
ACCOUNT OF PIONEER LIFE IN CLERMONT,
WITH A LIST OF EARLY MARRIAGES AND IN­
TERESTING REMINISCENCES.

"That heart, one thinks,
Were of strange mould which kept no cherished print

Of earlier, happier time.s."

CLERMONT is a county rich in wild, sweet romance, full
of the picturesque of the old pioneer life and of a certain
individuality of beauty unequaled by any other locality in
the Ohio Valley. Here, too, is all the fine wild flavor of
poetic legend and Indian lore, clinging about hill, creek,
and upland, and one could wander for days in the realms of
song and story in drives among its quiet hills, lying low in
the" prophetic shadows of a beautiful autumn. It is not
difficult to conjure up a picture of what Clermont was four­
score years and more ago, and in the rhythmic outpouring
of pioneer life we see how the beauty of the outlying coun­
try and its lovely streams sank deep into the hearts of the
-hardy emigrants in their ever-loving mention of

" Our green old forest-home,
Whose pleasant memories freshly yet
Across the bosom come."

The people of Clermont are especially and particularly
interested in its history. Th"e Past is the mother of the
Present, and all that has gone before us is the cause,of all
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that is now, and it is undoubtedly a truth in philosophy
that the experience of the past is the wisdom of the pres­
ent j so that it well becomes us once in a while to look
back at the past and gather strength and encouragement
for the prcsent, and, we Illay add, hope and faith for the
future.

The county has a grand history from its settlcment, in
1795, till the present, and we hesitate not to say that one
more full of incident, sccne, character, and, indeed, every­
thing pertaining to historic drama, has never been witnessed
by sequential and progressive generations. Such a delight­
ful location as Clermont-noted for its scenic beauty and at­
mosphe1.'ic purity, its scenery being of the most varied de­
scription, and representing within its confines a gradu(ll
transition from the graceful and pictu1.'esque to the rugged
and sublime, and abounding in fertile valleys and rich, in­
viting uplands-could not long escape the attention of the
lovers of the beautiful in nature and of the emigrant seek­
ing a new V\Testern home, especially as it wore the appear­
ance of buoyant health and ultimate utility in addition to
its magnificent natural beauty, and the chief elements of
complete landscapes-hill and dale, wood and wuter, knolls
and mounts-existed in luxuriant abundance.

Not the least among its many attractions, the salubrious
location of Clermont, its lying on the great Ohio River, and
its many le"el and well-wooded sites of majcstic oak, stately
beech, toweI:ing poplar, and beautiful sugar-tree, early in­
vited the attention and struck with rapture the Revolu­
tionary soldiers of the Continental establishment on the
Virginia line who located their surveys in its territory, as
well as of their immediate successors, who first actually
occupied its area in the rich bottoms of its swiftiy-flowing
streams. The first settlers were' identified with and
associated by common interests, and were more equal in
fortune, in birth and education, and as a neighborhood as­
similated in manners, customs, habits, and tastes to a greater
degree than any other of the Ohio settlements. They came
originally from the best families of New Jersey, Pennsyl­
vania, Virginia, Maryland, and Kentucky, with abundant
energy and physical vigor, were practicai agriculturists,
unambitious of professional or political promotion or indi­
vidual notoriety. They were singularly straightforward in
their objects, and generally prompt in all their duties and
in meeting all their obligations. The days in which they
lived and the circumstances surrounding them rendered them
self-reliant in thought, action, and purpose, and by the help
of God and in their own strength, by the help of good con­
stitutions and their own common sense, they gained the
respect and confidence of all with whom they came in
contact.

The pioneer fathers in the county were men of large
person and spirit and well constituted to endure the priva­
tions of frontier life, and their commanding physiques and
noble minds fitted them as worthy companions in life for
those sainted mothers of Israel' who at the dear family
hearthstone laid broad the happy foundations of domestic
love and enkindled and kept a perpetual fire of incense and
devotion to the great Architect of their happiness, whose
praises and goodness were daily mingled and remembered in
their constant prayers and religious duties. The pioneers
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in this county were emphatically a religious people and
served the Lord in their profession and daily walk and con­
versation, and wer~ not, like subsequent early settlers in
other regions of the West, a rough, pi'ofune, 01' wicked
class, perverse to religion and its attendant sway of social
and educational blessings. They came at a time when the
blessings we now enjoy were not enjoyed by them, when
the facilities for their enjoyment were limited, and when
harde~t toil and eternal vigilance were their lot in life.

In all organized armies they have a pioneer corps, usually
volunteers, who are sent to the front armed with axes as
well as guns,-with axes to make roads and a pathway for
the army behind them, and with guns because it is a point
of danger to be a pioneer in the army, as they are con­
stantly in danger of ambush, always in fear that the enemy
in an unpenetrated country may assault them at any mo­
ment. Hence it. is that those men put to the front are in­
variably volunteers and fearless men, like those who go to
the front voluntarily to make a path for the army of civil­
ization,-men who are willing to take their lives in their
own hand~. The pioneers of Clermont were pioneers of a
greater army, and came into her valleys and on her hills at
a time when it was a common wilderness fresh from the
hands of God, and they brought with them their axes and
their guns, and they hewed and fought a way for those who
should come after them. They swept away the obstacles
to comfort and civilization, turned the wilderness into
blooming fields, made plenty spring from a land that was a
comparative desert, and established the broad and strong
foundations of a Christian county full of noble men and
pious women. The unbroken forest of the county under
their hands gave way in time to the beautiful farms, com­
fortable homesteads, enterprising towns, pretty villages,
good roads, eosy houses, elegant churches, fine school­
stmctures, and busy manufactories that· dot and skirt the
county,-perpetual mementoes of the active industry and
Saxon management of the old pioneers and theil' children
and grandchildren reared and schooled under their benefi­
cent auspices.

It was happily said by an eminent writer of the past,
"Let me write the songs of a land, and I care not who
makes its laws i" and, in contrasting the contemporary
poetry of the West with that of the East, one is struck
with the :filet that, while that of the East is full of the fire
of thought and the stirrings of purely mental life, that of
the 'Vest is the interpretation of nature, dewy as the val.
leys and streams whose bea~ty has inspired it. While
\Vhiuier was writing his" Voices of Freedom," and Lowell
penning his calm philosophy into rhythmic periods, the
'Vestcl'll poets were translating the meaning of river, hill,
and sunset sky, and the early poetry of Ohio mirrors the
serenity of mind and the purity of the moral atmosphere
out of which it sprang, and more than all details of history
will, it embalm the fair loveliness of the scenery and the
simple beauty of the early life of the pioneers. A thou­
sand pleasant memories will rush over our aged readers as
we recall old times, and our reminiscences wiI! touch many
tender chords of a half-forgotten melody, sacred and sweet
to them in the hallowed associations of the olden days of
long-ago.
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The first settlements in the county were made in the
)'ears 1795 and 1796, immediately folluwing the Greenville
treaty with the Indians, made by General Anthony
Wa)'ne after his decisive defeat of the savages in battle,
and were made in Miami, Williamsburgh, Washington, and
Pierce townshi1Js,-in Miami by Col. Thomas Paxton* and
Thomas Beck (born in 1764, and who while a boy of six­
teen gallantly served under the Continental Congress on
the ship" Runger" until victory crowned the Revolutionary
filthers and perched upon the young republic, and who a
few years after coming to Clermont moved to Caldwell
Co., Ky., where he died, in 1854) j in Williumsburgh
by Gen. William J.Jytle,* James Kain, wife, three sons
(David, Juhn, and Thomas), three daughters (I~lizabeth,

Mary, and Sarah), and Archibald McLean; in 'Vashington
by John, David, and Jeriah 'Vood (with families), and
John, Nathan, and Elisha Manning,-three brothers who
had all married Wood girls,-William Buchanan and wife,
and John Gregg j and inPieree (then Ohio) by Isaac Fer­
guson and his three sons.* Other emigrants the same or
succeeding four years came into these townships, and that
of Ohio and Pleasant, the latter now in Brown County, so
that by the year 1800 there were settlements on the Little
Miami and Ohio Rivers, and on Stonelick, East Fork,
Bullskin, Indian, Bear, and Twelve-Mile Creeks, besides on
many smaller streams or runs tributary to them.

:From the first year of the century emigrants poured in
from different parts. Cabins were put up in every direc­
tion, and women, children, and goods tumbled into them,
as it were, in the haste to enter land and get a start in the
new" Ohio Eldorado." The tide of emigration began to
increase, and flowed like water through a breach in a mill­
dam, and everything was bustle and confusion, and each
and every member of the settlements W:lS busy in his or
her sphere, and ready for duty in beginning the journey of
life ii'esh in the clearings.

THE Ci\.BINS.

The first dwellings were built of round logs, just as
they -were found in the primeval forests j but occasionally
a settler would construct a palatial residence by hewing the
logs on the outside. They \vOl'e notched near the ends with
an axe, for the double purpose of holding them firmly and
bringing them nearer together, and the spaces were filled
with split sticks and clay. When the logs were cut in
proper lengths they were dragged to the spot selected for
the cabin, and the neighbors for miles around were invited
to the" house-raising," and with handspikes and skid-poles
the -logs were raised to their position, and a man ~ith his
axe, on each corner, prepared the notches, in which way a
cabin one story high was soon erected. The gables were
formed "by leveling each end of the 106"8, making them
shorter and shorter until the ridge-pole was laid on, the logs
in the gable being held in place by poles extending across
the house from end to end, which also served as rafters on
which to lay the clapboard roof. These clapboards were
rived out at' a straight-grained white- or black-oak or ash,
sawed into lengths of five or six feet, and werf3 laid beside

ii, See sketches of their lires in another part of this book.

each otller and the joints covered with another, so as to
effectually keep out the rain. J.Jogs were laid upon these
shingles to keep t11em in place, blocks of wood between
them keeping them in position. The cross-cut saw was put
in reqllisition to make openir.gs for the doors, windows, and
fireplace, and the logs, where cut off, were held in place by
priming split sticks on the ends, which served also as lintels.
The doors were made of clapboards fastened with wrought
nails upon cross-pieces, which, being bored near tIle end,
constituted the hinges, and were llUng upon wooden pins
fastened upon the lintels. The door was fastened by a
wooden latch on the inRide, and was opened from without
by a string passing through a gimlet-hole in the door "and
hanging outside,-from which originated the old saying
when hospitality is tendered: " You will find the latchstring
always out,"-but at night the door was securely locked by

. pulling in the string. The loft above was reached by in­
serting one's toes in the openings between the logs in one
cornel' of the house, or on a rude ladder made of a straig1Jt
sapling of linden-wood or poplar, split into halves, with
rungs for steps, making it convenient to draw up or for its
removal from' the cabin, the rounds or rungs passing through
auger-hoies in the sides and made secure by wooden wedges.
A small hatchway was left in the upper floor or a window
cut in the gable for ingress and egress. The process of
mounting the ladder was called" cooning it to bed," as the
children usually slept there and also company when visitors
came, as the lower room answered the purpose of kitchen,
sitting-room, parlor, and bed-chamber. The cabin fireplace
was always ample, often extending more than halfway
across the house. The chimney was built on t110 outside,
sometimes of stone and mortar, but more commonly of split
sticks laid crossways -and then daubed with" eat and clay,"
an admixture of mud and straw. The large green back-log
and the ample log-fire heap imparted both light and warmth
to the filmily group about the old hearthstone not equaled
in solid cernfort by the stoves, furnaces, and grates of the
present age. The site of the cabin was chosen with refer­
ence to the accessibility to water j and if there was no spring,
a well was often dug before the building-site was deter­
mined. ,

Sometimes two cabins were built near together and con­
nected by a rude hallway between them, which was called
a double cabin, only owned by a few of the wealthier settlers.

PIONEER FURNITURE.

The furniture was simple and easily inventoried. , The
bedstead sometimes consisted of dogwood forks passing
through the puncheon floor into the ground j small saplings
were placed in the forks for a bed-rail,.and upon these'clap­
boards were laid for a bottom. The pots and kettles usually
were placed opposite the window (old paper pasted over the
hole, and on which hog's lard had been applied,-a kind of
glazing which shed a most beautiful and mellow light across
the cabin when the sun shone, as all other light entered at
the doors, cracks, and chimneys), and the gun hung on
hooks over the door. These, with a few split-bottom
c.hairs, three-legged stools, a clumsy shovel and aged pair
of tongs, and a small looking-glass sloping from the wall
over a large towel and comb~case, about comprised the list,
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save the spinning-wlteels,-the pianos of the pioneers. The
large one was used for spinning the woolen rolls, and the
small one for the flax, and their music was heard through
the dlly, and often far into the night.. A woman' spinning
upon the large wheel, stepping backward as she drew and
twi8ted the thread from the roll, and forward as she wound
it upon the spindle, placed her in a more graceful and
charming attitude than was ever exhibited in a ball- or
drawing-room. It maybe that her feet were bare and her
dress of "linsey-woolsey," but her symmetry of form and
her graceful motion were better shown than when clothed
in costly and fashionable attire. 'Vhen the spindle was
filled the reel was put into requisition, and with what ex­
ultation the good woman tied the knot when the snapping
of the reel announced that the last of twelve cuts (a good
day's work) were ready for the loom! We can appreciate
th~ beauty of Solomon's description of a virtuous woman
when he says, "She seeketh wool and flax, and worketll
willingly with her hands j she layeth her hands to the
spindle, and her hands hold the distaff."

In one corner of the cabin stood the 100m for weaving
the cloth for shit·ts, pantaloons, frocks, sheets, and blankets,
and t,he outer walls of the cabin were often near~y covered
with the skins of rabbits, raccoons, minks, bears, deer,
wolves, panthers, and foxes, stretched to dry, to be con­
vet'ted into articles of dress or exchanged for "store-tea,"
calico, or II boughten goods." A green handspike rested
against the side of the chimney, with which to roll in and
adj ust the logs. A similar stick pUSE-cd through the chim­
ney above the blazing fire, called a "lug-pole," and sus­
pended on which was a forked stick, having a wooden peg
iu the lower end, which served as a crune to hang on the
pot or kettle. The andirons were large stones. Stoves
were unknown, and cooking utensils few. The beef or
mutton roast, the pig, the opossum, or the turkey was sus­
pended by a string £llstened to a wooden peg over the fire­
place and cooked before the blazing fire. ~rhe gravy' as it
oozed from the meat was caught in an iron pan resting on
the hearth, and ever and anon the attendant turned the
meat around, basting it with the dripping. fat. In the cor­
ner near by was tile covered skillet, filled with biscuit, with
the glowing embers above and beneath, or a corn-pone upon
a clapboard at an angle of forty-five degrees. Persons may
boast of their stoves and cooking appliances and fancy
dishes, but give us the corn-bread baked upon a board be­
fore the cabin-fire and the barbecued opossum or pig in
preference to all the scientific cookery of modern times.

The best table-dishes were of pewter, and the bowls and
spoons, of that material, were kept as bright as the polished
silver of the modern kitchen. "The old oaken bucket that
hung in the well," fastened to the well-sweep by a wild
grape-vine, and the gour!i, tied to the curb, were among
the pleasant recollections of our early homes.

Our inventory of furniture would be incomplete did we
omit to mention the flint-lock rifle or musket, with powder­
horn, shot- or bullet-pouch, all of which were placed upon
wooden forks £lIstened to the joists, and generally over the
door.

In the loft, and around its walls of logs and pendent
from the roof, in sacks and bunches, were sarsaparilla, gin-

seng, snakeroot., catnip, tansy, garlic, sage: dog-fennel, pen­
nyroyal, wormwood, elecampane, and boneset, gathered in
their season. These constituted the materia medica of the
pioneer, and apothecary's medicine was not in much de­
mand, and patent medicines of rich quack advertisers had
not come in vogue to deplete the pioneer's pocket or blood.
Strings of dried apple~, peaches, and pumpkins 11Ung in
graceful festoons from the rude rafters, while the winter's
store of hickory, haze), walnuts, and butternuts covered the
upper floor. To guard against the ague, a jug of bitters
composed of dogwood-bark and prickly-ash berries was pro­
vided, and to ward off attacks of worms among the children
tansy or wormwood bitters were regularly admif.listcred.

TH.E W ARDltOBES.

The clothing was mostly of domestic manufacture, and
the early settlers were clad in home-spun and home-made
linen and woolen apparel. The flax-pat.ches were the places
where half the courting used to be done, and when the
flax got ripe all the boys and girls far and ncar gathered
and pulled and spread it. It was called 'a frolic, and often
ended with a regular" hoe-down, double-shuffle dance."

After the fibre was softened by the dews and rains,­
which was called ,i rotting the f1ux,"-it was taken up and
bound, and either stacked, or broken ~n a machine called
a brake, then spun on a wheel and run off on a reel and
woven on a loom. Many yet remember the new tow shirt
with its pricking" shives," and there are old Clermonters
yet living who as boys and girls raised the flax, broke and
swingled it, and then'hetcheled, spun, and WQve and made
it up into garments of pantaloons, frocks and aprons, and
shirts, and into toweling, tablecloths, and bed-linen.

The winter garments of both sexes and all ages were
made generally of wool shorn from the settlers' sheep,
carded, spun, colored, and then woven on their own looms.
1'he mother who could n,ot take care of her children, do
the cooking, washing, ironing, and attend to other house­
hold duties, and spin twelve cuts of yarn per day was not
considered extra smart. After the yarn had been spun it
had to be dyed and prepared for the loom. Some they
would dye a copperas color, and some blue, brown, green,
and red, and the more fastidious and tasteful wore checks
and stripes. Our Clermont pioneer mothers and daughters,
like their maternal ancestor, E,'e, had a taste for a variety
of colors and beauty of combination, and yet they attired
themselves in dresses of their own spinning, weaving, col­
oring, and making, and used but six yards of linen or
linsey, instead of from fifteen to thirty as in the pre:;ent
day.

In the manufacture of cloth the ladies, at a later date,
were much assisted by the carding-machine, before the in­
troduction of which they carded all the wool by hand.
After placing a small lock of wool between the cards and
drawing them briskly backwarus and forwards until it was
properly carded, they would make the roll on the backs of
the cards. The spinning-jenny was invented and came
along, which spun. one hundred threads to the wOD;lan's
one. Soon the daugllters of Eve began to talk about it at
little gatherings, the gossip goes, and resolved that Miss
Jenny was a trump-card, and that it was cheaper to buy
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than to run the old wheel j and so woman's spinning.dass
were over. The old wheel was carried out and the piano
carried in, the music ~f which is perhaps sweeter, but it
brings less wealth, health, and happiness to the household.

DOl\IESTIC LIFE OF TilE PIONEERS.

Spring-time brought work, hard and steady, to the
woman of the cabin, spinning and weaving the SUlllmcr
lincn. ltising in the morning at four, she built the fires,
made up her own beds, awoke and dressed the childrcn,
made up the trunulc-bed, shoved it under the" big bcd,"
put on the tea-kettle, and mixeu the Indian meal for the
johnny-cakes and corn-dodgers. This done, she prepared
the frugal meal and set the table j after which she blew a.
merry peal on the tin horn to call the men to breakf:lst.
Next she nursed the baby, but that could be done while
she was knitting the socks and stockings. The men came
in, and, springing up, she laid the sweet smiling little baby
in the trough-cradle, and with one loving kiss she set the
victuals on the rude table, and jogged the cradle with her
foot each time she passed to keep the baby calm.

Breakfast over, the rustic dishes put away, the children
sent to school or out to play, she sprinkled the linen au the
grass, and now spinning is resumed. She takes the wheel
out on the puncheon floor, takes her darling babe from the
cradle, and, while her foot is busy with the treadle, it
serves as a motion to quiet the little beauty, while singing
and musiilg. She can sing right merrily too: "Home,
sweet hoine,"-my own home, be it ever so poor, is hODle.

But it is .time to prepare dinner, and greens must be
picked, potatoes washed, meat put on to boil, and venison
or bear-meat to be broiled or baked j and if the husband is
a. good shot, a turkey is swung up before the large fire­
place to broil. Then down to the wheel or into the loom,
banging away as she sends the swiftly.flying shuttle through
the double-threaded web. The horn is blown again, the
victuals taken up, and the meal is eaten with the baby on
the lap. The pewter dishes washed and put away, the
floor must be scrubbed,-for she has no carpet,-and the
bleaching cloth is to be watered again. Then back to
the wheel till time for supper j which over, she goes to the
pasture to milk the cows, puts the children to bcd, and
takes again to the ever-busy wheel until the husband re­
tires to his couch. She must stop now, for he docs not
like the buzzing noise, but no bed comes to her relief yet,
for the children's clothes are to be mcnded and stockings
darned j and thus she toils on until late in the night.

Such was the life led by most of Clermont's pioneer
motllCrs. But few of the grandmothers remain who pal'':
ticipated in such life, and in a few short years they will
have become pioneers to another country, to be followed by
a ceaseles;; stream of emigrants as time rolls its changes in
our fleeting world.

Among the common articles of food which the pioneers
had, mush and milk was greatly esteemed, and the methods
of eating the same were various. Some would sit around
the pot and everyone take therefrom for himself j some
would set a table and each have his tin cup of milk, and
with a pewter spoon take just as much mush from the dish
or pot, if it was on the table, as he thought would fill his

mouth, then, lowering it into the milk, would take some to
wash it down. 'This method kept the milk cool, and by
frequent repetitions the pioneer would contract the fi.\Culty
of correctly estimating the proper amount of each; but
others would mix the mush and milk together.

The earliest. settlers had no candles, and cared little about
them, except for summer use. Sometimes seasoned sticks,
then again the bark of shelly hickory, was used for light,
and the comUlan rag-dips of cloth in grease and the various
like styles were always at lland.

Salt was a luxury,-very scarce and at a high price,­
and sold from three to four dollars per bushel up to 1808.
Whisky-toddy was considered luxury enough for any party,
the woods fumished abundance of venison, and corn-pone
supplied the place of every variety of pastry.

MANNERS AND CUSTO~IS.

In the early period of the country's history the people
were in a condition of complete social equality. No aristo­
cratic distinctions were thought of in society, and the first
line of demarkation was to separate the very bad from the
general mass. The rich and the poor were costumed alike,
mallY of the men bcing dressed in buckskin pants, and the
women of all families wearing coarse fabrics, produced by
their own hands. Some of the men wore coonskin caps
with the fur on the outside and the tail dangling down the
back of the wearer. Sometimes the material of the buck­
skin pants was not well tanned, and when dried after being
thoroughly soaked became hard and inflexible. When
thrown on the floor they bounded and rattled like tin ket­
tles, and the pioneer, on a cold morning, in drawing on a
pair, was about as cOlpfortable as if thrusting his limbs
into a couple of frosty stovepipes.

The settlers subsisted principally on corn-bread and wild
meats. Flour, tea, and coffee were scarcely to be had, ex­
cept at prices which placed them beyond the "reach of very
many_ At weddings a puncheon formed like a bench, bare
of a cloth, was covered with refreshments of a plain nature.
Wild turke)'s that but a few dass before had gobbled in the~r

native woods, C09n that had grown on the creek-flats, pone
as wedding-cake, with metheglin and whisky, comprised
the bill of fare. A dance was the finale of the wedding
festivities, and they made merry on the puncheon flJor to
the music of the fiddle in jigs, four-handed reels, and the
old-style double-shuffle and breakdown. The next day the
party repaired to the house of the groom for the" infair,"
where the mirt.h was kept up with renewed feasting and
dancing.

Almost all of the first inhabitants of the county were of
upright character, bold, daring, somewhat restless, but
generous-minded. Although often enduring great priva­
tions and living in primitive simplicity, they always enter­
tained an unbounded hospitality. l'hey did not observe the

.heartless formalities of modern society, but their welcome
was plain and outspoken. "Bring your knitting and SLay
a week" was an oft-expressed invitation j and when one did
come, he was expected to feel perfectly at home and help
himself. Were an unexpected visi t made, the hostess was
still pleased to see her neighbors, and immediately began
the preparations for giving them the ordinary treat, serving
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them a meal of the best the house afforded, including, if
possible, a cup of tea. As she had but one fireproof vessel
in the cabin,-the conventional bake-kettle,-some time
must be consumed in preparing the meal.. First, some
meat had to be tried in the kitchen to get lard; second,
some cakes were made alld fried in it; third, some short­
cakes were made in it; fourth, it was used as a bucket to
draw water; fifth, the water was put in, alld a vcry sociable
cup of tea they had indeed.
. The pioneers were self-reliant and comparatively inde­
pendent. Every family did a littl~ of' ev~rything, and
made their own garments out of their own raw material,
manufactured their own soap, and dipped their own candles.
When they killed a sheep or calf they sent pieces to their
neighbors; and they, in the future, performed the same
kind office in return. In this way the settlers had a full
supply of this kind of meat without the aid of a professional
bute-her and without the outlay, of money. The shoemaker
and tailor, with their kits of tools, made their semi-annual
rounds to make or mend boots, shoes, and clothing, the
material for which had been provided beforehand by the
head of the family.

Manners, customs, and habits have changed, but the
memory will cling with fondness to those of other days.
It gratifies our pride to have all the adventitious aids in
preparing and serving our food and securing our clothing;
it is pleasant to have a house of eight or ten rooms, each
supplied with its own appropriate furniture and adorn­
ments; but we very much doubt whether these things
make us happier, or contribute more to our fhmilyor social
enjoyment, than the plain simplicity and surroundings of
three· quarters of a century ago.

FIWNTIER AMUSEMENTS.

Those who suppose that pioneer life was ODe of con­
tiuual hardship-" all work and no play"-are very greatly
mistaken. They had their amusements, which,- if not us
refined as those of modern times, were as exciting and en·
joyable. 'rhe pursuit of game with. the faithful dog and
trusty gun relieved the monotony of daily toil, and the
forests abounded with squirrels, wild turkeys, and deer.
They trapped the rabbits, quails, and other small game;
and at night "coon- and 'possum-hunting" were favorite
diversions.

There were elements of a pleasing nature in the life of
the early settler not found in the dull routine of ordinary
work on improved farms. Visions of bear-, panther-, deer­
and raccoon-hunts, corn-huskings, monster 10g-r~llings,
house-raisings, .wrestling-matches, and fishing-parties, and
last, but not least in true sport and enjoyment, the ancient
fox-chase. The recollections of the gay dance and the wild
frolic come softly over the aged pioneer's memory like the
low whisperings of the summ~r breeze, like the gentle mur­
murings of the rolling waters as the long swell breaks
upon thl,'! shore, like the far-off sound of church-bells mel­
lowed by time, softened by distance,· but also hallowed by
many a pleasant thought and fond remembrance.

Pleasure was often combined with business, resulting in
house-raisings, log-rollings, and corn-huskings, frequent and
attended by young and old, especially the latter. In the

fhll the ears of corn were torn from the stalk unhusked and
deposited in a long row upon a plat of grass; and when
the company assembled in the evenin~,captains were chosen,
who divided the heap as near the middle as possible. They
selected their men alternately, and being arrayed under
their respective leaders, the contest began. The husks
were thrown backward and the ears of corn forward, and
the company that finished first was the winner, and had the
first s~ig at the bottle and the chief seats at. the royal feast
that followed. Oftentimes daylight revealed the fuct that
unhusked corn was found both among the shucks and in
the corn· heap. .

Young people in the fall and winter evenings were often
assembled at a quilting or apple-cutting party. 'When the
quilt was finished or the apples peeled, quartered, and cored,
and a sumptuous feast was disposed of, all united in a dance
or some play. The old pioneer who reads this chapter will
remember with what spirit and enthusiasm they marched
with their partner and sang:

"Oh, sister Phebe, how merry were we
The night we sat under the juniper-tree,
The juniper-tree, the juniper-tree,

Hci oh !" etc., etc.
or

" WC ItTC marching forward to Quebec;
The drums are loudly beating;

America has gained the day,
The Bl"itisn are retreating."

And then, reversing the order, with the arms crossed, sing:

"The war is o'er, an~ we'll turn back
To the place from which we started;

So open the ring and take one in
Which Y9U think will pro.e true-hearted," etc.

Seldom were those joyful occasions marred by any un­
pleasant incidents or by excesses in eating or drinking, but
at an early hour in the morning each young man went home
with his girl, only to repeat the enjoyment at some other
cabin on the next moonlight night.

Horse-racing, t~rkey-raffiing, and many otller kindrcd
sports that obtained in many settlements, found few votaries
in Clermont, whose pioneers were of a type of settlers not
addicted to gambling and other vices that beset so many
frontier localitie$. Some twenty years after the settlement
of the county a f~w rough, coarse, and vicious characters
came in,-principally as adventurers,-but they were soon
weeded out, and the 'county arose rapidly to great numbers
in population, owing, in a great degree, to the industry and
good character of the hardy set~lers.

PIONEER BELLES.

As illustrating the character and social status of the good
old days, Judge Read said that there was not a single case
on the Clermont docket where a divorce was asked for or
granted where the courting was done in a flax-patch, sugar­
camp,' quilting, or corn-husking. The pioneer girls, dressed
in their linseys, made the young men bow as low and smile
as sweetly as du the ladies of our day in the cities, with
their rustling silks, satins, or muslins. Then the young
lady could ride to a quilting on an ox-sled_ or a"sapling­
jumpee' and dance merrily to the music of a single violin;
and such dancing !-a real double-shuffle, in which there
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were grace, activity, life, spirit" and the genuine poetry of
action, with none of your sliding, languishing, die-away
motions of the belle of the fashiunable ball-room at this
date.

'Vhen the dance was over the girls could walk home,­
a distance of five or ten miles,-unless their beaux (and
they all had beaux, and some of them a score or more) had
a horse with saddle and piIlion, when they would mount a
stump or climQ upon the fence and spring on the horse
behind the rider and ride home. If they were engaged to
be married and the day fixed, she would clasp her plump,
well-muscled arm around him, he clasping one hand in hers.
There was one great objection a beau had to his lady-love
}'iding behind him,-it was difficult to kiss her in that
position, though it could be done. How all the young
men enjoyed riding over hills and rough places! as it made
their sweethearts clasp them tightly; and how their hearts
swelled and beat as they felt the electric squeeze of the
angelic creatures by starry moonlight!

Girls were in demand; they were scarce, and the young
men outnumbered them two to one. 'Ve fear the gentler
sex has not improved in health and true unalloyed happi­
ness since those days of innocent romps and j'ollity, though
they may have extended their home-spun skirts of two
yards to twelve yards of silks and furbelows; and we are
of the opinion that the sleep of moSiern girls is no sounder
nor their dreams more pleasant than were those of their
rustic grandmothers.

A bevy of young damsels on their way to a spinning
and log-rolling, on coming to a creek, would pull off their
yarn stockings and shoes, and, with spinning-wheels on
their shoulders, wade the stream, regardless of snakes, and
with a determined air that would put to the blush the
sickly, canting, and insipid conventionalities of the present
day. 'Ve remember, as though it was but last autumn, a
rosy, sweet, angelic girl that came and spun on the big
wheel each day in a certain neighborhood of the county.
Her laughter was sweeter and more musical than the songs
of the birds. She had been reared in the depth of poverty,
-a sweet, wild flower of the forest, and the artist that
could have painted her on canvas true to life would have
beeu worshiped. Here was a picture a fit fcast for the
artist's eye,-a wonderful and happy combination of ease,
grace, and elasticity of step at once to be distinguished
from anything bordering on plebeian birth. In our mind's
eye we see her as she appeared, her head slightly in shadow,
l1er body lighted up, all beaming with beauty and grace.
She was of medium height, but beautifully symmetrical in
form: Her shoulders were exquisitely rounded, her hips
developed, her foot incomparably fine, and what a beautiful
head on this handsome body! large, soft eyes of dark blue j

dark chestnut hair, silky and naturally wavy j the nose of
perfect form, with open nostrils always in motion; a small
mouth, with red lips, and teeth fine, closely set, and pearly.
One was perfectly conquered by the expression of this
beautiful face,-its distinction, its brilliancy, the supreme
charm that emanated from it,-and so was a subsequent
Governor of Missouri, to whom afterwards this pearl of
Clermont was married, and reigned in the 'West as the
" Belle of t.he Mississippi." -

. EARLY )IARRIAGES.

We give below the official list of mat'riages in the county
for the first seven years after its organization, by whom
solemnized, and the dates thereof:

1801.-Septemher 20th, John E~uhart and S,tlly Wood, by William
Hunter, J. P.; Olltober 25th, James Irvin and Cinthy Anna
Dilliner, by William Hunter, J. P.; September 5th, Michael
Hilclebrand and Mary Ann IIn.rper, by MOSI'::! Frazee, ;U. G. ;l;"
October 20th, Williltln South and Pheb3 Fmzee, by Moses
Frazee, l\L G.; December 9th, Archibald Hosbrook an d
Phebe Osborn, by Moses Fl'azee, 1\I. G.; December 6th, Ste~

phen ,Frazee and Hannah Reck, by Mose~ Fr'tzce, 1\1. G.;
October 29th, Tobill.8 Hunter and Bltrbara. Sheak, by Owen
Todd, J. P.; December 24th, Isaae Manning llnd Christena
MeCollll, by Moses l!'razee, 1\1. G.; December 24th, John
York und Betsey l\furfey, by Alexander l\fItrtin, J. P.

1802.-JanuaI'Y 4th, Jonathan Brlt~don :md Sltlly Bru.dberry, by
Moses Frazee, M. G.; JltnUary 11th, Benjamin Sills and
Kuturen Baulll, by Houton Clarke,.r. P.; January 16th,
John Dimmitt nnd Lydia Gist, by Philip Gatch, M. G.;
January 30th, Arthur St. Clair (son of the Go\'ernor of the
Tl.lrritory of the Northwest) and Frances Stall, by William
Hunter, J. P.; May 21st, Joseph Moor and Mary Mefford,
b)· Amos Ellis, J. P.; May 24th, Samuell{innett and Eliza­
beth Rogers, by Amos Ellis, J. P.; Mltreh 7th, John Ross
lind Rebeekah Frazee, by Moses Frazee, M. G.; April 4th,
Aaron I~eonard and Sarah Rounds, by Moses Frazee, 1\1. G.;
April lith, Moses Bradberry and Agnes Hunt, by Moses
Frazee, l\L G.; May 23d, Aaron Osborn and Eloner Mus..
grove, by Moses Frazee, 1\1. G.; Mlty 1st, James Boothby
and Abigail Rounds, by Moses Frazee, 1\1. G.; June 3d,
Elijah Strong and Submit Miller, by Philip Gatch, M. G. ;
April 8th, Timothy Conller and Mary Dickinson, by Wil­
liam Buchanan, J. P.; August 5th, Charles Steward and
Mar,Y Tate, by William Buchanan, J. 1'.; September 3d,
Jo~iah Boothby nnd Mary Rounds, by David Loofbourrow,
1\1. G.; October 19th, John Reafl and. Jane Simonton, by
Philip Gatch, 1\1. G.; Christy Apple and Katuren Polendcr
(dltte not given of the month nOll dlty), by Houton Clal'ke,
J. P.; November 19th, Peter Emery and Elizabeth Apple,
by John Hunter, J. P.; November 22d, ltobert Bradley and
Elizabeth Lytle, by Sylvester Hutchinson, 1\1. G.

1803.-JanuaI"Y 2d, Daniel JUdd and :Mary Buntin, by William
Hunter, J. P.; Fcbruqry 18th, RogerW. Waring and Mar­
th:t McClellan, by William Hunter, J. P.; April 23d, Levi
Pryberger and Rachel Custard, by Owen Todd, J. P.; March
29th, William Smith and Susannah Light, by Elisha Bo\v­
Illan, M. G.; February 4th, John Gest and l\Ia.rthIL Gatch,
by Elisha Bowman, 1\1. G.;. February 19th, Edward Tat­
man ltnd Amy Mills, by Honton Clarke, J. P.; April 19th,
James Arthur and Anne Osbourn, by Philip Gatch, M. G.;
April 21st, John Vanneton and Mary MeDonna, by Philip
Gatch, 1\1. G.; July 12th, John Willi/tms and Anna Tee­
garden, by Morris Witham, M. G.; No\'ember 1st, Andrew
and Ann Perine, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.

1804.-January 24th, John Lucas and Peggy Harp, by Alexander
Mnrtin,J.P.; January 24th, Isaac Lucas and Phemy Harp,
by Alexander l\IlLrtin, J; P.; January 28th, Reuben Lea­
cock and Samh Jordltll, by Alexander Martin, J. P.; Feb­
ruary 19th, John Vanncr and Cutherine Spence, by Roger
W. Waring, J. 1'.; April 3d, James Bunting and Sally
Doughty, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.; July 4th, James
Perine and Polly Kain, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.; Sep­
tember 4th, John Hill and Elizabeth Monahan, by Alexan­
der Martin, J. P.; December 2d, Ezekiel Howard and
Betsey Shinkle, by William Fee, J. P.

1805.-l\Iarch 4th, Robert Allen and Martha Work, by Alexander
. Martin, J. P. i October 4th, Thomas GInze and Rebecca

Jones, by Alexnnder Mnrtin, J. P.; October 4th, John Lytle
and Dorcas Wal'ing, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.; June 14th,
Solomon Hedges and Polly Jenkins, by William Fee, J. P. ;

Ii! M. G., minister of the gospel.
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.July 6th, Jamel! Hunt and Nancy Shotwell, by Moses Fra­
zee, M. G.; S<'ptelllber 15th, JSllac Coulthnr Ilml Mary
Hohnes, by Moses Fruzee, M. G.; September 23d, James
Thompson nnd Margnret Burget, by Henry Chapman. J. 1'.;
S<'ptember 24th, John Smith and Jane Wbhard, by Jacob
Slight, 1\1. G.; September 22d, IJCfljumin Clark nnd Lucusso
Garland, by Francis McCormicl" M. G.; April 25th, John
Pollock and Polly Stillow·, by Philip Gatch, 1\1. G.; January
1st, Joseph Calvin and Jane Wnrdlow, by William Huntcr,
J. 1'.; November 21st, John South and Nancy Burnet, by
(name too defneed to.be made out); Nonmber 7th, Reuben
Fights and Sally Waits, by William Hunter, J. 1'.; No­
vember 5th, Edward Sargent und Anna Sargent, by George
Brown, M. G. (Mrs. Sargent wal! living in 1880, and resided
on the same farm, and in part of tbe same house, where she
went three· quarters of a century ago on her wedding-day,
and her wedding was one of the grandest in the ellunty for
nn early day); November 7th, Josiah Warton and Peggy
Utter, by George Brown, M. G.; November 17th, John Mc­
Graw and Susan Miller, by William Fee, J. 1'.; August l4th,
Samuel Wood and Alice Richey, by William Fee, J. 1'.; No­
vember nth, John Shinkle and Barbam. Skinkle, by Wil­
lium Fee, J. P.; No\'ember 28th, John Day and Catharine
Hendrix, by William Fee, J.P.; March 14th, John Pitser
and Catharine Leeferry, by Henry Chapman, J. 1'.; March
7th, Thomas Jennings and Polly Parker, by Henry Chap­
man, J. P.; June 6th, James Kirkpatrick and Hannah Pul­
lance, by Henry Chapman, J. P.; June 20th, Joseph Wood
and PoJly Hodges, by George Brown, M. G.; July 16th,
Absalom Brooks and Isabel Coulthar, by Roger W. Waring,
J. P.; July 4th, James lJ'ox and Peggy Berry, by Francis
McCormick, M. G.; July 7th, John Armstrong and Sarah
Sly, by Francis McCormick, M. G.; November 28th, John
White and Veighty Church, by Henry Willis, J. P.; Sep­
tember 19th, Jobn Knott and Nancy Dumford, by Francis
McCormick, M. G.; September 19th, Joseph Brunk and
Polly South, by Francis McCormick, M. G.; December lst,
Daniel Kain and Nelly Fostcr, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.;
November 29th, Hugh Fel'guson and Mary Arthus, by
Francis McCormick, 1\1. G.; November 17th, Samuel Beck
and Hannah Morris, by John Morris, J. P.

1806.-March 19th, Benjamin Osburn and Ruth Dnsliet, by Moses
Frazee, M. G.; March 24th, Stacy Brown and Betsey Wil­
son, by Levi Rogers, M. G.; June 5th, Robert Lain and
Martha Witham, by Joan Hunter, J. P.; January 21st,
Hutson Morter and Martha Leacock, by Alexander Martin,
J. P.; June 5th, William Fletcher and Ann Williams, by
William Hunter, J. P.; March 20th, Mr. Vanosdol and
Amy McCollum, by Henry Willis, J. P.; April 3d, WiJlhm
Gold and Mevareum Rounds, by Henry Willis, J. P.; June
5th, Frederick Councilman and Leah Rodermel, by Henry
Willis, J. P.; April lOth, Andrew Gray and Elizabeth Lo­
gan, by Morris Witham, M. G.; September ]8th, George
J ones and Elizaueth Hamilton, by William Fee, J. P.; Sep­
tember 20th, William Smith and Mary Richardson, by Wil­
liam Fee, J. P.; October 21st, James D,}'e and Nancy Ellis,
by Bernard Thompson, J. P.; October 28th, William Col­
lerham and Rachel Smith, by Bernard Thompson, J. P.;
October 6th, Jesse Hill and Fanny Miller, by Jacob Light,
M. G.; November 16th, Perry Garland and Margaret Davis,
by Philip Gatch, M. G.; December 1l1th; Michael Swing
and Ruth Gatch, by John Collins, M. G.; December 4th,
Jonathon Wier and Liza Bottinghouf, by George Brown,
M. G.; December 13th, Benjamin Rue and -- Geats, by
John Pollock, J. P.; August 20th, Josiah McKinney and
Eleanor Thom, by William Hunter, J. P.; January 2d,
Nicholas Christ and Barbara Teagarden, by Roger W. War­
ing, J. P.; January 4th, Thomas Foster and Abigail Davis,
by Francis McCormick, l\L G.; January 2d, William Richey
and Sopbia Miller, by William Fee, J. 1'.; January 6th,
Michael Baum and Elizabeth Richey, by WiJliam Fee, J. P.;
De~ember 5th, John Woodruff and Polly Harper, by Henry
ChlLpman, J. P.; December 25th, James Foster and Eliza­
beth Burget, by lIen~'y Chapman, J. ~.; February 27th,
John Cuncade and Mar,)' Johuston, by George Brown, M. G.;

February 15th, Hugh Rankin and Betsey Light, by Roger
W. Waring, J. P.; March 1st, Joseph D1L\'is and Rnehel
Fowler, by Roger W. Waring. J. P.; February 6th, William
Mastin and Barbary Shil,ely, by Philip Gatch, M. G.; March
6th, Ebenezer Osburn and Fanny Elston, by Philip Gatch,
M.G.

1807.-January l5th, Thomas Berry and Mary Wright, by Henry
Chapman, J.P.; March 20th, Thomas McIlroy and Sarah
Christy, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.; March 23d, John
Chambers and Mary Miller, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.;
March 27th, Willinm Ackles and Mary Long, by Roger W.
Waring, J. P.; MlLrch 27th, J obn Hall or Hill and Hn-nnah
Moore, by Roger W. Waring, J. P.; March 7th, Abraham
M,}'l'e and Polly Miller, by James Sargent, J. 1'.; S<'ars
Crain and Anna Nuth (day nnd month blank), by Moses
Hutchings, M. G.; March 23d, I~aac South and Deborah
Hutebings, by Moses Hutchings, M. G. ; the following three
couples were mlLrried by John Pollock,· J. P., but date of
days lmu months not given: Joseph Clements and Mary
Wiggons, Jonathan Eldridge' and Mary Rumsey, William
Donnels nnd l\Iagdaline Simonton; July 5, Jacob Borstl~r

and Sarah Rohbins, by' Roger W. WILring, J. P.; January
5th, John McCollum and Assigning Winning, by John Col­
lins, l\1. G.; January 16th, William Bartlett and Betsy
Evnnl!, by James Gilliland, M. G.; January 22d, Christian
Husong and Elizabeth Chapman, by Morris Witham, M. G.;
January 22d, William McKibben nnd Susannah Prather,
by William. Fee, J. P.; February 2d, Conduce Gatch· and
MILrgaret McGrue, by Benja.min Lakin, M. G.; February
28th, Ambl'ose Ransom and Susan Ro,}'e, by Benjamin Lakin,
M. G.; :Mareh·20th, Joseph Lemming and Margaret Lambert,
by I,evi Rogers, M. G.; March 10th, John Lattimore and
Mnrgaret Horner, by Philip Gatch, M..G.; April -, Samuel
Shumard and ElizlLbeth Conrod, by Philip Gatch, M. G.;
May 14th, Jonathan McGrew and Ruth Crawfol'd, by Philip
Gatch, M. G.; March 1llth, Abel Frazee and Elizabeth Brown,
by John Morris, J. P.; April 30th, Isaac Hartman and PoJly
Daughters, by Levi Rogers, 1\1. G.; l\lnreh 12th, John wn.;
son and Detsey Leeds,by Roger W. Waring, J. P.

The foregoing list embraces all the marriages from the
organization of Clermont, in December, 1800, to the year
1808, that were returned to the clerk of the court by the
ministers and justices solemnizing them, and, of course,
many returns of licenses issued and marriages performed
were never returned. It will be seen that Roger W.
Waring, the clerk of the court, who issued marriage
licenses, was also a justice of the peace, and thus'was able
to do a large business in the marriage line.

LIBRAIUES AND SCHOOLS.

The library of the intelligent pioneer consisted of the
Bible and hymn-book, Bunyan's "Pilgrim's Progress,"
Fox's" Book of Martyrs," Baxter's" Saint's Rest," Her­
vey's "Meditations," JEsop's "Fables," William Riley's
"Na~rative," "Gulliver's Travels," and" Robinson Crusoe."
The school-books were very few, and none were illustrated;
that for beginners was a paddle, with the alphabet and
words of two lett.ers pasted on one side, and" baker,"
"brier," "cider," etc., on the other, which answered' the
double purpose of instruction and punishment. The
school-house, .like the dwelling, was built. of logs, with a
window, one pane of glass wide, extending the whole
length of the house: but generally, in place of glass, paper
greased with hog's fat afforded the light, and slabs or
"puncheons" served as seats for the pupils.

Steel pens were unknown, and one of the chief qualifica­
tions of the teacher was to be a good penman and expert iu
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making quill pens. Sometimes, in later days, the log
school-house was so constructed that openings were left in
the logs to serve as windows, and in summer they wm'e left
without sash, in winter sized newspapers subserved the
double purpose of sash and window.~lass. A mode of pun­
ishment, equally primitive, called for anoth~r opening of
six inches in the rude door, and into this offenders were re­
quired to thrust a bare foot and keep it there till released
by the stern ped'lgogue of harsh aspect; and, as snakes
were numerous in summer and the ground under the house
open, the discipline was amazingly effective.

The schools were sustained by subscription, and the
teachers, learned in knowledge, dextrous with the old~

fashioned goosequill pen and export-particularly so-with
the heavy ferule and Solomon's rod, received from eight to
twelve dollars per month for theil' services, and" boarded
'round" with their patrons. On certain festive days, espe­
cially Christmas, the custom prevailed-as positi'Te as the
common law and immutable as the laws of the Medes and
Persians-of" barring. out" the teacher, the scholars not
permitting him to enter the school-room until he treated to
cider, apples, gingerbread, or candy; and sometimes, on the
pedagogue's refusal, he was taken to the nearest creek and
immersed in its flowing waters or ducked in the snow till
lle succumbed and complied with the terms dictated by his
pupils, usually led on by the biggeRt and most rawboned
boy,-one often. superior in size to the teacher.

The old-fash~oned schools were excellent in many re­
spects, and the boys and girls obtained a good, practical
primary edueation and a wholesome discipline specially
adapted to those early time:;. On aceount of the sparse­
ness of the population and the work to be done at home, in
which the young of both sexes had to lend a helping hand,
there were usually but" two quarters" of a school per year.

MEETING-HOUSES.

In the early days of pioneer life religion assumed a dra­
matic form, and the out-door meetings were the natural re­
sult, both as accessories of scenery and also because" God's
first temples" were the only temples our worthy ancestors
were able to secure. Then here and there a rude structure
was put up, like the" Old Bethel ~Ieeting-House,"." Hope­
well," and Ten-Mile Creek churches, and soon many log
llOuses were erected in the county for the preaching of the
Lord's word. Services, too, were often held in the resi­
dences of zeAlous members of the church, and very fre­
quently in the woods, where large camp-meetings attracted
hundreds and thousands from many miles around. It was
near fourscore years ago that "the voice of one crying
in the wilderness" first began to be heard in Clermont,
into which poured preachers on the circuit; and they were
men who had not graduated with the honors of their class
at a fasliionable divinity school. They were as guiltless of
original Greek ~s they claimed it was possible to become
of original sin, and they came among an honest, impulsive,
uncultured (in a collegiate sense) people, knowing how to
touch the strings of every heart; and the work they did
was gradual, formative, but enduring in its happy results,
as we find in our excellent churches and Christiau families
the fruits of these first fathers' tenchings..

CLEARING THE LANDS.

To the robust and hardy pioneers of Clermont there was
a certain kind of fascination-a species of romance-about
the clearing of their heavily-timbered lands. Their trials
were. severe, their privations great j but it was a gratifica­
tion to see the lofty trees that had withstood the storms and
fierce howlings of the mighty tempest for hundreds of years
bow before the strong arm of man. It was grand to see
the heavy volume of smoke roll.up by day, and at night to
watch the curling red flame lighting up the dense, mys­
terious forests. It was hard work, but healthy and exciting,
amid the winter's snow, to go into the silent woods to draw
the logs to mill and split out rails to build fences. It was
pleasing, year by year, to see how steadily the field of vision
around the old log cabin was enlarge~ and new prospects
opened, until, at length, the eye could glance over miles of
clearings and behold large, well-filled barns and granaries, a
comfortable home full of happy and contented boys and
gil'1s, with a loved wife in charge of the domestic duties, .
while the head of the family was wielding the axe in the
woods or burning brush or log-heaps preparatory to the cul­
tivation of a new field the ensuing season.

F AHMING UTENSILS.

The farming implements were few and simple. The axe
was in constant use, and was always kept in good order.
Its inseparable companions were a maul and a few iron
wedges, which were supplemented with others made of
green dogwood, and were much used in making rails. A
wooden mould-board plow; a harrow with iron, and very
often wooden, teeth; log chains; a wagon and sled; a cross­
cut saw; a few augers of different sizes and a gimlet; hose
and grubbing-hoe; rakes; a flax-brake -and swinging board;
a couple of flails for thrashing grain, made by fastening to­
gether two pieces of wood with a string of raw hide, con­
stituted the principal outfit. ;rhe grain was at first cut with
a sickle or heavy Dutch scythe, at the rate of about an
acre per day; then came the cradle, and still later the mod­
ern reaper. For thrashing grain, besides the flail, horses
were very often used to tramp it out, being driven round
and round on a circular bed, which was kept· in condition
by a man following with a sliaking-fork. It was cleaned
first by hand, but later the neighbors combined to purchase
a winnowing-machine for general usc, and still later every
farm was supplied with improved and labor-saving appli­
ances.

DO~IESTIC AND WILD ANIMALS.

Nearly every farmer had a team of horses, and some
were supplied with a yoke of oxen, which werc preferred
in drawing logs in a clearing and breaking up new ground.
A cow or two was indispensable, and droves of hogs of all
ages, gathering the mast, filled the woods. Sometimes they
were allowed to roam at large such a length of time that
they became wild, and it afforded much sport to hunt them.
A small flock of sheep was of great service to furnish wool
from which the winter clothing was made, and shearing­
time was looked upon as a great occasion by the farmers'
sons, who enjoyed the sport of washing the sheep in the
creek a few days beforehand. Geese were kept principally
for their feathers, as a feather-bed in an open cabin was a
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great luxu~y in a winter's night. A great variety of dogs
abounded, sometimes as many as six claiming the same
master and having a common kennel under the cabin-floor.
To protect the sheep and cattle from the wolves which
prowled about, the settlers were compellcd to'" corral" them
in a rail pen about the housp-; the stealthy and v~grant pests
were afraid to venture near the light of the cabin-fire. The
fowls were often captured by the minx, the opossum', or the
raccoon, while the sheep-folds were sometimes invaded by
hungry dogs, the ravening whelk and the half-stan'ed yel­
low dog alike playing havoc with' the farmers' flocks, and
incurring the death-penalty, which was bestowed in such
cases if the enr~ged settler overtook them.

In some places it was found difficult to raise hogs and
sheep, on account. of the wolves, which committed many
mischievous depredations. A reward for their scalps had
the effect of stimulating those who engaged in hunting
the.m, which formed quite a lucrative business. Many
expedients were resorted to by the hunters to more suc­
cessfully capture their game. Some of them would take
the ovary of a female wolf at a particular time and rub it
on the soles of their boots; then, circling through the
forest where the wolves were most plentiful, the 'male
wolves would follow the track of the hunter, who had
secreted himself in some suitable place, and as soon as
they came within reach of his rifle he would dispatch
them.' This method, while very effective in allm'ing the
wolves, had also the effect of maddening them, and the
ut.most caution had to be observed to prevent them from
attacking the hunter. On one occasion, while Charles
'Waits was thus hunting in 'Williamsburgh township, he
was so closely pursued that he with difficulty reached a
low tree, into the branches of which he sprang, and it was
not until he had killed four of the enraged animals that
they fell back. Many of the first settlers for several years
paid their taxes with the funds they received as bounties
for scalps, paid for their ammunition, and laid in a stock
of store-goods besides.

To better elude the watchful eyes of the wild animals,
especially those of the deer and the turkey, hunting-shirts
were colored to suit the season. In the £'\11 the shirt most
resembled dead leaves; in the winter they used a garment
whose color resembled the bark of trees; and when snow
was on the ground they frequently drew on a white shirt
over their other garments. Many of the most noted
hunters of Clermont County are named in the chapter
pertaining to the proceedings of the county commissioners.

PIONEER ~IILLS.

It is curious to follow in the track of the early settle­
ment of a country and notice how it advances,-feeble in
the beginning, as a child in the cradle, but time and care
develops the maturity of manhood; so, at first, the early
'settler had to grind his corn by pounding it in a mortar,
or hominy-block, as it was called, which was made by
burning a hole into the end of a block of wood. He
pounded it in these mortars with a pestle, which was made
by driving an iron wedge into a stick of suitable size.
After the corn was sufficiently pounded it was sieved, and
the finer portion thereof taken for meal to make bread and
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mush, and the coarser part boiled for hominy. Next came
the hand-mill, and for this convenience most of the settlers
had to go miles through the woodg to some neighbor who
was able to furnish himself with such an. article. '

William and John Brown, who came from Kentucky
and settled about a mile north of Bethel., brought with
them one of these hand-~ills, which they and their neigh­
bors used uptil something better could be had. It was ono
of the first in Clermont, and was made of some hard stone,
-perhaps limestone only. The bed-stone was fastened in
a fi'ame about thl'ee feet high, and was dressed after the
manner of mill-stones, with furrows, the runner or top­
stone being kept in its place by a rim, and a stick let into
a hole in one edge gave the handle, by which it was seized
and forced around upon the nether-stone, with the grains
of corn between them, and thus ground into meal. One
strong man could grind very well, and two persons could
make it perform with ease.

Next came the" sweep horse-mill,"-a great improvement
upon the mortar and the hand-mill, its two predecessors,­
and soon every considerable neighborhood had its" horse­
mill." They have all gone out of use, and hence we will
describe them: A large square frame, say forty feet square,
was erected of pretty stout timbers, sometimes the posts let
into the ground two or three feet, with plates framed into
them to support the roof and well braced. In the centre a
driving-wheel was placed, with a largo shaft passing through
it having an iron gudgeon or pinion at each end, the lower
end set in a block firmly planted below, and the upper one
secured by a framework overhead. So this shaft stood
perfectly upright, and the whed branching out from it by
arms mortised into it, and extended about eight or ten;
or even twelve, feet from the shaft, thus giving the driving­
wheel a diameter of twenty to twenty-four feet. On the
outer edge or rim of this wheel were c9gs, set sometimes
on the top, sometimes below, and not unfrequently in the
front or tread 0(' the wheel, as we say of' a wagon-wheel,
just to suit the plan of the mill. From this shaft, at about
two and a half feet from the ground, projected two long
levers, as long as the building would admit, and at the outer
end of these levers was a place for hitching a span of
horses; and when in motion the horses would describe a
circle of' about forty feet diameter, being about ~he full ca­
pacity of the building or shed. The wheel, thus mQved by
the horses, worked its teeth or cogs into another wheel;
and so by other wheels, pl'operly arranged, the power finally
reached the runner-stone and performed the grinding pro­
cess. Another building, adjoining the shed, was constructed
for the mill, and was large or small as the wants of the
business required. Being all under cover, the milling could
be done comfortably in all kinds of weather, and two teams,
one to each lever,-or sweep, as they were called,-would
give abundant power and enable the miller to expedite the
work readily and satisfactorily. Each person bringing his
grist' brought also his team, and generally two would
splice, as the saying was, and run out theil' grists in that
way.

Bethel was the centre of an early and numerous settle­
ment, and the milling-business there required two mills, both
located on Main Street. For the privilege of a ride' boys
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would ~it upon tIle end of one of the sweeps, behind the
horses, and drive them through the grinding of a grist.

In those early days everybody drunk whisky, and all re­
garded it as n harmless indulgence, except in cases of great
abuse, and these were not matters of any special concern
to any save the unfortunates themselves. Taverns were
plenty, and liquor pretty good and cheap, and the farmers,
by the use of a little copper-distilled whisky while waiting
at the mill for their turns, could make the time pass off
pleasantly and rapidly. Sometimes a song or a story
helped to relieve the tediousness of the waiting, and some­
times a wrestle, a foot-race, jumping, pitching quoits, a game
of checkers: and not unfrequently a regular old-fhshioned
fight, added to the interest of the occasion. At night a
fire woul<l be kindled in a sheltered place, and, sitting
around it, smoking, chewing tobacco, and drinking, would
cluster all who were waiting their turns. Then was the
time for the telling of marvelous stories of' bears, wolves,
and panthers,-how they depredated on the stock of the
farmers i how the farmer hunted them in great peril, run­
ning them up trees, into caves, thickets, finally overhauling
them with dogs, and then the fight, escape, or death.
Many a little boy would sit and listen to those wonderful,
and to him terrible, stories, night after night, until his
brain would be so full of them that he was afraid to go
home, expecting a panther or a bear to come upon him
at every step he llad to take, amI which, when he did go,
was taken at high speed, and his dreams, of' course, would
be full of the same awful stories the rest of the night. The
mother of such a boy could not see, of course, what should
interest him at the mill, with a parcel of' old men, to stay
till late at night, as was often the case, and would threaten
llim with severe correction, or, what was more alarming, to
inform his father ibut still a bear-story or a wolf-hunt was
too much of a charm for the average pioneer boy to lose
through fear of corporeal chastisement.

The sweep horse-mill gave way to the tread-wheel, which
is still in use,-not so much for grinding as for carding
wool. The water-courses not affording reliable water­
power for all seasons of the year, steam has become the
great agent in moving machinery for all purposes. Such
is the progress made in Cleruiont in eighty years: from the
old mortar to the hand i then horse-swcep i then tread­
mill i then the water-mills on the little streams j and now
the fine steam-mills in full operation all over the county.

STOHES.

The first stores were not in brick, stone, or iron-front
buildings, as stern history tells us they were in log houses
and had a rough bench counter, on each end of which it
was the common practice to set a decanter or bottle of
whisky. for customers to help themselves gratuitously to
liberalize their minds and enable them to purchase advan­
tageously.

Flour could not, for several years, be obtained nearer than
Cincinnati, or Washington, Ky., and other goods were very
high, and none but the commonest kind were brought into
the county. Tea retailed at fmm two to three dollars per
pound j coffee, seventy-five cents i salt, four and five dollars
per bushel i the coarsest calicoes were one dollar a yard j

whisky, from one to two dollars a gallon, and' ~s much of
the latter was sold as of all other articles. Spices and pepper
were worth a dollar per pound j domestic shirtings, sixty­
two and one-half cents pel' yard j brown sugar, from twenty­
five to thirty cents pel' pound i loaf sugar, from forty to
fifty j butt.er, twenty-five i corn, a dollar a bushel i and, as
to wlleat, there was scarcely a price known for three years,
till the completion of the mill at Lytlestown (Williams­
burg:h).

There was no market for several years, beyond the wants
of the settlers, which were sufficient to swallow up all the
surplus products of the farmer i but when such an outlet was
found, it was through the Ohio River by ~eel-boats to the
Southern States. From 1825 to 1830 there were opened
many large stores all over the county, doing a large business j

and, glancing over a daily journal (day-book) of the business
done, we get and present a view of the markets, customs, and
exchange of that period in Williamsburgh: Wool-cards were
in good and frequent demand at sixty-two and a half cents .
apiece. Then the nimble fingers of winsome lasses handled
those more' zealously than do their granddaughters their
piano, organ, or guitar. Stern necessity, not frivolous
fi\shion, dictated the exercise, for their calicoes, of not over­
neat patterns, closed scarce at thirty-seven and a half cents
a yard, while butter ruled from five and a quarter to eight
cents per pound j so that. a gown of one was a fair exchange
for forty or fifl.y pounds of' the other. Honey was preserved
in half-gallon jars, at twenty-five cents each. Powder, at
fifty cents a pound, and lead, at twelve and a half, were in
constant dem~nd, for your hunter of that day was a great
executioner of the denizens of the forest. Young spend­
thrifts were curbed in extravagance by' the ruinous rates of
twelve and a half cents per hundred for cigars. Shirting that
was neither white nor fine was firm at eighteen and three­
quarters cents per yard, and washings wcre cleared with in­
digo at twenty-five cents per ounce. Our ancestors of that
day drank their coffee at twenty-five to twenty-eight cents
per o pound, and occasionally sipped tea at one dollar and
fifty cents, and chewed tobacco unceasingly at twelve and a
half cents per pound. Their pepper cost them fifty cen'ts a
pound, and their salt one dqllar and a half per bushel.
Corn sold for twenty cents, oats twent)'-five, and potatoes
fifty cents a bushel, while nails were twelve and a half and
iron eight cents per pound. The girls, for one momentous
occasion in life, .deemed two hundred and forty-six eggs a
fair barter for one pair of white cotton stockings,-an ex­
travagance us reckless as their simplicity was admirable.

Very frequent charges, such as " Dr." to cash loaned six
a'nd one-quarter cents, "Dr." to cash loaned twelve and one­
half or eighteen and three-quart.ers, and sometimes as much
as thirty-seven and one-half cents, teach us that even then
there was a stringency in tho money circulation. And,
alas for human credit! not all these charges are balanced.
One item that commands attention, if not respect, is ., Cr.'
by twelve hundred gallons of whisky, at twelve and one­
half cents per gallon," and the same book shows where it
went, and more too. The exceptions are rare when in a bill
of goods the item "Dr. to whisky" does not occur. Nor
was the vender without his profit, for the charges on sales
arc at the rate of twelve and one half cents per quart (the
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same bought at that figure per gallon), and seems to have
been the one thing needful. Often the item' stands, like
Napoleon, "solitary and alone," but generally it heads the
list, proving that it was first in war, first in peace, and first
in t.he mouths of our countrymen. The demand appears to
have been regular, subject to occasional violent expansions,
'which we fairly presume to have been caused by the exi­
gencies of harvest, log-roIlings, house-railSi nga, corn-husk­
ings, sheep-shearings, and (there is no disputing the fact:
the day-book shows it) quiltings:

Dr. to ! ~1I.1. whisky •••••••••..•••. '" ..••.•••....••..••.• 25
" ~ lb. tobacco ti:!

salt 6:l=:l7!

is a filir specimen of hundreds of similar entries.
The effects in the town where the store was kept (Wil­

liamsburgh, now the banner temperance town of Clermont)
were obvioUl~, and it is idle to deny them. No wonder that
w~ have momentarily to rescue from oblivion the ~ate ,of a
little girl in that towl1,-a tender little girl whose mangled
form and crushed and broken bones long since mouldered
away in a forgotten grave, whither she was sent by a father's
drunken frenzy; nor need we feel surprised that the jury
'gave the wretch an acquittL\l, for drunkenness was yery
common, and" a fellow-feeling makes us wondrous kind."

The day-book and journal from whose pages we have
gleaned is quite as noteworthy in what is not shown. Silks
have no notice, the perfumes and powders of" the modern
toilet are not mentioned, and embroideries were absent, as
our grandmothers won their suitors without such surrep­
titious aid. "Our best respects to thee, ..Old J..ledger, with
thy faded letters and yellowed leaves! for we feel that thou
hast taught us a lesson; and, however much men may sigh
for the' good days of old,' we know for a truth that our
nums are better tilled, and our homes arc better filled; but
that our wives are better willed stands for argument." *

The old village store was a grand theatre in which to
study human nature, for there centred the voluminous
"chimney-corner law," expounded by the solemn but con­
stitutionally lazy wiseacres who loafed and talked, discussed
politics and gossip, aud attended to everybody's business and
afiuirs but thei,r own. The heads of many barrels have
been worn through by the everlasting sitting of these per­
severing gentry, who wore out the patience of the good
storekeeper, his customers, and the underpinning of their
trousers in solving great constitutional questions of govern­
ment or finance and tariff, and in retailing the faults and
foibles of people "the latchets of whose shoes they were
unworthy to unloose."

TAVEHNS.

The first hotels in the county were quaint hostelries,
generally double log cabins, called taverns, and kept by
generous-hearted landlords and presided over in the culi­
nary department by the best cooks in the country, the
landlord's wife, a tidy woman who kept every nook and
corner of the rustic inn in perfect order, and with her own
hands prepared all the viands for the table. The first was
opened in 'Williamsburgh j then at Bethel j near Batavia;
then at Milford j then at New Richmond; then at Point
------------,----------------

l* Prof. Byron Williams.

•

Pleasant; and then at Felicity. They had to pay annually a
license, fund into the county treasury, regulated according to
their rank and business; and the landlords in those days
were notable personages and men of oonsequence, distin­
guished for their good cheer and ability tl) tell a good story,
and, in l:lhort, knew how to keep a hotel. The taverns then
all had a "bar," and the signs read" entertainment for man
and beast," and not unfrequently the entertainment of the
bar was so good and extensive that the former was turned
illto'the latter. As the roads were bad,-hardly roads, but
"tr~ces" and "blazed ways,"-most of the traveling was
done on horseback; and even the judges and the lawyers
traveled thus from county to county, and at these old-time
taverns many a spree occurred and great were the yarns
told by those collected in after a long day's ride, fording
creeks and swamp-lands.

MUSTERS.

Many of our readers will remember the musterings under
the old system that prevailed in Ohio, the township train­
ings, and the general musters by counties or military dis­
tricts, and what screaming furces they were in a military
sense. They were gre,at days for the captnins, majors,
colonels, and brigadiers who had never smelled powder and
were barely versed in the manual of arms to give orders
and perform the simplest evolutions. It, was a big sigllt to
see, though, when a multitude of farmers and boys assem­
bled in a big meadow, some barefooted, some in tow breeches
and straw hats, some with old flint-lock muskets and
smooth-bore rifles or shot-guns, and some with hoe-handles
or sticks, cut in the most convenient patch of woods, going
through the evolutions and marching and countermarching
about the field. But the greatest sight was when a hollow
square was formed, and the gauntleted bri:'Ylldier, with vast
and shining epaulets and chapeau with. plumes a foot long,
rude haughtily and stately in to harangue the men on their
duties before dismissing them. ' The picture of one of these
gorgeously gotten-up brigadiers is photographed in the
memories of thousands as the most impressive and ponder.:
ous military figure they ever saw or ever will see.

APPRENTICES.

In olden times it was the custom to bind out by letters
of indenture such boys or young men as desired, or their
parents or guardians wished to learn some trade or occupa­
tion. Then, in order to be a good workman or mechanic
in any department of industry, one had to serve a term of
years, and the result was the country had No.1 workmen
and men of good character. It was not considered de­
grading to be thus bound out or to thus be apprenticed to
a master, and many of the best men in after-years were,
when boys, indentured to some one to learn their trade by
serving a long period as an apprentice. Sometimes a boy
would be apprenticed to'learn the art and _mystery of, farm­
in; or husbandry for a term (depending on his age when
he

o
began) 'of ten, twelve, or fourteen years, and the articles

of indenture would stipulate "that his said master he
should faithfully servc, his lawful commands everywhere
readily obey, and should not absent himself from his said
master's service without lenve. And further, that he would
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not pIny at cards, dice, or other unlawful games, and should
not waste his master's goods, neither commit fornication or
intermarry during hi::; apprenticeship." Then, on his part.,
the master agreed in solemn instrument, under seal, that
" he would furnish his npprentice good nnd sufficient meat,
drink, lodging, and clothes, and that he would teach, or
cause him to be taught,. the art of husbandry, and also to
read, ,nite, and cipher so far and quite through what in
arithmetic was commonly called The Single nule of Three."
And often the master agreed to give the apprentice, on his
arrival at his majority (twenty-one years of age), a certain
amount of land by a deed of general warranty, and invari­
ably it was one of the terms in the ori~inal ~tipulation to
give him, at the termination of his apprenticeship, a good
suit of clothes, a saddle, or a horse. Frequently the agree­
ment called for the master to train the upprentice in hnbits
of obedience, industry, and morality, and at the close of
sel'vice give him two good suits of wearing-apparel,-one
of which should be suitable for Sundays and the other for
working-days,-and also a new Bible.

It was very common, up to the year 1840, to bind out ­
boys to learn the trades of blacksmithing, carpentering,
boot-and-shoe making, and other. branches of industry so
honorable and necessary in all countries, and particularly in
our land. In the articles of indenture to a carpenter the
apprentice agreed, or it was 'stipulated by his parent or
guardian for him, "to learn the trade, art, mystery, or oc­
cupation of a house carpenter and joiner, and to dwell with
and serve his said master in all such lawful business as he
should be put to the best of his abilities and powers." The
master in turn agreed to teach and instruct him, or cause
the same to be done, in all the arts and mysteries of the
occupation to which he had been bound, "and to furnish
him with meat, drink, washing, lodging; and apparel for
summer and winter, and all other necessaries proper alld
cOllvenient for such apprentice during the term of his ap­
prenti<:eship, and when he arrived at twenty-one give him
two suits of wearing apparel, one of which sho~ld be new, one
hand-saw, one hammer, one jack-plane, one fore-plane, one
smoothing-plane, and a new Bible,"-a book all received
when they had finished their trades and started out in life.

OLD WILLS.

Na better index can be found to the tone and culture of
a country than is discovered in the will~ of its dying heads
of families, and the musty volumes of the county and the
antique parchments of the last wills and testaments of the
pioneers show the high religious sentiment that existed in
the early daj's. They most invariably point to humanity's

.brightest side, though occnsiorially the testator has 'cut off
a wayward daughter with a shilling 01' a willful and wicked
son with.a dollar, and his curse.

The first wills on record usually begin something like
this: .

" In the name of God, amen. I, A. n., being in a s.ick and low
cocdition, but of perfect mind and memory, thanks be to God fo.· his
mcrcies, calling to mind the mortality of my body, and knowing that
it is appointed for all men once to die, do maliC and ordain this my
last. will nnd testament; and, prineipallJ', and first of all, I reCOllJ­
mend my soul to the lmnds of Ahnight,y Goe] that glLVe it, and my
body I recolOmen,] to the eltrth, to be decently buried in It Ch."istian

manner; and as touching such worldl.v estate wherewith it has pleased
God to bless me in this life, I give, dismiss, and dispose of tho same
in the following manner."

Then follows the distribution of his real and personal
property. What volumes of sound theology and deep­
hearted piety, of Christian philant.hropy and noble man­
hood, are cuntained in these simple but kind words! Again,
another would begin and continue till the distributing
clauses were reached something like the foregoing, in these
words:

"In the name of the Almighty Father, amen. I, A. n., being very
wel1k in bodJ', but in sound mind and memory, and lmo~ving it is
appointed for all men once to die, and being desirous to settle up Illy
worldly affairs, and t!Jercby be the better prepared to leave this wor1<1
when it shall please the Lord to call me from it, do mako and publish
this my last will and testament, and desire that it may be received as
such by all whom it may concern. And first, I commit my sou] into
the hands of Almighty God, and my body to the earth, to be interred

- in a decent Christian burial at the discretion of my executors, here­
inafter named, and 50 on."

To perfect the titles and pass the fee, certified copies of
all wills of non-residents of the county who had lands in
its limits had to be admitted to record in the county and
sprCtld upon its recorda. Hence there are many wills of
old Virginians and Kentuckians recorded to pass the title
to real estate entered by them, at an early date, on land­
warrants issued to them or their fathers for services in the
Revolutionary war in the Virginia line, on the Continental
Establishment. Of these is the curious will of Joseph
Carrington, who entered and owned Carrington's survey,
No. 631, including the present town of Loveland, made
and signed April 2, 1802, by the testator, in the connty of
Cumberland, State of' Virginia. In. this instrument, Car­
rington willed and directed' that his faithful negro woman
" Tiller" be emancipated after his death, and that his exec­
utors convey to her, to become her attribute and indefeasible
propcrty, her husband, his (Carrington's) negro man York,
and her two female children, Betty and Chloe, and, when­
evcr it should be her desire, to assist her in the emancipa­
tion of the above York, Betty, and Chloe. Carrington
further devised to her during her natural life one of his
best tracts of land in his home .county, ordered his execu­
tors to pay her £:20 English sterling, give her a good
feather-bed, some furniture, a fine bay horse, a saddle and
bridle, three good milch cows, and small cattle to make the
number seven, one good brood-sow, and other hogs to make
the number ten. Then the residue of his slaves-a very
large number-he divided equally among his children.

Samuel J .•Cabell, of Nelson Co., Va.,' died, Jeaving a
will dated June 4, 1818, and a codicil thereto attached of
the 6th of July fullowing. He owned two surveys, each of
eighteen hundred and thirty-three and one-third acres, Nos.
5229 and 5230, in Clermont (Wayne township), Brown,
and Clinton Cos., and which he devised to llis daughter,

. Milured 1\1. Cartwright, and he further ordered his execu­
tors to purchase two male slaves between the ages of eighteen
and twenty-three, and one female slave about the same age,
whom he devised to the aforesaid daughter. The executors
were directed to select sixty-four of his (testator's) m(.lst
valuable slaves, out of 'Which (?) his daughter Paulina was
to have ton; his daughter Peggy, ten; his daughter Em-

•
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meline, twelve; the resi~ue of the said sixty-four, as a~l township; but in tl~~ latt:- part of-~hat year it was
all Ids otlle1' slaves, were to be equally divided between his divided into two townships, called Washington and Deer-
three sons,-George V\Tashington Cabell, Patrick Henry field, the latter embracing the northern part of the present
Cabell, and Samuel J. Cabell, Jr., except that the latter county, with the southern portion of 'Warren County, and
was to get and have "Old Simeon," "Old Tom," and the former including the southern and central parts of all
"Old Harry," over and above the equal division as to the the territory, now in Clermont and Brown Counties, be-
rest, for which he was to pay a reasonable value. tween the Little Miami Uiver and Eagle Creek.

rrhese two are but slight specimens of many of the The first Territorial J.Jegislature, consisting of a council of
old slave-code wills of men who once owned large posses- fi ve, appointed by President John Adams, on March 22,
sions in the county. But, thanks to kind Heaven! the 1799, to wit,-Jacob BYrnet and James Findlay, of Cin-
traffic in human flesh is among the things of the past in cinnati j Robert Oliver, of :Marietta; David Vance,of
our country, now happily relieved of the accursed system Vanceville, Jefferson' Co.; and H cnry Vandenburg, of.
that disgraced our flag and brought our boasted free insti- Vincermes (Indiana),-and a House of Uepresentatives of
tutions into disrepute. twenty-two members, -elected by the people from the coun-

But the old pioneers-veteran patriarchs and sainted ties of Washington, Hamilton, Wayne, Adams, Jefferson,
mothers-are fast passing away. Death is striking them and Ross (in Ohio), and Knox, St. Clair, and Randolph
down one by one like deer from the herd, and soon we (in Indiana), met and organized at Cincinnati on Sept. 27,
must feel the force of the poet's beautiful lines : 1799. This body passed the following act:

"Where are the hardy yeomen
Who battled for the land?

~ * * * *
Oh, know ye where they slumber?

'No monument appears
For Freedom's pilgrims to drliw nigh

And hallow with their tears;
Or were no works of glory

Done in the olden time?
And has the West no story

Of deathless deeds sublime?"

Yes, the everlasting monuments of our sympathies with
the pioneers are reared in our beautiful towns and villages,
our fine farms and cosy residences, our manifold improve­
ments, schools, and churches, secured by their valor and
labors; and we, their descendants, can hardly turn our eyes
witho'ut being reminded of the good works of our fore­
fathers, whose strong arms and honest hearts gave us this
rich heritage. Then let us be true to their memory and
transmit to our successors the noble institutions which their
patriotism, endurance, and virtues have given us, and hope,
ns one generation passes away and another comes, that each
succeeding one may attain to a higher degree of excellence,
become wiser, better, and happier in all that constitutes a
State, founded on the broad basis of justice, equality, truth,
and virtue.

CH APTER VIII.

CLERMONT COUNTY FORMED-ITS ORIGINAL
AND PRESENT BOUNDARIES. AND SUBDIVIS.
IONS INTO TOWNSHIPS.

IN the present limits of the State of Ohio, part of the
Territory of the Northwest, the first seven counties were
created by .the proclamation of Governor St. Clair in the
following chronological order: Washington, July 27, 1788;
Hamilton, Jan. 2,1790; Wayne, Aug. 15, 1796; Adams,
July 10,1797; Jefferson, July 29,1797; Ross, Aug. 20,
1798 j and Trumbull, J llly 10, 1800.

Up to the early part of' the year 1799 all the country
between the Little l\lialui HiveI' and Elk Hive,' (l~agle

Creck) wns a part of IImniltoll County, and cnllcd Auder-

"All Act to e8tClbli8h cr lIel/] GOllllty on tlu: Oldo bettoee,; the Little

,Miallli !lit-el' alld AdCl1ll8 GOIIll'Y.

"SECTION 1. Be it enactcd by the Legislative Council and House of
Representatives in General Assembly, and it is hereby enacted by the
authority of the same, That from and after the first day of February,
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred, so much of the
county of Hamilton as is hereinafter mentioned shall compose a new
county, that is to say: Beginning on the Ohio River at the mouth of
Nine-Mile Creek, otherwise called' John's Creek; thence running in a.
direct. line to the mouth of the east fork of the Litt.!e :l\Iiami River;
thence up the main branch of said Little Miami River until it shall
intersect the line drawn east and west on the 'north boundary of the
first entire range of townships in the Miami purchase; thence east to
the line of Ross or Adams Counties; thence on the said line or lines
of Ross or Adams Counties to. the river Ohio; thence down the said
river Ohio to the place of beginning,-all that of said county con­
tained within the above boundary Jines shall be 1Io new county, and
known by the name of Hem·y.

" SECTION 2. And be it further enacted, that Richard Allison, Samuel
C. Vance, William Buckhannon, Robert Higgins, lIezekiah Conn,
Alexandcr Martin, William .Perry, and Peter Light shall be, und are
hereby, appointed commissioners for the purpose of fixing on the most
eligible place in said county of Hcnry for the permanent seat of jus­
tice; and the said commissioners, or a majority of them, ure hereby
authorized to select lind point out a place in the said county of Henry
at which the permanent seat of justice shall be established, and to
receive as a gift,'or to contruet and purchase of any person or persons,
the quantity of two hundred acres of land, and to cause the same to
be laid oil' in town lots; one-half thereof in half-acre lots, with con­
venient streets, and the other half in lots of two acres, allowing suffi­
cient streets; and the said commissioners, or a mlljority of them, shall
within three weel,s after the laying out of said town convey the same
in fee "to thc commissioners uf the said county of Henry, and their
successors in office, in trust for the use of the said county; and the said
county commissiqners shall proceed to sell the said lots for the use of
the county, reserving two acres of'tqe lots as near the centre of the
in-lots as mllY be, to be conveyed to the justices of the court for the
said county, anrl their successors in office, for the purpose of erecting
such publie buildings thereon as by the laws of this Territory arc di­
rected. And the said county commissioners shall cause the Dloney
arising from the sale of said lots to be puid into the county treasury
for the use of' the said eounty, and the county treasurer shall pay the
original purchase-money of the said two hundred acres of land and
the expenses attending the ascertaining the most eligible place afore­
said, with the charges for laying out the said town-lots, and also the

. sum of two dollars pel' day to each of the commissioneri' hercin ubove
na,med during their attendanee out of the first moneys that shall be
llaid into the treasury not otherwise appropriated.

"SJWl'ION a. And be it further enacted, 1'l1lit the sheriff of the said
county, within four weeks lifter he recel yes his appointment, shall give
notice to each of the cOlllmissioners of' their llppuintllleuts, und direct
the time the said cOlllmissioncrs shall llleet at the temporary place for
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holding their courts, which shall not exceed three wccks from such
noticc, to execute the duties required of them by this law.

" S~;CTION .1. And be it further enacted, That until such place for
holding the courts for sl~id county be fixed by the commis~ioners, the
justices of slLid county are hereby authorized to hold their respective
courts at Delillalll's TOIeIl, within the said county.

"SECTION 5. And be it further enacted, That it shall be lawful for
the sheriff of the aforesaid county of Hamilton to eolleet and make dis­
tress for uuy tlLxes, forfeitures, public ducl', or officers' fces for which
the inhabitants of the said county of Hcnry, or uuy other person or
persous holding property in the said county, are liable, and which
shall remain unpaid at the time this act shall take etTect, in like man­
ner as if this act had not been made. •

"SECTIOS 6. And be it further enacted, That the courts of the afore­
said county of Hamilton shall hllve jurisdiction in all actions and
snits in law which shall bc (Iepending thercin on the said first day of
February, and shall tr,r and determine the same, issue process, and
award execution thereon. •

"SECTION 7. And be it further enacted, That it shall be the duty of
the county commissioners of the snid county of Henry, at the first
meeting next after theil' appointments, to levy and cause to be col­
lected, in the sl1me manner as other county rates arc le\'ied and col­
leded, a sum of money not less than one thousand dollars, nor more
thl~n two thousand dolhLrs, and sufficient to build a substantial county
jail containing two commodious apartments at least; and the said
commissioners are hereby directed to cause the said jail to be erected
and completed at the permanent sent of justice in the said county of
Henry within the term of two Jears next lLfter the passing of this act.

" EDWARD TIFFIN,

" Sjl(;(/l~el' 0/ tlle HO/lse of Reprellell/erti"ell.

" H. YASDERUURGH, Presidellt 0/ lite COUllcil."

The above act was lately discovcred among the papers of
Governor St. Clair, and is not printed in any of the early
annual volumes of laws or other published archives or an­
nals of Ohio. It 'never hecame a law, but the present
county of Clermont had a narrow escape from being called
Henry, and Denhamstown (now Bethel) came very ncar
becoming the shiretown.

The first session of the territorial Legislature passed
thirty bills, but the Governor vetoed eleven of them, of
which six were for the erection of new counties, including
Henry, and these acts he did not return to the Legislature,
because, as he said in his speech of Dec. 19, 1799, pro­
roguing and terminating their session, the two houses were
under no obligation to consider the reasons on which his
vetoes were founded; and, at any rate, as his negath'es
were unqualified, the only effect of such a return would be
to bring on a vexatious and probably fruitless altercation
between the legislative body and the executive. The eleven
vetoed bills were disapproved for various reasons, but
mainly because the Governor, St. Clair, a stern old Federal­
ist, claimed that the power exercised in enacting them, and
particularly those relating to the creation of new counties,
was vested by the ordinance of 1787, not in the Legisla­
ture, but in himself; hence he pocketed and retained every
act that he considered as infringing upon his authority, and
those he diq approve were grudgingly signed, and thus a
running war was kept up by the Governor and legislators
till the fifty-fifth day of the session, when the arbitrary
executive dismissed them in high dudgeon, and Henry
County existed only as a vetoed law, stuck away among
the rubbish of the dingy gubernatorial office.

On Dec. 6, 1800, Governor St. Clair created by proc­
lamation the county of Clermont, the name taken from
the Department of Clermont, in France, and dcrived from

two French words originally signifying" a clear mountain,"
with the following boundaries:

'1 ncginning nt the mouth of Nine-Mile, or .Muddy, Creck, where it
discharges itself into the Ohio, nmi running from thence with a strn.ight
line to the mouth of the ('asC branch of the Little M:il~mi River; thence
with the Little Miami Rh·er to the mouth of O'Bannon's Creek; thence
with a due cast line until it shall intersect a line dmwn due north
from the mouth of Elk River, or Eagle Creek; thence with thlLt line
south to the mouth of said Elk River or Eagle Creek; and from thence
with the Ohio to the place of beginning."

After Clermont only two counties were created by proc­
lamation under the territorial government,-to wit, Fairfield,
Dec. 9, 1800, and Btllmont, Sept. 7, 1801,-and Scioto
was the fit'st one erected nndel· the State organization,­
to wit, March ~4, 1803.

The fil'st court, of the justices of General Quarter Ses­
sions, held at Williamsburgh, Feb. 25, 1801, fixed on that
town as the temporary scat of justice, which so remained
tili the Second General Assembly of Ohio, at Chillicothe,
on l?eb. 18, 1804, passed an act providing for the fixing
of the permanent seat of justice in Clermont; under which
law William Patton, Isaac Davis, and Nathan Reeves, all
of Ross County, were appointed commissioners to ellOose
and designate the place, and who reported against its re­
moval to Bethel and in favor of its being permanently
located where it was. An act of the territorial Legislature,
approved Jan. 23, 1802, provided that the boundary-line
between the counties of Adams and Ross, west of the
Scioto River, the dividing-line between Clermont and
Adams, the one between Clermont and Ross, so much of
the dividing-lines between Hamilton and Clermont as lies
between the Ohio River and the mouth of the east fork of
the Little Miami, and the division-l~ne between Ross and
Hamilton, should be ascertained by the surveyors of the
l:zuid counties, with the proviso that the line commencing
at the mouth of Eagle Creek, between Clermont and
Adams, should be run and completed before the 1st of
May fullowing, as the inhabitants of the new county of
Clermont were anxious to know as speedily as possible the
exact eastern limits of their county.

The Justices' Court of General Quarter ~essions, at its
first term, Feb. 25, 1801, divided the new county of
Clermont into five townships,-Williamsburgh, Ohio, Wash­
ington, Obannon (a year or so later changed to Miami),
and Pleasant (now in Brown),-but the records of the
court preserved fail to give the boundaries of said town­
ships.

At, the regular session of the commissioners (Amos Ellis,
Amos Smith, and George Conrad), on June 12, 1805, a
petition of sundry inhabitants of Williamsburgh and Ohio
townships was prese.nted and read, praying for the erection
of a new township, to be composed of a part of each of
said townships, which was laid over for further considera­
tion until next meeting. At their next session, on August
5th, tho board ordered said new township of Tute to be
laid off and created agreeably to the boundaries prescribed
and filed (which cannot be found), and which were ordered
to be recorded, but were not. Roger W. Waring; for him­
self and others of that part of Williamsburgh towDship
which remained, gave notice that he would file a bill of
exceptions and take an appeal to the board's act in estab-
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lishing this new township; but the fiat had been issued,
and from' that day henceforth Tate was a sovereignty by
itself and an integral part of the Clermont body politic.

June 2, 1807, the journal of the commissioners shows
that a petition of a number of inhabitants of 'the east end
of Washington township was presented, praying to be set
off as a new township; and the same bcing thought reason­
able the prayer was granted, to extcnd from the east end
of Washington township as far down as Bullskin Creek or
the Denllamstown road, said township to be recorded and
known by the name of J.Jewis (now in Brown County).

Clark township (now in Brown County) was created by
the commissioners, Oct. 18, 1808, with the following boun­
dari~s :

"Beginning where the State road fr;pm Denhltmstown to West
Union crosses Whiteoak; thence running with the Stltte road to
Adams county-line; thence north with said line to Highland County;
thence wcst with said county-line to the corner of IIighland, and con­
tinuing west so far as to include Aaron Leonard and Moses :Moss;
thence south to Lewis township-line; thence with thc sal1le to the
place of beginning."

On Feb. 18, 1805, the Legislature passed an act that all
that part of Clermont, Adams, and Ross, with the following
boundaries, be laid off and erected into a separate county,
to be known by the name of' Highland, to wit:.

"Beginning at the twenty-mile trce, in the line between Clermont
and Adams Counties, which is run north from the mouth of Eagle
Creel" on the Ohio River, and running thence east twelve miles;
thence northeastwardly until it intersects the line which was run be­
tween the counties of Ross and Scioto and Adams, nt the eighteen­
mile tree from the Scioto River; thence northwardly to the mouth of
Rocky Fork of Paint Creck; thencfl up main Paint Crcek, by the bed
thereof, including John 'Vutt's survey of one thousand acres, on which
the town of Greenfield is situate, to the south line of Franklin County;
thence with the said line west to the east line of Greene County;
thence with said line south to the southeast corner of said county;
thence with the south line thereof west to the northeast corner of Cler­
mont County, and from the beginning west to the north forI, of
Whiteoak Crcelt; thence north to the south line of Warren County;
thcnce with said line east to the corner between Clcrmont and Warren
Counties."

Dec..4, 1811, a petition of a number of inhabitants of
Ohio township was presented to the commissioners of Cler­
mont County, praying for a new township, to be established
agreeable to the following bounds, to wit:

"BelJ'inninlJ' at the east fork, at the corner of Tllte township; thcnee
with the line:f Tate township until it mects the State rOltd leading
from West Union to the mouth of Clough Creek; thence with that
road until it meets the county-line; thence with the county-line to
the east fork; thence up the ea.st fork to the beginning."

The board laid off and established the foregoing bounds
into a new township, to be 'known by the name of Union,
with the following changes in the boundaries:

"The said new township of Union to extend and border upon the
south side of the StlLte road from Tate township-line to Daniel Kir­
gan's; thence to border upon the north side of said road to the
county-line."

Whereas a number of' the inhabitants of the settlement
of Stonelick .Creek had filed a petition praying to be set
apart into a separate township, the commissioners, on March
4, 1812, set apart the following boundaries into a new
township, to be known as Stoneliclc, to wit:

" Beginning at the mouth of Dry Run, in Miami, on the east fork;

thence northerly so as just to include Lewis Coddle to the county..
line; thence east with said line to Highland county-line; thenee
south with Raid line to the Stn,te road, known by the name of Ander-

. son's road; thence with the said road to where the Xenia rond
crosses; thence a straight course to tbe mouth of 'V'hetstone's Run,
on the east fork; thence down the same to the place of beginning."

But on April 13th following the line between Williams­
burgh a~d Stonelick was changed by making the line of
Stonelick "begin on the east fork, at the mouth of Kill­
breath's. Run, near Dimmitt's Ford; thence running north.
erly so as to strike John Long, Christian Long, and Joseph
Brunk (and including them) j thence a. st.raight line to
where the Xenia road crosses the Anderson State road."

On Sept. 5, 1815, Batavia township was created by the
commissioners with the following boundaries:

"Beginning at the mouth of ShLb Camp Run, where it-empties into
the ea.st fork; thence up the run one mile nortberly to intersect the
road leading from Williamsburgh to Cincinnati, near the house of
Daniel Kidd; from thence northerly to John Davidson's farm; thence
the same course to the first branch of the waters of Lick Run;
thence down the saUie to the mouth tbereof; thence crossing the east
fork; thence down the bank of said fork to David Dimmitt's lower
ford of said fork; thence along tbe lower edge of the river-hill of the
fork to Townsley's Mill-road; thence along said ,road, leading towards
Daniel Kirgan's, leaving the road to tbe northeast corner of John
Brazier's land; thence to a place known by the name of Nash's ero!'s­
road; thence on the road. leading to Denhamstown to Tate township­
line; thence down the line of Tate township to the east fork; thence
up the creek, and crossing the same opposite to. the mouth of Slnb
Camp Run to the place of beginning."

On June 6, 1815, t.he townsMp of Pe';ry (now in Brown)
was established by the commissioners, with following boun­
daries:

"Beginning on Clermont county-line at the corner of Warren and
Clinton Counties; thence a straight course to Samuel Ashton's old
place, on Anderson's State rond; thence east by south to the line be­
tween Clermont and Highland Counties i thence north with Clermont
county-line to Clinton county-line; thence with C1~rmontand Clinton
counties-line to the place of beginning."

On Dec. 27, 1817, Clermont lost the townships of
Pleasant, Lewis, Clark, and Perry by the legislative act
passed that day creating B.·own County, and which pro­
vided that so much of the counties of Clermont and Adams
as comes within the following limits should be and was
erected into a separate and distinct county, to be known by
the name of Brown (after the gallant officer of the war of
1812), to wit:

" Beginning at a point eight miles due west from the court-house,
in the town of West Union, in AdlLms; thence running due nort4 to
Highland county-line; thence wes~ with Highland county-line to
Clermont county-line; thence north .with Clermont eounty.line to
Clinton county-Iinc i thence west with Clinton county-line so far that
a line running south will strike the Ohio Rh'er two miles above the
mouth of Bullskin Creek; thence up the Ohio River and with the
same so fltr that a line running due north will intersect the point of
beginning."

The courts were ordered to be held at the house of Alex­
ander Campbell, in Ripley, until the permanent seat of jus­
tice was located, and which not long afterwards (Jan. 19,
1821) was fixed at Georgetown.

May 5, 1818, Franldin township was established by the
commissioners, in response to a petition signed by citizens
of the fractional part of Lewis and the upper part of Vvash­
inO'ton township the boundaries of which were as follows·:o ,
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"Beginning at the upper COrnel" of Clermont County, two miles
abo\'e the mouth of Bullskin Creek, 011 the Ohio Hiver; thence with
the county-line between Clermont and Brown to the origitlltl line of
Lewis township; thence we~t\\"anlly with the line of Tate township
to where the State road crOSSl'S Indian Creek, about eight poles south
of William Winter's; thence with the Iille of Wnshin,~ton township
two miles; thence in a direction that will strike the Ohio Hh'er
twenty poles below the house where Dr. It. W. lIale now resides;
thence with the meanders of the Ohio River to the Brown county­
line,"

March 15, 1819, Wayne towllsltll) was created, on the
application by petition of a number of inhabitants of the
southeast part of Stonelick town~hip, with the following
boundaries:

"Beginning at the crossing of the Xenia and Anderson State road;
thence crossing the road leading from the mouth to the head of Stone­
lick at IL bridge next ubo\'e the farm of WilIiaUl Cowan; thence to
the line betwcen Mi:tmi and Stonelick townships where the same
crosses the Indian Camp Run."

It was ordered tllat the electors of said new township of
Wayne hold at the house of Joseph Smith their first elec­
tion for township officers on the first Monday in April
following. Next day, March 16, 1819, Goshen township
was organized and established, on the petition of a num­
ber of citizens of the northeastern part of Miami, with
these boundaries:

"Beginning at the county-line, northwest of Joshua Cox's; thence
along the northeastern side of the road lending frOID Lebanon to
'Villiamsburgh to within (lne mile of ,Jesse Smith'~, on the road afore­
said; thence crossing the said road to the southern side; thence along
the southern side of said road to the line between l\lhLmi and Stone­
lick townships; thence with the line of Stonelick to the couilty-line;
thence with the county-line to the beginning."

-AJom'oe township was created June 9, 1825, with the
following boundaries (petitioned for by citizens of Ohio
and Washington townships) :

"Beginning at the corner of Ohio township, ncar Jacob Ulrey's;
thence south ten degrees cast till it intersects or strikes the Tate
township-line, one hundred and ten poles from Pete:" McClain; thence
south forty-four degrees west to the mouth of Little Indian Creek;
thence with the Ohio Rh'cr to the mouth of Boat Run; thence north
twenty-eight degrees cast until it strikes the Smte road from Cincin­
nati to Bcthel; thcnce with said rOILd to the beginning.

On June 3, 1834, the commissioners, having had under
consideration the petition of Ebenezer Hadley and other
citizens of' Wayne, Williamsburgh, and Stonelick townships
for the erection of a new township, found it to be to the
public intercst to erect one, which thcy diu, and called it
Jucli:son, with the following boundaries :'

"Beginning at the point where the line dividing the counties of
Brown and Clermont crosses the Anderson State road; thence south
and with said line to Four-l\lile RUlI, near the farlll of James Waits;
thence a westwardly course to Isaac Hartman's saW-lUi!!, on the elLst
fork; thcncc n st1'llight westwardly course to John Bridgc's (lId place,
on the Deerfield road; thence north and with said road, or Batavia
township-line, to Stonelick township-line; thence northeastwardly
and with Stonelick township-line to the new county road running

. from the cross-roads to Obadiah Ireton's; thence to the Anderson
State road, at the farm of James Barr; thence a northeastwardly
eou~~e, including said Barr, Sehobard Willis, and Arthur Clark, to
the line dividing Stonelick and Wayne townships, ncar Frederick
E\'erhart's; thence northwest and with said line one mile; thence an
easterly course to the line dividing the counties of Brown and Cler­
mont, three milcs north of the Anderson State road; thence south
and with said line to the place of beginning; to contain the legal
quantily of square miles, and so as to leavc John Marsh nnd John
Needham in Stonelick township."

On Dec. 8, 1852, the board of eounty commissioners
took up and considered the petition of' J. C. Smith and
others for the division of Ohio township into two town­
ships, and it was thereupon ordered that said Ohio town­
ship bediyided according to the prayer of the petitioners,
to wit:

"Beginning at the mouth of Twelve-l\Iile Creck, and running with
the meanders of said creek to the Monroe township-line; thence with
said line to the Ohio turnpike; the dh"ision or township in which the
town of New Richmond is situated to be known and designated by
the naIDC of Ohio towllship, and the othcr dh'ision or township to be
called Pierce fOlDIISllil', in honor of Franklin Picrce, President-elect
of the United States."

The boundary-line between Hamilton and Clermont
Counties was run again in 1858 and permanently settled,
and since then the line§ dividing Clermont from \Vurren,
Clinton, and Brown have been run and more accurately
determined and fixed than before. The line between Cler­
mont and Hamilton begins at a stake on the bank of the
Little :Miumi River and opposite the mouth of the east
fork i thence on a bearing of south two degrees thirty­
three minutes west by the magnetic needle course, and in
a straight line to the mouth of Nine-Mile Creek, where it
empties into the Ohio River, said Nine-Mile Creek being
culled in the earliest days John's or Muddy Creek. This
line is exactly nine miles in distauce.

CHAPTER IX.

THE COUNTY BUILDINGS, PAST AND PRESENT­
COURT-HOUSES-JAILS AND INFIRMARIES-THE
THREE SITES OF THE COUNTY-SEAT-THE AN­
CIENT WHIPPING-POST, INCLUDING MANY IN­
TERESTING FACTS IN THEIR HISTORY, WITH
NAMES OF PERSONS JUDICIALLY FLOGGED.

THE Court of General Quarter Sessions made \ViIliams­
burgh the county-seat in 1801, on the fourth Tuesday of
February, by entering into an agreement with .Thomas
:Morris, whereby he agreed to furnish the court with a co"n­
venient house, tables, benches, fu~l, etc., for the purpose of
holding court, for the term of four years, at twenty dollars
per year. 1\11'. Morris kept a log hotel, adjoining which
was another log building, which was the jail, and adjoining
it still another log building, which was the court.house, and
the first in the county, and one in which many men who
afterwards sat in Congress, on the State Supreme bench,
and on the Supreme Court bench of the .United States
pleaded cases before the frontier juries, and discussed law
with Quarter Session justices fresh from the clearings and
newly.opened fields of their pioneer homes.

The man who owned the log hotel and kept it: who rented
to the new county of Clermont a log jail and a log court­
house, in six years' time was on the Supreme bench of Ohio,
and in less than a third of a century was in the United
States Senate, the idol and the stay of thousands-soon to
be millions-of hearts looking to the overthl'Ow of that
accursed system that kept three millions of human beings
in bondage. John l\'lcJ.Jean spoke as well in the log court­
house of Clermont in 1803 as he did when announcing
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decisions in the Supreme Court of the land at 'Washington
City twenty-seven years later, and Jacob Burnet pleaded
the case in that old and diminutive log court-house, in 1801,
of the poor squatter with as much warmth. as when he
spoke for his country in the United Statcs Senate or deliv-

• ere~ his able judicial opinions from the Supreme Court of
Ohio but a few years later.

The old log jail contained no desperate cl'iminals,-occa­
sionally a horse-thief,-but it and its prison-bounds often
llCld many a poor unfortunate debtor, and one of these was
technically its owner,-Thomas Morris,-there for a brief
period till released by a supersedeas from the General Terri­
torial Court.

The Second General Assembly of Ohio passed an act on
Feb. 18, 1804, providin~ for fixing the permanent seat of
justice in the town of WiIliamsburgh, and then the ('ounty
authorities and the good people of that town began to be­
stir themselves about the erection of the necessary buildings
for holding courts, transacting the public business, and exe­
cuting the laws of the Stat~ by having suitable prison
accommodations for unlucky offenders of the law's stern
decrees. The contract with Thomas Morris, in February,
1801, for use of a room for court-house .having exp.ired, the
county commissioners, on June 12, 1805, entered into
an agreement with Nicholas Sinks, ., who agreed to furnish
a room with convenient benches, tables, and seats for the
purpose of holding courts in the house that said Nicholas
Sinks resided in, together with a room or rooms for the
grand and petit juries to sit in, and also a room for the
county commissioners to sit in during the time they may be
sitting as such, and to keep the necessary fires for the com­
fort and convenience of the court and commissioners while
sitting as aforesaid," all for eight dollars for each term of
cou,rt,-that is, twenty-four dollars per year, as the court
and commissioners then sat quarterly.

At the August and September terms of court the year
before, it seems, the associate judges had appropriated at
each of said terms one hundred dollars, under the act of
Feb. ] 8, 1804, ordering a new court-house, and under
other special laws giving them that 'power, and of this
money, William Perry (the first sheriff) got one hundred
dollars in June, 1803, for hauling stone to build a new
court-house; and John Kain and Archibald McLean got
together the same in November (19), 1804, for same ser­
vices.

On June 12, 1805, the commissioners decided to erect
a court.house, and appropriated a sum not exceeding one
thousand dollars for that purpose, to be paid out of t~lC

taxes of the non-resident land-owners of the county, in
addition to the appropriations, heretofore made by the
court, and to let out the contract at the next meeting of
the board. On Aug. 1, 1805, the board proceeded to sell
out the contract to the lowest bidder, and John Wright
and John Charles were the undertakers thereof as the
lowest bidders, at the sum of fourteen hundred and ninety­
nine dollars, to be paid as follows, to wit: "One hundred
dollars as soon as the walls of said house are raised one
foot above the ground; and the further sum of one hun­
dred dollars as soon as the walls are raised up to the second
story and the timbers laid thereon; and the further sum of

9

foul' hundred dollars on the first da)" of December next,
provided the house is at that time und~r cover (or so soon
thereafter as said house shall be under <?over); and the
furthel' sum of two hundred dollars to be paid on the fil'st
day of May next; and lastly, the further sum of six hun­
dred and ninety-nine dollars on the first day of January,
which will be in the year eighteen hundred and seven."
The contractors gave bond in two thousand nine hundred
and ninety-eight dollars to do the work as they agreed, and
the commissioners also gave bond in two thousand dollars
to meet the payments' promptly as they fell due.

In August the contractors drew one hundred dollars, and
two hundred dollars in November, and the sum of five hun­
dred dollars in January, 1806, and in June, 1806, two
hundred dollars. In December, 1806, they received three
hundl"Cd dollars more; fifty dollars in August, 1807, and
fifty dollars more in September following, and twelve dol­
lars in September, 1808. In February, 1809, t~ey were
paid eighty-seven dollars, the balance due of the fourteen
hundred and ninety-nine dollars, the contract price, but
the commissioners allowed them fifty-seven dollars twenty­
two and a quarter cents for extra work done. The delay
in finishing the court-house-it being nearly four years in
its erection-was occasioned by the lack of funds and vari­
ous other causes that postponed its completion beyond the
stipulated time.

It was built on the public square, spe,ciully set apart for
that purpose by the original proprietor of that town, Gen.
Will. J.Jytlc, in his plat and deed of dedication, and in 1858
was taken down to give way to the magnificent school­
edifice that adorns the lot where for fourteen'years stood
the old two-story stone court-house as the county's temple
of justice,-from 1810 to 1824.

The Legislature, on Dec. 27, 1817, passed an act creat­
ing the county of Brown, thus taki~g away from Clermont
the extensive territory comprised in the then four very
large townships of Pleasant, Clark, Lewis, and Perry, and
leaving Williawl:iburgh, the shiretown of Clermont, only
about two and a half miles from the boundary-line of' the
new county. This led to discussions and propositions for
changing the county-seat from Williamsburgh to some more
central point in the cou~ty, as that town, since the organiza­
tion of Brown, laid on the extreme eastern part of the
county, and in the then condition of the roads and bridges
and limited facilities of traveling was very inaccessible to a
larger part of the people of Clermont. But the inhabitants
of Williamsburgh, alive to the interests of their good town,
-the first laid out in Clermont,-saw the storms encircling
around and about them, and quieted the matter and agita­
tion for a brief period by taking snap judgment in getting
the Seventeenth General Assembly of Ohio to pass the act
of Jan. 28, 18I!:), providing and fixing the permanent seat
of justice where it was,-in their town. But this did not
settle the place for the shiretown, and led to renewed strife
and agitation, and the Twenty-first General Assembly of
the State, on Jan. 25, 1823, passed a law removing the
county-seat to New Richmond; which. aet was obtained
mainly through the influence of' Thomas Monis, then a
State senator,-:.t Ulan of great influence in the Legislature;
and strongly opposed to the interests of Williamsburgh, from
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which town he rCll)oved, in 1804, to Bethel. The contest
now becam~~ warm and stirred up the whole county, leading
to violcnt harangucs, discussions, and several street encoun­
ters and affrays.

The law of Jan. 25, 1823, did not, in words, change the
county-scat from 'Yilliamsburgh to New Richmond, though
its effect was to do so, for it appointed three commissioners,
-Anthony Banning, of :l\Iount Vernon, John C. Wright,
of Steubenville, and James Clark, of Wooster (tInee dis­
tinguished men of the State, but close personal friends of
Thomas Morris, so opposed to "\Yilliamsburgh), whose duty
it was to examine so much of the county as would enable
them to determine what place in said county would be most
eligible and bcst calculated to promote the general interests
of its inhabitants as a permanent scat of justice, having re­
gard to tlle present and future population thereof and the
advantage of placing the same as ncar the centre of said
county as possible, 01' on tlte Okio River. These men came
and went casually over the county, and determined that it
was not contrary to justice to remove the county-seat from
'Williamsburgh, and that a removal therefrom would be con­
ducive to Clermont's best interests, and that, in their opin­
ion, it was not necessary that the boundary-line between
Clermont and Bro\vn should be altered (a step necessary to
be done to keep the county-seat at "\Yilliamsburgh), and
that, having good policy and justice in view, they decided
for the permanent seat of justice a point on the public
square easterly of lots 105 and 106, in New Richmond,
where, in great solemnity and amid the hurrahs of the
good people of that town, they drove and placed a stake as
the proper place, in their opinion, for-the ccntre of the front
of the court-house, and thereupon selected lot 460, in said
town of New Richmond, and ncar to the court-house, a lot,
as a site for the jail, jailer's house, and such other buildings
as might be necessary. These three wise men then pro­
ceeded to determine and assess the damages which the sev­
eral owners of lots or buildings in 'Yilliamsburgh would
sustain in consequence ot'the removal of the seat of justice
from their town; in making which assessment, they in­
quired how much the value of the property of such persons
would be reduced by the removal below its cash value, and
did a15sess alld find the said damage to amount to the sum
of six thousand three hundred and sixty-15even dollars and
fifty cents. They also took a bond from John Emerson
and others interested in favor of the New Richmond site,
so selected, with good· and sufficient security in double the
amount said damages assessed, and payable to the county
treasurer, conditioned for the pa)'ment of aforesaid damages
in four years. They also took a deed of conveyance ,from
Thomas Ashburn for said jail lot 460, and one hundred
feet of the avenue, and also one fi'om Jacob Light for other

. parts of the said public avenue, and likewise a bond from
Thomas Morris and George C. Light for a future convey­
ance for part of lot 105 to thus complete the title of all of
said avenue in fee-simple to Clermont County. They also
received from Peter Turner and others a bond for erecting
a court-house and jail on "the aforesaid sites for a seat of
justice, or to furnish materials and labor towards public
buildings to the amount of two thousand dollars, at the
option' of the county commissioners, and also to provide a

place for holding courts in said county, and for a clcrk's
office free of rent for one year from July 4, 1823. These
three men (honorable and good men though they were)
were the recipients of a perfect storm of indignation from
a vast ~lajority of the people of the county, and which
found vent in the public prints and memorials to the
ensuing Legislature by the bushels.

How the new county buildings progressed at 'New Rich­
mond is attested by the proceedings of the county commis­
sioners, at \Vho~e session on Nov. 10, ] 823, the memorial
of Peter Turner, David Dickinson, Daniel Light, and
James Uobb was received, setting forth that they had
complied with their contract for the erection of public
buildings and asking to be discharged from their bond; but
the commissioners, being satisfied that the parties aforesaid
had not complied with the conditions of their bond in the
erection of court-house, jail, and public offices of equal
value of those at 'YilliaDlsburgh, resolved that, inasmuch as
tIle said parties have not completed the public buildings
aforesaid agreeably to their bond, they cannot with propri­
ety be received at this time.

This backset to the new county-seat at New Richmond
was soon followed by an act of the Legislature, passed Feb.
24, 1824, making Batavia the shiretown of Clermont, and
where ever since the count.y-seat has remained. In the
General Assembly that finally settled upon Batavia as the
county-seat, the members from Clermont were Owen T.
Fishback (senator) and William 'Yilliams (representative).
The only terms of the Common Pleas Court held at New
Richmond were the August and November terms of 1823,
and the March term of 1824, and the first court held at
Batavia, now the shiretown by legislative enactment, was
a special one of two days, convened :May 14, 1824, consist­
ing of Associate Judges Alexander Blair, John Pollock,
and John Beatty, and which assembled at the Methodist
]~piscopal church (the old stone structure, still standing),
and where all the courts continued to be held until the
present court-house was fully completed. The first regular
court in Batavia was at the July term of 1824, with Judge
Joshua Collet as presiding judge.

On Dec. 9, 1826, at a regular' meeting of the Clermont
County commissioners, consisting of Samuel Perin, John
Boggers, and James Blackburn, Andrew Foote being au­
ditor and clerk of the board, it was determined to build a
court-house in the town of Batavia. An order was then
made that notice be given that the labor to be performed
and the materials to be furnished necessary for the erection
of said building be offered at public auction to the lowest
bidder on the 11th day of January, 1827. At an adjourued
meeting on the 30th of the same month, the board proceeded
to the selection of a plan for building, agreeably to their de­
termination of their last meeting. On the next day they in­
,:estigated further as to the cost and description of the contem­
plated house, and it was resolved that ont:! of their number
(Samuel Perin) procure at Cincinnati a complete draft of the
most approved plan; whereupon the honorable board ad­
journed until Jali. 5,1827, for further proceedings. At the'
adjourned day the board received and accepted said plan, to
wit: Said building to be of brick, erected on a foundation
of stone, size of forty-five feet square, with a cupola or
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steeple annexed .thereto, and finished in suitable style,
agreeably to said draft. It was further resolved that Samuel
Perin, taking to his aid John Charles (who, in 1805 to 1809,
had built the Williamsburgh court-house) and such other
assistance as he could obtain, should draw a profile and
des~ription of said building on or before the day of sale.
On Jan. 11, 1827, the advertised day of sale to the lowest
bidder, Ezekiel Dimmitt agreed to furnish all the materials,
erect, finish, and complete the said court-house for the sum
of three thousand four hundred v.nd eighty-three dollars, and,
no other person offering to do it for less, he became the
purchaser and contractor, and went into a contract and bond
for the faithful performance of this undertaking with Holly
Raper, William A. White, Daniel Duckwall, and John
Dimmitt, Jr" his securities, conditioned as the law directed,
which was immediately approved by thc commissioners.

At the following March session of the board an advance­
ment of five' hundred and eighty dollars and fifty cents was
made to the builder as per agreement. At tIle June sitting
of' the board, with the consent of the Common Pleas Court,
there was levied one mill on the dollar, to be exclusively
appropriated to the court-house in process of erection, and
a second advancement given to Ezekiel Dimmitt, the con­
tractor, of seven hundred dollars. At the September
m~eting the board, after inspecting the progress of the
work, and with great satisfaction thereat, lIS its· journals
indicate, made a third allowance, of eight hundred dollars,
to the builder, and also ordered John Jamieson to dig a
well on the public square in pursuance of a contract, and
further ordered a board fence to be constructed around two
squares of the jail, such fence not to cost over twenty-six
dollars. At the December session another order was given
Mr. Dimmitt for five hundred and fifty-two dollars and
fifty cents in part payment of the new temple of justice.
At the April sitting of 1828 the board examined the
progress and status of' the tabernacle of law with feelings
of great satisfaction at its most excellent condition, and
at the succeeding June meeting made another order to the
contractor for four hundred dollars, and again made a like'
allowance at the following September sitting. At the
December session of the commi8sioners the balance, of
fifty dollars, due Ezekiel Dimmitt was voted him. On
"New Year's Day," 1829, the board met (no change had
occurred in its members since the project was first started),
and after a most thorough and minute examination of the
edifice it was unanimously, and with proud satisfiwtion,
decided that it had been constructed and completed by its
maker according to the contract in every detail and letter
of the agreement, and it was formally received as finished
from him, and an ·order was voted the builder for three
hundred and twenty-seven do.llars and fifty-three and three­
fourths cents in full of his account for extra work and
extra materials furnished.

Mr. Ezekiel Dimmitt lost money, some fifteen hundred
dollars, on his contract, as he did an honest job and more
than filled the stipulations of his bid,--,-too low for the
splendid work he so honestly made for the county,-and
the Legislature, by an act, of Feb. 7, 1829, authorized the
commissioners to settle and adjust his accounts iu that
special enactment for his relief. At the March sitting of

the board, in 18~9, Mr. Dimmitt presented his accounts,
in pursuance of the above-mentioned law, but the journal
entry of the board states that, not produc.ing satisfactory
evidence as to the correctness of his said accounts, nothing
was then allowed him, nor subsequently, owing to the ill­
feeling produced in the neighborhoods of New lUchmond
and Williamsburgh on the location of it in Batavia.

While the court-house is not an imposing structure,and
does not conform to modern style of architecture, it has
ever been the testimony of all the judges who. have held
court in its sacred temple that in the matter (and the most
essential and important requisition) of acoustics, and. for
ease to the speakers in the delivery of their arguments, it
has no superior in the State. It has been the theatre of
many hard-fought legal battles, its old walls have resounded
with many able and eloquent speeches, but its full history
cannot be written-its bygone scenes and incidents,. its
secret associations and deliberations-until the fu~ure his­
torian shall write the lives of the individual actors who
have participated in the acts that have rendered it so
famous in the county's, history.·

A few years subsequently the two offices now occupied
by Judge S. F. Dowdney and his law partner,J. S. Par­
rott, and by Col. William Howard and his son, John J.
Howard, were built for the offices of the clerk and auditor;
and in 1842 and 18-13 was erected, by James and Newton
Carter, for the treasurer, the office next. to the jail, and
now occupied by Judge George L. Swing and his son,

. James B. Swing. Several years latel' was put up, by John
Finley, the office now used (by R. J. Bancroft)-next to
the court-house-for special benefit of the clerk. These
were called " Rat Row" in popular parlance, and were the
regular county offices until the year 1864, when was com­
pleted the new " Public Building," on the public square
and partly on the site of the old jail. .

The contract for erecting this was let out on 1\1arch 25,
1863, !lnd was awarded to Robert Haines (of New Rich­
mond) for four thousand three hundred and· fifty dollars,
who took the contract for furnishing the materials and
doing and performing all the labor necessary for its erec­
tion. On November 4th, he was allowed fourteen hundred
and fifty dollars; on Jan. 16, 1864, two thousand and
thirty-six dollars and sixty-seven cents; and on March 7th,
six hundred dollars. This structure contains offices for
probate judge, recorder, surveyor, clerk, auditor, and treas'­
urer; is of brick, two stories high, with a good cellar under
the whole building, and, like the court~house, is on the pub­
lic square donated for public uses by the original proprie­
tors of the town, George Ely and David C. Bryan, as for­
merly dedicated in their plat of Oct. 24, 1814.

The court-house was well repaired in May, 1879, its
inside greatly beautified, and the old wooden fish weather
vane, high above the cupola, replaced by a metallic arrow
of modern style.

JAILS-WHIPPING·POSTS-PEHSONS WHIPPED j

WHEN AND BY WHOM.

As heretofore stated, the first jail in the county was a
log building, situated just between the log court-house and
the log hotel, all really connected together and under one



68 RISTOHY OF CLER;\10NT COUNTY, OHIO.

roof, and built and owned by Thomas Morris. This was
the jail legally made so in February-4th Tuesday-of
1801, and so continued for some time, till the authurities
built one-still of logs, but huger and stronger-on a site
by itself; concel'lling which, the records and history are
silent as to the precise time of its construction. It con­
tained at various times wallY luckless debtors, but its chief
offenders were horse-thicvcs,-the terror of the early set­
tlers, and on whom the law lw.d no mercy, and, like in all
new countries, it was visited on them stcrnly :llld promptly,
-with occasionally parties held for larccny, and sometimes
for robbery 01' burglary.

In front of this jail stood the whipping-post, or, rather,
posts. Two s.ticks of oak about six inches square were
planted about five fCllt apart, and projected the same dis­
tance from the earth. To the top of these the culprit was
tied by the extended lw.nds, while the "cat-o'-nine-tails"
was applied on his naked back with cruel vigor. There
several unhappy offenders satisfied the majesty of the law
fur misdeeds of the body, principally horse-stealing, the
most heinous of crimes in early days.

At the October term of Common Pleas Court., in 1808,
John Clark, for stealing a horse of John Gaskins, was
found guilty, and sentenced to be whipped twenty-five
stripcs on his naked back that afternoon at three o'clock;
pay said Gaskins fifty dollars (the value of his horse), also
a fine of ten dollars and costs; to be imprisoned three days
in jail, and not to be let out till the restitution, fine, and
costs were all paid. On the same day this same culprit,
John Clark, for stealing a bell of Conrad Hersh, was sen­
tenced to be whipped with five stripes, make restitution to
said Hersh of the value of' the bell (one dollar), pay a fine
of one dollar, and be imprisoned twenty-four hours, and not
to be released till restitution-money, fine, and costs were
fully settled. On same day Mordecai S. Ford, who in 1801
bought, in 'Yashington township, SOllie seventy-five acres of
land from Philip Buckner~was up before the court for steal­
ing a horse from James Johnson. He was found guilty,
and sentenced to pay said Johnson, the owner of the stolen
horse, twenty dollars as restitution, pay a fine of ten dollars
and costs, be imprisoned three days, and not discharged till
restitution-money, fine, and costs were all paid, and be
whipped twenty-five stripes on his naked back that after­
noon at three o'clock. A big day's work in court,-th1'ee
trials and three convictions, with two public whippings in
the afternoon all early as three o'clock; but justice did not
sleep on horse-thieves.

The hour came, and Sheriff Levi Rogers-or rather his
deputy and court constable, the stout and quick 'Villiam
Stout-administered the two judicial whippings, to 'the
complete satisfaction of'the court, bar. public officials, town­
people, and, .in short, all Save the two downcast and back­
sore offenders. John Clark took the other five stripes for
.purloining the bell the next week, and soon after Ford died
between Felicity and Calvary meeting-hom.e, in the grave­
yard of which he was the first person interred. Three
men, Brown, Ferguson (both flogged by Sheriff Oliver
Lindsey), and another man, name unknown, were tied to
the wl~ipping.post and whipped, being_all non-residents and
all guilty of' the Eame thou tE'rrible erime of horse-stealing.

After Brown was whipped he said, in a spirit of braggado.
eio, that he was a much bettm' man than the sheriff or any
of the spectators, and no one felt like disputing the asser­
tion.

At one time two horse-thieves, named Killwell and Joseph
Knott, were confilled in this old log jail, when Killwell
slipped off his handcuffs and fled. Pursuit being instituted, .
he changed his appearance as much as possible in a success­
ful disguise, and joined in the effort to recapture him, ask­
ing the people, ill his going through the sparsely-settled
country, whether they had seen anything of or heard of the
whereabouts of the notorious outlaw and horse-thief, KiIl­
well, and succeeded, by his coolness and daring, in escaping
for good, and excelling "Dick Turpin" for his bold ef·
frontery.

Joseph Knott, tried for horse-stealing, escaped thus:
When the jury retul'Ded their verdict, "Joseph Knott,
(~ot) guilty," his attorney exclaimed, "Joseph, not guilty!
Put, Joseph!" and before the court recovered itself' or the
sheriff had collected his wits, Joseph had" put" for the
woods, and escaped for that time, but was afterwards shot
on Sto!lelick by the infuriated citizens in a posse who had
suffered from his continual depredations.

In that jail an unoffending man, a traveler and a stranger,
was once confined for long weary months throu.~h the llludi­
inat ions of wicked parties, and his misfortune destroyed his
reason, and when released he was a raving lunatic, and so
died. This man, whose name was Sharton, carne from
Kentucky, was looking over the country to purchase lands,
and stopped at the Stockton tavern, where were wont to
congregate the usual loafers and tough customers of the
new frontier town. It always, in their opinion, being in
order to drink, they asked the stranger to join them. He
declined to do so; whereupon they said, "It will cost you.
the drink-money anyhow;" whereupon he started to go out
of the room, when he was followed by the assembled roughs,
and, to defend himself, stooped down to pick up a rock.
His assailants also picked up rocks, and, hurling them at
the fleeing and frightened man, struck a Mr. Smith, who
was coming up the street, severely injuring him. The
rowdies then charged the stranger with having inflicted the
wound and caused him to be lodged in jail. For a number
of days no complaint was made against him, and brooding
over his troubles caused his reason to weaken, and finally
to fuil altogether. His brother came over from Kentucky
and took him home to that State, but he never fully recov­
ered from the shock his nervous system had received, and
wasted away, a hopeless and broken-minded man.

A German, imprisoned in the jail for some trivial offense,
in its midnight gloom calmly adjusted his fate, and in the
morning was found hanging,-:-dead. By using some loose
boards he was enabled to suspend himself' {i'om the joists,
and thus the life of the rashly-unfortunate man-fin from
his native land, and held for some alleged light offense­
went out into eternity, and, according to an ancient custom
handed down as traditional law, his body was sacrilegiously
buried in the forks of the cr'oss-roads near the town of
'Yilliamsburgh.

This old jail had become an eyesore to the authorities
from its inefficiency, the many prisoners escaping therefrom
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and the heavy costs of guards to keep with safety its in­
mates, and the many and continued sums expended in locks,
irons, and other articles for the safekeeping of offenders.
Therefore, at the March term, 1809, of the commissioners,
they resoh:ed to build a new one, of stolle, and' to advertise
its ~ale to the lowest bidder on the 10th of April ensuing,
at ,vhich date the sale was adjourned to the June meetin~,

then again to October 17th, when its erection was sold to
John Charles for two thousand nine hundred and eighty­
six dollars, who gave bond and security for its building.
On 1\1arch5, 1810, seven hundred and ninety-five dollars
and thirty-three and one-third cents wns allowed John Charles
on his jail contract j in June, sixty-three dollars and thirty­
one cents j in September, seventy-two dollars and ninety­
three cents j in December, one hundred aud eighty dollars
and seventy-seven and one-third cents j in April, 1811, five
hundred dollars j in September, one hundred dollars j and
on Dec. 3, 1811, two hundred and thirty-nine dollars and
thirty-three and one-third cents,-being in all two thou­
sand and twenty-seven dollars and eighty-nine cents. The
balance to make up the contract price was paid along at
different periods to sundry parties on orders from the con­
tractor for materials, labor, and the like. So the jail was
finished in two years from its beginning, and in time for
the important December term of 1811.

There was another whipping by judicial decree in the old
jail not yet mentioned by us. One 'William Thomas, at
the August term of the Common Pleas: 1810, was found
guilty of horse-stealing, although ably defended by his at­
torney, David C. Bryan, who tried to get a new trial, but
which was refused. The court then asked the prisoner if he
had anything to say why scntence should not be pronounced
against him j and, having nothing t.o offer, the court said,
" William Thomas, it is your sentence that at se,'en o'clock
to-morrow morning you receive sevellty-five stripes on your
naked back, pay a fine of five hundred dollurs and costs of
prosecution, and be imprisoned twenty days." The record
shows that next morning the jolly sheriff, Oliver J.... indsey
(lately inducted into office), administered the judicial flagel­
lation and charged it up promptly in his fees, which the
county had to pay, as the execution against Thomas was re­
turned" nulla bolUJ," but a sore and stiff back.

The new jail was finished ill December, 1811, and the
first man whipped by order of court in its Jard was one
James Lewis, who on the 7th-four days after the ne,v jail
was opened-was found guilty of au assault with intent to
murder, by a jury composed of the following then well­
known citizens: 'William Megrue, John Ross, James :Mc­
Call, Jesse Fee, Samuel Wardlow, George Little, John
Kite, 'William Ross, James B.allSton, Stephen Medaris, 'Vil­
Ham Judd, and Allen W'oods. All the eloquence and in­
genuity of Thomas Morris could not get the prisoner a
new trial or arrest of judgment, and the prisoner, James
Lewis, was sentenced to be whipped at four o'clock that
afternoon on his naked back with fifty stripes save one, be
imprisoned in the common jail of the county sixty-five
days, pay a fine of five hundred.dollars and the costs of
prosecution. Sheriff Lindsey attended to this flogging, and
well, too, for Lewis was the most notorious criminal in the
State,-a regular outlaw. But before giving the whipping

Lewis was tried on another indictment for robbing Michael
Weaver of six hundred and seventy-five dollars and eighty
cents in silver coin, and was found guilty j for which the
court, John 'rhompson presiding judge, sentenced him to
receive tlth'fy-nine st1'1pes saving one on his naked back at
four o'clock Monday eveni~g three weeks, pay a fine of five
tlwusalld' dollw's, be imprisoned two months, pay costs of
prosecution, and· make restitution to Michael 'Veaver of the
six hundred and seventy-five dollars and eighty cents stolen
from him. It will be seen hoW' merciful Judge Thompson
was in letting three weeks and a few days elapse after the
first flogging before the 'second was administered. But the
fellow I....ewis richly deserved his fate: he attempted murder
and committed a heavy robbery. It is not known that he
ever paid his fine, the largest ever assessed in the county,
nor can it be learned what became of the hardened offender;
Lewis, on his discharge from jail.

The county commissioners, at their session in December,
1825, resolved that it was necessary to erect a cosnty jail
in Batavia; and therefore ordered a notice to be published in
the Western Patriot, printed in Batavia by Z. Colby & Co.,
that on Jan. 2, 1826, they would sell out to the lowest bid­
der its construction. Therefore, on Jan. 2, 1826, agreeably
to the aforesaid advertisement and resolution, the sale took
place j whereupon Ezekiel Dimmitt offered to build it for
nine hundred and forty-nine dollars, and no person appear­
ing and offering to construct it for a less sum, it was struck
off to him, and he entered int0 a bond, with John Mitchell
and Daniel Duckwall as securities, for the faithful compli­
ance of his contract. This jail was on that part of the
public square cornering on the alley, and now occupied by
the county treasury, and was completed on Jan. 12, 1827 j

on which day, on application of Ezekiel Dimmitt, its builder,
the commissioners proceeded to an examination of the same,
and found the contractor was entitled to receive, for extra
work thereon, after deductions for omissions and bad work­
manship, the sum of twenty-four. dollars,' slxty-four and one­
half cents j whereupon they received it, and ordered the
auditor to draw an order on the county treasury in his favor
for that amount, together with a balance of the original
contract of one hundred and twenty dollars and seventy-two
cents, in full discharge of the said contract for the erection
of the first jail in Batavia.

The county commissioners, seeing the necessity for a new
jail,-one that would meet the demands of justice in size
and safety for the accommodation of the prisoners,-at their
June session in 1836, resolved to erect one and to sell out
to the lowest bidder, on July 7th, the excavating and erect­
ing of its foundations, the excavation to be sold by the cubic
yard and the masonry by the perch. On July 7th the ex­
cavation was sold to Benjamin R. Hopkins for ten cents per
cubic yard, and on the 16th the laying of the foundation
(the sale having been adjourned from the 7th) was sold to
John .'V. Robirson at six dollars and seventy-five cents per
perch of twenty-four and three-fourths cubic feet per perch.
The commissioners, with the assistance of the well-known
surveyor, John Hill (who was allowed sevellly-five cents for
his services), on July 22d laid off the foundation for the
proposed jail on the site of the present one. August 16th
the bonds of Hopkins and B.obinson, the contractors, were
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presented and approved for the faithful compliance with
their agreements, and it was ordered that the sale of the
erection of the jail-building be sold out at public vendue
on the 16th of Scptembcr; on which day it was continued
over to the next, when it was struck off to the lowest and
best bidder, Brice K. Blair, at two thousand three hundred
and ninety-nine dollars; whereupon John 'V. Robinson
came forward as the person for whom the bid was actu~llly

made, and he, together with Robert McFarland, Samuel
l\Iaham, and Daniel Kidd, entered into a bond, payable to
the State of Ohio for the usc of Clermont County in the
penal sum of four thousand six hundred and one dollars and
ninety-eight cents, for the faithful construction of said jail
on or before Dec. 25, 1837, agreeable to the conditions of
said sale and specifications placed on file. 'Villiam Curry
was allowed three dollars for crying the above sale, and
Benjamin R. Hopkins five dollars and fifty cents for remov­
ing dirt from the foundation of the jail.

October 14th the commissioners received the foundation
of the jail from the contractor, John 'V. Robinson.. June
7, 1837, the commissioners settlcd with John 'V. Robinson
for the erection of the foundation" of the jail, which WaS
found to contain one hundred and forty-three perch and
seventeen feet, at six dollars and seventy-five cents per
perch, equal to nine hundred and sixty-nine dollars and
eighty-eight cents, which was allowed him. October 20th
the board examined and inspected the progress of the work
in the erection of the jail, and gave sundry directions.
April 21: 1838, the commissioners received the jail from
its builder, John W. Robinson, having found it completed
according to contract, and gave him an order for "two
thousand three hundred and ninety-nine dollars, the stipu­
lated contract price, and canceled his bond. Edward Fra­
zier, elected sheriff the previous October, now assumed con­
trol of the new jail,-a worthy and safe structure for those
days. On June 6th the old brick jail building, with ten
feet of' ground on its south aud tcn on its east, was leased
to Thomas J. Buchanan for a term of twenty years at "an an­
nual rental of thirty-five dollars, and Thomas S. Bryan for
Cl·ying the sale or leasc was allowed one dollar. In 1\1arch,
1841, 1\11'. Buchanan released and relinquished to the
county forever all his right and title to the old jail and lot
for fifty dollars, thus giving up his lease.

While Edward Frazier was sheriff, the jail having burned
down in the spring of 1841, the commissioners on June
18, 1841, began arrangements for the erection of a new
one, and on July 1st completed their plan. On July 24,
1841, the building of the new jail was sold out to "William
H. Robinson and Alexander Stark, the lowest bidders, fur
thhteen hundred and ninety-four dollars, who gave bond
in two thousand dollars for compliance with the contract in
the rebuilding of the burned jail, the foundations and part
of the old jail building being preserved and in tolerably
good condition. The contract, by alteration~ called for the
side walls of the building to be built up two thicknesses of
a brick above the tops of the upper joists, with wall plates
and four girders, the fire-walls to be the same height above
the roof that they were in the old building; in considera­
tion of which alteration, made on August 21st, the builders
were to be gmnted an additional twenty-five dollars. Jan.

10, 1842, the rebuilt jail was received, and the contractors
allowed fourteen dollars for extra work not stated in the
original contract or subsequent alterations.

Michael Cowen, elected sheriff the previ~us Oetober, was
the fil·st sheriff to occupy the rebuilt jail, w:hich, with
various improvements and repairs, has remained the common
jail to this day. The experience of thirty years, as shown
from the many escapes, has demonstrated that it is insecure, "
and its location poorly adapted to secure prison discipline,
as its inmates have too free communication with persons OIl

the streets, which enables them to plan to secure their
liberty.

THE INFIR)IARIES-vVHEN BOUGHT OR BUILT,
AND THEIR SUPERINTENDENTS.

Up to July 21, 1854, there was no county infirmary, at
which date the then comwissioners, Benjamin Brown,
Henry Chapman, and Andrew J. Thompson, purchased for
four thousand three hundred and twenty dollars, of Jacob
and Henry G. Duckwall, their farm of one hundred and
eight acres, in Batavia township, on the "Williamsburgh
turnpike, in Gray's survey, No. 1116, and about one and a
llalf miles cast from the court-house. This farm had a

. large and long two-story brick building, in which the pau­
pers from the different townships were collected and placed
under charge of Andl'ew J. Sherman, its first superintend-

.ent, who was succeeded the next year by James Wilson.
This was a splendid farm, but the accommodations of the
building were insufficient to meet the required wants in
comfort, health, and safety; hence the authorities in two
years began to look about for better quarters. On Sept. 1,
1856, Ueader ,Y. Clarke entered into a contract with the
commissioners, Holly R. Perine, 'Villiam P. Daughters,
and A. :b'. Morrison, whereby he agreed to sell to the
county one hundred and twenty acres on the east fork, just
above Townsley's mill, a mile from Batavia, for eight thou­
sand four hundred dollars, and take in part payment, to the
amount of four thousand one hundred dollars, the infirmary
farm then occupied by the county, which was to pay hirp.
four thousand three hundred dollars cash to bbot,-one-half
January 1st, and the remainder Nov. 1, 1857, with per­
mission to the ~ounty to retain possession of the old infirm­
ary place till Dec. 1, 1857. Clarke's deed to the commis­
sioners for the one hundred and twenty acres aforesaid was
exccllted Oct. 26, 1856, when the commissioners in turn
conveyed" theil' one hundred and eight acres to him.

The county now had a most eligible site, but no build­
ings; and at the October election of 1856 the question of
building a new infil'mary on the lands purchased of Clarke
was submitted to a vote, but, owing to the animosities en­
gendered by the sale to and purchase from Clarke, largely
influenced by political feeling, the proposition was voted
down, tIle vote standill~,-yea, 1595; nay, 1716; not
voting, 2015. Still, under the then existing laws, the
commissioners had the power to construct buildings for in­
firmary purposes, not to exceed five thousand dollars in
cost, without submitting i~ to a vote of the ejectors. l'here­
fore, on Dec. 11, 1856, the board entered into an agree­
ment with George A.. Miller, of Cincinnati, who for four
thousand nine hundred and ninety-nine dollars agreed to
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build the proposed infirmary buildings according to the
specifications and plans of the architects, Rankin and Ham­
ilton, of Cincinnati, and to be finished and completed by
Dec. 1, 1857. Miller was to receive five hundred dollars
as soon as he gave bond, one thousand dolla~s when the
first,tier of joists was laid in said building (built of brick),
five hundred dollars when the second tier was laid, five
hundred when the third tier was put in, five hundred dollars
when the roof was finished, one thousand dollars when the
plastering was finished, and the remainder of the contract
price in thirty days after the commissioners were satisfied
the building had been completed in full compliance with
the stipulated contract. Dee. 10, 1857, the commissioners
examined the infirmary building, and declared it completed
according to the original agreement, received the same from
its contractor, canceled his bond, and settled in full for the
balance due him.

In 1867 the necessity arose" for buildinO' a house on the
. fi 0
10 rmary grounds for insane people, and an order was made
that sealed proposals would be received for the construction
of a brick asylum till noon on June 27th, when the follow­
ing bids were opened: Edwin House a~d Theodore Nichols
for seven thousand nine hundred and ninety dollars; Syl~
vester Binkley, for sev'en thonsand eiU'ht. llUndred dollars'o ,

Tice & Hannold, for nine thousand eiO'ht hundred dollars'o ,

John B. Wheeler, for seven thousand four hnndred and
ninety dollars; and W i1Iiam Hawkins, for seven thousand'
dollars; and to the latter was awarded the contract, who
entered into a written agreement in regard to all particulars
of said building and its materials,' and gave bond to the
~atis~action of the Board, and who in January, 1868, had
It fimshed; on the 24th day of which month he received
thirteen hundred and ninety-five dollars in full payment of
the balance due him on the contract.

The annual report of the infirmary directo.rs made in
December, 1856, 'shows the entire ouday and expenses for
all purposes of the infirmary for that year to have been
nineteen' hundred and thirty-two dollars and twenty-two
cents, being the second on the first infirmary farm. .

In the summer of 1877 the infirmary, including the
asylum building for insane persons, caught fire and burned
down just after its inmates had finished their dinner, and
has never been rebuilt to this day. The county received
seven thousand eight hundred dollars as insurance money
from the lEtna Insurance Company, in which, fortunately,
the authorities had all their public buildings insured. The
commissioners immediately' built temporary frame buildings
in the bottom of the infirmary farm, on the road, which
are in use at this date, and a standing disgrace to the
county. The commissioners submitted a proposition to the
electors at the October election in 1877 to build a new
infirmary, but, not having stated the amount required, the
project was voted down by a small majority.

The following are the superintendents of the infirmary
since Decpmber, 1857, when the building was finished on
the east fork, on the land bought of H.. W. Clarke: In
December, 1857, and till March, 1858 Samuel BickinO', 0'

who had been a few months in the old one as superin-
tendent; March, 1858-61, Eben McGrew; 1861-64, John
Fowler; 1864-65, B. F. ACl'a; 1865-68, "Villiam J. Rust;

1868-72, Rev. Joseph D. Hatfield; 1872-78, Benjamin
F. Acra; and 1878 to present time, Zebulon Dickinson,
the present efficient incumbent.

This institution has generally been well 'conducted, and
with humane efforts for the comforts of its inmates as far
as its limited accommodations in buildings wo~ld' permit.

CHAPTER X.

COUNTY OFFICERS OTHER THAN THOSE IMME­
DIATELY CONNECTED WITH THE JUDICIARY.

COM~nSSIONERS.

THE First General Assembly of the Northwest Terri­
tory, at its first session, at Cincinnati, Sept. 16, 1799, passed
an act on December 19th providing that in every coun.ty in
the Territory a board of commissioners, composed,of three
able, re8pectable, and discreet freeholders livinO' in saide
county should be appointed in the following manner: The
justices of the Court of Quarter Sessions, in their respective
counties, at the next term of said court after the first day
of January annually, should appoint three commissioners,
as aforesaid, the first named on the list to serve for one year,
the second for two years, and the third for three years; and
that said justices should at the same term in every year
nominate and appoint one new .commissioner to supply the
place of the outgoing officer, as aforesaid. The Second
General Assembly of Ohio, which was held at Chillicothe,
and began its first session on Dec. 5, 1803, created the first
boards of count,y comm~ssioners under the new State gov~

ernment by an act passed Feb. 13, 1804, providing that the
first election for the same should be held on the first Mon­
day in April succeeding, and that the officers thus elected
should at their first meeting determine by iot for what time
they should severally continue in office; one whereof should
continue until the first annual October election, one until
the annual October election next succeeding, and one until
the annual October election next following.

The justices of the Court of Quarter Sessions at their first
regular term, on the fourth Tuesday of February, 1801,
made their appointments, and the first elected as commis­
sioners were at the election on the first Monday in April,
1804, and the following is a list of those appointed or
elected,with place of residence, dates of appointment or
election, and the time in years or mont.hs of their service:

ISOl.-Amos Smith, Williamsburgh township, six months.
Samuel Armstrong, Williamsburgh township, six months.
John Wood, Washington township, two years and ninc months.
Amos Ellis, Pleasant township, one year.

I802.-Ambl'ose Ranson, :Miami township, two years and thrce
months.

Samuel Ellis, Pleasant township, one year and three months.
I803.--:-George Conrad, :Miami township, one year and thrce months.

Amos Ellis, Plcasant township, three months.
I804.-Amos Ellis, Pleasant township, three months.

Robert Townsley, Ohio township, six months.
George Conrad, :Miami township, one year and six months.
Amos Smith, WiIlinmsburgh, two years' and six months.
Amos Ellis, Plensimt township, three ycars;

IS05.-William S. Jump, Washington township, three years.
ISOG.-Amos SUlith, WillialDsburgh township, three 'ycars.



· 72 HISTOltY OF CLERMON1' COUNTY, OHIO.

lS07.-Amos Ellis, Pleasant t.ownship, threo ycurs.
1808.-IIcnry Chapmlln, Plcasant township, threo years.
]80ll.-AIllOS Smith, Williamsbllrgh township, throe yeurs.
1810.-Amos Ellis, Pleasant township, three 'year~.

1811.-Gidoon ~Iinor, Washington township, three Je:u·s.
18]2.-Amos Smith, ',"illilllllsbllrgh towmhip, two Jears.·
18]:t-Lovi Pigman, Washingtun tuwn"hip, three years.
181·!'-Gideon Minor, Washington t.ownship, two yeurs.

Amos Ellis, Pleasant township, ono )'car.
1815.-John Shaw, Ohio township, threo yoars.
lSI6.-Led Pigman, Washington township, threo yeurs.

Amos Ellis, Plelltmnt township, one yoa.r.
18] 7.-Andrew Footo, Willialllsburgh township, three years.
]SIS.-Shl1dmch LlIne, Union township, throe Jears.
]SIll.-Levi Pigman, Washington township, two years.
lS20.-George J. Troutwine, Tate township, three ye:trs.
]821.-John ~IcWilliams, Goshen township, one year.
1821.-Shndraeh Lane, Union township, two years.
lS22.-D:U1iel Kain, Willialllsburgh towIlship, three Jears.
1823.-Jallles B1ackIHirn, Tate township, three yeurs.

John Boggess, Tate township,~oneyear.
1824.-John Boggess, Tate township, three yenrs.
1825.-Samuel Perin, l\Iiami township. three Jears.
lS2G.-Jumes Blackburn, Tate township, throe yoars.
1827.-John Boggess, Tato township, throe Jeurs.
1828.-Samue] Perin, Miami township, tWQ Jears.
182ll.-David White, Ohio township, three years.
] 830.-Zebina Williams, Stonclick township, six months.

John Randall, Goshen township, three years.
1830-31.-Sallluel Hill, Stonolick township, three yeurs and six

lIlonths.
l832.-Robert Donl1ltlll. Ohio township, three years.
1833.-Dowty Utter, Washington township, two years.
18:l4.-·Samuel Hill, Stonclick township, two )'ears and six months.
l8:35.-Robert Donham, Ohio township, three years.
18:~5-36.-AbramTectoI', Goshon township, foul' years.
18:37.-William Roudebush, Sloneliek ·towm:hip, three years and six

months.
1838.-David Moreton, Washington township, thl'eo ye;trs.
18:l!l.-Robert Tomple, Union township, three years.
18·1O.-William Roudebush, Stoneliel,; township, three years.
l841.-David Moreton, Washington township, three Jears.
lS42.-Robert Templo, Fnion township, three yoars.
]843.-Abram Teetor, Goshen township, three years.
l8H.-JoOltthltn Johnson, Bata\·itt township, thl'ee years.
]845.-John G. Gilfillen, Washington township, three years.
184G.-Peter Anderson, Stonelick township, three Jears.
1847.-Jonathan Johnson, Batavia township, three Jeltr>:.
lS48.-Henry Chapman, Fmuklin township, three yelll's.
184ll.-Peter Anderson, Stonelick township, three years.
1850.-Thom:1s Hitch, Bata\·itL township, three years.
l851.-lIenry Chapman, Franklin township, three years.·
1852.-Benjltrnin Brown, Goshen township, three yeHrs.
1853.-Andrew J. Thompson, Union township, three years.
1854.-John Conner, Ohio township, one Jear.
1855.-Willium P. Daughters, Washington township, two years.

A. F. Morrison, Wayne township, three years.
185G.-llolly R. Perrine, WillinIllsburgh township, three years.
lS57.-WiIIi:un Shaw, Monroe township, three years.
18[)8.-Joseph P. Molen, Franklin township, three years.
185ll.-Fmncis J. Roudebush, Stoneliek township, three years.
l8110.-William Shaw, Monroe township, three yeurs.
lS61.-Peter ~I. Snell, WilIiamsburgh township, three years.
l8G2.-Franeis J. Roudebush, Stoneliek township, three years.
lSG3.-WilliaBl Hawkins, Ohio township, three yenrs.
18G4.-Silas R. Hutchinson, Miami township, three years.
1865.-Joseph P. l\Iolen, Fra.llldin township, three years.

.18GG.-Charles Burkhardt, Ohio township, three years.
18Gi.-Joseph Trump, Goshen township, two J'ears and three months.
1868.-John J. Snider, Washington township, three years.
18Gll.-CIllLrles Burkhardt, Ohio township, three years.

Peter Anderson, Stonelick township, nine months.
l8iO.-'Franeis X. Iuen, Stonelick township, three yelu's.
l871.-John J. SnidCl', Washington township, three yeurs.
18i2.-S:ulluel B. Smith, Tate township, three )·eurs.

lS73.-Franeis X. Iucn, Stoneliek township, three years.
]8H.-ThonllLs Hodges, Monroe township, three years.
1875.-S:L1l1l101 n. Smith, Tute township, three yelLrs.
l8iG.-J. V. Christy, .Jackson town~hip, three years.
18n.-Thomas Hodges, l\!onroe township, three years.
18i8.-l\Iiclmel R. Rybolt, ~Iiallli township, three years.
1879.-J. V. Christy, JILcl,son township, three Jears.

COUNTY THEASURERS.

Under the territorial government, by act of Dec. 19,
1799, the county treasurers were appointed by the Gover­
nor, but under the State government, by an act passed
April 16, 1803, they were selected by the associate judges,
and continued thus to be chosen till the second Monday in
June, 1804, when, by the act passed on February 13th
preceding, they were appointed by the county commission­
ers up to the law of' Jan. 24, 1827, which made the office
an elective one and abolished the office of county collector,
who till then had collected aU the taxes, and thus making
the treasurership previously a simple di:;bursing institution.
The treasurers appointed by the Governor, associate judges,
and commissioners served fo.r a term of one year, and those
elected were for two_years.

l801.-Amos Smith,Williamsburgh township, one year and six months.
1802.-Roger W. Waring, WiIlhtIllsburgh township, six months.
1803-ln.-Nieholas Sink>:, WiIliamsburgh township, seventeen years.
1820-2G.-John Kain, WilIiamshurgh township, seven years.
1827.-John W. Robinson, BatlL\'ia township, two yeurs.
182U.-Thom:1s Kuin, Batavia township, two years.
18:3]-33.-John W. Robinson, Batada township, four years.
1835.-Daniel Duckwall, Datada township, two Jeurs.
1837.-John W. Robinson, llatada township, two years.
18:3U-4l.-William Thomns; Bata\'ia township, four Jears.
1843-45.-Moses Elston, Union township, four years.
l847-·.l(I.-Abram TectoI', Goshen township. four years.
]851-5:3.-John Ellsbery, Tate towm:hip, foul' years.
1855.-Alexantler Glenn, Tate township, two years.
185i.-Benjamin Archer, Pierce township, two ycal·s.
1859.-Shadraeh Dial, Batavia township, two yoars.
]86l.-DarJington Eo Fcc, Franklin town>:hip, two years.
186:3.-Elbridgc G. Ricker, Pierce township, two years.
1865.-DarJington E. Fcc, Fmnklin township, two years.
lSGi-Gll.-JonatlulU R. Corbly, Ohio township, three years.
18il.-Alfred N. Robinson, l\Iiami township, one year.

Joseph Bicking, Batavia township, two years.
l873-75.-Alfred N. Robinson, l\Iiltmi township, threo years.
1877.-W. F. Roudebush, BataYia township, one year.

Joseph Bicking, llatll.\'ia township, two years.
18i9.-E. J. Donham, Ohio township, two years.

COUNTY COLLECTORS.

Up to the year 1827 the taxes were collected by·collectors,
the county treasurer being simply an officer having charge
of the funds for safekeeping, and of disbursing them on the
proper orders of the lawful authorities. Under the terri­
torial government, and to the year 1806 under the State
government, the sheriff was the collector in every county,
when provision was made for county or township collectors',
to be annually appointed by the commissioners, who in
Clermont County appointed township collectors-one for
each-until, in the year 1814, they began appointing county
collectors, who generally had a deputy in each township, who
in many cases was the township lister.

1802.-Peter Light, WilIinmsbu I'gh township.
1803.-John Boude, Pleasant township.
1SO,l-5.-Daniel Kain, WiJIiamsbnrgh towllship.
1814.-Joseph Wells, Tate township.



COUNTY OFFICERS. 73

1815.-Elijah T. Penn, Washington township.
I8IG.-Amos E1li8, Pleasant township.
lSI7.-Shadruch Lime, Union township.
1818.-John Earhart, Williamsburgh township.
lSl!J.-Lemuel Stephenson, Washington township.
lS20.-John Earhart, Williamsburgh township.
1821.-Elijah 'r. Penn, Washington township.
1822.--;-John Beatty, Goshcn township.
1823-24.-ltobert Twecd, Williumsburgh township.
1825.-Thomns Knin, WillillUlsburgh township.
182G.-Silas Hutchinson, Miami township.

triennially; and in pursuance of which, the first election
was held on the second Tuesday of October, 1834, after
John Boggess' term under judicial appointment had ex­
pired.

RECORDFRS.

The deeds, mortgages, leases, patents, surveys, powers of
attorney, and other instruments affecting titles were re­
corded by the clerk of Common Pleas Court, acting as ex­
officio recorder, by acts pas~ed June 18, 1795, under terri­
torial, and Apl'ill6, 1803, under the State, government, and
so continued till the laws enacted Feb. 11, 1829, and ~eb.

25, 1831; under which the sole and separate office of re­
corder was establi~hed, and in this county the first recorder
was elected in October, 1832.

1832-38.-Bcnjamin Morris, Tate township, nine years.
lS.n-44.-Edmond Spence, Miami township, six Jellrs.
1S.J-7-50.-LeafIlcr B. Leeds, Batavia township, six years.
I85:3-5G.-Henry V. Kerr, Williaillsburgb township, six years.
I85!J-62.-Willinm B. C. Stirling, Pierec township, six ycars.
I8G5.-Jl1cob P. Clllrk, Pierce township, three ycars.
18G8-71.-Royal J. Bancroft, Franklin township, six years.
ISH-77.-Marcellus A. Wood, Washington township, six ycars.

AUDITORS.

This office was created by an act passed Feb. 2, 1821;
making the office an appointive one by the commissioners
till the law passed Feb. 23, 1824, which defined the duties
of this office and made it elective. Before the creation of
the office the commissioners made out the tax duplicates,
and sometimes had a clerk to assist them, either of their
own number or some other person.

1821-26.-Andrcw Foote, WiIliamsburgh township, scven ycars.
IS28.-Alexundel· Herring, Jr., Batavia township, one ycar and nine

months.
1S:30.-John McWilliams, Goshen township, three months.
IS31-33.-Samuel Medary, llatavill township, threc ycars and six

months.
I833.-Jacob Mcdary, Batavi:L township, six months.
ISa5.-James Ferguson, Monroe township, two years.
ISa7.-John Beatty, Goshcn township, two years.
1S:~!J-44.-JoshuaH. Dial, Union township, six ycars.
lS45-48.-John Fcrguson, Picrce township, four ycars.
I84!1-51.-Chltrlcs M. Smith, Batavia township, four ycars.
lS53.-Noble M. Preblc, Ohio town::ihip, two ycars.
IS55.-Moses S. Dimmitt, Franklin township, two YClLrs.
I 857.-Dllvid C. Bryan, Bntavhl township, tlVO yeurs.
1S5!l-Gl.-Noblc 11. Preble. Ohio township, four YClLrs.
1S63.-Harris Smethurst, :Miami township, two years.
I8G5-G7.-William Nichols, Batavia township, four ycars.
lS69-72.-Aloozo M. Dimmitt, Batavia township, four ycars and

cight monthll.
1874-7G.-Charles J. Harrison, Stonclick township, four ycars.
1878.-1\-1. J. W. Holter, Batavia township, three ycars.

SURVEYORS.

'fhis office was created by an act passed April 15, 1803,
authorizing the COlDUlon Pleas Court to appoint SOlDe quali­
fied person to fill it, and was an appointive position till the
passage of the law of .March 1, 1831, making it elective

10

INFIH~LA.RY DIREOTOHS.

Under the act of the Legislature passed March 5, 1842,
provid.ing that where a poor-house had been provided and
completed for the reception of the poor, and the commis­
sioners deemed it right and proper, the management of the
same should be placed under a board of infii'mary directors
prior to the then next annual election, the Clermont
coulluissioners, on July 21, 1854, appointed a board of in­
firmary dil'ectors, who organized and immediately took con·
trol of the infirmary and general care of the poor.
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IS54.-Henry Winder, Tatc towmhip, three months.
Lewis Terwilliger, Goshen township, three months.
!}eter S. Jones, Union township, one year and three months.
Edward Sinks, Williamsbnrgh townshi}l, two years.
Jacob Ebcrsole, Picrcc towmhip, three yelHs.

IS55.-Dr. A. V. II. IIopldns, Blttavia township, three .rears.
I856.-Thomns 'V. Abernathy, Jnelison township, one year and six

months.
IS5i.-Elisha J. Emery, Minmi township, 2 years.

Peter 1\1. Snell, Williamsburgh township, six months.
IS5S.-Thomns :l\Inrsh, Batavia township, one yem·.

Dl'. A. V. H. Hopkins, Pierce township, three years.
IS5\J;-IIezekiah Mount, Blttuyia township, three years.

John White, Batayia township, one year.
lS60.-Moses Long, Stoneliek township, three years.
J861.-.Tonathan Johnson, Batlwia township, three yeurs.
ISG2.-D. 1\1. Hay, Batavia township, three years.
ISG;{.-John ConnOl', Ohio township, three years.
IS6·L-Daniel Roudebush, Batayia township, three years.
I81>5.-Thoruas l\Iltrsh, Batavia township, three years.
JS6G.-D. M. Hay, Ratll.vilt township, one year and six months.
IS6i.-Joseph Bicking, Batavia township, six months.

Peter Dean, Tate township, three years.
IS68.-WilJiam Y. Potter, Miami township, one year.

Thomas H. Phillips, Monroe township, three years.
ISfi\J.-WilJiam Y. Potter, Minmi township, three years.
I870.-Benjnmin Behymer, Pierce towmhip, three years.
I8il.-John White, Bntlwia township, three years.
I872.-Zebulon Dicldnson, Wayne township, three years.
I873.-Benjamin Behymer, Pierce township, threc years.
IS74.-John White, Batavill township, three years.
IS75.-Zebulon Dickinsoll, Wayne township, three years.
ISiG.-l\Ieacom Gardner, Pierce township, three years.
18ii.-John White, Batuvia township, one year.

A. R. Scott, Tate township, three years.
lS7S.-Benton Mcclary, WilJiumsbnrgh township, three years.
187\J.-Samuel L. Witham, Union township, three yoars.

LAND ASSESSORS AND MEMBERS OF THE STATE
BOARD OF EQUALIZATroN.

In 1852, Clermont County was divided into four dis­
tricts, in each of which a land assessor was elected, whose
business it was to view every piece of land in his territory
and appraise or assess its actual cash value for taxation.
The assessors elected were 1m Ferguson, for the district
composed of Ohio (then including Pierce), Union, and
Miami townships; Richard Pemberton, for tllat of Tate,
Williamsburgh, and Batavia; A. D. Fagin, for that of
J\{onroe, Washington, and Franklin; and J. M. Barr, for
that of Wayne, Jackson, Stonelick, and Goshen.

In 1860 the law provided for decennial appraisements
of realty, and now began thc elcction in each township of
an assessor to value the lands, and the following were
elected:
Pierce, Joseph D. Hatfield; Tate, Richard PemLerton ; Wayne,

William McKinney; Jackson, J. K. Hartman; Franklin, John
Miller; Stonelick, Moses J,ong; Monroe, E. G. Brown; Ohio,
William B. Fitzpatrick; Washington, J arcd Lemar; Williams­
burgh, S. G. Peterson; Goshen, J.ewis Terwilliger; Union, John
S. Jenkins; Batavia, Abram Miley; .Miami, Elisha J. Emery.

In 1870 the following land assessors were chosen :.
B:ltavia, Daniel Kidd; WiJliamsburgh, H. IIardin; Monroe, L. D.

Purkiser.: Jackson, W. T.IIartman; Ohio, William B. Fitzpat­
rick; Wayne, Charles Jones; Union, Burroughs W. Teal; Goshcn,
N. F. Luckey; Tate, Samuel Callen; Washington, W. W. Man­
ning; Stouelick, Jacob Burns; Miami, A. M. Gutch; Franklin,
Enoch Reed; Pierce, Nathaniel Temple.

in 1880 the following were the land assessors (elected
in October, 1879):

Batavia, Thomas Brown; Williamsburgh, Joseph Jenkins; Tate, W.
W. Burk; Washington, Na.than S. Dehtno; Monroe, Ahrahnm
Bushman; Ohio, William B. Fitzpatrick; Pierce, Fernando C.
Butler; Ullion, Willialll Prickett; Miami, II. P. Brown; Goshen,
David R. Irwin; Wllyne, Sihts Muchmore; Stolleliek, Hczekiah
lIiII'; Jllcl,son, Willin.m Huntel·.

The first State "board of equalization, consisting. of one
member from each Congressional district, elected by joint
ballot of both Houses of the Legislature, assembled Dec.
17, 1825, and was in sessiou until Feb. 3, 1826, John
Bigger president. The member from the First District
(Clcrmont and Hamilton) was Elijah Hayward, afterwards
a judge of the Supreme Court, State librarian, and several
years private secretary of President Jackson. In 1836,
on January 2Gth, the ncxt State board met, and was in
session three weeks, Samuel Caldwell president, and the
member of the Fifth District (composed of Clermont,
.Adams, and Brown) was Benjamin Evans, of Brown
County. On Jan. 25, 1841, the third board, consisting of
one member from each senatorial district, appointed by the
Governor, convened, and the mcmber from Clermont was
Thomas J. Buchanan. The session lasted twenty-nine
days, David T. Disney president. The next State board
met Oct. 26, 1846, with ex-Governor Allen Trimble presi­
dent, and sat twenty-two days. The member from the
Clermont and Brown senatorial district was James Loudon,
of Georgetown. The next State board assembled Nov. 7,
1853, with James n. King, president, and on December
23d adjourned s£ne die. The member from the Clermont
and Brown district was Andrew L. Powell, of Felicity.
The next State board were in session in the winter of 1860
and 1861, and the member from Clermont and Brown
senatorial district was Jesse Dugan, of Higginsport. The
last State board convened on Nov. 7, 1870, and adjourned
March 9, 1871, its president being William S. Groesbeck,
of Cincinnati. This was a session of great importance to
the real-estate o\Vne~s of the State, and its action was
marked by careful scrutiny into the valuations returned by
the township and ward assessors. The member from Cler­
mont was 'WilIiam Uoudebush, representing the Clermout
and Brown senatorial district, who was one of its leading
workers, and, being a large lnnd-owner-the largest in
Clermont-and a practical agriculturist, was enabled to
have great influence with the board. Col. Roudebush's
labors proved of incalculable importance and benefit to the
property-holders and tax-payers of this county in not only
preventing the board making additions to the valuationli
returned to them, but in causing a reduction of a million
dollars on them.

CHAPTER XI.

. COMMISSIONERS' EARLY PROCEEDINGS-ESTAB­
LISHING THE FIRST ROADS-BUILDING BRIDGES
-HOW MATTERS WERE MANAGED THREE­
QUARTERS OF A CENTURY AGO.

UNDER the State government, which went into operation
in March, 1803, the board of county commissioners took
the place of the justices' Court of Quarter Sessions in the
management of the county's internal affairs, such as levy-
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ing taxes, paying and allowing bills, establishment of roads,
building of bridges, and, in short, all business pertaining
properly to the county's domestic affairs not specially con­
fided to the township authorities.

The first meeting was held on the first Monday of June,
1804, at the house of Nicholas Sinks, in WiJliamsburgh,
then 'the usual place of holding tho Courts of Common
Pleas in and for the county, and consisted of Robert Town's­
ley, George Conrad, and Amos Smith, p,lected at a special
election held in April previous. i'hey appointed Uoger W.
Waring their clerk, and then determined by l~t the time
for which respectively they should continue in office, which
resulted in fixing the term of Robert Townsley until the
ensuing October annual election, that of George Conrad
until the second succeeding annual election, and that of
Amos Smith until the third annual election, to wit, in Oc­
tober, 1806.

The.commissioners at this session allowed William Perry,
ex-sheriff, one hundred dollars payment in part of his con­
tract made with the associate judges for hauling stone to
build a court-house in Williamsburgh, to be paid ·out of the
money appropriated at August term of 1803 by the asso­
ciate judges for that purpose. Daniel Kain was allowed
thirty-six and one-half dollars as deputy sheriff and jailer
for diet, etc., furnished John Rowe oue hundred and four­
teen days while in jail charged with murder, and for one
tub and one padlock for the use of the jail j Daniel Kidd,
one dollar and fifty cents for killin~ an old panther on the
21st of October, 1803. Roger 'V. Waring, as clerk of
Common Pleas Court, in cases where the State failed in
prosecutions, where the criminals were insolvent, and for
fces in establishment of three public highways, received
twenty-four dollars and a half. John Dunham got three
dollars and seventy-five cents for services as supervisor of
part of Ohio township. Five dollars were appropriated to
buy a book for their proceedings, and twelve and a half to
Deputy Sheriff Daniel Kain for advertising William
McKinnis, who was committed to jail on suspicion of horse­
stealing, ~nd also for taking and guarding saia McKinnis
(on a writ of lta~eas cm'pus) from Williamsburgh to Leba­
non and attending the judge there. William H.ughes had
killed an old wolf, Dec. 31,1802, and was paid three dollars.
The following supervisors were given allowances for services
in charge of the highways: John McMeans, of Miami
township, for year 1802, eleven dollars and eighty-seven
and one-half centB j Edward Hall, of Pleasant, five dollars
(Fielding Feagans, of same township, failed to get his bill
for like services allowed) j Ezekiel Dimmitt, of Ohio, three
dollars and seventy-five cents. Thomas McFarland killed
an old wolf on January 22, 1804, and was granted one
dollar and fifty cents. i'he sheriff was appropriated twenty
dollars, his annual allowance named by law in cases where
the State failed in prosecution and when the criminals were
insolvent. Peter Light, for keeping an estray horse given
up to him by Joseph Jackson to sell while said Light was
sheriff, and for selling said horse,-it appearing that the said
Light had paid into the county treasury the whole amount
for which said horse was sold, without retaining his feo (a
thing never since heard of on the part of an official),-got
three dollars.. This was the entire doings of the first ses-

sion. Board again met July 23, 1804, and William Holmes
was granted fourteen dollars and twenty-nine cents, the
amount (deducting the treasurer's fees) which was paid
into the county treasury by the sher~ff for an estray horse
sold to Jasper Shotwell, which turned out to be the property
of said Holmes. Thomas Frost, supervisor of Miami, and
Adam Snider, of Williamsburgh, were respectively paid four
dollars and thirty-seven cents and ten dollars. There were
granted to Henry Chapman for returning poll-book of
Pleasant township, and Jeriah 'Vood that of Washington,
one dollar each. They bought. for five dollars a book to
keep the accounts against tIle treasurer and collector, and
made their settlement with Peter Light, collector of county
taxes for the year 1~02.

There were allowed (at August session of 1804) to Ed­
ward Sopp, for killing an old wolf, OctA, 1803, one dollar
and fifty cents j to Laben Ricords, for killing two wolves,
Oct. 3, 1803, and to Alexander Buchanan, for killing two,
Oct. 6, 1803, two dollars to each party. The. associate
judges were allowed for their services two dollars per day,
and paid j and, from the bills allowed, it seems the follow­
ing were the listers of lands and taxable property in the
various townships: Williamsburgh, Daniel Kain j Pleasant,
William 'Yhite j Ohio, Shadrach Lane j Miami, Joseph
Brown j 'Villiamsburgh, Robert Dickey j Ohio, David
Kelly. Nicholas Sinks got twenty dollars for a year's rent
of house in which to hold the courts. There were granted
for killing wolves,-to Jacob Burget (on Feb. 12, 1804),
one dollar and fifty cents j Christian Shingle, for an old .
wolf,. Nov. 8, 1803, one dollar and fifty cents j William
Stewart, one dollar and fifty cents j J aIm Mefford, one
killed Feb. 22, 1802, one dollar and fifty cents j Archibald
l\'IcLean, one killed Dec. 16, 1802; George Washburn,
an old and vicious one, three dollars j same for another on
Feb. 16, 1804 j John Lattimore, one killed.Oct. 16, 1804,
one dollar and fifty cents j Peter Frybarger, one killed,
Feb. 2, 1804, one dollar and fifty cents j and to Thomas
Davi8, for an old panther killed Aug. 1, 1804, and wolf'
July 30, three dollars.

Daniel Kain was appointed collector of county taxes,
and gave bonds, with James Kain and Samuel 'V. Davis
as securities. !toger W. Waring made out three duplicates
of the taxes on the lands of residents within the county,­
one for the collector, one for the auditor of state, an~ one
for commissioners,-and for all this work received forty­
eight dollars. Joshua Collet, for services as prosecuting
attorney for September term of 1803 in Supreme Court,
got twelve dollars, and Martinl.\1arshal, for like services at
June term of Common Pleas, twenty dollars. There was
given to Thomas E. Allen seven dollars and fifty-seven
cents for conveying, guarding, etc. (all expenses included),
John Rowe to jail, clta1'ged with tlte rnurde1" oj Mary

Malone. William Perry, late shel'iff, presented a claim of
sixty-four dollars and thirty-four cents, it being the amount
of a judgment obtained against him by Stephen Frazer in
an action for letting a cel'tain Andrew Cotterell escape on
rnesne lJ1'ocess, but said claim laid over.

Nov. 5, 1804,-present, George Conrad, Amos Smith,
and Amos Ellis,-the latter elected at October election
vice Townsley, whose time had expired,-J'ohn Shroof got
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three dollars for an old panther killed; Henry Sumalt"
same for two wolves; John Andcrson, for an old panther
killed Nov. 19,1804, one dollar and fifty cents; and John
'Yhite, for killing' an old wolf, Nov. 14, 1803, one dollar
and fifty cents; John Erwin, for guarding William Magin­
nis four nights in the jail, one dollar (twenty-five cents pel'
night; the guard probably slept with the prisoner) ; Hobert
Townsley took four dollars and a half for killing three old
wolves.

Fcbruary session, 1805, Henry Zumalt, for killing an old
wolf in 1805, Nicholas Prickett. one in 1804, one dollar
and a half each; and the latter waS allowed two dollars for
killing two young ones in 1802.

June term, 1805, Jacob Miller, for killing an old wolf,
Nov. 1, 1804, got one dollar and a half. The rates of
ta'vcrn licenses for ensuing year were established, to wit:
" In \YiIliamsburgh, eight dollars; in Bethel, six dollars;
in 'Yhite Haven, foul' dollars; in Staunton (now Ripley),
four dollars; and all other taverns four dollars. The ferries
were priced as follows: at Staunton (now Ripley), across
the Ohio per annum, two dollars; at 'Waters' ferry (now in
Brown), four; at Samuel Ellis' (now in Brown), above the
mouth of White Oak, one dollar and a half; at White
Haven, four dollars; at Boud's and Bolander's, four dolla~s

each; at the mouth of Bullskin, five dollars; at Machir's
ferry, two dollars; at or within one mile of Twelve-Mile
Creek, three dollars; and at all other ferries that may be
established across the Ohio River, two dollars. The rates
were fixed,-to wit, the highest rates allowed by law on all
the other waters within or bounden on this county,-for a
foot person six and quarter cents, and the full amount to
the extent of the law for all other ferriages. Joseph \Yood,
for killing one old wolf, Sept. 17, 1804, was allowed one
dollar and a half.

August term, 1805, Thomas Morris, for services as clerk
of the election for sheriff, and as judge of the annual elec­
tion, was allowed one dollar. Edward Doughty, Stephen
Parker, John Latimore, and Andrew Irwin were each al­
lowed one dollar fur killing wolves, all killed in May, June,
and July. The report of tlie viewers on the road from
Denhamstown to the mouth of Bullskin (viewers, Obed
Denham, James South, John Boggess, and John Conrey,
with Bouton Clark as surveyor) was approved, and the road
ordered opened. ,

November term, lR05, William S. Jump now appeared
as commissioner, elected in place of George Conrad. Upon
a petition of a number of inhabitants of the townships of
Pleasant. and Tate for viewers to view the way for a road
leading from Waters' road and beginning at or near the
still·hol/se of Daniel Feagans, running from thence by or
Dear Roney's mill, and from thence along the dividing
ridge betwe~n White Oak and Bullskin' Creeks, and to be

, continued on until it intersects 'Vaters' road at or ncar the
, plantation of Aaron Leonard, it was ordcrcd that Daniel

Feagans, Fielding Feagans, and James H.ounds (or any two
of them) view' the way as aforesaid, and Houton Clarke
~urvey the same, and that they make report thereof agree­
ably to law. On the proposed road beginning at the Indian
Hiffie on the Little Miami, and running from thence by
Silas Hutchinson's to Wilson's mil1s~ on the Obannon, it

was ordered that Joseph I-Iutchinson, 'l'heophilus Simonton,
and John Davies be the viewers, and that Owen Todd make
the survey. On the projected road from Williamsburgh by
the plantations of William Hunter and Christopher Hart­
man,'to interscct the State road ncar the latter's residence,
\Villiam Lytle, William Hunter, and llobert Dickey were
selected vicwers: and R W. 'Yaring surveyor. On the
road to be built from Denhamstown through the" Yankee'
Settlement" to Henry Zumalt's, on Whito Oak Creek, James
Houllds, Uobert Allen, and Houton Clarke woro the viewers,
the latter doing the surveying. One large lock and two
padlocks, at a cost of thirty-two dollars, were purchased for
the jail. David C. Bryan was allowed four dollars and
fifty cents for surveying the new road from \YiIliamsburgh
to the county-line on a direction to 'Yest Union, the viewcrs
of which were 'William 'Yardlow, Uallloth Bunting, and
John Lytle; chainmcn, Holand Boyd, Samuel Wardlow;
aild marker, Josiah Osborn; which road was ordered estab­
lished. The bond of Levi Hogers, sheriff-elect, was received
and approved, 'and contained the following securities,-Wil­
liam Smith, James Sargent, John Boultinghouse, Abraham
'Vood, .James South, John Sargent, George Brown, Wil­
liam Buchanan, John Wood, and David 'Vood, all solid
men of those days,-and was in the sum of four thousand
dollars. Upon a list returned by Alexander Hobb, a lister
of Ohio township, of a stud-horse belonging to Jacob Light

. (which said Light refused to list agreeably to law), stating
that said horse stood the season at the rate of three dollars,
it was ordered that said Light be taxed with the said stud­
horse fourfold, amounting to twelve dollars, and that he be
proceeded against for its immediate payment. The neces­
sity of laying before the public an accou~t of the receipts
and expenditures of the county since Junc, 1803, was
agreed upon. The commissioners stipulated to pay their
clerk fifteen dollars per annum, and ordered that all delin­
quent collectors appear before them by the first Tuesday of
the coming January to square up their receipts and make
exhibits of outstanding delinquencies.

January term, 1.806, R. W. 'Yaring, the old clerk to.the
board, having resigned, Amos Ellis, one of the board, was
elected in his place. Settled with the county treasurer,
Nicholas Sinks; found that he had properly accounted for
all moneys received by him, and found a. balance due him
of eighty dollars and thirty-nine cents. Settled with Alex­
ander Robb and Benjamin Sharp, collectors of Ohio and
Pleasant townships. Tavern licenses fixed as follows: In
Williamsburgh, eight dollars; in Bethel, four and one-half;
and in all other parts of the county, four. Ferry licenses
put at this schedule: At 'Vaters', White Haven, Boude's,
Bulander's, four dollars each; at Staunton, two; at Sam
Ellis', one and a half; at mouth of Bullskin, five; within
one mile of Twelve-Mile Creek, three; and at all other
places that ferries may be establilShed, two each. The fol­
lowing bounties were offered for the killing of wolves for
the ensuing year; for any wolf exceeding six months old,
two dollars: and any under that age, onc dollar. In pur­
suance of an act of the General Assembly, it was ordered
that the township listers collect the State and county tax
of 1806.

June term, 1806, settled with Andrew Jackson, late col-
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lector of vVashington township, and resolved that the listers
appear on the 30th and give security for their collections.
Joshua Manning, for listing vVashington township, received
twenty dollars, Josiah Boothby eighteen for that of Tate,
and Beujamin Sharp fifteen for that of Pleasant. ·William
Fee was allowed twelve dollars and seventy-two cents for
necessary irons purchased by him as county inspector.
Oliver Lindsey listed \Villiamsburgh township, and got
tWClity dollars therefur; and Joseph Bowman, M~ami, for
eighteen dullars.

SeptemLer term, 1806, allowed Henry Fitzpatrick and
William Beasley each two dollars for killing a wolf, and to

'William Lytle, postmaster of vVilliamsburgh, two dollars
and ten ccnts for postage on a duplicate of resident lands
in the county for the year 1806 and a letter accompanying
the same. Nicholas Sinks, John Erwin, Sr., and Samuel
Howell were appointed viewers, and David C. Bryan sur­
veyor, on the proposed road from the court-house in Wil­
liamsburgh, crossing the east fork by or near the house where
John Erwin, Sr., now lives; thence on a northwesterly
direction on the best ground until it intersects the road
leading from the house of James Kain towards Chillicothe.
On the proposed road beginning at Johns' mill, at or ncar
the Ohio River, to the Little Miami, at John Smith's mill,
John Vaneaton, William RoLb, and William ·Whitaker
were viewers, and John Hunter surveyor. An order was
issued to the supervisors of' Ohio township to open a road
fmm the branch of Shalor's Run to the county-line. Chris­
tian Long and William McK.inney took an order each for
two dollars for killing a wolf, with which they paid their
taxes. On the proposed road from the plantation of John
P. Shinkle, at the four-mile tree, in the Boude's Ferry and
\Villiamsburgh road, and to run intersecting the same road
near the" Yankee Settlement," Samuel Rounds, John P.
Shinkle, and Josiah Boothby were viewers, and John
Boude surveyor; and on the projected road from Boude's
Ferry to intersect the Cincinnati road at the mouth of
Bullskin Creek, Samuel Ellis, Robert Higgins, and Gabriel
Aikins were viewers, and Joseph Wells surveyor.

December term, 1806, there were allowed for killing
wolves: Jesse Gold, an old one, two dollars; Shadrach
Tribble, an old one, two dollars; Hugh Ferguson, an old
one, two dollars; Charles Ramsey, two young ones, two
dollars. There being objections to the report on the road
from Johns' mill, on the Ohio, to John Smith's mili, on
the J.Jittle Miami, John Donham, Robert l'ownsley, Jacob
·Whetstone, 'Villiam Christy, and Peter Emery were ap­
pointed to review it and settle the matter. Samuel B. K.yle
killed an old wolf, and took his two-dollar order. On the
road wanted from Jacob Light's residence, on the Ohio

.River, thence to Daniel Light's saw-mill, thence the nearest
and best way towards the "Round Bottom," John Don­
ham, 'Villiam Bennett, and Hodom Morin were viewers,
and Peter Light sUl'\'eyor. John Boggess, Henry Cuppee,
and Jacob Whinton were appointed viewers, and Houton
Clarke surveyor, to view the road from the Ohio River
opposite Stepstone to Bethel, also to view the way for a
road the nearest and best way from Bethel, to intersect the
Stepstone road near to Alexunder Buchanan's, and to see
if a nearer and better way from Buchanan's to Bethel can

be had. On the road wanted from Bethel to John Har­
mon's, John Boggess, 'Valen Williams, and William Win­
ters were viewers, and Houton Clarke surveyor. For killing
wolves, Samuel B. Kyle, William Glancy,. James Fitzpat­
rick, and Stephen Calvin were each allowed two dollars.
The bond of Jeremiah Beck, Jr., coroner-elect, ·was pre­
sented, being for two thousand dollars, with the foliowing
securities,-Kelly Burke and Sears Crane,-and the Rame
approved.

January term, 1807, as tIle reviewers on the road wanted
from Johns' will, on the Ohio, to John Smith's mill, on
the Little Miami, reported the damages of Samuel B.
Kyle to be two hundred and thirty dollars to his place, the
board considered it too much to pay, and refused to build
the road. Part of the Denhamstown road, from a branch
of Shaylor's Run to Hamilton county-line, was vacated.
The road from Williamsburgh to John Legate's farm by way
of Thompson's mills was ordered to be surveyed by Josephus
Waters, with John Mefford, Henry Chapman, u.nd Jose­
phus 'Vaters as viewers. Absalom Brooks received two
dollars for killing a wolf. A road was asked from Tat­
man's old road, at Henry 'Vise's improvement, tilI it inter­
sected the road at the cross-roads, and \Villiam Fee, Con­
rad Metzgar, and Benjamin Sells were viewers, and Joseph
Wells surveyor.

March term, 1807, Peter. Light, Isaac Higby, and Jo­
seph Dole, as viewers, alld the first named as surveyor, were
ordered to view the way for a rpud ·from or near the mouth
of Clover Lick Creek to the mouth of .Indian Creek.
Upon a petition of a number of inhabitants of the town­
ships of Williaml:;burgh and Tate, praying that viewers
might be appointed to view a way for a road beginning
neal' the house of Dr. ABison, fmID thence up the cast
fork, passing near the house of George Ely, thence the
nearest and best way to the house of J oh.n Collins, thence
passing near MeCollum·s and Higby's saw-mill on the
nearest and best ground until it intersects the road leadin~

from Williamsburgh to the mouth of Twelve-Mile Creek,
Ezekiel Dimmitt, Jacob Sly, and Daniel Husong were
chosen viewers, and David C. Bl'yan surveyor. (This is
the old, and partly the present, road from Stonelick via
Batavia to Bantam.) On the road wished from Isaac
Higby's mill to "Goshen meeting-house," Peter Light,
Shadrach Tribble, and Absalom Brooks were viewers, with
the first named as surveyor.

June term, 1807, a road was desired from 'WiBiamsburgh
to intersect the Cincinnati road at "Two-Mile Tree," with
D. C. Bryan, Daniel Kidd, and: Adam Snider as viewers,
the first to make the survey. Henry Dunn was allowed
two dollars fur killing a wolf, and James Dunn·four dollars
for killing two wolves. Ferry licenses were regulated, to
wit: At· White Haven, Boud's, Bolander"s, each three
dollars; at mouth of Bullskin, four; at all other places
on the Ohio, two; and at any ferries that are or may be
established on the Little Miami, or any others of the waters
in the county, one dollar and fifty cents. Tavern licenses
werc scheduled, to wit: In Williamsburgh seven, and at all
other places four, dollars. The bounties on wolves were
fixed same as previous year. For killing five young wolves,
John Mitchell got five dollars; Enoch tiest for killing one,
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one dollar; and Thomas Allen for killing an old one that
had seriously disturbed the settlements, two dollars. Lewia
township (now in Brown) was organized, extending from
the east end of 'Vashington township, of which it was a
part, to Bullskin Creek. John Rowe, who was in jail for
alleged murdering of 1\1ary Malone, had escaped, and two
dollars were allowed to Nicholas Sinks for taking an ex­
press to Cincinnati to the printer's to get posters struck
of poor John's escape.

August term, 1807, Shadraeh Tdbble, for killing one
old and two young wo.lves, was allowed four dollars; Jacob
Ulrey, for three young ones, three dollars; James Whit­
aker, un old one, two dollars; and Edward Doughty
and John Miller, the same each.

September term, 1807, for killing wolves, William Boyd­
ston and Thomas John received two dollars each; also
Jmlles 'Yaits. On the proposed road from the mouth of
the middle fork of Bull:>kin towards Bethel, Nathan Tat­
man, William Judd, and Joseph Wells were chosen viewers,
-the latter to make the survey. Settled with Nicholas
Sinks, county tremmrer, and found five hundred and fi\"e
dollars and twenty-seven cents in the treasurer's hands all
right. An order was issued to the supervisors of Tate and
'Vashington townships to open a road fl'Om Bethel to or near
Alexander Buchanan's, opposite the mouth of Stepstone.
Nicholas Sinks, county treasurer, gave bond in sum of
three thousand dollars, with William Hunter and Hobert
Townsley as securities. . John Arnold and others, for stand­
ing guard at the prison, were allowed three dollars.

December term, 1807, a road was wanted beginning on
the State road near Bullskin, through the settlements on
Bear Creek and Indian Creek, crossing the latter at Brown's
mill, till it intersected the State road at Witham's Settle­
ment, and 'Villiam Barkley, David Colglazer, and John
Heeves were appointed viewers, and Joseph Jackson sur­
veyor. On the road wished from Bethel to Jacob Light'S,
on the Ohio Ri\-er, Hhodam Morin, Stephen Frazee, and
Houton Clarke were selected as viewers, the latter to
do the surveying. For killing wolves there were allowed:
Hatley Sapp, two dollars j Shadrach Tribble, four; Samuel
Doughty, two; Libbeus Day, one; Jacob Ulrey, two;
Joseph Moore, two; John Crist, John Wray, two.

January term, 1808, Samuel English (who was the fifer
in Col. Lewis Cass' regiment in the war of 1812, and died in
Chilo, of this county, in 1865), for guarding the jail over
Caldwell and Handley from December 24th to January 29th,
was allowed thirty-nine dollars and thirty-seven cents.

March term, 1808, Ezekiel Howard, J"ohn "'tVeeks, and
1\1oses 'Vood were each allowed two dollars for killing
an old wolf. Levi Hogers, being re-elected sheriff, gave
baud in the sum of four thousand dollars, with the follow­
ing securitie.s: John 'Vhite, Henry Willis, Jeremiah Beck,
Jr., and William South. Shadmch Tl'ibble, Thomas Pat­

"terson, and Michael Cowley each got two dollars for killing
an old wolf; Jeremiah Beck, coroner, was allowed four
dollars and ten cents for services in holding an inquest (the
first of record in the county) on the body of a dead child,
alleged to have been killed by Jane Hamilton. John
Wardlaw, for killing an old wolf, got two dollars.

May term, 1808, for killing wolves, there were allowed

to 'Villiam Hart.man two dollars; Joseph Glancy, same;
Jacob Burget, four dollars; 'Villiam Glone, same.

June term, 1808, Moses 'Vood ki1led an old wolf, and
got t,wo dollars. Tavern licenses fixed for the year: In
'Villiumsburgh, eight dollars; in Bethel, six j and at all
other points, four. A road was wanted from Ferguson's
ferry towards Deerfield, by way of Dr. Allison's; Shadrach
J.Jane, Abel Denham, and James Townsley were the viewers,
the latter to make the survey. On the proposed road from
Zachariah Chapman's, on the State road from Holley's mill
through the "Apple Settlement" till it intersected the
county road ncar 1\11'. Fairchild's, on the east fork, Nicholas
Pricket, Henry Davis, and Joseph Shaylor were the viewers,
and Daniel F. Barney the surveyor. 'Yilliam Wardlow and
Fielding Feagans, each for killing two old wolves, received
four dollars, and Jacob and Aaron Burget, for killing an
old one, got two dollars apiece. On the proposed altera­
tion of the 'Villiamsburgh and Newtown road, beginning
where the Denhamstown road forked near Nathan Sutton's,
and from thence to the Hamilton county-line, John Day,
Peter Ji~mery, and Samuel Lane were the viewers, and
Jame.; Townsle.y surveyor. Ferry licenses for ensuing year
were fixed as follows: At Waters' or Keuek's, 'White
Haven, three dollars; Boude's, Bolander's, at mouth of
Bullskin, four dollars; at all other places on the Ohio
where ferries may be established, two dollars; and at any
ferry on the Little Miami, or other waters in the county,
one dollar and a half. The rates of bounties on wolves
were scheduled as year before. James Perine was allowed
twelve dollars, and Thomas Foster a like sum, for guarding
the jail over Caleb Wright for twelve days, and Joseph
Haines four dollars for iron-work done for the confinement
of prisoners.

August term, 1808, David Brunk and Thomas Patter­
son received two dollars each for killing an old wolf. The
associate judges, Philip Gatch, John Morris, and Ambrose
Ransom, were each allowed six dollars for a three days'
called court in cases of John Clark and Mordecai S. Ford.
(The latter was convicted of horse-stealing, and publicly.
whipped therefor by the sheriff; he died shortly after, and
was the first man buried in the. Calvary Graveyard, in
'Vashington township.) John Graham and Samuel Glenn,
for guarding jail, got a dollar each; also Josiah Osborn
and James 'Vilson, for like services, five dollars each.
Horse-thieves gave the authorities great trouble, as we find
Amos Smith got one dollar and seventy-five cents for iron­
work to secure the prisoners in jail. Sheriff Oliver Lind­
sey received twelve dollars and sixty-two cents for diet for
Handley, Clark, and Ford at one time, four dollars and
seventy-two cents at another, and a dollar for cleaning the
jail. Most of these horse-thieves were transient persons,.
but Mordecai S. Ford owned a farm in the Buchanan Set­
tlement.

'September term, 1808, Timothy Rariden, for killing five
young wolves near New Richmond, received five dollars.
Ezekiel Ball, for apprehending and delivering to the jailer
of this county agreeably to the advertisement of the sheriff
the bodies of Mordecai S. Ford and J obn Clark, seventy­
three dollars; so it appeared, after all the guarding, night
and day, of the jail, its inmates escaped and put the au-
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thorities to great annoyance and costs. On the proposed
road beginning where the Cinr:innati road crosses Sh3ylor's
Uun, so as to intersect the State road two and a half miles
eastward of Moses Broadwell's place,. Ezekiel Dimmitt,
Peter Emery, and James Townsley were vicwers,-the
latter to make the survey,-who were likewise to view the
way for a road from the" Nine-Mile Tree," on the Cincin­
nati road, to intersect the same three-fourths of a mile dis­
tant. It was petitioned to build a road beginning in the
State road leading from the Little Miami to 'Vest Union,
near where the Denhamstown road takes off near the
"'Vitham's Settlement," and from thence as near as the
t1'ace as was then traveled would admit, until it intersected
the State road leading from Cincinnati to Chillicothe, and
Jacob Teal, Daniel Kirgan, and Daniel F. Barney were the
viewers, the latter to do the surveying. For killing wolves
there were paid to John Warren, two dollars; Nicholas

.Prickett, four; and John Bridgps, two. John Earhart,
for repairing jail, got one dollar; and Samuel Engli:>h, for
guarding the jail nine days and nights, nine dollars, and for
securing the prisoners Clark and Ford in the jail, two dol­
lars and twenty-five cents. On the proposed road, begin­
ning at or near Samuel Ellis', on the road from Williams- .
burgh to Twelve-Mile Creek, and the road leading from
'Villiamsburgh to Bullskin, the viewers were Joseph Dole,
Samuel Nelson, and Thomas Page, and Alexander Blair
the surveyor. There was paid James Willson, for guarding
the jail over Ford and Clark, twelve dollars, and Amos
Smith, for irons made to secure Mordecai S. Ford in the
jail, ten dollars. Settled with the county treasurer, and
found him indebted to the county in sum of one hundred
and fift.y-three dollars and fifty-nine cents.

October term, 1808, Enoch Gest, for killing an old wolf,
received two dollars. Clark township (now in Brown
County) was organized, and extended from Washington,
Tate, and Lewis townships to the Highland and Adams
county-lines. John Charles furnished nine benches for
jury-rooms and fixed two jail windows, and was paid nine
dollars. An order was issued to Richard Hall, Ezekiel
Leming, and David Roudebush to view a way for a road
from Milford to intersect the road leading from 'Villiam
Smalley's mill, on Todd's Fork, Conduce Gatch to make
the survey. Stephen Smith and others, for guarding the
jail the night of October 13th, three dollars and fifty cents.
.John Dennis got two dollars and twenty cents for under­
pinning the jail and repairing irons to secure the prisoners.
Stephen Smith and others guarded the jail ~he night of the
20th, and were paid therefor the sum of three dollars and
fift.y cents. For extra guarding of jail, Jacob Ulrey re­
ceived twenty-five cents, and Josiah Osborn two dollars.

December term, 1808, Henry Chapman (of Pleasant
township) appeared as commissioner in place of William S.
Jump, whose term had expired. For killing wolves there
were paid \Villiam Fletcher, two dollars; Joseph Calvin,
same sum; Charles Johnston, same sum; John Gest, same
sum; James Waits, same sum; George Sheke, same sum;
Shadrach Tribble, same sum; Joseph 1\1oore, six dollars
(for three old ones); 'Villiam Fletcher, four dollars (two
old ones); Vincent Wood, two dollars; Thomas South,
same sum j and Josiah Prickett, same sum.

February term, 1809, there were allowed for wolf-killing,
Ichabod Willis and Peter Waits, each two dollars.

March term, 1809, for wolf-killing there were paid John
Bridges, .four dollars; John Godfrey, same sum; Daniel
South and Robert Wright, each two dollars. To view the
amendment to the road leading from mouth of Bullskin to
Cincinnati, near Stout's, or between there and Twelve-Mile,
Alexander Buchanan, Hugh Ferguson, and Rhodam .Morin
were appointed viewers, and Philip Nichols the 8urveyor.

June term, 1809, Allen 'Vood, coroner-elect". presented
his bond in the S:nID of two thousand dollars, with Nathan
'Voods, John Arnold, and John Davis as securities; same
was approved and ordered to be recorded. Stephen Smith,
for repairing jail, received one dollar and a half. Tavern
licenses for ensuing year were priced, to wit: At Williams­
burgh, eigllt dollars; Bethel and l\1ilford, six; and at all
other points, four. -Ferry licenses were put as follows: At
mouth of Red Oak (now in Brown Cou!1ty), Waters',
Samuel Ellis', White Haven, and Bolander's, three dollars;
at Boude's, six; at Bullskin, four; at all other ferries that
may be established on the Ohio, two dollars; and at all
points on Little l\liami or other waters in the county, one
dollar and fifty cents. Same bounties as before continued
on wolves,-that is, two dollars for wolves over six months
old, and one for those under that age.. For killing wolves
there were paid John Hall, Christian Long, Benjamin
Fisher, two dollars each; Hugh ,Ferguson, eight dollars;
and James Fee, and Greenberry Lakin, one dollar each.
On the proposed road from Danby's mill to intersect the
Williamsburgh and Twelve-Mile road where it crosses the
east fork, nearly opposite Clover J.lick Creek, the viewers
were 'Villiam Johnston, George Higby, and Isaac Higby,
with David C. Bryan as surveyor.

September term, 1809, for killing wolves there were paid:
John Morris, one dollar; Andrew Frybarger, one dollar;
Joseph Moore, two dollars. On the proposed road from H ar­
ner's Run, in Miami township, across the mill ford to
Stonelick, the viewers were Richard Hall, Josiah Prickett,
and William Glone, and Zu<.:hariah Tolliver the surveyor.
John Kain and John Boyd, for guarding jail over John
Mureat, June court, received two dollars. Settled with
Nicholas Sinks, county t~eusurer, and found the county
indebted to him one hundred and twenty dollars and fifty­
seven cen ts.

October term, 1809, James Garland, for killing an old
wolf, got two dollars. On the road wanted in Miami town­
ship fromClll'istian ·Waldswith's mill up Humer's Run to
the school-house (the first school-house mentioned in Cler­
mont records), past Jacob Long's, crossing the Williamsburgh
road to "the Widow Roudebush's," the viewers were Rich.
ard Frazee, Andrew Shederly, and Robert Hewitt, and Con­
duce Gatch the surveyor. John Charles fixed the fireplaces
in the court-house and whitewashed its walls for seven
dollars.

November term, 1809, paid Dunhem McCoy eight and
one-half dollars for guarding the jail over James Black, and
eight dollars to Adam Snider for like services. Oliver
I ..indsey, sheriff, elected at the OClober election, presented
his official bond in the penal sum of four thousand dollars,
with the following securities,-Thomas Paxton, Samuel
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Bayed, and T. S. Foote,-which was duly approved, and
Thomas Morris, of Bethel, then one of the Supreme judges
of the State of Ohio, admiuistcred to the new sheriff the
solemn oath of office, being the olll!J official act on 1'eco1'd
of Judge Morris, who was the next winter (two months
after) legislated out of office.

December term, 1809, the board appointed Dauiel Kain
its clerk. l?or kilJiug wolves there were paid: John
Bridges, four dollars ; John Hamilton, two; Theophilus
Simonton, two; John Gest, six; Peter Fronk, one; Charles
BauIll, one; J oab \Yoodruff, two; James Henderson, two;
Jacob Frazee, two; Charles Waits, two; .Jaeob \Vaits, two.

February term, 1810,Levi Rogers having in the summer
of 1809 resigned his office of sheriff, the coroner, Allen
\Vood, filled out the remaining six months of his term, and
for extra services was paid twenty dollars.

1.\1arch term, 1810, for killing wolv,es there were paid:
James Ellis, two dollars; John Osborn, same; John
Bridges, same. On the proposed road from Williamsburgh
to the" salt-works," on the east fork, occupied by Peter
\Vilson, there were appointed as viewers Daniel Kain, Ra­
moth Bunting, and Charles \Vaits (the great wolf-killer and
hunter), with David C. Bryan as surveyor.

June term, 1810, for wolf-killing there were paid: Peter
Harden, two dollars; \Villiam Davis, five; William Glone,
six; William Smith, two; John Waits (panther), two. On
the road wanted beginning near Thomas Robinson's, on the
State road, near the east fork, leading down said stream past
Samuel Fountain's and" Major Shaylor's," and continued
on to the county-line near the " Round Bottom mills," the
viewers appointed were Jacob 1.'eal, Jacob Voorhies, and
J aeob Whetstone (three Jacobs), with Daniel F. Barney as
surveyor.

August term, 1810, for killing wolves Timothy Raridin
got six dollars for six young ones, and two dollars for an old
one. John Earhart made the clerk of the court a book­
case for twelve dollurs, and John BOj'd, for iron-work to
confine the prisoners in jail, received thirteen dollars and
sixty cents.

September term, 1810, on the proposed road beginning
at John Troy's, on "Stone Run," passing Townsley's and
l\JcClelland's mill to the" Deei'field road," the viewers
were Conrad Harsh, Robert Lane, and Samuel Kilbreath,
with James Townsley as surveyor. To view the way for a
road beginning at "old Mr. Apple's lane," thence by
" Stony Run," past Richard Doughty's and Charles Rob­
inson's, to intersect the Denhamstown road, the viewers
were Richard Doughty, Joseph Dole, Ezekiel Dimmitt,
with James Townsley as surveyor. Joseph J.Jeming, for
killing an old wolf, received two dollars, and R W. Waring,
clerk, for extra services in a called court on cases of Jane
Hamilton, William 'l'homas, Yanger Prickett, etc., received
fifteen dollars and eighty cents. David C. Bryan, road com­
mis&ioner on the road leading from the county-line between
the counties of Highland and Clermont, and from thence t~

Milford, was paid fifty-three dollars and seventy-four cents.
November term, 1810, Oliver Lindsey, sheriff, fur taking

and victz,taling Will. Thomas in jail, got twenty-six dollars,
and for sundry service in furnishing firewood, candles, etc.,
at Supreme Court session, three dollars. -

December term, 1810, on the proposed road from \vhm'e
Apple's road intersects the State road until it intersects the
road from Clover J.Jick Creek to the mouth of Indian
Creek, between the six- and seven-mile tree, crossing
1'welve-l\lile Creek near Jacob Fisher's, the viewers were
Nathan Morgan, George Brown, and Joseph Dole, and
Joseph Jackson the surveyor. For the road reached
from" three forks of Nine-Mile Creek" to \Villiam Reece's,
the viewers were John Dunham, Isaiah Ferguson, and
Rhodam Morin, with Philip Nichols as surveyor. Benja­
min Hess (afterwards the notorious counterfeiter of Bear
Cl'eek) was paid two dollars for killing an old wolf. On
the road prayed for from near Henry Fitzpatrick's, near
the mouth of Ten-l\1ile Creek, and up same till it intm'­
sects the Williamsburgh road, the viewers were Shadruch
Dial, Joseph Dole, and .Joseph Jackson, the latter acting
as surveyor also.

March term, 1811, James Kain was allowed two dollars
for use of a room, with fires, for the board. Joseph Cal­
vin, for killing three old wolves, was paid six dollars.

April term, 1811, John Earhart, for making two boxes
for the jury-ballots (?), was paid a dollar and a half.

June term, 1811, on the proposed road beginning at or
ncar Samuel Beck's, passing Kelly Burk's mill, to intersect
the road leading from Williamsburgh to the mouth of " Big
Indian Creek," the viewers were J aIm Boggess, Thomas
'West, and Joseph Jackson, the latter to make the survey.
On the road wanted from month ot' Stonelick through
"Gbncy's Lane" and by Joseph Moore's, and up Stone­
lick as fur as " McKinney's old improvement," the viewers
were 'William Glancy, Josiah Prickett, and Joseph Moore,
with Zachariah Talliafero as surveyor. Settled with county
treasurer Nicholas Sinks, and found him indebted to the
county three hundred and seventy-two dollars and fifteen
cents. The board appropriated thirty-five dollars for the
purpose of building a bridge across a branch of " Clover
Lick Creek," on the State road, between George and Peter
Light's, under the superintendence of George Light, which
was the first bridge built in Clermont by the county au­
thorities, as the records indicate. Tavern licenses for fol­
lowing year were thus rated: at Williamsburgh, eight
dollars; at Bethel and 'i\lilford, fiv~; at all other points,
four. Ferry licenses were priced, to wit: at Red Oak,
Sell's, three dollars; at Samuel Ellis', two; at Boude's,
fi ve; at Bullskin, four; at all other places, if established
on the Ohio, two dollars; and at all places on the Little
Miami, one dollar and a half. Daniel Kain was appointed
to procure a hal'f-bushel agreeable to the act "Entitled au
Act for ·Regulating Measures."

September term, 1811, on the projected road from Bethel
passing through the plantation of Okey Vanosdol and by
Levi and Benjamin Tingley's .e tan-yard" (the first noted on
the county records), thence ncar a school-house (the second
noted on the county records), by John Ross' to the east
side of Thomas Davis', the viewers were Jeremiah Beck,
Jr., John Morris, and Thomas West, with John Bogges as
surveyor. On the road wanted from Williamsburgh past
John Charles' mill, on Stonelick, to intersect the road lead­
ing from Todd's Fork to Milford, the viewers were
Josiah Prickett, John Kain, and Hugh Dickey, with
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James 'fowns1ey as the surveyor. On the road wished
from "Nevillesville" up the river-bottom to "Willow
Creek,'.' past James Sargent's mill, and still up the creek
between Matthew Boner's and George Botts', by " Hope­
well Meeting-House," until on a dividing-line of survey
northeast it intersects the State road leading from the
'mouth of Bullskin to the county-seat at Williamsburgh, the
viewers were Jonathan Taylor, Joseph :McKibben, and
Alexander Buchanan, with James Sargent as surveyor.
The foregoing were also ordered to view the way for a road
from "NevillesviJIe" so as to intersect the Stepstone road
near Andrew Buchanan's. For the alteration of the road
from l\Iilfol·dto "Smalley's mill" the viewers appointed were
Joseph Bowman, Alexander Hughey, and Andrew Erwin.

December term, 1811, appeared Gideon Minor, com­
missioner elected at the October election in place ot' Henry
Chapman, whose term had expired. James O. Flint's bill
of. sixty-four dollars and thirty-seven und a half cents for
repairing the court-house Was allowed. 1,'he report of the
viewers-Frederick Eppert, Edward· Chapman, and Joseph
Behymer-on the alteration of the \Villiamsburgh road
through the lands of Joseph Fagin was confirmed. James
Ralston, as court bailiff for April term, was allowed two
dollars and a half, and William Shearer, for like services
at the succeeding term, six dollars. John Kain, for appre­
hending Theophilus Case, was paid three dollars.

:March term, 1812, William Fee, for procuring the neces­
sary "branding-irons," agreeably to the direction of the
court, to be used bJ him as inspector, was allowed nineteen
dollars, and James Herbert, jailer, for boarding David Fer­
guson ninety-four days in jail, received twenty-three dollars
and fifty ceuts. Ou the proposed road beginning near the
mouth of Indian Creek, thence up the same, passing
"Abram's mill," thence near John Lowe's plantation, by
that of John Klingler, and between Stephen Frazee and
Peter McClain, and passing Thomas Carter, to intersect
the county road near Kelly Burk's mill, Thomas l\'Iarsh,
John Boggess, and John Lowe were the viewers, with
Boggess as surveyor. On the proposed road from Nevilles­
ville up Willow Creek, William Fee, Peter Hastings, George
Botts, Erasmus Prather, and Zadock 'Vatson filed their
statement that they would thereby ne gl'eatly injured; the
following were appointed to assess their damages: Joseph
'Veils, David Miller, and Stephen Bolander. Samuel
Howell, for furnishing a blanket for Graham in jail, was
paid one dollar and seventy-five cents. The duplicate this
year showed as follows:

First-rnte lands......... .•..•. 3,501:! acres.
Second-rate lands 125,501 "
Third-rate lunds. ..•.•....... 46,05:3k "
Amount of tuxes in county.................. $165U.16z

Isaac Foster, constable, for attending on the travel'se jury
at the December term, was allowed two dollars and twenty­
five cents. The board believing that James Lewis, con­
fined in the jail, is an unworthy burden to the county,
therefore it is ordered that the sheriff discharge him.

April term, 1812, the bond of Sheriff Oliver Lindsey,
re-elected, and in the su'm of four thousand dollars, was
presented, with the following secul'ities,-Thomas Paxton,
George Ely, John F. Strother, William Christy, and T. S.·
Foote,-and was approved.

11

June term, 1812, fourteen dollars and seventy-five cents
was allowed jailer Herbert for boardin~ in jail Benjamin
Legate and James Allen. On the application of Andrew
Megrue to alter the road leading fr~m Milford, passing
Ranson's, and the road leading from Harner's Run to
Stonelick, near "Captain Slone's," the following viewers
were selected: Ambrose Ranson, Nathaniel Barber, and
John Gest. On the Nevillesville and Willow Creek road
the .viewers gave Erasmus Prather five dollars damages,
'WiIliam Fee eleven dollars and sixty-two and one-half
cents, Peter Hasting thirteen dollars and twenty-five cents,
but awarded none to Zadock Watson or George Botts.
Established tavern and ferry licenses at rates of previous
year.

August term, 1812, one dollar was allowed for board of
Richard S. Sanburn in jail.

December term, 1812, on the proposed road in Washing­
ton township beginning near Jacob Fisher's, ,!here a road
from the State road ends, passing by John Flack's planta­
tion, through Henry Cuppy's land and Thompson Gates,
thence to " Gilbert's horse-mill," thence to intersect Man­
ning's and Minor's road, thence with said road to intersect
the State road between William Watson's and the" Widow
Harmon," \Villiam Thompson, David Smith, and Peter
1\1cClain were chosen viewers, and Joseph Jackson sur­
veyor. On the petition to turn the road leading from the
"Middle Fork of Bullskin," the vie)vers were William S.
Jump, David Miller, and Isaac Barkley.

March term, 1813, on the alteration of the Neville road
past" Hopewell Meeting-House," the viewers were John
Prather, Hugh Larkin, and. James Sai-gent. On the pro­
posed road in Washington township leading from or near
William \Vinter's, thence to "Wiley's saw-mill," thence
to "George Brown's mill," thence to intersect the road
leading from the mouth of Big Indian 'creek, near James
Abrams, the viewers were John Manning, Thomas Fee,
and Robert Brown, with Benjamin Penn as surveyor. On
the road wanted from" Clark's mill," on Bullskin, till it
intersected the Bolander road between Mark Day's and
:Michael Conley's, the ~iewers were Stephen Bolander, 'Vil­
liam Judd, and Allen B. Hughes, with the latter as sur­
veyor. The rates of lands for 1813 were as follows:

Acres.
First-rate lauds................................. 3,652
Second" ".•....•.. 131,973
Thil'd " .••..••.. ..•..••. ..••.••.• 48,!l27i
Amount of taxes in county $1638.41

For boarding Samuel Henry one hundred days in jail
there was allowed twenty-five dollars. The official bond of
Jeremiah Beck as coroner was presented, being in amount
two thousand dollars, with the following securities: Samuel
Beck and James South.

Junc term,'18I3, the rates of tavern licenses and ferries
were put as in two previous years. The following were the
listers of taxable property in the county this year: Miami,
Robert Hewitt; Union, Laban Brazier; Washington,
Henry H. Evans; Williamsburgh, John Earhart; Ohio,
Joseph Evans; Tate, Samuel Beck; Lewis, Reuben Ba­
ring; Pleasant, Benjamin Griffin; Stonelick, John Whort­
man; Clark, Thomas Myers; who were also appointed by
the commissioners to collect the tuxes.
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July term, 1813, John McBeth, for surveying a road
from" Widow Shinkle's" to "Chapman's mill," on 'White
Oak, was allowed thirteen dollars and eighty cents.

September term, 1813, on the proposed roads from Ne­
ville to mouth of Indian Creek, and one to the Ohio HiveI'
at low water from the" Neville public square," the viewers
were Hugh McKibben, Nathaniel BouseI', and Alexander
Buchanan. On the projected Stonelick road, Levi :Moore,
John I?ee, and Richard Marsh were chosen viewers, and
Samuel Hill surveyor, to begin at John Moore's, at a road
running from Townsley's mill to Richard Hall's, down
"Brushy Fork," passing down Stonelick by Jonathan
Smith's farm, thence to the foot of a hill by David Brunk's
fimn, there to intersect the Milford road. Samuel Shaw,
jailer, for boarding Reuben Darrel, u prisoner, was allowed
one dollar und seventy-five cents. Daniel Kain was ordered
to raise the chimney on the court-house to prevent the fires
fi'om being dangerous, and to secure the floor in the clerk's
office with sheet iron and a circular bar to prevent any con­
flagrations by fire. On the prayed-for roads,-one from
Bethel, to a branch that puts into" Poplar Creek" above
"Obed Denham's mill-dam," thence down said branch to
the creek, thence to "Denham's mill," one from the mouth
of' "Sugar-l'ree Run" up to the State road leading from
\Villiamsburgh to the mouth of Indian Creek, near the
mouth of" Thomas Page's lane," and one to begin at Kelly
Burk's mill, to intersect the first-mentioned road at Den­
hum's mill-dam,-the viewers were John Brown, William
Brown, and William Smith, and John Boggess surveyor.

October term, 1813, Levi Pigman, elected commissioner
in place of Amos Smith, whose term had expired, appeared,
and was sworn in. Foot & Tweed, for printing the expen­
ditures of the county for year ending June 13, 1813, were
allowed six dollm·s. The following grand jurors were or­
dered to be paid each two dollars and twenty-five cents:
Isaac Ellis, Daniel Light, Jesse Justice, Reuben Leacock;
Benjamin Smith, Abraham IJeming, Nathaniel Barber,
Jesse Smith, Joshua Davis, Luther Crane, William White,
John Morris, Andrew l\IcGrue, and John McLeadder.
The official bond of George Ely, sheriff, in sum of four
thousand dollars, with Robert Townsley, John Townsley,
Thomas Cade, and Oliver Lindsey as securities, wa~ pre­
sented, approved, and recorded.

December term, 1813, prison-bounds of the jail for debtors
were fixed.

March term, 1814, fixed the license for ferries over the
cast fork at fifty cents, and the ferriage rates as follows:
For man and horse in high water, twelve and a half cents;
for a foot-person, six and a quarter cents. Nicholas Sinks,
for building a bridge (the second in the county) RCross
"Little Stirling Creek," ten dolim's. On the petition
praying for an'alteration of the road laid out from Augusta

. on a direction towards Franklinton (now part of Columbus,
Ohio), to begin near" Three-Mile Tree," thence south on
the ridge between White Oak and Bullskin, to intersect the
\Yilliamsburgh road near "First-Mile Tree," the viewers
were Henry Thomas, Nathaniel Norris, and John Ross,
and Joseph 'Wells surveyor. Jeremiah Beck, coroner, for
inquest held on the body of John Edmonds, was allowed
fifteen dollars and ninety.three cents;-the second inquest

on the county records. On the proposed road from near
Zachariah Chapman's, on the north side of the east fork,
thence, after intersecting Williamsburgh road, up "Full
Grape Run" to the southwest corner of Jonathan Clark's
survey, .passing Jones' survey, intersecting the Obannon
road from Milford to'Varren County, the viewers were
Benjamin Collins, Michael Swing, and Andrew Megrue,
and Thomas Gatch surveyor. For the year 1814 the
lands were rated, to wit:

Acres.
First-rate lnnds......... a,533
Second-rate Innds............................. 149,3!1l!
Third-rate lands...... 4S,lS!l~

Amount. of taxes Sli!l3.4;{

May term, 1814, for boarding Joseph Knott nine days
in jail, there was allowed two dollars and twenty-five cents.

June term, 1814, Nicholas Sinks, county treasurer,
presented his official bond in the sum of three thousand
dollars, with Jacob nuber and John Norris securities; ap­
proved and filed. Ferry licenses were rated for the year
as follows: on the Ohio Rh'er, at Staunton (mouth of Red
Ouk), six dollars; at Sells', at Samuel Ellis', at Neville,
three dollars; at Boude's, eight dollars; at Bullskin, four
dollars; at all others to be established, three dollars; and
at all places where ferries are or may be established on the
I.Jittle Miami or east fork, two dollars. Tavern licenses
were rated, to wit: In 'Williamsburgh and Bethel, eight dol­
lars; and all other points, six dollars. Ordered the clerk
to the board to make out the levy on the county duplicates
at the rate of twelve cents for each horse (studs excepted)
and four cents per head of cattle, and on stud-horses at the
rate each stands at the season for one mare.

September term, 1814, on the proposed road from the
mouth of Sugar-Tree Run to the mouth of Boat Run,
on the Ohio River, the viewers were Joseph Doly, George
Brown, and Josiah Kerns, and Joseph Jackson surveyor.
On the road wanted beginning at ]~zekiel Hutchinson's,
thence until it intersects "Anderson's State road" at the
east fork, the viewers chosen were Thomas S. Foote, Amos
Smith, and George C. Light, the latter to act also as the
surveyor.

November term, 1814, five dollars were appropriated to
pay the board of \Yray and Case; prisoners in jail.

December term, 1814, on the proposed road beginning
near Duckwall's farm, about six miles from Williamsburgh,
thence down the river-hill to the lower fork of the east fork,
crossing from George Ely's farm, the~ce crossing the creek,
and from the creek to intersect' the road near the house
of Joseph Gest, deceased, the viewers were Daniel Kidd,
Abraham Hulick, and James Gest, with James Townsley
as surveyor. On the wanted road from the mouth of Boat
Run to the mouth of "Sugar-Camp Creek" the viewers
chosen were John Collins, David White, and George Swing,
-that is, to make the prayed.for alteration.
. March term, 1815, a road was desired from the Little

Miami, opposite to "Wallsmith's tail-race," through the
lands of William Salter, near said ., Salter's warehouse," till it
intersects the lands of Jonathan l\1egrue, so on through his
and Andrew Megrue's lands to the line between said Me­
grue and Thomas Yates until it intersects the road from
Milford. The viewers appointed were George Conrad,
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Thomas Gatch, and Ambrose Ranson, Conduce Gatch
to do the surveying. On the proposed alteration of the
Augusta and Cincinnati road, as asked by Jacob and George
Moyer and Jacob Nofgar, the following viewers were
selected: David Hoover, Charles Baum, j r., and Benjamin
Sells. The lands of the county were voted as follows for
the year:

Acres.
First-rll.te lands......... ....•••....•.••.•.••.•••. :1,574·;\
Second-rate lands...... 157.!J80
Third-rllte lands...... 4!J,!J48
Amount of ta..l:cs $52fi.J..8!Jr

1
rr

On the projected road from mouth of Nine-Mile Creek
up said stream by "Johns' mill," and so on to " PCl'ins~

mill," thence to the Three Forks, thence up the "Blue
Lick Branch," to intersect the Denhamstown road where
the road commonly called "Nash's" crosses, Isaiah Fer­
guson, John Brazier, and John McKee were the view­
ers, and Daniel Bailiff the surveyor. A road was asked
from the j unction of the road leading from 'West Union to
the mouth of' Clough Creek, and the road leading from Wi1­
liamsburgh to the mouth of Twelve-Mile, passing" Bethel
Meeting-House," through the lands of John Collins and
David White, crossing the cast fork at " Slab Camp," thence
on until it intersects the Deerfield road near Samuel May­
ham, and John Collins, Daniel Kidd, and John Leeds were
selected viewers, and Daniel Bailiff surveyor. On the
prayed-for road from Kelly Burke's mill to and beyond
the plantations of' Solomon Wells and Aaron Wells, and
there intersect the Bethel and Boude's Ferry road, the
viewers were Gerard Parris, James South, and John Morris,
with John Boggess as surveyor.

August term, 1815, the jailer was allowed five dollars for
boarding prisoners,-Isaac Hulings, Morgan 'Wray, Samuel
Keely, and Thomas Eldridge.

September term, 1815, on the proposed road beginning
in the West Union road near James Downey's, to run in the
direction of George Ely's on tbe east fork, and thereabouts
intersect the Williamsburgh road, the viewers were Elijah
l\Iattox, John 'rroy, and James Downey, with Daniel Bailiff
as surveyor. On the road projected from Moses Broadwell's
to tap the Denhamstown road, the viewers were Henry Apple,
'Villiam Brunongin, and John Brazier, with Daniel Bailiff
as surveyor. On the road from "Two-Mile Tree" on Cin­
cinnati road to "Beckleshymer's mill," the viewers were
Jacob Slye, Frederick Eppert, and Pherochas Thomas, and
James Townsley surveyor. On the proposed road from" the
town of Batavia" (mentioned f01' the first time in the county
records, except the record of its plat in recorder's office),
thence down the east fork to "Townsley's mill," thence
crossing the "mill-rat:le" and through a lane between the
farms of Ezekiel Dimmitt and Robert Townsley, to inter­
sect the Williamsburgh road near said Townsley's house, the
viewers were Abraham Hulick, Jacob Vorhies, and Peter
Emery, with James Townsley as surveyor. John Archerd,
Everard Bettie, and David Brown were appointed to alter
the New Richmond and Bethel road, asked for by Nathan
Nichols and others. To view an alteration in the Milford
and August road John McCollum, William Huling, and
George Brown were appointed. .

November term, 1815, John Shaw appeared as the com-

missioner elected in place of Amos Ellis, whose term had
expired. David Morris was now the public printer, and
published the expenditures of the county for a year for .~ix

dollars. Oliver Lindsey, re-elected sheriff, presented his
bond, of four thousand dollars, with Thomas Cade, John
Earhart, T. S. Foote, John Kain, and R, Sharp as securi­
ties; same approved and recorded. On the prpposed road
from Benjamin Penn's, on Indian Creek, to the Cincinnati
ro~d or near" Nathaniel Chapman's saw-mill," and thence
up "Chapman's Run" on to the Cincinnati road, Joseph
Lakin, Israel Joslin, and Robert Brown were the viewers,
and Benjamin Pc·nn the surveyor. A road was asked be­
ginning at the bank of the Little Miami opposite" James
Pollock's mill," thence to cross a public highway between
Silas Hutchinson and" Avery Riggs' improvement" on so
far as Isaac Elstun, thence to intersect a road from John
Hughes'to Mr. Sweet's, on the east fork, or to pass by Na­
thaniel Barber's to the Deerfield road. Robert Orr, Na­
thaniel Bal bel', and Alexander Brannon were viewers, and
James Pollock the surveyor. On the road asked from
New Richmond to intersect the road from" Ferguson's
Ferry" to W'illiamsburgh, the viewers were Jonathan Dcm­
ham, Jacob Ulrey, and Hugh Ferguson, and George C.
Light surveyor.

March term, 1816, on the road from the forks of Bear
Creek, where the road to Neville crosses, thence up the
maio branch of the creek, past" Jackson's tanyaI'd" (the
second one mentioned on the records), past Samuel Hol­
land's, continuing up the creek past Mathew Boner's
"sugar camp" (first recorded in the county), and to cross
" Lubber Run," where "Manning's old mill" road crosses
the same, to pass on between Elijah Wiley's and "Col.
Gideon Minor," and so on past Elisha l\Iannin~'s to inter­
sect what is called" Penn's Head," near" Wiley's saw­
mill," Joseph Daughters, Elisha Manning, and Joseph
Lakin were viewers, and Gideon Minor sUI·veyor. Viewers
were sent out to view a way for a road beginning on the
road from Bethel to Neville, near the plantation of John
Trees, Jr., on between the line of James Hodges and
Edward Sapp, thence on or ncar the line of Christopher
Armacost and Frederick Sapp, thence on to intersect the
road from Bethel to Point Pleasant. On the road from
New Richmond to the State road ncar David Jernegan's,
by ",ayof Mark Stinchfield's school-house (third oue men­
tioned on the records), the viewers were John Donham,
Joseph Fagin, and George Brown, with Samuel Herrick
surveyor. Eleven dollars' apd eighty cents was paid for
keeping John Allison in jail forty days.

June term, 1816, the lands were rated as follows for the
year:

First-rate lll.nds. 3,596.1 acres.
Sccond-rll.te lll.nds......... 103,467:i "
Third-rate lands.......... 50,93:31"
Amount of tuxes $4549.941\r

Tavern and ferry licenses same as in year 1814. A
number of petitioners wanted the dividing line between
Washington and Ohio townships better defined, and the
town of Point Pleasant attached to the former, and it was
ordered that the line begin on the Ohio River, at the lower
corner of Henry Ludlam's and upper corner to Henry
Bushman's land, thence on a straight to the corner of Tate

•
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and Washington townships (it being ncar John ClingIer's),
~llId that Andrew McLaine survey the same. A road was
ordered viewed beginning in Danby's road on the north
side of the cast fork just below" McCollum's and Higby's
saw-mill," to intersect the Twelve-Mile road. A road from
Moses Fountain's, in Union township, to the cast fork, and
all'o one fi'om the school-house opposite Dr. Allison's place
up the cast fork to meet the road from Jacob \Vhetstone's,
were asked, and Zebina \Vill iams, Shadrach Lane, und
Thomas Hobertson were selected to view the same, and
Mathew Fountain to sun'ey them.

November term, 1816, the jailer was allowed twenty dol­
lars and fifty cents for board of John Moore, William
T~anden, Robert Sanford Larrimora, prisoners in jail.

April term, 1817, Daniel S. Smith furnished irons for
jail at one dollar sixty-two and a half cents, and Samuel
Cade was allowed three dollars for services us court con­
stable.

June term, 1817, the road from Batavia through Gray's
and Troy's lands to Clmrles Robinson's, thence to Catlett's
survey, thcnee to the Twelve-Mile road, was ordered to be
viewed by Shadrach Lane, Joseph Dole, and Joseph Jack­
son, with Samuel Herrick as sU1'\'e;-or. The county paid
Samuel Cade, the jailer, eight dollars :md fifty cents for
boarding the prisoners in jail,-to wit: Samuel Hulings,
John Pyle, Isaac Ford, and Jonathan Bullin,-and ferry
licenses for the year were rated as follows:· On the Ohio
Hiver, at Ripley, eight dollars; at Abraham Sell's, four
dollars; at John Bonde's, ten dollars; at the mouth of
Bullskin, five dollars; at all other points where ferries arc
or way be established, three dollars; for all places on the
Little Miami, where they arc or may be put up, two dol­
lars; and for Bullskin, over its mouth, one dollar. The
tavern licenses were priced as follows: At Williamsburgh,
eight dollars; at Bethel, Milford, Batavia, Ripley, and
Point Pleasant, seven dollars; and at all other points, six
dollars. The report of the viewers-Nathan Corbin,
Jeptha Moore, and Nathan Nichols-on the alteration of
the Cinciunati and Augusta road was confirmed. Samuel
Shaw was allowed twelve dollars and ninety-five cents for
services as coroner in holding un inquest on the dead body
of Joseph Knott, killed on Stonelick by the citizens acting
as vigilance committees for the dispersion of horse-thieves
and offenders generully. On the road wanted from Neville
beginning at the ferry occupied by Jacob Del' to the foot
of the hill, thence to intersect a road leading to " Wiley's
saw-mill," near the forks of Bear Creek, the viewers were
Lemuel Stephenson, Samuel Holland, and Thomas Jones,
with Gideon Minor as surveyor. A road was asked begin­
ning on a road leading from" Benjamin Penn's mill" to
William Winter's, crossing the Augusta road, and to inter­
sect the road to 'Vest Union, and Thomas Jones, Hichard
Lamar, and· William Coshoe were viewers, with Gideon
Minor as surveyor. On the road wanted to begin in the
~oad running from Ferguson's ferry to the Round Bottum,
thence past" Durham's improvement," to intersect the road
from "Jarret's Station" to the county-line, the viewers
were John 'Vhite, William Hobb, and John Hunter, with
Daniel Bailiff as surveyor.

August term, 1817, on the petition -of Martin Pease and

others to layout a road from the 'Vest Union road ncar
John Temple's till it intersects the 1'en-Mile road, tIle
viewers were Chapman Arther, Andrew Pinkham, and
Charles Hobinson, and Daniel Bailiff the surveyor. To
layout a rond beginning nt the fimn of William Harris,
neal' the mouth of a run formerly called "McKinney's
Run," thence up Stonelick to the county-line, the viewers
were Josiah Prickett, A.braham J.Jeminl!, and William Sloane.
On the road wanted f!'Olll l\Icchanicsburgh (now Chilo) to
intersect the road from BuJlskin to .William Fee's, the
viewers were Joseph Lakin, Samuel Holland, and William
Bartley, and Gideon Minor surveyor.

December term, 1817, Andrew 11'oote appeared as the
commissioner elected at the October election. 1'0 layout a
road from .Tesse Glancy's, on the 'Williamsburgh road, thence
to O'Bannon Creek through the fhrms of Jacob Stroup and
Freuerick Doughm, and on to the county-line, the viewers
wei·e J~e\Vis Fryberger, John Glancy, and Daniel Mangen,
and John Hill the surveyor. To layout the road wanted
from Milford up the lane of Andrew l\Iegrue, intersecting
and following the road to the J.Jittle :Miami, thence up to
"Kugler's mill" to the mill-dam, thence up to and on
Harner's Run to "Abner Hixon's mill," thence through
the lands of Kugler and Wullsmith till it intersects the
public road between 'ViIliam Havison's and Samuel Potts,
the viewers were Thomas Gatch, Hobert Orr, and John
Stroup, and Conduce Gatch the surveyor.

1\Iarch term, 1818, on the alteration of the Bolanders'
road, the viewers-John J.Jogan, Nauman Chapman, and
Allen B. Hughes-made their report, and same approved.
Samuel Cade, jailer, for boarding William Riley, a criminal,
thirty days, John McLean twenty-eight days, and .John
Williams nineteen days, was allowed sixteen dollars and
twenty.five cents. The three associate judges, Alexander
Blair, John Morris, and Philip Gatch, each for ten days'
services at the l\Iarch term of Common Pleas Court, were
allowed thirty dollars. The lands for the year were rated

as follows:
Acr('R.

Fir~t-rate......... 3,:;;~-1~

Second-rate............... ISl,·ll1.t
Third-rate......... ..•... 51l,li·IU1
Amount of tax : 83384.-14
Interest anu pena.lties...... $:!:)2.iH

Total amount S;)lili.181

May term, 1818, bills for the boarding of Benjamin
Moore and John McCaw in jail were paid. The board
made an appropriation of a part of the twenty per cent.
of land-tax to be laid out in making roads and bridges, as
follows: On the road from Point Pleasant through Neville
to county-line, and known as the river road, ol1e hundred
dollars, under the superintendence of John Hunter; on the
road from Neville passing Alexander Case's to where it in­
tersects the State road, near \Villiam Fee's, the sum of
seventy-five dollars, undel' the superintendence of John
Newkirk; on the road from Neville to Williamsburgh, pass­
ing Lemuel Stephenson's and intersecting Penn's road at
" Richards' saw.mill," seventy-five dollars, under the super­
intendence of Gideon Minor; on the road from Milford to
William~burgh, one hundred dollars, under person to be
appointed at June term; on the road from Williamsburgh to



COMMISSIONERS' EARLY PROCEEDINGS. 85

Lebanon (or that par~ that lies between Stonelick and Jesse
Smith's), seventy-five dollars, under charge of Ambrose Ran­
SQIl; a further appropriation of two hundred and fif'ty dol­
lars towards the erection of a bridge (the third mentioned
on the county records) across the east fork of the Little
:Miami at the town of 'Villiamsburgh, likewise the sum of

. two hundred and fifty dollars towards the erection of a
bridge over same s~reaw at Batavia: undllr charge of per­
sons to be selected a~ the coming June term. These were
the first regular appropriations for roads in the county, and
the third and fourth for bridges, and the total sum appro­
priated-nine hundred and twenty. five dollars-was con­
sidered a new departure from the old ruts and the harbinger
of fu~ure and still greater internal improvements soon to
follow.

June term, 1818, tavern licenses were rated as follows:
At Williamsburgh, eight dollars; at Milford, Batavia, and
Bethel, seven dollars; at New Hichmond, Point Pleasant,
Neville, and l!'elicity, six dollars; and at all other places
where inns way be opened, five dollars. The ferry licenses
were priced on the Ohio Hiver, to wit: At mouth of Bull­
skin, fi\'e dollars; at all othei· points where ferries are
or lllay be established, three dolhrs; on the I..ittle Miami,
two dollars; on the east fork, one dollar and a half; and
across Bullskin at its mouth, one dollar. On the proposed
road from" Higby's grist-mill" to " Collins & Blackman's
saw-mill," thence to Batavia, thence to "Dennison mill,"
thence to intersect ~he road from 'Villiamsburgh to Milford,
the viewers were David White, Daniel Husong, and Malichi
Mcdaris, and Alexander Blair surveyor. The report of
James Robb, Robert Donham, and Nathan Nichols on
the road, beginning on the Hamilton county-line, thence
through New Richmond to Point I>leasant, was presented
and appro\'ed. Nicholas Sinks was allowed an order for
two dollars and twelve and a half cents, that being the
amount paid by him to the postmaster of Williamsburgh for
postage for the county during the year past. Allen Stevens,
jailer, for keeping 'William Amann, a. prisoner, twenty-one
days in jail, received five dollars and twenty-fi,'e cents.
Board reappointed Nicholas Sinks county treasurer; he had
been in this office since 1804.

The commissioners made furtllCr appropriations of the
twenty per cent. land-tax collected by law for the use
of roads and bridges: On the road from Cincinnati to
Augusta, known by the name of the" Hiver road" (on that
part that runs from the Hamilton county-line to Big In­
dian Creek), one hundred dollars, under the superintendence
of Micah Gilbert; likewise on the road from New Rich­
mond to Williamsburgh, one hundred dollars, under the
.eharge of James Robb. On the Milford and Williamsburgh
road improvements, Thomas Gatch was appointed commis­
sionCl', and Alexander Blair to superintend the building of
the Batavia bridge;. on the proposed road from Moscow to
the Buchanan Settlement, Gideon Minor was ordered to
make the survey.

July term, 1818, on the road fmm L' Warren's mills" up
to and passing" James Hobb's saw-mill," to intersect the
Milford road at the lower end of Jacob Fishel"s lane, Daniel
Bailiff made the survey. An order was issued to the Fmnk.
lin township trustees to open a road from the mouth of

Bullskin to " Shinkle's saw-mill." On the road from Chilo
(then called l\lechaniesburgh) to "Levi and Joshua Pig­
man's mill," on 'WiIlow Creek, thence to intersect the'
county road on Bear Creek at or near Samuel Hol1and'~,
the viewers were 'William Botts, William Barkley, and Jo­
seph I.Jakin, and James Sargent as surveyor. The county
taxes of the various townships this .year were: Ohio,
$229.95 j Miami, $158.22; Batavia, $71.87 j Tate,
$1~0.40; Stonelick, $71.44-; Williamsburgh, $148; the
amounts in Union and 'Vashington not stated.

November term, 18] 8, Shadrach Lane, elected commis­
sioner at October election, appeared, and was qualified. On
the road from Milford crossing the Deerfield road near John
Glancy's, thence to Stonelick Creek neal' .J ohn Shielus', the
viewers were Samuel Perrin, John Pollock, and Robert
01'1', with Thomas Gatch us surveyor. On the proposed
Clover Lick road past Adam Bricker's to 'Villiamsburgh,
the viewers were John Shotwell, Isaac Line, and David
Light, with George C. I..ight as surveyor. On the road
wanted from Ezekiel Hutchinson's to 'Williamsburgh, thence
crossing Pleasant Run, thence crossing "Stony Hun," tiH
it intersects a road near "Grassy Run," the viewers were
Ephraim McAdams, Jacob Huber, and William Hunter,
with Benjumin Ellis as surveyor. A road was asked from
Batavia to James Glancy's, then to the Anderson State
road, thence to "Glancy's llJiIls,"-and. John Ferree, Isaac
Voris, and Daniel Husong were th~ viewers, with Alexan­
der Blair surveyor.

January term, IS] 9, Thomas Kain presented his official
bond as coroner elected, in tIle sum of two thousand dollars,
with the followin~ securities: David C. Bryan, George S.
Bryan, Daniel Kain, and J 01111 Kain; same approved and
recorded.

:i\Iarch term, ISH), on the road from the" tan-yard" of
John Richards, on Big Indian, through John Whorton's
lane, to intersect the State road at Robert Carr's, the viewers
were William Thompson, William Higgin, and Aquila Tay­
lor, and John Boggess surveyor. On the road wanted from
the State road in Union township, crossing Matthew's sur­
vey, thence through the lands of the Days and Broadwell
to county-line, the viewers were George Stockton, John
White, and Samuel Lane, and Isaac James surveyor. On
the road fi·om Thomas Brunton's by Reuben Crossley, in­
tersectin~ a road up the east fork at Robert Townsley's, the
viewers were Christopher Troy, Samuel Lane, and Thomas
Robinson, with Alex. Blair sUl"\Teyor. The road from
Batavia to John Brazier's" to intersect the Nine-Mile
road, was ordered, with Hobert Townsley, Rober~ D. Lane,
and David White as v'iewers, and E. Chichester surveyor.
On the proposed road beginning at the" Upper Cincinnati
road" near a school.house, thence by John l\1arsh to Heze­
kiah Bainum, thence to John Trees, then·ce to intersect the
river road near "Isaac Moreton's saw-mill," the viewers
were Leonard Simmons: Thomas Hitch, and Thomas Ash­
burn, anu Joseph Jackson surveyor. Out of' the twenty per
cent. land-tax for bridges and roads was appropriated: For
the 'WiIliamsburgh and Cincinnati road, to be used betwecn
Christopher Apple's and the fhrm lately owned by Moses
Broadwell, onc hundred dollars, under the superintendence
of Samuel Lane; on the road from Williamsburgh to Lcba-
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non, between Jesse Glancy's and James Coombs, fifty dol­
lars, under the charge of Jesse Smith; un the Cincinnati
road, from Nine- Mile to Point Pleasant, seventy-five dollars,
under supervision of Levi Moss; on the road from Wil­
liamsburgh to the mouth of Bullskin, seventy-five dollars,
under the direction of Joshua Hicks; and on the road from
Bethel to the mouth of Clough Creek, one hundred dollars,
under charge of Thomas 'Vest. Lands were this year
rated as follows:

First-rate........................................ 1,401! acres.
SeeolHl-rllte l::l5,li18 "
Thiru-rnte......... 45,542~

Amount of tax $286/).02.4
Interest lIud penltlties...... li!JA:~.:~

Total amount $3U45.45.i

The land-rates above given were for resident proprietors
only.

•Tune term, 1819, in making out the duplicate the fol­
lowing rates were observed: On all horses, mares, mules,
or asses, eighteen and three-fourth cents per head; on each
head of neat cattle, six and one-fourth cents; and on all
town-lots, one-half of one per cent. on their valuation, ex­
clusive ot'improvements thereon. Ferry licenses were this
year rated: At mouth of Bullskin, six dollars; at Neville,
l>oint Pleasant, and New Hichmond, five dollars; at all
other points on the Ohio where ferries are or may be estab­
lished, four dollars; at all places on the Little Miami, two
dollars; and on all other waters in the comity, one dollar.
The rates of ferriage on the Ohio were made the highest
the law allows, and 011 other waters: For each foot-person,
six and one-quarter cents; man and horse, twelve and one­
half cents; loaded wa~on and team, fifty cents; for any
other four-wheeled carriage or empty wagon and team,
thirty-seven and one-half cents; for loaded cart and team,
twenty-five cents; for any empty cart and team, sled, sleigh
and team, eighteen and three-quarter cents; for every
horse, mule, mare, ass, or head of neat cattle, five cents;
and for every head of hogs or sheep, two cents. Nichoias
Sinks, reappointed county treasurer, gave bond, with D. C.
Bryan, George Brown, and Benjamin Ellis as securities.
J.Jemuel Stephenson was appointed county collector of State
taxes and of the county levies for this year. On the pro­
posed road from tho east fork below" Dyer's mill," to in­
tersect the road leading from Williamsburgh to "Beckle­
heimer's mill," near J olm 'rVageman, the viewers were
Charles Hobinson, Michael Roseberry, and Robert· Doughty,
with Daniel Bailiff surveyor. Lemuel Stephenson's bond
as county collector, with Gideon :Minor, Elisha Manning,
Absalom 'Vood as securities, was approved.

October term, 1819, the official bond of Holly Raper,
elected sheriff in October, in sum of four thousand dollar;;,
was presented with the following securities thereon: John
Kain, Nicholas Sinks, Thomas Kain, Israel Foster, Daniel

. Hankins, Titus Everhart, and David C. Bryan; duly ap­
proved.

December term, 1819, on the proposed road from near
the mouth of the lane between James 'Yard and Goo. W.
Stockton, till it intersected the West Union road near
Gideon 'rYitham's house, the viewers were Nathan Sutton,

John Brazier, and Samuel Lane, with Isaac James' as sur­
veyor.

June term, 1820, appropriations were made, to wit: On
the river road from Point Pleasant to Hamilton county­
line, tho.sulll of one hundred and twenty-five dollars, under
direction of Levi Moss; on the same road, from Point
Pleasant to Brown county-line, the sum of one hundred
and fifty dollars, under the control of Joshua Pigman; on .
the road from" li'eestown" to 'Villiamsburgh, one hundred
dollars: under the supervision of John Morris; on the road
from 'rYilliamsburgh to Lebanon, one hundred and twenty­
five dollars, under the charge of 'Villiulll Glancy; on the
road from Williamsbur~h to Cincinnati,-that is, on that part
between Batavia and the Brown count.y-line,-one hundred
and twenty dollars, under the superintendence of Henry
Kain, and on that part from Batavia township line to that
of Hamilton County, ninety dollars, in charge of Samuel
Lane; on the road from Batavia to Milford, one hundred
dollars, under direction of Alexander Blair; on the road
from 'Villiamsburgh to Cincinnati,-that is,'that part between
the east fork and Batavia township line,-forty dollars, under
control of Robert Townsley; and on the road from Bethel
to mouth of Clough Creek, fifty dollars, under charge of
Martin Pease. John Earhart was appointed county col­
lector of the land-tax, with orders to collect ~he county levy
of such townships where the township listers refuse to ac­
cept the collection. The making of a suitable board fence
around the public buildings was awarded to. Isaac Line, at
eighty-seven dollars. On the new road beginning at the
mouth of Townsend 'fhacker's lane, in 'Vayne township,
on the road from Milford to the head of Stonelick, thence
by Jacob Binkley's to "Nathan Shumard's grist-mill," on
Stonelick, to intersect the road from John Shields to

Conrad Hersh's, the viewers were Jacob Binkley, Josiah
Prickett, and Samuel Shumard, with John Hill as sur­
veyor.

August term, 1820, on the road beginIiin~ on the War­
ren county-line ncar" William Eaton'sgrist-miIl," thence
through Gabriel Kern's lane to the "market-house in
-Goshen," thence on the nearest and best way to Townsend
Thacker's house, the viewers wCl:e Mahlon Smith, John
Gest, and Silas Hutchinson, with John Hill as surveyor.

'On the road from Robert Donham's lane to "John Don­
ham's mill," on Twelve-Mile Creek, the appraisers were
John Shaw, Hezekiah Lindsey, and James Robb, with
George C. Light as surveyor. The report of Andrew Pink­
ham, 'rYm. Brown, and Abram Conrey on the New Bethel
and New Richmond road was received.

October term, 1820, Nicholas Sinks, the county treasurer
for sixteen years, having resigned, John Kain was appointed
to the vacancy, and gave bond in four thousand dollars,
with Daniel Everhart, Titus Everhart, Daniel Hankins,
David Light, Stephen Smith, and Daniel Smith as securi­
ties.

November term, 1820, no business was done save the
swearing in the new commissioner, George J. Troutwine.

December term, 1820, on the new road from" Glancy's
mill," past William Megrue's, to intersect the road from the
" Company's mill," on the Little Miami, to Nathaniel Bar­
ber's, the viewers were John Gest, Muhlon Smith, and John

•
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Charles, with Conduce Gatch as surveyor. On the new
road from" William Plummer's mill," on Bullskin, to inter­
sect the road from Boude's Ferry to Bethel, the viewers
were James Johnson, David Owens, and Samuel Truett,
with Joseph Wells as surveyor. On the 'new road begin­
ning on the Indian road, near Charles Henderson's farm,

,to intersect the Boat Run road ileal' the school-house, and
on the road between Reeves' and Morgan's lane, to intersect
the road leading to "John Denham's mill," the viewers
were Jesse Justice, Jr., Isaac South, and Jonathan Vandike,
with William Lytle as su:·veyor. On petition of twelve
land-owners, a view for a way of a road was ordered, begin­
ning where the Nine·Mile road crosses Shaylor's Hun to
Robert D. Lane's place. Peter Emery, James Thomas, and
Robert Townsley were the viewers, and Samuel Ewing the
surveyor.

June term, 1821, a road was laid out beginning at Jon­
at,han Megrue's "peach-orchard," passing" John Hixton's
mill," on Harner's Run, and the viewers of same were Philip
Smysor, Bethual Covalt, and John Leming, Thomas Gatch
making the survey. 'John Kain was appointed county
treasurer, and Elijah T. Penn collector of both State taxes
and county levies.

June term, 1822, the commissioners audited and allowed
the accounts of the following listers and appraisers for ser­
vices:

James Fox, StoneIiek, cleven days, $11.
Benjamin Laymon, Wayne, five days, $5.
Elijah Shaw, Franklin, thirteen days, $13.
Jacob Webber, Franklin, three days, $3.
Joseph F. Bocum, Ohio, nineteen days, $19.
John Swem, Ohio, two days, $2.
Rezin Hill, Goshen, nine days, $!J.
Daniel Weaver, Goshen, ono day, $1.
Laban Brazier, Batavia, eleven days, $11.
Israel Whit:tker, Batavia, three-fourths of a uay, 75 cents.
Isaac L. Malott, Union, three-fourths of a day, 75 cents.
Samuel Shaw, Miami, thh·teen dltys, $13.
Isaac CO\'ltlt, Miami, two anu a half days, $2.50.
William Dowdney, Tltte, twelve days, $12. ,
John Fasemire, Washington, thirteen and three-fourths of a day,

$13.75.
Isaac Mitchell, Washington, two days, $2.
John Earhart, Williamsburgb, twelve days, $12.
Isaac Foster, Williamsburgb, two days, $2.

Thomas Kain appointed county treasurer, and John Beatty
collector, and the former gave bond, wit.h Thomas Kain,
John Kain, William Waters, and Daniel S. Smith as secur­
ities.

June term, 1823, the board voted to give the collector of
land-~ax five per cent. on all moneys collected, and the eoi­
lector of county levies ten per cent.

June term, 1824, the following listers and appraisers
made their reports, and were paid as follows:

Absalom Manning, Franklin, $14.50.
Alfred Holland, Franklin, $3.
William Dowdney, Tate, $13.25.
Aaron Wells, Tate, $1.
James Wilson, Washington, $13.50.
Jeremiah Woods, Washington, $3.
Christian Binkley, Wayne, $6.
Reason Hill, Gosben, $7.
Gamaliel Hooker, Gosben, $1.
Ralph Carnes, Ohio, $20.

Seneca. Palmer, Ohio, $3.
Fmncis Shumard, Miami, $13.
Henry Shumard. l\iillmi, $2.
Thomas Cook, Stoncliek, $9.
Benjamin South, Stonelick, $1.
Isaac L. Malott, Union, $8.
John Earhart, WilJiamsburgh, $12.
Isaac Foste.", Williamsburgb, $2.
Israel Whitaker, Bata.via,.$9.50.
Jesse Ellis, Batavia, $2.

The following rates of taxation were levied: On cach
head of horses, mares, mules, or asses, thirty cents; on
each head of neat cattle, ten cents i and on all town-lots,
one-half of one per cent. on the valuation, exqlusive of the
improvements.

March term, 1825, a further appropriation of one hundred
and nine dollars thirty and a half cents was made towards
the completion of the Batavia bridge.

June term, 1826, Thomas Kain was appointed keeper of
the standard measure at the seat of justice, ~o keep said
standard and seal agreeably to an act regulating measures.

December term, 1827, made an appropriation of ,twenty­
five dollars and sixty-two and a half cents, balance of the
three per cent. fund, for the road from Chillicothe to Cin­
cinnat.i, towards repairing the bridge at Batavia, and also
an additional sum of twenty-four dollars and thirty-seven
and a half cents to be so applied.

August term, 1829, the contract for building the new
Batayia bridge was awarded to ..w. n. Robinson, at three
thousand five llUndred and seventy-nine dollars, but not
given to him, it being considered too high, and at Decem­
ber term was finally given to James Robb, at two thousand
eight hundred and thirty-three dollars.

CHAPTER XII.

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS, AND GENERAL STA­
TISTICS FROM 1824 TO 1879.

IN tlIe preceding chapter an account is given of the early
county roads and by whom located, but the first public
road laid out through the county was that from Newtown
to 'Williamsburgh, ordered to be established by the jUl:ltices of
the Court of Quarter Sessions of Hamilton County, Nov. 24-,
1797. It had been previously surveyed by John Donnell,
assisted by Daniel Kain and Robert McKinney. In the
summer of 1798 it was opened for travel, and was for many
years the principal east-and-~est thoroughfare. Shortly
afterwards the road from West Union to the mouth of
Clough Creek was established, and in 1804 the Genera!
Assembly declared it a post-road. In 1804 was also passed
an act authorizing the building of the Anderson State road,
running from Chillicothe to Cincinnati through the town­
ships of Jackson, Stonelick, and Miami. It was opened
for travel in tlie summer ~f 1806. In 1808 the Legisla­
ture enacted that the road from the mouth of Bullskin to
Xenia be ordered to be laid out as a State road. Subse­
quently other State roads were located in Clermont and
through its territory, the one from Neville to Hillsboro' in
1820.
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Acts were paslSed in 1815 and 1821 under which the
toll-bridge over the Little Miami at :i\Iilford was built,
and in 1822 was constructed the bridge over Twelve-Mile
Creek, in Ohio township. In 1838 was enacted the law
authorizing the Williumsburgh bridge to be built, over the
east fork, on the highway which had been declared a State
road in 183-1.

The first turnpike opened in tIle county was the Cillein­
11ati, Columbus and Wooster, incorporated in 1827. The
length of' this road was twenty-two miles, or nearly that
distance, and it commenced at the corporation line in Cin­
cinnati, ran through Milford, terminating at Goshen. This
was, and is Jet, a fine pike, and as carly as 1831 paid an
annual dividend of twenty-four per cent. The amount of
its capital stock (3032 shares) was 8151,600; amount of
the subscription of'the State, 875,800; amouut of the sub­
scription of individuals, $75,800.

To show what this road of twenty-two miles did before
the full inauguration of railwaJs, we give its amount of tolls
received for the year ending Nov. 15, 18-17, which were
$18,585.22. The total expenses for the same year, includ­
ing repairs and salaries, were 86188.1 8, leaving for divi­
dends $13,644, to be equally divided between the State and
the individual stockholders. This road had no construction
debts, and was therefore a rich ruine to its lucky stock­
holders and a great benefit to the county.

In 1831 the Legislature incorporated the lIJiifo1'd and
Chillicotlw TllTlIpa.:e Company, which constructed a road
from Milford to Chillicothe, a distance of seventy-eight
miles, forty-two and a half of which was splendidly macad­
amized, thirty-two and a half graded, and three ungraded.
It passed through Perin's 1\1 ills, Boston, and Marathon,
and was an important factor in building up the north of
Clermont, contributing wonderfully to the development of
l\lilford, then the great commercial mart of the county.
Its capital stock was $344,000, held in equal portions by.
the State and individuals, and for many years its president
was Governor Allen Trimble, of Hillsboro'. For the year
ending Nov. 15, 1849, its receipts were 810,498.60, and its
expenditures $4115.72,-leaving the profits at $6382.63,
to be divided between the State and individual stockholders.

In 1831 was also incorporated the Oltio T1l1'lIpili:e C0111,­
pany, fi'om Cincinnati to Portsmouth, but the road was built
only twent.y-one and a half miles in length, commencing at
the Little Miami River, at Union Bridge, Hamilton Co.,
and ending at Bethel. For the Jear ending Nov. 29, 1846,
its receipts were $4294.71, and its profits, after paying all
expenses and repairs, $1617.63, which were paid over to
the receiver appointed by the Clermont Common Pleas
Court. The original charter gave this road the privilege to
be built into Cincinnati; Lut an amended act, repealing part
of its first act, subsequently limited it to running to Union
Bridge, where it intersected the Wooster pike. Maurice
\Vitham was its president, and Thomas Sheldon secretary,

. in 1846 and 184:7. The total amount of stock in this pike
paid by the State was $55,000; by individuals, $50,000.
For the year ending Nov. 15, 18-17, the tolls received
were $5151.24; amount expended for repairs and salaries,
$2962.18; amount paid William Howard, late receiver,
$542.46; and amount left in hands of treasurer, John

Quinlain (at that time receiver), $1646.60. In 1834 was
incorporated The Batavia TW·lIp-il.:e awl lIHam-i Bddge
Company, whose pike began at Union Bridge and termi­
nated at Batavia. The amount of stock subscribed by the
State was six hundred and five shares ($:30,250), and by
individuals six hundred and fifteen shares ($30,750). Its
receipts for the year dosing Nov. 3, 1847, were $4513, of
which $27-1.66 were paid to the State treasurer; $1920.46
to its receiver, S. F. Norris; and the balance went for
repairs and salaries. Its leugth was thirteen and one-half
miles. \Villiam Edwards was its president fro III 18-17 to
1849. In 1849 its tolls amounted to $4011.96, of which
81825 went into the receiver's hands for benefit of credi­
tors.

In 1832 the Goshen, lIIm·t-illsville and Leesbu1'g Pil.e
CompallY was chartered, but never amounted to much;
but in 1836 was incorporated the Goshen, Wilmington
alld Columbus Pilo:e. This pike was completed from
Goshen to Wilmington,-a distance of twenty-five miles.
Its total amount of stock was,-owned by the State of
Ohio (two thousand and fifty-four and one-half shares),
$102,7~5; by individuals, $119,050. In 18-19, Il'aiah Mor­
ris was its president. For the year ending November 15th
its tolls, owing to the cholera epidemic and other causes,
amounted to only $1948.95. These roads-while most of
them were not profitable investments financially to the
State and individuals-were of great value to the people
at large, aud aided greatly in developing the resources of
this and adjoining counties, affording outlets for agricul­
tural productions, and in the improved facilities for general
traveling.

There have been in the county at different periods other
turnpikes than the old ones above noted.

The .~New R-ichmolld and Bethel TU1'llpilo:e Company
was incorporated in 1849, and in a few years was COIll­

.. pleted to within two miles of Laurel. About four years
ago it was turned over to the county, and it has since been
used as a free turnpike.

The New Richmo/ld, Niclwlsville and IT'illiamslJll'rgh
Turnpilo:e Company was also incorporated in 1849. It
was completed to within one and a half mil~s of Nichols­
ville. It was used as a toll-road· a number of years, but
in 1876 it was turned over to the county commissioners,
who ordained it a free turnpike.

The lJfiljo1'd, Edenton and Woodville Planlo:-Road
C01llpany was incorporated in 1851, and its second install­
ment of stock paid June 16th of that year. In a few
years it was changed to a turnpike, and it is now in use as
such from where it intersects the Ch~llicothe pike, a ·little
more than a mile east of l\:lilford, to the Dunkard meeting­
house, near Edenton. James B. Shaw was the first presi­
dent of the company. B. F. Clark is the present president
and James Clark secretary of the company.

. The 'len-llfile ValleJJ Ttt1'llp~7o:e, running from the point
of its intersection with the Cincinnati, Columbia and New
Richmond pike to Lindale, was incorporated about 1861,

.but was never fully completed; and about three years ago
it was turned over to the county and made a free pike.

The New Richmond and Oldo Tumpilo:e and Plunl.:­
Road Company, from New Richmond to the Ohio pike,
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east of Amelia, was built in 1852-53, and is still in opera­
tion as a toll-road.

The Cincinnati, Columbia and New Richmond Tu1'n­
pilce, along the Ohio River, was completed about 1865,
and is yet maintained as a toll-road.

Tlte Union TUl'np17ce Company was organized in 1858
'to build a turnpike from Batavia to the Ohio pike, a little
east of Amelia. J ohn Johnston was the first president,
and the road was completed in 1868. The turnpike is yet
kept up, and most of the stock is owned by the heirs of
Azariah Davis.

TILe Batavia, lWlliarnsbm'!llt and B1'own COllnty Tm'l1pilte
was built in 1850-51, and on the 1st of July of the latter
year its sixth installment of ten per eent. was due. Thomas
L. Shields was the first president of this road, which is yet
in operation between Batavia and Williamsburgh.

The first installment, towards the construction of Tlte
.Moscow, Indian Cl'eel(; and Point Isabel Turnpike was due
June 24,1851, and the first of the Felicity and OMlo Tu1'1l­
pilce Oct. 25,1856, but neither proved a success as a toll­
road.

The famous and historical Nadisonville, Cama1'!l0 and
Obannon Z'urnpilce, which was built over a third of a cen­
tury ago through Miami township, is now a county road
free from tolls.

Ten free turnpikes were constructed in Clermont County
under the laws of April 5, 1866: and March 29, 1867,
which have proved of great benefit to the localities through
which they pass. The laws provided that when a majority
of t.he resident and real-estate owners living within two
miles on each side of the contemplated road petitioned the
county commissioners, a free pike might be built, if' deemed
a public necessity, by assessing the cost of its construction
upon said owners of real estate in proportion to their dis­
tances and benefits to be derived from the road. On Dec.
4, 1866, a petition of residents and freeholders within two
miles of tl{e projected free turnpike fi'om Bethel to Felicity
was received by the commissioners, who appointed Hobert
Buchanan, Reuben Lanham, and Samuel Buchanan as
viewers of the same. They reported it a public necessity
and of general utility on March 5, 1867, and estimated its
cost at $4:250 per mile, including bridges. The commis­
sioners decided to build it twenty-five feet in width, to be
macadamized fourteen feet wide, twelve inches deep in cen­
tre and eight at each side, of four inches of coarsely-broken
stone for foundation, and the balance of stone finely broken.
The same viewers, on June 3d, made return of their appor­
tionment of the valuations of the different freeholders to be
taxed, which was adopted, and the taxes for building it and
the others were put in five annual payments, and bonds were
issued by the county and sold to pay the construction debts
as fast as they fell due. C. W. Page, count.y surveyor, was
superintendent and engineer of' the survey and construction.

The petition of the resident freeholders for the Felicity
and Utopia pike, by way of Rural, was presented Dec. 4,
1866, and William Richey, Henry Bolander, and Thomas
Hurley, as viewers, made their report the following March,
and also their assessment valuations of the lands and lots to
be taxed. The assessments of taxes on this pike amounted
to $22,572.92.

12

The petition for the FeliCity and l\'Ioscow free pike was like­
wise filed Dec. 4, 1866, and the persons who viewed and
made the land and lot valuations were William Dixon. ,
Enoch Reed, and John Kinney, who estimated its cost as
follows: First four miles at $3100 per mile, or $12,400 j

the remaining four miles at $1700 per mile, or $6800 j in
all, $19,200 j but the assessments on the duplicates footed
up $34,030.

The Felicity and Chilo free pike was petitioned for April
23, 1867, and the land apportionment of it was made by
N. S. Stevens, A. ;J. Trees, and J. B. Brannen, its view
having been made by Peter Camerer, J. B. Brannen, and
George Thompson.

The petition for the Mount Carmel and Nine-Mile pike
was filed March 6, 1867, and the road was viewed and the
lands apportioned by Orin Temple, J. It Corbly, and
Moses Elstun. Its entire assessments were $33,182.57,
while its estimated cost was $3000 per mile.

June 27, 1867, came the petition for the Lyndon and
Nicholsville pike, beginning at the junction of the Ten­
Mile Valley pike where it intersected the New Richmond,
Mount Pis~ah and Ohio turnpike to James Slater's, or to
the contemplated road from Big Indian, near Israel Smith's,
via Point Isabel, Salt Air, and Nicholsville, to the Ohio
turnpike, at Back Run bridge. The viewers and land-ap­
praisers were J. R. Foster, William Eppert, and E. G.
Ricker, and Thomas W. Rathbone su.rveyor. Its estimated
cost was $7766.

The petition for the Newtonsville and Brownsville pike
was presented on June 6, 1867, and its viewers and ap­
praisers of lands and lots were 1\1. S. Pickelheimcr, Silas
Muchmore, William McKinney, and J. n. Murphy,-the
latter in the apportionment taking the place of M. S. Pick­
elheimer, appointed its engineer. Its estimated cost was
$3000 per mile.
.' 'June 3,1867, the petition for the Neville and Boat. Run
pike came in, and it was viewed and the lands appraised
by William Padget, N. S. Stevens, and W. C. Page. Its
estimated cost was $3500 per mile, bnt the apportionment
and costs amounted to $37,721.13.

On Dec. 4, 1867, was received the petition for the pike
from Felicity, by way of Laurel, to intersect the Boat Run
and New Hichmond road, near Carmel graveyard, in Mon­
roe township. The viewers and appraisers were Samuel
,Y. McKinney, James Waterfield, and James Goslin, who
estimated it to cost $3500 per mile. It was finished only
two miles, to Israel Smith's,upd its cost was $10,800.

On ~~eb. 8, 1870, was presented the petition for the pike
from Point Isabel to the elbow of the Felicity and Moscow
road. Viewers and appraisers on the same were Samuel B.
Smith, Enoch Patterson, and M. Winters. Its cost of con­
struction, when fully completed, waS ouly $81,880.

The last free pike built in the county was under the
laws' of' April 26, 1871, and Feb. 20, 1872, taxing the free­
holders a mile on each side for its construction, and was
the Wayne township pike from the Dunkard meeting-house
to West Woodville. 'fhe viewers were David W. ~'homp.

SOll, Thomas Sloane, and J. H. Prickett, and the road was
built in 1874.

The Clermont and Woodville G1'aded Road Company
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was incorporated in 1838, but never proved a success;
neither did The East Fol'l.~ Road and BI'idge Company,
incorporated in 1835.

But few counties in the Statc surpass Clcrmont in the
number and substantial nature of its bridges. The fincst
is a suspcnsion-bridge at Branch Hill, across the Little
Miami, and was built jointly by Clermont and Hamilton.
It was formally dedicated and opencd for travel July 4,
1872, with a great celebration and speeches by Governor
Noyes and Samuel F. Hunt. At J.Joveland is also a very
handsome iron bl'idge, composed of several spans, and at
Remington and Miamiville, also across the I.Jittle Miami,
a large bridge of modern invention and imposing architec­
ture. In fact, all over the county, on its Ulany streams, are
found elegant bridges, built in the last twenty years, many
of them exceedingly beautiful in design and finish, which
have supplanted the common wooden bridges which were
first erected.

The Little Miami Raib'oad Company was chartered in
1835 to build a railway from Cincinnati to Xellia,-a dis­
tance of 64;61 miles. In 1840 the road was completed to
Milford, and at that town a grand demonstration took place
to celebrate the arrival of the first train. John Kugler,
then the principal business man of that place, sold to the
railroad company the site in Cincinnati on which it built
its depot for $60,000, and took his pay in its bonds, ever a
great source of revenue to him; and he also furnished the
ties for the track for many miles, all cut off of his noted
Tippecanoe farm of nincteen hundred acres in Goshen and
Stonclick townships. The road was finished to Loveland
in 1844, in the fall, very much against the wishes of many
of the people who earned their living as teamsters, and
thought they were ruined. This road has a double track
running six and three-twcntieths miles through this county,
with about a mile of sidings, and depots at Loveland,
Branch Hill, Miamivillc, and Milford, at the latter place
on the Hamilton County side. It is now leased to and
operated b): the Pittsburgh, Cincinnati and St. Louis Rail­
way Company, and has the rcputation of being the best­
equipped and conducted road in the State.

The Jllr.u·ietla and Cincinnati Railway was built years
afterwards, and has five miles of main track in this county,
besides one and one-fifth miles of sidings. It passes through
Loveland, where it crosses the Littlc Miami road, and the
rest of the road in Clermont is ill Goshen township. It
was built about the year 1850 as the Hillsboro' and Cin­
cimwH Ra-ilroad, and is now opcrated by the Baltimore
and Ohio Company.

Many attempts were made towards building other, rail­
roads running through the county, but without success
until 1876, when, on Jan. 10, 187G, the C/ncinnati and
Eastern R-ailway Cumpany was formed at Batavia, under
the name first of The Cincinnati, Batavia and }Villiams­
ull1'gh Rail1'oad Company, but which was changed at the
following May term of Clermont Common Pleas Court to
its present name. Its corporators were Samuel 'Woodward,
M. Jamieson, G. ·W. Hulick, William Mansfield, George
H. Wilber, 'V. B. C. Stiding, G. 'V. Gregg, Peter F.
Swing, C. H. Thoma.s, Byron Willillms, and 'V. A. Knin.
On May 6, 1876, the stockholders unanimously voted to

extend the line from 'Villiamsburgh to Portsmouth, its
present projected terminus. Since its organization Samuel
'Voodward has been president, Milton Jamieson treasurer, and
William Mansfield auditor, and the following persons direc­
tors (those marked with an asterisk still in office) : Samuel
'VIJodward,* George H. Wilber,* Stephen Feike, Peter F.
Swing, Azariah Davis, Daniel TUl'l~er, Charles H. Thol11as,*
O. H. Hardin,* 'V. R. McGill,* James Hulick,* F. 1\1.
8mith,* S. E. Carey,* N. R. Thomson,* George 'V. Gregg,
John M. NeeIey,* and James P. Duckwall.* Its proposed
main line is one hundred and eight miles long, of which
fifty-three miles is in full running operation from the Miami
Valley Railway junction (three and a half milcs from Cin­
cinnati) to 'Winchester, in Adams County, and beyond
'Vinchester, towards Portsmouth, the grading is nearly
completed to the Scioto county-line, about twenty miles.
lp February, 1880, the branch from Batavia Junction (on
the Little Miami road) to New Richmond-a distance of
fourteen and three-tenths miles-was completed and is now
in successful operation, making, with the aggregate of sid­
ings, seventy miles daily operated by thi~ road, on which
the freight and passenger traffic is constuntly increasing.
At Sardinia it crosses the Maysville and Columbus narrow­
gauge road, now completed and running from Sardinia to
Hillsboro', and this summer (1880) to be finished from
Sardinia, via Georgetown, to Ripley and Maysville. It is
contemplated this. year to finish the Miami Valley road the
remainder of the way (three and one-half-miles) to Cin­
cinnati, when the transfer of freight and passengers to the
Little Miami road at Batavia Junction will cease. This
well-managed narrow-gauge railroad-the best in Ohio­
runs through one of the richest and most productive and
thickly-populated regions in the State, and was completed
to Batavia, Oct. 18, 1876; to Williamsburgh, March 1,1877 ;
to Mount Orcb, April 19, 1877; to Sardinia, June 4,
1877; and to 'Vinchester in September following. In
this county, including its New Richmond branch and
sidings, it has thirty-six miles of track, and the stations on
the main line are South Milford, Elstun, Cohoon, East
IJiberty, Batavia, Hulick's, Summit, Afton, and 'Villiams­
burgh; and on the New Richmond branch are New Rich­
mond, Blairville, New Palestine, Ohio River, Pleasant Hill,
Tobasco, and Mount Carmel. This road was built by sub­
scriptions raised by stockholders along its main and exten­
sion lines, and by bonds issued on mortgage securities.
Its principal bridges on the main line are over the Little
Miami, a Howe truss, wood, three hundred and twenty
feet; east fork at Batavia, wood, one hundred and sixty
feet; at Williamsburgh, one hundred and twenty feet; west
fork of White Oak and east fork of same, each one hun­
dred and twenty feet. This was the first railroad built
through the heart of Clermont, and the first of any kind
to penetrate the adjoining counties of Brown and Adams.
. The next road- Cincinnati and Purtsmouth ~Narrow­

Gauge Raib'oad-to be built was incorporated in January,
1873, with the following corporators: Thomas Donaldson,
Benneville Kline, John Carlisle, Chilton A. 'Vhite, Henry
'V. Kimball, Joseph Clare, IJaul Mohr, Z. D. Kyle, Josiah
Kirby, and H. H. 'Vellman; but it.~ construction did not
begin till three years subsequently. It is a narrow gauge,
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.Total valuat'n of taxable property..•Sl,994,492 $2,083,441 $2,208,778

The duplicate of 1846 shows as follows: State taxes,
$18,81B.02; county and township taxes, $16,296.98; law­
yers.' and doctors' taxes, $17,325; delinquencies, $1071.19 j

and for same year the assessors returned 8400 horses, valued
at $265,217 j 52 mules, at $1332; 10,732 cattle, at $85,167;
26,604 sheep, at $14:829; 31,659 hogs, at $64,450; 592
pleasure-carriages, at $30,392; 799 watches, at $11,169 ;
7 pianos, at $1260. .

In 1849 the duplicates showed:

now began to gradually increase :rear by year under the acts
of 1825, 182G, and 1827, and those subsequently passed
by the Legislature. In 1827, Wayne, Goshen, Stonelick,
Union, and Miami townships levied no 'towlllihip tax, and in
that year the count.y treasurer, John W. Robinson, spent
two days in each of the then twelve townships between
Aug~st 20th arid September 15th to receive taxes, which
was the first year the treasurer received taxes, the county
coll.ector up to that time doing the collecting. For the year
ending June 2, 1829, the total receipts of Clermo~t were
$10,866.83.2, and. the entire disbursements, covering the
State, county, township, and school purposes, $9195.57.4,
of which $2.25 was to Thomas Kain for refreshments fur­
nished a jury ina State case.

In 1829 the average rate of taxation throughout the
county was eighty-four cents on the hundred doll~u·s.

For the fiscal year closing June 4, 1833, the receipts of
the county for all purposes were $16,368.72, and the ex­
penditures $13,019.86. In 1841 the rates of taxation by
mills in the different townships were as follows on the dol­
lar: Batavia, 12·g. j Williamsburgh, lIt; Tate, lH; Frank­
lin, 10k; 'Vashington, 10k; Monroe, 9~-; Ohio, lIt;
Union, 9~; Miami, 13; Goshen, 10~'; Stonelick, 10k;
'Vayne, 9i ; Jackson, 9~·; which made the average rate
in the county 107In- cents on the hundred dollars. Of the
above tax, 5 mills was for State and canal tax; 4l for
schools; t of a mill for Union bl:idge j and balance for
township purposes. We give some general statistics of
three periods. .

1840. 1845.
$1,401,71>4 $1,50-1,034

272,698 167,5:30
24~,200 214,960
57,856 64,504

181,194101,823

1836.
Value of lands and buiIdings ....••..SI,:nS,91l9

" town-lots and buildings... 2;)~,625

" horses...... 218,640
" ca.tLlc......... 50,880

Merchants' capital llnd moncy at
interest.. ..•. .•.•••••• .•.•..••• ......•.•• 90,878

GENERAL STATISTICS.

For the year ending June 8, 1825, the receipts at the
county treasury were $6440.97. Of this amount there
were apportioned to the several townships for road
purposes: 'Vayne, $45; 'Villiamsburgh, $104.46; Tate,
$1 ~9.93; Ii'ranklin, $31; \Vashington, $31; Ohio, $36 ;
Batavia, $37; Stonelick, $37 j Miami, $99; Union, $98.
A balance of $321.20 for road purposes remained undis­
tributed, and the other balances due the State and for
county purposes amounted to $1275.56, showing how mod­
erate were the expenses of the county at that period j and
this amount was largely in excess of the usual rate, on ac­
count of the court-house edifice at New Richmond, the cost
of building which was settled OQ the payment of $1193.28
when Batavia became the seat of justice.

The rates of taxation for 1827 were as follows:

and is finished from Columbia, on the Little Miami road, to
Cleveland's, a mile east of Amelia, through which town,
Judd's, Centreville, Olive Branch, Willowville, Glen Este,
Kyles, and Mount Carmel, it runs and is ~ltogether in run­
ning operation a distance of twenty and four-tenths miles.
From Cleveland's to Bethel the grading is all completed,

, and between Bethel and Georgetown over half finished.
It is contemplated by its management to put down the track
in the season of 1880 to Bethel and Geor~etown.

Tlte Cincinnati, Jlfi(ford and Fayetteville Narrow- Gauge
Railroad was incorporated a .few years ago, and a road-bed
graded from :Milford northeast, through the northern town­
ships of the county. As yet no track has been laid, but
the early completion of the road, possibly as a standard
gau~e, is confidently expected the coming season.

Five lines of telegraph pass through the county,-viz.,
along the Little MialDi, Marietta, Cincinnati, and Eastern
(on main line and the New·Richmond branch), and along
the Ohio turnpike vio, Amelia and Bethel. The townships
of Miami, Goshen, Union, Batavia, 'Villiamsburgh, Pierce,
and Ohio are thus afforded telegraphic facilities, and the
salDe townships enjoy railway communication.

The wonderful progress and advancement in internal im­
provements and material prosperit,y the county has made is
most strikingly shown in the following pages of statistical
matter, contrasting the old with the new times, and showing
the condition of the county at different periods from 1825
to 1879.

State tax, 15 cents on the $100 valuation.'
Canal tax, 15 cents on the $100 ,·aluation.
County tax, 30 cents on the $100 ntluution.
School tax, 5 cents on the $100 valuation.
Batavia to\Vn~hip tux, 12k cents on the $100 valuation.
WilIiam'sburgh township tax, 3!l cents on the $100 valuation.
Tate township tax, IIi cents on thc $100 valuation.
Franklin township tax, 2i cents on the $100 valuation.
Washington township tax, n cents on the $100 valuation.
Monroe township tax, 6tcents on the $100 valuation.
Ohio township tax, 10 cents on the $100 valuation.

Acres of
land.

Batavia 25,440
WillialDsburgh ..•••••••• 17,418
Tate 28,561
Franklin 24,33:3
Washington .....•.••..•... 22,224
l\Ionroe .......••...•.••••.. lU.4-18
Ohio 22,470
Union 18,075
l\1iallli ...••.•.......•...... 22,U1.I5
Goshen 2U,056
'Vayne 19,U79
Stonelick.................. 19,029
Jackson 18,470

Vallie of
laud.

$460,7-16
274,107
425,217
458,601
421.1,236
344,020
504,583
4:31,378
5-.11.1562
264;908
144057
257;125
153,306

Vullle of
pel'Sonalty.
SI5-.1,I.I:H

81,258
11:~,U7:~

126,3U6
153,027
83,102

176,209
107,U5!
172,5:35

83,530
31,2'.16
70,065
36,571

So in Batavia the tax-payer paid on each one hundred
dollars, 77 ~ cents j in Williamsburgh, 68~'; in Tate, 76t;
in Franklin, 68f; in Washington, 72!; in Monroe, 7U ;
and in Ohio, 75.

The smallness of the school-tax strikes evel'y one, but it

Totals•••••••••.......... 277,598 $4,696,8!8 $1,388,987

From $2,083,441 in 1840, the duplicate jumped up to
$6,085,833 in 1849, showing a marked era of prosperity.
The following was the value in l849 of real estate in the vil-
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The increase of population is shown by comparing the
number of inhabitants in the different decades: in 1810
there were 9965 inhabitants; in 1820, 15,820; in 1830,
20,466; in 1840, 23,106; and for the next three decades
.the population is given by townships:

1850. l~GO. 1870.

Total 30,455 33,079 34,281

\Ve gh?e the census reports for four previous decades:
1810,9965; 1820,15,820; 1830,20,466; 1840,23,10(-;.
The census of the present year (1880), now being taken,
will show the number of inhabitants to have increased to
about 37,000.

FAR~I, ORCHARD, AND STOCK STATISTICS.
'VII EAT. RYE. BtiCKWIIEAT.

----
,----"-----,

Acres. Bushels. Acres. Bushels. Acres. Bushell!.
Batayia............ 1,816 22,772 151 1,:306 8 58
Williamsburgh ... 1,464 16,965 85 571 24 2:$0
Tate ................. 2,00-1 20,391 243 2,022 3 19-
Franklin .......... 1,971 22,303 456 3,8UB 1 8
Washington ...... ],861 21,/125 403 3,295
l\Ionroe............. 1,351 16,:323 . 183 2,]44 -1 37
Ohio ................ 455 1),082 22 255
Pierce .............. 315 3,578 55 590
Union ............... 6.55 . 8,467 54 562 \J UH
l\lill.mi .............. 1,301 16,031 41 305 21 322
Goshen ............. 1,868 2fi,725 ]95 1,721 42 620
"rayne............. 1,5!iO 21,/107 29 420 23 345
Stonelick ......... 1,540 28,679 172 1,6!lS 1-1 140
Jackl;on ............ 1,556 18,806 50 704 7 66

TotltJ. ........... 19,707 2':'9,:354 2,1:19 20,401 156 J,914-

OATS. BARLEY. CORN.

'Acres.
r----'----.....-.- ,...-----.

BUshels. ACl'I'R. BUshels. Acres. Bushels.
BlI.tltvia ............ 1,080 25,212 13 3!JO 3,98-1 135,U85
Williamsburgh .•• 655 14,241 3,403 99,704
Tnte ................. 1,208 23,3:32 14 258 4,442 10!J,637
Pnluldin ........... 772 14,157 3,55-1 86,417
Washington....... 857 18,9i'O 3,735 96,270
<Monroe ............. 917 21,ll70 2,583 69,:360
Ohio ................. 225 5,2!l3 2 53 1,0!IO 37,990
Pierce ............... 338 7,006 963 28,360
Union ............... 825 21,302 1 20 3,U88 107,900
l\Iiluui ............... 1,036 25,002 33 515 6,088 117,175
Goshen ............. 1,101 32,386 3,745 107,800
'Vayne ............. 953 27,077 3,0:38 92,445
Sl.oneliek........... 8!)5 20,976 3,011 92,455
Jackson ............ 1,004 28,690 3,877 93,2-10

'fotal ............. 11,866 285,324 63 1,236 46,601 1,270,838

Batavia....... 2,791
Franklin......... 3,061
Goshen 1,!J37
Jackson 1,241
l\liami......... 2,6!10
l\Ionroe 1,897
Ohio................................. 4,479
Pierce (formerly in Ohio) ..
Stonclick ] ,840
Tate............... 2,901
Unon...... 1,799
'Yashington. 2,540
'Vayne 1,:3114
Williamsburgh. 1,88·!

"::0)

~~"' ....
5;
'" '":::~=:...... ,z
.:0
.. ,8
~(J>

P:<
1.66
I.S0
2.00
1.06
l.n·t
1.9-1
2.54
2.04
2.24
1.12

gj
~

~

~
"=l

~
»
§

2.4
3.0
2.6
2.6
1.6

6
6.0
5.0
7.0

6

3,3:36
3,2l18
1,876
1,659
3,4l11
2,1l8!J
3,375
1,773
1,880
2,483
1,921
2,821
1,6UO
2,:389

=?=
~<

~-o

~~
re r.FJ. •

]ll
~-;;=....
'7.l
7.9

] lUi
6.9
7.7

11.7
12.3

8.3
15.4

3.5

2,!l60
3,392
],832
1,579
2.9!J5
1,9-t4
3,220
1,8114
2,053
2,780
2,005

• 2,700
1,6:31
2,085

'"CD

~.~

~-5
~~
~.t?
e;:
.... :=

o
Q

4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2
4.2

,.;
~

CD

COltI'ORATIOXS. .s
:n

Batavia........................ 2.9
WiJlialllsburgh 2.9
Bethel...... 2.9
Felicity............ .. 2.9
Neville , 2.9
:l\loscow 2.9
New Richmond....................... 2.!l
l\lilfonJ...... 2.!J
Loyeland 2.!J
Boston. 2.9

lages: Batavia, $55,930; \Villiamsburgh, $46,676 ; Bethel,
$:-37,787; Felicity, $78,149; Chilo, $5746; Rural, $3852 ;
Utopia, $2363; Neville, $13,279; Moscow, $23,751; Point
Pleasant, $9789; Van Buren, $4889; Freetown, $510;
New Richmond, $55,798; Palestine, $5460; Milford,
$58,420; Newberry, $1224; New Salisbury, $4200;
Miamiville, $1785; Goshen, $2-!,233; \Voodville, $1762 ;
Edenton, $739; Newtonville, $663; Boston, $7405; Cyn­
thia Ann, $lG64; Monterey, $299; total, $448,381.

The new constitution went into effect in 1851, and the
necessary legislation under it, and the increase of popula­
tion, made a. corresponding increase of Clermont's duplicate,
which ran up to $85,809.85; being the average increase
that obtained in the other counties of the State under the
new system of officers and laws regulating the body politic.
In1862 it was $149,447.40, and in 1868 itwas $18D,272.06,
showing a marked advance and rise as the necessary result
of the long inflation period of prices and the speculative
manner of business.

The taxes in 1879 for all purposes were $224,862,2D9,
divided as follows: Delinquencies and forfeitures, $1l3,­
497.69; county tax, $26,073.36; poor tax, $8691.12 i
bl"idge tax, $14,485.20; building tax, $7242.60;
$18,066,24; township tax, $21,186.36; school tax,
$5D,758.70; dog tax, $3434; town and village tax,
$7425.64; and State tax, $42,007.08. The duplicate stood:
Real property in lands, $D,894,OOO; in lots, $1,148,770;
and in personal proper~y, $3,442,430; total duplicate,
$14,485,200. The county's taxes have increased in about
the same proportion as those of other counties, all brought
about by the same rules of political economy to meet the
requirements of the wants of the people and to keep pace
with the progress of the age.

Hates of taxation in the county in 1879 by townships.
Special school-districts and corporations by mills on the
hundred dollars:

'" == ~ ~f2,.; '" ::<: ~ <:00
d ~::: 0_ d "' ........ _0;:: .... 0 .... =:..
'" ~~ £~

o d... ",,,,
TOWXSlIlI'S. ~ .~~ ,....00 .. 0

;:::~

iI5 -~ fn :=t.o... <
l~~

....
~ca

~~
"::l

~ =~
"0 ~a .~§.... ~.;j= »0 § =tf~Q .... P:<

B:tlavia ................................. 2.9 4.2 7.5 1.46
Willill.lllsburgh .................... ... 2.!l 4.2 4.5 1.16
'fate ...................................... 2.9 4.2 5.7 1.28
:Franklin ................................ 2.9 4.2 5.3 1.2-!
Washington ........................... 2.!J 4.2 4.5 1.16
.Monroe.................................. 2.!l 4.2 5.8 1.29
Ohio ...................................... 2.!J 4.2 10.9 1.80
Pierce .................................... 2.9 4.2 3.9 1.10
Union .................................... 2.9 4.2 5.3 1.24
l\liami .................................... 2.9 4.2 6.3 1.34
Goshen ................................... 2.9 4.2 5.9 ].:30
'Va)·ne ................................... 2.!J 4.2 5.5 1.26
Stoneliek ................................ 2.!l 4.2 6.1 ] .:32
Jackson ................................. 2.9 4.2 5.3 1.24

SPECIAL SCIIOOl.·DISTRII."!'S,
OUTSIDE pF CORPOitATIOXS.

Batavia.................................. 2.9 4.2 8.1 1.52
Williallisburgh ......... .............. 2.9 4.2 8.9 1.60
Bethel .................................... 2.0 4.2 11.3 1.S4
}?elicity ................................. 2.9 4.2 7.9 1.50
Neyille ................................... 2.!I 4.2 8.7 1.58
:\loscoIV ................................. 2.9 4.2 12.7 l.!J8
XcIV Richmond........................ 2.9 '1.2 12.3 1.94
l\lount Carmel ......................... 2.!J 4.2 !1.3 ],64
:l\lilford ................................. 2.!1 4.2 9.3 1.64
l\liami,·i1le .............................. 2.!l 4.2 6.3 1.34
Loveland ................................ 2.!J 3.2 !).3 1.64
Boston ................................... 2.!J 4,.2 5.5 1.26



IN~ERNAL IMPROVEMENTS AND GENERAL STATISTICS.

ORCHARDS.

93

Bal:t\·ia .
'Villiainsburgh ..
Tate .
Franldin .
'V:ishington .
1\'lonroe ..
Ohio .
Pierce ..
Union .
MiallJi. ..
Goshen .
"rayne ..
Stonelick .
Jackson .

Total

Acres.
791
456
668
591
S:l4
5-10
456
44!J
750

1,442
628
:l79
628
367

S,9i9

Appll's.
Bushels.
39,395

'27,045
32,140
36,875
33,195
25,435
10,323
23,1:{5
44,645
35,6:30
22,230
12,245
37,940
23,175

403,408

J'caches.
Bushels.

195
3

322
1,692
1,345

132
892
685

1,790

1,105

8,161

Penrs.
Bushels.

48:3
197

50
426
185
140
190
171

1,569
1,600

233

262
15

5,521

Batavia ..
Williamsburgh .
TILte .
Franklin .
Washington
1\lonroe .
Ohio .
Pierce .
Union .
1\fianli ..
Goshen .
'V:tyne .
Stoneliek ..
Jackson .

HORSES.
Value.

$32,815
26,828
39,280
33,130
29,395
29523
15:890
16,510
24,770
30,610
31.233
25,107'_
21,775
20,245

CATTLE.
VahiA.

$14,155
16,244
22,:{62
14,665
]2,495
13,791
14,225
8,522

15,927
22,545
16.523
11,573
10,975
11,426

:MULES.
Value.
$6,565

5,235
3,415
1,875
2,320
1,340
1,425
5,270
9,005
5,415
1,900
4,689
5,200
3,520

SUEEP.
Value.

$1,490
2,362
4,167

945
860

1,9111
1,329
1,:{65

635
2,471'
2,098
1,1166

761
1,305

HOGS.
Vallie.

$4,O:{0
5,619
6,879
6,295
5,270
5,389
],823
2,156
4,570
6,697
6,500
4,967
4,093
4,567

Total 7,002 3S4,32~ 2,097 1,862,098 563,929 150

SORGIl11~r. JUAPLE-SUGAR. BEES.

Gallons' 'POI nds Gallons
\

Acres. Pounds. Hives. Pounds
SJl'Up. 1 • SJrup. Honey.

Batlt\·i:t .............. 39 2,S{O 15 :J4S S 115
Williamsburgh..... 30 2,263 65 101 1,383
Tate .................. 42 1,692 236 ]44 I,SSO
Fr:mklin ............ 66 1,922 96 lt5 2,371
Wushington ........ 19 1,170 149 2,285
1\'lonroe .............. 2L 1,647 25 lOS 47 803
Ohio .................. 1 105 66 660
Pierce................ ]6 1,381 40 39 3S0
Union................ ]0 753 lOS ISO 2,S50
Miami. .............. 3 70 140 J42 121 4,],;)0
Go~hen ............... 9 273 ISO 1:>2 3.782"Tayne............... 5 413 200 116 2;650
Stonelick ........... 24 1,964 219 5,085
Jackson ............. 27 2,140 95 640

TotaL ............ :H2 70 :1S,712 136 1,436 1,532 29,0:38

GRAPES <\.NJ) WINE. SWEET POTATOES.

Acres Acres ill Pounds GallonsPlo.ntedt
Yinc~·llrd. Gra!lcs. Willc. Acres. Bushels.

in 1870.
Batavia .............. S 2 22,400 700 5 72
Williamsburgh...... 1 25
Tute ................... 2 35
Franklin ............. 2 47 36,500 9,920 41 740
W nshington ......... 60 16,500 1 35
1\lonroe............... 19 42 8,580 795 1 ao
Ohio ................... 52 6,600 45 50
Pierce................. 3 69 69,802 1,418 26 1,415
Union ................. 3 2a 36,750 320 15 1,600
l\1iami. ............... 2 17 ·13,400 98 7 520
Goshen ............... 1 15 40 10
'Vayne ............... 1 3,000 i 20
Stonelick ............ 45 55,450 659 10 1,261
Jackson ..............

Total............... 91 307 268,!J97 13,976 197:l: 5,743

~~ "Acres fOr manure" means llCl'CS plowed under fOr manure.
t "Acres planted" means· the nlllllber set out in the year, and acres

in vineyard meuns total acreage of dncyards, but the acreage was often
imperfectly giyen to the assessors.

Total $377,111 $205,428 $57,394 $19,059 869,755

CAH.RIAGES, WATCHES, PIANOS, AND ORGANS.

CARRIAGES. WATCHES. PU:s'OS
A:s'D ORG,~N8.

No. Value. No. Value. No. Value.
Batavia................. 660 $23,:340 106 $2,465 76 $5,875
Williamsburgh........ 455 12,714 90 568 40 3,560
Tate..................... 548 1,182 100 1,782 46 3,121
Franklin ............... 507 14,750 75 1,995 60 3,055
Washington........... 490 13,075 91 2,1190 50 3,765
1\'lonroe................. 332 11,602 61 897 36 1,920
Ohio ..................... 340 10,7:U 135 3,273 54 5,295
Pierce .................. 391 14,596 36 958 26 2,070
Union .................. 623 24,100 107 1,57S 41 2,975
Miami ................... 682 22,175 15'7 4,175 118 7,560
Goshen ................. 416 14,255 S5 1,669 18 1,780
'Vayne ................. 381 111,59/1 49 415 12 675
Stonelick ............... 339 9,666 61 792 24 1,560
Jackson ................ 323 7,370 19 240 8 290

Total. 6,287 $211,177 1,172 819,797 609 $43,501

OHIO'S SURPLUS REVENUE.

Just before the expiration of President Jackson's second
term Congress divided out among the several Statespl'O mla;

according to their population, all the surplus public money
arising from the sales of the public lands, and of this sum Ohio
received as its share the tilen no inconsiderable sum of
$2,007,260.::34. The General Assembly of the State passed
an act on March 28, 1837; for the distribution and invest­
ment of its proportion of the surplus revenue as aforesaid,
by which act it was divided out pro mta among the several
counties according to their population, and put into the
hands of the county fund commissioners for investment in
loans as could be done to the best ad\'antage. On l\'I~rch

30, 1837, Clermont County received its first and second
installments, $2::3,778.35; in August, 1837, it received its
third and last installment, $11,889.12; total surplus reve­
nue received, $35,667.37. The county fund commissioners
began loaning it out, at 7 per cent. interest, to various
persons throughout the county, taking both real estate (by
mortgage) and personal se<:urity. In 1840 and the two
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subsequent years the following persons borrowed of this
fund on mortgage security: Ezekiel Dimmitt., $200 j John
"Theeler, $300 j Joseph Fagin, $4:00 j Elijah and James
Dennis (for the noted" Tunnel ~lil1"), $1680 j James 'V.
Gudgeon, $300 j Abram Teeter, $1000 j Joseph Post,
$100 j Farman White, $200 j John i'I. Browll, $300 j

Alexander Blair (the old judge), $224 j Gerard Hiley,
$;~OO j William Sloan, $4:00 j James Picken, 8600 j and
Harvey Irvin, $200 j and it was aU paid back with interest,
as the names themselves indicate.

Of the amount received from the State in 1843, 1844,
and 1845 there was paid back (by paying over to county
treasury) $805~.26, and $3000 in 184:6, leaving then in
the county $24,615.11, which was loaned as follows:

To Batavia township S:{,~~5.00

" Wil1ill.llI~bul·gh township 2,-100.00
" TlIte " 2,-120.00
" Franklin " 1,200.00
" Washington JOO.OO
" l\Ionroc " 1,2n{).OO
" Ohio 3,250.00
" Union 1,-115.11
" Miami 2,100.00
" Goshen 2, 1ll0.110
" W:tyne 550.00
" Stonelick 2,200.00
" Jackson "...... !)110.00
" Clermont Count.y S80.00

824,615.11
12 months' interest on $2~,j30.lt at 7 per

cent...... ••••••••• .••••• SI,6IJ 1.1 0
12 months' interest on $880 at IJ per cent..... 52.80

Total intcrest due Sl,713.!)0

But tllat year (1846) some persons were behind in their
interest to the amount of $175.

To manage all that fund for that year there was paid to the
county fund commissioners (distinct and separate officials
from the count.y commissione.·s) as follows: Robert Don­
ham, $18 j Abram Teetor, $20 j and to Hobert Temple,
$18 j to .John Golitfe as attol'lley fees, $3·1.50 j to L. B­
Leeds and A. 1\1. Gest each for print,ing report, $7.50 j and
to John 1\1. Brown, agent of the fund, $75 j in all $180.50,
-about three-fourths of one per cent. In a few years later
the fund was wiped out by the State getting it all back,
and thus the business was closed up.

CHAPTER XIII.

AGRICULTURAL SOCIETIES OF· THE COUNTY.

ABOUT 184:6 there were many evidences of progress and
increasing interest in agricultural life which excited the
most cheering hopes of a future advance of the people
of Clermont in this most important branch of industry.
There was aw.akcned among the farming population a sense
o"f their paramount importance to the State, and how much
more important they might become by the intelligent and
more energetic exercise of their time-honored avocation.
The chain which had bound many of the people to old
usages-good in their day, before other material resources
were so rapidly developed-had become partially broken,
and they began to realize that if they would keep pace
with other industries in an emphatic age of improvement

they must exercise, individually and as masses, constant
skill and intelligence in thcir most useful calling.

The passage of the laws of 1846 and 1847-the former
organizing a State board of agriculture, and directing the
mode of effecting county organizations, and the latter in­
tending to provide a permanent agricultural fund-gave
the people the evidence that their representatives deemed
it important to their individual interest and the interest of
the State that they should combine their energies and cul­
tivate their intellects in order to advance and elevate the
great cause of agriculture to its true position. There is
no truth more universa~ly admitted, and no fact more self­
evident, than that where a great diversity exists in the
industrial pursuits of a people like the community of Cler­
mont, and the agricultural is the predominant interest, all
others mnst depend for their prosperity and success upon
the prosperous condition and continued advancement of
that predominant interest. Its misfortunes are felt, in their
depressing influences, upon all other branches of business,
and its prosperity is equally perceptible in the vigorous
activity given to the varied occupations of society j and
thus is given a rapid increase of the wealth and power of
the State.

FRANKLIN AGRICULTURAL AND HORTICUL­
TURAL SOCIETY.

In 1846 the good fiu'mers of Monroe township-men
who had read with care for years the OIdo Cult i-Vll f01' or
the Gen('see Fa1"mer, and who believed the time had come
fo~ the philanthropist and statesman to fix the standard of
worth high in the intellectual and moral temple of fame,
to fix the taste and elevate farming, the first, greatest, and
noblest of all pursuits, and thereby have the proud satis­
faction of starting his race onward and upwardto that high
destiny in reservation for yet purer and nobler intelligences
-organized The Franldin A..q1'1·cultuml and HOl'ticultuml
Society, the name being taken from that old and time-hon­
ored locality of the township so noted in the intellectual
3nnals of the county, and where most of the organizers
resided. The officers for the first year were James Fergu­
son, President j Charles Robb, Secret~ry; George J. Nichols,
Treasurer j with an Executive Committee of Thomas Don­
aldson, J. K. Parker, and John A. Simmons. In its first
year it boasted of fifty-six members, maintained an inde­
pendent fair, levied no assessments, drew no county funds,
paid no premiums in money, but made its certificate of
merit suffice. The exhibition of farm- and garden-products
held that year was the first in the county, and was the
occasion of much interest. The beginning, though hum­
ble, served as the foundation for other agricultural societies,
which would spring up and advance the growing interests
which in a measure hud been dormant for many years.
The members of the society were encouraged to believe,
from the success which attended their efforts, that the time
for planting and sowing "by the signs" and "the right
time in the moon" had gone by, and should give pluce to
knowledge based on the sciences,which would enable them
to transform some farms from comparative wastes to most
fruitful spots. They concluded that ignorance, bad. tillage,
and bad government tended to give supremacy t? an element
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which would ruin any country, and to counteract these
effects the people must be continually educated by some
such means as they had so auspicious!y established.

In 18-1-7 the officers of the society were George J.
Nichols, President; Charles Robb, Secretary; and its
second exhibition was a marked improvement over the pre­
vious year, with increased attendance. There had also, by
its gencral influences, been created a gradual advance in
agriculture and education; the public mind was getting
aroused, and the diffusion of knowledge by means of books,
papers, lyceums, and lecturos was lifting people up and out
of the old ruts of stagnation that had too long prevailed.

In 1848 its officers were 'William H. Ferguson, Prc8i­
dent; Dr. A. V. Hopkins, Vice-President; John Han­
cock, Secretary; Jeptha Jones, Treasurer; Francis Fergu­
son, R. H. Archard, and William Cook, Board of 1\:Ian-
agel's.

_In 1849 its officers were Charles Robb, President; George
J .. Nichols, Vice-President; John Hancock, Secretary;
Jeptha Jones, Treasurer; Francis Ferguson, O. N. Brown­
ing, and W. J. Nichols, Board of :Managers. This was the
last year of its existence as a separate society, it being
merged into Tlte Clermont County Agricultural Society,
which nearly all its old-members joined, and in which they
took a very active part. The first general law in Ohio for
the encouragement of agriculture was the act of the General
Assembly passed Feb. 27, 1846, appointing a State board
of agriculture and encouraging the formation of " county
societies," which was followed by the laws enacted Feb. 8,
1847, and of Feb. 18, 1848, under which a regularlyor­
ganized county agricultural society could draw annually a
certain sum from the agricultural fund collccted from divers
sources, and which has been gradually augmenting until at
present it amounts to about one hundred and seventy-five
dollars in Clermont County.

To avail themselve8 of the provision of the above laws,
the farmers organized themgelves into the foregoing society,
J ~ne 9, 1849, and elected, as the first officers, Thomas L.
Shields, President; Philip B. Swing, Treasurer. By the
time the first fair was held, Sept. 28, 1849, on the grounds
of Dr. Pinkham, near Bantam, one hundred and ten mem­
bers had been enrolled, and on the day of the fair, contrary
to the expectations of some, a large crowd was assembled,
not less than. two thousand persons. The exhibit.ion was
quite a respectable one, and a great deal of enthusiasm pre­
vailed and was well sustained throughout the two days de­
voted to it. Among the members were a number of young
nlfmers who had devoted much time to the study of agri­
cultural chemistry and its kindred sciences, and who were
determined that the fair should have a grand future. The
receipts and expenditures for the year were:

RecciptlJ.
Amount received from one hundred nnd ten

mcmbers (being their subscription at one dollar
ench) $110

Amount rcceived from County Treasurer 110

1'otl11 amount received........................... $220

Exprwcl1"tll1·C8.
Paid out in premiums $176
Pltid the secretary...... 4

$180
Balallce on hI1Dd...... 40

For the year 1850 the officers were: President, Samuel
R. S. West, of Olive Branch; Vice.President, Thomas
Hitch, of Bantam; Secretary, J'ohn Hancock, of New
Richmond; Treasurer, L. D. Salt, of \Yilliamsburgh; Board
of Managers, John Page, Emor Johnson, B. W. Pease;
Aaron Fagin, and Charles Robb.

The rules and. regulations adopted the year previous
(June 9, 1849) provided that the officers should consist
of a president, vice-president, treasurer, secretary, and five
managers, who, together, constituted. a board of directors,
for the general management of the affairs of the society,
and who should be' elected annually by its members, and
hold their offices until their successors were appointed.
The members had to be residents of the county and to pay
to the treasurer the sum of one dollar annually. Com­
petitors for the premiums had to be members, and it was
required that a li8t of the articles for premiums should be
published· in a newspaper or hand-bills at least one month
previous -to the day of' exhibition. All articles offered for
premiums had to be owned by the persons offering the
same, or by members of their families, and products of the
soil or manufactured articles had to be produced or manu­
factured within the county. Provi8ions were made for
awarding committees of three persons each, to be yearly
appointed, for judging the different classes of articles put
in competitio~ and awarding the premiums for the same.
Competitors for premiums on crops and other' improve­
ments were required to comply with the law in furnishing
full and correct statements of the process and expense of
culture and production, etc., and to have the ground and
its produce accurately measured by not less than two disin­
terested persons, whose statements were to be verifie~ by
affidavits. Premiums were not awarded on grain- and
grass-crops for less than one acre, or on root-crops for less
than one-fourth acre, and the whole qqantity produced on
the amount of land specified had to be measured or weighed,
-root-crops by weight (divested of the tops), sixty pounds
to the bushel, and grain-crops according to the usual stand­
ards; and the directors had to make rules as to other crops
and productions. The annual exhibition had to be held
between the first days of September and November, but the
premiums on crops could be awarded at a later period if
found necessary.

The second annual fair of this society was held at
"Slade's Tavern," on the Ohio turnpike, on Friday and
Saturday, Sept. 27 and 28, 1850. The first day was de­
voted to the exhibition of live-stock and farm-wagons. The
exhibition of' horses and hofned cattle was a fine one, su­
perior to any ever had in the county; excelling, in the
opinion of competent judge4, its exhibition of the previous
year by fifty per cent.. . The number of fine short·horns ex­
hibited was especially gratifying to those who took an in­
terest in improvement in that kind of stock, and the show
of horses was grand. The second day's exhibition was the
mo~t attractive, and the show of fine fruit was hard to
excel; the array of specimens of vegetables was imposing,
and the handiwork of the ladies-the first ever exhibited
in Clermont-elegant and beautiful. The number of arti­
cles entered were double'the previous year, and many beau­
tiful bouquets of flowers lent interest to the tables. The
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number in attendance on this day was over five thousand
people, being one of the largest gatherings ever seen in

Clermont.
The following were the premiums awanled: Honey,

first, W. P. li'ishback. Butter, cheese: first, 1\1rs. Dr.
1\1cCall. Farmillg implements: best plow, Jones & Wil­
mington; best ~rain-cradle, ·W. P. Thornton; 'best cul­
tivator, ArneI' Talley; best top-buggy, P. S. Jones; best
buggy without top, D. C. 'fice; second best, \V. P. Thorn­
ton. Manufactured articles: best barrel flour, J.J. C.
1\1oore; best hat, John Dimmitt; best variety of woolen
rolls, J. E. Offutt; best variety of stockin~.yarn, IUiss
Hannah Simmons; best hose and mitts for children, :Miss
1\1. R Salt; best blankets, Mrs. 1\1. Spahr; best cover­
let, Mrs. N. A. Hitch; second, Joseph Hammond; best
merino wool hose, 1\1rs. Dr. MeCall; best Saxony wool­
yarn, same; best variety rug-yarn, same; hest quilt, 1\Irs.
E. P. Winans; second, Miss H. Manker; best counter­
pane, 1\1iss S. ~l'ate ; second, 1\1rs. John Salt; best shell­
work, Mrs. Warren Pease; best wax-work, lUiss E. \Vest;
best hearth-rug, 1\:Irs. S. G. Clark; second, Mrs. Dr. McCall ;
best rag hearth-rug, Miss R. Page j best bead bag, Miss
1\'1. Butler; second, Miss D. Hodges; two fine ottomans,
Miss Eliza \Vilson; best worsted picture, 1\1rs. M. Clark;
second, Mrs. 'Van'en Pease; best lace crape, Mrs. Dr.
Rogers; best candlestand.mat, Mrs. A. Lane; best toilet­
cushion, 1\1rs. A. P. Nicholson j best card-basket, Miss E.
H. Donaldson; second, Miss A. Donaldson; best stand­
cover, Mrs. Thomas Donaldson; second, Miss Hebecca
Page; best Catawba wine, John 'Villiamson.

Non-enumerated articles: best corn brooms, ·William
Gray; second, S. Cordry; best kip boots, Thomus V.
Cazel; best variety cutlery, John Donnel; best churn, J.
D. Ackley; second, Walter Butler. .Fhtits.-Apples: first,
G. Ulrey; second, Thomas Donaldson. Peaches: first, R.
Neale; second, Alexander Smith. Figs: first, B. II. Sim­
mons. Grapes: first, John Williamson: second, .A lexander
Smith. Quinces; first, Walter Butler; second, Robert
Neale. Pears: first, Hobert Neale. Grain and vegetables:
best beets, 'Yiltshire Salt j pumpkins, Jacob Dair j second,
E. S. Ifarden. j seedling potatoes, George Fisher.

Certificates were awarded on the following: Best yellow
corn, Samuel Iden; second, L. R. J.Jeeds; whitc co~n,

James Fagin; pop-corn, \V. P. Thornton j China wheat,
Thomas Donaldson j best variety of millet, John Salt j po­
tatoGE:, :Ii]. S. Harden; second, Robert Kyle j sweet potatoes,
\Yiltshire Salt j mammoth sturbling, E. Hodges jmammoth
gourd, Samuel Simpson; onions, John Nichols j cucumbers,
L. It. Leeds j watermelons, same; tomatoes, E. S. Burden;
second, A. Coombs; best peppers, C. B. Huber. Flowe1:S.
-Coxcomb and varieties, l\Irs. John Pnge; best choice
flowers, Mrs. S. G. Clarke j second best, 1\1rs. Johnston j
best variety of verbenas, 1\1rs. S. G. Clarke j best variety of
China asters, Mrs. House j second best, 1\:Irs. '1.'hol11as Don­
aldson j und a fine centUl'y-plant, Mrs. S. H. S. West.

Thus closed the second fail' of this society, which greatly
promoted the public taste, and exceeded the anticipations
of its managers.

The following is a list of officers of the society from 1851
to 1856: "

JS;j!.-l'rl'sident, Samuel H. S. West; Viee-Presiuent, .John 'Fergu­
SOli; Secretary, John Hancock; Treasurer, L. D. Salt;
l\I:tllagers, Aaron D. Fagin, .John Page, Hobert Kyle, John
II. Branch, and Lindsey C. ~Hoore.

IS52.-President, S. It. S. West; Vice-President, .John Fel'gnson;
Secretary, Andrew Coombs; Treasurer, L. D. Salt; Man­
agers, John II. Branch, Hubert Kyle, Jr., Daniel Houde­
bush, Jonathltll It. Corbly, A. D. Fagin. Fl1ir held this
year on Slade's ground, ncar Bantam.

I853.-President, John Ferguson; Viee-Ilresident, John II. Branch;
Secretary, J. 1'1. McGrew; Treasurer, L. D. Salt; Managers,
Daniel Roudebush, Aaron D. Fagin, Thomas Hitch, Henry
G. lIuilllllonu, and Alexander SlIlitlJ.

I85-J..-President, S. R. S. West; Vice-Presiuent, Thomas Hitch; Sec­
ret:try, F. lJonahlson; Treasurer, James l\IcMurchy; Man­
agers, Elbridge G. Riel,er, L. D. Salt, John II. Branch,
lIenry G. Hammond, l1nu Mott Titus.

IS55.-President, Aaron D. Fagin; Vice-President, Thomas Donnld­
son; Secretar.r, Charles Robb; Treasurer, James l\Ic­
Murchy; l\fl1uagers, Benjamiu Archer, John H. Branch,
Elishn. Emery, Shutlraeh Dinl, nnd Riehl1rd Pemberton.

IS56.-President, .John H. Bl'l1neh; Vice-President, John Shaw;
- Secretary, William Donaldson; Treasurer, James Me­

Murehy; Managers, Riclutrd Pemberton, John M. Hutchin­
son, Joseph McConnell, George S. Swing, and Edward W.
Salt.

This year there was a divishm of the members composin~

the Clermont County Agricultural Society, the board of
management-save one manager, 1\Ir. Pemberton-moving
the fuir to Olive Branch, where it was held on September
16th to 19th j and its action being sustained by a majority
of the justly-constituted authorities of the society, this so­
ciety was recognized by the State board and civil authori­
ties as the regular fair, and has been from that time to the
present. '1.'be division was unfortunate, and led to bitter
animosities, now happily ended.

The society had, on l\'Iarch 11, 1853, bought of John
Slade, near Bantam, five and one·half acres aod taken a.
deed for same, made to Daniel Roudebush, Alex. Smith,
A. D. Fagin, Thomas Hitch, H. G. Hammond, its man­
agers, and there was some squabble in the controversy over
this and its other property, but the differences were finally
settled, and Tlte Clermont County Agricultll1'Cll Society
near Buntam was organized. In 1857 the society, in
order to form a more perfect union and concert of action
among the agriculturists and mechanics of the county, re­
vised and amended its rules adopted'on June 9, 1849, by a
new· constitution, made on January 3d, and made Olive
Branch the site for future exhibitions, where it leased for
five years splendid grounds of Major Samuel R. S. West.

. Officers for this year: President, John H. Branch;
Vice-President, L. D. Salt j Secretary, \VilIiam Donaldson j
Treasurers, W. P. Fishback, H. N. Talley j Board of Man­
agers, Joseph McConnell, Shadrach Dial, John Applegate,
S. R. S. West., George S. Swing, E. G. Beck, Mott Titus,
John Kugler, J. \V. Sweeney, Dr. S. L'Hommedieu,
James Crosson, and Jacob Ebersole. The last three· re­
signed, and Fishback, the treasurer, also resigning, he was
suec.eeded by Talley.

The first exhibition under the reorganization, and ninth
one since it was fil'st established, was held at Olive Branch
on September 8th, 9th, 10th, and 11th, with A. C. Glan­
cey as chief marshal, and was a grand success in numbers,
spirit, and the amount and quality of entries in the various
departments. .
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The following were the cxeeutive committees:

On cattle, Joseph McConnell; horses, Shadraeh Dial; hogs and sheep,
John Applegate; poultry, S. R. S. West; mechanical department,
George S. Swing and E. G. Beck; Floral IIItJI , Mott Titus; age
of horses, Robert Kyle, T. K. Holleman, W. P. Linegar; to al'­
range Floral H:tll, L. C.l\Ioore, n. W. Pease, and T. V. Petticolas.

The following were the awarding committees:

Class A (1-3), John Burns, Emor Johnson, John Porter, Samuel
Wearer, ltnd Col. Bond; Class A (4-8), Stephen MOllnt, Elijah
Brazier, William Fuller, John G. Buchanan, Williltm Terwilliger;
Clltss A (sweepstakes), O. T. I<'ishbuck, Darius Perin, William
Eclwu.rds, lIol'atio Bucldnghtlll, 1'urpin Daughters.

Class D (horses), John Dimmitt, D. lIt Lockwood, William Ulrey,
Cyrus McFarland, Peter Anderson; ClttsS II (swecpstakes), David
McAfcc, Zachariah I\.yle, SillIs R. Hutcllinson, llIair Jeffries,
Jacob Ebersole.

Class C (jltCks ILnu mules), Emly Barber, Henry Beagle, George Wage­
man. George B. Harry, J. D. Hatfield; Class C (sweepstakes),
Thomas Donaldson, N. B. Gatch, Elias Wood, James Sargent,
Nathuniel Temple.

CIlJ.sS D (sheep), E. G. Ricl,er, Thomns Thompson, Elisha Emery, Jo­
seph Kidd, Alfred E. Davis.

CIllss E (swine). William Curry, John Emery, Daniel Turner, Jllmes
Tate, Decatur Wylie; Class E (sweepstakes), Andrew Bellgle,
Andrew Byrus, Willium Idell, Duniel Roberts, Robert Davidson.

Class F (poultry), W. A. Townsley, II. V. Kerr, W. T. Rice, L. D.
1\fanning, Dr. Thomas Brown.

Clnss G (farm implements), P. S. Jones, Charles S. Griffith, S. B. Sims,
Aim Wltfd, John Page.

Class H (wheel-carriages), Solomon Beckilt, F. H. Allen, Williltm
Walker, Levi Wilmington, Le\'i R. White.

Class I (dairy- Itnd farm-products), Mr. and Mrs. Mark Buckingham,
Mrs. N. Benedict, Mrs. George S. Swing, Mrs.•Tohn Applegate,
Mrs. Nancy Huber, Mrs. Shadrach Dial, Mrs. George R. Wage­
mlln, .Mrs. Thomas Thompson; Clnss I (flour, melt!s, and meats),
William Brunson, J. S. Dustin, n. Ereland, Samuel Perin, Wil­
liam Sturges.

Class J (grains and ,-egetables), John M. Sweeney, John Ramsey,
S. L. Apple, John Iloltcr, John Coulter.

Clnss J{ (fruits), J. H. IUce, Samuel Paxton, Jacob Ebersole, Thomas
Donaldson, Davis Crane.

Class L (flowers), :Mr. and Mrs. James McMurchy, Mrs. George W.
Dennison, Mrs. Nancy Wayland, Mrs. Joseph Parrish, Mrs. S.
Clarke, Mrs. P. B. Gatch, l'Irs. J. H. Branch, Miss 1'1. Paxton,
Miss Lizzie Ml.Connell, l\liss Olh-ia Whitaker.

Class 1\1 (paintings anll dl'awings), Mi5s Rebeeclt Gatch, Miss E. B.
Fishblwk, Miss Carrie Hopkins, Mr. and Mrs. D. W. Stephens,
MI'. ltnu l\Irs. J. A. Sloan, MI·s. John Lytle) Miss Carrie Thomp­
son, Miss Louisa Whitaker, Miss C. Emery, Miss Emma Drake.

Class N (needle-, shell-, and wax-work), l\:Irs. J. D. Morris, Mrs. W.
C. Pinkillun, Miss Bond, Miss Rebecca Hill, Miss Judith Peter­
son, Miss M. Wilson, Miss Wood, Miss Mary Curry, l\Iiss Jane
Bragg. Miss Mary Avey, Miss Emily Donaldson, Miss S. Pollard.

Class 0 (domestic and other manufactures), Mrs. F. T. Dona.hlsoll,
Mrs. William :Fuller, Mrs. Hetty Rice, Mrs. Philip Stewart, Mrs.
David Cazel, Mrs. William Robinson, Mrs. Henry Beagle, 1\1rs.
D. l\L Dinl.

Class P (leather and its manufactures), W. ll. Pease, Lamanda Park,
T. J. Cazel, Duniel PompeII)', Thomas 1\1. Kennelly.

Class Q(gums), Caleb Williams, Moses Frybargel', Dowty Utter, Rob­
ert Jcffries, Gideon Witham.

Class B. (miscellaneous and designs), Philip Stewart, J. W. Gest,
James Crosson, John Johnston, John M. Robinson.

Cluss S (field-crops), board of directors.
Class 'f (fllrms), Dr. John P. Emery, S. H. S. West, Thomas Donald­

son, George Duckwall, Robert Kyle, Josiah Higdon.
Non-enumemted articles in Floral Hull, Mrs. Ann Curpenter, Mrs.

Jacob Dair, Mrs. M. Ja.mison, Mrs. M. B. Gatch, Mrs. John H.
llranch; riding and driving, Thomas Parrish, Hanson L. Penn,
Philip B. Swing, Randolph Shaw, Dr. P. B. Gatch, 1\1. H. Davis,
D. W. C. Loudon, J. P. Wilson, Samuel Edwards, William Long;
plowing IDatch, Edward Edwards, Joseph Avey, William S.
Gatch, Robert R,yle, Jr., W. P. CIltxton, Aaron :Fagin, Col. Wil.

la

Ham ltamsey; music, Miss Lizzie McConnell, Miss Sallie Dob­
bins, :1\11'5. W. C. Pinkhltm, Thomas M. Lewis, John C. Reakirt.

An able address was delivered by Judge Bellamy Storer,
of Oincinnati. In November the following premiums on
field-crops were awarded: For best five acres" white flint"
wheat, thirty-one bushels per acre, D. M. Parker, ten' dol­
lars; Jor best acre Irish potatoes, two hundred and forty
bushels pel' acre, F. & \V. Donaldson, six dollars; for best
one-seventh acre ef field-beets, five hundred and ninety­
five ·bushels pel' acre, same, three dollars; for best one-half
acre Irish potatocs, two hundred and six bushels per aero,
Thomas Donaldson,. three dollars.

The following are the officers from 1858 to 1862 :

lS58.-President, John Kugler. of Milford; Vice-President, L. D.
Salt, of Williamsburgb; Sccretary, William Donaldson, of
New Richmond; Treasurer, Mott Titus, of Batlwia; Direct­
ors: E. G. Becl" New Richmond ; John H. Branch, Branch
Hill; William Ulrey, Boston; B. W. Pease, Amelia; George
S. Swing, Perin's Mills; John Applegate, Goshen; Samuel
Lane, Mount Carmel; Shadrach Dial, AmEl'Iia ; S. R. S.
We~t, Olh-e Branch; Mar~hu.l of the Fair, A. C. Glancey.

185!).-Pre~ident, John Kugler; Vice-President, A. C. Glancey;
Treasurer, J. S. Dustine; Secretary, Mott Titus; Managers,
John Applegate, J. L. Woodward, S. R. S. West, Cyrus Mc­
Farland, A. M. Gatch, B. W. Pease, Alfred Holter, William

. Donaldson, William Ulrey, W. C. Pinkham (to supply place
of Applegate, resigned).

1860.-President, John Kugler; Vice-President, John Applegate;
Secreta.ry, William C. Pinkham; Tr::easurer, Jesse S. Dus­
tin; Manager::, William Donaldson, B. W. Pease, Robert
Fuller, Cyrus McFarland, Augustus Oskamp, Daniel S.
Smith, Mott Titus, David Meek, Abram Beatty.

186L-President, John Kugler; Vice-President, John Applegate (who
resigned, and ShlLllracb Dial was chosen); Secretary, W. C.
Pinkham; Treasurer, G. "'.Hulick; Managers, EmorJohn­
son. Jacob Ebersole, William E. Mears, William Donaldson,
Henry HilI, C. 1l.Brower, Otis DUdle:r, Jr., N. W. Jordan,
Alfred Holter.

The fair was held on Septembcr 3d,. 4th, 5th, and 6th.
B. W. Pease, A. H. Beatty: and John L. Weaver were
elected managers in place of Jacob }i~bersole, Otis Dudley,
Jr., and N. W. Jordan, whose seats were declared vacant
for non-attendance, and, Beatty declining,John Grant filled
his place at the business and meetings of the board.

1862.-President, Shadrach Dial; Vice-President, Wimam E. Mears;
Secretary, G. W. Hulick; 'rreu.surer, Jesse S. Dustin: Man­
agers, B. W. Pcase, F. J. Roudebush, Alfred lIoUer, John
L. Wc:wer, A. M. Gatch, John Hall, A. H. Beatty, J. n.
Sharp, P. S. Jones.

The fourteenth annual fair was held at the fair-grounds,
near Olive Branch, on September 9th to 12th inclusive.
Owing to the distracted condition of the country, the agri­
cultural interests of the county had been materially affected,
and especially so about tlle time of the fair, as a rebel mid
was hourly expected on the border, the large army of
Confederates under Gen. Kirby Smith lying just back of
Covington, Ky., and menacing Oincinnati. Thus a com­
bination of circumstances was produced that caused almost
a failure of the exhibition, while the people, under these
extraordinary circumstances, evinced a disposition to attend
closely to their farm-work,-to growing large crops and
storing their barns for the sole purpose of paying their
debts and meeting war expenses and w.ar taxes, neglecting
the while to cultivate a generous competition i1}.the best
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method of farming and the bcst quality of the product. The
mcmbership was two hundred and.ninety-four; the fililing
off from previous years was owing to the war.

This year's exhibition showed that the raising of tobacco
was becoming a most profitable business along the Ohio
Hiver hills, and the creeks thcreof; that the quality of
cattle was steadily improving in Clermont, and that consid­
erable attention was being given to the raising of mules,
some farmers giving their entire extra time to jacks and
mules. The most beautiful feature of this filir was the
interest given to the culture of flowers, and this year Floral
Hall was richly decorated with them, natural and artificial,
displaying a taste that had evidently grown up with the
agricultural associations of the county. Mrs. Frances D.
Gage, of national filme as a speaker and writer, delivered
an able address, which llad a happy effect upon the mind
of the ladies, and they learned lllany things about house­
wifery which they never dreamed of before; while the
" old farmers" had to acknowledge that they had not lis­
tuned in vain to her suggestions on raising stock, etc.

In 1863 tIle officers were as follows: President, Shad­
raeh Dial; Vice-I>resident, 'Villiam K Mears; Secretary,
:Mahlon H. Medary; 1'reasurer, J. S. Dustin; l\!anagers,
'Villiarn Edwards, John Hall, Benjamin Behymer, A. H.
]~eatty, Alfi'ed Holter, John L. 'Vcaver, 1\1. G. Pease, A.
M. Gatch, 'V. C. Dole (Mr. Edwards declining, his place
was filled by S. S. Sutton, of Mount 'Vashington).

The officers for 1864 were: President, John H. Branch;
Vice-President, Alfred Holter; Secretary, William E.
Mears; Treasurer, 'Vesley C. Dole; .Managers, Edward
}~dwards, !>eter U. Snell, William Marsh, K J. Emery, J.
H. Thompson, R. Irvin, John 'V. Duckwall, John L.
'Vcaver, N. A. Day (:Mr. Edwards declining, Ellior John­
son was afterwards chosen in his place).

This year the annual fair (the sixteenth exhibition) was
held at its new grounds adjoining the pleasant and prosper­
ous village of Boston, where the board purchased of Fred­
erick Mossett twenty-three and eleven-twenty-fifths acres of
land at forty-five dollars per acre, amounting to one thousand
aud fifty-five dollars, and for which they received deed of'
general warranty dated on Aug. 29, 1867, when the pay­
ments were completed. Although Col. John H. Branch
was president, he acted as marshal this year, as he had
from and during the fair of 1859, and continued to do up
to the year] 874, when he declined further service, having
served fifteen years; and during that year, and to date,
Gen. 1\1. J. W. Holter has been the marshal, and, like his
lamented predecessor, makes a gallant and efficient official.

The officers from 1865 to 1880 are named below:

1SIl5.-l'resident, John II. Branch; Vice-l'rcsident, Alfred lioUer;
Sccrctary, Willilun E..i\Iears; Treasurer, Weslcy C. Dolo;
1\[anngers, John W. Duckwall, John L. WClwer, .John W.
T1iompson, John Applcgate, Emor Juhnson, F. J. Roudc­
bush, F. X. Iuell, Heuben Hue, Samuel Titus. (~Ir, Apple­
glltc declining, his place was filled by the election of Will.
McNutt, of Jackson towuship.)

IS66.-Prcsident, John H. Branch; Vice-President, Alfred lIoUer;
Secretary, Wm. E. Mears; Treasurer, Samuel Titus. (By
a change of the constitution the number of the managers
was increased frol11 nine to ten, and the following wero
elected: .Johu W. Duckwall, "'111 . .McNutt, ISIluc Ferree,

·Willbm Marsh, A. Hedding, J. :to Wcaver, Emor Johnson,

Itichanl Roudebush, John W. Thompson, .John ·B. Need­
ham,-the first five for one ~'ear and tho other five fur two
yC1US, as was decided by casting lots.)

1S6i.-President, William E. Moars; Vice-President, John W. Duck­
wall; Sccretn.ry, Fra nk Browning j Treasurcr, Samucl Titus;
Managel's, Isaac Ferree, 'Vm. McNutt, 'Vm. Marsh, Au­
gustus Osl,amp, Natlmn A. Day, John L. 'Veaver, Emur
JOhD80ll, H. Roudcbush, J. W. Thompson, J. B. Needhum.

lS6S.-Prcsident, Dr.•J. L. Woodward; Vice-Prcsident, John W.
Duckwall; Secretary, Frank Browning; Treasurer, Samuel
Titus; Managers, J. L. Welwel', .J. L. Telll, F. J. Roude­
bush, D. F. Clark, Hichard Houdcbush, Isaac Ferree, Wm.
.;\IcNutt, Will. :\Ilush, A. Oslmmp, N. A. Day.

lS69.-l'rcsi<1cllt, John W. Duckwall; Vicc-President, John L.
Wcaver; Secretary, Frank Browning; Treasurer, Moses
Duckwall; Managers, A. 1\1. :Marsh, P. S. Gatch, W. T.
lIartman, William Tudor. Isaac Ferree, J. L. Teal, J. L.
Wea\'er, F. J. llolllicbush, R. Roudcbush, B. F. Clark.

lSiO.-Presitlent, John W. Duckwall; Vice· President, John L.
Weaver; Secretary, C. N. Drowning; Treasurer, Stephen
Robinson; ~Ianagers, J. I,. Teal, B. }<'. Clark, F. J. Houdc­
bush, Samucl Titus, Marion :i\Iycrs, William Tudor, Isaac
Ferrce, A. 1'1. l\Iarsh, W. T. Hartman, P. S. Gatch.

ISil.-President, J uhn L. Weaver; Vice-President, A. l\I. l'Iarsh;
Secretary, 'V. E. Me:lrs; Treasurer, Stephen ltobimon;
:Managers, Samuel Titus, F. J. Roudebush, Jesse L. Tenl,
Marion 1'lyers, B. F. Clark, Wm. Marsh, William Tudur,
William T. Hartman, ISllllC Ferree, Philip S. Gutch.

lSi2.-President, John L. Wca\'er; Vice-President, A. .;\1. Marsh;
Secretary, 'Yilliam E. Mears; Treasurer, John ,Yo Duek­
willi; l'bnagers, Jesse L. 'feal, Marion 1'lyers, Samuel
'fitus, B. F. Clark, F. J. Roudebush, 'YIll. Marsh, Will.
Tudor, WIll. T. Hartman, Philip S. Gatch, and Isaac Ferree.
(The exhibition held this year was on September 3d, 'Hh,
5th, and 6th, and, though politics was engrossing to a great
extent the attention of the people,-it being the year of
Presidential election,-the fair W:lS a grand success pccu­
niarily and in the articles and stock exhibited.)

lSi3.-Presidellt, F. J. Roudebush; Vice-President, William Tudor;
Secretar,r, Richard A. South; Treasurer, John W. Duck­
wall; 1'1anagers, J. O. Itapp, William S. Atchley, Jacob
Bums, Daniel D. l'Iarsh, P. S. Gatch, John L. 'V-ca\'er,
Erastus Hulick, Richard Shumard, Samuel Titus, l'Iarion
Mycrs, J. L. Teal, and 13. F. Clark (Titus and Burns re­
signed).

ISH.-President, F. J. Roudebush; Vice-President, -- ---;
Secretary, n. A. South; Treasurer, J. W. Duckwall; Mana­
gers, J. O. Rapp, William S. Atchley, Daniel D. .i\Iarsh, P.
S. Gatch, John L. Weaver, Erastus Hulick, Richard Shu­
lIl:lrd, Zed South, Willium J. Rust, .Marion .;\lyers.

IS75.-President, William Tudor; Vice-President, J. O. H.app; Sec­
retary, R. A. South; Treasur.cr, J. 'V. Duckwall; .i\Ianagers,
S. J. Rybolt, F. J. Roudebush, D. D. Marsh, Thomas Dough­
erty, W. S. Atchley, Marion Myers, Zed Soutb, Wilh'am J.
Rust, Erastus Hulick, lInel John L. Weaver.

ISi6.-President, William Tudor; Vice-President, J. O. Rapp; Sec­
retary, R. A. South; Treasurer, J. 'V. Duckwall; i'Ianagers,
Mltrion l\IJ'er~, Merritt Johnson, Era.stus Hulick, John L.
Weal'cr, Zcd South, Stephen J. Rybolt, F. J. ltoudebush,
D. D. .i\11ll"sh, W. S. Atchley, TholUas Dougherty.

lSii.-Prcsident, J. O. Rapp; Vice-Hresident, S. J. Rybolt; Secre­
tltry, It. A. South; Treasurer, J. W. Duckwall; Managers,
'I'honlns Doughert,y, F. J. Roudebush, D. D. l'Iarsh, W. S.
Atchley, William 'fudol", Marion Myers, Merritt Johnson,
Zed South, John L. Wcaver, Erastus Hulick~

·ISiS.-President, .r.--o. Rapp; Vice-l'resident, S. J. Rybolt; Secre­
tary, It. A. South; Treasurer, J. 'V. Duckwall; Managers,
'£holllus Dougherty, G. J. Roudebush, D. D. .i\Iarsh, W. S.
Atchle~', William Tudor, Erastus Hulick, W. W. Hulick,
l\Iarion :Myers, Merritt Johnson, and Zed Svuth.

lS79.-President, S. J. R~'bolt; Vice-President, Marion Myers; Sec­
retar~', R. A. South; TreaslUer, J. W. Duckwall; Managers,
Erastus Hulick, W. 'Yo Hulick, l\Ierritt Johnson, Zed South,
J. O. B.app, F. J. Roudebush, D. D. :Marsh, A. M. Marsh,
J. D. l\IcKec\'er, and A. F. Queal.
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THE CLERMONT COUNTY AGRICULTURAL, HOH­
TICULTURAL, AND MECHANIC AHTS ASSOCIA­
TION.

In the summer of 1856, the Clermont County Agricul­
tural Society, which had held seven annual exhibitions,

1880.-President, S. J. Rybolt; Vice-President, Marion Myers; Sec­
retary, Herman S. Hulick; Treasurer, J. W. Duckwall;
Managers, W. W. Hulick, Erastus Hulick, J. R. Brown, Zed
South, J. O. R;tpp, F .•J. Roudebush, D. D. 1\1:tr511, A. 1\L
1\1arsh, J. D. 1\IeKee\'el', and A. P. Quea!.

The last annual exhibition of this society was held at
Boston from September 2d to 5th inclusive, it being the

. thirty-first since its creation, on June 9, 1849, and was
conducted under the auspices of the officers heretofore
<riven with the followinO' superintendents: On horses, J.M , 0 .

O. Rupp and D. D. Marsh j cattle, sheep, and swine, J. D.
McKeever; Mechanics' Hall, A. M. Marsh; fruit, A. F.
Queal; pantry-products, Merritt Johnson; flowers, ·1\1rs.
Clura Titus; domestic manufactures, ·W. 'V. Hulick;
Floral Hall, Erastus Hulick. The first day was devoted
to O'eneral preparation, entries, and arrangement of all

o . fi
articles and stock, passage through the gates being ree.
1'he second was devoted to horses for all purposes, cattle,
including cross, imported, and between native and imported.
The third day was given up to draught, fine and light
harness-horses, carriage and farm-teams matched, buggy­
teams for driving in pairs or single, sheep with a grade
between native and pure, swine, poultry, farm-implements,
wheel-carriages and machinery, filrm-products, dairy- and
pantry-products, grains and seeds, vegetables, pets, fruits,
flowers, needle-work and embroidery, wax-work, domestic
manufactures, leather goods, paintings and drawings, me­
chanics, manufactures. The fourth and last day was occu­
pied in the pacing-match and exhibition of jacks and mules,
riding and driving, ~nd the show of knitting- and sewing­
machines, musical instruments, and field-crops.

The payment of one dollar and fifty cents constitutes a
resident of the county (if over twenty-one years of age) a
member of the society, witll the privilege .of entering any
number of articles or animals for exhibition he or she may
choose in any of the departments. Admission: Single tick­
ets, twenty-five cents; horse and rider, fifty cents; and no
vehicle allowed within the inclosure except upon a mem­
ber's badge.

The following is the treasurer's report for year ending
Jan. 1, 1879:

split into two organizations, one retaining the original and
parent name and going to Olive Branch to hold its :airs,
the other taking the name of " Clermont County AgrlCul­
tural Society ncar Bantam," and holding its yearly exhibi­
tions on the old grounds, to which it made important addi­
tions in territory, erected a splendid floral hall, magnificent
amphitheatre, and· greatly beautified its pleasant grounds
by walks, drives, and elegant shade-trees.

Under the new organization the officers of the popularly­
caned "Bantam. Fair" for 1856, were: President, John
Quinlan j Vice-President, T. C. Sargent; Secretary, A.
Coombs; Treasurer, James l\1cl\Iurchy j l\1anagers, Thomas
Hitch, Samuel Simpson, Charles Robinson, John Swem,
Richard Pemberton. This was the best fair ever held on
the old ground near Bantam, and the exhibition of cattle,
horses, and other stock was finer and in greater abundance
than hitherto. The mechanical department was well repre­
sented by val·ious articles, and Floml Hall was richly dec­
omtcd, tastefully arranged, and filled with the. most perfect
specimens of handiwork of the ladies, and with flowers ar'\d
fl'Uits in almost endless varieties. The first exhibition under
the new regime was grandly successful in the vast crowds
in attendance and everything exhibited, and, with the elo­
quent address of Thomas M. Lewis, was greatly enjoyed by
the thousands present.

The officers for 1857 were: President, Richard Pember­
ton; Vice-President, T. C. Sargent j' Secretary, Andrew
Coombs; Treasurer, Isaac Quinlan ; Managers, Thomas
Hitch, F. A. Taylor, 'Villiam Shaw, David Moreton, and
Hobert Vanosdol. This year, in addition to the five and a
half acres bought March 11, 1853, under the old manage­
ment, twenty-five acres, three roods, twenty-six and one­
fourth poles of land were purchased, thus making ample
room for the exhibitions of the society. This land was
bought by three deeds, made to Willil\m Shaw, Temple C.
Sargent, Elisha B. Simmons, and George :Mcl\lurchy, as
trustees, in trust, one dated Oct.. 5, 1857, by John Slade,
for $1036.56; another, of- same date, for like amount, by
J. S. Slade j and the third, dated Sept. 26, 1859, by Ellen
Slade, for $387, conveying her interest.

III 1858 no election was held, according to the records.
The officers from 1859 to 1879 are herewith given:

185(J.-President, J. R. Corblyj Vice-President, Benjamin Penn;
Secretary, A.MeNair, Jr.; Treasurer, -- Nichols; Mana­
gers, William Hawkins, O. W. Vanosdol, Thomas Husong,
WiIlhtm Jobnson, A. W. lIuJing, Jacob Jal'kson, Benjamin
Behymer, 1'. C. Sargent, George W. SnIt.

1860.-President, J. R. Corbly; Vice-President, Benjamin Penn; Sec­
retary, A. McNair, Jr.; Treasurer, J. F. 1\1. Ely; Mana­
gers, William llll\vkins, O. W. Vanosdol, Thomas Husong,
Newton Corbly, A. W. Huling, Jacob Jackson, William
lden, Samuel Murphy, George W. Salt.

1861.-President, William Hawkins; Vice-President, B. F. Hitch;
Seeretn.ry, A. McNair, Jr.; Treasurer, J. F. 1\1. Ely; Man­
aePers William .Johnson, Ezekiel Slade, James Goodwin,
S:m:el Murphy, J. H.. Shaw, A. J. Morin, William lden,
Newton Corbly, P. S. Jones.

1862.-President, J. R. Corbly; Vice-P~eshlent,Ezekiel Slade; Sec­
retary, A. McNair, Jr. ; Tl'easurer, J. }j'. M. Ely; Managers,
O. S. Robinson, O. W. Vanosdol, P. 1'. Cox, William Carter,
B. H. Simmons. William lIawkin~, William lden, Newton
Corbly, P. S. Jones.

1863.-President, Newton Corbly; Vice-President, William Winans;
Secretary, A. McNair, Jr.; Treasurer, J. P. M._ Ely; Man-

1640.76

$407.89
I72-L25
3:n.OO

15.00
17.00

171.34
--- $2672.48

" Dlusic ..................•.•...............
" "printing .
" "bonds .

" material. .
" clerk and police.: .
" expenses of board ..

Total paid out ..

Balance in treasury $1022.72

"
"

Receipts.
Jun. 1, I87(J, balance on band ..
Rcceh'ed from gates ..

" for privileges ..
for entry-fcc ..
for stable-rcnt. .
from county fund .
1'otal receipts .

JJisTJllI·/Je11lellt8.
Amount pn.id for premiums SIO:~.8~

" "" lubor.................................... II~.2<>
45.00
71.25
40.00

103.28
103.50
18.60
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a~ers. Charles Robinson, .Jr., Philip Chatterton, P. 'r. Cox,
1\1. S. Dimmitt, D. 11. Nichols, William Hnwki1l8, William
1den, .J. R. Foster. P. S. Jones.

lSG·L--Pre:;ident, Newton Corbly; Yice-Presiurnt, Willinm Wiunns;
Seel'etary, A. McNair, Jr.; Treasnrer, N • .A. Hitch j Man­
ngers. Cllllrlt,s Hobinson, Jr., 1mac l,'enec, .J. F. 1\1. Ely, P.
'1'. Cux, D. II. Nichols, 1\1. S. Dimmitt, John Shaw, Noah
Tompki1l8, Collins Doughty.

lSG;i.-President, J. R. Corbly; Vice-President, William 1drn; Sec­
retary, A. McNair, .Jr.: Treasurer, N. A. Hitch; 1\llIuagers,
Dadd Atchley, O.H. Hardin. J. F. 1\1. Ely, P. '1'. Cox, W.
W. Hickel', .i\L S. Dimmitt, William Hawkins, Noah Tomp­
Idns, Cullins Doug-hty.

lSGG.-Presi,!ent, Moses S. Dilllmitt; Yice-President, Newton Corbly;
Secrotary, F. 1\1. Hobinson; Trensurer, John 1\1. Goodwin;
1\laungers, Clmr!es Hobinson, Jr., O. W. Yanosdol, Eli R.
Leeds, W. W. Fronk, W. W. Manning, Charles HoLb,
Rohert Jeremiah, Eben Behymcr, A. J. Morin.

lSG7.-Presillent, Ezekiel Slnde; Vice-President, Newton Corhly;
Secretary, F. 1\1. Robinson; Treasurer. John 1\1. Goodwin;
1\lnnagers, .Tohn Wageman, Joseph Jenkins, B. :I!'. Hitch,
W. w. Fronk, A. J. Snrgent, Jacob Jackson, II. G. Donald­
son, II. 1\1. Hancock, Hobert J ereminh.

lSGS.-Presilh'nt, .J. R. Foster; Vice-President, Beujamin Archer;
Seeretar,r, F. 1\1. Hobimon; Treasurer, .J. 1\1. Goodwin;
1\lanagers, John Wageman, O. H. Hardin, Samuel Ulrey, E.
J. Prathcr,.J. H. Gntes, W. W. Gardner, A. B. Cleveland,
John Hall, II, G. Donaldson.

IS6!1.-Prcsident, Ezekiel Slade; Vice-President, O. W. Vanosdol;
Secreta I')', F. 1\1. Robinson; Treasurer, Aaron Corbly ; Man­
agers, n. R Hitch, Eo J. Prather, J.l1. Gates, DILvid White,
O. II. Hardin, W. W. Ganlner, Newton Corbly, John Hall,
H. G. Donaldson.

lS70.-Presillent, O. W. Yllnosdol; Vice-President, .Tohn Ferguson;
Secretary, D. H. Nichols; Treasurer, W. W. Ricker; Man­
IIgers, Thomas IIusong, Cornelius l\IcCollum, George G.
Crnne, Thomas Fletcher, A. D. Butler, W. "'. Gal'llner,
Wash. Park, Joseph 1\larriott, John D. Penu.

lSi1.-President, W. W. Gardner; Vice-President, Hirnm McKown;
Secretary, 1\1. A. Leeds; Treasurer, W. 'V. lticker; Mana­
gers, J. l\1. Simpldns, C. McCullum, Joseph Clare, Josellh
Marriott. P. '1'. Cox, 1m Ferguson, Willialll A. Shaw, A. D.
Butler, Frank Davis.

lS72.-Pre~idcnt,W. W. Gardner; Vice-President. 1Iirnm McKown;
Secretary, M. A. Lee.ls; Treasurer, .Joseph Clare; 1\llIna­
gcrs, Josiah Wilson, O. W. Vanosdol, J. 1\1. Goodwin, E. J.
Prather, F. l\I. Trees, D.ll. Nichols, J. B. Burridge, Newton
Corul)', John Hall. (This ~'car the name was changed from
"The Clermont Agricultural Society ncar BantalU" to TIle
Clerll/ol/t Ai/ricl/llltrn{, 1l0l·ticltltltral, (Iud ,1/eclulIIics Arts

Assuciatiol/, amI the fair entirely reorganized in its manage­
ment with a new constitutiull, by-laws, and rules.)

lS73.-Presillent, W. W. Gardner; Vice-Preshlent, n. F. Hitch; Sec­
retary, D. H. Niehuls; Trcasurer, Winthrop Frazer; Man­
agers, W tn. Johnson, John E. Tribble, John Tatman, 1\1. S.
Dimmitt, Noah Tompkins, J. l!'. 1\1. Ely, II. O. D. Banks,
Jonathan Donham, John lIal!.

lSH.-President, H. O. D. Banks; Vice-President, Joseph Clare;
Secretary, D. H. Nichols; Treasurer, Winthrop Frazer;
l\Ianagers, W. A. Johnson, N. A. Hitch, B. F. Hitch, 1\I. S.
Dimmitt, F. 1\1. Trces, L. L. Fridman, H. G. Donaldson,
Jonathan Dunham, Pet.el· S. Jones.

tS75.-President, W. W. Gardner; Vice-President, O. W. Vanosd~l;
Secretary, D. 11. Nichols; Trcasurer, John L. Bllrkley;
l\Ianagers, Isaac Vanosdol, John Tatman, 1\1. S. Dimmitt,
Robert Buchanan, L. L. Fridman, William Donaldson, A. D.
Butler, Albert W. Huling.

IS7G.-President, Elbridge G. Ricker; Vice-President, Wm. Donald­
son; Secretary, F. 1\1. Robinson; Treasurer, John L. Bark­
ley; Managers, B: F. 1\1oyer, John Tribble, John Tatman,
Joseph Marriott, Hobert Buchanan, W. W. Gardner, Wm.
lIawkins, Newton Corbl)", Peter S. Jones.

lSi7.-President, Will. Donaldson; Yice-President, John Tatman;
Sccretllry, P. M. Robinsun; Treasure)', J. L. TIMldey;
Managers, B. F. 1\Ioyer, John TriLLtc, Dr. W. E. Thompson,

M. S. Dimmitt, Noah Tompldns, Wm. Hawkins, Hiram D.
'['one, W. W. Garllner, Newton Corbly.

lS78.-PI·esi.lent, Will. Donaldson; Yiee-Prcsi.lent, John Tatman;
Secrclar,\·. B. F.l\Ioyer; Treasurcr, John L. Barkley; Mali­
ngers, William .Johnson, John Tribhle, Dr. WillilLlll E.
Thompson, Moses S. Dimmitt., Noah Tompkim, J. R. H.
Simmons, Williu1l1lIa.wkins, Albert D. Butler, J. R. Hicks.
(The exhibition this scason was unusllltlly interesting from
the grand display of fruits and flowers lind stoclt, of which
lnttcr lIIany uloodrd horses and imported stock of cattle
were fro III a distonce and some from l\:entneky. The increas­
ing shade lint! foliage of the growing trees added much to
the comfort of those in lLltendallce.)

1Si!J.-President, Will. Dunaldson, of New Richmond; Vice-Presi­
dent, Joseph Clnrc; Secrctar:r. 'Yo E. Nichols; Treasurer,
John L. BtLrkley; Directors, B. F.1\Io)·er, Dr. W. E. Thomp­
son, E.•J. Prather, J. S. Archer, J. E. Tribble, Nonh Tomp­
kins, J. It. H. Simmons, Wm. lInwkins, A. D. Butler; Ex­
ecuth'o COlllmitlec for tho Fair, Wm. Donaldson, W. E.
Nichol~, E. J. Prather, Joseph Clare, Dr. W. E. Thompson;
l\Ial"~hal, E. J. Prather; Chief of Police, Antony Syl\'e~ter;

Superintcndent of Horses, Will. Hawkins, Dr. W. E. Thomp­
son; of Mechanics' Hall, A. D. butler; of Cattle, Sheep,
and Swine, J. E. Tribble; of Yegetable Hall, Noah Tomp­
kins; of Floral Hall, A. W. Huling, Joseph Clare, J. S.
Archer.

The exhibition of 1879 was held at its spacious grounds
ncar Bantam on September 23d, 24th, 25th, 26th, und 27th,
and W,tS in every respect a success, auguring well for the
future of the society.

The management has enacted rules for the government
of the fairs, forbidding all gambling or the taking of intox­
icating or spirituous liquors on to the grounds, and the
best of order is ever maintained. All products of the
soil must be exhibited by the producer or some member of
his fllmily, and grains, vegetables, preserves, and jellies ha\'e
to be products of the year of exhibition. This fair is now
on a good basis, is in the hands of a prudent management,
and is largely attended and patronized by the people of
Southern and Central Clermont. Its annual displays of to­
baccos-fine white and burley leafs-arc unsurpassed in
the country, and are produced mostly in Franklin and
'Vashington townships, the two best in Ohio for growing
this weed, now in such complete use in the whole world.
Pantry-products of' the good housewives come in for much
attention, and the animated competition in stock shows the
growing interest in domestic animals. For the year 1880
the officers are: President, 'Villiam ,Y. Gardner, of Laurel j

Vice-President, B. F. Moyer j Secretary, 'Vm. Donaldson,
of New Richmond; Treasurer, J. H. Hicks; Managers,
Ezekiel Slade, O. 'V. Vanosdol, Levi R. White,K J.
Pl'Uther, Noah Tompkins, D. H. Nichols, Wm. Hawkins,
Raymond Gee, and A. D. Butler.

THE LOVELAND HORTIOULTURAL AND AGR~

CULTURAL SOCIETY.
This society was the best and most fhvorably known of

any local organization in Ohio. Its place of meeting was
at the greatest shipping-point for peaches in the State,
which attracted attention to this locality and gave the so-.
ciety prominence. It was organized Feb. 14, 1864, with
the following officers: President, Dr. J. P. Emery j Vice­
President, S. B. Smith j Secretary, S. R. Buckingham j

Treasurer, K J. Emery; Librarian, Thomas Paxton, Jr.
The officers from this time to 1874 were as follows:
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lS65.-President, W. C. Pinkhn.m; Vicc-President, R. B. Smith; Sec­
retltl')', S. R. Buckinghltln; Treasurer, E. J. Emcry; Libra­
rian, Thollms Pnxton, Jr.

lS66.-Presillent, W. C. Pinldlam ; Vice-President, A. KimLall; Sec­
reb1ry, S. R. Buckingham; Treasurcr, E. J. Emcry; Libra­
rian, Thomas Pl~xton, Jr.

1SG7.-President, W. C. Pinkham; Vice-President, A. Kimball; Sec­
retary, S. R. Bucldngham; Corresponding Secretary, S. B.
Smith; Treasurer, E. J. Emery; Librarian, Thomas Pax­
ton, Jr.

lSGS.-President, E. J. Emery; Viee-Presidcnt, A. Kimball; Sccre­
tlUy, S. R. Buckingham; Treasurer, S. B. Smith; Corre­
sponding Secretary, W. C. Pinkham; Librarian, Thomas
PI~xton, Jr.

lSG9.-Presillcnt, E.•J. Emcry; Vice-Prcsident, A. Kimball; Secre­
tary, S. R. Buckingham; Corresponding Secrctary, W. C.
Pinkham; Treasurer, S. n. Smith; Librarian, Thomas
l)nxton, Jr.

lSiO.-President, Dr. J. P. Emcry; Vice-President, S. B. Smith;
Secretary, S. R. Buckingham; Corresponding Secretal'y, W.
C. Pinkham; Treasurer, E. J. Emery; Librarian, Thomas
Paxton, Jr.

JS71:-President, Dr. J. P. Emery; Viec-President, l\f. D. Parmer;
Secretary, S. R. Buckingham; Corresponding Secretl1ry, 'V.
C. Pinkham; Treasurer, E. J. Emery; Librat'ian, Thomas
Paxton, Jr.

lSi2.-President, Dr. J. P. Emery; Vice-President, l\L D. Parmer;
SecrcbLry, S. R. Buckingham; Corresponding Secretary, 'V.
C. Pinkham; Treasurer, E. J. Emery; Librarian, Thomas
Paxton, Jr.

1873.-President, Dr. J. P. Emery; Vice-President, 1\1. D. Parmer;
Secretary, S. R. Buckingham; Treasurer, E. J. Emery;
Corresponding Secretary, 'V. C. Pinkham; Librarian,
Thomas Paxton, Jr.

lS74.-Presidcnt, W. C. Pinkham; Vice-President, l\f. D. Parmer;
Secretary, S. R. Buckingham; Corresponding Secretary, D.
H. Shields; Librarian, Thomas Paxton, Jr.

During 1874 the society was merged into Loveland
Grange, No. 316 (which had been organized in Dccember,
1873), of which most of the members of this famous so­
ciety became members, and in it have since been zealously
carrying on the great work of the original organization,
shedding new light upon the science of horticulture and
awakening an interest in the culturc of fruits.

'!'his society had a choice library of one hundrcd and
ninety-four volumes, seventeen of which were orr horticul­
ture; four on gardenin~; seven on agriculture; fifteen on
domcstic animals; forty on floral and ornamental culture;
sixty-five scientific and miscellaneous; and fifty of agricul­
tural and geological reports, pamphlets, and public docu­
ments. The society had its stated meetings, held discus­
sions on the causes of failures in fmit-growing in many
localities, depredations of insects, climatic changes, the
shipping and marketing of fruits, botany of flowers, forest­
culture, etc. In no part of Ohio was the combination of the
useful and beautiful in the occupation of a farmer carried
to such successful perfection as in the neighborhood of
Loveland, which within a radius of six miles contains more
fruit.farms, berry-gardens, and fields of cultivated flowers
than any other locality in the West.

The success of tllis society was largely due to the effi­
ciency of its able secretary, S. R. Buckingham, the best
agricultural and horticultural writer in Southern Ohio,
whose contributions to the press and labors in other fields
did so much to lift farming out of the ancient ruts and put
it on a higher scale, intellectually and financially, in the
Little Miami Valley.

The society held its exhibitions at stated periods in the
time-honored Loveland Lyceum hall, and the same com­
prised strawberries, raspberries, cherries, apples, peaches,
pears, quinces, flowers, productions of the skillful and duti­
ful wife, specimens of elegant needle-work, productions of
art, vegctables, grapes, wines: domestic manufactures, etc.,
closing with refreshments, speeches, and much social fes­
tivity. The attention given to the cultivation of berries,
fruits, and flowers attracted the most cultivated and sociable
people fl'Om other localities, and made Loveland and its en­
virons a delightful neighborhood.:Much valuable infor­
mation was diffused by the meetings of the society in the
giving of the experience of its members, making inquiries,
and discussing the merits and demerits of the various fruits,
grains, and vegetables under cultivation, and the best mode
of propagating and cultivating the same. The knowledge
gained from a perusal of its well-assorted library was of
inest.imable value to the farmer, who increased the product

. of his labor by a more skillful and intelligent lure of the
means at his command, and who knew that farming and
fruit-growing required more .capital and skill to conduct
them successfully and profitably than years ago, when the
land was new and our orchards und gardens were protected
from the cold, chilly blasts of winter by the forests that are
now fast disappearing. Horticulture has a most refining
influence and is not only one of the noblest occupations,
but is alike conducive to the health or" a community by
providing wholesome fruit, and profitable in that it affords
employment to many men, women, and children.

This society encouraged the use of fertilizers, turned the
attention of farmers from the old-time style of farming t.o
the cultivation of products more easily grown and that
brought better prices, and awakened su much interest in
this direction that the system of f:'lrming has practically
been changed, a large part of Clermont being to-day devoted
to the cultivation of the various fmits and tobacco.

In addition to the forcgoing societies, much good has
been done by the Patrons of Husbandry, who organized
the following granges in Clermont County. The list gives
the number as organized, Master and Secretary, und the
names and post-office address of Secretaries in 1875 :

No. 29, Master, Davis Whippy; Secretary, W. Whippy; post-office,
Withamsville.

No. 31, Master, Frank M. Neal; Sec~etary, W. R. metcher; post­
office, Moscow.

No. 53, Master, J. W. Foote; Secretary, Thomas D.Scott; post-office,
West Woodville.

No. 54, Master, William Clevenger;'Secretary, Arthur Moon; post­
office, Cuba, Clinton Co.

No. 102, Master, D. II. Nichols; Secretary, A. W. liuling; post-office,
Bantam.

No. 103, Master, n. F. Gray; Secretary, M. S. Dimmitt; post-office,
Felicity.

No. 126, Master, John F. Burns; Secretary, J. li. Burns; post-office,
Monterey.

No. 127, Master, J. fJ. Roudebush; Secretary, Thomas C. Teal; post­
office, Stonelick.

No. 12S, Master, J. Colter; Secretary, A. S. Corbly; post-office,
Amelia.

No. 129, Master, E. D. Duckwall; Secretary, W. S. Rose; post-office,
Olive Branch.

No. 18S, Mastcr, Wilson ElI,rber; Secretary, F. '1'. Donaldson; post­
ollice, Ncw Richmond.
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No. IS!l, l\{a,ster, D. L. Bishop; Secrctary, W. L. Gordon; post-omce,
Goshen.

No.1 !)(I, 1\[uster, Rowun I,ytlc; SecrchLry, A. D. Day; post-omcc,
Afton.

No. 200, 1\lastCl', A. 1\1. Swope; Sccrctary, J. I,. 1'rccs; llost-omco,
Point Isabol.

No. 226, Mastcr, Willin.tu lIalsc; Sccrct:Lry, B. II. Swing; post-ollico,
ncthcl.

No. 23·~, l\Iastor, E. L. Bennctt; Secretary, L. Emnshinc; post-ollice,
New ltichmourl.

No. 235, Mastcr, W. II. H:utman; Secretary, E. II. McNutt; post­
officc, 1\I:Lmthon.

No. 2-18, Mastcl', L. W. Wiltscc; Secretary, Albert I,ccds; post-offipo,
Mount Holly.

No. 261, Mastcr, A. F. Qucal; Sccrct:Lry, A. B. Shaw; post-officc,
Mount Rcpose.

No. :J07, Master, J. 1\1. Teal; Sccrctary, W. H. 1\ICILd; post-otlicc,
Olh'c llranch.

No. :H6, 1\lnstcr, J. P. Emory; Sccrctary, S. R. Buckingham; post­
ollioc, Lo\'claud.

No. 320, Mastcr, S. Titus; Sccrctary, J. L. Wcaver; post· office,
Blltal"iIL.

No. 327, Mastor, O. P: nuekingham; Scerctary, Frank Hutzlcr; post­
~ ollicc, 1\ledair:t, Hamilton Co.

No. 370, Ma",ter, J. L. Cochnowcr; Secretary, Jacob Roudcbush; post­
office, Bantam.

No. 386, MustoI', Z. Dickinson; Secrctary, C. C. Brown; post-office,
Newtomvillc.

No. 3!l-l-, Master, n. Mcd:Lry; Secretary, E. Chatterton; post-office,
Heunings Mills.

No. 415, Mastcr, Gcorge n. Sllpp; Secretary, Gcorgc F. Clark; post­
otlice, nelfast. .

No. 419, l\Iastcr, Jamcs It. II. Simmons; Secretary, G. II. Barkley;
post-office, LILurel.

No. 45·~, 1\1:Lster, J:LlUes Ashton; Sceretar,)', J. W. Hutchinson; post­
ollicc, Willillinsburgh.

No. 455, Master, T. W. Morehead; Sccrctary, John Rowllll; post­
officc, WillianJsburgh.

No. 52!l, Master, Andrcw J:Leksoll; Sceretary, F. 1\1. Quigby; post­
ollicc, Edcnton.

No. 58!l, Mastcr, 1\1. W. Owcn; Sccrctary, 1\1. L. Tuckcr; post-officc,
Mnplc, Brown Co.

No. 825, Mastcr, John F. Hardy: Secrctar,)', A. W. Shinklc; post­
ollicc, Smith's Lauding.

No. 8n, Mnstcr, Gcorgc Jarman; Sccrctary, WillialU L.Drnl\c; post­
officc, Nc\·illc.

No. !l75, Mastcr, N. A. Day; Secretary, 1\1. Simmons; post-ofiiee,
Mount C:trmel.

These granges were organized from 1873 until the period
named, and had a large aggregate membership. A vast
fund of agricultural knowledge was di:sseminated through
this channel, and the masses were educated to think and
act upon matters which affected their material interests. It
is to be regretted that of the thirty-five granges instituted
in the county but few have maintained their organization,
and that this interest bas been allowed to decline to such
an extent that ouly this brief account of the Patrons cun
be given with any authenticity.

The county grange, "Pomona," elected its first regular
officers at a meeting held at Williamsburgh, ~larch 3, 1875,
when Du~is Whippy was chosen Mastel' j George Fish­
back, Overseer j M. H. Duckwall, Treas. j M. Simmons,
Sec. In 1876 these offices were filled in the order given
by George Fishback, 'Villiam Ferris, M. H. Duckwall, and'
M. Simmons j in 1877 by E. D. Duckwall, Rowan Lytle,
M. H. Duckwall, and S. G. Morris j in 1878 by Davis
'Vhippy, E. D. Duckwall, George Fishback, and S. G.
Norris j and in 1879 by Davis Whippy, N. A. Day, M. H.
Duckwall, and J. W. 'Viltsee.

C II A P 'f J~ R X I V.

ORGANIZATION OF THE COURTS AND JUDICIAL
HISTORY TO PRESENT TIME - ACCOUNTS OF
THE JUDGES AND NOTABLE TRIALS-NAMES
OF SHERIFFS, CLERKS, PROSECUTING ATTOR­
NEYS, AND JUSTICES OF THE PEACE FOR A
PERIOD OF EIGHTY YEARS.

THE judichry in the county, under the territorial gov­
ernment, consisted of the Courts of General Quarter Ses­
sions of the Peace, and of Common Pleas, adopted fl'Om.
the statutes of Pennsylvania, and framed and published at
Cincinnati, June 1, 1795, by Governor Arthur St. Clair,
and by John Cleves Symmes and George Turner, judges
in and over the Territory of the Northwest. This law
establishing courts of judicature was printed with other stat­
tutes in a volume by Maxwell, which is commonly known
to the legal profession as the" Maxwell Code." T-he abov~

law. provided that a cpurt styled "the General Quarter
Sessions of the Peace" be held and kept four times in
every year in every count.y, and that a competent number
of justices in every county be nominated and authorized by
the Governor, by commission under the seal of the Terri­
tory; wl;ich said justices, or any three of them, should and
might hold the said General Sessions of the Peace. Under
this, as well as the act adopted at Marietta, Aug. 23, 1788,
the Courts of' General Quarter Sessions could hear, deter­
mine, and sentence, according to the course of common law,
all crimes and misdemeanors, of whatever kind or nature,
committed within the county, the punishment whereof did
not extend to life, limb, imprisonment for more than one
year, or forfeiture of goods and chattels or lands and tene­
ments to the government of the Territory. The said jus­
tices had power, in and out of sessions, to take all manner
of recognizances,-for good behavior, to keep the peace, or
for appearance at a superior' judicatory,-and of commit­
ment to jail j and out of sessions any justice could hear
and determine petit crimes and misdemeanors, wherein the
punishment shall be hy fine only, and not exceeding three
dollars, and to assess and tax costs.

'1'he Court of Common Pleas was made up of a com­
petent number of persons, commissioned by the Governor
as justices of the Common Pleas, m'ld was held four times
a year in terms, according to their business, while the
General Sessions Court could not exceed at one sitt,ing over
three days. The Common Pleas, of which three justices
composed a quorum, could hold pleas of assize, scire facias,
suits and causes, replevins, and heal' and determine all
manner of pleas, actions, civil, pOl'sonal, real, and mixed,
according to law. All the writs ran in the name and style
of ., The United States of America," and bore the name
of the presiding justice and of the prothonotary (clerk),
and, with all other process, were executed by the sheriff,
or, in his disability, by the coroner. Usually, the magis­
trat~s composing the Court of Quarter Sessions were the
same comprising that of Common Pleas, and their princi­
pal business was to try men for fighting, to recover debts,
and for trespass.

The first court ever held in the county convened on the
·fourth 1'uesday in February, 1801, at Wi1liamsburgb, to
wit, the General Quarter Ses:sions of the Peace, made up
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of the following magistrates: Owen Todd, Presiding J us­
ticc; William Hunter, Amos Ellis, William Buchanan,
Philip Gatch, Robert Higgins, and Jasper Shotwell. After
these came Houton Clarke, Alexander Martin, and John
Hunter, who sat with the foregoing in both courts and
administered jUl:;tice and decided law in primitive style,
but with rigor, impartiality, and purity. The court thus
organized, and with ·William Lytle as prothonotary (clerk)
and William Perry as shel'ifi~ proceeded to empanel a
grand jury, the fin,t ever sworn in the county, and com­
posed of the following mell, to wit: Amos Smith, John
Charles, John Trout, Josiah Boothby, Henry "Willis, Sam­
uel Brown, Joshua Lumbert, Jonathan Clark, John Kuin,
John Cotteral, John Anderson, Samuel Nelson, Benjamin
Frazee, John Colthar, Kelly Burke, Harmon Pearson, Ebe-

"nezer Osborn, and Absolom Day. There seems to have
been no business for the grand jury at this term, and the
court proceeded to the very important duty of dividing the
cou~ty into five townships,- Williamsburgh, Obannon, Ohio,
'Vashington, and Pleasant. Amos Smith, John ·Wood,
and Amos Ellis were appointed a board of county com­
missioners. Smith lived near what is now Georgetown,
Brown Co., in Pleasant township (still so called), and Ellis
resided halfway betwcen Bethel and 'Villiamsburgh. Daniel
Kain and Jercmiah Beck were appointed constables of
'Villiarnsburgh township; Thomas :Morris and John Charles
appraisers of houses; James South and John Kain super­
visors of highways; Jonathan Hunt, Henry Willis, and
Samuel Brown auditors of supervisors' accounts; Samuel
Nelson and Samuel Brown overseers of the poor; and
Samuel Nclson, Archibald McLean, and Ramoth Bunton
fence-viewcrs." The following appointments were made for
the other four townships:

Obannon (now l\iiami): Constable, John Pollock; Lister
of Taxable Property, John Ramsey; A.ppraisers of Houses,
Theophilus Simonton and 'Villiam Robinson; Supervif'iOrs
of Highways, Ambrose Runson and Peter Wilson; Au­
ditors of Supervisors' Accounts, Thomas Paxton, Francis
l\lcCormick, .and 'Villiam Simington; Overseers of the
Poor, Samuel Robinson and Theophilus Simonton; Fence­
Viewers, Francis ~IcCormick, Theophilus Simonton, and
Samuel Robinson.

Ohio: Constable and Lister of Taxable Property, John
Hunter; Appraiser of Houses, Archibald Gray; Super­
visors of Highways, Ezekiel Dimmitt and John Fagin;
Auditors of Supervisors' A.ccounts, John Hunter, Archi­
bald Gray, and William Whittaker; Overseers of the Poor,
Ezekiel Dimmitt and Isaac Ferguson; Fence-Viewers, John
Donham, Jacob J.Jight, and John Vaneton.

'Vashington: Constables, Joshua Manning and . James
McKinney; Lister of Taxable Property, Thomas Fee;
Appraisers of Houses, John Abraham and Joseph Utter";
Supervisors of Highways, William Carothers and James
Buchanan; Auditors of Supervisors' Accounts, John
Wood, William Fee, and James Sargent; Overseers of
the Poor, Henry Newkirk and John Sargent;· Fence­
Viewers, Alexander Buchanan, James Clark,and John
Wood.

Pleasant (now in Brown County): Constable, Archibald
Hill; Lister of 1'axable Property, William Higgins; Ap-

praisers of Houses, Samuel Ellis and Walter W ~ll; Super­
visors of Highways, Archiball.l Sills and Richard Hewitt;
Auditors of Supervisors' Accounts, Walter Wall, Robert
Curry, and Samuel Ellis; Overseers of th~ Poor, Alexander
Hill and Robert Lucas; Fence-Viewers, Alexander Hill,

.James Henry, and John J.Jiggitt.
Licet:lse was granted John O'Bannon to keep a ferry

over the Ohio River on the lower side of the mouth of Bull­
skin, and to Josephus 'Vaters to keep one from his residence
over the Ohio to Lee's Creek Station, in Kentucky. An
agreement was entered into with Thomas Morris, whereby
he agreed to furnish. the court with a convenient house,
tables, benches, fuel, etc., for the purpose of holding court
in for the term of four years, at twenty dollars per year.
The court then adjourned.

On May 26, 1801, the court again met;" justices prescnt,
Owen Todd, ·William Bnchanan, Peter Light, Robert Hig­
gins, Jasper Shotwell, William Hunter, Houghton Clarke,
Alexander Martin, and Amos Ellis. A grand, jury was
empaneled, to wit: Ephraim McAdams (foreman), Jo­
sephus Waters, John Vaneaton, Nicholas Sinks, Adam
Bl'icker, Robert Dickey, John Shotwell, John Volther,
Obed Donham, Archibald McLean, Moses Leonard, Adam
Snider, and Ramoth Bunton. These good men, after re­
tiring to consult upon crimes committed within the body
of the county, reported that they had nothing of that kind
to present,-a splendid record for the reputation of the
people of that day.

William Perry was allowed nineteen dollars and eight
cents for building a stray-pen, and appointed keeper thereof,
at three dollars per quarter. John Donham was appointed
appraiser of houses in Ohio township in place of John
Hunter, refusing to serve, and Jacob Light lister, in lieu
of said Hunter, who declined that honor also, and John
Harwood constable in place of said Hunter, who seemed
to have held public employment very ch~ap indeed. The
second day John Evans was indicted for selling liquor
without license, and they were about to try him by a jury,
but it was found there was no law to sustain the case, and
he was gently dismissed.

This court had and exercised, until it was transferred to
the board of county commissioners under the State govern­
ment, full control over all matters relating to roads, bridges,
and internal administration of the county's affairs. A road
fmID Boude's ferry on the Ohio opposite Augusta, Ky., to
Williamsburgh was ordered to be laid out by John Boude,
Joseph Clark, 'Villiam Carothers, and John Kain, or any
two of them, with Hoger V\T. "Waring as surveyor, and to
report to next court. On petition of Francis McCormick,
Charles Redmon, Ambrose Hanson, and Philip Gatch, there
were appointed JiJlisha Hopkins, John Pollock, Jr., and
John Kain, or "any two of them, to view a road from the
Broad Ford, on -the J.Jittle Miami, to 'Villiamsburgh, with

. Waring as surveyor. On petition of 'Villiam Lytle, Obed
Donham, and Houton Clarke, there were appointed Capt.
Dan Feagans, Thomas Barnes, and .Teremiah Beck, or any
two of them, to view a road f!'Om Denhamstown to Wil­
liamsburgh, Peter Light surveyor. On petition of sundry
inhabitants of 'Villiamsburgh and Ohio townships, Jacob
Ulrey, Moses 'Vood, and Asbel Gray were appointed to
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view a road from Williamsburgh to the mouth or Twelve­
Mile Creek, on the Ohio River, with 'William Perry as
surveyor. On petition or Josephus Waters, there were
appointed Daniel Feagans, Fielding Feagans, and .John
Kain to view a road from 'Waters' ferry, on the Ohio River,
to Williamsuurgh, with Joseph Waters surveyor. Joshua
Manning was reappointed constable of vVashington town­
ship, and Alex. Hill, Jr., appointed constable of Pleasant
township.

On application of Thomas Monis a license was granted
him to keep a flwern at his house, in \ViIliamsburgh, upon
his pa}'ing cight dollars, which was the first tavern license:
granted in the county by its authorities. Hoger \V. \Var­
ing was appointed to meet the surveyors of' Hamilton and
Adams Counties and run the lines thereof and report.
Peter 1\I achir obtained a license to keep a ferry over the
Ohio at his land, between the mouths of Big and Litt.le
Indian Creeks. Michael Quigly asked for a ferry license
over the Ohio, where hc lived, and was refused. On peti­
tion of Peter \Vilson and others there were appointed
Robert Dickey, William Perry, John Hamsey, David
Miller, and Owen Todd to view a road from \Vilson's mill,
on the Obannon Creek, to Williamsburgh, with Waring sur­
veyor. William Fee petitioned for a bridge extending ten
poles on eacl) side of the mouth of Bullskin Creek, but his
prayer was rejected.

This court ordered that a dollar and a half be allowed
for the scalps of full-grown wolves, and one dollar for those
of' puppies under six months old,-cheap at that, no doubt.
The sheriff was ordered to get two pairs of handcuffs, lock,
llasp, and staple for securing criminals. Ordered that the
lower story of Thomas Morris' middle log building should
be appropriated for a jail until a uetter one could be pro­
vided. Mr. Morris seems to have engrossed pretty much
everything, his house being a tavern, a court-house, and a
jail, all under one roof, or, in other words, three log build­
ings joined together. The court, after a three days' session,
adjourned f01' the term.

June 22, 1801, Court of General Quarter Sessions met j

justices present, Owen Todd, Jasper Shotwell, Peter Light,
and William Hunt. Clerk, William Lytle; Sheriff, Wil­
liam Perry; Court Constable and Crier, Daniel Kain. A
fee-bill for ferry licenses was arranged, and court adjoUl;ned.

Tuesday, Aug. 25, 1801, court met; justices present,
Jasper Shotwell, vVilliam Buchanan, William Hunter,
Hobert Higgills, Peter Light, I>hilip Gatch, Amos Ellis,
and Houton Clarke. The following grand jury was called:
John Boude (foreman), David Colglazer, Ezekiel Dimmitt,
John Gaskins, Joseph Lakin, James Buchanan, \ViIliam
Dixon, John Abrahams, John Ramsey, Silas Hutchin,son,
Samuel Bodine, John Mitchell, and Joseph Clark, who
f'ouud an indictment against Andrew Cotterell for an assault
.committed on James Kain, the old tavern-keeper and father
of John, '!'homas, Daniel, etc. James Kain obtained a Ii-

.cense to keep tavern in Williamsburgh on payuient of eight
dollars. Hoad reports of viewers were read, and the road
from Stepstone, on the Ohio River, to \YiIliamsburgh was
established, and the one from Boude's Ferry to Williams­
burgll was opposed, but finally established; and the remon­
strants took an appeal to the GeneraL Territorial Court, at

Cincinnati. 'fhe following three roads were established:
From 'Yilliamsburgh to Broad Ford, on the Little Miami;
to 'Yilson's Mill, on the Obannon; and to 'Yaters' Ferry.

Ho~er W. Waring presented the following bill for sur­
veying county-lines and roads, and it was ordered to be
paid at the next session: for running and marking county­
line, twenty-one miles at $2 per mile, $42; for surveying,
marking, and viewers' allowance included, road from Boude's
Ferry to Williamsburgh, $3.J.; for same service on road from
Obannon's Creek to Williamsburgh, $21.75; and for ser­
vices as aforesaid ii'om Broad Ford, on Miami, to Williams­
bur~h, $18.75; total, $1l6.50,-a remarkably reasonable
bill.

The road from Denhamstown to \ViIliamsburgh was es­
tablished, and a remonstrance against the Stepstone road
was received, filed, and laid over for consideration. Samuel
Armstrong was appointed commissioner in place of Amos
Sf!lith, resigned.

The first Common Pleas Court met Feb. 25, 180], at the
house of '!'homas Morris, and was composed of the follow­
ing justices: Richard Allison (not present), Owen Todd,
William Buckhannon, Jasper Shotwell, Robert Higgins,
Peter Light, and Philip Gatch, with William Lytle as
prothonotary and William Perry as sheriff, all huving com­
missions from his Excellency Governor Arthur St. Clair.
No business was done save to adjourn.

Court again met on May 26, 1801 (May term), with
same justices as before, and William Hunter besides. The
first and only case tried was that of David Zeigler against
Edwurd :Miller, who was attached to answer on a plea of
trespass on the case for one hundred and fifty dollars' worth
of goods, wares,oand ~erehandise sold and delivered to said
Edward by said David, and for the further sum of thirty­
five dollars of a certain money-order given Aug. 12, 1799,
at Fort Washington, directed to " Caleb Swan, Paymaster­
General, Philadelphia," requiring the said Caleb to pay on
sight Maj. Jacob Slough or order said SUIll, and charge to
said Edward's account as per advice, and which order was
assigned by said Jacob to one Adam Reigart, and by said
Adam assigned to the David aforesaid. Jacob Burnet was
attorney for Zeigler, who recovered a judgment of one hun­
dred and twenty-nine dollars and sixt,y-two cents,-the first
ever taken in the county. 'rhe next suit was that of John
Cotterel against Samuel Nelson,-one of damages,-which
was discontinued by plaintiff; and the court, having been
in session three days, adjourned sine d-ie.

'1'he August term of 1801, with same justices and court
officials, convened, and two cases were tried. The first was
that of George Hatfield versus Andrew Cotterel, the plain­
tiff claiming in his declaration the sum of two hundred
dollars for two yoke of oxen sold and delivered to said de­
fendant on the first count; on the second, a quantum vole­
[,ant; on the third, money,-money had and received; and
on the fourth, money laid out, expended, and paid, with a
te'rse conclusion, all capitally written by Lawyer Jacob
Burnet. And now the said Andrew, by Arthur St. Clair,
his attorney, comes and defends the force and injury when,
etc., and says" that he did not undertake and promise upon
himself' in manner and form as the said George hath here­
unto above complained against him; and of this he puts
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himself upon the country," etc.; whereupon the sheriff
summoned before .the court twelve good and lawful men of
the county, by whom the truth of the matter may be better
known, and thereupon came the following jury,-the thst
petit jury which ever tried a case in Clermont: John Don­
ham, Charles Baum, J olm Trout, Joseph Gest, John Charles,
Jacob Ulrey, Ichabod Willis, John Gest, Samuel Nelson,
Nicholas Sinks, ·WilIiam Simonds, and James ·Woods,­
who .on oath and by a solemn verdict, after hearing the
testimony, the argument of counsel, and instructions of the
court, did find that the said Andrew had promised and
undertook to pay said George the sum of one hundl'ed and
one dollars and sixteen cents, which, as damages for his
several promises and assumptions, they gave, and the court
gave judgment accordingly, with twenty-one dollars and
two and one-half cents costs.

The other suit tried was that of David Blew against
Thomas Morris before the court without the intervention
of a jury. Blew claimed in his declaration, preparcd by his
attorney, Judge Jacob Burnet, that Morris had stipulated
in a certain written agreement, dated Aug. 2, 1800, to pay
said Blew the full sum of sixty-fi\'e dollars in good mer­
chantable wheat, to be delivered at John Smith's miIl, at
Round Bottom, on November 1st following; and that
Morris had not kept his covenants made between them,
though often requested to do so j and that the said Thomas,
although being solemnly called, doth not come nor say any­
thing in bar or preclusion of the action. Judgment for
Blew for seventy-two dollars and seventy-nine cents, and
costs of fifteen .dollars and thirty-three and one-half cents.
A fl. fa. was issued aud returned by sheriff j levied on one
horse and one cow, which remain on hand for buyers j and
thereupon a ca. sa. (capias satisfaciendum) to August term,
1802, was issu~d to take the body.

The records do not show-for they are either lost or
stolen-any further Common ·Pleas Court proceedings tiII
the State government was organized, in 1803 j but that these
courts continued to be held is shown by the writs and other
processes issued and returned and on file in clerk's office.

'Ve give the earliest execution preserved on t1{e files of
the county:

"TERIUTORY OF Tm~ U~nTEn STATES,} C C
r.1o:IDIOXT OUNTY, ss.

NOItTmn:ST O~' Tin: 01110 Rrvlm.

" l'/w United States to tlte Slteriff of 0111' said COI/Ilty of Clerll/ollt,
Greetill[j:· .

" We command you, that of the goods and chattels of Andrew Cot­
tcrel in your bailiwick, you cause to be made one hundred and one
dollars and sixteen cents, which George Hatfield lately before the jus­
tices of our court of common pleas, at Williamsburg, in the county
aforesaid, recovered against him the said Andrew Cotterel, nnd also
Twenty Dollars & !J3k cents which to the said George in our sldd
Court were adjudgerl as well for Damages as for his costs and charges
by him about his suit in that behalf expended, whereof the said An­
drew Cotterel is convicted, as it appears to us of record; and have
you that mone.}" before the justices of our said court, at Williamsburg,
on the fourth Tuesday of No\-emuer next, to be paid to the said George
Hatfield together with his damages, costs, and charges aforesaid; and
ha\'c you there this writ.

"Witness, OWEN TODD, Esq.,
It Presidill[j jU8tz'ce of Ollr sa1:d court, at Will-ia7llsbllr[j,

[r..s.] tlte tldl'ty-jirst day of AII[jl/llt, in tile yea1' of ow' Lord
olle thou8and ely/tt /wlldl'ed alld olle.

"'VIl.LIA~r LYTI.E,

" Pi"o!h.onotal'!I'"

14

On the back of this fl. fa. Sheriff William Perry indorsed
nulla bOlla, but the amount of this officer's fees is illegible
from rust and soiling.

On May 26, 1802, David Blew had issued out of tho
Common Pleas Court a cap-ias satisfaciendum against
Thomas Morris, afterwards United States senator, to take
his body and commit to jail to satisfy a judgment of seventy­
two dollars and seventy-nine cents, recovered by said Blew
by occasion of a certain breach of coYenant, and also the
further sum of sixteen dollars and eighty cents damages
adjudged. This writ was returnable to the August term,
and Petcr Light, the sheriff, made the following return on
its back: "Cepe C01pUS, committed j" which· signifies· he
took the body of said Morris and committed him to jail,
for which his return shows he charged thirty cents. Jacob
Burnet appeared as counsel for Blew, but the process shows
that the sheriff did not receive it till July 21st, and that
at the following August term Morris was released by a
supe1'sedeas issued by the General Court.

The fees of the various officers at that time were in
marked contrast to thos~ now in vogue, and they charged
to a half-cent and earned them; but constructive fees were
unknown, and the perquisites outside of the statute allow­
ances were few. Witness fees were thirty cents a day j

. grand jurors, fifty cents, and three cents a mile for travel j

petit jurors fifteen cents for each case tried, and no mileage.
The sheriff had three cents per ruile for "mileage.

By the territorial laws the whipping-post and pillory were
used in part punishment for arson, burglary, pCljury, larceny,
etc., and in addition to jail and court-house, and by the act
of Aug. 1, 1792, each county was required to erect a pillory,
whipping-post, and stocks for the benefit of criminals.

By a law of l\Iay 1, 1798, adopted from Kentucky, the
crime of maiming was punishable by imprisonment not more
than six months, and fine from fifty doll~rs to one thousand
dollars, and if not paid the offender to be sold to serve for
not exceeding five years.

For taxation purposes land:; were classed as first, second,
and third rate, to wit: First, at eighty-five cents for one
hundred acres j second, sixty cents for one hundred acres j

and third, twenty-five cents for one hundred acres. A
premium of fifty cents for wolf-scalps under six months,
and one dollar and fifty cents for all over that age, was al­
lowed by law, to be paid out of the county treasury. Im­
prisonment for debt being allowed, the bounds of' debtors
were extended eighty rods from the jail, and to be at the
option of the prisoner, at night as well as day j so that a
man sent to jail for debt could'board and lodge, if he chose,
at a tavern or private house within eighty rods of the jail.
The compensation of the judges of the General Court was
fixed at two dollars per day while holding court or while
traveling from place to place, which sum seems very reason~

able when we take into account the kind of travel, without
roads, bridges, or ferries, and when the places of holding
General Courts were many miles apart, at Marietta, Chilli­
cothe, Steubenville, Cincinnati, and Detroit. Justices of
the peace had jurisdiction in civil cases where the sum
claimed did not exceed twenty dollars.

·When Clermont was organized, or shortly after, at the
fall session of the Legislature in 1801, a new fee bill and
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salary act was passed, giving petit jurors twenty-fi"e cents
for each case tried, and no mileage; grand jurors fifty cents a.
day, with fiye cents for each mile traveled; and witnesses
thirty cents a day for going and returning and time at court.
Nowadays witnesses would think it quite a hardship to go
from Utopia or Loveland to Batavia, stay three days anu
return, and be paid for five days at thirty cents a day, and
take it in doubtful certificates at tlwt. The right to vote
was allowed, in the election of members to the territorial
Legislature, to those owning fifty acres of land, the pay of
members of the General Assembly fixed at three dollars
per day and same for twenty miles of travel, and the Gen­
eral Court judges allowed three dollars for each twenty
miles of' travel, being an increase of one dollar over their
former allowance.

On Nov. 24, 1801, Cour~ of General Quarter Sessions
convened; justices present, Jasper Shotwell, Amos Ellis, and
William Hunter. Ordered that the court be adjourned to
the house of' William Perry for five minutes, at which place
court will sit at that time. It is not explained why this
removal for five minutes to the house of' Perry (then shei'­
ifi') took place, but tradition says there was in his domicile
a private supply of excellent West India rum just arrived,
and whieh it was necessary to sample and test. The court,
having met at Sheriff Perry's, ordered that the new jail,
which had just been built, should be received, provided the
corners were sawed down square by the next term, and the
commissioners were ordered to draw an order on the county
to pay the contractors. Next day, Nov. 25, 1801, the other
members of the court appeared and took their seatl'l, to wit:
Peter Light, Houton Clarke, and William Buchanan.
Citizens of Washington township petition for a road from
I~eter Macher's ferry until it intersects the road from Step­
stone to Williamsburgll, and John Cameron, John Gaskins,
and Adam Fisher were appointed to view the same, with
Joseph Jackson as surveyor. John Kain was granted an
order, to be drawn by count.y commissioners on county
treasurer, for sevent'een dollars. for nails and lock for the
jail. William Perry, the sheriff, having failed to give se­
curity for the collectior. of territorial taxes on resident lands,
the court appointed Houton Clarke collector of the same.
There being some hitch in t.he Stepstone road, it was wiped
out, as prayed for by the remonstrants, which of course put
somebody out of humor and out of pocket.

On Feb. 23, 180~, Court of General Quarter Sessions again
met; justices present, Robert Higgins, Jasper Shotwell,
Philip Gatch, and Alexander Martin. Convened at house
of \Villiam Perry, and Daniel Kain was crier. The com­
mission of Robert Higgins as Probate judge was read, and
court then adjoumed till next day.

Court met, and Houton Clarke, Amos :Ellis, and Peter
Light, members, took their seats. The court appointed

. Ambrose Ranson c01llmissioner of the county in the place
of Amos Ellis, whose term expired; Samuel Ellis in place

. of Samuel Armstrong, removed from the county. Ordered
that the clerk issue warrants to a constable in each· town­
ship, directing them to hold eleetions "for township officers
on the fourth Tuesday of March next, the election at Wi1­
lialllsburgh to be held at the court-house; in Obannon, at
house of Nathaniel Donham; in Pleasant, at house of

'Walter Wall; in Washington, at house of J oseph ~rcKib­

ben; and in Ohio, at house of Isaac Vaneaton. No files
are preserved of these elections. The court was asked to
review the road from Deuhamstown or Bethel to Williams­
burgh, but refused to do so; and this is the first time the
name of Bethel appears. Mr. Obed Denham, its proprietor,
in a certain large chancery suit with the Breckenridge heirs
in regard to its title or that of some of its lots, swore that·
the town was first called Plainfield, but finally Bethel. On
the second day of' this term Peter J.~ight presented his COI11­

mission from the Governor as sheriff, and gave bond, with
James and John Kain as securities, took the oath, and as-

o sumed the duties of his office. John Boude was granted
a ferry license at his place, to ferry the Ohio River.

May 25, 180~, eourt met; present, Justices Owen 'rodd,
Jasper Shotwell, William Buchanan, Alexander Martin,
Amos Ellis, and Houton Clarke. A grand jury was called,
of WhOID Bernard Thompson was foreman; the uames of
the others are not found, but t.he record says it had nothing
to do. On motion, Jacob Burnet, Arthur St. Clair, Jr.,
and Aaron Goforth were admitted to practice law in said
court, which is the first record notice of lawyers in the
county. Ordered that hereafter the township of Wash­
ington shall be as follows: Beginning at the mouth of Big
Indian Creek, running a direct course six miles towards the
mouth of Cloyerlick Creek; thence a direct course to where
Denham's road crosses the main branch of Indian Creek;
thence with the former line due east to 'White Oak Creek;
thence with said creek to the mouth; thence down the Ohio
HiveI' to the beginning, taking in what is now Franklin
township and a large part of the present territory of Brown.

Ordered that wolf- and panther-scalps be paid for as fol­
lows: Six mouths old or younger, one dollar and a half
each; over six months old, three dollars. These scalps
were good as gold to pay taxes, and lllany a fin'mer man­
aged to keep enough to pay his taxes, and some to spare.
Ebenezer O~born was appointed keeper of the estray-pen,
at fuur dollars pel' annum. 'ViIliam Perry had it last year,
and made enough to retire on, and Osborn was a tailor and
this little start in office helped him on. :Elect.ion districts
were ordered as follows: In W illiamsburgh, at court-house;
Pleasant, at house of 'Valter Wt~ll; Washiugton, at Jo­
seph McKibbin's; Ohio, at John Donham's; and Obannon,
at Thomas Paxton's; and sheriff ordered to provide boxes
accordiug to law. Sheriff Peter Light' appointed Daniel
Kaiu his deputy, and assigned him duty in all that part of
the county nOl·th of' the east fork. Peter Light, Jasper
Shotwell, and John Charles were appointed to prepare a
piau for ~ new court-house, and court adjourned.

Aug. 24, 1802, court met; justices present, Owen Todd,
Jasper Shotwell, 'Villiam Buchanan, Alexandel' Martin,
Amos Ellis, John Hunter, Philip Gatch, and William
Hunter, John Hunter being a new member. The follow­
ing grand jury was empaneled: Jonathan Hunt (foreman),
John Colther, James South, -William Test, Moses Rumsy,
Patrick McCollum, Joseph Darrell, Thomas Barnes, John
Cotte1'el, John Marshal, James Winters, Adam Bricker,
William Nelson, Juhn Morris, Benjamin Frazee, Joshua
Lambert, Samuel Nelson, Samuel N utt, Aaron Osborn,
Berzilla Osborn, Obed Denham, Henry 'WiIlis, and Levi
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Tingley. This looks like a large jury, but we follow the
records. Amos Smith exhibits his settlement as county
treasurer, and it is approved. James Kain renews his
tavern license, and puys eight dollars therefor. A road
was asked from 'Waldsmith's dam to Roudebush's, and
thence to the northern border of the county, and Abram
Bowman, Andrew Smith, and Peter Frybarger were ap­
pointed viewers, ana Ambrose Ranson as surveyor. John
'Wood was appointed inspector of articles of export, as re­
quired by law. Hobert Townsley got license to keep tavern,
and paid four dollars for same; his house yet stands, at the
foot of the hill, not a mile west of Batavia, and is now
owned by Ezekiel D. Duckwall, and was then in Ohio town­
ship. The surveyor was ordered to layoff prison-bounds
to the full extent of the law, to give the poor debtors as
much margin as possible. Charitable court! William
Simonton's bill fOl' wintering a cow and calf was reduced
frQm five to three dollars, and ordered paid. Cheap win­
tering of stock! The court postponed the building of the
new court-house till it could see how mueh could be
raised by private subscription. For eight dollars 1'homas
l\lorris had his tavern license renewed for another year.
Amos Smith, having got safely through his settlement as
county treasurer, concluded to resign, and Roger 'V.
'Varing is appointed temporarily, until the Governor shall
comnlission some one as such. The court then approved
the grand county levy and adjourned.

November term, 1802; justices present, Owen Todd,
1ViIliam Buchanan, Jasper Shotwell, 'William Hunter,
Hobert Higgins, Philip Gatch, and Houton Clarke.
Thomas Allen was court-crier,-a new man, fi-om Bethel,
and a tailor by trade. The following was the grand jury:
Jeremiah Beck (foreman), David Loofburrough, Samuel
Nelson, John Smith, John Gaskins, Joshua Lambert, James
Arthur, Churles Baum, Thomas Rames, Joseph Gest, Jo­
sephus Waters, Benjamin Frazee, Ignatius Knott, and
Henry Chapman. William Fee's petition for a road from
the upper side of mouth of Bullskin Creek was read a
second time, and rejected. Petition f'or a road from Bethel
to New Market rejected. For four dollars Houton Clarke
got license to keep tavern in Bethel.

Here all record of the territorial courts ends, as far as
can be discovered. There seem to have been nine terms
of the Court of General Quarter Sessions, some record of
eight of which we have given above; and of the adjourned
term of court for October (first '£uesday), 1801, if it was
ever held, there is no record. The following are the regular'
entries of suits commenced before the State government was
organized:

Appearnnees to l\:In.y term, 1801, 5 suits.
It August term, 1801, 14 suits.
" November term, 1801, 10 suits.
" February term, 1802, 2 suits.
" May term, 1802, 11 suits.
" August term, 1802, 8 s~its.
., No\'ember term, 1802, 8 suits.

Feuruary term, 1803, 6 suits.

The county was organized so that the territorial court was
llCld just two years and two extra terms,-one in June,
18U], the other, October, 1802; of the last named there is
no record.

April 30, 1802, Congress passed an act authorizing a con­
vention to form a State constitution, and that convention
met. at Chillicothe on November 1st, and on the' 29th com­
pleted its labol's and adoptcd one which"without being sub­
mitted to a popular vote for its approval, went. into effect at
once by the Congressional legislation authorizing it. A
revolution was made in the judicial system and in the in­
ternal administration of the local affairs of the counties, but
it was one necessary to meet the requirements of the in­
creased population, and to keep pace with the ~ore humane
system of legislation that obtained in the first years of the

, century, in contradistinction to the older codes of colonial
days, adapted only to small populations scattered over large
areas of territory.

When Ohio was admitted into the Union, the first Leg­
islature under the new constitution, on April 15, 1803,
passed an act organizing judicial courts mid provided for
Supreme and Common Pleas Courts,-one session of the
former and three of the latter each year in every county.
The State ~as divided into three circuits, of which the
counties of Hamilton, Clermont, Butler, Montgomery,
Green, and Warren composed the first; and by the consti­
tutional provision all the judges were elected by joint ballot
of the General Assembly and held office for seven years.
The Common Pleas consisted of one presiding judge for the
circuit and three associate judges, living in each connty.
Francis Dunlavy waS the first presiding Judge, and held the
first court in the county under the State government on the
fourth Tuesday of December, 1803, at Williamsburgh, with
Philip Gatch, Ambrose Ranson, and John Wood as associ­
ate judges; and it was opened with becoming ceremonies.
The grand procession was formed at the old Kain hotel in
the following order: First, the high sheriff (John Boude),
with his drawn sword; second, the citizens; third, Revolu­
tionary soldiers; fourth, members of the bar; fifth, justices
of the peace; sixth, clerk, prosecutor, and court constable;
seventh, clergymen; and lastly, the newly appointed judges.
The preacher, after the procession had marched, counter­
marched, and the judges had taken their seats in the court­
room,-the house rented of Thomas l\forris,-invoked a
ricl~ blessing at divine hands upon the dispensers of law and
justice. Then the sheriff, Col. John Boude, proclaimed
with his solemn" 0 yes 1" " tilat a court was .opened for the
administration of even-handed justice to the poor and rich,
to the guilty and innocent, without respect.of persons; none
to be punished without a trial by theil' peers, and then in
pursuance of the laws and evidence in the case."

Roger W. Waring was clerK, Aaron Goforth prosecuting
attorney p1'O tempm'e, and Daniel Kain deputy sheriff, with
James Boothby as court constable. The grand jury-and
the first empaneled in Clermont under the State govern.,.
ment-consisted of John Hunter (foreman), Robert Dickey,
George Earhart, Joseph Perrine, Ramoth Bunton, Ephraim
McAdams, Samuel 'V. Davis, Robert Townsley, Jacob
'Vh~tstone, Peter Emery, William Whitaker, Isaac Fergu­
son, John Donham, Joseph Fagin, William Simmons, and
J~zekiel Dirpmitt. Several indictments for small offenses
were tried by jury at this term, and some business done in
the way of civil suits. Guardians formerly appointed for
John Fagin (comlllouly called Old King Fagin) refusing to
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serve, the court appointed Abel Donham and William Aber­
crombie. All probate matters now came before this court
and occupied a large share of its attention, this uepartment
being attended to specially by the three associate judges.

nevs. Philip Gatch and John Bale, having produceu the
proper credentials, were authorized to celebrate and solem­
nize marriages, and did a lar~e business in the wedding
line, as the old records show. The last will and testament

. of \Villiam Long was exhibited and proved by Nathan
Glaze and John ]~spy, and admitted to record, being the
first will probated in the county under the State govern­
ment. The court appointed noger "W. Waring clerk fOl·
seven years, who gave bond, with Peter Light and Daniel
Kain as securities. Aaron Goforth was allowed twenty
dollars as prosecutor for the term, and Joshua Collett
twelve dollars for prosecuting State cases in the Supreme
Court. Maurice 'Vitham, a Baptist minister, was author­
ized to solelllnize~ marriages. And so closed the first term
of the Common Pleas Court of this county, after a session
of four days, beginning business at six o'clock each
morning.

Common Pleas Court, June, 1804 j same judges and
court officials as at last term, save Judge Dunlavy, who was
absent. The following was the grand jury: Hobert Hig­
gins (foreman), George Davidson, \Villiam Hunter, Philip
SUlizer, Jeremiah Beck, Jr., Ephmim McAdams, John
Coulthar, Sr., Samuel Hobinson, Elihu Hopkins, Thomus
Fee, Joseph Dugan, William Perry, Henry Willis, Conrad
Harsh,-fifteen, all told,-who were sworn, proceeded to
business, return£,d indictments, and were discharged. The
last will of Alexander Buchanan, deceased, was proved and
aumitted to record. The case of Ebenezer O::iborn vs. \Vil­
Ham L)'tle for damages was tried before this jury: Josiah
Booth, Isaac Heed, William Laycock, Jesse Swem, .John
Mefford, Gibbins Bradbury, Adam Hoy, Levi Tingly, Isaac
Ellis, William Crossley, John Charles, John Lakin j verdict
for plaintiff' of forty-seven dollars and twenty-five cents.
Revs. John Collins and Francis McCormick, two noted
l\let.llOdist preachers, were authorized to solemnize mar­
riage. The suit of John \Vharton vs. John Millm·-plea,
nil debit-was tried before the following jury: -Joseph
Moore, John Kain, AUlos Smi.th, Jeremiah Beck, Jr.,. Hou­
ton Clarke, RQber~ Townsley, John Snider, Daniel Kidd,
James Morrow, David Loofburrough, Ephraim McAdams,
John \Villiams jo and a verdict was given for plaintiff of
one dollar and seventy-five cents. Motion in arrest of
judgment overruled, and judgment on the verdict.

It appeared that three stray hogs taken by \Villiam
J..yon, for ·which he paid seven dollars into the county
treasury, were afterwards claimed by John White,· who
sued Lyon and at this term got judgment for the hogs;
thereupon .the court ordered the treasurer to pay back to.
Lyon his seven dollars, but the costs of suit-which were
considerable, there being some ten witnesses ill attendance
four days each-he had to bear. 1'he court ordered the
sheriff' to layoff the prison-bounds in a square, no part of
which is to be more than eighty rods from the. jail j which
prison margin was fur unfortunate debtors, not criminals.
The court, after a session of four days, held by the associate
juugcs alone, adjourned. -

Novembet" term, 180-1 j present, Fl'l1ncisDunlavy, presi­
dent judge, Philip Gatch, John 'Vood, and Ambrose Ran­
son, associatejuJges, with same court officials us at lust term.
A. grand jury was called, but not a sufficient number an­
swered, and those present were discharged and attachments
issued for the absentees. The last will of James Lakin
wus proved by George Brown and Thomas Seaton, and
Sarah and Joseph Lakin appointed executors. Joseph·
Lakin was appointed administrator of John Lakin, deceased j

Daviu Roudebush of Daniel Houdebush, deceased; and
Sarah Boothby administratrix of Josiah Boothby, deceased.
Rev. Levi Rogers waS authorized to solemnize marriages,
and in his time was a doctor, preacher, lawyer, sheriff, and
legislator.

About this time a. big fuss was kicked up by Roger \V.
'Vuring, county clerk, on one side, and Thomas Morris,
John Hewitt, and David Loofburrough on the other, and
they were all indicted, tried by a. jury, found guilty, and
each fined three dollars and costs j from which trouble
civil suits followed: That of Loofburrough vs. 'Varing
was submitted to the following jury: John Bennett, \Vil­
liam S. Jump, Joshua Manning, Henry Cuppy, Robert
Right, David Colglazier, John Snider, Abram Sells, \Villiam
Simonton, George Swank, Peter Light, aud Daniel Kidd.
Plaintiff subpoonaed the following witnesses: Samuel Beck,
John South, \Villiam South, John Hewitt, James \Vinters,
1\1ary Cook, and Henry \Villis. 'rhe defendant moved
tha~ the witness John Hewitt be rejected on the ground of
interest, but the court overruled the motion. Mr. R. S.
Thomas, attorney for plaintiff, moved that plaintiff be per­
mitted to appear with his attorncy j motion overruled by
court. That looks a little strange,-that a party should
not be allowed to appear with his counsel to manage his own
case. The defendant's witnesses were John Evans, Ra­
moth Bunton, Daniel Kain, and Nicholas Sinks. After a
full hearing the jury returned a verdict of two cents dam­
ages for t.he plaintiff. As the judgment did not carry costs,
it would have seemed like a poor speculation for Mr. Loof­
burrough j but we shall see how his luck affected the other
two cases against Waring. Nicholas Sinks, Houton Clarke,
James Kain, and Robert Townsley renewed their tavern
licenses, and William Fee was appointed inspector of flour.
Adjourned after foul' days' session.

February term, 1805 j same judges as at last term, but
J oseph Jackson is sheriff, and Joshua Collett prosecuting
attorney. Gl·and jury: Rev. Francis McCormick (fore­
man), Jacob Ulrey, John \Varren, William Lindsey,
Obed Denham, John Pollock, Jr., Moses Hicks, Samuel
Jackson, John 1\1cOoneley, Daniel Evans, John Prather,
HeIll'Y Newkirk, and John Sargent. Witnesses sworn to
go before the grand jury: Ann Williams, Patty Leeds,
John Doughty, Adam Snider, James Blackwood, Nancy
Durbin, Philip Durbin, and Hannah Ulrey. And now
came the civil suit of Thomas Morris vs. Hoger W. Waring
for trespass and assault. Jury sworn, to wit:. John Abra­
hams, John Wiley, Charles Stuart, George Kinney, Hobel't
Dickey, Benjamin Cross, James Rounds, George Evans,
John 'frout, John Davis, Mathew Davidson, and Christian
Husong. John Kain had been called on the jury, but
plaintiff objected to him because he had formed an opin-
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ion, and he was discharged. \Vitnesses for plaintiff, John
Hewitt., David Loofburrough, Bamuel Beck, James Win­
ters, Henry Willis, John South, William South, Jeremiah
Beck, Jr.; for defendant, Ramoth Bunton. Testimony
heard, and jury returned a verdict for defendant. The
next case was John Hewitt vs. Roger \V. Waring, before
'the following jury: Mathew Davidson, John Davis, John
Abrahams, George Kinney, James Rounds, John Wiley,
John Hair, Geol'ge Bvans, Christian Husong, Hobert
Dickey, Benjamin Cross, and Joseph 'Wood. Witnesses
about the same as in the other two cases, and the jury
found for defendant, \Varing, who had thus, as defendant,
gai ned tlt1'ee straight cases. But now he appears as plain­
tiff vs. John Hewitt and David Loofburrough for trespass
and assault. \Vitnesses for plaintiff, Ramoth Bunton, John
Bvans, and John Right; defendants had none. The jury
-Houton Clarke" Robert Dickey, James Rounds, George
Kinney, George ]~vans, John \Viley, Christian Husong,
John Abrahams, Benjamin Cross, John Davis, John Kain,
and Mathew Davidson-returned a verdict of fifty dollars
for plaintiff j and so ended that little quarrel. We have
been careful to set the names out in full, that legal gentle­
men and others familiar with modern court proceedings may
sec how the same jury was allowed to try case after case
involving the' same facts; not so now, and we doubt if purer
justice is administered now, with all modern strictness, than
in the early days. John A. Collet was allowed twenty dol­
lars as prosecutor for this term. A writ was issued to in­
quire into the condition of Timothy Denham, a lunatic, on
}'equest of his father, Obed Denham. The court seems to
have closed the business this term in one day.

September term, 1805; same judges as before, with
Arthur St. Clair prosecuting attorney. Grand jury: Moses
Broadwell (foreman), Isaac Higbee, John Day, John Col­
lins, Ebenezer Osborn, Hobert \Vardlow, Henry :Miller,
neuben Young, John Honey, Alex. Martin, John Forsyth,
James Henry, Thomas Jones, Jacob Light, and Patrick
Bennett. The wiII of' William Hatheway was admitted to
record, being proved by Charles Stuart and Joseph Wood;
Jemima Hatheway ~xecutrix, and J oseph Jackson, William
Nal'h, and David Wood appraisers. The will of' Elias Fee
was admitted to record, being proved by George Brown
and Thomas Fee; Thomas Fee executor, and William
Buchanan, Adam Simmons, and James Simmons appraisers.
Ordered that three justices be elected in Tate township,
just organized. William Hodges' will was admitted to
record j proved by Henry Cuppy and J.Jevi Rogers;
James Hodges executor, William Buchanan, George Brown,
and Frederick Sapp appraisers. Arthur St. Clair allowed
twenty-five dollars for prosecuting this term. The inspector
was ordered to procure a branding-iron for corn-meal,
buckwheat-meal, flour, biscuit,butter, hogs' lard, pork,
and beef. After a three days' session, court adjourned.

January term, 1806 j same judges as before, but J.Jevi
Rogers was sheriff. The following- grand jury appeared:
Alex. Martin (foreman), James McKinney, Christopher
Hartman, Abraham Miller, George Wright, Adam Sim­
mons, William Lane, John Smith, Elihu Hopkins, William
Buchanan, Henry Donham, Benjamin Crane, William
Vaul!)bell, Jasper Shotwell, and Owen 1'odd, who were in

session two days and indicted several persons for keeping a
ferry without license, all of whom pleaded guilty and were
let off with a fine of one dollar each and costs. William
Test and Berzilla Osborn got into a wrangle; were indicted,
pleaded guilty, and fined,-Test two dollars and Osborn
one dollar,-and each paid half the costs. Case tried­
Emanuel Vener vs. William Hathaway-before this jury,
to wit : Joseph Gest, Joseph Moore, David Miller, James
South, William Moorecraft, Jacob Slye, Moses Rumery,
James Fee, Jolm Earhart, William Bennett, Josiah Pric.k­
ett, and Peter Emery, who gave the plaintiff fifty-nine
dollars damages, to the satisfaction of his lawyer, Jacob
Burnet. The will of Josiah Wood was admitted to record;
proved by Joshua Manning and Isaac Seaman. Oliver
Lindsey pleaded guilty to indictment for assault and bat­
tery, and was fined' twenty-five cents. The case of William
South and 'William :l\falott vs. John O'Bannon, for debt,
was tried before this jury, to wit: Joseph Gest, David
Miller, .John Earhart, Peter Emery, James Fee, 'William
Moorecraft, \Villia.m Bennett, Daniel Light, Joseph Moore,
Josiah Prickett, Moses Rumery, and Jacob Slye, who re­
turned a verdict of three thousand five hundred dollars
debt and ninety-one dollars and fifty cents damage,-the
largest verdict or judgment yet found in the county to
that date. State vs. R. W. Waring,-another suit that
grew out of the quarrel heretofore alluded to j and in this
\Varing, as county clerk, was charged \vith extorting illegal
fees; Thomas Morris witness for the State. The jury
returned a verdict of not guilty. Court, after a five days'
session, adjourned.

May term, 1806; same judges and officers as before.
Grand jury, Gen. William Lytle (foreman), John Donham,
J obn Miller, Abner Fagin, Nathan Morgan, David Smith,
John Colther, Jr., Shadrach Tl'ibble, Robert Dickey, John
Irwin, Sr., Christopher Hartman, Ephraim McAdams,
Jacob Ulrey, Alexander Buchanan, and Henry Cuppy.
Court sat three daJ's.

September term, 1806 j same judges and officials as
before. Grand jury: Jasper Shotwell (foreman), John
Harmon, John Hunter, Mathew Boner, Hugh McClain,
Daniel Feagan, Jr., James Kain, Samuel Lakin, Joseph
Jackson, Joseph J.Jakin, James Loughlin, James Johnson,
Henry Cuppy, Ramoth Bunton, and John J. Thomas.
John :l\filler was admitted to practice as an attt>rney on
producing his license. The will of William Buchanan was
admitted to record; proved by Isaac Fee and John Daw­
son j James Buchanan executor, and Adam Fisher, Thomas
Jones, and David Colclazier as appraisers. Al'chibald
Huden, indicted for larceny, was tried by the following
jury: John Wharton, Samuel Stiers, John Shotwell, Ezekiel
Dimmitt, Thomas J ones, Jr., Daniel Evans, Isaac Man­
ning, John 'White, Abram Sells, John Nott, James Lough­
lin, and John J. Thomas. John Casse was attorney for
th9 State, and Huden was found guilty, but a new trial
granted. W. S. Jump was appointed administrator or
\Villiam Wiley, and gave boud in two hundred dollars,
with John Symmes and J.'ohn Wharton as securities, and
Joseph \Vells, Joseph McKibben, and Stephen Bolander
were the appraisers. Arthur S1. Clair allowed twenty-seven
dollars for prose~uting this term. Court sat thrce dayl:l.
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January term, 1807; same judges and officials as at last
term. Grand jury to wit: John Roude (f()reman), John
Irwin, Sr., Isaac 'Watson, William Dixon, John Aldridge,
Nathan -Manning, James Patterson, Philip -Means, Hobert
Dickey, John Colthar, Sr., Jasper Shotwcll, 'Villiam Aber­
crombie, Johll Trout, Henry Cuppy, and Theodore -Malott.
The case of James Smith, assignee, VB. Robert Higgins was
tried before the following jury: Samuel B. Kyle, Isaac
Higbee, Alexander McBeath, Daniell\Ialott, Henry Zumott,
William 'Yhite, Lewis Speak, Joseph Lakin, Hobert Leeds,
William Hartman, John Trout, William Abcrcrombie.
Witnesses fOl' plaintiff, H.. W. Waring and Arthur St.
Clair; for defendant, William Higgins. Jury gave plain­
tiff a verdid of seventy-five dollars and eighty-seven cents
damages; motion in arrest ofjudgment overmled. Mordecai
S. Ford, indicted for an assault on William Fee, pleaded
guilty, and was fined twelve dollars and costs; which must
have been an aggravated case, as the court wus generally
very charitable in these fines. George Kerns and Emanuel
Shrofe, indicted for an atE'ay, pleaded. guilty, and were
fined two dollars each and costs. Pctel' Hardin got license
to keep tavern at his house, where James Davidson now
lives, between Batavia and Williamsburgh, and Christopher
Hartman to keep one at his house, now in territory of J ack­
son, then 'Villiamsburgh township. Court in session two
daj·s.

1'he minutes of the Common Pleas Court for remainder
of 1807, for all of 1808 and 180!), and to December tcrm,
1810, cannot be foun~. 'Vhat proceedings we have given
in this chapter m'e not of record in the clerk's office, but
have been gathered from various sources, and especially
from the manuscripts of the late Hon. R. \\T. Clarke.

From 1810 our eourt records are preserved in regular
form, and the files of court are perfect. 'Ve shall not,
therefore, burden our readers with matters duly of record
relating to judicial minutiro, but the papers from which we
have so far been gleaning are perishing, and we have
therefore almost literally transcribed them, that the sub­
stance may be preserved. It is a matter of great intcrest
to the old families of the county who were planted here
sixty, seventy, or eighty years ago to see in these records
the filmiliar names of their relatives and acquaintances
who were active in the business of life in those early times,
and we· have preserved everything we could find that
seemed to have an interest worthy of preservation. 'Ye
have spread out names that occur in matters of small
moment j but follow them along the road of life, and you
will see them aflerwards occupying high positions. Jacob
Burnet and John McLean were admitted attorneys at our
bar, then avery slim affair, and practicing before a justice's
Quarter Session Court fOI' small fees, and few at that.. One
of them became a supreme judge of the State and senator
in Congress; and the other a. representative in Congress,
postmaster-general, and finally a supreme judge of the

. United States; and both achieved national reputations as
distinguishcd jurists and eminent law-writers.

The partial minutes of two or three more terms of
COUllllon PIcas Court have been' found, one beginning Feb.
21, 180!), with same judges as before, and same officers save
John Morris, in place of' J 01111 'Voo-d, as associate. The

following was the grand jury: Valcntine McDonald (fore­
Illan), Thomas Patterson, Israel Joslin; Thomas Cade,
Andrew McGrew, Daniel Feagans, Cornelius McCollum,
Henl'Y Zumalt, Jasper Shotwell, Houton Clarke, Isaac
Higbee, Jacou Ulrey, Amhew Harry, Edward Hall, and
James Loughlin. Levi Rogers, sheriff, resigned June 21,
1800, and Allen Wood, the coroner, succeeded to his place.
J-Jevi Rogers wus appointed prosecutor for ensuing October
term, at which Rev. Peter Hastings produced his certificate
as a Methodist preacher, and WilS authorized to Holemnize
marriages, also Rev. George C. Light;. and Levi Rogers
was allowed twenty-five dollars for prosecuting at this
term.

April term, 1810, began April 3d, with Hon. John
Thompson as president judge, and Philip Gatch, Ambrose
Hanson, and John Morris, associate judges; R. 'V. Waring,
clcrk; Oliver J-Jindsey, sheriff; and JJevi Rogers, prose­
cuting attorney.

On May 18, 1810, a called court was held by Associate
Judges Philip Gatch, Joseph Campbell, and Alexander
Blair. David C. Bryan is noticed as counsel for one
'Villiam Thomas, charged with horse-stealing. The trial
came off at following August term, and he was found
guilty and sentenced as follows: "That the said William
Thomas, at seven o'clock to-morrow morning, receive
seventy-five stripes on his naked back, pay a fine of five
hundred dollars and costs of prosecution, and be imprisoned
twenty days in the jail." Rev. William O'lloler at this
term, bcing a Baptist preacher with proper credentials, was
authorized to solemnize marriage.

PRESIDENT AND COnnIO~ PLEAS JUDGES.

Hon. Francis Dunlavy, who served on the Clermont
circuit from 1803 to 1810, was born in Virginia in 1761,
and when ten years of age his father's family removed to
Pennsylvania. At the early age of fourteen years he
served in a campaign against the Indians, and continued
mostly in this service until the· close of· the Revolutionary
war. He assisted in building Fort McIntosh, about the
year 1777, and was afterwards in the disastrous defeats of
Crawford, from whence, with two .others, he made his way
alone through the woods, without provisions, to Pittsburgh.

In 1791 he removed to Columbia, and in 1797 to near
J-Jebanon, where he died, in 1839. By great persever­
ance he acquired a good educat.ion, mainly without in­
structors, and part of the time taught school and sur­
veyed lund until the year 1800. He was returned as a
member from Hamilton County of the convention that
formed the State con~titntion, and also a member of the
first Legislature, in 1803, and at the first organization
of the judiciary was elected presiding judge of the First
Circuit. He held this place for one term o~ seven yeat:s,
and an additional term for seven more on adjoining circuit,
and, though the latter embraced ten counties, he never
missed a court, frequently swimming his horse over the
Miamis rather than fail bein~ present. On leaving the
bench he practiced at the bar fifteen years, and then re­
tired to his books and study.

Hon. John Thompson occupied the bench from 1810
to 1817, and this circuit was the Fourth, and included
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the counties of Clermont, Pickuway, Franklin, Madison,
Fayette, Highlan"d, Adams, Scioto, Gullia, and Ross. Judge
Thompson was from Fayette County, mid was a strong­
minded, philanthropic man, of great powers of memory, and
a most useful member of society. He subsequently, in 11525
to 1827 and from 1829 to 1837, was a member of Congress.

In 1816 this county was attached to the First Circuit of
Hamilton, 'Warren, Butler, Preble, Miami, Darke, and
:Montgomery Counties, and Hon. Orvis Parish occupied the
bench for one year. He was a prompt, methodical man,
of great intellectual and legal acumen, and quick in the
dispatch of business.

In 1817, Hon. Joseph H. Crane, of Butler County,
presided, and the court journals show him to have been a
painstaking jurist and zealous in his duties.

In 1818 this county was put into the Seventh Circuit,
along with Brown, 'Warren, Butler, and Hamilton, and
Hon. Joshua Collet was on the bench for two years. He
was judicial in his character all over, a man of nerve and
decisiv~ action, was afterwards a distinguished Supreme
judge for several years, and was a Presidential elector in
the years 1836 and 1840.

From 18~0 to 1822, Hon. George P. Torrence, of Cin­
cinnati, presided with a courtly grace and dignity un­
equaled,' his imposing presence lending charm to his deci­
sions. He was a Presidential elector in 1836. From
182·! to 1826-the first two years the terms were held in
Batavia at the old stone .Methodist meeting-house-Judge
Joshua Collet again was on the bench.

Tn 1826 the dignified and .popular George P. Torrence
again ascended the woolsack and sat as judge for the seven
following years, and many of' Clermont's older people re­
member with pride his pleasant stories at the hotel when
court had adjourned, and his apt way of making and retain­
ing friends.

In 1833, John 1\1. Goodenow presided,-a clear-headed
jurist fi'om Cincinnati, to which place he had moved some
two years previous from Jefferson County. Judge Good­
enow's career was a checkered one of some vexation till
about this time, but honorable as far as he was himself
concerned. He had come originally from Massachusetts,
and settled in the town of Steubenville, where, shortly after
his arrival, he was admitted to the bar, appointed prose­
cuting attorney, and in 1828 was elected to Congress, but
resigned April 14,1830, and moved to Cincinnati, and was
a Presidential elector in 1832. For fifteen years there had
been a personal warfare between him and Judge Benjllmin
Tappan, then of the Jefferson Common Pleas, and United
States senator from 18;39 to 1845, or rather a Litter per­
secution on the part of Judge Tappan against Goodenow,
whom he had indirectly accused of leaving New England
in a dishonorable manner, and of changing hi8 name on his
arrival in Ohio. Long and tedious litigation ensued, but
the courts sustained Goodenow, whose character came out
unscathed; and his triumphant election to Congress showed
that the people stood by him. Yet, to get away from the
sight of Judge Tappan, whom he regarded as a fiend in­
cal'nate, he came to this part of' the Slate. He made a
splendid judge, and for 1IIany ycars was a leading attorney
alld one of the best advocates in Hamilton County.

This circuit now included Brown, Clermont, and Hamil.
ton, and in 1834 came, as presiding judge, Hon. John W.
Price, who remained on the bench till 1841. He was a
tall, portly gentleman, well versed in law and much given
to wit and poetry j of which last he had read a great deal,
and had composed many sonnets still well remembered for
their beauty and elegant rhythm.

¥roOl 1841 to 1848 one of Clermont's own most distin­
guished lawyers and best-known citizens, Owen T. Fishback,
was 'on the bench. He was born Aug. 29, 1791, in Fau­
quier Co., Va., and emigrated to Kentucky when but a boy.
There he read law with the Hon. Martin Marshal, alld,
coming to Clermont, was admitted to the bar at a term of
the Supreme Court held at Williamsburgh in 1815, and pre­
sided over by J ndges 'William W. Irwin and Ethan Allen.
He represented the county in the IJegislature as senator in
182:3 and 1824, and representative in 1826, and was prose­
cuting attorney from 1825 to 1833. He died on March 23,
1865, after an active practice of fifty years, in which he
was excelled in ability and honor by no lawyer at this bar.
He reared a large family of sons and daughters, and the
former have achieved a'national reputation in the legal and
newspaper world for their brilliant abilities and successes,
and the latter are celebrated for their varied accomplish­
ments in the social and domestic circles.

Judge George Collings, of Adams CQunty, was in office
from 1848 to 1851, when he resigned on account of ill
health. He was a solid lawyer, of clear judgment, and,
like his predecessor, Fishback. a man of the old school,
and upon whose good sense and penetrating discernment
reliance could always be firmly placed.

In 1851, to fill the vacancy left by the resignation of
Collings, Judge Shepard F. Norris was appointed. He was
born April 8, 1814, in Epping, Rockingham Co., N. H., but
moved, when a young man, to \Vcst Union, where he read
Jaw. 'He was admitted to the bar at Georgetown, and
began practicing in Adams County, of which he was elected
prosecuting attorney. He afterwards locuted ill Batavia;
was a representative in the General Assembly in the years
1847 and 1848, and a member of the convention that
formed the new constitution, in 1851. He was elected the
first Common Pleas j~dge of this first subdivision of the
Fifth Judicial District for Clermont, Adams, and Brown
Counties in 1851, and re-elected in 1856, thus serving two
full terms of five years each, and part of a year in 1851 as
presiding judge. He died on Aug. 23, 18G2, universally
lamented and mourned, especially by the legal profession.
He had been a candidate for'Supreme judge in 1854, but
was defeated at the election by .Judge Joseph R Swan, of
Columbus (the same year Judge Norris' party in the State
was overwhelmed in the" Know-Nothing" and Kansas­
Nebraska movement). Judge Norris had an active, quick
perception and a legal mind well stored in rich treasures,
and. his decease at the comparatively young age of forty­
eight years was a serious blow to the county.

Judge Thomas Q.Ashburn was on the bench from 1861
to 1876, having been thr~e times elected for terms of five
years.each, but resigned in February of 1876 to accept the
position of a still higher judicial honor,-a member of the
Supreme Court commissiun, to which he was appointed by
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the then Governor llutherford B. Hayes, and which place
he filled with the greatest credit to himself and to the per­
fect satisfuction of the bar of Ohio till 1879, when the
cOlllmission expired by constitutional provisions. Judge
Ashburn is one of the ablest jurists in Ohio, and a gentle­
man deservedly popular. He was born ncar New Uich­
monel, of which town his grandfather was one of the found­
el's and original proprietors; was admitted to the bar at
Batavia on April 1, 184:3, rapidly rose to a large practice,
and in 18-iD and ] 851 was elected prosecuting attorney of
the county. In 1875 he was the Democratic candidate for
Suprcme judge, but was defeated at the elcction by a small
majority, ucvertheless leading his ticket by several thou­
saud votes.

From February to October, 1876, Thomas 1\1. Lewis was
judge, and presided with great credit and to the satisfaction
of the bar, to which he was admitted on April 2, 1842.
He was appointed by Governor Hayes to serve till the
October election. Judge J.Jewis was from 1846 to 1851
deputy county clerk; went into the Hebellion as captain of
the Batavia company in the Fifty-ninth Ohio Hegiment,
and made a brave and honorable. war record. He is a
splendid lawyer and a most social gentleman of the highest
sense of honor, and, being an old bachelor, has boarded at
the Hamilton Hotel for over thirty-five years.

Judge Allen T. Cowen was elected at the October election
of 1876 to serve till February succeeding to fill out the un­
expired term of Judge Ashburn, resigncd. He is the son
of Michael Cowen, sheriff of the county from 1841 to
1845;. graduated at Delaware University and Cincinnati
Law College, and was admitted to the bar in Cincinnati in
1858. He served four and a half years as prosecuting
attorney,-six months in 1858, by appointment, to fill va­
cancy created by Charles H. Collins' resignation, and was
elected in 1858 for two years and rc-elected in 1802 for
another term. He lived at Milford and built up a large
and lucrative law practice in the county, and in 18G6 was
elected Probate judge, and in 1869 re-elected for another
three-years' term. He is a deep student, close reasoner, of
logical mind and well schooled and read ill ancient and
modern literature. He grasps the points in a knotty case
with great quickness, and announces his decisions in a
way understood by all, and in a style dignified and
courteous.

In 1871, Judge David Tarbell, of Georgetown, who had
been prosecuting attorney and Probate judge of Brown
County for two terms in each office, was elected in pursu­
ance of an act of the Legislature creating an addi tional judge
for this subdivision. He is a very popular gentleman, an
able lawyer, and has given gencral satisfaction on the bench.
In 187G, the additional judgeship of nve years having ex­
pired by limitation, Judge Tarbell was elected for the regu­
lar judgeship, then bcing filled by Judges Lewis and Cowen,
to the end of the regular term for which Judge Ashburn
was originally elected in 1871. Judge Tarbell's term will
expire in February, 1882.

The Legislature, in the spring of 1877, having created
another additionul judgeship for this subdivision, Judge
Allen T. Cowen was elected, in October, 1877, to fill it for
five years, and his term will end in -February, 1883.

ASSOCIATE JUDGES.

IS03.-Philip Gatch, Miami tllwn~hip, so\'en years.
Ambro~o Ranson, :Miami township, sevcn .years.
John Wooli. 'Vashington township, five years.

lSOS.-John l\lords, Tltto township, two years.
ISIO.-Philip Gatch, Miami township, se\'en ,)'ears.

Alcxamler Blair, ,rillilunsburgh township, soven years.
Joseph Call1pb~lI, Pleasant towllship, seven years.

IS17.-Philip Gatch, l\Iiallli township, se\'en years.
Alexander Blair, Williamsburgh township, seven years.
Jo~eph Campbell, Pleasant township, olle yeltr.

lSIS.-John Morris, Tate township, six years.
lS2-t-.John Pollock, l\liami township, seven years.

John Beatt,)·, Goshen township, seven Jears.
Alexltllder Blah', Batavia township, sevcn years.

lS31.-Israel Whitaker, Batavia township, seven years.
Robert IIaine:", Ohio township, six Jears.
Andrew Footl', Batavia township, onc Jear.

ISil2.-John ElIlcr,)', .Miami township, five years.
IS3i.-Sallluel Hill, Stonelick township, se\'en years.

George l\Ie~lahan, Union towllship, seven Jears.
-IS3S.-Elij:\h Lllrkin, Washington township, seven years.
I844.-Thomas Sheldon, 'fate township, se\'en years.

John Beatty, Goshen township, se\'en years.
IS·15.-Elijah Larkin, Washington township, six yoars.
lS51.-Jonathan Johnson, Dllta\'ilt township, one year.

John Buchnnan, Washington township, one year.

SUPRE~rE COURT JUDGES.

The first records of the Supreme Court bear date 1810,
and from that period till 1852, when the provisions of the
new constitution went into effect, a term of this court was
held e\'ery year in the county. From 1803 till 1810 the
judges of' the Supreme Court were Samuel Huntington,
Hetum J onatllan Meigs, 'William Sprigg, George Todd,
and Daniel Symmes. The fonowin~ judges held court in
Clermont in the years prefixed to their names:

lSI2.-WilIiam W. Irwin, Ethan Allen Brown.
ISI3-14.-Thomas Scott (C. J.) and Irwin and Brown.
lSI5.-Willinm W. Irwin, Ethllll Allen Brown.
lS16.-Caldn Pease, Joseph N. Couch.
lSli.-John McLean, Ethan Allen Brown.
lSIS.-Cah'in Pease, Joseph N. Couch.
ISl!J.-Caldn Pease (C. J.), John McLean.
lS20.-Joseph N. Couch, John McLean.
lS21.-Calvin Pease (C..1.), Joseph N. Coueh.
lS22.-Jacob Burnet, John l\IcLe:tn.
lS23.-Jaeoh Burnet, Pctcr Hitchcock.
1824.-Charles R. Shcrman, Peter Hitchcock.
I825.-Calvin Peasc (C. J.), Jacob Burnet.
IS26.-Jncob Burnet, Petcr Hitchcock.
lS2i.-Charles R. Sherman, Jacob Burnet.
IS2S.-Jacob Burnct, Peter Hitchcock.
IS2!J.-Cah'in Pease (C. J.), Charles R. Sherman.
lS:~O.-JoshuaCollet, Henry Brush.
lS:H.-Peter Ilitchcock (C. J.), Ebenczer Lane.
IS:{2.-John C. Wright, Joshua Collet.
lS33.-Jo.5hlHl Collet (C. J.), Ebenezer Lane.
IS34.-Joshua Collet (C. J.), John C. Wright.
1835.-Joshua Collet (C. J.), Ebenezer Lane.
1836.· -Reuben Wood, Peter II itchcock.
18:~i.-EbenezerLane (C. J.), Peter Hitchcock.
lS38.-Reuben Wood, Frederick Grimke.
1839 -40.-Ebenezer Lane, Peter Hitchcock.
I841.-Frcdcrick Grimke, Peter Hitchcock.
lS42.-Reubcn Wood, Ebenezer Lane.
lS43.~ltel\benWood, Matthew Birchard.
lSH.-Ebenezer Lane, Nuthanicl C. Head.
IS45.-Reuben Wood, Matthcw Birchard.
18.J6.-l\latthcw Birchard, Nathaniel C. Read.
1847-48.-Nathalliel C. Read, Edward Avery.
J849.-Edward A\'ery, Rufus P. Spalding.
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IS50.-William B. Cahlwell, Edward A\·ery.
lS5t.-RufllS P. Spalding, Rufus P. Rainc,}·.

DISTRICT COUHT .rUDGES.

The constitution of 1851 provided for District Courts tu
be IlCld at least one term evCI'y year in eacl~ county by three
judges,-either Common Pleas or Supreme,-but since 1871
.the dockets of the SupI'eme judges have not permitted them
to attend these courts, which to that time, from 1852, were
generally composed of one Supreme and one Common Pleas
judge. The first District Court convened in this county on
May 3, 1852. The following is the list of judges to 1879 :

lS52.-A. G. Thurman (S. J.), J. L. Grcen, S. F. Norris.
IS53.-W. B. Caldwell (S. J.), J. L. Batc~, S. F. Norris.
lS54-56.-J. L. Green, J. L. Bntel', S. F. Norris.
185i.-l\1i1ton Sutliff (S. J.), Jamcs Sloanc', S. F. Norris.
IS5S.-l\1ilton Sutliff (S. J.), A. S. Dickey, S. F. Norris.
lS5!J.-It. :\1. Briggs, J. L. natel'l, S. F. Norris.
lS60.-W. V. Peck (8. J.), A. S. Dickcy, J. L. Bates.
IS61.-Josiah Scott (S••J.), A. S. Dickcy, J. L. Bates.
IS62.-Jacob Brinkel'hofl" (S. J.), A. S. Dickey, J. L. Bates.
lSo:3.-W. V. Peck (S. J.), T. Q. Ashburn, A. S. Dickey.
IS64.-lIoracc Wildcr (8. J.), T. Q. Ashburn, A. S. Dickey.
IS65.-J. L. Batcs, A. S. Dickcy, T. Q. Ashburn.
1866.-Wm. White (S. J.), J. L. Batcs, T. Q. Ashburn.
IS6i.-T. Q. Ashburn, A. S. Dickcy, J. L. Grecn.
lS6S.-Joseph Olds, T. Q. Ashhurq, A. S. Dickey.
lS6!1.-J. Brinkcrhoff (S..1.), W. H. Sa.fforll, .Joscph OIds.
ISiO.-W.n. Safford, Joseph Olds, A. S. Dickey.
ISit.-D. Tarbell, Joseph Olds, Jolm Welsh (S. J.).
lSi2.-8. F. Steele, T. Q. Ashburn, J. Old." W. II. Safford.
ISi:3.-E. F. Bingham, W. II. Salford, T. Q. Ashburn.
ISi4.-T. Q. Ashburn, E. F. Bingham, S. }" Stecle.
ISi5.-J. L. G.·cen, S. F. Stecle, E. F. Bingham.
ISi6.-J. M. Vanmctcr, S. W. Courtwright. S. F. Stcele.
ISi7.-DILvid Tarbcll, S. F. Steele, T. A. .Minshall.
ISiS.-A. T. Cowcn. E. F. Bingham, T. A. Minshall.
ISi!J.-E. P. Emns, S. F. Stccle, T. A. Minshall.

PROBATE JUDGES.

The Probate Court was established by the constitution of
Ohio passed March 10,1851, and adopted by the people on
tlle third Tuesday of June succeeding, and the first judge
elected in the following October. The following gives the
names of those who served, with date of election, residence,
and term of service:

lS51.-Gcorge S. Lee, Batavia township, threc ycars.
IS54.-Georgc L. Swing, Tate township, three ycars.
lS57-60.-SaUluel F. Downey, Franklin township, six years.
IS6:3.-George W. Hulick, Batavia township, three years.
IS66-69.-Allcn T. Cowcn, Miami township, six ycars.
lSi2-75.-JalDcs S. Brunaugh, Batavia township, six years.
ISiS.-Pcrry J. Nichols, Ohio township, threc years.

CLERKS.

The prothonotary was the official-established and recog­
nized under the territorial government by acts of years 1792
and 1799,-who attested all writs and processes of the courts
with his signature., and kept their minutes, journals, or pro­
ceedings, and this officer was borrowed from the Pennsyl­
vania system, where to this date the clerk of the court is
termed a prothonotary. Under the State 1'egime, adopted
in 1803, this officer was henceforth called a clerk. The fol­
lowing are the officers from 1801 to the year 1881 :

ISOO.-WillialD Lytle, Willinwsburgh township, two Jears and six
months.

1803.-Roger W. Waring, Williamsburgh township, seven years.
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1810-17.-Dlwid C. Bryan, Williamsburgh township, fourtccn :renrs.
ISU......Davill C. Bryan, Batavia township, four ycars.
182S.-Mclanethon A. Bryan, BatlLvia township, three ycars.
1831-39.-Jonathun D. Morris, Tatc township, fifteen ycars.
I S46.-Reader W. C1nrkc, Batavia township, fi va yeaI'd.
lS51.-John S. Griffith, Tate township, thrce )"cars.
I S5-1.-John M. McGrew, Batavia township. three ycars.
1857.-John S. Griffith, Tatc township, thrcc years.
IS60.-'-Elijah G. Penn, Pierce township, three years.
IS6:3.-Augustus M. Sinks, -Tate township, thrce years.
lS66.-John S. Stiles, Goshen township, two ycard and thrcc months.
186~.-William B. Applcgate, Gos~en township. six 1Il0nths.
lS69-i2.-WilIilLm Mansficld, Pierce township, six ycars and three

month~.

1875.-John S. Parrott, Franklin township, three :rears.
18i8.-Henry B. Mattox, Batavia township, thrcc )·eal's.

The prothonotary, Gen. William Lytle, was appointed by
the Common Pleas Court of justices to serve at their pleas­
ure and will; then the clerks were appointed after and in
1803 by the Common Pleas Court for a period of seven
years; and in and after 1851 they were made elective by
the new constitution of that year, and for the terms of three
years. On the death of John S. Stiles, in 1869, 'Villiam
B. Applegate was appointed by the county commissioners
and served till the October election, when was elected Wil­
liam Mansfield, and his term was lengthened three months,
so as to expire in February three years ensuing, with the
terms of other county clerks throughout the State.

SHERIFFS.

Under the ea.rly territorial government the sheriffs-the
oldest local officers known to English laws-were appointed
by the Govemor, hut the constitution of 1802 specially rec­
ognized this office and that of coroner, and made both clec­
ti\Te, as did also that adopted in 1851; and under both these
organic instruments the terms were designated as two years.
The following is the list:

1801l.-William Perry, Williamsbllrgh township, one year.
1801.-Peter Light,' Williawsburgh townl!hip, one year.
lS02.-John Boude, Pleasant township, two- ycars.
lSO-L-Joseph Jackson, Washington township, six months.
lS05.-Daniel Kain, Willillmsburgh to\vnship, six months.
1805-7.-Levi Rogers, Williamsburgh township, three years and six

months.
lS09.-Allen Wood, Pleasant township, si-.x months.
lSO!J-ll.-Olh·er Lindsey, Willialllsburgh township, four years.
lSI:3.-Gcorge E1)', Willialllsburgh township, two years.
lSI5-17.-0livcr Lindsey, Williamsburgh township, four years.
181!J-21.-Ilolly Raper, Williamsburgh township, iour years.
lS23.-Dllniel Hankins, Willialllsburgh township, one year and six

mont1Js.
] S25.-Robcrt T\vccd, Williamsburgh township, six: months.
lS25-2i.-Holly RIl-per, WiIIilLlllsburgh township, four ycars.
lS29-31.-WiIliam Curry, Washington township, four years.
lS33-35.-William Thomas, Union township, four years.
lS37-39.-Edward Frazicr, Tate township, four ycars.
lS41-4:3.-Miehael Cowcn, BntavitL township, four ;ycars.
lS45-47.-Samucl M. Walraven, Ohio township, four years.
IS49-51.-Joscph Kyle, Union township, four years.
lS53.-Geol'ge W. IUehal'ds, ~'ranklin township, two years.
IS55-5i.-Willialn W. Perkins, Fl'Iluklin township, four ycars.
IS59.-Nieholas Gatch, Union township, two years.
lS61.-JalUcs Crosson, 'VILync township, two years.
lS63.-James W. Hill, Tatc township, two years.
IS65.-Jallles Crosson, Wayne township, two years.
IS67-6!J.--':'Wiilialll II. Pickelheimer, Wayne township, four ycars.
lSiL-John R. Woodlief, Miami township, two ycars.
ISi;{-i5.-Stephen Cmmer, Franklin township, four years.
1877-7!1.-Lewucl TeasdlLlc, Batavia township, four )·eo.ri.
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PHOSECUTING ATTORNEYS.

The first law on this office made the Supreme Couit ap­
point a prosecutor (act of April 13, 1803), but the statute
of Feb. 21, 1805, made the Common Pleas Court appoint,
:md under both, as well as the law of Dec.' 29, 1825, these
appointments continued at the pleasure of the court so ap­
pointing. The act of Jan. 29, 1833, made this office
elective by the people every two years. Below are shown
the incumbents:

lS03.-.Toshull. Collet, Willinmsburgh township, onc yenr.
lS04.-::\lartin ::\l:mhaJ, WiIlill.IDsburgh township, threc months.
ISO·I.-Aaron Goforth, "rillill.msbllrgh township, threc months.
lS11L-.TosllU:l Collct., WiIlinmsburgh towmhip, threc months.
IS05.-Arthllr St. Clair, Williatnsburgh township, two ,Ycars.
lSOi.-David C. Bryan, WiIlillUlsburgh township, two ,Ycars.
ISOV.-Joshua Collct, WiIliamsourgh township, thrcc months.
ISllV.-Lcvi Rogers, Williamsburgh township, nine months.
ISlO.-David Morris, Williamsburgh township, onc ,Ycar.
ISl1.-Thomns S. Footc, WiIlinmsburgh township, fourtecn 'yenrs.
IS25.-0wcn T. Fishback, Batnrill town:;hip, eight 'ycars.
IS:~3-:J5.-John Jollilrec, Batnvia township, fuur yenrs.
IS3i.-Georgc S. J,ee, Batln-ia township, two 'yenrs.
IS:m.-John JollilTc, Blltavin township, two yenrs.
IS41-43.-Dennis Smith, Stonclick township, fuur 'years.
IS45.-Willialll Hownrd, Batavia. township, twu 'ycnrs.
lS4i.-Philip n. Swing, Batnda township, onc ,)·cnr.
lS4S.-Willialll Hownrd, Ba.tnvhl township, OIlC year.
lS4!J-ii1.-Thomns Q. Ashburn, Batavia township, four ycnrs.
lS5:t-John Johnston, Bntavhl township, two yenrs.
lS55.-'Villiam P. Fishback, Batarill township, two ycars.
lS5i.-'-Charles H. Collins, Batavia township, une year and six months.
lSiiS-6U.-AlIcn T. Cowcn, Miami township, four ,Ycars and six

months.
lS62.-Willinm Arthur, Union township, two 'years.
186·t-.Toscph Tritt, Ohio township, two Jcars.
1866-6S.-James S. Brunaugh, Piercc township, four yenrs.
ISiO-i2.-Thomns A. Griffith, Bl1tavill town~hip; four years.
lSi4-i6.-Frank Da.vis, Ohio township, fuur ycars.
18iS.-John .T. Hownrd, Batavia township, two 'years.

NOTAB LE TRIALS.'

Among the many important cases recorded in the legal
history of the county, there are large numbers of causes

celebres in land litigation growing out of the deficiencies
and errors in the early· surveys, the encroachments of one
patent on another, and the disputes ail to boundary-lines, so
common where the grants of government lands were faulty
in' measurement.. Jn early pioneer days the criminal ex­
ceeded the civil business on the court dockets, and after
a while the crimes of eounterfeiting and horse-stealing at­
tracted the serious consideration of the people and the close
attention of the officcrs of justice. No judicial hanging
has ever taken place in the c.ounty, owing, in a great
measure, to tIle leniency of its petit juries, but several per­
sons have been sentenced to the State's prison for life. The
purity and honesty of the judiciary of the county have
never been questioned, and the temples of justice never
defiled 0'1' corrupted -by bribery and dishonor either in the
courts, juries, or attendant officials, so far as is known, in
the administration and execution of the law.

In 1812 one Benjamin Hess settled on the headwaters
01' springs of Bear Creek, in "rashington township, where
he had bought Alexander Parker's survey, No. 834, of'
seven hundred acres of land. Hess had a large family,
mostly of comely daughters, and his house for a number of'

years was the resort of the neighbors for miles around;
and he entcrtained in splendid social style in those primi­
tive times his fi'iends and townsmen who dropped in to
discuss the news and partake of his hOl'pitality. These
were the honest days of Hess, and before the tempter
came in the guise of lllaking money easier and quicker by
buying, selling, and passing eounted'eit money. The lllut­
terings of the pcople finally aroused the officcrs of the law,
who had been for years cognizant of the fact that Hess, at
his home and also at a branch rendezvous near Hamers­
ville, in Brown County, was dealing in spurious coin alld
"shoving the qucer." In 1831 he was arrested and in­
dicted with one Hoyt for passing counterfeit money, but
this indictment was lIo11il'd for want of sufficient evidence
to cover it. But he was tried at the July term on an in­
dictment (in which Hoyt. was joined) upon five separate
counts, three of which we give: First, for feloniously sell-

- ing and delivering to one Steele a counterfeit bank-note
purporting to be a check from the Bank of the United
States branch at Cincinnati upon the Bank of the United
States, signed J. Heynolds, president, and P. Benson,
cashier, for five dollars, and payable to order, knowing it to
be counterfeit; second, for .feloniously selling and deliver­
ing to said Steele a counterfeit note purporting to be a
twenty-dollar note, issued by the United States Bank, pay­
able to order, and signed by H. Biddle, president, and W.
McIlvaine, cashier, knowing it to be counterfeit; and, third,
for having in his possession, for the purpose of selling, etc.,
divers counterfeit notes,-viz., two twenties oil the United
States Bank and a five-dollar check,-knowing them to be
counterfeit. Hess was tried by himself, and Hoyt made a
witness for him. Judge TOl'l'ence presided, O. T. Fishback
appeared for the State as prosecutor, and the defendant was
most ably represented by Gen. Thomas L. Hamer and Sena­
tor Thomas Morris. The jury-composed of John Dunlap,
John Cmwford, Stephen B. Cleveland, Samuel Hayford,
John 'Villiallls, James B. Johnston, James J.Jeeds, John
Emery, Andrew Pinkham, H.euben Crossley, Robert McFur­
land, and Beniah Higgs-found the prisoner guilty on the
first, third, and fifth counts, and thei'eupon the court sen­
tenced Hess to confinement in the penitentiary for three
years,-the shortest time the~' known to the law. 1\11'.
Gano, teller of the Cincinnati branch of the United States
Bank, swore to the counterfeit character of the twenty­
dollar notes, and although he had nevor seen the president
or cashier of the bank (located in Philadelphia) write, he
was familiar with their handwriting fl'Olll the letters, notes,
etc., received in the branch bank as genuine; and he
further testified to the spuriousness of the five-dollar note.
It was shown in testimony that while the prisoner was in
jail after his arrest there was found in an auger-hole bored
in a log 'of a house within a few feet of defendant's dwell­
ing two bank-bills proven to be counterfeit; and further,
that after Hess' arrest-the night succeeding-there was
taken from t.he hands of his wife a purse which she said

. belonged to her little boy, which contained sixty dollars of
counterfeit bank-paper. The prisoner's counsel took ex­
ceptions to the presiding judge's rulings on th e admission
of evidence, but the Supreme Court refused to find error,
and Hess went to the penitentiary and served out the full
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period of his sentence, then went 'Vcst, where he was fol­
lowed by his family; and thus this unlawful business was
uprooted and destroyed forever in the southern part of, the
county. This trial settled two great points of law in Ohio,
-that pOl'sons skilled in a knowledge of 'handwritings are
competent to testify concerning them, although they never

'.saw the parties write, and that an indictment for having
counterfeit bank-notes in possession, and for making sale
of them, need not charge that the sale was for a considera­
tion or to the injury of any aile, or that the notes were
indorsed.

On August 23, 1859, Jonathan Palmer, an attorney in
J?elicit.y, cut one James Hayden with a knife on his left
breast to the depth of ten inclles, causing instant death.
He was arrested, and by the examining justices of the peace.
committed without bail to jail for murder in the first degree.
Palmer's counsel, on a writ of habeas corpus, had him
brought before the Probate judge, Hon. Samuel F. Dowd­
ney, who held a preliminary investigation and reduced the
charge to murder in the second degree and admitted de­
fendant to bail. Palme~ was indicted for manslaughter,
and his first trial, at the November term of 1860, resulted
in his conviction; but Judge S. F. Norris granted a new
trial, which took place at the February term of,1861, before
-the following jury, to wit: Joseph Kyle, John ]\'1. King,
Lorenzo D. Orr, Jesse Smith, Isaac Starks, Cyrus Temple,
Theodore Hill, David Atchley, Henry 1\1oyer, William C.
South, and George Troy; they acquitte~ the prisoner. The
prosecution was most ably conducted by the prosecuting
attorney, Allen T. Cowen, assisted by Judge Thomas Q.
Ashburn, while the defense was represented by Philip B.
Swing and Cois. John G. Marshal and D. W. C. Loudon,
of' Georgetown. No murder case in the county~ from the
various circumstances and associations surrounding it, ever
excited so much interest in the courts, and in and about
Felicity nothing for a year was hardly talked of but this
murder, and the people were greatly divided in their senti­
ments. Hayden had had a brother killed in California
),ears before, and it was claimed ~hat Palmer was the indi­
rect cause of that, as he was there and had had some dis­
turbance or trouble with the man killed; while, on the
other hand, Palmer's friends asserted that he was innocent
of the first Hayden's death, and killed the second in pure
self-defense. Palmer wa& afterwards the reputed cause of
John R. Tennyson killing his wife, about the year 1866,
near Felicity: Tennyson had found Palmer in a tobacco­
barn in alleged improper relations with his sponse. Palmer
removed to Indiana after this and died, and report says that
before his earthly pilgrimage terminated he'quit the evil
habits that gave him such a mal-odorous name here, and
became a zealous and consistent member of the chm:ch.

In the first part of December, 1870, Nicholas Fitzmaster,
a widower with quite a family of children, lived on the
Deerfield road, about one mile from 'Williamsburgh, and
there kept a smull grocery with a beer-saloon. 'With him
as a domestic, doing the washing and kitchen and other
household work, one Ann O'Neal came nearly every week
aud remained days at a time. She was the wife of John
O'Neal, but also the undivorced wife of another mau, by
the name of Crawford, to whom she had been years agu

married in Highland County. O'Neal, who was ~ quart'el ..
some man when in liquor, to the drinking of which he waS
much addicted, reseuted the act of his \Vife,-or, in the
eyes of the law, his mistress,-who had separated from him
for some trouble between them, going to Fitzmaster's house
to work. O'Neal often threatened to put him out of the
way"and at the time designated waylaid and shot him one
night on Fitzmaster's return from Batavia, just as the mur­
dered' man was reaching his doomed home. Tried at the
February term, 1872, on an indictment for murder in fil'St
degree, tIle jury found him guilty in the second degree, and
he was· sentenced to prison for life, but was pardoned out
of the penitentiary some three years ago, The prosecution
was made by Prosecutor ThomasA. Griffith, with J. S.
Brunaugh as assistant, and the prisoner was defended by
Philip B. Swing, J. S. Griffith, andW. A. Townsley, with
Judge Ashburn on the bench.

On the 31st of October, 1866, the public was shocked
by the murder, in Georgetown, of Adam Rose, the vener­
able janitor of the county buildings of Brown County, and
the attempt to rob the county treasury there, by Samuel
Huling, John H. Benton, 'ViIliam Carroll, and David
Jones, the latter bred in this county. These villains were
pursued, captured near Cincinnati, and indicted for murder
in the first degree by the Brown County Common Pleas
Court, wllich tried two of them,-Huling and Benton,­
resulting in the' conviction of both, the former for murder
in first degree and his imprisonment for life, instead of
banging, by intervention of the Governor, and the latter
for burglary (to which he pleaded guilty, and for which,
owing to the complications of the case, he could only then
be tried), and his sentence to a five years' term in the
State's prison. Jones and Carroll' were granted change of
yenues to this county to be tried, owing to the general ex­
citement in Brown County and the fac.t that its people had
formed their opinions in the case, and hence it could not
furnish an impartial jury. At the November term of lSG7,
Carroll had his trial, before Judge Ashburn and the fol­
lowing jury: A. B. Jones, Reuben Burnet, P. S. Jones,
Thomas Marshal, Andrew Beagle, G. R. \Vageman, Jere­
miah Durham, S. D. Davis, J. O. Kyle, William Walker,
'\V illiam Hammatt, and Solomon HeItman. A verdict of
guilty of murder in the second degree was returned, and he
received at the hands of the court the merited punishment
of' a life-sentence in the penitentiary. Jones, at the ensuing
March term, was convicted of manslaughter, and received
a seven years' term at hard labor in the penitentiary. 1.'he
State was represented by J6hn 'V. Bailey and J. S. Bru­
naugh, prosecuting attorneys, respectively, of Brown and
Clermont, assisted by Patrick McGroarty, and the prisoners
by Hon. Chilton A. White, Cols. John G. Marshal and D.
'V. C. Loudon, and 1\1aj. Thomas M. J.Jewis. It· is a sin­
gular illustration of the law's technicalities or irregularities
that of fuur men engaged in a crime, and all proven equally
gutlty, one was found guilty of murder in the first degl'ee,
one in the second .degree, one of manslaughter, and one
would have escaped scot-free save by his own pleading
guilty to burglary; all of which resulted by separate trials,
before different juries, in different, courts and different
counties.
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In 1859, on November 17th, some forty of the most
worthy and respectable ladies of the staid old town of Wil­
liamsburgh walked into the then extensive brewery establish­
ment of John Bools and demolished his casks, laid waste
his vats, poured out his malt liquors, and upset all his
manufacturing apparatus, causing the amber beer to flow
away like a river j and at the following January term of
court, after a protracted, tedious, and animated lawsuit,
Bools recovered a judgment of four hundred dollars against
five of the fair ladies engaged in this temperanee escapade.
George \V. Dennison prosecuted the suit for the plaintiff,
and the costs amounted to more than the judgment, but the
ladies, though compelled to pay, never regretted their.act.

Another interesting and very important suit went from
Williamsburgh to the highest courts in the State, and in
which was involved many knotty law points, growing out of
the location of the towns of Ohio. When that town was
laid out, in 1795 or 1796, four years previous to the or­
ganization of the county, Gen. William J-,ytle, its proprie­
tor and founder, reserved some five and one-half acres, lying
in an oblong shape and surruundcd on all sides by streets
and lots, and set the same apart, as dedicated and appropri­
ated to the public, to be used for county public buildings j

but when, on Feb. 21, 1824, the county-seat was removed
from New Richmond, where it had been not quite a year,
to Batavia, the people of Williamsburgh took possession of
these public buildings and square and used them for pub­
lic purposes for many years. J-,ytle then came in and
claimed that this square by the original terms of dedication
reverted to him. and it was levied up0n as Lytle'!'! realty by
one John Monroe, his ereditor j and thereupon the com­
missioners of the county, who had in 1805 erected thereon
a court-house, jail, clerk's and auditor's offices (and towards
the construction of' which the good people of said Williams­
burgh contributed largely in labor, materials, and money),
filed a bill in chancery against Lytle and Monroe, claiming
that the land belonged to the county by virtue of the origi­
nal dedication, made for the benefit of the county and the
convenience of the citizens of said town, which bill was
answered by Monroe and Lytle, and at the May term of
the Supreme Court for Clermont County, A.D. 1829, said
bill was. dismissed at the instance of the complainants.
Then, the title being settled against the county, J-,ytle con­
veyed it. to the United States Bank, to which institution
11e was then largely in debt, and the bank, to realize on its
investment, brought an action of ejectment and recovered
possession, and finally, on the 16th of February, 1846, for
the consideration of four hundred and fifty dollars, sold the
same to Sayres Gazley, who then, with Adam Walker, took
the entire and exclusive control and possession of said pub­
lic square, and claimed to hold title to the same and the
buildings thereon by virtue of the right derived from Lytle,
and by him passed in fee to the bank aforesaid and the
grantors to one of them. The corporate authorities of "ViI.
liamsburgh filed their bill in chancery for an injunction
against Gazley and 'Valker, and for a decree that the title
be declared in the town j and a temporary injunction was
allowed by the Clermont County Supreme Court, and the
case reserved for final decision to the Supreme Court in
banc, which at its December term, with full bench, declared

the use of said public square in the town and m;de the in­
junction perpetual. Judge S. F. Norris and John \V.
Lowe were counsel for the complainants, Charles B. Huber,
et at., the trustees of the town, while the defendants were
represented by Charles Fox, of Cincinnati, and the then
celebrated land-law firm of Shields & Howard.

Some six years ago occurred the fumous litigation attend­
ing the construction of the will of Turpin Daughters, for
over sixty years a resident of Neville, and a man wcll
known in the county for his keen business qualities and
quaint humor. William S. Gref!g, as the administrator de
!Jonis 1/on of Daughters, brought suit to have decedent's will
construed, and was represented by Judge George L. Swing, A.
T. Cowen and J. S. Griffith appearing for Mrs. Missouri A..
Gregg, claiming as sole heir of R. 'V. C. Clarke, who was the
sole heir of his wife, Mrs. Sallie Turpin Daughters Clarke,
the principal legatee under said will. Nichols & Davis, of

- New Richmond, were counsel for the so-called Daughters
legatees, and Hon. Perry J. Donham for the Pollard branch.
The whole case was tried before Judge Ashburn, whose de­
cision was final, as no appeal or exceptions were taken, and
under it l\Irs. George 'V. Gref!g received about furty thou­
sand, and the Daughters legatees nearly sixteen thousand,
dollars.

The litigation attending the well-known two surveys of Sam­
uel J. Cabell, Nos. 5229 and 5230, of eighteen hundred and
thirty-three and one-third acres each, and lying in the coun­
ties of Clermont, Clinton, and Bl'Own, and mostly in \Vayne
township, in the northeast part of Clermont, is worthy ofmen­
tion here. This large tract of land was patented to said Sam­
uel J. Cabell, living in Nelson Co., Va., who by his will of
June 6, 1818, devised it to his daughter 1\liIdl'ed 1\1., then
intermarried with Leven L. Cartwright. On her death her
llUsband, having only his life· estate in these lands, bought
out all the interests of the heil's and children of his de­
ceased wife in fee exeept two-fifteenths, which he supposed
at the time he was also getting. Just after getting his title
perfected he came on to Clermont, subdivided his posses­
sions into a large number of small tracts, and sold them to
various parties, many of whom have been in actual posses­
sion and occupancy ever since. About a year before tlie
late civil war the heirs, then living in Mississippi, who had
never parted with their interests in this land, brought suit
in the United States Circuit Court at Cincinnati in a case­
No. 925-wherein J. F. Green et al. were plaintiffs, and
Pleasant 1\1. Snell et al., occupants of the lands, were de­
fendants. T'he Rebellion prevented the progress of the suit,
but after the war closed it was again renewed, and in 1873
judgment rendered against the farmers in possession for
two-fifteenths of its value, which was fixed by a commission
consisting of Maj. S. R. S. West, Hon. James Crosson, and
Judge Thomas Sheldon. These occupants were compelled
to join together and again pay for foul' hundred and eighty­
eight and eight-ninths acres which they or their predecessors
had paid for before, in the years 1833 and 1834, owing to
the deficiency of the Cartwright title.

Samuel Robb and James Ferguson, having entered into
a contmct in 1829 to build a bridge over the east fork of
the Little Miami River at Batavia, and having, as they
daimcd, completed the contract, applied to the commis-
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sioners of the county in 1830 to accept the bridge ·and
grant orders for the contract price upon the county treasury.
The commi8sioners having examined the bridge, rejected
it, in 1831, as not built accordillg to the contrllct, and re­
fused the orders. From this decision an appeal was taken
to the Court of Common Pleas, where the commissioners
moved to quash the appeal, which motion was overruled;
and they then moved for a rule upon the claimants to file a
declaration, preparatory to making up an issue and a trial to
the jury, which was also overruled. The court then pro­
ceeded upon the transcript sent up by the commissioners,
without issue or other evidence, to give judgment in favor
of the claimants for nine hundred and sixty-three doIlars
and sixty-three cents, the balance of the contract price for
erecting the bridge, and ordered the commissioners to issue
an order in favor of the claimants for said sum upon the
county treasury. The case was taken on certi01·ar£ to the
.April term of the Clermont Supreme Court, held in 1832
by Supreme Judges Joshua CoIlet and John C. ·Wright.
Thomas Morris and Martin Marshal, attorneys for Robb and
Ferguson, moved to dismiss the certiorari for want of juris­
diction in the court, and claimed that the decision of the
Common Pleas should be final. On the side of the com­
missioners, Lawyers Owen T. Fishback and Gen. Thomas
L. Hamer insisted on its jurisdiction, and that the Common
Pleas Court erred,-first, in refusing the rule on the plain­
tiffs for a declaration; second, in refusing a jury to try the
facts in tIle case; third, in rendering a judgment wit/tout
evidence; and fourth, in O1'de1'ing the commissioners to
i8sue an order on the treasury for the amount adjudged.
The court being divided in opinion,-Judge Collet inclining
to the opinion that there was no error in the proceedings
of the Court or Common Pleas, whiIe Judge Wrigh t thought
that the proceedings below were erroneous,-the case was

. reserved for the court in banc,-a full bench of the
Supreme judges,--which reversed the rulings of the Com­
mon Pleas, and decided in favor of the commissioners.
Thus was the great principle settled that the Supreme
Court has jurisdiction, by certiomri or other writ, to en­
force the due administration of right and justice throughout
the State.

"The Kugler-Townsend 'WiII Case" was the largest and
most important civil suit ever tried in this county, whether
judged by the enormous values involved, the relations and
associations of the various litigants, or the peculiar circum­
stances concerning its whole history. The name of John
Kugler was known throughout Southern Ohio, and his his­
tory was that of a man who for forty years was the leading
business man of the Little Miami Valley, and who carried
on at Milford, his residence, on a gigantic scale, milling,
merchandising, manufacturing, distilling, farming, and other
connecting business, giving employment directly to hundreds
of laborers, and affording a ready market for the' varied
agricultural productions of the rich surrounding country.

In 1842, John Kugler married Rebecca J. Eo 'Vest,
only daughter of the late venerable Rev. Samuel West, and
on Jan. 4, 1868, he died intestate, seized of a large estate
of real and personal property, situated in this and the
county of' Hamilton, without leaving issue or descendants
of i::isue, and upon his death the whole of his vast estate,

estimated to be then worth half a million of dollars, passed
and vested absolutely in his wife-relict. Afterwards, on
the 13th day of October, 1869, the testatrix, Mrs. Kugler,
was married to Edmund B. Townsend. On the 26th of
June,1871, :1\1rs. Townsend executed her will and died
two days after without issue, and the real estate of which
she died seized was the same which she had received from
her first husband, John Kugler. The following was her
wiII, which gave rise to such an almost interminable litiga­
tion, and which is not yet all settled in our courts.

" I, Rebecca J. E.. Townsend, of the town of Milford, Clermont Co.,
Ohio, do make and publish the following as· my last Will and Te~ta·

ment. First, I give and bequeath to my belo\'ed husband, E. B.
To\:nsend, the sum of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000). Second, I give
anu bequeath to my good, kind, and attentive physieian, Dr. P. B.
Gatch, the sum of five thousand dollars ($5000). Third, I give and
bequeath to m.}" brother, Samuel R. S. West, the notes and mortgages
given by him to my late husband, John Kugler, deceaseu, and those
given by him to me in my own right. Fourth, I give and bequeath
to the children of my nephew, Samuel A. West, and. to the children
of my niece, Anna 1\1. Lloyd, the sum of one thousand dollars ($1000)
to cach child. Fifth, I gh'e and bequeath to the children of Illy niece,
Elizabeth D. Gatch, the sum of one thousand dollars ($1000) each.
Sixth, I give and bcqueath to Josiah Drake the sum of five thousand
($5000) dollars. Sevcnth, I give nnd bequeath to my nephews, Samuel
A. West and John Kugler West, the 8um of.five thousand ($5000)
dollars each. Eighth, I give and bequeath to my nieces, Rebecc!!, S.
West, Anna M. Lloyd, and Harriet C. West, the sum of one thousand
(SI000) dollars each. Ninth, I give and bequeath to each one of the
children of Sarah Ogg, of Catherine DraKe, and Elizabeth Shults,
the sum of one thousand ($1000) dollars. to each child. Tenth, I give
and bequelLth to the children of Dl\\'id Kugler and :Mathias Kugler the
sum of one thoumnd (S1000) dollars each, except Mathias Kugler, son
of David Kugler, and John Kugler, son of Mathias Kugler, Sen.: to
these I give and bcque;lth the sum of two thousllnd five hundred
($2500) dollars each. Eleventh, I gh'e and bequeath to each child of
my niece, Rebecca Julia Frazier, the sum of one thousand (Sl 000) dol­
lars. Twelfth, I give and bequeath to Joanah Collins the sum of five
hundred ($500) dollars. Thirteenth, I giye a.nd bequeath to my little
namesllke, Rebecca Julia West, daughter .of Samuel A. West, my
IJitLno and jewelry-box, with its contents. Fourteenth, I give and
bequeath to Catharine Drake and her daughter, Ada P.Drake, my
silver tea-set. Fifteenth, I give and bequeath to my nephew, Samuel
A. West, my silyer water-pitcher, two silver goblets and waiter, and
my chinn. tca·set; the balance of my silver, markcd Kugler, I desire
to be distributed among the remllining members of the family, as
they may amicably devisc. Sixteenth, I gh'e and bequeath to Illy
belo\'ed husband, E. B. Townsend, my best bedroom set. Seventeenth,
I give and bequeath to the Methodist Episcopal Church at Milford,
Clermont Co., Ohio, the sum of six thousand (S6000) doilar!', which
sum ShlLII be placed at interest by them, and the interest used shall
be used by them perpetually in keeping in repair the church building
and in paying the salary of the ministers of said church who may
be appoin ted from time to timc by the regular constituted authorities
of the Methodist Episcopal Churdl to be the 11astors of said chl~rge

in Milford, Ohio. Eighteenth,]; give and bcqueath to the Orphan
Asylum at Cincinnati, Ohio, under the charge of the Protestant
managers at .Mount Auburn, the sum of two thousand ($2000) dollars.
Ninetecnth, I give and bequeath to the Widows' Home, at Cincinnllti,
Ohio, under the charge of managcrs at Mount Auburn, the SUUl of
two thousand ($2000) dollars. Twentieth, I gi\'e and bequeath to the
Missionary Society of the Methodist Ellisc0l'al Church the sum of six
thousand ($6000) dollnrs, to be lllaccd at interest, and the intere~t to
be used by them perpetually in the missionary WOJ,k. Twenty-first,
I give and beqneath to the Subbath-school of the Methodist Episcopal
Church located in Milford, Ohio, the sum ot fh'e hundl'cd ($500) dol­
lars; said slim to be contI'olled by the Quarterly Conference of said
charge, llnd by it put at interest, and thc interest to be by it pcr­
petually used for the bcnefit of the Sablmth-school. '!'wonty-second,
I give /Lnd bequeath to the Colorcd Ol'phan Asylum located in Cin­
cinnati the sum of one thousand (SIOOO) dollars. Twellty.thil·d, I
give and hequeath to Oakland Seminai'y, located in IIillsboro', High-
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lnnel Co., Ohio, the sum of one thous:mel ($1000) dollars. Twenty­
fourth, I give lind bequeath to the Cincinnati Annual Conference the
sum of five thousnnd (85000) <.lollars, to be under the control of the
trustees of said Conference, and by them put at interest, the interest
to be perpetually useel by them for the relief of superannuatell ILlld
worn-out ministers and widows anel orphans of uecl'ased ministers of
said Annual Conference; this to he known as the Kugler Bequest.
The balance of my estate shall be equally <.lidded among all the heirs
herein named. Twenty-fifth, I herehy nominllte and nppnint P. B.
Swing and Will. C..Mellen as the executors of this my last Will and
Testament, and do hcreby rel'oke :lll former wil!.,; by mc malle.

" Tn testimony whereof, I have hcreunto set Illy hanllnnel seal this
2tith tlay of Jnne, A.D. lSi/.

" (Signed)
" It~;nECL:A J. E. TO\\'~Sr.~D."

r--'--.

{ S~:.-\l.. }

'-v--'

This will was legally and duly witnessed, ~nd was written
by Rev. 'Villiam Runyan, then the popular pastor of the
Milford Methodist Church, of which Mrs. Townsend was
a consistent member and a devout worshiper. The money
legacies above aggregated one hundred and thirty-eight thou­
s:lnd dollars, and were more than the whole value of dece­
dent's personal estate. The executors-Philip B. Swing and
'William C. Mellen, both able lawyers and honest men, and
trusted friends of the testatrix-probated the will on July
5, 1871, and as the legacies could not be paid wit.hout the
sale of some or all of the real estate, and as there was doubt
and dispute as to who would take, after the payment of
the legacies, the residue, they, on the 2;·M of September
fullowing, filed their petition in the Clermont Common
Pleas Court for a construction of the will and an order to
sell the real estate of which the testatrix died seized. Now
arose the great legal strife as to this clause,-" The balance
of my estate shall be equally di\'ided among all the heirs
herein named,"-and as to whom this residuum should be
given. It was claimed by her husband· relict, Edmund B.
Townsend j by her collateral blood-relatives, the 'Vests j

and by the blood-relations of her first husband, the Kuglers.
For Mr. Townsend there appeared as counsel ex-United
States Senator George E. Pugh, 'Villiam Disney, Capt. 'V.
A. Townsley, and Maj. Julius A. Penn j for the Kuglers,
Gen. Durbin Ward and Judge James S. Bmuaugh j and for
the Wests l Maj. S. R. S. 'Vest and his children, J. S. and T.
A. Griffiths, Capt. Peter F. Swing, and Judge Thomas :M.
Lewis j while the varbus legatees were represented by. the
firm of King, Thompson &Longworth, of Cincinnati. At the
March term of 1872, Judge .Ashburn, on the bench, heard
the case and granted a decI'ee for the sale of the realty, and
decided substantially in fiwor of the 'Vcst heirs. The case
was then appealed to the District Court, which referred it
to the SJIpreme Court for decision, and there at last. the
great legal point was finally. settled at the December term,
]874, of the highest State court sitting in Columbus. The
.Supreme Court excluded the Kuglers from all participation
in the residuary gift, and held that. the residuum should be

.divided, share and share alike, among all those persons
nauwd in the will who might, under some circumstances,
have stood in relation of heirs to the testatrix. It further
decide-d that the real estate must be charged with the pay­
Dlent .of the money legacies, and the residuary devisees
must take the real estate, subject to. their payment, and

gave an order for the sale of the lands and tenenients to
pay aforesaid legacies. The Kuglers were thus cut out,
~rownsend found entitled to only a small share, and the
residuum given to the 'Yest branch. But it was a barren
victory, for in the great crash and depreciation of the values
of lands, the real estate remaining uncultivated, the build­
ings going to decay, and the costs, fees, and expenses piled
up like mountains, this vast real estate melted away, and
nothing was left to divide, after paying the legacies, as a
balance among the heirs of :Mrs. Townsend when the court
decided who were the heirs. The estate ·is yet unsettled,
and the courts are filled with cases-almost a score-grow­
ing out of this mammoth and princely estate ruined by
litigation.

CLERMONT COUNTY JUSTICES OF TilE PEACE.

The office of magistrate is an ancient one in history, and
in this cOUlity has been filled by its best citizens. The men
who have served as justices have generally been leaders in
their respective localities, and distinguished for their good
judgment and sense of duty. Up to the year 1804 the
magistrates were appointed by the GoYernor, but since that
period they have been elected by the people for a term of
three years. Below is a list of the justices, with the years
when they were elected or commissioned:

lS02.-Philip Gatch, Owen Todel, Riehar<.l Allison, :Miami; Will.
Buchanan, Washingtun; Peter Leight, Jasper Shotwell,
Wm.lIunter, Houton Clarke, Willialllsburgh; Robert Hig­
gins, Alexander .Martin, Pleasant; John Hunter, Ohio.

lS03.-George Brown, William :Fee, James Sargent, Washington;
Roger W. Waring, Williamsburgh.

lS0J.-Alexander Martin, Henry Chaplllan, Bernard Thompson,
Pleasant. .

lS05.-John Pollock, Miami; John Collim, John Morris, Henry
Willis, Tate.

lS06.-George Brown, James Sargent, William Fee, Washington;
J aeob Light, Robert Townsley, John Hunter, Ohio; Silas
Hutchinson, John Gest, .Miami; Isnae Higbee, Tate j B.•
W. Waring, Wm. Hunter, D. C. Bryan, Jasper Shotwell,
WilliulIlsburgh.

lS07.-W. S. Jump, Washington j Henry Chapman, Benj. Sharp,
Bernard Thompson, Pleasant.

1808.-John Pollock, Miami.
lS09.-Henry Willis, Tate; Will. Hunter, Thomas Cade, R. W.

Waring, Daniel Kain, Williamsburgh; George Brown, J 0­

seph Lakin, Washington.
1811.-Andrew :Megrue, Miami; Nicholas Prickett, Ohio; W. S.

Jump, Wnshington j Jncob Shinkle, Chnrles J(nery, Lelvis;
Henr.v Chapman, Pleasant; John Ross, Clark; Wm. Christ)·,
Wm. l\IcMahon, Ohio; Wm. Higgins, Pleasant; Joseph
Andrews, Miami; Geo. Eli, WillialDsbul'gh; Wm. White, J.
McKinney, Chlrk.

1812.-John Boggess, T:Lte; JaClob Lig~t, Ohio; Joseph L:Lkin,
Washington; Stephen Lindsey, Ohio; Enoch l\Iol'gan,
George Brown, Washington; William l\1cl\lahnn, Nathan
Sutton, Union; Jacob Bmdbury, Tate; Daniel KlI.in, WiI­
liamsburgh; Abel Donham, Ohio; Peter Light, Williams­
burgh; Samuel Perin, Solomon C1:lypool, Sumuel Hill,
Stoneliek; Silas Hutchinson, Daniel McClelland, Miami;
Thomas Cnde, Tate; Wm. Hunter, Williamsburgh.

1813.-John Gest, Miami; David Morris, WiIIilLmsburgh; John
Collins, Jeremiah BeJk, Jr., Tate; John Ross, Charles
Knery, Allen B. Hughes, Lewis; Henry Ch.lpman, Ple:Lsant.

1814.-Wulter Wall, Victor L:lttiIllOl"e, Pleasant; Micah Gilbert,
Washington; Samuel MeConll,ughey, Pleasant; John Bra­
zier, Union; itobert Allen, Chtrk.

1815.-William Chapman, John Lindsey, Clurk; Sallluel Lowes,
Wushington; James Roundsl Tate; Timothy ltal'elin, Ohio;
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John Brazier, Union; James Wood, Ohio; Nat1Jan Sutton,
Shallrnch Lanc, Union; Enoch Morgan, Washington;
D:wid White, Ohio; Joseph Lakin, Washington; Danicl
F. Barney, Union; Daniel Kain, 'Peter Light, Williams­
burgh; Samuel Hill, John Charlel', John Beatty, Stonelick;
Jacob ClaJPool, Perry; Silas IIutchinson, Miami; Isaac
Ruth. Perry.

I S16.-George Ely, John Brazier, Batavia; David Morris, Williams­
burgh; Christian Wilel', Pleasant; Jasper Shotwell, WiJ­
liumsburgh; Micah Gilbert, Washington; Jeremiah Beck,
Jr., Tate; Isaac Huth, Perry; William Ewing, W. S. Jump,
Washington; John Ross, Charlcs Knery, Lewis.

lS17.-Benjamin Penn, Washington; Isaac Voorhis, Bat:win; Gid­
eon Denham, Perry; Henry Char-man, Walter Wall, Pleas­
ant; Plummer Jams, Ohio; Elijah Fee, Washington; An­
drew l\Iegrue, Jessc Wood, John Gest, Miami.

lSIS.-Timothy Hardin, Jamcs Wood, Ohio; Joseph Stockton, Union;
David White, Ohio; Andrew Pinkham, John Boggess, Tutc;
Joseph Lakin, Elijah Larkin, Washington; Shadraeh Lane,
Daniel Day, Union; John Cha.rles, John Beatty, Stonelick;
Adam Miller, Franklin; Danicl Kain, Jasper Shotwell,
Williamsburgh; Silas Hutchinson, :i\Iiami; Nathaniel Bon­
ser, Williltm Fee, Franklin; Wm. Hunter, WilJiamsburgh.

I SI9.-Ambrose Hanson, Miami; Benjamin Morris, Tate; David
MotTis, Williamsburgh; Peter Frybarger, Goshen ; Joseph
Layman, WaJne; Thomas Lindsey, Washington; John
Brazier, Festus Dunning, Mahlon Smith, Goshen; George
J. Troutwinc, Nathan Oliver, Tatc.

1820.-Isuac Voorhis, Butavi:t; David Jones, Ohio; Andrew l\!egrue,
Miami; Isaac James, Union; Joseph Utter, Franklin.

1821.-Da\'id White, Ohio; Elijah Fcc, Washington; James Stock­
ton, Union; Chapman Archer, Ohio; William Davis,
Union; James Hobb, Ohio; Elijah Larkin, Wltshington;
Moses Larkin, Franklin; Samuel Hill, Thomas Martin,
Stoneliek; Daniel Kain, Williamsburgh; Nathaniel Bonser,
Andam Miller, Franklin; John Emery, Miami; Arthur
Clark, Stoneliek.

l822.-John W. Robinson, David Dial, Batavia; Jasper Shotwell,
David Morris, Williamsburgh; John K. Morris, Tate; Eze­
kiel Leming, Miami; Thomas Lindsey, Washington; Robert
Smith, Wayne j Ignatius A. Pool, Fmnklin.

lS23.-James 13luellburn, Tate; Isaac Covalt, Miami; Joseph Utter,
Franklin; Isaac James, Union; Simeon Goodwin, Frank­
lin; George :\'Iel\Iahon, Union; Elijah Fee, Washington.

IS24.-Chapman ~rcher, Timothy Rardin, Martin Pease, Ohio; John
Boggess, Tate; Joseph Davis, Union; Nathan KeJt, Wash­
ingt.on; Thomas Mullin, Franklin ; John Rand:tll, Goshen;
Dal1ielKa.in, WilliamsLurgh; Joseph Laymon, Wayne; Wil­
liam Dads, Union; John Emery, Miami.

1825.-Dltvid Dial, Batavia; David Jones, Ohio; John W. Robinson,
Batavia: Solomon Wells, Tate; David Morris, Williams­
burgh; William Mount, Batavia; John K. Morris, Tate;
Elijah Larkin, Wltshington; Williltm Hartman, Jackson;
Philip B. B.rrn, Washington; Obadiah Winans, Tate; Sam­
ucl Perin, Zebimt Williams, Stoneliek; William B. Botts,
Franklin; Ezekiel Leming, Edward Hughe~, Miami.

lS26.-JnDles Blackburn, Tate; William Mount, Batavia; David
Jones, Ohio; George McMahon, Union; Otho Pearre, Frank­
lin; ZeLina Williams, James McKinnie, Stonelick; Andrew
FI';yharger, Goshen; William Waters, Williamsbmgh; Wil­
liam Curry, Washington.

1827.-Samuel Hill, Stonelick; George J. Troutwine, Tate; Chap­
man Areher, Thomas West, David White, Ohio; John :pun­
lap, Goshen ; John Rogers, Monroe; George S. Blyan,
Batavia; Nathan Keyt, Washington; Joseph Davis, Union;
James l\IcKinne.r, Zebina Williams, Stonelick; John Ran·
~all, Goshen; Francis In'in, Miami; Samuel Raper, Wil­
Iiam~burgh; .Tames C. Hanle.y, Wayne.

1828.-David Diltl, Batavia·; Savil Wilson, Union; Elijah Larkih,
Washington; Timothy Rardin, Ohio; Joseph W.ratt, Mon­
roe; John Everhart, Franldin.

182!J.-Edward Hughes, Miami; William Da"is, Union; Otho Pearre,
Simeon Goodwin, Franklin; GeOl'ge McM:Lhon, Union;
Levi .Moss, Ohio; Ed ward Fmzier, Tate ; Joseph Laymon,
"'ayue.

1830.-B. C. Leadtt, Gosben; David White, Ohio; George J. Trout­
wine, Obadiah Winnns, Tate; Thomas West, Ohio; Samuel
lIill, Stonelick; Hezen Hill, Goshen; Israel Whitaker, Ba­
t:wia; John Brown, Franklin; Michael Highlands, Union;
John Randall, Wayne; Samuel 'Hoper, Williamsburgh;
James McKinnie, John Williams, Stonelick; Daniel Kain,
Williamsburgh; Francis Erwin, Miami.

l831.-David Dial, Jubn W. Robinson, Batavia; J. H. Jackson,
Goshen; Moses E1stun, Miami; Elijnh Larkin, Washing­
ton; William Hartman, Williamsburgb; Timotby Rardin,
Ohio; Joseph Wyatt, l\Ionroe.

1832.-Edward Hugh('s, Miami; Henry H. E,':ms, Simeon Goodwin,
Franklin; Chltpman Archer, Plummer hillS, O.hio; John.
McGuire, Union; Jacob G. Dimmitt, Wayne; Azel Bryan,
Williamsblirgh; Josiah G. Gallup!.', Frunklin; John Quinlan,
Edward Frazier, Tate; WiIliam Waters, Williamsburgh;
John Trees, Joseph Gwynn, Washington.

1833.-John Rogers, Monroe; Dayid Wbite, Thomas West, Ohio;
Arthur McNeil, Goshen; Conrod Whitmore, Stonelick; Alex­
nnder Blair, Ba1a\'ia; WiIliam Highlands, Union; John
Leeds, Henry D. Gorbet, Williamsburgb; Samuel II ill,
Stonelick; JltmeS Ward, Absalom Manker, Union; Fmncis
Erwin, Miami; A. F. Morrison, Wayne; John Sargent,
Franklin; Zebina Williams, Stonelick. '

lS34.-Alexander Blair, Da\'id C. Bryan, Batavia; Thomns Sheldon,
Tate; Abraham Wilson, Goshen; David Morris, Bntada;
Moses Elstun, Miami; Joseph Davis, Union; James Ward,
Obio; Dowty Utter, Washington; William Hartman, Wil­
Iiamsburgh; John K. l\Iorris, Tate; Timothy Rardin, Oh io ;
William Nutt, Wayne; Lindsley Broadwell, Franklin.

1835.-Simeon Goodwin, Franklin; Chapman Arcber, Newel E. Wat­
ton, David White, Ohio ; John MeGuil'e, Union; Daniel
I{uin, Azel Br.ran, Williamsburgh ~ Edwurd Frazier, Tate;
James Jackson, Miami; John Quinlan, Tate; Martin BJard,
John Davis, Washington; George Mitchell, \Va.yne; Arthur
McNaell, John Beatty, Goshen; John Dickey, Jackson.

1836.-John Rogers, Monroe; James McKinnie, Ston'elick; Samuel
G. Meek, Goshen; Samuel Fitzwater, Miami; J obn Leeds,
David Light, Williumsburgh; George W. McCormick, Ze­
bina Williams, Stonelick; James Ward, Union; WiIliam
Sloane, Wnyne; Jobn S:irgent, Franklin; Dowty Utter,
Squu'e Frazee, Wnshington.

l837.-David .Morris, Shadrach Medaris, Batavia; Jacob Beagle,
Union; Thomas Sheldon, Tate; Moses Elstun, .Miami; Wil­
liam Ibrtman, Jackson; John Ellsberry, Tate; J~sse Whit­
set, l\Iiumi; Joseph Wyatt, l\Ionroe; Timothy Rardin, Ohio;
Elijah Applegate, Goshen; James Dads, Tate; A. F. Mor­
rison, Wayne; W. B. Utter, Franklin.

183S.-James Hamilton, Jucksnn; Simeon Goodwin, Franklin; John
McGuire, Union; Samuel Ewing, Stonelick; Samuel Mc­
Loughlin, Newel E. Watton, John Swem, Ohio; Azel Bryan,
Daniel Kain, Williamsburgh; John Randall, Goshen; John
Quinlan, Tate; John Davis, Washington; John Rapp,
Stonelick; William Page, Monroe; Arthur MeNaell, Goshen.

lS3!J.-James B. Simmons, D:t\'id Jones, Ohio; John Emery, l\Iiami;
John Leeds, William S. McLean, Willialllsburgh; Thomas
Carter, William Sloane, Wayne; David Light, Willi:tms­
burgh; John Trees, Washington; William Roudebush,
Stonclick; Joseph Kyle, Union; John S. Fallin, Franklin;
David C. Bryan, Butav'ia; Squire Frazee, Washington.

lS40.-Tbomas D. Temple, Union; David Morris, Henry Whita!lel',
Batavilt; William Hartman, Jackson; Andrew Long, Stolle­
lick; John Ellsberry, Thomus Sheldon, Tate; James Simp­
son, Gosht'n; Moses Elstun, .Jesse Whitsit, Miami; Enoch
T!'acy, Monroe; A. F. Morrison, Wayne; James Dennison,
Miami; Isaac Mitchell, Monroe·; James Davis, Tate; John
Page, Washington.

1841.-John M. Hutchinson, Jackson; William Eppert, Ohio; Joseph
Da\'i~, Union; John Scycrn, Ohio; W. B. Utter, Simeon
Goodwin, Franklin; Daniel Kltin, Williamsburgh: John
Rapp, StoneHcl,; Johu Quinlan, Tate; Arthur McNaeIl,
Goshen. '

1842.-Jllllles n. Simmons, Monroe; Wro. Hobson, Ohio; John Leeds,
Seth l\IakCl', Williamsburgh; Will. N. Robinson, Miami; Wm.
S. l\I~Le:m, Williltlllsburgh j Wm. Slone, Wayne; Joseph
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Page, Washinglon; IJawson L. 'Va.rren, Union; Moses
Larkin, Frnnldin; Peter Anderson, StoneHck; John S.
Fallin, Franklin.

1843.-Squire Frazee, Washington; L. D. Morris, George S. Lee,
Blttlwia; 'Vm. Hartman, Jackson; 1'. D. Temple, Union;
II. Simonton, Miami; Thonl:ls S. Baker, 'Villiltlll8burgh;
Darius Perin, Amasa Day, 1\Iiallli; James Simpt'on, Goshen;
Andrew Long, Sloneliek; Tholllas Sheldon, John Ellsberry,
Tatc; Hemy Whitaker, Batadlt; Joseph Wyatt, Isaac
l\Iitchell, 1\Ionroe; Daniel Altman, Tate; Hiram Boulware,
Williamsburgh; Benj. P. Thmsher, Washington.

18-!4.-Simeon Goodwin, Franklin; D:wid Kirgan, Ohio; John 1\1.
Hutchinson, Jackson; John Simldns, Stoneliek; Harvey
Irwin, Goshen; John Swem, Ohio; George Eo Hill, Union;
Wm. Hobson, Ohio; Jltlnel! Loveland, Miami; James Kel­
hUll, Jaml's Davis, Tate; Samuel Masters, Goshen; Amos
Hill, Stunelick; A. l'[cNaell, Goshen; John Slye,l'[unrue.

1845.-Juhn Leetls, Henry .Moyer, Willialllsburgh; Eli Elstun, Wm.
N. Robinson, Millmi; John W.•Junes, Wayne; John D.
Holter, Washington; Zacbeus Kyle, Union; George l\lc­
Lefre~h, Franklin; Moses S. Pickclheimcr, Wayne; George
ltichard8, Franklin.

1846.-S. L. Leffing\'I'ell, Williamsburgh; Squire Frazee. Washington;
James Perrine, Henry Bouncl, Batln-ia; Levi "rihllington,
Uniun; Thowas S.Darker, Willilllllsburgh ; Arthur .MeNaell,
Goshen; Orville Wiggins, l\Iiami; John ElIsberry, Tate;
John E. Offutt. Batlwia; Darius Perin, Miami; .J. B. Siln­
mons, Isaac l\IitehelI, 1'lonroe; A. F. l\Iorrison, Wayne;
P. E. Gesl, Miami; Jared Lemar, W:lshington; J. S. ll.
Frazier, Willi:t1usburgh; SllIDuel Sims, Tate.

l847.-John Simkins, Stonelick; 1'Iaurice Witham, Union; John
Swcm, Ohio; Harvey Irwin, Goshen ; John S. Jenkins,
Union; William Hobson, Ohio; Jallles Kellum, TItle;
Enoch Trn.cy, l\[omoe; Amos Hill, Stoneliek; Samuel l\Ias­
tel's, Goshen; Michael Cowen, l\liawi.

1848.-Ezekiel Slade, John Stevens, Willillmsuurgh; W. N. Robinson,
Miumi; Joseph L. PowelI, Washington; Joseph 1\lartin,
Union; George Maxfield, Stonelick; 1\1. S. Pickelheimer,
Wayne; Peter Anderson, Moses Long, Stonelick; G. W.
Richards, Franklin.

1849.-Squire Frazee, Washington; James Perrine, D. C. Br.ran,
Bata"ia; Holly Raper, Miami; W. S. McLean, Williams­
burgh; W. II. Noble, Tltte; W. II. Ferguson, Isaac 1\1.
1\1itchell, 1\lonroe; John Elbberr,}', Tate; John E. Offutt,
Batavia; J. A. l\IcLltughlin, Washington; T. D. Hartman,
Jackson; D. Altmun, Tate; J. S. B. Frazier, WiIlilunsburgh.

1850.-S. 1\1. Walr:wen, Ohio; II. V. Kerr, Tate; David Kirgan,
James Vail, Ohio; James Turner, Goshen; Joshua Dial,
Union; James Dennison, William Hughes, Miami; Enoch
Trucy, Monroe.

lS51.-J. D. Holter, Washington; T. S. Barker, Williamsburgh;
J. N. Hutchinson, Jackson; Ezekiel Slade, Williamsburgh;
H. W. Lec\"er, l\liami; Moses Long, Stonelick; William
Houdebush, Wayne; Nathan Mcl\Iuhan, Union; G. W.
Rlcharus, Anurew L. Powell, Franklin.

1852.-'1'. J. l\Iorris, Tate; James Perrine, J. D. Hatfield, Batavia;
S. H. Whitmore, Miami; Isaac l\HlchelI, Monroe; James
Stultrt, Washington; J. Hunt, Jr., Franklin; John Dickey,
Jackson; William Canter, Tate.

1853.-J. 1\1. Hutchinson, Jackson; J:tmes Crosson, Wayne; L. L.
Warren, Union; William Eppert, James Vail, James Robb,
Ohio; II. B. Hoes, WilIiamsburgh; F. J. Houdebush, Stone­
lick; Thomas S. Barker, Williamsbnrgh; James Dennison,
William Hughes, Miumi; John Philips, Robert McLaugh­
lin, MODl'oe; 1\1. S. Dimmitt, Fmnklin; William. Terwilliger,
Julin Ringer, Perrine Applegate, Goshen.

lS5~.-A. J. Trees, Washington; William Hobson, Ohio; Decatur Wi­
ley, Pierce; H. W. Leever, Miami; E. Slade, Willinmsburgh;
Nathan Keyt, Washington; J. L. Teal, J. S. Jenldns,
Union; .James II. Whitaker, Wa)'ne ;';; Zaeharhth Shields,
Stonelick; John H. Simmons, Fro.n~lin.

;;; Muruered l\lay 1, l8i9, at his house by his son, Jonathan Whita­
ker, who, on Dec. 15, I8i\), WRS sentenced to the penitentiary for life,
on his own plelt of guilty of murder in the-second degree.

l855.-John B. Wheeler, Washington; Charles Goodale, Ohi'o; S. M.
Penn, J. R. Fosler, Batavi:t; Robert Dlwidson, Sloneliek;
Cyrus McFarland, Bata"ia; William Win:Uls, Monroe; D.
W. Barr, Wayne; J. A. Adams, Union; S. H. Whitmore,
Miami; T. J. Morris, Tate; Otis Dudley, Williamsburgh;
D. W. Ritchie, l\Ionrqe; George P. Clark, Fmnldin; John
Dicke)', Jacl(son; James Crosson, Wa)·ne; W. C. SIRde,
Moses Larkin, Fl'llnklin; Daniel Altmun, Tate; Gideon V.
Witham, Union.

185G.-John 1\L Hutchinson, Jackson; Da\"id Kirgan, Pierce; W. A.
Dallas, Stoneliek; James Perrine, Batll\:ia; H. n. 1Ioes,
Williamsbllrgh; John D, Rundall, Goshen; l\loses Elstun,
Union; William Hughes, J. A. Adams, Miami; Chltrles n..
Ashburn, Ohio; .James Gest, Miami; Robert McLaughlin,
Washington; John lUnger, William Terwilliger, Goshen.

IS5i.-Juhn Page, Washington; Isaac Donham, Ohio; John Wag­
ner, Pierce; Joseph A. 'Ve:wer, Batada; Ezekiel Slade,
Williamsburgh; .James Hopple, Washington; Zach:triah
Shields, Stonelick; John H. Simmons, Franklin; Thomas
Elrod, Tate; George W.Heltman, Union; John 13. Wheeler,
WRshington.

1~5S.-l\L S. Dimmitt, Franklin; William Winans, Monroe; Robert
Da"idson, Stonelick; J. R. Foster, C.rrus McFllrlallll, Dn­
tlwia; W. S. Anderson, Wuyne; Otis Dudley, ·Williams­
burgh; D. 1\1. Dan, Wayne; T. J. Morris, Tute; James
Turner, l\Iilulli; Isaac Mitchell, Monroe; John Dickey,
JalJ!,son; Zebulon Dickinson, Wa.,rne; W. C. SIRde, Tate;
G. V. Witham, Union; S. B. Smith, TRte; J. S. Fallin,
Fl'lInklin.

1859.-Jonathan Christie, Juckson; John Applegate,Gosben; W. A.
Dullas, Stonelick; Joseph Jenkins, Williamsburgh; Dlldd
I\jrgan, Pierce; WillilUn Thompson, Willialllshurgh ; John
D. HundalI, Goshen; Moses E1stun, Union; Willittm Hughes,
John Adams, Miami; Slwil Justice, Tate; WiIliam Haw­
kins, Ohio; J. Flegle, Goshen; William Laughlin, l\Ionroe;
l\I. S. Williamson, H. G. Wasson, 1\IiRmi.

18GO.-Harrison Jonl:tII, Wayne; John D. Holter, Wushington;
Joseph H. Gest, Bat/wia; John Wagner, Pierce; Ezekiel
Slade, Willialllshurgh; J. McDonald, Ohio: Joseph L. Pow­
ell, Washington; John H. Simmons, Franklin; G. W. SaIt,
Tate; C. W. Short, Ohio.

1861.-J. R. Foster, Batada; Robert Davidson, Stonclick; J. H.
Thompson, Wa)'ne; John Dickey, Jackson; Thomas Cazel,
BatM'ilt; W. W. Fee, 'rate; William Durrah, Stonelick;
Otis Dudley, Williamsburgh; Henry Daughlllan, Goshen;
Marcus Fcc, Franklin; Jacob L. Teltl, Union; Zebulon
Dickinson, Wayne; G. V. Witham, Union; John S. Fal­
lin, '1'. J. Morris, Tate: S. B. Smith, Isaac l\IitcheIl, Mon­
roe.

18G2.-1\Ioses Elstun, Union; W. A. Dallns, Stonelick; Dlwid Kir­
gltn, Pierce; T. D. Hartman, Jackson; Jackson Crawfl,lrd,
Joseph Jenkins, WiJIiamsburgh; Thomas S. Atchley, Ba­
tavia; William Hughes, l\IiRmi; P.P. Wolf, Goshen; Savil
Justice, Tate; J. A. Adams, Miami; William Hawkins,
Ohio; William Stairs, l\Ionroe; H. W. Leever, W. C. Mellen,
1\Iiami; Harrison Jordan, Wayne.

18G3.-Joseph Pnge, Washington; Ezekiel Slade, Williamsburgh;
John 1\lcDonald, Ohio; Benjamin Behymer, Pierce ; John
Stump, l\liami; Nathan Keyt, Washington; Luke W. 1\Ioore,
Pierce; J. L. Teal, Union; John H. Simmons, Franklin;
G. W;Sltlt, Tate.

18G4.-C. W. Short, Ohio; James Turner, Miami; J. D. Hovey, F.
1\1. :Maxfield, Btonelick; R. A. Hopkins, Batavia; R. J.
Bancroft, Franklin; T. M. Leeds, Otis Dudley, Williams­
burgh; William Winans, Monroe; Hemy Doughman,
Gosben; J. H. Thompson, Wayne; Isaac MitehelI, Monroo;
G. V. Witham, Union; W. H. Pickelheimer, Wayne; S. B.
Smith, T. J. Morris, Tate.

1865.-Jolln S. Fallin, Franldin; J. 1\'1. Hutchinson, Jackson; Thomas
S. Atchley, Data'"ia; E. A. Purker, Miami; WiIliam Rapp,
Stonelick; Thomas H. l'hiiiI'll, Monroe; John Simkins,
Miami; Abiel Losey, Goshen; Luke Higgins, Jackson; J.
F. Perdl'izet, Union; Joseph Jenldns, Williamshurgh; Wil­
liam Hitch, Tate; John G. Prnther, Wallhington; William
Mansfield, Pierce; C. W. Short, Ohio; Theophilus Simon-
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ton, l\Iill.lni; John Slye, Monroe; John Ringer, Goshen;
Zebulon Dickinson, Wu,ync.

IS66.-N. S. Ste\'ens, Washington; J. II. Gest, Bntlwilt; Joseph D.
Murphy, Wayne; S. R. Kyle, l\li:uni; Nathan Keyt, Wl1sh­
ingtoll; James Dillun, Ohio; W. D. John, Pierce; J. L.
1'cl1l, Uniun; C. P. Hl1rker, .Miami; J'ohn lI. Simmons,
:Frauklin; G. W. SnIt, Tate.

1867.-Caleb S. Lltyeock, William '1'. Cramer, Stonelick; William
. Pense, Batavia; }'. M. Mnxfield, Stoneliek; R. J. Bancroft,

Franklin; W. M. Fryman, WiIIi:~msburgh; J. II. Thomp­
son, Waync; Z. F. Riley, WilIiamsburgh; J. A. Warren,
Ohio; J. 1\1. Hutchinson, Jackson; A. J. Crawford, WiI­
Iil1msburgb; Isaac Mitchell, Monroe ; James Ingram, Wash­
ington; G. V. Witham, Union; S. n. Smith, W. W. Ulrey,
Tate; A. J. Broadwell, Fmnklin.

18G8.-IIlm'is Smethurst, Ballwia ;l'homas H. Philips, Monroe;
Elisha Willillm~,Stonelick; J. S. B. Frazier, WilliamsbuJ'gh;
L. n. Dcnnis, Union; Pervise Itandall, Goshen; William
Mansfield, I>ieree; J. T. Wheeler, Ohio; Itubert McLaugh­
lin~ Washington; Juhn Simkins, Miami; O. W. Vu,nosdol,
Joseph Jenkins, WilIia1l1sburgh; Luke Higgins, Jackson;
T. J. Morris, '1'atc; A. J. Crawford, Williamsburgh; C. W.
Short, Ohio; William Hunt, Miami; John B. Turner,
Monroe; T. Simonton, Miami; John lUnger, Goshen.

186!J.-A. J. Trees, Washington; John W. Dixson, }'ranklin; E.
Gregory, Wayne; N. S. Stevens, Washington; Joseph Mar­
tin, Union ; John S. Fallin, }'ranklin; A. H. Matson, Mi.:
ami; J. D. Murphy, Wayne; John H. Simmons, Franklin;
Ml~dison Eppert, John Brunaugh, Picrce; Daniel Altman,
Tate.

1870.-W. T. Cramer, Stoneliclq Josephus n. Hall, Jacl,son; Wil­
liam Pease, Batavia; James Caldwell, Goshen; G. W. Su,lt,
TILte; George II. Fridman, Monroe; Moses Elstun, Union;
James Hopple, Washington; G. V. Witham, Union; S. B.
Smith, Tate.

1871.-John Simkins, Miami; T. II. Philips, Monroe; W. R. Moore­
head, Williamsburgh; N. Y. Bacun, Washington; Joseph
Jenkins, L. W. Franklin, Williamsburgh; Elishn Williams,
Stonelick; James S. Murphy, Wayne; Pervise Randall,
Goshen; Luke Higgins, Jackson; J. W.Morin, Ohio; A. J.
Broadwell, Franklin; T. J. Morris, Tate; T. M. Leeds, Wil­
Jiamsburgh; E. Gregory, Wayne; '1'.1\1. Willis, Monroe; T.
Simonton, Miami; John B. Turner, Monroe; John Ringer,
Goshen; C. W. Short, Ohio; A. C. Antra.1I1, Goshen.

1872.-W. H. Prather, Franklin; John F. Mellcn, Bu,tavil1; George
Kell, Miami; L. D. Manning, Union; N. S. Stevens, Wash­
ington; WillialD Hitch, Tate; Robert Davidson, Stonelick;
W. D. John, !)ierce; John II. Simmons, }'ra.nklin; John
Brunaugh, Pierce.

ISi3.-William Pease, Bamvia; Barnard Pumpell;S', Pierce; JosephUS
H. Hall, Jackson; W. '1'. Cramer, Stonelick; ISl1ae Cross,
Wayne; D. P. Lancaster, W~tshington; G. V. Witham,
Union; J. H. Short, Pierce; S. B. Smith, Tatc.

1874.-John McNeil, W. R. Moorhead, WiIJiamsburgh; Elisha Wil­
liams, Stoneliek; John Simkins, Miami; Lcd Griswold,
Jackson; L. W. Caryer, Franklin; William Tribble, Wil­
liamsburgh; Harvey Irwin, Goshen; N. Y. Bacon, Washing­
ton; T. J.Morris, Tate; Joseph Jenkins, Williall1sburgh; L.
R. White, Tate; J. S. Murphy, Wayne; J. W. Morin, Ohio;
J. W. Wilstee, Monroe; W. W. Hancock, Pierce; J. 11.
Bainum, Ohio; James Cramer, WII.yne ; John Ringel',
Goshen; C. W. Short, Ohio; Abiel Losey, Goshen; G. I-I.
}'ridman, Monroe; 1'. Simonton, Miami; T. 1\1. Willis,
Monroe.

ISi5.-W. II. Prather, Franklin; John F. Mellen, Batavia; J. W.
Hill, Union; N. S. Stevens, Washington; John H. Sim­
monl1, Franklin; Robert Davidson, Stonelick; George. Kell,
Miami.

1876.-William Pease, Batavia; John B. Turner, Monroe;' J. P.
Christy, Jaflkson; Jerome Behymer, Tate; John P. Leming,
Stoneliek; Euwu,ru Hughes, Washington; Daniel Cmmer,
Wayne; Moses Elstun, G. V. Witham, Union; S. B. Smith,
Tltte; J. H. Short, Pierce.

18ii.-J. S. Murphy, Wayne; Jusephus H. Hall, Jllcl,son; \Y. R.
Moorhead, O. II. Hardin, Williamsbul'gh; A. n. Applega.te,

It>

Stonclick; John Gilla~pie, Ohio; A. J. Crawford, Williams­
burgh; A. ,r. Broadwell, Franklin; T. J. Evans, Miami;
N. Y. Ba.con, Washington; L. R. White, Tatc; William B.
C.·ouch, Fmnklin; Samuel Eltaroth, Goshen; W. W. Han­
cock, Pierce j COl"llelius Whiteneek, 'Vaync; C. W. Short,
Ohio; A. W. Power, Miami; Abiel Losey, John Ringer,
Goshen; T. '1'. Bigam, Wayne; John Idlet, N. J. Bunner,
Monroe.

lSiS.-John W. Hill, Union; George Kell, Miami; Josephus Baum,
Washington; John Brunaugh, Batavia; John G. Prather,
Franklin; Robert Davidson, Stonelick; James K. Gray,
Franklin; Thomas 1\f. Willi11, Monroe; Samuel Wright,
Stoneliek.

IS7!l.-Moses Elstun, Vnion; Amos lIiII, Stonelick; Orin Temple,
Batavia; Jerome Behymer, Tate; William Tudor, Miami;
WiIliarn II. Hartl~an, Jackson; Edward Hughes, Washing­
ton; John B. Turner, Monroe; William Yost, Goshen; John
WaIl,er, Fmnklin; J. H. Shol"t, Pierce; G. V. Witham,
Union; Washington W. Manning, Tate,

CHAPTER XV.'

POLITICAL HISTORY OF THE COUNTY -RELA­
TIONS WITH THE STATE AND NATIONAL GOV­
ERNMENT, WITH LISTS OF OFFICERS, REMI­
NISCENCES, AND STATISTICS.

TIlE early legislation of Ohio forms one of the brightest
and most honorable historical chapters in her record. The
legislators to whom were intrusted the task of constructing
the organic system of the civil government of the State
were men of practical wisdom, and of just and liberal views.
Its territorial government was the creature of the living
breath of freedom. The ordinance of 1787 laid the chJef
corner-stone iii the structure 'of her greatness and prosp"er­
ity; and the men who framed the State constitution, and
created her system of legislation, conformed their policy
to this great charter of freedom. Thus Ohio was early
consecrated to religion, education, and freedom, and the
Bill of Rights declared that neither slavery nor involun­
tary servitude, except for crime, should exist in the State;
that religion, morality, and knowledge being essentially
necessary for good government and the happiness of man­
kind,. schools and the means of instruction should forever
be enc~uraged by legislative provision; and that all men,
being born equally free and independent, should have the
right to life, liberty, and of pursuing and obtaining happi­
ness and safety. These enactments saved Ohio pure from
the blight and curse of sla\Tery, and paved the way for its
early settlement and sub::;eque~t greatness in material re­
sources, and especially its towering strength among the
States forming the Union. There had been in Ohio three
territorial Legislatures in which Clermont was not repre­
sented when Congress, on the 30th of April, 1802, passed
an act to enable the people of the eastern division of the
Territory northwest of the river Ohio to form a.constitution
and State government, and for the admission of such State
iuto the Union on an equal footing with the original States,
and for other purposes. In pursuance of which an election
was held and members of a Constitutional Convention
elected on Oct. 12, 1802, and returns of that held in this
county are not of' record, but thc two delegates from Cler­
llJOnt were Philip Galch, of Miami, and James Sargcnt,
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of Washington township. Philip Gatch, a l\iethorlist
preacher, had been a member of an abolition society in his
native State, Virginia, and James Sargent had fl'eed his
slaves in Marj'land ere he moved to the county, and both
were elected on account of their uncompromising opposition
to slavery, then being sought to be filstened on the vil'gin
soil of the beautiful Northwest. The convention met at
Chillicothe, on Nov. 1, 1802, and on the 29th its work
appeared in a constitution. ratified and signed that day by
its members. It was never referred to the people for their
approbation, but became the fundamental law of' the State
by the act of the convention alone.* The first election for
Governor and members of the General Assembly under the
State constitution took place on the second 'fuesday of
January, 1803. No records or returns of that in this
county arc preserved, but William Buchanan, of'Vashing­
ton township, was elected senator, and Roger 'V. Waring,
of Williamsburgh, and Amos Ellis, of Pleasant, representa­
tives. Therefore, the first election in the county of which
we have retul'lls-and those fragmentary only-was that
held for member of Congress, on June 21, 1803, with the
following result: Jercmiah Morrow, 117; William Mc­
Millen, 78; William Goforth, 51 j Michael Baldwin, 24 j

Elias Langham, 3. Total vote polled, 275. .
The poll-books of one township only are preserved,- to

wit, Washi ngton. 1.'here were 108 votes cast, and the
judges were 'Vm. Buchanan, James M. Queen, and John
Wood j clel'ks, Joseph Utter and Samuel Jackson. The
vote in the township stood: Jeremiah Morrow, 43; Wm.
Goforth, 47; and Wm. McMillen, 13. At the same time
the people elected three justices of the peace, and of this
side or extra election we give the vote: Wm. Fee, 80;
George Brown, 91 j James Sargent, 44; \Vm. Jump, 41 ;
Stephen Bolander, 32 j 'Vm. Stewart, 18 j Richard
Fansier, 1; Robert Higgins, 2 j John Gaskins, 1; the
fil'st three being elected.

As Washington township was then the largest in popu­
lation and territory, we give the names of the electors who
votcd,-to wit, Jesse Tatman, Adam Simmons, Joseph 'Wood,
John Boultinghouse, Joseph Logston, John Miller, lUchard
l?anshier, John Jones, Isaac Williams, Robert Buchanan,
David Colglazer, Ualph Brodrick, James Morris, Joseph
Jackson, David Goulding, Wm. Williams, Benj. Sells,
Joseph Dawson, Charles Thompson, James Bennett, Jamcs
Stewart, James Flora, Joseph McKibben, Joseph Pursley,
Adam Fisher, Joshua Manning, Adam Stewart, Nathan
Manning, Jr., John Conaly, John Prather, 'Vm. Bennett,
Joseph Ferguson, Michael Baum, Barnet Pribble, Richard
Manning, Joseph Clarke, Nathan Manning, Sr., Stephen
Polander, Charles Baum, James Buchanan, James Jackson,
'Vm. S. J nmp, Andrew Jackson, Thomas Patterson,
Charles Stewart, John ClingIer, Nathan Tatman, Charles
Baum, Sr:, John Gaskins, James Sargent, ~Jlisha Manning,
Abraham Sell, Michael Byrns, Isaac Manning, 'V lll. Ful­
lcr, Samuel Walraven, John Sells, 'Vm. Stewart, David
'Vood, Wm. Higgins, Benj. Moreing, Emsmns Prather,

* William Buclmnnn IIml William Fce were, on Oct. 12, 1802, elected
reprcscntatives to the lourth session of the Territorial Legislature,
but thc auoptiun of the ncw constitution pre\Oented them taking their
seuts. -

John Cummins, Samuel Jackson, Joseph Utter, Jl:., 'Vm.
Buchanan, John Wood, George Vickroy, Mordecai FOl'd,
Edward Tatman, Samuel Tatman, Henry Cupee, Hugh Mc­
Kibben, Peter Demoss, Alex. Buchanan, Joseph Tatman,
Philip Shunkle, Peter Simmons, .John McDonald, J:olm
Hurst, John Shankle, Peter Shankle, 'Vm. Dickson, Jacob
Shankle, Wm. Jones, George Swank, John Shankle,t John
Demoss, Jacob Fisher, Jonathan Taylor, Richard Prier,
Nathan Morgan, Jro, Elisha Willey, John Sargent, Sr.•
Henry Ncwkh'k, Amasa Owen, John Lakin, John P.
Shankle, Gonld S. Casse, Gabriel Akins, Nathan Morgan,
Sr., John Simes, Philip Mains, Henry Young, Jacob Jones,
'Vm. Corathar, S.·., 'Valling Williams.

In July, 1803, we have a record of'the first contest over
the legality of an officer elected in the count-y. Roger 'V.
'Varing, then a member of the General Assembly, was
elected a justice of the peace in W illiamsburgh, and his
election being contested was left for decision to Obed Den­
ham: David Loof'burrow, and Moses Frazee. There were
majority and minority reports, which we give:

"We the freeholders being RIlIllIIWIll/Cel according to law to try tbe
\'alidity of Roger W. IVtlrrcu'l/ election to tbe Office of a Justice of
thc peace, in the Townsbip of Williamsburg, Clermont County, are of
opinion that he was not /1 locsidclltcr in the Township at tbe time of
his Election, and us such his Election is 111 va {{cd.

"July 4, 1803. "DAYID LooFBuRuow,
"Olll'll Dt;SIlA~r."

1.'he minority report was as follows:

"I, ~Ioses Frazee, being one of the persons nppointcd to Decide
the within Contest, do dcsccut from the tledsl/irl/l as stated within. It
appearing the Sd Waring was a Resident of the Town at the time of
bis election, for the following reasons,-\"iz.: That Sd Waring IULll
Resided in Sd Township nigh two years, except while absent on the
Assembly, 11nd after his return eontinuell to keep his Office, and like­
wise carried on his Improvements, which he at this time POI/SCNR in
the Town of Williamsburg, and it appearing he was only absent
for a short splice of time out of Sd Township in tho aujoining Town­
ship, where he had lately Illarried, and at the same time \Vas prepar­
ing to bring his Wife home, which he did soon afterwards. Witness
my hand this 12th July, 1803.

":i\IOSES FRAZEE."

The law of the minority report was better than that of
the majority report, whose makers seemed piqued that the
gallant Waring had gone beyond the domain of Williams:'
burgh township to take to himself a wife, but he got the
office at last, as is shown by his many official acts after this
period.

At the fall election, held Oct. 11, 1803, James Sargent,
of Washington township, was elected senator, and Daniel
Fagans, of Pleasant, and Jonathan Taylor, of Washing­
ton ,representatives, but of this election only two poll-books
and returns out of five townships are found,-Pleasant and
l\1iami. The vote of the latter, its election officers aud
voters, are as follows: For senator, James Sargeant, 33 j

Samuel Lattimore, 2. For representative, Francis McCor­
mick, 25; Hobert Townsley, 5; John Morris, 10 j Daniel
Fagin, Ambrose Ranson, 'Vm. Perry, 15 j Wlll. Edge,
2,-there being two to elect. The judges were Philip
Gatch, Ambrose Ranson, and Jesse Gerard; clerks, The­
ophilus Simonton and J olm Gest j and here are the names
of the voters: Ignatius Knott, Isaac Shively, Henry Don-

t Probably Shinkle. Tho 11l1meS are spelleu as in tho list.
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Amos Smith ..................... 45 81 48 37 211
Hobert Townsley ............... 69 48 37 154
George Courad ................. 65 48 37 150
Amos Ellis ...................... 45 22 67 1;{4
Daniel Fagaus .................. 19 111
Dlwid Loofburrow..........•.. 10 67 77
Jeremiah Beck ................. 35 35
W·m. Buchanan................ 311 17 69 125

The first three, Smith, Townsley, and Conrad, were
elected. The votes of \Vashington and Ohio were thrown
out; the former because not held at the place designated
by law, being held at house of Joseph Logst.on instead of
Joseph McKibben; and the latter because its returns were
not legal, from the fact of no poll·book being returned.
Still the throwing out of these two townships did not affect
the result, as without them Smith, Townsley, and Conrad
were elected.

At the annual election, on Oct. 9, 1804, for Congress­
man, the voLe stood:

ham, Josiah Prickett, John Handley, Philip Gatch, Michael
Bollman, Joseph Hutchinson, George J..leever, Francis Mc­
Cormick, George Davidson, Peter J..leever, John Malott, John
Mitchel, James \Vood, Jacob Roudebush, Joseph :Moore,
Jacob Stroup, John McMeans, Thomas' Frost, William
Donham, John Pollock, John Erwin, David Roudebush,
1tichard Hall, Andl'cw Shetterly, Paul Custer, Peter Fry­
bargel', Nathaniel Donham, Theophilus Simonton, A.mbrose
Ranson, Jesse Gerard, John Gest, David Miller, alld Will.
Edge.

1'he next election in the county was for three commis­
sioners, and was held April 2, 1804, WiLh t.his result:

For representati\'e there were given: Robert Higgins
(elected), 131; Samuel 'V. Davis, 112 ; Jonathan Taylor,
93; Wm. Perry, 3. For sheriff: Joseph Jackson (elected),
142; Daniel Kain, 127; James Buchanan, 60; Joseph
Utter, 11; Jeremiah Beck, 1. For coroner: Jeremiah
Beck (elected), 193; Thomas Paxton, 106; David Kelley,
17; Christian Smith, 6; John Hunter, 1.

In Ohio township the judges were Joseph Fagin, Wil­
liam Abercrombie, Jacob Ulrey; the clerks, Samuel Shep­
ard and Robert Townsley; and the electors were Jacob
Ulrey, Daniel Whitaker, 'WilIiam Abercrombie, Daniel
Colman, James "Whitaker, Jacob Light, Jesse Swem, Wil­
liam Laycock, Abel Donham, Reuben Laycock, Nathan
Laycock, Isaac Ferguson, Abner Fagin, Joseph Fagin,
Amos Donham, Robert Townsley, Samuel Shepherd, Hod­
ham Morning, Archibald Gray, Benjamin Morning, Wil­
liam Dewitt, John Donham, Peter PeIser, John Morning,
William Lindsey, and Robert Donham, twenty-six in a1l,­
eleven less than at the April election for commissioner (of
which lIO poll-book was returned).

The election in ,"Villiamsburgh was conducted by Judges

John Irwin, Houton' Clarke, and William Winters; with
Clerks \ViIliam Lytle and John Charles. Seventy votes
were cast,-eleven less than at commissioner's election in
April,-and the following men voted : Jasper Shotwell, Obe­
diah Denham, Ramoth Bunton, George Eal'hart, John
'Vardlow, William \Vardlow, J aeob Grimm, Moses Leonard,
Samuel Wardlow, Joseph Green, Jeremiah Beck, Sr., 'ViI­
Ham Shaw, Jeremiah Beck, Jr., John \Vright, David Loof­
burrow, Hobert Wardlow, William Howard, William Cook,
Jam'es Boothby, Moses Humery, James South, William
Hunter, Thomas Allen, Roger W. 'Varing, James Kain,
John Evans, James Perrine, George W. Stall, Hill Wilson,
Archibald McClain, Cornelius McCollum, Daniel Kain,
John Knott, Ephraim Duke, Adam Snider, William South,
John Kain, James Denham, John Wager, Ichabod 'VilIis,
Robert Dickey, }l~phraim McAdams, tTames Buntin, Rob­
ert Chri:sty, Moses Wood, Nicholas Sinks, John Charles,
William Winters, John Irwin, John J.Jittle, Houton Clarke,
Lycurgus Holmes, Joseph 'Vood, Jr., Charles'Waits, All­
drew Hickey, John Earhart, Hugh l\'IcClain, John Ander­
SOll, Adam Bricker,Joseph Wilson, Levi Beck, John Bun­
ham,Leonard Raper, James \Vinters, Daniel Kidd, Thomas
MOlTis, Absalom Day, Amos Smith, John Trout, 'Villiam
Lytle.

At the Preside~tial election on Nov. 3, 1804, there was
no opposition in the county to the thre~ Jefferson electors,
Nathaniel Massie, James Pritc11ard, and Wm. Goforth, but
theJ'e are only the poll-books of three townships preserved,
which for these elections were as follows (a very light
vote): 'Villiamsburgh, 42; \Vashington, 28; and Miami,
3'}....

Amos Ellis, David Loofburrow, and William Buchanan,
defeated for commissioners on April 2, 1805, two weeks
later, by their attorney, Thomas Morris, gave notice of an
appeal from the official count, but never contested it, and
there it dl·opped.

At the general State election on Oct. 8, 1805, the vote
stood for Governor, Edward Tiffin (who had no opposit.ion) :
'Washingtoll, 170; Williamsburgh, 88; Pleasant, 93; Ohio,
69; Tate (her first vote), 76; and Miami, 23; total, 519.
Miami did not turn out. its vote by three-fifths. For senator
there were votes cast: James Sargent (elected), 236; Rob­
ert Higgins, 215; Francis McCormick, 71; Joseph Higgins,
1; James McCormick, 1 ; John Dilman, 1. FOl' representa­
tive: Jonat.han Taylor (elected), ~17; David C. Bryan, 147;
Samuel W. Davis, 136; Benjamin Snider, 1; David Bryan,
2; Taylor, 1. For sheriff: Levi Rogers (elected), 258;
Daniel Kain, 248. William S. Jump was elected commis­
sioner, vote not given.

In Miami township, for justices the vote was: John
Pollock, 51; Francis McCormick,40. As this was the first
election of Tate since its organization, we gh-e its vote for
three justices: John Collins (elected), 59; John Morris
(elected), 55; Henry Willis (elected), 54; Jacob Mahan, 25;
James Rounds, 23; Christian Smith, 2; Joseph Gold, 12 ;
John Boggess, 4; Jeremiah Beck, 1 ; "Old Cook," 1. The
following men conducted the general election: judges, Sam­
uel Beck, Joseph Darrel, and William Campbell, with
clerks Jacob Mahan and John Flack. The 84 voters
were Moses Frazee, John Collins, James Rounds, J ere-

8

58
26

92

Elias Langham.

Total 250

Jeremiah l\Iorrow.
l\Iiluni...... 30
Pleasant...... 65
Washington 143
Willil1lllshurgh...... 12
Ohio .
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miah Beck, David White, .Jeremiah Beck, Sr., Berzilla
Osborn, James Boothby, Obed Denham, John Denham,
Daniel Leegard, William Darrel, William Campbell, Hugh
Black, Elias Garrard, Levi Hunt, William Nelson, Corne­
lius l\IcCullom, Shillin Murphy, Houton Clarke (at whose
tavern the election was held), Kelly Burk, John Reed,
Jacob Ulrey, Isaac Higbee, Morris Osborn, 'Villiam Jef­
fers, Lemuel Hounds, Aaron O:;born, George Lovel, Daniel
Osborn, John Morris, Aaron Leonnrd, Scars Crane, Thomas
Davis, Moses Bradbury, William Gold, Levi Tingley, Sam­
uel Nelson, Levi Beck, .Jonatllan Church, Robert Leeds,
'Villiam Judd, Hiram Carpenter, Benijah Osborn, James
South, Jacob Crist, Henry Willis, Abner Huntington,
James Denham, John Sims, Abram Osborn, Fl'ederick
Counselman, Joseph Darrel, William Carroll, Benjamin
Frazee, John Flack, Jacob Bradbury, Joseph Gold, Gothan
Bragdon, Jacob Frazee, Samuel Beck, William Test, Alex­
ander McBeath, Samuel Reeves, Joseph Steward, Joseph
Conn, John Boggess, Samuel Shepherd, William Cook,
Isaac Reed, Jacob Mahan, John Hewitt, 'WilIiam South,
'Villiam Simmons, John Doughty, .Esicor Huntington,
Stephen Fmzee, Benjamin Crane, William Smith, Thomas
Lemmings, William Crouch, and Thomas Morris.

At the election on Oct. 14, 1806, the vote stood,-for Con­
gressman: Jeremiah Morrow, 518;· James Pritchard, 3;
Chapman Archer, 6; ·W. Donham, 1; Michael Frame, 1.
For coroner: Jeremiah Beck, 115 (elected); James Kain,
96; Nathaniel Donham, 1; Alexander 'Martin, 9; Samuel
Beck, ~4; John Kain, 1; Thomas Morris, 1. Amos
Smith was elected commissioner by 289 votes to 229 for'
Jeremiah Beck.

There was a fearfully hot fight for representative, which
stirred up the whole county and culminated in a contested
seat in the House of Representatives; lience we give the
vote therefor Ly townships.

Townsllips. Rl'turn.J. NatlllLniel Thumas
Meigs, Jr. Massie. Worthington.

l\Iinmi ........................ 42 36
Pleasant ..................... 64 71
Washiugton ................ 2a Il9
Lewis ........................ 47 9
Wil1ialll~burgh ...... ...... :{5 50 15
Ohio........................... 88 11 55
Tate ........................... 10 17

Total................. 175 257 269

William S. Jump, 31 ; Charles Henry, 3 j -McClancy: 3 ;
James Morris, 3; Thomas Phillips, 3.

For one justice in Tate the vote was: Isaac Higbee
(elected), 58; 'fhomas Allen, 11; Jacob Mahan, 13 j

Thomas Leming, 9; Christian Smith, 1. Williamsburgh
elected four justices, as follows: R. 'V. 'Varing, fi7 j Wil­
liam Hunter, 60 j Jasper Shotwell, 61; David C. Bryan,
33 (these first four elected); and the defeated candidates
received: Daniel Kidd, 32 ; William Patterson, 3; Samuel
Howell, 1 j Peter Light, 1; Isaac Hartman, l.

The election of October 13, 1807, for Governor, stood:

The other Yotes were: For senator, David C. Bryan,
302 (elected) ; James Sargent, 209; Robert Hi~gins, 18·7 j

John Morris, 20. For representative, John Pollock, 258
(elected); William Fee, 2-10; Thomas Morris, 232. For
sheriff, Levi Rogers (elected), 445 j Oliver J~indsey, 259.
For coroner, James Kain, 4 (but there was none to elect).
Amos Ellis was elected commissioner over Robert Townsley j

tabulated vote not found. A justice was elected in 'Vash­
ington township by this vote: Wm. S. Jump (elected), 40;
Joseph Utter, 17; "William Carrothers, 15; Jacob Shinkle,
1-1 ; Joseph 'VeIl, 20 j 'Valling- 'Williams, 1. Thus, by a
division ot' his opponents, 'Villiam S. Jump jumped ·in.
Lewis township, the new one that year created, is now in
Brown County, and includes the flourishing towns of Hig­
:.rinsport and Feesburg. October 11, 1808, the election for
Governor stood:
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Scattering.Samuel
IIulltillgton.
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7

38
40
77

Thollllls
Worthington.

24
95
SO
61
1

150
44

Townships.

:Miami ..
l'lca~ant .
Tate ..
Ohio .
WillialU~blll'gh .
Washington ..
Lcwis ..

1
16

Rouert Higgins.
45

Thomas Morris.
1lli

4
1

79
1

31

D. C.lIryau.
1

41
55
25 .
!14
30

Townships.
Washington .
.Miami ..
Ohio ..
Tatc ..
Willirull:;burgh .
Plcastlnt ..

Morris contested, and the House of the General Assem­
bly unseated Bryan and gave the former the place, but on
what grounds we are left in the dark. Two justices were
elected in Miami, to wit: John Gest, unanimously (in Oc­
tober); and, on July 26th, Silas Hutchinson (elected), 61
to 30 for Owen Todd. A pretended election for three jus­
tices having been held in Ohio township, on April 7th,
with this result: J aeoh Light, 35; Robert Townsley, 35';
John Hunter, 35 j Enoch Parvin, 1; Joseph Fagin, 1 j

John Snyder, 1; the same was set aside by the county
clerk and Esquire William Hunter, the county canvassers,
because, first, the returns did not specify for what the elec­
tion was held; second, the number of voters was not set
down; and third, that the election was unauthorized by
law.

The vote in 'Yashington for three justices was, George
Brown (elected), 6::3; James Sargent, (elected), 56; 'Villiam
~ee (elected), 68; Reuben Young, BO )-Joseph Utter, 22;

Total. . 2·Hi 223 62
TotaL........... 455 264 28

By some irregularities in the return the vote of Thte on
Governor Was excluded, so the vote was counted as follows:
'Vorthington, 385; Huntington, 222; Thomas Kirker, 7;
John Cleves Symmes, 15; J. Huntington, 4 j N. Witham,
2; Jackson, 1. The vote for other officers was: for con­
gressman, Jeremiah Morrow, 579; Philemon Beecher,
30; William Fee, 2; J. Kirker, 1; Thomas Morrow, 1.
For two representatives, 'Villiam Fee (elected), 357;
Thomas Morris (elected), 338; John Pollock,2B8; Joseph
Jackson, 196; 'fhomas Kain, 9; Alexander Blair, 2;
J ames Sargent, 1 j J ere. Day, 1. For coroner, Allen
'Voods (elected), 198; Jeremiah Beck, 188; James Will­
den, 117 ; James Kain, 43 j Christian Smith, 28; and
"Old Weaver," 1. A lucky shot for Woods, as in 1810
Levi Rogers resigned his sheriff's office, and as coroner,
Woods succeeded to it for six months. John Pollock was
elected magistrate in Miami with no opposition. Henry
Chapman was elected county commissioner over Samuel
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l~ Seo history of WilJiaInsburgh towmhip.

There is not much politics per se in the above vote, but
a heap of feeling on location. 1.'he vote on two represent­
atives was: Henry Chapman, 1055 (elected); John Den-

B. Coyle. The number of free white male inhabitants in
the county in 1803 over twenty·one years of age was 755 ;
in 1807, 1262; so it is seen a full vote had never yet been
polled.

The sentiment of Clermont most strongly sustained the
administrations of Jefferson, Madison, and Monroe, and
whHe there was a deep feeling for the perpetuity of the
Union, there was but little respect among the carly settlers
of the county for the Federal opinions of many of the
]~astern States. 'Vith the conspiracy of Burr there was
no sympathy, and when that po;lrsonage pussed through the
county in 1806 to feel the public pulse, he received, in­
stead of encouragement, such an expression of the minds
of the people that he was glad to hasten his departure
from the county.* Through the efforts of Senator James
Sargent, of Clermont, an act was passed authorizing the
arrest of perlmns engaged in unlawful enterprises, and the
l;eizur.e of their goods. Under this act ten boats, with a
large quantity of arms, ammunition, and provisions intended
for Burr's expedition, were seized, and proved a fatal blow
to that unpatriotic enterprise. Soon after the master-spirit
himself was apprehended and tl'ied, but through the won­
derful finesse which sometimes attends trials of State pris­
oners was allowed to go free.

The war of 1812 was vigorously upheld in the county
as a just and proper measure to maintain national honor
and American rights on sea and land, and to protect the
pioneer homes of the West against the incursions of the
savage allies of the British. Clermont furnished four
whole companies, and many of its hardy sons gave up
their lives in defense of their country. At this time all
party feeling was sunk, and all were animated by one
common· purposc,-to secure the expulsion of the "red
coats" and the Indians. With the return of peace the
party lines were restored, and soon after the good people
were again arrayed against one another in a stirring polit­
ical campaign.

The election in the year 1817 was the last held in the
county in which the townships now in Brown p~rticipated,

and we give the tabulated vote for senator and commis­
sioner:
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4
385

118
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2
385
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Two REPRESESTATIVES.GOVERSOR.

'"s::: <.>

TOW~SlIIPS. ~ d
0.; :; ~ '":::; l:: ~.§ ... po: §

e:<
0 ..:- e:;...

WiJIiamsburgh ................ 125 2-! 16 11
Tatc.............................. ]:35 114 116 80
Uniun ........................... 25 106 142 143
Goshen .......................... HI 81 9:3 100
llatavi:t ......................... 162 29 176 190
Stunelick ........................ 15 ]37 152 ]53
Franklin ........................ 69 85 28 26
Washington ................... 36 100 4 5
'Vayne........................... ·4-7 4 52 50
:l\Iillmi ........................... 3:-1 ]97 225 227
Ohio.............................. 46 328 17 11

Total................ 712 1205 1021 996

The election of 1832 was hotly contested and party lines
closely drawn on the vote for Governor, which stood:
Robert Lucas, Democrat, 1760; Darius Lyman, Whig,
1194. Dr. William Doane, of 'Vithamsville, was elected
representative over Dr. L. A. Hendrick, of Milford, by
1724 to 1206. For commissioner the vote was: Robert
Donham, 1534; Otho Pearre, of Franklin, 1307; and
David Jones, of Ohio, 126. The first county recorder was
elected this ycar, and Benjamin Morris got the office,
having received 1394 Yotes to 1217 for John Hawkins,
230 for Jonathan Johnson, 28 for T. S. Hill, and 25 scat­
tering. The excitement in the county was over the race for
Congressman, and this fight stirred up the people, and kept

ham, 1023 (elected); Owen T. Fishback, 639; Gideon
Minor, 774. The vote on sheriff was: Oliver Lindsey,
1325 j John Earhart,· 157 j George S. ·Bryan, 297.

Besides the vote above for commissioner, Silas Hutch.
inson got 32,-17 in Stonelick and 15 in Union; and
James Wells got ~43, of which 86 were in WashingtoD,
154 in Lewis, and 3 in Tate. 'Vashington still continued

. the largest voting township.
In pursuance of resolutions adopted by the Sixteenth

Genel'll)" Assembly, submitting the question of calling a
convention to amend the constitution, an election wasbeld
in 1818, which resulted in its defeat by ayes 6987 to noes
29,315 j and the vote of Clermont was yeas 186, nays 1428,
thus showing an almost unanimous indisposition of the
people in the county to tinker with the organic law.

From 1820 to 1824 was the very low ebb in the prices
of farm-products in the 'Vest, and. in this county pork,
wheat, and other articles hardly paid for the moving.
Money was scarce, and confidence in monetary <;:ircles of
the commercial centres was greatly shaken, owing to the
adverse news of business in Great Britain, then in the throes
of financial depression. At the election in 1824 the total
vote polled was 1917, and for memher of Congress stood:
David Morris, 1176; James Findlay, 288; James 'V.
Gazlay, 240·; Benjamin l\'I. Piatt, 153. This was the first
election for county auditor, for which office the returns
8howed Andrew Foote received 1794, ana ·John McWil­
liams 147. Johri Boggess, of Tate, beat 'Squire David
Jones, of Ohio, for commissioner by 1436 to 509, and for
coroner Robert Tweed had no opposition, and received
1429 votes. 'Ve give the vote for Governor alld for two
representatives, the latter being an exciting race and close:

Co~mIsslosEn.
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216 7
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108 1
90 3

187
98
90 7

1026 717Total ..

:Miami ..
Plcltsaut .
Tate ..
Ohio ..
J~cwis .
Washington .
Pcrry ..
Batavia .
Clark ..
WilliuInsburgh .
Union ..
Stonclick .
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Clermont agitated from centre to circumference. Owen T.
Fishback was the Whig nominee; 'fho;1H1S Morris, the reg­
ular Democratic candidate of a convention; William Hus­
sell, the stnndard-bearer of a few anti-Masons; and Thomas
J.J. Hamer, an independent Democratic candidate of his own
volition, and subject only to the wishes of the people as .
they might determine:

The district. was composed of Clermont, Adams, and
Brown Counties. Fishback lived at Batavia, nnd Morl'is
in Bethel, while Hamer resided at Georgetown. It will be
seen that li'ishback carried his and Morris' home town­
ships, but Morris got the county; and yet Hamer was tri­
umphantly elected, as he swept Adams and Brown Counties
like a tornado, and there it was his unsurpassed eloquen~e

moved the sturdy yeomanr)' to patriotic and independent
action, which resulted in his grand success. This was a
canvass between three intellectual giants never before or
since witnessed in the county, and its result had much to
do with-in fact did do it-the fashioning and determining
of the subsequent political history of the Union, if not its
very preservation, as Hamer in Congress appointed young
Ulysses S. Grant as a cadet to 'tVest Point, and the afler­
success of this appointee is in the world's mouth. This
ele.ction kept the old town of Bethel agog for days and
nights, for there Morris lived, and there Hamer, a few years
before, had read law in his present opponent's office, and
news traveling slow, a week elapsed ere it was known that
the "young mountain orator" had defeated the distin­
gui::;hed chieftains of the two strong and dominant political
parties.

In 1837 occurred an election that surprised the county
in its results, it being the success of the Whigs for the thr~e

most important county offices, sheriff, treasurer, and auditor,
and the bare escape of the Democrats from losing nearly
the rest of their ticket. There had been mutterings and
disaffections existing in the camps of the dominant party
in the county for several years, and this season they found
vent in open mutiny and rebellion, so that part of the
official spoils fell, for a brief period, into the hands of the
part.y before and since then in a minority in Clermont.
The vote for senator was: Dowty Utter, 1627; David
Fi:sher, 1557; John Joliffe (Abolition), 86. For repre­
sentative, Thomas J. Buchanan, 1729; John Boggess,
1840. For commissioner, William Roudebush, 2015;
Jonathan Johnson, 1270. For prosecuting attorney,
George S. Lee, 1657; Reader oW. Clarke, 1621. For sur­
veyor, Squire Frazee, 1li43; Samuel Ewing, 1537. For
coroner, Joseph Wyatt, 1643; Thomas Sheldon, 1372;
'Villiam' Hall, 233. We give the vote for sheriff, treasurer,
aod auditor by townships:

---------- -----,----1----,----

-----------_._-,- ._------;-----------

AUDITon.TltF:ASURER.SIlEUlF~"
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llata'·ill............... .. I -
Williaillsburgh..... ]38 53 ]28 60 I 137 54
Tate : 2!}3 90 229 163 248 l:3Z
Franklin : 153 I 139 148 159 147 158
Washingtun ! ];39 I ]50 ];10 163 ]31 159
Monroe i ]09 ]25 115 ]25 109 130
Ohio ' 170 I 211 165 215 175 204
Union................. 22 I ]93 a8 ]72 38 ]74
Millmi................ 86 I ]88 104 170 131 139
Gushen 8i I 123 9 I 122 ] (10 114
Wayne............... 40 I 48 36 53 41 46
SlOlIcIick............. 105 I. III " 120 101 116 96
Jackson.............. 63 29 I 68 ,23 66 26

!. _·---1--1~- --- --- -----
Totals 1651 I ]617 1 1658 1646 1700 1576
Majorities.. :14 12 124

It is proper to add that Thomas two years after was
elected treasurer, and re-elected in 1841 ; that, when Beatty's
time expired, Joshua H. Dial was elected auditor, and was
twice after that re-elected; nnd when Frazier's time expired,
in 1841, Michael Cowen came in and rode four years as
sheriff. So of these three men' elected in 1837, "Uncle
Ned Frazier," as he was popularly called, was the only one
re-elected. Frazier hailed from Tate, Beatty from Goshen,
and Robinson resided in Batavia.

From 1837 on to about 1842 was another of those eras
of financial depression which in the past century have regu­
larly occurred in all countries, and under all' forms of gov­
ernment, but Clermont suffered less than perhaps most of
the counties in Ohio.

The ycar 1840 is memorable for the most exciting po­
litical campaign known in the history of our land, and the
Harril:ion-Van Buren canvass, with its "log-cubin" and
"hard-cid~r" memories, when the song of "Tippecanoe
and Tyler too," reverberated throughout the length and
breadth of the Union and swept from power the Van Bu­
ren dynasty, is worthy of mention in Clermont annals. The
feelings of the people of our country were never before so
wrought up, and music, song, wit, beauty, all entered into
the fight and made the welkin ring with loud hurrahs for
the hero of Tippecanoe, and the bronzed soldier of frontier
days. A monster Whig demonstration and meeting was
held in Batavia, on August 6th, on the lots occupied now
bJT Judge Philip B. Swing (the old Judge Fishback home­
stead) and 1\1rs. Judge Shepherd F. Norris. The orators
were Tom Corwin, the silvery-tongued William 'W. South­
gate, of Newport, Ky., and Robert C. Schenck, and over
ten thousand people paraded the town with banners, flags,
and bands. A big" log cabin" was put up, and its four
corners" carried up," as the language of the slashes used
to have it, by fOUl' veteran soldiers of the war of 1812,­
Thomas Kain, Capt. Thomas Foster, and two others (names
not accessible). The speech of Schenck excited the ire of
Samuell\iedary, then editor of TILe Statesman, at Colum.
bus, who, in the columns of his paper, attacked very per.
sonally the Schenck family, and out of which arose a stl'eet
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Russell.}·ishIJ/lck. Hilmer. Morris.
lll1tadl1................ 202 14 103
Willilllllsburgh .•.••• 152 19 45
Tule ..................... 1:34 80 ]28
}<'ra.nldill............... 95 lUI 47
Washington ........... 59 67 119
1\lunroo................. 73 20 111
Ohio ..................... 119 58 242
Union ................... 39 8 147
1\liallli.................. ]07 7 183
Gushen ................. 77 26 6:3
'VIl,Yne .................. 45 73
StuncIick .............. 98 9 78

1180 409 1319
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Clermont with Brown and Clinton made one district,
electing three representatives, and the district vote was:

GOVERxon. CONGRESS.

~
l3

~d I:d =
00 ~~ =ais·;:; ",I:

~~0"

~~ Z·~..::~ •AE-<O en. ~0Ci A
Batavia ........................... 265 195 247 195
Williamsburgh.................. 201 105 1!1:~ 107
Tate................................ 2411 219 243 221
Franklin .......................... 226 223 225 223
'Vnshington ..................... 170 251 168 252
Monroe ........................... 120 180 116 184
Ohio............................... 215 319 20:~ 321
Union ............. ~ ................ 61 218 55 224
l\1il1rni ............................. 147 261 146 259
(Joshen*...........................
'Vayne ............................ 64 114 64 114
Stonclick.......................... 113 152 113 151
Jackson ........................... 101 46 101 46

Total......................... 1922 2283 1888 2297

fight between Medary and Schenck's brother, at that time
a lieutenant in the navy. The Democrats, however, carried
the county in October by 361 majority in a poll of 4205
votes, the largest ever cast up to that date, but Harrison
was the victor in November following. For three represen­
tatives the vote stood: Thomas J. Buchanan, 2231; David
G. 'Devore, 2267; Thomas L. Carothers, 2264; Reader
W. Clarke, 1941; Gideon 'V. Dunham, 1919; Robert B.
Harlan, 1921; for commissioner, William Roudebush,
2296; Simeon Goodwin, 1900; for assessor, John Page,
2262; Richard Pemberton, 1924; and for surveyor,
Squire Frazee, 2297; Rassclas Whitcomb, 1895.

For Goverllor and congressman the following was the vote
by townships:

The years 1828 and 1836 having been omitted in their
order, and being Presidential years, when political excite­
ment ran high, we give a brief summary of the results of
their October votes: In 1828, for Congress, James Findlay,
1617; David K. Este, 818; for two representatives, John
Shaw, 1681; John Emery, 1554; Thomas Gatch, 874;
Otho Pearre, 674; for commissioner, Samuel Perin,
1!:)25; John Rogers, 500; for auditor, Andrew Foote,
979; Alexander Herring, 16:4:2; for coroner, Moses Dim­
mitt, 2291; and for Governor, Jol~n W. Campbell (same
man four years afterwards heaten by Thomas Morris for
United States senator) defeated Allen Trimble by 769
majority.

In 1836, the year Martin Van Buren was elected as
Jackson's successor, Eli Baldwin carried the county for
Governor by 1851 votes to 1396 for Joseph Vance, who,
however, was elected. Thomas L. Hamer had for Congress­
being his third and last term, save in 1846, when he was
elected and died-1837 votes to 1371 for Owen T. Fish­
back. 'For representative, Dowty Utter, of 'Vashington,
llad 1786, and Thomas Gatch, of Miami, 1448 votes.
Uobert Donham, for commissioner, received 1851, and

John Boggess 1406. For assessor,-an officer then with
county jurisdiction, elect.ed biennially, with power to sit as
a member of the board of equalization,and to have as many
deputies as his duties required,-Moses Elstun, of Union,
had 1862 votes, and Isaac Foster, of Williamsburgh town­
ship, 1367.

In the Polk and Clay campaign of 1844 the political
fever was raging at the hottest pitch, and when the news
arrived in Batavia of the former's election a grand jollifica­
tion meeting was held, and Thomas J. Buchanan was the
orator. At the October election John J. McDowell for
Congress had 457 majority over J. H. Thompson i William
Houdebush, 479 over Simeon Goodwin for representative;
Jonathan Johnston, 521 for commissioner over McKinnie;
and Edmund Spence, 285 for recorder over Thomas J.
Morris.

In 1847 the vote stood for senator, Benjamin Evans,
1474 j H. Bonnell, 1187 : for two representatives, Dr. J. C•
Kennedy, 1481 j S.F. Norris, 1478; Jacob L. Te'al, 1180;
'f>aniel Fee, 1198: for sheriff, S. M. Walraven, 1478; Geo.
Everhart, 1188: for treasurer, Abrum Teetor, 1430; William
Ulrey, 1207: for auditor, John Ferguson, 1476 j E. 'F.
W. Ellis, 1190 : for commissioner, Jonathan Johnson, 1434 j

C. Butler, 1205: prosecutin~ attorney, William Howard,
14~5 j Philip B. Swing, 1249: for recorder, L. B. Leeds,
1387; T. J.Morris, 1291: for coroner, A. ~uchanan, 1473;
John Quinlan, 1191. Jonathan D. Morris had no opposi­
tion for Congress.

The new constitution went into effect in 1851, in which
year the first Probate jud~e, George S. Lee, was elected;
and the clerk, for the first time elected, was John S.
Griffith, of Bethel.

In 1854, Congress repealed the M.issouri Compromise by
the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska bill, which created the
greatest political revolution ever known in American, his­
tory, caused a complete upheaval in the fi'ee States, and was
the precursor of the Rebellion and downfall of human slavery
in the Southern States. Right on the heels of this came
the organization of the so-called" Know-Nothing" or Amer­
ican party, which swept over the land like a hurricane, car­
rying all before it. At the October election in 1854, Shep­
herd F. Norris, of Batavia, the Democratic candidate for
Supreme judge, was beaten by Joseph R. Swan by 77,423
votes, while Ohio llad the previous year gone Democratic
by 61,806 majority. In this county George L. Swing was
elected Probate judge by 3201 votes to 1596 for George S.
Lee; for clerk, J. M. l\1cGrew. had 31DO and J. S. Griffith'
1602; for commissioner, John Conner had 3249 and Peter
Buntin 1598. Peter S. Jones, Jacob Ebersole, und Edward
Sinks were chosen infirmary directors, Jones being on both
tickets.

In 1855 the opposition to the Democrats elected two
representatives, William West and Elbridge G. Ricker; tIle
sheriff, W. W. Perkins; the treasurer, Thomas Glenn; the
auditor, M. S. Dimmitt; the prosecuting attol'Dey, ·W. P.
Fishback; the commissioners (two), A. F. Morrison, ·W. P.
Daughters; infirmary director, A. V. Hopkins; coroner,
Edward Hughes j' and surveyor, Thomas W. Rathbone.

In 1856 the Republicans elected Holly R. Perrine com­
missioner, and ,the next year re-elected W. W. Perkins

Clinton.
]S66t
lSfi5t
lS6l t
105::1
1050
1059

t Elected.

Clermont. Drown.
1!J41 1844
1Ul9 11143
192] 1834
2231 111!J6
2267 11184
2264. 2003

;i; No return counted.

ll. 'V. Clarke ..
G. 'V. Dunhum .
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1'. J. nuehnnan ~ ..
D. G. Devore ..
T. L. Carothers .
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sheriff over Juhn H. Branch. This ycar the Know-Noth­
ing or American party had what was called the" bob-tailed
ticket,"-the effect of which was to let the Democracy win.
1'he great tide had now spent its force, and the Dcmocrats
regained and kept control of the county offices till the mem­
orable year of 1863.

The political animosities were aroused during the Rebel­
lion, from 1861 to 1865, to a higher pitch than ever before
or since known, and the campaign of 1863 was character­
ized by terrible virulence-both in thc press, on the stump,
and in ordinary local discussions. 1'he county firmly and
strenuously supported the war for the suppression of the
Rebellion, and came to the cordial support of the general
government as it had previously done in the war of 1812,
and later with Mexico. The canvass of 1863 between
John Brough and C. L. Vallandigham, for Governor, called
out larger meetings than ill 18·1:0, and brought out at the
polls on election day the largest vote ever before polled in
the county. The excitement of the campaign frequently
culminated in personal and neighborhood wrangles and en­
counters, and many years elapsed ere the baneful effects of
the" angry feelings engendered that year were eradicated
fmm the breasts of the people and politics again quieted
down to its ordinary courses and channels. The vote
stood:

The Republicans elected the following county officers:
Amos Dawson, representative; A. M. Sinks, clerk; G. 'V.
Hulick, Probate judge ; J. W. Hill, sheriff; H. Smethurst,
auditor; 'Villiam Hawkins, commissioner ; John Conner,
infirmary director; and P. T. Cox, coroner. The next year
the Republicans had only a small majority, and elected
J0sepb Tritt, prosecuting attorney; Silas R. Hutchinson,
commissioner; C. 'V. Page, surveyor; and Daniel Houde­
bush, infirmary director. In 1865, the Democrats secured
the treasurer, D. E. Fee; sheriff, James Crosson; and au­
ditor, William Nichols; and the Republicans got the re­
corder, J. P. Clark; commissioner, J. P. Molen; infirmary
director, Thomas Marsh; and coroner, Adolph Shroem.
Next year the Democl'ats carried the county and regained
their position, and, with occasional losses of some county
officials, have retained it to the present. In 1871, John
It. 'Voodlief, Republican, defeated for sheriff William D.
Courts by 99 votes. In 1873 about 200 votes were cast
for Isaac C. Collins, an independent candidate for Governor,
opposed to both the old parties.

In 1877 the National Greenback party first figured In
the county, and cast for its State ticket 308 votes. A year
later the vote of this party fur Governor was increased to
1029, and, in' concert with the Republicans, elected as
auditor 1\1. J. 'V. HoltCl', and as clerk H. B. Mattox,
both of whom were first nominated by the Greenbackers,
and subsequently indorsed by the Republicans. Michael
It. Rybolt, straight Republican, was elected commissioner
over Hobert Buchanan, .the Democratic nominee. In 1879
the Gl'ee"nback vote was only 403, and the" only Democrat
defeated was James Crosson, candidate- fOl~ representative

Brough.
County poll ::llltll
Army vote......... •••. 5t14

TotaI. 3685

Yallalltligham.
2t17t1

68

30H

to the Legislature, over whom Dr. L. 'V. Bishop, Green­
back-Republican, triumphed, he having a majority of 38
votes.

The two following lists show the status of the county on
State and national questions frol11 its organization to the
present time:

VOTES FOR GOVERNOR IN THE COUNTY.

IS03.-Not recorded.
IS05.-Edward Tillin, 519.
IS0i.-Heturn Jonathan Meigs, li5; Nathaniel "Massie, 257; Thomlls

Worthington, 269.
IS08.-Samu.el Huntington, 222; Thomas Worthington, 385;;·Thom.lts

Kirker, 7.
]8l0.-R.J. ~Icigs, :l94; Thomas Worthington, 304.
IS12.-H.•J. Meigs, 402; Thomas Scott, 491.
lS14.-Thomas Worthington, 315; Othniel Looker, 623.
ISI6.-Thomas Worthington, 723; James Dunl:tp, 5U.
ISI8.-Ethan Allen Brown, 778; James Dunlap, 211.
1820,-Ethan Allen Brown, 9i4; Jeremiah Morrow, 31; William II.

Harrison, 4.
1822.-Jeremiah Morrow, 860; Allen Trimble, 740; William W.

Irwin, 4.
18U.-Jeremiah Morro,,~, 1203; Allen Tl"imhle, 712.
1826.-Allen Trimble, 1523; John Bigger, 108; Alex. Campbell, 155;

Benjamin Tappan, 92.
]S28.-John W. Campbell, ]605; Allen Trimble, 836.
IS:l0.-Robert Lucas, 1174; Duucan McArthur, 9:l3.
1832.-Hobert Lucas, 1760; Darius Lymltn, 1104.
IS:U.-Hobert Lucas, l:l27; James Findlay, 670.
18:J6.-Joseph Vance, 1:~96; Eli Bq.hhvin, 1851. I'

183S.-Wilson Shannon, 2006; Jtseph Vance, I60:l.
1840.-Wilson Shannon, 228:l; Thomas Corwin, 1922.
1842.-Wilson Shannon, 2511; Thomas Corwin, 1969; Leicester

King, 55.
IS44.-Dadd Tod, 2646; l\Iordecai Bartley, 2123; Leicester King, 114.
1846.-David Tod, 2195; William Bebb, lS25; Samuel Lewis, 127.
18-l8.-John B. WeIlCl', 2640; Seabury Ford, 2U2•.
1850.-Reuben Wood, 18H; William Johnston, 1585; Edward

Smith, 80.
1851.-Reuben Wood, 2252; Samuel F. Vinton, 1761; Sltmuel Lewis,

158.
185:l,-William ~Iedill, 2345; Nelson Barrere, 1345; Samuel Lewis,

586.
1855.-William Mcdill, 2423; Salmon P. Chase, 2336; Allen Trimble,

456.
1857.-Henry B. Paine, 2563 i Salmon P. Chase, 1952; Philadelph

Vun Trump, 446.
IS59.-Rufus P. Ranney, 20S8; William Dennison, 2689.
lS61.-Hugh J. Jewitt, 29:l2 i David Tod, 2i58.
1863.-John Brough, 3685 i C. L. Vallandigham, 3047.
1865.-George W. l\Iorgan, 3307 i Jacob D. Cox, 3:l36.
1867.-Allen G. Thurman, 3737; Rutherford B. Hayes, :l246.
IS6!J.-Georgo II. Pendleton, 3784 i Rutherford B. Hayes, 2950.
I87I.-George W. :McCook, 3468; Edward F. NO)'es, :{:~24.

I873.-William Allen, 3475 i Edward F. Noyes, ilOll3; Isaae C. Col-
lins, 19:3; Gideon T. Stewart, 2.

1875.-William Allen, 4036; Rutherford B. Huyes, 3480; John
"Buchtel, 6.

1877.-}Uchard M. Bishop, 3S59 i William II. West, 3043; Stephen
Johnson, 26S; H. A. Thompson, 12 i L. II. Bond, 2.

I870.-Thomas Ewing, 4070 ; Charles Foster, 3677; A. S. Piatt,. 403 ;
Gideon T. Stewart, 2.

VOTE OF THE COUNTY FOR PRESIDENT.

Until the year 1876 the returns of the vote in Ohio for
Presidential electors were returned by the judges" of the
election to the sheriff, who, at a designated time, delivered
them to the Secretary of State, at the capitol, hence the full
returns of the county arc not of record ill the count.y, and
ouly a ftnv of them accessible, yet sufficient for comparison.
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182-l.-Jack!lon, 914; Clay, 318; Adams, 324.
18;{2.-Jackson, 2140; OIlly, 1217.
1836.-Van Buren, 2029; lIarrison,1467.

18·1,1.
Polk's l\llljorit~·•. ClllY'S MlIjoritJ'.

B[ltaviIL......... 48
,riIIiamsburgh 102
Tate.......................................... 65
Franklin 1
\Vashington................................ 42
1\ionl'oe...................................... 47
Ohio (including Pierce).......... ...... 214
Union....................................... 181
l\liallli......... 92
Go~hen................. 3
Stonclick.................... 37
'V:lyne....................................... 740
Jaclison .

1876.

Batavia .
FI'ILnklin ..
Goshen ..
Jllck~on ..
1\Hami-Lonllnnl1 ..

" l\IiI ford ..
" Newberry "

Monroe .
Ohio ..
Pierce ..
Stoneliek ..
Tate .
Union .
'Vayne .
WlLshington-NevilIe .

" l\loscow .
North ..

'ViIliamsbul'gh .

Tilden.
423
456
219 .
195
228
1"56
52

241
32d
275
251
342
305
297
110

95
144
200

Hayes.
3\14
,!(i(j

2JO
188
IG;{
172
106
229
391
161
175
304
171
]51
122
103

8u
356

2888 3142
Army vote............... 428 172

Totals 3316 33140
Lincoln's majority in county, 2.

Polk's majority, 3340.

1852.-Pieree, 2i65; Scott, 22U; HILle, 409.
1856.-Buchanan, 2741; Frcmont, 2188; Fillmore. 781.
lS60.-Douglas, 3206; Lincoln, 2!J65; BcIl, 209; Breckenridge, 57.

Lincoln.
1864.

3848
Tilden's mnjority, 465.

i;! Seat contested and given to Thomns Morris, Tate township.
t Contested by Christian Miles, an elector, on the ground of hold­

ing a lucrative office (impector), and decided ineligible December
8th. .Mr. Fee was again elected, and resumed his office Jan. 3, 1816.

REPHESENTATIVES.

The following are the representatives in the I.Jegislature
from Clm'mont County, with years of election. From
1851 the term was two years,instead of one.

1803 (January).-Roger Walter Waring, Williamsburgh township;
Amos Ellis, Pleasant township.

1803 (October).-Daniel Fagin, Pleasant township; Jonathan Taylor,
Washington township.

1804.-Robert Higgins,Pleasnnt township.
1805.-Jonathan Taylor, Washington township.
1806.-David O. Bryan, Williamsburgh township.$
I807.-John Pollock, Miami township.
]808.-Thomas Morris, Tate township; William Fee, Washington

township.
1809 -Jobn PoIloc}!, Miami township; Amos Ellis, Pleasant township.
1810-11.-John Pollock, Miami township; Thomas Morris, Tate

township.
1812.-Jolm Pollock, Miami to\vnship; Geo. O. Light, Ohio tOlvnship.
1813-14.-John Pollock, Miami township; John Boggess, Tate town­

ship.
1815.-John Pollock, Miami township; William Fec,t Washington

township.
1816.-Henry ChllpmaD, Pleasant township; Gideon Minor, Wash­

ington township.
1817.-Henry Chapman, Pleasant township ; John Denham, Tate

township.
l818.-HeUl·y Chapman, Pleasant township; John Shaw, Ohio town­

ship.
l819.-Alexander Campbell, Pleasant township; David Morris, Tate

township.
1820.-Tholl1as l\Iorris, Tate township.
1821.-Gideon Minor, Franklin township.
1822.-John McWilliams, Goshen township.
1823.-Willialn Williams, Miami township.
1824.-Thomas Gatch, Miami township; Dr. A. V. Hopkins, Tate

township.
1825.-1'homas Gatch, Miami township; John K. Morris, Tate town-

~~ '.
1826.-Tholllas Gatch, Miami township; Owen T. Fishhack, Batavitt

township.
1827.-Thomas Gatch, Miami township; John Shaw, Ohio to,vnship.
1828.-John Shaw, Ohio township; John Emery, Miami township.
1S29.-Gideon .Minor. Franklin township.
1830.-Samuel Perin, Miu.mi township; John Shaw, Ohio township.
1831-32.-Dr. William Doane, Union township.
1833.-Fcstus Dunning, Goshcn township.
18:34.-Samuel .Medary, Batavia township.
lSH5-36.-Dowty Utter, Washington township.
1837-39.-1'homas J. Buchanan, Batavia township.

257

3658

Greeley.
;)14
407
1!J1
171
198
118

53
215
303
250
214
270
256

82
92

l:n
2·n
152

3594

Se~·mollr.

326
3118
215
171
287
213
27.3
217
211
301
289
132
] 92
2:H
138

lIIcmeIlan.
262
1:36
260
Si8
150
116
208
220
170
261
282
166
I !J;3
190
150

691

3475

Grant.
376
283
201
180
366
198
347
140
200
291
147
76

19G
1340
3,10

Grant.
;)24­
3U8
181
]68
127
1:37

99
195
3U8
1:{2
168
282
126

U2
]27

69
148
327

3408

BatILvia..................................... 315
'VilIiamsburgh. 274
Tate.......................................... 270
Franklin..................... 2!JO
Washington, 1st precinct.............. 156

" 2d " 72
Monroe...................................... 159
Ohio 246
Pierce............... 124
Union....................................... 100
l\Iiami......... 297
Goshen...................................... 182
'\Vayne 97
Stoneliek 159
Jackson..... 144

1868.

1872.

BILblvia ..
Franklin .
Goshcn ..
Jackson ..
l\liami-Loveland ..

" l\lilford .
" Ncwbcrry ..

l\fonroe ..
Ohio ..
Pierce .
Stonelick .
Tate .
Union ..
Washington-Moscow ..

•• Nc\·ille ..
North .

'\Vayne .
'Villiamsburgh ..

Batavia ..
Franklin .
Goshen .
Jackson ..
l\liami. ..
1\lonroe .
Ohio ..
Pierce ..
Stonelick ..
Tatc .
Union ..
'\Vashington, N. P ..

" S. P .
'Vayne .
'ViIliu.msburgh .

Seymour's majority, 119.

Greeley's majority, 250.

17
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lS·IO--tl.-Reader W. Clarke, Batavia township.
lS-I2.-No repre~('ntl1tion.

18-13.-William Roudebmh, Stoneliek toWnsllip; James F. Sargent,~;

Washington township.
1844.-Willbm llolluebush, Stunelick tuwnship.
lS·15-46.-D:wid Dial,Bat:wia township.
lSH.-Dr. James C. Kennedy, Franklin township; Shepherd F. Nor-

ris, Bat:wia township.
lS-I8.-Shepherd F. Norris, Batavia township.
lS4!J-50.-Dcnnis Smith, Stoncliek township.
1851.-Dr. EIi~ha Bennett, Union township.
lS5~.-Dr. Juhn P. Emery, l\lia~i township.
I 855.-William West, Williamsburgh township; Elbridge G. Ricker,

Pierce township.
lS57.-Thoml1s Hitch, Batavia township; Moses S. Piekelheimer,

Wayne township.
lS5!J.-Dr. John E. l\I)'ers, Goshen township.
lSfil.-John Fergnson, Pierce township.
1863.-Amos Dawson, Ohio township.
lS65.-Rev. Azariah W. Coan, Ohio township; Abram Teetor,t

Goshen township.
lS66.-John H. Branch, Miami township.
lS67.-John II. Branch, Miami township; William Shaw, Monroe

township.
lS6!J.-William Shaw, 1\1onroe township.
lSil.-Ira Ferguson, ,Monroe township.
18i3-75.-Samuel A. West, Miami township.
lSii.-James Crosson, Wayne township.
lSi!J.-Ira Ferguson, Monroe township; Dr. Leonard W. Bishop, Ba­

tavia township.

In the years 1840-43 Clermont, Clinton, and Brown
Counties formed a district, with three representatives, save
in the year 1842, when it had four (none from Clermont) ;
and in 1847 this county had one representative proper
(Shepherd F. Norris) and an additional one (Dr. James C.
Kennedy) joined with Brown County as a district.

SENATORS.IN LEGISLATURE.

Part of the time Clermont has been a senatorial district
of itself alone, and then a district joined with Brown Couuty,
and four years with Brown and Clinton, but the senators
are given who lived in Clermont when elected (for the term
of two years) :

lS03.-William Buchanan, Washington township;t James Sargent,
Washington township.

lS05.-James Sargent, Washington township.
lSOi-9.-David C. Bryan,* Williamsburgh township.
lSlO.-William Fcc, Washington township.
lSll.-Lcvi Rogers, Tate township.
lS13.-Thomas .Morris, Tate township.
1815.-John Boggess, Tate township.
lSI7-1!J.-John Pollock, Miami township.
lS2I.-Thomas Morris, Tate township.
lS23.-0wen T. Fishback, Williamsburgh township.
1825-27.-Thomas Morris, Tate township.
lS29.-Dr. William Wayland, Batavia township.
lS3l.-Thomas Morris, Tate township.
lS33.-Dr. William Doane, Union township.
1835.-Snmuel Medary, Batavia township.
lS37-39.-Dowty Utter, II Washington township.
lS45.-Dowty Utter, Washington tOlvnship.
lS49.-William Howard, Batavia township.

;;; Died during his term.
t Died in office; John H. Branch elected to fill vReancy.
t Elected in J unuary, and his successor elected in the followin 0'

October. .,

? Resigned to accept the clerl,ship of the Clermont Court of Com­
mon'Pleus, to which he was appointed in lS10.

1\ In lS4l-44, in district with Clinton .1lnd Brown, which got the
senators.

I S53.-l\lichnel II. Davis, Ohio township.
lS57.-Dr. William P. Kincaid, Washington township.
lS61.-John Johnston, Bntavill. township.
ISfi5-fii.-SaUluel F. Dowdney, Batada. township.
lSi3-i5.-lIellry V. Kerr, Batavia township.

The senators and representatives in the General Assembly
from other counties who represented districts composed in
part of Clermont County, with their years of election and
service and places of residence, are as follows:

SENATORS.

I Soll.-Griffith Foos, Jr., Clinton County.
lSol2.-Jl1mes Loudon, Brown County.
1843.-W. 11. Ualdwin, Clinton County; James Loudon, Brown

County.
18oli.-Beuj:unin EI·ans, Brown County.
lS51.-Sauders ,Y..Johnson, Brown Coun ty.
1855.-Chambers Bnird, Brown County.
lS59.-Clinton A. White, Brown County.
1863.-James Loudon, Brown County.
lS69-il.-Lc:\rner B. Leeds, Brown County.
lS7i-7!J.-Geol·ge P. T.yler, Brown County.

HEPRESEXTATIVES.

lS40.-R. B. Harlan, Clinton County; Gideon W. Dunham, Brown
County.

1841.-Gideon W. Dunham, Brown County; Stephen Emns, Clinton
County.

18-12.-Da\·id' Fishel', Thomas Ross, Clinton County; Moses Ree!:',
John D. White, Brown County.

lS43.-Johu D. White, Brown County.

In 1841-43 the senatorial district was Clinton, Brown,
and Clermont, and ever since, Clermont and Brown.

In 1840-4:3 the representative district was Clinton,
Brown, and Clermont; at all other times, Clermont by itself.

MEMBERS OF CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTIONS.

The first Constitutional Convention in Ohio was con­
vened at Chillicothe from Nov. 1 to Nov. 29, 1802, and
the two members from Clermont were Philip Gatch and
James Sargent, who were elected Oct. 12, 1802. The
second convention assembled at Columbus, May 6, 1850,
and adjourned July 9, 1850, to reassemble at Cincinnati
Dec. 2, 1850. It was finally adjourned March 10, 1851.
The member from Clermont was Shepherd F. Norris, but
John H. Blair, of Georgetown, represented Clermont and
Brown C~lUnties jointly. At the ~lection for members in
Clermont, April 1, 1850, S. F. Norris and Philip B. Swing
were the candidates, the former receiving 1634 and the
latter 1520 votes. The vote on the adoption of this con­
stitution in Clermont, June, 1851, was, in favor, 2263;
opposed, 1798; an affirmative majority' of 465.

The third Constitutional Convention assembled at Colum­
bus, May 13, 1873, adjourned August 8th, and reassembled
at Cincinnati, Dec. 2, 1873, and finished its labors May 15,
1874. The member from Clermont was John Shaw, of
Ohio township, elected in April, 1873, by a vote of 2635
'against 2437 cast for Thomas M. Lewis. The people of
Clermont adopted the new constitution by overwhelming
majorities. '

CLERKS OF TIlE GENERAL ASSEl\IBLY.

Richard Collins, of Tate, was clerk of the Senate of the
Seventeenth, Eighteenth, and Nineteenth General As-
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11,179 1,SS9 9,887 291
Clarke's whole vote 12,662
'\Vbito's whole vole 10,178

Clarke's majority...... 2,484

semblies, for the years 1818, 1819, and 1820. In his first
year Robert Lucas was speaker of the Senate, and in his
last two years Allen Trimble was the speaker,-both subse­
quently Governors of the State.

Of' the House of Representatives of the Fiftieth General
Assembly, that assembled on Jan. 5, 1852,-the first one
'under the ne~ constitution,-)Iahlon H. Medary, of Ba­
tavia, was clerk, having been elected by 65 votes to 26 east
for E. J. Hutchinson, but resigned dul'ing the second
scssion, March 7, 1853.

SPEAKERS OF TilE HOUSE.

John Pollock, of Milford, was elected speaker of the
House of H.epresentatives of the Eleventh, Twelfth, and
Thirteenth General Assemblies, which convened at the
capital-ChiIHcothe-in the years 1812, 1813, and 1814.

Thomas J. Buchanan, of Batavia, was clected speaker of
the House of Representatives of the Thirty-eighth General
Assembly, that convened at Columbus on Dec. 2, 18B9.

l\m~IBERS OF CONGRESS.

The first member of Congress from this county was Dr.
William Doane, of Withamsville, elected in 1838 to the
T\Ve~ty.sixth Congress from the fifth Congressional district,
composed of Clermont, Brown, and Adams Counties, and
re-elected in 1840, and who served two terms of two
years each,-from 1839 to 1843. The next member was
Jonathan D. Morris, of Batavia, elected in 1847 to the
Thirtieth Con~ress from the seventh district, comprising
Clermont, Brown, and Highland Counties, and who, in
1848, was re-elected, his term expiring in 1851, making
four years. Mr. l\Iorris was first elected to fill the va­
cancy occasioned by the death of Gen. Thomas L. Hamer,
elected in 1846, being at that time in the military ser­
vice of the United States in Mexico, where he died pre­
vious to the convening of the Thirtieth Congress. There
was no opposition in Clermont to the election of Gen.
Hamer, nOlO to that of Mr. Morris the first time. Wil­
liam Howard, of Batavia, was elected to the Thirty-fifth
Congress in 1858, from the sixth district, composed of
Clermont, Brown, Adams, and Highland Counties, and
served one term, which ended on March 4, 186i, just at
the opening of the lat,e great Rebellion and when Congress
was deeply stirred by questions of the greatest moment
to the country. H.eader VV. Clarke, of Batavia, was
elected a member of Congress from the sixth district,
composed of Clermont, Brown, Clinton, Fayetter and
Highland Counties, in 1864, and in 1866 was re-elected to
the Fortieth Congress, and assisted in the work of the
reconstruction of the States lately in rebellion. 'Ve give
the vote at Mr. Clarke's first election, in 1864:

R. W. CL.\RKF:.
r------'---..
Home Army
Vule. Vute.

Brown 2,167 434
Clermont 2,712 424
Clinton 2,140 353
l!'lLj'etto 1,406 217
Highland....... 2,:348 461

CIllLTON A. WIIITE.
,..---""'------.
Home Army
Vulo. Voto.

2,484 100
2,925 69
1,160 48
1,103 25
2,361 49

Since then the boundaries of the district in which this
county is situated have been twice changed, but no Cler­
montel' elected.

PRESIDENTIAL ELECTORS.

The following district P.·esidential electors have been
from'this county: 1840, Abraham Miley, who voted for
William Henry Harrison for President and John Tyler for
Vice-President; 1844, Reader 'V. Clarke, who voted for
Henry Clay for President and Theodore Frelinghuysen for
Vice-President; 1860, JohnM. Kellum, who voted for
Abraham Lincoln for President and Hannibal Hamlin for
Vice· President; 1872, George W. IIulick, who voted for
Ulysses S. Grant for President and Henry Wilson for
Vice-President..

UNITED STATES SENATORS.

On Dec. 15, 1832, Thomas Morris, of Bethel, was
elected United States senator for six years fropl the 4th of
1vlarch, 1833, in place of Benjamin Ruggles, by the follow­
ing vote: Thomas Morris, 54; John 'V. Campbell, 49;
scattering, 4,-being the majority of one vote. For four
years Mr. Morris had for his colleague Thomas JiJwing,
who had been elected in 1830 (on December 29th), on the
seventh joint ballot of the Legislature, by two majority;
and for the other two years of his term in the Senate he
had for his colleague vVilliam Allen, elected on the thir­
teenth joint ballot of the General Assembly, on Jan. 19,
1837, by two majority over Mr. ~Iorris' former colleague,
Thomas Ewing.

FEDERAL AND STATE JUDGES.

In 1809, Thomas l\'Iorris, of Bethel, was elected by the
Legislature one of the Supreme judges orOhio, on account
of the ability he had acquit'ed as a lawyer and a leader of
the House of Representatives in conducting the impeach­
ment against Calvin Pease and John Tod, two judges of
Ohio, for an alleged unconstitutional interference with the
powers and duties of justices of the peace, to whom juris­
diction in cases not exceeding twenty dollars was given.
The General Assembly following the one that elected Mr.
Morris to the bench revised the laws for a second time.
.seven years had now elapsed since the first Legislature
convened, and the question was agitated whether a new
and general election of judges ought to take place. On
the one side it was contended that the original appointments
were for the term of seven years, and that those who had
been elected to fill vacancies could only serve out the resi­
due of the original term. ·On. the other, this construction
of the constitution was opposed a!'; violent, forced, and un­
necessary, and the opposite doctrine was maintained, that
every judge elected to fill a vacancy was elected for the
term of seven years, and entitled to hold his office for that
time unless constitutionally removed. In support of this
doctrine, this construction, the law regulating commissions
was cited, and it was shown that the constant practice had
hitherto been to commission every newly-elected judge for
th~ full term. A resolution, however, was passed adopting
the first construction, and extending its principle to the
other State officials. This resolution, in effect, declared all
the judicial offices vacant; and the Legislature (in 1810)
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proceeded to elect judges of the Supreme Court and of the
different Courts of Common Pleas. They reduced the
number of judges of the Supreme Court, wllich had been
increased to four in 1809, to three. The effect of this act
was to deprive Thomas Morris, who had becn duly elected
and eommil;sioned as judge in 1809, of his seat upon the
bench. He never presided, and the only official act known
to have ever been performed by him judicially was just
before the meeting of the J.Jcgislature that legislated him
out, in administering, in November, 1809, the oath of
office to Oliver Lindsey as sheriff of the county, to which
lle had been elected the month previous.

On March 31, 1871, Philip B. Swing, of Batavia, was
appointed by President Grant Judge of the District Court
for the Southern District of Ohio, to fill the vacancy oc­
casioned by the death of Humphrey H. Leavitt, who had
been'on the Federal bench since July 10, 1834,-the day
of his appointment by President .Jacksou. Judge Leavitt
was from Steubenville, and for twenty years wm, the sole
government judge of the District Court in the State, and
until Ohio was divided into the northern and southern dis­
tricts, and Cincinnati made the seat of the latter's sittings.
Judge Swing, in his nine years' administration, has made an
honored name throughout the country. His adminil;tra­
tion has been able, pure, and dignified, giving him a well­
deserved reputation for his decisions. Coming of an honor­
able lineage, celebrated in the pioneer annal8 of the county,
born, reared, and educatcd in Clermont, where he had prac­
ticed for a quarter of a century his profession in a most
successful and honorable maUIIer, he has maintained on the
berwh the character of an eminent and upright, judge.

Thomas Q. Ashburn, of Batavia, was appointed in Feb­
ruary, 1876, by Governor Hutherford B. Haycs, one of the
fivc judgcs of the Supreme Court commission for three
Jcars j and his term expircd Feb. 1, 1879. This court,
created by the J.Jcgislature under the provisions of the con­
stitution, had the same authority as the regular Supreme
Court, and was designed to assist in deciding continued and
accumulated cascs, and help to clear the dockets. This
was the first court commission ever in the State, and ten
years must elapse before another can be appointed. The
decisions of the commission were received with favor, and
are published by the State law reporter.

Henry V. Kerr, of Batavia, is the present State libra­
rian, receiving his appointment from Governor R 1\1.
Bil;hop, March 17, 1879, for the full term of two years.
:Mr. Kerr is a native of New York, but came to Clerlllont
many years ago, and served as county recorder from 1853
to 1859, and was elected State senator in 1873. F9r eight
Jears he was editor of the Clermont SIIII, where he gave
proof of extensive culture, great reading, and indomitable
energy.. Under the joint administration of MI'. Kerr and
his assistant, Miss Mary C. Harbaugh, for many years an
assistant in that office, the library is managed in the best
interests of the public, and to the satisfaction of those who
consult it.

In addition to the foregoing many former citizens of
Clermont achieved distinction in other States. Isaac N.
Morris (son of SenatOl' Thomas j)Jorris) was an able mem­
ber of Congress froUl the Quincy, Ill., district, and a trusted

friend of President Lincoln, who often consulted him on
affairs of state. Samuel ,Y. Holmes, of Seymour, Ind.,
became a leading politician in that State, and for years
held important offices. Col. Jed. Brush, the eattle­
king of -Colorado, has been a prominent member of the
J...egislaturc of that State. Hon. James Shaw was a hero in
the struggle for Texan independence, and a Oongressman of
that republic j and many others were equally eminent In
other localities.

There is hardly another county that has furnished more
Federal officials than Clermont. At one time it had sixty
persons in tlll~ employ of the government at Washington,
furnishing such dil;tinguished officials as J. :Milton Megrew,
Sixth Auditor of the U. S. 1'reasury, and J. L. French,
of the Postmaster-General's Department, both noted as
officers unsurpassed in efficiency.

TERRITORIAL DELEGATES AND MEMBERS OF CONGRESS
REPRESENTING CLERMONT COUNTY FROM 1799 TO 1880
-CO~IPOSITION OF TIlE CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICTS.

1799.~The first delegate from the Northwest Territory
was 'William II. Harrison,-elected President in 1840,­
who resigned to accept the Governorship of the Territory of
Indiana, and was succeeded as delegate by William· :Mc­
Millan, of Cincinnati.

1801.-Paul Fearing, of Marietta, was the third and
last delegate who represented the Territory in Congress.

1803.-Up to 1813 the State lUld but one member of
Congress in the House of Representatives, who was Jere­
miah ~Iorrow, of'Varren County, the representative in the
]~ighth to Twelfth Congress.

1813.-The first Congressional apportionment in Ohio
was made by the Tenth General Assembly, by act passed
Feb. 14, 181~, dividing the State into six Congressional
districts on the basis of the census of 1810, and Clermont,
with Highland, Fayette, Clinton, Greene, and Adams, was
made the Second district, and John Alexander, of Greene,
was the representative from 1813 to 1817, in Thirteenth
and Fourteenth Congresses, and was succeeded by John 'N.
Campbell, of Adams, who served from 1817 to 1823, in
the Fifteenth, Sixteenth, and Seventeenth Congresses. .

1823.-The Tweutieth General Assembly of Ohio, on
May 23, 18~2, divided the State into fourteen Congres­
sional districts, and Clermont, with Hamilton, composed
the First, and James W. Garlay, of Hamilton, served from
18~3 to 1825, in the Eighteenth Congress, and James
Findlay, of the same county, from 1825 to 1833, in the
Nineteenth, Twentieth, Twenty-first, and Twenty-second
Congresses.

1833.-The Thirtieth General Assembly of Ohio, on
June 13,1832, passed an act dividing the State into nine­
teen Congressional districts, of which Clermont, Brown,
and Adams composed the Fifth, and Thomas L. Hamel', of
Brown, served from 1833 to 1839, in the Twenty-third,
1'wenty-fourth, and Twenty-fifth Congresses, and Dr. 'ViI­
limn Doane, of Withamsville, Clermont Co., served from
1839 to 1843, in the Twenty-sixth and Twenty-seventh
Congresses.

1843.-The Forty-first General Assembly of Ohio, by an
act passed March 13, 1843, divided the State into twenty-



POLITICAL HISTORY. 1~3

one Congressional districts, of which Clermont, Brown, and
Highland composed the Seventh, and John J. McDowell,
of Highland, served from 1843 to 1847, in the Twent.y­
eighth and Twenty-ninth Congresses; Jemathan D. Morris,
of Batavia, Clermont Co., served from 1847 to 1851, in the
Thirtieth and Thirty-first Congresses; and Nelson Barrere,
of' Highland, served from 1851 to 1853, in the Thirty­
second Congress.

Up to this date (1843) it had been the invariable custom
of the Legi~lature to make the Congre:isional apportionment
as soon as the census returns were had, and not to change it
until after the next census, but the Forty-third General
Assembly of Ohio was the first to make an innovation on
the precedent, and on :March 12, 1845, made, by a special
enact,ment, a new Congressional apportionment by changing
several of the districts; but the Seventh (Clermont district)
was not disturbed.

1853.-The Fiftieth General Assembly of Ohio, by act
passed April 30, ] 852, divided the State into twenty-one
Congressional districts, of which Clermont, Brown, Adams,
and Highland composed the Sixth, and whose representa­
tive from 1853 to 1855, in the Thirty-third Congress, was
Andrew Ellison, of Brown; from 1855 to 1857, in the
Thirt,y-fourth Congress, was Jonas R. Emrie, of Highland;
from 1857 to 1859, in the Thirty-fift.h Congress, was Jo­
seph R. Cockerell, of Adams; and from 1859 to 1861, in
the Thirty-sixth Congress, was \Villiam Howard, of Bata­
via, Clermont Co.; and from 1861 to 1863, in the Thirty­
seventh Congress, was Chilton A. \Yhite, of Brown.

1863.-The Fifty-fifth General Assembly of Ohio, by
an act passed April 26, 18G2, divided the State into nine­
teen Congressional districts, of which Clermont, Brown.,
Clinton, Fayette, and Highland composed the Sixth, whose
representative from 18G:3 tu 18G5, in the Thirty-eighth
Congress, was Chilton A. \Vhite, of Brown; from 1865
to 1869, in the Thirty-ninth and Fortieth Congresses, was
Reader ..w. Clarke, of Batavia, Clermont Co.; and from
18li9 to 187:3, in the Forty-first and Forty-second Congresses,
was J olm A. Smith, of Highland.

1873.-The Sixtieth General Assembly of Ohio, by an
act passed April 27, 1872, divided the State into twenty
Congressional districts, of which Clermont, Butler, Clinton,
\Varren, and Fayette composed the Third, whose represen­
tative from 1873 to 1875, in the Forty-third Congress,
was John Quincy Smith, of Clinton; from 1875 to 1877,
in the Forty-fourth Congress, was John S. Savage, of Clin­
ton; and fi'om 1877 to 1879, in the :Forty-fifth Congress,
was Mills Gardner, of Fayette.

1879.-The second violation of Congressional apportion­
ment precedent was made by the Sixty-third General
Assembly of Ohio, which, by an act passed May 15, 1878,
repealed the act of six years previous, not waiting until
the next census, as, with onLl exception noted, had been the
precedent, and made a new apportionment, putting Cler­
mont with Brown, Adams, Higilland, and Clinton, whose
representative from 187H to 1881, in the Forty-sixth Con­
gress, was Henry L. Dickey, of' Highland.

1880.-1n February the Legislature repealed the appor­
tiollment of May 15, 1878, and enacted the one of April
27, 1872.

GOVERNORS OF OHIO.

The following were the Territorial and State Governors
from the organization of the first civil govemment, in 1788,
in the Northwest Territory, of whicil the State of Ohio
was a part, until the year 1880 :

Arthur St. Clair, from July VI, 1788, to 1802.
Charle:! Willing B.vrd, from l802 to Mltrch 3, 180:l.
Edward Tiffin, froUl March 3, ]803, to :March 4, ]807.
Thomas Kirl,er, from March 4, 1807, to Dec. ]2, ]808.
Slt'IUuel Huntington, from Dec. ]2, 1808, to Dec. 8, ]810.
Return Jonathll,n :Meig", from Dec. 8, ]810, to March 25, 1814.
Olhniel Looker, from April 14, 1814, to Dec. 8, 1814.
Thomas Worthington, from Dec. 8, 1814, to Dec. 14, 1818.
Ethan Allen Brown, froUl Dec. 14, 1818, to Jan. 4, 1822.
Allen Trimble, fl'om Jan. 7, 1822, to Dec. 28, 1822.
Jeremiah Morrow, from Dec. 28, 1822, to Dec. 19, 1826.
Duncan McArthur, from Dec. 19, 1826, to Dec. 18, 1830.
Robert Lucas, from Dec. 18, 1830, to Dec. 7, 18:32.
Joseph Vance, from Dec. 7, ]832, to Dec. ]3, 1836.
Wilson Shannon, from Dec. 13, ]838, to Dee. 16, 1840.
Thomas Corwin, fl"om Dec. 16, 1840, to Dec. ]4, 184~.

Wilson Shannon, from Dec. 14, 1842, to April 13, 1844.
Thomas W. Bartley, from April ]3, 1844, to Dec.~, 1844.
Mordecai Bartley, from Dec. 3, 184-1-, to Dec. 12, 1846.
Willialll Behb, from Dec. 12, 1846, to Jan. 22, 1849.
Seabury Ford, from Jan. 22, ]84!J, to Dec. 12,1850.
Reuben Wood, from Dec. 12, 1850, to July ]5, 1853.
William Mcdill, from July ]5, ]853, to Jan. ]4, 1856.
Salmon P. Chase, from Jan. ]4, 1856, to Jan. 9, 1860.
WiJliltm Dennison, from Jan. 9, ]860, to Jan. 13, ]862.
David 'fod, from Jan. 13, 1862, to Jan. ]2, "]864.
John Brough, from Jan. 12, 1864, to Aug. 2!J, 1865.
Charles Anderson, froUl Aug. 30, 186.'i, to Jan. 9, 1866.
Jaeob D. Cox.• frOID Jan !J, ]866, to Jan. 13, ]868.
Rutherford B. Hayes, from Jan. 1:~, 1868, to Jan. 8, 1872.
Edward F. Noye!<, from Jan. 8, 18i2, to Jan. 12, 1874.
William Allen, from Jan. 12, ]874, to Jan. 14, 1876.
Rutherford B. HItyes, from Jan. 14, ]876, to March 2, 1877.
Thomas L. Young, from Mn.reh 2, ]8i7, to Jan. 14, ]8i8.
Richard M. m"hop, frolll Jan. 14, ]878, to Jan. 14, 1880.
Charles Foster, Jan. 14, 1880.

UNITED STATES SENATORS

FI'om Ohio since Its Admissioll iI/to the Union In 1802, witlt Residellce
al/d Tillie of Service.

John Smith, Hamilton, from 180a to 1808.
Thomas Worthington, Ross, froUl 1803 to 1807 aud 1810 to 1814.
Edward Tiffin, Ross, from 1807 to 1809.
Return Jonathlln Meigs, Washington, from 1808 to 1810.
Stanley Griswold, Cuyahoga, 1809.
Alexander Call1pbell, AdalDs, from 1809 to 1813.
Jeremiah Morrow, Warren, froUl 1813 to 1819.
Joseph Kerr, Ross, fl"Om ]814 to ]8]5.
Benjamin Rugg]es, Belmont, from 1815 to 1833.
William Allen Trimble, Highland, from 1819 to 1821.
Ethan Allen Brown, Hamilton, from 1822 to 1825.
Willil1m Henry Harrison, Hamilton, from 1825 to 1828.
Jacob Burnet, Hamilton, from 1828 to 18:n.
Thomas Ewing, Fairfield, from 18:n to ]837 and 1850 to 1851.
Tholllas Morris, Clermont, from 1833 to 18::!!J.
William Allen, Ross, from 1837 to 1849.
Benjamin Tappan, Jefferson, from 183!J to 1845.
Tholllas Corwin, Warren, from 1845 to 1851.
Benjamin Franklin Wade, Ashtabula, from·1851 to ]86!J.
Sitlmon P. Chase, Hamilton, from 1849 to 1855, ISfiI.i;l

George Ellis Pugh, Hamilton, from 1855 to 1861.
John Shermlln, Hichland, from ]861 to 1877. '.

inSalmon P. Chase, elected for six ~'{'al's f!"Om March 4, 1861, sen·cd
till March ]2th, lind resigned to go in Lincoln's Cabinet; John
Shcrllllul resigned to go into Hayes' CILbinet; and Corwin resiglled
to go in 'l'ltylor's Cabillet.
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Allen G. Thul'man, Franklin, from lSG!! to lS8l.
Stanley ~Ialthews, H:LllliIton, from ISn to lSi!!.
Gcorge Hnnt Pcnulelon, Hamilton, from lSi!! to 18S5.
James A. Garfield, Lake, from ISS1 to ISSi.

TilE UNDERGROUND RAILROAD IN CLER~IONT

COUNTY.*

There is no feature in the history of Clermont County
more worthy of mention than its part in the great struggle

'that ended in emancipation. As the birthplace and family
home of the great general of the liberating army, it is
justly proud of his renown. Yet while, and even before,
Ulysses S. Gmnt was a laughing, fair-haired boy, uncon­
scious that it was his mighty destiny to execute and per­
petuate the decree of Lincoln, the emancipator, other sons
were battling as giants for the then hopeless slaves. Judge
Burnet, in his account of the delegates who framed the
first constitution, says, "that Gatch and Sargeilt, from
Clerlllont, werc alllong the honored men who successfully
labored in the construction of the State constitution and
the early legislation of Ohio, that they were elected because
they were anti-slavery men, and that they were Virginians
and both practical emancipators."

President Harrison, when a candidate for Congress, in a
public letter defending himself against the charge of pro­
slavery principles, refers to his venerable friend, Philip
Gatch, who was a member of au abolition society in Vir­
glOla. Obed Denham, the founder of Bethel, in his con­
veyance wrote as follows: "I also give two lots in said
town, Nos. 80 and 180, for the use of the regular Baptist
Church,-who do not hold slaves, nor commune at the Lord's
table with those who do practice su:.:h tyranny over their
fellow-creatures,-for to build a house for the worship of
Almighty God and to bury the dead, and for no other pur­
pose."

Only second in importance to Gen. Grant is Thomas
Morris, who was a member of the General Assembly for
twenty-four years, where he labored actively and success­
fully for the rights of man, and in opposition to all efforts
to prohibit by penal legislation the immigration of negroes
and mulattoes into Ohio. From this, in 183~, he was pro­
moted to wider usefulness as a United States senator.

In that august Congress, while 'Webster, Clay, Calhoun,
Van Buren, Preston, Clayton, Forsyth, I!'relinghnysen,
Silas Wright, Crittenden, Benton, Bwing, and the future
presidents, Tyler, Polk, Fillmore, Pierce, and Buchanan,
were shaking hands above the prostrate slave, and solacing
themselves and the people with the lullabies of compromise',
and drowning the wails of the oppressed with cries of" No
Agitation !" this moral hero from Clermont, undauntc1 by
theil' tyrannical opposition, alike careless of their hate and
fearless of threats, stood alone, and holding aloft the

, spurned petitions of the outraged philanthropy·of the North
demanded their reception as a matter of right. In his
last noble speech, delivered in the Senate, February, 1839,
he said, in conclusion, "I hope, on returning to my
llOme and friends, to join them again in rekindling the
beacon-fires of liberty on every hill in our State, until their
broad glare shall enlighten every valley, and the sO,ng of

.' Prepared by Byron Williams.

triumph will soon be heard.... That all may be safe, I
conclude that the negro will yet be set free."

"Thy voice sounds like a prophet's word,
And in its hollow tones are heltl·u
The thanks of millions yct to be."

In the general convention of Liberty men at Buffalo in
18-13 he was nominated as their candidate for Vice-Presi- ,
dent.

" Who can tell how vast the plan
Which t1mt day's incident began,
And how it proves, when under~toou,

The harbinger of endless good ?"

" The infl uence of' a good deed is without limits." Chief
Justice Chase wrote, "Senator Morris first led me ,to see
the character of the slave-power as an aristocracy, and the
need of' an earnest organization to counteract its preten­
sions. He was f'al' beyond the time he lived in."

. In early youth the Hon. Thomas L. Hamer, then needy
and otherwise friendless, found a home with Senator Mor­
ris, and received at his hands an introduction to his splendid'
political career. And it was by Gen. Hamer's appointment
that Gen. Grant secured his military education at 'Vest
Point.

~rhis connection and correlation of worthies is perhaps
without a parallel in the United States. It were idle to
suppose that the citizens of the county were entirely un­
worthy of these associations.

Public thought was deep'ly interested in those beings,
whom their religion clothed with humanity and whom
sympathy marked as unfortunate. On the border the
more repulsive features of the" Peculiar Institution" were
doubtless softened by the desire to obtain a security
through a kindness that was not felt or needed farther
South. Yet enough was visible to make the whole system
odious to the freemen of the North.

One of the early agitators of this question was John
Rankin, a Presbyterian preacher, who was thoroughly in
earnest, and lost no chance to discuss the 'I Sin of Slavery"
and its dangerous influence on Politician, Priest, and Press.

After delivering a lecture of this kind in the old school­
hou'5e at 'Yilliamsburgh, he was set upon in the street and
severely pelted with eggs. It is a strange comment, but
the young man who was thought to be the leader in this
disgraceful affair lost his life in the Union army.

The general tenor of all discussion was the inherent
wrong and sin of human bondage; opposition to the exten­
sion of' slavery in the Territories; a complete abolition of
the slave-trade on the high seas, in fact as well as law; the
abolition of' slavery in the District of Columbia; but in no
case was intervention in the States advocated. With in­
creasing agitation came an active benevolence that did not
stop to debate the right to hold property in man when that
man had escaped from his tyrant.
. And when food, shelter, 01' raiment was asked, often in

the Dume of Christ, it could not .be ref'used to one of these
little ones. 'Whether one should constitute himself a con­
st:lble to return the fleeing to bondage, or point the way to
freedom, was a question of easy solution.

True men, without regard to party, never refused bread to
the beseeching negro who turned away from chains and, with
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face toward the north star, fled from the sight of the span­
gled banner of the free to the British flag as his only city
of refuge. In the nature of things men of decided con­
victions against slavery were most frequently importuned
for assistance, and thus became the men who were charged
with running away negroes.

Nothing was done to entice slaves from Kentucky. Only
as they came were they sped on their way. The owners
pursuing them were informed who were most likely to have
assisted the fugitives, and returning, in baffled rage heaped
curses loud and deep on llames of persolls and localities
in hearing of slaves, who reverently preserved the stealthy
knowledge fQl" their own time or need. Mrs. Dr. L. T.
Pease distinctly remembers a band of six fugitives that
were secreted in her father's (Thomas Fee) house more
than sixty-five years ago.

Her brother, the late Robert E. Fee, of Moscow, was, it
is-true, charged- with abducting slaves, and at one time was
under requisition for the same.

About forty years ago a family of blacks, living for years
in the south part of the county,. were kidnapped at night,
except the father, and carried into Kentucky, under the
plea that the mother was a runaway slave, and her children,
though born out of bondage, must share her lot. A vain
pursuit was made to the river, where on the Kentucky side
unusual lights pointed out a house that was conjectured to
have received the unfortunate captive. Robert Fee devoted
himself to their rescue by legal means. He followed them
into a distant State into which they had been sold, and nar­
rowly escaped death. The mob, raging for his blood, actu­
ally passed through the room adjoining his hiding-place.
The affair produced much excitement, and caused many
hitherto neutral people to join the opposition to slavery.
The family was hopelessly lost and separated, but Fee
repaid /tis wrongs many fold.

A light was said to have burned all night in his house
to guide belated travelers across the river. His doors were
barred, and his family, girls and all, slept with loaded fire­
arms in ready reach. His house was surrounded again
and again by violent slave-hunters. The romance of the
border in that day was thrilling in the extreme, though its
actors were but plain farmers ~ud timid, shadow-fearing
fugitives.

There was no preconcerted action on the part of the men
so engaged, yet there was a kind of system. When run­
aways got across the river, the Fees and others, according
to circumstances, either hurried them on or secreted them
till the hunt swept by. They were then guided northward,
generally through Tate· township, where they were cared
for by the Rileys, Benjamin Rice, Richard Mace, Isaac H.
Brown, and others.

Brown commenced in 1835, and was one of the most
vigilant conductors on the road. From there a part went
to Huggins', on \Vhite Oak, but most came to \Villiams­
burgh, where Charles Boerstler Huber and Dr. L. T.Pease
were always ready to help. Another much-traveled road
led to Williamsburgh from New Richmond by way of James
Buntin's.

Huber became an abolitionist through his own expe­
rience.. After serving an apprenticeship as a tanner he

went far South and sought employment as such. His first
application was answered, "No, I bought one yesterday,"
and so on, till money and patience were both gone. He
concluded that the system was bad, and ever after sought
'its destruction with relentless zeal. He was bold, outspoken,
and fearless to rashness, which, no doubt, saved him much
trouble, for it needed a brave man to match him.

Mark Sims, a mulatto, was for many years the wagon­
master for Huber, Pease, and their assistants. The route
froni 'WilIiamsburgh led by various ways to the Quaker set­
lement in Clinton County. The work was generally done
in the night,-not through. shame, but to avoid trouble
with some who, for the sake of the rewards, were often on
the watch. There is no telling how many escaped, but the
number must have amounted to many hundreds. Very
few were ever captured. In a notable instance a large
family (the Balls), some twelve or fourteen, were over­
hauled when in sight of the British ship that was to carry
them over the lake. The greatest number cared for at one
time by Huber was seventeen.

In the New York Independent for December, 1879,
Prof. David Swing thus pleasantly writes of his recollec­
tions of Williamsburgh, in 1849 :

"In the ,-illage, which lay a mile or two from our farm, there Jived
and tanned leather a maD called Boss Huber. JIe was the first one
of those fearful creatures called Abolitionists I ever saw, and to which
all our large family looked with abhorrence.' One summer morning
it de,-olved upon me to make an early trip through the woods to the
village, with t~e intent to lay in for some h'arvest bands a few pounds
of sugltr and a half-gallon of molasses; and lo! in a ravine, shady
and cool and dark, I came upon Boss Huber and a Iltrge negro man.
Boss was just shaking hands with the African, and gil'ing him some
money and some parting words. To my young and altogether verdant
soul, it seemed that the Boss was sending a colored man on some
errand to some distant town or State, for the fact and manner of the
Underground Rltilroad had not yet fully penetrated my soul. The
fearful Boss then joined me, and we emerged at length from the
woods and approached the village together. He began saying some­
thing about having told that negro of a town North in which he couM
find work; and from this introduction he glided off into a regular
eloquent discourse about the 'Hongs and sufferings of the black men
in the South. He wound up his plea by taking fr'om his coat-pocket
a much-worn eopy of The Nati~/IalEra, if my memory is perfectly
correct. At least the paper contained se\-eral immense speeches
from such men as Salmon P. Chase nnd Birncy and Garrison, and
when in one of these addresses I found the passnge, 'We must in this
country rear a temple of liberty whose shaft will piercc the skies,' it
seemed to me a large rcmark. I memorized a part of that speech,
and whcn, ncxt winter, I joined a debating' club,' I took the aboli­
tion side of a question, and ns It climax quoted all about that temple
with such an ambitious shaft. To-day~ among things to be glad of,
I am rather gl:td that I once saw a slave make a summer morning
sacred to him and to me by trippipg along through dense woods away
from the Ohio and toward freedom."

CHAPTER XVI.

THE LEARNED PROFESSIONS.

THE BAR.

THE term law, though used in a grcat variety of relations,
always means an established rule,-is sometimes called the
rule of action,-and its seat is the bosom of God and its
voice thc harmony of the world, us all things iu hcavcn and
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earth do it homage, the very least as feeling its care and
the greatest as not exempted from its power. The employ­
Illent of the lawyer is pre-eminently one of trust :UHl confi­
dence, and the law so regards it, for it excuses the lawyer
from reveuling what his client has confided to him; but,
what is still more to the purpose, men so regard it. The
province of an attorney is to vindicate rights and redress
wrongs, hence it is a high and holy function, and Illen come
to him in their hours of trouble,-not such trouble as religion
can solace or medicine cure, buL the trouble arising from
innocence accused, confidence betmyed, reputation slandered,
liberty assailed, property invaded, promises broken, the
domestic relations violated, Ol' life endan~ered. The guilty
and the innocent, the upright and the dishonest, the wrong­
ing and the wronged, the knave and the dupe alike consult
him, and with the same unreserved confidence. It is not
given to man to see the human heart completely unveiled
before him, but the lawyer, perhaps, comes more nearly to
this than any other, for there is no aspect in which the human
character does not present itself in his secret consultations.
All the passions, all the vices, and all the virtues are by
turns subjected to his scrutiny; and he has thus studied
human nature in its least disguised appearances, and has
watched it under all trials, in the light and in the shade, in
ecstasy and in despair, in glory and in shame.

Attorneys in Ohio are first mentioned in the act passed by
the Governor and judges of Aug, 1, 1792, wherein it was
provided that no person should be admitted to practice as
an attorney in any of the courts of the then Territory unless
he was a person of good and moral character, and well
affected to the government of the Ullited States and of the
Territory; and should pass an examination of his profes­
sional abiiities before one or more of the territorial judges,
and obtain from him or them before whom he was examined
a certificate of possessing the proper abilities and qualifica­
tions to render him useful in the office of all attorney. And,
further, should have taken in open court and subscribed an
oath that he would do no falsehood, nor consent to the doing
of any, ill the courts of justice; and if he knew of an in­
tention to commit any, that he would give knowledge
thereof to the justices of the said court, or some of them,
that it might be prevented; that he would not wittingly. or
willingly promote or sue any false, groundless, 01' unlawful
suit, nor give aid 01' consent to t.he same; and that he would
conduct in t,he office of an attorney within the said courts
to the best of his knowledge and discretion, and with all
good fidelity as well to the courts as to his client. It was
further provided that parties might plead or manage their
own causes personally, 01' by the assistance of such counsel
as they should see fit to engage, but neither the plaintiff or
defendant were permitted to employ over two lawyers each;
and when only two lawyers were attending court, neither of
the parties to 'a suit could retain more than one; nor in any
cause should fees for more than one attorney be taxed.

. The next law pertaining to attorneys, passed June 15,
1795, made it imperative that the lawyer should take an
oath that he would behave himself in the office of counsellor­
at-law (or attorney, as the case might be) in the court ac­
cording to the best of his learning, and with all good fidelity,
as well to the court as to the client, and- that he would use

-, no falsehood, nor dela!! all!! person's cause 101' lucl'e 01'

malice. The act of the General Assembly of Oct. 29, 1799,
required that any person wishing to practice law should ob­
tain a license from the Governor of the Territory, and that
any person to be entitled to receive a license should produce
a certificate, signed by two or more of the j utlges of the
general court, attesting his due examination and qualifica­
tions, with certificate of some lawyer that the candidate had
read law four years.

Under tho law of Feb. 4, 180!, the Supreme Court ad­
mitted the candidates, on successful examinations, to the
practice of the law until the adoption of the new constitu­
tion, when, in 1852, an enactment passed, pqtting the ad­
mission of applicants to the bar upon the District Courts,
.who from that to the present time have admitted such per­
sons as passed the required examinations in legal lore and
had proper testimonials as to character. Under the act of
Jari. 28, 1819, it was necessary to have been a year a resi­
dent of the State, and to have read law continuously for
two years.

Lawyers were first taxed professionally in 1825, by the
act of February 7th, which required the Court of Common
Pleas in every county once a year (at the term next pre­
ceding the 1st day of July) to make duplicate lists of all
attorneys pract.icing their profession in the county and resi­
dent thereof, and affix to each such sum as should appear
just and reasonable, not less than five nor more than fifty
dollars, which sum said attorney had to pay into the county
treasury, as a license for practicing his profession. On
Feb. 22, 1830, the law was modified so as to put the assess­
ing of this tax upon the county assessors instead of the
courts, with power to the county commissioners and auditor
to amend their (assessors') assessments as they deemed most
proper. Lawyers paid a license up to the adoption of the
new constitution, in 1851, and none since, save to the gen­
eral government a short period during and at close of the
great Rebellion.

A law of Uarch 8, 1831, made it penal for an attorney
to encourage, excite, and stir up any suit, quarrel, or can·
troversy between two or more persons, with intent to injure
such person or persons.

The Clermont bar has occupied a high niche in the legal
jurisprudence of the State, in the past and present, on
account of the learning and ability of its members, as well
as their personal and political standing, and reputed excel­
lence before juries and in the examination of witnesses.
Then there were the visiting lawyers,-men distinguished
for ability and eloquence,-patriarchs in ~he legal profes­
sion of Ohio, of celebrated legal attainments and intel­
lectual abilities, who met at various courts to measure
weapons with each other. There were giants in the early
days in the country court-houses, and many of them who
attended the first courts at Williamsburgh became the
nation's pride in legal lore and political reputation .

The first resident attorney in the county was Thomas
Morris, admitted in 1804, who had not mistaken his "pro­
fession or his powers, and who soon took a leading posi­
tion as a lawyer who~e reputation and business rapidly ac­
cumulated. As a lawyer he quoted more frequently than
most attorneys from the Bib!e, and those quotations, being
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apt and accurate, added greatly to the conclusiveness of his
arguments before a jury. In a legal contest with Benham
(Joseph S.), an able lawyer, in which he (Benham) wielded
his sarcasm and eloquence against the citizells of villages,
who, he affirmed, when they got a few mechanics and one
or two professional men put on airs of importance and
dignity, 1\Ir. Morris retorted with a power and eloquence
that was sorely felt by his distin~uished opponent. He
contrasted the city gentlemen with the free, honest, inde­
pendent citizens in country villages, and made a most
powerful defense of' 'the noble position and calling of
mechanics and laboring men. The vindication and triumph
was complete, and Mr. Benham said afterwards that Morris
was harder to vanquish than any lawyer he ever contended
with.

In a case of I!reat importance before the court in Brown
County, he desired a continuance of his case, a principal
witness being absent on account of high waters. The court
refused the motion, and Mr. Morris procured a horse, swam
the stream, and with his witness behind him returned and
replunged again into the swollen creek, entered the court,
and gained his case. These two incidents are iIIustl'lltive
of his unconquerable energy as well as his nbility as a law­
yer, and his reading Blackstone by the light of hickory
bark in his log cabin had a significnnt connection with his
subsequent grand success.

From the year 1804 up to 1810 we find, among other
resident lawyers, J...evi Rogers, who was also a doctor of es­
tablished reputation, a preacher of marked ability, sheriff
from 1805 to 1809, prose~utilJg attorney in 180!}, and rep­
resented the county in the Senate of the General Assembly.
He was a man of singularly good judgment, and had the
affections and confidence of the people to a wonderful
degree.

David C. Bryan was admitted to the bar in 1806. The
same year he was elected a representative in the Legislature,
prosecuting attorney in 1807 to 1809, senator from 1807
to 1811, and clerk from 1810 to 1828. He was a gentle­
man of thorough, systematic education, which made him a
good business lawyer and a most valuable public official.

Thomas S. Foote began to practice law in 1809, having
been a hatter previously, and was prosecuting attorney from
1811 to 1825, and was well posted in law. He was very
popular and a genial man of the old school, and died in
Batavia, Nov. 17, 1827.

David Mon'is was admitted at the same time, and was
prosecuting attorney in 1810, and a representative in the
year 1816. He was a printer, and published the second
paper in Clermont. He was a close reasoner, but not very
much given to legal business, for which he had not the apti­
tude that he so eminently possessed in the editorial chair.

In 1811 was admitted Hoger 'V. 'Varing, who had for
the preceding ten years been clerk.of the courts; was a most
scholarly man, of quiet and gentle disposition and sensitive
but lovable nature. He came from a noble family of Ken­
tucky, was one of the two representatives from Clermont in
tIte first Legislature of Ohi~, in 1803; was many years a
magistrate, and of all the men identified with the first his­
tory of the county no one had a purer or more honornble
record than he. He also was, like all the educated men of
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his time, a surveyor, and his records as clerk and his sur­
veys bear high testimony to his abilit,y and efficiency as a
public functionary.

This ,year, also, was admitted Daniel F. Barney, a safe
business attorney, popular surveyor, but not an advocate of
noted powers. In 1814, T. Freeman was an attorney at
'Villiamsburgh.

Up to 1815 many distinguished lawyers from Cincinnati,
Kentucky, and various counties in Ohio attended our courts.
There was Joshua Collet, afterwards Common Pleas and
Supreme judge, of a wonderful analytic mind and prompt,
decisive intellect.

Jacob Burnet, from the very first organization of t.he
county and for over ten years, had the principal law prac­
tice, und was subsequently a senator in Congress and judge
of the State Supreme bench. -

John Kerr, Secretary of State for a long time, practiced
in this county's courts with great success, as did al~o Arthur
St. Clair, .Jr.,-son of the old Governor,-who was not only
popular among the attorneys, but specially esteemed by Cler­
mont ladies, one of whom he manied during his legal trips
to the county.

Aal'on Goforth was well known as a first·class lawyer,
served as prosecuting attorney several terms of court, and
left an honorablc record j and R. S. Thomas had a lucrative
practice, while as a speaker he was not so we.ll known or
noted as his competitors.

Martin Marshal, of Kentucky, came of an honored and
celebrated judicial lineage in the nation's history, of a
stock pre-eminently legal and judicial, and in the first forty
years' history of Clermont his name shines out most bril­
liantly as an able lawyer and most successful advocate, with
traits of character that made him popular with all.

In the first few years of the county courts there practiced
regularly a man whose very looks and instincts were judicial,
and who in after-years was congressman, postmaster-general,
and then, for nearly a thil'd of a century, one of the judges
of the Supreme Court of the United States. We refer to
John McLean, who spoke in the log court-house in 'ViI·
liamsburgh in 1804 and 1805, before rustic courts and juries,
and afterwards delivered opinions from the magnificent court­
chambers in Washington City, as one of the highest judicial
functionaries of the world. -

In 1815 was admitted Owen T. Fishback, who callle
from Kentucky, and who died in the year 1864, having
practiced with great success and honor for fifty years,-a
longer time than any other law;oer who ever lived in the
county. He was State senator in the years 1823 and 1824,
representative in 1826, prosecuting attorney from 1825 to
1833, and president judge of the Court of Common Pleas
from 1841 to 1848. Half a century an ornament to the
bar, of strong opinions which he was accustomed to strongly
express at all proper times, he was a man who left a decided
impress on the history of his time and that of this county.
He reared a large family of sons and daughters, well and
most favorably known, one of whom-W. P. Fishback-is
one of the ablest lawyers in Indianapolis. Judge Fishback
was a'man of wonderful original thought, of backbone and
nerve in the highest degree, and yet withal was of warm­
hearted temperament and nature, and sympathized with
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distress and suffcring in all forms, and was of that genial
public spirit to lcad him to take an active part in all public
improvemcnts and human ital'ian reforms.

In 1818, Benjamin Morris, county recorder from 1832
to 1841, waS admitted, but never took much of a hand in the
practice of the legal profession, being more given to literary
tastes, which he employed and cultivated in editing news­
papers or writing and contributing many varied and valu­
able art ides of an historical nature for the press.

In 18~1 was admitted the most eloquent advocate known
in his tilllc,-Thomas J.J. Hamer. He read law with
Thomas Morris, at Bethel, who, with l'homas Porter (ad­
mitted the previous year to the bar at Batavia), recom­
mended 1lilll for admission to the practice, whereupon he
then moved to Georgetown, where he was admitted, and
which was his subsequent home. He was elected several
times to the J.Jegislature, served in Congress fi'om 1833 to

. ] 830, was elected again in 1846 while in Mexico, where he
died a general in the United States army. Hamer was not
only an able and eloquent attorney but a most popular man
personally, anu when he fell in Mexico no man's prospects
in the land were brighter for the Presidency than his. As
he studied law in Clermont, and practiced so much here,
he is considered almost one of our bar, which delights to
revi"e reminiscences of his moving oratory before juries
and glowing speeches on the hustings.

In 1828, Hiram Bell came to the bar. About this time
the bar was lively with Morris and Fishbai;k, of our own
county; Hamcr, of Brown; Marshal, of Augusta; Tom
Corwin, of 'Varren; Este, li'ox, Benham, John C. Wright,
Hammond, and other bright luminaries of Cincinnati; and
Richard Collins, of Hillsboro', the man large in stature and
larger in heart and mind. There were noted combats in
the furcnsic arena of those days, sharp and warm intellec­
tual fights before the bench, and appeals to the jury not
excelIed before any bat in Ohio.

On Aug. 21, 1824, Richard Collins and Learner B.
Collins opened an o"ilice in Batavia, the former then resid­
ing at, Hill:sboro', but afterwards moving to his elegant
homestead at "Horse-Shoe Bend," on the east fork, be­
tween Bantam and "\VilIiamsburgh.

Joseph S. Benham, on Oct. 16, 1824, opened an office
in Batuvia, as \VilIiam H. Harrison, Jr., son of the future
President, had done in the previous month, but both lived
in Cincinnati. The same year Thomas Moorhead, an Irish
attorney, and the second captain of the Batavia Light
Infantry, cnme to practice. He was a very eccentric man,
of warm impulses and many generous traits.

July 16, 18~5, Theodore D. Burrow:,; put out his shingle
as a lawyer; a quaiut young mau, who did not achieve
marked success. About 1828, Jonathan D. Morris began
the practice of law, but in 1831 was appointed clerk of the
courts, which position he held to 18·Hi, and the uext year
(l8-t7) was elected to Congress to fill the vacancy caused
by Gen. Hamer's death, and re-elected in 1849. MI'. Morris
W(U,; a faithful, conscientious, and popular official, and for a
quarter of a century exerted a controlling iufluence in the
county's history, being a leader of public opinion Hud a
man in whom the public reposed gr~at confidence.

In 1830, John Jolliffe began practicing, and was the

prosecuting attorney from 1833 to 1837. lIe was a good
lawyer, and noted throughout the State as a prominent
anti.slavery leader, and \Vas celebrated as the blnck man's
advocate in the days of the" Fugitive-Slave J.Jaw."

Samuel and John 1'. Brush about this time had quite a
practice, the latter living in the county.

In 1832 callie the well-known Thomas L. Shields, who
kept up a very large practice till his departure, in 1855, to'
11is ancestral estates, ncar Pittsburg1l. As a land-attorney
he won distinction, was of a most genial disposition aud
warm-hearted iustincts.

The same year Jacob T. Crapsey and Calvin A. 'Varren,
both sons-in-law of Tholllas Monis, were at the bar, with
good practice and many clients.

Alexander I1C1Ting, who had been auditor from 1828 to
1830, practiced some, but did not give law his exclusive
attention. In 1833, George B. Tingley came in with his
b-riefs and practiced some.

In 1834, George S. Lee was admitted, was prosecuting
·attorlley from 1837 to 1839, and practiced with success till
1851, when he was elected the first Probate judge in the
county.

In 1836 was admitted, by the Supreme Court, Header
'V. Clarke, who was a member of the Legislature in the
years 1840 and 1841, clerk of the courts from 1846 to
1851, congressman from 1865 to 1869, and who subse­
quently held important positions in the departments under
President Grant's first administration. He was in practice
over a third of a century, and was the keenest politician
ever produced in Clerm~nt, and, withal, the most successful
busine~s man of our practicing lawyers. His filther, Houton
Clarke, was one of the county pioneers, and one of the first
magistrates in Clermont.

This year, 1836, Thomas J. Buchanan began his profes­
sional career, and was a representative in 1837, '38, and
'3D, and in the last year speaker of the House of Hepre­
sentatives. A brilliant speaker, 11 rising barrister, and 11

man of State reputation in the political field, he WaS cut
down ill the prime of life by the ravaging scythe of Time
ere his genius, unequaled in the county, had reached its
zenith.

Now appeared at the bar, in 1835, John \V. Lowe, who
became a distinguished attorney, faithful and scrupulous.
He married a daughter of Judge Fishback, rose to a large
practice, became noted in the political and social circles,
and gave his life to his country 011 the battle-field at the
battle of Cal'Ilifex Ferry, in West Virginia, where he fell
bravely and gallantly leading his beloved regiment, the
Tweifth Ohio Infantry, into action, i.n defense of the eu­
dangered Union.

In 1838, George \V. Dennison, a most successful busi­
ness attorney of Batavia, was admitted; also Dennis Smith,
prosecuting attorney frolJl 1839 to 1845, and a member of
the Legislature in the years 1849 and 1850. Smith also
preached as an elder in the Baptist persuasion, wus fat and
witty, and is now a judge and a rich mun in Illinois.

In 1839, B. F. Ellsberry was admitted.
In 1842 the admissions we~e Joseph Frybarger and Wil­

liam Howard. The latter had been admitted at Augusta,
Ky., in 1840, and on Dccember 1st of that year came to
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Batavia and opened his office, and is now the senior mem­
ber of the bar. He had to be here two years, under the
Ohio law~, ere he could be regularly enrolled at the bar.
He was elected prosecutin~ attorney in 18-1-5 and 18-1-7 ;
served as lieutenant in tlIC Mexican war; as State senator
from 18-1-9 to 1851; congressman from 1859 to 18G1; and
commanded the Fifty-ninth Ohio Regiment Volunteer In­
fantry during the Rebellion as its lieutenant-colonel.

Philip B. Swing, judge of the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Ohio, was admitted at
Dayton, Ohio, by the Supreme Court, and examined by
the celebmted Gen. Robert C. Schenck, late minister to
Great Britain, then in large and noted practice. In 18-17,
Mr. Swing served part of the year as prosecuting attorney,
and Roon acquired a State reputation for his ability at the
bar. Just after the appointment, in 1871, of l\Ir. Rwing
to the Federal judgeship at Cincinnati, Senator Allen G.
Thurman, one of Ohio's ablest and purest jurists, remarked
to the writer of this chapter, "that Grant's seleetion of
Judge Swing was the best appointment the administration
had ma~e, and he predicted that Judge Swing would make
a name on the bench that would add never-dying lustre to
the Ohio bar."

In 1846, Moses D. Gatch had an office in Batavia and
E. F. W. Ellis in Felicity.

J uHus A. Penn, son of Elijah T. Penn, ex-collector of
the county and one of the pioneel's, waS admitted at
Georgetown, and still continues in· practice, in which he
has been uninterrupted for thirty-seven years, save the year
he was an honorable officer in the army, and when, under
President Andrmv Jollllson, he WaS the collector ot' internal
revenue of this congressional district.

Shepherd F. Norris came from Adams County to Ba~

tavia, and his valuable services as judge and legislator are
described in the chapter on the courts.

The admissions in 18-13 were John S. Griffith, the pop­
ular clerk of the courts from 1851 to 185-1, and from
1857 to 1860, and still ill active practice as one of the best
lawyers in Ohio; Thomas 1\1. Lewis, the bachelor barrister,
judge of the court in 1876, a brave captain in the late
Hebellion, and a braver defender of the f.·tir sex; Joseph
N. Hartman; and Henry N. Talley, now retired from active
practice.

In 18-14 were admitted to the bar the late H. B. Hoes,
of Afton, and the late W. B. Fishel', for many years the
well-known editor of the H'l'lmillgton Republican.

The admissions in 1845 were W. A. Glaney, J.Jarret ·W.
Carver, of Felicity, and Thomas Q. Ashburn, an account
of whose life is given in the judicial chapter.

R. 1\i. Griffith, of Bethel, Turpin D. Hartman, of Mara­
thon, and George L. Swing were a~mitted to the Clermont
bar in 1846. The latter served liS probate judge, and is
yet one of the leading attorneys of the county. This year,
'V. H. McHugh and E. F. 'V. Ellis had law-offices at
Felicity, and Moses D. Gatch and James Evans at Batavia.

In 1850 the admissions were \Vm. Yost, of GosllCn, and
George 'V. Fishback, the popular editor of the St. Lou-is
lJemoc1'at, who was the main-spring of its prosperity.

S. F. Dowdney, yet in successful practice, was admitted
at Georgetown, and practiced at Felicity till 1858, when

he took his scat as Pl'obate judge, which he held for the
six succeeding years; and he allm was State senator from
18G5 to 18lH).

John Johnston, now in Cincinnati, w~s admitted about
this yeur; was prosecuting attorney fl'om 1853- to 1855,
and State senator in 1861 and '62, and maintains a large
practice in the city.

About 1847, Milton Jamieson was admitted at George­
town ;. ser~ed in the Mexican war, was editor several years
of the Clermont C01t1'-ier, practiced his profession with suc­
cess, and is now president of the Batavia First National
Bank and the leading business man of Clermont.

Thomas Morris, son of Jonathan D., practiced in 1850 ;
and in 1851, S. M. Penn opened out an office and prac­
ticed a while.

Admissions in 1853 were Orin Temple and W. P. Fish­
back,-the latter was prosecuting attorQey from 1855 to
1857, and is now clerk of the United 'States District Court'
of Indiana at Indianapolis. '

In 1854 were admitted George l\IcLefresh, of Chilo, W.
A. Townsley (now the distinguished criminal lawyer of
Batavia), and Charles H. Collins, who was prosecuting
attorney from 1857-58. The same year E. G. Norton had
an office at New Richmond, and David Thomas at Felicity.

In 1857, George W. Hulick, who was a Probate judge
from 1864 to 1867, and who is at present one of the fore­
most lawyers of the county, was ad,mitted, and W. B.
Lakin was an attorney at New Richmond.

In 1858, Lowell H. Smitll, M. S. PicklellCimer, of Os­
good, Ind., George W. Gregg, A. T. Cowen, and J. Mil­
ton McGrew became attorneys in Clermont County. The
lattel' was clerk of the courts from 1855 to 1858, and is at
present sixth auditor in Treasury Department at Washing­
ton. Of Judge Cowen a sketch appears in this book.

In 1859, Sidney A. Fitch, of Colorado (where he achieved
distinction), and William Arthur, of Union township (prose­
cutor from 1862 to 18(4), were admitted to.the profession.

In 18G1, J. A. Adams and E. A. Parker had law-offices
at Milford, and R. L. McKinley practiced at Felicity.
That year were admitted Jonathan Palmer, G. A. Frazier,
and Perry J. Nichols. The following year F. B. Keyt
had a law-office at Batavia, and the admissions for that
period and the following years were: 1863, J. T. Johnson,
C. J.J. Moss, William Pease, James S. Brunaugh (Probate
judge from 1872 to 1878); 186-1-, John R. Kennedy,
William H. Standish, of Chicago, and William T. Cr~mer;

1866, W. H. Fagaley; 1867, Bepjamin J. Ricker, of Pierce,
A. M. Sinks (clerk of Common Pleas from 1864-67); 1868,
J. H. Moss, of Kansas, Peter F. Swing, Thomas A. Griffith
(prosecuting attorney, 1870-74), and Samuel A. 'Vest, of
Milford, the latter three in active practice in the county;
1869, John Quincy Brown, of Illinois, Ambrose Temple,
of Cincinnati, Adam' Moser, of Kansas, and '~I. A. Leeds,
of Amelia; 1870, Randolph S. Swing, who was a member
of the California. Constitutional Convention in 1878, but
at present an attorney at New Richmond; 1871, Madison
Eppert, of Locust Corner, William ]~ppert, of Amelia,
Hcuhcn Utter, of Neville, Burwell Britton, of V{illiams­
burgh, and Henry B. Mattox, clerk of Clermont Common

I Pleas fi'om 187V to 1882; 1872, John Walker, of Felicity,
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Philip T. South, of Bethel, and S. D. Shepherd, of New­
port, Ky. j 1873, J. N. Altman, of Bethel, and John S.
Parrott, clerk of courts from 18iG to 1879 j 187+, Seneca
Beh'ymer, of' Amelia, and J. C. Mc~Iath, who was admitted
by the Supreme Court at Columbus; 1875, 'VilIiam 'N.
Dennison, Josephus H. Hall, of Monterey, S. F. Townsley,
of Bethel, John R. 'Voodlief, sheriff from 1872 to 18i4, and
editor and proprietor of Clermont COllric1' in 1878-79, R.
J. Bancroft, county recorder from 1869 to 1875, and John
'V. Lennin, the latteradIllitted at Cincinnati; 1877, Charles
T. Jamieson, editor of U1'lJa1la (Ohio) O:ti:,"cn and Gazette,
James B. Swing, John J. Howard (prosecuting attorney from
1879 to 1881), and Willimll Britton, of 'Villiamsburgh;
1878, O. P. Griffith, William R. 'Valker, John 'V. Davis,
and George l\JcMurchy, of New Uichmond; 187H, Henry
,V. Schumacher, of New Uichmond, Corwin Smith, of
Williamsburgh, and Jefferson Johnson.

'Ve have not the dates of admission of Peter H. Hast­
ings' now in Cincinnati, but for twenty-five years an attor­
ney at Felicity; George 'V. Richards, sheriff in 1854 and
1855; 'Thomas O. Low, late judge of the Dayton, Ohio,
Superior Court; Perry J. Donham, of New Richmond,
but now a leading attorney in Cincinnati; Orville Burke,
of' Bethel; John D. Hovey, of Branch Hill; C. 'V. Hish.
forth, of Williamsburgh; Joseph Tritt, of Springfield, Ohio,
prosecuting attorney of Clermont from 186-1- to 186G;
Frank Davis, the leading attorney of New Richmond, and
prosecuting attorney from 1874 to 1878; L. D. Manning,
in active practice at Batavia; and 1\1. S. 'Villiamson, of
Loveland; all admitted years ago outside of the county. T.
D. Hamilton, of New Richmond, has remo\'cd to Colorado,
and John 'V. Dixon, late of Moscow, to Maryland. 'V.
C. Mellen, born in Massachusetts, and a graduate of Har­
vard, lives near Milford, on Hamilton County side, and
has practiced since 1843; and Thomas B Paxton, late
Hamilton County solicitor, formerly resided at J.Joveland,
and was a member of the Clermont bar.

Some who years ago were enrolled as practitioners in the
temple of justice have gone into other professions and avo­
cations; many are yet young in the profession, with their
futures to make either of illustrious renown or dull medioc­
rity; while· there still remain in constant daily practice
several of the old Nestors, who, with over a third of a cen­
tury's uninterrupted attention to the study and the practice
of law, are yet of the opinion that there is much for them
to learn in this grandest of all sciences, upon which rests
the foundation of our governmental and 'Social system, and
who in future fights in the forum look forward to new fields
of triumph and renown in the sharp encounters of wit,
learning, reasoning, eloqueuce, and persuasion. '

" 'Ve will revive those old times, and in our memories
preserve .and still keep fresh, like flowers in water, those
happier days."

In the doings of our old courts, and things connected
therewith, Illany noted and remarkable occurrences took
place (see the chapters on the judiciary and jails), which
it would be absolutely impossible to happen nowadays.
In the old days things were done with more-much more­
time to do them in, and judges and lawyers could afiord to
cultivate other sides of character -than that of the mere

business lawyer, and they did so. And thus, in the olden
times of the old log, and then stone, court-house at. \Vil­
liamsburgh, and in the first twenty years of the preRent one
in Batavia, the bar abounds in reminiscences and anecdot.es.
In the more dry and sharp business transactions which oc­
cur at the present time in our courts there is no room for
wit, sentiment, or anecdote, bu~ the time was when it was
not so. Then lawyers were not mere lawyers; they were
many-sided characters, eloquent, humorous, and witt.y, and
wise for men in their day in matters pertaining to things
out of their offices as well as having a knowledge of their
routine work. They used to cultivate the heart as well as
the mind, were men of feeling as well as of brain, and high­
toned honor prevailed for the most part among them.
Hence, they stood among their fellows as distinguished
men; and they maintained the character and dignity of
theil' profession as the most exalted in which a human being
'could engage, and did not use their knowledge to pander to
vice nor retail it to offenders of the statutes of the land.
'Vith the exception of about a dozen of our old attorneys
who rank among the best in the State, but little attention
is now paid to forensic eloquence by the lawyers, and in
Clermont the oratory of the forum is almost a thing of the
past. The members of the bar show no disposition to listen
to eloquent appeals to the jury, much less to take time to
cultivate oratory; and a flight of eloquence at the bar would
be regarded as a flight of a fugitive from the limits of pro­
priety,-the fetters of the lJUsilless of the law. But the
days were when the court-room was the place where oratory
held sway. It was when a Burnet, a McLean, a Marshal,
a Hamer, a Morris, a Corw·in, a Fishback, a Pugh, and men
of their stamp spoke.

TIlE MEDICAL PROl!'ESSION.

The true physician is not only ever ready to obey the
calls of t.he sick, but his mind is thoroughly imbued with
the greatness of his mission and the deep responsibility he
habiLUally incurs in its discharge. 1'hese obligations are
greater and more enduring because there is no tribunal
other than his own conscience to adjudge penalties for care­
lessness 01' neglect. The good physician therefore ministers
to the sick with due impressions of the importance of his'
office, reflecting that the ease, the health, and the lives of
those committed to his charge depend upon his skill, atten­
tion, and fidelity; and he also adapts his deportment so as to
unite tenderness with firmness, and condescension with au­
thorit.y, in order to inspire the minds of his patients with
gratitude, respect, and confidence. I~\'ery case confided to
the charge of a physician should be treated with attention,
steadiness, and humanity, and reasonable indulgence should
be granted to the mental ailments and caprices of the sick.
Secrecy and delicacy, ,vllen required by peculiar circum­
stances, should be strictly observed, and confidential inter-

.course, to which doctors are admitted in their profes:;ional
visits, should be used with discretion, and with the most
scrupulous regard to fidelity and honor. The obligation of
secrecy extends beyond the period of professional services,
and nonc of the privucies of personal and domestic life,
no infirmity of disposition or fluw of character, observed
during professional visits and at.tendance, should ever be
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divulged by him except when he is imperatively required to
do so. The force and necessity of this obligation are indeed
so great tl1Ut doctors have, under certain circumstances, been
protected in their observance of secrecy by courts of justice.
The members of the medical profession, upon whom are
enjoined the performance of so many important and ardu­
o'us duties towards the community, and who arc required to
make so many sacrifices of comfort, ease, and health for the
welfare of those who avail themselves of their services, cer­
tainly have a right to expect and require that their patients
should entertain a just sense of the duties which they owe
to their medical attendants. These are some of the most
important tenets of the code of ethics that govern and have
ever guided the regular physicians of Clermont, men of a
noble calling; a sacred profession; and to this profession,
from the organization of Clermont to the present day, the
good people of the county owe a great debt of gratitude
foro their zeal, ability, and characters, as di"played in their
calling, not surpassed and hardly equalled by any other
county in the State.

The first law passed regulating tIle practice of physic
and surgery in Ohio, was the act of Jan. 14, 1811, by
the Ninth General Assembly, convened at Zanesville. In
this law the Legil:lature, recognizing the practice of physic
and surgery as a science so immediately connected with the
public benefit and so interesting to society that every en­
couragement for its promotion should be given, and every
abuse of it, so far as possible, suppressed, proceeded to its
regulation. The State was divided into five medical dis­
tricts, each to contain three medical censors or examiners,
to be appointed by the Legislature, who should hold their
appointments during good behavior, or until such time as a
medical osociety should be incorporated in Ohio. Any
persoI? desirous of exercising the profession of a physician
or surgeon, as a means of obtaining a livelihood, h'ld to ob­
tain a license for that purpose from some of the above
medical boards. To procure said license the applicant had
to produce a certificate of good moral character, that he
had attended three full sears to the theory and practice of
medicine under the guidance of some able physician or
surgeon, or a license from some medical society showing
his having been admitted as a practitioner, and to give sat­
isfactory answers to such questions as might be put to him
by the censors or examiners in anatomy, surgery, mate1'1'a

medica, chemistry, Hnd the theory and practice of physic.
It was provided in this act that if any person who should not
be, at the time·of its taking effect, a resident of the State,
and a regular pl'<lctitioner of physic or surgery, should pre­
sume to act in the capacity of' a physician or surgeon with­
out the required license, except in cases of urgent necessity
and where no regular physician could be obtained, the per­
SOIl so offending should be deprived of the assistance of the
laws of the State in the collection of any debts or fees
which might arise in such practice. The license was a
brief document, either printed on smooth, handsome paper,
or written on parchment in a fair, round hand, in words
and form as followeth;

"Stt/te (!( Oltio, llledical '])istrlct .No. .-Know nil men by these
pre8ents, that we, --, medicnl censors for district No. ,hnvc ex­
lImined, agl'el'ltbly to law, --, of -, in the county of --, and

State of Ohio, nnd do find him duly qualified for the practice of medi.
cine. We thercfore, by thc authority in us vested, do license him to
practice physic and surgery within the bounds of this State. In
tcstimony whercot" we have subscribed our names and uffixcd the seul
of office. Done at -, this - duy of --, in' the Jeur of our Lord
one thou8aml eight hundred, etc.

"---, Oellsors."

The boards met in June and November, on the first
l\fon~HYs, to grant licenses, for which they received five
dollars for each license so issued for the purpose of defray­
ing expenses of their office; and immediately after each
meeting the name or"every person so licensed was published
in some public paper of the State. Each board kept a seal,
appointed its secretary, and any copy of a license it issued
was received in any court in Ohio as evidence. The first
of the five medical districts consisted of Hamilton, Cler­
mont, W·arren, Greene, Butler, Montgomery, Preble, Mi­
ami, Darke, and Clinton Counties, and its three censors
were Daniel Drake, of Hamilton j Joseph Canby, of War­
ren j and Richard Allison, the latter of Clermont County.
These were the three most eminent physicians in Ohio,
and Dr. Drake had a reputation co-extensive with the
Union, and which extended to Europe. Dr. Allison was
the most distinguished surgeon in the West, and ranked
high in the practice of physic, being a member of many
societies in the Eastern cities, where, among scientific, med­
ical, and literary men, he was a general favorite. He mar­
ried Hebecca Strong, a daughter of Maj.-Gen. David Strong,
of New Jersey, a gallant officer in the Revolutionary war,
and his wife was a woman of remarkable beauty and accom­
plishments, and many years his junior in years. Sur­
viving him, she married, some two years after his decea&e,
the Rev. Samuel 'Vest. Dr. Allison bought large tracts of
land in Clermont, and at the confluence of Stonelick with
the east fork of the I..ittle Miami laidotit and established,
May 15, 1815, the town of Allisonia. He was a singular
man to leave his Eastern home of luxury and ease for the
wilds of the West; but being a lover of beautiful scenery, alld
with faith in the grand future of Ohio, he carne and prac­
ticed for many )'ears in Clermont and Cincinnati, and died
about 1816, leaving his wife, before mentioned, but no chil­
dren. The doctor dying a few months after laying out his
town, it never was built up, although he had sold many lots
in it, and it had one of. the best mills in the county, and
this town soon went to decay. Dr. Allison carne to Ham­
ilton County at a very early date, and on Dec. 31,1787, he
had his survey of four huudl;ed and forty-one acres, No.
i771, located in Stonelick, and on May 19, 1788, that of
survey No. 1730, of four hundred and thirty-four acres, in
Franklin township. He resided at the mouth of' Stonelick,
in a splendid residence, most of the tillle from 1801 to his
death, and rode the area of tel'l'itory extending fro~ll Love­
land to Williamsburgh, Bethel, and neurly to New Hich­
mond.

On Jan. 14: 1813, a new law was passed repealing the
act of Feb. 8, 1812, ~n which it was provided that any per­
son practicing medicine without first having obtuined no
license or a diploma from a medical society in the United
States, should, for so offending, forfeit and pay a sum of not
more than seventy nor less than five dollars for every such
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offense, one-half to the person who should sue for the same
and the other half for the usc of the medical board of that
district. in which the offense was cOlllmitted. 'I'hi:-; new act
also divided the State into seven mcdical di,;tricts, and
seven medical censors were appointed in eaeh. The first
district was composed of Hamilton, Clermont, Warren,
Butler~ and Clillton COUll ties, and the censors were Daniel
Dmke and John Sellman, of Hamilton; Dalliel Millikan
and Charles Este, of Butler ; Joseph Canby and J eptha F.
Moore, of 1Varren; and IJevi Hogers, of Clermont; to
meet on the first Mondays of April and November. Dr.
Hogers, besides being a noted physieian of skill, cultUl"e,
and extensive practice, was a IlJan of varied aceomplish­
ments and wonderful good COlllmOIl sense.

He was admitted to t.he bar and practiced law, and acted
for several terms of court as prosecuting attorney under its
appointment. He was a preacher of the gospel, expounded
the word of the Lord with rare eloquence, and solemnized
the marriages of hundreds of couples. He was elected
sheriff of the county in 1805, re-elected in 1807, and re­
signed a few months before his second term expired. In
1811 he was elected State senator, and was the author of
the two laws we have given for the regulation of the prac­
tice of medicine. No man ever li\·ed in Clermont of such
versatile genius, and the acts of 1812 and 1813, introduced
and passed by him, of themselves would be permanent
monuments to his ability and zeal as a physician. Hardly
a household existed in the county where Levi Hogers was
not known, and that, too, in terms of kind affection and
loving memory. At the expimtion of his senatorial term
he was appointed surgeon in the army, in the war of 1812,
then in progress, and served with distinction. He was
born in Philadelphia, where, at its oldest medical university
(Jefferson),-the best in America and equal to any in Eu­
rope in thoroughness and rank,-he graduated with high
honors. He came to Clermont County in 1804, and set­
tled at Williamsburg-h, but after a while rcmoved to Bethel.
He died in the ycar 1814, in the prime of life, and in his
death the spark of life departed from one of the brightest
of the medical profession that ever lived in Ohio. He left
two sons-Dl" John G. Rogers and Leyi Rogers-and five
daughters. Of the latter, Ann died 'young and unmarried;
Clara married John White (both now living in Batavia) ;
1\1ary married Firman White; Cynthia married 'Villiam
Donham; and Mrs. Wiiliam Page, who with her husband
went to the West at an early day. The memory of this
bright intellect in medicine and belles-lettres will ever be
c1lCrished by the people in this the county of his adoption,
where he won his honors and lef't an honored name.

Between the two laws before mentioned and the one of
Feb. 8, 1812, the Legislature, believing that well-regulated
medical ass!Jciations had been found useful in promoting the
health and happiness of society by more generally diffusing
the knowledge ot' the healing art., and thereby alleviating
the distress of mankind, organized a medical society for the'
whole State, consisting of a large number of physicians
whose names are there recited, representing every county
in Ohio, and of any other physician or surgeon who
should produce his diploma and ask admission or be there­
after admitted as provided in its provisions. This society

was called" The President and Fellows of the Medical So­
ciety of the State of Ohio." This law repealed the first
act hercinbeforc naITated, provided for se\'cn medical dis­
tricts, and put the fine for practieing without a license or
diploma at not less than five or morc than one hundred dol­
lars, but. had this proviso: "that nothing should be so con­
strued as to affect any physician then in regular practice or
al/.lJ person called on to a./lord n!iPf to tlte sic7..~ or distrl'ssed
,in any sudden emergenc!J." This act was repealed in toto

by the law of next year (heretofore given, of date of Jan.
]4, 1813), which had had 1/0 exemption for anybody prac­
ticing for a livelihood without a license or diploma.

The members of this society designated fc)r Clermont
were H.iehard Allison, Levi Hogers, Alexander Campb'311,
and Robert. H. Smith. Dr. Campbell was a member of' the
Ei~htcellth General Assembly, elected in 1819, where he
had for his colleague David Morris. Dr. Robert H. Smith
died the same year of the creation of this society, at Milford,
where he had built up an extensive practice and had re­
sided for several years, riding a great distance up and down
on each side of the Little Miami River. This society,
through its district meetings, granted licenses, but having
too much circumlocution in its pro\'isions, it had to gi\'e
way to the act of 181:-3, and to thc regular censors to issue
licenses. The sixth section was, however, a good one, aR it
provided for the sevcral members of the society, according
to their abilities, to cOlllllJunicate useful information to each
other in their district meetings, and said meetings should,
from time to time, transmit to the annual convention of the
society such curious cases and observations as might come
to their knowledge, which the said convention should cause
to be published, together with such observations on the
state of the air and on epidemical and other disurders ~IS

it might think proper, for the benefit of the profession and
people in general. .

The fourth law passed in Ohio affecting physicians waS
the act of Jan. 28, 1817, and which divided the State into
eight medical distriets,-the first comprising the counties of
Hamilton, Clermont, Clinton, 'Van'en, and Butler. Dr.
Alexander Campbell, of Pleasant township (now George­
town), a noted old-time practitioner, waS the censor for
Clermont. Before an applicant could get his license from'
the district censors, in addition to the questions asked as
provided by the three previous laws, he now had to deliver
a thesis on some medical subject. The fine for anyone
(heretofore it had been any male person) .practicing medi­
cine without having obtained a license as stipulated in its
rigorous requirements was put at any sum not exceeding
two hundred dollars, and to be paid, when collected, into the
county treasury (heretofore the fines went part to the medi­
cal boards and part to the party informing or suing), the
same as fines colleetzd for other offenses. This act was
slightly amended by the law of Jan. 30,1818, by attaching
Huron and Medina Counties to the eighth district, and that
persons having received the degree of Doctor of Medicine
in any regular college or university of another State could
practice in Ohio on application, etc.

The sixth law (passed Feb. 22, 1820) regulating the prac­
tice in Ohio 1'epellled the section (9) of the statute of Jan.
28, 1817, imposing a fine for any practicing without a
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license, thus throwing the profession open to the world, and
further amended that act by pcrmitting any ten members
of any mcdical society" to be made a spccial medical dis­
trict.

The sevcnth statute concerning the practice (\f physic
and surgery was on Jan. 15, ]821, dividing the State into
t11e I'ame numbcr of mcdical di~tricts as there were circuits
of COIllmon Pleas Courts,-to wit, nine. Clermont and
Hamilton Counties made thc ninth district, and for Cler­
mont the ccnsor or examincr was Dr. -William Williams, of'
Milford, for llIany years the partner of Dr. Lconard A. Hen­
drick. Dr. 'Villiams practiced about fifty Jears in the north
of the county, was known to nearly eyery family, and his
practice extended up to Batavia and Withamsville. He
was a member of the Twenty-second General Assembly,
having been elected representative in 1823, and with
Judge O. T. Fishback, then senator, were the main instru­
ments in securing the law that removed in the following
year the county-seat from New Richmond to Batavia, and
permanently fixing it there. The following advertisement
appeared in TILe Westem Pat1'iot, published in Batavia,
fifty-six years ago:

"TAKE NOTICE.

"All persons indebted to William Williams and Leonard A. Hen­
drie!., either by note or book account, are requested to make imme­
(liate payment. Prodllce will be taken at CU81t prices till the middle
of November next; after that time CUI/It will be required. Those who
do not comply with the above request may expect their accounts to be
scttled as the law directs.

"Oct. 9, 182.1,. 'VILLLUIS & HE:S-DRICK."

Dr. Hendrick, for oyer llalf a century in active practice,
-a charter IIIembcr of the Milford Lodge, F. and A. 1'1., No.
35, and a social and gcnial gentleman, and, like his part­
ner, a splendid doctor,-died but a few years ago, as did
also the esteemed Williams, both universally bcloved in the
profession to which thcy' were ornaments.

Dr. L. A. Hendrick was the second president of the
county medical socicty, in 1854, and Dr. Williams third,
in 1855.

The eighth law on physicians was that of Jan. 28, 1825,
and merely changed some of the districts by transfers of
counties.

'fhe ninth statute affecting medicine and the practice of
it provided for taxing doctors, who, up to this act, had
escaped taxation for thcil' profcssion per se. It provided
that the Court of Commoll Pleas in every county, at the
term preceding the first day of July, annually, should
make duplicate lists of all physicians and surgeons prac­
ticing their profession within such county and resident
therein, and affix to each such sum as should appear to
them rcasonable and just, not less than five nor more than
fif'ty dollars, one of which said lists should be deposited
with the county clerk and the other with the treasurer, to
whom the physician so assessed had to pay the amount
thereof, along with his other taxes j and it was made the
duty of the prosecuting attorney of the county, on the first
day of December, annually, to institute suits against all
doctors entered upon said lists who had fililed to deposit
their receipts for payment of thc samc with the clerk of'
the_court.

The tenth act, of Feb. 8, 1826, referred only to the
medical societies of Trumbull, Portage, and Green Counties,
making the first two districts by themselves j and the
eleventh statute (Jan. 16, 1827) to the counties of Bel­
mont and Monroe.

The twelfth law on plJysicians continued the tax on them
(pussed Feb. 22, 1830), but mude it the duty of the asses­
sors, in their annual returns, to make lists of all the doc­
tors, and return them to the county auditor, who, with
the county commissioners, at their annual meeting in June,
examined said lists so returned, and, if necessary, added to
or corrected the same, and estimated the annual income of
each of said practicing physicians, and charged a tax upon
each according to the amount of his income, not exceeding
:fivc dollars. This enactment continued in force until the
adoption of the ncw constitution in 1851, which prohibited
such taxes on phJsicians and attorneys, and since then
none have been levied, save by the general government,
under the internal revenue act, during and after the great
Rebellion for a brief period.

The thirteenth law on the- profession in Ohio was passed
Feb. 26, 18~-!, by t,he Legislature, which believed that
well-regulated medical societies had been found to contribute
to the diffusion of true medical science, and a correct knowl­
edge of the healing art, and this statute was the last general
act regulating the profession in its pra~tice of physic and
surgel'y (save a small amendment in 1831) passed under
the old constitution, and bl'ings the time. down to the
physicians now in active practice. It divided the State
into twenty medical districts, of which Hamilton and Cler­
mont constituted the first mcdical society, the law organiz~

ing and establishing such a society in each district. The
district medical societies organized uuder this law selected
not less than three or more than five censors, who had the
char~e of examining all applicants for liccnses, and any per­
son presuming to practice without having first procured a

liccnse could not collect any debt arising from his practice,
and -moreover was liable to a" fine of ten dollars, to be re­
covered in any action brought by thc overseers of the poor,
and salUe when recovered into the poor fund. Provision
was likewise made for a State medical society, composed of
delegates of the district societies, and to convene annually
in December at the capital. On Feb. 24, 1831, the fore­
going act was amended by striking out the ten°·dollar fine
for practicing without. license, but the part prohibiting any
doctor without a license from the collection of debts for his
services was left in full force.

Composing the society in 'the first district were five
physicians from Ham.lton, and Josiah Lyman, L. A. Hen­
drick, John G. Rogers, and William 'Vayland, of Cler­
mont, four bright stars in the medical finuament of the
county never excelled as a body in the length and ability
of their services.

Dr. Lyman was born in the State of Vermont, wherc he
recGived the following diploma:

"STATE OF VEn)IO:>T.

" The :Medical Society as by Jaw established. The Censors hadng
examined nntl approved Josiah Lyman, rclath'e to his knowledge of
the healing art, he is adlllittcliit mcmbcl' or this Socicty, IIntl. is cnti­
tIetl to its privileges, honorf', lind immunities, and wc hereby recoUl-
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menl) him tu the public liS II. person well qualified for the practice of
Jlhy~ic lind surgery.

" Witness our President and the seal of the Society, affixed this
l5th llay of' December, A.n. 1813.

"B, lIHXTlSGTOX, P,'cHidell!.

"LUTIIElt B. HALL, Secretllry."

A few years afterwards DI·. Lj'llJan eame West, and
located in Batavia about 1821 and practiced extensively
till his death. He was the father of Dr. D. S. Lj'man,
presidcnt of the Clermont l\lcdic:d Society in 1858, and
who, like his father, is cminent in his profession, and, like
him, well rcad and of' reputation thoroughly establishcd for
skill and learning.

Dr. William Wayland, SI·., WaS born in Madison Co.,
Va., June 20, 1783, and first came to Chillieothe, Ohio, in
] 806, whcre he remained for some time, when he returned to
Virginia. On Oct. 12, 1812, he again came to Chillicothe,
then. the capital of Ohio, and the principal seat of' wealth,
culture, and business. In ]81-1: hc commcnced the practice
of his profession at Circleville, the shirctown of Pickaway
County, and dming that ycar sen'ed a short term as sur­
geon in the United States army in the war with Great
BI·itain. In 1815, after the death of' the learned and
lamented Dr. Levi Rogers, at the solicitation of thc Rev.
George C. Light, Dr. Wayland located at Bcthel, in Cler­
mont County, where he soon acquired the coufidence of the
community and obtained a large practice in his profcssion,
which he continued to enjoy until ]826, when he removed
to Batavia, where he continued his practice for some twenty
years. In 182H he was elected State senator, and for two
years filled that position to the gt>neral satisfaction of his
constituents, and in 18-1:2 he united with the Batavia l\Ieth­
odist Episcopal Church, of which he remained a member
till his death, on Oct. 6, 1858. He was a fine type of' the
old-school gentleman, and of extmordinary mind and energy,
and left a decided impress for good on the society of the
countY1 in which he lived for forty-fi\'c years. For over
half a century he was a pl'Olllinent member of the Masonic
order, and in his younger days was very active in its work.
}>ossessed of marked characteristics, he earried into his
loved profession nearly all the attributes necessary to the
true physician, and died leaving the heritage of a successful
life.

Dr. John G. Rogers was born a physician of the first
class, inheriting from his distinguished father, Dr. J.Jevi
nogers, u. bright intellect and common sense hardly equaled
in the State, and by severe study and a practice of nearly
threescore years, he has achieved a proud name in the
profession. In 1822 he was settled in New Richmond, and
from that day to this time his mind and body have been
daily given to the lIoble calling which he has, by an event­
ful life, honored and elevated. Under llis medical attend­
ance, in th~ little village of Point Pleasant, quietly nestling
on the beautiful Ohio, the great" Soldier of the Age"-the
conqueror of a rebellion, and the twice President of the
United States-was born, Ulysses Simpson Grant. Dr.
Hogers has been twice married,-his first wife being Julia,
daughter of Hon. Thomas Morris, who died in 1828.

Dr. Rogcrs wus the first president of the county medical
society, organized in 1853, and again its president in 1859
and 1867. In his prime of life a- man of commanding

physif{ue, fine address, and warm social and conversational
powers, he could visit the sick in t.he h.ut or palace, be his
patients black or white, with tl'UelOdignity to himself and
pl'Ofcssion and satisfaction to those needing his valuable
services. At this wdting, he lives in feeble health, but, as
the father of medicine in the county, being the chief patd­
arch among the many venemble ones of the prllfl!ssio 11, he
is held in deep love and respect by the physicians of the
county, who know his gl"eat worth, as well as by the thou­
sands of others who have been recipients of his services
and his many acts of kindness and favor.

Dr. Levi Ho~ers was the fh'st physician in Williamsburgh ,
and he lived on lot No. 40, where the" Masonie Hall" now
stands. His house was made of rand-poles, with door so
low that one must stoop in passing thl'ough, and was covered
by clapboards held in place by more poles. Fiool' it had none
but mother-carth, and light. W..l.S obtained tlnough greased
paper stretched across the vacant "chinks," and heat was
secured and cooking performed in a fil'cplace of sticks and
clay. Such, fOI' a time, was the abode of that gentleman
and scholar, the father of the venerable Dr. John G. H.ogers.
Afterwards Dr. Dunleavy prncticed at Williamsburgh, and
was there succeeded by Dr. Ralph Sharp, in the year 1815.
This eminent practitioner was licensed at Batavia, N. Y.,
in 1812, was assistant surgeon in the war that broke out
that year, and served under Brady. In 1815 he married
Nancy Whippy, and settled at \Villiamsburgh. In 1819 he
removed to Milford, but in 1821 he returned to the former
town, where he died in 1830, univcrsally beloved for his
kind, lovable traits of character, his great learning, and
his ardent patriotism, which showed itself in the battles of
"Lundy's Lane" and "Chippewa," where his gallantry
under fire in care of the wounded and dying was the cause
of his special mention by the commander-in-chief in his re­
port to Congress. He was a pioneer in its noblest sense,
and no man in Clermont left bette;' and truer friends than
this able and skillful physician.

After Dr. lhlph Shurp's advent in Williamsburgh, came
Dr. Andl'ew F. McCall, who practiced there some, but was
the first physician in Batavia after it was laid out, and then
practiced at last at Bethel, where .he died after following his
medical duties over a third of a century, with honor to·
himself and credit to the high profession which his zeal,
skill, and virtues enlarged and magnified.

Dr. J~l'Ustus C. Sharp died in 1867, after working zeal­
ously nearly half a century as a doctor who had great suc­
cess, and for a circuit an area em bracing for a while parts
of Clermont, Brown, Adams, and Highland Counties, and
his name is still held in great veneration by the many people
who remembcr his pleasant ministrations. He was presi­
dent, in 1864, of the county medical association, and three
years later, on his death, it passed eulogistic I'esolutions on
his life and labors.
. Dr. Leavitt Thaxter Pease was born at Martha's Vine­

yard, Mass., April 20, 1809, and moved in 1818 to Amelia
with his father, Martin, an old sea-captain. He learned the
saddler's trade at Bethel, but being of a too weak constitu­
tion to follow it, studied medicine with Dr. William Thomp­
son in that town, and began the practice in 1831 j was mar­
ried in 1834 to Nancy A. ]fce, and in 1835 settled at
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\Yilliamsburgh, where he resided till his death, May 24,
1874. He aimed to be very thorough, and took another
course at' lectures after he had been in practice several
years, and graduated in 1841 from Ohio Medical College.
Skillful as a general practitioner and as a sU\:geon, he arose
to a most lucrative practice and amassed a niee fortune.
He was president of the Clermont Medical Association in
18()O, and was constantly being called into consultation by
the. neighboring physicians, who all recognized his skill and
cool discernment in aggravated cases of illness.

Dr. Delos C. Sharp, son of Dr. Ralph, began practicing
in 1843, and still continues at '\Yilliamsburgh, as does also
Dr. I~l'Ustus 0. Sharp, sou of Dr. E. C. Sharp, Sr. j and over
half a century a Dr. Clark practiced there,-a man of con­
siderable skill and wit.

Dr. William Thompson was born near Danville, Ky.,
June 19, li96, and was a son of' Rev. \Villiam J. and
Lucretia Thompson (whose maiden name was Lucretia
,\Yebster). In the early part of the century he removed
to Clermont, where he lived till his death, May 9, 1840.
He obtained his education by the fireside of his" fathCl"s
house as his best advantages, and qualified himself for
teaching school, which he followed until he began the
study of medicine. January 1, 18~0, he married Sarah,
daughter of John and Elizabeth Hill, and in April of that
year began his st~dies under Dr. Higgins (a noted prac­
titioner who had studied under the celebrated Dr. Drake,
and who had many good students), at Neville, where he
remained till 1823, when he commenced the practice at
Bethel. Three years later he took a course of lectures in
the Ohio Medical College, and then continued for twenty

. years, uninterruptedly; a large practice. He was a well­
informed physician, a gentleman, and an incessant worker
in the profession, and his special success in midwifery gave
him great popularity. He was a consistent member of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, and in personal appearance
six feet high, erect and slender in form, fair complexion,
black hail', blue eyes, and aquiline nose. Of his children,
Meramis, L. O. M., Aurelius P., and Mildred. H. died
young j but the following are Etill living: Sarah R., Ber­
zelius, D. ·W., and Dl·. 'Villiam Eberle Tholllpson,-th~

latter in active practice at Bethel as his honored father's
successor after a score of years, and who read medicine
with Dr. S. L. Scoville, and graduated at Cincinnati College
of Medicine and Surgery, opening out in practice in 1860.
In the old Bethel graveyard the grave of the Christian
physician of noble skill, who had read the science at the
feet of the learned Dr. Higgins, is marked by a marble
slab bearing the following inscription:

" Erected to the memory of Dr. William Thompson, who died May
9th, 1840, in the 44th year of his age.

". Go, stranger, asl. the sick and poor,
Wlto always promptly found their door

When the King of Terror's pallid bands
Stalked ghastly o'er these Western lands?
1'hey'll tell you, with a gently-trembling tear,
llis dust lies here.'''

From 1800 to 1805, Dr. David Lufburro\V held forth
at,Bethel. He was an old-school doctor of sulemn rigor,
and a disciple of Esculapius equal to the emergencies of
front.ier lifc.

HI

" Old Dl·. Albert Dart" practiced all over the county,
and resided at various places. He had great experience,
and could be relied on in severe cases of any disease.

From 1815 to 18Z0, Dr. R. 'V. Hale 'was the physician
at Chilo, and ~as the first to engage in practice there.

Dr. Hiram Cox (father of Judge Joseph Cox, of Cin­
cinnati) practiced several years in Batavia between 1830
and 1836.

Dr.. Allen Woods was born in Cynthiana, Ky., Oct. 4,
1805, and was the son of Allen \Voods, who removed from
Kentucky to Pleasant township (then in Clermont) in 1806,
and laid out the town· of Georgetown. The doctor's father
was elected coroner of Clermont in 1808, and in-1809, on
the resignation of Sheriff Levi Rogers, was sheriff to fill
the unexpired term of Rogers. When· the doctor was a boy
the county of Brown was created out of Adams and Cler­
mont, and was attended with great excitement and led to
violent animosities in the press and many street fights.
Dr. Woods "read medicine with that brilliant medIcal light,
Dr. Philip J. Buckuer, and attended the lectures of the
Ohio Medical College. He practiced medicine one year
with Dr. Buckner as partner at Georgetown, and in 1832
~lOved to Felicity, where he acquired a very large and
lucrative practice til11851, when he settled on his elegant
farm just back of Chilo. He was married for the first time.
on Nov. 16,1837, to Miss Cornelia Jane Whipple, a native
of Windsor Co., Vt.,-a woman of rare culture and most
amiable disJ:osition, by whom he h~d one son, Lieut.
Frank H. Woods, killed at Chickamauga; and his second
marriage was on 1\1arch 18, 1847, to Miss Eliza Porter, of
Brown County,-a noble woman of unsurpassed domestic
virtues and Christian graces, by whom he had a large family'
of sons and daughters, among whom is Professor Austin
\Voods, superintendent of the Batavia High School in the
years 1873, '74, and '75. The county" has hardly had
a better practical physician or more skillful surgeon than
Dr. 'Yoods. Deeply read in Englil:!h literature and the
pest Shakspearean scholar in the county, he is a poet him­
self, although his modesty has prevented his giving his
sweet and .cultured effusions to the public. He is now
mostly retired from active practice, save in a few old fami­
lies who insist on retaining his services, and lives in ease
and comfort, surrounded by a happy family, in a pleasant
home overlooking the grand Ohio.

For many years Dr. Job 'Dart was a con temporary of Dr.
'Voods, and was much esteemed as a practitioner.

Dl·. A. V. Hopkins was born jn Kentucky, on June 12,
1791, and died in Amelia, on April 9, 1871, having lived
fourscore years, two-thirds of which was spent in active
battle for the alleviation of distresses of mankind. He
came when young to Clermont County, and on Dec. 3,
1818, married Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Fee, one of
the pioneers of the county, and was a brother-in-law of Dr.
J.J. T. Pease, of Williamsburgh. Dr. Hopkins received a
good medical education, and read medicine under the best
practitioners of his day, and having settled in Bethel, at
once grew into a large practice. In 1821 he purchased
two lots in that town of Kelly BUl·ke, and there resided
till his removal to Batavia, about 1834, and here he prac­
ticed Eeveral Jears. His last place of residence (having at
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an early day been at Williamsburgh) was Amelia, and for
a large area of territory, extending in every direction, he
rode at the calls of the suffering and sick. Well read in
physic, quick and skillful as a surgeon, of a vast fund of
geneml information derived from hard study and daily ob­
servation, he was' a doctor popular with the people and
estecmed by the profession for his leal'lling and many social
qualities. He was a representative in the 'l'wenty-third
General A~sembly, elected in 18~4·, and had G(~n. Thomas
Gatch for his colleague, and was greatly instrumental in
securing the passage of' the first general school law in Ohio
(the famous act of' 1825), and for which labors, to him,
Gen. Gatch, and State Senator Thomas Morris this county
owes a debt of great gmtitude. lIe was elected county in­
finl1ary director in 1855, and re-elcctcd in 1858, and served
six years. A distinguished physician, a very prominent
Mason (which· order turned out to his funeral in large
numbers and with its grand honors), a devoted fhther and
kind neighbor, he made a great mark in the threescore
years of his life in the county of his adoption.

Dr. Jarues Charles Kennedy, of Batavia, whose sulid
reputation as a physician is not confined to Cler'mont
County or Ohio, but extends to distant States, was born in
Butler Co., Pa., on Feb. 11, 1809. In 1813 his parents
}'emoved to Clermont County and settled in what is now a
part of Brown. He rcceived a good common-school edu­
cation, and in 1829 began the study of medicine under
Dr, Edward Newton, at Felicity (where Dr. Newton prac­
ticed from about 1828 to 18-10), and had for his fellow­
pupil L. 1\1. Lawson, who practiced a short time at Felic­
ity and afterwards 1Il0ved to Cincinnati, and became one
ot' the most distinguished of the profession in the lana as
a practitioner, professor in college, and editor of medical
journals. Dr. Kennedy finished his elementary studies
with Dr. George B. Bailey, at Georgetown, and in 1831
began the practice of medicine at Felicity j and in 1839,
having taken the requisite cuurses of lectures, graduated
with high honors at the Medical College of' Ohio. In con-.
nection with Judge James H. 'l'hompson, of Hillsboro',
and Col. John Allen, of Georgetown, he was appointed by
the Forty-sixth General Assembly as a commission to pro­
ceed to Mexico and accompany back to Ohio the .remains
of Gen. Thomas L. Hamer, who had died in defense of
his country.

In 1847, Dr. Kennedy WaS elected a representative to
the Legislature from the joint district of Clermont and
Brown, and had as his colleague the late Judge Shepard F.
Norris. In 1854 he removed to Batavia, where he has
since resided in the house bought of the late HOt!. J ona­
than D. Morris, and built by ex-United States senator
Thomas Morris. 1'he doctor was one ot' the founders of
the county medical society in 1853, was its president in
1873, and has been ito corresponding secretary from its
organization. In 1877 he was first vice-president of the
State medical society, and is a member of the United
States Medical Society. He }'emains in most active prac­
tice at this writing, and is often called at great distances
for consultation in critical cases. His contributions to the
medical press on various topics, scientific and medical, have
made him known throughout the State j but his investiga-

tions and writings on the subject of insanity have at­
tracted the attention of the leul'IIcd and scientific all over
the land. H is paper on " Mental Action, Normal and Ab­
normal," reported from the procecdings of the Ohio State
Medical Society for May, 1878, caused a sensation in the
profession, and led to his being subpoonaed by Judge Curtis,
of New York City, to attend, as a witness for the defendant,
the trial of Tom Buford, in 1879, in Kentucky, for killing
Judge Elliot, of the Court of Appeals, wherein the defense
of insanity was made. The doctor attended the trial, and,
notwithstanding the attcmpted browbeating of lawycrs,
gave in evidence and elucidated his theories with ability
and honor and acquitted himself' with credit, and gained
new laurels in addition to those already before won by
his brains and decisive charncter. Dr. Kennedy is one of
the few physicians who read and study constantly. Keeps

_posted in currcnt medical literature, which, with a native
mind of unusual brilliancy and vigor and a constant prac­
tice, makes him a physician equal to the emergencies of the
age with all its progress and culture. The State medical
society, at its session in 1879, requested him by resolution
to deliver at its meeting of 1880 an address on "Insanity."

Dr. Thomas Boude came from Augusta, Ky., to Felicity
at an early day, and practiced till about 1840, and after
him was the lamented Dr. 'Vashington B. Ut,ter, a bright
light in the profession, who died young,· ere his great abili­
ties WCl'e fully ripened.

Dr. John W. Kennedy, a brother of Dr. J. C., born
near Uipley, Ohio, began the study of medicine in 1841,
moved to Felicity in 1842, and cummenced reading with
his brother. He attended the Ohio Medical College in the
winler of 1842 and '43, and finishEd his studies in read­
ing in 184-1, when he went into partnership with his brother,
and which continued for ten years till his brother's removal
to Batavia. He then practiced alone until 1864, when his
declining health forced him to retire, and he then went into
the drug business, in which, with his son Frank, he still
remains. He WaS a good practitioner and highly esteemed
by his many patients.

Dr. John ].Jocke Kennedy, son of Dr. J. C., was one of'
rhe most brilliant minds ever born in Clermont; was assist­
ant surgeon in the Union army, served under the brave
cavalry general Cust€r, and was all through the" Price
naid," in Missouri. He married a daughter of Dr. 'Wil­
liam Wayland, Jr., and died about 1866, leaving his wife
and two sons to mourn the loss of a kind father and most
devoted husband.

. In 1834 Lhe following physicians in Clermont were on
the tax lists to pay medical licenses " to practice physic and
surgery:" J. P. Arbuckle, Elisha Bennett, of Withams­
ville j Thomas ·W. Brown, of Mulberry jThomas Boude,
of Felicity j Hiram Cox, of Batavia j William B. Chipley,
of Bethel j 'Villiam Doane, of Withams\'ille j L. A. Hen­
drick, of Milford j 'Villiam Herbert, A. V. Hopkini'l, of
Bcthcl'j J. T. Johnson, of New Richmond; J. C. Ken­
nedy, L. M. Lawson, of Felicity; ~~dward McNeal, S. G.
Meek, of Goshen; A. F. .McCall, of Bethel j Edward
Newton, of Felicity j George Philips, Thomas M. Pink­
ham, of Bantam j Leavitt T. Pease, of Williamsburgh j
I::;aac and John Thacker, of Goshen; William Thowp:sun,
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of Bethel j S. G. Thornton, of Batavia j William B.
Thompson, Wheaton Thomas, John G. H.ogers, of New
Richmond j Nathan Shephard, Erastus C. Sharp, of Wil­
liamsburgh j William 'Wayland, William .·Wayland, Jr., of
Batavia; 'William 'Williams, of Milford j and James 'War­
reno Of the above, DI·. JiJlisha Bennett is still in practice,

, and in 1851 and 185~ served two years in the Legislature as
Ilepresentative. Dr. 'rhomas Boude was the son of John
Boude, the third sheriff of Clermont, and Dr. W. B. Chipley
married Sidney, a daughter of United States Senatol' Thomas
Morris, and moved to \Vashington, Mo. Dr. \Villiam
Doane was representative in the JJegislature in 1831 and
183~ (two terms), senator in 1834 and 18&5 (one term of
two years), and representative in Congress from 1839 to
1843 (two terms), and was a splendid physician and a
noted man in politics. Dr. S. G. Meek was one of the
original proprietors of the town of Goshen, and Dl·. Thomas
1\1. Pinkham still lives at Bantam, having retired with a
competence from a successful practice.

Dr. 'William \Vayland, Jr., gl'aduated in 1834:, at Ohio
Medical College, began practice samc year in Batavia, and
continued to his death, May 24, 1852. He was a fine phy­
sician, of splendid mental powers, and vcry popular with all
classes in his extensive practice, in which he was cut down
by the fell destroyer in the prime of a noble manhood. In
1843, Dr. Joseph A. Weaver be~an the practice of den­
tistry in Bat,avia, and continued tiil his death, a few years
ago, and in 1846, Dr. Hel1l'Y Collins practiced medicine
there and for a few years following'. In 1839 the following
were the licensed physicians in Clermont: Batavia, 'William
\Vayland, Sr., William \Vayland, Jr., A. V. Hopkins, Sam­
uel Y. Thornton, each $4 license ; Williamsburgh, Leavitt T.
!Jease and E. C. Sharp, each $..J: j Bethel, A. F. McCall, $3,
'William Thompson, $5 j Bantam: Thomas M. Pinkham, $3 j
Felicity, Thomas Boude, J. C. Kennedy, Allen Woods,
each $..J:j Moscow, William Johnson, $..J:j Nev.ille, John
Miller, $..J: j New Richmond, John G. Hogers and J. T.
Johnson, each $4 j \Vithamsville, William Doane: $3, and
:Elisha Bennett, $4 j Milford, L. A. Hendrick and C. M.
Williams, each $5, William Williams, $..J:; Mulberry, T.
1\1. Brown, $5 j Goshen, Alfred B. Noble, $5 j Edenton,
Collins I,Ieever, $2.

Dr. David \Vood, father of County Recorder Marcellus A.
Wood, began practicing: about 1845, at Point Isabel, and
died in 1855, in the prime of life j was a good physician
and very studious.

Dr. \V. P. Kincaid, a graduate of the Ohio Medical
College, located in the village of Neville, Clermont 00., in
the year 1843, where he successfully practiced his profes­
sion for ove,l' twenty years, and changed his location to New
Richmond in 1868, where he still is engaged in active
practice.

He became a member of the Ohio State Medical Society
in'1853, and in 1863 received the highest honor that sci­
entific body could confer upon a member: by being elected
its presiden t.

In 1861 he was elected by the State medical society a
member of the examining board, to act in conjunction with
the professors of all the 1 egular medical colleges in the
State in the examination of candidates for the de3ree of

doctor of medicine, and served in that capacity for three
years.

. He has for many years been a working member of the
American Medical Association, also of tile district and county
societies, and in 1867 was elected Professor of Surgery in
the Cincinnati College of Medicine and Surgery, Cincin­
nati, Ohio, but, owing to other engagements, declined to
accept the honorable position.

~Ie was elected to the Ohio Senate in 1857, and served
two ses~ions in that honorable body.

Dr. Erasmus D. Hopkins, a son of Dr. A. V. Hopkins,
graduated at Ohio 'Medi~al College, and died at Amelia, in
1849, of cholera. He was pmcticing at Cherry Grove, and
went to Amelia to assist his father in the epidemic prevail­
ing, and was cut down by the fell destroyer in the thirtieth
year of his age.

Dr. Thomas 1\1. Pinkham graduated at Ohio Medical
College in 1828, settled at Bantam, but retired from active
practice in 1878, after half a century's assiduous attention
to his profession. He was born at Martha's .vineyard,
Mass., in 180~, and was the son of an old sea-captain.
He read medicine with Dr. William Wayland in Bethel,
and with Whitman and Cobb in Cincinnati.

Dr. Daniel A. l\f.cLain, born in 1809 in South Carolina,
came to Clermont in 1828 j studied medicine with Dr.
\Villiam Thompson at Bethel in ·1838 and '39; attended
Medical College of Ohio in 1841 ~nd '42, and has bcen
in practice ever since.

Dl'. William Ellsberry, born in Tate township in 1808,
studied with Dr. William Thompson, and been in practice
at Bethel since 18-U. His son, Dr. W. S. Ellsberry,
graduated at Ohio Medical College in 1873, and practices
in connection with his father.

Dr. Julius D. Abbott read with Dr. R. B. Davy, of Cin­
citmati, and graduated at the Cincinnati College of Medi­
cine ill 1874, locating at Bethel the same year.

Dr. A. C. Moore, of Amelia, was born in Belmont Co.,
Ohio, Jan. 11, 1825, and after being a few years old came
to Clermont with his father, who was for many years
county surveyol·. He gmduated from a medical college at
Columbus in February, 1850, and 1851 located at Locust
Corners, in 1853 at Bantam, in 1855 at Moscow, and in
1866 at Amelia, where he still remains. Since 1809 he
has been a member of the State medical society.

Dr. T. J. ~fullen, of New Richmond, is the son of one
of the pioneer f~lmilies of Clermont, and ranks as one of
the "leading members of his Plofession.

The following were the physicians of aU schools, as found
f'rotll official sources, practicing in Clermont in 1862. It
is possible that others whose names are not recorded were
also practitioners. Their names and those of others of
later period may be found in the several township hititories:
Batavia, Drs. J. C. Kennedy, H. McCaskey, A. C. Mc­
Chesney, Joseph McMillen, and J. C. & J. A. Weaver
(dentists). Williamsburgh, Drs. JJ. T. Pease, K C. Sharp,
Sr., E. C. Sharp, Jr., and D. C. Sharp. New Richmond,
Drs. J. G. Rogers, T. J. Mullen, \V. V. Peck, Jr., Adolph
Schroem, and Dr. Stokes (homooopathic). Felicity, Drs.
H. Bradley, J. W. Kennedy, 1\1. L. Day, N. S. Hill, and
Matthew Gibson (independent). Chilo, Dr. Allen Woods.
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Bethel, Drs. S. S. Scoville, William ElIsberry, D. A. l\[cI..ain,
'V. E. Thompson, and S. S. Chase. J...aurel, Dr. S. B.
South and D.·. 1. N. Brown (eclectic). Nicholsville, Dr.
Philip Kennedy. Milford, Drs. C. D. Gatch, P. B. Gatch,
'Villiam 'Villiams, and Thomas 1'1. Brown. 1'liumiville,
Dr. Alfred Buckinghum. Goshcn, D.,s. J. E. Myers (grad­
uated ut Ohio Medical College in 1851, and was elected to
Legislature in 1859 as representative and served two years j

been in most active practice for twenty-nine years), D. S.
J.JJllHlII, und T. Thacker. Years before, Drs. Bart Emory,
1\1. '1\ Hoss, Albert Dart, Cortland 'Villiams, A. Hobb, It.
'Vesterfield, 1. N. Thacker, and Dr. Haviland had prac­
ticed there. Loveland, Drs. It C. Belt and John P. Em­
ory (the latter was elected representative from Clermont in
lS5:~, served two years in the Legislature, and was one of
the best members Clermont ever had. Of late years the
doctor has devoted his time and attention mostly to horti­
culture on his elegant homestead two miles from town).
Amelia, D.,s. N. J. Barber, A. Y. Hopkins, W. W. B.obin­
son, and Cyrus Gaskins (eelectic). Bantam, Drs. Thomas
.l\I. Pinkham and J. B. Collins. Marathon, Drs. J. 'V.
Mendenhall, Lewis Behymer, and Michael Bickmore (last
two eclectic). Boston, Drs. J. S. Combs and B. Blythe
(ec.:lectic). Cedron, Dr. A. H. Glenn. Point Isabel, Dr.
A. B. 1\lcKee. Withamsville, Drs. H. L. Donham, Eliosha
Bennett, J. :M. Witham. Olive Brandl, Dr. W. 'V. In­
galls (eclectic). Mulberry, Dr. Eli J%;tun, Neville, Dr.
,V. P. Kincaid. .Moscow, Drs. William Johnston, Abram
C. :Moore.

In the past decade several pronounced cases of tl'ichina
spiralis attracted the attention of' the profession, and one
case in particular, reported by Dr. 'V. S. Anderson, of' New­
tonville, was one to greatly interest the county association.
The prevalence of smallpox at certain towns was the espe­
cial study of some of' the physicians, and the discussions
thereon in the county society's meeting developed the fact
that the profession understoud thoroughly this diseuse, once
the most dreadful to be feared. or late fillls and winters
malarial fevers, in slight attacks, have generally been the
predominating complaint, but in general the county has
been free from epidemic diseases.

TIlE CLERl\IOXT COUNTY l\lEDICAL ASSOCIATIO~

waS organized :May 11, 1853, for the acquisition of' medical
knowledge, by encouragin~ observation and comparison of
the experience of its members. The constitution of this
association, which has been productive of so much good to
the profession in Glermont, and thereby conducive to the
best interests of society in general, provided that the dQty
of its censors should be to ascertain the eligibility and
qualifications of applicants for membership, who am re­
quired to be graduates of a regular medical school, or be a
practicing physician, of such attainments that he might
graduate by taking one course or!lectures at a medical col.
lege j and if the censors recommended the applicant, and
two-thirds of the members voted for him, he might enroll
his name as a member of the association. It is made the
duty of each member to keep a faithful record of all cases
of interest which he treats, noting the age, color, sex, and
condition of the patient.; the causes; where obvious j the

type, symptoms, treatment, duration, and termination ofthe
disea~e j and, when practicable, the post-mortem appearances,
the material parts of which he shall embody in an intelli­
gible form, and present it to the association, for the use of
such mcmber~ as may wish to consult it. The discussions
of' the meetings of the association have elicited much able
and useful information upon a large variety of medical and
scientific subjects, and the happy and pleasant interchange
of' eXT,erience in extraordinary cases have largely tended to
give strength lind tone to the profession in the county. On
several occasions papers of more than usual merit were read
by distinguished physicians f.·om abroad, as well as by the
members. The association holds semi-annual meetings on
the third Wednesday in ~Iay lind October, and f.'equently
special sessions nt the time and place of the Teachers'
Institute.

The names of those who have been members of the asso­
ciation, but have removed from its jurisdiction, are as fol­
lows: Drs. A. Robb, S. B. Crew, H. R. Collins, George O.
Butler, J. S. Wright, J. B. Collins, Asher Goslin, H. P.
Willis, A. U. McChesney, A. C. R. Seyvert, J. C. l\lagginis,
and J. L. \Vaffensmith. The deceased members are J.... A.
Hendrick, J.... T. Pease, D. Barber, A. V. Hopkins, \Vm.
Johnston, M. Smith, J. Comciras, K C. Sharp, Sr., W. V.
Peck, J.'" W. C. Hall, F. Dennis, J. J...ocke Kennedy,
Joseph McMillen, W. S. Moore, Wm. Williams, and C. D.
Gatch. The latter was in Ford's Theatre, in \Vashington,
when the lamented Lincoln was assassinated, in April, 1865,
and was the first physician to reach the dying President
and examine the wound of the martyr of his country.

The living members of the association are H. J.... Donham,
John G. Hogers, J. C. Kenncdy, J. S. Combs, Adolph
Schroem, John W. Kennedy, Allen Woods, D. S. Lyman,
\V. P. Kincaid, D. A. McLain, 'r. J. Mullen, Wm. ElIs­
berry, S. S. Scoville, J. W. :Mendenhall, J. H. Gray, Thos.
W. Gordon, H. 1'lcCaskey, J. '0. Marsh, Enos B. Fee, W.
Eo TuckCl:, Thos. 1\1. Brown, W. S. Anderson, W. E.
Thompson, W. A. Carmichael, N. J. Barber, A. B.l\lcKee,
Harvey Bmdley, A. S. Bryan, L. W. Bishop, A. C. Moore,
E. L. Moore, R B. Davy, N. S. Hill, A..'V. Ashburn, ,Y.
A. Bivens, W. J. Strofe, L. H. ~ledaris, Thos. L. Scott,
C. C. Walton, J. H. Love, Colin Spence, R. C. Belt, J ..A.
'Vheeler, A. Morris, W. S. ElIsbury,~. B. South, John
P. Hichardson, Frank H. Danby, C. '1\ McKibben, Isaac
H.edrow, It. F. Ermann, T. A. Mitchell, J. L. Moore,
Samuel J.... Witham, and H. Bradley. The last named, a
well-known practitioner at Felicity for more than twenty­
five years, D.,. N. S. Hill, the popular physician of' Neville,
and Dr.' N. J. Barber, of' New Richmond, all served as
surgeons in the Union army, with credit to themselves
and honor to the profession. .

D.·. A. B. McKee, of Felicity, senyed in the Mexican
war, and was severely wounded in the wrist j and again, in
the Union army, serving as a captain, he was so danger­
ously wounded that he had to retire from the service.

The officers from 185:3 to 1880 were as follows:

1853.-Presidcnt, John G. Rogers; Viee-Presidents, L. A. Hendrick,
L. T. PelLse; Recording Secretary, D. Barber; Correspollu­
ing Secretary, 11. Kennedy; Treasurer, A. V. Hopkins;
Censors, W. P. Kineaid, D. S. Lyman, D. A. McLain.
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lS!H.-President, L. A.1Irndriek; Vice-President, William Ellsberry;
Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Corresponding Secretary, D. S.
Lyman; Tre:lsurer, S. n. Crew; Censors, J. G. H.ogers, W.
P. Kincaid, J. S. Combs.

1S55.-Pre~idcnt, William Williams; Vice-Presidepts, D. S. L)'man,
S. S. Scoville; Recording Secretary, S. n. Crew; Corre­
~ponuing Secretary, J. S. Combs; Treasurer, J. C. Ken­
ned)'; Censors, Thomas l\I. Drown, L. T. Pease, W P. Kin­
caid.

IS51l.-President, Andrew V. Hopkins.; Yiee-PI'e~idents, William
Ellsberry, Philip Kennedy; Hecording Secretltry, .J. C. Ken­
neuy; Corrcspondipg ScerctllJ'y, Jo::;cph McMilIcn; Treas­
urcr, E. C. SlllLrp; Cen,;ors, D. S. L:,rlUan, S. S. SeoYiIlc, T.
J. l\I ullcn.

] S57.-Presidcnt, William ElIsberry; Vicc-Prcsidents, D. A. McLain,
J. S. Combs; Recording Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Corre­
sponding Secretary, S. S. Scadlie ; Treasurer, J. G. Hogers;
Censors, W. P. Kincaid, 1'.1\1. Brown, D. S. Lyman.

lS5S.-Presitient, D. S. L'yman; Vice-Presidents, L. T. Pease, T. 1\1.
Brown; Recording SCCl"rtary, S. S. Scodlle; Corre~pondin~

Secretar.v, D. A. l\IcLain; Treu~U1~cr, J. G. Rogers; Censors,
S. n. Crew, J. G. Rogers, William Williams.

lS511.-Presiuent, John G. H.ogers; Vicc-Presiucnts, W. P. KinelLid,
E. C. Shurp, Sr.; Hecoruing Secretltry, J. S. Combs; Cor­
rc~ponuing Secretary, S. B. Crew; Treasurer, L. T.
l}ease;' Ccnsors, A. V. Hopkins, J. C. Kennedy, T. J.
1\1 ullin.

lS60.-Presiucnt, L. T. Pelt~e; Vicc-Presidents, D. A. McLain, J. S.
Combs; Recording Secretary, S. S. Scovillc; Cot"l"esponding
Srcretary, J. C. Kennedy; Treasurer, T. J.Mullen; Censors,
D. S. L,Yman, Philip Kennedy, E. C. Sharp, JI·.

lS61.-Presiuent, S. S. Scoville; Vice-Prcsiuents, J. G. Rogers, W.
S. Anderson; RecoI'uillg Secretltr.v, J. W.1\IenucnhulI; Cor­
responding Secret:lry, A. C. l\IcChesney; Treltsurer, J. S.
Combs; Censors, L. T. Pease, S. n. Crew, D. S. L)'mnn.

lSli2.-The WitI' of this year prevented the annual meeting and elcc­
tion; old officers held over.

lSG3.-Presiuent, W. P. Kinca.id; Vice-Prcsidcnts, William ElIs­
berry, J. G. Rllgers; Rccording Secrcta.ry, Hugh l\IcCu~key;

Corresponding Sccretnry, 'V. V. Pcck, Jr.; Treasurer, D. A.
McLain; Censors, W. E. Thompson, J. S. Combs, W. Y.
Peck, Jr.

lS64.-President, E. C. Sharp, Sr.; Vicc-Presidents, D. A. McLain,
T. J. 1\1 ullen; Treasurer, H. MeCltske)'; Recording Secre­
tary, J. Locke Kennedy; Corresponding SccI'etary, J. C.
Kennedy j. Censors, L. T. Pea~c, William S. Ander$on,
I1arv('y BradIe)'.

lS65.-Presidellt, W. C. Hall (of Fayetteville, nrown Co.); Vice­
Presidcnts, D. A. McLain, A. C. McChesncy; Treasurer,
Philip Kennedy; Recoruing Seeretar)", J. W. l\Ienuenllltll;
Corresponding Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Censors, J. S.
Combs, William E. Thompson, J. C. l\Iagginis.

lSG6.-President, William S. Anderson; Vicc-Presidents, J. S.
Combs, N. S. Hill; Treasurer, D. A. McLain; Recoruing
Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Correspondipg Sccretary, H.
McCaskey; Censors, W. C. Hulf, L. T. Pease, W. E. Thomp­
son.

lS67.-Presidcnt, J. G. Rogers; Vice-Presidents, L. T. Pease, D. S.
Lyman; Treasurcr, D. A. McLain; Rccording Secrctary,
F. Dennis; Corre~pondingSecretary, H. McCaskey; Censors,
F. Dennis, W. S. Anderson, T••J. Mullen.

IS6S.-President, 1'. J. Mulfen; Vice-Presidents, II. Bradley, W. C.
Hall; Recording Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Corresponding
Sl'cretary, Hugh McCaskey; Treasurer, D. A. McL:dll;
Censors, E. C. Shurp, D. S. Lyman, Philip Kennedy.

lS69.-President, D. A. McClllin j Vice Presidents, N. S. Hill, W. P.
Kincltid; Recording Secretary, lIarry P. Willis; Corre­
sponding Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Treasurer, Wm. E.
Thompson; Censors, Adolph Schroem, W. S. Anderson, T.
J.l\Inllen.

lS70.-Presidcnt, N. S. Hill; Vice-Presidents, W. E. Tucker, W. S.
Anderson; Recording Scerctuy, H. P. Willis; Correspond­
ing Secretltry, J. C. Kennedy; Treasurer, W. E. Thomp­
son; Censors, W. P. Kincaid, D. S. Lyman, W. E. Thomp­
~on.

lS71.-President, Adolph Schroem; Vice-Presidents, Philip Kennedy,
A. C. Moore; Recording· Secretary, A. W. Ashburn; Cor­
responding Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Treasur·er, D. A'.
l\IcLain; Censors, J. S. Coombs, H. Dradle)', 1,. T. Pease.

lS72.-President, A. C. 1\:[oore; Vice-Presidents, R. n. Davy, ·L. II.
Medaris; Treasurer, W. E. Thompson; Recording SecretnrJ',
Allen W. Ashburn; Corresponding Secretary, J. C. Ken­
lIedy; Censors (no numes given on the record).

lS73.-Prcsident. James C. Kenncdy; Vicc-Presidents, L. 11. l\Ie­
dltril', II. L. Donham; Trcasurer, L. W. Bishop; Recording
SecretlLry, A. W. Ashburn; Conesponding Secrctllry, C. C.
Walton; Ccnsors, J. S. Combs, W. S. Anderson, Philip
Kennedy. .

lS74.-Prcsident, Han'ey nmdley; Vice-Presidents, Philip Kenncdy,
C. C. Walton; Treasurcr, L. W. Bishop; Recording Secre­
tary, A. W. Ashburn; Corresponding Secretary, J. C. Ken­
nedy; Censors, J. C. Richal'dson, A. C. 1\:1oore, J. C. !{en­
nelly.

IS 75.-President, Philip Kennedy; Vice-Presidents;;;< Recording
Secretary, A. W. Ashburn; Corresponding Secretary, J. C.
Kennedy; Treasurer, L. W. Dishop; Censors, J. P. Rich­
ardson, L. W. Bishop, D. A. McLain.

lS76.-Pre~ident, J. S. Combs; Vice-Presidcnt, J. P.' Richardson;
TrelLsurer, L. W. Bishop; Recording Secretary, A. W. Ash­
burn; COl"l"e~pondiDg Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Censors,
A. Monit:, Wm. EUsberr)', D. S. Lyman.

lS77.-President, A. Morris; Vice-Presiucnt, N. S. Hill; Recording
Secretary, A. W. Ashburn; Corresponding Secretary, J. C.
Kennedy; Treasurer, Philip K('nnelly; Censors, W. A. Car­
michael, 1'. J. Mullen, Wm. ElIsbury.

IS7S.-Presidrnt, W. S. Anderson·; VICe-Presidents, J. P. Richard­
son, A. C. Moore; Treasurer, Philip .Kennedy; Recording
SccrelMy, A. W. Ashburn; Corresponding Secretar.}", J. C.
Kennedy; Censors, H.· Bradley, 1'. J. Mullen, Isaac Red­
raw.

IS79.-Presiden t, L. H. Mcdaris; Vice-President, S. n. South;
Treasurer, Philip Kennedy; Hecording Secretary, A. W.
Ashburn; COl"l"csponding Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Cen­
sors, J. S. Combs,J. T. Wheeler, A. Schroem.

lSSO.-President, L. W. Bishop; Vice-President, S. W. ElIsberry;
Treasurcr, Philip Kennedy; Recording Secretary, A. W.
Ashburn; Corresponding Secretary, J. C. Kennedy; Cen­
sors, N. S. Anderson, T. J. l\Iullen, and J. S. Coombs.

THE ECLECTIC SYSTEl\I OF MEDICINE.

A little more than half a century ago there was awakened
considerable inquiry into the science of medicine, and out
of this originated the eclectic system; and the reasons for
the movement were found in the charactCl' of the practice
of medicine during the early part of the century. The
eclectic physicians discarded the common use ofblood.lettillg,
free pUl'gation, mercury in its different forms, antimony and
nauseants, blisters, and medicine in large doses to influence
the kidneys and skin, claiming that with such treatment
the appetite for food was lost, digestion impaired, debilita­
tion and prostration produced, 'and the recovery of the pa­
tient made a matter of doubt. Thero was revolt in several
sectio'ns of the country against the old-school practice, at
the head of whi<:h new movement appeared Drs. Berltl, Tidd,
and Thompson; and after a short lupse of time the new
eclectic sJ"stem obtained a foothold in a number of States,
and succeeded in organizi12g colleges and establishing peri-

.odicab and journals.
The Union Eclectic Medical Society of Clermont was or­

ganized on October 18, 1856, with Dr. J. S. Martin, Pres­
ident; Dr. B. Blythe, Viee-President; Dr. Richard Marsh,
Secretary; Dr. W. 1\1. Ingalls, Treasurer; Board of Censors,

f;f Names not found.
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Drs. l\f. A. Kclly, C. H. Thomas, H. C. Nicholson, I. H.
Day. At its seventeenth annual mceting', May 30, 1873,
it was reorganized with the following officcrs: Presidcnt,
Dr. I. II. Day; Dr. 1. N. Bl'Own, Secrctary j and Dr. Eben
Behymcr, Treasurcr. Its prescnt mcmbership includcs
twcnty-fivc physicians in activc pr:lCticc, quitc a number of
whom livc just outsidc of the county limits. It was reor­
ganized undcr the name of "Clermont Eclcctic 3Icdical
Association," and adopted a ncw constitution, thc fourth
scction of which provides that" thc word J~clectic, as uscd
by this Association, is undcrstood to be synonymous with
ullivcrsal freedom of thought, in\'estigation, and action
within the legitilnate scopc of medical practice. That med­
icines are bClleficial ollly whcn used mcdicinally, or in metli­
cinal doscs, guardcd by a COITect diagnosis. And to this
elld we claim thc fullest libcrty in prescribillg for cach partic­
ular case as dictated by our bctter judgment, having rCg'urd
to any permancnt imprcssion made or condition cntailed
upon the patient."

In 1873-74, Dr. Cyrus Gaskins, of Amclia, was thc
president of' the Eclectic Association. He graduated in
1859 at thc " Cincinnati Collcge of Eclectic Medicinc and
Surgery and Eclectic Medical Illstitute," and has sincc
cnjoyed an cxtcnsive and lucrati\'e practice, probably
standing at the head of' his school in thc county.

Of the early graduates of duly chartcrcd eclectic colleges
who had located in the county for the practice of that
system of medicine, but who have dcceased or removcd,
were Drs. John S. "Tatts, of Fclicity; S. H. Chnsc, of
Bethel; E. B. Chattcrton, of Mount Reposc; 'V. :M. In­
gals, of Amelia; B. Blythe, of Boston; Hichard )Inrsh, of
Marathon; and A. B. Gaskins, Edwin Bchymer, 'V. 'V.
Robinson, A. McKay, G. 'V. McDonald, and U. l\I. Avey.

The eclectic school of medieine has at present the fol­
lowing practitioners in the county: Drs. Cyrus Gnskins,
Amclia; J. H. Day, Point Isabel; Isaac M. Brown, Laurel;
Mathew Gibson, Felicity; B. F. Mitchell, Felicity; J. II.
Norman, Edenton; 'V. D. Cole, Moscow; 'V. O. Davis,
Chilo; J. S. Galloway, Lindale; O. D. Simmons, J....aurel;
R. T. I ..eacock, Olive Branch; George 'V. :Moore, Batavia;
J. T. Ricker, Locust Corner; Dr. 'Wilber, Henning's Mills;
and Quincy A. Brown, Bethel.

Drs. B. Blythe and W. 1'1. Ingalls were rather celebrated
practitioners, and the latter was at one time the president
of the Ohio Medical Society, and for many years a con­
tributor to the Eclectic JlIedical .Jollmal of Cincinnati,
the recognized organ of that school of medicine, and edited
with unusual ability by the distinguished Dr. John 1\1.
Scudder.

The Clermont County Bclectic Medical Association h~lds
its annual meetings at Amelia, and the exercises consist of
essays, discussions, comparisons of practice, and lectures by
distinguished practitioners from abroad. The fragmentary
·condition of the records precludes the giving of much
interesting matter pertaining to its work, but, in the main, .
the association is in a prosperous condition.

CHAPTER XVII.

THE PRESS AND AUTHORS.

TIlE POLITICAL CENSOR.

TH IS was the title of the first newspaper ever published
in Clermont, and was a humble beginning in an avocation
in which so lUuny of its citizens aftcrwards distinguished
themselves. The proud journalistic reputation of the
count.y has been echoed throughout the land, and its
press has achieved an enviable reputation for enterprise,
and the ability and genius of the men who contributed to
its pages, many of whom, in consequence, were sought out
and transferred to other and morc extensh'e fields of labor
in the capital and other chief cities of the State and the
great 'Vest. If the caustic Donn Piatt, the great national
paragraphist, in his satirical article on Clermont, anathe­
m:itizing her for being a county unprecedentedly prolific in
office-holders and office-seekers, had said it was a county
whose chief productions were editors, printers, publishers,
reporters, and writers, he would have embalmed solemn
truth in its grandest niche of historical filme, and immor­
talized his trenchant pen.

The Political Cellsm' was printed at 'Villiamsburgh, the
ancient and honorable shire-town of the county, and its
first number was issued on Friday, Jan. 15, 1813. Its
projectors were evidently devoid of that superstitious feel­
ing which has since obtained in some localities, or they
would not have launched their frail newspaper-bark on the
ill-fated day of "Friday." This pioneer sheet was pub­
lished, owned, and edited by Thomas S. Foote and Robert
Tweed, both well-known public men of that day; the
former a noted lawyer, and for many years prosecuting
attorney, and the latter elected coroner in 1824, and on
Daniel Hankins resigning the sheriffalty in 1825 he filled
out the remaining six months of his term. Charles D.
McManaman, a "jour" printer of practice and long expe­
rience, set up the type for thi:;: journal, which was printed
on paper fiftecn and a half by nine and a half inches, and
on a press (th e old Harnage pattern) that was so small that
only half of one side of the little. sheet could be prillltd
at one impression. The ink was applied to the forms with
very small hand ink-balls, and the paper when printed was
delivered to subscribers in town and country by trusty
carriers. The printing-office was situated on Main Street,
on the most casterly corner of lot No. 40, now occupied
by the dwelling-house of Asa Smith. 'When Messrs. Foote
& Tweed announced their intention of publishing a paper,
the enterprise was encouraged by the people of the village
and surrounding countrY,-most generally persons of edu­
cation and public spirit,-and the day of its first issue was
an event of considerable importance, so that the windows
and doors of the office were crowded (and the streets filled
with people waiting anxiously their turns) with persons
desirous to see the then novel operation of printing.

The first Gel/sm' was a dingy sheet, like all the prints of
that early day, and contained a few ad\'erti~ements, no local
news, and some items of' national and foreign news two
months old. The appearance of this newspaper marked a
new era in the county, created a thirst for reading, and a
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desire for knowing the events of the age and understanding
their drift and bearings. It was the means of gradually
inducing the inhabitants to investigate the state of the
country, and to subscribe for papers of Cincinnati and
those of the Eastern States, and in its day was unquestion­
ably a public-spirited agent. But owing to t.he meagre
settlements and the troublQus times attending the war of
1812, its lease of life was only of short duration, and from
the data at hand we conclude that its period of publication
did not exceed a year.

Its successor, and the next paper in the county, was

TilE "\VESTEHN A:1\IERICAN,

also published at Williamsburgh. Its first issue bore date
Aug. 5, 1814, and its proprietors were David Morris and
George Ely. The former was the editorial head, and was
a man of more than ordinary capacity, possessing great
ability as a pungent writer; the latter is better known as
the original proprietor of Batavia, and was probably the capi­
talist of the firm, who soon after disposed of his interest.

Tlte lVestem Ame1·ican was printed on a sheet twelve by
nineteen inches, folded into four pages of four columns each,
and issued every Saturday. Its terms of subscription were
two dollars a year, if in advance (within two months being
considered in advance), and two dollars and a half at expi­
ration of year. When sent by post there was an additional
charge of fifty cents for postage, and wheat, delivered in any
merchant-mill in the county, and such other country pro­
duce as might be approved was received, delivered at the
office at market price. Advertisements not exceeding one
square were inserted three times for one dollar, longer
ones in proportion, and no paper was discontinued until all
arrearuges were paid.

The issue of Feb. 11, 1815, contains an account of Gen.
Jackson's famous victory over the British at New Orleans,
on the 8th of previous month, the particulars of which had
just been received, and of the alarming contagious distemper
prevailing among the people of Virginia.

Baymiller & Brinton advertised to sell at their store in
'Williamsburgh all sorts of dry and \Yest India goods, and
occupied a whole column,-and it was then considered an
extravagant piece of advertising. Ellis & Sinks informed
their friends of their receiving at the house of .rames Her­
bert, on Broadway, a fresh supply of dl'y-goods, groceries,
hardware, etc.; and that in goods, at cash prices, they paid
sixty-two and a half cents per gallon for whisky. Obed
Denham advertised lots and lands at Bethel for sale cheap;
and there were divers notices of black: stud-colts, bright-bay
mares, and those of chestnut-sorrel color taken up as estrays.
The public were posted that Thomas Barker had begun the
tailoring business at '\Yilliamsburgh, at the shoe-shop of
Samuel Cade; and that Zachariah Clevenger would have
a public sale at his residence, on the waters of Stonelick,
near the Xenia road. Some foreign and Legislative news,
with a f.ew legal notices, made up the balance of the sheet.

1'he quill of Editor Morris cut right and left as a dis­
turber of the prevailing wrong~ of the day, and was always
in favor of good order and the cause of education. The
paper was published not to exceed two years, and the next
venture was

THE CLERl\fONT SENTINEL.

This journal was the third in point of time, but the first
issued that incorporated as part of its title the name of the
county in whic:h it Was i8sued, and to which it looked for its
moral and material support.. The first issue bore date July 4,
1818, and the place of publication was also \ViIliamsburgh,
at that time the great centre of wealth and intelligence in the
county. The publisher was Charles D. McManaman, who
was ~'aised to this position from the jour's place in the Cen­
sor office. The sheet was small, only ten and a 11alf by
sixteen inc'hes, but was newsy and edited with credit, ably
representing the int~rests of the county, which was just be­
ginning to recover from the effects of the war and starting
out towards its present greatness. It was published on
Saturday, but how long it was issued we are unable defi­
nitely to determine. No annals of its his,tory remain, but
tradition speaks of the paper as an enterprising print, far
in advance of the people, who soon permitted it to perish,
and that McManaman was a noble genius, who~ in his day,
did much to crystallize the rough forms of advancing civil­
ization.

THE J!~AR:MER'S FRIEND

was the fourth paper that sought public patronage in Cler­
mont County. Its place ot' publication was also Wil­
liamsburgh, and its editor was William A. Camron, who
removed an office to this place from Lebanon, Ohio, the
press of l\Ic~Ianaman having been removed down the river.
The Friend was begun in 18~O, and' was continued several
years. It was a paper of merit, twenty-four by thirty-six
inches in size, but lacking sufficient patronage was forced
to discontinue.

THE WESTERN PATRIOT.

Batavia having become the permanent county-seat it was
found necessary to meet the requirements of the place, as the
seat of justice, to have a paper to publish the doings of the
county officials, legal advertisements, and properly set forth
the claims of the village as the future litel',ny centre of Cler­
mont.

The Patn'ot supplied this want, and was the fourth paper
in the county, its first issue being dated May 24, 182....
The paper was twelve by twenty inches in size, and had four
pages of four columns each. It was printed by Z. Colby &
Co., on Water Street, in a building which stood where is
now D. G. Dustin's tin establishment, every Saturday, at
two dollars per annum, in advance, or three dollars after the'
expiration of a year. PayDlFnt in ad\rance being to the
mutual interests of all parties, that mode was solicited.. No
subscription was taken for less than six months, and all ar­
rearages had to be paid before the paper was discontinued.
A desire to discontinue the paper at the end of a subserip.
tion, without notifying the publishers, was not regarded.
Postage was required to be paid at the rate of fifty cents per
year on all papers sent by mail, and all letters to the editor
had to have the postage on them prepaid, or no attention was
paid to them. After the paper had been published six
months, and the funds to sustain it not CODling in rapidly
enough to lubricate the machinery, it advertised in a leaded
notice to receive corn, wheat, flour, wMsl(,y, oats, and pork
in payment for subscription; and fi'om subsequent issues of
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the paper it appears the publisher rccei\Tcd a large amount
of these articles of produce, including the pure extract of
corn, distilled into pure whisky. This paper was non-par­
tisan and devoted to the interests of the people, and being
independent and preserving a high tone in its utterances,
was productive of great good in its dissemination of news
and advocacy of principles conducive to the wants of society.
Local journalism was then unknown, and its local items were
few. Its well-selected columns were usually filled with
European news, as detailed by the last arri\Tal of a saiJing­
vessel across the ocean, a condensed variety from the Con­
gressional and Legislative proceedings, short tales, choice
poetry, occasional bl'ief cditorials, scissored accounts of mur­
ders and other crimes, some legal and other advertisements.
J ournalislll has made rapid strides in fifty-six years since
the advent of TIle n~ste1'11 Patril)t, and to-day the three
papers of the county-seat are read at Batavia by five hun­
dred subscribers, while the circulation of the daily Cincin­
nati morning and evening press is over one hundred and
twenty-five.

1\1rs. Sarah Colby, the wife of' the publisher, carried on,
in the room below his printing· office, the millilJcry business,
and received in part pay for her wares and fine sewing, flax,
Ii nen, bacon, flour, sugar, rngs, etc.

In the issues of the first year appear the law cards of'Vil­
liam H. Harrison, Jr. (son of the President), and of Gen.
Uichard Collins and Learner B. Collins, who practiced in
the Clermont courts,-the former living in Cincinnati, but
the latter keeping an office in Batavia,-also of Joseph S.
Benham. Its columns show the vote of October, 1824,
for Congress in the First District (Hamilton and Clermont
Counties) to have been,-James Findlay, 2217 ; James W.
Gazlay, 2181; David Morris (of Williamsburgh), 1HJ-:I:;
and Benj. M. Piatt, 364.

On Christmas-day, 1825, Ezekiel Dimmit.t notified his
friends in this paper of his willingness to receive the whole
or part of any person's subscription to the "county-seat
question," as the strife was ended, and Batavia had secured
it, and reminded them that it. was heavy work to "move
county-seats" and that they must pay up j fi'om which it is
inferred money was u~ed in those days on both sides in
fixing the scat of justice by pay~.ng committees and dele­
gations to besiege the Legislature and liquidate printing­
bills and other claims. In March, 1825, Capt. 'V. S. Pat­
terson notified the members of his company (Batavia
I.Jight Infantry) to meet at the house of Samuel Shaw to
receive their arms.

Oil l\Iay 14, 1825, the publisher, Z. Colby, announced
his proposals for publishing a semi-monthly work in Ba­
tavia to be entitled the "Backwoodsman's Miscellany,"
which would consist of essays in verse and prose upon a
great variety of subjects, as love, marriage, elegies, satires
upon vices, follies, etc., and some thoughts on the return of
peace, lund and naval victories, casualties, orations on various
occasions. He set forth that as the name of Backwoods­
man had gone filrther than the " ~Iiscellany" w·ould circulate,
that he would only say that his uncouth rhymes and prosaic
pieces had found their way fi'om the infant. towns of WiI­
liamsburgh, Georgetown, Augusta, and Washington to every
State in the Union, and that his funeral elegies had drawn

forth tIle symplltlletic tears, and his satiric:tl pieces had
seldom ftliled to excite the risibility of the readers. The
conditions were that the" Miscellany" should be printed on
gool! paper and long primer type every two weeks, in num­
bers containing eight octu,'o pages to each, so as to form a
convenient volume of two hundred and eight pages; the
price to subscribers was to be qne dollar per year if paid in
advance, twenty-five cents more if paid within the year, and
one dollar and a half at the expiration of the year; that the
first Dumber would be put to press as soon as a sufficient
number of subscribers were obtained to justify his engaging
in the work; but as there is no record of its appearance at
any subsequent date, it is feared that the prospect of serial
"funeral elegies" dampened the feelings of his expected
subscribers, and they failed to respond to the prospectus of
the editor.

On May 28, 1825, Mr. Colby announced the completion
of the first volume of the Patriot, and that while persoll­
ally he was glad of the choice of John Quincy Adams by
the National House for President, he had not and should
not in the future make his paper a vehicle of politics,
would occasionally touch on the vices of the day (studi­
ously avoiding personalities), and would furnish his readers
with a view of the passing occurrences of the times as early
as possible, and eloquently concluded by saying that some­
times printers stood in need of cash. That year its columns
were full of the visit of Lafilyette to our country, and the
great honors being weekly heaped upon that noble French
patriot,-the trusted friend of and worker with Washing­
ton.

On June 11, 1825, this paper, in fourteen lines, de­
scribed the burglary of Daniel Hankins' store of two days
previous, which event now would require at least a column
of leaded type. The only patent-medicine advertisement
was that of "La Mott's Cough Dl'Ops,"-said to be effica­
cious,-and this elixir was certified by sundry clergymen to
be a certain and sure cure for" coughs and consumptions."

The issue of July 9, 1825, is largely taken up ',:ith an
account of the grand celebration of the " Fourth," wherein
the Batavia Light Intimtry Company paraded, and after the
procession a big dinner took place at Titus Everhart's inn,
and of the committee of arrangements the following n,oted
citizens we notice: George Ely, Dr. Josiah I.Ayman, Benj.
Harris, Israel 'Vhitaker, Wm, N. 'Vhite, Hobert Townslf\Y,
Luther 1'1. Goff, WIll. M. Ely, 'V. H. Robinson, and 'Vm.
Curtis. There was a national salute at daybreak; raising
of a "liberty-tree," with the star spangled banner proudly
floating at its top; reading of the Declaration of Independ­
ence, by Learner B. Collins, and oration by Owen T. Fish­
back. There were regular toasts drank after removing the
cloth of the dinner-table, followed by firing of guns and
cheers; and then followed volunteer toasts by Jonathan D.
Morris, Z. Colby (the editor), M. A. Bryan, Jesse Ellis,
Richard McClure, and others.

At Milford, too, was the glorious day duly oBserved,
under General Thomas Gatch, as chief marshal, assisted by
Isaac Covalt, as deput.y; ana among those giving toasts to
be drank (and they were drank) were Dr. )Vm. 'Williams,
Thomas D. Burrows, Josiah Broadwell, L. Pratt, D. F.
Barney, Lain Ready, Captain Benj. Ramsey, Captain
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George Ramsey, Judge Juhn Pollock, Peter Bell, Zaccheus
Biggs, Jacob Broadwell, and John Emery. l'here were
gUlls and cheers during the toasts; groans for the Turks,
and cheers for the Grecks,-then fighting to be delivered
from their oppressors. Colonel J olm 'V. Robinson was the
~rator, and the genial Dr. L. A. Hendrick read the "Dec-'
laration of 1776."

This issue also contained two important. wedding notices
in high life, the first on June 30th, by that eccentric cir­
cuit-rider Rev. George 'V. Maley, of General Thomas Gatch
and Miss IJucinda. McCormick, daughter of the great pio­
neer :i\Iethodist, the noted Rev. Francis McCormick; and
the other on July 6th, by the same minister, of Dr. 'Vm.
R Chipley and Miss Sidney Ann ~Iorris,daughter of Hon.
Thomas Morris.

The "Fourth" was also splendidly celebrated at the
" 'Yithams' Settlement," witll musketry and martial music,
and on top of its lofty" liberty-pole" was a t,"Urland of green
hickory. Several Revolutionary heroes were present and a.
larger number of the soldiers of the war of 1812, and
speeches and toasts were in abundance, giving the British
lion hail-Columbia before and aft. One cannot read these
old accounts of how our aneestors celebrated the natal day
of the country fifty or sixty years ago without seeing the
deep love that then preyailed for America and the animosity
that cropped out unmistakably against Grea.t Britain.

The p~Llisher advertised for rags, and to pay for the same
at two cents and a half per pound in cash, or store goods; or
three cents in spelling-books and writing-paper,-rags to be
clean linen and cotton; and these spelling-books were the
"New American Spelling-Book and Juvenile Preceptor,"
of which Mr. Colby was running a big ad\'ertisement in his
paper, and for which he took them as pay. His ter~s of
advertising were,-ten lines or less, three insertions for one
dollar, and each continuance twenty-five ccnts, and larger
ones in proportion.

In August, 1826, appeared the last number of the West­
ern Patriot, its publisher, 1\11'. Colby, having sold out his
office, type, and printing-press to David Morris.

THE SPIRIT OF THE THrES.

David l\Iorris, who in 181-1 had published the JVes{ern
American, at 'Williamsburgh, merged the 'Western Put-riot
of Mr. Colby, when he purchased it and its good-will, into
The Spirit of tlte Time.~, the first number of which was is­
sued at Batavia ou July 21, 1826, some seyen weeks before
the Patn'ot sold out, and was of the same size as that paper.
In its issne of Dec. 27, ]828, Editor Morris said a few
hundred-weight of pork would be received in pnyment of
any debts due its office,-probably for his family use; and
to fatten his printers and fill up the" office devil." In his
report of Legislative proceedings we notice Thomas Morris,
senator from Clermont, from the Judiciary Committee, re­
ported a bill for the election of county recorders by the
people, and fi'om a select committee to whom was referred
a bill to encourage the raising of sheep reported the same
back with amendment. J ames Picken had a displayed
ad\'ertisement of a very' handsome assortment of goods and
groceries, hard ware, etc., in the old fraUle building on comer
of Water ',and Main Streets jnBatavia, now occupi.ed by
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Cartcr & Son for their tin- and stove-store. There also ap­
peared the advertisement of a very important branch of
industry in those days,-carpet-weaYing,-by a man who
was aftcrwards sheriff of Clermont, and the filther of three
sons who have made most conspicuous and honorable marks
in the county's history as journalists,-Michael Cowen.
He respectfully informed the public that he had erected a
loom at David Duckwall's, about one mile from Batavia, on
the road leading therefrom to Milford, and was prepared to
weave double and single coverlets in the best manner, and
in the best, most elegant, and fashionable patterns.

1\1r. Morris held control of the paper until its publication
ceased, some time in 1829, when, after a short interregnum,
he became the editor of a new paper, which took its place
as a more outspoken partisan sheet. He tried to conduct
the Spirit free froUl party bias, although in the later issues
there was a disposition to favor the cause of the National
Republicans. '

THE CHRONICLE OF THE TIMES.

This paper originated in 1829 as a political rival of the
Oltio Sun, whose history is given in subseqnent pages, and
resembled that sheet in form ~nd general appearance. It
absorbed whateyer. remaining interests there were' of the
Spirit of tlte Times, and for most of the time David Morris
was the editorial head. It was an out~poken National Re­
publican, and bore proudly aloft this bold motto, " 'Ve hold
these truths to be self-evident, that ali men are created free
and equal," which, though the life of the Declaration of
Independence, was deemed an audacious sentiment by some,
and made the Clu'onicle a marked political sheet. Its course
was distinctly opposed to that pursued by the SUit, and as
the one became the organ of the \Vhigs, the other was de­
cidedly Democratic. The Cltl'onicle warmly espoused the
principles advocated by the illustrious Henry Clay, and its
columns teemed with devotion to the Sage of Ashland.

Its issue of Dec. 31, 1831, contained the proceedings of
the National Republican Convention of that month, held at
Baltimore, at which Henry Clay was' nominated fur Pre~i­

dent, and John Sergeant for Vice-President. The stock­
holders of the" Cincinnati, Columbns audWooster Turn­
pike Company" were agreeably notified to meet (those in
Clermont) at l\lilford,at Dr. Hendrick's residence, and re­
ceive their quarterly dividend of twenty-four per cent. per
annum,-and they all u;ellf,' so tradition records. The
" Batavia Colonization Society" (sacred relic of the past)
was notified to meet on January 2d. Its columns disclosed
the facts of the dissolution, on August 1st, of the firm of
:Farr & Hanley, at Goshen, and tha.t Lemuel W. Slade was
the fashionable tailor in Batavia. On Poplar Creek, in Tate
township, Timothy Sprague advcrtised.as having a mill for
fulling, dyeing, and dressing cloth.

The Cltronicle of tlte Times was well edited, and pub­
lished most of t.he important news afloat, and was printed
until the year 1835, when it ceased to chronicle the events
of the times under that name, but was, .al'ter an interregnum
of' about a year, merged into a brand-new paper. The pub­
lication office was in part of' the building now occupied by
William Baum as a. dwelling. About the first of the year
the CIt1'()1jicle ceased tQ exist for want of material support,
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and for a year the Whigs were without an organ. But
there was yet a little leaven left, and the following year was
brought to light

THE CLEJDlONT COUlnEIL

The date of the first issue was l\1ai'ch 19, 1836, and An­
drew 1\1. Gest and R. W. Clarke were the founders, using
the same type, press, ~nd room which had formerly belonged
to the Clmmicle of the :l'imes. The latter was the editor,
and had acquired his knowledge of the art preservativ~ in the
Sun office, and Gest had been a former employee of Morris
in the Clmmicle office. ~lilton Jamieson was the printer's
boy, and set up all the selected matter of the first issue, and
afterwards carried around the paper in Batavia. He says
he remembers very well how happy the old Whigs were
when they received the first number, and how the old
Democrats frowned upon it, for every voter in the place re­
ceived a copy. On the 24th of August, 1836, A. 1\1. Gest
took in as his partner Learner B. Leeds, and by them, jointly,
the COIl1'ie1' was published until April 8,1837, when R. 'V.
Clarke ceased to edit the paper, and Messrs. Gest. & Leeds
became both editors and proprietors. This partnership
closed abruptly about one month after it was formed, and
then A.1\1. Gest became sole' editor, publisher, and proprietor,
and remained so until Jan. 30, 1846, when he sold a half­
interest in the p:~per to Lorenzo Dow Morris. Then the
C'oll1'ier was edited and publi:;hed under the firm-name of'
A. M. Gest & L. D. Morris, until March ~G, 1847, when
Gest sold out his interest to L. D. Morris, who continued
its publication as its editor and publisher until Aug. 27,
1847, when A. M. Gest bought out Morris, and again be­
came its owner, and took in It. ,Y. Clarke as joint editor.

L. D. Morris was of Welsh descent and was born in Wil­
liamsburgh, Clermont Co., in 1818, and was the son of
David Morris, editor of the Western American, in 'Villiams­
burgh, in 1814 and 1815, and afterwards of the Sp-i1'it of

lite Times, and then Tlte Clt1'oJlicle of tlte Times, in Batavia,
in subsequent years. He was educated for a physician, but
his constitution being too delicate for the labors of a regular
practice, he abandoned the profession. He was married in
1843, and in 1848 moved to Iowa, and at Iowa City was fore­
man and assistant editor of the Republican there published,
and was afterwards editor of the Westem American and
Republictln, two papers published at Keosauqua, in which
city he died Nov. 9, 1861,-a bright ornament of the
Masonic order and a beloved member of the Congregation­
alist Church.

In the summer of 1848, R. W. Clarke retired from the
'Com'ie1', and A. M. Gest again became sole editor, and
conducted the papCl~ until his. death, in the latter part of
1851. No man politically or personally was better ~nowp.

in ClermQnt from 1836 to 185l than A. 1\1. Gest, who for
over fifteen years was connected with 'l'lte Clermont Cow'fer

as editor, publisher, ~nd printer. He edited and controlled
it in the Van Buren campaign of 1836 j the Harrison
avalanche of "Tippecanoe and Tyler too,"-hard c~der,

log cabins, and c~on"skins of l840 j the Clay panya!5S of
1844 j the ::rresid~ntial fight of 1848, when G.en. ~ach.

Taylor was elected j the figpt on the new copstitutiun, in
1851 j and wllil{3, Hk.e ~lr /Strong paftis~n editors, he had

political foes, his personal enemies were hardly to be found.
He was a devoted Mason, and for many years 'Vorshipful
Master of Batavia Lodge, F. and A. M., No. 109, of which
he was one of its first three to be initiated in the fall of
1837. In 1850 he was appointed by P,'esident Fillmore's

'administration to take the census of four towliship'l in the
county, and while so engaged Milton Jalllieson edited the
Co/wier.

For a few months succeeding J\lr. Gest's death the ~1Jlt1"ier

was conducted by his administrator, until, ill the early part
of 1852, John It S. Bond bought out the whole establish­
mcnt, and edited and printed this sheet until about Sept. 1,
1856, when he sold to John 1\1. Kellum, CuI. Bond was
a genial gentleman, of WUl'm impulses and great force of
character, devoted in his friendships and as strong and bit­
ter in his enmities, He made a splendid paper, and had
charge of it during the stirring days of " Anti-Kansas and
Nebraska" lllemOI'y, in the Kn"ow-Nothing era, and while he
sat on its tnpod arose the grand old Republican party, in
1854, which soon swept the country by storm, and has been
in power ever since. Col. Bond is now dead, but he left. a
monument to his ability and memory in the few years' files
of this paper, so ably and hOllorably conducted by him.

John ~1. Kellum, a bright genius in editorial ability but
lacking in newspaper business capacity, edit.ed and published
the Courier through the heated Fremont campaign of 1856
and up to Aug, ~7, 1857, when he disposed of the paper
to R W. Clarke and .M. Jamieson, and Mr. Clarke edited it.
until Aug. 19, 1858, when Mr. Jamieson became its sole
editor and proprietor. About September, 1859,.Mr. Jalll­
iesun sold an interest in the Cow'ie1' to. Thomas D. Fitch,
who had been for some time a compositor on its columns,
but continued to edit the paper until January, 1860, when
he disposed of his en~ire interest. to three brothers, Thomas
D., Sidney A., and Charles T. Fitch, who all had worked
before on the paper as printer:;. This closed the connection
with thc Comic1' of Milton Jamieson, who had helped print
its first issue ot' March 19, 1836, who for some five years
had been a journeyman compositor at its cases, and for three
years its editor, publisher, and proprietor. He found an
outlet and avenue for his unsurpassed executive ability (and
which, in his editing and managing of that paper, l~ad been
characterized with rare success) in other channels, and soon
became the best business man and most successful and largest
capitalist in the county.

The Fitch brothers came to Ohio from Southern Ken­
tucky, but were born in Danville, Caledonia Co" State of
Vermont, near where the" great commoner," Thaddeus
Stevens, was born, and of whom they were near relatives.
They made a spicy paper, got all the news, and were equal
to the times, which then called for bold, fearless men in the
ed~torial chair and at the helm of the· press, for the great
gathering storm of the Hebellion was brewing, and the
'sound~ngs pf every man's loyalty and devotion to his flag,
bis country, apd his hearthstone was fathomed as with
~ pluq~me~: O. +. Fitch was a purser in the United States
pnvy in the war, died at sea, and was buried off Key 'Vest.
+h~y managed the paper until July 19, 1862, and then sold
it to Andl'ew B. Smith, who conducted it with such signal
ability, and with the county printing for over tWJ years, as



THE PRESS AND AUTHORS. 155

to make, in less than four years, more money out of it than
any of his predecessors in double that period of time. He
had it at a most opportune time, during the war times, when
money was plenty, excitement high, and the circulation of
the press-daily and weekly-run up to enormous fi~ures.

After the close of the war, in the spring of 1865, 1\11'.'
Smit.h (since deceased) sold the paper to Charles N. and
Frank Browning, two brothers born and reared in the old
classic territory between the" Franklin lIei~hbol'1lOod"and
Boat Run, in Monroe township. Both these gentlemen
had been liberally educated at Parker's Academy, were old
school-teachers, and possessed high intellectual abilities and
great social powers that made them able writers and editors
and popular in the county. Under their administration the
COlln'e1: achieved a proud name and position. Associated
with the :i\1essrs. Browning from the filiI of 1865 for about a
year was E. G. Orebaugh, at present of the Columbus Sunday
.lVeu;s. In September, 1877, after an ownership of twelve
years, ,Charles N. Browning, then the sole owner of the
Courie1', sold the paper to' John R. '\Voodlief, and became a
proprietor of the Clillton RepuOlican, which he still owns
and edits. His brother Frank died Aug. 10, 1878, having
previously been one of the proprietors of the same paper.

John R. Woodlief, a number one business man, a good
writer, and a man of deserved popularity, who had been
sheriff of the county in the years 1872 and 1873, and who
was admitted to the bar in September, 1875, was proprietor
of the COll1'ier until April, 1879, when he sold out the en­
tire establishment to Charles \V. Pegg, the present pro­
prietor, who is a Bata\'ian born and bred, and who was
sherifI' in Nevada, for four years, of one of its largest mining
and business counties. Mr. Peg~ years ago was in the
drug business here, and brings to the paper high personal
character and plenty of means.

The present editor of the Courier, and who for the past five
years has had control of its columns, either as chief or local
editor, puhlisher, or printer, is John H. Fairman. He was
born in Medina, N. Y., March 8, 1839, and when fifteen
years of age began to learn 'the printer's trade. Came to
Ohio, served in the Rebellion in Co. F, 59th Ohio Regi­
ment Infimtry (Judge Thomas M..Lewis' company), and
from 1866 to 1870 was printer-in-ehief to the adjutant­
~eneral of the United States army at \Vashi ngtoD, D. C.
:Feb. 7, 1865, he was married to :Miss Carrie, youngest
daughter of the late John M. Brown, Batavia.'s filmous
merchant for over twenty-fi,Ye years. In New York City
he was connected with the Hemld and the Tribune as .re­
porter, compo~itor, and in various other capacities j in New
Orleans with the Picayune, in Indianapolis with the Joumal,
in Washington with the Glove, and on other metropo,litan
dailies. For fifteen years, at different periods, he has been
on the Cow'ie1' corps, and to-day is just.ly considered one of
the best country local editors in the West, and as a para­
graphist has few equals in Ohio. The C'onrier has but
little official patronage, but, notwithstanding this fact, under
Mr. Fairman's management' the paper has achieved a
stronger financial strength, and is now upon a better basis,
than at any previous epoch in its long and eventful history.

The Cow'ie1' office was ill the building now occupied by
William Baum as a residence from 1836 to 1837, when it

was removed to the room in the Dennison building now used
as a law-office by Swing & Brunaugh. In 1839 it was
again changed, and to the room now used, in same building,
by 'V. ,V. Dennison and Judge T. M. Lo~is as a law-office j

and in 18-1:4 changed to the front room, now used by John
'V. Davis and W. F. Roudebush as a law-office, in the same
building. In 1850 the office was removed to the second
story of the frame building on corner of Main and Market
Streets, now owned by Rachel Danberry, and in 1856 again
removed to the Dennison building, over the present store of
J. & 1\1. Bicking j in 1857 to a building on the corner of
the alley, on Main Street, just above the jail j and in 1864:
to the Masonic building, and in the room now occupied b.v
Dr. Bunn as a drug-st.ore. In 1867 the office was removed
to the Jamieson building, then completed, where ever since
it has remained.

For oyer a third of a century this newspaper has-been in
the county a courier to many a household, whose inmates
anxiously awaited' its weekly arrival and eagerly devoured
its contents j and in that time it was ever the vehicle of ad­
vanced thought in behalf of all great humanitarian senti-

. ments and principles for the amelioration of mankind,
whether in the cotton-fields and on the rice-plantations of
the South, in the teeming factories of the. North, in the shops
and on the farms of its own county. Society in its best es­
tate, morality in its broadest views, and governmental ideas
in their most republican,significance, eyer found in its liberal
columns an exponent of the highest type. It has witnessed
great" changes since it was founded, in the heyday of' Jack­
son's national administration. It saw the coming reign of
Van Buren, his terrific overthrow by Harrison in 1840, the
defeat of gallant Clay in 1844, the success of " Old Zack"
in 1848, the disaster to the 'Vhigs in 1852, and the death of
t.heir party in 1853. But it then witnessed the origin, dse,
and triumphant success of the new party,-one republican
in its true sense,-saw the election of Lincoln in 1860; and
witnessed the crushing of the slave-holders' rebellion and
the nation preserved intact. It saw its first editor, the sa­
gacio.us R. \V. Clarke, Clermont's greatest political strategist,
sent to Congress, and its ever-trusted friend, Philip n. Swing,
made a United States judge, and its other and ever-filithful
advisor and former editor, Milton Jamieson, rise to be the
monetary leader of the county. And it witnessed the
phlCing of a native Clermonter, Gen. Grant, eight years in
the Presidential chair, by the votes of the party whose or­
gan through weal and woe it is, and expects to be, till it
has outlived its usefulness.

1'HE CLERMONT SUN, ,FOUNDED AS THE OUIO
DUN.

On the first day of July, 1828, the first number of this
paper was issued in the village of Bethel, and was thereafter
published every Wednesday by Samuel Medary, although the
enterprise was begun and for some time fostered by Thomas
Morris. The paper was a folio of five columns to a page,
,which measured thirteen and a half by twenty one and a
half inches, and up to that date was the largest paper ever
printed in the county. This seemingly extraordinary size
was looked upon by the wiseacres as a daring adventure,
fraught with great risk and possible misfortune. But the



156

•
HISTORY OF CLERMO~T COUNTY, OHIO.

nwn who el'ltabli~11ed the Sun understood the wants of the
pcople from haying mingled with them, and his paper was
a ~uceess from the very b('ginning.* The p,lper, too, set out
:IS the advocate of the rights of the people, and assumed
for its motto this ringing sentiment, .. Unawed by the in­
fluence of the rich, the great,or the 'noble, the people must
be heard, and their rights protected." This sentiment
('yoked the patronage of' hundreds of people, and the masses
have ever since looked upon the paper m; their friend. The
8ubscription terllls of the SitU were two dollars per annum
il' paid ill advance, or three dollars at. the end of the year,
and all kinds of country produce, such as wheat, pork,
whi~ky, linen, feathers, sugar, beeswax, flax. wool, rags, etc.,
wcre taken at market prices in payment, and for advertising
and job-work. To secUl'C a gcncral circulation agents were
appointed at different places, as follows: Bethel, Thomas J.
Morris j Perin's Mills, Samuel J. Perin j Milford, Mathias
Kugler & Son j New Richmond, Col. Haines j Point
Pleasant neighborhood, Thomas Lindsey j Chilo, John
l~verhart j Felicity, Robert Chalfimt; Withamsville, Hobert
Fcc; Ten-Mile, Chapman Archer j Point Pleasant, John
Mollyneaux j Goshen, Dr..S. G. Meek j 1\1oscow, ,Y. K.
B'yl'Il and W. H. Abbott j Cincinnati, Stephen Burrows j

Georgetown, Jesse R Grant (filther of Gen. U. S. Grant) ;
and several for 'Varren, Brown, and Seioto Counties, and
one in I1linois State. 1\11'. ~Iedar'y was no printer at that
time, but he edited the paper, helped the printer, and at­
tended to the delivery and llIailing, and the affairs of the
office generally. After a few months' issues, or at the
iilrthest in the first part of the ensuing year, the office was
rcmoved to Batavia, where evcr since it has remained, dif­
fusing light and information among the people.

In the issue of June 2-1, 182U, the county commissioners
advertised the letting of the construction of the new Ba­
tavia. bridge and the sale of the old one, to take place on
the 23d of July, at which time also the public ~quare in
Williamsburgh, and the old county builJings thereon, were
to be sold as the property of the county. This paper was
Democratic in politics, and warmly supported General
J achon for President in 1828, and his admini::;tration
through good and evil report.

From its files wc glean a rich account of the grand
:l Fourth of July Celebmtion" in 1829, at Robert Fee's, in
Union township, where patriotic toasts were given by
Joseph Stone (a soldier in the Hevolution), Hobert McFar­
land, Dr. Wm. Doane, Col. Wm. Curry, Alex. Herring, Jr.;
Peter Emery, Jonathan D. Morris, Dr. Wm. 'Vaylund,
James Abrams, Tholllas Morris, John Joliffe, Thomas Kir­
gan, John O. Comstock, Saumcl Provost, Samuel Medary,
Euen S. lUcker, Hufus Hichardson, J. Lindsey, John Sum­
mers; William Tate, Samuel Shaw, and Wm. P. Richard­
son. Dr..Wayland presided, and Thomas Morris was the
orator of the day, and five hundred persons partook of the
dinner'and firing of guns.

"'SllmUel l\Ieunry"was born in Pcnns)'h'ania, nnd came to Bethel,
MaJ' 1, 1825, wherc he cngllged in teaching school for the next thrce
)'cars. The knowledge :Mr. ~Icual'Y obtaincd in connection with the
SI/Il was applicd by him in .founuing thc Stalclll/HI/I nud O";lIi8, at
Columbus, llnd securcd his political prcfcrllLent in after-ycurs. He WI\S

Tcrritorial t~o\'crnor of Kansas IlDlIl\linnesota.

In the paper of Nov. ]6, 1831, is an account of the
anival from Europe of the British ship" Arkwright," an­
nouncing the fidl of 'Varsaw and defeat of the Poles, given
in di:-played head-lines.

In 18i~i~, the name was changed to Ohio Sun and Ole1·.
mont Advertiser, and as such continued some time. 1\11'.
Metlary, in his plain and resolutc Saxon language, soon
showed that editorial ability which was the precursOl' to his
subsequent career as the great editor of the \Vest in anothcr
and more extended field of journalism, and the leading
political manager of Ohio.

Mr. Medary having been elected State senator in 1835,
sold, early in 1836, the paper to his brothers, Jaeub and
Asher C. Mcclary, who changed its name back to 'l'lw Oltio
SlIn, and conducted its publication until the winter 'of 1837
and 1838, when they sold to James Ferguson, who had
been elected county auditor in 1835, and defeated for re­
election in 1837. 1\11'. Ferguson (still living on his farm
in Clay Co., Ind.) published the paper till 1839, but with­
out success financially, as the businel'ls part of' the establish­
men t h:ld run down.

1\11'. Ferguson, though an able writer and a well-informed
and most genial gentleman, lacked the special traits neces­
sary to the business part of publishing a succe:-isf'ul paper,
so he gave it up to a committee of Democrats, who made a
joint-stock concern of the paper, with Col. William Thomas
(sherifi' from 1833 to 1837) as chairman, Hobert Temple,
and several other leading Democrats of' the county. This
committee secured the services (through the medium of the
thcn congressman, Dr. ·William Doane, of Withamsville) of
a Mr. Gobright, of Wa::;hington City, who edited the paper
with marked ability until November, 18.&-0, when he left,
after having gone down to Union township and notified Mr.
Hobert l'elllple of his intcntion and delivered over to him
the books, keys, etc. The result of the Pre::;idential elec­
tion had frightened Mr. Gobright, but the committee were
still more scared by finding that their investment was pecu­
niarily a sad failure, and its chairman, Col. Thomas, w'as
out of' pocket to the tune of four or five hundred dollars.
1\11'. Gobright remained in 'Vashington, and was subse­
quently employed in the departments, and conuected with
various papers at the capital. He was the author of-several
statif;tical and historical books, and for a quarter of a cCl,tury
past (until the last few months) he has beell the 'Vashing­
ton Associateq Press Dispatch general agent.

In the latter part of November, 18-10, Learner B. Leeds
purchased of' the stockholders and its committee this paper,
and issued his first number on Dec. 7, 18-10. He began
witli less than two hundred subscribers, showing how this
sheet had run down, as its former conductors had so badly
managed its affairs, often missing two or three weeks with­
out getting out a number, so that people had lost confidence
in it. The county had given Gen. Harrison, for J,->resi.dent,
fhree hundl'ed and fort,Y-thl'ee majority (the only time, Presi­
dentially, it was carried against the Democrats, sa\'e in 1864,
when Lincoln beat Gen. McClellan by two Yote::;), which,
with its businesil embarrassments, required time and labor
to overcome. Mr. Leeds made it a point never to miss the
publication of the paper on time and never to miss a week,
and by untiring labor and strict economy he finally estab-
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Jished the Sun on a good basis, so that. its subscription list
rlui up to a paying number. 1\11'. Leeds adopted this motto:
"1'he soverei~ntyof the people, the rights of'the States, and
supremacy of the laws constitute the fundamental principles
of a f1'ee government." The issue of July 10, 1841, con­
tained the" Fourth of July" address of William Howard,

'delivered at 'VithamsvilJe, and announcements of Simpson
Gl'iffith and }~di:llund Spence for the Democratic nomina­
tion for recorder, and of William Stone and James 'Yard
for that of' sheriff.

The paper under 1\11'. Leeds' management 'was a grand
success, editorially and financially, and his party had an in­
creased majority, and Polk" and Dallas carried the county
llandsomely. In the spring of 1850 he sold the papcr to
James Evans, who was a son-in-law of the old surveyor,
John Hill, who conducted the paper until the 12th day of
August, 1851, when he died. Mr. J..tceds then again rc­
sumed its control until Aug. 19, 1852, when J. P. Thomp­
son bought. the establishment, and chose for his motto,
" Be just and fear not. J..Iet all the ends thou aimest at be
thy country's, thy God's, and truth's j" but before this Mr.
J..teeds, in 1844, had changed its name to Tile Clermont Sun,
which it has borne to this hour.

On Feb. 2, 185-!-, K T. Norton purc11ased a half-inter­
est in the Sun, aiso doing editorial work, and continued on
it till June 8th, when, having been chosen editor of the
.Daily .Dispatch, of Portsmouth, he sold his interest to
Will C. Walker. On June 24, 1854, Mr. Thompson died,
in his twenty-ninth year of age, after an illness of short du­
ration and unexpectedly to the community. He was born
in Indiana Co., Pa., in 1825, and at seventeen years of age
took charge of a newspapcr in his nati\'e State, and subse­
quently successfully conducted the mana~emcnt of several
others, among which were the Pen,!! Freeman, at New
Bloomfield j Tile Registe1', at Mifflintown j the Age, at
New Hichmond, Ohio j and the Clermont Sun.

On Aug. 3, 185-!-: the one-half of the paper belonging to
the estate of J. P. Thompson was sold to Andrew J.
Sprllgl1C, a practical printer, who had learned the art under
Illl apprenticeship to J..carner B. Leeds, many years before,
and who had worked a long time on this paper, as well as
on the leadin~ Cincinnati dailies. The following ii'om the
Oincinnati Da-ily Gazette, of' July SO, 1850, shows that
1\11'. Sprague was the bcst and fastest printer at that time
in America:

"A TYPO AS IS ONE.

" Mr. Andrew J. Sprague, ono of the compositors engaged on the
Daily Gazelte, hns, during the past seven eonseeuth'e working days,
set lip an aggregate of lJO,750 ems, correcting his own }Jroofs and dis­
trilmting hisown mntter. This is an average of 13,000 ems per <by.
An old-fashiolled day's work was 5000, and it is It good workman who
now regularly sets (HlOO or 7000 per day, nnd a quick one who aver­
lIges 7000 to 8000. 1\11'. Sprague belongs to' the ftt~t line' most de­
chledl,)', nnd clln ' go through by daylight' lIny time."

This was a handsome compliment to Mr. Sprague, and
his big time at the case called forth all over the Union
congratulations and encomiums fl'Om th~ leading journals
and periodical press.

On Feb. 8, 1855, Mr. Will C. Walker sold his half­
interest to Smith Town:;lcy, a good printer, and for 'several
years (until the past few months) connected with the

JaCk'son County (Ohio) ~lIel'ald. Messrs. Sprague &
Townsley were splendid printers,' but had no taste for
writing, and Mr. L. B. Leeds became the editor for them,
and, in filet, in the year before had done most of the edi­
torial work on this p~per.

On tllC 24th of January, 1856, Mr. J.Jeeds bought out
1\1r. Townsley's one-half interest, and the firm was Sprague
& J..teeds, and so continued until Novembe~ 20th (after Bu­
chapan's election as President), when Mr. Leeds bought out
his partner, 1\11'. Sprague, who w~nt into the drug business,
and in which he h~ls ever since continued. Mr. Sprague.
now bade farewell to the printing craft, and in his new
pursuits and avocations has become one of Batavia's solid
men, and one of its most pubHc·spirited citizens. Mr.
Leeds had the paper through all the cxciting campaign
from the Kansas-Ncbmska trouble, and through tl.le stirring
events of the first three years of the civil war, including
the famous and nevCl·-to-be-forgotten Vallandigham cam­
paign. In 1860, 'V. U. Hartman had a one-half' interest
in the Sun, as editor and publisher.

Henry V. Kerr (the prcsent State librarian) became the
owner of the SI/n in 1864, and Mr. Leeds retired to other
fields of labor. He was so long identified with journalism
in the county that a short sketch of this Nestor of the
press will be read with general interest.

Learner B. Leeds was born in Clermont, of pioneer
parents, July 16, 1816, and follow~d the occupation of a
farmer till his nineteenth year, when (in October, 1835)
he was apprenticed to the printing business, under the late
Governor Samuel Medary, of Tlte Ohio Sun, at Batavia.
After serving out his apprenticeship with Samuel Medary

-and his successors, his brothers Jacob and Asher C., he
wcnt to Cincinnati in the fall of 1838, and worked until the
ensuing spring on The Oincinuati Gazette, under the dis­
tinguished Charles Hammond (now deceased), its editor.
In the spring of 1839 he went with Amos Derrough into
a new printing-office at Georgetown, Brown Co., Ohio, which
l\Ir. Derrough had established and called the Denwcratic;
Stundm'd, and of which he was foreman for a few weeks,
when he bought out the paper. He conducted this sheet
as editor, publisher, and printer for nearly ten months, then
sold out, returned to Cincinnati, and worked till late in the
fillI of IS4() on Tlte Pltilalltll1'opist, an able anti-slavery
paper, edited at that time by the world·renowned Gamaliel
Bailey. In November, 18-1:0, he bought the OMo Sun, at
Batavia, which he conducted as publisher and editor from
Dcc. 7, 1840, to the last we~k of l\Iarch, 1864, with the
ex.ception of less than three years during the time. He
was elected recorder of Clermont County in 1847, and re·
elected in 1850, and served three years. In 1844 ·hc united
with the Masonic Order, at Batavia, was six years 'Yorship­
full\Iaster of its lodge, and one year Most Excellent High
Pricst of the chapter. In 185-!- he joined the Independent
Order of Odd-Fellows, and in 1868 became a Hoyal and
Select, l\Iaster in the council. In these two orders he was
a~\Vays a zealous and an active member. In the spring of
1864 he pUl'chased the SOl/tltem Oltio A?:9l1s, the Demo­
cratic organ at Georgetown, Ohio, of the Brown County
Dcmocracy, and changed its nallle to that of 'l'lte Brown
Omnl."! llew.s, which he to this day publishef:. It is a 1IlI'goe
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four-page paper of thirty-six columns, printed on a steam
cylinder prcss; and in print and size of sheet, in able and
manly editorials, and in extensive circulation and influence,
is unsurpassed by any country paper in Ohio.

In 186!), Mr. Leeds was elected State senator for the
Clermont and Brown senatorial district (the fourth), and re­
elected in 1871, and served four years as a filithful, able, and
industrious member of the Senate, commanding the complete
confidence of his friends and the respect and esteem of' his
political adversaries. On one occasion, while publishing the
SIIIt, the mail-stage, which was then the only public convey­
ance between Batavia and Cincinnati, owing to bad roads and
high water, fhiled to bring Mr. Leeds' paper for that week's
issue. No alternative wus left him but to either miss his
issue or to go after paper; and, determined not to disappoint
his subscribers, he procured a horse, saddle, and bridle, and
started for Cincinnati about four o'clock P.M., and reached
that city late at night. Next morning' he secured his bun­
dle of blank paper, took it on his horse, holding it before him,
and rode back with it, and issued his paper on tillle. To
carry a bundle of paper weighing nearly a hundred pounds
on horseback for twenty-one miles was no easy task, but he
had never yet disappointed his subscribers, and the Sun had
to shine, whether or no, as far as horseflesh was concerncd.
At another time 1\11'. Leeds went to Cincinnati after paper,
and during the night the Ohio River hud risen very tilst,
and the back-water was over the levee west of the old
Union Bridge across the Little .Miami. He was in a light
spring-wagon and alone, and concluded that he could cross
the water on the levee, and so made the venture. He soon
found the water was becoming deep, but there was nothing
for him to do but "go forward," for to attempt to turn'
back was impossible. Large fields of ice were afloat on the
water, and llis horse was often in water up to his back, and
he knew not how soon he and wagon and all would float off
the levee, and, of course, all go down together. Twice he
was compelled to stop for a time till the ice would float
past and off the road, which he could not distinguish from
the muddy condition of the water, so that he had to drive
very carefully and steadily. Once the body of the wagon
was afloat, and every instant he expected to be swept away;
but hc finally succeeded in reaching the time-honored old
bridge, alld arrived home all safe, and got out that number
of his paper on time. Such were some of the hardships
and perils he was compelled to encountcr in order to can·
duct his busincss continuously, and that no disappointments
should befall his patrons. Mr. Leeds during the first ten
years of his editorial life ne\'er wrote his editorials, but set
them up at the case, composing them as he set the type;
and for' many years he set up most of the Sun with his own
hands, worked the press, did up all the papal's in packages
for the maih; in other words, he did most of the work on
the paper from necessity,-the income of the office not jus­
tifying the hiring of a single journeyman,-keeping only one
or two boys for assistance. Such was the work on the Sun
from 1840 to 1850, and present publishers know but little
of the labors and difficulties which befel the early ones, even
as late as the Jear 1850, since which time improved ma­
chinery and various inventions hav~ greatly systematized
printing and lessened its multiform trials and labors.

H. V. Kerr (see his life as State librarian elsewhere in
this book) brought to the paper great energy, tact, and
editorial ability, and being one of the keenest politicians of
the county conducted his business with astonishing adroit­
ness, and imparted to this long-established paper a highly
literary character and tone. He sold the paper, Apl'il 1,
1872, to Allen T. and Dale O. Cowen (brothers), who con­
ducted it under the fiml-name of D. O. Cowen & Co. .

Allen T. Cowcn (now the learned, dignified, anl.1 popular
judge of the Clermont Common Pleas Court) was born in
Batavia, in the house now occupied by D. G. Dustin, and
married, in 18li1, Miss Kate Brown, a daughter of Mr.
Carson Brown, of ·Hamilton County, and on her maternal
side descended from the Stites, the first pioneers of Co­
lumbia.

Dale O. Cowen was born in June, 1845, in the jail­
building which his father then occupied as sheriff, and was
nial'l'ied Feb. 11, 1873, to Miss Mary C. Dustin, daughter
of the late Col. J. S. Dustin, an old Batavia merchant.
They were sons of Michael Cowen, who was born in Bed­
ford County. Pa., in 1804, and came to Ohio about 1827,
and married Miss Mary Ann Roudebush on August 11,
1831. In 1841 and 1843 he was elected sheriff, and served
four years. He was a high-toned gentleman, of an iron
will, and true to every tmst committed to his care, and
died Sept. 16, 1854, at Milford, universally mourned.

In 1875, Allen T. Cowen sold out his interest in the
Sun to his brother (the youngest), Willis 1\1. Cowen, who
was a practical printer, and thoroughly understood the busi­
ness, and the name of the firm remained unchanged,. and
is to-day D. O. Cowen & Co., who are the editors and pub­
lishers of the Clermont Sun. On the 3d of January, 1877,
\Villis 1\1. Cowen was married to Kate D. Kerr, daughter
of the former proprictor.

When the Cowen brothers took the Sun it had only seven
hundred subscribers, and now it has over fourteen hundred.
They have erected on Market Street a fine brick building,
on the very site where stood the old frame church where
Henry "Tard Beecher preached his first sermon when he
came out to Batavia one Sunday, from the Lane Divinity
School near Cinci nnati, to rna ke .his first attempt in ex­
pounding the word of God. The Sun printing-office, in its
appointments and equipments of one steam-power cylinder
press, two ~tearn jobbers, and proof press, with its complete
outfit of n'ew t.ype, and all the appurtenances necessary to a
first-class establishment, is unsurpassed, and hardly equaled
by any other country offiee in the State, and it is gratifying
to record that the labors and enterprise of the firm have
been generously appreciated by the people of the county.

THE NEW RICH~[OND PRESS.

The first periodical was issued in the days when New
Hichmond was the county-seat, and was called The Lum1'n­
(11'!J. The publishcrs were four brothers, A., C., J., and W.
Herron, and the printing-office Was in the upper rooms of
the Seneca Palmer fulling-mill, which stood where is now
\VilIenbrink's f~ed-store. The paper was a small folio, the
sheet being eighteen by twenty-four inches, and its first
issue bore date July 3, 1823. It appeared every Wednes­
day for about a year at the subscription-price of two dollars
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per annum, if paid in advance (and payments before the
fifth number were announced as being in advance). As a
further induc~ment to subscribe, the publishers offered to
tleliver the paper free of extra cost by private mail when
a sufficient number of subscribers resided at one place. If
paid at the end of the year the cost of this paper was three
dollars. The publishers set out with very exalted ideas,
having for their mottoes these fine sentiments: "Truth
our guide, and naught but. the public good our.aim j" and,
" Enlightened minds and virtuous manners lead to the gates
of glory." Of the editors little is known, save that Joseph
Herron was one of the early teachers of New Richmond,
and after tIle removal of the county-scat to Batavia the
paper soon died for want of patronage.

THE PHILANTHROPIST.

In 1834, James G. Birney, the celebrated ch.ampion of
human liberty and equal rights, began the publication of
The Pltilanth1'opist, at New Hichmond, in a building which
stands on Walnut and 'Villow Streets, and continued issu­
ing the paper there several years. 1\11'. Birney came to
New Richmond with his paper, a large and well-printed
four-page sheet, upon the assurance of the Donaldson broth­
ers and other well-known anti-slavery men that he could
there pursue his work unmolested. Although the senti­
ments of New Richmond frowned down any attempt to
disturb Mr. Birney in his avocation, yet danger fr9m mobs
was sevel'al times apprehended. Lawless men ft'om Ken­
tucky and other places threatened to sack the office, and
the abolitionists and personal friends of the editor of Tlte
Philanthropist rallied to defend the paper. At the signal
of danger a meeting was held in the old market-house of
that village, which was addressed by Caleb S. Walker and
other friends of freedom, and the most emphatic assurance
given 1\11'. Birney that they would sland by him, though
it should require the sacrifice of life and property. On one
occasion the villagers were violently alarmed by the report
that a boat had Leen chartered at Cincinnati to bring up a
party of pro-slavery men whose avowed purpose was to de­
stroy The Pltilalll1t1'Opist. Again the people of New Rich­
mond assembled to take measures to sustain MI'. Bil'Dey,
and some counseled a resort to extreme measures should
the destroyers come. Happily, better counsels prevailed,
and the boat did not leave Cincinnati; but all that night
the friends of a frce press patroled the town in front of
'Plte Philanthropist office to protect it from possible assault.
Some time in the' spring of 1836 :Mr. Birney moved his
office to Cincinnati, and on the night of July 30th it was
destroyed by a lawless and infuriated mob, who scattered the
typc into the streets, tore down the presses, and completely
destroyed the office. Afterwards the friends and supporters
of this filmous abolition paper subscribed and purchased a
new outfit for Mr. Birney, and he resumed its publication,
and in 1844 was the" Liberty party's" candidate for Presi­
dent, with Thomas Morris, of Bethel, for Vice-Presiden~.

1\11', Birney often, in subsequent years, spoke in the highest
tel'l11S of the good pGople of New Richmond and of Clermont,
who so boldly in muscle and finapces stood by him in the
trying hours of the publication of his paper, devoted to the
abolitiou of negro slavery and to the equal ri"ghts of all men.

The third attempt at joul'Dalism at New Richmond was
made in 1851 by J. P. Thompson, as editor and publisher
of 'l'lte New Richmond Age, the real proprietor being Hon.
Michael H. Davis, two years later the able and popular
State senator from the Clermont-Brown district, This
paper had four pages of five wide columns each, and was
edited with considerable ability. It was devoted to the
interests of the Democratic party, though not an official
org~n. The office of publication was in Sturges' building,

• and for a short time Hugh Herrick was its editorial head.
This paper continued until Aug. 19, 1852, when J. P.
Thompson bought' the Cle1'1llonl Courie1' and united the
New Richmond Age with it, and the latter ceased to exist
as a separate sheet, but upon its discontinuance the press
was employed on job-work.

In 1854, Frank B. Strickland began the publication of
The lYew Richmond A dve1'tiser-, an eight-page monthly,
"Independent on all subjects, neutral in nothing." This
paper being not well sustained its size was reduced, and in
the following year was issued by 1\11'. Strickland as Tlte
.1Jforning Welcome, but in one year its visits ceased to be
welcomed at the houses of its old patrons, and it was
among the relics of the past.

In 1856, Joseph Kerr & Co., booksellers, purchased the
IVelcome office, and, with 1\11'. Strickland· as editor, issued
the New Richmond Weeldy Dispatch,_ a paper of resp~et­

able proportions and bearing a neat typographical appear­
ance. It was independent in politics, and its printing-office
was opposite White's wharf~ in the third story of :Mc~Iur­

chy's btlilding. After some two years the Dispalclt was
discontinued, aud for a number of years New ltichmond
was without its local paper.

In the filII of 1866, W. G, Barkley bought a job-press,
which he set up in New Richmond, and soon )lfter began
the publication of The New Ricllmoitd Telegraplt. 1'he
paper started out with a subscription list of more than five
hundred names, but was not a successful venture, and at
the end of a year the enterprise was abandoned. lUI'.
Barkley was the grandson of William Barkley, who settled
in Washington township in 1795. He was born in 1838,
and had only a common-school education, but by diligent
study was able to occupy positions wherever intelligence
was requireq.

In 1868 the Browning Bt'others, editors and publishers
of the Cle1'rnonl COll1'ie1', established a job-office at New
Richmond, in charge of D, S. Croshaw, and issued 'l'he
.At.b:erl;ser, a four-page mon~hly for gratuitous circulation.
The liberal patronage gi\'en this sheet induced Mr. Cl'Oshaw
to begin the publication of

THE NEW RICHMOND INDEPENDENT,

a sprightly journal, which is continued to this day. The
first issue appeared April 8, 1869, and after being success­
fully conducted for about five years by D. S. Croshaw, the
Independent became the property of the present editor and
p,roprietor, 'Vintlll'op Frazer, the son of the well-known Dr.
Frnzer, of Tate township. The paper is ably edited,
making a specialty of local news, which is characterized
for its fl'cshness and correctness, and items pertaining to
the townships along the Ohio IU\'er arc faithfully noted.
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In this section of the county thc Independent has a large
and constantly increasing circulation. The paper is printed
cvcry Saturday, in a wcll-appointed office in Mc:\I urchy's
Arcade Building, and prescnts a very attractive appearance.
The office is supplied with a steam-power press for job­
work, and is the only one in the county containing a full
assortment of German type.

TilE EXCELSIOR.

This was the name of a paper published at Bantam, in •
1838, by Dt,. John 1\1. Kellum, as editor and publisher,
and was conducted ill the interest of the new project
that, year, which contemplated removing the county-scat
fl'Om Batavia to Bantam, then alleged to be the grund ~eo­

graphical centre of Clermont, Dt,. Kellum was a bright
genius,-a poet of State celebrity,-whose contributions to
the city and periodical press had given him much reputa­
tion in literary cit'clcs, A short time previous he had been
the editor of the Clermont COllrier, and his joul'llalistic
ability was unquestioned j but the Excelsior proved a failure,
for lack of the necessary material support, and the scat of
justice was allowed to remain undisturbed where it yet is,
in the sequestered East Fork Valley, at Batavia.

THE ADVANCE.

In April, 1874-, Tlte Advance, a small but spicy inde­
pendent paper, was started in Batavia, by Shepherd G. Nor­
ris as publisher and proprietor, and Daniel Hillin as editor.
In April, 1875, its name was changed to Tlw Put1'Ons' Ad­
vance, and, greatly enlargcd in size, it became the official
organ of the" Patrons of Husbandry," othcrwise generally
known as " Grangers.".

From 18J3 to 1875 a very large numbcr of granges
were established in Clermont, and through the Patrons'
AdvaJice their proceedings found a public outlet, and it was
a medium for the dissemination of the then current grange
literature. The paper reported the lodge meetings, their
doings, and the proceedings of the county grange, and de­
voted large space to agriculture, horticulture, and other
subjects of general interest to grangers, and their principles,
as inculcated in their rituals and const.itutions of the thirty­
oud subordinate granges of the county. In Oc.tober, 1876,
Mr. Norris sold the paper to James Robinson, the present
owner and publisher, who in the summer of 1878 changed
its name to 'l.1w Jotat'ional Advance, and took in as editor
N. B. Ross. The paper now hecame the official organ of
the" National Gt'eenback party," but continued to devote
spacc and attention to the interests of the Patrons at' Hus­
bandry. In February, 1880, N. B. Ross retired fro~t the
paper, and on the eighteenth of that month, Mr. Robinson,

. who now became the editor, as well as publisher, changed
the name to its original title,- 'l.'lte Advance,-and as such
it is yet ably conducted by him.

'l.'lte Advance has taken a decided position on question!:!
of' reform and retrenchment, as affecting the interests of
the county, and although the youngest newspaper in the
county, it has carved out for itself an enviable place in the
affections of many good citizens, ~ho contribute to its
pages or give it their patronage.

AU'l'HOHS OF CLEH~IONT.

Rev. BEN.JAl\IIN FRANKLIN MORRIS, third son of Hon.
Thomas Morris, United States senator of Ohio from 1833
to 18:39, was a distinguished minister of the gospel of the
New-School Presbyterian ChUl'ch for over twenty-five years.
He was born in Bethel, this county, and, after the election
of President Lincoln and his inauguration, was appointed
to an honorable and lUel'ative position in one of the depart­
ments at 'Washington. Eminent as a preacher and of fine
literary tastes and capacities, he published and edited in
1856 the life of his honorcd father, Thomas Morris. This
book is an elegant volume of four hundred and eight
pages, printed by 1\1oore, 'Vilstach, Kcys & O\'erend, of
Cincinnati, and was written with rare ability and singular
good tact. It had an enormous sale, especially in Ohio, the
scene for half a century of the labors of Senator Morris as
a powerful ad\Oocate, honest legislator, and the incorruptible
s~nator in Congress, and there the first on the floor of the
American Senate to defy the arrogant slave dynasty. This
life was a rich contribution to the historical literature of the
State in its sketches of early pioneer scenes and legislative
enactments and reminiscences, and was most favorably criti­
cised by the press of the day. Published after the repeal
of the 1\1issouri Compromise and during the exciting polit­
ical campaign of 1856, it was also used in the canvass, and
served to repel the haughty encroachments of the insolent
slave oligarchy, then plotting for the direful rebellion that
soon broke out in open revolt. This book established for
its author, Rev. Benjamin F. :Morris, a high niche in the
grand literary temple of American fame, and conferred honor
without stint upon the noble county that had gi\Oen him birth
and that had been the home of his illustrious father. This
work, so dear to the lovers of liberty, was written in plain
English idiom, but, its every page teems with rare elo­
quence and periods classically rounded in its descriptions
of its grand old hero's lif'e and labors.

Near Bethel was born that most distinguished American
divine, Prof. DA.VID SWING, D.D., and this bright orna­
ment to modern literature and theology came of a family
most early, honorably, and piously connected with Cler­
mont's pioneer and subsequent history. Whether viewed
as a.profcssor in a theological institute or literary university,
as a preacher in the pulpit or religious editor in the sanc­
tum, as a public lecturer on the rostrum or author in his
study, our country will be searched in vain to find a speaker
more elo(luent, a writer more finished or classical, or a
teacher firmer and more steadfhst in his devotion to truth
as revealed to him in Nature and the Holy Writ. No lllan
draws larger audiences before the literary, library, and mer­
cantile associations than Prof, Swing, the idol of the literary
men of the 'West, and the pride of his adopted city of
Chicago. His voluminous con'tributions to the secular,
literary, and religious press, periodicals and reviews, have
made his name a house-word in our land, and given him
an enviable reputation among the lilemti of the Old
World, The published volumes of his great sermons have
electt'ified the country, and while many lllay doubt his
orthodoxy or disagree wi.th his broad and liberal religious
views, all admire his frankness and candor, and bow to his
talents and ge~ius, undeniably so great and majestic. His
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mastel'piece of classical writing was his book of " Truths
for To-Day," which put the cap-sheaf on his reputation as
an author, and made him known wherever the English
language is spoken.

TnOl\IAS BUCHANAN READ, the great poet and artist,
whose additions to American f.'lme in poetry and art have
given him a proud station in the galaxy of our Union's
literary ornaments, was for years a resident of Clermont,
on whose soil many of his happiest efforts were composed,
and which have given him most, illustrious renown..

Rev.. RANDOLPH SWING FOSTER, D.D., one of the
bhshops of the Methodist Episcopal Church, was born in
Clermont, at Williamsburgh, on Feb. 22, 1820. He waS
considered us ruther a backward boy, and in his youth gave
uo munifestations of that wonderful power which character­
izes him as an eloquent preacher or eminent author. He
pursued his studies at Augusta College, Kentucky, and
shortly after he was seventeen years of age entered the
ministry. He was soon placed in important stations in the
Ohio Conference. 'Vhen in charge of Wesley Chapel,
Cincinnati, he replied throngh the lVestem Christian Ad­
vocate to attacks made by the Rev. Dr. Rice, the distin­
guished divine of the Presbyterian Church, and his letters
were published in book-form in 1849, with the title of
" Objections to Calvinism." This book gave him a great
name in the East, and the next year he was transferred to
New York, und stationed in Mulberry Street Church, and
while there he published a volume on ,. Christian Purity,"
which book added largely to the laurels before won by him
in religious literatUl·e. In 185~ he was elected president
of the Northwestern University, and after occupying that
position for several years, returned to the pastorate, filling
appointments in New York City and vicinity. In 1858
he was chosen as professor in the DreW Theological Semin­
ary, and on the death of the lament.cd Hev. Dr. McClintock
he succeeded to the presidency. He was a member of the
General Conferences of 1864, 1868, and 1872. In 1868
he was selected with Bishop Ames to visit the Conferences
of Ireland and England, and in 1872 he was elected one
of the bishops of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Since
his election, in addition to other work and various literary
labors, he has visited the Conferences and missions in
Europe, and also the missions in South America. His
present residence kin Boston, where this great divine and
gifted author ranks second to none in that most distinguished
centre of culture on the continent. This son of' Clermont
sprang from a lineagc-Foster-Swing-ever inclined to
religious tendencies and scholastic teachings, but little did
the good people of Williamsburgh think half a century
ago that the little diffident boy of ten years old that lived
in that vicinity, and who showed no signs of unusual men­
tal powers, would in after-years astonish the land with his
remarkable gifts as preacher, author, and bishop.

CUARLES ROBB was one of the brightest minds ever
born and reared in the county, and for many years the
press of the country was enriched by his political contri­
butions. His many and magnificent creations were never
collected and published in book-form, but of his poems of
rarest excellence we publish below one that cannot and
will not die. It was written for the Oldo "Valley Farmer.

:?1

THE MARCH OF MIND.

'Ve come, a mce of noble blood,
Whose record dates beyond the flood,
And proudly tread the rich green sod­
Onr titles sprung from nature's God.

We come, It bund of noble lords,
With plowshlLrcs bright for gleaming swards,
With stately step and cheering words,
For thus alone come natnre's lords.

Our court we haIti 'neath the syh'ltn dome,
'Vhere lovely Ceres makes her home,­
\Vhere fltmine gl\Unt and sooty gnome,
Pale Want uncI Sorrow, never come.

Our march is onward o'er the land,
Like some enehltnting signet wand!
Rieh beauties spring on every hand,­
The world is growing, doubling grand.

The mighty ocean curbcd nnl! reined,
Gigantie rivers spanned and chained,
And harnessed down the lightning's power ,
'1.'0 bear the tidings of the hour.

\Vith "Progress" on our b:tnner high,
Our wntchword peals along the sl,y;
"Humanity" our battle cry,
Minds, peerless monarchs, never die!

And when we hold the plow no more,
Nor gathcr home the golden store,
In joy we'lI tre:!.(l the golden slwd _
On the goodly shores of the better land.

Rev. STEPHEN M. MERRILL, D.D., one of the bishops
of the Methodist Episcopal Church, was born at Mount
Pleasant, Jefferson Co., Ohio, Sept. 16, 1825. His pa­
rents subsequently removed to Clermont County, where he
passed most of his young boyhood days, and later to Green­
field, Highland Co., where he joined the Methodist Episcopal
Church, Oct. 31, 1842. He was licensed to preach April
5, 1845, and admitted in 1846 into full connection with
the Ohio Conference, and appointed to Monroe. To an
elementary training he added, by careful study, a knowledge
of a wide circuit of literature, and was honored with the
degree of A.M. in 1864, fl'om Indiana Asbury University.
He waS presiding elder on Marietta District when, in 1868,
he was elected as a delegate to the General Conference.
He took an active part in the debates of that body, and
during the session was elected editor of Tlte H'estem
Clm'stian Advocate. Having served four yellrs in that
office, he was in 1872 elected bishop. In the" discharge
of the duties of his office he has traveled extensively over
the United States and has v.isited Mexico. He is the
author of a work on "Christian Baptism," a book of
standard authodty in his church, and which gave him
celebrity as a. choice English writer. He formerly resided
.in St. Paul, Minn., but now at Chicago. His early resi­
dence in Clermont entitles him to a. place in its history.

One of the sweetest of' Clermont's fcmale poets was Miss
MAlty E. FEE, born and reared in the county, and of a family
well known in Southern Ohio. Her poems were contrib­
uted to the county press and to Cincinnati papers-En­
quire?' and Gazette-under the sobriquet of "Eulalie."
In 1854 most of them were publishcd in a volume of one
hundred and ninety-four pages by Moo1'e, WiIstach &Keys,
of Cincinnati, undcr the title of "Buds, Blossoms, and
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Leaves." In the prefhce to the book she said: ".In the
long, still hours of solitudc and loneliness my pen-taught
lyre has breathed the straius I've gathered here. Hastily,
and without arl'angement, they were written, and thus are
they bound together in this little volume; and like a tiny
bark, freighted with human hopes and human fears, it is
cast upon the uncertain tide of literature, to sink or swim,
survive or perish, as friends do most applaud or critics most
cOIH.lemu." It swam and survived, and genius triumphed.
Jan. 31, 185-1-, she was married to John Shannon, of New
ltichmoud, and with her devoted husband sought a hOllle
in California, whem, as " Eulalie," she lectured and recited
her poems, drawing the largest and best-paying houses the
Golden State ever accorded to any person. She did not
live long to enjoy her brilliant triumphs, and after her
lamented death her husband fell in a duel.
Amon~ her choicest writings were the poems" Lines to

Judge Burnett" (her early benefactor), "The Desert
Burial," "The Gold Comet," "The Old Cedar-TI'ee, " The
Bough that will not Bend must Break," and" The :Magyar
Chief," a song expressly written for and sung at a grand
concert givcn for the benefit of Kossut.h at Cincinnati.

Of' ABBIE C. 1\1CKEEVElt, the gifted young poetess of
'Villiamsburgh, an ext.ended sketch appears in the history
of that township.

Another author born and reared in Clermont, in Monroe
township, in the old "Franklin neighborhood," so prolific
in giving birth to famous men and women, is 1\1rs. Dr.
GEORGE CONNER, of Cincinnati, formerly l\1i~s }1~liza Arch­
ard, and the well-known" E. A." of the Cincinnati Uornmc1'­
cial, on which paper for some ten years she has been one of its
most sparkling writers, correspondents, and reporters. She
married Dr. Conner, Jan. 1,1869, and has since made Cin­
cinnati her home and litcrature her profes8ion. Born a
genius, endowed with a fine classical education, of grcat
native wit and force and strength of character,-seldom
found in the supposed weaker sex,-her contributions to
the editorial columns of the Comme1·cia.l, and her rich, racy,
and piquant letters from Washington to that great daily,
have given to her only a celebrity her brilliancy and solidity
as a writer justly demanded.

MILTON JAMIESON, 1I0W prcsident of the Batavia First
National Bank, was u second lieutenant in Company C of the
2d Uegiment of' Ohio Volunteers in the Mexican war,
and aftcr his return published a book entitled" Joul'Oul and
Notes of a Campaign in Mexico," containing an account
anu full history of Company C, 2d Regiment Ohio Volun­
teers, with a curso'ry description of the country, climate,
cities, waters, roads, and forts along the southel'O line,of the
American army in Mexico. It was printcd in June, 18-1-!),
by the Ben Franklin Printing Huuse of' Cincinnati, and
was an elegantly-written work of' one hundrcd and five pages,
and gives a better narrative of arlUY life in the Mexican war,
and of the internal affairs of that distracted country, than
can be found in larger works of more imposing title. While
Lieut. Jamieson in his most interesting history made no at­
tempt at rhetorical display, or fine writing of classically­
wrought periods, he gave a most· concise and entertaining
description of' the formation of the company; its first going
into camp at Cincinnati; its trip to New Orleuns; the sail-

ing over the Gulf to Vera Cruz, and the exciting and.fhtiguing
mareh to Puebla. His book is particularly huppy ill its
narrations of Mexican agricultural life and the indolent
and shiftless character of its people, and his descriptions of
the scenery and old church monasteries are graphic and
beautiful. Brilliant delineations of the Catholic cathedrals
and ancient pyramids, whose history has never been
fathomed, add much tu t.he reader, who gets interested as
if personally inspecting these relics of dark ages. The
movements of the armies; comparisons between the pe1'­
sonnel of the American and Mexican; personal sketches of
brave American officers and Ohio's grand part in that mem­
orable campaign, all increase the interest of its reader as he
peruses its choicely-written pages.

"llLOSS OF TIlE ENQUIRER."

GEORG.E MANOR DAVIS BI,OSS, bol'O May 2, 1827, at
Derby, Vt., was killed 1\1ay 28, 1876, ncar his residence at
Branch Hill, in this county, by being run over by the cars
on the I.Jittle :Miami Rf.ilroad,-a sad accident, that lost to
the cuuntry the great editor of the Cincinnati Enquire1', and
one of the ablest historical and political writers in America.
Mr. Bloss came to Cincinnati about 1850, read law, and was
admitted to the bar, but soon .took a position on the Enquire1',
on which great newspaper he remained a quarter of a cen­
tury. In 18G8 he wrote an elegant volume on "The Life of
George H. Pendleton," and in 1875 published a splendid
book of four hundred and sixty-eight pages, entitled" His­
toric and Literary Miscellany," comprising many of his
grandest and most beautif~l editorials, lectures, and writings
on varied literary, political, historical, and religious subjects.
It was printed by Robert Clarke & Co., of Cincinnati, and
had a very large sale. Mr. Bloss, besides his magnificent edi­
torial ability and literary cultur"e, was distinguished by his
peculiar chirography, much harder to decipher than Horace
Greeley's, and only one compusitor on the Enquircr force
was able to read it, and he was kept for that sole purpose.
Mr. Bloss was of a most lovable disposition, of warm im­
pulses, and the best known and one of the ablest editors in
the United States. He left a wife and several children,-the
former a granddaughter of the noted Rev. Francis McCor­
mick, a pioneer local Methodist preacher in Clermont from
l7n to 1810.

Several other of Cincinnati's pioneer newspaper men ha.ve
originated from Clermont or made this county their home.
To the latter class belongs Maj. A. J. Avey, of Fountain
Farm, in Washington township. He is one of' the oldest
living reporters of the Cummel'C'ial, and was with it when
L. G. Curtiss was the editor. He belonged to the Fifteenth
Hegiment of Itegulars in the Mexican war, and rendered
conspicuous service in the late war for national supremacy.
He has had a general connection with the pres::; of the 'Vest
as a correspondent, and at present writes for the United
Statcs Pension Record of Washington.

THE BACKWOODS POET.

In another part of this book allusion is made to a mis­
cellany which it was purposed to issue to contain the poet­
ical effusions of t.he " Backwoodsman," who resided at var­
ious times at Bethel, Williawl:lburgh, and Georgetown, priuci-
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pally in the latter place. WILLIAlII OR~ISKIRK BOULWARE
was a rare, and at the same time singular genius. Without
being thoroughly educated he possessed the elements of a
common-school education, and was himself a pioneer
teacher; yet he was richly endowed with a love for nature
~nd its attendant clements; and was the tluthor of seyeral
meritorious poems. Had he lived in a more cultured age
and his talents been properly developed, he would have se­
cured a place for himself among the bards of the ·West.

The verses which follow below were written by the" Back­
woodsman" a short time after the incarceration of John
Rowe* in the jail at '\Villiamsburgh, for the murder of his
own nicce, Polly Maloney, after he had grossly outraged
her person, and are, therefore, invested with local interest:

"On a calm night, when men to rest repair,
And owls and bats skim through the midnight ail',
'Vhen wolves and panthers around the sheepfold come,
And droning beetles sing with drowsy hum,

" Of reading tired, I laid aside my book,
And straight my muse a rambling journey took j

It paid a visit to those drear and gloomy elllls
Where keen despair and late repentance dwells.

"I saw where Rowe confined in irons lay,
To all the torments of his guilt a prey.
Like CiLin, accursed for the blood he drew,
And all the horrors of that murderer knew.

" I saw sweet sleep refuse her friendly aid,
And peace of conscience frOln his bosom fled j

Tortured by guilt, alarmed by slayish fears,
Ilis fancy aids him'and he thinks he hears

" Polly Maloney, as to him she cried,
And all tho groans she uttered when she died.
The bursting walls his fancy sees disclosed,
And to his view her bleeding corpse eXIJosed.

" Lost were the smiles that once adorned her face,
And deathly symptoms brooded in their place j

An awful silence did the cell }lervade,
And add new horrors to the gloomy shade.

"No chirping insect did the silence break,
While to his soul hc heard the phantom speak,
With groans deep sounding from her tortured breast,
These words of terror she to him addresst :

, " 'Wretches lilie thee no spark of pity know;
See my closed eyes j behold, my wounds still flow.
Thy murdering hand has stopped DlJ' vilal breath j

Thy h:1nd consigned me to the shades of death.

" 'With Ta.rquin's lust, with heart like Nero's hard,
Thou ravished that which duty bid thee guard;
To hide thy crime and to con celLI thy guilt,
Hell pushed thee onward, and my blood thou spilt.

It , Indian nor brute governed thy savage breast;
The de\'j) alone thy cruel hel1rt possessed.
From thee he banished every thought that's good,
And raised thy lust to quench it in my blood.

II , No heart but melted my sad f.'tte to hear;
No stranger's eye refused to drop a teat';
All human nature shuddet'ed at the deed
Except thyselt~ who surely had most need.

" , My blood for vengeance cries aloud to God,
Who bids eternal justil'e lift the rod.
Think not by fleeing to eseape thy due,
A \'enging justice !lhall thy steps pursue.

.;" See account of the old jail in clllLpter on County Buildings.

" 'Earth shall not cover, darkness shall not hide,
The blood with which thy guilty hands are dyed;
:My injured ghost shall still be in thy sight,
And haunt thy slumbers in the shades of night.

" 'Friends thou hast none, acquaintances thou must shun,
Until on el1rth thy sinful race be run.
Haunted and hated, to now orimes you'll fly,
And douDled a.t last upon the gallows die,

" , A poor, despised, unpitied wretch forlorn j

. And men shall curse thee that are yet unborn.
.May GOll Almighty help thee to repent,
For He alone cal!- endless woe prevent.'

"These awful words now shook Ro\ve's trembling soul,
And a cold sweat in massy drops did roll.
He smote his breast and uttered many a groan j

But only grace can break a henrt of stone."

The" Dackwoodsman" wrote many fugitive pieces, some
of them being of rare merit; and the one portraying the loss
of Lydia Osborne was extremely pathetic. Some of the
pioneers well recollect its being sung on certain occasions,
so that all who heard it were affected to tears. He was the
personal friend of Jesse R. Grant (himself a poetaste~ of
more than common repute), and usually carried on bis cor­
respondence with him in rhymes.

THE POETICAL UNION OF CLERMONT AND BROWN.

Thid was an association of poets, authors, and individuals
of literary tastes, organized at Dethel, Feb. 4, 1859, and
which held its meetings every three months at different
points,-Georgetown, Chilo, Parker's Academy, and else­
where. Its last president was Dr. Thomas W. Gordon, of
Georgetown, and its secretary Charles Robb, of Monroe
township. It ceased to exist after the death of J. Hunt,
Jr., which occurred. in Januar.r, 1860, and who was its
brightest participant, and a poet whose ,brilliant effusions,
published in the New York and Philadelphia periodicals,
attracted most general attention and evoked for their brilliant
author a marked literary celebrity in the Eastern States.
At its meetings poems were read,lectures delivered on his­
torical and literary topics, and general discussions had on
various subjects relative to ancient and modern literature,
and often spicy comparisons were made between the British
classics and those of the Grecian and Roman period. The
death of the genial Hunt and the war that soon ensued
prevented the association from taking the rank its merits
demanded.

C HAP T E R X V I I I.

EDUCATIONAL AND RELIGIOUS.

FEW of the early settlers of Clermont enjoyed any ad­
vantages of education other than a few months' attendance
at an' occasional" pay school," or the instmctions at their
own blazing hearth-fire by the parents or older inmates of
the family. But these advantages bad been so well im­
proved that nearly all of them were able to read and write
a legible hand, and had acquired sufficient knowledge of
arithmetic for the transaction of ordinary business. They
were, in genem.!, men of strong and penetrating minds, and
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clearly perceiving the numerous benefits which t'ducation
confers, they early directed their attention to the establish­
ment of schools. Some of them were academically edu­
cateu, more were thoroughly indoctrinated in stern mathe­
matics, and there were many good practical surveyors, while
but very few were really ignorant of the common rudiments
and elementary branches. For many years there were
obstacles, in addition to those incident to all new settle­
ments, which impeded the progress of educational facilities,
am')ll~ which might be classed the defectivc titles of Dlany
settlers and the consequent troubles and privations attend­
ing them, and the war with Great Britain in 1812, whieh
produced hard times, dangers of Indian troubles, and called
a large force away from the productive industries.

In her legislative history Ohio has ever been distinguished
for her zeal and success in the cause of popular education,
and one of her organic laws was, "That schools and the
means of instruction shall forever be encouraged by legis­
lative provision ;" and to promote, as an object of primary
importance, institutions for the diffusion of knowledge has
been the great effort and constant aim of her legislation.
In' th is Clermont played a conspicuous part through the
labors of its two members of the first Constitutional Con­
vention, Philip Gatch and James Sargent, and its senator,
Judge Owen T. Fishback, and representatives, Dr. A. V.
Hopkins and Gen. Thomas Gatch, who worked for and
helped secure the great educational act of 18~5, and its sena­
tor, Thomas Morris, and representatives, .John Shaw and
John Emery, who labored with their votes and voices for the
still better laws of later days, which laid broad in the State
the foumlations of that magnificent sj'stell1 at' common
schools we enjoy, unequaled in perfect strength and solidity
by that. of any State in our Union.

This establishment of' a system of common schools by
taxation was the great end of the legislation of Ohio in re­
spect to education, and was rightly regarded as indispensa­
ble to the well-being and liberties of the State. Our gov­
ernment is a beautif'ulmachinery, made up, lIot of parts, but
of'the whole body of the people. It requires, therefore, not
the aid of a few, but the aid of' all to keep it in Illation;
and to do this every citizen must understand all its parts
and all its movcments. He must possess knowledge, virtue,
intelligcnce, because, in the language at' our own constitu­
tion, they are essentially necessary to good government and
the happiness of the people. To provide means for the in­
struction of all is, then, a duty that devolves on those who
are called to administer the government. This is not only
necessary to the safety and correct administration of gov­
ernment, but for the happiness and welfare of the people.
The advance of thc female character, and the instruction
and cultivation which woman receives, has always' been
justly viewed as evidence of' the improved state of socicty
where it exists, for knowledge is the handmaid of virtue,
prudence, and economy, and where female virtue, knowl­
edge, and intelligence abound man can never be degraded
or enslaved. Let the young who read these pages be faith­
ful to their duty in their day and generation in receiving
instruct.ion, for true education universally diffused will
more securely protect their liberties than walls of adamant
or temples of brass.

By compact between the United States and the State of
Ohio, when the latter was admitted into the Union, in
lS02, it was stipulated, for and in consideration, that the
State of Ohio should never tax the Congress lands until
after they had been sold five years, and in consideration
that the said public lands wonld thereby more readily sell,
that the one-thirty-sixth part of all the territory included
within the limits of the State should be set apart for the
support of' common schools therein. And for the Virginia.
Military Tl'act. (between the Little Miami and Scioto Ui\'ers,
and including all of Clermont) Congl'ess enacted that a
quantity of land equal to thc one-thirty-sixth part of the
estimated quantity of lund containcd therein should be se­
lected by lot in ~hat was thcn called the" New Purchase,"
in quarter-township tracts of three miles square each.

Thus, while no land in Clermont (owing to its peculiar
survey::-) was set apart by the general government for school
purposes, Clermont had lands in other parts of Ohio specially
reserved for her equal to the one-thirty-sixth of her area,­
in other words, she had eight thousand and fifty-five acres
of land designated for her for school purposes only. The
State leased the lands belonging to Clermont and the other
counties on the Virginia Reservation for quite a term of
years) then began selling them, a little at a time; but on
Jan. 29, 182i, the largest part was still unsold, and the
State acted as a kind of a guardian for thesc counties, pock­
eting all the rents and still holding the proceeds of what had
been sold. Then the Le~islature passed a law submitting
to the voters in the various counties of the Virginia Mili­
tary District a proposition to consent or dissent to the seIl­
ing of their county's quota of the unsold school-lands in
the" New Purchase." This vote was curiously taken by
the county assessor when he made his rounds, enumerating
the white male inhabitants over twenty-one years and listing
their property (generally in part by deputies) in this way.
'fhe asscssor kept a separate book in which one column was
headed, " I am in favor of' the sale of the Virginia :Military
school-lands," and another vice versa, and under these each
votcr had to write or cause to be written his name. Of
course the affirmative carried; the people wanted schools and

'. wanted their own school Illoney, that had been tied up in
these lands for twenty-odd years, with no equivalent nin­
dered in educational facilities. By an act of Jan. 28, 1828,
the lands were sold, and after paying the almost endless
horde of land-registers, appraisers, surveyors, chain-carriers,
mark-men, attorneys, clerks, and altaclt/5s generally, there
was left as Clermont's part and proportion the snug sum of
" seven thousand three hundred and twenty-seven dollars and
seventy-two cents," which was the first fund of any magni­
tude the county had ever received, and the only one, Have
by its small taxation of a few previous years. 'Vhat be­
came of it will be shortly made known.

'fhe first enactment in Ohio for the creation of common
schools, and prior to which none existed (save the law of
1821, making the creation of uistricts optional with the
voters, and making conditional taxation therefor), was the
grand old act of Feb. 5,1825, entitled" An act for the sup­
port and better regulation of common schools," whose fil'st
section provided for a permanent fuud to be annually raised
for the instruction of " youthof every class and grade, with-
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out distinction, in reading, writing, arithmetic, and other
necessary brunches or a common education;" that at their
June meeting in 1826 and at every annual meeting there­
after, the county commissioners should levy and assess upon
the ad valO1'em amount of its general list one-twentieth of
one per centum, or one-half of a mill upon the dollar, to be
appropriated for the use of the common schools; that the
township trustees should layoff their township into onc or
morc suitable school districts (their first crcation), in man­
ner most suitable and con',lenient to the population and
different neighborhoods, paying due rcgard to any school.
house already erected or district already formed, and to any
incorporated school company, and to schools in populous
towns and villages. Then followed provisions for house­
llOlders to meet and elect the directors, fix on a site for
school-house, provide fuel, employ teachers i and that the
Common Pleas- Court appoint annually three suitable persons
as school examiners, to serve for one year, to examine all
applicants desiring to teach as to their qualifications and moral
character; and no teacher to be employed without the certifi­
cate issued upon a proper examination. This was the first gen­
eral SC11001 law, but a few districts and school-houses, inde­
pendent and not supported by taxation, existed before, like
oases in the desert, and were sweet retreats for the few hnppy
lJeighborhoods whose pi'osperous condition and burning
desire for the education of their youth had elevated them
up above the average sentiment prevailing. No township
could receive any of'the money collected for school purposes
unless its trustees had divided it into districts, as the law
required, and which some, in their old-fogy notions, failed
to do, By an amendment of Jan. 30, 1827, the Court of
Common Pleas could appoint such number of suitable per­
sons as it deemed expedient as school examiners, not ex­
ceeding the number of townships in the county,-that is,
one for each.

On Feb. 10, 1829, a new enactment was passed, contain­
ing all the good features of the previous law and making
new and stronger provisions for the educational cause, now
on the broad path to a grand usefulness. The law of' 1821
was wholly optional with the inhabitants of each township to
have districts by a vote, and only ordered a slight taxation,
conditional upon the whims of th~ people of these districts,
if any were organized; but the statutes of 1825 and 1829
were mandatory and not dependent on the caprices of the
school-district voters, who in many places had, under the
first act, voted the whole project down.

The last law increased the school-tax from one-half to
three-fourths of a mill on the dollar, and under certain
restrictions authorized the householders to impose taxes,
but not for the support of teachers, as they were paid from
the other fund. The clerk of the court was empowered to
appoint not less than five persons nor more than the num­
ber of organized townships to serve as examiners for the
term of two years, by whom the qualifications of all parties
wishing to be employed as teachers had to be tested. The
school districts were made sovereignties in this, that by a
vote they could purchase sites for school-houses, erect build­
ings 01: repair old ones, and impose taxes for the same and
for labor and materials necessary.

The amendmcnt of Feb. 22, 1830, and the new act of

March 10, 1831, preserved all the essential parts of the
law of 1829, but exempted from taxation the property of
blacks and mulattoes, and made several important additions,
strengthening and simplifying the system now in fuJI blast
and most generally indorsed by the people. An amend­
ment of' Dec. 23, 1831, for the first statute in Ohio made
it lawfui for women to teach the common schools, by allow­
ing the school directors to employ females for instructing
in spelling, re~ldilJg, and writing ollly j and t/tat only when
the inhabitants of any district were desirous of having a
lady teacher, and its directors had so signified in writing
to the scl1(\ol examiners. This was the entering wedge for
woman. She scized the opportunity, and gradually worked
herself into not only the common and primary schools, but
through, in successive gradation~, all the academies, semi­
naries, and, at this day, many of the higher institutions of
learning a..<; a teacher, And partly to her zeal, efficiency,
and refining influence is the success of the Ol~io schools to
be attributed, for in the school-room, in strict discipline
and thoroughness of education, she has proved the equal
of the sterner sex, and brought to her duties the beautify­
ing halo of her sweet influence in divesting the system of
many of the old relics of severity and roughness which char­
acterized the old reghne, which often injured the heart and
delayed the expansion of the young mind. The acts of
1825 and 1829, with the amendments' of 1831, continued
substantially in force until after the adoption of the new con­
stitution, in 1851, and by which organic instrument the
system received new strength, and had its foundations laid
for still grander triumphs.

The law of :March 14, 1853, was the magnificent culmi­
nation of the" Ohio Idea," so to speak educationally, and
made our State the fil'st in the land in its strong and majes­
tic free-school system. It was the 'York principally of
Harvey Ilice, senator of Cuyahoga County, and an old
educator, living in Cleveland, It made the townships dis­
tricts by themselves, and created sub-school districts, and
removing all the rubbish of previous enactments, preserved
the necessary parts of value, and made additions of incal­
culable importance. This law substantially, with the modi­
fications and amendments of the st.at-utes of :May 1, 1873,
and of June, 1879, is in force to-day, and is the pride and
glory of the State, and under it over three-quarters of a
million of the youth are receiving instruction, with specbl
regulations and provisions for colored pupils and academ­
ical systems in all the towns and cities.

The whole quantity of land which, under the ordinance,
Congress was bound to grant for the use of schools in Ohio
was over seven hundred thousand acres, and the portion in
money that was allotted to Clermont (as before stated) was
$7327.72, and which was paid to the superintendent. of
common schools. of Clermont County, agreeably to the pro­
visions of "an act to create and establish a fund for the
support of COUlmon schools in the county of Clermont,"
passed Jan. 5, 1829. The general act distributing the
proceeds of' the sale of the lands in the Virginia Reserva­
tion passed Feb. 11, 1829, and under its tedious provisions
and technicalities the ot.her counties were a year or two get­
ting their respective amounts; but Thomas Morris, foresee­
ing the evident. future delays, and to give Clermont a chance
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Ulliolt 1'ole/lshli).

No.1. 1829, 18::10 $20.8!J.2
No. 4 182!1, IS:W I:1.21.2
No. i 182!J, 1830 !J.90.!J

(losllclI TowlIship.

No. 1.. 1826, 1827, 182!J, 1830 $!J.95
No. 2 182/l, 1827........................ 4.30
No. :3 182!J, 18:~ll 11.14.2
No. 7 182!l,1830........................ 2.9i.l

11/illllli TU/lJIIHlu'p.

No.1 182!J. IS:{O &1.58.4
No. 2 1829, IS:lO 21.4·1.3
No. 3 182U, lS:-l0 1fi.8!1.8
No.4 IS2!}. 18:30 2·1.69.1
No. 6 1829,18::0....................... 14.94.6

n'(IY"C 1'uIOIISllll>.

No. 1 1830 $4.04.:1
No. 2 18:-lll 5.09.7
No. :3 1S:{0 8.08.6
Nu. 4 1826, 1827,1829, 18:lO........ i.5!!.9
No. 5 1829, 18:30 .. ~.................... 5.48.8

Amount.
BI!J.58.1

10.52.B
1G.fli.1
l:l,B-L/i
] !J.fi/l.!J
7.ill.l

1:-l.!JOA
11.7S.7
9.90.9

Oltio TO/ClIship.

Districts. 'Vhat years cInco

No. 1 182/l, 1827, 1829, 18:30 ..
No. 2 18::0 .
No. ;-l 1820. 18:30 .
No. 7 18:~0 .
No. 8 182tl, 1827, 1820, 1830 ..
No. 9 18:11I ..
No. 10 182!1, 18:~1l ..
No. 11. 18211, 1830 ~

No. 12 IS:~O ..

to get her school-money at once, originated a special act and
got it passed thit·ty-eight days before the general law, and
in it had himself cl'Cated a sp8cial fund commission for
Clermo.nt County, and as such received the fund and
brought it to this county. And thus, in advance by sev­
eral years of the adjoining counties, was laid the foundation
of a grand school fund, which has from that day to the
present been continually increasin~, alld now amounts to
about one-third of all the taxes, and is the part most grate­
fully and willingly paid.

The first school-tax ever put on the county duplicates
was on those of the year 1827, and was .five cents only on
the $100. For the year ending June 2,1829, the amounts
paid out of the county treasury for school purpOEes was
$G21.S3 to the organized school districts, and $G39.92 to
the superintendent of Clermont COUlmon schools, for distri­
bution to the various districts. That year the school-tax
was 7~' cents on the $100. Bya notice published in 1831
we find the money due to each school district in Clermont,
and those districts not set down had dmwn their apportion­
ment. The notice says that the ~37000-" county fund"­
brought from Columbus by Thomas Morris (as before stated
in this chapter), the superintendent, would be distributed
in December, after the commissioners met (this notice being
dated October 26th), as follows:

Bairr"ia 'l'ulVlIsltip.

Dhitricts. What Jears due. Amollnt.

No. 1. 182i, IS2!J, 1830 Bili.O·Ll
No. 5 1829, 1830 14.8i.3

WilliaJ1ls1J1ll'glt 'l'ouml1hip.

No. 3 18:10............................... 8/l.48.5
No. 4 1S2!l.18:W........................ 24.!l2
No. /l .1829, IS:lO............ ....• 111.:11.5
No.7 182/l, 182i, 182U, 18:~O........ J:1.7!J.9
No. 8 1830............................... 13.!J4.3

TIllc TUIWHhi]>.

No. 2 18211, 18:10 $17./l8.3
No.4 1SZ!I, 18::0............ 22.88.4
No. 5 18211, IS:W 24.44.4
No. i 182!l,IS:W 22.88.4
No. 1 (fraetioMI) 182/l. 1827, 1820,1830....... 1/l.84.:1
No.2" 182!), 1830.................. ...... G.24.2

Mourue 1'ulouS10i).

No. 2 1830 $1:-l.97.9
No. 3 1829.18:lO........................ 22.88.8
No. 5 182U, 18;{0 14.10.9
No. G 1829, 18:{O......................... 11.92.:{
No. i 1829, 18aO 111.:H.2
No. 1 (fl'<lctioDlll) 182U, 18:1O -:-................. 5.Ui.5
No.:{ " 1826, 182i :1.27.2

Siollelic/~ TOUJIIsllli).

No.1 182G, 182i, 182!J, 1830 SI/l.50.4
No. :{ 1829, 18:{0 15.11!l./l
No. 5 1826, 182i, 182!J, 18:30........ 10.27.4
No. /l IS2!1, 18:{0 12.3,1.8
No. 7 1829, 1830....................... 12.:-l4.8
No. S lS29, 1830....................... 10.97.G

These small pittances were the first sums ever drawn by
tl~e school district treasurers from the county treasurers
direct. All before paid, under the laws of 1825-26-27,
were paid (exceedingly small sums) by the county super­
intendent, Thomas Morris, direct to the various school dis­
trict treasurers. The $7000 county school fund was paid
out in December, 1831, and from that time on the schools
began to prosper. For the year ending June 4, 183a,
there were paid out of the county treasury for school pur­
po~es, $3691.57, of wllich were collected from show
licenses, $120; and $1058.49 were the proceeds of the
Virginia Military School Fund apportioned by the State
for 1831. The balance was made up by school tax carried
on to the duplicates.

In 1840 there were two ar,ademies or grammar-schools in
the county, with 78 pupils therein; 66 district schools, with
3289 scholars; and the number of persons who could not
read or write were 557. In 1846 the number of districts
were 128; fractional districts, 8; number of schools, 68;
male teachers, 47 ; female teachers, 12 ; number of scholars
in daily attendance,-boys, 672, and girls, 438 ; wages paid
teachers from public funds, $3577; and from other sources,
$1561; school tax from county duplicate, $5415.40;. and
school fund obtained from the State, $3136.01.

The grand old school law of 1853, and upon which the
present law is subfltantially based, made a revolution in
school affairs and gave the cause of education a splendid
impetus, from which has arisen the" Ohio system," un­
equaled in the world. In 1854 the Clermont school taxes

$1.!J2.1
11.78
111.64
8.Bti.G
i.!Jl
8.85.8

2B.6/l
4.811A

H.2i
li.40.8

Fl'lllIklin Tuwnsllli).

No. 1 18:~0 .
No. 2 1829, 18:W ..
No. 3 18:W ..
No. ·L IS:lO .
No. 5 1826, 1827 ..
No. 7 1S:30 .
No. S 182!J.18:l0 .
No. !J (balance) 18:311 ..
No. 10 182U, 18:1O .
No. 11. 1S2!J, IS:30 ..

lVaJtltillylOit :1'''UJl/slt ip.

No. 1. 1829,1830 819.95\:1
No. 2 1S:~0............................... 11.09.1
No.3 182!J, 1830............. 25.20
No•.~ 182!J, 1830............. 12.U1.1
No. 5 1830................ 8.75•.)
No. G.; 1829, 18BO 14.62.:{
No.8 1829, 18:30....................... 1-1.0s.5
No. U 182!J, 18:{O 18.19.2
No. 10 1829, 1830........................ 15.85
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were $12,489.30; in 1862 its entire school expenditures,
$:-38:988.39; and in 1869 they aggregated the enormous
sum of $86,329.65; of which $21,193.34 were for sites,
building, and repairs, $54,367.06 to teachers, and balance
for contingent and other expenses.

The entire taxes levied for school purposes in 1879 were
$59,752.70: There are 144 sub-school districts and 12
special districts, and the number of enrolled pupils for year
1878 were 11,328 white and 588 colored scholars. In all of
the towns and most of the townships ample provisions have
been made for colored schools, usually taught by intelligent
teachers of that race. No county in Ohio excels Clermont
in its elegant and substantial school structures, whose very
low estimated valuation is put at $273,972 ; but they could
hardly be replaced at double that sum, if we consider the
many costly and stately school edifices in the towns and
villages. Clermont has paid heavy and onerous taxes for
its splendid educational facilities, but she has never be­
grudged them, and to-day points with pride to her unsur­
pa~sed schools and unequaled teachers.

SCHOOL EXAMINERS.

Under the law of 1825 provision was made for the ap­
pointment of three school examiners by the court, to serve
for one year. The first selected were at the' August term,
1826,-Andrew Foote, of Batavia township; Charles H.
Vaughn, of Goshen township; and Benjamin Graves.
The two former declining to serve, there were appointed in
their place, at the October term, 1826, Dr. Josiah Lyman,
of Batavia township, and Benjamin ~llis, of Williamsburgh
township; and at the expiration of their terms wei'e chosen,
October term, 1827, Dr. Thomas Boude, of Franklin to.wn­
ship; Gl?orge Palmer, of Monroe township. In place of
Benjamin Graves there was appointed, April term, 1829,
Dr. L. A.-Hendrick, of Miami township. In Hendrick's
place, under the act of 18~9 and on his resignation, the
clerk of court appointed, April term, 1831, Samuel l\Ied­
ary, of Batavia township; April term, 1832, S. G. Meek, of
Goshen township; August term, 1832, Josiah Gallup, of
Franklin township. Under the law of 1833 there was
appointed by court, November term, 1833, William Fee,
Jr., 'Yashiugton .township i but who resigning, James
'Varren, of same township, at said term was chosen
in his place. April term, 1834, Reuben Utter, Squire
Frazee, of \Vashington township; Robert Porter, James T.
Johnson, of Ohio township.

1'he law of March, 1836, called for each township to
elect three school examiners, and on their refusal or failure
to do so the court, on application of any two school direc­
tors' in said derelict township, was ordered to appoint them;
and in pursuance of said statute. it chose, October term,
1836, 'William Doane, Peter C. Parker, and Levi Crane
for Union; William Morrell, Ira Belts, and James H.
Layman for Wayne; Samuel Ewing, John 'Williams, aod
William Roudebush for Stonelick; William Hartman,
Isaac Hartman, and John Dickey for Jackson; William
G. Gage, David Jones, and Eben S. Ricker for Ohio'; and
George S. Lee to fill the place in Batavia of Thomas L.
Shields, resigned.

1'he act of Murch 7,1838, provided for three county ex-

aminers to be appointed by the Common Pleas Court and
serve for a term of three years, and the following were the
examiners under it and until after the l;ldoption of the new
constitution, in 1851:

June term, 1838, Joshua Dial, Batavia township; Wil­
liam Houdebush, Stonelick township; Dr. James T. John­
son, Ohio township.

1840 (in place of Dr. Johnson), Dr. S. Y. Thornton,
Batavia township.

May term, 1841 (in place of Dr. Thornton), John Hill,
Stooelick township.

August term, 18·:1:1, William Howard, Joshua Diul, Ba­
tavia township.

April term, 1842, Samuel Martin.
October term, 18-14, William Howard, T. L. Shields,

Batavia township; John Hill, Stonelick township.
July term, 1847, George L. Swing, Batavia township;

Edward F. VV. Ellis, Franklin township; Jame~ S. Kemper.
July term, 1850, George L. Swing, Batavia township.

There were others (some three or four), but the records of
court fail to show their names. UodeI' the new law of
1853 and since, the following are the names of the exam.
iners, with the dates of their appointml3nt:

April 13, 1853, G. L. Swing, N. ~L Preble, Batavia township; H. V.
Kerr, Williamsburgh townsh ip.

March 20, 1854, J. K. Parker, Clermontville..
July 28, 1854, J. 1\1. McGrew, Amelia.
Feb. 1,1855, J. A. Sloane, Batlwia township.
Fcb. la; 1855, William Cartcr, Felicity.
July 8, 1856, G. W. Hulick, Batavia township.
Feb. 28, 1857, William Cartcr, Felicity.
March 26, 1857, D. W. Stc\'cns, Milford.
Aug. 10, 1858, J. IL Parker, Clermontville.
March 26, 1859, G. W. Felter, Batavi;\ towoship.
Junc 17, 1859, John Fcrguson, Amelia.
Aug. 20, 1860, John D. Hovey, Edenton.
March 28, 181i2, H. V. Kerr, Batavia township.
Aug. 2!}, 1862, J. D. Hovey, Edenton.
Nov. 30, 186:~, G. W. Felter, Bata\"ia township.
April 18, 1864, J. C. Morris, Batavia township.
Oct. 17, 1864, George H. Hill, Goshen township.
Dec. 22, 181i5, Frank Browning, Batavia township.
Dec. :J, 1867, George H. Hill, Goshen township.
Jan. 26, 1867, J. C.Morris, Bethel.
Dec. 22, 1867, G. W. Felter, Blltavia township.
Oct. 30, 1868, J. H. Layeocl\, Felicity.
Jan. 29, IS6!}, WilIiam Nichols, Batavia township.
Dec. 24, 186!}, G. W. Felter, Batavill township.
June 7, 1870,.C. J. Harrison, Boston.
No\'. 25, 1871, W. B. Applegate, Ba.tavia township.
July 20, 1872, G. W. Fclter, New Richmond.
Aug. 8, 1872, C. J. Harrison, Boston.
Dec. 6, 1873, W. B. Applegate, Batavia township.
July 21, 1874, C. M. Riggs, WiJlinmsburgh tOlvllship; W. II. Ulrey,

Felicity; W. B. Applegate, Batavia township.
July 21, 1875, C. M. Riggs, Williamsburgh township.
Dec. 16, 1876, W. II. Ulrey, Felicity; J. G. l\1oorehead, New Rich-

mond.
July 17, 1878, C. M. Riggs, WiIliamsburgh township.
July 21, 1879, W. H. Ulrey, Felicity.
Dec. 22,1879, J. G. Moorehead, New Richmond.

The examiners meet th\3 first Saturday in every month
at Batavia and hold a speeial session. At the teachers'
institute at times of its annual session they meet, and have
raised the standard in Clermont to the highest degree con­
sistent with the law.

Under the last law certificates can be granted for a pe-
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riod not exceeding thirty-six months, and for the shortest
time six months is the limit. Kwh teachet·, on receipt of a
certificate, is entitled to teach wherever in the county he
may be employed, but without. the recluil'ed certificate can
draw no wages. Under the old dgime teachers who were
practically failures in the school-rooms were just as liable,
if they possessed the required scholastic knowledge, to se·
cure certificates as those who had established high claims
for excellence in the teacher's calling, as the examinations
were almost wholly confined to mere scholastic matters;
and the singularly technical and the memm'itcr chamcter
of' the questions usually proposed could generally be an· .
swered or solved by persons who had no idea of the real
work and duties of the profession. But of late the stand·
ard of qualifi~ations has been elevated, more inquiry has
been instituted as to the general culture of the applicant,
and sharper scrutiny into the maturity of his thought, his
moral and mental force, and into his methods of teaching.

TIlE CLER:'IIONT TEACHERS' INSTITUTE.

In the autumn of 18-18 the teachers of Clermont took
ihe initiatory proceedings towards the formation of a county
institute, and the first meeting for that purpose was held at
Amelia. The venemble Dl·. Andrew V. Hopkins,-a good
pedagogue in his younger days,-always ready to aid any
good enterprise, opened his doors and generously placed his
office, his parlor, and his cupboard at the command of those
present. Among those assembled to assist in the grand
projected educational movement was Professor J. K. Parker,
whose whole soul was enlisted in the cause of education,
with his timely suggestions, his matter-of fact propositions,
lind his deep, earnest effort to do something for the eleva­
tion of man,-gentle as the lisping I,;hild, mild as a 1\Iay
morning, the very soul of affability and intercourse, yet
firm as his own native mount, he was in himself a host in
the cause; and John Hancock, tlte teacher of Ohio, with
his sparkling wit, his spicy criticisms, his endless store of
anecdotes, his racy manner of relating them, his startling
applications, his matchless powers of elucidation, his thor­
ough knowledge of mathematics, his disposition to culti­
vate the sunny side of human nature and make himself
useful in the world, always secured him a hearty welcome.

Then there was Henry V. Kerr, prompt, positive, and
ener~etic, with his nice sense of propriety and decorum,
smoothing down all rough propositions and moulding them
into systematic order, taking crude suggestions and shaping
them into a grand and beautiful fabric, bringing order out
of chaos, and making easy the rugged path of science.
And there, too, was John Ferguson, with his calm d~libera­

tion, his cool, philosophical investigation, his unyielding de­
votion to truth, and his untiring zeal in tracing the laws of
nature, his uncompromising hostility to everything super­
ficial, and his. most earnest labors for practical knowledge.
There, also, was Ira McCollum, patient and persuasive, and
who nobly gave his life to the s~Cl'ed cause and died in the
harness, battling to the very last in the glorious cause of
human improvement. Likewise present Was J. C. Morris,
genial and true, who never dreamed for a moment that there
was any possibility ot' the institute..ever becoming a fililure.
1'herc slood L. French, a gentleman by birth and a student

by nature, an ornament to his profession, and a faithful
laborer in the field of mental progress. But there was
another man present,-a poet, a scholar, and a soldier,­
whose heart and mind, whose brain and eye made him the
centre of the gathering, but who now sleeps in a happier
world; yet to his loving memory, his many happy reminis­
cences left behind, his intellect never surpassed by a native
Clermonter, and his general characteristics that made him
a leader in all humanitarian movements, the historian would
not do justice did he omit the name of Charles H.obb, the
impress and imprint of whose good and great labors for
education, society, and state through the school-room, press,
battle-field, and other walks of life is grandly stamped on
the brightest pages of Clermont's history. The ladies, too,
ever present and foremost in every good work, were there
to shed their sweet smiles on the aUSpicious opening of the

.movement, and to give their radiant countenance to the
undertaking that in the not distant future would prove of
such inestimable value to the progress and growth of the
country. Among them were Mrs. Sarah P. B. Parker, Miss
C. L. Dudley, Miss 1\1. E. Bannister, and Miss Fairfield.
There werc, also, on hand C. 'V. Page, Harris Smethurst,
and G. P. Jenkinfol, gentlemen who labored zealously for
the love they bore the cause, This was the first meeting
that led to the' organization of the institute, and the above
teachers resolved to hold an institute session at Am~lia on
Dec. 26, 18-18, and four distinguished educators of Cin­
cinnati promised to conduct the exercises. The following
officers were elected for the ensuing year: President, Dr.
A. V. Hopkins j Vige-Presidents, J. K. Parker, John
Hancock, Joseph Tritt; Secretary, Charles Robb; Treas­
mer, It. A. Hopkins. The enterprise seems to have lagged,
for a convention was held on Nov. 3, 18-19, at Bantam, and
J. K. Parker, J.J. "French, and H. V. Kerr were appointed a
committee to draft a constitution for a teachers! institute,
which they reported and it was adopted. The institute
met Dec. 1, 18-19, witl{ the following officers: President, C.
W. Page; Vice-Presidents, J. K. Parker, JJ. French j Sec­
retary, John Hancock; Treasurer, G. P. Jenkins; J.Jibral·.
ian, Dr. A. V. Hopkins.

On April 10, 1850, the first· ?'eglllar session of the in­
stitute Was held at Bantam, with the officers given above
(elected Dec. 1, 18-19). Its recitations were conducted by
J. K. Parker, ~ohn Ferguson, C. W. Page, John Hancock,
G. P. Jenkins, H. V. Ken, Charles Robb, and others.
Conscious of the magnitude of the work before them and
the difficulties to be encountered, the managers called, in
that and subsequent years, to their aid the fil'St talent of
the West,-men whose very Iives had been guide- boards
on the highway to moral and intellectual eminence. Samuel
Lewis, of Cincinnati, with his vast store of practical knowl­
edge, kindly came to their assistance; and among the other
invited instructors were Professor Hay, of the Woodward
High School; Dr. Asa D. J.Jord, of Columbus; the vener­
able Dr. John Locke, of Cincinnati j Professor Knowlton,
Hon. Hiram H. Baruey, E. D. Babbitt, Professors Hurty,
Hainey, and others. Lectures were delivered by J.J. A.
Hine, Drs. T. W. Gordon, A. Robb, D. Barber, and Cris­
t.ine, Professors A. J. Hickoff, U. H. Haymoud, Eo VV.
Longley, D. W. C. Loudon, Eo C. Ellis, and other men
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able and noted in various professions. When the teachers
Dliled in procuring a speaker they fell-back upon their own
resources, selecting some versatile member of the institute,
who led them to a glorious intellectual feast.

The second regular semi·annual sosRion was held at Ban­
tam, commencing Monday, Oct. 7, 1850, and nine recita­
'tions of forty minutes each were daily had. l\Ionday even­
ing was spent in the discussion of an ed'ucation:ll question.
Tuesday evening Hon. Samuel Lewis deliver'ed an able and
eloquent address. '\Vednesday forenoon DI·. Hay lectured
on Arithmetic, in the afternoon on Algebm, and in the
evening on Physiolol!Y. Thursday evening there was 11

splendid address by Charles Robb on Physical Education,
and Friday evening Mrs. Samh P. B. Parker read a highly
interesting essay on the Advantages of Teaching Music in
the Common Schools.

The institute now began holding two sessions a year,­
ill" the spring and fall,-the officers being elected at the
latter for the whole year. The following officers were
elected: President, H. V. Kerr j Vice-Presidents, John
Ferguson, 'William Carter j Secretary, John Hancock;
Treasurer, James K. Parker; Libral'ian, G. P. Jenkins.
The programme was filled for next session by electing for
Reading, 1\1rs. S. P. B. Parker j Arithmetic, Harris Smeth­
urst, j Grammar, :i\liss C. L. Dudley j Algebra, John Han­
cock j Chemistry, J. K. Parker j Philosophy, John Fer­
guson j Physiology, Noble 1\1. Preble j Astronomy, 'William
Carter.

April 14, 1851, the third semi-annual session convened
at Bantam, and the first evening was spent in a discussion
of the merits of the Ilew school law, and the subsequent
evenings of the week to lectures, discussions, and enter­
tainments. Charles:!VI. Smith, county auditor, made an
excellent address on the progress and condition of education
in the county, and Dl·. D. Barbel' delivered a lecture on
physiology. At the October meet.ing of 1851 essays were
read (in addition to the many other intellectual and educa­
tional treats) by J. K. Parker, F. \Va.lker, Miss C. L.
Dudley, Miss 1\1. E. Bannister, Mrs. S. P. B. P:u'ker, J. C.
l\'Iorris, John Ferguson, and Ira McOollum.

In 1852, John Ferguson was president and Harris
Smethurst secretary. The second session of this year,
the sixth since its organization, was held at Bantam, and
among the teachers occur the names of H. Lockwood, H.
Hancock, J. B. Bellville, A. Page, Dr. Small, George L.
Swing, C. N. Browning, Miss ~oster, E. A. Parker, E.
Martin, B. J. Long, and William Ricker, who have not
been heretofore mentioned, but who took very conspicuous
purts in its varied exercises.

1853.-0fficers: President, J. K. Parker; Vice-Presi­
dents, 'Villiam Carter, J. C. Morris j Secretary, John Fer­
guson j Librarian, Ira :McCollum. Spl'ing sessIOn held at
Bautam, beginning April 11 th, at which appeared as visitors
a large delegation of Brown County teachers to listen to
the lecture of A. D. Filmore, on Importance of Vocal Mu­
sic j that of T. C. Bowles, on Duties of Teachers; ltev. J.
Denham, on Zoology; and Dl·. John Lock, ou Agricultural
Chernh4ry. The fall session convened at Bantam,. October
3d. J.Jorin Andrews (colonel of the Fourth Ohio Regiment
Infantry during the Rebellion) deU'\"ered several able ad-
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dresses, and being considered the ablest educator in Ohio,
his sU2'gestions imparted n~w strength and a higher tone to
its exm'cises. Among the teachers not before announced
by name there were present as instruct~rs: G. B. Nichols,
Dr. Porter, J.Jowell H. Smith, Miss Mellie F. Stone, Miss
A. Hitch, Miss M. Page, Miss J.J. Williamson, l\Iiss· E.
Archard, and J. H. Smith. Henry Childs, of Oieve­
land, made a speech on the Oondition of Schools in North­
ern Ohio.

1854.-President, William Carter; Vice-President, W.
'W. Hickel'; Treas~rer, U. N. Browning j Secretary, B. J.
J,Jong j Librarian, Ira McCollum. The spring session as­
sembled at Bethel, April 10th, and the following names of
teachers as instructors first appear: Orville Burke, Payton
Smith, Miss Eliza Bettle, :Miss C. T. Quinlan, Miss Jane
Mortoll, :Miss Caroline Thompson, i\Iiss Perin, E. G. Mar­
tin. The lecturers were Dr. Asa D. Lord and H. H. Bar­
ney, State school commissioner. The full term also met
at Bethel, on October 2d. Professors A. J. Rickoff and
Knowlton were the lecturers, and on Geology Dr. S. S.
Scoville read a very interesting paper. The names of R.
C. Patterson, P. Kidd, Miss Sarah A. Dobbin, Miss H. M.
Medary, as new members, are noticed.

1855.-0fficcrs: President, J. K. Parker; Vice-Presi­
dent, n.. C. Patterson j Secretary, George B. Nichols j

Treasurer, IJ. H. Smith j Librarian, J~ C. Morris. The
spring term began in New Richmond" and lasted five days.
Lecturers, Drs. Christin and E. D. Babbitt, of Cincinnati.
New members prominently officiating, J. A. Sloano, 1\1. 'H.
INtch, J. W. Mahan, Miss H. Blanchard. L. B. Leeds, of
the SUit, and J. H.. S. Bond, of the Courie,', were elected hon­
urul'y members. ~'ull session met at Batavia, on 3d of Oc­
tober. '1'he lecturers were Professors Parsons and Vaughn
(the latter the eminent astronomer of Cincinnati, but now
deceased), and Rev. A. A. Livermore.. The following are
members whose names have not been befol'e ghren: G. W.
Hulick, C. P. Dennis, G. H. Hill, Zadok Miller, J. W.
Delaplane, C. W. nogers, J. P. '\VidUiyer, Hobert Johnson,
Miss E. Harvey, Miss J ..Curry, Mrs. A. H. Ferguson,
Miss 1'1. E. Taylor, Miss E. B. Hulick, A. H. Earhart, J.
S. McClave, S. S. Orwin, J. B. Rapp, J.,R. Long, \V. O.
Hopkins, S. O. Mount, A. McKee, J. H. Mount, Cyrus
Gaskins, Asher Goslin, W. P. Wolf, Miss Carrie Brown­
ing, Miss J. Davis, Miss E. A. Keyt, Miss C. Wiseman,
and Miss A. L. Hitch.

1856.-0fficers: President, J. A. Sloane; Vice-Presi­
dent, T. Miller; Secretary, George B. Nichols; Treasurer,
George W. Hulick j Librarian, R. C. Patterson. Spring
tenn met in Batavia, April 14th, and lectures were delivered
by State School Commissioner II. H. Barney, Dr. Allen,
and Thomas Q. Ashburn. The fall term began in Felicity,
September 29th, and continued six days. J.Jectures were de­
livered by Rev. Anson Smyth, editor of Ohio Journal of
Educatioll, and J. 'V. Andrews, President of Marietta
College, nev. J. S. Oampbell, and Mr. C. S. Royce. The
names of the following new teachers appeal' : Frank Browll­
ing, O. S. Frambes, S. A. Fitch, Z. 'V. Fagin, Miss K
Hadley, Miss Virginia Clarke, Miss Georgia Harvey.

1857.-0fficers: President, George B. Nichols; Vice­
fresident, J. 'V. Mahan j Secretary, Frank Browning j
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'l1reasurer, J. C. Morris; I ..ibrnrian, G...w. Hulick. The
~pring term asscmbleu at Felicity the last Monday in l\Iareh,
and the fall scssion at Goshcn, on October 5th. Lectures
were uclivered by J... D. Manning, on Amcrican National
Literature, and by John Hancock and J. 'V. Fostcr on
various topics; and alldrcsses were made by J udgc Gcorge
L. Swing and Hev. G. P. Hiley. Of the ncw tcachcrs for
first time taking part as instructors there wcre Miss Apple­
gatc, l\Irs. S. A. Morris, L. D. Manning, Messrs. 'rcctor,
Flinn, !loodell, and G. P. Hiley.

ISflS.-Ufficers: President, Frank Bl'Owning; Vice­
PI'csidcnts, D. W. Stcvens, William Cartel'; Secretary, Geo.
II. Hill; Treasurcr, J. C. Morris; J"ibrarian, G. W. Hulick.
'rhc spring term mct at Batavia, March ~9th. I...ccturcs
wcre uelivcrcu by Professors John Ogdcn, of Columbus,
and J. C. ~achos, of Cincinnati, an'd adurcsses by Hev. J.
C. Maddy, Hcv. I...uther Fcc, and Hev. W. G. W. J...ewis.
Of the new teachers taking conspicuous parts thcre wcre:
Miss S. K Flinn, William Nichols, K A. Bakcr, l\I. A.
I,ceds, Samuel Belts, William '1'. Cramcr, I.... Miller, J.
Dunlap, P. Behymer, N. G. Buff, Gcorge Hagel'S, E. '1'.
'Vare, Orin Tcmple, 'V. H. Mead, H. B. 'rector, and 1\1rs.
Eo B. H. Nccuham. Rcsolutions were passed that thc
educational intercsts of the county demanded the establish­
ment of' a Normal Institute in the county; also a model
school in connection with the institute fiJI" the education of
tcachcrs in the practice of tcaching; and J. C. Morris, J. W.
~Iahan, William Carter, Georgc H. Hill, and G. W. Hulick
wcre appointed as five trustccs, to have supervision of the
same, make the neccssary arrangemcnts for procuring a
principal, teachcrs, and all mattcrs pcrtaining to its success.
Prof. John Ogden WHS made presiJent of saiu Normal
school, which had a four weeks' session in Batavia, begin­
ning on the first :Monday in August, and :l1lother like session
in the summer of 1~5!), when the project terminated'. The
fidl scssion com'encd at Williamsburgh, at which time the
library numbered one hundred and twenty-seven volumes.

lS59.-0fficers: Presidcnt, Fmuk Browning; Secretary,
Gcorge H. Hili. The fall sessio.n met at Williamsbllrgh on
March 28th, and continued five d:tys. 'fhe following was the
JH'ogramme: Heading, J. A. Sloane; Elocution, Charles S.
HOj'ee; Arithmetic, H. Smethurst; English Grammar,
'William Carter; Gcography, Miss Victoria ;'1oore; Lec­
ture on Physical Geography, John Ferguson; Astronomy,
William Carter; Algebra, George H. Hill; Music, 'V. F.
Stein. Hev. Cartelyon, of' Williamsburgh, Hev. W. G. 'V.
I...ewis, of Batavia, and Prof. Hoyce, of Lebanon State N 01'­

mal School, lectured. Essays were read by L. D. Manning,
E. A. Parker, 'Villiam McHenry, G. 1). Hilcy, Miss Vic­
toria M. :Moore, Martha J. Simmons, Miss Mellie Stone,
Miss Caroline Armstrong, and .Miss Martha Sutton. The
days were devoted to the various recitations, interspersed
with music, general exercises, and the transaction of neces­
sary business, and the evenings to lectures, addresses, and
concerts.

For the years 1860-64 the names of the officers arc not
found, owing to the record book of the institute for that
period having been lost, and being the years of' hot
Presidential elections and of the rebeUion that followed, the
files of the newspapers were full of politics and of war, and

failcd to notice regularly the institute's procecdings. It held
its annual sessions regularly, howc\'er (its meetings havin~

bcen changed from scmi-annual to annual), and though the
Clermon t teachers con tribu ted more than theil' complemcnt
to fill the quotas fin' volunteers, tho educational spirit of
progress and devclopmont was bome aloft and to stilI greater
heights and success than before. It held its session of I8la
at New Hichlllollli on August 1st, and continued some ton
days. In ISli5 it asscmbled at Batavia, and had le~tures

lIllll instructiuns by Professors Kidd and O. N. Stoddard, of
.Miami University.

In 18GG the oflioers were: Prcsident, George 'V. Felter;
Vice-Presidcnt, .John H. Laycock; Secretary, )1;. W. Fagin;
Corresponding Secretary, J. C. l\Ionis; Treasurer, Miss
Canie Browning; and Librarian, Z. F. Hiley.

I Sli7.-President, John n. Laycock; Secretary, Han­
d~lph S. Swing; and Treasurcr, J. C. Morris.

18GS.-President, J. C. Monis; Vice-PI'esidont, G. W.
Felter; Secretary, F. 1\1. Robinson; Treasurer, W. O. Hop­
kins; J... ibrarian, O. H. Hadley. Meeting held in court­
house.

1869.-President, J. C. Morris; Vice-President, M. A.
Leeds; Secretary, Marcellus A. Wood; Treasurer, W. B.
Applegate. Session at Batavia.

1870.-President, J. K. Parker; Vice-President, H. S.
Swing; Secretary, F. C. Harvcy; Treasurer, 'V. E. E?ha w.
1\Iet at New Richmond, July 25th. Lectures and addresscs
by Professor O. W. Stoduard, Hev. K R Hera, W. D.
Henkle, the efficient State school eonllnissioner, Professor
De Wolf, Dr. Talbott, and John Hancock, superintendent
of the Cincinnati schools. Seventy teachers present first
day, and term lasted fifteen days.

1871.-President, J. C. Morris; Yice-PI'csident, George
H. Hill; Secrctary, Gcorge 'V. Felter; ~rreasurer, J. D.
Collins. The twenty-second annual session convened at
New Richmond, J uly ~-f:th. Lectures and addl'esses by
Professors Thomas 'V. Harvey, John Hancock, Hev. J. H.
Lockwood~ Professor Edward Ol'ton, State Geologist, Pro­
fessors Kidd and Venable, and Dl·. Johnson, Presiucnt of'
Miami Valley Teachers' Association. Fourteen days' tcrm.

IS72.-Pre::;ident, G. 'V. Felter; Vice-President, F. C.
Harvey; Secretary, G. W. Invin; Tl'easurer, George H.
Hill. :Met July 29th, at New Hichmond. Lectures and
addrcsses by Professors Mendenhall, Hall, R. 'V. Stevenson,
Venable, and Hev. Ketchum.

1873.-President, G. W. Felter; Vice-President, John
S. Parrott; Secretary, T. D. Scott; Treasmer, George H.
lIiII. Met at Felicity: July 2Sth, when W. B. Applcgate
was elected secretary, vice T. D. Scott, resigneu. Addresses
and lectures by Professors .John Hancock, J. H. Laycock,
'V. 'Vatkins, Revs. Weeks and Hanis.

1874.-President, .T. K. P:u'ker; Vice-President, W. O.
Hopkins; Sccretary, ·W. H. Ulrey; Treasurer, 'V. B. Ap­
plegate. Convened at Felicity, August 10th. Lectures and
addresses by Dr. McClung, of Sardinia; Professor Curran,
of Cincinnati ; John Aktls, J. K. }>al'ker, and others.

1875.-President., William H. Straight; Vice-President,
J. G. Moorehead; Secretary, H. J. Buntin; Treasurer,
'V. H. Ulrey. Assembled August 9th, at Felicity. In­
structions by Professor John Ogden, Professor J. R Con-
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lIer, Rcv. S. S. Newhouse, J. S. Parrot, and G. \V. Felter,
with othcrs from abroad.

IS7G.-PrcsiJent, W. H, Ulrcy; Vicc-PrcsiJcnt, C. 1\1.
Higgs; Seeretary, J. G. Moorehcad; TI'casurcl', G. W. Fel­
tel". Met August 7th, at Willialllsburgh. l;cctures and
addrcsscs by S. D. Shcpherd, of Ncwport, Ky. ; Hev. J. B.
Srnith, of F:ll'IlIers' Collcge; Professors John Ogdcn, h A.
Knight, of Madisonville; John Hancock, and J. U. Morris.

IS77.-Prcsident, Carter 1\1. Higgs; Vice-President, J.
G. Moorehead; Sccretary, W. R. Page; Treasurer, W. II.
Straight. Convened July 30th, at \VilIialm:burgh. In­
structions and leeturcs by Professor \Vatkins, of Dayton,
State School Commissionel' Charles S. Smart, !Jrofessor
Gcol'~e H. Hill, J.J. D. .Manning, Burwell Britton, William
lteedcr, and othcrs.

IS7S.-President, Gcorge 'V. Felter; Vice.Prcsident, J.
G. Moorehead; Secretary, A. B. Jones; Trcasurer, C. lU.
Riggs. Assemblcd at J3ethel, July 29th. Addr'csscs, lec­
tures, and instructions by Professors Watkins, of Dayton
High School; Hev. David Swing, of Chicago; Professor
Byron 'Villiams, of 'Williamsburgh; Revs. A. D. l\1adJox
and E. A. Lockwood, of Bethel; Professol' L. A. Knight,
of l\Iadisonville; and Professor Thaddeus Beamy, of Ohio
Medical College. One hundred and fifty tcachcl's were
prcsent. The following persons and teachers were awarded
diplomas for scholarship, having received, on the standard
of one hundl'cd, the pcrccntage opposite their respcctive
names: .1\1ollie E. Blythe, 96; Anna Halse, 94~; Nellie
'fitus, 94 j 'V. P. :Marsh, 95; C. F. Malsbury: 92~'; E. S.
Gatch, 92J j D. S. Thompson, 92~· j A. 1\1. Altman, g2~· j

It. A. Boys, 9~; Georgia Page, 92; Cita Beck, 92 j Viola.
E. Johnson, 91; Florence Donaldson, 91 j and Laura A.
Rice, 90J.

IS79.-Prcsidcnt, J. G. Moorchcad j Vice-Prcsidcnt, T.
l\L Iden j Secretary, A. l\I. Wcst j Treasurer, W. H. Ulrey.
Assembled at Bethel, July 29th. Addl'esses, lectures, and
instructions by Professors J. C. .1\1orris, J. C. Kinney, W.
D. Gibson, Watkins, Zeinz, McVay, and othcr able educa­
tors. At this session the constitution was revised, as a
means of' strengthening the institute, and for the impl'Ove­
ment of the profession of teaching.

lSSO.-President, W. D. Gibson j. Vice-President, A. 1\1.
'Vest j Secretary, E. A. Lockwood j Treasurer, T. 1\1. Iden.
Assembled the last Monday of July, in :Milford, in thirty­
first regular annual session, with an unusually large atten­
dance.

No institute in Ohio equals that of Clermont in the in­
tcrest taken by teachers, or in the thoroughness of its
instructions or ability of its teachers, and it occupies a
proud position in the State for its deserved success and
enviable distinction.

Perhaps no greater encomium was ever deserved in the
literary world than that passed upon Goldsmith by Dr.
Johnson, " He touched nothing that he did not adorn" j

and the teachers of Clermont are not only becoming desi­
rous of such worthy and well-known renown, but are achiev­
ing it by their eminent abilities and painstaking, steady
application. They are seeking for certificates of higher
gmde, and sparing neither time 1101' expense to win laurels,
amI at the samc time make themselves useful citizens of

society and ornaments to the pro~ressive age in which thcy
live. Thc institute has done much to improve the teachers
and schools of the county, and has evqr exerted a whole­
some influence upon the cducational spiJ'it of' the people.
'Vhcn we reflect that the institute is almost the sole means
of reaching the lllass of the teuchCl's, the importance and
benefit of its annual session is casily seen j and it.s instruc­
tions being sound, pervasive, and practical, and giving all
possible instruction in the branches as a substruturn for a
discussion of methods, its radiating. and happy influcnccs
for good and awakening annually a new and bett<.lr feeling
for scholastic advancement are plainly visible.

CLEIUIONT ACADEMY.

This institution is located in the village of Clermontville,
:Monroe township, Ohio, ncar the Ohio niver, twcrity wiles
abo\'e Cinciunati, and accessible by good turnpikc-roads and
by the rivcl·.

The school building is situated in the pleasa~t valley of
Boat Run, less than one-fuurth of a mile from the steam­
boat lanJing, but the boarding-house and residence of the
principal is upon a gentle emincnce, commanding a delight­
ful view of' the rivcr and surrounding hills and valleys.

The school was originated in the year IS39, by Rev.
Daniel Parker* and his wifc;t to be conducted by their

~, lte\'. Daniel Parker, the founder of Clermont Academy, WIlS born
in Newburyport, 1\Iass., Aug. 7, 1781, and was the fifth child of Wil­
liam and Mary (Warner) Parker. In the full of 1788 his futher im­
migmted from Massachusetts, intending to settle on the Ohio Purchase,
hut was deterred by Indian hostilities, llnd made his home ill the wilds
of Western Pennsylmnia, twenty miles above l'ittsburgh, where the
family residell until 1802, when they moved to Meigs Co., Ohio, ncar
Gllllipolis. Here Duniel was eom'erted, and in the winter of 1805
started out with Abel Sargent on a preaching tour up the Ohio und
into Virginia. A few years later he engaged in secular !IUrsuits, /lnd
in 1810 he went South, expecting to be gone about four month!O.
Sickness Ilnd other cireulllstanees lengthened his !Ot/lY four yeare,
re:lehing his futher's hOllse, after much suffering, in IS13. The fol­
lowing year he made another preaching tour and preached his first
serlllon--on the doctrine of the final restoration-at Alcxanuria,
Ky. After another preaching tour eastward, he returned to ~ewport,
Ky., wherc he established himself in business. In tbe filII of 1816
he married l'riseilhL 1\1. King and settled at Mount Hygiene, which
he hau selected as the most beautiful natural site for a home on the
Ohio betwecn Pittsburgh alTd Cincinnati, where hc died, l\IarclJ 22,
ISlil. IIis lust words were, ., Relying on the promises;" lind he died
as he had li\'etl,-a Restorationist and not a Universalist. During
his residence in the county he labored with untiring de,'otion to dis­
seminate correct religious views anu temperance princi}llcs, and no
miuister WIlS more gladly hearu by Chl'istians of every crccu than the
kind anu noble-hearted Daniel Parker.

t It was .Mrs. Parker who first eo'neeived the thought of establish­
ing a high school or academy on the home-filrm, for the IJcncfit of her
family nnd such otlwr families as might desire higher instruction thlill
the public schools of that dlly afl"orded.

1\11'. Parker, though equally desirous of the benefits of llueh 11

school fOI' his own children and those of his neighbol's, WaS hesitllnt,
through fca,r of the impl'lllJtieability of the entel'prise. lIe 1lllu limited
lJIe:ws, barely ILueqUilte to affording a comfortable living for his fam­
il.}', entirely inadequate to giving his ebildren a liberal education at
schools away from home; and finlllly seeing no other prospect, he
resul\"Cd to attempt the erection of a small school-bouse on bis own
domain as soon as he could secure, enough surplus to justify a. begin­

ning.
In after-yellrs, by the quiet fircside, he related to the writer his

experience in obtaining the first money which was expended in CI'elJt.
ing the first academy L.uiIJing. lIe was Il lIlan of faith nnd prayer,
and he took the matter to the Lord, and covenanted with hilll to ue\'otll
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eldcst son, James K. Parkcr, and chicfly designcd to edu­
cate their other five sons and youngest daughter. Other
pupils, however, were admitted, and vcry soon the numbcr
of them was largely increascd.

For scvcral ycars thc school was accollllllodatcd in a
single room, 20 by 40 feet in size, but increasing patron­
age in time demanded more room and better facilities, and
rcndered a permanent establishment desirable and prac­
ticable. The building has bcen twice enlarged, and auxil­
iary buildings have bcen £l'om time to time ercctcd, until
now there are three school-rooms, eleven roollls for sclf­
boarding, and a cOlUllJodious boarding-house of twenty-two
rooms, conductcd by thc principal.

In the ycars lSGG-67 an effort wal:l made to crcct a largcr
and marc commodious schaul building, but the financial
pressure which cnsucd arrcstcd the work, and it has not
yet becn resumcd. The hope is still entertained that at some
time in the neal' future the dcsired objcct may be attained,
and the institution placed upon a more permanent basis.
To this end an incorporation has bcen cffected under the
general law of' Ohio, and the present proprietor; the princi­
pal, who, assisted by his wife, son, and daughters, with
occasionally other teachcrs, has conducted the school for
wore than forty years, proposes to put it, with its present
filcilities, into the hands of' a bom'd of trustees so soon as
larger grounds can be secured, and such other measures
adopted as shall justify a reasonable expcctation of succcss.

It is confidently believcd that the wants of our growing
community demand a school of higher learning than the
public schools can afford. 1\1oreover, there is need of first­
class academies in all sections of the State, as feeders to
our colleges, and but 'few localities are more gesirable or
convenient for such an instit.ution than the site selected for
the new academy building.

The patronage for the first fifteen or twenty years varied
from twenty to sixty students; in latel' years, from fifty to
eighty, in the general way, but at one time, after the close
of the war of UebeIlion, the register numbered as high as
one huudred and three in attelldance.

The patrons of tho school have been of all grades and
classes of society, f)'om the poor to the wealthy; from the
rude to the refined. By fill' the larger part, however; are
what may be called the middle class, those engaged in the
various industries of Iife,-the "Lone and sinew" of our
country i hence their sons and daughtel's have bcen earnest,
orderly, and diligent students, giving tone and oharacter to

all the money which he might obtain from extra sources, and to begin
the work as soon as the Lord wonld grant him two hundred dollars,
but kept bis YOW a secret, even from his wife. IIe had for m'any
)"ears been frequently called to preach funerals, nnd had gone through
sl\mmel"s heat and winter's cold in response to these calls, usually
receiving meagre compensation, frequently none at nil; but after
making this covenant it was a notable fuet that he was lIIore fre­
quently called upon nnd nearly always receiYed compensation, some­
'times quite liberal sums. SOllle money clUne to him also from other
und unexpected sources.

These sums were kept in It secret place until, in tbe course of time,
as he went one dny to prayer, he thought to count his hoard, when,
to his astonishment, he found that it amounted to exactly two hun­
dred dollars. He immlJllintcly set about the work of building, doing
n eomidcmble portion of the labor with his (}\Vll hands, his sons also
helping.

the institution. rrhe exceptions have constituted a very small
percentage of the whole.

Ono pcculiar feature of this school which perhaps ought
not to be ovcrlooked in this historical skctch is that it was
begun, and has continued to stand, upon the lmsis of " no
respect of persons." Colorcd pupils have always been ad­
mitted to its privileges on equal terms with the white.
This feature being, in the former years especially, a rare
one, and obnoxious to many in Southern Ohio, along the
border between slavery and freedom, where prejudice against
color prevailcd largcly, it was for many years a cause of
unpopularity and even odium i but an unswerving adherence
to the prillciple, for cOllscience' sake, has in a very large
mcasurc overcome the prejudice, and established fiJI' the
school a solid reputation.

A regular and liberal course of academic studies, occupy­
il~g fuur year~, was adopted some eighteen years ago, and has
since been twice revised and enlarged.' Nine young gentle­
men and six young ladies have pursued the whole course
and taken diplomas: four of thcse have also graduated from
higher institutions of learning, t\VO attaining the degree of
A.M. A large number of undergraduate students of' both
sexes ha\"e also entered various colleges in Ohio and other
States, and graduated with honor. In several instances
students have come back from those colleges, after a term or.
two, to prosecute their studies under their old preceptor in
the acadcmy.

The followillg institutions have registered students who
have pursucd, either wholly or in part, their preparatory
studies in Clermont Academy: Dennison University, Mari­
etta College, 'Wooster University, Antioch College, Oberlin
College, Delaware College, Miami University, Ohio Univer­
sity, Ohio Agricultural and :Mechanical College, Kenyon
College, Funnel's' College, Lebanon Normal School, Ohio j

Georgetown College, Berea College, Kentucky j South Han­
over College, Butler University. Indiana j Michigan State
University, Michigan; Cornell University, New York j

Newton Centre l'heologiclll Seminary, Massachusetts i
Princeton Theological Seminary, New Jersey i besides
several schools of law and of medicine and commt:rcial col·
leges.

A large portion of these had their desires for a higher
course of scholustic training awakened in the academy, and
there received their first impulses in that direction.

Among those who have gone out from this unostenta­
tious school may be numbered, so far as known, thirteen
ministers of the gospel, twenty-three physicians, surgeons,
and dentists, thirty. five lawj'crs, eleven. county officers,
seven legislators, seven professors, three judges, two govern­
ment officials at Washington (one of them for a time pri­
Yate secretary to President Hayes), eight editors, five civil
engineers, and one professional chemist, besides hundreds
of teachers, and a large number of merchants, druggists,
ne"ws correspondents, musicians, artists, aud hosts of intel­
ligent farmers and artisans, and army officers not a few.

It has always been the constant aim of the principal and
his subordinate teachers to secure in their pupils thorough
scholarship, rather than to make a display. ]~arnest atten­
tion has also been ulways given to moral and religious in­
struction as of paramount importance. Bible study and
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devotional exercises are made a part of the daily programme,
under the conviction that the highest and purest morality
has its foundation in the Christian religion.

The principal and his filmily are members 'of the Baptist
Church, 'and the new academy is to be put in charge of'
ttustees belonging to that denomination; but the articles
of incorporation expressly provide that the privileges of the
school shall be forever accessible to all, without distinction
of sex, age, sect, or race.

Among the facilities afforded may be mentioned a good
library, a reading-room, a cabinet of lIatural specimens,
maps, charts, globes, chemical and philosophical apparatus,
:md, last but not least, a flourishing literary society, entitled
Clermont Lyceum, as old as the academy itself. In this
are studied and practiced the arts of composition, declama­
tion, debate, public reading, criticism, euitorship, parlia­
me~tary rules, and the various dut.ics of a full corps of
officers needed in any organization or any deliberative as­
sembly.

Many interesting and significant facts and incidents might
be related in connection with the history of this only per­
manent high school in the county, but it would extend this
article to too great length. One fact, perhaps, ought not. to
be omitted, and that is, t~e young ladies who have been
educated in this school have, on the avemge, maintained a
standing in their classes fully equal to that of the young
men,-in many instances above,-while their moral grade
has been decidedly higher.

RELIGIOUS.

Although we have in the United Sta.tes no religious
establishment, we certainly have an established religion, and
that religion is Christianity. The existence of Christianity,
and its binding force as the religion of the land, is recog­
nized by the constitutions and the laws of ncarly or quite
all the States in the Union; and they all recognize the Old
and New Testaments of Scripture as containing the doc­
trines and precepts of this religion. But here they stop.
They do not attempt to define the doctrines which these
Scriptures inculcate, or to give preference to anyone of the
various sects into which Christians are divided. Having
established the Bible as the religious charter, individuals
arc left to interpret it according to the dictates·of theil' own
judgments and consciences, provided they do not disturb or
interfere with the rights and privileges of others.

'Vhen all the "restern country was a vast howling wil­
dm'ness, untenanted in many places, except by the savage
who roamed over rts broad prairies or through its dense
forests, or sped his light canoe over the surface of its mighty
rivers, the pioneer preacher might have been seen urging
his way along the war-path of ~he Indian, the trail of the
hunter, or the blazed track of the backwoodsman, seeking
the lost sheep of the house of Israel in these far-off
wilds. Before the sun of civilization shone into these vales,
or over these prairies, or on these rivcrs, the herald of the
Cl'OSS, with his mcssages of mercy, was seen wending his
course to the desolate haunts of savage man. The heroic
decds of' the pioneer preachers, amid toils, hardships, and
privations, in bringing to the cabins of the sturdy settler,
as well as the wigwams of the savage, the blessings and

benefits of religion, will be treasured up in memory and
recorded upon the page of history, to live as long as gene­
rations shall be born to read them in futllre ages.

The first church organized in Clermont was in the year
17D7, when Francis McCormick, the pioneer preacher,
made up a class of eight or ten Methodists near where
now is the prosperous town of Milford; and the next
year came Philip Gatch, of hallowed memory, who strength.
ened and formed the little class into a larger and stronger
band of professed communicants. The first lUP.eting-house
in Clermont was that used by the "Ten-Mile Baptist
Church," and was built nt 'Vithamsville in 1802. The
second in the county, and the third of that denomination in
the State, was the old Hopewell log meeting-house, erected
in 1805, about a mile west of Felicity. At its dedication
it was blessed with the labors of the beloved pioneer
preacher, McKendree, of precious memory, and of 'Villiam
Burke, then presiding elder of the Ohio district, together
with the aid of Brothers Amos and Patterson. Elder Burke
preaclled from 2 Corinthians, iii. 18: "But we all, 'With
open face behoiding as in a glass the glory of the Lord, are
changed into the same image from glory to glory, even as
by the spirit of the Lord;" and McKendree followed with
the preceding verse: " Now the Lord is that spirit, and
where the spirit of the l ..ord is, there is liberty." One sole
survivor to that dedication and hearer of those eloquent
sermons yet turries on earth in MrS. ,Anna Sargent, that
same year married, in her nineteenth year, to her cousin,
Edward Sargent. "The anointing of the Holy Spirit
appeared to be upon that pioneer congregation at the uedi­
cation of its rustic temple; the power of God was present
to heal, the slain of the Lord were many, and the cry of
the wounded and the shout of them that were made whole
was heard afilr off." Those were the happiest days of the
pioneer ministers,-log cabins to preach in, puncheon floors
to sleep on, corn-bread and milk to eat, a constant succession
of kind friends to make welcome, and the love of God in
their souls, a home high up in heaven in prospect, and the
blessed promise of" Lo! I am with you always, even unto
the end of the world," gave their minds a most pleasing
variety, and caused their time to pass away most agreeably.

The round and hewed log and frame churches which
were early erected and dedicated to the worship of' God
answered the purpose for which they were built, and were
suited to the times. Some of' these yet stand as mementoes
of the past, and though they may be unoccupicd or devoted
to other purposes, or hav~ fallen" into decay and no longer
resound with the clear, full voice of the early pioneer itin­
erant, or echo the sound of praise and prayer, still their
memory is endearing, and a thousand hallowed associations
gather around their fallen timbers and dilapidated walls.

Rev. Henry Smith was one of the earliest preachers in
Clermont, and in 179D was sent to the Miami Circuit to
take the place of Rev. Lewis Hunt, broken down by sick­
ness and exposure; but finding preacher Hunt recovered
sufficiently to' go on with his work, Rev. Smith's instruc­
tions were to go up the Scioto and form a circuit there.
On September 18th he left brother Hunt, and returned to
Rev, Francis McCormick's, and on Sunday, the 2~d, he
heard for the first time Rev. Philip Gutch preach, who,
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Smith says, was truly a fine sample uf primitive Methouist
preachers,-simple, plain, and powerful, his reliance for suc­
cess appear~ng to be wholly upon power from aboye; and he
found him a meek-spirited, agreeable old man, always will- .
ing to gi\'e counsel when asked, but ne\'er intruJing it. On
the 24th Smith pursued his journey up the Ohio River,
and put up with James Sargent (just back of Chilo), an
old l\Iaryland :Methodist friend, .who received and treated
him with exceeding great kindness and hospitality, and here
he left two appointments for his next round. Fortunate fur
Clermont County was it to haye two such Christian gentle­
lllen of rare intelligence and staunch anti-slayery ideas as
Philip Gatch and James Sargent as its members of the Con­
stitutional COllvention in 1802.

Before any meeting-houses were built, and e\'en when
there were a few, meetings were generally held at the
houses of some uevoted brothers, in barns or sheds, anu in
the summer season always in the woods; hence arose in
early days the grand and historical old-fashioned" camp­
meetings," attended by thousanus, old and young, from one
to thirty miles around, and where the conversions were by
hundreds, and the grace of God WaS made manifest in reclaim­
ing sinners for whose repentance loving mothers had prayed
for years. The old camp-meeting grounds at Gregg's, Teal's,
WiIliamsburgh, Shiloh, and other places have a rich his­
tory, rich in religious reminiscences of' personal experic;nce,
but richer in developing a zeal and love fOl' Christian grace
and strengthening the foundations of the noble Christian
work begun and carried on fourscore yeUl's ago by the early
Clermont fathers and mothers in Israel. The oldcst ~Ieth­

odists, Presbyterians, and Baptists in the wh01e valley of
the Mississippi are found in Clermont. Here are men and
women, nH~ny of them, who lUl\'e gone to hear circuit
preaching, to class- and prayer-mceting, for fifty, sixty, and
seventy yenrs, and who have nn estimate of religion and of
its power to sustain the same as they had when, in the
woods and in the caLin, the Spirit from above first whis­
pOl'ed, "Thy sins, which are many, are all forgiven thee."
The most memorable and spil'itually sueeessf'ul Illeeting
ever held at Gregg's camp-ground, ncur ~Ioseo\V, was in
the year 1858, when there were prescnt a large number of
pioneer ~Iethodist worthies. . Among them was George
Gregg, then in his sixty-ninth year; Obadiah Winans, in
his seventy-fourth j Peter Fisher, in his seventieth j Hobert
Brown, in his eightieth; Christopher Armaeost, in his
ninetieth; Hev. John l\leek~ in his seventy-eighth, and
actively preaching; and Rev. William J. Thompson, over
ninety-one years old, but who at that meeting preached a
good discourse, and who had no quiver on his lips 0,1' his
hanus, and who walked as sprightly as a man of fifty. He
was bol'll in 1767, came to Ohio in 1808, preached seventy­
two years,· and died at his residence ncar Point Isabel, in
January, 1862. The pioneer preachers were singularly
gifted men, of' powerful eloquence and robust frumes, and
among them who labored or preached in Clermont were
l?raneis McCormick, Lewis Hunt, Henry Smith, Phiiip
Gatch, William J. Thompson, William Burke, J olm Kob­
ler, Benjamin Lakin (home at Point Pleasant), John ~ale,

John Collius (home in Clermont,_near the Old Bethel
Chapel, midway between Bethel und Batavia), Learner

Blackman, John Stran~e, William H. Raper (home in the
county), George W. Maley, Bishop Bascom, George C.
I~ight, the eloquent Christie, and others of radiant remem­
brance. I~orellzo Dow se\'eral times visited the county and
preached to vast congregations at Milford, New Richmond,
Point Pleasllnt, and at the site of what is now Batavia.
Bishop Asbury spent several months with Philip Gatch,
and rreached at ~Iilford, and at several other points in the
county, at the houses of the faith ful.

The different churches and organizations of professl\d
Christians are well represented in the county, but the
Methodists, Baptists, and Presbyterians arc the strongest,
numerically. A full account of each church is given at an
appropriate place in the several township histories, and
further mention is here omitted to avoid rcpetition.

The stronghold the cause of Christianity so early secured
i~ the county, and which it has cver since so nobly main­
tained, was largely due to the devotion of our noble pio­
neers, and especially the mothers, whose zeal, courage, and
self-sacrificing love for the sacred cause afford us spccimens
of moral sublimity greater than was ever witnessed in the
heroic age of olden times. History will be l::iearched in
vain to find examples of better Christian women than lived
in Clermont at an early day, and their teachings prompt
their posterity to be as devoted as they were zealous in the
observance _of the principles of the Scriptures, wl~ieh will
ever properly direct them in the performance of their
duties.

CLER:\WNT COUNTY SABBATH-SCHOOL mnON.

This organization was perfected in the year 1867, and
its object is to unite all evangelical Christians in the county
in earnest efforts to promote the cause of Sabbath-schools,
in co-operation with the State Sabbath-School- Union, en­
couraging and aiuing in the establishing of new schools
where they Illay be needed, and awakening an increased
interest and efficiency in Sabbath-school work generally.
The conventions of this union have been held on the fourth
Thursday of May, every year, at different towns, and con­
tinued in two days' sessions. At its annual meetings, at­
tended largely by clergymen, Sunday-school officers, and
teachers, as well as Sabbath-school scholars and others in­
terested in tIte noble cause, the exercises consist of sermons,
lectures, discussions, criticisms, reports from all the schools
in the county, singing and music, interspersed with im­
promptu speeches and felicitous talks. The officers for 1879
were: President, John R. \Voodlief; Secrctary, Carter 1\:1.
Riggs j with the following townships: Vice-Presidents,
Batavia, Dr. L. \V. Bishop; \Villiamsburgh, George B.
Beacham; Franklin, John H. lIiggins; Ohio, Edwin
House j Jackson, H. \Vilson j Pierce, Mrs. A. P. Felter j

Union, N. S. Fisher j Tate, Rev. G. W. Fee j Goshen,
:Marion Myers j Miami, Rev. 8. Bennett. The convention
inet at Felicity, May 22d, and the opening addl'ess of its
able president, J olm It. vYoodlief, reviewed its origin in
1867 (when it waS organized, with Charles H. Kain as its
fil'St president) and its successful advancement and progress
up to that time.

The following number of schools were reported in each
township: Batavia, 7; Franklin, I-t; Goshen, 7 j Jackson,
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7 j :Miami, 3 j Monroe, 6 j Ohio, 6 j Pierce, 5 j Stonelick,
2; 'fate, 9; Union, 7 j 'Washington, 7 j Williamsburgh, 3 j

total in the county, 83. Number under the control of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, 38; Presbyterian, 10; Bap­
tist, 7; Christian, 12; Universalist, 1 j 'Wesleyan, 1;
Uuited Brethren, 2; union schools, 9 j unreported denom­
ination, 2. Number of scholars enrolled in county, li5U;
and average attendance, 42~3. Number of officers and
teachers, 1027; conversions, 258; volumes in libraries,
G1 GO; schools that take pape.s, 60; that use the black­
board, a5; that take the" J.Jcsson Helps," 74; that hold
teachers' meetings, 29 j and amount of school collections,
$168-t04.

The following are the officers for 1880: President, Prof.
J. A. 1. Lowes; Secretary, Hev. George ,V. Fee; Treas­
urer, Horace Beck; Township Vice-Presidents, Batavia,
1\1. Jamieson j Franklin, John "Talker; Goshen, S. 'V.
Shan'e; Jackson, 1-1. )IcNutt; Miami, F. B. Clark j Mon­
roe, D. H. Nichols; Ohio, James Hill; Pierce, 1\lrs. A. P.
Felter; Stonelick, Abram Hulick; Tate, W. A. Lock­
wood; Union, George Brooks; Washington, Joseph Mar­
riott; 'Vayne, B. F. Clark; and Williamsburgh, E. B.
Holmes; Executive Committee, 'William Pease, of Bata­
via, Marion Myers, of Goshen, and Samuel W. McKinney,
of Chilo. The convention last year Was held at Bethel,
and its proceedings were unusually interesting and produc­
tive of great good in the Lord's vineyard.

It would be impossible to speak in the terms of praise
of what the zeal and earnestness of the workers in this union
demand. As early impressions are the most lasting, these
laborers in the cause are implanting in the minds of their
pupils the great truths as given in the Sacred 'Vord, and in
a manner and method to give them powerful force, and
therefore a most happy effect.

C II APT E B, X I X.

DISTINGUISHED MEN OF CLERMONT .cOUNTY.

I.-PIONEERS..

COL. THO~IAS PAXTON.

THE first house erected between the Little Miami and
Scioto Hivcrs was Luilt early in the spring of 1795, by Col.
Thomas Paxton, the first permanent settler in Clermont,
and who was the first white man to raise a field of corn
in the Virginia Military Reservation, comprising the lands
between these two historical streams. Born in Penn­
sj'h'ania, during the stormy and troublous times of the In­
dian and French wurs, he removed to Kentucky, where he
took an active part in frontier fights with and expeditions
against the savages, then in arms and on the war-path.
In the spring of 1794, Gen. Anthony 'Vayne assembled an
army at Greenville of some two thou::and regulars and fifteen
hundred Kentucky volunteers, to march against the Indians,
conquer peace, and give quiet to the 'rcrritory, then over­
run by the merciless red men. Of this army, the finest ever
raised to subdue the savages, Col. Thomas Paxton was the
bold and brave' commander of the advance-guard, specially

selected for this perilous and responsible position by the old
hero of Stony Point, the general commanding this fillnous
expedition, as the best officer for this dang~rous and impor­
tallt post. The march of the army began on July 28th,
and on August 20th tIle great battle was fought on the
bank of the Maumee River, at and around a hill called
Pl'esque Isle, in Lucas Co., Ohio, and resulted in a dis­
astrous defeat to the Indians and their allies and a glorious
viet.ory.for the Americans, and has passed into histOI'y as
the "Battle of Fallen Timbers." Gen." Mad Anthony
\Vayne" was a lUan of most ardent impulses, and in the
heat of action apt to forget that he was the general, not the
soldier. 'Vhen the attack on the Indians, who were con­
cealed behind the fallen timbers, was commenced by ordering
the regulars up, Col. Thomas Paxton addressed his superior
and commander: "Gen. \Vayne, I am afmid you will get
into the fight yourself, and forget to give me the necessary
orders." "Perhaps I may," replied 'Vayne; "an~ if I do,
recollect the standing order for the day is 'charge the
damned rascals with the bayonet.' "

Gen. Wayne, having a bold, vigilant, and dexterous foe
to contend with, found it indispensably necessary to use the
utmost vigilance and caution in his movements, to guard
against surprise, and to secure his army against the possi­
bility of being ambuscaded. He employed a number of the
best woodsmen the frontier afforded as spies, who were
formed into divisions and COI'pS, two of tbem commanded by
those bold and intrepid soldiers, Capts. J~phraim Kibby and
\ViIliam \VelIs, but all attached to and under command of
that bold warrior, Col. Thomas Paxton, commander of the
advance-guard. Col. Paxton, as a result ('If this expedition
into Ohio, got a glimps.,e and knowledge of its fertile lands
and beautiful country, and was particularly enamored of the
rich bottoms and upland fields of the Little l\Iiami River.
On his return to Kent~eky, finding the title to his large
tract of land, embracing palt of the present city of Coving­
ton, Ky., and extending back fill' into the country, to be
defective, he was given lands in exchange in the then North­
west Territory, and in the following spring (1795) returned
to Ohio with his entire family and settled in Miami town­
ship. The house l)e put up-a comfortable double log
cabin-was many years ago destroyed by fire, but the many
romantic incidents connected with the history of the old pil~
of logs and mud still retains a sacred place in the memories
of his descendants. But the old well, with its lllOSs-co\'ered
curb and sparkling water, is still in a good state of preserva­
tion. ~'he woods were then a wilderness, inhabited by wild
beasts and frequented by yarious parties of Indians, who
passed over the Indian trace leading by " Three Islands,"
over the site now occupied by the great railroad town,
Loveland.

During the lifetime of Col. Thomas Paxton, both here,
in Kentucky and in Pennsylvania, he had several scrim­
mages with the Indians, and one time, while on a deer­
hunt below Milford, on the Litt.le Miami, made a 'Very
narrow escape with his life.

Col. Paxtoll was twice married. By his first wife he had
six childrcn,-Robert, who never rellloyed from Kentucky,
and fise daughters, of whom four were married, respec­
tively, to Col. John Ramsey (father of Col. William Ham-
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sey, who laid ont Loveland); Owen Todd (a justice of tl1e
peace in Hamilton County before the erection of Clermont,
in which he was the first justice, and presiding justice of
the 'l'crritorial Court of General Quarter Sessions from
Fcbrual'y, 1801, to December, 1803); James Smith; and
Silas Hutchinson. By his secondo wife (Martha) he had
two sons-Thomas (filther of Col. Thomas n. Paxton, the
eminent Cincinnati lawyer) and Samuel, now livin~ at his
ele~ant homestead, reclaimed from the woods in 1795 and
] 7!JG, at the advanced age of nearly ninety years-and four
rlaughters, married, respectively, to Robert 01'1', David
Snider, Samuel S. J:wk, and John Donnels. Thus, of the
first settler in Clermont eight of his daughters and two of
his sons reared large families and settled around him in
pleasant homes, and achieved social and public prominence,
making their locality one of the choicest garden-spots in
Ohio for fertility j and to this day the name of Paxton, in
Clermont, is associated with comnlOdious residences, un­
equaled orchards of choicest fruits, and gardens and green­
houses containing e'·ery variety of plants and flowers. In
horticulture and floriculture the Paxtons have been so ex­
tensively and successl'ully engaged that they have achieved
a reputation co-extensive with the bounds of the SOtate.

The venerable Samuel Paxton, before alluded to, made
several trips to New Orleans, sometimes bringing back
his money at great risk and trouble. On one occasion he
realized for his products seven thousand dollars in silver,
~llld often he had to return on foot throu~h the wilderness
and across the Indian country at the ~reatest peril, as he
had his money in a leather belt strappcd al'Ound his waist.

A few years subsequent to Col. Paxton's settlement im­
migrants began to arrive, and in 1806 a number came from
New Jersey under very inauspieious~circumstances, for that
was the year of the great dl'Ought, and from 1\1ay 4th to
Aug. 22d no rain fell to moisten the ground, and at " Three
Islands," opposite the Obannon, the Little Miami was so
low as to be readily forded. The same year witnessed the
great eclipse, which occasioned more alarm than would be
caused by a visitation of the plague at the present time;
and during the darkest moments of the cclipse objects in
the houses were invisible. In the early history of the
Paxton settlement witchcraft was a popular delu~iol1, and
cows, it was said, would die vel'y mystcriously and sud­
denly, and as mysteriously be restored to life again by the
witch doctor, who, after performing certain incantations,
would rub the hide of the animal with a silver dollar till
he found a protuberance under the skin, which was under­
stood to be the elf spot, and once ext.racted the animal
would immediately recover. Often sundry indispensable
articles of furniture or implements of husbandl'y wouid get
bewitched, so that they would fail to be of any service.
Col. IJaxton was not exempt from the trouble. At such
times his rifle would fail for days to bring down sufficient
game for the family, So, provoked and alarmed, he would
send" a messenger for the weird doct.or, and should that
useful member of the commonwealth fail to come forthwith
and answer the call, a swift messenger, laden with a fearful
oath and a worse threat, to be executed by bewitched
weapons, would promptly bring hin~ to time. Furnished
with a bottle of whisky from the Paxton cellar, doctor and

hunter would proceed to the woods, where ineantations and
good whisky would perform the miraculous cure and break
the witehes' spell.

Col. Paxton bought fifteen hundred acres of land where
he settled, by title bond, just before he moved on to his pos­
sessions, but for which he got in 1802 (the five-hundred­
acre tract) and in 1811 (the one-thousand-acre piece)
deeds of warrant.y, the first f!'Om Gen. Lytle and the
latter from William Daniels. In 180~ he bought of the
general the Campbell survey tract, of two hund~'ed and fifty
3cres, in Goshen township, and shortly after pUl'chased three
lots in Williamsburgh, Johnson's Survey, No. 1774, in
Batavia, and af'terwards owned numerous other tracts of
land, and before his death was reputed very wealthy. He
died in 181:~, and his personal property inventoried thir­
teen hundred and forty-seven dollars and ninety-two cents,
a.n immense sum in those days. Among the articles of the
personal inventory were a pair of silver shoe-buckles: relics
of the Hevolutionary age, a rifle-gun (in the use of which
Col. Paxton was hard to excel), with powder-horn and
bullet moulds, and a gold and silver watch.

Col. Paxton was a man of' wonderful nerve and coolness,
ofstern, inflexible honesty, and of Spartan independence in
thought and action, and though possessed of the old-time
notions about supernatural matters (in vogue on the fron­
tier till after the present century came in), he was just the
man in spirit and physique for a hardy pionee~, and was.
singularly gifted in sound judgment in his selections of
lands, and thereby located in the very pristine paradise of
the county, so far as generous fertility of soil and beautiful
scenery and salubrity of climate were eoncerned. As the
first actual settll3i' in Clermont, this brave old Indian-fighter
made a most honorable record in life, and left an impress
by his acts and in his large number of worthy descendants
that will live as long as the story of Clermont's first settle­
ment remains on the annals of its history.

ISAAC FERGUSON.

The ancestors of Isaac Ferguson emigrated to America
from Ireland early in the eighteenth century, and were of'
the house of Fergus. His fath~r, rrhomas Ferguson, was
an early settler on tlie Monongahela Rivcr, eighteen miles
above the Frcnch Fort Duquesne, one of the first lodgments
of civilized life west of the Alleghenies. The great valley
of the Mississippi was first explored by the French, who in
1730, or near that year, built a line of forts from New Or­
leans to Quebec, and ascending the Ohio, erecting one at
the head of that river, where Pittsburgh now is, which re­
ceived the above name. The English colonists along the
Atlantic coast were jealous of the encroachments of the
French upon what, they regarded as their territory, and
formed an association called the "Ohio Company," com­
posed of Virginia and English merchants, whose object it
was to trade with the Indians for furs. The company ob­
tained a grant of six hundred thousand acres of' land on
the river Ohio, and when it came to possess it they found
among the persons residing them Thomas Ferguson. Luter
he was in their employ and engaged in theil' trading expe­
ditions. As they lived so remote from the settlements,
Ferguson and his neighbors were compelled to procure their
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II store goods," such as nails, wares, kitchen utensils, etc.
Ccalicoes and other species of dry goods were then un­
known), at Philadelphia or Baltimore, and convey them
across the mountains on pack-horse::>, as no roads had yet
been built. In this enterprise engaged Isaac and Henry
Ferguson (sons of Thomas), who, with a numbm; of pack­
horses, proceeded to Baltimore, at that time the great mart
for supplying the outposts of civilization. ]~ach horse had
u bell on him, and every evening they were gathered to­
gether and relieved of their burden. The way led through
dense wildernesses and across streams which had to be
swum j Indians llad to be braved and wild beasts faced,
and all sorts of adventures had to be met j but these two
courageous 'young men made seventy-two trips in all, sup­
plying their neighbors with such things as could be pro­
cured only in this manner.

The Governor of Canada, in turn, becoming jealous of
the 'Euglish settlements, ordered its traders to be seized and
opened comnmnieations between Lake Erie and l!'ort Du­
quesne. Along this line he stationed troops and built fOl··
tifications, being determined to. break up the trade of the
"Ohio Company" and hold the country. These were
among the prefatory events which led to the" French and
Indian war," or those long years of hostilities between the
French and British which were fanned into open rupture
in 1756, when war was actually begun. In this struggle
Thomas Ferguson was a brave soldier, and was with "Wash­
ington (at that time a colonel at the age of twenty-two) at
the" Great Meadows," in the attack by the French and
Indians, where the battl~ lasted from eleven in the forenoon
until eight in the evening. Overpowered and outnumbered,
with ammunition exhausted, the English were surrendered
to the French commander, Count De Villicrs, who allowed
dIem to return to their homes.

Th9mas Ferguson was also one of the Monongahela set­
tlers who participated in the historical battle which led to
the defeat of Gen. Braddock, July 9,1756, and had three
bullet.holes in his clothes, his hair badly singed, and his
powder-horn shot to pieces. In the Hevolutionary War
Isaac Ferguson served under Wushington in Pennsylvania
and New Jersey, and fought gallantly at Brandywine,
Princeton, Germantown, and other hotly-contested battles
for independence.

Soon after the close of the Revolutionary war Isaac
Ferguson moved with his family westward, and in 1784
located for a time at Limestone (now l\la)'svilIe), Ky. 1'he
boat in whi<:h he and his family and some other immi­
grants descended the Ohio was an old-time pirogue, which
the wily savages ii'equently attempted to capture and daily
fired into. It was a common thing for the Indians to com­
pel white prisoners whom they had captured to go down
to the bank of the river and hail passing boats, telling tales
of woe and uttering tearful entreaties to be taken aboard.
Many a boat was thus unsuspectingly allured to the shore,
plundered, ~nd its passengers tomahawked and scalped.
1'hen, again, very frequently persons in real distress and
suffering asking for relief at the hands of the descending
boats had to be unwillingly passed by, owing to the prox­
imity of the Indians or fear of capture.

In 1791, Isaac Ferguson was one of the little band of'
23

settlers about Limestone and ·Washington, Ky., who, under
Kenton and Downing, crossed the Ohio, tracked the In­
dians with their stolen horses to the eust fork, between
WiIliamsburgh and Marathon, and there had a severe night­
battle, as is elsewhere in this book narrated. In 1795 he
settled. on the Kentucky shore of the Ohio River, about
fifteen miles above Cincinnati, where he lived but a year,
coming to the then Northwest Territory in the spring of'
1796.· He located on a fine tract of lund several miles be­
low New Richmond, in the present county of Clermont,
where he establisl~ed and kept in operation many years
what was widely known as "Ferguson's Ferry," the first in
that part of the State and in its day a famous crossing-place.

He died on the farm he had opened to civilization in
1818, leaving a wife, seven sons, and five daughters. He
was a noble pioneer, of a hardy stock, and of lineage reared
among the civil wars of Great Britain, which were so in­
tense at times that they threatened to blot out. that now
prosperous kingdom. Isaac Ferguson as a boy saw the
colonists fighti':lg the savage Indians and their mercenary
French allies; as a young man he participated most hon­
orably in the struggle for the independence of the Ameri­
can colonies j in ripe manhood he was a pioneer in Ken­
tucky j ~nd in his later years one of the very earliest settlers
of Clermont, where his last days of a long and eventful life
were ended, at a ripe age, which had been full of checkered
adventures, but untarnished ill honor alld character.

Isaiah Ferguson, a son of Isaac, was born in 1777, near
Brownsville, Pa., and came with his father to Clermont.
He nobly aided -in reclaiming our couvty from its primeval
condition and making it one of the garden-spots of Ohio.
In the war of 1812, in response to the call for volunteers
to protect the frontiers against the incursions of the Indi­
ans, he was thrice enrolled as a soldier, seJ'ving part of the
time as a major. After the memorable siege of Fort
Meigs by the British under Gen. Procter and the Indians
under the famous chieftain Tecumseh, and its gallant and
successful defense by the Kentucky and Ohio troops, March
4, 1813, Gen. Harrison left for the interior of the State to
organize new levies, intrusting the command of the fort to
Gen. Green Clay. Again, on the 25th of June, the com­
bined forces of the enemy invested the fort, but, like the
first time, they were as signally defeated and retired for
good. Maj. Isaiah Ferguson fought gallantly at both
sieges, and after the second one was raised he was ap­
pointed commander of the fort, holding that position for
quite a period of time.

To relieve the tedium of camp life the soldiers at Fort
Meigs frequently beguiled their time by singing patriotic
songs. Among the papers left by Maj. Isaiah Ferguson
we find some of these, one verse of' which indicates its gen­
eral character.

" Freemen! no longer belLr such slaughter,
Avenge your country's cruel woe;

Arouse, ILnd suve .rour wives and dl1ughters,
Arouse, 111ld eXlJel tile faithless foe!

CllOl'ult.-" Scalps arc bought at stated prices,
Malden pays the price in gold."

Malden was a Canadian town where the British militia
were fitted out and the enemy's st,ores housed, and it was
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currently reported that a reward was there paid for the
scalps of the American soldiery.

In 1805, Major Isaiah Ferguson settled in what is now
Pierce township, where he lived until the time of his death,
in 1852, at the good old age of seventy-five years.

'Ve close this sketch with a hrief notice of a Ferguson
of still a later generation. Major Ira Ferguson, son of
Isaiah, gl'andson of Isaac, and gl'Cut-grandson of the old
soldier, Thomas, was born at the Ferguson homestead, in
Pierce, in 1818, the same year that his grandfather died.
li'ol' ruany years he was a colonel of the State militia, and
at the breaking out of the Hebc1lion he went into the
Union army, rendering gallant service as an officer for ahout
a year, when his health compelled him to resign. In 1871
he was elected to the Assembly of Ohio as the representa­
tive from Clermont, and in 1879 was honored with a simi­
lar election, sharing with Dr. L. 'V. Bishop the office of rep­
resentative from Clermont County. Like his ancestors on
both sides, his life has been characterized by fidelity to duty,
and he unswervingly maintains what he considers the right,
to the great satisfilCtiou of his constituents.

CORNELIUS WASHBURN.

The 'Vashbul"l1 family originally lived in New Jersey,
and there, in the year 1774, the subject of this sketch was
born. Six years later his f:'lther, Jeremiah 'Washburn,
migrated to the Hedstone country, in Pennsylvania, and in
1789, with several uncles, moved to Limestone, Ky., which
at that time was one of the extreme frontier settlements.
Here they became noted for their courage and activity in
the various conflicts with the Indians, so common at that
time; and here, too, our young hero first gave evidence of
possessing the qualities which in after· life would distinguish
him as a frontiersman. "Neil from his early years showed
a disposition to follow the ,voods," and when hut nine years
of' age he passed his time setting snares for pheasants and
wild animals. Shortly after, his filther purchased him a
shot-gun, in the usc of' which the boy soon excelled. Like
Kenton and Wetzell, he killed his first Indian at the early
age of sixteen, under the following circumstances: His
father, wlw at that time resided near 'Washington, in Mason
Co., Ky., a few miles south of Maysville, being 'out of
provisions, crossed the Ohio HiveI', with Neil, in a canoe to
hunt deer at a lick neal' the mouth of Eagle Creek, neal'
the present Adams County line. On entering the creek
from the river they heard a peculiar hacking noise some
distance up the bank. Neil having been placed ashore,
cautiously advanced, with gun in hand, towards the place
from whence the noise 'proceeded, when he saw an Indian
about twenty feet up a hickory-tree, cuttilig off the hark
with his tomuhawk to make a canoe. The moment the
daring und intrepid boy suw the Indian he brought his gun
to his shoulder, and taking deliberate aim fil'ed, and the
red-skin fell dead to the earth. Thinking that there might
be other Indians in the neighborhood, he and his futher
beat a hasty retreat, recrossing !o the Kentucky shore, and
communicated the information to the neighbors. As they
did not fully credit the story, the next Illorning Neil guided
a party of men to the spot, where, .sure enough, at the foot
of the tree lay the dead,Indian, who had never moved from

where he had filllcn, a hullet having passed entirely through
his body. Neil took the Indian's scalp and showed it many
days to his friends, who bestowed presents on him for his
bravery. This adventure produced a marked change in
his life, and his manners and habits were soon after almost
transformed. His step became as light and as stealthy as
a eat's, and his rifle was his inseparable companion.

Not long after, Neil had another opportunity to engage
the wily Indian and show his skill in beating the cunning
of the rell man. For many weeks an Indian, by imitating
the gobble of a tUl'keyon the Ohio side, had decoyed Ken­
tucky hunters across the river and killed them. But Neil
was too sharp a woodsman not to know that a tUl'key did
not gobble in oJuly, so having heard the noise one day he
at once made up his mind that it was produced by the In­
dian, and resolved to cross over and kill him. 'Vaiting
.until night had well advanced with its darkness, he silently
crossed the stream a short distance below where he had
heard the noi'3e, and cautiously crawled to a place to con­
ceal himself, where he would lie until the next morning,
when he supposed the Indian would again begin his gob­
bling. He had not advanced far when he heard a noise
issuing from behind a log not fill' from him. He soon saw
the Indian's head slightly raised above a log behind which
he lay concealed and again commence to gohble. At that
instant Neil fired, killing him at once. Taking,the Indian's
scalp he returned to his Kentucky home, which he reached
before his friends knew of his absence. The Indian he had
killeu proved to be a during warrior, who had killed no less
than twelve whites in that many weeks.

In 1791 the Indians became very troublesome, crossing
the Ohio between Muysville and the Little Miami to steal
horses and murder the I{entuckians. To watch their
movements and give the whites wal'lling of the approach of
their savage foe required great caution and courage on the
part of the spy. Yet Neil 'Vashburn, though but sevell­
teen years of age, was selected for this perilous and respon­
sible position, which he filled to the safety of the whites
and the terror of the Indians. Once while thus employed
he gave them a terrible example of his ~kill. At the mouth.
of Bullskin, in Clermont County, he made a sudden att.ack
on an Indian camp of fise warriors and killed 'all but one
without receiving a wound.

This daring act gave him a still greater reputation as an
Indian fighter and caused him to be selected, in the spring
of 1792, as the goverilment spy to patrol the country be­
tween the Great Kanawha and Maysville. Although Gen.
J...ee had selected some other mon to engage with 'Vashburn
in this perilous enterprise, none but he had the courage to
go out and warn single boats not to descend the river. He
was provided with a good horse and well armed, and met
with no adventure until after crossing the Big Sandy. He

.swam that stream and had proceedeu about a mile, when he
was suddenly fired upon by tl. party of Indians in am-bush.

His horse fell dead, and with a yell of' triumph the sav­
ages sprang forward to capture the spy. But Washburn
was unhUl·t, and fleeing like a deer evaded his pursuers as
he made his way back to the Big Sandy. He plunged into
the stream and swam across it, holding his rifle and ammu­
nition above his head. Panting from ex~rtion, he rested
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fi)1' a moment on the opposite bank, when the Indians,
whooping and yelling, appeared in pursuit. Neil took aim
with his trusty rifle and killed one of the Indians, then ran
down the river. The Indians pursued so closely that he
was obliged to strike inlalld to evade them, and after l1lueh
~ffort arrived safe at Muysville. The same year he was en­
gaged with Kenton and others at the battle of Grassy nun
(an account of which is elsewhere given in this book), and
again displayed great darin~. Twenty-five years after this
battle Washburn found McIlltyre's gun, which he saw him
place against a tree while he was cooking his supper. The
stock was almost gone and had sunk several inches into the
earth.

Not long after the above battle Neil 'Washburn encoun­
tered two Indians on horseback ncar the mouth of the
BuJlskin, one of whom was riding a short distance in ad·
vance of the other. He fired at him, and succeeded in
kiIiing him without alarming the other Indian, who was
also killed when he came up, and both horses were taken
by Neil to Kentucky.

About the same time an Indian crossed the Ohio, and
stealing six horses in Kentucky, had almost reached the'
river on his northward way when he was overtaken by
'Washburn and two others. The Indian had plaited the
tails of' the front. horses into the foretops of the ones in the
rear, and was taking them along without any trouble. They
fil'ed on the Indian, who shot at Neil, and almost disabled
him before he was killed and the horses recovered.

'While acting as a spy in the summer of 1793 he dis­
cO,vered where about twenty Indians had crossed the Ohio
and sunk their canoes at the mouth of Holt Creek. He
immediately notified Simon Kenton: who soon raised a body
of choice men, with himself and Washburn at their head.
They crossed into Ohio at Maysville, and proceeded down
the river till they were opposite Holt Creek. Here they tJon­
cealed themselves, and after watching four days, some of the
Indians arrived with a number of stolen horses, which they
commenced to swim to the Ohio shore, at the same time
crossing over in one of the canoes. As soon as the boat
touched the shore Kenton and his party fired, killing all
the Indians, but saving the life of a white man who was
with them. Going down to the canoe the white man at­
tempted to shoot Kenton, when the latter gave orders that
he, too, be killed. Three or four hours later another party
of Indians came from Kentucky and crossed as did the first
body of Indians, when Kenton's party again fired and killed
all of them. In the evening the remainder of the Indians
approached and commenced hooting like owls, but receiving
no response from the Ohio side, and suspecting an ambus­
cade, reconnoitred until they found that it would not be safe
to cross there. They beat a hasty retreat just as a company
of Bourbon County militia came up in pursuit of them.
These were among the last Indians that crossed into Ken­
tucky from Ohio fOl' warlike purposes.

After this occurrence Neil Washburn continued to act as
a spy until 'Yayne's expedition was set on foot, when he
joined Kenton's battalion and acted as a scout in the march
to Fort Recovery. He participated in the battle of Fullen
Timbers, fighting in the advance line, and it is said that he
killed thirteen Indians in that engagement. Aftor the

treaty of Greenville 'Vashburn made his home 'with his
father, at Manchester, in Adams County, where he had settled
in tllC spring of 1792. He now spent most of' his time
hunting and trapping until the war of 1812, in· which he
was at the head of a company of rangers in Gen. Hull's
command. In the war he rendered good service, and re­
ceived the thanks of Gen. Harrison for the part he took at
the siege of' Fort Meigs. On one occasion he came near
losing his life. 'Vhile on an expedition to learn tIle strength
of the enemy, his command was led into an ambush, and
had it not been for the timely aid rendered by Jacob Ulrey,
who arrived at this moment, lllany would have been killed.
'Washburn received a wound over the eye, and Ulrey had a
horse shot under him.

In 1815, Cornelius Washburn moved to WilIiamsburgh
township, where he resided until 1833, but most of the
time he was engaged in trapping along the rivers of the
Southwest. In the fall of 1833 he accepted a position
.as a hunter and scout for a fur-trading and trapping com­
pany on the Yellowstone, where he was killed in March
of the following year, it is supposed by the Indians, under
the following circumstances: The trappers were divided
into two companies, of one of which Neil 'Washburn was
the commander. At the close of the season the men di­
vided into small parties and proceeded in that manner to
a general point of rendezvous. Neil 'Washburn and two
others decided to take passage by water, while the rest of
the men went overland, where they arrived safe, and waited
five days before they had any tidings conceruing 'Yashburn
and his companions. On the morning of the fifth day an
Indian rode into camp with some trappings on his' pony
which were recognized as having belonged to 'Yashburn,
and another Indian appeared clothed in garments which
belonged to one of' his companions, wlJich left but little
doubt as to the fate of the unfortunate men; and as the
country was infested by hostile Indians, the trappers were
obliged to leave without learning anything more definite
about the matter.

In pe,rsonal appearance, Neil Washburn was more than
six feet in height, with broad shoulders and a very sym­
metrical body, although his hands and feet were small. He
was active and powerful, and it is said that his physical ap­
pearance was strikingly like that of' Cortez. His dress was
the common garb of the true woodsman, and his feet were
never encased in anything but moccasins, which gave his
step a light and cautious tread. His speech was low, his
hearing remarkably acute, and, in general, all those facul­
ties which characterize men of ·his stamp were developed to
an unusual extent, and he was a thorough master of every
species of Indian tactics. He was one of the last of that
class of men-like Boone, Kenton, Beasley, and Wetzel­
WllO appear to have been specially raised up to make the
settlement of the great 'Yest possible, by protecting the
pioneers as they extended the way of civilization towards
the setting sun, and the story of their valor and manly
deeds will always be gladly read as lon~ as the love for the
hewic exists. .

ADAM BRICKER

was to a large extent a contemporary of Curnelius \YlIsh.
I burn, UIlU, like hilll, was nurtured in the ways of frontier life
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from his infancy to his manhood. He was born at the old
Hedstone Furt (now Brownsville, }>a.), and was the son of
German parents, who were massa<:red by the Illdians, who
made an incur~ion in that country when Auam was but
eight years of age. None of the whites escapeu, and had
not Adam and a younger brother been away from home
they, too, "'ould ha"e met a cruel death. The two orphan
children werc taken ill charge by an uncle,. with whom
Adam lived until he was fourteen years of age, when, being
strongly imbued with a military spirit, he enlisted in a
company of soldiers which was stationed at Fort Hedstone.
Thcy remained there about a. year, young Adam being
engaged most of the time as a huntcr for the garrison, a
position of honor for one so young. In 1785 the soldiers
wcre sent to Pittsbul'gh, where they remained about two
years. In that time young Bricker was connected with
several expeditions against the Indians, and displayed so
much courage and coolness in battle that he won the ad­
miration of his comrades.

In 1787 we find Bri<:ker and his company at Fort Law­
rence, and two years later at Fort Harmar (now Marietta).
From thence the soldiers were sent down the river to Fort
'Washington (now Ci!1cinnati), and later to the falls of the
Ohio, where Adam Bricker's term of enlistment cxpired.
When St. Clair recruited men for his ill-fated expedition
at Pittsburgh, Bricker again enrolled himself as a soldier,
and on account of his courage and pioneer experience was
assigned a place in the vun of the army. This place he
kept until two days before St. Clair's defeat, when he and
some comrades were detailed to return and bring up a
convoy of provisions and some stragglers of the army.
Failillg in their mission they returned to their regiment,
and were with it at Fort Jefferson at the time of the battle.
After the defeat Bricker's company proceeded to the Ohio
River, and was at Louisville until after \Vayne's victory in
1794.

In December of that year they were ordered to Pitts­
burgh, and in the early part of 1795 they were engaged in
suppressing the whisky rebellion in \Vest.el'll Pennsylvania.
Having now been connected with the regular army more
than ten years, Adam BI'icker dedded to cast his lot among
the settlers who were pushing their way to the Miami
country in Southern Ohio, and went to Columbia in the
fall of 1795. Here he connect.ed himself with Gen. \Vil­
Ham ~ytle's lmrveying-party, and went with it to layout
vVilIiamsburgh, in Clermont County, serving as a hunter
for the surveyors. While thus engaged, one day, watching
for deer at a lick in what is now Perry township, in Bl'Own
County, he discovered an Indian with a bridle on his 'arm,
which he doubtless intended to put on the first horse he
could steal. Adam, who was concealed behind a log, cocked
his gun, arid was on the point of firing, when suddenly the
Indian made a movement, which the wily frontiersman in­
terpreted as a lookout for his companions, and lay us quietly
as possible until the Indian had passed by, when Bricker
beat a hasty retreat and reached the surveyors in safety.

In 1796 he built a smull cabin at vVilliamsburgh, and
followed a hunter's life until 1805, when he married Re­
becca Hartman, a woman of mf)re -than ordinary ability,
and thenceforth applied himself to the work of opening a

farm; but having been a soldier and hunter so long, he felt
it hard to be satisfied unless he had a gun on his shoulder.
Even at the age of seventy he speilt much of his time in
the woods hunting, and often expressed a regret that the
Indiun wars were over. In company with Adam Snider
and Cornelius \Vashburn he spent two months of the win­
ter of 1804-5 searching fOl- Lydia Osborne, who had been
lost the previous July, tmveling more than five hundred
miles among the Indians of the northern part of the State,
and subsisting on wild berries and game. In 1806, while
hunting on t.he StoDelick, neal' where is now the residence
of John Barnacle, he discovered an enormous black bear
on an old ash.tree, which was covered with a blue-grape
vine, on the berries of which the bear was feasting. To
shoot the bear was but the work of a moment, and almost
as quickly the monster fell to the ground. Adam, thinking
that the bear was dead, ventured too close, and soon found
himself in the grasp of the wounded an'imal, who embraced
him with a terrible force. After a short struggle Bricker
drew his hunting-knife and plunged it into the heart of the
bear with such effect that he soon found himself' free and
unhurt, save a few scratches. A few years after this en­
counter he killed a very huge panther near \Villiamsburgh.
He had been imitating the cries of a lllwn to decoy the
doc, but to his astonishment was confronted by a fero­
cious panther instead of a deer. The bloodthirsty animal
had stealth fully crouched near him, and it required quick
action to save himself from being torn to pieces. He fired
and the panther fell dead. It measured eight feet in
length, and is said to have been the last one killed in Cler­
mont County.

The closing years of Adam Bricker's life were spent on
his farm a few miles south of Williamsburgh, where he
died Aug. 31,1843, at the age of eighty years, ten months,
and twenty-five days. He was a man of small stature,
but had great powers of endurance, often walking to Cin­
cinnati and returning the same day.

JACOB ULREY

was a contemporary of Cornelius \Vashburn, Adam Bricker,
and ot.her pioneers of noted courage and bravery~ He was
a native of Maryland, but was of German parentage, and
until he was twelve years of age Jacob could speak no word of
the ]~nglish. From Maryland his parents moved to Wash­
ington Co., Pa., and when he was fifteen years of age he
became the owner of a rifle, in the use of which he soon
became an adept, and at eighteen he had a reputation ex­
tending through all the country as a skillful hunter. At
twenty he married, and in 1794 started with others to Ken­
tucky, and after a perilous voyage down the Ohio settled
about twenty-five miles from Louisville. Three years later,
attracted by the glowing accounts of the Miami country,
he immigrated to Clermont County, and settled in the north­
ern part of Monroe township, on the stream now so widely
known as Ulrey's Run. Here his fame as a hunter and his
good qualities as a citizen caused him to be favorably known.
His family was provided with the best the forests afforded,
and he supplied the wants of his neighbors with a liberal
hand. Many pioneers, and frequently Indians, were at­
tracted to his cabin to see his wondel'ful skill as a marks-
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man, the latter especially being loud in their praise of his
skill.

About 1805 a gang of horse· thieves and other desperate
characters infested the county, greatly harassing the good
citizens, whose property was rendered wholly insecure by
their presence. Among the boldest of these desperadoes
was a man named Colwell, who not only stole without fear
of the law, but defied the authOl·ities to capture him.
Their indifference provoked Ulrey toa determination to
hunt Colwell down, and he soon had the Eatisfaction of not
only capturing him, but of breaking up his gang, which
had a wholesome fear of this brave, cool-headed man.

o 'When the war of 1812 broke out he became a member
of Capt. Flinn's company of Kentucky rangers, and was
at the battIeof Brownstown. Shortly after Hull's sur­
render, when I1ear the head of the Maumee River, his
company was attacked by a large force of Indians. Seeing
an indian in the act of tomahawking a wounded comrade,
he dismounted to take aim, when his horse became fright.;
ened and ran some distance, tearing off his saddle before
he was caught. He killed the Indian, aud mounted the
horse bareback aud rode all the way to Vincennes. As he
weighed about two hundred and forty pounds, the exercise
was so violent that he was thrown into a severe fever, which
nearly caused his death. Recovering, he again engaged in
active service, and thereafter had many personal combats
with the Indians and the British. Afeer peace was declared
he returned to his home in Clermont, where he was en­
gaged in farming till his death, Sept. 7, 1838, although I1e
sp~nt much of his time hunting; and, as he was a man of splen­
did physique and a good horseman, he was one of the finest
men in his day when he engag«!d in the chase. The de­
scendants of Ulrey became noted as useful and important
citizens, and many yet remain in Clermont.

GEN. JAMES TAYLOR.

Although Gen. Taylor was never a resident of Clermont,
he was so closely identified with her early material interests
that a short sketch of his life will be perused with general
interest. He was a native of Virginia, but in 1792 he
immigrated to Campbell Co., Ky., settling on the site
on which now is the city of Newport, which he laid out.
He was a surveyor, and engaged largely in locating lands,
beginning his operations in the military reservation in 1795,
chiefly.as a partner of Gen. 'Villiam Lytle. This relation
was continued until 1805, when the partnet;ship was dis­
solved. Gens. 'faylor and Lytle caused several of the
earliest mills in Clermont to be built by Peter W'ilson, a
millwright, whom they employed for this purpose. One of
the best known was on the Obannon Creek, in the north­
western part of Goshen, better known as " 'Vilson's mill.'·

In the war of 1812, Gen. Taylor was one of the first to
volunteer, and served as quartermaster-general of Gen.
Hull's army, and was in all the engagements around De­
troit.

As a business man, Gen. Taylor had 'no superior in his
day, and by his energy hud accumulated a vast. estate. At
different times he owned over thl·ee.hundred thousand acres
of land in the State of Ohio, most of which was patented
to himself, and it is remarkable that he lost but very little

land by reason of a superior title. He died in 1848,
leaving to his son, Col. James Taylor, the management of
his affairs, embracing also his realty in Clermont County,
which amounted to several thousand acres of choice land.
~rhe latter is still a citizen of Newport, yet for the past fifty
years has sustained close relations to Clermont. He was
thoroughly educated, and adopted the law as his profession,
being admitted to the bar in 1825. He took an active in­
terest'in the land-operations of his father, and himself made
the last entry for Clermont County before the land-office
was close.d at Chillicothe. Col. Taylor is at present reputed
one of the wealthiest men in Kentucky, and is liberal in
his benefactions to humane and charitable institutions.

H.-MINISTERS.

REV. FRANCIS l\IcCOR~IICK.

The life of a person closely connected with a political or
religious movement is generally invested with much in­
terest; and a short sketch of such a life cannot but prove in­
structive to the carefiIl reader of history. Francis 1\1cCor­
mick was born in Frederick Co., Va., June 3, 1764. His
father was a farmer in easy circumstances, and in the earlier
years of his life astrict Presb.yterian. Later, however,
his religious convictions were not so clearly defined, and he
lived in a condition of moral darkness. Consequently,
young McCormick grew up a wild ami wicked young man.
But at the age of twenty-six, under the preaching of Rev.
William Jassop, he was awakened on the subject of his
soul's salvation, and entertained serious thoughts of reform­
ing. This state of mind was not agreeable to his parents
and friends. They bitterly opposed his convictions, and
ridiculed the Methodists, under whose influence he was led
to seek a change of heart. As their dec.ision did not dis­
suade him from his purpose, his fatlIer imperatively com­
manded him to renounce his belief or leave home. But as
the opposition from without waxed stronger the spirit within
became more courageous, and on the 25th of December,
1790, he fully united himself with the Methodist Church.
His wife had joined the same body a short time before.
Even now his relatives did not desist from their purpose,
and tried to bring him and his denomination into disrepute
by getting him drunk. Happily in this and other efforts
to turn him from the faith which he had espoused they
failed, and Fr~ncis McCormick was spared to become a use­
ful man in the church. Soon after his conversion he was
made a class-leader, by the B.~v. Valentine Cook, and in
1792 he was licensed to preach.

In 1795 he immigrated to Bourbon Co., Ky., but having
long entertained a dislike for the institution of slavery, the
following year he moved to the Northwest Territory, which
had been consecrated to freedom, where he might. escape
its baneful influence. He located on a fine tract of land,
just north of the present village of Milford, where, in the
spring of 1797, he organized the first class of Methodists
in the State of Ohio, and practically became the founder
of the Methodist Church in the great Northwest Territory.

In 1798 he accompanied the Rev. John Kobler (who
was sent hither for that purpose by the Kentucky Confer­
ence) on the first missionary tour in Ohio; which had the
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effect of more fully occupying the ground for Methodism.
In 17f)!) he formed two Methodist classes in the presellt
county of Hamilton, lohe first at a Mr. Uamsey's, I1car
Lockland, the other at Columbia. At these points and
other places he preached, and nobly aided the circuit preach­
ers in after-years to plant the bauner of the cross ill many
a benighted neighborhood.

In 1806 he sold his home at Milford, and removed to
what is now known as Salem, in Hamilton County, where
he died in 1836. "During the latter part of his life he
was partly disabled by disease, which he contracted in
the service of the church, arising froUl exposure to the wet
and cold in his earlier ministry." Though never formally
appointed as a circuit preacher, he did as much in the
ministry, gave as much to the church, and exerted as Illueh
influence for goud on the minds of his neighbors as his
eminent contemporaries. He never shirked his duty, alld
was always at his post to promote whatever wurk was re­
quired of him. :Fervent in his piety, liberal in his belief,
humane in his actions, genial in his nature, and refined in
his sentiments, his life was a power that was felt through­
out the entire :Miami country. "In person he was large
and well developed, his height being six feet and his weight
two hundred and forty pounds. His gigantic body was sur­
mounted by a well-developed head and a florid face, with a
clear, blue eye, expressive of good temper, intelligence, and
benevolence."

REY. JOlIN COLLINS.

In the early history of Clermont County no one of the
grand old pioneers bore a more prominent part than the Hev.
John Collins, the" old man eloquent" of the Methodist Epis­
copal Church. He was bol'll in Gloucester Co., N. J.,
in 1769, seventeen years before the Declaration of Inde­
pendence was promulgated, and died in 1845, at l\Iaysville,
Ky. His parents were Quakers, but he was most happily
converted in 1794, and united with the Methodist Church,
in which for over half a century he preached to a suffering
people with remar'kable and unprecedent success in reclaim­
ing sinners and leading them into paths of holiness they
had not known. After laboring some years as a local
preacher in New Jersey he removed in 1803 to this county,
and in 1804 preached the first Methodist sermon evcr de­
livered in Cincinnati. In 1807 he W:lS admitted into the
\Vestern Conference, and among the thousands he led into
the chUl·eh and to the Saviour was John McLean, after­
wards judge of the Supreme Court of the United States
for about a third of a century. Futher Collins' appoint­
ments, with two intervals of location, were for thirty years
in Ohio j and in 1837 he took a superannuated rel~tion,

and died, at the ripe old age of seventy-six years, a blessed
death, his last words bein~ " Happy, happy, happy I"

Rev. Collins, hearing of the rich land in Ohio and the
vast resources of this then far-distant \Vestern State, be­
came desirous of emigrating to this new EI Dorado, and by
conversing with a few of his neighbors he induced several
of them to go with him. In the summer of 1802 he came
out to view the country, intending, if he found it as repre­
sented, to purchase land fur three men besides himselF. He
learned that Gen. William Lytle, an .old Indian fighter, was
a land-agent living at 1Villiamsburgh, then the shire-town of

the lIew county, and that he had many large tracts of land
for sale. Gen. J.Jytle took Mr. Cullins to see many tracts,
but nOlle suited the latter, till at last the geneml said, " I
have one mure fine large sUl'vey to show you (Clayton's
sUiTey, No. 581), belonging to Gen. Nathaniel .i\Iassie,
called 'The Horseshoe Bottom,' on the cast fork of the
Little .Miami Hivcr." This tract greatly delighted :Mr..
Collins, and pleased him better than the hundreds of tracts
he had examined in Southern Ohio; and of it Cornelius
:MeCollulll, Isaac Higbee, and Josiah Allbason each took
two hundred acres, and ~lr. Collins the balance, the whole
calling for nine hundl'ed and sixty-six and two-thirds acres,
but overrunning considerably. In the division lUr. Collins
got the lower part of the land, including the fitlllOUS Horse­
shoe Bend, which he came to occupy in the spring of 1803,
his associates building cabins on the tract above him.

o These pioneers spent the sumlller and fall clearing the
land, preparing to be comfortable in the coming winter, and
by next spl'ing .Mr. Collins had two acres ready for corn, it
being too late the year of their arrival to raise anything
but turnips, of which they produced vast quantities, but
in the year following they raised ovel· a lLilndl'ed bushels
of corn to the acre. 1\11'. Collins selected a most beautiful
site, where there was a splendid spring of water, on the
second bottom from the river, iii the centre of his land, to
build a house, where, after it was cleared, he had the love­
liest view to be found in this Virginia Military Reservation
district. At that day there was a very large and luxuriant
growth of all kinds of vegetation,-wild pea-vines, wild
gmpes, several varieties of wild plums, crab-apples, black
and red haws, strawberries, goosebel·ries,and blackberries.
All kinds of wild animals abounded, and game and fish
were in great abundance. There were salt springs, fre­
quented by deer, on lUr. Collins' plantation, and the hills
on the north side of the east fork were therefore called by
hunters" Elk Lick Hills."

There being no church nearer than six or seven miles,
1\11'. Collins immediately opened his house for Christian
service and religious worship, and one of the rough settlers
near by, when he heard that a Methodist minister had
bought the land, kneeled down a1id prayed the Lord would
kill him j but when Mr. Collins arrived this rough but
honest settler visited the pioneer parson, was soon converted,
and became one of Clermont's best citizens, and a most ex­
emplary and zealous member of the church. Mr. Collins
gave a large lot off his place and had on it built a log
meeting-house, in which was regular preaching and a flour­
ishing membership j and in 1818, on the same site, was
erected a tasty frame edifice, and named" Bethel Church."
The sacred memories that cluster around the old" Bethel
Chapel," built of logs about 1807, and the later more im­
posing frame church, awaken old associations of the noble
pioneer preachers and sainted Christian mother::; of Cler­
mont, who laid broad and deep the pious foundations that
made Clermont County so eadyand notably identified with
religion, and the almost endless happy influence therefrom
resulting.

:Mrs. Collins was a woman of rare beauty and rarer in­
tell~ctl1al accomplishments. She was a sistel· of James and
Learner Blackman, both eminent in early Methodism, and
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the latter especially noted for his eloquence and winsome
manners. He was born in New Jersey in 1781, nnd after
coming to the ·West, in 1802, often preached in Clermont.
In 1805 he went south, and preached in the Holston,
Nashville, and Cumberland districts, was presiding elder,
alld in 1808 and 1816 a delegate to the United States
General Conference. Returning from a visit to his friends
in Clermont, when crossing the Ohio Hiver on a flat.boat,
at Cincinnati, his horRe becoming frightened plunged into
the river, carrying this distinguished minister with him,
and the eloquent Blackman found a watery grave.

Mrs. Collins died on the homestead about 1863. Her
IDOSt distinguished son was Gen. Richard Collins, in his day
one of the best attorneys of Ohio, who lived at Hillsboro'
IDany years, but in the latter part of his life resided on the
old Collins fitI'm, where he erected what was at that time
the handsomest residence in the county, and which yet re­
mains as a memorial to the worth and enterprise of the
Collins tinnily, and especially as a tribute to the memory of
the old pioneer preacher whose touching appeals and un­
tiring labors brought so many within the folds of the Chris­
tian church.

REV. WILLIAM B. CHRISTIE

was born in vViIIiamsburgh, Sept. 3, 1803, and was the
youngest of a family of ten childFen. His parental grand­
father was a duke in Scotland, and owned a large landed
estate called" Beech Green." He had in his fitmily of five
children two sons, George and Hobert, the latter being the
father of the subject of our sketch. The former died at an
advanced age, without issue, leaving, according to the cus­
tom of the country, his vast estate to his younger brother,
H.obert, who had run away from his home at the age of
seventeen and joincd the British army about the time of the
Hevolution in America. He was a non-commissioned offi­
cer in Lord Cornwallis' army, and was among the men sur­
rendered by him at Yorktown. After this event he settled
in Fauquicr Co., Va., where he was married to Frances
Burdett. In 1792 he immigrated to Kentucky, settling at
Newport, where he followed weaving for a livelihood. It was
here that he formed the acquaintance of Gen. \Vm. Lytle,
and for the weaving of' a pair of blankets for him Lytle gave
Christie a deed for ten acres of land, locatcd where is now
Fountain Square, in the city of Cincinnati. In seyeral
years Christie sold this land back to Lytle, and came with
a number of others to the newly laid-out town of Williams­
burgh, in Clermont County, and finally settled on a farm on
the East Fork, wcst of the old Bethel road, where William
B. was born. Of bis father little more can be said except
that he was a man of fine natural abilities and well educated,
but. being given to intemperate habits, his good qualities
were frequently overshadowed by bis faults. His mother
possessed strong sense, and was kind and generous to a
filUlt.

I?rom his earliest youth 'William B. Christie gave signs
of coming greatness. He was apt at learning, und had a
wonderful memory. Nevertheless, he possessed a mischiev­
ous disposition, and it is said that he had but one teacher
who could fully govern him, or properly direct Ids vivacious
disposition. At an early age he seemed to delight in the

exercise of public speaking, and would often mount a stump
or log and make speeches on various subjects, to the amuse­
ment and edification of his companion,S. At twelve he
evinced an uncommon fondness for books of history and
biography, reading with great avidity everything in that
line that came within his reach. Like Farwharson, as a
farmer he was a decided failure. Naturally of a weak con­
stitution, and having a great fondness for study, he was un­
fi tted· for the heavy work of clearing up the country; yet
being obliged by force of circumstances to labor as a woods­
man, he carried a book in his pocket which he would read
at every spare moment; and thus, under great difficulties,
Jaid the foundation of his brilliant career.

At the age of sixteen, while attending a camp-meeting
at Clough, in Hamilton County, he was happily converted,
and in 1820 baptized by the Hev. J. B. Finley, at a meet­
ing held near Milford. The same ycar he commenced to
proclaim the glad tidings of the gospel, and pr~a~hed with
such persuasive eloquence that his fame was soon in the
mouths of his brethren. While preaching at a camp-meet­
ing in Hamilton County, a man by the name of Armstrong
became much interested in the boy-preacher, and learning
that he was an orphan, and had not enjoyed proper advan­
tages for securing an education, he offered to send him to
Augusta College, in Kentucky, at his expense. Accord­
ingly, he entered that institution in 18£3, while it was in
charge of the eminent theologian, Fipley. His stay there
was continued eighteen months, and his benefactor having
died, meantime, he left Augusta in the spring of 1825.
The same year he became an itinerant in the Methodist
Church, and was assigncd to Union Circuit.

As a minister he was eminently successful, and in the
service of' the church filled several responsible offices. He
was one of· tllC delegates to the general conference held at
Baltimore, and his fervid oratory on that occasion was the
theme of general admiration. Twice more was he sent as
a delegate to that body, and always with credit to his con­
ference. Thus he toiled, preaching with such persuasion
that thousands were converted, but in 18:39 his health bc­
gan to fail, and from that time until his death he could not
stand to deliver his sermons. In the beginning of March,
1842, he was obliged to leave Urbana, where he had been
stationed the year before, and go to Cincinnati for medical
attendance. There he resided with his brother-in-law, Dr.
·Wright, until the 26th of the same mouth, when death
brought his earthly career to a close. His di:sease was
bronchitis, and during all his, sickness not a IDurmur es­

caped his lips.
In personal appearance the Rev. William B. Christie was

prepossessing in an eminent degree. He' was somewhat
above the mediulll height, and of a slcnder build, his hair
was black as a raven; his eyes dark and piercingly brilliant;
and when he was animated by the thcme of his discourse
they gleamed as if lighted by the fires of inspiration.
" About his countenance there was a bland and sOlllctimes
scraphic sweetness, especially when withsol't and llIeasnred
cadences he would Jabol' to win his rapt and listening audi­
ence to the cross or bear them away on imagination's wings
to heaven. His like ill the pulpit for ferdd oratory was
seldom equaled; his equal in rapid and impassioned elo-
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quence we never expect to see again." His contl'U~ts and
comparisons were usually clear and strong; his pathos was
sublime, and nothing human, seemingly, could withstand
its power. His voice was more musical than Clay's, and
more sonorous than 'Vebster's. In a word, it was sweet
like the music of Orpheus. His logic was invincible; his
language chaste and pure. "Dignified in his deportment
and courteous in his manner, he won the affections of all
with whom he had intercourse." His ambition-and who
that excels is not ambitious-was of that towering kind
which sought to rise above all others, but never stooped in
envious flight to pluck another's honors. He was, all in
all, one of' the greatest men Clermont has ever produced,
and his name will ever be held in sacred reverence by its
citizens.

nEY. WILLIA:\I II. RAPER.;:;

Among those who entered an itinerant minist.ry in the
beginning of the present century was the Rev. William II.
Raper. That he was born in troublous times is evident frolll
the filCt that a block-house in the wilds of 'Vestern Penn­
sylvania was the place of his birth, which occurred Sept.
24, 1793. His father, Leonard Raper, was a s~rveyol'
under the government in the Northwest Territory, which
obliged him to be much away from home in the discharge
of the duties of his calling. His mother was a woman of
great piety and exemplary character, belonging to that little
band of Methodists which was organized in Ohio before
the close of the last cen tury. She was, moreover, a true
pioneer, and ardently loved her country, as her subsequent
history in relation to her sons most abundantly shows.
'Vhen the subject of this sketch was quite young his pa­
rents removed to Columbia, on the Ohio, a few miles above
Cincinnati, where his early days were spent in those em-

. ployments incident to pioneer life. After this the family
moved to 'Williamsburgh, and when he had reached his
nineteenth year the thoughts of William H. were turned to
the ,val' of 181~, then commenced, and his two brothers in
the army of Gen. Hull, whose base surrender has forever
associated his name with an ignominy little less than which
att:l.cllCS to Arnold. A call was made for volunteers, and
young Haper joined the company of Capt. Stephen Smith,
of' Clermont County, and went forth to try the rigors ~f the
camp and field. Not long after entering the company,
the sergeant being disqualified by sickness from filling his
post, young Haper was chosen to the office. He felt an
ambition to fill with honor and bravery the part assigned
him, and labored with zeal and diligence to become master
of all the arts of war. A day or two before the battle of
the Thames his company was ordered to march up the
lake SOllle fift.e~n miles, to prevent the landing of the Brit­
ish, and the engagement took place during theil' absence,

. and the battle was nearly closed before the company arrived
on the ground. This circumstance rendered it necessary,
as Capt. Smith's Clermont company was now the strongest,
that it should take charge of the prisoners of war which
had been taken by COlllmodore Perry and Gen. William
Henry Harrison, and bring them to the Newport Station, in
Kelltucky.

-------------_. -------_.

~; From 11 sketch by the Rev. J. n. Finley.

All the officers who ranked above Raper in the company
having been taken sick, the command devolved upon him.
It was a responsible undertaking, but, as the sequel shows,
the young officer proved himself adequate to the emergency.
1'he cO~lpany consisted of one hundred soldiers, and the
number of prisoners amounted to four hundred; aQd every
arrangement being made, they commenced their march. On.
their route it was necessary for them to cross the Black
Swamp, which at that season of' the year was nearly covered
with water, extending for miles through a drear and desolate
wilderness. In their march the company became bewildered
and lost, and the young commander, Raper, was at his wits'
end to know what to do. 1;'01' three days and nights they
wandered about in the swamp without food. The company
had become scattered, and on the morning of the third day
he found himself with a guard of only twelve men, and
about ~llle hundred prisoners. The prisoners, seeing the
weakness of the guard, resolved on a mutiny, and refused
to march, threatening to kill the few who had them in
charge. No time was to be lost, and Raper calling out his
men drew them up in line, and commanded them to make
ready for the emergency, which they did by fixing their bay­
onets and cocking their guns. In this position both parties
stood for some time. At length, finding that the priso­
ners refused all entreaties to march, the commander, young
Raper, gave them five minutes to decide, and if at the ex­
piration of that time they did not march he would fire and
charge upon them. \Vhen the last minute had expired the
soldiers were ordered to present arms, take aim, and -­
but before the word "fire" had escaped his lips a large
Scotch soldier, fresh from the Highlands of his native
country, cried" hold !" and stepping aside, asked the privi­
lege of saying a word. Raper asked him if it was for peace,
and receiving an affirmative reply, granted the request,
whereupo~, addressing his fellow-prisoners, he said, "We
have been taken in a fair fight, and are prisoners, honor­
ably so, and this conduct is disgraceful to our king's flag,
and is not the conduct becoming true soldiers, but disgrace­
ful to ourselves and country. Now," said he, "I have
had no hand in raising this mutiny, and I propose that all
who are in favor of behaving themselves as honorable pris­
oners of war shall come to me, and we will take the others
in hand ourselves, and the American guard shall stand by
and see fair play."

This speech had the desired effect, and the mutiny was
brought to an end without bloodshed, and Raper continued
in charge till he delivered them over at Newport, opposite
Cincinnati. He was one of the best soldiers and bravest
men in the army, and under every almost conceivable
position in which a soldier could be placed he was never
seen or known to evince the least fear. They had a~ong

the prisoners two Indians, who, after very severe threaten­
i~gs, and, indeed, at the point of Rapet·'s sword, finally
led them out of the swamp. That evening they reached a
settlement, where they obtained provisions, and notwith­
standing the efforts of the officers many of the men killed
themselves by eating. After his arrival in Newport with
the prisoners he was offered a commission in the regular
army, which he consented to take, provided it was agreeable
to the wishes of his mother. Such was his love fo·r her
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that he would take no important step without first consult­
ing her. His mother's answer was characteristic of the
noble mothers of that day: "My son, if my country was
still engaged in war and I had fifty sons. I would freely
give them all to her service; but as peace is now declared,
,and there is no such necessity, as a Christian mother, there­
fore, I cannot consent, for I think something better awaits
my son than the mere camp-life of a soldier in time of
pcace." Mr. llaper often spoke in gratitude of this advice
of his mother, and felt it a far greater honor to be a humble
minister of Jesus Christ than to be at the head of the
American army.

In the spl'ing of 1816 he joined the Methodist Church,
under Rev. Russel Bigelow, at the house of Judge Ambrose
Ranson, at Newberry, Clermont Co., Ohio, and after foul'
months of deep penitence he waS joyfully converted.
Shortly after he assisted in holding meetings in his ueigh­
borhood and at Milford and Goshen, and the next year was
employed by the pl'esiding elder on what was then called
the Miami Circuit. In the year 1819 he was received on
trial in the traveling connection at the conference held ut
Cincinnati, and appointed to Madison Circuit, with the
nev. Henry Baker for a colleague.

While traveling in Indiana, upon the first visit to one of
his appointments, after the meeting was closed a fine, large
man approached him and called him brother, and said, "I
knew you the moment I saw you, but I suppose you have for­
gotten me." Brother Raper told him he did not remember
to have ever seen him. " 'Nell, sir," said the man, " I am
the Scotch soldier that made the speech to the prisoners
the morning of the mutiny in the Black Swamp." Their
meeting, under such a change of circumstances, was ~e­

marked by the brother as being very delightful, when he
added, "Aftel' we were exchanged as prisoners of war my
enlistment terminated. I had been brought to see the
justice of the American cause and the greatness of the
country, and determined I would not return to the old
country. I commenced working at such labor as I could
find, saved a little money, came to this State, rented some
lund, and opened a farm. I have joined the Methodist
Church, and, praise God! the best of all is, I have obtained
religion. And, not among the least of my blessings in this
new country, I have a fine wife and a noble child. So,
corne," said he, " dinner will be ready by the time we get
home." All othel' claims from the members had to be set
aside this time, and the two soldiers, now as friends and
Christians, were permitted to renew their acquaintance j

and they were ever after fast friends.
At another time, having lost the .direction on a strange

road at night, he crossed the mouth of Bullskin Creek,
where it empties into the Ohio, where it was perhaps fifty
feet deep, when the Ohio River was very high. The mouth
of the creek being full of drift-logs and brush, and it being
dark, he mistook the drift for a bridge and went upon it j

he thought it was a very shackling kind of a bridge, but
passed over, leading his horse, without injury, although
when upon it he feared his horse would fall tru'ough, and
knew no better till the next morning, when he was told of
his danger by the family to whose house he had becn at­
tructed late in the night by seeing the light frum their
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cabin window. But for that cabin he would have had to
remain all night in the woods, as he had done several times
before. During that year he swam h,is horse thirty-two
times in order to reach his appointments, and on one of
these swimming excursions he met with a singular accident.
His 'horse, by sOUle means, became entangled and sank,
throwing him off. It Was a cold morning, a little before
sunrise, and being encumbered with a great CQat and leg­
gins, he found it very difficult to swim, but with great
effort he succeeded in catching hold of the limb of a tree
which was hanging .over the stream, where he 'was enabled
to rest and hold his head above the water. While thus
suspended in the stream the thought rushed upon him,
'~Mother is praying for me, and I shall be saved." After
thus restiug for a moment or so he made the effort and got
ashore. His horse had also made a safe landing, having
the saddle-bags on his back all safe. His clothes and books
were wet, and himself very much chilled by th~ early bath.
But while this ,vas going on with himself in the stream,
his mother, some eighty or ninety miles away, that morn­
ing awoke suddenly as from affright, when this thought
rushed upon her, " 'Villiam is in gl'eat danger," when she
sprang from her bed, and falling on her knees prayed for
some time in intense supplication for his safety, when she
received a sweet assurance that all was well. When they
met and related the fiLCts, and compared the time and all,
they precisely agreed.

He was ever a favorite. preacher in Clermont, where he
was known to nearly every Methodist household, and where
he preached some of' the ablest, of his discourses for which
he was distinguished. In the years 18-10, 1841, and 18-12
he was presiding elder of a Cincinnati district, including
most of thia county, and under his labors and ministry
thousands of souls in Clermont enlisted in the cause of
Christ, many of whom went before to bid hlm welcome into
everlasting habitations, while others yet follow him as he
fullowed the Saviour. Blessed with an extraordinary m~m­
ory, he acquired a very large amount of historical and gen­
eral information, and possessed the happy art of turning all
to good account. Some ministers excel in some things
pertaining to their office and fall behind in others, but
Preacher naper succeeded \VeIl in almost every particular.
He was a profbundtheologian, mighty in the sacred Scrip­
tures, readily perceived the line ~eparating truth and errOl',
and had superior logical skill in advocating the one and op­
po~ing the other. While this generation lives on earth he
and his labors will be remembered with delight by many
both in and out of the church. Spiritual gifts were con­
ferred on him in great variety, and he sang delightfully and
usefully, and was highly gifted in prayer and exhortation.
In fine, he was an eloquent preacher, an able expounder of
the word of life, a very judicious administrator of church
discipline, and a f'aithful and affectionate pastor. Whether
on a circuit, on a station, or over a district as presiding
elder, he appeared to be alike at home, and everywhere
useful. His stated ministry was exercised chiefly in In­
diana and Ohio (and much of' it in the county of his adop­
tion, and where his many kin dwelt), but his connection
with several sessions of the Gencral Conference, and subse­
quently with the General Mission Comruittee, caused him
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to be well known about the Bastern cities, where he was
highly esteemcd. Indeed, his amiable social fIualities,
superior conversational powers, and rich fund of' usef'ul in­
eidents, gathered frolH practical liJe in camp, pulpit; and.
cabin, not only gaincd him access but secured him warm
personal fi'iends wherever he went, and few men had more
admircrs and none more devoted friends, either lay or
clerical, than Preacher Haper.

In the early part of February, 1852, he accompanied
Bishop Morris to Aurora, Ind., to attend a quarterly meet­
ing and visit his old friends in that place. There he
preached his last sermon, with peculiar clearness and effect.
On Tuesday, the 10th of February, he started for home, in
company with Bishop Morris, on the steamer "Forest
Queen." lIe was attacked SOUle time in the night with
spasllls; and when his condition was discovered by the
brother who was in the sallle state-room consciousness was
gone. The boat being in port, medical aid was immediately
had, and all that human skill could do was done, but to no
saving effect. He was carefully and tenderly borne to the
hosom ot' his family, whose feelings we cannot attempt to
describe, where he expired about half-past six P.M., sur­
rounded by his affectionate and deeply-afflicted filmily and
many sympathizing friends. The chariot of the Lord at
length had come, and the eloquent Clermont minister had
ascended to mansions on high. On a lovely spot in the
\Vesleyan cemetery the hand of affection reared a beautiful
white marble ooelisk, as a sacred tpemento, to tell the passer­
by where sleeps the sainted dust of one of Ohio's best and
bravest sons.

IlL-PUBLIO ~IEN.

GEN. ULYSSES SI.MPSON GRANT.

This eminent native of Clermont was born at the little
village of Point Pleasant, in Monroe township, April 27,
18~~, and was the oldest child of Jesse It and Hannah
(Simpson) Grant. His father was a tanner by trade, and
was at that time engaged in carrying on that avocation at
l)oint Pleasant, but soon after removed to Georgetown, in
Brown County, where the boyhood daJ's of young Grant
were spent. His mother was a daughter of John Simpson,
un estimable citizen of Tate township, where the family
still resides. His father was possessed of an unusual
amount of native sense, and was a shrewd business man,
in the later years of his life amassing considerable property.
He observed with fatherly pride the many evidences of
talent and tact which young Ulysses manifested, aud gave
them proper encouragement. The character of the boy is
generally father to the man, and General Grant was no ex-
ception to the rule. '

When Grant was very young he attended school with
llis cousin .John, a Canadian, who had been sent over to
the United States to be educated. The two boys were
warm friends, but John had inherited prejudices against
our country which at times he could not restrain, and his
language often gave offense to young Grant. One day
they were talking about George Washington, when John
said, ."It appears to me, Ulysses, you think a great deal
too much ot' Washington."

" And why shouldn't I think well of him?" replied the

tanner boy. "He is the filther of my country, and was
raised up by the Almight,y to lead it to independence."

"All very fine," retorted John; "but he was a traitor
to his king, nevertheless."

" A what?" asked Ulysses, rising to his feet.
" A traitor and a rebel," said the Canadian.
"John," calmly replied Ulysses," how should you like

to have your sovereign called such names?"
" Why, of courso, I should not like it," replied John.
" Then," said young Grant, "let me tell you I will not

allow you or anyone else to insult the memory of George
'Vashington."

"'VeIl, what are you going to do about it?" said John,
with a sncer.

" I shall resent it, as I have a right to do. You may
take advantage of me, for you are older and bigger than I
a.m. My mother told me not to quarrel with my school­
mates and I mean to mind her, and shall not attack them
on my own account But when \Vashington is assailed,
and especially by an English boy, I shall defend the filther
of my country. Cousin or no cousin, John, you have got
to take that back or fight." John would not retract, and
so, taking off their coats, at it they went. John was the
stronger and forced Ulysses down, but young Grant hung
on and finally turning John, hit him a blow on the nose,
which completely blinded him. After a hard fight John
finally had to cry out" enough 1" but Grant would not let
him up until he not only retracted his offensive language,
but promised never again while· on American soil to spcak
ill of George 'Vashington. This was Grant's first battle
for his country, and it was indicative of his future illus­
trious career as a man and a soldier.

Young Grant grew up a strong, self-reliant boy, of whose
daring and tact, in overcoming difficulties, many anecdotes
are related. He was as rugged as his native hills, and,
although unobtrusive, strove to excel in all things. After
a period of school life at Maysville, his father secured for
him an appointment as a cadet to \Vest Point, through the
influenee of his friend, Gen. Thomas L. Hamer, of George­
town, at that time representative in Congress.

At the age of seventeen he entered the military aeademy
of \Vest Point, and four years later graduated twenty-first
in a class of thirty-nine, receiving the commission of brevet
second lieutenant. He was assigned to the Fourth InfilDtry,
and remained in the army eleven years; was engaged in
every battle of the Mexican war exeept that of Buena Vista,
and reeeived two brevets for gallantry. In 1848 he mar­
riedJulia, daughter of Frederick Dent, a prominent mer­
chant ot' St. Louis, and in 1854, having reached the gl'Ude
of captain, he resigned his commission in the army. For
several years he was engaged in farming near St. Louis; but
met with small success, and in 1860 he entered the leather
store of' his father at Galena, Ill.
.. When the civil war broke out in 1861, Grant was thirty­

nine years of age, but entirely unknown to public men, and
without any personal acquaintance with great affairs. Presi­
dent Lincolil's first eall for troops was made on the 15th of
April, and on the 19th Grant was driiling a company of
volunteers at Galena. He also offered his service to the
adjutant-general of the army, but received no reply. ~rhe
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Governor of Illinois, however, employed him in the organi­
zation of volunteer troops, and at the end of five weeks he
was appointed colonel of the Twenty first Illinois Infantry.
He took command of his regiment in June, and reported
first to Gen. Pope, in Missouri. On August 7th he wus
,commissioned a brigadier-general of volunteers, the appoint­
ment having been made without his knowledge. He had
been unanimously recommended by the Congressmen frol11
Illinois, not one of whom had been his personal acquaint­
ance. For a few weeks he was occupied in watching the
movements of partisan forces in l\fissoul'i.

On September 1st he was placed in command of the dis­
tl"ict of Southeast Missouri, with headquarters at Cairo,
and on the Gth, without orders, he seized Paducah, at the
mouth of the Tennessee River, and commanding the navi­
gation both of that stream and of the Ohio. This stroke
secured Kentucky for the Union, for the State Legislature,
wl~ich had until then affected to be neutral, at once declared
in t:wor of the government.

From this time on the events in his career are too nu­
merous to admit of detailed mention in this book. The
llistory of the war, from 1862 to its close, is in essential
features the history of his life. It is so comprehensive in
its results that its story has filled volumes. To convey a
limited idea of his greatness as a general and his character
as a man, we make· allusion only to the last year of the
war for the Union. Grant's entire loss among the troops
immediately under his command, including those in Butler's
army, amounted to twelve thousand six hundred and sixty­
three killed, forty-nine thousand five hundl'ed and fifty-nine
wounded, and twenty thousand four hundl'ed and ninety­
eight missing; total, eighty-two thousand seven hundred
and twenty. He captured in the same time sixty-six
thousand five hundred and twelve soldiers; of the Con­
federate killed and wounded no return was ever made.
He had destroyed every army opposed to him,-those of
Lee, Early, aud Beauregard, besides the reinforcements
sent to Lee from all quarters of the South,-leavillg at the
last not a living man of all those armies who was not a
prisoner. His forces had never been more than one-third
greater than those of his antagonist, and he llad constantly
fought on the offensive. The terms granted to Lee at
Appomattox were so magnanimous that the whole popula­
tion of the South at once sought to share their benefits.
All the other Confederate urmies offered to surrender, and
the greatest civil war in history was at an end.

Grant returned at once to VIashington to superin'tend the
disbandment of his armies. This work was scarcely begun
when President Lincoln was assassinated. It had doubtless
been intended to inflict the same fate on Gra~)t; but he, for­
tunately, on account of leaving Washington early in the
evening, declined an invitation to accompany the President
to the theatre where the murder was committed. This
event made Andl'ew Johnson President, but left Grant by
far tllC most conspicuous figure in the public life of the
country. He became the object of an enthusiasm greater
than had ever been known in America.. Every possible
honor was heaped upon him j the grade of General was cre­
ated for him by Congress; houses were presented to him by
citizens; towns were illuminated because he entered them.

President Johnson soon took such a position in politics as
threw most of those who had suppOl'ted the war in to open bos­
tility to him. At fil'st he had been so bitter towards the de­
feated South that Gen. J.Jee asked Grant's interposition in his
behalf, and it was given. Grant saved Lee from prosecution
for treason when Andrew Johnson was eager for it. But
1\11'. Johnson soon became the ardent friend of the former
Confederates, and was believed by many to be plotting their
retU)'n to power. In this conjunction all parties turned to
Grant. Congress passed laws to restrain the President, and
giving Grant an amount of power unknown before to any'
subordinate. His position was extremely delicate. He was
a soldier, and it was his duty to be subordinate to the Pres­
ident. Yet the President was in direct opposition to Con­
gress,-the law-making power. Grant, however, for a long
time was able to comply with the directions of Congress
without offending the President. Johnson, indeed, sought
to obtain the sanction of Grant's name for his policy. He
suspended the Secretary of War anq placed Grant in bis
stead, and the soldier for some months was a member o{
lVIr. Johnson's cabinet. Finally, however, it became neces­
sary for him either to break with the President or, by com­
pliance, as he thought, to disobey the law; and he refused
to do the latter. From this time President Johnson was
his personal and political enemy.

Grant's popularity, howev~r, remain"ed unshaken with
those who lJad supported the war, 'and in 1868 he was'
elected President by large majorities. He was inaugurated
1\1arch 4, 1869. His first administ.ration "Tas distinguished
by a cessation of the strifes which sprang from the war,
by a large reduction of the national debt, and by a settle­
ment of the difficulties with England, which llud grown
out of the depredations committed by privateers fitted out
in England during the war. These difficulties threatened
at one time to embroil the two nations, but they were re­
fCITed to arbitration, and the result WaS a large awal·d of
damages, which were paid by England to the United States
on account of the injuries she had occasioned or allowed.
During the latter half of his administration a violent op­
position arose to Grant, led by men in his own party, who
were dissatisfied. with his course. He 'was, however, re­
elected to the Presidency in 1872 by a larger vote and a
larger majority than any candidate had received since the
United StateR became a nation.

After he had laid down his civil office Gen. Grant went
abroad, and in Europe was e\Tel'ywhere received as the
guest and equal of kings, queens, and emperors. Without
office, and on account of his great wisdom alone, his advice
was sought by the most eminent statesmen of the world,
and rulers begged him to settle for them intricate disputes
with foreign nations.

After two years' absence he retu1'Oed once more to his
native lund. Hark! "what sound is that which comes
fi'oni the 'West?" It is the voice of the people proclaim­
ing Gen. Grant has landed upon the coast of CaJ.ifornia.
Louder and louder grew the shouts, until from the apex of
the RQcky Mountains the glad sounds roll back undying to
Freedom's fill'thest mountain. Now he moves eastward,
this man without an office, a private citizen only, but
whel"ever he goes the people gather to receive him, and he
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walks among them a king,-not by such a worthless title
as a crown, but king over the hearts of a grateful people.
Bverywhere throughout the length and breadth of the
land that struggles in the grasp of two mighty oceans the
people invite him to come and sec them, and wherever he
presents himself they gather in such multitudes as were
never seen there before.

'Ve arc told ~ome men arc born great, others have great­
ness thrust upon them, while others again wring greatness
from the world. To the latter class emphatically belongs
Ulysses Grant; and yet it IlIay with truth be said that he
belongs to the second class, for being as IlIodest as he is
great, he claimed nothing for his services, and honors and
greatness had to be thrust upon him. The world furnishes
few such examples of greatness and humility, and our
country only one other,-that of George 'Vashington.

'Ve have written these words because we believe them
to be true; because we think Grant to be a ~reat and a
good man; because we admire him as a soldier and states­
man, and feel grateful to him for re-establishing the Union
of the States, and thus preserving for us and our children
the government which the tithers founded. \Vhat 'Vash­
ington established, he with his mighty sword has preserved j

and hereafter the names of Washington and Grant will
stalld side by side: and in marble and brass fill every niche
of our country's fame to the latest posterity.

GENERAL WILLLUI LYTLE.

In the early history of' Clermont no character waS more
widely or :filVorably known than Gen. 'Villiam Lytle.
When he first became permanently identified with the
material interests of the county as a surveyor and land­
owner, he was a young man of large frame and spare form,
of erect carriage and keen blue eyes, which gave him an
agreeahle appearance. He was hol'1l in Cumberland, Pa.,
in 1770, and nine years later was taken by his parents to
Fayette Co., Ky., where most of his boyhood was spent,
and where he imbibed the ~pirit which so distinguished
him as a young man. In 1786 the Mack-a-chuck Indian
towns in Ohio were destroyed by a hody of Kentuckians
under Col. Benjamin Logan. It was in the autumn of
that year that Gen. Clarke raised his forces for the 'Vabash
expedition, constituting a numerous corps. Col. J.Jogan
was detailed from the army at the falls of the Ohio to
recruit a large force of men, with which to proceed against
the Indian villages on the headwaters of Mad H.iver and
the Great Miami. William Lytle, then living with his
p,irents in Kentucky, was strongly imbueu with the mar­
tial feeling incident to pioneer times, but being only
sixteen years old was too young to come within legal
re1luisition for enlistment of troops j but he, with that
spirit of bravery and duty which ever characterized him and
his noble lineage, offered himself as n volunteer. Col. Logan
went to his destination with the boy J.Jytle in his forces, and
would have surprised the Indian towns against which he
had marched had not one of his own men basely deserteu
to the enemy, not long before they reached the town, and
given notice of their approach. As it was, he burned eight
large towns, destroyed many fields-of corn, took eighty-odd
prisoners, and killed twenty warriors, among them being

the head of the nation. But this last act caused deep
regret, humiliation, and shame to the commander-in-chief'
and his troops.

"Then they came in view of the first two towns, one of
whieh stood on the west bank of the Mad Hiver and the
other on the northeast of it, separated by a prairie half a
mile in extent, it was found that the town on the northeast
was situated on a high, commanding point of land, which
projected a small distance into the prairie, at the foot of
which eminence broke out several fine springs, and that this
was the residence of' the famous chief of the nation. His
flag was flying at the time from the top of a pole sixty
feet high, and they advanced in three lines, the commander
and some of' the horsemen marching at the head of the
centre line, and the footmen in the rear, Col. Hobert Pat­
terson commanding the left and Col. Thomas Kennedy the
-right.. When they came in sight of the town the spies of
the ad vance-guard made a halt, and sent a man back to
inform the commander of the situation of the two towns.
He ordered Col. Patterson to attack the towns on the left
bank of Mad Hiver, and Col. Kennedy was also charged to
attack those on the left, while he himself determined to
charge, with the centre division, immediately on the upper
town. Lytle, though but a boy, heard the commander
gi\'e his orders and caution the colonels against allowing
their men to kill any of the enemy that they might suppose
to be prisoners. He then ordered them to advance, and as
soon as they should discover the enemy to charge upon
them. Lytle had his doubts touching the propriety of
some of the arrangements, but was willing to view the
affilir with the diffidence of youth and inexperience; but,
at any rate, he resolved to see all that was going on, and to
he as near the head (If the line as his colonel would permit
it, as he was extremely anxious to try himself in battle.

'fhe commander of the centre line waved his sword over
his head as a signal for the troops to advance, and Daniel
Boone and Simon Kenton commanded the advance, und
Col. Trotter the rear. As they approached within half a
mile of the town on the left, and ahout three-fourths from
that on the right, they saw tl~e savages retreating in all
directions, making for the thickets, swamps, amI high prairie
grass to secure themselves from their enemy. Lytle was ani­
mated wit.h the energy with which the commander conducted
the head of his line, who waved his sword, and in a voice
of thunder exclaimed, "Charge from right to left!" The
horses appeared as impatient for the onset as their riders,
and as they came up with the flying red men Lytle was
disappointed at diseoyering that they would have little to do.
He heard but one Indian, with the exception of the chief',
cry for quarter. They fought with desperation as long as
they could raise knife, guu, or tomahawk, after they found
they could not screen thcmselyes. The whites dispatchcd
all the warriors they overtook, and sent the women and
children prisoners to the rear. They pushed ahead, still
hoping to overtake a body where they might have some­
thing like a general engagement. The boy Lytle was
mounted on a very fleet gray horse, followed by fifty of his
companions, and had not advanced more than a mile before'
he discovered some of the enemy running along the edge of
a thicket of' hazel and plum bushes.
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J-iytle made signs to the men in his rear to come on, and
at the same time, pointing t.o the flying enemy, he obliqued
across the plain, so as to get in advance of them. When
11e arrived within fifty yards of them 'he dismounted,
raised his gun, and discovered at. this moment some men of

·the right wing coming up on the left. The warrior the
young hero Lytle was about to shoot held up his hand in
token of surrender, and he heard him order the other In­
dians to stop. By this timo the men had arrived, and were
in the act of firing upon tlle Indians when Lytle called to
them not to fire, for they (the savages) had surrendered to
him. '1.'he warrior that had summdered to Lytle came
walking towards him, calling his women and children to
follow him. Lytle advanced to meet him, with his right
hand extended, but before he could reach him the men of
the right wing of the force had surrounded him. Lytle
rjlshcd in among their horses, and while the warrior was
giving him his hand several of the soldiers wished to toma­
hawk the Indian, but J-iytle informed them they would have
to tomallawk him first, and led him back to the place where
Ilia flag had been. He, with the scattered troops, had taken
thirteen prisoners j among them were the chief l\foluntha,
the great sachem of the Shawnees, his three wives,-one of
them a young and handsome woman, another of them the'
famous grenadier squaw, upwards of six feet high, and sis­
ter to the distinguished chief, Cornstalk, who fell (basely
Inurdered) at Point Pleasant, \V. Va.,-and two or three
fine lads. The rest were children, but of these lads one was
a remarkably interesting youth,' about the size and age of
J.Jytle, to whom he clung closely, and appeared keenly to
notice everything that was going on.

\Vhen Lytle and his force arrived at the town a crowd
of the Kentucky soldiery pressed around to see the chief.
A young man named Carner had been to olle of the springs
to drink, and discovering the young savage by Lytle's side
came running towards him. The young Indian supposed
he was advancing to kill him, and as Lytle turned around
the little savage let fly an arrow at Carner, for he was
armed with a bow. Lytle had just time to catch his arm
as he discharged the arrow, and it passed through Carnel"s
clothes, grazing his side, and the jerk he gave undoubtedly
prevented his killing Carner on the spot. Lytle then took
away his arrows and sternly reprimanded him, and led him
Lack to the crowd which surrounded the prisoners. At
the same llloment Col. McGary, the same man who by his
rashness and impetuosity had caused the terrible disaster
at Blue J-iicks, Ky., some years before, coming up, Col.
J-iogall's eye caught that of McGary, and he said," Col.
McGary, JOu must not molest these prisoners." " I will
see to that," said McGary, in reply. Young J-iytle then
forced his way through the crowd to the chief, with his
young charge by the hand. McGary ordered the erowd to
open and let him in, and coming up to the chief, his first
salutation was in the question, " 'Vere you not at the defeat
at the Blue Licks ?" The Indian, not knowing the mean­
ing of the words, or not understanding the purport of the
question, answered, " Yes." McGary instantly seized an
axe from the hands of the grenadier squaw, and raised it to
strike a blow at the chief. Lytle threw up his arm to ward
ofl' the Llow, and the handle of the axe struck the young

hero across the left wrist, and carne near breaking H, but
the axe sank in the head of the chief to the eyes, and he
fell dead at Lytle's feet. Provoked beyond measure at this
wanton barbarity, Lytle drew his knife for the purpose of
aven~ing his cruelty by dispatching the cowardly McGary,
but his arm was arrested by one of the men, which pre­
vented him from inflicting the thrust upon McGary, who
escaped from the crowd.

A detachment was then ordered off to two other towns,
distant six or eight miles, and the men and prisoners were
ordered to march down to the lower town and encamp. As
they marched out of the upper town they fired it, collecting
a large pile of corn for their horses, and beans, pumpkins,
etc., for their own use. Lytle told Capt. Stucker, who
messed with him, that he had seen several hogs running
about the town which appeared to be in good order, and
that he thought a piece of fresh pork would relish well with
their stock of vegetables. He readily assenting to it they
went, in pursuit of them, but as orders had been given not
t·o shoot unless at an enemy, after finding the hogs they had
to run them down on foot until they got near enough to
tomahawk them. Being engaged at. this for some time
before they killed one, while Capt. Stucker was in the act
of striking the hog, Lytle cast his eye along the edge of the
woods that skirted the prairie, and saw an Indian coming
along with a deer on his back. The' fellow happened to
raise his head at that moment, and looking acms's the
prairie to the upper town suw it all in flames. Then Lytle
spoke to Stucker in a low voice, tl1at here Was an Indian
coming, and in the act of turning his head around to ad­
dress Stucker, he discovered Hugh Ross, brother-in-law to
Col. Kennedy, at the distance of about sixty yards, ap­
proaching them. Lytle made a motion with his hand to
Ross to squat down, then taking a tree between him and
the Indian, slipped somewhat near, to get a filil'er shot,
when at the instant he raised his gun past the tree, the
Indian being about one hundred yards distant, Hoss' ball
whistled by him (so close that he felt the wind of it) and
struck the Indian on the calf of one of his legs. The
Indian immediately dropped his deer and sprang into the
high grass of the prairie, all of which occurred so quickly
that Lytle had not time to draw a sight on him before he
was hid by the grass. Lytle was provoked at Hoss' shoot­
ing when he (J-iytle) was near enough to hav,e killed him,
and now the consequence would be that probably some of
their men would lose their lives, as a wounded Indian nevOl·
gives up but with his life. '

Capt. Irwin rode up that moment with his troop of
horse and asked where the Indian was, and J-iytle pointed
as nearly us he could to the spot where he last saW him in
the grass, cautioning the captain, if he missed him the first
cllal'ge, to pass on out of his reach before he wheeled to
recharge, or the Indian would kill some of his men in the
act of wheeling. It is not known whether the captain
heard J~ytle or Hot j at any rate, the wal'lling was not at­
tended to, fOl', after passing the Indian a few steps, Cupt.
Irwin ordered his men to wheel and recharge am'oss th<.>
woods, and in the act of executing the movement the In­
dian raised up and shot the captain dead on the spot,-still
keeping below the level of the gmss, to not. give the other
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men any opportunity of putting a bullet through him.
The tl"00P charged a~ain, but the Indian was so aetive that
he had darted into the gmss some rous from where he had
fired at Irwin, and they again missed him. By this time
several footmen had got up, and Capt. Stucker and Lytle
had eaeh taken a tree that stood out in the euge of the
prairie, aUlong the grass, when a 1\11'. Stafford cmne up and
put his head first past one side and then the other of
the tree. Young Lytle was bchind, and the lattcr told him
not to expose himself that way or he would get shot in a
mOllH.'nt, and had hardly expressed the last word when
the Indian again raised up out of the grass. His gun,
Stucker's, and Lytle's, with four or five behind them, all
cracked the Same instant. Stafford fell at the side of J.Jytle,
while the others rushed at the wounded Indian with theil'
tomahawks. Before they had dispatched him he had
made ready the powder in his gun and a ball in his mouth,
prepming for a third fire, with bullet-holes in his breast
that might all h:we been covered with a man's open hand.
'1'hey found with him Capt. Beasley's rifle, the captain
haying been killed at the J.Jower Blue J.Jicks a few days
before the army passed through that place on their way to
the towns.

Next morning Col. Logan ordered another detachment
to attaek a town that lay eight miles to the northeast of
wherc they then were, and which they burnt, together with
a large block-house which the English had built there of
huge size and thickness. The detachment returned that
evening to the main army. The Indian lad captured by
Lytle was taken, with others of the prisoners, into Ken­
tucky, and Col. J.Jogan, the commander of the expedition,
was so much pleased with him that he made him a member
of his own lluuily, in which he re::;ided some years, and was
at length permitted to return. He was ever afterwards
known by the na:ue of Logan, to which the prefix of cap­
tain was eventually attached. His Indian name was Spe­
mica Lawba,-i.e., the" High Horn." He subsequently
rose to the rank of a civil chief on account of his mallY
cstimable moral and intellectual qualities. His personal
appearance was cOUlmalHling, being six. feet in heigllt and
weighing ncar two hundreu pounds. He from that time
continued the unwayering friend of the Americans, and
fought on their side with great constancy. He lost his lite
in the fo.dl of 1812 under melancholy circumstances, which
evinced that he was a lUan of the keenest sense of' honor.
J.Jogan left a dying request that his two sons should be sent
to Kentucky, and there educated and brought up under the
care of Maj. Hanlin. They were schooled a while at Piqua,
Ohio, the old chiefs refu::;ing to let them go away so f<lr as
Kentucky, but their mother, a bad woman, finally coaxed
and took them away and emigrated to the far \Vest, and
tllCre these boys became some of' the wildest of their race.

In the following year (1787) young Lytle was at Grant's
defeat in Indiana, and exhibited Spartanlike conduct, for
in that desperate action the Kentuckians, overpowered by
nearly four times their number, performed feats of ,brayery
scarcely equaled eyen in early Lorder warfill'e. In this bat­
tle young Lytle (only seYenteen years old) had both his
arUlS shattered, his filCe powder-burnt, his hair singed to
the roots, and nineteen bullets passed through his body

and clothing. In this condition, a retreat being ordered,
he succeeded in bringing off the field s(weral of his friends,
generollsly aiding the wounded and exhausted by placing
them on horses, while he himself ran forward in advance
to the last remnant of the retreating party to stop the only
boat on the Ohio !liver at that time which ·could take
them oyer and save them from the overwhelming force of
their sayage adyersaries. On l'eaching the riYer he found
the boat in the act of putting off for the Kentucky shore.
The men were reluctant to obey Lytle's demand for :t

delay until those stilI in the rear should come up, one of
them declaring that "it were better that a few should
perish than that all should be sacrificed." Lytle then
threw the rifle, wlJich he still carried on his bleeding
shoulder, over the root of a fallen tree, and swore he would
shoot the first man who pulled an oar until his friends were
aboard. In this w~y the boat was detained until they
came up, and were safely lodged from the pursuing foe.
Disdaining personally to take advantage of' this result, the
boat being crowded almost to dipping, he ran up the river
to where some horses stood panting under the willows, after
the escape from the battle-field, and mounting one of the
strongest, forced him into the river, holding on to his mane

. by his teeth, until he was taken, in the middle of the
stream, into the boat, bleeding and almost fainting from his
wounds, by the order of his gallant captain, the lamented
Stuckcr, who had observed his conduct with admiration
throughout, and was resolyed that such a heroic spirit
should not perish, fOl' by this time the balls of the Indians
were rattling like hail about their cars.

Previous to the settlement of Ohio, young J.Jytle was in
many other desperate engagements with the Indians, where
his cool, heroic bravery won general admiration. Before
the yictory of Wayne and his treaty at Greenville, while
making surveys in the Virginia Military District, between
the Little Miami and Scioto Rivers, he was exposed to in­
cessant dangers, suffered great privations, and often came
ncar losing his life at the hands of the cruel savages. He
followed the business of surveying the gl'eater part of his
life, and entered and located mOl'e lands in Ohio than"any
other surveyor. In 179G he laid out and founded the vil­
lage of' Williamsburgh, at that time called" Lytlestown," on
the sun'ey he had entered a few months previous. Convers­
ant with the promise of the great fertility of' the East Fork
valley of' the Little Miami, young Lytle must have ob­
served that this tract marked the termination of the abrupt
and precipitous hills that everywhere else charactel'i7;e the
western portion of the beautiful stream, which, with gentle
current, almost encircles the land of his wise selection. At
any rate, with the whole broad land of the county from
which to choose, he sought and obtained the control of this
area, on which a few years later he made his home. Amid
the cares and duties which engaged him as a surveyor, he
laid out a town on this domain which for many years Was
known as " Lytlestown," but which ill the act of dedica­
tion, was, from his own given name, called ·WiIIiamsburgh.

\Vhen Clerlllont County was Cl'ell;ted by the proclamation
of Governor St. Clair, in 1800, \ViIliamsburgh became the
county-scat and Gen. William J.Jytle was commissioned the
first prothonotary (or clerk of the courts), which office I~e
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held until the admission of Ohio into the Union and the
Territorial gave place to the State government, when, in
1803, he had his special f;'iend, whom he had brought from
Kentucky, the scholarly Hoger 'V. \Varirig, appointed by
the court. Lytle kept his office in a little stone building
'adjoining his residence, and hi~ papers still extant, showing
him to have been gifted with the pen, are rare curiosities.

In the war of 1812 he waS appoInted major-general of
the Ohio militia, with his headquarters at Cincinnati, to
which city he had removed two years previous. In 1829
he was appointed surveyor-general of the public lands of
Ohio, Indiana, and l\Jichigan, and died-in 1831-while
holding this important position. As a citizen he was dis­
tinguished for his public spirit and benevolence, and his
personal appearance and clJaracter 'strikingly resembled
President Jackson, who was his long and steadfast friend,
pGrsonal and political.

Gen. Lytle was the Hither of one of Ohio's most distin­
guished orators, the lamented Col. Hobert T. Lytle, who
represented Cincinnati in the Congress of the United States
from 1833 to 1835. He was the grandfather of the brave
and chivalrous Gen. William H. J.Jytle, Cincinnati's favorite
son, who fell, in defense of his country, his flag, and the
honor of his eloquent father and brave grandfather, at the
bloody battle of Chickamauga, Sept. 19, 1863, and who,
aside from his military renown and heroic death, will ever
be remembered as the gifted poet-soldier. His death came
to him as he had so prophetically written years before:

"On some lODe spot, where, far from home aDd fdends,
The way-worn pilgrim on the turf reclining,
His life and much of grief together ends."

Before the war he frequently gave scope to his poetical
genius, and some of his fugitive contributions to the public
press are likely to retain a prominent place in American
literature. His poem "Antony and Cleopatra" is such a
gem that it deserves a place in this connection:

" I am dying, Egypt, dying,
Ebbs the crimson life-title f'lst,

And the dark Plutonian shadows
Gather on the e\'ening blast.

Let thine arm, 0 Queen, enfold me,
Hush thy sobs and bow thine car,

Listen to the great he/1l't-secrets
Thou and thou alone must hear.

"Though my st'arred and veteran legions
Bear their eagles high no more,

And my wrecked and scattered galleys
Strcw dark Aetium's fatal shore;

Though no glittering guards surround me,
Prompt to do their lllaster's will,

I must perish like a Roman-
Die the great TI'iumvir still.

" Let nO,t Cresar's servile minions
Mock the lion thus laid low;

'Xwas no foewan's arm that felled him,
'Twas his own that struck the blow,­

His who, pillowed on thy bosom,
Turned aside from glory'S ruy,

His who, drunk with thy caresses,
:Madly threw a wol"1d away.

"Should the base plebeian rabble
Dare assail my name ~t Rome,

'Vhere the noble spouse, Octavia,
WcellS within her widowed howe,

Seek her; say the gods bear wilness­
Altars, augurs, circling wings-

Tlmt her blood, with mine commingled,
Yet shall mount tIJe tIJI'ones 'of kings.

"And for thee, star-cyell Egyptian!
Glorious sorceress of the Nile,

r,ight the path to Stygian horrors
With the splendors of thy smile;

Give the Cmsar crowns anll arches,
I.et his brow the laurel twine,

I can scorn the Senate's triumphs,
Triumphing in lo\'e like thine.

"I am dying, Egypt, dying;
Hark! the insulting foeman's cry.

They arc coming! quick, my falchion,
Let me front them ere I die.

Ah! no more amid the battle
Shall my heart exulting swell;

Isis 11nel Osiris guard thee!
Cleopatra, Rome, farewell !"

Although the name of Lytle is one of the earliest in the
local history of Clermont, yet the deeds of the three men
- William, Robert T., and 'William H.-wllich gave it a
place in State renown also gave tllem a national fame, never
to be effaced while our free institutions survive and their
valor is told in the English tongue. \Vhile Gen. William
Lytle may have at times, so common at an early day, when
land was cheap, been careless and negligent in some of his
real-estate transactions, he was the parsonification of honor,
and never willfully injured mortal man. He was kind­
hearted and generous, and his great confidence in friends
nearly stripped him before his death of his entire posses­
sion. An avaricious and scheming man would certainly
not have allowed himself to be bereft of s~ch a vast prop­
erty, and whatever errors of this nature he may have com­
mitted never originated from his heart.

DOWTY UTTER.

Col. Dowty Utter, one of the old and best-known Ohio
politicians, for native intellect, honesty of purpose, and stern,
unyielding devotion to principle, was one of the men around
whom the proudest recollections love to cluster. He was
born Oct. 3, 1791, at Brownsville, Pa., and came when
quite a small boy with his parents, a few years before the
close of the last century" to Clermont County, and settled
a few miles from Neville, in 'Vashington township. Here
he was able to obtain but a limited education, for school
privileges in those days were hard to get in the then wilds
of Ohio, and all the efforts of the pioneers were required
to procure the substantials of a life bare of comforts and
culture. But he was deeply read in the great book of na­
ture, and with it came a knowledge of men; and yet with
all this knowledge he not unfrequentIy allowed his heart to
run away with his judgment. In a story of distress he
could not, or rather would not, separate truth from falsehood,
and continually allowed his good-nature to be imposed
on. He was the standing security for small debts, for costs,
and for purchases at the sales at public vendue, for he could
not bi"ing his generous heart to refuse, and the results were
that he lost large sums in paying petty surety debts. In
1833 he was elected a justice of the peace for 'Washington
township, and re-elected in 1800, and in his six years of
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office he had settled and adjusted, without litigation, double
the cases he tried, and would always invariably throw in
his costs to get the litigants, often poor and needy, to com­
promise. In 1835 he wa:; first eleuted to the General As­
sembly as representative, re-electcd the next year, and in
18;37 elected State senator for two years, and re-elected in·
18~J9, and again in 1845, making eight years in altllOst
continuous J...egislative harness. .

If ever there was an unpolished diamond in human form
-rough and with sharp c<lges, yet the more valuable from
its roughness-that <liumoll<l was the long-time Senator
or Hepresentative Utter, of Ulel'mollL He was a democrat
an<l rcpublicall from birth, and 110 training coul<l have ma<le
him othel'\vise. It was in·Lorn, and he could not have rid
himself of it if he would, and he woul<l not if' he could.
His big heart beat in unison with the masscs,-evcry feel.
ing of his nature waS with the toiling millions, antI to have
made him ad\'crse to their intercsts, the whole man must
have been changed. Among the J...egislative orators (and
Ohio has produced as many and as good as any State in the
Union) none in his day were listened to with more atten­
tion than the subject of this sketch. Yet in the scholastic
sense he was no orator. Occasionally he murdered the
king's English, but there was a terseness about his speeches
and an occasional burst of' true eloquence which made
him at all times a filvorite speaker. He contIensed his
speeches,-they were always to the point,-and he had the
fhculty, rare to most speakers, of knowing when to quit. He
was a mall of unswerving truth, and he \vho would doubt the
word of Dowty Utter on a matter of fiLCt would be scouted
by his party friends, no ma~ter whether he was 'Vhig or
Democrat. A lack of truth, or even an evasion of it in
debate, would draw froUl him his fierccst wrath, and that
wrath was terrible. So fierce was he in denunciation of
wrong that he acquired, and while in the Legislature re­
tained, the sobriquet of the "Democratic Meat-Axe," and
although, as before stated, a kinder heart never beat in a
man's bosom, yet the cognomen was well earned. In de­
bate, when excited, no man was quicker at a retort. In
anger-for his temperament was of the sanguine-he no
doubt said many things that he afterwards regretted, but
never did he say a word in debate that he did not at the
moment believe; and what he thought he spoke, and spoke
nothing he did not believe.

In the councils of his party he was invaluable, and
nothing more provoked him than a base truckling to expe­
diency. He was fond of quoting Gen. Jnckson's admirable
saying, "The right is always expedient," and no expedient
that did not carry right with it found any favor .in his
eyes. In Col. Utter there was. a rich vein of humor, of
which a single anecdote will show. Col. Samuel Spangler,
of Fairfield County, who hud been senator time out of
mind,-in truth, in age and term of service he was the
filther of the Senate,-like Col. Utter, was guilty of using
words more common in his own neighborhood than in re­
fined society. His seat was immediately in fi'ont of the
speaker; that of Col. Utter behind him on the left. One
d~lY, on opposing the passage of a bill, Col. Spangler said it
was advocated on the ground that it; would benefit Southern
Ohio. To disprove this, he said the senator from Clermont

stated that he <lid not care a "hait" about it. Col. Utter,
in a low voice, intended only for the cars of the Fairfield
senator, Raid it was fidse. In an instant Spangler got mad,
his eyes filirly flashed through his green spectaclcs as, tUl'll­
ing to Col. U ttcr, he said, "You did say so,-you told
me so with your own mouth I" A question of veracity be­
tween these senators created a sensation that caused quite
a cOllllUotion, bringing the Governor of the State and mem­
bers of the House in great numbers into the chamber, and
emptying all the omces of the variouR departments to sec
the emellte betwecn the two most able and distinguished
senators in Ohio. Soon Col. Utter rose to reply: "I told
you no such thing, sir. I <lid say to you that I didn't care
a COl/linen/al dam/t whether the bill passed or not; but,
sir, I never use<l the word Itait so improperly in my life I"
This explanation-Satan rebuking sin-for a time destroyed
-the gravit.y of the Senate and convulsed with laughter
Governor Shannon and the sedute Supreme Court judges,
who had filed in to witness the scene, and no one seemed to
enjoy and relish the affair more than the honorable Fair­
field senator himself.

No sketch of a public man call be complete or of interest
that is all in praise, and, although Dowty Utter had fewer
foibles than most men, yet he had one which, as he used it,
was of but small account. Every lIlan, it is said, must dis­
sipate somewhat, and Col. Utter's dissipation was playing
euchre. lIe was u capital player, and loved it well, yet he
never played for money. But the most desperate gamester
could not watch the progress of the game where his all was
at stake with more interest than did CuI. Utter when play­
ing with his friends for amusement. He usually, nay,
always, carried 'a large jack-knife with him to cut his to­
bacco, and that jack-knife was always on the table before
him to tally his game. J...,Ying closed on the table it counted
one; the blade one-quarter opened counted two; half opened,
three; opened its full length, foUl'; and when the next
" point" was made the jack-knife went baek to Col. Utter's
breeches' pocket until he made one in the next game. When
playing with the chief dignitaries of the land, in the finest
parlors of Cincinnati, Columbus, 'Washington, or New York
cities, amid the assembled fushio'nable butterflics of the day,
the "brusque Clermont senator" ever used his old fimn
jack-knife to count his points in the game of euchre, then
so universally played.

When in the J...egislature it was found necessary to send
a special agent of the State across the oceun to London to
negotiate a loan of some two millions of dollars to com­
plete the great canals of Ohio, whose effects upon the im­
provements and prosperity of the State, itt affording to the
farmers of the interior an easy access to market, enhancing
the value of their farms and productions, facilitating com­
munication between different sections, and tending tv make

, the people more united as well as prosperous, cannot be too
greatly estimated. The political party of which Col. Utter
was a member, and its leading one, so to speak, in a caucus,
which waS conclusive as the party was then in power, unan­
imously selected Col. Utter to proceed as the agent to Eng­
land to raise the funds. The scene in the caucus that fol-.
lowed his selection would be a fit subject for the painter,
for the rough old farmer-senator of "Bear Creek," with
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tears in his eyei and with the diffidence of' t1 noble and
brave man, declined the honor, saying a Ill:1tl must be
chosen whose manners and address would not defeat the
grand undertaking by exciting the ridicule unu derision
of the money-lords of' J....ondon, who would be too apt to

judge of' the State's resuul'ces by the air and style of the
envoy it. sent to raise funds for its needful improvements,
And so another man went; but those who knew Utter best
say he could have shown in the fashionable saloons of' the
Bl'itish metropolis as much ease and courtly gJ'ttce as the
most noted of America's polished cavaliers.

At the grand gubernatol'ial party, the til·,st cv-ening fol­
lowing Governor 'Vilson Shannon's first inau~ul'l\tion, it
fell to the lot of Col. Utter and Mrs. Col. Hobert 'f. J....ytle
-one of the most beautiful and accomplished ladies of the
land-to receive the guests, embracing the elite of Ohio
and neighboring States; alld although Col. Utter was loath
to make the trial, he did, and won the plaudits of the fash­
ionable guests anq received the warmest praise fi'om his
filiI' assistant, one of the best judges in the Union of' digni­
fied ceremony and courtly graces. In 1844-, Col. Utter
failed of the Democratic nomination for Governor by only
one vote in the committee of the convention thllt reported
the nominee, David Tod being successful; but the same
convention unanimously made him one of the two sena­
torial electors on the ticket for President and Vice-Presi­
dent,-" Polk and Dallas."

The last appearance of Colonel Utter in public was in
the summer of 1862, at a public meeting in l\lcl\Iurchy's
Grove, at Felicity, to raise volunteers to recruit Company
K of the Fifty-ninth Ohio Hegiment Infantry. Aged and
pal~ied, but with clear mind and patriotic impulses, he pre­
sided at this meeting, and in warm eulogy for the" UIlion
flag and its sacred cause," introduced the speaker of the
day,-Judge Owen T. Fishback.

We must not forget to state that Utter's old Legislative
friends and colleagues never forgot. him when they came to
Clermont, and Judge John L. Green (still on the bench in
the Columbus district), who had beeu" in the Legislature
with Utter many years before, and though then a staunch
Whig, he and Utter were bosom friends. Judge Green,
after. the new constitution went into effect, came down to
Batavia to hold district court, and as soon us he got out of
the stage inquired of the court clerk, "Shall Col. Utter
be here at court?" and the clerk replied he thought not, as
the colonel had no suit on the dockets and was a witness in
no case. The judge then ordered the clerk to htlVe Utter
subpoonaed in some case, and that night the sheriff rode
twenty-five miles through the mud; over dirt-roads, and
Hubpoonaed the colonel.

1'he next morning, just after court had been opened, in
came Col. Utter, wondm'ing" why in thunder !" he had been
summoned in a case about which he never had heard, alllI
of' which he knew less than the man in the moon. Judge
Green caught" Old Senator's" quizzing eye, and instantly
adjourning the court till next day, came down from the
bench and grasped, with tears in his eyes, the honest hands
of his old friend, and straightway took him to his l'OOlns at
the hotel, where all day long old times were talked over,
with an occasional glass of hot toddy to renew the days of
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" Auld J....ang Sync," when, as the two chieftains of opposite
political parties, they ruled and enjoyed themselves at the
State capital. Col. Utter was never dqaf to the entreaties
of a person in distress,-black 01' white,-and once, while
senator, he kept and succored in his house overnight a
poor, bleeding fugitive slave, and filkd his purse the next
n10rning, to continue his journey northward, which incident
is related in "Uncle Tom's Cabin," but with no name
given. In Jater life Col. Utter became poor comparatively,
~though he had plenty for all his wants, and kind friends
and relatives to attend to his long sickness,-security debts
impoverishing him. His constituents thought they had a
lifelong lease on Dowty Utter for senator, but he refused
further nominations. He died in the autumn of 1863, and
was bul'ied on the banks of' the beautiful Ohio HiveI', which
in his lon~ and honomble life he loved so well. Just back
of Chilo, in the handsome little cemetery adjoining the
farm of Dr. Allen Woods, and near the old }lOmestead of
James Sargent, member of the Constitutional Convention of
1802, and from which is obtained the finest landscape and
river scenery in Ohio, all that was mortal of' Dowty Utter
waS interred, with the mystic rites and grand honors of the
l\I~lsollic order, of which, for over a third of a century, he
had been a. true and zealous member. "When the light of
e~lrth was shut out fl'om his sight, to give place to that of
another ~lnd a better world, Dowty Utter left many, very
many friends to bless, but none to curse his memory,
which is still green in the hearts of those who knew him;
and lIO man in Clermont ever had warmer or more sincere
friends than Dowty Utter.

TlImIAS l\IORRIS.

" His memory should be kept freshly living among the
lovers of libert.y and progress" was the language of' Salmon
P. Chase on hearing of the death of Thomas Morris; and
in response to this Hable utterance of the chief' among the
towering intellects of Immanity's cause in America, Ohio
will ever honor and hold in grateful remembrance the ser­
vices and memories of her first legislators, and those W11O,
in her subsequent history, with earnestness and ability,
maintained the principles of freedom ,~hich gave her birth
und by which she has risen to unexampled prosperity and
greutness. It is a debt of' gratitude due from the people of
this State to honor the memories and t.o perpetuate, in their
historical annals, the labors of those earliest legislators and
foullders of the fame and greatness of Ohio,-men who 01'­

n"amented the State by their private virtues and public ser­
vices. Identified with the legislative history of Ohio for
fif'teen eventful years as a member of both branches of the
General Assembly, a United States senator for six years,
and connected with the politics of the country most actively
for nearly a half.century, it is most proper and befitting
that the county in which he arose from humble obscurity
and poverty to nation~1 renown and distinction should, in
its history, give his name that place and rank which his
greut ability and patriotic services entitle it. In 1637 the
first representative of the Morris fhmily-a name prominent
in English history and redolent with patriotism (of which
stock some fell among the martyrs in the reign of "Bloody
l\1al'y," and others have a place in the history of the par-
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liamentary struggles with Charles 1., and in the campaigns
of Cromwell)-camc frolll England and settled in Massa­
chusetts, froUl whom numcrous and honorable descendants
sprang, and the head or that first family bore the name of
1'holllas, the sallie as he whose life and services arc prc­
sCllted in this sketch. Uniformly the Morrises were fuund
in Great Britain on the side of freedom, and the name is
brightly extant with the glowing annals of England, Scot­
land, Ireland, America, and 'Vales, from which last COUlI­
try thc ancestral finnily of the subject d' this article camc.

I~aac, the father of Thomas Morris, was bum in Berks
Co., Pa., in 1740, and his mother, Uuth Henton, in 1750,
being the daughter of a Virginia planter. Nine SOilS and
three daughters were the fruits of their marriage, of whom
Thomas, John, Benjamin, and David came to Ohio,· the
first three at length settling in Clermont and David in
'Yarren COUllty; and the names of the others werc Daniel,
Isaac, James, Joseph, Henton, Hannah, Hester, and Mary.
All these twclve lived to be men and WOUlen, and from
th(;lll sprang a large number of descendants, seattercd now
over almost the entire Wcst. Thomas was the fifth child,
and was bol'll Jan. 3, 1770, six months before the promul­
gation of .:\merican independencc, and first saw the light
of earth under the reign of a British king. Soon after his
birth his parents moved to 'Vestern Virginia and settled
ill the wilds of Harrison County, ncar Clarksburg. They
were exemplary Christians of the Baptist Church, and the
filther was a faithful minister of that denomination, preach­
ing for sixty years the gospel, never failing in a single ap­
pointment, and never taking a dose of medicine, and at last,
at the ripe old age of ninety-one, was gatherCll, in 1S:~O, to
his Maker on high, whose word he had spoken in trials and
tribulations for threescore years to saints and sinners alike.

The mother of Thomas l\Iorris was one of those noble
Hcyolutionary women whose sacred memories will live in
history as long as the language of English annals endures;
and as the daughter of a Virginia slaveholder, she refused to
rccei ve her patrimonial inheritance of four human chattels,
and would do no act that would recognizG the right of one
man or woman to make another man or woman a slave.

The college of Thomas Morris was the mountain-wilds
of Virginia, and there he graduated with a diploma fi'om
lIature and a blessing from a Christian mother. At four­
teen he made a full hand in the harvest-field; at sixteen he
shouldered his musket to repel the aggressions of the In­
dians; at seventeen he served several months in Capt. Levi
:Morgan's company of rangers, stationed in the wilderness
between Marietta and Steubenville, in Ohio.

In 1795, Thomas )[orris, nineteen years of age and full
of vigor, spirit, and enterprise, arrived, fi'esh from the moun­
tains of Western Virginia, in Columbia, just above Cin·
cinnati. Ho was immediately employed as a clerk in the
store of Hev. John Smith, the then fillllOUS Baptist preacher,
to wholll he had brought letters fi'om his filther, Preacher
haac Morris. Smith was a remarkable man, possessed of
varied talent and a versatile genius. lIe was a successful
merchant, an adroit politician, a sagacious legislator, and an
able divine. A contemporary, J udge John Pollock, of
Clermont, said of hilil: "As an ox-ddvcr no man was his
supcrior; at a log-rolling or horse-racing he was the fore-

.
IIIost man; at the end of a hand-spike few could outlift
him; and the. SaLbath day would find him in the pulpit,
an able alh'ocate of the doctrines of Christianity and of the
Baptist denomiuation; and as a member of Congress he
stood among the great men of the nation. Smith, however,
fell a victim to the machinations of Aaron Burr's conspiracy,
resigned his scat in the United States Senate in 1807, fled
from Ohio, and ended his career in dishonor ann poverty in
Loui:-;iana."

On Nov. 10, 1707, two years after he reached the Colum­
bia settlement, Thomas ~IolTis millTied Miss Rachel Davis,
daughter of Benjamin Davis, originally f\'OlIl I.Janeaster Co.,
Pa., but direct from Mason Co" Ky. She was reared in
the midst of the privations of a pioneer life, and was the
fitting companion of him who was to endure the hardships
of a new country, and to achieve his own f'ortunc and
ch~\racter. And here let us add that the pioneer wOlllen of
the West were efficient and f:lithful participators in the
great work of laying the foundations Qf the new empire,
and endured with patient heroism the dangers and priva­
tions of a backwoods life. In the year 1SOO-two years
before Ohio was admitted into the Union, and six months
before Clermont County was created-Thomas Morris and
his wife Haehel removed from Columbia to Williamsburgh,
then a part of Hamilton County, but soon to be the shire­
town of the new county of Clermont. 'fhis removal was
most fortunate in the sequel for Mr. Morris, for here his
energies found an active field for development, and he re­
solved to be a successful winner.. 'Vithout friends, with­
out pecuuiary means, with a growing family, without a
preceptor, and with but a few books, hecolllmenced in
180~ the study or law. Early and late he was at his legal
books, and after the hard labors of the duy ,vere over night
found him at his studies, reading Blackstone, not by the
light of an astral lump, nor yet by the COIlllllon light of a
tallow candle, for his poverty forbade him even this cheap
couveniellce, but by the light afforded by hickory bark or a
clapboard in his cabin, and often from a brick-kiln which
he was burning for the support of his family.

Uudcr these formidable difficulties, with a resolute pur­
pose and an iron will, he pusl1Cd his way onward, and
reached the goal before him. Completing t.wo ·years of
study, he was admitted to practice as an attorney- and
counselor-at-law, having passed a most creditable examiua­
tion before a committce consisting of those three men who
afterwards all sat on the Supreme bench of Ohio, one in
the Senate of Congress, and one in the United States
Supreme Court at 'Vashington,-Joshua Collett, Jacob
Burnet, and John l\·IeLean. For the next forty years
:Morris wus among the first of the bright galaxy of lawyers
who met at the" Clermont Bar." Before a jury there were
none who surpassed him in effect and power, and, although
engaged in almost every case in court, he ever maint.ained
an' eminence equal to the highest, and was a most success­
ful winner in the field of legal honors. A successful lawyer
for forty years, yet he never encouraged litigation, and his
max i III was, "It ought to be our aim to prevent litigation,
as far as compatible with the ends and rules of justice."
His scrvices as a lawyer were rendered as willingly and
energetically to the poor· as the rich; and, indeed, he was
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generally on the sidc of the poor; if' it had not been so,
his ability as an advoeate would have yielded him an im­
Illense fortune. With him the right was the great leading
motive, and the effort to violate it stirred the strongest
energieR of his naturc, and brought him down on his ad­
versary with an irresistiblc force and powcr.
. In 1804, MI'. Morris, with his family, removed from
'Villiamsburgh to Bethel, which town soon arose to impor­
tance, and for long years disputed with Vlilliamsburgh the
question of supremacy as the mctropolis of the county, and
whcre he made his home till his death. In 1806 he was
elected a representati\Tc fi'om Clcrmont (David C. Bryan
was declared elected, and receiving his certifieatc took his
seat, but on a contest the House unseated him and admitted
Morris), and took his seat at Zanesville, then the capital
of Ohio. In the Legislature he was a prominent and active
partieipator, and his abilities soon placed him among the
fil'st of the distinguished men who from year to year met
in the legislative halls. No matter what party wus in power,
he was chairman of the most important committees, most
generally the judiciary, and often appointed special commit­
tees. His influence, in the judgment of eon temporaries,
was always equal to any in the I.Jegislature, and he labored
for the equal rights of all, and to conform the action of
civil government to the true doctrines of democracy, and
the principles of justice and Christian morality. He was
opposed to all chartered monopolies, and to all legislation
which gave one class civil privileges above another. He be­
lieved the traffic in spirituous liquors as a beverage was a
moral wrong, and on all occasions voted to restrain the evil
by putting the price of license up to the lligllCst possible
sum, so as to prohibit it altogether; and used his influence
against all lotteries. The common schools found in him
its wm;mest friend, and the law of imprisonment for debt­
that relic of barbarous ages, and whose terrible rigor he
had personally felt while a poor young man~was swept
away by the progress of purer and' more Christian views,
and for its extinction no man in Ohio labored with more
earnest ability. He sought, as a legislator, to keep the
taxes as low as the necessity of the government would per­
mit, and opposed all extravagant expenditures of the public
money. He early advocated the doctrine, now so popular,
of making all offices elective.

tn 1828 he introduced a bill in the Senate to allow juries
before justices of the peace; and the next, year one that
judges should not charge juries as to matters of fact, but
might sum up the evidence and declare the law. In 1812
he obtained the passage of the bill allowing each person •
who had a family to hold twelve sheep, also the wool: and
the yarn cloth manufactured by such families, exempt from
all executions for payment of debts. In 1828 he endeav­
ored to obtain a law taxing all chartered institutions, and
such manufactories as foundries, glass-houses, mills, and
distilleries, and exempt all dwellings from taxation. He
had faith in the future greatness and grandeur of Ohio,
although he alone, of all the pub~ic men in the State,
strenuously opposed the system of canals, and declared his
convictions of' the impractical nature of such a system of
internal improvements to develop the State. But he made
a prophecy, which lias been fully realized, that in twenty-

five ycars Ohio would be covered with a net-work of rail­
roads, and lhe canals superseded; and the present day con­
firms his prophecy and sagacity. An incident will illustrate
the wonderful progress of Ohio, and th'e rapid transit over
its area, when compared with her condition half a century
ago. At an adjournment of the Legislature, in March,
1827; heavy rains had made the ordinary mud-roads from
the capital impassable for the" stage;" then in common use.
The,streams wore overflowing their banks, rendering a home­
ward return of the members almost impossible, but :Mr.
Morris determined to conquer all obstacles. The Scioto
Iliver, on whose bailks the capital has stood for sixty-four
years, afforded an egress for some of the ·members. A
canoe, or, in \Vestern dialect, a "dug-out," was made and
put upon the rapid current of the swollen river, and 1\11'.
Morris and Col. Robert 'r. I.Jytle, an eloquent and able re­
presentative from Hamilton County, embarked with their
baggage in this frail water-craft for llOme. A passage of
sOllie hundred miles brought them to Portsmouth, where
the Scioto mingles its waters with the Ohio, and there,
taking an old-filshioned small steamboat, they safely reached
their homes, after a perilous journey of four days, Morris
landing at New Richmond and" Bob I.Jytle" going on to
Cincinnati. This transit now, by rail, occupies but four
hours.

In this county he was most active in. building up a fund
for the support of the common schools, and for several
years acted as commissioner of the county school funds,
and to him more than to any other person or agency is
Clermont indebted-he having laid the foundation long
years ago-for its present system of schools. In 1808 he
was again elected a representative, with 'William Fee as his
colleague, and in this, the Seventh General Assembly, Mr.
Morris made a reputation coextensive with the State, and
established his claims as a great public leader. Articles of
impeachment were presented against Calvin Pease and John
'l'od, two of the judges of Ohio, the former a Commoofl Pleas
and the latter a Supreme judge (as elsewhere more fully
narrated in this book), and Mr. Monis was appointed to·
conduct the impeachment on the part of the House before
the bar of the Senate; and Uw historical record shows that
he performed the duty with ability and with such honor
and distinction as to secure him his election as one of the
Supreme judges of Ohio by the same Legislature. But
after a protracted trial, the impeachment, lacking the
necessary two-thirds vote, was not sustained, and by a sub­
sequent act of the succeeding, Legislature he was prevented
from taking his scat on the S,upreme bench, being, as it
were, legislated out of office. However, he pCl·formed one
official act as judge, in administering, in November, 1809,
the official oath of office to Oliver Lindsey, sheriff-elect of
Clermont. In 1810 he was again representative, with
John Pollock as colleague; also in 1811. In 1813 he
was first chosen senator. In 1820 he went to the House
again; and in 1821 was the second time ~lccted senator,
and the third time in 1825. The fourth in 1827, and fifth
in 1831. While occupying this position as State senator
for the last time, the crowning honor to Mr. Morris and to
Clermont County was conferred in his election for the full
terlll of six yellrs as United States senator of Ohio from
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March 4, 183:-l, to :March 4, 183D, to succeed Benjamin
ltuggles, who had held hiR scat for eighteen years. He
was nominated by the caucus of his party (Democratic)
o\'er such distinguished chieftains as Judge Reubcn \Yood
(afterwards Governor), Judge John 1\1. Goodenow, Daniel
J'>. Leadbetter, of Holmes County, and Judge Humphrey
H. J.Jeavitt (afterwards of the United States District Court
of Ohio). The vote stood on joint ballot in the Legisla­
ture: Thomas Morris, 54; John \V. Campbell (Whig), 49;
scattering, 4 (including Morris' own vote); and thus by
one majority he went to the United States Senate, where
for four years Thomas Ewing was his colleague from the
State, and for the other two "Tilliam Allen.

The year before (1832) he had received his party nom­
ination for Congress in the Adams, Brown, and Clermont
district against Judge Owen 1.\ Fishback, the Whig nolU­
inee, but Gen. Thomas L. Hamer, running as an indepen­
dent Democrat, defeated, in a poll of six thousand two
hundred and seventy-six votes, Morris by one hundred and
fifty-six votes; hence the popular verdict in Ohio in 1833
was that Morris' election to the United States Senate righted
his wrongs and wns otherwise a wise choice for the State.
In 1826 he had been offered the nomination for the same
position against Judge Jacob Burnet, but his party being
that year in the minority he wisely declined the honor till
a more fitting time, which at last came, as above narrated.
Mr. Morris had no soone1' taken his scat in the Senate of
the United States, on the opening of the session in Decem­
ber, 1833, than he became actively identified with the ~ro\V­

ing anti-slavery movements against the extension and the
aggressions of the slave-power; and while on other subjects
but slavery he was in full accord with his party, on that
he was independent and had his own views that the party
lash and party eaucns could not change or move. 'fo him
were addrcssed the petitions and memorials from all parts of
the land on this topic, and covering every conceivable phase
of the ilubject, in a legal, legislative, constitutional, moral,
and political sense, and in spite of the frowns and entreaties
of' his party he would introduce them all.

Agit~tion is the source of light and "progress, securing
the triuIDph of truth and the downfall of error und despot­
ism, and in l\1r.1Horris the apostles of human freedom in the
Union found their first beacon-light, their first champion,
and first true representative in the American Senate. The
Congress of' 1837 and 1838 saw a deep and extended agi­
tation of this now paramount question in the land,-this
vexed question: like an ever-present apparition, returning
and demanding a rehearing, and Mr. Morris, in an able
and elaborate speech, replied to the arguments of the dis­
tinguished J obn C. Calhoun, of South Carolina, and whIch
attracted the attention of the entire country by its bold and
truthful utterances.

Henry Clay, on the 7th of February, 1839, with all his
fascinatin"g eloquence, eminent abilities, and great political
influence, made a great speech to counteract and arrest the
public agitation of slavery. 'Who was to speak for freedom?
\Vas it Webster, Buchanan, or Silas 'Wright? No. Theil'
voices and votes, like CI1\Y and Calhoun's, were for timid
compromise, delay, and no agitation. But the firm patriot,
Thomas Morris, who made the welfhre of mankind his

care, dared to speak while tyrant senators frowned on him.
Two da}'s after Clay's speech Morris replied to it in his
last speech in Congress, and in the mightiest and crowning
effort of his life, concluding with these prophetic words
(golJen in the light of subscquent events and the hateful
rebellion) : "Though our national sins are many and
gl"ievous, yet repentance, like that of ancient Nineveh, IDay
yet divert from us that impending danger which seems to
hang over our heads <lS by a single hair. That all may be
safe, I conclude that lite negro will yet be free."

This noble speech startled the Scnate, produced a marked
scnsation throughout the country, and electrified the warlU
hearts of humanity the world over. He could not have
chosen a better topic for a valedictory speech on the eve of
his retirement fi'olll the Senate. That vcnerable Quaket·
poet, John G. Whittier, then a young editor, said in his
paper, and which was the best criticism on this 'speech,
"The old painters, in the imperfection of their art, were
wont to underwrite upon their canvas, 'tltis i;; a llOrse j'

'tltat 'is fl lion;' but Thomas Morris needs no label,-he
stands confessed the lion of the day."

The 9th of February, 1839, \Val:: a most memorable day in
the political life of Thomas Morris and in the history of
the Senate of' the United State. On that day he laid the
comer-stone in the monument of his fame and character in
a great speech, replete with the principles of freedom, and
uttered under the inspiration of their truth and importance.
It was an occasion of unusual interest. All efforts to pre­
vent agitation on slavery had failed, and the voice of free­
dom, ever instinct with life, would be heard, and that voice
still rang loud and clear in both halls of the National J.Jeg­
islature,-aye, agitators would agitat.e, and the public coun­
cils of the nation, following in the lead and by the great
example of Ohio's senator, were the arena for the third of a
century for the battle between freedom and slavery, till at
last the latter succumbed on a field of carnage, and the
Union was saved in the death and extinction of human
bondage.

The rigid creed of political parties allows no liberal lati­
tude in the expression of opinion, and the party of which
1\11'. Morris was a member, and with which on every sub­
ject but slavery he was in full unison, refused to re-elect
him to the Senate, and in less than a month after the de­
livery of his speech that startled the world he left "the
national councils, never again to return to public life,-an
exile, politically, for views fhr in advance of those that then
gcnerally obtained in the North. A committee of' his

. party of the Ohio Legislature, consisting of Thomas J.
Buchanan, John Brough, and David Tod,-and a singular
coincidence is that the last two were afterwards" War Gover­
nors" of Ohio for freedom and liberty,-on Dec. 7, 1838,
addressed a communication to Mr. Morris us a sort of polit­
ical catechism, and Mr. Morris answered it in his bold and
ind<Jpendent way with language characteristic of a moral
hero; but it sealed his doom. Judge Benjamin Tappan,
of' Steubenville, was nominated and elected as his successor,
as he was supposed to favor the discountenancing and op­
posing of all anti-slavery doctrines. Tappan and Morris
were old personal and political friends, had served together
in the Legislature, and met, often in the legal forum, and
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Judge Tappan, who came of a distinguished anti-slavery
fillnily, for a year or so was rather quiet on the slavery
topic, but ere his term closed his early convictions con­
trolled him, and he was Jl(1arly as zealous as. Mr. Monis in
his opposition to the arrogant slave dynasty.

:l\Ir. Morris now soon became identified with the" Lib­
erty Party," and labored for its efficient organization and
success, traveling in different States, attending conventions,
making speeches, and writing letters. In August, 1843,
this party of freedom's pioneers met at Buffalo to nominate
candidates for President and Vice-President for the election
of 1844. Every State but New Hampshire was represented,
and more than a thousand delegates were in attendance.
l ..eicester King, of Ohio, presided, and for President James
G. Birney, of Michigan, was nominated, and for Vice-Presi­
dent Thomas· Morris, of Ohio. In 1840 this party polled
but seven thousand votes, but the above ticket received
six"ty-two thousand one hundred and sixty-three at the No­
vember election of 1844, and shortly after the campaign
closed this good and great man passed away to a better
world. He died suddenly, on the 7th day of December,
1844. In perfect health, with his intellectual powers un­
impaired by age, his physical system in vigorous activity,
and his lleart still warm in the cause of human freedom;
he was stricken down by a fatal attack of apoplexy. En­
gaged in the early morning in making preparation for a visit
of affection, to bring the invalid f.:'lmily of his eldest living
daughter to the paternal home, he felt the. disease coming
upon him. He hastily entered his dwelling, sank upon the
floor, and with an audible voice exclaiming three times,
"Lm'd have rnercy on rne!" expired in less tllan five
minutes.

He died at his loved homestead fitI'm, foul' miles from
Bethel, and on the following Monday, the third day since
his death, his remains were entombed in the grave-yard at
Bethel, in the presence of a Vast concourse of neighbors,
friends, and relatives. Throughout the land his death was
noticed by the friends of freedom with appropriate tokens
of sorrow and tributes to his memory and services. The
spot of his burial is in tIle retired and beautiful rural village
of Bethel, in Clermont County, in the servicc of which he
so long labored as a lawyer and legislator. If ever the
1twer of liberty or the friend of suffering humanity should
visit that spot-grand historical ground-he will find in
that cemetery of the dead a marble monument which the
filial affection of his childl'en has erected to llis memory, and
on that monument may be read this brief inscription:

THo~IAS MORms:
Born January 3d, 1776. Died December 7th, 1844.

Agcd 60 years.
Una,ved by power, and uninfluenced by flattery,
lie was, throughout life, the fearless advocate

of
Human Libert,}'.

HEADER WRIGHT CLARKE,

reputed the greatest political strategist the county has ever
produced, was born at Bethel, 1\1ay 18, 1812. Before
eighteen he had mastered the art of' printing, and subse­
quently distinguished himself in the editorial profession.
As an attorney he attained prominence, but as a politician

he was pre-eminent. His political career began in 1840,
when he was elected by the 'Whigs to the General Assembly,
where he evinced unusual legislative abi1~ty, which secured
him future preferment. He was the able representative
to Congress of the Clermont district from 1864 to 1868,
the reconstruction period, and always arrayed himself on
the side of those who held radical views towards the States
lately in rebellion. Subsequently he held honorable posi­
tions .in the United States Treasury Department, but was
obliged by ill health to retire from active duty in 1870.
On the 23d of May,.1872, he died at his home in Batavia,
and in the history of that township in this book a further
sketch of his life is given.

JAl\IES F. SARGENT.

This was probably the most singularly-gifted man in the
county. No native of Clermont had a greater command of
language than he, and to none did this faculty seem of less
value. Instead of cultivating the pure forms 'of speech,
and employing them in the advocacy of measures which
affected the welfare of his fellow-men, as he was so abun­
dantly able, he allowed himself to fall into the habit of
using words that were seldom employed to express the
simplest ideas, most generally monosyllabic ones j and his
speech, instead of being persuasive, proved at best but a
diversion.. This habit grew upon him· until it seemed a
part of his nature, and eyen after he pesh'ed to break him­
self of it he could not do so. He became an oddity, yet
having many good parts and tine attainments was elected to
the Legislature in 1843. Among his fellow-legislators he
was known as " Dictionary Sargent," and they would have
rare sport with him in session and at nights, hearing him
speak in his inimitable manner. The speech which is here
subjoined was delivered on one such occasion in the pres­
ence of the asscmbled legislators, Gover'nor, State officials,
and the most distinguished personages of Ohio. A few
months later, in 1844, Mr. Sargent died, while in the dis­
charge of his duties at Columbus, and not many years ago
his remains were brought to Clermont, and reintel'red at
Felicity. Aside from this foible 1\11'. Sargent was a worthy
man, and gl'eatly esteemed for his amiable qualities.

The speech referred to was on history, and is produced
here merely as a literary curiosity:

"The knowledge of history has an accessory convergency to extruc­
ture, a eirclllllvallation cirCUlllventional to the pestiferous exud:Ltioll
of the human heart, instigated by the correlate scmnific:Lliims of ver­
naculm' ellgenderIllent in our nature and subsidiary to extimulate to
the practice of mOl'l1lity and virtue'by the desideratum conglomera­
tion of its IUultifel'ous hypostntical, besides embrocating the mind
with a diltphornical and antidihLpidatiooal s,}'nopsis, imparting a
lmowledge of the past. It is, indeed, the exclusive matallsphic \'e­
hicle through which we cun become acquainted with exurbitant and
interesting fucts of antiquity which alias would hll\'e been vciled from
us oy the ebony intercipient of lenebrosity to thc admiration of the
pruriently disquisitionaland perforating philosophic mind, though it
may· hal'e sought for and obt:Lined a knowledge of nature's interior
and extrinsical by a circuwf'oraneous peregrination through its con­
cavity. It is the only hieroglJ'psieal dioptric commensurate with
which we can focus to adjacent l"ision, so as to intelligibly ventilate
the conscctaneous efiluence of the book of fate. In this only mirror
we can trace notions in their upward proclivity towards thc gonl of
their rorial acme, their meridian profluence, the trepidationnl and
s}JILsmo<.lic ebullition of ldngdoms und yullltionlLl lIurratil·o of their
cngl1111hmcnt in the lIoisome abyss of destrnction.
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"Through this mediulll we can hold voluminous colluquies with
ancient Sltges anll renowued stlLtesmen whose lofty genius alllillealla­
tious intellects achie\'cd for antique nations litemry encircling mna­
ru.nthine wreaths that onee embellished theil- palecious temples of
faille, for whose happiness the l'ellllutlls ethcr seemed to blow, cdnc­
ing heaven's philanthropy to profuse erogation, togethcr with thc
fruetiferous recourse of agl'iclIlture and paramymplml boom of acts.

" History enables us to takc a survey of man by lL rctrogradlLtional
perambulation in his primordial state, being in a condition of moral
proximity to his MILkeI' located 1I1ll1 happy in terrestrial delectable
pltradise or parndissum voluptatis, lI11U pursue him t111'ough the
uevious zigzags of the arbicular whirl of versatility and e\'cntful
resolutions in the area of expandell cllsuality and the interjacent
expansion of contingency to the prcsent timc.

"From history we acquire a knowlCllgc of the ephemeral transi.
tori ness of hnman atrairs, the misanthropistical syndrome of nefarious
aspirants organically winding their interdicted way through the
ambidextrous pathway of culpable duplicity and ruthless assassina­
tion to wield imperial sccptres ILnd illlmol:lte the immunitics, the
tmnqnillity lmd happiness of mankind, upon the execrably as:mmed
altllr of their reprehensibly acquired regal power; also in a dilatep
and sky banking proruption is scmipellucidly tlelincatccl the world's
configurational prospmll cmitina, a. corrllscation that enables us to
}lI"ojeet It vatiscination of the future, as well as to marslllll the va­
ciIl:ttion of the past for a paradigm rcstricted to homogeneous prin­
ciples. It embalms the memory of the pa!:'t, anti has interposed It

eonsen'atiue dike that has }lre\'entcd the dramatic and didactic re­
sources of bea~on protreptrical from beiug ell to III bed in the shuttle­
Hecting pCl'Ilicity of the elapsed fmgmcnt of eternity, which has in
its climacteric cireumgyrate become idcntified with sempiteruia. tlu­
fIltiOIl beyond the !lootl."

CHAPTEn XX.

MILITARY HISTORY OF CLERMONT COUNTY.

MANY of the pioneers of Southwestern Ohio rendered
valiant service in the struggle for American independence.
Clermont had a fair proportion of these heroic fhthers,
whose valor and sufferings are recounted at the fireside of
many a home of the present generation. In most instances
their names are given in the several township histories, and
are here omitted to avoid repetition. In 18-.10 the nevo­
lutionary pensioners livilig in the connly were John Hulick
and Nathaniel Heeves, ot' Batavia; Oakey Van Osdol, of
Tate; John Dennis, Hugh Maloy, and Barton J....o'we, of
MOlll'oe; Nehemiah Ward, Thomas Manning, John
'Vheeler, Christian Placard, James Arthur, and Zebulon
Applegate, of Ohio; Wm. Cowen, of Stonelick; James
Cartel', of 'Vayne; John Hare and Sarah Stoner, of
Jackson.

In the struggle for the perpetuation of the rights wrested
from Great Britain, or in the war of 181~-15, the cpunty
contributed liberally of the best element of its population
to the number of several hundred men. 'fhese constituted
companies- commanded· by Capt. Jacob Boerstler, of \-Vil­
Iiamsburgh; Hobert Haines, of New Richmond; 'Ym. Mc­
Mains, of Milford; Stephen Smith, of 'Yilliamsburgh;
and John Shaw, of New Hichmond. A part of another
company went from Bethel and Brown County. Notwith­
standing we have made most diligent efforts to obtain complete
rosters of these companies, we have succeeded in getting
only the first two. Of Cupt. John_Shaw's company Elijah
Nichols was first lieutenant, Hugh Ferguson ensign,

Obadiah Winans first sergeant; and Philip Nichols,
Timothy Hardin, and .James HoLL belonged to the com­
pany, which was formed in the latter stages of the war,
anu although the service was for six months no enemy was
ever seen. Of Capt. Stephen Smith's company a good
account is given in the sketch of the Hev. 'Vm. H. Haper
in a preceding chapter. The names of many of the sol~

diers of 1812 appear in the pioneer sketches of the settlers
of the different townships. A Humber of the citizens of
the county served in Kentucky regiments, either on in­
diviuual enlistments at" h,wing a company connection. No
rolls of Clermont companies are in the military department
at Columbus. .

The roster of the 'Villiamsburgh Company of Riflemen,
which was in service from April ~-.1, 1812, to Oct. ~4, 1812,
a period of six.. months, is given below. The company
formed a part of the Third Hegiment of Ohio militia, but
in the march to Detroit was attached to Col. Cass' regi­
ment of the First Brigade of the First Division. It was
engaged at the battle of Brownstown, where four of its men
were killed, Aug. 4, 1812, and Daniel McCullom after­
wards died of wounds received in the same engagement.

Captain, Jacob Boerstler, killed at Brownstown.
Lieutennnt, Thomas Knill; promoted to captain, August 13th.
Ensign, Thomas Foster; promoted to lieutenant, August ]3th.
Sergeants, Danie). Campbell, Edward Brown, Holly Raper, John Con-

rey.
Corporals, Samuel Haper, John IIankini', Jasper Shotwell (promoted

ensign, August 13th), Cornelius Treble.
l\Iusieill.n!:', Augu~tine Munson, Oliver Hays.

Isaac Colthar. William Dads.
Jumes Denham. Simon Kenton.
Daniel l\IcCllllom. William Wardlow (killed).
Hugh Wardlow. Peter Waits.
James eolthar. Lewis DlWis.
.John Feight. George Hunt.
Peter Smith. Clmrlcs Wa.its.
John 'V. Feight. John Buchanan.
Jallles l\IcCann. Joseph Brunk.
George Mcl\Iillen. Gcorge NetT.
William Compton. Jallles Chambers.
Thomas Williams. Daniel Goultl.
Richart! Dennis. John Oakman.
Hiram Il:trris. John Frazee.
John Dltvis. John Reed.
William Digley. Michael Ellsbefl"y.
Jonas JolIh'er. Reuben Waits.
Abner Arthur (killed). John Naylor.
Watson Stephens (killed). Rieha,"d Smltllwood.
Samuel Malott. Archibald Gibson.
John D. Walker. John Losh.
Jonathan Little. Joseph Martin.
Joseph Wood.

Capt. Hobert Haines' company of mounted volunteer!>,
which served in the State of Ohio, in the year 1813, on a
tour of duty for the' relief of :Fort Meigs and Fort Stephen­
son, serving from July ~7th until August 13th, a period of
sixteen days, was as follows:

CaptlLin, Robert Haines.
Lieutellltnt, Hugh Ferguson.
Ensign, JOllltthan Donham.
Sergeants, JltmeS Robb, lIezel,lah Lindsey! Isa.n.e Pcrguson, James

Arthur.
Corpol'llls, Thomlts Littleton, Nathan Sutton, Willia.m Donham,

'rholllas 'Velch.
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CLE~nIONT IN TilE MEXICAN 'VAll.

'The war between the United States and Mexico began
in May, 1846, and the first battle which was fought be­
tween the armies of the two republics was on the 8th of
:May, 1846, at Palo Alto, on the east side of the Rio Grande.
Soon after the dec:laration of war by the Congress of the
United States Ohio was called upon, and sent three regi­
ments of volunteers, commanded by Cols. George \V.
Morgan, O. M. Mitchell, and Curtis, and which left for
the Rio Grande about July 1, 1846. These regiments
were recruited for one year, in which time it was universally
believed the existing difficulties and the war would dose.
In June, 1847, the war was still in progress, and more
troops were called for from Ohio, which she promptly fur­
nished by sending the Fourth Regiment, commanded by
C~l. Charles H. Brough, and which departed in July of
that yem'. On July 28,1847, information was received at
Batavia that another regiment of volunteers was called for
fl'Om Ohio; but it turned out to be an order to reorganize
tl.le Second Regiment, just returned from the seat of
war.

Almost every county in the State had either sent or prof­
fered a company to the United States for the army in
Mexico, except Clermont; and a few patriotic young men
in and about Batavia, thinking it would be rather dishonor­
able to old Clermont not to be represented in the army for
the defense of the American flag, determined to send a
company. A notice was accordingly given to the public,
through a small hand-bill,-headed "To Arms !"-stating
that a roll bad been opened for the reception of names of
all those who were desirous of enlisting to go to Mexico.
At this hour the prospects of peace were gloomier than
they had been for a long time preceding. Mexico had as­
sembled all her forces in her capital, fortified the various
roads leading to it, and Gen. Scott, with his small army,
was preparing to move on and give the Mexicans battle at
the very heart of their republic. The call was promptly
responded to by young men all over Clermont, who, seeing
the country's dangel', were found rushing to its support.
In five days the two rolls at Batavia and Olive Braneh had
sixty names, and it was agreed to meet at the former place,
on August 10th, to elect offieers, and the following were
elected: Captain, John W. J.Jowe; First J.Jieutenant, S. R.
S. 'Vest; Second Lieutenant, Milton Jamieson; Third

Captain, John W. Lowc.
First Lieutcnant, James P. Fyffe.
Sccond Lieutcnants, Milton Jamieson a.nd William Howard.
Sergeants, John R. Allen, ThoUllLS W. Colwell, William Blair, Willia.m

U. Ely.
Corporals, Robcrt Townslcy, Salllucl S. Fyffe, James Kellum, John

Lallsdale.

Lieutenant, ~.rilliam Howard. The company then chose
for itself as a name the" Clermont Boys."

It was some time before word was received whether the
company would be received into the l:eorganized Second
Regiment or not, which delay dampened the spirit of many
of the men, who had wound up their business and were
getting impatient to be transferred from the life of a citi­
zen to that of a soldier; hence many left for Camp Wool
and joined companies there. On August 22d a letter came
accepting the company, and on assembling the volunteers at
Batavia, on September 1st, forty-two only out of the eighty­
eight that had been enrolled answered to their names, many
of the missing having got tired of waiting and gave up the
war business, while fourteen had at Camp Wool enlisted in
other companies. These forty-two were sworn into the
United States service by the venerable justice of the peace,
J~mes Perrine,-who had thrice volunteered his services,
in 1799, 1800, and 1813,-and then marched to Camp
'Wool, near" Sportsman's Hall," just above Cincinnati in
those days. Here the "Clermont Boys" were joined by
twenty-odd men from Brown County, under Lieut. James
P. Fyffe, and an arrangement was made to form a coalition
of the two squads and thereby make one good company,
which was done by First Lieut. S. R. S. 'West resigning
his position, and the selection of James P. Fyffe, of George­
town, in his place. The company now numbered sixty-four,
-rank and file,-and the roll continued to receive ad­
ditions every day after its arrival i~ camp. The" Cler­
mont Boys" were regularly mustered into the United States
service Sept. 11, 1847, by Lieut.-Col. John Irving, of the
United States army, as Company C, Second (reorganized)
Ohio Regiment Volunteers. The following is the roster of
the company:

John Whittaker.
Dltniel Snider.
Aq ui1!lt l\IcCol'd.
Nicholas Pritchet.
I~ILilLh PI'itehet.
Peter Bolander.
John Mattox.
Elijah l\fallot.
Daniel Apple.
James Fitzpatr·iek.
Hcnry Cuppy.
:Franeis Ferguson.
John Morin.
Edward Chapman.
Hobert Chapman.
Edward Roberts.
J oshth Bcttle.
George Lewis.
Heubcn Lord.

Samuel Long.
Hamilton Millcr.
D:wid R:mlin.
WilIia.m Nichols.
Philip Nichols.
John Behymer.
Led Behymer.
Martin Behymcr.
Jacob I\insey.
John Dillman.
Michael Lanc.
DlIdd White.
William Bell.
Benj. Morin.
Jacob Short.
Horatio G. Cleft.

. William Laycock.
Lcd Pinkha.m.
John C. Dial.

RichlLrd Applegatc.
S. P. Bishop.
Hcicc Bunncr.
Lind~ey Bunncr.
Sulomon Bunner.
George Croslmw.
Conoway Collins.
Edward Crist.

. S,ulluel Cotterell.
William J. Davis.
Jacl,son Da\'is.
Ezl"a. Danbury.
Hobert EntilS.

John J. Emns.
H,Lrtwcll Ferris.
Willia.m Fullm·.
Elia~ Fitzwater.

.Hobcrt Ely.
John Grnnt.
Lorcnzo D. Goollpasture.
Lorcnzo D. UI'anger.
Hubert 1\1. G1:tizc.
John 1I1LlI.
l\Itthlon Hall.
Solomon H,L1I.
Thomas lIur!ey.

Elliott .J. Hill.
George W. Jones.
Lcieestcr Kcnnedy.
.l\lalanethon ll. Leeds.
Washington L,Yons.
Joseph Long.
James l.\Iullen.
'l'honJ:ts J. Meckel'.
John L. Melbris•
George W. Moore.
John l\Iajors.
J etl"erson ;Uyers.
George F. Owens.
David Pettis.
Johnson Putts.
Abraham Ped,J.ll.
William Hej'nolds.
David Handall .
.Jonathan Hitehey.
J oscph ltigney.
Jl:aelllLrilth Sanders.

. Awl Stanhur,)'.
James Smith•.
John Su11i\'an.
Benjamin Stylcs.
Joseph It. Still.
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Of these, Hibben, Short, 'and Majors were mustered into
service at Santa Fe, ten miles t't'OIll Vera Cruz, 011 October
31st, by Licut. H. H. Davis, of Gell. Caleb Cushing's staff;
and Johnson 011 Feb. 28, 18-1S, at Puebla, by Lieut.-Col.
I.Jatham. Thus Company Chad eighty-tht'ee men, rank
and file.

1'ho Second Ohio Regiment, as reorganized on September
10th, had for colonel 'Vm. Irwin, lieutenant-colonel Wm.
A. Latham, and major'Vm. Link,-Invin being a gradu­
ate of 'Vest Point and a noted lawyer, and Latham a nephew
of Allen Latham, the celebrated Clermont land-owner. The
citizens of Batavia presented Capt. Lowe and Lieuts. Jamie­
son and Howard with elegant swords on their leaving, the
presentation speeches being made by Thomas L. Shields to
Lowe, H. N. Talley to Jamieson, and Thomas 1\1. Lewis to

Howard.
Capt. John Williamson Lowe was born at New Bruns­

wick, N.•J., Nov. 15,1809. At the age of thirteen he was
left an orphan, with three sisters and a younger brother, in
poverty, in the city of New York. He became an appren·
tice to a painter, and pursued that avocation some time for
the small sum of two dollars and a half per week. In 1833
he came to Batavia and worked at his trade, at the same
time studying law with Judge Owen T. Fishback, whose
daughter, l\Ianorah, he married, in April, 1837. He worked
his way up to a creditable posit.ion in his profession at Ba­
tavia, and remained a resident of the village until 185-1,
when he removed to Xenia, where he continued to live until
the breaking out of the Rebellion. He then raised the
1'welfth Ohio Regiment of infant'ry, and as its colonel did
excellent service until he was killed, Sept. 10, ISG}-, while
gallantly leading his regiment into engagement at Carnifex
li'erry, Va. A rifle-bullet pierced his forehead, and he fell
dead,-the first field-officer from Ohio killed in the war
for the Union. His remains were brought to Batavia and
here interred, September 18th, by a large and sorrowing
congregation of mourning friends.

. On the 22d of September Company C left Camp
'Wool for Mexico, and on the 7th of October disembarked
at Vera Cruz. l\l.ichael ,Voods, John Turner, Hobert
Thompson were discharged for disability, Jan. 1, lS-l8;
and Thomas J. Meeker, accidentally wounded at Sant.a
Fe, was sent to Jefferson Barrucks, Mo., and subsequently

, discharged:
The company marched from Vera Cruz to Puebla, which

ancient city it reached December 2d. On the 6th a very
lamentable and melancholy affair occurred, in a quarrel
between Thomas G. ,Yood, of New Itichmo~d, and Lorenzo
D. Granger', in which the former struck the latter over the
head twice or three times with a club, ft'om which Granger
died t.he next day. 'Vood made his-escape to the Uoited

Gcor,gc K. Smith.
llobcrt Thompson.
John 'fumcr.
•Josiah A. 'rice.
IJ. B. Tatman.
Michacl Wood~.
Willialll Wilson.
Andrcw Wil~on.

<:eorge W. Washburn.
Th~mas White.

Thomas G. Wood.
Lewis D. Towles.
AnllrclV .J. Wce.
J alllcs ~I. ltoss.
Richard Xush.
JJuh llihben. ,
Alhert Short.
.Jallles :Majors.
William W. Johnson.

States and waS never molested. Jan. 6, 18-1S, John Majors,
of the company, died, and was the first lost by the grim
messenger; and the next to die was Corp. Samuel S. Fyffe,
on February 1st, from the effects of a wound received some
time p\'evi<Jus at the hands of a guerrilla. On February
IGth, Corp. Hobert Townsley died in the hospital from ery­
sipelas, and was buried near the Cuartell de San Rose, where
his bones are now resting in peace; and on the 21st, John
Landsdale was honorably disdlarged, on account of' his being
afflicted with epilepsy. l\IaI'ch 10th, Thomas 'Vhite died
at the regimental hospital in Puebla with inflammatory rheu­
matism; and on the 21st, when the roll was called at 1'cveille,
.John Medaris was found missing, and on search being made,
he was found lying on his pallet of straw, stark and stiff in
death from general debility, having been ill for a long time.
The same day word was received that James Hoss, who had
been lefe at Vera Cruz in the hospital when the regiment
left there, had died. April 15th, J. D. Hitchey, Robert
B\'ans, and Andrew 'Vilson, who had been recently dis­
charged, started for hOlile~ and all returned safe but ,Vilson,
who died at Cincinnati. :May 30th, John I~vans was mis­
sing. and it WilS believed that he wus murdered by the
treacherous Mexicans.

Having on .May 22d heard the news of peace, the regi­
ment on J ulle 3d started for home, by marching to Vera
Cruz, and arrived in Cincinnati on July 15th. 'Vhen mus­
tered out the company had but sixty-five men, one having
been killed, one missing, two deserted, seven discharged,
and seven died.

On July 28th Company C was invited to Batavia to par­
take of a grand complimentary dinner by the citizens .of
Clermont County, at which some fifteen hundt'ed sat down.
A large procession, formed under Col. 'William Curry,
marched to the old stone church, where R. 'V. Clarke bade
the brave volunteers a warni welcome home, to which Lieuts.
Jamieson and Howard made appropriate responses. Eight
of the company had died in :Mexico, one bmve soul had
died after being discharged, when almost in sight of longed­
for home. Four of the company-Samuel Cotterel, J.Jeices­
tel' Kennedy, Richard Applegate, and Ezra Danbury, noble
souls, who survived the eampaign~diedin a year after their
return.

Lieut. J. P. Fyffe in the war of the Rebellion was the
gallant colonel of the Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer Infantry
Regiment until death took him to a brave soldiCl"s grave.
He cOlllmanded his regiment in many a hard-fought battle
on the Southern fields. Lieut. Howard, in the same rebel­
lion, was the lieutenant-colonel, succeeding the lamented
Fyffe in command of the glorious" Old Fifty-ninth," and
nobly served the Union cause on the tented field.* This
Company C-sixty-one from Clermont and twenty-two
froUl Brown County-was in no pitched battle in Mexico,
but was in several important skirmishes~ in which, as in all
military duties to whiC?h it was assigned, it distinguished
itself and covered its bra\'e men with honor and valor,
reflecting great credit on the two patriotic counties from
which it went forth to battle for its country's honor and flag
against an insolent and treacherous foe.

iif Sec sketch of 'his life in this hook.



MILITARY HISTORY. 201

COMPANY I, TWENTY-SECOND REGIMENT OU.IO IN;FANTRY.

The officers'received their commissionS from April 23,
1861, to May 24, 1861. The original roster' was as

follows:

Captain, Farran Olmstead.
Lieutenants, R. L. McKinley (adjutant of tbe regiment), J. Woodson,

Williani II. Brown.
Sergeants, W. H. Fagaly, E.l\f. Sargent, J. D. Hill, Jobn Tuoker.
Corporals, J. L: Barber, V.II. Gregg, Jobn Watson, Thomas W. Clark.
Musicians, E., C. Altman, J. Q. Sanders, James Ca~ter.

WiJ1i.l.m Armstrong. G. W. Berlew.
J. H. Apple. J. n. Bro\vning.
Ferdinand Bro:tllwcll. G. W. Brown.

R. C. McNutt.
R. Davidson.
J. ~. Tbompson.
J. A. Stovens.
.T. H. Jenkins.
O. E. E\Ocrhnrt.
F. S. Stevens.
Otis Patten.
John Crane.
C. S. lIcnning.
William It. Sinks. ,
Michael Brush.
.Tacob Huber.
.Tames Gage.
J. Q. A. Barr.
Nathan Wood.
II. McAdams.
.To MoIntire.
G. W. McAdams.
Thom:LS K. Ellis.
William Bolander.
C. Boulware••
Daniel Robinson.
David Apgar.
D. F. Hayward.
Isaac Cramer.
S. n. Jones.
.Tohn McGhee.
Jobn U. Williams.
John F. Hildebrant.
.Tobn Lukemires.
E. S:.Tohnson.
.Tqhn Isham.
J. R. Clark.
John Apgar.
Daniel Hildebrant.
W. S. Lattimer.
James Lattimer.
C. A.Westerlield.
F. 1\1. Cramer.
S. B. Wood.
Nieh~las Smith.
George Apgar.
J. W. J"attimer.
Matthias Coleman.
William Miller.
G. W. Ferree.
Stephen Long.
George A. Camp•
Willilun Williams.
R. B. Ulrey.
George Devine.

THE WAR FOR THE UNION.

We have seen how earnest was the response of' the patri­
otic sons of Clermont when the honor of the nation had to
be vindicated, and now, when the future existence of the
Union was imperiled, there was no lack of devotion, but a
cheerful consecration of life and property upon the altar of
our common country. Being upon the border of the dis­
sentient States, Clermont awaited with especial interest the
mutterings of the angry South, forbearing

U Until a fierce, sudden flash across thc rugged blackncss broke,
And with a voice that shook the land the guns of Sumter spoke."

But when the first call for troops reached Batavia, the
old court-house bell pealed out the notes of alarm and en·
treaty, arousing the entire county,

"And wbereso'er tbe summons cnme tbere rose an angry din,
oAs wben upon a rocky coast a stormy tide sets in."

'Within a, day the" Clermont Guards" were recruited to
the maximum of the company, and Capt. Penn was ready
for orders to move into camp. The independent organiza­
tions-Felicity Guards and the Union Guards, of New
Richmond-quickly proffered their services and were en­
rolled for three months. Others, unable to brook delay,
hastened to Cincinnati or Georgetown to find a place among
the defenders of the flag. The feeling was intense, and
all were anim'ated with a common purpose to maintain the
Union at all hazards. It is impossible to determine how
many went forth to battle at this period, as no rosters of
three months' men have been filed among the archives of
the State, a neglect which deserves to be speedily corrected.
Indeed, with an exception or two, no complete roster of any
organization that went from the county has been filed in
the office of the adjutant-general; and as that is the only
accessible official source, many of the lists given in the fol­
lowing pages necessarily lack that completeness which
would attach to them did a better order obtain.

Of the three organizations mentioned, the Clermont
Guards were recruited at Batavia, of citizens of that place
and the surrounding country, including many from 'Wil­
liamsburgh. The offiGers received their commissions April
23, 18o!. The company became a part of a regiment
which was being formed at Columbus, and was known in
the service as

COl\fPANY E, TWENTY-SECOND REGIMENT Oliro
INFANTH.Y.

Cupt. Penn was commissioned major of this regiment
May ~3, 1861, and George W. Hulick became captain of
the company, his commission bearing date April 25, 1861.
The regiment did not re-enlist for three years as an organi­
zation, and most of the men returned home at the end of
three months, without having seen much actual service.
The regiment was mustered out at Columbus, Aug. 19,
1861. As originally constituted, the roster of the company
was as follows:

Captain, Julius A. Penn.
Lieutenants, E. S. Sinks, Lowell H. Smith.
Sergeants, George W. I-Iuliok, Charles T. Fitch, Russell F. Smith, III.

J. W. Holter.
COI'porals, A. E. Miley, M. D. Goff, George MOloris, Henderson Smith.

~6

Philip Fitzwater.
Charles Robinson.
B. F. Moore.
Joseph Ainsworth.
W. II. II. Robinson.
William Raper, Jr.
Martin Laypold.
Andrew Wensner. ,
John H. Fairman.
O. Sutton.

, Luther Anderson.,
J. H. Wroten.
Marccllus Hulick,.
W. W. Mount.
James Bolton.
Josepbus Holter.
IIenry Day.
Randolph Kain.
A. D. Bryan.
Thomas F. Brown.
Alexander Ste\vart.
R. Thornsberg. 0

Edward White~

Whitney Lansdale.
A. Ganart.
Fred Frank.
William Boulware.
G. W. Hooker.
W. H. Tbomas. ,
Augustine Mount.
Charles Stackpole.
Jobn Wayland.
Uriah Baldwin.
James Morin.
William R. Weaver.
C. W. Clark.
Jacob Myers.
J. W. Hunt.
Joseph Griffis.
John Latch.
Daniel Kidd.
John P. Robinson.
Natban Troy.
Danicl Brunk.
J. W. Deem.
George Clark.
Pleasant A. Brown.
Daniel Brown.
.1'.1\1. Miley.
Josepb Holleman.
William Holleman.
A. M. Hull.
Thomas F. Pegg.

The Felicity Guards, as before stated, were an inde:­
pendent military organization at the breaking out of the
war, and upon entering the service of the United States
became
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G. W. Oxley.
W. B. C. Padget.
Jonah Pickett.
William Pollard.
W. P. Rutherford.
J. C. Rutherford.
Frederick Rod.
T. L. II. Ross.
E.l\I. Reed.
George lI. Rlulor.
W. 11. H. Scott.
James W. Swing.
H. T. Stub;.
Asa Starks.
W. S. Trout.
William Voght.
John White.
W. II. Young.
W. W. Smith.
T. C. Simmons.
W. ~. Sargent.
E. R. Salt.
Jeremiah Shinkle.
W. II. Trisler.
J. W. Tiee.
William Vaughn.
Nathaniel Yates.
Edgar Van Briggle.
John V. VaDllnda.
John W. Wi1lis.
Sol. Somermire.
Benjamin A. Smith.
William Slye.
J. P. Swope.
Thomas Sanders.
J. Q. Sanders.
J. P. Taylor.
F.l\I. H. Tatman.
L. Van Briggle.
J. J. Warbington.
Zed. Watson.

COMPANY C, TWELFTH REGIMENT OHIO INFANTRY.

The officers received their commissions April 26, 1861.
The regiment was organized for three months at Camp Jack­
son, at Columbus, l\Iuy 3, 1861, and three days later moved
to Camp Dennison, where it was reorganized and mustered.
into the service for three years, June 28,1861. The three
months' service ended in that camp, and the roster for
that period was as follows:

Captain, Watts l\IeMurchy.
Lieutenants, T. G. Wood, F. B. Warren, A. M. Dimmitt.
Sergeants, Isaac Watson, G. T. Sturges, V. B. Cary.

M. V. Cary. Samuel A. West.
G. H. Jackson. Charles Frcarich.
H. A. Day. F. G. Jeffries.
Albert. Day. W. R. Babcock.
Francis Graves. W. C. Rolson.
Sylv('ster McCarm. G. W. Slade.
John Hilter. John B. Layfield.
Jacob Lutz. W. H. McGuire.
Henry Farum. A. D. I1es.
J. W. Ropple. J. W. Gowdy.
Sanford Kellum. Fred Losh.
Chester White. T. R. Shannon.
John Fox. ;!. W. Light.
Justice Jones. J. McAllister, Jr.
John Lusk. Willinm Grovcs.

There was a spontaneous response to the call for troops,
not only at first, when men were easily moved by a feeling
that the insult to the flug must be resented, but after the
realities of an unrelenting war were understood, and its
effects had been brought to many a home in the shape of
maimed and disabled husbands and brothers, or only the
memory of loved ones who had fallen on bloody battle­
fields remained to tell of the hopes of bygone days j the
love of country was overpowering, and the decimated ranks
were kept steadily filled. No better commentary on the
loyalty and patriotism of the county can be made than the
simple statement that but six men had to be COllscrlpted to
fill the allotted qllotas. In all these long. years of strife
but six men went to war from Clermont against their wills,
while those who rendered voluntary _service numbered
nearly four thousand men from every avocation in life.
It is claimed, with much reason! that if the county had
been accorded her proper credit for men furnished the
number would have been several hundred in excess of
every demand made upon her for support.

The county can boast with pardonable pride that in
addition to having produced the greatest general of the
Union forces,-Gen. U. S: Grant,-the rank and file of
her soldiery were men who enrolled themselves out of a
si~ple lo\'e of country. It is proper, therefore, to per­
petuate the names of these hemic men by giVing them a

_place in this history. So far as we have been able to glean
from official sources, the following lists contain the names
of all who rendered honorable service to the credit of the
county. When enlistments were made in- foreign places
to the credit of other States, counties, or cities, no record
appears of their service as affecting Clermont, and no
mention, of course, can be given here. Prefacing the lists,
which were compiled from the records in the office of the

E. ill. Bagby.
T. B. Behymer.
J. C. llehymer.
F. A. Boys.
W. II. Buchanan.
F. D. Brown.
A. l\I. Baird.
S. P.Conely.
James Carter.
Cary Cattell.
L. F. Carley.
G. W. Conrey.
G. Carnell.
Henry Demaris.
G. A. Dugnn.
Benjamin Daugherty.
Samuel Dixon.
Warren English.­
William P. English.
A. R. Ellis.
W. 1\1. Florer.
L. W. Frnzier.
J. S. GOOllwin.
B. F. Gaskins.
A. C. Greger.
Adam Good.
J. H. Hill.
W. S. Hicks.
Elijah Hicks.
L. Hurdle.
F. J. Israel.
J. N. Judd.
Elliott Lanham.
John Larkin.
W. H. Morgan.
Eli McMiDnis.
J. J. l\Icl{ibben.
J. W. McCo.nahuD.
Anthony McEvoy.
John Marigold.
J. F. l\Ioorhead.
F. M. Oxley.

The Union Guards, of New Richmond, in
became

the service

Ezra Towner.
F. N. Moore.
A.•J. iI[cGuirc.
John Ozier.
A. IIultshult.
Samuel Killinger.
W. 11. Kennelly.
Aaron Fowlcr.
Sylvester White.
T. A. Emerson.
J. Vanfassen.
George Merge!.
B. F. Banuiville.
C. G. H. Payne.
La\vrence Rane.
W. M. Donahue.
John Dl1.Y, Jr.
C. L. Moss.
Peter McCormick.
Oscar Towner.
William Tolls.
J oseph lIenrd.
W. A. Cockero.lI.
Isaac McGuire.
Daniel Hehill.
Christian Frei.
Rains Allen.
Archy Light.
J. R. Sarver.
Thomas Doughty.
Thomas Graves.

M. l\[cDonald.
L. Wenip.
W.lligby.
Fred. Terwilliger.
Charles Morris.
SJl\oester White.
J. L. Israel..
J. G. Laycock.
F. :M. Slade.
S. Minshall.
Benjamiri Shepherd.
Fred. Fisher.
George Bader.
Charle« Robb.
John Gro\Oes.
Charles Cross.
H. II. Higby.
J. J. Walil.
Edwin Weir.
James Harp.
II. It. Laycock.
F. T. A. Sanders.
John McNair.
Theodore A. Hunt.
William IIultshult.
J. V. Leech.
Charles E. Dimmitt.
Charles Hancock.
J. H. Bainam.
G. W. White.
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Daniel FeITl'e, enl. Sept. 2, 1801.
Al>ner First, cnl. Aug. 25, 1861; wounded at Perryville, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862; cap­

tured at Chicl,amauga, Sept. 19, 1863; prisoner of war to lIIarch 7, 1864.
Wilson Gaskill, enl••Tuly 27, 1861; wounded at Murfreesboro', Tenn., Dec. 31,

]862; also lit ChickllmllUga, Sept. 19, 1863.
William C. Glenn, en I. Aug. 30, 1861.
Conduce B. Gatch, enl. Sept. 2, 1861.
Solomon S. Harris, enl. Sept. 2, 1861; wounded at battle of Chickamauga, Sept.

19,186:t
Cyrus C. Johnson, enl. July 27, 1861; wounded at Hoover's Gap, Teun., June

21,186:1.
Francis J. Kemp, eul. July 27, 1861.
ErJison Kem/" enl. July 27, 1861.
Lewis L. Loscy, enl. July 2i, 1861.
Col'UeJius 1IlcCarthy, en1. July 27, 1861.
Allron lliorris, enl. July 27, 1861.
WilliaUl OHver, enl. July 27, ]861.
George W. Ross, enl. JUly 27, 1861.
Thomas J. Rust, enl. July 27, 1861.
John D. Randall, enl. July 27, 1861.
Thomas South, enl. July 27, 1861; wounued at battie of Perr.vville, Ky., Oct.

8,1862. .
John Sclloole;)', cnl. July 27, 1861.
TholllllS Stewart, enl. July 27,1861.
William B. Thacker, cnl. July 27,1861.
Jackson Whitt., cuI. July 27, 1861.

ICilled ill Balik.

James 111. Flom, enl. Aug. 25, 1861; killed at Stone River, Tenn., Dec. 31, 1862.
Silas G. Gaskill, enl. July 27, 1861; killed at Perryville, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862.
William C. GOOUlJaBture, enl. July 27, 1861; killed at Stone River, Tenn., Dec.

31,1862.
Lafayette Hill, cnl. Aug. 20, 1861; killed at Stone River, Tenn., Dec. 31, 1862.
George W. Hughes, cuI. July 27, 1861; killed at Stone River, Tenn., Dec. 31,

1862.
William 1I1R10tt, eni. July 27, 1861; killed at Perryville, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862.
Franklin Mount, eni. July 27, 1861; killed in Looj{out Valley, Tenn., Sept. 25,

1863.
David Spence, eni. July 27, 1861; killed at PerrYvillp, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862.
lIlichael Smith, eni. Jull' 27, 1861; killed at Lookout Mountain, Tenn., Nov. 24,

1863.
John B. Trump. eni. Aug. 29, ]861 ; killed at Resaca, Ga., }lay 14, 1864.
Oscar White, enl. .Tuly 27, 1861; killed at Peloryville, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862.

Died.

Sergt. ClIlumLus J. Dudle;)", enI. July 27, 1861; appointed sergt., May 2, 1863;
died in J1ri~on hospit:LI, Atlanta, Ga., Oct. 16, 1863, or wounds from
battle of Chickamauga, Sept. 20, 1863.

Thomas J. Connett, eni. Aug. 17, 1861; died at Camp Crittenden, Ky., Nov. 12,
1861, of diseasc.

Milton J. McLaughlin, enl. Aug. 17,1861; died at Louisville, Ky., Dec. 29,
1861, of disease. .

David Jlapp, eui. Aug. 17, 1861; died at Bridgeport, Ala., Dec. 8, 1863, of dill­
ease.

Prisollers oj War.

Corp. Hiram B~ Leever, eni. July 27, 1861; appointed corp., April 27, 1864 ;
wounded nnd captured at ChickaDlaugu, Sept. I!O, 1863; prisoner since
Sept. 20, 1863.

Corp. George 1I1.1IlcCormick, enl. Aug. 17, 1861; appointed corp., Nov. 1, 1862;
prisoner since Sept. 19, 1803; captured at Chickamauga.

Pervise Cramer, eul. July 27, 1861; prIsoner sioce Sept. 20, 1863; captured at
Chickamauga.

Richard Cramer, eul. July 27, 1861; prisoner since Sept. 20, 186:3; captured at
Chickamauglt.

Alexander Cmnll'r, eul. Sept. 2, 1861; prisoner since Sept. 25, 1863; captured at
Lnukout Valley.

Richard Fcrree, enl. July 27,1861; prisoner since Sept. 20,1803; captured at
. Chickamauga.

Melvin J. Gnsldll, eni. July 27, 1861; prisoner sincc SE'pt. 20,1863; captured at
Chickamauga.

lIoses Hill, enl. Aug. 20, 1861; prisoner since Sept. 25, 1863; captured in Look­
out Valley.

Andrew J. Phillhouse, enl. Aug. 27, 1861; prisoner since Sept. 20, 1863; cap­
tured at Chickamauga.

David I,. Rapp, cnl. Aug. 27, 1861; prisoner since Sept. 20, 1803; captured at
Chickal1uLIIga.

WiJllam H. lUlo,len, eni. Aug. 27, 1861 j prisoner since Sept. 20, 1863; captured
at Chickamauga.

Cyrus D. Randall, euI. July 27,1861; prisoner since Sep*. 20, 1863; captured at
Cbicka~auga.

Di$charged.

Sergt. Daniel W. Dewitt, enI. July 27,1861; dlsch. to accept promotion to 2d
Iieut., Co. C, .Tan. 5, 1863.

Sergt. Johu B. Emery, enl. July 27,1861; disch. to accept promotion to 2d lieut.,
Co. C, 1I11ly 1, 1863.

Sergt. James Adallls, cuI. July 27, 1861 j disch. at Columbus, 0., Dec. 26, 1862,
for disability.

COr]l. James H. Fox, cuI. July 27,1861; discll. July 18, 1802, for disability.

SECOND REGIMENT OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTRY.

The Second Ohio was organized at Camp Dennison, in
August and September, 1861: for three years, with Leonard
A. Harris as colonel; and when it was mustered out, in
1864, Anson G. McCook was the colonel commanding. It
was composed largely of companies from Cincinnati and
vicinity. Company C was enrolled at Goshen, and Com­
pany I was recruited at Camp Dennison, only a part being
from· Clermont. In September, 1861, the regimcnt moved
tl) :Eastern Kentucky, but before winter set in was sent to
Louisville, brigaded, and attached to the division commanded
'by Gen. O. l\I. Mitchell. In February, 1862, the regiment
moved southward, and in March wcnt to the assistance of
Gen. Grant at Pittsburg Landing. It WaS engaged at the
battle of Perryville, losing forty per cent. of its men, Capt.
Beatty, of the Goshen company, being wounded~ The regi~

ment was engaged at, Stone River, Dec. 31, 1862, where its
second colonel, John Kell, was killed; at Chickamauga,
where it lost one hundred and eighty-three men; at Look­
out, where Lieut. Emery was wounded in the night battle;
and at Mission Ridge, Ringgold, Buzzard's' Roost, Dalton,
Resaca, Peach-Tree Creek, and Atlanta. It left the latter
place Aug. 1, 1864, and after several months was mustered
out at Columbus, having been in the service thirty-eight
months. In the last years of its service the regiment be­
longed to the Army of the Cumberland.

adjutant-genet'al at Columbus, are a few lines wl1ich are
intended to convey the most salient features in the history
of' each regiment in which the county had a considerable
representation.

OFFICERS AND MEN FRO~I CLERMONT COUNTY.
COMPANY C.

Callt. William T. Beatt;)·, com. July 27, 1861; pro. to maj. :lIIarch 2, 1803;
wounded at Lattle of Chickamauga, Sept. 19, 1863, and captured.

Capt. William S. B. Rundall, com. 1I1arch 2,1863; pro. to capt. MI~rch 2,1863;
captured at l>llttle of cliickllDlauga, Sept. 20, 1863; escaped frOIll prison,
Feb. 9, 1864; was imprisoned at Richmond, Va.

1st Lieut. John W. Thomas, CODI. Apl'ilI6, 1116:l; pro. to 2d lieut. May 2, 1863;
then to 1st Iieut. April 16, 1863; appointed adjt. April, 1863.

1st Lient. John n. ElIlor~", com.lIIarch 28,1864; 2d Iicnt. at entel'ing; pro. to
]st Iieut•.~llLrch ~8, ]864; wounded in hattie of I'errp'iIJe, Oct. 8, 1862;
also in lJattle of Lookout lIIountain, Tenn., Nov. 24, 1863•.

211 Lieut. William Thacker, com. July ~7, 1861; res. Aug. 9,1862.
2d Lieut. Daniel W. Dewitt, com. Jan. 6, 186<~; pro. to 2d Iieut. Jan. 6, 1863;

res. April 6, 1863.
Sergt. Lawrence G. Fryl>arger, cnl. Jul~' 27, 1861; pro. to sergt. Jan. ],1863;

wounded lit Perryville, Ky., Oct. 8,1862; at Chickamlluga, Sept. 20,186:1;
Cllpt. ut Camp Chase, Ohio, Oct. 10, 1864.

Sergt. Oliver H. P. Applegate, cnl. July 27, 1861; wounded at Chickamauga,
8cpt. 20, 1803.

Sergt. l' hiJip A. Hldl, enl. July 27, 1861.
Sergt. Franklin C. Kelsey, eul. July 2i, 1861; pro. to sergt. Fel>. 1,1864.
Sergt. Nelson Schooley, enl. Scpt. 2, 1861; appointed corp. Nov. 1, 1862; pro.

March 1, 1864.
Corp. Joseph Williams, el';1. July 27,1861; corp. from June 1,1862.
Corp. Bmdlord Ringer, enl. July 27, 1861; corp. fronl 1I1ay 2, 1863.
Corp. Isaac A. lIIerclulnt, I'nl. JUly J27,ol861; corp. from June 9, 1863.
Corp. John Joncs, enl. July 27,1861 ; wouuded at l>attle of Perryville, Ky., Oct.

8,1862; corp. from April 27, 1864.
Corp. John '1'. Barr, enl. July 27, 1861; corp. from April 27, 1864.
1\luskian Uobert Hunt, cnl. July 27, 1861.
Wagoner John Rundall, enl. Aug. 17, 181ll.
Olivel' Binkley, enl. July 27, 1861; wounded at battle of Chickllmauga, Sept.

19,1863.
William B. Clouser, eni. July 27, 1861.
Thomas J. emmel', cnl. July 27, 1861; woundcd at battle of Chickamauga,

Sept. 19, 1863.
Charles W. CrelLlIler, cuI. July 27, 1861.
1I10se8 M. Dudley, enl. July 27, 1861.
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Corp. Amos lIuffumn, elll. July 27, 1861 ; nppointed corp:, No\'. 1, 1862: llisdl.
April S, 1863.

Corp. Thomas Wood, enl. J1IIy 27, 1861; disch. 1\Iay 20, IS62, for di8ability.
Fl1Inkliu COlhlington, enl. Sept. 2, 18'H; disch. Jnne 1,1862, for disability.
William Conrad, elll. Jnly 27, 18111; disch. Jnly 18,1862, for disability.
Auston Ilwiue1 ,1'111. Aug. 2[" 18G1 ; disch. Sept. :10, 18G:3, for di~lIbility.

Jacub Fisher, enl. July 27, ISli}; disch. Jnne 1, 1862, for disability,
Jos('ph GlIskill, ..nl. Aug. 30, 1861; disch. Feb. 6, 186:3, fur disability.
Edwiu Harlcman, enl. Aug. 27, 18Hl; disch. }·eb. 15, 186:1, for disability.
Juhn L('eyer, en\. July 27, 1861; disch. No\'. 25, 1862, for disability.
George E. 1\Iorrow, 1'111. Ang. 17,1861; wounded at batt10 of I'err~'ville, Ky.,

Oct. 8, 1862; disch. July, 186;3, fur disability.
l'restoll :Morris, 1'111. Jul~' 27, 1861; disch. }'eb. 6,186:1, for disability.
Sherwood n. l\IlIrklllnd, enl. Aug. 17, 1861; disch. lila,\' 18, 18G;3, for disability.
George W. 1\I~'ers, elll. Aug. 2-1, 1861; wO\lllllell at battle of lI1urfreesboro',

Telln., Dec. :11, 1862; disch. for wounds, JlIn. 25, 1864.
Clmr1l's N. ~[CTJl\1lghlill, l·nl. Allg. 17, 1861; disch. Oct. 6, 1862, for disllbility.
Delljllmin F. 1'allller, 1'111. July 27, 1861; disch. July 7, 1862, fur disability.
AIt'xlulder Powell, cuI. July 27, 11161; disch.lIIay 2:3, 18G2, for disability.
William Hoss, enl. Jnly 27, 1861; disch. 1\Iny 23, 1862, for llisability.
JalUes 'I'. Roosn, elll. Jnly 27, 18Gl; disch. 1Ilar«:,h 26, 1862, for disability.
Willialll II. Uinger, elll. J1I1y 27, 1861: disch. :l\IlIrch 17, 1862, for llisal,i1ity.
Robert A. Shaw, ('111. Aug. 2!l, 1862: disch. :l\Inrch 28, 186:3, for disability.
l'hilip Sells, enl. Aug. 27, 1861; disch. :May 12,1862, for disnbility.
Thomas Shil'lds, 1'111. Aug. 27, 1861; ,lisch. Nov. 24, IH6;3, for disnbility.
George D. Wiles, enl. July 27, 1861; disch. Dec. 18, 1862, for disllbility.

Trlllliferrecl.

Corp.lIenr;)' P. Slough, clIl. Aug. 29, 1862; trollS. pursunnt to S. O. No. 28, Dis­
trict of Etowllh, Sept. 20, 1864; nl'poinft'd corp., No\'". 1, 11162; capture<1at
Chickamauga, Sl·Pt. 20, 186a; prislJlIl'r of war.

James Agllew, elll. JUI~' 27, 1861; tmlls. to Yet. Res. Corps, April 28, 1864.
Alb..rt }'isher, enl. July 27, 1861; appointed q.IIl.-sergt. nnd tmns. to N. C. S.,

Feb. 1, ll:11H.
John L. Gatch, elll. Aug. 29. 1862: tmlls. pursuant to S. O. No. 28, District of

Etowllh, Sept. 20, 1864; c;tptured at Chickamauga, Sppt. 20, 1863; disch.
nt Camp Chase, 0., June 16, 1865.

Amnnuel GII~ldll, elll. Sept. 14, 1862; trans. pursuallt to S. O. No. 28, District
of Etowah, Sept. 211, 1864.

Thomas Hill, pnl. Sept. 2, 1861; trails. to Co. E, 2d Ohio Yol. Inf., Jan. 1, 1863.
William E.Henry, elli. July 27, 1861; trallR. to Yet. Hes. Corps, Jan. 15, 1864;

woulldcd in battle of MIlI'freesboro', Tenn., Dec. :n, 1862.
Henry C. IJeever, enl. S"pt. 12, 1862; trails. pursuant to S. O. No. 28,1:istrict

of Etowah; wuullded aUll captured at Chiclmultluga; prisoner sillce Sept.
20, 186;3.

William lIliller, elll. Aug. 30,1862; trnns. pursuant to S. O. No. 28, District oC
Etowah.

Amos R. 1I1cCormicli:, enl. Aug. 17, 1861; trans. to Yet. Res. Corps, Aug.l, 1863.
John 'V. Pray, elll. Sept. 1:3,1862; trans. pursuant to S. O. Ko. 2ll, District of

Etowah, Sept. 20, 1864; calltured at Chiclmmauga; prisoller sillce Sellt.
20,186a.

G..orge Rl-eder, en1. Sppt. 4, 1862; trans. pursuant to S. O. No. 28, District of
Etuwah, Sl'pt. 20, 1864.

Amos Shil'1ds, elll. July :!o7, 1861; trans. to Sigllal Corps, Oct. 22, 18(j:1.

COlllPANY F.

Daniel Heed, 1'111. Sept. 4, 1862; IIssiglled to detllchmellt of regillll'lIt at Chatta­
nooga, Tenn.

1I1artin Heed, enl. :Sellt. 6, 1862; cllptured nt Chickamauga, Sept. 19,1863;
assiglled to detachmellt of regiment at ChlLttllllooga, Tellll.

William ltoss, 1'111. Allg. 29, 1862; trails. to Signal Corl's, Oct. 24, 1863.

COllIPANY I.

Corp. Johll II. Snook, enl. S('pt. 3, 1861.
Corp. Willialll Lpgg, elll. Sl'pt. 3, lli61.
Corp. James C. Bums, elll. Scpt. 3, 1861.
Han'ey Allell, PilI. SPJlt. :I, 1861.
Jnnu's Ackerson, enl. Aug. 15, 1861.
Albert llo~'d, enl. Sept. 3, 1861.
.Martin Y. Green, 1'111. Aug. 15,1861.
Henry Gcise, enl. Sept. 3, 1861.
Fra1l1;: Hopkinson, elli. Sept. 3, 1861.
James I(elley, pnl. Sept. 3, 1861.
Newton Lollg, enl. Sept. 3, 1861.
Charles lIlcFall, enl. Aug. 15, 1861.
I'err,v L. MOBS, cnl. Aug. 1::',1861.
Cyrus I'i"rce, eul. Sopt.:3, ]S61.
lIeury N. Smith, l-lI1. Sept. ;{, 1861.
Jallles Smith, enl. Aug. 15, 18tH.
Willialll Silllon, clIl. Sept.:I, 1861.
Christ. Stoucb, l'nl. Aug. 15, 1861.
Erwin SWiml" enl. Sppt. :I, 1861.
John Spence, enl. S"llt. 3, 18lH.
A1exallder Work, elll. Sept.:3, 18tH.
John \Vorll, enl. Sept.:3, 1861.
l!'rallk Wright, elll. Aug. 15, 1861.
John WlIlker, enl. Sellt. 3,1861.

l'rj.<oJlag of 11',,1'.

Sergt. Alcxnnder c. BrowlI, 1'111. Sept. 3, 1861; cnpt. nt battle of Chiciialllauga,
Sl'pt.20, 1863.

Corp. IIl'nry N. Fruits, cnl. Sept. 3, 1861; capt. nt battle of ChicknmaugiL,
S,·pt. 20, 18113. •

Corp. Hnr\'ey l!'ulIwrsoll, enl. Aug. 15,1861; cnpt. at battle of Chiclmmaugll,
Sept. 20, lll63.

Corp. Jessl' Hines, enl. Sept. 3, 1861; capt. at battle of Chicllnlllauga, Sept. 20,
186:3.

Corp. DlIyhl Smith, 1'111. Sept. 3, 1861; capt. at battle of Chicknmauga, Sl·pt.
20,1811:3.

LiLert~· Jinks, enl. Ang. 15, 1861; capt. nt battle of Chickamnuga, Sept. 20,
Hili:!.

Leyi 1Ill'1o'llrland, 1'111. Sept. 3,1861; capt. at battlo of Chiclllllllnuga, Sept. 20,
U;G:l.

William Needham, enl. Sl'j>t.:3, 1861; capt. at battle of Chic1mnllLllgn, Sept. 20,
1811:l.

Isnac Shaffer, en!. Sept. 3, 1111i1; capt. nt lmttlt" of Chiclmnmugll, Sppt. 20, 18113.
Peter ShatTer, enl. Sept. 3, 1861: ca1lt. nt battle of ChiclwlIlauga, Sept. 20,

]811:l.
Frl'derick Ulichllel', enl. Aug. 15, 1861; capt. at battle of Cbiclmmauga, Sl'pt.

20, ]863.
Kmetl ill Ballle.

John K"ffll', ('Ill. Sept. 3, 1861; killed in bllttle of Perry"iII(', Ky., Oct. 8, 18112.
Gain"s Walker, 1'111. Sept. 3,1861; killed in battle of PeIT)'\'iIIo, Ky., Oct.8,

1862.
Dietl.

Jacob Dumford, onl. Sept. 3, 1861; died Aug. 18, 1862.
Henr)' Hoat, elll. Sept. 3,1861; died of disease, No\'. 17, 18&1.

DisclHlTaecl.

Sergt. Po1ell~' D. Cottle, enl. Sl·pt.:3, 181ll; <lisch. for disal l ility, Feb. 28, 1862.
Corp. Jesse G. lIIorrow, enl. Sept.:3, 18tH; disch. for disability, Feb. 28, 1862.
Corp. DUtlloy 1Ilulfor<1, eni. S"pt.:3, 1861; <lisch. for disabilit)', l!'eb. 28, 1862.
David Darker, onl. Sept. 3, 1861; disel,. for disabilit~·, ,July 25, 1862.
lIenry Dunlll1m, /llll. Sept.:3, 1861 ; disch. for disabilit)'.
Nathan Suouk, eu1. Sept. 3, 1861; disch. for disability, Nov. 10, 1862.

Trttn.~rerrcd.

Charles Chnlll'y, enl. Sept. 3, 1861 ; trans. to det. of rl'gt. at Chattanooga, Tenn.
George 'V. Pl'pperl)', enl. Sept. 3,1861; trans. to det. of regt. at ChattanooglL,

Tenn.
Jacob Shumal'd, enl. Sept.:'3, 1861; trails. to <let. of regt. at Chattanooga, Tenn.
Jacob Uhl, ('ul. Sept.:3, 1861; trans. to det. of regt. nt Chnttanoogn, Tenn.
Simon n. Wood, enl. March :3, 1862; trans. to det. of regt.atChattanooga, Tellll.

THIRD REGnIENT OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTRY.
COMPANY n.

Jolm N('iII, enl. JUlie 13, 1861; lIlust, out at Columbus.
Alhert G. Wnniell, enl. JUlie 1:3, 1861; must. ont at Columbus.

SIXTH HEGUIENT OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTH.Y.
C01lIPANY n..

Wagollcr 1IIichael Colemall, enl. June 8, 1861; must. out at Columbus.

'l'ENTH REGnIENT OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTRY.
C01lIPANY ]{.

William H. Bennett, enl. April 15, 1861; must. out at Columbus.

ELEVENTH HEGI:MENT OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTRY.
COlllPANY E•

Jerome Brown, cnl. Oct. 1,1861 ; traus. to Co. D, Oct. 21, 1862.
Cornelius Deeters, eul.Ilec. 3, 1861; trans. to Co. B, Oct. 21,1862.
John Deunis, enl. Aug. 22,1862; traus. at CllIIttanuoga.

COllIPANY 11.

Chnrll's Baker, enl. June, 1861.
John !laller, eDI. Juue, 1861; Idlled at Antietam.

'!'WELFTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This regiment was first organized under the call lor three
months' men, at Camp Jackson, :May 3, 1861. Moving to
Camp Dennison three days later, it was reorganized and
mustered into the service for three years 'on the 28th of
June,1861. It left the camp for the Kanawaha Valley
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Died.

COMPANY C.

TrllllRfcrred.

Sergt.-lIfnj. IIandy S. Day, enl. June 19,1861; app. sergt..mnj. from Co. C, Nov.
15.1862; transf. to Co. C, Nov. 25, 1863.

Sergt.-Maj. Parker Stinchfielcl, clII. June 26,1861; app. from Co.E, Oct. 15, 1861,
trausf. to Co. E, Jan. I, 1863.

Capt. Watts lIIcllIurchy, com. June 19, 1861; original capt. of company; rcs.
March 31, 1862.

Copt. Dauiel W. Pauly, res. Oct. I, 1862•
Capt. Homtio G. TiLIJlI(s, com. Dec. ao, 1862; rl'tircd Dec. 9, 1863.
Capt. lIellry F. IIawl,s, IIssigned to Co. G, Scptem1ier, 1862; com. CDllt. and A.

C. S., Nov. 3D, 1862.
1st Lieut. John V. O. Conner, COlli. Jul~' 25, 1862; transf. from Co. K, July I,

1862, and to Co. K. Aug. :n, 1862. '
1st Lieut. John V. Hiltz, com. 2d lieut., Jau.14, 1862; pro June 20,1862; transf.

to 2ad Regt. Ohio Vot. Vol. IlIf., July 1,1864, uy special oru('r No. 13,2d
Army of Kanawha.

1st Lieut. Frank 111. Slalle, com. Dc'c. 30,1862; com.2d lieut. Oct. 12, 1862; pro.
Jan. 1, 181l3; tmnsf. to Co. D, Fe111·nllry, 18Ga.

1st Lieut. AIl'xander 111. Ridgl'way, com. June 19, 186.1 ; res. lIfarch 31, 1862.
2d Lieut. Henry L. Sherwooll, COlli. Jan. I, 1863; sergt. atenl.; pro. Jan. 1, 1863,

alllll1ssignl'd to Co. C.
2d Lieut. Alonzo 111. Dimmitt. com. June 19,1861; res. April 18.1862.
Sl'fgt. (;uy n. Johnson, enl. JI!ne 3,1861; app. sergt., July 25, 1863.
Corp. Clmrles P. Foolks, enl. June3,1861; app. corp., Dl'ccDluer, 1862; wounded

at Bull Run Bridge, Aug. 27,1862. '
Rains Allen, eni. June 3, 1861.
Beujamin Bonncville, enl. June 3, 1861.
Sewell Bonne\"iIle, enI. Jun(' 3, 18G1.
Thomas BI·unaugh, pnl. June a, 1861.
George Daden, enI. June a, 1861.
Thomas Cleary, enl. June 3, 1861.
John D. Day, pni. June a, 1861.
Hauu~· S. Day, enI. Jnne 3, 1861.
Jaml's Ewan, en!. Jun(' 3, 1861.
JalJll's Edlill, pni. June 3, 1861.
Christian Fril', enI. June 3, 186l,
Joseph Gillett, eni. June a, 1861.
John Gro\"e. en!. June 3, 1R61.
Thomas Grove, enI. June 3,1861; taken pris. near Raleigh, 'V. Va., Jan. 30, '64.
Daniel IIehill, enl. June 3, 1861.
lIIorris N. IIannan, pnl. June a, 1861.
Adolphus IIulschut, enl. June 3, 1861; wounded and taken pris. at Cloyd's

1I10ulltain, 1I111y 19,1864.
Auel D. Iles, cuI. :June 3,1861.
Leonai'll Kinley, en!. June 3, 1861.
John Loth. eul. Juue 3, 1861.
FI'l'ul'ricl, Loth, enl. June 3, 1861.
Allen W. lIIiIler, eni. .Tune 3,1861.
John Ox, ell!. .Tune 3, 18G1.
lIenry Peterson, en I. June 3, 1861.
Lllwrence Rowe, l'nl. June a, 1861.
William H. H. Rouinson, cnl. June 19, 18G1.
George 'V. Slade, en!. June 19, 1861.
Charles Steelman, enl. June 19, 1861.
nlilton Terwiligir, en!. June 19, 1861; tn.ken pris. near Fayetto Court-House,

W. VII., NoV;. 1, 186:3.
James Young, enl. June 19,1861.

Killed ill Battle.

ISMc Blanchard, eni. June 3, 1861; killed in battle of Bull Run Dridge, Aug.
27,181l2.

William Cockerell, elll. June 3, 18G1; ldlled in battle of South 1I10untain, 1I1d.,
Sept. H, 1862.

AlLert CoomLs, en!. June 3,1861; killed ill uattle of Bull Run Bridge, Aug. 27,
1862.

Zachariah Crippen, en!. Feb. 18,1864; killed in bllttle of Cloyd's Mountain,
W. Va., MI\Y 9,18(;4.

Vivian Goodlow, enl. June 3,1861; killecl in battle of Antietam, 1I1d., Sept. 17,
1862.

Charles C. Hannah, en!. Jan. 4, 1864; killed in battle of Cloyd's l\Iountain,lIIay
9,1864.

James 1Ilalson, enl. June 3, 1861; re-en!. as Vet. Vol., Jan. I, 1864; killed in
battle near Lynchburg. Va.

Henry lIIatson, enl. June 3, 1861; killed in battle of South 1IIoulltain, Sept. 14,
1862.

Samuel SIJnmard, lInl. June 3, 1861; killed in baUle of Antietam, Sept. 17, 1862.

Died.

William W. Higby, enl. June 3,1861; dIed of disease, Novemuer, 1861.
Augnstns C. Sih·ers, eni. June 3, 1861; died in hosp. at Clmrleston, ,Yo Va.,

NO\"('mLer, 1861.
Lewid Wenl, cuI. Jlllle 3, 1861; died of wOllnds received at Lattle of Antietllm,

Sept. 18, 1862.
DisclwI·gel!.

SergI. J. Wesll'y lIIcH:iu!Jell, euI. Juno 3, 1861; app. sergt. Nov. 20, 1862; disch.
on accoullt of didaLility, lIlay 19, 18(j3.

AlIjt. Willillm n. NesLitt, com. Nov. 19, 1862; IIpp. sergt.-mllj., June 28;1861,
from Co. D; pro.2d lieut., April 18, 1862; app. aujt., July 27, 1862; pro.
to 1st lieut., Nov. 15, 1862.

OFFICEHS AND MEN FROM CLERMONT COUNTY.

lIIusician lIIartin Y. n. Carey, enl. July 4, 1861; died Aug. 7,1862.
1Ilusician Jolln B. Layfielu, enI. July 4, 1861; died IIIay 20, 1862.

Discharged.
lIIusician James D. Aston, enI. July 4, 18tH; disch. Sept. 8, 1862, uy order War

Dc'partment.
Com.-Sergt. Fmnk 111. Daker, enl. July 19, 1861; IIpp. from Co.F, June 28,1861;

disch. for lIisaLilit~·, Oct. 6, 1862.
lIlusician Daniel G. Dr~·lInt, l'nI. JUly 4, 1861; disch. Sept. 8,1862, uy order War

DC'llllrlml'nt.
1Ilusican Varms B. Carey, enI. July 4, 1861 ; discll. Sept. 8, 1862, by order War

Departlllont.
Musician John W. Hopper, enl. July 4, 1861; dlscll. Sept. 8,1862, Ly order War

Department.
1Iinsician lIIartin Johns, enl. July '1, 1861; disch. Sept. 8,1862, by order War

Dc'pllriment.
lIlusician Valentine l{aufman, enl. July 4, 1861; disch. Sept. 8, 1862, uy order

'Val' Depllrtment.
lIlusician George W. l\lcCllillan, enl. July 4, 1861 j disch. Sept. 8, 1862, uyorder

'Val' Depal'llIIellt.
lIIusicillu George. W. Slade, eni. July 4, 1861; dlseh. Sept. 8, 1862, uy order War

Department.
Musician J. J. Br~·lInt, elli. Jul~' 4,1861; disoh. S..pt.8,1862,l,y order War Dept.

July 6th, and on the 17th of the same month was engag-ed
at the battle of Scary Creek, in a conflict which lasted three
hours. At Gauley Bridge the Twelfth captured a large
quantity of arms and ammunition. l\~arching eastward,
it reached Carnifex Ferry, Sept. 10, 1861, and engaged in
that battle, losing its colonel, the lamented John 'V. Lowe,
formerly of Batavia, whose military career began in the
.Mexican war. The regiment was in winter quarters at
Charleston in 1862-63, and the following season was at­
tached to Scammon's brigade, scouting the country in all
directions. On the 27th of August it met the enemy at
Bull Run Bridge, as part of the Army of the Potomac, sus­
taining a total loss of eighty-nine men. Later in the season of
1862 the service was in Maryland, being engaged at Mon­
ocacy Bridge, and on the 14th of September at South .Moun­
tain, where it made three bayonet charges, capturing three
battle-flags and over two hundred prisoners, with a loss of

·more than a hundred men. On the 17th it was in the
battle of Antietam, and sustained a loss of thirty-five men.
From here it proceeded to West Virginia, arriving at Clarks­
burg October 16th, and after several attempts to engage the
enemy in tl1Ut State, went into winter quarters at Fayette
Court-House, and repulsed the enemy there May 19, 1863.
The season was taken up in erecting fortifications to
strengthen the Union lines, and in numerous raids upon
bu:shwhackers, who were very troublesome. 'It ul:so passed
the winter of 1863-64 at Fayette Court-House. leaving
that place May 3, 1864, to engage in a number of marches
in the active campaign in 'Vest Virginia, often enduring
much suffering fl'Om hunger and thirst, the rapid movements
often preventing it from obtaining a proper supply of sub,­
sistence.

The regiment was mustered out of the service at Colum­
bus, July 11, 186-1, having traveled during its term of
seryice on foot, by rail and water, a distance of four thou­
sand and forty-nine miles, and sustained a loss of killed,
wounded, and missing of four hundred and fifty-five men.
Company C was enrolled principally at New Richmond, but
many joined at Camp Dennison, and others were mustered
in at Charleston, W. Va.
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Dkd.

Corp. John n. 'Vallacl', enl. JUlie a, 1861; disch. for disahility, August, 186l.
1\Iu-ici:m Peter Llltz, elli. June 3, 18Gl; disch. fur disauility, August, 1862.
James Antrip, en I. June a, IS61; disch. for disability, Dec. 25, ISGl.
William Bellis, elll. Jnlle a, 1861; disch. fOI' disabilit~·, Feu. I, 18G2.
Leunidas Da~', enl. JUlie 3,1861; disch. fur disauility, Feu. 4,1862.
'Villillm Donahue, enl. JUlie a, 186[; disch. for disability, Aug. I, 1863.
Titus A. ElL~un, elli. Juno 3, 1861; disch. for disability, Nov. 24, 186:1.
Charles Ifrederick, enl. June 3, 18Gl; .lisell. for disauillt~·, July 1, 1862, at Cin­

cinnati, Ohio.
}'rt!llerick Fisher, enl. June 3, 1861; disch. for disauility, July, 1862, at Cincin-

nati, Ohio.
"'iIIillm GI'ove, enI. Jnlle 3, 1861; disch. for disauility, Dec. 2;;, 186l.
•Jacou Gaits, elli. June 3, 1861; disch. for disability, Dec. ao, 1862.
G('orgo Hersh, ell!. JUliO a, 1861; disch. for disahilit~·, JIUl. 12, 186:1.
William lIu1schult, enl. June 3, 1861; disch. for disauility, July 18,1862, at

Cillcillnati, O.
Douj;hty Jones. ellI. June 3, 1861; (lisch. Dl'c. 28, 1862, for woullds received at

hattltl of Bull RUII Bridgo, Aug. 27, [862.
}'rederick Kern.\I·, PilI. June 3, 1861; disch. for disauility, Dec. 25,1861.
Samud Kritf, eni. JUlie 3, IS61; disch. from hospital, JUlie, 1861,-term of ser-

vice expired.
John 1\IcXair, eni. June 3, 1861; di~ch. for dis:LLilit,)·, Feb. 9, 186:1.
'Villilllu D. lIIatson, elli. Jnlle 3,1861; disch. for disahility, Dec. 21>, 1861.
Marion l\IcDonald, enl. Jllne a, 1861; disch. March 27, 186a, fur wounds re-

ce.h·ed at South Mountain, Sept. 14,1862.
John Os"ir, enI. June 3,1861; disch. for llisahillty, Septl'mber, 1862.
Charles Uichey, enl. .June 3, 1861 ; disdl. for disahility, Dec. 2;;, 18tH.
}'mncis Shuman, enl. June 3, 1861; disch. for disuuility, Janullr~', 1862, at Cin­

cinnati,O.
Samuel A. West, enI. JUlie 3,1861; disch. Aug. 28, 1862, to accept commission ILS

1st Iieut. of Co. n; afterwards, ill 1865, pro. to Iieut.-col. in 79th O. V. I.
Nicholas White, enl. Jnne> 3,1861; disch. for disauility auout August, 1863.
Juhn Wahl, enl. Jlllte 3,1861; disch. fordisauility, Feb. 1, 1862.

TraIlRjt'rTecl.

Sergt. Thomas A. Sanders, enl. June:l, 1816; appointed 1st sergt., Co. C, Sept. 7,
186:!; rl'-enl. and tmns. to Co. C, 2:ld Hegt. O. V. V. I., JUly 1, 1864.

Sergt. George 'V. Jackson, eni. June 3,1861; vet. vol.; trans. to Co. C, 23d Regt.
O. V. Y. I., Jnly 1,1864.

Sergt. Juhll Willners, enl. July I, 1864; Yet. vol.; trans. to Co. C, 23d Regt. O.
V. V. I., July 1,1864.

Sl'rgt. ZPIIO II. 8cott, enl June 3, 1861; vet. yo1.; trans. to Co. C;23d Rl'gt. O.
V. V. I., July 1, 1864.

Corp. Sanfurd Kellum, enl. June 3,1861; disch. and com.2d Iieut. ill O. V. I.,
Nov. 18, 1861; res. nnd re-enl. Aug. 27, 1862; appoil1ted curp., Oct. 18,
186~; trans. tu Co. C, 2:3d ltc·gt. O. V. V. I., July 1,1864.

Corp. l\Iarion Bannisler, en I. June 3,1861; vet. vol.; tmus. to Co. C, ~3d Regt.
O. Y. V. I., July 1,1864.

Corp. Thomllsl\L Gwinll, eul. June 3, 1861; Yet. vol.; tmns. to Co. C, 23d Hegt.
O. Y. V. I., July I, 1864.

Corp. Andrew J. l\Ieguire, eni. JunA 3, 1861 ; Yet. vol.; trans. to Co. C. 23d Regt.
O. V. V. 1., July 1, IS64.

James D. Austin, elli. I,'eu. 2-1, 186t; recruit; tmns. to Co. C, 23d Regt. O. Y.
V. I., JUly 1,1864; wounded in uolttle near Lynchuurg, JUlie 18,1864;
in hospit:lI.

Samuel Cruwford, elll. JUlie 3,1861; vetemn Yolunteer.
Samuel Decker, cuI. Dec. 24, 1864; recruit; trans to 23d Re~t. O. V. V. I., July

1,1864, and assigned to Co. C, 23d R..;;t. O. V. I.
William Gwinn, enI. Jan. 12, 1!!64; recruit; trans. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. J., July

1, 1864, llud lIssigned to Co. C, 23d Rt·gt. O. V. I.
lIanson L. Gwinn, enl. lIIarch 7, 1861; rpcruit; trans. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I.,

July 1, 18G4; assigned to Co. C, 23d Regt. O. V. I.
Lewis Gan~er, enl. JUlie a, 18lH ; vet. vol.; tnms. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I., July

I, 1864; lISSiglll'd to Co. 0, 2:1d R,·gt. O. Y. I.
Josinh J. Higbee>, enl. Aug. 27, 1861; rl'cruit; trans. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I.,

Jul~'l, 1864; assigned to Co. C, 2:3d Regt. O. Y.1.
l\Iilton K. Ismel, enl. June :1,1861; Yet. yol.; trans. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I., July

I, 1864: lIssigned to Co. C, 2:3d Regt. O. V. I.
l\Iahlon (B.) ,JUlies, elli. June 3,1861; Yet. \'01.; trans. to 23d Regt. O. Y. V. I.,

July 1,1864; assi~n..d to Co. C, 2:ld Re~t. O. V. I.
Samuel Killinger, eni. .June 3,1861; vet. yol.; trans. to 23d Regt. O. V. +. I.,

Jnly I, 1864; aSlligned to Co. C, 2:3tl Hegt. O. V. I.
EdwlIrd M. Killg, enl. June 3,1861; vet. \'01.; traIlS. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I.,

July 1,1804; llssigned to Co. C, 23d Hegt. O. V. I.
'Monis Lust', l'III. June 3,1861; vet. yol.; trans. to 23d Hegt. O. V. V. I., July

1,1864; assigned to Co. C, 23d Hl'gt. O. V. I.
,ThoDlllS Leonard, ell!. June 3,1861; vet. vol.; tmns. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I.,

July I, 1864; assigned to Co. C, 2:3d O. V. I.
Stephen K. 1\linshall, eni. JUlie 3, 1861; vet. vol. j traM. to 23d Regt. O. V. Y. I.,

July I, 1864; assigned to Co. C, 2:3d Hegt. O. ". L
Davi,I1\IcCartel', enl. June:l, 1861; vet. vol.; tmns. tl) 2Jd Regt. O. V. V. I., July

I, 18&1; I\..-s:glled to Co. C, 23d negt. O. V. I.
George Mergle, eni. June 3,1861; Yet. vol.: trans. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. 1.,July

I, ISG4; lISSiglll'd to Co. C, 2311 negt. O. V. I.
Charles McMath, enl. Jan. 12, 18G4; recruit; tmns.-to 23d Rogt. O. V. V. I., July

1,1864; assigned to Co. C, 23d Regt. O. V. I.

Hugh lIIcC'Lhe, enl. Feb. 27, 186 ~; recruit; tmnll. to 23d R~gt. O. V. V. I., July
1,1864; llSsignell to Co. C, 2:3,1 Regt. O. V. I.

Joseph Plank, elli. June 3,1861; vot. vol.; trani. to 'lId Regt. O. V. V. I., July
I, 1864; assigned to Co. C, 2:3,1 Rl1gt. O. V. I.

Gt'orge Will. Slade, enl. Foh. 2t, IS6t; recruit; tmnll. to 23d Regt. O. V. V. I.,
July 1, 1864; assigned to Co. C, 2:3d Regt. O. V. I.

CO~IPANY K.

Capt. James Sloane, com••Tlme 19, 18Gl; res. Nov. 25, 186l.
lilt Liout. William P. Cowne, com. JUlie 19, 1861; res. Oct. 21>, 1861.
Corp. S~'lvan Cux, eni. Ju~c 19, 1861; pI'''' to corp., Aug. 2:1, 1862.
1\Iusician Charles W. Jones, enl. June 19, 1861•
Armstrong narker, eui. Juno 1!l, 18Gl; pru. from corp. to sel·gt., Jan. 9,1862.
Theudore K. Church, enl. Jllne l!l, 1861.
Tholllas J. ClIlIlpton, enl. Juue 19, UliH.
Sallluel B. Chapman, elll. June 19, 1861.
William D. Duckwall, eni. June 19, 18(;1.
Willard J. J.;,ldingtoll, p.nl. June 19, 1861.
SILlllllel Jolly, eni. June 19, 1861.
Amoricus K"Js, enl .•Julle 19,1861.
Belljamin F.I'atleu, eni. June 19, 1861.
Rice Smith, eni. Juue 19, 1861; sick in hosp. at Gallipolis, Ohio.
J'lcob SIIlLCk, enl. June 19, 1861; sick in hosp. at Gallipolis, Ohio.
Lewis SchllielJCI, enl. Juue 19, 1861; wounded at Lyuchl.mrg, Va., Juno 18,

- 1864; in h,,,p. at Gallipolis, Ohio.
Eugene StaLler, eni. June 19, 1861.
Jll.sper 1'. Shannon, elli. June 19,1861.
Da\'id 111. 'l'aJlor, eni. June 19, 1861.
n ..ujamin F. Vauce, enl. Juue 19, 1861; wountle<land taken prisoner at Cloyd

1\Iountain, Va., l\Iay 9, 1864.
l\Iichael Vail, BUI. June 19, 1861; wounded and takeu pris()ner at Cloyd Moun­

tain, YIL., 1\Iuy 9, 1864.
David 1\1. Wood. eni. June 19, 1861; sick in hospital at Gallipolis, Ohio.
Augustille Washhurne, elli. JUlie 19,1861; wounded and tuken prisoner at Cloyd

Mouutain, Va., MllY' 9,1864.

Killed ill Action.

Sergt. Edmund L. Hughes, eni. Jun!' 19, 1861; killed at South Mountain, lId .,
Sept. 14, 1862; pro. to sergt., Ma~' I, 1862.

Ezekiel Hirons, eni. JUlie 19, 1l!61; killed at CloJd 1\fountain, Va.,1\Iay 9,1864.
Cornelius McGuire, elli. June 19, 1861 ; killed at South Mountain, Md., Sept. 14,

1862.
Thomas J. Murrell, eni. Jllne 19, 1861 ; killed at Carnifex Ferry, Va., Sept. 10,

1861.
John Stmtton, eni. June 19,1861; killed at Antietam, 1\1<1., Sept. 17, 1862.
Thomall Stoneslreet, eni. Juue 19,1861; killed at South Mouutain, lId., Sept.

14,1862.
Andrew D. WhiUellmeJer, killed at South Mountaill, lId., Sept. 14, 1862.
Francis M. Wood, killed at CloJd Mountain, Va., May 9, 1864.

EIGHTEENTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

COMPANY E.

William Miller, enI. Aug. 30, 1862; 1\1. O. C., June 10, 1865.
John W. I'ra~', eni. Sept. 1:1, 1862; 1\1. O. C., Jnne 10, 1865.
Dalliel Reed, enl. Sept. 4, 1862; 1\1. O. C., .June 10,1865.
1\Iartin Reed, eul. Sept. 6, 1862; 1\1. O. C., June 10, 1865.

T1VENTY-THIRD OHIO .vOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

COMPANY C.

Lieut. FnLllcis M. Kelly, com. Muy 20, 1861; pro. to sergt., June 17,1862; to
first ser~t., April 8, 1863; to 2d lieut., July:!, 1864.

William GWJnn, enl. Jan. 12, 186-1.
Charles lIIcl\lath, Jan. 12,1864.
George W. Slade, elli. Feb. 24, 1864, as vetemn volunteer.
James O. Aston, enl. Feb. 24, 186!, as veteran volunteer; in hospital at Camp

Dlmuison, Ohio.
Samuel Decker, ('ni. Dec. 24,1863; missing in action at Cloyd Mountain, Va.,

M,lY 7, 1864.

Charles C. Hanna, eul. Jan. 12, 1864; died of wounds received in action at CloJd
1\lountain, Va., May 9,186'1,.

TWENTY·SEVENTH OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTRY.

This regiment was organized at Camp Chase, in August,
1861, of companies from all. parts of the State, Company
K bcing from Clermont and Brown.. On the 20th of the
month the regiment started for Missouri, and soon after
went to the assistance of Col. Mulligan, at I.Jcxington.
Then it was engaged in the movements in the campaign
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against Gen. Price, arnvmg at St. Louis, Feb. 20, 1862.
It was in the movement against New Madl'id, Island No.
10, Fort. Pillow, and formed the left of Halleck's army at
Corinth, and in the siege acquitted itself bravely. That
year it remained at Corinth, although often being en­
gaged in rapid marches against the enemy that season and
the following winter, the exposure decimating its ranks
more than the bullets of the enemy. Then the movement
was made towards Memphis and Pulaski, the regiment
making many and rapid marches.

The Twenty-seventh Regiment was re-enlisted as vete­
rans, and became a part of the Fourth Division, Sixteenth
Army Corps. On the 1st of May, 1864, the division moved
from Decatur towards Atlanta, and on the 22d of July the

- regiment was engaged in one of' the severest battles before
that place. After pursuing Hood northward the regiment
marched with Sherman to the sea and through the Caroli­
nas; was in the grand review at Washington; then pro­
ceeded to LOUIsville, and received its final discharge at Camp
Dennison in July, 1865.

OFFICERS AND MEN FROM CLERMONT COUNTY.

C01lIPANY K.

Capt. William Feeney, com. Aug. 15, 1861; disch. by reason of expimtion of
term of service, Aug. 20, '1864.

1st Lieut. George McDonough, com. Aug. 15, 1861; res. March 27, 1862.
2d Lieut. John V. Shrofe, com. Aug. 13, 1861;' res. June 26, 1862.
Ser~t. WilliaDl R'l\Iooreheatl, enl. Aug. 13, 1861; must. out at Columhus.
Sergt. Tbolllas G. Smith, enI. Aug. 13, 1861; pro. to sergt., June 1, 1864.
Corp. Pleasant 1II. Hutton, enI. Aug.- 13, 18lil; pro. to corp., Jan. 4, 1864; to

sergt., June 1, 1864.
Denjamin F. Sweet, enl. Aug. 13, 1861; pro. to corp., Sept. 1, 1864.
William E. Conover, enl. Aug. 13, 1861.
Charles II. Dennis, euI. Ang-. 13, HlG1.
James II. Elwood, enl. Aug. 13, 1861; sent to Chattanooga, sick, Nov. 12,1864.
Leopold Gardner, enI. Aug. 1::1, 1861.
William F. Ireton, euI. Aug. 13, 1861.
Denjamin D. 1Iloore, enI. Ang. 13, 1861.
FnUlcis I'obl, enl. Aug. 16, 1861.
John W. Thomas, enl. Aug. 13, 1861.
Leande,' A. Walker, enI. Aug. 13, 1l!61.
Oscar P. Walker, enl. Aug. 13, 1861.

Discharged.

Sergt. Thomas R. Sweet, enl. Aug. 13,1861; disch. Aug. 17, 1864, at Chatta­
nooga, Tenu., by reason of expimtion of term of service.

Sergt. HiIlel'y J. Walker, enI. Aug. 1::1,1861; disch. for promotion.
Corp. John D. Hawthorne; disch. at Chattanooga, Teun., ·Aug. 17, 1864; term

of service expired.
Corp. Joseph E. II. Day, enl. Aug. 13, 1861; disch. Aug. 17, 1864, nt Chattanooga,

Tenn., by reason of expimtioll of terlll of service.
C-orp. James Van Duskirk, enl. Aug. 13. 1861; disch. Aug. 17, 1864, at Chatta­

nooga, Tenn., by reU80n of expiration of term of service.
Charles I. Atkins, en I. Aug. 13, 1861; disch. Aug. 17, 186!, at Chattanooga,

Tenn., by renson of eoxpiration of term of service.
lIimm Dolser, elll. Aug. 1::1, 1861; discb. Aug. 17, 1864, at Chattanooga, Tenn.,

by reason of expiration of term of service.
Nathaniel Curtis, enI. Aug. 13, 1861; disch. Aug.17, 1864, at Chattanooga, Tenn.,

by reason of expimtion of term of service.
Ocellns Dennis, enI. Aug. la, 1861; disch. Aug. 17,1864, at Chattanooga, Tenn.,

byrellson of expiration of term of service.
David l\1c1l1ul1en, enl. Aug. 13, 1861; disch. Aug. 17, 1864, at Chattanooga,

Tenn., by reason of cxpimtion of term of service.
Artemus Smith, enI. Aug. 13, 18li1; disch. Aug. 17, 1864, at Chattanooga, Tenn.,

by reason of expiration of term of service.
AUl:ustus C. West, en1. Aug. 13,1861; disch. Aug. 17,1864, at Chattanooga,

~I.'enn., uy reason of expiration of term of service.
William S. Gllins, enl. Aug. 13, 1861; disch. July 16, 1864, at Chattanooga,

Tenn., uy reason of expirution of terlll of service.

THIltTY-THIRD OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

COl\1PANY G•.

1m L. Dunhalll, enl. Sept. 11, 1861;

THIRTY-FOURTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This regiment was organized at Camp Lucas (on the old
Olive Branch fair-grounds), in July. and August, 1861.
On the 1st of September, 1861, it moved into Camp Den- _
nison, and was therc prepared for the field, adopting as a
uniform a light-blue zouave dress. In compliment to their
colonel the regiment was named the" Piatt Zouaves." On
the 15th of the month the regiment left for West Virginia,
and ten days later fought its first battle near Chapmans­
ville. The following winter was spent in guarding the
rear of Gen. Rosecrans' army. In March, 1862, the
Thirty-fourth was ordered to Gauley Bridge, and was at
the battle of Princeton. In the summer and fall it was
engaged in an active campaign in West Virginia, often
rendering excellent service.

In May, 1863, the regiment was furnished with horses
and transformed into "Mounte~ Rifles." It now began a
series of rapid movements against the enemy, which were
characterized by many sharp and bloody fights, which were
especially disastrous to the field-officers, and much suffer­
ing was occasioned by the excessive burdens of the marches
over a rough country, where food was so scarce that starva­
tion often ensued. In July, 1864, while at Charleston, the
regiment was dismounted and as infantry proceeded to the
Shenandoah Valley. It was in the battle of Winchester,
where it lost a number of its officers, and the command
de\'olved on Capt. S. R. S. "West,. who ably sustained his
reputation as a gallant officer. On the 25th of July, 1864,
at the battle of Martinsburg, the regiment was the last to
leave the field, which it did under a galling fire. After a
number of eontests the regiment found itself again at
Charleston, and on tlle 3d of September the n'on-veterans
left it to go to Columbus for a final discharge, being under
Capt. West.

On the 19th of -September the Thirty-fourth was in
Sheridan's :f:'lmous battle of Winche~ter, being the third
time it had fought over the same ground. It suffered ter­
ribly; the color-guard having no less than six men wounded
or killed while carrying the flag; it was finally brought
through safe by George Rynell, of Company A. In this
engagement and the battles which followed the regiment
had sixty-one men killed. In other battles which followed
the strength of the regiment was reduced to such a small
number, that on the 22d of February, 1865, it was con­
solidated with the Thirty-sixth Ohio Yolunteer Infantry,
the Thirty-fourth losing its identity, and the Clermont
County men and others forming Company A in the new
organization. The consolidation took place at Cumberland,
Md., and from there the regiment was sent back to Winches­
ter, and after a short service was mustered out at Wheeling,
July 27th, and disbanded at Columbus, Aug. 1, 1865.

OFFICERS AND MEN FROM CLER~IONT COUNTY.

COl\IPANY A.

Capt. Samuel R. S. West, com. July 25, 1861; pro. to maj. in 1864; disch. at end
of term of s('rvice, Sept. 1:.1, 1864.

1st Lieut. Denjamin J. Ricker, COlli. July 27,1861; detached as llid to Gen.
Duffie, lIIarch, 1864 j pro. to mllj., Nov. 26, 1864; assigned to ::l6th Ohio
Vol. Inf.

2d Lieut. John W. Cartwright, COlli. Sept. 2, 1861; wounded at uattle of Cedar
Creek, Va., Oct. 19, 1864.

Sergt. Colnmuus P. Bennett, enl. Nov. 26,1863; taken pl'isoner at ullttle of
Winchester, Va., July 24, 1864.
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Sorgt. Andy J. T"mplo, onl. Nov. 26, 180:l.
Sergt. Aaron S. Corhly, onl. Nul'. 26. lR6:3.
Sergt. Honry B. McGrew, onl. Nov. 211, 180:l; pro. to s/'rgt., Oct. :3,1864.
Corp. Archie }>'. Light, enl. Jan. 1, ISO!; woun<1e<1at Luttlc of CO\'O Muuntain

Gap. Vu., :lI'LY 10th, aud takon pri~lInt·r.

Corp. Alvin nundall, enl. Nov. 25, 180:3 j sick in hospital at Baltimore, :lId.,
Ang. 15, IS601. .

Corp. Juhn W. N/'wman, enl. Feb.l, 1862; wOlln<1l'(lat hattI/' of COl'O lIIouutain
Gap, Va" lIlay 10, 18M, and tal;;en prisoner.

Corp. Is:ulcCulhuun, enl. No\'. 26,1863; wOllndetl at battlo of New London,
Va.; wher,-nbonts IInlolOwn.

Corp. Harry Blackburn, enl. No\'. 30, 1863; trans. from Co. H, Sopt. 3, 1864.
Corp. Thonllls A. McGrew, cuI. Nov. 25, IS6:l; pro. to eorp., Sept. :I, 180!.
Corp. Joseph D. Jotter, en1. Jun, I, 18n!; pro. to corp., Oct. a, IS001.
Corp. Christian Spressor, enl. Nul'. 25, 180:3 j pro. to corp" Sept. 30, 18001.
.ToBl'ph An<1el'6on, enl. Nov. 25, 1803.
Benjamin Anderson, enl. .Jan. 1, 186-1; wounded at battlo of Cedar Creek, Va.,

Oct, 19, 18M; in hospital at lIlarlinslJllrg, Ya.
'Villiam Brunaugh, enl. Sept. 2, 1862 j division tt-Iunstor, Sept. 9,180!.
David Brown, enl. Nov. 28, IS6a; sick in hospital in l\hu'yllLllll, Aug. 15,1864.
Benjumin Bragdon, enl. Nov. 25, 1863; tal;;cn prisoner at lJattle of Winchester,

Ya., July 24, 186!.
'Villialll H. BOl'd, enl. Nov. 25, 1863; sick in hospital at Philadelphia, Aug. 15,

1864.
Cornelius Bonlware, enl. Jan. 1,1864.
Leonidas Boulware, enl. Jan. 1, 1864; sick iu hospital at 'Vinchoster, Va., Oct.

Itl, ISO!.
William Barrett, enl. Feb. 22,1804.
Augustus Busic, enl. Feb. 27,186!; sick in hospital at Baltimoro, Md., Sept. 3,

18&1; tmns. frolll Co. H, Sept. 3,18601.
Jerry Dowman, enl. Aug. 17, 186!.
Charles Crooks, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; detached in Q.-l\1. Dept., Sept. 3, 1864; Cum­

berland, 1\Id.
George Camphill, enl. Nov. 30,1863 j sick in hospital at Baltimore, 1IId., Sept.

3,1864.
Angustus Cory, enl. Nov. 30, 186:l.
Theodore Crosby, enl. Feb. 22, 1864; sick in hospital at Baltimore, Md., Sept. 3,

1864.
:lIlilton Corbly, enl. Jan. 1,1862; d£>tachedas a scout, April 1,1864.
Jumes C. Conzens, cuI. Nov. 25, 186a.
William Dillingham, enl. Jan. 1,1864; sick in hospital at Cnmberland, Md.,

Oct. 10,1864.
'Vilion Donham, enl. Jan. 18, 18G!; sick in hospital at Parkersburg, Va., July

25,1864.
Ludwick EVllnshine, enl. Nov. 25,1863 j taken prisoner at baltic of Winchester,

Va., Jnly 24,1804.
Geol'ge Ewing, enl. Jun. 4,1864.
Alfred Ewing, enI.lUarch.8, 18M; wounded at lJattle of Ll'nchburg, Va.
James Eagan, enl. Nov. :30,186:1; tmns. frolll Co. II, tiept. 3,1864.
George Ehler, eul. Mill' 21, 18G4; trans. f!'Olll Co. H, Sept. 3, 1864; taken pris­

oner at battle of Cedar Creek, Va" Oct. 17,18&1.
William Elcock, enl. Sept. 6,1864; takon plisoner at battlc of Cedar Creel;:, Va.,

Oct. 17,1864.
Elisha n. Eppert, enl. Feb. ~H, 1864.
Fmnk }'l'OudolT, enl. Nov. :lO, 186:l; trans. frOIll Co. H, Sept, 3,1864.
Lachins C. Floro, anI. Nov. 25, 1863; sick in hospital at Gallipolis, Ohio, 1IIarch

16,1804.
Patrick Frisby, enl. Nov. 25, 1863.
Sylvest"r Fuster, eul. 1\larch 1,18601j trans. frolll Co. Ii:, Sept. 3,1864; absent,

~ick (place uuknown).
Albert Fagin, eul. Jan. 1, ISM; sick in hospital at l'arkersburg, Va., Jul;)' 26,

1864.
John W. Gillin, enl. Dec. 23,186:3.
Christopher Goodloo, enl. Jan. 1,1864.
Alausou Hill, enl. Nov. 25,1863; prisoner of war, Sept. 8,1804.
William D. !Jooper, enl. Nov. 25.1863.
DILvid Hilton, tnms. from Co. H, Sept. 3,1864.
William T. Hawkins, cuI. Nov. 25,1863; sick in hospital at Winchester, Va.,

Sl·pt. 19,1864.
neason Hawkins, enl. Jan. 1, 18M; wounded at battle of }'isher's Hill, Va.,

Sl'pt. 22,1804.
Aaron Hallfield, enl. Dec. 22, 1863.
George Hiles, enl. March 8,1864j in convalescent Camp, Charleston, 'V. Va.,

:lIay 1, 1861.
DanielllartzorI, £>nl. Aug. 5, 1862; trans. from Co. K, Sept. 3,1864, and absent,

sick (uo IJlace).
Elmol'e Jones, cuI. Jan.l, 1864 j wounded at battlo of 'Vinchoster, Vu" Sept. 19,

1804, and iu hospitul, PhillllIell,hia.
Oscar Joues, enl. Jan. 1, 1864.
Willium Juhnson, cuI. Jau. 1, 1864; sick in hospital, Winchester, Va., Oct.

19,1S64.
John U. Kirgan, eul. Nov. 25, 1863; WOUIHlcd at battle of Cove Mountain Gap,

Va., lIlay 10,1864, und taken prisuner.
AaronS.li:irgan, enl. Nov. 25, 1863; detached as nurse in hospital at Sandy

Hook, 11111., .July 2!, 18M.
TholllM Kilgore, enl. Dec. 23,1863; sick in hosPital at Winchester, Va., Sellt.

n, lli64.

Fmncis 1\1. LO(>ll~, onl. Nov. 25, 1863; in convalescont camp, CUllluerlantl, 1\1d.,
.Jnly 25, 1804.

Charles Light, enl. Nov. 25, 18G:l; detached as scout August, 1804.
D,wid Lyon~, enl. Nul'. 2;';, IS01.
Willi,un Latham, enl. Oct. 7, 1863.
l~rauklin 1,luytl, enl. Nu\'. H, 18u:3; detached as division tealllster, May 6,1864.
Elias I'OIlP. enl. Nov. 10. 180:1.
Henry Long, enl .•Jan. 1, IS6!; wounded at battle of Cove :lIountain Gal', Va.,

May 10, 18601; taken prisonor.
Edmond Lindsey, anI. Dec. 2:1, 181j3.
E,hnoIHI 1'. 1\IcGrew, enl. Dec. 2:1, IS63.
Lewis lIIoujar, anI. Dec. 2:3, 186:3.
Hiram A. lIIartin, enl. Nov. 25,1863; detached as ambulance driver Sept. 3,

1864.
Benj. 1<', 1\lcCllnn, enl. No\'. 2[" 186:3.
Floreuco 1\lcCarty, pnl. Nov. 25, 186:3 j det:ached as ordArly at brigade heall­

quarters Oct, 25, 186!.
Henry Newmau, enl. Nov. 21,1'36:1; sick in hospital, 'Vinchester, Va., Sept.

ItI,18M.
Henry I'Olter, enl. Dec. 18,1863; detached as unrse in hosl'ital, Winchester,

Va., Sl-pt. 12, 1864.
Geol'~e Rynell, enl. Nov. 25. 1863.
George Hony, enl. Dec. 25, 1803 ; sick in hospital, Baltimore, Md., Aug.1li, 186,1.
Jaml-s nl':m.
George Stralton, enl. Dec. 23, IS6:l.
Drummolltl Slade, enl. Nov. 11, 1863, sick in hospital, Philadelphia, Aug. 15,

1864.
Georgo Sprec!;;er, enl. Nov. 1, 1861; tOlns. from Co. K, Sept. 3, 1864.
Thomas W. L"e, enl. Jan. 1, 186!.
}>'I'llnklin Tedrow, eul. Dec. ~:I, 1803; taken prisoner at the battle of 'Vinchos­

tel', Va., Jull' 24, 1864.
Thomas Thompson, anI. Jan. 1, 186!; sick in hospital, l'hiladelphia, Sept. 19,

1864.
Bennett Trump, enl. Dec. 2:l, 1863.
Joseph Windsor, enl. D,-c. 2:l, 186:1.
John D. Wells, enl..Tuly 27, 1861; wounded at battle of Cove 1IIountain Gap,

Va., 1I1ay 10, 1864; tal;;en prisoner.
Silas Williams, enl. Oct. 1, 1803.
John Weel;;s, enl. Dec. 11,186:3.
John Wa!brinner, onl. Nov. :\0, 1863: trans. from Co. II, Sept. 3, 186.!.
Samuel Wise, cnl. F£>b. 25, 1864; trans. from Co. II, Sept. 3, 186!; alJsent, sick

(place unl;;nown).
'Valtor B. Eppert, ('nl. Nov. 25,186-1.
1IIarlin 1..erbeich, enl. Jan. 1, 186!; detached as bugler at Gen. Crook's head-

quarters, July 22, 1864. .
Deceased.

Sergt. Hamlin L. Avo)', enl. Nov. 25, 1863.
Sergt. Jacob Craig, enl. Nov. 25, 1863.
CUI·p. S,~muc! Drake, enl. Ifeb. 2, 186!.
George Conner, ('nl. D('c. 11,18114.
Samuel Darnes, enl. Feb. 22, IS64.

D~.cltilrlJe(l &1'/' 3, 1864.

Sergt. Joseph II. Short, Corp. John J. 'Yarren, Corp. Jacob Donham, John An­
drews, John Bnlllaugb, Benjamin Dehl'mel', Joseph Commissan, Alonzo
Duly, AllaIIl Daniels, OrhulIlo Leeds, John Hessey, 'Villiam nalls, Daniel
Sullimn, nolJertSmith, Wm. Thompson, Sam!. Vansant, George Knabb.

DETACIIl\lENT OF CO~PANY A.

Sergt. Joseph II. Short, enl. July 23, 1861.
Corp. John I. Warren, eni. July 27, 1861.
Corp. Jacob Donham, enl. July 27, 1861.
John T. Andrew, enl.Jnly2:1, 1861.
Benjamin Behymer, enl. July 27, 1861.
John C. Ilrunangh, eni. July 27, 1861.
Joseph Commissan, enl. July 2:3, U161; absent, sicl" at Frederick, Md.
Adron II. Dlmiels, onl. July 27, 1861.
Alonzo Duly, enl. July 27, 1861.
John IIessel', enl. July 27, 1861.
Orlanoa Leeds, eni. July 27, 1861.
Daniel Sullimn, enl. Jnly 27, 1801.
Robert Smith, enl. July 27, 1861.
Willialll 'fhompson, enl. Jnly 27, 1861.
Sumuel A. Vansant, elli. Jnly 27, 1801.
~eorge F. Knabb, enl. July 2:1, 1861.

THIRTY-FIFTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY..

COMPANY A.

Benjamin CUDlmings, anI. Aug. 15, 1861.

TilIRTY-SIXTH OUIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.
COMPANY A.

Capt. Thomas J. B. IIopldns, com.lIiarch·l0, 1865; pro. to sergt., Co. A, July 27,
1861; pro. to 1st lieut., Co. A, :16th O. V. C., Nov. 6, 1864; tmns. to 36th
O. V. l., Fob. 4,1865; Ill'O. to capt., CC!. A, 36th 0: V.I., Nov. 10, 1865.
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1st Lieut. Andrew J. 'l'emple, com. Marcil' 10, 1805; pro. to sergt., Co. A,30th
O. V. r., July 27,1801; trans. to 36th O. V. r., FeIJ. 24, 1805; pro. to 1st
Iieut., Co. A, 36th O. V. r., lIlarch 10,1865.

2d Lieut. Lalilyette Hawk, corn. lIIlty 16, 186,5; pl'O. to sergt., Co. C, :16th O. V. C.,
July 24, 1863; pro. to 2d lieut., lIIa~'16, lR65.

Capt. IIimru F. Duval, com. Jul.y 29, 1R61; pro. to mllj., 36th O. V. T,Sept. 7, 1862.
2d Lieut. James a. Goluy, com. July 29,1801; pro. to 1st lieut., aud ussigned, to

Co ]<" April 1, 1862.
2d Lieut. Juhu D. lIIichell, com. Ang. 5, 1861; pro. to 1st Iieut., and assigned to

Co. H, Oct. 3, 1862.
1st Lieut. John A. l'almer, com. Sept 25,1862; r<,s.•Tuno 18, 1863.
ht Liout, Augustus T. W'll'll, com. April 27, 18M; pro. to Cltpt.,lII:trch 10,1865 ;

assigued to Co. F, 36th O. V. r.
1st Lieut. JontLlhan Plltton, com. Oct. 21, 1864; trans. to Co. F,56th O. V. r.,

April 25, 1864.
2d Lieut. Samul'l W. IIarve~', COlli. April 21, ]864; trans. to Co. G,56th O. V. r.,

April 25, 1864.
Capt••Tames G. Barker, com. Oct. 21,1862; must. out Nov. 4,1864, at llIllrietta, O.
1st Sergt. Joel E. Stacy, enl. 1<'eu. 1.5, 1864.
Serp;t.•Tolm Gammous, enI. FeIJ. 15, 186L
Sergt. Henry Do I\lcGrew, en\. Nov. 25, 1863; tmns. from 34th O. V. I., June ao,

1865.
Sergt. Alvin C. BmndaIl, enI. Nov. 25, Ib03; trans. (('om 34th O. V. I.,.Tuno 30,

1865.
Sergt. ,Teremiah Unger, enI. Feb. Hi, 1864.
Corp. James R. Gharer, enI. l!'eu. 15, 1864.
Corp. Christian SIIl'esser, enI. Nov. 25, 1803; trans. from 34th O. V. r., June ao,

1865.
Corp. Thomas A. lIlcGrew, ellI. Nov. 25,1863; trans. from 34th O. V. r., June

30,11165.
Corp. Joseph D. Potter, enl. Jan.l, 1864; trans. from Mth O. V. 1.,June 30,1865.
Corp. Archie F. Light, ell1.Jau. 1,1864; trans. from 34th O. V. 1.,Juuo ao, 1865.
Corp. Henry Prater, enI. Dec. 8, 186:J: appointed corp. July I, 1865.
Corp. John Steed, enl.l<'eb. 15, 1864; appointed corp. July 1, 1865.
Corp. John Gillen, enI. Dec. 23, 186:3; appointed corp. July 1, 1865.
Teamstel' James V. Swards, euI. Feb. 15, 1864.
Josl'ph Anderson, enl. Nov. 25, 186:l: trans. from 34th O. Y. r., June 30, 1865.
Bt'nj.uuin Bragdon, euI. Nov. 25, 1863.
Willillm II. Boyd, enI. Nov. 25, 1863; nbsent at Philadelphia since Aug. 15,

1864.
Comelius Bou~wnre. enI. Jau. 1, 1864.
Leonillas lloulwarl', I'nI. Jan. 1, 1864; sick at Ciucinnati, Ohio.
Honry Bjij!lOp, cnl. Feb. 15,1864.
Willinm Bishop, enI. Fl'b. 15, 1864.
John Balch, enI. Oct. 27, 186:1.
John Best, enI. April 23, 1864.
George Brown, enI. March 9, 1865.
George Car'pent"r, enl. Jan. 24, 186,1.
Rich:ml Dudley, enI. Feb. ~5, 1865.
John W. Dudll'y, enI. Allg. 8, 1864.
Willinm piIJiugham. enI. Jan. 1, 180-1; trans. from 34th O. V. 1., June 30, 1865.
Str'phen C. Duval, enl. Feu. 15, 1864.
Ephraim DewolF, enI. Fel'. 15, 1864.
Elisha B. Eppert, enI. Feu. 24, 11164; trans. from 34th O. V. r., June 30, 186.5.
'Valter ll. Eppert, ouI. Nov. 25, 1863; tmns. from 34th O. V. I., Juuo 30, .1865.
Ludwick E\'llnshint', enI. Nov. 25, 1863; tmns. fl'OO1 :i4th O. V. 1.; June ;10, 1805.
Alfred Ewiug, enl. March 8, 11164; tmus. frolll 34th O. V. J., June 30, ]865.
George Ewing, enI. Jan. 4, 1864; tmns. from 34th O. V. r., June lIU, 11165..
Zackus C. Floro, enI. Nov. 25, 11163; sick at Claysville, Md.
l'atrick Fl'isby, enI. Nov. 25. 1863; sicl••
Albert l!'ugin, enl. Jan. 1, 1116-1; Sick at CInysviIle, lIld.
Charles Gl'iggs, enI. 1<'eb. 15, 18G!.
Goollcil B. Grub, enI. Feb. 15, 186-1,.
LafaJette Georss, enl. Dec. 23, 1863.
Christopher Goodloo, euI. Jlln. 1, 1S6!; tmns. from 34th O. V. r., Jnne ao, 1805.
Alauson Hill, euI. Nov. 25, 11103; traus. from 34th O. V. 1., June3U, 1865.
"'illialll D. Hooper, enI. Nov. 25, 1863; tmus. from ::l4th O. V. I., June 30, 1865.
'Villi/11ll P. HaWkins, enI. Nov. 25, 1863: trans. fl'UDl34th O. V.1., June 30,1865.
George Hiles, enI. !llIrch 8, 1864; trans. from :Hth O. V. r., June 30, 1865.
WiIJiaDl H. Hill, enl. l!'eu. 15, 1864.
PILtricl, lIolhmd, enl. It'ell. 6, 1865.
Elmore .Jones, euI. Jan. 1,18li4; tmns. froll134th O. V. 1., June 30, 1804.
Oscar Jones, enI. Jail. 1, 186-1; trnns. from 34th O. V. 1., June ao, 186-1-.
'ViIIialll Johnson, enl. Jan.1, 186-1; tr·ans. frolll 34th O. V. I., June 30, 1864.
AMon S. Kirgan, euI. Nov. 28, 1863; trans. froUl 34th O. V. I., June 3U, 1864.
1!'l'lLnkliu Lo)'d, cuI. Nov. 14, 11163; traull. froUl 34th O. V. 1., Juno 3U, l11IH.
Olias Luop, euI. NOl·. 10, 1863; tmns. from 34th O. V. 1., Juno 30,1864.
Fmncis 111. Leeds, onl. Nov. 25, i863; trans. from 3-1th O. V. I., JUlie 30, 1864.
David Lyons, enI. Nov. 21>, 1863; traus. from 34th O. V. I.,June 3U, 1864.
Charles Light, en I. Nov. 25, 1863; trans. from 34th O. V. I, Juno 30, 18M.
~Iartin LeIJricl., euI. Jan. 1, 18&1; trans. from 34th O. V. I., June 3U, 1864.
Willilllll Lathin, elli. Oct. 1, 1863; trnns. from 34th O. V. r., June 30,186!.
Edmund Lindsey, enI. Dec. 2:3, 186:1; trans. from :14th O. V. I., June 30, 1804.
WillialJl Lllnltester, eni. Feb. 15, 1864; trans. from 34th O. V. 1., June 30, 1804.
George Long, eul. Dec. 11, 18G3; traus. f1'01ll 34th 0, V. 1., June 30, 1864.
Jallles 11. McKee, enI.1<'cb. 27, 1865.
Hiram A. llInrtin, eul. Nov. 25, 1863; trans. from 34th O. V. r., June 30, 18q4.
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Benjamin lIIcCann, enl. Nov. 25, 1863; trans. from 34th O. V. I., June 30, 186t
Florence lIIcCllrty, enI. Nov. 25,186:3; trans. fI'om 34th O. V. 1., June 30, 1864.
Edward lIlcGrelV, enI. Dec. 2:1, 186:J: trans. from ;j·lth O. V. I., June 30, 186-1,.
Lewis lIlonjllr, euI. Dec. 2:3, 1863; hans. from 34tll O. V. r., June 30, 1864.
Allen D. Mon'is, cnl. Feu. 15, 1864. .
I'early 1". Nott, enI. Feh. 15, 1864.
Samuel n. Newton, onI. l!'eh. 15,1864.
Joscph Ormiston, euI. Feb. 15, 1864.
Isaac ·Palmer, enI. Feh. 15, 1864-.
James A. l'ope, cuI. 1I1arch 3, 1805.
Joseph l'eirley, enI. Dec. 31,1863.
Chal'les Phillips, l'nI. April 20, 1864.
Geol'ge Roncy, enI. Dec. 25, 1863; tmns. from 34th O. V. J" June 30, 1864.
Jallles lII. Ross. enI. Feu. 16, 18&1.
George Itynell, enI. Nov. 25, 186:3; trans. from 34th O. V. 1.. June au, 1864.
George W. Slye, enI. Nov. 25, 1863; trans. from 34th O. V. I., June :30, 1864.
John Stewart, cnI. 1<'eh. 2-1, 1865.
Drulllmond Slade, euI. Nov. 11, 1863; trans. from3-1tll 0: V.I., Juno 30, 1864.
Thomas O. Steed, enl. Dec. 11, 1863.
Alhert D. Shaffer, l'nl. Feu. 15, 18G4.
Sledan Sloruve, enl. FeIJ. 15, 1864-.
James R. H. Smith, cuI. lIIarch 2,1805.
William TI'ICY, enI. Nov. 25, 186a; trans. from 34tll O. V.I., June 30,1864.
Bcnnett 'l'l'Ulllp, enI. Dec. 2:J, 186:l: tl".lUS. from 34th O. V. 1.; June 30, 1864.
Franklin Tedrow, enl. Dec. 23, 180a; trans. from 34th O. V. 1., June 30, 1864.
Juseph Windsor. euI. Doc. 23, 186a; tl'llns. from 34th O. V. r.,/uue 30, 1864.
Joim WCI·I.s, cml. Dec. 2:3, 1863; trans. from 34th O. V. l., Juue 30, 1864.
Jacob Wooster, enl. Feb. 15, 1804.
William Waclls, cnl. lIlarcll27, 1861.
James V. Zollars, onI. Feu. 15, 1864.

Di.,cltal·!lccl.

Fredericl. Ilavis, enI. ,Tilly 29, 1861; disch. Nov. 6, 1861, at Lannersville, Va.
1I10ses Monett, elll. Jul~' 29, 1861; disch. Jail. 31, 1862, at Cross Lanes, Va.
Simson Del'oe, enl. July 29, 18tH; disch. Jllly 25, 18G2, at COIIlI1lIIllS, Ohio.
Church n. SeverancE', enI. July 29, l8GI; disch. July 25, 1862, at Columbus, O.
Anllrew DaYis, lIisch. Aug. 25,1862, at Columhus, Ohio.
JamE's IJuey, disch. Dec. 22,1802, at Washington, D.'C.
John Shafer, disch. June 4, 1863, at Gllllipolis, Ohio.
AI·tlmr W. Barker, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; disch. for wounds, April 24,1863, at

ColumlJus, Ohio.
Corp. Josl.'ph Dye, euI. July 29, 1861; disch.for wounds, lIIarch 14, 1863, at Co­

lumhus, Ohio.
William D. lIIcKracken, enl. Aug. 13,1862; tlisch. for disability, July 25, 1863,

at 1I1urfreesboro', Tenn.
bt S..rgt. Theodore Hoyt, enl. July 29, 1861; disch. fiJI' disability, Nov. 16, 1863,

at Copell, Tenn. .
Corp. Augustus A. Wood, enI. July 29, 18tH; disch. for wounds, Dec. 7,1863, at

GaIlatin.
Rohert N.,sselrovp., cuI. Jnly 2!J, 1801; disch. for disability, Dec. 7, 1863, at Gal-

latin. '.

Thomus T. Jackson, enI. July 29, 18G1; disch. for disability, Juno 10, 1864, at
Gallatin.

Christopher Smith, enI. July 29,1861 j disch. for disabilit~·, Feb. 29,1864, at Gal­
latin.

Eli G. Wilson, enI. July 29,1861; disch, on expiration of term of service.
Carl'. Jallll's D. Grubb, enl. July 29, 1861 ; disch. on expiration of term of ser·

vice, Sept. 4, 186+, at IIarpl'r's Ferry, Va.
Corp. Chades 1:1. Deval, enl. July 29,1861; disch, on expil'lltion of term of ser­

vice, Sept. 4, 1864, at Harper's Ferr~', Va.
Tealllstel' Ralph Crooks, enl. July 29, 1861; disch. on expiration of term ofser­

vicl', Sept. 4, 18M, lit Harper's Fel'ry, Va.
Willinlll Baruhart, enI. Jnl)' 29, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of servicl',

Sept. 4, 1864, at Harper's Ferr~', Va.
Blllljalllin F. Clay, enI. Jul~' 2!J, 1861; discll. on expiration of term of service,

Sept. 4, 1864, at Harper's Ferry, V[t.
IIltrris D"vlII, enI. July ~9, 1861 ; disch. on expiration of term of service, Sept.

4,1864, at Harper's Ferry, Va.
Silas A. Deval, enI. Jnly 29, 1861 ; discli. on expiration of term of service, Sept.

4, 11164, at Harper's Ferr~', Va.
J. L. Da\'is, enl. Jnly 2!J, 1861; disch. on expil'lltion of term of sen'ice, Sept. 4,

186-1, at Harper's l!'erry.
Heriuin E. Davis, enl. July 29,1861; disch. on expiration of term of service,

SI·pt.4, 1864, lit Harper's It'erry, Va.
Hildreth Davis, cui. July 29, 1861; disch. on expiration of term ofser\'ice, Sept.

4, i864, at llttrper's Ferry, Va.
Robert LenL1, enI. July 29, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of service, Sept.

4,1864, at Harper's l!'erry, VII.
Saluthaicl IAldcl, eul. July 2!J, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of service,

. Sept. 4, 1864, at Harper'll Furry, Va.
Heury O. lUcLure, enI. July 29, 1861 j disch. on expil".ltion of term of service,

Sept, 4, 11164,at Harper's l!'erry. Va. .,
Benjamin Nott, cuI. JulJ 211, 11161; disch. on expil'lltion of term ofsCl'vice, Sept.

4,1864, lit lInrper's Fel'l'y, Va.
Oscllr J. Oween, enI. July 29, 1861; dillclt. on expimtion of term of service,

Sept. 4,1864, lit lIlHpel"M FCI'l'~', VII.
Daniel Owen, enI. Sl·pt. 28, 1861; disch. all expil'atioll of term of service, Sept.

28,1864, at Hlll'llCr'S FerrJ, Va.
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Juhn n. Olivcr, ('nl. July 2[J, 1861; disch. on expimtion of tNm of scnice, Scpt.
4,1864, at IIILI'jll'r's }'erry, Va.

Charles W. I'I'rl,ins, ('nl. July 29,1861; <Iisch. on expiration of term of senice,
Sept. 4, 1864, at lIarper's I,'I'rry, Va.

John C. TIil"gs, (·nl. July 20,1861; disch. on expiration uftcl'm ofscnic('. Sept.
4,1864, at lIarpl'r's l'err)', Ya.

"'illinm Ho~s, elll. Jnly 2[J, 1861; disch. on ('xpiration of term of service, Sept.
4, HIM, at IIarpI'I"s Ferry, Va.

Juhn Smith, enl. Jul)' 2!l, 1861; disch. on cxpiration of term of seniel', Sl'pt. 4,
1864; at Harper's Ferry, Va.

:lIIarion H. Wincient, 1'111. .July 2[J, 1861 ; disch. on expiration of tcrm of senice,
SI·pt. 4, 1864, at lIarpl'f'S Fcrry, Ya.

Amos WiI'OIl, lIlIl. July 2[J, 1861; disch. on l'xpirntion of tl'rnl of sl'r\'ice, Sept.
01, lz'6'l, at lIarper's }'erry, Va.

lIal'dison l'llrson, enl. Feb. 15.1864; disch. for disabilit)', April 27, 1865, at
CUIllI,erlalld, :Md.

Helll')' Sl'hockl!'y, elll. Dec. 11, 1863; disch. for dimlJilit)·, 1I1ay 25, 1865, at
Cnlllhcrland, IUd.

Sergt. George P. Smith, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; disch. June 27,1865, at Cnmbcr­
lalld,1I1d.

Corp. Willeany C. Brown, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; disch. June 27, 1865,at Cumber-
land, lUd.

William 11runnugh, elll. April 2,1862; disch. June 27,1865, at Cumbl'rlnnrl, 1I1d.
Jerry BownulIl, en1. Aug. 17, 1861; disch. June 27,1865, at CUIll\'erland, 1I1d.
Willilllll Deval, ('nl. Aug. 12, 1862; disch. Jnne 27, 1865, at CUUlberla\lll, 1I1d.
Didrer Goorl'y(" enl. Aug. 12,1862; <Iisch. June 27, 181>5, at Cumbl'l'land, lIId.
Gl'orge FrollY, en1. Aug. 4, 1864; disch. June 27, 1865, at Cnmberland, Md.
Chllrles R. Stow!', ell1. }'eb. 24,1864; disch. on cxpiration of term uf SCI'vice,

Feh. 24, 1865. at Cumberland, lIId.
EZl'kiel Hob('rts. eu1. Feb. 15, 1864; disch. in compliancc with ordcr of the War

Dcpartment.
Corp. Edmoml Davis, en1. .Tnly 2!l,1864; disch. on cXl'iration of tenn of scn'ic(',

1'1areh 2U, 1865, at Cumbcrhmd, 1I1d.
Corp. Charles C. Da\'is, en1. Aug. 11,1862; disch. for wounds, Fcb. 1,1865, at

Culuml1\l8, Ohio.
Alcxanrll·r C. Dcml, cnl. Scpt. 15,1864; disch. .for disahilit)·, Junc 6,1865, at

COIUlllhus, Ohio.
Da\'is Brown, enl. Nov. 28, 186:1; disch. June 6, 1865, at Fredericl" lIId.
Thomns Thompson, en1. June 1,1564; disch. for disability, April 27, 1865, at

CUlllbcrland, 1'1d.
W. Lec 'l'homa~, cnl. June 1,1864; disch. for disabiIit)·, Junc 7,1865, at Cum­

bcrland, Md.
Silas Williallls, enl. Oct. 1, 1863; disch.1IIa~'15,1865, at Cumberlaml, 1\lrl.
Henry I,ollg, enl. Jan. 1,1864; disch. for di~abilit)·,April 27,1865, at ColnDl­

11\1s, Ohio.
James Hyan, enl. Jan. 4, 186·1; disch. 1\lay 30, 1865, at Cumberland, 1\ld.
Corp. Jim Newman, enl. I,'eb. 1,1862; disch. for wounrls, April 4,1865, at Co­

lumbus, Ohio.
Henry Newman, enl. Dcc. 23, 1863; disch. June 5, 1865, at Cumberland, lIld.
Thomas I{ilgore, cuI. Dec. 23, 1863; disch. Junc 6,1865, at Camp Dennison,

Ohio.
Sl'rgt. Colunill\ls Dennett, I'nl. Nov. 25, 186:l; disch. in compliance with order.
ltl'~\son Hawkins, elll. Jan. 1, 1864; disch. for wounrls. 1\larch 20, 1865, at

Philadelphia,Pa.
Denjamin Anderson, enl. Jan. 1,1864; disch. for wounds, March 2[J,1865,at

Philadelphia, Pa.
Jim Wagoner, enl. Nov. 25, 1863.

Trfllujerrecl.

Corp. A. W. Darker, !.'nl. July 29, 1861; trans. Dec. 10,1861, to 77th Ohio Inf. as
2d lient.

William Burlon, enl. Jnly 20, 1861; trans. April 4, 1862, to Co. H, 36th O. V. I.
Sergt. Osmer Wood, enl. Jnl)' 2[J, 1861; trans. 1I1ay 27,1862, to Co. K, 3Gth O.

V.1. .

Sergt. lIIiles A. Stacy, cni. July 20, 1861; trans. Oct. 25, 18G2, to Cu. D, :16th O.
V.I.

J('sse n. Banker, enl. July 20,1861; trans. Jan. 1, 1863, to Co. B, N. C. S., 36111
O. V.I.

Wl11inm W. Harewood, enl. Fl'b. 15, 1864; tmns. Jail. 1,1864, to Co. B, N. C. 5.,
36th O. V. I.

James A. Shl'llI'S, enl. July 29, 1861; trnns. July 19, 1864, to 1st l'tIarylal\rl Bat.
Sergt. George W. Putman, enl. July 20,1861; trans. ,July 1,1864, to Co. C, 36th

O. V. I.
A"is l!'. Stacy, enl. July 2[J, 1861; trnns. April lO, 1864, to V. R. C.
James L. LanclISter, enl. Aug. [J. 1862; trans. April :10,1864, to V. R. C.
Sergt. AlLron S. Corbly, enl. Nov. 25, 1863; tmns. March 10, 18G5, to Co. C, 36th

O. Y. I.
Wilson Denham, enl. Jan. 18, 1864; trans. :1IIarch 10, 1865, to V. R. C.
Sergt. W. K. Johnson, en1. Fe». 15, 1864; trans. March 10,1865, to Co. E, 36th

O. V. I.
Sergt. Delljamin Bragg, enl. Feb. 15,1864; trnns.lIIarch 10, 1865, to Co. D, 36th

O.V.1.
Zebulon J. Nisclon, enl. Feb. 15,186-1; trnns. Jan. 1, 1865, to Co. F, 36th O. Y. I.

Deaths.

James F. Stewart, enl. Jul)' 20, 1861; accitlentalr), shot Aug. 31, 1861,at Hughes
River, VI\.

Isaac Armstrong, ('nl. Jnl)' 29, 1861; died Dec. 9,1861, at SlIInmersvilll', Va., of
measles.

Jamcs L. Gli,lden, enl. July 29, 1861; Idlled in action, May 23, 1862, at Sones­
burg, Va.

Dojl'r B. McClnre, enl. Jnly 29, 1861 ; di('d Junc 18, 1864,at Was1lington Co.,
Ohin, of wonn')s in action.

William Tnllns, enl. .Jnly 2[J, 1861; died Aug. 10, 1862, at Mcadow BlUffs, YI\.,
of bl'llin disl'IlSI'.

Corp. Cortland Shppllard, enl. July 20, 1861; ldllcd in lIction Sept. 14, 1862, at
Soutll l\Iountain,lIld.

Corp. William Marshall, enl. July 29,1861; killed in action, Jnly 25, 1863, at .
Murfreesboro', Tellll.

Geo. W. Kicrns, enl. July 29, 1861; dierl of consumption, Nov. 8,1862, at Clarks­
burg, Ya.

lIJartin Miller. enl. Jul)' 2!l, 1861; drown!'rl S!'pt. 12, 1862, at Alexnndrin, Va.
I'erll'y J. Nl'sselroad, enl. Jnly 2[J, 1861 ; ldlled in action, Nov. 25,1S63,lIt Chat­

tanooga, Tenn.
lIenry Ripley, enl. Jal)' 29, 1861; 1,ilJed in nction, Nov. 25, 1863, at Chatta­

nouga, 'renn.
Corp. W. U. 'l'hornburg, enl. July 20, 1861; killed in action, June 18, 1864, at

L)'llcht'urg, Va.
John A. Ladrl, enl. Aug. 12, Ul62; died Dec. 13, 186.1, at Chattanooga, T,·nn., of

wounds received in action.
Corp. Alhert Henton, enl. Aug. 7, 18G2; killed in action, Sept. 3, 1863, at Derry­

"ilI!', Ya.
Daniel R. no~s, enl. Sept. 28, 1861; died Dec. 12, 18G2, at Snmmersvillc, Va., of

m!'lIslcs.
Lymon D.l'earow, elll.l!'eb. 15, 186-1; killed by guerrillas, May 18,186-1, in

Grpent,ri('r (;0., Va.
Jacob Youngblood, enl. Feb. 15. 18M; killed in uction, Sept. 3, 1864, at Bern­

11111, Ya.
Francis D. 1IlcCarte1, enl. Fell. 15, 1864; died Oct. 2-l, 1864, lit Florcnce, S. C.
Juhn I,ivillg, onl. }'eb. 15, 1864; killed inaction, Oct. l[J, 186t, at Cedar Creek,

Va.
Corp. David Cor)', enl.lIIarch 25, 186-1; killed in action, July 2,1, 1864, at Win­

ch!'stl'r, Va.
William Elcool,. cnl. Sept. 6, 1864; IiiI'd Dec. [J, 18M, at Salisbury, N. C.
Isaac Calhoou, enl. Nov. 25, 18G:J; died in prison of wounds, March 0, 1865, at

Danville, Va.
Samuellllellcralf, enl. Oct. 26, 1864; died at Staunton, Va., Jan. 9, 1865.
Willialll Ladd, en1. Aug. 12, 1862; died in rebel1lrison (dato unknown).

COllIPANY G.

.Tumes Crane, cnl. Sept. 11, 1862; missing iu action (no cause given).

THIRTY-NINTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANT RY.

This regiment rendezvoused at Camp Colerain, teu miles
north of Cincinnati, in July, 1861, but in August moved
to Camp Dennison, where its organization was completed.
On the 18th of the month it left for St. Louis, and was the
first Ohio regiment to enter Missouri and join the forces
under Gen~ Fremont, and participated in the Missouri cam­
paign. Thence it moved down the Mississippi as part of
Gen. Pope's army, and took an active part in the cnmpaign
in WEstern Tennessee and Mississippi. The men were
often without rations and improperl)' clad, enduring grea.t
sufferings. On the 26th of December, 1863, many of the
men re-enlisted, and t11e regiment rend('zvoused at Camp
Dennison to replenish its ranks. On the 5th of May, 1864,
it moved on the Atlanta campaign, and on the march to the
sea and through the Carolinas it acquitted itself with great
bravery. The regiment was in the review at 'Vashington,
and wns mustered out at Camp Dennison, July 9, 1865,
It never was in a retreat, and served with distinction under
Pope, Logan, Howard, McPherson, Sherman, and Grant.
In the veteran reorganization it contributed more men than
.any other regiment in the State.

OFFICERS AND MEN FROM CLERMONT COUNTY.

COMPANY E.

Q.lII.-Sergt. SlIm·uel A. Hall, cn1. .July 13, 1861; llIust. as primtc iu Capt. Jen-
kins' Co. E; npp. q.m.-sergt., Jul)' 13, 1861.

Capt. John S. Jenkins, COlli. July la, 1861.
Sergt. John David, enl. July 13,1861.
Sergt. Jacob Broadwell, enl. July 13,1861.
Sorgt. William N. Chapman, enl. Jllly 13,1861.
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Curp. Frank Hight, enl. ,Tuly 13,1861.
Corp. Frallcis C. Manning, enl. .Tuly 13, 1861.
Corp. Thomas J. 1\leel,er, elll. July 13,1861.
Corp.•Tallles Hld1l1, cnl. July 13, 1861.
Corp. Johll S. I.owe, enl. July 13, 1861.
CO\·p. Sallluci F. Fagiu, enl. July 13, 181n.
Olivcr DI'own, cuI. JuIJ'1:1, 1861.
1IIelvin C. Drazier, enl. July 13, 1861.

, Charlcs Daker, enl. .July la, 1861.
Eugene Cros~, enl. July 13,1861.
William L. Coler, enl. July 13, 1861.
Charles Ellis, enl. July 13,1861.
Orlando M. Given, enl. July 13, 18in.
Johu G. Herrin, enl. July 1:1, 1861.
Samuel Hall, cuI. July I:l, 1861.
Willialll H. Johnson, cuI. July 13, 1861.
William H. Johnson (2d), enl. .Tuly 1:3,1861.
JaDles Morgan, eni. July 13, 1861.
David n. McColm, enl. July 13,1861.
Jeremiah A.. 1\IcGiII, eni. Ju1J'13, 1861.
SllnllwlMooney, cuI. July 13, 1861.
John Pollock, eni. July 1:1, 1861.
John A. neese, cnl. JulJ' 13, 1861.
Gllorge W. Stafford, eni. July 13, 1861.
John C. Still, eni. July 13, 1861.
Joseph 1\1. Strickley, enl. July 13, 1861.
George Shannon (no date).
William Shects, eni. July I:l, 1861.
John Ward, enl. July 1:3, 1861.

Discharged.

Thomas II ill, enl. July 13, 1861; mu-t. out at Chattanooga, Tonn., by r~nson

expiration term of ~ervice, Aug. 12, 1864.
William KJ'le, enl. July 13, 1861; must. out lit Chattanooga, Tenn" uy renson

expiration term of service, Aug. 12, 1864.
Frank n. Lane, cuI. July 13, 1861; must. out ILt Chattanooga, Tenn., by reason

expiration term of sl'rvice, Aug. 12, 186!.
James C. Lans, cuI. 1\larch I, 1863; must. out nt Goldsuoro', N. C., March 27,

1865, by reason expiration term of service.
John A. Settle, enl. July 1:3, 1861; must,.Qut at Chattanooga, Tenn., Aug. 12,

1864, uy reason expiration term of sen·ice.

Trall·Verred•

William Early, enI. July 13, 1861; trans. to Co. D, 39th Regt. Ohio Vet. Vol.
Inf., March 3, 186-1.

Frank 1\lanning, enI. July 13, 1861; trans. to Co. F, 39th !tegt. Ohio Vet. Vol.
Iuf., March 29,1864.

James Swenry, enl. July 13, 1861; trans. to Co. K, 39th Regt. Ohio Vet. Vol.
Inf., May 29, 1864.

Allen Temple, enl. .Tul~' 13, 1861; trans. to Co. D, 39th Regt. Ohio Vet. Vol.
Inf" Feu. 25, 1864.

I Veteran Recruit.
Aaron Fagin, enl. Jan. 26, 1864.

COMPANY D.

Capt. Chris. A. Morgan, com. July 8, 1861.
1st Lieut. Willard P. Stoms, com. July 20, 1861.
Sergt. Johu n. Ryan, enl. July 8, 1861.
Sergt. Eli G. Vincent, enI. Jul~'16, 1861.
Corp. Alfred CILrlc, enl. July 16, 1861.
Corp. Androw Vincent, enl. July 20, 1861.
John W. Andrews, enI. July 16, 1861.
James Daker, enI. July 25, 1861.
Josiah Dartlott, enl. July 31,1861.
Joseph Thnvmlln, ouI. July 30, 1861.
Frank Dowman, onI. July 22, 1861.
I'utrick O. Drien, enl .•Tuly 26, 1861.
George Denson, enI. July 16, 1l!61.
John Brooks, ellI. July 16, 1861.
Olh'er Drown, enI. July 30, 1861.
Da\'irl Carle, enl. July 16, 1861.
Natlmn W. Clayhm, enI. July 25, 1861.
Aglomah Cooley, enI. July 31, 1861.
Georgo Close, ellI. July :n,1861.
Charles Emery, enI. JulJ' 25, 1l!61.
:Fmncis F,'rn, ell1. July 20, 1861.
John Fitch, enl. July 20, 18tH.
J. Hamilton Gregg, enl••July 31, 1861.
AntolllL Gardner, enI. July 20, 1861.
Ludwick Gricss, eul. July 20, 1861.
John W. JelVull, enI. July 20,1861.
Thomas A. Hays, enI. July 20, 1861; app. corp. Juue 3, 1865.
'VilIlulll Houson, enI. July 20, 1861.
Jallles Hnnter, enI. JuIJ' 20, 1861.
Jasper Keelor, euI. July 20,1861.
John Llmgsdon, euI. July 20, 1861.
John Lnngan, enI. July 2U, 1861.
Jacob Lano, onl. July 15, 1861.

Joseph Marsh, enI. .July 30, 1861.
.Tohn 'V. ]hsterson, enI. July :10, 1861.
WilIiulll 1\(ay, enI. July 8, 1861.
John 'V.1\[iIIcr, enl. July 25, 1861.
NILthaui('1 Netterfield, cuI. JUly 15,1861.
Henry Peck, llnI. July 15,1861.
David F. Silver, enl. Jnly 31, 1861.
Florence L. Simpson, CIII. July aI, 1861.
Jumes Smith, enI. July 20, 1861.
Denjamin Smith, enI. July 20, 1861.
JILCOU Spinning, enI. July 20, 1861.
JalllCS TILte, cuI. July 26, 1861.
Isaac Taylor, enl. July 12, 1861.
Homer Turrell, enI. July 30, 18tH.
John Tillks, ellI. July 20, 1861.
Andrew Wachsleter, enI.,July 8, 18Gl.
Oscar Warwick, elll. July 28,1861.
Rohert 1\1. C. 'VILtson, elll. July 31,1861.
Frederick IIoCSlnan, eDI. July 31, 1861.

FORTY-EIGHTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

The regiment was organized at Camp Dennison, Feb.
17,1862, and shortly after reported to Gen. W. T. Sher­
man at Paducah, but soon passed on to Pittsbt.Irg Landing,
disembarking there on the 19th of l\-Iarch. It participated
in the battles there, losing about one-third of its members.
It was among the first to enter the rebel works at Corinth j

was with Sherman up the Arkansas River. At Vicksburg
and at Jackson it performed a prominent part. The Forty­
eighth, now a mere remnant, was captured at Sabine Cross­
Roads, and was not exchanged until October, 1864. After­
wards most of the men re-enlisted, and "the regiment shared
in the capture of Mobile, and at the close of the war was
in Texas. It was mustered out of the service in l\'Iay,
1866.

OFFICERS AND :MEN FROM CLERMONT COUNTY.

COMPANY G.

Chlistian Burkhnrt, enI. Nov. 14, 1861.
'Vesley A. Coombs, enI. Nov. 20, 1861.
William E.' Couard, enI. Nov. 20, 1~61.

Peter A. Deller, cuI. Nov. g, 1861.
DILVid Dutcher, enI. Nov. 9, 1861.
Thcodorll n. David, enl. Nov. 9, 1861.
Addison Glancy, enl. Nov. 19, 1861.
Jalllos Hair, elll. Nov. 19, 1861.
Elliot E. Leming, enI. Nov. 15, 1861.
SaDluel S. Loug, cnI. Nov. 15, 1861.
Willialll C. Longley, enl. Nov. 15, 1861.
David lIIurph~', enI. No\'. 4., 1861.
William D. lIIarshall, oul. Nov. 4,1861.
Thomas 1II. l\lcClaiu, enl. Nov. 4, 1861.
Andrew C. :nIuny, enl. Nov. 4, 1861.
JoselJll K. l\lendenlIall, enl. Nov. 4, 1861.
Adam C. McCormick, enI. Nov. 4, 1861.
1\licbael 1\1. McEntire; eni. Nov. 4, 18Gl.
Sallluel H. l\Iilton, enI. Nov. 4, 1861.
Alexander l'atterson, enl. Nov. 9, 1861.
George N. Peters, enI. Nov. 9, 1861.
John 'V. Quinn, cuI. Nov. 9, 1861.
Richard A. South, enl. Nov. 14, 1861.
Zedekiah Soutb, enI. Nov. 14, 1861.

C01\lPANY H.

Corp. Aloxander Troy, enI. Sept. 19, 1862; trans. from Co. B, Jan. 1, 1862.
EzeltiellIal'old, ellI. Sept. 19, 1862; trans. from Co. K, Jan. 1, 1862.

COMPANY K.

Corp. Brinton C. Dourne, onI. Scpt. 19, 1861; priv. at onI.; pro. Nov. 25, 1861.
Corp. Andrew M. Copper, enI. Oct. 16, 1861; priv. at enl.; pro. Nov. 25, 1861.
:nIusician John Morris, onI. Sept. 19, 1861; priY:at enI.; pro. Nov. 25, 1861.
Jerry Alcorn, enl. SOIIt. 19, 1861.
lIenl'y L. Dolingor, CUI. Sept. 19,1861.
Smith Brown, enl. Sopt. 19, 1861.
Waltol' F. ChatIln, enI. Sopt. 19, 1861.
Elias COllover, enl. Sept. HI, 1861.
Willialll Cook, eni. Sept. 19, 1861.
Ezeldel Harrold, enl. Se}lt. 19, 1861.
Walter G. Jcll'rics, enl. Sept. 19, 1861.



212 HISTORY OF CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO.

WiIlinll1 II. I~not, pnl. Sppt. 19,1861.
John C. Unn)'an, enl. Sopt. 1!J, 1861.
'l'hOIlIlIS Short, enl. SI·PI. HI, 1861.
WillinUl Sheck, enl. Sept. 1!J, 1861.
U:lnuolph Smith, enl. St·pt. l!J, 1861.
John W. Troy, enl. Sept. 1!J, 1861.
Alexlmuer Troy, enl. Sept. lU, 1861.
JUllIes H. Tro)', enl. Sopt. 19, 1861.

FIFTIETH OUIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This organization was recruited from the State at large,
and was formed into a regiment at Camp Dennison, Aug.
27, 1862. On the first of the following month it went to
the defense of Cincinnati in the Kirby Smith raid. From
this on it was active in the Kentucky and East Tennessee
movements, which necessitated long and wearisome marches.
In May, 1864, the regiment became a part of the army
which moved against Atlanta, and was in line of battle
almost continually. It was at Dallas, New Hope Church,
Lost Mountain, Pine Mountain, Kenesaw, Culp House,
Chattahoochie, Atlanta, Jonesboro', and other places, and
had its ranks fearfully thinned. It pursued Hood, and
was in the campaigns which followed his northward move­
ment, again I08ing many men. At Columbia the Nincty­
ninth Ohio was consolidated with it, the Fiftieth having
at this time only about one hundred men. It accompa.nied
the Twenty-third Corps to the East viti Cincinnati and
\Vashington City, to Wilmington, N. C., Kingston, Golds­
boro', and was mustered out at Salisbury in June, 1865.
On the 17th of July it arrived at Camp Dennison, where
it was paid and discharged.

OFFICERS AND MEN FROJ.\! CLERMON T COUNTY.

CO~IPANY G.

CUllt. Ehnor W. Williams, com. Ang. 24,1864; appointed 2u lieu!. Co. D,50th
O. V. I., Aug. 27,1862; pro. to 1st Iiont., Oct. 8,1862; pro. to Cllpt., Ang. 2-1-,
18M.

Cupt. James W. Cahill, com. Aug. 26, 1862; appointed capt. uy Governor of Ohio,
Aug. 26,1862; resigned Jnly 1, 1864.

1st I,ient. Daviu II. Robinson, com. Dec. 10, 18(;,1; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to
Wth O. V. I., Dec. 31, 1861.

1st Lieut. Anthony Alluerson, COlli. Jan. 14, 186:1 j appuinted 2d Iieut.by Gover­
1I0r of Ohio, Aug. 26, 186.!; pro. Jan. 14, 186:i.

2d Lieut. Shirley 11. COOk, com.lIlay 16, 18M; sorgt.-nmj. at enlistment; pro.
•June 16, 186-1, from ·Co. K

2d Lient. :lIIarlin V. B. Littlo, t·OIll. JlIlI. 14, ]8G3 jIst sergt. at enlistment j pro.
Jlln. 14, 18G:l; resignedllIay 17,1864.

1st Sergt. Imas C. 8tanclift, 9nl. Aug. 14, 1862; sergt. at enlistment; pro. to 1st
serg!., Ang. 5, ]864; sick at Wheeling, W. VII.

Sergt. Wilson .Johnson, enl. Aug. 6,1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. 1. 10 50th O.
V. I., Dec. :31, 1864.

Sergt. AlexlIlIller It.1\IcCoy, enI. Aug. 5, 1862; traus. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th
O. V. I., Dec. 31, 1864.

Sergt. Uollisoll F. Leffingwell, enl. July 8, 1862 ; trans. frolll !l!Jth O. V. I. to 50th
O. V. I., Dec. :31, 1864.

Sergt. John Duncan, ('nl. Ang. 15,1862; corp. at enlistment; pro. Jan. 1,1863 j

paroleu pri:;oner.
Corp. Clinton Arnold, enl. Aug. 5, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. 1. to 50111 O. V.

I., Dec. 31, 1864.
Corp. William R. Undsey, enI. Aug. 8, 1862; appointed corp., Aug. 26, 1862.
Corp. George Conner, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; appointou corp., Aug. 26, 1862; sick in

hospital, Na.~hvilJo,Tenn.
Corp. lIenry Helmering, enl. July 29, 1862; appointed corp., Aug. 26,1862.
Corp. Henry :Furhman, onI. Aug. 6, 1862; trans. from 9!lth O. V. 1. to 50th O. V.

1., Dec. 31, 1864.
·Corp. Euward W. Laru(', enl. Aug. 2,1862.
Corp. Philip lIarnen, enI. Aug. 11, 1862; pro. to corp., Dec. I, 18(;.1.
Wllgoller ISfllt'1 Downing, enl. Aug. 5, 1862; trans. from !l!Jth O. V. I. to 50lh

O. V. I., Dec. 31,1864.
William Aubert, enl. July 24, 1862; trans. frolll !J!lth O. V. I. to 50th O. V.!.,

De~. 31, 1864.
James f,. Allen, pnl. Aug. 5, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V.·I. to 50th O. V.!.,

Dec. 31, 1861. •

Alpheus Allgirf', enl. Aug. 6, 1862; trans fl'om !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,
Dec. 31,1864; paroled prisoner.

John BeYington, enl. Aug. 2,1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,
Doc. :31, 1864.

Emanuel Bryan, cuI. Aug. 6, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,
Dec. :n, 1861.

Willillm E. Bnrk, pnl. Aug. 5, 1862.
};nos Bryl\ll, enl. Aug. 4,1862.
William Bdlymor, enl. Aug. 6, 1862.
William Burkhal't, ('nl. Aug. 6, 1862; a paroled prisoner.
1,'red.. rick Bowen, eul. Ang. 21,1862; II paroled prisoner.
Uobert Boyer, enl. Aug. 21, 1862; n paroleu prisonel'.
Solomon Beh)'lI\cr, en!. Aug. 16, 1862; in hospitlll, Camp Dennison, Ohio,

wounded.
Alcxandl'1' W. Conner, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O.

V. r., Dec. 31,1864.
George W. Cable, enl. Aug. 3, 1862; tnllls. from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dl'C. :n, 1864. .
William 1\1. Clouse, onl. Aug. 2, 1862; trans. frolll !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. :n, 1864.
Charh's W. Carpenter, ellI. Aug. 7, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V.

I., Dec. :11, HiM.
Uun)'an Day, enl. Aug. 6, 1862.
Thomas B. Day, enl. Aug. 11, 1862.
Alltert Day, enl. Aug. 5, 1862.
Edwin Evanshine, elll. Aug. 15, lR62; a paroleu prisoner.
George W. Exline, onl. Aug. a, 1862 j trans. from !l9th O. V. J. to 50th a. V. I.,

Dt·e.31, 186-1.
Louis E)'ijonlmch, enl. Jul)' 30,1862; tnms. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. 31, 186·t .

Bonjamin Fish..r. enl. Aug. 6, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,
Drc. :1I, 1864.

Willium Foster, enl. Aug. 4, 1862; trans. from 99th O. V. 1. to 50th O. V.!., Dec.
31,1864.

Benjamin l~jg;;ins, enl. Aug. 2, 1862 j in hospital, Nasbville, Tenn.
John W. Fouts, enl. Aug. 2, 1862.
James 111. FolliS, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; a paroled prisoner.
Gl'orge W. Gamute, enl. Aug. 5, 1862; trans. from !J9th O. V. 1. to 50th O. V. I.,

Ilt'c. :n, 1864.
Georgo Gro"es, enl. Aug. 15,1862.
Simeon IlL Hickman, enl. Aug. 5,1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O.

V.I.
Thomas W. IIirp, enl. Aug. 3, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. 1. to 50th O. V. J. ;

in hospital at Louisville, Ky.
King S. IJartzng. enl. Aug. fi, 1862; trans. f!"Om 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.;

talien prisoner at ChickanUl.uga, Sept. 1!J, 18ll:l; Ims not since boen
!leUI'd of.

John IsnH'I, enl. Aug. 6, ]862.
}<'mncis J. Jefferrcs, onl. Aug. 18, 1862.
Charles .Jt·fferr('s, enl. Aug. 18, 1862; a paroleu prisoner.
Joseph E. Johnson, cuI. Aug. 5, IS62; tnms. from !J9th O. V. 1. to 50th O. V. 1.,

. Dec. 31, 1864.
Simeon A••Jackson, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V.I.,

Dec. 31, ISli4.
S.ylvestor W. Johnson, onl. Aug. 6, 1862; tnms. from !J!JUI O. V. 1. to 50th O. V.

I., Dec. :n, 1864.
George .Johnson, enl. Aug. 14, 1862; in 110spital, Camp Dennison, Ohio.
William II. I\:rngh, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. 1. to 50th O. V.!.,

Dec. :n, 186·1,.
Jacou Ill, Knlgh, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. 1. to 50th O. V.!.,

Dec. :n, 1864.
B('ujamin }<'. Kear, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; tmns. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. :n, 1864.
Philip I{anfl1lan, elli. Aug. !J, 1862.
Edwin It. Lindsey, enl. Ang. Iii, 1862.
George W. Mortimer, enl. July 24, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V.

I., Dec. :n, 1864.
Alltert I'ierce, enl. Aug. 14, 1862; a paroled prisonor.
Elbritlgo Pierce, enl. Aug. 16, 1862; a paroled prisoner.
Willilub A. Rolterts, eu!. Aug. 5, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. 31, 1864.
Calvin Reiclmrd, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. 31, 1864.
Bonjamin Shinauery, enl. July 28, 1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. 1. to 50th O. V.

I., Dpc. 31, 1864.
Solomon Schnepp, enl. Aug. 3, 1862; trans. from !J9th O. V. 1. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. 31,1864.
NOllh E. Sutton, enl. Aug. 18, 1862.
Th~mas Tice, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Thomas Thompson, enl. Aug. 5,1862; trans. from !J!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I. j

in hospital, Cllmp Dennison, Ohio.
William G. Vail, enl. Aug. 6,1862; trans. from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.
George Wentz, enl. Ang. 5, 1862; trans. from !J9th O. V. 1. to 50th O. V. I.
Israd S. Welch, onl. Aug. 6,1862; tmns•.from 9!Jth O. V. I. to 50th O. V. I.,

Dec. 31, 1864; In hospital, Nashville, Tenn.
William White, enl. Aug. 13, 1862.
John J. Wahl, tlnl. Aug. HI, 1862.
James 111. Weadoelt, en!. Aug. 11,1862.
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Di..<cllm·geel.

Sl'Tgt. David Harnley, enl. Aug. 4, lS62 j di8ch. Dec. 31, ISM.
Sergt. Fmllcis 111. :Fagin, clIl. Ang. 5, lS6~; dis<:h. Dec. :n, l!l64.
Scrgt. Joseph Roch, cnl. Aug. IS, 1862; disch. Dec. 31, lSG4.
florp. David Oleun, elll. Aug. 15, 186~; disch. Dec. 31, lS(;4.
Willillm II. Dinldey, elll. Aug. 2, 1862; disch. May 3, 1865.
George Olellll, CIII. Aug. 14, 1862; disch.•Jall. 22, 186:J.
John Crawford, enl. Aug. 7, ]l!62; disch. April 25, ]S63.
William II. Denny, elil. Aug. 11,1862; disch. API'i!Il, lS63.
Solomoll Denny, euI. Aug. 6, lS62; di~ch. Jan. 24, ]863.
l\liddleton HUJlles, enl. Aug. 12, lS62; disch. l\l11Y 3, 1865.
Edwin L. lIous(', ~nl. Aug. 23, lS62; disch. 1IIIly 3, ISIl5.
Oscar L. ']'owner, enl. Aug. 15, ]S62; disch. for disability, Dec. 5,lS62.
Jolm W. Porter, enl. Aug. 14,1862; llieel\. for disal.>i1ity, Al'ril24, 18G3.
James II. Willinms, enl. Aug.n, 1862; disch. Muy 3, 1865.
Charles Willet, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; disch. May 3, 1865.

TrmlRjclTcd.

Valentine I\lnmp, I'n1. Aug. 5,1862 j tnllls. to Vet. Res. Corp8, lIllIrcl. IS, lS64.
William Lillich, enl. Aug. 15, IS62; traus. to Vet. Res. Corps, 1\larch 18,1865.

[(ille,l or Dieel oj Wounds.

Levi lIaml'n, enl. Ang. 11, 1862; killed in bllttle of l!'ranklin, Tenn., Nov. 30,
1864.

William Kennedy, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; killed in vattle of Perryville, Oct. 8,
. 1862.

David Bupp, enl. July 20, 1862; killed in battle of Perryville, Oct. 8, lS62.
Sergt. Charles J. Medbery, enl. Ang. 14, 1862; died of wounds in Ga., Aug. 4,

1864. .
COIUPANY D.

John II. G1n.qgow, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; in hospital, Dec. I, 1864.
Thomas Glasgow, enl. July 10,1862.

COMPANY 1.

Corp. George H. Reese, enl. Aug. 13,1862.

COMPANY K.

Capt. Oliver S. McClure, com. Aug. 21,1862; appointed 1st lient., Aug. 21,1862;
pro. June 29,1863.

1st Lieut. Josiah 1\loorehead, com. Aug. 12, 1862; appointed 2d Iieut., Aug. 15,
1862; pro. Jan. 8, 1863; trans. from 99th Ohio Vol. Inf. to 50th Ohio Vol.
Inf., and ussigned to Co. K.

2d Lieut. Charles A. Vanderson, com. Ang. 20,1862; appointed 2d Iieut., June
19,1863; trans. to 18ad Ohio Vol. luf., June 22, lS65.

1st Sergt. John Lindsey, enl. Aug.18, 1862 ;lIlJpointed 1st sergt., April 10,1864.
211 Sergt. Joseph Chamberlain, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; appointed sergt., Dec. 18,1862.
3d Sergt. 8allJuel Losey, enl. Aug. 6,1!l62; appointed SCI·gt., June I, 1116a.
4th Sergt. George Kurtz, I'nl. Aug. 6, 1862; appointed corp., Aug. 26, 1862; pro.

1\larch 1, 1865.
.Corp. Frank Cox, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; private at enlistment; pro. to corp., Jail.

2S,IS63.
Corp. David Noble, enl. Aug. 15,1862; appointed corp., Jan. 28,1863.
Corp. Henry Fox, enl. Aug. 16, 1862; in hospital at Nashville, Tl'nn., Dec. 1,

IS64; appoillted curp., March, 1863.
J('remiuh Ammerman, enl. Aug. 8, 1l!62.
Charles Adam, enl. Aug. 6, ]862.
Simeon Arthul', enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
John C. BNllwtt, enl. Aug. 6,1862.'
Vincent Bressarlo, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; sick in hospital at Nasllville, Tenn.,

April 1, ]S65.
Alexander Burges, enl. Aug. 1,1862.
Stephen P. Blizzard, enl. Jllly 15, 1862.
William H. Child, enl. Ang.12, 1862.
William L. Coler, enl. Aug. 9, 1862.
Chal'1es L. Goodwin, enl. Aug. 9,1862.
James Johnson, enl. Aug. 2, 1862.
Joshua Julian, enI. Aug. 22, 1862; absent, sick,at Camp Dennison 1\farch 1,

1865.
Albert Kirgan, ('nl. Aug. 22, 1862; absent, sick, in hospital at Cincinnati, Ohio.
Alexalldel' McCrady, enl. Aug. 11, 18G2; absent 011 detached service 3S sllfe­

guard, at Franldln, Tenn.
Richard 1I1arsh, enI. Aug. 11, 1862.
James Prickett, enl. Aug. 23,1862; absent, sick, in hosllita1 at Newbern, N. C.,

May 5,1865.
Samuel Reddish, eul. Aug. 12,1862 j absent, sick, in hospital at Cinrinnati, Ohio,

Februar~', 1865•.
John D. Shar, enl. Aug. 22, IS62.
Peter Steffen, enl. July 27, 1862.
Simon W. Smith, enI. Aug. 2, 1862.
James H. Vanzant, enI. Aug. 10, 1862; in lJOspital, Novenlber and December,

1864.
Garret Vanzant, enl. Aug. 10, 1862.
George W. WilliallIs, enl. Aug. 22,1862.

DiIlcTtarycd.

Corp. Erastus Winters, enl. Aug. 22, 1862; discll. :l\Iay 20, 18G5, at Columbus,
Ohio.

Christian Berman, enl. Aug. 5, 1862; disch. Nov. 9,1862, at Lebanon, Ky.
'Villialll A. Baker, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; disch. Dec. 9, 186Z, at Columbia, Ky.
William Bates, enl. Aug. ]0, lS62; disch. on\vl'it of habeas corpus.
Charles B. Omne, enl. Aug. 14, IS62; disch. S~Ptembcr, 1862, by reason of

dislll.>i1ity.
James Lucy, cuI. Aug. 11,1862; disch. at Camp Dennison, Ohio, on writ of

habeas corpus, August, 1862.
David Morris, enl. Aug. 9,1862; disch. Aug. 9,1862.

Trallsjerred.

Sergt. Isa 111. Weston, enl. Aug. 11,1862; pro. to sergt.-maj.,50th R(·gt. Ohio
. Vul. Iuf., aud trans. to non-commissioned staff, Feb. 1, lR65.

Peter F. Pechney, enl. Aug. 20, IS62; pro. to sergt.-mllj., 50th Regt. Ohio Vol.
Inf., and tl'llns. to non-commissioned staff, June 15,1864.

Carlton Paris, elll. Aug. 15,1862; pro to q.m.-sergt., 50th Regt. Ohio Vol. Inf. ,
alld transferred t~ non-commissioned staff, April 10, 1864.

David H. Cowpn, enl. Aug. 22, 1862; pro. to hospital stl.'ward,50th Regt. Ohio
Vol. Inf., and trans. to non-colllmissioned staff.

Died.

Thomas Shyrene, enl. Aug. 5, lS62; Idlled at Atlanta, Ga., July 22, 1864.
John P. Daynolds, enI. Aug. 1, 1862; kille.lat battle of Fmnklin, Tenn., March

30,1864.
Peter Alherts, enI. Aug. 1, 1862; died Dec. 5,1864, of wounds received at batile

of Franklin, Tcnn., Nov. 30, IS64.
John Hahen, enl. Aug. 22,1862; died at Colerain, Ohio, September, 1862.
Christopller Hamel, enl. Aug. 4. 1862; died at Lebanon, Ky., June, 18G:t .
Henry lIibrouk, cnl. Aug. 7, 1862; dil'd at Wheeler's Gap, Tenn., Janual'y, 1864.
John Ol·ton, enl. Aug. 5, 1862: died at Louisville, KJ., September, 1863.
Jacob Denlsch, enl. July 24, 1862.
Edward Drown, ellI. July 23, 1862.

FIFTY-SIXTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

CO~lPANY D.

Joseph 1. Avey, enl. Sept. 22, 186l; disch. July 3,1865.
John ~1. Ave~', enl. Sept. 1, 1864; disch. Jnly 3, 1865.
BenjllDliu T. Cook, enl. Sept. 28,lS64; disch. June to,1865.
James Hilderbrand, eu!. Sept. 30, 1864; disch. J;I1y 3, 18&5.
Charles Jones, enl. Sept. 20, 1864; disch. Ju]y :3,1'65.
Isaac N. Long, enl. Sept. 24, 1864; disch July 3, 1865.
John Lukemires, enl. Oct. 7,1864; disch. Oct. 6,1865,on expimtion of term of

service.
Melancthon Leming, enl. Oct. 1, 1864; disch. July 3, 1865.
Britton Lemini, I.'nl. Sept. 26,1864; disch. July 3, 1865. .
John McCormick, enl. Oct. 1, 1864; disch. July 5, 1865.
Wilbur C. 1I10~'er, enl. Oct. Ill, 186-1; disch. April 1, 1865.
Oswell Sutton, enl. Sept. 27, 18M; disch. July 3,1865.
Albert Simpkins, enl. Oct. 7,186-1; disch. Oct. 6,1865, on expiration of term of

service•
Benjamin T. Wyatt, enl. Sept. 22, 186-1; disch.July 3,1865.
Henry Whittaker, enl. Sellt. 28, 1864; disch. Aug. 9, 1865.

Dieel.

Louis P. Kautz, cnl. S<"pt. 24,1864 j dipd April 21, 1865, at St. Louis, 1\10.
James C. Price, enl. Sept. :iO, 1864; died April 21, 1865, at St.Louis, 1110.

FIFTY-NINTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This regiment was organized at Camp Ammen, at Rip­
ley, Oct. 1, 1861, and the same day moved to Maysville,
Ky. After quieting a disturbance there, it went to Camp
Kenton, near Maysville. On the 230 of October it en­
gaged in a campaign in Eastern Kentucky, under Gen.
Nelson, but soon moved to r..ouisville, where it joined the
forces of Gen. Buell, who was at that time organizing the
Army of the Ohio. It went into winter quarters at Co­
lumbia, Ky., and remained there until Feb. 13, 1862.
Thence the movement was southward to Nashville, leaving
that place with Buell's forces for Pittsburg Landing. Sa­
vannah was reached April 6th, and the following day the
regiment was engaged in battle the entire day, a number of
men from Clermont losing their Iives. It was also at Cor­
inth, and marched to Stevenson, Ala. l!"rom that point it
watched the movements of Bragg, and on the 20th of
August began its rapid march northward to checkmate
him, reaching Louisville, Ky., Sept. 25th. Then came a
retrograde mo\'ement to Bowling Green, where the army
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was reorganized, and later the movement south continued
to Nashville and Murfreesboro', reaching the latter point
in December, 1862, and participating in some of the en-

gaO'ements there a number ot' men losing their lives.
0' .

About this time William F. BI'own, of Company B, while
doing duty in the skirmish· line, discovered a numbe~ of
rebels secreted in a fissure of a rock along the turnpike,
and succeeded in capturing singly a lieutenant and twenty­
seven men. For this brave act a medal was recommended.
Then came the battle of Stone River and the Tullahoma
campaign, and on eastward to Chattanooga and Chicka­
mauga, the latter battle being opened by the Fifty-ninth.
In the hotly-contested battle which here occurred the regi­
ment lost heavily, and at Mission Ridge a number were
wounded. After this the regiment was ordered to Knox­
ville, spending the winter at Strawberry Plains, enduring
terrible hardships from want of clothing and rations. In
April, 1864-, began the movement southward which culmi­
nated in the Atlanta campaign, and the regiment was en­
gaged at Rocky-Face, Resaca, Adairsville, Cassville, Dallas,.
Kenesaw, Peach-Tree Creek, Atlanta, and Jonesboro'. At
Dallas Lieut.-Col. Frambes and Adjt. l\I. J. 'V. Holter
and nine men were captured, and as prisoners· endured
much suffering. On the 31st of October, 1864, the regi­
ment was mustered out at Nashville, thence taken to Louis­
ville, where it was paid, being finally discharged at Cincin­
nati.

OFFICERS AND :MEN FRO~I CLER:\IONT COUNTY.

Lieut.-Col. Farron OlmstClI, com. Sept. 26, 1861; res. Aug. 11, 1862.
Lieut.-Col. William Howard, com. Aug. 11, 1862; major from enrollment, Aug.

11, 18li2; pro. to lieut.-col., S'·pt. 10, 1862; res. :b'eb. 21, 186:\.
Lieut.·Col. Granville A. Fmmbes, March 17, 186:l; capt. from enrollment, Aug.

11,1862; pro. to maj.; pro. to licut.-col., l\Iarch 17,1863.
Maj. Robert J. Vanosdol, com. ]Iarch 17, 186:1; capt. from enrollnll'nt, lIIarch

17,1863; pro. to maj.; res. March 8, 18lJ4.
Adjt. lIIarccllus J. W. Holter, com. Sppt. 27, 1861; 1st licut. from cnrollment in

Co. F, Feb. 10, 186:1; appointcd a,ljt., vice King, prolllotl·d.
Regt. Q.-l\I. Orlando J. Hopkins, com. Sl'pt. 26, 181H; q.-m. from cnrollment,

Jan. 8, 186~; tmns. to Co. E as 1st lieut. b)' consent.
Rl·gt. Q.-)I. Lowell II. Smith, com. Jan. 8,1862; 1st Iient. Co. E from cnroll­

ment, Jan. 8, 1862; then appointed fl·gt. q.-m.
Regt. Q.-lII. Edward S. Sinks, com. Nov. 5, 1862; 2d lieut. Co. F from enrollment,

Nov. 5, 1862; pro. to bt lient., aud appointed \"l·gt. q.-Ul.
Regt. Q.-l\I. Edwin Perkins, com. March 17,1863; primte from enrollment, Oct.

23,1861; then corp. Nov. 20, 1861 ; appointed sergt. :lIIllrch 1,1862; ap­
pointed q.m.-sergt. Jan. 1,1863; appointed colII.-sergt. lIlarch 16,18(;3; to
r!'gt. q.m. Nov. 21, 18li:}; pro. to 1st Ii(·ut.

Surg. Abraham C. McChesneJ, COIll. Oct. 24, 18lil; must. out Nov. 1, 1864.
Asst. Surg. Charles T. Wilbur, enl. No\·. 7, 1861; rps. June 22, 1862.
AlISt. Surg. Frederick SwingleJ, com. June ~2, 1862; res. Nov. 26, lR62.
Asst. Surg. Sidney C. Gordan, com. Aug. 25, 1862; lIlust. out Nov. 1, 1864.
Asst. Surg. Nathaniel J. Darber, com. Jan. 31, 1863; must. out Nov. 1, 1864.
Chaplain James Sargent, com Oct. 15,1861; res. July 17, 1862.
Clillplain John Chaffin, com. lIIarch 1, 186:l; res. Nov. 13, 1863.
Sergt.-Maj. Thomas Q. Blair, com. May 28, 186:~; private from enrollment in Co.

K, lIIay 28, 186:i; appointed sergt.-mnj., and tl'llns. to N. C. S.; prisoner
. of wllr in Georgia S!'pt. 22, 186:1.

Com.-8l'rgt. S)'I\'ester A. Frambes, com. May 1, 186:3 ; private from enrollmcnt
in Co. D, Aug. 1, 186:3; appointed com.-sergt., and trans. to N. C. S.

Q.lII.-Sergt. George M. Sinks, com. Jan. 1, IS63; prj\'ale from enrollment in Co.
II, Jan.15,IS62; appointed corp. to Jnne 1, 1863 ; then to q.III.-sergt.,and
trans. to N. C. S.

Bosp. Steward John P. Robinson, enl Nov. 12, 1862; corp. from enrollment in
Co. 1<" Nov. 1~, 1862; appointed hosp. steward; tmns. to N. C. S.

PrincipalllIusician William H. ReJnolus, enl. May 1, 186a; lIlusician from en­
rollment in Co. E, lIIay 1, 1863; appointed principal musician, and traus.
to N. C. S.

Principal Musician Mathew D. TempI!', enl. May 1,1863; lIlusician from en­
rollmellt in Co. G, May 1, 18li3; nppoillted prillcipal Dlusician, and tmns.
to N. C. S.

Discharged.

Scrgt.-:llaj. lIIichael Sells, com. No\·. 1.1861; dlsch. for promotion, lIltu'ch 4,
1863.

Sergt.-lIbj. 'I'ollins n. I.llldn, com. March 1,186:1; corp. frolll enrollment in Co.
ll; Own sergt. to Nov. G, 186'1; thon appointell sergt.-mllj., anu tmns. to
lion-com. stan'; disch. for promotion, l\Iay 29, 18r.:3.

COIII.-Sel·gt. J<:dwin Perltin", CUIll.•Jun. 1, 11:16:\; pl'iville from enrollment, Oct. 2:1,
18iH; then corp. to Nov. 25, 1SGl; then sergt. to l\Iarch 1, 186~; thon ').m.
serg!., nnll trans. to N. C. S. from Co. F; then com.-sergt., J'Ln. 1, 181i:3;
di'ch. for jlromotion, :lIarch 1, 186:3.

Q.lII.-Sergt. Fmnk White, com. Oct. 1, 1861; private in Co. F from enrollment,
Oct. 1,1861; then appointed q.Ill.-sergt., anu Imns. to N. C. S.; di:lch. for
promotion as 1st Iieut., l\Iarch 1, 186:1.

Trall~rcn·cll.

Drnm-Major Josiah A. Tice, enl. Oct. 25, 18lil; trans. to Co. II, Aug. I, 1862.
lIosp. Steward lIIarqnis D. GotT, enl. Nov. 2:3, 18GI ; sergt. from cnrollnlPnt in

Co. 1<" Nov. 2:~, 18lil; appointed hog!'. steward, and trans. to N. C. S., Nov.
12, 1864; traus. to Co. :b', Nov. 11, 1862.

PrisOllCl'S of War.

Sergt.-lIluj. Thomas Q. Inuir, com. lila)' 28, 186:l; privllte fl'om enroilment in
Co. I{, 1\lay 28, 186a; appointed sergt.-major, lUlU trans. to N. C. S.; pris.
of war iu Geol'gill Sept. 22, 1863.

Died.

Com.-Sergt. Leonard G. White, com. Sept. 16, 1861; dieu May 1, 1862, of con­
sumption, at Georgetown, Ohio.

Rcgimcntal B<I1ltl.

Am·cu Sqnires (lient.), I<'mlcr, enl. Oct. 2, IS61; must. out lIIarch 20,1862, at
Nashviii 0, Tl'l1n.

Walter S. Hinklc, enl. Oct. 2. lR61; must. out March 20, 1862;at Nashville,
Tenn.

Marcellns Hnliclt,.enl. Oct. 2, 1861; mnst. out 1\larch 20,1862, at Nashville.
Tenn.

John Latch, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; mnst. ont March 20,1862, at Nashville, Tenn.
Charles Hughes, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; must. out lIIarch 20, 1862, at Nashville,

Tenn.
Joseph N. Robbins, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; must. out lIIarch 20, 1862, at Nashvill<"

'I'enn.
Denjamin Donghert)·, elll. Oct. 2, 1861; must. out lIIarch 20, 1862, at Nashville

Tl'nn.
Elisha n. Epport, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; must. out Abrch 20, 1862, at Nashville,

Tenn.
'Villiam Gatch, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; mnst. out March 20, 1862, at Na.shviUe, Tenn.
Arthur E. l\liley, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; J;1lUst. out lIIarch 20, 1862, at Nashville,

'I'enn.
Benjamin F.l\Ioore, elll. Oct. 2,1861; must.ont lIIarch 20, 1862, at Nashville, Tenn.
Joseph Antrulll, eul. Oct. 2, 1861; must. out Mllrch 20,1862, at Nashville, Tenll.

COllIPANY A.

Capt. !tobert l\IcKinley, com. Sl'pt. 12, 1861; res. May 26, 1862.
Cal1t. John L. Watson, COlli. Feb. 10, 1863; 2d lieut. to April, 1862; pro. to 1:lt

lient.; pro. to capt.
1st Lieut. Heury F. Leggett, com. Sept. 26, 1861; rcs. April 1, 1862.
1st Lient. l\licllllel L)'uch, com. Dec. 12, 1862; trans. from Co. F.
1st Lieut. Williamllartlow, com.lI1urch 17,1863; Istsergt. from enl.
1st Lieut.lI1ichael Sills, COlli. l\Iurch 28, 18lJ4; must. as a private, Company C.
1st Sergt. John J. Washburton. enl. Sl'pt. 12, 1861; pro. Dec. 31. 1862.
Sergt. Thomas Clark, cnl. Sellt. 12, 1861.
Scrgt. Alouzo Cam', cnl. Sept. 12, 1861; pro. from corp., July 18, 1862.
Sergt. I1enrJ DilllllllU, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; pro. from corp., JulJ 18,1862.
Corp. Thomas HILJden, CIII. Sept. 12, 1861.
Corp. Clintoll 1\1. Vermillion, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; pro. Dec. 20, 1862.
Corp. William lleeker, enl. Sellt. 12, 1861; wounded at Stone Uiver.
Corp. John Chu'k, enl. Sel,t. 12, 1861; pl·O. Dec. 20, 1862.
Musician John Reese, enl. S<,pt. 12, 1861.
Musician Josl'ph Reynolds, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
'Vagouer Garrett Smith, enl. Sept. 12. 1861.
Godfrey Dirch, elll. Sept. 12, 1861.
James A. Denjimliu, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Shem.Dotts, eul. Sept. 12, 1861.
Zeno Dotts, enl. Sept. 12, 18lil.
Greens1.JUry Curr, enl. Sept. 12, 1861-
Thomas Campuell, enl. Sept. 12, 1861 ; wOllnded at Chickamauga, Sept. 19,1863.
Robert CUlllpbell, enl. Sept. 1~, 1861.
AIl'xander Case, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; missing at Jones\)oro', Ga., Sellt. 6,186!.
:Franci:l A. Drake, cnl. Sept. 12, 1861.
lIIartin J. Drake. enl. Sept. 14, 186.1; missed May 27. 18li4, at New Hope, Ga.
James English, cui. Sept. 12, 1861.
William Hall, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Hil'llm HaB, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; wounded at New Hope, Ga.
Sumueillall, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Henry Howe, en1. Sept. 12, 1861 ; wounded at Stone Itiver, Dec. 31, 11162.
John Hurdle, enl. Sept. 12. 1861.
J. K. HickS, cui. Scpt. 12, 1861.
John lIasler, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
James R. Judd, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; prisoner, Sept. 19,1863.
'I'homas F. Jones, <,nl. Sept. 12,1861. .
Edgl\f Light. enl. Sept. 12, 18li1.
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Denjamin F. Slye, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; died in Ilospital at Nashville, Tl·nn., Jan.
17,186:1.

Sergt. Eugllr Van Driggle, enl Sept. 12, 1861; dice1 at Louisville, Ky., Dec. 14,
1861.

C01\IPANY n.
Capt. Gramille A. Frnmbps, com. Sept. 7, 1861; capt. from enlistment to Aug.

11,1862; pro. to major, and tmus. to flold aud staff.
Capt. Nel~on Stevens, com. 1\larch 17, 1863; 1st sergt. at enlistment j pro. to

. capt.. lIIarch 17, 1863.
1st Lieut. Anurew D.lIlcKee, com. Sept. 7,1861 j honorably discharged; wounded

1\[ay ~!l, 1862, lIl'ar Corinth, l\1iss.
1st Lieut. Lconi,!"s S. 1\Iolcn, COlli. 1\larch 18, 1863; sergt. at enlistment; pro.

. lI[arch 17,1863.
2d Licut. William Hamilton, com. 8£'1't. 7. 1861 j resigned 1\larch 14,1862.
2d Lieut. TobilLB D. Lakin, cOUl.lllay 29, 1863; corp. at enlibtment, 1\l;ty 2!l, 1863 j

promoted. .
1st Sergt. William 111. Saint, en!. Sept. 10, 1861; private at enlistment; l\{arch

7, 186:3, promotpd; woundpd, Sept. 20, 1863, at battle of Chickamauga.
2d Sergt. Francis 111. Oxley, enl. Sept. 10, 1861; corp. at enlistment; 1IIarch 14,

1862, promoted.
3d Sergt. Joseph Day, en!. Sept. 10, 1861 j corp. at enlistment; Nov. 14, 1862,

promoteu.
4th Ser~t. Francis 1\1. IIentll'ixon, eni. Sept. 15, 1861; private at enlistment;

March 7, 1863, promoted; wounded, April 7, 1862, at batlle o{ Shiloh.
5th Sergt. Auolphus 1IIoyer, enl. Sept. 10, 1861; private {rom enlistment; July

1, 1864, prollloted.
1st COI·p. lIenry Graham, enl. Sept. 25, 1861 j private at enlistment; Jan. 17,

1863, promoted; wounded nellr Lovejoy Station, Ga., Sept. 2, 1864.
2d Corp. AndrelV J. I.nugh, enl. Sppt. 10, 1861; private at enlistment; Jan. 4,

1863, promoted.
3d Corp. James H. Hamilton, enI. Sppt. 26,1861; pril'ate at enlistment; pro­

motpd Oct. 16, 181'>3.
4th Corp. I~aac A. Frazier, enI. Sept. 7, 1861 j private at enlistment; July 1,

18M, promoted.
Wagoner James P. Dronson, enl. Sept. 21,1861; private at enlistment; April

20, 186:3,promotl'd.
Allen W. ALbott, enl. Sept. 22,1861.
Lorenzo D. Abbott, enl. Sept. 7, 1861; corp. at enlistment; reduced in rank by

his request.
Andrew J. Abbott, enl. Sl'pt. 22, 1861.
Ril'haru Applpgate, eui. Sept. 27,1861.
James C. Daird, enl. Sept. 27, 1861.
Thomas A. Derry, elli. Sept. 8, 1861.
George W. Deckelhimer, elli. Sept. 7, 1861.
James Dpckelhimel', pnl. Sept. 7, 1861.
Denton Botts, en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
WilIiaDl F. Brown, enl. Sept. 7, 1861; wounded at Rocky-Face Ridge, lIIay!l,

186!.
Nichola>! Darns, enl. Oct. !l, 1861.
Fl'llllcis H. Cushard. en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Bl'njamin F. Clark, eu!. Sl·pt. 10, 1861.
James A. Cmwford, elll. Sl·pt. 7, 1861.
Dossin Cummins, enI. Oct. 12, 1861.
1\lnl"cellus Constant, enl. Sept. 7, 1861.
Henry Dernern..~, enl. S~pt. 21, 1861.
Alonzo Ford, elli. Sept. HI, 1861.
Leonidas Fisher, en!. Sept. 10,1861.
Jo~eph Gelain, enI. Sl'pt. 1, 18Gl ; wounded at battle of Shiloh, April 7, 1862.
Davi,l Glazie'r, l'nl. Sl'pt. 1, 1861.
Dauiel lIellillgel', elll. Sept. 15, 1861 ; sent to hospital, Louisville, Ky., Dec. 5,

1861.
Nathall H. IIttstiu~s, l'nl. Oct. 1, 1861.
SaDlul'1 Huffman, enl. Oct. 12, 1861.
Elisha A. Jennings, eni. SI·Pt. 7, 1861.
Daniel Judd, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Henry lU. Langh, (·nl. Sept. 17, 1861.
Alexandpr Laugh, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Henry J. Lafield, enI. Sept. 19, 1861; taken prisoner at battle of Chicl,amauga,

Sept. 20, 186a.
Benj:unin 1<'. McKibben, enl. Sept. 19, 1861.
JIIIIll'S A. l\lcCo~', en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Thomas 1I10cldey, cnl. Sept. 10,1861.
Aaron IIIoorp, enl. Oct. 1,1861 j wounded at battle of Missionary Riugp, Nov.

25,1863; woundl'd at Rocky-Face Ridge, lIlay 9, 186!.
Georj:e W. Oxley, pnl. Sl'pt. 18, 1861.
William Planck, eul. Sept. 7, 1861.
William Redman, cnI. Sept. 10, 1861.
1IIl'shl'ch Redman, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
George C. Sipe, enl. Oct. 5, li:l61; wounded at Lovejoy Station, Ga., Sept. 2, 186!.
James H. Sipe, cuI. Oct. Ii, lSGl,
George W. Simons, enI. Sept. 10, 181it.
Josephus Vicluoy, enl. Sl'pt. 10, 1861; wounded at battle of Chiclmnmuga, Sept.

20,18G3•
William H. Wilson, enl. Sppt. 10, 1861; tal,en prisoner at hattie of Stone HiveI',

Jiln. 2,1863; exclumgl'd llncll'etllrned to dut~·, June 7, 186a.
Lafayette Young, enl. Sl'pt. 7, 1861; tnken prisonPI' at battIe of Stone River,

Jan. 2, 186:i; l'xehauged llnu returneu tu dnty, June 12, 1863.

Prisoners oj lVilr.

Aloxander Case, enl. Sept. 12, 181n; missing Sppt. 6, 1864.
Martin .J. Drake, enl. Dec. 14, lR6:3: missing 1I1ay 27, 1864.
James R. Judd, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; taken prisoner at Chickamauga, Sept. 19,

186:3.
Thomas }<'. Jones, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; taken prisoner at Chickamauga, Se!lt. 19,

1863.
Jacob RllSS, ellI. Sept. 12, 1861 ; takpn prisoner at Chickamauga, Sept. 19,1863.
Lafuyette Watkin~, pnl. Sept. 12, 1861; taken -prisoner at New Ilupo Church,

Ga., lIIay 27, 1864.

Nalty Lanham, enl. Sl'pt. 12,1861; in hospital at Louisville, Ky.
William lIIcValla, l'nl. Sl'pt. 12, 1861; in ho-pital at linoxvillc, 'renn.
Pl'rry 1IIiller, en I. Sl·pt. 12, 1861; corp. to Dec. :!4, li:l62.
William lIIorris, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Benjamin I'l'lIthl'r, enl. SPpt. 12, 1861.
Isaac I'l·ttit, enl. Sept. 1~, 1861.
Thuma.q I'lIrdy, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; corp. to Jan. 28, 1862; wounded at Stone

Rh·er. •
lIenry Rl'yllOlds, enl. Sppt. 12, 1861; wfJ1Il1l!ed at Stone River, Dec. :n, 1862.
RoLert L. R;c"ard~, ell I. Sppt. 12, 1861 ; corp. to April 11, UlG:l; then sergI.
JlIcoh Ross, enl. Sppt. 12, 1861 ; taken prisoner Ilt Chiclmllllluga, Sept., 1863.
Jospph Starks, enl. SPpt. 12, 1861.
Solomon Star!ul, enl. Sept. 12, 18G2.
Benjamin A. Smith, enl. Sl'pt. 12, 1861; corp. to June 20, 1862.
Harrison Slye, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Leonil!lls Tnston, enl. Sppt. 12,1861.
L('\\'is Towns!ey, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Eugene VILli llriggll', l'nl. Sept. 12, 1861; woundeel at Clliclllunauga.
Lafayette Van Driggle, enl. Sept. 12, 18G1; sergt. to Dec. 31, 1862.
William Vicliroy, enl. Sept. 12,1861; wounded at New Hop!', lIlay 27,1864.
Lafayette Watkins, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; taken prisoner at lS"ew lIope, lllay 27,

18M.
1Ilosl's P. Watson, l'nl. Sept. 12,1861.

D~~cltarlJe(l.

·Corp. John Pangburn, enl. Sept. 12,1861; uisch. Feb. 26,1862, at Columbia, Ky.
Corp. Sanmel ChapUlan, £'nl. SP.pt. 12,1861; uisch. Aug. 12,1864, at Camp Den­

nison.
Corp. Jackson Clark, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; corp. from Jan. 28, 1862; disch. Sept.

5,1862.
William Denjamin, enl. Oct. 12, 1861; disch. June 17, 1864, at Columbia.
Gourrp~· VhamberJain, pnl. Sl·pt. 12, 1861; disch. June 17, 1864, at Columbia.
Dlwid c.lDlpbeIl, enl. Sl.pt. 12, 1861; disch. Jnly 8, 1862, at Cincinnati.
George Corlll'll, enl. Sept. 12, 1861: disch. lIlay 2G, 186:1, at l\!urfreeshoro', Tenn.
Daviu Corm'lI, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; disch. June 16,1863, at )Iurfreesboro', Tenn.
Silas English, enl Sept. 12, 1861; uisch. Feb. 18, 186:1, at Columhia.
John English, en!. Sept. 12, 1861; disch.•Jan. Il, 186:1, at ColnmlJia.
Alfn'd Ewing, enl. Sl·pt. 12, 1861; disch. Juno 16, 18C2, at St. Louis.
Juhn N. Frazier. onl. Sopt. 12,1861; disch. April 17,1862, at Camp Shiloh.
George Jarmon, en!. Sept. 12, 1861: disch. July 2, 186:i, at Colulllhia, Ky.
Samuel Judu, ,Cn!. ~£'pt. 12, 1861; disch. Jnly 9,1863, at Columhia, I{y.
Franldin Lanham, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; disch. Feb. 28, 186:i, at Gallatin, Tonn.
Juhn 1\1. lIIilIer, enl. Sept. 12, 1861 ; disch. FelJ. 26, 1862, at Columbia, Ky.
William1\IcLefresh, onl. Sept. 12, 18Gl; elisch. Feb. 16, 186:1, lit Nllsh\·ille.
IJil'llDl Ross, en!. Sppl. 12,1861; uisch. April 17, 1862, at Camp Shiloh.
William E. Sllrgent, enI. Sepl.12, 18Gl; disch. April 17,1862, at Camp Shiloh.
ASIL Starke, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; disch. April 14, 186:3, Ilt l\IurfrOl·shoro'.
Andrew J. Wl'st, en I. Sept. 12, 18/il; disch. Jlln. 20, 186:1, at Nashville, Tenn.
Benjamin F. West, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; disch. Aplil4, 186:3, at Luuisvilll', Ky.

TrUlIRjerrell.

John Campbell, enl. Sept. 12, 1861: tl~ns. to Inl'lliid Corps in 1863.
'Varren Carl', enl. Sept. 20, 1862; trans. to Invalid Corps in 186:1.
Corp. Samuel Cunle.)', en!. Feb. 1, 1862; tl'llns. to Co. I, 1i9th O. V. I., Oct. 24,

1864.
James A. Conrey, enl. Sept. 12, 1861 ; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
Ilenjamin Dongherty, enl. Sl'pt. 1, 186:!; trans. to Drig.ule Dand, Jan. I, 186:3.
'VilIiam 13. Juhnson, elll. Jan. 27, 1863; traus. to Co. I, 59th O. V. 1., Oct. 24,

1864.
Pet"r It. Norris, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
Francis :\[. Reed, elli. Sept. 12. 1861; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. r., Oct. 24, 1864.
Isaac Williallls, enl. Sept. 2:3, 1862: trans. to Co. K, 59th O. Y. I., Oct. 21, 1864.

Died.

Willillm Carr, pnl. Sept. 12, 1861; died at Asylum Hospital, Knoxville, Tenn.,
June 19,1864.

S.)'lvester W. Edwards, enl. Sept. 12,1861; died at Rural, Ohio, Or-to 11, 1862.
Sel·gt. William P. English, en!. Se11t. 12, 1861; uied at Stone ltiver, Dec. 31,

1862.
Edward A. Frazil'r. en!. Sept. 12, 1861 j died at Bowling Grepn, Ky., 1IInrch 17,

18(,2.
William Hutchison, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; died in hospital at Nasllville, Tenn.,

Jail. 26, 1863.
•James Howard, en!. Sept. 12, 1861; diell at Chie1t1lllllLnga, Sept. 1!l, 1863.
Henlj' Johnson, enl. Se'pt. 12,1861; died at Stone RiVeI', April 25, 186:3.
1Iugh Kennelly, eni. Sept. 12, 1861; died lit GlllSgOW, Iiy., April 14,1862.
AI{red Lylln, enl. Oct. ~4, 1861; diNI at Atlanta, Aug. 1,1864.
COI·p. Willialll C. Owen, enl. Se'pt. 12, 1861; elitJllllt Stone Rivel', Dec. 31, 1862.
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Du,c1lal"!Jctl.

Gl'orgCl W. Darlgely, I'nl Sept. 18, 18tH; disch. at Cincinnati, 0., Dec. :l0, 18G2.
John Darlls, elll. S,·pt. 21, IS61 ; disch.at Xashvilll', '1'enll., Oct. 4, 18li2.
William Cllller, I'nl. S")It. 21, 1861 i di~ch. at Louis\'i1ll', Ky., Jan. 3, 18li3.
Willialll A. Dainly, elll. Sl'pt. 10, 1661 ; disch. at Nashvilll', '1'(·lIn., Se)lt. 30,18li2.
Corp. ~~'IvesterJ. }'razicr, en!. Sept. 7,1861; disch. at Columbia, Ky., April 5,

1862.
John Fhull'gan, enl. Oct. 1, 1861; i1isch. on Imttle-ficlil of Shiloh, April 30,1862,

011 certificate of disability.
Corp. Price '1'. I"ee, cnl. Sept. 10, 1861; disch. at Cincianati, 0., Jan. 7, 1863;

wolIIl(lel1 at battle of Shiloh, A)lril 7, 186:t
Seq,t. I'der W. }'isher, 0111. Sept. ~;j, 1861 i primw frolll enlistllll'nt i pro. March

14, ]8tj2; tlisch. at Calllp J)ellnison, 0., "'Ia.)' 13, ]8tH i wOlllldetlat Chick­
amauga, S,·pt. 10, IS6:1.

Thomas F"rll, enl. Sept. ]0, IS61; .Iisch. at 1Ilurfreesboro', Feb. 4, lSli;j.
Sergt. William Gwynn, enl. Sept. 10, 1861; disch. at Gallatin, Tenn., Jan. 6,

186:1.
Hanson L. Gw~'nn, enl. Sel't. 10,1861; .lisch. at Columbus, 0., Fllb. 28, 18li:3.

George W. Hellllrixou, cnl. Sept. ]5, 1861; disch. Ilt En\lls\'i!Ie, Ind., Nov. ::0,
186:\.

John ,Y. lIines, elll. Jan. 2, 1864; i1isch. for promotion to 1st Iieut. aad adjt. of
4th 1'enal'sseo Y. 1.

Hugh Jones, enl. Oct. 1, 1861; disch. at Louisville, l"y., June H, 1862.
•Tosl'ph W. Iiillg, enl. Sl'pt. 29, 18tjl; disch. at Nashville, Tl'un., JUliO 20, 18li2.
}'Ia\'ius J. Miller, enl. Oct. 8, IS01; disch. 1I0ar Coriuth, Miss., 1I1ay 26, ]862.
Hichat'll C.lIlassy, enl. Oct. I, IS61; disch. at Gllllatin, '1'oun., lIlarch 1, 18(;:3.
Jos"ph W. 1I1cFarland, oul. Sopt. 10, Hltjl; disch. at Gallatin, Tenn., 1I1ay 13,

Ujtj:\.

Gl'orge 1I1cKibbell, elll. Sept. 10, 18Gl; i1isch. at Nashville, Tenn., Feb. 2,
18(;:\.

Alexander Plumer, enl. Sept. 10, 18Gl; disch. at Colnmhia, Ky., Feb. 21, 186~.

lIIilton I'hilop~, cuI. Sept. 10, 1861; (lisch. at ~ashvillo, Tenn., !\larch ~o, 1863.
lJll\'id Sipo, enl. Oct. 5, ISGI i disch. at Lebllllon, 1".\'., Feb 10, 186~.
Aarou Stratton, enl. Od. 5, 1861; disch. at MlIrfn'esboro', Feb. 28, IB6~.
Delljamill Smith, enl .. Sept. 10, 1861 ; disch. at Leballon, Ky., Feb. 10, lS62.
S(·rgt. 'I'homll.." D. Utter, enl. ::5l'pt. 10, UHH; di~ch. June 18, lS6~.

Thumas A. White, enl. Oct. 5, IS61; disch. lIt Cillcinnati, 0., Jlln. 2, 18G2.
1st Sergt. Nelson Stt'vens, enl. Sept. 7, ISGl; disch. fur promotion, 1I1arch 14,

IS6~.

211 Sorgt. Leonilllls T. Mollon, enl. Sept. 19, 18Gl ; disch. for promotion to 2d
lit'lI t., March 1, 186:3.

Sergt. 'I'ubias n. Lakin, enl. Sept. 19, 1861; i1isch. for promotion.

1'ralls/crretl.

1I1ichllel Deckelhimer, enI. Ang. 29, 18G2; trullS to Co. K, 50th O. V. I.
Jesse O. Dar~', on I. Od. 12,186:\; tmns. to Co. I, 50th O. V. 1.
Corp. JohnII.I"ee, enl. Sept.W, 1861; primt!.' at enlistment; trans. to Invaliil

Corps. Jan. 15, 18(i4.
Syh'ester A. Ji'rlllub('s, enl. Oct. 1, 1861; primte at onlistment; tfllns.and pro.

to cOIll.-sergt. of regiment, lIlarch 7, 186:1.
Lewis lIemings, 0111. Sppt. 10, 1861; trans. to Invalid Corps, Xov. 15, 1863.
Jau1l's Wardlow, enl. Oct. 1, 18tjl; trans. to Co. I, 50th O. V. 1.
lIenr.\' J. La~'fieltl, enl. Sl'pt. 10,1861; tak"n prisonor at batt I.: of Chickanlllllga,

Sept. 20, ISG:3; supposed to be dead.
Natlll1uicl G. Dunton, enl. Oct. !I, 18Gl; dicil at Nashvillo, 'fenn., JUly 24, 1863.

Dietl.

Augustus F. Day, enl. Sept, 2:l, 1861; died lIIarch 13, 18G2, at Dowliug Green,
I\:y., of t~'phohl fe\·er.

Augustus W. Holtor, enl. Jan. 4, 18M; diod at Nashville, Tonn., of chronic
diarrhrea, July 15, 1864. '

'1'homps,'n Lanham, enl. Sept. 10, 18Gl j died Nov. aO,181i2,!\l ::IIouut Olive, Ohio.
lIez"kiah It. La~'cuck, enl. Sept. 1!1, 18Gl; i1ied at battle of Chickaullluga, Sept.

2U,lStj:l.

l\lelaDclhou lIla~'es, enl. Sept. 19, 1861; dieilllt XIIShvillo, 'I'enn., Sept. 17,1864,
of chrouic diarrlllCl\.

John lIl. Stairs, enl. Sept. 10, 1861; Idlled in action uear Atlanta, Ga., July 20,
ISM.

Eli H. 1IIcEnt)'re, enl. Oct. 8, 1861.
William H. Smith, enl. Sept. lU, 18G1.
.lames White, enl. S,'pt. lU, 1861.

COllIPANY C.

"'illiam Dlackbnrn, enl. Scpt.12, 18tjl j tl'llns. fronl Co. A, Oct. 31, 1861.
, Nathan Cloa(lml~n, enl. Sl'pt. 12, 18Gl; trans. from Co. A, Oct. in, 1861.
Juhn Hicks, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; trans. fmill Co. A, Oct. :n, 1861.
lIlarcelllls H. Hart, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; traus. from Co. A, Oct. :n, 1861.

, Anilrew RoLbins, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; tfllllS. from Co. A, Oct. 31, 1861.

COMPANY E.

Capt. Rohert J. Vanosdol, capt. to March 17, 1863; pro. to maj., lIIarch 17, '63.
Capt. Lowell H. Smith, detached as brig. com., Jan. 1,1862 j pro. as capt. Co. E,

1Iiarch 24, l8G-l.

1st Lieut. Hussel l!'. Smith, pro. to 2d Iil'ut., Feb. 10, 1863; to 1st Heut., lIIarch
24,18G4.

2d Lieut. Willillln Johnston, wounded at Shiloh, rtpril 7,1862; res. Jul~' 25, '62.
1st Sergt. George W. Iterree, pro. to 1st sergt., Feb. 10, 18G3.

1st S,·rgt. Robert S. lIIcNntt, sorgt. f"olll date of onrollmont.
1st SClrgt. Burris W. Hanlen, sorgt. from dato of onrollment.
Stephen n"binson, sergt. from date of enrollment.
Hobert Ely, corp. from llate of en!. to }'eb. 10,1863; then sergt. anil color..be,llror

till must. out.
Corp. William Clark, from date of enrollment.
Curp. l:zl'll Cultl'rlon, from dato of enrollment.
Corp.•James II. Slade, priv. to Jan. 1, 18G:I; then corp. to date of JIluster onto
Curp. Francis 111. Cmmer, dettu:hed by ordor of Gen. ltusecrans; a.~signed to

corps of topog;I1l)lhica\ engineers.
Corp. Han'ey "'. R"ed, priv. to Jail. 1, 18G:l; then corp. till must. out.
Corp. John lIIe!!I" frum Ilato of enl'OLml'nt.
Corp. Shlulmch 111. Ferree, pri\". to Sl'pt. 1, lSli:\; thcn corp. tillmnst. out.
"'agouer ,Iohn Apgar, prh'. to St'pt. 1, ISli:S; tlll'n wagoner till elate of 1IIl1st. ollt.

Charles Bielfie1<l, talwn pris. at bnttle of Stono HiveI', Jan. 2, 18G3; returned to
compan~' June 8, ISG:.I.

Thomas Beehe.
Delos Carter.
lIIathias Colenmn.
Absalom II. J)a~·.

Joseph C. De!'1.
George W. Danghorty, corp. to Jan. 1, 18n;); then private to i1lltO of must. ou t.
l'hilip Fields.
Johu H. 1'. lIiIl, in overy battle, scout, or skirmish with tho company.
L. G. Hnghes.
1I10ntl'llvillo Irl'ton.
Natlmn Iler.
John Isham.
Le()nidn.~ Lukemires, in every battle, scout, or skirmish with tho company.
lIlilton Lukemires.
lIIartin V. D. 1IlcC"llnm, in hospit'llat Camp Donnison from Jan. 2!l, 1864, till

disch. by circular No. 36, series C.
John ,Y. Rolrinson.
Juhn W. Hust.
Allen Sweet, tal,t'n pris.at Now Ilopo Chnrch, Ga., 1I1IIy 27,1864; l'oported dead.
Josl'ph Shaller, taken pris. at New Hope Church;Ga., 1Iiay 27, 18tH; reported

d(·ad.
John Shallor.
James South.
}tculll'n Stl·elman.
E\'an Thumas, corp. to ,Tan. 1, 1863; thon ]lrimte to date of mnst. out.
William Wood, talwn prisoner in action at Chicl,anllluga llridge, '1'onn., Sept.

22, 18G:J; reported i1elHl.
Jllrius II. Washbnru.

Di.~cltar!Jctl.

8crgt. Rnssel F. Smith, i1isch. at 1IIurfl'eesboro', Tonn., }'eb. 10, 1863, for pro. to
2d )jlmt., lIy order of Gen. Rosecmns.

George Apgar, disch. at Cindnnati, Ohio, Nov. 12, 1862, for disability, by orilor
of Lieut.-C"l. S. llUl'bank.

Jallles Beasley, i1isch. at St. Lonis, 1110., June 28, 1862. for disabilit~·,by order of
Col. Lonis 1I1erril.

John W. Carter, disch. at Louis\'ilIe, K~':, Oct. 1, 18G3, for disability, by orilerof
medical di rector.

Samnel Col\"iu, disch. at Nashvillo, Tenn., Aug. 18, 1862, fOl" i1isability, by ordor
of Col. J. }'. lIIilIer.

Ilenry I1asl,el, (lisch.at Columbia, I"y., Jan. 25, 1862, for disability, by orill'r.of
Gen. Bnell.

William D. Juhnston, disch.at Nllshville, Tonn., Dec. 12,1862, for i1isability, by
ordor of Gen. Itubert lIIitchell.

Alfred La~'lIlIUl, disch. at Camp Dattlo Creek, Allg. 8, 18G2, for disability, by
ordl'r of Gen. D. Dnell.

Jobn E. lIIarsh, disch. at Cincinnati, Ohio, Oct. 16, 1862, for disability, by ordor
of Lieut.-Col. S. Durbllnk.

Samuel W. lIlarsh, disch. at Cincinnati, Ohio, Jan. 23, 1863, for i1isability, by
order of l,ient...Col. S. Burbank.

Willialll D. 1\Iaxfieltl, disch. at ColuOlbus, Ohio, Dec. 4, 1862, for disability, by
order of Capt. A. n. Doilil.

George W. 1\Ioore, i1isch. at Columbus, Ohio, Jan.6,1863,for disability, by oriler
of Ca)lt. A. ll. Dudil.

Holly Hapor, disch.at ISashville, Tenn., }'eb. 2, 18G3, for disability, by order of
Gen. ltusect'llns.

David Y. Itoes, disch. at Cincinnati, Ohio, July 17, 1862, for disability.
HiTllm Swoet, disch. at Chattanooga, Tenn., Doc. 8, 186;,), by ordor of Gen.

Thomas.
Nicholas Smith, disch. at" }'ield of Shiloh," Tonn., April 10, 1862, by ordel' of

Gen. Duel.
lIIathias Waite, disch. at St. Louis, 1110., July 6, 1862, for disability, by order of

Gen. E. Carr.
Elias B. Wayno.

Trans/erred.

lIIusician Will H. Reynolds, traus. to regimental fiolil and staff as drum-maj.,
Aug. :H, 186:3, by order of Lieut.-Col. Fral1lbes.

Corp. Israel I? Test, trans,'to Invalid Corps, Nov. 20,1863, by genol'al oriler No.
3iO, frolll War Depllrtlllent.

George Kell, tl'llns. to Invalid Corps, Nov. 20,1863, by genoral order No, 370,
from Wal' Department.
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ThonHL.'l ~r. Cartel', trans. to Co. K, 59th Rl.'gt. Ohio Vol. Inf., Oct. 24,1864, hy
special order of Lieut.·Col. l<'mmues. acting under order No. 35, Gen.
Willsnn.

Orestus Ch:ltterton, trans. to Cn. J{, r,91h Regt., Ohio Vol. Inf., Oct. 24, 1864,
by special ordpr of Lient.-Col. Fram!Jes, acting ullder order No. 35, Gen.
Willson.

Erastus Dnmford, tmns. to Co. K,li9th Regt. Ohio Vol. Inf., Oct. 24, 1864, by
spl'cial ordcr of Lieut.·Coi. }"ram!Jes, acting under order No. 35, Gen.
Willson.

IIlllrtin l\laham, tnms. to Co. K,59th Uegt.Ohio Vol. Inf., Oct. 24,1864, hy special
order of Lieut.-Col. Fmmbes, acting nnder or/IeI' No. :15, Gen. 'Villson.

Alfred Storl'r, trons. to Co. }{, 59th Regt. Ohio Vol. Inf., Oct. 24, 18lH,by special
order of Lient.·Coi. l<'mmhes, ncting nnder order No. au, Gen. 'Villslln.

lIIarcus n. 80uth, tnlllB. to llrig:ulo blind, ad Brigade, 3d Division, 4th Army
Corps, hy special order of GOll. Bealty.

John Q. A. KIlOtt, tmns. to IIIvalid COl·pe.

Pri'OllCrs of IVaI'.

Allen Sweet. taken prisoner at llatUe of NI'\V Hope Church, Ga, IIIa.y 27, 1864;
rl'l'orted dead.

Joseph Shal1er, tnken pl'lsoner at battle of New Hope Church, Ga., I1Iay 27,1864;
rl'portell deud.

William H. Wood, talcon prisoner in action at Chickamauga Bridge, Tenu., Sept.
22, 1863; reported dead.

IJied.

J~mes A. Buchanan, killed nt IJattle of Shiloh, April 7, 1862.
Pleasant B:liley. died lit Stone River Ford, near Murfreesboro', Tenn., of pneu-

monia.
Johu 'V. Ferree, killednt battle of Cbickamanga, Sept. 19,1863.
Jariua W. 1\1001'\', died at Nnsh\'illl', Tenn., Oct. 8, 1862, of tl'phllid fever.
Elias l\laham, dil.'d at 1\lnrfreesboro', Tenn., 1\larch 6,1863, of tl'phoid fever.
Fletcber Smith, died at Columbia, I{y., Feb. 7,1862, of typhoid fOlver.
Marcellus SlInth, wounded at llattle of Stone River, Jan. 2,1863; died of wounds

in fipld hospital, :Murfree~lJoro',Tenn., Jan. 27, 1863.
Carey A. Westerfield, died at hospital, Sonth McMinnvilll', Tonn., April 21,

1864, of septic poison.

COMPANY F.
Capt. Thomas 1\1. I,ewis.
1st Lieut. M. J. W. Holter.
2d Lieut. Edward S. Sinks.
James C. Allison, enl. Sept. 12, 186l.
James P. Bolton, eni. Sept. 12, 1861.
Obed Bishop, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Genrge W. Clark, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Thomas Dustin, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Jl-s~e Ellis, enl. Sllpt. 12, 1861 j pro. to 2d lieut. (no date found) from pl'ivate;

killed in action at battle of Chickamauga, Sept. 19, 1863.
John lI. Fairmnn, enl. Sellt. I\!, 1861.
James A. Gllge, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Marquis D. Goff, cuI. Sppt. 12, 1861.
Cllllrles )1. Grant. enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Lewis J. Griffis, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Howard n. House, enl. Oct. 7, 1861.
Josephus 1\1. Holter, enl. Sept. 10, 186l.
"-. A. Hol1emnn. eni. Sept. 10, 181a.
Francis K. Lansdale, eni. Sept. 10, IS61.
Aloert L:lI)(>, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Thomas J. Lewis, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
G.!orge W. Lewis, elll. Sl'pt. 10,1861.
Rohert J. Lewis, enl. Oct. 7. 1861.
Willialll S. Lewis, enl. Sept, 10, 1861.
John E. Livillgood, enl. Sept. 10, 18GI.
l\loses l\lllthew, en I. Sept.W, 18(;1.
Norman D. Muore, Poni. Sept. 10, 1861.
William P. C. Moore, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Edward C. 1\lool'e, enl. Sl'pt. 10, IS61.
Daviil1\lorris, enl. Sl'pt. 10,1861.
Ge(lj'ge Morris, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Van Duren McGuire, enl. Oct. 1:1, 1861.
Isaac W. McAdaDls, enl. Sept. 30, IS6\.
Jacob Myers, enl. Sppt. 30, 1861.
Ezra Pierce, enl. Sept. 3U, 1861.
Eliwin Perltins, eni. Sept. 10, 1861.
William !'erkins, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
John P. ItoLiu~lJn, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
William Raper, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Hendcrson C. Smith, eni. Sept. Ifl, 1861.
CoWn C. Smith, enl. SeIlt. 10,1861.
John L. Smith, onl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Willi:lIn R. Sinks, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Williaun C. Thompson, eni. Sept. 10, 1861.
Donton Walker, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Geol'ge W, Walker, I'n!. Sl'pt. 10, 1861.
Q. l\l.-Sl'l'gt. Emnk White, enl. Sept. 10,1861.
Andrew Wasner, enl. SI'pt. 10, 1861.
AloJdas Wuyland, enl. Sl'\lt. 10, 1861.
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Capt. William A, Watkins, com. Oct. 2, 1861; res. July 7, 1862.
Capt. Frederic R. l{autz, com, Oct. 9, 1862; must. ont on special 1'011.
1st LitHlt. }'irllllln C. 'Varn'n, Cllln. Oct. 2,1861; res.•Jltn. 21, 1863.
1st Lieut. Clifford II. Lindsey, COin. Feb. 10, 1863; 2d lieut. {rom enlistment,

Fell. 10, 186:1; \11'0. to 1st Iieut.
211 Lient. Elishallllwkins, com. March 17,1863; sergt. from enlistment, Oct. 2,

1861 j pl·O. to 2d lient.
Sergt.lticllllrd A. Cochran, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; 1st sergt. from enlistment.
Sorgt. Jallles IL BaiuullI, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; prisoner of WILl' Sept. 22,1863.
Sergt. 1\lanellh McGuyre, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; COI·p. at enlistment; pro. to sorgt.

1\lay I, 18(;2.
Sergt. John W. Light, onl. Oct. 2, 1861; corp. at enlistment; pro. to sergt. Jan.

1,1864.
Corp. Edwin II. Smith, enl. Oct. 2, 1861 j private fl'Om enlistment to 1\larch 1,

181'3; prisoner Sept. 2~, 1863.
Corp. Rea~()n n. Dllnn, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; private from enlistment to March I,

1863; prisoner 51-pt. 22, 1863.
Corp. Geur~e Newkirk, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; private from enlistment to JaD. I,

186-1 j prisoner May 27, 1864; severely wounded (110 phwe given).
Wiiliam Cah'in, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; prisoner of war Sept. 2\!, 18(;3.
John Calvin, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Albert Clem, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Francis N. Dansberry, eni. Oct. 2, 1861.
1\larion Donley, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; priHoner of war Ma.y 27, 1864.
William Elmore, eni. Oct. 2, 1861.
ltal"1lI01111 Gee, l.'nl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Richard Hawkins, en\. Oct. 2,1861.
Benjamin l{enedy, enI. Oct. 2, 1861.
John Lillich, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
William McGnyre, eui. Oct. 2, 1861.
PI-tel' JUcCornluck, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Willialll l\lilchell, enl. Oct. 14, 186\!; prisoner of war, Sl'pt. 22, 1863.
John R. Sarver, eni. Oct. 2, 1861.
Samuel SarvtJr, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
George Staull, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Jacob SlIlUll, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
John R. Smith,.enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Mathias Slwrtzingel', elli. Oct. 2, 1861.
Brozier Sutton, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Joseph Vanfossen, enl. Oct. 2, 1861.
Sl'lvcster White, eni. Oct. 2, 1861.

Disclurrgccl

Capt, William A. Watkins, com. Oct. 2, 1861; res. July 11, 1862.
1st Lieut. l<'iruulII C. Warren, com. O~t. 2, 18Gl; rcs. Jan. 21,1863.
SergI. Elisha IIawki'ns, enl. Oct. 2, 1861 j dish, for promotion, March 16, 1863.
1I1usician Joseph T. Gatch, cuI. Oct. 2, 1861; disch. July 19,1862.
Davill W. Baillum, elli. Oct. 2,11161; discharged at Nashville, Tenu. (no dute).
Alexander Colviu, enl. Oct. 2, 1861; dillCharged at Camp Dennison, Ohio, Sept.

13,186:l.
Ja<per Hoopor, cni. Oct. 2, 1861; disch. lit Piketon, Ky., Nov. 21, 1861.
Lewis Kettle, enl. Oct. 2, I81a; disch. at St. Louis, Mo., June 12,1862.
John W. I{ellulII, enl. Oct. 14,1862; disch. at 1\Iurfreesboro', Teun., Jnne 8,1863.
Jacol, IAght, enl. Oct. 2,1861; disch. at Columllus, Ohio, Sept. 17, 1872.
I'hilip n. 1,lIl:as, (·nI. Oct. 14, 1862; disch. at Louisville, }{y., June 24, 1863.
l'horntoll LUCILS, enl. Nov. 8,1862 j disch. at Louis\·ille. Ky" Jnly 31,1863.
Stout lIIorris, cni. Oct. 2, 1861 : disch. at TuscnmLia, Ala., June 21, 1862.
l'holnlts 1\litchell, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; disch. at Camp Donnison, Ohio, June 26,

1863.
WilIiulll T. Nichols, oni. Oct. 2, 1861: disch. at ColumbUS, Sept. 24, 1862.
NlIah !'utts, eni. Oct. 2, 1861; disch. at Battle Creek, 'fenn., July 25, 1862.
Darine SIII'ltOIl, onI. Nov. 10, 1862; disch.llt C:unp Dennison, Ohio, Fell. 18,1863.
Trunum J. Spafford, \'Ini. Oct. 14,1862; disch. at Camp Deunison, Ohio, Sept. 13,

1863.
Trallxjcl·rc,l.

Sl'rgt. Aquiila Cochrnll, enl. Oct. 2,1861; trans. to Inmlid Corps,lIIarch 22, 1864.
StJrgt. Uobl'rt C. Drake, eul. Oct. 22.186~; truns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,

1864.
COrl). Jallles Cochran, enl. Oct. 10, 1862 j tmns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,

1864.
Corp. Gustavus I{autz, enl. Oct. H, 1862; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I" Oct. 24,

1864.
Musician 1I1aUlew B. Temple, CIII. Oct. 2, 1861; trans. to non-commissionf'd

staff, III11y 1, 1863.
lIIusiciau WilIitllll Young, 0111. Oct. 14, 1862;' trans. to Inmlid Corps at Louis-

ville, Ky.
Richard II. Askren, eni. Oct. 14, 1862; traus. to Co. I,59th O. V. 1., Oct. 24. 1864.
}'rederick Am, enl. Oct 21, 1862; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
Gustavus A. Bonchin, eni. Oct. 22, 1862; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I" Oct. 2i,

1864.
James I,. CaLral, eul. Nov. 8, 1862; truns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
John n. Clllln, enl. Oct. 11, 1862 i tl'/lns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
Johll 1\1. Croswell, elll. Oct. 14,1862 j tnms. to Co. I, 59th O. V. 1., Oct. 24,1864.
,lllllltJS 'I'. Call1pbell, elli. Oct. 14, 1862 j traus. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,1864.
Frllnldill Orist, on!. Oct. 14, 1862; truns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 2,1, 1864.
Johll Clth'in, Sr" eni. Juuo 19,1863 j trans, to Co. I, 59th O. V. I" Oct. 24,1804.
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T.orenzo D. Fowll>r, ~nl. Oct. 21i, 1862; trans. to In\,ali.1 Corl's, Nov. 28,1863.
l'eter FOl'tholTcr, enl. Oct. 14, 181;2; trails. to Co. I, 5!Jth O. V.!., Oct. 24, 1864.
}'rancis .Frye, elll. Oct. 2, 18tH; trans. to Co. I, 5!lth O. V.!., Oct. 24, 1864.
Solomoll Hnlfhill, elll. Oct. 20,1862; trans: to Co. I, {;!lth O. Y. I" Oct. 24, 1864.
D:l\'id ]\alltz, elll. Oct. 14, 1862; tl'l\us. to Co. I, fJ!lth O. Y. 1., Oct. 24, 1864.
};lijah 1\lurris, elll. Oct. 14, 1862; trans. to Invalid COI'I'S, Jan. 2·1. 18G4.
Willi:lm A.lIlaxwell, enl. Oct. 22, 18(;2; trall8. to Illvalid Curl'~, ,T:m;24, 1864.
Willi:lm MOl'ris, cuI. Oct. 2, 1861; tmus. to Co. 1, 5!Jth O. V. 1., Oct. 24, Ul64.
Caleh Piel'c(', enl. Oct. 1:1, 1862: t1'l\ns. to Co. I, 5!Jth O. V. I., Oct. 24, 18tH.
JalIll's Qllinll, cuI. Oct. 1:1, 1862; traus. to Co. I, 5!lth O. Y. I., Oct. 24, 18(;,1
Jacou Roehm, enl. Oct. 22, 1862; trans. tu Co. T, ;;!Jtll O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
John Scott, ~nl. Oct. 11, IH62; trans. to Co. I, 5!lth O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
Darius Shinkle, enl. Oct. 14, 1862: t1'lLns. to Co. T, 59th O. V. I., Oct: 24, 1864.
William W. Smith, enl. Oct. 16,1862; trails. to Cu. I, 5!Jth O. V. I., Oct. 24,1864.
Henry C. Smith, elll. Oct. H, 1862; tl'aUS. to Co. I, O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
•Johu Spires, enl. Oct. 1'1, 18G2; traus. to Co. I, O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
William G. Tules, cnl. Oct. 2, 1861; trans. to Co. I, O. V. I., Oct. 24, 18rA.
,Toh'n 1\1. Williams, en!. Oct. 14,181\2; tl'ans. to Co. 1, O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
};I'Il'st Wittmeirl'r, ellI. Oct. 22, 1862; tnms. to Co. I, O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
Charles West, elll. Oct. 1:1, 1862; traus. to Co. I, O. Y. 1., Oct. 2-l, 186-l.
Sylv"st"r White, ..nl. Oct. 2, 1861: trans. to c.,. I, O. V. I., Oct, 24, 1864.
.I:lml's A. YOUllg, elll. Ol't. 1:1, 1862; trails. to Co. I, O. V. I., Oct. 24, 18M.
Uobel't A. Young, ('111. Oct. 1:1, 1862; tnllls. to Co. I, O. Y. 1., Oct. 24, 1864.
William Harris, 1'111. D('c. 7,186:1; trails. to Co. 1, O. Y. 1., Oct. 24,1864: wouudcd

May 27, 1864; sent tu hosl'ill\llIt NaShVill(\ 'l'CIIII.
Benjamilll\cnllcllJ, PilI. Uct. 2, 181H; trails. to Co. I, O. Y. 1., Oct. 24, 1::;G4.

Sergt. Janlt's 11. llailllllll, elll. Oct. 2, 18Gl; prisollcr Sellt. 22, 1863.
Curll,.Rel\Soll B. DUIIII, 1'111. Oct. 14, 18G2; primto from cnlistment to Mnrch 1,

186:1; Ilrisuncr S(·pt. 22,186:1.
Corp. George Newkirk, enl. Oct. 2,1861; prisollcl' May 27, 18G4; llrivato from

enlistllll.'nt to Jan. 1, 1864.
William Calvill, I.'nl. Oct. 2,1861; prisoller Sept. 22, 18r~1.

Mario11 DOlIll'y, elll. Oct. 2, 1861; 11I'isoller !\lay 27,1864.
William l\litchcll, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; prisoner Scpt. 22, 186:1.
Jacuu Stauu, eul. Oct. 2, 18GI; l,risoner Sl·pt. 22, 186.1.

Die,/.

Sergt. l'ol'l'y Uoub, elll. Oct. 2, 18G1; Ilie,l Oct. 13, 18f~1, at Chattanooga, Tenn. ;
wOllllded, SOllt. 19, 186:~, at battle of Chiclmn1lluga.

Cor]l. 1Ill1rtin V. Lindsey, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; died ill Iticlullond, Va., while pris­
oner, Dcc. 24, 186:1.

Conrad 1I0sshammer, enl. Oct. 2,1861; dieu at Nashville, Tenn., Oct. :l0, 18G2,
of chl'ollic diarrhrea.

Juhn Bosslllllllmer, elll. Oct. 2,1861; killed in action, Aup' 20, l11O4, near At­
lanta,Ga.

Thorntull S. Bains, enl. NoY. 6, 1862; died ill tWill hospital, 1\Iurfreesuoro',
'I'enll., July 4, 1863.

'Villiam Dunley, enl. Oct. 1, 18G1; dieu at St. 1.ouis, lito.
•John L. llowning, enI. Oct. 14, 1862; killed in battlc at Chickamauga, S('pt. 19,

1863.
James .K Emns, en!. Oct. 24,1862; dicd at Mllrfrel'sboro', Tenn., 1IIarch 22,

1863.
Belljllmin F. Fite, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; killed in uattte at Missionary Ridge,

Tenn., Nov. 25, 18G:J.
Da\'il1 Howell, ellI. Oct. 2,1861; w01l1)(ll'd lIt battle of Shiloh, April 7,1862;

died lit EVllnsville, Jnl!., April 24,1862.
William lIillchy, enl. Oct. 19, 1862; dil'd ILt rl'crujtillg station, Brown CO.,Ohio,

Dec. :10, 18G:t
Sylvester 1\lcCann, ell I. Oct. 2, 1861; dil'll at Nashville, 'fenn., 1I1arch 7, 18G2.
Lewis1\lullll, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; dielilLt hospital, Murfreesboro', Toun., 1\lay H,

186:1.
Francis Sullivan, enl. Oct. 17, 1862; died at Stolle HiveI' Ford, Aprill!l, 1863.
l~rancis Tat IIIlln , elll. Oct. 2, 18Gl; died at Columbia, Ky., Jill;. 2, 1862.
Corp. John P. 'I'ice, enl. Aug. 1:1, 1862; died of Wounda at KnoxvillE', Tenn.,

Sl'llt. 11, 18f,.!.
William H. Gn'gg, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; died in field-llos11ita1 in Georgia, Jllly 26

1864, of wound.
John Green, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; died of wOl1nd, DeC. 22,1864, at Louisville, Ky.
Sergt. William Gr~en, eni. Aug. 11, 18132; drowned lIy explosion off stealner

.. Snltanll," on 1\1ississippi mver, April 27,1865.
Corp. Chal'leM T. l(I'nse, enl. Ang. 11, 18G2; Idlled I>y explosion off stl!alller

"Snlt:lII11," on l\1ississippi ltiver, April 27, 181i5.
Isaac AlHlel'8on, 6111. Sept. 22, 1863; died in jidd-1lOspitalat Marietta, G:L., Ang.

111,1864.
George Devine, enl. Aug. 11, 18G2; died in hospitlll at Louisville, I{y., Jan. 19

1863.
Henry Frc~', enl. Allg. 11, 1862; died in hospitalllt Rome, G:l., Jnly 30, 1864.
David ].'agin, en!. Aug. 11,1862; died in hospitllllLt Washington, D. C., Feb. 16,

186:1.
Clmrles Lillich, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; died at Kingston, Ga., in hosl>ital, Oct.2,

1864.
Amos Lindsl'.y, enl. Sept. 22,1863; died in hospital at Colulllbia, l{y., Dec. 3D,

18G3.
Salllllel Casteel. enl.1\lllrch 30,18G!; died in 110spitalat Wilnlington, N. C.,lIIay

18, 18G5; truns. from 99th O. V. I. to 50th O. V. 1.

John A. lIIyerR, onl. Ang.:I, 1862; died in hospitlll at Louisville, Ky., Jail. 30,
1863.

David O. Phil ills, 1'111. Sept. 21, 186:J; died in hospital at Jeffersonville, Inll.,
1\lal'ch :lU, lSG4.

SJlmllns Stronp, pnl. Aug. 18, 1862; died in prison at Andersoll\'iIIe, Ga.,
1\lardl 15, 1865.

FI'l'delicl, Suaih'r, cnl. Aug. 5, 1862; died in hospital at Louisville, I{~·., Feb. 10,
186:1.

Ira White, enl. Ang. 11,1862; di<'d in hospital at Lebanon, I{y., Jan. 18, 1863.

C01\IPANY H.

Capt. James W. Hill, com. Sl'pt. 30, 1861; wounded at Stone Rh'er; res. in con­
seqnl'nce, May 27, 186:J.

Capt. James S. Riley, com. JUlie 15,1863; corp. at enrollment, Sept. 30, 1861;
Ilrol1loted.

1st Liont. William S. Tront, com. Sept. 30,1861; 1st lieut. from enrollment;
res. JlIlIe 10, 186:1.

1st Lieut. George C. Tyler, COlli. Oct. 9, 18G2; res. Oct. 15, 18fi,'t
1st Lieut. Ed. S. Sinks, com. Nov. 5, 1862; 2d Iient. from enrollment; l\Ssigned

to Co, H.
2d Lient. Oliver 1'. Elliott, com. ,Tnne 9, 18G2; sergt. from enrollment; pro. to

2d Iicut.; res. Aug. 1, 18li2.
1st Sergt. Nathaniel Yates, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; corp. from enrollment; l'ro. to

1st sl'rgt., June 16,186:1.
Corp; Willial1l L. Tatl1llln, ('nl. Sept. 30,1861; coq'. fl'Om enrollment; sent to

hospitlliat Uhattanooga, Tenn., 1\lay 12,1864.
Corp. Lel'O~' 11111'I110, elll. Sept. :10, 1861 ; corp. frol11 enrollment.
COI'II. j,'l1lncis 1\1. Frazier, cui. Sept. 30, 1861; wounded at Chickamauga, Sept.

19, 186a, lind sellt tu hospital.
Corp. Hubcrt Hill, ell!. Sept. :lO, 1861; corp. from Oct. 20, 1862.
Curp. Jamcs \'"idmeycl', elll. Sellt. 30,1861; corp. fl'ol11 l\Iarch I, 1863.
Corp. Lewis l\1~'C1'8, enl. Sept. 30, 18GI: corp. from March 1, 1863; wounded

July ZU, Il104, lllul sellt to hospital.
Curl'. '1'11OI1Ias Swope, en!. Sept. au, 1861; corp. from July 1, 1864.
Curl'. Thomas 'V. Huttull, elll. Sept. 3U, 1861; corp. from enrollment; sent to

hospital, Ang. 19, 1862.
'f1ll'odore Altmall, elll. Sept. :10, 1861.
Willialll Arlllstrollg, enl. Sel,t. 30, 1861.
Georgo Clarl', (!III. Sl'pt. 30, 1861; wo~ndcd by accidental discharge of musket;

sCllt to hospital.
William A. Curnwell, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; prisoner; captured May 27, 1804.
Greenbl'l'ry Cornwell, eul. Sept. 30, 1861; prisoner; captured May 27, 1864.
Joseph Graham, enl. Sept. 30, 1861.
Willial11 H. Grey, enl. Sept, 3U,18tiI.
\ViIlilllll E. Irwin, enl. ~..pt. 30, 1861.
Frank Kelly, enl. Sept. aD, 1861.
'I'homus H. Kennl'dy, enI. Sept. aD, 1861.
Wilsun I,. Larkin, enI. Sept. :1O, 18Hl.
Juhn l\luyus, enl. Sept. aU,18tH.
Lolt Meckel', enI. S1'11t. aD; 1861.
Alvah C. Malott, cnl. Sl·pt. 3U, 1861•
Willialll D. Nl'wkirk, enl. Sept. :10, 1861.
Jusillh Ii. Pickett, enl. Sept. 30, 18G1.
Joseph l'owell, eul. Ang. 26, 1862; prisoner; captured May 27, 1864.
Ernest 1\1. Heed, "nl. Sept. 30, 1861.
Willialll C. Salt, elll. Sept. 30, 1861.
WilJ,ur ].'. 'I'ice, elll. Sept. aD, 1861.
John P. Taylor, enl.Sc'pt. :1O, 1861.
Andrew J. Wuods, enl. Sept. 30, 1861.
'I'h01llas H. 'Voo<!s, enl. Sl.pt. ao, 1861.
Ja1lleS T. W1L~son, enl. Sept. 30, 1861.
Geol'ge S. We:>t, enl. Sept. :~o, 1861.
James 11. Yates, enl. Sept. 30, 18tH.

Di.olcltm·ued•

Capt. James W. Hill, com. Sept. 30, 1861.
1st Lieut. Wm. S. '1'l'Out, cum. Sept. 30, 1861.
1st Limit. George I'. '1'yler.
1st Sergt. Oliver P. Elliott, sergt. from enlistment; disch. June 9, 1862, to ac­

cept promotion.
1st Sergt. James S. Rile~', enI. Sept. 30, 1861; corp. from enlistment; disch•

1\larch 8, 186:J, to accept pl'olllotion.
1st Sel'gt. Josl'ph C. McKibben, enI. SI')lt. 30, 1861; corp. from enlistment to

Jan. 11, 1862; sergt. to June 9, 1862, then 1st sel·gt.
Lewis G. Apley, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; cl!rtificate of disability; disch. Jan. 8, 1863,

at Cincinnati, Ohio.
James 1I. Brannon, enl. Sept. 30, 1861.
Pin'lls Cornwell, enl. March 1,1862.
Jesse Cordrey, enl. Jan. 21,1863.
I.owell Frazee, enl. Sept. :lU, 1861; disch. Feb. 9, 1863, certificate of disability.
Solomon D. Frazee, enl. Sept. 30, 1861 ; disch. at Cllmll Dennison, Ohio, July 18,

1863.
George W. Gerren, onI. Aug. 26,1862; disch. Oct. 14,1863, at Nashville, Tenn.
Jason P. Holland, enI. Sept. au, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 20,1863, lit Nashville, Tenn.
JaDles T. I.oy<1, enl. SPpt. 30, 1861; disch. 1\Iarch 29, 1863,at Cincinnati, Ohio.
James 'f. l\lul!en, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; disch. Aug. 10, 18G2, for disability.
James D. Milnor, enI. Sept. 30, 1861; disch. lIIay 21, IS6:!, at Kashville, Tenn.
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Geor~e }f~'ers, enl. Aug. 26, 1862; disch. June 15, 1863, lit NlIshville, Tenn.
David M. Richey, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; disch. June 8, 1862, at ClImp Dennison,

Ohio.
Jnmes C. Rutherford, enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch~ JUly 8, 1863, lit NlIshville, Tenn.
l\!lm:ellus Saunders, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; disch. Aug. 8, 18G2, for disability.
William H. Scott, enl. Aug. 27, 1862; disch. Nov. 20, 1863:
Samuel Thorp, enl. Sept. 30,1861; disl'll. March 8, If/62.
Josiah A. Tice, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; chief musician from enlistment; discli. Jan.

21,186:3, at Cincinnati, Ohio.

T)·all~ft~,·cd.

Sergt. ,Tohn III. Judd, enl. Sept. 30,1861; sergI. frollt enlistment; trans. to In­
valid Corps, JunE', 1863.

Sergt. Willialll H. Brown, enl. Aug. 19, 1862; primte from enlistment; then
sergt., Co. 1{, WthO. V. I., Oc~. 24, 1864.

Scrgt. Sallluel D. Wood, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; private to April 8,1862; then corp.;
afterwards sergt.; wounded at New Hope Church, Ull., May 27, 1864;
t1'llns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I.

Sergt. LIB'oy S. Frazier, enl. Aug. 14, ISG2; private to March 8, 1863; then
corp.; ufterwards sE'rgt.; tnms. to Co. 1{, 59th O. V.1.

Jonas Metzger, enl. Aug. 26,1862; private to Aug. 26,1862; afterwa.rds sergt.;
promoted July I, 1864.

Corp. George III. Sinks, enl. Sept. 30,1861; llrh'l\te to ,T:\n. 11, 1862; then corp.;
Jan. 1, 1863, pro. to /l.m.-sergt., and tmns. to regimental stuff.

George Altman, enl. Sept. 8, 1862; tmns. to Brigade Band, Nov. 12,1862.
.Joseph Armstrong, enl. Aug. lU, 186:!; wounded at Chiclmmauga, Sept. 19,

1863; sent to hospital; tmns. to Co. 1{, Oct. 24, 1864.
'Villiam B. Cal'ny, eul. Ol"t. 12, 1862; tmns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,1864.
.Joshu:L FaulkllPr, enl. Aug. 27, 1862; sent to hospit:Llat 1\lurfl'eesLoro', Tenn.,

1\Iay, 1863; tmns. to Co. K, !i!Jth O. V. 1., Oct. 2-1, 186-!.
Edward Frazier, enl. Aug. 14,1862; trans. to Co. K, 50th O. V. I., Oct. 2!,18114.
L:lfiLJette 1\£. I1endel"llon, enI. Aug. 19, 1862; trans. to Co. K, 5Uth O. V. I., Oct.

24,186!.
Isaiah Iler, enl. DE'C. 23, 1863; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 186!.
'Villiam H. Iler, enl. Dec. 23, 1863; tmns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 186!.
Jacob Leslie, enI. Sept. 14. 1862; trans. to Vo, I{, 50th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
John W. 1Iletzger, enl. Aug. 26, 1862; tnlOs. to Co. K,50th O. V. I., Oct. 24,

1864.
Wesley 1\letzger, enI. Aug. 26, 1862; trails. to Co. K, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,1864.
John T. 1I1erriIl, enl. Oct. G, 1862; trails. to Co. I, 50th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
William A. 1Ilullen, AnI. Feb. 4, 1864; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. 1., Oct. 24, 186!.
George 'V. Richards, enl. Jan. 27, 1864; trans. to Co. I, Wth O. V. I., Oct. 24,

1864.
John W. Riche,)', enI. Aug. 16, 1862; trans. to Co. K, 50th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 18G4.
Ch"rles Uutlll-rford, enI. Oct. 5, 1862; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 2·1, 1864.
Willialll II. Rogers, enI. Oct. 18,1862; trans. to Co. I, 50th O. V. I., Oct. 24,

1864.
Samuel P. Ross, enI. Aug. 27, 1862; trans. to Co. K, 50th O. V. I., Oct. 24, 1864.
John W. Stewart, enI. Sept. 30, 1861; trnns. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,1864.
Willialll W. Tohn, enI. Jan. 18, 1864; trans. to Co. I, 59th O. V. I., Oct. 24,1864.
Willianl C. Woods, cnl. Aug. 21, 1862; trans. to Co. K, 50th O. V. 1., Oct. 2-1, 18M.

Prisoners oj War.

William Armstrong, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; prisoner, captured 1I1ay 27, 1864.
'Vi1\iam H. Cornwell, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; prisoner, Cllptured 1I1ay 27, 1864.
Gret!nberry Cornwell, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; prisoner, cl\ptured 1I1ay 27, 186-!.
Joseph Powell, enl. Aug. 2G, 1862.

Diell.

1st Sergt. James G. Sargent, enl. Sept. 30,1861; 1st sergt. from enlistment;
killed at battle of Shiloh, April 7, 1862.

Jacob Altman, enI. Sept. 30, 1861; died at Point Isabel, Ohio,1I1ay 1!1, 1862, from
wounds received at battle of Shiloh.

'Villiam S. Brown, eul. Aug. 19,1862; died at Bethel, Ohio, of fover, Oct. 6,
1862.

Alfred II. E. Chelsing, enI. Sl.'pt. 30,1861; llilled at Chiclmm'LIIga, Sept. 19,1863.
.John B. Fmzee, enI. Sept. 30, 1861; killed at Chickamauga, Sept. 1!J, 1863.
Joseph G. Hines, enl. Sept. 30. 1861; killClI at Lattle of Shiloh, April 7,1862.
William Hodkius, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; died in hospital at LeLanon, Ky.! Dec.

25,1861.
Joseph S. Irwin, enI. Sept. 30,1861; died in hospital at HamsLurg Landing,

Tenn., lllay 21, 1862•
.John W. Long, enl. Aug. 10, 1862; recruit; died in hospital at NllShville, Tenn.,

.Jan. 24, 186.1.
Nathan Laypole, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; died July 11, 1S64, from wounds received

at Kenesaw Monntain, Ga., June 23, 1864.
Reuben 1\1. lIlitchell, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; died in hospital at Camp Fyffe, Ky.,

Dec. 25, 1861.
Andrew 1I1etzger, enI. Aug. 26,1862 j recruit; died in ho~pital at Nashville,

Tenn., Dec. 31, 1862.
Van Buren 1Ileeker, enl. Sept. 30,1861; died at Bowling Green, Ky., 1I1ay 7,

1863.
David lIIetzger, enI. Aug. 26, 1862; recruit; died at Nashville, Tenn., May 29,

1863.
Van Buren Martin, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; died at Chattanooga, Tenn., of wounds

recch'ed at KeneSI\W 1Ilountain, June 21, 1864.
.John C. Newldrk, enI. Aug. 26, 1862; recruit; died at. Stone Rivel', April 6,

1863.

Isaac Peun.)', enI. Aug. 27,1862; recl"Uit; died at Murfreesboro', 'fenn., May 15,
18G3.

Peter W. Shinkle, enI. Snpt. 30, 1861; died in hospital at Nashv'illll, Tenn., lI1ay
15,1863. .

William n. Swope, enI. Sept. 30, 1861; died at NILshvil1e, Tenn., .Tan. 21, 1863.
l'almer Was~on, enl. Sept. 30, 1861; died in hospital at NllSh\"ille, Tenn., Dec.

16,1862.
COll1PANY I.

Capt. diarIes A. Sheafe, COlli. Jan. 26,1862; capt. from enlistmellt.
1st Lieut. James R. Temple, COIll. Feb. 1, 1862; 1st lieut. from c!l.Jistment; res.

}'eL. 2, 1863.
1st Lieut. Francis F. KiLler, com. Feb. 10, 1863; 2d lieut. from el\Jistment; pro.

'to 1st lieut., FeL. 10. 186:1; disch. on account of \\'oun.ls, Oct. 6, IS6!.
Capt. WiI1inm Bartlow, COlli. Felt. 20, 1865; sergt. from enlistllJl!nt; 111'0. to 2d

lieut., Felt. 10, 18G2; pl·O. to ClIpt., F ..b. 20,1865; lnlOs, fronl Co. }<'.
2d Lieut. Robert C. Druke,' com. March 26, 1865; pri\"l\te at enli~hnellt; pro. to

sergt., Sept. 1, 1864; pro. to 1st sel·gt., Oct. 31,1864; pro. to 2d liout.,
Jl[arch 26,1865;' tmns. from Co. G to Co. r.

1st Lieut. D:miel F. 1\Iolen, com. Unrch 26, 1865; 2d lieut. at etlJjStrnent; pro.
to 1st Iieut., March 27,1865; res, .June 2G, 1865.

1st Licut. 1\licllllel Sells, com. 1Iiarch 4,1863; sergt.•maj.at enli~hncnt; pro. to
2rl Iieut., March 5, 1863; pro. to 1st liellt., 1I111rch 28, 18M; trans. to Co.
A, May 1,18&1.

1st Sergt. Reason B. Dunn, enI. Oct.H, 1862; primte at enlistwent; pro. to
corp., 1\larch 1,1863; pro. to 1st sergt., April 1, 1865; trans. from Co. G
to Co. I, Oct. 24,1813·1,.

Sergt. James Cochmn, enl. Oct. 10, 18G2; private at enlistment; p,'o. to corp.,
1I1:lrch I, 186:l; pro. to sergt., No\". 20, 1864; trnus. from Co. G to Co. C,
Oct. 24, 1864.

Sergt. Gustavus li:alltz, enI. Oct. 14, 1862; private at enlistment; [Ira. to corp.,
Sept. I, 1864; pro. to sergt., }<'eb. 3, 1865; trans. from Co. a to Co. I, Oct.
24,1864.

Sergt. Rubert P. Fisher, enl. Aug. :11, 1862; prh'ate ateulistment; pro. to corp.,
lIIarch I, 186:l; 1'1'0. to sel·gt., Juno :10,1865; tmns. fmlll 00. D to Co. I.
Oct. 24, 186!.

Sergt. William P. Johnson, enI. Jan. 27, 18G:I; private at enlisfllll!nt; pro. to
corp., April 1,1865; pl'O. to sergt., June 30,1865; tmns. (1'0111 Co. A to
Co. I, Oct. 2-1, 1864.

Corp. Jaml's A. Youug, enl. Oct. 17, 1862; private at elllistment; l.Jro. to corp.,
Sept. I, 18M; trullS. from Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24, l11M.

Corp. Jacob Roehm, enl. Oct. 22, 1862; private at enlistment; pro. to corp., Dec.
31, 1864; trans. from Co. G to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.

Corp. John G. 1\[olen, enl. Feb. 24, 1864; private at "nlistment; 1>1'0. to corp.,
Dec. 26, 18(;4; .tmns. fl'OlIl Co. K to Co. I, Jllue 26, 1865.

Corp. Juhn Scott, enl. Oct. H, 18G2; private nt enlistment; pro. to corp., April
1,1865; trans.. from Co. G to Co. I; Oct. 24, 1864.

Corp. IIIortimer Boone, enI. }'eb. 10, 1863; private at enlistment; l.Jro. to corp.,
April 1,1805; tmus. from Co. C to Co. I, Oct. 24, 186i.

Corp. Darius Shinkle, enl. Oct. 14,1862; prh'ate at enlistment; pro. to corp.,
Aprill, 1805; trans. fmlll Co. G to Co I, Oct. 2!:1864.

Corp. James A. Coumy, cnl. Sept. 12,1861; prh'ate at cnlistment; pro. to corp.,
Aprill, 1865; trans. from Co. A to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.

Corp. Richard H. Askran, cnl. Oct. 14, 1862; primte at enlistment; 1>1'0. to corp.,
June ao, 18tl[); tmus. from Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24,1864.

1I1usician William 'Bartlett, enl. Dec. 16, 1863; musician at enlistlllcnt; trans.
from Co. 1{ to ClI. I, June 26, 1865.

Musician Dani,!1 Cornell, enI. Dec. 23, 1863; musician at enlistlUent; trans.
from Co. K to Co. I, June 26, 18li5.

ltrederick Arn, enI. Oct. 21, 1862; trans. 1'1'001 Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
William Armstl'ong, 1'111. Se!lt. 20, 1861; trans. from Co. H to Co. I, Oct. 24,

18M.
Samuel BiI1ing'sly, enI. .Tan. Ii, 1862.
GnstlL\'uS A. Bochin, enl. Oct. 22,1862; tmns. from Co. G to CO. I, Oct. 24,

18M.
Isaac Deaell, enI. Feb. 10,1865; trans. frol11 Co. K to Co. I, June 26, 1865.
Franklin Crist, enI. Oct. 14, 1862; sent to hospital, IIIay 27,1864; truns. from

Co. G to Co. I, Qct. 24, 1864.
Newton J. Colier, en!. lI1arch 9, 1864; tn(ns. from Co. D to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
William B. Curl'y, enI. Oct. 2, 1862; trims. from Co. H to Co. I, Oct. 2'l, 1864.
John 1\1. Croswell, cuI. Oct. 14,1862; trans. fl'om Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24,1864.
James L. Cahal, ellI. Nov. 8, 186:.!; traus. from Co. G to Vo. I, Oct. 2'l,1864.
John Colvin, enI. Junc 19,1863; sent to hospital at lIfc1\Iinnville, Tenn., Sept.

13, 1863; tl'UlIS. from Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864•
.James '1'. Campbell, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; trans. fa'om Co. G to Co. I, OCt. 24, 1864.
Enlstus B. DUlllpford, enl. Oct. 20, 1861 ; tmus. from Co. E to Co. t, Oct. 24,

1864.
.Jesse O. Davy, enI. Oct. 24,1863; tnllls. from Co. B to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
Peter Forthoffer, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; trans. from Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
Johll II. Flynn, en I. April 18, Hl63; trans. from Co. C to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
Robert Fithen, enl. Sept. 29,1862; traus. from Co. K to Co. I, June 20, 1865.
John 111. Hood, enl. Dec. 31, 1861; in hospital lit Colulllbin,l{y., Feb. 18, 1862.
Solomou Halfhill, (luI. Oct. 20, 1862; tnms. from Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
Leroy llindle, enl. Feb. 10, 1865; trans. from Co. K to Co. I, June fi!6, 1865.
John N.Joseph, enl. ~1arch 8, 186:J; in IllIspital at Camp Dennison, Ohio, lIIurch

10, 18G5; trons. from Co. C to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
John 1{a1.ad, enl. Dec. 22,1862; in hospitlllllt Nashville, Tenn., March 26,1862•
1\1:LIIIIIUI I,lLng, cuI. lITal'ch 6, 18H2; in hospital.
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Jllmo~ M. I,)'nch, onl.•Tan. 10, 186:1; trans. from Co. C to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
John W. Lane, enI. Oct. 11, ]862; trans. frolll Co. K to Co. I, June 26, 1865.
l'olk Muml)', enl. Dt·c. 20, HUH; in hospital at Columbia, l{)'., Feb. 12, ]S62.
Willialll :\lorris, onI. Oct. 2, 1861; trans. from Co. C to Co. I, Oct. 2,1, ISM.
Lea\'itt 1Ilalott, enI. March 25, 1862; inllllspital at New Albany, Ind., April 1,

1865; trans. from Co. C to Co. D, Oct. 24, lS6·!.
Lou8tus Malott, enl. Jail. 4,1863; in hosp. at TulIahoIllll, Tenn.,' Feb. 16, 1865;

trans. from Co. 0 to Vo. I, Oct. 24, 1116'1.
I'llwis C. .l\laloU, enl. Jan. '1, IS6:I; trans. from Co. C to Co. I, Od. 24, 1864.
Byrun l\lllrshalI, enl. Dec. 28, 18G2; trans. fl'l-Ill 00. C to Co. I, Oct. 24, 18G4.
•Tuhn T. 1I1l'rrill, enI. Oct. G, ]8G2; tmlls. from Co. II to Co. I, Oct. 24,1864.
John W.1Ilaklein, enI. Feb. 25, 1864; trans. from Co.K to Co. I, .Tuno 2G, 1865.
Abnor E. 1IlcCalla, enI. Sellt. 24, ISG:.!; trans. from Co. K to Co. I, Jllne 2G, 1865.
1Iiartin W. 1I1cLefresh, enl. Aug. 2G. 18G2; trans. from another company.
Pder R. Norris, enI. Jail. 4, 1864; trans. frolll another cOIllpany.
Isaac 1'. Osllorn, enI. Dec. :11, 186:3 ; tmns. from another company.
Harrison l'arl,s, enI. DeC. 3], 18G3; trans. frolllllnother company.
I,oroy Pearson, enI. No\'. I, ISG1; in hosp. at Ste\'enson, Ala., since Aug. 18, 'G2.
Clllell l'ierce, enI. Oct. 13, ]8G2; trans. from Co. G to Co. I, Oct. 24, 1864.
Jcremillh Priest, enI. Jan. 13, 18G:3; trans. from another company.
Jallles Quinn, enI. Oct. 13, 18G2; tmlls. from Iwother company.
Charles Uutherford, 1'111. Oct. 5, 18G2; trans. from allot her company.
"'iIliam 11. Rogus, enI. Oct. 18, 1862; trans. frOUllllIQther cumpany.
Gt'ol'ge W. Richards, enl. Jail. 27, ]S64; \'eteran recruit.
William ROlley, enI. Sept. ]3, 18G1; trans. from different cGlllpany.
Johu "'. Steward, cnI. Sept. 1:3,1861; trans. frum (Iifferellt cOlllpallY.
Wade II. Scisco, enI. Jail. 1, 1862; in hosp. (d:lte :Ultl placo uuknowlI).
Jo~eph Schiler, eul. Feb. 12, 1862.
Heury C. Smith, enI. Ol:t. 14, 1862.
Johu Stone, enl. Feb. 9, 186:l.
Johu Sloan, enl. Feb. 19, 1863.
WiIlillln W. Smith, eul. Oct 16, 1862.
John Smith, enl. Jan. 21, 1864; in hosp. at Jeffersonville, Iud., sinco April 1,

1865.
William Staten, enl. Sept. 16, IS61.
Charles Stllten, pnl. Sppt. 16, 1861.
Thomas Sanders, enl. Aug. 1:3, IS62; trans. from another compan)'.
George \V. Stpwllrd, enl. Doc. 1,186:3; trans. from 'lIJother coml'llny.
Williamlt. Steward, eul. Jau. 4, 18G!; iu hosp. at Nashville, Tunn., since Dec.

28,1864.
Dllvid TUl'ker. eul. :1\Iarch 8, 11lG:3; trans. from auother company.
\VilIialll \V. Tolallll, enl. .Tan. 8. 18M; trans. from another company.
William E. Thompson, enl. Sept. IG, 18G1; tmns. fromllnother company.
\VilIillm F.1'i\·is, enl.1I1arch, 1864; tmlls. frolllauother cqml'any.
lteuben Utter, enI. Fell. 10, 1865; tmns. from another cOllllJany.
John Wps!t·y, enI. Duc. 31,1861; in hosp. at KllSh\'ille, 'f(,n.n., since lIlllY 20, '62.
James W. Work, enI. Jan. 10, 18G:3; in hosp. (place lind dato unknown).
ltichard Waits, enl. Jan. 16,1863; iu hosp. at Cincinnati, O.,sim·e April 1, 1865.
John M. Williams, enI. Oct. 14,1862; trans. frollll\lwther c01llpany.
Elias \\·aits. (·nl. Jan. 20, lS6:3; trans. from another C(llllpan)'.
Charles \Vaits, enl. Jan. :!6. 1863; tmns. Irom anuther cumpauy.
Vincent C. White, onl. Dec. 6, 1862; ill husp. at Cincinnati, Ohio, since April 1,

18G5.
John Walker, enl. Jan. I, 186:3; tmns. from another company.
Charles \\'est, enl. Oct. 19, 1862; tmns. froln another company.
Heury Walker', enl. Oct. 22, 1861; tmns. from COlllPllll)·.
ltobert A. Young, enlo Oct. 13, 186:!; t11lns. frum another compan)'.
John York, enl. Jan. 1, 1862 j in hosp, at Culumbia, Ky., siuce }'eb. 12, 1862.

llil/cd ill Actioll.

Daniel1\1. Kirby, enl. 1I1arch 1, 1862 ; IdlIud at battle of Shiloh, April 7~ 1862.

Deceased.

1st Sergt. Ellwiu B. nam, enI. Jan. H, 1862; died in hosp. at E\'ansville, Ind.,
Allril 22, 1862, of wounds recei\'edat llattle of Shiloh, April 7,1862.

Sergt. John S. Cook, enl. Duc. 30, 1861 i died in hosp. at Nash\'ille, 'l'enn., :lIlay
3,1865.

John W. llilrr, enl. :lIlarch 16, 1861; died iu hosp. at Nash\'ille, Tenn., Feh. 22,
1862.

Lorenzo D. Ferris, enl. Nov. 9,1861; died in hosp. at Nashville, Tenn., June 15,
1863.

Samuel C. Rilcy, enl. l\Iorch 1, 1862; died in hosp. at NashYilIe, Tenn., ~\pril 6,
186:3.

Andrew J. York, enl. No\'. 17, 1862 i died at Nash\'iIIe, Tenu. (no datI' gi\'un).

Discharllcrl.

1st Sergt. Nathan T. 1I100re, enI. Oct. 22, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of
senicl', Nov. 1,1864.

Sergt. James A. A\'ey, enI. Sept.n, 1862; disch, by order.
Sef·gt. Willillm II. Brown, enl. Aug. 18, 186:!; disch. on surg. certificate, lIIarch

15,1865.
Scrgt. Lero)' S. Frnzier, enI. Aug. 14, 1862; disch. hy orller.
Sergt. Geurge W. Reed, enl. Jan. 25, 1862; disch. on expiration of term of 801'­

vice, Feh. 2, 18G5.
Sergt; ltobert C. Shaf,-r, enl. O(·t. 22, 18&1; disch. on expiration of term of scr­

vice, No\'. I, 186-1.
Sergt. Absalom R. StockwelI, eul. Oct. 22, 1861; ~lIsch. on expiration of term of

service, Nov. 1, 18(;'!.

1st Sergt. Hobert 0, Dml'e. enl. Oct. 22. 1862; disch. to accept pro. as 2tl lieut.,
(1u. O,5!Jth O. V. I., 1I1111'ch 26, 1865.

Corp. Juhn Clemens, cn!. Dec. 20, 1861 (tli~charged,no dato or calise given).
Corp. SamuelI'. CUllles, enl. Feb. 1,1862; disch. on expiration of term of ser­

vice, Fob. 2, 1865.
Corp. John \V. Jackson, enl. Jan. 7, 1862; disch. at Louisville, Ky., Feb. 6,

1863.
Corp. SlInH1<'1 1\1. Hoop, enl. Oct. 26, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of Slll'­

\'ice, N"m'. 1, lS64.
Core. Georg" D. Worle)', elll.lIIarch 1, 1862; disch. on expiration of terlll of sor-.

vice, March :3, 1865.
'ViIliam Applegate, enl. Nov. 28, 1861; disch. on oxpi11ltion of term of service,

Dec. 4, ]SG4.
John \V lloyd, l'nI. Oct. 26, 1861 j disch. on expiration uf tt'rm of ser\'ico, Nuv.

V,186-1. '

James \V. Burton, cnl. Dec. 20, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of ser\'ice,
D..c. 24, ISM.

llmnsfu\'l.i Camahan, enl. ,Tall. 1, 1862; disch. on expi11ltion of term of servicc,
Jan, 5, 1>:65.

Larkin, Camllhan, enl. Jan. 1, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of ser\'ice,
Jan. 5, lS65.

WiIliam Clllllahan, cnl. Jan. I, 186~ i disch. on expiration of term of ser\'ice,
Jan. 5, 1865.

Franklin, Call1ahan, enI. Jan. I, ]862; disch. on expiration ef tel'm of service,
- Jan. 5, lS65.

.Tames III. Call1ahan, enl. Jan. 1, 1862 (no dale or causo gi\'en).
John ll. Cllnn, enl. Oct. 11. 1862; disch. for disability, May 15, 1865.
Job ConoH'r, enl. Sept. 16, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of service, 1\1ay

Ii>, 1865.

George A. Crnt", enl. Feb. 24, 1864; disch. 1.y order.
Aaron Custer, enI. Dec. 9, 1861; disch. at Camp Chase, Ohio, Jan. 27, 1862, by

writ of habeas corpus.
John Carr, enl. Dec. 9, IS61; disch. on expiration of term of ser\'ice, Dec. 24,

18G4.
llrice Edington, enl. Nov. 1, 1861 (no date 01' l'anse).
Isaac Elrod, en!' Doc. 20, 1861; disch. on expiratiun of torm ofsen'ice"Jan. 26,

1865.
Anthony Elrod, enl. Dec. 20, 1861; disch.on expiration of tenn of ser\'ice,Jan.

26,1865.
Lorenzo D. Fowler, enl. Oct. 26,1862 (no date or cause).
~'mncis Finuegan, enl. Nov. V, 1861; disch. for disability at St. Louis, lifo.,

June 20, 186:t
Lewis Guile)', eul. Dec. 27, 18G1; disch. for disability, Jan. ]9, 1865.
Jumes H. Guines, en!.Jan. 6, 1862; diseh. for disalliIit)' at 1IIurfreesboro', Tenn.,

lIIarch 21,186:3.
John \V. Hines, enl. Jan. 2, 1864; disch. to accept pro., .Jnne 17, l8G4.
Willialll Hines, enl. Dec. 7, i863; disch. fur ,)isabilit~·, lIlarch 15,1865.
Andrew Huston, enl. Dec. 18, 1861; disc1.J. for disability at Louis\'ilIe, Ky.,

lIIa)' 11, 1863.
Peter Hoop, cn!' Oct. 22, 1861; disch. on eXl'il'lltion of term of service, Nuv. 1,

ISM.
William II. ner, enI. Dec. 22, 1863; disch. by order, lila)' 3, 1865.
Isaillh lieI', enl. Dec. 23, 1863; diseh. by order, 1I1ay 3, 1865.
William Jones, enI. Feb. 8, 1862 (no date or cau.e).
Da\'id l{ll1ltz, (·nl. Oct. 14, 1862; disch. for disability, Jan. 16, 1865.
WiIliam A. Mullen, enl. Fl'b. 6, ISfi4; disc1.J. for disability, JllIl. 25,186.5.
Joseph 1IIetzgpr, enI. Aug. 26, 1862; disch. on expiration of t"rm of ser\'ice,

June 28, 1865.
William 1I1iIl,·r. enl. Oct. 18, IS61; disch. for disability, Dec. :30, IS63.
Jacob lIlink, euI. Oct. 17, 1861; disch. on oxpimtion of term of ser\'ice, Nov. 1,

18M.
JOS]llllL Merriman, enl. Oct. 22,1861; disch. on expimtion of torm of S9rvico,

Nov.l,IS64.
John 1I1nllen, enl. Sept. 16, 18G1; disch. on expiration of term of service, De..c.

24,1864.
Joseph Pe('d, enl. Dec. 20, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of service, Dcc.

24,1864.
Lindsey W. Itich, enl. Jan. 1,1862; disch. on expiration of terlll of ser\'ice, Jan.

5,18fi5.
F1'llnk Reed, enl. Sept. 12, 1861; disch. for disability, Feb. 8, 1865.
WiIliam ll. Hose, enl. lIIal'cll 1, 1862; disch. on expiration of term of service,

. l\larch, 3, 1865,
Absalom Ruush, onl. Nov. V, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of service,

Nov. 9, 1861.
Thomas Robinson, enl. Nov. V, 1861; disch. on expiration of tcrm of service,

Nov. 9, 1864.
Joseph noush, enI. Nov. 26,1861; disch. on expiration of term of sel'\'ico, Dec.

24,18€4.
Wesley C. Shinkle, enl. Jan. 28,1862; disch. on expiration of term of service,

Feb. 2, 1865.
John Spires, enl. Oct. 14, 1862; disch. for disa1lility,l\larch 20,1865.
Georgo W. Smith, enI. Oct. 26, 1861; disch. on expil'lltion of term of ser\'ice,

Kov. 1, 1864.
George W. Stilts, enI. Doc. 20,1861; disch. on expiration of term of ser\'ice,

Dec. 24, IS64.
Willialll Strange, enI. Dec. 2, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of sPr\'ice,

]leI.'. 24, 18M.
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Willillm 'Vilson, enl. Feb. 18, 18G2; disch. on expiration of term of service,
Dec. 21, 1865.

Rottn West, enl. Oct. IS, 1861; disch. on E."X1Jiration of term of service, Oct. 18,
1~ •

James Wardlow, enl. Oct. I, 1861; disch. on expiration of term of service,
1I111rch 15, ]ll135. .

El'Ilst WhitmireI', enl. Oct. 22, 1862; disch. for disabiJitr, March 23,1865.

Tralliifel"l·ell.

John III. Barnes, enl. Jan. 2, 18C4; trans. to brigade band, 3d Brigade, 3d Di­
vision, Nov. ], 1864.

Fried)~' Burm, enl. }'eb. 27,1804; tmns. to Co. C, 15th Vet. Rcs. Corps, Dec. 3,
1864.

COIlIPANY K.

Capt. E1loert 1\1. Sargent, com. Aug. 14, lll62.
1st Lient. John 1'. Purdon, com. Dec. 26, ]8134.
1st Lieut. Frank II. Woods, com. Aug. 14,1862; Idlll1d at battle of Chick­

amauga, Sept. 19, 1863.
1st Lieut. Lowell H. Smith, com. Sept. 17, 18Gl; assigned to Co. E, 59th O. V.I.,

JILn. 20, 18G4.
1st Lieut. lIlichac1 Sells, com. Oct. 22, 1861; assigned to Co. A, 59th O. V. I.,

Oct. 24, Ill64.
2d Limit. George W. IIIcLefresh, com. Dec. '2G, ]8M.
2,) Lieut. David A. Dannister, com. Ang. 14, 1862; assigned to Co. F, 59th O. V.

I., June, 1864.
Sergt. Samuel Bolander, enl. Aug. 20, 1862; corp. at enlistment j pro. Dec. 26,

1864.
Sergt. Enos F. Kelch, enl. Aug. 19, 1862; appointed corp. Scpt. 23,1862; pro.

April 27, ]86::1.
Sergt. John T.II!. Dallou, enI. Allg. 6, 1862; appointed corp. lIIarch I, 1863;

1'1'0. June 1, ]863.
Sergt. Joseph 'r. Sargent, enl. Aug. 19, 1862; appointed corp. lIIarch 1, 1863;

pro. Dec. 26, ]864.
Scrgt. Samuel J. Gibson, enl. Aug. 23, 1862; appointed corp. March 1,1863;

pro. Feb. 2, 1865.
Corp. John A. Hicks, enl. Aug. 20, 1862; private from enlistment; pro. March

16,18Ga.
Corp. James H. Gehan, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; private from enlistment; pro. April

27.1863.
Corp. Henry H. Ferguson, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; private from enlistment; pro.

April 27, 1863.
Corp. Warren English, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; private from enlistment; pI'O. June

1,1863.
Corp. Juhn A, Swopc, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; private from enlistment j pro. Aug. 1,

1864.
Corp, Rol.ert Cnhberly, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; private from enlistment; pro. Dec.

26,186-1. .
Corp. William A. Crute, cnl. Aug. 21, 1862; private from enlistment; pro. Feb.

2,1865.
Joseph Armstrong, enl. Aug. 19,1"62; wounded and tal.en prisoner at battle of

Chickalllanga, Sept. 19, 186a, and exchangE."d Oct. 22, 1863.
1I1ichaei Deckelhimer, enl. Aug. 29, 1862; taken plisouer at Chickamauga, Sept.

19, ]863, a 1\11 exchanged Dec. 13, 1864.
,Sylvestl'r Days, enl. Au~. 9, 1862; trans. frolll Co. F, Oct. 24, 1864.
lIIorris W. Denllett, enl. Sept. 15, 1862; tl'".lns. froDl Co. F.
Thomas H. Bmwn, enl. Sept. 8,1862.
John W. Connoyer, enl. Ang. 7,1862.
Abram Chapman, enl. Aug. 11,1862.
Thomas III. Cailer, enl. Sept. 15, 1862; trans. from Co. E to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
Orlestus <Jlmtterton, enl. Sept. 27, 1862; trans. fr01l1 Co. E to Co. K, Oct. 24,

1864.
Jacob R. DpIDarias, enl. Aug. 23,1862.
William Dye, enI. Aug. 23, 1862; trans. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
-roh Echelberger, enl. Ang. 31, 1862; trans. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
Joshua Faulkner, enl. Sept. 14, 1862; tmns. fl'om Co. D to Cu. K, Oct. 24,1864.
Da.vid Flowers, enl. Aug. 31, 1862; trans. from Co. 0 to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
Edward Glellll, enl. Sept. 13, 1862; trans. from Co. F to Co. K, Oct. 24,1864.
Andrew J. Holton,cnl. Aug. 23, Ill62; trans. from Co. D to 00.1\:, Oct. 24, ]864.
Jonathan 11in('s, enl. Aug. 26, 1862•.
Wilbnr F. IIowe, enl. Aug. 6,1862.
lIIahlon 1I00Vl'r, enl. Ang. 16, 1862.
Bart Jacous, eni. Aug. 6, 1862; sent to hospital at Nashville, Tenu" Dec. 20,

186+.
William III. Jam's, enl. Aug. 11, 1862.
Henry J081in, enl. Aug. 28,1862; trans. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
Philip Kratzer, eni. Ang. 18,1862; tmns. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24,1864.
Rubert A. King, enl. Sept. 11,1862; trans. from Co. F to Co. 1\:, Oct. 24, 1864.
Orlanda Kelch, enl. Aug, 19, ]862.
Jacob Leslil', enl. Sept, 14, 1862; trans. from Co. H to Co. K, Oct. 2-1, 1864.
Clay Larkin, cnl. July 31, 1862.
Hirnl1l LCll1lan, enl. Aug.Il, 1862.
l'holllas Love, enl. Aug. 21,1862.
Sylvester Luve, cnl. Ang. 21, 1862.
Joseph nIcLefresh, enl. Aug. 7,1862.
Jacob V. 1I10ot!y, enl. Aug. 30,18G2.
l'heodore F.lIlelvin, enl. Aug. ]5, 18G2•.
Jacub lIIuyers, cnl. Sept. 7, ]S6:t

Thomas J. lI[oncA, enl. Sept. 9,1862; trans. from Co. F to Co. K, Oct. 24,1864.
James W. !\lorford, enl. Aug. 23, ]862; trans. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
lIlartin IIlal1lLm, enl. Sept. ]8, 1862; trans. from Co. E to Co. K, Oct. 24. 18M.
John W. Metzger, enl. Aug. 26, 1862; trans. from po. II to Co. K, Oct. 2-1,,1864.
Oliver 1I1:1.lott, enl. Aug. 31,1862; trans, from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24, 186!.
Wesley Metzger, enl. Aug. 20, 1862; trans. from Co. H to Co. I{, Oct. 24, 1864.
John Nichols, enl. Aug. :U, lS62; trans. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 2-1" 186!.
'Villiam n. Nichols, enl. Sept. 18,1862; trans. fl'om Co. D to Co. I{, Oct. 24, 1864.
And'rew .r. Pride, enI. Aug. 23, ]862; trans. froDi Co. D to Co.I{, Oct. 2-1,1864.
Enos D. Prlltlwr, enl. Aug. 9,1862.
Erasmus W. Prath('r, cnl. Aug. 28,1862.
Burlington Reynulds, enl. Aug. 9, ]862; wounded and tuken prisoner, :May 27,

. . 1864; supposed tu be dead.
Hiram Ross, en). Aug. 9, 1862.
Aaron Riley, enl. Aug. 26, ]ll62.
Samuell'. Ross, enl. Ailg. 27, 1862; trans. from Co. II to Co. Ii:, Oct. 24, 18M.
John W. Richey, enI. Aug. 16, lll62; trans. from Co. 11 to Co. 1{, Oct. 24, 186-1.
William F. Smith, enl. Aug, 11, 1862; woul1deu and taken prisoner, nIay 27,

1864; supp08ed to I,e dead.
Alfred Stover, enl. Aug. 18, 1862; trans. from Co. E to Co, K, Oct. 24, 1864.
Harvey Snidel', enl. .Ang. 7, 1862.
Jacob Wallace, enl. S('l't. 16, 1862; tmns. from Co. D to Co. Ii:, Oct. 24,1864.
Isaac D. Williams, enl. Sept. 23, ]862; tnll1s. from Co. A to Co. Ii:, Oct. 24, ]864.
Lncien '''eaYer, enl. Sept. 21, ]862; trans. from Co.}' to Co. K. Oct. 2-1, 18M.
Wi11illDi L. Willison, cnl. Sept. 13, 1862 ; tmns. from Co. F to Co. K, Oct. 2-1, 1864.
William C. Wouds, enl. Aug. 21, 1862; tl'l1ns. from Co. H to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1864.
William Young, cnl. Aug. 13,1862.

Recruits to be Tramjerred.

Corp. John G. IIIolen, enI. Feb. 24,1804; appointed corp. Dec. 26, 186-1.
lIIusician William Bartlett, enl. Dec. 17, 1863.
l\Iusician Daniel Cornell, enl. Dec. 23, 1863.
Isaac Beach, enl. Fl'b. 10, 1865.
Robert Fifthen, enl. Sept. 29, 1862; trans. froDi Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24,1864.
Leroy Hurdle, enl. F~b. 10, 1865.
John W. Lane, enl. Oct. 11, 1862; trans. from Co. F to Co. K, Oct. 24, 1804.
lIIartin W. lIlcLefresh, enl. Aug. 26, 1862.
Abner E. IIIcUolle, cni. Sept. 24, 1862; trans. from Co. D to Co. K, Oct. 24; 1864.
'Villiam R. Srewart, enl. Jan. 4,1864; sent to loltJspitul at NashviJIe, Tenn., Dec.

28,1863.
George W. Stewart, enl. Dec. 1, 1863.
Thomas Sunders, enI. Aug. 13, 1862.
William }'. l'ivis, enl. lIIarch 18, 1864.
Reuben Utter, enl. ]feb. 10, 1865.

Trallsjerrcll.

Corp. William Dagley, enl. Aug. 23, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps, IIIarch 25,
Ill64.

Quinn T. Dlair, enI. Aug. 10, 1862; pro. to sergt..maj.; trans. to non-commis­
siolwd staff, 59th O. V. I., June 7, 1863.

William F. Drake, enl. Oct. 21, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps, lIIarch 23, 1864.
Ll'onard Ebaugh, enl. Aug. 23, 1862; trans. to 1st Regt. U. S. Vet. Vol., Aug.

15,1864.
SJlvester Hurley, enl. Aug. 2, 1862; trans. to I",'alid Corps, Nov. 1, 1863.
Walter n. Hill, enl. Aug. ]9,1862; trans. to Inmlid Corps, Nov. 1, 181i3.
Lafayette W. Henuersoll, enl. Aug. 19, 1862; tmns. to Vet. ReS. Corps, Jan. 13,

lll65.
Joseph L. Larkin, enl. .Aug. 2, 1862; trans. to Invalid Corps, July 29, 1863.
Charles l\Iorgan, enl. Aug. 14, 1862; trans. to 1st Regt. U. S. Vet. Vol., July

20,1864.
Charles Owens, enI. Aug. 30, ]862; trans to Invalid Corps, Aug. I, 1863.
William Vaughn, enl. Aug. 9,1862; trans. to Invalid Corps, Nov. 1, 1863.

Disellaroell.

1st Sergt. Henry lIIiller, enl. Aug. 9, 1862;' di~ch. at Nashvi11e, Tenn., Feb. 12,
1863.

1st Sergt, George W.lIIcLcfre~h, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; disch. to accept pro., Dec.
25,1864.

Sergt. Alphineas H. Hall, enl. Ang. 6, 1862; disch. at l\Iurfl'eesboro', Tenn.,
April,1863.

Sergt. Daniel F. Molen, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; disch. to accl'pt pro., Feb. 2, 1865.
Corp. Enoch 1I1. DILgby, enl. Aug. 16,1862; disch. }l'eb. 8, 1863.
Corp, Livillgston D. Breuwell, enl. Aug. 26, 1862; disch. July 25, 1864.
Corp. Daniel FrJ, enl. .Aug. 6, 1862; disch. at Nashvi1ll', Tl'nn., no date.
Corp. Juhn E. White, enl. Ang. 27, 1862; disch. IIIarch 25, 1863, at LOllisvi11e,

I{y.
Teamster William Raper, enl. Feb. 11,1862; term of service expired; must. out

Feb. 10, 1865.
Alexander Dritton, enl. Aug. 14, 1862; disch. at NlIshvi11e, Tenn., April 24,

1863.
Alonzo R. nrown, cnl. Aug 15, 18G2; disch. at I{nox"i1Jo, Tenn" April 5, ]864.
Cuurtland Drown, enl. Feb. 11, 186t; term of service eX1Jired; must. out Feb.

10, ]865,
William R. CIarlt, enl. Aug. 20, 1862; disch. at Nashvi1J(', Tenn., Feb. 3, 1863.
Charles W, Davis, enl. ]'eb. II, 1862 j term of service expired; must. out Feb.

IO,1865.
E,IWllrd },'razier, enl. Aug. H, 1862; disch.lIlay 24, IS65, for disability.
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Edward J('lTries, enl. Feu. 11, 1862: terlll of sen-ice expired; DltIst. out Feb. 10,

ISn5.
Jllllles I". Jennings, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; disch. at 1I1ul'f.·eesboro', Tenn., lIlarch

:!2,186:1.
Whittington I,ansdale, enl. Feb. 3, 1862; term of service cxpil'ed; must. out

~·eh. lU, 186ii.
Petcr It. Norris, enl. Jnl)' 28, 1862; disch. April 18, 1863, at Nashville, Tenn.
Jllllles Pahnt'r, enl. Feu. 11, 1862 j terlll of service expired; must. out ~'ou. 10,

IS65.
lIenl'~' D. Riloy, enl. Jnly 29, 18G2 j disch. lit Gallipolis, Ohio, Feu. IS, 18f,3.
E,iward Hiley, enl. Aug. 26, ISti:!: disl'h. at Nashvilll', 'l'l·IHI., Sl'pt. 26, UW3.
Thulllas L. H. nOBs, enl. Au~. 9, 186:!: disch. at COlUIllUUS, 0., Nov. :!a, ISG:!.
Sallluel Huss, enl. Sept. Iii, 1sn:! j ,lisch.at I.f1nisville. ](y., Sl·pt. I:!, Hili:l.
Johu I,. ~llIith, elll. 1\Ug. 2:1, ISG:!: ,Ii,ch. at Coviugron, KJ., April 8, 181;5.
Bl'lIj. S. Craig, ('ui. Aug. 6, 18U:! j disch. at Call1Jl D('nllisllu, Ohio, Juue 9, 18U3.
Willialll It. StoWlll'd, enl. Aug. 6, IS6:!: disch.at Nashville, 'l'enn., no date.

Died.
Sergt. Da\'id II. Sargent, enl. Ang.7, ISli:!: .lied at Nashville, 'l'enn., Feb. 13,

186:1, of jaullllice.
Sergt. William C. Richar,ls, eni. Jnl~' 28, 186:!; died at lIInrfreesboro', Tenn.,

1IIa~' 5, 18U:l, of rhenlllatism.
Lncius Buchanan, pnl. Jau. 4, 1861: died lit Chattallooga, Tonn., June 24, 186,1"

of chronic hronchitis.
William Dolandl'r, enl. Ang. 26, IS62: die,i at lIlnl'freesboro', Tonn., Oct. 24,

1864; ,liseasc not knowll.
ThomM Conover, enl. Aug. 7, 1862: died near IIIurfreesuoro', Tenn., March 10,

IS6:1. of typhoid fever.
Charles F. Cnlllk, enl. Ang. 26, IS62; died at Nashvilll>, Tenn., Jan. 17, IS63,of

Ill('asll·s.·
George W. Case, cnl. Ang. 3D, IS62: died at Chattanooga, Tl·nn., Aug. 29, 1864,

of wuun,ls.
Nicholas Ellerlllan, enl. Aug. 6, IS62; dil'd at AlIllersonville, Ga., Dec. 22,IS6!,

of scorbutus.
John Huwe, enl. Ang. 7,lS02; died at Nashville, Tenn., Jan. 2G, 186:l, of wounds

recci\'Cd at uattle of Stone HiveI'.
George W. lIouspr, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; dil'd at Nashville, Tenn., Del'. 24, 18G2, of

.l1l1.'llsll's.
Sylvester Miller, enl. Aug. 11, IS62; died at lllurfreesboro', Tenn., Feb. 7, IS63,

of t~'phoitl fever.
Edward lIIarriott, enl. .July 28, IS62; died at Stone mVel' Ford, Tenn., AprillG,

ISH:l, of pueumonia.
John II. 1I1anning, enl. Aug. 7, IS62; died at 1I1urfreesboI'0', April 16, IS6:1, of

inllaulluation of the hmin.
John A. Pmther, enl. Aug. 15,IS62; died at Nnsln'iIIe, Tenn., lIlarch 15, IS63,

of t~'phoid pneumunia.
Robert ~'. Heese, onl. Ang. 31, IS62: died at Andersonville, Ga., Oct. 2·1,1804, of

scoruutu~.

Benton R. Utter, enl. Aug. 6, IS62: died at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 28, 1862, of
rubeola.

SIXTIETH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

CO:IlPAXY 1.

Sergt. Gustavus I. "'hiltaker, enliste(1 Feb. 19, 186!.
Corp. John H. Wageman, cuI. Feb. 2,1" ISGl; primte at enlistment; promoted

Jan. 19, 1865.
Corp. George 111. Whittal,er, enl. Feu. 24, 186,1,; privute at eulistment; promoted

•June 1,1865.
James Pease, enl. Feb. 24, IS6!.
lIenry S. DoughtS. enl. Feu. 2,1" IS6!.
lIplon H. Honse, enl. Feh. 25, IS6!.
Juhn )1. .Judd, cnl. lllaroh 1, IS6!.
Napoleon Il. Leming, CHI. Feb. 25, 186!.
White lIIillel', enl. Feu. 2,1,,186,1,.
John Short, enl. Feh. 24, IS64.
Philol us Simons, en I. lliay 14, IS6!.

Diecl.

Corp. David W. Osborn, enl. Feb. 29, IS6'!; died of disease, at Salisbury, N. C.,
while prisoner of war.

John Q. lllcl(ay, enl. Feb. 24, 18M; died of disease, Kov. 20,1864, at Sl\lisbury,
N. C., while prisoner of war.

Elijah Ill. Short, cnl. Feb. 24, ISG!; died of disease, Nov. 29,1804, at Salisbury,
K. C., while prisoner of war.

Thomas S. Wilhnell, enl. Feb. 29, 1864.

SIXTY-FOUH.TH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.
COlllPANY 1.

Josl'ph lleerivester,joined as a recruit; disch.at Nashville, Tenn., Jnne 16,1865.
Daniel Doughman, (·nl. Sept. 28, 18M; joined liS a rl'cruit; disch. at Kashville,

Tenn., June IG, 1865.

SEVENTY-FIRST OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.
COMPANY E.

Andrew n. Appll'gate, joined the senice Sept. 28, IS64; must. out at NlIshville,
'l'enn., ,June 12, 186ii.

SEVENTY-EIGHTH OHIO VOLUNTEER IN­
FANTRY.
COlllPANY F.

Edwar(i Allen, disch. IIIay 30, 1865.

SEVENTY-NINTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This regiment was organized under the call of July,
18G:Z, ut Camp Denuison, in August of that year. Cler­
mont organized a company of sharpshooters, which was as­
signed to the regiment, but did not join it until the fol­
lowing' year. The regiment received marching orders Sept.
3, 1862, and crossed into Kentucky at Cincinnati, to pro­
tect that city from the menacing forces at Lexington. The
fitII of the year was spent in Kentucky and Tennessee, hav­
ing a number of skirmishes with the enemy, and often
suffering untold hardships arising from the heat and lack
of water, which also caused much sickness. On the 24th

-of' February, 1863, the regiment was assigned to the Elev­
enth Army Corps, stationed at Lookout Valley, but in the
reorganization of the army became a part of Gen. Hook­
er's Twentieth Army Corps, sustaining tha.t connection
until the close of the war; and its history from the begin­
ning of the Atlanta campaign to the close is the history of
the Ohio sharpshooters. The regiment began the cam­
paign with six hundred men, and at the close had but one
hundred and eighty-two. In the siege of Savannah the
sharpshooters silenced the guns of the fort commanding
the entrance to the city. In the Carolinas the regiment
was active and its loss severe. From Raleigh the home­
ward march was begun, the muster-out occurring at Wash­
ington, June 9, 1865. The loss of the regiment from all
causes was greater than its original strength. It was
finally diRcharged at Camp Dennison, June 7, 18G5.

OFFICERS AND .MEN FRO~r CLERMONT COUNTY.

COMPANY n.
1st Lieut. Samucl A. West, com. Aug. 29, 1862 ; pro. to capt., Jan. 19,1863; pro.

to mal, Jau. 25, 1865; pro. to lieut.-col., June, 1865.

COlllPANY C (SHARPSHOOTERS).

1st Lieut. Isaiah Daughmau, com. Aug. 15, IS6:!.
2d Lieut. nOhl'rt C. Williamson, com. Aug. 25, IS62.
Sergt. James C. Hedman, enl. Aug. 15, 1862•
Sergt. Abmhalll Flegle, enl. Aug. 15, 1862..
Sel'gt. Joseph lIIa~ee, enl. Aug. 22,1862.
Sprgt. Juhn 111. Phillips, enl. Aug. 1:;' 1862.
Corp. Iehaboti )lul'my, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; appointed corp., Sept. 29, 18G2.
Corp. Helll'Y llliller, enI. Aug. 15, IS62; appointed corp., Sept. 29, IS62.
COI·p. Samuel Atkinson, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; appointed corp., Sept. :!9, 1862.
Corp. James II. l'oote, enl. Aug. 15, IS62; appointed corp., Sept. 2!J, 1862.
Corp. Thomas C. l,'itzwater, Il.ppointed corp., Sept. 29, 1862.
""agonel' Emn llurly, eni. Aug. 15, 186:!.
Thulllas J. Elzey, cni. Aug. 29, 1802.
John D. Call1ms, cni. Aug. 15, IS62.
Richard Christiau, enl. Aug. 15, 1802.
U1~'sseM Cox, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
John Clark, enl. Aug. 15, IS62.
Samuel F. Dudll'y, cuI. Aug. 21,1862.
David Doughman, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Valentine Flegll', enl. Aug. lil, 1802.
Robert Fry, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Sallluel J. Griffith, eul. Aug. 15, 1862•

.John S. Hawkins, ('nl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Jonathan A. Hopkinson, enl. Ang. 15, 1862.
IIlclviIle Ha)'es, eni. Ang. 20,1802.
I,orenzo Ireton, cnl. Aug. aD, IS62.
Alexalllier Ireton, I1nl. Ang. aD, 1862.
Edward ]~aler, eni. Aug. 15, IS62.
,JulIIes lIlMon, enl. Sept. 20, 1862.
George A. 1I1i11er, eui. Ang. lil, 1802.
Wil1illlll Moore, enl. Aug. 16, IS62.
George F. lIIorris, enl. Ang. Ill, IS02.



MILITARY HISTORY. 223

ClIlvin S. Newton, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; trans. by f(·qnest from Co. I to Co. C,
Ang. 28, 1862.

Albert Newton, enl. Aug. 20,1862; disch. at Camp Dennison, April 11,1865.
John S. Packard, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Levi Do :stevens, eul. Aug. 15, 1862.
John 13. Savllge, elil. Ang. 15, 1862.
Dani"l Stnmp, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Thomlls P. Smith, en1. Aug. 20, 1862.
Simon P. Shetterly, enl. ~ug. 20, 1862.
Sllmuel S. Sloan, enl. Aug. 20, 1862.
George W. SmitlJ, enl. AI!g. 22,1862.
Benjamin Snider, anI. Aug, 22, 1862.
Fmnk Snell, enl. Aug. 22, 1862.
Jacob F. THylor, onl. Aug. 15, 1862.
ISMc Stouder, enl. Sept. 3. 1862.
Elijah Cowen. enI. Sept. 6. 1862.

COlllPANY II.

John Harris. enl. Aug. 14, 1862.

COlllPANY C.
Isaac Schooley. enl. Aug. 11. 1862.

EIGHTY-FIRST OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

COlllPANY C.

George D. Cmmer. enl. March 20, 1865.

EIGHTY-SECOND OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

COlllPANY G.
Thomas J. HirsclJberg, enl. Dec. 29. 1!l64.

EIGHTY-THIRD REGIMENT.

CO)lPANY B.

Corp. David C. HarbauglJ. enI. Feb. 15, 1864; joined by transfer from Co. B,48th
O. V.I.

Corp. Lewis Windsor, enl. Feb. 27,1864; joined by transfer from Co. B. 48th
O.V.I.

John '!tV. Bricker. enI. Feb. 10, 1865; joined by enlistment in 83d O. V. I.; de-
tailed to guard prisoners to Nt'w Orleans, La.

Charles 1\:. IHndle, enl. Feb. 10. 1865; joined by enlistment in 83d O. V. I.
N:apoleon B. Kindle. enI. Feb. 10, 1865; joined by enlistment in !l3d O. V. I.
Franklin A. Tribble, enl. Sept. 3, 1864; joined by tmnsfer from Co. B. 48th

O. V. I.; sent to hospilHI sick. lIIobile, Ala., June 13, 1865.
George H. Colthar. enI. Aug. 27.1864; joined by trllns. from Co. B, 48th O. V. I.

COlllPANY D.

Sergt. Britton C. Bowne. enI. Feb. 27. 1864; joined by transfer from 48th O. V.
V.I.

Corp. John Hitsman. enI. Feb. 15. 1864; joined by transfer from 48th O. V. V. I.
Corp. William H. Knot. enl. Feb. 15. 1864; joined by transfer from 48th O. V.

V. I.
William Worstell, enI. Aug. 12, 1862; joined by transfer from Co. A; present

'''th complLny in all ~ngagements; aLsent. sick. since April 3. 1865.
Felix L. Ashtou. enl. Feb. 16. 1864; joined by transfer fl'om 48th O. V. V. I.
Dewit C. Ha~'s, enI. Feb. ]8. 1864; joined by transferfrolll 28th O. V. V. T.
George 'V. Jeffries, enl. Feb. 28. 18M; joined by transfer from 28th O. V. V. I.
Thomns J. Short. enl. Feb. 15, 1864 j joined by transfcr frolll 48th O. V. V. I.
William lIlitchell.

EIGHTY-NINTH OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This organization was composed of men- from Clermont,
Highland, and Ross Counties, enlisted under the call of
1862, the companies going into Camp Dennison from
the 10th to the 20th of August. The regiment was mus­
tered in Aug. 26, 1862, and left the camp September 3d
to go into Kentucky, opposite Cincinnati, to protect that
city from a possible raid by Kirby Smith. From this
point the regiment was transferred to West Virginia, going
into winter quarters near Fayetteville Court-House. While
lying there camp fever caused the death of many soldiers
and disabled others.

After the battle of Stone River the re~iment was ordered
to Nashville, Tenn., to reinforce Gen. Rosecrans, and on
the way up the Cumberland River, at Dover, two miles
above Fort Donelson, had their first battle, Feb. 7, 1863.
Arriving at Nashville, the regiment went into camp five

miles ft'om tlie city, and the season being wet much sick­
ness ensued, causing the resignation of the colonel and the
lieutenant-colonel, and the appointment of J. D. Hatfield to
that position. A service in that part of the State followed,
and at Hoover's Gap the regiment for the first time was
under the direct fire of the enemy. The incessant raiDS
made the campaign severely hard and caused much suffer­
ing. On the 8th of July the enemy had been driven be­
yond Chattanooga, and the Eighty-ninth went into camp
at Decherd Station about the middle of the month, where it
was thoroughly drilled. On the 19th of September the
regiment was in the skirmishing-line of the bloody battle or
Chickamauga, and in the afternoon was in the hardest of
the fight. It held an important position until dark, when
the enemy closed in on its rear and captured 'it almost
entire. Col. Carlton, Lieut.-Col. Glenn, Assist. Surg.
Purdam, Capts. S. A. Glenn, Day, Gatch, Barrett, and
Adams, and Lieuts. Fairfield, Harris, Prentiss, Beard, and
Scott were sent to Libby prison, and the men to Anderson­
ville. All that was left of the regiment were forty wounded,
twenty sick, and seventy-five well men, who were led into
Chattanooga by Surgeon Crew. Meantime Capt. Jolly had
been recruiting for the J~ighty-ninth, and arriving with his
men the day after the battle assumed command of the
regiment, which now again had a rcgpectable standing. It
was at Mission Ridge, in the front of the attacking column, at
Resaca, and for the next four mocths. fought its way into
Atlanta. It made the march to the sea with Sherman, and
was with him until the capture of Johnston, April 27,
1865. After participating in the grund review, the regi­
ment was mustered out at Washington, June 7, 1865, and
was finally discharged at Camp Dennison, June 13, 1865.

OFFICERS AND :MEN FROM CLERMONT COUNTY.

n-Ioj. Joseph D. Hatfield, com. Aug. 13,1862; pro. to col. Dec. 2,1862.
Surg. H. Bra,.Ilt>y, ('om. Aug. 19, 1862; res. March 28. 186:3.
1st Asst. Surg. S. B. Crew, com. May 2:1, 1863; pro. to slll·g. June 8, 1863.
2d Asst. Surg. Colin Spence, com. AUg. 19. 1862; res. May 28. 1863.
Chaplain Ito,', A. W. Beall, com. Aug. 26, 186:t j rcs. Sept. 1, 1863.
1st Lieut. and Regt. Q.lII. William G. lIall,com. Aug. 13. 1863; appointed regt.

q.m•• Nov. 1. 186,1,; res. Nov. 15, 1864; was 1st lieut. Co. E.

COIUPANY B.
Capt. William A. Townsley. com. July 12. 18G2; res. Aug. 5,1863.
Capt. James It. Vickers. com. June 28, 1862; 2d lieut. at enlistment·; pro. to 1st

licut. Co. I, 89th O. V. I.. Jan. 9. 1863; pro. to capt. Co. B. Jan. 18.1864.
vice Townsley.

1st Licut. Nchemiah Green. com. Aug. 8. 1862 jIst Iieut. at enlistment j r('s.
JILn. 27, ]863.

1st Lient. Olho P. Fairfield. com. April 10,1863; appointed 1st lieut. Jan. 27.
186:3, t'we Green; died lit Columbia. S. C.• Oct. 8. 1864. while prisoner of
wal·.

2d Lieut. Ezckiel Sludc. enl. Aug. 9.1862; 2d Iieut. at enlistment j res. Jan. 27.
18G3. '

2d Lieut. John J. Darton, com. Aug. 24-. 1863 ; private at enlistment; pl·omoted.
vice Slade; res. April 18, 1864.

1st Sergt. John B. Hopkins. enl. July 14.1862; appointed 1st sergt. from 2d
sergt.• 1I1lLy Zi. 1863.

Sergt. William J. Behymer, enl. Aug. 11,1862; appointed sergt. from corp.• Jan.
27.1863; exchanged prisouer of war at Columbus. 0.; provision for hon­
omMe disdlarge of this lIIan.

Corp. Henry B. lIIILttox,onl. Aug. 11,1862; appointed corp, Sept. ].1862; ex­
changed prisoner of war at Columbus, 0.; provision made for the honor­
able discharge of this nmn.

Corp. Artemus D. Sutton, ·enl. Aug. 18. 1862 j appointed corp. Sept. 1, 1862 j ex­
changed prisoner of war at COlUIllUUS, 0.; provision made for thc hon01'­
allie discharge of this nUlII.

Corp. Henry 11<.1', enI. Aug. 14, 1852; appointed corp. April 30. 18G3.
Corp. Samuel P. Holland, enl. Aug. 5, 18H2; appointed corp. lIlay 1, 186t.
Corp. Joseph IL Ely. cnl. Aug: 8, 1862; appointed corp. June 5,1860}.

Corp. ThollllLS Jacobs, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; appointed corp. June 5, 1864.
Charles C. BI·yan. eul. Ang. 8, 1862; cxchangcd prisoner of wur; pl'ovision

made fOI' honorable dischal'go of this mUll.
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William n. Dehymer, enJiAllg. IG, 1862.
John Christoff, enl. Allg. 14, 18G2.
William O. Curtis, enl. Allg. 1, 1862.
John E. Compton, enl. Ang. 11, 1862.
Sylvester F. Duly, enl. Aug. H, 1862.
EIi,lm r.. Fagin, enl. July :W, 18fi2.
Charles 111. Gra\'is, enl. July 8, 1862.
AlIllrt>w J. liilgore, cuI. Aug. 10, 1862.
Philip Leach, enl..Aug. 11, 1862; sick at Indiauapolis; parolol1 prisoner' of war;

provision Ulal1l' for honorable l1ischarge.
Gohrmn 1'. Leeds, enl. Aug. 4, 1862.
Siduey IIlcAdams, enl. Aug. 7, 1862.
Jal1leB lIL McRoberts, enl. Aug. Ii, 1862.
William lIlcDonough, enl. JUly HI, 1862.
Joseph H. IIl0njar, enl. Aug. G, 1862.
Peter Lllkemires, enl. Aug. i, 1862; sick in hospital, Camp Dennisou, Ohio, since

}'eb. 9, 1865; provision mal1e for honorable discharge of this nllln.
William II. Peterson, l'nl. Aug. S, 1862.
Edwin L. Peterson, eul. Ang. S, 1862.
}'ountain L. Peterson, enl. Aug. 8, 1862.
William N. Sherman, enl. Aug. 14, 1862; sick in hospital,Camp DennisCln,Ohio,

since May 31, 18M; provision for honorable .lisclmr~eof this llIan.
Enoch W. Smith, enI. Allg. 8, lS62; sick at Louisville, Ky.,siuce Juue H, 18G3;

provision made for honorable discharge of this Dlau.
Ephraim Short, enl. Allg. 14,1862; sick in hosJlillll, Camp Dennison, Ohio,since

}·eh. 9, 1865; provision mIllIe for honorable discharge of this man.
William n. Whitl', enl. Ang. 12, 1862.
Charles Waits, enl. Aug. 5,1862.
Benjamin F. Waits, enl. Ang. 9, lS62.
John Waits, enl. Aug. 9, 1862.
Benjamin Woods, enl. Aug. 16, 1862.
Isaac D. Willis, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; sick at Alexandria, Ya.; provision Dlado for

hOll(lrable disdmrge of this Dian.

Wiled ill Battle.
Corp. John W. Dmgdon, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; killecl in battle at Chickamauga,

Sept. 20, 186:J.
Hamilton lIIcAliaDls, eni. Aug. 8, lS62; killed in battle at Chickamauga, Sept.

20,1863.
Died.

Francis lIL Doyd, enl. Aug. IG, 18G2; died at Nashville, Tenn., Feb. 21, 1863.
•John W. DUl"Ilett. Aug. 3, lSG2; died at Gallatin, Tenn., June 2:3, 186,J,
Benjamin E. nurn~tt, enl. Allg. 6, 1862; diel1 at Nashville, Tenll., Oct. la, 18G3.
James 111. Dricker, enl. Aug. i, 18G2; diell of wounds received at ~Iis:lion Ridge,

at Chattanooga, Tenn., Nov. 26, 1862.
Peter H. BrunI" enl. Aug. 8, 18G2; l1ied at Louisville, I\:~'., Feb. 2, 18M.
Daniel 'V. Cmwford, enl. Aug. 14, 1862; died at Carthage, Tenn., March 15, 'G3.
JO:leph J. Cordry, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; diel1 at Andersonville, Ga., while prisoner

of war, Aug. I, 18M.
Samuel 111. Jo:ppert, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died at Andl'rsonville, Ga., while prisoner

of war, IIlay 1, 18M.
Otho L. Hull, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died at Andersonville, Ga., while prisoner of

war, April 2i, 18M.
Corp. :l\Iilton Jones, enl. Allg. 14, 1862; died at Anliersou\'ilIe, Ga., while pris­

oner of War, Sl·pt. 10, 1864.
Sergt. John H. Jenkins, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died of wounds at Chattanooga,

Tenn., lIIarch 15, 18M.
Andrew Leach, enl. Ang. 11, 18G2; died at Dig Shant~·, Ga., of wounds, Jan. 19,

18601.
Lafayette McDllllil'l, enl. JUly 24,1862; died at Chattauooga, Tenn., Aug. 17,

18M.
Sergt. Otis l'aten, enl. Aug. 6,18G2.
Corp. Wm. M. Riley, enl. Aug. 6, 18G2; died at Andersonville, Ga., while pris­

Oller, Sept. 14, 18Go1.
George L. l'eterson, enl. Ang. 8, 18G2; died at Nashville, Tcnn., Sept. 3,1863.
Sergt. Elijah M. Tuwnsll'Y, enl. Aug. 17,1862; died at Ander:lonville, GIL., while

prisoner of war, Aug. 3, lSGo1.
Robert L. Vanosdul, eul. Aug. G, 1862; died at Chattanooga, Tenn., of wounl1s,

Sl'pt. :n, 18Go1.
Abraham Winter, enl. Aug. 11, 18G2; diel1 at Curthage, Tenn., June 14, IIlG3.
SILnllH!1 W...l1ver, eul. Allg. 14, 1862, died at Atlanta, Ga., S...pt. 23,18G4.
Jostlph I'. West, enl. Aug. 11, 18G2; died at Aul1ersouville, Ga., while prisoner

of war, Jnly 29,11;601.
John n. Wright, eul. Aug. 14, 18G2; died at Richmond, Ya., while prisoner of
. War, Sept. 9, l8G4.
Jolin A. Willis, cuI. Aug. 11, 18G2; diel1 at Danville, Va., while prisonerof wur,

April 23, 1864.
Di~cltal"!1ed.

George W. Agan, eni. Aug. 11, 1862; disch. Sept. 23, 1863.
Wesley It. Beh~·mer. enl. Aug. 11, 1862; disch. Jan. 21, 18G3,at Point Pleasant.
John J. lJarton, enl. Aug. 20, 18G2; l1isch. and must. 211 lieut. Co. B, 89tl1 0.

V. I.
}lunl1olph S. BouhvllJ'e, enl.. Aug. 5, 18G2; dlsch. March, 18G4, Camp Dennison,

Ohio..
Will ill III Cordrey, enl. Aug. 1, 1862; disch. at Camp Dennison, 0., Sept. 30,1863.
Sanford 111. CUI'lis, enl. Aug. H, 1862; disch. at Camp Bennison, 0., lU,ty 5,1864.
John lC DmUlllgin, enl. July 19,1862; l1i:lcli. at Louisville, Ky., for disability,

Nov. 16, 1863.

'Villiam Dougher y, enl. Aug. 6, 18G:); disch. at Calllp Dennison, 0., Allg. 22,
l11Go1.

Sergt. Olho 1'. Fairfield, enl. AII/:. 11, 111fi2 j disch. Aprilli\, lS63.
Jo'eph W. lIoman, enl. Allg. i, 1862; disch. Ilt I,ouisville, liy., July 18,1864.
Geurge W. IIlmlill, enl. Allg. G, 18G2; disch. ou surgeon's certificlltl', Nov. 7,

186:\ at LOllisville, Ii,,·.
Charll's liain, enl. Au~. 8, 18(;2; disch. at Camp Dennison, 0., Nov. 2R. 18G3.
Stephen G. I,inl1se~', enl. Aug. 11, 1862; l1isch. at Camp Rosecl"Uus, Va., June

I:l, 186;~.

Alonzo P. ~lcAdl\ms, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; disch. at Camp RusthCllell, Va., Jan.
G, lS6:~.

William Mattox, enl. Allg. 11, 18G2; disch. by writ of habeas corpus (under
age), lIIarch 21, 18Ga.

'Villialll II.lIlcAdams, enl. Aug. 11, 18G2: disch. at Chattanooga, Tenn., ou sur­
gl'On'S certificate, Dec. 28, 18G3.

Samuel Newberry, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; .lisch. at Camp Rosecrans, Va., .Jan. 10,
1863.

Charles W. Raper, enI. Aug. 14, 18G2; disch. at Camp Deunison, 0., 1I111y 30,
18G3.

Henry R. Rymell, enl. Jllly 20, 18G2; disch. on surgeon's certificate, at Louis­
\'iIll', liy., Oct. 29, 18G3.

Reuben Wood, enl. Aug. 14, 18G2; disch. at Cump Rosecrans, Ya., Jan. 10, 18G3.
Eumund Williams, enl. Aug. 6, lSG2; disch. at Camp Deunison, 0., Sept. 24,

1863.
Jolm W: Ward, enI. Aug.H, 1862: disch. at Gallatin, Tenn., l\Iarch 31, lS64.
Joshua JlI. Whittak... r, enl. Aug.4, 18G2; disch. at Ringgoll1, Ga., lUtLy la, 18M,

for disability.
Trallxferrell.

John E. Clark, enI. Aug. 11,1862; trans. to Invalid Corps, Aug. 12, 18G3.
Johu Fulton, enl. Aug 12, 18G2; trans. to In\"llliu Corps, l\Iay 8, 186:1.
James lU. Lyle, enl. Aug. 7, lSG2; tmns. to Invalid Corps, at Murfreesboro',

Tenn., Feb. 14, 1864.
John N.Jllc~lil1en,enl. Aug. 13, 1862; trans. to IllYalid Corps, Dec. 6, 186.3.
Gl'orge 111. Dewitt, enl. Aug. 8, 1862; trans. to Invalid Corps, Dee. 15, 1863.
1I1elancthon Wait, enl. Aug. 11, lS62; tmns. to Invalid Corps, Dec. G, 18fi3.
George W. JlIILson, enl. Allg. 4, 18G2; tmns. to Invalid Corps, Aug. 31, 18G3.
Jacob M. Cox, enl. Aug. 11, 18G2; trans. to Invalid Corps, ~Ial'ch 15, 18G4.

To be Trallxferrell.

Harnlon B. York, enl. Aug.ll, lSG2.
Emes 1\1. Townsley, enl. Aug. 8, 1862•

COMPANY F.

Capt.IIIarcellus A. Leeds, com. July 29, lS62; rl's.l\Iay 20,1863.
Capt. Thomas H. B. Norris, com. June 22, 18G3; was lst lieat. Co. E; pro. to

capt., vice Leeds; res. July 23, 1864.
1st Lieut. George W. Penn, com. July 29, 1862; diel1 at lIIoscow, Ohio, Jan. 21,

1863.
1st Lieut. Elijah IIicl,s, com. AprillG, lS(3.'3; pro. to 1st lieut., 'rice Penn, April

IG, 111G3; pro. to capt. illarch IG, 1864; trans. to Co. C, lIIarch 16, 18G4.
1st Lieut. Dudley King, com. IIIarch 30, 18G4; died near Atlanta, Ga., Aug. 13,

18G4; pro. to 1st lieut" t'ice Hicks; was 2d lieut. Co. K; allp. from 1st
sergt. to 1st lieul. Co. F; wall 1st sergt. of Co. K:

1st Lieut. Solomon Stoekey, com. Aug. 1::1, 18Go1; mllst. out on separate rolls.
211 Lieut. Elijah lIiclts, com. Aug. 20, 1862; pro. to 18t liellt. April 16,lS6:1.
211 Lieut. John S. Robinson, COlli. April 2G, 1863; app. from 1st ser~. to 2d

Iieut., ri('e Hicks; pro. Jllurc11 16, 18G3.
1st Sergt. George W. Temple, enI. July 29, 18G2; app. corp. April i, 1864; pro.

to sergt. Sept. 1, 18601; pro. to 1st sergt. Oct. ~6, 18601.
Sergt. Almer D. Fagin, enl. July 29, 18G2; app. from corp. to sergt., Sept. 1,

1863. .

Sergt. Isaac P. Tedrow, enI. Aug. IG, 1862; app. sergI. Aug. 22,1862.
Sergt. 'I'hoDms JlI. Ireton, enI. Aug. 10, 1862; app. corp. Aug. 22, lS62; to sergt.

April 7,18601.
Sergt. John D. Gatch, enl. Aug IG, 1862; app. corp. Aug.lG, 18M; to Bergt. Jan.

1,1865.
Corp. William A. Homan, enl. Aug. 13,1862; app. corp. May 20, lS63 ; exchanged

prisoner of war.
Corp. Cllllrles D. IIollldus, enI.Aug.13,lS62; app. corp. Sept. 1, 1863; exchanged

prisoner of war.
Corp. Jacob G. Brunk, eul. JlIly 29, 1862; app. corp. Jan. 1, 18H5.
Corp. Robert L. Fagin, enl. Allg. 8, 1862; app. corp. Jan. 1, 18G5.
Corp. John D. Light, enl. Aug. 15, lS62; ap~corp. Jan. 1, 18G5.
Corp. Livingston T.Perrine, enI. Aug. 12, 18G2; app. corp. Jan. I, lSG5.
lIlusichm Joseph R. Wills, enl. Aug. 22, 18G2.
lIimm T. Donal', enl. Aug. 2,1862.
George 111. Donal', enl. Aug. 1, 18G2.
Martiil Donur, enl. Aug. 2,1862; sick at Wl1mington, :N. C., since },'eb. 20, 1865.
William Cllmerer, enl. July 29, 18G2.
Lafayette Chllpman, enl. Aug. 19, lS62.
James A. Clark, eul. Aug. 16, 18G2.
John E. Carter, enl. Aug. 19, 1862.
George E. Dalie, enl. Jul.r 29,1862.
George G. Doughty, enl. Aug. 4, 18G2; exchanged prisoner.
Frederick Deeds, enl. Allg. 8, 1862; sick o.t Nu.sh\'ille, Tenn., siuce }'eb. 25,18G4.
Samnel T. Dolen, enl. Ang. 7, 18G2.
William R. l>emeris, enl. Aug. 11, 18!l'2.
Charles S. Dillingham, enl. Aug. G, 18G2.
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COMPANY G.

Capt. William Haight, com•.July 26, 1862; res. at Carthage, Tenn., April 25,'63.
1st Lieut. Oliver C. Gatch, com. July 29,1862; pro. to capt., May 24,186:3, IIice

lIaight, res.
1st Lieut. Gl'llnville Jackson, COlli. 1\Iay 24, 1863; pro. to 1st lieut. vice Gatch;

was 2d lieut. samo company; killed in action, Sept. 20, 1863.
1st Lieut. Edward S. Scott, com. l\larch 30, 1864; pro. to 1st lieut. vice Jackson,

trans. to field and staff, Oct. 28, 1864.
1st Lleut, Joseph D. Foraker, com. March 4, 1864; trans. from field and stalT,

Co. G, 89th Ohio Vol. Inf, Oct. 28, 1864.
2d Lieut. Granville Jackson, com. Aug. 1', 1862; pro. to 1st lieut., 1\lay 24, 1863,

1:ice GILtch.
2d Lieut. Edward S. Scott, com. 1\Iay 24, 1863; app.2d Iieut. vice Jaekson, pro.

May 24, 1863; was 1st sergt. same company.
1st Bergt. Joscph Chany, enI. Aug. 1:1, 1862.
Sergt. Josephus H. Hall, eni. Aug. 7, 1862.
Sergt:George Thomsburg, onl. Aug. 7, 1862.
SergI. Elliott McKinnie, cnl. Aug. 7, 1862.
Sergt. Jess&-T.1\lcClave, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; app. sergt. vice Smith, trans. to Vet.

Res. Corps.
Corp. Rufus P. Robins, enl. Aug. 14, 1862.
Corp. Samuel Wood, enl. Aug. 8, 1862; sick since June 10,1864, at Camp Den­

nison, Ohio.
Corp. James M. Combs, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; wounded;' absent since Nov. 25,

1863, at Camp Denllison, Ohio.
Corp. Robert P. Darber, enI. Aug. 12, 1862.
Corp. JoItn P. GIordin, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; app. corp. M.\rch 1, 1865.
Corp. Albert J. Gibbs, eni. Aug. 9, 186:!.
Corp. JoItn M. 1\lilIer, enI. Aug. 6, 1862.
Wallace Doy!'r, enl. Aug. 1:3, 1862; sick at Camp Chaso, Ohio, since 1\lar.20, '65.
Preston Bishop, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Wesley Brunk, enl. Aug. 11, 1862.
Anilsen Dalzll!l.user, enl. Aug. 12, 1862.
JILmell Cook, eul. Aug. 13, 1862.
Sallluel Cromel', enl. Aug. 12, 1862.
1\Iichael Dnber, enl. Aug. 4, 1862.
Thomas J. Doghnlll.lI, enl.Aug. 4, 1862; wounded; absont since Sept. 20, 1863,

at Gosheu, Ohio.
Nathaniel Day, oul. Aug. 4, 1862.
Tubal Elliott, (·nl. Ang. 21, 1862.
Froderick D. Font, enl. Aug. 4, 1862; absent sicle sinc!! 1\lay 6, 1865, at Camp

Deunison, Ohio. '
Robert Fowler, cuI. Aug. 4, 1862.
Fraucis 1\1. Glancy, anI. Aug. 12,1862.
Darton Hill, cnl. Aug. 4, 1862.
John D. lIosuor, eul. Aug. 4, 1862.
DllVid R. Irvin, enl. Aug. 5,1862.
OSen Isham, enl. Aug. 12, 1862.
David Isham, eul. Aug. 12, 1862; pris. of war since Sept. 20, 1863.
John Kameneser, onl. Aug. 4,1862.
Amos Little, cuI. Aug. 12, 1862.
William 1\lcAndrews, enl. Ang. 12, 1862; wounded; absent since Sept. 20, '63•.
Johu W. 1\IcGrcw, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; absenhick since April 31, 1865.
William 1\IcGom'y, cui. Aug. 12, 1862.
JosepIt McGorrey, enl. Aug. 12, 1862.
Smith 1\IcJ{inul'Y, cnl. Aug. 7, 1862; wounded; absent since July 23, 1864.
Elias 1\10101', enl. Aug. 14, 1862; sick; absent since 1IIarch 27,1865.
Joseph Predmore, enl. Aug. 11,1862; pris. of wal' since Dec. 1, 1864.
Alexander l'owell, enl. Aug. 4, 1862.
1\lichaell'aul, enl. Allg. 7, 1862.
Iehabod W. Patterson, enl. Ang. 11, 1862.
William H. H. Itun)'au, enl. Aug. 12, 1862.
William South, onl. Aug. 4, 1862.
Georgc P. Scott, enl. Aug. 4, 1862.
Gl'orge Simkins, enl. Aug. 9,1862.
ZelJiuia Simpkins, cuI. Sept. 21, 1864.
Cartland Smith, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; absent sick since May 24, 1865.
ThoDlllS Sly, enl Aug. 15, 1862; prisoner of wal' since Sept. 20, 1863.
John Shumard, enl. Aug. 12, 1862.
Sallluel J. 81'Ott, enl. Aug. 13, 1862.
John L. SlIIisor, enl. Aug. 13, 186:!; absent sicle sinco April 7,1865.
TIll'odoro R. WangItor, onl. Aug. 9, 1862.
John Washburll, enl. Ang. 7, 1862; ltbsont sicl. since June 4, 1863, at Louis­

villc, I~y.

John T. Archerd;eni. July 29, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps, l\tay I, 1864.
Sallluel Apple, eni. Aug. 7, 1862; tl'aus. to Vet. Res. Corps, 1\Iarch 31, 1864.
David Drunk, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; trans. to Vet. Ros. Corps, Nov. 1, 186:1,.
Olin Coombs, enl. ,July 29,1862; trans. to rl'gimental flold ltnd staff officers lUI

q.II1.-sergt., Sept. la, 18M.
Jediah Doughty, eni. Aug. 6, 1862; traus. to Vet. Res. Corps, Nov. 1, 1864.
Wm. G. Hall, eul. Aug. 1:3, 1862; trans. to regimental field and staff officers WI

q.l)l.-sergt., Sept. la, 1864.
Albert W. Huling, eni. Aug. 8, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Curps, Jan. 15, 1864.
Will. II. Smith, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. COI'pS, Jan. 15,1864.
William Towuer, eui. Aug. 4, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 15, 1864.
Illlll1c S!llith, enl. Jan. 11, 1865; trans. to 31st O. V. V. Inf., June 6, 1865.

Trallsferred.

1st Sergt. Sylvester T. Prentice, en), Aug. 8,1862; app. corp. Sept. 1, 1863; to
eergt. Sept. 20, 186:3; to 1st sergt. April 7, 1864; app. 1st Iiout. Oct. 26,
1864; trans. to Co. K, Oct. 26, 1864.

Sergt. Israel Higbee, ent July 29, 1862; trans. to V. R. C., No\·.I, 1863.
Sergt. Homs K. Dolan, enl. July 7,1862; truns. to V. R. C., Nov. 1, 1863.
COI'p. James G. Dawsoll, enl. July 9, 1862.; trans. to V. It. C., March 15, 18601.
Corp. Jesse 1\1. Simpkins, cuI. July 7, 1862; tr~ll1s. to V. R. C., March 15, ISti4.
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Discharged.

Elisha L. Deum-tt, enI. Aug. 20,1862; disch. at Louisville, }{y., lila)' 25, 1863.
Wm. C. COOJllS, enl. July 29, 1862; disch. at Gallatin, Tenn., Dec. 28,1863.
AIlJert L. Davis, fllli. Aug. 7, 1862; disch. at Cincinnati, Ohio, April 25, 1863.
John Floro, enl. Aug. 8, 1862; disch. at Gallatin, l'enll., Jan. 7,18601.
Will. T. Gatch, enl. Aug. 22, 1862; diseh. at Nashville, TellO., April 16, 1863.
Robelt D. Jeffries, eni. Aug. 7, 1862; disch. at Covington, Ky., March 24, 1865.
Corydon S. McClain, enl. July 29, 1862; disch. at Chattanooga, Tenn., Dec. 28,

1864.
William McCoy, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; disch. at Cincinnati, Ohio, March 14, 1863.
George W. Sapp, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; disch. at Gallatin, Tenn., Dec. 15,1863.
l'homas C. Smith, enl. Aug. 19, 1862; disch. at Covington, Ky., Sept. 12, 1862.
Jonathan Tompkins, enl. Aug.ll, 1862; disch. at Nashville, Tenn., April 12,

1863.
1st Sergt. John S. Robinson, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; disch. to accept promotion as

2d lieut., April 16, 1863.

1m/cel.

Bergt. John Kehm, enl. Aug. 7,1862; killed at Chickamauga, Sept. 20, 1863.

Charles III. Hunt, eni. Aug. 7, 1862.
Howard Husted, oni. Aug. 7, 1862; oxchangod prisoner.
Lewis Halfhill, enl. Allg. 18, 1862.
'William C. ,Johnson, oni. Aug'. 7,1862.
Edward D. Leeds, enl. Aug. 11,1862.
Charles N. Lowe, eni. Aug. 9, 1862.
Edward B.1IIyric, eui. Ang. 2,1862; sick at Na'lhville, Tenn., since July 27,

1864.
T'ilOmas J. Miller, oni. Aug. 13, 1862.
John 1IIiIler, eni. Ang. 13, 1862.
Joseph Pingle, enl. Aug. 9, 18(j2.
William J. Hodgers, eni. Aug. 7, 1862.
John 'V. Simmons, enl. Aug. 13, 1862.
Turpen Starks, enl. Aug. 6,1862.
Will. W. Swing, enl. Aug. 22, 1862.
Frederick Terwilliger, en1. Aug. 12, 1862.
Wesley S. Turton, enl. Aug. 15, 18112.
George B. 'red row, eni. Aug. 14, 1862; !'xchanged prisoner.
James Viers, eni. July 29, 1862.
Chambers Vanner, eni. Aug. 8, 1862.
Josepb K. Wills, enl. Aug. 22, 1862; sick at Camp Dennison, Obio, since 1I1ay

13,1864.

Jfissill{} ill Action.

James W. Hicks, enl. Aug. 13, 1862; missing at Chickamauga, since Scpt. 20,
1863.

Died of Disease.

1st Sergt. Oliver S. Robinson, eni. Aug. 6, 18f}2; died at 1\lurfreesboro', Tenn.,
JUly 30, 1863.

1st Sergt. Alonzo O. Bennett, enl. Aug. 6,1862; died in prison at Dan\'iIle, Va.,
Feb. 1, 1864.

Sergt. Oliver C. Temple, eni. Aug. 6,1862; dit'd in prison at Richmond, Va"
Jan. 1, 1864.

Corp. John F. Drown, eni. Aug. 8, 1862; died in pl'ison at Danville, Va., Dec.
20,186:1.

Corp. William Viers, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; died in prison at Richmond, Va., Dec.
1,1864.

John Dennett, enl. Aug. 22,1862; died lit Cowen Station, Tenn., Oct. 1, 1863.
John W. Dunseth, enl. Aug. 8, 1862; died at Amelia, Ohio, 1\Iarch 22, 1864.
Wm. D. French, enl. Aug. 8, 1862; drowned at Ringgold, Ga., May 2, 186!.
Isaac D. Fagin, enl. Aug. 6, 1862; died in prison at Danville, Va., April 21, '64.
Josllph Justice, anI. Aug. 8, 1862; died of wounds receh'ed in battle of Mission

Ridge, Ga., Dec. 27, 1863.
Frank Logan, enl. July 31, 1862; died in prison at Andersonville, Ga., May 30,

1864.
George 1\1. Leeds, eni. Aug. 8, 1862; died in prison at Nashville, Tenn., Feb. 26,

1863.
David Ligbt, enl. Aug. 10, 1862; died at Camp Dennison, Ohio, March 20,1863.
Jol1n R. LawJer, enl. Aug. 22, 1862; died in prison at Andersonville, Ga., Sept.

30,1864.
Charles J. 1\Iiddleton, eni. Aug. 2,1862; drowned at Cartllage, Tenn., March

26,1863.
John L. Dorter, eni. Aug. 9, 1862; died at Ringgold, Ga., Fob. 25, 1864.
Allen J. Smith, enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died in prison at Danville, Va., Sept. 1, 18M.
Dewitt W. Slye, enI. Aug. 8, 1862; died at Deeherd Station, l'enn., July 2S, '63.
Charles W. Tucker, enl. July 31,1862; died at Camp Fenwick, Va., Jan. 5, 1863.
George Troub, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; died at Annapolis, Md., July 15,1864. .
'VIII. L. l'urton, eni. Aug. 1, 1862; died in prison at Danville, Va., Feb. 10, 18M.
Ramoth L. Wheidden, eni. Aug. 6, 1862; died at Nltshvilll', 'rellll., Sept. 2,1863.
Allen Winans, eni. Aug. 22, 1862; diod at Carthage, Tenn., May 28, 1863.
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Francis 111. Wood, cnl. Aug.n, 1862.
Andrew Wbitnker, cnl. Aug. 12, 1862.
Wllrrcn l'. Williams, cnl. Aug. 1, 1862.
Andrew Willis, enl. Aug. 12, 1862.

Killed in At·Ii<m.

Dn"id 1\[orrison, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; killed I\t baltIc of CbickanlnugR, Sept. 20,
1863.

JoePllb D. Smith, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; killed at battle of Chickamauga, Sept. 20,
1863.

Snmuel Smith, eul. Aug. 14, 1862; killed on Illl' field in Gporgia, July 20, 1864.
William VuucaDlp, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; killed lit Imttle of Chickan\lluga, Sept. 20,

1B6:t
'Illeorlore N. Vaughu, enl. Aug.15, 1862; killcd at battle of ChickaDlaugu, Sept.

20,1863.
Silas Wt'aver, enl. Aug. 1\!, 1862; killed at Imttle of ChicknIDlluga, Sept. 20,

1863.
Died.

Osborn Cooller, pnl. Aug. 12, 1862; died at Nashville, Tenn., lIIarch 29,1864, of
pnenmonia.

Josinh Claylon, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; died at Andersonville, Gu., July 28,1864, of •
tlyspntery.

Jncob Conover, cnl. Aug. 6, 1862; died at lIIurfreesboro', Tenn., June 28, 1863,
of inflammalion of the brain.

Henry HoIsted, enl. AUl!.12, 1862; died at Nashvillc, Tenn., April 22,1863, of
consumption.

Elias S. llill, enl. J\ 11g. 14, 1862; died at Andersonville, Ga., June 3,1863, of
scorbutus.

Willialll Lit tit·, enl. Aug.H, 1862; died at Nasln"iIll', Tenn., 1\larch 6,1863, of
pneuDlOnia.

'Villialll B. l'erkins, enl. Aug. 8, 1862; died at Andersonville, Ga., July 26,1864,
of scorbutus.

William Patterson, cnl. Aug. 15, 1862; died at Nnslivilll', Tenn., 1\larch 3,186.1,
of er;)"sipelas.

Harv..)· Shumard, enl. Aug. 1, 1862; died at llOme in Ohio, Oct. 22, 1862, of
typhoid fever.

Granville SbnnllLrd, enl. Ang. 15, 1862; dil'd at Charleston, S. C., Dec. 4, 1864,
of scorbutus.

Juhn D. SI)', enl. Aug. 12, 1862; died at Nll8llville, Tenn., March 11, 186.1, of
pneumonia.

Albert Shields, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; died at NnshviIle, Tenn., July 20, 1863, of
fe,·er. .'

Joeinh Sloan, enl. Aug. 16, 1862; died at ?tIurfrl'csboro', Tenn., July 15, 1863,
of typhoid fever.

Sampson 'I'hompson, enl. Ang. 14, 1862; died at Gallatin, Tenn., ,June 22, If:63.
Johu F. EbcnnaJly, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; died at And~rsonville,Ga., Oct. 18, 1864.
Lncius G. Wainrigbt, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; died at Andersol1\'iIle, Ga., Aug. 3,

18601, of scorbutus.
WilliaID Willialllson, enl. Aug. 8,1862; died at Camp Ferwick, Va., Dec. 23,

1862, of typhoid fl'ver.
John W.1\lcLefrt'sb, enl. Aug. 11,1862; died at Danville, Va., 1\lay 27, 1864,

of scorbutus.
Di..c1lo'·{jcfl.

]st Sergt. Edward S. Scott, enl. Aug. ]2, 1862; disch. at Murfrl'esuoro', Tl'nn.,
May 24, 186:1.

Jacoh Andrew, enl. Aug. 4, 1862; discll. at Columbus, Ohio, 1\lny 24, 1865.
Corp. Joseph Dunre, elli. Aug. 15, 1862; disch. at Louisville, Ky., 1I1ay 20, 1863.
Jacob LaJDlon, eni. Aug. 7, 1962: discll. at ClImp Dennison, Ohio, June 20,1863.
Eli Rust, cuI. Aug. 13, 18(;2; disch. at Carthage, Tenn., 1I1ny 24, 1863.
Arnold Snider, l'nl. Aug. 16, 1862; disch. at Camp Dennison, Ohio, June 20,

186:1.
John W. White, enl: Aug. 6, 1862; diseh. at Cnrt1\(\ge, Tenn., 1\Iay 28, 1863.
Corl>. John Wood, cuI. Aug. 15, 1862; disch. at Kashl'iIIl', Tenn., Fl'u. 27,186:3.
'Vesley Tomig, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; discll. at CUIlIP Dennison, Ohio, Dec. 18, 1863.
1st Serilt. Jost'ph C. Olivl'r, enI. Aug. 4, 1862; disch. in the field, Georgia, Aug.

12,1864, to receive appointment.

~il1l'/C1TCd.

George 111. Burge, enl. Aug. 13,1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Ct,rps, April 30, 1864.
Alexander Clawin, enI. Aug. 15, 1862; tmns. to Vet. Res. Corps.
George Fleming, enl. Aug. 5, 1862; trails. to Co. D, 89th Ohio.
LlIwrence Oligee, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps, April 20, 186!.
Sergt. Randolph"E. ~mith, elll. Allg. 10, 1862; tmns. to Vet. Res. Corps, Dec. 3,
, 1864, .'
'William S. Thacker, enI. Aug. 9,1862; trans. to Vet. Rt-s. Corps, April 22, 1864.
Viucire W. WlIinright, enl. Aug. 12, 1862; trans. to Vot. Res. Corps, Oct. 20,

1l!6.1.
Prisoners oj War.

Sergt. Cory Thornsburg, enl. Aug. 7, 1862; prisoner since Sept. 20, ]863.
Sergt. Elliott McKinnie, enl. Aug. 9, 1862; prisoner since Sept. 20, 1863.
Dllvid Isllam, eliI. Aug. 13, 1862; prisoner since S('pt. 20, 1863.
'I'homns SIJ'e, enl. Aug. 15, 1862; prisoner since Sept. 20, 1863.
JOBeph C. PreuDlore, enl. Aug.n, 1862; prisoner since Dec. 4,1864.

To be TraWl/en·ed. -

RoLert K. Chapmall, enl. Aug. 12,1862; trons. to 318t O. V. V. I., June 5, 1865.

NINETY-THIRD OHIO VOLUNTEER IN~'ANTRY.

COMPANY I.

Henry R. Wheeler, enl. Aug. 5,1862; in hospital at Madison, Ind.; was wounded
lit Hestlca, Ga., lIby 14, 1864.

ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-FOURTH OHIO
VOLUNTEER INFANTHY.

COMPANY I.
Thomas Fiscus, enl. Aug. 18, 1862.

ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTY-SEVENTH NA­
TIONAL GUAHDS INFANTHY.

COllIPANY D.
Jo1.lu J. Bryant, enl. 1\lny 2, 1864.

ONE HUNDRED AND FORTY-SIXTH OHIO NA­
TIONAL GUAHDS INFANTRY.

COMPANY C.
Adolph POUell, enl. 1Ilay 2,1864.

FIFTY-THIRD OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY
(NATIONAL GUARD).

This regiment was organized at Camp Dennison, May 12,
1864, for one hundred days, and at once left for Harper's
Ferry, Va. The greater part of May and June was con-:
sumed by the regiment in doing guard duty at that place
and along the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad. In the latter
part of June it was sent to Gen. Butler's forces at Bermuda
Hundred, and was there engaged in guard and picket duty.
A detachment of the regiment was engaged with the enemy
at North Mills, July 3, 1864, where several men were killed.
The regiment was brought home. the latter part of July, and
mustered out of the service at Camp Chase.

OFFICERS AND MEN FROM CLERMONT COUNTY.

Col. Ismel Stough (not of Clermont County), com. May 10, 1864.
Col. Geo. W. Hulick, com. 1\lay 10, 1864.
Lieut.-Col. I\Iarct'lIus A. Leeds, com. Ma)' 10, 1864.
1I1nj. Z. South, com. 1I1ay 10, 1864.
Sergt. Jehu S. Combs, enl.1\lay 10, 1864.
Asst. Sergt. John O. Marsh, enl. May 10, 1864.
Chaplain Lucien Clllrk, com.1IIay 10, 1864.
1st Lieut. and Adjt. E. A. Parker, com. May 10, 18M.
1st Lieut. and Q.l\l. S. S. Robinson, com. lIIay 10, 1864.
Sergt. T. D. Hartman, enl. 1IIay 2, 1864.
Q.l\l.-Sergt. C. N. Browning, enl.lIlay 2, 1864.
Com.-Sergt. J. C. Weayer, enl. 1Il11y 2. 1864.
Com.-Sergt. J. W. Wood, enl. 1I1ay 2, 1864.

COlllPANY A.

Capt. Thomas W. Rathl.one, com. July 7,1863; res. as mnj. of 34th O. V.
Oct. 10, lSG2; WIIS prisoner of war, llnd was disch. Nov. 18, 18M.

1st Litlut. John W. HUllt, com. July 13, 1863.
2d Lieut. William Pl'nse, com. July 13, 1863.
1st Sergt. William W. Ricker, enl. July 7, 1863.
SeI·gt. William H. Thomas, ell I. July 13, 1863.
Sergt. Josl'ph'T. Wheeler, enl. Sept. 5, 1863.
Corp. John F. Towllsley, enl. July 13, 1863.
Corp. Jerome Bt-hymer, enl. July 13, 1863.
Corp. William W. Hopkins, enl. July 13, 1863.
Corp. William n. Doan, enl. July 7,1863.
Corp. Olivel' P. Behymer, enl. July 7, 1863.
Mus. Isnac Short, eul. July 13,1863.
lIlns. William H. Avey, elll. July 13, 1863.
Frank Apple, l'nl. Aug. 22,1863.
Nathaniel Behymer, eni. July 7, 1863.
WlIlter Behymer, enI. July 13,1863.
Clarington Behymer, enl. July 13, 1863.
Aaron S. Bl'hymer, enl. July 13, 1863.
Samuel J. Behymer, enl. Jul)'13, 1863.
Levins Behymer, enl. Ang. 22, 1863.
LeYI Behymer, enl.lIlay 4, 18li4.
Theodore I. Barton, enl. July 7, 1863.
Erin Call', enl. July 13, 186!.
Joseph P. Clark, enl. 1I1ay 4, 1863.
Nelson F. Clark, enl. 1I10.y 4, 18601.
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John Cross, onl. July la, 186a.
James Dillon, onl. Sept. 5, 186:l.
1\flulrico Dolen, onl. Sellt. 5, 1863.
Georgo R. Ebersolo, enl. Aug. Ito, 1863.
•John 1\r. Eppert, onl. Jul,)" 7.1863.
James P. Fagin, enl. Jul.v la, 1863.
William W. HUllt, enl. July 13, 1863.
Georgo W. Hutchins, enl. Aug. 22, 1863.
John W. Hutchins, enl. Aug. 22, 1863.
Francis 1\1. Hill, enl. lIIay 5, 18601.
Tholl1lis S. Kilgour, enl. July 13, 1863.
Jesse D. KnalJlJ, onl. July 13, 1863.
William W. Lewis, enl. May 5, 186"'.
Benjamin 1IlaUox, cuI. Jnly 7, 186:1.
•James Nash, onl. July 13, 1863.
John Pea.~o, oul. Aug. 22. 1863.
Jared Pease, eu!. 1I1ay HI, 1864.
David L. Reeves, en!. Jnly"13, 186.1.
James P. Reeves, enl. July 13,1863.
Isaac W. Rilea, enl. JUly 13, 1863.
John Siliker, enl. July 13,186.1.
Ebenezer Stebbins, en!. July 13, 1863.
Samuel H. Stewart, enl. July 13, 1863.
William H. Simons, enl. July Ul, 1863.
Philotus Simons, enl. July 13, 1863.
Lewis \\r. TholllIlS, enl. .Tuly 13, 1863.
John Wagoner, enl. July 7, 186.1.
John Wein, enl. July 13,1863.
~'rank Zillah, enl. July 7, 1863.
Charles HOliCk, enl. July 7, 1863.
Jacob Keinath, enl. July 13, 1863.
Frederick Krouse. enl. July 13,1863.
William Luick, enl. July 13, 1863.
Andrew Lillick, enI. Sept. 29, 1863.

COMPANY B.

Capt. La.wyer M. Bickmore, com••July 8, 1863.
1st Lieut. Parley P. Hadley, com. July 8, 1863.
2d Lieut. Jal1l(os B. Joh.nson, com. July 8, 1863.
Sergt. John Beckwith, enI. July 8, 1863.
Sergt. Ambrose Nott, enl. July 8, 1863.
Sergt. James H. Whitaker, enl. July 8, 1!l63.
Sergt. Jo>' Hodgen, enl. July 8, 1863.
Scrgt. Albert D. Snell, enl. July 8, 1863.
Corp. Samuellllonce, enl. July 8, 186:3.
Corp. Georgo Orel.augh, enI. Jul,)" 8, 1863.
Corp. Erastus H. McNutt, enl. July 8, 1863.
Corp. James Snell, enl. July 8, 1863.
Corp. Nathan C. Nichols, enl. July 8, 1863.
Corp. Samuelllloyer, enl. July 8, 1863.
Corp. John Needham, en1. July 8, 18G3.
Musician Willillm Holloway, enl. July 8, 1863.
Musician Barton Orr, enl. July 8, 1863.
William Allen, enl. July 8,1863.
Davieon Appll'gate, enl. July 8, 1863.
William Applegate, enl. July 8, 1863.
John Barr, enl. July 8, 1863.
Moses Beckwith, enl. July 8, 1863.
Mark Brothers, enl. July 8, 1863.
Jilmes Calder, enl. July 8, 1863.
W. J. Carr, enl. July 8, 1863.
Arthur E. Clark, enI. July 8, 1868.
Harmon Cover, enl. July 8,1863.
Daniel Cover, enl. July 8, 1863.
Benjamin D. COlmer, enl. July 8, 1863.
Samll!.'l Curlis, enl. July 8, 1863.
William Curies, enl. July 8, 1863.
~Iarshall G. Dickey, enl. July 8, 1863.
John Fost!'r, enl. July 8, 1863.
Alfred Ferree, enl. July 8, 1863.
Frank Glancy, enl. July 8, 1863.
Thomas Goldtmp, enl. July 8, 1863.
Georgo Griswold, enl. July 8, 1863.
Samuel S. Griswold, enl. July 8, 1863.
Nicholas Guitteau, enl. July 8, ll163.
Minor T. Hadley, enl. July 8, 1863.
Caleb L. Hadley, euI. July 8, 1863.
Christopher D. Hartman, oul. July 8, 1863.
Allen Holmes, enl. July 8, 186::1.
Cornelius E. Holmes, enl. July 8, 1863.
John Hunter, enI. July 8, 1863.
Phineas Hurst, enl. July 8, 186::1.
JetTerson Hurst, enl. July 8, 1863.
B. F. HutchinRon, enl. July 8, 1863.
E. J. Hutchinson, enl. Jllly 8, 1863.
Azo.rillh Hutchinson, enl. .July 8, 1863.
El:nstus C. Ireton, cnl. July 8, }H63.

Robert Ireton, enl. July 8, 1863.
RicharllKylo, cuI. Jnly 8,1863.
James Looker, euI. July 8,1863.
Kibby II. :lIIoyer, cuI. .July 8, 1863.
Victor Nicklns, cnl. JIIly 8, 1863•
RolJert Nell, enl. July 8, 1863.
Alfred Orebaugh, enl. July 8, 1863.
Eli Orebaugh, en I. July 8, 186a.
Alexander PllUerson, enl. July 8, 1863.
Miltou Patterson, enl. July 8, 186:J.
Alfr('d N. Prickett, en!. July 8, 1863.
JII(;ob &lPP, en I. JUly 8, 1863.
II. S. Reynolds, enl. July 8, IS6a.
John ROl'ce, en1. July 8, 1863.
Elias C. Runyan, enl. iuly 8, 1863•
Henry J. Runyan, enl. July 8, 1863.
Samllel Runyan, enl. July 8,1863.
James Sadlier, enl. July 8,1863.
Peter Shumard, cui. July 8, 1863.
Richard Shumard, ent July 8, 1863.
Henry Smith, enl. July 8, 1863.
Audrew J. South, enl. July 8, 1863.
James Slymets, enl. July 8, 1863.
Elias Tice, enI. July 8, 1863.
James Turner, onl. July 8, 1863.
William Turner, cnl. Jllly 8, 1863.
Jonah Vanhorn, enl. July 8, 1863.
Francis A. Waits, enl. .July 8, 1863.
Thomas White, enl. JUly 8, 1863.
Francis lIl. White, enl. July 8, 1863.
Ansel White, er.I. July 8, 1863.
Willillm H. Willis, enl. July 8, 18113.
Thomas Whitaker, enl. lIloy 10, 1863.
Thomas K. Ellis, enl. lIlay 10, 1863.
Arthur A. Wood, enl. Jlby 10, 1863.
Thomas Noedllam, enl. lIIay 10, 1863.
Tbomas Vancamp, enl. May 10, 1863.

COlliPANY C.

Capt. John lIrcNeilJ, com. July 4.1863.
1st Lieut. L. W. Frazier, com. July 4,1863; killed in skirmish at North Riyer

Mills, July 3, 1864-
2d Lieut. W. A. Frambl'S, com. July 4, 1863.
Sergt. W. F. Landon., enl. July"', 1863.
Sergt. E. R. Salt, enl. July 6, 1863.
8ergt. L. W. Pl'nlberton, enl. July 6, 1863.
Sergt. W. F. Crane, enl. July 6, 1863.
8ergt. JlIichael Altman, cuI. July 6, 1863.
Corp. John IIIcll[l1rchy, enl. ,July 6, 1863.
Corp. Rob!'rt lIlcNair, cuI. July 6,1863.
Corp. John MotTOI'd, enl. July 8, 1863.
Corp. G. 111. Pemberton.
Corp. Perry S. 1Ilace.
Corp. Archibald IIIcNair, enl. April 30, 18601.
Corp. John R. Altman, enl. Jnly 8, 1863.
Corp. James Boulware, enl. July 10, 1863.
Allron Armacost, enl. July 11, 1863.
Philip Altman.
G. W. Anderson."T. D. Anderson.
Edward Austin, enl. May 2, 18G{.
W. A. Altman, enl. July 11, 1863.
Frederick Burk, enl. JIIly II, 1863.
Randolph Boggess, enl. JIIly 11, 1863.
Jordon Boggess, enl. July 11,1863.
Frank Brllsh, enl. July 11, 1863.
J. B Brown, onl. July 11,1863.
A. E. L. Bess, enI. July 11, 1863.
Kelly Burl,e, enl. July 11, 1863.
Piatt Brooks, enl. July 11, 1863.
Georgo Brown, cuI. July 11, 1863.
William S. Crane, l1nl. July 11, 1863.
Albert Crane, enl. July 11, 1863.
Isaac Clarl" eul. 1Iiay 2, 1864.
James Carter, elli. July 11, 1863.
Philloas Carter, enl. July 11,1863.
James Clare, onl. July 11, 1863.
111. W. Fagley, en I. July 11, 1863.
J. N. Fisber, enl. July 7, 1863.
Oliver Frazee, enl. July 4, 1863.
W. W. Ford, e"nl. April 24, 1864.
S. P. ~'isher, oul. July 4,1863.
G. W. Gravitt, cuI. July 12, 1863.
W. 1\[, Gravitt, enl. July 12, 186:}.
Fl'Iluk HuITmall, Sauford IIollyday, A. H. Uolton, James Holl>'day, Jackson

HalTis.
Jacob Hutchison, oul. 1\lay 10, 1864.
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Leander Her, enl. May 2,1864.
1\1. II. ]{irk, enl. July 14,1863.
E. C. ]{indle. enl. May 2, 18tH.
J. A. Lang, cnl. Jnly H, 18G:1.
JanH's llIcKair, enl. July 14, 1863.
John ~IcNair, enl. July H, 18G:1.
J. n. McClain, enl. May 2, 1864.
Jnmes 1\IclUurchy, enl. .Jllly 1·1, 18G:1.
Tholllas E. l\IiIler, enl. July 14, 18li:~.

William lIIallo)', l'nl. July H. 1863.
R. II. Oxll'y, enl.lUay 2, 1864.
J. A. Palmcr, enl. Jnly 4, 18G:1.
C. J. Dicl', cnl. July 4, ISGa.
W. D. nuthcr~rd, enl. Jnly 4,1863.
J. D. Raper, en}, July '1, 1863.
T. J. nodgers, enl. July 4, 18&1.
JalJll's Rutherford, enl. MllY 2, 18M.
I'. W. Smith, enl. 1\Iay 4, 18li4.
Adam Sn;>-uer, enl. July 4, 1863.
Oli\"er Sims, cnl. Jnly 4, 18&1-
J. Q. SaUllers, enl. July 4,18G3.
O. J. Scott, enl. May 10, 18M.
11. T. Scott, enl. May 10,1864.
G. 1\1. Scott, enl. 1\Iay 10, 181k"
John Smith, en). May 10, 1864.
Jalllcs South, cnl. 1\lny 10, 186-1.
Jacob Sims, cnl. 1\l8y ]0, 18M.
William M. TOlllpldns, enl. Jul~' 1, 18li3.
Josiah 'I'ice, enl. July 1,1863.
B. F ..TntnJan, enl. July 1, 1863.
Elijah Tatman, enl. Jnly 1, 1863.
John Tatman, cnl. Jnly 1, 1863.
G. 'V. Tatman, enl. July 1, 186:3.
Josephus Test, enl. July I, 1863.

CO:3IPANY D.

Capt. A. l\lcKair,.Tr, com. July 2, 1863.
1st Lieut. W. E. Nichols, com. Jnly 2, 18G:3.
2d Licut. James H. Scott, com. Jul~' 17, 1863.
Bergt. Jnmes II. Brannon, enl. Jnly 2, 181):3.
Sergt. John 1\1. Flannagan, ent July 2, 1863.
Sergt. n. L. Winans, enl. July 2, 1863.
Sergt. Joseph Ernst, enl. .Jul~· 2, 1863.
Sergt. Thomas Sargent, enI. July 2,1863.
Corp. J. Wesley Simmons, enl. Jnly 2, 1863.
Corp. Charles Hancock, enl. July 2, 1863.
Corp. G. W. Lakin, enl. July 2, 1863.
Corp. HlIgh McXair, enl. July 4, 1863.
Corp. John L. Barkll.'Y, enl. July 4, 1863-
Corp. William F. Hewit, enl. July 4, 186.'3.
Corp. J. N. Brown, enl. July 4, 186:3.
Corp. W. n. Altman, enl. July 4, 186.1.
Musician Benjamin Placard, cnl. April 25, l&H.
1I1usician .John 1I1cClain, enl. May 2, 181H.
W. n. Altman, enl. July 2, 1863.
J. n. Archard, enl. July 2; 1863.
George }'. Armacost, enI. Jllly 2,1863.
T. J. Ashley, cuI. May 2, 18M.
N. C. Bainum, enl. July 2,1863.
F. E. Bettlc, enl. July 2,1863.
C. N. Browning, enl. July 2, 18C:>.
Isaac Bainum, enl. Jul~' 2,1863.
II~·nlan Dal,er, enl. July 2, 186:.1.
G. W. Cook, enI. July 2, 1863.
Samuel Cooper, enl. July 5, 18G.1.
Alexander Dunn, anI. July 2, 1863.
Josephus Donley, enl. July 2, 1863.
Wilson Day, anI. July 2,1863••
Elisha W. Day, en1. July 2,1863.
Owen 'V. Dln'is, enI. July 2, 1863.
Edward r. Donley, enl. April 25,1864.
Robert Florer, eni. JulJ 4, 1863.
Lewis GelTin, enI. July 5,1863.
ThollJas D. Husted, enI. July 5, 186'0>.
\Villiam Hillis, enI. 1I1ay 1, 1864.
Cllrisloplu:r Jones, enl. July 4,1863.
John Knowles, cnI. July 4, I8G:3.
Samuel Light, enI. July I, 1863.
Samut'l Leeds, enl. July 4, 1863.
llenjamin D. Lakin, enl. July 2,1863.
John R. Lakin, cuI. July 4,1863.
Darius Littleton, enI. July 2, 186a.
John H. Laney, eni. Jul~' 4, 1863.
William lIIcNair, I'nl. Jul~' 4, 1863.
John McLane, cuI. Jul~' 2:,1863.
Archy lIIc!\Iurch~', enl. July 4, 18&3.
Emery JllcKee, cuI. July 4, 1863.

John lIIcans, enI. July 4, 1863.
John 1'. Nichols, enl. July 4, 1863.
William A. Nichols, enI. July 4,1863.
William Porter, Sr., enl. Jul~' 4, 181i3.
William Porter, Jr., enl. July '1, l~G:I.

Thomas L. ]'Iacanl, enI. July 4, 1863.
~lllrion l'lamnl, enl. July 4,1863.
Julius Paltz, enI. Jul~' 4, 1863.
James F. Prather, enl. July 4,1863.
Sampson I't'ppers, enI. July 4, 18li:3.
John Placard, enI. July 4, 1863.
Wesley I'III'kiser, enI. lIIay 2, 18&1.
'Wesley ]'eddiconl, enI. :;\Iay 7, 1864.
Joseph Rogers, enl. .July 2, 1864.
llandolph F. Hnsh, enl. July 2, 1864.
Ilavitl nu,ll, elll. Jllly 2,1864.
1I1ichael C. mle~', enl. May 2, 18G4.
William D. Simmons, elll. July 30, 1864.
John II. Simlllons, enl. July 4, 18li4.
John W. Swick, enI. July 4, 18M.
George Sargent, enl. July 2, 1864.
John Stall, enl. July 2, 1864.
John F. Stairs, enl. July 4, 18Go1.
Geo"rge III. Simmons, eni. July 2, 1864.
Almetus F. Simmons, en I. April 1, 1864.
George W. Towllsle~', enI. July 2, 186:.l.
Willilim l'ucker, enl. May 2, 1864.
L)'llllln Wood, eni. July 2, 186:3.
Enos Wails, enl. Jul~' 2, 18G:t
Harvey Walker, enI. lIIay 7, 18M.
George S. Zugg, enI. July 2,186:3.
n. F. Zugg. enl. July 2, 1863.
Wm. n. Hancock, onI. July 2, 1863.
Andrew J. Cramer, cnI. July 12, 1863.
James Binkley, eni. Jul)' 2, 1863.

COl\IPANY G.

Capt. William John80n, com. June 30, 1863.
ht Lieut. Ezekiel Slade, com. July 7, 1863.
2,1 Lient. Oliver 1'. McAdams, com. July 201, 1863­
1st Sergt. Andrew J. "Sweet, enI. July 22, 1863.
Sergt. Stephen S. Walker, enI. Jul~' 2·1, 186:.1.
Sergt. John B. GiIlt'spie, enI. July 29, 1863.
Sergt. William Dennis, cnI. JUly 23, 186:3.
Sergt. I.ouis Deel, enl. July 23, 1863.
Corp. Denjamin S. Pool, cnI. Aug. Ii, 186:3-.
Corp. William A. Knin, enI. Jul~' 24, 1863.
Corp. John II. Delt, enI. July 25, 1863.
Corp. SaUlI. Ireton, enl. July 14, 1863.
Corp. Jonathan Baldwin, enI. .Tune 30,1863.
Corp. Dyonisius Hoss, enl. April 10, 1864.
Corp. Willinm G. Homan, enI. July 23, 1863.
Corp. Thomas D. Still, enI.Jul~· 24, 1863.
,Yo L. Boulwar~, enI. July 24, 186:3.
De Witt C. Doyd, enI. July 23, 1863-
John K Boyd, enl. Jul,)' 24, 1863.
Sallluel Bebee, enI. ~Jay 2, 1864.
John Curlis, Jr., cuI. July 22, 1863.
Asher Curlis, Jr., cuI. July 2"2, 18G:~.

Andrew J. CurIis, enl. July 22, 186:3.
William H. Curlis, enl. July 22, 18(;:3.
Timothy G. CnrUs, enl. July 22, 186=~.

William H. Chatterton, enl. JIII~' 2:1, 186:3.
E,\I';in D. Curlis, enI. JUay 0, 1864.
Lewis G. Danbeny, enI. July 24, 18&3.
Willhm II. )lilY, enl. July 201, 18&3.
Jo:'i-1J:1 }'. lIay, enI. July 22, 1863.
S:llUIIOI Davison, enl••Iuly 22, 1863.
Johu Dongllty, enI. May 7, 1864.
William H. Everllllrt, enl. Jul~' 25,1863.
Lemuel W. FmnkIin, cui. July 24, 186:~.

Nehemiah Grl'en, enl. July 26, 18li:3.
Christoph or W.Homan, ellL .TIlly 23, 1863.
Thomas Homan, l'nl. Jul~' 23, 186:3.
Jas. D. Homan,enl. July 7, 1863.
Arthur 1. Hodges, enl. Jul~' 23, 1863•.
Da;liel K. Hardin, enl. July 22, lti63.
Joseph K. Hardin, enl. July 11,18&3.
John 111:. Hardin, eni. lIIay 2, 1864.
Alexander Ireton, eul. July 24, 186:3.
Francis 111. Kain, enl. July 2:3, 1863.
Daniel }{lIin, enl. 1\Iay 2, 1864.
John F. Lukemires, onl. July 22, 1863.
Stephen B. Lewis, enl. July 24, 11163.
Denuls Ludlow, enI. July 22, 1863.
D:lI1ieI 1Ilclllillen, elll. :;\II1Y 2, 1864.
HlIl'llson lII~yer, enl. July 22, 1863.



William :l\Iorgan, enl. July 22, 1863.
Perry McCollum, enl. July 23, 1863.
Malcolm 1\1. McCollum, enl. July 21, 1863.
Char!t·s n. 1\lyricl., enl. July 24, 1863.
Homer 1\IcLaln, enl. July 24, 1863.
William llIondey, enl. July 24,1863.
Lorenzo D. 1\Ialott, enl. July 24, 1863.
Zephaniah 1\loxfield, ('nl. July 23, 1863.
Israel N. Morgan, enl. .July 23, 1863.
•Tonos Nunnemaker, enl. July 24, 1863.
1'homas Patterson, enl.•Tuly 7, 1863.
Robert B. Parlwr, enl. July 21, 1863.
John D. Rodgers, enl. July 22, 186:J.
RlIndolph Smith, enl. July 24, 1863.
Alexander Do Smith, enl. July 24, 1863.
lIIarion Smith, enI. July 2a, 1863. .
William L. Slade, enl. July 23, 1863.
Jefferson lII. Shotwell, enl. Moy 2, 1864.
John Walk, enl. July 31, 1863.
Oliver E. Walker, enl. ::IIay 8, 18~.
Charles W. Waits, enl. Jllly 12, 1863.
Uobert Wood, enl. July 23, 186a.
Henry C. Waits, enl. July 24, 1863.
1IJathias Waits, enl. July 23, 1863.
John Derry, enl. July 18, 1863; trans. from Co. E.
James Creamer, enl. July 17, 1863; tmns. from Co. E.
Silas Cavolt, enl. July 18, 1863; trans. from Co. E.
Edwin }larry, enI. July 23, 1863; trans. from Co. E.
Jacob Miller.
John S. Cavolt, ('nl. Oct. 18, 1863.
George D. Creamer, enl. July 17, 1863.
Dcnijah Gustin.
William Hunter, enl. July 17, 1863.

COMPANY H.

Capt. Daniel W. Stevens, com. Aug. 1, 1863.
1st Lieut. Amos Crane, com. Aug. 1, 1863.
2d Lieut. Jerome Tice, COlli. Aug. 1, 1863.
1st Sergt. John 1\1. Gest, enI. Aug. 1, 186.'3.
Sergt. William J. Greenlee, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Sergt. Francis II. Allen, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Sergt. William n. Shaw, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Bergt. Alfred Squire, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Corp. Josiah Q. Dass, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Corp. Henry C. Dericks, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Corp. Zebina ~imkins, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Corp. George 'V. :lIIcGrew, enI. Aug. 1, 1863.
Corp. Joseph Taylor, enl. Aug. I, 1863.
Corp. John J. Dl.')), enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Corp. Fmncis II. Cotteral, enl. Aug. 1, 18fJ3.
Cor}>. Thomas C. Cook, enl. Aug. 1,1863.
John C. Dinl, enl. llIay 11, 1864.
George W. Dell, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Charles H. D1anclJard, enl. Aug. 1, 1803.
1IIoses D. Conmd, mI!. Aug. 1, 1863.
Alexander A. Clark, enl. Aug. 1, 1803.
1\loses S. Cooke, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
1Ililton ComLs, enI. Aug. 1,1863.
lliathias Coler, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
JaDles Cramer, enl. May 11, 1864.
John 111. Cmmer, enl. May 11, 1864.
Oliver P. Dennison, enI. Aug. I, 1863.
William Dericks, enl. Aug. 1,1863.
Gilbert Fisher, enl. Aug. 1, 186:1.
William T. Gatch, enl. Aug. I, 186:1.
}'mncis 111. Gatch, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
George W. Gatch, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
Charles H. Gatch, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
William G. Gatch, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
I'hllip S. GatCh, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Daniel Good, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Andrew J. Garrison, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
Jumes 111. Hilderbmnd, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
George F. Hoffman, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Thomas IIensel, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Robert W. Harvoy, enl. Aug. 1, 186:l.
William O. Hopkins, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
James Huddleston, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Thomas Hill, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
SaDluel IIolt, enl. Aug. 1,1863.
Edwin Ilarry, enl. IIlay 11, 1864.
Job Hutchinson, cnl. llIay 11, 1864.
Washington W. Hunt, enl. llIay 11, 186!.
Albert Jones, enl. llIay 11, 1864.
Jacob S. Jordan, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Stcphen R. Kyle, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
Louis R. Kautz, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.

MILITARY HISTORY.

Isnnc Knott, onl. 1\Iay 11, 1864.
Randolph II. Leming, onl. Aug. 1, 1863.
George W. Leming, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
nandal n. Leming, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Hil"llm Leming, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Isaac N. Long, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
Joseph N. Longworth, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Arch. Longworth, enl. Aug.l, 1863.
IIlatson .R. Aaron, enl. Aug. 1, 1863•
Abner IIIatheny, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
SamuelllIcNutt, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Jaml.'s 111. llIcLlluglllin, enl. Aug. 1,1863.
James D. IIIeek, ('nl. IIlay 11, 1864.
1\latthias C. lIIitchel, May 11, 1864.
Henry Peters, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
John P. Porter, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Georgo'V. Queal, Qnl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Albert F. Queal, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Charleslt. Rybolt, enl. Aug. 1, 186:t
Thomas D. Rybolt, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
David G. Sparks, enl. Aug. 1,1863.
James 1\1. Shaw, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Achilles n. Shaw, enI. Aug. 1, 1863.
John W. Sanders, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Lewis W. Smith, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
Thomas South, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Warren Shumard,enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
William Stewart, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Henry D. Smizer, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Ezra Simkins, enl. MIl)' 11, 1864.
Philip Sells, enl. IlIa)' 11,1864.
Thomas Shumard, enl. llIay 14,1864.
Amos Tudor, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Oliver F. Tenl, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
William Waits, enl. Aug. 1, 1863.
Henry Whilalwr, enl. Aug. 1, 18G3.
StelJhen Wood, enl. MIlY 11, 1864.

COMPANY r.
Capt. S. W. 1\Iarsh, com. Jnly 23, 1863.
1st Lieut. J. F. Hill, com. July 23, 1863.
2d Lieut. W. A. Dallas, com. July 23, 1863.
1st Sergt. J. D. Needham, enI. July 23, 1863.
Sergt. J. F. South, enl. .Tuly 23, 1863.
Sergt. A. Wilson, enl. July 23, 1863.
Sergt. II. 111. Doso, enl. July 23, 1863.
Sel'gt. Edwaru Patchell, enl. .July 23, 1863.
Corp. H. D. Hill, enl. July 23, 186.'3.
Corp. A. Davison, enl. July 23, 1863.
Corp. A. Dougherty, enI. Jul)'23, 18G3.
Corp. Peter South, enl. July 23,18G:l,
Corp. J. F. Durns, enI. July 23,1863.
Corp. Joseph Foster, enl. July 23, 186.'3.
Corp. James Leming, enI. July 23, 1863.
Corp. T. W. 1\[arsh, enl. July 23, 1863.
John Dalsizer, enl. July 23, 1863.
Ambrose Derlien, enl. July 23, 1863.
James Dalser, enl. July 23, 1863.
Jacob Durns, cuI. July 23, 1863.
William Brewer, enl. July 2:1, 1863.
William Carr, enl. July 23,1863.
Jcniuh Cavolt, enl. July 23, 1863.
Daniel Craig, enI. July 2:3, lS6:J.
George Dupes, enl. July 23, 1863.
James Dougherty, enl. .Tuly 2:1, 186:l.
S'luire Dunn, enl. July 23, 1863.
1.'. D. Ducheman, enl. Jul)' 23, 1863.
Adam DellCl', enl. July 23, 18U3.
Nicolas Feveret, enl. July 20, 18(j3.
Francis Fomcrin, enl. July 23, 1863.
Fmncis Foster, (·nl. .July 2:~, 1863.
Joseph Foster, Jr., enl. Jllly 23, 1863.
Jamcs Hewitt, enl. Jul.r 23, 1863.
Hermon Hulick, enl. July 2:1, 1863.
J. W. Hill, enl. July 23, 1863.
L. H. Hill, enl. July 23, 1863.
lJl'iah Hayworth, enl. July 23, 18G3.
C. C. Hill, enl. July 23, 1863.
J. J. Hensel, enl. Jul)' 23, 1863.
J. W. Hensel, enl. July 23, 1863.
A. J. Hl.'ath, enl. July 23, 18G3.
B. F. Hill, enl. July 2:3, 1863.
Hezeldah Bill, enl. July 2a, ISG:l.
G. llI. Hensel. enl. July 23, 18G3.
SlIas James, onl. July 2:l, 1863.
Ezekiel Leming, enl. July 23, 1863.
Antony Leotil.', enl. Jnly 23, 1863.
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J. P. Leming, enl. July 23, 186.'3.
Aaron Leming, enl. July 2a,1863.
Stephen Long, enl. July 23,1863.
J. W. Lattimer, enl. July 2:l, 1863.
S. W. Lattimer, enl. July 23, 1863.
A. Laymon, enl. July 23,1863.
J. S. IIIoore, enl. July 2:1, 1863.
C. O. 1IIa10ne. enl. July 23, 1863.
DaniellIIarsh, eul. July 23, 1863.
I,omin 1IIarsh, enl. July 23, 1863.
Leonidas :lIIerIaris, enl. July 23, 1863.
H. II. IIlerse, enl. Jul~' 23, 1863.
A. III. IIlarsh, enl. Jnly 23, 1863.
Riclmrd :\Iarsh, enI••Tuly 23, 1863.
George IIlll.rsh, enI. July 23, 1863.
Marcus 1I1arsh, enl. July 23, 186a.
J. N. lI1ilchei, enl. July 23, 186:3­
HllrVl'Y Meelt, enl. July 23,1863.
James Needham, enl. July 2:l, 1863.
J. G. Oonk. enl. Jul~' 23, 1863.
HAnry Offutt, enI.Jul)· 23, 1863.
William Patchell, cuI. July 23, 1863.
John l'at!ison, enl. July 23, 1863.

'J. N. l'attisoll, enI. July 23. 1863.
E. E. Rust, enl. July 23, 1863.
J. B. Rapp, ('nI. July 23, 1863.
Alhert Redding, eni. July 23, 1863.
7..ack Robinson, enl. July 23,1863.
Darius South, enl. July 23, 186.1.
Thomas South. enl. July 23, 1863.
John Swift, enl. July 23, 18B:l.
Isaac South, enl. July 23, 1863.
J. III. South, enI. July 23, 1863.
A. G. South, fln:' Jnly 23, 1863.
Samu('1 Smitb, enl. July 23, 1863.
W. E. Soutb, enl. July 23,186.1.
C. L. Thompson, enI. July 23, 1863.
E. A. Ulrey, enl. July 23,1863.
Silas WorthIngton, enl. July 23, 1863.
Jonathan Whittaker, enI. July 23, 1863.
F. lII. Foster, enl. July 23, lS63.
III. lIl. Hill, enl. July 23, 1863.
Thomns Patterson, elll. July 23, 1863.
John Collins, enl. July 23, 186:3.
David Vancam, enl. July 23, 1863.
William Fulko, enl. July 23,1863.
William Wrigbt, enl. .July 23, 1863.

C01UPANY K.

Capt. James W. Deem, com. July 3, 1863.
1st Lieut. Edwin D. Titus, com. July 11, 1863.
2d Lieut. Daniel Kidd.
1st Sergt. Wm. H. Stnndish, enl. July 21, 1863.
Sergt. Julius N. Kraner, elli. July 11, 1863.
Se:·gt. Wesley T. Sweet, enl. July 11, 186.3.
St'rgt. Thomas l!'. Brown, enl. July 11, 1863.
Sergt. Nathan J. Tro~', enI. July 11, 1863.
Corp. Dnniel Brunk, enl. July 14, 1863.
Corp. Albert lIeurici, enl. July 21,1863.
Corp. Andrew J. Applegate, AnI. July 21,1863.
Corp. Wm. H. 111earl, enl. July 13,1863.
Corp. James L. Brown, enl. Jnly 10, 186=3.
Corp. Robert L. Gest, enl. July 11, 1863.
Corp. James N. Lytle, euI. July 11, 1863.
Corp. John Bricker, enI. July 11, 1863.
Wm. E. Applegate, enl.lIby 21,1864.
Josepb J. Avey, enl. Mny 21, 1864.
John III. Avey, enl. Mny 21, 1864.
Allen W. Ashburn, en1.1I1ay21, 1864.
Abel Bounds, enl. July 12, 1863.
James A. Brown, en I. lIIay 2, 1864.
Chas. B. Crane, eul. July 11,1863.
Wm. T. Cade, enl. July 10, 1863.
D. S. Croshaw, enl. JlIly 14, 1863.
James A. Davis, enl. JUly 23, 1863.
William A. Dimmitt, enI. July 18,1863.
Chns. H. Evans, enl. July 11, 1863.
Samuel Fitzwater, cuI. .July 23, 1863.
Jobn W. Groves, elli. July 13, 1863.
Geo. Groves, enl. July 13,1863.
Joseph H. Gest, enl. July 21, 1863.
Johu Grnnt, enl. July 21,1863.
Elias 111. Glancey, enl. July 4, 1863.
Erastus Hulick, enl. July 11, 1863.
Hanson Holter, enl. July 13,1863.
JosC'ph W. Homan, enl. July 21, 1863.
George W. Hultoll, cuI. July 9, lSH4.

Charles Hulick, enl. July 11, 1863.
Albert Jones, cnl. July 26,1863.
Thos. H. JelfJies, cnI. July 13, 1863.
Thos. Kitld, enl. July 2, 1864.
Wm. H. Kidd, enl. July 11, 1863.
lIIathias 111. Kugler, cuI. July 14, 186:l.
W. III. Kain, enl. Jul,r 7, 1863.
Chns. II. l(ain, eni. lIlay 2, 1864.
John III. Knin, eni. lUay 2, 1864.
Charles Kidd, enl. July 11, 186:3.
James P. Leonard, enI. July 11, 1863.
John R. 1IIount, enl. July 14, 180:3.
Thos.lIlcGuire, eni. July 13, 186:3.

W. W. lIIcGuire, eni. July 1, 1863.
W. C. lIIoyer, enl. .July 10, 186:3.
Charles A. !\loore, eni. July 21, 1863.
Willillm 1IIoore, eni. Jul~' 11, 1863.
lIIathias C. lIJitchell, enl. April 25,1864.
James D.l\leek, eni. July 18, 1863.
Olh'er l\lcGrew, eni. July 11, 1863.
Samuel Ncwberr~', enl. Jan. I, 1864.
Thoml\.~ 111. Needham, enl. July 1:3, 1863.
Ephraim Orebaugh, eni. Feb. 2, 1804.
Otis ]?reble, enI. July 11, 1863.
Oliver W. Rhodes, cui. July 11, 1863.
James Robinson, eni. July 10, 186.1.
Charles Robinson, eni. July 11, 186=3.
David V. Ross, eni. July 11, 1863.
William J. Rust, eni. July 25, 1863.
Stephen S. Robinson, eni. July 11,1863.
Thomas J•• Smith, enI.July 11, 1863.
Josiah Strimple, en). .Tuly 11, 1863.
Levert Stratton, enI. July 13, 186=3.
James L. Slack, enl. July 11,1863.
Andrew J.Sprague, enl. July 13,1863.
Anthony Snyder, eni. July 13, 1863.
Frederick Schoebat.
Daniel Tate, eni. July 12, 1863.
George 'V. Teal, enl. July 13, 1863.
David F. Thompson, enI. Jul~·l:3,1863.
Thomas Vancamp, enI. July 13, 1863.
David 'Vallace, enl.1IIay 2, 1864.
Charles B. Wills, eni. July 11, 1863.
Jared Watt.~,eni. July 1:\ 1863.
Jeremiah C. 'Veaver, eni. July 10,1863.
Wright Williams.
Arthur Wood, enI. July 13, 1863.
Robert Needham, eni. July 23. 1863.
David Needham, enI. July 13,1863.

ONE HUNDRED AND SEVENTY-FIFTH OHIO
VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.*

COMPANY H.

Corp. Silas Pierce, eni. Sept. 29, 1864.
JaDles Balser, eni. Sept. 29, 1864.
Ambrose Berliew, eni. Sept. 24, 1864.
Francis H. Berger, enl. Sept. 29, 1864.
Ebon S. Pickelheimer, eni. Sept. 29, 1864.
John Smith, eni. Sept. 29, 1864.
Anthony Spets, enI. Sept. 29, 1864; in hospital November and December, 1864.
Francis 111. Sloane, eni. Sept. 29, 1864.

Died.

Daniel Dumford, died in hospital at Na.~hville,Tenn., Dec. 20, 1864.
Josiah Hensel, died in bospital at Columbia, Tenn., March 14, 1865.

RecnlUs not mllstered 01lt.

Corp. Orin ,S. Hadle~', eni. Oct. 4, 1864.
Byron Cramer, enl. Oct. 5, 1864.

COMPANY K.

Sergt. William B. lIIcKee, eni. Aug. 16, 1864.
Sergt. William N. Hendrixon, enl. Au~. 12, 1864.
Corp. Robert lIIcLachlan, eni. Sept. 3, 1864.
111us. Paign.lIIullen, enl. Aug. 15,1864.
David. A. Bryant, enl. Aug. 12, 1864.
lIIaffet Cutler,eui. Aug. 24,1864.
Zeno Donley, enl. Aug. 30, 1864.
Eli Farmer, eni. Aug. 26,1864.
Washington Galvin, eni. Aug. 16, 1864.
William H. Hall, eni. Aug. 18, 1864.
George 'V'. IIendrixon, eni. Aug. 24, 1864.
Dout W. Jones, enl. Aug. 29, '1864.
Charles MeDulan, cnI. Aug. 16, 1864.

• One year's men.
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ONE HUNDRED AND NINETY-FIFTH REGIMENT.

COMPANY H.

William H. Arey, cnl. Feb. 25, 1865.

COMPANY E.

Nicholas Curree, enl. Feb. 9,1865.

Discltm·(Jcd.

Win. A. Jones, enI. Feb. 11, 1865 j ~isch. May 25, 1865, at Camp De.nnison, Ohio.

Disc7largcd.

Andrew J. Harris, enI. Jan. 18, 1865; disch. from hospital, May 18, 1865.
James nIcIntosh, enI. Jun. 24, 1865; disch. from hospital, nIay 2-1, 1865.
James P. Martin, enl. Jan. 26, 1865; disch. from ho~pitaJ, July 7, 1865.
Milton Ramey, enl. Feb. 18,1865; disch. from hospital, May 18, 1861>.

Deatlts.

Joseph Bier, enI. Feb. 10, 1865; died in U. S. Hospital, Camp Dennison, Sept.
2,1865.

William Colthar, en!. Feb.~, 1865; died in U. S. Hospital, NashVille, Tenn.,
Murch 20, 1865.

John R. Chatterson, enl. Feb. I, 1865; died in U. S. Hospital, Nashville, Tenn.,
March 20, 1865. .

Corp. Aaron S. Gl'Il.y, enl. Jan. 18,1865; died in U. S. Hospital, Nashville, Tenn.,
March 25, 1865. •

Thomas J. Philips, enI. Feb. 3,1865; died in U. S. Hospital, Nashville, Tenn.,
March 22, 1865.

Francis nI. Stults, enI. Feb. 7, 1865 j died in U. S. Hospital, Nashville, Tenn.,
March 14, 1865.

Emanuel Sager, enI. Feb. 13, 1865; died in U. S. Hospital, Nashville, Tenn.,
Aug. 16, 1865.

COMPANY F.

Drummer James L. Bell, enl. Jan. 30, 1865.
'Veston Brown, enI. Feb. 7,1865.
Christian Brickel, enl. Feb. 15, IS6r,.
Matthew Coler, enI. Feb. 11, 1865.
Manton W. Cramer, en!. Feb. 7, 1865.
Thomas Hensel, enI. Jail. 21, 1865.
Jesse J. nlilner, enl. Feb. 6,1865.
Albert L. Tingley, enl. Jan. 25, 1865.
WlIIiam WIJ.itS, en!. Fcb. 2, 1865.

ONE HUNDRED AND NINETY-THIRD OHIO VOL­
UNTEER INFANTRY.

COMPANY E.

Theodore B. Turner, enI. Feb. 6,1865.

ONE HUNDRED AND NINETY-FIRST OHIO VOL­
UNTEER INFANTRY.

ONE HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-NINTH REGIMENT
OHIO VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

William N. Nic'hols, enl. Feb. 6, 1865.
Jacob A. Palmer, eni. Jan. 18, 1865.
John Porter, enI. Feb. 8, 181i5.
Oliver P. POWE'I1, enl. Feb. 10, 1865.
Samuel Page, enI. Feb. 11, 1865.
Francis M. Richardson, eni. Jan. 21, 1865; sick in Cumberland Hospital, Nash·

ville, Tenn., Aug. 21, 1865.
. Joseph M. Rodgers, enl. Jan. 19, 1865.
Charles IIi. Rolls, en!. Jun. 23, 1865.
George ,Y. Rodgers, enI. Jan. 31, 1865.
William D. Rutherford, eni. Jan. 18, 1865.
John Riggin, el)I. Jan. 30, 1865.
Anthony Shanabruch, eni. Feb. 11, 1865.
Tedro A. South, enl. Feb. 3, 1865.
Oliver P. Sims, enI. Jan. 19,1865.
Augustus P. Terwilliger, enI. Jan. 31, 1865; sick in Cumberland Hospital;

Nashville, Tenn., Ang. 5, 1865.
Francis M. H. Tatman, enl. Jan. 24,1865; sick in Cumberland Hospital, Nash­

ville, Tenn., Aug. 9,1865.
John R. Ulrey, enI. Feb. 9, 1865.
Theodore l\I. West, enl. Jan. 18, 1865; sick in Cumberland Hospital, Nashville,

Tenn., Aug. I, 1865.
William N. White, enI. Feb. 3, 1865.
Evan M. Ward, enI. JllD. 27,1865.
John W. Walker, enI. Jan. 28, 1865; sick in Cumberland Hospital, Nashville,

Tenn., since Aug. 17, 1865.
Steven 'Vilson, E'nI. Jan. 26,1865.
Nathan W. Wilson. enl. Feu. 9, 1865.
Blair Wilks, enI. Feb. 4, 1865.
Lewis Walcut, enl. Feb. 13, 1865.

ONE HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-FIRST OHIO VOL­
UNTEER INFANTRY.

William H. Phillips, enl. Aug. 28, 1864.
Fnlllcis nr. Vickroy, elll. Aug. 13, 186!.
David E. White, enl. Aug. 23, 1864.
Eliphns L. Ware, enl. Aug. 24, 1864.

COIUPANY E.

Josiah P. Clark, enI. Aug. 25, 1864; trans. from 178th O. V. I., JUlie 15,1865.

ONE HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-J!'OURTH OHIO
VOLUNTEER INFANTRY.

This regiment was raised under the last call for troops
to serve one year. It was organized at Camp Chase, Feb.
21,1865, and moved to Nashville without delay. It thence
proceeded to Chattanooga and other points, and was broken
into detachments to do guard duty. It was mustered out
at Edgefield, Sept. 20, 1865, and seven days later finally
discharged at Camp Chase.

OFFICERS AND MEN FROl\I CLER:\IONT COUNTY.

COl\IPANY I.
Capt. John McNeill, com. Feb. 21, 1865.
1st Lieut. Archibald McNair, COlli. Jan. 31,1865; died in officers' hospital, Nash-

ville, Tenn., March 11, 1865.
2d Lieut. William F. Landon, com. Jan. 18, 1855.
Sergt. Robert B. Simpson, enl. Jan. 17; 1865; appointed sergt. Feb. 22, 1865.
Sergt. William W. W. Scutt, enl. Jan. 19, 1865; appoillted sergt. Feb. 22, IS65.
Sergt. James B. JllcClain, enl. Jan. 26, 1865; appointed sergt. Feb. 22, 1865.
Sergt. James Bouhmre, enl. Jan. 19, 1865; appointed sergt. Feb. 22, 1865.
Corp. John T. Hardy, enl. Jan. 27, 1865; appointed corp. Feb. 22, 1865.
Corp. William W. }i'ord, enl. Jan. 19, 1865.
Corp. Silas D. Winans, enl. Jan. 30, 1865; appointed corp. Feb. 22, 1865.
Corp. Jolm W. Stewart, enl. Feb. 3, 1865; private at enlistment; pro. June 10,

1865, to fill vacancy caused by death of Corp. Gray.
Corp. William Reese, enI. Feb. 2, 186.'>; appointed corp. Feb. 22, 1865.
Corp. JlIml's A. Whiteman, enl. Jan. 18, 1865; appointed corp. Feb. 22, 1865.
Corp. Wiluer C. nlcClain, enl .•Jan. 2.3, 1865; appointp.d corp. Feu. 22, IS65.
Corp. Thomas J. Nichols, enl. Feu. 2, 1865; appointed corp. :Feu. 22, 1865.
Elijah Do Aubott, eni. .Jan. 19, 1865.
William A. Altman, eni. Jan. 19, 1865.
George ,Y. Anderson, enl. Jan. 19, 1865.
William B. Anderson, enl. Jan. 2-1, 1865.
Charles C. Brown, enl. Jan. 31, IS65.
John H. Beck, enl. Feb. 2,lS65.
Levi L. Beck, eni. Jan. 23,18f>5.
Sylvester J. Brown, enl. Feb. I, IS65.
Jackson Behymer, eni. Feb. 9, 1865.
Samuel nr. Bricker, ellI. Jan. 24, 1865.
Otis Betts, enl. Feu. 13, 1865.
James L. Corbin, elll. Feb. 6, 1865.
Samuel Olark, enl. Jan. 25,1865.
William 'r. Coble, eni. Feb. 8, 1865.
John A. Dunham, eni. Jan. 31, 1865.
Isaac L. Debruler, enl. Feb. 5, 1865.
1I1ichael L. Dye, eni. Feb. 10, 1865.
Solomon D. Fnlze"e, enI. Feb. 5,1865.
John H. Fisher, enl. Jan. 25, 1865.
Melancthon D. Frazee, eni. Feb. 3, IS65.
George E. Flick, enl. Feb. 14, 1865.
George H. Gurn, enI. Jan. 31, 1865.
Sanford HoIlydlly, enI. Jun. 16, 1865.
George Holland, enl. Jan. 24, 186.'>.
Joseph F. Hill, enI. Jan. 27, 1865•
•Tohn W. Ruling, enI. Feb. 5, 1865.
William Hillis, enl. Feb. 5, 1865.
John Hill, AnI. Jan. 14, 1865.
George H. Houston, enI. Feb. 17, 1865.
George L. Iler, enl. Jan. 26, 1865.
Christopher Jones, enl. Feb. I, 1865.
John Knowles, enI. Feb. 3, 1865.
James A. Lang, enl. Feb. 1, 1865.
Edmond Lindsey, eni. Ifeb. 3, 1865.
William P. Leeds, enI. Jan. 31, 1865.
Angust Lothamer, enI. Feb. 11, 1865.
RobArt McNair, enI. Jan. 19, 1865.
John Molford, en I. Jan. 20,1865.
Edward Meeker, enI. Jan. 21, 1865.
William H. ]UcCo[JIlaughey, enl. Jan. 31,.1865.
David H. ?rlcCibbon, eni. Feb. 8, 1865.
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ONE HUNDRED AND NINETY-SIXTH OliIO VOL­
UNTEEH INFANTRY.

COll1PANY IC

Charll's Gates, elll. lIIarch 1, 18G5.
JOhll lI1clllllth, enl.ll'eu. 1, 18G5.
Willianl II. Kenued~', enl. Feu. I, 18G5.

FIRST OHIO CAVALHY.

COllIPANY IC

Corp. Corydon S. Irwin, enl. Sept. 29. 18G1.
IIenr~' C. Fox, 1'111. Sept. 3, 18GI.
Able I,ock, ell!. Sept. 22, 18G1.
John W. ~hirk, eni. Oct. 1, 18G1.
John Young, en!. Sept. 28, 18G1.

FIFTH OUIO VOLUNTEER CAVALRY.

This organization was originally known as the Second
Ohio Cavalry, and was begun at Cincinnati, under the di­
rection of Gen. Fremont, in August, 1861. The removal
of the general before it was completed caused some confu­
sion and delay, the difficulty in procuring arms being par­
ticularlyembarrassing. On the 5th of November, 1861,
the regiment left Camp Dick Corwine, near Cincinnati, for
Camp Dennison, where the organization was perfected and
the troops instructed. On the 26tll of February, 1862,
orders were received to march for Paducah, which were
carried out within the next four days, the different battalions
turning out eleven hundred and forty-two men. From
Paducah the regiment proceeded to Fort Henry, and thence
to Savannah, and participated· in the active movements in
that part of the country, doing a large amount of scouting.
At Pittsburg Landing it behaved with remarkable cool­
ness, and later at Holly Springs the men acted with unusual
heroism, some of them firing two llUndred rounds from
their carbines without changing position. 'l'he campaign of
the Fifth was transferred to 'Western Tennessee, and for
some time the headquarters were at Memphis, much of the
time being taken up in skirmishes with Forrest's cavalry.
Thence the expeditions were extended into Mississippi with
most satisfactory results. On the 16th of October, 1863,
the regiment entered upon its second winter's campaign by
marching towards Chattanooga and Eastern Tennessee, and
in the following months made many arduous marches. In
the spring and summer of 1864: the regiment participated
in the campaign against Atlanta, arriving at Cartersville
July 13th. Here the remaiuder of the summer was passed,
occasional forays being made. On the 8th of November
the regiment became a part of Kilpatrick's division, and
with it made the" march to the sea." Thence, with vary­
ing success, they rode through the Carolinas, everywhere
manifesting a dash and spirit which caused the enemy to
yield. The last service was in 'Vestern North Carolina,
that department being under the immediate command of
Col. Heath of the Fifth. The regiment was mustered out
Oct. 30, 1865, after a long but most gallant and meritorious
service.

COMPANY A.

Com.-Sergt. Charles Kruse, enl. Nov. I, 1861.
1st Lieut. TholllllS Hail', com. Sept. 10, 18G1; must. out with company.
Jollll Simpsou, enl. Feu. 24, 18G5 j detached as military mail-agent at headquar­

ters of military division of lIlississippi.
John R. :i\!cChesner, enl. Sept. 10, 18G1; must. out with compan;)'at Cnmp Chase,

Ohio, Jan. 27, 1865.
Capt. Eluridge G. Ricker, com. Sept. 10,1861 ; appointed Il1llj. 2d Battalion, Nov.

1, 18G1.
1st Lieut. IsIUlC S. Quinlin, com. Sept. 10, 18Gl; pro. to Cllpt. Nov. 1, 1861.

•

2d Ueut. Frnnldin n. I'ePPllr, com. Sept. 10, 1861.
Sergt. James Williams, lml. 8ept.IO, ISGI.
Com.-Q.lI1. William E. Nichols, enl. Sl·Pt. IG, 18Gl; appointed 1st lieut. Nov.

18til.
Sergt. Fmncis L. "'eaveI', eni. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Sergt. George W. Conrey, elli. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Sergt. Peter M. Hill, enl. Sl'pt. 10, 18G1.
Sergt. Lewitt T. Earhart, enl. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Corp. George II. Warren, en!. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Corp. George G. Crane, enl. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Corp. Barrington Behymer, enl. Sept. 11, 1861.
Corp. Oliver P. Straight, en!. Se}lt. 11, 1861.
COr}l. Andrew :i\I. Lang, en!. Sept. 11, 18G1.
Corp. Charles W. Rohinson, enl. Sept. 11, 18G1.
Corp. Henry N. Smith, en!. Sept. 11, 18GI.
Mus. Philip 1\Iilner, eni. Sept. 11, 1861.
1\lus. Granville Philips, enl. Sept. 11, 18G1.
Bhlcksmith Bl\yard 1\1. Church, enl. Sept. 11, 18G1.
}'lIrrier Harrison P. Rntherford, eni. Sept. 10, 18G1.
'Vagoner Jefferson Vangunll~', enl. Sept. 1G, 1861.
Saddler Franklin L. Fisk, enl. Sept. 1G, 18G1.
Joseph Anderson, en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Willialll T. Armstrong, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Eli!lha D. Arthur, enl. Sept.1G, 18G1; drowned in a well at IIuntsville, Ala.
Joseph Arthur, en!. Sept. 16, 18G1.
Benjamin Arthur, en!. Sept. IG, 1861.
Angus Durke, enl. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Alonzo 111. Burroughs, enl. Sept. 10, 1861 j drowned in II. ,vell at Huntsville, Ala.
Randolph Deck, en!. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Alonzo BebJmer, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Thomas I. Deh~'mer,enI. Sept. 16, 18G1.
Samuel Baruer, en!. Sept. 16, 18G1.
Sidney Cook, enl. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Jonatban Cburch, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Thomas ~'. Chm'ch, eni. Sl."pt. 10, 18G1.
Leonidas :111. Churcb, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
George 'V. Cburch, enI. Sept. 10, 1861.
Nathan Cook, enl. Sept. IG, 18G1.
DllVid A. Campuell, enl. Sl'pt. 23, 18G1.
William L. Doughty, enl. Sept. 18, 1861.
Wilford :111. Dye, en!. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Peter Dean, en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Oscar T. Davis, enl. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Chlrk Estell, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Benjamin EI~', enl. Sept.1G, 1861.
Benjamin Earbart, en!. Oct. 23, 1861.
Hiram W. :It'loro, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Dllvid Fithen, enI. Sept. 23, 1861.
William A. B. Gray, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Frederick Glinken, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
l'rlartin V. Henderson, enl. Sept. 10,1861.
Charles Hopkins, enI. Sept. 10, 18G1.
William Hielts, en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Octavius G. Hitch, enl. Sept. 16, 1861.
De Witt C. Kinulo, enI. Sept. 10, 1861.
David Kilgour, enI. Sept. 10, 1861.
Wll8hington P. Leeds, 1m!. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Emerias Line, enl. Sept. 10, 18Gl.
Lllfa~'ette Leeds, enI. Sept. 16, 1861. .
John K. ll1orris, enl. Sept. 10, 1861; drowned ina weHat IIuntsville, Ala..
William H. Metzger, enl. Oct. 8, 1861.
Napoleon B. lIlorford, enl. Sept. 10, 186!.
Thomas l'r1cGahen, en!. Sept. 10, 18Gl.
William n. l'rlc:1l1urchy, en!. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Eli :1I1cMinis, enI. Sept. 10,18GI.
John N. 1I1I\ttox, en!. Oct. 24, 1861.
Euos W. Nash, enl. Sopt. 16, 18G).
Granville 111. NorriR, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Willillm Penny, en!. Sept. 10, 18G1.
James Parvin, enl. Sept. 10,18G1.
Rouurt A. l'atterSon, ell!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Samuel G. Pepper, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
William M. PlItterson, en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
1I0sea. Parvin, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Thomas M. Penny, enl. Sept. 10,18G1.
William E. Parker, en!. Sept. 17, 1861.
JosllUa A. Penny, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Richard Penny, cui. Sept. 10, 1861.
lI10ntrnville Rutherford, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
James C. Rutherford, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Leollard F. Raper, enI. Sept. 1G, 18G1.
James lU. Snider, enI. Sept. 10, 1H61.
Aluel·t D. Smitb, enl. Sept. 10, 18Gl.
Aurahllm Short, en!. Sept. 10, 1861.
Tholllas I. Shernlllll, oul. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Reuhen Spllulding, enl. Sept. 10, 18Gl.
Levi W. Short, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
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Francis 1\1. Straight, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
William H. Strnlght, onl. Sept. 16, 1861.
'William Snrry, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
,Wosley Tedrow, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
John 'V. Vnuosdol, en\. Sept. 10, 1861.
Allen Winans, enl. S('pt. 10, 18G!.
Nicholas Wilson, enl. Sept. 16, 1861.
Elijnh Ward, enl. Sept. 2:3, 1861.
George Zuber, enl. Sept. 10,1861.

COMPANY B.

Sel·gt.•Tohn R. Clarke, enl. Sept. 9, 1861.
Corp. Alexa/lllerStclVttrt, enl. Sept. 2, 1861.
Corp. John lIIcGee, enl. Sopt. 2,1861.
Corp. Willialll W.'Willillms, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Bugler Smith ]<'Ietcher, elll. Sept. 13, 1861.
}'al'1'ier Henry IJelschult, enl. Sopt. 2:3, 1861.
Francis Corts, enl. Sept. 18, 1861.
Daniel Cllllmbers, enl. Nov. 8, 1861.
Hobert F. CIOIIIOIIS, enl. Sept. 1:3, ]861.
James Clmhners, enl, Sept. 7, 1861.
Davi,1 Clayton, enl. Sept. 9, 1861.
James Collins, enl. Sept. 27, 1861.
Thomas D. DoSlo, enl. Sept. ]9, 1861.
John Fields, enl. Sept. 2G, 1861.
George Goumey, enl. Sept. 12, 1861.
Daniel Ilildebrandt, ('nl. Sept. 2, 1861.
Francis A. Hutchinson, enl. Sept. 27, 18Gl.
Jacob linney, enl. Sept. 16, 1861.
David J. Hayward, cnl. Sept. 15, 1861.
Joseph Hollemlln, cnl. Oct. 12, 18m.
John E. Hild('bfllndt, enl. Oct. 31, 18Gl.
William C. IIildobrandt, enl. Sept. la, 1861.
Sylvllnus Jones, cuI. SeptA, 1861.
Alexander Jones, enl. Sept. 9, 1861.
:lIIartin Laypole, enl. Sept. lH, 1861.
:lIIoses Leeds, enl. Sept. ~6, 1861.
Dennis l\[oore, enl. Sept. 25, IS61.
Samuel l\lcliJnney, enl. Oct. 29, 1861.
Charles Stackpole, enl. Sopt. 16, 1861.
lIenry Sellers, enl. Sept. 18, 1861.
WillillUl Strauss, enl. Oct. 8, 1861. '
Charles L. Van Halley, enl. Sept. l:l, 1861.
John 1\f. Williams, elil. Sellt. 13, 1861.
John 'V. 'Varman, enl. 8eIlt. 18, 18G1.
Cortland W. W1Lrlnan, enl. Sept. 18. 1BG1.
Oliver Waits. enl. Oct. 1, 1861.

COlIPANY L.

ClIpt. 'Villillm II. F'lgllly, com. Oct. :l, 1861.
1st Lieut. Elijah G. Penn, com. Oct. a. 1861.
2d Lieut. GeOl'ge n. Rader, com. St!llt. 27, 1861.
1st Sergt. William II. Ulrey, enl. Oct. 16, 1861.
Q.1\1..Sergt. Stephen C. Convey, enl. Oct. 9, 18G)'
SCI·gt. UicJmrd Lollyett, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Sergt. George W. BUdd, cuI. Oct. 3, 1861.
Sergt. Ellos 1. Searles, enl. Sept. 16, 1861.
Sorgt. Johll Killdle, enl. Sept. 17,1861.
Corp. TUllid Coombs, enl. Sept. 19, 1861.
Corp. lIlahlon Pearson, enl. Sept. 16, 1861.
Corll. John 'V. lIIcllIlIhon, enI. Sept. 27,1861.
Corp. IslUlc Dodman, enl. Sept. 23, 1861.
Corp. George Doughert)", enl. Sept. 23, 1861.
Corp. Jo\1n S. Stall, enl. Oct. I, 1861.
Corp. Gcol'ge I. Gillen, enl. Oct. 3, 1861.
Corp. Samllel II. Jacl,slln, enl. Nov. G, 18G1.
lIllls. ThoUllLS A. Tribule, cnl. Sept. 27, 1861.
1I1us. lIenr)" J. Stultz, enl. Oct. 3, 1861.
Farrier Orestus W. Varley, enl. Sept. 17, 1861.
Farrier Reason 'I'. Newbel'l'y, enl. Oct. 10,1861.
Wagoner John Cundiff, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Saddler William Vogt, enI. Sept. 10 , 1861.
'VilJiam n. Anderson, clIl. Sept. 23, 1861.
Gilbert G. Buruage, enl. Sept. 2:3,1861.
}'redericl. DlIlwr, enl. Sept. 16, 1861.
George W. Derliew, enI. Sept. 10, 1861.
Jasper BowlIlaster, enl. Sept. 2:3, 1861.
Nathan Barklc.y, enl. Oct. 11, 18G1.
John Covert, enl. Sept. 17, 1861.
Jacob Cool., enl. SelJt.17. 1861.
Ulysses Donghert,)', cnl. Oct. 1, 1861.
John Doughcrty, enl. Sopt. 23, 1861.
Elias Demaris, cuI. Oct. 4,186),
John Dicl.orson, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
John Donham, elll. Oct. 1, 1861.
Will. n. Epport, enl. Sopt. 23, 1861.
Aaron S. Gmy, cuI. Sept. 27, 1861.

au

August Glenand, enl. Oct. 9, 1861.
Wm. G. Gefllnl, enl. Sept. 16, 1801.
Squirc Hughes, enl. Sept. 17, 18Gl.
Simcon W. lla,)'wllr,l, enl. Nov. 1, 1861.
Leandcr Ilel., elll. S(·pt. 17, 1861.
lIIichacl n. Kenlledy, enl. Oct. 10, 1861.
Andrew Longhonsc, eul. Sept. 17,1861.
WID. ll. lIIanning, en I. Oct. 4,1861.
James 1\lorford, enI. Oct. 14, 1861.
Thomas Moutjar, enl. Oct. 4, 1861.
WllSh. L. 1\lacc, enl. Scpt. 27, 1S61.
Joseph 1I100re, enl. Sept. 17, 1861.
Uriah C. lIIalott, cnl. Oct. 31, 1861.
Josephus J. 1I1alott, enl. Oct. 31, 1861.
Leonidas lIIcekcr, enl. Sept. 10, 1861.
Charles II. llnllen, enl. Sept. 10,18Gt.
Sylvester 1I1cCIlIiu, enl. Sept. 10,1861.
Odon lIIcClain, eul. Sept. 25, 18GI.
JohnllJcCllrty, enl. Sept. 25, 1861.
U1Jsscs Noble, enl. Oct. 16,1861.
'Vm. N. I'ollard, enl. Oct. 3, 1861.
Thomas 1\1. l'crriue, enl. Sept. 17, 1861.
Albert It. I'carce, enl. SCIlt. 23, 18G1.
William Prickett, enl. Oct. 16, 1861.
I,afa,)'ette Rohrer, enl. Oct. 10, 1861.
Thomas II. Short, enl. Oct. 1, 1861.
James Smith, enl. Sept. 17, 1861.
Harrison Sni.ler, enl. Sept. 17, 1861.
J. Sanders, enl. Oct. 3, 1861.
l~noch Simpkins, enl. Oct. 16, 1861.
George Tnullp, enl. Oct. 3, 1861.
Denjamin F. Tatman, enl. Sept. 27, 1861.
J. Willis, enl. Sept. 24,1861.
Nelson R. Walker, enl. Ott. 16, 18Gl.
IlenrJ' C. 'Varren, cnl. Sept. 18, 1861.
l-lllrvey 'Vails, enl. Nov. 6, 1861.
Charles Holman, enl. Nov. 12, 1861.
JlUlles Gltrbutt, enl. Sept. 4, 1861.
Thomas B. llehJ'JIler, enl. Nov. 13, 1861.
John R. Ward, enl. Nov. 12, 1861.
Mason C. BllIcl;:burn, enl. Nov. 8, 18Gl.
Corp. John R. l'rlcChesncy, enl. Sept. 19, 18G1; appointed corp. Nov. 15, 1864.
Corp. Daniel D. Stewart, Co.lII;' enl. Sept. 25, 18G1; lllust. out by reason of ex-

piration of term of servicp..
Charles Holmall, Co. L; CHI. Nov. 12, 1861; engaged in battles of Shiloh, l'rIis­

sion IUdge, and llIet:lDleSa; Dlust. out by reason of expiration of term of
service.

Levi W. Sharp, Co. A; elll. Sept. 10, 18G1.
Francis L. Wean,r, enl. Sept. 10,1861; on duty at Duva-ll's Dluff, Ark.; reportell

for must. ont, Sept. 12, 1864.
George 'V. Rel'se, en I. Jan. 7, 1862; lIlUSt. out of service.
John 101. Burkhart, enl.llI1Lrch 31, 1865; must. out :.\Iay 4, 18G5.
Reason T. New!lerry, Co. L; enl. Oct. 10, 181n; was prisoner of war; must. out

bJ' relLSon of expiration of tenn of service.
William Vogt, Co. L; NIl. Sept. 10, 1861; was prisoner uf war; must. out by

reason of expimtion of term of service.
William D. lIIanning, Co. L; enl. Oct. 4, 1861; must. out by reason of expira­

tion of tenn of service.
John Simllson, Co. A; en]. Sept. 27, 1862; must. out of service.

COllII'ANY II (DE'rACIlllIENT).

Sergt. Ricllll.l'd Gdffith, enl. Aug. 30, 1862; pro. to corp. Feb. 1, 1863; to ord.
sergt. April 21, 1863.

C01\IPANY 111.

Capt••Tohn IIenry, com. Oct. 8, 1861; pro. to maj. from capt., ,Feb. 1, 1863.
1st Lieut. Thomas I. Wood, com. Oct. 8, 181il; dismissed froUl service, June 10,

1862.
Capt. William C. Slade, com. Oct. 8, 1861; pro. ttl capt. from 2d Iieut., Feb. 1,

18G:3.
1st Lieut. Joseph W. Gowdy, com. Oct. 3, 1861; sergt. at enlistment; pro. Feb.

1, 186:!.
2d Lieut. James O. Watson, COUl. Oct. 9, 18Gl ; sergt.at enlistment; pro. Feb. 1,

1863.
1st Sel·gt. Robert H. Nichols, enl. Oct. 13, 1861; pro. to corp• .July 1, 1862; to

sergt. Sept. 20, 1862.
Q.1\L-Sergt. John 1\1. 1\IendJekell, enl. Feb. 1, 1862; pro. to corp. Sept. 1, 1862;

to SCI·gt. Nov. 1, 1862; rednced to mnl.s by reqllest.
Com.-Sergt. l.'homas ClLStlen, enl. Oct. 3, 1861; pro. to' corp. Nov. 1, 1862; to

sergt. Nuv. 1, 1862.
SCI·gt.•Tallles lIIiller. enl. Sept. 10, 1861; pro. to corp. Nov. 1, 1861; to sergt.

Jan. 1, 1863.
SUI·gt. Andl'cw J. Bunson, elll. Sept. 25,1862; pro. to sergt. from private, Jan. 1,

1863; Inis~ing while on scont service, Feb. 24,18114; supposed to be tal;:en
pl'isolwr.

Sol·gt. S'l/lluel Wilson, en I. Sept. 24, 1802; private at enlistment; pro. Jan. I,
1863; sick in l.lOspitl1l in lIIemphis, 'I'enD., since July 30, 1863.
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Ser:,:t. Belljamill F. 1IIilll'r, l'1I1. Sl'pt. 12, 1861 ; pro. to 8l'rgt. from corp., Jan. 1,
1811:1; ahR!'lIt on rl'crniting s!'J'\'ice since Dec. 28, 186:\'

Ser·gt. Willi'lll\ H. Kirkpatricl;;, enl. Sept. 21,1861; pro, to corp. Jan.l, 1863;
to Rl'r:,:t•.Tau. 1, 1864.

Corp..Toscph Busam, enI. Oct. 4,1861; pro. to corp. lIJay 1, 1862.
Corp. Da\'id G. Nichols, !'uI. Oct. i, 1861; pro. to corp. June 1, 1862~
Corp. Dalliel D. Slewarll, enl. SC'pt. 25,1861; pro. to corp..TUIIl·l, lR62.
Corp. CharlC's II. l\lorris; enI. Oct. 1-1,1861; pro. to corp. Jan. 1, 18G:3­
Corp. Angus W. Vallosdol, en!. Oct. 16, 18112; pro. to corp.•Tan. 1, 1863.
Corp.•JaRpl'l' Taylor, enl. Oct. 21,1861; 1'1'0. to corJl. Dec. 1, 186:3­
llIacksmith Alph('us T. McCnllollgh, (·nl. Ang. 20, 18G2.
Sll.ldll'r Jacoll lHl'yers, enl. Sept. 2:1, 1861.
Nicholas Ackerman, enI. Nov. 4, 1862•
•lameR Heagle, enI. SC'pt. 16. 1861.
Jacob necht, (·nl. S,'pt. 24, 1862.
.John Bolling, enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; or!lerly at military commis.~illn, lIIelllphis,

Tenn., June 1, 1863.
I.IIniR BUlllpS, enl. Scpt. 12, 1862.
};dwiu Douchard, enl. S,·pt. 8, 1862.
Thomas Boyes, enI. Dec. 1, 186:~.

John N. Conl"llll, enl. Sept 12, 1861; orclerly for Gen. Hnrlbut, 1I1ell1phis, Tenn.
Jame:l Caufielll, enI. S,'pt. 24, 1862.
James Calhoun, cnl. Dec. 25, 186a.
John ]o;mm, enl. Sept. 21, 1861.
Jallles W. Frazier, enI. Jan. 18, 18M.
1'1'011 idas n. ).'101'0, enl. Sept. 2:1, 1811:3.
William Fetkother, cnl. Sept. 12, 1862.
lIenr.}' GiII.>crt, cnl. Jan. 24, 18M.
JamC's K Gift, enl. Nov. 25, IS6:1.
Jnlins Hencher, en!. Nov. I, 18G1.
TheOtlore lIunt, enI. SC'pt. 20, Hl61.
Frederick 1I0nsc, cnl. j<'eb. 20, 1862; sicl;; in hosp. at Mcmphis, 'I'enn., since

•Inly 28, 186:1. •
John P. Howe, eul. Jan. i, 1864; sick in hosp. at Camp Denllison, Ohio, since

Oct. :11, ISG:l.
AJexandC'r Ii. Hill, enl. Sept. 21, 1861.
Louis Landers, en!. SPpt. Hi, lSG2.
Martin I.aypolc, enl. Sept. 6, 18GI.
SalUuel I.~·lle, enl. Dec. 2G, 18li:l.
John G. Lnl;;e, enI. Nov. 2:1, 186:1.
Jefferson lIlartin, en\. l,'ell. 28, 1862.
Joseph ShnDlard, enl. Fell. 1, 1862.
Is:mc Stulle\', enl. Oct. 4,1861.

Dj"chm·i/cd.

Valentine Anthony, enl. Sl'pt. 2{l, 1861; !lisch. for disability, Oct. 29, 1861.
Georgn W. Clem, en\. Oct. 8, ISGl; !lisch. for disahility, Aug. 8,1862.
Isaac:No IInglwy, en!. Oct. 4,1861; disch. for disahilit~·, Oct. 16, 1862.
Jame" DnmDleB, enl. Oct. 31, 1861; disch. for wounds rec(,iv"d in battle, Oct.

11,1862.
Ser:.:t. Ezra Towner, en!. Sept. 20, 1861; disch. for disability, Dec. 13, 1862.
Willialll OI,lhauser, I'n!. Sept. 23,1861; disch. for disabilit~·, .June 6, 18G:I.
lIlarlin l'erkermyer, enl. Oct. 16, 1861: disch. for disability, J'ln. 14, HlG3.
Anlh'''w J. Lindsey, en!. Sept. 20, 18Gl; disch. for disalJilily, Jan. 20, 186:1.
O:lear Towner, en!. Sl·pt. 21, 1861; di8ch. for disabilit~·, Dec. 15,186:3,
Willialll 11.11. Maguire, en!. Oct. H, 1861; disch. for disability, lIIay 1,1863.
Loui" Calhoun, enl. Oct. 3, 1861; disch. for disability, lIlarch 1:3, 18G3.
Peter ]\1jrck, en!. Oct. 5, 1861; disch. for !lis'lbilit~·, March 12, 18G:$.
Adam Krat~er, eul. Oct.:I, 1861; disch. for disability, liard. 5,1863.
Charles :McKay, en\. Oct. 8, 1861; disch. for disability, April 28, 1863.
Alexander N. Daird, enl. Iteb. I, 186:!; disch. for disability, May 26; 1863.
Silas It. lIIorgan, cu!. Oct. 28, 1861; disch. for disahility, June 1, 1863.
A,lron Grey, enl. Oct. a, 1861; disch. for !lisahility, Sept. 10, 1862.
John P. :Nichols, en!. Oct. 7,1861; disch. for disability, Dec. 1,1861.
Philip House, en!. Sppt. 20,1861; !lisch. for disahility, Jlln. 1, 1862.
AmlJrose Durliew, cuI. Feb. 28,1862; disch. for disability, 1I11\~' 10, 1862.
John W. White, enl. Sept. 4, 1861; disch. for disl(bilit;r, March 10, 1862.

Dietl.

Clayton W. Shaw, cnl. Oct. 3, 1861; died lIIay 22, 1862,at New Richmond.
Corp. ThomllS Shannon, died of disease near Pittsburg Landing, :May 5', 1862.
Corp. John Hobson, enI. Sept. 20, 1861 ; died Aug. 20, 1863, of consumption, nellr

Pittshurg Landing.
ElillS Clem, e.nl. Oct. 8, 1861 ; died Junlll0, 1863, near Bolimr, Tenn., of chronic

diarrh<ea.
Jerome D. ABen, enl. Sept. 20, 1861; died Aug. 25, 1863, ncar Camp Davies,

lUiss., of mC'llsles.

SEVENTH OHIO VOLU!S'fEER CAVALRY.

On the 25th of August, 1862, Governor Tod ordered this
regiment to be recruited in the lower river counties and to
rendezvous at Ripley. The regiment went into camp Oct.
3, 1862, and on the 22d of NoVeliibel' the first movement
against the enemy was made, the operations being in l~llst-

ern Kentucky, and extending into Tenncssee and Virginia,
being with Gen. Carter in the fil'st raid into Ellst Tennes­
see. On the 9th of Jatmal'y, 1863, we find it at Winches!
tel', Ky., wcaried and W01'll, but gratified with success.
l\Iorc than half' the horscs had dicd and much of the journey
had to be made on foot. Then followed the active opera­
tions in Kentucky, causcd by the marauders of John Mor­
gan, and which later in the season were transferreu to Ohio,
the Seventh bcing one of the regiments whicl} followcd in
pursuit of Morgan. In the Jhll of 1863 the regiment
was again in East Tcnnessee, and the following winter
was half starved to death, t,he famishing troops being un­
able to get subsistence of any kind for days at a time. On
the 4th of July, 1864, the Seventh started for Atlanta, and
after being engaged at the battle of Franklin, Tenn., was
attached to Gen. 'Wilson's cavalry force, harassed Hood at
N'ashville, rode through Alabama and into Georgia, being
near Andcrsonville when the Wllr closed. It was mustcred
out at Nashville, July 4, 18G5, having lost by the casual­
ties of war fivc hundred and sixty-fivc men.

OFFICERS AND MEN PRO~I CLERMONT COUNTY.

COlllPANY D•

2!l Lieut. WIL~hington W. Manning, en!. S!'pt. 1, 1862; private at cnlistment;
pro. to sergt., Sellt. 30, 18G2; to 1st sergt, Jnne 1, 1863; to 2(1 lieut.,
Aprill!l, ISG-l; disch. April 21,18M; must. in as 2d Hent., April 22,
18M; 1'1'0. to 1st lieut., 1\la\'cll 18,1865; not 1I1ust. in llS 1st lieut.

1st Sergt. Joseph H. Gl'illis, enl. Aug. 28, 1862; pri\'llte at enlistment; pro.
April 19, 1864; tnlien prisoner, July 31, ISM; rejoined C01l1PIUI~',June 4,
1865.

Q.l\I.·Scrgt. John H. Teal, enl. Sept. 4, 1862; primto at enlistmC'nt; pl·O. to
q.1I1.-se\·gt., ~Iay I, 1865; taken prisoner, July 31, 18tH; rejoineu com­
plinY, Jnlle 4, 1865.

COIll.-Sergt. John W. Armacost, enl. Ang. 30, 1862; private at enlistmont i pro.
May 1,1865.

Sergt. Gnorge W. 1\Ierrill, en!. Sept. 15, 18G2; privute at enlistment; pro. Sept.
1,18li4.

Sergt. Haney lIll)"wood, enl. Sept. 5, 18G2; primte at enlistment; pro. 1\lay 1,
1865; taliell prisoner, .July :n, 1864.

Sergt.lIenry lIillinger, enl. Oct. 1,1862; pl'i\'ate at enlistment; pro. 1Iiay 1,
1865:

Ser gt. Davitl C. Darrow, enl. Sept. 3, 1862; private at enlistment; pro. 1I1:ly 1,
1865.

Sergt. Stephcn D. 1\Iount, enl. Sept. :I, 1862; private at enlistment; pro. lI[lIY 1,
1865.

Corp. I,m'enzo Gormlln, enl. Sept. 1,1862; private at enlistment; pro. lIIay 1,
18G5.

Corp. Ste'phen Parvin, enl. Aug. 28,1862; primto at enlistment; pro. lIIaJ 1,
1865.

Corp. Joseph Rodocker, enl. Sept. 1, 1862; private at enlistment; pro. nIlI)'I,
1865.

Corp. Wm. II. Tice, enl. Ang. 28,1862; private lit l'nlistmellt; pro.1\Iny 1,1865.
Corp. John P. Colthar, enI. Sept. 11, 1862; private at enlistment; pro.lIlay 1,

1865; taken prisClller, July :n, 1864; r<'joined company, Jnno 4,1865.
COl'll. John C. Hadloy, en!. Scpt. 5, 1862; private at elllistInent ; pro.lIlay 1, 1865.
Corp.Oblllliall McNntt, onl. Aug. 28, 1862; private lit enlistment; pro. M,lY I,

11365.
Corp. Wm. G. Prickett, enl. Sept. 3,1862; private at enlistment; pro. May 1,

1865.
'VagolJer Calvin lIrel'!;;er, enl. Sept. 11, 18G2.
Silhurn Armstrong, enl. Sept. 11, 1862; taken prisoner, July 31, 1864.
John H. Drekenbus, enl. Sept. 5, 1862.
William Darrow, en!. Sept. 11, 1862; taken prisoner, July 31,1864.
Augustus Darhrow, enl. Sept. 2, 18G2; onC'-year recruit.
Willialll Clair, enl. Sept. 11, 1862.

.William H. Cole, eul. Aug. 30, 1862; trans. to Co. D from Co. n, Nov. 22,1864.
Jeremiah Davis, enl. Sept.. 5, 1862.
ISllllC Davis, cnl. Sept. 5, 1862.
James 11. Dameron, enl. Sept. 4, 1864; one-~'ellr recruit.
Jollll D'lvis, enl. Sept. 2, 18M; one-year recruit.
George W. Dennison, enl. Sept. 2, 1864; one-year recruit.
Alhert Edwards, enl. Sept. 12, 1862.
~'hl)mlls j<'urlong, enl. Aug. Ii, 1864; one-Jear recruit.
Joseph G. Fisher, enl. Sept. 2, 18G<!; one-yellr recruit; sick in hospital (no place

given).
Varley Uoul,l, onl. Sel.t. i, IS62.
Clinlon Ghmc~', cnl. Sept. 8,1862; taken prisoner, July 2!l, U6'!.
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Jacob lIancy, enl. Aug. 30, 1862; taken prisoner, JulJ' 31, 18G-!; rejoiued com-
1lany, June 4, 1865.

'Villiams Hobbs, enl. Sept. 7, 1862; taken prisoner, .Tuly 31, 186t.
G. W. Hill, enl. Sept. 2, 186t; one'~'ear recruit.
Sallluel G. Hall, enl. Sept. 2, 186t; one-year recruit.
Burnett Beida, elll. Oct. 19, 18M; one-year recruit.
Rubert C. W. Hughey, enl. Oct. 12,1864; one yeal' recruit.
]!'rank Kuhn, en!. Sept. 3, 1862; takt'll prisoner by enelllY, .TnIJ· 31,1864; re-
, joined company, June 4, 1865.
Gl'orge Killinger, en!. Sept. 14, 1862; taken p:isoner by enemy, July :11, 1864.
}'mnk Kreiger, enl. Sept. 29, 1862; taken prisoner by enemy, Nov. 6, 1863; re-

joined comp:tnJ', Juno 4,1865.
George G. KreLbs, 1'111. Oct. 19, 1864; one-yellr l·ccrllit.
Andrew I,onghouser, en!. Sept. 6, 18li?; taken prisLlner, Jnly 31, 1864.
Hobert W.lIlcLean;en!. Sept. 10, 1862; taken prisoner, Jnly 31, 1864; rejoined

company, June 4, 186.5.
William P. 1I100re, onl. Sept. 13,1862; taken prisoner, .ruly 31, 1864.
John 1\lohn, enl. Oct. 19, 186-l; one-year recruit.
William IIlyers, enl. Oct. 22, ISG4; one-year recruit.
Abmham D. lIlanning, eu!. Sept. 14, 18U4; one-year recruit.
Juhn R. Nichols, en I. Sept. 11,1862; tllken prisoner by enemy, July 31, 1864.
1m I'elton, en I. SI·pt. 12, 1862.
:lIIinor Swem, enl. Sept. 6, 18G2.
John W. Smith, enl. Sept. 2, 1862; one-year recruit.
Charles Vanhorn, enl. Sept. 7, 18G2; taken prisoner of war, .Tuly 31, 18li4.
Juhn Weaver, eul. Sept. 5, 1862.
:l\Iartin White, enI. Sept. 1, 18G2; talwn prisoner of war, JnlJ' 31, 1864.

Rcsi[flled.

Capt. Ira Fnrguson, COlli. Aug. 25, 1862; res. about Oct. 25, 1862.
Capt. Ellen R. LiJll.lspy, en!. liS 1st sergt., Sept. G, 1862; 111'0. to ('.apt. about Oct.

25, 18G2; res. Dec. 25, 186:t
1st Lient. Lt'ster G. 1I100re, COUI. Aug. 25, 18G2; res. June 3, 1863.

Disellal'[fell.

Sergt. Allen W. ArmILcost, en!. Aug. 30, 18G2; severely wounded in au engage­
ment at 'Vest's Gap, l~y., June 9, 18li:l, lind disch. 011 account of wounds,
FeL. 28, 1864.

COI·p. Georgo W. Armstrong, enl. Sept. 4, 18G2; disch. fur disallility alJOut Jan.
15,186:1.

Sergt. Frank Browning, enl. Sept. 4, 1862; disch. ou or about June 15, 18M, lly
order, to accept commission in U. S. C. T.

Samuel C. Bellkman, en!. Sept. 6, 18G2; disch. for disability on or about Aug.
15,186:.1.

Com.-Sergt. William N.Bell, enl. Sept. 11, 18G2; disch. for disallility on or about
Feh. 1, 1865.

Albert I'. Hair, en!. Sept. 11, 1862; disch. (or disability on or allout JUlie 10,
18G:l.

Q.1\I.-Sergt. Jos. Lindsey, enl. Oct. 29, 1862; disch. for disability, Jan. 25, 1865.
WillJllr 1\lcLt'an, enl. Sept. 16,1862; disch. for disability on or about Nov. 5,

1862.
E. R. Miller, enl. Sept. 27, 1862; disch. for disabili lyon or about Feb. 20, 1863.
Columbus Snider, en!. Sept. 1, 1862; disch. for dislLbility, June lO, 18G3.
Sergt. Samuel Rice, enl. i:iept. 19, 1862; disch. for dislLbility, 1I1lu'ch 10, 1863.
Jacob E'. Pride, enl. Sept. 11, 18G2; disch. for dislLbiIity; Nov. 15, 1863.

TrallJ'ifen·ed.

Com.-Sergt. Wilson Barber, enl. Sept. 16, 18G2; trans. to non-com. staff; to r<,gt.
com. sergt., April 19, 1864.

Corp. Nathall Shin, elll. Sept. 1, 1862; trans. to non-com. staff; to regt. q.m.-
sergt., July 1, 1864.

'Villialll Armstrollg, enl. Sept. 13,1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps, Aug. 15,186:.l.
Elkullah Holmes, elll. Sept. 15, 1862; tl"alls. to Vet. ltes. Corps, Feb. "'7,186:3.
George Myers, ell!. Sept. 5,1862; tmns. to Vt·t. Res. Corps about Aug. 15; 1863.
Cusper 1\lathews, elll. Sept. 5, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps allout Aug. 15, '63.
ZaclllLrilLlI Newbul'y, en I. S,·pt. 12, 1862; trans. to Vet.ltes. Corps alJont Jan. 1,

18G:3.
Isaac N. Carter, enl. Sept. 6, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps about Aug. 15, 1863.
Byl'llem Temple, cuI. Sept. 8,1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Curps about Aug. 15,

186:~.

Ori).;in i'hompson, en!. Sept. 11, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps about Feb. 20,
1863.

Diccl.

1st Lieut. Samuel MurpheJ', com. Aug. 25, 1862; died of disell.Se contracted in
service, June7r I86!.

Bugler LeonidlLs Archer, elll. Aug. 28, 1862; killed in engagement at Carter's
Station, 'l'enn., Dec. 30, 1862.

S,u.ldlel· George Arthur, cuI. Sept. 10, 18li2; taken prisoner Nov. 6,1863; re­
ported to have died in prison.

Alonzo ll.Butler, enl. Sept. 11, 1862; died of disease iu hospital at Lexington,
Ky., April I, 1863.

Edward Butlor, enl. Sept. 27, 1862; died of disease in hospital at Lexington,
K)·., May 10,186:.1.

James Cmig, enl. SI·pt. 10, 18G2; died of disell.Se in hospital at Lexington, KJ·.,
May 2-1, 1864.

1\larcellns 1\[. Colthltl', enl. Fob. 29, 18G!; taken prisoner Aug. 27, 1864; reported
to have died in prison.

Sergt. Christian Donaldson, enl. Sept. 6, 1862; killed by the enemy at Burnt
Hickory, Ga., 1Iiay 27, 1864.

Jacob Dfwis, enl. Sellt. 5, 18G2; taken prisoner July 31, 18M; r<'}lorted to have
died in prison.

David Fifer, enl. Sept. 11, 1862; dil'd o( diseasl', lIIay 10, 186!.
'Villiam Gorman, enl. Sept. 1, 1862; died of disea.~e, July 2,1861.
AIl'xander Gordon, enl. Sept. 11,1862; died of diseu.se at Harrodsburg, Ky.,

J!'eL. 28, 1863.
Smith A. Gl"llvit, elll. Sept. 11, 1862; taken pl'isoner Nov. G, 18G3; reported to

have died in prison. .
Nat!uUliel Henning, elll. Sept, 5,1862; taken prisoner Nov. 6, 1863; reported

tu 11lLve died about Sept. G, 18G4.
Elijah' B. Hall, enl. Sept. 5, 18li2; taken prisoner July 31, 1864; died at An­

napolis, lIld., Dec. 31, 18G4.
Slll'gt. Andrew J. Idlet, enl. Sept. G, 1862; taken prisoner July 30, 18G!; died at

Andersonville, Ga., Jan. 1, 1865.
Sergt. George W. LindseJ', cnl. Aug. 28, 18G2; died. at Annapolis, 1\ld., March

15,1865. .
WesleJ' W. 1IIount, enl. Sept. 2, 1862; killCll in an engagement with enemy,

Jnne 9, 18b3.
Gilbert ll.lIIcGilI, eni. Sl'pt. 22, 1862; taken prisoner by enemy, Nov. 6, 1863 ;

died of disell.Se at AJluapolis, lIId., Jan. 10, 1865.
William L.1\liller, ('n!. Nov. :lG, 18G:l; taken prisoner July :-l0, 1864; reported

to have dit'd while a prisoner of war.
Leander l'enny, enl. Aug. "'5, 18M; died of diseltse in hospital, l1lLrch 18, 18G5,

at Nashville, Tenn.
Jacob Holler, enl. Sept. 10, 18G2; takpn prisoner by enllmy, July 30, 1864; re­

portl'd to have died while a prisoner of war.
Samuel W. Swainey, enl. Sept. 5, 18G2; taken prisolll'r hy enemy, Nov. G, ISG3;

r«'portpd to have died while a prisoner of war.
Petcr SlInders, eni. Sept. 29, 18G2; tal,en prisoner by enf'my, J nly :lO. ISG!; died

at An IllLpulis, 1\ld., Jan. 4, 1865.
Charles F. Stewart, enl. Sept. 5, 1862; taken prisoJler hy enem~', July 30, 1864;

r"ported to ha.ve died whilc a prisuner of war.
Alfred 'frilJlley, enl. Sept. 1, 1862; taken prisoner by eneDl)', July 30, 18M; re­

ported to have died, Nov. :-l0, 1864, while It prisoner of WILl' at lIIiIlon, Ga.
Joseph Trees, elll. Sept. 1:1, 1802; died of diseitse in hospital at DanVille, Ky.,

Fell. 24, 1863.
'VagonerJlImes H. Kain, enl. Sept. lli, 18G2; died-of disease, April 15, 1864.
Corp. George W. Vail, enl. Sept. 8, 1862; taken prisoner by enem)', Nov. G,

1863; reported to have died while a prisouel' of warlLt AndersolJvillc, Ga.

NINTH OHIO VOLUNTEER CAVALRY.

The Clermont men in this organization were in the bat­
talion which left Camp Dennison Feb. G, 1864, for Nash­
ville, Tenn., and which was aSi:iigned tq duty in Alabama.
For some time its operations were confined to the northern
part of that State, extending southward and east until a
union was effected with Gen. Sherman's lines, near Mari­
etta, on the 22d of July. After some active engagements
in Georgia it was ordered to Louisville to procure a fresh
supply of horses, and then again started for Atlanta, where
it-joined the Federal forces in the march to the :;ea, render­
ing most efficient service in protecting the infi.tntl'y. In
the march through the Carolinas a large IIUIll bel' of horses
having been rendered unfit for service, It part of the
men were organized into a" dismounted command." Both
branches of' the regiment acquitted themselves with great
bravery in the lattel' stages of the war, often coping with
the enemy at great odds. After the surrender of Johnston
the Ninth was ordered to Concord, N. C., where it remained
on duty till the last of July, 1865. On the ~d of August,
1865, the regimental colors were turned over at Columbus,
Ohio.

OFFICERS AND :MEN FROM CLERMONT COUN'rY.

C01\I1>ANY L-

Capt. Asbury P. Gatch, com. Dec. 2, 18a3; WIlS capt. since organization of the
company.

1st Lieut. James Boileau, com. 1Iiarch 21, 18G5; pro, from 2d lieut., Co. D, sILme
regiment.

1st Lieut. Peter F. Swing, com. Dec. 2, 1863; pro. to capt. of Co. F, RILme
regiment.

2d Lieut. Amos Briner, com. Dec. 16, 1864; pl·O. from 1st sergt., Co. II, same
rcgimeut, Dec. 16,1864.
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2,1 Lieut. William D. Ely, com. Dec. 2, 1863; pro. to 1st lieut. ()o. l{, sanl(\ rogi­
IIwut, Dec. 16, 18M.

1st Sergt. John E. Hutchinson, enl. Nov. 11, 186:1; pro. from sergt. to 1st sergt.,
June 12, 1865.

Q.1\r.-Sergt. IIalspy H. Glassford, (·nl. Dec. 5. 1863; veterall.
Com.-Sergt. Randolph S. Swing, enl. Sept. 24, 1863.
l5ergt. Charles Nichols, enl. Sept. 4, 186:1.
Sergt. Andrew Ta~'lor, enl. Oct. 21,1863.
Sergt. James H. Sal'p, enl. Sept. 20, 1863.
Sergt. John If. Iretoll, cuI. Oct. 13, 1863; pro. from corp., .Julle 12, 18li5.
Sergi. Dl>njamin F. Zugg, enl. Sept. 2:3,186:3; pro. from corp., June H, 1865.
Corp. Stephen lIIartin, elll. Oct. 17,1863.
Corp. Lucius F. Woodruff, enl. Nov. 18, 1/;63; prisonor, held \ly enemy, :Feb. 10,

1865.
Corp. Johll Dames, elll. Jan. 1, 186-1.
Cm·p. William Agar, elll. Nov. :30, 186:3.
Corp. Elliott B. l\IcKeever. elll. No\·. 17, 186-1.
Corp••John L. Johnson, enl. ::iept. 16, 1863; private at enlistment; pro. 1\Iay 1,

1865.
Corp. William A. Armstrong, elll. Oct. 17, 1863; Tetemn; private at enlistment;

pro. June 12, l1i1J5.
Corp. Fnmcis 1\1. Hinton, onl. Nov. 30, 1863; privnte at enlistment; pro. Juno

14, 1865.
Dlacksmith John Davidson, I'nl. Nov. 20,1863; paroled at Camp Columbus,

Ohio.
Elijah Allen, elll. Dec. 5, 1863; YCtemn.
Henry C. Alves, enl. Oct. 5,186:3.
James F. Ankrum, enl. Sept. 4, 186.1.
George 1\1. Apgar, elll. Oct. 20,1863; ,·eterall.
John E. Applegate, enl. Dec. 30, 186-1.
Nl>lson Armstrong, enl. Oct. 17, 186:3; sick in hospital.
Ashabel Dames, elll. Jan. 1, 18M.
James M. Do~'d, enl. Nov. :30, 186:3.
John Dmnllonburg, enl. Nov. 18, 1863.
Willialll Brown, elll. Oct. 30, 1863.
E')llIond Birdsall, enI. Oct. ]3, 1863; sick in hospital at Louisville, Ky.
lIladisoll n. Butler, elll. Kov. 6, ]86:3.
James 'V. Calhoun, elll. Sept. 26,1863.
:lI1i1ton Cnmpllell, cnl. Jan. 27, 1864; ,·eterall.
William A. Critchfiel<!, enl. .Jall. 4, 186'!; vetemn.
Joseph :Bavis, enl. Oct. 27, 18G:3.
John S. Day, enl. SOllt. :3,186:1.
Dennis Dondenlle, enl. Nov. 2, IS63; prisoner, held by enelllY, April 11, 1865.
William L. Doughty, enl. Sept. 2-1,186:3.
Simpson G. Dowdell, CHI. No\'. 20, ]8G:t
Henry Engle, enI. Dec.. 2, ISG:l.
lUarcellns Fagin, enI. Oct. 3, lStJ:3.
George 'V. Fee, cnI. Sept. 20, 186:3.
James Galh\ghcr, ('nI. Noy. 4,1863; paroled at Camp ColulIIlms, Ohio.
Henry Hadle~', enl. Sept. 20, ]S6a j Yctemn.
Thomas J. IIartman, cnI. Sept. 7, 186a.
Thomas R. Hartman, enI. Oct. 14, 1863; paroled at Camp Coltunhus, Ohio.
Alfred Hughes, pnl. Oct. 20, 1863.
Clo~'d Johnson, enl. No\'. 17, 1863; veteran.
Peter Keller, enI. Sept. 24, 1863; vetemn.
Emstus A.l\:elley, enl. Oct. 15, 1863 j prisoller, held b~' enemy since April ll,

1865.
George l{ilIinger. enl. Noy. 25,1863.
Ephmim T. Leeds, enI. Oct. 10, 1863.
Felix 1\1. Leeyer, ellI. Oct. ::!(l, 1863.
Benjamin Light, enl. Sept. 20, 1863.
James D. Light, enI. Sept. 24, 186:3.
Levi W. Lindsey, cnI.Oct.12, 1863.
John A. l\£ace, enI. Aug. 26,1863.
Iredelll\[alott, enl. Dec. 3, 1863.
Jerome McDonald, enl. Oct. 10, 1863.
Richard Mc1\lullen, enl. Nov. 17, 1863.
Joseph Moore, enl. Dec. 2, 186-1; sick in hospital at (no place giY8n).
Willilllll :Moore, enl. Oct. 23, IS63.
Adam Morgan, enI. Oct. 14, 1863.
Charlesl\1orris, elll. Nov. 1, 18M.
John T.l\£ullen, enI. Nov. 7, 1863; prisoner; held by ellemy since Allril 11,

1865.
Augustus Nichols, enl. Sept. 4, 1863 j prisoner; held by encllIY since April 11,

1865.
Thomas W. Potter, enl. Nov. 7,1863.
John I'rice, enl. Nov. 11, 1863; veteran.
·Andrew J. Reynolds, enl. Sept. 24, 1863.
Thomas R ltilea, en I. Nov. 4, 186·!.
Andrew M. Scott, eni. Jan. 5, 1864.
William E. Shafel', enl. Sept. 5, 186:3; prisoncr; hold by CHelllY sinCll }'eb. 10,

1865.
Cynls L. Shumard, eni. Dec. 4,1863.
Oliver P.· Smith, eni. Sept. 24,1863.
Thomm! C. Smith, enI. Sept. 24, 186:J.
Georgo Snell, enl. Sept. 24, 1863.
William 'faylor, CHI. Oct. 22, 1863.

William B. Thomas, enl. Oct. 29,1863; vetemn.
1\Iich:\l'1 White, enI. SelJt. 20, 1863.

Disclmryc,l.

1st Sergt. Ril(>~' Y. Woodlief, enl. Oct. 27, 1863; disch. 1\[arch 26,1865, to enable
him to muster as 2d Iieut., Co. 11, same regiment.

1st Sergt. <lnincy A. Drown, ellI. Nov.!J, 186:1; discll. June 12, 1865, for dis­
ability.

Com.-Serl:t. William D. Johnson, enI. Sept. 11, 1863 j disch. June 14, 1865, for
. disability.

Blacksmith Edward Doughty, onl. Sept. 2, 1864; disch. June 13, IS65, by order
of War Departmellt.

John V. Armstrong, enI. Sept. 2, 186!; disch. June 13, 1865, by order of War
Del'al·lment.

Daniel L. Curlis, enI. Sept. 4, 1863; disch. June 28,1865, by order of War De­
partment.

Joseph Doughty, enl. Sept. 2, 18M; disch. Juno 13,1865, by order of War De­
partment.

John D. Dumford, enl. Sept. 10, 186:J; disch. l\Iay 25. 1865, by order of War De­
partment.

Fmncis A. Hitch, enl. Sl>Pt. 2, 1864; disch. June 13, 1865, by order of War De­
partment.

Tolten Jackson, enl. Sept. 24,1863; disch. May 25, 1865, hy order of War De­
partmcnt.

Tho'mlls l\lcDonald, enl. Noy. 5,1863; disch. Jan. 26,1864, by order of War Do­
1':lJ'tment.

Jacob Uapp, enI. Nov. 8, 1863; disch. lIIay 25, 1865, by order of Secretary of
War.

George W. Phillips, enI. Sl'pt. 2, 1864; disch. June 13, IS65, by order of Secre­
tary of War.

Jonlan 1\1. S:lIldl'I'll, enl. Sept. 24, 1863; disch. Juno 13.1S65, for disallility.
Th"o,lore F. Sherman, enI. Sept. 24,1863; disch.l\Iay 27, 1865, by order of Sec­

I'etar)' of War.
George Taylor, enl. Oct. 1, 1863; disch. l\Iay 25, IS65, hy order of Secretary of

"'al'.
Vincent White, enI. Nov. 4, 1863; disch. Jan. :16, 18M, for disability.
Thomas I'. White, enI. Sel'l. 2, 18M; disch. 1\Iay 25, IS65. by ordor of Secretary

of War.
Trallsferrell.

Sergt. Benjamin }'. Kauffman, enl. Noy. 19, 11:;;;3; tmlls. Selll. 1, 18&1, to Co. D,
sUllie regiment.

Denjamin F. Loyd, enl. Oct. 21, 1863; tmns. April 1, 1865, by order, to Vet. Res.
Corps.

Deaths.

.John Jeffries, enl. Jan. 2, 1864; died of measles near NashYilIe, Te.nn., Feb. 28,
1864. .

Jollll Liggl>tt, eul. Oct. 23, 1863; dil'll at Athens, Ala., of typhoid fever, April
11,18(j4.

Sergt. Mordecai Miller, enl. SOllt, 24, 1863; lliell at Athens, Ala., of typhoid·
fe\'Cr, April 28, IsrJ4.

Daniel CllmplJell, enl. Dec. 5, 1863; died of chronic lliarrhrellat Camp Dennison,
Ohio, Jnly 5,IS64.

Sandford Jk,llmn (no date); died of erysipelas at MooresYille, Ala., Jnly 3], .
IS64.

Abel Sil\'ers, enl. No\'. 7, IS63; died of intermittent feyer in Clermont Co.,Ohio,
Oct. 22, 1864.

Uriah Hadley, enl. Nov. 20, 1863; died of gunshot-wound, receh'ed in nction at
Benufort, S. C., Jan. 6, 1865. .

James Yonng, enl. Sept. 20, 1863; canse of death not known; died in Clermont
Co., Ohio, l\Iarch 22,1865.

Isaiah Shafey, eul. Oct. 26, 1863 ; cause of delltIl not known; died at Chatta­
nooga, 'fenn., Dec. 15, 1864.

Nicholas Gillian, enl. Dec. 30, 1863.
Joseph l\IcNeil, enl. Jan. 11, 1863.

ELEVENTH OHIO CAVALRY.

COMPANY E.

William· Drower, enl. June 23, 1863; vet. vol.; served in regimental band;
served in 27th O. V.!. to Aug. 17, 1862.

THIRTEENTH OHIO VOLUNTEER CAVALRY.

COMPANY D.

William Alger, enl.March 17, 1864.
Thlllllas Brenen, elll. 1\Iarch 23, 1864.
Philip Brand, enl. Aprii 7, 1864.
Stephen Cnnldo, enl.1\[arch 17, IS64.
J:llllrs Eo Crist, enl. March 28, 18M.
Thomas T.,Donghty, enI.l\Iarch 17, 1864.
William H. Davis, enI. April 5, 1864.
Frederick DriofenlJach, onl. April 7, 1864.
Amos Dixon, enl.March 23, 1864.
Moses Edwards,. enl. March 23, 186·!..
Collier Fenner, onl. March 23, 1864.
John II. Oliver, enl. March HI, IS64.
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Louis Smith, eul. April 15, 18M.
]~dward E. Whitcomh, enl. l\Iarch 20,1864.
James Welch, cnl. April 7, 1864.
],ewis Walter, enI. April 4, 1864.
James Wilson, enI. April 7, 186'1.

COl\I1'ANY E.

Joseph Lewis, enI. 1\Iarch 22, 1864; disch. July 4, 1865.

COl\lPANY 1.

Williaml\I. Pollard, enl. Aug. 19, 1864; disch. June 8, 1865.

:l\fARINE SERVICE.
William W. l\lcFarland, engineer I,U gunboat" Cincinnati," on l\Iississippi

HiveI'.
William Shannon, engineel' on gnnboat "Cincinnati," on l\Iississippi HiveI'.

FIRST REGIMENT LIGHT ARTILLERY.
COl\ll'ANY F.

1st Sergt. William L. l\lcLefresh, enl. Allg. 15, 1861.
1st Sergt. William F. Miller, enI. Aug. 15,1861.
Q.l\1. Joseph 1. Derlin, enI. Aug. 23, 1861.
Corp. William V. Campbell, enI. Aug. 15,1861.
Attificer William II. llickey, enI. S('pt 2,1861.
Artificer Josiah D. Hichanlson, en I. Oct. 1, U161.
Artificer Charles Dratten, enI. Sopt. 15, 18G1.
}'l'llJlk Armacost, enI. Sept. I, 1861.
George Dell, enI. Sept. 21, 1861.
Joseph E. lImtton, enI. Allg. 15, 1861.
DlIniford D,ell, enI. Aug. 15, 1861.
'Villiam Drummond, enI. Sept. 2, 1861.
William S. Ewart, enI. Sept. 17,1861.
J. W. King, enI. S<,pt. 25, 181l1.
John Lafaber, enI. Nov. 11, 1861.
Fl'llnk l\lesseng<>r, enI. Aug. 1:3, 1861.
l'eter l\liller, enl. Sept. 11, 1861.
.Tohn L. 1\Iathews, enI. Oct. I, 1861.
Samuel W.l'rathl'r, enI. Aug. 15, 1861.
William F. Price, enl. Aug. 15, 18G1.
James Ryan, enI. Aug. 15, 1861.

CO:\IPANY H.

John D. Gilfillen, enI. D£c. 3D, 1861.

SECOND REGUIEN'l' HEAVY ARTILLERY.
COl\lPANY D.

William C. Rnnyllll, enI. July 7, 1863; veteran brigade at enI.; appointed corp.
Aug. 5, 1863; reduced to ranks Nov. 26, 1863.

Peter L.ltunyan, enI. July 7, 1863.

COllIPANY C.

Gilmore C. Jones, enI. Aug. 3, 1863.

C01\lPANY D.
Jacob Wolf, enI. June 24, 1863.

COMPANY II.

Burton N. Bricker, enI. July 2, 1863; vet('l'lln.
Frank J. Cooper, enI. Jan. 25, 1863.
John F. Dcnnis, enI. Jan. 20, 1863.
George W. Hood, CHI. July 31, 1863.
Albert l\lartin, OBI. July 21, 1863.
•Tames White, enl. June 25, 1863.
].;]jjllh Reeus, enI. July 21, 1863.
Amos Shelle, enl. July 22, 1863.
Holly J. Sargent, enl. Juno 26,1863.
Samuel L. Ulrey, enI. Sept. 1,1863; musician at enrollment.
Dllrton l\1. Brickler, enI. July 2, 1863.
Oscal' I. Boyd, enI. Jul~' 2, 1863.
Peter T. Walker, enI. Aug. 6, 1863.

Disclwroe(l.

lst Sergt. John W. Smith, enI. Aug. 12, 1863; disch. to accept com. as 2d Iieut.,
tendered by Governor of Ohio, Sept. 28, 1864.

1st Sergt. l\Iarion lIIcDonald, onl. July 11, 181l3; disch. 'to uccept com. as 2d
lient., telldereu by Govel'llor of Ohio, Juno 25, 1865.

ThoJlllls W. Ladson, enI. July 21, 18G3; dlsch. at Knoxville, Tenn" l\Iay 15,
1865.

FIRST REGIMENT OHIO INDEPENDENT BAT·
TERY.

BATTERY No.1, CAPT. KIRTLAND'S COMPANY.

16t Sergt. William T. 1\.[oreton, enl. Aug. 16, 1862; 111'0. from q.m.-sergt., Dec.
14, 18G4, to 1st sergt., Jail. 5, 1865.

Q.lII.-Sol·gt. William S. Barkley, elll. Aug. 16, 1862; l>ro. from corl>., July IG,
1864, to q.m.-sergt., Jan. 5, 1865.

Sergt. l\Iark FitzwatCl', enI. Aug. 22, 1862; pro. from corp., Jnly 16, 1864, to
sergt., Dec. 14,1864.

Sergt. Alexander K. Price, enl. Aug. 24, 1862; pro. from corp., July 16, 1864, to
sergt., Dec. 14, 1864.

Corp.•Tesse Rogers, enI. Aug. 15, 1862; private at enl.; pro. Jnly 16, 1864.
Corp. William Johnson, enI. Aug. 21, 1862; private at en I. ; pro. Sept. 1, 1864.
Bugler Leander Zimmerman, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Levi B. Armacost, enI. Aug. 14, 1862.
John L. BallJCr, enI. Aug. 12, 1862.
George ClarI., en1. Aug. ~O, 1862.
Alllos Camcry, elll. Aug. 16, 1862.
'Villiam,E<lwards, enI. Aug. 28,1862.
Wesley R. Fee, eul. Aug. 12, 1862.
Theodore Galaski, enI. Allg. 12,1862.
Luke Lpouard,enI. Aug. 25, 1862.
Harvey W. Moorehead, eril. Aug. 12,1862.
Tholllas E. Slack, enl. Aug. 15, 1862.
Henry C. Stewart, cl1l. Aug. 16, 1862.

Discharged.

William Buchallan, enI. Aug. 17, 1862; disch.lIIay 3,1865.
Aaron Duusberry, enI. Aug. 6, 1862; disch. from hospital at Gallipolis, Ohio,

Sept. 16, 1864.
Jerome H. Fee, enI. Aug. 14, 1862; disch. Sept. 12, 1864, to accept pro.
James A. Patterson, ('nI. Aug. 21, 1862; disch. from hospital at Gallipolis, Ohio,

September, 1864.
George W. Pnrkhiser,enI. Aug. 24,1862; disch. from hospital'at St. Louis, Oc­

tober, 1864.
David Rush, enI. Aug. 16, 1862; disch. at Fayotteville, Va., Jan. 27, 1863, for

disauility.

FIFTH UNITED STATES COLORED TROOPS.

COllIPANY A.

Anderson J. Broddis. enI. Aug. 25, 1864.

COl\IPANY n.
Samuel Beverly, enI. Jnne 2, 1863; killed in action ~f Chapin's Farm, Sept. 29,

1865. ,
Corp. Jeremiah Lewis, enI. Juno 29, 1863; died of disease at Point of Uocks

Hospital.
Corp. Willialll Lewis, enl••Tune 29,1863; died ofdisoose at Hampton, Va., Ang.

12,1864.
George Wnlclen, enl. .Tuly 7,1863; died of diseaso at Point of Rocks Hospital.
Corp. lIInrquis L. Simons, enI. Jul~' 24,1863; killed in action at Chapin's Farm,

Va" Sept. 29, 1864.
Corp. Frallklin Slone, enI. June 20, 1863.
Corp. John H. Stewnrt, 1.'111. Jnne 28,1863.
Thomas Bundy, enl. June 27, 1863; in hospital.
Creed Calmel's, enI. June 1, 1863.
Chnrles Cosb~'. enl. June 11, 1863.
Fl'allklin Cole, enI. June 27, 1863; in hospital.
Hellry Cousins, onI. June 27,1863.
Noah Cooper, enI. July 6, 1863.
John Dole, enI. lIIay 30, 1863.
Andrew Jackson, onI. July 8, 1863.
William Jones, enl. June 24, 1863.
Robert l\liemis, enI. July I, 1863.
George Tanner, elll. JUlie 24, 1863.
George White, enl. l\by 20, 1863.

Discharged.
Garrett Blair, enI. June 30, 1863; disch. Nov. 3D, 1863, for disability.
James Coleman, ellI. July 7, 1863; disch. Juno 7,181;5, for disauility•
George Gales, elli. June I, 1863; disch.l\lILY 18,1865, for disauility.
Corp. James Hill,enI. .June 2, 1863; disch.l\IILY 18,1865, for di~ability.

Corp. John H. Hill, ellI. June 7,1863; disch. May 18, 1865, fOI' disability.
Richard McDonald, (>Ill. June 27, 1863; disch. l\In~' 18, 1865, for disnbility.
Edwnrd l\Iickt'J', eni. June 20, 1863; diSch. l\Ia~' 18, 1865, for disability.
Churles lIIcCraw, enI. June 27,1863; disch. May 18, 1865, for disauility.
William Valelltille, enI. June 13, 1863; disch. June 24, 1865, for disability.
Henry Zimmerman, enI. June 27, 1863; disch. May 18,1865, for disability.
Horace Sowards, eni. Juno 3, 1863; disch. l\by 18, 1865, for disability.

Died.

Corp.•Tames Bow, enl. June 2, 1863; diod of disease at Newbern, N. C., Sept. 9,
1865.

CO~IPANY C.

David Smith, <,nl. Juno 27, 1863.

COl\lPANY J!'.

William Hal'r1s1 eni. July 25, 1863.

COMPANY K.

ThomM Alexander, enI. Aug. 6, 1864.
Benjamin DlLilo~', cuI. Ang. 6, 1864.
Green Suyers, enI. Ang. 6, 1l:i64.
John Durrl'I1, enI. Aug. G,IHG4.
Rice lIIlIlcomb, oul. Aug. 6, 1864.
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CLElurONT 'VAH.-:MONEYS.

The county was no less ready to give a pecuniary sup­
port to the war than to furnish men; but here again occurs
a difficulty, which makes it impossible to give Clermont the
credit which she deserves. In but few instances· have the
records of the township trustees and local organizations,
showing the amounts paid out, been preserved, and the
aggregate can only be approximated. 11'01' the relief of
the falllilielt of the volunteers the I.Jegislature paRsed sev­
eral acts, creating the volunteer relief fund, to wit: May
10, 1861, authorizing a levy of half a mill on a dollar;
Feb. 13, ] 86~, three-fifths of a mill on a dollar i March
21, 18GB, one mill i Feb. 25, 186-1, two mills; and April
16, 1865, two mills. In addition bills were passed author­
izing the townships of the State to levy taxes for bounty
purposes, and to clear themselves of a draft, if one were
ordered. Aside from the amounts thus raised and dis­
bursed by townships and local organizations (of which no
records exist), the county paid out for bounties and sub­
stitutes, one hundred and forty-six thousand and ninety­
eight dollars and forty-seven cents; for general military
purposes, seventeen thousand four hundred and sixty-one
dollars and thirty-four cents i and for the relief of soldiers'
fiuuilies, forty-six thousand seven hundred and forty-three
dollars and eighteen cents,-an aggregate of two hundred
and ten thousand three hundred and seven dollars and
sixty-five cents, paid to aid in carrying on the war to sup­
pre~s the Uebellion. During the war the sum of ninety­
six thousand seven hundred dollars and ninety cents was
sent home by the soldiers, through the volunteer relief
fund, for the support of their families.

THE KIRBY S:\IITH RAID AND THE :MORGAN
INVASION.

The threatened raid of the rebel Gen. Kirby Smith in
the fall of 1862 was justly the occasion of llluch alarm.
His rapid movements through Kentucky towards the unpro­
tected border directed attention to the possibility of an
invasion, which, under a daring leader, would hardly llleet
with any check. In this emergency the enlistment of
troops was hurried on, and the Governor tried to arouse·
the people to a sense of their danger by issuing the· fol­
lowing proclamation:

"CI~CI:\NATI, OHIO, Sept. 2, 1862.
"To TIlB LOYAL PBOI'I.I' 01" TIn: }tn'EIt COli:\TIES:

" Our southern honIer is threatened with in \'lision. I have, there­
fore, to recommend that all 10)'al lllen of your counties at once form
themsel\'es into military companies and regiments, to beat back the
enemy at any point and all points he may attempt to invade the State.
<.lather up all Mms in the country and furnish your::elves with am­
munition for the same. 'fhe service will be of but few days' dura­
tion. The soil of Ohio must not be marched o\'er by the enemies of
our glorious go\·ernmcnt.

"DAYID Ton, GOL"ernor."

The people responded with alaerity, and every species of
. firearm was gotten in readiness for use should the dreaded
enemy come, when it was proposed to march en masse upon
the border and repel the rebel horde. The grotesque fig­
ures the countrymen presented, armed most generally with
shot-guns, caused them to be called the" squirrel-hunters i"
but there can be no question, had they been ealled on to do
actual service they would have fought with the desperation

of men whose all is at stake, and might have done as much
execution as soldiers whose heart was not in the struggle.

Soon after this proclamation it appeared as if Kirby
Smith intended to invade Ohio through Clermont. The
belief caused the wildest alarm. An appeal was made to
the Governor to place the eounty under martial law, and to
invest the provost-marshal with unusual powers. In re­
sponse to this entreaty, acting-Governor Stanton granted the
request, proclaimed mart.ial law in Clermont, and plnced the
county in charge of O. P. S. Fee, as provost-marshal. The
latter at once appointed a number of deputies, to whom the
arms-bearing population were ordered speedily to report, so
that there might be some concert of aetion in case of inva­
sion. Upon the return to Columbus of Governor Tod, the
day following, he at once annulled the order, which by this
time had caused great confusion among the people of the
county, by writing the following letter:

"TUB STATB OF OHIO, EXf:CUTIVE DJ,PARTMENT,
"COLlJMnUS, Sept. 11, 1862.

"0. P. S. FI'E, ESQ., Felicity, Ohio:
" DEAlt Sm,-I h:we but this moment ascertained the attempted

extent of authority gh'en you by Lieutenant-Go\'ernor Stanton, and
I regret to lind that it far excceds any authority that I myself could
gh'e you. I am desirous that the people of the bUI'der counties should
voluntarily form military org:tnizations, but, in tho absence of law, it
must be purely voluntary.

"As Go\'ernor Stanton acted in the matter entirely without my
knowledge, he, of course, acted without authority, and hence )'our
acts are void. Knowing well that you acted fl"Om the best of moth'es,
yOll must not construe this as censuring you; on the contrary, I :un
obliged to you anu all who acted with you for your efforts in arousing
the peopl.~ to the sense of their danger.

"Very truly yours,
" DA VID Ton, Governor."

The excitement caused by these matters was soon forgqt­
ten, the more stirring events of the war claiming the atten­
tion of the people. For nearly a year a comparative sense
of security prevailed along the border, when Clermont was
again agitated by the threatened invasion of John Morgan.
Although moving towards the State bclow the county it
was believed by some that his raid would extend up the
Ohio and fall most heavily on the river counties. A few
days served to r~alize the worst fears, all doubts being re­
moved by the actual presence of the rcbel chieftain. With
a force of about two thousand men he had crossed the Ohio
into the State of Indiana, and after making a feint towards
Indianupolis, moved rapidly up the river, striking Clermont
County on the 13th of July, 1863. His march was so
rapid that the people living eight or ten miles beyond the
line were nut aware of his being in the county. In general,
his movcment was over the Williamsburgh, Batavia, and
Cincinnati turnpikes, but scouting-parties passed to the
right and th~ left., taking with a free hand whatever pleased
their fancy, without reference to its actual worth or utility,
although a strong preference was everywhere manifested for
horscs. But few, if any, of the citizens were treated with
indignity or subjected to insult.

The night of the 13th of July, 1863, was spent by the
rebels in the village of 'Villiamsburgh, Gen. Morgan having
his headquarters at the Kain House. The halt was made for
the sake of affording the jaded horses and exhausted mell
the rest they needed, the eommand having been on the
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march all the previous night. Beyond the noise made by
the patrols in the street, the village was never quieter at
night, and there was but little apprehension of harm to
life or home. Early the next morning the notes of bugles
called the men to duty, and after having eaten a hasty
breakfast the entire force disappeared. By eight o'clock
not a man remained j but before they took their final de­
parture they burned the bridge at Williamsburgh. Several
hours later the advance-guard of Gen. Hobson's forces, in
pursuit of Morgan, passec through Williamsburgh, fording
the East Fork a short distance above the burning bridge.
The troops continucd to pass through .the village all fore­
noon, but the raiders, now refreshed, were many miles in
advance, spreading everywhere the terror which attached to
the name of John Morgan.

In addition to the regular forces which pursued the
rebels, thousands of militia-men joined in the chase. In
Clermont five hundred and seven men, constituting seven
companies, were under orders several days for this purpose,
at a cost to the government of thirteen llUndred and
twenty-eight dollars and fifty-one cents. In their zeal and
haste to do something to thwart the rebel chieftain, some
of their actions bordered on the ludicl"Ous. It having been
reported that Morgan meant to make a retrograde move­
ment and pillage Cincinnati, the militia set to work to fell
trees across the roads at a time when the raiders were forty
miles eastward. At Williamsburgh, before the rebels ap­
peared; an attempt was made to form the citizens into a
company to offer armed resistance, which happily was'cut
sllOrt by the arrival of Morgan's scouts. The raid through
the county, aside from many ludicrous incidents which
necessarily attached, was characterized mainly by the de­
struction of property by both forces, wllich gave rise to the

:J\'[ORGAN RAID CLAIUS.

In pursuance of an act of the J~egislature of Ohio
(passed by the Fifty-sixth General Assembly of the State),
provision was made for the appointment of three commis­
sioners to examine and report upon all claims growing out
of the Morgan raid, and return their proceedings, their
findings, and the facts upon which each claim was founded.
The board, consisting of Alfred McVeigh, of Fairfield;

.George W. Barker, of Washington; and Henry S. Bab­
bett, of Franklin Counties; proceeded to each county
through which Morgan and his forces passed, and conducted
with great care their investigations. The plan of examina­
tion was to require each claimant to state under oath the
particulars relating to his claim,-as to the property owned·
by him which was taken, destroyed, or injured by the
rebels, or Union forces in pursuit thereof; as. to its value
at the time; whether he had ever received any compensa­
tion for the same in any form j and whether said property
had been listed in Ohio for taxation in 1863. The exami­
nations were conducted publicly, and the claimants found
themselves surrounded by their neighbors and acquaintances,
who could, by testimony, confirm or refute their statements
as truth and justice demanded. The losses at the hands
of the rebel forces have never been paid, but Congress has
settled most of those incurred at the hands of the Union
forces j und the few remaining ones unliquidated will be

paid this year. 'Ve give an abstract of claims allowed for
property taken, destroyed, or injured by the rebels in Cler-
mont, with post-office of the owner: . .
H. C. Anderson, Willimmburgh; one horse............... $70
T. ·W. Anderson, Willinmliburgh; two horses, one watch, and

clothing....... 215
I,ed Armacost, Williltlllsburgh; horse, watch, hat......... 35
John Atchley, Willimllsburgh; two horses, wlLgon, hay, gro-

ceries, grain. dalOn.ge to huggy.................. 430
W. S. Atchley, Williamsburgh; saddlery goods :.. 25
J. llalzhiser, Owensville; horse and bridle..................... 125
Euily Enrber, Mulberry; saddle and harness...................... 20
Alexander Beall, Williamsburgh; groceries nnd provisions.... 75
W. T. Bentty, Goshen; four hOI'ses, saddles, bridles...... 4110
I"ewis Behymer, Mltrat.hon; horse and harness........... 100
S. S. Beltz, Newtonville; hOl·se........... 75
Fred. BeI'gel', 'Villiamsburgh: horse....... 80
James Bickmore, Belfast; cllsh and horsc damaged.............. 80
C. W. Bilafield, Owensville; breltd, cakes, money, liquors, and

groccries......... 50
John Birkett, Williamsburgh; dry goods, boots, shoes, and

corn..................................... 1,500
Robcrt Blair, Williamsburgh; two horses, whelLt, harness..... 200
J. S. Bone, llltw.\"hL; three horse~...... ......... 300
John Bools, Willimnsburgh; two bltrrels beer .
Noah 130050, Owensvillc; fuur horses, buggy, gun, harness,

clothing, jewelry, and clt8h :..... 550
William Boyd, Willill.msburgh; two horses, corn, hILrness...... 2110
John Boyle and J. C. Springer, Owens\'ille; two borses........ 275
Joseph S. Branch, Branch Hill; damages to horse, recovered,

salldle, blanket, and brhlle. 90
J. II. Brown, Mulberry; one horse.................................... ]25
B. F. Buckingham, Miltmiville; one horse and melLt............ 148
J. and .J. F. Burns, Owensville; horse, harness, corn............ H'O
C. T. Burnside, Bethel; horse, hltrness, blltnket................... 84
D. C. Cluter, Willitimsburgh; damage to horse, reco\·ered...... 30
Sltmuel Carter, WillilLmsburgh; two horses, bI.mkets, jewelry. 200
John Carter, Williamsburgh; one horse......... ]00
II. 1\1. Chatterton, Bethel; horse, wagon, h:irness, blanket.... 48
Philip ChlLtl.erton, Willialllsburgh; spring.wagon................ 70
JILmes C1Itrk. Belfnst.; two horses, harne~s........... 125
Reader W. Cllll'ke, Batavia; one pony............................... 50
Clermont County, lll'idge over ellst lork at Williamsburgh...... 2,700
A. B. Cle\'eland, Amelia; two horses, and damage to horse,

recovered........... ]20
John Cobb, WilIiamsburgh; horse, two halters.................... 1-10
A. It. COl1Jbs, Mulberry; one horse......... 125
Jacob CoIlins, .Miamiville; clothing, pistol, jewelry, trunk,

fruits, etc...... 60
Joseph Courtot, Owensdlle; oIle horse and bridle, damage to

horse, recovered. ......... ......... ........ .... 100
Rebecclt Cox, Mulberry; saddle and bridle. 12
Christian Criegor, Batavia; liquors, crackers, etc................ 9
Asher Curlis, Sr., Afton; one rifle.......... ]5
.John Custer, 81'.. Mulberry: fi\'e horses and one lDule........... 'i00
Joseph Custcr', Goshen; one horse... ] 25
William Durruh, Goshon; two horses, saddle, bridle...... 200
A. D. Dougherty, Owensville; two horses and halters............ 250
Ja.mes A. Davis, Afton; gun and accoutrements...... ...... ...... 25
John Davidson, Owensville; ono horso.............................. 130
Ezekiel Dimmitt, Owensville; groceries, boots, shoes, dry'

goods, otc :. 350
O. Dudley & Sons, WiIliamsburgh; horse, bridle, corn......... 81
Joseph DufILU, Owensdlle; clothing, provisions, harness, dam-

age to two horses, recovered......... ...... 75
Da\·id Dumford, Goshen; one horse........... 150
William Dumford, Williamsburgh; rifle, ammunition........... ]0
J. S. Dustin, Batavia; two horses 200
J. Duttenhoffer, Owensville; one horse, hl~ltors, damage to

horse, recovered....... ...... ...... ...... ......... 200
Mary Dwyer, Williamsburgh; cash, oats...... 25
John Eliott, Miamiville; twoh9rses, corn.......................... 1fJO
Georgc.M. Ellis, Williamsburgh; one hor~e........................ 100
J; B. Ellis, Williamsburgh; one horse................... 60
John Irvin, Mulberr,)'; four horsos.................. 240
Martha J. Everhltrt, Williamsburgh; one horse................... 100
O. E. Everhllrt, Willinmsburgh; one pair boots....... ...... ...... 8
H. H. Ferguson, WiIlialUsburgh; curn, hay, and damage to

fencing and oornfield...... 25
W. G. Ferguson, Miamiville; two horses......... 270
Snowden ~'orrl'e, Owensville; one horse......... 125
Artis Fitzwater, Miamiville; two horses, mule, grain........... 230
Lewis Fitzwater, l\fiaDli\'ille; two lllules......... 230
John Fitzwater, SI·., Miamiville; four horses, corn, oats,

wheat, sacks, hltrUess......... 380
Samuel Fitzwater, Williawsburgh; one horse...... 5
Valentine Flegle, Goshen; oTle horse...... 50
J. S. Florey, Goshon ; oue horse...... 100
Joseph Foster, Owensville; goods from variety.store and cllsh

stolen 400
Z. Furlong, Blltavia; one horse......... ]00
1\I1·S. E. n. Gage, Blltl1vill; one horse ]50
Nicholas Gall, Owensville; groceries, dry goods, cash, and

horse......... 285
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John Gipson, Batavia; one horse .
Geo. mmrchy, Bethel; spring-wagon, harness .
J. W. Glancey, WilIi:lIllsl11lrgh; one horse .
J. \V. Ulenn. Goshen; one hor~e and lJlacksmith tools .
"'m. Hale, Mulberry; horse, hay, corn .
Joseph Harrison. Batavia; horse, hay, harness ..
Geo. B. Harry, WilliamslJurgh; horse, slLlhlle, gun, bridle,

and halter .
Jacob Hartman, Cherry Grove; one horse .
J. N. Henning, Henning's ~\Iills; one horse .
D. H. Hill, Goshen; horse, saddle, bridle .
lIezekiah Hill, 'Owens\'ille; one horse ..
John B. Hill, Owensville; one horse .
S. V. Hill, Sr., Mialllh'iIJe; horse and bridle .
H.ev. W. E. Hine~, Xew Riehmoud; clothing, provisions, etc.
Arthul' J. Hodges, Batavia; onc gun ..
Sebastian Hoog, Owensville; one horse ..
A. J. 1Ioo\'er, Williamsburgh; horse, bridle, halter, com, aUlI

h:Ly ..
Abe Hulick, Batavia; two horses ..
Erastus Hulick, Bata\'ia; three horses .
Newt. Hutchinson, ~liami\'ille; two horses, clothing, watch..
S. It. Hutchinson, ~liaUliville;two horses, saddle, corn, damage

to recovered horse .
R. B. Irwin, Goshen; horse and h:dter .
F. X. Iuen, Owensville; horse, gogds fWIll store ..
John B. Iuen, Marathon; clothing, pro\'isions, harness, and

damage to spring-wagon ..
11I:Lir Jeffries, Olive Brunch; horse and bridle .
J 01111 .Johnston, Cincinnati; ono horse .
John .Johnston, LO\'eland; ono horse ..
Daniel Kain, WillilLmslmrgh; cash stolen ..
JollII W. l\:ain, Williamshurgh; horse, corn, hay, and one

hundred and thirty-six /IIC'r!8......... • .
Cath:Lrine Keller, Owensdlle; two horses .
Adam Kline, Bat:n-ia; se\'Cnty-five pounds crackers, eight

pounds cheese, at retlLiI mtes, JJI.'I" on[c/' of IJic/~ .1[O/,!/llll.
\Yillilllu Klock. Belfast; one horse .
Lytle Knott, Belf:Lst; one horse ..
John Kugler, :i\lilford; three horses, fh'e llIules, saddles and

bridles .
William Lattimer, Owens\'iIle; spring-wagon, horse-shoes, and

tools ..
Erasmus Langhlin, lIenuiug's Mills; one horse .
John Laughlin. Henning's Mills; one horse ..
T. l\L Leeds, Williamsburgb; oue horse .
II. W. Leever, Miamiville; one saddle .
11. G. Lee\'er, ~liami\'ille; two mules ..
~lelissa Leffingwell, Williamsburgh; grain froUl mil!. ..
Charles Legrand, Owens\·j)Je; corn lInll horse .
Ezekiel Leming, Mulberry; two horses .
It. II. Leming, Mulberry; one horse .
Uriah Lemiug, Mulberry; one horse .
II. W. Lewis, Willi:uusburgh: one horse ..
John F. Lewis, WilJi:ullsburgh; two horses ..
Henry Long, O\vens\'i!le; harness, and damage to his carriage.
Moses Long, Owensville; two horses .
William Lyle, Williamsburgh; two horses, buggy, barness,

corn, provisions ..
•Tames Lyoll, Owensville; cash, jewelry, elothin~, prol'isions .
Doreas Lytle, Willilunsburgb; two horses and 'Jorn ..
John W. Lyle, Willi:lUlsburgh; cOl'll, hll)', wheat, saddle,

hILrne~s, and damage to orchards and fenees .
Rowall Lytle, \"iIIialllshurgh; wheat destroyed, corn, hay,

ten uel'es meatlow, bridles, dallllLge to feneing, harness,
anti one coat .

Thomas W. Lytle, Williamsbt:rgh, corn, harness, damago to
wagon .

Little l\li:uni, Columhus and Xenia Railroad (Jompany,WiI­
Iiumsburgh; dnmnge to locomati \'e, four passenger-cars,
and ono bagg-age-ear, in this eounty ..

Banner l\luham, Batavia; ono horse, damage to reeovercd
horse .

Benjamin Mallllm's estute, Blltal'ilL; one horse, damage to re-
covered horse .

George 1\1aham, Batavia; horse and two bridles ..
John W. Maham, Batavia; one hOl'se .
Levi l\lnham, B1Ltavia; horse lind bridle ..
Sumuel .Mahum, BlItu\'ia; horse, bridle, lind dalllnge to horse,

reeo\·ereJ ..
John C• .Malone.• Batavia; two horses ..
W. W• .Malott, Williamsburgh; cash, pistol, blanket, and

knapsack ..
John l\IILl'sh, Owens\'ilIe; two horses, halters, bridlc ..

. Josepb ~lnrsh, Owensville; one horso .
Willialll Marsh, Batavia; one horse, halter, horse-shoes .
O. P.l\IeAd:uus, Williamsburgh; one sih'er watch, provisions,

houoehold goo ~, ..
A. F. McCall, WillialOsburgh; one horse .
Levi ~lcFltrhlud. Owensville; one horse ..
1'homas l\lcFarJantl, Owcnsville; 0110 horse ..
Archiballll\IcLelln, Willi:unsburgh; two horses .
W. S. McLean, Williamsbul'gh; horse, eOt:.,n, hay, Ilnd pro-

visions ..
J. F. l\ld\lillon, Willillmsbul'gh; cal'l) and harness ..
J. D. &; G. A. l\lcNutt, Williamsburgh; earn, halter, bridle .

850
70

125
SO
GO
75

100
50

115
U2

] 00
] 2;j

75
28
20
U5

75
21111
:;00
205

270
80

·JOU

](1)

100
100

SO
30

127
245

60
75

]04

700

75
100

60
7

300
40

150
250
]UO
125

75
250
:~5

300

320
5U

HI5

140

300

140

13,700

100

160
150
1:35

, 125

155
200

9
145

5U
110

40
]00
100

SO
200

40
58
32

John McXutt, lIenning's l\[iIIs; two horses llnd harness ..
William :\legrue, ~Iulberry; se\'en horses ..
Solomon ~rershon, Willinmsburgh; two horses .
Jacob )lillel', Owensd!le; one horse ..
W. L. Miller, Willialllsbul'gh; horse, saddle, blanket, and

harness .
Ezekiel l\Iitchell, ~Iarathon; dllllmges to horse, recovered,

hlLrness, blankets .
David ~litehell, Batavi:L; damages to horse, reeovered,

,vatch, grain, harnc5s................................•...............
Eliza E. Moore, Batlwi:L; one horse ..
John D. ~loore, Batlwia; dalllage to two horse~ .
Nnthaniel ~loOl'e, Willialllsburgh; six eoats, six pair of pants,

fOUl' \·ests .
George F. ~Iorri~, Goshen; one horse .
Peter Morris, Williamsburgh; horse, bridle, hay, earn, pro-

visions ..
William ~Iotsinger, Owell~ville; clothing .
\V. H. l\ryor~, Goshen; three horses .
J • .M. Needham, Owensville; horse and damage to one horse,

reeovered ..
Daniel O'Connell, CineinnMi; three horses, damage to bug-

gies, htLrne~s, and gl·ain .
John G. Ounk, Owensville; 11lIl'se and tailor's stock .
A. J. Orr, LO\'elnnd; two horses .
A •. Oskamp, l\liamiville; ele\'en horses, one carriltge, harness,

gl'aill, and fOl·ty-three sheep .
Robert Parker, Batavia; one horse ..
A.•J. Patton, WiIli:L111sbur~h; eom, gun, provisions .
William Pattison, Owensville; groceries, dry goods .
Dr. L. T. Pease, WiIIilLlllsburglt; corn, and one horse, wagon.
.Martin G. Pease, \Villiamsburgh; eurn, harness, wheat, straw,

overcoat .
.Mahlon Pearson, Afton; earn, provisions, o\'ercollts, halters,

and dalllage to recoverell horso .
lIolly R. Perrine, Willi;unsburgh; rClLdy-made clothing ..
George A. Peterson. \Villiamsburgh; one horse .
John J. Peterson, \Villiamsburgh; ono thousand poun(ls of

hlLlm, two thousand fh'e hundre(l pounds of ~houlders,

corn, hay, and harness .
Valentine Philips. Owensville; boots and shoes ..
N. Poland, Mulberry: cash frolll persall .
G. \V. Pool, MilLlnh'iIIe: one horse .
J. A. Porter, l\lulbel'l'Y; three horses and bridlcs .
John Purki~, Owensville; one horse .
Benjamin Rapp, Owensville; damnge to horse, recovered,

saddle, bridle .
John Happ. Owensville; two horses .
Joseph B. RllPP.. Owensville; horse, household goods, damage

to reco\'ered horsc ..
William Rapp, Owens\'iIIe; three horses, gun, clothing .
A. Reading, Owensville; one horse .
J. A. Rhodes, Batavia; suit of clothing, gun dnmagcd .
Riehards & Sargent, Willialllsburgh; boots, shoes, Ienther
G. W. Ritter, l\lulberry; horse, buggy, bacon, harness, and

damage to stallion, recovered .
1\1. F. Robinson, Miamiville; one horse, oats, hay, damage to

two horses, reeo\·ered ..
.J. W. Sanders, l\lituniville; one horse, provisions ..
ZlI.ch Sanders, Miamiville; one revolver, eash, gold breast•

pin, clothing, and provisions .
George Sapp, Belfast; horse and halter ..
Al'lIold Snider, Goshen: horse and halter .
D. H. Sharp, Williamsburgh; saddlery g~ods ..
Dr. E. C. Sharp, Sr., Williamsburgh; horse, saddle, eorn,

hay, fencing ..
E. C. Sharp, Jr., WilliaUlsburgh; horse and saddle ..
John H. Sharp, WillilLlnsburgh; dry goods, hats, boots, shoes,

groeeries, hardware ..
1\1. D. ShlLrp, Williumsburgh; oue wagon, corn, oats, and

cash .
J. B. Shaw, l\Iilford; one horse .
Thomas Shields, Owensdlle; aile horse .
Daniel Shough, Goshen; three horses, harness, saddle, thirty

grain-sacks, damage to horse, recovered .
A. C. Shumard, Owensville; one horso .
FrtLncis Shullmrd, Monterey; one horse .
lUehard ShumlLrd, Owensville; one horse ..
William Shumard, S,·., O\vens\'iIIe; one horse ..
Ezra Simkins, Mulberry; one horse .
John Simkins, Jr., Goshen; one horse, and damage to hOl'se,

recovered .
1\1::.rk Simkins, Willilllllsburgh; clothing, jewelry, clLRh,

. broken truek ..
Slllck &; Hickox, Willialllsburgh; grain, harness, provisions,

peach. trees ..
Jacob Smith, Goshen; horse and cash .
John Smith, Goshen; oue horse .
Samuel Smith, Goshen; one horse ..
W. R. Smith, Willialllsbnrgh; aprons, horse-shoes, nails, and

tools .
Snell & McAdallls, Willil1l1lsbUl'gh; three horses ..
John Snider, Owensville; one horse .
Henry South, Owensvillo; (Iue horse ..
J. 1<'. South, Owensvillo; horse lLntl halter .
Peter South, Owensville; two horses .
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laO

90
220
100
140

25

120
120
150
125

100
65

270

$12
125
1:~5

150

12
75

100

10
125
}40
125
1HO
210
200
160

1I0
30

40

200
]25
30

125
15U

150
40
25
75
75

145
250
100
80

138
]50
75

]50
150
125

I;
120
VIII
:{25

75
275
220
125
14U
44

220
85
75

1I0
100
IOU
3UO
200

J. S. Dustin, Bata\'ia; corn .
John Eglehoff, l'Iilfonl; one horse .
ISllILe Edwards, Milford; onc horse ..
William Edwaru!:', Milford; one horse ..
D. 1'1. Fagin, Palestine; one skiff destroJed by Lieut. Fitch,

United States NaYy .
G. 'V. Feller, Batavia; one horse ..
Isallc Ferree, Williamsburgh; one horse .
William Fossett, l\Ioseow; olle skiff destroyed by Lieut. Fitch,

Ullitcd States Navy .
"'. 1'1. Io'ryman, Williamsburgh; one hor!:'e .
Francis Gall, Owen!:'dlle; one horse ..
B. F. Garland, 1'1ulberry j one horse " ..
J. R. GMlallll, Mulberry; two horses ..
A . .ill. Gatch, Milford; two horses ..
Geor"e S. Gatch, Milford; two horses ..
Thol~as R. Gateb, Milford; two horses .
Joseph Gest, 13atavilt; one horse ..
James Given, 1'10unt Carmel j one horse .
David Haines, BatadlL; one borse ..
J. H. Hamilton, Batl1dlL; three horses, hay, and corn .
C. P. Harkel', l'Iulllerry; corn, oat!:', hay, mea!, and damage

to peach oreharu .
Chance Haskell, Afton; one horse and corn .
Samueillaythorne, Bata\'ia; one borse ..
Joseph H. Gest, Bata\'ia; gold watch and chain (hid his

watch find ellilin under tree in orchard from rebels;
Union forces entered premises for fruit, and while there
the property was tlLI.en) ' .

Lorentz Heeg, Mount Carmel; one horse .
G. W. Heltumn, WilliaID~burgh; one horse .
Solomon lIeltullIn, Mt. Cal'me); one horse : ..
Henning & Varley, Henning's 1'1 ills ; one horse .
A. W. Hill, Mount Carmel; horse and halter .
1'homfis Hitch, Bantam; one horse ..
A. J. Hodges, Bata\'ia; one horse .
Alfred Holter, Olh'e Bmnch; two horses .
Joel Homan, WiIliam!:'burgh; two horses .
Tbomas Homan, Willialllshurgh j one horse ..
C. R. Hulick, B:ttavia; one horse and hay and oats .
John 1\1. lIunt, Oli\'e Branch j two horses : .
G. W. Hutton, \\'illiamsburgh; one horse .
1'homas .Jone!:', Perin's Mills; one horse : .
Joshua A. Judd, l\Ioscow; skiff destroyed and ferry-boat

damaged by Lieut. Fitch, U. S. N .
Stephen Judd, Amelia; two horses .
II. V. Kerr, Batavia; one horse .
John 1\1. Hutchinson, l.\laratholl; one horse ..
Adam Kline. Batavia; corn and hay .
Jesse D. Kn;lbb, Palestine j expenses at Cincinnati and tow-

ing boat therefrom to Palestine .
John F. Lane, Bata\'ia; one horse .
Samuel Lflne, Mount Carmel; one horse ..
Vaniel Leal~ l'Iilford; olle horse ~ .
J. W. Lecver, l'1iamidlJej OIlC horse ..
Philip Lindsey, Pal~stiue: one skiff destroyed bJ' order of

Lieut. Fitch, of U. S. Navy .
John Lukemires, Afton; one horse .
Rowan Lytle, Willialllsburgh, one horse ..
William Lytle, Williamsburgh; three horses ..
J~, D.1\Inlott, Williamsburgh; one horse ..
Jos('ph .Marriott, Milford j two horses .
Joseph J\lartin, Mount Carmel; two horses .
Lewis .J. Martin, l\!ount C:trmel j one horse .
Joseph l\Iarsllltl, Aft.oll; one horse :.: : ..
John l'1:Lham, Batlwllt; corn, hay, prO\'lSlOn~, and whisky ..
David 1'1cAfce, Ba.taviIL; two hor~es .
Na'ney ~1cFarlanu, Oli\'e Branch j olle horse .
Leonar,!l'feGan'ey, Mulberry; one horse .
Lewis l'Iel\ee\'er, WillilLlnsburgh; one horse .
Jobn ~1eNutt, Henning'~Mills; one horstl .
Charles Medaris, Owensville j one horse .
William Megrue, l\lulberry; three borses and COrD .
Charles 1'1atruire, Olivo Branch; two horses ..
George W."'Moar, Palestine; taking trading-boat and two

skiffs to Cincinnati and return, by order of Lieut. Fitch,
U. S. Na\·y ..

John l'Iool'e, Bata\'ia; one horse .
Lindsay C.Moore, Batnda; one horse .
Eri J. :\lorton, ~ ew Richmond j d:unages to two fllIt-boats,

by oruer of Lieut. Fitch, U. S. NILYJ' ..
George F. Morris, Voshen; damage to mule, reco\·ercd .
11. 1\lount, Bata.l'ia j one horse ..
A ••J, Orr, LovehLnd; one horse ..
Jacob II. l'Iount, BILta\'iaj one horse .
A. Osklunp. ",liamiville; one horse ..
Elizabeth Paclmrd, Loveland; two horses ..
I. P. Park, Williamsburgh; one horse .
J. 1'1. Patchell, Stoneliek; one horse ..
Dr. L. '1'. Pease, Williamsburgh ; one horse, with saddle,

bridle, anu halter .
J. A. Penn, Bata\'iIL; one mule ..
Ira Perin, Pel"in's Mills; one horse .
John I. Peterson, Willhllnsburgh; one horse ..
Wm. Philhower, .ilIilfol"ll; one horse ..
J. l.\1. l'hiIips, Mount Cltrmel; one hOI·se .

6(1

170

175

120
20

300

2S0

600

45
125

75
130

70

10
20

J.JO
HU

70
275
IOU
21)0
150

65
su
75

135
150
IOU
14U

60

2S0
36

25U
125

95
65

]22
]:1O
120
100

50
80

100
75
20

20
150

i>O
125
1:111
HO
25

200
50
75

225
2·15
150
150
10
75
80

150

$100
SO

250

~ROPERTY TAKEX, DESTROYED, OR INJURED BY THE
UXION :FORCES IN J>UHSUIT OF THE REBELS.

$140
65

130
150
110
1UO
145
125

Dean Spar, Owensdlle; one horse .
John Spetz, BallLvilL; one horse ..
John .l\1. Stad;:, llatada; two horses, bridles, lines, nnd corn .•
George II. Stewart, l'1iallliville; horse, hay, one pair boots,

provisions ..
B. N. Stockton, Williamsburgh; dry goods, boots,. shoes, hats,

groceries, etc : .
A••J. Stratton, WiIliamsburgh; saudIe, brlule, corn, harness,

and forty meals to rebels ..
Eli Stmtton, Willialllsburgh; two horses and damage to turn-

pike .
Peter Stroup, Goshen; horse and watch .
Alexanl!er SteWI1I't, Batavia; one horse .
l1iralll Sweet, Afton; one horse ..
Aaron Thompson, LO\'eland; horse and corn ..
Jacob ThollljJson, Mi:unh'ille; nOI'se anti gmin .
John Tholllpson, Miamiville; one horse .
B. D. & S. Titus, Bata\'ia; one horse ..
William Ulrey, Owensville; one horse ..
John \'owinklc, Owens\·i1lc; one horse ..
Jacob 'Yainwright, Goshen j one horse .
S. S. Walker, WilliamsbUl'gh; army clothing ..
F. A. Warden, WillilLlllsburgh; drugs, medicines, cigars,

jewelry, notions .
G. 'V. Ware, Owensville; horse, saddle and bridle .
Jonathan Watts, "'illiamsburgh; one horse ..
Andrew Wiedman. Owens\'iIIe: one horse ..
Elisha WiIIilllns, OWl'nsdJle; llOrse, bridle, and pro\'isions .
Ezra Williams, Goshen; one horse and dlLmage to horse, re-

co\·ered .
John Williams, WilliamsbUl'gh; one horse, corn, hay, one

locket. cash .
"'anen Williauls, Belfast; saddle, bridle, guns, and car-rings.
John "'ood, Willial1lsburgh j two horses and bl·idles ..
.Mrs. Susan Woodlief, Miamiville; two horses, one bridle, and

grllin .

Nelson Applegate, Batlwia; one horse .
Abijlth Armacost, DatadlL; one horse .
.J"hn C. Armstrong, Perin's Mills; one horse .
W .•J. Ashton, Willia.lllsuurgh; one horse ..
Va\·i,! Atchley, Afton; one horse .
Samuel Bass, .l\lulberr.v j one hor~e ..
Antlruw Beagle, Olive Branch; one horse .
W iJlialll Belt, Williamsburgh; one horse ..
J. 1\1. Bennett, Palestine; expcnses incurred in care of wood-

boat 'mlered to Cinciunati to a\'oid its being used by
reoels ..

Samuel Bennett, Palestine; one ~kill' destroyed .
l~illes Uel'ger, :\lulberry; horse-shoes and tools ..
Samuel Dlauebard, l'Iilford; one horse ..
'Yilliam Black, Bat:LYhL; one horsc ..
HeIll'y Bowman, Milford; oue horse .
Abel Howes, Afton; two horses ..
J llhn 1'1. Boyer, LO\'eland j one horse ..
John S. Brauch, Hat:wi:L; one horse ..
llltdanli Broadwell, Mount Cannel; ouc borse ..
Henry 1'. J3rown, l\lulberry; one horse ..
Jamcs Brown, Batavia; one horse ..
John Brunk, Bata\'i:L; one horse .
C. J. Buckingham, .l\lhLlllh·iIIe j one horse ..
lIor:tlio Buckingham, l'Iia11li\'ille; one horse ..
'\lesley Burllet, Afton; one horse .
John Cartcr, Perin's Mills; one horse ..
W. It. Vhatterron, Hl'nning's Mills; se\'enty-fh'e bushels com
A. B. Cleveland, Amelia.; corn, hay, harness, use aud detention

of 'bus and hack, horses, and lUen three dnys, llnd one set
harness Jost. ..

Francis Cline, Owens\'ille; one horse ..
Hebecea Cox, l\Iulben".)'; one and It half tons of hay .
Christian Craver, Owensville j one horse .
Gilbert Cullin, Owensville, one horse .
Asher Curlis, Jr., Afton; one horse ..
John Curlis' estate, Aftou; one horse ."r. O. Curlis, Alton; oneliorse ..
E. S. Vole, N ichols\'i lie; d:tmage to recovered horse ..
A. E. Dltl'is, .illilford: two horses llnd halters ..
Geol'ge 1'1. Davis, B:ttlwhL; corn an,! hay .
lIenry Dads, Milford; horse, saddle, bridle ..
11"3,1. Davi", Milford: three horses ..
JoseI' h D:wis, Milford j t.hree hUlldrcd Lusbels corn ..
Joseph Dads, .Jr., l\1i1fonl; onc horse ..
Hobert F. Dads, Milford; one hOI's!: ..
J OShUlL B. DIWis, Batltvia; saudJe and bridle .
Hiclmrd Dads, Milford; one horse .
William DlL\'is, Willialllsburgh; one horse .
]tobert Dial, Olh·e Br:lneh j one horsc .
E. D. Duck wall, Bata\'ia; three hundred bushels corn and one

hOI·~C ..
l\Ioses Duckwall, Batlt\'ia; sixty hushels corn ..
Jaml's Duckwall, Batavia j threc horses .
Jerry ])urham, Withltll1s\'ille; one horse .

BI
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G. W. Pool, Miamiville; one horse, halters, bridles, wheat, and
se\'en hluns................... .•.•••••• .•••••••• $140

'V. Y. Potter, Mulberry; one horse....................... 100
J. B. Reed, Owens\'illej one horse.................. 140
J. A. Hbodes, Batlwilt: eight bushels of eorll .
Alfred N. Rubinson, Mi:univillej one horse.................. 150
Chl~l"Ies Hobinson, Jr., BiltlLVit~ j three horses...... 325
Daniel Rondebush, BI~tavi:~; horse and baIter 81
Henry !tU8t, Bat:wi:~; tw') horses....... 140
Cbarles J. Rybolt, Mulberry; two horses......... 235
Ed. S. Scott, Moscow; damage to wbarf-boat, by order of

Lieut. Fitch, U. S. Na\·y....... ..... ... ...... 50
Charles Shepherdson, BI~tl\\'ill.; one horse............. 95
O. ~r. Shumll.rd, Perin's :Mills; two horses...... 270
Slack & Hickox, Willilllllsburgh; two horses......... 70
Asa Smith, Amelia; one horse 125
C. 1\1. Smith, Batavill.; seven fur hats and eight pounds of

toblleco, receipted for by Lieut. G. 1\1. Clark, 2d Tennes-
see Volunteers (Union)... 2:l

John Q. Smith, Willillmsburgh; one horse.......... ] 50
Philip Smizer, l\lulberry; one horse............... .. 100
D. W. C. Snider, Palestine; three skiffs, two deskoyed and

one taken away by gunboat commanded by Lieut. Fitch,
. U.S.NI~vy.............................................................. 30

B. H. South, Williamsburgh; horse, snddle, and corn........... 52
Willialll South, Owensville; one horse............................... 120
Martin Spahr, Stonelick; borse and saddle...... 125
John Stltdtmiller, 1\loullt Carmel; one horse ..
Eli Stratton, WiIlinm"burgh; damage to turnpike from Ba-

t:~\'il~ to Williawsburgh by pll.ssage of troops and trains..
J. M. Sweeney, Olh'e .llr;lnch; one horse 130
A. J. Sweet, Afton; two horses nnd notion-wagon............... 280
J:ulles Tltte, Batavia; two horses...... 270
Thomas Thomp!'on, Batavia; two horses................ 275
S. & E. D. Titus, Batavia; one horse 100
William Tudor, Mulberry; corn, hay, fodder, damage to mead-

ows, corn-field, and orchard, and to one horse, recovered 137
Jacob L. Teal, Perin's Mills; two borses 270
'V. H. Ulrey, Owensville; one horse .
Joel Vnil, 1\lilford; one horse.......................................... 150
George R. Wngcmun, Batll.\"ia; one horse............ ...... ......... 100
Charles H. Weaver, Bataviaj three horses, saddle, and two

bridles. 321
F. C. '''caver, Blttaviaj one horse.................................... 140
II. G. 'Vea\'er, Batavia; one horse.................................... 120
J. A. 'Ve:tver, Blttavia; corn and ha;r 36
"'. "'. "'ellver, Batl~via; one horse................... 110
J. J. Wier, Pa-Icstine; two skiffs, with oars, carried away by

gnnboat commanded by Lieut. Fitch, U. S. Navy.......... 35
Charles S. Wood, Afton; one horse 100
Elias "'ood, Goshcn; one horse............. 100
Isaac Worstell, Bata\'ia; corn, hay, and horse-shoeing tools... 32

For these properties receipts were sometimes given by

Union officers of the Indiana Legion, Forty-fifth Ohio
Volunteer Infantry, Eighth Kentucky Cavalry, Law's
Michigan Battery, Second East Tennessee Volunteers, First
Kentucky Cavalry, Second Ohio Volunteer Cavalry,
Twenty-sixth Kentucky Volunteers, and J.lieut. Fitch, com­
manding gunboat on the Ohio. Some of the property was
taken by the orders and under the authority of Gens. Burn­
side and Hobson. Some of the valuations, -it will be ob­
served, are very small; but in those instances where there
were any doubts as to their worth the valuations were taken
from the tax duplicates, as returned by the owners. In the
case of A. J. Sweet, the horses were given to the United
Stutes forces, and a receipt taken; but the peddler's wagon,
which had been drawn into the thicket to conceal it from
the rebels, was rifled of notions by United States troops
through a misunderstanding. In the case of 'V. H. Ulrey,
the Union forces were returning with a lot of captured
horses and fed them overnight in a field adjoining one where
Mr. Ulrey had his horse, which was missing the next day;
but his claim was not allowed. The teams of Aaron B.
Cleveland (then carrying the mails from Batavia and 'Vil­
liamsburgh in hacks and 'busses to Cincinnati) were taken
by the Indiana Legion to convey soldiers to Cincinnati,
and they gave him a horse as pay for their use; but the
horse was replevined by William Watson, of Springdale,
and Mr. Cleveland, out of his bill of one hundred and
eighty-one dollars and seventy-five cents, got sixty dollars.
In some instances there being no evidence of the horses
being taken by government forces, the claims were of
course rejected. It will be readily noticed that the rebels
seized everything, from cash and jewelry upon people's
persons up to horses and wagons,. not forgetting liquors,
while the Union forces took only the things necessary to
aid them in pursuit of the fleeing rebels.
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HIS T 0 R,y
OF THE

TOWNSHIPS AND VILLAGES OF CLERMONT COUNTY.
•

BATAVIA.

THE township of Batavia occupies all interior position
a little north of the centre of the county. It was created
from Williamsburgh and Ohio townships,-the territory
north of the East Fork from the former, and that south of
the stream from the lutter,-and comprises 26,260 acres
of land, whose general surface presents a broken appear­
ance. In the northeastern and southwestern parts the land
is level and in the form of plateaus, the predominating soil
being clay. Along the streams are bottom,lands or allnvial
flats of unusual richness. . Outlying thcse are rugged hills
of picturesque and pleasing appearance, whieh distinguish
this part of the county for its fine scenery. The East Fork
of the Little Miami has an almost diagonal course through
the township from southeast to northwest, and formerly
afforded good water-power. Its chief tl'ibutaries on the
north are Back Bone and Slab Camp Buns, and flowing
from the south are Lucy's and Shaylor's Runs, whose vol­
ume has decreased until they are mere brooks. The
grcater part of the timber growth which formerly covered
the township has been removed, and its place is occupied
by fine and well-tilled farms.

PIONEER SETTLERS.

The best accounts of the pioneer settlelllent of Batavia
give to Ezekiel Dimmitt the credit of rearing the first
home within its bounds. He was a Virginian by birth,
belonging to the family of John Dimmitt, whose history
can be traced back to the year 1760. The other members
of the family were Moses, John, and several daughters,
one of whom-Lydia-married Joseph Puckwall. Most
of the family moved to Kentucky in 1795, when Ezekiel
was about twent.y-two yearl3 of age. The following year
lle came to Ohio prospecting for lond, and he and James
Gest selectcd a very fine tract on the East Fork,-what are
now known as the Duckwall bottoms. A.t this time he
was unmarried, but on Nov. 3, 1797, he was united in
wedlock with Phoobe Gest, aQd soon made the necessary
arrangements to move to his Ohio purchase, whither he
was accompanied by James and John Gest. A cabin was
erectcd the same season (the fall of 1797), near where is

now the residence of :Moses Duckwall, which had a stick
chimney and punc~eon floor; yet it had an air of comfort,
and afforded friendly shelter to many a pioneer on the
lookout for a new home. The following spring they made
a little maple-sugar near their cabin, and in due season
planted a few acres of corn on ~ piece of land they had
leased at Columbia, fifteen miles distant, and where they
went by following blazed paths through the dense woods.
A little corn, flax, and potatoes were also planted around
the cabin on partly-cleared ground. When the corn at
Columbia 1Iad to be tended the men left to cultivate it,
and ·1\1rs. Dimmitt remained at home, which was seven
miles from another cabin. On the afternoon of the first.
day a party of six Indians passed by; looking very intently
at the cabin, as if to ascertain how many inmates it con­
tained. That night the wolves howled as if frenzied by
rage, adding to the alarmed state of mind in which Mrs.
Dimmitt already was, so that by morning she was nearly
beside herself with fear. Singularly, James Gest had an
impression of mind about the same time that his sister was

.in distress, and persuaded Ezekiel Dimmitt to return home
with him. When they reached the cabin she had barely
enough strength to open the door, and although she was a
brave woman, she was never afterward left alone.

Soon other settlers began to .come in, and in 1813, Eze­
kiel Dimmitt erected a goo.d stone house on his land, which
was a prominent landmark many years. About the same
time he built a tannery, whieh proved to be a great con­
yenience to the early settlers. He was a very energetic
man, and erected many public buildings,-the old stone
:Methodist church at Batavia in 1819, and the court-house
and jails, as is elsewhere narrated. They belonged to the
first Methodist class in the State of Ohio, organized by
Rev. Francis McCormick at Milford in 1797, and their
home was a preaching-place for the early Methodist itiner­
ants, who were also freely entertained under its friendly roof.
lIe was in many respects one of the most influential men
of his day, and although he was not free from evil report,
the charges were not founded on truth, and Ezekiel Dim­
mitt was generally esteemed a truly upright, Christian
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man. He departed this life in March, 1857, at the rare
age of eighty-four years, and 1\1rs. Dimmitt died in 18-11.

Their family consisted of children named J uhn, Keziah,
Rhoda, Moses, Deliah, Mary Ann, Lydia, Elizabeth, and
l)hoobe. These grew up to mature years, and were mar­
ried: .John, July 4,1816, to Nancy Duckwall, who died
Nov. 12, 1821, leaving children named Ezekiel and Su­
sanna. For his second wife he married Nancy Hare in
1824, and had sis children. He migrated to Illinois in
1838. Keziah, the oldest daughter, married Daniel Duck­
wall, Aug. 6, 1816, and was the mother of ei~ht children.
Hhoda Dimmitt became the wife of Lott Hulick, and they
had children named Martha, Jane, Ezekiel, l\Iary, .G~orge
'V. ea well-known attorney and probate judge), Elizabeth,
Amanda, and Keziilh. IJott Hulick was also a pioneer,
and an active man in Batavia. 1'lrs. Hulick died but
recently, at an ad\'anced age. Deliah Dimmitt married
Jonas Hare, and had six children. l\Ioses Dimmitt had for
his first wife Elizilbeth White, and for his second Ruth J en­
kins, and had altogethel' fourteen children. Jacob L. Teal
married Lydia Dimmitt, and Brice R. Blair her sister
Elizabeth. The youngest daugllter married Rev. Charles
Uobinson, Sept. 2, 1840, and still resides on part of the
parental est.ate. They have three children, named Sarah
Jane, Keziah D., and Charles Arthur.

The Uobinson family were natives of :Maryland, but
moved to Virginia before the Revolution, and from there
to Kentucky. One of thn family, Charles, having heard
from Ezekiel Dimmitt of the wonderful fertility of the Ohio
country, came to Clermont in 1806, arriving at 1\11'. Dim­
mitt's cabin on the 6th of July. An extra cabin was built
for him near by, where they li,'ed till the following spring,
when he removed to a farm of his own, on I...tuey's Run,
abo.ut four miles south from Batavia.

'Vhile they li,'ed at Dimmitt's an incident occurred
which may appropriately be narrated here. In the fall of
the year the woods were filled with a good mast of beech­
nuts and acorns, on which fed large droves of wild hogs, or
hogs which had become wild by allowing them to roam at
large. They were regarded as common property, and were
hunted like wild animals or other species of game. A hog­
hunt afforded a good deal of sport, and, if successful, fur­
nished an abundaot supply of meat for use in winter. On
the occasion referred to the Dimlllitts, Hobinsons, Aaron
Bull, Hichard Doughty, and a number of boys gathered
together all the dogs in the neighborhood, and, with several
horses to pack hOlue the dead hogs, started on the chase.
'Vhen attacked the hogs huddle together to defend them­
selves, the smallest being in the centre of the group, and
are thus able to kecp off wolves and other wild animals.
After a sh9rt hunt the dogs had at bay a herd of fine hogs,
and it was an easy mutter to shoot such as might be selected,
although at the firing of a gun the herd would break and
run until the dogs would again bring them to a standstill.
On this occasion Bull and Hobinson were to do the stick­
ing after the hogs had been shot, and a hog falling over
Bull ran up to stick it, deliberately seatillg himself on the
animal. But the hog had only been stunned, and turned
on Bull with open mouth to rend hiin. He ran at the top
of his speed, closely pursued by the infuriated hog, and was

nearly frightened out of his witR, when the hog, weak from
the loss of blood, tottered and fell dead. The animal was now
placed on one of the p(wk-horses, and sent home in chal'gc
of young Charles Robinson, at that timc about ten years
of' age, a small dog accompanying him. 1'hey had not gOlle
far when the dog evinced mallY symptoms of fear and took
his position under the horse. On looking' around the boy
saw that he was pursued by a large gray wolf which was
about to spring upon him. He yelled so lustily that the
wolf became fl'ightened and turned to leave him, and Rub­
inson reached his home safe.

In the summer of 180i, Charles Robinson moved to his
new home, which was very plain, and as the fumily
were poor, they wem obliged to resort to many devices to
providc themselves with clothing. The boys were clothed
with buckskin breeches, the skins having been furnished by
Richard Doughty, a good hunter and a true pioneer neigh­
bor, living in the southern part of Batavia, where he loca­
ted about 1805. The girls were dressed in a coarse cloth
made at home, the reels for weaving having been bor­
rowed of Sarah Mitchel, living in 1'1iami township, above
Newberry. It was while returning there in the fall of the
year that a thrilling adventure befell 1\1ary Hobinson, the
oldest daughter, at that time a robust young lady. Mount­
ing a spirited horse, she started in the afternoon for 1'lrs.
Mitchel's, distant about twelve miles. Quite a deep snow
was on the ground, and she did not make the speed she
expected to; and as it again commenced to snow, it soon
became so dark that she could with difficulty see the blazed
trees which indicated the bridle-path she expected to follow.
Losing the trace, she alighted "and tied l~er horse securely
to a tree till she could investigate. While thus engaged
she heard the howling of a pack of wolves, which caused
her to turn back to her horse. By the time she reached
him he was so alarmed that he would not permit her to
approach him, and no persuasion could quiet him. The
wolves now appl'Oached nearer, and she began to realize her
situation, and at the same time she keenly felt the effects
of the cold. To keep from freezing and being attacked by
the wolves, she decided to keep moving in a path far enough
from the horse to be out of danger of being kicked, and
yet near enough to prevent the wolves from approaching.
So she walked backwards and fOl'wards the entire night,
the wolves keeping up their fiendish howls and the horse
his stamping and kicking. If she approached him it would
have been at the risk of losing her life; to remain quiet
would have frozen her; and had she wandered away she
would have exposed herself to the mercy of the wild beasts
thirsting for her blood. At the dawn of day the wolves
disappeared, and after a good deal of effort she was able to
mount her 110rse and reach the home of John Mitchel.
As soon as he saw her approach he exclaimed, " 'Vhy,
Mary, have you been in the wilderness all night!" She
said" Yes," and had hardly been assisted from her horse
before her strength gave way, and she fell into a swoon.
She recovered enough to be able to tell the family what
had happened, when she became sick again, and was
very ill for a few days. As she did not return home; her

. absence alarmed her parents, who sent Jacob Gest in search
of her. He found the place where she had passed the ter-
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l'ible night, and proceeding to Mr. :Mitchel's, saw Mary, too
weak to move; and it waS several days more before she
could be taken home. Mary became the wife of Wm.
,VeaveI', and was highly esteemed for her many good quati­
ties. '1'110 remaindel' of the family married as follows:
Nancy, Benjamin Troy; Margaret, John \Vageman; Eliz­
abeth, Jeremiah Cleveland; Catherine, Samuel 'Weaver;
Charles, Sarah Hulick; Thomas, :Margaret Nash; and John
1\1., Sarah Smith.

As 1\Irs. Robinson possessed some medical knowledge,
she was often called upon to visit the sick; and so success­
ful was she in her treatment that she soon had an extended
reputation. She was also" mighty in the Scriptures," and
was thus enabled to bring healing to the soul as well as to
the body. People came for her assistance many miles
around, and twice was she called into Kentucky, crossing
the Ohio River at night, guided by a small beacon-fire on
the opposite shore. Often she went on her mission of
mercy alone, following a trace whose dim course was shown
by blazed trees, with not a house in sight for many miles.
Both of the elder Robinsons belonged to the Methodist
Church, and their house was one of the early preaching­
places. Mrs. Robinson died July 18, 1835, at the age of
sixty-seven years, and her husband survived her until Aug.
13, 18-16, when he closed his earthly career at the age of
eighty-three years.

John Wageman came to Clermont County in 1808 from
North Carolina, and had his home with Robert Townsley
until the war of 1812, when he volunteered in a cavalry
company. Returning home, he married Margaret Robin­
son and reared several sons and daughters, who married
into the Dial and Whittaker families.

Daniel Duckwall was born in Virginia, March 9, 1789.
In the winter of 1813 he c~me to Ohio on horseback, and
three years later married Keziah Dimmitt, settling near
her father, and lived here until his death, in 18-19. His
wife survived him until Aug. 16, 1877. Of their eight
children, Phccbe married Thomas Marsh, of Batavia town­
ship; :Mary, Thomas Fletcher, and removed to :Missouri j

:Moses; Margaret Earick, of Louisville, Ky., who died
Aug. 1, 1878; Ezekiel, Mary Robinson j Caroline Jane,
Dr. J. l\l. 'Vitham, of Withamsville; George 'V., Caroline
Lane; John ·W., Lomira Hall; :Martha, the youngest,
Jacob Mull, of Adams Co., Ind. The sons all live near
Batavia, on the celebrated Duckwall bottoms.

Andrew Apple was among the first settlers of Batavia
township. He immigrated from Pennsylvania some time
previous to 1798 (the exact date being not now known),
and located on a fine tract of land of 2100 acres at and
near the present hamlet of Olive Branch. He was· very
enterprising, and brought with him many implements to
lessen the dmdgm'Y of labor in a new country, and had one
of' the first wagons owued in the county. In those days he
also had the credit of owning the finest team in the county.

Andrew Apple reared a family of eleven children, giving
to each, as they grew to mature years, 150 acres of laud in
the Olive Branch neighborhood; and at one time the Apple
Dlmily here was very numel'OUS, but as the country settled
up most of them removed to Indiana. Andrew Apple died
about 1817, and was interred in the Olive Branch Ceme-

tery. His youngest son, Daniel, was born in 179-1, and
was therefore five years of age when the family settled in
Clermont County. He inherited much of the energy and
public spirit which characterized his lilther, alld was for
many years one of the leading men of the county. He in­
herited the old homestead, and lived there until his death,
in 1871. Of his family of seven children, two were sons
and five daughters, and all are yet living in the county ex­
cept Keziah, who died many years ago, and was one of the
first inhumed in the cemetery at this place. Mary Ann
became the wife' of Stephen Judd; l~lizabeth, of Daniel
Holter; and Rebecca, of Nelson Apple~ate, all living in
Batavia township. The two sons were named Samuel T.
and John 'Vesley, and inherited the best traits of their
father and grandfather, both being public-spirited and en­
terprising. The former married Aseilath, daughter of Wil­
liam 'Veaver, and reared three children. The youngest
son, William, resides with his Dlther on the €lId hOllll'lstead.
J ohn Wesley Apple married a daughter of Jeremiah Cleve­
land and reared five children, all of whom yet reside in
Batavia township.

The 'fownsley brothers-Robert, James, and William­
and their sister Margaret came from New Jersey to Batavia
about 1800, and settled at different points below the village
not exceeding the distance of a mile and a half. Robert
lived on the farm now occupied by Ezekiel Duckwall, and
kept a licensed tavern there in 1802. Although having a
large filmily, nearly all of them died of consumption, and
are interred in a lot on the hill near by the old home.
Robert Townsley was one of the leading men of the
county in his day, holding important offices. James
Townsley married a widow named Millard, whose maiden
name was Allison, of Allisonia, and lived in a log cabin in
the small meadow near the residenc.e of Thomas Marsh.
He was in the war of 1812, and lived in the township
until his death, about 1830. The only surviving members
of his filmily are Mrs. Nathan McGuire, of Batavia, and
l\Irs. Richard Ferree, of Illinois.

James Glancy, nephew of Jesse Glancy, a well-known
pioneer of Stonelick, came with his uncle from York Co.,
Pa., in 1805. He was at that time about fourteen years
of age, and after he attained his majority he settled on a
tract of land in the northern part of Batavia township,
which is at present occupied by his son 'VilIiam. Here
he died in 1839. In the same neighborhood resided
another of his sons, Joseph: who died in 18-19. Another
son is a resident of Tate. 'One of the daughters, Haehel,
married Daniel McAffee, and the other, lmizabeth, Samuel
l\Iaham, both of Batavia township.

The Lane brothers-Shudrach,~Samuel,and Robert­
came from Norl,h Carolina about the beginning of the
present century, and settled in the neighborhood of Olive
Branch, where Robert died, in 18-13. Seven of his sons
attained manhood,-Samuel, Joseph, Shadrach, Nathaniel,
'Vesley, George, and Daniel. The latter is the only one
now living in the county, and is a citizen of Withamsville.
He had also four daughters, who married well-known citi­
zens of the county, as follows : Jemima, Joseph Gest;
Mary, Dr. Samuel Doughty; Hester, Nathaniel Witham;
and Elizabeth, T. J. Cazel.
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Samuel Lane had no fiunily, but Shadrach, who was the
pioneer merchant of Olive Branch, had two sons-Samuel
and John, both decem;ed,-and three daughters,-Elizabeth,
who became the wife of Caleb Dial, and Sarah and Rebecca,
both married to members of the Teal family.

The elder J.Janes had three sisters who came to Ohio,­
Elizabeth became the wife of :i\Ialachi Mcdaris, and died
in 1873, at the age of ninety-three years; Sarah married
Daniel Apple, of Olive Branch; and the third one, Na­
thaniel Witham, of Withamsville,-all well-known citizens
of Clermont County.

James Hulick, a native of New Jersey, came to Clermont
County about 1800, and purchased 200 acres of land on
the Temple Survey, one and a half miles northeast from
Batavia, preferring this to the bottom-lands because he
deemed the locality II!0re healthy. He was a single man,
and h.is journey frolli his native State was made .on horse­
back. After putting up a cabin and making a small clear­
ing he went back to his old home to bring on his parents,
whom he settled on his land in 1803. His father, John
Hulick, was a pensioner of the war for independence, and
died in Batavia township. James married Rebecca 'Veaver,
and made a home ncar his aged parents. He was an active,
industrious man, and died in 1876, at the age of eighty­
nine years. His family consisted of five sons and one
daughter. The latter married George' R. 'Vageman, and
yet lives five miles south of Batavia. The oldest son, John
'V., died at the age of thirty-one. Abraham married Irene
Stone, and lives in the neighborhood of the homestead.
The third son, 'William W., married 1\1ary Jane Dial, and
lives in the neighborhood of Olive Branch. Erastus, the
fourth male member of the family, married America Lytle,
and lives a mile from the homestead. James, the youngest
son, remained on the original farm, whose dimensions he
lIas much increased. lIe married Elmim Fuller, and has
a famil)' of five children. He is noted for his enterprise,
and probably did more to secure a railroad for Batavia than
any other man. He is a director of the road, and was
complimented by having a station named in his honor.
All the H ulicks are Methodists, and are warmly interested
in the affairs of their church.

Daniel Kidd came from Winchester, Va., to Williams­
burgh in 1798. On Jan. 1,1803, he married Mary Bunton,
daughter of Ramot,h Bunton, an old'Revolutionary soldier,
who was among the first settlers of that place; and Poll),
Bunton and Polly Kain were the first white women in that
village, going there with James Kain to cook for the men
who built the first cabin at that place. In 1808, Daniel Kidd
moved to the farm now occupied by Joseph Kidd, in Bata­
via township, where he died, in 1\1arch, 1839.' His consort
survived him, and lived until Nov. 20, 1876, when she
passed away with vigorous mental faculties at the age of
almost eighty-eight years. Daniel Kidd was in Capt.
'Stephen Smith's company in the war of 1812, and his
widow waS a pensioner. They had but two children,­
Jane ~lDd Joseph. The former married Sam'l Fitzwater, of
the northern part of the township, and both are deceased.
Joseph was born the latter part of 1803, and is now one
of the oldest native citizens of Clerment County. He has
passed the greater part of his life on the homestead, has

been four times married, and has had twenty-six children,
sixteen of wllOm are now living.

Joshua Atchley, a native of New Jersey, settled in the
eastern part of the township, on the place now occupied by
his son Samuel, some time about 1807. He died August,
1869, at the age of seventy years. Besides Samuel, he
had sons named John, the proprietor of the Atchley'
House at 'Villiamsburgh, and 'William D., living at Pisgah.
His daughter Keziah married 'Yashington Foster, and
moved to Missouri; and Mary Ann became the wife of
Isaac Frazier, of Williamsburgh. John Atchley, no brother
of the above, also l:iettled in this part of the township.
He died many years ago. His son David is a merchant
on the Williamsburgh pike, and Thomas lives ncar the Elk
Lick Mills. Rebecca became the wife of Joseph Marshall,
of Pisgah.

- Near the same time Nehemiah Mount came from New
Jerse)' and located in the eastern part of the township.
His sons were named Stephen, John, and Hezekiah, and
his daughters' names were Margaret, Amy, Betsey, and

, Mary. The last-named son is at present a resident near
Batavia.

Peter Harden settled on the present Davidson place, and
reared a large family, sons,-named John, Joshua, Andrew,
'ViIIiam, and Daniel,-arid daughters,-Jane, Sarah, and
J.Jydia. James Chambers, a Revolutionary soldier, was a
brother-in-law of Harden, and lived in this part of the
county until his death. One of his d~ughtel's married
Joseph Bown, of this part of the township. Timothy
Curlis and John Lukemires were also Harden's relatives
and settled about this period (1807) in this locality, and
many descendants yet remain. The l\'Iaham family, Lewis
Davis, Phineas Thomas, the Parker family, and many
others whose names appear in the general list were also
pioneers in this section.

In 1807, John Weaver, Jr., immigrated from Virginia
to Clermont Count)', and rented a farm from Ezekiel Dim­
mitt, below Batavia. The following year he purchased a
tract of land above the village, at what is now known as
the 'Veaver bottoms. His glowi~g accounts induced his
father, John 'Veaver, Sl·., to follow his son in 1810, and
that year he and the remaining seven unmarried members
of the family found homes in Batavia township. He pur­
chased 585 acres on the East Fork, and having brought
with him considerable means, stock, and farming imple­
ments, he was prepared to make some good improvements.
At the time of the purchase a small cabin stood on this
tract of land, which was occupied by Jacob Slye. He sold
his interests to John Weaver for a horse, but failed to move,
and 'the latter then put up a good hewed log house where
Simeon 'Veaver's house now stands, which was occupied
by him until about 1830. He died in March, 1831. The
death of his wife occurred two years previously. Of their
eight children who came to Clermont, five were sons and
three daughters, viz.: Susannah, who married John Bra­
zier; Sarah, the wife of Jacob Duckwall; and Rebecca,
who married James Hulick,-all -of the township of Ba­
tavia. The oldest son, J olm, was married in Virginia to
Christinia. Miller and had a family of seven children,­
'ViIIium, Lewis, Joseph, John, and J. C., all of whom
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became useful citizens. One of the daugllters married
John Duckwall, and the other, Susan, Elias Rector.
William Weaver, the second son, married Mary Robinson.

The third of John Weaver, Sr.'8 sons, Henry, died un­
married at the age of twenty-two years; the fourth son,
Samuel, married Catherine Robinson; and Simeon, Mary
Duckwall. The latter yet occupies the old homestead, and
is seventy-ei~ht years old.

William 'Veave,· had two sons, William and Henry G.,
twins; and daughters,-1\frtry Ann, the wife of James
Dial; Asenath, the wife of S. L. Apple; Catherine, the
wife of George Duckwall; and Lucinda, the wife of Joseph
Dial.

The children of Sam~el 'Veaver were,-sons, Charles,
Samuel, and Franklin Henry; and daughters, Asenath, the
wife of James Tate; Sarah, the wife of William Simmons;
Amanda, wife of Shadrach Dial; Catherine, wife of Lewis
Nash; Rebecca, of the same; Margaret, wife of Dr. In­
galls; and Elizabeth, wife of George Moyer, most of whom
lived in the county. .

Simeon Weaver reared six children,-two sons and four
daughters,-viz.: Lavina, the wife of Rev. W. R. Ely, of
Missouri; Sarah Ann; .Mary S.; and Missouri C. The
youngest son, James, resides in the township; the oldest
son, John J.J., died unmarried, at the age of forty-eight, in
1878. He had been prominently identified with many in­
terests of Batavia, and was a very useful man.

Simeon Weaver and Joseph Kidd are the only survivors
·of the pupils that attended a school in this· neighborhood
in 1816. A man named Hussell was tlle teacher; and the
school was kept in a poorly-constructed building of logs,
about sixteen feet square.

John Slade, a native of Kentucky, served in the war of
1812, enlisting twice. Afterwards he engaged to run flat­
boats down the Ohio, but met with misfortune, which
caused him to settle in Batavia. He <lied in 1871, at an
advanced age. He had six sons,-James, William C.,
Powell, John S., Wayland, and Ezekiel, the latter being
yet a resident of the township, and for eighteen years a
justice of the peace. In the late war he raised Company
G, One Hundred and Fifty-third Regiment, and did good'
service.
. In this part of the township also lived John 'Wilson, a
native of Pennsylvania, and who was among the men sur­
rendered by Gen. Hull at Detroit. He died near the Elk
Lick Mills in 1874. Of his eight sons and six daughters,
a number are yet residents of the county.

Fart.her down the stream John Mitchell was a pioneer.
The family have all deceased, and the farm belongs to the
Gregg heirs. In a fine grove on this place were held some
of the early Methodist camp-meetings. '

Capt. Charles 1\100re (who received his title from the fact
that he commanded a company in the war of 1812) came
from New Jersey to Batavia in 1816 and purchasetl the mill·

, site and 300 acres of land above the village which had been
improved by George Ely. Capt. Moore soon made other
noteworthy improvements, and planted one of the first or­
chards in this part of the township, some of the trees being
stilI ,in bearing condition. The sons of Capt. Moore were,­
John, who died in Batavia j Charles A., who lived on the

homestead until his death; and Lindley C., yet living and
well known as the proprietor of the" Batavia Mills," and
as an amateur geologist.. His collection of rich and fine
specimens is one of the best in this part of the State. One
of the daughters of Capt. :Moore became the wife of Joseph
Grant; an' early merchant of Batavia, and the other married
D. C. Bryan, and, as a widow, yet lives in the village.

Accompanying Capt. Moore from New Jersey was his
brother-in-law, George Hunt, who was one of the early
teachers of the townshi p. He reared a large family, some
of the members being yet re~idents of Batavia, living near
Olive Branch.

Henry Rust is well remembered as one of the pioneer
shoemakers of Batavia. After the war of 1812, in which
he served, he shouldered his kit of tools and tramped all
the way from Baltimore. In 1816 he married a daughter
of Mrs. James Townsley, and reared a family of twelve
children, eleven of whom attained mature years. He died
Nov. 15, 1870, but several members of the family yet live
in the township.

In 1798, John Whittaker, of North Carolina, came .to
Clermont County, and selected a fine tract 0'· land near
WithamsviIIe and returned to his native State to bring on
his f..'lmily. ~efore he could accomplish this he died, and
Mrs. 'Vhittaker and her family did not come to Ohio unti
1807, when they settled on a large tract of land on Shaylor's
Run. There were seven sODs,-Joshua, Thomas, John,
Henry, Mark, William, and Israel. The latter became the
most widely known in the county. In 1817 he removed
to Batavia, and lived there until 1839, when he removed
to a farm on Lucy's Run, where he operated some mills
many years. Judge 'Whittaker is yet a resident of Amelia,
and is nearly eighty-nine years old.

On Sha)"lor's Run, ,Vm. McMahan wa& the earliest settler,
going there soon after 1800. A mile from the \Vhittakers
Daniel Kirgan lived as early as 1803, or earlier. He had
sons named John, Thomas, and Daniel, who became identi­
fied with this part of the county.

Josiah Fairfield was born in Kennebunkport, 1\fe.,
March 20, 1785, and died in Batavia township, July 20,
1874. In the sixteenth year of his a.!!;e he went to sea,
and from 1800 to 1812 lived a seafarin~ lite, visiting many
foreign countries and the principal ports or OUl" own country.
In 1806 his vessel sailed to New Orleans" and successfully
passed the dangers which then existed in the lower Missis­
sippi before the introduction of the levee system j and re­
turning to New York, he rod~ a short distance on Fulton's
steamer, the" Clermont." The war of 1812 coming on,
he abandoned the sea and settled down ncar Bangor; but
finding the soil too sterile, he concluded to ~o to the Ohio
Valley, whither the tide of immigration was :It that time
tending, and in August, 1815, he commenced wOl'k upon a
farm in the southeast part of Batavia, which he occupied
until 1854, when he changed his abode to a place near
Amelia, where his wife died, in 1869. He was a man
greatly respected, and for more than sixty-one years was a
consistent member of the Christian Church. His home,
though plain, afforded a cheerful place for the itinerant
minister of the gospel, whom he delighted to entertain. Of
Mr. Fairfield's family of twelve children, eight lived at the
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time of his dcath, and sevcn yet survive,-namely, Mrs.
Hannah B. Smith and 1\lrs. Asenath M. Bragdon, residing
in Indiana j Cyrus F., in the sume State j Lorenzo D.,
Samuel It, and 1\1rs. ]~l1Ieline D. Edwards, in the county j

and Albert, A., iu Battle Creek, :Mich. Otho, the youngest
8UII, enlisted as a private in the Eighty-ninth Hegiment, in
lSC~,and was ::;oon utter promoted first lieuteuunt of Co.
ll. At the battle of Chickamauga he ",u::; taken pri::;oner,
and alter spending more than a year at Libby Prison WaS
taken to various parts in the South, aud fiually carried to
Culumbia, S. C., where death relieved his sufferings, Nov. 8,
181a. He was a bnn'e mall, and his exemplary life at
home and in the army had gained him many friends, who
sincerely mourned his death.

Hcv. Lewis Duckwall callie from Virginia to Batavia
towllship in 181G. He lived ou the East Fork until 1832,
when he died, greatly mourned as a most exemplary man
and minister of the gospel. He had sons named George
and William, yet living, and John and James, deceased.
The daughters were Sarah, who married John Dimmitt j

Mary, the wife of Simeon \Veaver j and Catherine, the
wife of Christian Zugg, of !fate township.

In 1800, James Davison, a native of \Vestmoreland Co.,
Pa., settled in Clermont, and in 1808 caille to Batavia. He
was the father of eleven childrclJ,-viz., Ellen, John, Wil­
liam, Elizabeth, Mary, l\obert,James, Philip, George, Chris­
topher, and Samuel. In 1802 his brother, Juhn Davison,
settled in Miami township, and in 1870 bought the fill'lll
now owned by the heirs of James Roudebush. He died in
184:3, and was the fathCl· of thirteen <Jhildren,-George,
Christopher, Catherine, Margaret, Elizabeth, Eleanor, John,
James, Hobert, Jaue, Florence, and Alexander. Another
brother of the elder Davisons-George-came to Miami
township before 1800, but did not remain long; and Wil­
limn, still another bl"Other, died shortly after his eOllling,
soon after 1800. Of the older Dayisons, John is now the
ollly one living in the count,y. He was in the war of 1812,
although at that time but a lad. James Davison, Sr., was
at the defeat of St. Clair, and participated in Wayne's
victory.

Malachi Medaris was born in Maryland in 1777. At the
age of twenty he was married, and moved to North Caro­
lina the fullowing year. Here several of his children were
born. In the spring of 1803, in company with about fifty
filmilies, he started for the" Miami country," in Ohio, the
women being sent by flatboat from Pittsburgh, the men
coming overland by way of Chillicothe with the cattle and
wagons. In 1804 he settled in the Olive Branch neigh­
borhood, purchasing a farm fi'om James Gilman, on which
he lived until 1818, when he bought thc present George
Duckwall pIace. In 1822 one of the sons-Churles-was
married to Lydia Gest, a daughter of Enoch Gcst, one of
the early settlers of the southern part of Batavia tuwnship.
Shadmch, another son, was married to Sarah K Ferree, in
1826, daughter of John Ferree, of Stonelick. The follow­
ing year Malachi ~Iedaris moved to the northel'll part of
Batavia township, on the farm which is now in part owned
by his grandson, Dr. L. H. Medaris. 1\1rs. Malachi Meda­
ris died in 187a, aged ninety-three ..years, and of her four
children Shadrach is the only one now living. l'he Medaris

family were of Irish descent, and have always been note.d
for their piety and uprightness.

John F. Talley was born in Delaware in 178-1-, but be­
came a resident of Maryland, where he was married, in
1817, to a Miss Newcomer. The same year they emigrated
to Clermont, settling on the East Fork, about three miles
above Batayia, but soon returned to Mnrylaud. In 1822
he callie to li,'e permanently, and completed the improvc­
ments he had begun. lIe died in the county in 1851, and
his wife the same year. Of their six children, three were
sons, the eldest, Henry N., being an attorney at Batavia,
the others fill"luers. The oldest daughter married L. O.
Moore, leaving un only child at her decease, a few years
later, which became the wife of Judge It. A. Johnstou, of
Cincinnati. Another daughter of John F. Talley married
Hev. Joseph F. Chalfimt, and the thin} a .citizen of Ilinois.

George Smith and Charit.y, his wife, became rcsidents of
Batavia in 1817. He had come to the county in 1806, in
company with Abraham Hulick and George ]~ly, and while
hunting on the present site of the court-house killed a deCl·.
Joseph Smith and his family also came in 1819 from New
Jers~y. They had childl'en named Asa, John, Hebecca,
Lorenzo D., :Mary, Gideon, and Emeline.

In the southwestel'll part of the township John Brazier,
of North Carolina, was umong the pioneers, and died near
what is now known as Centreville Station, in 1838. He
had sons named William, Lewis, Oliver, and Henry, the
lattcr yct living there as the sole member of the fillllily not
deceased. On an adjoining farm lived Laban" Brazier, a.
local Methodist preacher, who died in 1843. It is said of
him that he preached nearly all the early funeral sermons.
His sons were James, John, and Elijah, the latter being a.
resident of Amelia at this time.

William Bl'Unaugh came to this part of Batavia from
]~astern Virgin·ia in 1816, and died before 1839 from the
amputation of one o"f' his legs. His family consisted of two
sons and three daughters. The former were named \Vil­
liam and John. William lived and died ncar Amelia, and
was the futher of James and John El'Unaugh, who removed
to l\lissouri, and of David Erunaugh, deceased. The second
son of William Brunaugh, the Ilev. John, is yet living at
Amelia. He has sons-\Villiam and James S. (the cx­
})1"obate judge)-living in Clermont, and John in Cin-.
ciunati. His three daughters married \Villiam 'V. Han­
cock, John P. Robinson, and S. G. Norris, all of Batavia
township. Of another family of Brunaugh is Peter Eru­
naugh of Olive Emnch, whose father was also a pioneer.

Henry Miley settled on J...ucy's Run, in Batavia, in 1813.
His family consisted of Abraham Miley; Margery, who
malTied Hobert Chapman j Comfort, who married Thomas
Starks j and Huth,. who married Timothy Leeds.

Many prominent settlers were added to the population of
patavia after the war of 1812 and at later periods. In
1838, Mott Titus, a native of Dutchess Co., N. Y., became
a resident, and continued until his death, in January, 186l.
He brought to Clermont the first merino sheep ·in the
county, and was for many years extensively engaged in
wool-gl'Owing, and wurmly identified himself with the best
agricultural interests of the county.

In the following pages appear the Dallies of other persons
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who were pioneer settlers of Batavia, but concerning whom
a detailed account, possessing any accuracy, could not be
procured. In many instances the simple name will recall
many good qualities and facts connected with their history.

PROPER1'¥-llOLDERS IN 1826.

The following list contains the names of those who held
real and personal property in Batavia township in 1826,
together with the number of the entry and the names of
the original proprietors. Opposite the names of those who
paid no tax. on personal property appears an asterisk to
indicate that such persons were probably non-residents at
tllat period:

Arthur, James, No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
Arthur, Joseph, No. 16il; Euwa.rd Stephens, original proprietor.
Apple, Daniel, No.205S; Nat. Darby, original proprietor.
Apple, Andrew.
''1!Armstrong, Heirs.
;*Atkins, Cephas, No. 586; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
;;iAbbott, ~Vm. H., No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
Boyd, Mathew, No.. 4802; Benj. Temple, original proprietor.
Baldwin, Wm., No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Blair, Alexander, No. ]774; Will. Johnston, original proprietor.
Dryan, David C., No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Brown, WilliaUl, No. 526; Samuel Finley, original proprietor.
Branton, Thomas, No. 5S6; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
Bolander, Peter, No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
Burton, James, No. 20:'\7; Nat. Darby, original proprietor.
Brazier, Laban, No. 4455; L. Thomas, original proprietor.
Drazier, John, No. 1671; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
BOJd, Hugh.
Beckwith, Moses.
Brunson, Thomas W.
Bryan, George S.
Blair, Ananias.
Burrows, T. II.
Dolton, J abish R.
;1illl'Unaugh, Carey, No. 12,469; Henry Lee, original proprietor.
*Burrows, Stephen, No. 1774; WlIl. Johnston, original proprietor.
*Barr &:; Lytle, No. 2057; NlLt. Darby, original proprietor.
Clark, Johnson, No. 1671; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
Crossley, Reuben, No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
Cushman, Joshua, No. 506; John ClLtiett, original proprietor.
Conley, James, No. 2057; ~at. Darby, original proprietor.
CIurl;;, Christopher.
Clark, Isaiah.
Chapman, William.
Christie, David.
Crank, John G.
Cleveland, J erellliah C.
Crane, William M.
CoIlins, Learner B.
Cudis, Samuel.
Chalmers, Andrew.
;*Chllpman, Zaehariah, No. 493; Robert Gibbons, original proprietor.
;*C1evcland, Stephen B., No. 1073; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
wCox, Abel, No. 1774; William Johnston, original proprietor.
l*Chambry, John, No. 1242; .James Gray, original proprietor.
Dial.. Shadraeh, No. 4031; John Obannon, ol'iginal proprietor.
Dial, David, No. 4031; John Obannon, original proprietor.
Dial, John C., No. 5958; J. Taylor, original prolJrietor.
Daily, Evi, No. 586; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
Dunham, Seth, No. 586; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
Dunham, Jonathan, No. 536; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
Donhan, Henry, No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
Duckwall, Lewis, No. 2057; Nat. Darby, original proprietor.
Duckwall, Jacob, No. 1116; James Gray, originllllJroprietor.
Dimmitt, Moses.
Dooks, Hugh.
Dennis, John.
Dimmitt, Ezekiel, No. 7120; William Mosley, original prolJrietor.
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Dove, John.
Duckwltll, David, No. 526; SlLInnel Finley, original proprietor.
D:lVison, John, No. 4459; Benjamin Templ«t, original proprietor.
Da\'ison, .Tames, No. 4459; Benjamin Temple, original proprietor.
Dilllmitt, John, No. 4459; Benj:Lmin Temple, origiDlLl proprietor.
Dennis, Francis, No. 44~9; Benjamin Temple, original proprietor.
Duckwall, Daniel, No. 1765; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Doughty, Robert, No. 928; Thomas Pierson, original proprietor.
DlLvis, lllLrzilla.
English, Debora, No. 2057 j Nat. Darby, original proprietor.
En'glish, Robert, No. 2057; Nl~t. Darby, original proprietor.
Ellis, Jesse, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor~

Ely, William, No.17H; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Everhart, Titus.
Fisher, JlLlnes, No. 1671; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor. '
Furguson, Isaac.
Fairfield, Josiah, No. 586; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
Fishback, Owen 'r., No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Foote, Andrew S.
r,iFinley, Samuel, No. 526; Samuel Finley, original proprietor.
;*Folger, Richard, No. 928; Thomas Piel'son, original proprietor.
Garland, James.
Graham, John, No. 2057; Nat. Darby, original proprietor.
Griffith, Samuel C.
Grubb, Emanuel.
Gest, James, No. 176~; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Gest, Enoch, }.Io. 1765; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Glancy, James, No. 4459; Benj. Temple, original proprietor.
Grant and Keezer•.
*Gray, Jo~n, No. 998; James Mahone, original proprietor.
*GiIbraeth, Samuel, No. 526; Samuel Finley, original proprietor.
Harris, James, No. 989; Thomas Overton, original proprietor.
Hare, .Jacob.
Hare, Samuel.
Husong, Christian, No. 928; Thomas Pierson, original proprietor.
Hooper, John.
Heuges, Joseph.
Halse, Richard.
Hardin, John.
JIaseall, Benj., No. 1242; James Gray. original proprietor.
Harvey, Ogden.
JIll,lIiday, Joseph, No. ]242; Jumes Gray, o~iginal proprietor.
Harris, JJenjamin.
Hulick, Lot, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Hawkins, John.
Hulick, James, No. 4450; Benjamin Temple, original proprietor.
Hulick, John.
Hulick, Abraham, No. 1716'; James Gray, original proprietor.
Hunt, George.
Jllhnston, John.
Jaek~on, John.
Jeffreys, Wm., No. 928; Thomas Pierson, original proprietor.
Jeffreys, James.
l!'Jernegan, David, No. 493; Robert Gibbons, original proprietor.
Kirgan, Daniel, No. 511; Hobert Taylor, original proprietor.
Kirgan, David, No. 1672; Edward Stellhens, original proprietor.
Kirgan, William.
I\ain, Thomas.
IGdd, Daniel, No. 1242; James Gray, original proprietor.
Kidd, .Joseph.
Kinman, Edward, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
IGrtright, J obn.
*Keezer, Timothy, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Lane, Samuel, No. 1765; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Lane, Robel·t D., No. 5958; J. Tltylor, original proprietor.
Lane, Samuel, Jr.
Lane, Shadrach, No. 493; Robert Gibbons, original proprietor.
Lemaster, Richard, No. 1672; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
Lewis, Charles.
Leeds, Wesley.
LuI_ens, George.
Loop, Peter H., ~o. 1116; James Gmy, original proprietor.
Loop, John.
Loop, lIenr.)', No. ]I IG; James Gray, original proprietor.
Lyman, Josiah, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
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In 1826 the following were the lot-owners in the village
of Batavia. Those marked with a star signify that the lot
contained a building:

St:trl,s, Thomas.
Strimple, John.
Slade, John, No. 1116; James Gray, origillltl proprietor.
Shaw, S.tmllc!.
Slye, .Henry.
Stcwltrt, Isaac.
Smith, Christopher, No. 4.1,57; Nicholas Smith, original propl·ietor.
Sanders, John W.
;~Stewart, John, No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
*Singlcton, Anthony, No. 4402 i A. Singlcton, origillltl proprietor.
;;'Stockton, Job, No. 12-12; James Gray, original proprietor.
'':!Sterrctt, William, No. 928; Thomas Pierson, original proprietor.
Troy, Benjamin, No. !I\l8; James Mabone, origin:tl proprietor.
Troy, John, No. 008 i James Mabone, original propri~tor.

Thompson, Elislm B.
Thompson, Alexander.
Thompson, Alexander D.
Tingley, Benjamin, No. U34; Joseph Jones, original propriotor.
Tedron, D.wid, No. \134; Joseph Jones, origin:tl proprietor.
Tate, ThomlLs, No. 1116; James Gmy, original proprietor.
Tedron, Isaac.
Troy, Simon, No. 998; Jamcs Mabone, original proprietor.
Tally, John, No. 4802; Benjamin Temple, original proprietor.
Townsley, Robert, No. 12,469; Henry Lee, original proprietor.
Townsley, Robert, No. 7106; Robert 'I.'ownsley, ori,ginal proprietor.
Townsley, Jllmes, No. 526; Samuel Finley, original proprietor.
'l'ownsley, ·William.
Thompson, Stephen.
*Thompson, Ralph, No. 586; Joseph Scott, original proprietor.
*Tunis, .John, No. M158; J. Taylor, original proprietor.
'':!Taylor, James, No. 9H; James Gray, original proprietor.
;*Taylor, James, No. 4919; John Green, original proprietor.
Vail, Samuel.
Whittaker, Israel, No. 1774 i William Johnston, original proprietor.
Whittaker, Mark.
Whittaker, Margaret, No. 1072; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
Whittaker, Henry.
Whittaker, John.
Whittaker, Israel.
Whittaker, WilI~am.
Weaver, Samuel, No. 6878; Martin & Stokely, original proprietors.
'Veaver, Simeon.
Weaver, John, No. 6878; Martin & Stokely, original proprietors.
Weaver, John, Jr., No. 6878; Martin & Stokely, original proprietors.
Weaver, William, No. 493; Robert Gibbons, original proprietor.
Wageman, John, No. 586; Joseph"Scott, original proprietor.
Whetston, Jacob, No. 177]; William Johnston, original proprietor.
Whetston, Elnathan.
Winner, John, No. 2057; Nathan Darby, original proprietor.
Williams, Samuel.
Wayland, William.
Williamson, James, No. 6948; Robert Townsley, original proprietor.
White, David, No. 7106; Robert Townsley, original proprietor.
Willis, James.
;;;West, Samuel, No. 1771; Joseph Winlock, original proprietor.
l;'Walden, Reuben, No. 92S; Thomas }>ierson, original proprietor.
;*Wulkins, Joseph, No. 493 ; Robert Gibbons, original proprietor.
;;'Warrcn, John, No. 1774; WiIIilLm .Johnston, original proprictor.
*Warren, John, Jr., No. 934; Joseph Jones, original proprietor.
;:'Whetston, John, No. 1774; William Johnston, original proprietor.

Luter, John.
Long, Philip.
*Longworth, Nicholas, No.17H; Wm. Johnston, original proprictor.
;;'Lceds, Aaron, No. \1:14; J o~eph Jones, origin:L1 proprietor.
;;'L,}'tle, William, No. 5256; WIO. Tibbs, original proprietor.
l\[cll:uis, Washington, No. 989; Thomas Orertoll, original proprictor.
Mcdaris, Charles.
l\Icl\Iichacl, Jamcs.
l\1clhris, 1\1nlachi.
1\Ie:\Iahan, Rebccca, No. ] 6n; Ed. Stephens, origin:tl proprictor.
McVord, Lucy, No. 1673; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
Milcy, Abrllham, No. 1774; Will. Johnst()n, original propl·ietor.
l\IcCord, Aquilla.
McCord, S:LI"lth, No. 989; Thomas Overton, original proprietor.
Molen, Archibald.
Miley, lIenry, No. 4845; .John Nedlle, original proprietor.
1\1cC:tll, A. F.
l\Iitehell, John, No. 1774; Will. Johnston, original proprietol·.
l\Ionday, James, No. 2057; Nat. Darby, originltl proprietor.
Mason, Smnuel.
Mount, Stephen.
Moore, John.
Mason, Charles.
Mount, William.
1\loorchead, Thomas.
1\loore, Samuel, No. 526; Samuel Finley, original proprietor.
;,~:\li1ey and Armstrong, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original prop.
*.Mount, Nehemiah, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
~.l\Ioorc, Charles, No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
*:\1orris, James C., No. 1774; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
;~.l\1\lrphy, John, No. 1765; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
;;':\Iason, Joseph, No. 2057; Nat. Darby, original proprietor.
;;'.l\Iathews, George, No. 4,153; John Watts, original proprietor.
*.l\1c:\Iahan, James, No. 4455; L. Thomas, original proprietor.
McCormick, George, No. 10,495 i Geo. McCormick, orig. prop.
Nordike, Samuel.
Ogilvie, Thomus L.
Osburne, Abraham.
Osburnc, Samuel.
Peterson, Robert.
Pease, David, No. 1671; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
l'egg, John.
Pierce, Benjamin, No. 12,469; Henry Lee, original proprietor.
Parker, Daniel, No. 5256; Wm. Tibbs, origin:tl proprietor.
l'arker, Daniel, Jr.
Patterson, William S.
Pierce, Daniel, No. 12,469; Henry Lee, original proprietor.
Preble, John, No. 6948; Robert Townsley, original proprietor.
Pierce, John, No. 4450; Bcnjamin Temple, original proprietor.
P.trker, Leah, No. 7106; James Gl'ay, original proprietor.
;;'l'atterson, Peter, No. 526; Samuel Finley, original proprietor.
*Paddock, John, No. 4459;. Benjamin TemIlle, original prolirietor.
Roseberry, l\Iichael, No. 4919; John Green, originai proprietor.
Hobinson, Ch:trles, No. 4845 ; John Neville, originltl proprietor.
Hobinson, Chltrles, Jr., No. 9:J4; Joseph Jones, original proprietor.
Ransom, Ambrose, No. 1116; James Gray, origin:tl proprietor.
Robinson, John W., No. 17i4; Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Hust, Henry.
Haper, Holly.
Hust, William.
Hust, Jonathan.
Itobinson, William II.
Robinson, William, No. 1774 i Wm. Johnston, original proprietor.
Hobb, Moses.
ltiggs, BCliiah.
*Ro~s, Ignatius, No. 934 i JOSCIlh Jones, original proprietor.
*n.eeves, Nathan, No. 1116; James Gray, original proprietor.·
;;'lUce, Holman, No. 4\13; Robert Gibbons, original prolirietor.
Short, Michael, No. 10il; Ed. Stephens, original proprietor.
Short, William.
Short, Isaac, No. 403; Robert Gibbons, original proprietor.
Short, John.
Smith, Joseph, No. 58G; Joseph Scott, origin:tl proprietor.
Smith, A.nna.
Smith, George, No. 586; Joseph Scott, originalIJroprietllr.

*Armstrong, Leonard.
f:!Abbott, William H.
'''BIuir, Alexander.
Baldwin, William.
Bl'yan, Phineas L.
Blackman, James.
;~BUl'rows, Stephen.
Bryan, ~I. A.
;;!Blair, Ananins.
~!Beekwith, Moses.

Brown, John M.
Brunson, Thl?mas.
*Bryan, David C.
Crane, William M.
;!'C1eveland, Jeremiah C.
Coffin, Cyrus.
Collins, John.
;~Chambel's, John.
Coats, Sarah.
Cro·ser, .John.



MICHAEL COWEN was born Aug. 16, 1804, at Morrison's Cove, in
Bedford Co., Pa., and was reared on a farm until about eighteen years
old, when he learned the art of weaving, in which he became profi­
cient. He had the usual advantages of the country boys of his day,
receiving a good common-school education, nnd excelled in arithmetic
and penmanship. His father, who owned four hundred acres of
bottom-land, was a man of considerable note, and had come to
America when n lad of nine years from the north of Ireland, and
was of rigid Presbyterian stock from the line of the" old Co\"e­
nanters" of Cromwell's time. His mother was of German extraction,
whose thrift and domestic graces have made the Pennsyh"anhL house­
wife proverbial for tidiness and comfort.

In 1827-28 he removed to Ohio, and located at BatlwilL, at Duck­
wall's Mills, where he opened the first weaver's factory or shop in
Clermont County. He boarded at Dlwid Duckwall's, and carried on
his trade until his marriage, on Aug. 11, 1831, by William Highland,
a. justice of the peace, to Miss Mary Ann Roudcbush, daughter of
Jacob Roudebush, one of the first settlers in Northern Clermont, in
1799, and whose ancestors were Knickerbocker Dutch, originally fmm
Amsterdam, in Holland. He now mo\"cd into Batavia villagc, and
bonght the property where D. G. Dustin now rcsidcs, and where his
first child was born, Judge Allen T. Cowen. Afterwards hc located
at Perin's Mills, and in 1837 removed to Tate township, where he
purchased the farm now owned by John L. Fisher, and afterwards
lived in Wigginsville. While in Tate township he resumed his welLV­
ing business, and nil through this coullty, in IDOSt of the households,
will be foundto this day specimens in co\"erlets and other weavings
of his skillfnl handiwork before the invention of machillOl"y t."ans-·
ferred this honorable business to the large IDlInufilCturing centt·es of
our land.

In 1841 he \vall elected 'sheriff of the county; was re-elected in
1843, and served four years, being the first sheriff to occupy the pres­
ent jail building, which was rebuilt after the fire during ex-Sheriff
Edward Frazier's administration. The county never had It morc
efficient sheriff than he, and the senior members of the bar speak in
warm praise of his promptness in the faithful discharge of his duti:!s,
and of the suavity and affability that characterized him as an officer,
true to all trusts committed to his ca.re, and of the strongest integrity.
At the expiration of his term of office he settled in Jackson township,
and engaged in merchandising and farming. He also served severnl
years as postmaster at Cynthianna. (now Marathon). This township
was then strongly Whig in its politics, but such was ;\lichnel COIVen's
standing and popularity as a man that, Democrat as he was, and

closely identified as he had ever been with partisan politics, he was
elected justice of the peace by ten majority, after a bitter fight, over
John Diek('y, the leading and most prominent Whig in the township.

In 1849 he removed to Milford, where he bought the well-known
"Miami lI()u~e," which hotel he kept in good style and to the satis­
faction of the public until his death, which occurred on Aug. 16, 1854,
occasioned by congestive chills. He several times revisited the boy­
hood scenes of his old Pennsylvania home and birthplace, and upon
these oeeasiflllS often walked from Pittsburgh across the mountains.
He was a .Jcffersonian and Jackson Democrat, and no man was better
posted in the nOll1enelaturc of' Clermont politics than he, or excelled
him in the de~tcr()u~ management of a political campaign. He was
a remarka.ble shot with the rifle, to excel in the use of which at that
time waS IL proud lllark of distinction, and in his latter years he as­
tonished the young hunters by the dexterity, skill, and precision that
distinguished him in the handling of this firearm. Of an iron will,
resolute purpose, and inflexible honor, he left the impress of his char­
acter upon his three children, all living, to wit: Judge Allen T.
Cowen, Dale 0., and Willis M. Cowen, the last two editors, publishers,
and proprietors of J'he Ole/"/Ilullt Sltll. Hill father, an old Cove­
nanter, believed in the doctrine that it was highly important that
children should be taught to acquire habits of industry, for whatever
their hltbits were while young, such for the most part would they
continue to be in after-life. He knew children were apt to think it a
great hardship to be obliged to devote so·mueh time to occupations,
at IHcsent, }lerhaps, disagreeable to them, but he further knew that
they ought to be madc to believe that their tasks were not only in­
tended for the informing of their minds but for the bending of their
wills, and he knew that good habits were as easily acquired as bad
oncs, with the great advantage of being the only true way to pros­
perity and happiness. Hence, although a wealthy farmer possessing
broad acres, he gave his son Michael a trade which threescore years
ago wits one of the most honorable and luerative then followed. He
was singularly fortunate and blessed in his choice of a life companion,
Mary Ann Roudebush, who still survives him as hill widow, and re­
sidcs with her eldest son, Judge Cowen. A woman of remarkable
intellectual powers, the descendant of a family noted for its ability,
tact, and wonderful business qualities, her domestic graces and socinl
powers proved of invaluable service to her beloved husband, and she
was enabled to greatly assist him in his eventful life, and upon her
in a large degree is the meed of commendation to be riehly bestowed
for tho training given to her three excellent sons, all among our best
citizens in professional and business life.
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A. T. COWE:S, named after Allen Trimble, one of Ohio's most dis­
tinguished Governors, and who occupied the gubernatorial chair in
1822, and from 1826 to 1830, is the son of ex-sheriff Michael Cowen,
who intermarried with Mary Ann Roudebush, and was born in Bata­
via, Ohio, February 13, 1834, in the house' now occupied by Daniel
G. Dustin. Here he received the rudiments of a good common-school
education under that famous old-time teacher, Charles M. Smith, and
under Professor D. W. Stcvens, the noted classical educator, of Mil­
ford, completed his preparation for college. He entered Delaware
University, and graduated with high honors in the class of 1855,
which embraced many students who have since become eminent in
the various professions, and among whom may be mentioned Rev. T.
M. Gatch, D.D., President of WiJIiamette University, at Salem, Oregon,
ex-Governor Elbert, of Colorado, and Rev. George S. Savage, D.D.,
one of Kentucky's most prominent divines and educators.

In 1860 his Alma Mater conferred upon him tbe degree of Master
of Arts, an honor given only to graduates who have achieved distinc­
tion. He rea.d law for two years, and attended the Cincinnati Law
College, from which he graduatecl in April, 1858, and at the same time
was admitted to the bar by the Hamilton County District Court. He
opened his office at Milford, and in the summer of that year was ap­
pointed by Judge Shepherd F. Norris, of the Clermont Common Pleas
Court, to the office of prosecuting. attorney of Clermont, made vacant
by the resignation of Charles H. Collins, and in October of the same
year (1858) was elected to fill that office for two years, and re-elected
for another term, in 1860. During his feiur years and a half of service
many important criminal causes were tried, in which his ability and
strong legal powers were pre-eminently displayed. In 1866 he was
elected Probate judgc of the county, and the next year removed to
Batavia. In 1869 he was re-elected, and his six years' administration
in the Widows! and Orphans' Court is an honorable monument to his
learning and fidelity as an upright judge. In 1876 he was elected
a Common Pleas judge of the first subdivision of the Fifth Judicial
District, composed of the counties of Adams, Brown, and Clermont,
to fill the unexpired term of Judge T. Q. Ashburn, resigned, and in
1877 was elected for a term of five years as additional judge of
same subdivision, which position he now fills.

Judge Cowen possesses that sagacity which cannot be misled by

sophistry, the integrity which nothing can shake, the stern im­
partiality which forgets the parties and looks only at the cause, and
the dignified courtesy which rebukes levity while it wins respect.

Few attorneys and public men give much attention to literature;
but he bas carried the feelings of bis student'days into his active life,
bas continued his studies, and is conversant with the works of sbe
best l~utbors. He has been greatly interested in the cause of educa­
tion, and as a director of the Milford schools was mainly instru­
mental in building the fine sebool edifice of that town. From mayor
of .Milford (which position be held two years) to th~ bench his public
record bas been without a blot.

In 1872, jointly with bis brotbcr, Dale O. Cowen, he purchased of
Hon. H. V. Kerr, The Clerlllunt 81111, which he edited until 1875,
wben he sold out his half interest to bis youngest brother, Willis M.

He married, in October, 1861, Miss Kate A. Brown, daughter of
Carson and Catherine Brown, of Hamilton County, who, with their
four children, Mary, Allen, Mabel, and Bessie, compose bis happy
household. For fifteen years he bas been a member of tbe Independ­
ent Order of Odd-Fellows, lind has passed all the cbairs in Clermont
Lodge, No. 49, at Milford, and for some time belonged to the encamp­
ment at Batavia. In 1869 he took the Masonic degrees in Batavia
Lodge, No. 109, F. and A. 1\1.: that of Entered Apprentice on July
17th, of Fellow Craft on August 21st, and of Master Mason in Sep­
tember. In Batavia Chapter of Royal Areh Masons, No. 112, he was
advanced to the honorable degree of a Mark Master, elected and
presided in the chair as Past Master, received and acknowledged as
Most Excellent Master on November 16th, and exalted to the Royal
Arch degree on November 18th. He was elected Worshipful Master
of the Symbolic Lodge for the years 1872, 1873, 1874, and 1875, and
agl~in in 1879, and is still in the East. He was High Priest of the
Chapter in 1877 and 1878. For nearly ten years he bas been a Royal
and Sclect Mastcr, belonging to Connell Council, No. 18, of Felicity,
the only council in the county. Judge Cowen is largely indebted to
his mother for his success in life; for to her good lessons in his youth,
her motherly admonitions in subsequent years, and her kind counsels
Itnd addce he ever listened like a loving and dutiful son, and his
honomble lifo bcnrs ripe fruit springing from the seeus planted by a
wise mot4,er's benign instructions.
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CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1848-52, David C. Bryan; 185:{, Hem'Y G. Duck,vall; 1854, George L.
Swing; 1855-56, Leslcr G.Moore; 1857, Thomas S. Dr)'an ; ] 858,
J. M. Milc)'; ]85!J, Daniel Slack; 1860, Frank White; ]861,
George II. Hill; ]862, George W. Hulick; 1863, H. V. Kerr;
]864-65, J. C. Morris; 1866, 'y". II. II. Robinson; 1867, H.

Batavia was organized as a civil township from WiIliams­
burgh and Ohio townships, Sept. 5, 1815. Unfortunately,
the township records from that period until 1848 are lost,
making the compilation of a complete civil list an impos­
sibilitJ, and preventing a reference to many matters of local
le~islation which would not be without interest. Since
1847 those elected to the principal offices ha\'e been the fol­
lowing:

TRUSTEES.

]8-18-50.-Abroh:ulI Miley, Charles 1\1. Smith,-Lott Hulick.
18;")1.-Elijah Brazier, Edmuud Spence, Lott Hulick.
1S52-5-l.-John Whitc, Wesley C. Dole, I,ott Hulick.
IS55-56.-L. D. Weaver, Lewis Tice, James Tate.
1857.-Joscph II. Gest, Lewis Tiee, John White.
1858-5!J.-Joseph H. Gcst, Lewis Tice, Daniel Uoudebush.
1860.-E. D. Duckwall, Lewis Tice, S. M. Atchlcy.
1861.-F. L. WClwer, Lewis Tiee, E. D. Duckwall.
] 862.-Du\"id l\IcAffee, Lcwis Tice, E. D. Duckwall.
1863.-J. 1\1. Rust, William G1anc)', S. L. Applc.
186-l.-Lcwis Tice, Peter Drunaugh, Joseph Ma.rslmJl.
1865.-Clml·les A. Moore, Sr., John 1\1. Neeley, Joseph MarshaJl.
1866.-Chal-lcs A. 1\Joore, Sr., George W. Duckwall, DILvid Atchley.
1867-68.-Charles A. 1\1oore, Sr., George W. Duckwall, Edwin Titus.
18()!J.-Dlldd Atchlc)', George W. Duckwall, Edwin Titus.
1870.-Charlcs A. 1\loore, Sr., Gcorge W. Duckwall, Edwin Titus.
]8il-73.-D:wid Atchley, George W. Duckwall, Edwin Titus.
18i4.--William B. Lukcmircs, George W. Duckwall, Edwin Titus.
1875.-William B. Lukemires, Gcorgc W. Duckwall, Thomas Brown.
1876-79.-D:L\"iti Atchley, George W. Duckwall, Thomas Brown.

ASSESSORS.

18-18, Lestcr G. Moore; 1849, Henderson Tice; ]850, Daniel Slack;
1851, Lester G. Moorc; ]852, George R. Wageman; i853, John
Finton; ] 85.1, George P. Stark; 1S55, J. Milton Gest; ] 856, A.
B. White; ]857, Samuel Atchley; l858-5!J, A. B. White; ] 860,
Andrew J. Spraguc; ]861, T. S. Bryan; 1862, Isaac Potter; 1863,
James T. Nash; 1864, D.S. Croshaw; 1865, John Grant; ]866,
I~a.ac Pottcr; 1867, Julius N. Knaur; 1868-75, Isaac Potter;
1876, C. L. Holleman; 1877-79, Isaac Potter.

Smethlnmt; 186S-6!l, D. C. Bryan; 1870, W. H. H. Robimon ;
1871-73, Thomas S. Bryan; 1874, J. R. Mc~fillen; 1875, J. L.
1\1oore; 1876, J. It. l\Icl\Iillen; 1S77-79, J. L. 1\1oore.

TREASURERS.

1848-52, John 1\1. Brown; 1853-54, Jesse S. Dustin; ]855, Thomas
Kain; ]856-57, Jesse S. Dustin; 1858-66, Stephen S. Robinson;
]867-68, Jesse S. Dustin; 1869-78, D. G. Dustin; lS7!J, Albert
llcnrici.

THE HIGHWAYS AND CE~[ETERIES.

The oldest highway in the township was located in 1797
by order of the Court of Quarter Session~ of Hamilton
County. In a general way its course bas been unchanged,
and it is yet the principal thoroughfare from east to west.
Before Batavia was laid out the East Fork was crossed
below the .house of Thomas Marsh, and the road ascended
the hills back of the Odd-Fellows' Cemetery. In about
1815 it was made to assume the present course. Informa­
tion pertaining to other roads is given in a general chapter.
The bridge at Batavia, a splendid i,ron structure, resting on
stone piers more than 40 feet high, is the second one that
occupies that site. Considerable labor has been bestowed
on the highways of the township, and at the annual meeting
in 1879, 25 supervisors of public roads were appointed.
There are in the township three turnpikes, on which tolls
are charged, and two lines of narrow-gauge railways, which
are noted at length in another place.

The only record pertaining to cemeteries appears in the
fidl of 1879, when the township united with the village
in purchasing 25 acres of land adjoining the old Citizens'
Cemetery, which, together with that place, should be con­
stituted a general burial-place. The land is very favorably
located for this purpose, and with proper improvements
these grounds can be rendered very attractive. In con­
nection with their churches the Methodists maintain bury­
ing grounds, and at Batavia and Amelia the Odd-Fellows
have cemeteries, which have received appropriate care.
The one at Amelia, controlled by Milton Lodge, No. 99,
is 435 feet by 366 feet, and is laid out in 180 blocks. It
was platted in the fall of 1865, and Edward Butler em­
powered to convey 101s. Nearly all of these cemeteries con­
tain fine monuments, attesting the taste of the people and
showing the regard they have for the memory of those gone
before. In the township are also a few private places of
interment, cared for by loving hands, and a few spots where
are inhumed the dead of extinct families, which bear a
neglected appearance.

.l\I AN UFACTU IUN G INTERESTS.

It is stated on the authority of General Taylor, of New­
port, Ky., that the oldest mill-site in Clermont County is
in Batavia township. In December, In15, Peter. Wilson,
a native of Virginia, Lut at that time residingin Kentucky
(who had an excellent reputation as a millwright and who

l\fagill, HOllston.
McCollum, Cornclius.
Minor, Gideon.
~')fcC~II, Andrcw T.
McChcsncy, William.
1\fedaris, Olivcr.
Pierce, Daniel.
~'Patlcrson, William S.
Pcarl, Dyer.
Parkcr, James.
Pigman, Lcd.
i;'Rust, Hcnry.
Rust, William.
i*Robinson, John W.
nobinson, William II..
naper, Holly.
Sherburne, Thomas.
Smith, D:wid R.
South, William.
;~Sanders, John W.
i;'Shaw, Samuel.
;'1Troy, Charles.
"'Voorheis, Isaac.
if'Whittaker, Israel.
'Veaver, Jo)1n.
*White, David.
~'White, William.
-"Wllite, Forman.
'"Whetston, John.
"'Webb, John.
Waits, Charles.
Williams, Samuel.
Williamson, Benjamin.

Cox, Abel.
Collin~, Itiehard.
*Chapman, Zachariah.
*Dimmitt, Ezekiel.
*Dimmitt, 1\Ioses.
Dennil', John.
Duol;s, Hugh.
Dimmitt, John, Jr.
Dole, Joscph.
EI)", William.
E\"el"Jmrt, Titus.
~'Edwards, haae.
Elli~, Je~se.

Foote & Sinks.
i;'l~ields,--.
FishLack, O\\"en T.
Foote, Anurew.
Grant, Joseph.
Gears, Jesse.
i';Holliuay, William.
Hoopcr, John.
*Hawkins, John.
Harvcy, Ogden.
Hunt, George.
"'Holliday, Thomas.
"'Higbec, John.
llanl;im, Daniel.
Hanlin, John.
Lyman, Josiah.
Lul{cns, George.
*~Iount, William.
Morris, Jamcs C.
i~~Ia~on, Clmrles.
Mcdaris, William.
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afterward built fifty mills in Ohio). selected the site of
Moore's Mills for Gens. Taylor and Lytle as affording the
best water-power on the l~~··<t Fork. It was several years,
however, before the powe)' '"laS improved, which" was first
used by George Ely to operate a small saw-mill. In 1816,
Capt. Charles Moore pur~hased the property and soon after
built a better saw-mill, adding a small run of stones to
grind corn. In 1840 he united with his SOliS, Lindley and
Charles, in building the present grist-mill, which is the
only one that has ever occupied the site. It is a three-story
frame, supplied with turbine wheels and modern machinery,
and is accounted one of'the best mills in the county. The
saw-mill has been continued, and both have been carried
on a number of years by the present proprietor, L. C.
Moore. At this place was before 1835 a large distillery
by 1\1oore, Grant & :McCall; and up the stream, where are
now the" Elk Lick Mills," the manufacture of liquor was
extensh'ely carried on by 'Yhite & Thomas. This interest
has long since been allowed to decline, but the saw- and
grist-mills have been operated there ever since about 1840.
J'. V. Newell is the present proprietor.

The power at the mills below the village of B~tavia was
first improved in 18U9, by John and Robert Townsley and
James McClelland, who sold the mills to Capt. Jenkins.
The latter lost his life while attempting to reach his mill
in a freshet, and the property passed into the hands of
David Duckwall, some time about 1825. Subsequently
\Vhite & Duckwall were the owners, and also carried on a
distillery. The first mill was destroyed by fire, and the
present mill has had numerous owners. The present
proprietors are Townsley & G!'Ove. The water-power fail­
ing the saw-mill has been abandoned, and steam-power is
now employed to grind about six months a year.

On the East Fork, almost opposite the residence of Judge
Cowen, George Ely had at an early day a small mill for
grinding corn, which was destroyed by fire soon after it
was gotten in operatiun; and several miles above the vil­
lage Samuel Hare had saw- and grist-mills in 1837, which
were allowed to go down because the location was not
favorable for the business. At the same period John
Dimmitt had a grist-mill on survey No. 4459; Jernegan
& Butler one on No. 49:-3; and J. & G. Smith another on
No. 593. All of these, except otherwise noted, have gone
down. Many saw-mills abounded, some of which did ex­
cellent service for the pioneers, although having but a small
cutting capacity, and as the country was cleared up the
water-power became so small that the mills could not be
operated except after a rainy spell. 1;his class of mills was
then appropriately called" thundergust mills." Among the
best of these may be mentioned the Tally mill, which was
built in 1822 by J ohl1 F. Tally, and which was at first
"largely oper~ted. On J.Jucy's Run were a number of these
mills, and on Baek Bone Hun no less than six, which were

. operated, going up the stream, by George Medary, James
1'ownsley (who had his arm accidentally cut off in his
mill), John Finney, John Pierce, James and Elijah Dermis,
James Hulick, and other owners. All have passed away,
and of many there is not even a trace left.

About 1830, John Pegg built a s1eam flouring-mill in
Batavia on Wood Street, near John 1\1. Nealy's residence.

It was supplied with four runs of stones, and had a good
capacity, but it never proved successful, and after a few
years the machinery was removed, and later the building
was converted into a barn on the Infirmary farm. Before
it was taken down a man named Hedden rigged up a press
in the house to extract the oil from the sunflower, of
which he had in cultivation about 12 acres. He intended
to substitute the extract fOl' linseed oil, but it proved too
gummy, ancl the enterprise was soon abandoned.

Before this period John Dennis had in operation a card­
ing-machine on Market Street, which was operated by
treadwheel power. In the winter he manufactured_lin­
seed oil, using very crude machinery. Thomas Kain also
operated a carding-machine in the village many years.

About 18:!0, William Mount began a tannery in the
rear of where is now Glancy's store, and here he carried
on- the business until after 1840. He was a fine currier,
and the work he turned out was highly esteemed. Another
slllall tannery was carried on by 'Villiam Voorheis, at the
head of Spring Street, about the same time. Tanning on a
more extensive scale was carried on in the upper part of
the village, about 1850, by John Fishback, who sold his
interest to Julius A. Penn, and he to Joseph Bicking, who
last operated the tannery.

The manufiwture of hats was begun on \"\7ater Street,
about 1822, by William N. White, who sold his interests
in 1830 to John White, and the latter continued the busi­
ness half' a dozen years, making wool and fur hats. From
1825 to 1832, J, B. Leeds carried on a hat-shop on the
corner of Main and Second Streets.

At a very early day in the history of the village a dis­
tillery W<lS in f':uccessful operation on the upper part of
Spring Street. Among the operators was a llian named
Munn, who employed a peculiarly constructed tread-power
to which were hitched several yokes of cattle; and in the
neighborhood of the village was another small slillby
Charles Meeks. Three miles east was the distillery of
Samuel l\Iaham, which was an object of general interest
in that locality and was much patronized. Of a more
practical nature is Tlte SOl'!Jlw'ln. lJIallltj'act01'Y of James
Hulick, one and a half miles east from the village. It has
been in successful operation since the introduction of sor­
ghum, employing f!'Om time to time the most approved
apparatus. Mr. Hulick is now enabled to produce a qnal­
ity of syrup remarkably free from the objectionable features
which ordinarily attach to it. Some of the cane the past
season was brought ten miles to the factory, and about
3200 gallons of' syrup were manufactured. Nelson Lytle
is also a manufacturer of sorghum syrup, three miles south
from the village.

Sth'ling & lJfoore's Cm'l'iage- lVod(.s and Undel'taldng

EstaMiskment at Batavia wei'e begun on a small scale by
the present proprietors, W. B. C. Stirling and H. N .
Moore, in January, 1860. The business has been extended
until at present two large shops are occupied, in addition
to a wareroom 24 by 45 feet, and two stories high. The
firm makes a specialty of light work and gives employment
to eight men. In connection with the undertaking business
an elegant heal'se is maintained.

John Pohlman's Union Cal'1'1'age- Wodes were established
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in October, 1874, by John Pohlman, Edward Nash, and
Franklin Van Wagner, in a shop on Market Street. Since
December, 1879, the works have been located on Third
Street, occupying a main shop 35 by 50' feet, two stories
high, and a smithy 28 by 50, contuining four fircs. 'When

. worked to its full capacity 15 men are required in all the
departments. Since July, 1879, the proprietor has been
the exclusive manufacturer for this part of the State of
Selinda's" Eclipse 'Wagon," patented :May 30, 1878, whose
introduction marks a new era in carriage-work, noted for
ease and comfort. In addition ·are manufactured all kinds
of light running gear, and general repair work is done.

Tlte Batavia Gold-Mining Compally.-In the year 1868
great excitement was produced throughout Clermont County
by the unexpected discovery of gold along the East Fork
of the Little Miami, in Batavia township. Some returned
Californians, while hunting among the hills near the Elk
J.Jick l\1ills, were the first to discover the precious metal, and
soon the news, spreading with lightning rapidity, brought
scores of anxious prospectors to that locality, anu the usual
quiet of that almost isolated region quickly presented the
scene of an Eldorado panic, the diggings being literally
overrun. Hundreds Came from Cincinnati, whose papers
published glowing accounts of the hidden wealth which
might be so easily procured. In a short time gold quartz
was found on the lands of Col. 'Vm. Howard and U. 'V.
Clarke, near the village of Batavia, which directed atten­
tion to that place as the new theatre for m~ning operations j

and, acting upon the report of Capt. J. W. Glass, an emi­
nent chemist and assayist of experience on the Pacific Slope,
the above mining company was formed and duly incor­
porated under the laws of the State for mining gold or
other minerals and for manufacturing the same. It was
specified that the mining operations should be limited to
the county, and the manufactory should be located in Ba- .
tavia, where, also, the principal office was to be located.
The capital stock of the company was fixed at $50,000, to
be divided -into shares of $100 each, and the corporators
were J. W. Glass, D. G. Dustin, L. O. :l\Ioore, John l\1.
Nealey~ and S. Ii'. Dowdney. About $3000 were expended
in digging for are and in the construction of the necessary
flumes and buildings for carrying on the mining operations.
Gold ore and other precious metals were found in various
shapes aud kinds, but not in paying quantities to ,yarrant
the continuance of the enterprise more than a few months.
The principal operations were carried on in the rear ofl\1rs.
G. 'tV. Griggs' residence, and there the busy workmen weJ~e:

visited by thousands who were led thither by curiosity or
interest in the development of the treasure field. The
project lived just long enough to demonstrate that the hills
and streams of Clermont County actually contain gold, but
that the quantity is so small that it will not pay the expense
of mining it.

HA.l\lLETS AND VILLAGES.

One of the most recently laid-out hamlets is 1\'IAYWOOD,

in the northeastern part of the township, on the Oincinnati
and Eastern Hailroad. The plat embraces 9lTi~ acres,
forming 16 lots and three or four streets. It was laid out
March 3, 1877, by James Davidson, but the place has not

assumed any' special importance, and contains but a few
houses and a store kept by David Atchley. On the same
road, between this point and Batavia', are stations called
Summit and Hulick, at neither of which a village has yet
sprung up.

In the southwestern part of the township, on the Cin­
cinnati and Portsmouth Railroad, is a station called Centre­
vill.e, containing a few houses. Here for the past twenty
years a small store has been carried on by Henry Brazier.
On the opposite side of the street Wm. Youngbooth had a
store, which has been discontinued. A post-office, named
Brazier, has lately been established at this point, and Henry
Brazier appointed postmaster.

On thp. Ohio turnpike is a cluster of houses, store, and
post-office, called Mount aoIly. In 1867 the post-office was
elStablished, with David Dougllty postmaster. He was
succeeded in 1875 by Collins Doughty. The Doughtys
also kept the store. '

OLIVE BltANCII.

This is a pleasant hamlet, three and a half miles from
Batavia village, on the Cincinnati turupike. Halt· a mile
distant from the lower part of the hamlet i8 Olive Bran·ch
Station, on the Cincinnati and Portsmouth Railroad.
Daniel Apple cleared up the ground· on which is Olive
Branch for a farm, and the place ha~ never been platted or
.laid off for village purposes. As lots were demanded, they
were sold off fi'om the fiu'ms on either side of the tUTnpike,
and the hamlet consequently presents a straggling appear~

ance. It contains at present several dozen houses, 11 post­
office, three stores, a fine Odd-Fellows' hall, Methodist and
Baptist churches, and the usual mechanic-shops.

Shadr<}ch J.Jane opened the first store in the hamlet in the
building which is at pl"esent occupied' by Lafilyett.e Fish­
back. Amung other intermediate merchants at this place
were Perin & Sutton, Bohn & Kiefer, and Joseph Hatfield.
On the site now occupied by the l\1ethodist church was
formerly a store kept by James Simmons, and afterwards
by a man named Short. Where G. Schwab is at present
engaged in merchandisi~g T. J. Gazel began to trade in
1854, and the successive merchants t.hem have been J. R.
Mundell and Juhn 'Valker. Years ago Joseph AUlStin was
also a merchant in the place, and sill~e 187;) '1'. J. Cazel
liaS lIgain sold goods.

At the latter stand is also the Olive Branch post-office,
! whose affairs have been administered by Mr. Cazel since

Nov. 27, 1875. His predecessors have been 'Villiam
Duley, Peter Bl'Unaugh, Walter Ingalls, J. R. 1\1undell,
Joseph Hatfield, James Simmons, Charles Bohn, the last
named being the first to hold the office in 1847. Since
December, 1876, the mail supply has been h.v the Cincin­
nati and Portsmouth Uailroad, daily. Previulls to that
time the service was by stages on the turnpike.

Public-houses have been kept by Joseph Hatfield, 'Vil­
Ham Hammett, and others, but the hamlet is at present
without any place of entertainment.

The physicians resident here have been Dr. Patton; Dr.
'Valter 1\1. Ingalls, after 1850; Dr. Robert Ary, a short
time j and Dr. Eben Behymer, who was followed in 1877
by the present Dr. Reuben Laycock.
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The village of Amelia, which is 1mrtly in Batavia town­
ship, is fully noted in the township of Pierce, which con­
tains its most important interests.

BATAVIA.

This is the shiretown of Clermont County, as well as
the largest village in the township of Batavia. It has a
most beautiful location on the east bank of the East Fork
of the Little Miami, on a slllall plain, which is abundantly
elevated to promote its healthfulness and sccure good
natural drai!lage. On the north and cast it is closely en­
vironed by high hills, and the surrounding country presents
a SUl"ccssion of varied scenery whose picturesfiue beauty is
seldom surpassed in this part of the State. 1'he village
itself bears a neat and inviting aspect, c'ontaining many
homes whose unpretending but substantial architecture
betokens comfort and enjoyment. Most of the streets are
well paved and orderly kept, and on every hand appear the
evidences of thrift and enterprise. In addition to the public
buildings there arc Methodist, Presbyterian, and United
Brethren churches, a very handsome Union school, and
the various other interests noted in the following pages.
Since the comwetion of the Cincinnati and J~astern Hail­
road, which has a station at this point, distant from Cin­
cinnati twenty-four miles, there has been a steady increase of
population, and there are at present about 1000 inhabitants.

The village is located on entry No. 1774 of 1000 acres,
sun'eyed for William Johnson (assignee), May 17, 1788,
and was patented by President John Adams, March 18,
17UO, to Thomas Paxton, as assignee of 'Yilliam Johnson,
the assignee of Capt. Francis Minnis, who served several
years in the" Virginia Line." In 1805, Paxton sold the
land to Gen. William Lytle, who soon after solu it to George
Ely, a native of New Jersey, who became the founder of
the village.

On the 24th of October, 1814, David U. Bryan nnd
George Ely', through his attorney in fhct, John Collins, had
recorded the plat of the village of Batavia, with streets,
lots, and aIleys, embracing 62~ aCI'es. The principal street
was to be designated Main and ,vas to be four poles wiue
and one hundred poles long, running from the l'iver to the
foot of the hills. Other parallel streets were named Spring,
'Vood, and Upper. The ground along the river was set
aside for highway purposes, receiving the name of' 'Vater
Street. The parallel streets were named Second, Market,
Third, Fourth, and North. One hundred and forty-four
poles of land on Market and Main Streets were set aside
for the county buildings and public uses. The remainder
of the plat was laid off into lots four p.oles wide and eight
poles long, except Nos. 120 to 122, ill the rear of the public
square, which are only eight poles long. Eight lots con­
stitute a square, and the entire number ot' lots in the original
plat was HiD. To this an addition was made on the north-

. east by George Ely, March 7,1817, of a number of lots
of' uniform size and numbered from 170 to 246. The
length of several of the other streets was extended and
}{ew Street added. The second addition, consisting of six
lots, numbered from 247 to 252, was made April S, 182·1,
by Alexander Blair, David C. Bryarr, David White, John
W. Robinson, John Mitchell, Enoch Gest, William Rust,

and Ezekiel Dimmitt. Lot No. 247, containin~ one hundred
poles of land, was conveyed for the use of the Methodist
society of Batavia; the other lots were for sale, and each
had an area of forty poles. -

The third addition was made by J. A. Penn, Nov. 9,
1807, and consisted of 14 lots of variable size, lying be­
tween the Williamsburgh pike and New Street.

Gcor~e Ely came to this locality some time after 1806,
and lived first in a mde cabin on the site of the old Moore
homestead. At this point he first improved the water­
power, putting up a simple- saw-mill. Several years later
he erecleu. the stone house ncar the river, on the Gregg
farlU, and in which he lived until after 1816. Subsequently·
he lived on the cornel' where Griffin's hotel now is, where
he kept a small store and tavern, removing from this place
to Newtown. Of his six children, onc of the sons, John,
died in Batavia of the cholera, in 1832. 'Villiam removed
to Indiana.

George Ely was a great hunter, and had several thrilling
adventures in the vicinity of Batavia, at one time lHlving a
narrow escape from wolves. Of this event the following
account has been fU1'llished by L. C. 1\Ioore, J~sq" who now
occupies the old J~ly place: "One afteruoon Ely went out
to hunt on the ridge above Moore's mills, which leads from
the river to what were formerly known as the swamp-lands,
and which, at that time, was much fi'equented by deer;
but finding no game he retraced his steps, and late in the
afternoon came to the deer-lick in the hollow a little north­
east of the village, above the present home of John Dim­
mitt. Here he saw a large deer, which he succeeded in
killing at the first shot. The sun had now set, and, being
in a hun'y to get the' deer out of the way before dark, he
took off his powder-horn anu pouch and hung them on the
limb of a tree and set his rifle against another. He had
just bent down a small tree, on which the skinned deer
might hang till morning, when he was l"tartled by the cry
of a ravenous pack of wolves, so close at hand that his only
safety appeared in flight. In the hurry of the moment he
picked up his rifle but forgot his accoutrements, and was,
then-fore, as well as unarmed. H~ ran swiftly down the hol­
low to where it comes out at the East Fork, ncar the stone
church, closely fullowed by the angry wolves. Being un­
able to ddve them off he took to the water, thinking that
the wolves would not follow him. His conjectures proved
correct, but whenever he attempted to reach the shore
his persecutors defiantly turned him back.. The water be­
came so cold that ice had already formed on the edges of
the stream, and Ely began to suffer terribly from the cold.
He was about a mile below his house, and his only escape
appeared in reaching it by wading in the water up the
stl'Qam. After much difficulty he got so near his cabin
that his cries for help, millgled with the howls of the
wolves, alarmed his family and brought to his aid an old
man, named Bull, who had his home at Mr. Bly's. The
latter armed himself with several firebrands, which he struck
together in such a way that the wolves (which have a
wholesome dread of fire) were fdghtelled away, and Ely
was allowed to come ashore almost frozen. He always
thel'eaftm' had a spite against wolves, and never lost an
opportunity to kill them."



THE present efficient Probate judge of Clermont County, Perry
Jackson Nichol~, is of English descent on his paternal side, and was
born some three miles from New Richmond, in this county, March
30, 1839. He '!as the second in a family of six children, whose
parents were Thomas L. Nichols and EVlI.line (Donham) Nichols,
who were married by N. E. Walton, a justice of the peaee, on Dec.
18, 1836. Judge Nichols' father, a native of Clermont, followed
through life the vocation of engineer, and is stilllidng at New Rich­
mond. His mother, born in the county, \vas a daughter of one of the
early settlers in Southern Ohio, Col. Jonathan S. Donham, originally
of Spanish extraction, and who was ml\rried to Elizabeth Ayers b)'
Timothy Rardin, a justice of the pcace, on April 19,1818 The grand.
father of the subject of this sketch, Philip Nichol~, was a pioneer of
note and substance, and was married to Nancy Marsh, by Rev. Jesse
Justice, on Nov. 3, 1812. The boyhood days of Judge Nichols until
he had reached his thirteenth year \vere passed alternately in work­
ing on a farm and attending school during the winter months. In
1852 he was employed in carrying the United States mail between
Nmv Richmond, B1anehester (Clinton County), and Deerfield (Warren
County), and in which service he consumed four days per week for
four years. During the remaining days of the week he \vas engaged
in laboring on the farm, and through those years of toil his leisure
hours were assiduously devoted to the improvement of his mind,.!!.!!d
the works then read by him added much to his subsequent store ~f

knowledge. In 1856 his attention was directed to engineering, and
during the following two years he was engaged at this employment.
lIe then attended various select schools for about thrce years; and
also pursued a select course of higher studies at Parker's Academy
and in the Farmers' College, near Cincinnati. In 1859 he assumed
.the rule of an' educator, and for two years taught school, in the mean
time occupying his spare moments by reading law, under the super-

. vision of lion. Perry J. DonhalD, now a prominent attorney of Cin­
cinnati. In 1861, having pllssed the requisite examination, he was
by the September term of the Clermont Distriet Court admitted to
practice law, and formed a partnership with his former preceptor,
Mr. Donham, which continued until the removal of the latter from
New Riehmond to Cineinnati. In 1867 he took as partner Frank
Davis, ·under the firm-name of Niehols and Davis, who were assoeiated
together until Januar.'", 187ft. whrn he relno\'ed to Batn.dn tl) enter
upon his judicial office, to which ho had been elected in the October

previous by a handsome. vote. When chosen to the Probate judge­
ship of the county, he and his partner, Frank Davis, had a most ex­
tensive and lucrative legal practiee. He \vas married, Aug. 21, 1862,
by Rev. W. J. Essick, to Jeannette Gilmore, daughter of the late
Hugh Gilmore, of New Riehmond, a prominent and sueeessful busi­
ness man of that city, born in County Down, Ireland, and of Jane
(Hays) Gilmore, born in County Antrim, Ireland, both early settlers
in Clermont, by whom he has the following children: Annie Matilda,
Lewellyn Hugh, Carrie Belle, Nellie May, Florence E\'a, and Allen
Brunaugh (the latter named after his two predeeessors in office, Judges
Cowen and Brunaugh.) He has been 0. member of Mistletoe Louge,
No. 97, Independent Order of Odd-Fellows, for sixteen years, and be­
longs to New Richmond Lodge, No. 43, of Aneient Order of United
Workmen. He was mayor of the city of New Richmond from 1865
to 1870, and for five years was a member of its sehool board, during
three of whieh he held the offiee of president. He took great interest
in the eommon and high schools of that eity, and their present effi­
ciency and high standing is largely attributable to wise measures in­
stituted and carried out under the able administration and watchful
care of himself, eolleagues, and predecessors. The Nichols family is
one of the oldest and probably the largest in Clermont, llnd from the
fi'rst settlers of that name in Ohio and Monroe townships hM"e sprang
many persons who have become eminent in business, professional,
and military life; but among them are the chief elements of true
manh()od, varied learning, broad humanity, and high public ~pirit,

largely embodied in Perry J. Niehols, the mnn whose social and per­
sonal characteristics and unblemished private life, with his strong
mentlll force, make him prominent in the county.

New Richmond owes to Jndge Nichols as great a debt of gratitude
as to any other of its citizens, for in the past fifteen years no one has
surpassed him in successful labors for its growth in material resources,
and in,the tone and character imparted to its edueational adval)tages.
Working for years to secure II. railroad along the· Ohio River, to him
more than to any other man is the meed of commendation to be given
for the building of the New Richmond or Ohio River branch of the
Cincinnati and Eastern Narl'ow-Gauge Railroad, which WitS inaugu­
rated and carried to eompletion by his strong will and unflagging
industry, and while others desponded and grew weary in that and
kindred enterprises, his hope~ were ever buoyant and his energy un­
tiring.



01'U: of the early settlers in Clermont was William Brunaugh, who
eu~igrlLte~ fr?m Vir~inia, and was lL very noted and successful Meth­
othst renvahst of hIS day. lIe was the father of Rev••John Bru­
naugh, of Amelilt, who married for his first wife Elizabeth Dolen
(now deceased), and daughter of Timothy Dolen, by whom he had
the following children: William .M. j James S. j John C. j Harriet,
married to William W. Hancock j Susan, married to John P. Robin­
son; and Mary, married to S. G. Norris. James Saurin Brunaugh,
one of the above children, is of French extraction on his paternal
side, and was born at Amelia, June 17, 1839. He received a good
common-school education under Hon. J. Milton McGrew, Sixth Aud­
itor of the 'freasury Department, who was his only teacher from the
time he learned the alphabet until he obtained, at the early age of
twelve years, It certificate from the county board of school examiners
to tea~h school. He was the youngest person who was ever granted
a certIficate in thc county, and on getting it went ahead and receivcd
a most thorough academic edueation,-embraeing Latin and the
highe.r mathematics. At the tender age of fourteen years he began
teachmg, and taught for twclve successive years at various points in
C1crmont and Hamilton Countics,-five of them in the latter,-and
achieved a marked prominence as one of the most systematic, popu­
htr, and successful educators in the county. While teaching he began,
in 1860, reading law with Hon. John Johnston (then of Batavia), and
at the September term of the Clermont District Court, in 1863, was
admitted to. the bar, nnd sworn into the profession by that profound
lawyer and judge, William V. Peck, of the Supreme Court of Ohio.

In the spring of 1866 he opened lL law office in Cincinnati in con­
nection with William H. lUatthews, Esq., but in the fall of the same
year established his office in Batavia, which had been his residence
since the previous November. Since then he has been uninterruptedly
in the practice of the law, save when on the bench, and since the
spring of 1879 has been associated with Capt. Peter F. Swing, son
of Judge Philip B. Swing, of the United Statcs District Court of the
Southern District of Ohio, under the firm-name of Brunaugh &Swing,
and which is one of the leading firms of Clermont. Judge Brunaugh
was married No\'. 15, 1865, by Rev. John W. Fowble, to Miss Helen
Cedora Dennison, daughter of the. late George W. Dennison, Esq., for
mltny years a prominent lawyer of the Clermont bar, and by which
union he has one ehild,-Harry Percy Brunaugh.

In the Batavia Lodge, No. 109, of Free and Accepted Masons, he was
intiated as an Entered Apprentice Jan. 4, 1868, passed to a Fellow
Crnft, February 8th; raised to the sublime degree of a MILSter Ma.son
.:\Iarch 7th; and was elected three times Worshipful Master of this
lodge, and llresided over it in the years 1877, 1878, and 1879. In
1870 he took the capitular degrees of :Mark, Past and Most Excellent
Master, and was exalted to the Royal Arch degree in Batavia Chapter,
No. 112 i and on August 5, 1871, received the cryptic degrees of Royal
and Select Master in Connell Council, No. 18, at Felicity. He is also
a member of Cincinnati Commander,}', No.3, of Knights Templar,
and in Masonic jurisprudence bas a deserved reputation for learning
and ability coextensive with the State. In 1868 he joined Batavia
J~odge, No. 136, of 1. O. O. l!'., and passed all its chairs, and in this
order has for four years been a representative to the Grand Lodge of
Ohio, one term of two years for the county as a whole district, and
tho other term for ono of its districts, No. IJ. At the Grand Lodge

he was one session chairman of tho committee on legislation, which
embraced some of tho brightest lega,] minds and most distinguished
of the order in Ohio. He WILS once appointed District Deputy Grand
l\fILSter, but was compelled to decline serving owing to his large and
increasing law business. He also was one of the charter members of'
Batavia Lodge, No. 55, of Ancient Order of United Workmen, insti­
tuted Nov. 30, 1875, and from January to June, 1876, its presiding
officer, Master Workman, and in 1877 its representative to the Grand
Lodge. In 1878 he was elected Grand Master Workman of Ohio by
the Grand Lodge, and on his retiring from office it presented him a
magnificent gold medal as a testimonial of its friendly recognition of
his able services to this wonderfully increasing order. On March 16,
1879, he took his seat at Nashville, TenIJ., as one of the three Grand
Representatives of Ohio in the Supreme Grand Lodge of the United
States of the A. O. U. W., whieh held its annual session there of two
weeks, and in whose deliberations and proceedin~she was one of the
most active and prominent personages. In 1866 he was elected pros­
ecuting attorney of Clermont County over Capt. W. H. Standish; the
Republican nominee, and in 1868 was re-elected, defeating .Maj. Ben.
J. Ricker, a very popular Republican. This office he held four years,
and his administration, in ability and efficiency, has never been sur­
passed in Clermont. In 1872 he was elected Probate Judge of the
county, over Capt. L. W. Carver, of Felicity, and in 1875 re-elected,
defeating Capt. L. D. Manning, of Batavia. His years on the Probate
bench were popular with the people, and characterized by that ur­
banity, ability, and efficiency that have ever distinguished him in alI
the positions he hILS occupied and in all departments of life. Every
time he has been a candidate for the .suffrages of the people he has
been triumphantly elected, and has led his ticket by hundreds of votes.
When first elected judge, in his thirty-third year, he had the largest
law practice of any attorney of his age in Southern Ohio,-having
seventy-seven cases in Clermont Common Pleas Court.

In the famous Townsend-'Kugler will case, he, with Gen. Durbin
Ward, represented the Kugler heirs, and on finishing his argument
before Judge Ashburn (the presiding court), he was highly compli­
mented by those three eminent Ohio lawyers, Senator George E.
Pugh, John S. Griffith, Esq., and Gen. Durbin Ward, for his masterly
handling of his side in his eloquent pr~sentation of the cause for his
clients. Judge Brunaugh's political conceptions and principles are
embodied in the rule of action of the Democratic party, to which,
accordingly, he lends his influence and support. As a man, Judge
Brunaugh is agreeable, affil,ble, and co'urteous in manner, and of un­
impeachable honesty and integrity, and his nature is as impulsive as
it is benevolent, while his unassumed, frank, and cordial bearing ever
banishes all doubt in the minds of those who are brought into contttct
with him of his entire sincerity of purpose. As Itn attorney he has
ever been a hard and fitr-discerning student of law, ltnd he never un­
dervalues an adversary, or suffer~ from inattention 'to his own client,
while his briefs are rare specimens of logie, perE:picacity, and force,
up to the professional standard of any tribunal, however learned or
exalted. In the court he probably appeltrS to the best advantage,
where, at all times, he presents himself to the eye and eal' as the fin­
ished advocate, and in forensic debate he possesses a style fervid, col­
lected, and persuasive, which Warms the imagination not less than it
satisfios the judgment,
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MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

The village of Batavia was incorporated by an act passed
Feb. 10, 1842, and the fii'st election was held at the court­
house, March 14th of the same year, when the following
officers were elected: :Mayor, W lll. Wayland, Sr. ; Trustees,
Thomas L. Shields, Lott Hulick, John White, William
Thomas, Henry Bonnell; Recorder, Thomas S. Bryan.

Among the mechanics and tradesmen of this period and
later years are remembered John Hill, Jacob Cover, L. W.
Slade, H. Lindsey, and Wm. Patterson, tailors; Michael
Cowen, weaver; \Vm. Mount, tanner; Henry Rust, shoe­
maker; Henry and Levi Bonnell, saddlers; John Denni­
son, chairmaker; Isaac 'Vorstel1 and AUI'on Leonard, black.
smiths; 'Vm. Lythe and Brice H. Blair, cabinet-makers j

VV. H. Robinson, carpenter; Hiram Cade, plasterer; Ebe­
nezer Ayers, tinner; 'Wm. Crane, butcher; Ben. Hopkins,
laborer; George Lear and Joshua Davis, stage-drivers; and
John Hill, surveyor.

seat of justice of the new county, and when that matter
was decided beyond peradventure, in 1824, the future
of the place was assured, although its gl'Owth has never
been rapid or in anywise remarkable. One of the first
brick houses was put up in 1817 by Chttrles Waits, and is
part of the residence now occupied by Judge Philip B.
Swing. After the remov:al of Waits it became the prop­
erty of O. T. Fishback. The first good business house
was put up by Miley & Armstrong, the same year, It
was a frame and stood on the bank of the river, as it was
then 'believed that Water would become the principal busi­
ness street. In 1818, Abraham Miley occupied it for a
store. In later yeai's the building was removed, and part
of it is at present used as the post-office.

In 1837 the following persons owned houses or lived in
the village of Batavia, and the real elS,tate was valued at
$33,866 :

Abraham Bull was also a pioneer of the village, but soon
passed out of its history. or a family of eight children
but two remain,-a SOil, E. D., at Washington, and Mrs.
John Slade.

John Chambers, one or the early carpenters of the place,
lived on the site of James Glancy's grocery, but removed
to Newtown about 1828. Daniel Husong was another of
the pioneers who helped to build the first houses in the vil­
lage. Although not a carpenter, he was not excelled in
carrying up the cornors of a log cabin, and his skill ill hew­
ing out, puncheon floors was looked upon as quite marvelous.
He removed to the 'Vest at an early day. Thomas Holli­
day, a farmer near the village, put up some of the first'
houses, but never liimself occupied them.

Titus Everhart came about this time from vVilJiamsburgh,
and as early as 1816 opened a tavern on the lot now occu­
pied by the millinery-shop of Mrs. Rhodes, on Main Street.
He was married to Nancy Bryan and reared a family of
children, of which three yet remain in the village. George,
the oldest, was the first male child borD in the place, and
his sister, Mrs. Zimmcrman, of vVilJiamsburgh, the first fe­
male. Another sister is the wife of George 1\1. Davis, of
Batavia, and Delos I~verhart is another son. Titus Ever­
hart died in 1842, and five years later his widow married
James Green. She survived her second husband and died
in 1879, at the age of eighty-two years, and was, at that
time, the oldest person in the village.

In April, 1816, John W. RobinsoQ settled in the village
as a carpenter, but afterwards engaged actively in other
business. His 'son, W. 'V. Robinson, was also one of the
first prominent business men. The elder Robinson removed
to Missouri after 1840 and died there. One of his daugh­
ters, Mrs. Geo. 'V. Dennison, the second female child born
in Batavia, yet resides in the village.

J.Jater, the ~ame year, William H. Robinson, a brotllCr of
the foreg~ing,came to Batavia and engaged with him in car­
pentry. In 1821 he married Temperance Williams, of
Stonelick, who died in 1847, but 1\11'. Robinson still lives
at the village of Batavia, and is the oldest settler there.
Of his four sons Stephen S. is a well-known business man,
and James is the proprietor of the Advance. The other
children also live in this locality.

David 'White came from New Jersey in 180-1, making
the journey by team to Williamsburgh, which he expected
to find a place of considerable size. Notwithstanding his
disappointment he lived there a year, then moved to Tate
township, from which he came in the fall of 1816 to Batavia,
where he lived until his death, in 1844, aged eighty-six
years. 1\1:rs. 'Vhite died the following' year. They had
five sons and two daughters, namely: Firman, who died in
Tate in 1869; William N., who removed to Illinois in 1859;
Charles, who died in the city of Washington in 1872 j John,
who was born in Tate in 1807, and since 1816 has lived in
Batavia, the last fifty years in the house which he now oc­
cupi'es; David, who became a citizen of Bloomington, Ill.,
in 1858; Antes, the oldest daughter; married John Blair,
of Tate, and Elizabeth became the wife of Moses Dimmitt,
of Illinois.

The following years ~nany settlers were added to Batavia
who were attracted by the belief that it would become the

Abbott, Cassander.
Buroughs, Stephen.
Blair, Brice R.
Benedict, Nathan.
Brown, .r. 1\1.
Beckwith, Moses.
13ryan, D. C.
Bryan, Thomas S.
BI'yan, Ihnnah.
Baughman, J. A. '
Cox, Joshua.
Cover, Daniel.
Cowell, Michael.
Cleveland, J. C.
Dennison, Geo. W.
Doaks, Ele:LDor.
Everhart, Titus.
Fishb:tck, O. T.
Floro, Gcorge.
Hill, John.
Hunter, Will.
Hopkins, Benj.
Harry, Ogden.
Jamieson, John.
Kain, Tholllas.
Lytle, William.
Lecds, J. R.
Lukens, George.

Morris, J. D.
Morris, Dadd.
Morris, Benj. '
Mcdaris, J.
Medary, A. C.
Medary, Jacob.
MeUltry, George.
Mount, Wm.
McClure. Catharine.
Pegg, John (heirs).
Patterson, Wm. S.
Pickens, James.
Robinson, J. W.
Robinson, W. W.
Robinson, W. H.
Rust, Jonathan.
Thomas, Wm.
Voorheis, Wm. M.
Williams, Caleb.
Worstell, Isaac.
White, John.
White, David.
Walden, Reuben.
Walllen, Robert.
Wayland, Wm., Sr.
'Ve:1ver, John.
Warren, C. A.
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At tIw first meeting of the trustees James Perrine was
appointed marshal, and Samuel Y. Thornton treasurer.

1'he r~cords for 1843 show no election in that year but
the appointment of James Perrine marshal, and John Bab­
cock treasurer, who, being removed, was succeeded by Ed­
ward Frazier.

Dec. 5, 1843, the council resolved that it employ a body
of watchmen to patrol the streets of the village nightly
from ten o'clock P..U. to five A.M., to consist of four per­
sons, and that the citizens be requested to hold a public
meeting at tIle court-house the coming night to co-operate
with the council in adopting measures to prevent the com­
mission of thefts, felonies, etc., and to apprehend the
offenders.

JSH.-Xo election alltlno minutes.
18·15.-MaJor, Georgc ·W. Dennison; Uecordcr, Albcrt Dart; Trus­

tees, Lott Hulick, Shadrach Lane, Jr., James Davis, R. ,Y.
Clarke, and Nathan Bencdict; Marshal, Daniel McCann;
Treasurer, Jcsse S. Dustin.

184ti.-Ma:yor, James Carter; Hccordcr, Thomas S. Bryan; Trustees,
John Whitt', A. S. Mount, Daniel McCILlln, Shn.llrnch Lane,
aOlI Isaac WorstelI; Mltrshltl, Jacob Hewitt; Treasurer,
Jesse S. Dustin; WDoll-Measurer, .John Hull.

1847.-:MuJor. James Carter; Recorder, T. S. Br'yan; Trustees, Isaac
Worstell, Daniel 1'lcCann, John W. Lowe, 'r. Q. Ashburn,
D. C. Bryan; l'brshal, 'V. 11. Raper; Tre:lsurer, Jesse S.
Dustin.

On the 27th of March, 1847, an ordinance was adopted
that if any person or persons (other than those tavern­
keepers duly licensed by the Court of Common Pleas)
should vend or sell any spirituous liquors, wine, cordial,
porter, ale, metheglin, or other vinous, fermented, or malt
liquors by less quantity than one quart, or be drank on the
premises, the person or persons should be fined not less than
$5 nor more than $50.

l8·18.-)I:tyor, John Fishback; ltecoruel', Daniel ~Illck; Trustees, 1'.
(l· Ashburn, Philip B. Swing, James Davis, John Carter,
John White; 1\1arshal, William Wheeler; Treasurer, Jesse
S. Dustin; Woou-l\lcasurer, Willi:tUl Floro.

l8.J!J.-Ma)·or, William Wheeler; Itccorllcr, Danid Slack; Tru~lees,

H. W. Clarke, B. It. Hopkins, A. 1\1. Gest, Lott Hnlick,
Isaac \Vorstell; Treasurer, Jesse S. Dustin; l\1111'shal, .Jallles
G. \Vuits. (Thc latter rcsigning, Henderson Ticc was choscn
in his place.)

l850.-1\1ayor, George L. SWing; Trustees, H. W. Clarke, A. 1\1. Gest,
L. B. Leell;:, James Dl1vis, L. G. 1\1ool'e; Recorller, Dan iel
Slack; l\Iarsh:tl, John Carter; Treasurer, Jesse S. Dustin.

1851.-1'Iayor, James Carter; Trustees, Jonathan Johnson, John ,Y.
Kain, J. S. Dustin, W. J. Rust, Aaron Leonard; R,'eorder,
Daniel Slack; Marshal, John Finton; Treasurer, Jesse S.
Dustin.

l852.-:Mayor, T. Q. Ashburn; Trustees, L. B. Leells, C. 1\1. Smith,
J. A..Weaver, D. W. Hondebush, N. Maguire; ReeonIer,
Daniel Slack; Marshal, John Carter; Treasurer, Jesse S.
Dustin.

1853.-Ma)·or, .rohn W. Lowe; Trustees, L. B. I,ceds, C. M. Smith,
J. A. "'eM'er, John Carter, Henry G. Duekwnll; Recorder,
D:lDiel Slack; Treasurer, J. S. Dustin; Marshal, Hender­
son Tiee. (This was the first year these last two officers
were elected by the people.)

1S54.-Mayor, C. 1'1. Smith; Hecorders, Daniel Slack and D. 1\1. Hay;
Trustecs, James Grcen, P. B. Swing, D. McCann, J. A.
Weaver, Jonathan Johnson; l\1:ushal, II. Tice; Treasurer,
Je~se S. Dustin; Hoad Supen-isol's, George 1'1. Davis and
J. N. Carter.

l855~-Ma)'or, J. R. S.Bonll; Recorder, John G. Rhodes; Trustees,
William Carter, J. A. Penn, Do.. L. Golf, John Livengood,

James Green; Marshal,1\1. D. Golf; Treasurer, H. N.l'alley;
Road Supervisors, 1. N. Carter, Gepencer Dltnbury.

1856.-1\1a)"or, James Carter; Trustees, James Green, James McCune,
LoU Hulick, C. A. 1\1oore, Jr., 'Yillillm RU8t; Treasurer,
H. X. Talley; Recorder, John Gran-t.

l857.-l\Iayor, IJ. G. Moore; Marshal, n. R. Hopkins; Recorder,
G. W. Hulick; Trustees, .J. G. lthodes, W. P. :Fishback,
John Gmnt, William BlllIlIJ, Thomas Glenn, nnd 'Yilliam
Hust; Treasurer, H. N. Talley.

lS58.-M:tyo\·, G. W. Hulick; Recorder, 1\1. II. Fitch; Treasurer,
1I. N. T:tlley; Marshal, William Rust; 1'rustees, John
Grant, Isallc Worstell, J. G. Rholles, William Baum, C. H.
Knin.

185!l.-1\1ayor, Abcl S. Smith; !leconler, Fmnk White; Treasurer,
G. W. G\"l'gg; 'l'l'U~tees, ISllac Worstell, J. A. Rholles, J. S.
Dustin, Lewis Tice, Chltrles Griffis; l\lltrshlLl, William S.
!lust.

18tiO.-1\[ayor, John Johnston; Recorder, .John P. Hobinson; Treas­
urer, .J. A. Penn; Mnrl:'hal, James Carter, Jr.; Trustees,
J. S. Dustin, Isaac Worstell, J. 1\1. Rust, Joseph nicking,
Oliver 1'lcGrew.

l861.-Mayor, John Wltyland; Hecorder, John P. Robinson; Tms­
tees, Chnrles B. Crane, C. 8. Griffis, Smith Townsley, S. F.
Dowdney, J. L. Kennedy; Marshal, C. 1\1. Townsley; Treas­
urers, Aloidas Waylanll, C. W. Pegg.

181i2.-l\I11)'or, H. N. Talley; Itecol'ller, John L. Moore; Trustees,
T.IL Holleman, J. B. Davis, J. P. Leonard, B. F. Acm,
D:wid l\Iorris, L. G. Moore, II. Ticc; Tre:tsurers, J. H.
Griffis, Charles S. Gritlis; Marshal, William Carter.

18li3.-1\1ayor, G. W. Gregg; Recorller, T. L. Smith; Marshal, Wm.
Carter; Tru~tees, G. W. Felter, A. S. Smith, II. V. Kerr, C.
S. Griffis, John .Johnston; Treasurer, J. S. Dustin.

186·!.-:\Iayor, B. Penn Brasher; Recorder, J. N. Knaur; Treas­
urel', S. L. Warden; Trustees, G. W. Gregg, J. A. Weaver,
A. S. Smith, J. A. Rholles, H. Day.

l865.-l\1ayor, W. II. Stanllish; ltecorller, J. P. Itobiuson; Tl'ustees,
N. n. Moore, Henry Sellers, Lewis Tice, R. J. V:tnosdol, H.
N. Talley; Marshal, J. P. Leonard; Treasurer, C. S. Griffis.

1866.-1\1ayor, II. Smethurst; Reeorder, O. W. Uholles; Marshal,
Itains Allen; Treasurer, C. S. Griffis; Trustees, J. A.
Weaver, William Bnum, WiIliam Carter, J. A. ltholles, J. P.
Leonard.

1867.-1'Iayor, John P. Hobinson; Marsh:tl, Wm. Raper; Council­
men, .J. Bicldng, John White, T. G. Boyd, G. W. Felter,
Isaac Worstell; 'l'reasurer, C. S. Griffis; ItccorL~er, Eugene
E. Lee.

18li8.-l\Iayor, Charles 1\[, Smith; Uecorder, T. S. Bryan; Treasurer,
C. S. Gritlis; 1\1:Lrshal, Wm. RapCl'; Council, :Frank Brown­
ing, J. P. Leonard, W. B. Town:;ley, G. W. Felter, John L.
Moore.

1869.-l'I:lJor, Wil\iam Pease; llecorder, R. J. Lewis; 1\1arshal, Levi
1\1. Perkins; Treasurer, C. S. 9riffis; Council, Frank White,
William Ibum, John llillin, T. G. Boyd, H. P. Sutton.

18iO.-1'In.yor, John Q. Urown; Clerk, A. W. Ashburn; l\Iarsh:tls, A.
Wassner, W. G. WelLVer, Lee H. Gray; Treasurer, C. S.
Grillis; Council, I,. 13. Felter, H. Sellers, Wm. Tice, J. R.
Kennedy, J. W. Lane, John Pohlmlln, N. B. Moore, Wm.
Cade, W. B. Applegate, J. E. Kain.

l871.-CounciJ, It. W. Clarke, II. U. 1\1oore, John White, O. W.
Rhodes; Marshal, C. B. Crnne.

l872.-Mayor, II. N. Talley; Clel'k, A. W. Ashburn; Treasurer, C.
S. Griffis; l\Iarshnl, R. F. Rush; Council, John Pohlman,
J. W. Lane, N. B. Moore.

18n.-Council, Jolm White, N. B. Moore, H. U. Moore.
On May 20, 1873, the village council established a board of health,

and the folJowing persons wcre appointed by the mayor to compose
the board: D. O. Cowen, C. N. Browning, Dr. L. W. Bishop, Frank
White, W. A. Townsley, Wm. Howard.
l874.-1\1:tyor, John Pohlman; Clerks, John D. Kerr, Thomas F.

Brown; Mar15hltl, B. P. llush; 'rrellsurer, C. S. Griffis;
Council, John llil\in, John Zurmuhle, J. H. Hamilton;
Street COUlmissioner, John W. Kain; Board of Health,
Wm. Howard, W. A. Townsley.

1875.-Council, J. C. Jenike, J. P. Robinson, E. B. Scott, J. L.
Moore; Bonrd of llCltlth, Dr. L. W. Bishop, Frank White.



No member of the Clermont bar is better and more favorably known
than John Simpson Griffith, associated in the practice of law with his
son, Thomas A., under the firm-name of J. S. & T. A. Griffith. He
was born July 2, 1813, in Bucks Co., Pa., n.nd was the first of eleven
children of James and Mary (Simpson) Griffith. His flLther was of
Welsh extraction, and his mother of Scotch-Irish descent. His father,
James Griffith, 0. native of Bucks County, Rnd descendant of a flunily
actively engaged in the Revolutionary IVaI' on the side of the stmg­
gling coloftistR, was a blacksmith by trade, Rnd emigrated to Ohio in
1817, locating at Bethel, Clermont Co., where he farmed during
the latter years of his life, and died in 1864, respected and esteemed
most highly by the community. His mother, IIIso born in Bucks
County, was the daught.er of John Simpson, and the descendant of a
family closely identified with the patriot cause during the American
Revolution, Rnd in the war of 1812. John Simpson moved to Cler­
mont County in 1818, was a leading agriculturist of Tate township
until his death, in 1837, and was the father of a family whose history
belongs to the lLnnlth~ of the world, as portrayed in the events of the
American Rebellion of 1861-65. Hann:th, daughter of John Simp­
son, after whom the subject of this skctch WIIS nltmed, was married by
Rev. Moses Edwards, June 29,1821, to Jcsse n. Grunt, and from this
happy union was born Ulysses Simpson Grunt, thc future gcncml and
President. The prelimiullryedueation of John S. Griffith was lim­
ited, being obtained at thc common schools, but he IVas fo'rtunate in
having two of the best teachers of that period, Thomas L. Hamer,
afterwards Ohio's gifted orator and legal advocate, who lost his life
in defense of his country on the plains of Mexico, and Samuel Me­
dary, founder of the Ohio 81111, editor of the Ohio 8lttlclJlIUtll, Governor
of the Territories of MinnesotlL and Kansas, and a prominent politi­
cian in the State. In Mr. Griffith's boyhood days Bethel was one of
the most noted towns in the State, and the home of the eloquent
Thomas Morris, United Slates Senator from Ohio. His mind was well
disciplined, and ho rapidly improved under the preceptorship of
Samuel Mcdary, who had been in Pennsylntnia IL sehoolmate of his
mother, and of SILmuel and Hannah Simpson, an(l who, passing
through Clermont with the intention of locating in the Swiss settle­
ment in IndiaDlt, stoppcd for a few days to visit his 01(1 friends, the
Griffiths and Simpsons, and \Vus by them, about thc year 1825, per­
suaded to remltin at Bethel, where they mILlie lip a school for him,
and for nearly two years he boarded with James Griffith. Mr.
Griffith in early lifo worked on his father's fitI'm and in the blaek­
smith-shop, alterDltling with speculating amI boating on the lower
rivers, until he was about twenty-five years old. In 1841 he began
reading law undor 'fhomas J. Buehanan, Clermont's fltvOl'ite orator,
and Itn able lawyer, and on Mareh 30, 184:J, was admitted to the bar
at the March term of the Supreme Court of Ohio for this county, then
being held by Judges Reuben Wood and Mattllew Birchllrd, the for-

mer of whom was afterwards the distinguished Governor of Ohio.
He immediately entered upon the praetiee of his profe~sion in Bethel,
laboring there industriously until 1852, when he moved to Batavia,
and entered upon the duties of elerk of the Court of Common Pleas
of Clermont County, to which he had been elected the fall previous,
reeeiving every vote in his (Tate) township but forty-two, and he WIIS

the first man eleeted to that position in the county under the new
constitution, the offiee having been previously-filled by appointment.
At the end of his term he was renominated, but defeated, together
with the entire Demoeratie ticket, by the Know-Nothing party then
in power. However, in 1857 he was again eleeted to the clerkship,
which offiee he filled for six years in an aeceptable manner. With the
exception of this one public office, Mr. Griffith has always refused
to aeeept political preferment, notwithstanding frequent solieitation
to be a eandidate for legislnth'e, eongressional, and judicial honors.
His first vote was cast for Andrew Jackson, and with the Democratie
}Iarty he has ever sincc been 'I.ctively connected. In 1l:!74 he was ap­
pointed by the Brown County (Ohio) Common Pleas Court as referee
or special eommissioner to investigate a.nd determine the amount of
the robbery and defltlention in the treasury of that county, whieh work
he eompleted in several weeks, making a thorough and satisfactory
report, finding the defieit to be about forty thousand dollars. He
was married by John EUsberr.y, a justice of the I,eaee, on June 4,
184:J, to Ann Amelia Harris, of Bucks Co., Pa., by whom he is the
flLther of seven ehildren: Belle G., mn,rried to J. R. Kenned~';

Thomas A. Griffith, admitted to the bar in 1869, eleeted prosecuting
attorney in 1870, and re-eleeted in 1872, and who is in partnership
with his father, and like him a mwyer of State reputation; MILrY,
marricd to Frank White, merchant; James M.; Emmll., married to
James C. McMath, a prominent attorney of Batavia; Oliver P. Grif­
fith, admitted to the bar in 1878; and William C.; all living and of
age. Mr. Griffith has found time from his professioDlLI Jabors to read
the best cUI'rent literature, and eultivate the refining influenees of
life. 'He resides on Main Street, in Bntavia, in a spaciuus two-story
brick dwelling, where, whenever he eomes to Clermont, he entertains
his first eousin and old playmate, Gen. Gmnt, with whom he tlLlks
of the days of "Auld Lang :;yne," reviving reminiscences of Bethel,
which the names of MedlLry, Morris, Grant, Griffith, and Simpson
made famous, and whose after-careers have rendered it historie. Mr.
Griffith is a man of firm integrity, and enjoys the respect und con­
fidence of 0.11 who know him, and in the course of a long professional
cnreer has estltblished It reputation as a profound lawyer and public­
spirited citizen. Though nearly threescore years and ten, he is
occupying his plaee among the leading members of the Ohio bar,
youthful in appea.rance, elnstie in spirits, and vigorous and strong
in the exereise of those qunlities which have distinguished him
through life.
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Total. , $2U05.89

"JOHN 'VIIlTE,}
"JOHN GUANT, C. C."

STUHES, HOTELS, AND THE BANK.

The first store at or near Batavia was kept by Samuel
Gilbreath, at the old crossing of th~ East Fork, ncar the
house of Thomas Marsh. He owned 45 acres of land

~3

" Beginning at a double sycamore-tree, on the east hank of the east
fork of the Little Miami, on the corner of the land of John O. Maley
lLnd Adam Kline; thence south 4So 45" cast 160 poles, to a stone on
th~ land of Mrs. G. W. Gregg; thence north 4S' elLst 192~ poles, to a
stone on the east side of the Batavia and WiIliILmsburgh turnpike;
passing the corner of the corporation at 179:\: poles; thence north :30°
east 116 poles, to the northeast corner of the Citizens' Cemetery;
thence with the line of the cemeter.r south 8io 30' west 20~ poles, to
the northwest corner of sa.id cemetery; thence south 79° 30' west 137
poles, to a stake on the east bl1nk of the east fork of the Little l\1iami ;
thence with it.s melLnderings to the place of beginning.

"N. B. Ross, S/ln;cyor.

there, on which he erected a double log cabin, and, in the
summer of 1814, opened his store,-a good stock of mer­
chandise for those days. "Uncle Sammy," as he was
called, held forlh extra inducements, for about two years,
for tho trade of the surrounding country, then sold his
slack to John Miles, who did not continue lon~.

In the village George Ely sold the first. goods in a small
building which stood on Water Street just beyond the
"Gl·iffin House." His stock was not large, and consisted
only of the barest necessaries demanded by the pioneers.
III the frame building before alluded to as being the first
good business house, Abraham Miley opened the next store,
about 1818, and continued to do a good business several
years. Near by the firm of Miley & Armstrong also car­
ried on a small pork.packing establishment about the same
time. Soon after other stores were kept by David Dimmitt,
Joseph Grant, 'Villiam Dennison, and Benjamin Hart'is,
whose son afterwards became mayor of Cincinnati.

In 1825, Andrew Foote removed to Batavia from Wil­
liamsburgh, and continued merchandising five til' six years,
doing a large business.

About the same period, John Pegg opened a l-Itore in a
small brick house which stood at the foot of Main Stl'eet,
on the west- side of the bridge,. and was assisted by his son
Samuel A., and later by John W. Kain, as clerks. In a
few years the store was moved into a building which stood
opposite J. C. J enike's shoe-shop, a!ld there continued
until John Pegg died, July, 18:H. The business was then
carried on sevel'lll years by Samuel A. Pegg, and finally
passed into the hands of William 'V. Hobinson and John
W. Kuin, who erected the Kline Block in 1837, and for
several years there transacted an extensive business.

Before this period John 1\1. Brown erected the first good
brick business house, which he occupied for mercantile
purposes. This building is at present the residence of
Charles 'tV. Pegg. Half a dozen years later James Piekens,
an Irishman, who had started a store in a small building on
the cornel', erected the present Dustin house, in 1838, and
afterwards occupied it for a store. Subsequently Jesse S.
Dustin was here in trade until his death, and for the past
ten years "'hite & Henrici have been successful llIerohants
there, the former having been with Dustin.

About 1835, John W. Robinson put up the urick block
on the corner opposite the court-house, makillg it a two­
story building. Here he was largely engaged in trade a
number of years.. John M. Brown added the third story,
and was also here in trade. The stand is at present occu­
pied by the grocer, Joseph Bicking.

At the stand occupied by 'Harvey P. Sutton, Stephen S.
Robinson and W. W. Sutton were forlllerly established as
merchants.

On the opposite side of the street Charlcs Kai n and the
Jamieson Brothers have been successfully engaged in trade;
and many others, whose names cannot be here produced,
followed the merchant's avocation in Batavia, selling a gen­
eral line of goods.

The first distinct hardware-store was opened by D. H.
Dustin at the stand where he is yet extensively engaged;
and near by William Carter is also in the hardware trade.
Drug-stores have becn kept by J. H. Hamilton, Abel S.

$198.20
412.74
l!)(j.52
75.76

375.91
1:~2.S6

246.Ul
207.63
4S.24
35.69

1i5.43

General fund ..
Lighting street fund .
Police fund ..
Street cleaning .
Street improvement .
Bridge fund ..
'Vidcning streets .
Sanitlll'.Y fund ..
Fire fund ..
Prison fund ..
Sa.lary fund .

The mayor and council failed in 1878 to fill the places
of Frank White and Dr. L. W. Bishop, whose terms as
members of the health board then expired; and likewise
in 1879 in cases of D. O. Cowen and Dr. G. W. Moore on
the expiration of their terms. During the I5mallpox con­
tagion here, in the winter of 1877, the health board had a
w!!rlll time in stopping the spread of the terrible disease,
but by uniting with the citizens, who held a public meeting
to take the necessary precautionary measures, this alarming
disorder was checked and finally completely eradicated.

On the 21st of August, 1873, territory was annexed to
the corporation of the village of Batavia, with bounds de­
scribed as follows:

lSi6.-l\I:tyor, II. N. Talley; Clerk, T. F. 'Brown; Marshltls, C. L.
Holleman, P. D. Helyea; Treasurer, C. S. Griffis; Street
COUlmissioner, Ezr:t Krink8; Couneil, 'V. II. Baum, R. J.
Bancroft, S. S. Robin8on, John Pohlman j Board of Health,
D. O. Cowen, M. JILmieson, Dr.•J. C. Kennedy.

ISii.-Council, J. P. Robinson, George 1\1. Da\'is, J. C. Jenike, L. D.
Manning; Board of Health, Willi:1111 IIowlLrd aIllI W. A.
Townsley.

JSi8.-l\bJor, S. F. DowdneJ j Marshal, Fmnk Munson; Treasurer,
Clmrles S. Griffis; Street COIIIIlli>'sioner, . ;
Clerk, W. H. II. Robinson; Council, N. B. Ros>', George 1\1.
DIWis, W. B. C. Stirling, G. W. Felter; BOILrd of IIc.L1th,
Dr. George W. Moore.

1Si9.-Council, 1\1. Jamieson, William Howard, L. D. Manning.

The village has been provided with simple apparatus for
use in case of fil'es, but until this time an engine has not
been deemed a necessary part of the outfit. No destruct.­
ive conflagration has 'ever visited the place.

In 1879 a small but convenient hall was erected for the
use of the corporation, in which the meetings of the council
are now held.

The finances of' Batavia are in a he~lthy condition. From
the report for the year ending April 1, 1879, we learn that
the receipts were as follows:
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Smith, Charles Pegg, Kennedy & Dowdney, and James
Moore j and at present the druggists are John Bunn, A.
J. Sprague, and J. P. Robinson. S. G. Norris is a dealer
in books, stationery, and notions j and J. Grant in harness.

The first public-house in the vicinity of Batavia was
opened by Hobert Townsley, in 1802, where Ezekiel Duck­
wall now lives. In the village Titus E"erhart kept the
first tavcl'n, about 1816, in a building whil:h stood on the
sitc of Mrs. Rhodes' millinery-shop j George Bly enter­
tained travelers soon after on the Griffin co l'IICl', and John
Chambers at where is Glancy's grocery. In later years
Thomas Kain had a hotel on the site of the Methodist
parsonagc. The Griffin House was partly built by George
Ely, and has been kept by the present prllprietor many

years.
The Hamilton House embraces part of a building put

up in 1818 by Alexander Blair, a shoemaker, and was first'
used as a residence, About 1835, John Jamieson enlarged
the house and adapted it for hotel purposes, and kept a
popular' place many yean;. His successor has been the
present proprietor, J. n. Hamilton.

The Davis House was built in 1831-32 by John ,Y.
Hobinson, and kept by him a few years. Other landlords
have been William W. B.obinson, David Duckwall, Thomas
Kain, Joseph Johnson, and, the greater part of the past
twcnty-five years, the prescnt George 1\1. Davis.

East of the village, on the turnpike, about one mile dis­
tant, Georgc Griffin, Samuel ~IahalU, and C. Krieger have
kcpt public-houses, and near by Samuel l\1aham at present
keeps the "One-.Mile House." Farther cast, the first
tavern was opened and kept as early as 1807 by Peter
Harden. In the salUC neighborhood a store has been kept
by various patties, and at present by David Atchley.

In intimate conllcction with the hotels of Batavia were
the stage-lines to Cincinnati, and whichever hotel was
selcdcd as the headquarters for the arrival and departure
or the stages was, from this fact, II general poiut of interest
for all the people of the village and the surrounding coun­
try. The arrival of thc "buss" with a full load of passen­
gers caused a general suspension of business, and every
one was on the alert to learn something about those who
had so recently set foot in the village, and these opportu­
nities for social gossip were eagerly employed, and formed
some of the pleasant features of those days. Prior to
1847 a tri-weekly line ran frolll Cincinnati to Georgetown
via Batavia and Bethel, but in 1847 a daily line was placed
on the road, under the management of Josh Davis.
George Lukens was afterwards the proprietor, and had
Charles W. Pcgg, now a wealthy citizen of the village, as
his driver. In the course of fivc years Fred. Dl\Ckwall
became the proprietor, and muong the drivers wcre George
Griffin, Will Davis, John Long, and ot.hers. The line was
afterwards owned by Davis & Hamilton, Milton Jamieson,
Aaron Cleveland, Ham. Allen, and Brimmer & Tcasdall>,
each of whom had drivers more or less characterized by
some strong peculiarity. Among the well-known owners
of ·stages frolll Williamsburgh to Batavia was Will Kain,
who run the "little buss." The Cincinnati line owned
about forty horses, and four changGs of six horses each
were made each way, the trip .consuming about three

hours. The last stage was withdrawn in the· fall of
]876.

Tlte First ]{·atiollaZ Balll.; of Batavia was organized
Jan. 10, lSG5, with a capital stock of 8100,000, controlled
by eleven stockholders. The first board of directors was
composed of William l\legruc, 1\1. N. l\Iegrue, John S.
GrifEth, R ,Y. Clarke, Jesse S. Dustin, 'r. M. Lewis, and
S. F. Dowdney.

William Megrue was chosen as the first president j M.
N. l\Iegrue, yice-president.; and Milton .Jamieson, cashier.
l'he latter served as cashil'r' until July 11, 18G8, when he
was clectcd president of the bank, and has since filled that
position. At the same time J. F. Dial was appointed
cashier, and yet serves in that capacity. 'Villiam Megrue
Was the president of the bank until .July 29, 1865, when
he was succeeded by C. G. l\Iegrue, who held the place until
Jan. H, 18GB. At that time William l\Iegrue was again
~lected and sen'ed until the accession of Mr. Jamie~on,

July 11, 1878. The bank has had but two vice-presidents,
the present officer, William Roudebush, having served since
July 11, 1868.

The capital of the bank remains as established, and the
stock is held by twenty persons. It has always been in good
demand as an investment, and has commanded a premium
of' from 10 to 20 per cent. The affairs of the bank ha,e
been most judiciously managed, and its investments so
wisely made that but a slllall percentage of losses has been
sustaincd, and di,'idends have been regularly declared to the
stockholders. •

The board of directors in 1879 was composed of the
following persons: ~Iilton Jamieson, William Roudcbush,
Georgc W. Hulick, J. S. G."iilith, F. J. Roudebush, E. D.
Titus, and G. ,Y. Gregg. The vacancy caused by the dcath
of the latter remains unfillcd.

The business of the bank was transacted in the old audi­
tor's office until January, 1875. when the institution was
removed to its prcscnt well-adaptcd office in the Jamieson
Blol:k, which was built and fitted up for this purpose the
year beforc by M. Jamicson. It is provided with good
vaults and safes, guanlllteci'lIg the depositors good protection,
and adding to the confidence whic:h the managcment of the
bank has inspired.

Thc l?irst National is the first and only bank that has
ever existed in Batavia.

The Clermont Suvtng ((ltd Loan Association filed a cer­
tificate for incorporation under the laws of the State of
May, 18G8, and the amendatory acts thereof~ Dec. 17, 186!1.
The articles specified that the capital stock of the associa­
tion should be $:WO,OOO, in 1000 shares of $~OO each.
The corporators named were S. F. Dowdney, G. ,Y. Gregg,
Gcorge W. Hulick, R.. J. Bancroft, ,Y. H. Bickelheimer,
Dale 0, Cowell, W. B. Applegate, 'Villiam Nichols, J.
Bicking, A. 1\1. Dimmitt, and C. H. Kain. The associa­
tion was to be located at Batavia, with a branch office at
Felicity, if neccssary.

On the 2d of ~Iarch, 1870, the association had more
than 200 members, and procecded to elect its first board of
directors and officers, as follows: President, S. F. DowdneYi
Vice-President, G. ,Y. Hulick j Secretary, Frank ·White;
'freasurcr, C. H. Kain i W. R. Sinks, J. W. Sims, ,Y. W.
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Hickel', P. S. Jones, A. Beagle, George L. Swing, G. 'V.
Gregg, W. B. C. Stirling, G. W. Hulick, D. O. Cowen,
James B. Brunaugh, and C. H. Kain. The number of
members has been increased to 250, and the affairs of the
association generally have been prol'perous. Besides Judge
Dowdney, George L. Swin~ and F. D. 'White have been
presidents of the association, and the present officers and
directors are: President, S. F. J)owdney; Vice-President,
F. J. Uoudebush; Secretary, Frank 'Vhite; Treasurer,
'V. 'W. Perkins; and Directors, George L. Swing, E.
Kriuks, 'V. .'V. Perkins, S. F .. Dowdney, John ,Yo Sims,
and Frank J. Houdebush.

TIlE POST-OFFICE, PRESS, AND PIWFESSIONS.

The Batavia post-office was established in 1818, and
Alexander Blair was appointed postmaster, holding the
office in his shoe-shop, which stood on the site of the Hamil­
ton House. He was succeeded by George Reeves, and his
successors were Jacob and George Mcdary. In 1842, Jesse
S. Dustin was appointed, and held the office until 1861,
when, under the Republican administration, Stephen S.
Robinson became postmaster. In 1866, under Johnson's
administration, Thomas S. Bryan, a deputy under 1\11'.
Dustin, was appointed and served a few months, but was
succeeded by Charles H. Kain, who continued to serve
until his removal in 1871. His former deputy, S. F. Jamie­
son, then became postmaster, and discharged the duties of
the office until the close of 1879, when he resigned, and
'V. T. Kain, for more than five years his deputy, was ap­
pointed, his commission bearing date Jan. 1, 1880.

Batavia was designated a postal money-order office July
1, 1871, and became a German money-order office July 1,
1872. \Vithin the last eight years the business of the
office has been more than doubled. For the first week in
December, 1879, the mail matter deposited in the office
amounted to 593 letters, 211 postal-cards, and 3198 news­
papers. The office is supplied with good mail facilities,
receiving and sending eight mails pel' day. At first the
service was by carrier, on horseback, but about 1842 a line
of stages brought a tri-weekly mail, and for many years
past it has been daily.

The first newspaper in the village, the TVeslem Pul1'iol,
was founded in May, 1824, by Z. Colby, and was published
every Saturday on 'Vater Street. David Morris, in 1826,
began the publication of the second paper, the Sp/n't of
lite 'l.'-imes. The subscquent history of these papers and
the press in general is ~iven in a special chapter in this
book. At present there are in the village three good papers,
-the Clermont Sun, by D. O. Cowen & Co.; the Cvurier,
by J. H. Fairman; and the Advance, by James Robin­
son.

From all accounts it appears that the first permanent
professional man in the village was a physician, Dr. A. F.
1\IcCall, who located there some time before 1820. About
the sallie time Dr. Daniel LYlllan came, and both were

. noted practitioners, not only here, but all through the
county. Near 1825, Dr. 'Villiam 'Wayland, Sr., came to
Batavia fi'om Bethel, and had a very extensive practice.
He was marked by strong characteristics and was somewhat
of a politician. Then came the genial Dr. ·A. V. Hopkins,,

who rode fill' and ncar, and who, like his contemporary,
was eminent in politics. About 1830, Dr. Albert Dart
came, and shortly after 'William Wayland, Jr., who won
distinction in his practice. About 18i3~, Dr. S. Y. Thorn­
ton was here, a good doctor with strorig social powers, but
precediug him had been Dr. Hiram Cox, father of the cele­
brated Judge Cox, of Cincinnati. In 1846, Dr. Henry
Coliiils was here for some time, and four years later Dr. S.
B. Crew and Dr. James Kellum, both esteemed good phy­
sicians. Then located the veteran Dr. James C. Ken­
nedy,* who is yet in active practice, and with a reputation
reaching fur beyond his field of practice. He came from
Felicity, and from 'which town he went to the Lcgislature
in 1847. Dr. Kennedy was summoncd to Kentucky in
1879 as a witness in the celebrated criminal trial of Buford
for shooting Judge Elliott, one of the judges of the Court
of Appeals, and gave expert testimony on insanity,-a sub­
ject on which he has written noted and valuable papers.
Then followed Dr. Joseph McMillan, well rcad and of
scathing witticism. 1859, Dr. A. C. McChesney practiced
here, and is now located in Cincinnati, where he has made
a fortune. About 1862, Dr. Hugh McCaskey came from
Felicity, and returned there after eight years of active and
honorable practice in his loved profession here. In 1860,
Dr. J. Locke Kennedy, a brilliant physician, who suc­
cumbed to the vicissit.udes of the war. In 1869 and after,
Dr. B. P. 'Villis and Dr. J. L. 'Vaffensmith were in Ba­
tavia for a brief period. Sir.ee then have been located
here Dr. A. 'V. Ashburn,* Dr. G. 'V. Moore,* Dr. L. 'V.
Bishop,* Dr. R. D. l\1cDonald,* Dr. Charles Belt,* all in
active practice. Dr. John Bunn* came some three years
ago, but gives his attention mostly to his drug-store. Dr.
Charles King, of Georgetown, located here a year, but
is now in Central Lunatic Asylum, at Columbus, as first,
assistant physician. A150ut 1843, Joseph A. Weaver en­
tered upon his dental profession, and from 1858, Jerry C.
Weaver, his ·brother, now of 'Vashington city, was with
him fo'r a long term of subsequent years. Harry L. l\Ioore*
is now practicing dentistry, and his brother, E. L. Moore,
was here several years ago.

Drs. Dameron, of Cincinnati, Miles, 0 fGeorgetown, Den­
nis, of Felicity, and others have occasionally for short times
remained here. Dr. N. J. Barber, now of New Richmond,
has on several previous periods been located here in regular
medical practice, and, like McChesney, was a surgeon in
the war.

The reminiscences of pill-bags in the good old days of
:l\IcCall, Lyman, Hopkins,' t)lC 'Vaylands, and their eon­
frt'res in the healing art would be rich. They were able
practitioners and well-read men of strong common sense;
but in those times bleeding was resorted to in the com­
monest cases, and the diseases being somewhat different
from those of modern times, perhaps those gentlemen
skilled in the craft were right in the quick application of
the lancet and large doses of calomel. Then the doctors
supplied their patients with medicines, and their long rides
for twenty miles or more on horseback carried in their

;;; Professional mcn markcu with an asterisk still continue at Ba­
tavia.
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saddlcs rcgular old-n\shioned apothccary-shops. Science,
of eoursc, has made rapid stridcs, but in the mellowed
mcmorics of many of our happy familics are prescrvcd rich
recollections of the old-time doctors and their joul'lleyillgs
up and down the newly-scttled country.

AttoJ'Jlcys.--'l'he fil'st court was held at Batavia, May
14, 1824, up to which time no attorney had lived there.
Then settled thcre Thomas Moorhead, an Irishman, well
rcad in law, and of great wit and notcd social qualitics, and
who servcd for a time as captain of the first military com­
pany (the Batavia Light Inf,mtry). On August 21st,
same year, the lcgal finn of Itiehard & Learner B. Collins
put out its sign, the latter stopping in town, and t.he
former at his home, Hillsboro'. In 1825, Owen T. Fish­
back, of Williamsburgh, then prosecuting attorney and mem­
ber of the I ..egislature, moved down to the new county­
seat, and remained here to his death, in 18H4, full of years
and honors. David C. Bryan, nominally an attorney, but
clerk of the courts, had followed the removal of the eount.y­
seat to the town which he and George Ely had laid out
ten years before. In 1826, David Morris came, but paid
more attention to his paper than to legal business. On
July 16, 1825, eccentric Theodol'e D. Burrows set up his
office,-a quaint lawyer, not very deep in legal lore, and
son of the well-known Stephen Burrows. About 1828
arrived Jonathan D. Morris, who went in as clerk- three
years later, and served splendidly for some fifteen years.
Neal' 18;30 John Joliffe put in an appearance. He was a
sharp and quick man in law, and afterwards famous in the
anti-slavery cause and as the slave's counsel. The same
year the BlUshs-8amuel and John T.-were here, and
were men of note. Alexander Herring came some two
years before his election as auditor in 1828, and was sharp
on paper and got up documents well. In 1832 we find
Thomas L. Shields, who remained in Batavia till 1855, and
had no superior as a land lawyer. 'l'he funny Calvin A.
'Varren and Jacob T. Cropsey, both well read, and sons­
in-law of Senator Thomas Morris. About 1836 came the
f~\UlOUS orator Thomas J. Buchanan, keen before a jury;
Header ,Y. Clarke, well yerscd in law, quick with the
editor's pen, and wary as a politician; and John W. Lowe,
son-in-law of Judge Fishback,-a good lawyer alld a braye
man, killed at the head of his regiment at Uamifex Ferry.
Three years before George B. Tingley practiced, with his
office in town for a while,-a quiet, methodical man. In
1837, George S. Lee was the prosecutor, and made the
criminals quake. In 1838, George W. Dennison, a keen
business lawyer, opened out, and remained llCre till death,
making money out of a large practice. William Howard*
(admitted here in 1842, where he had to be two years before
his enrollment at the bar, as he had been admitted in 1840
at Augusta, Ky.) was llJany years partner of Thomas L.
Shields,' with extensive land-suit practice. Col. Howard is
the senior member of the bar, and bears his honors worth­
ily. Philip B. Swing,* the able and upright judge of the
United States District Court of Southern District of Ohio,
was admitted at Dayton, Ohio, but immediately opened an
office here, as did also Julius A. Penn,* admitted at George­
town, the former being a grandson of Judge Philip Gatch,
and the latter a son of Elijah T. Penn, one of the n\lllOUS

Penn brothers, who came from Maryland at an e:uly day.
In 184:-3, John S. Griffith* came to the bar, but did not
move to Batavia till his election a~ clerk of the courts in
1851, but sincc then has rcmained here at the hend of very
large practice, and is well known in Southern Ohio. Same
year Judge Thomas l\I. Lewis* settled here, where his
honor and gallantry have made him a great filvorite j and,
al:-o, then located H. N. Talley,* for a long time an active
practitioner, now mostly in government claim business.
Also Shepherd F. Norris, judge of the Common Pleas from
1851 to 18(;1, an eminent lawyer and well esteemed; Judge
Thomas Q. Ashburn,* eighteen years of renown as a judge,
now in large practice. George L. Swing* was admitted in
1846, and came shortly after to town; was u splendid pro­
bate judge, has fine practice, and is a well-educated attorney
in all departments. About this time Milton Jamieson,*
the famous Clermont financier, came to the bar, but for
.years has not been in active practice. In 1850, George
'V. l!'ishback was admitted, practiced here but a short
time, and became f~\UlOUS as editor of the S1. Louis Demo­

crat. After him were S. M. Penn and Thomas :Morris
(son of Jonathan), who tarried briefly. John ,Johnston,
now a leading lawyer in Cincinnat.i, came in 1853; the
same year W. P. Fishback, now of Indianapolis, Ind., and
clerk of the United Stutes District Court, Was admitted j

and same year. OlTin 'femple* came to the bar. In 1854,
William A. Townsley,* the celebrated criminal lawyer, was
admitted, but did not remove to Batavia until some years
afterwards. In 1855, Charles H. Collins had his office in
town, and two years later was elected prosecuting attorney.
In 1857, George W. Hulick,* afterwards judge of probate,
hung out his shingle, and has a fine practice, with Judge
Ashburn as' his partner. In 1853 the present able and
popular judge of the court, Allen T. Cowen,* was admitted
in Cincinnati, but, did not settle here till 1867. J. 1\1.
McGrew, after his term as clerk expired in 1858, came into
practice; and, in 1859, Sidney A. Fitch, now of Colorado.
P. J. Nichols,* now probate judge, admitted in 1861,
moved here in 1879. J. S. Brunaugh* settled here in
1866, having been admitted three yeurs before; 'V. H.
Standish, in 1864; S. F. Dowdney,* in 1858, when he
took his scat as probate judge j 'George W. Gregg, in 1858 ;
A. M. Sinks and B. J. Hickel', in 1867 j Thomas A. Grif·
fith* and P~ter F. Swiug,* in 1868; William Pease,* in
1869; H. B. Mattox,* in 1873 j J. C. l\1cMath,* in
1874; L. D. Manning* (an old Cincinnati attorney), in
1875; Hoyal J. Bancroft,* in 1875; John R. Woodlief*
and \V. W. Dennison,* the same year; J. S. Parrott,* in
1876; James B. Swing,* in 1877; Charles T. Jamieson,
in 1877; John J. Howard,* in 1877 j Will R. Walker,*
in 1878; John \V. Davis* and O. P. Griffith,* the same
year.

Batavia is the birthplace of an artist of great promise.
Frank l\i. Lindsley was born there, Sept. 19, 1853, and
after being educated in the common schools studied the art
of' engraving at Cincinnati. At the ap;e of nineteen he"
went to Kansas City as the artist for Millard, Hudson &
Co., and two years later to Calif'ornia, where his work on an
illustrated volume of the principal cities of that State has
elicited unstinl'ed praise.
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SECRET ORDERS.

To the :Masonic fmternity belongs t.he honor of institu­
ting the first lodge of a secret order within the bounds of
the township. On the 3d of October, 1837, was held the
first meeting of

BATAVIA LODGE, No. 100, F. AND A. l\I.

The constituent members were convened, under a dis­
pensation issued by Grand l\faster William J. Reese, in an
uppcr chamber of the court-house, and the first officers
were: 'Vorshipful Master, Owen T. Fishback; Senior
"Warden, Reader W. Clarke; Junior Warden, Jonathan D.
Morris; Sec., Thomas L. Shiclds; Treas., Dr. \VilIiam
'Vayland, Sr.; Senior Deacon, David Duckwall; Junior
Deacon, John 1\1. Brown; Tyler, John Jamieson.

Of these honored names, the venerable Father Jamieson,
for more than sixty years a member of the order, alone sur­
vives. At this first communication the Entered Appren­
tices degree was conferred on the following candidates: Dr.
William Wayland, Jr., Andrcw l\f. Gest, Allison Emerson,
Israel Whittaker, and John 'V. Kain, the latter two still
living. Not long after the following became members:
Joseph Post, Dr. S. Y. Thornton, David C. Bryan, John O.
Butler, Martin F. H. Veitch, John 'V. Robinson, Abram
Miley, Joshua B. Davis, William Thomas, John Hankins,
John Davison, D. K. Hal'den, John H. Taylor, James Per­
rine, Joshua Ward, Charles 1\1. Smith, James H. Davidson,
Dr. L. G. Alexander, Dr. William Doane, Dr. A. V. Hop­
kins, Dr. Delos C. Sharp, J. S. Austin, Thomas S. Pel'l'ine,
J olm Ward, and Daniel Fisher.

For a time the lodge continued prosperous, but after
1841, not having a suitable place of meeting, its communi­
cations were suspended until 1843. Hardly a year passed
around until a new trouble beset the lodge, arising out of
political differences entertained by the members, which
were allowed to grow into feuds of such intensity that the
charter had to be surrendered. Again, in 1846, the lodge
resumed its communications, and on the 2'7th of December,
1849,-St. John's day,-the officers elect for the ensuing
year were publicly installed in the Presbyterian church,
where an address was made by the Rev. A. 1\1. Elliott, after
which a procession was formed and the craft proceeded to
Brother Jamieson's inn, where a grand old-fashioned
supper was eaten, as a token of the restored harmony.
Again, on the return of the same day in 1872, the lodge
had a public installation and banquet. But the grandest
Masonic demonstration the county has ever seen was held
June 24, 1870, at Batavia. Three hundred and ninety­
seven of the craft were in procession. Gen. Durbin 'Yard,
a distinguished Mason, delivered a most eloquent addrcss,
and a sumptuous dinner was servcd in the court-house and
in the adjacent grove. The last public occasion of the
lod~e was an installation of the officers of both t.hat body
and Batavia Chapter, at the Union school-house. The
Hev. Thomas J. 1\'Ielish, editor of the lJlason'ic Review and
a thirty-three-degree craftsman, delivered the address. A
banquet at Sprague's hall followed, in which 400 invited
guests participated.

Since the institution of the lodge thc following have
served as the Mastm;s and Secretaries:

MaslC1·s.-1837, O. T. Fishback; 1838-39, R. W. Clarke;
1840, J. D. Morris; 1841, D. C. Bryan j 1843, A. M.
Gest; 18'16, U. W. Clarke; 1847, Eliakim Zimmerman;
1848-50, A. S. Mount; 1851-52, L. B. Leeds; 1853, A.
S. Mount; 1854, L. B. Leeds; 1855-56, D. L. Goff;
1857, Joseph Marshal; 1858-59, L. B. Leeds j. 1860, D.
L. Goff; 1861-64, Joseph Marshal; 1864, Joseph Mar­
shal; 1865-69, Hugh McCaskey j 1870-71, Daniel Kidd j

1872-76, A. T. Cowen; 1877-79, J. S. Brunaugh.
~ec1·e{al'ies.-1837, T. L. Shields; 1838, A. 1\'1. Gestj

1839-40, D. C. Bl'yan; 1841-43, C. 1\1. Smith; 1846,
John W. Kain j 1847, J. A. Penn; 1848, A. M. Gest j

1849, C. M. Smith; 1850-53, D. C. Bryan; 1854, S. B.
Crew; 1855, George L. Swing; 1856, Lewis Behymer;
1857-60, D. C. Bryan; 1861, Jacob Roudebush; 1864,
George W. Gugg; 1865, D. P. Bl'a'3her; 1866-67, Co M.
Smith; 1868, J. S. Stiles; 1869, C. M. Smith j 1870,
S. F. Dowdney j 1871, ,Yo R. Sinks; 1872, R. ,Yo Clarke j
1873, A. 'V. Ashburn; 1874-78, T. S. Bryan; 1879,
J. S. Parrott.

BATAVIA CHAPTER, No. 112, R. A. l\f.,

was organized under a dispensation, June 24, 1851, by
Companion Harvey Perin, officiating for the Grand High
Priest, Jacob Groff. The first officers installed were Reader
,Yo Clarke, High Priest; William 'Yayland, King; L. B.
Leeds, Scribe; M. Jamieson, Captain.. of the Host; B. C.
South, Royal Arch Captain; Daniel W. Roudebush, Prin­
cipal Sojourner; Nathan Anderson, John Quinlan, and
Owcn T. Fishback, Masters of Veil.

A. M. Gest and G. C. Townsley were the first to be raised
to the de~ree of Mark Mason. Other members within the first
year were D. C; Bryan, James Perrine, Henry C. Kain, Jo­
seph Kyle, John W. Kain, Jeremiah C. Weaver, L. C. Moore,
Thomas M. Lewis, John Finton, Presley Tedrow, G. J. Dick­
inson. For a time the chapter was prosperous, but financial
difficulties beset it, and on the 12th of September, 1859, it
was ,forced to surrender its charter. An interregnum of
nine years followed; but on the 13th of January, 1868, a
special dispensation was granted to reorganize the chapter,
and a regular charter was obtained in due time. Since that
time the chapter has enjoyed uninterrupted prosperity.

The High Priests of Batavia Chapter have been, 1851-
, 53, Reader W. Clarke; 1854, L. B. Leeds; 1855-59, l\I.
Jamieson; 1868-69, J. C. Weaver; 1870, L. B. Johnson;
1871-72, R. J. Bancroft; 1873-74, Daniel Kidd; 1875
-77, R. J. Bancroft; 1878-79, A. T. Cowen.

The Secretaries for the same period have been, 1851-59,
D. C. Bryan; 1869, Frank Browning; 1870, G. W. Gregg j
1871, W. R. Sinks; 1872, J. W. Kain; 1873-74, H. J.
Bancroft; 1875-79, H. B. Mattox.

BATAVIA LODGE, No. 136, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted Oct. 10,1849, by Grand Master Alexander
E. Glenn, with numerous delegations of brethren from the
sister lodges of Milford, Amelia, New Richmond, Neville,
and other tOWIIS in the county, on the petition of six per­
sons. ~rhe lodge was organized by electing the following
officers : Noble Grand, S. R. S. 'Yest; Vice· Grand, .Jesse
Hunt; Sec., J.J. C. Moore; Per. Sec., Charles D. Saxe;
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Treas., Peter Crumbaugh; and the Noble Grand ap­
pointed as subordinate ofIicel's, Hight Supporter, Robert
Boyce j J.Jeft Supporter, John Fowler; Inside Guardian,
Lewis 'fice; Outside Guardian, John Fitzwater. The fol­
lowing pcrsons were initiated at the first mceting: Lewis
Tice, Jacob 'Veak, Henderson 'rice, Isaac Jenkins, and
John Fitzwater, with Henderson 'fice as Conductor.

Since this period the following have been the Noble
Grands for each term: 1850, L. C. Moore j 1831, L. C.
l\foore, C. D. Saxe; 185~, Isaac Jenkins, H. G. Duck­
wall j 1853, H. N. Talley, E. D. Duckwall; 1854, J. L.
'Veaver, 1'. Q. Ashburn; 1855, Jesse Ellis, John Grant;
1856, John 'V. Talley, J. l\I. Hust j 1857, J. C. Bownc,
L. B. Leeds j 1858, James Hulick, Lcwis 'fice; 1859, J.
L. l\Ionjar, G. W. Hulick j 1860, W. B. Townsley, C. II.
Kain j 18tH, Samuel Titus, W. J. Hust; 1862, J. L.
'VeaveI', G. ,Y. Felter j 1863, J. P. Leonard, W. \V.
Perkins; 1864, Smith Townsley, G. W. Duckwall; 1865,
\V. B. Townsley, S. Binekley; 1866, Albert Henrici,
Joseph Bickin~ j 1867, James Glancy, 'V. 'V. Hulick;
18G8, Daniel Brown, H. J. Lewis; 1869, J. 'V. Ranson,
John 'Vageman j 1870, James S. Brunaugh, J. B. Hop­
kins; 1871, J. H. Hamilton, 1\1. J. 'V. Holter; 1872, J.
P. Curry, John C. Jenike; 1873, John Zurmuhle, ,Y. T.
Calle; 1874, John Pohlman, Samuel Titus; 1875, Charles
Stark, Edward B. Scott; 1876, Allen Glancy, N. B. Hoss;
1877, It. Allen, l.\I. A. 'Yood; 1878, B. F. Cary, Morton
Mulloy; 1879, John Hewitt, C. 1\1. Bryan.

The following are the officers for 1880: Noble Grand,
J. C. Jenike; Vice-Grand, George P. 1\Ioore; Recording
Secretary, John Erion; Permanent Secretary, John Zur­
mullle; Treasurer, Allen Glancy.

OLEANDER ENCAl\IP.MENT, No.44, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted March 1, 1851, with the following charter
members: L. C. Moore, G. W. Hulick, John Zurmuhle,
Eo D. Duckwall, John Grant, J. C. Jenike, Thomas Q.
Ashbul'll, H. V. Kerr, William 1\1. Kain, S. R. S. \Vest,
Jesse Hunt, Lewis Tice, John C. Curry, Daniel Kelley,
and Robert Boyce. On the 29th of November, 1862,
the charter was surrendered, but on the 3d of December,
1867, the encampment was reinstated, and has since that
time enjoyed a fair degree of prosperity. The representa­
tives to the Grand Encampment have been, 1858, 1\ Q.
Ashbul'll; 1860, H. l\f. Talley; 1871, Joseph Bicking;
1879, John Pohlman. Below is a list of names of mem­
bers who have served as Chief Patriarch and Scribe:

Clti{'j' Patl'iarchs.-1851: 1\Iurch, S. R. S. 'Vest j July,
Jesse Hunt. 1852: January, John Grant; July, J. G,
Oliver. 1853: January, L. C.Moore; July, T. Q. Ashburn.
185-1: January, J. 'V. ~'alley; July, H. N. Talley. 1855:
January, J. C. Brown; July, B. F. Penn. 1856: January,
H. Y. Ke~T. 1857: ~Tuly, S. R. S. 'Vest. 1858: Janu­
ary, J. M. Rust; July, Jesse Ellis. 1859: July, \Ym.
Kain. 1860: January, T. Q. Ashburn j July, John Zur­
muhle. 1861: January, John Zurmuhle; July, 'V. 1\1.
Kain. 1862: January, John Zurmuhle. 1868: January,
L. C. Moore; July, K D. Duckwall.. 1860: January,
John L. Weaver j July, C. H. Kain. 1870: January,
Joseph Bicking; July, Samuel Titus. 1871: January,

Albert Henrici j July, J. C.Hatfield. 1872 :.Janllary,
'V. I-I. Duly j July, 1\1. J. W. Holter. 187:~: January,
Sylvester Binldey; July, J. C. Jenike. 187-1: January,
John Pohlman; July, Henry Householder. 1875: Janu­
ary, Joseph Hanson; July, William Cade. 1876: Janu­
ary, Euward B. Scott j July, Joseph Bicking. 1877:
January, Samuel Titus; July, B. F. Cary. 1878: Janu­
ary, J. H. Humilton j July, A. H. P. Holter. 1870:
Jauuary, 'V. W. Hulick; July, John Graut.

SC1·ibes.-1851: March, John C. Curry; July, Hender­
son Tice. 1852: January, H. G. Duckwall; July, S. R.
S. Wcst. 1853: January, II. N. Talley j July, Henderson
Tice. 185-1-: J. 1\1. Rust. 1855: January, J. 1\1. Bust;
July, J.Jewis Tice. 1856: January, Henderson Tice. 1857:
July, J.Jewis Tice. 1858: January, Lewis Tice; July, T.
Q. Ashburn. 1859: July, H. N. Talley. 1860: January,
George\V. Hulick ; July, L. B. Leeds. 1861: L. B.
Leeds. 1863: January, L. B. Leeds. 1868: January,
TI. V. Kerr; July, Albert Hemici. 1869: January, Allen
T. Cowen; July, John Grant. 1870: January, John Grant;
July, C. H. Kain. 1871: January, 'V. H. Duly j July,
'V. T: Cade. 1872: January, E. B. Scott j July, John
Pohlman. 1873: January, J. C. Jenike; July, Henry
Householder. 1874: January, Joseph Hanson; July, John
Pohlman. 1875-76: John Pohlman. 1877: January,
John Pohlman; July, John Grant. 1878: January, John
Grant; July, 1\1. J. 'V. Holter. 187U: John Pohlman.

BATAVIA LODGE, No. 55, ANCIENT ORDER OF UNITED
WOllK:;\1EN,

was instituted Nov. 30, 1875, with the following charter
members: Hiram U. Moore, Henry B.Mattox, W. B. c.
Stirling, Hoyal J. Bancroft, Alfred N. Robinson, James S.
Bmnaugh, Joseph Titus, W. H. Smith, Stephen S. Hob­
inson, Frederick Wendell, A. C. 1\1oore, John C. Beck.

The officers in the first term of 1876 were: Master
Workman, James S. Brunaugh; Foreman, H. U. 1\1oore;
Overseer, A. N. Robinson; Guide, A. C. 1\1oore j Recorder,
H. B. Mattox; Heceiver. Joseph Titus; Financier, \V. B.
C. Stirling; Inside 'Vatchman, Fred. 'Vendell j Outside
'Vatchlllan, Charles Hoerner; Trustees, ·W. H. Smith and
H. U. Moore; Medical Examiner, Dr. A. C. Moore.

Since that period the following have served as Master
'Vorkmen: ··W. B. C. Stirling, H. U. Moore, John S.
Parrott, Fred. \Yendell, T. A. Griffith, P. D. Relyea, and
John L. Moore.

The officers for the first term in 1880 were: Master
'Vorkman, John L. Moore; Forema~, Simeon Teasdale j

Overseer, Aaron S. Corbly; Guide, J. S. Bmnaugh; Re­
corder, R. J. Bancroft; Financier, Joseph Titus; Receiver,
\V. B. C. Stirli ng; Inside 'Vatchman, Thomas Needham;
Outside 'Vatchman, Robert Magee; Medical Examiner,
Dr. A. C. Moore.

James S. Bmnaugh, of this lodge, was one of th e dele­
~ates of the Grand Lodge of' Ohio to the sixth Supreme
Grand Lodge of the United States at St. Louis, in 1878,
and to the seventh annual meeting of the same body at
Nashville, in 1879. He has also been Grand Master
'Vorkman of the State J.Jodge of Ohio, presiding at the
Convocation at Cincinnati in J auuary, 1878.



BARTHOLOMEW GASKINS emigrated from Virginia at a very
early period, and settled in Gallis Co., Ohio, where he died,
leaving a large fumily, of whom one son, Thomas Gaskins,
came to Clermont about the year 1816, locating at Pleasant
Hill, now in Pierce, but then a part of Ohio township.
Thomas Gaskins was married to Phebe Ward, June 3~ 1819,
by James Wood, justice of the peace, by whom he had the
following children: Dr. Cyrus Gaskins; Jane, married to
Lewis Behymer; Hettie, married to Daniel Redmon; Dr.
John Gaskins, now residing in Adams County; WilIi:dn
Gaskins; Sylvester Gaskins; and Susan, married to John
Arthur.

Thomas G,askins died in 1858, and some three years later
his wife Phebe. He was a practical farmer, an ardent
Jacksonian Democrat, and a man of keen common sense,
and lived to see the forests in which he early settled give
way to beautiful farms and elegant dwellings. His son,
Dr. Cyrus Gaskins, was born Feb. 21, 1820, and received his
education in the common schools of that day. He worked on
the farm like all country boys, but completed his studies at a
select school taught by Hon. John Ferguson, then the leading
instructor and educator of the county. For the next five
years he engaged in teaching and taught in various districts,
during which time he began reading law, and although never
admitted to the bar ,he has ever taken a deep interest in the
profession, and his reading has proved to be a great advantage
to him in his business. He commenced the study of medicine
in 1856 with Dr. Hubbell, a prominent practitioner of Amelia,
and attended lectures at the Eclectic Medical College of Ohio,
from which he graduated at the head of his class in 1859, and
In 1868 received another diploma from the Eclectic Medical
Institute of Cincinnati. While reviewing his studies in 1858
he practiced a short time at Mount Holly, but upon the com­
pletion of his studies in 1869 located at Amelia, where he
has since resided, and where he has acquired a large and

lucrative practice. Dr. Gaskins is one of the most noted and
best known physicians in the county, and he is now reaping
the fruits of twenty-one 'years of practice. He was married
on Christmas, 1S340, by Rev. Whittington B. Hnncock, to
Huldah, daughter of Thomas and Sarah John,-the former a
son of James John, the first settler at the mouth of Nine-Mile
ar Muddy Creek (originally called John's Creek in 1797), and
the latter a daughter of Nathaniel Witham, among the first
settlers of Union township. To Dr. Gaskins and his wife
have been born two children,-Thomas Hamer, who died in
his seventeenth year, and John Crittenden, who was married
May 12, 1880, to Miss Hattie Hopper, of Fruit Hill. The
doctor is a zealous member of J'. B. Covert Lodge, No. 437,
of Free and Accepted Masons, at Withamsville. He has ever
taken the greatest interest in the cause of education, and for
years was a leading member of the school board, where his
talents, voice, and influence were continually for an advance in
edlwational matters. He is identified in politics with the
Democratic party, to whose success in the county he has for
years contributed most libepally of his time and brain, and on
the stump in the severnl townships has been one of its most
eloquent lind effective speakers, rallying his party to organiza­
tion and victory. For several years he has been president of
the Clermont County Eclectic Medical Associution, now in
its twenty-fourth year of successful labors, and since 1870
very frequently an ablo and brilliant contributor to the
columns of the Eclectic Medical Jow'nal of Cincinnati, the
standard authority and organ of his school of medicine. The
doctor is a genial gentleman whose abilities and social quali­
ties have made him many friends, while in his honored pro­
fession he has reached a high niche of honor and usefulness.
His unsurpassed business tact and energy have been rewarded
by success in financial l11atters, and he is one of the solid men
of the county, whose word is unquestioned and whose judg­
ment is rarely at fault.
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EDUCATIONAL.

i;f By Gen.M. J. W. Holter.

Under the common-school law, dividing the townships of
the State into sub·districts,-the act of 1853,-the follow­
ing were elected directors, the first named being clerks of
the districts: and therefore members ot' the township board

The Order of Ancient 'Vorkmcn, organized in 1868 in
Pennsylvania, has now a Supreme Grand Lodge, fifteen
State Grand Lodges, and an aggregate membership of more
than 100,000. It pays to the family or legal representa­
tive of each of its deceased members $2000, and sinee its
introduction into this county has paid fimr death-losses,
~mounting to $8000. Its revenues are collected by stated
dues and an assessment of one dollar on each member
whenever a death occurs. The order has a beautiful ritual,
sJmbolical of charity, hope, and protectioll, which are its
anchor. safeguards, and incentives, and contribute to make
it so beneficent and philanthropic in its aims and deeds.

BA l'A YIA VILLAGE SCHOOLS.

School- J.'eac!tcrs, .BOa.1·ds of Education, aud Old Will

New Buildings.-The oldest teacher remembered in the

of education: District No.2, William S. Fulley, William
Curry, Thomas Thompson; No.3, Cyrus McFarland, I~lijah

Brazier, John Davis; No.4, Israel Whittaker, Presley Ted­
row, Abraham :Miller; No.5, Daniel R.oudebush, 'VilIiam
Johnson, Thomas Hitch; No.6, J. H. Mount, William
'Villiamson, E. G. Sallee ; No.7, John Preble, Christopher
Smith, David McAffee; No.8, T. A. Taylor, Thomas
Husong, Hiram 'Vheeler j No.9, Nathan 'Villiams, John
BehJmer, Israel Leeds; No. 10, J. R. Foster, John Uob­
illson, Jacob 1\1. Gest; No. 11, Joseph Glancy, Benjamin
Maham, Isaac Stark; No. 12, H. B. Hoes, Thomas S.
Atchley, 'Villiam B.. Lukemires.

Israel Whittaker Was chosen chairman of the board, and
H. G. Duckwall, by virtue of being township clerk, was
the secretary and superintendent of schools.

Soon after the board was organized it adopted rules for
the government of the schools, providing, among other
things, that the llOuses should be cleanly kept and well
ventilated; "that the government of every, school be
parental, and that the rod be the last means of resort ;"
" that no teacher shall ferule or whip scholars on the hands
or heads as a means of punishment;" and "that there
shall be no communication, such as whispering, writing
and showing it to others, or significant looks from one
scholar to another." Profanity, vulgarity of speech, lying,
and quarreling were also strictly forbidden. "'hether
these salutary measures had their desired effect we are
unable to say, but they show that, th.ere was at least a dis­
position to.eIC\Tate the moral tone of the schools.

Among the teachers of this period were A. J. Lane,
Mary Ann Wall, Hannah 1\1oore, N. A. 'Vorstell, Rebecca
Page, Laura C. Wheat, Martha Sutton, E. F. Norton, F.
1\1. Maxfield, C. ~. Goodman, J. 'V. Avery, A. K. Bene­
dict, P. C. Smith, John 'V. Frazee, James H. Baldwin,
'V. E. Nichols, and John C. Smith.

The common schools have proven highly satisfactory to
the people of Batavia, who in 1879 voted a tax of
$G0.11.80 for their support, in addition to the $5000 and
more dollars received from other sources. Of this amount
there were paid to the 15 teachers (not including those of
t.he village schools) $5.119.85. There are 14 sub-districts,
each supplied with a building, and one of them having two
rooms, whose value aggregates $16,000. Thirty-two weeks
of school have been maintained, which were attended by
383 boys and 347 girls, the average attendance being 440.
Of these 40 pursued the study of algebra and 645 paid
attention to reading. The colored children of the township,
six in number, attend the cololed school in Batavia, at the
expense of the board of education. This board in 1879
was composed as follows: President, 1\1. A. Leeds; Secre­
tarj', J. L. 1\1oore; Sub-District Clerks, No.1, J. 'V. Deem;
No.2, M. J. W. Holter; No.3, L. A. Kirgan; No.4,
B. F. Miley j No.5, M. 1\1ulloy; No.6, C. H. 'Veaver;
No.7, William Glancy; No.8, C. R. Smith; No.9, Wil­
liam 'Veselij No. 10,1\1. A.l...eeds; No. 11, A. Hulick;
No. 12, S. M. Atchley; No. 13, J. C. Conn; No. 14, S.
Titus.

------ .._.--------------_. ----------------

HUSTON LODGE, No. 500, 1. O. O. F.,i;;

was instituted at Olive Branch, Aug. 31, 1871, by Grand
1\1aster Ira H. Bil'd, assisted by John E. Bell, D. A. Hus­
ton, 'V. H. 'Vipper, of Cincinnati, and H. V. Kerr, of Ba­
tavia. The charter was delivered to the followin~members:
]\1: J. 'V. Holter, W. H. Duly, G. Schwab, John Beckler:
H. Householder, P. J. 1\Ieyers, D. F. Thompson, R. D.
Hewitt, J. F. John, George Fishback, 1. W. John, Solomon
Beckett, Amos Hill, and J. R. 1\1undell. The following
officers were elected, viz.: N. G., 1\1. J. 'V. Holter; V. G.,
I. W. John; }{ec. Sec., 'V. II. Duly; Perm. Sec., Amos
Hill; Treas., G. Schwab j Trustees, George Fishback, Sol­
Oluon Beckett., and R. D. Hewitt. The following persons
were initiated at the same meeting: J. 'V. HUllt, John
Hewitt, W. D. Avery, JJ. Fishback, Isaac N. Wheatley,
Thomas 'Voostell, Thomas Mitchell, Solomon HeItman,
John Doll, Samuel Malott..

The old l\Ietlrodist Episcopal Church building was pur­
chased and fitted up for a hall, the building and lot costing
$650, fixtures about $:250, going in debt for the whole,
which indebtedness was paid within two years. In the
summel' of 1874 the building was enlarged and remodeled
at a cost of $1750, aud the hall is now one of the finest in
the-county.

The following are the namcs of those W]lO have served as
Noble Grand from the illstitution to the present: 1\1. J.
'V. Holter, I. ,Y. John, 'V. H. Duly, J. 'V. Hunt, R. D.
Hewitt, G. Schwab, P. Crumbaugh, I-l. Householder, Sam­
uel Malott, '\V. F. Bagby, Frank Apple, J. R. Mundell, 'V.
O. Malott, P. Brunaugh. The present officers are C. 'V.
Thompson, N. G.; D. 'V. Hulick, V. G.; 'V. H. Mead,
Uec. Sec.; J. 'V. Hunt, Perm. Sec.; G. Schwab, Treas.,
who has filled t]w same office continuously since the insti­
tution except two years. The present trustees are George
Fishback, 1. 'V. John, and 'V. ,Y. Hulick.

Two members have died, viz., D. F. Thompson and W.
H. Duly.

The lodge now has a membership of 62, and property
and fixtures worth $3000.
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village was George I-runt, an old-time pedagogue, but withal
an excellent teacher, with a discipline equal to military rule,
who taught from ncar 18U) to 1822. Then came the mer­
curial Alexander Blair, who, besides being a teacher, was
associate judge of the Common Pleas Court for many
years, an efficient postmaster, and good surveyor. Stephen
GiLson came in to teach afterwards, and was followed by
Eben 'Hall and his wife, both painstaking, systematic
teachers. A Mr. Dodge held forth for some time, and faith­
fully trained the youth. Professor Morrell was a quiet
tcach(~r who loyed his books. Philip Hopkins, about 1832,
taup;ht. 1'hcn came John Hill, the mathematical teacher,
precise and trim, like his surveying, of which he did much
and of which his Ulap of the county of 1857 is a model.
] n 1835, Enoch Dunll was the pedagogue, succeeded by
Charles 1\1. Smith, the best known of all the old teachers,
a fine penman, who believed in the very ancient system of
iron discipline. Thomas 1\1. Lewis, after Smith, or during
some of the interregnums of Smith's reigns (for he taught a
while and then was at other business), made a kind, lovable
teacher.

The old brick school-house at the head of Main Street,
the first and only one ever built for school purposes, save
the present elegant structure, was erected in 1842 or 1843.

Pursuant to a public notice dated May 6, 1850, and
signed by John .M. Brown, 'William Wayland, Jr., O. T.
Fishback, James Evans, William Wayland, John W. Lowe,
Thomas Kain, L. B. Leeds, C. 31. Smith, John ,Y. Kain,
and Eo Spence, the qualified electors in school district No.
1, of Batayia township, were called on to vote for or against
the adoption in said district of the" act for the better regu­
lation of' public schools in cities, towns, etc.," passed by
General Assembly, Feb. 21, 1849. At this election, held
:May 18, 1850, of which John W. Lowe was chairman, and
~r. Q. Ashburn clerk, the electors voted, by 29 to ~, to
adopt the special district system. Thus, the Batavia special
school district was organized, and its first election for a board
of education was held on June 1, 1850, when the following
wcre elected: John 1\1. Brown, L. B. Leeds, for three years;
John W. Lowe, T. S. Bryan, for two years; O. T. Fish-

. buck, Edward Scofield, for one year, of whom Edward Sco­
field WaS Prcsident; John W. Lowe, Secretary; and L. B.
J..ceds, Treasurer. Teachcrs for the year 1850 were: First
Male Teacher, C. W. l)age; Second Male Teacher, George
L. Swing; First Female Teacher, Sarah Thompson; Assist­
ant Female Teacher, Amanda Bryan. Edward Scofield
having renlOv~d,David C. Bl'yan was elected director in his
place, and the vacancy of president filled by O. T. Fishback.

1851.-Charles 1\1. Smith and Lott Hulick were elected
directors for three years. Teachers, George J.J. Swing"Sarah
G. Thompson, Amanda Bryan, Orin Temple, D. W. Roude­
Lu~h, Alice Dennison, Elizabeth Hulick.

1852.~Jollathan D. Morris llnd John W. Lowe elected
directors for three years. Teachers, Rev. J. Delamater,
Principal; Sarah G. Thompson, Elizabeth Hulick.

185:~.-L. B. Leeds and Joseph A. Weaver elected
directors for three years. Teachers, Sarah G. Thompson,
Amanda Bryan, Elizabeth Hulick, :;\I.ary Titus, William
H.Mount; Principal, N. 1\1. Preble, John Furguson.

1854.-Lott Hulick and C. l\'1~ Smith elected directors

for three years. John W. Lowe having removed, P. B.
Swin~ was appointed in his place, but resigning after a few
months, Dr. J. C. Kennedy was appointed. Teachers,.J.
A. Sloane, Principal; Elizabeth Hulick, Clarissa Collins,
and Henry P. Collins, in place of Sloane, who rerused to
accept.

1855.-Jonathan Johnson and D. L. Goff were chosen
direct~rs for three years, and G. ,Y. Dennison and J. A.
\Veaver for two years. J. S. Dustin and C. A. Moore were
appointed in February to fill the places of J. A. Weaver
and J. C. Kennedy, resigned. Teachers, J. A. Sloane,
Principal; Josephine It. Davis, Assistant; Primary, 1\1ary
K Taylor, and Secondary, Millie F. Stone.

185G.-Directors elected for three years, J. C. Kennedy
and J. l\I. McGrew; but the former declining, John John­
ston was elected by the board in his stead, and G. W. Den­
nison lUl\'ing resigned, T. Q. Ashburn WaS appointed in his
.place. Teachers, D. W. Stevens, Principal; Mary E. '.fay­
lor, Martha A. Sutton, Miss Dearborn.

1857.-Directol's for three years, P. B. Swing and H.
V. Kerr; for two years, John Johnston. 'reachers, J. A.
Sloane, Principal; 1\1. H. Fitch, MartIta A. Sutton, aud Miss
1\1. E. Ogden.

1858.-Directors elected, C. 1\1. Smith and Abel S.
Smith, for three years, and 'r. S. Bryan, for two years."
1'cachers, J. W. Mahan, Principal; 1\1. H. Jj'itch, Secon­
dary Department; Lizzie Fishback, Intermediate; and Miss
1\1. Eo Ogden, Primary. Mr. 1\lahan's election was after­
wards annulled, and J. A. Sloane taught the year as prin­
cipal.

1859.-P. B. Swing and J.l\I. McGrew·elected directors
for three years. Teachers, J. A. Sloane, Principal; M. H.
Fitch, Secondary Department; Lydia A. Tedrow, Inter­
mediate; and Hachel E. Rust, Primary.

1860.-George L. Swing and J. P. Leonard elected di­
rectors for three years. Teachers, George H. Hill, Prin­
cipal; William Pease, Intermediate Department; Miss M.
E. Fitch, Secondary; and ~Irs. McMurphy, Primary.

18G i.-Director::; elected for three years, C. 1\'1. Smith
and Abel S. Smith. Teachers, G. H. Hill, Principal; H .
V. Kerr, Secondary Department; 1\1rs. McMurphy, Inter­
mediate; Rachel E. Uust, Pl;in~ary; and summer term
teachers, Mrs. McMurphy and Hachel E. Rust.

18G2.-Directors elected for three years, A. J. Sprague
and J. 1\1. McGrew. SUlllmer teachers, H. V. Kerr and
Mrs. McMurphy. 'Winter teachers, J. C. Morris, Prin­
cipal; G. W. Felter, Secondary; :Millie Stone, Mrs. Mc­
Murphy.

1863.-George L. Swing and J. P. Leonard elected
directors for three and ,Y. J. Rust for two years. Teachers,
J. C. Morris, Principal; Miss Electa Grow, Intermediate;

. 1\1rs. McMurphy, Secondary; and Millie Stone, Primary.
1864.-Directors elected for three years, C. M. Smith

and Abel S. Smith. Teachers, G. ,Y. Felter, Superin­
tendent·; Harris Smethurst, Secondary; l\Ia~y E. Taylor.
The summer schools were taught by Caroline McMurphy,
Millie F. Stone, and Cornelia Moore.

1865.-Directol's elected, J. A. Rhodes and Abel S.
Smith for three years, II. Smethurst and Lewis Tice for
two years. Teachers, G. 'V. l?elter" Principal; Frank
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Browning, Fh'st Assistant; Cornelia 1\100re, Third; and
Libbie Riley, Fourth Department; Hannah 1\[oore, Pri­
mary.

1866.-Directors, C. 1\1. Smith and James B. Wallace
elected for three years, and W. B. C. Stirling fur two years.
Teachers, G. 'V. Felter, Principal; H. Smethurst, First

,Assistant; Rhoda Bannister, Cornelia Moore.
1867.-Direetors elected for three years, Abel S. Smith

and J. A. Rhodes, and for two years, John 'V. Duckwall.
'l'eachers, G. 'V. Felter, Principal; First Assistant, -­
Collins; Third, Nellie Moore; li'ourth, Mollie Hay.

18G8.-Directors elected fur three years, 'V. B. C. Stir~

ling and H. Smethurst. Teachers, G. 'V. Felter, Principal;
l·'irst Assistant, Cornelia Moore; Second, Mollie Hay;
Third, 1\1rs. Laura McMillen.

1869.-Directors electcd for three years, G. 'V. Hulick
and J. W. Duckwall. Teachers, Principal, Georfre ..w.
:Felter; 'Assistant, H. Smethurst, Mrs. Laura Mc~1illen,

Rhoda Bannister, and William Pease.
1870.-Directors elected for three years, C. H. Kain and

S. F. Dowdney. and J. W. Neely,.for one year. Teachers,
Principal, G. W. Felter; I!'irst Assistant, Sallie Hillis;
Second, Rhoda L. Bannister; Third, Kate Buvinger; and
Fourth, 1\1rs. Laura l\IcMillen; Samuel Fox, colored teacher.

1871.-Directors elected for three years, W. B. C. Stir­
ling and J. M. Neeley, and for two years, George W. Gregg.
Teachers, Principal, G. 'V. Felter; First Assistant, Sallie
Hillis; Second, Mary Brunaugh; and Third, Mrs. Laura
l\IcM.illen; colored teacher, Orlando S. Fox.

The first vote taken in the district on the project to build
a new school edifice was on June 5, 1871, which resulted­
for school-house and site, yeas, 80; nays, 23 ; and for annual
levy of $:3000 for five years, yea8, 80; nays, 22. The ar­
rangements were made for the splendid building that adorns
the town, and by a subsequent vote more money was granted.
1872.~The present school-lot was purchased of R. W.

Clarke, in April, for $759, and consists of 2iTlo acres, as
surveyed April 9th, by George 'V. Felter, at which period
the board WaS composed of W. B. C. Stirling, President;
George 'V. Hulick, Clerk; S. F. Dowdney, George W.
Gregg, John ~L Neely, and John 'V. Duckwall. On April
29th, on motion of G. W. Gregg, it was resolved to build
a new school-house that would accommodate not less than
500 pupils, and that the board proceed at once to obtain all
the necessary information as to plans and specifications and
the cost thereof:. John 'W. Duckwall and G. "w. Hulick
were elected directors for three years, and the board elected
J. 1\1. Neely, President; G. W. Hulick, Clerk; and J. 'V.
Duckwall, Treasurer. Teachers, N. B. Ross, Principal;
First Assistant, Kate Buvinger; Mary Brunaugh, Nellie
Moore, and 1\1rs. Laura E. l\lcl\Iillen. Miss Jennie Moore
taught the colored school.

1873.-In February the board adopted a design for the
new building aftor the one at Columbus, Ohio, and employed
P. A. Schlapp, an architect of that city, to draw up the
plans and specifications. Bonds to the amount vf $15,000
were issued to pay the cost of the school-house, due in one,
two, three, four, and five years,-ten for $100, and ten for
$50 each, bearing 8 per cent. interest, payable the 1st days
of March and September each year. On May 10th the

:14

contract to erect the house was awarded to Joseph Hannold
and Robert Jeremiah, both citizens of the county, at
$18,800, the board furnishing the brick. The edifice was
built of brick, resting on a limestone foundation, procured
in the neighborhood, and is trimmed with Ohio River free­
stone, and presents an almost. square appearance. It is two
stories hi~h, with slated roof, surmounted by a centre bel­
fry containing a bell, weighing 700 pounds, and of most
excellent tone. It has six large recitation-rooms and a lec­
ture-hall 24 by 78 feet, and is seated to accommodate 400
persons. At one end is a ~pacious stage 18 feet wide, sup­
plied with appropri;1te scenery, the donation of the histrionic
society of the town.. S. F. Dowdney and G. 'V. Gregg
were elected directors for three years. Teachers, Austin
'Vood, Principal; Miss Abbie Porter, Miss Lou Patterson,
and Jennie Moore.

1874.-'V. B. C. Stirling and John ,1\1. Neely were
elected directors for three years, and the board chose G. W.
Grcfr~, President; Treasurer, J. 'V. Duckwall; alld Clerk,
W. B. C. Stirling. 1'he 'new school-house' was wholly
completed in 1874,-on February 9, $~)uOtJ additional hav­
ing been voted by the tax-payers,-and ill September was
formally dedicated by a very large assemblage ill its rooms
of the citizens and school-children, who marched in a pro­
cession from the old building; and interesting addresses,
abounding in' happy reminiscences, were delivered by Philip
B. Swing, S. F. Dowdney, G. 'V. Hulick, and others.
Teachers: Austin Woods, Principa~; H. B. Mattox, First
AS8istant; Miss Lou Patterson, Second Assistant; Miss
Abbie Porter, Third; and Miss Jennie Moore, Fourth.
These were the first teachers in the new edifice.

1875.-G. 'V. Hulick and J ...w. Duckwall elected di­
rectors for three years, and the board now organized with
G. ,Y. Hulick, President; W. B. C. Stirling, Clerk; and
J. 'V. Duckwall, Trea~urer. Teachers: Austill Wood,
Principal; First Intermediate, H. B. Mattox; Second,·
Miss l~ou Patterson; Third, Miss L. E. Anno; Primary,
Jennie Moore.

1876.-Stephen S. Robinson and Frank White were
elected directors for three years, and the new boal'd reor­
ganized, to wit: President, G. W. Hulick; Olerk, W. B.
C. Stirlillg; and Treasurer, J. 'V. Duckwall. Teachers: G.
vV. l;'elter, Principal; First Assistant, Ll. B. ~lattox; Miss
Jennie 1\1oore, Room C; Miss L. H.1\1orin, H.uOlll D; Mrs.
Mary. Lane, Room E.

1877.-vVilliam Baum and W. B. C. Stirling elected
directors for three years. No change in officers of the
board. Teachers: G. W. F.elter, Principal; Room C, H.
B. Mattox; Room D, Mrs. Jennie l\I. Bryan; Room E,
Miss L. H. Morin; and Room of Prilllltry Department,
1\1rs. Mary Lane.

1878.-J. C. McMath and J. W. Duckwali elected di­
rectors. Board reorganized, to wit: Frallk White, Presi­
dent; J. W. Duckwall, Treasurer; alld W. B. C. Stirling,
Clerk. 'reachers: J. N. Stewart, Principal; H. B. Mattox,
First Assistant; Second, Miss Kate Wright; Third, Mrs.
Mary Lane; and Primary Department, Miss Cassie Crane.
'V. E. Potts succeeded Mr. Mattox after New Year's, as the
latter resigned to enter upon his duties as clerk of the Com­
mon Pleas Court, to which he bad been elected in the
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previous October. John H. Lewis, teacher in colored
school.

18i9.-Directors elected for three years, Peter F. Swing
and Frank White. The following is the official roster for
this year and till June, 1880: Board of ]~ducation, Frank
'Yhite, President; 'V. B. C. Stirling, Clerk; John 'V.
Duckwall, Treasurer; William llaum, Peter F. Swing, and
James C. Mc1\1ath. Standing Committees: School, Stirling
and Swing; Colored Schools, Baum and l\lcl\Iath; Build­
ings and School Property, Duckwall and Mdlath; Fuel,
Baum and McMath.

Corps of Teachers: F. 1\1. All~n, Superintendent; W. E.
Potts, Kate Wright, Miss L. V. Clark, Cassie Crane, J.
H. Lewis, Teacher of Colored Department. In 1878-79
the average monthly wages paid teachers were-males, $G7,
and females, $32. 'Veeks of school, 36. Pupils enrolled,
boys, 1-13; girls, 12-1; total, 267. Avera~e attendance,
boys, 121; girls, 109; total, 230. Among the studies
pursued were arithmetic, 2-16; grammar, 204; natural
philosophy, 18; algebra, 3~; German, 9; Latin, 9; rhet­
oric, 1-1; and botany, 22.

The colored school has been maintained separate from
the other for some nine years. In the school year 1878-i9
it had enrolled 13 boys and 15 girls, of' whom 23 studied
arithmetic, 17 geography, and -1 in alphabet. The Batavia
special school district embraces all the c')rporation limits and
all the country in the valley from the mouth of Four-Mile
Creek to George ,Yo Duckwall's, not including the Infirmary
farm.

In the winter of 18i9-80 a series of good and entertain­
ing lectures were given by its superintendent" F. 1'1. Allen,
on scientific subjects, which were illustrated by interesting
practical expel'imcnts.

HKbIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

Among the very first settlers of Batavia were members
of the Methodist Church, who held their class relation at
Milford, distant tweh-e miles. There Ezekiel Dimmitt, his
wife Phoobe and others attended meeting, going through
dense woods over a road which was in most places a mere
path. Occasionally, at that early day (1798), prayer­
meetings were held among the members living near Bata­
via, but it does not appear that a church organization was
here effected until about 1807, when John Mitchell, Sarah
Mitchell, Sarah Halliday, Thomas Halliday, Ezekiel Dim­
mitt, Phoobe Dimmitt, Enoch Gest, Ida Gest, and possibly
a few others, were constituted a class, which was the
nucleus of the present

BATAVIA l\IETIIODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The first named was the class-leader, and at his house,
which was about a mile south or" the present village, the
preaching lVas usually held. Later, however, the house of
Thomas Halliday, nearer the village, wail uiled for thiil
purpose, and other members were added to the church,
aillong them being Abraham Hulick, James Hulick, Anna
Hulick, Uebecca Hulick, 'Villiam and Prudence Hust, and
members of the Weaver family. In the fhll of 1815 a
camp-meeting was held near the house of Ezekiel Dimmitt,
the first in this part of' the county, wllich was well attended,

and prod uced a great deal of interest in the cause of rc­
ligion. In 18HJ-:W camp-meetings were he~d at John
Mitchell's, and thereafter, at stated periods, these means
were employed to bring the people together for public
worship in larger numbers than could be accommodated in
the houses of that day.

In the filiI of 1817 the initiatory steps for building a
meeting-house at Batavia were taken. Some stones were
drawn to the site selected and money collected to rear the
walls, Ezekiel Dimmitt being the builder. But slow prog­
ress was made, and three years elapsed before the house
was fully completed. In the mean time services were held
in the house, the first congregation finding seats on the joists
before the floor was laid. The sermon was preached by
the Hev. Arthur 'V. Elliott, at that time the eircuit
preacher, and when the house was completed it was also
dedicated by him; but the time of consecration is not re­
~embered. As originally built, the meeting-house presented
quite a different appearance inside. There were gallel'les
on the sides and at the north end, and the preacher as­
cended a large high pulpit to proclaim the 'Yord. Yet
the house was a great accommodation to the church and
the public, which used it for some time as a school-house,
for public gatherings, and here, also, were held the first
terms of the Clermont courts when Batavia became the
county-seat. In the venerable old house have preached
and labored the sainted filthers of Methodism in the 'Vest
whose names appear elsewhere. Here, also, have publi~hed

the truths of the gospel the local ministers, Laban Brazier,
Jesse Justice, James Ward, Elijah :Mattox, Richard Cord,
John Hill, Aaron Burtwell, and James Harris, whose labors
have added llIany to the roll of membership.

The church at natavia is at present formed of three
classes, under the leadership of Philip B. Swing, William
Pease, and William Howard, and has an aggregate mem­
bership of more than 200 persons. The Sunday-school
has also a membership exceeding 125, and 'Villiam Pease
is the superintendent.

The official members of the circuit are the following:
Charles Robinson, Local Preacher.; Joseph Kidd, Joseph
Jenkins, Cornelius 1\IcCullom, James Burnett, William
Harden,.and Nelson Applegate, Exhorters; John W. Duck­
wall, William Pease, Joseph Kidd, Charles H. Weaver,
James Buruett., Nelson Applegate, Frank 1\1. Duckwall,
Cornelius ,McCollum, and Joseph Jenkins, Stewards; and
the trustees of the church in the village of Batavia are
Philip B. Swing, Frank 'Vhite, 'Yilliam Pease, William
Baum, John W. Duckwall, James Huliek, and J. P.
Leonard. The meeting-house is in fair repair, and affords
a comfurtable place of worship. Its valuation was reported
at $20UO. The parsonage has a separate board of' trustees,
viz.: Charles Hobinson, William Pease, J. R. Woodlief,
Frank White, C. H. Weaver, and Frank Acra. It is worth
$1200. The church forms a part of Batavia Circuit" and
the names of' the ministers who have been here located are
given on a page following.

THE PISGAH METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHUHCH.

At this point was organized,.about 1816, a class which
first assembled at the house of a man named Mason, and
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later at the house of John 'Winner, the former's son-in-law.
Among the members are remembered the names of Daniel
Parker, the Masons, the Atchleys, Mary Kidd, and the
Curlis fhmily. Some time about 1818 a log meeting-house
wus built on the site of the present church, which was de­
stroyed by an incendiary twenty years later. In the present
house services have not been held with any regularity since
1854, although the right to the property has always been
maintained by the denomination: and an occasional fun~ral

service is yet here held. In 1879 the trustees were Nelson
Applegate, Joseph Weaver, and C. H. Marshall. The in­
terests of the Pisgah Society have been divided between
the Clermont Chapel Society and

THE BRANCH lULL CHURCH.

The latter body became organic on the 15th of January,
1853, when Samuel Weaver, Charles Robinson, Sr., Thomas
Husong, Abijah Armacost, John Knight, Thomas Hitch,
'Charles Robinson, Jr., Joseph Marshall, and Asa Smith
became the trustees. A lot was secured, for the purpose
of building a church, from John Duckwall, and a com­
mittee appointed to erect a house thereon of brick, 40 by
50 feet. The contract for doing the bl~ck-work was awarded
to K C. Stiles, and the carpenter-work to 'Villiam Lytle.
Other awards of labor were made, and on the 17th of March,
1854, the church was fully completed at a cost of $1615.90.
The following day the first congregation assembled within
its walls and listened to a sermon by the Rev. George W.
'Valker, and ~t night to one preached by Rev. A. U. BeaI.
At elevcn o'clock t.he next morning (Sunday) the Rev. Dr.
Clark preached the dedicatory sermon from 1 Tim. iv. 8.

As part of the Batavia Circuit, the church now enjoyed
services at stated periods until Aug. 25, 1861, when preach­
ing was here discontinued and not resumed until July 15,
1866. Since that period meetings have been maintained
with cunsiderable regularity, the ministerial service being
from Batavia. The church has at present (1879) 31 mem­
ber~, forming a class led by Nelson Applegate. The church
property was valued at $2000, and was controlled by Simeon
'Veaver, Frank M. Duckwall, Jacob Wolf, Nelson Apple­
gate, and 'V. A. Hanson.

TIlE CLERl\IONT CHAPEL OF THE METHODIST EPISCO­
PAL CHURCH.

The members of the Methodist Church in the eastern
part of the township, living along the Williamsburgh turn­
pike, built a house of worship with the above namc in
1848, and occupied it until 1873, when a new chapel was
built at Afton in the township of WiIliamsburgh. 1'he
old house was'erected under the superintendence of J. C.
B~wne, William Harden, and Jacob White, and yet re­
m ains as a residence on tlie Kennedy farm. The present
chapel, a small but· well-arranged house, was built by a
committee composed of O. H. Harden, James ··W. Burnett,
and C. 1\lcCullom, in 1873. It is valued at $1500, and
has for its trustees C. H. 'Weaver, Joseph Jenkins, Corne­
lius McCullom, J. C. Bowne, and J. N. Burnett.

1'he membership of' the chapel belongs to the Batavia
Circuit, and is divided into four classes under the leadership
of Charles Henry Weaver, 48 members; Cornelius McCol.
lum, 28 members; Joseph Jenkins, 22 members; and

J ames Burnett, 62 members. A Sunday-school having
130 members, superintended by William S. Lattimer, con­
tributes to the interest and welfare of the Chapel Society.

At Carter's School-house is a class of ~lethodists, which
has William B. Lukemil'es as its leadei·. It numbers about
60 mcmbers.

The Batavia Circuit with the above charges was erectcd
in 1875, and fOI' the three years following thc Rev. J. H.
Leas was the minister. In the fall of 1878 he was suc­
ceeded by the present pastor, the Rev. VV. H. Sunderland,
D.D.

Originally, Batavia was a part of the )1 ilford Circuit, and
sustained that relation undl 1838, when a new cit'cuit WllS

formed, which embraced Williamsburgh and 11IallY other
points, with the name of Batavia. Thi~ was continued until
1852, when 'Yilliamsburgh Circuit was formed and Boston
added to Batavia, remaining connected therewith until 1875,
whcn the prcsent bounds were established. For the names
of the ministers prior to 1838 the reader is referred to the
history of Milford Methodist Church. The following have
been the ministers appointed by the several Conferences to
Batavia Circuit:

Preachers 1'n ClIaJ:qe.-1838, Rc\'s. David Whit.comb,
J olm Miley; 1839, Revs. 'Villiam Parish, Micah G. Pur­
kiser; 1840, Rev. Micah G. Purkiser; 1841, Revs. G. R.
Jones, John Preston; 1842, Revs. G. R. Jones, Joseph
Gatch; 1843, Revs. John ·W. Clark, William 1. Fee; 1844,
Revs. John W. Clark, O. P. Willi!lms j 1845, :Revs. Barton
Lowe, Thomas K. Coleman; 1846, Revs. Barton Lowe,
Andrew J. McLaughlin; 1847, Revs. H. Wharton, Enoch
'West j 1848-49, Rev. L. D. Harlan j 1850, Revs. David
Whitman, John 'V. Ross; 1851, Revs. Levi P. Miller, G.
C. Townsley; 1852, Revs. C. G. Meredith, 1\1. P. Zink;
1853, Revs. James B. Austin, A. 1\1. Beal j 1854, Revs.
Truman S. Cowden, J olm F. Spence; 1855, Revs. Truman
S. Cowden, 'V. B. Jackson; 1856, Revs. James Armstrong,
A. P. Dunlap; 1857, Revs. James Armstrong, 'V. G. 'V.
Lewis; 1858, Rev. W. G. 'V. Lewis; 1859, Rev. N. Herron;
1860, Rf>vs. T. Lee, A. M. Lorane; 1861-62, Revs. B.
Glasscock, Levi P. Miller; 1863, ltevs. A. N. Spahr, Wil­
liam F. Mc:\'Iullen ; 186-:1:-65, Revs. A. N. Spahr, T. Head j

1866, Hevs. H. Stokes, W. E. Hines; 1867, Revs. 'V. Eo
Hines, H. C. Middleton; 1868, Revs. R. K. Deem, A.
Hamilton; 1869, Revs. R. K. Deem, J. F. Hull; 1870,
Revs. H. l\I. Keck, J. M. Whi.tney j 1871-72, Revs. W.
F. Mc;)lullen, H. :M. Keck ; 1873-74, Revs. J.J. M. Davis,
M. P. Zink; 1875-77, Rev. J. H. Leas; 1878, Rev. W.
H. Sunderland.

Eldel's.-1838-39, Rev. William B. Christie j 1840-43,
'Villiam H. Raper j 1843-46, Michael Marlay; 1847~50,

Joseph 1\1. Trcmble j 1851-54, J. F. Wright; 1855-58,
William Young; 1859-6~, John W. Fowble; 1863-66,
J amcs Kendell; 1867, J. G. Black; 1868-70, S. Bennett;
1H71-72, Alexander Mahara, J. K. Chalfant; 187n-79,
J: K. Chalfant, Granville :Moody j 1875-77, Granville
:Moody j 1878-HO, 'V. 1. Fee.

BATAVIA PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The meetings held in the court-house by occasional min­
isters, sent hither as missionaries by th~ Presbytery, or
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coming from neighboring churches, awakened so much in­
terest that a society was organized at the same place on
Saturday, Dec. In, 1829, with the following as constituent
members: Hobert Townsley, Brice It. Blair, James Dennis,
Mary Dennis, Margaret 'Vood, Nancy Townsley, Caroline
Fishback, and Eliza Vorhies.' The ministers in attendance
were the Uevs. R. B. Dobbins, of Williamsburgh ; Thomas
Cole, of New Richmond; and Jonathan 1'1. Howland, who
became the first pastor of the church, and who the following
Sunday first administered the rites of the holy sacrament.
Brice A. Blair and James Dennis were elected the first
mling elders. They warmly co-operated with the pastor,
alld through their united labors the church became so fully
established tllat the building of a frame llleeting-hous~ was
hegun the ensuing year and so far completed that it could
be occupied fin' worship. Here the meetings were there­
after held, and the church greatly prospered. At the end
of the first year there wer~ 30 members, and at the close of
the second the number had increased to 51. But this
prosperous growth was soon impaired and almost checked
in subsequent years on account of the lack of pastoral sup­
plies and regular seasons oCpreaching. In May, 1832,
Mr. Rowland discontinued his labors with the church, but
was soon after succeeded by the Rev. F. Hutherford, who
remained only a few months. The remainder of the year
Dr. Thomas Brainard, Dr. Lyman Beecher, and Prof.
Stowe, from the J.Jane Seminary, held occasional services.

In May, 1833, the Rev. George Beecher began to preach,
nnd in August of the same year received a call to become
pastor. He accepted, and labored successfully with the
church until Oct. 1, 1837, leaving the church in a flourish­
ing condition. He had his home with Bl"ice B.. Blair, and
here he was occasionally visited by members of the Beecher
family. On one occasion Henry 'Yard Beecher, then an
ungainly and awkward youth, attending the Lane Seminary,
was persuaded by Mr. Blair and Judge Fishback to occupy
the pulpit on Saturday evening. He reluctantly consented,
and 1'1r. Blair lit up the church, rang the bell, and called in
the people (who were not unwilling guests in those days),
to whom the great divine preached his first sermon. llev.
George Beecher was an energetic young man, of pleasing
address, and was greatly esteemed by the community.

From 1837 till 1844 the Revs. James Dunlap, ~Ioses

H. 'Wilder, Amos Dresser, and Claudius B. Andrews each
preached here for periods of less than a year. In the same
time the pulpit was supplied by the Rev. James Black, of
Mount Carmel; the Rev. James B. 'Yalker, of New Rich­
mond; the Rev. Joseph Chester; and oth.ers from I.Janc
Seminary. A part of the time the church was too feeble
to sustain a minister, and its interests consequently deelined
to a large extent.'

In 1844 the Rev. Edward Scofield began his labors here,
preaching "part of the time at the Monroe church, and suc­
ceeded in awakening considerable interest. He remained
until 1850, and in the last year of his pastorate 19 mem­
bers were added on a single occasion. His labors as a
pastor during the cholera scourge of 1849 brought the
comforts of religion to Ulany of the afflicted people. After
Mr. Scofield's retirement, and until 1861, there was again
a lack of pastoral sen·ice. In 1S52, Isaac Delamater

sometimes supplied the church, but it appears that for the
next four years tllere was no preaching at a)). In 1856 the
Rev..n. F. Neil was employed and supplied the church
about eight Ulonths. Again, for five years, the little flock
was without a shepherd, and many wandered to other folds,
while others passed away to their long homes, leaving the
membership very small. A few remained faithful to a
purpose that the Pi'esbyterian Church in Batavia should
not perish but be a monument of strength in the commu­
nity; but considering that of the 18 members only two
were males and that their house of worship had become old
and out of repair, the object seemed a hard one to accom­
plish, and its ,rchievement required many untiring efforts
and heroic sacl'ifices. 'With a faith in the possibility of the
work, a subscription list was circulated for funds to ereet a
new house of worship, which was so much encouraged that
on the 18th of March: 1859, a contract was made to erect
the house on the site of the old one. A change of loca­
tion being suggested the work of rebuilding was delayed,
but on the 26th of December, 1859, the old meeting-house
was finally sold for $'200. The building yet remains near
the Clermollt Sun office, and is at present used as a carriage­
house by the proprietor of the" Hamilton House."

In the spring of 18GO the new church edifice was begun,
the corncr-stone being laid April 23d. The preliminary
meeting was held at the court-house, and was addressed by
the Rev. Geo. l\'I. Maxwell, of Cincinnati. 'Vork on the
buildin~ progressed slowly, and finally came altogether to a
standstill. Meantime, the church held its meetings in
Robinson's Hall, and here, May 12, 1861, the Rev. J~ L.
French began his pastorate. He was a young minister,
having preached but a few times before, but was imbued
with much zeal, and, despite the almost hopeless outlook for
the future of the society, decided to occupy the place which
had been tendered him. At the same time that he an­
nounced this purpose (May 26, 18(1) the church was
reorganized and the communion was again, the first time
in lllttny years, celebrated.

At this period the constituent members were Lott Hu­
lick, J ohl1 Hull, and sixteen women, viz.: Martha P.
'raHey, Mary H. Swing, Paulina H. Wayland, Paulina C.
Brown, Clarissa 'Vhite, Amand:i. Boyd, Jane Rust, F~liza

P. Dennis, H. "'...orsteH, Cenith, Almera, and Mary Tate,
Catherine Carr, Harriet N. West, Jane Applegate, and
:Marcella :M. Spence. Lott Hulick was chosen deacon.

The meetings were afterwards held in Jamieson's htl]),
but after many struggles to this end, with the aid of an
unexpected benefaction from John Hull, who died :l\Iarch
27, 1866, leaving the church a bequest of $293, the house
was finished Dec. 22, 1866, and was formally dedicated
Jan. 20, 1867. The consecration sermon was preached by
the Rev. E. L. Davis, and was followed by a sketch of the
history of the church by the pastor, the Rev. J. L. French.
rhe house is a plain but substantial brick edifice, 35 by 54
feet, and has a tower 45 feet high. It is neatly furnished and
valued at $3000. The controlling trustees in 1879 were
T. G. BOJd, John White, and George 'V. Moore. Other
trustees have been O. T. Fishback, John ffI. Brown, An­
drew Foote, Hobert Townsley, S. Y. Thornton, Lott, Hu­
lick, Andrew V. Hopkins, William Lytle, James Pickens,
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S. S. Robinson, George ,Yo Hulick, Milton Jamieson, and
George J.J. Swing. The three last named served when the
meeting-house was completed.

On account of poor health Mr. French left the church
in the filII of 1867 in charge of Hev. H. A; Ketchum as a
supply, but returned to his place on the 11th of January,
1868, and continued his ministrations until Aug. 30,1868.
The Rev. George F. Fitch succeeded him as a stated sup­
ply, and served the church nearly two years, when he left
as a missionary to China. On the Jstof November, 1873,
the Rev. J. B. Smith was engaged to supply the church,
and continued in this capacity several years. Since Jan.
1, 1878, the pastor has been the Hev. William Carson.

The church has had an aggregate membership of 317,
and in December, 1879, had 106 communicants. The
ruling elders at that time were GeOl:ge L. Swing, Andrew
J. Applegate, Milton Jamieson, and L. W. Bishop. This
offi.ce has also been held by Brice It. Blair, James Dennis,
Andrew Foote, 'Vashington F. Spence, Calvin A. 'Warren,
John Lytle, Joseph Chester, Otis Dudley, George W. Hu­
lick, and William H. Weaver. One of the elders, Joseph
Chester, became a minister. The church belongs to the
Cincinnati Presbytery, and the clerk of the sessions is
Milton Jamieson.

The Sunday-school, which had been allowed to go down,
was also reorganized in 1861, and is now highly prosperous.
It has an attendance of 136 members, and is superintended
by James B. Swing.

TIlE GERMAN CHURCH OF TilE UNITED BRETHREN
IN BATAVIA VILLAGE.*

At a session of the Quarterly Conference of the German
United Brethren, held ill the Second Church in Cincinnati, in
1871, the Rev. C. Streich was appointed to visit Milford and
the surroundin~ country to preach every three weeks. Ac­
cordingly, meetings were held at Milford in a hall, at New
Boston in the school-house, and at Willowville in the Ger­
man Lutheran church, from which resulted, in the fall of
that year, a congregation at Boston which numbered 28
members. The sallle season the Rev. G. Schmidt was ap­
pointed as the successor of the Rev. Streich, who com­
menced holding meetings in Batavia, and in 1874 organized
a congregation there which numbered 23 members, and
which had F. Schubert as class-leader, and John Erion as
steward.

At the annual Conference in 1874 Batavia and Bos­
ton were formed into a mission to be supplied by the
Hev. J. Moeller, who served until 1876, when the Rev. F.
Albrecht became his successor: That year the church in
Boston was built under the trusteeship of J. Liller, l\:t.
l\1argely, and C. Bielefeldt; and at a later session of the
same quarterly Conference it was voted to erect a house of
worship at Batavia. Trustees were appointed as follows:
J. Wolf, F. Schubert, and John Erion. The house-an
inviting frame edifice, 26 by 40 feet, surmounted by a
slllall belfry-was completed in the fall of 1877, at a cost
of $1525. It was dedicated in an appropriate manner,
September 2d, by the Rev. 'V. J. Shuey, of Dayton, as­
bisted by the Revs. A. Krause and the pastor, F. Albrecht.
------_._-----------------

* Compiled from an account by the Rev. A. Kopittke.

The latter ended his pastorate in 1878, I'eporting a mem­
bership of 60 in Batavia and 36 in New Boston. The
Rev. A. Kopittke then began his pastoral connection, and
in January, 1878, formed a congregation of 23 persons at
'Villowville, which has since become a part of the charge,
and has been served by the minister from Batavia. The
membership at the three appointments numbers 140, 75 of
whom belong to Batavia.

In May, 1879, the circuit purchased a parsonage, at a
cost of $850, in the village of. Batavia, and is making ar­
rangements to build a house of worship at Willowville.

TIlE UNION CIIAPEL OF THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL
CHURCH.

As early 3S 1808 Methodist preaching was regularly
maintained at the house of Charles Robinson, on Lucy's
Run, and continued seven or eight years. At the end of
that time Mr. Robinson and his colaborers in this moral
vineyard-Henry Miley, David Tedrow, John Troy, Joseph
Smith, Seth Dunham, John 'Wageman, Josiah Fairfield,
Richard Doughty, Abram Miley, Robert Chapman, Isaac
Tedrow, Benjamin Troy, and Charles Robinson, Jr.­
united their efforts to build a hewed log meeting-house,
which was soon completed, and was long known as Robin­
son's Church. In the course of years this house no lon-ger
served the purpose of the builders, and in 1832 a neat frame
edifice was erected, on a site half a mile' from the old one,
which received the present name. ~gain the changes of
time rendered it unfit for Divine worship, and in 1874 the
present church building, also a frame, was erected in its
stead. The building committee was composed of R. Belt,
B. F. Moyer, and J. F. Hitch, and the house cost $1800.
It was formally dedicated by Rev. Dr. Wentworth. The
present trustees are J. W. Davis, B. F. Moyer, B. Daly,
S. Dial, J. F. Hitch, and J. B. Hopkins. .

The Sunday-school, which is maintaiJied by the church,
under the superintendence of B. F. Miley-, was organized
about 1830, by Joseph Halliday, and was one of the first
in the county: It has always been one of the best conducted,
and through its influence much good has been worked in
the neighborhood. l'he church has had essentially the same
ministerial supply as the Amelia Church, whose history is
given in Pierce township, in this book. In connection with
Union Chapel is Lucy's Run Cemetery, controlled by an or­
ganized body and duly incorpora.ted, which affords a peace­
ful place of interment.

THE REPUBLICAN .l\fEETlNG-HOUSE,

on the Ohio turnpike, east of Amelia, was built in the
spring of 1827, on a lot of land secured for this purpose
from Michael Roseberry. Adjoining this lot was a burial­
ground, in which a number of persons had been inhumed
previous to this date, the first, Mrs. Roseberry, as early as
1819. The house was built by Alex. Thompson, at that
time nearly seventy years of age, and after the frame had
been raised, in the presence of those who had assisted him,
he climbed to the top of the building and proclaimed its
name in this manner: "Here stands a fine frame, and its
name shall be Uepublican, free for all denominations to
worship God in." The proviso for a free church was stipu-
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lated in the lease, which was made to John Malick, Sr.,
Aaron Leeds, and Jacob Hair, and their successors, as trus­
tees. These were Frederick Eppert (deceased), Robert
Doughty, and 'fhomtls Sheldon.

In the house thus provided nearly every denomination
in this part of the State at one time or other worshiped,
and some occupied it regularly. The Christians held their
meetings here statedly for twenty-five years, and the Univer­
salists, Protestant Methodists, and Presbyterians each with
regularity several years. The esteemed Dr. Parker preached
here once a month) and when the Mormons preached their
doctrines in this part of the State, they held thei·l' meetings
within its friendly walls. There the Hon. David Fisher
held a debate with a Universalist minister, and Hon. R. W.
Clarke pronounced an oration on the death of President
Harrison; the house was also used for temperance meetings,
singing-schools, and in filet was truly Republican, in use as
well as in name.

THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH NEAR A~IELIA

was organized in the abo\'e house in 1828, by Elder John
T. Powell, with ten members, namely, Alexander Thomp­
son, A. P. Thompson, Mary Ann Thomrson, Jonathan
Dunham, Sr., Susannah Dunham, Jacob Hair, Ann Hair,
Sr., Ann Hair, Jr., Uebecca Galloss, and Susan Dunham.
Only tWE.\ of the above members survive, and at present
there are 98 members.

·Worship was held in the Republican house until 1855,
when the present edifice was erected, the trustees being
Hiram Wheeler, L. D. Fairfield, and Blair Jeffries, who,
with the exception of Jeffries (deceased), are the prese.nt
trustees. l'wice the house has been inj ured by storms, im­
pairing its value, so that at present it is set at only $1000.
Nevertheless, it is yet a comfortable place of worship. The
l'ecords concerning the first deacons and elders are vague,
but it is supposed that they were A. P. Thompson and
Jacob Hair j successive deacons have been Thomas Sheldon,
Hiram Wheeler, Blair Jeffries j and Thomas Sheldon was
also an elder. The clerks of the church have been Josiah
Fairfield, Thomas Sheldon, L. D. Fairfield, John Malick,
Jr., S. B.. Fairfield, and Thomas B. Crosswell. The latter
is also superintendent of a Sunday-school organized in 1851,
and whi<.:h lately has been kept up the year around, with
good success.

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH AT OLIVE
BRANCH.

The exact time of the organization of this body cannot
be determined, as no records of that event are known to
exist. Among the early members were Samuel, Slladrach,
and Hobert Lane, Joseph McConneH, Joseph Avry, Laban
and EliJah Brazier, James and Shadrach Dial, Charles and
Shadmch Mcdaris, J oshun and \Vesley Dole, and, in most
cases, the wives of the foregoing.

In 1831 the first house of worship was built on u lot of
ground which was donated for this purpose by Daniel Ap­
ple. This house yet stands, but in 1871 it was transformed
into an Odd-Fellows' Hall. In 1868 the present capacious
and substantial brick church edifice was erected by a com­
mittee composed of William HuTick, Peter Brunaugh, D.

M. Dial, Stephen Judd, and T. J. Cazel, at a cost of about
$5000. It is not surpassed in general appearance and
beauty of finish by any other country church in the county,
and has sittings for 450 persons. It was consecrated by
the Rev. Charles Ferguson, of Cincinnati. The present
board of trustees is composed of 'fhomas 1'hompson, Peter
Bl'Unaugh, \VilIiam Hulick, Ira Johns, G. Schwab, D. l\I.
Dial, R. Violet, Stephen Judd, and T. J. Cazel.

Until 1876 this appointment was a part of the Amelia
Circuit, and the ministerial service up to that period is
given in a history of the Amelia Church. In 1876 the
Olive Branch Circuit was formed, to embrace also a num­
ber of appointments in Union township, and Rev. John
Vance was placed in charge. He was succeeded in the fall
of 1879 by Hev. J. F. :McColm. For many years the
veteran minister, Rev. Samuel \Vest, lately deceased, was a
member of this church. .

The recording steward of the circuit is 'Villiam Duck­
wall. At Olive Branch are more than 100 members,
forming three classes, under the leadership of William
Hulick, Peter Brunaugh, and Thomas 'fhompson. 1'he
former is also superintendent of an eX-:lellent Sunday-school,
which has 120 members.

TIlE REGULAR BAPTIST CHURCH OF OLIVE BRANCH

was organized Saturday, Sept. 21, 1814, as the" Regular
Baptist Church of the East Fork," with the place of meet­
ing in Union townshi p. But as no records have been pre­
served from that time till 1832, much of the early history
is merely a matter of conjecture. On the 25th of May,
1833, Deacon William \Vood resigned on account of bodily
infirmities, and Henry Donham was elected in his stead.
At that time the church embraced among its members per­
sons belonging to the Donham, Davis, 1\iillspaugh, Durham,
Perin, Pierce, Arthur, Wood, Clark, Hill, Moore, Thomas,
Carter, Hunt, Armstrong, Dennis, and other families, to a
goodly number, so that it was one of the most important
churches in that Association. At that period Isaac Ferris
was the pastor, and the same year a burying-ground was
opened neal' the church by George Hunt, David Shumard,
James Millspaugh, and John I?muford.

The decay of the old house and the changes in popula­
tion rendered a new place of worship desirable, and on the
22d of May, 1852, David Shumard and George ,Y. Hunt
reported that they had purchased a lot at Oli\'e Branch, on
which to erect a new house. In .June, the same year, John
~I., George \V., and James 1\1. Hunt, and Joseph Hatfield
were appointed a building committee, and the following
year was completed the present brick edifice, and the society
has since occupied it, although it was a. few years before
worship was entirely discontinued in the old house.

In 1840, Rev. John 'N. Riley became the pastor of the
church; the following year, and in subsequent years, Elder
Fel'l'is was again the pastor. Other ministers of the church
were Elders John K. Morris, A. K. Sargent, George Sapp,
A. J. Riley, Elder Woodruff, and William Spaldon, who has
at present charge of the spiritual interests of the church.

l!'or many years George Hunt was clerk of the church,
and for the past twenty years James 1\1. Hunt has. served
in the same capacity.
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R. \V. CLARKE.

Stephen Clarke, son of John and Mary (Reader) Clarke,
was born in Yorkshire, ]~ngland, in 1738. He was married
in IUay, 176!, to Eleanor Houton, born Feb. 14, 174l.
Stephen's 1ll0thCl', Mary Clarke, was a daughter of Robert
Reader, born W72, by his wife, Mary, born 1670. Stephen
and ]~leanor Clarke had three children born in England, of
whom their first, Joseph, died in infimcy, but the other
two, Houton and Joseph (2d), came with their parents to
America. They landed in Henrico Co., Va., Nov. 5,1773,
and afterwards scttled in Mecklcnburg County, of same
State, where their sons, Nathaniel and Abner, were born,
the former dying in his tenth year. In 1795 the two
bl'Others, Houton and Abncr Clarke, emigrated to Bracken
Co , Ky., and in 1798, Houton came over to Ohio and set­
tled in what is now Tate township, of this county. Houton·
was born :March 16, 1766, and Dec. 7, 1806, was married
by Hev. George Rogers to Nancy Hiley. She was ofScotch­
Irish descent, and was born Dec. 7, 1786, in Surry Co.,
N. C., and'was the eldest of thirteen children. Her father
was Hev. Gerrard Hiley, born :May 20, 1766, in Montgom­
ery Co.,. Md., and who was the son of Ninian Riley, born
ill Maryland, March 18, 1726, and her mother was Miss
Frances ·Wright, married to Hev. Gerrard Rilcy, Jan. 12,
1786. To Houton and Nancy (Riley) Clarke were born
ninc children,-Smith G., born in 1807, died in 1851;
Frances C., born 1809, and marricd to Dr. S. Y. Thornton;
Reader Wright; Joseph Marcus, born June 4, 1814;
Eleanor II., born in 1816, and married to Gen. R. M.
Sinks; Nancy Caroline, born Feb. 1, 1821, and died in
August, 1823; Ninian, died in infancy; Sara Ann, born
Oct. 21, 1822, and married to Charles H. Hunt; Minerva
J., born Aug. 17, 18~5, and married to Dr. D. F. Fraser.
or the above childrcn all but Joseph :Marcus Clarke and
:i\1rs. Dr. Fraser are deceased.

Stephen Chlrke, grandfather of the subject of this sketch,
died Dec. 17, 1812, and his wife, Nancy, died in 1818,
the latter in Bethel. R. W. Clarke's father, Houton
Clarke, died Sept. 11, 1834, but his mother, Nancy (Riley)
Clarke, lilTed till June, 1855. Reader 'Yright Clarke was
born in Bethel, of this county, May 18, 1812, where his
father was one of the first inn-keepers of the county, as
well as one of the earliest justices of the peace, receiving
his commission from the Governor of the Northwest Teni­
tory, Gen. Arthur St. Clair. n.. 'V. Clarke was reared in
the village, but employed in his youth in farming. His
education was obtained by attending school in the winter
and private instructiun at home by his father, who WaS a
man of' liberal education. He learned the art of printing
under Governor Samuel Medary, then publishing the Oltio
Sun, first at Bethel and then at Batavia, and at eighteen
years of age he established a paper at RockviIle, Parke Co.,
Ind., called the WalJashHemld, the first paper ever printed
in that county.

In 1833 he was married, and in May of that year located
at Shawneetown, Ill., where he published the illinois JOllr­

_ nal.· [11 consequence of the ill health of his family he re-

moved to Ohio in 1834, where he engaged in mercantile
pursuits, in the mean tiDle reading law. His business proved
disastrous, and he was completely prostrated, financially. He
struggled along as best he could, with little.or no means, and
managed to keep up his law reading, buying his own books
and reading without a preceptor, until April, 1836, when
he was p.dmittcd to the Clermont bar. About the same
time he engaged in the newspaper business, and with An­
drew l\I. Gest cstablished the Clermont C0ll1'ie1', a radical
Whig paper, that started out in the support of Gen. Har­
rison for the Presidency. 'Vith that paper he was subse­
quently connected as publisher, editor, proprietor, or cor­
respondent for more than thirty-five years. In 1837 he was
the Whig candidate for prosecutin~ attorney in the county,
and although his party was in the minority some five hun­
dred votes, he only fell thirty-six votes short of election.
In 1840 he was elected by a large majority as a represent­
ative in the _Legislature, and re-elected in 1841, when he
dcclined further to be a candidate. In the Gener;JI Assem­
bly of Ohio he was a leading member, and chairman of the
committce on public printing. His report in that capacity
attracted much attention, and drew down upon him the
wrath of the opposition, and especially that of Col. Samuel
Medary, then public printer of the State. In 1844 he was
a delegate to the National Whig Convention and a candidate
for elector on the Whig ticket that year, and aided largely
in casting the electoral vote of Ohio for Henry Clay. In
18-16 he was appointed clerk of the Common Pleas and Su­
preme Courts of ClerUlont County, which position he held
until 1852, when the new constitution went into effcct and
the office became elective, and he waS not a candidate for
the place. In 1858 he was the Republican candidate for
Congress, in a district with over fifteen hundred opposition
majority. He was heaten by about eight hundred votes,
carrying his own county by seven majorit.y, .when the Demo­
cratic majority was several hundred. In 1860 he was a
delegate to the National Republican Convention at CIiicago,
and was one of the Ohio delegation most zealous for the
nomination of 1\1r. Lincoln. In 1864 he was the Repub­
lican nominee for Congress in the Sixth District, and elected
by a large majority o\'er Chilton A. White, then incumbent.
He was re-elected in 18611, by a decided majority, over Col.
William Howard. At the close of his congressional term,
in 1869, he was appointed by President Grant third audi­
tor of the t;'easury of the United States, which office he
held until his declining health and the cares of his private
business compelled him to resign. In Congress he was al­
waylS found acting with the radical HepubIieans, and a prac­
tical economist all his life, he uniformly voted against all
measures of extravagance and prodigality. His speeches
in the House, which were carefuIIy prepared and read from
manuscript., willlllost favorably compare with the best of his
contemporaries. 1\11'. Clarke was married June 24, 1833, by
Rev. :Moses Warden, to Margaret Hoss, a native of Pennsyl­
vania, by whom he had three children,-Missouri Augusta,
bol'll Nov. 14, 18:15; John Marshal, and M~rcus Smith,
the two latter dying in infancy. Mr. Clarke's first wife,
Margaret (Hoss), died in 1840, and some two years subEe­
quently he llIarri~d Miss Sallie Turpin Daughters Pollard,
of Neville. 1\1r. Clarke's only surviving child, Missouri A.,
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was married, June 29, 1858, to George W·. Gregg, son of
George and Sarah Gregg, early pioneers of Clermont. 1\11'.
Gregg waS a lawyer of the Clel'l1lOnt bar, a very prominent
business man, and a gentleman universally esteemed for
his high mental attainments and social powers. He died
Feb. 21, 1879, leaving his widow and a son, Header'Vright
Clarke Gregg, now al'1'ived at maturity, and a young man
of rare promise, with IIlany of his filther's, Gregg, and his
grandfather's, Clarke, characteristics. Mrs. Sally T. D.
Clarke died Sept. 18,1871, and nIl'. Clarke, May 2:3, 1872.
Following the example of his grandfather, Stephen Clarke,
a distinguished :Mason in England, and of his father, Hou­
ton Clarke, one of' the earliest and most prominent Masons
in Clermont, R W. Clarke, on arriving at legal age, re­
ceived the three symbolical degrees in the lodge and the
10ur capitular degrees in the chapter, and was for Illany
years one of the most eminent members of this ancient and
honorable order in Clermont. Hc was repeatedly Worship­
ful Master of the Lodge and High Priest of the Chapter,
:lIId orten repre:5cnted them in the Grand Masonic bodies of
the State. Mr. Clarke was an able lawyer, an eloquent
speaker, a brilliant editor, and a successful and accomplished
politician, and withal was hardly excelled in business ability.
'Yhile he attained political distinction and acquired a nice
estate, his private character for integrity and uprightness
was unquestioned. He loved his horne, his family, children,
and grandchildren, and he had that rare trait of character
of standing by his friends; hence he counted them by
thousands, and they bravely stood by him in all his political
campaigns, and rallied to his support with an ardor and feel­
ing rarely accorded to any other public man of Clermont.

WILLIAM HOWARD.

Col. 'Villiam Howard, of Batavia, of the law-firm of
Howard & Howard (his son, John Joliffe Howard, being
his partner), is of English extraction on his paternal side,
and is of good Revolutionary stock, that most actively par­
ticipated in the struggle 1'01' independence and fought on
the side of the colonies. He was born in Jefferson Co.,
Va., Dec. 31, 1817, and was the third child in a family of
seVen children, whose parents were Thomas Howard and
Hebecca (Likins) Howard, natives of the same cOUllt,y, in
which thcir ance8to1'S had lived for over two hundred
years. His father followed through life agricultural pur­
suits, and aftm' his removal to Wheeling, Va., died there
in 185it His mother, whose decease occurred in 1831,
was of English-Gcrman descent, and was a woman of a.
noble Christian type. She early inculcated in the breasts
of her children those sacred principles which lie a~ the
foundations of good society. Until his fifteenth year he
was employed as an assistant on the Hum, and later was
placed to ·learn the saddlery trade in Jefferson Co., Va.,
which he pursued for several years. His early education
was limited, and WaS obtained at the common schools, at
that time few in number in the "Old Dom'inion," and·
short in their terllls, and by attentive reading during the
leisure hours of his service as a saddler.

In 18:~5 he moved to Augusta, Ky., and entered the
preparatory department of Augusta College, the first Meth-

odist institution of learning established in the United States,
and at that time at the height of its prosperity. Its presi­
dent was the distinguished Rev. Joseph S. Tomlinson,
D.D. There he pursued a thorough curriculum of literary
study, and graduated with high honors in 1839. During
this ti1ile he became very proficient in mathematics, both
pure amI mixed,-a branch of study for which he had early
a notable aptitude and talent, and which qualified him to
become noted as a surveyor, and which was of inealculuble
service to him as a land-lawyer in the tedious intricacies
of land litigation in after-years. He supported himself in
the mean time by working five hours per day at his trade,
and thus was enabled to receive a splendid education by his
own hard labor. In his youthful days he had proposed to
apply his attention to the study of medicine, an intention
whose origin is attributable to the fact that in the ranks of
the medical profession se\'cral members of his family had

)lh'eady acquired distinction. While pursuing a collegiate
course, however, he aLandoned this design, and resolved to
apply hilllself to the study of law, deeming the legal pro­
1ession one more in harmony with his tastes and in accord­
ance with llis mathematical abilities. Accordingly, in
1~i39, under the guidance of Hon. Martin Marshall, an ac­
complished scholar, and one of the most distinguished legal
practitioners of Kentucky, and a member of that illustrious
filluily which produced Chief Justice Marshall, he began to
prepare himself for the bar. \Vithin one year he qualified
himself for admission, and in 1840 established his office in
Batavia, Clermont Co., where he has since resided, engaged
in the profession most honorably and extensively. He is
to-day the Nestor of the Clermont bar, having been in
practice longer than any other attorney. From 1842 to
18-19 he was associated in his profession with Thomas L.
Shields, and the firm of Shields & Howard was retained in
nearly eycry important land-suit at a time when litigation
of titles ill the Virginia Military Reservation absorbed the
best part of the law practice in the courts. Mr. Shields,
shortly after the dissolution of that filmous law-firm, re­
turned to the large landed possessions at Sewickly, fourteen
miles below Pittsburgh, on the Ohio River, in Pennsylvania,
which he had inherited from his ancestors, and there died
in 1879. Col. Howard has, as a'n heirloom of that happy
partnership and association, a compass which Mr. Shields
gave him, and whidl his maternal grandfather Leet carried
when he and George Washington together surveyed thou­
sands upon thousands of acres of land in 'Vestern Pennsyl­
vania, and which the Father of his Country, it is thought,
often useu ill these surveying expeditions in the wilds of the
then Far West.

Col. Howard was elected prosecuting attorney of the
county in 184:5, and was re-elected in 1847. In 1849 he
Was elected State senator to the Legislatu1'e of Ohio from
the district of Brown and Clermont, and served one term,
with greut honor to himself and with rare fidelity to his
~ollstituents. In 1858 he was elccted as a representative
to Congress, from the district comprising the counties of
Clermont, Brown, Highland, and Adams, and took his seaIi

the first Monday of December, 1859, and served one term
of two years, the closing part of which witnessed the !3lec­
tion of President Lincoln and the secession of the Southern
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States, which drew upon Congress the eyes of all the Amer­
ican people and of the world at large~ At the most critical
time of that memorable period, just before Sumter was
fired upon, Col. Howard made an eloquent speech in the
House in defense of the Union and against secession, and
for preserving the unity of the country at all hazards. His
speech had a wonderful effect in uniting -all the friends of
the Union and Constitution to sustain the Federal govern­
ment, and won him great distinction and the applause of
the American people. It was considered by the press the
ablest speech of that fhmous session. In the district the
one-term rule then obtaining in the Democratic party,
which had· elected him, he was not a candidate for re­
election, but in 1866 was the Democratic nominee for Con­
gress in the district at that time composed of Clermont,
Brown, Highland, Fayette, and Clinton, and which being
strongly Republican, he was not elected. In 1876 he was
a delegate from the Third Congressional District, composed
of Clermont, Butler, Clinton, Fayette, and Warren Coun­
ties: to the Democratic National Convention at St. Louis,
at which Tilden and Hendricks were the Democratic nom­
inees. At the Ohio Democratie State Convention of 1879

. he was one of the principal members of the select committee
which reported the famous resolutions of that year.

His first vote for President was cast for James K. Polk,
and he has always been intimately identified with the
Democratic party, working efficiently to secure its welfare
and develop its best interests. On the stump, in exciting
political campaigns, for forty years his eloquent voice has
been heard in defense of the party to which all his life he
has been so warmly attached.

In military matters also he has been prominently and
most honorably before the public. In 1847 he accom­
panied to the scene of operations in Mexico the Second
Ohio Regiment of infantry, and as second lieutenant of
Co. C, raised in Clermont and Brown Counties, served ac­
tively with this body until the termination of the war.
During those eventful days he was on the line, under Gen.
Winfield Scott, from Vera Cruz to Puebla. In the war of
the Rebellion he went to the front, in September, 1861, as
major of the Fift,y-ninth Regiment of Ohio Volunteer In­
fhntry, and remained in the service of his country some
eighteen- months, and in 1862 was promoted to the lieu­
tenant-colonelcy. He was with this ga)]ant regiment in
Kentucky, Tennessee, Mississippi, Georgia, and Alabama,
and was actively engaged in the battles of Shiloh, Corinth,
Perryville, Crab Orchard, and Stone River, besides innu­
merable skirmishes and other minor engagements. In 1863
he resigned his position in the army, his health having be­
come seriously impaired through the trials attending ex­
traordinary efforts necessitated by fhtiguing marches and
exciting service in the field. •

Col. Howard has ever manifested a warm and far-seeing.
interest in educational matters, and has been greatly instru­
mental in advancing many public enterprises calculated to
benefit the people of his county. He is a zealous member
of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and having at a very
early period of his life been converted, has in his daily
walk and conversation and in his dealings with mankind­
ever maintained a high Christian character above all sus-
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picion or reproach. He is a man of varied experience in
life, a public-spirited citizen, and a lawyer of scholarly at­
tainments, WIlO has won distinction at the bar, both before
juries and courts, by his abilities and genius, aided by his
suavity of manner and exemplary conduct of life.

He was married Jan. 29, 1852, to Amaryllis C. Bots­
ford, of Columbus, Ohio, a native of Oswego, N. Y. She
was a woman of superior natural intelligence, and possessed
a highly cultivated and refined mind and extensive informa­
tion, ~hich, combined with her amiability of manner, kind
disposition, and Christian character, made her a favorite in
societ.y and the idolized wife and mother in her own house­
hold; and whether i~ public or private life, she was her
hUlSband's confidential adviser. She died July 13, 1875,
greatly mourned by the community in which she lived.
Col. and Amaryllis C. Howard had two children, both
sons, of whom William Howard was born Oct. 31, 1852,
graduated at Wittenberg CoHege, at Springfield, Ohio, in
1873, and died Aug. 31, 1875, in his twenty-third year.
He was a young man of rare promise in inteHectand strong
character, and was _cut down by the feH destroyer, consump­
tion, just after the completion of his classical studies and in
the flush of bright manhood, only seven weeks after his
loved mother had been laid in the silent grave. The other
son, John Joliffe Howard, was born June 27, 1855; studied
law with his father, and was admitted to the bar at the
September term of the Clermont District Court in 1877,
and in 1878 was elected prosecuting attorney of the county,
in which position he is now acting, a~d is also in partner­
ship with his father in the practice of the law.

Col. Howard was married the second time on Nov. 27,
1877, to 1\1rs; Harriet A. Broadwell, of Georgetown, Ohio,
the widow of Hon. Lewis Broadwell, a distinguished busi­
ness man of Cincinnati, and who was a senator in the
Forty-eighth and Forty-ninth General Assembly of Ohio
from Hamilton County, in the years 1849 and 1850, and
at the same time Col. HilwaI'd represented the Brown and
Clermont district. She is the daughter of Benjamin and
Anne (Philips) Penn, early pioneers in Southern Clermont,
and is a lady of varied intellectual accomplishments and
belles-lettres, and to her marked natural genius and talents
she has added many treasures by extensive research and
travels in Europe. A lady ot' dignified manners and cul­
ture, she presides most elegantly over their beautiful home,
and dispenses hospitality in a style worthy of the noble
lineage fi'om which she has descended.

DR. L. W. BISHOP.

Leonard W ~stcott Bishop was born in Cheviot township,
Hamilton Co., Ohio, July 25: 1823, of good Revolutionary
stock. He was one of a family of ten children, whose
parents were of Welsh extraction, and WIlO in 1815 emi­
grated from Cumberland Co., N~ J., to the city-of Phila­
delphia, whence, after a brief stay, they remov.ed to Indiana,
and some three years later settled in Hamilton County.
Leonard" W. was born on- his father's farm, where he lived
until his sixth year, when his father- moved to Cincinnati,
and there resided until 1829, when he located in Goshen
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township, of this county, where he died in 186 L Leonard
W. in his residence in Cincinnati had the advantages of
its schools, at that time, however, possessing but meagre
facilities for instruction, and it was not, until his eighteenth
year that he received a good systematic school training,
which he obtained under Rev. L. G. Gaines, at Goshen.
When nineteen years old he began teaching, at the same
time continuing his studies. Afterwards he took a partial
course at Miami University, and theu began reading medi­
cine with Dr. Colon Spence~ of Perin's Mills, with whom
his reading occupied some two :years. He taught school
and pursued his medical studies until about his twenty-fifth
year, when he attended a course of lectures at the Ohio
Medical College, and then began the practice of his pro­
fession at 'Vest Woodville, in Wayne township, succeeding
Dr. Erastus Hopkin!'!. He remained there a few weeks,
and then removed to Mount Carmel, where he formed a
partnership with Dr. Frank Parish, and where he remained
until the last of June, 1849. At that time the Asiatic
cholera was prevailing as an epidemic in the country, and
was particularly malignant in the nei~hborhood of Wine­
berg, on the Ohio River, and in Anderson township,
Hamilton County. Owing to the death and disabilities of'
the physicians in that vicinity, Dr. Bishop now removed
there, and located near Mount Washington, and in that
noted cholera district, by his courage, skill, and energy,
rapidly gained a large practice and a deserved reputation in
llis profession. This was the turning-point in his life, and
to this day the old settlers of that community speak in
grateful terms of the resolute young practitioner who came
to their succor. Two years later he located in the beautiful
village of Mount 'Yashington, and in 1854 graduated at
the Ohio Medical College. At Mount 'Vashington he
was one of the projectors of its fine academy, serving for
years as secretary of the board of directors of that insti­
tution.

During the war of the Rebellion he was secretary of the
Anderson 'fownship Relief Society, of which Capt. Benne­
ville Cline was president, and which by its able and pa­
triotic efforts cleared the township from all drafts, and raised
and dispensed large sums of money for alleviating the ne­
cessities of the families of soldiers at the front. He also
served as one of the township trustees at the same time,
and was largely instrumental in procuring the quotas of
volunteers that enlisted in his township. After the battle
of Pittsburg Landing calls were made upon all the North­
ern States for surgeons, physicians, and medical stores for
the wounded and disabled, and a meeting of the c~tizens of
the township was called at Mount 'Yashington to furnish
them for the two companies that had gone from its t,erri­
tory. At the unanimous request of the people assembled,
Dr. Bishop was chosen to proceed to the scene of this late

. battle with the supplies raised, and to bring back the dead
bodies of the fallen heroes and the sick and wounded that
could be moved. Through the influence of Charles H.
Wolf and A. A. Colter, he was appointed a surgeon
and physician on the medical staff of Dr. Comegys, of
Cincinnati, on board the boat "Monarch," commanded
by Capt. Baker, which was about to leave for Pittsburg
Landing, and which arrived there Sunday morning follow-

ing the battle. He proceeded first to seek out those of his
township requiring aid, to whom he dispensed the stores
and medical relief. He was one of twelve doctors on the
boat. cngaged in the noble cause, and one of his colleagues
was Dl'. N. S. Hill, of Neville. In two weeks his humane
and patriotic efforts were finished, when he returned with
the dead and wounded soldiers, for whom his townsmen
had sent him. On his return, at an immense assemblagc of
the people, a unanimous vote of thanks, the only compensa- .
tion he desired or received, was tendered the doctor for his
kind and grateful services. He was during the war fre­
quently called to Cincinnati by its provost-marshal to aid
and assist the regular surgeons in the various hospitals im­
mediately after battles, when the wounded were pouring in
beyond the capacity of the surgeons in charge to care for
them.

In 186u-67 he removed to Mount Carmel, and there
pl:acticed his profession until 1870, when he located in Bata­
via, where he has ever since resided. In the summer and fall
of 18·14 he received in Goshen Lodge, F. and A. M., No. 119,
the three symbolical degrees of Masonry, and has remained
a member of tllllt order to this day in good standing. He
was a charter member of Gerard Lodge, at Newtown, being'
mainly instrumental in its institution, and its first Wor­
shipful Master, and over that and other lodges for some ten
or twelve years he has been Master, and has represented
them in the Grand Lodge of Ohio. 'Yhen about twenty­
one years of 'age he united with the Presbyterian Church
at Goshen, under Hev. L. G. Gaines, and is an elder in
the church of that denomination in Batavia at this time.
He was one of the few persons who organized in 1866 the
Clermont Su~day.School Union; was its first secretary, and
has ever since continued actively interested in everything
tending to the advancement of Sabbath-schools. He be­
longed to the old 'Vashingtonian Temperance Society, and
froUl that time to the present has been one of the most
zcalous tcmperance advocatcs in the State. He has been
twice married, his present wife being a daughter of John
and Rachel (Glancy) ·Williams, by whom he has two
daughters, Bertha and Vesta. In 1879 he· was elected
one of the two representatives of Clermont County in the
Si~ty-fourth General Assembly of- Ohio, and his term will
expire on the first Monday of January, 1882. He is on

. the important House committees of" Deaf and Dumb, Blind
and Imbecile Asylums," "Medical Colleges and Societies,"
also" Fish and Game." He has achieved a State reputation
for his introduction and advocacy of the bill known as
" Bishop's Local-Option Bill,·' which is now in the hands of
the temperance committee, and will be brought to a vote the
ensuing winter. In 1876, accompanied by his wife, he re­
visited the home of his ancestors in New Jersey, taking that
opportunity to witness the Centenniall~xhibition,then being
held in Philadelphia. After his removal to Batavia he was
appointed government examining surgeon for this district, to
examine wounded and disabled Union soldiers who applied
for pensions, which important position he held until the
office was abolished. The doctor was one of the leuding
spirits in the organization and building of the Cincinnati
and Eastern Narrow-Gauge Railway, and is a large stock­
and bond-holder in that cOI·poration.
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In 1879 he originated and carried out measures by which
the stockholders in the Cincinnati and Eastern Hailroad
were made thoroughly conyersant with the official proceed­
illgs of the managem,ent. As a member of the Legislature
he secured the passage of a special act authQrizing this rail­
way company to issue a second mortgage and bonds by
~hich the final success and completion of the road is made
a certainty, as the stockholders, on May 20, 1880, voted in
favor of issuing the same. In the autumn of 1879 he. was
honored with a special invitation to attend the unveiling at
'Vashington City of -the statue of Gen. George H. Thomas,
and was present at the grand ceremonies attending the same,
as the guest of the Army of the Cumberland, and remained
two weeks at the national capital, making himself conver­
santwith the workings of the government in the various
departments. Dr. Bishop, by his business energy and large
dealings in lands, has acquired a goodly share of this world's

goods. His wealth consists mostly in real estate, of which
he is an excellent judge.

Dr. Bishop has ever enjoyed the confidence and esteem
of all who know him j and whether as a physician, u mem­
ber of society, or a legislator, he has always discharged his
whole duty with fidelity and honesty. He is Justly sensi­
tive of his honor and integrity, and can never be swerved
from the path of duty, nor engaged ill anything detrimental
to what he esteems to be the interests of' the people and
good of society; hence he was ever at his post in the Legis­
lature, doing his whole duty, and no more faithful, indus­
trious, or upright member can be found in the present
General Assembly than he. At the twenty-eighth annual
meeting of the Clermont County Medical Society, held at
Batavia, May 19, 1880, Dr. Bishop was unanimously elected
its president for the ensuing year, an honor only. accorded
to the oldest and most distinguished practitioners.

Henry V. Kcrr, of Scotch-Irish descent, was born in
Orange Co, NY., Sept. 12, 1819.. His parents died when
he wus quite young, and he labored on a farm until he
attained his majority. In 1840 he removed to Ohio, and
settled at Newtown, ncar Cincinnati, where he attended
school, and soon engaged in teaching in Hamilton and Cler­
mont Counties. On Jan. 5, 1845, he married Miss IWzu­
beth A. Harrison, at Newtown, which union was blessed
with three children, all of whom are living, viz.: Anna
Kerr, wife of J oh n Wayland, edi tor and proprietor of the
Ou·en County (Indiana) J01l1'nal, published at Spencer;
J uhn D. Kerr, publisher of the Oldo State Register, printed

at \Vashington Court-House, Fayette Co. j and Katie Kerr,
wife of Willis 1\1. Cowen, of the firm of Dale '0. Cowen &,

Co., editors, publishers, alld proprietors of TIle Clermont
Sun, printed in Batavia. Mr. Kerr was one of the smull
band of teachcrs who in 1848 organized "The Clermont
Teachers' Institute," which has become olle of' the strongest
organizations of the kind in Ohio, and to tllO success of
which he has largely contributed. In 18-1-9 he WllS electcd
superintendent. of the schools of the county, and unclm' his
supervision they were greatly improved in system and effi­
ciency. In 1R53 he was elected county recorde!', lind was
re-elected in 1856, and held this important offiee six years.
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In 1864 he purchased TILe Clermont Sun of Learner
B. Leeds, and edited that. journal until 1872. In 1873
he was elected to the Ohio State Senate from the Fourth
Senatorial Dist.rict, composed of the counties of Clermont
and Brown j was re-elected in 1875, and during his four
years' service in the General Assembly was, appointed
upon many of the most important committees. During
his last term in the Senate he purchased the OMo State
Regis/m', at 'Washington Court-House, rendering valuable
aid to the Democracy of Fayette County. On April 10,
1879, he was appointed State librarian by Governor'Rich­
ard M. Bishop, which position he now holds. In 1847
he united with the Methodist Episcopal Church, and to­
day is one of its strongest supporters. For twenty-eight
years he has been connected with the Independent Ordm'
of Odd-Fellows, both the JJodge and the Encampment,
and in each has passed all the chairs. In the different
temperance organizations he has constantly buen a mem­
ber, and to their success has ever added largely by his pen
and voice. Early identified with the principles of the
Democratic party, he always took a great interest in, politics
and the discussion of all questions relative to the rights of
the people and governmental affairs, and in the counsels of
his party his services were eagerly sought, and to his opin­
ions great weigh t attached in the conducting of political
ca~paigns and adoption of' convention platforms.

SAMUEL F. DO'VDNEY.

Samuel Francis Dowdney comes of good Revolutionary
stock, and was born of English parents on Jan. 18, 1820,
in the town of Bethel, Clermont Co., Ohio. His father
and mother, William and Eliza (Frances) Dowdney, emi­
grated from Philadelphia; Pa., in 1817, and settled in Ohio,
coming down from Pittsburgh in an old-fashioned boat on
the Ohio River to SmitlJ.'s Landing, then called the" Mouth
of Bullskin," where they landed, and in a few days re­
moved to Bethel, at that time one of the most stirring
villages in Southern Ohio. His grandfather, Samuel Dowd­
ney, was born and lived in New Jersey, and served most
llOnorably under Washington in the war for independence,
and left five children: Rachel, born Dec. 14, 1785, and
who died Jan. 25,1803 j Clayton, born Sept. 21,1787 j

William, born Sept. 16, 1789 j Mary, born Jan. 11,1792,
and who died the 25th of the same month j and John, born
March 4, 1794. On his maternal side,-all New Jersey
people, and descended from the first settlers in that State,­
his grandfather, Joseph Francis' (son of a" Revolutionary
soldier in the" Jersey troops"), was born Aug. 18, 1767,
and was on Nov. 13, 1788, married to Miss Sarah Clifton,~ho

was born Aug. 1, 1766. From their marriage was the follow­
ing issue: :Mary, born Sept. 17,1789, and who died Aug. 4,
1791; Eliza, born April 29, 1791 j Polly, born April 10,
1793, and who died October 4th of succeeding year j Sarah,

, born July 27,1796, and who died Feb. 1, 1815 j Ann; born
Oct. 31, 1798, and married Oct. 12, 1820, to William Bred­
well; and Maria, born Jan. 7,1800, and June 2, 1817, mar­
ried to George A. ·Winslow. Of the above, ·William Dowdney
was married to Eliza Frances on Aug. 21, 1813, by Wil­
liam Stoughton, D.D., in the city of PJiladelphia, where he

worke~ at his trade, that of comb-making, and afteTwards,
as before stated, removed to Ohio. He worked several
years at Bethel and in Cincinnati in the manufacture of
combs before the invention and introduction of modern
machinery superseded labor by haud. 'Villiam Dowdlley
afterwards engaged in the mercantile business, and kept
hotel in Georgetown, Hamersville, and in other towns in
Brown and Clermont Counties, and died at a ripe old age,
in Felicity, on Jan. 12, 1870. His wife Eliza departed
this life in February, 1871, a year after her husband.
\Vhen a boy of fourteen years, Samuel F. Dowdney was

bound out under articles of indenture to James Houston to
learn the carpenter's trade j but in a year or two Houston
went South with a load of produce and never returned,
when Samuel was again apprenticed, this time to the wagon­
and carriage-making business, which he thoroughly mas­
tered. He followed this avocation several years at Ham- .
ersville, but in 1841 he turned his attention to the pro­
fession of the law, and gave up his shop and went to
Felicity to attend the school at that place, then under the
charge of Edward F. W. Ellis, who fell in battle in the late
Rebellion gallantly leading an Illinois regiment, of which
he was colonel. In 1842 he received a teacher's certificate
from the school examiners of Clermont, and taught his fil·st
5chool in the village of Chilo a term of eight months at
twenty dollars per month, then considered a large salary for
teaching. In the fall of 1843 he went to Georgetown,
where he taught in the district school one session, and also
kept a select school, during which time he was diligently
reading law. In 1844 he entered the law-office of the late
Gen. Thomas L. Hamer and his partner, Judge David G.
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Devore, where he was a student in a class with Ohio
F. Jones, Perry J. Donham, and 'William Gilliland. On
April 4, 1846, he was admitted to the' bur, receiving a
liccnse to practice as an attorney-nt-law and solicitor in chan­
cery in the various courts of Ohio. He then opened an
office in Georgetown, of which place he was appointed post­
master by President Polk, filling the office until 1849,
when he resigned. In July of that. year he removed to
Felicity, where the cholera was prevailing, to cure for his
sister's husband, Dr.•J. 'V. Kennedy, who was attacked
with that epidemic. The same year he began the practice
of his profession ill Felicity, remaining there until Febru­
ary, 1858, when he moved to Batavia to enter upon his
duties as probate judge of the county, having been elected
to that position the preceding October. He was re-clected
in 1860, and acceptably performed the duties of that office
for six years. III 1865 he was elected to the Ohio Senate
from the Fourth District, composed of Brown and Cler­
mont Counties, over Gen. James Loudon, of Georgetown,
who was then filling the office. In 1867 he was re-elected,
defeating Paul Mohr, residing on the historic Collins farm,
near Bantam. May 7, 1851, he married Miss Eliza Soper,
a native of Maine, by which union eight childl'en were

born, five of whoni are living. Charles, the eldest son, is
a farmer at Pierceville, Ind., and Edward T., the second, is
reading law with his father in the office of Dowdney &
Parrott. In 1841 he joined the Masonic order (of which
his father had been at that time a zealous member for over
a quarter of a century), and served for two years as 'Vor­
shipful :Master of Felicity Lodge of Free and Accepted
1\'Iasons, No. 102; was prominent in Orion Chapter, No.
41, of Royal Arch Masons, and Connell Council, No. 18,
of· Royal and Select 1\'Iasters. Of the two latter he is still
a member, but his Blue Lodge membership is now in Ba­
tavia Lodge, F. and A. 1\'1., No. 109. In 1870 he was
elected a member of the Batavia school board; was re­
elected in 1873, and served six years, during which time
the present elegant school edifice was constructed, the
schools reorganized and put into their present prosperous
condition. In 1878 he was elected mayor of the town of
Batavia, and as such for two years was pl'esident of the
town council, and under hig efficient administration the
present commodious council-chamber and mayor's office
were erected, and twenty-five acres added to the plat of
ground comprising the Citizens' Cemetery, adjoining the
town. In 1870 he was one of the principal projectors and
incorporators of " The Clermont Saving and Loan Associa­
tion," with its main office in Batavia. Part of the time
since its organization he has filled the office of president,
and continually served as one of its attorneys. He has
ever been an active politician, and identified himself with
the Democratic party, to the success of which he has con­
tributed largely by speeches and serving on the county
executive committee, of which he has repeatedly been chair­
man. He resides in a ni~e cottage of modern architecture,
located on the corner of Spring and 1\farket Streets, in
Batavia. Judge Dowdney was a school- and play-mate in
his boyhood of Gen. Ulysses S. Grant, and was a law-stu­
dent in after-years of that distinguished lawyer and orator
who, as Congressman, appointed Ulysses as a cadet to West

~. In 1864, when Clement Laird Vallandigham visited
Batavia to make a speech during the Presidential campaign,
his headquarters were at the Dowdney residence; hence Mr.
Dowdney has a vast fund of political reminiscences concern­
ing men who have swayed and ruled State and nation. He
has been in the practice of the l~w for thirty-four years,
and is one of the senior members of the bar of Clermont,
and still continues actively engaged in his profession.

M. J. W. HOLTER

About the year .1816 several worthy pioneer families
emigrated from Maryland and settled in Southern Oler­
mont, among whom were John Holter'and his wife, Mary
Ann, who located in Washington township. This Chris­
tian couple of early settlel·s had the following children:
John, Nelson, J.Jawson, Hanoson, Warren, Daniel, Alfred,
and Mary Ann Holter; the latter intermarried with Jesse
Hunt. Of these Alfred Holter was married ?n Nov. 17,
1831, by Rev. Benjamin Lakin, to Rachel Ann Philips, a
daughter of 'Vesley and Harriet Philips, also emigmnts
fmm MarJ·land.

Alfred Holter, born in 1804, was twelve years old when
his parents removed to this county, and by his wife,
Rachel Ann, now living with him in easy retireme,nt on
his elegant homestead near Olive Branch, he has had the
following-named children: Harriet A., deceased; Marcellus
J, W. j Jo::;ephus N., who served i9 Company F, Fifty­
niuth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, all through the Rebellion,
and was after the war closed accidentally killed in Cincinnati
by a wagon; Mary Ann, married to Albert Tice, of Bos­
ton; Sarah E., married to ~f. V. McGuire, of Union town­
ship; Adaliza. married to Daniel D. March, of Stonelick
township; Rufus G., of Company F, Fifty-ninth Ohio
Volunteer Infantry, killed in battle at New Hope Chu;ch,
Ga., during the Rebellion; Lizzie A., 'married to George
1\1. Sinks, of Connersville, Ind.; Sarah K, who died in
infancy; and A. H. P., the youngest.

The second in this family of ten childl'en was Marcellus
John Wesley Holter, born .Jan. 10, 1834. He received
the limited common·school education of his neighborhood,
and completed his studies by one year's attendance at
Farmers' Uollege, then a noted institution near Cincinnati.
He worked on the farm and grew up into a robust man­
hood, but under the watchful care of intelligent and Chris­
tian parents found time to supply hi::; mind with intellectual
stores, which in after-years proved of great value to him in
his brilliant military career and public life. After leaving
college he taught school four years in Stonelick, Miami,
Batavia, and Union townships. He has served six years
on the Batavia township board of education, during two of
which he was its president. In 1878 he was elected auditor
of Clermont County for a term of three years, and is now
filling that important station. For nearly ten years he has
been chief' marshal of the Clermont County Agricultural
~ociety at its annual exhibitions at Boston, to the success
of which in all its departments he has ever largely contrib­
uted. He was married by Rev. W. Q. Shannon, on Sept.•
24, 1861, to Helen E., a daughter and one of the thirteen
children of the !at~ BI~ir ..T~ffr~es a~d ~l!S wife Penelope.
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He has four children,-Annie E::;tclla, Frank Banning
(named fOI' his old compatriot in arms, Gen. II. B. Ban­
ning), George Penn, and Josephus Wright. In 18G7 he
took the degrees in Batavia Lodge, 1. O. O. F., No. 136,

• passed all its chairs, and was one of the charter members
of Houston Lodge, No. 500, at Olive Branch, and its first
Noble Grund. Hejoin~d Olellnder Encampment, No. 44, at
Batavia in 1869-70, and has filled all its chairs. Was a
representative 'of the subordinate lodges ill the State Grand
Lodge in 1877 and 1878; has served one term as district
deputy of lodges and encampments, and assisted in organ­
izing many subordinate lodges. The 1. O. O. F. has had in
Clermont no more active or zealous member than he. In
1880 he was initiated as an entered apprentice into Batavia.
Lodge, No. 109, of Free and Accepted Masons. He has
been a member of the Met,hodist Episcopal Church at Olive
Brunch for six years, and for a long time interested in its
Sunday-school, in which, as in the church, he has held Ulany
official positions. In the late Rebellion Clermont in its
thousands of brave and gallant soldiers furnished no one
who excelled him in length of' services or brilliancy of
military record. He enlisted as a private April 15,1861,
in Company }1j, Twenty-second Ohio Infantry, was promoted
to orderly sergeant, and served three months in 'Vestern
Virginia, participating in the engagements of that memor­
able campaign. On Sept. 3, 1861, he enlisted in Company
F, Fifty-ninth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, and on October
16th was appointed first lieutenant, and so served until Au­
gust, 186~, when he was made adjutant of the regiment,
in which capacity he served until May, 1864, when he was
captured at the battle of New Hope Church, Ga. He
was held a prisoner of war at Macon, Atlanta, and Savan­
nah in Georgia, and in the jail-yard at Charleston, S.
C., where he remained until November 1st, when he
was released through the Sherman-Hood exchange. He
then rejoined his regiment at Tullahoma, Tenn., and
came home~ but was mustered out shortly after his regi­
ment. In 1\1arch, 1865, he was appointed Lieutenant­
Colonel of the One Hundred and Ninety-fifth Ohio Volun­
teer Inf~mtry (its colonel being Henry B. Banning), and
took the regiment to the field in Virginia, commanding
it until Christmas. part of which time (six months) he was
commandant of the post at Alexandria, seven miles from
Washington. In the winter of 18B5-GG he WaS mustered
out and brevetted for. his gallant services as brigadier­
general. He had <served four years and five months in the
army, having but one leave of absence of thirty days after
the fighting was all over, and he never missed a battle or a
skirmish in which his regiment was engaged. He served
in three regiments, holding all the positions from a private
to a brigadier-general, excepting those of corporal, 2d lieu­
tenant, and major.

Gen. H'olter was in the fight at Ivy Mountain, Ky. j at
the battle of Pittsburg Landing j at Corinth j Perryville,
Ky. j the battles preceding and at Stone. IUver; Tullahoma
battles j at Chickamauga, the fighting of which by infantry
was opened by his (Fifty-ninth) regiment j and. Mission
!l.iuge, wherc, when Thompson the color-bearer was killed,
Gen. Holter carried the colors and placed them on the rebel
~llns: ije th~n weqt to ~ast ~eQnessec, where he engaged

in mallY skirmishes, and the following spring entered on
the Atlanta campaign, and \Vas en~aged in several battles
and many minor engagements. The day he was captured
by the rebels at New Hope Church, Ga, the Union
forces lost in killed, wounded, and prisoners sixteen hundred
and nine men out of his division, of whom one hundred
and ei~hty were captured. In April, 1865, he was com­
manding his regiment, the One Hundred and Ninety-fifth
Ohio Volunteer Infillltry, and was fOl·ty miles fl'om Lynch­
bur~, Va., when IJee surrendered. He was a gallant soldier,
and is a good citizen, neighbor, and popular public official, a
mall who in an eminent degree has the esteem and confidence
of the community.

LEMUEL TEASDALE.

Lemuel Teasdale, the sheriff of Clermont County, was
born in .New Jersey, April 6, 1838. His father, Sidney F.
Teasdale, was born in the same State, April 16, 181G, and
Dec. 15, 1837, married ~Iiss Eliza Cassiby, who WaS born
in the same State, May 10, 1817. To them w~re born
three children,-Lemuel; 'Villiam, born July 22, 1840, who
died March 15, 1866 j and Cooley, born July 28, 1843,
the last born in Virginia, to which State their parents had
removed. hliza (Cassiby) Teasdale, mother of Sheriff
Teasdale, died Jan. 15, 1844. She was a lady of estimable
character and loved for her many virtues. Sidney F. Teas­
dale married, Aug. 5, 1844, as his second wife~ Susan Pey­
ton, by whom he had thc following children, all born in
Virginia: Hobert, born June 14, 1845 j :1\'1onroe, Oct. 17,
1847, and died April 20, 1878; 'Vesley, Nov. 18, 1848 j

Charles, Jan. 15, 1850 j Martha, Oct. 13, 1852, and died
July 13, 1853 j Simeon F., Oct. 14, 1854, now deputy
sheriff of Clermont County j Loretto, Sept. 16, 1857 j and
John, Nov. 21, 1859. Lemuel Teasdale left his father's
house in 1855, in his seventeenth year, going to Arkansas,
where for some five years he was engaged with R. 1\1.
Brimmer & Co. in the stage business and in carrying the
Ullited States mails. Just previous to the breaking out
of the Hebellion he returned to Pennsylvania, where he
was engaged in the stage and omnibus business on various
routes and in carrying government mails until 1868. On the
18th of May of that year he came to Clermont County.
H'ere, in connection with R. M. Brimmer, he operated the
'Villiamsburgh, Batavia, and Cincinnati 'bus routc, as well
as that of the Georgetown, Bethel, and Cincinnati road, for
one and a half years, carrying the United States mails over
both, and he alone conducting the former for two and a
half years. From 1872 until the completion of the Cin­
cinnati and Eastern narrow-gauge road, in 1876, he operated
the Williamsburgh, Batavia, and Cincinnati 'bus line, con­
necting most of the time with the Little :Miami Railroad at
Newtown. In 1873, Mr. Teasdale and W. H. E ..'erhart
.secured the United States contract for carrying the mails
in Cincinnati between all the r~ilroad depots and the post­
office, which they operated about a year and then sold out
at a large advance. Mr. Teasdale manied, April 10, 1866,
Miss Maggie Linn, of Washington Co., Pa., daughter of
James and Jane (Pollock) Linn, of pioneer families in that
part of Pennsylvania. From this marriage there have been
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three children,-J.Jennie J., born in Pennsylvania, July 5,
1867; Daisy, born Sept. 8, 1870, and died Aug. 26, 1872;
Bessie, born Sept. 19, 1872, the last two in Clermont
County. Lemuel Teasd~le was elected sheriff of the county
in 1877 over Ham Allen, another veteran omnibus man,
and was re-elected in 1879, over N. B. Hoss and E. F.
Donley. His term of' office will expire the first Monday in
January, 1882. He makes a competent official, is very
prompt in his business and affable in his official intercourse
with all. But few men in the county are more popular
than Sheriff Teasdale, who has ever been found a good
citizen and true to all trusts committed to his care. On
Dec. in, 1875, he joined Batavia. J.Jodge, No. 55, of An­
cient Oruer of Uniteu 'Vorkmen, and is one of its promi­
nent members. He resides in the jail building, bis own
residence being occupied by Judge P. J. Nichols.

JOSEPH BICKING.

Joseph Bicking, son of Samuel and Marga.ret V. Bick­
ing, was born December 29, 1824, in Brandywine town­
ship, Chester Co., Fa., one of the most famous scenes of the
Hevolutionary era and struggle. He removed to Jackson

. township, Clel'mont Co., Ohio, in September, 1839, re­
turned to his native State in the spring of 1841, and again
removed to Clermont County in October, 1845. He was
manied, May 0, 1851, by Rev. Mr. Townley, to Mary,
daughter of Aaron Hutchinson, Sr., one of the earliest set­
tlers and pioneers of the county, and first among the emi­
grants from 1\1ercer Co., N. J. She died in October, 1852,
leaving no issne, and Mr. Bicking was afterwards married
by Rev. Eo Burdsal to Elizabeth J., daughter of Cornelius
Harlowe, and granddaughter of Cornelius Washburn, one
of the first pioneers of Kentucky, and the noted frontier
scout and celebrated Indian-fighter of the Northwest. By
his second marriage Mr. Bicking has the following children:
Samuel Miles Bicking, Florence S., Margaret C., }~sther

1\1., and Grace D. He served in Jackson township as
township assessor and clerk, and after his removal to Bata­
via, in 1858, was deputy county auditor under the term of
D. C. J~ryan. He also served as deputy county treasurer
during the administration of Shadrach Dial, and during
the terms of William Nichols and A. 1\1. Dimmitt as county
auditor was most of the time their deputy. In October,
1871, he was elected county treasurer for two years, and in
1877 was re-elected to same office, and his last term expires
in September, 1880. In all his official positions he has
ever been a faithful and urbane officer, true to the trusts
committed to his care, and most affable in his intercourse
with the public. The county never had his superior as a
county treasurer, and its fnnds were received, kept, and dis­
bursed by him with unswerving ·honesty and fidelity, and
bis dealings with taxpayers and all others interested were
marked by an urbanity and effiCiency worthy of historical
recognition and commendation. In politics lUr. Bicking is
a Democrat, and his influence in political campaigns has
been greatly felt by his party, to whose fortunes and in be­
half of whose success his sympathies and voice are ever
heard. While not a member of any religious denomination,
his views incline to the Presbyterian Church, to which his

family belong and whose services he .attends. During the
war he was chief clerk in the store of the late Col. Jesse S.
Dustin, and after its close was a partner with Judge S. F.
Dowdney in operating the Batavia tannery, then in full and
successfnl operation. Subsequently he' embarked in the
grocery and mercantile business, in which he is now en­
gaged in partnership with his son 1\:Iiles.

In September, 1854, he joined the Independent Order of
Odd-Fellows, in Angola Lodge, No. 2:H, at Williamsburgh,
and 0!1.removing to Batavia became a member of Batavia
Lodge, No. 136, in which he passed all the chairs. He
subsequently joined Oleander Encampment, No. 44, held
all its chief offices, and was its represelltati ve to the Grand
Encampment of the State of Ohio. In April, 1877, he
received the degrees of l~ntered Apprentice, Fellow Craft,
and 1\:Iaster Mason in Batavia. J.Jodge, F. and A. M., No.
109, of which he is a leading member at the present time.
1\:11'. Bicking has always manifested the greatest interest in
the public schools, in theil' advancement to the highest
possible grade consistent with the public good, and no citi­
zen has contributed by his influence more to their efficiency
and progress than he has done, and his many years of ser­
vice in the auditor's and treasurer's offices enabled him to
have a complete knowledge of the common-school system,
and to know its great worth to society and to the State.

HENRY B. :l\IATTOX.

The affable and efficient clerk of the Court of Common
Pleas of Clermont Connty, Henry Bonnel Mattox, was
born April 1, 1843. Elijah Mattox about the year 1810
emigrated from Virginia, and was the only one of seven
brothers who settled in Clermont, the others locating else­
where in Ohio and in Indiana. Elijah Mattox. was born
in 1791, and on coming to this State and county settled in

. what is now Pierce township, where he now resides at the
advanced age of eighty-nine years. He served in the war
of 1812, and is a pensioner for gallant duty rendered in
that struggle. On May 7, 1813, he Wa& married by James
Ward, justice of the peace, to Elizabeth ~ledaris, from
which union was born Thomas 1\'1attox, at their home at
Pleasant Hill. Thomas Mattox was married April 23,
1840, by Rev. S. \Vhite, of Batavia, to Miss Nancy Ellis,
of that town, and to them were born Henry Bonnel Mat­
tox, ·William Eo, James K., Annie E., Edgar, Lida, Charles,
and Philora, who died in her infancy. Henry B. Mattox
was educated at the district schools, and early displayed an
activity of mind that soon de~eloped into a bright promise
of a -successful future. At eighteen years of age he re­
ceived a teacher's certificate, after passing a thorough ex­
amination, and began teaching, meeting with marked suc­
cess. In August, 1862, he enlisted in Company B, of the
Eighty-ninth Ohio Regiment Volunteers, as a private, was
in many skirmishes"and minor engagements, and participated
in the terrible battle of Chickamauga, in the fall of 1863,
where he was, with hundreds of others, taken prisoner by
the Confederates. He was then taken. to the famous
Belle Isle den, thence to the notorious Libby Prison,
at ltichmoud, Va., from there to the Danville inclosure,
in the same State, and thence to Andersonville Prison,
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Georgia; from there he was taken to Florence, S. C.,
and finally to Charleston, of same State, where, with
other Union soldiers, he was for three weeks exposed to
the fire of the Federal guns. He was a. prisoner in rebel
hands fourteen months and twenty-three days, during which
time he suffered much at the hands of Confederate keepers;
but his good constitution and true grit enabled him to live
through all those terrible scenes and come out alive with
a. renewed feeling oflove and devotion to t.he Union. After
the termination of tIle Rebellion he attended Antioch (Ohio)
College, and finished his classical and mathematical studies.
In 1865,1866, and 1867 he resided in Whiteside County,
Ill., and was engnged in the grain and coal business, and
while there was elected and served one year as township
clerk. In 1868, after his return from Illinois, he resumed
teaclling, and followed that calling up to January, 1879,
the last five years of which time he held the office of as­
sistant superintendent of Batavia schools. In the mean
time he had read law with Judge George W. Hulick, and
had been, at the September term of the Clermont District
Court in 1871, admitted to the bar. On June 25, 1874,
he was married by Rev. Henry Lockwood to Miss Abbie
Porter, daughter of William Porter, Jr., and Asenath
(Lane) Porter, of Monroe township, from which union
was born one child, a daughter, Edna. In 1871 he took
the symbolical degrees in J. B. Covert Lodge of Free and
Accepted Masons, No. 437, at '\Vithamsville, and soon
afterwards received the capitular degrees in Batavia Chap­
ter of Royal Arch Masons, No. 112, of which chapter he
was secretary for several years. He was one of the charter
members of Batavia Lodge, No. 55, Ancient Order of
United ·Workmen, and after its institution, on Nov. 30,
1875, was for a long time its recorder. He is a member
of the 1. O. O. F., and belongs to Miiton J~odge, No. 99,
at Amelia. When released as a prisoner in the Rebellion
lle received his parole Jan. 1, 1865, and the war was over be­
fore he was exchanged. In the exciting political campaign of
1878, in which ]le took an active part, he was elected clerk
of the Clermont County Common Pleas Court, and took
his seat in Fe.bruary, 1879; his term will expire in Feb­
ruary, 1882. He has made a valuable public official, and
by his courtesy and attention to the duties of his office he
hus won tht- esteem and confidence of the court, the· bar,
and the community at large.

1\1. A. WOOD.

The first settlement made in Southern Clermont, and the
second permanent one in the county, was by the \Vood
family in W nshington .township. This family is of pure
English extraction, coming down from the Revolutionary
era with an honorable record for services to the patriot
cause in the. days of 1776.

David Wood, born and living in Virginia, was a soldier
.in ." The Virginia Line on the Continental Establishment,"
and his son David \Vood married a Miss Smith, descended
from the early immigrants to that State from Germany, just
before the old French and Indian war. About the year
1791, David and his brotl1er John \Vood emigrated to
Kentucky and settled at Washington, ~hen the leading town

of the northern part of that State. In the fall of 1-795 the
two Wood brothers, David and John, accompanied by
Elisha, Nathan, and Richard Manning (brothers), who had
married respectively three sisters of the two brothers Wood,
moved over from Kentucky into what is now 'Vushington
township and built what was called" '\Vood and Mannings'
Stution," at which time the only other building of any kind
in what is now Clermont County was the log cabin of
Col. Thomas Paxton, erected a few weeks before, back of
the present town of Loveland.

" 'Vood and l\Iannings' Station" was built with a stock­
ade, and was partly a fort and partly a double cabin, being
used as a dwelling und also for protection against predatory
bands of Indians and wild beasts. At its old-fushioned
hearth of heaped logs, with its cheerful fire, in the winter of
1795-96 sat llIany nights Duniel Boone, Simon Kenton,
and Cornelius Washburn,-who had been Indian-fighters
and hunters in Kentucky with the 'Voods and Mannings,­
and recounted their exploits and luid plans for future expe­
ditions. Shortly afterwards the Buchanans, the Sargents,
and other settlers came in.

John 'Vood was one of the three first associate judges
of the Common Pleas Court, appointed in 1803, and died
while filling judicial office in 1807. David ·Wood died at
a ripe old uge about 1848, leaving a son, Dr. David 'Yood,
who had married l\Iary Day, a daughter of Joseph Day and
Deborah (Lambert) Day, married in 1819 and both still
living. 1\1rs. Deborah Day was a daughter of the Mr.
Lambert who lived at 'Yilliamsburgh at a very early period,
and who was one of three English soldiers who settled in
America. Dr. David \Vood died in 1854, and his widow
subsequently married L. D. Page, and by him had one
~hild,-Amanda J. Page. The children of' Dr. David and
Mary (Day) Wood were Hercelia, married to Thomas l\I.
Padget; Almina, married to Thomas J. Ashley j Marcellus
Augustus, the subject of this sketch, born May 14, 1846 ;
George A.; and Sarah C., married to Leonard B. Dixon.

Marcellus A. ·Wood was educated in the district and at
the Felicity schools, and completed his studies at the J~eb­

anon (Ohio) Normal School. He received a teacher's cer­
tificate at eighteen years of age, and immediately began
teaching, following that calling -ten successive years in
'Washington, Franklin, and Pierce. townships, acquiring a
merited reputation as one of the best educators in Clermont.
He was a member all that time of the County Teachers' In­
stitute, prominently connected with its annual sessions,
and served on its executive committee and as its secretary
for one year. Five years he served as assessor of Wash­
ington township, and in 1874 was elected recorder of Cler­
mont County, and in 1877 was re-elected .by nearly a thou­
sand majority, leading his ticket by several hundred votes.
His second term will expire in January, 1881, and in six
years of official duties his administration of this important
office has been marked by an efficiency that stamps him as
ari able and trustworthy official. He was married Dec. 17,
1874, by Rev. H. M. Keck, to Miss Ada H. Richards,
daughter of 1l.obei-t J. and Bena (Smith) Richards, of
Franklin township. They have no children, and reside at
Glen Este, in Union township, on the noted "Peticolas"
fruit-farm of'seventy-one acres, which Mr. Wood purchased
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JAl\lES HULICK, SR.

The tide of emigration that had been streaming into the new county of Clermont,
organized Dec. 6, 1800, was checked if not entirely stopped by the war of 1812; but
upon the close of hostilities it began anew, especially from Penns.)'lvania, Maryland,
Virginia, Kentucky, and New Jersey. Among the many worthy emigrants from
the last-named State, men of Christian minds and robust physiques, and most gener­
ally of means, were the Hulicks, whose descendants at this time urI.' very numerous
and comprise many of the best citizens and families of our county. The first to
locute was Abraham Hulick, who died Feb. 18, 1871,I1ged eigh ty-one years, six months,
and twelve days, He was a brothel' of James Hulick, Sr., who emigrated in the year
1814 and located land, and then rcturned to New Jersey and brought out his father,
John, and his mother, Mar.y Hulick, from Snssex County, in that State. His father,
John Hulick, was of English extrnction; served through the Revolutionary war in
the army under 'Vashington, I1nd was lor years a l)cnsioner of the government for
his services in the" Patriot Army," His death occurred at Batavia not quite half a
century ago. John Hulick was the father of the following childl'en: .James, the
subject of t1lis sketch; John and Cornelius, w1l0 bot1l remained and died in New
Jersl.'Y; Abraham; 1\lllry, married to Thomas Tate, lind who died in thl.' spring of
1880; Jane, married to James Gest; Sallie, married to Chal'1es Robinson; MarUm,
twice manied, anti living in Illinois; and Lot Hulick, who died Juue 3, 1878, aged
seventy-eight ;years, six months, and three da~·s. James Hulkk, Sr., was mlll'I'ied by
Rev. Jesse Justice, a minister uf the Methodist Episcopal Church, on Sept. 12, 1816,
to Rebecca \\'ea\'er, n daughter of John "'caver, an earl~' settler, who had emigrated
from Virginia. Their children werc one daught!'r, lIlurried to George R. \\'ugeman,
John 'V. (now deceused), Abrnham, William W., Emstus, and James llulick;
the last four being among onr hest citizens und mGst successful tarmers, while Mrs.
Wageman is justly celeumted t"r her excellence llS a housewife and her Christian
gracell. WIll'1I James Hulick, Sr.,cllme tu Clermullt Cuunt,}' the tOWII of Batavia had
jUijt been laid out into lots by George EI,}', its uriginal proprietor, who came from
New JenlCY, where he hau formed,}' lived in the neighhorhood of the IIulicks. Mr.
Hulick helped to build the first house in the tuwn,-the Titus Everhart property. He
was a curpenter llnd mill-wright by occnpation, ami at theso trades hardl,}' excelled
by any workman of his day. lIe assisted in the erection of the" Old Stone Church"
in Batn.\'il~ in 1819 (1\lethodist Episcopal), of wbich he was a devoted member until
hill death. III 1827 IUid 1828 he aided Ezekiel Dimmitt in the construction of t1le
present court-house, and was one (If the men larglll,}' instrumental in the location
of the count~'·seat at Batavia in the spring uf 1824, Abraham Hulick came out in
1811, and bought one hundred acres of George Ely, who had before purchased the
Johnson Survey of one thou~and acres, the site of the present tow II of Batavia, and
was also the owner of othel' lands in the neighborhood. In the sum mel' of 1814,
Jl~mes Hulick, Sr., cuml', in companJ with Geurge E1S, and aSliistE'd the latter inll~ying
out the town of Batavia on Oct. 24,1814, into lots, and on the 14th of November
following 1\11'. Hulick hought one hundred lind ninet,}'-six and one-half acres of
Peyton Short, of Kentuck~', fllr three hundred and ninet,}'-three dullars, and on this
1Bnd his ,}'oungest sou, James Hulick,now resides. When Jllr, Ely and James Hulick
came out the fOl'mer traveled in a wagon ironed b,}' "Dad Tice," then a jour black­
smith in New Jersey, and was until very recently a resident of Batavia, where he
wOI'ked at his trade even nftcr he had passClI fourscore years. In all enterprises lor
the 'benefit of religion, education, and the geneml lld\'llncement of soclety, James
Hulick, Sr., waS in the foreground, and it is difficult to estimate the results of the
labors of such a man; but in the pious raising of good children who have bE'come
pillars in the church and exemplary members of societ~·, and in his pioneer work,
reclaiming the fertilo soil from the forests, we see the impress of his mind and hands,
and he isjust1y remembered as a noble benefactor to his race. lIe was a gl'llnd type

of the pioneer who left his old home and associations iu the East to assist in laying
the foundations of a new commonwealth in the western wilds; and in his labors be
was nobly Bided by his good wife, Rebecca, in whom he ever found a loving com­
panion and helpmeet. Born in 1787, he died Nov. 21, 1875, aged eighty-eight ,)'ears,
and his departure was preceded only a short time by his beloved wife.

The memory of the old pioneers who wrought 80 hard amid difficulties and dangers
should ever be kept green by those who renp the reward of their labor.

J A:l\lES HULICK.

One of the best known citizens and most successful farmers of Clermont County is
James Hulick, who was born 1\Iay 7,1829, on the old Hulick homestead in Batavia
township, und on which he now resides, about one mile from the town of Batavia.
His education was similar to that received by all the country children twoscore
years llgo, when I'eading, writing, and ciphering to the. single rule of three were the
chief elementary branches taught. He worked on the farm, llnd early acquired a

. knowledge of practical agriculture in all its varied branches. III.' was married 1\Iarch
21, 1861, by Rev. Willhtm Q. Shannon, to Elmira Fuller, daughter of William B.
Fuller, by whom he has h.. d the following children, all living: Selona H., William
0., Libil', Lot,lInd }:llella, the youngest. When he arrived at his majority he con­
nected himself with the llIethodist Episcopal Church of Batnvia, in which in his
infancy he had been baptized hy his Christian parents, and of which he is now a
leading member, contrilluting largely to its spiritual and material success. For over
twenty years he bas been a member of Batavia Lodg&, No. 136, 1. O. O. F., lind in
which he has passed all the chairs. Ill' has served a long time in the township board
of education, and as clerk of his school suh-district, lind has I.'xerted his influence for
the advancement of the cause of education. He WIIS one of tIle projectors of the
Cincinnati and Ellslern Narrow-Gauge Railway, and has been one of the directors of
t.he company almost from its first orglluizat.ion, and has clung with rare fidelity to
its fortunes, and Illbored most zealously for its final success. In 1880, at the spring
election, he was cbosen by a large majority as one of the two trustees of the Batavia
Township Cemetery. He is a general fnrmer; is one of the largest· and best potato
producers in the countY,and in 1879 mllnufilctured from the products of his own land
over thirty.three bundred gallons of sorghum molassl.'s, in the making of which he
is not surpassed in Ohio, and bis brand of molasses ranks as the finest in the markets.
He owns three hundred and seventy ncres of land, three hundred of which is the
home fllrm whE're he lives surrounded with tbe comforts of un elegant home, of which
his accomplished wife and happy children are the attractions that reward him for
his industry lind labor. He has been most successful in all his busine6s ventures, to
wbich he has eyer brought a critical and prudent judgment, lIided by good sense and
a profound knowledge of buman nature. He was among the first in the county to
introduce and sellagricultuml implements and machinery of every "ariety, in which
special branch of business his sales were enormous and his profits large, and iu
which he made the bulk of his handsome fortune. When he began trnding ill
machines the competition was very small and continued so for Yl'ars; but ill the
course of time Clerlllont was overl'Un with others in the same line of business selling
at low rates produced by an unhealthy competition, and thereb,}' reducing the
profits. He was the son of James and Rebecca (Weaver) HUlick, his father being
English and his mother German. The character of James Hulick stands out in bold
relief as that of a Christian gentleman, lind it has been the secret of his success in
life; and his upright reputation us a man marks him as a noble scion of the old
pioneer Hulick fllmily, so long and so honorably known in the bright annals of the
county as interwoven with its progress and advancement iu all moral, social, and edu­
cational Dlatters.



,v. W. PERKINS.

William Wesley Perkins was born in Bracken Co., Ky.,

l\fay 7, 1813, and was tIle son of William Perkins, who served

in the war of 1812, in the 1st Battalion, 4th Regiment of

Kentucky militia, from the 2Gth of August, 1812, to the 18th

day of March, 1813. His grandfather on his mother's side,

Philip R. Rice, was born Oct. 10, 1757, in the county of

King William, Va., and served in the Revolutionary war,

and was at Yorktown at the surrender of Lord Cornwallis

with his army to Gen. Washington. The father and mother

of the subject of this sketch both died in the year 1815, l(lav­

ing him and his only brother, Levi lI. Perkins, both reared

by their grandfather, Philip R. Rice. He served his time

with J. E. McCormick, in Augusta, Ky., nt the tailoring

business, and came to Felicity, in this count:}', Aug. 9, 1837,

and there opened his trade, which he carried on successfully

for many years, during which time he added much to the

improvement of that town by the erection of nHmy substan­

tial buildings. He was married, Oct. 27, 1837, to :Miss
Frances Moneyhon, of Augusta, Ky. He received the s)"m­

bolical degrees of Masonry in Felicity Lodge, No. 107, F.

and A. M., in 1842, of which he was subsequently Worship­

ful Master. He took the capitular degrees in Arion Chapter,

No. 49, of Felicity, and in Connell Council, No. 19, of same

town, was made a Royal and Select l\faster. He removed to

Batavia in October, 1853, and neted for one year as deputy

sheriff under Sheriff G. W. Richards. In 1854-55 he kept for

a year the noted" Clermont Hote1." In 1855 he was elected

sheriff of Clermont County, and was re-elected in 1857, being

the only Republicl.'.n who that year carried the county. His

four years' administration as sheriff' was never surpassed before

or since by any incumbent in that offiec in the effieiency,

promptness, and fidelity with which its duties were i1ischargcd.

. During his two terms.as sheriff he purchased the elegant

farm he now owns, and which he bas greatly improved and

beautified in its pleasant surroundings. To W. W. nnd

Frances (Moneyhon) Perkins have been born three children;

Edwin, William, and Philip Rice. The first two served in

the Union army in the Rebellion, from Sept. 1, 1861, to Nov.

1, 1864, in Company F, commanded by Cupt. Thomns 1[,

Lewis, of the 59th Ohio Volunteer Infllntry. Edwin Perkins

was promoted to be first lieutenant, and served as quarter­

master of his regiment from March 17, 1863, to Nov. 1, 18G4,

at which time he and his brother William were both dis­

charged by reason of the expirntio.n of their term of service.

Philip Rice Perkins, his youngest son, enlisted Feb. 4, 1865,

in the 5th Ohio Cavalry, and was discharged at Charlott(l,

N. C., Oct. 13, 1865. So it appears as an honorable record

that his three sons and only children served their country in

the great Rebellion of 1861-65, his futher fought in the war

of 1812, and his grandfather participated in the seven long

years of the Revolutionary struggle, ;tnd witnessed the finnl

surrender of tho British forces. His sons Edwin and William

were both in the battles of Pittsburg Landing, April -5-G,

1862 j Stone River, Dec. 30, 1.862, and Jan. 1, 18G3 j Chicka­

mauga j Lookout Mountain; lIission Ridgl!; at the capture

of Atlanta j and other minor fights and skirmishes innumer­

able. Mr. Perkins served for four years as assistant assessor

of the Gth Ohio district of the United States Internal Rev(lnue

Department, under Daniel H. l\furphy and Col. Cllrr B.

White, and the government never had a more prompt, honest,

efficient, and popnlar officer than he. In 1880 he was elected

one of three directors of the Batavill townsllip cemetery,

established near Batuvia; , The Masonic order in Clermont

has no member better known than ex-Sheriff Perkins, his

thirty-eight years' connection with thi.. ancient fraternity, dur­

ing nearly all of which time he hns acted in important posi­

tions in tIle order, having brought him into contact with

almost ever~' one of his craft in the county. He is tIle present

High Priest of ·Batavia Chapter, No. 112, of H.oyal Arch

l\fasons. W. W. Perkins, from n. poor hoy with 'no advan­

tages, has by his good character, determined will, and industry

made an honornble name, accumulated a fair portion of this

world's goods, been by the government and his fellow-citi7.eng

honored with important positions of rank and profit, and

secured foJ' himself n. reputation for honesty, public spirit, and

cllarity unsurpassed by any citizen of the county.
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in the spring of 1880 and to which he immediately removed.
He belongs to no denomination, but his wife is a member
of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In 1876 he joined
Batavia J...odge, No. 136, of I. O. O. ·F., and has passed all
its chairs. He is a Democrat in politics, and has taken the
liveliest interest in all political campaigns. By being acci­
qentally thrown from a spirited horse in August, 1867, his left
leg was broken so as to require its amputation. Mr. Wood,
as a man, neighbor, citizen, and public official, has the con­
fidence and e::>teem of the community in an eminent degree,
and it would be difficult to find in Clermont a, man who
~tands higher in the public estimation than 11e.

JOHN J. HOWARD.

Associated with his father, Col. William Howard, in the
practice of the law, and under the firm-name of Howard &
Howard, is John J oliffe, named for that former eminent
attorney of the Clermont bar and distinguished agitator in
the anti-slavery cause, Jolifle. John J. Howard was born
in Batavia, June 27, 1855, and WilS the second son and
child of William and Amaryllis C. (Botsford) Howard. He
received his preliminary education In the high school of his
native town, was two years at Hanover College in Indiana,
in the preparatory department and freshman class, and one
year as sophomore at Dennison University, at Granville,
Ohio. He then commenced reading medicine under Dr.
James C. Kennedy, of Batavia, and attended one course of
lectures at the Ohio Medical College of Cincinnati, but on
account of a severe accident, crippling his hand, he gave up
the medical profession and began the study of law in his
father's office, and at the September term of the Clermont
County District Court in 1877 was, with James B. Swing,
Charles T. Jamieson, and 'William Britton, admitted to
ilie bar us an attorney and counselor-at-law. He was mar­
ried Oct. 11, 1875, to Miss Delia D. Dustin, a daughter of
the late Col. Jesse S. Dustin, of Batavia, by which union
he has two children, both sons, William Dustin and Lou
Carlton. In December, 1878, he took the degrees in the
I. O. O. F., in the Batavia Lodge, No. U~6. In October,
1878, he was elected prosecuting atto~ney of Clermont,
over Capt. William A. Townsley and Turpin D. Hartman,
and was the youngest man ever elected to that office in the
county. His father, Col. William Howard, was elected to
the same position in 1845 and 1847. John J. Howard's
term as prosecutor will expire in January, 1881, and al­
though now a comparatively young man, his administration
has been marked by ability, vigor, and energy, and success
in bis prosecutions has characterized his bolding this most
important station. An unusual number of criminal cases
and several of capital offenses have been tried and prose­
cuted by him during his term, and with an ability and :mc­
cess that have redounded to his credit as an able, prompt,
and painstaking official, and given him the confidence and
respect of the public. The firm of Howard & Howard have
a very large and lucrative practive, and is one that holds
the esteem of the community in an eminent degree for its
faithful and conscientious discharge of all business intrusted
to it.

36

JOHN W. DUCK'VALL.

In the year 1815, Daniel Duckwall, then in the twenty­
fifth year of his age, came from Virginia on horseback,
possessing only his horse, saddle, and five hundred dollars
in money, and located near Batavia. Here, on Aug. 6,
1816, he was married by Rev. Philip Gatch to Miss
Keziah Dimmitt, a daughter of Ezekiel Dimmitt, one of the
first three persons who, in the spring of 1795, purchased
lands. in Clermont County. He bought at that time, by
title-bond, the Johnson survey of one thousand acres,
adjoining Batavia, and comprising the beautiful fa~ms in
the bottom now owned by the four Duckwall brothers.
Daniel Duckwall died in 1849, leaving the following
children: Phoobe, married to Thomas Marsh; Mary, to
Thomas Fletcher; Moses H.; Ezekiel D.; Caroline, mar­
ried to Dr. J. M. 'Witham; George 'V.; John Wesley;
and Mattie, married to J. J. Mull. Mrs. Keziah (Dim­
mitt) Duckwall died some two years ago, but her children
are all living. . ,

John Wesley Duckwall was born July 30, 1832, and
received the usnal education the common schools then
afforded. He waS married March 8, 1859, by Rev. John
W. Fowle, to Lamira Hall, daughter of the late and highly­
esteemed Col. J04n Hall, of' Mount Carmel, by which
union be bas one daughter, Kate. In 1851, in his nine­
teenth year, he joined the Methodist Episcopal Church in
Batavia, then under the pastorship of the Rev. Mr. Mere­
dith, and from that day has been o~e of the most liberal
and prominent members of t1mt denomination in the county.
For a very long period he was a trustee of the church,
afterwards bccomin~ a steward, which latter position be now
fills. He has ever Leen greatly interested in Sunday­
schools, and for :SUllie eight 'years he was the efficient treas­
urer of the Clermont County Sabbath-School Union. No
man in Batavia has been more closely ·identified than he
with the progress and advancement of its schools. For
the past fourteen years he has been a member of the school
board, dnring eight years of which he has served as its
treasurer, still occupying that position. In 1873, since his
connection with the board, the present fine school edifice
was erected, and to him in an eminent degree are the
people indebted for its construction and adornment. For
sixteen years he has been one of the controlling spirits of
the Cierwont County Agricultural Society, during three
of which he was a director, two its vice-president, two its
president, and"nine its treasurer, which office he yet holds.
Mr. Duckwall has a fine farm, of some two hundred acres
adjoining the town, and is a model fhrmcr, but still finds
time to trade annually in large amounts of grain and agri­
cultural products generally. He, with three brother13,
George W., Moses H., and Ezekiel D., have some seven
hundred acres of the finest bottom-lands in Ohio, including
flome extending. back to the hills, and constituting one of
the ·most beautiful landscapes met with in that part of' the
country. Mr. Duckwall is one of the best citizens in the
county, and is distinguished for: bis identification with all
moral and Christian movements, and. all enterprises· of a
public character conducive to the welfare of society and
the public good.
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John Shannon Parrott on his maternal side is of French
extraction, and on his paternal, of }i~nglish, and is descended
from the Parrotts who in the seventeenth century emigrated
to America from near Stoney, Buckingham Co., England.
His father, Edmund Parrott, was born Feb. 22, 1815, in
Bedford Co., Pa., in the beautiful Cumberland Valley, and
was the son of John and Rachel (Stigers) Parrott, who
emigrated in 1827, to Knox Co., Ohio, and settled' near
Mount Vernon, with their five sons and three daughters.
Edmund Parrott married, in 1839, Margaret Lafever, daugh­
ter of 'Villiam and Mary Lafever, of French descent, who
settled near Fredericktown, Knox Co., Ohio, in 1806,
moving there from Alleghany' Co., Pa" but originally com­
ing from New Jersey. Edmund Parrott died July 6, 1863,
but his widow still survives, living at Felicity, in ,this
county. They had the following children : John Shannon
(named after ex-Governor Wilson Shannon), born Sept. 4,

. 1840; William Lafever, born Feb. 20, 18-1-2; Thomas
Benton, born in 1843; Amanda Lafever, born Jan. 7, 1845;

. Mary Ellen, born April 18, 1848; Annie, born Sept. 2,
1851; and Elizabeth Rebecca, born Dec. 8, 1854. Of
these, Amanda, who married Henry Beckley, is deceased;
Mary Ellen married, in 1864, Rev. S. S. Newhouse, of the
Christian Church of Felicity, where they reside; Annie
married William Shinnaberry, residing near Mount Veroon ;

and Elizabeth Rebecca married, in 1878, S. F. Kennedy, of
Felicity, where they now live. John Shann~nParrott was
brought up on a farm, had a good common-school education,
and completed his studies at the high school of Mount
Vernon. In 1865 and 1866 he read law in the office of
that distinguished statesman, lawyer, and soldier, Gen.
George W. Morgan. July 27, 1869, he came to Clermont,
and from that year to 1874 was principal of the Felicity
schools, which under his able supervision reached a high
position of excellence, and second to none in the county.
In 1873, at the September term of the Clermont District
Court, he was admitted to the bar. In 1875 he was elected
clerk of the Court of Common Pleas of Clermont County,
moved to Batavia, entered upon the duties of his office in
Februury, 1876, and held this position three years, making
one of the most efficient officers that ever filled that impor­
tant posit.ion. On retiring from the clerkship he formed a
partnership in the practice of the law with Judge S. F .
Dowdney, under the firlll-name of Dowduey & Parrott, and
a't the present time is in the enjoyment of a large and lucra­
tive practice. He was married June 20, 1871, by Hev. S.
S. Newhouse, to May Kennedy, daughter of Dr. John W.
Kennedy, from which union have been born three children,
viz.: Edmund Kennedy, Dale HowaJ'd; and Lo~isa Ken­
nedy. He joined the Independent Order of Odd-Fellows,
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Quindara Lodge, No.3] 6, of Mount Ver'non, Ohio, sixteen
yeurs ago j passed all the chairs, and joined the JiJncamp­
ment in Felicity, in which order he has enjoyed like dis~

tinction. In 1878 he received the symbolical degrees of.
Masonry in Batavia Lodge, F. and A. M., No., ]09, and in

.1879 and 1880 was elected its secretary, which· station he
now fills. His great-grandfathers on both sides were in the
patriot army of the Revolutionary war, ·his great-gran.d­
father Parrott being at the battles of Germantown and
Brandywine, and his great-grandfather Lufever being en­
gaged in the Cowpens battle, under Morgan. His grand­
father, John Parrott, served through tIle war of 1812.
Since his removal to Clermont County, in 1869, Mr. Par~

rott has taken a great interest in educational matters, and
for years actively participated in the exercises of the Teach­
ers' Institute, serving one year as its vice-president, also as a
member of the executive committee. .J.Jiko his ancestors,
Mr. Parrott is a Democrat of the Jackson und Jeffersonian
school, and since 1861 has taken great interest in Ohio
politics, with which he has been closely identified. In
1876, 1877, and 1878 he was one of the three Democratic
executive committeemen of Clermont, alld the warm and
successful campaigns of 1876 and 1877 were largely in­
debted to his executive ability and ener~y as displayed in .
the canvass of this county. Mr. Parrott is living in, his
new residence, on Main Street in Batavia, just below Ma­
sonic Hall, and pays the closest attention to his profession,
now engrossing his entire time and studies.

ABRAHAM HULICK.

Abraham Hulick was the third in a filmily of six chil­
dren, whose parent.'5 were James Hulick, Sr., and Rebecca
(Weaver) Hulick, and was born in Batavia township, Aug.
26, 1822. He was reared 9n his father's farm, received a
good edncation in the district schools, and attended'several
terms of the Batavia school. He was married by Rev.
John W. Clark, on !\-Jay 16, 1844, to Miss Irane G. Stone,
who was born July 2, 1824, in the State of Connecticut,
and in the same year of his marriage moved upon the ele­
gant farm which he now owns. To Abraham and Irene
G. (Stone) Hulick there have been born eleven children,
all Jiving, to wit: Jane 8., born March 7, 1845, and mar­
ried Oct. 21, 1868, by Rev. R. K. Deem, to Joseph W.

I I :=IDe

Ransom j James and Hermon Stone (twins), born March
13, 1845 j Herman Stone, married Jan. 9, 1873, to Anna
Belle Conklin; James, married March 7, 1874, to Lo­
rilla Agnes Liggitt j Rebecca, born March 20, 1852, and
married May 29, 1872, to Henry W. Davidson; Melle
S., born Aug. 27, 1853 j George W., born Oct. 10, 1854;
Albert, born Jan. 31, 1860 j Elmer Ellsworth, born July
28, 186~ j Effie Kate, born July 26, 1866 j and the young­
est, Clifford Grant, born June 24, 1868. Abraham Hulick
was co... verted in 1842, at the celebrated camp-meeting at
Olive Branch in the summer of that· year, and from that
day to the present has been a mos't zealous and consistent
member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He is now
connected with that denomination at Boston, whose circuit
embraces that, town, together with Elmwood aud Summit,
and is a steward, class-leader, and trustee ~nder its jurisdic­
tion. He is also superintendent of the three 'Sunday-schools
at the points above named, and was one of the originators
and projectors of the Clermont County Sabbath-School·
Union, organized in 1867, and has ever since labored dili­
gently for its success, much of which iR due to his good
works and untiring industry. The cause of temperance
always found in him one of its warmest supporters by his
precept and example, and from the" old Washingtonian"
movements to the present "Temperance ~lIiance" he has
always been a member of some society laboring for the sup­
pression of intemperance. Greatly interested in educational
matters, and believing that" a diffusion of knowledge pre­
vents crime, the C0mmon schools find in him a strenuous
advocate, and for ten years he has been a member of the
township board of education, and has' actively assisted in
raising to a high standard the character and tone of our
schools. He resides in the extreme northeast part of the
township, on the Deerfield road, midway between Owensville
and Batavia, his post-office address being at the former place.
He has one hundred and ninety-one acres 'in his farm, and
in practical farming he is hardly surpassed in the county.
He is a genertll farmer and makes a specialty of no par­
ticular production, but raises corn, wheat, potatoes, oats,
etc., besides fruits of all varieties and of the greatest abun­
dance. He takes all his products to Cincinnati in his own
wagons, where they bring the highest market prices.

He has a beautiful residence, pleasantly located in an ex­
cellent neighborhood, and with his family enjoys the com­
petence secured by his industry and careful,management.

W ILL I .A M S BUR G H.
'fl.

THIS is Jne of the tow~ships erected by the Court of
Quarter Sessions, at its first meeting in 1801, with an area
which has been diminished from time to time by the for­
matiQn of Tat~, Batavia, and Jackson townships, in Cler­
mont, and Brown County, on the east. These divisions
constitute the preseI,lt boundaries of Williamsburgh, in the
ordernamed~ from south to east, and the reduced. territory
comprises 18,696 acres of land. The surface is mainly.

constituted of upland, whose general level is broken by the
.East Fork of the Little Miami, which courses through the
township near the centre, in an almost southerly direction,
and along which are small tracts of bottom-lands. The
contiguous lands are in some places too hilly to admit of
favorable cultivation, but in general there is but little
wast(lland"and the SQil is. usually fertile, being toa large
extent a light clay, admixed with loam. The township was
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originally heavily wooded, and fine belts of timber yet
abound. Its manufacture has been one of the principal
sonrces of wealth. The East Fork has tributary streams,
the largest being Clover Creek, which forms in part the
boundary between Tate. Kain Run, on the west., and Crane
Run, on the east, are brooks whose volume has been di­
minished by the clearing up of the country.

THE PIONEER SETTLERS.

From all accounts, James Kain and his family were the
first permanent settlers of the township. James Kain
removed from his native place, Lancaster Co., Pa., in 1790,
stopping at Hed Stone Fort, where he raised a crop, and
then came to Columbia. In a year or so he removed to
Newtown, and in the fall of 1796 to Williamsburgh. The
year previous, and the early part of 1796, he had worked
at this place, building a cabin in the village and clearing a
considerable tract of land for Gen. Lytle on Kain Run, which
was long afterwards known as the" big field." He was
also the first inn-keeper, and was an active, energetic man.
He died April 10, 1815, aged sixty-six years. He had
three sons-Daniel, John, and Thomas, the latter born
while he was living at Columbia-and three daughters,­
Mary, Jmizabeth, and Sarah,-all of whom came with their
parents, and all being at that time unmarried. Two of the
sons, Daniel and John, were in Wayne's army when he
defeated the Indians, and Daniel served in the war of 1812.
In 1811 he received a captain's commission from Gov. St.
Clair, and on the 1st of June, 1804, Governor Tiffin re­
newed his commission. On the 28th of November, 1809,
he was commissioned as major of Second Battalion, Fourth
Regiment, First Brigade, lnrst Division of militia j and
although he became a colonel in ] 820, he was most gener­
ally called major to the time of his death, March 11, 1843.
He was twice married: the first time to Mary Hutchinson,
by whom he had sons named James and Joseph, and a
daughter, who was married to Israel Foster, and became
the mother of the bishop. For his second wife he had
Eleanor Foster, and children named 'William, Henry, and
Thomas (the former two yet living in the township), and
daughters who married Samuel Ellis, John Miller, W. G.
Gage, and George Davidson.

John Kain married Elizabeth Raper, and in 1815
opened a public-house in the village, which he kept until
his deat~, Feb. 6, 1846. This house is yet kept by his
youngest. son, John W. His other sons were named
Thomas, S<lmuel, James, George, and Daniel. His four
daughters were married to Daniel Smith, Thomas J. 1\lor­
ris, Lewis Ellis, and William Peterson, all sons of well­
known pioneers.

Thomas Kain, the youngest of the three brothers, mar­
ried Mary Herbert and settled at Batavia, where he carried
on wool-card.ing and other enterprises; he died there, leav­
ing sons named James, John W., Jefferson, George, Milton,
.and Charles H., and several daughters.

Elizabeth Kain married Daniel Campbell, who was killed
in the war of 1812, and she subsequently became the wife
of Samuel Cade, who removed to the West.

Sarah became the wife of Capt. Stephen Smith j and
Mary (or Polly, as she was most gene~allJ' called), who was

the first white woman in 'Williamsburgh, of James Perrine.
The latter came from Middlesex Co., N. J., in December,
1802, landing at the mouth of Bullskin. In the fall of
1803 he took a trip down the Mississippi to New Orleans
in a pil·ogue, loaded with bacon for the Piatt Bros., of
Cincinnati,and walked back through the Indian country.
On the 4th of July, 1804, he married Polly Kain, and
after a few years removed to Batavia, where he served as
justice of the peace many years. He died at Williamsburgh,
Dec. 7, 1864, in his eighty-fifth year. Mrs. Perrine died
at Batavia at the residence of her daughter, Mrs. John
Jamieson. She was born in Pennsylvania, June 13, ]785,
and died Dec. 1, 1871. In 1802 she joined the Methodist
Church, and preserved a consistent membership until the
end of her life, being at that time the oldest member in
the county. James Perrine had six sons and two daugh­
ters,-Daniel, who removed to Illinois j Joseph A. (com­
monly called" colonel"), a resident of Bethel since 1827;
James and John, who removed to the West j Thomas,
who died at Memphis, in 1838 j Holly, who died at
'Villiamsburgh, in 1878 i Catharine, married John Ja­
mieson in 1821 j and Elizabeth, Aaron Leonard. In
1805 the father of James Perrine settled on' Barnes' Run,
on a farm of 100 acres, which was his home until his death,
in 1823. He had served seven years in the struggle for
American independence, and was a brave man. Besides
James he had sons named Arthur and Ralph, and four
daughters, who married, Martha, Isaac Dye; Eleanor,
Joseph Holman; Elizabeth, John Gill; and Ann, Andrew
Hickey. The latter two were also among the pioneers.

Archibald McLean was born in Lancaster Co, Pa., in
1779. In 1796 he moved with his father,.Hugh McLean,
to Columbia, Ohio, and a little later in the season to New­
town, from where, three years later, he moved to his final
place of abode, a few miles east of Williamsburgh. Here
he died, Oct. In, 1855. He was one of the original mem­
bers of the Presbyterian Church at Williamsburgh, and
served it as an elder forty-seven years. His filmily con­
sisted of four sons and two daughters, named William S.,
Archibald, Thomas E., Robert N., Jane, and Margaret.

Gen. William Lytle, the proprietor of Williamsburgh
village, came from Lexington, Fayette Co., Ky., in the
summer of 1800, to reside on his farm south of the village
and contiguous thereto. He made extensive improvements,
and had several hundred acres of lund cleared within the
next few years. The frame house, which yet occupies a
conspicuous place on the farm, was his home, and at that
time was the finest in this part of the State. The small
stone building was his private office. In 1810 he removed
to Ci~cinnati, where he lived until his death. His family,
consisting of sons named J aIm, William, Robert, and Ed­
ward, and two daughters, were among the leading citizens
of that city.- In a p:eneral chapter will be found a sketch
of the life of this celebrated pione~r.

'John' Lytle, a brother of the above, assisted him in
making surveys in this part of the county, and spent the
winter of 1795 at what is now Williamsburgh, leaving for
his home in Kentucky in June the following year. Four
years later he and his mother returned here to live, and
fou~d a home first on the William Lytle place. He soon
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after married Dorcas Waring, a sister of R. W. Waring,
and the mother went back to Kentucky. John Lytle then
moved to and improved what is now called the Dubois
farm, east of the village, where he lived until 1817, when
he occupied the large brick house on the corner north of
the square, which he had erected meantime. Here he
lived a number of years, when he again moved, this time
t~ the 'William Lytle place, which had been occupied after
the general's removal by Elijah Hankins. John Lytle died
Jan. 30, 1843, at the age of seventy-six years, and his wife
survived him a number of years. Their family consisted
of five sons and one daughter, who became the wife of
Dr. ]~rastus C. Sharp, and lived and died in the villap;e.

The oldest son, William, married a daughter of Daniel
Eyerhart, and yet resides near Afton Station; Thomas W.,
the second son, married a Miss Waters, and died neal' the
village; John W. married u daughter of the Rev. John
Wiseman, and lived west of the village until his death,
De<;. 8, 1875, which was caused in the following sad man­
ncr: It appears that one of his neighbors had borrowed
his saddle to ride to Batavia. R.eturninp; home late in the
evening, Mr. J.Jytle relieved him of the saddle, saying that
as he was going to the barn he could as well hang it in its
place. On entering the stable one of the horses became
violently frightened, and began kicking and stamping him
until life was almost extinct, so that he lived but a short
time after he was rescued. His death was deeply deplored,
for he was universally esteemed. His family yet occupies
the place, and with them lives Joseph Waring, the young­
est of the Lytle brothers. Rowan Lytle, the fourth son of
John, married a daughter of Daniel Everhart, and since
1843 has lived on the farm which is yet his homestea~, on
the hill east of the village.

"'hen Gen. Lytle and his brother were engaged, in
1795-96, in laying out Williamsburgh, they had in their
employ Adam Bricker, a full account of whose life appears
elsewhere, who lived first in a tent near the village, but
afterwards erected a cabin, probably the first in the town­
ship, which stood near the mill. In 1805 he married Re·
becca Hartman, and seven years later moved on a farm of
100 acres, two miles from the village, which is at present
oc('uried by his Ron, Robert M. Here he died in August,
1843, at an advanced age, and Mrs. Bricker about seven
years later. Of their ten children, nine grew to mature
years, namely, John, who died near the homestead; Hart­
man, who removed to Union City; Robert M., already
mentioned; William, who lives on the Bethel road;
Thomas, who removed to Delaware; Isaac, to Southern
Indiana; and daughters, who married Elijah Homan, Na­
than Hill, and William Gray.

Adam Snider was oue of Bricker's comrades and came
to Williamsburgh about the same time, 1795. He was an
unmarried man, but usually kept house by himself, and his
cabin had a ground floor, while the single room of which it
was composed afforded a place for him, his dogs, cats, and
chickens, all living happily together. For a long time he
lived on the lots now occupied by William S. McLean and
was the court-house janitor.

Ebenezer Osborne, the father of Lydia, was a tailor and
lived on lot 324. His family consisted of four children:

two daughters-;-Lydia, aged eleven, and Matilda, seven
years-and two younger bl'others,-Josiab and John ,-the.
latter pr,obably an infant at the time Lydia was lost. This
sad event, the only one in the history of that day invested
with tragic interest, occurred on the 13th of July, 1804.
It appears that it was customary for the Osborne children,
alone or accompanied by some of the neighbors' little girls,
to drive up the cows which grazed on the commons around
the village. On the afternoon of the above day the two
Osborne girls, accompanied by the girls of the McKnslen
family, set out on this duty, following the paths which led
to the" big field," about a mile from the village, where the
cattle were supposed to range. They were guided in their
movements by the tinkling of the cow-bells, and were, per­
haps, led off by this means from the main path, and in
that way the lUcKaslen girls became separated from the
Osborne girls, and struggling, to find their way home,
finally came upon a blind path, which they followed, and
before night reached the house of William Hunter, in
Jackson township, more than six miles from, Williams­
burgh. Not so fortunate the Osborne girls. They became
bewildered, separated, and the elder one hopelessly lost.
The Rev. James B. Finley, who participated in the search
for the child, has left on record such a graphic account
of the scenes and events which followed that we produce it
to a large extent: '

"The elder girl supposed, from the direction the cows took, that
they were going from instead of tow'ard home. Fully impressed with
this belicf, she requcsted her little sister to stay where she was, and
she would run nnd head them off and turn them in the right direction.
But the cows, intent on going home, could not be diverted from their
course. What to do sne knew not, and fearing that her sister would
be lost, she left the cattle and started to go to the place where she
thought she had left her. But, alas! how did the young heart ache
whcn, aftcr wandering about for a long time and crying out her name
in the woods, she could not find her. Sadly she started, without her
sistcr, in the direction of home, as she supposed; but instead of this,
the poor, bewildel'ed child took an opposite direction frOID her'futher's
cabin. The younger girl followed the sound of the cow-bells and
arrived safe at home, but L:rdia wandered on and was lost in the
wildcrness.

"Night came on, casting its darkened shadows over the forest, but
she came not to greet the anxious eyes of her parents, which were
growing sorrowful and dim with wntching. Not a moment of time
was to be lost; their child was in the woods exposed to the savages
and wild beasts. The neighborhood was aroused with the alarm of
'lost child!' The cry became general, like the cry of fire at night
in a country village. Every heart was touched, and soon in every
direction torches were seen flashing their lights into the darkness of
the forest. Bells were rung, horns were blown, and guns were fired
through the woods, if, perchance, the sound might reach the ear of
the lost one. The whole night was spent in a fruitless search. The
news flew in evcry direction, and reached the settlement where we
resided, and as many as could leave'home turned out to seek for the
lost child. This day was also spent in vain, though sOlDe signs of her
tracks in crossing branches and miry places were discovered, all,
however, indicating that she was going farther into the wilderness.
On the third day the famous backwoodsman and hunter Cornelius
Washburn arrived with about five hundred others. Washburn ~as

accompD,nied by his noted hunting-dog, of which it was said he would
follow Dny scent his master would put him upon. At length the night
of the third day arrived, but still no intelligence of the lost child.
We were now deep in the wilderncss, and we all made preparations
for camping out that night. After lighting our fires and taking
some refreshment, we retircd to rest by lying down upon the ground
by our camp-fircs. At daybreak we weI'e up again and ready for our
search; but as the collection of people WD~ so numerous, we concluded
it was best to form ourselves into complLnies ond take different direc-
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tions, and meet at night nt a plnce designated, and report in relation
to our discoveries. Money was collected and sent to the settlemen~s to
buy provisions, to be brought to the place of rendezvous. Every day
we received accessions to our numbers, so that on the seventh day it
was supposed there were more than a thousand persons gathered from
all parts of the country, and many from Kentucky. The seventh
night was spent on the hC/ldwuters of the Enst Forl.: of the Little
Miami. Washburn rcportcd that he hud discovered where the little
girl had slept for several nights. The place she had selectcd was
where onc tree had fullen across nnother, which was lying down, and
afforded a good protection. He also saw where she had plucl'ell and
eaten some fox-grapes and whortlcberri(·s. To this place the whole
crowd hurricd. Nothing could havc restrained them, so enger were
they to find the lost child, or some clue thut would lead to her dis­
covery.

" In all these journeyings the father was present, and so ahsorbed
in grief at the loss of his dear Lydia that he could neither eat nor
sleep. Sorrow drnnk up his spirits, and hc refused to be comforted.
When hope was kindled in his hem't that his child would be found he
seemed like one frantic, and flew in every direction, calling most pit­
eously the name of his child; but she was not there,-her little fed
had -borne her to some other quarter of the wildwood. It was agreed
the next morning that all the company should start out abreust, about
three rods apart, with a llIan in the middle, and olle nt ellch end of
the line, whose duty it was to blow horus at certain intermls, for the
purpose of keeping the line in order. It was :m immense line, ex­
tcnding for se\'eral miles. Each man was in~trueted to eXllmine e\'ery
branch and wet place, and every hollow log lind thicket, to sce if any
traces of her were discO\·eruble.

"Thus, day after day, and night after night, the search went on,
till sixteen days were passed away in the fruitless endeavor to find
her. In the mean time some of the compnny, having lost all hope of
finding her, returned home, but others came and filled their places, so
that on no dlly were there less than one thousand pcrsons on the
search. On the fourtcenth day, accompanied by two others, we took
across to the north fork of Whiteoak, nnd carefully searched the
banks of that stream for miles. On the morning of the fifteenth day
we found where she bad crossed, by ber footprints in the :;and, at the
water's edge. These footprints appeared to be fresh, and greatly re­
vived our hopes. We were now distant from the main hody of men
se\'eral miles, and wbile one of our number was dispatched to com­
municate the intelligence, we proceed to follow up a fork of the creek
which puts in just where her footprints were found. Here there was
an opening on the bottom-land, where there was a large blackberry­
patch nellrly a quarter of a mile in length. Near this patch we found
a neat little house, huilt of sticks nicely adjusted. It was covered
with sticks, and over these were placed, in regulln layers, pieces of
moss taken from the logs and sides of trees in the neighborhood. The
cracks were nll neatly stopl,ed with moss. In the centre, on (lne side,­
was a little door, and in the interior was a bed made of leaves, cov­
ered with moss and decorated with wild-flowers. All could see at
once that it was the work of a child; ond we may have been childish
while gazing upon it, for the tears stole freely down our checks.
Here, away in the wilderness, far from human habitation, had- this
lost child constructed this miniature house, and thus recalled the
scenes of home, and sister, and wother, and father.

"The child must- have been here several days, for from her little
house to the blackberry patch she had beaten quite a path, and some
parts of the patch were pieked quite bare. 'ye imagined that we had
at last found the place where the little wanderer had fixed her abode;
but now that we had got in reach of the prize, how to take it was the
question. To make a noise would frighten her awny to some hiding­
place where she could not be found; for children, when lost, become
wild as the antelope in his notive forest, and if caught will m'ake
every possible resistance, even lookin~ upon their best friends as ene­
mies. Supposing that she was not far off, and would return to her
house, we remoyed to a short distanee, where we would be unobserved,
~nd sat down to wait her coming. But there were no signs of her
returning, and fe\lring iest lve might be disco\'ered by the lost child,
we stole softly under covert, from tree to tree, and cleared the open­
ing. Ascending an eminence, where we had iI. full view of the black­
berry patch, wtl carefully scanned every part of it, and were slltisfied
that she was not there. Returning again, and making a more thor­
ough examination, we could discover no fresh signs of her presence,
and we concluded to return to the main creek and wait for the com-

pony, nnd prevent, if possible, the press of the eager cr,owd from
rushing on and destroying what signs might yet remain undiscol·ered.
It is said there were more th:m It thousand men encamped along the
creek that night. The encampment extended for half a mile.

" Fearing the consequences of making a disclo~u-re of what we had
seen at the blackberry patch, wc kept it a secret till morning, nnd
then taking aside the best woodsmen in the company, we led them to
the house of the child. We then returned nnd formed the whole
company into military order, and marched them out into the opening
whel'e, flanking out right and left, they surrounded the entire space
and formed a hollow square. At the site of the little cabin a scene­
occurred which it would be impossible to describe, Here were brlL\'e,
stalwart men, who had been subjected to the perils of the wildernes:;,
contending for every inch with savlIges and wild hensts, whose hearts
were ne\'er lmown to quail with fenr, who, at sight of that little cabin,
werc melted into tears. Some, ns if deeming it unmnnly to weep, or
to be scen mnnifesting so mueh human sJ'mpathy, turned aside, while
others left the ranks to give nnt to their feelings in solitude. But
when the fathcr came up to the littlo dWl'lJing his own dear child had
built for .bersell~ and excInimed, j Oh, Lydia, Lydia, my dear child,
are you yet aIi\'e?' a thousand hearts broke forlh in uncontrollable
grief.

•, The result of the im'estigntion mnde by the hunters was, thllt the
si'gns were three or four aayl; old. Horse-tracks were also found in
the grnl;s, supposed to be about the same nge. The conjecture was
that she had been discovered and taken away hy some hunters, or a
party of Indians. It was agreed, howe\'er, to make another cffort.
The company was divided, and sent out in different directions, to see
if any further signs could be found of hunters or Indians. Two miles
from 'Lydia's Camp,' for so it is called to this day, her bonnet was
fountl hanging on n. bush, and eight or ten miles farther off an Indian
camp was discovered, supposed to have becn vacated for ti"e or six
days. The conclusion was that the child hnd been carried off by the
Indians, none knew where. Further pursuit being considered useless,
the company disbanded, and the men returned to their homes. Not
so, however, with the father. The love of his child was to him sweeter
than life. He never gave np the search, but penetrated the wildl'st
solitudes and sought for her among the Indians till the day of his
death. The lost was never found."

Of the subsequent history of the Osborne family little
can be said. The father died of grief in the course of a
dozen years, and Mrl3. Osborne became the wife of John
Charles, a well-known citizen of the northern part of the
county. Josiah, the elder son, was a man of some note in
his day, and John, the youngest of the family, lived to be
an old man in the township of Jackson.

Nicholas Sinks came from Rockingham Co., Va., to New­
town in the fall of 1797, and opened a small tannery at
that point. In 1801 he moved to .WiIliamsburgh and pur­
chased, in 1804, the Tom Morris property, where he kept
a public-house many years, and also carried on a tannery.
He followed John Lytle as the second postmaster in Wil­
liamsbur~h, and was a prominent man. He died April 9,
1825. His family consisted of seven children that grew to
mature years, namely,-Edwa.rd, who lived and died in
Williamsburgh; Tiffin, who died at Cincinnati at the age
of twenty-three years; Nicholus, who was a merchant at
Williamsburgh, and died in 1845; Randolph, who removed
to Bethel in November, 1829, and still resides there; George
W. has been a r~sident of Texas since 1836; Elizabeth
married Dr. Boerstler, a distinguished physician -of Lan­
caster, Ohio; and Margaret was the wife of Samuel Justice,
of Bethel.

The Snell family originated in Holland, and in that
country Barron was born about 1700. He married an
English lady named Elizabeth Stillwell, and emigrating to
America settled in South Carolina. In the French and
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Indian wars he served in the British army, and was wounded
at (; Braddock's defeat." His children settled in various
parts of the country, as follows: John served in the Amer­
ican army in the Revolution, and settled in Virginia; Eliz­
abeth and Mary married British officers, who emigratcd to
Nova Scotia after the war, taking the Snell brothers-George,
~avid, and Daniel-with them, and after about seven years
the three last named returned to Maryland, where they
were married. In 1801: David and Daniel movcd to Cler­
mont County, settling on the old Chillicothe road near Wil­
liamsburgh. In the war of 181S, David scrved in Capt.
Brady's company, and was killed at the battle of Lundy's
Lane. Daniel was married to Edna Mallott, a.nd of his
eight children Nancy married Joseph Moorhead, and im­
migrated to Illinois in ] 843 ; John and Daniel married
Jane and Catherille Moorhead, and the latter moved to
Il!illOis in 1851; Eliza married John Porter, and moved to
Iowa; David moved to Nebraska; and ·John, Peter, and
H01lander lived in the neighborhood of Williamsburgh.

The Mallott family descended from a representative leader
of the French Revolution, commonly called l\Ialleut. Driven
from Paris he sought a home in Maryland, and there reared
six children. Of these Daniel was well educated alld became
a surveyor, serving as an assistant to Gcn. Lytle in Cler­
mont County before 1800. Upon his return to Maryland
his glowing account of the country caused great immigra­
tion to that section, among the settlers being Dory, Peter,
William, and John l\lallott. Some of these settled on the
JiJast Fork below Perin's Mills, alld the others found homes
near Williamsburgh ill the Snell neighborhood. Of the
descendants of the latter was W. Warren Mallott., a poet
who wrote many beautiful lines. He had a fiDe poetical
genius and a memory wonderfully retentive, but his physi­
cal strength WaS so small that he did not survive long. He
sank under an attack of consumption before he had reached
his twenty-eighth year. "Thus perished one who, though
young in years, was old in thought."

One of the earliest and most prominent settlers of the
southern part of "\Villiamsburgh was Peter Light, the
brother of Jacob and Daniel Light, of' Ohio township.
They moved from Pennsylvania to Kentucky about 1795,
and shortly after to Ohio, living first at Columbia. Before
1800, Peter settled on the north side of Clover Creek, on
the present Bethel road, which he surveyed in 1801. To­
gether with Jasper Shotwell and John Charles (who after­
wards settled in Jackson), he drew up a plan for the first
court-house in the county, and did much of the early sur­
veying. He reared three children,-George C., David, and
Susanna. The former was a person of more than ordinary
note, and was a man of unusual capacity. He became a
Methodist minister, and was noted for his fervid eloquence
and devotion to the interests of the church whose cause he
had espoused. He died at Vicksburg, Miss., in 1860, on
his seventy-fifth birthday. His brother, David, married
Sarah Strickland, and settled on a farm near his father,
whel'e he died more than thirty years ago, but some of his
descendants still live in that locality. Susanna married
'Villiam Smith, and settled on the south side of the creek,
near the homestead. She died in J868 at the home of h~r
deceased husband, whose death preceded hers many years.

No family in Williamsburgh has been more widely or
favorably known in the county than the Fosters. In 1804,
Thomas, John, Isaac, and Israel Foster, and their sisters,
Eleanor and Elizabeth, came to the township and found
bomes, first in the village. In the wa~ of 1812 Thomas
went out as an ensign in Capt. Boerstler's company, and
when his commander fell mortally wounded he carried him
from the field of battle to prevent the Indians from scalp­
ing him, exposing himself to the fim of the enemy's guns.
For this brave act he was promoted to a lieutenancy. After
the war Thomas Foster married Sarah Raper, and settled
on a farm east., of th~ village, where he died in May, 1875,
in the eighty-sixth year of his age. He had two sons and
four daughters. One of the sons, J o.seph R., died near
Amelia; and Capt. John S. moved to Washington C. H.
The daughters married Samuel A. Pegg, of Williams·
burgh j Hcnry G. Weaver, of Batavia; Elbridge C. Ricker,
of Pierce; and Benjamin F. Penn, of Washington.

J olm Foster was but fourteen years of age when he came
to Clermont. He married Catherine Fry, of 'Kentucky,
and settled cast of t~e village, where he died in 1860.
~rhree of his sons, Isaac, 'Villiam, and John, have deceased;
Israel and Thomas yet live near the village, the latter in
Brown County. He had also eight daughters, the oldest
of whom, the widow of Smith Simpkins, resides near her
brother Israel.

Isaac Foster married l\Iargaret Mc~Iunen, and after re­
siding some time in the western part .of the township, re­
moved to Missouri. The other brother, Israel, married a
Miss Kain, and lived for a number of years in Williams­
burgh, where he was engaged in trade, and was at one time
quite an extensive merchant in Cincinnati: He died at the
home of his youngest daughter, in Keokuk, Iowa. The
oldest son, Sharp, became a citizen of Kentucky, and Ran.,.
dolph S. a noted bishop iu the Methodist Church. A short
sketch of his life appears elsewhere. Of the Foster sisters,
Eleanor became the wife of Maj. Daniel Kain, and Eliza­
beth, the youngest, married Daniel Everhart. The latter
came from Virginia about 1809, and was in' his day one of
the most prominent business men of 'Villiamsburgh. Of his
eight children, the daughters became the wives of John
Gage, 'Villiam S. McLean, William Lytle, Howan Lytle,
and Enoch Hankins, all well known in the history of the
township. One of the sons was accidentally burned to
deatli while a lad. George and William, after being en­
gaged in business a number of years, moved to California.

Titus Everhart, a brother of Daniel, married a daughter
of David C. Bryan, and removed to Batavia about 1815.

David C. Bryan was. born on J.Jong Island in 1771, and
in 1792 married Ruth Bryan. In 1800 they moved to
New Jersey, and three years later came to Ohio, settling in
'Villiamsburgh, but in 1825 removed to Batavia, which
village he helped layout in 1814. He held many public
trusts. He died in 1829, aged fifty-eight years, and his
wife in 1837, at the age of six.ty-six. They had four sons
and two daughters, whose names were George S., Melanc­
thon A., David C., Thomas'S., Nancy W., and Caroline.
The latter's son, 1'homas S., is yet a resident of'· Batavia,
where he serves as court-crier.

Thomas S. Foote was the son of ~ We~sh~anwho set-
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tIed ncar what is now Ripley in 1798. He was a hatter,
and both ·Thomas and his brotllCr Andrcw learned that
trade, but not being pleased with the business, they aban­
doned it on setting out in life. Thomas commenced 'the
study of law, and was admitted in 1806. In 1809 he re­
moved to Williamsburgh, and began practicing his pro­
fession, and in 1813 published the first paper in the
county. When the county-scat was removed, he moved to
Batavia, where he died, Nov. 17, 1827. His wife, whosc
maiden name was Tweed, survived him many years, and
also died in that village.

Andrew Footc was married to Jane Tweed, a sister of
thc above, and their settlemcnt in Williamsburgh did not
take place until 1811. Andrew Foote first engaged in
carding and operating- an oil-mill, but he afterwards became.
a merchant, and in 1825 removed his business to Batavia.
From that place he went to Cincinnati, but finally made
his home at Rockville, Ind., where he died at an advanced
age.

The Twced family above mentioned-Archibald Tweed,
his wife, and twclve cllildren-settled near Ripley in 1798,
and became among the most influential citizens of that part
of' old Clermont County. Hobert Tweed, one of the sons,
married a daughter of Judge ,"!ohn Morris, then living
near Bethel, and also settled at 'Williamsburgh, where he
was one of the partners in the publication of the Political
Censor.

In 1806, Jacob Huber, a native of Pennsylvania (who
was married to Anna Maria Boerstler, daughter of Dr.
Christian Boel'stler, a Bavarian gentleman of much dis­
tinction, who came to this country on account of political
oppression), accompanied by his brother-in-law, Capt.
Boerstler, came to Williamsburgh, bringing with them a
stock of goods which they. exposed for sale. Jacob Huber
was for many years the owner of the mills and tannery at
Williamsburgh. He was an educated gentleman and had a
fine library, to which the young people had access. His
children were John, Mary, Caroline, Matilda (born in Penn­
sylvania), Ohal:les B., Phoobe, George, Amelia, Harriet,
and Francis. Of these, Mary married Henry Hafer; Caro­
line, the honored .Judge Owen 'r. Fishback; Matilda, Louis
Horsehnan. Charles R, or Boers (as he was commonly
called), resided at Williamsburgh until his death, in 1854,
at the age of forty-eight years. He was born a reformer and
a philanthropist, and was an abolitionist of the type of Sal­
mon P. Chase and men of his stamp, with whom he was
on familiar terms. His service in behalf of the fugitive
slaves passing through Williamsburgh, on their way to
freedom, is well remembered. His radical views were the
result of a trip to Mississippi, whither he had gone in re·
sponse to an advertisement for a foreman in 'a tannery: On
reaching his destination he was told by the proprietor that
he had ju~t bought a good foreman in the person of a fine

'black. He returned home an outspoken freeman, and
labored day and night to abate the evil of American
slavery. Of the other children of Jacob Huber, Phoobe
removed to Iowa; Francis also moved to the Vilest; and
Amelia and Harriet yet reside in the county, the latter as
the widow of Major S. n. S. West, who died a few years
~go at QIive ~ranch.

Capt. Jacob Boerstler married Sallie Robbins, and had
three children, all of whom removed from the county. He
was mortally wounded at Brownstown in the war of 1812,
and was thus in early life cut off from what promised to be
a career of great usefulness.

Dr. Ralph Sharp settled in the village in 1814, and died
there in March, 1830. In 1850 he married Nancy 'Whippy,
by whom he had three sons and one daughtcr. The oldest
SOli, Delos Chauncey, was born in 1817, and since 1843'
has been a physician in the village. Darwin H. is a sad­
dler in the same place, and l\Ielancthon D. a tanner.. The
daughter is the wife of B. N. Stockton, a well-known mer­
chant of Williamsburgh, whose father, Job Stockton, was
also one of the pioneers.

Dr. Emstus C. Sharp had sons named John Harvey and
Erastus C.; one of the daughters became the wife of J 0­

seph Boyd of the village. The children of the late Dr. L.
T. Pease were a son, Granville, and Mrs. C. H. Thomas,
both rcsiding in the village.

In 1812, Jacob Mason bought the R. W. Waring prop­
erty, and soon after went to the war. In 1826 he became
the owner of the home of Capt. Thomas Kain, and lived
there until his death, in June, 1875, at the age of eighty­
nine years.

John Carter, a pioneer, lived near the village, and died
a few years ago at the age of (it is said) one hundred
years.

John McAdams was born in Antrim Co., Ireland, May
9, 1737, and his wife, Ann, in J..londonderry, in 1750. Of
their family of ten children, Ephraim McAdams, the eldest,
was born in 1767, and emigrated with his parents to America,
settling in Northumbel'1and Co., Pa., where, on the 17th of
December, 1793, he married Charity M. Burt. The fol­
lowing year they removed to Columbia, Ohio, and in 1800
settled in Williamsburgh. His final place of abode was two
miles north of the village. Ephraim McAdams was fur
many ycars an elder in the Presbyterian Church, and a
strong anti-slavery man. He was four times married, nnd
had a family of twenty children, who attained mature years,
-twelve sons and eight daughters,-among them Ephraim
Hummells, John A., James Thomlls,William, Andrew J.,

. Isaac Newton, Joseph, Harvey,- Riley, Nancy, Hannah,
Julia Ann, Catharine, Delia, Mary, and Francis Manorah.
Some of these yet live in the township, and their descend­
ants, in and around Williamsburgh, are very numerous.

George Ellis, a native of Virginia, came about 1806, and
married a daughter of Ephraim McAdams, settling in the
village. He died after 1862. He had sons named Jacob,
Stephen, Hamilton, and four daughters, who became the
wives of John Johnson, W. R. Moorehead, Thomas Peter­
son, and Levi Al'macoRt: all of Clcrmont County.

Adam Snell came a few years later, from the State of
Pennsylvania, settling first on Kain Run, but finally in
Jackson township, where he rcsided until his death. He
had sons named Michael and Daniel, and a large family of
daughters.

As early as 1807, Stephen, Daniel, and Mahlon Smith
settled in 'Villiamsburgh. 1'he former was a millwright
by trade. He married Sarah Kaill, the daughter of James
Kain, the pioneer innkeeper. In the war of 1812, Stephen
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Smith was the captain of a company of men that marched
from Williamsburgh to the defense of the American fron­
tier, and his company brought a large number of prisoners
to Newport, Ky. Oapt. Smith died in March, 1861, and
Mrs. Smith in 1864. They had nine children; three of
whom were sons, named Robert R., Mahlon, and Olinton
D., the latter still living at Winchester, Ind. The daugh­
ters became the wives of A. S. Walker, Philip Ohatterton,
R. Boyd, Elijah Dennis, Thomas Foster, and 'Villiam
'Walkcr, all of the eastern part of the county.

Daniel Smith was also iu the war of 1812, being just
eighteen at the time he entered the service. He was a
blacksmith, and carried on a shop on the site of B. N. Stock­
ston's store. For his first wife he had a daughtcr of John
Kain, and for his second a Miss West. They reared a
family of nine children, the sons being George, 'Villiam,
and Enoch.

.Muhlon Smith was a teacher in the village, but died many
years ago, and none of his family remain.

Jacob Smith, of another family, was the first settler on
Orane Run, locating there some time before 1800, and died
in the township. Of a large family none survive. He had
sons named Amos, 'William, Samuel, John Houton, and
Fletcher, whose names are familiar to old settlers. In the
same neighborhood Absalom Day was one of the earliest
settlers.

A little later came Shadrach Tribble, but after Iiving in
the townShip a number of years returned to Kentucky.
Anna Tribble became the wife of Jesse Stevens, whose
family were also among the pioneers in this part of the
township.

Elkanah B. Holmes is the son of Lycurgus Holmes. who
immigrated from New York to Oolumbia, in Hamilton Co.,
Ohio, in 1798, and there followed his profession, that of
medicine. In 1805 the family moved to the eastern part
of Williamsburgh, where the father died about 1813. Of
his family, Mary married Isaac Colthar, also a pioneer
settler; Amelia became the wife of J olm Richardson j

Ebenezer, died while a youth j and Elkanah B. is yet
living, in his eighty-first year, near Henning's l\'Iills. The
latter reared four sons-Lycurgus, Allen, Cornelius, and
Eo B.-and two daughters,-Sarah (Harris) and Nancy
(Taylor), all but one of whom live in Clermont County.

Among other settlers coming from New Jersey .to Wil­
liamsburgh after the war of 1812 was Jonas Burnett, who
located on the farm at present owned by Wesley Burnett,
his son. Other sons were John, William, Joseph, Reuben,
and Josiah. The latter died in 184D. John Burnett was
a marksman of unerring aim, and in early times, when
squirrels were so numerous as to be a pest in this part of
the county, won a premium of 60 bushels of' corn, which·
had been offered by the farmers to the person securing the
greatest number of scalps.

The daughters of Jonas Burnett were married: Hannah,
to Orson Young; Elizabeth, to W m. H. Raper j and Sarah
Ann, to Allen Tl'ibble j all well known in the early history
of the township.

John and Jasper Shotwell were among the earliest settlers
of the township, and lived first at the village. Later they
cleared np farms in the southern part of the township, and
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for a time had distilleries there. J olm Shotwell was a very
fleshy man, and a great hunter. He died about 1835.
His son 'William also died in the township; John removed
to Oregon, and Jasper to Missouri. Jasper Shotwell was
the elder of the brothers, and lived and dred near Henning's
Mills, and soon after the family removed.

In 1814, James McNutt came from Pennsylvania and
locatcd on the Bethel road, several miles from the village.
He died in 1857; Mrs. McNutt in 1874, at the age of
eighty-one years. Five sons grew to manhood,-Jolm,
William, James, George, and Simpson,-all living in the
eastern part of the c:ounty. One of the daughters married
James Perry, and the other J. H. Wright, who died in
Libby prison. She is at present the wife of Emanuel
McKeever.

In 1817, Jacob Chatterton, from Cayuga 00., N. Y.,
settled in the Shotwell neighborhood and lived there until
his death, in 1858. He had six sons,-Philip (yet living
in the village), James, Alvin, Erastus B., Aaron, and
Horatio. The latter lives at Bantam. Aaron became a
minister in the Christian Church. The daughter of Jacob
Chatterton married Wm. Naylor, of the southern part of
the county.

George KerDs, from Rockingham Co., Va., came to Wil.
liamsburgh in November, 1804, with his wife and son,
Samuel,then about two years of age. On the 16th of the
following December his daughter, Margaret, was born, and
is yet living in the village as the widow of George Brint.
zinghoffer, being the oldest native in the place. George
Kerns died in 1856. He was the father of sixteen chil.
dren, ten of them sons, none of whom are now alive, ex­
cepting Thomas, who is the engineer of the new water­
works in Cincinnati.

Elijah Robbins, a cooper, was among the early settlers of
the township, living in the village until his death. His only
child, Sally, m~rried Capt. Jacob BoerStler, who was killed
in the war of 1812.

Ramoth Bunton was one of the first settlp.rs of the vil­
lage, coming a year or so later than the Kains. He was
a Revolutionary soldier. His family consisted of a SOD,

James, who lived and died near Concord j Polly (who first
came to the village with Polly Kain, and shared with her
the honor of being the first white women in Williams­
burgh), who married Daniel Kidd, of Batavia j and Hettie,
who married Peter Sears and removed.

William McKnight was another Revolutionary soldier
and pioneer settler. By trade he was a tailor, and left no
family. As early as 1802" William Howard lived on the
hill near the East Fork, and a deep place at that point is
called Howard's Hole to this day. Samuel Howell was
another pioneer, whose residence in the village gave. his
name to a spring, by which it is yet called. He returned
to his native State, Kentucky, where he died.

John Earhart, a German, was the plow-maker of the
early settlers. His skill in making wooden mould-boards
was very great, !lnd his work was in good demand. He
was also a cooper and a handy and useful man generally.
His sons-John, George, and Samuel-became well.known
citizens.

John Naylor came to the village as a dese~ter from the
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PROPERTY-HOLDERS IN ]8:26.

In the appended list appear the names of citizens of
Williamsburgh who held real and personal property in
1826. To the names of those who paid no tax on personal
property is prefixed an asterisk, to indicate that they were
probably non-residents of' the township at that period.

Ely, at that time a young boy, persuaded his sister, younger
than himself, to go out to kill the animal. They took their
futher's gUll und started out in the darkness to nnd the
animal, and had not gone twenty steps until they came
upon him. James fired at the panther, whieh raised a ter­
rible howl, causing the children to beat a retreat, and the
animal fled to the hills. In the township were several
bear-wallows and deer-licks, which those animals frequented,
and enabled the skillful hunter to kill them in large num­
bers. After I830 the bears became very scarce, only a few
remaining in the old haunts. The last one was killed by
John Peterson, a hunter of skill and daring. He was re­
turning to llis home on a moonlight evening, when he saw
a large black object sitting in the road not far from llis
house. He culled his dogs and they came at once and had
a lively tussle with the bear, which escaped across the East
Fork. Nothing more was seen or heard of the animal until
the nlll of the following year, when 1\11'. Peterson was
hunting wild turke'ys in the Elklick Hills, when llis dogs
started up a bear, which made a sudden attack on the
hunter. He aimed at him, but his rifle missed fire, and to
escape tlle onslaught of the dogs the bear ran up a tree.
Again Peterson fired, wounding the animal, which slid
down the (ree and attacked him. The dogs fought him
off, and Bruin once more escaped. About a year later the
tracks of a bear were seen, and a party of men was organ­
ized to hunt him down. An exciting chase followed for
five or six miles, when the bear was killed by 1"11'. Peter­
son, who saw from the marks it bore that it was the same
animal that he had tried to kill on two previous occasions.

British army, and so warmly espoused the American cause
that he went out in the war of 1812, and did valiant service
for his 3dopted country. He married a daughter of the
widow Miller and moved to Cincinnati. One of the Miller
boys married a daughter of one of the Kains, and distin­
guished himself as a physician and a minister of tIre gospel.

Among the very first settlers in the Concord neighbor­
hood were Leonard Rapel' and his wife, 'l'emperallce, whose
maiden lIame was Holly. I ..eonard Raper served as a soldier
in the British army during the Revolution, and was among
the men surrendered by Lord Cornwallis at Yorktown.
After remaining in Virginia several years he migrated to
the West, and found a place of abode in 'Yilliamsburgh.
He was a man of good qualities, and was one of the first
teachers in the township. His d('ath occurred :March 18,
1833, at the age of eighty-one years, find that of Temper­
ance, his wife, Nov. 28, I8-H, at the age of seventy-seven
years. Their four daughters manied into well-known fam­
ilies: Elizabeth, John Kain; Margaret, John Handall;
Sarah, 'l'homas Foster; and Mary, James Kain. Of the
son~, several attained more than ordinary distinction. Holly
was a slleriff of the county, and Wm. H. became a Meth­
odist minister of wide celebrity. A sketch of his life ap­
pears in another part of this book. The other sons, Samuel
and Joseph, lived in the southern part of the township.

At the mouth of Clover Run Samuel Bly, who came
from New Jersey in 1805, settled, and "died there in 1841.
By his first wife he had a family of twelve children, and
four by his second, viz.: Benjamin, who lived at Bantam;
James, Leeds, Amasa, Samuel, George }ii., Josiah, Uobert,
John, Joseph, and Griffith. Of the daughters, some became
the wives of Wesley Burnett, David McCullom, and Daniel
Long. George Ely has in his possession a powder-horn
which has long belonged to the family, being handed down
from generation to generatiou more than one hundred and
fifty years.

A year later (1806) Edward Doughty, also from New
Jersey, settled in this part of the township. Had sons
named Richard, John, Joseph, Levi, Mathew, Edward, and
three daughters, some of whom removed, but descendants
yet live in the county.

From the fact that Williamsburgh was the first county­
seat of Clermont, many people resided there a short time
and then found homes in other parts of the county. There,
too, at a later day, cume many worthy families, whose his­
tory would be interesting if space allowed its being detailed
here. Many of the sons of 'Villiamsburgh families attained
distinction, notably in the ministry. Of these Revs. Fos­
ter, Christie, Raper, and Swing are noted in short sketches.
Others who became ministers were Enoch G. 'Vest and
George P. Jenkins, of the Methodist Church; and A. S.
Dudley and George Hageman, of the Presbyterian Church.

In the early settlement of the township wild animals
were very numerous, especially in the Elklick hills. Bears,
panthers, wolves, and deer abounded, and a few buffaloes
were seen as late as 1805. James Bunton counted nine
bears on one occasion as he was returning to his home
from Williamsburgh. Panthers were somewhat dangerous,
and committed annoying depredations. About 1825 a
pantper c~e close to the hOl.lse of Samuel Ely. James

Atchley, Joshua, No. 5252; Jas.
Johnson,orig·l)rop.

Atchley, John.
*Armstrong, Sarah, No. 2950;

Martin Hawkins, orig. prop.
';!.Avery, Henry, No. 2588; John

Pa,-ker, original proprietor.
';!Allston, Wallace, No. 4858;

John Brown, ol'ig. prop.
*Allston, Thomas, No. 4858 ;

John Brown, orig. prop.
Bricker, Adam, No. 705; William

Whittaker, orig. prop.
Bunton, Ramoth.
Bound, Daniel.
Burnett, .Jonas, No. 2437; Thos.

Overton, original proprietor.
Boyd, William, No. tHO; Fred.

Paskey, original proprietor.
Bre~ver, Peter, No. 2050; Martin

Hawldns, orig. prop.
Brewer, Adam.
Beebe, Joseph, No. 8280; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Bunton, James.
Burnett, Joshua.
Brya.n, Azel.

*Bridges, John, No. 3229; James
Johnson, orig. prop.

*But,Ier, Lawrence, No. 5258.
Lawrence Butler, original
proprietor.

*Brooks,Absalom, No.3333; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Christie, Francis.
CurJis, Timothy, No. 3229; Jas.

Johnson, orig. prop.
Curlis, Asher, No. 585; William

Parsons, orig. prop.
Christie, John.
Carter, John.
Christie, Andrew".
Curlis, Timothy, Sr., No. 3220;

James Johnson, orig }>rop.
Chambers, JILmcs, No. 5252; Jas.

Johnson, orig. prop_
Curlis, Peter, "No. 3229; James

Johnson, orig. prop.
Chatterton, Jacob.
Christie, Robert.
Clark, Joshua.
Conover, Elil\killl.
Cade, Samuel.
Church, Asa.
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;;'Chnpman, Zachariah, No. 4782;
William Lytle, orig. prop.

*Cordrey, Joseph, No. 705; Wm.
. Whittaker, orig. prop.

;*Cordrcy, Elizabeth, No. 8289;
William Lytle, orig. prop.

;;'Colthar, Jasper, No. 2942; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

;;'Cox, Thomas, No. 2436; Thos.
Overton, orig. prop.

l;'Chichester, Eleazer, No. 954;
Timothy Peyton, orig. prop.

l;'Cle\'eland, Slepilen B., No. 4442;
John' Donnell, orig. prop.

Day, William.
Dowuney, William.
Dennis, Lucy.
Dickey, John.
Day, Jesse, No. 2!J49; Wm. Lytle,

original proprietor.
Davis, Lewis, No. 5252 ; James
. Johnson, orig. prop.

Doughty, Edwin, No.4802; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Dillon, William, No. 4250; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Dawson, Willialll.
Durrough, Robert.
Davis, Joshua.
Daly, Washington.
;;'Dickey, Robert, No. 3331; Wm.

Lytle,originnl proprietor.
*Dickey, Martha; William Lytle;

original proprietor.
;;'Davis, William, No. 5252; Jas.

. Johnson, orig. prop.
*Debenneville, Daniel, No. 2810;

Daniel Debenneville, orig­
inal proprietor.

*Deal, James, No. 705; William
Whittaker, orig. prop.

Ellis, George, No. 2810; Daniel
Debenneville, orig. prop.

Earhart, John.
Ellis, Benjamin.
Everhart, Daniel, No. 2810; Dan­

iel Debenneville, orig. prop.
Ely, Samuel, No. 585; William

Parsons, orig. prop.
Earhart, David, No. 2939; Wil.

liam 'Lytle, orig. prop.
Ellis, Waters & Co.
Eicher, John, No. 705; William

Whittaker, orig. prop.
Foster, Isaa~ No. 5252; James

Johnson, orig. prop.
Fry, Lewis.
Fit~water, David, No. 1242; Jas.

Grn.y, original proprietor.
Fields, Benjamin.
Foster, Thomas, No. 5252; James

Johnson, orig. prop.
Foster, John, No. 2947; William

Chambers, orig. prop.
Frambes, Petor, No. 572; Peter

Casey, original proprietor.
Fry, John.
Fryman, Nicholas.
;;'Fliek, Peter, No. 4247; William

Lytle, original proprietor.
r,'Foote, Thos. S., No. 2946; Alex-

ander Humphries, orig. prop.
Gosnn, William.
Grim, Jacob.
Gorbet, Hemy.

l;'Gibson, Thos. G., No. 954; Tim­
othy Peyton, orig. pro}).

*Gatts, Martin, No. 954; Tim­
othy Peyton, orig. prop.

l~Graves, William, No. 950; Wil-
liam Smith, orig. prop.

Howell, William.
Harry, Andrew.
Huber, Jacob, No. 2810; Daniel

Debenneville, orig. prop.
Hunter, William, No. 33:31; Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
IIutchinson, Aaron.
Hartman, Isaac, No. 2000; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
IIankins, John, No. 957; Wil­

liam Lawson, orig. prop.
Hutchinson, Ezekiel, No. 957;

William La\vson, original
proprietor.

Hartman, Christopher, No. 4448;
WlIl. Lytle, original prop.

Harden, Peter, No. 5252; James
Johnson, original proprietor.

Hartman, Wm., No. 4780; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Hunter, Robert, No. 4442; .John
DonnelI, origina.l proprietor.

Harlow, Cornelius, No. 949; Wm.
Mosley, original proprietor.

Homan, Thomas, No. 705; Wm.
Whittn.ker, original prop.

Holman, Frank.
Huehinson, Aaron, Jr., No. 957;

Wm. Lawson, original prop.
Hadley, Zenas.
Hunter, David, No. 4442; John

Donnell, original proprietor.
Harry, Jacob.
Hays, John.
Holmes, Elkanah, No. 2950; Mar­

tin Hawkins, original prop:
*Hight, Jacob, No. 949; William

Mosley, original proprietor.
*Hartman, Samuel, No. 957; Wm.

Lawson, original proprietor.
*Hiekey, Andrew, No. 2950; Mar­

tin Hawkins, original prop.
;;'Hopkins, Thomas, No. 585; Wm.

Parsons, original proprietor.
~'IIise, Frederick, No. 333:3; Wm.

LytIe, original proprietor.
-Hutchinson, Jacob, No. 4800;

James Morrison, orig. prop.
Ireton, Obadiah, No. 4250; Wm.

LytIe, original proprietor.
Ichor, John.
*Irwin, Esther; No. 4247; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Johnson, Wm., No. 585; William

Parsons, original proprietor.
Jamieson, John.
Johnson, Isaiah, No. 910; Fred.

Paskey, original proprietor.
. Johnson, Joseph.
Johnson, John.
Johnson, Charle~.

Jenkins, Thomas.
Jeffreys, WiIIiam.
l;'Jones, Henry, No. 910; Fred.

Paskey, original proprietor.
*'Johuson, George, No. 3436;

'fhomas Overton, orig. prop.
,"Johnson, James, No. 3229; Jus.

Johnson, original proprietor.

l;'Johnston, Jonathan, No. 2945;
James Thompson, orig. prop.

Kerns, George, No. 910; Wm.
Zimmerman, original prop.

Kain, Thomas, Jr., No. 2946;
Alex. Humphries, orig. prop.

Kain, Daniel, No. 705; William
Whittaker, original prop.

King, Wm., No. 2528; Ambrose
Gordon, original proprietor.

Kain, John, No. 9.10; Fred Pas­
key, original proprietor.

''''Keith, Isham, No. 7701; Isham
K.eith, original proprietor.

*Kirby, Timothy, No. 4240; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Lytle, John, No. 2528; Ambrose
Gordon, original proprietor.

Lewis, John.
,Laughlin, James, No. 2947 ; Wm.

Chambers, original prop.
Leeds, Timothy, No. 910; Fred

Paskey, original proprietor.
Leeds, John, No. 8289; Thomas

Overton, original proprietor.
Lambert, Joshull, No. 2\149; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Light, David, No. 3:333; William

Lytle, original proprietor.
Lukemires, John, No. 3329; Jas•.

Johnson, original proprietor.
Long, Thomas, No. 2436; Thos.

Overton, original proprietor.
Laughlin, Mathew.
Long, Christian, No. 4449; James

Taylor, original proprietor.
Lane, William. .
*Light, George C., No. 3333;

Wm. Lytle, original prop.
*Lieby, George, No. 3329; James

Johnson, original proprietor.
;;'LeflingwelI, Samuel, No. 948;

Joseph Jones, original prop.
;;'Lytle, William, No. 3345; John

Harvie, original proprietor.
*Latham, Barzilla, No. 12,531;

Barzilla Latham, orig. prop.
McAdams, Ephraim, No. 2810;

Daniel Debenne\'ille, original
proprietor.

McIntyre, Samuel.
McIntyre, James.
Maloy, Hugh.
McMillen, George.
Morris, David.
Mason, Jacob.
McMillen, James.
Mason, Joseph.
McKnight, John.
l\laham, John, No. 1242; James

Gray, ori'gina~ proprietor:'
Miller, Elizabeth.
Maham, Samuel, No. 3229; James

Johnson, original proprietor.
McNutt, James, No. 3345; John

Harvie, original proprietor.
McAdams, Samuel•.
Moorhead, Elizabeth, No. 4448;

. John Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Mallott, David.
Mallott, Daniel, No. 4247; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
McCune, Samuel.
Moss, Hobert, No. 954; Timothy

Peyton, original proprietor.

Morgan, Thomas S., No. 20-19 ;
WillilLm Lytle, orig. prop.

Morris, Thomas J.
l;!l\IalIott, Theodore, No. 4247;

Wm. Peyton, orig. prop.
l;'Moorhead, Patrick,No. 4780;

Wm. LytIc, orig. prop.
*McAdams, John, No. 2810;

Daniel Debenneville, orig­
inal proprietor.

Needhltm, John, No. 4449; James
Taylor, original proprietor.

Needham, John, Jr., No. 4449;
James Taylor, orig. prop.

Naylor, John. .
Neal, Margaret.
Needham, William, No. 4449;

James TILyior, orig. prop.
;,~Osborne, Josiah, No. 3329;

J ames Johnson, orig. prop.
Page, Thomas.
Perrine, James.
Patterson, Thomas.
Patton, Andrew, No. 3345; John

Harvie, original proprietor.
Pine, William, No. 2057; No..

thaniel Darby, orig. prop.
Parker, William.
Perrine, Arthur, No. 2950; Mar­

tin Hawkins, orig. prop.
Perrine, Ralph, No. 2950; Mar­

tin Hawkins, orig. prop.
Patterson, David, No. 4448; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Poole, Benjamin, No. 2942; Wm.

LytIc, original proprietor.
Phillips, Thomas, Jr.
Phillips, Thomas, Sr., No. 2949;

William LytIe, orig. prop.
Penn, Joel.
Pemberton, Richard.
l;;Peterson, John, No. 910; Fred.

Paskey, originai proprietor.
*Parker, James, No. 5252; James

Johnson, original proprietor.
*Poage, J'ames, No. 630; William

Robertson, orig. prop.
*Porter, William, No. 8290; Wil­

liam Porter, orig. prop.
Raper, Samuel, No. 2436; Thos.

O\'erton, original proprietor.
Raper, Joseph.
Rallings, John, No. 817l; Wal-

Iltce and Yancy, orig. props.
Robbins, Israel.
Ross, John T.
Raper, Holly, No. 8171; Wallace

and Yancy, original pro­
prietors.

Saxton, Dnvid.
Stevens, Alien.
Sweet, Nathaniel.
Starlt, Alexander.
Sharp, Ralph, No. 5252; James

Johnson, original proprietor.
Smith, Stephen.
Smith, Jedediah.
Stockton, Job.
Snider, Adam.
Smith, Ephraim, No. 957; Wil­

liam Lawson, orig. prop.
Snell, Daniel S., No. 2944; Sam­

uel Coleman, orig. prop.
Smith, William, No. 957; William

Lawson, original proprietor.
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At this period (1826) the owners of village lots in Wil­
liamsburgh wel'e as follows:

The valuation of the lots was reported at $13,569, on
which a tax of 879.72 was paid. The number of acrcs of
land in the township was 35,737, valued at $91,494-, and
which were taxed for State purposes, $182.98; for county
purposes, $320.22 j and for township purposes, $34.31.
The number of horses in the township was 286, and the
llead of cattle 451. The personartax for all purposes was
$106.02.

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

The principal records of the township from its organiza­
tion in 1801 to 1818 hnve been lost. On the 6th of April
of the last-named year, at tho regular township-meeting,
Thomas S. l!'oote was clJOsen chairman, Jacob Huber and
Holly Raper, judges, and Daniel Kain, clerk; whereupon
the following persons were elected: Nicholas Sinks, 'William
Hunter, and Thomas Kain, Trustees; Daniel Kain, Town­
ship Clerk; John Earhart, Lister and Appraiser; John
Earhart, l'reasurer; Isaac Foster, Vere Royce, George
Ellis, and David Earhart, Constables; Job Stockton and
Robert Tweed, Overseers of the Poor; Ramoth Bunton and
Jacob 1\1ason, Fenco-Viewers; Phineas Thomas and Samuel
:l\Ioorhead, Road Supervisors.

At that time David Morris was one of the justices of the
peace of the township.

Since 1818 the principal officers of the township have
been the following:

Shotwell, John, No. 2950; Mar­
tin Hawkins, orig. prop.

Smith, Amos, No. 2!J~!J; William
Lytle, original proprietor.

Smith, Israel.
Sinks, Widow, No. 2!J4~ ; Samuel

Coleman, orig. prop.
Smith, John, No. !J4!J; William

Mosely, original proprietor.
Smith, Wesley.
Sherer, Frederick.
Smith, Abram.
Smith, John, Jr.
Smith, Obadiah.
Shinn, Caleb, No. 2057; Nathan-

iel Darby, ol"ig. prop.
Sweet, Elizabeth.
Sherer, Michael.
Sprague, Jacob, No. 2.136; Thos.

Overton, orig. prop.
~Shotwell,Dlt\"id, No. 3345: Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
~Smith,Absalom, No. 4247; Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
-::1Sprague, Timothy, No. 2436;

Thomas Overton, orig. prop.
*Smith, Burrows, No. 3329; Jas.

Johnson, original proprietor.
Tribble, Alamon, No. 2950; Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
Trihble, Cornelius, No. 2950;

William Lytle, orig. prop.
Thornburg, Thomas.
Thomas, Phineat'.
Tweed, Robert, No. !l10; William

Zimmerman, orig. prop.
Thomas, Aaron.
Thomas, Reuben, No. 2436;

Thomas Overton, orig. prop.
Thomson, Caleb.
Townsley, Robert.
&Taylor, W. and B., No. !l95 j

Wm. B. Wallace, orig. prop.

i;'Tnylor, James, No.•1800 j James
.;\[orrison, orig. proprietor.

Temple, Joh!l.
Van Osdol, Robert, No. 1242;

•Tames Gray, orig. prop.
Van Eaton, David, No. 705;

Wm. Whittaker, orig. prop.
Wainwright, Vincent, No. 5253 ;

John Watts, orig. prop.
Waters, William, No. 2!JH; Sam­

uel ColelllJln, orig. prop.
Winters, Jamet', No. 4249: Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Wilson, John, No. 585 j William

Parsons, ol'iginal proprietor.
Wood, Joseph, No. 2!J50; 1\1.

Hawkins, orig. proprietor.
White, .Tohn, No. Slit; Wallace

and Yancy, orig. prop.
Wells, Isaiah.
Waits, Charles, No. 705; William

Whittaker, orig. proprietor.
Washburn, John,No. !J4!J; Wm.

Mosley, OI·ig. proprietor.
Waitt', Richard, No. 1247; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
'Vheeler, Joshua.
Whorrell, Da\'id.
Whorrell, Richard.
illWallace, Cadwallader, No. 961;

Ambrose Gordon, orig. prop.
*Wardlow, Jamet', No. 4247;

Wm. Lytle, orig. proprietor.
*Washburn, Cornelius, No. 949;

Wm. Mosley, orig. prop.
*White, Wm., No. 954; Timothy

Peyton, original proprietor.
~WiIlis, Ichahod, No. 957; Wm.

LI\WSOn, original proprilltor.
!/<Wnlker, Wm., No. 3320; James

Jobnson, orig. proprietor.
$Wainwright, Will., No. 4801;

Wm. Lytle, orig. proprietor.

l\Iehaffa, John.
l\Inllott, Theodore•
Naylor, John.
Osborne, John.
Pernne, Jameil.
Phillips, Thomas.
Palmer, ThoIDas.
H.arer, IIolly.
Robbins, Israel.
Ross, John T.
Royec, Yere.
Snider, Adam.
Smith, Stephen.

Smilh, Daniel.
Smith, Obadiah.
Smith, Israel.
Stockton, Job.
Sharp, Ralph.
Sinks, Nicholas (heirs).
Tweed, Robert.
Tucker, John.
Taylor, James.
West, Stanley, and Grant.
'Vatcrt', William.
Warring, Barzilla.

Armstrong, Samuel.
Armstrong, John.
Alley, Amos.
lloyd, Samuel.
Burleigh, David.
DUIIton, Ramoth.
Bro.wn, Thomas.
Bo.yd, William.
BryaD, George S.
:BrJan, Awl.
Christie, Franeis.
Colthar, John.
Carter, Jobn.
Dennis, Charles.
Dellnis, John.
DebenneviJIe, DaDiel.
Dimmitt, Ezekiel.
Earhart, John.
Everhart, Dllniel.
Ellis, Benjamin.
Foote, ADdrcw.
Foote, Thomas S.
Foster, IHael.
Foster, Isaae.
Grimm, Jacob.
Gibson, Dlwid.
Gibson, Thomas G.
Harry, Andrew.

Herbert, James.
Howell, William.
Howell, Samuel.
Herbert, Obadiah.
Huber, Jacob.
Higbee, Isaac.
Hutchinson, Aaron.
Hansom, William.
Hankins, Daniel.
IIankins, Nane.}·.
Jamieson, John.
James, Joseph.
Kain, Thomas.
Kain, Daniel.
Kain, John.
Lytle, John.
Lytle, William.
Line, Isaac.
Lindsey, Oliver.
..Morris, David.
:Mason, Jacob.
Martin, James.
l\[cClure, ArchibalJ.
Moorhead (heirs).
..MeMillen, James.
McKnight, John.
Miller, Detsey.
McAdIHDS, Samuel.

TRUSTEES.

1819-22.-NicholBs Sinks, William Hunter, John T. Ross.
I823-24.-William Waters, William IIartlllan, Daniel S. Smith.
1825.-David Morris, William Hartman, J;3enjamin Ellis.
182G.-David Morris, William lIartman, A. J. Patton.
1827-32.-Daniel S. Smith, William Hartman, A. J. Patton.
1833-34.-John Peterson, William Hartman, A. J. Patton.
1835.-James McNutt, William S. McLenn, A. J. Patt6n.
1836-37.-James :McNutt, William S. McLean, Daniel Kain.
1838.-Jesse E. Dozier, William S. McLean, Daniel Kain.
183!J-H.-Sidney S. Leffingwell, Andrew J. Patton, Daniel Kain.
1842.-Daniel S. Smith, Andrew J. Patton, Daniel Rain.
1843-44.-Daniel S. Smith, John Peterson, Jonathan Johnson.
1845.-Daniel S. Smith, A. J. Patton, J. N. Johnson.
184G.-George Earhart, James Perrine, Robert Vanosdol.
1847.-Gcorgo Ea.rhart, James Perrine, Daniel S. Smitb.
1848.-Timothy Lecds, Marcus Pompella, Moses Beekwith.
184!J.-A. J. Patton, Ma.rcus PompelIa, R. R. McClung.
1850-51.-A. J. Patton, D. S. Smith, R. R. MeClung.
1852.-S. G. Peterson, H. B. lIoose, R. R. McClung•
1853.:.....S. G. Peterson, John W. Lytle, B. n. South.
18M.-H. C. Kain, II. R. Perrine, B. H. South.
1855.-Absalom Dlty, II. R. Perrine, William West.
1856-5!J.-H. C. Knin, O. Dudley, Jr., S. S. Leffingwen.
1860.-A. S. Walker, O. Dudley, Jr., J. N. Henning.
1861.-A. S. Walhl', D. S. Smith, Philip Chatterton.
1862-63.-Otis Dudley, Jr., D. S. Smith, Philip Chatterton.
1864.-H. C. Kain, David McClung, CoIlins Vanosdol.
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1865-66.-G. A. McNutt. Otis Dudley, Jr., Collins Vanosdol.
1867.-1saac Ferree, Otis Dudley, .Jr., A. S. Walker.
1868-6!J.-Collins Vanosdol, Otis Dudley, Jr., A. S. Walker•.
1870.-1'. Chatterton, Otis Dudley, Jr., G. A. McNutt.
1871.-Collins Vanosdol, Otis Dudley, Jr., G. A. McNutt.
1872.-1'. Chatterton, Otis Dudley, Jr., Isaac Vanosdol.
1873.-S. 1\1. Ferguson, Otis Dudley, Jr., G. A. McNutt.
1874.-J. D. McKeever, Otis Dudley, Jr., G. A. McNutt.
1875.-0. II. Harden, E. Weaver, J. W. Glancy.
1876.-D. lIt Sharp, Philip Chatterton, J. W. Glancy.
1877.-D. II. Sharp, Otis Dudley, J·r., Joseph Smith.
] 878.-D. H. Sharp, Otis Dudley, Jr., G. B. Beacham.
187!J.-G. A. McNutt, Otis Dudley, Jr., G. B. Beacham.

TOWNSHIP TREASURERS.

18HI-22, John Earhart; 1823-24, John 1\1. Tucker; 1825-32, William
Wllters; 1833-45, Nicholas Sinks; 1846-47, Otis Dudley; 1848,
William H. Frazier; 1849-52, L. D. SnIt; 1853-63, John H.
Sharp; ]8M-G5, J. 1. Peterson; 1866-67, E. S. Sinks; 1868, J.
I. Peterson; 1869-72, E. S. Sinks; 1873, D. lL Peterson; 1874­
77, J. H. Sharp; 1878, A. Beall; 187!', D. K. Peterson.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1819-31, Daniel Kain; ]8:12, Nicholas Sinks; 1833-37, Azel Bryan;
1838, Otis Dudley; 183!', Robert Tweed; 1840-41, Otis Dudley;
1842-45, M. A. Bryan; 1846-54, B. N. Stockton; 1855-65, D. H.
!Sharp; 18G6,1\1. R. Sinks; 1867-70, O. E. Walker; 1871-74, S.
D.l\IeMiIlen; 1875, C. A. Smith; 1876,1\1. F. Peterson; 1877,
Charles Rose; 1878, R. D. Sharp; 1879, Corwin Smith.

TOWNSHIP ASSESSORS.

184:~-44, John Jenkins; 1845, William Dennis; 1846~ John W. Lytle;
1847, John I. Peterson; 1848-iil, Vcre Royce; 1852, D. S. Smith;
1853, M. A. Br)'lln; 1854, S. Graves; 1855, Daniel McMillen;
1856-57, S.. G. Peterson; 1858, M. A. Bryan; 1859, P. C. Chesel­
dine; 1860-64, Timothy 1\1. Leeds; 1865. Joseph Deel; 1866, H.
C. Kane; 1867, D. S. Smith; 1868-70, W. H. Everhart; 1871,
W. D. Courts; 1872, George West; 1873, D. Earhart; 1874, W.
C. Rhodes; ]875, J. D. Willis; 1876-77, Christ. A. Homan;
1878, James Burnett; 1879, O. n. McAdams.

Grand jurors were set aside by the township authorities
from 1819 to .1825, as follows: Phineas Thomas, John
Lytle, Robert Dickey, John Shotwell, Benjamin Ellis, John
Leeds, John Wright, Amos Smith, Samuel Raper, Ezekiel
Hartman, David Light, \Villiam Royce, David Patterson,
Ephraim ~lcAdams, John Earhart, Isaac Foster, Thomas
Foster, Daniel Snell, Edward Sinks, Job Stockton,. Daniel
Kain, Jacob Huber, John M. Tucker, John Jamieson, John
Foster, James Perrine.

The petit jurors for the same period were chosen from
the following: Jasper Shotwell, Israel Foster, John Moor­
head, George Ellis, Samuel Moorhead, Abel D. Chase: John
Robbins, Isaac Hartman, John Leeds, Aaron Hutchinson,
David Patterson, William Smith, Daniel Everhart, William
Boyd, William Waters, Samuel" Maham, Daniel S. Smith,
Samuel Ely, John Dickey, Edward Sinks, and eight or ten
others named in the foregoing list. The loss of the earlier
records precludes the giving of many interesting items of
pioneer local legislation which would give the present gen­
eration an idea how business was done in those days; and,
notwitllstanding the larger degree of fellow-feeling which
then abounded, would show that charity was not all-preva­
lent.

In view of the full n'nd free libert.y the people of our
common country now enjoy to make and unmake their
homes, wherever it will be to their interest, it is interesting
to note what supervision was formerly exercised over those

who did not possess a superabundance of this world's goods.
A " quit notice." or warrant to leave, in substance and form
like the following, which we here produce from the town­
ship records, was served on sundry pers?ns as late as 1850 :

"STATE OF OHIO, CLER~IONT COUNTY.

"The overseers of the poor of the township of Williamsburgh, in
said county, to George Kerns, Constable, greeting: Whereas informa­
tion hath been given to us by Oliver Lindsey, a householder of said
township, that William Cook and Polly, his wife, have come within
the limits of the township of Williamsburgh aforesaid, and are likely
to become a tOlvnship charge, you are commanded forthwith to warn
thc said William and Polly Cook to depart from this township."

"Given under our hands and seals at Williamsburgh, this Second
day of August, Anno Domino 1808.

"ROG.:R W. WARING,

"DAVID C. BRYAN."

The warrant was endorsed:

"Served the within by reading it in the presence of William and
Polly Cook, this 2nd day of Aug., 1808.

"GEORGE KERNS, Constable."

No doubt the b'Teat influx of settlers brought many to
every community whom it was not. desirable 'to possess as
citizens, but it has been stated on credible authodty that
in a number of instances, owing to some personal feeling
on the par.t of the informant, deserving poor people were
forced from the township who afterwards became very use­
ful citizens in other localities. As the evidences of pros­
perity increased, and the people generally became well-to-do,
much more discrimination was exercised· before "quit
notices" were served; and it is said that in later years
only those whose pauperism Was 'evident at the time of
their coming were ordered to leave.

THE HIGHWAYS AND CEMETERIES.

Prior to the organization of the county a road was sur­
veyed from Newtown ~o Williamsburgh by .John Donnell,
assisted by Daniel Kain' and Robert McKinney; and on
the 24th of Noyember, 1797, the Court of Quarter Sessions
of Hamilton County ordered that it be established as a
bighway. James Kain was appointed the first supervisor,
February, 1799, and again appointed Feb. 4, 1800. The
location of subsequent roads is given in a general chapter,
and to avoid repetition no mention of them is here made.
Usually the course of these early roads remains unchangpd,
and most of them now, as then, are the main thoroughfares.
In 1839, a few years after the final division of the town­
ship, the supervisors were Charles Cox, George Everhart,
Joseph Johnson, Joseph Raper, Delos Stockton, 'William
Ashton, John L. Snell, George Fry, and Henry Moyer.
The township has a good .turnpike, and railway communi­
cation is afforded by the narrow-gauge line,-the Cincin­
nati and Eastern,-which was completed in 1876. Stations
have been provided at Afton, in the western part of the
township, and at Williamsburgh village. At the latter
point the East Fork is crossed on a substantial bridge. In
early times this stream had to be crossed by fording it when
the stages of water would permit, and by rudely-constructed
ferries. At a later period a rope-ferry was employed a
little above Gay Street. The first bridge at the village was
built in two parts, in 1845, near the foot of Main Street,
the east end of the larger bridge resting on the island and
the other bridge spanning the bayou. It was destroyed by
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a flood in- 1859. The following year a very handsome
single bridge was erected on the foundations of the present
structure, which was destroyed by the rebel Morgan's
raiders on tIle morning of July 14, 1863. The bridge at
present here is a wooden covered structure, and appears to
be firmly built. At the foot of Fourth Street a very fine
iron bridge has just been constructed, which will prove a
great convenience to the people of the northern part of the
township.

The principal cemetery in the township is at the village,
occupying a number of acres of well-adapted ground, and
contains many handsome monuments. Here are interred
the early pioneers of ·Williamsburgh and the surrounding
country. In other localities small burying-grounds have
been established;

:MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.

Although the manuf."1cturing interests of Williamsburgh
have never been extensive or greatly diversified, the town­
ship may lay claim to having had the first mill in the
county erected within her bounds, and thus have honor
:IS being the oldest manufhcturing point. In July, 1797,
Peter 'Vilson, of Kentucky (who afterwardS' became u.
celebrated millwright in Southern Ohio), was employed by
Gens. Lytle and Taylor to come to the newly laid-out town
to build a small grist-mill. This structure was composed of
logs, and stood a short distance above the present mill and
immediately below the dam across the stream, at a point
where some of the timbers used in its construction may yet
be seen. No race was employed, but the power was directly
communicated to the wheel from the dam. For erecting
this mill 'Vilson received $50 in money and a tract of land,
the quantity of which is not now remembered. But little
more can be said concerning this mill. It doubtless failed
to serve the purposes of the proprietors, for not many years
after Gen. William IJytle began the construction of a dam
across the East Fork above the new bridge, and dug a race
more than a third of a mile long to a point where he built
the present mill, which, at the time it was gotten into
.operation (soon after 1800), was certainly a most creditable
affair, and furnishcd all the conveniences of a good mill for
the people living £"1r and near. Year after year the power
of the once powerful stream grew less, and ultimately failed
to perform its work. The dam was allowed to go to decay
and about 1854, while the property belonged to Sidney S.
Leffingwell, steam became the motor, and is yet the operat­
ing agent. The mill has had many owners, passing from
Lytle to Jacob Huber, and from him to the below named:
Daniel Everhart, George Peterson, S. S. Leffingwell, Fer4

guson & Lytle, Ferguson & Brooks, Huxam, 'Varden.&
Co., and many others. It is at present the property of P.
Chatterton & Son, and is in good working order. It has
three runs of.stone, und is capacitated to grind 100 bushels
of corn and 125 bushels of wheat per day. In early timcs
a distillery was carried on below the mill, generally by the
mill-owners, but which was long ago abandoned as the sen­
timent of the community was opposed to the manufacture
of liquor.

A few miles above the foregoing mill on the same stream
is a grist-mill belonging to the Dennis Brothers, which has

been idle for several years. The power was improved and
the building erected for a chair-factory more than twenty­
five years ago by Ross & Guyer, of Cincinnati, who operated
it a few years. Subsequently Varney Stockton, John Peter­
son, George Everhart, Reuben Rue, and Abram Clark oc­
cupied the building, and the latter owners supplied mill
machinery.

About the same distance below the village, at a very
"marked bend of the East Fork, are the "Tunnel Mills,"
owned by the Barnes Brothers. As early as 1836 this
property belonged to Thomas L. Shields, who proposed to
establish a power by cutting a raceway through the high
ridge at this point, at the lower end of which a moderate
fall might be secured. The project was soon abandoned,
and for several years nothing was done. About 1840,
Elijah and James Dennis became the owners of the property
and began building a mill. In:stead of cutting through the
ridge, a tunnel several hundred feet long was made between
firm layers of rock about four feet apart, and which form
the roof and floor of the tunnel without any other support.
A power having a filII of about twenty-fi\'e feet is thus se­
cured in this short distance, while from the mouth of the
tunnel to the mill by the course· of the river the distance is
nearly two miles. The mill has three runs of stone and
good machinery in a three-story frame building. Besides
the parties named it has also been owned by Reuben Rue
and Enoch Dunn.

What is known as the Snider mill was first erected in
Williamsburgh by a man named Danberry, but before it
was gotten in running condition it was found that the site
would not afford enough power, and the frame was taken
down and put upon the Tate side a short distance below
the mouth of Clover Creek, where Cornelius McCalla and
Isaac Higby had a saw-mill. Subsequently Isaac Higby
removed the frame to where it now stands in Tate town­
ship, on the East Fork. At each of the foregoing places
saw-mills were early built and kept in successful operation,
while upon the smaller. st.reams were also lumber-mills,
which were worked when there was sufficient volume of
water by Thomas Lytle, John Burnett, John Peterson,
Samuel Raper, Benjamin Ross, a~d others, but most of
them have long since been discontinued.

James Kain brought a small hand-mill with him from
Pennsylvania, which did good service at "WiIliamsburgh, at
an early day, in grinding small quantities of corn. Subse­
quently it became the property of John Kain, and the buhr­
stones are yet lying near his old residence. About 1804
Oliver Lindsey had a horse-mill near the place where he
lived, which in the course of time also became the property
of John Kain, but both. have long since passed away. In
the southern part of the township Adam Bricker constructed
an ingenious horse-mill which was much patronized about
1820, and around which the neighbors gathered as the slow
process of grinding went on for social converse and to learn
the news current at the houses of the patrons, who some­
times lived many miles away. The ruins of this mill have
but recently been removed from where it stood on the farm
now owned by Robert 1\1. Bricker.

In 1811, Andrew Foote established a wool-carding ma­
chine and oil-mill· in the village of Williamsburgh, on the
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site of Curry's shop on Main Street, They were operated
first by the old-fashioned sweep-power, and latcr by a tread­
power.. Enoch and John Hankins succeeded Foote, and,
after 1840, Thomas Hull owned and operated the establish­
ment many years. The manufacture of cut 'nails was carried
on before 1820, by Benjamin Ellis, near t11e present Pettit

'place; and Daniel Smith burned charcoal on the site of B.
N. Stockston's store.

The manufacture of splint-seated ellairs was begun as
early as 1820, in the village of Williamsburgh, by Andrew
Smith, Samuel McAdams, Vincent Stevens, and Jacob and
Andrew Boulware, the latter as partners. All manufactured
by hand, and the product was sold to parties living near the
place. About 1848, Volney Stockton began. the manufac­
ture of chairs by machinery, making from 10 to 12 dozen
per week, and employing 4 or 5 hands.

In 1849, Otis Dudley & Sons erected a factory on Fourth
Street, where they carried on chair-making, using horse­
power until 1853, when they put in an engine, and were
the first to cmploy steam-power in Williamsburgh. By this
means they were enabled to increase their products ftom 15
to 75 dozen per week. The business now began to increase
rapidly, and a number of persons engaged in the manufac­
ture of chairs. Snell & McAdams erected an extensive
s~op in the lower part of the village, and Boulware &
'Vright, Smith & Bryan, W. H. Hull, William 'Walker,
and T. W. Lytle each had shops, in some of which steam
was employed and large quantities of chairs were manu­
factured.

At the time the business enjoyed its greatest prosperity
not less than 1000 dozen of chairs were made per week and
tran!iported to Cincinnati and other points by wagon.
Nearly 500 persons found occupation in the shops, many
women and children being employed in seating the chairs.
At first the timber used was split by hand and shaved in
the woods, but after steam was employed the timber was
delivered in the bolt at the factory and sawed to the re­
quired shape, and a limited quantity of chair-stuff shipped.
About 1867 this important industry began to decline, and
when the panic of 1873 came on it was almost entirely
suspended. Since then it has again attained some of its
former proportions, and the business at present gives occu­
pation to lllany people of the village, while the products are
scattered all over the State. David McClung and George
Stevens each have small factories, making some of the finer
grades of cllUirs and chair-splints.

S. D. ,Mount's Gltai1·-Fact01'lJ, in the northern part of the
village, occupies a building ill which Myers & Mount were
formerly engaged in the business. In 1879 a fine ware­
room, 30 by 90 feet and two stories high, was built to ac­
commodate the increasing business of' the firm. Steam­
power is used, and all the stock required, except cane-splints,
is manufactured from the rough log. The pattern-list em­
braces 14 different kinds of dining-room and office-chairs
and rockers. Much of the work is shipped as "knock­
downs," and 100 persons are employed.

Charles H. Boulwa1'e &; B,'others' FaCt01 'If, on Fourth
Street, occupies the building in which were formerly Boul­
ware & Ellis and A. V. Boulware, one of the veteran chair­
manufacturers. The present firm has carried on business

since April 15, 1875, and at present employs 14 men i~
the manufacture of fifteen kinds of chairs, about one-half
of which have double woven cane-seats. The firm manu­
factures Volney Stockton's patent chair, and has its heavy
machinery in the old Hull, Warden & Co.'s shop adjoining
the grist-mill. In the upper story of the same building is
located

Snell &; Williams' Fact01'lJ, for the manufacture of
variety goods in wood. This business was established, in
1874, by Oscar Snell, in a building which was in part oc­
cupied by A. P. Frazier & Bro. as a chair-factory, and
which was destroyed in the fall of 1874 by fire. On t.he
1st of May, 1879, Byron Williams became associated with
Mr. Snell, and since then the business has been much ex­
tended. The products of the factory are ,a large variety of
step-ladders, clothes-dryers, lap-tables, rustic picture-frames,
and other novel work in wood. In connecti9n are operated
a planing-mill, and machinery for the manufacture of scroll
work and moulding. The senior member of the firm has
produced many useful devices, and has receiv~d patents for
more than a dozen inventions, among them being a fire­
arm, which has been highly commended by United States
officials for its superior qualities and many excellencies.
Another useful invention which emanated from Williams­
burgh was a pat.ent pruning-knife, manufactured by Park
& 'Villiams, and which had a wide sale in all parts of the
country.

Williamsbm'9h Tannery.-Nich,olas Sinks had the first
tannery in the village, soon after his settlement,about 1802.
The yard was north of the present school-house, and was at
first small. It was enlarged from time to time, until it
contained about 20 vats. After the death of Mr. Sinks, in
1825, Henry Sweet and others carried on the business, until
the interest was merged into the Huber tannery, below the
mill. This tannery was sold in 1854 to the present pro­
prietor, 1'1. D. Sharp, and has been carried on all the inter­
vening years by him. It contains 24 vats, and gives cm­
ployment to 4 men. About 1000 pieces of leather are
oak-tanned and finished yearly. Formerly a. small tannery
was carried on in the, southern part of the township by
John Shotwell.

lYilliamsbm'gh P01'lc-Pacldllg House.-This enterprise
was begun, in 1844, by Nicholas Sinks & Co., in a house
built for that purpose, 40 'by 50 feet, and supplied with the
necessary conveniences. L. D. Salt & Co., Sinks & Kain,
Sinks & Peterson, John 1. Peterson, and others have been
the successive packers. Since 1870, 'V. L. & W. A. Kain
have been the proprietors,'and pack about 500 hogs ycarly.
Formerly the establishment disposed of as many as 1300
hogs per year, and this industry was one of the most im­
portant in the place.

Lately attention has been directed to the culture of to­
bacco, and since 1875 the large warehouse of Brooks,
'Yaterfield & Co. has been occupied by 'V. C. Warden,

.Amos Ellis, and others in preparing tobacco 10r the market.
As many as 130 hogsheads, containing from 900 to 1500
pounds each, have been shipped in a single year.

The warehouse is 50 by 100 feet, and was built in 1870
by Stockton & Co. for a chair-factory, but was never com­
pleted for that purpose.
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HA1\lLETS AND VILLAGES.

Afton, in the western part of the township, is a post­
office and station on the Cincinnati and Eastern Railroad.
It received its name at the suggestion of Sarah Lytle,
daughter of William Lytle, one of the first settlers in this
locality. The hamlet contains but a few houses, a store, a
Methodist church, and a good school-house.

The post-office in this part of the county was first estab­
lished in 184-9, with the name of California, and R. 'V.
Jenkins WaS the postmaster. In 1853, Robert J. Vanosdol
was appointed, and a few years after it was discontinued.
It was revi\"ed with the name of Afton, and ·William Luke­
mires as postmaster. In 1869, W. 'V. Archer was ap­
pointed, and in 1873 the present, George Bradley.

About 1848, Thomas Shields got in operation a saw­
mill and turning-shop at this point, which were discon­
tinued in 18f}6; and ncar the same time Edward Hoes
opened a store, which he kept until 1854, when he was
succeeded by his brother, Hiram B. Hoes. This building
is now used for a stable. In 1867 a store, which stood on
the site of the church, and belonging to J. Archer, was
destroyed by fire. Other merchants have been Alfred
Morgan, Holt Brunnon, and George Bradley.

CONCORD.

This hamlet was first settled in 1815 by Robert Van­
osdol, who built a cabin that year, and raised a crop of
corn, which he cribbed in the fall llDd left to spend the
winter elsewhere. On his return, the following spring, he
was surprised to find that the squirrels had eaten up all
his corn. For many years the settlers were not numerous
in this locality; but, about 1836, John and Edward Comp­
ton started a blacksmith-shop in connection with the wheel­
wright business, and other houses and a Methodist church
were soon after built. In 1840, Holly Raper opened a
store, in which trade has been carried on since by Thomp­
son & "\Voods, Ezekiel Slade, Benjamin Barton, George
T. Layfield, and Wright Sprague, who is at present engaged
in merchandising.

In 1854 a post-office was here established, with the name
of Angola, which was discontinued in 1868, but again re­
established, and after a short time fully given up. The
successive postmasters were Ezekiel Slade, John S. Slade,
Benjamin Barton, and Wright Sprague.

CLOVER

Was the name applied to a post-office which was established
near the Clover church in 1849, with Nclson A. Hitch as
the postmaster. Subsequently Heman Houk, A. Tribble,
A. C. Dentram, and H. G. Hammond were the postmasters.
The office was abolished Jan. 17, 1863. At this place
Seth Maker had a store as early as 1840, and later, Hitch
and Hammond carried on a large trade. These interests
have been diverted by the hamlet of'

IIENNlNG'S MILLS.

At this point, about 1836, 'Villiam Lines established a
cabinet-shop and turning-.works, which were operated a
number of years. Other houses were built about the t.ime
of the Harrison campaign, and as the poople in this localit.y

were mostly "\Vhigs, they gave expression to their senti­
ments by bnilding a log cabin, surmounted by the typical
coon, and from this filet the place was first called" Coon­
town." It received its present name in compliment to the
real founder of the hamlet, J. N. Henning, at the time the
Henning's Mills post-office was established, in ] 858. Mr.
Henning was also the first postmaster, and was succeeded,
in 1873, by James Glancy, and in 1875 by the present,
Isaac Vanosdol.

About 1840, the first store at Henning's. Mills was
opened by Wm. Slye, and several years later a shoe-shop
was started by Nelson Applegate. At one time Henning
Was largely engaged in merchandising, but sold his interests
to James Glancy: The store is at present carried on by
Vanosdol and Floyd.

In 1852 the manufacture of chairs was here begun on
a small scale by J. N. Henning, who established a good
reputation for his work, and soon required better facilities
for manufacturing. He now became the owner of a steam­
factory, which was being built by Philip Chatterton, and
operated it until it was destroyed by fire. Subsequently
three other factories shared the fate of the first. The last
one was started in 1868, in connection with a woolen-mill,
and both were burned in 1872. Thereafter no effort was
made to revive these industries, and the place no longer
possesses its former animated appearance. At one time the
mills gave employment to more than fifty persons.

WILLIAl\ISBURGH.

This pleasant and thriving village has a healthy location
on an elevated tract of land lying in a bend of the East
Fork of the Little Miami, and on the southwest side of
that stream. It is on the De Benneville Survey, No. 2810,
and was laid out in 1795 by Gen. "\Villiam J.Jytle, and
after the custom of that day was called Lytlestown. The
present name, also showing ownership, is probably the only
one bestowed by the proprietor. At the period naDled
Gen. Lytle, as a deputy land-surveyor, was engaged in
locating military warrants in this section of the country,
and foreseeing the eligibility of this point as the sit.e for
the future capital of the new county, which would doubt­
less soon be formed, he platted the village even before the
survey of the land on this side of the river, the survey of
the village antedating the De Benneville survey just about
a year. In this work Gen. Lytle was assisted by his brother,
John, and ~Tohn Donnell, and it is said that before the ter­
mination of the survey the ground became frozen so hard
that stakes could not be driven into it, causing a suspension
of the survey, which was completed the following spring.
This statement is made on the authority of' WID. S.
McLean, an old resident of the village, who received the
account from John Lytle. The plat of the village embraced
about 500 in-lots, 6 poles wide and 12 poles deep; and
140.out-lots of 4 acres each, located on the west side of the
village proper. A public square, of the quantity of 12
lots,-about 5t acres,-on a beautiful elevation, was set
aside for the reception of the county buildings. This was
fronted by a street called Broadway, four rods in width.
Other parallel streets towards the river received the names
of Fourth, Thil'd, Second, and Front, all of which cross
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Main Street at right angles. The latter street forms the
northern boundary of the public square, which the pro­
prietor "provided for county purposes,-that is, for the
erection of the public edifices thereon for the usc of the
county, and such other improvements of tnste and utility
as the legal authorities (in such cases) of s~id county shall
deem expedient to the use of said county for the purposes
aforesaid, their legal officers and successors in office for­
ever."

Provision was made that in case the county-seat should
be removed the land should revert to the original proprictor
or his representatives.

The language quoted appears in an article recording the
village plat, made by Gen. Lytle, on the "24th of October,
1815, in which he says, further, by way of explanation,
"That the plat of the town has before been recorded in
due season and agreeable to law, but it having been sug-"
gested by some meddling person that the first record was
vague and unsatisfactory, the above is placed on record to
remove all doubt or ambiguity."

Signed: sealed, and acknowledged by Wlli. 1.Jytle in the
presence of Thomas Danby and Philip Gatch, the latter as
a justice of t.he peace.

After the county-scat was permanently located at Batavia,
Feb. 21,1824-, the people of Williamsburgh took unrestrained
possession of the square and public buildings thereon, and
held undisturbed possession several years, using them for
the general good of the community, when Gen. Lytle
claimed the property under the terms of the dedication
above given, and conveyed it to the Uoited States Bank.
That institution served a writ of ejectment, and, having
obtained possession, sold it, in 1846, to Sayers Gazley and
Adam S. 'Valker. But the village, bent on the recovery.
of the property for public uses, brought suit in the name
of Charles B. Huber and others against the above parties,
and after several years of litigation the Supreme Court of
Ohio, at the December term in 1849, decreed that the title
to the use of the property rested in the village forever. Part
of the square now constitutes the public park, and the rest
of the land has been set aside for school purposes.

On the 28th of March, 1799, De Benneville received a
patent from the government for Survey No. 2810, and on
the 30th of June, 1800, conveyed the land to Wm. LytIe,
who thus became sole proprietor of the village site. In the
sale Daniel De Benneville reserved a number of choice lots
in Williamsburgh, but never came here to live. He had
served as a surgeon in the Revolution, and after the war
became a resident of Philadelphia, Pa.

Gen. Lytle, having now the absolute right to convey the
village lots, began seIling them in July, 1800, one of the
first to purchase being his friend, 'Vm. Hansom, of Lex­
ington, Ky., who secured in-lot 324 llnd out.lot 60 for
$28, current money of Kentucky, receiving his deed
July 28, 1800. At this time Gen. Lytle was also a resi­
dent of Lexington, Ky., but some time in the latter part of
August, 1800, he moved to 'Yilliamsburgh, and thereafter
the sales of property were very brisk. Among other early
purchasers of village lots were Daniel Kain, ·Wm. Camp.
bell, Elizabeth and Nancy Kelly, Lebnard. Raper, James
Carothers, Wm. Perry, David Gibson, Ann and Ephraim

38

:McAdallls, Amos Smith, Isaac MilIer, Thomas Kain, Polly
Kain,* Polly Bunton,* John Cordrey, Archibald McLean,
Hobert Dickey, Nicholas Sinks, Thomas Brown, John
Kain, David 1'eal, and Owen Todd.

The settlement of the place, however,'was made prior to
the above date, and was among the earliest in the county.
In the summer of 1796 James Kain came here from New­
town, where he had settled several years previously, to build
the first cabin, which was erected on lot 43, where is now
the residence of Adam S. Walker. He was accompanied
by his daughter "Mary, a young girl of a dozen years, and
her companion, Mary Bunton, who did the cooking for the
workmen employed on the cabin; and these, it is claimed,
were the first white women who came to reside in the east­
ern part of the present county of Clermont. The Kain
and Bunton fiullilies are noted at greater length in the pio­
neer history of the township. James Kain occupied his
house in the fall of 1796, and his family was moved from
Newtown in an old-fashioned Conestoga wagon, by Archi­
bald McLean, who followed mere bridle-paths, which often
made it necessnry to form wider roads, so that the trip
occupied several days. The king-bolt of this wagon, prob-

" ably the first that was ever used in the county, is yet in
the possession of the McLean family.

Before the Kains became firmly established, a family by
the name of McKaslen began building a cabin on lot 51,
where James D. McNutt now lives. I~ is said that Gen.
Lytle had offered a lot as a bonus to the first family that
would locate permanently, and that' the McKaslens llad
come to claim the reward; but beyond this knowledge, and
the belief tllat the children of the family were with Lydia
Osborne when she was lost, no further account of them
exists. Other settlers came in, and when WiIliamsburgh
became the county-scat, in 1801, the future of the place
seemed to be assured. The early lot-owners found a resi­
dence and the county officials thronged hither. Among
the latter were Roger W. Waring, the son of an eminent
Kentucky judge; Oliver Lindsey, an early sheriff, who
lived near the present mill; Thomas ~orris; in his after­
life a United States senator, who lived north of' the present
school-house, in a building which served as a home, jail,
and court-room. III 1804 he removed to Bethel, and when
questioned as to the reasons which caused him to change his
place of abode, said, "I would rather be a king among fools
than a fool among kings." In this house was born, Dec. 16,
IS0-l, Margaret Kerns,-l\!rs. Brintzinghoffer,-at present
the oldest native born in this part of the county j and here,
too, lived the well.known Nicholas Sinks, with whom Israel
Foster resided when his son; Randolph Si~ks Foster, the
eminent bishop, was born. In a modified form the house
yet stands, "and is the home of John A. McAdams. About
the same time the stone house on Front Street, south of
Main, was built by Col. Samuel 'V. Davis, and yet bears
tribute to the good workmanship bestowed upon its walls,
being in a well-preserved condition. In former days it
served as the headquarters in times of military gatherings,
and its main room was set aside for use in trying those who
had violated the code of that period.

!;; Received deeds for their lots becauso they were the first women
in Williamsburgb.
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In "Browne's 'Vestcrn Calendar," fur the year 1809,
appears this account of Williamsbmgh :

"The road from Kewtown to Williamshurgh is hilly, and neltr the
town swampy. In the neighborhood of this road there arc a number
of Episcopalian MethodislS. Willialllsbl\rgh is the county-town of
Clermont, situated on the I.iltle ~Iiami, ;~o miles from Cineinnati and
li8 from Chillicothe. The elegant frame house, the residence of Gen.
Willialll Lytle, on an elcvated spot, has a happy efl"ect, and makes the
town look pleasant. There arc in the town three or four ta\'erus, n.
post-offiee, two stores, about forty or fifty dwellings, a stone eomlllo­
dious court-house, and a log prisun. The Presbyterians arc united in
a society under the clmrge of Rev. -- DobLins."

The log jail was afterwards displaced by a stone building,
and both it and the court·house stood until 1858, when
they were removed to make a place for the present hand­
some school edifice. After the formation of Brown County
it became evident that Williamsburgh would not long
remain the scat of justice of Clermont County. Its geo­
graphical situation doomed it to give that honor to another
place, and from that time its prosperity wancd, so that about
1827 whoever could dispose of his property left the place.
There was a stagnation of busincss, and rcal cstate had
depreciated to ridiculously low figures. It is said scores
of village lots were forfeited to pay taxes, and at the pub­
lic outcry brought only about HO cents a lot. About this
period the persons of family living in the village were
Daniel Everhart, Jacob Mason, James Perrine, John Peter­
son, George McMillen, Andrew Harry, D. S. Smith, 'Ym.
'Waters, the Park family, John Moorhead, the Hankins
family, Daniel Kain, the Huber family, George Peterson,
Stephen Smith, John Kain, Hobert Tweed, Job Stockton,
Thomas S. Barker, John T. Ross, 'Vm. Howell, E. C.
Sharp, Azel Bryan, Israel Smith, Hugh Maloy, Andrew
Christie, Andrew Smith, Samuel McAdams, Samuel Cade,
Nicholas Sinks, John McKnight, John Carter, Halph Sharp,
John Naylor, John Miller, Lewis Ellis, John Denni:;, and
John ]~arhart.

The lattcr was a carpenter j and among other tradesmen
of tl1at period, and an earlier day, were Job Stockton, cabi­
net-maker j Samu~l Howell, saddler j George Kerns, shoe­
maker j Ebenezer Osborne and William 1\IcKnight, tailors j

Samuel Ivens, blacksmith j Elijah Robbins, cooper j Jacob
Harry and Benj. South, hatters j and John Charlcs, Thomas
Hoagland, and John Dennis, stone-masons.

In 1840 the population of the village ,vas only 385, and
ten years later it remained about the same. The next
decade witnessed the return of prosperity. Population in­
creased and property appreciated. An era of enterprise
dawned upon Williamsburgh, and new life coursed through
its streets. 'fhe old' gave place to the new, and once more
the village took a leading place among towns characterized
for their industry and enterprise. In 1870 the population
was 773, and the census of 1880 will not fall much short
of 1000.inhabitants. It contains a l\Iethodi:st and a Pres­
byterian church, and the interests noted in the following
pages.

MUNICIPAL GOVERN~IENT.

The village was incorporated by an act which' was passed
:Web. 5, 1847, and which provided that" so much of the
towIlship of Williulllsburgh, in the county of Clermont, as
is included in th!3 iQ.lots of the re~orded plat of said town

of Williamsburgh, together with the fraction between Front
Street and low-water mark, upon the north side of the East
Fork of' the Little Miami River, is henceforth declared a
town corporate by the name of the Town of Williamsburgh."

At an election for village officers, held on Saturday, Aug.
21, 18"*7, at the brick school-house, M. A. Bryan and Rob­
ert Brickel' were elected judges, and H. V. Kerr clerk.
Fifty-six votes were polled, and the followin~ elected: C.
B. II uber, Mayor j Otis Dudley, Hecordcr j l'1. A. Bryan,
K C. Sharp, L. D. Salt, L. T. Pease, and Peter 1\1. Sneil,
Trustecs.

Subsequently R. R. McClung was appointed Treasurer,
and John F. Peterson Marshal.

Since 1847 the principal officers of the village have been
the following:

l\L\.YORS.

.IS..t8, 1\1. A. Bryan; 1S..t9-5 ll, Otis Dudley; 1851-53, L. D. Sa.lt;
1854-57, S. U. Peterson; 1858, S. S. Leffingwell; 1859-65, W. M.
Fryman; 1866, Edward Collins; 1867, John E. Offutt; 1868,A.
Clark; 1869, W.1\1. Fryman; ]870, McLean Bouhvare; 1871, Sid­
nl'y Rue; 1872-73, W. M. FrJ'mnn; ]87·1-75, S. G. Peterson;
1876-79, Homer McLean.

COUNCILMEN.

]8..t8.-L. D. Salt, C. B. Huber, John Park, B. N. South, and Robert
McClung.

18J9.-It. ll.. McClung, C. B. Huber, Mahlon Smith, Daniel S. Smith,
L. T. Pease.

1S50.-L. D. Salt, C. B. Huber, J. Pal'k, P. Cheseldine, and Samuel
Peterson.

1851-52.-C. B. Huber, S. G. Peter~on, John Park, D. McClung, p.
Cheseldine.

1853.-H. ll.. Perrine, B. N. South, C. B. IIubp.r, J. Park, p. Chesel.
dine.

1854.-1\1. A. Bryan, D. S. Smith, A. Day, D. McClung, C. B. Huber.
1855.-L. T. Pease, p. Cheseldine, A. Day, S. McClung, M. A. Bryan.
1856.-1\1. D. Sharp, V. Stockton, 1\1. A. Bryan, Samuel ,McClung, L.

D. Sn.It.
ISf>7.-L. D. Sn.lt, M. D. Sharp, M. A. Bryan, Samuel :l\1cClnng, V.

Stockton.
1858.-S. G. Peterson, G. A. Peterson, H. Fergnson, J. Park, George

McNutt.
1859.-1'. Cheseldine, G. A. Peterson, S. G. Peterson, G. A. McNutt,

J. Park. '
1860-61.-S. N. Fergnson, G. A. Peterson, G. A. McNutt, John Pn.rk,

J olm 1. Peterson.
IS62-63.-D. McClung, G. A. McNutt, G.A. Peterson, John 1. Peter­

son, S. N. Ferguson.
ISd4.-V. Stockton, John Williams, S. N. Ferguson, S. D. McMillen,

G. A. McNntt.
1865.-J. II. Sharp, D. McClung, John Williams, S. D. Me1\Iillell, Y.

Stockton.
1866.-John Pn.rk, oJ. H. Doyle, W. L. Rain, W. A. DudleJ, E. Zim­

merman.
1867.-A. P. Frazier, S. D. McMillen, A. S. Walker, A. Beall, G. L.

McAdn.ms.
IS68.-A. S. Walker, F. A. Warden, W. H. White, M. F.lIull, J. H.

Doyle.
1869.-0. Dudley, Jr., J. H. DOJole, A. Beall, D. H. Shn.rp, A. S.

Wn.lI,er.
IS70.-W. M. Fryman, W. A. Kain, J. n. Read, D. C. Sharp, N.

McMillen, W. R. Moorhead.
1871.-S. Pettit, J. H. Ellis, A. Clark, G. 1\1. Whittaker, Robert

Blair.
IS72.-A. P. J?razier, G. 1\1. Whittaker, John Myers.
I873.-A. Clark, J. Boyd, A. Ben.lI.
1874.-S. D. Mount, W. A. Dudley, John Archer.
IS75.-A. Clark, F. J. Boyd, G. A. McNutt.
lS76.-W. H. White, G. B. Beacham, Joseph Smith.
1877.-W. M. Fryman, Byron Williams, Leroy Zimmerman.
1878.-S. D. l\fount, George B. Beacham, Joseph Smith.
1879.-W. M. Fryman, Byron Williams, L. H. Zimmerman.
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RECORDERS.

1848-51, Henry Knin; 1852-53, Edward Sinks; 1854, J. H. Shnrp;
1855-5U, Otis Dudlcy, Jr.; 1860-61, S. D.l\Ic~IiIlcn; 1862, C. B.
Hubcr; 186?, S. D.Mcl\IiIlcn; 1864-65, O. E. Walkcr; 18liG-H7,
Dn\'id McClung; 1868-69, W. R. Moorhcad; 18iO-il, Byron
Willinms; 1872, M. F. Pctcrson; 18n, George W. Jnck; 1874
-75, Chnrlcs Rosc; 1876-78, R. D. Sharp; 18i9, J. D. l\Ioorhcnd.

TREASURERS.

1848-55, D. H. Shnrp; 1856-64, J. n. Shnrp; 1865, J. I. Peterson;
1866, A. V. Bouhvarci 1867, E. S. Sinks; 1868-71, J. r. Petcr­
son i 18i2-79, E. B. Holmcs.

The village council has t?ken a positive position on the
question of temperance. On the 2d of August., 1858, an
ordinance was passed" to prevent the sale of liquors and
intoxicating drinks, and to prevent drunkards within the
corporate limits of the village"; and at subsequent periods
other preventive measures were adopted. One of the most
notable of later years was an ordinance, enacted Sept. 18,
1879, whieh requires every place where malt, vinous, or
spi~ituous liquors are sold to be closed from six o'clock in
the evening of every Saturday to sev~n o'clock the follow­
ing Monday morning. A decided opposition was awakened
to this measure, and its legality was passed upon by the
courts of the count.y, which sustained the council in its
efforts to repress the disorder arising from the unrestrained
traffic in liquor.

Williamsburgh has been much benefited by the posses­
sion of corporate privile~es, and by their judicious exercise
the appearance and character of the place have been greatly
changed. All the principal streets have been reduced to
easy grades, curbed, and macadamized or coated with
gravel, with good provision to secure their drainage. Sub­
stantial sidewalks have been constructed and street lamps
erected. The public square, or park, has been planted
with trees and embellished to make it an attractive place of
resort.

The public improvements in general and the moral tone
of the village as modified by the corporation commend
those who have been called upon to direct its affairs, and
place ·WilIiamsburgh in favorable comparison with other
villages in the county.

STORES, HOTELS, AND THE POST-OFFICE.

James Burleigh was the first to engage in the sale of
merchandise in the village of Williamsburgh, soon after
1800. He first carried his goods on his back, going from
house to house, and afterwards extended his trade by em­
ploying a horse, on which he rode to the more remote
settlers. As he prospered his stock was increased and
opened out in a building which stood on the lot owned
by Dr. J. H. Doyle. This was the first store, and, if cur­
rent accounts can be credited, his manner of doing business
would hardly meet with approval nowadays. No order
or system was observed, and as he had a large family, all
at one time or other serving as clerks, whichever article
was last called for was always thrown on the top of a
promiscuous heap, representing his stock in trade. Bur­
leigh himself is represented as having been grossly fat
and sluggish in his· movement.s, ::;0 that the saying went
" as' big as Burleigh." The second store was opened by'
Isaac Lines on the Walker lot, opposite the school-house j

and as J.Jines was more of a hun tel' than a merchant, his
place of business was not much of an improvement on
the first. Here: too, order was set at defiance, and every­
thing was now here, now there. Yet it· is said that for
those days he had a good stock of goods and lacked only
the tact to make a successful merchant. Another of the
early stores was kept by Benjamin \Vhite some time after
1802.

After 1812, Benjamin Ellis and William Waters engaged
in tr~de, Dnd were about the first to own what would now
be called a store. Both were successful business men. The
latter died in the village in 1835, and the former removed
to Cincinnati. ·While he resided at Williamsburgh, his son,
\Vashington, at present one of the leading bankers of New
York City, was born. At that time John M. Tucker,
Daniel Hankins, and others were contemporary merchants.
The village was a good trading-point, and from about 1825
to the present mnny persons have followed merchandising,
among the most prominent firms having been Israel Foster,
Andrew Foote, Robert Tweed, Job Stockton, Peterson &
"Taters, George & John Peterson, Nicholas Sinks and L.
D. Salts, Edward Sinks and Henry Kain, Daniel Everhart,
Otis Dudley and Sidney S. Leffingwell, William Everhart,
Posey Cheseldine, John H. Sharp, John I. Peterson, and
B. N. Stockton. The two last named have been in trade
since 1836 j and there are besides, as general merchants,
Atchley & Holmes and Foster & McNutt. Among the
grocers, A. Beall, yet in trade, is remembered as the first.
\Villiam Atchley, 1\1. F. Peterson, 'Joseph Knight, Ed.
Clark, D. K. Peterson, Ellis & Mount have also been gro­
cers, the latter firms being at present in that line of trade.

Adam S. Walker opened the first drug-store. The pres­
ent druggists are F. W . Walker, A. Beall, and O. E. Walker.
Other druggists have been James Walker, Ellis & Sharp,
and Charles Hoffman. D. A. Rees and Mead Stockton are
dealers in tin and hardware goods; D. H. Sharp and George
Beacham, in harness and saddlers' goods; John 1\:1yers and
William H. Fryman, in cabinet~ware; J. P. Curry, in
agricultural implements; C. A. Benn and Homer McLean,
watchmakers; and John Park, gunsmith and proprietor of
novelty-shop. .

The first public-house in the village was kept by J am~s
Kain. As early as August, 1799, he was a regularly li­
censed tavern-keeper, and entertained after the hospitable
manner of those times in a log cabin which stood on Front
Street. On the 6th of August, 1801, the Hamilton County
Court again renewed his license; and on the 25th of Au­
gust, 180.1, the Clermont C~unty Court granted him for
the first tiD;le this privilege. Meantime, an opposition tav­
ern had been started on Broadway, north of the 8chool­
hou,se, by no less a personage than Thomas Morris, after­
wards United States senator; and to him was granted, May
26, 1801, the first license by the Clermont County Court,
whicli charged therefor $8. This building l1as been
described as consisting of three parts or connected cabins,
two of which 1\lorris leased to the county for a court-room
and jail. In 1803 he was succeedl~d as a tavern-keeper by
Nicholas Sinks, who kept the house until it was discon­
tinued. At that time the road from Newtown to Chilli­
cothe passed by the Sinks tavern and crossed the East Fork
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below the new bridge, and thence passed over the hills,
which were hard to ascend. With an eye to the custom
which might be secured by constructing a bettcr road, James
Kain employed a f4)rCe of men to cut out the present Chil­
licothe road, and made a crossing ncar his tavern. Travel
was soon diverted fi'om the old road, and the principal
thoroughfare was established by Kain's foresight on a line
which was ever afterwards kept. Greater accommodations
being demanded, Kain, in 1802, built a new house or ad­
ditions to his old one, and for ~any years it was a most
noted hostelry, at which were entertained all the distin­
guished travelers who came that way. In 180G, Aaron
Burr was there lodged, much to the chagrin of some patriots
of the Revolutionary war, who formed themselves into a
company commanded by George ·W. Stall (John McKnight
fifer, and Samuel Howell drummer), and parading along
the street before the house played the" Rogues' March."
It is said that Burr appeared at the door and looked on
with silent contempt, and with a manner that suggested
beyond a doubt that he would not be trifled with, where­
upon the company marched a little distance away from the
tavern, and, after indulging in some exprcssions not at all
complimentary to Burr, quietly dispersed. Daniel Ever­
hart afterwards kept a tavern here.

In 1816, John Kain built a large frame hotel on the
northwest carner of Main and Third Streets, which he kept
until his death, in 1846. Since that period it has been
kept by his son, J. 'V. Kain. It was at this house the
rebel Gen. Morgan made his headquarters on the night of
July 13, 1863, and with his officers examined the United
States mails which had been captured on the raid. 1\11'.
Kain entertained more than a hundred people that night,
and was rewarded by having all his wearing apparel and
horses stolen. Morgan breakfasted at half-past three in the
morning, and soon after left. This house is llOW one of
the oldest taverns in the county. The present "Atchley
House" was changed from a residence for hotel purposes a
number of years ago by John Atchley. It stalJds near
the site of the old Kain tavern. Thomas Cade, J olm T.
Ross, and Job S.tockton were former tavern-kClepers in
W illiamsburgh in buildings which have long since passed
away.

An account of the first post-office is based on tradition,
as the knowledge concerning it is not a matter of record.
It is said that John Lytle first discharged the functions
of a postmaster, distributing what little mail there was re­
ceived from his residence. Then came Nicholas Sinks, who
was followed by Benjamin Ellis. William Waters was sub­
sequently appointed, and held the office until 1831, when
Job Stockton succeeded him, serving until 1839.. That
year Daniel Kain became the postmaster, and subsequently
the following: 1843, Samuel G. Peterson; 1847, George
'V. :McMillen; 1851, John H. Sharp; 1857,J.l\Ici\:Jillen;
186~, A. S. 'Walker; 1869, J. E. Offutt; 1871, Francis A.
'Varden; 1873, Alexander Beall, who yet holds the office.

On the 1st of July, 1874, Williamsburgh was designated
as a postal money-order office. Themail supply is daily
by railroad. Previously for many years the stages brought
'the mails, and a large amount of matter has always here
been distributed.

THE PRESS AND TIlE PROFESSIONS.'

The first paper in the county was published at Williams­
burgh. On Friday, Jan. 15, 1813, Thomas S. Foote and
Hobert Tweed as proprietors, the former as editor, and
Charles D. l\IclUannalll as typo, issued the first number of
the Political Censor, a weekly paper, devoted to the current
news of the day. The sheet was small, measuring only
9~ by 15~· inches. The publication office was on lot No. 40.

In 1814, David Morris began the publication of Tlte
lVestern American, the publication office being on the lot
at present occupied by Volney Stockton. This was the
second paper in the county. The subsequent history of
the press is given in a general chapter.

Dr. Levi Rogers is credited with having been the first phy­
sician in the village, but the exact time when he came cannot.
be determined. His first cabin stood on the lot now occu­
pied by the Masonic Hall, and was made of round poles
.with doors so low that one had to stoop when entering.
T)lC roof consisted of clapboards fastened down with poles;
the floor was simply mother earth trodden down hard; and
what" light the cabin had was admitted through an oiled
sheet of paper. Dr. Hagel'S was not only a good practitioner
but a learned man, and was greatly esteemed by his neigh­
bors. He was the filther of the veteran, Dr. J. G. Uogers,
of New Richmond, whose medical skill was called into rc­
quisition when Gen. Grant was born. Dr. Hagel'S removed
some time about 1812, and about the same time a Dr. Un­
leavy came here to practice.
- In 1815, Dr. Halph Sharp established himself at 'Vil­
liamsburgh, but in 18H) moved to Milford, at which place
he remained only two years, when he returned to Williams­
burgh, where he died in 1830. His practice was very large,
often extending miles into the country, and his visits were
as frequently made at night as in daytime. On several
occasions he was pursued by wolves and barely escaped with
his life. Once the wolves were so close that they sprang
at him, leaving the print of their teeth on his riding-boots.
In 1824, Dr. Erastus Sharp, Sr., at that time a youth of
seventeen, came to live with his uncle Ralph, and was edu­
cated for the profession by him, beginning the practice of
medicine in 1828. At the death of Ralph Sharp he was
associated with him, and thereafter continued the practice
alone, remaining until his death in 18H7. His son, Dr. Eras­
tus 0., then assumed his practice, and is yet located in the
village as a physician.

Dr. Leavitt Thaxter Pease was a physician at Williams­
burgh from February, 1835, until May 24, 1874, when
death ended his useful career. He was one of the most
successful physicians in the county, and was especially noted
for his skill in surgery. Three of his students became emi­
nent in the profession, viz., Dr. Enos Fee, of Georgetown;
Dr. G. O. Butler; and Dr. Felix Leeds, who fell a victim
to the cholera in 1847.

Dr. Andrew F. McCall, after leaving Batavia, was located
in the village a few years, when he removed to the southern
part of the township, on the Bethel road, where he lived
until his death.

In 1843, Dr. Delos Ohauncy Sharp, a son of Dr. Ralph
Sharp, established himself as a practitioner in Williams­
burgh, and yet continues.
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Dr. Isaac Redrow has been here the past twelve years,
and Dr. Henry Brown the past year.

As dentists, Drs. 'V. C. HODlan, J. H. Doyle, and S. S.
Walker are at WilliaDlsburgh.

Thomas S. Foote was among the first, ~f not the first,
resident attorne)"s at Williamsburgh; and among the last
to I eave on the removal of the county-seat were David
Morris and O. T. Fishback, all moving to Batavia. For
many years the village had no attorney, but in later days
B. Britton has practiced law in the township, his horne
being east of the village. Jonatllan Johnson, although not
a regular attorney at that period, transacted the law busi­
ness before Mr. Britton's settlement. The attorneys at the
village at present are Charles W. Rishworth, William Brit­
ton, and Corwin Smith, all of them but recently admitted.
A further account of attorneys who have been at Williams­
burgh may be found in a general chapter of this book.

. CLERMONT SOCIAL LODGE, No. 29, F. AND A.l\L*

Among the results of the" Second War for Independencl!"
the student of the curly history of Clermont County should
consider the social effects of the common interest and unity
of purpose by which that struggle was attended. The first
pioneers, under the influence of the dreaded savage, had.
the keen incentive of personal safe.ty and mutual need to
prompt instant reply to every call of' distress. As t~at

danger ceased with the sullen retreat of the Indian, sorrow­
ing, before the march of the white man's prosperity, a time
came when untamed self-reliance and hardy resentment tG
wholesome restraint did not sufficiently value the amenities
of lmmanizing arts. The war of 1812, as a strife coming
from the forefathers, called upon a new generation to learn
the tactics of' combinations, and taught the scattered
founders of the new-born States to admire that direction of
their individual forces into a mass which brought victory
and liberty.

In no place did a brighter devotion to the public welfare
glow than in the old county-seat. Again and again com­
panies went to the front, utitil it seemed that the post of
duty was rather to provide in the field of toil at home than
to stand ward in the field of battle abroad. In unity they
found strength, through strength they obtained peace, and
after that came plenty.

The occasion was now ripe for the introduction of the
disciplined benevolence of Freemasonry. A tradition, of
easy belief, relates that the subject was JUuch discussed and
encouraged by those desiring membership, and that many
informal meetings were held by the casual strange brethren
and those few that were resident.

The first authentic record states that in 'Yilliamsburgh,
on the first day of June, 1815, on the production of the
dispensation of Henry Brush, Grand Master of the State of
Ohio, Edwin Matthews, Master of Nova Coosaria Lodge,
No.2, by special commission of the Grand Master, did in­
stall the following brethren as officers of Clermont Social
Lodge, No. 27: Amos Haines, 'V. M.; 'Vm. Waters,
S. 'V.; Obadiah Smith, J:. 'V.; George Ely, S. D.;
Robert Haines, J. D.; Jacob Huber, Sec. j and Thomas S.
Fo?te, Treas.

i* Prepared by Byron W.illiams.

Amos Haines, the first Master, and holding the office for
three terms, was a member of a Quaker family that removed
from Frederick Co., Va., and settled in New Richmond.
He was a surveyor and dealer in lands, and died in 1820.
Robert Haines, his brother, though but twenty-five years
old at this time, had raised and commanded a company that
marched to the relief of Fort Meigs, and for that service his
widow now draws a pension. He was one of the associate
judges of the county. George Ely was an extensive dealer
n la!lds, and Eubsequenrly founded Batavia.

Thomas S. Foote, the second l\laster, held the office two
terms. He was a lawyer, surveyor, prosecuting attorney,
editor, and a man of much note.

William Waters, the third Master, held the office for
eight terms. He was a keen, bright, and upright man.
He had a fair education, and was one of the early merchants
of Williamsburgh, and died in 1835. Obadiah Smith, a
shoemaker, was an ancestral relath'e of the family of the
Hon. L. B. Leeds. Jacob Huber was the mill-owner, a
:unmer, and transacted much business.

The lodge received its charter on Jan. 4,1816, its num­
ber having been changed to 29. This time-stained and
much-prized document, owing to the loss, destruction, and
forfeiture <;>f those which preceded it, is perhaps within ten
or twelve numbers of being the oldest of its kind in the
entire old Northwest Territory.

The charter bears the names of AII!oS Haines, Thomas
S. Foote, N~ Sinks, J. Huber, Daniel Kain, George Ely,
and Robert Haines. .

Thus was Ma~mnry introduced into a region where it has
prospered exceedingly. The lodges bounding the juris­
diction of Clermont Social were Nova Cresaria, No.2, at
Cincinnati j No. 26, at I.Jebanon; No. 13, at Dayton j No.
27, at Springfield; No. 30, at Columbus j and No.6, at
Chillicothe. As a kind parent divides a rich inheritante
among a numerous posterity, so has Clermont Social given
of this domain unt.il her former jurisdiction is now shared
by thirty-seven sister lodges. From the beginning, the
gavel was constantly calling to labor, and in the latter half
of 1815 the following persons entered the lodge on the
left of the Senior 'Varden: Mills Stevenson, Nicholas
Sinks (the first tanner in \Villiamsburgh), Hobert Brinton
(a storekeeper), Thomas L. Morris, Job Stockton (n cab­
inet-maker, and the pioneer ancestor of that family), Ralph
Sharp (a physician), Fergus l\JIoOl'head (a wheelwright),
George J. Trautwine (a store- and tavern-keeper in Bethel),
Daniel Kain (a major, farmer, and magistrate), Firman
'Vhite, and Robert Tweed.

In 1816, BelJjamin Ellis (a merchant, and partner with
William Waters), George S. Bryan (a clerk in the county
offices, and the fourth Master of' tbe lodge for one term),
Ephraim McAdams (the ancestor of a numerous posterity),
Mahlon Smith, John Earhart (tax-collector), Levi Pigman,
of Neville j Gideon Minor, Hiram Bennett, Benjamin Ting­
ley, Wm. White, Col. Thomas Knin, and \Vm. \Y. Clark.

In 1817, John Hankins, John Hollins, Joseph Peden,
Jonathan S. Denham l 'Villiam S. Miller, Sylvanus Everts.

Iu 1818, David Duckwall, of Batavia j Henry Higgins,
Houten Clarke (of Bethel, and father of the Hon. R. W:
Clarke), Israel Foster (father of Bishop R. S. Foster).
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In 1819, Abram Miley, of Amelia j Samuel Dearborn,
John 1\1. Brown, of Batavia j John M. Tucker (a store­
keeper in 'Villiamsburgh), John Kain (a brother of Maj.
Daniel and Col. Thomas Kaill ), John G. Rogers, George
Mitchell, Joshua Clark, Abraham Connery, Conrad Harsh,
of Owensvi11e; William McAdams, Elias Fisher, John
Schnee, Samucl B. Kyle, Samuel Perin, of Perin's :Mills j

Samuel Bennett, Joseph Stockton, and Edward Sinks (who
was elected fifth Master of the lodge in 1821, and served
four terms, after which he removed to Bethel, but return­
ing, was Master again in 1858).

In 1820, Isaac South, John A. Smith, and Edward Salt,
all three of Bethel ; James McClelland, of Goshen; Thomas
Glisson, Daniel Hankins, John Jamieson, Archibald 1. Hig­
gins, Michael Roseherry, Han. Jonathan D. :l\Iorris, and
Andrew J. Patten (who was the tenth l\Iaster, and served
seven terms).

In 1821, William A. Camron (editor of the Fm'mm's'
Friend), James Kain, Jonas Taliafaro, amI Henr:}" Hankins.

In 1822, Eleazer Williams and the Hon. Judge Owen
T. Fishback, who was the sixth Master; and in 182+, John
0'Hara, who is still li\'ing near Bethel.

'1'he old Revolutionary hero, Capt. IIu~h l\Ialoy, Was
admitted by diploma in 1825. From this date until 18.1-5
the work was lighter, but regular. During that period fifty­
seven applicants received their degrees. There were, how­
ever, many withdrawals to unite with the youll~er lodges
that were forming near, especially at Bethel, 1\1 ilford, and
Batavia. In 1824 an unsuccessful attempt was made to
'move the lodge to New Richmond. In the twelve years
succeeding 1845 over one hundred candidates passed
through its doors. Financial embarrassment then seemed
to have puralyzed its strength until the great civil War
called it to labor more actively than ever.

From its constitution to the present the lodge has con­
ferred more than one thousand degrees.

Nicholas Sinks, the seventh Master, served as such
nine terms. He was a most worthy man, as, indeed, were
they all.

Henry D. Gorbitt, the eighth Master, served two terms.
Jonathan Johnson, the ninth Master, served five terms.

John Peterson, Jr., the eleventh, Eliakim Zimmerman,
the twelfth, and H. O. Kain, the fourteenth Master, each
served two terllls; und Mortimer A. Bryan, the thirteenth
Master, three terms. The last three are still living.

John 'Villiams, the fifteenth Master, served seven con­
secutive terms, during and succeeding the civil war. His
mature thought, ready sympathy, alld kindly dignity pecu­
liarly fitted him for the place in those troubled times. At
the commencement of his administration the fbrtuues of
the lodge had reached their lowest ebb. He left it at the
greatest prosperity it had yet attained, to a worthy successor,
Samuel G: Peterson, who served sevcn years.

Captain Edward S. Sir.ks, the seventeenth Master, and a
most gallant gentleman, died about one month after his
second election.

The eighteenth Master, Byron Williams, is now serving
his fourth term. .

The records of the lodge arc entire from the first meet­
ing to the present time, and having been well kept, they

contain many interesting means or identifying past· events.
The social customs of a by-gone age are not without a wit­
ness in their pages. The questions growing out of con­
vivialities peculiar to that age are nowhere more plainly set
forth than in the mothns to restrict, define, and. at last to
suppress, that appear in t]1e records of the first five or six
years. John Jamieson, of Batavia, was initiated Friday
evening, April 28, 1820, and is now the only link that joins.
that day with this.

On the records of that night two resolutions appear.
The first not being strong enough a second was made to
declare that the lodge would dispense with spirituous liquors,
which is doubtless one of the first temperance votes re­
corded in the county.

Considering the age and its habits, it is no wonder that
they kept a demijohn that was often empty. They fre­
quently met at eight A.)I., at one P.)!., and six P.l\!. of the
same day. The time they gave to the work seems very
strange now, but tradition affirms that they were all
" bright."

The lodge held its meetings from the beginning in the
southeast room of the upper story of the old stone court­
house unti.l, in 1818, arrangements were made with the
school trustees to put a second story on the contemplated
brick school-house on lot No. 265. This was put into effect
the followin~ year, and on St. John's day, Dec. 27, 1819,
the new hall was dedicated by a procession, with an oration
by the Rev. William Burk, at the court-house, and a sump­
tuous dinner at Brother John Kain's tavern. The hall was
roomy, well furnished, warmed by a large fireplace, and, for
that day, first class. Here the lodge held its meetings for
thirty-five years. In 1854 the lot on the southeast corner
of Main and Second Streets was secured, and in 1855 the
three-story brick building was completed. On June 23,
1855, the new hall was dedicated, n.. W. Clarke presiding
as Deputy Grand Master. The craft then repaired to the
Methodist Episcopal church, wherc an oration was delivered
by the Rev. William G. Morrow, after which t.he out-door
dinner at John Atchley's hotel was interrupted by a furious
storm. Rut the more furious financial storm of 1857 found
the lodge in debt, and swept their property to a forced sale,
that, at the depreciated values, . left them homeless, with
large liabilities unanswered. In this condition they sought
shelter in the old Presbyterian church. In 1860 the lodge
rented the hall in the new building for its meetings, and
gathering courage, met its obligat:ons, and finally, in 1870,
purchased the third-story room and approaches, where it
now resides in peace and harmony.

The 'Vorshipful Masters, Senior Wardens, and Secreta­
ries, in the order named, fl'Olli 1815 to 1880 have been as
follows:

I815.-Amos Haines, William Waters, Jaeob Huber.
Amos Haines, ThoIDl1s S. Foote, Jacob Huber.

1816.-Amos Haines, Thomas S. Foote, Jaeob Huber•.
Thomas S. Foote, Rll.lph Sharp, George S. Bryan.

1817.-Tholllas S. Foote, Rll.lph Sharp, Daniel Kain.
WilliaUl Waters, Jacob Huber, John Eltrhart.

I81S.-Willi:un Waters, Geor~e S. Bryan, George J. Trautwine.
181!J.-Willialll Wl~lerg, George S. BryltIJ, George J. T.ruutwine.

George S. nr.ran, John Earhart, John M. Tucker.
1820.-WiIlhull Waters, George J. 'l'mutwine, .John M. Tucker.

William Waters, John Earhart, Edward Sinks.
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1821.-William Waters, George S. Bryan, Edward Sinks.
Edward Sinks, John Earhart, John M. Tuelier.

1822.-Edward Sinks, John Earhart, John 1\1. Tucker.
1823.-Edward Sinks, Owen T. Fishback, Robert Tweed.
1824.-Edward Sinks, Owen T. Fishback, James Kain.
1825.-0wen T. Fishback, Edward Sinks, Andrew J. Patten.
1826.-William Waters, Jonathan Johnson, Andrei\' J. Patten.
1827-28.-Nicholas Sinks, Jr., J onathl1n Johnson, Andrew J. Patten.
~829.-NicholasSinl,s, Jr., William Waters, Andrew J. Patten.
1830.-Jonathan Johnson, Nicholas Sinks, Andrew J. Patten.
1831-~2.-lJenryD. Gorbit, Jonath:tn Johnson, Andrew J. Patten.
1833-34.-Nich01us Sinkt', Jonathan Johnson, Andrew J. Patten.
1835.-Nicholas Sinl,s, Jonathan Johnson, Daniel Kl1in.
1836.-Jonathan Johnson, Nicholas Sinks, Daniel Kain.
l8S7-39.-Nieholas Sinks, JonathnD Johnson, Daniel Kain,
I840-41.-Jonathan Johnson, Andrew J. Patten, Duniel Knin.
I842.-Andrew J. Patten, John A. McAdams, Daniel Kain.
I843.-Andrew J. Pntten, Jonathan Johnson, Nicholas Sinks.
1844.-Andrew J. Patten, James S. B. :Frazier, Nicholas Sinl,s.
1845.-Andrew J. P:tUen, James S. B. Frazier, Louis Goldman.
1846.-Jonnthan Johnson, Peter 1\'1. Snell, Y. ltoyee.
1847.-Andrew J. Patte~, John Pcrerson, W. II. Frazier.
1848.-John Peterson, Jr., MOI·timer A. Bryan, A. Day.
184!J.-Jonathan Johnson, Andrew J. Patten, Firman Boulware.
1850.-Andrt'w J. Patten, Hem)· C. Kain, Ell. C. Hartman.
1851.-John Peterson, JI·., 1Iemy C. 1\:ain, Ab~nlom Day.
11i52.-Eliakim Zimmerman. W. II. Frazier, H. B. lIoes.
l85;{.-l\lortimer A. Bryan, H. n. Hoes, Ezekiel Slade.
185·t.-Mortiwer A. Bryan, H. R. Hoes, W. D. Thomas.
I855.-Mortiw<,r A. Bryan, Henry C. Kain, Abmlom Day.
185G.-Henry C. Kain, Samuel G. Peterson, H. B. Hoes.
I857.-Henry C. 1\:ai11, SalOuel G. Peterson, John H. Sharp.
1858.-Edwal'l1 Sinks, Samuel G. Peterson, John H. Sharp.
185!J.-EliakiUl Zimmerman, Samuel G. Peterson, John H. Sharp.
IS60-Gl.-John Williams, John Q. Hutchinson, John II. Sharp.
I862.-John Williams, Mortimer A. Bryan, Samuel G. Peterson.
I863.-John Williams, George A. McNutt, Mortimer A. Bryan.
I864.-John Williams, Sa.muel G. Peterson, Byron Williams.
1865.-John Williams, George A. McNutt, II. S. Reynolds.
IS66.-John Williams, Samuel G. Peterson, H. S. Reynolds.
ISG7.-Samuel G. Peterson, Henry C. Ku.in, William S: Atchley.
]808.-SnUluel G. Peterson, Henry C. Kain, Samuel N. Ferguson.
1869.-Samuel G. Peterson, Byron Williams, Samuel N. Ferguson.
I870.-Samuel G. Peterson, William 8. Atchley, Frank A. Warden.
187I.-Samuel G. PetersOJ!., Edward S. Sinks, William S. Atchley.
1872.-Edward S. Sinks, William Tribble, William S. Atchley.
1873.-Edward S. Sinks, Byron Williams, William S. Atchley.
]S74.-Byron Williams, William Tribble, Charles H. Boulware.
1875-76.-Samuel G. Peterson, Byron Williams, Charles H. Boulware.
1877.-Byron Williams, Charle~ E. Beall, Charles H. Boulware.
1878-79.-Byron Williams, Charles H. BoulwlU'e, William Tribble.

ANGOLA LODGE, No. 23], r. O. O. F.

This lodge was instituted l\Iarch 27, 1854, with J.. H.
Sharp, S..D. McMillan, B. F. Penn, W. G. Patton, and E.
Slade as charter members. .At the first meeting David S.
Smith, Thompson Smith, Hiram P. Simonton, Norman
McMillan, F. M. McAdams, Otis Dudley, and James Waits
were initiated as members, and W. G. Patton was elected
Noble Grand, and J. H. Sharp, Vice-Grand. For the past
eleven years 'V. U. :Moorhead has been the permanent sec­
retary of Angola Lodge, and in 1879 the trustees were C.
Vanosdol, 'V. H. Hull, N. H.. Schooley, David McClung,
and Otis Dudley.

The lodge has had an aggregate membership of 124 per­
sons belonging, and the present number of members are 34.
It is· free from debt, and holds its meetings in a fine hall in
the Beall Block. Appended is a list of the Noble Grands
for each term since the lodge was instituted:

1855, B. F. Penn, S. D. McMillan j 1856, Eo. Slade,

Otis Dudley; 1857, D. McClung, H. J. Walker; 1858, S.
Gravis, C. H. Thomas; 1859, S. N. Ferguson, J. 1. Peter­
son; 1860, A. S. Walker, William Feeney; 1861, William
West, Thompson Smith; 1862, F. McAdams, J. S. Slade;
1863, Otis Dudley, D. McClung; 1864, S. N. Ferguson,
S. D. McMillan; 1865, D. McCiung, A. Clark j 1866, F.
1\1. McAdams, A. P. Fruzier; 1867, Frank 'White, \V. R.
Moorhead; 1868, H. J. Walker, O. E. Walker; 1869, W.
H. 'White, T. G. Smith; 1870, A. P. Frazier, T. D. Still;
] 871, G. l\I. Whittaker, G. L. McAdams j 1872, G. N.
De 'Vitt, John Thompson; 1873, J. B. Reed, T. K. Ellis j

1874, S. D. l\Ic1\lillan, 'V. D. Courts; 1875, M. C. Boul­
ware, J. H. JiJllis; 1876, Charles H.ose. C. Vanosdol j

1877, J.". G. Danbury, C. Vanosdol; 1878, E. VV. Smith,
C. H. Thomas; 1879, J. B. Reed, C. H.1'homas.

At \Villiamsburgh have been a number of secret tem-
.perance organizations, which have been extinct so long that
no authentic account of' them can here be given_ The in­
terest the people of the village and vicinity h~ve taken in
temperarice is shown in the following pages.

WILLIAMSBURGII TEMPERANCE ORGANIZATIONS.

The township can justly claim the honor of being the
first to take an advanced position iu the cause of temper­
:lnce. As early as ]j'eb. 17, 1830, a dozen men, and about
the same number of women, formed tl~emselves iuto a so­
ciety "from a sense of duty and philanthropy," associating
themselves for the purpose" of casting the weight of our
iufluence iuto the scale of temperance; and, as far as pos­
sible, put a stop to the wide-spreading evil of int~mperance,
which has been mining so many of our citizens for years
past." They pledged themselves not to traffic in liquor,
nor to use it, except for medicinal purposes; and adopted
a strict constitution for the government or the society.
Thomas Eo Poage was elected t11e first· President; Daniel
Kain, Vice-President; Robel't B. Dobbins, Secretary; and
John Fostor, Treasurer.

The society flourished, not without opposition, but as it
started out with the best citizens as members, it soon had
enrolled several hundred men and women of the village
and the surrounding country, who labored zealously for the
then not very popular principles of total abstinence until a
short time before the \Vashingtonian movement swept the
country. Ready to co-operate in every good wOl-k, a large
meeting was held at the brick school-bouse, Dec. 18, 1841,
to form an auxiliary 'Vashington society. Forty-nine per­
sons pledged themselves in ~e111bership at this meeting,
and soon the number was swelled to upwards of 300, C0111­
prising, as before, the leadi~'g citizens of the township. The
society did :l noble work, until the Sons of Temperance and
kindl'ed order:) claimed the support of the people. Soon
after its formation evel'Y bar in the township was <:losed
until 1853, when liquor was sold at a wayside tavern on
the Chillicothe road, east of the village. Thither SOUIC of
the young men resol'ted for the ardent, causing the anxious
temperance mothers much trouble, and finally their solici­
tude induced them to inaugurate a crusade against thi:) cita­
del of bodily ruin. They lllet as a pl'tlying band, and' pro­
curing u. wagon proceeded to the ion of the offender of the
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moral sentiments of 'Villiamsburgh, which they besieged so
effectually that he soon capitulated in form as follows:

" I, ---, do hereby pledge myself. my word and honor,
that I will neither buy, sell, nor gh'e away spirituous IiqUOI'S of any
kind to friend or foe while I lh'c, So help lIIe GOll."

The liquor was emptied upon t.he highway, and the little
b:md of praying mothers returned in triumph with their
new convert, who was seated upon the empty cask and
expressed contl,ition for what he had done; while the first
temperance crusaders devoutly thanked the Lord for their
victory, the rain meantime pouring down in torrent.

Half a dozen years elapsed before this fine 111oral senti­
ment was again violated. In defiance of the wishes of the
best people, John Bools opened a brewery and a small
saloon in the western part of the village, which threatened
to despoil the quiet of many a home. He listened to neither
entreaty or persuasion to stop the traffic, nor would he en­
gage to sell his business to the temperance peoplc. Becom­
ing boldly defiant of the popular will, he plicd ·his trade to
the ruin of ruallY promising young mcn. In this strait
the women of the township resolved to vindicate the right
by executing the law according to their own· construction.
Accordingly, on the 17th of November, 1859, about 40
women, armed with axes and hatchets, walked into Bools'
brewery and emptied out the contents of the casks, demol­
ished the apparatus used in brewing, and created havoc
generally in the establishment. This spoilation resulted in
a case at law which has been widely quoted, and which is
noted at some length in our book.* A judgment of $400
was obtained against five of the ladies, and although Bools
has continued his brcwery in the township his business has
become comparatively insignificant. The temperance senti­
ment has been assailed and overtly defied again and again,
its advocates have had trials and tribulations without num­
ber, but it prevails to-da]., and Williamsburgh is yet the
banner temperance township of Olermont County.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

The history of the e~U'ly schools of the township is not
a matter of record and the names of most of the early teach­
ers have passed out of recollection, some of the most·promi­
nent ones only being recalled. ].Ji!onard Haper is remem­
bered as a worthy and beloved instructor of the pioneer
youth, and in the village Peter Pattcrson, 'Villiam Tingley,
Ed. F. Armstrong, Andrew J. Patten, John 'Vright, and
a man named Thomas rendered good service as teachers.
1'he later schools were taught in a large log building, which
stood on the site of the Masonic Hall until 1817, when
the old brick school-house, whi~h stood in 'Villiam S. Mc­
Lean'::; cherry orchard, was ready for occupancy. The
movement to erect this house, which was put up by volun­
tary subscrip.tions, was instituted as early as 1814, but three
years elapsed before the project was consummated. It was
.an excellent house for those times, for many years the best
in the county. The upper story constituted the Masonic
Hall until the present one was provided, and the expense
of building that part of the house was borne by the Order.

;;f See ehapter on Cour~s.

Under the old school law a number of districts were
formed, and in each one a comfortable but rather rude
house provided, but no statistics of value appear before
1845. That year's report was as follows:

No.1 maintained nine months' school per year, six being
taught by two males, and the remaining three by a female.
The amount paid for teaching was $166. The district had
enrolled as children of school age 102 males and 105
females, from whom an average attendance of 58 pupils
was secured.

No.2 had 14 boys and 13 girls enrolled as pupils for a
term of three months, and had employed a male teacher,
who received for his services $47.

No.3 maintained school four and a half months, paying
the teacher-a male-$60; 42 boys and 32 girls were
enrolled as pupils, and the average attendance was 41.

No.4 supported two terms of school that year, both
taught by male teachers,-the aggregate number of months
being seven and a half. There were of school age 52 male
and 44 female children, and the amount paid for their in­
struction was $127.

No.5 also had two terms of school,-six months in all,
-and paid its ruale teacher $102; 48 male and 38 female
pupils were enrolled, and the attendance averaged 38.

No.6 maintained no school that year.
No. 7.-No report.
No.8 had five and a half months of school, taught by

two teachers at an expense of $86. The average attend­
ance was 28, and the entire enrollment 48 pupils.

No.9 waSoa fractional district, which reported an enroll­
D;ent of 18 male and 15 female pupils, and an average
attendance of 20. A school of six months' duration was
taught at a 'cost of $84.

Under the acts of 1852-53 a meeting of the several
clerks of the sub-districts was held May 28, 1853, for the
purpose of organizing the board of education. The mem­
bers present were G. P. Riley, Philip Chatterton, E. Slade,
'Villiam Dennis, .Elijah Dennis, R. R. McClung: Moses
Beckwith, and Thomas Colvin. Philip Chatterton was
appointed chairman, and B. N. Stockton, clerk officio. It
was voted that the sum of $600 be raised for school pur­
poses, and that a contingent fund of $150 be provided.

The full assent of the board was given, October, 1856,
to district No.1 to be a separate district, providing that
the persons living outside of the corporation of ~he village
of 'Villiamsburgh in s~id district would agree to be taxed
to build a school-house in the village, and that the school
funds on hand should be expended under the old organ­
ization.

In ·1879 seven sub-districts (outside of the village) were
reported in the township, in each of which schools had
been maintained twenty-six weeks.

The teachers were paid $1729.66, and the contingent
expenses amounted to $299.15 more. The average salary
of'male teachers was $41 per month; that of females, $34.
Of the pupils, 320 pursued the common branches; 22
studied algebra j 3 philosophy; 1 geometry; and 1 trigo­
nometry. Most of the districts contain good houses, and
the general character of the schools has been greatly ele-

I vated since the system came in force.
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WILLIAMSnURGH UNION SCHOOL.

The schools in the village were early organized under the
Akron law. A meeting for the purpose of adopting the
provisions of the law was held Aug. 28, 1850, when of 26
votes cast, 15 filvol'ed the change provided by the law.
Sept. l·t, 1850, Benjamin Boulware, D. S. Smith, S. S.
Leffingwell, E. Sinks, L. T. Pease, and R. R. McClung
were c'hosen directors. The board was duly organized by
electing E. Sink president, and S. S. Leffingwell clerk.
Rev. Spofford, Otis Dudley, Sr., and L. D. $alt were ap­
pointed the first examining committee.

Since that period the following have served the board as
presidents and secretaries:

Presidents.-1851, E. Sinks j 1852-54:, Otis Dudley;
1855-56, P. M. Snell j 1857-58, S. Gravis j 1859, S. S.
I~effinO'well' 1860-61, L. T. Pease j 1862, M. A. Bryan;

~ ,
1863-69, David McClung j 1870, M. D. Sharp j 1871-72,
Otis Dudley, Jr. j 1873-74, John Atchley; 1875-76,
'William Peterson; 1877-78, A. Clark; 1879, William
1\1. Fryman.

Secretaries.-1851, S. S. J...effingwell; 1852-54" 1\'1. A.
Bryan; 1855-56, S. Gravis; 1857-58, E. Sinks j 1859,
Otis Dudley, Jr. j 1860, S. G~avis; 1861-62, A. V. Boul­
ware; 1863-68, A. Beall; 1869, Otis Dudley; 1870-72,
A. Beall; 1873-74, F. A. Worden; 1875-76, Byron
Williams; 1877-78, S. D. McMillen; 1878, Byr?n Wil­
Iiams; 1879, Homer McLean.

The Union school first held its sessions in the old brick
school-house, but in the early part of I85!.) measures were
taken to erect a new edifice. On the 9th of March, 1859,
the voters of the district necided· hy 40 majority to have
the wall built of brick, upon a foundation of stone which
had been laid by George H. Peterson. The plans for the
building were adopted Feb. 22, 1858, and S. Gravis, L. T.
Pease, and E. Sinks selected as a building committee.
The plans for the building provided that it be 45 feet wide
and 83 feet long, and 28 feet in height, to be divided into
two stories. On top of the building is a cupola 10 feet
square and 20 feet high. The brick-work of the house was
done by H. Lewis; the carpenter-work, by H. Ferguson;
and the plaster-work, by H. ·W. Lewis. The house was
completed in the fall of 1860, and was at that time the
finest school edifice in the county. It has a commanding
location near the site formerly occupied by the old court­
house. On the 10th of December, 1860, the schools were
transferred' to the new house, and the teachers were E. T.
'Yare, Miss H. M. Dudley, andl\1iss O. C. Bryan. The
exercises were begun with religious services in each room,
conducted by the Revs. M. P. Zink, S. Gazley, and T.
Cortelyon, in presence of' parents, guardians, and the board
of education.

1\'11'. Wa're was principal of the school until 1863, when
George Chichester took charge for two years. Then caIDe
Byron Williams, principal for two years, followed in 1868
by F. 1\1. Robinson. He remained two years, and in 1870
came D. W. Brewer, and a year later L. D. Scott; in 1872,
G. F. Meade; from 1873 to 1877, C. M. Riggs; and 1878,
Byron Williams. The latter is still principal, and is as­
sisted by Anna Jenkins, Jennie Lytle, Lida Harris, and
John Moorhead, who has charge of the colored school.

39

The schools are maintained at a yearly expense of nearly
$2000 for thirty-two weeks. As primary scholars there
were enrolled, boys, 83; girls, 60; giving an average at­
tendance of 79. In the high school there were enrolled,
boys, 22; girls, 32; and the attendance was 34, most of
whom pursued the ordinary higher Bnglish branches.

FIRSTPRESllYTERIAN CHURCH, WILLIAl\fSnURGII.*

The records of this church are lost and mutilated to such
an extent as to afford little aid in giving its history~ In
the earliest day religious services were held according to
season, either in nature~s leafy temples or at some conve­
nient settler's house. In the year 1808 the Rev. Dr. Hoge
organized the first Presbyterian Church, which held its.
meetings in the court-house for more than twenty years,
under the care of Rev. R. B. Dobbins. Among its original
members were Archibald McLean, Ephraim McAdams and
wife, Robert Townsley, Mrs. Nicholas Sinks, Mrs. Dorcas
Lytle, Mrs. Sarah Smith, and MrH. Eleanor Kain.

On June 6, 1820, Gen. William Lytle, in consideration
of one dollar, conveyed to the trustees of this church and
their successors in office a certain tract of land adjoining
the town, fur the purpo;e of burying the dead therein. On
the 15th day of' January, 1829, the church purchased ofGen.
Lytle for twenty do~lal~s two fractional lots on the northeast
corner of Front and Gay Street.s, and erected thereon, the
following year, a brick building about forty. feet square, the
dbtingui:shing features of which were its, steep roof and the
two-storied windows, externally, and the broad, three-sided
gallery of the interior, with a high narrow pulpit, from
which the preaeher could with equal ease beam with glad­
ness upon the righteous who sat at the foot of the sanc­
tuary, or glance indignation at the godless who affected the
galleries.

In 18-15, under the pastorate ~f the Rev. Ludwell G.
Gaines, the present commodious brick edifice was erected
on the same lots. After this the old building fell into
disrepute. The yawning abyss between the gall~ries was
bridged over with ~ floor which converted the building into
two rooms. These were used for ~ time as school-roomM,
under the supervision of Rev. Mr. Gaines, Miss Lizzie
Spofford, and Rev. 1\'11'. Wiseman. •

Afterwards it was a place of resort for public meetings.
During the period of their misfortunes the Masons found
a home in its upper story. The Sons and Daughters of
Temperance held their meetings in the same place for sev­
eral years. After its abandonment by the societies it was
for a time occupied by a band of jolly youths known as the
K. R. T.'s (Knights of Round Table), whose innocent
diversions frequently caused sober sides to ache with
laughter. The old building is a thing of the past, having
bee~ removed in 1864. Amid the recollections of' nlany
whose years are now stretching towards the shady vale of
life, there are few memories more pleasant than those which
recall the scenes that were enacted beneath the stately syc­
amores that adorned the church-yard lawn.

Father Dobbins continued in charge of the church until
1833. He was an eccentric man, strong in his affections

;j! By Byron Williams.
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and posltl\Te in his hatreds. He was succeeded for a few
months by the Rev. Robert Rankin. The pulpit hereto­
fore had been frequently occupied by his brother, the nev.
John Hankin, a noted abolitionist. In the fall of 1833 the
Rev. Sayers Gazley succeeded to the charge of the church.
He was from New England, a man of much learning and
the author of sever~l books, among them an extensive
Biblical Commentary. He was a man of lllany striking
peculiarities, amoIlg them a strange abhorrence for whist­
ling (which mischievous boys were not slow to practice
upon) and an utter, intolerance for the Free-soil "iews of
Rev. John Rankin. He was an uncle on the maternal side
to the distinguished Profe~sor David Swing.

In 1841 the Rev. Ludwdl G. Gaines was ealled to the
pastorate. He was a man of liberal education, and to his
clerical calling added the duties ot' a teacher, giving special
attention to academic studies and the fitting of young men
for college and the professions. In 1849 he' was succeeded
by the Rev. Luke Ainsworth Spofford, a characteristic
New Englander and the father of a noted family, among
whom are Ainsworth Spofford, Librarian of Congress; Judge
Spofford, noted in Kellogg-Spofford United States Senato­
rial contest, ii·om Louisiana; and Mrs. Lizzie Spofford
'Yare, now residing in Clermont County.

The Rev. John Wiseman was in charge of the church
from 1853 to 1857. He was born and educated in Scot­
land, and was a man of great force of character, and, like
Mr. Gaines, was a schoolmaster. 'Ihen the Rev. Thomas
F. Cortelyon was pastor until 1862. Rev. Charles French
was then minister for a few months. He was succeeded by
Rev. Thomas Chestnut until 1865, when the Rev. R. B.
Herron was in charge from 1866 until 1870, after which
came the Revs. B. F. De Witt and John Mills for short
periods eaeh. Until 1873 the pulpit was supplied by
,students from Lane Seminary.

Rev. John B. Smith commenced his services with the
.church in December, 1873, and continued until July, 1877,
when he resigned to accept the presidency of the Ohio
Farmers' College. In 1876 the church received a legacy
of $2000, in trust, fropl one of its members, H. J. Walker.
Rev. S. M. Crissman became pastor of the church in Oc­
toberr 1877, and so continues to the present. The church
consists of 125 members, and after passing through many
vicissitudes, is in a fairly prosperous condition. The Sun­
day.school has about 150 pupils, with George B. Beacham
for superintendent.

The present officers of the church are Elders A. S.
Walker, Israel Foster, Thomas Moorhead, and J olm A.
Junkin; Deacons Israel Foster and James Hageman.

THE WILLIAl\ISBURGH METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The early· history of this body is somewhat obscure, but
among tho members were the Kain, Foster, Peterson, and
other families, whose descendants are yet prominent members
of the church. The first meetings were held in the court­
house, but about 1825 a frame house of worship was erected
in the northern part of the village, which since 1845 has
peen p!3ed for other purposes, and is at present the resi­
pepce of Ja~es ~c.,t\darlls. The first action relative to
the ~resept e~ifice ~~s ta~ep ip M~rch, 1839, when Jesse

B. Dozier, NichQlas Sinks, and George Peterson were ap­
pointed to select a site for· the new house. Lot No. 213
was chosen, but the church building was not erected until
1845, and was conse<!.rated the following year. It is a
substantial brick building, and among those who were
acti"e in building it are given the names of John and
George Peterson, L. T. Pease, Nicholas Sinks, S. S. Leffing­
well, L. D. Salt, Jonathan Johnson, and VV. L. Kain. The
house is valued at $4000 and the parsonage in the village
at $600. In the main the church at Williamsburgh has
been prosperous, and its pres~nt membership approximates
300. These forlll classes, which are led by G. A. McNutt,
O. Dudley, William L. Kaill, S. G. Peterson, James Ash.
ton, E. B. Holmes, and 'V. A. Kain. The latter is also
the superintendent of the excellent Sunday-school main­
tained by the church, numbering at present 186 scholars.

The church has ever occupied an emphatic and decided
p'osition on the question of temperance, and in 1853 passed
the following resolution:

",Resulved, That as con!'cicntious men and Christians, wc feel called
upon to use our best efforts in the eausc of temperance; therefore, we
will not vote for nny can,lidate for either branch of the Legislature
who is unwilling to use his infl~ence to procure the Maine Liquor
Law, or one similar in force thereto."

Since that period it has not suffered this important work
to be divorced from its other duties, and has always been
radical on questions of reform.

Until 1838, the church, in common with others in the
northern part of the county, belonged to Miami and Mil­
ford Circuits, and had their ministerial service. From 1838
until September, 1851, it belonged to Batavia Circuit, and
the names of the ministers appear in a history of that
church, but since the latter date 'Villiamsburgh has been a
separate charge, with or without other appointments.

The ministers have been as follows: 1851, L. P. Miller;
1852, B. P. Wheat; 1853, A. Murphy, John Smith;
185-1-, A. Murphy, Levi Thomas; 1855, vV. E. Hines,
James H. l\liddleton; 1856, W. E. Hines, E. P. James;
1857-58, E. C. Merrick, James Kendall; 1859, 1\'1. P.
Zink, N. Green; 1860, 1\1. P. Zink, S. G. Griffith; 1861,
W. E. Hines, S. G. Griffith; 1862, ·W. E. Hines, N. Green;
1863, David Kemper, 'V. II. Reed; 1864, David Kempel',
Henry M. Keck; 1865, \Vm. Runyan, Edward Birkett;
1866, Wm. Runyan, James Armstrong; 1867, It. K.
Deem; 1868-69, Charles Kalbfus; 1870-72, F. G.
Mitchell; 1873-75, Henry l\'Iiller; 1876-77, N. 'V. Dar­
lington; 1877-79, 'V. M. Boyer.

CLOVER CHAPEL OF TIlE METHODIST EPISCOPAL,
CHURCH.

On the 29th of August, 1804, William Winters and
Peter Light executed a deed for a lot for church purposes
at Clover to Amos Smith, Joshua Lambert, VVm. Smith,
Moses Rumsey, Ephraim Duke, Samuel Nelson, Samuel
Nutt, Augustus Clark, and Thomas Lemon as trustees.
These began a hewed log house in the course of a few
years, which was never wholly finished, yet preaching was held
there several years; and ever since ·1804 Methodist preach­
ing has been maintained with more or less regularity in the
Clover neighborhood. The next place of' preaching was in
the school.house, but abOut 1840 the present Clover chapel



WILLIAMSBURGH TOWN$HIP. 307

was erected. This is at present contrulled by trustees
Henry Moyer, John McNutt, David J.Jong, 'Vm. Bricker,
Lycurgus Holmes, George ·W.Moyer, Wm. Colthar, Joseph
K. Jmy, and Joseph G. Sherman. •

In addition to the first board of trustees~ there were
among the early members Benjamin Pool, Elizabeth 'Vin~

tel's, Susan Smith, and others whose names cannot be
recollected. Amos Smith was the first class-leader, and
other leaders were John Smith, K B. Holmes, Lyeurgus
Holmes, \Villiam Colthar, etc. Clover is at present a part
of Bethel Circuit, and previously belonged to the Moscow
and 'Vhite Oak Circuits.

THE CONCORD METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

At this point the first church organization was effected
about 1819, which had among its members Robert Vanos­
dol, the Haper, the Ely, the Jenkins, the Bunton, and
other families, who met statedly for worship at Jonas Bur­
nett's.and in the school-house. In 1839 the present church
building was erected, the trustees at that time being John
Leeds, Samuel B.aper, Jam~s Bunton, Samuel Cordrey,
Thomas Jenkins, Thomas Foster, John Burnett, Robert
Vanosdol, and Joseph Raper, all now deceased except John
Burnett. The present trustees are J. P. 'Vidmeyer, E.
M. Reed, William Haper, Wesley Burnett, T. Parker, F.
O. Richards, and William Trout.

The first class-leader was John Leeds; next in order were
Samuel Raper, Joseph Raper, Thomas Jenkins, Andrew
Thompson, F. O. Hichards, Wesley Burnett, William
Raper, George Jenkins, Benjami~ Wilson, and Joseph
Widmeyer. The members at present belong to Bantam
Circuit, but formerly had their connection with Laurel and
other circuits, to which the reader is referred for the names of
ministers.

In addition to the foregoing religious bodies, the Baptists
~aintained an organization in Williamsburgh before 1810,
which was auxiliary to the Baptist Church at Bethel, which
at a later day absorbed whatever interests remained. Among
the members were the Brinker, Hoos, Hutchinson, and
other families, the number belonging never being very
large.

Northeast from Williamsburgh the colored Baptists llad
an organization, whose existence was not maintained beyond
a few years. The building which served as a house of wor­
ship has been transformed into a dwelling, and now worship
is elsewhere held by the cQlored people of Williamsburgh.

MILITARY NOTES.*

. Among the early settlers there were several soldiers of
the Revolution. Of these we have the names of Capt.
(more properly major) Hugh l\Ialoy, Fife-Maj. John Mc­
Knight, Hamoth Bunton, Dory Mallott, Adam Snider,
James Chambers, James Waits, Charles Waits, Absalom
Smith, and Adam Bricker.

In form"er times a liberty-pole was an indispensable part
of all celebrations of the Fourth of July, and in this place
it was the undisputed prerogative of the above-named heroes
to cut the pole. On one of these occasions, about fifty years
ago, Fife-Maj. McKnight, a brisk, bustling little man, seized

;If Byron Williams.

the axe and attempted to strike the first blow, whereupon
Maj. Maloy stl'Uck him with his cane, nearly felling him to
the O'round sayinO' that he would ,,!low 1W littlewhistlel' too , 0

go ahead of him in these matters.
So Maj. Maloy maintained his dignit.y ahd got the first

stroke. But there was much argument on the spot and
afterwards among the old Seventy-Sixers, who immediately
divided rind joined the issue; one side maintaining that
:McKnight was properly punished for disrespectful conduct
to his old commander, while the other party loudly affirmed
and sto~tly defended the principle that now and here all
meu are free and equal, and posse~ed of certain inalienable
rilrhts amonO' which are life, the pursuit. of happiness, and
0' 0

the privilege of cutting liberty-poles when and wheresoever
they pleased.

However burlesque the affair now seeius, the parties were
very serious. But it may never recur, for that little band
and aU their comrades in that mighty strug~le, together with
their haughty foe,~the red-coat Br.iton, the hireling Hes­
sian, the allied savage, the prowling Tory,-,.the wearer of
Continental blue, with the gay and friendly chivalry of
France, all, all have gone their way to lonely death.

In the second war for independence the militia of Wil­
liamsburO'h turned out almost to the man. Col. Thomas
Kain and his brother, l\Jaj. Daniel Kain, answered, and
an entire company, under the command of Capt. Jacob
Boerstler, marched through swamp and wiJdwood to meet
a wilder foe in the savage allies of British warfare, and
every page of their history records a nOQle heroism. ~apt.

Boerstler lived on lot 269, where John Park now lives,
and when his company left, his wife, with a presentiment
that he would never return, with tottering steps left a sick­
bed to watch him froQl a window ~ lle tqarched away look­
ing so brave and grand. Ile fell mortally wounded at the
battle of Brownstown, and was c;l.r~ieq from the field by
Lieut. Thomas Foster, who has already been mentioned.

The brilliant and successful bravery of the militia in the
war of UH2, together with a lively recollection of immi­
nent danger so happily averted, and a secret apprehen­
sion of further trouble, kindled and suppor.ted an mtensely
martial spirit throughout the Northwest. ~his spirit found
relief and gloried in frequent musterings. Williamsburgh
was the field for the musterings of all accessible points
round about, even for years after the removal of the county­
seat. For company drill, Front Street and the adjncent
river-bank was considered the proper place, but when every­
body came from far and near, the parade was made in the
open field between the public sq~are and Yellow Hill.

With confidence inspired by the prodigious progress of
the great Northwest the reason for these things passed
away.

The prevailing politics of the community did not accord
with the promoters of the Mexican war, and as a conse­
quence· there were but few volunteers for that service. ·We
can only write in this connection the names of Thomas O.
West, Robert Stills, John Grant, and Charles Peterson, the
latter being accidentally killed while in Mexico.

The scenes in Williamsburgh during the great civil war
were such as history wilr record of thewhole wide North.
land: "There were hurryings to and· fro,· there were gath-
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ering tears; there was trembling distress and checks all
pale and choking sighs; there was mounting in hot haste,
and mustering squadrons swiftly joined in ranks of war j

and there was grief for the unreturning brave, for there
was none but had some friend or brother there."

Few soldiers saw harder service thun Capt. Edward
Sinks' company, in the 59th Ohio. Capt. Feeney's com­
pany had the honor to belong to that regiment, the 27th
Ohio, which broke the victorious rebel charges and saved
the Union army that important field, the second battle of
Corinth. Capt. Townsley's company, in the 89th Ohio,
suffered severely by capture and starvation. J. Q. Park
went out a beardless drummer-boy, and returned a brevetted
captain in Sheridan's cavalry, the reward for gallantry on
more than half a hundred fields. No drafted soldiers went
from "Williamsburgh.

On the afternoon of the 13th of July, 1863, and during
the following night, the rebel cavalry, 2000 strong, under
command of Gen. John :Morgan, fled through our streets,
bivouacking in the village and adjacent fields, and for a time
our village stars and stripes were trailed in the dust. Food
was imperatively demanded; their jaded horses were ex­
changed for every fresh one to be found. Stores were pil­
laged and a fine bridge burned, but further than this let it
be said, to the honor of the American name, that no bar­
bari'5m disgraced their presence. On the following day
the Union forces, 9000 strong, swept. after them to victory
and capture. Our town has seen no prouder hour than
when its flag was again unfurled.

".

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHER

JOHN WIJ.JLIAl\1S.

Among the Puritans who came to New England in the
seventeenth century was :Matthew Williams, a native of
Wales. He transmitted in an unusual measure his rugged
strength, hardy nature, and independent spirit to a numer- _
ous and worthy posterity. He lived to be one hundred and
three years old, and founded an American family that from
first to last, in aU its branches, so far as can be known, have
been Baptists, or inclined to that faith, haters of ceremonies,
and uncompromising advocates of freedom and the great
doctrines of perfect religious liberty and the equal rights of
all men. His son Thomas lacked but one year of reaching
the same age as his father.

The next in line was Timothy, who also lived nearly a
century. He and his wife, Hester, reared nine 'chjldren,
the eldest of whom was Jonas, born 26th of December,
1751. He married Eleanor Ward, of the noted 'Yard
family, and reared six sons. They moved to the frontier of
that day on the Susquehanna. Here, in old Northumber­
land County, on the 23d of l\fay, 17'76, their oldest son,
Zebina, was born, and on the 19th of June, 1778, Robert
was born. Just at this time the fearful events burst upon
that happy valley that terminated in the massacre of \Vy­
oming.

When Robert was but three days.old a horseman sped hy

before the earliest dawn crying, " Fly! Fly! TM Indians
are coming !"

The father was strong and active, but badly crippled in
his feet, which made him de~pair of reaching the fort, and
caused him to seek safety in what proved to be the best way.
Sweeping the food in the cupboard into a sack and wrapping
it in the bedding, where the mother was c1a<;ping the babe,
he carried her and the boy Zebina to his canoe, and pushed
out into the river. While yet in sight the flames rose from
his home. Thus, hiding in the bu~hy banks by day and flee­
ing by night, they escaped. On the retreat of the savage
foe he returned to find his stock driven away or killed, his
house and mill laid waste, and himself penniless. Other
members of the tinnily were soldiers in the Re\'olution,
slwring perils no greater, but which scattered them beyond
knowledge. He drifted with the tide of civilization and
finally settled i~ Fayette Co., Ind., where he gave his name
,to the principal branch" of the Whitewater, and died in his
ninety-fifth year. Of his sons, Jame!'l and Isaac died in
early manhood, the latter leaving one daughter. The
others were each the head of large 'and much-respected
fhmilies, and for a time lived in this county. Robert set­
tled in J.Jouisa Co., Iowa, and died there in 1851. Jonas
\Villiams, Jr., settled in "Wayne Co., Ind., and died in his
ninety-third year. Charles Williams settled in Fayette ro.,
Ind. Charles was in Gen. Van Rensselaer's unfortunate at­
tack on Queenstown, in 1812. Being in that part of the
command that was massacred after the surrender, he was of
those who attempted to swim the Niagara River, and was
one of the three who accomplished that surprising feat.

Zebina Williams married 1\1ary Cooley, a daughter of
Col. John" Cooley, an' officer of the Revolut.ionary army,
who was a descendant of one of three brothers who came
over from Scotland in the armies during the French wurs
and afterwards settled in Connecticut. She was born in
Lower Salem, N. Y., 29th of September, 1781.

Their eldest child was born in Genoa, Cayu~a: Co., N. Y.,
on the 24th of August, 1800, and named for his grand­
father, John Cooley Williams, although he himself invari­
ably used but the first name. In the spring of 1810, Ze­
bina \Villiams and John Perin, with their families, floated
down the Alle~hany and Ohio 'Rivers on a raft made by
their own hands. On arriving at Columbia, Zebina found
himself on the wharf with his wife and five children, his
chest of carpenter's tools, strong arms, a clean conscience, a
brave purpose, and twelve and a half cents in money. He
soon found employment in superintending the erection of
mills and barns, in whieh he was considered quite skillful.

As this called him from home, the elder son took his
place in the management of home affairs. This early train­
ing developed a character for promptness in performance of
duty that is as rare as it was admirable.

In 1814 the family moved into Clermont County, and
settled on the, East Fork, a short distance below the mouth
of Stonelick. Here the boys toiled in "clearing up the
farm." In 1815, Zebina 'Villiams and Samuel Perin built
a dam and mill at Perintown in partner!?hip, which was ter­
minated by Perin purchasing the entire' interest. In Sep­
tember and October, 1827, Zebina fl'amcd and built the
cupola of the present court-house, for which he received
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LEAVITT THAXTER PEASE was born April 20,
1809, in Edgartown, Island of Martha's Vineyard,
Mass. He was the youngest son of Capt. :Martin
and Deborah Butler Pease, both nati ves of lVIm:sa­
chusetts, and of Scotch and 'Velsh descent.

Capt. Pease, father of the subject of this sketch,
went on board of an American privateer in 1776,
when eleven years of age; was captured by the Brit­
ish, and taken to New York; afterwards commanded
a whaling and merchant ship for many years; was
in France seven months during the Revolution of
1793; witnessed the execution of Louis the Sixteenth,
and brought some of the nobility in disguise to the
United States. He also represented Duke's County
in the Massachusetts Legislature; moved to Ohio in
1814, and settled in Amelia, Clermont Co.

Dr. Pease read medicine with Dr. vViJliam Thomp­
son, of Bethel, and began practice with him during
the cholera epidemic of 1832. On the 8th day of
l\tlay, 1834, he was united in marriage to Nancy Ann
Fee, who survives him, younge:;t daughter of ThQmas
Fee, one of the early settlers of Washington town­
ship.

In Feb'ruary, 1835, he removed to vVilliamsburgh,
continuing an extensive and laborious practice to the
time of his death, a period of over forty years.

Four ·children were the result of his malTiage,
two of whom died in childhood; of the remaining
ones, M. G. Pease was married, in 1858, to Fanny
LOUIsa Keeler, of Delaware Co.! Ohio, and has t\\70

children,-Charles Leavitt and Georgiana. The
daughter, l\ieredith Ardelia, was married, in 1865,
to Charles H. Thomas, of Warren Co., Ohio, by
whom he had children as follows: Anna Louise,
Laura :M., Nellie, Clara, Ida lVIay, and Georgia Fee.

Dr. Pease was a graduate of the Ohio Medical
College; his attainments in his pl'ofession were varied
and extensive. A man of broad views and keen
discemment, he took extended outlooks; was always
emphatic in his opinions, and bold in their advocacy.
He was for several years president of the County
:Medical Society, and for a series of years was its
delegute in the Ohio State l\iedical Society; was also
its delegate to the American Medical Association.
As a successful practitioner, he enjoyed throughout
the county the reputation of standing among the
first of the profession, of which he was an ornament.
He was a fiml believer in Christianity; united with
the Methodist Episcopal Church in 1844, and re­
mained a consistent member to the time of his death.
In politics he was an anti-slavery 'Vhig, an early
advocate of human freedom and the rights of man,
and lived to see slavery abolished and the Union
restored.
. Always of a feeble and deli~te constitution, thE
labor performed and hardships ('ndured seriously
affected his health, and during the latter years of his
life he suffered much physical pain. He died May
24, 1874, of heart disease, in the sixty-sixth year of
bis age.
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twenty-seven donal's. About this time the family moved
to the northern part of Stonelick township, on a farm that
is now owned by his son Charlcs. He died in 1845, of an
acute fever, and his wife in 1852.

He is remembered as a very excellent malt, of fine ap­
pearance, good judgment, and pure thoughts. His election
as justice of the peace for twelve years, and county commis­
sioner, when his political opinions were opposed by large
and bitter majorities, shows the high esteem with which he
was regarded by his neighbors.

Before he had reached his twentieth birthday John 'Vil­
Iiams was employed by Isaiah Vail to take charge of the
crew of a flat·boat and valuable cargo of produce and" trade
down the river." The expedition was unfortunate because
of a sickly season. He returned with the proceeds, but
was an invalid for more than a year. One of his compan­
ions, Aleck Houston, never rccovered. Houston was a
young man of fine ability, and scholarly in his tastes. Some
unpublished stanzas, given to his younger friend and still in
existence, show him to be worthy of remembrance. He
appears to have had much influence over his young captain,
and to have encouraged in him a taste for higher literature
that never after failed.

In his twenty-second and again in his twenty-third year
he was employed by Samuel Perin as supercargo for large
amounts of produce sent down the Mississippi in flat-boats.
In 1824, in company with his brothers Ambrose and Ezra,
he went on a venture of their own. After this he again
took charge of Perin's flat-boats on the Ohio and l\1issis­
sippi, and actively participated in the laborious and hazard­
ous river life of those days. In these voyages he handled
sums of money that for the times appeared prodigious
with a prudence and fidelity that were never reproached.
The only money considered safe in that trade was specie,
which was secured in a trunk that was sedulously watched,
and upon which he slept. In the midst of these busy
scenes, by his own diligence, he attained a fair Engli:;h
education, became a good penman, a very correct speller,
an exact accountant, and cultivated a course of historical
and general reading. 'fhe only issue of his first marriage
was Mrs. Salina Ferris, now living at Linwood, Ohio. In
1830 he was elected a justice of the peace for Stonelick
township, and so continued for three years.

On the 14th of November, 1830, he was united in mar­
riage to Rachel, the eldest of the ten children of John
Glancy. She was born on the 6th of January, 1813. Her
mother's name was Elizabeth, the youngest of the ten chil­
dren of Thomas Shields and Elizabeth Clark, and was born
in Maryland on the 12th of November, 1794. During the
following spring this family came to Ohio, and later to
Clermont County, of which they were among the earliest
settlers.

John Glancy's father, Jesse, was born in 1756, and his
father came from Ireland. Jesse Glancy was a soldier of
the Revolution, after which he married Rachel Copeland,
a Quakeress, who belonged to an English family that suf­
fered confiscation ·of considerable wealth for adherence to
King George. They had five children,-'Villiam, born in
1784; John, in 1786; Elizabeth, who married Judge John
Pollock; and Mary and Joseph, who died unmarried. In

1804, Jesse Glancy with his family emigrated from York
Co., Pa., in good style in two large wagons, and arrived in
Williamsburgh in December of the same year. He at .
once bought eleven hundred acres of land of Gen. Lytle
in what is now Stonelick township, and which his posterity
still own. He- was a large, robust man, unusually active
and strong, which served him in good stead in a desperate
fight with a bear, which he killed with the aid of his dog
and knife only, as is narrated in the history of Stonelick
towQship. He died in 1831. His son John, after living
on the home-farm seventy years, died on the 29th of De­
cember, 1874. The other son, 'William, lived till the 7th
of l\'Iay, 1878.

The personal appearance of John Williams was prepos­
sessing. ,In his youth his hair was black, his eyes a light­
blue or gray, and beaming with benevolence and intelli­
gence. He was quite six feet in height, and weighed
about two hundred. In those times the military spirit
ran high, and a man with such a ph)"sique, with a spirit
adorned with chivalric courtesy, would of necessity attract
the attention and regard of his comrades.

'Vhile but a boy he was chosen captain of a company,
and by regular promotion obtained the title of colonel in
the cavalry regiment of the district of which,this county
was a part. In the athletic sports that characterized the
musterings of that regiment he had no rival. One feat
was to stand erect under a cord that .was held steady by
two assistants, so that it just touched the top of his head,
and then, stepping backward one full pace, to jump over
the cord without touching, and with no help but his
agility. Yet with such strength and activity, to his honor
be it said, he never used these fine powers in a single in­
stance to mar or injure his fellows. .

On the 25th of September, 1832, his daughter Louisa
was born. She was educated at College Hill, Ohio, anrl
in 1865 was marl'ied to the Hon. L. W'. Bishop, of Batavia,
Ohio, concerning whom more appears elsewhere. In his
thirty-third year he resigned his commission in the militia,
and gave his attention for the rest of his life to a business
that was alike useful and profitable,-improving and deal­
ing in real estate. He was employed in teaching several
years, and was almost continuously a director of local
schools, but he ever after refused to contest for political
positions.

The 4th of November, 1836, was the birthday of his
son Leander, who died on the 29th of March, 1842.

In 1837 he joined the Milford Lodge of the Masonic
fraternity. At Goshen an~ Williamsburgh he was-by
election, frequently unanimous-" oft honored wi' supreme
command." He presided over the order with a grace; dig­
nity, and accuracy seldom equaled or excelled. It is the
testimony of his brethren that he never inculcated a maxim
or gave a precept that he did not himself honestly try to
observe and practice.

In 18-10 he be'came a member of the Baptist Church, in
which he continued till his death. In his faith there was
nothing narrow. His whole life was moral and upright.
Even when on the river his conversation was never dis­
graced by profanity.

Near East Liberty, on the 22d of April, 1843, 'his son
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Byron was born, who received a collegiate education at the
Ohio 'Vesleyan University, since which he has been a dili·
gent student of classical reading, besides being engaged in
manufacturing intercsts in Williamsburgh. B.yron took an
active part in forwarding the Cincinnati and Eastern Rail­
road enterprise. He was one of the incorporators of that
company, and was the author of many arguments in its
favor that found ready publication, and was a liberal sub­
scriber to its stock. He has been employed five years as
principal of the Williamsburgh schools, and is at present
Master ot' Clermont Social Lodge, No. 29, F. and A. M.
He has been an active member of the board of educatiolJ
of Williamsburgh, and of the board of councilmen. He
has inherited a fair share of his father's public spirit, and
possesses abilities fitting him for a high position in life.
In 1866 he married Kate Park, second daughter of John
Park and Elizabeth Wright, whose ancestors on both sides
came from Virginia. She was born on the 15th of Sep­
tember, 1846. Their daughter Ella was born on the 21st
of December, 1867, and their son Dion was born on the
15th of December, 1809.

In 1846, John Williams moved to Goshen, Ohio, and in
1847 he erected the fine brick fhrm-house, one mile north­
east of that town on the pike, at the junction of the Blan­
chester road.

Here his daughter Luella was born, Oct. 18, 1851, and
died Feb. 17,1853, and here he became identified with the
affairs of that locality, and lived as became a man of his
means until 1859, when he removed to Williamsburgh
township. In 1862-63 he completed the substantial resi­
dence on the northwest corner of Front and Gay Streets,
in Williamsburgh, where he ended his days, and where his
widow and son's family now reside.

During the civil wllr he was generally called upon to pre­
side over the meetings of the citizens. He was chairman
of the township relief committee, to which he contributed
most liberally. He also presided over the deliberations
for clearing the township of the draft, towards which he
gave more than auy other in the township. He was char­
itable in feeling and act, but he did not sound it abroad.
The predominant trait of his character was benevolence.
A close obsenTer, who knew him well, says, " I always con­
sidered him the best liver I ever knew. By that I mean
that he enjoyed life and the good things that belong to it,
such as home and friendships, and plenty to make both
agreeable, without envy or bitterness towards anyone, but
with a ~atisfaction that was glad and pleasing." He pos­
sessed a good memory and a fund of anecdotes that made
him an entertaining companion. While quick in repartee,
he was always careful to avoid painful reflections. _

He was scrupulously exact in all his dealings with his
fellows. As u. creditor he was always lenient, though ask­
ing. no favors for himself: One thing he always spoke of
with gratitude:-that he was never asked for a dollar he
owed that he was not able at once to pay.

Thus with honor, love, and friends he was cheerfully
passing into a beautiful old age, with form erect and step
still elastic, when the end came. His daughter Louisa and
family, with the home inmates, had spent several delightful
hours with him on the afternoon of ,..March 21, 1876. In

a few minutes after her departure, while seated in -his easy­
chair, just as the sun set, an attack of neuralgia of the
heart forever stilled its throbbings.

He was buried with the gone-before of his family in the
Stonelick township cemetery, where a monument like his
character-firm and enduring-bears this epitaph:

"Esteemed for integrity, beloved for generous friendship, and en­
deared to all by his constant charity, he lived long as a useful citizen,
a loving husband, a tender father, and at last met sudden death with
Christian fllith."

ABBIE C. McKEEVER.

Of the many stars tha.t Clermont County has added to
the political, theological: educational, and poetical firma­
meots of the country none have shown with greater bril­
liancy'in the latter than Abbie C. McKeever, the acknowl­
edged successor of Phoobe Carey. She was born near "Tith­
~msville, Clermont Co., Ohio, Dec. 12, 1852, and is the
elder of a fhmily of two children,-one daughter and a son.
Her ancestors on the paternal side were Scotch-Irish, who
settled in Virginia in the early part of the eighteenth cen­
tury, and have been noted ever since for their integrity,
industry, and hospitality.

In 1833, Paul McKeever, her grandfather, settled near
Withamsville. No family in the county has risen higher
in the agricultural scale than his. To this their broad
acres, the manner in which they. are tilled, the fine stock
found grazing in their pastures, and the neat and tasteful
buildings are living witnesses. On the maternal side they
are the historical Temple family, a portion of which came
from England in 1634, and settled near Bath, in Maine, of
which she is a direct descendant. Probably no family in
the United States, certainly none in England, has produced
so many prominent men and women. The proposition that
the mother moulds the mind of the child is certainly ex­
emplified in her.

She is the daughter of John D. McKeever an'd Clarinda
(Temple) McKeever, and granddaughter, on the maternal
side, of Nathaniel and :Mary (Bmdbury) Temple.

III early youth she gave evidence of poetical ability,
writing at the age of thirteen" Little Willie," a poem of
merit, which was published in the county papers at that
time. From 1865 till 1876 she contributed many poems
to the county papers, which were well received by the pub­
lic. In 1876 she attended the National Normal School, at
Lebanon, Ohio, where she established an enviable reputa­
tion as a writer of prose and poetry. In 1877, " Hidden
Wings," an epic poem of great beauty and s~rength, ap­
peared in one of the prominent magazines, and placed her
among its leading poets. Soon after" An Old Maid,"
"Drift Away," and" Runaway Ted" were published in the
leading magazines and papers of the country. She has
also written a great many lyrical poems, which have been
set to music and have appeared in many of the song­
books now published. She is author in manuscript of
" Hidden Wings and Other Poems," which will be pub­
lished during the coming year by a large house in the
West.

Her rich imagery, simplicity of style, chaste language,
and knowledge ot' rural life has given her poems an attrac-
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tiveness not excelled by those of Phoobe or Alice Carej.
Not content with her achievements in poesy, she turned her
attention to fiction in 1879.

The following is a partial list of serials, which were pub­
lished in the Modern Argo, National ~Montldy, Fi1'eside
Companion, Star Journal, New Yorlc 'Weelcly, and Oltio

,Home and Trade Journal, viz., "Pennies and Dimes,"
"Cast Out," "Uncrowned King," and" The Teacher's
Trial," together with a number of sketches, and are now
among their published contributions. In this department of
literature her knowledge of human nature, power of de­
lineating character, facility of expression in good language,
large sympathy, and ideality make her a success. In per­
son she is of medium size, with fair complexion, brown
hair and eyes, which sparkle with native genius, and a
semi-aquiline nose, with thin nostrils and· lips, makes her
personal appearance prepossessing. In addition to her pre­
liminary education in the district school of her father's
neighborhood and the vViIliamsburgh Academy, she at­
tended the famous" Parker's Academy," at Clermontville,
the most thorough training institution in the West for mental
discipline. Her brother 'William's genius inclines as much
to music as hers does to poetry, and his musical powers
are wonderful. For three years past she has been a regular
contributor to the FiI'eside Companion, published in New
York by George Munro, and for the Saturday Jow'nal,
of Beadle & Adams, of New York, as well as the Public
School .Journal and Saturday Herald of Indianapolis, and
Lf!ballon Gazette. . Many of' her best writings have graced
the columns of the Cincinnati press, and attracted most
favorable attention and criticism. Her sweet songs, written
for Professor W. H. Burgett, the noted music composer,
have greatly added to he.r celebrity as a poetess. One of
the grandest of her lyrics, which has won her a golden rep­
utation in the literary world, was "Drift Away," which we
give:

"Drift away, oh clouds of amber,
Crim~on-Iined, in billowy mass;

Drift away in silent foot~teps;

I shall watch you as you pass.
I shall watch you-yes, and love you­

For the beauty that you gave,­
Beauty dying in the twilight,

Like the lilies on his grave.

" Drift away to unknown heavens,
Crimson clouds along the west,

But remember tbat. you're bearing
In your downy amber breast

Hopes that whisper softly to him
Of a love that never dies,­

Love that tires of waiting lonely
Ere the eall to other skies.

" Drift away, oh elouds of sunset,
Purple with the later light;

See '! the stars are all about you,­
Diamond eyes of early night.

Drift away; but while you're passing
Bear this mes~age up to him,

That the earthly skies that fold me
Soon ~hall part and let me in."

Another beautiful gem of hers which added to the many
laurels she gathered at the hands of our brightest critics,
and gave her a distinguished name in America's galaxy o(
poetic writers, is " Only" :

" Only a golden token,
Tied with ribbon blue;

Only a promise broken,
Darling, by you.

"Only a life made dark
All the weary way;

Only an aching heart
Throbbing to-day.

., Only a happy dream
In the early light;

Only a bitter stream
}?Iowing by night.

" Only a touching prayer
For the strength that lies

Far from the world and care,
Far beyond the skies."

In her" Drift Away" a very delicate fancy is expressed,
in which there breathes the subtle prescience of the wider
life to which her womanhood would be given. Her poems
are full of exquisite beauty, and indicate rich natural power,
and stimulated as she is by careful culture, her-rank will be
high among our poets. No writer of little tender songs in
Ohio has given us lines that in pathos are more delicate,
imaginative, and responsive than :Miss Abbie McKeever, of
Clermont. Full ot' tender feeling, her writings are grace­
ful and laden with perfume and melody. Her rhymed
pict~res are true to nature and the heart, are very fine and
spiritual,. indicative of the delicate power of the woman.
Characterized by fine taste and high sentiment, she strikes
chords of lyric power that beat in 'sweet unison with the
longings of' the heart, and absorb something of the sun­
shiny beauty of her own fuir State, and give it out in song,
Touched with the sacred fire, her verses breathe poetic sen­
sibility, and her rhythmic outpourings have sunk deep into
the hearts and affections of the people. Miss McKeever is
a woman of genius, and we do not pay her a compliment,
but do her justice. A striking instance of genius in the
poet is the intense compression of his style; and in her wri­
tings there is no laborious detail, nothing of the agony of
inefficient art. She has ordained thought to be an expres­
sion, and this is the imperial altitude of genius. Hence
her pictures are drawn with few strokes, and her book of
poems and prose works, yet to be published, will be warmly
received by the public, and add much to American litera­
ture.

LEWIS l\1cKEVER.

The name of McKever for the past quarter of a century
in Clermont County has' };leen associated with farming,
stock-raising, and stock- and grain-trading to a large extent,
and the four brothers of this familJ were not only well and
favorably known in this county, but also on 'Change and·
among the business men of Cincinnati and Southern Ohio
generally. Owning broad acres of splendid lands, with
handsome residences, and trading in real estate, horses,
hogs, an~ grain, their dealings were very extensive, and
characterized by that sense of honor and propriety for
which they are noted, and which, with their ability and
cool judgment, formed the basis of the success that has at­
tended their career. About the year 1833, Paul McKever
emigrated.from Virginia, whcre he was born, with his wife,
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whose maiden name was Nancy Duckwall, and located at
Batavia, stopping with his wife's brother, Daniel Duckwall,
who had settled there eighteen years before, and who was
the father of the four Duckwall brothers,-l\Ioses H.,
Ezekiel D., George \V., and John 'V., now living near the
county-scat. To Paul and Nancy (Duckwall) McKever
were born ten children, to wit, four sons-Lewis, John D.,
Isaac, Emanuel-and six daughtcrs,-Virginia, married to
JamesT. Nash; Amanda, married to George Smith; Mar­
tha, married to John McN~tt; Lucy, married to John Hut­
chins; Cynthia, married to John C. Curry; and Hachel,
married to William Hall. Paul McKevcr was a man of
strong common sense and ~ood judgment, while his wife,
with the noted characteristics of her (Duckwall) family,
was a noble help-mate to him in the bat.tle of life, and from
such a worthy couple sprang children of iron wills and
res'llute purpose. J.Aewis :McKever was born Oct. 4, 1820,
in Vir~inia, and was married Nov. 28, 1853, ncar Parkers­
burg, Montgomery Co., Ind., by Rev. Cornelius Swank, of
the )fethodist Episcopal Church, to Emily Nicholas,
daughter of Charles and Ruth Nicholas. 1\11'. McKever
died SPpt. 2, 1877, in the fifty-seventh year of his age; his
widow, born July 16, 1840, still survives him'and resides
on the estate. The children born to Lewis and Emily
(Nicholas) McKever are Charles P., born Sept. 4, 1855;
James E., born Feb. 18, 1856; 'Villiam E., born Oct. 9,
1857; and Erastus C., born June 18, 1861. Of these,
Charles P. McKever was married to J annie Creager, Dec.
29, 1878, and James E. McKever was married Sept. 4,
1879, to Annie Stewart. His splendid farm, occupied now
by his widow and children, lies on the water:; of the East
Fork of the Little Miami River, one and three-fourths miles
from the old and enterpri:dng town of \Villiamsburgh, and
is situated in Jones' original survey, one thousand acres,
entry No. ~48. This beautiful farm comprises some two
hundred and seventy-seven acres, and, like the adjoining
lands of the brothers of the deceased, is among the best
and choicest in the county, rich in fertility, and adapted to
all productions. Mr. McKever in 1871 erected a spacious
and commodious residence, and this mansion-house, with
fine surroundings, attracts the eye of the passer-by, and
denotes the taste of its former owner and of his excellent
wife, who, as his life companion, presided over it with truo
dignity and courtesy. 1\11'. McKever was a dutiful son,
a confiding brothel', a loving husband, a kind father, and
a business man, like his brothers, of unimpeachable in­
tegri~y. A good citizen and a respected neighbor, he was
alive to all public enterprises, and in him the poor and dis­
tressed found succor in their adversit.y. He and his three
brothers lived in perfect harmony, and their extensive busi­
ness relations were never marred by discord. Their unity

of feeling and thought became a matter of public .notoriety,
and the word of either was held in as good repute as his
written bond. There are but few filmilies in the county in
which such concol'd prevails as in that of L:Hvis McKever.
His sons, Charles P., James Eo, William E., and Erastus
C., with their families, all reside at the homestead and con­
duct the farm and the general business in the most filial
manner and with gl'eat success.

O. H. HARDEN.

Orlando Hopkins Harden, of Williamsburgh township,
was born March 24, 1832, and was the son of John and
Mary (Dole) Hardon. His parents had the following chil­
dren: Elliott S. (deceased), Alice (married first to Van
Rose Cox, and second time to John Dickinson, of Iowa),
Algernon, Milton V., Orlando H(\pkins, John 1\1., George
-'V., Joseph H., Mary E. (died aged eight years). About
the beginnin~ of tho century John Harden, father of the
subject of this sketch, came with his father, Peter Harden,
from New Jersey and settled near Maywood Station, and
were among the first settlers in that vicinity. John HarJen
died in 1840, and his wife, :Mary (Dole) Harden, in March,
1857. She was the daughter of Joseph Dole, one of the
first and most respected pioneers, also an emigrant from
New Jersey. O. H. Harden was reared on a farm and
educated in the district schools of this county, among tho
best in the State. He was married Nov. 8, 1857, by Rev.
James Armstrong, to Miss Eliza Jane Duckwall, daughter
of John Duckwall, and granddaughter of Rev. Lewis
Duckwall, an early sottler and emigrant from ViI·ginia.
The fruits of this union are the .following children: Irene
G., :Myrtie K., Vellie A., Livingston, and Wray. About
1854, Mr. Haraen received the first three degrees of
Masonry in Clermont Social Lodge, F. and A. jYL, No. 29,
of which he is still a member, and subsequently tho·capitu­
lar degreos of Mark, Past, 1\10st Excellent Master, and
Royal Arch Mason in Batavia Chapter, No. 112, to which
he yet belongs. In 1870 he was elected land-apprui~er of'
Williamsburgh township; in 1877 he was chosen magistrate,
and re-elected in spring of 1880, in whioh capacity he is
still acting. He has also filled other township offices, and
has been some twelve years a member of the township school
board. He was one of the incorporators of the Cincinnati
and Eastern Railway, and has been one of its directors
from its organization. In it he is a large stockholder, and
was largely instrumental in soliciting stock and securing
the road. Mr. Harden is one of the principal farmers in
his township, and his residence is two miles south of Wi!­
liamsburgh, on the East Fork of. Little l\~iami River.
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TAT E.

TATE is one of the border townships, Brown Connty
being its eastern bourrdary; on the south arc Franklin and
Washington townships; on the west ~Ionroe and Batavia;
and on the north is Williamsburgh. Tate was erected from
the latter township in 1805, and embraces at present 28,961
acres of land,-an area larger than any other township in
the county. The general surface is table-land, but slightly
broken along the streams, except in the northwestern part
of the township, where are some abrupt hills along the
water-courses. The surface was originally heavily timbered
with dense forests of white-oak, maple, beech, and poplar,
the former being t.he most prevalent wood. Much of the
forest growth has been removed, and more than two-thirds
of the land has been brought under cultivation. The soil
is variable and somewhat light in some localities, but is
usually fertile enough to produce the staple crops, and ap­
pears to be well adapt.ed for fruit and tobacco culture, to
which considerable attention has been directed of late.
Tate is well watered by numerous springs which form small
streams, most of them tributary to the East Fork of the
Little Miami, which washes part of the northern soil of the
township. The principal streams are Clover and Poplar
Creeks, and Town, Sugar-Tree, and Ulrey's Runs, all having
a general northerly course. On some of' them were for­
merly good mill-sites, but as the country was cleared up the
volume of water became too small to render them longer
profitable; along them are also fertile little meadows, which
rendered them attractive in the eyes of the early settlers,
and here, in most cases, the

TATE PIONEERS

began to rear their humble dwellings and hew out small
garden-patches. It is difficult to determine, from the
meagre and contradictory accounts available, who was the
first settler of Tate; but it is probable that the beginning
of the work of transforming the forest wilds into what
should be its present fruitful condition was at and around
Bethel, and we here give short sketches of the pioneers of
that and other localities of the township.

At Bethel Obed Denham purchased a tract of land,
1500 acres in extent, on which he settled on the year 1797.
He was a native of Virginia, but came here directly from
Kentucky. He was a man of strong convictions, and dis­
liking slavery, came to the then newly-consecrated territory
of freedom with his fa...uily and kin, and having consider­
able means, was one of the prominent figures of the early
history of the county. His home was just beyond the
northwest limits of Bethel, where he died in 1817; his
wife, Mary, deceased the following year, at the age of sixty­
six years. They had sons named Timothy, who died in the.
township; John, who was a mill-owner; James, who lived

40

a mile. northwest of the village, but moved to Illinois many
years ago; Obed Eo, who lived north of the village until
his death. Of his daughters, Charity married Jeremiah
Beck, and Sarah, D~l.vis Crane. Rev. John Denham, a
brother of Obed, lived on the same survey (No. 2373), in
the eastern part. He was a Baptist preacher and a very
old man when he came here, dying not many years after.
His history, consequently, is poorly recollected. One of
his sons was also called James, and from the fact of his
being a very tall man was usually called" Long Jim."
Rebecca, a daughter of Rev.•John Denham, became the
wife of Levi Beck. At one time the Denhams were very
numerous in Tate, but by death and removal the number of
the descendants has become very few, and the name now
seldom occurs.

Jeremiah Beck came from Kentucky about the same
time as the Denhams, and lived east of Bethel. He was
also an aged man at the time of his s~ttlement, and was
the father of John Beck, who was killed by the Indians in
Kentucky; of Jeremiah, Samuel, Levi, and Stephen Beck;
of Hannah Beck, the wife of Stephen Frazee; Ruth, the
wife of William Goble; and Sarah, the wife of Kelley
Burke. The oldest son, Jeremiah, was widely known as
'Squire Beck. He was married to Charity Denham, and
lived on the present McMurchy farm, south of Bethel. He
had sons,-John, who died on the homestead j Calvin, who
still resides in that neighborhood j Hiram, who lived north
of Bethel j and Dr. Oliver, who died in Iowa. His daugh­
ters became the wives of Richard Pemberton and-­
Headley. Samuel Beck, the second son, lived one mile
west of Bethel, until his removal to Indiana. He was the
father of Dr. Morris Beck, of Samuel, Joseph, Dianah,
Ruth, and Emily Beck. Levi, the third son, was a weaver
by trade, but afterwards engaged in carpentry. He was
the husband of Rebecca Denham, and lived at Bethel until
1808, when he settled on the New Richmond road, two
miles from the village. Of his sons, John D. has deceased;
and William S. and Jeremiah M. yet live south of Bethel.
Stephen, the fourth son, married Hannah West, and many
years ago removed to Iowa. 'His place of settlement was
west of Bethel.

The Crane brothers-Davis, Luther, and Sears-and
their sister Sarah came from New Jersey before 1800,
and settled on the present Grange farm. Davis served in
the war of 1812, and aft-er his return married Sarah Den­
ham. He sold the old farm to Rev. Timothy Edwards,
and cleared out another just west of Bethel, where he died
in 1872, at the age of eighty-four years, and his son,
George W., now occupies the homestead. Other sons were
Barton and Lafayette, deceased or removed. Sears Crane,
after living in the township a nu~be~· of years, moved to
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Illinois; and Luther Crane lived 011 Poplar Creek until
his death, whcll his fillllily moved to the salllc State.
Sarah Crane became the wife of James Denham. Abner
Crane, a half-brother of the above, came to Tate at a later
day, and settled on Poplar Creek, where he died. He had
sons named Benjamin, Oliver, and John, the latter yet re­
siding in the township j a daughter married Samuel Sims,
but both have deceased.

Kelley Burke was married to Sarah Beck, Aug. 22,
1794, in Mason Co., Ky., and three years later immigrated
to .Bethel, settling near the old cemetery, in what was at
that time a fine sugar-bush. He was in his day a promi­
nent business man, and died Oct. 16, 1830. Mrs. Burke
survived until Nov. 25, 1809, when she departed this life,
in her ninety-fourth year, seventy-three of which she was
a de,oted member of the Baptist Church, and was one of
the original members at Bethel, where her husband was
one of the first deacons. Of their twelve children, eleven
grew to mature years, namely: John, married Katie Bennett
in 1815, and lived two miles north of the village j James

'1\1., married Catherine Edwards, and died Oct. 21, 1834;
Kelley D., married Emily Hill, and died Nov. 19, 1848;
Elam, died 1839; Hubert D., moved to Brown County,
where he died; Dr. HilIas Burke, died May 24, 1848;
:Margaret became the wife of' Judge David Hillas, of Indi­
aua; Abi, of John HiIlas, of California; Hannah, the sec­
ond wife of Randolph Sinks, and yet lives at Bethel; and
Sarah, of J. C. Harmon, of Georgetown. Capt. Orville
Burke is a grandson of Kellcy Burke, and is at present an
attorney at Bethel. For meritorious service as a volunteer
in the Rebellion he was promoted to a captaincy, and at
the close of the war became a captain in the regular army,
first of infantry and later of cavalry, his last commission
being issued by President Grant. Under the order reduc­
ing the army, in 1871, he received an honorable muster-out.

Houton Clarke, a native of Yorkshire, England, but
subsequently a resident of Kentucky, cume to Tate before
1800, and two years later opened the first licensed tavern
in Bethel. For many years he was a justice of the peace,
and in his time a prominent man. He died in 1834. Of
his family of seven children, Reader 'Wright* was the most
prominent, Smith G. died at Bethel, and Joseph 1\1. resides
at Jefferson, Mo. The daughters married: Frances, Dr. S.
Y. Thornton; Eleanor H., Randolph Sinks; Sarah A.,
Charles H. Hunt; and Minerva, Dr. D. lU. Frazer, all
well-known men in the county.

Moses 'Warden, a saddler by trade and a Methodist local
preacher, was one of' tbe earliest citizens of Bethel, near
which place he died in 1859. He had sons named Ander­
son, Salathiel, Frank, and William; also several daughters.
He was the son-in-law of Samuel Nelson, oue of the earliest
settlers in the northern part of Tate, on the farm now owned
by "\Vm. Jden. Nelson also occasionally preached, but never
took a circuit. He removed to Illinois about 1830.

No family in Tate was better or more favorably known
than the Morris ·brothers. Their father was the Rev. Isaac
Morris, a Baptist minister, who was one of the early set­
tlers at Uolumbia, Ohio. He had nine sons and three

*See sketch else'!.here.

daughters: namely, John, Thomas, Benjamrn, David,
Daniel, Isaac, James, Joseph, Houton, Mal'y, Hannah,
and Hester. The three first nallled became citizens of
Tate, and Dayid a physician of note in 'Warren County.

John Morris was born at Reading, Pa., April 14, 1767.
In 1800 he came from Columbia to a farm two miles south
of' Bethel, on which he lived until his death, Oct. 5,1855.
In 18U7 he was appointed associate judge, and was gener­
ally called Judge Monis. He had three sons and three
daughters, who married: Ann, Robert Tweed; :Mary, Ed­
ward Frazier; and Eunice, Dr. ]~noch EIIsberry. Of his
sons, Dayid was the editor of the second paper published
in the county, and his life was Epent chiefly in '\VilIiams­
burgh and Batavia as an editor or an attorney. The second
son, John K., was born at Columbia, Ohio, Dec. 4, 1792,
and his boyhood days were chiefly spent on his father's
farm in Tate. After he had attained manhood he became
a merchant, and in 1825 was sent to the Legislature. In
1828 he united with the Bethel Baptist Church, and for .
more than forty years was a minister in that denomination.
He died Aug. 27, 1871, greatly esteemed. The third son
of Judge Morris, Thomas, died Sept. 21, 1822, aged
twenty-three years.

Benjamin Morris did not take up his residence in Tate
so early, coming in 1804. He was an attorney by pro­
fession, but was :oever very active in practice. He died
Sept. 22, 1861, aged seventy-five years and eleven months.

Thomas Morris, the most illustrious of the three brothers,
became a resident of Tate the same year (1804), moving
here from 'Villiamsburgh, to which place he went from
Columbia in 1800. There he was married in 1796 to
Rachel Davis, being at that time in the twenty-first year
of his age. His life and services are detailed elsewhere in
this book. Senator Morris died on his farm near Bantam,
Dec. 7, 1844, and Rachel, his wife, Jan. 16. 1852. They
both quietly repose in the old cemetery at Bethel. They
had five sons and six daughters, as follows: Jonathan D.,
born at Columbia in 1798, and died at Connersville, Ind.,
in 1875, who was a member of Congress from 1847 to 1851 ;
Thomas J.~ a long-time postmaster and justice of the peace
at Bethel; Rev. Benjamin F., a di~tinguished Presbyterian
clergyman; Isaac, lawyer and ex-Congressman, at Quincy,
Ill. ; Lucien B., died in 1862, aged twenty-three years; Lydia,
married to Daniel Hankins, merchant at Williamsburgh, and
died in 1823; Julia, married to the venerable John G.
Rogers, of New Richmond, and died in 1828; Amanda,
married to Charles White, and died at Georgetown, in
1834; Sidney, married to Dr. W. B. Chipley, of Missouri;
Rachel, married to Lawyer J. T. Crapsey, of Cincinnati;
and Viola, married to C. A. Warren, of Quincy, IlL, and
died in 1842. But few of the immediate descendants of
Thomas ~Iorris now reside in Tate.

Benjamin Frazee came from Kentucky about 1800, and
s~ttled first in the village, but afterwards moved to the Little

. Indian Creek settlement, where he died at an advanced age.
He had sons named Stephen, Jacob, John, and Abel, and
two daughters. One was the Widow Musgrove, who came
to the county with her father, bringing two sons, James R.
(at that time two years of age, and who has since resided
in the township, being now one of the oldest citizens) and
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Joshua, who removed to Illinois. Th~ other daughter of
Frazee married 'Villiam South.

Aaron Osborne moved to Tate from Pennsylvania in
1799, settling just inside the village of Bethel. He moved
to Indiana, where he died in 1874, at the age of ninety-six
years. In the war of 1812 he served in Capt. Brady's
company. Of his three sons and five daughters, Nathan
died in Indiana; David still resides at Bethel, where he was
born in 1807, and where, since 18~7, he has followed the
undertaker's trade, interring in that period more than 4000
persons; Frazee was killed by lightning in Illinois in 1852.
1'he daughters married William 'Vind, J olm Hillis, \Villiam
Tompkins, George ,Y. Elrod, and T. L. Tinsley.

Barzilla Osborne, a brothel' of .Aaron,·was a laborer in.
the village. In his family occurred the first birth in Bethel,
-Mary,-who received li'om Obed Denham a gift of a town
lot, which is now owned by J. A. Perrine. Osborne moved
to the \Vest at an early day,

In the family of the Rev. :l\Ioses Hutchins, who was
amoug the early pioneers of Tate as the Baptist minister,
occurred the birth of the fhst male child in Bethel. He
received the name of James, and his village lot is at present
the property of Chris. Zugg.

Michael Ellsberry, a native of North Carolina, camp. to
Tate in 1805, sc:ttling two miles southwest of Bethel, to
which place he moved in 1815, and where he died about
twenty years ago. He reared a family of eight ehildren,­
five sons and three daughters,-as follows: John, yet living
in the village; Dr. William, for more than forty years a
physician at Bethel; Dr. Andrew .M., yet living at George­
town; and Franklin, died at Xenia. One of the daughters,
Sarah, became the wife of William Fee, of Monroe town­
ship.

Dr. Enoch Ellsberry, a brother of Michael, came to Tate
the same time, but moved to Brown County, where he died.
They had two sisters, one of whom, Nancy, married George
West, of \Yilliamsburgh, and Polly, William Young, of
Kentucky.

The same year Jacob Boulware, a native of Pennsylva­
nia, settled Ileal' Bethel, where he died ill 1833. His sons,
named John, James, Jacob, William, Benjamin, Abram,
Joseph, Hiram, Andrew, and Firman, lived in Tate and
\Yilliamsburgh, but at present none survive, although many
descendants remain. John Boulware met his death acci­
dentally by the falling of a tree, and was interred in a
grave which he himself had dug a few days before for a
person in the eastern part of the township, whose friends
decided not to bury at Bethel, thus leaving the grave
unoccupied.

In 1800, James South, from New Jersey, settled on the
Felicity road, a mile south of Bethel, where he died some
time' about 1840. He had sons,-William, who died on the
homestead; Benjamin, who was a tanner, and returned to
New Jersey; Isaac, who was a hatter at Bethel until his
death; David removed to the \Vest; John was killed by a
falling tree; Elijah, a brickmaker,. removed to the West;
James, the youngest son, died in Franklin township; Ke­
ziah married Hutchings Allen; Hannah, Nelson R. Bell;
Charlotte, John Quinlan; and Polly, Jesse Frazier.

On the farm now occupied by his grandson, Henry,

Henry \ViIlis settled before 1800, coming from Kentucky.
He was a handy worker in wood, and made many of the
wooden mould-boards used by the early settlers. His son
Jacob was a tanner and shoemaker at Bethel; Thomas
died on the homestead ; John was a carpenter, and died at
Williamsburgh; Dean removed to Indiana; and his daugh­
ters married George West, John Davis, Thomas Bredwell,
Mathew Laughlin, and Lemanda Parks. Henry Willis
died about 1830.
Ab~ut the same year Levi Hunt settled in this neighbor­

hood. His youngest son, Charles, was born in 1800, in
a deserted Indian camp, which the family occupied until
better accommodations could be provided. This son re­
moved to Illinois. Thomas, another son, was a gunsmith
of good reputation two and a half miles from Bethel; George
was a t:'1rmer in the same locality; and the daughters mar­
ried .Moses Bradbury and ,Vm. Crouch.

The latter was of Holland descent, but lived in Virginia
until 1795, when he went to Cincinnati. A few years later
he moved to Miami, and about 1800 to Tate, settling on
Poplar Creek. Here he died in 1849, at the age of seventy­
two years. William Crouch had five sons and four daugh·.
tm's, namely: Wilson B. and Thomas D., who died at
Georgetown, and Charles, yet living at that place; George
M., who married a daughter of Samuel Raper, and yet lives
in the southern part of Tate; Orlando H. died in 1851.
The daughters were married,~Martha to. Isaac Vanosdol, of
Tate; Rachel to David Hannah, of New Richmond; Lydia
t<> Isaac Frazier, of Tate; and Olive to Rev. Wright Riley,
who moved to Illinois.

One mile north from Bethel John and William Brown
settled about the beginning of the present century. Wm.
was a single man, and a millwright by trade; John, although
married, never had a family. Both were very worthy
cit,izens, and their place was one of the familiar landmarks
in pioneer times.

In the same neighborhood the Reed family were among
the first settlers.

Yelventon Bredwell, a native of Virginia, moved to Tate
from Kentucky in 1806, settling on the old Augusta road,
more than a mile from Bethel, where he died in 1814. or
a large family, a son, John, removed to Illinois; William,
a shoemaker by trade, yet lives near Bethel, in his eighty­
first year; Thomas, living on the homestead; Collins re­
moved to Illinois; and Hawkins died in the township. The
daughters married,-Elizabeth, Thomas Hunt; Sarah,
Robert Vanosdol (yet living, eighty-eight years old) ; Polly,
Jacob ·Willis; Levica, Brazie~ Higbee; and Fanny, John
Bricker.

Oakey Vanosdol, who served in the Revolutio~.ary war
and was for several years on the pension-list in Tate, came
from New Jersey in 1804 and settled on Popia~ Creek.
His sons were Oakey and Robert (who served in the war of
1812), James, Isaac, and Wright, and their desce~dants are
quite numerous in Tate and Williamsburgh.

In the same neighborhood, the same year, settled Levi
Tingley, also a Revolutionary soldier. In 1806 he com­
menced a small tanning b~siness, and carried it on until his
death, in 1832. Ris sons were Jacob and Benjamin. The
former died at sea. The latter served in the war of 1812,
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and for many years lived ncar Bantam, where he carried on
a tannery. In 1836 he moved to Indiana.

John Riley, a Baptist preacher, moved to Tate from
Kentucky in 1806, and after a number of years moved to
Illinois, where he died. Zachariah Riley, a wheelwright at
Bethel, came the same time. He died in March, 1877,
aged eighty-one years.

'William and Garrard Riley came to Tate at a later date,
and moved to Indiana many years ago. The sisters of the
above lllarried,-Elizabeth, Abraham Connery, and .Mary,
Oakey Vanosdol, both early settlers.

Another early settler from New Jersey was George
Swing. He secured a fine tract of land on the Ohio turn­
pike, west of Bethel, and lived on the farm now owned by
M. J. Swing until his death, when he was interred in the
Swing cemetery, on part of the homestead. He had sons
named Samuel, who lived in Tate until his death, when his
family removed to the West; Lawrence, who married the
daughter of David Light, and died in Tate on the farm yet
owned by the family (he was the father of Judge George
L. Swing, of Batavia); Michael, who married a daughter of
Philip Gatch and moved to J\.1iami township, where he be­
came the father of Judge Philip B. Swing; 'Vesley, who mar­
ried Nancy Crane, and living on the homestead until his
death, reared five children, among them George W. and M.
J., of Bethel. George Swing had one daughter, .Mary, who
married Zachariah Riley, but both have deceased.

Thomas 'Vest, from Virginia, came to Tate soon after
1801, and bought a large tract southwest of Bethel, which
he divided among his children, and died there an old man.
Of his sons, George died in 'Villiamsburgh, John in Tate;
Hugh lived near Bantam, William on the homestead, and
James died in Pierce township. He was in the war of
1812, and was included among the men surrendered by Gen.
E ull, but effected his escape and reached the American lines
after much hardship. The daughters of Thomas West
married Samuel Bennett and Stephen Burke.

In this part of the township Hichard Pemberton was a
pioneer and reared sons Lewis, George, and 'Villiam, and
five daughters, all yet living.

In the southern pai't of Tate, Robert Carr, a Virginian,
settled in 1808, and died there in 1836, at the age of sixty­
six years. He had sons named Thomas, John, Hi'ram,
and Alexander, and daughters who married Michael Gray,
of Franklin ; Jared Brush, of the same township; Wm.
South, of Tate; T. W. Page, and A. N. Page.

Thomas Davis came from North Carolina to this part of
Tate in 1800, or soon after, and after his death his family
removed to the West. Joshua Davis came several years
later, and lived on the present Wm. Halse farm until. his
removal to Indiana.

John Hill, a native of Ireland, immigrated to Kentucky
,at an early day, but some time about 1800 removed to that
part of Brown County which is called the New Hope

'neighborhood. One of his sons, J'ames, has lived in Tate
since 1823, and is now in his eighty-fourth year; and one
of the daughters, Sarah, became the wife of Dr. Wm.
Thompson, of 'Bethel.

On the 23d of June, 1771, John Boggess was born in
Burton Co., Va. In 1802 he removed to Tate, settling in

what is known as the Pin-Hook neighborhood, wllere he
died in 1840. He was a surveyor, and held many public
trusts. Of his family, Samuel died in 1832, and John in
1869; Jane married Geor~Rt, of Tate; Elizabeth,
Wm. Frazier, of the same~ section; and Ann, David Alt­
man, of Tate, and is the only surviving member -~f- the
family, but many descendants remain.

Wilhelm Altman, of 'Vestmoreland Co., Pa., came to .
Tate in 1815, and died near Mount Olive in 1850. Mrs.
Altman (Barbara Ann Swope) died about five years later.
Of their children, George P. removed to Indiana; Daniel
yet resides in Tate, near 'Vigginsville; Michael died in
'Vashington township; John at Felicity; Joseph at Nich-

,olsville; Dl·. Nicholas S. near Mount Olive; William re­
moved to Indiana. The daughters married,-Christiana~

John Gray; Eva, Dr. Alvin Corley; Polly, Lewis Morgan;
Sarah, John Gibbs; and Barbara Ann, Ira Dillman.

_Near the Altman place, on the farm now owned by his
son Stephen, Jared Parrish settled about 1800, and also
had a filmily of thirteen members,-sons named (besides
Stephen) Benjamin, Jared, Samuel, 'William, and John, the
latter four dying in Tate. The daughters were named
Kittie, Nancy, Miranda, Matilda, Susanna, Polly, and
Rachel.

The Wharton family, in the adjoining township of Wash­
ington, also had thirteen members, making this in some
respects a peculiar neighborhood.

'Vm. Frazier removed from Kentucky to Tate soon
after 1800, and settled near John Boggess, in the Wig­
ginsville neighborhood, where some of the descendant~ yet
live. He had sons named Edward, who was a saddler at
Bethel, but after being elected sheriff moved to Batavia;
John was a trader on the river, but died on the homestead,
where, also, William and Jesse deceased; James was a
trader on the Ohio, but finally lived at Williamsburgh ;
Isaac and Thompson removed to the West. Polly became
the wife of James Hill, of Wigginsville; Nellie of Mer­
rick McLain; Sarah of Garrard Riley; and Ann of John
Kennedy.

In 1788, James CalIon left his native State, Pennsyl­
vania, to become a citizen of Kentucky. In 1808 he came
to Franklin township, and two yeai's later to his final settle­
ment in the southern part of Tate, where he departed this
life in 1857, at the age of eighty-nine years. He was with
Mad Anthony in his campaign, serving as a spy, and was
one of the hundred men sent out to divert the attention of
the Indians, who followed this small detachment five miles,
killing but eight men. CalIon was an associate of Kenton,
and often accompanied him in his'forays against the In­
dians, always being brave and intrepid. Of his family of
five sons and five daughters, William and Robert re~oved

to Indiana; James and John died in Tate; and Samuel,
the youngest, yet lives in the township; Rachel married
R,obert Carr; Keziah, Christ. Zimmerman; and Jemima,
Morgan Ford.

Robert Wells came from Kentucky in 1807, and settled
in the southern part of Tate, dying on the farm now owned
by 'Villiam Wells more than forty years ago, at the age of
eighty-four years. He had served in the war for American
independence. He reared a large family, all the members
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having deceased, The sons were Aar~n, Solomon, Isaac,
Nathan, and Jesse, who removed to Indiana; John died
in Williarnsburgh, and Robert and Eli on the homestead.
One of the daughters, Anna, became the wife of James
CalIon.

Mordecai Winters, a native of Virginia, after living a
fe~ years at Lexington, Ky., settled in the southern part
ofWilliamsburgh before 1800; but shortly afterwards located
in the southern part of Tate, where he died at the l'esidence
of his son William, who secured a tract of 800 acres of
lanu here. The'latter died in 1862, and the place is now
occupied by his son Wesley, who has lived here nearly
seventy-five years. Other sons of 'William Winters were
John, Robert, Washington, and William, all deceased. The
daughters married Garland Anderson, Rev. Henry Whar­
ton, Henry Harvey, and William Black. James Winters,
a brother of William, lived on Clover Creek, where he
reared a large f:'lmily:

Near 1800, Jacob H. Stultz, from Pottsville, Pa., settled
in the southern part of Tate, where he died about 1828.
His wife was a native of Virginia, and survived him until
1848, dying at the age of ninety-one years. They had
sons,-Henry removed to Brown County, where he died
at the age of eighty-four; Adam, killed at Fort Meigs, in
the war of 1812 j John, also in the American army in
1812 and at Lundy's Lane, settled near his father, and at
his decease left two children j Jacob died on attaining man­
hood j George died in Indiana at the age of sixty-three
years. Two of his sons, Levi and HeJ1ry F., yet live in
Tate, and two died in the army in the late war.

lo the extreme soutllwest of Tate the settlements were
made not very early. The most prominent settlers there
were members of the Salt TIlmily,-John and Edward,­
whose ~istory is given in Franklin township.

George J. Trautwine, a native of Virginia, came with
his grandfather, Col. Higgins, of Higginsport, .to Ohio in
1811, and in 1813 settled at Bethel, where he engaged in
merchandising. He died June 5, 1832, leaving an only
child, Laura, who became the wife of Col. Joseph A. Per­
rine, of Bethel. He had brothers, Nimrod aud Hannibal
Trautwine, who wcre also pioneers, and their sister Mary
became the wife of John K, Morris.

George Halse, a native of Devonshire, England, emi­
grated to America in 1818, landing at Philadelphia after a
voyage of nearly three months. In 1819 he came to
Neville, and the following year to Tate, to the farm now
owned by their son, William. He was a carpenter by trade,
and helped finish the first brick buildings in Felicity and,
devoting his earnings to the purchase of land, became a
large real-estate owner. He divided his land among his
son William, his grandson, George W. Halse, and his
three daughters, Mrs. Aaron Kennedy, Mrs. William S.
Beck, and Mrs. J. M. Beck. He died in 1865, in his
eighty~fifth year, greatly respected for his many good
qualities.

Jesse Justice, of New Jersey, wh.o had rendered good
service in the Revolution, purchased a tract of 700 acres
of land in the western part of Tate, on which he settled in
1806. He lived here until his death, in 1826, leaving a
family of five children settled around him. The eldest son,

John, lived on the present William Thomas place until his
removal to the South j the second son, Sabil, married Ru­
hama Blackman, and lived on the farm now occupied by
his widow until April 23, 1873, when he deceased j Sam­
uel, the third son, lived and died at Bethel; where' he was a
merchant. The youngest son, Robert, lived on the home­
stead until his death, a few years ago. .Other members of
the Justice family were Jesse and Catherine. A number
of the younger members of the Justice family yet reside
in Tate: James Blackman, the father of Ruhama Justice,
was a brother of Mrs. John Collins. He came to the
"Jersey Settlement" in 1816, but five years later removed
to Cincinnati.

The" Jersey Settlement" was founded by the Rev. John
Collins. As is elsewhere related,* he purchased a large
tract of land on the East Fork, in the northwest corner of
the present township of Tate, but part of which is now in
Batavia, on which he settled in 1803. In the spring of
that year the families of Collins, Cornelius l\IcCullom, Isaac
Higbee, and Edward Doughty started from New tTersey in
large wagons, crossing the mountains, and at Pittsburgh
bought a large boat, in which they descended the Ohio,
while the teams were sent overland in charge of the hired
men,-Robert Doughty, Peter and Joseph Frambes, and
Lucas Lake. After a tedious journey the boat landed at
Columbia in June, and they came up by Newtown and the
Witham settlement on a bluzed path of a ~oad to their new
lands, then an unbroken forest of magnificence and beauty.
There they found a cabin without a 'floor some hunters
had built, and in it they camped for a few days until they
erected their own cabins on their lands running from the
mouth of Clover Creek down the East Fork nearly four
miles. Mr. Collins got the lower division, including the
bend of the river making the grand, historic" Horse-shoe."
Here he resided the greater part of his life, dying at Mays­
ville, Ky., in 1845. Of the sons of John Collins, David,

. Learner, and Richard, the latter was the most noted, and
erected the large mansion which now stands on the Collins
place in Batavia. There were also daughters named Eliza­
beth, Alice, and Electa, the latter being the only surviv­
ing member of the family, living in Tate as Mrs. Col.
William Thomas, who was sheriff of the county from 1833
to 1837. In the course of the next ten years a dozen or
more families came from New Jersey and settled south of
the Collins farm, chiefly in Monroe, and for many years the
,: New Jersey Settlement" was one of the most widely
known in the county, nearly all of its members being char­
acterized for their thrift and ge!1eral intelligence.

On the farm settled by one of them (Thomas Page) oc­
curred an event which had much to do with the destiny of
the nation,-the marriage of the parents of Gen. U. S.
Grant. In the fall of 1818, John Simpson moved from
Montgomery Co., Pa" and settled on the Page place (which
he had purchased the year before), moving into n brick
house, part of which was erected in 1807 and fully com­
pleted in 1811, and which yet stands in a good condition.
Mr. Simpson was a man of intelligence, and bore an exccl­
lent l'eputation among his ncighbors. He died Jan. 20,

;;< See sketoh of Rev. John Collins.
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PROPERTY-HOLDERS IN 1826.

In the following carefully-prepared list may be found the
names of those who paid taxes on real and personal prop­
erty in the township in 1826. Prefixed to the names of
those who paid no personal taxes are asterisks, to indicate
that they were probably non-residents at that period. In
many instances persons thus marked found homes in Tate
soon after that date:

1837, in his seventieth year. His family consisted of Mary,
who married James Griffith, Jan. 29, 1813, in Pennsylvania,
and moved to Bethel ill 1817, where he carried on his trade,
blacksmithing, until his death. He was the father of John
S., Thomas, William L., R. 1\lcK., O. P., L. W., and A. R.
Griffith, and of daughters who married George B.Johnson
and'l\ Q. Ashburn, of Batavia.

The second daughter of John Simpson, Hannah, married
Jesse R Grant, June 24, 1821, at the Simpson homestead
in Tate, the Rev. Moses Edwards, a Baptist minister, per­
forming the ceremony. The fruits of this union were
Hiram Ulysses (later called Ulysses Simpson*), born April
27, 1822, Samuel Simpson, Orville J.J., Hachel C. (died
single), Virginia Payne (Mrs. A. L. Corbin), and Mary
Frances (l\Ir:;. 1\1. J. Cramer). Jesse R. Grant died at
Covington, Ky., but Mrs. Grant still lives with her
daughter, Mrs. Corbin, at Jersey City, N. J.

The fourth ·daughter of John Simpson, Ann, married
James Ross, also a Pennsylvanian, who calDe to Clermont
County in 1818, and who lived at Bethel until his death in
1849. 'fheir children wero Helen, Orlando H., and Mar­
cellus. The former married W. T. Burke (now of Ports­
mouth, Ohio), and at the breaking out of the war, in 1861,
U. S. Grant, Orlando H. Hoss, and W. T. Burke were all
serving as clerks in Grant & Co.'s leather-store, at Galena,
Ill. j and Ross, after holding many positions in the army,
was assigned to a position in the Treasury Department,
which he still holds. '

'fhe only son of .John Simpson is Samuel Simpson, who
married Elizabeth Griffith, and yet .Jives near Bantam, in
Tate, nearly eighty-four years of age. He reared two sons,
Hobert B., living in Cincinnati, and J olm, a captain in the
United States army, in New York. Of his five daughters,
Harriet E. is single j the others married William Elrod,
George S. Gatch, Benj. Winans, and 'Valter E. Burroughs.

About 1800 a fine tract of land on the west of Ulrey's
H.un was slightly improved by Daniel Teegarden, who sold
out to Andrew Pinkham, a sea-captain from Nantucket,
1\1ass., who calDe to Clermont during the war of 1812.
Captain Pinkham purchased 400 acres of land, and in
1824 erected thereon a spacious brick residence, which has
been a conspicuous landmark ever since. He died in 1840,
having reared a family of four sons, namely: Alexander,
who became a naval officer, and while in command of the
ship-yard at Portsmouth died about 1842 j Heuben was a
lieutenant in the navy, and died on board a frigate near
Valparaiso, S. A. Dr. Thomas, the third son, is a well­
known physician, living on the homestead at Bantam j and
·William, the youngest son, lives near Loveland, in Miami
township.

Soon after the settlement of Captain Pinkham, Timothy
and H.ichard Folger, also from Nantucket, located in this

.neighborhood. The former was an old man when he came
to the county, and the latter removed to Cincinnati after a

. few ycars. 1\1any other settlers found homes in the western
part of Tate, about this period, whose names appear in the
appended list of property-holders j and t hc names of others
appear in the differcnt church histol'ies and society sketches.

it See a sketch in this book of the liJe of Gen. Grant.

Altman, William, No. 761 ; Henry
1\'10ss, original proprietor.

Altman, Sn,muel, No. 762; John
Burton, originl11 proprietor.

Anthony, William.
Anthony, James.
Allen, Hutchings.
Abraham, George.
;;'Abr:thlLm, . John, No. 1762;

James Innes, orig. prop.
Beck, Levi, No. 2:H:~; John

. Breckenrillge, orig. prop.
Beck, Stephen, No. 2:17:1; John

Brecl\enridge, orig. prop.
Bredwell, .John.
Barr, "'illiam.
Bennett, SltU1uel.
Brinton, S:tmuel, No. 926; Rich­

ard C. Waters, orig. prop.
Brown, John.
Becl" Samuel, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Beck, Charity, No. 2:W3; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Burke, Kelley, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Bredwell, Thomas, No.2952; Am­

brose Dudley, orig. prop.
Blackman, James, No. 926; Rich-

ard C. Waters, orig. prop.
Boulware, Jneob.
Beebe, Josiah.
Beebe, Samuel.
Bredwell, Hawkins.
Brewer, Peter.
Blair, John.
Blair, Robert, No. 926; Richard

C. Waters, orig. prop.
Burke, J:tmes, No. 23n; Jolin

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Burke, John.
~ess,Samuel, No. 762; Henry
- Moss, original proprietor.
Blackwood, James, Ko. 928;

Thomas Parsons, orig. prop.
Barton, Edwards, Jr.
Breslen, James.
Barton, Benjamin, No. 926; Rillh.

C. Waters, orig. prop.
Boggess, John, No. 3206; Wm.
~vell, orig. prop.
Ballenger, James.
;*BrowlJ, Wm., No. 2.373: John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
*B1nir, Alcxa.nder, No. 926;

Rich. C. Waters, orig. prop.
;;'Bohne, Chnrlcs L., No. 946;

Baylor Hill, orig. prop.
;i'Dreslen, Archiballl, No. 2373;

John Breckel1l'idgc, orig. pl'.
Coffman, .John, No. 1826; Jas.

Innes, original proprietor.
Collins, John, No. 581; Philip

Clayton, original proprietor.

Cornwell, William, No. 2373;
John Brecl,enridge, orig. pl'.

Cornwell, Daniel.
Crane, D:wis, No. 2:{73; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Crane, Luther, No. 2373 ; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Carr, Robert, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Curlis, Asher.
Crouch, William, No. 2952; Am­

bro;c Dudley, orig. prop•
Callan, James, No. 762; Henry

Moss, original proprietor.
Cornwell, David, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Cordre, Jesse.
Cordre, Sylvanus.
Conover, John, No. 928; Thomas

Pierson, original proprietor.
Cook, Robert F., No. 928; Thos.

Pierson, original proprietor.
Carter, John S., No. 926; Rich­

ard C. Waters, orig. prop.
C1llLpmaIi, Benj.
Carter, Henry, No. 3513; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Cordrey, Samuel.
Clarke, Houton, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
*Carter, Joseph, No. 2938; Geo.

F. Strap, orig. prop.
;;'Carter, Thomas, No. 3551; R.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
;*Crnne, Abner, No. 2373; John

Breckenriugc, ol'ig. prop.
;*Colln, Hebecea, No. 928; 'fhos.

Pierson, origin:tl proprietor.
;;'C0 ffm un, Abraham, No. 1726;

James Innes, orig. prop.
r~Chl}plDan, Naawan, No. 366;

James Knox, orig. prop.
;*Chnpman, Zachariah, No. 351:~;

B.. C. Anderson, orig. prop.
Davis, Joshua.
Denham, James, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Dailey, Benjamin, No. 2373;

John Breckenridge, orig. pl'.
Dorrell, Redm:LD.
Donnelly, Wright.
Dale, Alexander, No. 3778; Bev­

erly Roy, orig. prop.
Daugherty, Joseph, No. 762;

Henry Moss, orig. prop.
Davis, Paine, No. 4460; Beverly

Roy, original proprietor.
Davis, Nathan.
Denham, Obed E., No. 964; Na-

thaniel Gest, orig. prop.
Delap, James.
Delap, Samuel.
D:wis, Thomas, No. 2951; Ma­

thew Uea, orig. prop.
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Davis, Philip, No. 761; John
Benton, original proprietor.

Donnelly, Thomas, No. 761; John
Benton, original proprietor.

Drummond, John, No. 926; Rich.
C. Waters, orig. prop.

David, John.
Denham, Daniel, No. 4458; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Davis, James, No. 3513; Rich. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
Denham, John, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Dcal, James.
*Davis, John n., No. 2938; Geo.

F. Strop, original proprietor.
,:'Davis, Joshua, No. 2951; Ma­

thew Rhea, orig. pro}).
;r,Denhum, Williltm, No. 2373;

J. Breckcnridge, orig. prop.
Ellsberry, Michacl.
E\'el'hart, .John.
Ed~vards, Timothy, No. 2373; J.

J3rcckenridge, orig. prop.
Edwards, Thomas, No. 1239; Ol­

iver Towles, orig. prop.
EJwards, Moses, No. 2373; John

J3reckenridge, erig. prop.
Edwards, Caleb, No. 3513; U. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Elrod, Robert, No. 964; Nath.

Gest, original proprietor.
Elrod, Thomas.
Elrod, John, No. !J64; Nath. Gest,

original proprietor.
Edwurds, Lewis, No. 1239; Oli.

vel' Towles, orig. prop.
Elrod, Willillm, No. 964; Nath.

Ge~t, original proprietor.
Elrod, Philip, No. 964; Nath.

Gest, original proprietor.
Fuller, Sallluel.
.Frazier, J es~e.

1'razee, Jacob, No. 762: Henry
Moss, original proprietor.

Fralllbes, Joseph, No. 4458; Wm.
L)'lle, originullJroprielor.

Frazier, William, No. 1239; Oli­
ver Towles, orig. prop.

Fountain, John.
Fruzier, Innocent, No. 3206; Wm.

Sewell, original proprietor.
Frazee, Abel, No. 1164-; Nath.

Gest, original propdetor.
Fostcr, lSl'llel.
;;!Frazee,Stephen, No. 3206; Wm.

Sewcll, original proprictor.
Gray, Christian, No. 366; James

Knox, original proprietor.
Gaskins, Thomas, No. 3513; R.

C. Andcrson, orig. prop.
Gibbs, Hugh, No. 762; Henry

Moss, original proprietor.
Griffith, James, No. 926; R. C.

Watcrs, odginal propr.ictor.
Grapevine, Hutson.• No. 2373; J.

Brcckenridge, orig. prop.
Gl'I1vitt, John C.
Gosnay, William, No. 964; Nath.

Gost, original proprietor.
Hopkins, A. V.
Hunt, Levi, No. 2938; George F.

Strop, originul proprietor.
Halfhill, John.

HUlings,' Isaac, No. 939; Beverly
Roy, original proprietor.

lIunt, Thomas, No. 2!151; 1\1u.­
thow Uay, orig. prop.

Hammett, John, No. 581; Philip
Clayton, original proprietor.

Henderson, J a~es.
Hunt, George.
Hutchings, Moses.
Halse, Gcorge, No. 3551; U. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Hutchings, John.
Homan, David.
Harris, Archibald.
Higbce, Brazier.
Henderson, Da,·id.
Hedger, Zachariah.
Huntington, Silas, No. 2952; R.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
Huntington, Silas, Jr.
Huntington, Nancy.
Hill, Isu.iah.
Higbee, EIiIlB, No. 9375; Miley

King, originu.1 proprictor.
Higbee, Amasa, No. 5882; John

.l\Iountjoy, orig. prop.
Hewitt, Joseph, No. 96-l; Nath.

Gest, original proprictor.
*Harris, Jordan, No. 2!151; Ma­

thew Uhea, orig. prop.
*IIarris, Archibald, No. 2952;

Ambrose Dudley, orig. prop.
*Henderson, Charles, No. 1239;

Oliver Towles, orig. prop.
~!Higbee, Isaac, Jr., No. 8904;

George C. Light, orig. prop.
""Hill, Margaret, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
;;!Harvey, John, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
*Hyland, Wm., No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop•
"'Higginbotham, James, No.

3551; U. C. Anderson, origi­
nal proprietor.

~!Harvey, Henry, No. 3551; R.
C. Anderson, orig. prop.

Iler, Heury.
IIer, Margaret, No. 926; R. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
Jenkins, Joseph.
Justice, Jesse, Sr.
Justice, Jesse, Jr., No. !l26; R.

C. Waters, orig. prop.
Justice, Saville, No. 926; U. C.

Waters, orig. prop.
Justice, John.
Joslyn, Ezekiel, No. 3513; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Kindle, John.
Kellum, William.
Kellum, Jaw!.'!!, No. 581; Philip

Clayton, orig. prop.
Kennedy, Dennis, No. 3551; R.

C. Andel'l.~on, orig. prop.
;;'I{ain, Thomas, No. 3513; n. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
;;'Kirby, Timothy, No. 2!J38;

George F. Strop, orig. prop.
Logan, Jlenju.lllin, No. 3551; n.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
Leeds, Peter T.
Lytle, William, No. 2938; George

F. Strop, orig. prop.

Leeds, Robert, Sr., No. 928 ;
Thomas Pierson, orig. prop.

Leeds, Jo~iah.

Leeds, Robert, Jr.
.!Light, George C., No. 3551; It.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
Morris, John, No. 2373; John

Breel,enridge, orig. prop.
Morris, John K., No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
MeCullom, Cornelius, No. 581;

William Parsons, orig. prop.
MeCullom, Hugh.
Morse, Nehemiah, No. 2436;

Thomas Overton, orig. prop.
Merrill, Richard.
Mead, George, No. 1239; Oli\'er

Towles, orig. prop.
MeHiisey, Joseph.
Morse, Nehemiab, Jr.
MeAffe, James.
McLain, Joseph.
MUBgro\'e, james, No. 2373;

John Breckenridge, original
proprietor.

Morgan, Dozer•
Morris, Thomas, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Meeker, Jonas, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
.Melntosh, James, No. 926; R. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
Miller, Aaron.
;r,MeChesney, Joseph, No. 3551;

R. C. Anderson, orig. prop.
;;!l\1eLain, Peter, No. 3206; Wm.

Sewell, original proprietor.
*~Ieary, Robert, No. 2!l38; Geo.

F. Strop, orig. prop.
*l\Iarsh, Thomas L., No. 1199; L.

Butler, orig. prop.
*l\1eDougal, Samuel, No. 3551;

n. C. Anderson, orig. prop.
*'Malott, --, No. 3778; Bev.

erly Roy, orig. prop.
Newberry, William.
Newberry, Daniel.
Newberry, Elias.
Nelson, Samuel, Sr., No. 2949;

Wm. Lytle, orig. prop.
Nelson, Samuel, Jr.
Noble, Esther.
,:!Nicholas, George, No. 561;

'Henry Whiting, orig. prop.
Owens, Thomas, No. 366; James

Knox, original proprietor.
Osborne, Nathan.
Osborne, Allron, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, ol"ig. pl·Op.
Ogden, Simeon, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Ogden, Swain.
Prather, Thomas.
Patchell, James, No. 3778; Bev-

erly Ro)', orig. prop.
Porter, John.
Patterson, Mu.ry.
Parrish, Benjamin.
Parrish, Jared, :No. 761; John

Burton, original }lroprietor.
Pinkbum, Andrew, No. 928;

Thomas Pierson, orig. prop.
Poe, Edward.
Poe, Jes!!e, No. 3513; R. C. An­

derson, original proprietor.

Parrish, Stephen, No. '761; John
BIll·ton, original proprietor.

;;!Patterson, John, No. 761; John
Burton, original proprietor.

~'Penn, Benj., No. 2955; John
Hawkins, orig. prop.

;*Peterson, Robert, No. 572;
Peter Casey, orig. prop.

Ross, Reuben, No. 572; Peter
Casey, orig. prop.

Reed, Jobn.
Riggs, Zachariah.
Riley, John, No. 4458; William

Lytle, original proprietor.
Uader, George, No. 762; Henry

Moss, original proprietor.
Riley, Zachariah, No. 1239; Oli­

ver Towles, original prop.
Reed, Christiana..
r*Reed,.Cu.therine, No. 2373; J oho

Breckenridge, original prop.
. ;;!Robinson, William, No. 2373;

John Breekenridge,ol'iginal
proprietor.

*.iRogers, Levi Eo, N~. 2373; John
.Breckenridge, original prop.

*Rutherford, Thomas, No. 768;
WiJliulU Richardson, original
proprietor.

Sargent, Aaron, No. 2373; John
Breckenridge, original prop•

South, James, No. 2373; John
Breckenridge, original prop.

Shaw, Elijah.
Stultz,Henry, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, original prop.
South, William, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, original prop.
Swing, Laurence, No. 964; Nath.

Gest, original proprietor.
Swing, George, No. 4460; Beverly

Uoy, ol'iginal proprietor.
Simpkins, John.
Simpson, John, No. 926; U. C.

Wu.ters, original proprietor.
Strickland, Michael, No. 926; R.

C. Waters, original prop.
Sprague, William.
Strickland, Paul, No. 926; R. C.

Waters, original proprietol·.
Sweet, Stephen.
Swope, George, No. 761; John

Burton, originu.1 proprietor.
Shotwell, James, No. !J26; U. C.

Wnters, origillal proprietor.
String, Thomas, No. 581; Philip

Clayton, original proprietor.
Smith, Enos.
Smith, John.

, Sims, Samuel.
Smith, WillialU, No. 572; Peter

Casey, originu.1 proprietor.
Sims, George.
Stultz, George, No. 572; Peler

CILsey, original proprietor.
Salt, John.
Swing, Wesley, No. 926; It. C

Waters, original proprietor.
Swin:;, Samuel, No. 1239; Oliver

~rowles, originlll prop rictor.
Sanders, Isaac.
South, ISllae, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, origillal prop.
;;'Soulh, Elijah, No. 2373; Johu

Breel\emidge, original prop.
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The same year (1826) the owners of village lots in
Bethel (on survey No. 2373) were as follows:

TRUSTEES.

The village lots were valued at $14,375, and paid a tax
of $93.44. The taxes for all purposes in the township
were only $650.39. The 336 head of horses were reputed
worth $13,440, and the 594 cattle $4752. The capital in­
vested in merchandising was $3040, and was controlled by
1. Foster & Co., John Salt, and George J. Trautwine.

CIVIL ORGANIZA.TION.

The records from the organization of the township in
1805 until 1812 have been mislaid or destroyed.

.On the 6th of April, 1812, the officers elected were the
following: Trustees, Alexander Blair, Jeremiah Beck, Jr.,
and William Brown; Clerk, John Boggess; Treasurer,
Houton Clarke; Lister, Samuel Beck; Appraiser, Kelly
Burke; Constables, Samuel Beck, Jacob Frazee, and J Ohll
Blair; Overseers of the Poor, Obed Denham and James
South; .Fence-Viewers, John Brown and Isaac C. Reed.

Since this meeting the following have been the principal
officers of the township:

Stewart, Thomas.
Sargent, Aaron.
Test, Joseph.
Tice, John R.
Trautwine, G. J.
Wayland, William.
Warden, Moses.

Musgrove, James.
Nohle, Esthel·.
Noble, Sally.
Ogden, Simeon.
Pemberton, Richard.
Rogcrs, Ann.
South, Isaac.
Strickland, Hope.

lS13-H.-Alexander Blair, Jeremiah Beck, William Drown.
1815.-John Morris, George J. TrautlVine, Le\'i Rodgers.
1816.-John Morris, Benjamin Morris, Levi Beck.
1817.-John K. Morris, John Stewart, Levi Deck.
1818.-Denjamin Morris, Thomas West, Levi Beck.
1819.-John IL Morris, William Denham, Levi Beck.
1820.-John IL l\lorris, A. V. Hopkins, John A. Smith.
1821-22.-S010mon Wells, Abram Conrey, Levi Deck•.
1823.-Thomas West, Isaac South, Edward Frazier.
1824.-11. V. Hopkins, Isaac South, Davis Crn-ne.
1825.-Alexander Blair, Isaac South, Edward Frazier.
lS26.-Wm. Thompson, Isaac South, Robert Blair.
1827.-Wm. Thompson, John R. Tice, Jlunes Griffith.
1828.-Wm. Thompson, John R. Tice, Aaron Sargent.
1829.-Wm. Thompson, Davis Crane, Aaron Sargent.
1830.-John S. Canter, Davis Crane, Aaron Sargent.
1831-32.-John Quinlan, .Tames Musgro.ve, Aaron Sargent.
1833.-George R. Noble, James Musgrove, John Willis.
1834.-George R. Noble, Edward Salt, Benjamin Quinlan.
1835.-Wm. Frazier, James Musgrove, John Ellsberry.
1836.-Wm. Frazier, Daniel Altman, John Ellsberry.
1837.-John R. Tice, Daniel Altman, Garrard Riley.
lS38.-Thomas Sheldon, Daniel Altman, James Musgro\·e.
1839.-John R. Morris, Daniel Altman, George Ulrey.
1840.-John R. Morris, Artus Peppers, George Ulrey.
1841.-Paul McKeever, Isaac Vanosdol, George Ulrey.
lS42.":"'Benjamin Boggess, Samuel Simpson, Temple C. Sargent.
1843.-John S. Carter, Samuel Simpson, Isaac Vanosdul.
1844.-James Musgro\'e, Samuel Simpson, Isaac Vanosdol.
lS45.-E. D. Thompson, Samuel Simpson, Wm. Beck.
1846.-George W. Swing, E. B. Thompson, George Ulrey.
1847.-James Musgrove, C. S. Beck, John McMurchy.
1848.-James Musgro\'e, C. S. Beck, J. A. Perrine.
1849.-James Musgrove, George W. Swing, John McMurchy.
lS50.-James Griffith, George W. Swing; J. A~ Perrine.
1851-54.-Jamcs Griffith, Benjamin Jenkins, J. A. Perrine.
1855.-Jnmes Griffith, Thomas Elrod, G. W. Swing.
1856.-W. C. Slade, Thomas Elrod, G. W. Crane.
1857.-W. C. Slade, S. W. Eder, G. W. Crane.
1858.-W. P. Thornton, S. W. Eder, C. S. Beck.

Edwards, Isaac.
Ellsberry, l\Iichael.
Frazier, Edward.
Foster and Peterson.
Gibson, John.
Hopkins, A. V.
Halfhill, John.
Hill, l\Inrga.ret.
Light, David.
l\Iorris, John IL
Merrill, John S.

. McCoy, JILmes.
l\1orris, Thomas.
Monis, John.

Watson, Abraham.
Wilson, Isaac.
Winters, Robert.
West, James.
West, Thomas, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, original prop.
Walker, William.
'Vatson, Simpson.
Wells, Nathan, No. 3551: R. C.

Anderson, original prop.
Wells, RueI.
Wells, Aaron, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, original prop.
Willis, Thomas, No. 2938; Geo.

F. Strop, original prop.
Willis, Jacob, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, original prop.
Wells, Eli.
Wells, Nelson.
Wells, Solomon, No. 3513; R. C.

Anderson, orig. proprietor.
Wells, Jesse, No. 3551; R. C.

Anderson, orig. proprietor.
Watson, Isaac, No. li26; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Walker, Nicholas, Jr., No. 2938;

George .P. Strop, orig. prop.
Willis, John, No. 2938; George

F. Strop, orig. proprietor.
'" est, George.
'Vebster, Burman.
'Vare, Samuel.
West, John.
West, Willillm, No. 964; Nath.

Gest, original proprietor.
'Vood, Samuel.
Winters, Elijah.
West, William, Jr.
Wallace, Nicholas.
Williams, William.
*Williams, Amos, No. 3513; R.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
*Williams, Silas, No. 926; It. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
;*Williams, Obadiah, No. 939;

Bm'erly Roy, orig. prop.
*Watson, John, No. 926; R. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
*Watkins, Joseph, No. 564; Rob­

ert Dandridge, orig. prop.
*Wilson, Samuel, No. 926; R. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
;:"White, William, No. 581; Philip

Clayton, original proprietor.
*Walker, Moses, No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.

Abrams, George.
Allen, Thomas E.
Bell, Nelson R.
Bouhvare, Jacob.
Beck, Charity.
CraDe, Davis.
Clarke, Houton.
Cuok, Sarah.
Chalfant, Robert.
CorDwell, Joel G.
Dowdney, William.
Denham, James.
Denham, Willia.m.
Denham, John.

*Stultz, Jacob lIT
;j!Swing, l\Iichael, No. 926; R. C.

Waters, original proprietor.
;*Strickland, Daniel, No. 926; R.

C. Waters, original prop.
;;'Schcll, John II., No. 12:W; Oli­

Yer Towles, original prop.
*Smith, Esthcr, No. 2373; John

Brcekenridge, original prop.
*Stout, Oliver H., No. 2954; John

Clay, original proprietor.
Truitt, Samuel, No. 366; James

Knox, original prop.
Thornley, Reuben, No. 4458;

William Lytle, original prop.
Trees, Peter, No. li26; James

~nnis, original proprietor.
Taylor, John.
Trnutwine, George J., No. 2:l73;

John Breckenridge, original
proprietor.

Tingle)', Jonathlln, No. 2!J52;
Ambrose Dudley, orig. prop.

Test, James.
Test, Joseph.
Tarr, Samuel, No. 762; Hcnry

Moss, original proprietor.
Tholllas, Edward.
Thompson, David, No. 1239 ; Oli­

ver Tuwles, origin.d prop.
Test, Sarah, No. 2:373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
Tilton, William.
Tnylor, Henry.
Thompson, William.
*Tinton, Theophilus, No. 3551;

n. C. Anderson, orig. prop.
*Thompson, Samuel, No. 3551;

R. C. A'ndcrson, orig. prop.
*Tingle)', Benj., No. 2373; John

Breckenridge, orig. prop.
*Twced, Robert, No. 3513; John

Breckenridge, original prop.
*Temple, Benjamin, No. 964;

Nath. Gest, origimtl prop.
*Towles, Oliver, No. 12:39; Oli\'cr

'fowles, original proprietor.
*Taylor, James, No. 52!J7; John

Green, original proprietor.
Ulrey, George, No. 572; Peter

Casey, original proprietor.
*UIrey, Jacob, No. 928; Thomas

Pierson, original proprietor.
Vanosdol, Oakey, Sr., No. 2:373;

John Breckenridge, original
proprietol·.

Vanosdul, Oakey, Jr.
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1859.-J. A. Perrine, S. W. Eder, G. W. Crane.
1860.-11I. Clark, S. W. Ulrey, L. O. Potts.
1861-62.-W. W. Smith, S. W. Ulrey, n. F. Hitch.
1863.-W. W. Smith, S. W. Ullery, W. R. Thompson.
IS6·1.-S. W. Eder, L. O. Potls, A. J. :McGohan.
1865-67.-S. W. Eller, S. W. Ulrey, A. J. l\IcGohu,n.
1868.-8. W. Euer, S. W. Ulrey, J. A. Perrine.
1869.-N. B. l\Iorris, Isaac Vauosclol, J. A. Perrine.
IS7o.-N. B. Morris, 11. G. Somermier, L. S. Frazier.
I87I.-N. B. l\Iorris, John Ellsherry, Samuel Calion.
18i2.-N. B. l\Iorris, John ElIsberry, W. W. Smith.
ISi3.-N. B. Morris, John ElIsberry, J. C. Riley.
IS74.-L. S. Frazier, John ElIsberry, J. C. Riley.
1875-77.-L. S. Frazier, A. R. Scott, J. C. Riley.
18i8.-L. S. Frazier, W. A. Lockwood, J. C. Hiley.
1879.-G. W. Ell'Od, W. A. Lockwood, J. A. Perrine.

CLERKS.

ISI3-24, John Boggess; 1825-2/), John IL ,Morris; 1827, SallJuel
l\Iedary; 1828, Nelson Beall; 1829, John 1\• .Morris; ISaO, G.
J. 'l'rnutwine; 1831-33, Jacob Metzgar; 1834, James Ross;
1835-36, Jacob Metzgar; 1837, G. W. Condit; 1838, Samuel
Martin; 18:W. Jacob Metzgar; 1840, Philip Drum; 1841, John'V. Cllrter; 1842, Philip Drum; 1843, T. J. Morris; 1844, J. F.
Hichards; 1845-50, Philip Drum; 1851-58,1'. J.l\Iorris; 1859,
D. 1\1. Frazier; 1860-63, T. J. Morris; 1864, Charles Green;
1865-73, T. J. l\Iorris; 1874-78, J. N. Altman; 1879, R. M.
Griffith.

TREASURERS.

1813-14, Houlon Clarke; 1815, George J. Trautwine; 1816, Houton
Clarke; 1817, George J. Trautwine; 1818-19, John Morris;
1820, A. V. Hopkins; 1821, John Morris; 1822, Houton Clarke;
1823, George J. Trautwine; 1824-28, John Morris; 1829, Elam
Young; 1830-32, John Morris; 1833-40, John Quinlan; 1841,
Sltmue} Swing; 1842-58, John Quinhtn; 1859-60, Wm. Canter;
1861, N. A. Hitch; 1862, Thomas Elrod; 1863-66, George T.
Salt; 1867, A. C. Salt; 1868-70, G. T. Salt; 1871-72, Joseph
Clare; 1873, J. S. l\Iusgrove; 1874-79, Joseph Clare.

ASSESSORS.

Solomon Wells, William South, Richard Faulkner, and William Dowd­
ney, listers.

1841-43, Thomas J. :Morris; 1844-52, Richard Pemberton; 185:3-54,
Benjamin 1. Tiee; 1855, M. T. Burke; 1856-57, Alexander Carr;
1858, Benjamin 1. Tiee; 1859-62, S. L. Warden; 1863, John
Smith; 1864-66, H. S. Conrey; 1867-68, Josiah Harris; 1869­
70, Juseph Doughtr.

Since that period the assessors have been John L. Fisher,
William McChesney, C. W. Swing, S. W. Eder, W. F.
Landon, Archibald McNair, H. S. Conrey, and A. E. Mc­
Kibben.

EXTRACTS FROM RECORDS.

"STATE OF OHIO, }

CLEmWST COUNTY.

"To all!! COl!1Jtable of Tute Township, Greetillg:
"You arc hereby commanded to warn Thomas Moore to Depart

forthwith out of Tute Township afol'esaid, who is, from correct infor­
mation, as we bclie\'e, likely to be chargeable to said Township.

"Given under OUI' hands and seals this 19th day of April, 1841.
"OBED DE:01nA}[,

" J A)H;S SOUTH,

"Overseers of tiLe Poor."

Similar notices were served in the following half-a-dozen
years upon Sarah Smith, Deborah Gibbs, Benjami~ Holton,
Sarah Mahan, Elizabeth Mahan, Eleanor Pagan, Charles
Moore and Nancy, his wife, Lydia Williams, Sarah Noble
and her children. It was probably a settled policy not to
allow those incapable of supporting themselves to obtain a
habitation in the township, for the poor-fund many years in
the early history of Tate was a mere pittance, amounting in
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183~ to only $65. In later periods, however, the action of
the township towards dependent persons has been charac­
terized by charity and liberality.

THE PUBLIC THOROUGHFARES.

Mention is made of the early roads in a chapter relating
to the proceedings of the county commissioners, to which
the reader is referred. The old State road, at present
known as the Ohio turnpike, which passes through the
towns~~p from east to west, has from the first been the
principal thoroughfhre, its importance being shared only by
the Williamsburgh road, which intersects it, in its southerly
course, at the village of Bethel, through which it is known
as Main Street. The latter road was located in 1801, and
the part from Bethel to Felicit.y became a free turnpike in
1870. With a course almost parallel with the Ohio tu.rn­
pike is the Cincinnati and Portsmouth Railroad, whose
road-bed has been graded through the township, and which
will, no doubt, soon be completed to permit the running of
trains. Its completion will give the people of tnis part of
the county easy communication to Cincinnati. A station
will be provided at Bethel and another at Bantam.

Considerable interest has been manifested in the im­
provement of the highways of Tate, a large amount of work
being annually bestowed upon the roads. In 1815 the
township was divided into ten districts for highway pur­
poses, as follows:

No. I.-Beginning at Thomas E. Allen's, on Clover
Creek; thence on a direct line to include Ephraim East­
bridge, Ensign Mitchel, and Aaron Leonard.

No. 2.-Beginning at Thomas E. Allen's; thence in­
cluding John Davis on Poplar and Thomas Ogden on
Bullskin Creeks.

No. 3.-Beginning at Jolm Davis'; thence including
Oakey Vanosdol, Sr., and Oakey Vanosdol, Jr., William
Crouch, and all the Wells'.

No. 4.-Beginning at William Crouch's; thence, in­
cluding James Davis, Silas Huntington, and John Boggess,
south to the township line.

No. 5.-Beginning at John Boggess'; thence to Levi
Beck's, Michael Ellsberry's, and James Noble's to Sugar­
Tree Run, and up that stream to the township-line.

No. 6.-Beginning at Bethel, on the Twelve-Mile road;
thence, to include John West, James Noble, Michael Ells­
berry, Levi Beck, in a direct line to the place of beginning.

No. 7.-Beginning at the Sixth District at Bethel;
thence to John West and James Noble, and down Sugar­
Tree Run to its mouth; thenc~ to the northwest corner of
the township, including David Harper and James Denham.

No. 8.-Beginning at Thomas E. Allen's; thence in a
direct line to the Spring Branch; thence to Oakey Vanos­
dol's; thence to William Crouch, James David, Silas llunt­
ington, etc. j thence 'north to the township-line and to the
place of begin~ing.

No. 9.-Beginning where the State road crosses Sugar­
Tree-Run; thence to include William Simonds'; thence to
include David White, James B. Wood, and Joseph Conn j

thence, with the township-line, southward to the head of
Sugar-Tree Run j thence down said run to the place of be­
ginning.
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-~_. --_._- -~--------_._-----------,------------------------
No. 10.-Beginning with the Ninth District, and run·

ning with the same to Joseph Conn's; thence northward
and eastward with the township-lines until a due-north
line from the mouth of Sugar-Tree Run; thence, with said
line, to thc place of beginning.

John Morris, Thomas 'Vest, Garland Anderson, Solomon"rells, Richard Lemaster, George Swing, Joseph Hender­
son, John Drummond, 'Villiam Simonds, and Isaac Colthar
were the supervi~ors for the above districts.

In 1879 the township lJad eleven road districts, ten out­
side of the corporation of Bethel, which had as supervisors
James Mace, ,Yo H. Brown, J. G, Compto'J, I.Jee Iler,
William Swick, A. Simkins, J. L. Fishcr, Jacob 'Vallace,
D. M. Bredwell, and G. W. Trissler.

TATE CE~IETEnIES.

1.'he principal cemetcries of Tate are at Bethel. In the
old burying-ground, set apart in the dedication of the
village, are the graves of some of the carliest dead in the
township. There, also, repose the remains of many hon­
ored citizens who passed from this life at a later day. In
that humble lot is the grave of Senator Thomas Morris,
whose earthly career. was closed in December, 1844. It is
marked by a plain marble shaft about 10 feet high, on
which is engraven an inverted torch, as if still lighting the
way for the oppressed and enslaved whose eyes are turned
towards fi'eedom and larger liberty. In the southerI;! part of
Bcthel is the new cemetery, purchased and controlled by
the viilage and township authorities. It is a fine piece of
ground, and is yearly growing handsomer. In various parts
of the township, in connection with the different churches,
are also burying-grounds, some of them in indifferent con­
dition, showing a lack of respect for the dead.

MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.

The manufacturing interests of the township are not
numerous nor greatly diversified. In general, only the ordi­
nary industries have been carried on. Probably the first
machinery operated in Tate was Houton Clarke's horse­
mill, at Bethel. A sweep-power was first employed, but us
business increased a tread-power was substituted. At one
period of its history Abram Conrey was in charge of this
mill, which is described at another place in this book. Obed
and John Denham had the first water-power mills,-saw
and grist,-about 1804, on t~e Poplar Creek, at a place
which was afterwards called Macedonia. From the Den­
llams the mills passed into the h"ands of Kelly Burke, and
were afterwards operated by other members of the family,­
Joseph H. Fisher, David Osborne, etc. The water-power
failing, Garrard Riley supplied steam-power, and while be­
longing to llim the mills burned down. At one time there
were two distilleries at this point, in one of. which a small
tannery was afterwards carried on by Benjamin Denham..
Half a mile below Timothy Sprague had saw- ·and grist­
miUs, a fulling-mill, and, for a short time, machinery for ex­
tracting oil from the ca~tor bean; and still lower down
Capt. Davis put up saw- and grist-mills, which were after­
wards known as Deal's mills. On Poplar Creek, above the
State road, the Clarke family an-a. others had mills, but all

these industries on this stream have passed away. The
mills on Clover Creek, known as Riley's, John 'fhompson's,
and Temple Sargent's, have shared a similar fate; and
Haine's tub"mill, on Ulrey's H.un, has been discontinued so
long that its existence is scarcely remembered. The old
Higbie or Snider mill, on the East Fork, is the only water­
power mill in the township which has been kept in opera­
tion.

In various points of Tate steam saw-mills have been
erected to manufacture the lumber which the immediate
forests afforded, and in some localities they have 'been opera­
ted a number of years. The mill in the Salt neighborhood,
owned by Wilse & Salt, belonged to this class, and at 'Wig­
ginsville is a saw-mill which has been operated almost con­
tinuously for the past twenty-seven years, owned at present
by Conrey & Fishel'.

At Bethel John :M. Goodwin erected a steam saw-mill
in 1852, and added a grist-mill two years later. In the
fall of 1858 they were destroyed by fire, at a loss of $9000. .
'York. was immediately begun on the present mills, which
were built the same season. The grist-mill is 40 by 50
feet, 3 stories high, and is supplied with 3 runs. of stone,
giving it a good grinding capacity. Attached is a good
lumber-mill, 36 by 100 feet, in which the manufacture of
lumber and builders' materiul is earried on extensively.
These mills have been owned by the present proprietor,
John l\J. Goodwin, and others, as partners, since they were
first built in 1852, and are an important industry.

William Denham began operating carding-machinery in
the village, near the Methodist church, about 1815, but
sold out his interests to John S. Carter, who also carried on
the manufacture of linseed oil when cal'ding was out of sea­
son. The business of carding has been can-ied on in the
village the past thirty years or more by Charles Davis,
using a tread-power. He had previously operated carding­
machinery by water-power on Poplar Creek.

After 'Villiam Denham quit the carding business, he
began the manufacture of chairs in a shop which stood near
David Osborne's, and in which a number of men were em­
ployed eight or ten years.

Combs were manufactured at Bethel about 1825, by
William Dowdney, the fhthel: of Mayor Dowdney, of Ba­
tavia.

Isaac South first began making hats in Bethel, having
from three to five men employed. In 1827, John Quinlan
took up the business in the same building-the one now
used by W. L. Swing for a grocery-and carried it on
about twenty years.

Several small tanneries were carried on north of the vil~

lage by Daniel Lindsey and James Musgrove. At Bethel
Jacob Willis was the first tanner, beginning on a small
scale in the present yard. He was followed, in 1827, by
James Musgrove, .who sold out to Eli Collins, and con­
tinued t~ operate a tannery of 40 vats in the rear of the
present Allen House, which was discontinued more than
twenty years ago. Collins took in Jesse R. Grunt as a.
partner about 1845, and that firm carried on the tanning
business at Bethel until about 1856. In the mean time
their business had been much extended, the products of
other tanneries were secured and new tanneries established,
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and a leather- and finding-store opened at Galena, Ill., t.o,
which leather from this section of the country was shipped.
In this store of Grant & Collins' Capt. Ulysses S. Grant
was a clerk at the commencement of the civil war in 186l.
~ro better serve the interests of their businesr;, the firm left
Bethel for Covington, Ky., arid the old tannery has since
h!1d various owners. It is at present operated by Thomas
Clarke.

South of the village is a small tannery operated by
Thomas Dent, an Englishman, who served his apprentice­
ship with Grant & Collins. .

In the spring of 1831, John Thornton and his seven
sons located at Bethel, and soon after engaged in the manu­
facture of wagons and carriages, not only for the surround­
ing country, but for the Southern trade, which soon amounted
to $12,000 per year. The firms of C. Thornton & Co. and
Thornton Bros. became widely and favorably known, and
in 1850 a large filCtory was erected to accommodate their
business, which increased yearly, and gave employment to
many men. At the breaking out of the Rebellion the
works were operated ou government wagons, which were
produced at the rate of a wagon per day. Ambulances
and othe~' vehicles for the United States service were also
built. In 1863 the shops were sold to Joseph Clare, and
the Thorntons moved to Brown County, where they engaged
in the manufacture of lumber. Clare occupied the building
for the manufacture of saddle-trees, which was perhaps the
most important industry ever carried on in Bethel. The
trade was brought to the village in 1847 by Jehu S. Tice,
who carried on a small shop in the eastern part of the vil­
lage, where he had a number of apprentices, among them
Samuel Eder, Theodore Hill, and Joseph Carter, and made
his trees by hand. After Joseph Clare became interested in
this branch of business, machinery and steam-power were
employed, and the manufacture proportionately extended j

and in the early years of the war the capacity was still
further increased, in order to supply the demands made
upon the works by the government, which necessitated the
production of 250 trees per day and the employment of
more than 50 men. In the conduct of the saddle-tree
business, Mr. Clare has been associated with the Thornton
Bros., Samuel Eder, Perkins, Hughes, and others, but since
1877 has carried on the works alone, the business having
declined so much that but few men are now employed, and
the building will soon be converted into a chair-factory by
Clare & Frazier, who will employ 30 persons.

Since 1865, James Boulware has carried on a factory for
the manufacture of all kinds of Spanish saddle-trees, and
at present employs from four to six men. The manufacture
of wooden stirrups has been carricd on to a considerable
extent in Bethel by John Q. Tice, Albert Griffith, M. W.
Fagaley, and others, but at present little of that work is
done.

The manufacture of plows, wagons, cradles, and general
work. has been carried on at Bethel by H. G. Somermicr
since 1861, employment being given to from four to seven
men j and at Pin Hook, two miles from Bethel, the Bog­
gess Bros. have long been engaged in carrying on a general
plow-, wagon-, and repair-shop, in which several men are
employed and steam-power is used.

Hl\.~ILETS AND VILLAGES.

BANTAM.

Bantam is a small but pleasant village on the Ohio turn·
pike, in the northwestern part of the to'ynship, four miles
from Bethel. The place was never regularly laid out, and
the village hus only grown up as a cluster of houses and a
few shops around a store, which was opened' here many
years ago by Benjamin Ely, and who was appointed post­
master of' an office established in 1837. It was at this time
that the name of Bantam was applied to the place, at the
suggestion of Dr. Pinkham, and the office and village have
borne it ever since.. In 1869, Mr. Ely was succeeded by
the present postmaster, George W. Hays. The office is
supplied with a daily mail.

Benjamin Ely was here engaged in merchandising about
forty years, and had for a time as a neighbor in trade F. C.
Smith. The present merchants are G. W. Hays and B. F.
Hitch & Son. .

Below the village William Slade opened a tayern about
1848, which was a prominent landmark. in those days.
Jeremiah Abbott and others followed him as landlords.
The place is at present kept by Fred. Rapp. On the turn­
pike above the village of Bantam John Shotwell had an
old-time tavern, which has given place to a farm-house. At
Bantam carriage-making on an extensive scale was formerly.
carried on by Levi ·White, who engaged in this business in
1845. At one time more than a dozen men were em­
ployed,' but lately the business has bc~n allowed to decline,
although some work is yet here done by 1\:11'. White. There
are also several other mechanic-shops in the place.

The Bantam, or District No. 10, school-house is a fine
two-story brick house, erected at a cost of $2800, and was
first occupied in the fall of·1878. It contains two schools.
The fine Presbyterian church at Bantam was erected in
1865. .

Dr. Thomas M. Pinkham was the first"physician at Ban­
tam. He followed his profession there from 1828 until
1877, when he retired. Since that time Dr. John Richard­
son has been the practitioner j and Dr. El'llest Bragdon
lives there, retired fi'om active practice. Other physicians
at this place have been Drs. A. C. and John Moore, and
Drs. Collins, Hopkins, Marsh, and Kellum, all for short
periods.

Marcellus H. Leeds formerly resided here as an attorney­
at-law.

WIGGINSVILLE

is a small hamlet on the Felicity' turnpike, about two miles
south from Bethel. The 'nam~ was applied to this locality
in jest about forty years ago, from a nickname given to
Benjamin South, a hatter (called by his associates Ben
Wiggins), who had a small shop there. Other mechanic
trades have been (Jarried on at this point ever since, there
being at present a few shops. A store was opened many
years ago by Edward Frazier, and subsequently were in
trade McLain & Frazier, Whittaker & Talley, Samuel
Hayford, William T. Warden, and the present J .. M.
Milner, who is also the postmaster of the Wigginsvi1le
post-office, established in the summer of 1879.

A little more than half a mile northwest from Wiggins­
ville is a locality called rIN Hqo~, where are the carriage-
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works of the Boggess Brothers. Here sf-orcs have been
kept by Jacob Frazier, David Barbel': John R Altman, J.
R. H. SiJllJllon~, and David Boggess, but at prcseut uo one
is in trade.

In the southwestern corner of Tate is a small hamlet
called SALTAIR, so named from the Salt family, which
owns much real property in this part of the township.
The post-office was established in 1878, with William Page
as postmaster, who yet coutinues, aud is also the proprietor
of the store. The first to engage in the sale of goods here
was John Ely, some time :lbout 1859.

On the Brown County line is a small hamlet (chiefly in
Brown County) locally called POE TOWN, after the Poe
family, which settled there at an early day. The post-office.
bears the name of ~L~PLE, and was established Aug. 5,
1848, with John Hendrixon as postmaster. In 1853 he
was succeeded by James Tri~sler, who in turn gave place,
two years later, to William N. Connover. From 1873 till
1875 the office was in charge of Mrs. Sarah Connover, and
in 1877, D. B. Joslyn took charge of the mails. 1'he
hamlet has stores, the usual mechanic-shops, and several
churches, elsewhere noted.

BETHEL.

This is the largest village in the township, next to the
oldest in the county, and ranks among the most important
business places in Clermont. Its location on the Ohio turn­
pike, twelve miles from Batavia, north of the centre of
Tate, for beauty and healthfulness is not surpassed in this
part of Ohio. 'Vithin the village bounds are many springs,
which furnish an abundance of water for domestic use and
manufacturing purposes. In this respect Bethel enjoys
unusual advantages. The village is located on John Breck­
enridge's survey, No. 2373, which was entered by Gen. Wil­
liam Lytle, March 28, 1794. Not long after 1500 acres of
the choicest land of this survey were purchased by Obed
Denham, of Kentucky, who iu 1798 here platted a village,
which he called Plainfield, but which for years was scarcely
knl)wn by another name than Denhamstown. On thc
26th of April, 1802, the plat of the village was duly re­
corded with the name of Bethel, which title in legal instru­
ments the place has ever since b~rne, although Dcnhamstown
(ncvcr the proper name) long after attached to the village.
The deed for the village specifies that Obcd Denham, of the
county of Clermont, and territory northwest of the Ohio
niver, has laid out the village of Bethel, on the waters of
Cloverlick Creek,

., Beginning at the southwest corner of said town, at a beech-tree
and a black-walnut stake, running thence north two hundred lind
forty-nine poles to a stalie; thence cast onc hundred and thirteen
poles to a stake; thence south two hundred and forty-nine pole~ to a
stake; thence west one hundred and thirteen poles to the place of
beginning, containing one hundred and seventy-five acres and oue
hundred and thirty-se\'en poles, Fcludiug streets and alleys; also,

.the sc\'eral donations which I give for the usc of the public, and whieh
arc as follows, to wit: Two in-lots in said town of Bethel, Nos. 120

. and 147, which arc to be added to the long squltre north of said lots,
which contains one acre of ground (when added contains two acre:»,
making a square for the purpose of building a court-house and jail,
and no other purpose. I Illso gh'e one in-lot No. 122, for the usc of
an English school, to be kept in the bounds of said town; I also give
two in-lots Nos. 80 and 108, for the use of the regular Baptist Churcb,
who do not hold slaves nor commune at the Lord'!! table with those

that do practice such tJrnnny o\'er their fellow-creatures, for to build
a houso for tho worship of Almighty God lind to bury the dead, and
110 other usc; I IIlso gi\'e onc in-lot No. 257 to the lirst-born in the
town, Mary Osborne, her heir:> and assigns foreyer."

There were also reserved from sale five springs, with a
few rods of ground around each, one near the square, one
near Kelly Burke's house, one near Barzilla Osborne's, etc.

'rhe in-lots were laid out of' uniforlll size, fOUl' to a block,
and numbered fi'om 1 to 178. Forty-eight out-lots, each
containing 5 acres, were laid off in the east of the above lots
at the same time. Some of 'the out-lots were subdivided
by the Tice family; and additions to Bethel have been
made, April 10,1875, by Mrs. Margaret C. Sargent,-36
lots, lying between the Felicity and Augusta roads,-and
Oct. 12, 1877, by James l\Ici\Iurchy, 12 lots east of the
projected railroad. The strcets of the village intersect each
other at right angles, and their direction is almost with the
points of the compass. Those running east and west are
Plane (which is the principal business street), Water,
Cherry, Ball, Osborne and Circus. The intersecting streets
arc West, Ash, J\Iain, Union, Charity, and East.

The proprietor of Bethel was also the first to settle there.
Obed Denham was a native of Virginia, but immigrated to
this place from Kentucky in 1797, on account of his abhor­
rence of the institution of slavery. At first the family
camped under a large beech-tree near the tannery spring,
but soon after permanently located on Town Run, a little
west of the limits of the village. He offered liberal induce­
ments to settlers, and a number of families soon followed
him from Kentucky and the East, among them being the
Becks, Burkes, Osbornes, Clarkes, Frazees, and Morrises,
so that, at that early period, Bethel bade fair to prove a for­
midable rival of Williamsburgh, notwithstanding the latter
had just been selected as the county-seat. Most of those
were rather a superior class of people, but there were also
living in the village at this time a few families not so highly
favored in mental ability, and who unfortunately believed
in the presence and power of evil spirits and witches. Of
this latter class are remembered the Evans and Hildebrand
families, the former residing on thc lot at present occupied
by Dr. McLain, the latter on the Dr. Wiliiam JiJIlsberry
lot. It appears the Hildebrand £'l.mily especially imagined
itself under the influence of witches, the older daughters,
who were young women grown, giving unmistakable evi­
dence that they were possessed by some evil spirits. On
the approach of night they would l:cream, and at times be­
come perfectly frantic from fright of the hideous objects
which they professed to see, and which maintained such a
spell over them that they were unfitted for their duties.
Various devices were resorted to in order to exorcise these
Rpirits. A large ba~ of linsey-woolsey was made and held
by a member of the family, while the other members went
through some ceremony, at the conclusion of which it was
supposed the witch had been forced to take refuge in the
bag, which was quickly closed, and after being firmly tied
was carefully laid on the porch of the house, wherc it was
cut into a thousand pieces with a sharp axe. The fragments
were then gathered together and burned; and one would
surely suppose that if the witch had perchance escaped
death while the bag which confined it was cut into fine
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shreds, the fire would put an end to its existence. Not so,
however; the influence over the young women remained
undispelled, and the witches continued to revel in the Hil­
debrand house. Soon the spirits assumed a material form,
and appeared, as the young women averred, in the person
of their neighbor, Nancy Evans; and from this time on it
w~s not, long until they believed that Nancy Evans hersclf
was the witch, and that all tlleir troubles had been caused
by that unfortunate woman. She was shunned, and all in­
tercourse with the family avoided; but the trouble remained.
At last the justice of the peace was importuned to take the
matter in hand, and if the woman, Nancy Evans, were
really a witch expel her from the presence of the afflicted
family. The statutes of the Territory had made no provision
for a case of this nature, the legislators evidently thinking
that witchcraft would not flourish on Ohio soil; so th~ case
had to be disposed of in another way. A tradition prevailed
that if a witch were weighed against the Holy 'Vrit, so great
would be the overpowering influence of the Bible that the
witch would be compelled to tip the beam. Accordingly,
a rude pair of scales was constructed to decide this mo­
mentous mattcr, and all the interested parties having been
called, as well as the neighbors, who were to witness the
propriety of the proceedings, Nancy Evans was placed on one
eud of the scales and the Bible on the other, when she was
thus adjured: "Nancy Evans, thou art weighed against the
Bible, to try thee against all witchcraftry and diabolical
practices." This being done in the name of the law, and
with a profound respect for the Word of God, seems to
have had a solemn and conclusive effect. Nancy Evans
was heavier, very much heavier, than the book, and was
thenceforth relieved from all suspicion of being more than
a simple old woman, who willingly submitted to this novel
process in order to bring peace of mind to her neighbors,
whom she sincerely pitied. In the course of a few years
the Evans family removed to Brown County, where the
old lady died respected by all who knew her. The Hilde­
brand family also removed, and since their departure witches
have no more flourished at Bethel than at any other place,
and the village became noted for the general intelligence of
its inhabitants and the neighborly relations which existed
among them, and continue to tHs day.

In 1804, 'fhomas Morris, who afterwards became a Unitcd
States senator, moved to Bethel from Williamsburgh, and
lived first near the Dr. Ellsberry place. In 1813 he built a
large brick hause on the southeast corner of Plane and
Charity Streets, which was known as the Morris homestead
until 1836, when the senator moved to Cincinnati, but in a
few years returned to Tate, living on a farm a little west of
Bantam until his death, Dec. 7, 1844. His village home
became the property of Holly B.aper, in 1836; and about
1845, of Jesse It. Grant (the futher of Gen. U. S. Grant),
who remodeled it and occupied it as a residence ten or
twelve years. While living there the general, at that time
just from the academy at 'Vest Point, and later from the
Mexican campaign, visited his futher, and spent a number
of months in this quiet village. On one of these occasions
his d,aughter, Nellie, was born at Bethel. The greater part
of the old house has been destroyed by fil'e, and but little

, remains to show its former comfortable proportions.

Closely associated with the events which brought Gen.
Grant into prominence was Thomas L. Hamer. In 1818
he came to Bethel a poor, friendless boy, and found a home
in the fhmily of Thomas Morris, with whom he studied law,
and three years later was admitted to the bar. He then
commenced the practice of his profession at Georgetown,
and attained· such eminence that he was elected to Congress
in 1832, triumphing even over his old preceptor. While
in Oongress he secured a cadetship for the son of his old
neighbor, Jesse R. Grant (who lived at Georgetown at that
time), "and the boy, Ulysses, was thus enabled to obtain a
military education, which was turned to good account in
saving the life of' the 'nation. Of almost equal importance
with the foregoin~ events was the influence which another
former citizen of Bethel exerted upon the country, and es­
pecially upon the political affairs of' Ohio. In 1825, Samuel
.Medary came from Maryland,. where he had shortly before
removed from Berks Co., Pa., with his wife and child, in
an almost destitute condition, his ca~h capital consisting of
but twenty-five cents. With the assistunce of the Simpson,
Griffith, and Morris families, he opened a school, which Ile
taught with so much success that he followed this avocation
three years, engaging also the latter ycar in journalism,
which opened him a career which is elsewhere detailed in
this book. The names of other important personages in
the history of Bethel appear in the account of the pioneers
which precedes these pages. In 1837 there were living in
Bethel as proFertJ-owners J. D. Burk, Wi1lium Bredwell,
Collins Bredwell, Jacob Boulware, J .. M. Burke, William
N. Beall, John S. Carter, Houton-Clarke heirs, John Con­
rey, R. 'V. Clarke, Christian Drumm, Isaac Edwards, John
Ellsberry, Michael Ellsberry, G. W. Elrod, J. W. Fisher,
Henry Garrison, Richard Graham, John Halfhill, Margaret
Hill, Benjamin Israel, Samuel Justice, David Light, Thomas
J. Morris, John K. Morris, Jacob Metzgar, James Mus­
grove, J. R. Musgrove, Elisha :Meekcr, Sarah Noble, David
Osborne, Simeon Ogden, Joseph A. Perrine, John Quinlan,
James Ross, Garrard Riley, Isaac H. Smith, Aaron Sargent,
Salt & Sinks, Hope Strickland, John R. Tice, McKendree
Thompson, John Thompson, Caleb Thompson, 'William
Thompson, George J. Trautwine heirs, John Willis, Jacob
'Willis, Moscs 'Varden, and :Frederick Zugg.

In 18-10 the population was 366, and at present there
are about double that number of persons living within the
corporate limits of Betbel. The village contains a number
of substantial residences, Methodist Episcopal, 'Vesleyan
Methodist, Christian, and Baptist, churches, a very fine
Union school, and the several interests noted in the follow­
ing pages.

MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

Bethel WaS incorporated by an act of the Legislature,
passed March 20, 1851, which provided ., That so much of
the township of 'fate, in the County of Clermont, as is in­
cluded within the following boundaries, to wit, begiuuing
at the southwest corner of the town of' Bethel, opposite in­
lot No.1; thence north with the west line of said town to
the northwest corner, opposite lot No. 28; thence east with
the north line of said town to the northeast comer, opposite
lot No. 278; thence south on East Strect to the uUl'thwcst
corner of out-lot No.5; thence with the north line of said
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range of lots to. the northeast corner of out-lot No. 44;
thence wcst with the south line of said range of lots to the
southwest corner of lot No.4, at East Street; thence with
East S~reet south to the southeast corner of the point at lot
No. 251; thence west with the south line of the town to
the place of beginning, be and the same. is hereby declared
to be a town corporate, with' the name of the town of
Bethel, and by that name shall be a body corporate and
politic, with perpetual succession j and as such shall have
all the privileges, and be subject to all the limitations, pro­
visions, and restrictions of an act for the re~ulation of in­
corporated villages, passed Feb. 16, 1839, and the amend­
atory acts thereto, except where the same may be altered by
this act."

Under the above act an election of village officers was
held at the school-house IUay 26, 1851, when Jesse n..
Grant was chosen mayor j Thomas Elrod, Samuel Y. Thorn­
ton, John QuinIan, John ]~lIsberry, and Joseph A. Perrine
trustees; and Thomas J. Morris, recorder.

The following year, Jesse R. Grant (the filther of Gen.
U. S. Grant) was again elected mayor, receiving thirt.y-one
of the thirty-seven votes cast; and it is said that his admin­
istration was signally successful. As the office combined
magisterial duties, one of his first acts after having been in­
ducted into office was to try several men charged with fighting.
The event awakened much interest in the village, and a large
crowd of wen and boys gathered in the finishing-room of
Grant's tannery to see the outcome of the trial. Several of
the smaller boys had taken a position on a pile of leather to
get a better view of the proceedings, and one of them became
so much absorbed that he lost his balance and landed pre­
cipitately in a tub of oil neal' by. This act created almost as
much of a diversion among the spectators as the fight or
the trial ot' the malcontents.

Andrew Sentney was appointed the first marsllal, and
J. N. Sims the first treasurer.

June 10, 1851, the council created the office of street
commissioner, and defined his duties. William S. Sims
Was appointed to this office until the regular election.

,Sept. 6, 1851, an ordinance was passed regulating shows,
circuses, etc., in the village.

June 21, 1853, an ordinance was passed prohibiting the
sale of intoxicating liquors in the village of Bethel; with
a penalty fOll each offense of from 55 to $20.

July 5, 185~~, an onlinance was enacted to prohibit the
shooting of firearms in the villag~ of Bethel, under penalty
of fines from $1 to $30, or confinement in the county jail
for a period not exceeding thirty days, or both, at the dis­
cretion of the court.

Aug. 5, 1853, the village, reprcsentod by J. R. Tice,
S. S. Scoville, It 1\1. Sinks, "Y. L. Griffith, and st. W.
Eder, purchased the old Baptist church from John .D.
Beck, David Osborne, and Andrew Sentney, trustees, for
$150, fU1' use as a village hall. Subsequently $110 'Were
appropriatcd to repair the hall.

Aug.. 27, 1855, H. Munger introduced a resolution
" That a meeting of the citizens be called the first Tuesday
night in September, for the purpose of establishing a be­
ginning-corner in said town of BetheL" This matter gave
rise to much discussion, and was the _means of producing a

special act of the General, Assembly, March 19, ]857,
which authorized the village to establish a cornel' or point
from which to make future surveys; anu Oll the ] lth of
May following the corporation empowered the marshal to
warrant the attendance of the following persons in deciding
matters of controversy arising from making a new survey:
Benjamin Monis, Davis Crane, R. M. Sinks, J. K. Morris,
and John Ellsberry.

'fhe resurvey was made at a cost of more than $100,
but the villagers, with few exceptions, adhered to the old
landmarks.

Nov. 28, 1857, an ordinance was passed to prohibit the
traffic in liquors, and Feb. 3, 1858, on account of the pres­
ence of mad dogs, all canines were to be restrained or
muzzled.

June 5, 18GI, the running at large of geese and ducks
was prohibited, under a penalty of ten cents per head for
~very goose or duck over six weeks of age committing such
an offense.

May ~9, ]872, an ordinance was passed creating a board
of health, to be composed of seven members, to be elected
or appointed annually. The first board was composed of
the mayor, G. T. Layfield, S. W. Eder, A. F. McCall, A.
R. Scott, John Ellsberry, Alexander Armor, and ·W. L.
Swing.

March 14, 1873, the office of street commissioner was
again created, and such an officer ordered to be elected at
the following annual election. At the successive meetings
the principal streets were ordered to be improved, and since
1873 much work has been done in this direction, the streets
at present presenting a favorable appearance.

Feb. 9, 1878, the office of solicitor for the village of
Bethel was· created, the appointment to be made by the
Common Council.

April 1, 1878, the ordinance creating the office of street
comlJ~issioner was repealed, but May 11, 1878, the office
with modified powers was re-established, and yet exists. .

March 17, 1879, an ordinance was passed to punish in­
toxicated persons and disturbers of the public peace, and
empowering the court to inflict fines or confinement in the
watch-house for periods varying from one to forty-eight
hours.

March 19, ] 879, the office of cemetery trustee was
created, and at the annual election, the ensuing April, the
following were elected: John Ellsberry, N. B. Morris, and
J ames Frazee.

July 14, 1879, an ordinance was passed prohibiting any
person from driving on the streets or alleys of the village
faster than a gait of seven miles per hour.

The levies for tax purposes on the valuation of the village
property were as follows: for a cemetery fund one-fourth of
a mill; for a salary fund one and three-fourths of a mill ;
and for a general fund one and a half mills; making the
taxation light and leaving the finances of the village in
good condition.

The village officers in 1879 were: Mayor, G. B. Ulrey;
Clerk, C. H. Calkins; Trustees, H. U. Reed, Ham Allen,
Itobert :M. 1'own, .J. A. Perrine, J. C. Riley, H. J. Beck;
Treasurer, H. G. Somermier j Street Commissioner, James
Carter; Marshal, J. H. Sims.
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Since the incorporation of the village the following l1ave
been the principal officers:

lIIAYORS.

1851-52, Jesl'e R. Grant; 1853-54, A. Carr; 1855, n. J. Tice; 1856,
S. W. Eder; 1857, David Osborne; 1858, A. N. Hines; 1859, J.
R. StilIs; 1860-61, A. Carr; 1862, C. GreeD; 1863, John l\L
Goodwin; 1864, NelsoD Gibson; 18G5, A. N. Hines; 18611, W.
E. Thompl'on ;;~ 1867-68, G. T. Layfield; 1BG9, S. F. Townsley;
1870-75, G. T. Layfield; 1876, G. W. Elrod; 1877, W. H. Ulrey;
1878, James Dye; 1879, George B. Ulrey.

RECORDERS.

1851-53, T. J. Morris; 1854, Joseph Thornlol); 1855, E. C. Stilel:l;
1856-57, J. a.Morris; 1858, R.M. Sinks; 1559-60, J. C.Morris;
1861-62, G. T. Salt; 1863, H. J. Beck; 18l){-6'7, Horace J. Beck;
18G8, Phil South; 1869-70, H. J. Beck; 18'11-73, Winthrop Fra­
ziel'; 1874, S. R. Williom~; 1875-78, J. N. A.ltman; 1879, C. H.
Calkins.

TREASURERS.

1851-57, J. W. Sims; 1858-GO, W. W. Fee; 18Ql-62, N. A. Hitch;
1863, W. R. South; 1864, B. F. South; 1865-G6, R.1\f.Sinks;
i867, C. Davis; 180R, R. 1\1. Sinks; 1869, E. A. South; 1870-79, .
H. G. Somermier.

THE HOTELS AND STORES.

In November, 1802, Houton Clarke W8S licensed as the
first tavern-keeper in Bethel. His place of entertainment
was a small log house which stood on the site of Joseph
Clare's store, and was used a number of years by Clarke,
when he built the brick house, now the residence of Gen.
R. M. Sinks, and kept a hotel there until his death. In
1817, John R. Tice, who had come from New Jersey the
year before, built a part of the present ".Allen House,"
where he and his son James kept hotel unul 1844. Others
followed, and for a time the house was used as a residence,
but since 1877 it has again been kept as a hotel by Ham
Allen. On Main Street Benjamin .i\lotril'l kept a public­
house a few years· from 1821 on, which was noted for
its cleanliness. It is said that Mr. j)Iorris became dis­
gusted with the business and quit it because his ?uests
would persist in spitting on the floor und otherWIse of­
fended his ideas of propriety. In the eastern part of
the village, after 1840, \V. H. Noble kept a good .tavern
several years, and about 1847 William Bredwell opened a
public-house in the Y. B. Willis residence, which was

'p . H "continued five or six years. The present' errllle ouse·
has been continuously kept since 1833 by Col. Joseph
A. Perrine, who is undoubtedly the oldest landlord in
the county, and the house itself is perhaps more widely
known than any other in Southern Ohio. In the good
old times of four- and six-horse stages the Perrine corner
presented a sceDe of animation which it will take many
years to efface from the memory of the old citizens of
Bethel, and to which they fondly recur as the halcyon
days of their village life. .

It is not positively known who first engaged III mer­
chandising, although it is generally believed that Bethuel
F. Morris sold the first goods. His stay here was not
long continued, and George J. Traut-wine may properly be
called the first permanent merchant. In 1813 he opened
a store on Main Street, in a building which has been re-

;i~ W. E. 'rhompson and Charles Green each l'cceivcd G:J votes for
mayor. Thompson selected by lot. .

moved. Subsequently he erected the present "Perrino
House," in which he was engaged in trade until his
death in 1832. The next to open a store was Daniel
Hankins. some time about 1821, on the corner at pres­
ent occu~ied by M. J. Swing. There also were as mer­
chants John Salt, Israel Foster (largely in trade for six or
seven years), John Peterson, Samuel Justice, Edward.
Sinks, Edward Salt, Smith G. Clarke, Charles H. Hunt,
and Randolph M. Sinks, either as principals or associated
as par~ners. With little interruption, the latter has been a
merchant at Bethel from 1836 till 1874. In the present
Joseph Clare stand T. J. Morris was for many ye~rs in
trade; and among other merchants in Bethel may be named
Sargent & Griffith, J. S. Johnson & Son, John K. Mor­
ris, George T. Salt, and W. T. Warden. Besides the gen­
eral stores of M. J. Swing and Joseph Clare, H. U. Reid,
G. W. Elrod, and ..w. L. Swing are grocers; Clare & Sims
and E. A. South dealers in shoes; R. M. Griffith and A.
F. McCall, druggists; \V. B. Lloyd, harness-maker; J. C.
Riley and David Osborne, dealers in cabinet-ware; and B.
C. Livingston and John Armor uealers in tin-ware.

TilE POST-OFFICE, PRESS, AND THE PROFESSIONS.

The Bethel post-office was established before 1816, with
Moses 'Varden as postmaster. His salary was $6.31 per
year, but as his duties were comparatively casy, it was
deemed a proper remuneration. In 182~, Houton Clark~

was appointed. From 1829 to 1849, T. J. Morris wus
the postmaster, and was followed by'W. L. Griffith, who
was succeeded in 1851 by T. J. Morris, who was t~e post­
master for a period of four years, when A. R. Fay was
appointed. The latter was the .first to introduce letter­
boxes. He was succeeded in 1859 by Alexander Carr;
and since 1865 the present· postmaster, E. A. South, has
administered the affairs of the office, which receives three
mails pel' day. Since July, 1875, it has been a postal
money-order office.

In 1828, Sam Medary, assisted by T~olUas Morris, es­
tablished the OMo Sun at Bethel, and after being published
here about a year it was removed to Bata\'ia, where ~he __
paper is yet published as the Cle1'monl County Sun. It is
said that Medary performed his editorial work after school
hours as long as he was engaged as a teacher, and that
after the paper was printed he mounted his horse and de­
livered it in person to the patrons living around Bethel.
The office of publication was in the second story of the
Clare building, which was erected in 1828 by Thomas
Morris for this purpose. . ,

As an attorney, Thomas Morris commenced his career
at Bethel in 1804, and continued nearly forty years.. He
had a number of students, among the numbel' being Thomas
L. Hamer and Sam Medary. Several of his sons and
other members of the Morris family were educated for.the
law, and may have followed it a short time at Bethel. R.
'V. Olarke also first engaged in his profession here, but for
a number of years the place was destitute of legal acumen.
The present attorneys are the firm of South & Townsley
and Orville Burke.

In medicine the first practitioner was Dr. ·100fborough,
who was in the village five or six years, from 1805 on. In
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1812, Dr. Levi Rogers moved here from 'Villiamsburgh,
and continued until his death, in 1815. His home was on
the lot where is now the residence of Dr. D. A. McLain,
who has been here since 1841. Drs. Ralph Sharp, Wm.
Wayland, and Andrew O. Hopkins were each here for
periods of from three to ten years, from 1815 on. In
18~8, Dr. Wm. Thompson located at Bethel, and remained
until his death, May 9, 1840. Since that period, Dr. 'Vm.
Ellsberry has been in practice, his son, Dr. 'V. S. Ells­
berry, being associated with him since 1878. Dr. Wm.
E. Thompson has been a practitioner at Bethel since 1860,
Dr. Julius D. Abbott since 1874, and Dr. Quincy A.
Brown since 1877. At sundry times since 1825 have also
been as physicians at Bethel, Drs. B. Thompson, 'V. B.
Chipley, Andrew F. McCall, S. Y. Thornton, L. T. Pease,
S. H. Chase, H. .Munger, S. S. Scoville, Dr. Hubbell, Dr~

Ronain, and a few others whose names cannot be recalled.
About 1840, Dr. D. 1\1. Frazee, a dental surgeon, began

the practice of his profession at Bethel, and with little
interruption continued until his death, in 1871.

SECRET ORDERS.

The township has the honor of having within her
bounds one of the oldest secret societies in the county. On
the 15th of December, 1820, a dispensation was granted to
organize a lodge of Masons at Bethel, and on the 12th of
December, 1821. a charter was duly granted to

BETIIEL LODGE, No. 61, F. AND A. 1\1.

The members named in the charter were George J.
Trautwine, the Master; Jonathan D. Morris, the Senior
'Varden; John A. Smith, the Junior 'Varden; John G.
Rogers, Benjamin J. Tingley, Houton Clarke, Isaac South,
Gideon Minor, and John Molyneaux.

The first initiates of the lodge were John Quinlan and
Jonathan Vandike, who were admitted to membership
April 11, 1821. Among other members received prior to
1885 were Abram Conrey, James Dunkinson, Walter
Knowles, Alfi'ed Weed, Lemuel John, Luther Case, 'Vil-

, Ham Clarke, W. L. Thompson, John Hess, E. A. 'Voods,
Seneca Palmer, Moses Larkin, John R. Tice, William Ross,
Joseph McKee, Paine Davis, Timothy Sprague, James
Ross, John K. Morris, Silas 1\1. Wheeler, 'Villiam Dowd­
ney, Richard Pemberton, Joshua Lambert, John Chapman,
Myers Seaton, Martin Gates, Peter H. Cookus, A. V. Hop­
kins, Richard H. Swain, William N. Beall, Reuben S.
Searl, George R Noble, Smith G. Clarke, Joseph A. Per­
rine, Randolph M. Sinks, John Irwin, Jesse P. Myers,
Robert Fee, Daniell\Iunn, Hiram Fagin, R. W. Clarke, G.
'V. Salt, and James Thomas.

The aggregate membership of the lodge has been'very
large, but death and removals have reduced it until at pres­
ent there are but 42 belonging. The officers for 1880 were
George N. Winder, 1\1.; Joseph A. Perrin~, S. W.; John
Sims, J. W.; John 'fribble, S. D.; Henry 'Vinder, J. D.;
George Thornton, 'freas.; R 1\1. 'fown, Sec.; J ames Fra­
zee, 'fyler; George lmrod and Ham Allcn, Stewards. For
many )'ears John Quinlan was the honored treasurer of the
lodge. Another ott the early members, Joseph A. Perrine,
has taken all the degrees of Ameri~an Masonry, and has

ever taken an active interest in the affairs of the Qrder, to
which he has belonged fifty years.

Since 1821 the following have been the lodge's Masters
and Secretaries:

.ilfasters.-1822-23, George J. Trautwine; 1824, Jona­
than Vandike; 1825,.John Quinlan; 18~6-27, George J.
Trautwine; 1828, N. n.. Beall; 1829-33, John Quinlan;
1834, J. K. Morris; 1885, Joseph A. Perrine; 1836-38,
R. M. Sinks; 1889, J. A. Perrine; 1840-46, R. 1\:1. Sinks;
1847, A. Glasgow; 1848-52, J. A. Perrine; 1853-56,
R. 1\1. Sinks; 1857, J. J. Norris; 1858, John Quinlan;
1859-60, George 'V. 'Vinder; 1861, John Quinlan; 1862
-63, George 'V. 'Vinder; 1864, R. 1\1. Sinks; 1865-66,
George 'V. 'Vinder; 1867-68, W. P. Thornton; 1869,
J. A. Perrine; 1870-74, George W. Winder; 1875, John
E. 'rribble; 1876, H. S. Reynolds; 1877-78, George W.
Winder.

Secrctaries.-1822-23, Jonathan Vandike; 1824-25,
.j. K. Morris; 1826, N. R. Beall; 1827, Paine Davis;
1828, A. V. Hopkins; 1829-31, George J. Trautwine;
1832-84, R. 1\1. Sinks; 1835-40, J. K. Morris; 1841,
James 'Vasson; 1842, J. 'V. Kennedy; 1843, James
'Vasson; 1844-47, D. A. McLain; 1848-49, R. 1\'1.
Griffith; 1850-51, James R. Musgrove; 1852, Jesse R.
Grant; 1853, J. A. Perrine; 1854-55, 1\1. F. Burke;
1856-59, J. C. l\Iorris; 1860-61, G. B. Johnson; 1862
-63, J. M. Leeds; 1864, N. Johnson; 1865, Peter Dean;
1866-71, R. 1\1. Griffith; 1872, George W. Elrod; 1873,
S. R. Williams; 1874, 'V. C. Frazee; 1875, George W.
Winder; 1876-78, S. R. Canter.

The first meetings of the lodge were held in an upper
room of the old Senator Morris residence, and afterwards
in John Quinlan's house. In 1828 an arrangement was
made with the school directors of district No.1, whereby
the Masons were allowed to add an additional story to the
school·house, which was then being built., for a lodge-room;
and when the old house was taken down and enlarged in
1858 the same arrangement was continued, and the roo~

at that time provided yet forms the hall for the use of the
Masons in Bethel.

BETHEL LODGE, No. ~20, r. O. O. F.,

was instituted at Masonic Hall, March 30, 1853, with the
following charter members: H. V. Kerr, N. G.; 'Villiam
C. Slade, V. G.; James J. Swing, Rec. Sec.; D. 1\1. Fra­
zee, Per. Sec. ; and Josiah Beebe, Treas. Among the early
initiates of the lodge were B. F. Penn, Theodore Hill, T.
M. J...ecds, Samuel W. Eder, Isaac Quinlan, Ham Allen,
Jesse Peterson, A. C. Moore, C. W. Swing, E. S. Cowell,
Francis Locknit, and G. W. Crane. The lodge entered
upon a career of prosperity which has continued to this
day, and although it has contributed many members to
form neighboring lodges, yet it has 69 belonging.

The meetings continued to be held in Masonic Hall until
the present Odd-Fellow's building was erected. It was oc­
cupied by the order first March 22, 1867. For the pur­
pose of erecting this building and to enable it to legally hold
other property, the lodge became an incorporate body April
28, 1865, with the following trustees: W. W. Burke, John
Studer, A. R. Griffith, and G. S. Salt, clerk. Mr. Burke
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is yet a member of the board, and has fOf his associates W.
A. :Frambes, Charles Swing, and James Dye. The other
officers for the first term in 1880 were W. \V. Caldwell, N.
G. j George Clare, V. G.; Daniel Finney, Sec. j D. E.
Carter, Per. Sec. j and H. G. Somermier, Treas.

From the institution of the lodge until the present time
the following have been the Noble Grands: 1853, H. V.
K~rr, ..w. C. Slade j 1854, J. J. Swing, I. S. Quinlan j

1855, 'V. C. Slade, G. \V. Crane; 1856, U. W. Swing,
S. 'V. Eder j 1857, A. D. Homan, J. 1\1. Goodwin j 1858,
W. 'V. Burke, S. S. Scoville; 1859, F. Locknit, J. R.
Still j 1860, C. A. Elrod, A. Thompson j 1861, I. S. Quill­
Ian, T. P. Holland j 1862, N. Johnson, J. P. Beck j 1863,
H. J. l\IcGohan, H. Allen; 1864, J. Studer, A. R. Grif­
fith; 1865, D. Eo Carter, William Ellsbe1Ty; 1866, G. T.
Salt, A. J. McGohan; 1867, Joseph Clare, J. F. Israel j

1868, B. C. Fewell, 'V. A. Frambes j 1869, no record j

1870, Levi Doughty, Joseph P~rker j 1871, George H.
Rader, --- j 1872, S. R. Williams, ·F. 1\1. Frazier j

1873, Charles Green, John McNeal j 1874, L. S. Frazier,
'V. H. Ulrey; 187n, 'V. H. Brown, L. A. South j 1876,
Ed. Elrod, W. C. Thorp; 1877, M. \V. Fagaley, J. D.
Phillips j 1878, J. C. Riley, J. D. Willis j 1879, A. Simp­
kins, James McMurchy.

EDUCATIONAL.

The records pertaining to the early schools of the town­
ship have l10t been preserved. Under the act of 1825
there were organized six whole and two fractional districts,
District No. 1 being composed of Bethel and the north­
eastern· part of Tate, and having 71 householders j the
Bantam district had 59. honseholders, imd the district in
the southern part of the township 41 householders. Not
including Bethel, there were, in 1879, twelve sub-districts,
and the members of the board of education were H. F.
Gray, president, C. W. Page, W. W. Burke, J. L. Koch­
enaur, George G. Coom, JiJdward Elrod, W. A. Altman,
S. B. Smith, T. E. Beck, S. Parrish, 1\:1. 1\1. Edwards, and
Joseph Clare. Sixteen weeks of school are maintained per
year at an expense of a little more than $3000. The total
number of pupils enrolled was (for 1879) 519. The value
of the school buildings was not reported.

The first school in the township was at Bethel, and
among the early teachers were Benjamin Morris and Orms­
kirk Boulware. Later other members of the Morris family
and Samuel Medary taught excellent schools.

BETHEL UNION SCHOOL.

The minutes of the meeting which led to the organiza­
tion of the special district of the incorporated village of
Bethel }lave not been preserved j but on the 23d of April,
1859, the first board of education was chosen and was com­
posed of W. L. Griffith, Joseph Thornton, S. S. Scoville,
N. A. Hitch, W. W. Fee, and Thomas Elrod. The latter
was chosen president, Joseph Thornton secretary, and W.
W. Fee treasurer. On the 13th of June, 1859, the board
of education adopted mles and regulations for the govern­
ment of the schoQI, and laid down a comprehensive course
of study which required ten years to complete. Dr. S. S.
Scoville, Dr. D. Frazer, and J. b. Morris were appointed a

42

board of examiners, and, with the appointment of J. C. Mor­
ris as principal, and Miss E. Headley and Miss H. J..I. Cook
as assistant teachers, for the year beginning the third Mon­
day in September, 1859, the school was fairly organized,
and opened under fhvorable auspices.

The enumeration of youth at this period showed 133
white male and 106 white female children, living in the
district, .and 6 children of color. The presence of t,he
latter caused much discussion as to their right to attend
school. It was finally resolved, Feb. 1, 1860, "That, in

. the opi~ion of this board of education, children of less than
one·half white blood are not entitled to attend the public

. school, and that the superintendent be instructed to notify
the parents or guardians of the following children, that
they are excluded, viz.: William Brown, 1\10se8 Brown,
Andrew Brown, Emily Brown, and -- Blackwood."
. Having passed safely over this reef the school was not

materially distracted by any foreign element for many years,
and its general conduct has been harmonious and prosper­
ous. It has enjoyed the labors of the following principals:
J. C. Morris, Z. Riley, Z...w. Fagin, W. O. Hopkins, O.
P. Cook, F. C. Harvey, Thomas D. Scott, W. H. Ulrey,
and W. R. Page. The latter became connected with the
school in 1878, and: assisted by L. S. Thompson, Kate
Altman, and Lizzie Richards, is yet in charge.

The board of education in 1880 was composed of Albert
A. Crane, president j Jerome Behymer, ~ecretary j H. U.
Reed, treasurer; and Daniel E. Carter, ~I. J. Swing, and
A. C. McKibben, associate members. .'.

The Union School was opened in the house erected by
district No.1 in 1853, and which is most generaliy known
as :i\1asonic Hall, from the fact that the Masons added the
third story and have since occupied it for their ineetings.
Its construction cost the district $1600, and Alexander Carr
did the brick-work. With the growth of the village and
the success of the Union School came a demand for a build­
ing of more spacious accommodations. The proposition· to
erect a larger house was submitted as early as March· 16,
1867, but of a total vote of 95 only 19 favored the project.
For eight years the question was agitated, and on the 17th
of' May, 1875, it was brought to a final issue; 69 voting to
build a new house and 66 opposing such a measure. J. l\t
Goodwin and 'V. E.Thompson, two of the most active pro­
moters of the enterprise, were authorized to prepare plans
for the new building, and soon work went on apace on the
edifice. It is a two-story brick, 51 by 69 feet, with the
front and rear walls slightly recessed the width of the main
hall, and the centre of the hou~e is surmounted by a light
belfry. Internally are six rooms and a fine hall, 28 by 51
feet. The building presents a very creditable appearance,
and cost about $7000. It was first occupied for school
purposes in the faIl of 1877. Since it has been taught in
the new house the Union School has taken a merited place
among the many' excellent schools of the county. In 1879
it was attended by 106 boys and 103 girls, graded as pri­
mary scholars, and instructed at a cost of nearly $1200.

The following have been the principal officers of the
board of education since 1859:

'Presidents.-1860, 'V. L. Griffith j 1861-62, 'rhomas
Elrod j 1863-64, B. F. South; 1865, D. M. Frazer j 1866-·
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68, Charles Green; 1869-71, H. C. Goodwin; 1872-75,
J. :M. Goodwin; 1876-78, H. C. Goodwin.

Sec1·efm·ies.-1860, Joseph Thornton; 1861-64, Charles
Green; 1865-75, ·W. E. Thompson; 1876, 'V. L. Swing;
1877, ,Yo H. Ulrey; 1878, Jerome Behymer.

1reasu;·e1·s.-1860-61, 'V. 'V. Fee; 1862,A. C. Salt;
1863, D. 1\1. Frazer; 1865, E. A. South; 1866, H. C.
Goodwin; 1869-73, H. G. Somerimer; 1874-76, A. R.
Salt; 1877, H. G. Somerimer; 1878, H. U. Reed.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

Tate was settled by a class of people whose religious con­
victions were strongly develop'ed, and who early made pro­
vision to observe the forms of public worship. The first
meetings were held in the rude cabins of the pioneers, or,
if the weather permitted, in the leafy temples which the
Giver of all bounties provided. Yet at an early day the
Methodists built one of the first meeting-houses in the
county in the Collins neighborhood, and the lot on which
it stands has been consecrated ground ever since. But the
first organized religious body in Tate was

THE REGULAR BAPTIST CHURCH OF BETHEL,

whose bpginning dated from 1799, if not earlier. The
original members numbered but 6, and were Jeremiah Beck,
Sr., Jeremiah Beck, 11'., Obed Denham, Mary Denham,
Charity Beck, and Kelly Burke. The church docs not
seem to have been supplied with a pastor prior to 1805, at
which time the Rev. Moses Hutchings assumed this rela­
tion, and with the settlement of the country came a large
number of members who were heartily in sympathy with
the avowed tenets of the church, and especially with the
position it took upon the slavery question. No fellowship
was allowed with anyone who had an interest in slavery or
who regarded the institution as just, and consequently,
while the church prospered because it had taken this de­
cided position in favor of the right, it also drew upon itself
the .reproach of many bitter enemies. In general, however,
its career has ~een one of prosperity. Among the mem­
bers belonging prior to 1828, in addition to the above, were
the following: Anna Lewis, Sears Crane, Sarah Crane, Levi
Beck, John Frazee, Luther Crane, Debby Hutchings, Dan­
iel Osborne, Mary Brown, Peter Smith, Rebecca Hewitt,
Moses C. Edwards, Obed E. Denham, Sarah Denham, Isaac
A. Morris, James Burke, Mary Halse, Rachel Stultz, Sa-

.rah Gibbs, .John K. Morris, Laura Trautwine, Ruth Goble,
H. Frazee, Moses Edwards, John Denham, Benjamin Os­
borne, Susan Osbornel Chris. Hartman, Mary Hartman,
Elizabeth Robbins, Rebecca Bricker, Samuel Beck, Tim­
othy Edwards, Nancy Boulware, Thomas West, H~nnah

Elrod.
On the 27th of July, 1806, Jeremiah Beck was or­

dained to the office of deacon, the first of which we have
any account, and on tIle 6th of Angust, 1808, the church,
to accommodate its members living in WiIIiamsburgh, held
a meeting there, celebrating the communion the following
day.

May 27, 1809, "Sears Crane was licensed to preach
whenever the Lord in his providence shall call him." At
various times the church also ordain~d the following to the

office of the ministry: Rev. J. K. Morris, May 6, 1840 ;
Rev. Aaron K. Sargent, Aug. 30, 1845; Rev. Richard
King, April 21, 1855.

In 1814 the church first took action in regard to build­
ing a house of worship, and appointed John Denham to
draw up a subscription-list to secure the necessary funds,
but it was 1101. until April 27, 1816, that a final resolution
was made to build a meeting-house on lot 176, which had
been set aside for this purpose by the proprietor of the vil­
lage, Obed Denham. The following year the first trustees
were clected, namely, Kelly Burke, Timothy Edwards, Levi
Beck, and Jeremiah Beck, clerk.

On the 25th of September, 1819, the ordination of Jona­
than Tingley to the office of deacon is noted, and a few
years later appears a minute relating to the church on
Clover Creek, which was granted liberty to worship in the
new meeting-house, providing the society at that place
!V0uld unite in completing it. The house was not com­
pleted until several years later, and was used for the meetings
of the church until 1853, when the village purchased it for
a town hall, and later it was removed to the old tan-yard,
where it is yet used as an adjunct Of that business. The
present house was built, after much exertion, the same
year, but was not consecrated until August, 1854. It is a
neat brick edifice, and well affords a spiritual home for the
society. The present trustees are H. U. Reed, David Os­
borne, and Charles Davis.

The pastors of the church have been the following rev­
erend gentlemen: Moses Hutchings, Moses Edwards, Aaron
Sargent, James Sargent, Aaron K. Sargent, George Sapp,
1\1. Jones, G. W. Taylor, J. K. Morris, E. S. Riley, Rich­
ard King, ·Wm. Spoldon, W. H. Dolby,. E. H. Hera, and
since May 4, 1879, G. W. Churchill. A membership of
157 is reported, with W. W. Smith, David Osborne, Loran
Pool, and Charles Davis as deacons. Timothy E. Beck is
the church clerk. A flourishing Sunday-school, having
more than 100 members, is maintained by the church.

TIlE POPLAR FORK BAPTIST CHURCH

was organized May 6, 1842, with the following members:
J. S. Boggess, Nancy Boggess, Levi Beck, Abigail Beck,
Jordan Harris, Margaret Harris,· Joseph Dorrell, Margaret
Dorrell, J. W. Riley, A. J. Riley, F. C. Riley, Eli Riley,
George Stultz, Susannah Canter, Abram Coffman, George
Halse, and Mary Halse. The following y.ear a small but
neat frame meeting-house was built on the Felicity pike,
near Higginsville, by a buildinp; committee composed of'
Jordan Harris, J. S. Boggess, Levi Beck, George Halse, and
J. C. Gravitt. The official organization has not been
closely kept up, and William Halse is at present the only
member of the board of trusteefl. For a time the church
flourished, but a number of causes tended to reduce the
membership to but a few persons. The deacons in the order
of the service have been John S. Boggess, Jordan Han'is,
James Canter, M. Tribble, Thomas Canter, Daniel Altman,
and 'William Halse; and the church has had the ministry
of the following reverend gentlemen: Josiah Denham,
George Sapp, A. K. Sargent, J. K. Morris, Thomas Elrod,
William H. Dolby, J. D. Hatfield, W. D. Spoldon, Joseph
Hawkins, and 'V. Jol. Jermane.



COL. WILLIAM THOMAS.

Col. William Thomas was born Aug. 16, 1801, in Red­
stone Fort, Washington Co., Pa. His father, James Thomas,
was born near Annapolis, on the Eastern Shore of ~{aryland,

in 1779, and his mother, whose maiden name was Rebecca
Lyons Clark, and of Holland Dutch descent, was born in 1775,
in Monmouth County, N. J., and was a little girl when
Washington fought the battle of Trenton. The grandfather
of the subject of this sketch was William 'I'homas, born on
the Eastern Shore of Marsland i while his great-grnndfather
was John Thomas, who came to America from Wales about
the year IG80, was a very large plantet·, and sel'ved for years
as high sheriff in the Maryland Colony. James Thomas, in the
year 1805, accompanied by Joseph Smith, moved with their
families to Ohio and landed at Columbia. He located in
Hamilton County, where Madisonville now stands, and where
he purchased fifty acres of land. There he lived ten years,
and there his wife died. In 1815 he removed to Clermont
County in the Witham settlement, where he had bought a
farm in 1807. 001. Thomas was the eldest of his parents'
eighteen children,-nine boys nnd nine girls. James Thomas
had six children by his first wife, of whom five are yet living,
/lnd twelve by his second wife, Levina Walworth. William
was raised on a farm, attended the district school in a log
cabin two or three months of winters, and was eight years old
before he evel' wore a hat. His futher died in 1859, in his
eightieth year. Cut Thomas was married in November,
1825, to Eliza Doan, sister of Dr. Wmiam Doan, of Withlll11S­
ville, a Congressman from this district from 1839 to 1843.
To them were born the following children: Hebecca, married
to William Iden i Willium D. i 1Illrr~et, married to Samuel
Atchley i Elizu i and De Witt Olinton. The second time he
was married to Lucinda DoaTt, a sister of his first wife
(deceased). His third marriage was to Mrs. J;;lectl'a S. Brag­
don, widow of Dr. George B. Bragdon, and daughter of nev.
John Collins, the famous and eloquent pioneer preacher who
led and established the noted Jersey settlement in Olermont
by locating himself, in 1803, on the East Fork nt the historic
II Horse-Shoe Bottom," afterwnrds the well-known residence
of his distinguished son, Gen. Richard Collins. 001. Thomas
lived at Withamsville until 1833, when he was elected sheriff
of the county and moved to Bntavia. He was re-elected to
this office in 1835 with no opposition, so great was his efficiency
and popularity. Upon the expiration of his two terms as
sheriff' he began merchandising in the building or 011 the site
in Batavia where Sutton's store now is, and in this trade

continued for several years. During this time, Hon. James
Ferguson having retired from the publication of the Olermont
Sun, the Democratic organ, Col. Thomas controlled and
operated the paper for two or three weeks, employing for a
time a :Mr. Gobright, from Washington City, as its editor.
After the disnstrous defeat of 1837 to the Democratic party in
the county the paper was kept alive. mainly by the colonel's
efforts, and the party, largel;r by his labors, was in a few years
enabled to gain the ascendancy again. In 1839 he was elected
county treasurer, and re-elected in 1841, serving in all four
years, and making, as he had when sheriff, a faithful and
popular officer. He then moved to Elk Lick Mills, where for
several years he wus in business keeping store and running
the mills. In 1866 he moved to the fine farm near Buntam, in
Tate township, where he hns ever since resided. While living
at Witlutmsville he was a trustee of Union township. He
held the office of lieutenant in the Ohio militia before he was
eighteen years of age, was afterwnrds captain, and from 1825
to 1833 colonel of his regiment, whi.ch used to drill and muster
at 'Squire Chapman Archer's place. When he Wl1S sllCriff' he
used to take his prisoners sentenced to the penitentiury b.v
horseback to Columbus, and it required a week to muke the
round trip. The colonel is now in his eightieth yellr, but is
very hale and hearty, and comes of an old Revolntionary stoek
long lived and famous in the early annals of the country.
His grundfl1ther, William Thomas, of Bladensburg, District
of Columbin, was captain of a troop of horse Minute-Men in
the ]{evolution, and served under" Light-Horse Hurry Lee."
In after-years the celebrated Thomus family divided on the
slavery question, and some members of it, large planters and
slaveholders, sold or emancipated tllCir slaves, mostly the
latter. The colonel's father's uncle, James Thomas, settled
in Butler Co., Ohio, but nfterwards in Greene Co., Ky.,
in which State also located Evan Thomas. William, a
cousin of the colonel, settled at "Waverly, Mo., was an
old bachelor, owned fifteen thousand acres of land, and
vast personal property of which the Rebellion stripped him.
Col. 'I'homas' only son, William Doan Thomas, lives in
Nebraska, where he is one of the wealthiest men in that
young State. But few men in this county have been better
or more favorably known thun Col. 'l'homtls, who for a third
of a century was !1 controlling man in its affairs, political, mili­
tary, and financial, and in his advuneed age, surrounded with a
pleasant home, he can with honor and satisfaction look over his
long life spent in usefulness to the public and bis fellow-men.
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THE METHODIST EPISC01lAL CHURCH AT BETHEL

had among its pioneer members Moses Warden (the class­
leader and local preacher), Samuel Nelson, Abner and Lu­
ther Orane, Michael Ellsberry, John S. Oarter, Mrs. Ben­
jamin Morris, and others whose ~ames are no.t now remem­
bered. The preaching which this class had at that time
(3;bout 1808) was held at the house of Michael Ellsberry
every four weeks; but in 1814 the class had increased to
such an extent that larger accommodations were deI!landed,
and the same year a brick meeting-bouse was built by
1\:licbael Ellsberry, which was used for church and school
purposes until 1830, when a larger church edifice was
erected on the same street, about opposite tbe prese~t school
building. This was so poorly constructed that a new house
was necessary before the society had outgrown the old one,
and in 1860 tbe present edifice was erected, much of the
material of the old house entering into its construction.
The work was superintended by 'William Fee and William
Ellsberl'Y, and this house, though plain, affords a comfort­
able place of worship. Adjoining is a comfortable parson­
age, which was secured in 1848, when Jesse R. Grant, an
active member of the church, was on the board of trustees.
The present trustees of the property are William Ellsberry,
John Durbam, Daniel Oarter, H. C. Goodwin, W. A. Ells­
berry, Joseph Raper, and H. G. Somermier.

The church at Bethel has enjoyed the ministerial ser­
vices furnished by the :l\'Iiami, White Oak, West 'White
Oak, Moscow, and Bethel Oircuits, belonging at present to
the latter division. The charge embraces appointments at
Olover, Bethel, IJakin, Point Isabel, and Mount Olive
Ohurches, and is at present served by Rev. J. H. Middleton.
The resident local preachers are the Revs. John Durham,
George W. Swing, and Thomas Grange. The entire mem­
bership of the Oircuit at the last annual Conference was
reported at 450, which was divided into the following
classes: Olover (2), Lycurgus Holmes and William Oolthar,
leaders; Bethel (3), E. A. South, Daniel Oarter, and H.
G. Somermier, leaders; Olermont, George 1\1. Pemberton,
leader; Lakin (2), E. R. Salt and Philip Milner, leaders;
Point Isabel (3), Daniel Fee, Abijah Armacost, and George
Thompson, leaders; Mount Olive (2), Wesley McKenzie
and William Black, leaders. The recording steward of the
Bethel Oircuit in 1880 was E. R. Salt. At Bethel is a
good :Methodist Sunday-school, which is superintended by
William Richards.

The ministers of Bethel Oircuit and dle territory which
it now embraces have been the following, the names of the
presiding elders being omitted:

Miami Oi1·cldt..-1799-1800, Henry Smith; 1801, E.
Bowman, Benjamin Young; 1802, E. Bowman; 1803,
John Sale, Joseph Oglesby; 1804, John Meek, Abraham
Amos; 1805, Benjamin Lakin, Joshua Reggin; 1806,
Benjamin Lakin, John Oollins; 1807, Samuel Parker,
Hector Sanford.

Wldte Oalc Ob·cldt.-1808, David Young; 1809, John
Johnson; 1810, Isaac 'Pavey j 1811, Benjamin Lakin, Eli
Trentt; 1812, W. Griffith, Reuben Rowe; 1813, nobert
W. :b'inley, D. Sharp; 1815, John Strange, S. Ohenoweth;
1816, John Strange, Isaac Pavey; 1817, W. Griffith,
James Simmons; 18i8, B. Westlake, S. T. 'Wells; 1819,

F. Landrum; 1820, William Page, L. Swormstedt; 1821,
A. V{. Elliott, Z. Oonnell; 1822, William Page, Benjamin
Lawrence; 1823, D. D. Davidson, Samuel West; 1824,
G. ·W. Maley, J. Everhart; 1825, G. ;R. Jones, W. J.
Thompson; 1826, G. R. Jones, Levi White; 1827, A.
'V. Elliott, Levi White; 1828, A. W. Elliott, A. F.
Baxter" James Smith; 1829, B. Westlake, A. F. Baxter,
J. W. Finley; 1830, B. Westlake, James Baxter, J. W.
Finley; 1831, William D. Barrett, Joseph Leedrum, B.
Frazee.; 1832, William Simmons, John M. Goshorn; 1833,
G. W. Maley, H. E. Pitcher; 1834, G. W. Maley, James
Parcels; 1835, J. W., Olarke, William Rowe; 1836, John
Oollins, 'N. T. Hand; 1837, Ebenezer B. Chase, Alfred
Hance j 1838, Ebenezer B. Ohase, John Stewart; 1839,
William J. Ellsworth, Edward Estill; 1840, Wesley Rowe,
Edward Estill; 1S·H, William Parrish, J. G. Dimmitt;
1842, Isaac Ebbert, J. G. Dimmitt; 1843, G. R. J oncs,
James G. Blair; 18-1:4-45, 'YiUiam S. Morrow, Joseph
Gassner; 1846-51, no minutes.

West Wldte Oalc·Circllit.-1852, A. Murphy, H. Baker;
1853, L. P. Miller, Michael Bitler; 1854, L. P. Miller,
William E. Hincs; 1855, O. R. Lowell, Joseph Blackburn.

MoscolO CVrcuit.-1856, J. Fitch, J. Shea, T. S. Dunn j

1857, J. Fitch, P. Glasscock; 1858, J. Armstrong, P.
Glasscock; 1859, J. Armstrong, D. Callahan; 1860, J. O.
Maddy, J. P. Shultz; 1861, J. O. Maddy, J. L. Gregg;
1862-63, 'William Q. Shannon, T. Head; 1864, W. W.
Ramsey, J. At:mstrong; 1865, S. W. EdmL"ton, J. Arm­
strong; 1866, S. W. Edmiston, H. M. Ourry j 1867, E. P.
James, H. M. Ourry.

Bethel Ot1·cuit.-1868-69, T. E. Fidler; 1870-72, R.
E. Smith; 1S73, W. E. Hines; 1874, D. D. Oheney;
1875, W. F. Mappin·; 1876-78, A. D. Maddox; 1879,
J. Ii. Middleton.

THE CLERMONT CHAPEL OF THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL •
CHURCH,

forming a part of the Bethel Oircuit, is one and a half miles
southwest from Bethel, and was built before 1858 to afford
a place of meeting for a class of Methodists living in that
locality. Among the pioneer members were George West,
leader; George Swing, Samuel Bennett, BiehnI'd Pemberton,
William Frazier, and others, who worshiped in the West
school-house until the chapel was built. The chapel is no
longer regarded as a regular appointment, the members at­
tending church at Bethel.

LAKIN CHAPEL OF THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

This house of worship was built in 1849-50, on a lot
which was donated for this purpose by James Hill, west of
Wigginsville, by a building committee composed of Edward
Salt, George W. Salt, James Hill, Daniel O'Hara, and
Daniel Altman. The church was dedicated by Father
John Meek, and the class which then occupied it changed
its place of meeting from the old log school-house in this
locality. Besides the building committee mentioned, the
early members were J ames a~d Daniel McLain, and Joseph
Saunders. The present trustees are John N. and John L.
Fisher, John H. Boggess, John O'Hara, John ·W. Thomp­
son, Daniel Altman, and James Hill. The chapel belongs
to Bethel Oircuit, as does, also,
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THE MOUNT OLIVE l\IETllODIST EPISCOPAL CilUnCH,

in the southem part of 'fate. Previous to 18·10 the Meth­
odists in that lIeighborhood he1«.] their meetings in the Good­
win sch091.house in Franklin townsllip; but that year,
through the efforts of Wesley 'Winters and George Swope,
funds were raised to erect a meeting-house 011 the fiu"m of
Wesley Winters, on the Felicity Pike. In the organization
of the society which followed, 'Veslcy Winters, George
Swope, James F. Sargent, Simeon Goodwin, Warren Rich­
ards, John Horton, and Robert \Vintcrs were chosen trus­
tees. The house was dedicated in I8-n, by Benjamin
Lakin. It cost originally $1200, and has since been re­
paired, being at present in fair condition. \Vesley Winters
has been a trustee of the church continuously since the
year 1840.

In the Bantam neighborhood Methodism has flourished
since 1803, when it was introduced there by the Rev. John
Collins, and ,at his house the first meetings were heM.
Among the early members of the class were persons belong­
ing to the Collins, Higbee, McCullom, J ustiee: DrumlUond,
Clark, :lIld other families, living along the ]~ast Fork.
About 1807 a log meeting-house was erected by the society,
which was callcd

THE BETHEL :i\IETIlODIST CilURClI,

which was on a lot of ground given by John Collins. A
dozen years later a larger house was demanded by the grow­
ing membership, and in 1819, James Blackman erected the
frame of the present church, which has been brought to its
present condition by several repairs. For many years the
members of this church belonged to Laurel, but in 1876 a
new circuit was formed with the name of Bantam (which
embraces the" Bethel" Church, Concord, in \ViIliamsburgh,
and 1\1ount Pisgah, in Ohio township, and which had Rev.
J. F. McColm as preacher in charge. He was succeeded
by the present minister, the Hev. George \V. Fee. In the
Collins neighborhood are two classes, having Frank Dunlap
and Robert Blair as leaders i at Concord one, Benjamin
'Vilson, leader i and at 1\1ount Pisgah foul', John Terwilli­
ger, James Dillon, John Wilson, and Arthur \Vyatt,
leaders. The aggregate membership is about 300. 'John
'V. Lindsey is the recording steward, and Nathaniel Daly
a local preacher.

TIlE CHRISTIAN CHUlWII AT BETHEL.

Prior to 1820, Mathew Gardner, George Fisher, David
Hathaway, and George Vandament held occasional meet­
ings at private houses, at which were preached the simple
doctrines of the Christian Church, and which, in successive
years, were proclaimed by Samuel Rogers, Peter Shick, J.
T. Powell, and Alonzo Knowles. Following these early
meetings was the organization of the church at Bethel,
Nov. 3, i~21, by Elder Mathew Gardner, the members
agreeing to take the" Scriptures for our rule in faith and

, practice."
The covenanting members were Nathan Oliver, H.ebecca

Oliver, Shadrach Tribble, Alanson Tribble, Amelia Tribble,
Naney Tribble, Samuel Thompson, Anna Thompson, Jo­
seph McChesney, Sarah McChesney, Mary Townsley, Lydia
Varley, Jacob Chatterton, Lucinda_Chatterton, Charity

Beck, Elizabeth Vanosdol, John Conover, Jemima COll.O­
vel', Davis Crane, Sarah Crane, Isaac South, Elisha n.
1'hompson, Mary 1'hompson, George Ulrey, Lydia Ulrey,
and a few others.

Among the early trustees were Davis Crane, Luther
Crane, Joseph McChesney, Isaac South, George Ulrey, E.
n. Thompson, David Thompson, Jacob Chatterton, and it
was some years before the first meeting-house was built
which is now occupied by :Mr. Tice, the society having
provided itself with a new house of worship, which it yet
uses.

From 1826 till 1836 an aggregate of 160 persons belonged
to the CilUl'ch, which, the latter year, dissolved it.s connec­
tion with the Southern Ohio Oonference, and became con­
nected with those Christians who accepted the teachings of
'Valter Scott and Alexander Campbell; and the church
has since adhered to that branch of Christians, having no
creed but the Bible.
,- E. H. Thompson was one of the first elders of the

church, and served most acceptably and faithfully until his
removal. His associate was John Pierce, who, in March,
1852, was ordained to his office, and Ezekiel I...ockwood,
Samuel 1\'1. Cook, and E. E. Turner to the deaconship,
Elder J. T. Powell officiating. He was for many years the
preacher of' the church, being most devout and faithful, and
had as co-laborers Elder Otho Pearre, Elder David Thomp­
son, Jr., Wm. Pinkerton, J. n. Lucas, Wm. Patterson,
George Oampbell, and H. R. Pritchard. In the fall of
1851, Elder J. H. Lockwood began his pastoral labors
with this church, preaching in connection with some of
the above named, and this wa::l his first engagement as a
preacher. He remained with the church until 1854,
when he moved to Madison, Ind., and Otho Pearre was
employed to preach one-fourth of his time. Subsequently,
Elders J. M. 'Vhite, Josephus Blair, J. D. Mathews, 'f. J.
Murdock, and others were the preachers until 1862, when
Elder J. H. Lockwood again became the pastor, and has
since served as such, his labord occupying oue-half' of his
time.

The new chapel was built in 1867, and at the dedication
Elder William Pinkerton and Dr. James Hopple assisted
the pastor. Its cost was $-HOO, and the building commit­
tee were W. T. Cook, Samuel Ulrey, Samuel 1\1. Cook,
\Yilliam Ulrey, and J. H. Loc~cwood. The house is ot'
brick, 34 by 58 feet, and has accommodations for 350 per­
sons. The present trustees are Samuel Ulrey, A. J. Mc­
Gohan, and William Swing. Other official members of the
church are J. H. Lockwood, Pastor i Samuel :M. Cook and
1\1. G. Thompson, Elders; Redmond Hanley, Samuel
Ulrey, 'V. A. Lockwood, and Amos B. Cook, Deacons; A.
It. Scott, Clerk i Amos B. Cook, Treasurer i and W. A.
Lockwood, Sunday-school Superintendent.

Both the church and Sunday-school have been fairly
prosperous, the former having had 550 members, with 180
belonging at present; to the latter from 50 to 100 belong.
David 1'hompson, Jr., Aaron Chatterton, Sterling E.
Pearre, and J. H. Lockwood. originated from the church
as ministers, and the society at Bethel has always exerted a
marked influence in the councils of the church, promoting
and directing its various enterprises.
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THE ANTIOCH CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

The constituent members of tllis body were Jonas and
Samuel Trissler, John Shinkle, Joseph Jones, their wives,
and John Trissler,-nine in alI,-who worshiped in the
school-house at Poe Town until the meeting-house was
built, about 1853, on a lot of'land donated by James Davis.
~he church has greatly prospered, and has at present 182
members, under the pastoral direction of the Rev. James
Lowell, who also preaches for the Boat Ru~ Church and
the newly organized Christian Church in Pierce township.
~rhe first minister and the organizer of the church was
Peter Devure. Other ministers serving the church were
Charles Manchester, George Mefford, S. S. Morris, A. J.
Abbott, and Uufus McDaniels. The sole clerk of the
church has been Samuel Trissler. The first deacons were
John Shinkle and J oseph Jones, and these, wit.h 'Vesley
Boner, yet serve. For many years Hiram Trissler has been
superintendent of a Sunday-school maintained in the sum­
mer season.

THE SUGAR-TREE RUN WESLEYAN METHODIST
CHURCH.

This was the first. church of that denomination organized
in the county. It was formed by the Rev. S. H. Chase,
in the Presbyterian Church at Nicholsville, in April, 1845,
of six persons. At the next meeting 13 more joined, and
ere long a large class was constituted, of which Isaac H.
Brown was the leader. Among the early members were
Catherine Brown, J:'ames Bunton, Sarah Bunton, Robert
Doughty, 'William Doane, Jedediah Doane, G: P. Riley,
Sarah Riley, Benjamin Rice, Jane Rice, Oliver Crane, Eliza
Crane, Henry Tracy, Uichard Brandriff, Rhoda Brandl'iff,
:Martha Tracy, Alfred Jackson, Levi Hopkins, Daniel Fee,
Matilda Fee, Elizabeth Rogers, William ClingIer, Diana
ClingIer, Mathew Moses, Charlotte Moses, 1\1ary Hance,
.John Frazer, Rebecca Frazer, Peter Hastings, John F.
Rogers, Delilah H.ogers, H.ichard 1\:lace, Nancy Mace, Frank
Taylor, Abigail Lane, William Frazer, Sr., Sarah Frazer,
O...W. Vanosdol, Francis Vanosdol, J eptha Jones, Char­
lotte Jones, and William'Riley.

In the spring of 1~48 a board of trustees was chosen,
which was composed of Daniel Fee, O. Crane, G. P. Riley,
Benjamin Rice, and 1. H. Brown, who erected a meeting­
house the same season, on a lot of ground donated for this
purpose by I. H. Brown, two miles southwest from Bethel.
The house was dedicated free of' debt by the Rev. P. A.
Ogden, and afforded a comfortable place of worship as long
as the, society had an existence. It is yet standing, but
has becn transferred to the trustees of the township for
use on funeral occasions. The removal of some of' the
most active members of the church, and the formati.on of
other churches at more central points, impaired the strength
of the society to such an extent that it was not deemed
advisable to continue its organization, and it was allowed to
go down about ten years ago.

Among the ministers who served the church were the
Revs. S. H. Chase, L. Pettijohn, M. Harker, Thomas Mc­
Neilan, John W. Chalfimt, Daniel Worth, Walter Yancy,
John O'Neil, G. P. Riley, Joshua Boucher, Z. Fagan, John
L. Fall, J. W. Hyatt, and a few others for short periods,
who also served other Wesleyan Churches.

THE WESLEYAN .METHODIST CHURCH OF BETHEL

was organized in the winter of 1853. In' February of that
year the Revs. D. Worth and W. C. Yancy, Wesleyan
ministers, and Rev. T. D. Jay, a local preacher, co-operated
with the Met.hodist Church of Bethel in holding revival
meetings, which were attended with unusual interest, and
which produced many conversions. After a short time the
use of the house by the Wesleyans was forbidden, and their
meetings were then held in the school.. house, which was
also closed against them in the course of a few months.
The old Baptist church, and later, the town hall, were
then used, rent being required at the rate of 25 cents per
sermon. At a still later day the society held its meetings
in Temperance Hall. But the church prospered to such
an extent that, on the 29th of May, 1853, it was voted
that a church edifice be erected. Accordingly, Isaac H.
Brown, Benjamin Rice, an~ H. Munger were appointed a
building committee to put up a brick house, 40 by 50 feet,
on a lot of ground on Main Street, purchased of 'tValter
Burke. Nelson Gibson, Willimll Wilkerson, Thomas Cor­
bet, H. Munger, and James Bunton were also elected the
first trustees, and after a year's work the church was dedi­
cated May 21, 1854, by Rev. Noah Hough. At this time
there were 58 members, and on the day of dedication six
more joined. These constituted two classes, led hy Nelson
Gibson and T. J. Morris. The aggregate membership of
the church has been more than 200, and at present num­
bers 75.

The official bourd at this time (January, 1880) is com­
posed of John Frazer, O. ,V. Vanosdol, Isaac H. Brown,
G. W. Clare, Levi Pemberton, Trustees, and Frank Smith,
Thomas CalIon, and Q. A. Brown, Stewards. The church
was formerly connected with Felicity and Laurel in forming
a cil·cuit. and had about the same pastors as the Sugar-Tree
Run Church. The present minister is the Rev. J. L. Fall.
A successful Sunday-school has long been maintained by
the church, and for the seven years has been superintended
by Joseph Clare. An avcrage attendance of 75 members
is reported.

THE UNIVERSALIST SOCIETY AT BETHEL

was organized about 1840, and embraced among its original
members 'Villiam Griffith, Lafayette Crane, Philip Elrod,
J amcs Denham, Benjamin Denham, Joseph Thornton,
George Brown, Samuel Eder, etc. An old store-room on
Plane Street was purchased and fitted up for a house of
worship while the society had an existence, about a dozcn
years, when it was removpd and converted into a shop.
Among the ministers who preached here are remembered
the Revs. Pingrey, Emmett, Gurley, and others fro~ Cin­
cinnati.

THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF BANTAM

originated from th'e old Presbyterian Church in Monroe, in
consequence of a division into Old and New Schools, the
members of the New School transferring their interests to
Bantam in 1861, where the meetings were first held in the
old school-house. On the 28th of August, 1864, the so­
ciety became an incorporated body, with Samuel Simpson,
William Portcr, Sr., aod John C. Reddish a~ a board of
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trustees. The present church edifice at Bantam was begun
the same year and completed the next, and is an inviting
and substantial place of' worship. It was dedicated Aug.
27, 1865. At that time Rev. J. L. French was the pastor,
and was followed by the Rev; H. A. Ketchum, who was
connected with the church in 1872, when the members of
the session were George W. Hays, 'WilIiam Porter, Alex­
ander Porter, Job Malsbel'l'Y, and Samuel Simpson, Elders;
and L.·W. Hitch and A. J. Justice, Deacons. In 1874
Rev. 'V. C. \Vest became the pastor, and the church was re­
organized, the following being elected as official members:
Alexander Porter, F. E. H. Kemper, William Porter, Job
1\1alsberry, Elders; David White and Charles 1\1alsber1'Y,
Deacons; 1\1. 1\1. Edwards, George Swanson, Sr., George
Swanson, Jr., and L. It White, Trustees; and :Miss Hattie
Simpson, Treasurer. In the main these officers yet serve,
and since January, ]875, the Rev. William Carson has
been the pastor of the church. The aggregate number of
members has been 103, and at present 75 belong. A good
Sabbath-school is maintained the year throughout, which
has F. Eo H. Kemper for superiutendent. A fmther
account of the early history of the church may be found ill
the pages devoted to the history of the township of Monroe.

•••

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

S. B. SMITH.

Samuel Brown Smith was born Feb. 10, 1811, on the
banks of Bullskin Creek, near Feesburg, Brown Co., Ohio.
His mother's maiden name was Mary Richardson, born Oct.
16,1789, and reared in Brown County, on Bullskin Creek.
She is still living in. her ninety-first year, and often tells of
the privations of the pioneer days, and the Indian out­
rages that preceded the victory of Wayne in 1794. In
her sixteenth year she was married to William Smith, a
native of Ireland, who emigrated to America at an early
day, and settled near Feesburg. After their marriage they
located on Cherry Fork of Brush Creek, in Adams Co.,
Ohio, where she yet lives. They had four girls, Sarah,
Lucinda, Mary Ann, Nancy, and one son, Samuel Brown,
the subject of this sketch. William Smith served through­
out the war of 1812, and died in 1817, leaving his wife with
five small children to care for and but limited means at her
command,-only a piece of land lying in the woods. In
1819 she married Nathan Plummer, who owned no prop­
erty, but was a good worker and a kind stepfather, and with
him the children lived until they Juarried and settled Gown
in life. The country being sparsely settled, the schools
were few and inferior, but Samuel B. obtained a good edu-

o cation, and. subsequently taught district school, singing­
school, and writing-school, being an excellent penman, and

. highly proficient. In 1839 he went to Indiana and taught
at Walnut Grove, Montgomery Co., of that State, and in
the spring of 1840 entered one hundred and twenty acres
of land in Owen County of the same State. In 1842 he re­
turned to Ohio, and traded for the old Sarah Gray farm of
one hundred acres, one-half mile southwest of Poe Town, in

Tate township, of this county. Oct. 19, 1843" he was
married to Keziah Jane Wilson, who was born Nov. 16,
1815, near Jacksonville, Adams Co., Ohio, on Ohio Brush
Creek, and was the daughter of Ralph and Martha Wilson.
Her fhther was of Pennsylvania Dutch descent, and her
parents came from Kentucky to Adams County. On Oct.
26, 1843, the week following their marriage, Samuel B.
Smith and his wife moved to the farm he had purchased in 0

Clermont. They had no money and but little property,
but they struggled on and paid for the place for which he
had given his notes. Thus Mr. Smith worked on with

-.....:.;'":\; ."\..,
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tact and judgment until he had eight hundred and fifty
acres in his different farms. His five eldest children mar­
ried, and he divided his lands, giving each of them a good
place of from one hundred to one hundred and thirty-five
acres, which with the other outfit he gave them made his
donation to each at least five thousand dollars. He still
retains the homestead farm of two hundred and thirty­
eight acres for himself,' wife, and youngest child. Thus
from a poor boy he became a wealthy farmer, not by specu­
lation but by careful management and investing his earn­
ings from time to time in lands. In 1858 he was elected
justice of the peace of Tate township, and re-elected six
times, making seven successive terms as magistrate, con­
tinuing in office twenty-one years. In the many cases ap­
pealed from his docket to the Common Pleas Court his
decision was never reversed. In 1872 he was elected
county commissioner over Robert Jeremiah, the Republi­
can candidate, and in 1875 was re-elected over the Repub­
li~an nominee, Mr. Weaver. Mr. Smith's six years' admin­
istration as a county co~missioner was characterized by
inflexible honesty, the severest economy, and that cautious
management displayed in his own private business. His
long experience as magistrate enabled him to save the tax­
payers large sums of money in cutting down justices' and
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mayors' transcripts where more fees had been taxed than
allowed by law. The county with its many valued and
tried public servants never had one more honest and true
to the public interests than Samuel B. Smith. Affable in
his manners, of sound judgment and unimpeachable in­
tegrity, his public career is a monument more enduring
tlIan m:<rble or brass. Within five days of the expiration
of his second term he was thrown from bis vehicle near

I [I

Felicity, and had both of his legs broken. In the course of
a year he recovered sufficiently to get about, but is a cripple
for life. A Democrat in politics, a leading farmer by avo­
cation, and a man justly esteemed by the community, he
has made a character and record worthy 'of recognition, and
left the impress of an honorable and successful life, one
highly useful to the day and generation in which he has
been a most conspicuous actor.

F RAN K LIN.
f.'

THIS township occupies the southeast corner of the
county, its southern bounds being washed by the Ohio
River j on the west is the township of Monroe and on the
north is Tate. In shape Franklin is almost rectangular,
with one of the ends resting on the Ohio. The length of
the township is about eight miles. The central part forms
an elevated plateau, whose general level is only slightly
broken along the water-courses. Bordering the fertile bot­
toms along the river are high hills, some of them too steep
for cultivation, and the surface here and in the eastern part
is very irregular and presents a rough aspect. .In the lat­
ter part is the Bullskin Creek, and its main afHuent Pain­
ter's Fork,-turbulent and troublesome streamsi-along
which is a narrow valley. Flowing southwest through
the northwestern and southwestern parts of the township
are Big Indian and Bear Creeks, at present having but a
small volume of water, but formerly much larger streams,
and along which are some fine lands. The soil varies from
a stiff clay to a darkish loam, and possesses different de­
grees of fertility, but is generally productive and especially
favorable for the cultivation of the various fruits and to­
bacco. The township is well improved and contains many
well-tilled farms, on which are substantial and often elegant
residences, with fine orchards and attractive improvements.

PIONEER SETTLERS.

There is a tradition that a man by the name of Logston
was the first white settler in the township. He kept a
ferry at the mouth of the Bullskin as early as 1795, and
it is supposed that he was the first settler between Marietta
and Columbia. When the permanent settlers came in he
passed away, leaving no further history.

Probably Edward Salt was the next to occupy this place.
Be was a native of Berkshire, England, and marrying
against the wishes of his parents, left them, and with his
Irish bride came to America, settling in Berkeley Co., Va.
Here his three daughters and two sons were born. In
1790 he moved to Crab Orchard, Ky., and six years later
to the mouth of the Bullskin, where he had charge of a
ferry and where he died in 1812. His eldest daughter,
Innocent,married John Frazer, of Tate township j Nelly
married John Wharton, of Washington township, and one

of her sons, Henry, became a distinguished Methodist
minister. John Salt was but a lad when the fa~iIy settled
in Franklin, and at the age of fourteen he foolishly con­
tended with another boy to see which could drink the
greatest quantity of cold water. He drank two quarts and
was thrown. into spasms, which continued one after the
other, without a moment's rest., to the number of more
than three hundred. When he was relieved it was found
that his memory had been so much impaired that his edu­
cation was entirely gone, and he had ,to go back to his let­
ters and relearn as a child. His health was also affected by
the recurrence of these spasms, and as his physical strength
was feeble he determined to secure a good education. _ In

. this he was successful, and he became a school-teacher in
Kentucky. While engaged in teaching he became ac­
quainted with Miss Mary Donovan, and soon after a mutual
attachment sprang up between them, which resulted in an
engagement to marry. But his spasms still afflicting him
he was unwilling to involve others in his misfortunes, and
post.poning the affair for a time, he heard of a man in
North Carolina who could cure such cases. So eager was
he to be restored to health that he prepared to pay him a
visit, undertaking the long journey even upon such slight
and doubtful evidence. He selected a companion and pro­
ceeded on the way, on horseback, having, after several days,
one of his spells. Yet he had sufficient warning to dis­
mount before it came on, and although it left him weak
and feeble, he was able to continue his journey. When he
arrived at the place he found the man they sought in jail
for debt. They went to the ,jail, made known their busi­
ness, and in a few hours were ready to return with their
prescription and medicine (two small vials of tasteless and
colorless liquids), which the doctor said would cure him
after he had two more spells. He followed the directions,
and after having two more spasms was thereafter totally
cured of this sickness. He married Miss Donovan, and,
after periods of residence in Washington and Kentucky,
purchased a large tract of land in Tate, where he moved in
1826 and where he resided until his death, Oct. 13, 1859.
He became an extensive trader on the river, loading his
flat-boats at Point Pleasant, and made in all fifty-two trips
to New Orleans, returning on foot thirteen times, coming
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through the perilous Indiau country with the proceeds of
his voyages. He was active in other business enterprises
and amassed consid~rable wealth. John Salt was an ex­
cellent citizen and a prominent member of the Methodist
Church. He was the father of L. D. Salt.~ of ·Williams­
burgh, and his brothers, Gustavus, Daniel, "\Vilser, and
Francis Marion. The other son of Edward Salt was named
}~dward, amI also became a resident of Tate township,
where he died some time before 1870. He was the father
of sons named George W. and Abraham, the latter living
in Cincinnati. At the Illouth of the Bullskin other pioneers
caIlle at an early day, and made temporary settlements until
more favorable locations could be secured.

The first notable permanent settlement was made in
1798, by James Sargent. He was born in Montgomery
Co., Md., Jan. 25, 1748, and in 1773 married Philena
Pigman. In 1796 they immigrated to Kentucky, and
having purchased a large tract of land in the southwestern
part of Franklin and the southeastern part of Washington,
on the Bear Creek, he made his home there two years later.
His homestead was the farm now owned by Dr. Allen
'Voods. Before leaving Maryland he freed all his Rlaves,
and determined to live where he. could escape the influence
of that pernicious system. For this act he was selected to
form the first constitution of the State of Ohio, his asso­
ciate member from Clermont being Philip Gatch. He was
an active business man and held important public trusts.
He died Dec. 13, 1826, leaving a family of two sons and
four daughters. Of these Silas lived on an adjoining farm,
and had sons John, James A., Griffith, Joshua, and Wes­
ley; and daughters who married Joshua Pigman, Samuel
Prather, and 'Vesley Dole. The second son, James, r('ared
no family. The eldest daughter, 1\lary, married John G.
Prather, and after the death of her husband, more than
sixty years ago, became the second wife of Wm. Fee, the
founder of Felicity, and who was the first representative
from the county; Sally married Samuel Walraven; Nelly,
John Joumey, of Kentucky; and on the 5th of November,
1805, Anna, the youngest daughter; married her cousin,
Edward Sargent: the B.ev. George Brown performing the
ceremony. The following year she began housekeeping in
a building which yet forms a part of the homestead resi­
dence, and where she has resided ever since, being now
ninety-four years of age, living with her daughter, Mrs.
Jesse McLain.

John Sargent, a brother of James, came the same year,
and lived first on the Bullskin, but about 1800 he settled
on Indian Creek, on the present Johnson farm, where he
died in 1836 at the age of eighty-three years. He had five
sons and three daughters, namely, Thomas, who becatpe a
Methodist minister, and died in the pulpit of Wesley
Chapel, in Cincinnati, in 1833; John and Joseph, re­
moved; Edward, who married the before-named Anna
Sargent, and who died in 1841; and James F., who died in
Columbus while attending the Legislature; Nellie married
Joseph Frambes, of Felicity; Rebecca, Joseph Parrish, of
the same place; and Betsey, Benj. 1'hr:esher.

Elijah Sargent, a third brother of James and John, also
cameto Franklin before 1800; but of his subsequent history
but little is recollected.

John G. and Erasmus Prather, natives of Maryland,
came to Franklin about the same time as the Sargents,
and John G. settled on the river-bottom at Chilo, on the
'Vaterfield farm, where he died before 1830. His family
consisted of sons named James, who died at Chilo, about
1854; Samuel, who died on the homestead near the same
time; Ignatius P., who died near Felicity in 1828; John
0., a merchant, who died at Newport, Ky.; and Silas,
Wt1lter, Griffith, and 'Vesley, who lived at Chilo. The
daughters were married to Samuel Slye, 'Vyatt Owens,
Zadok Tucker, Capt. James 'Valls, and Capt. Graften Molen.
Not a single member of this family survives. Erasmus
Prather made his settlement north fr'om Ohilo, on the farm
yet occupied by his son Garrett. Other sons were Joseph
and Erasmus. The five daughters marl'ied Elijah Lanham,
John Slye, Wm. Wedding, John Pangburn, and Joseph
Schofield.
_ Samuel 'Yalraven settled north of his father-in-law,
James Sargent, in 1799, on a farm bordering on· Bear
Creek. He died in 1848, aged seventy-nine years. Of
his fhmily, Samuel died at New Richmond, and Joshua re­
moved to Missouri. His daughters married,-Philena,
Elijah T. Penn; Ann, Reuben Thornly; Jemima, Emanuel
Grubb; Mary Ellen, James A. Sargent; Rebecca, John
Wilmarth; Eliza, Alex. Argo; and Susan, Joseph Frambes.

About the same time Joshua Pigman settled in the same
neighborhood. He had two sons-Joshua and Levi-and
a daughterl-Sarah,-who married Rev. Walter Griffith, a
Methodist minister, who lived a long time at Neville, but
who died while on a visit to Urbana fifty years ago. Joshua
Pigman, Jr., was for many years a merchant at Sargent's
Mills and at Neville. His brother IJevi was a trader on the
river, and died on his return home, about fifty ye~rs ago.

Soon after the defeat of the Indians by." Mad Anthony,"
Daniel Judd and his family came from their temporary
home in Kentucky, where they had lived since 1792, when
they came from Maryland, to the mouth or the Bullskin,
where Daniel died many years ago. His son, 'Villiam,
afterwards occupied the farm which his father had some­
what improved, and lived there until his death, in 1824, at
which time he had fifteen children living. Of these, Stephen
Judd, now living in Batavia township, is the only survivor.
He was born in Franklin, June 21, 1809, and had for his
first wife a daughter of the Rev. Joshua Sargent, by whom
he had four children, three survivin~. For his second wife
he married a daughter of Daniel Apple. He is one of the
foremost farmers_or the county, and was not only one of
the original Abolitionists, but was an active member of the
" Underground Railroad" in ante-bellum days. John Judd,
who lived many years near Felicity, had in his family sons
named William, James, and Alexander. All removed to
the West.

Joseph Utter, from Pennsylvania, settled in Franklin
about 1798, moving here directly from Kentucky. He
was born in 1766, and died in 1839. His homestead was
the place now occupied by James Moore. Of his family,
Dowt,y waS the oldest, and a sketch of his life appears else­
where. Joseph and William removed to Indiana; Reuben
died as a physician at. Felicity; and James, John, and
Washington all lived and died in the township. The
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daughters married John Muir, B. Barrett, E. Barrett,
Henry Hicks, and Rudolph Cook.

Hugh McKibben was also 11 native of Pennsylvania, and
his settlement on the farm now owned by Randolph Tucker
was prior to 1800. It was on his place that' II Hopewell,"
the first church in the township, was built. Of his four­
teen chilurcn, the Wiuow Frurubcs, of Felicity, aged eighty­
two years, and Samut:l Parker McKibben, the youngest, are
yet living in the township. All the rest have removed or
deceased. Some of the other daughters were married to
Michael and Noah Richards and Mathew Mullen. Also
among the pioneers of this part of the county, Joseph Mc­
Kibben, a brother of Hugh, lived on the present Moscow
pike, a mile from Felicity, where he died. He had several
children, none of whom retained their settlement ill the
township. Here, too, among the early settlers were the
Tatmans, and one of these-Joseph-was 11 :Methodist
milli~ter j and later Halph and John Wedding were added
to the substantial citizens of western Franklin, and their
daughters married ilJto the Prather, BOllCl', Patterson,
'Watson, 'Vheeler, and other well-known families.

"Zadok 'Vat.~on settled in July, 1801, 'on what is now
part of the Garret Prather farm, and raised lJ. very large
family of children, and one of his sons, John, an eccen­
tric old bachelor, died in 1865, possessed of large landed
estates and thousands of dollars in gold and silver. This
money he had miserly saved, and had buried under the out­
buildings of his brother's place in coffee-pots and crocks,
and the writer of this, who helped his administrator exhume
it, found among the quaint old coin the first silver sixpence
he had earned when a littleboy before the war of 1812."*

John Day, a native of Maryland, in 1803 settled on the
farm now occupied by his son, Joseph B., in the northern
part of Franklin, where he died in 1817. Mathew, his
eldest son, settled not fill' from the mouth of the Bullskin,
where he died, in 1819. Several of the other members of
the family removed to Indiana, to which State also immi­
grated David Dhy, an early settler near Felicity. Joseph
Day, another brother, settled on the James Wells place
about 1803, and deceased soon after this period. The
father of James Wells-Joseph-settled in 1805, coming
from New Jersey. The same year Jacob Joslin settled the
farm now occupied by Henry Shinkle, and died there in the
course of four or five years. One of' his sons, Enoch, died
on this place, and the others removed. Jeremiah Joslin, a
nephew of the above, with his mother and two sisters, set­
tled on an adjoining farm. Of his sons, Jeremiah is, yet
living near the village of Felicity. Among others who
came to this part of the township, about 1805, were Reuben
Bourr~e, Matthew Perkins, and Abram and-Benjamin Sills,
all of whom sooner or later removed j the lattcr to the hcad~

waters of the Bullskin, in Brown County.
Carl Shinkle and his wife, Julia Ann, immigrated from

Pennsylvania in 1796, and settled in Brown County, near
Feesburgh, where he lived until his death. In 1797 one
of his sons-Peter-settled in Franklin on the farm now
owned by Henry Bolander, where he died more than forty
years ago. His son, Peter, is yet living in Franklin, at an

ii' R. J. Banoroft. ,
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advanced age, and Martin died in this locality a few years
ago. Other sons of' Carl Shinkle settled in Brown County
at that early period, and later found homes in Clermont.

Jacob Shinkle, the pioneer living near the Benton
church, was of another family. His son, Joseph, yet occu­
pies the homestead, and Solomon lives near Rural j Daniel
died a short time ago j John and Stephen removed to Illi­
nois, and Thomas to another part of the West.

Stephen Bolander came from his nat.ive State, Pennsyl­
vunia, in 1800, and settled in Brown County, near Frank­
lin, where he reared sons named Henry, John, Jacob, Chris­
tian, Stephen, Joseph, William, Daniel, Peter, and six
daughters, who married Peter Shinkle, William Judd, and
John Jacob Shinkle, of Franklin, and F. Fuller, George
Woods, and William Kellum, of Brown County. Henry
Bolander married Catharine Shinkle, and settled near the
Brown County lin~, in Franklin, where he lived until 1839,
when he moved to Illinois. Jacob Bolander settled on the
fili'm now owned by h,is SOil, Henry, where he died in 1860.
Of his other sons, Daniel removed to Illinois in 1839 j Joel
resides in the northcrn part of the township j Elias lives in
Brown County j and David H. is yct living on the home­
stead.

The Miller brothers, Martin, John, Abram, Jacob, and
David, came from Pennsylvania about 1800, and settled
along the Bullskin in Franklin. John lived and died near
Chilo, and his three sons, George, John,· and Henry, died
in the southeastern part of FJ'anklin~ -Abram .Miller lived
on the upper part of Bunskin until his death, but his sons,
Abram, Jacob, and Joseph, removed to Illinois. Jacob
:Miller, Sr., lived east from Felicity, on the Elijah Metzgar
place. He had sons named David and Philip. One of his
daughters married John Lesslie, and was almost a hundred
years old when she died. David Miller lived on the present
John Miller farm. His sons were Lewis~ who died in the
township, and Andrew, who died at 'Neville. Of his daugh­
ters, Sophia married William Richie j Polly, Abram,
Moyer j, Susan, Thomas Brunson j and ·Catharine, James
Parker. The de~cendants of the Millers became very nu­
merous, and were useful citizens.

Philip Moyer came from Centre Co., Pa., in 1800, and
settled one and a half miles southeast from Felicity, on the
farm now occupied by David McGraw. He died in 1856,
at the age of seventy-nine years. Of his children fourteen
attained mature years, namely, Samuel, died in the town~

ship j John P., yet living at Felicity j Joseph, Levi, Mi~
chael, George, and Isaac removed to the West j the daugh­
ters married James Cook, J amlls Houser, Samuel Gibson,
vVilliam Motier, William Metzgar, and David Brunson.

Another family of Moyers lived on the Bullskin, farther
up towards the Tate line, among the members being Abra­
ham, Jacob, J aIm, and George, and a daughter, who mar~

ried Charles Baum.
In 1807, John Hoover immigrated from Maryland to

the,southeastern part of Franklin, and resided there until
his death, in 1835, aged about eighty years. Five of his
six children came with him to Clermont,-David, who set­
tled near his father, living there until his death, in 1843,
leaving twelve children j Emanuel, who settled southwest
of the old home, where he died, in 1874, having had eleven
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children; Joel, who married Anna Houser, and hus occupied
the homestead, being the oldest man in the township,-he
was born July 19, 1794, and had ten children; John R.,
resided near the homestead until 1850, when he moved to
Illinois, having ten childl'en ; Elizabeth, the youngest, mur­
ried Christopher Houser, and yet lives near the fainily home,
at the age of eighty years,-her husband died in 1859,
and they hud ten children.

The Houser family also came from Maryland, but made
its first settlement in Kentucky; yet, after 1808, they in­
termarried with the Hoovers and came to Franklin to live
among them, Christopher located on the State road, south
of Felicity, where he died in 1859, aged seventy. six years.
His brother David came a few years later and settled I1car
Cedron, but about 1872 removed to Illinois. Isaac Houser
came.stilliater, and settled on the Charles Love farm, where
he died more than twenty years ago. A mile south of
Hoover's, Jacob Huffer was a pioneer, maintaining his resi­
dence until 18:35, when he removed to Indiana, accompa­
nied by his filmily. About the same time John Rohrer
took up his abode here, but also removed to Indiana.

John McGraw located on the Brush place in 1805, and
in 1814 went with Capt. Thomas Jones to the defense of
the northern frontier, but at Dayton received orders to re­
turn home. He kept the first tavern in Felicity, and died
at Cedron in 1855. Of his family, John yet resides at Fe­
licity, and Nelson in Missouri. David and Joseph died in
the township. The daughters married into the Hoover
family and Joshua Smart. In this neighborhood, among
the pioneers, were Charles and Michael Baum, but the for­
mer moved to Illinois and Michael to "Washington township,
where he died nearly a hundred years old.

Another aged pioneer was William Bradley, who died in
1868, aged ninety years. He was a native of London,
England, and came to Franklin as early as 1802, and was
well known as one of the early teachers. His son, Well­
ington, died a young man, and Nelson and William removed
to Indiana. Harvey Bradley, another son, is a distin­
guished physician at Felicity.

John Conrey, who had served in the Revolution and
was wounded in the leg, moved from Virginia to Kentucky
in 1790, and ten years later to the northwestern part of
Franklin township, on the farm now owned by J ohnTrees.
He removed to Illinois about 1830, but one of his sons,
Stephen, lived in 'Nashington, where he had twenty.two
children. '

In 1.he Mount Olive neighborhood Thomas Jones settled
some time after 1800. He was a captain in the war of
1812. His death occurred in 1865, but his widow still
resides here, at the extreme age of eighty-seven ~ears.

She was a daughter of Jacob Constant, also one of Frank­
lin's earliest pioneers.

Jeremiah Smith, a native of Massachusetts, came to
Franklin in 1800, and, after serving in 1812, settled at
~'elicity,'where he was the first chairmaker.

Jobn Van Briggle, a native of Virginia, came to Frank­
lin some time after 1812, and was one of the early settlers
at Felicity, where he was a furniture-maker and merchant.
He had sons named Samuel, John W., Darlington, Thomas,
Lafayette, and Edgar.

. IJewis Lanham, a native of Mar:yland, came in 1812,
settling southwest from Felicity, where he died many years
ago. He had sons named Clement, Robert, Elias, Elijah,
and Benjamin, some of whom yet live in the township.
Of the dau~hters two were married to John Boner and
'William Miller.

Before 1800, Peter Goslin immigrated from 'Virginia to
Kentucky, settling in Bracken County; but, about 1810,.
he found a home in Franklin township, where he died
about 1828. Of his large family several of his sons came
with him, while others followed b~ating on the river.
Among the former was Benjamin, who remained on the
homestead until"his death, about twelve years ago. Of
his family he left sons named Peter H., Joseph, Nathaniel,
and John. Some time about 1818, Nathaniel Goslin,
another son of Peter, came from Kentucky, and purchasing
a part of the Obannon survey, lived there until his death,
fDrty years ago. He followed boating a number of years,
and walked back from New Orleans nine times, and was at
that city the timo of Jackson's victory. He also served
three months in Harrison's campaign against the Indians.
He had four sons, Peter, James J., Asher, and Samuel;
and daught~rs who married l\lahlon Broadwell and 'Villiam
Shinkle.

William Richey, a native of Ireland, settled early on
the farm now owned by his son Lewis. He died, in 1851,
in the State of Iowa. Another son; William, lives on an
adjoining farm, in Eastern Franklin, and David and John
in Brown County. George and Perry died in Franklin.

The Carver family came from Vermont in 1815, and
located in the northwestern patt of Franklin, but in 1850
removed to Wisconsin, to which State one of the f;ons of
Ralph Carver, also named Ralph, went while it yet was
a Territory, and was elected to the Legislat'qre. Another
son, Oliver, died of the yellow fever at New Orleans in
1821, and his son, Capt. L. W. Carver, is yet a resident of
Felicity. The Goodwins, James and Simeon, were also
from New England, their settlement in Franklin dating
from 1818, and descendants of both families yet remain in
the county. The Cousins, Lakin, Hicks, and Cockeral
f.'lmilies settled early in the southern part of Franklin, and
some of their descendants yet reside there, one of these,
Daniel Cousins, living at RUl'al, being upwal'ds of eighty­
four years old. After the declaration of the p.eace which
followed the war of 1812, so many settlers came to Frank­
lin that it is impossible to particularize any further. The
names of many pioneers appear in the history of Wash­
ington township, from which Franklin was formed, and in
the appended list of

P·ROPERTY.HOLDERS IN J826~

In the following list appear the names of those who held
real and personal property in the township in 1826, with
the number of the entry and the names of the original
·proprietors. An asterisk prefixed indicates that no tax
was paid on personal property, and that the owner WllS at
that time, in all probability, a non-resident of Franklin.
Apple, Henry. Ayres, Ja.mes.
Adams, Jacob. Anderson, Richard C., No. 1653;
Aruold, George. Reuben 'f11ylor, orig. pro.
Adams, Timothy. Barber, James.
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Brannon, David, No. 1653; Reu­
ben Taylor, orig. prop.

Barber, Sally, No. 1102; Benj.
l\Iosley, original proprietor.

Barber, Robert.
Barrett, Isaiah B.
Brunson, Thomas R., No. 1654;

Francis 1'a~'lor, orig. prop.
Bo'ude, Thomas.
Baum, Samuel.
Baum, Michael.
Brush, Jared.
Bolander, Jacob, No. 1657; Fmn­

cis Taylor, orig. prop.
Bolander, Henry, No. 1658;

Francis Tltylor, orig. prop.
Bradley, William, No. 1658 ;

Francis Tnylor, orig. prop.
Bagby, Sterling.
Bnlsh, Joseph.
Bowen, Stephen.
Bartley, Martha.
Bott~, George, No. 1651; John

Armstrong, orig. prop.
Barrett, Ezekiel.
Broadwell, Josiah, No. a6l6;

John Obannon, Ol·ig. prop.
Botts, Wm. P., No. 2961; .Tohn

Obannon, orig. prop.
Bagby, Nathaniel.
Brown, John.
Berry, William.
*Brush, Mar.}', No. 1651; John

Armstrong, orig. prop.
i!:Baum, Charles, No. 1655 ; James

Innis, original proprietor.
"~Baum, Michael, No. 1656; Jas.

Innis, original proprietor.
*Bonser, Nathaniel, No. 1656;

J ames InniS, orig. prop.
*Bagby, Betsey, No. 3616; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
;,~Boude and Owens. No. 1669;

Edward Stephens, orig. prop.
*Beasley, Benjamin, No. 9446;

Benj. Beasley, orig. prop.
Conrey, John, No. 735; Hobert

Kirk, original proprietor.
Conrey, Stephen, No. 735; Hobert

. Kirk, original proprietor.
Constant, John, No. 1653; Reu··

ben Taylor, orig. prop.
Clark, George, No. 1653.; Reu-

ben Taylor, orig. prop.
Camerer, Henry, Jr.
Chandler, Irenas.
Chalfant, Robert.
Chandler, Hill, No. 1653; Reu-

ben Taylor, orig. prop.
Cooper, Andrew.
Coffman, Mary.
Case, Alexander.
Chapman, Henry.
Chapman, Jacob, No. 1653; Reu­

ben Taylor, orig. prop.
Cook, Rudolph, No. 2379; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
Cousins, Rudolph.
Collins, Henry.
Cousins, Richard, No. 1730;

Richard Allison, original
proprietor.

Caulerer, Joseph.
Cook, James, No. 2379; John

Obannon, orig. prop.

;,~Constant,Jacob, No. 1653 ; Reu­
ben Taylor, orig. proJl'

i:~Cl1rver, Elizl1beth, No. 1G53;
Reuben Taylor, orig. prop.

i:~Cousins, Wm., No. 4847; John
NedlIe, orig. prop.

i~Chapll1an, Zachariah, No. 3G IG;
John Obannon, orig. prop.

;:~Conley, John, No. 1G58; Fran­
cis Taylor, orig. prop.

Day, Thomas.
Dill, Benjamin, No. 1080; J.

l\Iiller, original proprietOl".
Demaris, Edward.
Dewitt, Peter, No. IG56; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Dunenn, Joshua.
Dickinson, Thomns.
Dillman, George, No. 366; James

Knox, original proprietor.
Dorrongll, J ohn, No. 1725; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Day, Joseph B.
Day, Abigail, No. 1652; Reuben

Taylor, original proprietor.
Day, l\lnthew.
~~Dickcy, Thomas, N~. 1725;

. James Innis, orig. prop.
Evans, Henry H.
*Early, David, No. 1652; Reu­

ben Taylor, orig. prop.
Fee, William, No. 1724; Morgan

Brynn, original proprietor.
Fee, Thomas.
Fee, Jesse.
Fagin, David.
Fee, James, Jr.
Fee, Thomas.
Fee, J ames, No. 1285; Nicholas

Carter, original proprietor.
Fassett, John.
Fassett, William.
Fee, Arthur, No. 1652; Reuben

Taylor, original proprietor.
Gray, Henry, No. 761; John

Burton, original proprietor.
Goodwin, Simeon.
Greer, Alexander.
Gibson, Samuel.
Greggor, George.
Goodwin, John.
Goslin, Benjamin.
Galihar, John.
Goslin, Nathaniel, No. 4847;

John Neville, orig. prop.
;,~Griffith, Sarah, No. 892; Robert

Craddock, orig. prop.
*Goslin, Petcl' (heirs), No. 4847;

John Neville, orig. prop.
;,~Gray, Peter (heirs), No. 1652;

ReulJen Taylor, orig. prop.
>i!Gilbreath, James, No. 3616;

John Obannon, orig. prop.
~~Grny, Michael, No. 1653; Reu­

ben Tnylor, orig. prop.
Harman, John.
Hastings, Peter, No. 1652; Reu­

bcn Taylor, original prop.
Hoover, Joel, No. 1655; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Hoover, David, No.1G55; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Huffer, Jacob, No. 165G; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Hoover, John.

IIOUSCl', Christopher.
IIuffer, Samuel, No. 1656; James

Inn is, original proprietor.
Hedrick, John, No. 1669; Ed.

Stephens, orig. prop.
IIalfhill, Mat.
IIastings, John.
Harman, Michael.
Hiek~, Joshua, No. 4817; John

Neville, orig. prop.
Hicks, Elijah.
Hltstings, Samuel.
Herron, Jacob.
Hopkins, Levi.
*Hill, Alexllnder, No. 306(}; Rich.

C.· Anderson, orig. prop.
;;~Hanson, Jacob, No. 2a79; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
*Harmon, Catherine, No. 1653;

Reuben Taylor, orig. prop.
*~Hoover,Emannel, No. 1655 ; Jus.

Innis, original proprietor.
*Hoover, Christopher, No. 1655;

James Innis, orig. prop.
Jone~, Thomas, No. 1726; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Joslin, Demaris, No. 1102; Benj.

:Morley, original proprietor.
Joslin, Jeremiah, No. 1658;

Frnnci~ Taylor, orig. prop.
Joslin, Sarah, No. 1064; Beverly

Roy~ original proprietor.
Jones, William, No. 172G; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Jndd, Johri, No. 2379; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
Judd, William, No. 2379; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
Judd, Catherine, No. 1647; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
Jordan, Elisha.
Johnson, James.
Jennings, Israel.
;;;Johnson, Joseph, No. 1726;

James Innis, orig. prop.
~~Johnson, James, No. 1726;

James Innis, orig. prop.
Knowles, Alonzo.
Knowles, Gideon B.
Kinney, George, No. 1066; Wil­

liam Taliaferro, orig. prop.
Lakin, Benjamin, No. 1653;

Reuben Taylor, orig. prop.
Lanham, Elijah.
Lanham, Rachel, No. 1653 ; Reu-

b~D Taylor, orig. prop.
Larkin, Moses.
Lester, John.
teach, Walter.
Lakin, William.
Long, Richard.
Leach, William.
Lakin, Joseph, No. 1730; Rich-

ard Allison, original prop.
Legget, John.
Lanham, Robert.
Lunham, Lewis, No. 508; Alex.

Pl).rl{er, original proprietor.
Lanham, Clement.
*Long, Nancy, No. 1656; James

Innis, origiI)al proprietor.
~~Layman, John, No. 1646; Davis

& Obannon, original prop.
Manning, John, No. 3512; Rich­

ard C. Anderson, orig. prop.

Minor, Gideon, No. 1102; Benj.
Morley, original proprietor.

Manning, Elisha.
Manning, Elisha, No. 1653;

Reuben Taylor, orig. prop.
McKibben, Joseph, No. 1080;

Jovin Miller, original prop.
McKibbon, Andrew L.
Miller, Ann, No. 1730; Richard

Allison, original proprietor.
Mullen, Thomas, No. 1102; Benj.

Morley, original proprietor.
McDuffie, Gabriel.
McKibben, Hugh, No. 1080 ;

Jovin Miller, original prop.
Mullen, Mathew.
McKinney, Jeremiah.
MillCl', Lewis, No. 1654; Francis

Tll~'lor, original proprietor.
Moyer, Abraham, No. .] 654 ;

Francis Taylor, orig. prop.
Moyer, Jacob, No. 1669; Ed.

Stephens, original prop.
Moyer, John, No. 1G69; Ed.

Stephens, original prop.
Moyer, Philip, No. 165J ; Francis

Taylor, original proprietor.
Metzgar, Leonard, No. 1656;

James Innis, original IJroP'
Mitchell, John.
Metzgar, David.
Miller, John, No. 1066; WilIiq.m

Taliaferro, original prop.
Moyer, George.
Moyer, Philip.
Michel, John.
Metzger, Samuel, No. 1654; Fran­

cis Titylor, original prop.
Miller, John, No. 16iO; Ed.

Stephens, original prop.
Moyer, George, No. 1669; Ed.

Stephens, original prop.
Moyer, John S.
Miller, David, No. 1652; Reuben

Taylor, original proprietor.
Mullen, John.
Miller, Andrew, No. 1654,; Fran­

cis Taylor, original prop.
McConnell, John.
Miller, Abraham, No. 1658; Fran-

cis 'l'aylol', original prop.
McGowen, John G.
MeLefresh, Elijah.
McLcfresh, Jesse.
Mnrphy, Elizabeth.
McNeal, Sampson S.
Miller, George.
Muir, John, No. 4847; John Ne­

ville, original prop.
Moore, Henderson.
McGra,v, John, N0.1653; Reuben

Taylor, original proprietor.
McGriff, Richard.
*McKibben, William (heirs).
*Miller, Henry, No. 508; Alex.

PMker, original proprietor.
;;;Metzglt~, Conrad, No. 1liG8;

Jltmes Innis, original prop.
'*Neweomer, Jonltthan, No. 1li55;

James Innis, original prop.
Owens & Boud.
*Owens, Wyatt, No. 1080; Jovin

Miller, original prop.
~;O'Nell.l, Henry, No. 366; James

Knox, original prop.
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CIVIL OHGANIZATION.

Those holding real estate in Felicity the same year were
as follows:

At this time (1826) the owners of village lots in Chilo
were:

TRUSTEES.

1819-20.-Joseph McKibben, Joseph Ftter, Wm. Fee.'
1821.-Wyntt Owens, Joseph Utter, Wm. ·Fce.
1822.-Wyntt Owens, Hugh McKibben, Jacob Constant.
·1823.-Philip Moyers, Peter Hastings, J ncah Constllnt.

Prather, Samuel.
Quinn, A.
Riel,er, Ebenezer S.
Sullivan, William.·
Sargent, William.
Scudder, Charles.
Shaw, Elijah.
Tucker, Zadok.
Utter, Joseph.
Whitney, Lemuel.
Winters, William.
Webber, Jacob.

McKinney, Jeremiah.
l\Iu lien, Mathew.
Macher, lIenry.
Patterson, Honor.
Parrish, Joseph.
Sargent, William.
Spec, George.
Sargent, Nelson.
Shearer, William.
Smith, Jereminh.
Vao Briggle, John.
Wheeler, Silas M.
Wood, Elisha A.

Whitman, Dorcas, No. ] 658 ;
:I!'l'l1neis Ta)'lor, orig. prop.

Broadwell, J.
Boulware, James.
Bagby, Betsey.
Denham, John.
E\'am, Griffith.
Hall, Ahel.
Knin, .John.
KUddlebaugh, Jacob E.
Melvin, John.
:McGraw, Fmneis.
Pool, Ignatius A.
Prather, John.
Penrre, Charles W.

Bnum, Charles.
DILl't, Job.
Dill, Henry.
Fcc, William.
Fee, Jesse.
Fcc, Thomas, Jr.
Fee, Thomas.
Fcc, Arthur.
Greer, Alexander.
Hastings, Peter.
Irwin, Hugh.
Jordan, Jeremiah.
Kennedy, Dennis.
Larkins, Moses.

Wooll, William, Ko. 1102; Ben­
jamin l\[os!ey, orig. prop.

All the village lots were valued at $8315, and the taxes
for all purposes were only $51.97. The number of acres
in the township was reported as 24,340, on which were
levied taxes to the amount of $602.40. The number of
hor1'es were 396, valued at $15,840, and 595 cattle, worth
$4760. The capital invested in merchandise was $1910,
and the merchants were John Brown, Robert Chalfant, and
Elizabeth Murphy..

The townsbip was organized for civiI purposes from the
township of 'Washington, May 23, 1818, and the following
were elected as the first officers: 'Trustees, Joseph McKib­
bin, John Sargent, and 'Villiam Fee; Township Clerk"
J.Jemuel Stephenson j Treasurer, Joseph 'IVells; Constables
of Franklin, Thomas Joncs, James Fee, and Van N.
Swerengen; Overseers of the Poor, Joseph Utter and Wil­
liam Shearer; Fence-Viewers, John Aldrich and Charles
Baum; Lister, Thomas Jones; Appraiser, V. N. Swer­
engen; Hoad Supervisors, 'John Sargent, Lemuel 'Vh~tney,

Joseph Utter, Thomas Yates, Gideon Minor, Lewis Miller,
Al'thm Fee, and Thomas Jones. '

The first justices of the peace were elected Aug.. 22,
1818, and were Nathaniel Bonsor, Wm. Fee, and Adam
:l\'1i11er.

Since 1818 the following have been the principal officers
of the-township:

Sargent, Samuel ,V.
Sargent, Nelson.
Sargent, Elijah.
Sargent, Joshua, No. 8D2; Robert

Craddock, orig. prop.
Sanders, William.
Smith. Jeremiah.
Shalmon, John.
SI)'e, William, No. 17:30; Richard

Allison, original proprietor.
~!'Sumllley, AdalD, No. 1657;

Francis Tayl,)I', original pro­
prietor.

~~Shinkle, Peter, No. 1654; Fran­
cis Taylor, orig. prop.

Summers, Adam.
Tucker; Rieharu, No. 1653; Reu-

bl'll Taylor, Ol·ig. prop.
Trisler, Abmham.
Trisler, Leonard.
Trisler, Jacob, No. 1656; Jnmes

Innis, original proprietor.
'fatman, Jesse.
Tutman, John.
'fucker, Zlulok.
Taylor, Joseph.
*'1'aylor, John P., No. 4847; John

Ne"ille, orig. prop.
~~Thrasher, Rebecca, No. 1653;

Reuben Tuylor, orig. prop.
~:'Tucker, Richard.
*Trisler, Joseph, No. 1656; Jus.

Inni~, original prop~ietor.

Utter, Joseph, Jr., No. 4847;
John Neville, orig. prop.

Utter, Joseph, Sr., No. 834 j Alex.
Parker, original proprietor.

Vickroy, Geo., No. 735; Robert
Kirk, original proprietor.

Vickroy, Eli.
Van Osdol, James.
Van Briggle, John, No. 1656;

James Inni~, orig. prop.
Van Dcgriff, James, No. 1li6D;

Edward Stephens, original
proprietor.

Wintel"S, John, No. 3066; R. C.
Anderson, orig. prop.

'Veaver, Mason.
Whnrton, Henry.
Wharton, John, No. 735; Robert

Kirk, original proprietor.
Wiley, Elishn, No. 735; ·Robert

Kirk, original proprietor.
'Vheeler, Jason.
Watson, Jonathan.
Wedding, Halph.
Warbington, John.
Wheeler, Jason.
Wood, Elisha A.
Webber, Jacob.
Wheeler, Silas N.
Wright, Thomas.
Wells, Joseph, No. 1725; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Watson, William.
Watson, Zedekiah, No. 508; Alex.

Parker, originl\l proprietor.
Watson, John, No. 508; Alex.

Parker, original proprietor.
Watson, Ezekiel.
Walraven, Samuel, No. 905; John

Hnckley, original proprietf)r.
Worley, William.
Whnrkln, Isaiah.

~*Obannon,John (heil's),No. 2378;
John Obannon, orig. proJi'

Parri~h, J oscph.
Plummer, Benjamin.
Plummer, Tabitha, No. 165S;

Francis Tu)'lor, orig. prop.
Plummer, Jeremiah, No. 366;

James Knox, original prop.
Perkins, Mathew, No. ]652;

Reuben Taylor, OIig. prop.
Pearre, Otho, No. 1655; James

Innis, original proprietor.
Pearre, Charles W., No. 16tiS;

James Innis, original prop.
Perkins, ISllllc.
Prather, James.
Poole, Ignatius.
Prather, l\Iarion.
Pyle, John, No. 1060; William

Taliaferro, origilllLl prop.
}lrather, Samuel.
Prather, John O.
Prather,.Joseph.
Prather, Erasmus, No. 1651;

John Armstrong, original
proprietor.

Prather, Ignatius, No. 1285;
Nicholas Carter, orig. prop.

.Plummer, William C.
$Parrish, Benjamin, No. 761;

John Burton, original prop.
*Payne, John, No. 1726; James

• Innis, original prop.
*Prather, John G., No. 1067;

Henry Boyer, orig. prop.
Richards, Michael..
Riley, Levi.
Uiehards, John, No. 1653 j Reu-

ben Taylor, orig. prop.
Reed, Thomas.
Robinson, Thomas R.
lUtehey, Wm., No. 1654 ; Francis

Taylor, original proprietor.
Riley, William.
Riley, John.
Rohrer, John, No. 1656; James
. James, original proprietor.
Robinson, Robert T.
Uichards, John; Sr.
• Robertson, Robert.
Smith,Phoobe.
Sargent, John, No. 735; Robert

Kirk, original proprietor.
Sargent, Erasmus, No. 735; Rob­

ert Kirk, original proprietor.
Salt, Edward, ~o. ]2,408; P. P.

Mays, original proprietor.
Smith, David, No. 1652; Reuben

Taylor, original proprietor.
Smith, Sarah.
Stephenson, Lemuel, No. 11 02;

Benjamin Morley, original
proprietor.

Styres, Ralph.
Spec, George.
Sallee, James H., No. 16M ; Fran­

cis Taylor, orig. prop.
Shinkle, John J., No. Hi5D;

Francis Taylor, ol'ig. prop.
Sargent, Edward, No. 834; Alex.

Parker, orig. prop.
Sargent, James, No. 905; John

llaekley, original proprietor.
Sargent, Snowden, No. 905; John

Hackley, orig. prop.
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1824.-Joseph :l\IeKibben, Joseph Utter, Wyatt Owens.
1825.-Joseph McKibben, Jo~eph Utter, Simeon Goodwin.
lS26.-Joseph :l\fcKibben, Wyatt Owens, Simeon Good\vin.
1827.-Gideon Minor, Wm. P. Pott, Simeon Goodwin.
1828.-Gideon :l\Iinor, Robert Chalfant, Wyatt Owens.
1829-30.-Gideon Minor, David Hoover, Otho Pe!1rre.
1831.-Gideon Minor, David Hoover, Joseph Utter.
IS32-3-t.-lIenry H. Entns, Da\'id Hoover, Thomas Mullen.
1335-iHL-Thomas Jones, David Hoover, Thomas Mullen.
IS3i~-JosephWoodmansee, Jacob Bolander, Bcthucl Reynolds.
1838.-John A. ~IcKibben, Da\'id Hoover, Thomas l\Iullen.
lS39.-Lindley Broadwell, David Hoover, Nathaniel Bagby.
IS40.-George Crossley, Simeon Goodwin, Thomas Mullen.
18H~-DavidHoover, Simeon GOJdwin, George Crossley.
1842.-Da\'id Hoo\'er, Robert Smith, George Crossley.
1843.-l\Iichael Gray, Robert Smith, George Crossley.
lS44.-George MeLefresh, Robert Smith, George Crossley.
1845.-George l\IcLefresh, Joel Hoover, Henry Chapman.
18.16.-George l\fcLefresh, Michael Richards, Henry Chapman.
18Ji.-Simeon Goodwin, Michael Richards, Henry Chapman.
1848.-:U. S. Dimmitt, George :\IcLefresh, Henry ChtLpman.
18.19.-~1. S. Dimmitt, George ~[cLefresh, Jacob Bolander.
1850-51.-Joseph Watson, George l\IcLcfresh, Jacob Bolander.
1852.-Joseph Watson, W. ~IcLain, L. W. Can·er.
185:3.-Joseph lfutson, 1'1. S. Dimmitt, Jesse W. Hollister.
1854.-IIenry Bolander, J. P. 1\1olen, Jesse W. Hollister.
1855-56.-Alex. Armstron~, J. P. l'Iolen, Samuel Van Driggle.
185i.-Samuel Van Briggle, Joseph Watson, Da\'id Reed.
1858.-John H. Chapman, J. P. Molen, Marcus Fee.
IS59.-.John H. Chapman, Alex. Armstl'ong, Marcus Fcc.
1860.-William Mc:.\Iurehy, Joseph Jones, A. Broadwell.
186I.-E. J. Prather, Joseph Jones, Samuel Van Briggle.
1862.-E. J. Prather, J. W. Yan Briggle, John H. Chapman.
lS63.-E. J. Prather, J. W. Van Briggle, William Lo\'e.
186.1-65.-E. J. Prather, J. W. Van Briggle, Enoch Reed.
1866.-W. W. Fronk, R. Lanham, O. P. Miller.
186i.-W. W. Fronk, E. J. Prather, J. W. Ynn Briggle.
IS68.-Louis Richey, Samuel N. l'Iorgan, Stanley Sherwood.
186!J.-Louis ltiehey, W. W. Fronk, Stanley Sherwood.
18iO.-John n. Chapman, E. J. Prather, Stanley Shenvood.
ISil.-L. W. Ware, E. J. Prather, Samuel Bolander.
18i2.-L. W. Ware, Dtwid Armacost, Samuell\IeKinney.
18i3.-L. W. Ware, David Armacost, A. T. Kirkpatrick.
18i4.-Peter Goslin, Volney Kenyon, Charles Love.
18i5.-W. W. Prather, Volney Kenyon, G. J. McKibben.
1876.-Louis Richey, W. S. Fishback, G. J. :;\IcKibben.
18ii.-E. D. Prather, W; H. Wells,· J. K. Gray.
18i8.-E. D. Prather, W. ll. Wells, W. J. Heh'ering.
18i9.-0. P. Fishback, W. H. Wells, W. J. lIeh'ering.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1819-24, Lemuel Stephenson; 1825-30, Henry Hicks; 1831, Oliver
Minor; 1832-38, Otho Pearre; 1839, James T. Sargent; 18.10­
42, ~'. J. Phillips; 1843, David Barber; 1844-45, E. F. W. Ellis;
1846, Joseph Stier:!; 1847, J. C. Stevens; 1848-50, W. T.
Prather; 1851-52, D. E. Fee; 1853, A. L. Knowles; 1854-56,
W. T. Prather; 1857-61, D. E. Fee; 1862, J. D. Hill; 1863-64,
J. n. La~'cock; 1865, D. E. Fee; 1866-67, A. l\I. Dimmitt;
1868-70, Cha.nt. Bryant; 1871-72, A. H. Sweringen; 1873-76,
John Walker; 1871-78, A. J. Barr; 1879, B. F. Trees.

TltEASURERS.

1819-41, Joseph Wells; 1842-44, John S. Fallin; 1845-46, Andrew
L. Powell; 1847-50, George Cros:.<ley; 1851-53, A. L. Powell;
1854-56, John B. Goodwin; 185i-63, A. L. Powell; 186-!-68,
Frank W. Knowles; 186\)-71, J. W. Kennedy; 1872-75, 1'1. T.
Fee; 18n-i8, S. F. Kennedy; 18i!!, S. F. Waterfield.

ASSESSORS.

1843, Gideon Minor; 1843-44, Ralph Stiers; 1845, Noah Bagby;
184(i-53, David Barber; 1854-55, J. :M. Ginnings; 1856, David
Barber; 1857, Jeremiah Arnold; 1858, David Bn.rber; 1859,
George Kleckner; 1860-61, Henry Bolander; 1862, J. J. l'Iuir;
1863-65, James l!.l\IcKibben; 1866-77, Richard Lo.ullam; 1878,
David Bolander; 1879, W. F. Wedding.

The township has made generous provision for the im­
provement of its highways, and under the acts enabling
them to build free turnpikes, as is elsewhere related, more
than twenty miles of improved roads hav~ been constructed,
and Franklin is, in this respect, in advance of any of her
sister townships. The people also expressed their wil­
lingness to build a railroad through the township, on the
18th of' December, 1872: voting, ~ 370 to ] 84, to levy a
tax of $5000 per mile for that purpose. Although with­
out a.railroad, transit by steamboat is.afforded from Smith's
Landing and Chilo, where many packets touch daily.

On the 30th of August, 1873, the township purchased
the 'Wesleyan clJUrch at :b'elicity for a public hall, issuing
its bonds for the payment of the same to the amount of
$2000. Provision has been made for the support of the
cemeteries located in different parts of the township, but
no new cemetery has been laid out by township authority.
The principal places of interment are at Chilo, the Odd­
Fellows' Cemetery, at Felicity, dedicated l\:lay 15, 1875,
Hopewell: and Smyrna, although wanyother ;mall grave­
yards abound.

EARLY MILLS AND GENERAL INDUSTRIES.

.James Sargent had a hand-mill in operation before 1800
at his place below the present residence of Eo Richards.
He brought the mill-irons from Maryland, and was enabled
to do a good deal of grinding for his neighbors. In a few
years his mill was changed t6 use water-power, and after a
short space of time a large mill was erected near by, which
was employed on merchant milling. In subsequent years
it was owned by various members of the Sargent family
and others, and as many as 1000 barrels per year were
shipped from the landing at Chilo, the flour being carried
there over a road which led by the house of Dr. Woods, right
over the hi1ls~ and long since vacated. The fame of the old
mill still remains, although the mill was allowed to go to
decay many years ago. Near Sargent's mills George Rich­
ards had saw- and grist-mills. Other small mills were put
up and operated for short periods on Bear and Indian
Creeks. On the Bullskin, David Miller got in operation a
saw-mill, about 11316, and later put up the saw-mill which
'Vyatt Owens afterwards owned, and where he also put up
the grist-mill which is now operated by Lewis Hichey.
On the Samuel Itoss place William Plummer had a small
tub grist-mill before 1812, which went down half a century
ago. Here, afterwards, 'fhomas Plummer long operated a
saw-mill. In the northern part of the township Simeon
Goodwin had mills operated b~ steam, which had an excel­
lent reputation and were largely patronized. Among
others who had small distilleries in the township were
Richard Cousins and Philip Moyers. Other mills and
wanufilCturing interests are noted in connection with the
villages in which they were located.

The most general and important industry of the township
of Franklin is the culture of tobacco. 'fhe soil produces
a fine leaf, which cures .with a rich color and fine flavor,
giving it an enviable reputation in the markets of Cin­
cinnati and the East, and making it the most profitable
product of the husbandman. The yield has been steadily
increased until it upproximates 2,000,000 pounds annually,

•



342 HISTORY OF CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO.

and Franklin, for its area, ranks as the first tobacco-grow­
ing district in the United States. The pioneer in this
enterprise was Jacob Waterfield's son. At the age of'ten
he came wit,h his stepfather, James Johnston, and settled
north of Chilo~ but removed to Higginsport, where he died.
Among his children was James Waterfield, who returr~ed

to Chilo after he had attained his age, and there, in 1842,
cultivated the first tobacco for the market. He grew about
3000 pounds, which he delivered in bulk at Augusta, Ky.;
where it made a favorable comparison with the tobacco of
that State. Mr. Waterfield continued a leading tobacco
grower until April, 1879, and part of the time Was also an
extensive shipper from his warehouse at Chilo. In this
warehouse G. W. Hice and others are now engaged as
dealers, the amounts prepared for market ranging from
100,000 to 400,000 pounds per year; an'd at. Chilo J. G.
Prather has a tobacco warehouse, whose dimensions are
38 by 62 feet, his shipments from this point and Neville
amounting to 300,000 pounds pel' yeur.

The fil'st tobacco warehouse was erected at Rural, in
1849, by the Broadwell family, near the river, and was
used until 1864, when the present brick. warehouse took
its place. From 125 to 400 hogsheads of' tobacco per year
are shipped from that point. At Smith's Land~ng is also an
extensive warehouse, and at Felicity the Waterfield Brothers
handle from 200,000 pounds to a half a million pounds per
year. Among other dealers in Franklin are 'Villiam Prather,
William Dixon, L. W. 'Yare, B. F. Holter, and Amos
Shinkle. William 'Yaterlleld, a brother of' James, was as­
sociated with him in the tobacco business at Chilo until
1872, when he moved to Cincinnati, where, in company
with John S. Fallin, 1. O. "Westfall, and L. H. Brooks, he
opened the popular" Globe Warehouse," of which 'Yaterfield
& Brooks are the present proprietors. The reputation of this
firm extends over the entire Ohio Valley, and Clermont
County justly takes pride in this enterprise of her former
citizens.

The principal tobacco growers in Franklin the past few
years were the Broadwells, A. Hewton, A. Smith, E. N.
Vermillion, Joseph Heed, the l\IcClannahans, the Wood­
mansees, D. C. Heyl, M. L. Robinson, 'Yillium Jones,
Henry Frederick, Emerson Evans, Wesley Prather, Wil­
liam Kohler, George Gre~g, William Waterfield, S. W. &
Henry Kinney, W. N. Kinney, John Kinney, G. 'W. Day,
James Moore, Elijah Merritt, JOiiCph 'Yatson, Samuel
Swope, the Goslins, Delos Trees, E. J. Prather, Daniel
Shinkle, M. D. Hoss, B. H. GI'egg, William Conn, J. P.
Constant, Samuel Miller, \Yesley and John Prather, Enoch
Heed, Alexander Smith, William Shinkle, and Zadok
Watson.

HAMLETcl AND VILLAGE~.

In the northern part of Franklin, near the State town­
ship line, fs the :MOUNT OLIVE post-office, which was es­
tablished in 18-18 with Samuel Ely as postmaster. About
the same time he opened a store which he yet continues,
and has a"lso been postmaster ever since, except for a short
period from 1855 on, when Hiram Carr was the postmaster.
Beyond these two interests, nothing of note has existed at
Mount Olive.

The hamlet of CEDRON was laid "Out Jan. 16, 1851, by

Zachariah M. Lansdown, on the waters of the Bullskin,
several miles above its mouth, and near the Brown County
line. The plat consisted of 11 lots, and Jared Brush was
the surveyor. A store was opened here the same year by
Mr. Lansdown, which was afterwards kept by James Hyatt,
Finley Winters, 'Ym. C. Moyer, John Richards, Park &
Hoover, Hoover & Bavis, Fishback & Staton, and at present
by \Yaterficld & Tucker.

The Cedron post-office was established in 1851, with Z.
1\1. Lansdown as postmaster. In 1857, John Park received
the appointment, and two years latel' J. W. Allen. In
1867 the postmaster was J. R H.ichards; in 1869, 'N. G.
Bradford; in 1871, Daniel E. Bavis; in 1877, G. S.
Staton; and two years later the office was discontinued.

At Cedron are about a dozen houses, Methodist and
Presbyterian churches, and the ordinary mechanic shops.
A short distance below the hamlet Nathaniel Bonser put
lip saw- and grist-mills on the Bullskin, which were succes­
sivcly owned by Charles Pearre, John McGraw, and Joshua
Smart, but they have gone down more than ttn years ago.
Still lower on the same stream, Stephen Judd and others
had a saw-mill, which has also long since passed away.

The hamlet of RURAL, at the mouth of the Bullskin,
on the Ohio ltiver, Was laid out on the 24th and 25th of
November, 1845, by Lindley Broadwell and Abraham Dur­
rell, the surveyor being William S. McLean. The lots
were numbered from 1 to 60, and were of variable size.
The streets runnin~ parallel with the river were named
Front, Broadway, and Third; and the intersecting streets
received the names of Water, Pine, and Western Row.
For a short time the place had a promising growth and was
the centre of a great deal of business, but other points have
taken the lead, and the hamlet at present shows a decayed
appearance. It contains about twenty houses, a store, to­
bacco warehouse, and a few mechanic shops.

Lindley Broadwell came to Ohio from Indian Hill, Md.,
about the beginning of the present century, but did not
take up his residence in Franklin until 1833. That year
he purchased 700 acres of land at the mouth of the Bullskin,
on part of which ~e subsequently laid out Rural. When
he took up his abode here there was only one hewed log
house, and the ferry was kept .bY a man named Hastings.
Subsequcntly the Broadwell family operated the ferry, but
since 1861 it has 110t been kept up. Where Rural now is
a man by the name of Logston had one of the first ferries
in the county, some time about 179-1, and here, for short
periods, many of the early settlers sojourned. Steamboats
used to land, but only an occasional landing is now made.

In 1833, L. Broadwell and William Nelson put up and
operated a steam saw-mill at Rural, which had a number of
owncrs, but which was allowed to go down after about
twenty-five years' operation. Four or five years later the
same parties opened a store in a building which stood near
the rivel·. In after-years, among the persons here in trade
were John Chalfant, Edwards Brothers, Kennedy & Mains,
Bartlow & 'Vells, T. B. Loyd, George Clark, Mannen &
Broadwell, and at present A. J. Broadwell.

The Rural post-office was established in 1846, with
George McLefresh as postmaster. The next year Leman
Stockwell secured the appointment.; but f~om 1849 for two
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years George 1\IcLefresh was again the postmaster. In 1851,
Alexander Smith was appointed, and in 1856, T. B. Loyd
was appointed postmaster of the office, which now received
the name of S~nTrr's LANDING. In 1867, J. l\I. Fletcher
became the postmaster j 1869, H. M. Hicks. j 1871, Alex­
ander Smith j 1874, A. T. Kirkpatrick; and 1875, William
Jernegan. S.l\lI'frr'S LANDING was established by Capt. Al­
exander Smith, on the Ohio, about a mile above Rural,
soon after he settled here, some time about 1844. He
erected a store and warehouse on the banks of the river,
which were swept away by the flood of 1847, and in 1861
the place of business was transferred to the second bank,
where several large buildings are occupied. Here J. T.
Mannen & Co. are at present engaged in business, and also
keep the post-office, which is supplied with a daily mail by
steam-packet. Besides Capt. Smith and the present firm,
the merchants at this point· have been J. T. Sullivan & Co.
and A. T. Kirkpatrick. Ever since 1861 a ferry has been
run from Smith's Landing to the Kentucky shore by Capt.
Smith and his family, who have been very enterprising in
promoting the business interests of this part of the county.
Above this place a short distance, on the fertile lowlands of
the Ohio, were the main possessions of

THE FOUIUERITE ASSOCIATION OF CLER.MONT
COUNTY.

In 1844, Judge Wade Loofborough purchased of George
,V. Jones 1140 acres of land in this locality for the sum of
$20,000, on which were to be carried out the singular no­
tions of the association, and which at that time had so
many advocates in the East, where many similar associa­
tions were formed. 1\Iore than a dozen families agreed to
form the association, to sink their personal identity and in­
dividual interests for the general good of the community.
Composing the first Phalanx were Wade Loofborough, Pres­
ident j George Sampson, Secretary j Joseph Kirkup, Treas­
urer j and nine ,additional councilmen, having among the
members Henry Jernegan, Uriah Hemphill, Daniel Pres­
cou, E. G. Cubberly, George Rogers, John Patton, John
Holbrook, Martin Poor, Samuel SllUard, -- Case, and
-- Hill, who owned one or more shares in the association,
paying $25 per share in yearly installments. Agriculture
was to be the principal occupation of the association, al­
though the various trades-blacksmithing, shoemaking,
carpentry, brushmaking, and some of the lighter trades­
were encouraged, and shops provided for those who were so
engaged. Each member was assigned some congenial occu­
pation by the council, and was expected to labor cheerfully
to increase t.he common wealth. The land which the associa­
tion had purchased constituted three tracts, fronting on the
Ohio. The lower was below Rural, the upper was wllere
Utopia now is, and the third tract occupied an intermediate
position, the better parts now forming the farm of L. M.
Robinson. Upon this was erected a large story and a half
frame house, containing a room for each family of the pha­
lanx, which lived under a common roof and ate at a com­
mon table, the idea being to reduce the ex,ense of living
to the least possible figure, in order to proportionately in­
crease the association's fund.. This house stood on the bank
of the river, and, in connection with a knowledge of' the pur-

pose of the occupants, was a conspicuous object to he people
on board the boats of that stream.

The membership of the association increasing, larger
accommodations were demanded, and about 1844 a two­
slory brick building, with 30 rooms, was erected some little
distance from the river, on a higher piece of ground, which
the Phalanx occupied as long as it had an existence. In
addition to the main building of brick there were frame
dining-rooms and a kitchen, and the general arrangement
of the buildings was very complete. But, meantime, while
these improvements were so faithfully carried on by the
projectors of the enterprise, the debt of the association was
increasing, with no immediate prospect of being liquidated,
and disaffection arose among the members, who began to
see that comnninism had not bettered their lot In life.
They gave no response to the demand fl.>r the payment of
the yearly installments, and tardily }lerformed their daily
duties. The council saw that the only hope for saving any
of the property of the association lay in its speedy dissolu­
tion, and closing up the affairs of the unfortllnate enter­
prise. Accordingly, in 1846, the property was sold or a
pro mla. division made among the members, most of whom
removed. .

In this disposition the tract containing the buildings be­
came the property of a Spirituali::;tic community, at the
head of which was John O. Wattles, with a following of
nearly 100 persons. Theil' m;sociation was based on prin­
ciples of business and religion, aiming, so far as the
former was concerned, to engage in' light manufacturing
and make and dispose of their products in common, while the
expense of production and the cost of living, it was thought,
would be materially reduced by a system of communism.
In order to better carry out their plans the large brick
building which the Phalanx had erected was taken dow.n
and rebuilt on the river-bank, near the site of the wooden
building, but with unfortunate results, as we shall.soon see.
The house was built three stories high with a basement,
around which was an area to admit light and air. The
walls were rather light and pierced with many windows,
and the whole structure was insecurely built, the work being
hastened in order to admit ot' its occupation in the fall of'
1·847. By the middle or"December the house was so far
completed that a number of persons, who had been living
in temporary buildings until this time, began to move in.
At the same time occurred the disastrous flood of 1847.
The rain and snow had been falling for several days, and
on the 12th of December the banks of the river were full
to overflowing, while the area. of the building was steadily
filling with water. Notwithstanding these dangerous appear­
ances the moving continued (as the temporary buildings were
uncomfortable), even after boats were necessary to reach the
new house j but late in the afternoon of December 13th this
work was suspended, and so far as is known 34 persons
were at that time sheltered under the roof of the new build­
ing. Among these were a number of young people, not
members of the community, who had been attracted by the
moving, and it was proposed to while away the evening
with a dance. While this was in progress, about eight
o'clock, the walls of the building fell, crushing many to
death, and others in the confusion were drowned. Seven-



344 HISTORY OF CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO.

teen lives were lost, many being strangers in the neighbor­
hood, having but recently joined the community. A Mr.
Cornell and his family of five were all killed; and Lottie
and John Hemphill were of those killed who did not belong
to the community. This disaster, occurring at night in a
terrible storm, struck terror to the hearts of the people;
and the history of the community from its inception to its
calamitous close is the most tragic event that has ever
occurred in the county. The blow was fatal to the com­
munity; one of its leaders had perished and the others had
no heart to resume the interrupted work. The enterprise
was allowed to decline, the members were scattered to vari-

·ous points, and now, after the lapse of t,hese wany ycars,
but few remain to tell the sad story of crushed hopes and
untimely death. Of the original Phalanx composing the
Fouriel'ite Association, Henry Jel'llegan and Eo G. Cub­
Lerly yet reside at, Utopia, and from them the writer has
gleaned the above facts.

UTOPIA

owes its origin to the dissolut ion of the Fourierite Associa­
tion. In the division of the property Henry J ernegan
received several hundred acres of land along the Brown
County line, extending from the river to the hills, which
are here a little distance from th~ water's edge. The loca­
tion is fine, and as :Mr. Jernegan was led to believe that a
manufacturing village could be supported by the trade of
Cinciunati, distant ouly about thirty-fh'e miles and or-easy
communication by river, he laid out (Aug. 3, 1847) 8-1
quarter-acre lots on the east side of First Street, which were
sold at the nomiual price of $15. To induce settlement
Thomas Vator, :Mal'tin Poor, and Daniel Prescott were ap­
pointed trustees of the affairs of the new village, which
should be founded on Utopian principles (hence its name)
to bring hither a class of good mechanics and citizens, and
to di:-pos(3 of the manufactured wares in cases where the
mcchanie wished this service done. In cvery other respect
the citizen was to be a free agent, except that there was an
implied agreement alllong thc property-holders that they
would, so f;'lr as lay in thcir power, exchange the products
of their labor, each of his kind, for what they would want
of the other, giving their due-bills therefor. This plan, it
was thought, while insuring a mutual dependence would
also prove u bond of union, and be, in the eud, more satis­
factory than the FOUl'ierite system. Many of the old n}(~m­

bel'S of the Ph~lanx moved to Utopia and carried on the
various avocations. Josiah \Varren was the printer, and
had a good job-office; E. G. Cubberly was the shoemaker j

John Hardy and C. 'V. Carlton were the store-keepers;
Daniel Prescott was the miller (owning the mill which
Henry J ernegan had llloved to the FOUl'ierite farm, and
which in the division became the property of Prescott) ;
and all tIle ordinary trades were carried on. For a time
Utopia was a happy, beautiful place; the people had few
wants, and these werc supplied at home. But this condi­
tion dId not cO:ltinue beyond a few years. The people
became restless, and lon~ed for large.1· and morc indcpendcnt
spheres of action. Sume of the better class of citizens re­
moved, and their places were taken by others not in har­
mony with the purposes of the proprietor and the trustees,

and the project was abandoned an almost complete' failure.
Its effect upon Utopia seems to have been permanent. The
place did not grow beyond the size of a small village, which
it yet remains; and it has never been distinguished as a
business point. David Jernegan has a small store, and the
most important industry is the vineyard of Henry Ehren­
fels (comprising 25 acres) and the fruit distillery connected
therewith. At Utopia is a good landing, but little shipping.
is done, and boats seldom land.

CHILO.

This is the oldest village in the township, and was for
many years known as Mechanicsburgh. It has a fine loca­
tion on the Ohio ncar the southwestern corner of the town­
ship, and has always been an important shipping-point. In
consequence of the hilly nature of the contiguous country
the village has never attained great size, and, although a
large mercantile business is transacted, the chief significance
of Chilo arises frotp its being the shipping-port of Felicity
and the northeastern country.

Chilo was laid out :May 1, 1816, by Robert Bagby, and
the plat was duly recorded in the office of the county re­
corder. It contained 208 lots, and its general shape was a
rectangle, the sides being parallel with the Ohio, with streets
three poles in width, named \Vater, Washington, Warren,
Montgomery, Knox, and Mercer. Crossing these at right
angles are Stark: Sullivan, Market, Gates, Hamilton, and
Greene, nearly all named after Revolutionary heroes. On
the edge of the river was reserved a public landing four
rods wide, and in another part of the village a public square
for a market-house and a public parade. To the original
plat an addition was made, June 19,1817, by John G.
Prather of 2-1 lots, wit,h an additional street, named Wayne.
The same year, September 30th, Samuel Prather made a
fUl'ther addition of 36 lots, numbered from 328 to 363,
with a new street, called Pleasant. And the thil·d and last
recorded addition was made by James valbrcath, James
Forsythe, and Thomas \V. Hale, Oct. 14, 1817. It con­
sisted of 110 lots located on the west side of the original
plat, with appropriate streets.

Robert Bagby, the founder of Chilo, was one of the first
to live there, He came to· Franklin soon after 1800, but
lived for a time at the mouth of Bullskin, where he kept a
sort of a public-house, which was continued after his re­
moval by John Miller. In Chilo he also kept a puhlic­
house, but died in 1800, soon after the town was laid out.
His sons, Sterling and Nathaniel, moved to Felicity at au
early day, and Bannister ·and William both died at Chilo
of the cholera in 1832. His daughters, Melissa and Phrebe,
married Otho Pearre and Henry Miller, both of Franklin.

Alexander Case, a carpenter, was another of the early
citizens of Chilo, living there until his death, in 1837.
He had five sons, named Nelson, Lloyd, John, George, and
Joseph; and daughters who married Jesse, Elijah, and
Zadok McLefresh, and Capt. Samuel Hildreath. Other
early citizens of Chilo were Josiah Broadwell, hatter j

'fhomas Hampton, tavern-keeper; Theo. Briggs, miller;
Jacob Cradlebaugh, potter; ~Villiam Lynn, brick-mason;
Abijah Floro, river trader; Samuel \Vhitney, pilot j John
Forsythe, weaver j 1. A. Pool, strop-maker; Jedediah Hunt-
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FELICITY.

ington, laborer; and James Wall and C. W. Pearre, mm··
chants. In 1837 those that owned houses and shops in
Chilo were John Bailey, Betsey Bagby, Andl'ew Campbell,
James Dennison, Aaron C. Day, James Bvans, Abel Hall:
Asahel Hays: Thomas Owens, Samuel Prather, 1. A. Pool,
James Prather, John Ross, Joseph Smith; John Thomp­
son, Zadok Tucker, Daniel \Vhiteman, aud Lafayette ""Vat­
kins. The population at present is about 500, and its ehief
interests are noted below.. .

MERCANTILE, HOTEL, AND MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.

Among the first in trade were Alexander and 'Villiam
Crawford, but the precise time cannot be determined; prob­
ably soon after the village was laid out. But near Chilo,
at Sargeant's Mills, Joshua Pigman had a store as early as
1806. Following the Crawfords was a Dr. Ewing, James
Walls, Otho and Charles W. Pearre, and Zadok '!'ucker. In
1843, 'Villiam Prather had a good store on Front Street,
which in those days was the principal street, and whose
width had not been encroached upon by the waves, being at
that time more than four rods wide. Then Chme as mer­
chants Charles Cooper, G. B. Noland, Charles Foote, Jed­
ediah Hunt, R. J. Bancroft, P. B. Heizer, A. Hamilton,
Wesley & "William Prather, Sherman Brothers, S. F.
Waterfield, Waterfield & Tucker, Josephus Donley, C. L.
Meade, and Keen & Rice. The two last named are the
present merchants, occupying large and well-filled stores,
much of their trade coming from Kentucky. The lumber
business on an extensive scale is carried on by J. G. Prather,
and R. Brown is a cOllI-dealer.

Robert Bagby had the first public-house at Chilo. Then.
came J edediah Hunt and Thomas Hampton, tne former in
the building now occupied by William Brown. Philip
Lewis had a public-house in the present hotel-stand, where
for some years was L. H. Smith, but which is now kept by
R P. Noland.

But little manufacturing has been done at. Chilo. Be­
sides the minor mechanics mentioned above, Samuel English
made bellows, and later, N. Myers was engaged in the man­
ufacture of tobacco hogs~leads, employing half a dozen
hands. A quarter of a century ago, Riley & Bros. had
steam saw- and grist-mills, which were operated a dozen
years, when the machinery was removed and the buildings
converted into a barn by Capt. Jack. The Howe family
has carried on blacksmithing since 1843.

RIVER INTERESTS.

At Chilo,· Capt. James Walls had a dock for building
steamboats, and here, about 1833, he built (I The Spartan,"
a shapely boat of' medium capacity. She made a trial:-trip
from Cincinnati after she was supplied with her machinery,
running about as fast as a man could walk, which so elated
the captain that he said her speed was too great to ply be­
tween Chilo and Cincinnati. She was taken to the .Missis­
sippi, and nothing more of her history is recollected. The
first boat that made Chilo a terminus was the (( Post Boy,"
and among other boats Oil this line were the II Mary Ament,"
" Free-Stone," (( Mountain Belle," Mountai~Boy," (( J oIm·
Morgan," "Mollie Norton," "Jennie Brown," (( Talla­
paugh," and the present" City of Portsmouth." Until

44 .

1836 the landing was at the lower end of Chilo, but since
thtlt period the present place has served. Some of the old
citizens of Chilo recollect when it was almost impossible to
sec more than one steamer from a point of observation at
the village, but recently 14 steamers were in sight on the
river. A good ferry has generally bee~ maint~ined from
Chilo to Bradford, in Kentucky, and for some years past it
has been in charge of Thomas W. Clark.

TIlE POST-OFFICE AND PHYSICIANS.

The first record of a regularly appointed postmaster ap­
pears in 1825, when Ignatius A. Poole was appointed post­
master. The succe~sive appointees were as follows: 1835,
Andrew Campbell; 1837, John O. Prather; 1845, Jesse
Healy; 1846, Sterling Bagby; 1847, Jedediah Hunt, .Jr.;
1853, David A. Bannister; 1855, C. D. Foote; 1857,
Jedediah Hunt; 1862, John Howe, who yet continues,
and has, since 1876, also been the agent of the Adams'
Express Company.

Among the physicians at Chilo appear the n~mes of Drs.
Eaton, Kincaid, Shepard, Dart, Richards, and 'the present
Drs. Davis and Allen 'Voods. The latter here engaged in
active practice in 1851, and achieved a reputation which
has giveo him rank among the best physicians of the
county.

In population and business importance this is the second
village in the county. It has a fine location on an elevated
plateau forming a portion of the high table-lands of this
part of Clermont, near the centre of tIle township, being
about fool' miles from the Ohio, at Rural, and five from
Chilo. To these places and three other points lead good
free turnpikes, making the village the centre of a densely
populated country, filled with thriving and intelligent far­
mers. Originally the village site was heavily wooded and
the surface was somewhat wet, but as the timber was re­
moved the ground became dry, and the "general salubrity of
the place will compare with other points in the county.
The village is on the Bryan and Carter surveys, which were
surveyed Dec. 25·, 1787, by John Obannon and his assist­
ants for Capt. Morgan Bryan and Maj. Nicholas Carter,
both soldiers of the Continental Line. The two surveys
embrace 600 acres of choice land, whos9 fertility is rarely
surpassed.

On the 17th of October, 1805, Thomas Fee purchased
the survey of 200 acres, belonging to Capt. Bryan, for
$500', and Sept. 15, 1806, William Fee secured the 400
acres constituting the Carter survey for $360, a part of
which he subsequently conv..eyed to Peter Hastings. In
1818, William Fee also became owner of the 200 acres
which, until this time, had belonged to Thomas Fee, and
for many years he was the largest land-owner in this part of
the township. On part of this extensive tract was laid out,
April 19, 1817, the village of Felicity, by William Fee and
Peter Hastings, forming a plat of 72 lots and embracing
22! acres. The streets were laid out to run with the points
of the compass, and received the names of Walnut, Main,
Light, Union, :Market, and West. On the edge of Light
Street. was a well which was reserved by one of the pro­
prietors. May 28, 1819, William Fee .platt~d an addition
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of lots, numbered from 73 to 104, with new :streets, named
Minor and Coffee. The secoml audition was made by
'Villiam Fee and Peter Hastings, Jan. ~1, 18:'W, and con­
flisted of RH· acres, forming lots numbered from 105 to
216, and streets called Mulberry, Sycamore, and Neville;
and May 5, 1846, another addition of lots wus recorded in
behalf of 'Villiam Fee. These additions were made on all
sides of the original plat, and the village at prc~ent has a
very irregular shape, owing to its extended growth along
some of the principal highwuys on lots which were 1Iot·
regularly laid out.

The proprietors of the village were also the first actual
settlers, and from this circumstance, and after the munner
of that day, the place was called by U1any Fcestown. Fe­
licity also owes its derivation to the namc of \Vm. Fee.
His cabin stood on what is now knowlI as the Hayden
corner, and was a building 15 by 20 feet, of logs, with a
ground floor and a large rock set up for a chimney. Later,
a two-story log house, with a long front porch, took the
place of this humble cabin, and was occupied by Mr. Fee
until he could erect a fine brick residence. He had three
sons,-'l'homas, Arthur, and Jesse,--:-who also lived many
years at Felicity, one of them until his death, a short time
ago. Jesse Fee waS married to Maria Knowles in 1822,
and was the father of O. P. S., Dart K, Mart T., and Lu­
ther K. Fee, who became widely known in the county and
the southern part of Ohio. Arthur Fee married Sally
Miller, and theil· children were Marcus, Arthur 1\1., Tho]Ilas,
Price T., William I., and two daughters, who also identified
themselves with the intCl~ests of" Clermont and :Felicity.
The other proprietor-Peter Hustings-was an Irishman
and a local Methodist minister, who was wonderfully giftcd
in exhortation and prayer. In his passage to America he
suffered shipwreck and other calamity, making his life full
of vicissitudes. He was the ancestor of Peter H. Hast­
ings, an attorney of note in Cincinnati. His house on Main
Street was not far from 1\1r. l1'ec'8.

In 1818 there was a public sale of village lots at Felicity,
in front of the residence of Wm. Fee, when the first choice
was sold to John 1\1cGraw for $60. He selected the south­
west corner of Main and Market, and the following year
erected on it a large house for hotel purposes. At this time
:Mathew Day and Joseph Parrish also purchased lots, and
soon erected buildings thereon. The increase of population
was steady, but not remarkable; but the inhabitants were
generally an excellent class of citizens. In 1837 there
were living at Felicity John Artus, merchant; TI~omas

Boude, merchant; Sterling and Nathaniel Bagby; John C.
Cramer, tailor i Robert Chalfimt, merchant i George Cross­
ley, wagon-maker i John Dimmitt, hatter; Joseph Frambes,
Wm. Thomas, and Arthur Fee, Samuel Goodwin,' Wm.
Hitch, Peter Hastings, Reason Hooten, Michael Hughes,
blacksmitl~ i J. H. Hastings i David House, shoemaker;
Jeremiah Joslin; J. C. Kennedy, physician i Alonzo
Knowles, merchant i James Meeker, shoemaker; J. H.
Merritt, suddler i James Mullen, merchunt i Moses Mc­
Wealthy i Joseph Parrish, saddler; C. W. Pearre, cabinet­
maker; BethueI Reynolds, tailor i Jeremiah Smith, chair­
maker; James T. Sargent, carpenter j James and M. Sar­
~ent, carders i Erasmus Sargeut, merchant; John Shannon,

blacksmith; and John Van Briggle, chairmaker a~d mer­
chant.

After 1850 a number of colored people took up their
residence at Felicity, and at present constitute a fourth of
the population. The village has about 1200 inhabitants
and the interests not4~d in the following pages.

MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

Felicity ';vas incorporated by an act of the Legislatul·e·
passed March 14~ 1836, which prlWided "'fhat so much
of the towllship of Franklin us is included in the plat of'
Felicity, or which should hereafter be recorded as a plat or
addition to Felicity, should be constituted a town corpornte
by the Tiame of Felicity." It Was also provided that. the
elective officers consist of' a mayor, recorder, and five trus,
tees, five of' whom should constitute a quorum to do busi,
ness, and the first. election was to be held May 2, 1836.
These were to constitute the" Town Council of Felicit.y,"
~ind were cmpowered to hold property and to sue and be
sued; to regulate and improve the streets j to levy ta:S:es
(not to exceed one-half per centum) j to appoint a marshal,
collector, and treasurer i "and to make all necessary ~lP,

propriations and impro\rements which may conduce to the
health and comfort of said town."

The mayor was to be the conservator of the peace witllin
the corporation, and the marshal the principal ministeriul
officer, with fees the same us those received by constables)
and the use of the county jail Was granted to confine of,
fenders or transgressors of village laws.

Feb. 4, 1842, an amendment to the act of incorporation
was passed; granting the right to vote for all town officers
and giving the franchise to such as were entitled to vote
for Governor.

:May 16, 1853, the town council was reorganized under
the general act regulating the incorporation of villages)
passed May 3, 1852, and was thereafter to be known as the
"village trustees of the village of Felicity." All ordinances
passed prior to the reorganization were repealed and new
ordinances were enacted for the welfare of the vill<\ge.

The records of the council under the original chartet
have not been preserved, but from other sources it is
shown that in 1841 DClvid Fagin was mayor and Alonzo
Knowles· recorder i in 1845, Moses Larkin mayor and E.
F. W. Ellis recorder; 1850, A. Knowles mayor and George
McLefresh recorder; 1850-52, P. H. -Hastings mayor,
O. P. S. Fee recorder, Josiah McFarland, .J. H. Simmonds,
Jared Brush, J. H. Higgins, and W. R. Sargent council­
men.

Among tIle more important ordin:)lJ('es pussed under the
ne\v 1'egime were, May 23, 1853, and later periods, to de­
fine the duties of the marshal and to protect him in the dis­
charge of the same; "to restrain the running at large of
animals;" "to regulate the sale of intoxicating liquors i"
" to regulate shows aud exhibitions i" "to prevent the des­
ecration of the first duy of the week and to restrain im­
proper conduct i" "to prevent nuisances and to promote
the public health j" and, later, "to prevent the spread of
smallpox or varioloid;" "to provide for the appointment
of police and night watchmen i" "to regulate ale-, beer-,
and porter-houses and shops;" "to prevent noise, indecent
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conduct, and disorderly assemblages, and to preserve the
good order of the village 01' Felicity j" "to enforce the
collection of fines j" and" to create a board of health and
define the duties of the members."

In the main the ordinances have pi'oved salqtary
measures and conduced to the welfare of the village, bene­
fiting it on account of its having corporafe privileges.
About, $600 are annually expended by the village authori­
ties in improving the streets and regulating the affairs of
Felicity, and the taxation always having been light, the
financial condition of the village is sound. .

The village officers since the reorganization IJuve been
the following:

l853.-Mayor, A. L. Knowles; Reeorcler, O. P. S. Fcc; Council, Alex­
ander Armstrong; J. W. Van llriggle, 1\L L. Day, David
Barber, and J. W. Richluds; Treasurer, D. E. Fcc; Mar­
shal, Joseph Hayden.

1854.-Mayor, S. }'. Dowdney; Recorder, A. L. Knowles; Council,
. L. W. Can'er, M. L. Day, 1\'1. Richards, Joseph Watson, and

Robert BrYlmt.
l855.-Mayor, L. W. Can'er; Recorder, D. M. Sargent; Council, J.

W. South, O. J. Norris, John Pattison, 1\L Hichards, and
J. H. Higgins; Treasurer, D. E. Fcc; Marshal, D. S.
Waits.

l856.-Mayor, A. W. Hines; Recorder, D. M. Sargent; Council, S.
F. Dowdney, W. H. Richards, Marcus Fee; O. J. Norris, and
J. II. Higgins.

IS57.-l\fayor, M:trcus Fcc; Recorder, O. J. Norris; Council, J. P.
Molen, J. H. Higgins, L. W. Carver, A. E. Armacost, S. F.
Dowdney; Treasurer, O. P. S. Fcc; 1\farshnl, .Joseph
Frambes.

l85S.-Mayor, J. J. Non-is; Recorder, O. J. Norris; Council, R.
Lanham, G. W. Hurley, J. W. Van Briggle, J. n. Higgins,
II. Bradley; Treasurer, O. P. S. :Fee; Marshal, .Tohn Hurdle.

l85!J.-l\lnyor, W. J. Reese; Recorder, F. W. Knowles; Council, M.
S. Dimmitt, W. H. Wood, H. Bradley, A. E. Armacost, A.
L. Powell; Treasurer, O. P. S. Fee; Marshal, S. O. Goodwin.

l8BO.-Mayor, W. J. Reese; Recorder, F. W. Knowles; Council, M.
S. Dimmitt, 1\'1. O. Frost, S. Van Briggle, John Walker, and
1\L L. Day; Treasurer, O. P. S. Fee; Marshal, J.1\L Miller.

l861.-Mayor, W. J. Reese; Recorder, 1\1. N. Sargent; Council, J.
L. Day, John Pattison, L. W. Cun'er, Alexander Armstrong,
J. P. Molen; Treasurer, O. P. S. Fee; Marshal, S. O. Good­
win.

l862.-Mayor, George Kleckner; Recorder, 1\L N. Sargent; Council,
L. W. Can'er, M. S. Dimmitt, James McClunc, Dn.vid
Barber, and W. J. Reese; Treasurer, A. E. Armacost; Mar­
shal, John Robb.

1863.-Mayor, George Kleckner; Recorder, S. Sherwood; Council, S.
Van Briggle, J. S. Fallin, Nelson Tucker, E. Lanham,
Joseph Watson; Treasurer, A. E. Armacost; Marshal, G.
L. Lewis.

l864.-Mayor, L. R. Day; Recorder, Henry Miller; Council, John
Higgins, William Moffitt, R. H. Grimes, A. Green, and
Alexander Armstrong; Treasurer, A. L. Powell j Marshal,
S. O. Goodwin.

l865.-Mayor, L. W. Carver; Recorder, W. J. Reese; Council, D. S.
Waits, S. C. Grimes, William Moffit, J. H. Higgins, J. H.
Cmse; Treasurcr, J. L. Day; Marshal, T. A. Hurdle.

l866.-Mayor, T. A. Fruzier; Recorder, John W. Reese; Council,
Marcus Fee, William Saint, L. W. Carver, W. T. Prather,
n. Babbitt; Treasurer, J. L. Doy; :Marshal, .Joscph Hay­
den.

l867.-Mayol·, J. II. Simmons; Recorder, S. F. Kennedy; Council,
Marcus Fcc, H. Babbitt, L. W. Carver, William Waterfield,
G. A. Frazicr; Treasurer, J. L. Day; Marshal, Quincy
Sellman; Street Commissioner, A. L. Powell.

1868.-Mayor, J. H. Simmons; Recorder, S. F. Kennedy; Council,
H. Soper, N. Broadwell, G. W. Fenwick, W. W. Waterfield,
James Metzgar; 'freasurer, L. W. Ware; Marshal, Joseph
Hayden.

l869.-l\fayor, J. L. Day; Recorder, A. H. Swearengin; Council, J.
S. Fallin, J. H. Simmons,N. Broadwell, William Wuter­
field, G. A. Frazier; Treasurer, L. W. Ware; Marshal,
Joseph Hayden; Street Commissioner, A. B. McKee.

l870.-l\fn.yor, J. L. Day; Recorder, W. P. S6uth; Council, L. W.
Carver, E. F. Donley, II. Brudley (for two years), M. S. Dim­
mitt, S. W. Hoover, B. F. Holter (for one year); Treasurer,
W. W. Quinn; Marshal, Joseph Hayden; Street Commis­
sioner, J. II. Cruse.

l871.-i\1n.yor, J. L. Day j Recorder, W. T. Pra.ther; Council, M. S.
Dimmitt, A. n. McKee, E. F. Donley, L. W. Carver, S. W.
HOO\"el', II. Bradly; Treasurcr, L. W. Warc; Marshal,
Joseph Hayden; Street Commissioner, John Cruse.

1872.-1\hyor, George P. Clark; Recorder, W. T. Prather; Council,
W. W. Wateriield, Curry Cattell, Samuel Dixon, A. B.
McKee, J. H. Higgins, L. W. Carver; Treasurer, S. F.
Kennedy; l\Iarshal, Joseph Frnmbes; Street Commissioner,
Willis Levi.

1873.-Mayor, L. W. Carver; Reeorder, W. B. Crouch; Council, M.
S. Dimmitt, Curry Cattell, W. W. Waterfield, J. H. Higgin~,

E.1\L Sargcnt, J. L. Watson; Trcasure.r, S. F. Kennedy;
Marshal, Joseph Frambes; Street Commissioner, Willis
Levi.

1874.-i\Iayor, L. W. Cun'er; Recorder, W. B. Crouch; Council, J~
H. Higgins, E. 1\1. Sargent, J. L. Watson, R. W. Buchanan,
W. J. Reese, M. S. Dimmitt; Treasurer, R. F. Day; Mar­
sha.l, Notley Lanham; Street Commissioner, Willis Levi.

18i5.-Ma)'or, L. W. Can'er; Recorder, B. F: Holter; Council, L. P.
Holter, W. J. Reese, A. B. McKee, R. W. Buchanan, J. H.
Higgins, E. F. Donley; Marshal, James Mullen; Treasurer,
R. T. Day; Strect Commissioner, Willis Levi; Solicitor, J.
S. Parrott.

1876.-Mayor, W. B. Crouch; Recorder, A. J.,Barr; Council, E. R.
Wells, J. B. Goodwin, L. W. Carver, W. J. Reese, A. B.
McKee, J. H. Higgins; Treasurer, R. F. Day; Marshal,
Joseph Hayden; Street Commissioner, Notley Lanham;
Solicitor, G. A. Frnzier.

l877.-Mayor, W. B. Crouch; Recorder, A. J. Barr; Council, James
Metzger, William Abbott, Jr., O. P. Walker, E. R. Wells,
J. B. Goodwin, M. S. Dimmitt; Treasurer, B. F. Day; Mar­
!!hal, Joseph Hayden; Street Commissioner, Notley Lan-
ham; Solicitor, G. A. Frazier. .

l878.-Mayor, L. W. Carver; Recorder, A. J. Barr; Council, B. F.
Trees, B. F. Holter, A. Floro, James Metzger, O. P. Walker,
1\1. S. Dimmitt; TI'easurer, R. F. Day; Marshal, Joseph
Hayden; Street Commissioner, Notley Lanham; Solicitor,
G. A. Frazier.

18r9.-Mayor, L. lV. Carver;· Recorder, A. J. Barr; Council, B. F.
Holter, J. L. Day, S. A. Madison, O. F. Sillcott, R. W.
Buchanan, B. F. Trees; Treasurer, R. F. Day; Marshal,
Joseph Hayden; Solicitor, John Walker; Street Commis­
sioner, George Louderback; Board of Health, J. W. Ken­
nedy, M. S. Dimmitt,J. H. Higgins, W. P. South, A. E.
Armacost, und John Walker.

TilE BUSINESS INTERESTS

of Felicity have given that village an enviable reputation
abroad. Here have been some of the best and most exten­
sive stores in the county, and here certain branches of manu­
facture have attained a pre-eminent position.

It is believed that the first goods were sold by Willi~m

Fee, in his building which stood on the Hayden corner,
probably only in a small way. Then came Alonzo Knowles,
and later Parrish .& Cleaveland, Parrish & FrambeR, and
those already named in the foregoing pages. Abont 1825,
Robert Chalfant came to this place, from Point Pleasant,
and for more than twenty years carried on a business whose
magnitude was almost equal to John Kugler's, at Milford.
He had various associates, among them the gallant Ellis.
His SOD, Frank, was also in trade, and upon their retire­
ment the business was continued by W. H. Richards.
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Chalfant amasscd a fortune at Felicity, but subscquently
engaging in husiness at Cincinnati with Israel Foster (also
from ClerIllont County) they lost nearly all their accumu­
lations. His contemporary merchants were Thomas and
Gideon Minor, John B. Goodwin, E. & 'V. R. Sargent,
John S. Fallin, Andrcw Powell, Knowles & Powell, Van
Brif!gle, ·Ware & Co., and Dimmitt & Fee. Later came
David Houser, Bl'Ush & Dillman, A. Fee & Sons, D. E.
Fee, Marcus Fee, A. L. Powell, Clark & I.tongworth, J. G.
Richards & Co., House & Edwards, and the widely-known
firm of O. I). S. Fcc & Co. At prcsent an extensive trade
is transacted by the Waterfield Brothers ('V. ,Y. & S. F.)
in the old Chalfant building; W. P. & T. L. South, and
H. Fridman, all having general stores; J. L. Day & Son,
and W. B. Crouch, grocers; A. E. Armacost, G. 'V. Hay­
den, and Thomas Haydon, boots and shoes; and H. F.
Struve, jeweler. The first to cngage in the hardware trade
werc A. & William F. Schriver, who sold to L. W. Caner
in 1857, and the trade has since been continued hy him.
Among the early druggists were Lee Tatman (about 1845),
James Frizzell, VY. A. Frizell, G. & J. P. Molen, Norris
& Fee, William Waterfield, and J. 'V. Kennedy (for the
past fifteen years), J. H. Simmons & Co., in 1856, and
since 1858 Simmons & Knowles, both having large and
well-stocked stores. In 1879 the pork packers of the
village were Waterfield & Brother, B. F. Holter, and H.
Fridman.

The first public-house was kept by .John l\lcGraw, in
1819, in a double log house which stood on the lot now
occupied by the store of the South Bros It was kept by
him about four year!!, when he was succeeded by William
Shearer. Then came \Vaite Knowles. Alonzo Knowles
had an early tavern on the lot now occupied by Joseph
Day, on Main Street. In the upper rooms of this building
the :Masons held their first meetings. It was discontinued
about 1840. Then came Jeremiah McKinney, John :Miller,
Moses Larkin, and Nathaniel Bagby. The latter kept in
the present "Ellsworth House,:' which was built for a
residence by John Dimmitt, and which was converted into
a hotel by Bagby. After him came Samuel Goodwin, who
also kept a public-house on the corner below this stand.
Among otller keepers of public-houses were Jolm P. Moyer,
J. H. Simmons, G. A. }i"razier, Sr., Michael Hichards, and.
Mrs. Frances Dixon. At present there are four public­
houses.

}i'ormerly many hatters carried on their trade at Felicity.
Among the first were Peter Hastings and Alexander Green.
John Dimmitt for many years gave employment to a num­
ber of persons in this industry. George Kleckner~ John
Dobbin, and Michael Barr were also hatters, the latter
making all kinds of hats, including silks, and was the last
tllUs engaged.

Gideon B. Knowles had the first tannery in the village,
and Wyatt Owens had one on the Bullskin, which was after­
wards operated by John Miller. Isaiah Quinn, Wesley
McKenzie, and Fergus Buker were also tanners at Felicity.
Joseph 1\1. Ginnings and l ..emuel Young were among the
first shoemakers. Michael Richards and Nelson Sargent
have followed this trade many years in the village. Joseph
Parrish had a large saddlery establishment, which produced

wares for the Southern market, and J. H. Merritt and
H ugh McCoskey made saddle-trees, while the manufacture
of wooden stirrups was carried on by ·William Moffitt, and
is yet continued by William Hollister. Among the wheel­
wrights· and blacksmiths were George Crossley, A. F. Pol.
lard, Joseph Frambes, James Souers, Abraham Laypole,
,Y. H. Morgan, H. N. Abbott & Sons, L. H. Smith, Rice
& MadiRon, some continuing to the present.

Jeremiah and John Smith made splint-chairs as em'lyas
1830, and John Van Briggle, Ithucl Stevens, and others
were also pioneers in this industry. S. Van Briggle carried
on chair-making on a more extensive scale from 1850 for
ten years, employing a dozen hands. Pattison & Higgins
were also chair-makers. J. F. McKinney, Nathaniel Bagby,
S. Bagby, South & Bryan, and J. II. Simmons were among
the early furniture-makers. R. 'V. Buchanan engaged in
~his work in 1866, and yet continues, having a shop in
which the wares are made throughout, from the rough
lumber. In the fall of 1873, Gray & White began manu­
factu~ing furniture by steam, and soon after the ,; Felicity
Furniture Company" was formed. Its interests are at
present in charge of C. Gray, who employs a number of
hands in a well-appointed shop. "The Excelsior Furni­
ture and Chair Company" has had a number of persons
intercsted, John Pattison being the principal member of
the different firms; steam-power is employed. The manu­
facture of furniture was for many years the principal in­
dustry or Felicity.

In the early hist,ory of the village Thomas and Nelson
Sargent had a carding-machine and fulling.mill, operated
by tread-power, and also made linseed oil. II} 1832, Jesse
Hess started a similar establishment farther down Main
Street, and was succeeded by Stephen Judd and John
l\lelvin.

Joseph Frambes had a horse-mill in the 11.0rthe1'l1 part of
the village, and about 1845 he and 'Vesley McLain got in
operation a steam saw- and grist-mill on the western part or
Main Street. The present mills were built in 1844-45, by
Joseph Frambes and John Pattison. They have been re­
built, and now rank among the besl in the county. The
present owners are W. J. Quarry and O. F. Silcott. South
of the village Houser & Fagin h.ad steam saw-mills about
1850, which have long since been discontinued. Other
manufacturing interests were for a time maintained in the
village, but as they have been allowed to decline no mention
of them is here made.

THE PROFESSIONS AND OTHER INTERESTS.

Alonzo Knowles read law with Thomas Morris, and about
1828 engaged in the practice of his profession at Felicity,
although not giving it his exclusive attention, and continued
until his death, in 1852. Eo F. 'V. Ellis was a student of
Knowles, but removed to Rockford, Ill., and in the Re-

. bellion fell, as the colonel of an Illinois regiment, at Pitts­
burg Landing. William l\'lcHugh, an attorney, died in
1849. P. H. Hastings, a contemporary, in later years
removed to Cincinnati. George McJ....efresh was for many
years an att.orney at Felicity, but removed to the South, and
at present resides at Chilo. Jonathan Palmer, after several

, years of successful practice, removed to Illinois, and S. F.
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Dowdney to Batavia. Alonzo L. Knowles, a member of
the Franklin bar, died in 1857. Prior to this date, the
attorneys were George S. Lee and David Thomas. Reuben
Utter, after following the profession at Felicity, removed to
Neville j and John S. Parrott, after 1874, to' Batavia j and
possibly other attorneys may have been in the village.

'In 1845, L. ·W. Carver was admitted to the bar, and with
the exception of a few years has resided at Felicity, al­
though not always following his profession. G. A. Frazier
was admitted in 1864, nnd since 1868 has had an office at
11'elicity. John Walker read law under Mr. Frazier's instruc­
tion, and in 1872 was admitted to the bar. Since that
time he has maintained an office at Felicity. He was born
in 1831, in the State of Kentucky, and after teaching and
engaging in mechanical pursuits took up the law as a pro­
fession, and in 1819 was elected a justice of the peace.

In the medical profession, among the earliest to locate at
Felicity was Dr. J. C. Kennedy, now of Batavia. Dr.
Thomas Boude also removed to Batavia. Dr. Allen ·Woods,
of Chilo, was here many years. From 1842 till 1862 Dr.
J. N. Kennedy was in practi~e. Then came the D~ctors
Utter,-R. and W. R,-the former dying in 1857. Dr.
Harvey Bradley graduated from the Ohio Medical Col­
ledge in 1855, and has been in practice ever since, being
now the senior physician at Felicity j and other physicians
here in practice are Doctors M. Gibson, 'V. E. Tucker,
'Villiam I.Aucas, A. B. McKee, B. F. Mitchell, and 'f. G.
Dennis, dentist. A number of physicians were located at
Felicit,y for short periods, but their names cannot be here
produced. .

About 1873, J. L. Watson opened a private bank at
Felicity, and a year later associated E.1\L Sargent with him
in carrying on the business, which was discontinued in
March, 1879. The office was in a building on the north­
west corner of Market and Walnut Streets.

The Felicity post-office was established in 1823, with
Moses Larkin as postmaster. In 1825, Elisha A. 'Voods
was appointed j in 1829, Robert Chalfant j 1833, Thomas
H. Minor j 1835, Robert Chalfant; 1841, Alonzo Knowles j

1851, Amos Larkin j 1853, O. P. S. Fee j 1863, Marcus
Fee; 1871, 'V. P. South; 1875, L. S. Molen. The office
distributes a large amount of mail daily, being the terminus
of several routes, and since July 1,1869, has been a postal
mbney-order office.

The Felicity Building and Loan Association was in­
corporated Feb. 21, 1872, with a capital stock of $100,000,
in shares of $200 each. The corporators were M. S. Dim­
mitt, J. W. Kennedy, E. 1\1. Sargent, H. B. Crouch, L.
W. Carver, T. W. Knowles, H. McCaskey, ~I. T. Fee, and
W. ,Yo Quinn. In April following the association elected
its first officers, J. W. Kennedy being selected as president;
M. S. Dimmitt, secretary (both of whom have served ever
since); and E. M. Sargent was elected treasurer, serving
until 1879, when he was succeeded by L. W. Carver. The
capital of the association remains unchanged, and its affairs
have been creditably managed.

The Felicity Library and Read'ing-Roorn Association
was organized June 2, 1879, when a board o£ directors was
chosen, as follows: J. W. Kennedy, J. H. Simmons, G. A.
Frazier, W. W. Waterfield, W. B. Crouch, L. W: Carver,

A. B. McKee, W. J. Helmer, and W. H. Ulrey, from
among whom were also chosen the first officers.

The payment of $1 constitutes a person a member, and
entitles him to the privileges of the library, w4ich contains
at present more than one hundred standard books. The
library has a home in Fee's Block; and is in charge of Capt.
L. W. Carver. The association is in a flourishing condition,
and if its aims are carried out will do much to advance the
literary interests of the village, which are already in a fine
condition.

SECRET ORDERS.

The Masonic fraternity were the first to institute. a lodge
in the township of Franklin, which has been maintained
with varying interest, but general prosperity, until the
present time.

UNION LODGE, No. 102,

was chartered Oct. 17, 1839, with George Crossley, 1\1aster ;
Moses Larkin, So W.; and John F. McKinney, J. W.

No records of the lodge for the first three years have
been preserved, but' in 1842 the members were Reuben
Young,_'V. R. Sinks, E. F. W. Ellis, M. S. Dimmitt, W.
B. Utter, John Dohbins, Azariah Quinn, Shadruch Dimmitt,
Hup;h S. McKibben, J. C. Kennedy, J. F. McKinney, Da­
vid Fagin, John 'Villis, Ormon Tatman, Hugh McCaskey,
John S. Fallin, George Crossley, Wm. T. North, James
F. Chalfant, J. F. Phillips, J. 'V. Kennedy, A. Knowles,
E. McFarland, A. L. Powell, Nathan Keyt, ,Yo 'V. Per­
kins, 'V. P. English, B. F. Thrasher, M. Selby, Joseph
Tatman, W. H. Prather, J. ~I. Bartlett, and 'V. F. Rich­
ards. In 1879 there were 55 members.

Since 1848 the lodge has' occupied the present hall, on
the southern part of Union Street, in Felicity, and in which
are also held the meetings of the chapter and council.

The Masters and Secretaries of the lodge have been the
following :.

.Maste7's.-1841, David Fagin; 1842, 1\1. S. Dimmitt;
1843-44, GeQrge Crossley; 1845, ,Y. B. Utter; 1846,
John S. Fallin; 1847: David Fagin j 1848, E. F. 'V.
Ellis; 1849, George Crossley; 1850, A. L. Powell j 1851,
W. W. Perkins; 1852, A. H. Cassatt; 1853, Joseph P.
1\101en; 1854, L. W. Carver; 1855, J. P. Molen; 1856­
57, S. F. Dowdney; 1858, J. P. 'Molen; 1859-61, H.
Bradley; 1862, R. Lanham j 1863-64, A. L. Powell;
1865, H. Bradley; 1866, H. Lanham; 1867, L. ,Y. Car­
vel'; 1868, R. Lanham j 1869, L. S. Molen; 1870, L. W.
Carver; 1871, H. Bradley; 1872, A. R McKee; 1873,
H. McCaskey j 1874, W. W. Quinn; 1875-76, H. Bmd­
ley; 1877, L. S. Molen; 1818, W. H. Straight; 1879,
L. S. 1\1olen.

Sec1·el07·ies.-1841 , A. Knowles; 1842-44, E. F. W.
Ellis; 1845-47, F. J. Phillips j 1848-49, ~I. S. Dimmitt;
1850, George Kleckner j 1851, G. W. Richards j 1852-53,
M. S. Dimmitt j 1854, S. F. Dowdney j 1855, M. S. Dim­
mitt; 1856, D. M. Sargent j 1857., A. Goslin j 1858,IJ.
W. Carver; 1859-66, M. S. Dimmitt j 1867, James Metz­
gar j 1868-79, 1\1. S. Dimmitt.

OItlON CHAPTER, No. 41, ROYAL ARCH MASONS,

was instituted Sept. 29, 1849, on the petition of Daniel H.
Murphy, P. L. Wilson, Joseph A. Perrine, E. F. W. Ellis,
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M. S. Dimmitt, R. M. Dolby, John D. White, Robert
Allen, and John J. Higgins. Other early members were
John S. Fallin, A. L. Powell, Joseph L. Powell, David Barr,
Reason Tivis, Rev. 'Vesley Rowe, James Knin, Joseph
Watson, etc.

Since 1849 the High Priests and Secretaries have been:
Higlt Priests.-1849, E. F. W. Ellis j 1850, George

Crossley; 1851, John S. Fallin; 1852, George Crossley;
1853-55, J. P. Molen j 1856-57, A. L. Powell; 1858­
62, .M. S. Dimmitt j 1863, J. S. Fallin; 1864-67, H.
Bradley; 1868-70, 1\1. S. Dimmitt; 1871-72, L. 'V. Car- .
Yer; 18;3, H. McCaskey; 1874-80, l\I. S. Dimmitt.

Secl'eta1'iel~.-1849, P. L. Wilson j 1850, S. F. Dowd­
ney; 1851, J. W. Kennedy j 1852, 1\1. S. Dimmitt; 1853,
J. C. Kennedy; 1854-56, S. F. Dowdney j 1857-66, J.
H. Simmons; 1867, M. S. Dimmitt; 1868-70, O. P. S.
Fce j 1871-80, J. H. Simmons.

The chapter has contributed members to the New Rich­
mond and Georgetown chapters, which has diminished its
membership, so that only 25 belong at present.

CONNELL COUNCITJ, No. 18, R. ,AND S. l\I.

Preliminary meetings for the institution of the council
were held, and on the 26th of April, 1851, a petition was
prepared and signed by 1\1. S. Dimmitt, J. 'V. Kennedy,
J. P. Molen, Z. Connell, 'V. W. Perkins, J. F. :l\IcCann,
'V. H. Woodrow, J. W. Woollis, and Joseph Marley, and in
due time the council was chartered, and the meetings have
since been regularly held The members belonging to this
council, the only one in the county, have been the following:
1\1. S. Dimmitt, J. W. Kennedy, J. P. Molen, George
Crossley, John S. Fallin, A. L. Powell, Joseph 'Vatson, S.
F. Dowdney, George Abrams, John"Dimmitt, Robert Bryan,
Rcason Tivis, J. C. Kennedy, \Vesley Rowe, A. H. Cassatt,
,V. B. McCormick, George 'V. Richards, James Kain,
John T. Powcll, B. F.Sallee, E. 'tV. Humphries, J. H.
Silllmon~, E. F. W. Ellis, James Stewart, A. Johnston, J.
A. Perrine, Francis Locknitt, Zachariah' Cpnnell, W. A.
Frizell, 'V. P. Kincaid, P. L. Wilson, John Allen, David
Burl', Joseph L. Powell, Edward Hughes, L. ·W. Carver, 0.
P. S. Fee, Jonathan Heitzman, J. D. King, 1. P. Biehn,
H. C. Sallee, S. G. Boyd, Samuel Martin, Charles Brown­
ing, N. S. Hill, H. McCaskey, W. W. Perkins, Frank
Davis, David E. Roberts, J. C.Weaver, James S. Brun­
augh, George Fridman, Daniel Hillin, S. 'V. McKinney,
Charles Stephens, W. R. Sinks, Samuel 'Vilmath, Perer
Camerer, Henry Jenks, John Gunn, Robert Fulton, An­
dl'ew Mahaffey, William :Fee, 'William Johnston, A. B. Mc­
Kee, James I. Selby, George Hawkins, Enoch Reed, R.
J. Bancroft,A. T. Cowen,E. L. House, Daniel Kidd, A.
N. Robinson, A. C. Spahr, W. A. Watkins, H. Bradley,
Edgar C..Beall.

SgWANIE LOnG E, No. 95, 1. O. O. F.

This lodge was instituted at Georgetown, in Bl'OWll

Count.y, Sept. 17, 1847, but it was soon allowed to go down,
and the charter was surrendered to the Grand J.Jodge of the
State. Upon petition the lodge was reinstituted at Felicity,
Jan: ~2, 185~, lhe petitioners bl}in~ A. B. Heterick, Wil­
liam Stapleton, Chal'1es W. Blail·,"N. S. Devore, und l\'l.

Woods. Among the early initiates were Asher Goslin, 1\1.
S. Dimmitt, Charles 'V. Blair, M. l\Iathews, B. F. Gardner,
James J. Goslin, E. J. Prather, Henry Shinkle, Stephen
C. Bolander, John B. Goodwin, A. J.J. Knowles, James 'V.
South,William Shinkle, Joseph Prather, Dr. Reuben Utter,
Thomas F. Parrish, John H. Higgins, 'V. J. ReeFl, William
E. Ames, D. S. vYaits, A. H. Dorland, William W. Brush,
F. W. Knowles, David D. Brush, Eri Daly, Gran·ville A.
Frambes, John G. Prather, William S. Moore, L. P. Holter,
1\1. T. Fee, P. C. Smith, H. F. Gray, F. 1\1. Dimmitt, and
J. C. McKibben.

At present the membership of the lodge is only 35,
many of the former members having become connected with
other lodges. The hall was built in 1858, forming the
third story of the Fee Block, and was provided at a cost
of $1400. In April, 1874, Sewanie Lodge ll,lid out a fine
cemetery of a little more than eight acres, just outside the
-village of Felicity, about one-half of which has been im-
proved, forming 198 large blocks. The trustees in 1819
were ~. Matthews, W. R. Sells, and W. J. Rees.

The officers of the lodge fo'r the first term in 1880 were
T. C. Hardy, N. G.; T. W. Jones, V. G.; 1\1. S. Dimmitt,
R. S.; J. 'V. Wedding, P. S.; and W. J. Rees, T.

For periods not before named the Noble Grands have
been: 1852, A. Goslin, M. S. Dimmitt; 1853, James J.
Goslin, E. J. Prather j 1854, N. Mathews, S. C. Bolander;
1855, D. E. Fee, J. W. South; 1856, A. L. Knowles,
John B. Goodwin j 1857, Marcus Fee, \V. J. Rees; 1858,
N. Mathews, J. J. Derrough; 185!:}, 1\1. S. Dimmitt, A. M.

·Fee; 1860, F. 'V. Knowles, ---j 1861;R. H. Grimes,
W. S. Moore j 1862, 1\1. N. Sargent,D. S. Waits; 1863,
J.H. Chapman, 1\:1. T. Fee; 1864, S.·P. Kibben, John ·W.
Robb; 1865, W. 'V. Fronk, James. M. 'Vatkins; 1866,
Peter C. Smith, John H. Laycock j 1867, S. C. Grimes,
James ,Yo 'Vedding; 1868, B. L. Bredwell, F. M. Dim­
mitt; 18GD, G. A. Frazier, T. C. Pierce j 1870, A. H.
Swerengen, E. F. Donnelly j 1871, H. F. Gray, J. O. Mc­
Kibben; 1872, Joseph Hollister, S. P. Shinkle j 1873, S.
A. Altman, Stephen Kramer; 1874, L. P. Holter, J. F.
White j 1875, W. R. Sells, J. Woodson j 1876, John F.
Boggess, F. H. Abbott j 1877, S. 'V..McKinney, James

'K. Gray j 1878, James 1. McKibben, W. A. Page; 1879,
D. P. Helvering, G. M. Reddin.

FELICITY ENCAMPMENT, No.·SO, 1. O. O. F.,

had as charter members Darlington E. Fee, Asher Goslin,
John B. Goodwin, Thomas Parish, H. Allen, W. W. Per­
kins, Isaac S. Quinlan, Cyrus W. McFarland, and A. B.
Jones, and was instituted May 5, 1858. Soon after, M.
S. Dimmitt, J. W. South, F. W. Knowles, N. Mathews,
·W. J. Rees, D. 1\IcGraw, James Stewart, l\'Iarcus Fee, :K
Utter, A. M. Fee, James Goodwin, E. J. Prather, John
Higgins, M. N. Sargent, Joseph Clare, J. S. Parrott, Ste­
'phen Cramer, Samuel Demaris, J. 'V. Elliott, Charles Koh­
ler, James R. Gray, E. J. Manning, and W. A. Page
became members of'the encampment, which has been fairly
prosperous, and whose present officers are E. F. Donley,
C. P.; E. J.l>rather, H. P.; W. R. Sells, S. W. j J. W
Wedding, .J. W.; 1\1. S. Dimmitt, Sec.; and Thomas 'V.
Clark, Treas. .
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CHILO LODGE, No. 642, I. ,0. O. F.,

was instituted July 11, 1876, with J. G. Prather, N. G.;
C. C. Hancock, V. GiL. H. Smith, Treas. i J. J. War­
binton, Per. Sec.; and C. B. Warbinton, Rec. Sec., and
8 associate members. At present the lodge has 28 mem­
bers, and S. \V. Kinney, N. G.; G. \V. Hice, V. G.; E.
G. Prat,her, Hec. Sec.; T. W. Clark, Per. Sec.; and J. G.
Prather, Treas. The Noble Grands since the institution of
the lodge have been: 1877, C. C. Hancock and L. H.
Smith; 1878, E. M. Line anu T. \V. Clark; 1879, J. J.
\Varbinton and E. ",Y. Dixon.

In the spring of 1876 a cumpany was formed, called the
"Chilo Odd-Fellow Building Company," which erected a
two-story building, 24 by 48 feet, in the upper part of
which the lodge has since held its meetings. In the fall of
1879 the lodge became the owner of the hall, the lower
story becoming the property of J. G. Prather.

EDUCATIONAL }IATTERS.

No authentic account of the schools of the township is
afforded pJ'ior to May 11, 1838. At that time the town­
lihip was divided in districts with the fullowing bounds:

DistJ'ict No. I.-Beginning on the township-line, near
Michael Richards', thence north with said line to the cor­
ner of Franklin township; thence with the line of Tate
township to the widow Patterson, excluding her; thence to
Hugh Gibbs, excluding him; thence to John Boggess, Jr.,
on the Bullskin road, excluding him; thence a southerly

. course with said road to .Tames Canters', at the forks of the
road, including him; thence to the house opposite William
'Yinter's stone house: including it; th~nce to Daniel
Keethler, including him; thence into Franklin township
to Thomas Jones, including him; thence to Edward Salt,
including him; thence down Indian Creek to Robert
Smith's, excluding him; thence to the place of beginning.

District No. 2.-Beginning at Ralph Stiers', excluding
him, thence to Ralph Wedding's, excluding 111m; thence
to Hugh McKibben's, excluding him; then<:e to Nancy
Miller's, excluding her; thence to John Boner's, including
him; thence to John L. Powell's: including him; thence
to James Hines', excluding him; thence to Hobert Smith's,
including him; thence to Sillsby 8tevens', including him;
thence to Zachariah West's, including him; thence to
Richard Tucker's; thence, with the road, to Thomas Fee's;
and from thence to Ralph Stiers', the place of beginning.

District No. 3.-Beginning at Edward Sargent's, ex­
cluding him, thence to Samuel Prather's, including him;
thence to Nathaniel Bagby's farm-house, including him;
thence to Nancy Cousins, excluding her; thence to John
W. Ginning's old shop; thence north, with the State road,
-to Thomas Ansley and A. Armstrong's, including them;
thence to the widow Prather, excluding her; thence to
Halph Stiers', excluding him; thence to the widow Miller"s,
including her; thence west to the township line; thence
south, with the township line, to the beginning.

District No. 4.-Beginning on the Ohio River, at the
corner of Washington and Franklin townships, thence
north, with the township line, to William P. Botts', ex­
cluding him; thence to Edward Sargent, including him;
thence to Samuel Prather, excluding him; the~ce to Na-

thaniel Bagby's farm-house, including it; thence, on a
straight line to Nancy Cousins, to the head of' Sycamore
Branch; thence down said branch to Crooked Run; thence
down said run to the Ohio; thence. to the place of be­
ginning.

District No. 5.-Beginning on the bank of the Ohio
'River, at Broadwell's Corner above the mouth of Bullskin,
thence with the line to the widow Judd; thence with the
line between her and the said Broadwell to Bullskin
Creek; thence on Obannon's back line; thence, with the
line, "to Zadok \Vatson's place, excluding it; thence to
Woodmansee's, including him; thence north, with the road

. leading from the niouth of Bullskin to Clark's mill, to
Smart's mill-dam; thence east, with the Augusta road, to
the county-line; thence south with said line to the Ohio
River; thence down said river to the place of beginning.

District No. 6.-Beginning at the cross-roads at Otho
Pearre's, thence east, with the Neville road, to Joel
Hoover, excluding him; "hence the Sallle course to John
Lesslie's; thence to Samuel Barr's, near the'road from
Clark's mill to the mouth of Bullskin; thence south with
said road to Shepard \Yoodmansee's, excluding him; thence
to 'Villiam Watson's, excluding him; thence to Zadok
Watson's place, excluding it; thence, with the road, to J.
W. Ginning's old shop, and to the place of beginning.

District No. 7.~Beginning at the county-line at John
J. Shinkle's, excluding him, thence south on said line to
John Lesslie's; thence west to Joel Ho~ver's; thence with
the road to the cross-roads at O. Pearre's; thence north

.with the Bullskin road to Thomas Ansley's and Alexander
Armstrong's, excluding them; thence to Jesse Fee's farm­
house, excluding it; thence to Hiram Gregg's, excluding
him; thence to Arthur Fee's, excluding him; thence north
with the road to where John Demaris used to live, on said
Fee's place; thence to L. Chandler's old place, excluding
it; thence to the mouth of Stonelick;. thence down the
creek to the mouth of Bluelick; thence to William Richie's,
excluding him; thence to John J. Shinkle's, the place of
beginning. "

District No. S.-Beginning at the mouth of Stonelick,
thence down Bullskin Creek to the mouth of Blue Lick;
thence to 'Villiam Richie's, including H. Bolander; thence.
to John J. Shinkle's, including him; thence with the
county to Tate township; thence with tIle township-line to
the east fork of Stonelick; thence down said run to the
place of beginning.

Dist~'ict No. D.-Beginning at Daniel Keethler's, on the
township-line, thence to Thomas Jones, excluding him;
thence to Edward Salt, ~xcluaing him; thence down In­
dian Creek to the mouth of Bain Run; thence to Silliby
Stevens',excluding him; thence to Isaac Houser's, excluu­
ing him; thence to Zachariah 'West's, excluding him;
thence to Richard Tucker's, including him; thence with
the road to Thomas Fee'::;, excluding him; thence to John
Demaris' former residence, including it; thence to 1J. Chand­
ler's old place, including it; thence to the mouth of 8tone­
lick; thence up the east fork of the same to the township­
line; thence west to the place of beginning.

District No. IO.-Beginning at Arthur Fee's, thence to
Hiram D. Gregg's, including him; thence to Jesse Fee's
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farm.house, including it; thence to the widow Prather's,
excluding Thomas Ansley and A. Armstrong; thence to
Ralph Stiers', including him; thence to Thomas Fee's, in­
cluding him; thence to the place of beginning, including
A. Fee and the widow Prather.

District No. 11.-Beginnin~ at the Ohio River at the
mouth of Crooked Run, thence up said run to the mouth
of Sycamore branch, to the line between Chilo district No.
4 and district No.3; thence to Nancy Cousins, including
her; thence to the shops formerly occupied by J. 'V. Gin­
nings; thence with the State road south to the place of
Zedekiah Watson, excluding it; thence with the line be­
tween G. 'V. Jones and Zedekiah ·Watson, Sr., to the
Ohio River; thence down the river to the place of beginning.

District No. 12.-Beginning at Jones' and 'Vatson's
corner, on the Ohio n.iver, thence with their line to the
place occupied by Zadok Watson, Jr., excluding it; thence
to William Watson's, including him; thence to the place
of' Zadok ·Watson and to Obannon's back liue; thence
with said line to Bulbkin Creek; tllcllce down the creek
to Broadwell's and the widow Judd's corner; thence with
their line east to their upper corner; thence with said
Broadwell's line to the Ohio River; thence down the Ohio
River to the place of beginning.

No statistics of the schools under the old law have been
preserved in the township. Under the acts of 1852-53,
the first directors of the several sub-districts were the fol­
lowing: the first named in each district being the member
of the Franklin Board of Education ,-No. 1, R. 1\1. John­
son, John Trees, and John Swope; No.2, Lewis A. Logan,
E. T. Penn, and John Wedding; No.3, Enos Richards,
David Reed, E. Turtin; No.4, John Utter, David A.
Bannister, W. H. Prather; No.5, James McClanahan, John
W. n.obertson, Samuel Craig; No.6, J. W. Hollister, David
G. Hoover, Isaac Bartlow; No.7, William Love, John B.
Crouch, Martin Shinkle; No.8, mostly in Brown County;
No.9, L. T. Pearce, N. 'V. Tompkins, Joseph Jones; No.
10, in Felicity; No. 11, Samuel Miller, P. H. Goslin,
James Goslin; No. 12, John D. Hoover, William Shinkle,
William Sorron; No. 13, John B. Thomas, William H.
·Wells, George Perry; No. 14, in Tate township; No. 15;
A. H. Glenn, William Metzgar, Thomas Hurley. John
U ltCI' was chosen chairman of' the Board of Edu.cation,
and D. E. Fee clerk. The number of children of school
age in the township (exclusive of Felicity) was reported as
996, and $1398.60 was paid for their in~tl'Uction. Among
the teachers of this period were A. H. Glenn, J. J. Arnold,
Nancy Wiley, Melissa Ginnings, Henry Pangburn, Helena
Powell, Matilda Moyer, Caroline Armstrong, Nancy G.
Abrams, W. 'N. Robinson, Andrew Early, Z. W. Fagin,
S. A. Fitch, ..w. G. Richards, J. C. Miller, A. 1\1. MtlLain,
and lWzabeth Barbel'.

The ill~rease of the colored element in the population of
Jl'ranklin township induced the trustees to establish a special
district, to embrace the entit'e township, for the education
of black and mulatto persons, on the 20th of April, 1852,
and since that time a colored school has been taught in the
township. In 1874 a building was erected just outside of
the limits of Felicity for the accommodation of this school,
which, in 1879, Was taught by James L. Cole.

In 1879 the members of the Board of Education were
P. C. Sinith, Eugene Turton, 'fhomas Clark, G. W. Shin­
kle, Samuel W. Housel', William Davis, W. K. Shinkle,
Solomon Bolander, E. Reed, S. \V. Shinkle,Enoch Hen­
derson, John T. Boggess, Joseph S. Marriott, 1\1. D. Ross.
S. W. Houser was the chairman of the Board, and B. F.
'l'rees, clerk. The amount paid teachers was $3750.31, and
the number of pupils in attendance was 498, while the 16
school buildings were valued at $18,000.

FELICITY UNION SCHOOL.

In 1812 a school was taught a little south of the village
by William Bradley, father of Dr. H. Bradley, which is
the first school in this part of Franklin of which we have
any account. Next was erected a log building in the west­
ern part of the village, in which both schools and meetings
were held. Then came a frame and the brick house which
was sold to the colored Baptists for a place of worship.
-From 1845, for about ten years, a Mrs. Fletcher taught a
school which was locally known as "The Felicity Young
Ladies' Seminary." It was well patronized, and had a good
reputation. The house in which it was kept was a two­
story brick, surrounded with spacious grounds, and the
property was prorided by a joint-stock company. Ulti­
mately, Mrs. Fletcher became the owner of this property,
and sold it to the Felicity Board of Education, which used
it for the union school until the present edifice took its
place. This house it was decided to build May 12, 1874,
and the committee to draft the plan was composed of B.
F. Holter, E. M. Sargent, and F. W. Knowles; at the
same time Joseph L. Day and Lewis Ware were appointed
to select a site for the colored school-house. The contract
for building both was awarded to W. W. Waterfield for·
$5200 and the material of the old houses. The main
edifice has fOUl~rooms, which are neatly finished and well
supplied with good furniture.

In 1854: the members of the Felicity Board of Educa­
tion were J. W'. Kennedy, O. P. S. Fee, but three, which
constituted the full number until 1874, when six members
were chosen. The records have been. so poorly preserved
that but little besides the names of those elected yearly to
serve as members can be given. These were: 1855 and
thereafter until 1874, Michael 'Richard, O. P. S. Fee, .T.
W. Kennedy, Robert Bryant, M. S. Dimmitt, 1\1. L. Day,
R. Bradley, Marcus Fee; A. E. Armacost, F. W. Knowles,
L. W. ·Ware, and O. P. S. Fee, the latter serving continu­
ously.

In April, 1874, the Board of Education was constituted
of George P. Clark, President; F. W. Knowles, Secretary;
E.1\L Sargent, B. F. Holter, J. L. Day, and A. E. Arma­
cost. In 1875 the members elected were H. Bradley, J.
K. Gray; 1876, W. W. Waterfield, S. S. Newhouse; 1877,
J. H. Simmons, I!j. M. Sargent; 1878, H. Bradley, James
K. Gray; 1879, W. \V. Waterfield, B. F. Holter; 1880,

.J. H. Simmons, President;H. Bradley, Clerk; W. 'V.
Waterfield, B. F. Holter, M. S. Dimmitt, and J. Long­
worth.

In the high school are 34 boys and 24 girls, and in the
other grades an attendance of 116 boys and 100 girls was
.reported, and the schools were in a flourishing condition.



ABOUT the ye:n 1788 the Waterfield and Watson families emigra­
ted from Maryland to Kentucky, where, near Lexington, Jacob Water­
field was born, March 7, 1790. In 1798 his mother, who was a sister
of Zadock Watson, an early pioneer near Felicity, removed with her
child Jacob, after the death of her husband, to Ohio, and settled in
what is now Franklin township of this county. Jacob Waterfield
was a poor boy, and it is r~lated of him that one se\'ere winter, when
a little lad, he went barefooted to see the Ohio River frozen over, and
such were the privations and hardships of the early pioneers from
1800 to 1805. From a poor boy, with a widowed mother, he arose
by toil and prudent management to become a solid farmer with broad
acres. lIe was married twice, to two Metzgar sisters, of an honor­
able pioneer family on BulIskin Creek, and his third marriage was to
Rachel Ramey; He was the father of fourteen children,-six boys and
eight girls,-nnd his sons ranked among the best farmers and most
wealthy citizens of Clermont and Brown Counties, while the girls
were alI married to prominent men and won high social positions.
Jacob Waterfield was a hard-working farmer, honest and true, and
possessed an infinite fund of humor, and carried his youthful feelings
into his honored manhood and venerable old age. lIe was a noted
athlete in his young days, and at log-rollings, house-raisings, etc., ex­
celled alI in boxing and wrestling. He died in affluent circumstances,
in Brown County, July 23, 1860, and his wife Mary (Metzgar), the
mother of the subject of this sketch, died in 1837.

William Waterfield, son of Jacob and Mary (Metzgar) Waterfield,
was born in Lewis township, Brown Co., Ohio, April 12, 1822. He
was brought up on the farm, and received the usual country district
school education customary for the boys of his day. In 1847 he
took n. boat-load of produce to New Orleans, and traded on the lower
river. He went to California, at the time of thc great emigration to
that Eldorado State, in the spring of 1850, by way of the Isthmus, and
returned late in the fall of 1851. He worked in the mines and was
successful, bringing home a goodly sum of the golden metal. On
March 23, 1852, he was married by Rev. L. D. Jay to Minerva 1.
HilI, daughter of James and Mary (Frazier) Hill, of Tate township.
His wife's mother was a Frnzier and her grandmother a Salt, among
the earliest pioneers and largest farmers of Tate township. Her uncle,
Edward Frazier, was the popular and efficient sheriff of Clermont from
18;~7 to 1841, and her brother, Capt. James W. Hill, a gallant officer
of the Union army in the late Rebellion, was also sheriff from 1864 to
1866. This marriage has been extremely felicitous to her and her
husband, although they have never been blessed with children. Of an
old pioneer family, she is a lady of marked accomplishments, of singu­
larly refined tempcrament, and her social graces add to her high
Christian character the dignity of elevated social rank. After his mar­
riage he moved on the river-farm he had purchased near Rural, and in
1853 to the Carley farm at Chilo which he had bought, and which,
with additions making it over three hundred acres, he stilI owns. In
1862 he was engaged in the drug and grocery business in Felicity,
and in 1863 moved to that town, purchased the noted Chalfant prop­
erty, and embarked largely in the packing of pork, buying, prizing

and shipping of tobacco, and then, in addition, engaged in the dry­
goods and groccry business. The Waterfield family was among the
first persons in Brown County to raise leaf tobacco, and William
Waterfield, with his older brother James, was tile .fil'lJt in Clermont
to raise tobacco, and shipped the first hogshead that e\'er went from
the county. Before his removal to :Felicity he handled tobacco for
years at Chilo, and in the past fifteen years the average annual crop
rnised on his farm near Chilo has been from forty-five to fifty thou­
sand pounds.· In August, 1872, he removed to Cincinnati, and in the
spring of 1873 built the" Globe Tobacco Warehouse," in connection
with his partners, Lee H. Brooks, T. C. Westfall, and John S. Fallin,
under the firm-name of Brooks, Waterfield & Co. This firm con­
tinued till December, 1878, when Messrs. Westfall and Fallin retired,
and Mr. Brooks and Mr. ·Waterfield now control it under the same
firm-name as before. This noted firm sells tobacco on commission, at
the auction bral,e", to manufactul"erS, exporters, and speculators.
Their first year's sales (1873) amounted to two thousand six huudred
hogsheads, but their business has constantly increased until in 1879
it was eight thousand hogsheads, being more than any other one of
the five warehouses in Cincinnati. Their "nles this year (1880) wiII
probably reach ten thousand hogsheads, making it the largest house
in the tobacco trade of Cincinnati, and selling more dollars' worth of
leaf tobacco than any other auction and inspection warehouse in the
United Stutes. Their sales reach annually from one to two million
dollars, and their receipts of the weed and leaf come mostly from
the tobacco-cutting districts of Kentucky, Southern Ohio, West Vir­
ginia, and Indiana. Their warehouse is at Nos. 95,97, and 99 Front
Street, Cincinnati, and is a mammoth building, while Mr. Water­
field's residence is at No. 63 Front Street, Covington, Ky., one of
the finest residences in that beautiful city. Mr. Waterfield is a model
business man, prompt, honest, and most critical in his discerning
judgment.

}j'rom small or no means, but a capital of energy and integrity,
he ha.s risen to the head of the Cincinnati tobacco trade, amassed
a large fortune, and to-day is one of the solid men of the Ohio
Valley. From a boy he has been handling tobacco, from setting
out the plants on the hillside, through its different steps in raising,
prizing, shipping, etc., up to selling it by t.he thousands of hogsheads.
He is a public-spirited oitizen, and when living on his splendid
farm he built, by contract, the Felicity and 9hilo turnpike, in 1867­
68, for a distance of two and a half miles. Genial in his social charac­
teristics, he is the very personification of honor and .business integ­
rity, and probably as a judge of leaf tobacco, in which his family
have been so noted fOl' their raising, handling, and shipping of it, he
has no superior in the country.

He is a member of no religious denomination, but contributes most
liberally to the support of the Methodist, of which his most estimable
wife is a devoted Itud prominent member.

lIe is a Democl'at in politics, but has never sought and has always
refused office, giving his sole attention to his business, in which he
has met with deserved success.
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Prior to the formation of the union school, among the
popular teachers of Felicity were E. F. W. l~llis, A. Hines,
and H. F. Soper. William Carter was the first teacher of
the union school, and continued until 1862. Then came,
for periods of from one to two years, J. S. Campbell, John
Stiles, A. S. N. Dobson, John Akels, John J.Jaycock, James
;ft. Connor, L. G. Hoover, and since 1878, W. H. Ulrey, as­
sisted by Emma South, Eva Hoover, and Stella G. Knowles,
with James L. Cole, teacher of colored school.

HELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

Many of the early settlers of Franklin township were
Methodists, and at once began to hold meetingl'l, perhaps
before having a regular organization. 1'hese meetings were
attended by people coming from a great distance, and, in­
deed, the first Methodist church in this part of the county
was erected to accommodate the people of what now con-

,sti.tutes fOUI: townships. The" Old Hopewell Church," re­
membered only in memory, was built on the land, of Hugh
McKibben, a little more than a mile southwest from Fe­
licity, about 1805. It was rather a superior log house, pro­
vided with a spacious gallery, giving it large accommoda­
tions for the church-going people of' that day. Among the
members who worshiped here were the Fees, Sargents,
Prathers, Walravens, McGraws, McKibbens, Minors, Dills,
Kencedys, and others to a goodly number. The develop­
ment of other parts of the county caused a diversion of the
interests here concentrated for nearly a quarter of' a century,
and divers societies were elsewhere formed, causing Hope­
well to be used only as an occasional place of worship, and
later only when interments occurred in th~ grave-yard which
was established in connection with the meeting-house.
Chief among these new organizations was

TIlE FELICITY METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH,

whose origin dates from about 1825. Its constituent mem­
bers belonged to the William Fee family, Simeon Good­
win's, Peter Hastings', the Baums', Minors, and others, a
few score in number. As related in the foregoing pages, a
union house was erected' at Felicity about 1825, in which
worship was maintained and schools taught until 18~2, .
when the Methodists erected their OWII church edifice.
This house, in a repaired and beautified condition, is yet
in use, and in 1879 was in charge of A. E. Armacost,
'r. lIuyden, L. S. Molen, J. H. Gregg, and H. Bradley as
trustees. The church at Felicity has been, in the main,
prosperous from its organization, and at present has 230
members, forming four classes, led by James E. Moore, W.
'V. Tucker, L. R. Day, and Thomas D. Fee.

Since 1853,' Felicity has had its own circuit relations,
embracing also the churches at Chilo and Cedron. The
names of the ministers who have preached prior to that
date can be seen in a list of appointments of the 'White
Oak Circuit, in the history of ~ate. Since Felicity has
been a circuit the ministers have been as follows: 185:1-54,
Rev. Michael Bitler; 1855-56, Rev. William Routledge j

1857-58, Rev. W. L. Hypes j 1859-60, Rev. T. S. Cowden;
1861, Rev. W. Q. Shannon j 1862, Rev. A. P. Dunlap j

1863-64,Rev. Edward McHugh j 1865-67, Rev. S. Bon­
nett j 1868-69, Rev. A. N. Spahr j ,1870-72, Rev. Syl-

45

vester Weeks; 1873-75, Rev. H. 1\1. Keck j 1876-78,
Rev. 'V. J. Quarry; 1879, Rev. H. C. Middleton. The
church belongs to Hipley District, of which Rev. William
1. Fee is presiding elder, and the loca,l preachers are F.
Abbott, J. H. Armacost, L. R. Day, and J. E. Moore.

THE CHILO METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The present house of worship was built some time about
1837, under the superintendence of members of the Sar­
gent· and Prather. families, who also fOJ'marly belonged to
the" Old Hopewell Church." The church is of brick, and
remains in its essentials as built nearly fifty years ago.
Before that period the meetings were held in private houses,
groves, and school-houses. The present trustees are John
Howe, Wm. Brown, P. B. Heizer, J. C. Waterfield, and
Nicholas Myers. About 100 persons belong as members,
and the church and the

CHURCH AT CEDRON

form a part of Felicity Circuit. This house was built in
1851, by John McGraw, Joshua Smart, and Hayden Cole­
man, as u building committee, at a cost of $2000. It is of
brick, of fair proportions, and presents a fine appeamnce.
Six or eight years after the building of the church it was
partially destroyed by a storm, but was again placed in good
repair. Russell Park, Wm. Trissler, David McFarland,
1. N. Tollari, and John Boggess are the present trustees.
A membership of nearly 50 is reported, and the church is
in a healthy condition.

THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF FELICITY.

This society was organized about the beginning of the
present century as the" Smyrna Presbyterian Church," and
some time about 1808 a small log meeting-house was built a
mile east of Felicity, in' which the congre:ration worshiped
many years. A grave-yard was opened 'by the church, and
both the meeting-house and the burial-ground were widely
known as Smyrna. In that house the Rev. Robert B. Dob­
bins, who was also the pastor of the Williamsburgh Church, .
preached for more than twenty years, and was followed by
the Rev. John Rankin. Among t.he early members were James
Garrett and family, Philip Moyer .and family, Mrs. Richie,
Jane Holmes, David Miller and family, Abraham Moyer
and wife, Joseph McKibben and family, James Barber,
and others. Joseph McKibben and James Garrett were
the ruling elders, the latter being charged with the duty
of lining the hymns after the fashion of that day. The
old log church having become unfit for use, meetings began
to be held at Felicity about 1828. At first the congrega­
tion assembled in the school-house, but the membership
was increased to such an extent that a more capacious room
was demanded. Among those who joined here were Wyatt
Owens, John T.l\IcKibben, Sarah Watson, Wm. McMurchy,
W. G. Gage, Thomas Boude, John Merrill, James Dobbins,
Henry Wise, Joseph Wells, James Barber, and John
L<.>gan. About 1830 the congregation erected a small brick
church in the western part of Felicity, which was the first
church edifice in the village. In this house a portion of
the Presbyterians (those adhering to the old school) wor­
shiped until the un~o~ of t~e tw~ congregations, Nov. 28,
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1869, when the building was given over to other uses, and
is at present a blacksmith-shop.

In 1847 a number of membrrs of the above congrega­
tion, who embraced the doctrines of the new school of Pres­
byterians, dissolved their connection, and formed themselves
into a new society at Felicity. In 1854 the members
erected the meeting-house at present occupied by the Pres­
byterians, and which, though a plain edifice, is a comforta­
ble place of worship for the 40 odd members which com­
pose the congregation.

The elders of the church have been Joseph McKibben,
James Garrett, J·ohn Mullen, Wyatt Owens, \V. G. Gage,
Thomas Boude, John Logan, Lewis Miller, John P. Moyer
(since 1842), David Barber, B. Reynolds, A. H. Glenn,
\Vm. Carter, J. C. \Vells, and Wm. Mcl\lurchy, the two
last named also serving at present.

As before stated, the Rev. Robert B. Dobbins was the
minister of the church until 1828, when he was succeeded
by the Rev. John Rankin, who appears to have remained
only a year. Then came Rev. Charles Phillips, and in 1830
Rev. A. T. Rankin. In 1840 the Re,'. J. T. Irwin suc­
ceeded to the pastorate, and in a few years Rev. David Gould
is noted as the minister. Rev. John McCormick came in
1845, and died while pastor of the church, about a year
Inter. In 1847 the Rev. J. S. Poage became the pastor,
and it was in llis administration that the division of the
church took place. Rev. Aaron Thompson "preached in
1852, and since that period there have been as ministers
Revs. James S. Campbell, H. P. 'Yelton, Isaac Delameter,
J. A. I. Lowes, and since July, 1879, the Rev. James
Mitchell.

THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH AT CEDRON

owes its origin to the division of the Presbyterians into the
old and new schools. In consequence of that sentiment a
number of persons who formerly belonged to the old J...ewis
Church, in Brown County, connected themselves with the
New School Presbyterian Church at Felicity, but before
that congregation had erected its new house withdrew to
form the church at Cedron, that locality affording them a
more convenient point at which to worship. Among these
members were Samuel Wise, William Wise, John Van
Dike, \Villiam Fallin, and others, living in Brown County,
who erected a neat brick meeting-house, about 1851, which
the society yet occupies. The church has about 50 mem­
bers, and the ruling elders are George 'Vise, ·William "Wise,
and William Hyser. The minister of the church is the
Rev. Mr. Delameter.

TIlE MOUNT PLEASANT ClIRISTIAN CHURC~.

This church was organized Dec. 28, 1839, as the Olive
Church, in union with the Southern Ohio Christian Con­
ference, tlie ministers in attendance being :Mathew Gardner,
Charles S. Manchester, und Robert Nelson. The constituent
and other early members were John R. Hoover, Abraham
R. Houser, James Crosswell, Sarah J. Barrett, Mary A.
Watson, Mary Bryson, Eliza Hicks, Melissa Miller, Nancy
McLefresh, Octave Reid, Susanna Owens, Elizabeth Hoo­
ver, Anna Hoover, Andrew Henninger, Elizabeth Houser,
J.lebecca "prown, flilrry cludd, Nan~ Judd, David Houser,

John :Moyer, George Miller, David Miller, Nancy Hamil­
ton, Leonard Metzgar, Henry R. Houser, David Adams,
Martha R. Hamilton, Jane Saunders, Solomon Bruner,
Emanuel Hoover, Maria Walker, Hiram Lockwood, and
William Houser. A meeting-house was soon after erected
about a mile south of Felicity, in which worship was
statedly maintained, and which was known as the Olive
Church. In April, 1848, in consequence of the with­
drawal of a number of members, who accepted the teach­
ings of Alexander Campbell, a reorganization was effected,
the title to the church property secured to the present or­
ganization, and a board of deacons elected, composed of
Ephraim Johnson, Samuel Miller, Jonathan N. Houser,
and Andl'ew Henninger. The trustees elected were Elijah
Lanham, Andrew Boys, and Samuel M.iller.

The church has enjoyed an unusual degree of prosperity,
and at present has a membership reaching nearly 300. Iii
1862 the present house of worship was erected by a build­
ing committee composed of E. N. Vermillion, E. Hendrixson,
Abram Hoover, Joseph 'Vatson, and J. J. Goslin. It is a
plain but comfortable house, near the site of the old church,
and the property is at present cared for by trustees J. J.
Goslin, Samuel :Miller, and E. N. Vermillion. The latter,
David G. Hoover, Samuel Miller, 'V. McKinney, James S.
Crosswell, and Solomon Shinkle are the present deacons.
J. J. Goslin is also clerk of the church. Other deacons
have been Joseph Watson, Isaac Bartlow, A. Henninger,
R. Lanham, E. J. Prather, Enoch Reed, Henry Kinney,
and Abraham Hoover. Since 1866 the Rev. S. S. New­
house has been the pastor of the church, and it is owing
largely to his faithful labors that the congregation has been
so prosperous. Others ·who have been ministers of the
church were, from 1851 on, Revs. E. W. Humphreys, C.
S. Manchester, C. C. Phillips, O. J. 'Vait, C. Hutchinson,
P. Devore, and A. J. 'Vait.

THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF FELICITY.

Early in the spring of 1845 a few members of the fore­
going church, who entertained the religious belief of Alex­
ander Campbell, began to raise funds for the purpose of
building a house of worship in Felicity in which their
meetings might be held. On the 21st of April, 1845, A.
Knowles, George Crossley, and Michael Gray were elected
trustees of a society which had just been formed, and let
the contract to build the church to A. L. Powell for $450.
The house was completed in December, 1845, and on the
3d of January, 1846, the members assembled in the church,
when they were addressed by Elder John T. Powell, and
Michael Gray and Thomas Miller elected trustees; John
Pangburn and Michael Gray, elders; George Crossley and
Benjamin Goslin, deacons, who were ordained on the 8th of
February following. The meeting-house was erected on a
lot donated by William Fee, and Alonzo Knowles, John
.Pangburn, and Michael Gray each gave $100 to put up the
building, which, with some repairs, remains to this day.

The church adopted the Bible as its only rule of faith
and practice, and Elder John T. Powell was for many years
the regular preacher. During his ministry Alonzo Knowles
often preached in the cause of primitive Christianity, and
was an acceptable minister. Other ministers who have
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preached for the church have been' Revs. Otho Pearre,
Frank Sallee, William Patterson, James Morgan, P. W.
Shirk, and J. H. Lockwood, the latter being the present
preacher. Meetings have also been held by evangelists and
others,-by Elders James Challen, George Fisher, J. J.
Moss, George Campbell, T. J. Murdock, J. M. Henry, A.
B. Henry, J. D.l\Ioore, J. M. \Vhite, David Mathews, Dr.
Sterling Pearre, James L. Thornberry, 1. 1. \Vest, O. H.
Derry, and L. L. Carpenter.

For some time the church has had but irregular preach~

ing, and the interest had declined to such an extent that it
was deemed advisable to reorganize the church, which, on
May 28, 1877, became incorporated as

THE CHURCH OF CHRIST IN FELICITY,

with W. H. Straight, Nathan Abbott, and S. A. Madison
as trustees ; John Walker, clerk; Volney Kenyon, elder;
W. H. Straight and Nathaniel Abbott, deacons. The
church has a membership of 69, and supports a good
Sabbath-school.

A Christian or Disciple society was organized at Rural
about 1863, which had at one time from 40 to 60 members.
An old warehouse was transformed into a place of worship,
in which the society met four or five years, when the organ­
ization disbanded. Among the ministers were the Revs.
J. H. Lockwood and William Patterson.

THE FELICITY WESLEYAN CHURCH.

The Felicity Wesleyan Methodist Church was organized
in 1847, .among the constituent members being Mathew
Gibson, Nelson Gibson, Joshua Sargent and his sons, John
and William Sargent. In 1851 the agitation of the slavery
question at Felicity induced the withdrawal of Joseph
Parrish and about 40 others from the Methodist Episcopal
Church, who connected themselves with the Wesleyans,
who now had a large and flourishing society.

In 1848 the small brick church, which is at present
occupied by the African Methodists, was erected for a place
of worship, but in consequence of the above and other
accessions a larger house was demanded. But it was not
until the spring of 1856 that the Wesleyan church edifice
was begun, and completed the following season, at a cost of
about $9000. The building is one of the largest and most
elegant of the kind in the county, having a tower more
than one hundred feet high, in which is a clock, supplied at
a cost of about $500. One of the most active agents in
securing this house was Joseph Parrish, who spent much
time and means in furthering the enterprise. Until the
society occupied the new house of worship it had essentially
the same ministers as the Bethel Wesleyan Church, but
from 1856 to 1858 Dr. Luther Lee was the pastor, and
during his connection the c~urch enjoyed a great degree of
prosperity. Other successive ministers were the Revs. J.
W. Warrington, J. W. Chalfant, S. H. Chase, and John
L. Fall, who was the last that preached with any regularity.
The removal of members and the settlement by the war of
those questions which gave rise to the society caused it to
fO'rego its organization, and some time before 1870 the
meetings were discontinued. The church building stood
unoccupied for a few years, but in 1873 the township

trustees purchased it and fitted it up for a public hall, owned
by the township of Ii'ranklin.

FELICITY AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

A class of members of this denomination was formed in
1859, which had among its members Perry Payne, Jacob
Greason, Benjamin Logan, and a few others. A number
of years afterwards the society purchased the old \Vesleyan
meeting-house, which was repaired at an outlay of several
hundred dollars, and dedicated by Bishop Payne. This
house the society yet occupies, and the trustees are. Posey
Robinson, Perry Payne, and Frederick Senior. The mem­
bers number about 70, and maintain a Sunday-school which
has an attendance of 40 scholars. Among the ministers
the church has had were the Revs. Andrews, Lewis, Eads,
Cooper, Dillon, Lynch, ~tewart, Green, Wright, Coleman,
Cole, and Toney, the last named being the present minister.

ZION'S BAPTIST CHURCH (COLORED)

had its origin at Felicity about 1865, although afew mem­
bers were here as early as 1862. In the year last named
William Fry purchased the old school-house, which served
as a place of worship until 1871, when it was rebuilt and
consecrated by Elders Newsom and Ferguson. The present
trustees are Charles Bennett and Leroy Logan. The first
deacon was 'William Fry, who yet serves and has as fellow­
deacons Leroy Logan, L. Barnaby, Charles Bennett, and
Parker Artwell. Other deacons have been Henry Bledson,
William Dudley, Dennis Scott, and Willis Bright. Rev.
James Fry was the first pastor, aDd remained until 1877.
Since that time those in the pastoral office have been Vance
Anderson, L. Hawkins, and D. B. Green. The church has
a membership of 60, and maintains a good Sunday-school.

THE BENTON CHURCH OF THE CHRISTIAN UNION.

This body was incorporated Feb. 13, 1866, with Joel
Bolander, K. M. Johnson, J. H. Shinkle, Jesse W. Day,
and Johnson Beach as trustees. These erected, the same
season, i~ behalf of the society, a plain meeting-house, in
the eastern part of the township, on a lot of land which had
been secured from the farm of Philip J. Shinkle, and which
is yet used as the place of worship.

The Union is an independent organization, based on the
simple principles of the Bible, and has no Conference or
Association relations. It has been prosperous, and its mem­
bership numbers 100, including many substantial men of .
the eastern part of Clermont and the western part of Brown
Counties. The present minist~r is the Rev. R. A. 1\1. John­
son; and other ministers have been the Revs. Vanderment,
Hatfield, and Wolf.

In the early settlement of the county the Dunkards main­
tained public worship in the eastern part of Franklin for
a time in a log house which stood on the Hoover farm.
Among the members were the Hooverl~, Housel'S, Rohrers,
and others who came from points outside the township.
Abraham Houser was. one of the early ministers, coming
from Kentucky at stated times. After the death of. the
older members and the removal of some families the meet­
ings were discontinued.



356 HISTORY OF CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO.

BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HES.

DR. MATTHEW GIBSON.

Dr. Matthew Gibson was born in Scott County, Va.,
Sept. 27, 1815, and was the son of George and Margaret
(Nelson) Gibson, being the eldest of seven children. He
was raised on his father's fimll, prepared for college at the
famous Estleville Academy, and went to the Greenville and
Tusculum College at Greenville, Tenn. (home of ex-Presi­
dent Anurew Johnson), at which he graduated with the
highest honors in the classical course in the year 1841.

He then continued his medical studies, and in 1842 re­
ceived his diploma in the medical department of the s~me

institution, one of the best in the South, and of which his
brother-in-law, Rev. William S. Doak, D.D., is now presi­
dent. He married, in 1837, Miss Eliza F. R., daughter of
Rev. S. W. Doak, then president of this celebrated college.
Dr. Gibson remained at this college for three years after bis
graduation as its vice-president and f.S professor of mathe­
matics, civil engineering, and botany. He then went to
Madisonville, Tenn., and was for tlIree years president of I

Hiawassee College at that place, from which Judge David
1\'1. Key, late postmaster-general, graduated, and who was a
student under Dr. Gibson. Judge Temple, chancellor .of the
Court of East Tennessee, and who was one of the commis­
sioners to locate the boundary-line between ~fexico and the
United States, waR, with many other distinguished men, a
student under Dr. Gibson. In 1847, Dr. Gibson came to
Felicity, in this county, and began the practice of his pro­
fession and has remained there ever since. He had six
children by his first wife, who died in 1866. He subse­
quently married Caroline Harrington, of Glendale, near
Cincinnati, who died in 1876. His grandfather on the
maternal side, Johnson Nelson, served in the He\'olutionary

war, and was shot through the lungs at King's Mountain,
but -lived for several years,---:-finally dying from his wound.
Several of his father's brothers were in the war of 1812.
Dr. Gibson is of Scotch descent, and his great-grandfather
came to America long before the Uevolution, settled a short
time in Philadelphia City, and then located ·in Augu~ta

Co., Va. Several of his ancestors and relatives have been
eminent physicians, one of whom, Dr. ·William Gibson, of
Philadelphia, is the author of the celebrated work on
" Institutes and Practice of Surgery j being Outlines of a
Course of Lectures." Dr. Gibson has been thirty-three years
in Felicity, and has a large and lucrative practice. He Ims
always made use of electricity in his practice, and kept the
finest electrical instruments in Ohio. In the treatment of
female complaints he is unexcelled in the State, in which
he was the second doctor to use the speculum, which has
since proven so effectual in relieving suffering humanity.
People come to him for treatment from all parts of the
country, from New Orleans, Boston, Sun Francisco, Wash­
ington, Montreal, and other distant points. As indicative
of his practice, his patients in his immediate vicinity em­
brace the wealthiest and most intelligent of our citizens.
The doctor is a member of the Wesleyan l''Iethodist Church,
a Republican in p·olitics, and always a strong anti-slavery
man, which fact led to his coming North and giving up
posts of honor and profit in Tennessee. Dr. Gibson is said
to be one· of the most learned and scientific men in the
county, and when at t.he head of the Greenville and Tuscu­
lum College he made a telescope of fifteen feet focal dis­
tance, six inches aperture, and magnifying five hundred
times. He has made many other medical, astronomical, and
mathematical instruments, in which many new inventions
were the products of his genius. He is a most genial anu
humane man, kind and warm-hearted, and has done much
for the poor, for humanity generally, and for the cause of
science, and tha.t., too,. in a quiet, unobtrusive way.

ALEXANDER SMITH.

Capt. Alexander Smith was born in Perthshire, Scotland,
Dec. 28, 1811. When he was seven years old his father
removed with his entire filmily to America, and settled in
Belmont Co., Ohio. At the age of nineteen he became an
apprentice in Wheeling, Va., " to be made as perfect in the
art and mystery of a chair and ornamental painter as pos­
~ible," according to the quaint old indenture. He served
his master faithfully, and exhibited talents for designing
and painting which led him to excel in the trade, and
proved him to be in after-years a connoisseur in the higher
branches of art. He united with the Presbyterian Church,
and walked two miles on the Sabbath to superintend a
Sunday-school. He was active. in assisting to nurse cholem
patients when that scourge visited Wheeling, in 1832. At
.the age of twenty-two he married l\largaretta Alexander,
of Belmont Co., Ohio, who only lived seven months after
their marriage. He keJlt for some time a paint-store in
·Wheeling, Va., and afterwards became a steamboatmun,
following this business for nine years. He assisted his
Brothel', Capt. Joseph Smith, in building the steamers
" Harrisburg" and" :i\Iountaineer," which ran from Pitts-
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burgh to Louisville and points below as far as New Orleans.
He was afterwards made superintendent of the Maysville
and Big Sandy Packet Company, and a stockholder in the
" Caledonia" and" Magnolia." While actively engaged on
the I'iver he became acquainted with Capt..John McClain,
of Neville, Ohio, and married his daughter, Rachel l\~­

Olain, Oct. 18, 1842. He then bought a farm on the
Ohio River, near the mouth of Bullskin Creek, and later
established the post-office and landing there known as
"Smith's Landing." After leaving the river he enguged
in merchandising at Smith's Landing for several years with

.
success. He then turned his attention to grape culture,
and at one time had thirty acres of vineyard, mostly of
rare varieties. He then speculated in Western lands,
traded in leaf tobacco, and managed his several large
farms in Franklin and 'Vashington townships, on the Ohio
River. He was fond of traveling, and nearly ever,Y ,Year
took' his family a long trip. In the winter of 1874 he
went to Florida, where he purchased a home on the sea­
shore at the mouth of St. J olm's River, and also invested
'in a large plantation near by. On this he planted an orange-
grove and intended to return every winter to. it, merely to
escape the rigors of the Northern climate. In 1876, how­
ever, he removed to Walnut Hills, Cincinnati, where he
resided for two years. In the autumn of 1878 he was
taken ill and suffered with an intensity and patience beyond
description for sixteen months. In the spring of 1879 he
returned to the old homestead at "Smith's Landing," but
his disease increasing, towards fall he thought t.he Florida
climate was his only hope. Accordingly his fhmily acceded
to his wishes and took him to his beloved Southern seaside
home. There he lived only four weeks, breathing his last
on Dec. 9, 1879, at seven o'clock P.!!. His body was

brought North and interred in Spring Grove Cemetery.
He died of Bright's disease, from which for years he was
a terrible sufferer. Capt. Smith was a staunch Republican
and always an active worker, but never accepted a public
office, although asked by President Lincoln and succeeding
Presidents to do so for important services rendered the gov­
ernment in the dark hours of the Rebellion, in 1863 and
1864. He was very liberal, and it is now known that his
charity extended far and near, although he never permitted
his name to be published when subscribing to public good
or charities. Of a large fortune, he was extremely generous,
of unimpeachable honesty, and ever exercised a strong in­
fluence for the good of the community. To Capt. Alex­
ander Smith and his wife Rachel were born five children,
-John McClain, drowned in 1862, and Alexander Wil­
liam, who died in infimcy; and three yet living,-one son,
Alexander Smith, Jr.; Rachel, the wife of Hon. N. P.
Wheeler, of East Hickory, Forest Co., Pa., a member of'
the Legislature of that State, and a wealthy lumber mer­
chant; and 1\1 iss· Belle Smith, the celebrated p~inter, whose
works of art have been the recipients of so much favorable
criticism from the American press. This lady spent several
years in Europe, and part' of the time in Rome, and in
Dresden, Saxony, pursuing her studies. Her specialties
are in portraits, and the one of the great " War Secretary,"
Hon. E. :M. Stanton, gave her a national reputation. Among
her works are" Christian Seibold," a pre-Raphaelite; a copy
of' Rubens j portrait of her father, Capt. Smith, and a crayo11
of her sister, Mrs. Hon. N. P. Wheeler; Roman Flower
Girl,. original;· portrait of Gen. Grant's sister, :l\Iary Grant
Cramer, wife of Hon. 1\1. J. Cramer, minister to Denmark;
" Carlo Dolce;" "Correg~io Magdalene," copied in Dres­
den, Saxony. Mrs. Capt. Smith, with her daughter Belle
and son Alexander, reside at the Smith mansion, at Smith's
J.Junding, one of the finest country-seats in the Ohio Valley.

MOSES LARKIN.

The Lnrkin families were very prominent in the early
history of the county, particularl)" in that relating to re­
ligious and politicnl matters, and were largely instrumental
in the growth and development of Washington and Frank­
lin townships. The grandfather of the subject of this
sketch was born in Dublin, Ireland, and emigrated to
America in the early part of the eightee:nth century, set­
tling in :Maryland colony, where he married. He raised a
large family, of whom John Larkin was born October 12,
1745, and married February ,23, 1773, being the father of
tbe following children: John, born ·Jan. 20, 1774; Nelly,
Jan. 6, 1776; Elijah, Oct. 14, 1778; Elisha, July 28,
1781; Paul and Silas (twins), Nov. 4,1785; Joseph nnd
Samuel (twins), Feb. 13, 1788; Mary, June 14,1790;
Moses, the subject of this sketch, Jan. 24, 1793. John
Larkin, with his family, emigrated to Kentucky about
1791, and settled near Washington, then the principal town
in the northern part of that State. In 1811 he moved to
Clermont County, and located oneal' the old "Hopewell
meeting-house," in Franklin township, where he died,
Oct. 12, 1814, but his wife lived until Dec. 23, 1851.
Joseph Larkin married Nelly Sargent; and Elijah Larkin
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married Sarah Ogden, and was justice of the peace for a:
long time (eighteen years), the first postmaster of Neville,
holding that office forty years, and was fourteen years an
associate judge of the Common Pleas Court. Moses Larkin,
the youngest of his father's children, was born inWash.
ington, Ky., Jan. 24, 1793, and when a boy learned the
wagon-making trade with his older brother, Joseph, and
worked, for him some time. He was married May' 29,
1820, by Rev. Robert B. Dobbins, to Mary Fagin"whose
family was one of the most numerous in southern Clermont

:l\IO:::lES LARKIN.

at that time. Their children were eight,-,Joseph Franklin
Larkin, the well-known banker of Cincinnati; Eliza ..Ellen,
wife of William F. Shriver, of Pittsfield, III.; Euphrasia
Caroline, wife of Mr. 'Villiams, of Walnut Hill, Ohio;
David Maley, died at Mound City, Ill., in 1857; Sarah A.,
wife of James M. Goodwin, of Ogden, Utali Territory;
Francis Marion J...arkin, died in September, 1879, at Perna
(Indian) village, in Arizona Territory; Mary Emily, wife
of ,John W. Sargent, and Clara Eveline, wife of Gamael
B. Wilson, of Clarksville, Tenn. Moses Larkin carried
on th~ wagon~inakingbusiness for many years in Felicity,
and was the first postmaster of that town when it was called
Fee's Town, holding the office. several years until Robert
Chalfant opened his large. store, and was appointed in his
place as postmaster of, Felicity. He was elected mayor of
Felicity in ,the year~ 1,836, 1844, and 1846, and enforcp.d
~hemunicipallaws with promptness. ne was elected jus­
tice of the peace of Ftanklin township in 1842, and made
a most effi'cient magistrate. He built the Methodist Epis­
copalchurch in Felicity in-1829, and his son, J. F. Larkin,
Qf Cincinnati, carried the brick' for its ,erection. He carried
on .the saddle~tree and carpenter. busi~ess in 1834-36, in
which his sOn, JO,scphJj'.,aflsisted:him.: .He was a zealous
~eDl:Y :Olay W.hig,:b'ut of: strong anti~s:l~very' principles,.
qndJp.-1844, whh Joseph Parrish; My. Fagin, .and :other
prominent '.men, separated fro~ the Methodist Epis~opal

Church on account of the slavery question, and formed the
Wesleyan Church in Felicity, erecting the fine church edi~

fice now occupied as thfl township hall. Moses Larkin died
in 1866, and his wife Mary (Fagin) three years previous.
They were devoted Christians, and labored zealously f01' a11
mliral reforms. His brother, Judge Jijlijah Larkin, died
Dec. 25, 186~, and his wife, Sarah (Ogden), June 8, 1875.
The Larkin brothers, Muses, Elijah, Elisha, and Joseph,.
were men of original thought, decided convictions, and had
great influence in shaping the tone and character of the
community. 'fhe cause of justice and virtue ever found
champions in them, and they clung tenaciously to the truth
and the side of public morals..Moses Larkin'schildren were
religiously trained at the fireside. Their elde'.!t son, J. F.
Larkin, went to Cincinnati in 1839, and engaged in mer­
can tile pursuits until 1854, when he commenced the banking
business, in which he has been successfully employed to this
day, being at present the senior member of the banking
firm of J. F. Larkin & Co" 23 West Third Street.

He is a prominent member of the Methodist Episcopal
Church, in which he. has made an enviable reputation by
his earnest ·labors. He is of Irish extraction on the paternal
and of English on the maternal side, and combines the best
characteristics of the two races. His father, Moses Larkin,
was for over half a century respected and esteemed by the
people of southern Clermont, and died universally lamented
and mourned.

JARED BRUSH.

Jared Brush was born in the State of Pennsylvania in
the year 1798, and removed with his parents when quite
young to Kentucky, He served in the war of 1812 as a
private in Capt. Logan's company of Kentucky militia,
participating in several battles with the British and their
Indian allies in the Northwest.. He emigrated after that
war to Ohio, in 1818, and settled in Clermont County. He
was married, Oct. 4, 1844, by Rev. John Vincent, to 1\Iary
A. Carr, daughter of'Robert and Mary (Barnet) Carr, who
at an early period in the county's history emigrated from
Virginia. Mr. Brush became a noted surveyor, and assisted.
in locating the five free turnpikes. that centre in the town
of Felicity. When about twenty~~ne years of age he united
with the Methodist Episcopal Church at the "Old Hop~­
weIr Meeting-House," nca~ Felicity, the third one erected
in Ohio. Originally a Whig, be afterwards became a Re­
publican, and took a deep inter~st, in the politics of his
country, but never was an aspirant for office. He was an'
exact man in his business, and by his industry and careful
management acc~D1ulated a nice estate. He was a pious,
upright man, honest with his God and his fellows. .A. man
of superior judgment and strong intellect, he had many
traits of noble character. The poor and needy could ap­
proach him knowing that the deserving would find a true
friend and counselor, as well as a sympathizer in word
and deed. Money-making was not his great object in
life, but to' be a true citizen and do good. He died Dec.
20, 1869, uniyersally esteemed in the community for his
pure character and philanthropic acts. For many ye~rs he
served as a D<:>tary pubH'?, doing an extensive business in
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that line. In his life he bought and sold many tracts of
land, and in real estate but few better judges were found
than Jared Brush. His widow, Mary A. (Carr) Brush,
survives him, and resides in the comfortable dwelling he
erected in 1861-62 on the Felicity and Bet.hel pike, ~ mile
and a quarter from the former town. Jared Brush was an

unobtrusive man, and in his quiet. way did much good in
the world. While he had not the ostentation of some who
were his inferiors in intellect and moral wor~h, he performed
with faithfulness the trusts and duties in life allotted to
him, and died at the advanced age of over threescore years
and ten.

J.JEWIS RICHEY.

In 1792, George Richey and his wife Isabella, with
their children, emigrated from Ireland to ,America and set­
tled in Pennsylvania. About the year 1800 he removed
to ~Clermont County, and purchased - land on -Bullskin
Creek, where he settled and died in 1820. William
Richey, a son of George, was born, in 1785 in Ireland,
and was but seven years old when his parents came to the
United States. One of his sisters, Ada, married Samuel
Wood, and another, Elizabeth, married Michael Baum,
an early pioneer, who lived to be over one hundred
years old. He was married by William Fee, justice of
the peace, on Jan. 2, 1806, to Sophi~ Miller, a daughter
of David Miller, one of' the earliest and 'largest land-owners
on Bullskin Creek. The fruits of this marriage were thir­
teen children, to wit: George; David; Otho Pearre; John;
William; Lewis (the subject of this sketch); Susan, mar­
ried to Samuel Sells; Mary Ann, married to Aaron G,.
Perkins ; Jane, married to Eleven Tatman; Martha, mar­
ried first to Daniel Bolender, and after his death to Abram

Grigger; Isabella, married to John Fenton; Eliza, married
to Samuel Sowards; and Sophia, married to John Wesley
Bolender.

Lewis Richey, one of the above children, was born Dec.
12, 1829, in the house in which he now lives. He was
reared on the farm and attended the di.strict schools, in
which he received the rudiments of a good common Eng-

, lish education. He was married, July 12, 1854, to Martha,
daughter of William and Martha (Houston) Turner, by
John H. Simmons, justice of the peace, being the
first marriage solemnized by this magistrate. To them
have been born four children: William G., Elnora, who
died aged four years, Jennie, and Chilton Vallandigham,
who died in his fourt.h year. 1\11'. Hichey is an ardent
Democrat in politics, as his father and grandfilther were
before him. He has served as township trustee and as
a member of the township school board. He was the
twelfth child of his parelJts, and was born on the twelfth
day of the twelfth month. He began growin~ tobacco when
eighteen years old, and has ever since been engaged in its
culture, and for the past fifteen years his annual crop of
leaf tobacco has averaged ten thousand pounds. He owns
three hundred and sixty-two acres of choice land on Bull-.......
skin Creek, the first settled part of the county. He resides
in the brick house (a substantial structure) in which he was
born, and on the farm his father purchased in 1812 of his
father-in-law, David Miller, who owned all of Taylor's sur­
vey, No. 1654. His father, 'William, served in the war of
1812, and has been dead many years. The section of
Franklin township where Mr. Richey lives is called
"Egypt," and is populated by wealthy farmers, mostly
strong Democrats in politics, and large growers of tobacco.
The Richey r..mily is one of the largest in Clermont and
Brown Counties, and has a very extensive blood and mar­
riage relationship.

Mr. Richey is a warm-hearted gentleman of inflexible
integrity, and possesses in the fullest degree the confi­
dence and esteem of his neighbors and of all with whom
he is associated in business. His family are members of
the Christian Union Church at Benton Chapel, to which he
is a generous contributor.

WILLIAM RICHEY.

The subject of this sketch was born in Franklin town­
ship, or this county, Jan. 11, 1828, and was next to the
youngest son of bis parents., He was the son of 'William '
Richey by his wife Sophia, a, daughter of David' Miller,
and his parents were married Jan. 2, 1806, by William
Fee, justice of the peace. His father and mother had
thirteen children, to wit: George, David, Otho 'Pearre,
John; William, Lewis, Susan, married to Samuel Sells;
Mary Ann, married' to Aaron G. Perkins; Jane, married
to ,Eleven Tatman; Martha, married the first time to 'Daniel
Bolender, and after his death to Abram Grigger; Isabella,
married to John Fenton; Eliza, married to Samuel Sowards;
and, Sophia, married to John Wesley Bolender. His father,
"Villiam, was 'born in Ireland in -1785, and in 1792 came;
when a little lad of seven years, with his parents, George
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and Isabella Richey, to America. He served in the war
of 1812, and died a few years ago. One of his sisters,
Ada, married Samuel Wood, and another, Elizabeth, mar­
ried Michael Baum, one of the earliest pioneers of Wash­
ington township, and who died a few years ago, having
reached over fivescorc years of age. Geor-ge Richey, father
of ·William, and grandfather of the subject of this article,
died in 1820, and was born in Ireland, but settled in Cler­
mont about the year 1800. William Richey was raised to
work on his father's farm, and received a good common
education in the district school. lie was married by An­
drew L. Powell, Esq., justice of the peace, on May 26,
1853, to Susan Miller, daughter of John and Cynthia Ann
(Day) Miller, and who was born Nov. 13, 1834. They
have had the following children: Martha Ann, born on
June 26, 1854, and who died in her seventeenth year on
Sept. 14, 1870; Sarah Adaline, born Dec. 6, 1855, and
married March 1, 1877, to Franklin Bolender; Flora An­
nettie, born Sept. 27, 1857, and married Dec. 29, 1875, to
Joseph 'V. Hayden; John 'Villiam, born July 26, 18tH;
Joseph Hatfield, born Oct. 15, 1864; and l~ve Alice, born
Oct. 7, 1869. William Richey's wife's father was John
Miller, a son of John L. Miller, one of the first settlers on
Bullskin Creek. Mr. Richey moved to his present farm
in March, 1854, and built his comfortable residence in 1868.
He owns three hundred and sixty-nine and three-quarter
acres of land in the counties of Brown and Clermont, and
is very largely engaged in the culture of tobacco and has
been since a small boy. He is a member of the Democratic
party, and an active worker in all campaigns. He with his
family are members of the Christian Union Church, and
attend religious services at Benton chapel. He is a suc­
cessful farmer, ann last year raised fifteen thousand pounds
of tobacco on his lands, which, with those of his brother
Lewis, are unsurpassed in the county for the cultivation of
this plant. His pleasant home place is a part of the old
Miller grant, the thousand-acre survey of Taylor, No. 1654,
owned once by his grandfather, David Miller. Mr. Richey
is a generous, hospitable man, of public spirit, and his
honesty and upright character have made him popular in
his township and esteemed by his neighbors.

SAMUEL MILLER.

John" l\filler, one of the pioneers of Clermont County,
emigrated from Pennsylvania about the beginning of the
present century, and settled near Felicity, where he pur­
chased large tracts of land. His wife, Susan, was born
Sept. 14, 1792, and d,ied Nov. 11, 1876. She has chil­
dren, grandchildren, and great-grandchildren living to 'the
number of one hundred and sixty-four. One of his chil­
dren was GeDrge Miller, born Oct. 14, 1788, and who came
to Ohio when a boy with" his parents.. He married, ·Aug.
.14, 1808, Susan Moyers, in Bracken Co., Ky., daughter of
Philip Moyers, born in York Co., Pa., and who died May
28, 1869. Ilis wife was the youngest of her family; her
mother died when she was six years old, and her father
never married again, but himself reared his large family of
children and saw them comfortably ~ettled in life. The

children ofJohn Miller were John; Martin; George; Henry;
Joseph, a I'iver captain for many years in the steamboat
trade; Susie, married to John McGraw; Katie, married to
John Harman; Sallie, married to Arthur Fee; Polly,
married to George Reddick; and -"- -- to Nathaniel
Bagby. To George and Susan (Moyers) Miller wera born
the following children: Polly, married to Zadock Watson;
William; Arthur (deceased); ,"Valter Griffith; Eliza, mar­
ried to Isaac Armacost; Josiah; Samuel; Melissa, married
to James Metzgar; George (deceased); Melinda W., mar­
ried to James" "Watson; John (deceased); Rebecca W.,
married to John Cook; and four who died in infancy.
Samuel Miller, one of the above: was born Oct. 27, 1820,
brought up on his father's farm and educated at the district
schools. He was married .March 25, 1'847, by Rev.
Zachariah Wharton, to Miss Julia Ann Gue, daughter of
George and Nancy (Daught.ers) Gue, who was born Nov.
2~, 18~0. Her parents were early emigrants from Mary­
land to Kentucky, where they resided -nbout a year and
then removed to near Neville, in this county. Her mother
was a sister of the late Turpiil Daughters, of Neville, one
of the leading business men of Clermont for many years.
The Millers, originally of German extraction, were among
the early settlers who laid the foundation of Clermont's
future prosperity. To Samuel and Julia. Ann (Gue) Miller
have been born the followin~ children: Kilby Daughters,
born Feb. 21, 1848, and married March 18,1877, by Rev.
James Black, to Laura Howell; John Lawson, born May
23, 1849, and died aged fourteen months;. George Austin
and Arthur Clayton, twins, born June 25, 1821, of whom
the latter died in his fifth year, and the former was married
in March, 1876, by Rev. S. S. Newhouse, to Susannah
Preble ; James Wesley, born Oct. 23, 1853, and married
by Rev. J. P. Daugherty, in April, 1876, to Anna Mc­
l\'Iurchy, of Felicity; Emma Belle, born Oct. 25, 1855,
and married in October, 1877, to Hanson Day, by Rev. S.
S. Newhouse; and William Walter, born July 25, 1859.
Of the above, John Lawson died Aug. 17, 1850, aged
fourteen months and twenty-five days, and Arthur Clayton
died July 8, 1856, aged five years and twelve days; Kilby
D. and George Austin live near Point Pleasant; James
'Vesley, near Felicity; and Emma Belle Day, at Mount
Orab, Brown Co., Ohio.

Samuel Miller has a fine farm of one hundred and twenty­
two acres, including part of his fat.her's homestead, and, on
it is a neat residence, one of the first fine dwellings erected
in Franklin township. Mr. Miller was the second man in
the township to raise tobacco, and has been largely engaged
in its .culture since 1842, hauling in the first few years his
crops to Augusta, Ky., to be prised. He is a Republican
in politics, and warmly sustained the war for the suppres­
sion of the Rebellion. He belongs with his family to the
Christian Church at Mount Pleasant, to which he is a lib­
eral contributor, and for thirty-eight years has been a church
member, zealous and consistent, during thirty of which he
has held the office of deacon. He has frequently served
on th~ township school board, and been closely identified
with the Sunday-schools. While a general farmer he makes
a specialty of tobacco and fruits, in the culture of which
he is very prominent and successful. He is a man of most
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exemplary character, and possesses in the fullest degree the
. esteem and confidence of the community.

To George and Nancy Gue were born the following chil­
dren: Julia Ann Gue, John Wesley Gue, Elizabeth H.
(married to Isaac Bingham), and James Daughters Gue.
George Gue dying, his widow married Mr. Badgley, by
whom she had two children, George W: and J. F. Badgely.

Mr. Miller's beautiful home, one of the finest in Frank­
lin township, commands a splendid view of the Ohio River,
and is surrounded with all the comforts and conveniences
to make it one of the pleasantest in Clermont. He began
life with no capital but his own industry and resolute will,
but by untiring energy and good business tact, assisted by
his good wife, a model housekeeper, he has reared for him­
self an honorable name and secured one of the best farms
~nd houses in Clermont.

B. F. HOLTER.

Bcnjumin Franklin Holtcr, son of Lawson and Theresa
A. (Hines) Holtcr, was born March 11, 1835, in 'Vash­
ington township, neur Point Isabel. His brothers were
Thomas and Augustus; and his sisters were Elizabeth,
married to John Miller, and deceased; Eliza, married to
Willium Suint; and one who died in infancy. He was
raised on a farm and liberally educated in the district school
of his neighborhood, one of the best in the county. He
was married, April 28, 1857, by Rev. John O'Neal, to
Eliza 1\1. Brown, daughter of John and Sarah (Brannen)
Brown, by whom he had the following children: Clara,
Lizzie, Willie, and Eliza Ellen,-the last t~o dying yo~ng.
His first wife died June 26, 1865, and Dec. 12, 1867, he
was married by Rev. Silas Bennett to Olive G. Van Brig­
gle, daughter of Samuel and Charity Van Briggle. Her
father was one of the pioneers of Felicity, and for a long
time in business 'in that enterprising town. By this mar­
riage two children were born,-Charlie, who died aged two
and a half years, and Gaylord Fletcher. When about sev- ,
enteen years old Mr. Holter learned the carpenter's trade,
which he followed until his twenty-fifth year. In 1862 he
went into the dry goods business in Felicity with B. F.
Trees, in which he continued two years. He was then en·
gaged about a year in manufacturing wood stirrups, a very
successful business, and an important branch of industry
during the war. He then was associated a year with Wil­
liam Waterfield in the p;rocery trade, and for about the
same length of time in the general mercantile business. In
1871 he was in partnership with 'W. W. Waterfield in
merchandising and dealing in leaf tobacco, hogs, and pork­
packing, and wus thus connected until 1875. In 1876 he
sold out and dealt largely in tobacco and hogs. From the
fall of' 1876 to 1878 he was in the commission business in
Cincinnati, and then rcmoyed back to Fellt.:ity, where he
has since resided, engaged extensively in thc tobacco and
pork trade. In 1878 he bought, prized, and shipped one
hundred and fifty hogsheads of tobacco; in 1879, one hun­
drcd and fifty-two; and during the present year (1880) he
will have handled over two hundred. He is a Republican
in politics, and an active worker for his party in political
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campaigns. He has been for years a member of the town
council and school board, and is foremost in all publio im­
provements and undertakings; but his shrewd business
sense and cool judgment prevents his being visionary or
fanatical on any question. He built th~ Christian and

Methodist chur~hes at Point Isabel, and with W. W.
Waterfield crectcd the school edifice in Felicity. He is a
fine business man, possesses that high-toned honor and lib­
erality thut has ever distinguished the Holter family in this
county, and his up~ightness of character and affability of
mannel's have made him a popular citizen. He resides in
one of the finest residences in. Felicity,-known ;1S the
Parrish property. Here, with the hospitality so ch3ractc1'­
istic of his family, he lives in comfort and ease, surrounded
by a happy family and enjoying the esteem and confidence
of the community.

HENRY BOLENDER.

Stephen Bolender was born in Pennsylvania in thc year
1756, and his father was v.n' emigrant from Germany.
Stephen was twice married und reared a large filmily of
childreIl,-nine boys and six girls,-ofwhom three still live.
He emigrated to Ohio in the year 1800, landin~ at Boude's
Ferry, on the Ohio River. He bought on his arrival olle
thousand acres of lanu on Bull~kin Creek, and died in 18~O,

lcaving each of his children a good farm. He was the first
Bolen'der in Ohio, and was one of those honest, thrifty'
pioneers who opened up Clermont County to civilization.
His son, Jacob Boleudcr, waS born in Pennsylvania in 17D3,
and came when but seven years old with his parents to
Bullskin. He was first married, Feb. 14, 1813, by \Y. S.
Jump, J. P., to Anna Hoss, u daughter of Christian Hoss,
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an early emigrant from North Carolina, who came to Ohio
and settled on Bullskin in 1808. By this union were born
Daniel, married Martha Richey; Sarah, married to Elijah
Demaris; Margaret, married to Nathaniel Woods; Henry,
the subject of this sketch ; Joel, married Melissa Trisler;
and William, who died unmarried. Anna (Hoss) Bolender
died in 1826, and her husband, Jacob, was married the
second time to Sarah Joslin, widow of Enoch Joslin, and
originally Sarah Jeffries. By this marriage were born four
children: Elias, married Nancy Hannah; Anna, married
to William H. Baird; David H., first married Sementha
Jane Hannah, and the second time Mary Shinkle; and
Sophia, married to Lewis Love. Jacob died in 1860, re­
spected and esteemed by the community.

Henry Bolender, son of Jacob and Anna (Hoss) Bolen­
der, was born on the land he now owns March 13, 1821,
reared on the farm, and educated at the district schools.
He was married, May 20, 1847, by Rev. John Vincent, to
Miss Anna Turner, born Dec. 10, 1823, aud daughtel· of
Willium arod Martha (Houston) Turner. To them have
been born the following children: Martha Ann, born March
19, 1848, and married, Feb. 5, 1871, to Otho Pearre
Stevenson; Franklin, born Dec. 29, 1849, and married,
March 1, 1877, to Sarah Adaline Richey; Cynthia Jane;
born Feb. 28, 18;)2, and married, Jan. 17, 1872, to Josiah
Hannah. Henry Bolender began teaching when about
twenty years of age and taught sehool several of the sum­
mers and nearly all the winters up to within ten years of
the present time, and four years of that period were passed

in his own district. He is a Democrat in politics, of the
Jeffersonian school, and with his family is a member of the
Christian Union Church, attending services at Benton
ehapel, a neat church edifice in his neighborhood. He has
frequently served as township trustee and assessor, and has
been a member of the township school board. No man
stands higher in Franklin township in integrity and up­
rightness of character than Henry Bolender, who possesses.
in a high degree the attributes of true citizenship. For
fourscore years the Bolender family has occupied a very
high standing in the county, and from it have come many
of our wealthiest and best farmers.

Mr. Bolender built his fine residence in 1866, and the.
next year moved upon the farm where he now resides. He
has five hundred and thirty-eight acres of land in Clermont
and Brown' Counties, including what he has donated to h1s
children, and this e~braces some of the most fertile soil in

.Southern Ohio. He is a general f~rmer, but makes a
specialty of tobacco, as his and the contiguous lunds on
Bullskin produce the finest and best-cutting leaf tobaceo in
Ohio. He has taken great interest in Sabbath-sehools,
having been a teacher in them for the past forty years. He
is a prominent member of the "Clermont County Sunday­
School Union," and has been for four years a delegate at
its annual sessions. The Bolender family in its descendants
and by marriage is connected with many of the principal
households of the county, and the mother of Stephen Judd,
a noted farmer near Batavia, was a sister of Henry's father,
Jacob.

" a e D

WAS H I N G TON.
...

'WASHINGTON lies on the Ohio, east of the southern
central part of the county. It wag one of the original
townships, and its area has been reduced by the formation
of Franklin and Monroe townships on the east and the
west respectively. On the north is the township of Tate.
'fhe general shape of Washington is rectangular, the south­
ern end being much wider than the northern. The surface
is varied, embracing fine bottom-lands along the Ohio, high
and bl·oken hilly lauds along the creek, and fine table-lands,
with soils of corresponding characteristics, but whose fertil­
ity is generally good. Fine forests originally abounded,
and a considerable acreage of timber yet remains. Th'e
principal stream of the township is Big Indian Creek,-

. with its chief tributaries, the .North Fork and the Stony
Fork, both draining the northwestern part of the township,

. ,-which flows from the northeast to the southwest, crossing
the 1\1onroe wwnshilJ line a few miles above the mouth of
the stream at Point Pleasant. Entering the township from
Franklin, near the southeast corne.r, is Bear Creek, a small
stream, whose volume wus very much greater in former
days, forming many valu~ble mill-sites. In this part of the

township is also :Maple Creek, and in other parts are smaller
streams and numerous springs.

THE PIONEE.RS.

The first attempt at settlement was made at Neville, on
the survey which was the first located in the county, if
not 'in the State,* in the summer of 1795, by John Gregg,
William Buchanan and his wife Jane, and a man whose
name is not recollected, who had served as aspy along the
river. They came from Kentucky, where they had lived
since 1792, when they came from Pennsylvania. John
Gregg had purchased a large tract of land in Ohio, which
he came on to improve, and to cultivate a crop of corn and
potatoes for others of the Pennsylvania immigrants in Ken­
~ucky', who purposed following them in the fall if the con­
ditions for settlement were found favorable. Having sev­
eral small children in his family, he left it in charge of
friends, and brought the persons mentioned with him to
help bear the burdens of a pioneer's life. They Cl'ossed the

';i' See chapter on Surveys.
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Ohio at Logston's ferry, at the mouth of the Bullskin Creek,
and wending their way down the river, finally settled upon
the beautiful bottom-lands at Neville, as the purchase of Mr.
Gregg. A half faced cabin was erected, which had a bark
roof' and the openings between the logs filled out with moss.
The cooking was done by the side of a large stump in front
of the cabin, and their mode of life was very primitive in­
deed. A few acres of trees were deadened or clea~ed away,
the corn and vegetables planted, when it was found that
they had located on the Neville survey instead of on the
Anderson, which was to contain his land. This discour­
aged him greatly, and an examination of the latter survey
convinced him that the land was so inferior that he did not
care to improve it. He returned to Kentucky, and soon
after went to the Mad River country, where he purchased
another tract of land, and while he was engaged in putting
up a cabi~ he contracted a sickness from which he died
shortly aftcr he had re;lched his home, opposite the present.
village of :l\Ioscow. For a number of years his family re­
mained in Kentucky, but about 1809 one of the sons­
Samuel-came to the Indian Creek neighborhood, and there
learned the tanner's trade with a man named Smedley, but
died within two years. After this another brother-George
-came and also learned the tanner's trade, in time be­
coming the owner of the tannery, which he carried on until
1848, when he moved to Moscow, where he dicd in Janu­
ary, 1862. His wife, Sarah, was a daughter of Thomas
Fee, and died in 1872. Of their family, William S. yet
resides in Moscow; George W. died in Batavia in 1879;
and four of the daughters were the wives of F. J. Phillips,
David Fenwick, John Johnston, and R. Kinsell.

After 1\11'. Gregg had vacated his improvements at Neville,
'William Buchanan concluded to find another home near by,
if a location could be found that would sui£ him. 'Work­
ing his way through the forests to the table-lands south of
Indian Creek, he selected.a fine tract of 300 acres, on which
he settled in the fall of 1795. About the same time John,
David, and Jeriah'Vood and Elish~ and .John Manning,
.brothers-in-law of the former (the 'Woods), with their fam­
ilies, came from Kentucky, and after some difficulty suc­
ceeded in reaching a fine spring about a mile from the cabin
of William Buchanan, where they determined to locate
temporarily. After the pioneer manner in Kentucky, they
erected a stockade of heavy timbers around their buildings
and a small clearing for protection against possible attack
by the Indians, who had not yet entirely left the cou~try.

This was known to the settlers as Mannings' Station, and
later, from the owner, as MilIer's.Station. The station was
never attacked, but it gave the occupants and the people in
that part of the county a sense of security which they could
not have felt without its existence. It is related that the
station was a general resort for the incoming settlers,' and
that Simon Kenton and Daniel Boone sometimes sojourned
there. On many occasions William Buchanan would take
his family and cattle to the stockade and abide there until
the presence of Indians was no longer reported by the scouts.
For the first few years the Woods and Mannings occupied
themselves in clearing up the land around the. station, and
some time before 1800 were rewarded for their labors by
Nathaniel Massey, the agent of the owner of the Buckner

survey, who gave them title-bonds for lands in neighboring
surveys, on which they afterwards made their homes. The
statio'n and the surround'ing improvements-became the prop­
erty of Martin Miller, and the timbers used in the construc­
tion of the stockade walls were early removed and used for
other purposes.

William Buchanan died in 1805. He was married in
1789 to Jane Abrams, and had a family of four children,­
Enoch, James, Margaret, and Jane. Both the sons moved
to Illinois before 1836. Margaret married John Wood,
and Jane became the wife of Samuel Richards. The widow
Buchanan maintained that relation six years, when she mar­
ried Absalom Wood, being twelve years his senior. She
died in 1854, aged eighty;.four years, and for the last fifty
years of her life had lived on the Joseph Barkley place.
The original Buchanan farm is now occupied by J. R.
Brown, at the Calvary meeting-house. The widow Buch­
anan was the possessor of more than ordinary courage, and
well calculated to endure the hardships through which she
passed as the fh'st woman in Washington, if not, indeed,
in the county. In 1801, in the company of her brother
and others, she made a trip to her old home in Pennsylvania,
going up fhe Ohio in a small boat, doing the cooking for
the J;llen aR they landed, and comp-leting the re~ainder of
the journey from Pittsburgh on horseback. By her mar­
riage with Absalom Wood she had three chiidren,-Florella
C., who married Joseph Barkley, and died on the home­
stead j John H., who manied 1\1ary ~arkley, and yet re­
sides in the township near Neville; and William H., who
married a daughter of Dowty Utter~ and died in Washing­
ton in the fall of 1879.

John 'Vood, the eldest of the brothers that came to
Mannings' Station, was one of the eal'ly associate judges,
and while attending court at Williamsburgh fell ill, dying
the next day after he was brought to his home north of
Neville. He had five sons and two daughters,-Joseph,
who married Mary Hodge and died in Tate sixty years ago j

Absalom, the husband of the widow Buchanan j William
removed to Illinois, as did also John and David; one of the
daughters married David Jones, and the other Peter Collins,
of Highland County.

David Wood, the second of the brothers, died on the
Smith survey, at the age of eighty-four years. His chil­
dren were John S., who married Elizabeth Camerer, and
moved to Indiana; George married Sarah Fee, and moved
to the same State ; Joseph married Margaret Bennett, and
died in Washington in 1878; Absalom married Phoobe
McGohan, and lives in Tate;, Dr. David married !\Iary
Day, and died at Point Isabel, where he followed his pro­
fession; Bazel G. died at Vicksburg, Miss., and Alfred in
the township. The daughters married, 'VilIiam Barkley,
Robert Badgley, Joseph Dole, and James Buchanan.

The third of the Wood brothers, Jeriah; died soon after
1800, and left three children,-Abraham, Elizabeth, and
Rachel.

Of the l\Iannings, John was the 111~sband of Elizabeth
Wood, and after living on the Indian Creek until he had
reared his family, he removed to Iowa. One of his daugh­
ters was married to J abez Harris, of WashiRgton. In the
family of Elisha Manning, who died on the Indian Creek,
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were two sons, John and Elisha, who also lived in the
township until their death, a few years later; but before 1800,
Nathaniel, Richard, and Isaac Manning, brothers of the
above, moved .from Kentucky and settled in Washington.
Nathaniellocateu on the Big Indian, in the western part of
the township, where his sons, Squire and William, yet live;
another son, James, deceased; and in the family were also a
number of daughters. Richard Manning settled north of
Neville, where he died in 1852. Of his children, Mary be­
came the wife of Alexander Phillips, and Ann, of Mathew
Wilson. A son, Aaron, married Sarah Smith, and died in
Washington about 1848.

About 1799, Alexander Buchanan, the father of William
Buchanan, the first permanent settler of 'Washington, and
his sons, Robert, Alexander, James, John, and Andrew
(the latter two single), and his son-in-law, William Dixon,
and Thomas Phillips, came from Kentucky, where they had
lived a few years after their immigration from Pennsylvania,
and found homes in various parts of Washington. Alex­
ander Buchanan, Sr., died in 1802, and his conEort sur­
vived him ten years. Robert., the eldest son, was married
to a sister of George Gregg, and located about a mile from
:i\Ioscow, where he died in the fall of 1825. Of his sons,
John G. married Cather~ne Sargent, and lived many years
on the headwaters of Maple Creek, but died in Goshen.
Alexander lived at Moscow until his death, caused by fall­
ing from a boat; Samuel and 'William D. died in the
township; and Robert yet resides at Felicity. The daugh­
ters married Robert Fce, John Hall, John Barkley, and
William P. Daughters.

The second son, Alexander, Jr., had served as a spy
while the family lived at Limestone, Ky., und was present
at the treaty of Greenville. He lived in the Calvary neigh­
borhood, and died in 1820, from the effects of an injury
received while assisting William Dixon in raising his horse­
mill. He had eleven children. One of the sons, Samuel,
yet occupies the homestead, and other sons, John and
Hiram, deceased in the township. The daughters became

-th') wives of' John Donley, Ephraim and Thomas Boran,
Lee Cassiday, Dr. 'Vashington Utter, John Snider, and
Alonzo Swayne. .

James Buchanan located east of Calvary meeting-house,
on the farm now occupied by his SOil James, where he died,
about 1814.

John Buchanan married Margaret Fee, and settled two
miles north of Moscow, on the farm where now resides his
son Robert. Other sons of this family were William, who·
died in the township j Thomas J., who married a sister of
Governor Samuel Medary, and lived in Batavia; and John,
who died a young man. The daughters married .Joseph
Page, John Gilfillin,. William and Harrison Norr.is, all of
Washington township.

Andrew Buchanan married 1\Iargarct Donley, and settled
north of Moscow, where he died. He had but one son,

. James, who lived ill Tate. His daughters married 'Villiam
Byrns, 'Villiam W~lch, Isaac Bainum, Henry Green, and
Thomas Green.

In 1798, William Barkley immigrated from Kentucky,
and settled on Maple Creek, below McKendree Chapel,
where he died, in 18:33.. Of his fatnily, .James married

Elizabeth Carter, and settled in Monroe j Henry,' Sarah
Brown, and settled ~n the same township ; John and
Joseph died in Washington; Catherine became the wife of
John F. McKinney, of Franklin; and Mary B. of J. H.
Wood, of Washington. Joseph and George Barkley,
brothers of William Barkley, came about 1805, and after
living some time on Maple Creek moved to l\fonroe, and
from there to Illinois.

On the same stream, before 1800, Joseph and Samuel
Jackson and Abraham Newkirk lived among the pioneers.
The latter reared a large family, and died in the township.
Samuel Jackson finally removed to Monroe, where one of
his sons yet resides. He had a tannery in operation early
in '\Vashington, being one of the first in the county to en­
gage at that trade. Joseph Jackson and his family re­
moved to Indiana. This place was afterwards occupied by
James Daughters, who resided there until his death, at the
age of ninety-two years. He had ·&ons named James 0.,
Turpin, Kilb-y, and William P., and four daughters.
Among other pioneers in this part of the township was
Benjamin Hess, a man of marked traits of character, but
who, unfortuuately, in the course of years, became involved
with a band of lawless men, and left the country at an
early day.

In 1796, Thomas Fee, his wife Nancy, and family
moved from Mason Co., Ky., to the mouth of the Bull­
skin, in Clermont County. They were natives of Green
Co., Pa., and had gone to Kentucky with the tide of im­
migration which set thither from the Eastern States about
1792. But when it became possible to do so with safety-,
they took up their residence in the then" land of promise,"
-the Northwestern Territory. In 179B a final settlement
was made in Washington township, along the Indian Creek,
on the present David Moreton farm. Here both died some
time about 1820, greatly respected for their many amiable
qualities, and for the zeal and devotion which they dis­
played towards the church of their adoption,-the Metho­
dist Episcopal,-the meetings of which, in the southern
part of the county, were first held at his house. About the
same time, or a few years later, the brothers of Thomas
Fee~William, Samuel, Jesse, Elijah, and Elias-also
became citizens of Clermont, the former settling in Frank­
lin, where he became the founder of Felicity.

Thomas Fee had children' named William and John,
both of whom served in the war of 1812, .the former· dying
on his way home from the army and the latter on the
homestead j Robert, who married Sarah Buchanan, and
was for many years a merchant at Moscow, where he died
October, 1879, aged eighty-three years (he was probably
the most avowed and outspoken anti-slavery man in the
county, and withal a man of most generous traits of char­
acter) j Thomas, who married Helen Penn j and Enos,
Louisa' Pigman, both of whom were merchants in the
county. The daughters of Thomas Fee married,-:-:Mar­
garet, John Buchanan j Sarah, George Gregg; Elizabeth,
Dr. A. V. Hopkins j and Nancy, Dr. L. T. Pease.

The brothel'S of Thomas Fee lived,-Samuel, on Indian
Creek until his removal to Indiana, after 1830; Jesse;
farther below, on the same stream, and removed to the same
State; Elias lived on the Indian Creek" and died there,
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leaving three sons; 'William, who became a Methodist min­
ister, and died in Monroe; Daniel, who lived in the same
township; and Elias, on the homestead. The otller brother,
Elijah, married a daughter of Thomas Jones, and lived on
the north side of Indian Creek until his death. His eldest
son, Jacob, yet resides in Monroe; David lives in Illinois;
and George W. is a residcnt of Tate.

Soon after 1800, Adam Fisher, a native of the eastern
part of Pcnnsylvania, settled on the Indian Creek, where
both he and his wife died. Of their family, Henry became
a prominent Methodist minister in Indiana; George became
equally prominent' as a minister in the Christian Church;
John settled near Laurel, in Monroe; Jaeob removed to,
Indiana; Samuel, Daniel, and Peter died in Washington;
and David became an editor of note and a Congressman,
and yet resides near Amelia. The daughters married
Thomas SInter, of Monroe, and Hezekiah Lindsley, of
Ohio.

Thomas Jones, a brother-in-law of Adam Fisher, came
with him, settling on an adjoining fitrm, where he died
about 1827. His sons, George and Henry, died in the
township; Anthony lived in Felicity; and David and John
removed to Indiana. Thomas Jones was a Revolutionary
soldier, and David and George served in the war of 1812.

Anotller Pennsylvanian, George Brown, settled on the
Big Indian about 1799.' He was a local Methodist min­
ister and an energetic man. He built the first mill in the
towl)ship soon after his settlement, and died about six years
later. He had two sons,-David, who married Margaret
Abraham, and settled near Laurel, and Robert, who re­
moved to Hamilton County.

John Abraham came a few years earlier, living north of
the Buchanans until his death. His son, William, lived and
died in this neighborhood. About the same time the
Camerer brothers came from Pennsylvania, and located in
various parts of the township. John located near :l\Ioscow,
where he remained until his death. He had sons named
John, Daniel, Samuel, and Lewis, the latter yet living at
Moscow. Henry Camerer settled on the north side of the
Big Indian, where he reared sons named D~niel, 'William,
and Peter, the latter living on the homestead. His daugh­
ters marrie~ John S. 'Vood, Israel Smith, John, Constaat,
John 'Vheeler, and John l\liller. The third 9f the brothers,
John Camerer, lived on the farm now owned by William
Penn, removing to Illinois about 1831. The same year
Lewis Camerer, another brother, who had improved the
John Logan farm, moved to Illinois.

In 1802, or about that time, Lemuel Stephenson, of
Delaware, settled above the Camerers, and afterwards lived
in Franklin, where he was the first township clerk. He
died about 1838. His sons lived in Tate or removed to
Illinois, and his daughters married William Abraham,
James Barber, Sterling Bagby, William Wood, Nicholas
Tompkins, Johnson Wyatt, and Joseph Powell.

Near this time Philip Means, a Pennsylvania Dutch­
man, settled north of Neville, qn a part of the J. H. Wood
place. He became quite wealthy, and in 1831 was robbed
of $1800 in cash, the robbers failing to find a large amount
concealed in the house. They were apprehended and prop­
~r~y punished; as is elsewhere related. Earlier th~n this

was the settlement of 'Vm. McCarter, who, after living
several years at the mouth of Bullskin, came to the Bu­
chanan settlement and died there. His son Henry died
near Neville, and J ohn and William' mo~ed to Indiana.

John Trees, a native of Westmoreland -Co., Pa., in 1801
came to Miller's Station, but in a. few' years purchased a
tract of land west of Point Isabel, on which he settled and
where he 4ied-a15out eighty years of age. He was a
Revolutionary soldier, and his eldest son, John, served in
the w~r of 1812.. He lived on an adjoining farm, and died
in 1866, aged eighty-two years. He had a family of twelve
children, nille of whom yet live in the county. Adam,
the second son of J o'hn Trecs, Sr., and his brothers, Jacob
and Peter, removed at an early day to Indiana. The daugh­
ters married John Jones and Jacob Rader, of Indiana;
John Hodges and Abner Huntington, of Monroe; and
John Davis and Michael Purkiser, of Washington. The
Pm,kiser family settled in this part of the township about
the same time, and descendants yet live in the southern
part of'the county. Several of the sons became Methodist
ministers.

,Maj. John Logan, who received his title from his service
in 1812, settled carlyon the Indian Creek, on the farm
now occupied by his son John. An<?ther son, Ashby, re­
sides in Cincinnati; and the daughters married Samuel
Watson, John Pangburn, Enos Richards, and Robert Porter,
the three last named living in the sou~hern part of Cler­
mont,

Frederick Sapp, the father of Richard Sapp, settled on
the Big Indian about the beginning of the present century.
He, John Sapp, Edward Sapp, Robert Brown, George
Brown, and George West purchased the Brownlee survey
of 1000 acres for $2 per acre. Several of Frederick
Sapp's daughters married members of the Trees family.

From the State of !llaryland came Christopher Arma­
cost, and in 1801 located on a farm two miles west from
Point Isabel, where he died at the age of ninety-three years.
Of his family of sixteen children, eight sons and four
daughters grew to mature years, namely: Levi lived in
Monroe; Christopher, in Franklin; Marcus, in Monroe j

John yet lives in that township, near Point Pleasant; Isaac
resides at Laurel; Abijah at Point Isabel; and Elon on
the homestead in Washington.

On the farm now owned by Joseph Barlow, north of
Moscow, settled John Garrett, about 1800. He' was one
of the first elders of the Smyrna Presbyterian Church in
Franklin. He died in Washington, as did also his sons
James, John, and William. Patrick Bennett and his sons
James, Stephen, Jesse, and 'John were among the early
settlers on the Big Indian; and on the Bear Creek settled
Thomas, John, and William Fletcher, natives of Western
Pennsylvania. They purchased 600 acres about 1815, and
all resided in the township until their death.

At Neville, Elijah Larkin was one of the oldest and best­
known citizens. He was born in Frederick Co., Md.,
in 1778, and after living for a period in Virginia moved
to Ohio, being among the earliest settlers of southern
Clermont. He was a pioneer school-teacher, but later en­
gaged as a clerk in the store of Joshua Pigman, at Neville,
where he died in 1862. For fifteen years he ,was associate
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" PROPERTY-HOLDERS IN 1826.

I~ the following carefully-prepared list appear the names
of all the property-owners in the township in 1826. To
indicate who were probably non-residents at that period an
asterisk is used to preface their names, such persons having
paid no personal tax.

proclaim the gospel as a local preacher until a short time
before his death, in 1862, being at that time the oldest
pioneer preacher in the \\rcst, and had labored in that
sphere se ....enty-one years. In his last will he remembered
the church of his ehoice, giving it a benefaction of $2000.
As a debater the Rev. Thompson had few superiors, and
the protracted series of debates between him and Elder
Mathew Gardner (sometimes called the seven years' war)
is recollected by some of the old citizens. as a feast of in­
tellectual and theological food. Of his eleven children
nine were sons, and four became physicians of note: Dr.
'Villiam, of Bethel; Dr. Burke, of CinCinnati; and Drs.
Sale and Garrett, of Fort 'Vayne, Ind. The latter was
also a Whig politician of prominence and a candidate for
Congress in 1848, when he died. The other sons were
teachers and mechanics.

John Holter came from Frederick, Md., about 1817, and
bought a fitI'm, which had been improved by John Brown,
north of the Big Indian. Of his eight children but one
was a daughter, who married Jesse Hunt, of Union. Of
the sons, Alfl'Cd yet resides at Olive Branch, John D. in
Ross Oounty, Nelson and Wm. H. at Point Isabel, Daniel
at Olive Branch, and George W. and Lawson died in
1Vashington.

George Richards came from the same locality in Mary­
land, and settleu in the Buchanan neighborhood. He died
about 1844. He had sons named Nuah, Samuel, Hanso::!,
John, and Enos, the latter yet residing near the \Vashing­
ton line in Franklin. One of the daughters married
'fhomas Hitch, of Tate, and the other John Richards, of
1Yashington, whose family were also among the pioneers.

In 1820, William l\Icl\Iath came from Brownsyille, Pa.,
and located three miles from Moscow, but in 1833 moved
to Neville, and finally to Kentucky, where he died. His
sons, Samuel and John, yet reside at Neville; Daniel at
Foster, Ky.; and the Rev. James at Moscow.

'Nashington early filled up with a vigorous, thrifty class
of people, many of whom removed when the Western
States invited .settlement. Their names and many others
appear in the appended list of

------- ._._-------------

judge, and postmaster at Neville a long period of time.
Moses J.Jarkin, his brother, came the same time. He was
a carpenter and spent the greater part of his life at Felicity,
where he, also, held the position of postmaster.

Benjamin Penn, at the age of seventy years, came with
eleven of his childrcn from the State of Maryland, in
1809, and settled at Bear Creek, where he died at an ex­
treme age. Two of these cleven children were sons, Ben­
jamin and Elijah. The former lived first in Franklin, on
Indian Creek, but later purchased the Brown mills in
\Yashington, which he operated a number of years, when
he sold to his bruther lWjah and removed to Georgetown.
He was the father of Mrs. Col. John Howard, of Batavia,
and Dr. Samuel Penn. Elijah, at the age of twenty-three,
married Philena "Walraven, and after living at NeviIle,­
where he had a small nail-factory, and froin where he
traded on t.he Ohio and Mississippi, often walking baek
from New Orleans, fi\'e hundred milcs of the way being
through the Indian country,-located on a farm in Wash­
ington for a few years.

In 1841 he purchased the mills on Indian Creek; which
he carried on, and had also other important business' in··
tercsts. He died in 1877, aged eighty-five years. His
children were Maj. Julius A., of Batavia; Benjamin F.,
of "Washington ; Joseph "W., of Pierce; Elijah G., of the
same township; John D., of New Richmond; Samuel M.
died in Hoss County in 1877; and George 'V. died in the
service of his country in 1863, while a membcr of the
Eighty-ninth Ohio Volunteer Infantry. Of the daughters,
Anna S. married John D. Holter, and Sally ·W. was the
first wife of Judge T. Q. Ashburn.

The daughters of Benjamin Penn, Sr., were married to
Nathaniel Hines, George Richards, B.iehard Tucker, Joshua
Pigman, R. C. Lanham, Benjamin Thrasher, and James
Prather. The Penns became very numerous, and on the
occasion of the interment of Benjamin Penn one hundred
and sixty-five immediate descendants attended the funeral
services.

At Penn's Mills, in 1816, \Vesley Phillips settled, com-
. ing ii'om Maryland, and died in 1839. One of his sons,
T. A. G., was a Methodist minister more than thirty years;
another son, F. J., yet lives at Moscow. The daughters
married Alfred Holter, David Meek, and Erastus Turtin.
In 1818,. "Wesley Phillips opened a store at Penn's Mills,
which he continued several years. About 1826, B. Penn
and his son 'Yilliam opened a store on an adjoining farm,
which they called" Indian Springs," a name which IS some­
times yet applied to the locality. John Phillips, a brothel'
of W·esley, was an auctioneer and school-teacher. One of
his sons, Thomas H., yet lives in Monroe township. About
the same time Richard M. Taylor settled north fl'om Point
Isabel, where he died at the age of eighty-two years. He
was the fatner of Franklin Taylor, of :l\'Ionroe, and step­
father of Wm. H. Beall, of Washington. Earlier by ten
'years was the settlement in this part of the township of
the Rev. Wm. J. Thompson. He was born in Maryland
in 1767, but removed to North Oarolina in 1775. In
1787 he came to Kentucky, joining the Methodist Church
the same year. In 1791 he was licensed to preach, and
after being an active itinerant many years he continued to

Armacost, Christopher, Jr.
Armacost, Le\·i, No. 765; L.

Norwell, original proprietor.
Abbott, Aaron.
Abrams, Abraham.
Abrams, Lot.
Abrams, John.
Arinncost, Mark, No. 7G5; .L.

Norwell, original proprietor.
Armacost, Christopher, Sr:, No.

1357; Lawrence Butler, orig­
inal proprietor.

';;Abraham, Jobn, No. 1087; Thos.
Buckner, original prop.

Bartlett, Andrew.

Behymer, Aaron, No. 765; L.
Norwell, original proprietor.

Bennett, Patrick, No. 714; Cnd­
wallader Jones, orig. prop.

Buchanan, James, No. 715; Lewis
Stark, original proprietor.

Buehnnan, Mary, No. 1064; Bev­
erly Roy, original prop.

Buchanan, Andrew, No. 1064;
Beverly Roy, original prop.

Baxter, .John.
Buehannn, Margaret.
Buchanan, Alexander.
Buchanon, John G., No. 1064;

Beverly Roy, original prop.



THE Buchanan family is of Scotch-Irish extraction, and
of Revolutionary stock. The first Buchanan who came to
America was from the north of Ireland, and settled very
early in Pennsylvania, and from him descended ex-President
James Buchanan. Alexander Buchanan, a cousin of the
ex-President's father, emigrated to America in 1764, and
settled in Washington Co., Pa., where he married. His
children were William; Alexander; Robert; James; John j

Andrew ; Jane, married to William Dixon; Martha, married
to Thomas Phillips; and a third daughter, married to a Mr.
Wilson. About the year 1790, Alexander Buchanan, with
his family, emigrated to Limestone (now Maysville), Ky.,
and then to Germantown, which was called co Buchanan's
Station." In the year 1796 they removed to the mouth of
Bullskin Creek, on the Ohio side, and the same season
came to Beverly Roy's survey, in what is now Washington
township, where they purchased lands of Philip Buckner,
of Kentucky. This was very early called "Buchanan's
Settlements," so well known in the pioneer annals of the
county. Before this time, in the spring of 1793 or 1794,
William Buchanan, oldest son of Alexander, with John
Gregg, came over from Kentucky, and built a log cabin on
the site of the present village of Neville, but there being
some trouble about the exact location of the survey for
the purchase of which they had contracted, they left in
the followin~ year and returned to Kentucky. John
Buchanan, the next to the youngest son of Alexander,
was born in Pennsylvania, in 1778, and was married to
Margaret Fee, a daughter of Thomas Fee, one of the first
settlers at Felicity, where he purchased Bryan's survey of
four hundred acres. John's wife was a sister to the wives
of Drs. Leavitt T. Pease and A. V. Hopkins, and of Mrs.
George Gregg, and also of the six Fee brothers, Capt.
William, John, Elisha, Thomas, Robert, and Enos. The
children born to John and Margaret (Fee) Buchanan
were Nancy, married to Joseph Page; William; Thomas
;T., the eminent lawyer and orator, who married a daughter
of Governor Samuel Medary, was a representative. from
Clermont in the Thirty-sixth, Thirty-seventh, and Thirty­
eighth General Assemblies of Ohio, and speaker of the
House of the latter, and a member subsequently of the
State Board of Equalization from the Clermont and Brown
district; Sarah, married to ex-county commissioner John
G. Gilfillen; Robert; Jane, married to Harrison Norris;
Eliza, married to William Norris; and John, who died in
1844. Of these, one son, Robert, and three daughters,
Sarah, Jane, and Eliza,are living.

John Buchanan was a good farmer, a member of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church, an active Democrat in politics, a
good citizen, and universally esteemed for the purity of his .
character and his ·high standing as an honest, upright man.
He was appointed an associate judge of the Clermont Com­
mon Pleas Court in 1850, and served·a little over a year,
with Judges Elijah Larkin and Jonathan Johnson as col­
leagues, until 1851, when the new' constitution went into
effect, and this office was abolished. He was out some
sixty days in the war of 1812 in a cavalry company which
was disbanded, owing to an overplus of volunteers, before
it reached the scene of hostilities.

He died in 1861, in his eighty-third year, lamented and
respected by the whole county as one of God's noblemen.

His only surviving son, Robert Buchanan, resides on part
of the old Buchanan tract, and is one. of the most intelli­
gent and largest farmers of the county,-a worthy descend­
ant of this family, than which, agriculturally, politically,
and socially, none have been. more prominent or respected
in Clermont. William Buchanan, the eldest son of Alex­
ander, amI a brother of the subject of this sketch, was
with six others, in December, 1800, appointed by Governor
St. Clair the seven justices of the Court of Quarter Ses­
sions that convened at Williamsburgh the fourth Tuesday
of February, 1801. He was elected in October, 1802, the
first representative from Clermont to the Fourth Territorial
Legislature of the Northwest, which was to have met on
t.he fourth Monday of November following,. but which never
convened, as the first constitution of Ohio, adopted Nov. 29,
1802, did away with the territorial government. He, how­
ever, was the first senator from Clermont in the first Gen­
eral Assembly of Ohio, that 'convened at Chillicothe, March
1, 1803.

Andrew Buchanan, another brother of John, was coroner
of the county from 1845 to 1853, four successive terms of
two years each. The" Buchanan Settlements" were per­
haps the best known of any in the county during pioneer
days, but in later times considerable and protracted litiga­
tion grew out of the title to Beverly Roy's survey, and
the Buchanans, with other purchasers under Buckner, were
put to great expense and trouble in perfecting their titles.
Alexander, the grandfather of Robert and father of John,
was a Revolutionary soldier, and in peace or war the
Buchanan family has been always closely identified with
the country's history, as it was early and honorably asso­
ciated with thc first settlement of Clermont.

John Buchanan's fat.her, Alexander, died in 1803, and
his mother, Margaret, in 1814,-both buried at Calvary
Meeting-house.



WASHINGTON TOWNSHIP. 367

Bennett, James, No. 1684; John
l\IeDougal, original prop.

Bl1um, Michnel.
Boner, Tyer.
Boner, Mathew, No. 834; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
Boner, John, No. 834; Alexan­

der Parker, original prop.
:aoyee, Richard.
Buchanan, Catherine, No. 866;

.Tohn Campbell, orig. prop.
Bennett, John.
Barkley, William, Jr.
Barker, Jeremiah.
Behymer, William.
Barkley, William, No. 834; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
~~Buchanan, Robert (heirs), No.

1683; John McDougal, orig.
prop.

;~Boyce, John, No. 1156; John
Woodford, original prop.

i*Bennett, Stephen, No. 1156;
John Woodford, orig. prop.

'"'Boyee, James (heirs), No. 723;
Thomas Brown, orig. prop.

Carter, Henry.
Clark, Isanc, No. 765; L. Nor­

well, original proprietor.
Clutter, John'.
Curry, William, No. 714; Cad­

wallader Jones, orig. prop.
Camerer, John, No. 1064; Bev-

erly Roy, originnl prop~
Cozatt, Peter.
Clark, Charles.
Camerer, Daniel, No. 1102; Benj.

Mosley, original proprietor.
Camerer, Lewis.
Cozatt, Francis.
Camerer, Henry,' No. 728; Law-

rence Traut, orig. prop.
Cox, Samuel.
Clark, Thomas.
*Carr, Greenberry (heirs), No.

391; Richard C. Anderson,
orig. prop.

*Cotton, George T. (heirs), No.
765; L. Norwell, orig. prop.

Downey, John.
Donley, James, No. 714; Cad­

wallader Jones, orig. prop.
Donley, John.
Dixon, William, Nos. 1683,1684;

John MeDougal, orig. prop.
Davis, Elizabeth.
DonIe.)', William, No. 1383;

Daniel Flowers, orig. prop.
Dixon, Joseph, No. 1102; Benj.

Mosley, orig. prop.
Davis, John.
Dill, Sarah, No. 832; Alexander

Parker, original proprietor.
Dl1\'is, John.
Davis, Stephen.
Daughters, Turpin.
Dunn, Elijah.
Doane, Henry.
Duvall, Lamach.
Daughters, James, No. 832;

Alex. Parker, orig. prop.
~'Debruler, William, No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
*Davis, Thomas M., No. 1383;

Daniel Flowers, orig. p~op.

;l'Dunn, "ralter, executor of John
Gmham, No. 723; Thomas
Brown, original proprietor.

Ellsbel"l"y, Wesley.
Eskham, John, No. 16]6; Henry

Baylcss, orig. prop.
Eads, Austin.
Evans, Jamcs, No. 892; Robcrt

Craddocl{, orig. ·prop.
ii'Erskine, Thomas, No. 1318;

Daniel Flowers, orig. prop.
Frizell, E,·an.
Fee, Elijah, No. 732; Thom:1s

Brown, original proprietor.
:Fee, J essc, No. 714; Cadwallader

Jones, orig. prop.
Fee, Samuel.
Fee, Eliz:1bcth, No. 714; Cadwal­

lader Jones, orig. prop.
Fee, Thomas, No. 714; Cadwal­

lader Joncs, orig. prop.
Fee, Thomas, Jr., No. 714; Cad-

wallader J oncs, orig. prop.
Fuller, William.
Fisher, Daniel.
Fisher, Adam, No. 1064; Beverly

Roy, orig. prop.
Fisher, Petcr.
Fletcher, John, No. 391; n.. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Fletcher, Thomas.
Fletcher, Daniel.
Fancher, Richard, No. 1357;

Lawrence Butler, orig. prop.
FInck, John.
*Fee, Elisha. No. 714; Cl1dwal­

Iader Jones, orig. prop.
Gilfillan, John.
Garrett, James, No. ]318; Daniel

Flowers, orig. prop.
Gwinn, Joseph, No. 1683; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Garrett, Eleanor, No. 1684 ; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Garret, John.
Gregg, George, No. 714; Cad-

wallader Jones, orig. prop.
Gilbert, Micah.
Griffith, Sarah.
Galbreath, Robert, No. 659; Dan-

iel Morgan, orig. prop.
Garrison, Reeves.
Glasgow, Nathaniel.
German, Azariah.
*Gelvin, James, No. 659; Daniel

Morgan, original proprietor.
Hays, William.
Higgins, Westley.
Hampton, Thomas G.
Hess, John, No. 1087; Thomas

Buckner, original prop.
Higgins, Charles, No. 761 ; John

Burton, original}lroprietor.
Higgins, Nathaniel, No. 761;

John Burton, orig. prop.
Higgins, William, No. 761; John

Burton, orig. prop.
Hodges, James, No. 1:357; La\v­

rence Butler, orig. prop.
Holter, Mary, No. 725; William

Brownlee, orig. prop.
Holland, Samuel, No. 832; Alex.

Parker, original proprietor.
Hess, Benjamin, No. 832; Alex.

Parker, original proprietor.

Hood, William.
Holmes, William.
Hobbs, Laban.
Hobbs, Lnncclot, No. 391; Rich.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
*Hill, Daniel, No. 728; Law­

rence 'fraut, orig. prop.
*Higgins, Wesley, No. 1683;

John McDougal, orig. prop.
i~Hoke, Philip H., No. 1318;

Danl. Flower8, orig. prop.
Igo, Sallluel.
IJer, George.
Ilcr, Jacob (It tanner), No. 866;

John Hamilton, or.ig. prop.
Irwin, John.
Jones, Elijah.
Jones, Anthony.
Judd, Aquilla.
Jones, John.
Jones, Henry, .No. 866; John

Hamilton, orig. prop.
Johnston, William.
Johnson, Joseph.
Kirkpatrick, Wm., No. 135i;

Lawrence Butler, orig. prop.
Kennedy, Saml.
Light, David, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Little, Noah.
Lanham, Wm.
Loree, Nancy.
Lanham, Mercy.
Larkin, Elijah.
Lanham, Wm.
Lowe, Samuel.
Leggitt, James.
*Larkin, Elisha, No. 834; Alex.

Parker, original proprietor.
;l'Lynn, William, No. 1087 ; Thos.

Buckner, original proprietor.
*Low, Barton, No. 728; Law-

rence Traut, orig. prop.
Morgan, Enoch.
Manning, Nathan.
Morgan, Nathan, No. 391; Rich.

C. Anderson, orig. prop.
Minor, Oliver.
Means, Philip, No. 1318; Danl.

Flowers, orig. prop.
McKinley, Thos.
McMakin, John.
Manning, lUchard, No. 4400;

John McDougal, orig. prop.
Miller, John.
Miller, Martin, No. 1087; Thos.

Buckner, original proprietor.
McKinley, Elizabeth, No. 725;

Wm. Brownlee, orig. prop.
Morgan, Charles, No. 725; Wm.,

Brownlee, orig. prop.
McKibben, John.
Moorhead, Furgus.
Murphy, John.
Morford, John, No. 834; Alex.

Parker, orig. prop.
McKinncy, John.
McWilliams, John, No. 1064;

. Be"erly Roy, orig. prop.
Matts, Isaac, No. 1684; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Melvin, Wm.
Means, George.
Means, Henry.
McMath, Wm.

Naylor, Wm. M.
Newkirk, John.
Newkirk, George.
*Newkirk, Catherine, No. 8M;

Alex. Parker, orig. prop.
;l'Neville, Morgan, No. 659; Danl.

Morgan, original proprietor.
Owens, Amasa.
Ogden, John.
Ogden, James.
Ogden, Mary, No. 851; Jacob

Smock, original proprietor.
Penn, Elijah T.
Purkiser, Henry, No. 728; Law­

rence Traut, orig. prop.
Page, John, No. 1156; John

Woodford.• orig. prop.
Pugh and Teater.
Page, Abner,. No. 3552; John

Graham, original proprietor.
Palmer, Jacob.
Philips, Alex., No. 1318; Danl.

Flowers, orig. prop.
Philips, Wesley, ~o. 725; Wm.

Brownlee, orig. prop•.
Pigman, Joshua R., No. 892;

. Robt. Craddock, orig. prop.
Prather, Thomas.
Pigman, Joshua, No. 2961; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
Penn, Benjamin, No. 866; John

Hamilton, orig. prop.
Pursley, James, No. 7088; Abner

Bowman, original prop.
Peters, Jacob.
Purki;er, Michael, No. 1357 ;

Lawrence Butler, original
proprietor.

*Peppard and Teater, No. 391; R.
C. Anderson, orig. prop.

*Pigman, Jane, No. 892; Robt.
Craddock, orig. prop.

''*Pigman, Levi (admrs.), No. 892;
Robert Craddock, original
proprietor.

*Pa.)-ne, John, No. 391; R. C.
Andcrson, orig. prop.

Richards, George, No. 728; Law-
renee Traut, orig. prop.

Richards, Noah.
Reddick, Richard.
Redman, Woo.
Robinson, George.
Redman, Alex.
Rogers, Charles.
Richards, Samuel, No. 728; Law­

r~nt Traut, orig. prop.
Simmons, Adam, No. 769; George

Lewis, original proprietor.
Simmons, Adam, Jr.
Stophelt, David.
Smith, Caleb.
Seaton, Ebenezer, No. 714; Cad­

wallader Jones, orig. prop.
Sapp, Frederick, No. 714; Cad­

wallader Jones, orig. prop.
Stephenson, Jonathan.
Smith, Adam, No. 728; Lawrence

Traut, original proprietor.
Snider, Abraham.
Swope, Nicholas, No. 728; Law­

rence Traut, orig. prop.
Swope, Henry, No. 728; Law­

rencc Traut, orig. prop.
Smith, WIll~ .
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And in Moscow, the same period, the owners of village
lots were

Th~ same year the owners of real estate (village lots)
in Neville were

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

.. TnollAs JO:S'ES. [L.S.]
A German name. [L.S.]

"N. B.-Of this warrant make legal sen'ice and duly rcturn to the
clerk."

"STAn~ OF OHIO,}
Cu~mlO:S'T CO.

"To any constable in thc township of Washington, Greeting:
'" You are hereby commanded to warn Andrew Trees, Jr., to leave

the township and remo,"e to his last place of residence, for we are
determined not to gi'"e him any support in this township.

"Given under our hands, as O"erseers of the Poor, this 30th day
of September, 1805.

Washington is one of the original townships of the
county, and the first election was held in 1802; but the
records pertaining to the annual meetings which were held
prior to 1809 have net been preserved. On the 3d of
April, that year, the officers elected were John Conrey, John
Sargent, and Nathan Morgan, Trustees; Lemuel Stephen­
son, Clerk; William Fee, Treasurer; Israel Joslin and
Edward Sapp, Constables j Alexander Seaton and J aIm
Debruler, Overseers of the Poor; Adam Fisher and Alex­
ander Buchallan, Fence-Viewers; Israel Joslin, Lister and
House Appraiser; Edward Sapp, House Appraiser; and
William Dickson and J olm Aldridge, Road Supervisors.

One of the records of former years has been transcribed
into this book, as follows:

For the next twenty years a number of' similar notices
were served, among the parties warned being several col­
ored men. From 1810, for the next dozen years, is
given a list of names of those selected as jurors. Prior to
1812 these were grand jurors: William Fee, Joseph :Mc­
KibbcD, James Simmons, Richard Manning, John Lowe,
Joshua Pigman, Richard Lemaster, Martin Miller, Israel
Joslin, Lemuel Stephenson, Edward Scott, and Daniel
Camerer.

The petit jurors were Patrick Bennett, L. Day, Rich­
ard Fanchard, Lawrence Burns, John Snow, Francis :Mc­
Graw, David Jones, Barton Lowe, James Bidwell, James
Donley, Christopher Armacost, John Camerer, Samuel
Lowe, James Sargent, John :l\'Iiller, Jr., Jesse Fee, John
Keyt, Washington Brown, Elijah Sargent, Richard Tucker,
John Richards, Jacob Iler, John Wharton, Henry Cam­
erer, Henry McCarter, and William Viratson.

From 1828 to 18-18 the records of "Washington have not
been preserved, but for the remaining years a list of officers
has been compiled, as follows:

Thompson, Wm. J., No. 7088;
Abraham Bowman, .original
proprietlJr.

Tucker, Stephen. No. 851; Jacob
Smock, original proprictor.

*Tuckcr, Zadok, Xo. 851; Jaeob
Smoc);:, original proprietor.

Utter, Dowty.
Verrcs, William.
Wearer, William.
Wilson, Thomas, No. 714; Cad­

waJJadcr Jones, orig. prop.
Wilson, John.
Wilson, SlllDucl, No. 714; Cad-

wallader Jones, orig. prop.
Wilson, Benjamin.
Wood, John.
Wood, David, No. 1064; Beverly

Ro,}', original proprietor.
Wood, Jane, No. 1064; Beverly

Roy, original proprietor.
Wood, Abraham.
Wilson, William, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Wood, William, No. 659; Daniel

Morgan, orig. prop.
Wheeler, Banj., Xo. 728; Lau.

renee Traut, orig. prop.
Whitney, Lemuel.
Wood, Jeremiah.
Wood, Wilson.
Walker, lUehard.
Wulm, Shem, No. G59; Daniel

Morgan, original proprietor.
WaJJaee, CadwaJJader, No. 728;

Lawrence TTlLut, orig. prop.

Griffith, Sarah.
lIeI', Jacob.
Larkin, Elijah.
Morgan, Enoch.
McCarty, John.
McLain, Andrew.
Melvin, William.
Penn, Elijah T.
Pigman, Joshua.
Pollard, Nancy.
Sargent, James.
Strader, Charles ~I.

Wentzle, William.
Wulm, Shem.

Scott, John, No.3!!1; Rich. C.
Anderson, orig. prop.

Scott, George, No. 391; Rich. C.
Anderson, orig. prop.

Scott, Edward, No. 1683; John
McDougal, orig. prop.

Seeney, Joshua.
Sargent, James.
Stark, John.
Stark, Am.
Sargent, William.
Stoner, Andrew.
i~Salt, John, No. 735; Robert

Kirk, original proprietor.
*Seaton, 'I.'hoDlas, Xo. 715; Lewis

Stark, original proprietor.
""Salt, Edward, No. 725; W111.

Brownlee, orig. prop.
Tompkins, Jonathan, No.,1357;

Lawrence Butler, original
proprietor.

Trayis, Robert.
Th'is, Reason.
Tubman, TuJJ.
Taylor, Thomas, No. 391; Rich­

ard C. Anderson, original
proprietor.

Thomas, Evan, No. 65!!; Daniel
Morgan, original proprietor.

Trees, John, No. 1357; Lawrence
Butler, original proprietor.

Taylor, Aquilla, No. 7G1; John
Burton, original proprietor.

Trees, John N., No. 1357; Law­
rence Butler, orig. prop.

Thompson, Benjamin.

Booth, George.
Camerer, R. A.
ChalfalJt, Robert.
Cassett, D. C.
Daughters, Turpin.
Daughters, James M.
Dougherty, Charles.
Dart, Wilson.
Daughters, James.
Duval, Otho.
Flack, John.
Fletcher, John.
Fisher, Adam.
Gibson, Thomas G.

The total value of village lots was $12,817, and of the
23,791 acres of land in the township, $100,114. On this
the tax was only $588.17, while on the village propei'ty the
tax was ~75.30. rhe capital invested in merchandise was
$2600.

Clark, Joshua.
Dunaven, John.
Dickson, William.
Ely, Samuel.
Fay, Fred.
German, Azariah.
Holloway, Samuel W.
Judd, Aquilla.
Johnston, Wil1iam.
Lowe, Samuel.

, Leeds, John.

Lanham, John.
Matts, Isaac, Jr.
l\lcHugh, John.
Naylor, William.
Peppard and Teater.
Phillips, Alexander.
Payne, James B.
Reese, Jacob.
Snider, Widow.
Scott, Gcorge.
Wilcox, Rufus.

TRUSTEES.

ISIO.-John Sargent, Israel Joslin, William Dickson.
1811.-Snmuel Ogden, Israel Joslin, Samuel Snow.
lS12-13.-James Barber, Joseph McKibben, Henry Brown.
1814.-John Sapp, Joseph McKibben, James Barber.
1815.-1srael Joslin, John Sargent, James .Barber.
1810.-Joseph McKibben, Ephraim Dukes, James Barber.
1817.-Joseph McKibben, John Sargent, Thomas Lindsey.
1818.-Edward SnIt, John Buchanan, Thomas Lindsey.
1819.-James Bennctt, James Daughters, '£homas Lindsey.
1820.-Jawcs Bennett, William P. Botts, 'I.'homns Lindsey.
1821-22.-Absalom Wood, Henry Jones, William P. Botts.
1823.-Henry Donne, Wesley Phillips, Isaac Mitchell.
1824.-Joshua Pigman, Andrcw Phillips, Isaac MitcheJJ.
lS25.-Joshua Pigman, Andrew Phillips, John 'Buchanan.
1826.-Elijah Larkin, Elijah Fee, John Buchanan.
1827.-JltmeS Bennett, John Davis, John Buchanan.
1828.-Alexander Phillips, John Davis, John Buchanan.



GEORGE GREGG.

The Gregg family, so historic in the annnis of Ohio, Kentucky, nntl 1ndillnn, is of
Quaker nnc..stry, and ltO back to 1\ splendid linellge ill Englnnd. About the year
1792, John Gregg aOlI his wif" Snrah, whose maidl"n IIame was "Iso Gr..gg, movl"d
from their home in Greene Co., l'a., to Kentucky. Their children were four sons,­
Anron, Samuel, Jobn, and George,-and five daughters,-Ann Ruth, man'ied to Felty
Harmun: one married to John Harlan, neal' Ll"bl\non, Ohio; Margaret, married to
Rob..rt Buchanan; Sarah, married to John It'ee; and Hannah, married to Col. John
O. Hamilton, of Galll1tin Co., Ky. In the spring of 179:J or '94, John Gregg, with
William Buchanan, came over from KE'ntucky and built a log cabin on what is now
the site of Ne\'iIIe, th.. first erected in Clermont. These two pioneers had contrllcted
for a thousand-acre tmet of IHnd, but in the next or succeeding year, findiug that
they had put up their cabin and located on a differ"nt survey from the onll they
had actuully bargained for, in order to n.void trouble tht·y gavl" up their claim and
returned to Kentucky. Shnrtly after this John Gregg died, but his wife remained
in Kentucky with her children, and lived to a good old uge. She was a bellutiful
womun, of light frame, wdghing only about ninety pounds, and would come frolll
Kentucky on horseback, and travel n.lone through the bluzed woods to Lebanon
and see her children, and return unaccompanied hy anyone.

Sllmuel Gr('g~, son of John, came over from Kentucky to learn Ihe tannery busi­
ness with lUr. Smt'dley, who operated a IHrge establishment on Indian Crel"k as early
as the yellr 1802. Samuel died about eighteen months after his IIrrival, whl'n his
brother George came over in 1808, took his place, learned the trade, took an intt'rest
in the tannery, and soon after bought out Mr. Smedley's whole concern.

George Greg!; was born in Greene Co., Pa., nen.r Brownsville, March 25, 1790. He
came to Washington township a poor boy. With no patrimony, he worked, bought
finlt three acres, and even when he purchased the tnnner~', about the yl'ar 1812, he
~a\'e his notes fur most of the purchn.se price. He married Sarah Fee, daughter of
ThoDULS Fee, one of the earliest pioneers of Felicity. From this union were born 'Vm.
S. Grl'gg,of Moscow; Sarah Ann, who died in her youth: Caroline N., who died young;
EIi:tnbeth, married to F. J. Philips; Eliza M., married to David Fenwick; Ln.mim, mn.r­
ried to Hon. John Johnston, a prominent lawyer of Cincinnati; Laura F., married to
R. Kin~ell; Jose E., unmarril'd; and the late George 'V. Grl'gg,all attorney of Batavia,
Ohio, who was the seventh child. George Gregg died Jan. 12, 1862, and his wife,
Sarah, Jan, I, 18n. lIe wa~ out in tbe war of 1812 for over two months, and until
his company was disllanded owing to an overplus of recruits at that particuhu' time.
He opl"rated his famous tanSlud fur forts-three yearsanclup to 1855. People brought
from all part~ of the couutrS their hides to hi>! estaulishment to Le tau ned ; from
White Onk, Georgetown, Withalllsville, and otht'r distnllt points, and from White
Oak especially, many del'r-skins camll. 'fhe custom was to give half of a hide or
skin fur tanning the other half. George Gregg was a very systematic busiuess Ulan,
of rare critical judgment, allli ulltirlug energy. ne wouhl work hard all day and
thl'n ride horseback to B:\tavia of uighls to tmusnct business, return before morning,
and wOl'k all the next day.

He WIIS an honest, Christian man in all his intercourse with his fellow-men, and
his labors fur the Methodist Ep:scopnl Church were unexcelled by those of llny other
h~~'man in the county. About 1823 or '.4 the first" Gregg camp-meeting" was IlS­
tllllliMhed on his }Ilace, anti they were held for many sears thereafter. Ilis staMes,
his 1'llStures, his fields, and feed were ah\'a~'s open freo of all char~e for those lIIeet­
iugs, and fur over hn.lf a ceulur~' his fireside anti home was the hospitllble place where
tho itinerant circuit rider awl proachol'lllways tarried. Ho united with the 1I10th­
odist Episcopal Church after his marriage, and laboretl with I1llcollSing devotion in it
t,ll his death. He romoved to Moscow In 1848, butcoutiuuod active in business as long
lIS hll li,'ed. WlliI .. a thorough businl'ss man of ullflagj1;ing industry he possossed a
happy ,'ein of hUlllor, aud cllrrit,d his uoyish feelings of s~'llIpathyand Idn.lness into
his old age. Home WIlS a swe.'t placo til him, lind thore in his hllppy family he ap­
pellred In his noble Clu'istian churllcter nnd manhood. lIe began life poor; he ac­
cumulated a large estato In pel'!lonal and real property, but in all bis life of sll1lrp
business contact with the world he evor maintl~ined bis honor, and his life was ns
perfect and blameless l\S ever falls to mlln to I'njoy. The Impress of bis gnod work
iu bis M'~OUl'U ou l"arth live>! in the communlts, and bas hU'gely uidod ill shaping the

SARAH GREGG.

high moml tone of Clermont, Lut it also lives in his immediate family, in his children
and gmndchildren, found among our leading people in the front ranks of our best
society. For the half-century from 1810 to 11162 110 Ulan lived in this county who
occupied a more prominent businl'ss positiun, or was more zealous in religious labors
and works than George Grl'gg, whose hallowed memory will ever be enshrined in
the affections of a people who knew him only to love and revere.

SARA.H GREGG.
Sarah (Fee) Gregg, a noble Christian pioneAr mother, was born June 2.'>, 1789, in

Greene Co., Pll. She was a daughter of Thomas an,I Nancy (Reinart) }'eo, who in
1795 emigmted to near Augusta, Ky. In 1796 her father, Thomas, enme OVl'r to
Bullskin Cl'eek, where he lived tempornrily, and in 1799 removed to'Vashington,
Ky., but in 1800 located near Felicity, where he had purcha.qed the BrJan survey of
four hundred acres, on part of which thut town is situated. He hlld two sisters and
six brothers: 'Villiam, who laid out Felicity, and was early ill the Legislature;
Elijllh; Elisha; Elias; Jesse; and James. His father'~ ll11m.. was also Thomas.
These seven Fee brothers were all men of note, and frum them hnve desceOlIt'd
many of the leading professional and businl'ss men of tilt, count~·. To Thomlls and
Nancy (Reinart) Fee were born six sons: William, a captnin in the wur of 1812, and
who died at Urbana on his way hOllle; John, also in that wur. and who died at home
after his return, from disense contmcted in the service: Elisha, who died under a~e;
Thomas; Uobert; and Enos. To them were also born fonr girls: 1Iiargaret, mn.rried
to John nuchanan; Sllrah, mnrri ..d to George Gregg; Elizaheth, mllrried to Dr. A.
V. Hopkius; and Nancy, married to Dr. Leavitt T. Pease. No four women werl' bet­
ter or more widely known in Clermollt than these four sisterN, who stood in the
highest social positions of the county. Their brother, Robert Fee, was known
throughout the country as one of the earliest and boldest of the abolitionist pio­
neers, antI on whose head a price was laid by the minions of the slave power, then at
the zenith of despotic sway. lIIrs. Sa11lh (It'ee) Gregg united with the l\lethodist
Episcopal Church at the Collins cllmp-meeting, nl'Hr the old Bethel log church in the
vicinity of Bantam, in 1807, when and where she WllS jo~'fully converted. This
pioneer nnd great camp-meeting ground was more famous in those dllYs tban nil
other places of a similar character in America, on acconnt of the wonderful out­
pourings of God's spi!'it upon the listening thousands thnt would Ilnnually ,'ongrl'­
gate in its peaceful groves. This noble womnn wns a rt'gular communicnnt in tbe
cburch sixty-five yenrs, amI died in great }It'ace and comfurt Jlln. I, 187~, lll\villg
lived over fourscore yeal's a life of rare Christian excellence. She was a tlevot..d
helpmate to her husbl\nd, and her sainted cllllfllcter exercised a powerful influenct·
for good In society. Her bo~pitable house was the constllnt home ..fthe itinl'mnt~,

nnd on her hnsband's farm WIIS tile'" Gregg camp-meeting grounds," In twu differ­
ent sites and two different erll..q , where fUI' many ~'eal'8 thousands were brought to
repentance. She was a remllrkalJle woman in her force of character, hnd d(·cid..d
convictions, and performed great guod in the vine~'ard of her mnker. She loved the
cburch, but not in a bigoted sense, helieving it to he one of the chief instrumentali­
ties nnder Divine direction in mnking the wOl'ld happiol' and lwUer. Most bappy
WllS hel' home. nnd most dearly was' sill' lovt'd by dutiful children who were rClIn·d
and grow up u ndel' her benign nnd swt'et pl't·ct'pts. 'fhe oldt'st ch ild and son.
'Villiam S. Gregg, educated at Augusta Collej:!;t', and a man of brilliallt attainments,
schohlStic culture, and deserved popnlarit~· in the community, resides in the old
Gregg mansion In Moscow, with two of his sisters. Samh (Fee) Gr(·g:.: t'llUle (If II
family thnt WIlS early and honorably associnted with Clermont's historY,und Illurriell
into one of eqnal rt'nown. She lived to see religion nB8ume the lead in the civiliza­
tion of the world, nnd tllll connty she CII111e to when a little girl become grt'at in
population and dotted 1111 over with beautifull'difices where her loved Sa"ionr could
be praised and worshiped. Her marriage with George Grt'gg was most fOl'tnnate
and happy; the couple were peculiarly adapted to each other, and their nnion was
singularly blissful. In mllny II household the pions memory of this precious nnd
good woman is held in almost sacred veneration, and JUllny sweet ll.llsocilltlons lire
treasured up connecting hel' as the link between the pllSt and present century,
nnd IL~ the suinted piolll'er mother in Israel, whose remembmuce chl'ers till' IWlIrt
and refreshes the iuner spirit.
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1848.-Joseph Bltrkley, Peter Buntin, Dowty trtter.
1849.-William McMurehy, Hiram McRownn, Dowty Utter.
1850.-William Mc1\Iul'cby, Joseph Bt1l'kley, Peter Buntin.
1851.-Robert Smith, Joseph Barkley, Dowty Utter.
1852.-R·oberl Smith, Peter Buntin, Joseph Wood.
1853.-Lewis A. Logan, Rob~'rt Slmw, Robert Buchan!Ln.
1854.-Lewis A. Logan, Joseph BauDI, Robert BllehiLnnn.
1855.-A!Lron Beekelheimer, Enos L. Fcc, Rieh!Lrd Frazce.
1&5G.-J. J. Snider, W. 11. Wood, William Padgett.
18·57.-J. J. Snider, Samuel Lemon, William Padgett.
1858.-Joseph Barkley, Samuel L. Garrett, Daniel l\IcMilI!Ln.
185!J.-Joseph Barkley, Thomas Fletcher, Andrew Galbreath.
1860.-J. J. Snider, N. Y. Bacon, W. N. Beall. ,
18GI.-William Padgett, James r. Selby, Jared Lemar.
1862.-Joseph Page, JILmes 1. Selby, N. Y. Bacon.
18li3.--:-Jamcs H. Gatcs, JILwes I. Selby, N. Y. Bacon.
1864.-Isaiah Johnston, Stephen Conrey, James Trecs.
1865.-Joseph Barklcy, N. Y. Bacon, S. L. Garrett.
18G6-67.-J. J. Snider, William Padgett, S. L. Garrctt.
18G8.-J. J. Snider, James II. Gates, John II. Wood.
18G!J.-ThQmas Flctcher, ,James H. Gntes, John H. Wood.
1870.-Thomas Fletchel', N. S. Delano, W. II. Holter.
1871.-James I. Selby, N. S. Delano, Daniel McMillan.
1872.-James H. Gates, C. E. Debruler, Danicll\Iel\IilIltll.
1873.-James II. Gates, J. 1'. Bronson, Daniel Mcl\1i11nn.
1874.-James II. Gates, Joseph R. Wiley, Daniel Me1\IilIan.
1875.-Jallles 1. Selby, N. S. Delano, John Trees.
187li.-J. H. Gates, N. S. Delano, J. H. Wiley.
1877.-Josiah Woodrutr, N. S. Delano, Nathan Erskine.
1878.-J. It. WileJ', John Trees, Nathan Erskine.
1879.~J. H. Gates, J. H. Wood, Nathan Erskine.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1810-11, Lemuel Stephenson; 1812-13, Samuel Fee; 1814-17, Henry
H. Evans; 1818, Henry Gwynne; 181!J-22, Isaac Matts; 1823,
James M. Daughters; 1824-25, George Scott; 1826-27, Thomas
Fee; 1828,Joseph Gwy~ne; 1848, William S. Gregg; 1849, Joh"ll
H. Abrams; 1850-51, Elijah Utter; 1852, Robert Buchanan;
1853, John 1\1. Buntin; 1854, Z. P. Barber; 1855, J. H. Rust;
1856-57, Jacob Trees; 1858, John 1\L Buntin; 1859, W. H. Holter;'
1800, Jacob Trees; 1801-64, James Trissler; 1865, G. S. Turlin;
1806, James Trissler; 1867, John 1\-1. Buntin; 1868, Thomas L.
Padgett; 1869, John 1\L Buntin; 1870, J. L. Dawson; 1871,
James Trissler; 1872, William H. Buchanan; 1873, Charles
McMath; 1874, John M. Buntin; 1875, E. L. Moore; 1876-77,
R. W. Shinkle; 1878-79, William, S. Gregg.

TOWNSTIIP TREASURERS.

1810-11, William Fee; 1812-13, Israel Joslin; 1814-17, John Abrams;
1818, Henry H. Evans; 1819, David Stophelt; 1820-22, John
McWilliams; 1823-25, Turpin Daughters: 1826, Henry Jones;
1827-28, Isaac Matts; 1848-52, William P. Daughters; 1853-55,
David Moreton; 1856, W. P. Daughters; 1857, S. L. Garrett;
1858-61, John G. Gilfillin; 1862, D. McMillan; 1863-68, Robert
Buchanan; ] 86!J-72, James Trees; 1873, Thomas Fletcher; 1874
-77, Robert Buchanan; 1878, Daniel McMillan; 1879, G. W.
Gilfillin.

TOWNSHIP ASSESSORS.

1848-54, Fergus Morehead; 1855, Willia.m Barkley; 1856-57, S. A.
Gelvin; 1858, John 1\1:. Buntin; 1859, E. A. Utter; 1860, Joseph
Gwynne; 1861, N. G. Buntin; 1862-66, Joseph Gwynne; 1867,
A. J. Trees; 1868, D. P. Lancaster; 1869, N. Y. Bacon; 1870-75,
M. A. Wood; 1876, John W. Dixon; 1877, A. R. Williams;
1878-79, James IngraJD,

PUBLIC HIGHWAYS.

In the chapters on the general history of the county an
account of some of the eurly roads is given, from which it
will be seen that the principal highways remain essentially
as they were then laid out. For the improvement of the
roads, in 1809, appropriations were made, and the following

47

year the eight supervisors of the original township reported
that they had expended: Dowty UttCl', $8.95 j Elnathan
Sherwin, $65.11; Hugh McKibben, $7.05; John Rich­
ards, $10.90 j James Simmons, $22.00; David "'NoDd,
$11.75; Samuel Walraven, $40.72; Henry H. Dill, $74.63,
-or a total of $2<11.11.

In 1879, with the township reduced to less than one·half
its original area,"the same number of supervisors are main­
tained, and about $1000 expended annually. The roads,
consequently, are generally in good condition. Washington
has nearly twenty miles of improved I'oads or free pikes,
which were in charge of special superintendents from'1870 .
to 1873. These were George Wiley, Stephen Conrey,
Nathan Erskine, and Josiah Woodmff. There are no toll·
roads or railways, although the township voted $30,000 to
build a line through its territory. At Neville and Moscow
good shipping facilities are afforded.

, EARLY INDUSTRIES.

The mill erected by George Brown on Indian Cl'ee~, in
1802, was probably the first industry in the township which
employed water-power. It was a well-known mill in early
times, and passed from Brown into the hands of Benjamin
and later of Elijah Penn, who also had a store near by.
Subsequent owners were Aaron Behymer and A. Logan,
and the present proprietor is William ~uck. The water­
power has become so feeble that but little has here been
done lately until steam-power was supplied. On the same
stream, near the Monroe township line, Jesse Fee got in
operati~n mills about 1815, which were continued many
years. Here is now a saw-mill by J. C. Placard. On an
intermediate site Thomas W. Stephens had a saw-mill, the
machinery of which was transferred to Point Isabel. Some
time later Aaron Beckelheimer successfully operated saw­
and grist-mills on the north fork of Indian, which after­
wards became the property of J ame~ A. Sargent. Still
farther up this stream were Robb's mills.

On Bear Creek, about 1810, Josiah Pigman put up saw­
and grist-mills, which became the property of John McGraw
and others. The mills were burned down, but another large
frame was put. up, which yet stands, but which was never
supplied with machinery.

On Maple Run Robert Buchanan put up a saw-mill, after
1820, to which a grist-mill was added by"W. Beckelheimer.
It was last operated by Alexander Hanna, some time about
1870. Farther up this ·stream Levi Sprinkle had a saw­
mill, which was afterwards carried on by John Starks. In
1837, Richard Tucker had'a mill on sun'ey No. 892,
Thornton Rush one on No. 714, besides the foregoing
nawed.

In the eastern part of the township the tanning business
was carried on by the Jacksons soon after the settlement of
the township, and about the same time was established the
Gregg tannery on Indian Creck. It was carried on by
George Gregg until 1848, and at one time had forty vats.
Ou Bear Creek James Evans had a small tannm'y, and back
of Neville Jacob T. 11er had a well-known tannery. Other
industries abounded, some of which are noted in connection
with the village histories.
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POINT ISABEL

is the smallest village in Washington. It is located on the
rich uplands of the northe1'll part of the township, six miles
from M0SCOW, and a less distance from Felicity beill'r can·
nected with the former place by one of the bc~t-inl}~'o\'ed
roads in the county. The original land-owners here were
the Swope fillilily and Adam Smith. The latter sold his in­
terests to Michael E. Baum, the founder etf the villn!!;e, and
who died here nearly a hundred years of age. Pl'io; to the
laying out of the lots the place was kno,~·n as Pekin, and
it is yet so culled locully. The present and the proper
name was suggested by the intersecting roads here forminO'
a point of land on which the vil):we had its berYinnin:o I:> O'

Here, in the summer of 1845, Michael E. Baum laid out
28 lots and a street called Mill, running parallel with the
county road of Main Street. Point Isabel has two churches,
tllree stores, good mills, a number of mechanic-shops, and
about 150 inhabitants. The first home on the villarye ~ite

was built about 1838, by Shepard 'Voodmallsee, a black­
smith, who had also a shop: in which he carried on his
trade. John P. Constant, who had the first store, built
the second house, and the upper part of this buildinO' is
now occupied by the Odd-Fellows for a hall. Cons~ant
was in trade about fifteen years, and was succeeded by
Reason Tivis, Wesley McLain, A. J. Trees, and others.
At another stand William Elrod & Bros. opened a store
more than thirty years ago. Then came Terwillirrer and
:McWilliams, and other merchants have been H.I:>and J.
Holter, Holter & Penn, A. B. McKee, 'V. "N. Manning,
Joseph Page, E. G. Lane, Hans Holter,'and, since 1847,
G. F. McCullough. The latter has at present aSl?ociated
with him N. S. Stevens. L. S. Kinkead & Co. also deal
in general goods, and E. A. Hines in furniture.
. Some time about 1849 Michael E. Baum put up the
present steam saw-mill, and three years later a gl'ist mill
was added by Baum & Conrey. The present owners are
Mark and John Stephens, and that family has had control
of them many years. The grist~mill is supplied with three
runs of stones, and the establishment is one of the best in
this part of the county. Steam is the motive-power.

In 1841, 'V. N. Beall engaged nere at cabinet-making,
and continued until 1878. For almost the same lenrrth of
time Joseph Baum and his finnily have carried on black­
smithing, and \Vilford Reddick wagon~making. Daniel
Fee, Gideon Miller, and Thomas Ashley have also been
mechanics in these trades.

Dr. Thomas Swaney was the first physician; the present are
Dr. 1. H. Day, eclectic, aLd Dr. Asbury Canter, allopathic.
Dr. David \Vood died here ill practice, and other physicians
have been Drs. B. "White, J.Jcwis White, A. B. McKee" and
George Harvey. Nelson S. Stevens resides here as an at­
torney.

The Point Isabel post-office was established in 1848
with Jesse Pearce postmaster. Since 1865 S. F. McCul~

. lou~h has bee.n.in charge of the office, which has a. daily
mall from FehCIty. Other postmasters have been Hiram
McKown, John P. Constant, Reason Tivis, A. J. Trees,
H. S. Conrey, W. N. Beall, and J. 'V. McLain.

For ten years from 1849 the Pleasant Grove post-office
had all existence in Washington tgwnship. Joseph L.

Powell was the first postmaster, and J. 'r. Scott the last.
'rhe intermediate postmasters' were John J. Powell and
William Young.

NE\TILLE.

This is the oldest village in the township ancI one of the
oldest in the county. It is located on the Ohio, neal' the
southeastern part. of 'Vashin~ton, and was formerly a place
of' much more importance than at present. The buildin~ .
up of the village of Fostoria, almost directly opposite, in
Kentucky, and Moscow, on the river below, have diverted
the trade which formerly centered at Neville, and the village
is now dependent for its existence on a few miles of the
outlying country. It presents, in consequence, a. somewhat
decayed and neglected appearance, yet there are a number
of substantial residences, several good churches, good dry
streets, and half a thousand inhabitants.

Neville recei"ed its name fi'om its founder, Gen. Presley
Neville, who owned the entire survey on which it is located.
It was laid out in the spring bf 1808, t.hrough his agent,

. Jonathan Taylor, and originally contained a little more than
45 acres, 1 acm of which was reserved for a public square.
The lots contained one-fourth of an acre and were numbered
from 1 to 120. The streets were to be 5 poles in width,
and those running with the river were called Water and
Main, while the cross·streets wer~ called Walnut Neville, ,
Market, ~:[organ, and Coffee. Provision was made for a.
public landing, and formerly the bar at Neville was less of
an obstruction than at present, it being now very difficult
for boats to land at low stages of water.

An addition of 20 in-lots and 56 out-lots was made by
Gen. Neville in 1812, and subsequently the area of the vil­
lage was extended by building along the main road, on lots
not regularly platted.

Gen. Neville himself became a resident of the villacreI:>
some time about the time the addition was made livinO', I:>
in a large double hewed-log h-ouse, and his presence did
much to attmct immigranfs to this place. He had served
with great distinction in the Revolution, and was a man ot'
many fine points of character. Although a Virginian, he
came to the ,"illage from Alleghany Co., Pa., and thither
after his death was his body carried, it is said, to appear in
evidence in a case which affected the Neville estate; and
that this testimony of the dead relieved the heirs from great
loss. Several of his dau~hters, also, died at Neville, and
others married William Byrns and Nathaniel Wilkins. One"

'of his sons, Presley, entered the navy, and another l\1orlyan, 1:>'

became a citizen of' Cincinuati, where he was a banker.
In 1837 the village of Neville contained houses, stores,

and ,vare-rooms, owned by William F. Borrodaile, Samuel
Bisphan, Nancy Bagby, Turpin Daughters, Stephen Davis,
J. K. Daughters, John Eskern, Israel Foster John Fletcher, -,
Sarah Griffith, Charles H. Gould,Amos Hill, James Hughes,
Mathew Hastings, Elijah Larkin, Elisha. Manning, James
Land ·William l\'Ielvin, Morgan Neville, Jemima Pigman,
W. C. Plummer, John Swa.yne, Ludovico Wild, and William
\Ventzell.

NEVILLE MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

Although invested with corporate privileges by u special
charter, granted many years ago, the organization of the
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.present village government dates from 1854. Whatever
records were made prior to that date have been destroyed;
and for many years but little more has been done by the
board of village officers than to keep up its organization by
going through the forms of an annual election. Nothing
more than the names of these officers is deemed worthy of
r'cproduction here. These were:

MAYORS,

1854, Elijah Larkin; 1855, John W. Larkin; 1856-57, E. Buvinger;
18.58, John Shinkle; 1859, N. G. Buntin; 1860, H. Henderson;
1861, J. P. Bronson; 1862, E.l\IeFarland; 1863, James T.l\Ic1­
vin; 1864, Robert l\fcLaughlan; 1865, J:un.es T. Melvin; 1866­
67, N. Y. Bacon; 186S, Jamcs II. Smead; 1869, William Drake;
1870, John P. Shinkle; 1871-72, Austin Woods; 1873, James T.
Melvin; 1874-77, S. A. Gelvin; 1878-79, N. Y. Bacon.

RECORDERS.

1854, E. Utter; 1855, J. W. Parker; 1856, Daniel McMillan; 1857,
Han'cy Borrodaile; 1858-60, A. S. Pigman; 1861, A. J. Abbott;

. 1862, S. M. Wilmarth; 1863-66, E. Etter; 1867, Robert McLaugh­
Ian; 1868, J. O. Dltughters; 1869, A. A. Dorsey; 1870-7], J. O.
Daughters; 1872-7:3, G. S. F:lrley; ]874-75, J. O. Daughters;
1876-77, R. Utter; 18i8-79, R. H. Askern.

VILLAGE TRUSTEES.

1854.-Robel't Wardlow, R. S. Pigman, Jacob IIouts, M. G.McCarter,
Samuel l\1c:\Inth. '

1855.-1\1. G. McCarter, P. E. Rust, W. R. Smith, A. S. Pigman, N.
Y. Bacon.

1856.-John Cord, John Drake, R. Wardlolv, J. P. Bronson, W. II.
Wood.

1857.-Daniel McMath, James McVay, O. Primmer, A. J. Kennedy,
J. J. lIouts.

1858.-Daniel McMath, John Drake, John Gunn, O. Primmer, J. B.
Wheeler.

1859.-John Drake, John Cord, A. J. Abbott, Daniel Mcl\Iath, E.
. Buvinger.

1860.-Danicl McMath, E. Buvinger, Jamcs Smead, Andrew Miller,
P. B. Hcizcr.

1861.-Henry Finnegan, John W. Redmond, John HeiEer, J. H. Smead,
J. II. Kain.

1862.-J. II. Smc:td, J. H. Kain, J. Heiser, H. H. Ferguson, J. W.
H.cdman.

1863.-John Wilmath, A. Redmond, F. Buvinger, John McMath,
Gcorge Schock.

1864.-N. Y. Bacon, A. Redmond, E. A. Utter, John McMath, James
F.l\fch·in.

1865.-N. Y. Bacon, Alcx. Redmond, Georgc Shock, F. H. Blair, A.
Schlottcrbeck.

1866.-John McMath, E. A. Utter, William B. McKee, George Schock,
A. Schlotterbeck.

1S67.-William R. McKee, John McMath, A. Schlotterbeck, John·K.
Brown, W. II. Ferguson.

1868.-John Drake, R. L. Johnson, Samuel McMath, John Camerer,

J. G. Case. •
1869.-J. l\:I. Johnson, Edward Bul'inger, William Camerer, A.

Schlotterbeck, Daniel McMillan.
1870.-John Drake, J. H. Smead, John Camerer, Samuel Hastings,

John Ie Brown, James P. Bronson.
1871.-W. L. Dr~ke, William Redmond, William L. Camerer.
1872.-E. V. DOWDS, J. P. Bronson, John Camerer.
18i3.-N. S. Hill, William C. Nash, Richard Askren.
18'i.!.-E. V. DOWDS, Thomas Jones, S. H. Melvin.
1875.-Richard Askren, William C. Nash, Alcx. Redmond.
18i6.-E. V. Down~, Gcorge Schock, S. H. Melvin.
1877.-A. Redmond, R. II. Askren, S. l\-Ic~fath.

lS78.-T. Jones, W. KirkpQ-trick, George Schock.

GENERAL nUSINESS INTERESTS.

Tradition says that Arthur Stewart had the first store at
Neville some ti.me about 1812, and that ·William Doane
was a merchant not long after. Levi and Joshua Pigman

were extensive merch~nts before 1820, transacting a heavy
river trade. Of no less importance was the busi0'3sS of
Israel li'oster ~nd his partner, John Miller. They owned
a large warehouse, an~ loaded many boats with the produce
of the country, which was brought from remote points in
Clermont and Kentucky. He afterwards founded the
village of Fostoria, and as that place had a g~d landing
it soon became a rival of Neville. Before this Neville
usually supported three good stores, and among other mer­
chant"s were Daniel l\Icl\fillan (for twenty years), William
Parker, T. D. Rosser, Redmond & Co., William F. Burdell,
~ames E. Parker, John Fletcher, Abbott & Bro., Wardlow
& McMath, Johnson & McCarter, and the present mer­
chants are McMath & Son aud John G. Fischer.

William Wenzell' kept apublic-house from 1823 to 1865,
Edward Buvinger had a bouse of entertainment from 1860
for a few years, and since 1868, J. G. Fischer has kept a
public-house.

At the east end of the village was, in the early history
of Neville, an ox-mill for grinding gmin. About 1830 the
property passed into the hands of Hunt & Pratt, who built
the brick buildings in that locality, designing. the larger one
for a hotel, but it was never occupied for that purpose. The
mill was also enlarged, and steam-power applied, giving it
a good capacity. Then Carlos Gould and Turpin Daugh­
ters became the proprietors, and procuring a larger engine,
also commenced the business of distilling grain. They sold
to ·William Davis & Co., who doubled the capacity and
added a saw-mill. In 1848 that firm failed, and David
Gibson & Co. became the proprietors, who again greatly
increased the capacity, until 1000 bushels per day might be
distilled. Orr & J..Iewis conducted the business next, and
the last was John P. Levis, the distillery burning down soon
after 1870. The business occupied large buildings, and
while it was carried on employment was given to many
men, and much activity was displayed at Neville.

Among the minor industries were a cut-nail factory by
Elijah Penn, about 1816, ·and later, a castor-oil mill by
'Vheeler & Hayford, who cultivated about 10 acres of beans
but soon abandoned the experiment. Turpin Daugh­
ters had, about 1830, a large shop for the manufacture of
fUl'lliture, which was carried on after 1840 by John K.
Daughters fifteen or twenty years longer. From 1834 to
1847, Daniel McMillan had a wagon-factory, which gave
employment to 8 or 10 hands. . The work was sent to
the Southern market. From 1865 to 1870, Edward Bu­
vinger had a shop for the manufacture of w~)Oden stirrups,
in which half a dozen hands were engaged, and since that
period the manufacture of barrels lIas been the chief in­
dustry.

Among the early physicians were Drs. Meigs and Fenn,
both able practitioners. Dr. W. P. Kincaid was here
many years, and his successor was the present Dr. N. S.
Hill. R. Utter is an attorney at Neville.

In 1819, Elijah Larkin took charge of the Neville post-·
office, and served until 1845, when ·William P. Kincaid
was appointed. Two years later Daniel Mc~:lillan was ap­
pointed, and in 1851, Elijah Larkins again became post­
master. Since that time the appointees were: 1855, Robert
Wardlow j 1857, W. F. Borrodaile; 1869, Ml·S. H. Borro-
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daile; 1871, N. S. Hill; 1877, J. ,Y. :McFarland. The
offiee is supplied with a daily mail.

:MOSCOW.

This is the largest village in the township, and one of the
most thriving in the county. It was laid out on the An­
derson survey, No. 391, on the second bank of the Ohio,
where Ray's Run empties into that stream, and the plat was
recorded July30, 1816, by Owen Davis, through his attorney­
in-fact, John Payne. It embraced 160 lots, each 32 perches
in size, and 16 out-lots, each containing 1 acre. A tract
of land, equal to 8 lots, was set apart for the use of a"
court·house and jail, and such other public buildings as the
commissioners of the county might SeC fit to erect. Out­
lot No.1 was expressly set aside for a meeting-house and
burying-ground for the usc of that sect of Christians which
should think proper to build upon it first. In-lot No. 125
was set aside for a school·house. The first and the second
banks of the river were to constitute commons for the
people, but the proprietor reserved to himself the right to
establish ferries across the Ohio within the village bounds.
The streets mnning parallel with the river were called
'Water, Second, Third, Fourth and Fifth, and intersecting
streets were named Wells, Elizabeth, Walnut, and Broad­
way.

On the 7th of May, 184:9, C. W. Grames and D. De
Forest laid out an addition of lots, numbered from 169 to
328, and streets named Elm and Maine; and July 5, 1875,
George Harvey subdivided out-lots Nos. 3 and 4. The
area of the village has been further increased by suburban
extensions.

In 18] 7, John Payne caused to be erected two large
brick houses, on the corner of Main and Front Streets, for
hotel and store purposes, and a third house on the square
above for a residence. These it was thought would give
the place some importance in the eyes of those who were
asked to invest in village lots. At intervals that year boats
brought prospective buyers froin Cincinnati, many of whom
purchased lots. But even with the prospect of having suc­
cessful manufactories the growth of the village wu.s so un­
promising that a number of lots were forfeited for tuxes,
and the Moscow of to-day has been built up within the
last thirty years. In that period of time a number of sub­
stantial business blocks have been erected, an elegant school
edifice and fine churches provided, and 11ere are now hun­
dreds of contented people, noted for their enterprise and
love of law and ordcr, characteristics which have given
Moscow pre-eminence among the villages of Southern Ohio.
In 1837 the owners of houses and shops at :Moscow :vere
Edward BeaId, J. H. Parker, L. C. Duncan, Thomas Fee,
Daniel Fletcher, Jesse Fee, John Gilfillin, Lane Wright,

. Philip Mains, Edward McFarland, William M. Naylor,
John Perin, David Welch, and A. J. Shelley.

:i\IOSCOW MUNICIPAL GOYERNl\IENT.

'fhe village was incorporated by a special act of the
General Assembly, but prior to 1855 little of this part of
its history has been preserved. In the meagre records at
hand appear the names, in 184:7,_of Mayor James H.
Whittaker and Recorder John C. Robinson i in 1852,

Mayor J. Stewart and Recorder F. C. Smith; in 1853,
Mayor .James McMath and Recorder J. H. Moore.

In 1855 a reorganization of the village government fol­
lowed under the terms of the new constitution and the
general hiw relating to this subject; the street corners were
fixed and the village resurveyed. That year and at sub­
sequent periods ordinances for the welfare of the village
were enacted: to afford protection against fire; to provide
simple apparatus; 1.0 provide public scales; to preserve
order and to protect the marshal in the discharge of his
duties; to regulate the ferry, to improve and regulate the
wharf, and to provide a boat for the same; to improve
the streets and build sidewalks; to license shows, dealers in
merchandise, and to regulate the sale of liquors.

The public good has been materially promoted since the
village has been incorporated, and the place, in consequence,
y?arly assumes a more substantial appearance.

The village officers fl'Om 1855 to the present time (1879)
have been the following:

1855.-MayOl·, Henry Walker; Recorder, A. C. l\Ioore; Trustees,
William .Johnston, John Fletcher, James Hopple, John W.

. Hood, anti E. L. Fee; Trellsurer, William 1\1. Fce; Marshal,
.James Dl'bruler.

1856.-l\Iayor, David Decker; Recorder, 'V. S. Gregg; Trustees,
Hiram Kelch, Joseph Dickson, Perry Lancaster, William
Gilfillin, nnd EdWlml Hughes; Treasurer, Nathan Keyt;
Mar5hal, William Dobwn.

185i.-.MaJor, James i\Iel\Iath; Recorder, William Johnston; Trus­
tee5, Harrison Pigman, P. E. ltU5t, William GilfilJin, D. F.
Fisher, Samuel Gwynne; Trcasurer, Nathan KeJt; Mar­
shal, David Welsh.

IR58.-Mayor, D. P. Lancaster; Recorder,.James McMath; Trustees,
William Fossett, William Cushard, John Hood, B. F. :Fisher,
and James E. l\Ioore; Treasurer, Naihan KeJt; Marshal,
S. Green.

1859.-1\1ayor, 13. F. Fisher; Recorder, William Johnston; Trustees,
John H. Wood, William 1\1. Fee, Joseph Powell, Samuel
Garrett, and A. J. Shelley; Treasurer, Nathan Keyt; Mar­
shal, Elijah Armacost.

1860.-1\InJor, John Fletcher; Recordcr, George W. Penn; TrQstees,
Hiram Kelch, Lewis Canny, Samuel GWJnne, E. Arma­
cost, nnd A. J. Shelley; Treasurer, Nathan Keyt; Marshal,
J ncob Phillips.

I86 l.-Ma.y or, Nath:m KeJt; Recorder, J. E. Moore; Trustees,
James McMath, J. W. Fee, G. W. Penn, J. Garrett, John
Flctcher; Treasurer, T. Flclehcr; 1\Iarshal, William I!'oslOett.

1862.-Mayor, Nathan Keyt; Recorder, W. S. Gregg; Trustee:-,
Thomas Fletcher, George W. Penn, William Cushard, A. 1'.
Shelley, nnd P. E. Rust; Treasurer, T. Fletcher; Marshal,
James S. Debruler.

1863.-lV1ayor, John W. Fee; Recorder, W. S. Gregg; Trustees, A.
E. Motier, James Leonard, Dayid 'Velsh, John Glazier,
and James Mcl\Iath; Treasurer, P. E. Rust; Marshal,
James S. Debruler.

1864.-:-M:tyor, James :i\Icl\Iath; Recorder, W. M. Fee; Trusteell,
Jamcs Garrett, J. W. Penn, J. W. Hood, W. H .. Cushard,
and John Glazer; Treasurer, P. E. Rust; Marllhal, E. C.
Debruler.

1865.-Mayor, W. S. Gregg; Recorder, J. w. :Fee; Trustees, W. H •
Cushard, .James Garrett, B. F. Penn, William Fossett,
and James McMath; Mltrshnl, James Day.

1866.-1\Inyol', B. F. Penn; Rccorder, E. Hughes; Trustees, B. F.
Fisher, J. W. Penn, Louis Camry, James McCune, Gcorgo
lIarvey; Marshal, Joseph Dny_

lS67.-1\Iayor, James McMath; Recorder, W. S. Gregg; Trustces,
Gcorge Harvey, B. I!'. Penn, David Fenwich, Louis Camry;
Treasurer, John W. Fcc; .l\Iarshal, Joseph Day.

1868.-l\Iayor, James McMath; Recorder, W. S. Gregg; Trustees,
George J(lu'veJ', A. J. Shelley, Louis Camry~ David Fen­
wick; Mnrshal, J oseph Day.
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1869.-Mayor, Jared Lemar; Recorder, W. S. Gregg; Trustees,
Josiah Woodruff, William Irwin, E. C. Debruler, J. W.
Penn, and Wm. Cushnrd; Treasurer, B. F. Fisher; Mar­
shal, Joseph Barker.

1870.-Mayor, D. P. Lllncaster; Recorder, Edwnrd Hughes; Trus­
tees, Peter Buntin';;! E. C. Debruler,;i! J. W. Penn,* Willinm
Irwin, A. J. Shelley, and E. L. Moore j Treasurer, B. F.
Fisher; Marshal, Jacob IIouta.

18,71.~Mayor, D. P. Luneaster; Recorder, W. S. Gregg; Trustees,
James McMath, J. W. Fee, 'William Johnston, Josiah
Woodruff.

1872.-Mayor, Jobn W. Dixon; Recorder, 'Wm. Johnston; Trustees,
Charles E. Cusbard, Frederick Hirling, James Ingrnm,
Peter Buntin; Treasurer, B. F. Fisher; Marshnl, M. De­
mnris; Solicitor, James C. McMath.

1873.-Ma:ror, W. M. Fee; Recorder, Robert L. J obnston; Trustees,
W. S. Gregg, Louis Camry, and A. A. Dorsey; Treasurer,
B. F. Fisher; l\Iarllhal, Jnmes S. Debruler.

1874..-Mayor, W. M. Fee; Recorder, R. L. Jobnston; Trustees, A.
J. Shelley, S. W. Green, and Charles Cushanl.

I 875.-Mayor. D. P. Lancaster; Recorder, R. L..Jobnston; Trustee!',
G. S. Mnnning, E. C. Debruler, and G. M. Hughes; Treas­
urer, B. F. Fisher; Marshal, John N. Fcc.

1876.-Mayor, D. P..Lancnster; Recorder, R. L. Johnston; Trustees,
C. E. Cushard, L. Green, and A. J. Shelley; Trensurer, B.
F. Fisher; l\Iarshal, John Rose.

1877.-MayOl·, D. P. I,ancnster; Recorder, R. L. Johnston; Trustees,
A. A. Dorsey, J. W. Fee, and C. P. McKibben.

1878.-l\Inyor, Hobert L. Johnston; Recorder, S. H. Grimes; Trus­
tees, W. D. Cole, J. W. Webb, and C. E. Cushard; Treas­
urer, B. F. Fisher; Marshal, G. W. Purkiser; Street Com­
missioner, Joseph Barl{er.

1879.-The trustees or councilmen elected were A. A. Dorsey, John
W. Fee, and E. C. Debruler, the other officers being those
elected in 1878.

MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.

The most important manufacturing interest the place has
ever had was the glass-works, established in July, 1823,
by the firm of Pugh & Teater, the former being the father
of Senator George E. Pugh. The fhctory was on the south
side of Ray's Run, on the farm now. owned by L. German.
Hei'e a large tract of land had been purchased by Henry
Teater and Lot Pugh, which was densely timbered, the
wood being utilized in the manufacture of glass: It was
cut into two-foot lengths, called "shyders," and had to be
kiln-dried before, it could be uscd, and was burned in con­
nection with coal brought from Pittsburgh. The sand was
brought from a point nine miles abovc Cincinnati, and was
conveyed hither in flat-boats to a landing near the factory.
The building was of stone, of large dimensions, and was
two stories in height. The principal product was window­
glass, although a limited (luantity of hollow-ware was made.
In the various branches of the business about fifty men were
employed, and James Hartshorn, of Moscow, was one of the
men employed in the factory. For the accommodation of
the men twelve log buildings were erected on the river-bank
near the works, but the proprietors and William Hood, the
box-maker, lived in the village of Moscow. The works were
carried on till about 1830, when Henry Teater, who had
become sole proprietor, remo\'ed them tv \Vheeling. 'rhe
building was converted into' a distillery by James Metcalf,
and was operated by various parties until its destruction by
fire. Part of the walls have been made to do service for a
farm-house. For the past three years A. Kaiser & Co.

• For two years.

have carried on the distilling business, occupying several
large buildings in the eastern part of the village. ,

In 1843, Hicks & J..Iemar got in operation a steam saw­
mill at Moscow, which had a capacity of 8000 feet per day.
In the course of a few years it became the property of
John, William, and Alexander Gilfillin, who erected, in
connection, a grist-mill with three runs of stones. It was
destroyed by fire, and another mill built by Webb & Bu­
vinger, first as a saw-mill, and a grist.mill subsequently
added. The combined mills are yet operated by Capt.
William Irwin. The common mechanic trades are well
represented at Moscow, and to them the manufacturing in­
terests are at present limited, with the exceptions noted.

THE GENERAL BUSINESS

of Moscow began with a small store, which was kept by
Pugh & Teater, in 1823, and the half·dozen years follow­
ing, in one of tho corner buildings erected by John Payne.
Here afterwards Thomas Fee was in trade manx years, and
afterwards Robert and Enos Fee, who were extensively en­
gaged in merchandising. Nathan Keyt was also a pioneer
merchant, !lnd the firm of Keyt & Thrasher were favorably
known as merchants, being engaged in trade about 1837.
Near t.he same timc John Gilfillin had a store on the upper
part of Front Street. Among other mercantile firms were
B. P. Thrasher, Keyt & Scott, James McMath, DOWDS &
Fee, Fee & Smith, Joseph Powcll, James E. Moore, and
Penn Brothers. In 1879 the business firms were B. F.
Fisher, ,V. M. Fee (each for'a quarter of a century), Mc­
Math & Grimes; Fred. Hirli n'g and Barney 'Wolf, general
merchants; R. L. Johnston, drugs; J. P. Marvin, hard­
ware; J. A. Metcalf, harness; A. A. Dorsey, shoes; L.
'Ventzell, grocer; A. J. Shelley, merchant tailor (since
1836); Mc~lath & Grimes, B. F. Fisher, pork-packers;
A. D. Hopkins, :l\'Iorgan & Pattison, Carnes & Lively, D.
P. Moreton & Brother, tobacco deal~rs; J. W. Webb,
coal dealer.

Aquilla Judd was ahattcr at Moscow as early as 1823,
and the same family of Judds have always kept the ferry
from Moscow to the Kentucky shore. One of the earliest
hotels was kept by Wright Lane, some time about 1830,
in the corncr building opposite the Fee store. Daniel Per­
rine, Martin :Frazier, John Dick, 'William Fossett, James
Hartshorn, Fred Ahrens, and J. G. Dick were also among
the hotel-keepers, the latter keeping the present Moscow
House.

The Deposit Bank of Lemar & McMath was established
in May, 1875, by Jared Lemar and James McMath, and
the banking business has since been carried on by them.
The firm has a good reputation, and the business is yearly
increasing. The .1lfoscow Repor,ter, an occasional advertis­
ing sheet, is is::med by Marvin & Metcalf, and is the only
paper that has ever been issued in the village.

Nathan Keyt was the first postmaster of the Moscow
offi'ce, established in 1827 or about that time. Since that
time the officials of the office have been: 1829, William K.
Byrns; 18:·n, Joseph Gwynn; 1835, Samuel Kennedy;
]837, Martin Bayard; 1841, L. M. Wilcoxon;. 1849,
Thomas Fee; 1857, J. E. Moore; and 1865, James Mc­
Math.
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Moscow has never had any regular attorney resident
there for any length of time, but much of the legal busi­
ness was early transacted by Nathan Keyt, and of late
years by 'V. S. Gregg. Among the physicians were DI·s.
James Warren and E. L. Moore, at an early duy; Dr.
'Villiam Johnson, from 1838 till his death in December,
1876; Drs. L. N. 'Wilcoxon, John Moore, A. C. Moore,

.. 'V. E. Tucker, etc.; and the present physicians are Drs.
C. T. :McKibben, J. L. Moore, W. D. Cole, and Dr. AlIer­
dice, dentist. Dr. James Hopple resided at this place many
years, not in active practice; and at present Drs. George
Harvey and William C. Irwin reside here, retired.

SECRET OnDE RS.

The oldest society of this nature was instituted at New
Richmond in the latter part of 1843, as the NEW RICH"
1\lOND LODGE, F. and A. ]\f., and as such was chartered Oct.
25, 18·1,4, on the petition of R. Whitcomb, Milton Ken­
nedy, Thomas B. Young, Thomas Glisson, A. D. Wilson,
Edward Damarin, 'V. H. ~loss, Edward Goudy, Robert
Fcc, Martin Frazier, and Thomas Sallee. For several
years the meetings of the lodge were held at New Rich­
mond, but by resolution of the Grand Lodge of the State,
October, 1845, the name was changed to 'YASHINGTON
LODGE, No. 12~, F. and A. M., and after December the
meetings were to be held at Moscow. Jan. 8, 1846, the
first regular communication undel' this order was held with
R. Whitcomb, l\'l.ister; Thomas B. Young, Senior Warden;
and Robert Fee, Junior Wal'den. J ohn Bell was the first
person initiated at Moscow. On the 16th of June, 1853,
the name of the lodge was again changed, this time to its
present title, i\Ioscow LODGE, No. 122, F. and A. 1\1. For
some years the meetings were held in the old school-house,
over Edward Hughes' shop, and other places, until the
present hall was provided. April 22, 1854, the lodge de­
cided to erect a hall, and appointed Dr. William Johnston,
K L. Fee, and John 'V. Fee a building committee, who
were instructed, May 11 th of the same year, to add 11
feet as the third story to the seminary building, which had
just come into the possession of the school board of Mos­
cO\V'. This hall was dedicated Dec. 27, 1854, and has !!lince
been the home of the lodge. It has an attractive appear­
ance and is a credit to the lodge which, since it has occupied
it, has enjoyed remarkable prosperity. For many years Dr.
'Villiam Johnston and W. S. Gregg were the secretaries of
the lodge, and since 1877, Dr. C. F. McKibben has served
in that capacity. Other officers, in 1880, were James 1.
SelLy, W. M.; J. 1\1. Kinzie, S. 'V.; ,Y. K Fisher, J. ,Y.;
and Charles Kaiser, Treas.

Since the institution of the lodge the following have been
the Masters: 1843-46, R. Witcomb; 1847, Nathan Keyt;

·1848, Oli"cr Tatman; 1849, William Johnston; 1850,
13. P. ThraiShel'; J851, J. W. Whittaker; 1852-53, James

. Stewart; 1854-55, Edward Hughes, Jr.; 1856, William
Johnston; 1857, Edward Hughes, JI·.; 1858, Henry
Walkel'; 1859, William P. Hughes; 18t.i0-ti5, H~nry

Walker; 1~(:.a;, Edward Hughes; 18li7-68, 13. F. Fisher;
1869.....70, Edward Hughes; 1871-72, D. P. Lancaster;
1873-75, James 1. Selby; 1876, J~dward Hughes; 1877-

78, 'V. S. Trout; 1879, Edward Hughes; 1880, James
1. Selby.

A chapter of B.oyal Arch Masons was instituted at
Moscow, which was transferred to New B.ichmond, and its
history is given in the township of Ohio.

VESPER LODGE, No. 131, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted April 11, 18-1:9, at Neville,' with \V. P.·
Kincaid, 'V. E. Davis, Thomas McGuire, D. McMillen, and
L. W. Fee as charter members; but at the first few meet­
ings S. W. Kincaid, D. A. Bannister, D. C. McLaugh­
lan, George Fagan, Edward Davis, James Miller, David
McMath, Nicholas Miller, Newton Racord, William R.
Steward, Philip l\'Ieans, J oho Whipple, Augustus .Rob­
bins, John McMath, James :McGuire, John Cord, John
Gunn, George Whipple, 'Villiam McCoy, William L.
Tatman, M. G. McCarter, Robert 'Yardlow, Joseph
Mahan, John A. 'Vall, Thomas Jones, J. K. Daughters,
Asher Goslin, Samuel McMath, Benjamin Cooper, James
Stewart, Charles lieI', J. H. Wood, S. A. Gelvin, E. Utter,
and J. R.. Pigman beeame members. The lodge has at
present a membership of 29, but has initiated 104 mem­
bers, the de~rease being due to the formation of lodges
in neighboring villages. The lodge owns a very fine hall
and a cemetery of 3t acres of land, forming 270 lots,
located on a beautiful slope of the river-hills north of the
village. It was dedicated Sept. 18, 1875, with appropriate
exerciiies, the address being by the Rev. E. R. Hera, and a
reading by Miss Rachel Smith. The first interment was
Dec. 1, 1875,-a young girl, Cora A. Roush. The present
trustees are D. Mcl\~ilIan, 1\1. G. l\fcCarter, and N. S. Hill.

The Noble Grands from the organization of the lodge to
the present time hav.e been the following:

1849, W. P. Kincaid, Thomas McGuire; 1850, D.
McMillan; 1851, S. W. Kincaid, D. C. l\I<;Laughlan;
1852, Philip Mains, .J. W. Whipple; 1853, D. A. Ban­
nister, M. G. McCarter; 1854, Elijah Utter, Uobert 'Yard­
low; 1855, A. S. Pigman, J. R. Wheeler; 1856, John
Cord, D. McMillan; 1857, J .. J. Houts, J. P. Brunson;
1858, 1\1. J. Bacon, S. McMath; 1859, John McMath,
Daniel McMath; 1860, Samuel 'Vilmarth, P. B. Heizer;
1861, J. H. Wood, 'V. N. He~drickson; 1862, N. Y.
Bacon, J olm McMath; 1863, Hamer Blair, Charles Iler;
1864, A. Uedmond, J. 'V. McFarland; 1865, John P.
Levis, George Schock; 1866, L. W. Camerer, Andrew
Schlotterbeck; 1867,0.1\1. Primmer, E. V. Downs; 1868,
N. S. Hill, J. K. Brown; 1869, J. G. Case, Z. Connell;
1870, Charles Keizer, I!'. Heiman; 1871, R. H. Askren,
T. J. Gallagher; 1872, J. P. Brunson; 1873, A. B.. Daw­
son, McLain Garrett; 1874, B. G. Wood, Henry Ehren­
fels; 1875, J. G. Fischer, .Tohn Wells; 1876, E. Buvinger,
George Schock; 1877, N. S. Hill, J. P. Brunson; 1878,
Henry Stoobrd, Charles· Rice; 1879, John Roehm, C.
W. Glaser; 18~0, J.Jafayette Roush.

POINT ISABEL LODGE, No. 555,1. O. O. F.,

was instituted Aug. 7, 1873, and was duly incorporated
Aug. 20,1874. Among the early members were C. ,Y.
Page, J. Ii'. Jane, E. J. Prather, J. H. Gates, F. A. John­
son, O. P. Tatman, J. Baum, J. W. Donley, George Lane,
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T. L. Conrey, O. 1\1. Swope, L. F. Swope, F. J. Miller,
William Luck, J. H. Peters, J. Hildebrandt, H. Fitz­
patrick, C. L. Smith, S. F. Smith, and "William A. Pool.
At present there are i:l6 members, and W. "N. Ford, Noble
Grand. Other Noble Grands from the organization of the
lodge have been J, H. Gates, F. A. Johnson, O. M. Swope,
J:. ~aum, J. H. Gates,Jr., I.J. F. Swope, John Hilde­
brand, J. H. Patterson, John 'V. Smith, William McQuitty,
T. L. Conrey, and F. 1\1. Ellis. The lodge is doing a good
work, and is generally prosperous.

:MO~COW LODGE, No. 511, I. O. O. F.,

was instituted May 16, 1872, on the petition of Charles
Kaiser, :b'. Hirling, L. Wentzle, J. H. Hartshorn, F. Birkey,
F. Armes, J. Boos, H. Stuckert, G. Reinhart, P. T. Cox,
John Keller, and soon after this the following became mem­
bel's: Eugene Moore, Charles McMath, Sylvester Shelley,
Luther Scott, E. O. Demaris, E. J. Manning, Jesse Ben­
nett, Elijah Armacost, Thomas Purdy, John 'V. Moorhead,
John B. Trees, "William Luck, L. A. Kinkead, A. W.
Gilfillin, A. A. Tl'ee~, A. A. Dorsey, C. L. Harding, 'Vil­
limn Pool, T. M. Hughes, and James Lemar. Fifty-five
persons have been initiated, and at present 46 members
belong. On the 9th of June, 1874, the lodge was incor­
porated under the laws of the State with John Manning,
A. GilfilIin, and Thomas Fletcher, trustees. The first
meetings were held in the Boos Block, but subsequently a
very fine hall in the new addition to the school edifice was
secured. The main room is 26 by 53 feet, and the usual
anterooms are 12 by 13 feet. In its spaciousness and com­
fortable surroundings the hall is not excelled in the county.
The present Noble Grand is James Ingram, and others who
have filled this office have been Charles Kaiser, George
Reinhard, Joseph Boos, P. T. Cox, Charles Manning, Syl­
vester Shelley, A. A. Trees, L. S. Kinkead, A. W. Gil­
fiIIin, Charles McMath, T. 1\1. Hughes, Thomas Fletcher,
..w. D. Cole, and James Lemar.

GLOBE ENCAMPMENT, No. 215, I. O. O. F.

This society was instituted at Moscow, June 10, 1878,
with James H. Kinkead, Robert II. Grimes, Aug. 'V.
Gilfillin, P. T. Cox, James \V. Ingram, Charles :\lcMath,
and E. J. Manning as charter members.

Since that time have joined W. D. Cole, James E. Shel­
ley, Frank B. 'Vatson, Homer Howe, James W. Coons,
James H. Hartshorn, and H. H. Wetzell.

A. W. Gilfillin was the first Chief Patriarch., and Charles
McMath at present fills that office.

CLERMONT LODGE, No. 14, A. O. U. W.,

was organized at Moscow, Oct. 2-1, 1873, with the follow­
ing officers: E. L. Moore, P. M. W.; Charles Kaiser, M.
W.; Joseph Boos, G. F.; E. J. Manning, R. j P. T. Cox,
F. j Fred. I':lirling, Rec. j Jesse Bennett, O. ; George Peter­
son, G. j George, Pigman, S.; Hiram Carnes, Anthony
Sylvester, and Thomas Fletcher,Trustees. There were
besides 16 associate members. At one time the lodge had
43 members, but the present number is only 1.(.1:. . In April,
1878, Philip Reisinger, one of the' members, died, and his
assurance of $2000 was paid Aug. 2," 1878. Although

the membership has decreased, the general interest of the
lodge bas been well maintained. Joseph Boos has been the
Recorder almost continuously, and the Master Workmen
have been Charles Kaiser, Joseph Boos, P. T. Cox, S. L.
Garrett, George Pigman, Herman Roedesheimer, Thomas
Fletcher, Charles Schmidt, A. Sylvester, Fred. Hirling,
and Frank Denkinger.

EDUCATIONAL.

U~der the first school law the trustees of the township
of' V\Tashington drafted a plan of the township, to consist
of eight districts, to be bounded and numbered .as follows:

No. I.-To begin 'at the lower corner of said, township,
on the Ohio River, running thence up the river to the
mouth of Bear Creek; thence to Alexander Phillips', in­
cluding him j thence to Joseph Gwynne's, excluding him j

thence, including Nathan Morgan's, to MOll1'oe township.
No. 2.-To begin at the mouth of Bear Creek to the

mouth of 'Villow Creek j thence, including the same, to
Morgan Neville's upper line; thence, with the snme, to the
top of the river-hill; thence, with as straight a line as may
be, to include ]~van Thomas and Squire Frazee; thence
to Alexander Phillips'.

No. 3.-To begin at the mouth of Willow Creek, run­
ning up the river to Franklin township line j thence with
the line to the crossing of Willow Creek; thence down
said creek to the upper line of district ~o. 3.

No. 4.-To begin at the crossing of 'ViIlow Creek on
the Franklin township line, running 'thence with said line
to Daniel Camerer's, to exclude him; thence with the Cin­
cinnati road to Catharine Buchanan's, excluding her j

thence passing John :\fc}JackIin's place, excluding it, and
including George Maines' j thence to intersect the back
line of No.2.

No. 5.-'fo begin at Catherine Buchanan's, includin~

her; thence to George Richard'El, including him, to Seat­
on's saw-mill; thence to 'Villiam Curry's, including him;
thence to Monroe township line j thence with said line to
No. 1.

No. 6.-To begin at Seaton's saw-mill j thence to Rich~

ard Sapp, including him j thence passi!lg and excluding:
Beckleheimer's mill; thence to Monroe township line, in­
cluding Isaac Clark j thence with Monroe township line
to the line of No.5; thence with the same to the begin­
ning.

No. 7.-To begin at Seaton's saw-mill; thence to Mary
Ann Holter, including her j thence to Nathaniel Glasgow,
including him j thence to Henry Swope, excluding him;
thenc~ o~ the Franklin tow~ship line to David C~merer;
thence with. a line of No.4 to George Uichards' land j

thence to the place of beginning.
No. 8.-To begin at Henry Swope's j thence with the

Franklin township line to the northeast corner of 'Yash­
ington township; thence with the back-line of 'Vashing­
ton· township to Monroe township, to the corner of No.6;
thence with the lines of Nos. 6 and 7 to the place of begin­
ning.

Dmfted April 29, 182G, by Elijah T.Jal'kin, Elijah Fee,
and John Buchanan, trustees, and Thomas Fee, clerk.

The first school in the township; and probably the first
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in the county, was taught in the house of J udge John
'Vood, from 1805 to 1810, by Charles Humphries, an Irish­
man, who afterwards became Governor ofLouisiana. Among
those who attended were Jonathan D. Morris, J. G. Rogers,
Hobert Fee, and David Wood. He was an excellent teacher,
and inspired his young pupils with an ambition which
caused them all to become useful men. Other pioneer
teuchers were Nathan Keyt, Thomus Fee, Thomus Erskine,
O. C. Evans, and John McWilliams.

In 1879 the 'Vashington board of' education was com·
posed of N. S. Deluno, President; W. S. Gregg, Secretary;
James :K Slack, Frank Zugg, James 1\1. Cruse, Samuel
Garrett, Darius Littleton, John J. :l\Iears, James ·Ward,
George F. McCullough, James H. Gates, and F. M. Trees.

In the township, not including Neville and Moscow,
$2564.07 were paid to teachers as salary for the twenty.six
weeks of school taught, the average salary being $30 per
month. The number of pupils attending the different
schools were 434 whites and 27 colored, the latter being
provided with a school·house Ileal' the Calvary church.

TIlE ?llOSCOW UNION SCIlOOL.

The first school-house in Moscow was a log building
which was put up in 182:-3, and which was abandoned in
18:l9, when the brick house, which is yet used by Fred
Hirling as a bakery, was erected for school purposes.
About 1845, Francis Hamlin, of Maine, established the
1\1oscow Seminary in a building which the 1\1oscow school
bourd secured in 1854, and on which the Masons placed
the third story soon after. This then became the school
building, and continued to be used until 1875, when the
fine front to the old house was erected, and which has since
been occupied by the four schools of the village. The
village decided, June 4, 1875, by a vote of 59 to 11, to
erect this addition, giving the Odd-Fellows the privilege to
occupy the third story, if they should decide to erect one.
In its general appearance the house compares favorably
with other school edifices in the county, and has ample
capacity to meet a possible demand for more room as the
system of the village expands. In 1879 the teachers were
paid $1435 for their services, the principal being Professor
H. E. Holton, who has occupied that position since 1873.
Other principals since 1859 have been Professors Frambes,
Tome, McNeal, Dobson, Laycock, 'Voods, Irwin, and Neal,
as well as Miss Liua Keyt.

Hegarding the organization of the Moscow union school,
but little can be ~aid. No records are available prior to
1873, when the board of education was composed of E. J.
l\lanII ing, President; J. H. Hartshorc, Clerk; B. F.
Fisher, Treasurer; and Frederick Hirling, William Cush­
ard, and Josiah Woodruff. In 1879 the board was com­
posed of James 1. Selby, President; R. L. Johnston,
ClerK; J. ~. Hartshorn, Treasurer; U. T. McKibben, E.

.L. Moore, and Edward Hughes.

NEVILLE VILLAGE SPECIAL DISTRICT

has records fro III April 1-1, 1862, when C. 'V. Short, S.
A. Gelvin, and S. 1\1. WilulUrth composed the board of
education, the latter serving as clerk. 1.'he board has never
had more than three members, and the following persons were

yearly elected to a. place in the board, in the ordee named
from 1863: C. 'V. Short, ~. A. Utter, John P. Levis,
N. Y. Bacon, J. 1\1. Johnson, George Schock, Samuel1\1c­
l\Iath, John Drake, George Short, Thomas Jones, J. O.
Daughters, N. S. Hill, N. Y. Bacon, E. V. Downs, N. S.
Hill, John Brophy, E. V. Downs, 'V. L. Drake. The
district maintains two schools in separate buildings, and
pays about $600 yearly for instruction. In 1879 thirty
weeks of school were maintained, attended by 104 pupils.·
Among the teachers are recollected the names of J. P.
Norris, Austin 'Voods, T. 1\1. B,trton, Mattie Simons, A.
S. Dunn, J. F. Bennett, and Anna Bennet~.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

The Methodists were the first to maintain regular public
worship in the township. The earliest settlers ent.ertained
that. filith, and at the house of one of them, Thomas Fcc,
t~e pioneer meetings were held as early as 1800. Although
regular preaching was maintained at this place and in the
beautiful forests near by, in the summer season, it was some
years before a consecrated house of worship was provided,
the members attending', as a general thing, the services at
the" Old Hopewell Church," in the present township of
Franklin, for those times not vcry remote. Before many
years the neighbors united in building a lo~ meeting-house
on the ftll"lll of William Buchanan, which became known as

TIlE CALVARY METHODIST EPISCOPAL CIIURCrr,

although at first the name of the neighborhood-Indian
Creek-attached to the house. A flourishing society now.
sprang up, the members belonging to the :Fee, Fisher, Bu­
chanan, Iler, Gregg, Baum, Richards, Penn, and Phillips
families, and in 1830 the old house gave place to a neat
brick edifice, both standing on the south side of the public
road in the grave-yard which had been located a few years
before the first house was built. The wood work of the
second house was done by Samuel Buchanan and James
Goodwin, and the noted Thomas J. Buchana.n helped make
the brick in a yard near by. In 1872 the present house of
worship was begun on the opposite side of the road, on a
lot secured from the farm of J. R. Brown. It was com­
pleted the following year, and de.dicated by the Rev. 1\11'.
Ferguson, of Cincinnati. The house presents a fine ap­
pearance, and the church is yet, as in former years, an im­
pOl'tant one in the chain of Methodism. The present,
trustees are J. J. Mears, J. R. Brown, Wm. Padgett, D.
B. Moreton, W. H. Buchanan, George Lester, and Wm.
Penn. The church is at present a part of Moscow Circuit,
and has had the same ministerial supply as the other Meth­
odist· Churches of the township. On the farm of George
Gregg, in the same neighborhood, a camp-ground was
opened in 1822, where for many years were maintained
camp-meetings of great interest and unusual attendance,
many of the most distinguished ministers often being
ptesent. These and others from abroad were entertained
with unbounded hospitality by Mr. Gregg. In 1855 the
old ground was forsaken and a new one opened in a beau­
tiful woo~land near David Moreton's, which was used a
dozen years or more, while camp-meetings continued to be
held in this part of- the county.



JACOB FEE.

Few names are more familiar or more closely identified with the
early history of Southern Clermont than that of the Fee family.
Thomas Fe~, Sr., so far as has been ascertained, was the progenitor
of all bearing the name in Clermont County, with few, if any,
exceptions.

A descendant of English parentage, he was born in the early
part. of the year 1763. At this remote day scant means remain
for going into particulars regarding tho family. NO' records have
been preserved. Tradition which has come down to the present
time has preserved a dim and shadowy outline of their origin,
but little more. In the social and religious disruptions of
Europe during the seventeenth century many broken fortunes
were transplanted in America, and the names of settlements here
became a touching record of the wrecks of European homes.
What seemed then only an adverse stroke of fortune to those
upon whom it fell, proved the establishment of many prosperous
families, the seed scattered by the storm bearing a hundred-fold
on'the rich soil of a New World. Thomas Fee, though a member
of the Church of England, was possessed with a desire for greater
liberty in matters of religious worship and doctrine, and of wor­
shiping God in a manner more simple than was observed in the
established church. The persecuted of every creed and clime
were invited to the New World, to which he decided to remove,
where the lives, liberties, and properties of his people might be
rendered secure, and a foundation laid for the tranquillity and
happiness .of future generations. The exact time of his arrival
in this country is not positively known, but from all accounts it
must have been soon after the close of the Revolutionary war.
The earliest definite traces we have of him (1790) he was an in·
mate of the old fort at Redstone, now Brownsville, Pa. The great
"\Vest at that time was an inviting field for every young man who
felt stirring within him an ambition to develop with the growing
culture of the new country. Yielding to this natural and popular
impulse, young Fee removed with his 'family, consisting of wife
tmd two or three small children,"to Bracken Co., Ky., about the
year 1793. He remained here until after the" treaty of Green­
ville," in 1795, when he removed to what is now Washington
township, Clermont Co., Ohio. Here he purchased a tract of
wild land, and commenced its improvement by building a house
in which, with little alteration, he lived until his death in 1831.
Thomas Fee had a family of ten children, eight sons and two
daughters, viz.: William, James, Thomas, Elias, Samuel, Elijah,
Elisha, Jesse, Sarah, and Rachael.

The sons of Thomas Fee were distinguishecl for good character,

sound sense and judgment, and unimpeachable integrity. En­
tertaining a contempt for the bauble which the world calls ambi­
tion, they coveted neither power, office, nor wealth, their aim
being to render everybody around them contented and happy,
and contribute to the general prosperity of the community in
which they lived. lrlembers of the ![ethoc.list Episcopal Church,
they were earnest laborers, sincere and humble worshipers. We
will not dwell upon the excellencies of anyone of these, but'with
truth ~ffirm that, as a type, they were noble specimens of man­
hood, and those who knew the great labors of these pioneers must
venerate their memory. They have all, like most of their associ­
ates, long since "entered that port a quiet home." One by one
has passed away that noble race of pioneers, to whose industry
and enterprise we are mainly indebted for the early and rapid set­
tlement of the western wilds, and whose perseverance, steady
habits, and good example have contributed so much toward the
fOI'mation of ·the high moral tone and upright character for which
the people of our county are so justly distinguished.

Jacob Fee, the immediate subject of this sketch, was born in
Washington township, Clermont Co.; Ohio, March 3, 1804. Elijah
Fee, his father, located in this township, on the waters of Indian
Creek, about the beginning of the present century, and remained
there until his death in 1844. He was a local preacher and a
prominent member of Calvary Methodist Episcopal Church. His
wife's maiden name was Mary Jones, who was a native of Penn­
sylvania. The family consisted of thirteen children, six sons and
seven daughters, viz.: Jacob, Sarah, Polly, Elizabeth, Nancy,
Katy, Martha, Rachael, David, Thomas, William, Elijah, and
George, all of whom arrived 'at the age of maturity except two
(Rachael and Elijah), and were members of the Methodist.Epis­
copal Church, George being a minister of some note. The edu­
cational advantages of Jacob Fee were limited, being sncll as
could be obtained·at the old log school-house during a few months
in the winter season. His first attendance at school was one
taught in a small log bouse on his father's fnrm by a man named
Hayman, who taught there during a part of two winters. He
subsequentlyattenc.led schools taught at Carmel school-house by
Andrew Hopkins, Augustus Eddy, and Pollard Simmons, and
was also a pupil in schools taught by William Holmes, William
Simmons, and John Tevis, on Indian Creek. Schools in those
days were necessarily very primitive. The teachers were neither
educated in normal schools nor trained in institutes, but were of
the rough pioneer sort. The rod was·often and freely used. The
bra~ches usually taught were reading, writing, and arithmetic.



BIOGRAPHY OF W. M. FEE.

If a pupil mastered the primary and compound rules of arith­
metic, and understood tbe "single rule of three," he was quite an
adept ut calculation, and if he should go through" vulgar frac­
tions" and master the "square root" he was a prodigy indeed.
The inclinations of our subject from boyhood were those of a
farmer. He remained with his father until he arrived at the age
of nineteen years, at which time he was married to Elizabeth
Cnmeron, a native of Clermont County, and started out to hew
his way to fortune on his own account. His first venture at farm­
ing was on land rented from Nathan Manning. He continued
renting and farming for a period of eight years, when he was
enabled to buy a farm of one hundred nud twenty acres, in the
vicinity of 1'10scow, and, by frugal management and the exercise
of his good judgment, acquired a competence in reward of his
energetic and persistent labors. In 1837 he united with the
Methodist Episcopal Church at Clllvary, under the 111inistryof
the H.ev. Christy, and for more than forty yeurs has been an active
member of the church, exerting an influence for good over his
surroundings. His wife, who died in the year 1861, was also an
active member of the :l\Iethodist Episcopal Church. The'family
of Jacob Fee consisted of twelve children, ten of whom are living,
viz.: Eliza, Willil\111 , John, Daniel, Elijah, Elizabeth, Thomas,
Sarah, 'Vesley R, and Jacob D., nearly all of Wh0111 arc prominent
members of the church. Politically, Mr. Fee was originally a
"Jackson Democrat," ncting with the Demoerllt party until' 1832.
Then, unable to indorse the-1lctions of. his purty, he embraced the
principles of the Whig party, with which he was identified until
~he formation of the Hepublicnn party, of which he and his sons
have alwa)'s been cordial suppOl·ters. He was married a second
time, in 1864, to Phoobe Sentney. In 1864 he sold his farm in
",Vashington township and purchased a home near Laurel, where
he still resides, having passed tho age of " threescore years und
ten," enjoying the respect and admiration of a host of friends.
Health good, with fuce ruddy and full of good humor. He is quiet
nnd unobtrusive in his mllDners, just in his dealings, and faithful
to bis engagements, and if he lacks that education which is deemed
indispensable in these times, he possesses n fund of practical wis­
dom, the fruit of long experience and close observation, which
giv~s weight and value to his opinions. Strictly temperate him­
~elf, he is u zenlous advocate of the temperance cause, using ever,}'
cfrort to induce totul abstinence on the part of others. He has
never sought public notoriety, and desires no higher title than
that of an honest mun.

W. M. FEE.

The subject of this sketch is an example of that class of men
who, by earnest and honest industr,}Y, have achieved success in the
battle of life. Without the aid of advantageous circumstances, such
:as fortune and influential friends, he has arisen from the humbler
walks of life not only to an honorable position in society, but also
in the commor~ial arena. W. :U. Fee was born in Washington
township, Clermont Co., Ohio, on the 9th day of November, 1825.
His first view of life was upon a flirm among the yeomanry of the
-countr)', and upon which his childhood Rnd youth were spent.
His was the life of the ordinary farm lad, working on the farm
in the milder weather, and attending the district school in the )Vin­
tel'. His first earnings saved were from chopping cord-wood.
At length the critical period in his life arrived. He was twenty­
one ;years of age and a free man. He mqst now make a decision
which would affEict his whole future,-he must choose the vocation
of his life. His inclinations from boyhood were for merchandis.
ing; Farming offered but little inducement to him, a short ex-

. perience in which, had already proved unsuccessful. He came to
Moscow in the spring of 1848, where he was employed as clerk in
the store of Nathan Keyt until October, 1849, when he embarked
in the mercantile business in company with J. R. Downs. From
that time until 1857 he conducted a successful business with dif­
ferent partners, viz., J. W. Fee, B. F. Fisher, and Robert Smith,
at which time he purchased the interest of his partner, and has

.since continued the business with lil,e success. In 18;:;1, our sub­
ject having formed an acquaintance with and attachment for :Miss
Emelizlt E. Pinney, they concluded it \Vns not best to be nlone,
and therefore resolvcd to enter into copartnership as man and
wife for the rest of their days. The lady is a dnughter of the
Hon. H. N. Pinney, und a native of 'Vinusor, Vt. In 1848 he
received his first degt'ce in 1\fasonry, from which 11e passed to
the Middle Ohamber, and was Tnised to the Sunctum SanctoruJ1l.
lie wns soon known as an at'dent :1l1c1 devoted student of Masonry,
and has frequcntly held important positions in the lodge. Hllv­
ing a desire within him to unrllveJ the hidden mysteries of the
nncient craft, and for" further light," he became a member of
the Royal Arch Chapter 11t Felicity, Ohio. A chapter being sub­
sequently organized in Moscow, he was elected" High Priest," nnd
represented the chapter in the seesion at Clevelund, Ohio, in 18Bn.
He has also represented )Ioscow Lodge in the Grand Loc1gesessions
at Columbus and Toledo, Ohio. Masonry to him is more than ll.

mere nllme: it hns a spirit and a power. He became n member
of the 1\1ethodist Episcopnl Church in Moscow, during a revival
meeting, under the ministry of the Revs. Edwlll'd EsteTl and Wes­
ley Roc, in April, 1841. His wife was formerly a member of the·
Presbyterian Church, but after their 11111rriage united, by letter,
with the Methodist Episcopal Church, of which she is fin active
member, energetic, industrious, and ever ready to lend a helping
hand where her services are needed, her health permitting. Both
have been long connected with and useful members of the Sabbath­
school, and h11ve often uuited in deeds of charity and the relief
of the distressed. Politically, :.\11'. Fee was 11 'Vhig during the
days of that party. His generous and sympathizing nature led
him instinctively to espouse the cause of the oppressed, and from
the beginning of the anti-sIltvery struggle he was one of its
firmest adherents and steadfast defenders. With such feelings,
he naturally associated with the Republ~cunparty upon its organ­
ization. He regards this as· the gl'eat party of truth and patriotic
duty, the party of principles, and the only one that has the ability
and integrity successfully to administer. a republican government.
He keeps himself thoroughly acquuinted with the questions and
issues of the day, and votes as 11e talks, intelligently and consist­
ently. During the days of the R<.'bellion in our land he was a
cordial supporter of the Union cause j nnd, though he .was unable
to take an active part in defense of the nation's honor, he rendered
substantial aid to the government by his assistance in procuring
men and liberal donations from his private means.

He has been connected with the general merchandising busi­
ness for nearly thirty-one years. He has also, in addition to his
commercilll business, been engaged in agricultural pursuits during
his later years, being the possesso~ of a considerable quantity of
land. The instructions received in the science of farming during
his youth have thus been of practical benefit .to him in the latcr
years of his life, and his labors have been substantially rewarded.
He has been an nctive participant in the development and progre~s

of the town with which he has linked his fortunes, and has added
to its beauty by the erection recently of a substantial business house
and a handsome residence. In company with his wife he has visited
important places in nearly one-half of the States of the Union and
Oanada, including Boston, New York, and the Centennial Ex­
position at Philadelphia. In a lifetime of business activity and
commercial enterprise he has been uniformly successful, and has
in the aggregate secured a competency satisfactory to himself.
He seeks wealth only for its uses, and while he allows himself but·
little time to administer to his own personal enjoyment, he neglects
none of his domestic duties, nor·does he turn an indifrerent or im·
patient ear to the wants of friends or of society.

We close this sketch, not because we have exhausted our sub­
ject, but because we have said enough to command attention to a
man who, by his acts, is entitled to high consideration for what
he has done and for what he is doing. He has opened wide paths
to industry and enterprise, and extends a helping hand to all
honest and well-disposed men who seek labor either for them­
selves or their families.



JAMES :MCMATH was born two miles and a half east of
Moscow, Washington township, in this county, Aug. 21,1821,
at which place he lived until the spring of 1833, when his
father, William McMath, moved to Neville. His father was
born nenr Browns~'il1e, Pa, and mnrried Mary .McGee, n
native of Ireland, by whom he hud the following children:
Samuel i Daniel j Hannah j M:lJ'y, married to John Hobbi j

John i Jane, married to John Gilbr('uth i and James Mc~lath,

the subject of this sketch.. His father, thinking James was
too delicate for the life of a farmer, hound him, in IS3u, to
Benjamin Quinlan for five yeurs to l,'arn the tailor's trade.
In 1838 he united with the Methodist Episcopul Church
under the labors of Rev. Mr. Hance. Benjumin Quinlan
moving to Missouri in 1839, James McMath went to Moscow
on April 8th of that year, and finislwd his trade with A. J.
Shelley. In the spring of 1842 he was appointed class-Ieuder
in the 1\lethodist Episcopal Vhurch, und has been connected
with the quurterly conference of that chargl! ever since, being
its oldest member. In IS45 he was licensed as an exhorter,
and has become u populur local preucher in the county. He
worked for A. ,J. Shelley seven years, llttending school a
portion of the time during the first two yeurs, lllld working
for his board mornings and evenings. MI'. 1\lc1\lath recollects
with pleasure the kindness with which Mr. 8helley and his
family treated him when a pOOl' boy working for and bom\ding
with them. 1\11'. 1\IcMuth wus married, April :n. 1840, to
Miss Glorvina S. Conrey, and the same summer sturted a

. smull store' in .Moseow in connection with his tililor-shop,
which was the first merchant tailor-shop in the" county. In
1853 he received his license as u local preacher. Tn 1855 his
wife died, and on July 31, 1856, he married again, this time
taking as a companion Miss Abigail R. Senteney. He was
ordained a deacon in the church Sept. 7, 1862, and an elder
Sept. 1, 1872. He never sought honors from the church, but
ever willingly obeyed its orders, and performed with his might
whatever his hands found to do. He hqs been nn untiring and
earnest worker in 11le Sabbath-schools' for thirty-five years,

and was one of the organizers of the Clermont County
Methodist Episcopal Church Sunday-School Union, and him­
self orgnnized the Washington Township Sunday-School
Union. At Chilo Mr. Mc1\fath supplied the circuit twice as
its preacher by the appointment of the presiding elder, and
his two yenrs of useful labors at thlit point are remembered
with pleasure by the church members and people generally of
that town. For twenty years continuously he has been re­
cording stewnrd of the Moscow Oil"I'lIit, and was twice presi­
dent of Clermont County Metho . iSL Episcopal Sunday-School
Convention. Probably no man lives in Clermont who in the
Inst third of a century hilS been so zealous in behalf of the
church flS Mr. McMath, or contributed so much in timl.', .
money, and work for its spiritual and material growth. He
has two living children by his first wife, Charles, a merchant,
of the firm of Mc1\Iath & Grimes, of 1\1oscow, and James C.
McMath, a prominent attorney of the Clermont bar, residing
at Butavia. By his present wife he has one son, William S.,
und two duughters, Cora B. and Etta McMath. James Mc­
l\Iath hus served eighteen years as postmaster of 1\loscow, a
long time as a member of the town school .board, acting as
its president in 1875, and aided largely in the erection of the
present fine school edifice. He served severnl years as mayor
of 1\ioscow. }'or thirty years he engaged profitably in mercan­
tile pursuits, and was succeeded in his business a short time
ago by the firm of l\lcMath (his son, Charles) & Grimes. In
later years he has been engaged in the banking business with
Jured LemMr, under the firm-name of Lemar & McMath.
He cume to Moscow with ho capital but his industry, resolute
,vill, and honesty, and possessing but a limited education ob­
tained in the district school, but in forty-one years he has
achieved great financial success, and, what is far better, the name
of being nn honest, Christian gentleman and business man. The
impress of his earnest and able works in the cause of religion
and in the interests of good society is plainly perceptible in the
growing town of Moscow, the material and moral prosperity
or whil'h is largely attributable to his labors and influence.



JOHN DAY, a son of Mutthew Day, was born Jan. 2!), 1755,
in lIarylnnd, und married, Aug. I, 1776, Abigail Poe, born
April] 6,1760. Their children were Martha, Matthew, John,
Edward, lIark, Thomas, Isaac, Jesse and Mary (twins), and
Joseph B. Duy. John Day, with his family, moved to Ohio
in 1802; and located on the farm where Joseph B. Day now
lives. He died in the year 1817, but his wife Abigail (Poe)
lived to the age of eighty-five years, and died April 22, 1845.
He was one of the earliest pioneers of Clermont, a man of
resolute will and strong Christian character. His youngest
child, Joseph· B. Dny, was born June 25, 1800, and was
married to Debornh Lambert, born Feb. 12,1800, and whose
father, Joshua Lambert, having been a fifer in the British
army, born in England in 1743, settled at an early period at
vVilliamsburgh, in tbis county.

To Joseph B. and Deborah (Lambert) Day were born ten
children, to wit: Anna L., married to W. H. H. Browning
and deceased; :Mary, married to Dr. David Wood, father of
County Recorder)'1. A. Wood; Joshua L., deceased j Abigail,
married to vVilliam Poe ; Jesse; Martha, married to Henry
B. Shinkle; Isaac H.; Lucretia, married to Samuel Salisbury
and deceased; Malissa, marriE'd to Joseph P. Bolender; and
lIinerva,married to Daniel F. Trout. Joseph B. and his
wife, Deborah (Lambert) Day, both yet live, and each in their
eightieth year of age. They were married in 181!), and have
lived most happily for sixty-one· years as man and wife, and
reside 011 the farm their father, John Day, located in 1802.
Dr. Isaac H. Day, the subject of this sketch, was the seventh
child of his parents, and was born Sept. 17,1833. The doctor
was married, Oct. 29, 1857, to NanC'y E. Wiley, daughter of
Samuel and Mary (Richards) Wiley, born in Ohio; but the
father of Samuel was an emigrant from New Jersey, and of
)'Iary, from Maryland. By this marriage the doctor had the
following children: Mary C., born Oct. 10, 1858; :Maggie G.,
born March 20,1860; Clara D., born June 13,1862; Samuel C.,
born Sept. 3, 1864, and died June 19, 1865. The doctor's wife,
Nancy E., died Sept. 19, 1865, and July 7, 1867, he was mar­
ried to :Mary J. Gray, daughter of Michael and Nancy (Carr)

Gray. Michael Gray was born in Kentucky, but his parents
were from Pennsylvania, while his wife Nancy (Carr) was
born in Ohio, but her parents came from Martinsburg, Va.
By this second marriage three children were born,-Walter G.,
born Nov. 10,1868; Nancy E., born Dec.29,1871,and Dick G.,
born Aug. 29, 1873. Dr. Isaac H. Day was educated in the
district schools, and worked on the farm until the fall of 1852,
when he began reading medicine with Dr. David Wood, of
Point Isabel, and after the latter's death he completed his
studies with Dr. Robinson, of Henning·'s Mills. He attended
his first course of lectures in the winter of 1854-55 at the
Eclectic Medical College of Cincinnati, and graduated at
that institution in 1856. In March of tIlat year he located
at Point Isabel, where he has ever since resided, and has been
engaged in the successful practice of his profession. As a
practitioner he has met ·with eminent success. Being of
humane and generous impulses, his very presence in a sick­
room inspires the patient with confidence, such is his tender
care in speech and action. His practice extends to distant
townships, and he is a leading member of the Clermont County
EclC'ctic Medical Association, which holds its annual meetings
at Amelia. Dr. Day is also one of the most noted horsemen
in Clermont, and perhaps in his knowledge and judgment of
horse-flesh he is not equaled in the county. At the county
fnirs he yearly carries oft· premiums for the best horses, and
when not competing for prizes is always seh~cted as a COlll­

mittee"man, owing to his superior qualifications. The Day
family llas been one of the largest and most favorably known of
any in the county, and the doctor is a worthy descendant of a
lineage so honorably associated with our annals. His uncle,
Thomas Day, was in the war of 1812, under Col. Sumalt, und
died at Fort Ball, on the Sandusky River, in 1815, from disease
contracted by exposure in the service. Connected with the
Poes, Lamberts, Grays, Carl's, Wileys, Richards, ·Woods,
Shinkles, Bolenders, and other leading families of Southern
Clermont, the doctor has a very extended relationship, and
probably no person in the community shmds lligher in the
public estimation than he, both as a citizen and a physician.



JAMES ISRAEL SELBY, son of James VV. and Ger­
trude (Sturges) Selby, was born in Monroe township,
of this county, Nov. 29, 1827. His father came
with his family fr9m Worcester Co., :Mc1., to Ohio,
in 1823. James I. is the second child born in Ohio
and the fourth of ten children, of whom seven are
living. His father and mother, aged respectively
eighty-two and eighty years, are living in easy re­
tirement at their pleasant home at California, Ky.,
on the Ohio River. James I. Selby was mar­
ried, Dec. 3, 1849, by the noted circuit rider, Rev.
Benjamin Lakin, to Sarah Demaris. By this union
were born five children, of whom his son, James
Edward Selby, grown to manhood~ is the only one
living. His first wife died in October, 1860, and
March 12, 1861, he was the second time marrie.d, by
Rev. Mr. Cassett, to Emma :Marshal, of New Rich­
monel. Mr. Selby is one of the most distinguished
members of the Masonic order in the county,. and
was initiated, passed, and raised in :1\1oscow Lodge,
No. 122, F. and A. M., in the spring of 1849.
Sllbsequeiltly he took the degrees in Orion Chapter,
No. 49, of Felicity, and those of Royal and Select
:Master in Connell Council, No. 19, in the same town.
The Knights Templar degrees were conferred upon
him in Cincinnati Commandery, No.3, on :March
11, 1877. He and his family are attendants upon
the Chril:itian Church. He has been for ten years a
director of the First National Bank of New Rich-

mond, and is now vice-president of that institution.
He has been for seveml years a townl:ihip trustee,
deputy county treasurer, and is now president of the
school board. He is of English extraction, and the
first member of his family in America came over
from England about the year 1701, and located on
the Eastern Shore of Maryland. Mr. Selby is a
Democrat in his political sentiments, and has been
quite prominent in the campaigns and caucuses of
his .party. . His farm embraces over two hundred
acres of land lying on the Ohio River, half a mile
from the pleasant and enterprising town of Moscow.
He is the largest fruit-raiser in Clermont County..,
and a leading member of the Ohio State Horticul­
tural Society. He cultivates principally berries,
peaches, grapes, pears, apples, etc., and has a peach­
orchard of eighty acres, the finest in the county.
He ships his berries and fruits by steamers to Cin­
cinnati, ~nd in their culture has acquired a marked
reputation and amassed a nice fortune. His resi­
dence, overlooking the beautiful Ohio River, is a niee
two-story frame dwelling, handsomely furnished, and
jts surroundings ornamented with choice flowers and
shrubbery. Mr. Selby is a gentleman of high per­
sonal worth and purity of character, and enjoys the
esteem of his fellow-men. He has been very suc-'
cessful in life, accumulated a fait' share of this world's
goods, and enjoys in comfort and peace his beautiful
home, the result of his own labors.
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TIlE McKE~DREE CHAPEL OF THE METHODIST EPIS-
COPAL CHURCH

was built some time before 1840, on an acre of gl'ound
donated by John G. Buchanan, on the headwaters of
Maple Hun, by a board of trustees composed of Bnos
Richards: Joseph Owens, Erastus Turtin: John G. Bu­
chanan, and John Fallan. rrhese and John .Kennedy,
John and 'Vrn. Sargent, the Daughters, the Hill, and Bark­
ley families, were also among the first members, and previ­
ously belonged to Hopewell and Calvary. The house is
about 30 by 45 feet, of brick, and the present trustees are
Elijah, Joseph, and George Marriott, Enos Hichards, Erastus
Turtin, P. Evans, and R. L. Uichards. This charge forms
a part of Moscow Circuit, as does also the

METHODIST EPISCOPAL ClIURCll OF NEVILLE.

Before 1820 there wus a flourishing class at this point,
wlliqh had among its members Israel Foster, James Kain,
John Miller, Mathew Hastings, Hiram Manning, Elijah
Larkin, Jacob Iler, William Primmer, John Drake, 'Yesley
J~arkin, James Me:\Iath, John Howell, and a number of
females, who worshiped in a brick house, which also served
as a school building. Connected with the grounds of the
house was the first grave-yard of the village. In 1848 the
present brick church edifice was erected by Turpin Daugh­
ters, in behalf of the society, at a cost of $2200. It has
since been repaired, and is yet in a comfortable condition.
The present tr~stees are John Drake, Harvey Galbreath,
Samuel McMath, Ashley Williams, and Lewis Morris. The
latter is also superintendent of a Sunday-school which has
140 members.

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH Ol( MOSCOW.

As early as 1823 a class of Methodists was formed at
this village, which had James Hartshorn as its leader, and
among its members Henry Teater and wife, John Elstun
and wife, Mrs. James Hartshorn, James 'Vilson and wife,
and William Hood and wife. The preaching services were
held at the houses of some of the members until tha--fall of
1823, when a log house waS built near where' the pres~nt

mill now is, in which the meetings were held for some time;
but in 1840 the present meeting-house was begun, and dedi­
cated in April, 1841. Jacob Fee, James Hartshorn, and
Thomas Fee were the building committee, and at that time
the Revs. Edward Estell and Wesley Howe were the
preachers in charge of White Oak Circuit. On the 8th of
April, preceding the consecration of this house by the Hev.
Benjamin Lakin, occurred a most remarkable revival, which
lasted a score of days, meetings being held day and night,
and on the day of dedication 107 persons, nearly all of them
heads of families, united with the church.. Other revivals
occurred, and the church, in the main, has been very pros­
perous. The meeting-house has been repaired, and yet
affords a comfortable place of worship. The present trus­
tees are 'V. S. Gregg, A. J. Shelley, William Fee, Joseph
Dawson, and James McMath. A cemetery is maintained
by the soCiety.

The church forms a part of Moscow Circuit, which in
1879 had 425 full and 100 probationary members, consti­
tutingeleven classes, and having Rev. James McMath as
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recor~ing steward. At the same time the stewards for the
different charges were: Moscow, George Manning; Cal.
vary, D. B. Moreton; McKendree, lDlijah Marriott; and
Neville, Ashley Williams.

The Methodist societies in VwTasllington. township have
belonged to various circuits, and had a manifold ministerial
sen-ice, .as is shown below, the dates prefixed indicating the
time the appointments were made:

!llIA!l1I CIRCUIT.

17IJ!I-1800, Henry Smith; 1801-2, E. Bowman, Benjamin Young;
1803, John Sale, Joseph Oglesby; 1804, John Meck, Abi'aham
Amos; 1805, Benjamin Lakin, Joseph Reggin; 1806, Benjamin
Lakin, John Collins; 1807, Samuel Parker, Hector Sanford.'

WIIITE OAK CIRCUIT.

1808,David Young; 1809, John Johnson; 1810, Isaac Pavcy; 1811,
Benjamin Lakin, Eli Trentt; 1812, W. Griffith, Reuben Rowe;
181:3-14, Robert W. Finley, D. Sharp; 1815, John Strange, S.
Chenoweth; 1816, John Strange, Isaac Pavey; 1817, W. Griffith,
James Simmons; 1818. B. Westlake, S. T. Wells; 1819, F. Lan­
drum; 1820, Wm. Page, L. SlVormstedt; 1821, A. W. Elliott, Z.
Connell; 1822, Wm. Page, B. Lawrencc; 1823, D. D. Davidson,
Samuel West; 1824, G. W. l\Ialey, J. Everhart; 1825, G. It.
Jones, W. J. Thompson; 1826, G. R. Jones, Levi White; 1827,
A. W. Elliott, Levi White; 1828, A. W. Elliott, A. F. Baxter, .
James Smith; 1829, B. Westlake, A. F. Baxter, J. W. Finley;
1830, B. Westlake, James Baxter, J. W. Finley; 1831, Woo. D.
Barrett, Joseph Leedrum, B. Frazec; 1832, 1'fm. Simmons, John
M. Goshorn; 1833, G. W. Maley, II. E. Pitcher; 1834, G. W.
Maley, James Parcel!!; 1835, J. W. C1arl;:, Wm. Rowe; 1836,
John CoIlins, Wm. T. Hand; 1837, Ebenezer B. Chase, Alfred
Hancc; 1838, Ebenezer B. Chase, John,Stewart; 1839, Woo. J.
Ellsworth, Edward Estill; 1840, Wesley Rowe, Edward Estill;
1841, Woo. Parrish, J. G. Dimmitt; 1842, Isaac Ebert, J. G. Dim­
mitt; 1843, G. R. Jones, James G. Blair; 1845, Wm. S. Morro\v,
Joseph Gassner; 1846-51, no minutes.

WEST WHITE OAK. CmCUIT.

1852, A. Murphy, H. Baker; 1853, L. P. Miller, Michael Bitler; 1854,
L. P. Miller, Will. E. Hines; 1855, C. R. Lowell, Joseph Black­
burn.

MOSCOW CIRCUIT.

1856, J. Fitch, J. Shear, T. S. Dunn; 1857, J. Fitch, P. Glasscock;
1858, J. Armstrong, P. Glasscock; 1859, J. Armstrong, D. Call­
shan; 1860, J. C. l\Il1udy, J. P. Shultz; 1861, J. C. :Maddy, J.
L. Gregg; 1862-63, WID. Q. Sbunnon, T. Head; 186,1, W. W.
Ramsay, J. Arm!!trong; 1865, S. W. Edmiston, J. Armstrong;
1866, S. W. Edmiston, H. M. Curry; 1867, E. P. Jume!', H. M.
Curry; 1868. L. P. Miller; 186lJ-70, W. Q.. Quarry; 1871-72, J.
S. Whitney; 1873-74, E. C. Smith; 1875, T. J. Evans; 1876, H.
Stokes; 1877-79, Wm. B. Moler.

Rev. James Mcl\Iath, locnl preacher on Moscow·Cireuit.

THE SALEM CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

After the war of 1812, Elder Mathew G~rdner visited
·the township and preached at the houses of various persons
on Indian Creek, and in April, 1819, organized the above
church,. which had among its constituent members Benjamin
'Vheeler, Henry Camerer, Thomas and Samuel Mullen,
Philip Davis, George Fisher, Otho Pearre, Alonzo Knowles,
John T. Powell, and John Trees. Meetings were held
every four weeks, and the membership was so. much in­
creas'ed that no private house afforded the required room.
Accordingly, in 1821, a stone church edifice was erected
on a lot given by Henry Camerer; and near by a gmve­
yard was opened on 1.he land of Benjamin ·Wheeler. The
first trustees of this house were Philip Davis, John Trees,
and Thomas Mullen. In the s~m~er it was customary to
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hold meetings in the woods near by, which were attended
by persons from abroad, who camped out, and much re­
ligious interest abounded.

John Trees was the first deacon, and held that office until
his death, in 1866. Thomas Mullen was also an early
deacon. Under the ministrations of Elders Gardner,
PoweJI, Lansdown, and others, the church WaS in a flour­
ishing condition, having a large and healthy membership.
But the formation of Christian churches in the adjoining
townships, and the withdrawal of other members to connect
themselves with the Disciples, so much affected the old
Salem Church that it was deemed best to transfer the re­
maining interest to a more central point. Accordingly, in
1866, was formed

TIlE CIIRtSTIAN cliuRCH OF POINT ISABEL,

and a. new house of worship erected about two miles from
where the old one stood, under the trusteeship of Isaac
Arinacost, Jacob Swope,and Oliver P. Trees. Here the
church has maintained a flourishing existence ever since,
and the present trustees are Aaron B. Armacost, Charles
Love; and Marlon Trees. In 1860, John Swope and Wil­
liam Armacost were the deacons, and after the death of the
latter, in 1867; Charles Love was appointed. In 1875,
O. P; 'frees and E. J. Prather were appointed additional
deacons, there being at present four.

In addition to the pastors named the church has had the
pastoral labors of Elders Asa Coan, C. S. Manchester, O.
J. Wait, George Mefford, and the present pastor is Rev.
J. P. Daugherty. J. L. Trees is clerk ot the churc11, and
John Hichards treasurer, the latter being also the super­
intendent of the Sunday-school.

THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH AT NEVILLE

was organized March 25, 1866, by the Rev. C. S. Man­
chester, with 54 members. Some of the8e formerly belonged
to the old Salem Church, but more were the fruits of re­
vival at Neville, which continued after the organization of
the church, and which brought many more members.
The church at Neville agreed to take Christ as the only
1\laster, and the New Testament as the only rule of faith,
and practice, and discipline; and the only test of church
fellowship was to be a life of Christian character. The
church was to be. Congregational in her government, as
directed by, the spirit of God.

The first meetings were held in the Baptist church,
which had been repaired for this purpose, but in 1875 a
building committee was appointed, consisting of S. Laugh,
N. Y. Bacon, and 1\1. G. McCarter, to erect a house of
worship on a lot in Neville which had been donated by S.
Laugh. This house was dedicated the third Sabbath in
July of the same year by Elders McCullough, Manchester,
Vermillion, and others. It is a plain frame, and cost
$1200.

On the 29th of April, 1866, M. G. McCarter and N. Y.
Bacon were elected the first deacons, and Elijah Utter clerk.
The following year J.,H. Wood was elected clel'k, and has
served ever since. The same time Edward McFarland was
elected treasurer, and subsequently Enoch N. Bagby was
added to the list of deacons. Elder Manchester served the

church' nearly four years, and since then the pastoral office
has becn filled by lmders Mefford, Vermillion, Wait, and
Melissa Timmons, the latter being. at present in charge of
the interests of the church.

THE FIRS'r REG ULAR BAPTIST CHURCH OF NEVILLE

was orgul)ized in 1841, with eight members, namely, Squire
Frazefl, Abigail Frazee, Evan Thomas, H.ebecea Thomas,
'V. F. BorrodaiIe, Harriet Borrodaile, Aaron C. Day, and
Rachel Day. The membership increased rapidly, and in
18-1-3 numbered 70. The year before the meeting-house
was erected, chiefly through the efforts of Deacon BorrodaiIe,
and was at that time a fine house of worship. Twenty
years later a tornado partially destroyed the house, which
was soon after placed in good condition, and later again re­
paired by the foregoing society. The house yet remains,
although seldom occupied for religious purposes.

Some time before 1850 the church organization was
allowed to decline to such an extent that it practically went .
down; but in 1875 a. reorganization followed, with Harriet
Borrodaile, Sarah MeCoy, and Rebecca Thom'as as members.
Soon the number was increased to 16, and the Rev. Joseph
Hawkins was the pastor for two years. An abated interest
ensued, and lately no preaching has been held. The
meeting-house remains in charge of James Cruse and
George Larkin, trustees.

THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF MOSC6W.

This body was organized Sept. 8, 18-l9~ with James B.
Miller, Mary Miller, James Barker, D. 'W. Hitchie, 'Wm.
Carter, A. B. Longshore, Eleanor Garrett, and Rachel
Garrett as members, all of whom had been connected with
the Presbyterian Church at other points. D. 'W. Ritchie,
'\Vm. Carter. and James B. Miller were chosen the first
ruling elders, and at the first meeting of the sessions Mrs.
Catharine Fee made application to become a member of the
church. Other ruling elders were Daniel1\lahan and Wm.
GilfiIlin, and the present are George Harvey, J. P.Marvin,
and N. B. Kinkead.

The church has hardly had a prosperous existence. From
1858 to 1870 no regular wors1?-ip was maintained, and in the
fall of the latter year but three male members were reported.
At that time the Rev. James Black commenced his labors
with the church, and an increase of members and general
interest followed. Since July, 1879, the pulpit has been
supplied by the Rev. James Mitchell, who also serves the
churches at Felicity and Feesburg, preaching every two
weeks.

On the 13th of May, 11:;71, the church became an in­
corporated body, with J. P. Marvin, Vol. S. Trout, and F.
Neal as trustees; and the two last named, Charles McLean,
and Hiram C. McKibben, yet serve in that capacity.

A good Sabbath-school, having Elder J. P. Marvin as
superintendent, is maintained in the Presbyterian house of
worship, which is an attractive brick edifice.

THE CHURCH OF CHRIST AT MOSCOW.

This Society of Disciples was formed March 21, 1859,
with members as follows: James Hopple, Julia L. Hopple,
Joseph L. Powell, Margaret Powell, David Betker, Alex.
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McLean, Ann Scott, Nettie Smith, Messina Bl'i~gs, Rachel
Garrett, Adaline Baylis, and Jared Lemar.

The Revs. B. Fra.nklin and M. O. Moore held a series of
meetings about this time, which produced many additions
to the membership, and which gave the church a position
among the religious societies of the township, which has
f'!.ince been maintained.

The meetings were first held in a small house which be­
longed to Dr. James Hopple; but in" 1865 Jared Lemar,
Alex. McLean, and James Hopple were chosen trustees,
and under their direction a brick meeting-house was erected
the following year at a cost of $3000. The size of the
house is 34 by 52 feet, and it wus consecrated by the Rev.
W. T. Moore, of Cincinnati. It is yet in a good state of
preservation.

Jared Lemar and James Hopple were chosen the first
elders, and Joseph Powell and A. C. Moore the first
deacons. The latter office is now helJ by John K Motier
and W. C. Sargent; and other deacons have been Armstrong
Judd, Joseph Powell, and Wm. A. Young. Jured Lemar
and H. Eo Holton are the elders, and W. C. Irwin and
Albert Toon have also served in that capacity.

'fhe church reports 76 members, and has had the min­
isteriallabors of the Revs. J. H. Lockwood, A. A. Knight,
L. L. Carpenter, and a number of visiting clergymen.

Since 1876 a Sunday-school has been regularly main­
tained, and which is at present superintended by E. A.
Lockwood.

THE POINT ISABEL METHODIST EPISCOPAL· CHURCH.

More than fifty years ago the Methodists living in the
northern part of the township erected a small brick house
of worship, which was called" Wesley Chapel." It stood
on ground donated by Aquilla Taylor and N. Higgins, and
was occupied by'the society until 1866, when the place of
meeting was transferred to Point Isabel. Among the pio­
neer members who used to assemble at the" chapel" were
the Thompson, Taylor, Higgins, Holter, Purkiser, Altman,
Frazier, Plank, Constant, Salt, Wharton, and Stevens fam­
ilies, and before this house of worship was provided the
place of meeting was at the house of the veteran Rev. W.
J. Thompson, who was one of the most active Methodists
in this part of the county. From this society have also
originated several useful ministers, among them Gilbert
and Henry Purkiser, sons of Henry PUl'kiser, and Henry
Wharton.

The present church edifice was erected by a buildit;lg com­
mittee, which was composed of W. H. Holter, Marcus
Purkiser, Wesley Purkiser, Daniel Fee, and George W.
Thonlpson. It presents a shapely appearance, and was fin­
ished at a cost of $2000. The consecration services were
performed by Rev. J.Jangley, of Covington, Ky. The trus­
tees of the church in 1879 were W. H. Holter, D. Fee,
J. S. Swope, F. P. Wiley, and Joseph ·Wiley.

The church at Point Isabel belon~s to Bethel CircuIt,
and its statistics and ministerial appointments appear in a
history of Bethel Church, in the township of Tate; and
prior to the location of the church at Point Isabel the ap­
pointments are the same as those of the Moscow Church.

..

BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HES.

BENJAMIN PENN.

Early in the eighteenth century there emigrated from
England and settled in Baltimore Co., Md, Edward Penn,
of pure English extraction, and a collateral branch of the
family of which William Penn, the founder of Pennsyl­
vania, was the most distinguished representative in historic
annals. He was a planter pnd lurgely identified with the
~rowth and progress of the colony in which he located.
One of his sons, Benjamin, the youngest and the father of
the subject of this sketch, was born in 1740, and was mar­
ried in 1774 to Miss Mary Sargent, of Maryland. She
belonged to a fiLmily not only noted in the history of that
State but afterwards most early and honorably associated
with the first settlements of Olermont County. From that
union three sons and nine daughters were born, of whom
but one is now living,-Nackey, residing in R,ipley, Ohio,
and who wus first married to Joshua Pigman, but after
his death to Henry Teater, whose widow she still re­
mains at the advanced age of ninety-three years. Benja­
min, the second son and subject of this sketch, was born
April 16, 1776, in Frederick Co., Md., eleven weeks prior
to the declaration of American independence, and was
married Jan. 7, 1802, to Anna Philips.
, Benjamin Penn, Sr., came to Clermont County in 1808,
and died in 1835, at the venerable age ~f ninety-five years,
at the residence of his daughter, Mrs. Nancy Richards,
who with her brother, Benjamin Penn, had with loving
hands and filial hearts most tenderly and kindly supported
and cared for him in his declining years. His wife, Mary
(Sargent) Penn, died in 1815, seven years after his removal
to Ohio. In the fall of 1811, Benjamin Penn and his wife
Anna with their six children, born in Maryland, emigrated
to Ohio and settled first on Little Indian Creek, in what is
now Franklin township, where on May 12, 1812, he pur­
chused of Gen. Richard C. Anderson, of Kentucky, two
hundred and twenty acres of land in Reuben Taylor's
survey, No. 1653, for six hundred. and fifty dollars lawful
money of the Uoited States. This farm four years subse­
quently he sold to Jacob Oonstant, but retained thirty-tqree
and a half acres bought of Gen. Anderson before, and ad­
joining the lands of Elisha Manning, Benjamin Thrasher,
and E. Duke. On Oct. 8, 1814, he purchased of the
executors of George Brown one hundred acres, including
the famous Brown Mills, the first erected in Southern
Clermont, and to which the early settlers came for miles
around. Mr. Penn paid three thousand one hundred dol­
lars in cash for this property, an almost fabulous sum for
that day, which shows the great value attached to it, at that
time in superb condition and reputed the best mills in the
Ohio Valley. From that day to the present time the mills
have been in successful operation, and arc now owned by
William Luck, while 'the farm belongs to the heirs of
Stephen Conrey.

Besides running the mills, Benjamin Penn kept a good
store, and" Indian Springs," the seat of his extensive mill­
ing and merchandising operations, as the place was then
called, was one of the best business points in Southern
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Ohio. Through an uncxpectcd hcavy decliue in wheat and
flour, caused by a monetary revolution in Great Britain, he
failed, but in four years he was able to pay up with interest
evcry dollar lie owed of his de~ts. His failure W:.lS not
like thosc too often the ease in modern days,-one with
hands full, property secreted, and creditors fleeced,-but an
honest one, and which in four years he removed by the
prompt discharge of every liability, although to accomplish
this he worked hard day and night; practicing the severest
economy and dressing in homespun.

The children of Benjamin and Anna (Philips) Penn,
borh in Frederick Co., Md., were 'William Penn, mar­
ried to 'Miss Fisher, of Wheeling, Va., and who was a
merchant, succeeding his father in that business until his
death in 1842 j Dr. Samuel W. Penn, who spent thirty­
five years of life in Tennessee, where he married Miss
Alexander, his present wife, both now living in Batavia,
Ohio; Helen, mal'l'icd to Thomas Fee, both deceased;
John H. T. Penn, died in infancy j Ann Augusta, married
to D. J. Stewart, and living in Georgetown, Ohio j Mary
Ann; Rebecca, deccased. Of the six children born to Ben­
jamin and Anna (Philips) Penn in Clermont County,
Hanson L. Penn was born Sept. 16, 181:-3, on the Constant
farm, settled in Georgetown, Ohio, where he married a
Miss King, and died June 29,1857. He became one of
the ablest lawyers in Ohio, and occupied the very fore­
ground of his profession, achieving extraordinary success
in business, and b~ his discriminating judgment and in­
domitable energy amassed a large fortune. The other five
children were born at the" Old Penn .Mansion" at Indian
Springs, to wit: Nackey E., married to Milton L. Dilts, of
Kentucky, and still living; Caroline Philips, married to R.
C. Brasher, deceased j Harriet A., first married to Lewis
Broadwell, deceased, and at present wife of Col. William
Howard, of Batavia, Ohio j Benjamin M. Penn, lawyer
and unmarried, died in California; Thomas Granville
Penn, married Miss Morris, was an attorney, and died at
Georgetown, Brown Co" Ohio, of which he was elected
prosecuting attorney.

Benjamin Penn died May 21, 1862, and is interred be­
side his beloved wife-who deceased twelve years later-in
the cemetery at Georgetown, Ohio. The last years of his
long and noble life were sweetened by the smiles and most
loving and teuder care of his daughter,-l\Irs. Stuart, now
:Mrs. Col. \Vm. Howal'd, who ministered to his every want
with most filial and unceasing devotion j and his happy
spirit passed away to his :Maker in perfect peace and joy,
with smiles on his noble countenance for his loving and
aged wife and devoted daughtel's, who never left a kind
office unperformed for his solace and comfort. •

Mr. Penn having been reared in Maryland, one of the
old States; where education had wade considerable progress,
he became a proficient penman and accountant, 'and was
appointed clerk of the courts of Frederick County. Thus,
when quite a young mau, he was placed in immediate con­
tact, and was associated with, probably the most famous
bar of that day, among whom were many illustrious names,
and. of' whom Reverdy .Johnson and Roger B. Taney ac­
quired national filme in the jurispr~dcnce of the land, the
latter becoming chief justice of the United States. Mr.

Penn's position as u member of tha,t brilliant eourt for sev­
eral years in~pired him with those high and enlarged views
of human affairs and society which marked his career
through life. Though quiet and modest, he possessed all
the instincts of a gentleman, and could always rise above
the narrow and petty prejudices which frequently disturb
the harmony of society. He was for half a century a con­
sistent member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and
was in every sense truly a Christian gentleman. After
recovering from the pecuniary embarrassments previously
alluded to, by- prudent management and good judgment,
assisted brgely in his financial troubles and through life by
his very fi-ugal and indu:strious wife, he acquired a hand­
some property, which he distributed to his children at dif­
ferent times before his death, thus administering on his
own estate, leaving an ample and large support in motley
and real estate at the disposal of his beloved .wife. Fol­
lowing the example of hel' husband, she also, dUl'ing life,
distributed her property among 1101' children, so that, at
her death, the whole estate was settled up as near as could
be by' her, and to the entire satisfaction of all the heirs.
Benjamin Penn was an honest man of humane disposition
and of broad Christian principles, and left an enduring
monument in a life of industry and inte~rity. The impress
of his character was neyer forgotten by his children, or by
the business world in which he was a prominent actor, or
by society of which he was a bright ornament. . A Chris­
tian in faith and by practice, his dealings with mankind
were in perfect accord with the tenets he believed, and
which in all his intercourse with the world he scrupulously
carried out. Although generous and kind he was me­
thodical in business, and was the most splendid type of the
old-school gentlemen and pioneers of active minds and
liberal hearts who, at the beginning of the century, con­
tributed so much to civilization in the' opening up of the
Ohio Valley, and who, after lives of usefulness to humanity,
have been gathered at ripe old ages unto their fathers.

ANNA (PHILIPS) PENN.

Anna (Philips) Penn was the youngest daughter of
Samuel Philips, of Frederick Co., Md., and was born Feb.
15,1785, near Frederick City. Her ancestry were English,
and among the earliest and best-known families who came
to America soon after J.Jord Baltimore. -She was married
at Frederick City, Jan. 7, 1802, to Benjamin Penn, a
gra~dson of Edward Penn, an English gentleman of birth
and education, who, like her family, had sought a refuge in
the Maryland colony for those Quaker principles which
were then agitating the English gentry, and which were
persecuted as a crime. Annoyed in the exercise of his
faith by persecution, he came to Amt!rica to enjoy his re­
ligion under more tolerant and better political and religious
tendencies. In the fall of 1811, Anna (Philips) Penn and
her husband, Benjamin Penn, with their young family,
emigrated to Ohio, crossing the mountains by wagon to
Pittsburgh, and descending the Ohio HiveI' in a flat-boat,
as was then customary, and settled first on Little Indian
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Creek, in what is now Franklin township, and two years
later at Indian Springs, in "'tVashington township. .

Indian Springs was the happy· home of Mrs. Penn and
her husband until 1839, when they removed to Georgetown,
where they afterwards resided until their deaths. Here also
lived their sons, Hanson L. and Thomas Granville, both at­
torneys of the Brown County bar, and their daughters, Ann,
Augusta Stewart, and :Mrs. Harriet A. Broadwell, now
:Mrs. Col. 'William Howard, of Batavia. The mothers of
both Benjamin Penn and his wife, Anna (Philips) Penn,
were descendants of the Sargents, a family eminent both in
the political and ecclesiastical history of Maryland and Ohio j

in the early settlement of which latter State it took a con­
spicuous part. When Anna (Philips) Penn settled with her
husband, in 1811, at Indian Springs; in this county, the
country was new, hardships frequent, and privations many;
but she engaged zealously in all the active duties of the
time and location, and was a noble helpmate to her hus­
band, who was extensively employed in milling, merchan­
dising, and farming. :Mrs. Penn was a frail woman in
physical structure, but of unfaltering spirit and orderly
habits, and made up in force of will what she lacked in
physical ruggedness. She became a useful member of that
community, and was a worthy representative of those pio­
neer matrons who did so much in forming the character of
our Western civilization. Although of Quaker ancestry,
she and her husband having settled in a community where
:Methodism prevailed, she united herself with that de­
nomination, and in early days her hospitable home was often
visited by the circuit riders and preachers in their pilgrim­
ages through the country. Mrs. Penn was more than an
ordinury woman, possessing a mind singularly bright and
vigorous. She was an acute and interested observer of the
political events of our country from the beginning of the
present century, in which, so far as a woman might, she
took a warm and active part, and saw during the late Re­
bellion her grandsons go forth as the embodiment of' those
convictions which were dearer to her than life. She was a
warm personal friend of Gen. Grant, whoni she had known
from his birth, and whom sh~ had lived to see twice elected
to the Presidency.

Having early connected herself with the Methodist Epis­
copal Church, as long as she was able to attend the out­
ward ministrations of religion her place in the church was

never vacant, and her consistent Christian life was a bright
example to all about her. Her society was most instruc­
tive and entertaining j her memory was an inexhaustible
store-house of facts, and her habit of reading, kept up to
the last, made her as much at home in discussing the topics
of the day as she was in relating the trials and struggles of
those 'hardy men whose brave efforts amid exposure, toils,
and dangers rescued our fair State from the wild beasts and
the equally cruel savage, and planted the rose and the vine
on the site of the wigwam and the torture-stake. Of clear
perception, with sound judgment, she was ever found on the
side of right and justice. She was the earnest advocate, .
in word and deed, of enterprises which tended to advance
the moral and social welfare of woman, but was unsparing
in her opposition to all things that had the opposite tendency.
Possessing a firm will, she was yet gentle and sympathetic,
but when incited to action was assertive in opinion, yet
quiet in manner and most careful not to encroach upon the
rights of others in word or action. When, in e,xtreme old

. age, she could no longer walk or hear well, by reason of the
feebleness of physical organs, God preserved to her mental
strength, and the clearer vision of the soul to see and
know.

Benjamin Penn, her loving husband, died May 21, 1862,
in his eighty-sixth year, but she was by Providence spared
until Aug. 16, 1874, when, in her eighty-ninth year, her
sweet spirit returned to God. Anna (Philips) Penn was
in her declining years singularly blessed in the loving care

. of her daughters. It was pleasant to behold how the pil­
grimage of her declining years was cheered, sweetened, and
made light by the patient, watchful care of' filial love.
Whilst each daughter was loving, helpful, and kind, in an
especial manner were these duties discharged towards her
aged mother by the then 1\1rs. Harriet A. Broadwell, now
Mrs. Col. 'William Howard, a lady· of wealt.h and culture
and one of society's brightest ornaments. Her devotion to
her mother was untiring, and rendered with most filial and
loyal love in Christian faith.

The death of :Mrs. Penn broke one of the most vener­
able links that connected Southern Ohio with the past, and
left the people of Clermont and Brown Counties the hal­
lowed memory of a long, a useful, and blameless life to
admire, as well' as to adorn their brightest and grandest
historic annals.
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MONROE is one of the river townships, and i3 bounded
on the east by Tate and 'Vashington, on the west by Ohio
and Pierce, and on the north by Batavia and Tate. The
surfhce of the townsllip from tIle centre northward is gen­
erally level, or only slightly broken along the streams of Ten­
and Twelve-Mile Creeks and Ulrey's Run, whose sources
are in Monroe. Along the streams draining into the Ohio
the hills are rugged and often precipitous, so as to unfit
them for cultivation. The bottom-Ianus along the Ohio
are small, the river hills extending close to the stream. In
many places they are rocky, and from them an excellent
quality of stone is procured, there being several fine quar­
ries. The principal stream flowing southward is Indian
Creek, whose main branch comes from 'Vashington, a few
miles above its mouth. It ernptie8 into the Ohio near the
southeastern corner of Monroe j in the southwestern corner
is the mouth of Boat Run, a fine little stream, flowing from
the interior of the township. Other small streams abound,
and the water-supply is generally sufficient for ordinary
purposes. The soil is adapted for a variety of products,
and while generally fertile is much better in some localities,
which, in consequence, contain finer im·provements than
other parts of the township. As an agricultural township
Monroe ranks well.

THE PIONEERS.

The first settlement in the township was made at the
mouth ot' Indian Creek, by David Colclazer, as early as
1796, probably in the fall of the previous year. As he
removed before 1812, but 'little is remembered of his his­
tory. He spent most of the time hunting, and supplied
many of the early settlers of southern Clermont with game,
which was no difficult matter at that time, when the woods
were full ot' wild animals, and fowls were along all the
streams. One of his neighbors, whose settlement was
effected soon after, was Larry Byrns, a Revolutionary sol­
dier, who died at Point Pleasant, near the beginniqg of the
present century. One of' his sons, William, married a
daughter of Gen. Presley Neville, and another son, George,
married a daughter of Andrew Buchanan j and both these
men died in Washington township. Other early settlers
by the name of Jones and 'Veldon Iived along the Boat
Run, but it seemed that they were not permanent, anu no
account of them can here be given.

Probably next in the order of time was the settlement
made in the northern part of the township by Jacob Ulrey.
He located on what. is now known as Ulrey's Run, near the
Bantam fair-grounds, March 11, 1798. He was born near
·:Frederick, Md., Dec. ~2, 1768, and when but a boy his
fathOL' imruip;rated to Washington Co., Pa. In April, 1790,
he was married to Hannah West, an aunt of Judge Wil-
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Iiam West, of Ohio, and a woman of great worth and
many strong traits of character. In 1794, Jacob Ulrey
built a flat-boat, and, loading it with provisions, im­
plements, horses, and cattle, started down the Ohio for
Louisville, Ky. He was accompanied by his wife, one
child, and a hired man, and although the voyage was full
of peril, on account of the Indians who infested the shores
of the river, nothing transpired to alarm them until near
their destination, when the descending ice threatened their
destruction. After making a number of unsuccessful at·

. tempts to land, a man came to their assistance about ten
miles above the falls at Louisville. He was in a pirogue,
yet on acc~unt of the ice he could not reach the boat by
twenty feet. It required but a moment for Ulrey to decide
what should be done. Hastily removing the roof of the
boat, it was shoved across the ice to the pirogue, and over
this frail bridge the family passed in safety to their rescuer,
who landed them on the Kentucky shore. The flat.boat
being now at the mercy of the ice floated down the river,
and was found the next day ten miles below the falls, at the
mouth of Salt Creek, but little injured. Gathering up his
goods, he started for a small village twenty-five miles from
Louisville, where he bought a farm and lived until his set­
tlement in Monroe. He also was a great hunter, and
spent the first few years he was in Clermont in hunting,
killing, it is said, 100 deer in a single year, the. meat of
which he divided among his few neighbors, and the skins
brought him quite an amount of money. Jacob Ulrey was
a brave man, and his valor as a soldier and regulator of the
evils of frontier life is elsewhere mentioned. He died in
1838, and his consort in 1842.

They had nine children,---=George, born in Pennsylvania,
in 1792 j Jacob, in Kentucky, in 1794; Susan, in Monroe,
Sept.. 12, 1798; Esther, in 1800 j Daniel, in 1802 j Ste­
phen, in 1805; Hannah, in 1807 j John, in 1809 j and
William, in 1813. The latter is yet a citizen of Stollelick,
and for thirty-five years has been a merchant at Boston.
Susan, the first born in Clermont, became the wife of Philip

.Gatch, and attained a greater age than any other native of
the territory now embraced within the limits of the county.

William Slye, a native of Virginia, settled on the head­
waters of Bear Creek before 1800, but·removed to Monroe
township, where he died at the age of eighty-five years. He
had been in the Revolution, and lost a leg in the service. His
fi\mily was composed of four~ons and two daughters, viz.,
-Samuel Slye, who carried on a saw-mill on Twelve-Mile
Creek j Jonathan, a tanner, who removed to Missouri j

William removed to Sandusky; Joseph became a boatman
on the Ohio, and yet resides at Portsmouth; and one of the
daughters married George Harvey, of .Monroe.

Samuel Jackson came from Cumberland, Md., to Cle1'-
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mont in 1798, settling on Maple Run, in Washington,
where he followed his trade, tanning. About 1810 he
moved to Indiana, but in a year returned to Clermont, and
settled in Monroe, near Nicholsville, where he died in 1845.
He also had a tannery at this place, and about 1820 paid
his attention to the nursery business, in which he continued
until his death. He was one of the first in this business
in the county, and introduced many valuable varieties of
fruit. Of his six sons, Jacob is ),et a resident of Monroe.

In 17i34, John Simmons emigrated from England to
Pennsylvania, where Adam Simmons was born in 1747,
and where, in 1770, he married Mary Hatton. In 1798
they immigrated to Clermont, living temporarily at the
mouth of the Bullskin, in the Fee neighborhood, and the
same year they formed a Methodist class there, of which
Adam Simmons was the leader. Soon after 1800 he
moved to Monroe, and settled on the farm now occupied by
hi!" grandson, Leonard, west of Laurel, where he died July
23, 1827, at the age of eighty years, and his wife four )'ears
later was interred in the same cemetery, Carmel. Their
family consisted of childl'en named John, Leonard, James,
Adam, IWen, Margaret, Mary, Nancy, Betsy, and Sally, all
of whom attained mature years. John removed from Ken­
tucky to Indiana. James Simmons eame with his father
to Monroe, and settled on. an adjoining farm, but before his
death, in 1855, had removed to Laurel. His sons were the
Rev. William, a minister. among the Methodists for fifty­
four years, who died at Xenia in 1874 j Hatton, born in
the county in 1800, and who yet resides at Laurel j Elisha
B., who died in Monroe in 1876; James removed to Mis­
souri j Leonard, livin?; on the Adam Simmons place; Ben­
jamin a., living in Cincinnati j and John died a young
man. His daughters married Robert Nichols, of Monroe,
and Thomas Hitch, of Tate.

Leonard Simmons, after immigrating from Pennsylvania,
lived in Kentucky until 1812, when he moved to Monroe,
set.tling on the farm now owned by John Bainum and others,
where he died in 1835. He had sons named Pollard, 'Ves­
ley, and James B., who removed to Illinois j and Willis,
John A., IJeonard, and Sanford, who died in the county.
His daughters married into the BettIe, Buchanan, and
Gates families.

Adam Simmons, the youngest of the Simmons brothers,
married Sarah Hitch in 1814, and lived on the homestead
until his death, in 1828. He was the father of John H.
Simmons, of Felicity, and William Simmons, of Iowa. His
four daughters married Joseph P. Molen, and Drs. Small,
Ritchie, and Williams.

The daughters of Adam Simmons, Sr., were married,
Ellen, to Peter Wolf, of Monroe j Nancy, to John Hitch,
of Tate; Mary, to William Debruler, who lived south of
Laurel j Margaret, Betsy, and Sally, to Joseph, Benjamin,
and Thomas Lakin, who were early settlers in the southern
part of Monroe, but who removed to Indiana. Other de­
scendants of the Rev. Benjamin Lakin yet live near Point
Pleasant.

The Doles were of Quaker origin and settled in this
country in New Jersey. In the spr.ing of 1805, Joseph
Dole and his family came to Clermont, settling at Nichols­
ville the following year. He died in 1846, having had a

family of 16 children, 12 of whom attained mature years.
Joshua, who settled in the westp,rn part of the county j Jo­
seph, Jonathan, and Learner removed to the West j John
was a Methodist minister, and died in Indiana j and Elisha
S. is a local minister, residing at L~urel j and of' the
daughters, Mary married John Hardin, of Williarnsburgh,
and 4.nna, Henry Hutson, of Monroe.

Peter McLain, another native of New Jersey, settled two
miles south of Nicholsville in 1806. His family consisted
of sons named Andrew, who settled 110rth of Laurel, and
was for many years an itinerant minister in the Methodist
Church, and afterwards held the relation of local preacher j

James, the second son, settled on an adjoining farm, where
he yet resides at the age of eighty-four years j John lived
in the llame neighborhood until his death, being also a
Methodist preacher j 'Vesley was a merchant at Nichols­
ville, and Merrick removed before his death. Of the two
daughters, Sarah was the wife of George Brown, of Monroe,
and Amy of i\IcKendree Thompson, of Washington.

About the same time the 'Vidow 'Vina~s, with her
family, who had lived with the Doles, at Bullskin, settled
north of Nichoisville. She had two sons, Obadiah, who
became very prominent in local affairs and died in Monroe,
and William, who became a Methodist minister and joined
the Church South, becoming a doctor of divinity and one
of the leading spirits of that branch of Methodists. Of
her daughters, Asenath and Martha- married John and
Daniel McCullom, the latter a soldi~r in 1812.

Peter Frambes immigrated from New Jersey to Monroe
township in 1806, settling in the NicholsviIIe nei?;hborhood.
In 1824 he removed to Williamsburgh, where he died in
1873. He was a soldier of 1812, and became a very aged
man. One of his sons, Andrew, is yet living at Bethel,
and Joseph and James in Illinois.

Later came William Huling, from New Jersey, and
settled on Ulrey's Run. He was a Revolutionary soldier,
and died in 18~(), Of his sons, Samuel settled on the farm
now owned by John Slye j William on part of the home
farm j Abraham removed to Indiana j Jacob A., at the age
of' eighty years, yet lives on the homestead j and Isaac on
the Ohio turnpike north of that place. At the same time,
or near that period, John McCullom settled on the present
McKown place, George Iler in Tate, and Jacob lIcr in
Washington, all coming from New Jersey. 'fhe Shannon
family were also natives of that State, but moved to this
part of Monroe from Philadelphia in 1813. In 1839, John
Shannon removed to New Richmond, and from there to
Cincinnati. E. R. Shannon., a son, yet lives at New Rich­
mond, and other sons removed to the 'Vest.

The Nichols family came from Virginia to the Miami
country some time about the beginning of the present cen­
tury. In 1807, Nathan Nichols purchased 800 acres of
land in the western part of Monroe, which he came on to
occupy about that time or soon after. He lived and died
on the place now owned by Jonathan B. Nichols, about
1824, aged fleventy-five years. His family consisted of sons
named Philip, who died on part of' the homestead in 1861,
and who had sons named Thomas L., Nathan C., Philip
A., and EIisha,-all but two yet living in the county j his
daughters married .Jacob Jackson and Joseph Reed. Wil-
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Ham, the second son, died on the original purchase, leaving
nine children. The third son, John, died a young man at
the salt-works at Pomeroy. The fourth son, Elijah, lived
in Monroe, where he was born in 1812; his family consisted
of sons Jonathan and 'fhomas B., both living in Monroe;
and a daughter married John Ferguson. David, the fifth
son, a cabinet-maker, after living on the Big Indian moved
to Hamilton County. Of the other sons, Nathan lived
and died in the Buchanan settlement in 'Vashington; Ro­
bert H. was a Methodist preacher, and lived at Laurel;
Thomas J. was a physician, who died at the age of twenty­
three; and Jonathan B.; the ;youngest, ;yet lives on the
homestead in Monroe. There were in the family two
daughters, who married Hatton and James B. Simmons.

An account of the Ferguson and Shaw families, some of
whom settled in this part of l\lonroe,-the Franklin neigh­
borhood,-is given in the history of Ohio township. South
.from here the pioneer was Josiah Carnes, who died on the
farm yet occupied by his son, J~ewis,-a man upwards of
eighty years of age; another son, William, lived at New
Richmond many years, but removed to Illinois; and Josiah
is yet living in Indiana. The daughters married James and
Elijah Noble and John 1.\1. Browning. John, James, and
Nathan Corbin, natives of Maryland, settled in the central
part of Monroe after 1812. The latter had sons named
Abraham, John, and James; and his daughters married
Henry Pm'kiser, 'Villiam Bainum, .John Hutson, and Wil­
liam 'V. Gardner. At the house of the latter, in Monroe
township, Nathan Corbin died May 7, 1876, aged nearly
one hundred years.

Everett BettIe was of Quakcr parentage. In 1807 he
came from Philadelphia and purchased a thousand acres of
land, extending from the Ohio River northward, along the
western line of Monroe, which he and his family occupied.
Of his sons, John and Josiah became business men at New
Hichmond; Samuel lived on the place now occupied by
Thomas 'Willis; Everett became a physician, and went
South; one of the daughters married Thomas Glisson and
another 'Villiam McDonald.

On a part of the BettIe purchase Absalom Cook settled,
at. a later day, and had sons, who were reared here, named
William; Joshua, and George. The daughters married
Bennett. and Uice. Descendants of William Cook yet live in
Monroe.

Some time after 1812, David 1\1oreton, a native of Penn­
syh'ania, purchased a tract of land at the mouth of Boat
Hun, which he improved, and lived there until his death.
lIe had sons named l\Iathias, Jonathan, and Isaac. The
former two removed to the 'Vest. Isaac, in his younger
days, was a trader among the Indians, and was taken captive
by a hostile tribe. On being released he went back to
Pennsylv~nia, and afterwards came on to live in 1.\lonroe.
He was a merchant a few years at Point Pleasant, but re­
turned to Boat Run, where he died from the effects of being
thrown from a horse. He had t.hree sons,~ 'William, who
died in Monroe; Isaac removed to Iowa; and David, yet
living on the old 'fhomas Fee farm, in Washington. .

In 1805, James Cooper, a native of Ireland, but who
came here fmm Pennsylvania, settied on the Big Indian,
where he lived until 1812, when he moved into Monroe,

but in 1825 went to DaytOll. His eldest daughter married
'Vm. Noble, and his son John has been a resident of
southem Monroe almost his entire lifetime, and' a merchant
at Point Pleasant since 1839.

In this locality 'V. H. Bushman settled in 1813, and
part of his purchase is yet owned by his sons, Isaac, 'Vil­
liam, and Abraham; othel' SOllS were Dtwid, D,llliel, Lewis,
and John, who lived in the township until their decease.

On Boat Run John Flannegan located about 1810, and
the fitrm is yet in possession of his descendants.

Mathew Clark was a pioneer in this section, and lived to
be more than ninety-two years of age. Of his two sons,
John and William R., the former yet resides near Cler­
montville.

In 1805, Thomas Page moved from Burlington, N. J.,
to a fitI'm in Tate, which became known as the Simpson
place, and on which he erected a brick house in 180;. In
1815 he moved to Point Pleasant, where he had the first
store, and after residing there a number of years moveu to
Cincinnati, where he died in 1855, aged eighty-three years.
His family had among other members a son, John, who
married Rachel Hartman, of Jackson, Jan. 9, 1817, and
who, after living a few years at Point Pleasant, settled east
of Laurel, where they yet reside at extreme ages,-eighty­
five and eighty-three years. Abner, the third 80n of Thomas
Page, married a tlaughtp,r of' Levi Pigmall, and settled on
the Big Indian, a mile above Puint Pleasant, where he died
in 1827. Living as a neighbor to Juhu :Page was John
Boys, who settled here about 1815, and was killed by a
falling tree. Farther west John Brown was the pioneer,
and one of his sons, K G. Brown, yet lives in the northern
part of Monroe. John Fisher, SOil of Adam. Fisher, of
'Vashington, settled about this period on the farm now
owned by his' son, F. 1.\1. Fisher. John L., another son,
lives in 'fate.

'Villiam Pollard came from Kentucky, settling where is
now Laurel about 1811. He died about 1858. His sons
removed to Kentucky and to Cincinnati.

"About the year 1814 the John Woodford survey, No.
1156, was offered for sale by Maj. Parker, of Lexington,
Ky., and George Brown, of Ohio,-Parker selling the west
half, and James Simmons acting ~ his agent. Emigration
now set in rapidly, and the following settlers soon bought
in the woods and began to clear the land. We will name
them as near as we can in the order in which they came:
Thomas Hitch, Sr., who came from Kentucky; John Cor­
bin, Sr., who, I believe, came from Maryland, and settled
in the Hound Bottom road, near where Carmel Cemetery
now is, about the year 1815. His brother, Abram Corbin,
settled just north of him, where Joseph Turner now lives,
and Nathan Corbin, son of John Corbin., settled just across
the road from Abram Corbin. John Marsh, from Ken­
tucky, came next, and then William P. Lakin came, and
"Started a potter-shop at a very early day. William Pollard,
from Mason Co., Ky., bought the land where Laurel now
stands, and started a rope-walk,-first at Leonard Sim­
mons', and.then on his farm. He furnished the country
around with bed-cords, cables, plow-lines, fishing-lines, and
sometimes with traces for the harness. South of 'William
Pollard purchases were made by William Debruler, Thomas
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1ft James B. Simmons.

THE PROPERTY-HOLDERS IN 1826.

In the list here appended appear the names of all per­
sons who paid taxes on real and personal property in 1826.
In case a tax was paid only on real estate t~e owner was
most likely a non-resident of the township at that peri~d,

and such n~mes are indicated by an asterisk.

Lakin, and Michael Huling, and further north were John
Fisher· and Ralph Naylor. All the above, I think, bought
near the same time,-say about the years 1814 and 1815.
A little later, John Hitch, HamiltonRced, Nathan Corb~n,

Sr., and 'Vcsley Simmons bought in the woods and com­
mwced clearing their farms. Samuel Pollard, who came
from Kentucky with my fhther, and purchased land on the
McDougal survey, soon after sold to Hezekiah Bainum,
and moved back to Kentucky. 'Villiam and Chambers
Stewart, of Cynthiana, Ky., bought and cleared land just
north of where Laurel now srands, but never moved over;
but Thomas L. Stewart and Chambers Stewart, Jr., came
over and occupied the land.

" These all bought land on Parker's part of Woodford's
survey. Those who bought of George Brown, who sold
the cast half of the survey in this neighborhood, were
Stephen Bennett, John Boys, SI·., and John McCarty, who
was· the first blacksmith in that region. The father of John
Rogers bought where Dr. Kennedy now lives, a~d aMI'.
}~\'ans, and Ibclieve a Mr. Day, where Hev. Andrew S.
McLeun afterwards lived. 1\11'. Evans was the first shoe­
maker in the neighborhood."*

Of the settlements made at a later day, the one so favor­
ably known as "the Scotch settlement" is the most prom,.
inent. In 1821, John Porter, Alexander Porter, Janet
Johnston, John Johnston, and John McNair, natives of
Argyleshire, Scotland, landed at Philadelphia, and crossing
the mountains, purchased a flat-boat at Pittsburgh, de­
scended the river to Neville, where they temporarily lived.
In 1823 they settled just north of NieholsviIle, where one
of the party, Alex. Porter, yet resides, nearly eighty-eight
years old. The Clark, Campbell, McKown, and other
Scotch families were added to the settlement in time, whieh
extended itself northward and into Tate. Almost without
exception the descendants of the above have become among
the most useful· citizens of the township: distinguished for
their industry, intelligence, and integrity. ~rheir well-kept
farms, fine buildings, and improved stock have given the
settlement a merited reputation and words of praise from
all who visit that part of the county, which is one of the
most desirable inaB Clermont.

Monroe having belonged to Ohio and Washington until
so late a period (1825), much of its pioneer history is given
in those townships, and in addition the names of other
pioneers appear among

Armacost, John.
Allcn, :Mluion, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Alloway, C.harlcs.
Archard, John, No. 2497; Thos.

O\"erton, original proprietor.
;;lArmstrong, Samuel, No. 913;

F. O'Neal, orig. prop.

~lAvery,:Henry,No. 415; L. But-
lcr, original proprietor. .

Boys, William, No. 1156; John
Woodford, orig. prop.

Bennett, Stephen.
Boys, John.
Barkley, James, No. 2497; Thos.

Overton, original proprietor.

Baioum, Hezekiah.
Bushman, John.
Byrns, Philip B.
Bushman, Henry, No. 415; Law-

rcnce Butler, orig. prop.
Bushman, Daniel.
B.ushman, David.
Brown, Margaret, No. 1768; John

l\lcDougal, orig. prop.
Barkley, Henry.
Barton, Edward, No. 913; Fcrdi­

nand O'Neal, orig. prop.
Bettie, Everard, No. 847; Robt.

Bcal, original proprietor.
Bettie, Josiah, No. 1761;·Samuel

McCraw, original proprietor.
Bettle, Samuel, No. 6,16; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
Bchymer, Martin.
Barkley, George, No. 1156 ; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Bninum, William.
BI·own, Sarah.
Bailiff, Daniel.
Bartholomew, Led, No. 6222;

Hile and TayIOl·, orig. props.
Bailiff, Edmond.
*Barldey, William, No. 1768;

John McDougal, orig. prop.
';lBrown, George, No: 913; Ferdi­

nand O'Neal, orig. ·prop.
;,lBushman and Low, No. 415;

Lawrence Butler, orig. prop.
';lBarber, Nathan, Jr., No. 1761;

Samuel McCraw, orig. prop.
Corbin, John, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Corbin, John, Jr.
Corbin, Abraham S.
Clark, Mathew, No. 646; Alex.

Parker, original proprietor.
Clenney, Joseph.
Corbin, Nicholas, No. 1156 ; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Cook, Absn.1om.
Corbin,. Abraham, Sr.
Corbin, Nathan, No. 17~S; John

:McDougal, orig. prop.
Craig, John.
Carnes, Lewis.
Corbin, Abraham, Jr.
Carnes, Josiah, No. 1768; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Cordery, Vincent, No. 939; Bev­

erly Roy, original proprietor.
Cook, William, No. 913; Ferdi­

nand O'Neal, orig. prop.
*Chapml!-n, Zachariah, No. 1543;

John Harri~on, orig. prop.
*Chalfant, Robert, No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
*Carnes, William, No. 1760;

Samuel :McCmw, orig. prop.
. Dcnnis, John, No. 2497; Thomas

Overton, original proprietor.
Dole, Joseph, No. 11911; Law-

rence Butlcr, orig. prop.
Debruler, William.
Dickson, Polly.
Donham, Duvid.
Donham, Jonathan.
Doughty, Robert, No. 4919; John

Green, original proprietor.
Diekins~n, Morgan, No. 1543;

John Harrison, orig. prop.

Donham, John.
Dawson, Joseph, No. 6222; Hite

and Tltylor, orig. props.
Dawson, John.
Debrulcr, Jacob.
Day, Murk.
Dole, Joshua.
*Donham,JonathanS., No. 2497;

Thomas Overton, orig. prop.
*Daily, Evi, No. !.I39; Beverly

Roy, original proprietor.
Eaton, Ezekiel.
Emmons, Elisha, No. 1199; Law­

rence Butler, orig. prop,
Evans, Joseph, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Eggleston, Joseph, No. 1197 ;

Joseph Eggleston, orig. prop.
-Flanagan, Jane.
Fox, Dnnie!.
Freeborn, Jacob.
Ferguson, Hugh, No. 1760 ; Sam­

uel McCraw, ori~. prop.
Fisher, J ohn, No. 1768 ; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Freed, Israel, No. 913; Ferdinand

O'Neal, orig. prop.
Fitzpatrick, Solomon, No. 1199;

Lawrence Butler, orig. prop.
Fee, J ac.ob.
Frazee, Stephen.
Fee, Elisha.
Gilman, John, No. 1768; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Gates, James H., No. 2497; Thos.

Overton, orig. prop.
Gilman, James.
Gillespie, Chloe.
Huling, Michael, No. 1156; John

Woodford, o~ig. prop.
H uling, Isaac.
Herron, David.
Hoke, Philip H.
Huling, SaIliuel.
Harp, David~

Huling, Jacob, No. 939; Beverly
Roy, orig. prop.

Harvey, George M., No. 1239;
Oliver To\vles, orig. prop.

Hutson, William, No.1l5~; John
Woodford, orig. prop.

~utson, David.
Hit~h, John, No. 1156 ; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Hitch, Thomas, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Hancock, David.
Hancock, John.
Hays, John, No. 913; Ferdinand
" O'Neal, orig. prop. .
;,lHarrison, John, No. 1543; John

Harrison, orig. prop.
*Hunt, Jesse.
lams, J ohu, No. 939; Beverly

Roy, original prollrietor.
Jones, Enoch.
Jackson, Joseph, No. 939; Bev­

erly Roy, orig. prop.
Jackson, Henry.
Jackson, Sllmuel, No. 913; Fer­

dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.
Johnston, J anett, No. 12:~9; Oli­

ver Towles, orig. prop.
*Johnston, John, No. 939; Bev­

erly Roy, orig. prop.

49
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At that period tho owners of lots in the village of Point
Pleasant were Philip B. Byrns, James Bell, Gibbons Brad­
bury, Andrew Bailey, Henry Bushman, Joseph Clenny,
Robert Chulfilllt, ·Wm. Dickson, Ezekiel Eaton, Jacob
Freeborn, Jesse Fee, James Lindsey, John Molyneaux,
Isaac Moreton, Isaac Mitchell, Hart Mulloy, Henry Noble,
Thomas Page, James Smith, John Thompson, ·'Nilson L.
Thompson, Enoch James, Steele, Pigman & Lytle.

The village property was valued at $.6306, and it was
taxed $37.05. The total number of acres in the township
were 15,920, valued at $62,548, and taxed at $367.4;. The
number of horses were 305, worth $12,200; cattle 506,
worth $4048; merchandise capital, $3700; and the total
tax was only $117.20.

CIVIL GOVERNMENT.

In pursuance of a notification by the commissioners of
Clermont County, the first election of the newly-organized
township was held June 25, 1825, at the house of Thomas
Hitch, Sr., when the following were elected: John Rogers,
John ~Iarsh, and Isaac Mitchell; Trustees; George Palmer,
Clerk; "'-iV. P. Lakin, Treasurer; Henry Mitchell, Con­
stable; Leonard Simmons and Thomas Hitch, Sr., Over­
seers' of the Poor; Abner McLain and Thomas Thoma:::,
Fence-V~ewers. At that time Thomas J.Jindsey was one of
the justices of the peace, and the same year Philip B. Byrns
and Obadiah "'-iVinans were commissioned to that office.

From the records it appears that Feb. 11, 1826, Wm.
Ca~nes, constable, was ordered to warn a black man by the
name of Wm. Hood to depart the township.

The grand jurors selected for the next few years follow­
ing the organization of Monroe were as follows: Peter Mc­
~ain, Joseph Jackson, Thomas Lindsey, Philip Nichols,

. Daniel Bailiff, James Simmons, Wm. HutsoD) Joseph Dole,
Sr., Timothy Rardin, Wm. Ross, Sr., Leonard Simmons,
and J ephtha Moore; and the petit jurors for the same period
were Nicholas Corbin, Obadiah 'Vinans, John Shaw,
Samuel Jackson, Thomas Page, John Boyce, Wilson L.
Thompson, S~muel Slye, Edward Sapp, and Laird Stew­
art.

Johnston, J aDles.
;*Johnston, Willinm, No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
Klingler, John.
Klingler, Frederick.
Lindsey, Thomas, No. 415; Law­

rence Bntler, orig. prop.
Light, Daniel, Jr., No. 91:3; Fer­

dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.
Light, Jacob, Jr., No. 913; Fer­

dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.
Leeels, Absalom, No. 928; Thos.

Pearson, orig. prop.
J.eeds, John, No. 2i4; William

Green, original proprietor.
Lindsey, Elijah.
Lakin, William !>., No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
;*Light, George C., No. 1199;

Laurance Butler, orig. prop.
;ilLytle, William, No. 6222; Hite

& Ta,Ylor, orig. props.
;ilLane, Shadraeh, No. 937; John

B. Johnston, orig. prop.
McCarter, William, No.1] 56;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
Marsh, John, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Mitchell, Isaae.
Molyneaux & Thompson.
l\Iol'yneaux, John.
Moreton, Dadd, No. 646; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
Moreton, William, No. 646; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
Maloy, Thomas.
Moore, Jephtha, No. 11,033;

George C. Light, orig. prop.
Mitchell, Henry.
Marsh, William.
Mitchell, James.
McNiel, John, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
McNair, John, No. 9:~9; Beverly

Roy, orig. prop.
Monroe, John.
Morgan, Samuel.
McCollum, John, No. 939; Bev­

erly Roy, orig. prop.
McDonald, William, No. 939;

Be\·erl.y Roy, orig. prop.
l\Iitchell, Henry, No. 646; Alex-

ander Parker, orig. prop.
McClain, James.
Malick, David.
l\IcClain, Peter, No. 3206; Wil­

liam Sewell,orig. prop.
McClain, Wesley.
Marsh, Thomas L., No. 1199;

Lawrence Butler, orig. prop.
McClain, John.
McClain, Andrew, No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
Morford, Daniel.
;*Morgan, ~bel, No. 939; Beverly

Roy, original proprietor.
*Moore, UIi\'er, No. 913; :I!'er­

dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.
;;ll\Iorris, Thomas, No. 913; Fer-

dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.
Noble, Jonathan, Sr.
Noble, Henry.
Noble, Jonathan.
Noble, Elijah.
Nichols, David.

Nichols, Robert H., No.1 93; Fer­
dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.

Nichols, Hannah, No. 1760; SILln­
uel McCl'llw, orig. lJr0P'

Nichols, Elijah, No. 1760; Sam­
uel l\IcCraw, orig. prop.

Nichols, William, No.1760; Sam­
uel McCraw, orig. prop.

Nichols, Philip, No. 1760; Sam­
tiel McCraw, orig. prop.

Noble, James.
Kaylor, Rnlph, No. ]156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Palmer, George, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Page, Thomas.
Peoples, Willinm.
Porter, Alexander, No. 123!J;

Oliver Towles, orig. prop.
Puddser, Maretls.
*Porter, William, No. 1239;

Oliver Towles, orig. prop.
Pollard, Willinm, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Parl,er, Daniel, No. 6-16; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
Reed, Hamilton.
Richey, D. W., No. 415; Law­

rence Butler, orig. prop.
Rardin, Timothy, Ko. 1760; Sam-

uel McCraw, orig. prop.
Rardin, William.
Richardson, .John.
Rardin, D:wid, No. 2497; Thomas

Overton, original proprietor.
Riley, John.
Rardin, James.
Ross, James, No. 939; Beverly

Roy, original proprietor.
Rogers, John, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Rogers, James.
Stewart, Laird P.
Surry, John.
Simmons, Jas. B., No.lI56; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Simmons, Leonard, No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
Stivers, Absalom.
Sherwin, Abigail.
Sherwin, William, No. 415; Law-

rence Butler, orig. prop.
Smith, James L.
Sapp, Ralph.
Sapp, Hartley.
Stairs, John.
Shaw, John, No. 1760; Samuel

McCraw, orig. prop.
Sill, William, Jr.
Sill, George, No. 1760; Samuel

McCmw, orig. prop.
Stibbins, Ebenezer.
Sill, William, Sr.
Sapp, Ed\vo.rd, No. 913; Ferdi­

nand O'Nenl, orig. prop.
Slater, Thomas, No. 1768; John

McDougal, orig. prop.
Smith, Joseph.
Scull, John H., No. 1239; Oli\'er

Towles, original proprietor.
Slye, So.muel, No. 123!!; Oliver

Towles, original proprietor.
Shannon, John, No. !J39; Bey­

!lrly Roy, orig. prop.
Shepard, Asa.

Shinno.man, Henry.
Simmons, Hatton, No. 1156;

John Woodford, orig. prop.
Stewart, Thomas.
Stewart, William, No. 1156; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
Simmons, James, No. )] 56; John

WooMonl, orig. prop.
Simmons, Westley.
Surry, William.
;;lStewart, Robert, No.lI56; John

Woodford, orig. prop.
;;lSwain, Rebecca, No. 2497;

Thomas O\'erton, orig. prop.
;;lStairs, Noble, No. 6-16.
;;lStover,Joseph, No.1616; IIenry

Bayless, orig. prop.
Turner, Joseph C., No. 1156;

•John Woodford, orig. prop.
Thompson, John.
Towner, Abro.haU1.

-Tompkins, Jesse, No. 913; Fer­
dinand O'Neal, orig. prop.

Townsle)', Joseph.

Tracey, Henry, No. 6222; Hite
& Taylor, orig. props.

Thomas, 1'homo.s.
;*Taylor, James, No. 274; Wm.

Green, original proprietor.
Ulrey, Jacob, Sr., No. 928;

Thomas Pearson, orig. prop.
Ulrey, Jacob, Jr.
White, Alexander, No. 2497;

Thomas Overton, orig. prop.
Whilden, l\Iartho..
Wheeler, John.
Winanl'l, Obadiah, No. 939; Be\'-

erly Roy, orig. prop.
Wheeler, David.
Wiatt, Joseph.
Whilney, Hcpsibah.
i;lWhitney, James, No. 274; Wm.

Grecn, original proprietor..
;;'Whilden, Jallles, No. 246; Alex­

ander Parker, orig. prop.
Young, Jacob, No. 6222; I-Iite

and Taylor, orig, props.
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From the treasurer's report, on the first Monday in
March, 1826, we find that seven orders were paid, as fol­
lows, showing how moderate were the expenses of the town­
ship for the fi.rst year: No.1, to 'Vm. P. Lakin, Treasurer,
$1 ; No.2, to 'Vm. Carnes, Constable, 37z' cents; No.8,
to John Rogers, Trustee, $3.75 j No.4, to George Palmer,
Clerk, $3; No.5, to John Marsh, Trustee, $3.75; No.6,
to Isaac Mitchell, Trustee, $3.75; No.7, to P. D. Moss,
Assistant Clerk, 75 cents,-$16.37~.

A township hall was built in 1861. Since the organiza­
tion the principal officers for each year have been:

TRUSTEES.

1825-26.-John Rogers, John Marsh, Isaac Mitchcll.
1827.-John Rogcr!>, Obltdiah Winans, Isaac Mitchell.
1828.-John Rogers, Obadiah Winans, William P. Lakin.
1829-30.-Isaac Mitchell, Obadiah Winans, Hugh Ferguson.
1831.-Isaac Donham, Evi Daily, John McClutter.
1832.-Isaac Donham, John Riley, John McCluttcr.
1833.-Isaac Donham, John Riley, Isaac L. Moreton.
1834.-William Hel'ron, John Riley, Isaac L. Moreton.
1835.-William Hcrron, John Shaw, David Bushmlu.l.
1836.-WiIliam Herron, Obadiah Winans, Isltlle Mitchell.
1837.-Thomas Mulloy, John Clark, Isnac Mitchell.
1838.-Hezekiah Bainulll, Obadiah Winans, Isaac Mitchell.
1839.-Jobn Shaw, Solomon Fitzpatrick, William McWilliams.
184f)-41.-Enoch Tracy, William Moreton, Jobn Cooper.
1842.-Thomas Mulloy, W. L. Thompson, John Cooper.
1843.-Thomas Mulloy, John Lakin, A. C. Corbin.
1844.-N. B. Nichols, John Laldn, A. C. Corbin.
184.5.-R. 1\1. l\1iteh~ll, John Phillips, Jesse Pearcc.
1846.-Solomon Fitzpatrick, William Moreton, Aaron Fagin.
1847. -Jobn Nichols, .John Phillips, John Trecs.
1848-49.-Isaac Mitchell, William Sbaw, Aaron Fagin.
1850-51.-John Nichols, John McNeil, Aaron Becklehcimer.
1852.-Jobn Phillips, John A. Simmons, Aaron Beckleheimcr.
1853.-Jobn Pbillips, Newton Bonner, Aaron Becklcheimer.
1854-55.-John A. Simmons, William Bushman, James Archard.
1856.-Aaron Bennett, John Corbin, Daniel Armacost.
1857-60.-Aaron Bennett, John Corbin, P. H. Barkley.
1861-62.-Perry H. Barkley, William W. Gardner, A. Terwilliger.
1863-64.-Samuel Armacost, William W. Gardner, A. Terwilliger.
1865.-A. Bushman, William W. Gardner, A. Tcrwilliger.
1866.-A. Bushman, William W. Gardner, John Nichols.
1867.-James Garrctt, William W•.Gardncr, John Nichols.
1868.-W. H. Bushman, William W. Gardner, A. Terwilligcr.
1869.-Jamcs Garrctt, Samuel Armacost, David Dunhum.
1870.-James Garrett, Samuel Armacost, John Idlet.
1871-72.-Da\·id Donham, Georgc F. Armacost, John IdIet.
1873.-George W. Lakin, Robert Clark, John Idlet.
1874-75.-P. II. Barkley, Uobert Clark, ~eorge W. Lakin.
1876.-Daniel M. Parker, Thomas W. Hair, H. C. Barkley.
1877.-ltobert Clarl" J. D. Bushman, H. C. Barkley.
1878.-Robert Clark, J. D. Bushman, Hiram McKown.
18iU.-Ira Ferguson, J. D. Bushman, Hiram McKown.

TOWNSHIP CLEH.KS.

1825-28, George Palmer; 1829, Henry C. HutlC'on; 1830-32, John
Rogers; 1833-35, Laird T. Stewart; 1836, Jonathan .Folks; 1837,
WID. Holmes; 1838, John Rogers; 183U-4l, Nathan B. Nichols;
1842, John 'Slye; 1843-4-1., Wm. H. Ferguson; 1845-47, N. B.
Nichols; 1848-49, Wm. H. Fcrguson; 1850-52, Geo. J. Nichols;
1853-54, Wm.Shaw; 1855, C.N.Browning; 1856,RichardMarsh;
1857,Ueo. J. Nichols; 1858-60, W. R. Price; 1801-62, Sampson
Peppers; 1863-64, T. S. Potter; 1865, D. H. Nichols; 18tHi-07,
T. S. Potter; 1868-73, D. H. Nichols; 1874-75, D. M. Parker;
1876, Wm. E. Nichols; 1877, D. II. Nichols; 1878-79, Alex.
Dunn.

TOWNSHIP TH.EASURERS.

1825-26, Wm. P. Lakin; 1827-28, Edward Sapp; 1829-33, Hezekiah
Bltinum; 1834-35, Philip Nichols; 1836-38, John Fisher; 1839,
Timothy Rardin; 1840-43, Solomon Fitzpatrick; 1844, Henry

Barkley; 1845-46, Josiah Carnes; 1847, Jesse Pierce; 1848-49,
John Slye; 1850-52, Solomon Fitzpatrick; 1853-54, Wm. Sta.irs;
1855-50, J. R. H. Simmons; 1857-59, Hatton Simmons; 1860­
64, John D. Widmeyer; 1865-68, John H. Marsh; 1869-71, Ira
Fcrguson; 1872-73, F. E. Bettie; 1874-78,.J. L. Barklcy; 1879,
F. E. Bcttle.

ASSESSOH.S.

1843-44, E. G. Bro\vn; 1845, Wm. H. Fcrguson; 1846, Isaac Don­
ham.; 1847, James Fcrguson; 1848-54, Abner Huntington; 1855,
J. 13. Armacost; 1856, John SIJe; 1857-60, Abner Huntington;
1861, Jonathan Dunham; 1862-63, John 13. Turner; 1864, J. R.
Shaw; 1865-66, A. W. Armacost; 1867-68, Frnnk M. Fisher;
1869, J. W. Simmons; 1870, F. E. Bcttle; 1871, Wm. Idlet;
1872-73, C. C. Brown; 1874-76, E. W. Day; 1877, James Hen­
drixson; 1878-79, S. N. Galbreath.

THE PUBLIC HIGHWAYS.

Regarding the early roads of 'Monroe, James B. Sim­
mons says:

lC When my flltber, Leonard Simmons, mo\·ed upon his new farm
southwest of Laurel, in 1812, thcre wero no roads leading to it except
such as he cleared for his own com'enience, or blazed the trees so as
to find the road or path from place to place.

U The only road that was lail! out in thnt section of country was the
Round Bottom road, leading from Augusta, Ky., to the Round Bot­
tOlD on the Little 1\liami River. This road passed the farm of my
grandfather, Adam Simmons, and the farm of Josiah Carnes. We
had one blazed road-path from our cabin out to the Round Bottom
road to a point called the' Big Bcar Wallow,' now Laurel. This led
us out to Uncle James Simmons, and to grandfather's, about four
miles. We had another blazed road from our c.abin out to the Round
Bottom road, near whcre the Carmel Cemetery is located. This
opened the way to Mr. Carnes', about threc miles. Another blazed
path led out by Thomas Lakin's, afterwards Peddicord's, to the mouth
of Boat Run, \vhcre an old man by the name of Weldon kept the post­
office, about three and a half miles distant. There was another blazed
road down what wc called the dividing ridge, between the forks of
Colclazer, then down that stream to Big India.n. This led to the Big
Indian road. 1\11'. Colclaser and Larry Byms, an old Itevolutionary
soldier, lived on this stream.

"The first regularly laid-out road after 1812 was one from the State
road, at a point two or three milcs west of Bethel, to the Ohio River,
at the mouth of Big Indian Creek, crossing the Round Bottom road
,vhere Laurel now stands. This was called thc Pltge road, because
Thomas Page, Sr., father of John Page, of Laurel, petitioncd for the
road. The starting-point was ncar where he lived, and gave him an
outlet to Point Pleasant. This was {n 1815 or 1816.

"The second road laid out was petitioned for by Hezekiah Bainum,
beO"inninO" at the Round Bottom road, ncar the old Ca.rmcl Cemetery,
th:n pas:ing Bainum's and Peddicord'~, striking the waters of Boat
Run at William Clark's; thencc to the mouth of Bout Run. Lconard
Simmons was one of thc \·iewers of this }·oad. Mr. Bainum soon after
started !L small horse-mill on this road, and then converted it into an
inclined wheel ox saw-mill. Here a vast amount of lumber was sawed
for the neighborhood, and a great deal was hauled to the river and
rafted to Cincinnati for sale.

"The third road laid out was petitioned for by William P. Lltkin.
lIe and Walford Wyatt, Sr., of Fle'ining Co., Ky., having bought the
Eggleston survcy, south of McDougal's and John Woodford's surveys,
were selling it out. Thosc who settlcd in the woods on thl! Eggleston
survey, wcrc Sanford S. Simmons, John ~l.'atman, J oscph Wyatt, John
Hancock, Sr., John Peddicord, John Lakin, and others. They wanted
a road through their lands, and W. P. Laldn petitioned fOI' it to start
ft'oln John Page's road, about twenty rods south of Jamcs B. Sim­
mons' old brick house,-now Dr. Kenncdy's j thcnce southwest by
Thomas Hitch, Sr.,-now Turncr's; thence southwest by William P.
Lakin's pottcr-shop to Round Bottom road, where Bainum's road
sttlrted; thence with said road to wherc thc Monroe township house
now stands; thence by Lconard Simmons' and through the Eggleston
survey, intcrsecting Page~ road again at the mouth of' Dry Run.
This was about 1829. I was one of' the chain-carriers when this road
wlls laid out.

U The fourth road laid out in the old Carmcl neighborhood started
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where Lakin's road struck Colelazcr Crrek in Eggleston's survey;
thence up said branch along Leonard Simlllons' west line and Bai­
num's west line to BainulIl's road j thence to llainum'8 saw-mill,
and then north through the woods to the Round Bottum road, we~t

of John Fisher's.
"The fifth road ran from the left-hand fork of Indian Creek II. hlllf­

mile above Behymer's ruiJI; thence by John Page, John Boy:::, Sr.,
and Stephen Bennett, crossing Page's road where Jacob Fcc now
Ii\'cs, and intersecting the Laldn rond south of Thomas Hitch, Sr.

"It should be remembered that these roads, for the most part, had
to be opened through the woods, and the most that could be done was
to fell the logs and cut the stumps low enough for a wngon to pass
over. Of course, for severn] yenrs, the roads were rough and in a
very bad condition."

In 1826 there were nine road districts, having as super­
visors Philip B. Byrns, John Marsh, Nicholas Corbin, John
lnsher, Hatton Simmons, :Edward Sapp, Samuel Morgan,
James Ross, and Jacob Young. In 1880 the township had
fourteen road disrricts, and the apIiropriations were usually
sufficient to place the highways in good repair. In Mon­
roe are two miles of impro\'ed roads (free turnpikes) in the
northern part; one mile in the west, towards New Rich­
mond; three miles along Boat Run; und five miles along
the Ohio River. The Cincinnati and Portsmouth Rail­
road is graded through the northern part of' the township
eastward, but the people have expressed themselves not
favorable towards a railroad along the Ohio, refusing to
vote aid.

Shipping filCilities are afforded by steamers at Point Pleas­
ant and Clermontville. Speaking of the difficulties of trans­
portation to Cincinnati in carly times, J. B. Simmons said
"that in 1816 the people of the interior of Monroe-Leon­
ard Simmons, William Debruler, Thomas Lakin, John
1\'lar8h, John Fisher, and others-decided to construct a
latge boat, and that for this purpose they went into the
woods to find a large tree to hollow out. They found a
huge poplar, sixty feet clear of branches and five feet
through at the butt, which was shaped into a commo­
dious eanoe under the direction of Hugh Barkley. After
much effort it was taken to the river at Boat Run and
launched, and for five years it bore away the surplus
produce of the townsh!p. It was worked by poling, and
could carry from five to six tons aud a number of passengers
besides."

THE MANUFACTUIUNG INTERESTS

of Monroe have been limited to the common industries.
As already related, pioneer saw-mills were operateu by David
Moreton and the Slye family. After the former mill went
down J olm Clark and Lewis Bushman built another mill,
above the old site and below the State road, at Boat Run,
and afterwards a small grist-mill was added and operated
until 1852, when the diminished fluw of the stream no
longer atforded power. In 1854, Daniel Parker & Son put
up a stcam saw-mill at this .point, which has been operated
by Fridman & Barkley since the fall of 1866. A stave­
machine is run in connection and tobacco hogsheads are
manufactured. Half a dozen hands are employed.

After 1820, Hezekiah Bainum had a saw-mill west of
J..4aurel, which was operated by tread-power, oxen being
used. In aftcr-years a mill was put up which was suppli-ed
wit~ ~~e~m.power~ ~~4 ~~~ding was also done. At Laurel

a chair-factory, having steam-power, was carried on a short
time by Jamcs Tompkins and others.

South of Nicholsville Elisha Emmons had a horse-mill
to grind and an ox-power mill to saw, und after steam-power
had been used some time the mill was moved to Nichols­
ville. He also llad a carding-machine. The mill at Nichols­
ville was erectcd by Fitzpatrick & Emmons, and in time it
was destroyed by fire. Better saw- and grist-mills were
erected on its site, which were largely operated by W. W.
Gardner and others. 1'he machinery of the grist-mill has
been removed, and since 1874 more or less has been done
working on chair-stuffs and chair-making. The present
proprietors are Theodore Steelman and Frank Hewitt.
John Donham and others had mills in former days, but
they have long since passed away.

At his residence W. 'V. Gardner llad a tile-factory,
which was discontinued after a few years' operation.

HAMLETS .AND VILLAGES.

The youngest hamlet in the·township is HULINGTON, so
named in honor of Albert 'V. Huling, who laid it out
where the Cincinnati and Portsmouth Uailroad crosses
Ulrey's Run, :March 5, 1877. The plat embraces 59 lots,
forming 8 blocks on an elevated tract of' ground, making·
the site very eligible; but little progrcss has as yet been
made in improving it. There are but a few houses and no
business places.

CLERl\IONTVILLE.

This hamlet is· on Boat Run, near the mouth of that
stream, on the Ohio, in the southwestern part of the town­
ship. The site was first owned by a man named Newton,
who sold it to David 1\1oreton, a native of Pennsylvania,
about 1815, and soon after he erected a saw-mill on the
Run, from which time its history as a business point dates.
Later, Moreton sold a portion of his purchase to Rev.
Daniel Parker, a Restorationist minister, who afterwards
here founded the Clermont Academy, the only institution
of the kind in the county. Aside from the academy and
its adjunct buildings, there arc about a dozen houses in the
hamlet, which is noted for its moral tone and the beauty of
its scenic surroundings.

In 1836, John Cooper began selling goods on Boat Run,
in a building which has been destroyed by fire. Three
years later he sold out to Franklin :Fridman, who carried
on busiuess ten years at that stand, and in 1849 established
his trade at the academy, or at the present hamlet of Cler­
montville. Here the firm has been in trade ever since,
transacting mercantile, milling, and shipping business,
whose aggregate is not excelled by that of any other fi"m
in the county. Formerly boats landed at the mouth of
Buat Run, but a landing has been made at Parker's, nearer
the place of business of the Fridmans, from which easy
shipping facilities are afforded.

In 1877, Tatman, Fridman & Robinson succeeded the
~'ridman Brothers as tobacco dealers, having warehouses
at Clermontville and at Saltair, in Tate, and yearly pur­
chasing large quantities.

The first post.office in this part of the county was kept
about 1820, for a few years, at the house of' Moses Brad­
bury; who lived on what was later better known as the
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Moreton farm. The Clermontville post-office was estab­
Ijshed July 6, 1875, with George H. Fridman postmaster,
who yet serves in that capacity. A daily mail is supplied
from Cincinnati.

NICIIOLSVILLE.

The original proprietor of the land which forms the site
of this hamlet, situated in the northeastern part of the '
township, was Joseph Dole. About 1825 he sold an acre
of ground from his farm, which lay at the forks of the Fe­
licity and New Richmond roads, to Dilniel Fee, who built
a store and successfully folbwed merchandising eighteen
years, when ile sold· his business 'to Nathan B. Nichols.
Meantime, land had been sold from the Dole farm to
Henry Hutson, saddler; John 'Barton, wagon-maker;
Thomas Stewart, wheelwright.; JaDl~s Fee, blacksmith;
and Totten ,Jackson, cabinet-maker, who put up shops and
house~, and the place soon became ~ thriving business
poi.nt. About this time the shoemaker~ Charles Blackburn,
and the tailor, Jacob Barngrover, died of the smallpox;
which prevailed in this part of. the, township.,

In 18~2, ~. S, Dole, who had become the prop,rietor of
the home Jurm, laid out ubout 6 acres more for village pur~

poses, calling the ~1iole " Feeto~n,'" in honor of the old
merchant, Daniel Pee, In a' few years Erin Cole became
the owner of the Dole interests,' and' in 1847 replatted the
10ts,calIing the place by its present )lame in honor of the
then merchant, N. B. Nichols,' and the' post~office estab­
tablished that year also took the name of' Nicholsville.
"Nichols was succeeded in trade by George T. Layfield,
'W:sley M<?Lain, and the present William Idlet, the latter
'being here elght 'years. At other:stands William Slye
'has been in trade since 1849, and G. 'W: 'Ralls forthe past

, twelve yeu!s, and the three s.tores transacting, in the aggre-
gate, a very large business. , , ' .

Nathan'R Nichols conti.IlUed postmaster until 1851,
when he was succeeded by :William Slye, and his successors
have been the following: 1855, N. B. 'Nichols; 1863,
William Slye; 1871, 'Vesley McLain; 1873, William H.
Idlet. The mail Jssupplied from Clermontyille office. ' ,

Before 1840,Dr. Wilcoxon 'was' the physician 'of this part
of Monroe, a~d ,then came Dr. Wilson Thompson, 'prac­
ticing a ~umper of years.-, Dr.' Philip Kennedy and Dr.
Richard Marsh were also here located.' Dr. John Hichard~

son yet lives near the hamlet; Dr. C. :Monjar died there
in the fall of 18~9,'and the present physician is' Dr~ L. W.
K. Tracy, eclectic. .

Nicholsville has never attained any size bp,yond that de­
manded for the occupation of the 'foregoing business men,
and Archibald MclHurchyand Archibald McNair, black­
smiths; S. T. Dolen, wagon-maker; and J. Jackson & Sons
are the undertakers, wcst of the hamlet, where is also a
good mill. In this locaiity are Presbyterian, Methodist;
and Baptist church edifices, a good. school-house, and an
Odd.Fellows' hall.

LAUREL.

This village is south of the centre of Monroe,near the_
eustern line of the township, on an elevated plateau. It
contains about 400 inhabitants, 2 churches, and the usual
adjuncts of a country village. It was luid out as Van
Burenville by Wm. Pollard in 1837, and on the 7th of

March, 1838, an addition was made by Pollard, increasing
the whole number of lots to 67. The present name was
applied to the place about 1844. ,

The first house on the village site was.erected by James
Simmons, and part of tb(;l building yet forms the residence
of Dr. I. N. Brown. Other houses were soon after built
by E. G. Brown, John Anno, and John Anderson. James
Fee opened the first store, and James Simmons the second,
the latter nbout 1838. Then followed in trade Hezekiah
Bainllm, Benjamin Simmons, Daniel Fee, J. R. H. Sim­
mons, James Bainum, John A. Simmons, O. W. Davis;
and for the past four years J. L. Barkley has been engaged
in mercbandising,- having tbe only store in the place. He
is also postmaster of -the Laurel office, which has a daily
mail from Clermontville, The office was established Oct.
17, 1842, with the name of Clermont, and liad James
Simmons as postmaster. But two years later the name
was changed,to' LaureL. In 1845, Benjamin H. Simmons
was appointed 'postmaster; in, 1855, R. McLi~ughlin; in
1863, N.,C. Bainum; in' 1867, J. R. H. Simmons; and in
1869,0. W. Davis.

The physicians of, J.Jaurel are, Drs. S. B. South, 1. N. '
Brown, aud Philip Kennedy, the latter being a mile north
from Laurel.

James Fee was the first blacksmith, following his trade
many years; the 'present smiths are John'S. Boys and
Enoch Kelch; the latter, also, being a -wagon-maker. In
that trade David' Bainum' was the' first' at Laurel, but in
the vicinity, Jolm 'WilliS had, a shop years ,before. The
cabinet-maker's trade has been carried on, by Elisha Nichols,
John Fletcher, and William Tompkins, the latter remaining.

POINT PLEASANT.

This 'is t~le oldes~ and most historic, village in the town­
ship. ,It was laid out in 1813,' to, con~ain 6216" acres, at
the mouth of Indian Creek, on the' Ohio; ,by Joseph J ack­
son for the propl;ietor, Henry J.Judlow. The plat embraced
100 in-lots and 13 out-lots, with a reservation on the river-
bank for the use of. tbe public, and, streets named Indian,
Locust; Main', Ohio, North, Maple, and Water. Henry
Ludlow lived ori the tract of land on which the village was
laid out before 1810, and about 1820 removed to Cincin­
nati, wbere he died suddenly. In 1815 the place contained
only two houses, that of Ludlow's and one occupied by
John Thompson, a blacksmith, and son of the Rev. W. G.
Thompson. The third house was erected soon after by
Thomas Page, who opened the first slore, built the first ware­
house, and established the tannery where Jesse R. Gmnt
was employed in 1822. He had married Miss Simpson, of
Tate, the year before, and the young und poor couple re­
sided at Point Pleasant, in the house of 'Lee Thompson.
This house yet remains as built, and is in a well-preserved
condition, a lean-to kitchen having been added since its
occupancy by the Grants. It is a oue·story frame, the
main part being 16 by 19:1- feet, with a steep roof, the pitch
being five feet, and on the oUlside of' the uorth end is a
huge chimney, affording a spacious fh'eplace. In the frout
of the hous(\, which is on the upper part of Iudiau Stl'eet
and faces Indian Creek, is a do~r, on, each side of which
are windows~ having small panes of glass. Internally were
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a living room and, at the south end, a bed-chamber, in which
was born, April 27, 1822, the distinguished Gen. U. S.
Grant. After this event his parents remained at Point
Pleasant about a year, removing to Georgetown in 1823.

At this period Point Pleasant was, for that country, a
place of much iIllportan~e, and had a most promising
future, which, however, has never been wholly realized. In
1837 the owners of houses were Joseph Adamson, John
,Y. Clutter, Joseph Clenney, Archibald Gilbert, John B.
Hopper, Michael Huling, 'Vm. P. Lakin (2), Isaac Mitchell,
John Molyneaux, 'Villiam Page, G. W. Phelps, John Salt,
Christopher Smith, Wilson Thompson, John Thompson,
David 'Vheeler, and David Walker. Although a better
class of buildings has been erected, the number has not
been much increased, and the village to-day only about
maintains the position it occupied half a century ago.

After being in trade a few years, Thomas Page was suc­
ceeded by Isaac Moreton, and he by a man named Ewing,
who had John lHolJneaux as a clerk. The latter was
afterwards ~n important business man and mallY years here
in trade. I...ee Thompson was among the first merchants,
and about 1830 there were stores at Point Pleasv.nt carried
on by Joseph Clenney, Hunt & Phillips, and John l\Ic'Vil­
Iiams. Previous, or soon after, among the active business
men were Robert Chalfant, William and John Lakin, and
David Ritchie; and later, among the merchants may be
named David Walker, Stephen Fee, James Duncan, Heze­
kiah Bainum, and John Cooper. The latter has been con­
tinuously in trade since 1839, and has at present associated
with him a son, the firm-name being J. & S. H. Cooper,
and was the only one engaged in merchandising in 1879.
There being an excellent landing at Point Pleasant con­
siderable shipping has been done by the various merchants,
and at an, early day Thomas Page put up a warehouse,
which was destruycd by fire while filled with flour waiting
shipment. The Lakin Brothers then erected another ware­
house, and Lee Thompson had a warehouse and a pork­
packing establishment. Of late the principal article shipped
has been tobacco, and there are two warehouses for its
storage, owned by Ketchum & Bro. and John Idlet.

Among the keepers of public-houses are remembered
Jonathan Moreton, Michael Huling, Philip Byrnes, Jesse
~l.'atlllan, and John Clutterley. No public-house has been
kept recently.

Among the ordinarymcchanics were John 'Vheeler,
'Villiam and Elnathan Sherwin, and A. Galbreath, coopers;
David llitchie and Isaac Huling, cabinet-makers; John
Lakin, brickmaker ; William Uiley, saddler; John C.
Kramer, J amcs Duncan, and Samuel Pullman, tailors.
William P. I.Jakin came to this place to establish a pottery,
having previously had one near Laurel. The works were
burned down, but were rebuilt by Nathan Davis. For the
most of the time a pottery has been carried on here, the
present owncrs being Peterson & Co. Lately the product
has been smoke-pipes, stove-flues, and drain-tiles, immense
quantities of the fOl'mer article being made. Employment
is given to from six to tcn hands.

In 1820, Thomas Page established a tannery at Point
Pleasant, which he placed in charge of Jesse It. Grant, the
f~lther of the· ex-President, who, conducted it until 1823.

Some time after Page sold out to John and Snmuel R.
Molyneaux, who enlarged the t[J.I1nery and enabled them to
greatly extend the business. The yard was last owned by
George Gregg, who used it in connection with his tannery
in 'Washington.

TI1(~ Point Pleasant post-office was established with John
Molyneaux as postmaster. He was succeeded in 1835 by
S.R. Molyneaux; in 1839 by J. :McWilliams; in 1841
by 'William :McWilliams; and since 1844 John Cooper has
been the postmaster.

Above the mouth of Indian Creek, opposite Point Pleas­
ant, was a paper town, which was laid out June 1,1818, by
William W. Steele and Thomas Danby, and called Point
Opolis. The plat embraced 332 lots, and there was a pub­
lic square reserved, on condition that the county-seat should
be located here within two years. Not more than a build­
ing or two was ever erected on the site which long ago was

. vacated, and all the interests there are now regarded as parts
of Point Pleasant.

GOLDEN RULE LODGE, No. 313, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted at NichoJsville, Dec. 19, 1856, with these char­
tel' members : J olm Slye, A. Terwilliger, A. D. Fagin, Richard
1\1arsh, 'Villiam Slye, S. D. 'Vinans, Peter Fagin, Benjamin
Fagin, T. D. Husted, Ira Ferguson, N. Bonner, H. McNair,
E. 'Van'en, Lewis Fitzpatrick, Henry Hurget, J. H.
Brannen, 'V. H. Altman, and Ticandor :Moore. A fine
hall was soon after built at Nicholsville, in which the meet­
ings of the lodge have since been held. In 1879 the mem­
bership of Golden Rule was 36, and the officers were George
Beckleheimer, N. G.; S. H. Jackson, V. G.; J.... B. Fur­
kiser, R. Sec.; W. B. Altman, P. Sec.; and Hugh McNair,
Treas.

Since the institution of the lodge the Noble Grands have
been A. Terwilliger, S. D. 'Vinans, Harry Brannen,
Thomas D. Husted, 'Villiam H. Altman, Hugh McNair, B.
F. Fagin, 1\1. A. Leeds, Ira Ferguson, William B. Altman,
Thomas Hodges, Abner Fagin, Nelson Light, Peter Fagin,
A. D. Fagin, J. R. H. Simmons, 'V. C. McLain, T. J.
Nichols, G. 'V. Ralls, T. H. Phillips, J. P. Richardson,
J'. F. Hitch, J on~s Hitch, E. Hicks, William F. Hewitt,
Theodore Steelman, C. W. Page, John Page, Thomas Page,
J. T. 'Vheeler, S. S. Slye, 'Villiam Porter, 'V. W. Gardner,
John Tatman, James B. Hodges, G. R. Taylor, H. O. Pur­
kiser, David Shinkle, David Theis, William H. Adams, and
Jonathan Emmons. The lodge is one of the best of the
order in the count.y, and has been a valuable means for
cultivating the social feelings of the people of, :i\1onroe.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

In the township history of Ohio, in this book, appears an
account of the Franklin school dist.rict, which is partly in
Monroe, and no further mention of it is here made. At

, Nicholsville the first school-house was built on Joseph Jack­
son's land. It was of round logs, with paper windows and
ground floor. The seats were of split logs, and here a
school was maintained in the winter of 1812-13. In the
northern part of the township, the first school, house wa~

built on John McCullom's land, and in 1815 had among
its pat,rons Joseph Jackson, James H~n~erson, Jacob UlreY",
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Daniel Bailiff, John Leeds, George Brown. To this school
the Bailiff boys came dressed in buckskin from head to foot.
The union school-house was also built in 1815. It was on
John Marsh's land, and was built by voluntary labor, of
hewed logs. The first teacher there was Jabez Ricker, who
was afterwards drowned at the mouth of the Arkansas
River. Pollard Simmons, John Lakin, Augustus Eddy,
'William Fee, Thomas Stewart, Michael Swing, and others
also taught there in early times.

In 1826 districts were formed, as follows: No.1,
in the southeastern part, with 65 householders ; No.2,
immediately north, with 80 housellOlders; No.3, in the
southwest corner of the township, with 54 householders;
No.4, northeast corner of Monroe, 43 householders; No.
5, west of No.4, had 39 householders; and the remaining
district, No.6, had 25 householders.

Under the act forming sub-districts in the township, in
1853, directors were elected in the several districts, and tIle
first board of education formed, the first-named director of
each district being n member of that body: No.1, Jolm
Lakin, James Duncan, and George J. Lindsey j No.2, B.
H. Simmons, Anthony Ireton, ·Henry Barkley; No.3,
William Shaw, William Cook, J. S. Donham; No.4, N.
B. Nichols, John F. Brown, Thomas Mulloy; No.5, E.
Lockwood, Abram Terwilliger, John McNair ; No.6,
James Archard, 'Villiam 'Moreton, William H. Bushman;
No.7, Silas Dolen, A. D. Fagin, Enoch Tracey; No.8,
A. Huntington, J. Sims, Jeremiah Husted. Nathan B.
Nichols was appointed president of the board.

In 1879 the number of districts in Monroe Will) eleven.
T. 1\1. 'Villis was president of the board of education, and
Alex. Dunn, secretary. The associate members were S. H.
Cooper, E. F. Kelch, Hugh McNair, Sr., A. 'V. Huling,
A. Sylvester, David Donham, Albert Leeds, \V. B. Altman,
John Corbin, and George H. Fridman. The total amount
appropriated for the support of schools was $5993.89, of
which two-thirds were paid to the teachers. In the high
school were 45 pupils, and the number attending the pri­
mary schools was 505. 'fhere were 11 school-houses and
12 school-rooms, the value of the buildings being reported
as $6500. Thirty-one weeks of school were maintained.

In addition to tIle excellent public schools of 'l\!onroe, it
contains Clermont Academy, n sketch'of which appears in
a general chapter. It was established in 1839, and has
'ever since been a power for good in the county and South­
ern Ohio.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

As in most of the other townships of the, county, in
Monroe the Methodists were the first to organize themselves
into a church society; but, owing to their imperfect system
of records, the exact time and the constituent members
cannot be given. But an approximate period for the for­
mation of

THE CARMEL METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH

pla~es that event soon after the settlement of tIle township,
and among the members who belonged at that early period
were the Carnes,' Simmons, Corbin, Hitch, Lakin, and
other pioneer families, few of the earliest settlers being
without some religious, convictions, aQd so .. generous was

the sentiment that many united who formerly adhered to
other sects. The meetings were generally held at the house
of Josiah Carnes, on Boat Run; but in 1816 measures
were instituted to build a house of wors4ip at some central
point. After a somewhat cont.inued discussion, it was de­
cided to locate the church-lot near the pottery of W. P.
Lakin, west of the present village of Laurel, where the Car­
mel Cemetery now is. As this would remove the place of
meeting a number of miles from Mr. Carnes, he severed
his connection from the church, whicJl thus lost one of its
most worthy members. The house was built in 1817, and
as the frame was not. supplied with girders, an iron rod had
to be supplied to keep the roof from fulling in. Before the
church was fully completed Rev. Peter Hastings, of Fe­
licity, preached in it; and the second sermon was preached
by Rev. Joshua Sargent. In the grove back of the house

. camp-meetings were sometimes held, and the one in 1825
was largely attended. Among the preachers present were .
tIle Revs. Benjamin Lakin, John Collins, John, Meek, and
Wm. B. Christie, at that timen student of the Augusta
College. The horses of the visiting brethren '.Vere pastured
by Leonard Simmons, and one day as many as ninety head
were in the field.

In the course of seventeen years the old house became
too small, and in 1834 a brick edifice was erected on the
same lot by n building committee composed of Hev. B.. H.
Nichols, Thomas Hitch, and James B. Simmons. This
was damaged by a storm, and aftcr 1860

TIlE LAUREL METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH

became the place of worship for the Methodists of this
part of the township. The Carmel house was abandoned,
but the cemetery, which was also begun in 1817, is still
maintained. With the church-lot it originally contained
two acres, and the deed for the property was duly recorded
in 1822, the trustees at that time being James Simmons,
J.Jeonard Simmons, John Corbin, Sr., Thomas Bitch, Sr.,
and 'William P. Lakin. The first intc~'ment there was in
1817, and the person buried wac:; a daughter of Michael
B uling. At present the yard contains the remains of
more than 600 persons, and here sleep the long unbroken
sleep of death many of the pioneers of 1\1onroe, to whose
friends the old Carmel church-lot is a sacred spot and is
well preserved.

The Laurel church building is 38 by 50 feet, of
brick, and although plainlY. finished, presents an inviting
appearance. The building committee were Hobert B.
Nichols, H. Nichols, and William R Press, and the church
was consecrated by Bishop Clark. The present trustees
are Alexander Donley, JiJlisha Dole, J. R. H. Simmons,
Julius Potts, Nicholas Dickson, Frank McNeal, John 'Wid­
meyer, E. Kelch, and George Armacost. 'fhe church, in
common 'with other charges, constitutes the Laurel Circuit,
and has an interest in the parsonage at Laurel village,
whose trustees in 1879 were E. Dole, E. Kelch, T. 1\1.
Willis, Jacob Jackson, and E. Cox.

THE POINT PLEASANT METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

As early 313 1815 n class of Methodists had its existence
in, the southern part of :Monroe, and among the members
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were William P. J.Jakin, John Lakin, Isaac Mitchell, 'Vil­
Ham McWilliams, 'Wilson L. Thompson, Rev. Benjamin
Lakin, Crissie Slater, Jane Rice, Hiram Hooper, and the
wives of most. of the foregoing. The preaching services
were usually held in the school-house, and often in the
Page warehouse. Mr. J. B. Simmons relates· that in that
building he "heard the fhmous and eccentric Lorenzo Dow
preach in 1816, from the text' Quench not the spirit.'
He pre~chedat three P.l'£. I had heard him preach in the
forenoon of the same day at New Hichmond. There were
but few houses in New Richmond at that time, but the
people of the whole country for many miles around had
gathered to see and to hear this stran~e preacher. He
came across the river at New Richmond in a skiff, and
walked up to the top of the bank and said, 'Where is
your church?' Being informed that they had none, he
looked up and said, ' 'Ve will go to the woods.' He started,
and the people followed him through the brush until he
came to a fallen tree. He went into the top, got on the
trunk, and, holding to a limb, began to sing, while the
people crowded, around him. He then preached, part of
the tiine standing and part of the time sitting on thc tree.
I followed him to Point Pleasant :md hcard him again in
the afternoon, as I before said. At the Point he announced
that he would preach again at daybreak next morning. To
hear this morning sermon my fitther went three or four
miles by torch-light through the woods. There was no road."

The present Methodist church is the first and only one
at Point Pleasant. It was begun in 1868 by Edward Cox,
but was not completed until several years later, and was
dedicated by Elder Granville Moody. It is a plain ii'ame,
28 by 42 feet, and cost $1250. The trustees in 1879 were
Henry Peterson, George :McKibben, Darius Littleton,
Edward Cox, ).V. Van Gilder, John Lakin, and George
Noble. The church belongs to Laurel Circuit, as do also
the other :Methodist Churches in the township.

THE SPRING GROYE l\IETIIODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

At and around Nicholsville a class of ~Iethodists was
formed about 1808. The usual place of preaching was at
the house of Thomas Marsh, two miles south from Nichols­
ville. Among the members here were Peter McLain, Jo­
seph Dole, Joseph Jackson, and members from these and
other families to the number of a score or more. After
18aO a small log meeting-house was built on the farm of
Solomon Fitzpatrick, which was locally called the Elam
church. It wus used as a place of worship about twenty
years, when the meetings were transferred to the school.
house near Nicholsville. In 1856 the. present church edi­
fice was erected by a committee composed of J acoq J ack­
son, John F. Bt'own, and David Hancock, on land formerly
owned by J. F. Brown, Ileal' .Spring Grove, from which the
church t:lkes its nume. The building is a neat frame, and
cost $1600. The present controlling trustees are George
w. nalls, Aaron .D. Fagin, John Kendall, Abel Sapp,
Jacob Jackson, George Light, James D. Morris, Charles
w. Huntley, ulld William B. Altman.

'fllEFRANKLIN l\IETI.lODIs~r EPISCOPAL CIIUltCII,

in the western part ot' the township, was built in 1854,
through the instrumentality of Philip and John Nichols,

Samuel BettIe, Jonathan Donham, and others.' It is a
plain, substantial brick house of moderate proportions,
and stands on land formerly owned by Timothy Rardin.
Connected with the church-lot is a grave-yard of three-'
fourths of an acre in extent. The propert.y is at present
controlled by trustees,-Jonathan Nichols, Hamlin Nichols,
George Rice, Christopher Jones, Thomas M. 'Villis, and
David H. Nichols.

In the northern part of the township

THE ZOAR METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH

afforded a place of worship for the Methodists and others.
Here the pioneer members were John l\IcCullom, Obadiah
'Vinans, James Moore, 'Villiam McDonald, Jacob Ruling,
Senath McCullom, Levi Bartholomew, Henry Tracy, Ed­
mund Bailiff, John Leeds, Wesley Leeds, John Monroe,
Evi Daily, Joseph Dole, and Obadiah Dolen. The preach-

_ing was first held in the school-house in the present Scotch
settlement, but a framc meeting-house was afterwards
erected in the Huling neighborhood, which was used as a
plnce of worship twenty-five years. The present house was
then erected on the same lot, and meetings were held in it
until 1876, when the trustees, John Wiltsee, Howard
House, and Nathaniel Daily, sold the property, and the
house has been converted into a residence. The society
which formerly existed' here has disorganized, and the
members have connected themselves with the old Bethel
Church in Tate and the Mt. Pisgah Church in Ohio.

Nearly all the Methodists of the township of Monroe
since 1852 have been served as members of a circuit
called Laurel, to which the following appointees were sent
by the Annual Conference:

1853, Rev. P. F. Holtsingerj 1854, Revs. James Arm­
strong, George. Parrott; 1855, Revs. James Armstrong, T.
S. Dunn; 1856, Revs. J. C. Maddy, J. H. Herron; 1857,
Revs. J. C. Maddy, J. Spence; 1858, Hevs. G. B. Owens,
D. C. Benjamin j 1859, Revs. A. P. Dunlap, D. C. Benja­
min; 1860, nevs. A. P. Dunlap, .J. Armstrong; 1861,
Revs. Thomas Lee, N. Green j 1862, Rev. Thomas Lee j

1863, Revs. 'Villiam Bunyan, Henry M. I(eek j 1864,
Revs. 'Villiam Bunyan, W. H. Reed; 1865, Bevs. 'V. Eo
Hines, 'V. P. Jackson; 1866, Revs. 'V. T. McMullen, M.
A. Head j 1867, Revs. ,V. T. McMullen, B. E. Smith j

1868, Revs. 'V. T. Mc)lullen, J. Armstrong; 1869, Revs.
J. P. Porter, J. Armstrong; 1870, Revs. J. P. Porter, 'V.
M. Boyer j 1871, .Revs. J. H. Middleton, C. H. Kalbfus j

1872, Revs. S. N. :l\Iarsh, C. H. Kalbfus j 1873, Hevs. N.
McDonald, G. W. Fee j 1874, Uevs. F. Hypes, G. W. Fee j
1875, Revs. John Vance, E. P. James j 1876, Rev. E.' P.
James j 1877, Rev. 'V. F. Eastman j 1878, Rev. N. 'V.
Darlington.

The circuit has about 300 members, and the ministerial'
supplj before the time above given was from the Miami,
White Oak, New Bichmond, and Amelia Circuits, to which
the reader is referred for the names of other preachers.

THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF MONROE .

was organized in the "Scotch 'settlement," north of Nich­
olsville, Nov. 19, 1831, by the Uevs. Thomas Cole, of New
Richmond, and A. F. Ran.kin, of Felicity, with the follow­
ing 21 persons: John Archard, John Hays, Alexander
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Porter, John McNair, William Lytle, Andrew Coombs,
Samuel Armstrong, William Johnston, Martha Hays, Re­
becca Hays, Nancy Hays, Susan Porter, Janet Johnston,
Susan and Ann Johnston, Rachel and Sarah Armstrong,
Nancy Brooks, Janet McMurchy, Sarah McNair, and Jane
Lytle. Alexander Porter, John Archard, and Andrew
Coombs were chosen the first ruling elders, and of all the
members the former is the only survivor.

After much effort, and doing a large share of the work
themselves, a small brick meeting-house was built in 1836,
at the grave-yard north of Nicholsville, on land given by
Elder Porter. This was used by the congregation until
1861, when the place of meeting was transferred to Ban­
tam; and a few years later the house was demolished and
pal:t of the material used in the construction of the church
at that place, which was consecrated Aug. 27, 1865, by
the pastor, Rev. J. L. French. For a period the Monroe
church flourished greatly, but its prosperity was checked
Jimuary, 1839, by the division into the New and Old School
Presbyterians, many of the m~mbers withdrawing to form
a new· society in Monroe; yet the vitality of the congrega­
tion was not destroyed, and when the church at Bantam
was occupied there had been over 100 members, and the
ruling elders at that time were Alexander Porter, 'Villiam
Porter, Sr., and Samuel Simpson. From the organization
of the church until that time (1865) the ministers of the
church (pastors and supplies) were the Revs. E. Garland,
George Beecher, Moses H. Wilder, Jonathan Blanchard,
•J. B. 'Valker,. A. Dresser, Edward Schofield, O. H. New­
ton, W. Mitchell, Thomas A. Steele, 'William J. Essick,
and J. L. French.

THE OLD-SCHOOL PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF MONROE.

At the time of the division in 1839, John Johnston,
Samuel Armstrong, Janet McMurchy, Samh Armstrong,
Janet Johnston, Susan, Ann, and Helen Johnston, John,
Sarah, Robert, and Janet McNair, adhered to the Old
School; and soon Alexander, Robel't, and Mary McNair,
Nancy A. Black, Nancy, James, and Jane Maitland, James,
Agnes, and John Campbell, Robert Clark, and 'Villiam and
Nancy Porter attached themselves to this same br~nch of
Presbyterians. For a time the meetings were held in the
house before mentioned, but in November, 1843, a house
of worship for their exclusive use was consecrated, on a lot
of ground given for this purpose by Janet Johnston, a little
north of Nicholsville. l'his, in a repaired condition, is yet ,
the place of worship of the united schools of' Presbyterians
of' Monroe, and although plainly built has an inviting ap­
pearance. The congregation has had a membership of 140
persons, and at present there are GO communicants; aQd
the house is in charge of 'ViIliam McNair, Samuel Clark,
and Hobert Clark, Tru.stees. Robert McNair and John
McNair were ordained the first elders, July 25, 1840, and
since that time among the elders have been James Mait-

-land, J. J. Scott, Hobert Clark, John Johnston, Samuel
Clark, and William McNair, Jr.

The ministers of the congregation have been the Revs.
L.G. Gaines, James Black, J. Wiseman, \V. K. Hemmigh,
,Robert Young, Thomas M. Chestnut, George F. Fitch, S.
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P. Dillon, William West, and, since 187'1, the Rev. D. B.
Duncan.

T~E TWELVE.MILE REGULAR BAPTIST CHURCH

was constituted March 21, 1835, with the following mem­
bel's: Isaac Donham, Solomon Fitzpatrick, Hugh Fergu­
son, James Beagle, Jacob C. Lewis, James Mitchell, Polly
Ferguson, Mary Donham, Sarah Fitzpatrick, Betsy Behy­
mer, Nancy Lindsey, Alice Beagle, Rebecca Lewis, Hannah
Elst~n, Catherine Mitchell, and Ann Bunner.' Soon after
a brick meeting house was erected, near the covered bridge
across Twelve-Mile, west from Nicholsville, which was oc­
cupied as a place of worship until the present house at
Nicholsville was provided, about 1859. On the 19th of
March that year new articles of faith were adopted, and
the society became known as

THE BAPTIST CHURCH AT' NICHOLS VILLE.

At this time N. B. Nichols was the clerk of the church,
James Hodges the treasurer, and S. Fitzpatriclr one of the
deacons. In 1865 the burying-grounds connected with the
meeting-house were purchased of James and John Hodges,
and the house itself has since been placed in good .repair.
In 1879 the deacons of the church were John J. Knowles
and George J. Nichols, the former also serving as the
clerk of the church. The n~mber of members were 69,
and the Rev. A. K. Sargent was the pastor. Among
.others who have filled the pastoral office were the Revs.
Andrew Smith, A. Sargent, William D. Spaldon, W. H .
Dolby, and Joseph Hawkins, all since 1859.

At Laurel was formerly a Baptist society, which became
too feeble to maintain its existence, and most of the remaining
members connected themselves with the church at Nichols­
ville. The small meeting-house in which these members
worshiped has been converted into a. private residence.

THE BOAT RUN CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

The pioneer preachers of this sect,-Chrisfians, or New
Lights,...:..-Elder Mathew Gardner and others,"":'visited Mon­
roe as early as 1820, and preached in- the houses of such as
were friendly disposed toward them in various localities;
but it does not appear that a society organization was effected
until 1842. On the 21st of August that year a meeting
was held in a sugar grove on the lands of Lewis and Daniel
Bushman, by Elders N. Dawson and Charles Manchester,
when the following were united into church followship:
John Clark, Oliver Stairs, Andrew Keithlen, Thomas 1\1 ul­
loy, 'V. G. Barkley (deacons), Catherine Clark, Joseph
and Sarah Wyatt, Daniel ansi Hebecca Bushman, Elizabeth
Barkley, Franklin, Rebecca, and Mathias Fridman, Sarah
Stairs, 'William and Wilmina Moreton, Mary Keithlen,
Anna Holmes, Barbara Seaton, Lewis Bushman, Abagail
Clark, Barbara Stewart, John Phillips, John Denuis, Will.
Idlet, Alexander 'Vhite, John L. Browning, and the wives
of the last five. The church has been prO!:lperous, and has

,had an aggregate membership of nearly 400 ; the present
number belonging is 160.

The first meeting-house stood at Clermontville, and wus
a frame building 3~ by 40 feet. It was dedicated Juno 4,
1843, by Elder Mathew Gardner, preaching from Luke xix.
46. The present house of worship is known as
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THE MOUNT ZION CHAPEL OF THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

It is a mile and a lJalf from Clermontville, on two acres
of ground secured for church and cemetery purposes from
the farm of 'Vm. R. Clark, Sr. The building is a frame
of fine proportions, and was erected at a cost of $3000 by
a committee composed of Franklin :Fridmall, 'V. L. ~Iore­

ton, George H. Fridman, P. H. Barkley, and A. Sylvester.
It was dedicated Oct. 6, 1872, by Elder J. P. Daugherty.

In addition to the deacons at the organization of the
church, I8aac Moreton, Perry H. Barkley, Wm. L. Moreton,
and Charles Folks were also called to that office, the three
last named serving at present; George 'V. Bushman,
Clerk, and J. H. Barkley, 1'reasurer. As elders there
were Wm. Erskine, Edgar C. Abbott, Alex. Humphries,
Asa Coan, and A. J. Abbott; and the ministers have been
the Revs. C. S. Manchester, J. 1'. Linn, B. 'V. Humphries,
'Vm. Pangburn, C. 'V. Wait, J. P. Daugherty, Z. Lans­
down, B. H. Crissman, N. Daw, Melissa 'fimmons, and J.
B'. Lawill. A floUJ'ishing Sunday.sehool is maintained by
the church, the present superintendent being- George H.
I·'ridlllun.

THE LAURErJ WESLEYAN METHODIST CHURCH.

This house of worship was erected in 1861 by Daniel
Fee, James A. Sargent, and "Tm. Cook as trustees of a
society which had been formed at Laurel several years pre­
viously, and which, until this period, held its meetings in
the school-house. It is a substantial edifice, and cost up­
wards of $1600, by far the greater amount of which was
paid by th6 trustees, who were also the first members of
this faith in Monroe. Until the war removed the cause
for the existence of this church the society flourished, and
at one time had 40 members. Then came a period of de­
clining interest, and finally complete disorganization. The
building was sold after 1870 for a public hall, and in that
capacity is now used.

At the Clermont Academy a Baptist society was organ­
ized in 1809, which ten years later reported a membership
of 24 and the Rev. A. K. Sargent as pastor. The Sunday­
school here was organized in 1839, and for many years has
had J. K. Parker as superintendent.

MILITARY.

Mr. J. B. Simmons gives the following interesting ac~

eount of' the militia of Monroe, with the scenes and events
connected with the parades and general musters:

"In those early d:tys the militi.t of the State was organized, and
required to muster. Muster-days were great days of excitemcnt, and
attracted vast crowds of pcople. In 1818 or 1819, the seventh com­
pliny of the Seeond Regiment, Third Brigade, Eighth Division of the
Ohio milititt was organized on my fltthcr's farm, lind John l\fUrsh was
electcd Capt:tin; .John Fisher, Lieutenant; and John Marsh, Ensign,
01' Color-Bearer. These offieers served five years, when they beellme
exempt from milita.ry duty, in time of peace, according to the law, llnd
so they resigned. In the fall of 1824 I had the honor of being elected
captain of this company, as the successor of Cupt. :l\Iarsh. My name
was brought forward without my knowledge or consent by Maj.
Philip Byrns, of Point Pleasant. Maj. Byrns was in the war of 1812,
under Gen. Harrison, in the Northwest, nnd wai tnlu~n }Jrisoncr by the
Indians, but finlllly eBcn.pcd by stenling nway lit night. Being so
young-only twcnty-onc-I hesitated to undertnke it, but being
urged byt"t-iends, I ·acceptcd the command, and received my eOlD­
mission from. Gover.nol: I,.ueus in the springof)825. I procured G.e.n.

Winfield Scott's t Manual on Exercise,' and studied it pretty thor­
oughly. John Gilman Wll.S my lieutenant, David Light our cnsign,
and David B:tinum, now living at Laurcl, was our drummer-boy.

tI Among this company were many young men that were leading
citizens for years. I mllY mention Henry Barkley, Hugh Barkley,
Hatton Simmons, Elisha B., Sanford S., and John A. Simmons, Wil­
liltm ])i>lIard, William P. Lakin, Abram C. Corbin, John Anderson,
who still lives in Laurel, David Hancock, who was my suecessor in
office, nnd who was the father of Professor John Hancock, of Dayton,
Nicholas Corbin, who was the grandfather of Gen. Henry C. Corbin,
who commanded the first company of colored men raised in the late
war, and who was at one time private secretary to President Hayes;
and while Gcn. Grant had the honor of commanding the armies of
the nation, I had the honor of drilling his fathcr in my company for
three years, and I can say that he wns very careful to obey every
command.

It The company h:wing new officers, a great mnny cnme out to sec
the first drilling. The muster was at Henry Barkley's house. Many
ladies were present. The drummer and fifcr beat paradc in the front
yard so that the Iltdies could witnc:'s the forming of the line. I di­
rected the orderly to call the roll. A number sat on the fence instead
of taking their places in the ranks. I told the orderly to mark every

. lllall absent that did not answer to his Ilame in the ranks, telling the
company at the same time that I would return every man to the court­
martial that did not take his place. All took their places except olle,
who seemed to bid defiance. I stepped up to him with drawn s\vord,
and said, t Sir, if you do not fltll into ranks at once, and answer to
your name, I will return you to the court-martial and have you fined,'
and turned and h·ft him. As I walked back to the COIlJpany he said,
with nn oath, 'He feels might)" big since he has been elected captain.'
lIe took his plaee, however, and after the orderly had finished c:tlling
the roll I brought the company to a shoulder arms; then told them to
order arms, and sltid, 'Now, gentlemen, you h:we ~1(lCted me your
captain. While on paradc I shall expect you to obey me liS captain;
when off parade I am as one of you.' This settled the mntter of tri­
fling with me on parade, and our fir:;t day of mustering passed off
very pleasantly.

tI The next summer after Da\"id Hancock was elected captain in my
place, in 1828, he appointed a muster at Laurel, on William Polla.rd's
farm, and the cavalry met at the same place on the same day. The
clwalry was officered, I think, by Maj. Clark, Cnpt. Powell, and Lieut.
John A. Simmons, who was promoted to captain. Before going into
thc field the two companies, infantry and cavalry, agreed to fight a
sham battlc to enliven the occasion. Capt. Hancock, being a young
officer, requested me take charge of the company, and took the vote
of the compnny, which was unanimous. On taking the command I
marched the company to a largc sycamore-tree standing out in the
field, the brunches of the tree reaching out fifteen or twenty feet each
way, nnd so low that the horsemen could not ride under without being
dragged off their horses. We formed the compll.ny into a hollow square
around the tree for the double purpose of shade and defense. The
cavalry soon made their appearance on the far side of the field. They
divided into two divisions, taking opposite directions around the field
to attack us on two sides at the same time. We mn.de ready for the
attack by appointing officers to command on each side of the S'quare,
I taking oversight of the whole.

" They came up at a full lope, and in good style. They were in
single file, and when near us formed into platoons to fire, and then
retired by right nnd left, until the last platoon had discharged its
volley, the infantry keeping up its fire at each platoon.

"The cavalry, aftel" repeating theil' attacks, retired to the fM side
of thc field, and detcrmined to gil'e us a running fire. This lcft every
man to firc as he pleased in passing our company. Some came so
near their horses took fright, some wcre thrown and captured, a~d
others lost their enps, pistols, etc. They thcn formed into sections,
attacking us on all sides at once, and the men were so cletermined to
break our ranks that it came near being-a fight in en.mest. Some did

. get hurt, but none morlally. lIad it not been for the sycamore-tr~e

they would have whipped UA, but as it" was we got the better of them.
Thltt day was remembered for many years as the day of the Battle Q1'
the Sycamore.Tree.

"Regimental musters were grand oeeasions, nnd crowds would
gather not only to witness the pllrade~, but to hear the political
speeehcs, which wero sure to form a part of the .progrn.mm.e on. su~h
occasions.. '.!-'he pol.it~cians took. these opportuni~ies to get tl}e .pupl.ic
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ear.' As soon as the regiment was dismissed for dinner some small
politician was ready to gather a crowd to hear him.
.,," rhe general parade would close about 3 P.~I.; then the strong
men would begin to harangue the people on the leading questions of
the day. In the days of Gen. Jackson politics ran lligb, and such
men as Gen. Thomas L. Hamer, Gen. Finley, Thomas Morris, David
Fisher, Thomas Corwin, and later John Brougb, Governor Tod, and
others would make lively times on muster-days.
. "In 1829 and 1830 t\'\'o officers, a brigadier-general and his brigade

inspcetor, in full uniform, with gold epaulets on their shoulders and
fine chapeaus trimmed with golden tassels, and finely-trimmed belts,
with their gilded swords hanging by their sides, rode up to my cabin
and inquired if they could stay all night. I told them we were not
very well prepared to entertain them, but would do the best we could,
and said, "Light, and walk in.'

"After taking care of tbeir equipage and fine horses, the thought
came to me, How can I have family worship before these high officials?
but I resolved to do my duty at all hazards, and in the barn prayed
to God to help me. I determined to call on the general first to lead
tbe devotions, and tben on bis aid, and then, if botb refused, I would
do the best I could. So at bedtime I set out the stand, with Bible
and hymn-book, and asked the general if he would lead ·in our devo­
tions, and to my surprise and great satisfaction he led in good earnest,
and the brigade inspector led in the morning. This was the bcgin­
ning of a long and pleal'unt acquaintance. David Dial was the brig­
adier-general, and Shadrach Dial was the brigade inspector."

....

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHE&

IRA FERGUSON.

One of the two representatives in the Ohio Legislature
from Clermont is Hon. Ira Ferguson, whose ancestors emi­
grated from Ireland early in the eighteenth century, and
were of the hom::e of ~ergus, the celebrated Scottish chief.
The great-grandfather of the subject of this sketch, Thomas
Ferguson, settled on the Monongahela River, eighteen miles
above' the then French Fort Duquesne, one of the first
lodgments of civilized life west of the Alleghanies, near
the' present site of Brownsville, in Western Pennsylvania,
which settlement was made about the time the English took
the above fort (now Pittsburgh) from France. He served
in the French and Indian colonial war, and was under
Washington at Braddock's defeat, being one of the few
brave men who escaped that historic and disastrous rout.
The early settlers on the Monongahela were compelled to
procure their" store-goods," such as salt, iron, nails, kitchen
utensils and wares (calicoes and dry goods were in those
days unknown quantities on the frontier settlements), from
Philadelphia or Baltimore, in exchange for peltries; furs,
ginseng, etc., which commerce was carried on by. means of
pa~k-horses. Each horse would have a pack-saddle and bell
upon him, and every night the horses would be counted to
see if all were present. Henry and Isaac, sons of' Thomas
Ferguson, made seventy-two trips across the mountains ere
there was a wagon-road over them, and often at the peril
of their lives from the attacks and incursions of the Indians.
Isaac Ferguson, the grandfather of Ira, served throughout
the Revolutionary war in the Continental patriot army, and
part of the time as a trusted scout to watch the movements
of the red-coats. In 1784, Isaac, with his wife (3; Miss
Elizabeth Leedom,. of Revolutionary memory), his three
sons,' :Zac.hariah, Isaiah; and'Hugh, and his daughters,· after~

wards matried,Elizabeth: to .Abel Donham,' Nancy to CoL.
William Lindsey, and Ruth ·to Robert Donham, together
with his horses, farming-tools, hand-mill (cut from the cori~

glomerate rock of Laurel HilI, in West Virginia), etc.,
not omitting his "pack-saddles," all o~ board a covered
bateau, called a "family boat," launched forth on the rapid
Monongahela, descended the Ohio, and landed at Limestone
(now Maysville), and thence went to Bryant's Station,
where he was the companion of Boone, Kenton, Morgan,
Bryan, and other early. Indian fighters and scouts. While
living in Mason Co., Ky., he crossed the Ohio River with
the little band, under command of Kenton, in the spring of
1791, that attacked the Indians in camp at the mouth of
Grassy Run, in Jackson township of this county,' and par­
ticipated in that sharp fight, froin which by sheer force of
weakness in numbers the whites were compelled to witll­
draw. In 1794, Isaac with his family moved to Campbell
Co., Ky., some fifteen miles above Cincinnati, and in that
and the following years fifteen acres of choice bottow­
ground were cleared, a cabin built, and peach and apple
orchards planted on the east bank of the Ohio -River, and
in the spring of 1796 he crossed the Ohio and located in
Clermont, some eighteen miles above Cincinnati, and two
or three below the present city of New Richmond, where
he died in 1818, leaving his wife and ten children,-seven
sons-Isaiah, Zachariah, Hugh, Isaac, Francis, James, and
Thomas-and three daughters. Isaiah, the eldest son of
Isaac Ferguson, was born on the ban~s of the Monongahela,
in 1776, and settled in what is now Pierce township with
his father, and there died in 1852~ at the age of seventy­
five years and twenty-seven days. At the mouth of Nine­
Mile or Muddy Creek (first called John's Creek) he estab­
lished one of the first ferries in Clermont across the Ohio
River, and on the call for volunteers at divers times to de­
fend the frontiers against the incursions of the Indians
volunteered three times in the war of 1812, and for several
months was commander of Fort l\leigs, holding the rank
of major. He married Mary, daughter of James Johns, .
by whom he had ten children,-five sons-Isaac, Squire,
James, Zachariah, and Ira-and five daughters: Jane,
married to Benjamin Behymer; Margaret, to Ira Tracy;
Mary, to Benjamin Marell j Nancy, to 'Vashington West;
and Elizabeth, unmarried. Ira Ferguson was born Nov.
24, 18] 8, wus reared on a farm; and attended good schools
under the old-time teuchers, John C. Smith, Thomas Sher~

man, Isaac Miller, Warren Pease, and Eben S. Ricker.
Jan. 21, I8·!! , he w~s married by Rev. Whittington Han­

cock, of the Baptist Church, to Nancy M. Shaw, born Feb:
27, 1820, and a daughter of Hon. John Shaw, a repre­
sentative from Clermont in the General.Assembly for years
1818, 1826-28, and a county commissioner for several
years, and who was born in York Co., Pa., July 15, 1779,
the night Mad Anthony Wayne captured Stony Point, and
who was of Scotch-Irish descent and of Revolutionary war
stock, his father, James Shaw, being at the battles of Bran­
dywine, Trenton, etc., while his wife was Nancy Morin,
daughter of Edward Morin, of Culpepper Co., Va., who
fought under "Light-Horse Harry Lee" in the struggle
for independence. Ira Ferguson and his wife have had
three. children,~RobertS.·and· John Q. living, and a
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daught.er, Carrie, deceased. In 1852-53 he was elected
land-appraiser of the district composed of Ohio, Pierce,
Union, and Miami townships, and has been several years a
trustee and treasurer of his (Monroe) township. In the
old militia he served eighteen years as lieutenant, captain,
and major, and in the war of the Rebellion rais~d and com­
manded Company D, Seventh Ohio Cavalry, until his de­
clining health compelled his resignation. In 1862 he took
the three degrees in Buckeye Lodge, No. 150, of F. and
A. l\f., of New Richmond, and has belonged to the Inde­
pendent Order of Odd-Fellows for thirty years, and passed
all the chairs in that order in the subordinate lodge. Is a
member' of no denomination, but with his family attends
and aids in supporting the Methodist Chmch. 1;Vas elected
a representative to the Legislature in 1871, and served two
years, being on the committees on temperance and turn­
pikes, and was again elected in 1879, and is now on those
of claims, fees and salaries, and unfinished business. He
sprang from a pioneer family, and he inherits that fidelity
to duty and attachment to correct principles which were so
characteristic of his ancestors on either side. He is always
in his seat in the Legislature, carefully watching and guard­
ing the best interests of the people of the county he repre­
sents, and has the reputation of being one of t.he most
industrious and f.:'lithful members of the General Assembly.
Strongly attached all his life to agricultural pursuits, he
served many years as one of the dire<.:tors and again as
marshal of the Clermont County Agricultural Society at
Bantam, in the success and advancement of which he was
largely instrumental. He resides on his homestead some
three and a half miles from New Ricllmond, where, in his
avocation as a filrmer, surrounded with peace and plenty,
he is passing the evening of a well-spent and successful life,
with his daughter-in-law, Mrs. Robert S. Ferguson, pre­
siding over his establishment, his beloved wife and com­
panion of thirty-seven years having died May 1, 1878.
Mrs. Nancy 1\1. Ferguson was a woman of rare mental
power, and her kindness of heart and domestic graces made
her beloved in the pleasant home of which for nearly two­
score years she was the centre of attraction.

l\lnjor Ferguson has ever been closely identified with the
Democratic party, to whose principles he is strongly at­
tached, aud his counsels are often called into requisition by
the chieftains of the party. His public life in the legis­
lative halls and in the various f'tations to which he has fre­
quently been called by the suffrages of the people has ever
been one of great honor to himself and of usefulness to the
community at large.

FRANKLIN FRID~lAN.

The l~ading business man of Clermont County, and
hardly excelled by any in wealth, and none in energy and
financial character and standing, is Franklin Fridman, of
Clermontville, who, from a pOOl' German boy, has in less
than half a century arisen to be the controlling business
magnate uf the county. Be was born' Oct. -.1:, 1816, in
Stolhovell, of the then principality of Baden, in Germany,
on the river Rhine, in a locality .f~iinous for its great battles

fought centnries ago, and where to this day exist the ruins
of the ancient castles and fortifications, many of them in an
excellent state of preservation. He was the youngest son of
George and Elizabeth (daughter of Michael Miller) Frid­
man, who had six children, to wit: J.Jeonard; Matthias,
Franklin, Theresa, Sabina, and Elizabeth. In 1830 his
brother Leonard emigrated to America, locating ncar Balti~

more, and was a contractor in building the railroad from that
cit.y to Harper's Ferry. His mother and one sister died in

the fatherland, and his father died in France, while en '·oute
to America with him and his brother Matthias and two re­
maining sisters, who arrived in Baltimore in 1833. Then
they moved to Wheeling, thence t~ Cincinnati, thence to
Louisville, Ky., and finally loca~ed near Rockford, Jackson
Co., Ind., on White River, near where Seymour now stands.
In 1834, Franklin Fridman, a stranger in a strange land
and only eighteen years old, came alone to Cincinnati and
learned the trade of boiler-making under Thomas Justice
and a 1\11'. Banks. He followed that avocation two years
under Hichard Dumont and a Mr. Parker. Then for
nearly a year ran on the Ohio River as second engineer on
the" Lady Scott," the first Maysville steam packet to ply
hetween that town and Cincinnati. Having met with a
severe accident that crippled his hand, he began peddling
on foot with his pack on his back and' traveled over Ohio
and Kentucky, stopping with all the best farmers, with
whom he tarried of nights and on Sundays. He was a
young man of correct habits and fixeu principles, and the
young German peddler was a universal favorite wherever
he went, and every house was open to him for entertain.­
meut ,and lodgings, such was the character he had gained
by his honesty and exemplary conduct. But in 1839 he
had made quite,a'little su~ from. his peddling: operations;
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and having carefully saved it, located at the mouth of Boat
Run, on the Ollio River, in Monroe township, where he
now resides, and which has ever since been the scene of his
business operations. He was married by Rev. Matthew
Gardner, on Sept. 9, 1840, to Rebecca Bushman, daughter
of Demos and Elizabeth Bushman, old settlers in the
county, and by this marriage the following children were
born: George Hemy, Lewis L., Franklin Matthias, J.Jin­
coIn Washington, Charles Abrams (died when young),
Elizabeth (married to Noah Tomkins), and Annie. After
the death of his first wife he was again married, on Sept..
28, 1859, by Rev. G. B. Owens, to Milly Ann Bushman,
a daughter of William and Drucilla Bushman (nee House­
man). He has had by his second wife the following
children: Calvin D., William McClellan, Alonzo, Fred
'Valter, Bell~ and Gracie. He is a member of the Chris­
tian Church, and a Democrat in politics, but has always
refused to be a candidate for office, altho~gh frequently so­
lici"ted to run for county treasurer and commi~sioner, pre~

ferring to attend to his constantly increasing busini;lss. Ever
since the organization of the First National Bank of New
Richmond he has been one of its directors, served as its
vicc-president, and is now its popular and efficient presi­
dent. He was for years a member of the board of direc­
tory of "The Clermont 1\1utual Fire Insurance Company."
He was one of the owners of the" Virginia Home," a
steamboat that plied between Foster's Landing and Cincin­
nati, and for many years he built and owned a large num·
bel' of flat-boats trading on the Ohio River. Forty-one
years ago he opened a little store at Roat Run, and from
that small beginning has grown one of the largest mercan­
tile establishments in the county. He is the largest stock­
holder of the New Richmond National Bank, and in that
city, in connection with Theodore Steelman, owns and runs
the largest steam saw-mill in Clermont. He raises on his
lands large crops annually of fine leaf tobacco, and besides
has a large warehouse where he every year prizes hundreds
of hogsheads of tobacco which he buys of the farmers in
the surrounding country. In addition to all these he is a
very large dealer in coal, lumber, etc. Extending back from
his store he has some two hundred and twenty-seven acres
of land, excluding the three hundred acres given by him to
his children, besides the large number of acres he owns in
Kentucky, and his extensive purchases in Missouri. The
seat of his business enterprises is at Clermontville, on the
Ohio River, two and one-half miles above New Richmond,

• and right opposite his store is the famous" Parker's Acad­
emy," the oldest classical school in Clermont, and one of
the best training institutions in Ohio. Mr. FridmanJs a
self-made man, who by his untiring energy, business tact,
unswerving honesty, and methodical habits has arisen to
eminence and wealth. Precise in his dealings, he is yet
most liberal and public-spirited, and bas done much to
relieve the distresses of ·the deserving poor.. On 'Change
in Cincinnati and in the business and banking circles of
Southern Ohio his name and his word are held in high
esteem.

ANTONY SYLVESTER.

Captain Antony Syhoester was born March 24, 1818, on
the island of Flores, in the Bay of Biscay, but was raised
and educated in Lisbon, Portugal. He came, when a lad
of thirteen years, to New Bedford, Mass:, and for the next
twenty-one years was employed on the ocean as a sailor.
He traveled twice around the globe, doubled Cape Horn
three times, and visited nearly every known habitable clime
in the world. He served on whaling vessels, merchant
ships, and eighteen months on a man-of-war. From the
humblest berth as a poor Portuguese boy he rose to be mate
on the largest ships ~hat traversed the seas. He was in the
East and West Indies, Sandwich Islands, South America,
China, and nearly all. countries with which commerce was
carried on, and saw without price what other people have
traveled f~r and at great expense to witness. He served in
the .Mexican war, and was master of a ship in transporting
quartermaster stores from New Orleans to Galveston for
Gen. Taylor's army.

He married, June' 9, 1847, in New Orleans; :Miss Rosa
Killinger,' at the grand cathedral. In 1852 he moved to
Campbell Co., !{y., and began steamboating on the Ohio
River. He moved to Neville, then Moscow, and then to
Monroe township. He worked and steamboated for Com­
modore David Gibson for fourteen years, was mate on the
ill-fated "Magnolia" and "Lancaster," was captain three
years on the" Poland," and one year -each on the" Lan­
caster," ., Mollie Norton," and" Mel,rose." He retired in
1868 from the river to the fine farm he had purchased two
years previous from David Steelman. This contains fifty
acres, lying just back of Clermontville, in Monroe town­
ship, on the Boat Run and Laurel road. He has one of
the prettiest and most attractive homes in the county, and
his beautiful residence, located on a high point, commands
the finest view in the Ohio Valley. Capt. Sylvester pays
special attention to the culture of tobacco and fruits. The
f~llowinO' children have been born to him and his estimable. 0

wife: Antonie, Samuel and William (twins), the latter
dead, John, Albert, Mary, Rosa (deceased), Rosa, Charles,
and Annie. He is a member of the Christian, and his
wife of the Roman Catholic, Church. He belongs to the
Independent Order of Odd-~"ellows,and holds his member­
ship. in Sigel Lodge, No. 375, of New Richmond, and in
Encampment No. 99. He is also a prominen~ member of
Clermont Lodge, No. 14, of Ancient Order of United
Workmen at Moscow. He is a Democrat in politics, but
has never been an office-seeker or holder, save to serve four
years in the township board. of education, of which he is
now a leading member. His. post-office is Cle~montville,

near "Parker's' Academy." 'Vhen he was a seaman he
sailed several times from Great Britain and France, and
before his naturalization in th~ United States he more than
twenty times took the oath of allegiance to this government
on shipping a.s mate on merchant vessels. Capt. Sylvester
is one of our best citizens, honest, public-spirited, and in­
terested in everything tending to advance the interests of
the community.
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Tms is one of the original townships, and lies on the
Ohio west of the centre of the county. On the east is the
township of Monroe, and west and north is Pierce, until
thirty years ago a part of its territory. Bordering the
narrow strip of bottom-lands along the Ohio are high hills,
some of them having an altitude of three hundred feet,
but whose sides are gently sloping. Their tops are gener­
ally level, forming beautiful uplands, which extend to the
broken rrround alonrr the streams flowing through the in-l":' tI l..J" ,

terior of the township. The northern part is pleasantly
undulated, and in ull the township there is but little wuste
land. The principal stream is Twelve-Mile Creek, flowing
from Monroe south of the centre, in a slightly southwestern
course, to its mouth, below New H.ichmond. Ten-Mile
Creek, north of the centre, has more of a westerly course,
and is a smaller stream. Both received their names from
the location of their outlets above the Little Miami. With
a little exception the soil of Ohio is fertile, and there are
many rich fhrms, having expensive improvements, and in
point of wealth and beauty of surroundings the township
is hardly surpassed.

THE PIONEERS.

Isaac Ferguson and his family were the first to make a
permanent settlement in Ohio township, and an account of
this pioneer's life is elsewhere given.* In 1784 he left his
home, near Pittsburgh, with his wife and three 80ns,­
Zachariah, Isaiah, and Hugh, and their daughters, since
Mrs. Abel Donham, Mrs. Col. Wm. Lindsey, and Mrs.
Robert Donham, together with his horses, fhrming-tools,
hand-mill (cut from the conglomerate rock of "Laurel
Hill" in "rest Virginia), etc., not omitting his" pack-sad­
dles," all on board a covered bateau, called a " family boat,"
launched forth on the Monongahela River, landed at Lime
Stone, now Maysville, on the Ohio, and thence to Bryant's
Station. Here, what Bryant, Morgan, and Boone dared,
did, and endured, he did his shure, 80 long as the miscreant
and traitor to his race, Simon Girty, and the Indians sought
their scalps.

In 1794 they were raising COI'D in Campbell Co., Ky.,
at the mouth of Ten-Mile Creek, and in that and the fol­
lowing years 15 acres of ground were cleared, a cabin built,
and appl~ and peach orchards planted on the east bank of
the Ohio River. In the spring of 1796 he moved to his
new home, eighteen miles above Cincinnati and two miles
below New Richmond. Here, in his quaint, quiet, and un­
obtrusive way, he spent the evening of. his days. His nmlts
were in taxing himself and his family but too much by his
generosity and hospitality to others. He died in ] 818.

,oj! See Chapter }.."1X.
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Of what he was as an integer in the make-up of the North­
west Territory may be inferred by those who visited him
in his seclusion. Boone, Simon Kenton, and men of their
manner of life came. So came also Governors Arthur St.
Clair, \Yorthington, and McArthur. 1\1uch of the time
from 1797 to 1806 the three brothers-Zachuriah, Isaiah,
and Hugh-spent in building cabins and clearing ground
for pioneer settlers as they came. They thus aided ii·om

. Bullskin Creek on the south to :Mad River on the north.
Probably the last job of this kind was done for George Ely,
on the southwest part of the town of Batavia, by Hugh
Ferguson and the late Col. Jonathan S. Donhum; Ely and
his help bivouacking in linen tents, and Mrs. Ely living in.
the New Jersey wagon-bed.

Isaac Ferguson lived on the 'V. T. Gray farm, where he
established a ferry soon after his settlement, which was
maintained many years.

Of llis sons, Zachariah moved to Indiana at an early day.
Isaiah was the f4ther of the Hon. Ira Ferguson, of 1\1on­
roe, of whom a sketch is elsewhere given. In February,
1805, Hugh Ferguson married :Mary Arthur, daughter of
James Arthur, a Revolutionary soldier, living in Batuvia.
The following year he moved to the Franklin Settlement,
in Monroe, where he became a prominent citizen. He was
the father of the Hon. James Ferguson, of Indiana. The
fourth son of Isaac Ferguson, S~., Isaac, Jr., and his
brothers, Thomas and James, also emigrated to Indiana,
and Frank died in Ohio.

In the fall of 1796 and the following year a number of
settlers came into what was the' old township of Ohio.
James John located at the mouth of Nine-Mile Creek,
and Rodhurn :Morin near Isaac.Ferguson's, to which place
his father, Edward :Morin, with a large family, came the
following year. Regarding these settlers and the settle­
ments which followed, and the incidents of their pioneer
life, the Hon. John Shaw said:

"And soon after came Hezekiah Lindsey, Je~se Swem, Archibald •
Gray, Nathaniel Donham, William Abercrombie, John, Jacob, and
Daniel Light, Alexander Robb, and John, Abner, andJoseph Fagin.
Th~se were nIl from Pennsylvania except the Morins, who were from
Virginia. Mr. Morin, Mr. Lindsey, and :Mr. Swem had been soldiers
of the Revolutionary war, and perhaps some of the others named.
About the year 1800 there settled near the mouth of Boat Run
Messrs. Newt.on, Ayres, Weldon, and Eldridge. They were from New
Jersey. The first settlement in Franldin neighborhood was made
by Alexander Robb in 1804; nnd in 1806, Hugh Ferguson, William
McCandless, James Whitaker, and probably Joshua and David
Brown; and in 1808, John Shaw, Sr.; and before 1812, Timothy
ItaI'din, Josiah Carnes, Nathan Nichols, Jonathan Rinker, Daniel
Derry, Bcnjumin Morin, William and Archibald Bennet, Andrew
Gray; and soon after John Archard, Jephtha Moore, Evefltrd Bettle,
Nathan LI\ycock, Jonathan S. Donham, James Gates, Nuthnn lind
Nicholas Corbin, and Absa.lom Cook. Th('se are all that I now recoI-

I lect. They were nearly all intelligent., industriou~, frugnl, and thrifty
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citizens, and raised on an nverage about ten ~hildren each, nnd their
numerous progeny arc now scattered from here to California.

"The first settlers in what is now the northern part of the small
territory of Ohio town:;hip were Amos nnd Robert Hl~ines,Le\'i Mo~s,

William and Hezekil1h Lindsey, Rodham and John Morin, John,
Robert, Amos, and Abel Donhl~m, Reuben Laycock, John Snider,
John and Abner Fagin, Edmund and CILleb Lindsey, John Cox, Sr.,
Edward Chapman, William Hanlin, David White, Dr. Joshua Porter,
Neely Gray, Hl1milton Miller, Zebulon Applegl1te, Mr. Wishart, and
Lewis Miller. I recollect all of the above except Alexander Robb,
Isaac Ferguson, Nathaniel Donham, 'Villiam McCandless, James
Whitaker, William Abercrombie, and Mr. Wishnrt; they died befo·re
my day. I think they werc all here before 1812. They were nearly
all men of integrity and untiring indu8try, and it seems to me that
they were expressly designed for the settlement of a new country.
The most of them were uneducated, but they were men of strong in­
tellect and quick perceptive faculties, and, were always on the alert to
learn; und us knowledge in those days was not made a monopoly of
or hid under n bushel, what one knew the others soon learned. I
have often seen a half-dozen neighbors assembled around a winter­
evening fire to henr the new~paperread, and they generally discussed
e\'ery article in it before they broke up.

".In the abo\'e I ha\'e only gh'en the names of those that were set­
tled here before the war of lS12, as I ronsider that the first era in
the first settlement of the country. It was the era. of the leather
hunting-shirt anJ buckskin moccasin; of the bob·sled, husk collar,
aud raw-hidc traces, and the bar-she:l.l' plow, that would kick a boy
over the fence, aud probably kick at him after he was O\'er; before
steamboat n:wigatiou, and before the application of steam or elec­
tricity to any mechauicul purpose, and before all the innumerable
labor-savingim'entions that have sprung up in my day.

t< In IS15 there was but II. very l'mall portion of our dense forests
cleared, though a large area of it was deadened. I have helped to
deaden and burn a great deal of what would now be very valuable
timber. I frequently hear it said in these days that the first settlers
must have been very improvident and wasteful in destroying so lUuch
fine timber. They don't consider that stern necessity required us to
clear the land, and there being no sale for it, of course it had to be
burned. When n. settler selected a piece of land for a home, his first
object was to secure a tract that ha:! on it a never-fa.iling spring of
water, next n. sugar orchard, and next that kind of land best adapted
to the production of wheat and rye. Pennsylvanians, particularly,
always seemed to be extremely hungry for wheat-bread, and as soon
as they got a patch cleared, and tended in one crop of corn, they
scratched in between the rows with a shovel-pJow their wheat, and if
it was not blown down before heading it produced a tolerable fair
quality of grain. The thrashing was mostly done with flails, but it
w~s sometimes tl'll.mped out with horses, then sifted through a wooden
riddle, and the chaff blown frOID it by two persvns, each holding
firmly an end of a strong linen sheet, dexterously giving it that ar­
tistic flop that was required to raise the wind, almost precisely as the

. ancient EgJptians did when they first set up housekeeping and farm­
ing in Af!"ica. The first wheat-fan I ever saw was bought by my father
in 1816, at Mays\-ille, Ky., and shipped to Nevilsville by pirogue,
and from thence home ten miles on n. sled, and if e\'er a wind-mill
traveled thousands of miles on a sled that old mill did. In that day
nothing was eonsidel~ed too good to lend, hence the mill was almost
always going. I b:we known it to be hauled six to eight miles to
clean a few bushels of grain. Some years later another mill was
brought into the neighborhood, but it was soon reported and spoken
of as a remarkablo instance of selfishness tlll~t the owncr actually re­
fused to loan it to be hauled over the country, but that all were wel­
come to bring their grain to his barn and clean it on his mill. It wa-s
not long before a man that had been refused the loltn of the wind­
mill got his satisfaction. He owned II. post· auger, and the owner of
the mill sent his son to borrow it. lIe told thc boy to tell his flLther
thlLt he could not let him tlLke his auger away from home, but if he
would bring his post-holes up to his place he ,might bore all he had
and welcome.

"I have known wheat to be carried frequently sixtcen miles or
more to the Miami mills on horseback. A boy of ten years of age
could ride a horse undel' a throe-lJUshcl sack and lead another carry­
ing the same. The led-horse was genemlly harnessed under a pack­
saddle, on which a sack would stick as firmly as if .thro"~vn on a rail­
f~!1e~.. A~o~.;Ill1;in,es wlls.alw"l).y'~ )."el1;dy t~ JOl).~ hi.s mn.g~ifi:e!lt pi-

roguc to ltny of his neighbors that wished to ship their wheat to the
Cincinnati stcam-mill, and I have heard some of them bOI~St they
actually got as high ILS 3n cents per bushel for their wheat in cash,
and no store-goods.

"During the first year or two after the settlement at Ferguson's
ferry all the mcal that was used was ground on n. hand-mill that was
brought by Mr. Ferguson from Pittsburgh, the stones of which ~vere

carried over the Alleghany Mountains on a pack-horse. I have seeu
them often, and thcy are probably in the neighborhood yet. Mr.
James John built a grist-mill on Nine-Mile Creek in 1799, which was
the first in thispart of the county. I have heard some of the first
settlers of Newtown. Hamilton Co., say that tbey had often carried
corn from there to John's mill to have it ground. Light's mill (after­
wards Warren's) on Twelve-Mile Creek was built later, but in what
year I am unable to say. Salt 'vas procured at Grant's Lick, teri
miles from the river, in Kentucky. The capacity of the well was
from four to five bushcls per day, and it was sold as fast as it was
made to waiting customers at from one to three dollars per busheI."

Rodham Morin, who was the next to come after the
Fergusons, had served in Mad Anthony's campaigns against
the Indians, and improved a place a little more than a mile
below New Richmond. He fell from a boat in Cincinnati,
in 1830, and was drowned. Of his eight children four
were sons, viz.: Jolm and Benjamin (who were in the war
of 1812), James and Andrew Jackson. The former moved
to Illinois, and the latter yet lives in the township. The
other two have deceased. The daughters married Gordon
Applegate, Thomas McClelland, Judson Calhoun, and ·Wil­
liam Calhoun.

Hezekiah Lindsey and his family ca~e with Isaac Fer­
guson from Pennsylvania, and lived near him in Kentucky j

and after coming to Clermont settled below him on the
river·bottoms. He died about seventy years ago, leaving
sons named Manley, John, Philip, Hezekiah, 'Villiam,
Elijah, and daughters who married Joshua Brown, of Ohio j

John Fisher, of 1\lonroe j John Gilman, Elijah Mattox,
and Jesse Swem, all of Pierce. John Lindsey and his
brother Philip settled in Brown County. Hezekiah married
a sister of Reuben Laycock, and settled cast of Palestine,
in Pierce, where he died at the age of eighty-four years.
Of his sons Philip removed to Kentucky, John died in
Pierce, Levi was drowned in the army, William removed to

.Illinois, Stephen became a Baptist minister, and Marion
still occupies the homestead. Several of the daughters mar­
ried,-Rachel, David Wheeler, and Nancy, John Reese.

Col. William Lindsey was married to Nancy Ferguson,
and settled on the pres"ent Trump farm, but died at Mount
Pisgah in 1864, at the age of eighty-two years j and hi-s
widow at New Richmond in 1877, aged ninety-four years.
Twelve of their c1iildren at~ained mature years,-John,
William, Isaiah, Isaac, Hezekiah, and Ira. The latter ro­
side"S at Newport j and all but the former two yet reside in
the county. His daughters married David Donham, Mar­
tin Behymer, Samuel White, Andrew Hixson, John B.
Day, and Peter Myers, all of Southern Clermont.· Elijah
Lindsey lived in Monroe, but removed to Indiana many
years ago.

The Fagins-John, Joseph, George, Peter, and Abner­
lived along Ten-Mile Creek. Joseph was married t~

Rachel Gray, and settled near Mount Pisgah. He reared
a large family. George Fagin finally settled in Hamilton
County. Abner Fagin lived in the Mount Pisgah. neighbor­
·h09d the ~reat~r.part. of his. ~~fe,b4t. qjedjn ~IQDl:Qe,.l:\t
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the residence of his son Aaron. Jesse Swem was the
father of sons named John, ~~phraim, Jesse, and Daniel,
and three daughters, whose descendants yet liye in Pierce
and Ohio townships.

About 1786, Jacob Light with his wife and child moved
from his natiye State, Pennsylvania, to Detroit; but foul'
years later concluded to return to his home, as the Indian
difficulties were too unsettled to render a home in the 'Vest
safe. He was guided by a friendly Indian, and the jour­
ney to Wheeling consumed fiye weeks, passing the greater
part of the way through dense forests. In 1791 he and his
brothers, Daniel and David, descended the Ohio to Columbia,
where they made a temporary settlement. While living
here, in July, 1792, he wcnt to Fort Washington (Cincin­
nati) in a canoe, and returned on the 7th of that month,
accompanied by Mrs. Coleman (a woman of sixty years of
age), two strange men, one of whom was under the influ·
ence of liquor, and Oli\'er l\I. Spencer, a boy eleven yeurs
of age. Light propelled the boat with a pole, standing at
the bow, while one of thestrangers sat at tllO stern guiding
it. The drunken man rocked the boat so much that he
wus put ashore, and at the same time the lad asked per.
mission to walk along the beach. After they had gone
some distance they were fired upon by a few Indians, who
had been concealed by an ambush of willows, instantly kill.
ing the stranger and shooting I ..ight in the left shoulder.
Both he and Mrs. Coleman jumped into the river, and al·
though able to usc but one arm he struck for the Kentucky
shore. He was so weak, however, that he had to strike
for the Ohio shore, which he reached very weak from the
loss of blood. Mrs. Coleman also reached the shore safe.
The Indians, meantime, had' directed their efforts to the
capture or" the lad, who tried to run away from them. He
was held in captivity many years, but was finally ransomed
and returned to Columbia. Strange to say, the Indians
did not molest the drunken man, but allowed him to go on
bis way unharmed. Light proceeded to Columbia and gave
the alarm, but the Indians had already fled the country.
The following year he removed to Kentucky, and lived at
various points in that State until 1797., when, having pur­
cbased the Jackson survey, in Ohio, he crossed over and
erected the first cabin on the site of the present village of
New Richmond, which he founded in the course of yearR.
In 1813 he built the large brick house on the bank of the
river above the lumber-mills, where he died. His family
consisted of seven sons and four daughters, as follows:
John, who lived on a farm near New'Richmond until his
death in 1872, aged eighty-six years. He was the futher
of Mrs. A. Reese and Mrs. David Conner; Daniel, -the sec­
ond son, lived in Monroe until his death in 1873; and his
family yet occupy llis place; the fourth son, Jacob, lived
in the ~ame township, where he died about ten years ago;
David, the fifth son, removed to Illinois; Peter, the sixth
son, lives at an extreme age at New Hichmond; and Ben­
jamin, the youngest, died near the village in 1875. Ja­
cob Light was an active man, and had his full share of of­
ficial honors.

Daniel Light, a brother of Jacob, scttled on the Twelve­
Mile Creek, a tew miles above its mouth. He also had-an
~dve.nture with the Indians, and was shot through his body

so that a silk handkerchief had to be drawn through it to
cleanse the wound. His family consisted of sons named John
and i\Imtin, who removed to Illinois; Abel, who removed
to Iowa; and James, who removed to Indiana; Daniel,
another 05on, is yet a resident of Ohio. There were also
three daughters named Betsy, Katie, and Susan. Peter
Light, another brother of Jacob, settled in Williamsburgh
township. He was the father of thc eloquent Rev. George
C. I.Jight.

John Light, the father of Jacob, Daniel, and Peter,
came to Ohio at a later day and lived with the former son
until his death. 'Yith him came his daughter Barbara,
who W<lS married to Alexander Robb, who settled on Twelve­
Mile, near Daniel Light's. He was the father of James
and Samuel Hobb, the owners of the mill on Twelve-Mile.
rrhe former died in the township and the latt<,r removed to
Iowa, as did also his brothers, Andrew and Benjamin. The
daughters of Alexander Robb married James 'Warren and
Thomas 'Williamson, bOlh of' Ohio.

Some time before 1800, Archibald Gray settled two miles
below New Richmond, on thc farm which is yet known by
the family name, whcre he deceased before 1825. His
daughters married Joseph Fagin, John Scott, Aaron Par­
ker, and John 'Yinans. Of his sons, Hiram died on the
homestead j John, Henry, and Vincent removed to the
'Vest; James H. lives in New Richmond, and Aaron in
Pierce.

In the Mount Pisgah neighborhood Edward Chapman
was an early settler on the Dillon place, locating there
about 1803, and died there about 1825. He had a nu­
merous family, which became connected with the Husollgs,
Halls, Lindseys, and Dillons, and many descendants yet
remain. A little earlier David White settled on the farm
yet occupied by his son William, where he deceased, in
1851. Another of his sons, David, lives at Mount Pisgah.

In 1806, John Cox, a Virginian, came and began im­
proving the farm now owned by his son, John, where he
died in 1835. Another of his sons, Henry, is a resident of
'Yilliamsburgh. Near this time Heuben Laycock settled in
this neighborhood. He was the father of Reuben, who
long lived in that neighborhood, and the grandfather of Prof.
Laycock, the eminent teacher' of Cincinnati. The latter's
father was named William, who lived in Tate; and John,
another son, moved to the South. The brother of Reuben
Laycock, Sr., Nathan, settled in the" Franklin neighbor­
hood," and lived on the farm now owned by P. J. Donham.
One of his sons; Absalom, is yet a resident of Monroe, and
'William, Amos, and Isaac removed to Indiana. Nathan,
another son, died in 1\Ionroe.

In this neighborhood also settled about the same time
John Shaw, who was born in York Co., Pa., July 15,
1779. His father was James Shaw, who did valiant
service in the Revolution, serving under Gen. Neville, and
was at Trenton, Gcrmantown, and Brandywine. In 1790
he moved with his family to Maysville, Ky., and five years
later to Campbell County, of the same State, about three
miles west of New Ricllmond, where lle opened a large
farm and lived until his death. Of llis six sons, John,
the eldest, purchased a tract of land in Ohio about 1800,
having been led to see its beauty and fertility before the
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count.ry was settled, while hunting on this side of the
rivtr. In 1804 he married Nancy Morin, a daughter of
Edward Morin, and having improved his lund somewhat
came on to live in the spring of 1808, occupying the
present Ira Ferguson's place. He served a short time in
the war of 18I:!, and rendered prominent service as a
public man. He died in July, 1847, and his wife twenty
years later, having reared a family of ten children. Of
these James, the eldest, became a member of Gen. Austin's
Texas colony, where he followed his avocation as a sur­
veyor while that State was yet a Territory, and helped
achieve its independence by fighting in her army and
serving in her Congress, distinguishing himself as a mili­
tary man and as a legislator. John, the second son, yet­
l'esides ncar New Richmond. He married a daughter of
Gen. Clayton Webb, of Hamilton County, who settled
there in 1789. He was a member of the last Constitu­
tional Convention, and sen"ed in the Legislature. "William,
the third son, married a daughter of 'William Nichols, and
was also a legislator. lIe yet resides in Ohio. The next
two sons, Robert and Joseph, removed to Missouri, where
the latter was for many years the principal of the Lexing­
ton schools. The former was killed by bushwhackers in
1862. Jonathan R., the youngest son, married a daughter
of Johnson 'Vyatt., and yet lives on part of the old Shaw
farm. Of the daughters of John Shaw, Sr., one had
Nathan Nichols for her first husband, and for her second
Elijah Penn j others married John Nichols, Ira Ferguson,
and Robert Davis,-the latter of Indiana.

Northwest from this place, Dr. Joshua Porter was a
pioneer, as well as one of the earliest physicians in the
county.. He was a man of strong traits of character, and
was also a legal counselor. He died many years ago, and
none of his family remain.

William Doane, from Maine, settled farther north before
1812, and lived in the neighborhood of Lindale until his
death. His son, William, was a student of Dr. Porter's
and settled as a physician at "\Vithamsville, from which
place he was elected to Congress. James, another son,
lived on a filrm a mile from Amelia, where one of his sons
yet lives. Daniel removed to Cincinnati, and John Doane
died on the homestead. In the same neighborhood Joshua
Richardson was also a pioneer.

Samuel Tibbitts was also from the State of Maine,
coming to this loca!ity about 1811. In the latter part
of his life he became a steam-doctor, and for several years
practiced that sys.tem at Cincinnati, but before his death
returned to this neighborhood. He had a large family,
and was a progressive man.

Another native of M:line, the Rev. Ichabod Temple, a
Baptist minister, settled in this neighborhood half a dozen
years later. He died in 1839. He was the grandfather
of George and A. J. Temple, of Ohio, and Justice TE'mple,
of Batavia. His son, Robert, died at Mount Carmel j James
removed to Illinois j William and Cyrus died in Ohio j and
Nathaniel in Pierce. John Tcmple, of another family,
settled in Union about the same time. He was the father
of Alexander Temple, a ship-carpenter in Cincinnati, and
has numerous descendants in the county.

Qn..th~ far!D. n.ow occupied by his 'gl'andson, "\Villiam C.
51

Coombs, at Lindale, Andrew Coombs, Sr., settled in 1812.
He constructed a wagon in Maine, with a contrivance at­
tached to the wheels to mark the distance, and with it made
the journey to Connellsville, Pa., where t4ey embarked on
an "ark," and came down the Ohio by that means. He
died at Lindale in 1847, at the age of' seventy-two years,
having reared four sons and four daughters, viz.: Andrew,
who was a merchant in Ohio, and died at Lindale in 1864 j

Joseph J., who is an attorney in Washington City j 'ViI·
Ham H., an attorney at Fort Wayne j Thomas, who died
in California. Andrew Coombs, Sr., had also four daugh­
ters.

Nathaniel Barber and family came from the State of New
Jersey, and settled in Clermont County in the year 1809, on
the farm lately occupied by Emley Barber, four miles from

the village of Goshen. He died Aug. 4, 1826, in the sixty­
sixth year of his age. His wife (Ann Watson Barber) died
March 27, 1827, being sixty-two years of age. TI;ey had
ten children,-fom; sons and six daughters,-nl!mely, Na­
thaniel, Daniel, Watson, Emley, Susannah Banghart, Lucy
Mount, Jane Cox, Reb~cca Paxton, Sarah Gatch, and Mary,
who died at the age of sixteen.

Nathaniel Barber, the eldest son, located in Cincinnati in
the year 180!:), During the war of 1812 he belonged to a
cavalry company commanded by Capt. Snell, which was
acting as a body-guard to Gen. Hull at the time of his sur­
tender. In 1817 he moved to New Richmond, Clermont
Co., where he lived until the fall of ,1832, at which time
he took possession of his farm, situated on Little Indian
Creek, near New Richmond. He died 1\1arch 10, 1848,
in the sixty-sixth year of his age. Hannah Barber, his
wife, died in 1855, and was buried by. the side of' her hus­
band, in Green Mound Cemetery, where all members of
the family who have died now repose. Their family con­
sisted of five sons and four daughters,-Thomas, died in
New Richmond in 1834 j Daniel Barber~ M.D., died in the
same place in 1856, in the thirty-seventh year of his age j

James H. Barber, M.D., now lives in Falmouth, Ky. j Wil.
son Barber is living on the farm where his father died j

Nathaniel J. Barb~r, l\'I.D. (late assistant surgeon Fifty­
ninth Ohio Volunteer Infantry), resides at New Richmond j

1\1ary Ann Sturges died near New Richmond in 1866, in
the forty-ninth year of her age j Catharine Emerson died
in 1876 j Sarah Jane Cooder 'owns and lives on part of the
home-farm j Hannah Wilson also lives on a part of the
Barber farm, near the spot where she was born. .

Nathaniel Barber moved to Illinois j Daniel lived and
died on a farm adjoining that- of his father j Emley lived
and died on his father's farm, in 1868, aged sixty years.

In the spring of 1809, Andrew Conner, with his wife
and seven children, came down the Ohio in a small boat,
from his home in Mercer, Pa., and settled in Kentucky, op­
posite New Richmoud. In 1813 he came to that part of
New Itichmond called Susanna, where he died about 1847.
Of their children, four were the offspring of his wife's forlller
marriage with a man named Lewis, and one of these, George
Lewis, died in 1821. Of the Conner children, John,
the eldest, began steamboating in 1832, and for thirty-six
years was engaged in that occupation, chiefly as captain of
steamboats on the Ohio. He is ye~ a ci~i~e~ of Ohio, living
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J.JIST OF PHOPERTY.HOLDERS IN 1826

appear the names of many not otherwise noted in Ohio and
Pierce townships. .A prefixed asterisk indicates non-resi­
dence at the period named, many so marked afterwards
becoming identified with the two townships.

above New Richmond; and his brother, Andrew, is a pilot
on the river. Several of the daughters married Daniel
Light, Elisha Piper, and Newel E. Walton.

In 1812, Hobert Haines, a native of' Frederick Co" Va.,
settled in Ohio, and in the war which soon followed was in
command of a company of dragoons which marched against
the Indians. For many years he was an associate judge, and
was the first postmaster at New Richmond. He died :May
25, 18-14, leaving a widow who yet resides in the county,
at the age of eighty-six years. Of his sons, Joseph C., the
eldest, is a business man at New Richmond j Philip Q. is
an engineer at Keokuk, Iowa; and Robert, who was an
architect, died in 1866.

The Donaldson family came to Ohio a little later, and
has ever since been noted as one of' the most intelligent and
enterprising among the good citizens of the township.
Special sketches of their lives appear in this book.

John Crawford, a native of Pennsylvania, who had
served in t,he campaign against the Indians and was one of
the heroes of Tippecanoe, settled at New Richmond in
1812, and died there in 18;)6. He. was one of the pioneer
carpenters. Of his cleven children four yet reside at that
place.

Stephen Fennell, a Revolutionary soldier under Gen.
Nathaniel Greene, was also a New Richmond pioneer. He
was of Quaker parentage, and in the hour of trial his
mother said, "If thee will go to defend the liberties of thy
country never let thy mother hear that her son was wounded
in the back,"-an admonition worthy of a place with the
ntterances of the heroic Spartan mothers.

From this time on the settlement of Ohio was very rapid,
and no further note, of the pioneers can here be given j

but in the appended

Ashburn, John W., No. 847; Rob­
ert Beal, original proprietor.

Ashburn, Thomas, No. 847; Rob­
ert Beal, original proprietor.

.A pplegate, Nancy.
Archer, Chapman, No. 1763; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
*.Ashburn, Richard, No. 847;

Robert Beal, orig. prop.
~Avery, Henry, No. 1747; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Behymer, Joseph, No. 1753; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, Samuel, No. 511; Rob­

ert Baylor, orig. prop.
Behymer, Nathaniel, No. 1753;

Natbaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, Barbary, No. 1753;

Nathaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, John (2d), No. 1753;

Nathaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, Samuel, Sr., No. 1753;

Nathaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, John (3d).
Bebymer, William, No. 1'/53 ; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.

Bradburry, Jacob.
Behymer, Jacob, No. 1753; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, Daniel, No. 1753; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, Joel, No. 1i53; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Behymer, Benjamin.
Bragdon, Jotham, No. 1671; Ed-

ward Stephem,orig. prop.
Boothby, Josiah.
Behymer, John (1st).
Butler, Darius, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Butler, Abner, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Butler, Joseph, No. 5116 ; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Butler, Oliver, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop. .
Bennett, .Moses, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Bacon, Nathan.

.Barber, Nathaniel, No. 847; Rob­
ert Beal, orig. prop.

Brown, William A.

Bl1inum, Isaac.
Bennett, William.
Druwll, Joshua.
Bcttle, John.
Butler, Walter, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Bunner, Josiab, No. 1005; Bl'nj.

Biggs, orig. prop.
Brunaugh, Juhn.
*Dutlcr, John 0., Nu. :i06; Juhn

Catlett, orig. prop.
i~Bennett, Jamcs, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prup.
*Brndburry, Gibbons, No. 1134;

Churchill Joncs, orig. prop.
*Brown, John, No. 1761; Samuel

McCraw, orig. prop.
Colc, Benjamin.
Cook, Greenberry.
Cade, Thomas.
Cha.pman, Zach., No. 403; Geo.

Washington, orig. prop.
Cord, Richard, No. 16i I ; Edward

Stephens, orig. prop.
Custer, Christian, No. 511; Rob­

ert Baylor, orig. prop.
Cbapman, J obn, No. 403; George

Washington, orig. prop.
C1enne,)', Joseph.
Cottam, John.
Collard, Thoma~, No. 847; Rob-

ert Beal, orig. prop.
Can'er, Ralph.
Conner, Andrew.
Cooper, William.
Copp, Nathaniel P.
Cnllvford, John.
Cartright, James.
Casteel, George.
Cottam, Thomas.
Coombs, Andrew, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Cox, John, No. 1160; John Craw­

ford, original proprietor.
Chapmim, Rebecca, No. 1160;

John Crawford, orig. prop.
"'Collins, William, No. 9608; Wil­

Ham Collins, orig. }>rop.
~1Cleveland, Stephen B., No. 1761 ;

Samuel McCraw, orig. prop.
Draper, James.
Donham, Amos.
Donham, Robert, No. 400; Sam-

uel Finley, orig. prop.
Donham, Isaae.
Darman, William.
Donham, John, No. 514; William

Davis, originul proprietor.
Donham, William, No. 1753; Na-

thaniel Lueas, orig. prop.
Durham, J oshuo..
Durham, Huxford.
Dillingham, Cornelius, No. 506;

John Catlett, orig. prop.
Downey, Amos.
Donaldson, C.
Donaldson, W.
Davis, Dan.
Dawson, William, No. 847; Rob­

crt Beal, original proprictor.
Dunham, William, No. 1539; Da­

vid Jackson, orig. prop.
Dickinson, David, No. 437 ; John

Dandridge, orig. prop.
Donaldson, A. M.

Donaldson, Francis, No. 437;
John Dandridgc, orig. peop.

Donhum, John L., No. 274; Wil­
liam Green, orig. prop.

Doane, Will., No. 11:34; Cburchill
Jones, original proprietor.

Dillon, William.
Donham, Abel, No. 506; John

Catlett, original proprietor.
Draper, Samuel.
Donaldson. Christian, No. 437;

John Dandridge, orig. prop.
;&Dunn, Walter (executor), No.

261; William Fowler, orig.
prop.

*Doan{', William, No. 506; John
Catlett, original proprietor.

*Donham, Jonathan, No. 1760;
SnmuelMcCraw, orig. prop.

*Dunham, Joshua, No. 4243;
John Taylor, orig. prop.

Eppert, Jacob.
Eppert, Frank.
Eldridge, Darcus.
Emmerson, John.
Erskinp, Thomas.
*Eppert, Frederick, No. 506;

John Catlett, orig. prop.
ttEldridge, Thomas, No. 646;

Alex. Parker, orig. prop.
*Ebersole, Christian, No. 403;

Geo. Wasbington, orig.' prop.
Fergusun, James.
Fagin, Joseph, No. 506 ; John

Catlett, original proprietor.
France, Michael, No. 1i53; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Fred, Jaeob, No.1i53; Nathaniel

Lucus, original proprietor.
Ferguson, Isaiah, No. 1753; Na-

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
French, Elisha.
Ford, Richard.
Fennell, Mahala.
:Ford, Martha.
Fagin, Abner, No. 514; William

Davis, original. proprietor.
*Fee, Robert, No. 1671; Edward

Stephens, original prop.
*Fagin, John, No. 514; William

Davis, original proprietor.
*Folger, David, No. 506; John

Cutlett, original proprietor.
i!<Ferguson, Isaac, No. 151i; Rob­

ert Jonite, original prop.
-Fee, Thomas, No.16il; Edward

Stei1hens, original}lfop.
Gordon, Irwin W.
Greenleaf, 'William, No. 1677;

Richard C. Anderson, orig.
prop.

Gray, John.
Gilman, Daniel, No. ]753; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Gaskin, Thomas.
Gilman, Ichabod, No. 4595;

J ames Knox, orig. prop.
Gray, Neeley, No. 506; John

Catlett, original proprietor.
Groves, Godfrey.
Glisson, Thomas.
Gray, Hiram, No. 261; William

Fowler, original proprietor.
Gray, Andrew, No. 1760 ; Samuel

McCraw, original proprietor•.
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Gilman, Amos.
I;;Gilman, Jonathan, No. 4595;

James Knox, orig, prop~

*Gilbert, Ebenezer, No, 414; Wil­
liam Dllvis, original prop.

~!Gil1espie, Chloe, No. 2i4; Wil­
liam Green, orig. prop.

Huff, Lewis, No. 1i53 j Nathnnitll
Lucas, original proprictor.

Higbee, Isaac, Jl'.
Hickson, Amos.
Hedger, John.
Hair, Amos.
Hull, Job.
Hance, Elisha,
Hayford, S'lmuel, No. 1160 ; John

Crawford, original prop.
Herron, James.
Herron, William.
Herring, Alexander, No. 722;

Dlwid Stephenson, orig. prop.
Herring, William.
Haines, Robert, No. 84i; Robert

Beal, originlll proprietor.
~~Hunter,J04n, No. 637; William

Taylor, original proprietor.
~!IIardin, Hiram, No. 84-7; Rob­

ert Beal, original prop.
~!Higbee, John, No. 40:1; George

Washington, original prop.
Iiams, Plumer.
lies, Itobert.
Irwin, John.
Israel, D:l.\·id.
John, David, No. 1677; R. C.

Anderson, original prop.
Judkins, Jesse.
Jernagen, David, No. 506; John

Catlett, ('riginal proprietor.
Jeffries, John C., Jr.
Jeffries, John C.
Jellison, Samuel.
John, Thomas, No. 4795; James

Knox, original proprietor.
John, William, No. 1677; R. C.

Anderson, origiml1 prop.
John, Samuel, No. 16i7; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Ketchum, George.
Kirgan, John, No. 511; R. Bay­

lor, original proprietor.
Kit'gan, Thomas, No. 1753; Na-

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Kennedy, Thomas.
Kerr, John.
Ketchum, James.
*Kirby, Timothy, No.1517; Rob­

ert Jonitt, orig. prop.
Laycock, Reuben, No. 514; Wil­

liam Davie, orig. prop•.
Lindsey, Hezekillh, No. 1763;

Samuel Finley, orig. prop.
Lo\ver, John, No. li53; Nathan­

iel Lucas, orig. prop.
Littleton, Thomas, No. 1747;

John Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Long, Samuel.
Lenn, Solomon, No. 4795; James

Knox, original proprietor.
Light, Jacob, No. 1539; David

JncksoD, orig. prop.
Light, Dllniel, No. 437; ·John

Dandridge, orig. prop.
Light, John, No. 1539; David

Jackson, orig. prop.

Lane, NathaD.
Lindsey, William, No. 274; Wil­

liam Green, orig. prop.
Leeds, Solol11on, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Lindsey, Cnleb,.No. 1160; John

Crawford, orig. prop.
Lindsey, Edmund, No. 1160;

John Crawford, orig. prop.
Lewis, Elisha.
*Loyd, Reuben, No. 637; Wil­

linm Taylor, orig. prop.
.!Lindsey, Stephen, No. 1753;

Nathaniel Lucai', orig. prop.
;i!Laycock, Nathan, No. 1760;

Samuel McCraw, orig. prop.
*Light, George C., No. ]539;

David Jackson, orig. prop.
Morgnn, Enoch.
Miller, II. C" No. 5580; Thomas

Martin, orig. prop.
McClellan, Thomas.
Morin, Elizabeth.
Mattox, Elijah, Sr.
McFarland, Garrison.
Mcdaris, Thomas, No. 1753 ; Na­

thaniel Lucas,orig. prop.
McCord, Sllmuel, No. 4795;

James Knox, orig. prop.
Mattox, Elijah, Jr., No. 16il; Ed­

ward Stephens, orig:prop.
Mattox, Tobias, No. 167l; Ed-

ward Stcphcnill, orig. prop.
Molden, James.
McFarland, John.
Mas!!, Led.
Manning, Thomas, No. 274; Wil­

liam Green, orig. prop.
:Maliek, John, No. 4919 ; John

Green, orig. prop.
Myrick, Thomas, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
*Morrell, Mary, No. 4795; James

Knox, orig. prop.
!i!~Iorin, Rodham, No. 4:n; John

Dandridge, brig. prop.
eMorgan, Samuel, No. 921; Rich­

ard J. Waters, orig. prop.
*MilIer, Thomas B., No. ]2,495;

Thomas B.1\Iilier, orig. pro!?
Nash, James, No. loil; Edward

Stephens, orig. prop.
Nash, Henry.
Nash, William, No. 1671; Ed­

ward Stephens, orig. prop.
Porter, Joshua, No. 1160; John

Crawford, orig. prop.
Pedend, Joseph.
Placard, John.
Parvin, Hosea., No. 1753; Na­

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Pompelly, John, No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Pease, Martin, No. 536; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
Porter, Robert.
Palmer, Seneca, No. 437; John

Dandridge, orig. prop.
'Piper, David.
Pierson, Willis, No, 274; Wil­

liam Green, orig. prop.
Pease, Gorman 1\1., No. 506; John

Catlett, orig. prop.
*Payne, John, No. 1753; Na­

thaniel Lucall, orig. prop.

Richardson, John. Temple, William.
Robb, James, No. 921; Richard Tritt, Joseph.

J. Waters, orig. prop'. Turner, Peter, No. 847; Robert
Ri~ker, Sltmuel, No. 1753; Na- Beal, originltl proprietor.

thaniel Lue:l~, orig. prop. Tibbitts, Sllmuel, No. 506; John
Robh, Peter, Xo. 1795; James Catlett; orig. prop.

Knox, orig, prop. Temple, Iehabod, No. 506; John
Robb, William, No. 1705; James Catlett, orig. prop.

Kn9x, orig. prop.· *Temple, Robert, No. 1134;
Reese, John, Sr., No. 506; John Churchill Jones, orig. prop.

Catlett, orig. prop. Trulup, Rachel, No. 1763; Sam-
Reese, John, Jr. uel Finley, orig. prop.
Reese; Daniel. ;!;Taylor, James, No. 6219; Lewis
Reese, Elijah. Thomas, orig. prop.
Rathbone, Jonathan, No. 506; Voris, Isaac.

John Catlett, orig. prop. Wilson, Reuben.
R~ehnrdson, Joshua, No. 506; Wcst, Thomas.

John Catlett, orig. prop. Wagoner, John.
Robinson, Tholllas. Wood, Jameill, No. 4795; James
Rogers, John G. Knox, original proprietor.
Robb, Andrew. West, George.
Ridlon, Snmuel, No. 4795; James Wheeler, William.

I\nox, orig. prop. Wood, Nicholas, No. 1753; Na-
Ricker, John, thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Rice, Roach. West, Alfred.
Russel, Hugh. Walker, Caleb S., No. 847; Rob-
Randall, Joseph. No. 506; Joseph crt Beal, orig. prop.

Catlett, original proprietor. Wiles, John C.
Rardin, Wm., Sr., No. 506; John Wood, J. H.

Catlett, original proprietor. Williamson, Thomas.
Rardin, Willia.m, Jr. Watkins, William.
*Richardson, Rufus,· No. 506; Williamson, Joseph, No. 437;

John Catlett, orig. prop. John Dandl'idge, orig. prop.
Snider, Daniel. Warren, James, No. 437; John
Snider, John, No. 5580; Thomas Dandridge, orig. prop.

Martin, original proprietor. Weeks; John, No."1761; Samuel
Scott, John G. McCraw, orig. prop.
Stoner, Joseph. Wheeler, Peleg.
Swem, Jesse, No. 1753; Na- ' Wheeden, John, No. 274; Wil-

thaniel Lucas, orig. prop. liam Green, orig. prop.
Swem, John. Wheeden, Solomon, No. 506;
Short, Darcus, No. 511; Robert John Catlett, orig. prop.

Baylor, original proprietor. Wilson, Porter.
Short, John, Jr. Wilson, Lube.
Short, John, Sr., No. 511; Rob- Walker, John.

ert Baylor, orig. prop. White, David, No. 274; William
Short, Samuel, No. 511; Robert Green, original proprietor.

Baylor, original proprietor. Ward, Elijah, No. 1753; Na-
Short, Isaac. thaniel Lucas, orig. prop.
Swain, Charles. *Whippy, Davis, No. 1134;
Swem, Jacob. Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Sealy, Averilla. *Warren, John, No. 1134;
Stinchfield, Markland, No. 506; Churchill Jones, orig. prop.

John CIIUctt, orig. prop. *Whittaker, Christian, No. 637;
Sickler, Mathias. Wm. Taylor, orig. prop.
Sill, Joseph. ''''Ward, James, No. 637; Wil-
Sapp, George. liamTaylor, orig. prop.
Sargent, James. -White, John, No. 637; William
Townsley, James. Taylor, orig. prop.
Trump, Sarah, No. 1763; Sam- *Ward, Nehemiah, No. 4795;

uel Finley, orig. prop. James Knox, orig. prop.
Tewel, Sanford, No. 506; John Yates, William.
. Catlett, orig. prop. Young, David.

In 1826 the number of acres in the township was re­
ported as 25,620, valued at $106,111; and the total tax
was $729.51. The number of horses was 318, worth
$12,720; cattle, 610, worth $4880; and the capital in­
vested in merchandising was $65,000.

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

At the division of Clermont County, in February, 1801,
Ohio was constituted one of the original townships, to em­
brace about half ~f the present township of Monroe; all
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that part of Batavia lying south of the East Fork, all of
Union and Pierce, and its present territory, with the fol­
lowing officers: John Hunter, COllstable and Lister of
Taxes; Archibald Gray, Appraiser of· Houses; Ezekiel
Dimmitt and Isaac Ferguson, Overseers of the Poor; John
Donham, Jacob Light, and John Vaneaton, Fence-Viewers;
Ezekiel Dimmitb and John Fagin, Supervisors of High­
ways; John Hunter, Archibald Gray, and 'William Whit­
taker, Auditors of Supervisor's Accounts.

Of the early elections no records have been preserved,
but at the election for county commissioners, April 2, 1804,
when William Simonds and Samuel Lane acted as judges
and Shadrach Lane was clerk, 87 votes were cast; and at the
October election the same year, John Fngin, Jacob Ulrey,
and William Abercrolllbie were the. judges, and Robert
Townsley and Samuel Shepard clerks, and the total number
of votes was 26. A year later Morris Witham, James
'Ward, and 'William Abercrombie werc the judges, Edward
Miller and Hobert Townsley the clerks; and the following
were the voters: George Fagin, John McCleary, John
Morin, Patrick Fagin, Abel Donham, Nathan Nichols,
Rodham Morin, John Snyder, Tophel Apple, John Day,
'Villiam Apple, Jesse Swem, Chnpman Archer, Hezekiah
Lindsey, John Apple, Jacob Teal, Moses Broadwell, Henry
Davis, Joseph Avey, Thomas Robinson, Daniel Husong,
Joseph Beechmer, John Dillman, John White, Peter
Emery, John Bennett, Jacob Whetston, James Gest,
Robert Lane, Isaac Ferguson, James Bennett, Amos Don­
ham, John Lovell, Elijah Williams, David John, Alexander
Robb, Reuben Laycock, William Whittaker, Shadrach Laue,
Christian Husong, James B. Kyle, Jacob Light, James
Ward, 'William Abercrombie, Robert Townsley, Edward
:Miller, Daniel Light, Daniel Gilman, Morris Witham,
Henry Fitzpatrick, James Fitzpatrick, Peter PeIser, Eze­
kiel Dimmitt, Edward Chapman, Nathan Laycock, Joseph
Gest, John Donham, Aaron Fagin, Isaiah Ferguson, Robert
Donham, 'Yilliam Beasley, Abraham Ridland, Thomas
John, Zachariah Chapman, Nicholas Prickett, Archibald
Gray, John John, William Lindsey, Samuel Loveless, and
Joshua. Brown.

No recorded account of the annual township meetings is
to be found prior to 1826. That year Thomas. Kirgan,
'Villiam A. Brown, and Abel Donhap1 wcre elected Trus­
tees; John C. 'Vylie, Clerk; Israel Littleton and Hobert
Carver, Constables; Joseph Peden, Treasurer; Robert Iles
and Thomas Glisson, Overseers of the Poor; Robert Haines
and Levi Moss, Fence-Viewers; John Placard, Ichabod
Gilman, 'William Donham, Chapman Archer, John Wag­
oner, Thomas West, Lewis Huff, Samuel Short, Frederick
Eppert, 'William Lindsey, David White, Nathan Laycock;
Hiram Gray, James Robb, and William "\Vatkins, Road
Supervisors.

Sinc~ 1826 the following have been the principal officers
of the township:

TRUSTEES.

1827-28.-Abel Donhalll, John Crawford, Jallles Robb.
1820.-Robert Donhalll, John Crawford, Thomas Kirgan.
1830.-Dn.vid White, David Jones, Chapman Archer.
1831.-David White, David Jones, William Donham.
1832.-John Crawford, .Joseph Stoner; §amuel Hayford.
1833-34.~JohnCrawford, Joseph Stoner, Abel Donham.

18~5.-WilliamDoan(', l'fark Strickland, Eben S. Ricke;.
18~6.-AndrewCoombs, Mark Strickland, Eben S. Ricker.
18:n.-Darid Ross, Josiah Ferguson, Abel Donham.
18~8.-Sallluel Robb, n. J. Rirker, .John Crawford.
18~0.-ltobert Haines, David White, Johnson Wyatt.
1840.-,-ltobert Hain('s, Sallluel Ha:rford, Johll~on Wyatt.
18-n.-C. S. Wall,er, SalUuel Hayford, Johnson Wyatt.
18·l2.-Robert Haines, SalUuel Hayford, Johnson Wyatt.
184~.-John Swem, William Eppert, 1'1. H. Davis.
1844-46.-John C. Smith, Henry E. Wilson, M. H. Davis.
1847-48.-John C. Smitb, James Yale, 1\1. H. Davis.
1840.-John Sbaw, N.l'1. Preble. James John.
1850.-John Behymer, N. 1\1. Preble, John C. Smith.
185I.-~. 1\1. Preble, John Behymer, Josiah Bunner.
1852.-John Swem, Daniel Behymer, William Shaw.
185:1.-Jobn Shaw, J. B. Fleming, William Hobson.
185-!.-John Connor, J. H. Bainum, Charles Robh.
1855.-Johnson Wyatt, John B. Fleming, J. R. Tingley.
18511-58.-J. R. Corbley, William Hawkins, D:wid Ross.
1859.-John W. Lindsey, D. A. Rees, Martin Ryan.
18110.-John W. Lindsey, F. C. Warren, Ch·a.rles Burkhart.
1811I.-.John Terwilliger, F. C. Wluren, Charles Burkhart.
18G2.-Juhn Terwilliger, Charles Cooder, John B. Fleming.
186:~.-John W. Lindsey, F. C. Warren, John Hegner.
1864.-John W. Lindsey, J. C. Haines, Stephen Huber.
1865.-Charles Burkhart, J. C. Haines, Stephen Huber.

• 1866.-John W. Lindsey, J. C. Haines, Stephen Huber.
1867.-Joseph Clasgens, J. C. Haines, Henry Reise.
1868.-John W. Lindsey, J. C. Haines, J. J. Reinert.
1869-70.-J. R. Shaw, J. C. Hltines, George Fisher.
J8il-72.-Charles Wulf, J. C. lI:tines, A. J. Morin.
1873.-Charles Cooder, J. C. Haines, A. J. Morin.
1874.-J. R. Shaw, Wilson Barber, A. J. Morin.
1875.-J. R. Shaw, Frederick Hehnering, A. J. Morin.
18711.-J. R. ShIm, R. Gee, A. J. 1\Iorin.
1877.-William Donaldson, Charles nurldlart, A. J. Morin.
1878.-William Donaldson, Charles Burkhart, J. R. Shaw.
1870.-William Donaldson, Frederick Helmering, J. R. Sha\v.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1827, John C. Wylie; 1828-29, James H. Wood; 1830-31, Sanford
Tewel; 1832, James Walker; 183:~-35, Sanford Tewel; 1836,
David Jones; 1837, Sanford Tewel; 1838, J. T. Johnson; 1839
-40, James H. Wooll; IS·il, G. T. Layfield; 1842-46, William
Hobson; 1847-49, C. Hacket; 1850-51, E. S. Reakirt; 1852, N.
1\1. Preble; 1853-54, J esso CI1.rnes; 1855-56,'John McDonald;
1857, D. L. Stinchfield; 1858-60, John McDonald; 1861, Willium
A. Watkins; 1862, Thomas F. Donham; 1863-64, A. W. Coan;
1865-66, John McDonnlcl; 1867-70, J. D. Aston; 1871, A. J.
Shaw; 1872, Thomas D. Hamilton; 1873-74, John W. Lennin;
1875, C. T. Bainum; 1876-77, Jerome L. Stmchfield; 1878, C.
A. Lindsey; 1879, John W. D~vis.

TOWNSHIP TREASURERS.

Joseph Peden, Levi Moss, William Carnes, James W. Morin, John
Morin, Samuel Silver, E. R. Shannon, James H. Wood, G. T.
Lnyficld, Caleb S. Walker, John Wagner, Joseph Peden, Hugh
Gilmore, Samuel McKown, Hugh Gilmore, D. E. Fee, E. J. Don­
ham, J. F. 1\'1. Ely, E. R. Shnnon, D. E. Fee.

TOWNSHIP ASSESSORS.

T. Nichols, C. S. Walker, E. B. Warren, H. F. Slade,WiIliam B. Fitz­
patrick, L. D. Layfield, William A. Townsley, P. B. Young, W.
B. Fitzpatrick, David McCann, John V. Hunt, William B.
Fitzpatrick.

In 1826, on the second day of June, the trustees met at
the house of J. C. "\Vylie, and agreed that the townsllip tax
for the ensuing year should be as follows: for township
purposes, two-thirds of a mill on the dollar; for poor pur­
poses, one mill on the dollar.

At the April meeting in 1868 the electors of Ohio town­
ship voted to build a township hall, and soon after the
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trustees voted to carry this resolution into effect, and April
23, 1870, levied a tax of one mill on the dollar for this
purpose. In 1871 and 1872 levies of two mills were made
for the same object" and in 1873 the taxation was increased
to four mills. The fund assured, on the' 8th of January,
1872, the trustees purchased lots Nos. 103 and 104, on
Market Street, in New Richmond, which had been occu­
pied for a cooperage by Charles Quigley, as a site on which
to build the hall, adopting, Aug. 21, 1872, the plans and
specifications for the edifice which had been prepared by
J. F. Fisher. In response to bids for performing the work,
Edwin House and George Fisher were awarded the con­
tract, and about this time active operations were begun
with a view of completing the hall by the 4th of July,
] 873. The foundation-walls are built of the limestone
found in the hills of this part of the county, and are very
firmly laid. On them are reared substantial walls of brick,
with window-caps and cornices of galvanized iron. The
roof is of slate and is self-sustaining, the front being re­
lieved by several small towers, which give the building a
semi-Mansard appcarance. The edifice is 102 feet long and
50 feet deep, and forms two stories and a basement. In
the upper part is the elegant auditorium, whose dimensions
are 47 by 65 feet, with a stage at one end 20 by 47 feet,
and a gallery at the other 16 by 47 feet, giving it a seating
capacity ample for 1000 persons. The room is nl(\re than
25 feet high, is well lighted, and has fine acoustic proper­
ties. The approaches to this room are by broad and easy
stairways, whose sides, and, indeed, the entire hall, are neatly
wainscoted. In the lower story, which is 14 feet high, are
six rooms,-four ]8 by 19 feet, and two 18 by 32 feet,­
which are used for various township purposes; and the
basement is divided into ten rooms of 8 feet in height.
The hall is heated by a good furnace, and is provided with
a bell costing nearly $600. 1'he building, with its site,
furniture, etc., as it appears to-day, cost more than $30,000,
and is the finest and most capacious township hall in this
part of the State. It was appropriately opened to the pub­
lic Feb. 18, 1874, when the assembled multitude were pre­
sided over by Mayor E. J. Donham, and P. J. Donham, of
Cincinnati, Prof. Hancock, Dr. Kincaid, T. C. Gowdy, M.
H. Davis, C: S. Walker, Frank Browning, P. J. Nichols,
and others made addresses.

Among other items of interest found in the records of the
township is one pertaining to people of color, which is here
produced verbatim:

"TO TIlE PUBUC.

"The undersigned, Trustees nnd Overseers of the Poor of Opio
Township, hereby give notice that the duties required of them by the
Act of the General Assembly of Ohio, entitled an 'Act to Regulate
Black and Mulatto Persons,' and the acts amendatory thereto, will
hereafter be rigidly enforced, and all Black and Mulatto Persons now
resident of Ohio Township and who have immigrnted to and settled
within Ohio Township without complying with the requisitions of
the first section of the amended act afore~aid,nre enjoined that unless
they enter into Bonds, as the said Act directs, within sixty days f.·olll
this date, they may expect, at the expiration of thnt time, the law to
be rigidly enforced.

" And thc undersigned would further insert herein, for the inforlDa­
tion of the citizens of Ohio Township, the third section of the Amend­
atory Act aforesaid, as follows: 'That if allY person, being a resident
of this State, shall employ, harbor, or concen.l nny such Negro or Mu­
latto Person aforefil\id; contrary to the provisions of the first section of

this Act, any person so offcnding shall forfeit and pay for every such
offense any sum not exceeding one hundred dollars, the one-half to the
informnnt and the other half for the use of the poor of the Township
in whieh sueh person may reside, to be recoyered by action of debt
before any court having competent jurisdiction; and moreover be liable
for the maintenance and support of such Negro or Mulatto Persons,
provided he, she, or they shall become unable to support themselves.'

"The co-operation of the public is expected in carrying these laws
to fuil effeet.

"NEW RICHUOND, July 15, 1829.
"THOUAS KIRGAN,
"ROBERT DONHAM,
"JOliN CRA.WFORD,

" 'l'1't18teea 0/ Ohio T01D1I8hip.
" C. S. WALKER,
"Wu. WATKINS,

" Ouel'8eer8 of the Poor.
"J. H. WOOD, TOIDII81tip Ole"'~."

The township voted $50,000 to build a railroad tlll'ough
its territory, but the act being declared null, a railroad is
now being built by individuals. Considerable money has
been expended in the improvement of the highways, and a
number of miles have been turnpiked. Th~ roads of the
township are in a good condition.

HA~ILETS AND VILLAGES.

On the highlands north of the centre of the township is
the hamlet of MOUNT PISGAH, containing a few dozen
houses, and the usual attendants of a country trading-point,
to which more importance attnched for~erly than at present.
The hamlet was never regularly laid out, and has been built
up in a somcwhat straggling manner. There is a good
school-house, and near by the Mount Pisgah Methodist
~Jpiscopal church. Samuel l"lcLaughlin, a tailor, had a
store here about 1830, and a few years later Z. & N. Hunt­
ington were in trade. They were succeeded by David
Whit,e, Sr., and David Preble. Then came N. l\:I. Preble
and Abram Lindsey, who had also a large cooperage, from
which circumstance the hamlet WllS locally called "Keg­
town," a name which has not yet been wholly forgotten.
In trade that firm was succeeded by Cyrus P. Hayford~

and about the same time A. Doughty.began merchandising
at another stand, where he was succeeded by E. R. Dole.
A number of other parties have been cngnged in merchan­
dising for short periods, but the place has no longer the
trade it had years ago. The present store is kept by 'Vesley
Calhoun, who has also the Mount Pisgah post-office. This
office was established about 1840, with the name of Lisbon,
Samuel Hayforth being the postmaster. In a few years it
received the present name and N. M. Preble became post­
master; in 1847, Cyrus P. Hayford; 1866, 1\1. S. Bird­
sell; 1867, J. A. Warrenj'1869, M. S. Birdsell; 1873,
David Lindsey; 1875, B. Behymer, followed by the present
incumbent.

N ear this place the pioneer physician was Dr. Joshua
Porter, and later practitioners were Drs. Brooks, Murphy,
a~d Tracy, the place being at present without a physician.

On the same highway, near the north line of the town­
ship, is the small but pleasant hamlet of LINDALE, whose
post-office was formerly called Lyndon. On the death of
the former postmaster, Joseph T. Wheeler, his widow,
Susanna L. Wheeler, was appointed to take charge of the
office, which, like the Mount Pisgah office, is supplied with
a daily mail fromNew Richmond to Batavia.
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Befo~e 1830, Seth Maker was engaged in merchandising
in this locality, and was followed by Andrew Coombs and
his son Andrew, the latter finally carrying on the trade on
his own account, and as an associate of Joseph T. 'Vheeler,
whose family is yet in trade. Stores have also been kept
at this place by Messrs. Dillon, Swem, Tracy, and Miller.

In the northern part of the hamlet was formerly a collar­
and harness-factory and a tannery by J. L. Donham i and
Charles Butler formerly had here a large cooperage, while
the usual mechanic-shops have been carried on by Samuel
Hayforth, George W. Peoples, Joseph :Malick, and others.

Attention has been paid to the medical art by Drs. Sam­
uel Tibbetts, J. S. Galloway (who had a hygienic home for
the treatment of patients), and the present Dr. J. A.
Windsor.

In the township of Monroe, ncar Lindale, are the steam­
mills operated by 'V. C. Coombs. They were erected in
1859, by E. B. 'Varren, as a saw-mill, the grinding appa­
ratus being supplied at a later period. The I.Jindale Baptist
church is south of the hamlet.

Outside of the hamlets of Ohio and the village of New
Richmond have been manufacturing industries; among the
most important being the mill of Daniel Light, built on
Twelve-Mile Creek, about a mile ubove its mouth, at an
early day. It was three stories high, of hewed logs, and
was next operated by James 'Vanen, by whose name it
was better known. On the same stream above were the
stone mills of the Robb fitmily, put up about 1826. In
later 'years cotton-machinery was operated in the fourth
story. The mill had a large capacity, and in 1839 steam­
power was supplied by Samuel Robb. After 1860 but
little was done ltere, and the mills are at present idle.
Two miles and a half above, on the same stream, were the
mills and distillery of John Donham, at present in Monroe
township. After twenty years' operation some of the build­
ings were destroyed by fire. Samuel Morgan, William
Shaw, William Nichols, and others had saw-mills in the
town~hip, but as the water-power became. too feeble, they
have long since passed away, and in many instances but
little is left to mark their former location. In the pre­
ceding pages the Hon. John Shaw gives an interesting
account of the early pioneer mills alld the difficulty the
settlers had to providc.themselves with flour.

NKW InCH~IOND.

This is the largest and most flourishing village in the
county. It bas a superior location on the Ohio, about
twenty miles above Cincinnati, on a large and fertile plain,
which slopes gently towards the river, which here forms a
beautiful stream. North and cast are the hands~mestup­
lands in the county, containing many fine improvements i
and on the opposite shore are the beautiful hills of Ken­
tucky, whose almost perpetual grecn, with their modest
farm-houses anu Iuxuriant fruit-fields, are in striking con-·
trust with active, bustling New Richmond.. The village is
located upon Hobert Bears survey, No. 847, and David
Jackson'::; survey, No. 1539, the former entered on the 3d
of June, 1778, for 1000 acres, and the latter, the same
date, for 333 acres. The J=lckson survey became the
property of J~c?b Light in 1804, and. upon 85 acres of it

he laid out, from Sept. 19 to Sept. 22, 1814, th~ original
village of New Richmond. It is said that the plat was
made by a nephew of Mr. Light, who had formerly resided
at Richmond, Va., and who suggested the name in compli­
ment to his old home. It embraced 219 lots of one·fourth
of an acre each, 6 streets of 60 feet width, and one 33 feet
wide. These streets were laid out parallel with the river, or
at right angles, forming regular squares. Lots 98 and 99
were set aside tor the use of the public.

The Beal survey having become the property of Gen.
William Lytle, in 1813 he conveyed 875 acres thereof to
Thomas Ashburn, who, in l!~ebruary, 1816, laid out that
part adjoining the upper side of New Richmond as the vil­
lage of Susanna, the name being given in honor of his wife.
The plat was the most elaborate one ever recorded in the
county, and embraced many noyel features. It comprised
494 in·lots and 292 out·lots, a number of which were re­
served for specific purposes i and if the liberal projects of
the proprietor had been carried out,. Susanna would un- .
doubtedly have become the handsomest village in the State.
As it is, some of his wise provi~ions have become the lead­
ing characteristics of the present beautiful village of New
Richmond. Among the principal features were a promenade
on the banks of the Ohio, no less than one hundred feet
wide, which was to be kept open for the purposes of orna­
ment and recreation. This promenade yet exists. Five hun­
dred and sixty feet of land, to be caUed Union Square, were
to be kept open forever, for the same purpose as the above.
The Crescent, a public space, whose chord was 240 feet, was
to be kept open forever. Richmond and Raymond Courts,
each 210 feet long and 120 feet broad, were ever to be sa\lred
for the use of the public. A public market-place was to
occupy an area of 210 by 400 feet. A large out-lot on
Belle Air Street was reserved for the reception of buildings,
to be erected of brick or stone, for the accommodation of a
Lancaster school or other seminary of learning of a higher
nature which might first be established. " But in neither
case shall such institution be under the exclusive direction
or control of any particular religious sect or association;
nor shall its benefits be confined i but, on the contrary, be
extended and free to youths pf every religious persuasion,
without exception." Any grounds remaining after the
buildings had been erected were to be laid out for the public
walks of the pupils. Out-lots Nos. 33 and 35 were to be
used for burial purposes, the interment of the dead within
the village proper being especially forbidden. In-lots Nos.
110 and 111 were offered as a bonus to a suitable person
who would erect a spacious hotel of brick or stone thereon.
In-lot No. 302 was to be a donation for the accommodation
of a public circulating librar)', to be conveyed in perpetuity
to any association of persons, legally incorporated, who
should erect thereon the necessary buildings of brick or
stone for the accommodation of the library. In-lots 204
and 237 were reserved as places of worship, for the per­
petual use of any two distinct religious societies, of different
persuasions, who should erect thereon meeting-houses of
brick or stone. rrhc streets were wide, to be in harmony
with the liberal view!': of Mr. Ashburn, and every provision
was made for the comfort and welfare of those who should
become residents of t.he village, which, in 1828, lost its
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identity through legislative enactment, becoming at that
time a part of the incorporated village of New· Richmond;
and to conform to the new order of things the lots of the
former two villages were renumbered as a whole, and the
area of the village subsequently increased 'by additions.

Geor~e Mcl\1urchy made an addition on May 3, 1849,
, of 208 lots. Sept. 6, 1850, David W. Dickinson laid out

10 lots in John Dandridge's survey, No. 437, adjoining the
village. May 3, 1851, David Jones another one of 30
lots, and on Dec. 10, 1851, Martin Uyan made a subdivi­
sion by taking ten feet off of the back end of 9 old lots,
672 to 680, adjoining Market place, and making an alley
fifteen feet wide between these old lots from 345 to 363.
Sept. 25, 1852, Benjamin Light made an addition of 11
lots. May 24: 1853, another of 4 lots, including one acre
for James Kratzer's brewery; and Aug. 8, 1856, another
of 33 lots. Isaac Donham subdivided lots 78,'nJ, 56, and
57, into nine lots; and the last addition was by' Pet~r
Light, on April 8, 1874, of 32 lots.

Suburban additions, on non-platted lots, have further
increased the area of New Richmond until its length along
the Ohio is nearly two miles. The growth of the village
has not been remarkable, but h,ls been the steady course
of vigorous life, flowing on to prosperity and importance,
until there are to-day nearly 3000 inhabitants, numerous
churches, fine public buildings, handsome residences, and
the business adjuncts noted in the following pages.

At the public sale of village lots, the proprietor, Jacob
Light, offered to deed the lot in fee-simple on which the

, purchaser should erect the first shingle-roofed house. James
Warren, a tanner, had purchased a fine lot containing a
spring, on which he at once began to build a log house,
prosecuting the work with so much activity that he won
the prize. The ruins of this house Illay yet be seen at the
steam tannery. Mr. 'Varren had a competitor in Uobert
Haines, who built a house on Front Street, which was for
many years a prominent landmark. He alleged that t.he
reason Warren had finished his house fir~t was because he
worked by moonlight, while he limited his efforts to the
daytime. In this house, on Front Street, was kept the first
tavern at New Richmond, and also the first post-office.

In May, 1816, there were in the old village of New
Richmond two cabins, seven hewed-log houses, and several
two-story frames on Front ~treet, which remained many
years. In the summer and fall of that year many improve­
ments were ma~e, and the village soon had among its citi­
zens representatives of all classes and trades. As near as
can be recollected the first. in every avocation were the fol­
lowing: Plummer lams and David Jones, storekeepers, the
former being also the first to sell drugs and the latter to
manufacture tobacco; Robert Haines, tavern-keeper and
potter; James Warren, tanner; John Crawford, carpenter;
Samuel Jellison, tailor; Thomas Glisson, shoemaker; Ben­
jamin l\Iorris and P. Tumer, harness-makers; C. S. Walker,
nail-maker; Thomas Williamson, wool-carder; Jonathan
McClure, blacksmith; Samuel Trons, brickmaker ; Charles
"\V. Swain, painter; Nathaniel Conrey and John Ueakirt,
cabinet-makers; Robert Ehrhart, chair-maker; Seneca Pal­
mer and J. O. Jeffries, Jr., wheelwrights; J. C. Jeffries,
Sr., mason; Thomas Douglas and Joseph Israel, engineers;

John and James Atkinson, distillers; J. C. Wyle, cloth­
dresser; David Ross, baker; William McDonald, J. Sapp,
and C. W. Swain, school-teachers; J. G. Rogers and Z.
Green, physicians. Davis Embree was the first to employ
steam-power in the village.

In that part of New Richmond which was formerly
Susanna, lived, in the spring of 1816, Andrew Conner, the
father of Capt. John Conner and Andrew Conner, Jr., and
the proprietor of the village, Thomas Ashburn, and his
son'-in-law, Nathaniel Barber, who was the first resident
carpenter. That summer Ashburn erected the large brick
house on Augusta: Street, which yet stands there in good
condition, and which was his home until his death, in 1826.
He was born in J...ancashire, England, July 11, 1769, and
although reared us a farmer became a cotton manufacturer.
This occupation he followed until the restrictive poliey of
Napoleon Bonaparte, at the beginning of the present cen­
tury, caused his failure. In 1805 he emigrated to America,
settling first ncar Cincinnati. In 1814 he took up his resi­
dence on his fine purc.hase at New Richmond. He was the
father of Uichard Ashburn, lately deceased, and the grand­
father of Judge Thomas Q. Ashburn, of Batavia, and his
brother, residing near New Richmond.

The pioneers ill the various avocations at Susanna were
Samuel and Daniel Huey, storekeepers; Robert Davis and
William .'Vatkins, wagon-makers; James 'Valker, wood­
turner; Joseph Durham, cooper; David Piper, brick­
maker; Richard Ashburn, bl:icklayer; H. Bainum and S.
Amebun, machinists and blacksmiths; 'Villiam Ross, gun­
smith; George Myers and Aquilla Smith, hatters; Amos
·Downey, cabinet-maker; John Anderson, miller (ox-power);
J. Bainum and W. 1\1. Bennett, shoemakers; Emanuel
Grubb, millwright; Joseph Emerson, river-trader; John
Emerson and N. Capp, watch-makers; and David Gibson,
distiller. At what is now New Richmond Plummer lams
and William Hobson were the first justices of the peace.

In 1837 the owners of houses and shops were Nancy
Applegate, William Bowles, William Bennett, John Beagle,
Josiah BettIe, John Crawford, Judson Calhoun, Daniel
Carroll, 'Villiam H. Collins, T. & C. Donaldson, J. S. Don­
ham, William Dawson, D. W. Dickerson, Mary Daily, Jo­
seph Fagin, Thomas Glisson, Samuel Goble, F. Herbert,
Robert Haines, J. T. Johnston, Thomas Kinnelly, Daniel
Light, Jacob Light (heirs), George C. Light, William G.
Laycock, John Light, Isaac r...aycock, JoJlIlson McCormick,
l...evi Moss, John Morin, J. S. Morris, Benjamin Morris,
H. Nichols, Samuel Powers, R. Porter, Daniel Parker,
Martin !lyan, Samuel Ridlih, J. G. Hogers, ,John Reakirt,
B. Robb, Mark Strickland, J. Q. Searle, James Snider,
Thomas Speakman, Peter Snider, Elisha Spencer, George
Sweet, Tingley & BettIe, J. Tremper, Sanford Tewell, Abel
Towner, C. S. Walker, Jas. H. Wood, William 'Watkins,
J. G. Bimey, Isaac Barnum, W. 1\1. Bcimett, N. Barber,
Henry Barkley, John Conner, Andrew Conner, T. B. Col­
lard, William Carnes, K R. Day, A. DowlJey, J. Durham,
WiHiam DawsolJ, H.. Dav'is (heirs), H.. Douham; Josiah
Donham, T. Elstun, L. Hardin, William Hobson, RIles,
J. 'r. Johnson, David Hoss, Audrew Hoss, Eo R Shuullon,
Jacob Swem, Johnson Tremper, H. 1\1. Sturges, S. 'V.
Walraven, ,Y. 'Watkins.
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MUXICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

Under a special act of the General Assembly, passed
Jan. 11, 1828, the villages of New Richmond and Susanna
were vested with corporate powers; and the body politic
thus constituted was to be known and distinguished by the
name of the" Town Council of the town of New Rich­
mond," the identity of Susanna being thereafter lost in its
more successful rival, New Richmond, which is the only
name that appears in the municipal history of these two
former villages. The first officers elected under the village
charter were J. T. Johnston, Mayor; Charles W. Swain,
Recorder; Petet: Turner, Levi Moss, Nathaniel Barber,
William 'Vatkins, and Thomas Williamson, Trustees. The
council appointed Robert Porter Treasurer, and John M.
Foster Marshal; Thomas Glisson, David Hoss, 'Villiam
Dawson, Supervisors of Streets; and Dr. J. G. Bogers,
Health Officer.

Thus organized the council was ready for business, and
one of its first acts was to borrow $10 to dcfray the CUlTCllt
expenses of the village. The eompen!:'ation of the recorder
was fixed at five ceuts per hundred worus. A rule was made
" that the citizens of the village be permitted to sit as spec­
tators in the council-rooms during time of business, except
when the council may deem it necessary to sit with closed
doors."

One of the first ordinances of the village prohibited the
shooting of guns in the village bounds, but it appears that
Councilman Peter Turner himself violated this·law, and on
being fined $2, became disgusted with the municipal gov­
ernment and resigned his office. The vacancy was filled
by Thomas Kinnelly. The ordinance prohibiting shooting
caused William Ross, the gunsmith, to ask for permission
to test his firearms within the limits of the corporation,
and a committee was appointed to investigate his case: who
reported an exception in his favor, and a special ordinance
was enacted, giving him liberty to shoot against the old ox­
mill.

The running at large of sows with young pigs being an
eye-sore to some people, an ordinance was passed to restrain
them; but the innovation was so great that it was soon re­
pealed, and for many years they roamed at will. The
mayor resigning at the end ot' a few months, C. S. 'Valker
was appointed to fill the vacancy, and accepted" upon being
assul'ed that there would be no serious objection to such an
act by the majority of the people."

At the end of the first year the treasurer reported that
the total receipts had been $104.78, and the expenditures
within $9.50 of that amount. In contrast with this report
the treasurer fifty years later (in 1879) reported that the
total receipts had been $6Hi8.47, and the disburs~ments
for the same fiscal year $5110.26. The balance has been
appropriated to the payment of outstanding bonds, and New
Uichmond is to:day fl'ee from debt. For the past year
(1879) the rate of taxation was four mills on the dollar,
and the general expenditures have been: for general pUl'­
poses, $745.78 j for police and jail, $215.65; for wharf,
$56.30; for improvement of streets, $399.20; for lighting
streets, $514.51 ; for salaries, $17G.75 ; and for fire depart-
ment, $183.75. _

In July, 1829, a petition was presented' praying for a

market-house upon the site formerly occupied by the court­
house, which was lost; and the question as to site was the
same month submitted to the people, who voted 41 to 28
to have the market-house erected on lots 98 and 99, which
had been set aside for this purpose by Jacob Light. Sub­
scriptions for building the market-house were solicited, and
Dan Davis, John Crawford, and Levi Moss were appointed
to build it as soon as sufficient funds had been secured.

At the meeting held Jan. 8, 1830, an ordinance was passed
for the better regulation of the sale of salt, after which the
mayor asked for leave of absence, stating that he wished to
go to Cincinnati if a steamboat should pass. His request
was granted, and at the same meeting the council voted to
procure one fire-hook and three ladders to be used in cuse
of fire; and Capt. John Connor was appointed to organize
a hook-and-ladder company.

The market-house committee did not seem to make much
progress, and in 1831, on the petition of many citizens, it
was decided to build a house with the corporation funds.

In 1832 one of the trustees neglected to attond the meet­
ings of the council, and "it was resolved to fine him fifty
cents for each total absence."

In 1834 the council was still legislating about the mar­
ket-house, and appointed Thomas KinneIly, Benjamin Mor­
ris, and VV. R. Price a building committee. But. not until
a few years later wus the market-house so fur completed
that it could be occupied. In 1813 it was placed in charge
of the marshal, who was empowered to collect 12~ cents
per week from every person occupying a stall for the sale
of meuts, etc. The council also ordered" that the gates be
secured in a proper way to prevent as far as may be hogs
or other animals lodging in it.."

'fhe market-house yet stands, but has ceased to be used
for market purposes.

At a number of meetings prior to 1846 ordinances were
passed relative to the wharves of the village, but :March 0,
1846, the first action for the establishment of a wharf­
boat was taken, and Samuel Powers and J. R. Tingley
were appointed a committee to draw up an ordinance to
keep a boat at Quarry Street wharf.

At the same meeting Martin Ryan, Milton Kennedy,
and J. G. Rogers were appointed a committee to draw up
au ordinance" to prevent conduct caused by retailing ardent
spirits contrary to law."

In 1849, William McGuire was electcd "to take charge
of the fire-engine, and fix the engine-room so that the
boys c~n't get in."

In June, 1850, a contract was entcred into to build a
council-room and watch-house.

In June, 1850, the council decided to purchase a new
fire-engine, fully one-half of the cost of which was to be de­
fmyed by individuul subscriptions, and appointed Watts
l\fcMurchy and C. 'V. Short a committee to dispose of

. the old machine and procure a new engine.
The following year McMurchy & Preble built a watch­

and engine-house for $800. The engine Was placed in
charge of the" Union Fire Company."

In 1862 an ordinance was passed submitting the annexa­
tion of Mcl\'lurchy's addition to the people, thus extending
the corporate limits of New Richmond, and the same year
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liberal appropriations were made for the relief of the fami­
lies of oolisted Union soldiers.

On the 20th of September, 1869, a' loan of $2000 was
authorized to purchase a fire-engine and other apparatus,
and on the 8th of October of the l'ame year an ordinance
was passed establishing a fire department and making pro­
:vision for a board of engineers, to consist of a chief engi­
neer, vested with police powers, two assistant engineers,
and two members of the common council, serving asa fire
committee.

On the 17th of Decembm', 1869, the first board of en­
gineers was constituted, with G. W. Majors chief engineer,
Henry Fisher and A. S. Pigman assistant engineers, and
N. M. Preble and Joseph Glasgens acting forthe council.
The latter were instructed to provide a proper place for the
keeping of the new engine, and as the old hall was deemed
unworthy of repairs, the committee was asked to prepare
pIuns for a new hall and engine-rooms. It was not, how­
ever, until 1876 that the resolution was carried into effect,
when the old hall (which was formerly the village school
building) was demolished, and upon its site the present
three-story edifice erected, the upper story having been
built by Mistletoe Lodge of Odd-Fellows. l'he second
story forms a general assembly-room, and in the lower story
are the engine-room, corporation offices, and cells for the
confinement of prisoners.

In February, 1871, an ordinance was passed establishing
a general sy;tem of wharfage and providing for the ap­
pointment of a wharf-master. Previous to this the work
of grading the river-bank had been begun by the village
authorities, to secure it from the action of the waves, and
the place has now a number of fine wharves and well-graded
banks. .More than $10,000 has been spent in this direc­
tion.

Dec. 7, 1871, an ordinance was passed establishing a
board of health, and on the 11th of January, 1872, the
first members were appointed, as follows: Thomas F. Don­
ham, Edwin House, R. A. Molyneaux, W. H. 1\1oss,
George Fisher, and T. C. Gowdy.

Large sums of money have been spent in improving the
street, both in grading them and in laying down stone and
brick pavements. In this respect few villages in the State
surpass New Richmond, and the sanitary condition of the
village has been much improved by these means. The
streets are also well lighted by oil-lamps, and the public
grounds, embracing a beautiful promenade along the river
and a spacious park near the hills in the eastern part of the
village, have been greatly beautified and rendered attractive
as places of resort. .

TIlE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF NEW IUCHMOND

assures th.e inhabitants against the ravages of that destroying
element, and the several companies formed to man the appa­
ratus alluded to in the foregoing pages have had effective or­
ganizations which have lately been allowed to become inop­
erative. The oldest of the fire companiel'l, the Union Fire
and Hose Companies, were formed Nov. 20, 1850, to assume
charge of the engine" Pilot" and the hose-carriage" Red
Rover." Fifty-one men were enrolled as members, and
were officered by De Witt C. Johnston, Hugh H. Herrick,

52 .

Charles S. Houston, G. W. Hurley, and A. W. Short. The
fire apparatus which this company ~ad is yet employed in
New Richmond, and is at present manned by a company of
colored men.

To man the engine "New Hichmo'nd," purchased in
1869, the" Niagara Fire Company" was formed Jan. 25,
1870, with 'N. A. Watkins, Captain j 'William Hera, First
Lieut~nant j Charles Stnrges, Second I ..ieutenant; C. W.
Dawson, Secretary; T. B. Preble, Treasurer j Peter Mc­
CorJ~ick and F. A. Hitch, Engine Directors; James Mc­
Cormick and Charles Dimmitt, Axemen; D. E. Roberts
and Thomas McCann, Pipemen; James Ewing, O. R.
Taylor, George Shannon, Edward Watson, Lyman Rouse,
Thomas Castlen, S. T. Harvey, and Lewis Goisch, Hose­
men'; Monroe Fitzpatrick and A. Moser, Jr., Directors df
Hose-reel. The company has lately been .disbanded.

VILLAGE OFFICERS.

Since 1828 the village officers have been theJollowing :
182!J.-;\Iayor, Caleb S. Walker; Recorder, Charles W. Swain; Trus­

tees, Nathllniel Barber, William Watkins, Daniel Davis,
John Crawford; Treasurer, R. Porter i Marshal, Salluel
Ridlin; and Health Officer, Dr. J. G. Rogers.

1830.-Mayor, David Jones; Recorder, John C. Wylie; Trustees,
John Conner, Cha.rles S. Lewis, Robert Ilaines,John Emer­
son, Thomas Glisson; Treasurer, Robert Porter; Marshal,
Alexander Ross; and Health Officer, Dr. J. G. Rogers.

18Bl.-;\Iayor, David Jones; Recorder, Charlc.s W. Swain; Trustees,
John Crawford, Mark Strickland, David Ross, John Emer-.
son, and Lcwis Fltgin; Treasllrer, R. Porter; and Health
Officer, Dr. J. G. Rogers.

1832.-Mayor, Plummer lams; Recorder, Sanford Tewel; Trustees,
Da"id H.oss, Mark Strickland, William Watkins, Judson
Calhoun; Treasurer, J. H. Wood; Marshal, H.cuben S.
Searle; and Health Officer, Levi Moss.

1833.-Mayor, WillhLm Watkins; Recorder, W. R. Price; Trustees,
Thomas Donaldson, Joseph Durham, Mark Strickland, Jud­
son Calhoun, and Emanuel Grubb; Treasurer, Robert Por­
ter; and Marshal, Reuben S. Searle..

1834.-Mayor, Duvid Jones; Recorder, W. R. Price; Tl'ustees, Eo
Grubb, William Watkins, David Ma.nn, Martin Ryan, and
Thomas Kinnelly; Treasurer, James Walker; and Marshal
and Wharf-Mastel', Alexander Ross.

1835.-No records kept.
1836.-MayOl', Martin Ryan; Recorder, J. H. Wood; Trustees, E.

Grubb, John Conner, Joseph Morehead, Robert Haines, and
J. G. Rogers; Treasurer, Robert Porter; and Marshal,
Henry Hess.

1837.-l\Iayor, Robert Der; Recorder, Sanford Tewel; Trustees, Wil­
liam Dawson, Jacob Swem, David Ross, Joseph Durham,
Abcl Turner; Treasurer, William Wntkins; Marshal, Wil­
liam G. Laycock; and Health Officer, J. G. Rogers.

1838.-Mayor, John C. Jeffries; Recorder, Sanford Tewel; Trustees,
E. R. Shannon, William Carnes, N. Walton, F. Herbert,
and Abel Towner; Trea~urer, Robert Porter; nnd Health·
Officer, Milton Kennedy.

183!J,-Mayor, John C. Jeffries; Recorder, David Jones; Trustees,
William Watkins, Joseph Durham, David Ross, John
Crawford, Joseph Turner; Treasurer, Robert Porter; and
Marshal, Isaac Layfield.

1840.-Mayor, Josiah Bettie; Recorder, David Jones; Trustees, John
Atkinson, Martin Ryan, Samuel Powers, Charles McCoy,
John Crawford; Treasurer, George T. La)'field; and Mal'­
shal, Michael II. Dads.

1841.-l\Iayor, Josiah Bettie; Recorder, George T. LayfielU; Trustecs,
John Atkinson, E. n.. Shannon, Bcnnctt French, IIimm
Gray, Sr., Christopher Cooder, William Hobson; Treasurer,
William Carncs; and Marshal, Milton Kennedy.

1842.-~ayor,Josiah Bettie; Recorder, George T. LaJfield; Trustees,
B. H. French, Hiralll Gray, F. Herbert, William Sturges,
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anu William Hobson; Treasurer, James H.
Marshal, Robert l\IcCnllister.

1843.-MlIJor, Josiah Bettle; Recordcr, C. S. Wal ker ; Trustees, Rob­
ert Haines, Levi Mos~, Michael H. Dlwis, Freeman Elstun,
WIll. Hobson; Trensurer, J I1llles II . Wood; Marshal, H. F.
Slaue; Whnrf-l\IlIster, John D. Day.

1844.-l\Ia,)·or, Charles McCoy; Reeor,ler, Thomas C. Gowdy; Trus­
tees, l\lichaelII. Davis, Samuel Walra\'en, Jaeob Tingley,
Firman Herbert, Hezekiah Lindsey; Treasurer, .James H.
Wood; Marshal, H. F. Slade.

1845.-Mayor, M. H. Dlwis; Recorder, J. R. Tingley; Trusters, S.
l\I. WlI.lmven, F.lICl·bert, C. S. Walker, Hiram Gray, Sam­
uel Powers; Treasurer, Robert Porter; 1\Iar~hal, .John B.
Day.

1846.-Mayor, 1\1. II. Davis; Recorder, .Jaeob R. Tingley; Trustees,
l\Iartin R,)'lIn, Samuel Powers, Robert :Flower, Milton Ken­
nedy, John C. Rogers; Treasurer, Robert Porter; Mar­
ShiLl, Joshua Silvers.

1847.-Mayor, Josiah Bettie; Recoruer, C. S. Walker; Trustees, J.
D. White, J. II. Gmvy, Chri~lopher Cooder, J. F. Lindsey,
lIezeldah Lindse,)'; 1.'rcnsurer, Robert Porter; Marshal, II.
F. Slade.

1848.-Mayor, J. R Tingley; Recorder,J. C. Haines; Trustees, Sam­
uel Silvers, Jallles Watson, n. H. French, 1\1. II. Davis, and
Milton Kennedy; Treasurer, E. R. Shunnon.

1849.-l\fayor, Josiah Dettle; Recorder, Da\'id Ross; Trustees, W.
E. McGuire, Sallluci Sih'ers, Christopher Cooder, E. R.
Shannon, Dln-iu Gibson; Treasurer, Hobert Porter; Mar­
shal, John Phillips.

1850.-l\layor, N. 1\1. Preble; Recorder, Wm. Rellkirt; Trustees, S.
Silvers, John Lindscy, Isal1c Bainum, Wm. Shaw, llnd J.
R. Tingley; Treasurer, William Hobson; Marshal, H. F.
Slade.

I851.-1\1ayor, N. M. Preblc; Recorder, J. R. Tingley; Trustees,
Isaac Bainulll, John Lindsey, John D. Day, E. R. Shannon,
and William Shl~lV; Treasurer, Samuel WIlIru.ven; :Marshal,
Robert II. Dows.

1l:i52.-Mayor, N. 1\1. Preblc; Recorder, J. R. Tingley; Trustees,
John n. Day, G. T. Layfield, Oliver Cooder, Samuel Silvers,
and William Shaw; Treasurer, S. M. Walra\'en; Marshal,
C. W. Short; and Wm. II. Moss, Street Commissioner.

1853.-l\Iayor, N. 1\1. Preble; Recorder, Jesse Carnes; Trustees, E.
R. Shannon, G. T. La,Yfield, T. C. Gowdy, Joshua Silvers,
and J. B. Day; Treasurer, II. Gilmore; Marshal, T. n.
Young.

1854.-Mllyor, J.n. Bainum; Recorder, Jesse Carn('s; Trustees, G. T.
LlI,)'field, C. Cooder, James Watson, John Dimmitt, C. W.
Short; Treasurer, H. Gilmore; Marshal, Tholllas Green.

1855.-Mayor, Samuel Anderson; Recorder, Jesse Carnes; Trustees,
C. W. Short, Sumucl Silver!', J. B. Day, J. H.. Tingley, and
John McDonald; Treasurer, G. T. Layfield; Marshal, Thos.
Green; Street Commissioner, Samuel Peden.

1856.-Mayor, N. M. Preble; Recorder, D. L. Stinchfield·; Trustees,
David Ross, John n. Day, Samuel Sih'ers, OH,'er Cooder,
and E. R. Shannon; Treasurer, Hugh Gilmore; Marshal,
T. B. Young; Health Officcr, N. 11. Prcble.

1857.-Mayor, Joshua Sims; Recorder, D. L. Stinchfield; Trustees,
P. J. Donham, l\l. II. Davis, T. B. Young, N. M. Preble, T.
Roberts; Trensurer, Hugh Gilmore; Marshal, A. Delano;
Health Officer, S. 1\1. Walraven.

I858.-Mayor, J. R. Tinglcy; Recorder, J. McDonald; Trustees,
Samuel Silvers, William Reakirt, J. n. Day, N.,M. Preble,
P. J. Donham.

1859.-Mayor, Joshua Sims; Recorder, John McDonald; Trustees,
C. W. Short, J. n. Day, N. II. Preble, Watts MeMurehy,

. Joseph Tritt; Treasurer, IIugh Gilmore; :\Iar:;hal, W. B.
Fitzpatrick; Health Officer, James Watson.

1860.-Mllyor, James H. Bainum; Itecorder, J esse Carnes; Trustees,
Watts McMurchy, William Rcakirt, J. II. Gray, J. R. Ting­
ley, and Charles Wulf; Treasurer, E. H. Shannon; Mar­
sImI, L. M. Sturges; Health Officer, James Hunt.

1861.-Mayor, James H. Dainum; Recorder, D. L. Stinchfield;
Trustees, William Reakirt, James H. Gray, Charles Wulf,
Henry Kidd, and Charles Cooder; Treasurer, E. R. Shan­
non; Marshal, Isaac WatsoD; Health Officer, James Young.

1862.-Mayor, Joshua Sims; Recorder, D. L. Stinchfieiu; Trustees,
Charles Coodor, A. Ness, James Cahill, E. J. Morton, and
Charles Wulf; Treasurer, H. Gilmore; Marshal, W. B. Fitz­
patrick; Hcalth Oflicer, James Young.

lSfi:l.-~Illyur,David Ross; Recorder, A. W. Coan; Trustees, G. W.
Castlen, Gcorge 1\loore, J. J Reinert, J. D. White, James
Watson, Jr.; Trellsurcr, E. It. Shannon; Marshnl, H. F.
Siadc; Health Officer, O. H. Elston.

ISfi4.-Mayor, David Hoss; Recorder, A. W. Coan; Trustees, W. G.
1'loore, J •.J. Reinert, Stephcn Jackson, .J. D. White, und
A. S. Pigman; Treasurer, E. R. Shannon; Marshal, David
McLean; HCltlth Officer, MILrtin Ryan.

1865.-Ma,)'or, P. J. Nichols; Recorder, Jesse CII.mcs; Trustees, W.
G. Muore, G. W. easUcn, Watts McMurchy, A. Schroem,
and .J. J. lteinert; Treasurer, E. R. Shannon; Marshl~l,W.
n. Fitzpatrick; Health Officer, Stephen Jackson.

lS69.-Mayor, P. J. Nichols; lteeorder, Frank Davis; Trustees, W.
C. Sarg('nt, .J. S. Weidingcr, Joseph Glasgens, N. 1\1. Preble,
:md Henry Jenks; 'freasurer, E. R. Shannon.

1870.-Mayol·, James 1I. BlIinum ;*, Recorder, A. Moser';:' Trustees,
S. McKown, L. Golsch, F. C. Smith, John D. DlI,)', Stephen
Jael,son, and N. 1\1. Preble; Treasurer, E. R. Shannon;
Mar!'hl~l, George W. McClelland; Health Officer, George
Ewing.

IS71.-Mayor, C. W. Short; Recorders, Samuel McKown, William
Sturges, nndA. S. Pigman; Trustees, John V. Hunt, Charles
Ste\'eIlS, Charles Wulf.

1872.-Mayor, C. W. Short; Recorder, J. V. Hunt; Trustees, 1\1. V.
Peck, A. S. Pigman, and L. Golsch; Treasurer, E. R. Shan­
non; Marshal, T. G. Woud.

1873.-Mayor, William Sturges, W. A. Watkins, and Johnson Trem­
per. E. J. Donham, :!\Iayor, to fill vacancy.

1874.-Mllyor, N. M. Preble; Recorder, D. R. Scattcrday; Trustees,
J. H. Glasgens, Joseph KoIL, and A. SClltterday; Treasurer,
D. E. Fpe; Marshal, W. B. Fitzpatrick.

IS75.-Trustees, J. B. Day, Isaac Watson, W. V. Peck; Recorders,
Robert Portcr and W. G. Hera.

1876.-Mayor, S. B. Parker; Rceorder, E. J. Donham; Trustees, A.
Scntterday, W. G. Moore, F. IIelmering, Joseph G1asgens,
and Samucl McKown; Treasurer, D. E. Fee; Marshal,
James McCormack; Juseph Hale, Street Commissioner.

1877.- Trustees, C. G. Seitz, G. T. Salt, R. A. Molyneaux, and Philip
Roetinger.

1878.-l\:1nyor, Watts Mel\Iurchy; ltecorder, E. To\vner; Trustees,
Louis Golsch, Isaac 'Vatson, Johnson Crawford; Treasurer,
D. E. Fee; .Marshal, James B. McCormack j Health Officer,
John Crawford.

1879.-Mayur, Watts MeMurchy; Recorder, E. Towner; Council­
men, S. n. Parker, Frcd. Willenbrink, Isaac Wa.tson, Louis
Golseh, Johnson Crawford, and James 'Vatson; Treasurer,
D. E. Fee; Mar~hal, James B. McCormack; Street Com­
missiuner, John Crawford; Board of Hea.lth, Dr. N. Barber,
Charles Q. Haines, J. S. Weidinger, R. A. Molyneaux,
Stephen Jackson, and II. II. Myers.

THE BUSINESS INTERESTS

of New Richmond more than anything else have contributed
to give the place the prominence it enjoys among the vil­
lages of Southern Ohio, and it affords an interesting lesson
to trace the history of its trade from its humble beginning
to the present fine proportions. In a small way David
Jones, Plummer lams, and David Porter began merchan­
dising soon after the village was laid out; and Robert
Haines, Caleb ~. Walker, and William 'Vatkins followed
soon after, the latter having the principal store, with a trade
of' such meagre proportions that it did not keep him en.
gaged near all his time. He was a part owner of a small
steamboat, with which he Ol1ee or twice per week made
trips to Cincinnati, carrying such freight as the country

* Resigned: C. W. Short and S. T. Harvey filled the vacancies.
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then afforded. Before leaving he considerately informed
his patrons when he would return and resume his mercan­
tile duties. He was an enterprising man, but in the strict­
est scnse was not :::uecessful as a merchant. Pl·obably the
Donaldson brothers-Christian, 'William, and Thomas-are
entitled to the distinction of having been the first enter­
prising and successful merchants. They WCl·e largely en­
gaged in trade, and being withal public-spirited, proved of
immense benefit to New Hichmond, laying the foundations
of a business which in one form or other has since been
carried on. Since 1836, William Sturges has been COIl­

nected with the mercantile interests of New Richmond, and
has a contemporary in E. R. Shannon, the latter yet hand­
ling hardware in a spacious house, and the former groceries.
Thomas C. Gowdy engaged in trade about the same time,
and continued until within a few years. The third of these
old business houses is that of M. H. Davis. For more
than thirty yem·s he has been at the head of an establish.
nlent which has given him prominence as one of the lead.
ing merchants of the county. Near the same time George
'V. Castlen began his mercantile career at New Richmond
as a clerk at $1 per day. His aptitude for business se­
cured him steady promotion until he became a partner in
one of the large firms, and which, since 1861, has enabled
him to carryon business on his account until a few years
ago, when his sons, Thomas and Andrew, became associates,
forming the present firm of George Vv. Castlen & Sons.
Their" Mercantile Emporium" embraces a large building,
stocked with goods from basement to second story, enabling
them to make sales whose aggregate exceeds that of any
other firm in the county. A specialty is made in handling
fruits, thousands of bushels being shipped annually, the
firm itself having a 75-acre farm in Ohio township, on
which are grown from 1200 to 1800 bushels per year.
Contemporary with this firm, until they closed up their
business a few years ago, were Hitch, Ely & Co. The
magnitude of their business was surprisingly large, nearly
every species of goods being handled. Near by Thomas
F. Donham was largely engaged as a. grocer. Hugh Gil­
more opened the first drug-store about 1840, and at his
death was succeeded by B. S. 'Villiall1s, who was followed
by Henry Jenks, and the latter by the present E. J. Don­
ham. 'V. H. Moss has been a druggist since 1853, and for
the past four years J. C. Bleher has carried on the third
drug-store.

Among the many merchants formerly in trade at New
Richmond were F. C. Smith, James Walker, Josia.h BettIe,
Robert Porter, Sanford Tewell, James H. Wood, John
Hobson, 'Villiam Wood, Charles Butler, William Carnes,
Layfield & Walraven, N. E. Walton, Abel Towner, Levi
Moss, N. Barber, Joseph Kerr, and John F. Penn.

In addition to the firms already named as being in trade
at present, there were, in 1879, Zumvorde & Fiening, J.
A. Starkey & Co" A. Scatterday, W. A. Davis, Mrs. M.
Donham, Samuel McKown, and C. G. Seitz, general mer­
chants; George T. Salt and Charles "Vulf, clothiers; J. G.
Lutz, shoe-dealer; J. O. lInines & Son, and Frank Moor­
man, coal·dealers ; 1. F. Lindsey, Horace Boone, Mrs. C.
Wibbels, George M. Jaeger, and Henry Harter, grocers;
George A. Phifer, A. S. Pigman, and R. L. Gest, hard-

ware; and M. H. Johnson, hosiery. There are also half
a dozen millinery and dressmaking establi:::hments.

As beford related, the first public-house was kept by
Robert I-:laines, from about the time tho village was laid out,
for twenty years. In 1835, Plummer' lams had a small
public-house near the present Springer House, where he
was followed by William Laycock. This house is yet
standing, but the old Haines tavern was dostroyed by fire.
In the spacious brick house, yet standing in the northern
part. of the village, Peter Turner kept a very respectable
hotel, and was succeeded by :Martin Ryan, who kept it in equal
style about ten years. In the old Donaldson building hotels
were kept, called the" St. Charles," " Franklin," etc., by John
B. Robinson, 'Villiam Herbert, and others. The building
known as the" National Hotel" has been kept by various
parties, but has never had much reputation as a public­
house. A part of the present" Cury House" was built in
1829 by John Crawford, and the house was first used for
hotel purposes by James Garrison, followed by Isaac Wat­
son, and since 1861 by the present proprietor,'F. N. Cary.
Thc "Springer House" is a new and well-appointed hotel,
ncar the public landing, and for the past few years has been
kept in good style by Charles Springer. Other public­
houses have abounded, but they were generally of short
duration, and many of them have passed out of the recol­
lection of the present citizens of the village.

MANUFACTUltING INDUSTRIES.

Some time before 1820 an ox-m'iIl was gotten in opera­
tion at New Richmond by a company of citi~ens, which
was not continued beyond half a dozen years, as its grind­
ing capacity was too small for the increasing population.
A better mill, having a tread-wheel worked by horses, had
been built, meantime, near where is now Castlen's store
by Michael Gilbert, which was so largely patronized that
as many as twenty persons at a time waited for their turns
at the mill. A few years later, some time a~out 1825,
Davis Embree placed a steam-engine in the Seneca Palmer
fulling-mill, which was made to operate grinding ma­
chinery, and for its day was a good Illill. It was sold to
the Donaldson Brothers, and from thence passed to John
Atkinson & Co., who soon after began distilling in connec­
tion.

The original Seneca Palmer fulling-mill was u. large
frame structure on the site of Willenbrink'~ feed-store, and
was occupied before 1823 by Seneca palmer & Co. for full­
ing purposes and as a woolen-fhetory. In an ad,-ertisement
in the Luminm"Jj, in 1823, ~he firm assllred the public that
their machinery was first-class, and that they had a full
stock of dyes, which they flattered them,selves they could
use in as good a style as any other establishment in the
State. 'ferms of work: One-third cash, the balance in
wheat, pork, lard. oats, honey, tallow, dried fruit" hides,
skins, butter, whisky, shoe- and sawing-thread." It is
thought that the demand for -nour was more urgent than
for fine' cloth, and the factory had to make room for t.he
mill. About 1852 this building was destroyed by fire, and
subsequently another erected, which in 1872 was again
supplied with milling machinery by J. B. Willenbrink, the
apparatus bei~g re~oved from Nioholsville; but, after a
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few ycars' operation, this industry was abandoned. Pre­
viously the building had been occupied by J. 'Watson as a
planing-mill: and aftcr tl1ut as a steam cooperage, by Charles
Quigley.

In 1831 the right to erect a saw-mill on the river at
New Richmond was granted to Nelson & Sallee; and in a
short time the mill was erected where is now the large dis­
tillery, William Allen having a saw-mill neal' by, above
this point. The former mill was operated, among other~,

by Emanuel Grubb, who in later years had associated with
him George Mel\lurehy and Abel Towner, who also had a
saw-mill by the Atkinson mill, which was abandoned about
1846. A year or so later a large lumber·mill was built
near the present woolen-mills by Benjamin Light, John
Lindsey, and others, which was last operated, about 1855,
by ·Wm. Ferguson, when the mill burned down. Soon after,
a circular saw-mill was here built, which was used in the
spring of 1856 by l\Icl\Iul'chy & Preble to saw out the tim­
bers for the present lumber-manufacturing establishment,
which they erected tIle same year. In 1861, N.M. Preble &
George Fisher became the proprietors, and carried on busi.
ness about eleven years, when George :Fisher became sole
proprietor, continuing until 1877. The present proprie­
tors are Fridman & Steelman. The mill has an eligible
location in the lower part of the village, with a fine river
frontage, which permits the logs to be taken directly from
t110 stream. The mill is completely furnished with good
machinery, giving it a large capacity, and affording em­
ployment to about 20 men. About forty years ago C. S.
Walker and Charles Lewis each had steam saw-mills in the
village.

The manufacture of Excelsior, or fine shavings, from the
soft woods for upholstering purposes, forms an important
industry at New Richmond.

N. AL Preble's E:ccelsi01'-Fact01'!J dates its establishment
from 1869. In September, that. year, he began work with
two machines in the foregoing saw-mill. At the end of two
years he had six machines in a factory on "Washington
Street. On the 3d of April, 1874, this building was de­
stro,Yed by fire, but the following month· a much larger
building for factory-purposes was erected, and is yet in use.
It is 36 by 80 feet, with an engine-room attached, in which
is a powerful engine, furnishing the motor for six machines,
whose operation requircs the attendance of sevet:t men.

In 1875 the preparation of' Spanish moss was begun for
use in upholstering carriages, and this branch requires a
building 36 by 38 feet and a large separate warehouse.

Koll/s Excelsio1'-Factol'!J was erected in 1872 by Joseph
Kolb and Charles Ashburn, under the firm-name of J.
Kolb & Co. The business requires the use of fite large
buildings and gives employment to eight men. On the
28th of. October, 1873, the boiler of the engine used ex­
ploded, causing the destruction of the building and involv­
ing a loss of $8000. In February, 1874, work was
resumed in the present building, in which six machines are
kept in operation. Since 1875, Joseph Kolb has been sole
proprietor of tIle factory.

'l'lte Clermont Flo1l1'ing-lIfill of New R:ichrnond was
erected in 1857 by Joseph J. 'Villenbrink, Anthony Alber­
ding, and Charles Dieters, being a brick building 40 by 45

feet, and three stories high, supplied with modern machin­
eryand five runs of stone. The motive-power is furnished
by a 35 horse-power engine. The present proprietor is
Mrs. A. B. Willenbrink.

Tlte .New Richmond Steam-Tu1l1lCl·,Y.-The pioneer in
this industry was James Warren, who had a small yard
near the present tannery about 1815. In the same yard
were afterwards engaged as tanners Peter Turner, N. L.
Walton, Joseph Fagin, Josiah BettIe, L. J. Tingley, J. R.
Tingley, John VV. Hyan. The capacity of the original
tannery was increased from time to time, and in the
a~gregate much work was done. On the opposite side of
the street J.J, J. Tingley had a tannery, about 1847, which
was not kept up more than six years, and at other places
tanneries were carried on by Thomas Kinnelly and Morris
& Stout. Of the present tannery Philip Roettinger be­
came the proprietor in June, 1869, but it was not until .
1877 that steam was supplied; lmd other improvements
have been made, in intermediate periods, unt.il the estab- .
lishment is one of the most complete in this part of the
State. 1.'he yard contains three-fourths of an acre, on
which are 100 vats; a bark·mill, hal'ing a cupacity of five
cords per day, in a building 30 by 80 feet; a beum-room
24 by 38 feet; a handling-room 2-1 by 42 feet; a currier­
shop 24 by 36 feet, two stories high; a sales-room 20 by
30 feet; and a hide-house 26 by 24 feet, with basement.
The tannery gives employment to 14 men, and is at present
the property of Philip Roettinger & Son.

For more than forty years the distillation of liquor. has
been the; most important industry in the village. .

Tlte .New Richmond Distil'en'es have a history dating
from 1835. About that time John aild James Atkinson
engaged in this business, in connection with the mill stand­
ing near Castlen's store, where they were succeeded in
1842 by D~vid Gibson. The latter soon gave t.he property
over to Beck & Fosdick, who operated it until its destruc­
tion by fire about 1852. Its original capacity was 200
bushels per day, but before it burned down it had been in­
creased nearly threefold. Abandoning the old site, Beck &
Fosdick put up a new distillery where are now the woolen­
mills, which had a capacity o,f 900 busllels per day, but
which, by subsequent enlargements, was greatly increased,
and distillation here formed an extensive business. After
-the fhilure of the firm in 1857, ~he property passed into
the hands of David Gibson, who removed part of the
building, merging the remaining interest into the distillery
which he began in 1846 upon the site of the present es­
tablishment. Here: it will be recollected, was the Grubb
saw-mill, and in 1838 a large steam flouring-mill was built
in connection. The latter was continued by Gibson, and
on 'l:he 5th of April, 1847, all the buildings here were de­
stroyed by fire. Both the mill and the distillery were im­
mediately rebuilt by David Gibson with enlarged capacities,
the former to 200 barrels per day and the latter to 900
bushels, and both were set in operation in September, 1847.
Later that year much of the property was again destroyed
by the great flood, which swept away all the stables used in
housing the stock of the distillery. In the course of a few
years the capacity of the distillery was increased to 3000
bushels per dlly, and so largely was it operated until the
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breaking out of the war. In 1855, D~vid Gibson removed
to Cincinnati, having previously associated with him as
business partners Thomas Roberts, James Byrnes, and T.
,N. :Moore. About this time the firm fed from 7000 to
10,000 head of hogs at a time, besides several hundred head
of neat cattle. The immense quantity of grain consumed
was procured chiefly in the Scioto Valley, as many as five
boats unloading at the wharves of the distillery at a time.
The firm also owned a steamboat, which was run in the
interests of the business, and long lines of wagons daily
brought the grain of the county to the distillery. In the
cooperage of the establishment 60 men were employed, and
in other departments 40 men more. But little was done
in the distillery until after the war, and in 1866, Thomas
Roberts and George ·W. Moore, the present firm, com­
menced operations, distilling since that time, but milling

. was discontinued in 1868. From 300 to 800 bushels of
gr.ain per day are consumed, and several hundred head of
cattle fed. About 20 men are employed, the cooperage
being carried on by outside parties. The distillery stands
on five acres of ground, with a good landing for convenient
shipping. The buildings embrace a mill, wllich is operated
by three engines,. aggregating 100 horse-power j a malt­
house of brick 24 by 150 feet, with a kiln 30 feet long,
affording a malting capacity of 200 bushels per day j a
bonded warehouse 45 by 130 feet, and three stories high j

corn-cribs 24 by 180 feet, and a number of .sheds, making
it in every respect very complete j and although but little
is done compared with former operations, it yet remains the
chief industry of the village.

The business of brewing was begun at New Richmond,
about 1853, by the Kratzer family, who carried it on several
years. At present a brewery is operated by C. Bauman,
the capacity being small.

Tlte Gle1'mont Woolen-lJIills.-In April, 1865, J. and
H. Clasgens purchased the old Fosdick & Beck distillery,
in the lower part of the village, and fitted up the main
building for a woolen-factory, adding an engine-room, dye­
house, and other necessary buildings. In 1874 the grade
of manufacture was changed to yarns, for the excellence of
which the firm has been awarded medals at the Cincinnati
Exposition. Two sets of machinery are operated in the
production of plain, fancy, and Balmoral yams, consuming
130,000 pounds ot' cleanly-washed wool per year. Fifty
operatives are employed, and the f:tctory and its surround­
ings is a hive of industt·y, commending the enterprise of
the Clasgens Bros., whose mills are the only one of the kind
in the county.

The Oltio Machine- Worlcs.-The organization of this
company was effected in Cincinnati in 1868, for the pur­
pose of carrying on the manufacture of milling machinery
at New Richmond. Rufus S. Lee was elected president of
the association, whose capital stock was $100,000, and the
works were placed in charge of H. R. Mathias as superin­
tendent. A splendid building was erected in the upper
part of New Richmond, at a cost of $28,000, for factory
purposes, to which was attached a good wharf. 1'he main
building is of brick, 42 by 129 feet" three stol'ies high,
with a wing 53 by 172 feet, and spacious grounds having
the necessary storage sheds. The company met with finan-

cial embarrassments soon after it began operations, and its
identity was lost in

The New Richmond lJfachine- Worles, a body corporate,
which was formed Nov. 6,1869, to carryon a foundry and
machine-shop for the manufacture of machinery and other
profitable articles. The capital stock was fixed at $50,000,
in 1000 shares of $50 each. The corporators were Thomas
Roberts, N. M. Preble, N. A. Hitch, C. Schmels, A. Al­
berding, and George ·Vi. Castlen. The company never
succeeded in getting the works in operation, and on the
20th of August, 1870, was formed the Henning. Gha.ir.
Company, to occupy the buildings. The capital stock was
also $50,000, but the value of the shares was set at $100
each. On the 3d of October, 1870, the company chose
a board of directors, composed of J. N. Henning, G. W.
Castlen, N. A. Hitch, P. J. Nichols, Thomas Roberts, and
W. G. Moore j and J. N. Henning was elected. president.
The uecessary' machinery was procured, and the factory
set in operation in the fall of 1871. For two years it was
successfully operated, employing 75 men, when the crisis
of 1873 checked its prosperity, and soon after the company
was obliged to discontinue business.

A part of the building was then occupied by H. R.
Mathias for his Iron Crown iJ'IacMne- Worlcs, but in the
course of a few years the firm of Mathias & Moore erected
a fine factory 011 Hamilton Street, whet'e the works were
carried on until their discontinuance in the summer of
] 879. Both buildings, although finely located and well
adapted for business, are at present unoccupied.

Among the lesser industries were the plane-factory of
Jesse Carnes, aud the hat-factory of John Dimmitt, both
discontinued years ago j and at present are the carriage-works
of T. P. White j the marble-works of H. Lindsey and H.
Siebel j the machine-shops of J. N. Folks and S. B. Parker;
the tobacco-factory of 'V. A. Shaw & -?rothers (a flourish­
ing and growinp; indu~try), and the cigar-factories of L.
Golsch and A. Krieger.

Closely associated with the mercantile and manufllcturing
interests of the village are

TIlE STEAMBOAT INTERESTS.

The first boat that made New Hichmond a terminus was
the small stern-wheeler " Allegheny," owned by 'Villiam
'Vatkins and others, which had no regular schedule of time,
but left the village whenever she had any freight to carry.
About 1828 this boat was run up as far as Maysville, in
command of Captain John. Conner. He was also captain
of the next boat, the " Zephyr," a small two-boiler boat,
owned by Robert Davis, William Ross, Andrew Wilson,
and John Conner. In 1841 the" Zephyr" was grounded.
Next on the New Richmond line ,vas" The Lancaster No.
1," owned by David Gibson and others,-John Conner,
captain. The boat was small, but having good machinery,
it was removed and placed in " The Lancaster No.2," owned
and run by the same parties. After a few years this boat
was sold and" The Lancaster No.3" put on the line, which
was now extended to NeviHe j and the " Lancaster No.4"
made Chilo its eastern terminus. These boats were gener­
ally in charge of John Conner as captain, and Lewis' Mor­
ris as clerk, both yet living in the county and favorably
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known as river men, whose chief aim was to serve the
public. Lewis Morris was captain of the" Lancaster No.
4." For short periods other boats made New H.ichmond a
terminus, but the improvements in steamboat-machinery
made it possible to extend local lines to higher points on
the river, and yet bring Cincinnati within easy communica­
tion. These short-line packets daily land at New Rich­
mond, and the Pittsburgh and other boats also regularly

\ touch at the commodious wharf of the village j and, -in ad­
dition to these fiwilitics of communication, the Ohio River
division of the Cincinnati and Eastern Railroad has just
been completed to New Richmond, on which are several
trains daily to Cincinnati.

At New H.ichmond a steamboat was built, in 1826, by.
Charles W. Swain, Caleb S. ·Walker, John Ashburn, and
others, which had a capacity of about 90 tons. The
boat was called "The William Tell," and was launched
from the yard, a little below the chair-factory, the occasion
bringing together a vast crowd of people. Some years
after David .Munn and others built the hull of a boat at
New Richmond, which was taken to Cincinnati to complete;
and Robert Davis, Andrew Wilson, and John Conner
brought a hull to Ncw Richmond, here completing the
boat which they called :, The Clermont," launching her in
1845.

The last boat built here was in 1864, John Caufman and
others being the ownet·s, The yard was at the present saw­
mill, and after her trial trip, the boat, whi.ch was a stern­
wheeler, went to other parts. ·While she was being launched
a colored man was killed. Another steamboat disaster oc­
cuned at New Richmond, in December, 1854-. The
steamer "Forester.," which had but recently been char­
tered by Captain A. D. Wilson, to run from New Rich­
mond, while l)'ing- at the upper landing, was burned to the
water's edge, burning to death a white man and the steward
and chambermaid, both colored. In addition to the steam­
boat men of' New Richmond already named, John McLain,
E. R. Shannon, and his son, Captain William Shannon, have
been favorably identified with this interest, which formerly
vet'y much more affected the business of the village than at
present,

NEW IUClIl\IOND PROFESSIONAL MEN.

The first permanent physician was the v~nel'able Dr. J.
G. Rogers. He was born in Ncw Jersey, in 1797; came
with his father, Dr. J..Ievi Rogers, to \Villiamsburgh, in
1804; studied medicine with Dr. Z. Fenn, at Neville, and
was in practice at that place from 1816 till 1818, when he
located at New Hiehmond, where he was in active practice
until 1874. In 1823 he associated with him Dr. J. T.
Johnston, and in the Lll1nillary of that period the firm
advertil:ied the copartnership and that they would take
country 'produee in payment for their services, the produce
to be delivered at Point Pleasant 01' New H.ichmond at
market-prices. In the same paper Dr. Elisha Embree an­
nounces that he had taken rooms in the house of John
BettIe, and would thereafter follow his profession. Dr.
Uogers became skJlful alike as a physician and a surgeon,
alid on the 27th of April, 182i, officiated at the birth of
Gen: U. S. Gmnt, at Point Pleasant. His first wife was a

daughter of Senator Thomas Morris, and the present was
Sarah Ann Molyneaux. His son, Levi M., became an
eminent physician at Cincinnati. Dr. J. G. Rogers yet
resides at New Uichmond, although in a very feeble condi­
tion. For many years Dr. T. J. Mullen, yet in practice,
has been his able contemporary, and since about 1855, Dr.
A. Schroem has also had a good practice here, both being
graduates of the Ohio Medical College. Dl·. W. V. Peck,
of the same school, located here in 1859, and died in 1877.
Dr. \V. P. Kincaid has been a leading physician since 1868.
Other physicians are Dr. N. Barber, Dr. E. F. El'dman,
and Dr. J. C. Kilgour, the latter belonging to the homre­
opathic school. In dentistry, Dr. R. A. Molyneaux has
been here engaged twenty years, and for the past few years
Dr. R J. Nichols. In 1852, Dr. Daniel Barber was a
physician at New Richmond, and others have been located
there for short periods.

As attorneys Dewitt C. Johnston and T. Morris were
mnong the first. P. J. Donham, now of Cincinnati, had .
a good practice twenty years ago and later, and was suc­
ceeded by Judge P. J. Nichols. Thomas J. Hamilton,
Joseph Tritt, and others have been J;Ilembers of tho New
Hichmond bar. The present attorneys are Frank Davis,
John W. Lennin, George l\Icl\Iurchy; and H.. S. Swing.
R. A. Davis has an extensive insurance agency.

TIlE PRESS, POST.OFFICE, AND BANK.

When New Richmond was flushed with the expectations
arising from being made the county-seat, a paper was here
established, whose first issue bore date· July 3, 1823. It
received the appropriate name of Tlte Luminary, and was
dedicated to the public good and the intelligence of its
patrons, boldly declaring that "Enlightened minds and
virtuous manners lead to the gates of glory." The office of
publication was in the Seneca Palmer fulling.mill, which
stood where is now Willenbrink's feed-store, and the edi­
tors were the brothers Herron, four in number, who soon
removed to a locality where the vexation attending the
removal of a county-seat would not so seriously affect the
printing business. Then came other newspaper ventures,
whose checkered history is g·iven ill the chapter on the
" Press" in this book. The village is at present supplied
with an excellent paper, the New R-ichmolld Independent,
whose editor and proprietor is ·Winthrop Frazer.

From the data at hand it appears that the New Rich­
mond post·office was established a short time before 1819,
and that Robett Haines was the postmaster, keeping the
office at his tavern on Front Street. For twenty years he
discharged the duties of the office, and in 1839 was suc­
ceeded by Robert Harris. Other appointees have been:
1841, James T. Johnson; 1847, Charles Goodale; 1849,
George J. Nichols; 1851, John Dimmitt; 1855, D. S.
Stinchfield; 1864, John McDonald; 1865, J. D.· Aston;
and since Sept. 27, 1879, the widow of the latter.

New Hichmond was designated a postal money-order
office in September, 1867, and has since so continued. The
office is supplied with daily mail by steam-packets from
eastern and western points and by daily stage-lines from
Cincinnati and Batavia.



DR. JOHN G. ROGERS.

wns the main instrument in the organi­
zation of the Clermont County Ml'dical
Society, on ~II~y n, 1853, nnd was its first
president, and again served as such in
1859 and 1867. He is a member of the
Ohio State Medical Society, and has often
attended its annual meetings, and took an
active llart in the deliberations and discus­
sions of the famous one held at White Sul­
phur Springs. He also belongs to the
American ~Iedical Association, nnd has
attended its sessions at Washingt,1n City,
BaHimore, LOUisville, and other pOTts,
He hns performed many impol·tant opera­
tions in surgery, in which he has been suc­
cessful, and for which he haS been highly
commended by the medical jourDlds. He
also was at one time physician to the family
of Jesse R. Grant, and officiated at the birth
of his son, Ulysses Simpson Grant, the dis­
tinguished general and statesman, which
took place on April 27, 1822,and twice voted
fOl' his elevation to the Presidenc)'.

lIe WIlS married, Oct. 19, 1..20, to Julia
Morris, the accon.plished daughter of
United States Senator Thomas Morris, of
Bethel, Ohio, by Rev. George C. Ligllt, an
eloquent lIivine of hi~ dny, llnd his attend­
I~nts at the marriage ceremony were Dr.
James T. Johnson, with lIliss Hannah Simp­
son as bridesmaid, afterwards mother of
Gen. Grant.

By the death of his wife he was left with
five small children,-four daughters anll
one sou,-of whom but one, a daughter,
now survives, viz" Elizl\ H. Rogers. The
deceased lire Levinil~ j J,ydia Ann, married
to Jacob E"'l'rsole; Rachel M:, married to
Theodore M. GI'iffis, of Connersville, Ind,;
and DJ;, Levi M. Rogers, who received a
medical education, practiced his profession
for more than twenty years iu Cincinnati,
and died iu the fiftieth year of his age.

Jil9
The second marriage of Dr. John G.

Rogers occ~rred Nov. 19, 1833, to Sarnh
Ann lIIolyneaux, of Scotch-Irish parent­

. . ' age, born in County Antrim, Ireland, a lady
of fervent piety and remarkable culture.
Her family sprang from the French Hu­
guenots who escaped from France to Ire­
land after the terrible massncre of St.
Bartholomew, and her father, Samuel
Molyneaux, with his wife and family,
emigrated to America about 1820, and
settled at Point Pleasant, in this county,

whl're lll'r parents died of mahnilll fever n year after their arrival.
Dr. Rogers joined the Masonic order threl'score years ngo, and received the sym­

bolical degrees in Clermont Social Lodge, No. 29, of Williamsburgh. He isa member,
like his most excellent wife, of the Presbyterian Church, and throughout his long ILnd
eventful life he has ever been prominently identified with all movements for the
advancement of Christianit)', and particularly so with all reforms in educational
matters.

In politics he was originally a Democrat of the Jackson school, and voted twice for
that eminent statesman, but more recently he hns been identified with the Free-Soil
and Republican parties; and, although he has never held office, he has in all public
movements enlleavored to advance the moral anll educational interests of the com­
munity in general. In years gone by be gained prominence as one of the earliest
allli most influential and unfiinching opponents of slavery, and ba9 lived to see his
cherished anti-slavery principles carritld out and adopted by the government. Under
his auspices James G. Birney began the publication of '1'lIe Philanthropist in New
Richmond about 1885, the first nnti-slavery paper in the 'Vest,.and which in about 1\

yeal' was I'emoved to Cincinnati for a larger field of operations, where the office and
presses of this paper were sacked and destroyed j but afterwards it WIIS resumed, with
n new outfit, and published for several years. While this famous sheet was published
at New Richmond, Dr. Rogers was the trusted friend and Ildviser of its editor, Mr.
Birney, who was often compl'lIl'd to stllnd guard with other anti-slavery Dlen over
the printing-office to prevent its destruction at the hands of an infuriated pro­
slavery Dlob.

The doctor Is now in his eighty·folll·th year, has retired from his professional labors
and is enjoying a quiet and peaceful old llge, and !luring his long and most honorable
career Ulol'lllity, religion, education, humanity, science, and the State ha\'e found I~

noble friend, and a coadjutor worth:r of the proud line from which he is an illustrious
descendant.

DI'. Johil George Rogers, one of the most
nott'd and venerable physicians of Cler­
mont, was born near Camden, N. J" April
29, 1797, and was the second in a family of
seven children, whose parents were Dr.
Levi Rogers and Anna (George) Rogers.
Ilis father, a native of lIInr)'land, in early
life became an itinerant lIIethodist
preache!'; married Anna George, the only
child of John and Sarah George j relin­
qnished the itinerancy; studied medicine;
attended lectures at Jefferson College, in
Philadelphia, under Pl'ofessors Shippen,
Rush, Wise, 'Vistar, Barton, nnd other emi­
nent men; and began the prlll'tice of medi­
cille in New Jersey in1798. He removed to
Ohio in 1804, lind settled at Williamsll11rgh,
In 18111 10l'atell at Bethel, where he died
April 4, Itl15, in the forty-seventh yl'ar of
his IIgej and his wif,', Anna George,a native
of New .Tersey,' diell in Batavill, Oct. 1:1,
181i6. He was an earnest student anll ver)'
highly esteemN] for intelligence and sldll
in his profession. In the Will' ofl812 lw Willi

surgeon in. the 19th Regiment of Infantr)',
Besides being a noted physician he was also
a preacher j sen'ed one term as sheriff of
the county; was a practicing lawyor ofre­
pnte, and acted at several terms of the Com­
mon Pleas Court as prosecuting attorne)';
and served one term of two years in the
Ohio Senate.

Dr. T,evi Rogprs was the most versatile
genins of the early days of Clermont, but
his usefulness was cnt short by dt>llth in
the prime of life.

Dr, John G. Rogers WIIS designed at an
early age by his father for the medical pro­
fession, and, anel' having acquired the
knowledge usually taught in the schools
of that dlly, ·he was placed undel' the in-
structions of his father at home, where he
rl'ceived most of his literary education, nnd

where the deep and broad foundations of~~7a.
his professional life were laid. His father, .
haVing a large practice in a IIl'W aOlI n,~

sparsely settled country, was necessarily , U r J
much from home, and nlllny of the duties , J
of the office devolved on his son, who in
boyhood acquired great dextel'ity in ex-
tmcting teeth, bleeding, and IIlllny of the
operations in minor surgery, as well as dis-
pensing medicine in the absence of his
father, who died in the eighteenth )'ear of
his son's age.

W'hen the doctor was 1\ lad only fourteen years old, 'Villiam Goble, a fal'mer living
near Bethel, WllB severel)' alll] it was thought fatally cut hy a scythe upon his back and
shoulder, and a messenger came for his father to come and dress 1\11'. Gohle's wounds j
but the father being miles away on his professional duties, his wife persuaded her son,
John G., to go and attend the wounded man. The boy went, examined and dl'essed the
wounds, and sewed them, putting in eleven stitches an inch and a half apart, and such
was hissucceBil that his futher, on the next day examining the patient, declared it to be
a perfect surgical job, and complimented his son on his skill and dexterity. Upon the
deatll of his father, Dr. John G. Rogers applied himself closely to the study of medicine
for two years, under the instruction ofDI·. 'Villiam Wayland, who settled in the county
soon after the death of his father, lIe also received llIany pl'llctical and clinical instruc­
tions from Dr, David 1\1orris, in studying and investigating the malarious diseases of
that region, while residing in his family, in Lebanon, Ohio. ACto!' studying and
prncticing two years longer, under the care and instruction of Dr. Zeuo Fenn, an
eminent physician of Clermont, his pupilage terminated, at the nge of twenty-one
years. He was taught with much care by his distinguished futher lUI intimate
knowledge of anatomy, in which branch of medicine he became specially proficient,
During his long and varied pupiluge he acquired un extensive ImowlOllge of the
principles and pl'llctice of mcdicine, and settled in New Riclimond, June 11,1818,
where he soon became a most noted and successful practitioner, nnd whel'e he now
rl'sides and has been for sixty-two years in the constant and uninterrupted pl'llctice
of the healing art,

In 182.J, he was appointed hy the General Assembly, with others, as a censor, to
organize the First District Medical SOCil·ty of Ohio, composed of the counties of
Hamilton and Clermont. He continued to practice m~dicille with great success up
to 1825, when the Medical College of Ohio, in Cincinnati, WIlS fully organized by the
appointment of Professors Moorehead, Shick, Cobll, lind Whitman, lind he attemled
the lectures and graduated in that institution with the highest honors in 1826. He



JONATHAN S. DONHAM.

The family of Donham is of Spanish descent, the original namc being
U Don Singleton." Some time towards the close of thc sixteenth century
one of the ancestors of this Don Singleton family had become noted as an
active member of the Liberal party, or, as it might have been then termed,
the Rebel party. He was arrested, tried, and banished, but after his sen­
tence escaped and fled to Scotland, where he assumed the name of ])01/

Ham, which finally became corrupted into the singlc name" Donham."
A son or grandson of this expatriated ancestor emigratcd to America, and
settled in what is now New Jersey, where he was twice married, and by
his first wife had one son, John; and by his second, threc sons, William,
Jonathan, and Nathaniel, andn daughter, nltme unknown. John and Jon­
athan remained in New Jerse)·, Willill.m rcmoved to Northern Alabama,
and Nathnniel married nnd settled in Pennsylvania, where, his wife dying,
he was again married, this time to Miss Jennings. In his ellligration from
New Jersey he moved westward, passing over the Allegheny Mountains,
following the mili'ary road cut out by the English pioneers for the lllareh
of Gen. Braddock's army, on his auvanee frOID the selt-board to Fort Du­
quesne, and settled temporarily on the Monongahela River, sixty miles
above Pittsburgh, ncar Ten-Mile Creek, nt the present village of l\laple­
town, in Greene Co., PIt. Here, his first wife dying, he Ularriell his second,
and here the younger members of his fltmily were born. He came to
Pennsylvania about the yenr of the Dechtmtion of Independence (1776),
and was engaged for years in the trnnsportlttion across the monntains of
groceries and store goods by pack-horses to supply thc pioueers in the
frontier settlements, purchasing his stock in Philadelphia or Baltimore.
In 1794, with most of his family, he again emlgmtcd, lind coming down the
Ohio River landed at the mouth of the Little l\Ihtmi, and estll.blished his
home on what was then known as the" Round Bottom" of that historic
stream. In a few years, about 1800, he moved into Clermont County, and
settled on Ten-Mile Creek, in what is now Pierce township, where he spent
the balance of his days in clearing his lands, raising crops, and caring for
his family.

By his first marriage were born three sons nnd one daughter.' The
latter never came West. The sons were DltVid, Jolm, and Lewis. By
his second marriage there were one daughter, Mary, and six sons, Henry,
Abel, William, Amos, Robert, arid Jonathan Singleton, of whom all but
one, Henry, served bravely in the war of 1812. Of the three sons hy his
first wife, two, David and Lewis, remained in Pennsylvania, and mised
large families, while John located on 'fen-Mile Creek, in this county; of
those by his second wife, Abel settled in this county, on Ten-l\Iile Creek;
Henry removed to Clay Co., Ind.; William located on '!.'en-l\1i!c Creek;
Amos removed to Brown Co., Ohio; Robert settled on Ten-Mile Creek,
and was many years a county commissioner; and Jonathan Singleton
Donham settled on Twelve-Mile Creek, in Ohio township. He was the
youngest of this pioneer family, whicb, in men and women of force of
character, mental ability, and first-clas!! business qualifications, has con­
tributed greatly to the development of the county materially, politically,

momlly, and in all that adds to its progress and growth. He was a chi~d

when his father came West in 1794, and when a good~sized boy went to live
with his hll.lf-brother, John, who had then already acquired a good farm.
His inclination was more for trading. particularly in live stock, which
business he followed until he succeeded in purchasing himself a fine farm
on the eastern hills of Twelve-Mile Creek, in Ohio township. This he en­
larged by additional purchases, until his possessions were several hundred
acres of land. Throughout. his life he made stock-raising his main avoca­
tion, ll.nu gained a marked reputation for his importation into Southern
Clermont of blooded horses, cattle, and hogs. He was twice married, the
first time to Hiley Ross, by whom he had no children, and his second mar­
riage was on April HI, 1818, by Timothy Rn.rdin, justice of the pen.cl', to
Blizabeth Ayers, of New Jersey, by whom there were reared eleven children,
-four sons nnd seven daughters.

The eldest son is Hon. Perry J. Donham, of Cincinnati, one of the most
distinguished htwJers of Ohio, who studied at Jell"erson College, Penmyl­
vania, read law under Gen. Thomas L. Hamer, was admitted to the bar in
1848, amI Ims gained a reputation in the State for his eminent succe~s as
an attorney. Ilis wife was the dltughter of Captnin WiIIil1.m McClain, the
famous Ohio River steamboat captain; she died in 1862, leaving two beau­
tiful and accomplished daughters, Carrie and Belle. The second son is
Dr. Hltrrison L. Donham, of Mount Washingtcm, 11 physician of celebrity.

.The third son is Erasmus J. Donham, the present efficient cnunty trea~urer

of Clermont, elected in 1879, over his cousin, David Donham. The fourth
and youngest son is Robert W. Donham, residing four miles from New
Richmond. or the daughters, there were Hiley Ann, married to 'fholl1l1s
Kenncdy, of Campbell Co., Ky.; Evaline, married to Thomas L. Nichol!!,
and who is the mother of Judge Perry J. Nichols; Mary Eliza, married
to Benjamin Ely; FIorella J., married to J. H. Simmons; Harriet L.,
married to Rev. H. 1\1. Keck; Cordelia E., married to James Augustus
Hitch; and Caroline E.

Col. Jonathan S. Donham served as an officer in the war of 1812, and
was present at the siege of Fort Meigs, and in after-years was a general
in the militia. He w~s one of the best farmers and largest stock-raisers
in Clermont, nnd a man of fine personal and socilll habits; few mlln of his
day stood so high in the estimation of the community. He died in 1856,
leaving a very large estate and a family of nine children, with their aged
mother, and grandchildren by the score. His widow, Mrs. Elizabeth
(Ayers) Donhalll, is still living, and for her advanced age (eighty-five) is
remarkably acti"e and healthy. She draws a pension from the govern­
ment for the services of her late husband, Col. Jonathan S. Donham, whose
memory will ever be cherished in Clermont County as that of a worthy
pioneer, whose family was not only closely identified with the early settle.
ments in the county, and its subsequent advance in civilization, but is
also noted. for its serdees generally in the Revolutionary war, and in the
settlements on the Monongahela, in Pennsylvania, which preceded those
in Ohio and Kentucky.
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TIlE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF NEW RICHMOND.

This instit.ution was organized in April, 1865, with a
capital stock of $65,000, which has been increased to
$100,000, the present amount of the capital. The first
board of directors was composed of D.' E. Fee, N. 1\1.
Preble, William Sturges, George 'Veil', W. G. Moore,

'Jared Lemar, and Franklin Fridman. William Sturges
was elected president, 'V. T. Moore vice-president, N. M.
Preble cashier. In 1869, 'V. G. Moore became presi­
cent, and Franklin Fridman vice-president. In January,
1870,D. E. ~"ee became pl'esident, and W. G. Moore vice­
president; but in August of the same year W. G. Moore
succeeded Fee as president, the latter becoming cashier, in
which capacity he has since served. In 1875, 'Watts Mc­
Murchy became president, and in 1880, Franklin Fridman,
James I. Selby being vice-president, and 'Villiam R. Sinks
teller. The directors in 1880 were D. E. Fee, W. R. Sinks,
lfrank Davis, Fmnklin Fridman, James.r. Selby, F. T.
Donaldson, und C. R. Ashburn. The bank is prosperous
and has a fine officc in the McMurchy building. It was
opened in the Castlen block, but after a few years was
'Iocated in the Pigman building, where it remained until it
Was transferred to its present home.

THE NEW RICHMOND BUILDING AND LOAN ASSOCIA­
TION.

The petition for an association was signed Dec. 7, 1869,
by I. F. Lindsey, N. A. Hitch, M. H. Davis, E. R. Shan­
non, P. J. Nichols, 'Vatts McMurchy, Frank Davis, and
Henry Jenks, as corporators, and was filed at Columbus,
Dec. 11, 1869. Its object was to raise funds to be loaned
among its members and depositors for use in buying lots
and houses and other purposes.

On the 3d day of January, 1870, the stockholders met
at the town-hall, and an election of directors had, at which
'Watts McMurchy, 'V. G. Moore, George W. Castlen, Jo­
seph Clasgens, P. J. Nichols, M. H. Davis, H. Jenks, N.
A. Hitch, Frank Davis, E. R. Shannon, William Sturges,
D. E. Fee, N. M. Preble, and 1. F. Lindsey were elected di­
rectors; and at an election of officers held immediately
afterwards 'Vatts Mcl\:Iurchy was chosen President; N. A.
Hitch, Vice·President; ~"rank Davis, Secretary; W. (l
Moore, Treasurer; and P. J. Nichols, Solicitor. These
officers were never changed, except that upon the removal
of N. A. Hitch William Sturges was elected vice-president
in 1875, and upon the election ot' Hon. P. J. Nichols as
probate judge Frank Davis was appointed as solicitor. The
changes in the board were few. C. Schmeltz was elected in
1874 in place of Joseph Clasgens, who declined re-election;
W. B. Ely was elected in place of C. Schmeltz, decl~ned in
1875; E. J. Donham in place of N. A. Hitch, and A. J.
Shaw in place of W. B. Ely in 1878. The first payment
made to the association was Jan. 29, 1870. The original
capital stock was $400,000, but not being all taken, by vote
of stockholders, had July 23, ] 870, the capital stock was'
reduced to $200,000. '1'he association has received dues
for five hundred and eighteen weeks, and each share has
therefore paid $129.50. 'fhe par value of each share be­
ing $200, each share, it will be seen, has made ten per cent.
clear .of all expenses to the shareholder, who in nearly ten

years has paid in $129.50, which at ten per cent. for five
years, being average time, would amount to $194.25. The
largest premium ever received was 401- per cent., in April,
1870, and from that date the premiuml? declined until the
year 1877, when they entirely ceased, none being bid, and
money loaned to members at the face value of stock. The
lowest premium received was one-quarter per cent., and after
the first year the premium never exceeded 20 per cen~. The
total cash receipts from all sources amounted to about
$216,000. The tuxes paid amounted to about 57200 ; the
expenses of every other charactel' to $3500, which includes
rent, record of mortgages, and salaries. The only salaried
officers are the secretary and treasurer, who at first received
$100 and $50 respectively; they now receive $150 each
per year. The association had but few suits, and in nearly
all cases were bl'Ought inlo COUl't by others bringing suit or
by administrators or trustees in settlement of estates.
'fhere has never been a case litigated, and the association
was never before the district court. Its offi<-:,ers have uni­
versally, where it was at all practicable, settled and com­
promised all cases; and it is a remarkable fact that no money
has been lost by bad loans.

THE NEW BUILDING AND LOAN ASSOCIATION OF NEW
RICHMOND.

This association was formed after the affairs of the above
body were closed up. The certificate" of organization was
issued Dec. 24, 1879, and the corporators were W. G.
Moore, N. l\i. Preble, Frank Davis, P. J. Nichols, D. E.
Fee, W. R. Sinks, R. W. Donham, George ,Yo Castlen,
and M. H. Davis. The capital stock was fixed at $100,000,
in shares of $200 each. The certificate was filed with the
Secretary of State, Dec. 31, 1879, and officers were accord­
inglyelected as follows: Directors, N. M. Preble, G. ,Yo
Castlen, D. E. Fee, u.. A. Davis, W. R. Sinks, Samuel
McKown, B.. F. E"dman, W. G. Moo~e, 1. F. Lindsey, C.
G. Seitz, Fmnk Davis; President, N. l\i. PI'eble; Vice­
President, G. W. Castlen; Secrctary, R: A. Davis; Treas­
urer, W. R. Sinks; and Solicitor, Frank Davis. On the
1st of February, 1880, the association had 120 members,
and its affairs were in a flourishing condition.

TIlE COLORED PEOPLE'S UNIO~ AID OF NEW RICHMOND.

At a meeting held at Colored People's Hall, at New
Richmond, Sept. 3, 1866, Howard Boone president, and
Henry Fox secretary, it was" Hesolved, that the object of
this organization is benevolcnt, and is intended to improve
and advance the social and political conditions of the colored
race; that for the better accomplishment thereof, incor­
poration under tlle laws of Ohio is desired with the above
name, and that the number of directors thereof shall be
five, who shall be elected immediately."

Charles H. Johnson, Jesse Orrich, Lewis Johmon, Val.
Fox, and John Pilcher werc electcd directors; but beyond
this preliminary organization nothing further was accom­
plished.

THE GEHMAN AID ASSOCIATION OF NEW RICHMOND

was organized May 6, 1853, and in uue time became a cor­
pOl'ate body. It is au independent organizatio~, whose.
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operations are limited to a territory described by a radius
of eight miles from New Richmond, in the State of Ohio,
and its object is purely beneficiary, all its transactions being
done in open meetings, held once a month. In addition to
the ordinary officers there is a sick committee, which re­
ports to the president and secretary any sickness on the
part of the members, and secures proper attendance. In
cases of illness members receive $3 per week, and should
death ensue, $20 are paid for burial expenses. These
amounts ure puid from a fund arising from initiation fees
and weekly dues of twenty-five cents per member.

The association has had as many as 85 members belong­
ing at one time, but at present has only 38 members.
Among its deaths were Henry Helmering, 1Vm. Elmore,
Henry Schmidt, Casper Hessler, Andrew J.Janghauser,
Frank Schweitzer, John Frank, and Justus Schueter.

The first officers were ,Marcus Kissner, President;
Benedict Blaessie, Vice-P)'esident; Charles Wulr, Treasurer;
und Stephen Huber, Secretary; and in 1880 these officers
in the order given were Louis Hausserman, Henry Prigge,
Joseph D. Heis, and Martin K Johns.

TRE CLER~IO~T INSURANCE CO:\IPANY.

This company was chartered by the Legislature of 18,19­
50, under the old constitution, and was granted some very
important franchises. On the 10th of June, 1850, it or­
ganized" for business with Turpin Daughters, of Neville, as
president, and R. W. Clarke, of' Batavia, as secretary. It
issued policies upon all classes of insunlble property, but
made a specialty of farm property. Among its prominent
agents were 'Williain Johnston, Moscow; P. J. Donham,
New Richmond; Albert Dart, Milford; \ViIliam Ulrey,
Boston; Abram Yeater, Goshen; Edward Sinks, 'Villiams­
burgh; S. F. Dowdney, Felicity; Samuel Justice, Bethel;
J. A. Morrow, Withamsville; and John 1\1. Brown, lH.
Jamieson, L. B. Leeds, Batavia, where was also the home
office. In 1859 the last official meeting of the stockholders
was held, when the company decided to sell out its fran­
chises to parties in New Richmond. These reorganized the
company the same year with the title of " Clermont Mu­
tual," and selected 'Vatts 1\Ic1\Iurchy as president and
Joseph rrritt as secretary. Subsequently William Sturges
served as president. The new company did business' for
more than a dozen years, but finally succumbed to the
pressure of the times and ceased to exist. Under the new
managcment the place of business was at New Hichmond.

SEORET ORDERS.

As related in the history of Washington township, a
lodge of 1\Iasons was instituted at New Richmond, in 1843,
which, after a few years, was transferred to Moscow. After
the lapse of a short period a charter was grantod (Oct. 20,
18,17) to form

BUCKEYE LODGE, No. 150, F. AND A. l\L,

whose communications were to be held at New Richmond.
The members 'named in the charter were John Bell, John
Dimmitt, George Allen, Thomas Young, Duvid Gibson, A.
D. 'Wilson, Milton Kennedy, William H. Moss, David
'Walker, and Bennett Carter. John Bell was selected as the

first Master; George Allen, as the Secretary; and· David
Gibson, as the Treasurer.

A room was rented for lodge purposes, of William Ken­
nedy, on the corner of Front and \Valnut Streets, which
was used until 1851, when the place of meeting was trans­
ferred to' the Sturges Block, on Front and Quarry Streets.
On the 6th of January, 1876, the lodge became a corporate
body, with Thomas Roberts, Samuel 1\IcKown, and \V. P.
Kincaid, trustees, and E. Towner, clerk, who still serve in
that capacity, and control the hall which the lodge has oc­
cupied since 1851. Of the members named in the charter
David Gibson, of Cincinnati, is the only one who retains
his membership. The aggregate number who have belonged
has been more than 100, but at present only 42 are enrolled
as members. The officers elected in 1879 were W. R.
Sinks, W. 1\1. j \ViIIiam Roettinger, S. W.; Ed. Latham,
J. W.; Frank Davis, S. D.; J. W. Lenniil, J. D.; Ezra
TQwner, Sec.; and Samuel McKown, Troas.

rrhe 'Vorshipful Masters, Senior Wardens, and Junior
'Vardens, in the order named, since the institution ot' the
lodge, have qeen as follows:

lSJS.-Thomas Young, Abel Towner, W. L. Young.
lS4U.-Abel Towner, H. V. Shaffer, Joseph Ashton.
lS50.-Joseph Ashton, John F. Seh-age, Middleton Humes.
lS51.-John F. Sel\"age,Dewitt C. Johnson, Thomas Roberts.
1852-53.-Joseph Ashton, G.•J. Dickerson, Nathan Barkley.
lS54.-Abel Towner, Nathan BarkleJ', John Shaw.
1855.-G. J. Dickerson, C. G. Hutchinson, John Shaw.
1856-5,7.-Wntts l\Ie}Iurehy, Andrew Byrnes, Snmu~l McKown.
lS5S.-Thomlls B. Young. C. G. Hutchinson, U. C. Mockbee.
lS5U.-Watts Mci.\Iurehy, Thomas W. Chandler, C. G. Hutchinson.
1860-6l.-Samucl McKown, Henry Reese, B. P. Bonneville.
1862.-Henry Reese, U. C. Moekbee, B. P. Bonneville.
1863.-John T. Selvage, Thomas C. Fitil, Samuel McKown.
1864.-U. C. l\Ioekbee, IIenry Reese, B. P. Bonneville.
1865.-SanlUel McKown, B. P. Bonneville, John l\L Shepherd.
1866.-Samuel McKown, Watts l\feMurehy, Charles Wulf.
I867.-James McKown, Henry Reese, William A. Shaw.
1868.-W. P. Kincaid, S. McKown, U. C. Mockbee.
186U.-W. P. Kincaid, Henry Jenks, D. E. Roberts.
I870.-Hcnry Jenks. George Hawkins, S. T. Harvey.
187I.-Georgc Hawkins, FraLk Davis, Charles Stevens.
1872.-Frank Davis, Chat'les Stevens, Joseph Kolb.
1873.-Frnnk Davis, Joseph Kolb, William R. Sinks.
lS74.-WiJliam R. Sinks, E. L. House, U. C. Mockbee.
1875.-~. L. House, W. G. Hera, W. P. Kincaid.
1876.-Frank Da\'is, William R. Sinks, A. S. Pigman.
1877-78.-William R. Sinks, E.L. Rouse, Jo~eph Kolb.
1879.-William R. Sinks, William Roettinger, Ed. H. Latham.

nIOSCOW CHAPTER, No. 78, R. A.M.,

was organized, under a dispensation, June 22, 1858, with
William Johnston, Edward Hughes, William M. Fee,
James 1. Selby, James'Stewart, James L. Powell, 'Villiam
T. Hughes, William T. Fee, and J. W. Fee, charter mem­
bers, and who were also the first officers. The communica­
tions of the chapter were held at Moscow until 1870, when
privilege was granted to change the place of meeting to
N~w Richmond, and the first regular communication of the
chapter was held at that place Oct. 4, 1870, the name of
the chapter bei~g changed at the same time from Moscow
to New Richmond, which has since been the proper title.
The chapter meets in the hall of Buckeye Lodge, and in
1879 reported 29 members and William Roettinger, H. P. ;
U. C. Mockbee, K.; W. P. Kincaid, S.; William R. Sinks,



OHIO TOWNSHIP. 417

.,

C. F.; Frank Davis, P. S.; Joseph Kolb, R. .1\.. C.; Geo.
H. Fridman, Trens.; and Ezra Towner, Sec.

From 1859 for the twenty years succeedin~ the following
have been the High Priests, Kings, and Scribes in the
order named:

185!l.-Edward Hughes, James Stewart, James 1. Selby.
lSf.\O.-James 1. Selby, Henry Walker, John W. Camerer.
18GI-G~.-WiI1iamJohnson, .J. W. Fee, John W. C:tmerer.
18GJ.-John W. Fcc, William .Johnson, W. S. :Manning.
18G5-G7.-Edward Hughes, IIenry Walker, W. S. Manning.
1868.-William M. Fee, B. F. Penn, William Johnson.
18G!J.-Edward Hughes, Henry Wviker, J. ~Iockbee.

1870.-Henry Jcnl,s, W. P. Kincaid, Watts l\Icl\Iurchy.
1871.-Frank Davis, U. C. l\Ioekbce, George W. I-Iltwkins.
1872.-Charles Stevens, W. P. Kincaid, U. C. Mocl,bee.
1873.-William R. Sinks, W. P. Kincaid, U. C. Mockbee.
1874.-W. P. Kincaid, U. C.l\Iockbee, James r. Selby.
1875.-W. P. Kincaid, U. C. Moekbee, Watts McMurchy.
187(j.-William R. Sink8, U. C. Mockbee, James r. Selby.
1877.-Etlward H. Latham, U. C. Mockbee, H. Reese.
1878.-E. T. House, U. C. Mocl,bec, James 1. Selby.
1879.-WilliaID Roettinger, U. C. 1\Iockbee, W. P. Kincaid.

MISTLETOE LODGE, No. 97, r. O. O. :F.,

was instituted Jan. 1, 18-1:8, with charter members as fol­
lows: Henry H. Fosdick, S. W. Collard, William H. Ban­
nister, It. H. Davis, J. B. Robinson, A. U. Short., and T.
Roberts; and among the early initiates were Thomas C.
Gowdy, William Reakirt, Bennett Friend, J osbua Silvers,
'V. H. Moss, O. K. Reeves, J. T. Johnston, Joshua Bettle,
James Potts, 'Villiam Ross, and Abel Towner.

The lodge has been prosperous, and on the 1st of June,
1876, became a corporate body, under the general laws of
the State relating to such bodies, the object being the mu­
tual protection and relief of its members, and to secure the
payment of a stipulated sum of money to the family or
heirs of the deceased members of said association. John
n. Fleming, William Hawkins, and E. J. Donham were
specified as the trustees. In January, 1880, the lodge re­
ported a membership of 69, and met in a very fine hall, the
lower story of which is occupied by the village authorities
for council and other purposes. The officers at this time
are John Hawkins, N. G.; Charles D. Watson, V. G.;
J ames Gilmore, It. S.; E. L. House, P. S.; and A. S. Pig­
man, Treas.

Since the institution of the lodge the Noble Grands l1ave
been A. H. Fosdick, Thomas Hoberts, R. H. Davis, .1\..
W. Short, E. G. Beck, Joseph Tritt, Charles Cooder, T. C.
Gowdy, Joseph E. Peden, F. N. Cary, J.J. M. Sturges, Wil­
liam Reakirt, James 'Vatson, Thomas J. Mullen, John B.
:Fleming, John :McDonaid, Charles G. Hutchinson, Joshua
Silvers, Andrew Delano, David A. Reese, George Green, W.
B. Fitzpatrick, S. B. Sims, B. F. Vandergrift, P. A.
Nichols, V. B. Cary, 'Wellington Dickinson, E. J: Donham,
W. A. Shaw, C. ,Y. Short, S. B. Parker. E. L. House, H.
J. Bainum, E. J. 'Watson, William Hawkins, Thomas J.
Lewis, Johnson Crawford, Richard Hawkins, John Heese,
W. G. Hera, H. R. Mathias, T. P. White, Reason Haw­
kins, C. 'V. Dawson, James Kinsey, and E. J. Nichols.

SIEGEL LODGE, No. 375, I. O. O. F.,

was instituted J lily 4, 1866, with the following charter
members: Charles Wulf, Philip Bromer, Chris. "VVeisen­

53

born, Adam Moser, Charles Burkhart, Philip Roettinger,
Jacob Reinert, Chris. Gutler, Jacob Fetzer, Louis Hausser­
man, Frank Schweitzer, Henry Bolknecht, Jacob Pickle,
Henry Helmering, 'William Horgel, Frank ,Heiselman, John
Frantz, Aug. Cornmeyer, Fred. Hausserman, Conrad Trauth,
John Hewfling, Henry Schmumacher, Antonie Sylvester,
Edward. Ware.

Charles Wulf was the first Noble Grand, and for the first
term ill 1880 this office was filled by G. F. Englehart;
Mathew Schentz, V. G.; Ignatius Schentz, R. S.; J.1. Golsch,
P. S.; and H. Runger, Treas. Thirty members are re­
ported, and all the exercises are conducted in the German,
being the only working lodge of this nature in the county.
Its meetings are also held in Mistletoe Hall.

THE NEW RICIIl\IOND ENCAMP.MENT, No. 98, r. O. O. F.,

was chartered June 10, 1867, with the following members:
C. W. Short, C. P.; B. F. Vandegrift, H. P.; A. S. Pig­
man, S. 'N.; 'V. B. Ely, ;J. W.; V. B. Cary, Scribe; and
Charles 'Vulf, Treas. The encampment in 1879 reported
29 members, and convened in Mistletoe HalL Since its
organization the Past Patriarchs have been E. L. House,
J. F. Hatch, William Hawkins, 'Vellington Dickinson,
John V. Hunt, C. Schmeltz, Charles Wulf, A. Sylvester, J.
V. Fleming, T. J. Mullen, James Watson, A. S. Pigman,
B. F. Vandegrift, W. .1\.. Shaw, S. B. Parker, Charles
Springer, John V. Hunt, E. J. Watson, D. E. Fee, Fred.
House, J. D. Knabb, F. N. Cary, and ~illiam Hawkins.

NEW RICIUIOND LODGE, No. 4~, A. O. U. w.
This lodge was instituted Feb. 19, 1875, with charter

members as follows: John F. M. Ely, W. R. Sinks, James
W. 1\1oss, D. E. Fee, E. J. Donham, William C. Spahr,
Lyman House, James Majors, Frank Davis, W. J. Shan­
non, Aquilla Cochran, W. G. Moore, Peter Eyl, Isaac
Watson, A. J. McFarland, W. A. Shaw:, Joseph White,
Watts McMurchy, Charles Haines, A. S. Pigman, William
V. Peck, James Kinsey, C. T. Bainum, Thomas P. White,
Ezra Towner, P. J. Nichols, W. D. Coons, F. C. Smith,
Rudolph Burkhart.

The first officers were A. S. Pigman, P. M. ·W.; E. J.
Donham, M. 'N.; E. L. House, G. F.; A. J. McFarland,
O. ; C. Q. Haines, G.; 'V. V. Peck, R.; W. It. Sinks, F. ;
'Vatts McMurchy, B..; James K.insey, W.; and Trustees
W. G. Moore, Frank Davis, and D. E. Fee. The present
P. 1\:1. 'V. is W. P. Kincaid. The lodge has a membership
of 32, and has lost one member by death, T. F. Donham,
Jan. 29, 1879. The communications are held in Mistletoe
Hall.

TRUE CRAFTSMAN LODGE, No. 36, F. AND A. M. (COL-
ORED),

was chartered Aug. 21, 1872, by authority of the Grand
Lodge of Ohio, with James A. Bond, Delvia Mathews,
Dennis Anderson, :Moses Brown, John A. Moor, Charles
Sneed, Joseph Graves, and-- Frasner. James Bond was
the first Master, and was followed in that office by Iln Hous­
ton, Henry Fox, Sr., Iln Houston, William Nelson, and
Daniel Smith, each for a term in the order named.

The officers in 1880 were George Ringgold, W. M.; H.
F. Fox, S. W. ~ Da~ie~ S~ith, J. W.; Charles ~trflwder,
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Sec.; and Philander Fox, Treas. The lod~e has 28 mem­
bers, and has its communications in a well-appointed hall. It
is the only one maintained by colored people in the county.

NEW RICIIl\IO~D UNION SCHOOLS.

The records pertaining to the early schools of the "town­
ship and of the village of New Richmond have not been
preserved. One of the first schools was taught by 'William
McDonald, and before 1819 a hou!'ie was built for school
purposes ncar the present Protestant church edifice. Other
early teachers were Charles ,Y. Swain, George Palmer,
Joseph Herron, Ezekiel 'Walker, and Joseph Sapp, who
were the instructors of the older members of the commu­
nity of to-day.

From 1826 for a period of nearly a dozen years :Mi<;s
Molyneaux (now Mrs. Dr. Rogers) taught a select school
for young ladies at New Uichmond, ~vhich WlIS well patron­
ized and had a good reputation here and in the surround­
ing country. A select school for. '-"ounO' men was taun ht a

J" "

short time by Dr. William Herbert" before the establi:-;hruent
of the Clermont Academy, several miles above the villllge.

Under the act of Feb. 21, 1849, for the better regula­
tion of schools in cities and villages, the present schools of
New Richmond were established in the filII of 1852. The
meeting to effect this change was held June 8, 1852, when
the people of tIle village voted, 9~ to 23, to adopt the pro­
visions of the act~ and on the 22d of June ot'the salUe
year the first board of education wus constituted. It wus
composed of Samuel Walraven, President; Daniel Barber,
Secretary; George Mc~Iurchy, Treasurer; and 'V. II.
1\1oss, P. J. Donham, and ,Y. H. Ferguson. The board
decided to maintain a session of school for thirty-six weeks,
and that $1200 should be raised to support it. Hev. O. H.
Newton, George T. J.Jayficld, and N. M. Preblc were ap­
pointed the first board of examiners, and the latter was
also the first principal.

An enumeration taken the following year showed that
the whole number of children of school age-children be­
tween five and twenty-one years-was 608, of which 104
were colored. For the benefit of the latter class a school
was established that year in one of the colored churches.
The receipts for school purposes were $1427.78, and the
disbursements exceeded that amount by 18 cents,' five
schools having been maintained. For the accommodation
of these schools the old district !;chool-houses were used
and other rooms rented; but in the spring of 1859 it was
determined to erect a suitable edifice, whose capacity would
permit all the schools to be taught under one roof. A
building site was secured by effecting an exchange with the
village authorities, whereby the old school-house was con­
veyed to the latter body and the board became the owners
of the lots on which the school building now stands. The

.plans for this edifice were prepared by Anderson & Hanna­
ford, of Cincinnati, and the house was built by Watson &

. Co., under the superintendence ot' Samuel Silvers, as a mem­
ber of the board, at a cost of about $6000. The house was
first occupied for school purposes in the full ot' 18GU. The
school building for the colored children was erected ill
1871, and both are creditable structures, with ample accom­

~od~tiO~l~ for t4e ~c~~ool~~h~14r~~of -the village. The ex-

cellence of the schools often caused application for instruc­
tion to be made by pupils from outside districts.

Jan. 11, 1858, a proposition wns read before the board
from Perry J. NicIlOls for admission as a pupil into Mr.
l\Iahan'sschool.

" HCRol"erl, That he be aumitted at the sum of $1.50 per month,
and that P. J. Donham acknowledge himself responsible for said
tuition-fcc."

In 1865 a German school was first tauo-ht under the
direction of the board of education, by ~he' Rev. :Mr.
Trauth, and since that time, with the exception of a few
years, a German teacher has been regularly employed by
the school autllOrities.

The followin~ persons have served as members of the
board of education, the years prefixed to their names indi·
eating the time when they were elected: 18;')3, J. B. l'ilw­
ley, K It Shannon, George 'r. J~ayfield, Andrew !tobMb
("secretary); 1854, Thomas C. Gowdy (secretary), William
Hobson; 1855, 'Villiam Sturges, Joseph Garrisoll, O. II.
Newton j 1856, Hezekiah Lindsey, P. J. Donham, George
T. Layfield, Samucl8ilvers; 1857, N. M. PI'cble (secretary),
Samuel Powers, Joshua Sims; 1858, Samuel Silvers, E. R.
Shannon; 185!), P. J. Donham (secretary), l\I. A. Stillch~
field; 1860, Watts Mc~lurchy, Martin Ryan, Stephen
Jackson; 1861, John Dimmitt, Samuel Anderson, J. n..
Corbly, N. 1\1. Preble; 1862, E. R. Shannon, Samuel Sil.
vcrs, 1\1. A. Stinchfield (secretary); 1863, Stephcn Jackson,
William Ueakirt (secretary), A. ,Yo Coan, Watts l\IcMur­
chy, P. J. 'Donham, D. L. Stinchfield; 18ti4, John ~lc­

Donald (:::ecretary), Joseph Tritt, Hugh Gilmore, Charles
'Vulf, W. V. Peck; 1865, A. Schroem, H.. A. Molyneaux;
1866, Jesse Carues (secretary), Charles Dennis; 1867, N.
1\1. Preble, T. l~. Donham; 1868, E. It. Hera, Geo. Fisher'
1869, W. V. Peck, Henry Jenks (secretary) ; 1870, N. l\'I:
P~'eble, S. 1\1cKown (!;ecretary.i; 1871, K H.. Hera, George
Fisher; 1872, 'V. V. Peck (secretary), Joseph Tritt; 1874,
J. H. Harris, N. 1\1. Preble, 1\1. H. Davis, P. J. Nichols,
George Fisher; 1875, 'V. V. Peck (secretary), 1. F. Lind­
sey, R A. Molyneaux; 1870, 'Villiam B. Ely (secretar)'),
A. Schroem, W. G. Moore; 1877, P.•J. Nichols, E. L.
House; 1878, It. A. Mol,Yneaux, 'V. G. 1\1oore. 'fhe
board in 1879 was composed of H. A. Molyneaux, Presi­
dent; Edwin House, Secretary; W. A. Shaw, Tre<lsurer;
Frank Davis and A. Schroem, Auditing Committee; and
Joseph Kolb, House Committee.

The principals of New B.ichmond union schools since
1852 have been as follows: 1853-54, L. H. Smith; 1855­
63~ J. W. Mahan;* 1864, 'Vm. N~chols; 1865, F. D.
Davis; 1866-70, J. C. Monis; 1871, W. W. Locke'
1872-75, G. W. Felter; 1876-80, J. A. I. Lowes. l'il~
other teachers in 1879 Were Anna Davis (high school),
Hebecca K Scattcrday, Eva Robb, .Nellie Moore Lizzie
Haines, J~ucy MOI'in, Lina V~lyhinger (German), 'and H.
F. and O. S. Fox (teachers of the colored schools). For
many years O. ll. Nickuus was a teacher of the colored
youth in New Richmond.

In the township of Ohio, outside of the village of New

f" Professor Mahan died of smn.l1pox before tile expiration of the
year. lIe was a most excellent teacher.
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Richmond, are five sub-districts, which have been provided
with good school buildings and in which are taught schools
of more than ordinary merit. A separate school is also
maintained for the instruction of colored youth. The con­
dition of the several schools in 1879 is shown from the
following reports to the county auditor;

Amount paid for tuition in the township, $1930 ; amount
paid for the same purpose in New Richmond, $2989.30 ;
number of children enrolled in the township, ~35; number
in New Richmond, 474; number of weeks taught ill the
township, 32; and the same number of weeks in the vil­
lage. The number of pupils in the colored school in the
township was 48; the number in New Richmond, 124.

Hegarding the first school in Ohio township, James Fer­
guson writes:

"In the fall of 1810 a school-house was built. It was of the most
rude and primiti\'e type: not a sawn plank nor pane of glass or nail
in its structure. Joseph E,'lI.ns taugbt tbefirstschool. This WitS tbe
first ~tructure dcdim1ted to cultureu ci\"i1izl1tion in the then township
of Ohio. In IS05, Tholllas Ayrcs taught 'a quarter,' as we called a
three months'scbool. Then Mr. Weymouth, of Vermont, who camc
vil~ Olean, N. Y., tbcnce on 11 pine lumber-raft to Cincinnati; then
Hugh Rus~'el j ncxt Jonah Morgan for 11 term of thrce years. Thus
was founded the fame<1 Franklin school. In this work Jobn Sbaw,
Hugh Ferguson, and Timothy Rardin wcre Illost a'elive and untiring.
Up to 1816, or lltter, tbis school cmbraced all for a radius of two and
a half miles. A college or otber admnced school was not within their
means. A good substitute was founded in a well-selectcd library,
which bas been in existence for about fifty years. In its few thou­
s~lld pages was condensed what was known in scicnce, literaturc,
bistory, and the arts, as well as the science of human government
from Blllcl,stonc and Rent, supplcmcnted bS the Jefferson and Madi­
son papers, including also the ablest authors on political economy.
He that rel1d these volumes well and intelligibly found in them a
good substitute for 11 university course. It is not within the scope
of this note to follow those who have gone from this school, witb
genius and intellect lighted up, to usefulness and fame. Mr. Shaw
was the only one of the group named with 11 fuir business education,
tbough not learned, in the present acceptation of the term. Hc was
a good rcader, a good scribe, and nn expert in figures. On him de­
voh'ed the clerkship and financial duties of the school, very much
of those labors for the township, two or more terms as county com­
missioner, and four terms as representative in the Legislature, from
ISH! to 1830. It seemed a rule of his life to seek no placc, .yet shrink
fl'om no duty and shun no responsibility.

"For thirty-sevcn years Timothy Rardin served his neighbors as
justice of the peace. He was no ordinary country 'squire,-he was a
justice. From his court of some law and well-adjudged equity but
three appcals were ever taken to a higher court. None of his decis­
ions were ever rever!'ed.

" Hugh Ferguson had gone to school ninety days in Pennsylvania,
and hl1d not lived in the vicinity of a school or church from 1784 to
1810. His place was in council, or in execution of an enterprise.
His public service consisted of pioneer labor in locating most of the
leading roads of the county, as trustee (of the township) and over­
seer of the poor of his township. His ambition lay in discharge of
bis duty to bis fumily, ministering to the wants of the afflicted, and
doing his duty to the school and his church."

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.OF NEW RICHMOND.

At and near New Richmond Methodist meetings were
first held at the houses of Jacob and Daniel Light, and at
Nathan Laycock's, in the present Mount Pisgah neighbor­
hood, soon after 1805. As the settlers came in the mem­
bership of the church, which was organized about this
period, increased, and in 1817 those that belonged were
Nathan and Nancy Laycock, Daniel and Susanna Light,
Jacob and Catherine Light, l~lizabeth Morin, Violet Cook,

Barbara Robb, James and Lettie Warren, Ann Kennedy,
Anne Tedrow, Elisha Evans, Hannah Tatman, Benjamin
Vaneman, Caleb S. and Ann Walker, Mary Gesney, Lavina
Underwood, William and .Mary McDonald, John and Mary
Martin, Sidney Martin, John Brown, Alice Brown, Corne­
lius and Mary Stewart, and Ann Piper. Daniel Light and
Nathan. J.Jaycock were the first class-leaders. In 1822 a
small brick house of worship was erected on the present
church-lot, in which preaching was held until the present
" Trimble chapel" displaced it in 1851. It is an attractive
two-story brick, and received its name in honor of the Rev.
J. Trimble, who had. previously served tIle church as a
presidin~ elder. The builders were Firman Herbert and
J ames Hill. On the same lot is a parsonage, which was
erected in 1861 by ]~dwin House, and both buildings have
recently been made comfortable by extensive repairs. The
present official board of the church is composed of Stephen
Jackson, D. A. Reese, E. House, 1\1. J. Stokes, H. Mathias,
O. B. Day, D. 'Voolly, U. O. ~Iockbee, G. A. Phifer, R. L.
Gest, Jennie Sinks, and 1'iary Ryan. '

Since 185:~, New Richmond has been regarded as a sta­
tion among the appointments of the Cincinnati Conference,
and prior to that date and from 1830 the church was served
by the ministers of the New Richmond Circuit. Still
earlier, from 1798 till 1830, the place had its ministerial
service from Miami and White Oak Circuits. The follow­
ing have been the ministers fl'om 1833 to the present, the
names of the previous ministers appearjng in an account of
the Amelia Church: 1833, Revs. Isaac C. Hunter, H. E.
Pitcher; 1834, Revs. John Collins, Wm. T. Hand; 1835,
Revs. Z. Connell, G. W. Maly; 1836, Revs. Z. Connell, Robert
Cheney; 18:37, Revs. D. Whitcomb. Wm. Parrish; 1838,
Revs. Levi White, Edward D. Roe; 1839, Revs. Levi
White, G. R Jones; 1840, Revs. Wm. H. Fyffee, G. R.
Jones; 1841, Revs. Wesley Rowe, Edward Estill; 1842,
Revs. 'Vm. Simmons, Edward Estill; 1843, Revs. W. H.
Lawder: Jacob Young; 1844, Revs.W. H. Lawder, John
Barton; 1845, Hevs. John W. Clark, A. J. McLaughlin;
1846, Revs. John W. Clark, Joseph Gasner; 1847, Revs.
C. W. Sears, Joseph Gasner; 1848, Revs. N. Westerman,
Joseph Gatch; 1849, Revs. N. 'Vesterman, Levi 1'iiller;
1850, Revs. 1'1. G. Purkiser, E. G. V\Test; 1851, Revs.
M. G. Purkiser, Aug. Verhoof; 1852, Revs. Peter Holt­
singer, Wm. B. Jackson; 1853-54, Rev. John W. Cassett;
1855, Rev. Isaac Neff; 1856, Rev. John F. Spence; 1857­
58, Rev. George Parrott; 1859-60, Rev. J. W. Cassett;
1861-62, Rev. Joseph Gatch; 1863-64, Rev. W. E.
Hines; 1865, Rev. Edward ,McHugh; 1866-67, Rev.
Charles Kalbfus; 1868-70; Rev. Wm. H. Lawdon; 1871­
72, Rev. H. C. Middleton; 1873-75, Rev. J. S. Whiting j

1876, Rev. A. Hamilton; 1877-78, Rev. L. M. Davis.

FIRST REGULAR BAPTIST CHURCH OF NEW RICHMOND.

This body was organized Feb. 20, 1819, with the follow­
ing members: Benjamin Tibbitts, Moses Tibbitts, Robert
Earhart, Joseph Durham, Henry Mitchell, Solomon Whid­
den, John Crawford, Job Hall, Robert lIes, "l\fargaret
McClure, Ruth Earhart, Jerusha Durham, Margaret Craw­
ford, Lydia Moss, Submit 1'ibbitts, and Bridget Mitchell.'
Delegates from sister-churches were pre.3ent, as follows:
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from Ten-Mile, Hezekiah Lindsey, Reuben J....aycock, and
Abel Donham j and from East Fork, Elder John Rich­
mond, Samuel Fountain, and Henry Donham.

John Crawford was chosen tIle first deacon, Moses Tib­
betts the first clerk, and John Donham the first treasurer of
the church. 1\1any members were added by confession and
baptism, and a considerable number became connected by
letter. Among others were R. Hall, B.. McDonald, R
Applegate, Hamilton Miller, Patty Mulloy, John Nugill,
·William Drake, Mm'y Drake, Betsy StOlle, Theodosia
Miller, Zebulon Applegate, Sally Mitchell, John 'Vhee]er,
Mary Davis, Joseph Durham, James Watson, Robert Slye,
·William Goble, 'Villiam Benson, Sanford Tewell, James
Leach, Nancy Gibbs, Sarah Hancock, Zebulon Applegate,
Jr., Simeon Hutchinson, and Elisha Jones.

On the 19th of' March it was voted by the church that
the meetings be held at Mr. McClure's new house at New
Hichmond. Other places were occupied, but September,
1841, Messrs. Crawford, Jeffries, and Fl'cnch were ap­
pointed a committee to build a meeting-house. The edi­
fice, which yet stands in New Richmond, was erected the
following year, but was not dedicated until May 21, 1843,
when the exercises were conducted by the Rev. L. French.
In 1859 and in subsequent years it has been repaired and
is yet a comfortable place of worship.

The church has taken very positive grounds against
what it considered the evils of the day. Jan. 20, 1821, it
resolved" That we will not hold fcllowship with members
of the chut'ch joining the Masonic society," and fi-equent
disapprovals of the system of American slavery were made.
In 1842 the church avowed its purpose" not to fellowship
with those who sustained or countenanced that institution,"
and subsequently it emphatically declared that slavery was
sinful and must not be countenanced by church members.

In 1823, Robert Iles was licensed by the church to "ex­
ercise his gift as a preacher whenever he may be called,"
and others who were formerly members of the church
became messengers of the gospel. The first pastor of the
church was the Rev. ·William Robb, who preached here in
connection with a number of other appointments. This
custom yet prevails, the present minister, the Rev. A. K.
Sargent, being also the preacher for the Nicholsville and
Clermont Academy Societies. The church has had the
labors of a number of ministers, among them having been
the Revs. Stephens, Hancock, Osborne, Cox, Lyon, French,
Smith, Dinkleton, Siegfried, Dolby, De Garmo, E. H.
Hera, ·W. H. Eller, and the present, A. K. Sargent.

Among other deacons than those mentioned were Ben­
jamin Morris, J. Durham, W. H. Hancock; the present
deacons are James "Watson and Stephen Goble. J. G.
Moorehead is the church clerk, and Johnson Crawford
treasurer. Other clerks have been J. C. Jeffries, J. B.
Flemming,' James ·Watson, S. B. Sims, J. K. Parker, D.
D. Baker, and J. Tritt. The present membership of the
church is 63, and a flourishing Sunday-school is main­
tained, which has J. D. Baker for superintendent.

FIltST PHESBY'!'EHIAN CHURCH OF NEW RICHMOND.

In pursuance of a public notice to this effect a number
of persons assembled .l\'lal'ch 11, 1821, and, after having

chosen James 'Vilden moderator and John Archard clerk,
resolved to form a Presbyterian Church. This proposition
was assented to by James Wilden, John Archard, Thomas
Collard (who were elected the first ruling elders), William
Rardin, .Louis Renno, ·William Bell, Nathaniel Barber,
Robert Davis, James Cooper, Thomas Ashburn, John
Derry, 1\Iary Rardin, Martha 'Vilden, Ann Derry, Sarah
Reno, Susanna Ashburn, Catharine Collard, Catherine
Haines, Jennie Cooper, Elizabeth Archard, Ellen Davis,
Alice Hodge, and Hannah Barber. The Presbytery of
·Washington having been asked to recognize this new body,
Rev. Robert B. Dobbins and Rev. John Ross were ap­
pointed to proceed to New Richmond and ordain the elders.
For this purpose a meeting was held June 15, 1821, and
John Archard WaS ordained, the other two having previ­
ously been ordained, to the elder's office. At a meeting
which soon followed, Hannah Barber and Susan Ashburn
b-ecame members of the church, and within a few years
.John Molyneaux, David Tremper, Harriet Tremper, Alex.
Porter, Janet Juhnston, John Johnston, Johlll\lc~air,John
Porter, James Gowdy, Ellen 1. Gowdy, Samuel Molyneaux,
l\fargaret QuinIan: Elizabeth Davis, John Hays, l\I:ll'garet
'Villiamsoll, Sally Naylor, Daniel Davis, and Harriet Ash­
burn also became connected with the church as members.

On the 25th of' December, 1822, a meeting of the church
was held to elect trustees and a clerk to serve the interests
of the cungregation, which had recent.ly erected its first
house of worship, the corner-stone of which was laid on
the 14th of the prec~ding June. On that occasion Rev.
Joshua L. Wilson preached most effectively from Psalm
lxxxii. 2 j and on the following Sabbath 22 additions
were made to the church, John Archard, Nuthaniel Barker,
and Robert Davis were elected trustees, and Louis Renno
clerk, who were properly qualified before David Jones, a
justice of the peace.

The parsonage of the church was erected in 1849,
through the effort.s of the Rev. O. II. Newton, and the
present church edifice, a fine brick structure, in 1856 and
1857, while the Revs. Richard Bently and ·Walter Mitchel
were the pastors of the church. But the steeple was not
erected nor the bell provided until 1870, when the Rev. H.
A. Ketchum exerted himself to place the church property
in its present fine condition.

For more than a year the church was destitute of a stated
ministry, and was dependent upon neighboring churches for
preaching services. On the 29th of November, 1823, the
Hev. Samuel G. Lowry became the first pastor, and main­
tained that relation towards the New Richmond Church
nearly two years. Rev. Benjamin Graves came next and
remained a year, when he was succeeded by the Rev. Stephen
Lindsey, whose pastorate al~o continued a year. Sept. 18,
1829, the Rev. Thomas Cole, a missionary under the direc­
tion of the American Home Missionary Society, commenced
preaching statedly for the church, and continued about three
years. He was succeeded by the Rev. Edward Garland,
who closed a two years' ministry Dec. 16, 1834.

Until June 10, 1837, the church was without a regular
minister, but now Rev. James Blakeslee became the pastor,
and continued until Dec. 16, 1838. The following May
Hev. James B. Walker, from Akron, Ohio, began a pastor-
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ate which continued nearly four years. October, 1843, the
Rev. Edward Schofield was installed pastor, and remained
three years.

The ministerial services of the Rev. O. H. Newton began
here in the fall of 1847, but he was not installed pastor
until the fall of 1849. He served the church with great
fidelity until 1855, when he became the pastor of a church
at Delaware, Ohio. In January, 1856, the Rev. Richard
Bently entered upon a year's pastorate, his successor, for
the same length of time, being the Rev. Walter lUitchel.
From 1858 till 1860 the church was without a pastor, but
in the spring of the latter year the Rev. 'Villiam Essick
was installed, and was pastor until June, 1862. The Revs.
1\1. P. Jameson and Dr. Andrews each supplied the church
for short periods, but for two years the church was again
without regular preaching.

In February, 1866, the Rev. John Rankin began a two­
years' pastorate, and soon after he left the Rev. H. A.
Ketchum was engaged as a stated supply, and 1\1arch, 1869,
he was installed as pastor. His pastorate was terminated
in July, 1872, and the following August the Rev. O. H.
Harris began a pastoral connection which continued until
1875. In the summer of 1876 the Hev. D. 13. Duncan
commenced preaching for the church, and after he was
graduated from Lane Seminary, in 1877, became the pas­
tor, still holding that relation in connection with the church
at Nicholsville.

The membership of the church is at present about 100,
but double that number belonged at one time, and the ag­
gregate membership has been greatly diminished by re­
movals and death. The present elders are J ohn80n Trem­
per, William Sturges, T. P. 'White, and R. A. :Molyneaux.
The latter is also the clerk of the sessions. Among other
elders have been Daniel Davis, William Rariden, Alex.
Porter, Nathaniel Barber, and William Walkins.

A flourishing Sunday-school has been maintained by the
church many years, and is at present superintended by
Prof. J. A. I. Lowes.

EVANGELICAL PROTESTANT ST. PAUL'S CHURCH OF
NEW RICHMOND.

This church was organized in 1848 by Rev. Hoffzimmer,
who came from Cincinnati for that purpose, and who also
preached for the following two years. Among the asso­
ciating members were Charles Wulf, John A. Kratzer,
Adam 1\loser, Philip Broemer, Michael Hausserman, Dr.
Schroem, and a number of others. The meetings were first
held in the old Universalist church, but in a few years a
small meeting-house for the use of the society was erected
on an adjoining lot. In this the congregation worshiped
until September, 1877, when the present fine edifice was
occupied. It was consecrated Sept. 2, 1877, by Pastor
Eisenlohr and others, of Cincinnati, and among those who
attended the exercises were 800 people who came from that
city on a special boat. They marched in procession from
the wharf to the church, where they were greeted by the
new pastor, Rev. G. F. Englehart, who has since been the
minister of' the church. The church edifice had been
begun about a year previously, the corner-stone having
been laid August 27, 1876, and was also made an occasion

of public interest. The house is 40 by 75 feet, of brick,
presents a fine appearance, and interiorly is handsomely
finished. Its cost was $7000.

The present church council consists of Louis Hausser­
man, President; Andrew Buehler, Vice-President; Wil­
liam Fiening, Secretary; and C. G. Seitz, Treasurer. The
latter is also the superintendent of the Sunday-school which
the congregation maintains. The former has 80 members,
and the latter is composed of 68 families. A flourishing
ladies' aid society exists in connection with the church,
whose efforts to assist in liquidating the debt of that body
have been very successful. In the past few years $1000
have been raised by this means. The pastors of the con­
gregation have generally shared their labors with the con­
gregation at "'\Villowville, in Union township, and have been
very numerous, seldom remaining more than a year.

ST. PETER'S ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH.

This house of worship was erected in 1851, an,d was con­
secrated the following year by Archbishop Purcell. It is
of brick, 32 by 6~ feet, and cost. about $3000. The con­
gregation which occupies it was formed in 1850, and was
composed of about 20 families; at present the number is
between 80 and 90 families. They have had the pastoral
services of the Revs. R. H. Herzogrecon, N. Fuchs, John
Becker, Aug. Teibbe, John Weise, H. Rieken, E. Wind­
horst, and Ch. French.

In connection with the congregation arc a number of
well-organized societies whose zealous. labors have con­
tributed much to the success of the church work. The
chief of these-the St. Boniface Benevolent Society-was
incorporated Dec. 4, 1871, with Moses A. Fieler, Joseph
Steverding, Frank Thiel, trustees, and Joseph B. 'Willen­
brink, clerk. In 1879 it had 38 members.

THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF NEW RICHMOND

was organized in 1842 by Jasper J. 1\1oss with 12 mem­
bers, as follows: Edward Turner and wife, Eo R. Oakley
and wife, 'V. R. 1\1oss and wife, II. Lindsey and wife,
Wm. McGuire and wife, L. J. Tingley, and Hattie Rich­
ardson. The meetings were first held in the Universalist
church and other places until the present house of worship
was provided, about 1858. It was erected by a committee
composed of H. Lindsey, John Dimmitt, and N. M. Preble.
The house is a frame 32 by 44 feet, and cost $1800. The
congregation numbers about 68 members, and the present
elders are Hezekiah Lindsey and Robert Hancock; other
elders have been N. M. Preble and L. J. Tingley. The
present deacons are J. C. Kilgour and A. J. Morin; and
among others in this office have been W. H. Moss and Ed­
ward Turner. Among the ministers have been the Revs.
Moss, Lockwood, Lucas, Murdock, Patterson, West, and
Ridgeway. The Sunday-school has N. M. Preble for
superintendent.

THE NEW RICHMOND UNIVERSALIST SOCIETY

was formed after 1835, and had among its members Joseph
'Villiamsoll, James Robb, Thomas Kinnelly, Robert, Frank,
and Mary Fee, Samuel McKown, and M. H. Davis. A
meeting-house was erectcd for the use of the society, whose
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corner-stone was laid by the Rev. Daniel Parker, a Res­
torationist minister, living in Monroe. The house yet
stands, but has long since been used for a dwelling. The
Rev. Mr. Gilmore was one of the first ministers to serve
the society, which at one time was quite flourishing, but
which: about 1855, became extinct.

TIIEPIWTESTANT l\IETIIODIST CIIURCIi AT NEW
RICIE\IOND

was organized in 1840, and had among its early members
Wm. Carnes, Milton Kennedy, James ·Warren, Joshua
Brown, Robert Abercrombie, Thomas Selvage, Joseph
Aston, U. C. l\1ockbee, 'Vm. Reeves, James Buntin,
Charles Hutchinson, Juhn Dansberry, Philip Platner, 'Vm.
Spickard, Jane Archard, Lettie 'Varren, and others. The
same year a frame meeting-house was erected at New Rich­
mond, which was used until the society went down, about
1856. A few years later it was sold for a residence, the
society having become wholly extinct, although having had at
one time 75 members. Among the ministers were the
Revs. Joel and Reuben Dolby, Jonathan Flood, Sanford
Flood, Charles \Villiams,. S. l~wing, and John Gear, the
latter being the last regular preacher.

COLORED BAPTIST CHURCH OF NEW RICIll\IOND.

Some time before 1850 a Baptist society of colored per­
sons was formed at New Richmond by Elder Satchel, of
Cincinnati, ten or fifteen persons unitillg in membership.
Since then the society has greatly increased in numbers and
at present reports 125 members. Among the deacons have
been John Prosser, J. G. \Valker, Peter Mathews, Essex
\Vhitfield, Howard Tate, Simeon Morlan, Isaac Sneed,
J. Abbott, 'Villiam Dunn, Oliver Moore, ·William Paxton,
M. Young, Simon Beasley, Joseph Roberts, Howard Boone,
alld Daniel Smith,-the last five serving at present.

The meetings were first held on the corner of Columbia
and Quarry Streets, but ill 1861 a small brick meeting-house
was built on the west part of' Market Street, which is yet
the place of' worship.

Not far from this time the colored people of Ohio formed
a Methodist society which had in 1~51 fifteen members
under the leadership of two local preachers,-George An­
dl'ews and Peter Coleman. 1'he next sear· it had John
Ridgeway as the first regular minister. The meetings were
held in the old brick school-house and later in the Uni­
versalist church. Subsequently an old stable was moved to
the corner of Centre and Quarry Streets, which served as
a place of meeting until the present house was built on the
same lot in 1865. It is 35 by 50 feet, of brick, and is in
good condition, and is known as

THE LEWIS CHAPEL OF TIlE AFRICAN METHODIST
CHURCH.

In 1879 'the trustees were Joseph GraYes, Daniel Lewis,
Othello I?ox, Owen Mathews, and Peter Spotswood. On
the same lot is a good parsonage, which was built in 1859.
1'he society has 115 members, forming four classes, under
the leadership ot' John Fiuley, Gilbert ~mith, Othello Fox,
and Peter Spotswood, A Sunday-school, having 40 mem­
bers, .has Henry Fox for superintendent. The present
pastor of the church is M. L. Redex.

MOUNT PISGAH METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

As long ago as sixty years a class of Methodists wor­
shiped in this part of the township, having among its
members John and Elizabeth Cox, Edmund and Barbara
Lindsey, Darius Butler and wife, William and Jeditha
Doane, John Lindsey and wife, Daniel Light and wife,
John Nesbit and wife, and others. About 1820 a log
meeting-house was built on the site of the present brick
school-house, which was used until 18:19, when a brick
church was erected by John Nesbit, Robert Nichols, Ed­
mund Lindsey, James Fagin, and Judson Calhoun, as
trustees. This served until 18li4, when the present frame
edifice was built. It is a fine frame, stunding on seven
acres of ground, a portion of which serves as a place of
burial. It cost $3:WO, and was dedicated by the Rev.
Langley, of Kentucky. The present trustees are J. W.
Lindsey, Joseph Surrey, John Cox, James Dillon, A. E.
\Vyatt, Daniel Light, John Terwilliger, Charles Light, and
A. J. Temple. The members at this point belong at pres­
ent to the Bantam Circuit, but formerly had the same min­
isterial supply as New Richmond and Amelia.

LINDALE BAPTIST CHURCH.

This body was organized July 17,1819, as the" Second
Ten-Mile Baptist Church," with a constituent membership
as follows: Samuel Tibbitts, Sr., Samuel Tibbitts, Jr.,
Charles Tibbitts, Andrew Coombs,' Sr., Mark P. Stinch­
field, Joseph Small, ·Walter Butler, Rebecca Tibbitts, Re­
liance Tibbitts, Abigail Tibbitts, Susanna Tibbitts, Ruth
·Whitney, Abigail Coombs, Betsey l\I. Coombs, Rachel
Stinchfield, Jane Dickinson, and probably a few others.

On the 14th of August, 1819, Samuel Tibbitts was
chosen the first deacon, and in 1825, Andrew Coombs, Sr.,
was the second elected to that office. The present deacons
are Newton Corbley and F. 'V. Leeds, and others who have
sen-ed in that office have been Andrew Coombs, Jr., and
Joshua Sims. Andrew Coombs was the church clerk till
1847; Andrew Coombs, Jr., from that date till 1864;
'Villiam C. Coombs till 1878; Frank H. Corbley till 1879,
and the present clerk is H. C. Corbley. 'N. C. Coombs is
the church treasurer, and Rev. A. K. Sargent the pastor.
The first pastor was the Rev. Ichabod Temple, and he
continued many years. Others who have ministered to the
church have been the Revs. ,V. Hancock, George Sapp, J.
K. Morris, P ...w. Fuller, ....N H. Dolby, James Sargent,
\V. H. Eller, William Cox, James Lyon, C. R. Richmond,
"Williapl D. ·Spaldon, J. D. Hatfield, John De Garmo, E.
R. Hera, .J. W. Dinkleman., and Simeon Siegfried.

The church has had an aggregate membership of 274,
and at present 51 belong. The society has had two build­
ings for public worship, the first a frame, which was erected
in umo, and the present brick edifice, which was erected
in 1853 at a cost of about $1500. It is eligibly located,
and in connect,ion is a neatly-kept cemetery. The trustees
are Newton Corbley, John Donham, and W. C. Coombs.

A Sunday-school was organized about 1830, which had
Andrew Coombs, Jr., for superintendent. This office has
also been filled by L. L. Johnston, William 0. Coombs,
.J. T. Wheeler, and A. J. Malick, and the present, H. C.
Corbley. A membership of 40 scholars is reported.



FOR half a century a resident of New Richmond, and
thirty years one of the leading business men of that city,
George W. Castlen has made a name honored in the com­
munity and of acknowledged repute in mercantile circles.
His father, Andrew Castlen, was born in Richmond Co.,
Va., and married Miss Nancy Leet, of Powhattan County,
in the same State, Andrew was never five miles away from
Richmond until his nineteenth year, but shortly after his
marriage he emigrated to Kentucky, where, in Oldham
County, on Sept. 8, 1818, George W. Castlen was born.
The subject of this sketch received a limited education in
Gallatin Co., Ky., and never attended school after his
thirteenth year; but, being a hard-working and industrious
boy and young man, he improved his leisure hours when
his day's work was over by reading and studying of nights.
His mother, Nancy (Leet) Castlen, died when he was only
nine years old, in 1827, and in 1831 his father removed to
New Richmond, Ohio. Here George vV'. went to work
milling for John Atkinson & Co., with whom he was em­
ployed three years; then he was engaged in coopering;
worked two years for Atkinson & Co., losing but two days,
and was foreman for Charles Butler and W'illiam Carnes.
He then followed coopering and draying up to July, 1849,
when he went to clerking for Sturges & Gowdy at one
dollar per day; then he clerked for 'William Sturges for
five years, and in 1855 entered into partnership with Mr.
Sturges, under the firm-name of Sturges & Castlen, which
continued until :March 1, 1861. Then for two years he
carried on a tin shop and furniture business, and having
sold that out embarked in the dry goods trade, and finally
in the grocery trade, in which he is now doing a most ex­
tensive business in partnership with his sons, rrhomas and
'Andrew.

He was married March 8, 1838, to Jane Danson, daugh­
ter of William Danson, one of the first settlers in New
Richmond, by which union he had the following children,
-Stephen (deceased), Sarah Elizabeth, married to H.
R. Matthias, William Henry (deceased), Thomas, and
Andrew. His wife died Sept. 3, 1848, and he was the
second time married, on Dec. 24,1849, to Caroline Oakley,

of the State of New Jersey, a noble woman of rare business
judgment and tact, and to her wise counsels, good manage­
ment, and splendid business and domestic qualities is the
success of Mr. Castlen most largely attributable, for in all
the relations of life she was a true helpmate to him and a
powerful auxiliary in his business. On the paternal side
Mr. Castlen is of German extraction,-whence come the
thrift and industry that have distinguished his successful
career in business,-and on the maternal line of English
descent, from which is derived that cool, penetrating judg­
ment that so characterizes his course of life. For thirty- .
two years he has been a zealous and prominent member of
the Baptist Church. He is a pronounced Republican in
politics, but has ever refused to dabble in political cam­
paigns or be a candidate for office, preferring to give his
exclusive time and attention to the mercantile business in
which he has won distinction. He has served us a director
of the First National Bank of New Richmond, has been
president of' the Cincinnati, New Richmond and Chilo
Packet Company, and is now a stockholder in the Big
Sandy Packet Company. He has ever been largely identi­
fied with t,he river interests and boating on the Ohio, and
owned stock in the steamers" Mary Arnent" and 'Wild­
wood. o

, He was a director in the New Richmond Building
and Loan Association for ten years, and is now in the
second one just organized, and is vice-president thereof.
His son Thomas served four years in the Rebellion, in the
5th Ohio Cavalry. The large grocery establishment of G.
W. Castlen & Sons, in New Richmond, is on the corner of
Front and Quarry Streets, and is the largest in the county
in the magnitude and volume of merchandise sold. In the
past third of a century there have been many mutations in
business, old houses have succumbed to the vicissitudes of
trade and panics, new firms have arisen and then fallen, but
amid all the changes, in all the monetary storms, and above
all the financial wrecks, George W. Castlen has come out
unscathed and uninjured, and constantly increased his
business until he stands the leading merchant of his city,
with a proud reputation at home and abroad as a man of
unsullied honor and of character unassailable.
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THOMAS DONALDSON.

Thomas Donaldson may be accounted as one of the pio­
neers and valuable men of Clermont County, as his life of
three-quarters of a century has been a useful one, and
honorably identified with all reforms for the progress of
Immunity, both materially and morally.

On the paternal side he is descended from illustrious
Scotch ancestry, and on the maternal is of German extrac­
tion. His ~reat-~randfather was Robert Donaldson, of
Fife, Scotland, and his ~randfuther was William Donald­
son, who married Mary Bradley, born in 1725; she died
at Camberwell, in London, En~land, Oct. 27, 1792. Wil­
liam and his wife lived temporarily in America previous to
the R~volution. Their son, Francis, was born Sept. 23,
1762, at New Brunswick, N. J. He was educated at St.
Andrew's, Scotland, and at Cambridge University, England,
after which he became a barrister in London. Jun. 14,
1794, he married Anna l\Iar~aretta Heineken, daughter of
Christian and Ann (Dix) Heineken, and for some years
was a prominent lawyer in London; but the restrairits and
oppressive inequalities imposed by the aristocracy and mo­
narchical rule of the kingdom conflicted with his republican
ideas and convictions with regard to equality, justice, and
freedom for all, and, as his principles were not to be sacri­
ficed to any worldly positions or advancements, he decided
that he must make a change in his business, and chose
farming. He had been brought up without any knowledge
of such life; therefore moved to the county of Durlulm,
where for three or four ycars he faithfully studied his new
calling. That is the county which originated and raised
the Durham cattle of world-wide celebrity. 1\11'. Donald-

son and his sons attended exhibitions and sales of some of
the finest blooded Durham animals that have ever. been
produced.

:Mr. Donaldson moved to a large farm in Wales, where
he and his family lived for eleven years. But even at so
retired a llOmc, and in so independent a life as farming, the
effects of the social tyrannies were felt, .and the restraints
which the strict adherence to fitmily and titles placed upon
the position and advancement of the young people of that
country caused Mr. Donaldson to feel that there was still
another step to be taken towards freedom and progress for
his family of sons and daughters.

They tumed their thoughts to America. In 1816 the
two older sons, who had been educated in London (having
among their schoolmates the Baring brothers, afterwards
the celebrated bU[,lkers), and had also been with their father
in the various branches of a farmer's life, concluded to come
to this country and establish a home for themselves and
the family. They located in Clermont County, just below
New Richmond, in Ohio township, on the Dandl'idge sur­
vey, being the well~known "Haynes grant" of especial
prominence at an early day.

In 1821 the remainder of the family arrived at the new
home, erected a homestead, and named the place" Fraudon,"
by which name the old Donaldson farm is known to this
day. The children of Francis and Annu l\iargaretta
(Helneken) Donaldson were Francis, born Oct. 10, 1794;
Christian, born Dec. 13, 1795; Annu, born June 8, 1797
(who died young) ; ·WilIiam, born September, 1799 ; Mary,
born l\Iay 3, 1801 (she was never married, and died while
crossing the ocean on her way to England for her health) ;
Jessie, born Nov. 27,1802 (who als~ died young); Thomas,
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born Nov. 27, 1805 j and Jane, born Feb. 15, 1808 (she
married Cyrus McNeely, of Ohio).

Thomas, the subject of this sketch, was the youngest son,
and fifteen years old when they came fmm Wales. He
married in Cincinnati, April 24, 1833, Emily Hough,
daughter of Dr. Hough, a celebrated physician of that city.
Following this union were three children, who died in in­
fancy, and the mother died April 10, 1836.

Mr. Donaldson was the second time married, Aug. 31,
1837, to Susanna l~verts Parker, daughter of Daniel and
Priscilla Parker, who were from New England. From this
union were the following children: Emily, Anna (deceased),
Christian (a soldier in the Union army during the Rebel­
lion j he served in Company D, Seventh Ohio Cavalry, and
was killed while marching, under Gen. Stoneman, on a
fomging expedition), Howard (deceased), :Mary Jane,
Elvira, Jessie (deceased), and Parker. Jessie marl'ied
Thomas Soul h, and 1\1ary Jane married Cyrus Paul, with
whom she is now li\'ing in Iowa. At the time of his first
marriage 1\11'. Donaldson was living in New Richmond, and
was engaged in the mercantile business with his brothers
Christian and William. In those earlier times it was the
custom to keep in the stores a decanter and glasses on the
counter, with liquor furnished fiJI' customers and visitors.
1\11'. Donaldson had pronounced views against intemperance,
and could not believe in drinking to even a moderate de­
gree, and concluded to make his convictions good by dis­
carding everything of the kind,-neither keeping it for
sale, or to give to friends and neighbors. For several years
after his second marriage he and his wife were members of
the Baptist Church in New Richmond j but when the ques­
tions of temperance and anti-slavery began to be agitated,
the church, as a whole, was unwilling to have such subjects
discussed, especially upon the affirmative side j but 1\11'. and
1\1rs. Donaldson 1nllst take a stand, must make their prin­
ciples vital, else they failed to live out their Christianity,
failed to fulfill Christ's message as they read it" therefore
they severed their connection with the church.

~oon after his second marriage 1\11'. Donaldson moved to
llis present residence, about two miles above New Rich­
mond, on the Ohio River, and in Beal's survey, No. 847.
His fine farm and pleasant home occupy the river-hills,
commanding sOllie of the finest views in the Ohio Valley,
and is called" Penmaen," a 'Velsh name signifying" The
brow of the hill."

Mr. Donaldson was always a staunch anti-slavery man
and an early abolitionist, taking an active part in conven­
tions and the various other means of forwarding the cause.
He was the personal friend of William Lloyd Garrison,
Joshua It. Giddings, James G. Birney, Gamaliel Barley,
})arker Pillsbury, and many others of the heroes of the
"Old Liberty party," many of whom enjoyed the hospi­
tality of his "home at different times as they journeyed back

.and forth through the country laboring for the emancipa­
tion of' the slaves.

James G. Birney found him a ready and fhithful friend
dUl'ing his struggle in keeping Tlte Pkilulttlwopist alive in
New Richmond.

In 1843 he was at Dayton with United States Senator
Thomas Morris, who was to deliver a speech, but the meet-

iug was attacked by an infuriated mob of pro-sIave;y men,
when Mr. Donaldson assisted that distinguished apostle of
freedom to escape from their violence.

The Donaldson family had left the Old for the New
World to escape tyranny and wrong in all forms: and in
this country they have espoused the side of humanity on
all questions, without fear and regardless of consequences.

Mr. Donaldson, with the characteristic spirit of his hon- .
ored lineage, was always foremost in introducing and for­
warding enterprises for the good of the pubiic. He was
the main mover in agitating the subject, and having built
the first wharf at New Richmond, has done much by his
means, voice, and example to improve the public roads.
In the agricultural fairs at Franklin, Olive Branch, and
Bantam he ever took a conspicuous place as exhibitor, and
tried in every way to encourage and enthuse those about
him to improve their farm products and stock and bring
proof.,; of the same to the fairs, that the public mi~ht see
the results of their enterprise and profit thereby. He was
always greatly interested in fftle stock, in the raising of
which he has not been surpassed in this part of the coun­
try j he was one of the first in the southern part of the
State to introduce blooded stock. Long before most farmers
had fruits to any amount or variety, he was quite exten­
sively engaged in the culture of various kinds, which in
horticultural circles won an enviable record.

In politics he is a thorough aud stalwart Republican, as
his whole life would indicate. In all moral reforllls and
educational movements he bas stood in the advance, and
has at all times labored to educate public sentiment up to
a high standard. He always refused to sell his corn or
any of his farm products to the distilleries, would never
allow tobacco to be raised on his land or have anything to
do with the sale of it.

One reason for quitting merchandising was his advance
on these great moral questions beyond the prevailing opin­
ions, which interfered with and curtailed his business, and
when he could no longer succeed in purchasing an entire
stock of free-labor goods, he changed to agricultural pur­
suits, while his brothers, who were his partners, established
a hardware-store in Cincinnati.

Although not a member of any' religious denomination,
he inclines to the Unitarian faith, but his entire career and
dealings with mankind make of themselves chapters of
faith and Christianity that make him worthy to be counted
among the long line of the heroes of the past who have
labored and died for humanity, and for the building up of
the world to a higher type of civilization.

His wife has truly been a helpmeet in all respects, sup­
porting him and lending a hand in every effort for good,
either at home or abroad. They have lived to see the
truth triumph many times, but some causes are still in
shadow.

ANNA l\lARGARETTA (HEINEKEN) DONALD­
SON.

One of the remarkable women who lived in Clermont
County was Anna l\Iargaretta (Heineken) Donaldson, a
lady of singularly gentle disposition, but of determined
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:MARTIN RYAN.

Martin Ryan was born Dec. 18, 1791, in New

Jersey, and moved in his childhood with his parents

to Hamilton Co., Ohio. He was united in marriage,

on Nov. 18, 1813, to Hester Price. In February,

1821, under the ministry of tlle noted Rev. Arthur

'V. Elliott, he and his wife joined the :Methodist

Episcopal Church at Sharonville. They soon became

active members, and their house was always a home

for the itinerant preachers. For over forty years

he was a steward "in the church. March 15, 1832,

Mr. Ryan, with his wife, moved to New Richmond,

where for a long time he was engaged in the lUlllber

business, in which by his good judgment and manage-

. ment he .acquired a nice fortune for those days.

His wife died Feb. 6, 1872, having for fifty-nine

years been a devoted companion. He was the second

I time married, on Oct. 13, 1872, by Rev. M. S. Baker,

I • to 1\iiss 1\Iary E. Baker, who with love and devo-

tion most tenderly cared for him to the hom' of his

death.

:Martin Ryan was quite feeble for a number of

years before his death, but i~l all his afllictions he

manifested a Christian spirit. He died July 20,

1878, with bright hopes of heaven, after a long and

honorable life of over fourscore years. In October,

1812, he volunteered in Capt. Asa Hinkle's company

of Ohio militia, and was out six months in the war.

He had no children by either of his wives, but

with that kindness and benevolence that ever actua­

ted him he reared eight children in his family. A.n

honest man, he was trne to his God, his country,

and himself, and left an honored name.



WILLIAM HAWKINS.

The subject of this sketch is a solid farmer of

Ohio township, residing two miles back from the
Ohio River, and largely engaged ill fruit raising.
He was born March 25, 1810, in Anderson town­
ship, Hamilton Co., Ohio, and was the son of Rich­
ard and Sarah Hawkins. His grandfather, 'Villiam
Hawkins, with his family, emigrated from Ball Fire
Ferry,. N. J., to Hamilton County in 1793, when
his father was a lad of fourteen years, and had seven
sons and six girls, to wit: Nancy, Cassandra, Elisha,

William, Mary, Martha, Ruhana, Richard, David,
Johnson, Reazin, Thomas, and one infant, who died
quite young. William moved to Ohio township in
1833, and the only education he ever received at the
common schools was during one term of three months.
He was married March 4,1833, to Mary Ann Lind­
sey, daughter of Edmund and Barbara Lindsey, by
whom he has had the following children: Amanda,
married to George I{incaid; Elisha; Nancy, married
to Perry Robb the first. time, and the second to

George 'V. Lewis; Richard; Edmund; 'l'homas;
Mary, marl'ied to John Lillich; Ida, married to
Joseph Fishel'; and Emma, married to Charles
Lewis; all living, and· foUl' others deceased.

He has resided thirty-four years whel'e he now
lives, on his beautiful farm, lying on the Kew Rich­
mond and Nicholsville turnpike. Since 1832 he

has been a zealous member of the Methodist Epis­
copal Church, to the snpport of' which lIe is ever a
warm and large contributor. For a long time he
has belonged to the Independent Order of Odd-Fel­
lows, in Mistletoe Lodge, No. 97, of New Richmond,
and of the encampment in that city, and has passed
the chairs in both several times, ~nd at the present
time is Chief Patriarch of the latter. For four years

he has been a member of Buckeye Lodge, No. 150, of
Free and Accepted Masons, in New Richmond, and
for six years has served as one of the trustees of
Ohio township, and also the same length of time as
justice of the peace. In 1863 he was elected by a
large majority as a county commissioner, and held
this very important office three years, and had for
his colleagues during that time Peter M. Snell, F.
J, Roudebush, Silas R. B;utchinson, and J, P. Molen.
After his term of office expired he took the contract
and built the large addition to the county infirmary
of the insane department, but which, ~vith all the
other buildings, were destroyed by fire in the sum­

mer of 1877.
. 'Squire Hawkins, by his industry, has acquired a

nice competence in this world's goods, and his pub­
lic and private character has gained him the e::5tee111
of the community, by whom he is held in the highest

respect.
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will, which never yielded where principle and the sense
of right were involved. She possessed an active mental
organization, grace and dignity in manner and bearing,
combined with marked personal beauty.

Christian Heineken was born in Bremen, G:ermany, Oct.
10, 1720, and on May 22, 1760, married Ann Dix, a lady
born of aristocratic ancestry, residing in Cirencester, West
En'gland. From this union was born the subject of this
sketch, Sept. 12, 1767. She was christen~d in the parish
of St. JOJlO, Hackney, London. Educated in tIle best
English schools of her day with young ladies of rank, she
became ~ prominent personage in society in the great
British metropolis, and on Jan. 14, 1794, was married to
Francis Donaldson, then a lawyer of note and ability in
the London courts.

'With her husband and seven children she left the com­
forts and lus-uries of a prosperous home in Wales, and
crossed the ocean to find another in America, where, freed
from" the monarchical institutions of Great Britain and the
oppressive ceremonies attendant in their train, they might
enjoy the civil and religious liberty and opportunity for
independent thought and action that this, a republican
government, afforded t,hem.

After the death of her beloved husband, Francis Don­
aldson, Jan. 5, 1824, she resided in Hamilton County, and
at her home; near Cincinnati, on the Avondale road, she
departed. this life, April 30, 18-14.

Her Son Christian and family lived with her, and adjoin­
ing was her son William.

She took an active part in the anti-slavery agitation,
be~un in the United States more than half a century ago,
and by her means, voice, and great social influence largely
contributed to swell the increasing volume of unrelenting
opposition to negro slavery in America. ,Many a pOLl',
despised slave she assisted to his or her freedom, and in
her the downtrodden black man found a fHend. The
Donaldsons-herself, her sons and families-were among
the leaders in the abolition movement in Cincinnati and
Clermont County. Their lives and property were often
saved by their heroic conduct or high position in society
from the minions of the accursed slave dynasty, then ,all­
powerful in church and state.

Her action at the time the mob destroyed Tlte Philan­
thropist, published by the lamented James G. Birney, on
July 30, 1836, is worthy of recognition in Ohio's annals.
Birney could not even attempt his paper in Kentucky, his
native State, as he had wished, but was promised support
and prot.ection by the Donaldsons and other friends if he
came to New Richmond, which he did. They kept their
word faithfully, even so'mo of the pro-slavery men being
manly enough to insist that the mob from another State
should not molest him while in New Richmond.

The paper was removed to Cincinnati, under the advice
and coupsels of the Donaldsons, to give it a wider field for
circulation and influence, and there p~blished some three
months, when, July 14th, the press-room was broken open,
the press and materials defaced and destroyed. July 23d
a meeting of citizens was convened at the lower market­
house to decide whether they would permit the publication
and circulation of abolition papers i~ the city.. At this

5-1

meeting a committee was appointed, who opened a corre­
spondence with the conductors of The Philanthrop1st,­
the executive committee of the Ohio Anti-Slavery Society,
of which William Donaldson was a member,-requesting
them to discontinue its publication. This 'effort being un­
successful, the committee of' citizens, published the corre­
spondence, to which they appended resolutions, stating that
they had used all means for persuasion and conciliation in
their power, and deprecated violence, though their tone was,
rather .indicative that it ought to follow and crush out that
sheet.

July 30th, very soon after dark, a concourse of citizens
assembled at the corner of Main and Seventh Streets, and
broke open the printing-office of The Pltilanthropist, scat­
tered the type into the streets, tore down the presses, and
completely dismantled the office.

All the residences of leading abolitionists, such as A.
Pugh, Dolby, Birney, and the Donaldsons, were visited, and
these pioneer leaders of freedom and their families hooted
at and threatened.

At Donaldson's-the ladies were at home alone-the mob
made an effort to gain admission to. the house; they were
met at the door by Mrs. Donaldson and her two daughters,
who assured them that the gentlemen were not within, but .
if they were not willing to believe their word they could
search the house j -but the firm, truthful manner and quiet
dignity displayed rebuked their rough rq.deness, and they
left the house unmolested.

Mrs. Donaldson was a Unitarian in her religious belief.
She and her family were among the prime movers in organ­
izing the first congregation of that faith in Cincinnati, gave
liberally towards building a church, and were earnest and
active as members. Mrs. Donaldson was constant in read­
ing and studying the Divine 'Word up to her decease, and
but few women of her day were so well ve~ed in the Scrip­
tures as she. She possessed a clear, vigorous mind, was un
intelligent and interested observer of the political events of
Great Bl'itain and the United States of the present and
past century.

Her society was most entertaining and instructive, her
memory an inexh~ustible storehouse of facts, and her
habit of reading, kept up to the last, made her as much
at home in discussing the current topics of the day as
she was in relating past events in British and American
history.

Of clear perception, with sound judgment, she was ever
found on the side of right and j~stice j her principles, em­
bodied in convictions, were deat;er to her than life j she was
the earnest advocate, in word and deed, of enterprises that'
tended to advance the moral and social welfare of man­
kind.

The death of this noble woman, so richly endowed with
physical beauty, with an active mind thoroughly cultured,
and a spirit fully attuned to the Father's will, severed one of
the most interesting links that connected two nations and
two centuries, leaving hallowed memories of a long, useful,
and blameless life to be revered, and most worthy oi' imita­
tion.
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WATTS Mc1\IURCHY.

George l\1cl\Iurchy was born in Campbelton, Argyle­
shire, Scotland, in 1803. He was well educated at the
famous University of Edinburgh, and came when a young
man to America, first settling at Stirling Creek, in Brown
Co., Ohio. Here he learned the trade of wagon-making,
and then went to Mississippi, where he opened his busi­
ness. There he married Miss Esther Farley, whose family
were near relations to the late Gen. Robert E. Lee, of Vir­
ginia. Shortly after his wife's death, in 1832, George
1\1c1\1 urchy came North, and located at Nicholsville, of

this county, where he had two large manufacturing estab­
lishments turning out wagons, plows, etc., and he annually
shipped several boat-loads South. He at last sold this
business, invested in Cincinnati property, and went to sur­
veying and civil engineering, in which art he was proficient.
He laid out 1\1cl\Iurchy's addition to New Richmond, and
with Grubb & Donaldson erected an extensive flouring-mill
on the site of the present New Richmond distillery. He
died June 20, 1862, and· was one of nine brothers who
emigrated from Scotland to this country, of whom William
died of cholera in 1832, and all but two are now deceased,
Donald, a large builder at Jeffersonville, Ind., and P-eter,
who owns very extensive flour-mills at Shawneetown, Ill.
He was an active anti-slavery man, a zealous member of
the Presbyterian Church, and of exemplary character. A
good citizen and first-class business man. He was also in­
terested in all reforms, and voted the Free-Soil ticket when
it only had thirty votes in Ohio township.

Watts l\lcMurchy, son of George and Estller (Farley)
McMurchy, was born in Mississippi, 1\1arch 18, 1832, and
his mother died at his birth. He was kindly cared for by
her relatives and friends until hi~ sixth year, when he came

North to his father at NicholsviIle, who in the mean time
had married Rebecca Shannon, by whom he had the fol­
lowing children: Margaret, married to Robert McKinlay;
Marion; William; and Maria, married to James Byrns.
Watts attended the district schools, in which his last
teacher was N. M. Preble, after which he attended one
session at Parker's Academy and one at Cary's Academy
at College Hill. When about sixteen years old he clerked
on the steamer" Lancaster," in the New Richmond and
Cincinnati trade. He afterwards went to California, where
he remained fifteen mont.hs, mostly in the mines, and re­
turned at the solicitation of his father. He then went to
Cincinnati, and learned ship-building with Alexander Tem­
ple, in which business he continued two or three years, and
until he met with an accident in launching a boat that dis­
abled him from further work. He then speculated in
timber, dealing, buying, running, and selling same on the
Big Sandy and Kanawha Rivers. He now opened out the
lumber business in New Richmond. In 1854, on August
22d, he was married by Rev. O. E. Newton to Almira E.
Dimmitt, daughter of John and Harriet (Knowles) Dim­
mitt, by which union were born the following children:
George Watts l\1cl\1urchy (an attorney of' N~w Richmond,
and of the legal firm of Lennin & Mcl\lurchy), Hattie
Knowles Mcl\lurchy, E::;ther Farley l\IcMurchy, James
Byrns l\1cMurchy, and Katie Dimmitt, the latter deceased
in her infancy. In 1855, in connection with N. 1\1. Preble,
he built the large saw-mills, and continued in that business
until the breaking out of the Behellion. In that war he
raised a company, the third reported in Ohio, Co. C, of
Twelfth Ohio Infantry, of which he was captain. At the
expiration of the three months' service he again recruited
it for three years in same regiment, and went with it to
Virginia. After the battle of Carnifex Ferry he com­
manded the regiment from that point to Big Sewell Moun­
tain, and thence to Hawk's Nest. In 1862 he resigned
his commission in the service on account of his father's
death, which compelled him to come home to settle up his
estate. He now operated and controlled the New Rich­
mond wharf and tannery, and was in other general business,
speculating in grain, etc. He was one of the organizers of
the First National Bank of New Richmond, in which he
was a director for many years, as well as vice-president and
one of its managers. He has served as mayor of his city,
and repeatedly been a member of its council and school
board. He built the Arcade in 1878, and has ever been
largely interested in the growth of his city. He was in
1853 made a Mason in Buckeye Lodge, No. 78, and has
served as its Worshipful Master. He received the Royal
Arch and other capitular degrees in the Batavia Chapter.
He belongs to the New Richmond Lodge, A. O. U. W.,
No. 43. He with his family are members of the Chris­
tian Church. For thirty years he has been closely con­
ll;ected with the business interests of his city, and in a
great ~egree has contributed to its prosperity by his gen··
erous public spirit.

Owing to a stroke of paralysis some two years ago he
has retired from active business, but still continues in gen­
eral trading and speclllation. Originally an old-line Whig,
he is now a strQng Republican, and one of the most active
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workers of his party. In the campaign of 1872 he was a
Liberal Republican, and supported Horace Greeley for
President, and was a delegate to the convention nominating
him, and an alternate delegate to the one that nominated
Hayes in 1876. Although an active politician, he never
has been a candidate for office, but about 1863 was ap­
pointed by the government general inspector of liquors
and tobacco for Ohio sixth district, which position he
held some five years, and resigned when the business of
tIle office had been so cut down as not to be remunerative.

D. E. FEE.

At the beginninl! of the prcsent century there emigrated
to this county fl'OUl Virginia, before Ohio was admitted into
the Union a:- a State, fuul'brothers, 'Villiam, 'l'homas, Elisha,
and. Elijah Fee, who, with their numerous descendants,
were destined to playa most conspicuous part in the event­
ful history of Clermont. 'Villiam Fee, on Sept. 15. 1805,
purchased of ;)bj. Nicholas Cartel', the patentee, his survey
of foul' hUlldred acres, and on April lV, 1817, ill eOllnee­
tion with Rev. Peter Hastings, laid out the town of J?elicity,
-named and christened in IlOnor of the Fees. He was a
representative from Clermont in the Seventh General Assem­
bly of Ohio, that assembled at Chillicothe, Dec. 5, 1808; a
senator in the Ninth Legislalure, that met at Zanesville in
December of 1810 j and a representative again in the
Fourteenth General ~'\.ssembly, that sat at Chillicothe in the
winter of 1815-16 j but the latter was contested by one
Christian Miles, an elector, on the ground of Mr. Fee's
holding a lucrative office, that of inspector, and he was
decided ineligible. But Mr. Fee was again promptly re­
elected by his constituents, and resumed his seat Jan. 3,
1816. He held various local positions of trust and impor­
tance in the early days of the county, and left three sons,­
Thomas, Arthur, and Jesse Fee. Of these Arthur was
the father of the Rev. ·William I. Fee, presiding elder of the
Ripley district of the Methodist Episcopal Church, a
preacher of great influence and eloquence.. Jesse Fee was
married on Dec. 31, 1822, by Rev. John Powell, to Miss
Maria Knowles, a sister of Alonzo Knowles (the latter a
well-known lawyer of Clermont, and had seven children), of
whom one son died in infancy, two daughters-Mahala and
Emily Dorcas-died unmarried, and four sons-O. P. S.,
D. E., Martin T., and Luther K. Fee-are living.

Mrs. Maria Fee, an excellent woman, died many years
ago, but her husband, Jesse,-" Uncle Jesse," as he was
universally called,-died in March, 1880, over fourscore
years of age. His second SOil, Darlington Edward Fee,
was born at Felicity, Oct. 11, 1832, and was there educated
by such able teachers as Edward F. 'N. Ellis, killed at Pitts­
burg Landing while colonel of an Illinois l'cgiment, and
Rev. Bellville, a classical instructor of great note. At
twelve years of age he began clerking for the firm of
Knowles & Fee (his uncle and brother), and afterwards for
~immitt (Moses S.) & Fcc. In 1853 he went into part­
nership with his brother, in the firm of O. P. S. & D. E.
Fee, which afterwards merged into Fallin (J. S.), Fce &
Co., and at last into O. P. S. Fee & Co. (of O. 1'. S., D. Eo,

M. T., and L. K. Fee), which firm continued at Felicity
in general merchandising until 1869, when D. .Eo Fee re­
moved to New Richmond and was elected president of the
First National Bank of that village. This position he held
about ten months, when he resigned and was unanimously
chosen cashier of the same institution, which place he has
held ever since, having been annually re-elected by a unan­
imous vote. While residing at Felicity he served several
years as clerk and afterwards treasurer of Franklin town­
ship. . In 1861 he was elected on the Democratic ticket as

treasurer of Clermont County, leading the ticket of his
party and receiving in his own township all but sixty-three
Yotes in a poll of some eight hundred. In 1865 he was
re-elected county treasurer, again leading his ticket some
three hundred Yotes. He has since served two years as
treasurer of Ohio township and six as treasurer of New
Richmond, being the only Dem'ocratic treasurer that village
has ever had.

In 1853 he became a member of Sewanie Lodge, No.
95, 1. O. O. F., and afterwards of the Encampment in the
same village, Felicity. Of the latter he was a charter
member, and in both he has repeatedly passed all the chairs.
In this order he served with great popularity as Chief
Patriarch of Ohio for one year, and he has often been a
representative in the Grand Lodge and Encampment of the
State and in the Grand Lodge of the United States. He is
a devoted member of the fraternity, and to it he has largely
contributed in time, money, and talents. He also belongs
to New Richmond Lodge, No. 43, of the Ancient Order of

",
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United Workmen. He very early joined the Methodist
Episcopal Church, of which, in this county, for fourscore
years the Fees have been active members, and from whom
have gone forth lllany eminent ministers.

In June, 1873, he married Miss Kute D. Dimmitt, of
Mason Co., Ky., a daughter of Dr. Addison Dimmitt, by
wholll he has two sons and a duughter. 1\:11'. Fee started
in life with a capital composed only of energy, honesty, and
a clear business mind, and has achieved a marked success,
and has a business character and reputation second to none
in the county. In the banking and business circles of
Southern Ohio he is universally known and esteemed for
his ability and integrity. In the past year he has refused
the offers of several banking institutions of Cincinnati to
accept in them cashierships of great responsibi.lity and of
greater financial profit to him than the one he now holds,
but he refuses to lea\'e the village of his adoption and the
happy surroundings of his pleasant home.

DAVID 'VI-UTE.

For over three-quarters of a century the name of David
·White has been honored and respected in Southern Cler­
mont, two persons of note bearing it. David White, Sr.,

DAVID WHITE.

was born in Virginia in the year 1774, and about 1796
emigrated to Ohio and settled in Adams County, on Brush
Fork, where he married Nancy Cummings. To them were

.born, in Adams County, Mary, on Jan. 11, 1799, who
married Walcott Lewis, and Elizabeth, on June 18, 1800,
who married Elisha Lewis. In 1802, David "White, Sr.,
with his wife and two children, moved to Clermont and
settled upon the fill110US Waters survey, in Ohio township,
near where Lindale now is, and which_survey in later years
was the subject of so much litigation from its defective

title. To them WJre born, in Clermont, Rebecca, on April
15, 1803, who mUlTied Gdol·ge CJ.steel; 1\11rgaret, on June
2-1, 1806, who died when a little girl; DJ.vid White, the
subject of this sketch, on March 17, 1808; Alexander, on
Feb. 7, 1811, who lives in Indi,ma j Nancy, on June 19,
1813 j and Margaret on March 23, 1818. His fil'St wire
having died, DJ.vid 'Vhite, Sr., was married ou October
22, 1818, by Timothy Rardin, j u'Stice of the peace, to Peggy
Bradley, by whom he had the following children: William,
born June 2, 1821, living near Lindale j Caroline, born
April 13, 182-1, and married to Samuel B. Sims j Fanny,
born March 26, 1826, who died unmarried j Harriet Jane,
born March 21, 18BO, married first to Thomas Hamilton,
and after his death to a Mr. J enk ins.

David White, Sr., in pioneer days, from 1796 to 1810,
was the most famous hunter and "remarkable shot with his
rifle in Adams and Clermont Counties. He sel·ved as jus­
ti~e of the peace of Ohio township from 1815 to 18:38, and
finally declined any further re-elections. His magistl·a.te's
commissions, signed by Governors Thomas 'Worthington,
Ethan Allen Brown, Allen Trimble, Jeremiah MIJrrow,
Duncan McArthur, and Robert J.Jucas, are still preserved
as heirlooms by his son David. In 1829 he was elected
county commissioner and served three years, having for his
colleagues Samuel Perin, Zebina Williams, Samuel Hill,
and J aIm Randall. He was in the war of 1812, and was
an ardent Jeffersonian Democrat. His many long years in
public life, his connection with the litigation attending t.he
'Vaters survey of Ohio and 1\:1onroe townships, his unequaled
use of the rifle, and his many good qualities as citizen
made him well and favorably known, and for two decades
and a half he was a power of influence in the county. He
died in the fall of 1851, at the age of seventy-seven years,
respected and esteemed by the whole community.

David White, the fifth child of David White, Sr., had
but limited educationalJ'acilities, but those he improved at
a time when schools were few and books almost unknown.
His zeal for study, however, overcame all difficulties, and
he acquired a mastery of the English branches. He was
married to Fanny Dillon, a granddanghter of that early
large land-proprietor, Zachariah Chapman, on June 8, 1826,
by Ichabod Temple, justice of the peace, and by this mar­
riage the following children were born: Edward, Dec.
31, 1829 j Betsey, Nov. 12, 1831, and married to Little­
ton Hancock j Rebecca, April 28, 1833, married to Isaac
Dunham j Nancy, Aug. 28, 1835, and who died in her
eighth year j Alexander, Dec. 5, 1837, married to Julia
Ann Boatman ; Andrew, April 7, 1840, unmarried and
living with his father j Mary, :May 18, 1842, married to
David H. :McKibben, deceased j William, May 7, 1844 j

Phoobe, in 18-16, and married to Rufus Vail. In Decem­
ber, 1829, he moved on to the farm he now owns, which
his father had held and owned twenty-two years before, and
where for fifty-one years he has resided and to which he
has added largely by subsequent purchases. His beautiful
farm of some three hundred acres is on the New Richmond
and Ohio turnpike, just between Mount Pisgah and Lin­
dale, lying principally in the Waters survey. His. resi­
dence is a Aubstantial two-story brick dwelling, lying back
from the pike and in the centre of his lands. His family



PIERCE TOWNSHIP. 429

attends the Baptist church, to whose support, though not
a member, he is a regular contt:ibutor. He is a decided
Democrat, and cast his first Presidential vote for Gen.
Jackson in 1832. He lias always refused to be a candi.
date for any office, though taking the liveliest interest in

III -I

the politics of the country. For fourscore years his family
-his father and himself-has occupied the land he now
owns, and in all that time has always stood high in public
esteem as connected with good citizenship and furnishing
public-spirited men and first-class practical farmers.

.. 4

PIE ROE.
u.

THIS township forms the southwest part of the county,
its southern border being washed by the Ohio River and
Hamilton County forming the western boundary; on the
north are Union and Batavia townships, and on the east
Monroe and Ohio, Pierce having been a part of the latter
until 1853, making it the youngest township in the county.
The southern and western parts of Pierce are hilly, with an
irregular surface (except along the Ohio, where is a narrow
belt of meadow-lands), whose rugged nature unfits a part
of it for general cultivation, yet adapting other parts for
the culture of the grape and the larger fruits. Northeast
of the centre are level uplands, containing fine farms and
good improvements. The. principal stream is Ten-Mile
Creek, flowing through the township from northeast to
southwest. It has several tributary streams, and formerly
had a considerable volume of water, which was made to do
service in operating a number of mills. In the western
part of Pierce, flowing south, is Nille-l\Iile Creek, a small
but rapid and, at times, troublesome stream. Nearly every
part of the township is well drained.

PIONEEH. SETTLERS.

From the fact that Pierce waS for so long a time a part
of Ohio township, much of its pioneer history appears in
that connection. The John family was one of the first to
settle within the bounds of' the present township. James
John, a native of Pennsylvania, emigrated to Kentucky in
179-1, and two years later settled at the mouth of Nine­
:Mile Creek, where he owned 300 acres of land. He was
accompanied by several of his brothers, who soon went to
other parts of the State. He died in the course of six or
eight years, leaving a family of seven childreu,-five sons
and two daughters,-viz.: Thomas, David, 1,emuel, Wil­
liam, and J olm, and daughters who married Isaiah Fer­
guson and James Fitzpatrick. The eldest son, rrhomas,
married Sarah 'Witham, and resided on the homestead,
which is at present owned by the Latham heirs. He died
about forty years ago, and WelS the father of Dr. Thomas
John aud his brothers James, Morris, and William D., the
latter yet living in the township, at Pleasant Valley.
David, the second son, married Martha Shaw, and lived
on Ninc-~lile until his death, leaving a large family;
J.Jemuel, the third son, was a cabinet-maker, and died at
Cincinnati; and the other sons died in Pierce.

The ancestral line -of the Donham family, like most fam-

ilies of early settlement in this country, comes down mostly
to us by tradition, and while in the main it is probably cor­
rect, yet in much of that relating to past centuries there is
at least uncertainty. No doubt, however, is felt as to the
nationality of a few preceding generations.

The family is of Spanish descent. The original name in
Spain was" Don Singleton. I' Some time towards the close
of the sixteenth century one of the ancestry of this Don
Singleton nlmily hud become eminent, at least noted, as an
active member of the Liberal party, or it might have been
then termed the rebel party in that century. He was ar­
rested, tried, and banished. After sentence he escaped and
fleu to Scotland, where he assumed the name of Don Ham,
which finally became the single name" Donham."

A son or grandson of this expatriated ancestor removed
to America, and became a resident of that part of the new
country now known as New Jersey.

This first American ancestor was twice married in New
Jersey. By his former wife there was born to him but
one child, christened by name John. By the second mar­
riage there were t.hree sons and one9aughter. The sons
were William, Jonathan, and Nathaniel. The name of the
daughter is to the present. generation, here in Ohio, un­
known. John, the elder and half-brother, by some means
succeeded in getting into p..ossession of the entire estate of
his father, and remained on the homestead, said to have
been a large landed estate, but, we suppose, not very valu­
able at that period.

The brother Jonathan married and remained a resident
of New Jersey. The other brother, William, married and
removed to the northern part of the State of' Alabama. We
have no farther account of either of them.

This Nathaniel Donham; the first of that Singleton
family (now Donham) in the direct ancestral line whose
Christian name is known here at this time, married Mary
Sutton in New Jersey, and for his second wife Keziah
Crossley, of the sallie State. He removed to Pennsylvania,
and from there to Ohio. He made this move westward by
pa!~sing over the Alleghany Mountains, following the mili­
tary road " cut out" by the English pioneers for the mardl
of Gen. Bmddock's army on his advance from the seaboard

- to Fort Duquesne (now Pittsburgh), during the war known
in the early history of this country as the "British war
with the French and Indians." He settled temporarily on
the Monongahela River, about sixty miles above Pitts-
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burgh, near Ten.Mile Creek, about where the old village of
Mapleton is located, in Greene Co., Pa. Here his first
wife died, and here he married his second wife, and here
the younger members of his family were born. He came
to that State about the time of the Declaration of Inde­
pendence. At that early period but few if' any of the
necessaries or comforts of life could be found in this wilder­
ness, and the settlers were compelled to procure in limited
quantities such indispensable things as could be brought
over the mountains "from the East." This of necessity
led to the establishment of a. transportation line of pack­
horses.

Nathaniel, as we are told, became an enterprising con­
ductor of one of these then fast lines of transit, engaged
in carrying in pack-saddles, lashed to horses, those neces­
sary commodities through this long wilderness to his ~ood

people at theil' home in the woods. After a few years in
this service, and having accumulated a lit.tle means, he em­
igrated still farther into the \Vcst, came down the Ohio
H.iver with most of his family, and landed at the mouth
of the Little Miami, A.D. 1794, twelve miles above Cin­
cinnati. In a short tillle he made his way about twelve
miles up that little stream, and establislled a home on what
was then, and is still, known as the "Hound Bottom" of
the Little Miami River.

The annual decay of vegetation grown on this luxuriant
valley tended to produce malarial fevers, especially in the
filII season. This fact induced him to make one more
move, into his final home on the waters of Ten-Mile Creek,
now Pierce township. Here he l:ipent the remainder of his
days in clearing his lands and raising crops and caring
for his family. He li\'ed a quiet, unpretentious life, and his
remains lie in the country church-yard at the foot of the
hill, marked only by a single rude stone monument.

As before stated, Nathaniel Donham, of New Jersey, was
twice married. He had born to him by the first marriage
three sons and one daughter. The daughter never came
\Vest. The sons were David, John, and Lewis. By the
second marriage there were six sons and one daughter,
Mary, Henry, Abel, \ViIliam, Amos, Robert, and Jonathan
Singleton. Of these, five of~the brothers served in the
war against Great Britain A.D. 1812, to wit: Abel, Amos,
Robert, and Jonathan S. All of the family are at' this
time dead, Jonathan S., the youngest and last, having died
A.D. 1856.

Of the eldest brothers, David and Lewis remained in
Greene County, Pa., and died many years since. They
each left a small family, who, as far as we are advised,
never removed fl'om that county.

Of the ~hildren who settled with their father, Nathan­
iel, in Clermont Co., Ohio, John, the eldest, began early
in life to acquire a landed estate. His home, through
his long life, was on the waters of Ten-Mile Creek, Ohio
township, ncar the last residence of his filther. He was
a very industrious and frugal man. By his industry and
economy he acquired several large and valuable farms;
in fact, became one of the most extensive land-holders
in the county. He was twice married. The maiden
name ,of his first wife was Sallie Jennings; that of the
secopd wa~ ~li~abeth Brown. By -the former wife he

had sons Isaac, David, and Jonathan, and daughter Mary.
By the second wife he had sons Nathaniel and John,
daughters Margaret, Sarah, J enetta, and Elizabeth. He
was at one time a member of the.Ohio State Senate.

Henry married and removed to Clay Co., Ind., early in
life. He never had any children. He was also a farmer,
and acquired a fair estate.

Abel married Elizabeth Ferguson, and early began his'
life as a farmer on the headwaters of Ten-Mile Creek,
Ohio township. He also acquired a good, valuable farm,
upon which he spent his long and industrious life. Reared
t,hree sons, John, J.Jewis, and Abel, and eight daughters,
Mary, Keziah, Hiley, Elvira, Cynthia, Julia, Sarah, and
Nancy.

\Villiam married Sarah Arthur, and founded a home for
himself on the western hills of Ten-Mile Creek, ncar Pleus­
ant Hill. By the time he arrived at middle age he had
also acquired a good t'mn of rl<.:h, well-improved land.
Reared seven sonR and three dau~hters. Sons were George,
Abijah, Joseph, Ira, Darius, William, and Abel; daugh­
ters were Rachel, Keziah, and Melissa. He and all of his
filmily removed to Clay Co., Ind.

Amos, while a young man, removed into Brown Co.,
Ohio, and there married. Had three sons, Dennis, Ewell,
and Robert. He went South about the year A.D. 1832,
and it is supposed died soon after.

Robert married H.uth Ferguson, and purchased in a few
years a good farm adjoining the home of his brother John,
and for many years continued to add to his acrcs by pur­
chase until he had by the time he arrived at middle age a
large farm, well improved. He, also, was an industrious and
enterprising farmer, and did much to encourage and support
good common schools in the country; served for severul
years as county commissioner of Clermont County, and was
a man much respected throughout the county. Reared a
family of seven sons, John, Isaiah, Nathaniel, Isaac, Rob·
ert, Zachariah, and Thomas. Two of these-Isaac and
Zachariah-died unmarried. Four daughters, Nancy,
Eliza, :i\'Iary, and Ruth.

Jonathan S. was the youngest of the family; was a child
when his father came West. When a good-sized boy he
went to li\Te with his brother Joh~, who had then already
acquired a good farm. His inclination was more for trad­
ing, particularly in live-stock, which business he fullowed
until he succeeded in purchasing himself a good filrm on
the eastern hills of Twelve-Mile Creek, in Ohio township.
This he enlarged by ad.ditional purchases until he had ac­
quired several hundred acres. Throughout life he made
stock-raising his principal business; did much by way of
importing into Southern Clermo'nt its best stock of horses
and cattle. He was twice married,-the first wife, Hiley
Ross; the second, Elizabeth Ayres. There were no chil­
dren by the former. By the latter there were miRed four
sons and seven daughters. The sons were Perry J., Har­
rison J.J., Erasmus J., Robert 'V. The daughters were
Hiley Ann, Evaline, Eliza M., FIorella J., Caroline E.,
Harriet L., Cordelia E. His widow is the only surviving
mother of any of the eleven families, is now eighty-three
years of age, and is drawing a pension from the govern­
ment on account of services of her departed husband in the



EBEN S. RICKER.
In the antiquity and celebrity of its

honored Iinel'ge aurl in honorablo associa­
tions with the matorial growth, political
development, and Iitemryand social cul­
ture of the county, no family in Clermont
has ever surpassed that of Ricker, which
has always been in the foreground of all
mOVl1ments for the advancement of the
county materially, as well as in everything
pertaining to educational progrl'ss. The
Rick'or family is found very early in the
Puritan settlements on Massachusetts Day,
and occupies II. prominent place in the au­
nals of Nl'W England iu Its earliest history
and all throllgh tho Colonial period, in­
clulling the Rl>\'olutionary war, in which
great struggle it was found battling on
the side of humanity and the rights of
the people. In GI'eat Britain it is traced
through II. remarkable and distin~uished
pedigree back to the time of William the
Conqueror, and its achievements adorn
nllmy of the brightest pages of English
history. This falllolls .tilmlly, descended
through the 'VentworthS,-ilIustrious per­
sonages on the pages of English annals,­
sJlrang from Rynold (or Reginald) de
'~ynterwlUle, a baron of great wl'alth,
IlIgh n'nown,alJfl strong powel', who liv\.d
at the zenith of his grcatness in 1066, at
the time of the im'asion and conquest of
England by William, Dulw of Normand~',
The next seven sncceeding heads of thi>!
famons filluily were Henry de Wyntworll,
Uichard de Wentworth, Michllel de Went­
worth, Henry de Wentworth, HUjth 'Vent­
worth (who died in the yellr 12110, A.D.),
ami WIlliam 'Ventworth. Twenty-one
more ~encrationsfollowed of this anciellt
mill celebrated family, until we find Elder
Willil\1II 'Velltworth, the first of the nallle
in Alllerica,an historical account of whom
placed his first known appearance in New
England in the year 16311, nineteen years
suhsequent to the landing of the historic
"Mayflower." Mary 'Ventworth, fourth
generation from Elder William Went­
worth, and a granddaughter of Timothy
'Ventworth, married Jabez Ricker, by
whom she had ten children. Jabez was
born 1742, and died 1838. Debomh, also
of fourth generation from Elder Wil­
liam 'Ventworth, married Joseph Ricker.
Snll1uel Rlckl'r, son of Jabez and Mary
(Wentworth) Ricker, was born in Berwick,
1\11'" July 7, 1766, and marl'ied, Jan. 17,
1790, Susana, daughter of Benjamin and
Mary Jewett, who w~ born in L0!ldonderry, N. II., March 28, 1770. To this couple,
the .first f~ th.e fanllly to settle m Ch.·rII!ont, were born seven children,-Rufll~,
April 3,1,91,11\ Sapford, Me" and who dIed JUlie 29,1846, and laid out Davenpol't,
I~" wh~re he \~as Judge ten years. Jallez, bor.n May 25, 17!J4, in Poland, 1\10.;
\\ l\~ ne' er married; taught the first school at Umon School-House in Monroe town­
ship of this county; aud was drowned, Jan. 12, 1821, in tho Arkan~as River. Benja­
1~lill .Jcwott, ~orn ill Polal}d, Me., July 7, 1796, was the father of tho Inte Maj.
I',lbrulge G. RIe!,er, an~,died ~ct. 19, 181H. Samuel, horn Feb. 3, 1800, in l'oland,
lUe.: senator. m LOUISIana III 1849; con~ul-geneml at Fl'tlnkfort eight years.
Snsana, born III Poland, Me" Nov. I, 1802, married John Fit7.patrick and died
Sl'pt. 10, 1854. Eben S. Ricker, the suluect of this 8ketl'h, born in P~land, Me"
March 9,1805; and the ;)'oungest, Darins, born April 25, 1810, and died July 15, 1855.
SlIlIIuel and Susana (Jewett) Ricker, parents ofabovllseven children emigrated from
1\~uine to Clormont County in 1814, und settled at Pleasant Hill, U:ell ill Ohio, now
PlCr'ce township, wher~ some of theil' descendllllts reside to this duy. They were u
1~lOst wOl'thy couple! With the marked character-Istics of their respective filmilies,
:SUSllIIIL (Jowett) belllg of the noted Jewett faollly so weiland favorably known in
A!l\erican and English history, and which for many generations had intermaniell
With the Wentworth.s and Rickers. Samuel Ricker, after a long and useful life of
soventy-two years, dlCd at Pleasant Hill, March 10,1838, and Ilis beloved wife SUl'­
"i\'ed him till Oct. 2~, 1855, when, in her eighty-fifth y.·ar, loved and mourned by a
Vl!st nU'!1her ,of relatives and the ~v!lole community, she depalted thi" life. Eben S.
RIcker mhentell the noblt'st quahtJes of blood from n long line of illustrious ances­
tors, aud hy a life of study added to his natural genius hecame one of the most cul­
tured mt'n of Clermont, and rledicated his life to sci"nce, Iitl'l1l.ture and the service
of humanity. lie was libemllyeducated ill tho best schools of SOl:l1lCrn Ohio alHl
had access to the best famllIt'S of Cincinnati. lIe manied, Feb. 10, 1828, lIa;'riet,
c1ILl!ghter of John and Mary Pumpelly, who wus born in the State of 1\ll1ine, 1\lay 11,
IS03, and sprang from one of New England's oldest and 1II0st rl'spectod fhmilies.
'l'ho issue of this uuion WaH Celia I'umpelly Riel,cr, horn IIlay 21, 1830, lind married,
Aug. 24, 1854, to Dr, Hiram Frease, of Napoleon, Ohio; and El1en Tree Ricker, boru
1\I,ay 16, 1835, amI married, Oct. 9, 1856, to Dr. Z. Fret'man, of Cinciunati. Eben S.
Ricker .taught school for many ;)'ears in his youngel' days, and acquired an enviablo
1'l'(lutatlOn as Clermont's most successful educator. He was one of the 1irst to dis­
card. the, old systellls of tyrannical rule and arbitmry gO\'ernment that recognizerl
1I0tl\lng III the youth but depraVity, and to institute a new method that had for its
corner-stone the broad foundations of humanity. lIe appealed to the hearts of his
pupils, gained their affections, sturllClI Iheir tempernments and dispositions, and
hl'nce he needed no Iron sway of discipline to govern 01' control his scholars, who
I~\'ed an~1 ~espe~ted him, and lIB a necessllry c\?nseqllence mado nlpid progres>! under
IllS admllllstmtion. lIe l'arly b.·came profiCient in mathematics, and the best sur­
veyor In this pal't of the Stllte. This study was hia s]lecialty and to it for ;)'ears the
I,est energlt's of his POWOI'flll mind were directed, The b~som friend of the late
Gen, O. 111. Mitclll'lI, after the lamented dl'l\th of this renowned scholar and soldier
1\11'. Riclt,or was offered the presidency ·of the Cincinnati Observatory, the finest
llRtronomlcal Imd mllthematlclli institution in America, I;ut the state of his business
eOIl1J1elled him to decline this distinguished 1I0nol·. IIII'. !ticlter mllde a glorious
11:11110 hy his l'arly irlentlfication and connoctlon with the 11IItl-s!l\very cause, in which
hIS wal'm heart, ever beating for distl'l'ssed and down-trodden humanity, led lIim to
talw pal't, mill work with tllo olrl-time abolitionists alld liberty men, like Salll10n I'.
ClulBe, Sallluel Lewis, Levi Comn, Dr. John G. Rogel'S, the DOIlIlhlsons, Jacob Hubel',
alld othel' noted cIJieftains of the then despised abolition party worldng for tho
frcedolll of the negro slave. With Wesley lie believell negro slavery to be tllC sum of
all villanies and the greatest of lIul\lanwrong~,and he wus outspoken and inde­
pendent; hence he engaged in the antl-sla\'e\'y struggle with great earnestness

and zeal, and in 111m tIle enslaved African
race found a faithful friend and helper.

In the first years of the Liberty and
afterwards the Free-Soil party In Clermont,
lie was repeatedly its candidate for county
surve)'or for the purposo of keeping up
and strengthening its organization, but
after the creation of the Republican party
and there was a probability of his being
elected he refused to be a candidate, as
he WIIB averse to holdin~office. He lived
to see his works successful and his hopes
end in frnition in the blottiug out of tho
accursed institution lJf slavery, although
to effect it the heart's blood of tho nation
was pcured out in torrents. He was par­
ticularly interested in agriculture and
hortiCUlture, and his fine farm WIIB a
picture of neatness, system, and beaut~·,

and his most pleasant surroundillgs of
trees, shrubbery,lawns, flowers, and frllits
marked his fine tl\8tes, and pointClI him
out as a man of culture and refinement.
He WI\8 the fil'St to introduce the obage
hedge into the county. He also ga\'e
much attention to sorghum culture, on
which he wrote a book, and was offered
the presidency of tile American SorghulIJ
and Cane Association, held at St. Louis,
which he accepted, but on n.ccountof being
unable to atteud its session lit its mcet­
Ing in l!'ebruary, 187?, an essay of his on
the production of thiS Cllue was reall Ill'
Vol. Coleman, a pnper of marl,ed abilit~·,
and 1\ ullanimous vote of tllanks was ten­
dered Mr. Ricker for Ills essay, which was
the subject of much discussion in the
count\'y, and brought him a deserved rl>p­
utation. In 1878 he mado the tonI' of
Europe with lIis daughter, the accom­
plished Mrs. Dr. Freeman, and her hus­
band Rnd son, and in his tri]l took fnll allll
copious notes of his observations of )lel'­
SOliS and things, and which he intended
for pUblication, but his death the ellsning
year, before he had completed his book,
prevented. 1\11'. Ricker kept a diary all his
life, and the next to the last entry in it
was Feli. 10, 1879, the fifty-first anniver­
sary of his marriage, and in it he speal,s
of the previous year as one of the 1lI0st
eventful in his lifl>, and refers to his ex­
tended tonr through Europe. He was a
splendid mathematician and took a high
mnk among the scholars and Iitemti of the
country, and though self-educated mostly,
he was a student to his death, and but few

of the professors in our colleges and univl'rsities surpl\8sed him in breadth and d(\pth
of learning. On religious as upon all other topics he was liberal, had !lls own opln­
iOlls WIIB a member of no church, but accorded the Cree rights of enhghtened con- .
sciel;ce to others, and took it for himself in all spiritual matters. Years ago, before
sectarianism reared its opinionated head, he projected the Pleasant Hill Sabbatl~­
school fouuded Its IIbmry fl'om his own means, and W'IlS at its head 1\8 teacher.; thiS
he did as a means only for the improvement and guidance of the young in gooll
merals, and to lead them in correct walks of life., A Republican,in politics, he co\'­
dinlly sustained the government in its war for the suppression of the RebeJlion, anll
on the Union as upon other topics he was a frequent contributor to the press and the
periodicals, lie lIied 1I1arch 1, 1879, and in his death science and literaturo lost a
warm fl'iend and society a good citizen. He spmng from a family· which bea':5 a
stllinless reputation for honesty aud integrity, and is equally noted for Its ability,
Couceruing complex tmlts of character, it may be justly said of Mr. Ricker that the
record of his noble life is II. problem from which they are rl'adily determined. Soh'­
ing, we fiml that ~e possessed a character for industry, compreh~1!ding faithfnl­
lIeBS yet transcendlDg it, Imd II. perseverance blJth energetic and untiring. PersonIII
contact with the Dlall revealed immense social and professional enthusiasm, noble
generosity, and a fine, s;)'IIJ]lath?ti~ nature. He was a man of ~enius and abili~~, of
positive cllllmcter and magnellc mfluence, and one who, havlDg taken 1\ posltl.on,
mnintained it with his whole strength. To these qualities must be added that IlIgh
sense of honor which fOI'bade the sacrifice of principle to policy. He was 1\ man of
huge heart, of strong lind active mind, and of high and earnest purpose. His affec­
tion for lIis family and friends was most sincere. He held his convictions with the
strongest gmsl' and Iwowed them with the utmost independence and conragl',.henc,e
his lifo was a nseful one and the world greatly benefited thereby. lilt.. Itlcl,er s
elliest daughter, Celia Pllmpelly, now the wife of Dr. Hiram Frellse, gmduated at
Cincinnati Eclectic Medical College in 1854. Dr. Z. Freeman, husband of Ellen
Tree Mr. Ricker's second daughter, was born July 17, 1826, in Nova Scotin, aud
WIIS iJlC fourth son of Zohith and Darinda Freeman. '1"he Frecmans are of pure
Engli~h descent, Imd descended from Edmund Freemau, born in Englanll in lli90,
aull who' emigrated to America in 1631, settling at Saugus, now L~nn, Ml\8s. 'l'~le
}'reelllaus in Gr<>at Britain have a'very gn'at antiquity, lind theIr descendauts 11\

New l';ngland and Nom Scotia arc very numerous, and eminent in science allllli,tl'ra­
tnre ami their fllmiJ~' genelllogy has beeu elaborately set out in an elegant ]Inbhshp(\
Yohl~no. Dr. Z. Freeman is I'rofessor of Snrgery in Cincinnati Eclectic 1\led,ical
College, which position he took at twellty-ono yeal'S of IIge, the youngest lIIedlcal
professor in thc United Shltes, aud which he has so abl~ filled for a t}linl of a,cel,ltlll'Y:
His son Leonard Ricltel' Freellllln, bom Dec. 16, 1860, IS u stndent 11\ the ClIlclllnlltl
l\lc1\llIkln Unl\'erslty. 1I11s. Dr. Z. I!'reenlll.n is distinguished as an artist In cun'ing,
ami hel' nllmo appears in the book giving the nllmes of the Cincinnati.ladies who
contrihutell'allli did the 1IIagnificent caning upon the organ in Sllrlnger's Cincln­
uati 1\lusic lIull, a 1IIOnUlllent to their tIlBte and artistic skill.

1\It'. Riclter's wife Harriet l'u1llpelly, was 1\ descendant of John l'ulJlpelly, tho
fil'st. of his fllmily t~ cOllie to A1IIel'ica, and who married 1\li8s I~ppen llillllJl'Ilnts
1\feijol', llllUghtl'l' of the governor of Gronigou. This bellutifnllady, from wh01llull
the l'nllljlellys in Amcrica arc descended, was born in the !jueen's PIIIIlCO whon h~r
flither and lIIother werc visiting Windsor Castle. Mrs. Dr. Z. }'reemlln is IlBsisting III
cOlllpiling the t1a!a to publish the l'u1llpelly genealogy in book forlll1and is in cor~

respondonce with ItS authOl',I'rof08sor Raphaoll'nmpelly, the dlstl\lgmshed professor
of Harvllrd University, alHI one of the most eminent sclentifio 1IIen in tho world,
She pal'takes largely of the cultlu'o Imfl scholal'Ship of her father, J~bon S. Hicl,er.

'fhe tonI' in Enrope, iu ]878, of the 'l'ol1ljee edncatiolll\1 party, of wl~ich Eben S.
Rlcl,er, Dr. 1"reenuUI, wife, and son wen, members, has been ably written Ull by
L. L. Holden, in II. nl'at v!llume.
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war of 1812, and is, for one of her age, quite healthy and
active.

Hezekiah Lindsey was born in Westmoreland Co., Pa.,
Jan. 5, 1781. In 1800 he was married to Miss Elizabeth
J.Jaycock, and settled south of the Ten-Mile Creek. He
opened a fitI'm from the dense forest, and often said " that
he worked so hard in chopping and burning logs that he
would be so black when he came in at night his own dogs
would not know him." He enlisted as a soldier, and
marched to the relief of Fort Meigs in 1812. He soon
became a prominent member of the Ten-Mile church,
which he joined in 1804, and was elected and ordained a
deacon, which position he held with honor and fidelity for
fifty-five years. Up to the time of his death his door was
always open to the wayfarer, and he gave w.ith liberal hand
to the widow and orphan. His residence was the home of
the ministers a~d laymen of his church. His wife died in
1828. He then married Elizabeth Ritchie in 1830, with
whom he lived until his decease, and reared It large family,
of whom Rev. Stephen Lindsey (Baptist minister) is one.
Deacon Lindsey deceased May 22, 1865, in the eighty-fifth
year of his age. Perhaps no settler in this part of the
country was better known or more respected than he, as
his philanthropy and Christian character shone out in all
his walks and made him beloved by all who knew him.
The church records show that he kept the church and
furnished supplies ten years for $4. He led the part of
the membership that seceded from the Old-School Baptist
in 1840, organizing themselves into the New-School Bap­
tist, which finally removed, a majority of the membership
building the new Baptist church at Amelia j many of the
members remain and still worship at the Ten-Mile church.
Once, when they first organized in the country, in 1819, a
Freemason was admitted into the church. Deacon Lind­
sey was deputized to lay the matter before the General
Baptist Association, which convened at Hamer's Hun in
1820. The following is the query and the answer of the
Association. Query: Is Freemasonry consistent with the
commandments and examples left by Jesus Christ for his
disciples to follow, or is it not? Answer: The Associa­
tion advise that their brethren who have connected with
the Freemasons, or any other unnecessary institution, hum­
bly withdraw from them, and that we all freely forgive
them on their so doing."

Rev. W'illiam Uobb, a Baptist. minister, was one of the
earliest settlers on the upper waters of Nine-Mile, locating
there about 1800. Among the sons he here reared were
Peter, John, William, James, and George Hobb, nearly all
of whom deceased in the county. Two of the daughters
married Joseph Arthur and Andrew Gray. William Robb
was an active, useful man, and was greatly respected by his
neighbors.

Elijah Ward, a native of New Jersey, emigrated to
Hamilton County before 1800. In 1813 he purchased 110
acres of land on Pleasant Hill, where he made his home,
dying in that locality in 1862. One of his daughters
married George Idlet, of Monroe, and of his sons, Sanford
is a prominent citizen of Western J>ierce j Elon resides
at Palestine, James H. in Monroe, Stephen removed to
Missouri, William to Indiana, Elijah to Illinois, and John

Wesley died at Pleasant Hill. In 1815, Nehemiah Ward,
the father of Elijah, Sr., came to Pierce, and remained
until his death, about 1840. He was a Revoh~tionary

soldier, and had been engaged at the pattIe of Trenton.
At his death he was upwards of ninety years of age, and
his wife, Elizabeth, became a centenarian. For a time after
181.7 Lewis W'ard, another of his sons, lived in Pierce. A
sister of the Wards was the wife of Thomas Gaskins,. who
settled in the northwestern part of Pierce about 1818. He
was the fitther of Dr. Cyrus Gaskins, of Amelia j Dr. John
Gaskins, of Adams County j William Gaskins, of· With­
amsville j and of another son, Sylvester, living in Indiana.
John Gaskins came from Bedford Co., Va., in 18~4, and
purchased the improvements made by a man named Ridley,
in the upper part of Pleasant Valley. Here he died in
1879, and his family yet occupy the place.

Along the Hamilton County line Joshua Durham, who
is yet living at Cherry Grove, aged ninety-two years, was a
pioneer. The farm he improved is now occuRied by his
son Daniel, and other sons, Stephen and Joshua, live in
Union township.

J olm Behymer, the eldest of a large family of this name,
came from Virginia in 1805, and settled on Ten-Mile Creek,
his home place being now occupied by Maj. Ricker's family,
where he resided until llis death. Of his. filmily was Jacob
Behymer, who improved the farm now owned by John Be­
hymer j and other sons were Elias and Daniel Behymer, yet
living in Pierce. Jonathan Behymer, a brother of John,
removed to the West after having lived a number of years
in the township. A third brother, Daniel, lived on the
farm now occupied by Elias Behymer. Solomon Behymer,
the fourth of the brothers, settled in the northern part of

. Pierce, and members of his family yet remain in the town­
ship. Joel Behymer was born in 1789, and lived north of
the central part of Pierce. He died in January, 1876,
leaving 10 children, 44 grandchildren, a~d 21 great-grand­
children. Other members of this numerous t:'\mily were
Joseph, Samuel, Nathaniel, and Enoch, and the descendants
at one time constituted a large proportion of the population
of Pierce. Samuel Beckett, a nephew of the Behymers,
came to Pierce in 1815, but returning to Virginia, remained
in that State ten years, when he again took up his abode in
Pierce, living there at the age of eighty-six years, and
being one of the oldest men in the township.

Elijah Mattox came from Virginia to Kentucky, and in
1810 settled a mile and a half from Pleasant Hill, where
he died in 1842. He was a local Methodist preacher, and
having been twice married, had 17 children, which attained
mature years. Of these a son, Elijah, is living near
Pleasant Hill, in the eighty-sixth year of his age. Other
sons, John, "Tilliam, Lewis, Miles, and Edmund, removed
to the West, and J abez died in Tate.

John and Isaac Short, natives of Virginia, also became
residents of Pierce in 1810, the former settling on the W.
H. Wellman place. He was a great hunter, and many ad­
ventures are related of his skill. Of his family of six
sons, Samuel removed to Indiana, Ephraim removed to the
same State, William died on the homestead, in 1846, Isaac
lived near Amelia, and Jacob removed to the West.. The
sons of Isaac Short, Sr., also removed to the West, but
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a number of the descendants of these families yet remain
in the county.

I n the same locality, Thomas vVoods, a Revolutionary
soldier, was among the pioneers. At his house some of
the early Methodist meetings were held.

Fred Eppert, from Rockingham Co., Va., immigrated to
Pierce in the fall of 1806, and after living a while at the
forks of Ten-Mile, settled on the place now owned by E.
Cole. He died in 1846. His fi\mily, when he came to
Clermont, consisted of three children,-John, Jacob, and
Elizabeth,-and six more were born in the township. Of
the latter, William was born Jan. 26, 1807, and has re­
sided in Pierce ever since, serving for many years as a
justice of the peace. The other children were David,
Peter, Samuel, Mary, and Sarah, but none, except William,
survive.

Daniel Kirgan, an Irishman, settled on the Ohio pike,
west from Amelia, in 1809, having a part of his farm in
Batavia township. One of his sons, Alexander, was killed
while af:sisting in raising a building for Stephen Lindsey.
Others of his sons were named John, Thomas, David,
and William, and of their descendants some yet live in
Pierce.

William Nash, after living a short time on Indian Creek,
before 1800 and after, at the age of fifteen years (about
1810) came with his parents to the northern part of Pierce,
wIJCre his father was killed by the faIling of a tree while he
was clearing Ilis farm. Other sons were James and Henry,
all of whom settled on the tract purchased by their father.
The daughters-Mary, Margaret, Elizabeth, and Naney­
married members of the Kirgan and Robinson families.
"William Nash was tlle father of Lewis Nash, a prominent
farmer of Pierce, and but few members of this once numer­
ous family now remain.

The settlement of Chapman Archer, on Ten-Mile Creek,
was made at an early day. He was of Irish descent, but
Came from Virginia about the beginning of the present
century. His only son, Benjamin, deceased a few years
ago. The daughters married Alfred West, Ezekiel Lewis,
Edward Morin, Michael Behymer, and Richard Ayres.

The present N. Corbley place was improved by John
Reese, who settled there about 1810, and removed to Clay
County in 1836. :Michael Lower and his sons, Peter,
Jacob, and John, were also pioneers on the Ten-Mile soon
after 1800, but all removed at an early day except Peter,
who drowned himself in the Ohio while in a state of in­
sanity.

About 1800, James Fitzpatrick settled on a farm on the
south side of Ten-Mile, adjoining Hezekiah Lindsey's. Of
his SODS, Thomas, John, Reese, and 'Yilliam, the latter is
yet living at Withamsville. His daughters married Samuel
Beckett, Benjamin Behymer, and William Townsley.

About the same time Henry Fitzpatrick, a brother of
J ames, settled on the present Ebersole place. He removed
to Indiana, and his son, Solomon, to Monroe township.

The Tinkles-Charles and Henry-were pioneers on Ten­
Mile, but sold out to Joseph Fagin, and John Kinzie made
the early improvements on the lticker place.

Samuel Ricker, of Poland, Me., was born in 1766. In
1790 he married Susanna Jewett,-and twenty-four years

later settled in Pierce, at what is now Pleasant Hill, where
he died 1\1arch" 10, 1838. Of his children, Rufus removed
to Illinois, in 1818 j Jabez was drowned in the Arkansas
River, in 1821 j Samuel moved to New Orleans j Darius
lived and died in Cincinnati; Susanna married John Fitz­
water j Benjamin was a merchant at Pleasant Hill, living
in that locality until his death. He was the fhther of :l\Iaj.
Ricker, of Locust Corners. Ebenezer S., the fifth son of
Samuel Ricker, died at Pleasant Hill, March 1,1879, at the
age of seventy-four years, and his widow yet occupies the
homestead. He was an extraordinary mathematician, and
an intimate friend of the ast.ronomer, O. 1\1. Mitchell,
whom he often assisted with his suggestions. He was
much interested in sorghum culture, and was the author of
a monograph on that subject. He was an original anti­
slavery man, and a worthy associate of S:llmon P. Chase
and Levi Coffin. His only children became the wives of
])r. Z. Freeman and Dr. Hiram lfrease.

Jonathan Hathbone, a Nantucket sea-captain, settled in
the northeast part of Pierce some time after 1812, and lived
there until his death, when his family removed. About
the same time Capt. David Folger, also a retired seaman,
settled on the farm which is now owned by the heirs of
William Temple. On a third filTm there settled Darius
Butler, who came from Martha's Vineyard, living in Pierce
until his death. Several ot' his daughters married into the
Temple family, and yet reside in that locality.

Samuel Hayforth, from Maine, came about 1813, settling
near Lindale. His son David removed to the vVest, Wil­
liam died in Pierce, and Cyrus yet lives at Mount Pisgah.
In the same locality Mark Stinchfield, an early teacher, was
a pioneer.

Martin Pease, for twenty years a sea-captain, came from
Martha's Vineyard in 1814, settling on 200 acres of land
near Amelia, which had been somewhat improved by Jonas
Mann, who removed to Indiana. The house he had built
in 1812 was occupied by Capt. Pease until his death in
1853. He was the father of G. M. Pease and Benjamin
vVarren Pease, both of whom died at Amelia j of Wil­
liam B. Pease, yet living at Amelia j and of Dr. Leavitt
Thaxter, of Williamsburgh. The daughters married Tim­
othy Sprague, John O. Butler, Henry Jernegan, L. D. Salt,
Cyrus Fairfield, and John F. Offutt, all well known in the
southern part of the county.

Tristam Pease, a relative of the captain's, settled near
Amelia about the same time, living here until he had at­
tained an honored age. He was the father of William
Pease, Esq., of Batavia.

With Capt. Pease came five other families, constituting
the Massachusetts colony. David Jernegan settled on an
adjoining farm. He was the father of Henry Jernegan,
the founder of Utopia, and of David, who occupies the
homestead. His daughters married Joshua Cushman and
C. W. Bond.

John O. Butler lived first a mile from Amelia, but helped
J erncgan build a mill at the village, and after residing there
some time moved to West Virginia. He was a son of
Joseph Butler, who lived in Pierce, and the brother of
Lemuel and Henry Butler, who died at Amelia.

vYalter Butler, of another family, .settled on the New



BENJAMIN ARCHER.

In the year 1604, Gabriel Archer emigrated from England
and located in Virginia, at what was then called" Archer's
Hope," and was tho first of this old English family known- to
have settled in America. From his descendants of the main
or collateral line was Chapman A reher, among tho first pio­
neers of Clermont County, and who enme to Ohio not later
than 1797, and settled in what is now Pierce township, on the
place whero his grandson, James S. Archer, now resides.
Chapman Archer in the early days of the county was one of
its best citizens, and very largely instrumental in the growth
and developm..nt of the wilderness into the cultivated farms
that now adorn it, and was for many years a leading magis­
trate.

His son, Benjamin Archer, was born Oct. 5, 1815, on the
land his father had first entered, and which since has never
been out of the family possession. Benjamin was raised on
the farm and given a good common-school education, being
especially proficient in mathematics. He was married on
Dec. 23, 1841, by Uev. Whittington B. Hancock, to Keziah
Sargent, daughter of James Sargent, an early settler of the
county. He was often called on to fill township offiees, and
in 1857 was elected county trl'asurer, which position he filled
for two years with fidelity and efficiency. He was among our
largest and best farmers, and with rare taste he had his lands
most carefully tilled, and all his improvements and surround­
ings in the neatest condition. He gave speciul prominence
to fruits and grapes, and was the first to introduce the cplture
of the latter into the county. He was also the first man to
encourage the immigration of Germans into Clermont, and at
one time had ten German families on his lands. He died
April 17, i874, on the furm where he had been born fifty-nine
J"ears before, and which he had lived to see becomo one of the
best in the county, with an elegant residence on it, and the
then most spacious wino cellar in this part of the State.
While a member of no church he liberally contributed to the
support of all in his neighborhood, and was a man of high
honor, unblemished character, and unswerving integrity.
He ;,vas a prominent membel' of the Independent Order of

Odd-Fellows, and belonged to Milton Lodge, No. 99, at
Amelia, which owed its prosperity ll\rgely to his zeal, and
fraternal watchfulness and care. He also wus one of the

'projectors of the beautiful cemetery at Amelia, and his cul-
tivated taste is seen in the neat and elegant style in which it
is laid out and kept up. The county agricultural exhibitions
fonnd in him a warm friend in their official boards as well as
among their largest exhibitors. No man in Clermont stood
higher in the public estimation than Benjamin Archer, whose
hospitality and gentlemanly bearing were known and esteemed
by the entire community. By his marriage with Keziah

'Sargent he had five children, of whom three are living; Of
these, Chapman C. Archer is a prominent attorney of Cin­
cinnati, of the firm of Archer & McNeill. Chapman C. was
the eldest and attended Farmers' College, near Cincinnati,
read law, and was admitted to the Hamilton County bar in
1867, and has practiced his profe~sion with great success ever
since. He was elected in 1873 a representative to the Sixty­
first General Assembly, as one of the tpn members from Hnm­
ilton County, and was the youngest member of the Legisllltllrl~.

As a legislator he achieved a marked success, and was on the
most important committees of the House. "Like his father, he
is a Democrat, and has ever been greatly interested in politics.
He has been a director of a bank, president of the Manufac­
turers' Insurance Company, and a director in two others,­
Phrenix and Merchants'. Rosa J., the only daughter of Ben­
jamin Archer, married William H. Woodlief, for many Joears
a leading merchant and business man of Clermont, but now
living in Franklin Coo, Kan., where he owns and operat(·s
one of the largest stock farms in that State. She is a beauti­
ful woman of rare domestic graces, and her husband is a
.most energetic and successful business man. James S., the
youngest, married Rosa, daughter of Hiram D. Tone, and
lives on the homestead placo of his father, Benjamin Archer.
He is a neat farmer and occupies the old Archer mansion.
After the death of his wifo, Keziah, Benjamin Archer mar
ried Anna E. Boyd, by whom he had no children, and who
survives him, residing near Amelia.
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GEORGE DUCKWALL.

The Duckwall family is especially noted in Clermont for
its large possessions in real estate and for furnishing many of
the best farmers and citizens of the county. Originally
from Pennsylvania, this well-known family emigrated in the
~ighteenth century to Virginia, and located in Bath County
of that State. Jacob Duck\yall was the first who came to
Ohio, and after him followed his brothers, Lewis, Daniel, and
David, and from thcse four have descended the .members of
this worthy family who are scattered over the county, and
all of whom are men of high standing in the community.
Lewis Duckwall and his wife, Susannah (Wngner) Duckwall,
came to Clermont in 1814 or 1815, and settled at Branch
Hill, on tho Ellst Fork, near Batavia. Lewis was both a farmer
and blacksmith, and was also ordnincd a local preacher in
the Methodist Episcopal Church. He died about the year
1830, and his wife in 1852. Their children were four sons,
George, John, William, and James Duckwall, and two
daughters, 1\fary, married to Simeon Weaver, nnd Catharine,
to Christian Zngg. George Duckwall was born Oct. 30,1805,
and was raised on a farm, receiving but a very limited edu­
cation, but he employed his evenings in reading nIl the books
that came within his reach. He was married March 4, 1827,
by John W. Robinson, the then noted Batavian magistrate, to
Elizabeth Foster, daughter of Capt. Thomas Foster, of Wil­
'liamsburgh, and Sarah (Rapor) Foster, by which marriage he
became the father of the following clli1dren: Holly, who died
in his fourth year j Kate A., married first to Charles Butler,
and after his dcath to Robert Carnahan j Joseph Foster Duck­
wall, now living in Muncie, Ind.; Thomas Duckwall, now
residing at Columbia, Hamilton Co., Ohio; and Sallie, married
to Aaron A. Colter, of Mount Washington, nellr Oincinnati,
where she resides, her husbnnd having died a few months ago.

George Duckwall was the second time married, his first
wife having died Mar~h 4, 1841, to Olltharine Anne Weaver,
daughter of William Weaver, on March 17, 1842, by Rev.
Wesley Rowe. By' this last union he has had the following
children: William W. Duckwall, of Union township, near

Mount Carmel j James Polk DUCKwall, living with him at
his home place, and who is a first-class business man, being a
director of the Cincinnati and Eastern Narrow-Gauge Rail­
way Company; Lizzie, unmarried and at home j Rev. Bed­
ford Lewis Duckwall, of New York State, an eminent clergy­
man of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and a fine scholar j

and Truman Fowble, who died aged twenty-two years j

besides two children who died in infancy. In 1834, George
Duckwall removed from Batavia to Pierce township upon the
fine farm of some two hundred and thirty-seven acres he and
his children now own, and on which he has ever since resided.
Most of it at that time was an unbroken forest, but he has re­
claimed it from a state of nature, and to-day nono in Cler­
mont excel it in fertility. As a farmer George Duckwall is
unsurpassed in Southern Ohio. He is of German extraction,
and has the characteristics of his race, honesty, thrift, and
industry combined with a clear judgment. Years ago he
served as captain in the militia.. He is a member of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, upon whose ministrations his
family are regular attendants. In politics he is a Democrat,
and cast his first Presidential vote, in 1828, for Gen. Jackson.
His fine residence is a two-story brick edifice built in 1817,
and was the first structure of the kind erected in the township.
It hus since been remodeled and enlarged, and so beautified as
to be one of the most spacious and beautiful in the county.
.Located on Pleasant Hill, in a healthy region with most de­
sirable surroundings, his residence attracts the attention of all.
Years ago his farm twice received the first premium from the
County Agricultural Society as the best in Clermont. He is
a general farmer, but gives considerable attention to fruits
.and berries. His farm lies some two and a half miles from the
Ohio River, and his residence is only three-fourths of a mile
from the New Richmond branch of the narrow-gauge rail­
road, and his land extends nearly to it. His house is known
far and wide as a genial seat of hospitality, and of a fnmily
occupying the first rank in the county in social and business
life.



PIEROE TOWNSHIP. 433

Richmond road, on the place now occupied. by his son
Edwin, in 1817. He was born at Martha's Vineyard in
1792, and immigrated to Oolumbia in 1814, coming from
there to what was then called the" Yankee Settlement."
His first habitation here was a little hut constructed of rails,
while the roads at that time were barely more than blazed
paths. He had three sons,-·Walter, Oharles, and Edwin.
The former married Sabina Butler, and deceased in 1877 ;
Oharles married Lydia Bradbury, and is also dead; Edwin
is the husband of Elizabeth Hume, and reared five ch'ildren,
two sons dying in the Unicn army. The daughters of
Walter Butler married Reuben Myrick, G. M. Pease, and
William Eppert, Esq., of Pierce.

Abner Butler, of still another family, came at the same
time and settled in the same locality. He was the father
of Fernando 0., George, and Timothy Butler, the latter
living in Missouri, the former two remaining in Pierce. A
sketch of Abner Butler appears in another place in this
book.

Jonathan Dunham, another of the New England colony,
fiettled in Batavia township, in the neighborhood of Union
chapel.

In addition to the foregoing, a number of persons settled
in Pierce whose names may be seen in a general list of prop­
erty-owners of Ohio township in 1826.

CIVIL OHGANIZA'l'ION.

The township of Pierce was created by the county com­
missioners at a meeting held Dec. 8, 1852, on the petition
of John O. Smith and others, and was named" in honor of
Franklin Pierce, President-elect of the United States. Said
order to take effect, as to the division, from and after the
1st of September, 1853." Until this period the territory
belonged to Ohio township.

April 4, 1853, the first township election of Pierce was
held at the stone school-house on Ten-Mile Oreek, Moses
Bennett, William Fitzpatrick, and Bepjamin Archer,
Judges; and David Kirgan and E. S. Ricker, Olerks.
James Vail and William Eppert were elected Justices;
'ViIliam Fitzpatrick, Moses Bennett, and William Gaskins,
Trustees; E. S. Ricker, Olerk; Benjamin Archer, Treas­
urer; 'Villiam R. Townsley, Assessor; George Fishback,
Constable.

May 28, 1853, the trustees enacted an ordinance to pro­
hibit tippling, intemperance, and the vending or selling of
spirituous or any kind of intoxicating liquor in less quan­
tities than one barrel, under penalty of a fine of from $5
to $50, or imprisonment in the county jail, or both, at the
discretion of the court.

At the close of the township's first fiscal year orders had
been paid to the alllount of $-1:99.57, leaving a balance in
the treasury of $471.91. .

Since the organization of Pierce the principal town~hip

officers have been:
TRUSTEES.

1854-55.-Willinm Fitzpatrick,Willinm Gnskins, Newton Corbley.
1856-58.-Michael Behymer, James T. Woods, Reuben Laycock.
1859-6l.-Benjamin COI'd, B. W. Pease, Reuben Laycock.
1862.-Benjamin Cord, John Ferguson, Reuben Laycock.
1863.-Benjamin Cord, Stephen Lindsey, Reuben Laycock.
1864-65.-Benjamin Cord, James H. Ward, Reuben Laycock.
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18IHi-'iO.-Frunk Schweitzer, M. Gardner, Thomas Heron.
187l.-Stephen Parvin, .l\L Gnrdnel', A. D. Butler.
1872.-W. D. Alexander, 1\'1. Gardner, A. D. Butler.
1878-74.-Frank SchweitzCl', M. Gnrdner, A. D. Butler.
1875.-John Lusk, Coll'm:tn Moore, F. 1\1. Lindsey.
187G-77.-John Lusk, Perry J. Gaskins, F. :M. Lindsey.
1878-i9.-John Lusk, John J. Armstrong, F. M. Lindsey.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1854-57, E. S. Ricker; 1858-62, W. W. Ricker; 1863-68, William
Mnnsfield; 1869-74, C. W. Kirgan; 1875-77, W•. E. Mattox;
187-8-79, E. R. Pearce.

TOWNSHIP TREASURERS.

1854, Benjamin Archer; 1855, T. W. Rathbone; 1856-57, Benjamin
Archer; 1858-60, John Wagner, Sr.; 1861-64, 1\fichael Behymer;
1865-68, Eben Behymer; 1869-70, A. P. Felter.

TOWNSHIP ASSESSORS.

1854, Jncob N. Leeds; 1855, John Behymer; 1856-57, John C.
Smitlq 1858-59, Willinrn Lewis; 1860-61, Thomas Mattox;
1862, William Wood; 186:1, Benjamin Behymer; 1864, William
Gaskins; 1865, William Lewis; 1866-68, F. 1\L D:tvidson; 1869,
Henry Behymer;lSiO, J. McRoberts; 1871-72, S. M. Gaskins;
187:3, William Lewis; 1874, Joseph Kirgan; 1875-77, William
Fitzpatrick; 1878-79, Theodore ~earles.

PUBLIC HIGHWAYS.

The township made provision for the care of its high­
ways at its first meeting in 1853, by appointing as super­
visors Daniel Hedmond, Sanford Short, O. P. Behymer,
Newton Oorbley, James Nash, James Light, Michael Behy­
mer, ·William Alexander, Reuben Laycock, John Holder­
field, and Alanson Hill. The same number of districts has
been maintained to the present, and in 1879 the supervisors
were W. D. Gaskins, Marcellus Smith, Jtlmes Archer,
Elijah Behymer, Alexander Schucy, John Siegle, J. N.
Robinson, David Brunk, Nathaniel Windsor, John Ressay,
and Michael Sullivan.

The citizens of Pierce availed themselves of the provi­
sions of the Free Pike laws, and a number of miles of im­
proved roads were built, the principal ones being the Nine­
Mile Oreek pike and the road up Ten-Mile Creek to
Lindale. The superintendents of these improved roads
have been John Gaskins, Morris John, and H. B. Hobb.
There is also an excellent toll-pike through the township,
along the Ohio. In 1873 out of 168 votes, relating to the
voting of aid for a railroad through Pierce, but 5 were op­
posed to the proposition. Subsequently, when the Cincinnati
and Portsmouth Railroad and the Ohio River division of the
Cincinnati and Eastern Railroad were projected through
the township the individual support was very liberal. The
former road has stations at Amelia and at Oleveland's, a mile
east, and is a great accommodation for the people of the
northern part of the township. The latter road is along
the valley of the Nine-Mile Oreek to its mouth, whence it
passes up the Ohio to Richmond. It has stations at four
or five points along the route in Pierce, and affords the
people of the southern and western parts a handy outlet.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

The first mill in the township was built before 1799 by
James John, near the mouth of Nine-Mile Oreek. Its
capacity was smalI, and having been built too near the Ohio
the back-water from that stream destroyed the power, and in

. .
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a freshet the mill was ruined. About twenty years later,
Thomas John, the eldest son of James, built a saw- and
grist-mill, a mile above the first site, which did a good deal
of service in their day; and the grist-mill was la::;t operated
in 1874 by W. D. John. In former days a distillery was
also here carried on. Twenty-five years ago a saw-llIill was
operated below this point by 'fhomas Littleton. The upper
waters of Nine-Mile were made to operate a mill which
was best known as Gaskins', although the improvements

. were first made by the Parvin and Doubam families.
Thomas Beckett last operated this mill, which, on account
of the feeble water-power, was abandoned a score of years
ago. On the west fork of Nine-Mile a lUan by the name
of Wright built a small mill, which was afterwards operated
by Samuel i\lcCord j but this, too, has long since been
discvntinued.

On Ten-Mile Creek the present 'Vagner mill was built
by John Wagner; but a saw-mill at this place was first
operated by John Behymer at a much earlier period. The
former only has been continued within the past dozen
years. Not far below this site was another power which
had been improved by Samuel Behymer j nothing but the
frame of' the mill remains; and up this stream was the
mill of Nathaniel Behymer, long since gone down. Near
by is at present a store kept by S. H. Peoples, although
the first in trade there was James John. At the place
locally known as " Pin Hook,'; Daniel Behymer bad a grist­
mill, the power of which was supplied from a large res­
ervoir, the mill being operated only until the water was
exhausted. On the south fork of Ten-Mile, Joseph Behy­
mer had a saw-mill, to which a grist-mill of small capacity
was added by N. Behymer, and above, on the same stream,
Joseph Fagin had a saw-mill. For many years Fred
Eppert had a horse-power mill on the present E. N. Cole
farm, which was a great convenience in dry seasons.

At Amelia, on the Batavia side, Jernegan & Butler put
up a steam saw-mill about 18:-30, to which grinding ma­
chinery was afterwards attached. The power was removed
about 1850, but the building yet remains, and was last used
as a fruit-drying establishment. On the Pierce side, at the
east end of'the village, David Jernegan had saw- and grist­
mills (steam power), whose operation was continued .until
not many years ago, and the property still remains. Far­
ther eastward is the steam saw-mill of Aaron Cleveland,
yet in working order. Formerly carriage-shops were car­
ried on in an extensive manner by William D. Sutton,
Stephen Sutton, ·W. B. C. Stirling, and Lewis Roberts;
and at present Ephraim Short and Perry Reeves conduct
this industry. In this part of the village were the" Cin­
cinnati Forging-"Works," whose manufacture was an article
popularly called the "Fifth Wheel," an appliance to the
running gear of carriages which met with considerable
favor. Tlie works have been removed to Columbia.
South of' Amelia, Thomas Kirgan had a tannery of a few
vats and saw- and grist-mills of small capacity, but which
were not without the elements of usefulness in their day.

In 1849, Joseph Budd began the manufacture of bricks
at Palestine on a large scale, employing steam-power to
grind the clay, although the moulding was done by hand.
¥rom 20 to 30 hands were engaged. Budd sold out to

Godfrey Hegner, who completed the saw- (circular) and
grist-mills the former had. begun, and for about ten years
carl'ied on the three interests quite exten::;ively, the prod­
ucts being conveyed to Cincinnati on barges. In 1864 the
property was destroyed by fire, and since that period but
little manufacturing has here been carried on hut coopering.

A mile above this point is one of' the most complete
brickyards in the State, having a landing on the Ohio, a
station on the railroad, and a number of' houses and shops.
The place is locally known as Blairsville. In 1874, John
M. Blair, of Cincinnati, purchased here thirty acres of land,
on which is a clay of superior quality, extending to the
depth of twellty-five feet, from which can be made brick
whose reputation aUlong builders is not excelled, and which
has given the products of the yard a wide sale. The entire
work is done by steam-power,-drawing the clay fl'om the
pits, gl'inding, lllouldillg, etc. There are three machines,
cilpable of moulding 35,000 bricks per day, which are burned
in six of Wingard's patent clamps, the heat being furnished
by regular furnaces, and the fher is coal and coke. By
this method beautiful bricks of uniform quality are pro­
duced.. Employment is given to sixty men, and most of
the bricks are transported to Cincinnati by steam-barges.
J. :i\I. Bushong is the yard manager, and Burr Blair is
general superintendent.

HA~ILET:3 AND VILLAGES.

The hamlet of PLEASANT VALI,EY, commonly called
Nineveh, is on Nine-Mile Creek, several miles above its
mouth. It contains half a dozen houses and a United
Brethren church. Some time after 1835, George Floro
sold off 15 or 20 lots from his f.·UID, on which the hamlet
was built, there being at one time more houses than at pre­
sent j and the various trades were carrie~ on, \V m. G.as­
kins and Daniel Hedmond being the blacksmiths and
wagon-makers, and John & Behymer had a cooperage.

In about 1844, John Gaskins began merchandising at
Pleasant Valley, and continued until 1868. Since 1878
W m. D. Gaskins has here been in trade. Earlier than
this, about 1842, "Tm. D. John and Darius Littleton
opened a store farther down the ~tream, where afterwards
were in trade John Behymer, Jonah \Voods, and Cyrus
Gaskins. At this stand Wm. D. John was the last, dis­
continuing business in 1877. Nearly opposite another
store was opened by Gaskins & Robb, where was last John
F. Monjar, the hamlet proper being at present without a
store.

As physicians there have been at Pleasant Valley Dr.
Thomas John, after 1850, and for a short period Dr. B.
Gaskins, at a later day.

PLEASANT HILL.

This hamlet has a beautiful location on the uplands, ncar
the centre of the township. It was laid off from the farm
of Benjamin lUcker, who had the first store in this locality
soon after 1830. This store is yet continued, the merchant
for the past nine years being A. P. Felter. Others here
engaged in trade were E. Ricker, Erastus Short, and Jacob
Clark. The hamlet contains, besides a Methodist church,



IN the first decade of the present century there emigrated to Wil­
Iiamsburgh township, from Virginia, four young men seeking their
fortunes and aiding to build up and develop the new country. These
young men full of buoyant life were the Foster brothers,-Israel,
Isaac, John, and Thomas,-sons of Thomas Foster, an emigrant from
England, who ma.rried Nancy TwiJ?;g in Virginia, where his son,
Thomas Foster, was born Feb. 13, 1789. He first bought forty acrcs
of land from ex-Sheriff Daniel Kain, and subsequently, in connection
with his hrothers Isaac and John, purchased of Gen. William Lytle
four hundred and eighty-six acres. His brother Israel married
Polly Kain, and by this union was born Randolph Sinks Foster, D.D.,
the learned nnd eloquent bishop of the Methodist Episcopal Church.
In the war of 1812 Thomas Foster served as ensign in Capt. Do~rsler's

rifle company, and on Capt. Boersler being killed at the baltIe of
Brownstown, Thomas Kain was promoted to its command and Ensign
Foster raised to a lieutenancy. Thomas Foster was married to Sarah
Haper, a sister of the noted ex-Sheriff Holly Raper and of Rev. Wm.
H. Raper, the distinguished Methodist divine, and a daughter of
Leonard Raper and Temperance (Holly) Raper, the latter a native of
Wales. Sarah (Raper) Foster, wife of Thomas, and mother of the
subject of this sketch, was born in a block-house connected with one
of the military stations in the wilds of Western Pennsylvania, the
scene of Indian depredations and encounters. Her father, Leonard
Raper, received his educn.tion in London, Engl~nd, at the finest
schools in that great city, where he became an eminent mathematician.
Leonard Rapcr after coming to America was made a surveyor under the
government in the Northwest Territory, and remo\'ed to Columbia, just
above Cincinnati, and afterwards to Willinmsburgh in this county. His
wife, Temperance (Holly) Raper, was one of the matron pioneers of the
West, and among the first Methodists in the Northwest l'erritory. She
Wl1l! !L woman of exemplary piety, of great faith and dcvotion, and a
patriot mother of the Revolution, as her subsequent history in sending
her three boys out in the war of 1812 to fight for her country abund­
antly shows.

To Thomas and Sarah (Raper) Foster were born the following
children: two sons,-Joseph Raper and John S., who Dlarried
Margaret C. Thompson, of Georgetown, Ohio, and was once sheriff
of Brown County, a captain in the Union army, and now resides in
Washington Court-House, Ohio; and six daughters,-Santh, who
died unmarried; Elizabeth, married March 7, 1827, by John W.
Robinson, justice of the peace, to George Duckwall; Mary Ann, mar­
ried by Rev. John A. Baughman, May 6, 1834, to Samuel A. Pegg;
Eleanor, married by Rev. G. W. Maley, Nov. 10,1836, to Henry G.
Weaver; Margaret, lDarried by Rev. Levi White, Dec. 13, 1838, to
Maj. Elbridge G. Ricker; and Mahala, married March 5, 1846, by
Rev. J. W. Clark, to Benjamin F. Penn. Thomas Foster was the
second time married on Dec. 13, 1847, by Rev. Henry WhlLrton, to
Mrs. Elizabeth J{ain, relict of John Kain. He died May 25, 1875.
During his life he WIIS one of the best practical farmers, and by his
industry and skill accumulated a goodly portion of this world's goods,
and, WhlLt is fiLl" more desirable, gained an honoret! and respected Dame.
In his !Lcth'c business days he owned and sold many of the best fal'llls
in Clermont, two of which are specially noted, thosc conveyed to

Daniel Turner, on the East Fork, and to George Duckwall, on Pleasant
Hill. Joseph Raper Foster was born July 20, 1816; was raised on a
farm, but received a good education in our district schools then
rapidly gaining prominence and excellence, an<l subsequently nt­
tended Augusta (Kentucky) College, and had for college mates Col.
William Howard, of Batavia, Willinm S. Gregg, Esq., of Moscow,
and his cousin, Bishop Foster, of the Methodist Episcopal Church,
but failing health compelled him to leave that institution before he
had completed his course of study. He was married by Rev. Robert
Cheney, July 13, 1837, to Miss Susan Ricker, a daughter of Benjamin
Jewett Ricker and 1\Iary Reed (Wilson) Ricker. The former was
born in Poland, 1\Ie., July 7, 1796, and the latter in Durham, of the
same State, Feb. 12, 1800. They were marri~d in Campbell Co., Ky.,
Nov. 24, 1816. Mrs. Susnn (Ricker) Foster is a de~cendant of the
famous Ricker l\.ncestry that settled in New England early in the
seventeenth century, and intermarried with the noted Jewett stock,
and were descended from a most honorable lineage in England in
direct line from Reginald de Wynterwade, a famous baron living in
1066 at the time of the Conquest by William the Conqueror, down
through the Wentworth family, so illustrious in British and American
annals. Her grandfather, Samuel Ricker, moved to Clermont just
after the close of the war of 1812, and settled at Pleasant Hill. To
Joseph R. and Susan (Ricker) Foster were born two children,-a son,
Joseph Raper, who died in infancy; and n. daughter, Mary A.,
marricd to Major E. G. Penn, of Amelia, who filled the position of
clerk of the Clermont Common Pleas Court from 1860 to 1863, and
was one of the best business men of the county. Joseph R. Foster
for thirteen years served acceptably as ma.gistrate, proving himself to
be an nble official. In 1863, 1864, and 1865 he engaged in mercantile
pursuits in Cincinnati, and after his marriage kept store for yenrs nt
Amelia. He was a methodical farmer of excellent mannging abilities
and good tastl.'; also an extcnsive dealer in real eslate, in which his
unerring judgment rendered hiJ;ll successful. At the camp-meeting
at Olive Branch in 1837 he joined the Methodist Episcopal Church,
and remained up to his death a consistent and zealous member, serving
for years as a trustee and steward. He was the first lay delegate from
Clermont to the Cincinnati Annual Conference held at Dayton, Ohio,
in 1871. He served a long timc on the township board of education,
and was largely instrumentnl in promoting and advancing the cause
of education, in which he was greatly interested. Tcmperance found
in him a warm advocate both by precept and example. In all
public cntcrprises and moral reforms he led the way as a pioneer of
advanced thought and action. He contributed largely of his time,
talents, and means to the Bantam fair, and was honored with the
leading positions in its management. In politics he was a pro­
nounced Republican, actively supporting the government in the sup­
pression of the Rebellion. In his death, which occurred at his residence
in AmclilL, on Sept. 1.8, 1871, IL valuable citizen, good neighbor, kind
father, and loving husband was lost. Thirty-four years a most
exemplary member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, his hospitality
to the preachcrs lLnd his liberality in !'upport of the cause of religion
lLnd sound morality were pro\'erbilll, nnd endeared him to the COUl­
munity in which he livell and died honored and revered by all.
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a public hall, a good school building, and eight or ten com­
fortable residences.

The physicians here have been Drs. 1\1oore, Gray, and
the present Dr. Joseph Ricker, living south of the hamlet
towards Palestine.

The post-office bears the name of Locust Corner, and
h:ld as its postmaster in 184~ John Wagner. In 1855
Jacob Clark was appointed, and in 1871 A. P. Felter.
The office is supplied with a daily mail from the New
Palestine office.

AMELIA.

This village hus a pleasant situation on both sides of
the Ohio turnpike, which here forms the boundary-line of
Pierce, and is consequently partly in Batavia township.
It was never regularly laid out, and has been built along
its single street in a somewhat stragglin~ manner, bein~ in
length about a mile. It contains fiue Methodist and Bap­
tist. churches, a handsome Odd-Fellows' hall, a good school
building, and a number of residences, whose general appear­
ance and attractive surroundings are not excelled in the
county. The people are orderly, industrious, and intelli­
gent, many of them being of New England origin, the
first settler::> here being principally from Maine and Massa­
chusetts. The locality was first known as Milton, a cor­
ruption of Milltown, from the hamlet which sprung up
around the mills of Jernegan and Butler. The name of
Amelia was applied when the post-office, which bore that
title, was here established, the term being sel~cted in com­
pliment to Amelia Bowdoin, the respected consort. of
Wesley Bowdoin. In 1841, Greenbury C. Short was the
postmaster, and the office, which has daily mails supplied
by the Cincinnati and Portsm0uth Railroad (which has a
station at Amelia), is at present in charge of J. R. Hicks.
The intermediate postmasters, in the order named, were
William D. Sutton, Cyrus Fairfield, 'V. B. C. Stirling,
James McMahon, ,V. ,V. Sutton, "N. Reeves, William
Pease, J. 'Vhite, W. T. Corley, and B. Behymer.

The first goods were sold by John S. 'Johnston about
1833, in a building which stood on the site of Dr. Moore's
residence. His entire stock in trade was contained in a
large-sized trunk, yet he succeeded as a merchant here and
in other parts of the county, and is at present a banker at
Union City. William Hicks (father of Alexander and Lewis
Hicks: attorneys of Cincinnati) had a good store at an early
day, and later a number of parties were here engaged in
merchandising, some only for short periods. Among these
were Cyrus Fairfield, 'William D. Sutton, Harvey Perin,
John Avey, Clement & Robinson, W. W. Ricker, and In­
crease MOl'se. At present there are in trade David Thomas
and 'William G. Hall, dry goods; Joseph 'White and James
Hicks, grocers j and A, C. Moore, druggist.

At an early day, Joshua Cushman erected a two-story
brick house, at the intersection of the New Richmond road
with the Ohio turnpike, in which, in later years, a public­
house was kept by Thomas Sheldon and Alexander McKib­
ben. <The latter was an Irishman, and. while he kept the
place it had a bad reputation, being a resort for drinking
characters, not only of the county but of Cincinnati.
During the cholera. plague, an omnibus-load of persons
came from that city to spend a Sunday in the country, most

of ·whombecame sick and died of the cholera in the course
of the day. This house wa~ closed after 1850, and has
since been demolished. While it was yet kept public, Jacob
Crist opened a tavern and stage-office in the house at
present kept as the" Smith House," in ~hich he was suc­
ceeded, in 1846, by J. E. Offutt, and seven years later by
James ,Ely, who continued until his death, in 1879. The
latter two kept it as a temperance houRe; and here have
always been the headquarters for the Georgetown stages.
The present" Offutt House," near Ly,'was opened in 1870;
by J. E. Offutt, who has continued the proprietor. From
1838, for four or five years, Dr. A< V. Hopkins kept an ex­
cellent public-house j and not many years ago James F.
Foster had an inn near the centre of the village. In the
westem part of Amelia public-houses are at present kept by
O. Tuttle and Mrs. Silas ·Winans.

Dr. A. V. Hopkins was th~ first permanently located
physician at Amelia, CODling from Batavia before 1840, and
living here until his death, about ten years, ago. The
present physicians are Dr. Cyrus Gaskins (eclectic) and
Dr. A. C. Moore (allopathic), both able practitioners.
Othel' well-known physicians have been Drs. Hubbell, Allen,
Wright, Beulah, and 'V. M. Ingalls, the latter having been
a practitioner until a short time ago.

William 'fownsley was an attorney a short time at Ame­
lia, and the present attorney is M. A. Leeds.

The only regularly laid out village in -the township is

PALESTINE.

It wus laid out on the 11th of September, 1818, by Zach­
ariah Chapman and Christian Ebersole on the Ohio, a little
more than a mile above the mouth of Nine-Mile Creek.
The plat consisted of 52 lots and two streets, running par­
allel wit,h the river,-Front and Main,-with five inter­
secting cross-streets. The proprietors reserved the right to
ferry across the Ohio at any point along the length of t.he
village. Although the original village-site was never fully
occupied, in certain speculative periods a number of addi­
tions were made, some of the lots selling at extravagant
prices, but bringing no benefit to anyone save the owners
of the real estate on which the lots were located.

July 19, 1848, Thomas J. Oxley made an addition of
102 lots on Ten-Mile Creek, reserving a large space for a
public market.

The same year Christian Stime made an addition of 137
lots to the foregoing, with a street called New Richmond,
sixty feet wide.

Aug. 24, 1848, H. E. Wilson's first addition was made;
Sept. 16, 1848, his second addition; and l\brch 1, 1849,
his third addition.

Joseph Fagin made an addition Oct. 23, 1849 j and
May 8, 1849, Joseph H. and Samuel Craighead made an
addition to H. E. Wilson's second addition, reserving lot
No. 55 for church or school purposes. In the spring of
18-19, Oxley's, Wilson's, and Fagin's additions were renum­
bered. Very many of these lots have been vacated, and
now appear as ordinary f~rming-lands, Palestine being but
a place of a few dozen houses, and having no business im­
portance. In 1837 the owners ot' houses at this place were
Zachariah Chapm.~,9, ~homas Cade, Lydia Dryden, and
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Thol11as Kirgan. Chapman and Ebersole owned the entire
George 'Ya:-hington survey, upon which Palcstine is loca
ted, and both lived at this place for a time, Chapman re­
moving to Amelia, where he died.

Christian Ebersole lived on the hill overlooking Pales­
tine until his death, after 1840, when his son Jaeob occu­
pied the homestead; his brother Abraham died in Hamil­
ton County, and Christian yet resides in Cincinnati.

It is ~aid that John Behymer had the first store at Pal­
estine, in the house "belonging to L. 'V. Mooar, which was
the first frame house in the place, and was put up in
1820. At the upper end of the village Samuel Larrabee
began trading, and continued many years. A part of the
house he occupied is now the property of Henry Springer,
but the original site has been wasted away by the action of
the river waves. In this part of Palestine Frank Heisel­
man is at present engaged in merchandising; and on the
turnpike, ncar by Palestine, Jacob Fetzer has a store, and
since 1869 has been the postmaster of the New Palestine
office, which ll3s a daily mail from Cincinnati. Other offi­
cials were, 1850, W. R. J.Jindsey; 1853, William Cotton;
1857, James H. Grant; 1861, 'Villiam R. Lindsey; 1865,
J. T. Townsley; and 1868, John Pearce.

At Fetzer's store are blacksmith- and wagon-shops, car­
ried on by Jacob :I!'etzer; and at Palestine proper, 'William
T. 'Vood manufhctures sieve- and riddle-hoops, employing
several men. From 1840 to 1850, L. 'N. .1\looar had a
cooperage, and that trade is at present carried on by several
parties.

The hills outlying the bottom-lands at Palestine have.
been divided into small farms belonging to industrious Ger­
mans, who are largely engaged in fruit culture and chiefly
in vineyarding, the products being made into wine, or car­
ried to the Cincinnati markets, distant but fifteen miles.
At Palestine is a landing for river steamers and a station of
the Cincinuati and Eastern Railroad.

SECRET ORDERS.

The first organized body was a lodge of Odd-Fellows at
Amelia, which took the former name of that village.

MILTON LODGE, No. 9!l, r. O. O. F.,

was instituted Feb. 3,1848, with Hobert Boyce, Samuel L.
Apple, John 1\1. Robinson, Thomas B. Garlinghouse, Henry
l\.vey, and D. S. James as charter members, the latter
being the Noble Grand. Among the early initiates were
Joseph 'White, Freeman Haskell, Charles Butler, Enos
Smith, John M. King, Jesse Hunt, Lamander Park, Stephen
Gudgeon, S. M. Leeds, William Bragdon, Jacob Potter, R.
J. Phillips, A. B. Jones, 'Villiam D. Sutton, J. L. Hors­
man, David White, Leander Jeffries, Joseph Temple, Wil­
liam Crank, J. Corbley.

In the mllin the lodge has been prosperous, owning at
present a fine hall, a handsome cemetery, and has a good

. membership. Since its institution it has been presided over
by the following Noble Grands:

1848, D. S. James, Robert Boyce; 1849, S. L. Apple,
Enos Smith j 1850, Benjamin Archer, D. White; 1851,
P. S. Jones, James Monjar j 1852, J. Milton McGrew, 'V.
B. C. Stirling; 1853, Ira Fergusolt, Jotham Bragdon;

1854, F. 1\1. Robinson, 'Villiam Arthur; 1855, 'william
Hayford, Joseph 'Vhite j 1856, B. Pompella, Soiomon
Beckett; 1857, C. 1\1. Farland, Erin Cole; 1859, B. W.
Smith, T. W. Rathbone j 1860, J. L. McKay, 'WiIliam
Gaskins; 1861, P. 1\1. Hill, Edward Butler; 1862, John
Wagner, C. 1\1oore; 1863, William Nash, C. 1\1oore; 1864,
John Brunaugh, Joseph 'White; 1865, S. L. Apple, Wil­
liam Crank; 186n, James Dillon, Robert Jeremiah; 1867,
E. G. Penn, B. F. Moyer; 1868, J. D. Stapleton, John S.
Butler; 1869, David Doughty, C. Gaskins; 1870, A. C.
Moore, J. S. Hobinson; 1871, 'V. \V. Rickel', F. 1\1.
Edwards; 1872, C. 'V. Kirgan, L. A. Kirgan; 1873, S.
Dial, G. W. Rymell; 1874, J. 'V. 'Viltsee, James Coulter;
1875, George Schmitz, Hugh 'Vest.; 1876, 'V. T. Mc­
Donough, A. S. Corbley; 1878, E.•J. Hancock, B. L.
Harris; 1879, E. L. Bennett, S. T. Prentice; 1880, B.
Behymer.

Al\IELIA LODGE, No. 2!l9, F. AXD A. 1\1.,

was organized under a dispensat.ion in 1858, receiving a
charter the ensuing year, the following members belonging
at that time: John H. Taylor, A. V. Hopkins, Abraham
Miles, Lewis Weaver, Presley Tedrow, John Brunaugh,
F. 1\1. Robinson, J. ,Y. Hopkins, 'V. 'V. Hopkins, and F.
1. Weaver. Among the Masters were F. .1\1. Robinson and
W. G. Hall. At the breaking out of the late war so many
of the members went into the army tllUt the organization
of the lodge could only with difficulty be maintained, and
in 1865 it was allowed to wholly go down.

A1\IELIA ENCAMPMENT, No. 45, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted March 8, 1851, with charter members as fol­
lows: Aaron B. Jones, J. Milton McGrew, Joseph Hat­
field, Charles S. Hatfield, Peter S. Jones, Harvey Sutton,
Benjamin Archer, James Monjar, and Nathaniel Temple.
In January, 1880, the encampment had 29 active and 23
dormant members, and the officers were W. W. Sherman,
C. P.; G. 'V. Rymell, H. P.; L. A. Kirgan, S. 'V.; J.
W. Foster, J. 'V.; A. C. 1\1oore, Scribe; and James Coul­
ter, Treas.

The records of the encampment prior to 1871 are not
accessible, but since that year the Cllief Patriarchs have been
Albert Fagin, David Doughty, Abner Judd, Geo. Schmitz,
1. A. Kirgan, George W. Rymell, James Coulter, John
Pease, Gavrnrd Pease, 'Villiam :McDonough, .J. W. Foster,
E. 1. Hancock, John Brunaugh,Joseph Boden, O. S.
Tuttle, and J. S. Butler.

The following brethren have been representatives to the
Grand Encampment of the State: 1865, P. S. Jones; 1866,
J. D. Hatfield; 1867, P. S. Jones; 1868, B. Pumpelly;
1870, S. L. Apple j 1872, '76, '77, A. C. Moore; 1879,1\'1.
E. Grand High Priest, Dr. A. C. 1\1oore.

The encampment holds its meetings in the comfortable
h~1l of Milton Lodge, and has among its numbers some of
the brightest members of the craft in the county.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

One of the first school-houses in the township stood on
an island of the Ten-Mile Creek, below the old meeting­
house. It was scarcely more than a hut, having when
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ABNER BUTLER.

Abner Butler was born April 2, 1790, in Edgar­

town, l\fass. He came to Clermont County in 1814,

with his widowed mother, brother am] sisters, at the

saID:e ti me those old sea-capt'tins, Marti n Pease,

Pinkham, and Rathbone emigrated, and who came

from near the same locality, Martha's Vineyard.

He was marl'ied to Tabitha Moredock, Jan. 14,

1818. She was born March 18, 1801, and hy her

he had the following children: Fernando C., AlLert

Dean, Sarah Jane, Timothy, Elizabeth, George 1\'1ore­

dock, l\fary 1\'1argaret, and Laura Anll Butler, all

of whom are living save Sarah Jane, who diE'd with

the cholera Aug. 15, 1851. He was a good practi­

cal farmer, owning one hundred and fifty-two acres

in Pierce township, most of which he had cleared

from the unbroken forest and converted into a beauti­

ful homestead. He was an indulgent father, a good

neighbor, and a believer in an all-wise and just God,

and favored the Universalist doctrine, though a mem­

ber of no church.

He died Nov. 29, 1870, and left an ample com­

petence fOl' his widow. In politics he was a Demo­

crat of the Jeffersonian school, and believed in a

plain, economical government. During the fifty­

six years of his residence in the county he witnessed

great changes, seeing the wilderness give way to

beautiful farms, and enterprising towns and villages

spring up.

A. D. BUTLER.

Albert Dean Butler, the son and second child of

Ahner and Tabitha (Moredock) Butler, was born in

Ohio township (now part of Pierce), in this county,

Sept. 6, 1823. He was married by Rev. W. Y.

Emmet, of Cincinnati, April 20, 1848, to Louisa

Pnmpelly, who was born June 30, 1828, in Maine.

She was the daughter of Bernard and Rhoda (Chase)

Pumpelly, and came to Clermont with her parents

in 1838. Albert enjoyed the confidence of his father,

Abnel', who made him the executor of his will. He

has served several years as trustee of Pierce town­

ship, also as a member of its school board, and as a

directOl' in the Agricultural Fair at Bantam. He is

a thorough farmer, and II}s fine farm lies Oll the New

Richmond and Ohio turnpike, of which he was

formerly president, about six miles from Batavia.

He mid his wife have never had any children, but

have reared George Everett Daily, SOll of a deceased

sister of Mr. Butler, and also reared Amelia Chase

Mellen, now a young lady of fifteen years, and a

niece of Mrs. Butler. Mr. Butler is an admirable

business man, of fine tastes and clear judgment, and'

his sncccss as an agricultUl:ist is shown in his ele­

gant homestead and improved style of' farming.
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first used, in the summer of 1814, no doors or windows.
1'he teacher was Isaac Sampson, an Irishman of convivial
habits, and the pupils were chiefly furnished by the Eppert,
Behymer, Donham, Lindsey, and Fitzpatrick families, some
of the pupils being young women grown. . Several years
later another school was opened on the Joseph Behymer
p!ace, which was first taught by John Brown and James
Stcwart. On the Short farm another school was opened not
long after, and about the same time the school on the
:Michael Behymer place and the one north of Lin.dale.
Among tIle teachers of this period were Daniel Bailiff,
William D. Richards, E. S. Ricker, Benjamin Ricker, and
John Douglas.

A commendable degree of interest has been manifested
in school8, and higher education has been encouraged to
the extent of establishing and maintaining a local acad­
emy at Pleasant Hill. The building (a respectable frame)
wa~ erected about 1845 by a joint-stock company. composed
of thc citizens of this part of the township, chiefly the
Rickers, Duckwalls, and Behymers. The first session of
school was taught by John Ferguson j and other teachers
were W. "W. Ricker, Gco. 'V. Hulick, and -- Broadwell.
The academy was generally well attended, but since the
common school::; have become so excellent no school has
there been maintained. For the past ten years the building
has been used as a public hall. At Amelia, in 1879, a
select school was taught in the Odd-Fellows' building by
F. 1\1. Robinson, which was attended by thirty pupils.

In 1853 the first board of education was organized, with
the following members, the first-named of each list of local
directors being thc clerk:

District No. 2.-James T. Wood, Abram Gaskins,
John Gaskins.

District No.3.-William D. Sutton, Elias Nash, Vin­
cent Troy.

District No. 4.-John Wagner, Benjamin Archer, Fer­
nando Butler.

District No. 5.-Andrew Coombs, Absalom Leeds,
Thomas 'V. Rathbone.

District No. 6.-E. G. Ricker, John Behymer (3d),
Michael Behymer.

District No. 7.-Wm. Eppert, Isaac Vail, B. W. Peuse.
District No. 8.-A. J. 1\101in, George 'Veil', Emory

Cramer.
District No. 9.-C. P. Hayford, Eo B. 'Warren, John

Cox.
District No. 10.-James 1\1orin, James J.Jewis, Reuben

Laycock.
District No. 11.-Jacob Ebersole, Philip Lindsey, Isaiah

Lindsey.
Andrew Coombs was the pre8ident of the board, and E.

S. Ricker clerk. An enumeration of the youth of school
uge showed 539 females and 547 males. The amount paid
for tuition was $1311.25.

The sub-districts have been enlarged, the number in
1879 being but eight. William C. Coombs was president
of the board of education, E. B. Pearce clerk, and the
associate members were Christian Ebersole, 'V. D. Gaskins,
Lewis Nash, F. O. Butler, Hiram D. Tone, A. S. Corbley,
and John F. Townsley.

The township is provided with a £'1ir class of school
buildings, and in some districts they are rather above the
average. In 1879 the entire amount appropriated for the
support of schools was $6920.35, of which $2406.75 were
paid to teachers for their twenty-nine weeks' services that.
year. No report was rendered of the number of pupils en­
rolled and other statistics pertaining to the schools.

HELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

The oldest religious society in the township, and, indeed,
one of the oldest in the county, was organized Sept. 2,
1802, at what is now 'Vithamsville, in Union township.
This afterwards became

THE FIRST TEN-MILE REGULAR BAPTIST CHURCH,

for years the most. important religious body of Pierce. At
the date above given the covenant of church fellowship was
signed by Maurice Witham, William Robb, Abraham Rid­
ley, Mary.John, Patience Ridley, Catherine BeQnett, Olive
Bennett. To this small membership were added, as the
country settled up, \Villiam Abercrombie, Timothy Ridley,
Nathaniel Reeves, Nicholas Prickett, James Bennett, Jo­
siah Prickett, Nathaniel Donham, Hezekiah Lindsey, Na­
dlaniel Witham, William Donham, 'Villiam Laycock, Hugh
Ferguson. Samuel Long, John Donham, Hiram Gray, John
Gilman, Abel Donham, Samuel Tibbitts, John Crawford,
Sanford Te,;ell, Peter Fagin. Mary Gtay, :Mary Reeves,
Hannah Reeves, Sally John, Lavina Fagin, Peggy Prickett,
Mary Donham, Betsey Gilman, Susan Scoville, Catherine
Behymer, Ann Ridlin, Lucy McOord, :Mary Ferguson,
Eliza Lindsey, and Polly Wood.

Hev. William Robb was the first pastor of the church,
although tIle .Rev. Maurice Witham also preached when
occasion offered, and in 1804 assumed the pastorate. In
December, 1809, he was succeeded by W~lliam Robb, whose
connection with the church was long continued, and about
1830 Elder Isaac Ferris became the pastor j and thereafter
among the ministers of the church were W. B. Hancock,
Elder Hopper, John 'V. Riley, George Sapp, and William
Spaldon. In addition to these, "~lark Stinchfield was
given, in 1817, liberty to improve his public gift in the
bounds of the church j" the same privilege was granted to
Hezekiah Lindsey and John Wheeler.

Among the early deacons were the brethren Pl'ickett,
Ridley, Lindsey, Laycock, and Gray. Until 1825, Sanford
Tewell was the church clerk, followed by Abel and Robert
Donham, Thomas Littleton, and H. Gray.

In August, 1803, John 'Warren, James Bennett, and
William Robb were appointed to build a meeting-house j

and until this could be done the meetings were held at the
house of James Bennett. The records do not state that a
meeting-house was erected, but there is a tradition that a
log house was put up for the use of the church at 'With­
amsville; but as the location was not central for the mem­
bership, in 1812 two and a half acres of land were pur­
cllased from the farm of Samuel Behymer, on Ten-Mile
Creek, on which to erect a new meeting-house. It appears
to have been occupied first in 1814, but was not supplied
with a stove until 1820, when J. Donham was authorized
"to procure iron to make a stove." The house was used
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us a place of worship until 1851, when Henry Gray, A.
Fagin, and E. Behymer, as a building committee, were
authorized to erect a new meeting-house at Ten-Mile, 30 by
40 feet. It is a frame building, and yet stands in that 10­

.cality, being at present used by a society of Christians.
In March, 18:1:0, the church enjoyed a most retll<lrkuble

revival which resulted in 43 baptisms. But in August of
the same year the membership was diminished by 30
members who withdrew in consequence of a letter sent to
the Association, relating to church government, to which
they would not subscribe. For a time these worshiped in
the old meeting-house, but at the end of a year a small
house was built in the same neighborhood which these Old.
School Baptists occupied until their organization was aban­
doned, about twent.y-five years later.

Meantime, the death of the older members and the
changes in population had materially affected the pros­
peI'ity of the church, and the question of changing the
place of wor~hip was seriously considered. On the 4th of
July, 1868, it was voted that the church interests be trans­
ferred to Amelia, and on the 5th of December of the same
year the first moeting there was held at Odd-Fellows' Hall,
March 25, 1871; a reorganization of the Old Ten-Mile
Church followed, and the present

A",IELIA BAPTIST CHURCH

was formed, with Thomas Littleton, J~mma Beckett, Nancy
Bogart, James Williams, Richard Kelley, Susan Hanley,
:NIary and Amanda McDonald, Sarah 'Yindsor, Hannah
Peoples, Martha Donham, Maria Fagin, Nancy and Lucy
Gray, Nancy Swem, Eben and Lavina Behymer, Hannah
Bennett, Diadema Behymer, and Margaret Doughty, as
members.

At this time the Rev. E. R. Hera was the p.stor, and
continued that relation until February, 1878. For a time
the pulpit was thereafter. filled by supplies, but on the 5th
of July, 1879, Rev. J, Hawkins became the pastor, and
yet continues.

Since its location at Amelia the church has been prosper­
ous, having at present more than 100 members, while the
aggregate number who have belonged has been 1GO. The
church clerk in 1879 was Dr. A. S. Moore, and the deacons,
A. S. Corbley, William Hancock, and George De Garino.

The present comfortable meeting-house occupied by the
church was consecrateu Oct. 20, 187:-3, the sermon being
preached by the Hev. J. R. Baumes.

'fHE CHRISTIE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH AT
A",IELlA.

Prior to 18·U the Methodists of this part of the county
had their connection with Union chapel. In the 'Year
named a new society was organized by the Rev. William H.
Lawder, having among its members John S. Johnson~ Da­
vidson Sutton, 'Villiam B. Pease, John Brnnaugh, David
J emegan , John E. Offutt, .Michael Short, Jonathan Dun-

. ham, Tl'istam Pease, and, in most cases, the wives of the
foregoing. l'he same yeur a brick meeting-house was built
by a committee composed of 'Vesley Bowdoin, David Jer­
negan, and William B. Pease, at a cost of 81600. This
was the place of worship until the full of 1879, when the
building was remodeled and enlarged-by adding ten feet to

the front, and four feet to the height of t.he walls. . Stained
windows were provided, the walls frescoed, and the house
newly seated, making it one of the most ~ttractive churches
in the county. At its consecration it received the name of
Christie Church. in honor of the esteemed Rev. William B.
Christie, one of Clermont's most eloquent Methodist minis­
tel's; and the sermon was preached by the Rev. Dr. Payne, of
Delaware College. The property is valued at $5000, and in
1879 was controlled by trustees Benjamin Frazee, C. 1\1oore,
Jam~ Hicks, \Varren Penn, Ephraim Short, Richard Ry­
mel, and David J ernegan. The parsonage of Amelia Cir­
cuit was purchased in 1834, and remodeled in 1870. At
Amelia are 130 Methodists, forming four classes, having as
leaders William B. Pease (for forty-five years), Ephraim
Short, Richard Rymel, and David J ernegan. A flourish­
ing Sunday-school has William G. Hall for superintendent.

The church at Amelia and other l\lethodist societies in
this part of the county have sustained various conference
and circuit relations. In 1798 the Rev. John Kobler was
sent. to this part of the State by the Kentucky Conference,
to organize Methodist classf's and prepare the way for the
ministers of the Miami Circuit, which was established the
following year, with bounds limited only by a four-weeks'
ride. In 1808, Miami Circuit was divided and White
Oak' Circuit formed, embracing Amelia and all Methodist
Churches in Southern Clermont and Brown County. 'rhis
relation was continued until 1830, when New Richmond
Circuit was formed, from which Amelia received its minis­
terial supply until 1850, since when it has come from
Amelia Circuit, of the Ripley District of the Cincinnati
Conference. Below is a complete list of circuit preachers
and presiding elders who have preached at Amelia and in
the surrounding country:

PREACHERS IN CHARGE.

1799-1800, Henry Smith; 1801, E. Bowman, Benjamin Young; 1802,
Elisha Bowman; 180:3, John Sale, Jo~eph Oglesby; 1804, John
Meek, Abraham Amos; 1805, Benjamin Lakin, Joshua Reggin;
1806, Benjamin Lakin, John Collins; 18U7, Samuel Parker, Hector
Sanford; 1808, Da\'id Young; 1809, John Johnson; 1810, Isaac
Pavey; 1811, Benjamin Lakin, Eli Trentt; 1812, W. Griffith;
Reuben Rowe; 1813, It. W. Finley; 1814, Robert W. Finley, D.
Sharp; 1815, John Strange, S. Chenoweth; 1816, John Strange,
Isaac Pavey; 1817, W. Griffith, Jailles Simmons; 1818, B. West­
lake, S. T. Wells; 1819, F. Landrum; 1820, William Page, L.
Swormstedt; 1821, A. W. J!;lIiott, Z. Connell; 1822, William Puge,
Benjamin Lawrence; 1823, D. D. Dayiuson, Samuel West; 1824,
G. W.Maley, J. Everhart; 1825, G. R. Jones, W. J. Thompson;
1826, G. R. Jones, Le\'i White; 1827, A. W. Elliott, Levi White;
1828, A. W. Elliott, A. F. Baxter, James Smith; 1829, B. West­
lake, A. F. Baxter, J. W. Finley; 18::\0, William D. Banett,
James Lt'euer, n. Frazee; 1831, John Collins; 1832, John Collins,
John Ulin; 1833, Isaac C. Hunter, H. E. Pilcher; 1834, John
Collim, William T. Hand; 1835, Z. Connell, G. W. Maley; 1836,
Z. Connell, Robert Cheney j 1837, D. Whitcomb, W. Parrish; 1838,
Levi White, E. D. Roc; 183\1, Levi White, G. R. Jones; 1840, G.
R. Jones, William H. Fyffe; 1841, Ed. Estell, Wesley Rowe; 1842,
William Simmons, Ed. Estell; 1843, William H. Lawder, J.
A. McLaughlin; 1846, J. W. Clarke, Jos. Gasner; 1847, Jos.
Young; 1844, Willinm II. Lawder, J. Barton; 1845, J. W. Clarke,
Gasner, C. W. Scars; 1848, Nathaniel Westerman, JOB. Gatch;
1849, Nuthaniel Westerman, Levi P. MiliCI'; 1850-51, John W.
Fowble, Trnman S. Cowder; 1852, N. W. Tibbetts, E. D. Hoe;
1853, .J. S. Pengrine, J. C. ~faddy; 185,1, J. S. Pengl"ine, J. M.
Sullh"unt; 1855, Levi P. Miller, 1\1. Bitler j 1856,.J. W. Fowble,
L. B. Miller; 1857, J. W. Fowble; 1858, William E. Hines, JesiJe
R. Hall; 1859-60, B. Gla.scoek, W. Q. Shannon; 1861, A. V.
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Beall, James Armstrong; 1862, J. C. Maddy, James Armstrong;
1863, M. P. Zink, J. Stephenson; 1864, W. Young, R. M. Thomp­
l'on; 1865, William Young, H. C. Middleton; 1866, Albert N.
Sparh, H. C. Middleton; 1867, A. N. Splll-h, W. Rutledge; 1868,
J. W. Sullivlln, W. Rutlege; 1869, J. W. Sulli"nn, J. C. Maddy;
1870, J. M. Rohinl'on, C. Kalbfus; 18il, J. M. R~binson, J.
R. Hunter; 1872, E. F. Hill, L. 1\L Davis, S. McDonald; 1873­
74, L. Prince, W. P .•Taekson; 1875, L. 1\'1. Dnvis, W. T. Baker;
1876, L. l\L Davis; 1877-78, Prank Leever; 1879, John Vance.

ELDERS.

1799-1802, William l\IeKendrye; 1803-5. William Burk; 1806-9, John
Sale; 1810-12, Solomon Langdon; 1813-14, S. Parker; 1815, John
Sale; 1816-17, 1\'1. Crume; 1818-20, John Sale; 1821, John
Strange; 1822,J. B. Finley; 1823-26, John Collins; 1827-30, G.
R. Jones; 18:n-32, James B. Finley; 1833, Thomas A. Morris;
1834-35, Leroy Swormstedt; 1836-39, William B. Christie; 1840­
42, William H. Raper; 1843-46, 1\L Marlay; 1847-50, Joseph M.
Tremble; 1851-54, J. F. Wright; 1855-58, William Young; 1859
-62, John W. Fowble; 1863-66, James Kendall; 1867, J. G.
BIn.ck; 186R-iO, S. Bennett; 1871, Alexander l\fll.hara; 1872-73,
J. K. Chnlfllnt; 1874-75, Granville Moody; 1876-79, W. 1. Fee.

PLEASA~T HILL METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Among other early :Methodists in this part of the county
were Thomas Medaris, Samuel Ricker, Elijah Mattox,
Richard Cord, Elijah Mattox, Jr., Thomas Woods, 'fhomas
Manning, John, Michael, and Daniel Behymer. The first
meetings were held at the house of Samuel Ricker and
other places until ubout 18BO, when a small brick meeting­
house was erectcd near where is now the academy building.
Ten or twelve years later the present house of worship was
erected to afford the growing society larger accommoda­
tions. Recent repairs have placed the house in good con­
dition, and it is controlled by trustees Daniel Behymer,
l\1ichael Behymer, John Behymer, Henry Bellymer, Ben­
jamin Mattox, Hiram Tone, and Thomas :Mattox. The
church has about 80 ~embers, belongs to Amelia Oircuit,
and has Thomas Tone as a local prcacher. Hiram Tone is
the supcrintendent of the Sunday-school.

At Palestine a small meeting-house was built about 18B5,
in which the l\lethodi~tsand other denominations preached,
having also organizations which were not long continued.
The last to attempt services there with any regularity were
the Baptists. About ten years ago, through the efforts of
the Hev. Spaldoll, a small society was formed, which has
already gone down, and only occasional preaching is there
held by the Methodists and United Brethren.

THE NINE-MILE METHODIST PROTESTANT CHURCH

was incorporated Dec. 23, 1870, with John Gray, Thomas
Rose, Aaron Hopper, A. W. Hibben, and George Sheldon
trustees, and the Rev. P. F. Johnson pastor. A house of
worship was begun northeast of Pleasant Valley, which
was never completed, the society having transferred its
place of worship to Hamil-ton County.

THE PLEASANT VALLEY UNITED BRETHREN CHURCH.

Formerly members of this faith held meetings in a log
house above Pleasant Valley, and later at the brick school­
house, where the church was formed in April, 1877, by
the Rev. S. F. Kuhns, about 30 persons uniting in church
fellowship. Jacob Behymer was selected as the class­
leader. On the 7th qf' April, 1877, the church became a
corporate body, with J. :M. Behymer, G~orge Behymer, E.

B. John, Lewis Behymer, John Welch, and James E.
Parvin as trustees. About this time the present church
edifice: a frame of respectable proportions, was begun, and
consecrated the following November by Bishop Dixon..
The church has at present about 100 members, who are
under the pastoral direction of the Rev. S. McCorkle, whose
predecessors were the Revs. D. N. Howe and S. F. Kuhns.
The stewards are Oharles Troy and Ezra John. For many
years a Sunday-school has been maintained in this neigh­
borhood, which has for its present superintendent Josephus
Reed.

TIlE CHRISTIAN CHURCH A'r TEN-MILE

has a growing congregation and an increasing membership.
It has but recently been organized. The old Ten-Mile
Baptist meeting-house has been repaired, and is used as the
place of worship. Close at hand is a neatly-kept .burial­
ground, and at other points in the township afe appropriate

"burial-grounds, cared for by religious societies and indi­
viduals of the neighborhood in which they· are located.

.1.

BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HES.

ELBRIDGE G. RICKER.

The Ricker family is of pure English estrnction, being
honorably associated with the Puritan annuls of New
England from the landing of the" Mayfio1Vel''' in 1620
to the successful close of the Revolutionary struggle. This
noted family was connected by marriage and intermarriage
with the-Jewett stock, and traces its lineage back in Great
Britain to the conquest of England by William the Con­
queror in 1066, and through" the illust.rious line of Went­
worths to Reginald de Wynterwade, a ba.ron of great power
and wealth of that day.

Samuel, son of Jabez nnd Mary (Wentworth) Ricker,
wns born in Berwick, Me., July 7,1766, and on Jan. 17,
17~0, married SUEnna, daughter of Benjamin nnd :\Iary
Jewett, who was born :March 28, 1770, in Londonderry,
N. H. In 1814, Samuel Ricker moved with his fitmily to
Pleasant Hill, Clermont 00., Ohio, where he died :March
10, 1838, and his wife, Susana (Jewett), died Oct. 20,
1855. The following were their chIldren: !tufus, born
April 3, 1i91, in Sandford, 1\1e., and who dicd June 29,
1846; Jabez, bol'U in Poland, Me., May 25, 1794, taught
the first school in Union school·house in Monroe town­
ship, was' never marricd, and' was drowued Jun. 12, 1821,
in the Arkansas HiveI'; Be"njamin Jewett, bOl'n in Poland,
Me., July 7, 1796; Samuel, born in Poland, Me., Feb. B,
1800; Susana, born in Poland, Me., Nov. 1, 1802, married
John Fitzpatrick, nnd died Sept. 10,1854; Eben S. Ricker,
born in Poland, Me., March 9, 1805, and who married,
Feb. 10, 1828, Harriet, daughter of John and Mnry PUlU­

pelIy, and died March 1, 1879; and the Inst (:hild, Darius,
born April 25, 1810, and died July 15, 1855.

Benjamin Jewett Ricker was married, Nov. 24,1816,
ill Omupbell Co., Ky., to Mary Heed WillSon, born ill Dur­
ham, Me., Feb. 12,1800. He died Oct. 10: 1861, and she
died in December, 1859. Both for over half n century were
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members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Their chil­
dren were Elbridge Gerry Ricker, born in Clermont Co.,
Ohio, July 31, 1818; Susan, born in Rush Co., Ind., Dec.
22, 1821, and married to Joseph R. Foster; Adaline'Vil­
son, born Nov. 16, 1824, in H.ush Co., Ind., and married
to Benjamin Frazee; lUary Ann, born in H.ush Co., Ind.,
Nov. 26, 1827, and married to Jacob Clark; and William
Wilson Ricker, born in Clermont County, Aug. 1, 1832.
He was liberally educated at the best schools in Southern
Ohio, but made farming his occupation, in which he became
one of the most noted agriculturists in the State. Fruits,
berrics, and grapes were a specialty with him, and he car­
ried their culture to an excellence that gave him a marked
reputation. He very early identified himself with the anti­
slavery cause, and among the freedom agitators was known
for his, warm advocacy of the rights of the negro slave. In
1855 he was elected to the Ohio Legislatul'e as representa­
tive, together with William 'Vest, from Clermont, and in the
House made a aseful member. He was ill Ohio one of the
founders.. of the Republican party ill 1854-55, and had a
great influence in shaping its councils in a manner that led
to its success in that State. In 1863 he was elected treas­
urer of Clermont Counl.y, and for two years made an effi­
cient officer, receiving and di8bursing the public funds with
scrupulous honesty and care. In the war of the Rebellion
he was major ot' the Fifth Ohio Cavalry, and by his gallant
conduct in the service won a glorious name. He united
with the Methodist Epilicopal Church in 1833, and until his
death was a zealous and consistent member.

He was often a member of the township board of educa­
tion, and in the educational cause, as in temperance and all
other moral reforms, he took an active part, as is illustrated
by the fact that when a member of the Legislature he taught
a Sunday-school class of convicts in the Ohio penitentiary.
For quite a period he had charge of the experimental farm
of Farmers' College, at Cincinnati, of which he was for
years one of the board of directors and professor of agricul­
ture. He was a man of comprehensive views, high char­
acter, and inflexible integrity. He left an honored name,
and the impress of his career of usefulness will long be felt
in the county, and his memory respected for his good deeds
and unstained public life. He died nlarch 10, 1876, and
his widow still resides at the elegant homestead at Pleasant
Hill, some two miles from the Ohio River, and three­
fourths of a mile fl'om the New Richmond branch of the
Cincinnati and Eusteru Hailroad. He was married by
Hcv. Levi 'White, Dec. 13, 1838, to Margaret Foster,
daughter of Capt. Thomas Foster and Sarah (Raper) Fos­
ter, and a gl'anddaughtel' on the paternal side of Thomas
Foster, an early emigrant from England to Virginia, 'and
on the maternal side a granddaughter of Leonard Haper,
educated in London, Englund, and a governmeIJt surveyor
in the Northwest Territory. From this union of the 'Vent­
worth-Jewett-Hicker house with the Foster-Raper (Twigg-

. Holly on the female side) stock, all of honored lineage,
were born the following children: Benjamin Jewett Ricker,
born Sept. 14, 1840, enlisted in the Union army as a pri­
vate in the Thil·ty-fourth Ohio Vulunteers, promoted to the
rank of orderly sergeant, then to lL lieutenancy, then to be
captain, and finally major, and at the battle of Fayetteville,

in West Virginia, Sept. 10, 1862, he was shot through the
left hand, through the right arm, and through the right
side. After the close of the Rebellion he was admitted to
the Clermont bar, and having removed to Topeka, Kansas,
there practiced law with great success for seven yeal's,
until the death of his father compelled his return to Cler- .
mont to look after the large estate of the deceased. The
second child was Rozella A., born April 1,1842, and married'
to Dr. Edwin Freeman, of Cincinnati, where he has a large
practice as a physician, and is the professor of anatomy in
the Eclectic Medical College of that city and a surgeon in
the Ninth Army Corps. He has two sons, Foster Ricker and
Edwin, and one daughter, Rozella Margaret. The thiI'd
son, Thomas Foster, was born Sept. 23, 1843, and in the
Rebellion, as a brave soldier fighting for the Union, lost his
left leg in battle at Atlanta, Ga., in August, 1864, and died
at home 1\1ay 11, 1874, never having fully recovel'cd from
his wound. Muria Rickel', fourth child of E. G. and l\!al'­
garet Hickel', was born July 24, 1845, and died unmarried
July 8, 1872. Edward, the fifth child, was born Oct. 8,
1846. The sixth child ,was .Toseph Trimble Ricker, born
May 18, 1848, married Miss Kate 'Vinspeare, of Pierce
township, whose parents were from New York State, and
by her he has one child, Benjamin Jewett Ricker, the
only great-grandson of Benjamin (Benjamin Jewett Rickel',
son of Samuel). He is a physician, and resides at Pleasant
Hill, where he has an extensive practice, The youngest
child, Sallie Foster Rickel', born Nov. 22, 1855, married
'William T. Simpson, of College Hill, Cincinnati, a son of
the well-known Hobert Simpson, the leading life-insurance
agent of Ohio. The Elbridge Gerry Ricker mansion is
pleasantly located in Pierce township, and its elegant sur­
roundings mark the taste of the hospitable dwellers therein,
as well as the discerning judgment of its owner for so long
a period, now deceased, but living in his spotless reputation
and memory, and in worthy descendants true to their lung
line of honored ancestors.

LE'VIS NASH.

Among the earliest pioneers of Clermont County was the
father of William Nash, who about 1795 emigrated from
Maryland to Kent~cky. William Nash, born in 1794 in
Maryland, was but three years old when his parents, in 1797,
removed from Kentucky and settled on Little Indian Creek,
in this county, where he remained until his sixteenth year,
when his parents moved to what is now Pierce township,
and purchased what is known as the }Jlias Nash farm.
Then a solitary bridle-path was the only road from Little
Indian to Cincinnati, whither the early settlers went on
horseback to trade, and at which little backwoods village
they bought their salt, packing it by the half-bushel back
to· their cabins on borses. From where Moscow now stands
to the Queen Uity of the West hardly a tree had been cut.
William Nash, of German extraction, married in 1822 Miss
Ruth Lewis, at the residence of the well-known Chapman
Archer, and with her he lived upwards of threescore years.
They were the parents of the following children: Lewis,
the subject of this sketch; Ezekiel; William, deceased;
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John B., died in infancy; Elizabeth ..(deceased), first mar­
ried to John 'V. Hulick, and the second time to Gano
MartiQ; Annie (deceased), married to Joseph Martin; and
Angeline, who died when about eight years old. William
Nash was a good farmer, and in his occupation took pride
and made it a success, and by his industry and frugality
acquired a competency, and gave a good home to each of
bis five children who reached maturity. He was a man of
high integrity, whose word was as good as his bond; in poli­
tics a J aekson Democrat, and in religion a Baptist. He

died in August, 1878, in his eighty-fourth year of age, at
the residence of his youngest son, Lewis Nash, with
whom he made his home some time prior to his death, and
his wife, Ruth, died some two years previous. Lewis Nash,
youngest son of William and Ruth Nash, was' born March
16, 1828, and was married June 9, 1850, to Rebecca,
daughter of Samuel Weaver. She died October 29, 1855,
leaving one child, George W. Nash, of Moscow, in this
county. On November 6, 1856, he was married to a
sister of his former companion, Catherine 1\1. 'Weaver, by
whom he had three children,-IGa E., Rosa B., and Eben
F. Nash. His second wife died May 8,1867, and on May
17, 1868, he was married to Clara L. Moore, daughter of
James C. Moore, for many years county surveJor of' Cler­
mont. Mr. Nash for several years has been a member of the
Independent Order of Odd·Fellows, and belongs to Milton
Lodge, No. 99, at Amelia. Is a member of no church, a
decided Republican in his political proclivities, and greatly
interested in educational matters. His occupation is that
of farming and general fruit-growing, and he is hardly sur­
passed in the county in the cultivation of raspberries, straw­
berries, and blackberries, the production of which he makes a
specialty. In 1880 his crop of strawberries exceeded five
hundred bushels, for which he found a ready market in Cin-

56

cinnati, only fifteen miles distant. His berries lIe ships to
the city by wagons at night-time, where in the morning
they are offered by the commission houses fresh to custom­
ers. The fruit and berry culture in Clermont has become
'exceedingly profitable to those farmers of tact and taste who,
like Mr. Nash, understand thoroughly their raising and
care. Mr. Nash is oneof our best citizens, a man of great
public spirit, and his fine homestead, with its commodious
residence and tasteful and pleasant surroundings, mark him
as a model farmer, whose industry, careful management,
and educated taste have secured him the substantials of life
and a happy, delightfUl home.

JACOB EBERSOLE.

In the early part of the eighteenth century the Ebersole
family emigrated from Germany, and settled in the State of
Mary~and, where its members became large and prosperous
planters. Christian Ebersole married in Maryland, emi­
grated about the year 1795 to Maysville, Ky., and aft~r­

wards to near Lexington, in that State, where his son,
Christian S. Ebersole, was born in 1799, and in 1802 he
moved to Ohio, settling near the mouth of the Little Miami
River. In 1808 he erected the old Ebersole homestead
mansion, now occupied by Thomas Brook.s. He had three
sons, Christian S., Abraham, and Jacob, and several daugh­
ters, one of whom, Catherine, was the second wife of the
late Robert Fee, of Moscow, and three of whom died in
the summer of 1843,-one of these, Elizabeth, being very
beautiful and accomplished. Christian Ebersole was one of
the earliest s~ttlers and pioneers of Columbia township,
Hamilton Co., Ohio, and died shortly before 1840, his wife
havinK died in 1821. Christian S. Ebersole, brother of
Jacob, settled in Oakley, on the Marietta Railroad, in 1843,
but sold out and located where he now is, at Madisonville,
in 1871, where he continues to hold the homestead prop.
erty of one hundred and eighty acres, besides several val­
uable tracts of building property in Madisonville and else.
where. His residence is a handsome cottage, in the centre
of a lot of ground one hundred feet square. It is built in
a tasty and roomy manner, and finished in a style of luxury
quite inconsistent with the humble name given to it by its
opulent proprietor,-" :Plte Log CaMn." Jacob Ebersole
was born in Columbia township, Hamilton Co., Ohio, Oct.
25, 1812, and received a good education, and in after-years
became a man of extensive reading and varied research.
On Sept. 3, 1843, he was mar;ied by Rev. Edward Scofield
to Lydia Ann Rogers, daughter of Dr. John G. Rogers
and his wife Julia (Morris) Rogers, and granddaughter of
Hon. Thomas Morris, United States senator from Ohio
from 1833 to 1839. By this marriage were born two chil­
dren,-Elizabeth, married to Hon. Wayland W. Sutton, a

. merchant of Cincinnati, and George Ebersole, in the com­
mission business in that city. 1\11'13. Lydia Ann (Rogers)
Ebersole died some three years subsequent to her marriage,
and on June 5, 1850, J-acob Ebersole was married in Hich­
mond, Madison Co., Ky., to Elizabeth Rachel Hall, daugh­
ter of J'oseph Hall, originally from Connecticut, and of his
wife, Mary (Walker) Hall. Elizabeth Rachel (Hall) Eber-
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sole was born in Maysville, Mason Co., Ky., and was a. lady
of many accomplishments. Her mother, now Mrs. Jones,
but previous to her second marriage Mrs. Joseph Hall, was
originally l\'1ary Walk~r, and was born in County Antrim,
Ireland, where she was the schoolmate of Sarah Ann (Mol-'
yneaux) Rog~rs, present wife of Dr. John G. Rogers, and
also the late prominent New Richmond merchant, Hugh
Gilmore, and his wife Jane (Hays).

The venerable Mrs. Jones, now in her eighty~firstyear,
is living with her daughter, lV1rs. Jacob Bbersole, and re­
lates with great interest the incidents connected with the
immigration of the Gilmores, Hays, ",Valkers, and Moly­
neauxs from the counties of Antrim and Down, in Ireland,
in the early part of the century, and who settled in Cler­
mont. Mrs. Elizabeth Rachel (Hall) Ebersole was a brides­
maid at the marriage, in 1843, of Mr. Ebersole to Lydia
Ann Rogers, and seven years later was herself Mr. Eber­
sole's bride. Jacob and Elizabeth Rachel (Hall) Ebersole
had seven children, to wit: Mary Hall, died in infancy;
Anna Maria, born March 26, 185~, and on June 14, 1871,
married to Thomas A. Griffith, of the Clermont bar, prose­
cuting attorney of the county from 1871 to 1875; Jennie
Feemster Ebersole, born Aug. ~8, 1854 j Christian Shough,
born April 10, 1856 j Joseph Hall, born Dec. 27, 1857 j

Charles Coons, born Nov. 22, 185D j and Mary J.Jouise,
born l?eb. 5, 1862. Jacob Ebersole's father gaye him four
hundred acres of land in Pierce township, lying four miles
below New Richmond, in 'Vashington survey, and which
he (Christian Ebersole) had purchased frolll the heirs of
President George "Washington. To this Jacob added until
he became the owner of five hundred and sixteen acres.
He built his beautiful residence in 1851, overlooking the
river and commanding one of the· finest views to be seen in
the beautiful Ohio Valley. Jacob' Ebersole died July 12,
1861, and his wife, with her unmarried children, resides on
the homestead, near New Palestine. He was a member of
the Baptist Church, to which he contributed liberally. Of
a generous and social disposition and lively temperament,
few men in the county in his day were more esteemed than
he. In his family the noble qualities of this large-hearted
man were beautifully illustrated in the concord and love
that clustered about its hospitable hearthstone. He took
an acti\"e part in politics, was originally a Whig, then a
Free-Soiler, then "Know-Nothing," and on the organiza­
tion of the Republican party identified himself' with its
fortunes. In 1854 he was elected a director of the County
Infirmary, serving three years, nnd in that time had as his
colleagues Peter S. Jones, Edward Sinks, Thomas W.
Abernathy, and the venerable Dr. A. V. Hopkins. In the
early anti-slavery days he took an active part as one of the
pioneers for" freedom to the negro," and with Dr. John G.
Rogers, Eben S. Ricker, Thomas Donaldson, anu other
"Liberty" chieftains, he occupied the foreground in the

little army opposing the institution of slavery and' its ad­
vance into the free Territories. Charitable and liberal, kind
to the poor, a good citizen and most friendly neighbor, his
death in the prime of manhood was a severe loss to the
county and a terrible stroke to a loving family.

MICHAEL BEHYMER.

Michael. Behymer was born May 8, 1812, in what is now
Pierc~ township, and was the son of Joel and Eve (France)
Behymer, who were early settlers on Nine-Mile Creek.
His grandfather, John Behymer, was one of the earliest
pioneers, having located before the year 1800 in the county,
then a part of Hamilton.

Joel Behymer had four sons-Henry, Eben, Benjamin,
and Michael-and six daughters: Elizabeth, married to
James Robb j Mary, to William Arthur j Nancy, to John
Robb j Susan, to William Nash j Lydia, to Thomas Heron;
and Malinda, to Wilson Thompson Gray.

Michael Behymer was married on Nov. 5, 1835, by N.
E. 'Valton, justice of the peace of Ohio township, to Mary
Ann Archer, daughter of Chapman and Sophia (Behymer)
Archer. The spring foliowing his marriage he moved to
the farm on which he now resides, and which has been his
home ever since. Their children have been Benjamin, who
died in infancy j Cassie, married to John R. 'Voodlief, Esq.,
ex-sheriff of the county and a prominent member of the
Clermont bar; George W., married to Belle Riley; Madi­
son, who died in infancy j Chapman, killed in 1862 by a
kick from a horse j Flora, married to Jasper, son of Hiram
D. Tone; Bennett and Edgar, both unmarried, and living
at home.

J\'1r. Behymer and wife are both zealous members of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, and the three sons, George
'V., Bennett, and Edgar, belong to the J. B. Covert Lodge,
No. 437, F. and A. M., of Withamsville. Mr. Behymer's
farm embraces one hundred and eighty-seven acres of rich
land near Pleasant Hill, and is in one of the best neighbor­
hoods of the county. He is an excellent farmer and pays
special attention to the cultivation of berries, which pro­
duction is more profitable to the p:.:oducer, and is attended
with less severe Inbor, than the generality of farm products.
His farm lies some two and a half miles from the Ohio
River, and near the New Richmond branch of the Cincin­
nati and Eastern Narrow-Gauge Railroad, and may justly be
ranked one of the best in Clermont. l\'1r. Behymer has
won the confidence and respect of his fellow-citizens by his
life of industry, integrity, and fair dealing j and in all pub,:,
lie enterprises and movements for the general good of society
he is ever to be found in the foreground. His elegant
residence, with handsome surroundings, is on Pleasant Hill,
midway between Donham's Hill on the east and Hopper's
Hill on the west. .
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UNION is one of the townships bordering on the Ham­
ilton County line, the second from the Ohio, and having
for its northern boundary the East Fork of the Little Miami.
It was erected with its present proportions from Ohio town­
ship in December, 1811, with Batavia on the east and, since
1853, Pierce forms the southern boundary. In this part
the surface is level, and the township retains this character­
istic until within u few miles of the East Fork, when it be­
comes broken and rugged, but immediately bordering on
that stream are fine meadow-lands whose beauty and feitil­
ity are not surpassed in the county. Some parts of the up­
lands are clayey and their fertility is variable, but generally
the soil is productive, and Union ranks well agriculturally.
In the western part it is especially adapted for market­
gardening, and considerable attention is paid to that indus­
try. The streams are small, draining northward into the
East Fork. They are, in the order named from the east,
Shaylor's, Salt, and Hall's Runs.

PIONEER SETTLERS.

The settlement of Union was effected about the begin­
ning of the present century, and was more gen~ral in the
southern part than in other sections, one of the most Dota­
ble settlements being at ·Withamsville. The Rev. Maurice
Witham, a native of Maine, here secured a tract of 1000
acres of land, which he and his family came to occupy in
1800, receiving a patent for his extensive domain Nov. 28,
1803. After settling his children around him he went to
Chillicothe to purchase an adjoining tract of land, but died
in that town in 1807, without effecting his object. He
was one of the original members of the old Ten-~1ile Bap­
tist Church, and shared the early pastoral labors of that body
with the Rev. William Robb. Of his eight children two
were sons,-Nathaniel and Gideon,-and the daughters
married: Catherine, James Bennett j Olive, John Bennet.t;
Hannah, James Warren j Abigail, Gibbons Bradbury j

Saruh, Thomas John, of Nine.Mile, in Pierce; and Martha,
Robert Lane, of Olive Branch. The two sons and the first
four daughters helped form what was long known as 'With­
am's settlement. Nathaniel Witham, the eldest son, mar­
ried Jemima Lane, and settled on the farm now owned by
James Lee, but died at 'Withamsville, July 28,18-17. Of
his family, Maurice was an attorney and a merchant at
Withamsville, dying in 1853 j Gideon, a justice of the
peace, yet resides here j Birdsell is a physician at Mount
Carmel j Nathaniel G. is a farmer at Withamsville j James
M., a physician at, the Same place j Jefferson C. and Samuel
L., farmers j George 'V., a merchant in Illinois j Hannah
married Alonzo Knowles, of Felicity; Mary Ann married
Nicholas Gatch,of Milford; and Lomira married Samuel
Rich, of Illinois.

Gideon \Vitham, the second son of Maurice, married
Esther Dutton, of the eastern part of the State, and lived
near Tobasco until his death, about 1862. His sons-Jesse
D., Nathaniel, 'William D., Lewis D.-also located in that
part of Union. His daughter Lucy married Robert Kyle,
of Union, and Amanda, George Hunter, of Indiana.

James Bennett, the husband of Catherine Witham, was
a native of Vermont, and came to Union in 1801. Both
of the parents died at vVithamsville, and of their children,
Moses, James, and Francis removed to Illinois i. Elisha be­
came a distinguished physician at 'Vithamsville j Reuben
Ih'ed in the same village; Susan was the wife of Dr. Wil­
liam Doane j Hannah, of Otis Preble; Abigail, of Lewis
Martin j and Catherine, of Thomas Gray.

John B~nnett, the husband of Olive \Vitham, was also a
New En~lander, but was no relative of James Bennett.
They settled on the present Whippy farm~ but removed to
Hamilton County at an early day.

Hannah \Vitham's husband, JaL\les 'Varren, came in
1801, and lived on a farm adjoining the Bennett place,
where both died some time about 1830. They had seven
children,-John, who died on the.homestead; Ichabod, re­
moved to Monroe j Lawson L., a merchant at the Gum
Springs j Henry, who died at Withamsville a short time
ago j the daughters, Hannah, Sarah, and Susan, married
into the 1\IcCord, K.eyes, and Hall families.

Gibbons Bradbury was also a native of New England,
aOlI settled on the \Vitham tract east of the village, the
homestead yet being occupied by his son, Thomas. An­
other son, Ichubod, settled in Pierce; and Gideon moved to
Illinois. Of the daughters, Sarah became the wife of Aaron
Fagin, who was a great merchant in St. J.Jouis j Huldah
married James Pollock j and Rachel, Edward \Villiams;
The descendants of the above families became very numer­
ous, constituting for Dlany years the principal part of the
population of Southern Union, and yet form u considerable
proportion of the inhabitants residing around Withams­
ville.

About the same time (i801) John and Isaiah Prickett
and William Beasley settled near \Vithamsville. At t,his
time the latter was an old man, and both the Prickctts
deceased many years ago. John had children named
Nicholas, Elias, Isaiah, John, Samuel, Polly, and Sarah,
most of whom located in this neighborhood, leaving numOi'­
ous descendants. Of Isaiah's family, NidlOlas, a man
eighty years of age, yet lives near \Vithamsville j John
was drowned at Palestine j Paul became a Baptist minister j

Jacob went into the rcgular army j and Isaac removed to
Indiana.

William Hall, a native of Virginia, was oue of t.he {hst
settlers east of Witham's. He was a lurge land-owner. His
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son John lived on the Batavia pike, east of Mount Car­
mel, until his death a few years ago; ]~dward was a minis­
ter of the Christian Church, and an able writer; \Villiam
resided ncar the homestead, but died in Cincinnati a few
years ago ; James removed to Indiana, and his daughter
Elizabeth married John Apple, of Batavia township.

Farther cast lived, in pioneer times, J otham Bragdon,
also a large land-owner. One of his sons, ·William, yet re­
sides near Bethel, and grandchildren live in Union.

Some time about 1825, .John Miles, a Revolutionary sol­
dier, came to \Vithamsville, and resided here many years,
dying, it is said, at the age of one hundred and eight years.
He was a peculiar man, and oft expressed a wish that he
would die either on July 4th or January 8th (Jackson's
victory), und that at his burial a bottle of whisky and a
plug of tobacco should be placed in his coffin. He died on
the 8th day of January, and his wife attended to his other
wishes. Aithoup;h she was eighty years of age, she married
ugain a man by tl~e name of Rupert, also an octogenal"ian.

Daniel Durham, born in Maryland, near Baltimore, emi­
grated to the \Vest at the time of the fhst settlement neur
the mouth of the Little l\limni River. In 1800 he pur­
chased 300 acres of land for $600, and built a log cabin
thereon, near the present site of Tobasco, in Union town­
ship. In 1807 he added to his tract until his fitI'm com­
prised 800 acres, which were originally a dense forest, where
roamed at will the panther, bear, und all the animals known
to the locality. Here in his rude cabin he reured a family
of nine children. His first child, Sarah, married Jonathan
Frazier, and settled near Perin's Mills, rearing a large
fiunily; the second, Ellen, married Joseph Martin, settling
in Hamilton County, ncar the Clermont County line; the
third, Elizabeth, married Alexander :i\Iorrison, who lived in
the same loculity; the fourth, Samuel, married Susan AyeI',
and took ch:1I'ge of a tract of land ceded him by his father,
near Tobasco.

Joshua Durham (at present living), now in his ninety­
second year, was married to Elizabeth \Yoodruff, and moved
on the waters of Nine-Mile Creek, on the line between
UnIon and Pierce townships, then a dense woods. He cut
and prepared his logs for his house all in one day, put it
up the second, and took possession of it on the third.. He
cut a log out in the rear end and tacked greased paper over
it for a window, making the door out of clap-boards and
hanging it on wooden hinges. There were but three
houses in tlrat whole region of country, which were occupied
by \Villiam Robb, John and D. I...toyd. Wild animals
abounded in great numbers, woh'es being very annoying
and dangerous. They killed and devoured three valuable
dogs that Durham had procured to rid his premises of' the
pests. He had no road except a bridle-path, blazed out
through the woods, fl'Om his house to the settlement of
Columbia.. I...tiving consisted principally of game, meat
being the rule and bread an exception. \Vhen the former

. was wanted they would shoulder their rifles, and going but
a short distance from the clearing, select and kill the
choicest deer of a herd. Pork was very low; a large hog
weighing from 200 to 300 pounds, would sell for $1.
Turkeys were so plenty they were hardly thought worth
killing. Bread was procured by taking from a half to a peck

of corn to a hand-mill in the Miami settlement, whe~'e each
would take his tum at the crank, turning it like a grind­
stone to crush the grain. The first wheat was produced
by Daniel Durham, who raised a small patch, which he
beat out on a sheet with clubs, bl;wing the chaff out by
throwing it up in the wind, and then ground it on an old
coffee-mill, running it through a coarse meal-sieve, mixing
with water, and baking.

The Rev. ·Wm. Robb spoken of above lived in Pierce,
and the Loyds lived northwest of his place. Reuben
Loyd removed to Lockport. The daughters married Levi
Van Eaton and David Kirgan. Earlier than any of the
above was \Vm. Reed, who lived on the edge of Hamilton
County. ·Where is now Tobasco, Isaac Van Eaton settled
about 1799, but before many years moved to Hamilton
County, and the farm passed into the hands of the George •
Stockton family, wh~ erected the stone house which yet
stands on it. \Vest of Van Eaton, about the same time,
settled 'Villiam. \Vhittaker, a Pennsylvanian, who here
reared sons named Spencer, a surveyor in the \Vest; Isaac,
a teacher of good reputation; and others, all of whom
removed.

Directly south, John White, of Virginia, locat.ed in 1800,
and lived here until his death, in 1833. Of his sons,
George, Robert, John, James, and Zaccheus removed to
Indiana, Thomas and \Villiam died at Tobasco, and Reu­
ben yet lives on part of the homestead. On the east was
the farm of James Ward, a local Methodist minister, who
settled here in 17D9, and remained until his death. Most
of his family removed, but one of his daughters married
Elias T. Fisher, the first postmaster in this part of the
county, and father of N. S. Fisher, of Tobasco.

The George Stockton before mentioned was a son of
Richard Stockton, an aged man, who settled very early
north of Tobasco, dying not many years thereafter. An­
other son was named Joseph. They were natives of New
Jersey.

Near here was the Kyle tract of 1000 acres of land.
This family was originally from Pennsylvania, but settled
in Kentucky about 1792, where Robert Kyle, the pur­
chaser of the Mosely survey, die~. As his sons came of
age they settled in Union, Samuel, the eldest, coming in
1810. In 1814 he built the large stone house which is
now owned by Martin :Markley. He was an officer in the
war of 1812, and for years a general of the militia. Gen.
Kyle died in Union, and his family removed. J 01111, the
second son of Robert Kyle, came to Union in 1811, and
died in May, 1855. His second wife, Mary Kyle, yet
resides with her son-in law, Nathaniel G. Witham, vigorous
in body and mind, at the age of eighty-twa years. Thomas,
the third son, came a little later and improved the farm
now owned by his son, Robert B. Robert, the fourth of the
Kentucky heirs, came to Union in 1814 and settled on the
farm whicli he yet occupies, at the age of eighty-six years,
so vigorous that he is. yet able to engage at his fitVorite
sport, fox-hunting, riding as erect as a young man. Zac­
cheus, the youngest of the five brothers, has lived in Union
since 18·10, occupying a flum near Mount Carmel, at the
age of eighty-two years.

At 'l'obasco lives another man of great age, who has gone
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beyond the fourscore years, eight winters, and Henry Hop­
pel' is to-day the oldeRt citizen of the township. He came
from New Jersey in 1830.

On a farm south of Tobasco, Capt. Davis Whippy, from
Nantucket, Mass., settled about 1814, and died there in
1837. His sons John, Joshua, and George have also
d~eased. He had daughters who married Dr. Ralph
Sharp, Joseph Pancoast, Levi 'Vilmington, Joseph Kyle,
and Robert Jones. The 'Whippy family is yet represented
in this part of Union.

A little north of the villagr; of Mount Carmel Timothy
Day, a native of New Jersey, settled about 1800, and re­
mained until his death. He had sons,-Elias, Aaron, Timo­
thy, and Artemas, the latter being the only one to remain in
the locality, and deceased a few years ago. Several of the
daughters married into the Edwards family. On Hall's
Run John Day was a pioneer, and was the father of Daniel
and.Jeremiah Day.

Jacob Broadwell, the father of Cyrus, Lewis and Jacob,
was one of the earliest settlers in Hamilton County, in the
:1\1ount Carmel region, and Moses Broadwell, his brother, was
the pioneer tanner on Hall's Run. He had sons named'
David and J olm, neither of whom remained in this locality.
A cousin of the elder Broadwells, John, lived north of
Mount Carmel in early times. He was the father of
Mahlon and Henry, the latter dying here a few years
ago.

South of Mount Carmel, were Dominicus Abbott and
his brother Elisha, large land-owners. The latter had
sen-ed under Gen. "Vayne. None of their descendants re­
mained in Union.

Soon after 1800, John Rose settled on a tract of 105
acres of land in the western part of Mount Carmel, which
was from this filct called Rose Hill. He had sons named
Timothy, Luthe~, Davidson. and John, the latter yet living
here, at the age of eighty-four years. 'rhe daughters mar­
ried Edward Dodson and Lewis Broadwell.

At a later day Nathan Sutton, another native of New
Jersey, settled south of Mount Carmel, where he reared
son!'! named Jeremiah and Davidson, and daughters who mar­
ried Artemas Day, George Phillips, and Samuel Edwards,
the widow of the first named still living at Mount Carmel.
In 1800, James Phillips settled on the county line, south of
Mount Carmel. He was a millwright and a miller, putting
up some mills 011 Dry Run for the Armstrong family. He
had sons named John Y., Joseph, 'William, James, Moses,
and George. His daughters married John "Vhittaker and
Morgan Anderson. Nathaniel Johnston, the father of John
Johnston, the banker of Union City, was also a pioneer in
this neighborhood.

In ] 832, Campbell Johnson, of Scotch-Irish ancestry,
who had been a merchant at Cincinnati, moved to the Mount
Carmel neighborhood and engaged in farming, introducing
many fine breeds of cattle. He died here in 1843. His
eldest .son, John, was in the Mexican war, and is to-day a
successful attorney in Cincinnati; and Robert, the youngest
son, born in Union, also became an attorney in Cincinnati,
and in 1876 was elected judge of the Common Pleas Court
of that city, dischm'ging the duties of that office to the
great satisfaction of'the bar and the people. Another son,

James, after being a merchant in the northern part of the
county, moved to Illinois, where he is a large f!lrmer.

Joseph Avey came from Maryland to Kentucky in 179-1,
., and about four years later settled in Miami township, on

the George S. Swing place. About 1800 he moved to
Union township, to the place now occupied by his son,
John G., where he died Aug. 28, 1859, at the age of
ninety-three years. Nine of his children grew to mature
years, yiz.: James, who removed to Indiana after 1837;
Josepll, who lived and died near Olive Branch; John F.,
born on the homestead in 1806, and for the greater part
of his life has resided.there; Elizabeth, the wife of William
Fisher, of Butler County; Sally, the wife of Dr. L. Spence;
Presocia, the wife of Harvey Perin, of Miami; Keziah,
the wife of D. Sutton, of Union; Martha, the wife of
Rev. John H. Hull, of Indiana.

Jacob Teal, a brother-in-law of Avey, came with him
from Maryland, and settled temporarily in .Miami, but
finding the location 'unhealthy purchased a tract of land
on the hills in Eastern Union, where now lives Oscar
Johnson. He died about thirty-five years ago, having
reared three sons and three daughters. Jacob, the eldest
son, first lived on a part of the homestead, but before his
death became a large land-owner. Samuel, the second son,
was a blacksmith} and carried on his trade below Perin's
.Mills until his death. The youngest son, Jesse, lived and
died on the homestead. The daughters married: Sarah,
Joseph Jaynes, of :Miami; Elizabeth, :William Potter; and
Ann, William Vorheh:;, of Batavia.

At the mouth of Shaylor's Run lived at a very early day
Maj. Shaylor, who had served in the Revolution. He died
about seventy years ago, and his family removed. Along
this stream lived a number of early settlers, among them
Jacob Fox, who claimed to be a centenarian; Thomas
Robinson, also an aged man; and Peter Emery, whose
family removed after his death. .

To the west lived John McGuire, who came from York
County, Pa. Of his sons, Nathan, of Batavia, is the only
one living in the county.

Stephen Robinson came from the neighborhood of Lynch­
burg, Va., in June, 1810, and settled on a tract of 300
acres of land, which was so densely timbered that there
was scarcely an opening. :For a time the family lived in
a tent, but in the fall of the year it moved into a good log
house, which stood many years. Stephen Hobinson died
in 1828, and his wife a few wecks later, and both were
interred in the Teal burying-ground. The eldest son, John
'V., became a prominent blLSiness man in Batavia, but
moved to Missouri, where he died; Zachariah died at
Boston, in Stonelick; William H., the third son, yet lives
at Batavia; and Stephen, the fourth son, died in the fall
of 1823, in Union. Of the daughters, Elizabeth married
David Dial, of Batavia; and Lucy, Simeon Sanders, of
Union.

Holman Rice was a native of Virginia, but came from
North Carolina in 1813, settling on the place now occupied
by J. W. Hunt, where he died in 1845. Of his fiunily,
William T. yet lives near the homestead in Union, James
H. at Mount Carmel, and Mary H. is the widow of Joel
Behymer, of Pierce.
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in whIch those who paid no personal tax are indicated by
an asterisk, to show that they did not at that pel'iod reside
in Union, but llIay have become settlers soon after:

he sold it and purchased 1000 acres at Newtown. Subse­
quently he became the owner c-f a tract on the East Fork,
in Union, 011 which his son Isaac settled and lived until
his death, in 1855. Of his filmily, Isaac occupies the home­
stead, John died in Milford, Thomas removed to the 'Vest,
and 'Villiam lives ncar Newtown. The daughters married
David Furlong, Ira Davis, Ira Perin, and Isaac Turner.

In 1814, Michael Turner, a Pennsylvanian, pUl'chased a
fimn on the Bast Fork, which had been improved by Moses
Frazier, a Baptist clergyman, on which he lived until his
death, in 1856. He was the father of Daniel Turner, of
Miami township. Other sons were .Tohn, Jackson, Isaac,
and William; and the daughters married Henry Leaf, Uriah
Baldwin, 'Villiam DumfOl'd, Samuel' Perry, and Henry
Carpenter.

Othcr filmilies, doubtless, de~erve mention as pioneers,
but the necessary data could not be obtained. Their namcs
appear in the following

George l\Icl\Iahan came with Itice and settled on an au­
joinin~ farm. He was a popular man in his time. His
sons, Jesse, Perry, William, Nathan, anu James, all removed
to the ·West. South of these Hobert l\IcFarland, an early··
school-teacher. was a pioneer. He and his sons, Cyrus and
Andrew, died in this locality, aud his daughters removed to
the West. In the Olive Branch neighborhood the 'Vest
family, although not among the earliest settlers, were very
prominent at a later day, and a sketch of the veteran Rev.
Samuel 'West, who died at the age of one hundred and one
years, and his gallant son, Major S. R. S. 'Vest, appear at
another place in this book. The latter was the father of
Col. S. A. 'Vcst, of Milfonl, and of John Kugler West, of
Union. He died March 21,1878, greatly estcemed for his
many good qualities. Along the Bast Fork 'Villiam Malott
opened a farm about 1800. He was a Revolutionary sol­
dier, and died on this place. Of his sons, Zedekiah and
Thomas removed; Isaac was a ship-carpenter at Cincinnati,
and William remained on the homestead until his death.
Several of the daughtcrs married into the Jones family.
A mile from this place John Malott made his first settlement,
but at an early day removed to Brown County. He had
also served in the Revolution. One of his sons, Hiram,
located ncar Mount Carmel.

William Jones, a Virginian and a Revolutionary soldier,
came to Union in 1807, locating on the farm now occupied
by his son Thomas. Here he died, upwards of one hundred
and two years of age. Lewis Furlong came from Virginia
in 1811, and having taken a title·bond for a pieee of land,
went to the war of 1812. Afterwards he returned and
improved the farm now occupied by his son, D. Furlong.
Other sons were Lewis, Robert, Zachariah, David, and
William. North, on the East Fork, Robert Cazell was one
of the early settlers. He was the filther of David, Thomas
J., and William Cazell.

Samuel Davis came from the Blue Ridge country, Vir:"
ginia, about 1800, and settled near the mouth of Shaylor's
Run, where he lived until his death, about 1825, having
reared eight children. Thomas Davis settled on Shaylor's
Run, where he had a mill and a small distillery. He moved
to Indiana. Near by Henry Davis made some improve­
ments, and died on the farm which is now occupied by his
son Shadrach. The rest of the filmily moved to Illinois.
The third son, John, mO\Tcd to Indiana, to which State
William, who had made some good improvements near East
Liberty, also removed. Joseph Davis, another son, settled
near the mouth of Hall's Run, where he lived until his
death, in 1855. He serveu as a lieutenant in the war of
1812. In his family were ten sons, viz.: Mathew and
William, living in Indiana; Jeremiah, Joseph, Samuel,' and
Thomas, deceased in the township j Henry, Robert l!...., and
Ira L, yet ~iving along the Cincinnati and Eastern Railroad,
in Union; and George 'V., living in Cincinnati.

Of another family of Davis! was Eli, who settled north
of Mount Carmel in 1812, and where lived until recently
a son, Alfred E. The eldest son, Noah, yet lives at Pen­
dleton.

Isaac Edwards, a native of Scotland, came from New
Jersey to Miami about 1800, purchasing 500 acres of land
where is now Newberry. After living there a few years

Apple, J ohn, No. 2058; Nathaniel
Darbey, original proprietor.

Apple, Wm.
Apple, Henry, Sr., No. 2058; Na­

thaniel Darbey, orig. prop.
Apple, Christopher, No. 2058;

Nathauiel Darbey, original
proprietor.

Apple, Henry, Jr.
Apple, John, Jr., No. 7090; Abra­

ham Bowman, orig. prop.
Abbott, Dominicus, No. 1115;

Wm. Musely, orig. prop.
Avey, Joseph, No. 9031; Thomas

S. Hinde, orig. prop.
Abbott, Thomas J.
Abbott, Thomas, No. 3856; F.

Peyton, original proprietor.
Apple, Andrew.
Apple, Henry.
Avey, Jnmes G., No. 9031; Thos.

S. Hinde, orig. prop.
Apple, Andrew, Sr., No. 2058;

Nltthaniel Darbey, original
proprietor.

Bickle, Jueob.
Brown, Ezekiel.
Broadwell, Elias.
Broadwell, John, No. 243,1; Edw.

Cnrrington, orig. prop.
Bias,Garret, No. lIl5; William

Mosely, original proprietor.
Bennett, James, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Bradbury, Gibbens, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Bradbury, Ichabod.
Bradbury, Samuel, No. 1671;

Edward Stephens, original
proprietor.

Bradb.ury, Benjamin.
Bickle, George.
Bickle, Catherine.
*Barncy, Daniel F., No. 90:U;

'l'homas S. Hinde, original
proprietor.

B1icard, Henry.
B1acle, George D.
*Broadwell, Jacob, No. 2434;

Edward Cttrrington, original
proprietor.

'''Samuel Phillips, No. 1115; Wm.
Mosely, original proprietor.

ii>naits, Daniel, No. 3856; Fran­
cis Peyton, orig. prup.

*Beagle, Christian, No. 3856;
Francis Peyton, orig. prop.

*Brogdon, Benjamin, No. 1671;
Edward Stephens, original
proprietor.

Buehallll.O, J uhn, No. 16i 1 ;
Edward Stephens, original
proprietor.

Buckingham, Enoch, No. 430;
Robert Powell, orig. prop.

Cro~sle.r, Robert.
Chivis, Daniel.
Chapman, Robert.
Clark, Lydia, No. 1115; Wm.

Mosely, original proprietor.
Clark, Beujamin, No. 24::14 jEd.

Carrington, ol"ig. prop.
Clark, Daniel.
Crumbaugh, Mary, No. 3856;

Francis Peyton, orig. prop.
Crumbaugh, John, No. ::1856;

Francis PeJton, orig. prop.
Clifton, Thomas.
Cazel, Robert, No. 2271 ; John

Obannon, orig. prop.
Davis, William, No. 1i7l; Jos.

Winlock, original proprietor.
Durham, Joseph.
Davis, John.
Davis, Joseph, No. 1935; John

Hardin, original proprietor.
Davis, Eli, No. 2434; Ed. Car­

rington, original prupl·ielor.
Davis, Henry, No. Iii!; Jos.

Winlock, orig. prop.
Davis, Elizabeth, No. 1771; J os.

Wiulock, orig. prop.



DR. ELISHA. BENNETT, of Withamsville, one of the oldest practi­
tioners of this county, comes of English descent on the patcrnal and
maternal side. James Bennett, his father, was born in Maine, on
Dec. 8, 1766, and was married in that State to Catharine Witham,
born Sept. 2, 1774, and emigrated to Ohio about the year 1800, set­
tling in what. is now Clermont County. This pioncer couple had
cleven children,-six boys and five girJs,-of whom only four now
survive, the subject of this sketch and three others living in Illinois.

Catharine (Witham) Bennett WI~S the daughter of Elder Maurice
Witham, a pioneer minister of the regular Baptist Church, who emi­
grated from England, and from that part where flows the Witham
River, and which doubtless took its nnme from a very early race of
Withams in the tenth century. Elder Maurice Witham came to Cler­
mont at the beginning of the present century, and purchased one
thousand acres of ·land,-the entire survey of Churchill Jones,-on
which now stands the village (If Withamsville, and which, on its
division, was mostly given in farms to the uncles and aunts of Dr.
Elisha Bennett. James Bennett died Sept. 16, 1841, aged seventy­
five years, nine months, and eight days; and his wife, Catharine
(Witham), on Feb. 24, 1847. Dr. Elisha Bennett, the fourth son of
his parents,. was born on the farm which forms a part of the village
of Withamsville in the year 1809, and has, with the exception of
about one year, always lived on part of the farm where he was born
seventy-one years ago. After receiving a common-school education
he commenced the study of medicine with Dr. William Doan, his
brother-in-law, an eminent physician, who afterwards was represent­
ative and senator in the Ohio Legislature, and from 1839 to 1843 a
member of Congress. After completing his medical studies he located
for a short time in the far West, where the Indians were numerous,
practicing his profession for one year, whcn the hcalth of Dr. Doan
having failed to such a degree that he was unable to attend the nu­
merous calls of ~ very extensive practice in Clermont and Hamilton
Counties, he callcd Dr. Bennett to his assistance, who returned to this
county, and has until very recently practiced his profession.

He WII.8 united in marriage Aug. 27, 1836, by John McGuire, J. P.,
to Miss Hannah Smith, of this counly, and of this union were born
ten children, three of whom now survive, viz.: William D. Bennett,
engaged in the insurance business and general speculation; Dr. Cass
A. Bennett, 11. rising physician of promise and ability; Harvey R.
Bennett, the youngest, yet unmarried, and en~ged in the mercantile
business. About the year 1833; Dr. Elisha Bennett was appointed as
adjutant on the staff of Col. William Thomas, and after serving some

time on his staff was promoted, in 1830, to be lieutenant-colonel, and
finally to be colonel of the regiment, which office he held until the
Legislature of Ohio did away with the militia law, nnd the doctor
with othcrs was legislate(l out of office. In 1851 he was elected a
representativc from Clermont to the Fiftieth General Asscmbly of Ohio
by the Democratic party, and the first under the new constitution
adopteel that year. He madc a most valuable and upright member,
and served with much credit on several of the most important com­
mittees of the House.

He bas ever been a consistent Democrat, and a strong advocate of
the rights of the people, a firm believer in economy and retrenchment
in ;til the cxpenditures of the government, and in a strict construction
of the constitution, and opposed to high salaries on tbe part of public
officials. Through integrity and honesty he stands foremost among
his fcllow-citizens, always contributing to public cha.rities and enter­
prises witb a liberal band. By industry and economy he has secured
a most ample competency for life, and p'ossesses an estate of large
value for his cbildren. Though for some years greatly afflicted with
a nervous disease affecting his voice, he has borne his sufferings with
that remarkable patience so characteristic of his strong mind and
kind disposition. There are but few physicians in our land who have
undergone more privations than Dr. Bennett in a practice of nearly
fifty years. On one occasion, while traveling on a visit to one of his
patients, his horse was brought to his knees by a stroke of lightning,
yet the doctor esmtped serious injury, being only temporarily blinded
by the viddness of the flash. On another occasion his dwelling-house
WI1S struck by lightning and considerably injured, yet he and his
family were not hurt. May we not attribute the deliverance of the
doctor from these and frequent kindred perils to tbe fulfillment of that
which is written in Holy Writ: "Honor thy father and thy mother,
that thy days may be long in the land," for surely no person ever
treated with more loving kindness and respect their parents than did
Dr..Bennett. This characteristic of the doctor was not confined to
his parents, for he was proverbially kind amI profoundly respectful
to all old people with whom he came in contact. He has made friend~

in :~ largo circuit of country, and there is hardly a household far and
near but that hll.8 known his friendly greetings and kind visitations.
His early practice extended over a large part of Clermont and Ham­
ilton Counties when pbysicians were scarce, especially able and suc­
cessful practitioners. His honest life, his public setvices, bis humane

\ characler, and his medical career in behalf of humanity will make
him a monument more enduring than brass or marble.



JOSEPH DAVIS.

An early pioneer of, and half a century a resident in,
Clermont County was Joseph Davis, bor,n near Romney, in
Hampshire Co., Va., in 1782. With his parents he
emigrated to Ohio in 1803, and coming down the Ohio
River in a flat, they landed at the mouth of Crawfish,
and Joseph settled in Union township, on Shaylor's Run.
Joseph being in his twenty-first year, and with the capital
only of willing hands and an axe, went to work and soon
saved money enough to purchase some land in Hardin's
Survey, on the East Fork, between the present villages of
Perin's Mills and Milford. On May 1, 1806, he was
married to Rachel Fowler, and when they moved into the
log cabin on his new purchase to begin housekeeping he
carried all his household goods on a horse, and his wife
followed on foot with her dishes of pewter in her apron.
The cabin he had erected at first had no floor, and their
beds were made with sticks and saplings, as were also their
tables. There were born to them ten children, all boys,­
Matthew, Jeremiah, Joseph, Samuel, Thomas, Henry,
Robert F., Ira 1., George 'V., and- William R, who all
Jived to manhood but one, and the five youngest of whom
are still living. When he came into that part Df Union
township it was all a wilderness, but he reclaimed his pur­
chase from the unbroken forest, and added new lands until
he had bought and owned over four hundred acres at his
death. For the first few years he made his own salt at
Salt Run Creek, and wheat bread and coffee were rarities
kept for Sunday morning. In the war of 1812, Joseph
Davis served nearly two years as first lieutenant in Capt.
Aosbrook's company, raised around Milford and the adjacent
country in Hamilton County, and participated in the siege
of Fort Meigs in the Maumee Valley, and was under Col.

Croghan in his gallant defense of Fort Stephenson or
Sandusky. His wife, Rachel (Fowler), died Dec. 25,
1837, and on April 16, 1838, he married Rebecca Vail, by
whom there was no issue. He died July 18, 1845, uni­
versally respected for his honesty and integrity, and greatly
esteemed as a good cit.izen and enterprising farmer. While
a member of no religious denomination, he was a moral
man, and aided in sustaining the churches and liberally paid
the preachers. He served many years as justice of the
peace in Union township, and it is to be said to his great
credit as an enlig'4tened magistrate that no appeal was ever
taken in allY case from his dockot, and it was his constant
practice to prevent litigation and settle all disputes without
the intervention of a suit if possible. 'Squire Davis was
public-spirited, and having arisen from a poor boy to be one
of the solid, substantial men of the county, he took a great
interest in all public improvements, particularly in schools,
in which in his young days the facilities for education were
very few.

His eighth son, Ira 1. Davis, resides on his farm in
Clay's Survey, adjoining' t\1e one where is the old Davis
homestead now owned by the seventh son, Robert F. Ira
I. Davis was bQl n Oct. 10, 1827. He was married by S.
H. Whitmore, a justice of the peace, Dec. 27, 1852~ to

. Lydia A. Edwards, daughter of Isaac Edwards, Sr., by
whom he had three children. After the death of his first
wife he was the second time married, and on March 9, 1862,
by Rev. A. U. Beall, to Phebe A. Cross, daughter of
Josiah Cross, by whom he had two children. Since her
death, in 1872, he has remained a widower. He is a good
farmer, with the characteristics that made his honored
father a man of note and respected in the community.
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TRUSTEES.

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

The number of acres reported for assessment were 15,505,
valued at $60,006, on which were levied a State tax of
$ t 20.01, and a county tax of not quite double that amount.
The number of horses ,were 22-1, worth $89HO; and cattle
400, valued at $3200. The entire tax on personal property
was only $67.07.

185<1.-It. Perin, 'fhomas W. Duckett, .John W. Gest.
]855.-H. Davis, Jesso 'Feal, John W. Gest.
185(j.-N. G. Witham, Jesse Teal, H. Broadwell.
1857.-N. G. Witham, Samuel Laue, Jr., E. D. Phillips.
]858.-Peter Crumbaugh, Zacoheus Kyle, E. D. Phillips.
1859.-Peter Crumbaugh, L. L. Warren, E. D. Phillips.
]860.-John S. Jenkins, Jacob L. Teal, E. D. Phillips.
1861.-John W. Kyle, S. D. Davis, E. D. Phillips.

Thomas, Elias.
Teal, Jacob L., No. 9031; Thomas

S. Hinde, origiMI proprietor.
Teal, Jacob, No. 90:31; 'fhomas

S.lIinde,.original proprietor.
Teal, Jesse.
Temple, Robert.
Temple, Ebenezer.
Thomas, J allles, No. 1671; Ed­

ward Stcphens, orig. prop.
Thomas, William.
Vail, Isaac, No. !l031; Thomas S.

Hinde, original proprietor.
;:Tance, Samuel C., No. 9031 ;

Thomas S. Hinde, orig. prop.
Wilson, Benjamin.
WilSOll, M. C.
Williamson, John, No. 3856;

Francis Peyton, orig. prop.
Wilson, Savil, No. 1115 ; William

Mosely, original proprietor.
White, George.
Whitn,ker, Christiana, No. 637;

William Taylor, orig. prop.
Ward, JltmeS, No. 637; Williltm

Taylor, original proprietor.
Ward, John.
Witham, Nathaniel, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Witham, Gideon, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
White, John, No. 637 i William

Taylor, original proprietor.
Whippy, David, No.' 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Whippy, John.
Warren, John, No. 1134; Church­

ill Jones, original proprietor.
Williamson, Benjamin.
;*WiIliams, William, No. 430;

H.obert Powell, orig. prop.
*Wilson, Benjamin, No. 3814;

James Herron, orig. prop.

The records of Union from its organization, Dec. 4,
1811, until 1853, are missing. In the last-named year the
annual meeting was held at the school-house in District No.
4, and the following elected: )1. Perin, Samuel' Kyle, and
Tliomas W. Duckett, Trustees; Harvey W. Sutton, Clerk;
Robert Temple, Treasurer; Samuel Lane, Assessor; and
Wm. Hall, Constable.

Since this meeting the principal officers have been:

Robinson, Thomas, No. ]771;
Joseph Winlock, orig. prop.

Robinson, Stephen, No. 38B;
James Herron, orig. prop.

Robinson, Znchariah, No. 3814;
Jnmes Herron, orig. prop.

Rubal't, Reed.
Robb, William, No. 637; William

Taylor, origiDltl proprietor.
Rhoads, Ezekiel 1\1.
Rice, Holman, No. 1671; Ed\yard

Stephens, orig. }Jrop.
Smith, William.
Sheffe, Ruth.
Shaver, Lmlwick.
Steward, Amaslt.
Steward, John, No. 3814-; James

Herron, original proprietor.
Smith, Benjamin.
Sheldon, Thomas.
Stockton, George W., No. 1i37;

William Tnylor, orig. prop.
Steward, Cornelius.
Sigmund, James.
Smith, Orin, No. 3878; James

Gunner, original proprietor.
;':!Shaylor, Samuel V., No. 9031;

Thomns S. Hinde, orig. prop.
*Shearer, George, No. 1671; Ed­

ward Stephens, orig. prop.
;i!Scldin, Miles, No. 676; Samuel

Seldin, original proprietor.
flSealy, Joseph, No. 1771 ; Joseph

Winlock, original proprietor.
*Stewu.rd, John, No. 1771; Jo­

seph Winloek, orig. prop.
Troy, Christopher, No. ]771;

Joseph Winloek, orig. prop.
Turner, Michael, No. 430 ; Robert

Powell, original proprietor.
Thomas, Walter, No. 2745; John

Graham, original proprietor,
Thonms, Amos, No. 1935; John

Hardin, ol'iginn.I proprietor.

Ketchum, Jeremiah, No. 1771 i

Joseph Winlock, original
proprietor.

KJle, Robert, No. 666; R. and J.
Monow, orig. props.

Kyle, Thomas, No. 666; R. and
J. Morrow, orig. props.

Kyle, John, No. 666; R. and J.
Morrow, orig. props.

Kyle, Joseph, No. 637; William
Taylor, original proprietor.

;'!Kirby, Timothy, No, 24:{4; Ed­
ward Carrington, orig. prop.

;i!Kyle, Zllehluiah, NO'. 66B; R.
and J. Morrow, ol'ig. props.

Lewis, Phineas.
Loyd, Reuben, No. 637; William

Taylor, origiDltI proprietor.
Ludlow, Piatt.
Linl;:, Andrew.
;;!Lane, Shadrach, No. 9031;

1'homas 1'. Hinde, original
proprietor.

McClure, Richard, No. 9031;
Thomas T. Hinde, original
proprietor.

Malott, William, J 1'., No. 2721;
John Obannon, orig. prop.

Malott, Isaac L.
Malott, Zedekiah.
Meguire, John, No. 6U; Mat-

thew Clay, orig. pro!>.
Merrit, Joseph.
Malott, Abner.
Malott, IUehard, No. 9031 ; Thos.

T. Hinde, orig. prop.
:Medaris, Oliver, No. 381-1; James

Herron, original proprietor.
Malott, John, No. 9031; Thomas

T. Ilinde, orig. prop.
Morrill, Alfonso.
Miller, John.
MeDaniel, Jesse.
Morris, Joseph, No. 2058; Na­

thaniel Dlubey, orig. prop.
McCord, Rachel.
McMahan, George, No. ]671;

Edwara Stephens, original
proprietor.

McFarland, Robert, No. l/i71;
Edward Stephens, original
proprietor.

*Millspaugh, James, No. 1171;
Joseph Winlock, original
proprietor.

;:!Mathews, George and Charles,
No. 1138; George Mathews,
original proprietor.

Potter, Mathias.
Perry, Joseph.
Perry, Nathan.
Porter, Philip.
Phillips, Joseph.
Price, Peter.
Preble, David.
Preble, Otis.
Prickett, Josiah, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Priekett, Nicholus.
Pricket.t, John, Sr.
Phillips, William.
Pratt, William.
;:'Porter, Elias, Jr., No. 9031;

Thomas S. Hinde, original
proprietor.

Dart, George.
Day, John, No. 706; Robert

Brown, original proprietor.
Day, Elijah.
Day, Phccbe.
Doan, Wm., Jr.
Douglas, 'Vm.
Dlty, Aaron C., No. 2058; Na­

thaniel Darbey, orig. prop.
;;!Day, Timothy, No. 2434; Ellw.

Carrington, orig. IHop.
flDavis, Thomas, No. 1771; Jos.

Winlock, original proprietor.
Emery, Peter, Jr.
Edwards, Isaac, No. 2434; Edw.

Carrington, orig. prop.
Emery, Peter, Sr., No. 2058; Na-

thaniel Darbey, Ol·ig. prop.
Emery, Clmrles.
l~mery, John.
;;!£bersole, Christian, No. 1134;

Churchill Jones, orig. prop.
Ferree, Moses.
Fox, .Tames.
Furlong, Lewis, No. 2434; Ed\v.

Carrington, orig. prop.
Frazee, .Joseph.
Frazee, Jonah, No. 1935; John

Hardin, original proprietor.
Fisher, Elias T.
P:trrow, Charles.
Fee, Hobert.
Fountain, Muthe\v, No. 9031;

Thomas S. Hinde, original
proprietor.

;;!Ferris, Andrew, No. 7090; Abra­
ham nowman, orig. prop.

*Ferris, Joseph, No. 7090; Abra­
ham Bowman, orig. prop.

Garland, Peregrine, No. 2745;
John Graham, orig. prop.

Guthrie, William.
Genow:tys, James B., No. 385/i;

Fmneis Peyton, orig. prop.
Gould, James.
;;'Ge8t, Jaeob, No. 2,434; Edward

Carrington, orig. prop.
*Gateh, Philip, Jr.
lI:tys, Gabriel, No. 2058; Na­

thaniel Darbey, orig. prop.
Hughs, Evan.
1lll.1I, William, No. 1671; Ed­

ward Stephens, orig. prop.
lIunter, John, No. 637; William

Taylor, original proprietor.
lIunter, Heuben.
Hatfield, William.
Heltma,n, John, No. 3856; Fran-

cis Peyton, orig. prop.
Hathorn, John.
Higginbotham, George.
*Hankins, Daniel; No. 674; Mat-

thew Clay, orig. prop.
Jones, Benjamin.
Jenldns, Tephannah.
James, Isaac, No. 434; Robert

Powell, originll.l proprietor.
Jones, William I,., No. 2434 i Ed­

ward Carrington, original
proprietor.

Johnson, Nathaniel, No. 243,1;
Edward Carrington, ol'iginal
proprietor.

li!Jolley, .John, No. 637; William
Taylor, original proprietor.
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]862.-.John W. Kyle, S. D. Davis, P. S. Jones.
]8G:~.-AndrewBengle, S. D. Davis, Wm. Fitzpatrick.
]86·L-Thonl:ts Bradbury, James Paxton, Andrew Beagle.
]8li5-GG.-Wm. FitzJlutricl;:, n. W. Teal, Andrew Beagle.
]SG7.-Joseph Kyle, B. W. Teal, Andrew Beaglo.
]868.-Joseph K.yle, .J. 1\1. Teal, ~[oses Elstun.
]S6!/-70.-.J. II. Whita!,er,.J. M. Telll, W111. Walkel·.
]87I.-Lewis Ludlow, Reuben White, It. F. Davis.
]S72.-N. G. WithaIll, Anurew Beagle, H. F. Davis.
]S73.-R. D. Hewitt, Lewis Geldn, H. F. D:tvis.
]Si-1.-A. J. :i\Jiller, Wm. Prickett, R. }'. Dads.
]875-76.-Johu AFes, Wm. Prickett, Benj. Marriott.
187i.-.John Ayres, Lewis Gelvin, Benj. 1\Iarriott.
187S.-John Ayres, J. 1\L Teal, Benj. Marriott.
IS7!J.-A. C. Davis, J. l\I. Teal, L. Gelvin.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

]854, P. S. Jones; 1855, Samuel Teal; ]S56, John S.Lane; 185i-60,
Sallluel I~. Teal; 18GI-62, James 1\Iel\Iahan; 18li;3-liG, Eo G.
Gest; 1867-6!J, N. G. Witham; ]8iO, S. T. Witham; ISiI-i2,
John C. McGuirc; IS73-75, S. '1'. Witham; 1876, John W.Hunt;
1877-78, C. C. McGuire; 18'!J, J. W. lIunt.

TOWNSHIP TREASURERS.

1854-55, Robert Temple; 1856-60, W.lI. Cumbaek; 1861-62, Daniel
Brinkley; 18G3,1\1. Elstun; 1864-6!), P. S. Jones; 1870, J. F.
Perdrizet; 1871-72, P. S. Jones; 1873, 1\1. Simll1ons; IS74-i5,'V. A. Wood; ISiG-7!J, J. F. Perurizet.

TOWNSHIP ASSESSORS.

1854, John S. Lane; IS55, G. V. Witham; 1856-58, John S. Jenkins;
185!), P. S. Jones; 1860, James Givens; ]86], John S. Jenkins;
]S62-63, B. W. Teal; IS64, II. n. Jones; 18G5-GG, J. D.lIat­
field; ] 867, Merit Johnson; 186S-70, G. H. Warren; 1871,
George Carter; IS72, John A. Morrison; 18i3, C. F. Manning;
]874, P. S. Jones; ISi5, Herman DJanchard; IS7G, C. C.l\Ian­
ning; 18ii-i8, A. W. lIiII; 187!J, R. D. Sapp.

The loss of the records precludes the giving of interesting
information pertaining to the early roads and other town­
ship interests; but a brief account of some of the most
prominent thoroughfares may be found in a general chap­
ter of this book. The widely-known Ohio turnpike gives
the people of the southern part of the township a good
outlet, and caused many fine improvements to be made along
its line. Bisecting the township near its centre is the Ba­
tavia pike, another toll-road, and one of the finest highways
in this part of the State. The Nine-Mile free pike has been
extended from Pierce through 'Yestern Union to intersect
this road at Mount Carmel, and is the longest line of im­
proved road in the township. U uion is well supplied with
railway facilities. The Cincinnati and Eastern Railroad fol­
lows the East Fork, and has stations at South Milford,
Elstun's, Davis', Cohoon (opposite Perin's Mills), and at
East Liberty. The Cincinnati and Portsmouth enters the
township near Mount Carmel, thence runs northeast. to
Glen Este, ·Willowville, and Olive Branch, having stations
at the points named; and, lastly, the Ohio River division
of the Cincinnati and Eastern Hailroad runs through the
southwester~ part of the township, having a station at To­
basco. These roads, although but recently constructed,

.have aided wonderfully in developing the resources of the
township. Union maintains a fine cemetery at Mount
Moriah, on the Ohio pike, near Tobascu. It contains more
than six acres, and is substantially and attractively improved.
At other points, generally in connection with church-yards,
are small burial-grounds. -

HAMLETS AND VILLAGES.

The hamlet of 'Yillowville, on the Batavia turnpike, in
the eastern part of Union, has about half a dozen houses
and a store, kept by Charles McGuire. Here James Stewart
was engaged in merchandising as early as 1835, and others
followed for short periods. In 1866 a post-office, bearing
the name of the hamlet, was established and placed in.
charge of Jacob :M:eyers, but it was soon discontinued. At
Glen Este, in the same locality, a post-office has been
opened since the completion of the railroad, and at that
point Charles Conklin has, also, a small store.

EAST LIBEltl'Y

is a small hamlet on the East Fork, near the northeast
corner of the township, and owes its existence to the mill­
ing interests at that place, no particular effurt having been
made to found a village. But since the Cincinnati and
l~astern Railroad has located a station here a village has
been regularly laid out. The plat was made by Daniel
Baldwin in March, 1877, and embraced 6.07 acres of land,
forming 21 lots. The streets were named 'Yoodward,
Nealy, Baldwin, Harrison, and Hayes.

The water-power of the East Fork here was first im­
proved by John Bills, who put up a small mill some time
about .1825. Subsequently John Baker, who had been
Samuel Perin's miller, became the owner. The latter sold
out to Mathias Kugler, who erected the present mill and
gave the locality the name of East Liberty. The present
owner of the mill is Philip Huffman. It has a good ca­
pacity, and can be operated ten months per year. ·While
Kugler owned the mills he had a store and a large distil­
lery, and the place was the seat of a business which was as
important as any carried on in the county. The distillery
has long since been discontinued and the buildings removed.
For a time there was no store at the mills, but for the past
few years It. Sapp has been here engaged in merchandising.

In addition to the extensive distillery of Kugler at East
Liberty, which embraced also a large cooperage, the distil­
lation of liquor was formerly carried on in this part of the
township by Thomas Davis, Isaiah Vail, William Vail, and
Robert Cazel. Davis had a saw-mill on Shaylor's Run, where
the lumber was formed into rafts and floated down the
river. On Salt ltun were some rude salt-works, operated at
an early day for Gen. 'Villiam Lytle by John Malott, and
other small industries have been carried on in this part of
the township, all being discontinued when the water-power
fajIed, in consequence of the clearing up of the country.

TOBASCO

is near the southwest corner of the township, on the Ohio
turnpike, and is a station of the C. & E. R. U. (Ohio River
division). The place had its beginning at the cross-roads
which separated the farms of John 'White, William Whit­
taker, James Wurd, and Isaac Van Eaton. On the 'tVard
farm Elias T. Fisher secured a few acres and put up a cabi­
net-shop, before 1820, in whieh he carried on his trade.
Soon a blacksmith-shop was erected by James Hunter and
a wagon-maker's shop by Michael Balm, and the place
began to assume importance as a busy hamlet. At present
a smithy is carried on by Frank Johnson and carpenter- and
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buildin~-shops by N. S. Fisher and Robert Jeremiah, each
employing a number of men.

John Manker had one of the first stores in the hamlet,
near the present toll-gate, about fifty years ago, selling
goods in one end of the house and keeping a tavern in the
other. Some time about 1845 another store and tavern was
op~ned in the building which is now partly occupied by
Tobasco Grange. Samuel McLaughlin was the first thcl'e
in trade and the last J. D. Witham, about 1868. A num­
ber of other persons have here merchandized, meantime. In
the year lust named R. Jeremiah and W. M. Parks opened
a store in the present business house, and were followed by
Ben Moore, Z. D. Kyle, and the present D. Sheldon & Co.
In the depot building R. "White has carried on a grocery­
store the past year; and these two places constitute the mer­
cantile interests of the hamlet.

The 'Withamsville post-office waS first at this place at the
house of Elias T. Fisher, and after its removal to Withams­
ville proper an effort was made to secure an office for this
hamlet, which about the time of the Mexican war was
called Tobasco. The project did'not succeed until recently,
and Douglas Sheldon was appointed the first postmaster of
the Tobasco office. Themail is supplied by the Eastern
Railroad daily. The building of that road caused a de­
mand for village lots, and on the 28th of February, 1878,
Reuben White laid out 25 lots on the west side of Nine­
Mile turnpike, the area being nearly 14 acres. Since that
time a number of new houses have been built, and Tobasco
has entered upon a promising future. A -mile east, on the
Ohio turnpike, is the village of

W ITHAl\ISVILLE,

so named for the Witham family, the original settlers there.
No attempt was made to found a regular village, but the

place attained its size and importance in the coursc of time
simply as a country settlement and trading-point. At pres­
ent there are two churches and th~ usual adjuncts of a
village of a few hundred inhabitants. The widow Britton

.was the first to engage in trade, about 1816, and was fol­
lowed two years later by Nathaniel Witham. After mer­
chandising for a time he went out of trade, but in 1828
opened another store,' which he had until 184:2, when
Maurice 'Vitham was his successor for a dozen years..
About 1830, Otis Preble and Nathaniel Temple opened a
store on the lot now occupied by the Fitzpatrick building,
the site having been occupiedfor merchandising ever since.
The present building Was e~cted about 1869 by W. H.
Woodlief, who carried on an extensive business. The
present firm is 'William M. Fitzpatrick & Son. The build­
ing is three stories high, the second story forming a public
hall, and the third belonging to the Masons. David Preble
opened another store in 1830, making three in the place,
the aggregate business for those times being large. Five
or six. years later Dr. William Doane and James 'Ward
opened a store in connection with their mill, on the site
now occupied by Odd-Fellows' Hall. 'l'his building .was
afterwards purchased by the citizens for u. free church,
which has long since passed away. Among ol,her mer­
chants in the village have been Peter Jones, Erasmus
Short, and at Gum Springs, west of the village, L. L.

57

'Varren. In 1868, E. Bennett & Sons engaged in trade
where is now H. R. Bennett. Here, also, is kept the post­
office, which was established at what is now Tobasco. In
1830, Elias T. Fisher was the postmaster; in 18-11, James
'Ward, Jr.; 1845, Otis Preble; 18-17, Nathaniel Temple;
1851, J.Jamanda Parks; 1853, J. O. Witham; and the
successive postmasters have been P. S. J olles, L. L. 'War­
rell, ,V. L. Hall, P. S. Jones, H. L. Donham, Lamandlt
Parks, .'V. H. 'Voodlief, A. B. Smith, and 'Villiam P.
'\Vhitt,iker. A daily mail is supplied.

At the Gum Springs J olm E. '\Villiams opened the first
publ.ic-house, and was' followed by James 'Vilson. About
the same time Nathaniel Witham entertained the public in
connection with his store. Benjamin Tatman began kceping
public-house in part of the present stand, where among the
successive landlords have been Lamanda Parks, W. A.
Ryan, 'Villiam H. Lane, 'William J. Behymer, John 'Veil.

Among the mechanics at Withamsville have been black­
smiths, John rrllOmpson, Isaac and Thomas GraJl 'Villiam
.Mcl\lurchy, Madison Hall, and, for the past thirty-five
years, A. B. & J. W. Jones. For the same length of time
P. S. Jones has been a wheelwright, the two shops pt:oducing
a large amount of work.. Other wheelwrights have been
John 'Webster, Isaac Gray, and George 'Vilmington.

Twenty-five years ago Jones & Wilmington had a large
shop for the manufacture of 'Windsor chairs, which they
carried on a few years, employing a doien hands. Since
that period P. S. Jones bas been the undertaker of this
part of the county, and G. V. 'Witham the cabinet-maker..
l~ast of the village James Simpson had a carding-machine,
operated by horse-power, and 'William Hall had a horse­
power mill. At the village, about 1835, Doane & 'Yard
had steam saw- and grist-mills on the site now occupied by
the Methodist Episcopal church, which were extensively
operated several years. After being the; property of 'Vil­
liam Hall some time they wer~ demolished.

About 1818, Dr. 'William Doane, who had studied medi­
cine with Dr. Porter, of Ohio township, located here as a
practitioner, and in time was elected to Congress from this
district. One of his pupils was Dr. Elias Bennett, who
engaged here in practice in 1830, and continued until
1878, but still lives as a retirea physician at \Vithamsville.
Dr. Doane died here June 20, 184:7. From 1847, for a
few years, Dr. J. O"'Vebber was a practicing physician in
the village, and later Drs. H. L. Donham and J. C. Collins.
Since 1851, Dr. J. M. \Vitham has followed the profession,
and since 1873 has had associated with him his son, F. P.
·Witham. In 1879, Dr. C. A: Bennett, son of the veteran
Dr. E. Bennett, commenced his career as a practitioner,
the three last named being the present physicians.

MOUNT CAlUtIEL

is a long, straggling village on the Batavia turnpike, near
the Hamilton County line. It is located on a high but
levei tract of land, and consists of two parts, locally known
as East and "'Vest Mount Carmel, which were built on lots
secured from the farms in this locality, no village having
ever been regularly laid out. The growth of the place bus
been slow but constant, and at present there are several
churches, a fine graded-school building~ and a few hundred
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inhabitants. Peter C. Parker had the first store, ncar
where is the prescnt post-oflice. '1'he secoud was kept by
John Rose, in the westem I)art, aud about the sallie time
'Villiam Cumback, in a building which stood ncar the
centre of the village~ had another store. Elias Bl'Oadwell
and A. H. Cumback were also merchants of this period.
In 1847, Joshua Dial cngaged in trade wherc were aftcr­
wards Moses Elstun, Gotlicb Seitz, 1\1. V. 1\1ark Icy: aud
the presentJ. 'V. Markley. Ncar 1847, Frederick Perd­
rizet began a trade, which since 1857 has been carried on
by J. F. Perdrizet.. At East :l\lount Carmel, Lane &
Hiehards began merchandising many years ago, and. were
succeeded by Samuel Lane, for a long period a merchant in
a building which yet stands cast of the Methodist ]~pis­

eopal church. In this part is a grocery-store, by Collins
Doughty, and in the west part one by John Vail.

In 1840, Caleb Dial was the postmaster of the Mount
Carmel office j in 1851, William Cumback; 1853, Herbert
A. Cumback; 1865, C. C. Manning; 1866, Gotlieb Seitz;
18G7, l\l. V. Markley j and 1875, J. 1'1. Markley. For
many years past the office has had a daily mail.

On Hall's Run, between the two parts of Mount Carmel,
a fiunous old-time tavern was kept by John Whetston, at
whieh stages stopped to change horses and long lines of
loaded teams passed the night. Here were afterwards John
Jamieson and others, as popular landlords. The house has
long since been demolished. For some years the old John
Rose house, in the western part of the village, was kept
for the entertainment of the public. The present .Mount
Carmel House was opened by William A. Hyan many
years ago, and has been kept the past twenty years by J.
A. Miller, who has in connection a public hall.

The mechanic trades were early carried on by Jeremiah
Suttoil, Garrett Bias, and L. B. Wilmington, the latter con­
tinuing many years. Since 184D, E. D. Phillips has car­
ried on shops at the lower end of the village, and at the
upper part William Jones has shops. A quarter of a
century ago chair-making formed an important industry at
:Mount Carmel, there being a number of shops, employing in
the aggregate 30 hands. Among others who followed this
business were Daniel Kelley, Henry Kelley, Shadrach
Mcdaris, and John C. l(elley. This interest has long
since been discontinued. In early times Moses Broadwell
had a tannery at Hall's RUll, neur the old tavern stand, and
w~s followed in that business by a man named Wright.

Representatives of the medical profession have lived at
Mount Carmel, Dr. George Black being the first, and Drs.
John A. Wheeler and B. Witham at present. Other prac­
titioners have been Drs. Stephen J. Alexander, J. N.
l'hacker, Frank Parrish, L. W. Bishop, A. C. McChesney,
and Ii'rank Dennis.

SECHE'!' aUDERS.

The township has several flourishing lodges, representing
.the Masonic order and the ii'aternity uf Odd-I?ellows.
The first instituted was

l\IOUN'f CARMEL LODGE, No. HJO, 1. O. O. F.,

which waS organized Feb. 12, 1852, with Daniel Kelley,
Noble Grand; John S. Lane, Vice-Grand; E. D. Phillips,
Rec. Sec. j Isaac Jones, Per. Sec. j- Hobert C. ~remple,

Treas. j and Elijah Day, John F. Avey, Samuel L. Teal,
EllIor Johnston, Isaac Jcukins, and 'V. A. H.yan, associate
members. The lodge has had It membership of 80, and at
present 56 belong. III 1867 the present fine hall was built,
at a cost of $2500, and the property is controlled by trustees
'Villiam Prickett, B. Witham, and J. Ii'. Perdrizet.

Since the institution of the lodge the Noble Grands for.
each year have been: 1852, Daniel KeJley, J. S. Lane;
1853, K D. Phillips, Samuel L. Teal; 1854, H. C. Temple,
S. 'V. Doane j 1855, Nathan l\lc:\lahan, J. 1\1. Phillips j

1856, S. L. Teal, John S. Jenkins; 1857, Josiah Cross,
John 1\1. Anderson; 1858, N. U. Kerr, John KeJley;
1859, G. L. Carter, Peter Snider; 1860, Frank White,
William P. J.Jorne j 1801, S. F. Teal, S. L. Teal; 1862,
N. U. Kerr, 8. F. l'cal; 18G:-~, J. F. Perdrizet, Oscar
Johnston j 186-1:, N. U. Kerr, Peter Snider j 1865, J. S.
Jenkins, J. P. Pel'drizet; 1866, G. \V. Stafford, John G.
Steitz; 18G7, Samuel C. Thompson, J. 1\1. Phillips j 1868,
S. F. Perdrizct, John F. I.Jane j 1869, S. C. l'hompson,
Emor Johnston; 1870, Frank B. Lane, William S. Hobin­
son; 1871, Charles Steine, Samuel Neighbors; 1872, T.
F. Spaulding, C. 1\1. Higgs; 1873, J. C. McGuire, 1\1. V.
Markley j 1874, M. A. Arthur, \Villiam D. Johnston j

1875, Samuel L. 'Vitham, O:5car Jones; 1876, B. Witham,
William Prickett; 1877, A. C. Davies, It. B. Kyle; 1878,
J. "Y. Hill, Joseph Arthur j 1879, Isaac Jones, James
Brazier j 1880, John D. Phillips.

EUREKA LODGE, No. 4!7, 1. O. O. P.,

was instituted at Withamsville, July 1, 1870, with charter
members as follows: P. S. Jones, \Villiam Gaskins, A. B.
Jones, J. W. Jones, T. C. Markley, Lewis Gelvin, W. T.
'Vhitaker, \Y. J. Behymer, J. C. Hatfield, William Arthur,
John Fra"ntz. In a short time Henry Coones, N. H. Hat­
field, E. Behymer, \YiIliam Maddy, H. 1\lyer, and Ed.
\Vilson became connected as members, and since that
period the lodge has mainly been flourishing. Its meetings
are held in ,a fine hall, above the public-school rooms, near
the centre of \Vithamsville. The present officers are A.
C. Bradbury, Noble Grand; G. 'V. 'Witham, Vice-Grand;
T. 'V. Marshall, Rec. Sec.; :F. P.· 'Vitham, Per. Sec.; L.
Ludlow, Treas.; H. Cooms, J. P. Hobb, Q. Hults, Trustees.

The Noble Grands since the institution of the lodge
have been P. S. Jones, J. D. Hatfield, \V. T. Whitaker,
Lewis Gelvin, 'ViIliam Swem, "Y. J. Behymer, Henry
Coones, E. G. Gest, Lewis Ludlow, 'ViJliam Ellis, Elisha
Behymer, Isaiah Hults, A. K. Bennett, E. 'Vilson, E.
Hughes, Dl·. F. P. 'Witham, E. Nash, J. P. Hobb, D. P.
Durham, and A. C. Bradbury.

J. n. COVERT LODGE, No. 437, F. AND A. M.,

received itS"'charter from the State Lodge, Oct. 21, 1869,
with Heury Van Gundy, Isaac Van J~aton, N. S. Fisher,
I?- J. Banks, J.J. McLaughlin, James H. Whittaker, A. Fa­
gin, ·William Johnson, W. 'N. Archer, William B. Cord,
George Sheldon, John Gray, and Nathaniel 'Vitham as
constituent members. The lodge soon had a membership
numbering 50, and at present (January, 1880) reports 56

"in good standing. l'he comm~nications of the lodge are
held in a fine hall at "Vit1lamsville, which was built in 1869



DANIEL KENDRICK J..EAVITT was born Jan. 25, 1801, in
Amherst, Hillsborough Co" N, H., and was the youngest
of twelve children in his filther's family. His father, An­
drew Leavitt, was three times married, and Daniel K. was
bOl'n to his second wife, whose maiden name was Jones,
Andrew Leavitt served in the Revolutionary war, and fought
at Bunker Hill under Gen. Warren, and his eleventh
child, a daughter, married a Mr. Hutchinson, and was the
mother of the noted Hutchinson family of singers.

The subject of this sketch received the scanty education
furnished at an early day in the New En~land district
schools by a short attendance on them of winters, and
worked on a farm, and also with his father, who was a la~ge

builder. In 1818 he bought bis time of his father, and
came to Cincinnati in the fall of that year with the Melendy
brothers, who began the manufacture of fanning-mills in
that city, and with whom for many years he was associated
in business, and until the improved thrashing-machines
with self-fanners supplanted the old-fashioned fanning-mill.
Be came from the State of New Hampshire over the moun­
tains to Ohio with a horse and buggy, and Cincinnati was
then a little city of only seventeen thousand inhabitants:
He was married, in March, 1830, by Rev. Dr. Graves to
Lucinda Belch"of Butler Co" Ohio, by whom he has had
the following children: Elizabeth, unmarried; Andrew,
married, and at bome; Mary, married to Byingt,on Camp­
bell, of Ripley, Ohio j Daniel, married, and residing near
Amelia; Cordelia, Harriet, and Topsy,-all three single;
and Rufus, who died in bis seventh year of age.

After, with the famous Melendy brothers, quitting the
manufacture in Cincinnati of fanning-mills, he took up the
trade of building, which he had learned ~nder an appren-

ticeship with his father. He built the Cincinnati Vine
Street Congregational church, and many other large edifices
in that city, and in 1864 removed to Ripley, Ohio, where
for eight years he carried on business, building and dealing
in lumber. In 1872 he purchased of Nancy J. Pool the
elegant farm of one hundred and thirty-six acres on which
he now resides, located on the Mount Carmel and Tobasco
free turnpike, half a mile from the former town, and the Cin­
cinnati and Eastern, and Cincinnati and Portsmouth Nar­
row-Gauge Railroads. Both cross his farm, and the station
of the latter is only ten rods from his residence. He is a
general filrmer, and makes a specialty of no particular pro­
ductions, but gives consfderable attention to fruits.

In the gl'eat revival of 1828 he was converted under the
preaching of Revs. Ross and James Gallagher in the First
Presbyterian church of Cincinnati, but subsequently, owing
to the pro-slavery preaching of its pastor, Rev. Dr. Wilson,
he WIth seventeen others withdrew and organized the Sixth
Presbyterian Church, For twenty-five years he has been
an elder in the church, to which both he and his family are
zealously attached. He is of English extraction, and a
Republican in his politics. Originally a Whig, he very
early identified himself with the anti-slavery movement for
the abolition of slavery when it was unpopular and brought
obloquy on his head. He has lived to see the cause finally
triulliphant, and the cursed institution of slavery wiped
from our statute-books, and the negro slave given the full
rights of an American citizen. He is a noble type of the
old Puritan descendants who threescore years and more
ago came West, and to whose labors and works the remark­
able growth of this new country in material and moral
prosperity is very largely due.



Phuto. loy Reynulds & }Hill£', Datavia, Ohio.

ONE of the solid farmers of Union township,

owning two hundred and twenty-four acres, is John

Moore Hunt, who was born near Trenton, N. J.,

June 6, 1816. He was the son of George and Sallie

(l\1:oore) IIunt, who emigrated the fall after his birth

to Batavia, in this county, where George Hunt, his

father, for several years followed the profession of

school-teaching, and was the first schoolmaster in

Batavia, and subsequently t.'tught two years at Co­

lumbia. He afterwards retumed to Batavia and

settled on a fi1.rm near this town, where he died in

his sixty-eighth year. He was the father of the

following children: Charles, Louisa, Jesse, Jonathan,

John :lVIoore, George W., Sallie, James M., Elizabeth,

and l\1a,ry. John Moore Hunt lived in Batavia

until about his foul'teenth year, when he went to his

father's farm and there worked until he began to

learn the trade of a carpenter with his brother Jesse

and Basil Thompson. This avocation he followed

with success for twenty-two years, and was considered

one of the best house-joiners in Clermont. He then

settled on a farm once owned by Col. William Curry,

in Bat.'wia township, but afterwards purchased the

Conklin farm near Olive Branch, in Union township,

where he has ever since resided. He was married,

Oct. 27, 1841, to Miss Elizabeth Conklin, daughter

of Stephen Conklin, formerly of Cincinnati, by Rev.

Joel Dolby, of the Protestant ~ethodist Church.

From this union there were nine children, to wit:

Sallie, intermarried with B. F. Bragdon; Charles

Moore, married to Mollie, llaughter of Col. James

Given, and residing in Kansas; Benjamin F., de­

ceased in his nineteenth year; Carrie; Emma; Clara,

married to 'Villiam Dinkleman, residing in Macli­

sonville; Olive; William; and Elmer Ellsworth.

Mr. Hunt is a practical farmer, and has always taken

great interest in the agricultural fairs of the county.

He is a member of no religious denomination, but

all his family belong to the Baptist Church, to which

he is a reg~lar contributor. He always has refused

to be a candidate for local offices, but in politics is a

pronounced Republican, He has twice revisited

New Jersey, the scene of his birth, Ol1ce in 1857 and

again in 1875.
His farm is located in one of the best neighbor­

hoods of the county, and on it Mr. Hunt lives

in independence, respected and esteemed by his

neighbors.
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by N. S. Fisher, and the principal officers from the orgaqi­
zation of the lodge have been the fOllowing:

1870.-Henry Van Gundy, W. M.; ISMe Van Eaton, S. W.; N. S.
Fisher, J. W.; James H. WhittlLker, Sec.

1871.-Henry Van Gund.y, W. M.; A. J. Banks, S: W.; John A.
Morrison, J. w.; C. P. Witham, Sec.

187~.--A. J. Banks, W. M.; .Jobn A. Morrison, S. W.; Davis WhipI)Y,
J. W.; James II. Whittaker, Sec.

1873.-A. J. Bnnl,s, W. M.; Davis WbipPY, S. W.; James MeRobertl't,
J. W.; L. D. Fisher, Sec.

1874.-Dnvis Wbippy, W. l\L; C. II. Cline, S. W.; George W.
Behymer, J. W.; L. D. F;sher, Sec.

1875.-Davis Whippy, W. 1\1.; C. II. Cline, S. W.; George W. Behy­
mer, J. W.; S. A. Muchmore, Sec.

1876.-C. H. Cline, W. 1\1.; John A. Morrison, S. W.; William E.
MlLttox, J. W.; L. D. Fisher, Sec.

1877.-C. II. Cline, W. M.; James O. Johnson, S. W.; C. P. Withnm,
J. W.; G. L. Van Sant, Sec.

1878.-N. S. Fisber, W. M.; George J. Zabrislde, S. W.; George R.
miss, J. W.; G. L. Van Sant, Sec.

187!1.-N. S. Fisher, W. 1\£.; G. L. Van Sant, S. W.; George R.
mil:!s, J. W.; Bennett Behymer, Sec.

1880.-C. II. Cline, W. M.; George R. miss, S. W.; C. A. Bennett,
J. W.; Bennett Behymer, Sec.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

Among the pioneer teachers of Union is remembered
Joseph Gosse~t, a relative of the Davis family, who was an
excellent penman and a good teacher. He taught many
years, pursuing his duties from ruornin~ until dark in the
evening. Thomas Brinton, Samuel Ewing, Elijah Wile
liamson, and Daniel F. Birney also helped to educate the
youth of the early settlers. .No official knowledge of the
schools can be obtained, since the records have not been
preserved j but in 1853 the sub-districts reported as follows:

No.1 had no school-house and asked for an appropriation
of 5700 to build one.

No.2 reported its school in good condition.
No. 3 represented that its house was so poor that the

demand for a new one was very urgent.
No.4 I'eported a debt of $57.14.
No. 5 was unrepresented.
No.6 was in a flourishing condition.
No.7 had no school-house and did not care to have any.
No. 8 had no house and asked for an appropriation of

$800 to build one.
1'he requests of the several districts were complied with,

and SCTlOOI buildings erected as soon as the funds could be
raised. Most of the districts now possess good houses, and
considerable attention is paid to the schools maintained in
them, about eighteen weeks per year. In 1879 the num­
ber of pupils attending the public schools, outside of the
special district of Mount Carmel, was 324, and the amount
paid for their instruction, $254.91. The president of the
board of education was N. S. Fisher, and the secretary
J. W. Hunt.

:MOUNT CARMEL SPECIAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

was formed Aug. 30, 1866, under the act of 1849 and the
amendatory acts thereto, to include the territory of what
was formerly di~trict No. 9. Th~ board of education
selected was composed of William' Walker and J. F. Den­
nis, for one year; Samuel Lane, Sr., and George Markley,
for two years; M. Johnson and E. Forbes, for three years.

J. F. Dennis was chosen president, and Merit Johnson sec-·
retary of the board; and these officers and treasurer, in
the order named for each year since the organization of the
district, have been: 1867, J. Manning, M. Johnson, S.
Lane; 1868, L. W. Bishop, M. Johnson, J. 1\L Rust;
1869, J.J. W. Bishop, Mahlon J.J. Broadwell, J. l\I. Rust;
1870, Mahlon Hayworth, Mahlon L. Broadwell, J. M.
Uust; 1871, l~mor Johnson, M. Simmons, J. F. Perdri.
zet j 1872, N. A. Day, M. Simmons, J. F. Pet'drizet;
1873, W. F. Prickett, N. A. Day, J. F. Perdrizet; 1874,
J. K. Kyle, M. Simmons, N. A. Day; 1875, E. D. Phil­
lips, M. Simmons, N..A. Day j 1876, E. D. Phillips, M.
Simmons, J. M. Rust j 1877-79, E. D. Phillips, 1\1. Sim­
mons, J. A. Wheeler.

In 1876 the board purchased two and a half acres of
ground on which to erect the new school edifice, which was
completed at a cost of nearly $7000. It is a handsome
two-story brick building, containing four spacious rooms
and two vestibules. The location is central for the district,
which is about two' miles square, and the lot has'been par­
tially improved. UntH this house was occupied the schools
were taught in two buildings, located in the eastern and the
western parts of the hamlet. The first year of the special
district $600 were voted for the support of the schools,
and James Lane was the principal, continuing until 1869,
when he was succeeded by E. A. Bunton. In 1870, C.1\1.
Riggs was the principal j from 1871 till 1873, L. D. Man­
ning; 1874, ..w. C. McGill; 1875-77, A. W. Williamson;
1878-79, D. G. Drake, assisted by La~ra A. Rice and Ella
l\I. Dennis. About $1200 per year are paid for the instruc­
tion of the 140 pupils attending the Mount Carmel schools
thirty-two weeks per year. In the high-school department
were 33 pupils, and the schools throughout had the reputa­
tion of being well conducted.

More than thirty years ago the Rev. L. G. Gaines taught
a select school of considerable merit at Mount Carmel.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

At Withamsville was originally organized the" Ten-Mile
Baptist Church" (whose history is given in' the township of
Pierce), and the earliest settlers seem to have belonged to
the Baptist persuasion. The organizations at present ex­
isting in the township are of comparatively recent origin,
one of the oldest being the

FIRST REG ULAR BAPTIST CHURCH OF WITITA:MSVILLE,

which was constituted March 21, 1845, with 48 members,
among them being J ephtha .. Johnson, Martha J ')hnson, .
Newton Corbley, Huldah Corbley, Reuben Loyd, Nancy
Loyd, Nancy Stockton, Joseph Hatfield, Elizabeth Hatfield,
Maria Kelly, Margaret Campbell, Jamcs T. Robb, William
Arthur, Benjamin Behymer, Fanny Behmyer, Benjamin
Bragdon, Rebecca Bragdon, Rebecca Johnson, Catherine
Loyd, Elias Littleton, Sarah Littleton, Sarah Wheeler,
Elizabeth Hulick, Nancy Kirgan, James Wood, 'William
Nash, Sr., Elizabeth H.obb, David Kirgan, Lucinda Arthur,
Nancy Robb, Susan Nash, Reuben Bennett, Margaret Nash.

Jephtha Johnson and Joseph Hatfield were elected the
first deacons; David Kirgan, clerk; 'William Arthur and
Newton Corbley, singing clerks; William Nash, Reuben
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Lo)'d, and James ·Wood, trustees of the building fund j

\\rilliam Nash, Elias Nash, and S. Hatfield, committee on
ministerial supply. Elder A. Sargent became the first
pastor, giving the church onc-fourth of his time. Thus or­
ganized, the work of. building a meeting-house was actively
pushed forward, and in 18-16 a respectable edifice was
occupied for worship. Thorough repairs in 1879 have
made it very comfortable, and a. fine bell and organ recently
procured lend additional attractions.

Viewed as a whole, the church has been prosperous, but
previous to the war of 1861 it was somewhat distracted by
the slavery question. On the 21st of October, 1854, a
rcsolution was offered in church-meeting to the effect
" That we are opposed to the intl'oduction of any political
question into the church, therefore we canuot consistently
sympathize or co·operate with our brethren in any political
efforts to prevent the extension of slavery or the liberation
of those in bondage." This resolution was very properly
rejected, whereupon some of the members witlldrew because
religion was blended with politics, and one member was
excluded for saying" that the 'Vithamsville Baptist Church
is an abolitionist church." At present the church is
fairly flourishing, having nearly 100 members, with M.
.Johnson, B. Behmyer, and H. Coones ~;s deacons, and the
lattcr serving al~o as clerk. Other clerks have been Elias
Nash, Peter Robb, 1.\1. Johnson, and 'Villiam Arthur.

1'he church ordained to the ministry 'Villiam Martin in
1850, and twenty years later Stephen G. Lindsey. In
1850 appears the name of Rev. 'Villiam D. Spaldon as
pastor; in 1861, Rev. William Dolby; 1866, Hev. 'Villiam
D. Spaldon; 1867, Rev. Joseph Hawkins; 1868, nev.
William D. SpaIdon ; 1871, Hev. E. R. Hera; 1873, Rev.
J. Hawkins, who yet occasionally serves th~ church, there
being no regular minister at present. .

A well-attended Sunday.school is maintained, which has
H. Coones for superintendent.

TilE CENTRAL CHAPEL OF TIlE METHODIST EPISCOPAL
CIlURCH.

The first Methodist class in this part of the township
was composed of A. B. and Elizabeth Jones; Jacob :Mc­
Cord; l~lizabeth Swem; J. ·W. and Amelia Jones; Honry
Nash and wife j James and Virginia Nash j lmiza and
Nancy Nash; John Han'is and wife; Jacob Behymer and
wife; John Shannon and wife; and John I.J. Jones, who was
one of the first class-leaders. The preaching services were
fir~t held over the blacksmith-shop of the Jones Brothers,
but soon measures were taken to build ~ house of worship.
This project was largely promoted by A. B. Jones, and in
1857 the house was inclosed, but it was not fully finish'cd
until ten years later. The house is of brick, 40 by 50 feet,
15 feet in height, and cost a little more than $3000. The
first trustees were John Gest, Hezekiah Hawkins, James
Bllis, J. ,Y. J:ones, A. B. Jones, John L. Jones, and John
Harris. At the dedication of this house a large accession
of members followed as the result of a series of rcvival
meetings, held about thnt time; but the membership hus
diminished from )'ear to year until at present it numbers
but 25. The church has its ministerial supply from the
Amelia Circuit.

THE l\IETHODIST PROTESTANT CHURCH OF TOBASCO.

About 1835 a society of this faith was formed in this
locality, which had among its members Samuel l\fcCord,
John Mills, Henry Hopper, Margaret Hopper, James 'Vard,
Joshua Ward, John "Tard, Sarah Smith, Joshua Whipple
and his wife, Stephen Conklin, George 'Wilmington, Hestcr
Eldridge, Mary J cllison, and others. 1'he meetings were
first held in the school-house which stood on the side of the
present church building, but in June, 1842, a lot of land
was secured west of the school building, on which to erect
a house of worship. The lot was conve)'ed to Stephen
Conklin, George Wilmington, Henry Hopper, and Joshua
'Yard as trustees. A small brick meeting-house was built
the same sea~on, in which the society worshiped until 18G9,
when it was remodeled and enlarged. It has again, within
the past year, been renovated, and, having attractive sur­
roundings, is a very inviting place of won:hip. The trustees
in "1879 were James O. Johnson, N. S. Fisher, 1.\1. A.
Arthur, L. D. Witham, and H. C. Jeremiah. The steward
of the church was .J. 'V. Kelly.

The church has always cnjoyed a -filii' degree of prosper­
ity, and in 1879 had 70 members under the pastoral direc­
tion of the Hev. William Hillenschenkle. Other ministers
have been the Revs. McGuire, Evans, Dolby, Langdon,
Boyd, Davis, White, Bartlett, Hose, Williams, RO\yan,
'Yarrington, and Johnson.

In the rear of the church is a b'1'ave-yard, from the 'Vitham
-fitI'm, which has been enlarged from time to time until it
has become a spacious cemetery. The last addition was
made in 1870, when the township authorities purchased fi\'e
acres more, and have since then generously improved the
grounds. The cemetery is situated on an elevated tract of
ground, a little more than midway between the hamlets of
Tobaseo and 'Vithamsville, und bears the name of " Mount
Moriah." It contains a. neat vault, erected in 1877, and
many fine monuments.

THE MOUNT CARMEL PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

This body was organized by the Hev. S. J. Miller, about
1840, of the following persons, most of whom were formedy
members of the Round Bottom cQngregation: . Campbell
Johnston, Jerusha, Jane, and Frederick Johnston, Thomas
Davidson, :Margaret Davidson, Margaret and :Mary John­
ston, William Cumback, Nancy Cumback, Henry·Broad­
well, S. J. Alexander, Elizabeth Alexander, Sr., Elizabeth
Alexander, Jr., William Pool, C:.Itharine· Pool, Andrew
Kirkpatrick, and l~lizabeth Kirkpatrick.

William Cumback and Campbell Johnston were elected
the first ruling elders. In 1842, Henry Broadwell was
elected to the same office; in 185.0, Moses Elstun, and yet
serves in that capacity; in 1862, H. H. Curnback; in 1867,
I.J. ,Y. Bishop and J oho Manning; in 186!J, Julius F.
Perdrizet; in 1878, D. K. Leavitt and John Boice; and in
1880, M. V. Markley.

For some time the Hev. James Black served the cop.gre­
gation as a licentiate, but on the 24th of July, 1842, was
ordained to the pastoral. ofIiee, in which he remained a. few
years, and was the only settled pastor of the <:hurch, the
subsequent ministers preaching as supplies. These have
been the Hevs. Wiseman, Gaines, Young, Mitchell, French,
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Hill, :McKee, Tedford, West, and Maxwell. In 1880 the
Hev. H. A. Hossiter engaged to supply the pulpit. The
congregation numbers 83 communicants, 42 of whom
were added the preceding year. TIle Sunday-scllOol bas 90
memb~rs, and D. G. Drake for superintendent: The meet­
ing-house which the society occupies at Mount Carmel was
ere'cted in 1851. It is a neat brick building, and has an
inviting appearance. The present trustees are Robert
Cribbett, Frank Armstrong, and Harmon Blanchard. It is
the second house of worship, the first one having stood
near the present toll·house in Mount Carmel.

TEE UNIVERSALIST GHURCR OF MOUNT CARMEL.

Meetings of persons who believed in the universality of
God's love were held in this locality many years ago,
among the ministers being tbe Revs. A. G. J...aurie, J. A.
Gurley, George Rogers, 1\1. Pingue, W. Y. Emmett, M.
Crooley, J. W. Henley, and G. L. Demarest. Owing
largely to tbe latter three the church was organized July
30, 1864, of persons who had formerly belonged to New­
town Church, viz.: Levi B. Wilmington, Artemas Day, N.
A. Day, Sarah L. Whippy, Elmira 'Wilmington, R. Day,
Margaret Thompson, 1\1. Jenkins, Elizabeth Broadwell, Eo
Perin, Julius Kiser, P. Day, Nancy Day, A. R. Johnson,
Jane Leaf, Mary Day, Mary Anderson, John-Broadwell,
and Robert Temple.

In 1867 the church united with the Odd-Fellows in
erecting a fine building, the lower story of which was fitted
up for a place of worship, which the society 11as since occu­
pied. The trustees in 1867 were G. R. Johnson, L. 'Vil­
mington, and N. A. Day; and in 1880, J. 1\1. Anderson,
R. B. Kyle, and N. A. Day; E. D. Phillips, Treasurer; G.
R. Johnson, Clerk; J. K. Kyle, Moderator; N. A. Day and
E. D. Phillips, Deacons. For -the past eighteen years the
Rev. 'V. S. Bacon has had the pastoral direction of the
church, which has nearly 100 members. A Sunday-school
was organized some time before the church, which is yet
continued with good interest, the average. attendance being
65. For many years N. A. Day was the superintendent,
and at present J. K. Kyle serves in that capacity.

WESLEY CHAPEL OF THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL
CHURCH,

at East Mount Carmel, was erected in 1852, on a lot of
ground given for that purpose by Samuel Lane, Jr. It is
beautifully located, and the house-a commodious brick­
itself appears very attractive. In 1879 its controlling trus­
tees were J. M. Rust, Samuel Wright, 'V. J. Rust, Eu­
gene Cross, Joseph Arthur, J. 1\1. Phillips, J. D. Phillips,
S. H. Cranse, and W. W. Duckwall. Close at haud is a
fine parsonage which belongs. to Olive Branch Circuit, frolu
which the ministerial supply is obtained. The present is

- the second house of worship, the former, a small house
standing at a point farther east, having been built a dozen
years earlier, and was the first house of worship in this
part of the township. Among the pioneer Methodists.here
were John Hall, Cyrus Broadwell, Cyrus Cross, James
Ellis, Nathaniel Bennett, John and Samuel Lane. In
1879' the church had 113 members, under the leadership
of the Rev. George E. Johnsoll, assisted by James Allen

and Samuel Wright.' A large and well-conducted Sunday­
school is maintained, which has for superintendents George
E. Johnson, Ambrose Temple, J. W. Hill, 'V. W. Hill,
Merit Johnson, and Harry Swartz, alternating their duties
from Sabbath to Sabbath, an experiment which has proved
satisfactory at Mount Carmel, where probably more atten­
tion is paid to Sunday-school matters than in any other lo­
cality in the county.

THE MOUNT CARMEL FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH

is th~ youngest of the religious bodies organized in the
- township. It dates 'its beginning from October, 1877,

when Frank Spalding and wife, Wilber Spalding, James
Tompkins and wife, Nannie Tompkins, Joseph Arthur and
wife, E. Forbes and wife, J. L. Forbes, and Addie Forbes
united themselves in church fellowship. At present 17
members constitute tIle church, which has been supplied·
with preaching by the Revs. Spaldon, Hera, Hawkins, and
'Yare. E. Forbes and James Tompkins are the deacons,
J. L. Forbes clerk, and E. Forbes treasurer.

In connection with a grange of Patrons of Husbandry,
Union Hall, a two-story brick building erected in 1851,
was purchased and fitted up for lodge and church purposes,
the lower story being devoted to the latter object. The
room will comfortably scat 200 persons.

ST. PAUL'S PROTESTANT EVANGEMCAL CHURCH,

near 'Willowville, is a frame house df worship built in
1846. The congregation which occupies it is small, and
the present church council is composed of John Vogt,
Christian l\lillm', and John Felger. The ministers of the
New Richmond Church usually preach here once a month. '
In this locality, also, worship a society of United Brethren
(also Germans), whose-church organization is given in the
history of Batavia, as is also the East Fork Baptist, or­
ganized at East Liberty, but now known as the Olive
Branch Baptist Church.

tit

BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HES.

REV. SAMUEL WEST.

That distinguished servant of the Lord whose name
stands at the head of this biographical sketch, in .COllse­
quence of his relation to the great West and the labors and
privations he endured in planti;lg the gospel from the Alle­
ghanies to the Mississippi; and from the lakes to the Ohio,
deserves a prominent place iu the annals of Clermont
County, where he so long lived and where his bold spirit
took its departure. He was born in Pennsylvania, not later
than the year 1779, February 14th. He was descended
from, a family that emigrated very early to America after
the scttlements opened up on the Atlantic coast, in the
seventeenth century, and was of a collateral branch of which
Benjamin 'Vest, the celebrated painter, was a member. He
received only three months' education in his young days,
but from his youth was a close observer of human nature,
and in after-years became a good scholar. He begun
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preaching in Virginia in his nineteenth year, and labored
for several years in that State, North Carolina, 'fennessee,
and Kentucky as an exhorter. He came to Marietta, Ohio,
when a young man, about the beginning of the present
century. There he passed an apprenticeship at ship-build­
ing, and subsequently wrougllt at his trade. He then came
to Cincinnati and its vicinity, and found a friend and coun­
selor in Judge Philip Gatch, formerly a noted preacher and
then residing near Milford. At what time and place and
under whose ministerial labors he united with the Methodist
Episcopal Church is unknown. His parents were members
of the Church of Englund, in which he received baptism in
infilllcy, and in after-years he has been heard to relate what
deep conflicts in heart and mind he had in accepting his
divine call to the ministry. It was in 1809 he reached
Judge Philip Gatch's, where he tarried several months,
preaching and exhorting .in the neighborhood, until the
arrival of Bishop Asbury, who licensed him to preach and
gave him stated clerical labors. Later in the same year he
was admitted on trial into the 'Vestern Conference. His
fields of labor in the itinemncy were as follows: 1809,
Shelby Circuit, Kentucky; 1810, Cumberland; 1811,
Guyandotte j 1812, Liltle Kanawha j 1813, Delaware,
Ohio j 1814, Knox j 1815, Scioto (in which year he ~uilt

the first llleetilJg.hou~e in COIUlUbllS, Ohio, alltl which was
thre~ years prior to the erection of nev. Dl', James Hoge's
church, the I?irst Presbyterian); 1816, Luwi:-town, Ky.;
1817, Lawrenceburg, Ind.; and 1818, .Miami Di~lrict.

Now occurred an important e\'cnt in his life, -his mar­
riage to a remarkable woman, who for nine years was to
be his solace and support. He married, in 1819, Mrs. Re­
becca (Strong) Allison, widow of the eminent Dr. Hichard
Allison, and a daughter of that brave soldier of the Revo­
lution, Gen. David Strong. That year his estimable wife
accompallied him on the Hamilton and Rossville Circuit;
in 1820 to the Scioto (he was superannuated in 1821) j in
1822 to Miami; iu 1823 to White Oak. In 1824 he
retired from the Conference as a regular stationed preacher
to ellgage in land-speculations, but he kept the filith of his
younger days, and preached locally as his great business
cares would permit. lIe was presiding elder of the Scioto
District one year, and under his preaching the late Bishop
Morris was converted and received into the church in which
afterwards he became so eminent. Hev. Samuel \Vcst in
his later years bitterly lamented as the great mistake of his
life his turning aside from the regular work of the ministry.
Had he devoted himself to the ministry as a life work he
.doubtless would have been equal to any position the church
had ill its power to bestow.

The personal appearance of Rev. Samuel West in' the
pulpit over half a century ago was preposscssing, and im­
prc8sed one,)n looking upon his tall form and flashing eye:
with the belief that he had genius and eloqllence; but

.whcn engaged in· preaching or in conversation the brill­
iancy and fascination of his speech and manuel'S would
demonstrate that fact in a remarkable degree. None who
were permitted to listen to the stirring accents of his
voicc, when ellg:lged in dcscription 01' declamation, wouItl go
away without being illlpre~sed with his POWC1' over the heart.

1'he marriage of Samuel \Vcst with Uebecca (Strong)

Allison was a most happy one, and its fruits were two chil­
dren,-:-8arnuel Roberts Strong \Vest, born Jan. 9, 1820,
and Rebecca Julia Evans \Vest, born June 11, 1824, and
who married John Kugler, one of the greatest business
men of his day in the county. Nine years this loving and
devoted couple lived together, when, on June 1, 1828,
death removed his beloved companion and transferred her
to a better clime. She was a devoted wife to him in the
ministry, in his business, and in their home. He subse­
quently married in Lawrenceburg, Ind., Mrs. Lucinda
Ludlow, whose maiden Dame was Lucinda Porter. He
was a third tillie married June 2, 1853, to Mrs. Elizabeth
1\'1. Williams, widow of Dr. Courtland Williams, by whom
he had one child, Elizabeth, who died in infancy.

Father 'Vest was an able advocate of Christian doctrine,
and his success in planting Methodism in the extended
fields to which he was assigned is proof of his ability and
devotion ~o his work. Having in 1824 desisted. from the
regular and responsible pastoral work, he entered upon a
career of turmoil-yet to him congenial-in .which is
strength of character was seen and felt by men who" buy
and sell and get gain." For a third of a century he was
one of the largest speculators of the country in real estate,
especially in \Vestern lands, and he at one time owned forty
thousand acres in Texas. He amassed a large fortune in
his land-dealings and traveled over tIle entire 'Vest, and
mostly on horseback. .He was his own counselor not only
in pursuing business, but also in litigation in courts. Few
men had a more profound knowledge of the principles of
law or were capable of a clearer presentation of their cause.
At one time, when an important lund-case of his was on
trial in the Clermont court before the late learned Judge
Fishback, his attorney not grasping the cause to suit him,
~Ir. West took hold, wrote new pleadings himself, and
gained the suit. He was an extensive reader, a clear
thinker, possessed an iron will, and had a wonderful mem­
ory. While his early education was limited, years after he
became a man he took up and mastered Latin, Greek, and
Hebrew, and kept posted in current literature and politics.
He was a 'Whig and Republican, and in the late Rebellion
helped to recruit for the Union army.

Of large stature, an iron constitution, and powerful will,
and possessed of unexcelled controversial powers, he was a
giant in the pulpit, whether leading sinners to repentance
or discussing doctrinal points with clergy of other denomi­
nations. Of great mental power, extraordinary memory,
and being a close student, he acquired extended theological,
scientific, and general knowledge, which rendered his ser­
mons, discussions, and conversations most interesting and in­
structive. His ability was ever recognized and appreciated
bS the church in which he spent so many years; but he
was the last of his generation, all of his compeers and co­
laborers in the church and ministry are gone. He outlived
them all and muny of his acquaintances of later years, us
also his wives and children. He died at the 'Nest home.
stead, ncar Olive Branch, Oct. 7, 1879. He was a Chris­
tian .to his death, and his habits of simplicityand regularity
anti total abstinence from all vices enabled him to reach the
ndvancetl age of fiv~score years and one. Up to a fe~

days of his departure his faculties were all unimpaired, and
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he walked about his estates. 'rVe have seen him sitting in
the old arm-chair, an heirloom of the Revolutionary era in
the Gen. Strong family, singing his favorite hymn, begin­
ning "God moves in a mysterious way;" and as his long
white beard floated in the breeze, he had the sacred appear­
anc~ of the old Bible patriarchs. Connected with the
Swing, Fishback, Huber, and other noted Clermont fami­
lies, bis house was the great centre for a large circle of the
best people of Southern Ohio; and this venerable patriarch
was reverenced by all who loved to listen to his many rich
reminiscences of pioneer times, and the early and happy
associations of Methodism on the frontier. He was a
most kind and loving husband, a father in all its holy and
broad signification, a true and loyal citizen, but above all,
he was for the first quarter of the present century an am­
bassador of heaven traveling in the new country in the ser­
vice of his God, and great were the fruits of his labors,­
greafto religion and great to humanity.

SAMUEL R. S. WEST.

For the past third of a century no 'citizen of Clermont
County was more widely and favorably known than the late
Maj. Samuel Hoberts Strong 'Vest. He was the only son
ot' Rev. Samuel and Hebecea (Strong) West, and was born
Jan. 9, 1820, in Chillicothe, Ohio, where his father was
presidin~ elder of the Scioto District of. the l\1ethodi~t

Episcopal Church. He received a fini~hedclassical educa­
tion, was a favorite pupil under the celebrated·Professor
Joseph Ray, of Cincinnati, and was subsequently a student
at Meadville (Pennsylvania) University, where he com­
pleted' his academic studies. From his eleve~th to his
fourteenth year he was a student of Latin and Greek, in
both of which ancient languages he became proficient at
college. He married Dec. 12, 1838, in Kentucky, Miss

. Harriet Newell Huber, daughter of the noted Jacob Huber,
of 'Williamsburgh, Ohio, one of the early settlers of that
town and most famous abolitionist of Ohio. His wife
was a sister of Mrs. Judge Owen T. Fishback, and a
lady of culture and force of character. From this happy
union were born seven children, of whom the first, Thomas
Owens Edwards 'rVest, died Oct. 23, 1841, aged twenty­
three months and nineteen days, and' the second child, Ma­
tilda Hasselman West, died in her fourth year of age. The
five surviving children are Col. Samuel Adams 'Vest, born
Dec. 25, 1843 j Rebecca Strong 'Vest, married to Dr. R.
C. Belt, of Milford, Ohio; Anna Maria "'Nest, married to
Thomas A. Loyd, of Olive Branch, Ohio ; John Kugler
'Vest, residing on the homestead j and Harriet;. C. 'Vest,
the youngest child, and unmarried. Of the abo\-e, 001.
Samuel A. 'Vest is an attorney-at-law of Milford, and
served in the Union army in the Rebellion, having enlisted
in April, 1861,-the day after Sumter fell,-in Company C,
Twelfth Ohio Regiment Infantry, in which he served seven­
teen months, being then promoted to the rank of first
lieutenant in Company B, Seventy-ninth Ohio Regiment
ot' Volunteers, and in January, 1863, received his appoint­
ment as captain; in January, 1865, he was promoted to the
rank of major; and in June following to that of lieutenant-

colonel, receiving his discharge the same month as the war
was over. He was the representative of Clermont County
in the Sixty-first and Sixty-second General Assemblies of
Ohio, from Jan. 5, 1874, to January, 1878. He gained a
reputation as a prompt and fearless legislator in civil life,
and his war record is one most honorable to himself and the
patriotic ancestry from which he is a descendant. He went
into the army when only seventeen years old, and was raised
to be a lieutenant and captain before he was twenty-one.
A few years after his marriage Maj. West moved to his fine
farm near Olive Branch, where he resided until his death,
and which is one of the finest country-seats of the county.
He was largely instrumental in the removal of the Clermont
County Agricultural Society's Fair to Olive Brunch, on his
grounds, where its exhibitions were held from 1857 to 1864.

.For several years its president, and then marshal, he took
great interest in its annual exhibitions, and in the agricul­
tural,horticultural, and mechanical development of Cler­
mont. :For over forty years he was a member of the In­
dependent Order of Odd-Fellows, and was a charter mem­
ber of Batavia Lodge, No. 136, instituted Oct. 10, 1849,
and was its first Noble Grand. He received the degrees in
Milton Lod~e, No. 99, at Amelia, and was It representative
to the Grand Lodge of Ohio. He also belonged to Olean­
der Encampment, No". 4-1-, of Batavia, and in this order was
one of' its:IlIost prominent members.

In 18-17 he raised a detachment of troops for the Third
Ohio ·Regiment, for the Mexican war, a.nd was elected first

-lieutenant ; but in the consolidation of the Brown and Cler­
:mont Oounty companies he was left out in order to secure
the quota of the former, and this was done against his bit­
ter protest. He was subsequently a captain in the militia,
and. commanded and drilled the crack company of the

.county.. When the dark· cloud of the late Rebellion over­

.cast our national horizon, he left a comf<;>rtable home and
a lOVIng f'amily and marched to the music of the drum
and fife to the deadly conflict. He helped organize the
Thirty-fourth Ohio Volunteer Infantry (First Zouave Regi­
ment), recruited a company and went to the front as its
captain, and for meritorious services was promoted to be
major. On his farID this regiment was encamped while its
ranks were being filled at Camp Piatt. He gave up a
loving family for the doubtful shelter of an army tent, and
for the society of soldiers who loved him for his friendship
and respected him for his courage. He bravely stood the
hardships on the tented field for years, and no Union sol­
dier served his country more gallantly and faithfully than
l\'Iaj. West. In the battle of 'Win~hester, Va., July 20,
1864, he commanded the "Old Thirty-fourth Ohio," and
while the Union forces, overpowered in numbers, suffered a
defeat, he valiantly comm,anded the rear-guard in the re­
treat. On his death, at a large reunion of his old regiment,
resolutions of respect were adopted, showing no soldier in
that gallant organization was held in higher regard for his
brav~l'Y and endearing qualities than Maj. West. .

He was a firm believer in the truths of the Christian
religion, and never would rent any of his Cincinnati or
Clermont property for saloons or places to sell intoxicating
liquors, and neve::r would sell grain or any of his farm
products to a distillery.' An old:Iine Whig until th~ dis-
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solution of that party, he naturally went with the Hepub­
lican party upon its organization, and was a consistent and
active worker in the same until his decease. He was one
of its trusted and ablest counselors, and in political strategy
was hardly equaled in the county. Never an aspirant for
office, he worked for his party from principles. A man
liberally educated, with a mind well stored with general
information upon all matters of a national or political
nature, his political influence was of great weight in
Southern Ohio. With his acute intellect and sound judg­
ment, he could render valuable all the knowledge he ac­
(juil'ed, dmwn from whatever source. Addnd to these
qualities Samuel It. S. 'Vcst had a heart overflowing with
kindness to all. He was generous almost to a fault, and
often disregarded his own happiness and his own interest
to alleviate the suffering and supply the wants of others.
He was a true friend, and however imminent the danger
or perilous the undertaking, he would bravely meet it when
a friend was in danger or needed his services. He was a
positive man, and took no pains to conceal his conduct or
his views upon any subject, and the world always knew
where to find .Maj. West. Guile and deceit were no part
of his composition, and he practicea no fraud himself and
frowned on it in others. He loved truth for its own sake,
and hated falsehood when practiced by others. But in his
own family he appeared to the best advantage: a faithful
and filial son, a kind and affectionate husband, a loving and
indulgent father. His aged father almost worshiped him, his
wife loved him, and his children regarded him. with affec­
tion and honor. A DIan of splendid physiq';1e, being six
feet and two inches in height, determined mind, a pleasant
and clear conversationaIlst, he was ever. the centre ~f the
society in which he moved, nnd his life left, a deep impress
on the community. He died l\Iarch 21, 1878, at his home­
stead, and was buried in ·the Cumminsville. Cemetery at
Cincinnati, by the side of his sainted mother; and there,
too, has since been laid his beloved father, who passed the
age of fivescore years. .

Maj. Samuel R S. West was a man of mind and heart,'
and as long as the aunals of Clermont remain, so long his
memory will be green in the affections of a people who
cherish and prize true manhood as exemplified in this good
citizcn and brave soldier.

llEBECCA WEST.

One of the most remarkable women in personal beauty
and intellectual attainments that ever resided in Clerm,ont
County was ltebecca 'West, a lady whose varied accomplish­
ments were far in advance of the pioneer days in which she
was a conspicu~us actor. She was born in 1778, near
Hartford, Conn., and was the daughter of Gen. Duvid and
·Chloe (Hichmond) Strqng. She descended from a family
illustrious in the annals of New England, and her ancestry
dates back to a time prior to the conquest of England, in
1066, by William, Duke of Normandy, when the Strongs
were land-owners in I~ngland. The first of the Strong
faluily is found at Northampton, Mass., in 1631, eleven
,Years subsequent to the landing of the" Mayflower" with

the Pilgrim Fathers. A few yeari! later some or this fhm­
ily were with the fil·st colony that settled iu Connecticut,
where Gen. David Strong was born. He fought all through
the Revolutionary war, and was colonel of a regiment dis­
tinguished for its gallant services under its intrepid COIll­

mander. He was colonel of the" Northwestern Legion,"
under Gen. Anthony 'Vayne, in his celebrated cilmpaign
against the Indians in 179.1" and participa.ted in the battle
of "Fallen Timbers," on the Maumee River, August 20th
of that year, which resulted in a disastrous defeat and
slaughter of the savages, and pa.ved the way for future
peace and the opening up of the" Territory Northwest" to
settlements and civilization.

Colonel Strong was afterwards for some time command­
ant of Fort Washington, at Cincinnati; also at Fort Wayne
and Detroit. By an order dated at W'ashington City, Oct.
1~, 1800, signed by President John Adams and the Secre­
tary of War, Col. Strong was ordered to canton the troops
between Fort lUassaiand the mouth of the Ohio River, and
he established his camp near Cairo, Ill., and also had COIll­

mand of Fort Pickering. Shortly afterwards, in August,
1801, he died in the line of his dnty at his headquarters at
Wilkinsonville, loved by his command of the cantonment
and honored by his government, which had made him a
general. He died on the anniversary of the day when he
bravely fought in that memorable battle which established
peace with the Indian tribes, under the gallant \Vayne, in
the Maumee Valley, in August, 179.1" when the cnemy's
flank, as Wayne's report says, " was tarned by his active and
effective. eourage." Rebecca Strong was married in 179.1"
in her sixteenth. year, to Dr. Hichard Allison, the fil'st phy-

-sician to practice in Cincinnati, where he located in 1789.
Dr. Alli~on was born -near· Goshen, N. Y., in 1757, and be­

·came distinguished. in his knowledge of medicine and sur­
·gery. He. was a surgeon's mate in the Revolutionary war
when a young man, and was afterwards surgeon-general in

.the Indian campaigns of Gens. Harmer, St. Clair, and
Wayne, and in this important position acquitted himself
with marked capability and won national distinction. At
St. Clair's defeat he narrowly escaped death, and at 'Vayne's
victory he was ncar his father-in~law, Col. Strong, in the
thickest of the fight. He eventually resigned his commis­
sion in the army and commenced ,private practice in Cin­
cinnati, and considering the comparatively small population
of the city at that time, secured an extensive practice, in­
creasing it steadily year by year. In the first part of the
present century Dr. Allison purchased military warrants,
and entered two surveys of land in Olermont County,-one
of four hundred acres, Allison's survey, No. 1730, in Frank­
lin township, and the other of four hundred and forty-one
acres, Allison's survey in Stonelick. On the latter he built
an elegant residence at an early day, and there lived for
several years with his accomplished wire Hebecca (Strong).
He also erected a large grist- and saw-mill, and on May 3,
1815,.laid out at the confluence of Stonelick Creek with
the East Fork of the Little Miami the town of " Allisonia."
His death in Cincinnati, March 22, 1816, interrupted the
growth of his new town, which soon fell into decay, but
was subsequently an important seat known as· ,Bast Liberty.
He was the first physician to practice in Cincinnati, and
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the first to die within its limits, and has been well described
as " the 'father of his profession in the Queen City." In
his six or seven years' residence in Clermont he practiced
in this county, and was its first medical censor under an
act of' the Ohio J.Jegislature. '

Dr. Allison was appointed July 24, 1788, surgeon of the
troops for the defense of the Northwest frontier by the execu­
tive council of Penp-sylvania, which led to his coming to Cin­
cinnati, where, in January, 1794-, we find he was surgeon of
the legion at Fort 'Vashington, commanded by Col. David
Strong, who had his wife and children with him. Here, at
the fort, he became acquainted with Miss Rebecca, the com­
mandan1's daughter, the most beautiful and accomplished
young lady in the Territory, and just from the best circles
of' the celebrated Connecticut society, then the finest in
America. The subject of our sketch had no chilJren by
Dr. Allison, whose widow she remained three years, until,
1819", whell in her thirty-seventh year of age, still the most
attractive la.dy in Cincinnati, she was married to Rev.
Samuel 'Vest, a distinguilihed itinerant Methodist preacher,
whose eloquence was famed throughout the West. She
accompanied her hm;band that year on the Hamilton and
Hossville Circuit, in 1820 to the Scioto district (in 1821
was with him when superannuated), in 1822 to the Miami
Circuit, and in 182:~ to 'Vhite Oak Circuit. In 1824, Mr.
'Vest located in Cincinnati and quit the itinerancy. Here
she resided with her husband, and was a favorite in society,
of which she was one of its brightest ornaments. Two
children were born to the Rev. Samuel and Rebecca West,
-Samuel Roberts Strong 'Vest, born Jan. 9, 1820, at
Chillicothe (Scioto Circuit); and Rebecca Julia Evans West.,
born June 11, 1824. The latter was a noble woman, pos­
sessing in a large degree the many excellent virtues and traits
of her Christian mothcr, Rebecca, whom she greatly re­
sembled, and whose pious example she imitated. She was
married March 27, 1842, to John Kugler, then, and for a
quarter of a century afterwards, Clermont's most successful
business man. She died.June 28,1871, in her forty-seventh
year, mourned by the whole community. Rebecca Wesr d:ied
June 1, 1828, in her fiftieth year of age, and her soul took its
flight rejoicing in the hope of a blessed immortality. Her
sickness was long and distressing, but with Christian forti­
tude, and with the heroic virtues of her family, she bore it
all without a murmur. The memory of her humble walk,
her holy zeal and pious example, joined with conciliating
manners and cultivated mind, remains unsullied and un­
dimmed by the lapse of time. Sue possessed the strong
common sense, the keen perception of character, and the
kindly heart which were the common heritage of the cul­
tured women of the last century. Her latter end was truly
a beautiful example of how a 9hristian should die; waiting
patiently and cheerfully the word of the Master to come,
not repining at the delay of the summons, nor murmuring
at the severity of' the afflictions that taught her she was
human and mortal; bowing her will in all things to that of
her Saviour, and kissing the rod that, smote her, for she
knew it wa~ held in a loving hand. She was one of the
most cultivated of those splendid pioneer matrons who did
so much in forming the character of the early Ohio civili­
zation,and her monument is reared in patriotic and intel-
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ligent descendants, whose lives bear the unmistakable im­
press of her genius and character,-one of the grandest and
noblest in the history of this county or the annals of the
St~te.

1\10SES ELSTUN.

Moses Elstun, born in Essex Co., N. J., March 17,1800, .
was the son of Eli and Mary (Payne) lmstun. His
mother's father, John Payne, served in the Revolutionary
war, was taken prisoner by the Tories and" Cow-Boys;"
made his escape fl'om those miserable enemies of the pa-

triots, vowing he would never be retaken, but was waylaid
at night and shot, and he ran to his doorstep, where he fell
dead with his boots filled with blood.

The grandfather of Moses on his father's side also'
fought in the Revolutionary war, was captured by the
British, and died in prison from starvation and cold,-a
inartyr to the glorious cause of 1776 and its immortnl prin­
ciples of liberty. Eli Elstun and llis fumily left New
Jersey in the fall of 1802; stopped at the famous "Red
Stone" settlement, where they wintered, and where their
son Ralph was born. In the spring of 1803 they arrived
at Columbia, Ohio, where they remained until the spring of
1805. They then removed to Clermont <;lounty and set­
tled in Miami township, on what is now the second farm
beyond Mount Repose. To l~li and his wife Mary (Payne)
Elstun was born at Columbia a son, Freeman, and in
Miami township two girls,-Mary, married to John Eppert,
and Hannah, married to John Vinzant. Eli Elstun was a
cooper, and in addition to his trade followed fm·ming. He
made barrels for Christian 'Valdsmith, a very early miller
and distiller, and father-in-law of Mathias, the father of
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John Kugler. Eli Elstun died in 1814, and afterwards.
his widow married Bethuel Covalt, one of the earliest pio­
neers of Hamilton and Clermont Counties, and whose
family settled at Covalt's Station, near Milford, in 1791.
She died in 1820. Christian Waldsmith died in 1814 of
the cold plague, which fatal epidemic then extensively pre­
vailed, and of which Eli Elstun sickened and died. Moses
Elstun remained on the farm until his father's death, when
he began his apprenticeship at cabinet-making with 1\lahlon
Smith, in 'Villiamsburgh, which trade he learned most
thoroughly. He worked at it as a journeyman for a year
and a half, until 1821, when he opened a shop at Perin's
}fills.

This place was then, and for many years subsequent, the
most important business seat in the county, and here
Samuel Perin had his extensive mills, distillery, store,
cooper·, blacksmith-, and wagon-shops. In the winter of
1822-23, Moses Elstun made a trip on the river to New
Orleans with furniture and country produce and pro\'is­
ions. He married, Dec. 11, 1823, Lydia Potter, likewise
a native of New Jersey, by whom he had nine children,
four dying in infancy. The other five were reared to ma­
turity and had families, to wit: Dr. 'Vesley Payne Elstun,
a distinguished physician of Cincinnati (who married L.
Turpin, a daughter of Eben S. Turpin), and who was ac­
cidentally killed a few years since near Columbia by being
thrown from his buggy j Louise, married to Dow Nixon,
formerly treasurer of Hamilton County, and now of the
lnter- Ocean paper of Chicago j Therese, married to David
G. Devore, of· Brown County; Theron B., married to
Hester McClelland; and 'Vilson, married to Jane Edwards.
Moses Elstun remained in the cabinet-making business at
Perin's Mills until 1844, when he sold out to Philip Stew­
art. He was elected a justice of the peace of l\liami town­
ship in 1828, and served fifteen years successively, being
four times re-elected. In 1837-38 he was elected and
served as county assessor. In 1840 he was appointed by
the court as land-appraiser of the district composed of
Miami, Goshen, Wayne, Stonelick, and Jackson townships.

In 1844 he bought the farm where Daniel Turner now
resides, immediately moved upon it, and two years later
built the fine two·story brick dwelling thereon. In 1843
he was elected county treasurer over 'V. C. Pinkham, the
'Vhig nominee, and in 1845 was re-elected with no opposi­
tion, the 'Vhig party also putting his name on their tickets
after his renomination by the Democrats. He made a
faithful treasurer, and neither the county nor any private
individual lost a farthing by his administration. He was
a very popular and affable official, and attended with :scru­
pulous honor to the duties of his office.

About the year 1850 he sold his farm to Daniel Turner,
. removed to Ml?unt Carmel, and engaged in merchandising,

where he remained in business until 1864. He had bought
tIle farm on which he now resides-called the· Dr. 'Villiams
place-on Dec. 11, 1853, just thirty years after his mar­
riage. He is now serving his seventh term in Union town­
ship as justice of the peace, which, with his five terms in
Miami, makes thirty-six years as magistrate,-a longer
period than any other living man in .the county has served,
and only equaled by "'Squire Larkin," of Neville, who in

former times was forty-two years a magistrate. ~n 1864
he removed to his present residence, some three miles below
Perin's Mills, where his wife Lydia (Potter) died Dec. 2,
1867. He has been a member of the Presbyterian Church
since 1840, and has served in it as an elder. In politics
he is a Jeffersonian Democrat, and has voted for fifty-nine
consecutive elections. 'Vhile living at Mount Carmel he
was several years township treasurer and also trustee. He·
acted for eight years as treasurer of the "Batavia Turn­
pike and Union Bridge Company," and under his admin­
istration only was there ever any dividend of any amount
paid to its stockholders. He took one thousand dollars
stock in the Cincinnati and Eastern Narrow-Gauge Rail­
way j was one of the principal men to get it located down
the I~ast Fork. It runs through his farm, and in front of
his residence is" Elstun's Station." His fine farm of one
l~undred and eighty-five acres is mostly bottom-land, and
he makes a. specialty of fruits, in the production of which
he is excelled by few. He is of English extrq.ction on the
paternal and of French on the maternal side.

On May 3, 1829, he officiated at the marriage of Charles
Hill to Rebecca Hand, and on May 3, 1879, as a jusiice
of the peace, he remarried this worthy couple at their
golden wedding, holding in his hands the original license
written out in full by D. C. Bryan, clerk of the court,
over half a century ago. This golden wedding took place
at Belfast, in Stonelick township, and at its conclusion
another novel feature occurred. "'Squire Elstun" there
united in marriage Mr. William Eo Motsinger to Miss Re­
becca Hill, daughter of the old couple whom fifty years
before he had married, and whom a few minutes previous
he had married in "Golden Style." Squire Elstun has
passed his fourscore years, and they have been years of
sterling integrity, of cont.inued industry, of deserved honor,
and of great public usefulness. No stain blots his long and
eventful life, spent in official and private business, while
his innumerable deeds of charity and kindness have made
him honored and respected by all who know or ever came
in contact with him. In the private walks of life, as well
as in the many official stations he has held, he has proven
true to his illustrious Revolutionary lineage.

JESSE L. TEAL.

Among the first and most worthy pioneers of Clermont
were Jacob Teal and his wife, Elizabeth, of German de­
scent, who, in the year 1796, emigrated from Queen Anne
Co., Md., to Kentucky, where they resided until the spring
of 1798, when they located in this county near the East
Fork of the Little Miami Ri~er. This couple of early set­
tlers had three daughters and four sons, viz., Sarah, married
to Joseph Jean; Elizabeth, married to 'Villiam Y. Potter;
and Ann, first married to William Voorhis, and the second
time to John Blair; Philip (who died young), Samuel,
Jesse, and Jacob Lingen. The latter was l]larried on
Dec. 16, 1819, by Rev. Philip· Gatch, to Elizabeth Lane,
daughter of Shadrach Lane, by whom ·he had three chil­
dren, Jesse Lane, Sarah Elizabeth Strange, and Bur­
roughs Westlake; and was married the second time, on
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Jan. 28, 1830, by Rev. Burroughs Westlake, to Lydia
Dimmitt, daughter of Ezekiel Dimmitt, by whom he had
twelve children.

Jacob Lingen Teal died Feb. 16, 1869, and was univer­
sally known and esteemed in the county. He'served many
years as magistrate, and was over twenty years superintend­
ent of the Providence Sunday-school in the Teal neighbor­
hood, so noted in days of yore for its "camp-meeting" asso­
ciations and memories.

Jesse Lane Teal, a grandson of J acoh Teal and Shadrach
Lane, was born Jan. 26, 1821, and part of his boyhood
days were epent in Batavia. On Oct. 23, 1843, he was
married, by Rev. George W. Walker, to 1\1ary Gallagher,
of Cincinnati, by whom he has had five children, viz.:
Olive V., married to B. P. Hill; Sarah Elizabeth; Henry
Clay; Emma Lane, married to Lewis Beagle; and Pliny A.
He received a good common-school education, and under
John Hill, the old surveyor and famous pedagogue of half
a century ago, was instructed in the rudiments of highor
mathematics. He taught school six or seven seasons, and
received his certificates for teaching first from the board
composed of Thomas L. Shields, William Howard, and
John Hill, and afterwards from George J.J. Swing. For the
past twenty-two years he has resided on his fine fruit-farm
of on~ hundred and forty-six acres in Union township.
For sixteen years he was secretary of the Sunday-school of·
Providence church, which edifice he helped to erect and to
the building of which he liberally contributed. He has
been for several years a member of Batavia Lodge, No. 109,
of Free and Accepted 1\1asons. For eight years he was one
of the managers of the Clermont County Agricultural So­
ciety, and in that period was most of the time superintend­
ent of its Floral Hall. No one in Clermont has excelled him
in the number of premiums for fruit taken in that society.
For a quarter of a century belonging to the State Horticul­
tural Society, he has annually contributed largely to its ex­
hibitions, and at tlle Cincinnati Exposition took the largest
premium on 'fine fruits ever given in Ohio. He is a fre­
quent attendant at the Cincinnati Horticultural Society, and
at the Ohio State Fair has been one of its leading exhib­
itors, receiving there many and valuable premiums on his
celebrated fruits. He has a choice library of standard agri­
cultural and horticultural works, and us a practical producer
of noted and popular fruits is hardly surpassed in Southern
Ohio. His taste and judgment in flowers and fruits are
only equaled by his hospitality, which he dispenses in a
style worthy of a true descendant of the old Lane and Teal
pioneers of over fourscore years ago.

ALFRED E. DAVIS.

One of the pioneers of Hamilton Co., Ohio, was Eli
Davis, born Dec. 1, 1772, in Salem, Salem Co., State of
New Jersey, of Welsh origin. When about twenty-one
years of age he, in company with another young man, emi-

grated West, by walking to Pittsburgh and there descending
the Ohio River in the old-fashioned family boat, and located
at Lexington, Ky. Here he spent several years teaching
school, for which he was amply qualified. by a good edu­
cation received in his native State. From Lexington he
went to Newtown, Hamilton Co., Ohio, where he passed
several years in the same vocation, and acquired marked
celebrity as an excellent teacher, most thorough in his dis­
cipline and learned in all the English branches. He served
several years as a justice of the peace of Anderson town­
ship, and was very popular as an efficient magistrate. Here
he became acquainted with and married Ruth Long, of
Butler Co., Ohio, in the year 1808. After his marriage
they resided in Newtown four years, and there were born
unto them two children.

In 1812 he purchased of Gen. William Lytle sixty-two
and one-half acres of land, now a part of the real estate of
the late Alfred E. Davis, deceased, and which had not had a
stick of timber cut off of it. On it he built a log cabin in
the woods, into which with his, wife and two children he
moved. Here he resided until llis death on Oct. 23, 1832,
leaving a widow and seven minor children.

When he came into Union township in 1812 it was
almost an unbroken forest, but to-day, thanks to the noble
old pioneers, it is a· territory of the best cultivated farms,
dotted all over with commodious and comfortable residences,
and several thriving villages.

Alfred Eli Davis, the second child. and son of Eli and
Ruth (J.Jong) Davis, was born in Newtown, Hamilton Co.,
Ohio, on the 10th of December, 1810; and at the time of
his father's death, his elder brother having left to acquire
a trade, he was the oldest child at home. He now became
in Ilis twenty second year the manager of the farm, which
his father had increased to one hundred and twelve and one­
half acres, but on which he had left an incumbrance. By
his industry and ingenuity he enabled his mother to raise
her minor children, paid off the old debt on the farm, and
built a new house. About this time he bought the interest
of the heirs who had arrived at their majority, and contin­
ued to buyout the younger heirs as tiley became of age
until he owned the whole farm. He married, Dec. 27,
1856, Mrs. Landona Jones, by whom he had five children,
three of whom are living, to wit, Jefferson, Eli, and Addie
Davis. He died in 1\1areh, 1879, in his sixty.ninth year,
and left a very large estate, consisting of some three hun­
dred acres in Carrington's survey, No. 2434, and the con­
tiguous surveys, lying about a mile north of 1\1ount Carmel,
besides a large amount ot personal property. He was a
model farmer and business man, and ever took the greatest
pride in having the finest live stock of every kind. A habit
of close observation of everything in connection with his
farm, both regarding stock and crops, was what made him
so successful in the management of one of the best con­
ducted farms in the county. A keen business man, of quick
perception, good judgment, and strong executive abilities,
he was a power in the community, and met with gratifying
success in his life and career.
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THIS township forms the northwestern part of the county,
the Little :Miami River, whose course here is very tortuous,
constituting its western boundary and separating it from
Hamilton County. On the north the township borders on
'Warren County, its width in this part being only a little
more than a mile. The Obannon Creek closely washes the
boundary-line. On the east is the township of Goshen, the
boundary-line being, in the main, the old State road, running
to northern points. Southeast is the township of StoneIick,
which, as well as Goshen, originally belongeu to Miami.
J.Jying south, and separated from it by the }1~ast Fork of the
Little :Miami, is the townslJip of Union. These bounds
give Miami an irre~l1lar shape, the general length bein<r
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about double the widl h. The surface presents a "aried ap­
pearance. Along the strcams are usually bottom-lands of
unsurpasseu beauty alld fertility. J.Jj·ing- bcyollu these are
hills of moderate height, whose surfilce is g-ellcmlly level
and in the form of a plateau. Along the minor streams
the land is much broken, and in some localities too irregular
for profitable cultivation. Ncarly every part was originally
heavily timbered, many fine forests abounding, and there
are yet many beautifully-wooded hill-slopes, or forest-lots,
where the primitive growth remains undisturbed, forming
a rich and striking contrast with the ~ighly-cultivatedfields
of the township, anu giving it a scenic beauty not surpassed
in this part of the State. Aside from the streams men­
tioncd, the principal water-course is Harner's Run, flowing
westward north of the centre of the township, and mingling
its waters with those of the Little l\iiami,-a very beautiful
and useful stream. ·1\1any small water-courses abound, which
are fed by springsof pure water, and which greatly promote
the dl'ainage of the soil, leaving it in good condition for the
husbandman. Although variable the soil is fertile and
adapted for almost every variety of fruit and farm products.
The country is highly improved, and along the principal
highways are a. succession of fine farms, with costly build­
ings, many ot' them being of the modern style of architec­
ture. In this respect Miami takes the lead among the
townships of Clermont.

PIONEER SETTLERS.

As is elsewhere related in this book,* the first settlement
in the county was made within the bounds of Miami by
Col. Thomas Paxton and his family. In 1\1ay, 1792, they
"left their home in Bedford, Pa., and came to Kentucky,
settling opposite the mouth of the J.Jittlc :Miami. In the
campaign against the Indians Col. Paxton commauded the
advance-guard of 'Vayne's expedition. Heturning from the
seat of war, bearing the garlands of victory, Col. Paxton

l* See sketch of Thomas Paxton.
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passed down the east side of the J...ittle Miami, when he was
80 much impressed with the beauty of the country around
Loveland that he resolved to make it his future home. In
the fall of the same year (1794) he arranged for the pur­
chase of several large tracts of land, aggregating about 1200
acres, to which he and his family, except his son Robert,
came to live in the course of the next two years, and laid
the foundations of what soon became a flourishing settle-,
ment. Hobert Paxton remained in Kentucky, but his sons­
in-law, Owen Todd, James Smith, Robert Orr, Silas Hutch­
inson, and John Ramsey, and an Irishman, Redmond Mc­
Donough, all located on the above purchase. But after
living here a few years. Owen Todd and James Smith
moved to "Warren Cou~ty, on the stream which became
known as Todd's Fork. Robert Orr made his final settle­
ment on the place now owned by his son, A. J. Orr. He
served as an ensign in Capt. 'Vm. Mc:Main's company in
1812, and died at the age of sixty-two years. Besides his
son A. J., there were sons,-"\VilIiam, who died in 'Villiams­
burgh; Charles, living near Loveland j and Perry, in :Mis­
souri. The daughters became the wives of Emley Barber,
Robert Hill, and Israel Jones.

Silas Hutchinson lived in the same neighborhood until
his death, many years ago. He reared sons named Joseph,
who lived in the locality now called Guinea, where he died;
Robert was a trader on the river; Silas R. is yet a well­
known citizen near Branch Hill; 'fhomas resides in War­
ren (Jounty. He had five daughters, one of whom married
Elias Smith, of Goshen.

Capt. John Ramsey met with an accident while engaged
in the discharge of his military duties in 1794, which ne­
cessitated the amputation of his leg. Nevertheless, he
lived to be eighty-four years of age, and was remarkably
skillful as a hunter. His eldest son was Robert, who moved
to Missouri many years ago. George, the second son,
married a daughter of Gov. Morrow, and lived in Northern
:l\Iiami until his death, a few years ago. He was better
known as Capt. Ramsey. The third son, John, also died
near Loveland, not many years ago, the £'lmily still residing
there. William Ramsey, another son, was born in Miami,
Dec. 31, 1799, and in 1826 married Nancy Cox, of Goshen.
lIe is better known as Col. Ramsey, and yet resides near
J.Joveland, which he laid out in 1850. The youngest son
of Capt. John Ramsey, Jesse, lived and died near Love­
land, and the daughters married Henry Emery and Samuel
Eveland.

In addition to the foregoing sons-in-law of Col. Paxton,
his daughters, Hebecca and Polly, married Samuel Jack and
David Snider. The former lived on Todd's Fork, the
latter in Hamilton County. Of the two sons ot' Col. Pax­
ton living in Clermont, Samuel, the elder, was born in
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Kentucky, Au~. 7, 1793. He married Eliza 'Veller, a
native of New York, about 1821, and yet lives on the farm
he improved many years ago, and where his filther erected
the pioneer cabin, about two miles south from Loyeland.
For many years he was a river-trader, and' accumulated
co~siderable means in that business. His sons, Thoma!:!,
Andrew, and Wilson S., lived near Loveland i John and
Charles in Tennessee i Clinton is deceased i and the daugh­
ters, Martha and Harriet, remained single, while others
married Harris Smeathers, John H. Branch, and Jarvis
Rogers. Uncle Sammy, as he is familiarly called, has an
interesting recollection of the first school he attended in
l\1iami: " The school·house was a log structure, the whole of
one end being taken up by an immense fireplace, which
consumed large quantities of wood i and a large part of the
time that should have been devoted to the acquirement of
knowledge was spent by the scholars in providing fuel, yet
there were so many cracks and crannies that the inmates
barely escaped freezing. The windows of this pioneer edu­
cational institute wore ornamented with greased paper in
lieu of glass. Books were so costly and scarce that' pad­
dles' of wood were used for text-books from which to learn
the lessons. Paper was pasted on the paddles, and on the
paper the lessons were marked."

Thomas Paxton, the younger son of Col. Paxton, was
born in l\1iami not long after the settlement of the family.
He married Rebecca A. Banghart,. of' Miami, and lived on
the farm now occupied by his youngest son, Robert, dying
there Sept. 10, 1871. The eldest son, Samuel, and the
next, Nathaniel B., live in Warren County, James in Ham­
ilton County, and Thomas B. is a distinguished attorney
in Cincinnati. Of the daughters, Martha is the wife of
Adam Leever, Sarah of D,miel Clark, and Mary of Dr.
Creighton, of Cincinnati.

'Vm. Fitzwater was a pioneer southwest of the Paxton
settlement. His son William died when a young man;
Thomas, another son, lived at "Cedar Banks," on the
present James H. Johnston place; Samuel. his brother,
lived on an adjoining farm i George east of Branch Bill,
where his widow yet resides; and John on the homestead
a little northeaflt of Miamiville. The daughters of Wm.
Fitzwater married John Brown, Lewis Stump, and Wm.
N. Robinson, all members of pioneer families. Thomas
Fitzwater has given the following interesting account of the
immigration of their family from Pennsylvania and the
pioneer events following their settlement, as well as an
account of the Riggs family in Hamilton County, a mem­
ber of which was killed by the Indians at l\Iilford years
before the township was settled:

"C. Waldsmith, our own family, and four other families started to
this State on or near the 1st of ,May, 1796. I llave but little recol­
lcction of the journey to Juniatlt, but I recollect tha.t place. The
next place I recollect seeing wus Bedford Springs, thcn nothing more
until we came to Redstone. Here we were detained near three wecks
waiting for our flat-boats. At Pittsburgh we lDet Gen. Wayne's
regullu army. I have a distinct recollection of seeing the soldiers
firing the cannon; then the drum would beat and the fife would play
a short time. 'I'he army was then going to Erie. Gen. Wayne dicd
the next Oetoher. A day or two after lellving Pittsburgh Chris,
Waldsmith was walking on a sand-bar, when he picked up a life
which looked very ancient. The brass on the cuds was bhtck and
somewhat c01"roded, and it was full of sand. It was supposed it had

been in the river since Braddock's defeat,-ncarly forty-one years.
I SltW the fife hundreds of times in af.tor-y«:>ltr1', They lent it to an
old Revolutionnry fifer, and ncyer recovered it again.

"The Ohio River wns low, and the three flat-bonts had grea,t diffi­
culty in getting along, They only tflivolod in tho day-time, always
tying up to the shoro at night. At the mouth of Bracken River two
families lcft and went into Kentucky. Aftor being on the rh'er seven
weeks wc.lltnrlel1at Columbia. The :Miami was pouring out muddy
wlttcr and driftwood. This WitS the first sight I got of thnt river.

"Not far above the mouth of the Mhuni the boat whieh contltined
Waldsmith's family ran aground. Thc four men and a boy tried to
get it utloat that afternoon amI intO the night, but did not succeel1.
The next morning another boat cnme along, whl'n they hailed the in­
mates for assistance; this boat landeel close to ours, nnd I recollect
seeing thrce or four go to the boat whieh was a~round; in two or
three hours the boat was afloat. About twenty years ago old Fnther
Durham told me the salUe story, and further said that Waldsmith was
so plelued to get his boat afloat that he told them he would gh'e them
ten gallons of whisk)' for their services. They brought a keg whieh
held three galluns, and he filled that.

"It was about the middle of July when we landed at Columbia.
In fifteen or eighteen days, after the Miami got low, we arrived a.t
our journey's end. Waldsmith \vent vigorously to work building a
mill. Some time in the'summer of 1797 I saw the frame of his grist­
mill put up. That saine fall he started one run of stones and also
two copper stills for making whisky. This year (1797) Matthias
Kugler eame to the Tcrritory. I have hcard him laughingly tell
about his losing his hat on the rh'er, nnd shoes he had none on
when he stn.rterI. He was landed at Columbia in n. skiff; when he
arrived in rench of shore he jumped as far itS he could, but lighted in
the soft black mud, whel"e it was so deep he got mired. After soine
floundering about he got to solid ground. He then had ten miles to
travel, without shocs or hat, and his legs well .phtstered with mud.
He arrived at his step-father's the salUc night. Soon after he com­
menced working for Wahlsmith, and in September, 1798, he married
his daughter.

" I have often heard my father say ho left Penn!'ylvania with only
$60 in money; when we got to our journey's end he had but two
French crowns left, about $2.22. So we were tolerably poor until the
f:tll of 1800. That summer father went to Pennsylmnia and got $640
from his father's estate; he also brought $300 for Waldsmith. This
money placed us in better eircumstances, as before that time our cir­
cumstances had been ver,r limited; in fact, we were quite poor, but'
we managed to live o\'er it somehow. For three. years we had a great
deal of sickness eneh fitll, and the sight of medicine or a doctor in
those days would haxe been a strange sight indeed, Since the fall of
1800 there has not been one-fourth the sickness in one year that there
was in that.

"In the winter of 1813-14 I went to Detroit. We left Dayton on
the 9th of Dccember. At this place no 'cold plague' had been
known at that time. We got to Detroit Jan. 4,1814. Here we
learned that the cold plague had been rnging at a fearful rate a few
weeks before, but had somewhat subsided when we arrived. We
started back January 9th, about noon. That afternoon it snowed the
fastest I ever saw it for two hours, when the snow was eight inches
deep. Getting twenty or twenty-five miles south of Fort Meigs the
snow gradually begltn to get shallower. At Urbana it was not more
th:tn two inches deep. We got to Dayton in February, when I found
thltt the cold plague had made its appearance, attended with ftttal re­
sults. Every }lerSOU died that WlLB attacked. I got somewhat alarmed,
and started for home, where I arrived February 12th. No such dis­
ease WItS heard of here until the middle of March; then it set in, but
not so fatal as llt Dayton or Detroit. This was probably owing to
the mildness of the weather. I helped nurse two cases at Dayton,
both of which Foved fatal, nnd also one here, who recovered. I
found the disense inflammatory in the highest degree. Many persons
died ns soon as mortification set in, which it often did in five or six
hours. Waldsmith and his son died in March of this disease. I re­
culleet but three other deaths from this disease about here. A num­
ber of persons were attacked who recovered.

., The Riggses camc from the State of Delaware, starting with $3000
in gold, It negro man worth $800, a wagon, anll 4 good horses. They
came to the ltedstone country, and slttyed there some time. lIe had
n. son I1ml daught.er living there. It is probable they stayed over
winter, as early in the spring of 1790 they stopped at Limestone.
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Here his negro man g:we them the slip, and they never again saw
him. Old William Riggs sold the chance of him for $100.

"Landing at Columbia, they put the wagon together out on shore,
and tied the horses to the tongue, two boys sleeping in the ,vagon.
Next morning eH'ry horse was gone, and they never saw them again.
They could not ascertain whether Indians or white people took them.
The next I know of them they were at Covalt's Station, in 1iOl,
raising a crop of corn. The fall after, Timothy Covalt and Maj.
Riggs took a basket, intending to bring in a basket of papaw!\, crossed
the Miami somehow, nrrind at tho foot oi the gnwelly hill enst of
John Kugler's distillery, and Wl're there fired on by three Indians
from the hrow of the hill, fifteen.or eighteen yards distant. The In­
dinns raised tho yoll. Covalt, being a few yards in the rear, seeing
Riggs fall, wheeled and ran. The Indians followed him to the water's
edge. He ran through the l\Iinmi, and when over met men from tho
statiun coming to their assistance. Tho Indians got Riggs' scalp,
but they were too much hurried to take any part of his clothing.
Shortly after the news of St. Clair's dofeat reached the station. His
mother was so ncar fretted out of her senses that they pneked up and
went somewhere into Kentucky. How long they stayed there I don't
know, probably o,'er the next winter. 'Vhen they came back, finding
the stations much stronger and things better for defense, they Yen­
tured to one of the frontier stations,-I think to Jarrett's Station.
This station was near whero Turpin's house now stands."

He also gh'es an account of the killing of Covalt by the
Indians while he and othcrs were hunting along the Little
Miami in Hamilton County:

"Towards noon of the tint day on which nuekinghnm, Fletcher,
and Covalt started on their bunt, Covalt began to get \'ery uneasy
and to urge the others to return home, saying there might be Indians
about. Tho other two told him there was no danger, but this did not
satisfy him. The nearer nigbt approached the more importunate he
became, and the more he urged them to return. This uneasiness in
Covalt's mind nuekingham always ,'iewed ns a bad omen. His en­
treaties finally prevailed o\'er the others, and they consented to re­
turn. So they left the' licks' in order to reach the station while it
was yet daylight.

"Arriving opposite where nuekiughnm's mill now stands, while
Covalt and Fletcher were walking close together and nuekingham
about threo rods behind, suddenly three guns were fired about twenty
yards distant. nuekinghnm looked forward, SalV Covalt and Fletcher
start to run down the Minmi, and also saw three Indians jump over
II. log, yelling and screaming like demons. As nuekingham wheeled
to run up tho river, he tried to throw off his blnnket, but it hung over
his shoulders like a powder-horn, as the strap passed over his head.
When he did get it loose it took his hat with it. He ran up but a few
poles, then took up the hill, the river and hill being close together.
As he ,vent up the hill he looked back several times, but saw no one
in pursuit. When he arrived on the top he got his gun ready for
emergency, then stopped, looked back, and listened. While thus
standing he heard tho Indians raise the yell down in the bottom,
thirty or fort)· rods distant; then he knew they had caught one or
both of the others. When he found the Indians were that distance
from him, he knew he eould make tracks as fast as the)' could follow
him. So he steered over the hills, and came to the Miami at what is
now Quail's railroad-bridge. Getting to the station ho found Fletcher
had got thero a few minutes before him. ny this time it was night.

H Fletcher's story of the affair was that he and Covalt ran together
some distance, when Fletcher's feet beea~e entangled in a grape­
vine, and down ho fell, where he laid perfectly still until the Indians
passed him. One passed close to him, no doubt thinkin~he had fallen
to rise no more. And they all kept on in hot pursuit of Covalt. As
soon as they' got out of sight Fletcher made his escape down the
river. Next morning a party of men left tho station to look for
ComIt. Arrived at the placo they found his body, his scalp, gun,
tomahawk, powder-horn, blanket, knife, hnt, nnd part of his clothes
gone, and an old broken rifle left nea! his body. The Indian traces
showed that they had crossed and recrossed at Indinn Ripple. They
were not traced any farther.

" Enoch nuckinghom continued with his family at Columbia from
the spring of 1790 to 17!J5. Some time this spring they moved into
a log cabin on the bunks of the Miami, o_n the lower nuekingham
farm,"

Samuel Robinson, a native of Ireland, came to :Miami by
way of Pittsburgh in 1797, and settled where is :l\Iiamiville,
purchasing the entire survey. Here he endured the hard­
ships incident to pioneer life, and died in 1823. His family
consisted of James 'V., who improved the present Horatio
Buckingham farm. About 1835 he removed to Texas, where
he figured in the pioneer history of that country, at one time
being Territorial Governor. From Texas he went to Cali­
fornia, where he died in 1857. William N., the second son,
married Nancy Fitzwater, and settled on the great bend of
the river, where he died in November, 1871, leaving chil­
dren named Alfred N., Samuel, George F., William F.,
and Elizabeth B. The youngest son of Samuel Robinson,
Moses F., occupied the homestead a number of years, but
died at ~fiamiville in 1879. His children were Dr. John
l\J., ot' Scipio, Ind., who was a medical director in the
late war; Charles, living at Miamiville; and a daughter,
who married Nathan Austin. Of the daughtcrs of Samuel
Robinson, Maria became the wife of Simeon Elliott, of
Hamilton County; and Belinda, of E. A. Buckingham.
The latter was a son of the Enoch Buckingham alluded to
above, and became a resident of Miami about 1830 j and
his descendants yet remain in this part of the township.
The elder Buckingllams, Levi and Enoch, settled in Hamil­
ton County, south from Miamiville, about 1794. Horatio
Buckingham, another son of Enoch, also became a resident
of Miami about the period mentioned. .

Farther down the J~ittle Miami the Rev. Francis Mc­
Cormick made the first settlement. He was a Revolution­
ary soldier and served under Lafayette at Yorktown.
About 1789 he married Rebecca Easton, and seven years
later settled on the present A. H. Matson place, above
Milford, owning the entire sur~ey of 1000 acres. He sold
off his land to settlers as they came in, selling the last tract
to Andrew McGrew in 1806. He then moved to ncar
Mount Washington, in Hamilton County, where he died.
At his cabin, in 1797, was formed the first Methodist class
in the State of Ohio j and for many years, although not a
regular itinerant, he was very active in preaching and form­
ing Methodist churches, contracting in this service a dis­
ease which shortened his life. He had ten children, viz. :
Francis Asbury, Charles, George W., Thomas J., and
Johnson (one of them an adopted son),none of whom re­
mained in the county. His daughters were married: Mary
to Thomas Mears, a pioneer in the Salem settlement, and
grandfather of Frank l\I. l\Iears, of Miami j Henrietta to
Philip Hill, who came to Miami about the same time as
McCormick j Lucinda E. (born Jan. 10, 1801) to Gen.
Thomas Gatch, with whom Charles McCormick lived a
number of years j Nancy to Mr. Gregg j and Patsy died
single.

Not long after the settlement of McCormick, the Rev.
Philip Gatch came to improve a tract of land which ad­
joincd bison the south. Philip Gatch was born near Bal­
timore, Md., March 2, 1751, of parents belonging to the
Episcopal Church. In 1772 he was converted under the
preaching of the Methodists, and the following year he
himself began to preach, In 1774, Philip Gatch and
William 'Valters took an appointment, and were the first
native Methodist preachers in America to serve a circuit.
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He was very zealous, and as Methodism was not favorably
received, was oflen subject to violent abuse. On one occa­
sion they applied tar to his body, and the last stroke was
applied to his eyeball so as to nearly destroy his sight.
Subsequently he narrowly escaped death at the hands of
his. persecutors, and although he had to pass through all
manner of tribulation, he lost not an appointment. In
June, 1778, he was married to Elizabeth Smith, who was
a most excellent wife and a very judicious adviser. The
same year he retired from the itinerancy, on account of his
injured eyesight, but continued to preach, at the same time
carrying on a plantation. Ten years later he moved to
Buckingham Co., Va., where, in 1780, he liberated the
slaves which his wife brought with her at. her marriage.
The evils of slavery becoming more deeply impressed on
him, he determined to remove to the Northwestern Terri­
tory. Accordingly, on the 11th of October, 1798, he and
his lirother-in-law, Rev. James Smith, his friend, Ambrose
Ranson, and others (white and colored) to the number of
thirty-six persons, started for the Miami country, having
Newtown as an oLjecthTe point. Gatch and Ranson came
to the McCormick purchase and temporarily lived ncar him.
In February, 1799, Philip Gatch moved into his own cabin,
which stood on the southern edge of the present township
cemetery, east of :Milford, which he occupied for a time,
but afterwards lived in a large house on the county road, on
the place now occupied by George:W. Gatch, near the place
of his original settlement. He continued to preach when
occasion offered, and in 1805 assisted Bishops ",Vhatcoat
and Asbury in establishing the work of the church in the
·Western country. ",Vhile in Southern Ohio they made his
house their home. It was 3,lso the home of the weary
itinerant, and on occasions of quarterly meetings at Mil­
ford from 50 to 100 persons were entertained at the hum­
ble homes of Gatch, McCormick, and Hanson. Many of
these persons came from the country twenty miles around,
some walking all that distance. On account of his position
on slavery, Philip Gatch was selected as a member of the
first Constitutional Convention, and was for twenty-two
years an associate judge of Clermont.

His family consisted of four sons and four daughters,
all of whom reared families of their own. Of the daughters,
Presocia married James Garland, who settled three miles
east from Milford, and dying, his widow married for her
second husband David Osborne, who removed to Green
County. The second daughter, Martha, married John
Gest, who lived five miles northeast from Milford. The
third, Elizabeth, became the wife of Aaron Matson,
who came to Milford from Pennsylvania in 1806, and re­
sided there until 1834, when he moved to Cincinnati. For
nearly the entire period he was the postmaster at Milford,
near which he died, in 1857, at the age of eighty.two
years. His son, Aaron H., yet lives north of .l\liltord, and
Philip at Oxford. The daughters married James and
Benjamin Simmons, of Monroe, and Adam Lakin, of Rush­
field, Ind. The other daughter of Philip Gatch, Ruth,
married Michael Swing, Dec. 6, 1806, who died in 1835,
and his wife fifteen years later. He was the father of
George S. Swing, of Miami, and Judge Philip B. Swing,
of Batavia. Another son, Aaron M., died in 1840. Of

the daughters, Sarah A. became the wife of John Crane j

Mary, of George Leming j Ruth, of Hill C. Goodwin j and
Martha, of President Mathews, of Hillsboro' College j

Elizabeth and Margaret L. died single.
The suns of Philip Gatch were Conduce, Thomas,

Philip, and George. The first lived on the Edenton pike,
three miles from Milford, and reared a family as fol­
lows: Daughters, who married William M. Harvey, Rev.
Jacob Dimmitt, and Elisha B. Simmons j sons, Philip,
who died on the East Fork in 1840 j Andrew M., yet
living near the homestead j the Rev. Joseph M., who died
at Milford j J obn G., who died at Newberry j Thomas, on
the homestead j and William, on the East Fork.

The second son, Gen. Thomas, lived about a mile from
Milford. His daughter, Ruth S., died single, and others
became the wiv.es of Dr. Courtland M. Williams, Frank M.
Mears, of Milford, and Dr. J. E. Combs, of Boston. Of
his sons, Nathaniel died in Cincinnati j Dr. Philip B. is a
physician at Milford j William died a youth j Francis 1\1.
lives on the homestead j and Thomas is president of an
Oregon institution of learning. Philip, the third son,
~ade his final settlement three miles east from Milford.
He was the father of Hon. Moses D. and William Gatch,
of Xenia j Hon. Conduce H., of Iowa j Philip S, George
S., Charles H., and John D., of .l\liami j and Mrs. John
Holmes, of Goshen.

George, the youngest son of Philip Gatch, was a minis­
ter, and after being an itinerant many years, died on the
home-place. His son John died a young man j Asbury
P. lives at Spl'ingfield, where also resides Samuel j George
'V. is yet a resident of the township. Several of the
daughters married into the Buckingham families.

Ambrose Ranson was a bricklayer and plasterer, and
worked some at his trade, but finally bought himself a
farm near East Milford. He sold this. farm and bought
one near Newberry of Isaac Edwards j while residing on
this farm he was elected one of the associate judges that
formed the first Court of Common Pleas for the county.
He was born in 1765 and died on the 12th of July, 1843,
on his farm, two miles east of Batavia. Mr. Ranson was
a tall, slender man, six feet one inch high, and straight as
an arrow. He had a fair education, was well read, and re­
garded as possessing a sound judgment. He had been a
zealous member of the Methodist Church for over fifty
years, and died in the faith in which he lived. No man
could live more harmlessly in his neighborhood, for he
gave cause of complaint to none. He died regretted by all
who knew him, being one of the very few against whom
the veriest fault-finder threw no stone.

Southwest from Philip Gatch lived Judge John Pollock,
a most noted personage in the early history of Ohio, and
enjoying State renown as a legislator and politician. While
suffering a temporary aberration of mind, he rashly ended
his life. A further account of his services appears elsewhere.
Benjamin Cross and Thomas Hare, brothers-in-law of Pol­
lock, came about the same time. James Pollock, a cousin
of J udge John Pollock, settled at Symmes, opposite Branch
Hill, in 1795, and there laid out a town which the war of
1812 cut short. He was the father of the venerable Eze­

kiel Pol~ock~ w~~ ~ie4 ~~ M~a~i ~ few !ea~s a?o~
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George Conrad, a native of Penn!'ylvania, purchased a
part of the l\IcCormick tract at l\lilfunl in 1i!H.i, building' u
sUlali cabin and deadening four acres of lund the same season.
In the spring of 17D7 he brought 011 his filtuily, consisting
of two ~ons and two daughters, to live; two more children
were born in Miami. George Conrad was born in 17G5,
and died in 1825. He was one of the first county commis­
sioners. His children were sons named Isa:lC, Abl'tllIl, and J a­
cob. The latter died at l\Iilford in 18-W, alHl was the filther
of Moses D., John, and William Conrad, and of Mrs.•John
M. Gcst, well known in l\J iami. The daughters married
Samuel Shumard and George 'Yard, of Stonclick, and John
Bill, of Indiana.

James and Peregrine Garland, natives of Delaware,
moved to Kentucky in 17DO, and in 1797 to .Miami. '1'he
former was the son-in-law of Philip Gatch, and after living
a. time near him, settled in 1807 on Pleasant Hill. One
of h~ sons, Philip, died ill 1879, alld Hev. Benjamin F.
yet lives on part of the homestead. Other sons, James S.
and Dr. Thomas S., live in Clinton County. Pcre~rine

Garland lived on the Chnrles II. Gatch place until about
1832, when he moved to Indiana. His c!dest son, James,
born in :Miami in 1801, died about four years ago at Pleas:'
ant Hill.

The Long brothers, Frederick, John, and J aeob, settled
on Harner's Hun soon after 1800. The first was a local
Methodist preacher of much ability, although somewhat ec­
centric. One of his sons, Moses, yet resides in that lo­
cality. Not long after the J.Jongs had settled Felix Mot­
singer, their half-brother, and his mother also came from
North Carolina, carrying their effects hither on horses
which they rode. Motsinger servfd in the war of 1812,
and on his return married a daughter of Garret Kramer, a
pioneer from Pennsylvania, who also lived in this localit.y,
and settled at what is called Guinea, where he died in 1858.
He had sons named Felix, Hobert, and William, the for­
mer yet living in the township; and daughters who mar­
ried John Stump, A. P. Brown, Henry J.Jcever, and Oba­
diah Ireton.

On the farm now owned by Jeremiah Price, whose
father, Jeremiah Price, was also a pioneer, John Stump was
an carly settler, coming some time before 1800. He was
the father of the above John Stump, Lewis, of Goshen,
and other sons named Edward, Philip, and "William, who
removed to the ,Vest.

Joseph Brown, a Virginian, in 17D9, settled on the fitI'm
which is now occupied by H. P. Brown, opposite Camp
Dennison, where he died in 1862, at the ago of' ninety-one
years. He served in 1812. Of his family, George set­
tled in Stonelick, 'Villiam in Jackson, John removed to

• Pickaway, Thomus died in Mercer County, Aquilla P.
lives neat J.Joveland, Joseph has deceased, and Henry P.,
the youngest, is a physician on the homestead. '1.'he daugh­
ters married David Smysor, Hiram South, Joshua 'Vright,
and Philip Smysor.

In 1798, Philip Smysor settled on the fill'm which is now
occupied by his grandson, George 'V., where he died many
years ago. He had sons named David, John, Abraham,
removed to Indiana, George died 1n Goshen; and by his
second wife sons, Philip, Henry, Jacob, and 'Velley, the

three last named physicians; and daughters who married
Thomas Long, Abner Combs, and Sarah, who is a medical
practitionel' in Hamilton County. In the same localit.y
William Salter, Elisha Hopkins, and Thomas McFarland
were pioneers about 1800, the families all having removed.
Salter died about 1825.

Eli Elstun, of Essex Co., N. J., who had served in the
Revolution, located on Harner's Run in 1805. He was a
cooper by trade, and made barrels for Christ. Waldsmith.
His family consisted of seven sons and four daughters,­
Isaac, a fanuer and cooper at Newberry, served in the Wllr
of 1812, and was a pensioner, dying at the age of eighty­
six; John, who lived in Stonelick; ,Villiarn, also in the
war of 1812, died in Miami a few years ago; Eli, who
moved to Rushville, Ind.; Moses, living in Union town­
ship, where a sketch of his life appears; Halph, living in
~I1inois; Fl'eCinan, a cooper at New Richmond; and the
daughters married Ebenezer Osborne, John Mann, John
Eppert, and J ohn Van Zandt.

Andrew McGrew came from Baltimore, Md., in Septem­
ber, 1806, and purchased the remaining interest of the
McCormick tract at Milford, moving into the double log
house, the chimneys of' which yet stand on the hill ncar
Mr. Matson's. He had served in the Revolution, and dicd
in 1823. Of' hi~ nine children, Charles removed to Indiana j

Jonathan died near Milford; ,Villiarn (the father of J.
:Milton McGrew, sixth auditor) also removed to Cincinnati;
Paul died ncar Newberry; Joseph was a merchant at Mil­
ford, and died there; Andrew is yet living at Milford, at
the age of eighty j Isaac, the youngest son, died in 182H.
The daughters married Conduce Gatch and Jacob' Gest.
At the same time Paul Rust and his mother came fI'om
Maryland. He married Mary Gest and moved to Indiana.
David Hand, a house-carpenter, came to Milford the same
time.

About 1810, Lewis Gatch came from Maryland, and
purchased a tract of land which bud been somewhat im­
proved by Alexander Beard, a Virginian, who had settled
here some years before. He married Maria Newton, daugh­
tel' of Ebenezer Newton, who had come to Miami from New
Jersey a short time before, with grown-up daughters, several
of whom married into the McGrew family. After building
a stone house on the hill, Gatch sent for his father, Nicholas,
who was a brother of the Rev. Philip Gatch. lIe died at
the residence of his son Lewis. The latter had a falllily,­
John N., yet living near Milford; Benjamin, a minist.er of
the Methodist ]~piscopal Church South; Oliver, living in
Indiana; Nicholas, Lewis, Henry, and Dr. Charl~s D., de­
ceased in the township. One of the daughters of Lewis
Gatch, Emeline, married Elias Speidel, of Miami township.

In 1808, Duniell\IcCleliand came from Greenville, ~I.'enn"

to his brother-in-law, Robert Townsley, in Batavia, where
he engaged with him in building a mill, which was bctter
"known as Jenkins' mill. In 1815 he moved to Milford,
where he lived until 1835, when he went to Indiana. He
had sons named Thomas, John, Daniel, Joseph, ]~dward,

and James. Mary, the eldest daughter, married Cornelius
Stewart, and moved to Illinois; Martha, Cyrus Pierson, of
Cincinnati; Anne married Andrew McGrew, of Milfurd,
fifty-eight years ago, and both yet. reside in the village.
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They reared three children,-George .\V., of Cincinnati;
Dr. John K., who died in Texas; and 1\1rs. Joseph 1\1.
Foster, of Miami.

The J.Jeming brothers; Ezekiel; John, Gabi'iel, and
Charles, with their families, came from New Jersey in
1806, and settled in the neighborhood of Newberry.
Ezekiel, the oldest, lived on the farm now occupied by R.
l\I. Marshal, where he died about 1848. His sons were
Uriah, yet living at Newberry; Randall H., living a mile
fmID Newberry; Britton, formerly a merchant at Milford;
Isaac, a miller, living at Whitewater, Ind.; Paul, died at
Keokuk, Iowa; E. W., died at Madison, Ind.; and the

. daughters married Erastus Holmes, Samuel Harvey, Wil­
liam Merrill, and John G. Gatch. John Leming lived on
a farm now occupied by.John McClelland. He had two
sons,-George and Randolph. Gabriel lived and died at
Newberry. His children were \Villiam, George, James,
Alrram, Isaac, Jacob, and J ackson. James is the only one
now living in the county. Charles Leming lived on the
farm now owned by Thomas Cook, and then removed to
India~a. J. E. Leming is the only son remllining in the
county, and lives at Newberry.

John Rybolt was a pioneer in the Pleasant Hill neighbor­
hood, dying there in 1849. He was the father of Daniel,
Stephen, and Michael R. Rybolt, of the township; Rev.
John C. and Henry, of Illinois; Jacob, of Cincinnati; and
'William, of Kansas. One of the daughters married Dr.
Garland.

Samuel Perin came to Ohio from New York in 1806,
and lived for a time in Stonelick. In 1813 he purchased

. 14 acres of land at what is now Perin's Mills, which he im­
proved and added to by purchase until he was the owner of
800 acres in Miami and 700 in Union, in that part of the
county. In 1835 he erected the large mansion in the
lower part of the hamlet, which is now occupied as the resi­
dence of Dr. Woodward. Samuel Perin died April 3,
1865, at the age of eighty-one years, the death of his wife
having occurred fourteen years earlier. Of their ten chil­
dren eight grew to mature years, viz.: Darius, living' in
Missouri; Ira, in Union, near his old home; Harvey, in
Hamilton County; Oliver, a banker in Cincinnati; Glover,
a surgeon in the United States army, was in Mexican war and
medical inspector during the Rebelliou; Lyman, a flour
merchant' in Cincinnati; Rhoda, married Jame~ Kenyon;
and Martha, Solomon Langdon.

Dr. William Williams came from Bucks Co., Pa., to
Milford after 1812, and was the second physician there, Dr.
Thorndyke being the first. He was one of the ablest prac­
titioners in the county. He died about fifteen years ago.
He had two sons and four daughters. Of the former were
Cortland M;, a physician at Goshen and other points, and
Oliver P., a minister of the Methodist Episcopal Church.
His oldest daughter married Dr. Thomas Brown, who
studied with Dr. Williams, and was for many years a phy­
:sician at. l\1ilford , then he removed to Cincinnati. The
other daughters married Nathaniel Gatch, Philip S. Gatch,
and J. A. Adams. For his se~ond wife Dr. Williams
married a daughter of Ichabod B. Miller, one of the
'pro~inent pioneers of Hamilton County.

Thomas Shumard was born in New Jersey in 1780.
59

In 1803 he married, and in 1807 settled in Goshen town­
ship. From there he moved to :Miami, and thence to MH­
ford, where he was employed in the first store. He was
thrice married and the father of eleven children. Two of
them, Matilda, wife of John Needham, and Sarah, wife of
Isaac Potter, were born in New Jersey: The rest, Francis,
Jacob," Hebecca, Joseph, Eliza, Thomas, Mary, John, and
David, were born in the county. He died ncar Olive Branch
in 1872, aged ninety-one years. His third wife survived
him.' He was a member of the Methodist Episcopal
Church for over seventy-three years. Other members ot
the Shumard family came to Clermont among the pioneel·s.
In 1815, Samuel came, and after living in Min'mi, a few
years, settled in Stonelick. In 1818, David' Shumard set­
tled on the present farm of William Mead in Batavia. He
was a consistent member of the Baptist Church.

In 1792, John Shields immigrated from Maryland to
Ohio, stopping at Garrett's Station, where he remained
until Ilia removal to Clermont County, in 180Q, when he
settled on the farm now owned by Jacob Creder near Love­
land. He was the father of nine children,-five sons and
four daughters. He was in the war of 1812, and· served
with great gallantry, under Gen. Harrison, at the battle of
the Thames. In 1816 he bought Capt. Richard Hall's farm
in Stonelick, and died in Mississippi in 1830, while on a
trapping excursion.

The William Tudor farm was settled' by Thomas Shaw,
who came from New Jersey in 1806. He had a large
family, among the sons being John, James, William, and
Achilles. Grandsons yet live in the township.

James Combs, from the same State, settled in" Miami in
1812. One of the sons, James, yet resides at Milford, in
the eighty-fourth year of his age. He was next to the oldest
in the family, and has survived all the other members
twenty-seven years. He has ten sons l~ving, the youngest
being twenty-eight years old.

John Armstrong was a pioneer in the Swing neighbor­
hood, and was a prominent, useful citizen. Of his family,
John, living west of Perin's Mills, is well known in the
township and county; Jacob, Samuel, George, Eleanor,
Maria, Rhoda, Mary H., and Ruth have all deceased.

Farther northeast among the pioneers were the Pang­
burn and Hunt £'\mily. A son of Joshua Hunt, William
Henry, is a resident of Milford.

Theophilus Simonton, of Loveland, is in his seventy-second
"year, and comes of a noble pioneer family that settled at the
mouth of Obannon Creek in 179"1, and helped to open the
unbroken forests to civilization. His father, Theophilus, and
two uncles, "Tilliam and John, were among the first im­
migrants to Miami township, five years before Ohio was
admitted into the Union, and his father bought a large
farm of Col. Thomas Paxton, the first man to raise a field
of corn between the Little Miami and Scioto Rivers. He
has been eighteen years a justice of the peace, and his
father, long years ago, served twelve in the same position.
He is a brother of the noted Col. Hiram Simonton, many
years a leading hotel-keeper at Columbus.

In 1806 a number of immigrants arrived from New
Jersey under very inauspicious circumstances, for that was
the year of the dro~ght. ~roJ:!l the 4th of May until the
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LrST OF PIWPEIlTY-HOLDERS IN 1826

will be fuund those who Wel'e identified with the pioneer
interests of the towllshi p. A prefixed asterisk indicates
non-residence in the year named.

22d day of August no rain fell to moisten the ground, and
the river was so low it waS readily forded at Three I::;lands,
opposite the mouth of tllC Obannon. Many made only a
temporary stay in Miami.

John Emery came from New Jersey at a later day, set­
tling on the farm now occupied by his SOli, Dr..J. P., in
1815. Here he died in 1857, full of honors, at the ripe
age of eighty-one years. Other sons were Henry, who
died in the township; Elisha J., living in Kansas; Capt.
Andrew B., killed in the late war. His daughters were
mUlTied,-Sarah, to James Breeding; Elizabeth, to S. It.
Hutchinson, of Miami; Mary, to George Myers; and Anna,
to John Applegate, both of Goshen.

Three year~ later Harmon Eveland came from the same
Stnte and settled on the Goshen township lille. Here he
died in 18i.t~, leaving SOliS, Samuel, Peter, Joseph, John
B., Philip j., and Harmon, the latter living at Loveland.
His daughters married 'Villiam Fr)'bargcr, John Cox, and
Samuel Paxton.

Limited spaee forbids the mention of many other names
of' Miami pioneers who came at periods anterior to the
above 'as well as subsequent. But in the appended

Andcrson, John.
Andcrson, Jallles.
Addison, Jonathan.
Arlllstrong, John, No. 958; Peter

Higgins, original proprietor.
Anderson, David. No. 134!J; Lewis

Stark, original proprietor.
Anderson,Salllucl, No.519; John

T. Grillin, orig. prop.
A"ery, Abigail.
Beny, Mark.
Berry, Benjumin.
Boggs, John.
Bill, Ruth.
Barber, Daniel, No. 981; John B.

Johnston, orig. prop.
Barber, Nathaniel, No. !JUl; Jos.

Jones, original proprietor.
Buker, John, No. 1675; Edw.

Stephens, orig. prop.
Bill, John, No. 1675; Edw.

Stephens, orig. prop.
Boyer, Jacob.
Brown, John 1\L
Briley, Samuel, No. 2226; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Brannon, Alex., No. 1550; Robt.

Todd, original proprietor.
Branch, Jo~eph, No. 1767; Eze­

kiel IIowcll, orig. prop.
Brown, Benjamin.
Ruekingh:tlll, ·E. A., No. 5!l92;

ltobinson, Mosely & Todd,
original proprietors.

Brown, John, No. 3776; John
Higgins, origillltl proprietor.

Brown, Joseph, No. 590; John G.
Griffin, original proprietor.

Buckingham, Hltehel.
Butterworth, Samuel, No. 6:31;

Jos. Ca~rington, orig. prop.

Ballard, Nancy, No. (l31; Jos.
Carrington, orig. prop.

Breeding, Thos., No. 631; Jos.
Carrington, orig. prop.

Brannon, George.
*BlIehan:tn; Rachel, No. 2570;

Fmneis Baldwin, orig. prop.
*Buehunan, . Levi, No. 1017 j

Itobert Todd, orig. prop.
*Brown, Jacob, No. 1748; John

Nanenrrow, orig. prop.
i:fBuekingham, Isaac, No. g92;

Thomns Dix, orig. prop.
Covalt, Silus.
Cliver, John, No. 590; John 1'.

Griffin, original proprietor.
Cotteral, Joseph, No. !lUI; Jos.

Jones, original proprietor.
Combs, Thomus, No. 9!J2; Thos.

Dix, original proprietor.
Combs, Daniel, No. !J92; Thos.

Dix, original proprietor.
Combs, Benj., No. 976; Cad.

Jones, original proprietor.
Combs, .James, No. 976; Cadwal­

ader J one!', orig. prop.
Combs, Ril:hard.
Conrad, Isnae, No. 590; JohuT.

Grimn, original proprietor.
Conrad, Jacob, No. 1:-l4!J; Lewis

Stark, original proprietor.
Can nOli, Richal·d.
Collins, Santh, No. 973 j ~l'hos.

Holt, original proprietor.
Cotteral, WiIIi:lm.
Cllrr, David.
CrltlllCl', David.
Clark, Benjamin.
Combs, James.
Covalt, Bethuol, No. 937; John

Nevf!le, original propri.etor.

Conrnd, Abraham, No. 1349;
Lewi~ Stark, orig. prop.

Cazinc, Peter.
Chapman, John, No. 2194; Mar­

tin Nall, original proprietor.
Cregger, Wm., No. 2194; Martin

Nall, original proprietor.
Cox, Samuel.
Clemmons, B('njamin.
ilfConnet, Ira, No. 1748; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
*Collins, Pcter, No. !J73; Thos.

Holt, originul proprietor.
t,fComhs, Jas., Jr., No. !J76; Cad.

Jones, original proprietor.
*Clevel:md, Stcphen B., No. 991 j

J os, Jones, orig. prop.
ll>Cross, llenj., No. 430; Robert

Powell, original proprietor.
;*Cotteral, John, No. 2377; Wm.

Lytle, original pruprietor.
*Clark, Wlll., No. 2377; Wm.

LJtlc, original proprietor.
*Cross, John J., No. !I81; John

B. Johnson, orig. prop.
Dimmitt, Jacob.
Duckett, Thomas.
Duvidson, John.
Durham, Jacob, No. 1675; Edw.

StE.'phcns, orig. prop.
Durham, Benj., No. 1675; Euw.

Stephens, orig. prop.
Davidson, Robcrt, No. 720; Le­

roy Edwards, orig. prop.
*Dunn, 'Walter, executor of J.

Graham, No. 973; Thomas
Holt, original pruprietor.

*Dimmitt, John, No. 958; Peter
Higgins, original l,roprietor.

Eldridge, John.
E\'el:md, Harmon, No. 519; John

1'. Griffin, orig. prop.
E\'erson, Amos.
Elstun, Moses, No. 1675; Edw.

Stephens, orig. prop.
Erwin, Andrew.
Erwin, John.
Erwin, Fruncis.
Emery, Henry, No. 2194; Martin

Nal!, original proprietor.
Emery, John, No. 201!J; WilliaIn

Lytle, original proprietor.
*Elstun, Isuae, No. 2570 j Francis

Baldwin, original proprietor.
'::<Elliott, Sh!?-on, No. 5!J92; Rob­

inson and Mosley, original
proprietors.

*Ebersole, Christian, No. 991;
Joseph Jones, orig. prop.

Fountain, Mathew, No. 1675;
Edward Stephens, orig. prop.

Frazee, Richard, No. 2377; Wil­
liam Lytle, orig. prop.

Frazee, David.
Fitzwater, Thomas, No. 937;

John Ne"iIIo, orig. prop.
Fitzwuter, Williulll.
l!'itzwuter, Samuel, No. 937; John

Neville, original proprietor.
Fitzwater, Thomas, No. 937;

John Neville, orig. prop:
*Fairchild, Abigail, No. 1748;

John Nuncarrow, orig. pr?p.
Guteh, Thomas, No. 5995; WiI­

.Ham M:~sley, orig. prop.

Gatch, Philip, No. 958; Peter
Higgins, original proprietor.

Gest, Jaeub, No. 590; John T.
Griffith, original proprietor.

Garlnnd, Philip.
Green, l\I:trmaduke, No. 17-18;

John Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Goud)', Thomns C., No. ]550;

Robert Todd, orig. prop.
Giberson, Joseph, No. 28IJO;

Sumuel Huwes, orig. prop.
Gatch, Lelrill, No. 1748; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Guteh, Conduce, No. 1770; Ed­

ward Simpson, orig.prop.
Garland, James S.
Gest, John, No. 981; John B.

Johnson, original proprietor.
Godfre)', John, No. 958; Peter

Higgins, original proprietor.
Gatch, George, No. 174R; John

Naneurrow, orig. prop.
Hughes, Edward, No.1U8; John

Nllnearrow, orig. prop.
Hendrick, L. A.
JI1I,vn, Emanuel.
Highland, Michael, No. 1748;

John Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Hughes, John, No. 991; Joseph

Jones, original proprietor.
Holmes, George, No. 9!J2; Thos.

Dix, original proprietor.
Haskin, Augustus•.
Holmes, Erustus.
Harvey, Joseph, No. 991; Joseph

Jones, original proprietor.
Halliday, TholUas.
Hair, Thomas, No. 430; Robert

Powell, originul proprietor.
Hair, Thomas, Jr., No. 1349;

Lewis Stark, orig. prop.
Hnll, William.
Hixson, John, No. 937; John

Neville, original proprietor.
Huffman, John, No. 3623; John

Lindley, original proprietor.
Hedger, Owen, No. 991; Jose}Jh

Jones, original proprietor.
Hutchinson, Joseph, .Jr., No. 720;

Leroy Edwards, orig. prop.
Hughes, Jumes, No. 1550 ; Robert

Todd, original proprietor.
Hughes, Nathaniel, No. 1550 j

Robert Todd, orig. prop.
Hughes, Isaac.
Hixson, Mathew, No. 937; John

Neville, original proprietor.
Hooper, Stephen, No. 992; Thos.

Dix, original proprietor.
Higginbotham, Uriah.
Hand, David, No. 1349; Lewis

Stark, original proprietor.
Hutchinson, Joseph, No. 2377;

William Lytle, orig. prop.
Hutchinson, Silas.
Hutchinson, Robert.
Hutchinson, Silas, Jr., No. 720 j

M. Nail, original proprietor.
*Hunt, Joshua, No. 2377; Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
*Huddleston, Jacob, No. 937;

John Neville, orig. prop.
*,llart, --, No. 1748; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Irwin. Robert.
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At this time the owners of village lots in Miami were in
Milford:

ii'Irwin, Andrew, No. 3332; Wil-
liam Lytle, orig. prop.

Johnston. James B.
Johnston, Thomas E.
;;'Jenkins, John and Isaac, No.

1748; John Nancarrow, ori­
ginal proprietor.

*Jo'nes, .James, No. 991; Joseph
Jones, original proprietor.

~*James, John II., No. 991; Jos.
Jonel', original proprietor.

Kellogg, Charles.
Kugler, M., and Son, No. 1767;

Ezeldel Howell, orig. prop.
"'Kain, Thomas, No. 2377; Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
Laferty, Archibald.
Leming, Ezekiel, No. 982; Thos.

Dix, original proprietor.
Leming, ISltae.
Leming, John, No. 2800; Samuel

Hawes, original proprietor.
Leming, Randall, No. 9!Jl; James

Jones, original proprietor.
Linegar, Daniel, No. 550; John

T. Griffith, orig. prop.
Linegar, Thomas.
Loomis, James.
Livengood, Thomas.
Leming, Uriah.
Laferty, Archibald.
Linthicum, Jos.
Leming, David, No. 992; Thos.

Dis, original proprietor.
Leming, Charles, No. 913; John

Neville, original proprietor.
Long, Frederick, No. 2377; Will.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Leming, Elias, No. 2377; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Long••John, No. 992; Thomas

Dis, original proprietor.
Long, Daniel.
Leming, Gabriel.
*Langdon, Eiam, No. 972; Jona­

than Clark, orig. prop.
Martin, Lewis, No. 1675; Edw.

Stephens, orig. prop.
Matson, Aaron, No. 590; John

T. Griffith, orig. prop.
l\Iegrue, Andrew, No. 597; John

White, original proprietor.
McMains, Wm., No. 1748; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Medaris, Wm.
Medaris, Stephen, No. 1748; J.

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Mains, John.
Megrue, Jonathan, No. 590 ; John

T. Griffith, orig. prop.
Megrue, Paul, No. 991; Jos.

Jones, original proprietor.
McGee, Charles, No. 991; Jos.

Jones, original proprietor.
Malernee, Isaac.
Magill, Wm••
Masters, Silas.
Megrue, Charles.

- .Morris, Aaron, No. 3332; Wm.
IJytle, original proprietor.

McGarvey, Hugh.
Mitchell, James.
Murphy, Wm.
Murphy, Samuel.
Mullen, James.

McLaughlin, Charles, No. 1349;
Charles Stark, orig. prop.

Mcl\L.ins, Enoch, No. 3332; Wm.
Lytle, originall)l'oprietor.

McLaughlin, Jehu.
McKinney, Elsy.
Motsinger, Felix, No. 720; Leroy

Edwards, orig. prop.
Morrell, Wm.
Matson, Aaron.
Morrison, Arthur.
~*Megrue, Charles, No. 991; Jos.

Jones, original proprietor.
*Morris, Robert, No. 590; John

T. Griffith, orig. prop.
lilMegrue, Andrew, Jr., No. 597;

John White, orig. prop.
Orr, Robert, No. 720; Leroy Ed-

wards, original proprietor.
Orr, William.
Oliver, Sallluel.
Osburn, Benjamin, No. 3623;

1. Lindsey, orig. prop.
Osburn, David.
Pl'ice, Jeremiah, No. 937; John

Neville, original proprietor.
Pollock, John, No. 4;\0; Robert

Powell, original proprietor.
Perin, Samuel, No. 1675; Edw.

Stephens, orig. prop.
Preston, Jonathan.
Potts, Samuel, No. 72Q; Leroy

Edwards, orig. prop.
Pierce, Ephraim.
Phillips, Mary, No. 2377; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Poland, Nathaniel.
Paxton, Thomas, No. 720; Leroy

Edwards, orig. prop.
Paxton, Samuel.
Potter, Adam.
Packard, IIenry, No. 2377; Will.

Lytle, original proprietor.
*Paxton, Martha, No. 2194; Mar­

tin Nail, original proprietor.
liIParker, Isaac, No. 1748; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
litPierson, Cyrus, No. 1U8; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
l!!Porter, Elias, No. 1748; John

Nancarrow, orig. prop.
Rust, Paul.
Ray, Elizabeth.
Ramsey, Benjamin.
Riggs, Calvin, No. 992;' Thomas

Dix, original proprietor.
Rybolt, John, No. 958; Peter

Higgins, original proprietor.
Riddle, Isabel.
Ross, Enoch.
Riggs, James.
Riggs, Avery, No. 2377; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Robinson, James W., No. 5992;

B.obinson, Mosley and Todd,
original proprietors.

Rodocker, Jacob.
Ramsey, John, Jr.
Ramsey, John, No. 2019; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Ramsey, Geol'ge, No. 720; Leroy

Edwards, orig. prop.
Richardson, Benjamin.
lIlRamsey, Jesse, No. 981; John

, B. Johnson, orig. prop.

*1Ringsberry, James, No. 1748;
John Nancarrow, orig. prop.

~i'Robinson, Moses, No. 59!J2;
Robinson, Mosley and Todd,
originltl proprietors.

'1Robinson, James W., No. 5992;
Robinson, Mosley and Todd,
original proprietors.

Stroman, Henry.
Siften, William.
South, Thomas.
Swing, Michacl, No. 502; Thos.

O"crton, original proprictor.
Shumard, Francis, No. 958; Petcr

Higgins, original proprietor.
SltUdcrs, Elizabeth.
Smith, Samuel W., No. 1748;

John Nancarrow, Qoriginal
proprietor.

Smith, Jesse S.
Salter, William, No. 590; J. T.

Griffin, original proprietor.
Stewart, James, No. 958; Peter

IIiggins, Ill'iginal proprietor.
Slye, Cornelius.
Shaw, Thomas, No. !~77; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Stump, Philip.
Stump, Lcwis.
Stump, June.
Smysor, Philip, No. 590; J. T.

Griffin, original proprietor.
Smysor, John.
Stephcns, Nicholas.
South, Hiram.
Shaw, John, No. 976; Cad. Joncs,

original proprietor.
Stewart, Polly Ann.
Stewart, Hall.
Stephens, Thomas H.
Smysor, Dlwid, No. 3232; Wm.

Lytle, original propl"ictor.
Smith, Jacob.
Simonton, Elenor, No. 2191;

Wm. NaIl, original prop.
Simonton, William, No. 2191;

William Nail, original pro­
prietor.

Schuylcr, Pctcr, No. 1545 ; Elisha
King, original proprietor.

Sears, Joseph.
Schuyler, Jacob, No. 1545 ; Elisha

King, original pl"oprietor. .

Avery, Abigail.
Anderson, Peter.
Covalt, Isaac.
Conrad, Jacob.
Elstun, Moses.
Fairchild, Abigail.
Fitzwater, Thomas.
Gatch, Philip.
Gatch, George.
Gest,John.
Grcen, Marmaduke.
Gatch, Lewis.
Garland, Peregdne.
Gatch, Conduce.
Glttch~Thomas.

Hare, Thomas.
Herr, Elias.
Higbee, Elias.

Schuyler, Adltm, No. 1545; Elisha
King, original proprietor.

Snider, Levi, No. 720; Leroy Ed­
wards, original proprietor.

*'Stroman, HCliry, No:502; Thos.
Overton, original proprictor.

~*Scars, John, No. 6:31; Joseph
Carrington, originnl prop.

~1Stewal't, John, No. 958; Peter
Higgins, original proprietor.

~*South, Isaac, No. 976; Cud.
Jones, original proprietor.

*Snider, David, No. 1767 ;. Eze- .
kiel IIowell, originall>rop.

Tiger, Nicholas.
Thompson, David.
Thomson, Joshua.
Thompson, Samucl, No. 1748; J.

Nancarrow, orig. proprietor.
Teal, Samuel F.
Templeton, William.
Twiner, Josiah.
~*Titus, John, No. 99~; Thomas

Dix, original proprietor.
iifTuttle, Ezm, No. 1748; J. Nan­

carrow, original proprietor.
~*Taylor, Jamcs, No. 6152; G. K.

Hubbnrd, original prop.
Vanhorn, William.
Vandevort, John, No. 720; Le­

rlly Edwards, original prop.
Vandevort, Nicholas, No. 720;

Leroy EUwards, orig. prop.
*Vineent"Thomas, No. 981; J. B.

Johnson, originllli prop.
U. S. Brnnch Bank, No. 2194;

:Martin NaIl, orig. prop.
Williams, William.
Watts, Dlw.id.
Wood, Jeremiah, No. 1748; J.

Nancarrow, original prop.
Wilson, 1\1. C.
'Varl'en, Jane.
Williby, Jal~es.

Wheeler, Abraham, No. 937;
John Neville, orig. prop.

~i'Westerl1, William.
~;fWood,Samuel, No. 1748; J. Nan­

carrow, original prop.
~'White, Jacob, No. 976; Cad.

Jones, original prop.
Yates, Artis S.
Yeatman, Wnlker.

Hughes, Edward.
Hawn, Emanuel.
Jackson, David.
Kibby, James.
Kugler, Mathias.
McMains, William.
Medaris, Stephen.
Matson, Aaron.
McDonald, James.
MeGrue, Jonathan.
Osburn, David.
Parker, John.
Potter, Adam.
Pollock, John.
Pierson, Cyrus.
ltobinson, Thomas.
Rust, Charles.
Ringsberry, James.
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In Newberl'y the lot-owners were:

Riggs, William.
Ray, Elizabeth.
Rust, Paul.
SiftcD, William.
Shumard, ThomllS.
SaHcr, William.
Tuttle, Ezra.

Combs, Daniel.
Combs, Jamcs.
Holmcs, Gcorge.
McGrcw, William.
:McGrew, Paul.

TClll, Samucl.
WaUs, David.
Williams, William.
Wcstlake, B.
Wilkerson, D.
"'ard, Gcorgc.

Riggs, Calvin.
Rapcr, WillialU.
Stcphem, Nicholas.
Turncr, Josiah.

187I.-R. P. Abbott, Charles H. Gatch, Chllrles Harker.
1872.-R. P. Abbott, E. J. Emery, George S. Swing.
.I87:J.-P. S. Glitch, Frank Mcars, J. R. Long.
1874.-F. H. Allen, T. Paxton, Jr., George Cox.
1875.-J. II. Johnson, John G. Armstrong, George Cox.
18i6.-J. II. Johnson, Jasper Newton, Wm. M. Johnson.
1877.-Ern~tusWasson, Moscs D. Conrad, W1o. M. Johnson.
18i8.-ErlU'tus WlIsson, A. Brower, M. R. Rybolt.
1879.-..Ernstus Wasson, A. Brower, J. G. Armstrong.

CLERKS.

1867, A.l\I. Gatch; 1868-73, A. B. Shaw; 1874-, W. n. Applegate;
1875, George F. Robinson; 1876, John L. Bronson; 1877, A. B.
Shaw; 1878-79, T. B. Rannars.

The village property was valued at $15,039, on which
was a tax of' $90.23. The taxes on the other real estate in
the township were $566.65. The horses numbered 358,
and the cattle 590. The tax on personal property was only
$140.78.

CIVIL GOVERNMENT.

At the formation of the township of Oba~non (called
l\liami after a year), in February, 1801, John Pollock was
appointed constable j John Ramsey, lister of taxable prop­
erty j Theophilus Simonton and Samuel Robinson, apprais­
ers of houses j Ambrose Ransom and Peter \Vilson, super­
visors of highways j Thomas Paxton, Francis :l\IcCormick,
and William Simonton, auditors of supervisors' accounts j

Samuel Robinson and Theophilus Simonton, overseers of
the poor j and Francis :l\IcCormick, Samuel Robinson, and
Thcophilus Simonton, fence-viewers,-who were duly quali­
fied, and entered upon the discharge of their duties.

The first election in tlle original township of l\liami
(which then embraced the entire county north of the East
Fork as far east as Jackson) of which any record exists
was held at the house of Nathaniel Dunham, April 2, 1804,
for the purpose of choosing three county commissioners j

Theophilus Simonton, John Pollock, and James Stewart
served as judges, and Ambrose Ranson and Silas H utchin­
son w~re the clerks. Forty-eight votes were polled by the
following: Jacob Cutler, John Knott, John Irwin, Jacob
Slye, Thomas Frost, Francis McCormick, "William Malott,
James Arthur, 'Villiam South, Daniel Mock, Perry Gar­
land, David Roudebush, John Bodie, John Long, Jr.,
William Knott, James Davison, Thomas McFarland, John
Stump, Silas Hutchinson, John Hadley, George Conrad,
John Davison, Owen Todd, John Gest, Thomas Puxton,
Robert Orr, Nat. Dunham, Lewis Frybarger, Andrew
Frybarger, .James Patterson, John Ramsey, Christian
Long, Jr., Harvey Donham, Elihu Hopkins, Russell Isham,
Andrew Shetterley, Enoch Gest, Ambrose Ranson, James
Garland, H.edmond :McDonough, John Pollock, William
Donham, Philip Gatch, James Stewart, Robert Davison,
Thomas Coo;k, Theophilus Simonton, 'Villiam Simonton.

From this time until 1867 no records of the township.
.have been preserved in tIle office of the clerk, and the civil
list which is given extends only from that year as follows:

THUSTEES.

1867.-W.-E. Meanl', J. G. Turner, M. Cushing.
1868.-II. P. Brown, J. G. 1'urner, W. C. Pinkham.
1869.-F. l\f. Gatch, Allron Apgn.r, Jerome 'f4ce.
1870.-R. P. Abbott, Charles H. Gatch, Jerome Tice.

TREASURERS.

1867, William Tudor; 1868-71, A.l\f. Gatch; 1872-77,S. J. Rybolt;
1878-79, Robert Kcrnahan.

ASSESSORS.

1867, A. F. Queal; 1868-69, S. R. Hutchinson; 1870-71, John W.
Hill; 18i2, J. F. Johnson; 1873, A. A. Leevcr; 1874-79, M.
Hutchinson.

The township has been divided into a number of voting
precincts, in each of which a place for the meeting of the
electors has been provided; and no township has made
better provision for cemeteries than Miami, the interest
manifested in this respect being in the highest degree
praiseworthy. On the 20th of June, ] 867, the trustees
agreed to purchase six acres of ground adjoining the old
Gatch burial-ground, east of Milford, for a cemetery for
the' use of' the public, paying therefor $200 per acre. A
large roadway from the pike to the grounds was donated,
and the whole has been tastefully laid out and highly im·
proved. A number of fine monuments and other memo­
rials to the dead are in the cemetery, whose general appear­
ance is seldom surpassed by rural burying-grounds. Hardly
less attractive is the township cemetery at Miamiville. It
was begun by the Miamiville Cemetery Association, whieh
was organized April 10, 1866, and purchased by the town­
ship Jan. 16, 1869, for $1600. It was transferred on the
part of the association by trustees H. G. Leever, William
Humphrey, H. Buckingham, A. L. Buckingham, and N.
B. Paxton. It has a beautiful location on the banks of
the Little Miami, and is inclosed with a neat Osage hedge.
There are tastefully laid out walks and drives and a sub­
stantial 'stone vault, erected in 1870. The cemetery con­
tains many monuments of fine and costly designs. Both
these cemeteries and the old Union burying-ground, east
from Branch Hill, are under the immediate charge of the
board.of trustees, whose wise management has made them
spots whose benuty is extolled with pardonable pride by the
good citizens of the township.

It is not possible with the meagre data obtainable from
the records to give any account of the early roads more
satisfitctory than that which appears in a gene'ral chapter
in' this book, to which the reader is referred. In 1879
there were 31 road districts in the township, and the high­
ways in general were in a very fhir condition. The prin­
cipal thoroughfares are toll-roads of easy grade and splendid
repair. The chief of these are the Cincinnati and Wooster,
from Milford to Goshen, and the old pike from Perin's
Mills. to :Milford, through the bottom-lands along the East
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Fork. Having a course almost parallel with the former is
the Cincinnati and Fayetteville Railroad, now in conrse of
constrnction. The old Little Miami Railroad, bnilt in
1844, enters the township at the great bend of the river at
Miamiville, and passes up the stream to Loveland, where it
strikes into Warren County. At that point it is intersected
by the Cincinnati and Marietta Railroad in its course east­
ward, and as both roads are well equipped, rapid and easy
communication with all points is afforded, also bringing the
markets of Cincinnati within easy reach. Since many of
the people of Miami are engaged in fruit-culture and mar­
ket-gardening, this is an especial advantage, as shipments
can be quickly and safely made.

The culture of the peach for market purposes was intro­
duced about 1850, by J. C. Davis, a native of Maryland.
He planted an orchard of 95 acres near Newberry, on the
farm at present owned by S. J. Rybolt, with budded varie­
ties ~f fruit, which yielded so welt that at the end of ten
years the orchard had paid for itself and netted $50,000 be­
sides. This remarkable success induced hundreds of' far­
mers to engage in fruit-growing, and ere many years
all the ridge-lands east from Milford to the wet-lands of·
Goshen, and north to the Obannon, were set in peach or·
chards. The culture of that fruit became the absorbing in­
dustry, and for a number of years Miami was the greatest
peach region in the State. Then came a decline of this in­
dustry. The trees fhiled to yield and whole orchards went
to decay. Some resumed their former customs of farming,
while others directed their attention to other orchard pro­
ducts, planting the apple and the pear, both of which have
yielded rich returns; and many orchards of these fruits
now abound. Orcharding and gardening has been reduced
to a science in Miami; and their prosperity and intelligent
direction is largely attri~utable to the influence of Love­
land Horticultural and Agricultural Society, elsewhere
noted.

HAMLETS AND VILLAGES.

Along the Cincinnati and Wooster turnpike the popula~

tion is so dense that the road in many places resembles a
principal thoroughfare leading from a large city which is
lined with fine suburban houses; in other' places are dis­
tinctive hamlets. Farthest east and near the Goshen town­
ship line is

MOUNT REPOSE,

a small but pleasant hamlet, built upon land which formerly
belonged to Paul McGrew. Here a man by the name of
Selden engaged in merchandising about 1828, in a small
brick house which he had erected for this purpose. Fol­
lowing him, among others, as merchants, have been Isaao
Leming, Paul Leming, Conduce McGrew, Andrew McGrew,
Leonard McGarvey, and the present David Manning, who
also keeps the post-office, which bears the name of the
hamlet. In 1869, Ezra Simpkins is recorded as the post­
master, and in 1873, G. P. Jackson.

Isaac Elstun, Jr., is an attorney-at.law at Mount Repose,
Farther enst, on the pike, was an old-time hostlery, kept

by the Porter family, which had a popular patronage. In
this locality Jacob Wainwright opened a blacksmith-shop

. about 1840, and that trade has been carried on ever since,

At the same time Paul Leming opened a wagon-maker's
shop, in which he and others were engaged many y~ars.

The present wheelwright is Aaron Condo. Charles Mc'Gee.
had a cooperage in this neighborhood from 1823 for a
number of years.

Three miles from Milford, on the above turnpike, are
the hamlets of

NEWBERRY AND NEW SALISBURY,

which are practically one small village, whose post-office
bears the name of "l\~ulberry." Here. are the Mulberry
seminary, Methodist and Christian churches, and several·
dozen houses. The Newberry part of the village was laid
out in 1818 by Thomas Shumard, and consists of only a
few lots on the highway as its course then ran. When the
road was changed so as to leave the hamlet to the nOI,th,
New Salisbury was laid out, on the south of that place, and
on the pr~sent turnpike. The plat was made Aug. 22,1833,
by Thomas Combs, and consisted of 40 lotfl, wnose size
was variable.

The same year, 1833, the Mulberry post-office was estab­
lished with James B.Johnston as postmaster. Four years
later J. G. Dimmitt was the postmaster, followed in two
years by Erastus Holmes. Since then the appointees have
been,-1847, }~li Elstun; ~851, R B. Leming; 1855, D.
G. Sparks; 1865, A. M. Miller; and 1871, J. Simpkins.
For many years the office has been supplied with a daily
mail. Most of tl1e above were also eng~ged in merchandis­
ing at this point, but it is said that William McGrew was
the first in trade, some time about 1820. Erastus and Dan­
iel Holmes were largely engaged in business here, as·well as
their predecessor, Jacob G. Dimmitt. At present John
Quincy Bass has a good general store, in which is also kept
the post-office; and J. E. Leming is the grocer. - Ot.hers
engaged in merchandising here were Henry Smysor, R.
McDonald, It. B. IJeming, Isaao J. Merrill, and Moses
Cook.

In the practice of medicine, Dr. Fleming Leever was the
first to locate at Newberry; and successive practitioners
have been Drs. E. R Chatterton, Eli Elstun, Richard Col­
lins, and J. F. Abraham.

Gabriel Leming had a public-house about 1834, but at
an earlier day Daniel Holmes entertained the public. In.
later years the village has been without a hotel.

As mechanics, Michael Highland carried on tho first
blacksmith-shop, and has had numerous successors in that
trade. John Long was an early wagon-maker, and Robert
Jones is the present. For thirty years J. E. Leming has
had a shoe-shop; and formerly the :Elstun family had sev­
eral cooperages. Forty years ago Joseph Griffith had a
horse-mill, operated by a sweep-power, whioh was not long
continued. In later years R. B. Leming had an upright
steam saw-mill, which has also passed away. The manu­
facture of brick on a large scale was formerly carried on by
Thomas Combs. On Harner's Run Isaac Elstun had in
operation a. saw-mill and distillery about a. dozen years from
1825, when the latter was discontinued, but the former
was carried on by Uriah Leming and Philip Smysor. On
the same stream Charles Leming had a tannery, and Abner
Hixon a mill for grinding corn.
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PERIN'S MILLS.

In 1813, Samuel Perin, a millwright, purchased 14
acres of land and a water-power on the East Fork, near the
southeast corner of the township, where he got in operation
a saw-mill, the following year, to cut up the dense forests
which up to that time covered this part of the county, but
which were now rapidly filled by the numerous settlers who
located here, and who soon demanded a grist-mill. This
was supplied in 1817, on a S1113l1 scale, but in 1823 Mr.
Perin built a mill of large capacity, which manufactured
flour for the Southern markets, chiefly New Orleans. To
convey the flour tllither flat-boats were built at the mills,
and placed in charge of trusty men, usually John Williams
and Darius Perin. Fifty-two such boats in all were
launched at Perin's Mills. After the water-power had
diminished steam was supplied, and Samuel Perin con­
tinued to operate the mills until about 1850, when they
passed into the Cohoon family, and after a few years were
destroyed by fire. Subsequently another steam:mill was
built, but the machinery was soon removed, and since the
mills have been inoperath'e. In conncction with his mill
Samuel Perin opcrated a distillery on a large scale, from
1835 for the following ten years, when it was destroyed by
fire. At a much earlier day distillation on a small scale
was carried on by him. In 1824 he engaged Enoch Hoss
as tIle manager of a tannery which he established that
year, and which produced a large amount of wol'1~. Much
of the leather was here manufacturC'd into shoes amI har­
ness by Mr. Perin, who had shops, where a number of
men were engaged. About the same time he operated
carding-machines, and had a coopcrage and the ordinary
mechanic-shops, the different industries employing many
men, and maki ng Perin's Mills one of the busiest localities
in the count.y. After their discontinuance the place be­
Game comparatively unimportant, and has not since risen
above the character of a small hamlet, possessing the at­
tendants of a country tl".lding-point. On the opposite side
of the East Fork is Cohoon Station, on the Cincinnati and
Eastern Hail road , from which place Perin's Mills is sup­
plied with a daily mail. The post-office was established in
1830, with Darius Perin as postmaster. In 1859 the office
was held by J. B. Cline j in 1863, by Colin Spence; and
after a few years was discontinued. It was re-established
with the name of McPherson, with Colin Spence as post­
master, but in a few months the name was changed to
Perin's Mills, and yet so remains.

John M. Brown, afterwards a well-known merchant of
Batavia: was the first to engage in trade here, and was suc­
ceeded by Samuel Perin, who merchandized about fi(teen
years. Since that time among others in trade ha,'e been
Avey & Sutton, h Berger, M. D. Rybolt, and the pres­
ent Isaac Turner, who also keeps the post-office. The
public-house is kept by Joseph Cline. For many years

. Moses Elstun had a cabinet-maker's shop, and when hc re­
moved Philip G. Stewal't carried on that trade. Samuel
'l'eal was for a number of years the blacksmith.

In 1835, Dr. Courtland Williams located hCl'e as a phy­
sician, and in 1840, Dr. Colin Spence establi:shed himself
in his profession, yet remainiri~ a resWent of Perin's Mills,
although not in active practice.. He read medicine with

Dr. J. T. Shotwell, and was graduated at the Ohio Medical
College. For the past twenty-one years Dr. John B. Cline
has here been a successful practitioner.

BRANCH HILL.

This is a station on the Little Miami Railroad, about
two miles south from Loveland, and nearly the same dis- .
tance north from Miamiville. I~ dates its history as a vil­
lage from Jan. 3, 1873, when Col. John H. Branch, the
proprietor of a large tract of land, laid out 102 lots in the
neighborhood of the station, which have been improved to
some extent, chiefly by the erection of suburban residences,
many of them displaying much taste and architecturaJ
beauty. An excellent class of people was attracted, among
them the lamented G. M. D. Bloss, editor of the Cincinnati
Enquirer, who was killed near the village by a railroad
tr.ain. At a later day the founder of Bmnch Hill met
with a similar fate. The death of these two prominent
citizens cast a great gloom over the community. The Little
Miami Riv:er at this point is crossed by a very fine suspen­
sion-bridge 315 feet long, costing $70,000. On the sur­
rounding hills are also a numbp,r of handsome residences j

but beyond these no importance attaches to the place.
A post-offlce with the name of Branch Hill was estab­

lished in this neighborhood in 1848, with John Regan as
postmaster j in 1855, Jonathan Hildreth held the appoint­
ment, and after a time the office was discontinued. An
office with the name of Polktown was next established in
1860, with John H. Branch as postmaster, which was also
discontinued. In 1875 the Branch Hill office was revived,
with A. S. Hutchinson postmaster. In 1877, A. 'V.
Powers was appointed. A daily mail is supplied.

Two miles east from Branch Hill is a settlement locally
known as Guinea, where were formerly shops and stores, a
few of the former being yet carried on. Years· ago Felix
Motsinger had a large cooperage here, in which a number
of men were employed.

MIAMIVILLE

is a small village on the Little Miami, about four miles
above Milford. It was laid out" by Moses F. Hobinson,
Sept. 29, 1849, and originally consisted of seventeen lots,
to which additions WE're made as follows: By Moses F.
Robinson, Sept. 10, 1851 j by the same, Oct. 1, 1853 j by
the same, Oct. 20, 1859 j by the same, Nov. 4, 1865 j by
the same, August, 1868 j and by A. N. Robinson, in March,
1874, who I~id out 208 lots near the depot of the Little
Miami RaHroad.

Although having a very fine and healthy location, the
village has not attained great prominence, and in a business
point of view is not so important as in days gone by.
Attention was first attracted to this locality by the mills of
the Buckingham fumily. The first on the Clermont side
w·as built about 1810 by Enoch Buckingham, near the
present railroad-bridge. It was small, yet proved a great
convenience. On the Hamilton County side a small saw­
mill was operated by power from the same dam, and also
belonged to the Buckinghams. Some time about 1830
John S. and Mark Buckingham erected the present mills
at Miamiville. They were first supplied with huge breast-
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crosscd by bridges of bcautiful design and substantial
finish. The country roads lcading to the rich uplands of
this part of the State, for some distance from the village,
arc lined with residences of unique and imposing design,
standing in spacious and highly embellished grounds which,
with the rich natural surroundings, cause this locality. to
have an enchanting appearance. Some of these grounds
extend to the river's edge, with boating-places and fishing­
prcserv:es, and beyond them are wooded slopes und culti­
vatcd fields verdant with growing grain and luxuriant with
varied foliage. Shading the river are tall elms and sprcad­
ing sycamores, which· give the stream a cool ·and placid
appearance, delightfully pleasing to the eye, and constitut.
ing another feature among the many attractions of the rail­
r.9ad centre of the county. Loveland has had a rupid but
substantial growth, and, including its suburbs,has a popu­
lation of nearly 1000 souls, a magnificent school building,
three churches, and the various interests noted in the fol­
lowing pages.

On April 1, 1792, John Obannon, a celebrated deputy
surveyor in the Virginia Military District, surveyed for Jo­
seph Carrington 500 acres of choice land in :Miami town­
ship, Clermont Co., on which Loveland is located, and
numbered his entry 631, it being made on military war­
raut No. 2425. On June 28, 1805, President Jefferson
issued his patent for this survey to Joseph Carrington, in
pursuance of an act of the Congress of the United States,
passed Aug. 10, 1790, and of an act 'amendatory thereto,
passed June 9, 1794, enabling- the officers and soldiers ·of
the Virginia Line on Continental Establishment, to obtain
titles to certain lands lying northwest of the Ohio between
the Little Miami and Scioto Rivers. This patent was
granted to Carrington as assignee of William Hendricks;
who was assignee of Stephen Pettus, heir-at-law of.John
Pelt.us, for his three years' services as a captain in the
Re\'olutionary war. Carrington belonged to one of the first
families in Virginia, in Cumberland County, and 'was an
extensive land- and slave-holder; and dying at an early date,
he emancipated his favorite slave, Tillie, and he~ husband,
York, with their two children, Betty and Chloe, and de­
vised all his Ohio real estate to his two sons, PaulJ. and
'Villiam. On July 10, 1825, the Currington sons sold the
whole tract to Benjamin Butterworth, a Warren Cou~ty

pioneer Quaker, and grandfather of the eloquent Hon. Ben­
jamin Butterworth, of Cincinnati. The elder Butterworth
devised by will, dated Sept; 14, 1826, to his son, Samuel C.,
200 acres of this survey, who·s91d 189. acres thereof on the
6th of May: 18-18, to Col. William Ramsey, who on Nov.
17, 18-19,.laid out the town of Paxton, and on March 19,
1850, the town of Loveland, now corporately recognized as
one town. George "T. Felter, on Sept. 22, 23, and 24,
1863, resurveyed the town, established new lines and cor­
ners, and renumbered the lots. Since that. period land­
owners in Hamilton and 'Varren Counties have platted
additions, and in Clermont many non-platted building-lots
have been sold to extend the village bounds.

MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

On the· 12th day of February, 1876, application was
made to the eomQlissiQners of· Olermont County for corpo·
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rate privileges for the village of Loveland, with limits ex­
tcnding bcyond the foregoing plat so as to embrace 800
acres of land. The petition was signed by Danicl Clark,
M. S. Williamson, B. F. Rowan, D. W. Rowan, Samuel
Rich, E. K, Hall, and others to the number of 80. M. S.
Williamson was deputed by the citizens to act in their be­
half to secure the necessary papers of incorporation j and
on the 16th of May, 1876, the place was vested with mu- .
nicipal rights, the limits of Lhe village being extended for
this purpose ·to territory in Hamilton and 'Varren Coun­
ties by the action of Lheh' authorities.

The first election for village officers was held July 28,
1876, with the following result: Mayor, John H. Law j

Councilmen, W. A. Carmichael, G. C. Hill, Daniel Clark,
G. T. Williams, John ConnOl', and 1'. Simonton j 1'rcas­
urer, M. Kaplan j Marshal, Peter Drake j Street Commis­
sioner, Edwin Hillin.

The council lcvicd the firl:lt year for a general fund one­
half mill on the dollar j for policc, one mill j for public
buildings and a jail, one and a half mills j and fur streets,
one and a halt' mills. 'l'his year the village was declared a
road district, and cells 101' thc confinement of pril:loners wcre
constructed in the public hall, the expense of building which
and other improvements were paid out of a loan of $1500
for which thc bonds of thc village had bcen issued. In­
cluding this amount, the receipts from all sources the first
year were $1959.94.

In 1877 the officers elected were: Mayor, John H. Law j

Clerk, William Scott j Councilmen, 'Villiam NaISh, George
T. Williams, ,Y. A. Carmichael, John Connor, G. C. Hill,
and Daniel Clark j Treasurer, John Fogclman j Marshal,
Thomas Lynch. The taxes were levied on a duplicate of
$250,000, and netted $2000, including among other things
moneys for the support of a fire department.

1878.-The members of the council elected were James
R. Hindman, G. M. Keating, and T. Simonton.

1879.-At the annual election 16~ votes were polled,
and the following elected: Mayor, John H. Law; Clerk,
'Yilliam Scott; Treal:iurer, W. 'V. Brock; Councilmen, N.
,Y. Bishop, John Cunnor, 'Villiam Nash j ~Iarshal, Thomas
Lynch.

The levy for this year was seven wills on the dollar.
Since being incorporated Loveland hus been materially
benefited j thc streets have bcen placed in good condition,
and provided with lamps for the use of gasuline, sidewalks
have been built, and the quiet and order of' thc village have
been greatly promoted.

The first house built on the present site of Loveland was
erccted by Patrick McGarvey, a deserter from the British
army. It was a kind of a light hoop-pole arrangement; and
was occupied by the recreant son 'Of Mars for Dluny yeal'S
afterwards.. Patrick, the owner of the mansion, was quite
a curiosity in dress, nnd possessed of a little more than the
usual amount of Irish wit.

GENERAL nUSINESS INTERESTS.

Among the first buildings put up in the village after it
was laid out was the old "Puxton House," which was
erected by William Ramsey, and in which J. M. Smith
opened a hotel, which has been· kept by a number of dir-

ferent persons, and is yet continued. Not long after Lawen
Dc Golyer erected the first brick house, which was uscd for
Dlercantile purposes. In 1854 he erected a largc three­
story block of brick, the upper story of which forms a pub­
lic hall, which was the usual place of public meetings until
the spacious school-hall was provided. A part of the De
Golyer house has been uscd for hotel purposes. The pres­
ent " American" and " National" hotels were built by Jacob
Fogelman. The former has always been kept by Benjamin
Howan j the latter has had numerous owners. At 'Vest
Loveland, Dr. JJ. 'V. Bishop, a few years ago, erected a
large hotel for thc accommodation of summer boarders,
which has been culled the" Riverside House." It has a
beautiful location, and appears very attractive.

The first store in this part of the county was kept about
two miles east of Loveland, at a ph~ce called Obannonville,
where is now the residence of Col. 'William Hamsey, by
Louis Fairchild. He was succeeded after 1824 by Happ &
Hall, and they in 1836 by'Yilliam Ramsey, who kept the
store, packed pork, and had the post-office until about
1847, when James Loveland became the postmaster. The
latter removed his business to the newly laid-out village of
Paxton, and the office in 1848 was changed to Loveland,
so named after the first merchant and postmaster at what
is now the village of Loveland. Loveland's place of busi­
ncss was on the site at present occupied by Porter Turner's
store. Near the same time J. 1\1. Smith had anothcr store
at a place where he was followed by Lawen De Golyer.
But before this time Fredel'ick Ballal'd engaged in tl"ade in
a building which stood opposite the Turner store, where
were afterwards Philip Moses and M. Kaplan. The house
was destroyed by fire in 1878. John and George Thomp­
son were next in trade at the stand now occupied by John
Thompson. John Fogelman was an active business man,
first in the De Golyer building and later at the stand now
occupied by ,Y. W. Brock. Sincc 1866 the Hill brothers,
John, POitel', Absalom, and Albert, have been connected
with the mercantile interests of Loveland, and for a period
not quite so long N. P. Turner, both firms carrying a gen­
eral assortment of goods. In other lines of trade al'e
Theodore Spinner, Joseph Ruhr, and the Rowan Brothers.
John Shuesler is a druggist at a stand established many
years ago, and for the past five years Dr. William Scott has
had anothcr drug-store in the western part of the village.

In 1851, James Loveland was succeeded as postmaster
by ,Y. F. Ballard, but after four years again became post­
lJlllSter. In 1857, Leopold Horst was appointed j in 1859,
A. A. Leever; in 1865, M. Kaplan j and in 1867, Wil­
liam Hamsey. The latter has since held the appointment,
with John :I!'ogelman as deputy. The office is supplied with
seven mails per day, and since Octobm', 1869, has been a
postal money-order office.

Near Loveland Dl'. J. P. Emery wus a practicing physi­
cian from 1835 till 1860, and still lives there retired. For
a score of years Dr. W. A. Carmichael has been a success­
ful practitioner at Loveland, and has as contemporary phy­
sicians Drs. L. W. Bishop, N. ,Y. Bishop, William Scott,
and Dr. Criley, the latter· being a homooopathic practi­
tioner. .As an attorney, Mon. S. 'Villiamson has ularge and
increasing business in Clermont and the adjoining counties.



SILAS R. HUTCH INSON. ELIZABETH HUTCHINSON.

THE first settlement made in Olermont County WllS in Miami
township, near Lovelllnd, in 1795, by Col. Thomas Paxton
and his four sons-in-law, JUdge Owcn Todd. 001. John
Ramsey, James Smith, nnd Silas Hutchinson. Silas Hutch­
inson was born, in 1772, in Maryland, and lllarried Miss
Margaret, daughter of Col. Thomas Puxton, of Pennsylvania.
001. Paxton, with his family and sons-in-law, first cmigruted
to Kentucky. He was the commander of the advance gum'd
of Wayne's army, and after the victory of ",Vayne OVQr the
Indians, in the fall of 1794, returned the following season to
Ohio, where he settled. To Silas Hnd .l\Iargaret (Puxton)
Hutchinson were burn ten children: Joseph; Keziah, mar­
ried to Christopher Forden j I~abene, married to Elias Smith j
Robert P. j Silas R j Elizabeth, murried to Miles Spring­
steel j Nancy, married to Samuel Davis j Rachel, married to
J umes Tilton j Thomus j and a child who died in infnMy.
Silns R. Hutchinson wus born in Minmi townsllip, Jan. 11,
1804, and his earliest recollections date from the death of his
grandfather in March, 1813, und the return of his elder
brother, Joseph Hutchinson, frolll the war of 1812. Oler­
mont County was then mostly a dense forest, with here and
there a few acres partially cleared and occupied by an isoluted
log cabin. There were no improvements or means of com­
munication other than mere traces through the woods up to
1815, nor had much been done towurds developing the soil, or
in the mechnnical arts. By aid of the hand-loom the flax and
wool were made into wearing uppurel, often supplemented by
deer-skin, and these constituted the pioneer wurdrobe. In the
summer season Silas R employed his time hoeing corn, und
in winter attending schools of n very primitive character. In
1817 he went to the academy at .l\flldisonville, Hamilton 00.,
and there remnined twu years, bonrding with his brother-in­
law, Christopher Forden. He was married, ]j'eb. 26, 18~6, to
Eliznbeth Emery, duughter of Judge John Emery, an emi­
grant from Now Jersey, nnd ufterwurds an associate judge of
the Clermont Oommon Pleas Court, nnd a representative for
two years in the Ohio Legislature. His wife, a most estimnble
lady, is still living, und by her he hns had nino children, of
whom two died in inflincy j the remainder were Preston j
Newton j Angl'line, married to Nuthaniel B. Paxton, and now
decensed j Margery, married to John B. Ward j John j Mnry,
married to Achilles Shaw j and Harriet, married to Robert
Paxton.

Silas R and his wife, Elizabeth (Emery), were enabled
by the joint contributions of their purents to begin house­
keeping, but not properly to commence farming, as J.\fr.

Hutchinson had llis horses, harness, plows, wagons, etc., to
procure. But by the energy and businp.ss tact. that lIas dis­
tinguished him through life he ob~ined all these indispensa­
ble articles, and began farming. In 1827 he purchll~ed a leal!e
on the land of his fnther-in-hnv. This wns encumbered-all
the timber over eighteen inches left on it being dead-and
presented a Vl'ry fuir prospect for a large amount of hard
work without much remuneration. In 1836, after a residence
of nine yeurs on these premises, he purchased n farm of one
hundred and sixtv-six acres ubout a mile south of his birth.
place, and moved thCl'eon Dec. 10, 1836, and on that fine furm
he hns since resided. His futher, Silas Hutchinson, was in
1826 the lust collector of the county, and he assisted his father
in the discharge of the duties of thttt office. The first publio
offiee which he filled lifter url'iving at his majority was that of
clerk in the l)residentiul election of 1828, when John Quincy
Adams and Gen.•Juckson were candidates. From that period
to 1864 he was most of the time clerk of· Miami township,
and also of the township bonrd of education from its organiza­
tion in 1853 up to 1864. Since 1846 he has repentedly filled the
office of township assessor of personal property in addition to
his other positions. An elegant penman, thorough IIccountant,
and of rnre business judgment, he wus one of the best local
officials in the county. In 1851 he assisted in constructing a
turnpike fl'Om Madisonville, Hamilton 00., to Dallasburg, in
",Varren Oounty, and for years was secretary of thnt turnpike
company. In 1866 he was largely instrumental in the organi­
zution und luying out of the beuutiful Miumiville Oemetery,
which embruced at first ten ncres/and is now one of the prettiest
and most attruetive in Southern Ohio. In 1864 he was elected a
commissioner of Olermont County, und served in that capacity
three yeurs, making one of the best officers who ever held that
important post. Ho had for his colleugues during his term
F. J. Roudebush, Willinm Huwldns, J. P. Molen, und Charles
Burkhllrdt. Mr. Hutchinson is a man of inflexible integrity,
unimpellchnble personnl chnrt\cter, of splendid executive ubil­
ity, and in all the many publio positions to which he has been
frequently called his conduct hus not been marred by a blemish,
while his official intercourse with all was nfl'llble and pleasunt.
He was a Democrut in politics until 1863, when he became
identified with the Republicnn party, of which he is now a
leading member. Stttt'Ling in life with no capital but his
honesty find iron will, he hus become one of the largest
fnrmers in Olermont Oounty, acqnired a good fortune, and at
his advanced uge lives in easy retirement on his beautiful
estato ne~r .l\'1iumiville.
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Total. $3,246.a1

DISBURSEMENTS.
22 shares retired............... $2,728.51
Taxes.... 105.80
Secretary's service............... 104.00
Advanced insurance... ......... 34.50

Number of shares in force....................... 68
TOtlLI IOll,ned and on hand $12,573.50
Ylllue of each 8hal·e........... 184.!l0!
Profit on each share........ 54.!JII!

A. B. J.lnocK, Secretary.

MILFORD.

This is the largest village in the township, and ranks
third in poiut of population in the county. It has a pleas­
alit location in a small valley on the Little Miami River,
about .eighteen miles from Cineinnati, with which it ~as

communication by a good turnpike and the Little Miami
Rlilroad, which has a .station at West Milford, in Hamilton
County, the two places being connected by a substautial
bridge. Closely environing the village are high hills, which
have limited the building space and caused Milford to
stretch along the river to the beautiful meadow-lands north­
east from where it had its humble beginning, giving the
place a somewhat straggling appearance, which time will
doubtlessly correct. Along the excellent turnpike,S entering
Milford are many fine and-in a few instances-palatial
suburban residences, which greatly add to the beauty of the
place, as well as giving evidence of the refinement and afflu­
ent circumstances of citizens of this part of the county. In
the village proper are many citizens of foreign birth, but
who have become closely identified with its interests, and
are noted for their thrift and industry in providing com­
fortable homes.

In a state of nature the site of Milford and the surround­
ing country possessed a picturesque beauty to which even
the practical pioneer could not be blind. No wonder, then,
that it struck with rapture that old Knickerbocker, the
quaint and eccentric John Nancarrow, whli had it surveyed
for him on May 28, 1788, in the survey No. 1748, of 230
acres on military warrants Nos. 3930, 3931, and part of
3932, and on it this old Dutch burgomaster intended to
found a city that should become the future metropolis of
the West. But the unforeseen disasters of commercial
speculations ruined the man, and he assigned all his landed
possessions in the Northwest to John Vaughn and Peter
January, merchants of Philadelphia; but before doing so,
with thrifty foresight, he sold this l\:lilford survey, on Dec.
20, 1802, t~ Philip Gatch for $920 in lawful money of the
realm. Judge Gatch sold 120 acres of the Nancarrow sur­
vey to Judge Ranson, who in turn sold 64 acres thereof to
John Hageman, who laid out the town-then called Hage­
man's Mills-on Jan. 17, 1806, into 46 lots.

The first addition to Milford was made by Lewis Gatch
and Edward Hughes, Sept. 8, 1817, on the eastern part of
the original village, consisting of 37 lots.

Feb. 2, 1846, Britton Leming made an addition of 34
lots, the plat being made by the then county surveyor,
William S. McLean (still living at Williamsburgh), and its
dedication and acknowledgment was before Mark P. Taylor,
J. P., 'afterwards mayor of Cincinnati.

Oct. 1, 1847, Dr. L. A. Hendricks, an old pioneer set­
tlci' and medical practitioner of note, made a subdivision of
23 lots, the survey being made by the venerable Col. James
Given, now of Mount Carmel.

April 24, 1849, when John Ferguson was auditor and
L. B. Leeds recorder, the town wa~ resurveyed and num­
bered as to its lots by Surveyor McLean.

3,169.65
76.66

$2,972.81

$273.50

$2,054.50
744.50

75.15
20.50

275,011

Balance on hand ..

60

On hand March 1, 1879 ..

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

A short distance below the village of Loveland is a water­
power on the I...ittle l\1iami, where as long ago as 18~0

Peter Sears had a small corn-mill with one run of stones.
The dam was built chiefly of· brush, weighted down with
stqnes by the nei;,;hbors, who made a "bee" for that pur­
pose. In 1830, Thomas Breeding built a part of the pres­
ent mill, putting in a frame dam two years later. The
present dam was built in 1874 by Eveland & Dyer. It
is four hundred feet long, and yields a six-foot fall. The
mill was owned after Breeding by Kibbie & Ross, James
Loveland, Paxton & Eveland; in 185~, by H. Eveland;
and since 1872 by him and J. 1\1. Dyer. Its capacity has
been increased from time to time until more than 100 bar­
rels of flour per day could be manufactured. It is at pres­
ent supplied with fuur runs of stones and good machinery.

In the village the principal industry is A. B. Brock's
planing-mill and lumber-yards. They were established in
1872 by 'V. ,Yo Brock, and since 1876 have lieen in charge
of' the present proprietor. The building which he occupies
is 32 by 62 feet, three stories high, with a wing 20 by 40
feet, in which is a well-appointed office. The motive-

. power is steam, which operates all the machines necessary
in producing builders' material in wood. Mr. Brock has
also a well-assorted stock of builders' hardware, paints, glass,
etc., and bandIes coal and lumber on a large scale. It is
the most complete establishment of' the kind in t!le county.

THE LOVELAND BUILDING AND LOAN ASSOCIATIO:N,

whose object is to raise money to be loaned among its mem­
bers and depositors for use in buying lots or houses, or
building and repairing houses, or other purposes, was organ­
ized as a body corporate April 27, 1875, with M. Kaplan,
Jobn H. Law, Daniel Clark, Joseph Ruhr, and A. B.
Brock as corporators. 1'he capital stock was fixed at
$99,900, in 333 shares of $300 each. John H. Law was
chosen the first President; 1\'1. Kaplan, Vice-President;
Daniel Clark, Treasurer; A. P. Brock, Secretary; and L. P.
Baen, Attorney. These officers, with the exception of the
treasurer, ha\'e been continued to the present. Daniel Clark,
as treasurer, at the end of' two years was succeeded by the
present, N. P. Turner. At the end of the first year the
llssociation reported 224 shares in force, with a profit of
$4.85 on each share. A year later the number of shares
in force were 196; in 1878, 133; in 1879, 96; and the
present condition of' the .association is shown in the appended
report, from :l\Iarch 1, 1879, to March 1, 1880:

RECEIPTS.
Weekly dues .
Interest .
Fines .
Advanced insurance .
Paid oft' mortgage ..
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July 3, 18G9, Dr. ,J. S. Combs and wife and Ruth S.
Gatch laid out another addition, whinh was called East
Milfonl, of -19 lots, aided by A. II. Matson as surveyor.

Oct. 15, 1872, Col. William Storms made an addition of
3·t lots out of part of' the old I....cwis Gatch farm, the survey
being made by Professor George H. Hill.

John Hageman, the founder of Milford, lived in a heweu­
log house, by the spring, in the upper part of the old vil­
lage. Here is now a stone house, the first in the place,
which was built in 1815 by.John Mains, the first black­
smith in Milford. Edward Hughes was the next in this
traue, the family removing £l'om here to Moscow. William
Hall, the first wagon-maker, removeu at an early day.

~'he first frame house stands opposite the" brick row,"
and was built about 1809 by a man named l\lcFeeny, who'
was ,John Hageman's millcr. Two years later Stephen
Mcdaris built the first, or one of the first, brick houses in
Milford, which now belongs to John L. Brunson. About
the same time Paul Hust built the f'mme house which is
now occupied by the wiuow 'Varren as a grocery. Rust
was a cabinet-maker and removed to Cincinnati, where he
became a well-known undertaker.

Among the other early settlers of Milford was A. H.
Matson, Sr., the first postmaster, who was also the first
cooper. He liveu on the site now known as the" Hickey"
comer. Samuel Thompson, another cooper by tmue, kept
the public-house where is now the "Jackson House"
twenty-five years. He was very muscular, and sometimes
exercised his brawn to keep up the good name of his house
as an' orderly resor~. Ncar by was the cabin of the widow
Ray, with her two sons., who subsequently removed to the
farm which is now occupied by John Gatch, where she died.
Henry Stone and Jeremiah Wood were early millwrights.
1'he latter lived in the upper part of the village until his
Geath, at a very advanced age. \Villiam Brunson, who
lived on the island, followed his avocation as a miller forty­
two years, and had a most excellent reputation for making
superior flour. Emanuel Hawn was the first hatter, but
became a hotel-keeper, and \Vallace Boyer was the hatter.
Marmaduke Green was the pioneer tailor, having a shop
on the site now occupied by the buildings of Caleb Wil­
liams. lIe moved to Cincinnati, where he became the
father of John K. Green. In 1815, Daniel Linegar, an­
other tailor, came from New Jersey, and carried on his
traue until his death in 1836. He was the father of 'Vil­
liam P. Linegar, a mcrchant of l\1ilforu. Dr.\Villiam Wil­
liams, the pioneer doctor, lived in a frame house on the site
of the Steffen residence. Thomas and John Cook were also
among the early settlers of the village. 1'he former was a
Illan of prodigious strength, and once accomplisheu the feat
of pulling off a greased gander's head, the goose being sus­
pended just low enough to admit of being reached while
galloping by on horseback. From this circumstance Mil­
ford waS sometimes called" Gandertown" by the inhabitants
of rival villages, but soon outgrew this appellation.

In 1887 the owners of houses in Milford were 1'homas
1'1. Brown, 1'homas Bond, Ichabou Clark, William Couk­
lin, R G. Cook, D. D. Davidson, Joseph W. Hall, L. A.
Hendrick, Thomas Hare, l~manueLHawn, I.Jevi Knapp,
Mathias Kugler, .John 'Kugler, Britton ]~eming, William

MdIains, Ruth Niles, John Pollock, Henry PoIseI', Sam­
uel Perin,' Elizabeth Ray, William 'WilIiams, J'oseph Wil­
liams, Benjamin 'Valker, Thomas Boyer, .Joseph Brown,
.James Dennison, Preston Duekett, .Joseph Griffith, Edward
nughes, Elias Kerr, William Higgs, Simon Hallisey, and
D. G. Pompelly.

l\lUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT.

Milford Was incorporated by all act of the General As­
sembly, passed Jan. ~3, 183G, und on the 26th of March
of the same year the first election of village officers was
held at the public-house of Emanuel Hawn, with the fol­
lowing result: Mayor, William 'ViIliams j Reeorder, Thomas
1\1. Brown j Trustees, John Kugler, .John Hay, Britton
Leming, Emanuel Hawn, and Simon Hamsay j Treasurer,
Bdward Hughes j Marshal, James Dennison; Street Com­
lIlissioncr, William Conklin.

The marshal was also appointed nuisance-master, at a
salary of $5 per year. A tax of five' mills 011 the dollar for
all purposes was levied, and brought into the village treas­
ury $113.20 j as license fees there were receiveu $5, and
as road tax $82 nJQre, making the total receipts $200.20.
Of this amount there were paid out to defray the current
expenses of the village government $104-.24, leaving a neat
balance in the treasury. For protection against. fi.·cs the
trustees provided eight ladders, which were to be placeu in
pairs at John Kugler's, 'Villiam Conklin's, E. Hawn's,
and William Higgs'.

The village recorus for many years are defective, thus
precluuing the giving of a complete list of officers, but for
the years of which any aecount exists they have been as
follows:

18:n~-l\Iltyor, E. Hughes; Recorder, Lawson Pratt; Trustees, Joseph
Williltm~, Joel Ogg, Thomas Boyer, Wm. Conklin, L. A.
Heudrick; Treasurer, Levi Knapp; Marshal, 'Vm. Brown;
Street COlllmissioner, Jacob Hughes.

1838.-~byor, J,uues Dennison; Recorder, LI\\VSOn Pratt; Trustees,
R. F. McMains, John Oliver, Joseph Williams, Edwl1rd
Hughes, John Kugler; Treasurer, Levi Knapp; Marshal,
Abel Daugherty; Street Commissioner, John Julien.

18:~!J.-Mayor, John Pol1ock; Recorder, Joseph Williams; Trustees,
Wm. Willimns, Euwnrd lIugoes, Thomas 1\L Brown, Wm.
Blwghart, Hcnry PoIseI'; Treasurer, Thomas 1\[. Brown;
Marshal, Street Commissioner, and Nuisance-Master, A. P.
Boyer.

18·10.-l'lbyor, Leonard A. IIendl"ick; ~ecordcr, John Pollock; 'frus­
tecs, Emanucl IInwn, Will. l\Ici\Iains, 'VIll. COllldin, John
Kuglcr, Britton Lcming; Treasurer, Emanucl IIawn; Strcet
Commissioncr, ''''Ill. L. Barwise.

18-!1.-l\Iayor, L. A. Hendrick; Rccorder, J all1CS Dennison; Trustees,
E. IIl1wn, William Williams, Jacob Allen, Abram Boyer,
James Pollock; Treasurer, E. Hawn; Marshal, William
Barwise.

18,t2.-l\Iayor, L. A. Hendrick; Recorder, On'i1le Wiggins; Trustees,
T. W. Boyer, Jl11l1eS Pollock, W. P. Linegar, J. Kugler, W.
T. Drown; Treasurer, 'V. T. Brown.

lS.1:l.-Mayor, Charles Willh1111S; Recorder, Orville Wiggins; Trus-
. tees, B. Leming, James Pollock, 'f. 'V. Boyer, Preston

Duckett, Ahra.1ll Ben; Trct1surer, T. W. Boyer; Marshal,
1'. Duckett; Street Commissioner, J:tmcs Pollock.

18·1·].-1\1I1yor, Win. K Hughes; Recorder, O. Wiggins; '!'rustees,
Moses Ross, A. Bell, E. Hawn, Will. MeMnins, L. Windsor;
Treasurer, E. IInwn; 1\Il1rslml, P. Due\,ett; Street Commis­
sioner, Thomas Bailey.

18.15.-1\1'L)'0I·, L. A. Hendrie!,; Recorder, P. Duckett; Trustees, D..
G. Pumpelly, J. Simmons, J. N. Ross, M. Ross, A. Bell;
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Trea.surer, .James Simmons; Marshal, Thol1l:1s Ba.i1ey; Street
Commis::ioller, 'Vm. 1'. Lineg:tr.

IS·llj.-Mayor, L. A. lIenclrick; Heeoruer, Will. C. Mellen; 'frustees,
A. Bell, :Moses Ross, D. G. Pompelly, O. Wiggins, John
Julien; 'l'reltsurer, Moses Itoss; .l\IlLI"~hal, Thomas Bltiley;
Street Commissioner, J. N. Ross.

,From 18-16 to 1867 the records are missing, but in'
18-17-48, L. A. Hendrick was Mayor and P. R. Gest Re­
corder j 1850, R. F. l\Ic:\1ains, Mayor, and 'V. C. Mellen,
Recorder; 1853, J. F. Mellen, Mayor, and S. V. Heady,
Hecorder j 1856, A. T. Cowen, Mayor, and S. V. Heady,
Uecorder.

1SG7.-Mayor, Joseph Gntes; Recorder, John Connoly: Trustees,
George W. Brunson,* John II. Senrles, William L. Christo­
pher, Jacob l'Iurphy, William P. Lineglu; Mnrshltl, W. M.
Colers; Street Commissioner, Joseph B. Julien.

June 10, 1867, a board of' health was appointed, com­
posed of C. It. StuILz, L. A. Hendrick, A. H. Humphrey,
C. D. Gatch, D. 'V. Beall, a!ld Richard Payne.

186S.-Mayor, A. M. Dennison; Recorder, .John Connoly; Trea.surer,
Robert Kel'Dullll.n; Trustees, Willirtm Gash, W. B. Wise, P.
Fitzsimmons, Chal'les Bunes, Chal'les Bumer, II. Kernahan;
M1Lrs11lL1, Joseph B. Julien; Street Commissioner, .John Lee.

l869.-Mayor, Uriel Bevis; Recorder, John M. Gest; Treasurer,
Robert Kern:than; l'rustees, John Connoly, .John M. Gest,
August lIelon, P. FitzsimlDons, A. J. McGill; Marshal,
lIenry Killinger; Street Commissioner, Newton Marriott.

1S70.-l'lttyor, N. Bevis;t Recoruer, John II. Searles; 'freasurer, R.
Kernahan; Trustees, A. II. Brower, .Jaeob Murphy, D. W.
Jones, A. J. McGill, A. Hclm, A. Van Bibber; Marshal,
Wm. Eichen; Street Commissioner, H. Payne.

187l.-Couneilmen, A. H. Brown, August Helms, Jacob Mnrphy.
IS72.-M:tyor, J. B. Julien; Councilmen, 1'1. D. Conrad, A. Loyd,

JltmeS Megrue; Recorder, J. 1\1. Gest; Treasurer, W. P.
Linegltr; Marshal, Clark Shields; Street Commissioner, N.
Marriott.

1873.-Couneilmen, P. B. Ga.tch, P. Hutchinson, A. Helms, P. F.
Gibson, Frank Julien.

l874.-MIl.)·or, John II. Searles; Recorder, William Julien; 'l'reas­
Ul'cr, H. Pll.yne; Councilmen, John L. Brunson, Joseph
Stevens, P. Fitzsimmons, A. Balsizer; Marslml, Frank
Shields; Street Commissioncr, Fl'llnk Shielcls.

l875.-Councilmen, Dennis l\Iell.gher, Charles Adams, A. Bltlsizer.
1876.-Mayor, M. D. CODrll.d; Recorder, J. 1\1. Gest; Treasurer, W.

P. Lineg:u; Councilmen, Jacob Murphy, Thomas M. Shu­
mard, 1'. J. Melish; Marshal, James Powers; Street Com­
missioner, N. W. Marriott.

1877.-Couneilmen, 1\1. Cowley, J. Steward, J. Ackley.
1878.-Mll.yor, 1'. M. ShulUl1rd; Heeorder, John Reynolds; l'reasurer,

W. P. Linegar; Councilmen, William Julien, Charles Adams,
Paul Schlegel'; 1\Iu.rsh:tl, J amcs Powers; Street Commis­
sioner, Keran Clancy.

IS79.-Councilmen, Jeny Stewll.rd, P. FitzsimlDons, R. C. Belt.

This year the corporation levied for a light-fund, three
.mills j and for a street-fund, two mills. At the annual
election 128 votes were polled. The streets of the village
are passably well graded and properly lighted.

MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.

The village had its beginning as a milling centre, and for
many years was important only as tIle .seat of the most ex­
tensive manufhcturing industry in the county. The activ­
ity displayed by John Kugler and othel~S made Milford
what it is, and when their immense business ceased the vil­
lage came to a stand-still, from which it took many years to

i;! Resigned; Otho WillitLlIIs elected to fill vacancy.
t Resigned; James B. Wnllll.ce filled \'aeancy.

,recover. Mathias Kugler, the father of .John, came from
Pennsylvania in the fall of 1797 to Chris. Waldsmith's
mills (which was afterwards called Germany, and is now
known as Camp Dennison), in Hamilton County, a few
miles above :i\Iilford. \Yaldsmith had come the year be­
fin'e, and the mills had just been gotten into operation,
being the. fir~t in this part of the State. The following
year Kugler married a daughter of \Valdsmith's, and after
his death, in 1814, succeeded to his business, which under
his shrewd manap;emcnt became very extensive, embracing
grist-, saw-, paper-, and oil-mills, distilleries, and general
merchandising. Nearly all of these industries found larger
scope when Kugler became interestecl in business at l\'Iilfard
and East J.Jiberty. To the latter place he removed after
the destruction by fire of most of his property at Germany,
his son .John becoming the owner of' the Milford interests,
and wonderfully developed them. A full account of the
latter is elsewhere given. David and Mathias Kugler, of
Tippecanoe, were brothers of John, and his sistCl:s married
Joel Ogg, George Schultz, Johnson Turpin, and Josiah
Drake.

The first improvement of the water-power here was
made in 1803 by John Hageman, who put up a small mill
ncar where the present one stands. It was rudely built,
being inclosed with slabs. An improved mill soon took its
place, which had numerous owners,-Lewis Gatch, Rust
& Dimlllitt, and, about 1815, Hartshorn & Sanders. The
latter built. the fmme of the present ~ill and sold out to
Elijah and Cyrus Pierson. These made further improve­
ments in the mill, and began the mansion, selling to
Mathias Kugler & Son, who completed the buildings and
made extensive improvements in other directions. About
1830 they put up a building for carding and fulling wool;,
which were placed in charge of Joel Ogg and A. F. Swin­
dler, but after a time the machinCl'y was removed and mill­
i,ng-machinery supplied for doing custom:work. Aftel'
John Kugler's death, one of his heirs, John K. 'Vest,
operated the mills for a period, but since March, 1879, the
mills have been owned and operated by the Scott Brothers,
- 'Yalter R, N. A., and Frank,-who manufhcture about
60 barrels of flour per day, running two sets of buhrs ex­
clusively on merchant work. The mill is 50 by 60 feet,
and in stories high. It is supplied with modern machinery,
and preserves its former good reputation. The CUStOlll­
mill is 40 by 40 feet, and has two runs of stones. Both
are supplied with good water-power from a substantial dam
more than a quarter of a mile slistant.

In 1873 a steam grist-mill was erected in the upper p~rt

of the village by Aug. Helms, which, after several years'
operation, was taken down, and the machinery removed to
Goshen, where it has been embodied in the mill of Holwes
& Johnston.

Some time about 1810, 'Vm. Embly had a small distil­
lery where are now the Jackson Honse stables. Halt' a
dozen years later Daniel McClelland had a distillery of
larger capacity on the present site of the Catholic church.
The building was of stone, and was sold to 'Villiams &
Hawn, passing from them into the hands of the Kuglors.
These began distilling near their mills, about 1830, in a
small building. Ten !ears later the! erec~ed the present
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distillery, which had a very large capacity, and, in connec­
tion with the mills, consumed un enormous quantity of
grain daily, making Milford one of the best markets in
the county. The bonded warehouse was built during the
late war. To store the products of these establishments
several large cooperages were engaged in the manufacture
of barrels. No liquor has here been distilled since John
Kugler's death.

The first tannery at Milford was carried on about 1808
by John Losh, who had a few vats in a yard above the
Catholic church. It passed into the hunds of Daniel
McClelland, who greatly inc!el,lsed the capacity, and had in
connection a large shoe-shop. After John Kugler became
the owner the business was carried on much more exten­
sively for a few years, when the·industry was discontinued.

Ethan Stone, of Cincinnati, had an oil-mill at Milford,
soon after 1805, on the mill-race above the small brid~e,

which was operated until 1817 by Joseph Harvey as man­
ager. In this building curding was also done by Hust &
Dimmitt, and later, John Eldridge there distilled liquor.
The saw-mill near by was put up by John Kugler, but for
many years has been inoperative. All the foregoing inter­
ests, except milling and coopering, have been discontinued,
and hundreds of men who had been engag( d in carrying
them on were obliged to seek other occupations. There are,
besides, the harness manufactory of T. M. Shumard, estab­
lished in 1870, which employs pix hands in the upper part
of the village; and the carriage-works of C. C. & E. H. Hill,
at East Milford, established in 1872. Two large shops are
occupied in the manufacture of all kinds of work. Ten
hands find employment.

GENERAL BUSINESS INTERESTS.

One of the first stores was kept in the house of William
Linegar, by David Mount. Paul Rust and John Dimmitt,
also, had a pioneer store in the building now occupied by
Mrs. 'Vanen. Others engaged in merchandising in the
early history of Milford were John Thomas, Thomas Shu­
mard, Scott & Thompson, Andrew McGrew and his son
Lewis, Walier Yeatman, Britton Leming, J...evi Knapp,
Joseph Post, Dr. A. Dart, and James Dennison. About
1827, 1\1athias Kugler & Son opened a store in the large
frame house opposite the mill where they began an exten­
sive trade, which was carried on by John Kugler after 1840.
In 1854 he occupied for a store-room the large building
which he had used some time previously as a pork-packing
house. He was in trade here until 1868, building and
occupying meantime, as a warehouse, the large stone build­
ing near the bridge, the upper story of which formed a
public hall. After John Kugler's death the Loyds there
engaged in trade, and were succeeded by the present John
B. Iuen. For a number of years Otho 'Yilliams had a
general store, and at present 'WiIliam Linegar is also in

. trade. Richard Payne, who is yet in trade, was the first
grocer. Thomas Shoemaker and George Leming were also
many years in that line of trade. In drugs the first store
was kept by Aaron Matson, who left Milford in 1834.
The next druggist was 'William Allen, in the Kugler build­
ing, where he was followed by Hopkins & Miller, R. C.
:JJelt~ and tpe :prese!1t GU!'3. Weisbrodt. Dale & Mallou are

dealers in agricultural implements; and at East Milford is
a ~cneral store kept by Frank Clutter.

Among the keepers of public-houses, Thomas Hare wus
one of the first, his f'tand being, at the lower end of the
village, near t.he distillery, keeping from about ] 800 to
18H>. The widow Ray and 'Villiam Embly also enter­
tained the public, although not keeping regular taverns.
From abou t 1815 till 18-1-0, Samuel Thompson kept a noted
house on the site of the present hotel stand. H. Davidson
added the third story to the buildin~,and was followed as a
lundlord, among others, by Moses Ross, Michael Cowen,
John Simpkins, George Marriott, Daniel and Charles Jones,
and the present -- Jackson. In early times Emanuel
H awn had a public-house, followin~ his trude, 11atting, if)
connection, with his brother Samuel. East of the village
Jacob Conmd early had n tavern, which for many years past
has been kept by Samuel 'Villiams.

The Milford post-office was established with Aaron Mat­
son as postmaster, who held the appointment until his re­
moval in 18:H, when John Kugler became the postmaster.
Ten years later Britton Leming was appointed, and subse­
quently the following: 1849, Isaac N. Hoss; 1851, Albert
Dart; 1855, Amos Hill; 1859, James Dennison; 1869,
Mary E. Boyer; and 1873, Eunice Boyer. Milford be­
came a postal money-order office July 1,1869. A number
of mails are supplied daily.

Among the principal physicians of ~Iilford have been
Drs. 'Villiam Thorndyke, 'Villiam 'Villiams, Leonard A.
Hendrick, T. 1\1. Brown, Charles D. Gatch (who was the
first physician to reach the side of President Lincoln at his
assassination at Ford's theatre, April 14,1865), and the
present practitioners, Drs. P. B. Gatch and R. C. Belt.

Col. Samuel A. West is the present attorney. The first
was A. 1\1. Miller, who died here in 1834. 'ViIlium C.
Mellen is an attorney on Hamilton side. Other attorneys
have been John A. Adams, E. A. Parker, and Allen T.
Cowen.

SECRET' ORDERS.

The oldest lodge, and around which cluster the greatest
historic associations, is

:MILFORD LODGE, No. 54, F. AND A. M.

The application for a dispensation or a charter to organ­
ize this fodge was signed Nov. 22, 1819, by the following
Master Masons: William Williams, Zaccheus Big~R, Peter
Bell, John Main, MahIon Smith, Josiah Lyman, Jeremiah
Lemon, James Van Benthusen, Joshua Clark, Silas Smith,
and John S. Thomas. A dispensation was granted, and the
lodge held its first communication at the public.house of
Samuel 'l'hompson, Jan. 10, 1820, the officers being Silas
Smith, W. 1\1.; William Williams, S. ,Y.; Zaccheus Biggs,
J. W.; John S. Thomas, Sec.; and Samuel Hawn, 'l'reas.
In the fall of the year the lodge was duly chartered, and
on the 2-1-th of June, 1821, the lodge-room was consecrated
and the officers for that year installed by the Most Wor­
shipl'ul Grand Master, John Snow. Since that period other
llalls have been occupied, and at present the communica­
tions are held in a fine room in the lower part of the vii.
lage. The aggregate membership has been very large, and
at present about 50 Masons hold their membership here.
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In the year 1808, Michael Turner and his wife, Elizabeth
(Beltz) Turner, with their four little children, emigrated from
Bedford Co., Pa., to Ohio. They came down the Ohio River
in a flat-boat, accompanied by John Burns and his family,
and landed at Columbia, then the most notl'd place for east­
ern emigrants to disembark. Michael Turner was a thrifty
farmer, and a plain, matter-of-fact, honest man. His wife,
Elizabeth (Beltz), an excellent woman. died Sept. 1, 1824, in
her forty-third year, and he Jan. 16, 1856, aged seventy-five
years, having been born in 1781. They had twelve children:
Sarah, married to Uriah Baldwin, and afterwards to Henry
Leaf; John (deceased); Elizllbeth, married to Willimn Dum­
ford; Daniel (all four born in Pennsylvania); pollJr, mar­
ried to Henry Leaf; Anna, married to Samuel Perry; Lewis,
who died in his eighth year; Rev. Isaac Turner, Baptist cler­
gyman, and who died in Illinois; Andrew J.; William;
Julia Ann, who died at lIhout twelve years of age; and
Amanda, married to Hurrison Carpenter. Daniel Turner
was the youngest of the four children born in Pennsylvania,
and was born March 25, 180u. In 1821, when about fifteen
years of age, he removed to Clermont County, and Oct. 10,
1827, married Susan Malott, daughter of Peter and Martha
Malott, born Jan. 27, 1811. Their children have been:
Michael, born Sept. 20, 1828,und married to M. A. Philhour,
Oct. 24, 1854; Andrew J., born March 3, 1830, and married
to Saraphilla Potter. Oct. 12, 1853; Martha J., born March
9, 1832, and died Feb. 23, 1833; Elizabeth, born March 15,
1834, and married to E. J. Jones, Nov, 21, 1859; William,
born Jan. 13, 1836~ and married to Nancy McCan, June 9,
18:')9; John, born Sept. 25, 1837, and married to Amanda
Michaels. March 1,1860; Henry L., born April 9, 1839, mar­
ried to Alvira Kidd, Sept. 8, 1863, and died July 23. 1865;
Isaac, born .Jan. 27, 1841, and married to Amanda R. Teal,
March 17, 1870; Peter, born Feb. 14, 1843, and married to
Julin Buker, Jan. 24, 1867; Hannah M., born Dec. 14, 1844,
and married to Friend P. Spence, March 6, 1873; Benjamin
C~, born July 26, 1847; Wyatt S., born June 15, 1850, and
married to Kate Davis, Oct. 14, 1877; Susan M. Melissa,
born Nov. 7, 1853, and married to John Raglin. Daniel
Turner received the ordinary education the district schools so
poorly afforded when he was· II boy, and worked on a farm.
He started in life with no capital but his strong muscles, un­
tiring energy, an honest heart, and resolute will, and his wife,
like him, had no patrimony with whieh to begin life. When
married all their. property was one horsp. About 1831 he
purchased twelve acres of land, and from time to time has
added until to-day he owns eight hundred and fifty acres of
the best bottom-lands on the East Fork, in Clerm0nt County,

and eleven hundred and sixty acres of- choice lands in the
southern part of Clinton Couuty, and two hundred and thirty­
three in Highland County, in all two thollsnnd two hundred
and forty-three ncres. His residence, an elegant two-story
brick dwelling, is at Perin's l\Iills, on the Milford and Chilli­
cothe pike, in Miami township. At the commencement of
his business life he traded lar~ely in horses, lind in 1836, on
one drove which he took to South Carolina, he made eight
hundred dollars clear. For over fifty years he has been a
noted miser' of and dealer in hogs, and in them hus speculated
liS well as pncked thousands. He has made. his large fortune
by trading in horses, hogs, and lands, and from a poor boy has
risen to be the largest land-owner residing in Clermont County.
About 1850 he bought six hundred and sixty acres in Clinton
County, at thirty-three and.a third dollars per acre, on eight
years' time without interest, and subsequently five hundred
more at fifty dollars per acre l and two or three successive
fine wheat crops enabled him to pay for all those lands long
before his paper becume due. He was at the zenith of his
speculations and trading in hogs when Matthias Kugler was
operating the East Liberty Mills, and Samuel Perin those at
Perintown j but he has continued in that line of' business to
this dlly, and every yeur or so is able to buy a Inrge farm from
the profits derived the year previous from his dealings in ho~s,

etc. While a membm' of no denomination, he with his fllmily
are attendants upon the Baptist Church. For a third of a
century he -has been II member of the Independent Order of
Odd-Fellows, belonging to Clermont Lodge, No. 49, at Mil­
ford. A strict and positive Dcmocrnt in politics, he has
always refused office, having twice declined that of justice of
the peace, and once a captaincy in the militia. His first vote
for President was cast for Gen. Jackson, in 1828. He has
frequently served as school director, for, having a Inrge family,
he has ever taken a great interest in the district schools. For
two and a half years he wns a director in the Cincinnuti and
Eastern Hnilway, in which he is an extensive stockholder,
and the construction of the route down. the valley of the East
Fork was largely due to his influence.

Daniel Turner is one of those honest, self-made men of our
conntry, who by his industry, aided by judgment, has over­
come all difficulties, and risen from a poor boy to fortuneand
eminence. A good citizen, a most prompt and honorable
business man, an utt'ectionate husband and kind father, he
has reached a ripe old age of honor and usefulness, possess­
ing the respect and esteem of the community to the fullest
degree. He has been greatly assisted by his excellent wife, to
whom in part he lovingly attributes his remarkable financial
success.
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Since 1820 the Masters, Senior Wardens, and Junior
Wardens of Milford Lodge, in the order named, have been
the following:
1820.-Silas Smith, William William!', Zaccheus Biggs.'
1821.-Thomas Bond, Emltnuel Hawn, James W. Robinson.
1822..-William Williams, William Highlands, Jr., Samuel Hawn.
1823.-L. A. Hendrick, E. Hawn, Samuel Perin.
1824.-1•. A. Hendrick, Samuel Hawn, Levi Ducldngham.
1825.-L. A. Hendrick, James Armstrong, M. Fountain.
1l:l26.-L. A. Hendrick, M. Fountain, WillilUn Templeton.
1827.-W. Highlands, John Emery, Samuel Perin.
1828.-L. A. Hendrick, Lindley Broadwel1, William Morrill.
1829.-William Williams, M. Fountain, 1\1. Qucal.
1830.-L. A. Hendrick, M. Fountain, M. Queal.
18:n.-L. A. Hendrick, E. Hawn, Lindley BrOlulwell.
1832.-L. A. Hendrick, E. lbwn, Wil1htm Highlands.
1833.-L. A. Hendrick, E. Hawn, D. Perin.
1834.-Dtuius Perin, John II. Gernrd, Jluncs .Jaekson.
18:J5.-Darius Perin, Jon:lthan Willinmson, John G. Armstrong.
1836.-Abel Hobinson, .Jonathan WiIlinmllon, Moses Hoss.
18:n.~Jolleph 1Iull, .Jr., H. Perin, Moses Hoss.
1838.-Harvcy Perin, 1\1. Ross, Ezra Willi:uus.
1839.-IIarvey Perin, E. Williams, J. Hul1, Sr.
1840.-Moses HOllS, D. Perin, J. WilIhuuson.
1841.-J. Williamson, E. Williams, Andrew Long.
1842.-II. Perin, :\1. Ro:<s, M. Lnycock.
184:3.-11. Perin, J. WilliulDs, J. W. Bi~hop.

1844.-II. Perin, A. F. Swindler, M. La~·cock.

1845.-W. lIighland!l, A. F. Swindler, W. Conkling.
1846.-A. F. Swindler, W. Conkling, A. P. Boyer.
1847.-A. ~'. Swindler, A. P. Boyer, J. C. Anderson.
1848.-A. F. Swindler, M. D. Conrad, Thomas Bailey.
1849.-M. D. Conrail, Thomas Bailey, John C. Hybolt.
1850.-M. D. Conrad, William Beard, G. W. M<>grue.
1851.-William Beard, A. F. Quelll, J. M. Gest.
1852.-Willinm Beard, A. F. Queal, H. G. Leever.
1853.-A. F. Queal, M. D. Conrad, F. 1\1. Gatch.
1854.-A. F. Queal, M. D. Conrad, J. M. Gest.
1855.-A. F. Queal, J. M. Gest, A. M<>grue.
1856.-J. M. Gest, I. C. Woodruff, Jobn A. Adams.
185i.-J. 1\1. Hest, I. C. Woodruff, James G. Waits.
1858.-I. C. Woodruff, William Beard, James G. Wnits.
1859.-William Beard, D. W. Stevens, John M. Gest.
181>0.-M. D. Conrad, D. W. Stevens, William Holloeker.
1861.-M. D. Conrad, D. W. Slevens, William Hodoeker.
1862.-M. D. Conrad, J. 1\1. Uest, F. M. Gntch.
J86:J.-Wil1iam Beard, I. C. Woodruff, R. P:tyne.
18114.-William Beard, J. M. Gest, H. Miller.
1865.-William Beard, A. P. Gntcb, A. J. Cunninghnm.
18116.-William Beard. J. M. Gest, H. Miller.
1867.-J. M. Uest, II. Miller, William H. Beard.
1868.-J. M. GeMt, H. Miller, U. Payne.
1869-70.-1\1. D. Conrad, William H. Beard, W. H. Quea],
1871.-J. M. GOllt, T. J. Meliab, A. 13. Matson.
1872.-M. D. Conrad, .T. J. Melish, G. W. Quell!.
1873.-T. J. Melish, A. B. Matson, G. W. Queal.
1874.-T. J. Melish, G. W. Queal, Jacob Ackley.
1875.-A. B. Matson, R. Payne, Jllcob Ackley.
1876.-T. J. Melish, Jacob Ackley, W. C. 'fownsend.
1877.-J. N. Rippy, Jacob Ackley, Jerry Stewart.
1878.-T. J. Melish, E. C. Harding, .John Logan.
1879.-E. C. Harding, M. D. Conrad, Charles L. Greene.

MIL}'ORD CHAPTER, No. 35, R. A. M.,

was chartered Sept. 16, 1847, with the following members:
H. Perin, High Priest i William Williams, King i Archei
McNeal, Scribe i MOl:les Ross, William Conklin, David
Kugler, Leonard A. Hendrick, Nathan Hayward, and
Reader W. Clarke. Other early members were Moses D.
Conrad, Hobert McQuertin, Isaac M. Davis, Joseph M.
Gatch, John Harford, Andrew McGrew, John C. Uybolt,
Henry Palser, John Julien, Michael Queal, A. F. Swindler,

William N. Robinson, E. Hawn, J. Snider, Milton Jamie­
son, John Williams, .H. Eveland, Mark Buckingham, L.
Lanham, Paul Lemin~, C. G. McGrew, F. M. Gatch, and
Jacob Wainwright. .

The chapter has been prosperous in the main, and in
1879 reported 52 members. Its communications are held
in the hall of Milton Lodge, F. and A. M., No. 54. Since
the first year of its institution the High Pl'iests, Kings, and
Scribes of the chapter, in the order named, have been the
following:

I 848-49.-Leonard A. Hendrick, William Williams, EmlLDuel iIawn.
1850.-R. W. Clarke, Harvey Porin, Moses D. Conrad.
1851.-1\Ioses }). Conrad, Harvey Perin, Willillm Beard.
1852.-1\Ioses D. Conrad, William Beard, William Jones..
185:-l.-William Beard, William Megrew, E. Barber.
185.J-55.-William Beltrd, Emley Barber, William Mcgrew.
1856-57.-Willialll Beard, Emley BlIrber, A. Ml·grew.
1858-61.-A. F. Queal, L. A. Hendrick, A. Mcgrew.
1862-69.-1\1. D. Conrad, L. A. Hendriok, A. Mcgrew.
1870.-William Belnd, A. J. Cunningham, William Tudor.'
1871.-William Tudor, James Bindley, E. F. Jewett.
1872.-William Beard, William H. HUDt, Jam('s Paxton.
1873.-William Beard, Daniel Clark, Adnm A. Leever.
1874-75.-Thomns J. Mclish. Daniel Clark, Gl'orge W. QUl.'al.
18i6.-Thomas J. Melish, 1\1. KlIplnn, W. W. Brock.
1877.-Thoma~ .J. l\Ielish, A. Lyun~, M. D. Courad.
1878.-Thoma!l J. l\Icli:<h; M. D. Conrud, F. M. Glitch.
1879.-M. D. Conrad, Willinm Beard, N. O. Rotc.

M. D. Conrad, 'V. 'V. Bl'ock, and J. n. Iuen were the
trustees in 1879.

At Milford are CLER1IONT LODGE, No. 49, I. O. O. F.,
instituted Sept. 5, 1845, and :MILFORD ENCAMP1IENT,
chartered Oct. ~3, 1849, both reported in a flourilShing
condition i but as these bodies have requested that their
history be omitted in this book, no further account is here
given. In 187"5 they built a very fine hall, 48 by 52 feet,
two stories high, the lower story forming. two good store­
rooms. The cost was about $5000. The order also owns
a cemetery of nearly six acres, just north of the villuge.
It has a handsome location on the banks of the Miami, and
contains some fine monuments and improvements which
render it an attractive spot.

EMERY LODGE, No. 258, F. AND A. M.

'~nlis hospitable lodge, at Loveland, was instituted Oct.
20, 1854, on the petition of John 'V. Baen, H. Eveland,
James W. Puxton, Hamilton Mahan, George B. Brown,
William H. Constable, Joseph S. Brown, John A. Rowan,
and Conrad Apgar.

Among the early initiates of the lodge were J. H. Branch,
Jolm P. ]~mery, William Ferguson, J. M. Dyer, A. N. Rich,
Courtland Doane, Marshall Girton, Philip Moses, William
Burton, W.. N. Robinson, William Howe, H. G. Leever,
H. G. Wasson, Churles Ford, James Gest, Jasper 'Vasson,
and Erastus Wasson. One hundrcd and twent.y-three memo
bers have belonged, and the present membership is 68,
having as principal officers Arthur Lyon, W. M. i William
Nash, S. W. i J. M. Knight, J. W.; Marshall Girton,
Treas.; Samuel S. Gibson, Sec. i and W. W. Brock, N. P.
Turner, and J. M. Dyer, Trustees. The hall at prcsent
occupied by Emery Lodge was erected in 1871, and cost
complete about $1500. The main room is 30 by 42 feet,
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with appropriate anterooms, the whole presenting a very
attractive appearance.

Since the institution of the lodge the following have been
the Masters and the Secretaries: •

Masters.-1855-58, John 'V. Baen; 1859"':'61, .J. 1\1.
Dyer; 1862, Thomas B. Paxton; 1863-64, J. 1\'1. Dyer;
1865, S. B. Smith; 1866, J. 1\1. Dyer; 1867, M. Girton;
1868, 'V. A. Carmiuhael; 1869, S. B. Smith; 1870-71,
J. 1\1. Dyer; 1872, 1\1. Girton; 1873-75, Aaron Apgar;
1876, 'V. A. Carmichael; 1877, J. 1\'1. Dyer; 1878, 'V.
A. Curmichael; 1879, Arthur Lyon.

Secretaries.-1855-56, G. W. Brown; 1857, 'V. H.
Constable; 1858, H. G. 'Vasson; 1859, John 'V. Baen;
1860, A. Hall; 1861, N. P. Turner; 1862, 'V. A. Car­
michael; 1863, A. A. Leever; 1864, S. B. Smith; 1865,
'V. A. Carmichael; ] 866, A. Hall; 1867-68, J. E. Gray;
1869, T. B. Hich; 1870-71, N. P. Turner; 1872, S. B.
Smith; ]873-74, Daniel Clark; 1875-76, J. M. Dycr;
1877-78, Arthur Lyon; 1879, S. S. Gibson.

EDUCATIO~AL.

The first school-house at Milford was a small log build­
ing which stood at the end of what is usually called" Brick
Row," and Mrs. Cook (the mother of Tom Cook) was the
first teacher. Then came as tcachers an Irishman by the
name of Pool, and a Yankee named Whelock; and years
later old 1\11'. Newton, who came to this place from Cape
May. The second school-house stood on a high hill near
the village, on an aqrc of ground which had been givcn for
a site by Lewis Gatch. It was a beautiful location, but the
ascent was too steep, the pupils very often finding it diffi­
cult to reach the house, which was a comely brick structure.
The third building was also of brick, and stood on the site
of D. K. Harvey's residence until the present edifice was
occupied. A few Jears prior to this schools were taught
in the second story of the Kugler store-building, where
before that time D. 'V. Stevens taught a select school,
which he called the" Milford Seminary." Although not
long maintained, the school was well attended and had a
good reputation.

The ullion school building at Milford stullds on a spacious
lot, embracing a few acres, in the eastern part of the village.
The location is very eligible, and the house, though not
very ornate, is substantial and far from being unattractive.
It contains half a dozen large recitation-rooms and 11 hall,
or assembly-room, which has been appropriately furnished.
The contract to build this house was entered into with
George H. Hermon, of Cincinnati, July 12, 1869, and on
the 1st of March, 1870, the contractor passed the building
over into the hands ,of the board of education. The entire
cost of the property approximates $30,000.

MILFORD UNION SCHOOL

. was organized conformably to a vote of the electors of Mil­
ford district, at an election held Sept. 14, 1867, but ~4 out
of 7u expressing themselves opposed to that system. The
first board of education was chosen thirteen days later, and
was composed of H. Gatch and H. Christopher for one
year; P. Mulham and C. H.. Stuntz fur two years; 'v. H.
Hunt and F. M. Gatch for three years. W. H. Hunt was

chosen as chairman, and a board of examiners appointed,
consisting of C. R. Stuntz, T. J. l\Ielish, and A. Squires.

An enumeration of youth of school age taken that fall
showed 193 male and 152 female children; and the pupils
were placed in charge of William B. Applegate as the first
principal of the schools. The subsequent principals have
been,-1868, J. J. Osborne; 1869, A. C. Ellis; 1870,'
D. 'V. Stevens; 1871-76, George H. Hill; 1877, William
Reeder; 1878-79, W. D. Gibson.

In 1879 the number of pupils enrolled was 206, of
whom 100 were bOJs, forming four schools, which were
taught thirty-seven weeks at a cost of $2215.08.

The board of education was composed ofS. A. West,
President; J. J..... Brunson, Clerk; R. C Belt, Treasurer;
F. 1\1. Gatch; P. Fitzsimmons; and A. J. McGill.

For the YCUI's not named the officers of the board were
as follows:

Presidents -18u8-69, W. H. Hunt; 1870-71, T. J.
Mel ish ; 1872-73, W. H. Hunt; 1874-75, M. D. Con­
rad; 187ti, A. :McGrew; 1877-78, S. A. 'Vest.

Clerl.:s.-1868-71 , John ~I. Gest; 1872-75, J. H.
Searles; 1876-78, Johu L. Brunson.

11·eaSIl1'el's.-1868-77, F. 1\1. Gatch; 1878, R. C. Belt.

THE LOVELAND SCHOOLS.

The movement to organize a special district was made
under the act of April 9, 1867, which authorized the
change of a sub-district, having no less t.han 275 inhabit­
ants, into a separate and independent school district. A
meeting for this purpose was held at Lyceum Hall, March
25, 1870, when James R. Paddock, A. Ramsey: J. M. C.
Ramsey, Wilson Rowan, John Thompson, J. Kaplan, John
Fogelman, Ambrose Allen, and ThomasB. Paxton signed
a call for an election to be held April 5, 1870, to vote for
01' against the provisions of the aforesaid act. The electors
thus convened appointed 1\1. S. Williamson moderator, and
by a unanimous vote of the 28 persons present the special
district was formed. At the same meeting Thomas B.
Paxton, J. R. Paddock, and Ambrose Allen were elected
the first members of the board of education, and organized
as president, clerk, and treasurer iii the order named above.
By the incorporation of the village, in May, 1876, Love­
land became a village district, whose territory, however,
was limited to Clermont County, that part of the village
in Hamilton County being excluded. .The present hand­
some school edifice was begun in the spring of 187~, and
completed the following year at a cost of about $27,000.
It has a commanding location on an eminence in the south­
eastern part of the village, and its attractive architecture
and substantial finish cause it to be generally admired. It
is an honor to the village, and fitly commemorates the en­
terprise and intelligence of its citizens. The house is of
bl:ick, trimmed with native limestone. In it are four
schools under the principalship of O. H. Martin, whose
connection dates from September, 1879, assisted by Heleu
'Villiams (teacher of the grammar school since the district
was formed), Mattie Dugan, and Mattie Pownall. The pupils
number 192, of whom 57 belong to the high school.
Thirty-six weeks of SC11001 were maintained, and the
amount paid for tuition was $2010.
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The first principal of the schools was J. D. Collins, who
remained until 1872, when John Hussey succeeded for a
year. In 1873, Horace Clinton became principal for a
year, and from September, 1874, until September, 1879,
the schools were .in charge of Prof. J. C. Kinney, a very
thorough and successful teacher.

The members of the board of education, since 1870, have
been as follows:

Presidents.-1871, T. B. Paxton; 1872-74, Henry
Crooks; 1875, A. B. Brock; 1876-78, Daniel Clark;
1879, A. B. Brock.

Cle?'1cs.-1871 , J. R. Paddock; ]872-74, A. Allen;
1875-79, George T. Williams.

l1'eas/t1·e1·s.-1871 , Ambrose Allen; 1872-74, M. Kap­
Ian; 1875-79, John Fogelman.

MIAMIVILLE SPECIAL DISTRICT

was created by an act of the General Assembly, passed
April 7, 1876, and on the 5th of May of the same year
the first board of education was chosen as follows: John
Thompson, President; Jasper Newton, Clerk; D. S.
Mitchell, Treasurer, who also served in 1877. In 1878
the board was Jasper Newton, President; D. S. Mitchell,
Clerk; E. B. Thayer, Treasurer; and in 1879 tIle board
was the same except George W. Taft, President. In 1877
a tax of $600 was voted for the purposes of the di~trict;

and on the 21st of April, 1879, the board of education of
:Miami township conveyed the school building, which for­
merly belonged to the Miamiville sub-district, to the newly
formed board of education, and in which the schools are
now taught under the principalship of L. B. Dennis. In
1879 the pupils in attendance were 63, and the amount
paid for their instruction, $516.

-: Besides the foregoing village and special districts, there
were in the township in 1879 ten sub-districts, in which
thirty-one weeks of school were maintained, which were
attended by 50.1, pupils, whose instruction cost the town­
ship $4044.30. The school buildings are generally com­
fortable, and some of them very attractive in their appear­
ance and surroundings. The township board of education
in 1879 was composed of William 'fudor, of No.5, presi­
dent; No.2, C. H. Gatch; No.3, R. R. Kernahan; No.
4, James Johns.ton; No.6, P. B. Hutchinson; No.7, 1\L
Vandervort; No.8, Robert MeVitie ; No.9, A. F. Queal ;
No. 10, S. J. Rybolt; No. 11, J. A. Davis. Much interest
in educa"tion has been taken by the people of the township,
and the schools are generally ably conducted.

To afford an opportunity to obtain a higher education at
home, select schools were taught for short periods at various
places, which met with so much encouragement that it was
believed that an academy could be permanently maintained
in the township. This belief led to the building of

THE MULBERRY SEMINARY

at New Salisbury, by an association formed for this purpose
Sept. 20, 1864, and originally composed of E. W. Leming,
J. C. Davis, D. G. 'Sparks, C. G. McGrue, Alvin M. Mil­
ler, C. P. Harker, William Tudor, and R. B. Leming.
The capital stock was fixed at $6000, in .shares of $75
,each, but which was increased, February, 1866,.to .$30,QOO.

The building had been begun in the fall following the or­
ganization of the company, and was carried on during t.he
ensuing winter at great expense, so that its cost-about
$27,000~exceeded its actual value more' than one-half.
It has never been wholly completed, and the project to
found a seminary here seems to have been an ill-advised
measure throughout, which brought financial distress to
more than one home. In this strait of affairs an i~effectual

attempt was made to obtain relief from the State by form­
ing a company, Jan. 20, 1867, to conduct a school to edu­
cate the children of deceased soldiers and other orphans of
the State. The proposition was not favorably received by
the proper authorities, and the new company, after lan­
guishing a period, also passed out of existence, and the
property. is now in private hands. At present a select
school is there taught by the Rev. W. W. Sawyer, about
30 pupils being in attendance. Other teachers have been
Professors Wells, Patterson, Hopkins, Babbett, and Stewart.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

l\fiami has the honor of havin~ within her bounds the
oldest Methodist society in. the State of Ohio, if not, in­
deed, the tir8t organized in the great Northwe8t; and the
history of the formation of

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH .OF :i\lILFORDl;;

will be rCdd with especial interest by 9hristians of every
creed as the beginning of an epoch when public religious
worship was introduced into what is now Clermont County.
In the summer of 1797 the Rev. Francis McCormick, a
local preacher from Virginia, who had just settled near what
is now Milford, gathered his pioneer neighbors together and
formed them into a class according to the usages of the
Methodist Church. The persons thu:; associated were
Francis l\IcCormick and his wife Rebecca, Philip Hill and
his wife Elizabeth, Joseph Hill and his wife Rose, 1\1.
Johnson and Keziah, his wife, Ezekiel Dimmitt and Phrebe
his wife, John H.amsey and wife, Asel Hitchcock and
his wife Jane, Barbara. Malott, 'William Salter, Jeremiah
Hall, Jane Easter, Esther Matson, and John Mitchell. In
the spring of 1798 this feeble and widely-separated mem­
bership was augmented by accessions, Grace and Lucretia
Garland, Joseph Avey and wife, and Jacob Teal and his
wife becoming members; and in the fall of the sam~ year
the number was still further increased by the coming of
the Hev. Philip Gatch and his wife Elizabeth, and their
daughters, Presocia and Martha,. and Ambrose Ranson and
his wife ~ancy. It will be seen that the church was
founded and in early years nurtured by local preachers, who
here, as well as in most other places, did the pioneer work,
and many souls were added to the church as the result of
their labors. In the latter part of 1798 the Rev. John
Kobler came as the missionary of the old Kentucky Con- .
ference, and preached to the Methodists in this part of Ohio,
preparatory to the formation of a regular circuit. ~e vis­
ited Milford, and his preaching greatly strengthened the
church. In the spring of 1799, Miami Circuit of the
Kentucky Conference was ftjrmed, embracing all the country

ii, From a. sketch by the Rev. S. Bennett.
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.Miflll/i Uircl/it.

Uillci/lll<lti Cirt'llit.

Miami Circuit.

1802, Elisha W. Bowman; 1803, John Sale, Joseph Oglesby.

Jlilfol'cl 8t,,'ioll.

1860, J. F. Wright, (jeorge Gatch; 1861, .r. F. Spence, A. B. Wom­
baugh; 181i2-Ii:l, Lucien Clllrk; IS64, G. W. Kelley; 1865, J. F.
Wright; 1866, W. G. Shannon; 1867-68, Joseph M. Gath; 1869
-70, William ltunyan; 1871, D,lvid Warnock; 1872-73, W. B.
Moler; IS74, T. J. Evans; 1875, T. D. W. Peakc; 1876, J. P.
Shults; 18n, It. K. Deem; 1878-79, S. Bennett.

Little Mi"l/Ii Ci,·clIit.

1812, Samuel Helms; 1813, William Burke, Ebenezer David; 1814,
Joseph Oglesby, John Waterman; 1815, Alexander Cummins,
Russell Bigelow; 1816, Abbott Goddard, W. F. Finley.

ltlilf01'cl Circuit.

1817, David Sharp; 1818, Samuel Brown; 1819, Burroughs Westlake,
Horace Brown; 1820, John C. Brooks, Thomas L. Hitt; 1821,
Benjamin Lawrence, Nathan Walker; 1822, John Strange,
James T. Wlllls; 1823, Samuel Baker, James Smith; 1824,
William J. Thompson, Robert O. Spencer; 1825,A. W. Elliott,
Robert W. Finley; 1826, A. W. Elliott, E. H. Field; 1827, An­
drew S. McLain, George Gatch; 1828, Levi White, D. D. David­
son; 182!J, William Simmons, D. D. Davidson; 1830, William
Simmons, T. D. Allen; 1831, Burroughs We~tlake, T. D. Allen;
1832, J. A. Bllughman, E. A. Zimmerman; ]833, J. A. Baugh­
man, R. Graham, F. A. Simmons; 18:34, J. C. Hunter, J. Bru­
naugh; IS~5, J. C. Hunter, W. B. Ross; ]836, G. W. Maley,
Allen D. Beusley; 1837, G. W. Milley, Adum l\Iiller, J. W. Stone;
1838, George C. Crume, Joseph Hill; 1839, E. B. Chase, E. D.
Rowc; 1840, E. B. Chase, Andrew Carroll; 1841, William II.
Fyffe, Moses Smith; 1842, Willium II. Fyffe, Isaac Ebbert;
1843, S. F. Conrey, John Barton; 1844-45, W. I. Ellsworth,
Levi White; 1846, T. W. Chandler, J. A. Bruner; ]847, Joseph
Gatch, II. S. Selman; 1848, Asa B. Stroud, Enoch G. West;
184!J, Williltm S. Morrow, T. S. Cowden; 1850, William S. Mor­
row, S. Bennctt; 1851, G. C. Townley, J. F. Marley; 1852, James
Laws, J. W. Casmtt; ]853, William Routledge, W. J. Thurber;
1854, WiIlillm Routledge, .J. M. Rot.in~on; ]855, A. l\I. J,orain,
John Fitch; 1856, A. W. Bllell, T. A. G. Phillips; 1857-58, Levi
P. Miller, J. II. Herron; 1859, N. Callender, .J. P. Waterhouse.

In all 127 ministers have served the church as regular
appointees, and of these only about 30 remain in the land
of the living, many of whom" brush the dews at Jordan's
strcam, knowing that the crossing must be near."

For the first twenty years in the history of the church
its meetings were held in the pioneers' humble cabins, and
in the beautiful groves, fitly called" God's first temples."
Though the places of worship were lowly a cloud of glory
rested over them, and the blessing'of Obed Edom was upon
the household where assembled the devoted pioncer fathers
and mothers in Israel. But the time came when a conse­
crated sanctuary was dcemed essential to the permanency of
religious housekeeping. The necessity was recognized at
Milford, and a house of worship provided in 1818. In
February of that year a board of trustees was elected, com­
posed of' Philip Gatch, Andrew McGrew, William Salters,
William McMains, James Saunders, Henry Stroman, and
Aaron Matson, who built a frame meeting-house of' such
staunch timber that it remains to this day to attest the
faithful workmanship of'those employed upon it. The sub­
s~ription-list shows that" all the people gave gladly," and
the liberality of some was truly commendable. For sixteen
years it was, indeed, a spiritual home of the society, whose
prosperity and increasing numbers demanded a larger church
building. Agnill the necessity was recognized, and the
work of' meeting the demand was vigorously prosecuted in
1834 and the two years following. When this new temple
was conseorated, on Christmas-day, 1836, it was regarded

Thomas A. :Morrill.
L. Swol·mstedt.
Wm. ll. Chrilltie.
W. 11. Raper.
M. Markley.
J. M. Trimble.
J. l!'. Wright.
Wm. Herr.
Wm. Young.
J. W. Fowble.
J. M. Walden.
L. F. Van Clc\·e.
J. F. Chalfant.
W. L. Hypes.
A. B. Leonard.

G. n. Jones.
J. B. Finley.

., "

SolulIlon Langdon.
SlImuel Parker.
Jobn Sale.
Moses Crume.
John Sale.
J. ll. Finley.
John Collins.

" "

l'rcsillillg E1l1cl'l!.

Wm. McKendree.
Wm. llurke.
Johu SILle.

.1

II

Nam('~ of Districts.

1800-2 .•.••••••..Kenlueky.
l:iU:.l-4 0bio.
]::IU;,-; ..
1808-!J Miluni.
1810-12......... ..
181:!.............. "
1814-15......... "
lllI6-17......... "
]818 H

1::11lJ-22 Lebanon.
182:.1.............. "
1824-26 Mia.mi.
182i-::I0......... ••
18:U "
18:l2 Cincinnati.
lll:!:.1 .
18:H-:!5 ..
1836-::19 .
1840-42 .
1843-46 ..
1847-50 East Cincinnati.
1851-54......... "
1855-5S......... H

1~5U-62......... "
]86:.1-66 .
18(j7 .
1868-·7U .
]871-74 .
1875-78 ..
18711 .

1806; Benjamin Lakin, John Collins; 18U7, Samuel Purker, Hector
Sunford.

along the Miamis as far north as the settlements extended.
Rev. Henry Smith was assigned to this charge, and several
times during the year visited Milford, as possibly did some
other ministers who were associated with him irr traveling
his extensive circuit, although not regular appointees of the
Conference.

In 1800 the name of the Kentucky Conference was
changed to the Western Confercnce, in ordcr to be more in
harmony with the extending field of Methodist work j and
Milford bclonged to that Conference until 1813, whcn it
became a part of the Ohio Conference, the former Confer­
ence having been divided the year before (May 1, 1812)
into that and the Tennessee Conference. The first session
of the Ohio Conference was held at Chillicothe, Nov. 1,
1812, and for forty years its preachers annually assembled.
" The once young had grown old in it. Thc elder ones had
fallen in the service, or, worn out with toil and age, had
been called to their reward." The vigorous growth of
Methodism required its territorial division, and in May,
1852, the present Cincinnati Conference was formcd, and
Milford has ever since beclI under its jurisdiction j while
being subject to the peculiar sJstem of church polity, the
church has sustaincd lIumerous district and circuit relations.
These changcs and the ministerial scrvice of Milford and,
for many years, of Miami township are concisely shown
below.

PREACHERS IN CHARGE OF CIRCUITS.

Scioto aud Miami Circuit.

1800, Henry Smith; 1801, Benjamin Young and Elishli W. Bow~an.

1808, William Houston, John Sineillir; 1809, Solomon Langdon,
Moses Crumc; 18 LO, BenjlLluin Lakin; William Young; 1811,
William Burke, John Strange.

Mi<ll/li <l/lll j-[I/cl River Cirel/it.

. IS04, John Meek, AbmhaUl Amon; 1805, llenjaUlin Lakin, Joshua
Reggin.
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as quite a superiOr edifice, and well served its purpose
thirty-four years. The lapse of such a period of time had
given it an old and dingy appearance, while its capacity was
often overtaxed to accommodate the throng which assem­
bled t.o listen to the gospel message. 'With commendable
zeal, the pastor, the Rev. William Runyan,· set about se­
curing the funds, in 1870, to remodel the church edifice,
and prosecuted the .work to a successful issue, givin~ the
society its present spacious sanctuary, with Sunday-school
and class-rooms equal to all the existing needs of the
church. To consummate this object the trustees heartily
co-operated, and it is but propcr that their names should be
given in this connection. They were C. R. Stuntz, E. B.
Townsend, F. 1\1. Mears, F. 1\1. Gatch, A. H. Matson, \V.
E. Mears, J. M. Gest, and A. H. Brower.

The society has been quick to act when a demand was
made. upon it, either for aid to disseminate the gospel
abroad, or to extend its own work at home, but has several
times been embarrassed by unwieldy church debts, whose
existence impaired its usefulness. Through the efforts of
the Rev. Lucien Clark, in 1863, a debt which bad been
banging over the church more than a quarter of a century
was liquidated, amid unfeigned demonstrations of gladness
that the irksome load had been removed. And but re­
cently, through equally untiring efforts, the pastor, the Rev.
Silas Bennett, was enabled to make the glad announcement
that the church" owes no man anything," leaving it free to
pursue its great work of usefulness. What has already
been done by this pioneer church it is impossible even to
estimate. Through its influence, radiating throughout the
entire county, thousands have been brought to a saving
knowledge of Christ, and hundreds have been nurtured in
the fllith of the Redeemer of mankind within its own
walls.

In 1879 there were 150 members and the followin~ offi­
cers: Trustees, A. H. Matson, C. L. Greeno, P. S. Gatch,
F. M. Gatch, J. M. Gest, Ephraim Hill, and J. B. 'Val­
lace.

A flourishing Sunday-school has for many years been
maintained by the church, the present superintendent being
C. L. Greeno.

With hardly an exception, the Methodist ch urches of
Miami had the same ministerial service' as the church at
Milford until it became a station. Since toat time (1860)
the Methodists of Perin's Mills only have been supplied
from that source, and are practically a part of the station.
The meeting-house which is occupied by the Methodists at
that place was built in 1834 by Samuel Perin, for the use
of all religious denominations, and bas been occupied by
Presbyterians, Baptists, and other persuasions, whose or­
ganizations, never very strong, have long since been allowed
.to go down. The Methodists then came into possession of
the house and have since exercised ownership. Recent
repairs have placed the house in fuir condition.

THE CEN'fENAltY Ml!J'rHODIST EPISCOPAL CHUlWII AT
Nl!JWBERRY.

Before 1810, Joseph Harvey was the leader of a class of
Methodists in this locality, which had among its members
Ambrose Ranson, R. Frazier, J. Cotteral, James. Huddles~
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ton, John Long, and Frederick Long, the latter an active
local preacher. In 1817 a small frame meeting-house was
erected in the upper part of the hamlet of Newberry,
Ezekiel Leming, John Leming, Ambrose 'Ranson, Fred­
erick Long, and Joseph A. Cotteral being the trustees.
This was ,the place of worship until 1839, when the pre1'lent
church building was commenced, but was not completed
for dedication until 1841. It was consecrated by the Rev.
'William· H. Raper. The house was built of brick, 34 by
50 feet, with an end-gallery which has siDce been removed j

and in 1873 the building was otherwise changed and
placed in its present comfortable condition. It stands on a
lot which was donated by Ezekiel Leming, and about 50
members occupy it for stated worship. There is also a good
Sunday-school, which has Stephen Itybolt for superin­
tendent. Since being set off from Milford the appointed
ministers of Centenary Church have been as follows: 1861,

, Revs. Merrick and Stevenson; 1862-63, Revs. Rutledge
and Black; 1864-66, Reys. J. C. Maddy, James 'Murray,
and -,-Mendenhall; 1867-68, Revs. Wesley Webster and
Levi Miller j 1869-70, Rev. Elisha C. Smith; 1871-72,
Rev. J. L. Gregg j 1873, Rev. C. T. Crume; 1874-75, Rev.
S. N. Marsh j 1876-77, Rev. William Mcl\Iullen; 1878,
Rev. Fletcher Hypes; 1879, Rev. J. J. Hill. Revs. B. F.
Garland and H. W. Leever are local preachers.

PLEASANT HILL METHODIS'r EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Some time about 1820, Conduce G~tch was appointed
the leader of a class of Methodists in this ~eighborhood,

which was tributary to the Newberry Church; and until
the present meeting-house was provided, preaching in the
locality was held at private llOuses or at the sehoo~-house.

Some ten years ago George S. Gatch set aside a lot of
ground on which was erected a frame church of moderate
proportions, costing $1500, which is at p'resent in charge
of trustees Andrew Gatch, Thomas Cotteral, Charles H.
Gatch, George S. Gatch, Benjamin F. Garland, George C.
Garland, and Joseph Gest. To these families also be­
longed the original members. The present membership is
served by the ministers of Centenary Circuit.

THE CONCORD METIIODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH,

located several miles northeast from Miamiville, was built
in 1837, on a lot of ground secured from George Fitzwater.
It is a plain brick house, but in its day afforded a c~mfort­
able place of worship, and is yet used with considerable
regularity as a preaching-place, ~lthough not regarded as an
appointment by Conference., The first Mcthodist society
in these parts was formed at the house of John Ramsey,
near Loveland village; and at his place and at the house of
F. Motsinger regular preaching was held, at the latter place
for sixteen years preceding the building of the Concord
church. Very often the services were conducted, under
the direction of the ministers of Milford Circuit, by local
preachers. The Revs. Frederick Long, Jeremiah Price,
and Samuel Hill, though plain men, living in the north­
western part of the county, labored here not in vain, but did
much to strengthe.n Zion. The church prospered, having
at one time aconsidera}:>le lpempership Ii'om the Motsinger,
Hutchinson, Collins, Behymer, Leever, and other old fam-
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ilies of' this part of the township; but the building up of
the villages along the railroad has encroached so much on
the interests of the society that it is practically left without
much vitality.

LOVELAND ~IETHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH,

as a distinct society, was organized about 1858, in the
old school-house, and had among its principal members
'Villiam Ramsey, John P. Emery, Robert Hill, and John
M. Dyer, and in most instances their filmilies. The school­
house continued to be the preaching-place until the Pres­
byterian church was erected: when for a time the mectings
were held in that house. In 1868 the society secured its
own church edifice, which has since been occupied, and
which in '1879 was under the trusteeship of John ~I. Dyer,
Albert Redding, D. B. Cox, Aaron Apgar, and H. L.
Wheeler. The members worshiping hcre number 80, and
]lave for their pastol' the Rev. Valorous M. Brown. His
immediate predecessors were the Revs. C. H. Zimmerman,
1\1. M. Kugler, 'V. H. Miesse, and, later back, the minis­
ters of Centenary and Goshen Circuits.

An excellent Sunday-school is maintained, under the
superintendency of O. H. Martin. In 1879 it had 100
members.

LOVELAND PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

was organized May 4, 1854, by the Hevs. S. Gazlcy and
A. R. Naylor and Elder Roger Hannaford, of the follow­
ing persons: Mathew Ferguson (ruling elder); Ann
Ferguson, his wife; Eliza Ferguson, their daughter; and
Mrs. Sarah Ramsey. On the 28th of May the church had
its first observance of the Lord's Supper, when two more
persons became membcrs,-Thomas and Jane Mitchell.
With the exception of one more addition, these six consti­
tuted the membership the first year of the existence of the
church,-a day of small things, truly.

In the fall of 1854 the Rev. J. Caldwell began preaching
to the congregation, which held its meetings in the old
school-house at first, but soon found a home in a hall in the
De Golyer house, which was used as a place of worship
until the present church edifice was erected in 1859. The
building committee were James V. Cushing, James Gat~hell,

and 'William Ferguson, and the architect and builder was
·William Kyte, who was the chief instrument in carrying
out the measures which gave the society its fine sanctuary.

On the 22d of November, 1856, Harvey Kerr was or­
dained as another ruling elder; and on the 8th of August,
1862, Dr. John S. Law, James Turner, and Dr. 'Villiunl
A. Carmichael were ordained as additional elders, •the
latter yet serving in that capacity. His associates in that
office are Miles Johnson, David T. Robb, and Dr. Criley.
Other elders have been R. D. Kinney, Mathew Cushing,
and Elihu Fallis. The present deacons are A. B. Brock,

.J. E. Thompson, and Dr. L. W. Bishop.
The Rev. J. Caldwell continued as the stated supply of

the church three years, leaving, at his removal, 38 mem­
bers. The Rev. J. D. Shane next supplied t,he church for
a year, and had six additions. He was followed by the
Rev. Thomas M. Chestnut,and at the end'of the year the
latter reported four additions by confession and six by

letter. 'fhe Rev. J. C. Mitchell succeeded him, and
through his efforts the church was relieved from a heavy
debt. In 1865 he was followed by the Rev. David Kin­
gery, who instituted morning and evening services, up to
that time but C!.ne meeting per day having been held. His
connection with the church was continued three years; and
after his departure a new Presbyterian Church was organ­
ized by 16 members from the mother-church, as the result
of differences of opinion on church polity. 'fhe mother­
church secured the ministerial services of the Rev. W. J.
Surely, of the United Presbyterian Church, and the new
church depended on weekly supplies from the new-school
church. This state of affairs continued about eighteen
months, during which time both societies occupied the
meeting-house on alternate Sabbaths as a place of worship.
After the union of the different Presbyterian schools, the
two congregations at Loveland buried their past differences
and most heartily united their interests, 1\lay 4, 1870. The
church has since that. time had a harmonious existence.

On the ~9th of 1\1ay, 1870, the Rev. Henry A. Rossiter
began preaching to the congregation, :md, having received
a unanimous call to become pastor, was installed Sept. 21,
1870. Under his labors, in 1876, the church enjoyed a
precious season of reviving, and on the first Sabbath in
March, 1876, 48 names were added to the church-rolls.
1\11'. Rossiter left the pastorate of the church in the fall of
1878, when the pulr>it was supplied about six months by
visiting clergymen; but in May, 1879, the Rev. John B.
'Vorrell became the pastor and still continues that relation.

The membership of the church is about 150, and the
influence of this religious body has been promotive of a
great amount of good in Loveland and the surrounding
country.

THE RO:\IAN CATHOLIC CHURCH AT MILFORD.

It appears that about 1840 several Catholic families set­
tled at Milford, being attracted thither by the vigorous in­
dustry of John Kugler. Later on, when the Little Miami
Railroad was built, more families came, and the nucleus of
a Catholic Church was at hand. ;At intervals a priest vis­
ited these families and said mass at the house of one or the
other of these· Catholics, all the Catholics for miles around
attending; and later mass was celebrated in the depot
building of the Little Miami Railroad. The place was
visited by priests until 1855, since when Milford has had
resident priests.

The visiting priests were the Rev. Fathers O'Farrell,
Blake, Cheymore, Lewis Vararron, McMahon, and O'Don­
oghue.

The resident priests have been: 1855-57, the Rev.
Philip Foley; 1857-59, the Rev. Peter Perry; 1859-68,
the Rev. J. B. O'Donoghue; 1868, four months, the Rev.
F. Hallon; 1869-73, the Rev. H. Anderson; 1873 to
April, 1876, the Rev. William O'Rourke; and since that
period, the Rev. J. B. Kayser.

After the congregation became large enough to wal'rant
such a measure, a building on Main Street was secured, in
which the meetings were held until 1864. That year the
provisionary church was abandoned and the present "St.
Andrew's Church" occupied. It is a frame edifice, on a
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lligh basement of stone, 40 by 60 feet, with a well-propor­
tioned steeple, and cost about $5000, exclusive of some
liberal donations. Adjoining is a fine and well-furnished
priest's house. Both are maintained 'by 58 pew-llOlders,
composing the contributing element of St. Andrew's con­
gregfltion.

St. Andrew's Cemetery was opened in 1866, about a
mile south of Milford. The location is ona high tract of
ground, having a gravel sub-soil, which affords excellent
drainage. Sixty lots havc been conveyed to the Catholics
of Milford and the surrounding country, and the cemetery
shows some good improvements.

THE ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH AT LOVELAND

dates its beginning from the building of the Little Miami
Railroad, and the priests who visited Milford also came to
this locality and said mass at private houses j but in 1862
the old framc school-house was purchased, and having been
fitted up is used fl}r church purposes. The church is served
by priests from Milford, forming a part of that parish, and
the congregation numbers 45 contributing and 18 noD-con­
tributing families, and is in a growing condition.

TIlE CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF NEWBERRY.

This body of Christians (Disciples) was or~anized in
1838, by the Hev. Walter Scott, among the early members
being Francis Shumard, Jonathan Elstun, Hachel Kellogg,
Rebecca Griffin, Clark Shumard, Abraham Bell, Louise
Bell, Thomas Brown, David Griffith, and a few others.
The first meetings were held a~ the house of Isaac Elstun,
and later in barns,· school-houses, and in the old Union
church. In 1841 the meeting-house at Newberry was
built, chiefly under the direction of David Smysor and
Hiram South. Subsequent repairs have placed it in its
present condition. The present trustees are Hiram South,
Joseph Brown, and George Smysor.

The first elders of the church were Francis Shumard and
David Smysor; the present elders are Oliver Shumard,·
'.rhomas South, and Lewis Smith. The congregation has
more than a hundred members, and Hiram South· is the
church clerk. The Rev. David Thompson was the first
regular minister of the church, and the.present is the Rev.
J. 1. West. Other ministers have been William and
Thomas Pinkerton, William Howe, Dnd numerous travel­
ing preachers or visiting elders. Daniel Manning is the
superintendent of the Sunday-school.

THE CHRISTIA~ CHURCH AT MIAMIYILT,E

was organized Feb. 6, 1854, by Elder Thomas Brandon.
There were fourtecn members, belonging to thc Robinson,
Elliott, Abbott, Buckillgham, and IIulllphreys families.
The first officers were 1\loses F. Robinson, Samuel Hum­
phreys, and Robert Abbott, 'l'rustees; ·Wm. N. Robinson,
Trcasurcr j and John Elliott, Clerk.

Elder Thomas Brandon was the first minister of the
church j but, ill 1855, was succeeded by A. M. Soule. The
subsequent ministers have been J. T. J.Jynn, J. Ellis,
'fhomlls Br~ndon, N. Dawson, Sister Timmons, and, at
present, E. W. Humpl~reYB. The officers of the church

are A. Thompson, S. ·Ware, and J. Newton, Trustees; S.
'Vare, Treasurer; and Silas Warbington, Clerk.

The church has never been very vigorous, and at present
reports but 20 members. At Miamiville' an Episcopal
Sabbath-school is held in the public-school building, with
E. B. Thayer, superintendent.

The Union church in the Tudor neighborhood was built
about 1820 of wood, but was never wholly completed be­
fore it was displaced by a house which was erected by the
joint efforts of Presbyterians and Baptists, the latter having •
an organized society here which embraced members belong­
ing to the Hixon, Elstun, Covalt, and Brown families. It
became extinct many years ago. The second house ·was of
brick, and yet remains, being owned by the school board
of Miami township. The Presbyterians, Christians, and
other persua~ions held meetings at this house in times gone
by, which were often attended with much interest.

A short distance from Newberry is a locality known. as
" Happy Hollow," whirll is densely iuhabited by' colored
people,who settled thcre during the late war. They main­
tain Methodist and Baptist churches in two small frame
buildings, and both societies seem to be in a flourishing
condition.

At West Milford, in Hamilton County, is St. Thomas'
Episcopal Church, under the rectorship of the Rev. T. J.
MeHsh, which maintains a small chapel, on the Clermont
side, for worship, in conncction with its regular church
work; and at the former place is als~ a Baptist church,
which is attended by members residing at Milford.

A short distance above Branch Hill are the Cincinnati
camp-meeting grounds, owned and controlled by an asso­
ciation in that city. They embrace a number of acres of·
beautiful woodland, delightfully situated on an eminence of
easy ascent, overlooking the Little MiaJl}i River, and within
a few hundred yards of the Little Miami Railroad, on which
is a special station. The grounds are highly improved,
and the meetings are occasions of great interest.

~.t

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHE&

SAMUEL PERIN.

The name of Perin is of English origin, as the family
is of extraction, and the latter comes of an honorable lin­
eage in England, and occupies a prominent position in the
annals of New England, whcre ,at an early period several
members of the family settled; and their history.is closely
interwovcn with colonial times and the subsequent Rcvo.,.
lutionary struggle. Three-quarters of a century ago there
emigrated to Clcrmont County Samuel Perin, one ,of the
Ulost remarkable men of those early days,-a Ulan whose
business sagacity, indomitable enel'gy, and unimpeachable
integrity of character madc him a marked personage of' his
time, and the impress of his life-a long and cventful one
-was fclt for threescore years in Sout.hcrn Ohio, and will
continue to be for generations yet to come; and the Ulemory
of this man, so eminent in the business, civil, military, and
political history of the county, is gratefully rcvered)n the
·hearts of the peo~le.
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Lemuel Perin, the father of the subject of this sketch,
was the son of Jesse and Rachel Perin, and was born in
Massachusetts on Oct. 21, 1749, and married for the first
time, in the old Bay State, Martha Nash, a daughter of
Simeon and Martha Nash. She was born March 3, 1749,
coming of a good f.'lmily, strongly attached to the side of
the colonists in their struggle with the mother-country.
Their children were John Perin, Rachel, Lucy, Hannah,

.. Samuel, born Feb. 23, 1785, and Patty. IJemuel Perin
was married the second time to Amelia Dickinson, by whom
he had three children,-J.Jemuel and Glo\·er (twills) and
Amelia.

Lemuel Perin served in the patriot army in the Revo­
lutionary war against the British armies and aggressions,
and came to Ohio after his son Samuel had removed here,
and died Oct. 23, 1814, agcd sixty-five years and three
days.

Samuel Perin was married in New York State on Sept.
10, 1804, to Mary Simkins, a daughter of Ephraim Sim­
kins, born Sept. 26, 1787. In the year 1805 he emigrated
to Ohio and located in Clermont, first stopping with Dr.
Richard Allison, who lived at the present site of East
Liberty, where he was operating a large grist- and saw­
mill. 1\Ir. Perin in his moving from the East had met
with an accident to olle of his limbs, and stopping with
the doctor was carefully attended by him and nicely re­
stored to his wonted strengt.h. Mr. Perin being a thorough
and practical millwright, a very important avocation in old
times, in payment of the doctor·s kind offices overhauled
the stones and machinery of his mill, reset them, and
worked for him for some time. He finally located on the
Stonclic~, where, Jan~ 11, 1810, he purchased of Gen.
James Taylor, of ~ewport, Ky., 50 acres of land adjoining
that of Jes.'le Glaneyand Robert Dunn, and ill 1815 he
bought GO acres of Ignatius Knott.

Before these purchases he had been in the war of 1812,
and served a 'year or more as cnptain of a company, of
which William Glancy was first lieutenant, in the North­
west against the British and their Indian allies, and par­
ticipated in several battles alld many minor engagements,
in which he nobly sustained the gallant bravery of his
proud Revolutionary family.

About the year 1815 he located at what is now the his­
torical village of Perin's Mills, and that year erected the
saw-mill, and a year or two later the grist-mill, to whieh he
wade the first addition in 1821 and the third in 1831.
The old Cincinnati and Chillicothe road ran at the foot of
the hill, but through his influence it was changed to the
meanderings of the East l!'ork, passing by his mills, wilich
soon became the chief ones of Clermont. In 1825 and
1826 he erected his distillery, with old·fashioned copper

. still and hand-made mashes, which was located back at the
foot of the hill, where the ruins are plainly discernible,

. and give ample proof' of the business and bustle that cen­
tered there in days long by. Perin's Mills was for twenty­
five years the principal commercial mart of Clermont, and
the great market for wheat, COl'll, barley, I'ye, hogs, and
produce generally of' an extensive region of country, em­
bracing, besides the upper part of "Clermont, portions of
p'roWll, Cljnlo'l, Wa1'1·en, and Humilton Counties. In ad-

dition to his distillery and wills, Samuel Perin kept the
largest store in Clermoht, buying his dry goods in New
York and Philadelphia, and his groceries in New Orleans,
-the latter, in exchange for his mill and distillery pro­
ducts, were transported on his own flat-boats, which re­
turned with groceries,-and the large retinue of clerks
employed by him in the wholesale and retail branches of
his business, together with the multiform character of the
goods and commodities sold and the varied trade and
barter in exchange, has ·never since been equaled in Cler­
mont County. He also had branch stores at Milford and
Fayetteville.

In 1824, Samuel Perin bought some land of Ephraim
Simkins, in 1823 seventeen and a half acres from Lewis
Martin, and in 1826 twenty-nine and three·fifths acres from
the same party. In 1825 he was elected a county commis­
sioner; re-elected in 1828 and resigned in 1830, having
served five years with James Blackburn, John Bog~ess

(many years State senator and county surveyor), and David
White as his colleagues. 'Vhile commissioner the court­
house was erected, and he was the committee of one ap­
pointed by the board to procure the draught for its con­
struction, and to Mm are its acoustic powers, its solidity
of structure, and its final completion more due than to any
other citizen of the county. On his resignation, Zebina
'Villiams was nppointed to fill his place, and in the same
year (1830) he was elected a representative from Cler­
mont to the Twenty-ninth General Assembly of Ohio, of
which John M. Bell, of Guernsey County, was speaker, and
John L. Green (now Common Pleas Judge in Columbus)
was clerk. His colleague from this county was John Shaw,
and those from Hamilton were Daniel Stone: Samuel Rces,
and Leonard Armstrong. He declined a re-election, owing
to the pressing necessities of his increasing business, whose
cares now demanded all his attention and time. While in
the Legislature he took a very prominent part in its delibera­
tions, and the journals of its proceedings show him to have
exercised great influence. The General Assembly, of which
he was a leading member, was a long time occupied in the
choice of a United States Senat~r, which finally fell to
Hon. Thomas Ewing, elected by one majority over Micajah
T. Williams. To him is due the charter, organization, and
building of the Chillicothe and Milford turnpike, that
great avenue and artery through the county that more than
any other road in its territory led to its development and
prosperity. 1\11'. Perin's distillery wus operated up to within
a few months of 1853, when it burned down and was never
rebuilt, and the grist-mill, that fine old-style building of
five stories frame and quaint architecture, stood doing its
dut.y until 1862, when it succumbed to the dreaded element
of' conflagration. No longer in Perin's Mills resound the
busy huUl of the old distillery, the older mills, the· store
patronized by customers from twenty and thirty miles, the
cooper-shops, the stirring wagon-makers" factories, and
other kindred industries that once made it the trading
and business emporium of the county. The time came
when the master-mind of its creation,-when the man who
was the great centre of its business lire,-through the muta­
tions of trade and the vicissitudes of fortune, met wit.h
reverses j but the unanimous acclaim of history and of those
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surviving his day and time is that while Samuel Perin
finally met with ill fate and reverses, his word, his honor,
Ilis integrity, and his character, both as a business man
and a whole-souled man of a warm heart and broad hu­
manity, Wel'e never, under any circumstan\Jes, called in
question, but ever stood forth in bright colors of honor
and fidelity, Samuel Perin, by his wife Mary (Simkins),
had the following children: Darius, born June 25, 1805 j

Ira, October 13, 1807 j Harvey, Jan. 11, 1809 j Lemuel,
Feb. 23, 1811 j Rhoda, May 28, 1814 j Martha, Feb. 10,
1817 j John, June 22, 1819 j Oliver, Dec. 24, 1821 j

Glover, Nov. 7, 1823 j and Lyman C., March 6, 1826.
All these, save I...emuel, who died in his third year and
John ill his seventh year, were at horne at the old family
homestead Jan. 24, 1847, the first time since 1837. Of
the ten children of' Samuel Perin, who all achieved promi­
nent. stations in life, the most widely known is Oliver Perin,
of Cincinnati, a man of afHuence, and whose business char­
acter anJ reputation stand deservedly high, He inherited
in every particular the enterprise of his father and profited
by his tuition and experience, and has followed the same
diversified business that engaged his father's life, only upon
a larger scule, owing to the changes of time and place. The
architect of' his own fortune, made by hi~ resolute will and
extraordinary business tact, he has won in the banking,
manufacturin~, and commercial ch"Cles of Cincinnati the
highest standing. Samuel Perin was a Universalist in his
belief, and a Illan of' humanity in its best and broadest
estate. Hi8 wife, 1\1ary Perin, died Dec. 7, 1851, and he
passed away from earth April 3, 1865, aged eighty-one
years, one month, and eleven days. In his long life in the
county of Clermont h~ lived to see wonderful changes in
the transforming of the unbroken wilderness int~ produc­
tive filrms and thriving towns, and in the introduction of
varied machinery to supplant the old-time mills and distil­
lery which, under his fostering care. and active mind, were
fi,r many years the most noted and flourishing in Southern
Ohio.

DR. P. B. GATCH.

Before the sun of civilization shone upon these moun­
tains and vales, or over these prairies and rivers, the herald
of the cross, with his messages of love and mercy, was seen
wending his course to the desolate haunts of the Indian
amid the wilderness. One of thel$e ambassadors of the
Lord was Rev. Philip Gatch, who spran~ from an ·illustrious
lineage, and founded in Clermont a house inseparaLly con­
nected with the honor and progress of the county, and
honorably identified with the State's and nation's history in
furnishing legislators, professional men of distinction,
divines of national reputation, jurists of renown, business
men of repute, and farmers unsurpassed in thrift and
energy. Hev. Philip Gatch was born near Baltimore, Md.,
March 2, 1751, and was of' Quaker ancestr~r. He was
converted when young, united with the Methodist.Church,
entered the ministry, and attended the first Conference
held in Philadelphia, in 1773; received his appointment,
and subsequently traveled in New Jersey, Delaware, 1\lary­
land) and Virginia, preaching with extraordinary success.

In 1798 he removed to the Little Miami Valley, and settled
on what is now the site of the beautiful town of Milford,
and there in that year regularly established the first church
(Methodist) in Clermont County. He never re-entered
the ministry, but preached locally. He was a member of
the Convention, in 1802, that formed the first Constitution
of Ohio, and in 1803 was electcd by the General Assembly
one of the Clermont associate judges of the Common Pleas
Court, 're-elected again in 1810, and again in 1817, and
served with ability and dignity on the bench twenty-one
years,

On Dec. 28, 1835, full of honors and love of humanity,
this noble Christian pioneer died, lamented and revered by
all. Of the five sons born to Philip and his wife, Eliza­
beth Gatch,-to wit: Conduce, Thomas, Lewis, Philip, Jr.,
and George,-one, Thomas, was the father of the subject of
this sketch. Gen. ').'homas Gatch was a representative
of Clermont in the Twenty-third, 'l'wenty-fourth, Twenty­
fifth, and Twenty-sixth General Assemblies of Ohio, from
1824 to 1828, and was a populal' man and citizen not only
in the county but thr~ughout the State. He was the first
time married on April 19, 1814, by Rev. William Burke,
to Sarah Barber, by which union was born Dr. PhiUp B.
Gatch, Nov. 1G, 1820. The doctor was married Oct. 17,
1855, by Rev. John F. 'Vl:ight, to Elizabeth L. Drake.
She was born Oct. 29, 1834, and was· the dau~hter of
Josiah and Cathcriue Drake, a granddaughter of :Matt~ias

Kugler, and a great-granddaughter of Christian 'Valdsmith,
the pioneer miller of the Little .Miami Valley. Dr. Philip
B. Gatch studied medicine, became eminent in his profes­
sion, and practiced for a long period, residing at Milford.
As indicative of his standing as a man and a doctor, we
give item second of the will of Rebecca J. E. Townsend,
formerly the wife of the late John Kugler, made in 1871 :
" I give and bequeath to my good, kind, and attcntive phy­
sician, Dr. P. B. Gatch, the sum of five thousand dollars."
The doctor now resides on his fine homestead, situated on
the Goshen turnpike, a mile and a half from Milford, to
which he removed some two years ago. On this pike, ex­
tending out three miles from Milford, the eye is delighted
with the rich and extensive landscape j and here arid there
are spacious farms, wide fields and broad meadows, orchards
and groves, and nestling in sequestered sites, amid trees of
varied foliage and shrubbery of all hues, are elegant resi­
dences, which mark the tal$te and affiuent circumstances of
their proprietors. The home of Dr. Gatch is one of the most
beautiful in the county, and. h~re" with his pleasant family,'
he lives in comfort and plenty, but continues to discharge
the duties of his profession, in which he is one of the most
prominent and skillful practitioners in. Southern Ohio. The
doctor was educated at Augusta (Kentucky) College, and
studied medicine at the Ohio Medical College of Cincinnati,
from which he graduated in 1\1arch, 18·1:7, with the degree of
l\f.D~ The following year he attended a course of lectures
at the Jefferson Medical College in Philadelphia in further
pursuit of the great science of medicine. To Dr. P. B.
Gatch and his wite, Elizabeth L., have been born the follow­
ing children: Katie D., who died Aug. 5, 1872 j Lillian
Love, Florence L., Clifford D., Dawson, and Philip B., who
died June, 1873.
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DR. J. B. CLINE.

In the past half century the material advancement and
development of Clermont County has been largely aug­
mented by immigrants of foreign birth, who in large num­
bers have settled in its limits, and greatly added to the
wealth, intelligence, and growth of the county, and to them
it is mueh indebted for its present prosperity, The .first
French emigrant to settle in the· county was John Cline,
who with his wife Margaret (Weisl'ock) and their children

came from Lorraine, a department then of France, but now
and since 1871 a provhlCe of Germany. They crossed the
ocean with one of' their old neighbors, Andl'ew Taylor, and
coming straight to Ohio, located at Perin's Mills. John
Cline had served ill many campaigns under the great Napo­
leon, as had also the Weisrocks, his wife's brothers, one of
whom was fourteen years in the French army, participated
in the Russian campaign and fought at Waterloo. The
Cline family in Lorraine was one of note and influence, and
John Cline spoke fluently both the French and German
language, and was otherwise liberally educated. He arrived
in Miami township July 20, 1831, and soon learned Eng­
lish by reading. He was the pioneer of the large immigra­
tion to Clermont and Brown Counties which followed in
the two decades succeeding his arrival, and most of his time
was employed in assisting his countrymen in locating and

. securing eligible farms and homesteads, and as an intel'­
preteI' in attending generally to their business. The Fl'ench
colonies settled in Stonelick, Miami, Union, Batavia, Jack­
son, and Wayne townships of this. county, and Perry and
others in Brown County. He died July 20, l8GO, and his
wife Margaret the fall previous, on Nov. 3, 1859. They
had afamily of three daughters and five sons, of whom Dr.
John Baptist Cline was born in the department of Lor-.
raine, France, Sept. 8, 1826, and to him his filther, a man

of culture, clear judgment, and inflexible honor and integ­
rity, gave a good education,

John B. Cline was reared on his father's farm until his
fourteenth year, attending the district school. He then
went to Williamsburgh, where he attended the academy of
Rev. Ludwell G. Gains, and afterwards, under the same pre­
ceptor, at Goshen. He then entered Hanover College, In-·
diana, where he completed his studies, after which he
taught school near Perin's Mills for five terms, reading
medicine in the mean time, and then attended the Ohio
Medical College at Cincinnati, where he graduat.ed in the
class of 1853, along with Drs. J. Eo l\IJers, Tiffin Sinks,
Philip Kennedy, John Gaines, Simmons, Gray, and Kin­
caid (not W. P.), of ClerOlont. He located and practiced
his profession two years at Perin's Mills, when he removcd
to Fayette Co., Ind., where he continued in practice for the
siunc ICII~th of lime, and then returned to Clermont, locating
alld practicing a few months at Mount Carmel, and finally
settling at his old home, Perin's Mills, where he remained,
continuing in his profession until the second year of the
Rebellion. He now entered the United States army service
as· u:-~istant surgeon in charge of first division of Camp
Denni~on General Hospital, where, with rare fidelity and
honor, he served from May 12, 1862, to May 7, 1865, when
he was ordered by the government to the Cumberlund HOi:­
pital, Nashville, Tcnn., where he was superintendent re­
~pectively of its fir::;t, ~econd, and third divisions, and had
charge of the officers' hospital. He remained here till
JUI:e 1st, when he resigned, owing to sickness in his family
calling him home, and he re~urned to Perin's Mills, where
he has remained to this time in a large and lucrative prac­
tice. Dr. Cline is one of the best and most successful
medical practitioners in Clermont.; a man of varied learn­
ing, genial in mauners, and is popular in the community as
a good physician and citizen.

He was married by Rev. Mr. Wiseman, Feb. 13, 1856,
to Miss Martha A. Perin, daughter of Gen. Samuel Perin,
and granddaughter of Samuel Perin, for a third of a cen­
tury the principal business man of the county and founder
of the pretty village which bears pis name. By this union
the doctor became the father of six children, of whom three
died in infimcy, and one, Alfred Buchanan, died Sept. 1l:),
1874, in his eleventh year. Two are living,-Galen L.
Cline, born Sept. 9, 1857, graduated June 12, 1879, at
Hanover College, Indiana, in the classical course, and now
reading medicine j and Lillie Cline, born Aug. 30, 1860,
graduated- at Ohio Wesleyan Female College, at Cincinnati,
in June, 1880, taking the class honors. ·While a member
of no church, Dr. Cline is a man of high morality, and
takes great interest in all educational- matters and every­
thing pertaining to the good of society. A Democrat in
politics, but not a stringent partisan, he accords to others
and claims for himself the right to his own political princi­
ples. He has in a great degree the characteristics of his
race,-urbanity of manner, clear perception, and intellec­
tual ability, and has achieved high social and medical di~­

tinction. His wife ~lartha A. (Perin) is a lady of culture,
and was classically and scientifically educated at Cooper
Academy, in Dayton, graduating with the first honors in
1850. She subsequently taught select schools at Amelia,
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THOMAS PAXTON.

Thomas Paxton was born in the northern part of Cler­
mont Co., Ohio, May 4, 1799. His father, Col. Thomas
Paxton, was an officer in the Revolutionary war, and com­
manded the advance guard of Gen. Wayne's army on its
march through this territory in the Indian expedition in
1794. After Wayne's victory over the Indians, and peace
had been secured, the colonel became the first occupant of
the lands, and built the first house between the Little Miami
and Scioto Rivers. His house was surrounded by a stockade,
and was the principal resort of the hardy pioneers of those
days. He was a surveyor, and, in connection with the elder
Gen. Lytle and the elder Col. Taylor, surveyed and located
hundreds of Virginia military land warrants. He died at
the age of seventy-seven in the year 18] 1. The subject
of this sketch was the youngest child of Col. Paxton, and
was not over twelve years of age when his father died. His
brother, Samuel Paxton, who is still living near Loveland,
and is. now in his eighty-seventh year of age, was several
years older and became a soldier in the war of 1812, and
was afterwards actively employed in boating produce to New
Orleans, frequently walking home at great risk through the
country.

Thomas made the best possible use of the meagre facili­
ties of those days for obtaining an education, and during
llis whole life was a constant reader, keeping himself well
and thoroughly informed of' the current news of the day,
political and otherwise. He was always a Democrat, and
ever ready to battle for the success of that party, never
failing to do his full share in each succeeding campai~n.

His chief pleasure, however, was in the management of his
extensive farm, which he cleared of the forest largely by his
own han~s, and kept in the best condition and the highest
state of cultivation. He was among the first to engage in

the cultivation of fruits, supplying tpe neighborhood at one
time with large quantities of improved varieties from his
nurseries. He possessed to an eminent degree 'the confi­
dence and respect of his neighbors, and after a long life of
usefulness he passed away, kindly and affectionately re­
membered by all as an honest, hospitable, generous, and
courtly gentleman.

On Nov. 25, 1819, Thomas Paxton was married by Rev.
Philip Gatch to Rebecca A. Barber, the youngest daughter
of Nathaniel and Anna Barber, who came from New
Jersey to Ohio in the year 1808. Mrs. Paxton was one
of the most beautiful and intelligent ladies of her day, and
was known far and near for her charity and benevolence.
Her labors among the sick and needy are gratefully re­
membered by many now living. She was singularly devoted
to her family and children, never avoiding any sacrifice
that would add to their comfort or promote their interests.
She died May 20, 1862, and was followed by her husband
in September, 1871. The immediate descendants ofThomas
and Rebecca Paxton are Samuel, who married Hannah A.
Eveland: and resides near -Foster's Crossing, Warren Co.,
Ohio; Mary, who intermarried with David Crichton, and is
now living in Loveland, Ohio; Martha A., whose first hus­
band was Levi Nichols, and who afterwards intermarried
with Adam A. Leever, and resides near Loveland, Ohio;
Nathaniel B., who married Angeline Hutchinson, and lives
near Morrow, Warren Co., Ohio; James W., who married
Agnes Day Buckingham, and makes his home near Oamp
Dennison, Hamilton Co., Ohio; Thomas B., who married
Mary Adelaide Wharton, and resides in CinCinnati, Ohio;
Robert, who married Harriet Hutchinson, and lives on the
old homestead near Loveland; Sarah, who intermarried
with Daniel Clark, a'nd resides in Loveland, Ohio.
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Perin's Mills, and Jonesburg, Ind., and was some time
principal of Otterbein University, at Westerville, Ohio, and
until her marriage with Dr. Cline, over whose pleasant
home she now presides.

THOMAS PAXTON.

Col. Thomas Paxton, a gallant officer under Gen. Wayne
in his expedition against the Indians of the Northwest in
the campaign of 1794, was the first known actual settler
within the limits of Clermont County. In the spring of
1796" he built his cabin in Miami township, and put out
the first field of corn ever planted between the Little Miami
and Scioto Rivers. Col. Paxton and his wife Martha, with
several children, emigrated from Pennsylvania about 1791
to Kentucky, and after peace was made with the Indians in
the fall of 1795, at Greenville, they removed to Clermont
and settled near I ..ovcland. They had seven daughters,
who married well in life and settled near them, and three
sons, Thomas, Samuel, and Robert Paxton, the latter not
coming to Ohio, but remainitig in Kentucky. Of the above,
Samuel Paxton was born Aug. 7, 1793, and June 14,1821,
was married by Uev. Daniel Hayden, a Presbyterian clergy­
man, to Miss Eliza Weller. Her father was born in Orange
County and her mother in Ulster Co., N. Y. The former
was a skillful mechanic. Miss 'VelieI' was cousin to Hon.
John B. Weller, the distinguished Ohio politician and after­
wards so prominent in the politics of California. She was
ten years younger than her husband, having been born Oct.
.22, 1803. To Samuel and Eliza (Weller) Paxton were
born twelve childrcn,-seven sons and five daughters,-to
wit: Thomas, Joseph W., Harriet, Andrew, Rebecca, John,
Charles, Nancy, Martha, Louisa, .Wilson, and Clinton, all
living but the latter. Three of the sons and three of the
·daughters are married, viz.: John Paxton to Jennie Myers,
daughter of the late George Myers, of Goshen; Charles
Paxton to Elizabeth Ferguson; Rebecca to Harris Smeth­
urst, auditor of' Clermont from 1864 to 1866 j Nancy to
the late Col. John H. Branch, representative in the Ohio
Legislature from this. county from 1866 to 1869, three
winters; Louisa to Parvis Rogers; and Thomas Paxton, the
subject of'this sketch, first to Miss Maria C. Snider, daugh­
ter of Col. Levi Snider, of Warren Co., Ohio, and, after her
death, a second time married, to .Miss Emily C. Loveland, of
Ashtabula, Ohio. His present wife's parents were from

.Connecticut, and her fath~r was a skillful mechanic, and
,in. his day one of the most distinguished Masons in Ash­
tabula County in rank and prominence. Thomas Paxton

and his wire, Emily C.' (Loveland), received a good com­
mon-school education, and the latter in addition was highly
educated in music, and previous to her marriage was for
ten years organist in the Presbyterian church, of which she
is a member. Mr. Paxton has been one of the most exten­
sive travelers in his own country of any citizen of this
county, and has visited all the famous resorts and scenery
in the North, South, East, and West. His elegant resi­
dence, with its delightful surroundings, is situated about a
mile from Lovelapd. Mr. Paxton's place consists of a
pretty frame building of some ten rooms, entered by a por­
tico, and is at the end of a fine lawn, filled with an endless
variety of shade-trees and shrubbery; an orchard of twenty­
five acres, mostly of pearR j an acre and a half of g~rden j

and the balance of seventy-eight acres a farm. Attached to
Mr. Paxton's garden is a fine green-house, forty feet in
length, full of all varieties of flowers for transplanting, em­
bracing heliotrope, geranium, fuschia, etc., while, hanging­
baskets of mosses and trailing plants are seen in· great­
est ·profusion. Mr. Paxton being a gentleman of means,
erected this house for the pleasure of himself and lady, and
his culture of rare and delicate plants is so extensive and
8uccessful that he can almost supply his neighborhood.
Devoted to the study of agriculture and horticulture, :1\'Ir.
l'axton keeps up with the improvements of the day, and is
prepared to cultivate new varieties of almost any species of
plant or flower that may be in demand. He thinks the
American people pay too little attention to the adornment
of their homes,-the real centres of that refinement and
comfort whence spring the fires of patriotism, and around
which cluster the noblest attributes of the heart and mind.
Mr. Paxton is a good citizen, quiet and unobtrusive, not
caring for the spoils of office or Lusying himself with other
people's affairs, but closely attending to ~is own business,
in which he has been so eminently successful. His father,
Samuel Paxton, a venerable patriarch of eighty-seven years,
still lives, and threescore years ago made several trips to
New Orleans, sometimes bringing back his flat-boat at great
risk and expense,-this bein~ before the days of steamboats.
On one of his return trips he realized seven thousand dol­
lars on his freight.

The Paxton family is one of the oldest and best in Cler­
mont, noted for its culture, high character, and social stand­
ing. Especially engaged in the culture of fruits and flow­
er8, it has acquired a celebrity throughout the State, and no
family in tbe county has added more to the material, moral,
and social advllncement of Clermont than it, foremost in all
movements for developing the beautiful in nature and im­
proving the condition of society.
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THE township of Goshen lies along the northern line of
the county, east of Miami and wcst of \Vayne and Stone­
lick. The latter township, also, and Miami form the
southern boundary. It derives its lHune fl"Om Goshen, in
New York, and was erected from :l\1iami in 1819. The
surface, except in the northwestera part, is level, having in
some localities the nature of flat uplands. Before the for­
ests were removed these parts were wet, and were called, in

the language of those days, "the slashes." The timber
growth was heavy, consisting chiefly of the oaks, hickpry,
and a limited quantity of walnut, with corresponding soils,
whose fertility, although variallle, is rich enough to make
the township, as a whole, one of the best, agriculturally, in
the county. The drainage is affordcd by Obannon Creek
and its tributaries, having a gcncml northwesterly course.
The Obannon is a rapid stream, and formerly affurded nu­
merous mill-sites, but since the forests have bcen cleared
away its volume has become very small.

PIONEElt SET'rLERS.

Jacob Myers (in the German, Mayer), the first perma­
nent settler of Goshen township, was born in Penn's Valley,
Centre Co., I'll" about the year 17~5, and followed the
occupation of a boatman and raftsmun on the Susquehanna
River a short time. The highly-wrought description of
the wonderful fertility of Kentucky and the Northwest
Territory induced him to try his fortunes in the New 1m·
dorado. In 1795, in compuny with the Frybarger family,
he started over the mountains with his stock and settled
near Frankfort., Ky. In 1796 they all removed to 'Vald­
smith's settlement on the Little Miami River, where the
village of Germany (now Camp Dennison) afterwards ~prang

up, and which became famous in after-years as the theatre
of old Mathias Kugler's manufacturing and merchandising
enterprises.

On their journey f!'OOl Kentucky they crossed the Ohio
River in flats, and committed their stock to the care of
Jacob Stroup, who drove them into the water to compel
them to swim the river, and who on a horse of poor s'wim­
ming capacity plunged into the rolling waters after them.
It is l'ela~d that Stroup and his horse would disappear
under the waves, but would come to the surfilce, and with
his reappearing a yell of command to the cattle to quicken
their efforts and keep them in line would be heard from
Stroup, as though thCl'e was not the slightest danger. His
nonchalance in the presence of danger became a matter of
pleasantry to the occupants of the "flats." ~rhis Stroup
had been in a furt situated in the J uoiata Valley that was
assaulted and destroyed by the Indians and renegade whites
under the lead of the notorious Col. Butler, in 1776.
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After locating in Ohio, Myers and Stroup married sisters.
Jacob Myers married Eve Frybargel' at Waldsmith's Station
in 1796, where his first child, Jacob, was born. In 1798
he bought a filrm of several hundred acres on one of' the
branches of the Obannon Creek, in what is now Goshen
township, two miles south of the present "iI1a~e of Goshen.
He was then the owner of a pony, on wllich he loaded a
sack of potatoes, an axe, and a grubbing-hoc, and with his
tl'Usty rifle, tomahawk, and hunting-knife he made his way
to his new purchase through a dense wildemess inhabited
by wild animals and Indians. After tethering his pony he
immediately proceeded to plant his potatoes, it being then
the middle of June, after the completion of which he fell
to euttin~ down trees and clearing off his potato-patch. He
soon erected a cabill and pi~-pen, and then brought his
young wife and son to their new home, His first cradle
was a su~ar-trough, and the floor of his cabin the native
earth, which, howeYer, soon gave place tv an artistic
puncheon-floor split out of logs and s)ightly planed smooth
with a common chopping-axe.

His son thirty years after was heard to declare that it
required the united strength of himself and elder brother,
both strong men, to load the logs, then seasoned, on a wagon
that his father had handled himself when green in buildinJ.?;
his cabin. 'Vith his gun aod dog he supplied himself and
filmily with meat until a clearing was made large enough
to afford some protection to the swine,~for be it recol­
lected that bears were plentiful then, and had a taste for
pork equaling an epicure, and had not then been educated
into a wholesome regard of the right of meum and tellm,

as afterwards by an unceasing warfilre on their race and
the clearing away their forest home.

Mr. Myers' nearest neighbor was Abraham Miller, near
the present town of Loveland, who was then considered a
prosperous farmer, living on the farm afterwards known as
the Judge Emery farm, and where he sought and obtained
work at 37! cents a day, it being his then only opportunity
to obtain cash to buy powder, lead, and salt. Much of the
time which he worked for Miller he would walk to and fro,
a distance of five miles. One morning, being somewhat
belated, he concluded to ride his pony, and searched around
the small clearing without being able to find her. Pausing
a moment he heard the tinkling of the bell, which was then
an unfailing accompaniment of horses and cattle, and pro­
ceeded in haste up the creek in the direction of the sound
with a bridle across his arm to catch her., Approaching a
large fallen oak which was in his pathway, and whcn
within a few feet of the tree, a large black beur reared
himself up, with his paws resting on the log im"mediately
in front of him, and thus they stood face to face in a ques­
tioning sort of attitude. It then for the first time struck
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him that in his llaste he had forgotten gun, tomahawk,
knife, and dog, and was thus at the mercy of the ferocious
brute. He afterwards related that each hair stood on end
like the quills of the fretted porcupine. After considering
the situation a moment he concluded that his only safety
lay, in frightening him, and immediately sprang at his bear­
ship with a loud whoop, at the same time brandishing his
bridle in Bruin's face, which did so frighten his enemy that
it took to its heels and fled with precipitation. The ludi­
crousness of the final ending of the encounter always after­
wards excited the old gentleman's risibles to a loud guffaw
on its being mentioned. John, his second son, was born in
1799, being the first white child born in Goshen township.
'Vhen Gen. Lytle made 'Williamsburgh the county-seat, 1\11'.
'Myers sold his eggs and poultry to the hotels to supply
their tables during terms of court, carryillg his marketing
on the back of his pony thereto, 1'ho country now began
to be settled by the Frybargers, the Stroups, the Rouda­
bushes, followed soon arter by Fred. 'Veaver, Sr., the Shet­
terlys, Leevers, Fishers, Morgans, and others, alld assumed
the aspect of a " settlement," bringing in its train mutual
help and social enjoyment. The building of a flouring­
mill and distillery at Germany opened a market for corn,
wheat, and hogs, which soon brought in silver and gold,
and with money came luxuries, as of tea or coffee for Sun­
day-morning breakfast. 'Ncaring apparel was made mostly
of buckskin and coon-skins for a number of years, followed
by flaxen and woolen fabrics of home manufacture. Mr.
Myers' youngest child was pretty well grown to manhood
before the introduction of cotton or woolen machine-manu­
factured goods into his family.

From this time on his industry, economy, and shrewd­
ness in money-making enabled him to buy at different times
some 1500 acres of land. He at one time owned the
quarter section on which the Union Depot at Indianapolis
now stands, that country being then an unbroken forest.
This piece of land, it is thought, still belongs to his de­
scendants in equity. About the year 1813 or 1814 he
built a frame dwelling-house, which was considered in that
day palatial and which still occupies the old place, and is
in so good a state of prescrvation and so commodious as to
put to shame some more pretentious modern farm-houses.
1\11'. Myers died in 1843, and his remains, with those of
many of his descendants, rest in the sacred spot which he
set apart in an early day as a burial-place for himself, family,
and neighbors. His children-Jacob, John, George, Cath.
erine, and Elizabeth-he lived to flee well settled in his
neighborhood. J aeob married a Mary Snider j John, So­
phronia Carnes j George, the youngest, 1\1ary Emery,
daughter of Judge John Emery j Catherine, Col. Jacob
Bickle, and Elizabeth, Abrahaw Snider, most of the de­
scendants of whom are still living ill the vicinity of the an­
cestral home, though a number have emigrated to various
Western States. They are mostly leading the uneventful
life of the prosperous, well-to-do furmer, and are genemlly
noted for thrift, industry, and as substantial citizens, with
but little ambition for place or official distinction, but rather
ambitious to successfully cultivate the farms obtained fi'om
their ancestor or by theil' own thrift and industry. A very
few exceptions can be made to the above: Leonidas Myers, a
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gl'eat-grandson, bas a position in the int.ernal revenue ser­
vice in Cincinnati j Marion, a son of George, is one of Cler­
mont's most intelligent fiuwers, and stands high among the
people of his county j Jacob, another grandson, is an active
and influential furmer and politician of Defiance County j

\Villiam, another son of George, is a wealthy and influential
citizen of Pike Co" Ill. John, another son of George,

,studied medicine, and graduated with honor at the Ohio
Medical College in Cincinnati in 1850. For many years
he has been a successful physician at Goshen, and his life
and public services are noted in a special sketch in this
book. .

Lewis Frybar~er, a native of Germany, in emigrating to
AmCl'ica was so poor that he was sold for five years to PllY
the passage-money. Having obtained his liberty, he set­
tled in Centre County, Pa" from whence he immigrated to
the West., as before reluted. In Goshen, about 1799, he
settled on land which now forms the village-site, where he
died in 1802, and. was interred in the Myers cemetery.
Of his family, George settled in Indiana. Peter improved
the J obn 1\1. Smith farm, but removed to Iowa. On~ of
his sons, Moses, died in Goshen, in 1877. Andrew, the
third son of J.Jewis, settled on the north side of the Obannon,
in the Applegate neighborhood. Of his sons, Joseph was
an attorney, and died in Goshen, iIi 1843. Other sons,
John, Jackson, and William, removed to ~ndiana. Lewis,
the fourth son, married Rachel Custer, April 22, 1803,
and after living.a time on the homesteaa, removed to \Var­
ren County. He was the father of" John Frybarger, of
Goshen, and of other sons named Jacob, Lewis, and An­
drew, of Warren County. His daughters married Amasa
Sawyer, Seth Gordon, Poter \V. Ross, Lewis Terwilliger,
and Perine Applegate. Jacob, the fifth son of Lewis, mar­
ried Elizabeth EIsruth, and settled east of Goshen, bu't died
in Warren County. Of the daughters of Lewis Fryburger,
the eldest, Eva, was the wife of Jacob Myers, and grand­
mother of Dr. J. E. Myers. The second daughter was the
wife of" Jacob Stroup, who came about the same period,
1799, arid settled on the Sanders place. They had a
family of sixteen children, and the Stroups, as grandchil­
dl'en, became very numerous. Mrs. Stroup died at the age
of ninety-eight years, in the southel'll part of the township.

On the present David Myers place li"rederick Weaver
was the pioneer, owning there a tract of 400 acres of land,
on which he died. His son Jacob moved to the lIorthern
part of the State, Daniel deceased many years ago, and
I~'rederick *yet lives' in 'Wayne, township. In the eurly his­
tory of the township Dunkard! meeti-ngs wore held at the
housc of li"rederick Weaver. He was an early blacksmith,
and had to cut all his iron fmm bars the size of wagon­
tires.

The Roudebusl1s are of German descent, two brothers
and a sister having emigrated fmlll Amsterdam, Holland,
to New NethCl'hmd in 1650. They settled ncar New Am­
sterdam (now New York), where they resided until it be­
came an Bnglish province, when they emigrated to Fred­
erick Co" Md., where their descendants to a gl'eat number
are yet living. Daniel Uoudebush, the only one that ever
emigrated to Olel'mont County, was born in 1749. He was
the eldest of four brothers and three sisters. In 177<1 he
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married Christina Snively, a niece of Dr.•J. Snively, (lne
of the most prominent physicians in Southern Pennsylvania.
In 1796 he emigrated to Kentucky, settling ncar J.Jexing­
ton. In November, 1799, he purchased 500 acres ofland
from Gen. James Taylor, in Stark's survey, No. 2753. In
February, 1800, his sons David and Jacob, accoUlpnnied
by their sister Catherine, came from Kentucky, and built
a log cabin near the present residence of Perine Applegate.
In May of that year the rest of the family removed to their
new home. In December, 1803, his horses having strayed
he started in search of them. He had not traveled far
when he lost his way, and wandered about for three days
without anything to eat save a few berries. On the morn­
ing of the fourth day he accidentally discovered a cabin,
which proved to be that of Ephraim McAdams, ncar 'ViI·
liamsburgh. His prolonged absence alarmed his family
and neighbors, as the woods at that time were full of wild
beasts, and parties were sent out in different directions in
search of him, but returned with no tidings. The excite­
ment had become intense when, on the fifth day, he re­
turned, almost dead from starmtion, from the effects of
which he never recovered,-dying Oct. 10, 1804, aged fifty­
five years. He was the father of six children,-five sons
and one daughter. Christina Roudebm;h, his widow, died
June 10, 183H. Ofl11e children, David was born in 1775.
In 1804 he manied Eleanor Hall, daughter of Capt. Uich­
ard Hall, by. whom he had nine ehildren,-Julia A., born
Sept. 4, 1805; Sarah, Aug. 6, 1809; Phoobe, Nov. 27,
1811; Hichard, Aug. 15, 1815; Silas, May 11, 1818;
Uuth, Oct. 1, 182U; Mary, June 11, 1823 j Maria, Feb.
22, 1826; Martha J., Oct. 30, 1831. He died near
Goshen, Sept. ] 0, 1839, aged fifty-nine years; his ·wife
July 18, 1869, at an advanced age. Jacob, the second
Bon, settled ncar Boston, in Stonelick township, where he
died May 22, 1835. George, the third son, emigrated to
Indiana at an early date. Of him or his family nothing is
now known. Daniel, the fourth son, was born in 1785.
He was twice married; first to Mary Saylor, by whom he
had eight children,-Joseph, Sarah, David, William, Eliza­
beth, John, Mary, and Julia. His second wife was Uuth
Shotwell, by whom he had five children,-George, l?estus,
Daniel, Philip, and Syrena. He died in Goshen, March
11, 1844, aged fifty-nine years; his wife in 1867. The
fifth son, John, was born Feb. 27, 1798. In] 820 he
married Maria Thacker, who was born Feb. 16, 1799, by
whom he had five children,-D. 'V., born Aug. 6, 1820;
George, Oct. 30, 1823; Sarah 1\ Jun: 22, 18~6 j Phoobe,
Aug. 17,1829 j :l\larcus, Aug. 10, 1831. John wns the
youngest of' the family, and died near Goshen, Sep~. 10,
1831, aged thirty-three years; his wife, Nov. 9, 1879,
aged eighty years. Catherine, the only daughter, was born
Jan. 2u, 1784. She married Andrew Frybarger and emi­
grated to Indiana, where she dietl, Jan. 5, 1867, aged
eighty-four years. The descendants of the four brothers
who lived and died in Clermont County are numerous.
They are noted for their industry, economy, and intelli­
gence, exerting ll. good influence on society. Several of
them have filled State and county offices of importance.

Daniel Morgan, a native or Baltimore, moved with his

fumil~ to Ohio jn l7~f'! ap4 ~h~ ~llme >,cllr rai~ed a crop of'

corn opposite Milford. That fall he came to Goshen, settling
on the filrm now owned by ThoIllns Porter. He was a tanner,
and carried on his trade in a. small way on his fnrm. He
was also a collar-maker, and supplied the early settlers with
that much-needed article. In 1826 he moved to Delaware
County, where he died. His eldest son, Joseph, in 1826
came into the possession of the homestead, and lived there
many years. He served in the war of 1812. In 1815 he
mal'l'ied Ann Gundy, who was born at Chillicothe, where
her father had erected one of the first mills in the State.
In subsequent years the family was forced to flee from ll.

new home on account of Indian troubles, some of the whites
being massacred. Ann Gundy and others, in their efforts
to escape, lived on wild herbs and berries cleven days. She
died in l\hrch, 187D, and one of her sons, Silas, is yet a
citizen of Goshen. Other sons of Daniel Morgan were
Danid, who moved to Lee County, Ill.; and John, who de­
ceased in Indiana. Their sister Mary yet resides in Wis­
consin, at the age of ninety-three years.

In 1800, Andrew Shetterly, who came from the same
locnlity in Pennsylvunia as the Myers family, settled cast of
Morgan's, and lived in that loeality until his death, about
1840. His SOll, Philip, died on the homestead several years
later. On an adjoining farm George, another son, yet re­
sides at an advanced age. Henry and David moved to In­
diana. The only daughter, Betsey, married John Graham,
a school-teacher und the author of ll. pioneer arithmetic,
who also moved to Indiana. The dcscendants of' the Shet­
terlY8 became very numerous.

Adam Hoy, another Pennsylvanian, lived south of this
10c~lity, coming about 1801. He had a son named David.
Neighbors to these were the Mock and Stoner families, also
early settlers, whose descendants removed. Philip Stoner
was a man of prodigious strength, who often exercised his
muscular powers in fisticuffs, being reputed the "best"
man in all Northern Clermont. Northwest from here,
Abraham and Joseph Haines were pioneers, coming soon
after 1801. Some time ubout 1830 they removed to Indi­
ana.

'1'he Leevers were relatives of the Shetterlys, and one
of them (Adam) came with that family, but returned to
Penn~ylvanin, and did not permanently locate in Goshen
until 1814. He then settled on the Obannon, on the farm
which hud been improved boY his brother Peter, who had
come to Goshen a number of years earlier. There Adam
Leever lived until his death, about fifteen years ago.
AHcr Peter had sold out he removed to the eastern pnrt of
Goshcn, where he improved another farm and lived until
his death. George I~eever, a third brother, came about
1856, and settled in the Myers neighborhood, dcceasing in
the townsllip. In 1810, Lewis Leever, at that time but
twelve years of age, rode frOID Centre Co., Pa., to Goshen
on horseback, and has since resided in the township, being
~ow one of the oldest citizens. Benjamin Leever came at
a later period, and settled about three miles from Goshen.
The Leevers became a very numerous family, and their
descendants constitute some of the best citizens of North­
western Clermont.

Andrew Anshutz, a brother-in-law of the Leeyers, came
to Goshen at a later day, settling on the farm which is yet
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occupied by him, north of Obannon Creek. He reared
sons named Allen B., John, and Granville, all of them den­
tists by profession, the former being resident at Goshen.

South from Goshen, John Irwin settled about 1800. He
was an active Methodist, and the early meetin~ of that de­
nomination were held at his house, and later the first meet­
ing-house was erected on his farm. Of his children, Har­
vey is yet living in the township, one of its oldest citizens.
He was an old.time justice of the peace, and it is said that
he carried his dockets and legal papers around in his hat.
The Irwins at present residing in the township are his
descendants.

Elijah Applegate, a carpenter by trade, settled north of
~rwin, on a place which was afterwards owned by Frederick
Doughman j the father of sons named Peter, Henry, Jacob,
Andrew, and Samuel, and of daughters who married Eph­
raim Smith, John Ringer, Jacob Snider, and James Simon­
ton.' Elijah Applegate made some of the first fanning­
mm:! used by the pioneers. He died on the farm now
owned by his son Perine j another son, John, deceased in
the town8hip. Nathaniel Clark was an early settler in
Goshen, and made some of the first reeds used by the pio­
neel' mothers in weaving.

North of Goshen Richard Westerfield settled about 1804,
on the farm now owned by the widow Ro~ers. The family
has removed. On the Trump place Gabriel Karns settled
about the same time. He had a small mill and distillery,
and also worked at the blacksmith trade. His sons David,
Henry, and Gabriel also became blacksmiths, and Jacob was
a Dunkard preacher. Near by Jacob Garver, the first Dun­
kard preacher in these parts, lived as early as 1806. Wil­
liam Stouder was a pioneer on the pre!,ent J. Stouder place.
On this farm was a deer-lick, which gave the name to the
brook. Christian Stouder lived on the present Joseph
Gibbs farm. Both had large families, and most of the
Stouders belonged to the Dunkards. Before 1806, Joshua
Cox settled on the Obannon, on the place which had been
improved by Peter Wilson, where were the first mills in
this part of the county. Here he lived until his death.
The homestead is now occupied by his son William. An
elder brother,Samuel, died in the western part of the town..
ship. The Cox family came from New Jersey.

From the State of Virginia came John Custer, soon after
1800, and purchased a large tract of land in the south­
western part of Goshen, which he sold, with the improve­
ments, in 1809 to Michael Banghart, of New Jersey. The
latter lived there until his family was grown up. Emanuel
Custer, a son of John, came from North Carolina in 1810,
and settled in the same neighborhood, where he died in
1840. His son, John, yet resides in that locality, and Henry
removed to Iowa. His daughters married ]ijphraim Short
and George \Vard. I!'urther north, on the present turnpike,
John and. Jesse Smith, natives of New Jersey, settled
before the war of 1812. Of the sons of the former, John
and Jacob yet live i~ that locality, and Samuel, Elias, and
Abraham have deceased. The sons of Jesse Smith were
George and Josiah, deceased, and Jesse and Garrett, yet
living in Goshen.

Another New Jersey settlement was formed in the south­
eastern part of Goshen by the n~ndall, Brunson, and other

families. John Randall came in 1814, and began improv­
ing a tract of 600 acres in the Shiloh locality. Here he
died in Oc~ber, 1849, llaving reared a. large family, of
which Pervise is one of the sons j and the wives of Edward
Chaney and Caleb S. Laycock are daughters. John Brun­
son was. the father-in-law of John Randall, and settled about
two years earlier, on an adjoining farm. Only some of the
children of Andrew Brunson, the youngest Bon, remain in
the township. Prior to these the Harris family lived in
this locality. The father, John Harris, had made his first
settle~ent on the island at ·Plainville, but was forced to leave
it by the high water. He then came to Goshen, where he
died about one hundred years of age. After Randall's set­
tlement William· H~rris and Silas Jordan, who had occu­
pied that land, moved to Wayne township. Abner Harris
died on the Walker farm. His son, Hiram, lost his life .in
the war of 1812, and John W., another son, died east of
Shiloh. Lewis Caudle lived on an adjoining place before
1812, selling his farm to Jonathan Schooley, wh~ remained
until death on this farm.

In the Harris neighborhood Judge John Beatty lived.
He was a just and upright man, greatly esteemed by the
people of the county. Of his sons, Maj. William T. Beatty,
who did valiant service in the late war, lives in Nebraska.
Abram died in the township, and John moved to California.
His daughters married Oscar McClellan: John D. Randall,
George Roudebush, and Nelson \Villil!-ms. Another New
Yorker was Stephen Pray, who made his settlement here
about 1815, in which year his son, John W. Pray, was born
in Goshen. Other sons were Hiram, Charles, Stephen, and
George. On the Lebanon road, east from the Shiloh meet­
iug-house, Lewis Chaney, a native of Maryland, settled
about 1815. He died many years ago. His Bon Thomas
resides in Warren County, and other sons live in Jackson.

Dr. Josiah Lyman, a native of' Vermont, removed with
his family, consisting of two small children, to Goshen in
1816, and was the first physician in the township. His
practice extended over a large scope of territory and con­
tinued until 1824, when he removed to Batavia. Dr.
Daniel Stone Lyman, born at Goshen, in November, 1820,
is the only survivor of the family, and resides at Goshen.

Townsend and Benjamin Thacker, natives of Essex Co.,
N. Y., came to Cincinnati in 1815, and the following spring
settled in Goshen. The former purchased the present
Trump farm at Charleston, where he died in 1845. His
son, 'Villiam, ·removed to Michigan, where he died at the
age of eighty.,.one years. He 'fas the father of Dr. Town­
send Thacker and Mrs. George Scott, of Goshen. The
second son of Townsend Thacker was John 0., who died
in 1845 j and the third BOD, Dr. Isaac N., at present resides
in Defiance. One of the daughters married John Roude­
bush, and for her second husband, John Oliver.

Benjamin Thacker died on the Lyman .farm at Goshen
about 1842. He was the filther ot' Stephen Thacker, of
Illinoill j of' Dr. John, a physician, who died at Goshen in
February, 1837, and who was the father of Dr. John A.
Thacker, of Cincinnati.

John Haight, a Vermonter, settled in the Shiloh neigh­
bOl'hood about 1818, and died there at au early day. He
had sons named Jared and William. The former resided
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---------_ .._-------
the condition of thc settlement half a centuI·y ago is af­
forded by the appended

LIST oIi' !)lWPEB.TY-IIOLDERS IN 182G.

Non-resiuence is shown by an llsteri:sk prefixed to the
names. Many so mlll'ked became settlers 800n after.

at Goshen, and was in his time an active business man,
taking contracts on public works. Samuel Nichols, a native
of New York, movcd from Cincinnati to G08~n village in
1820, where he became a business man of varied interests,
dying here in 1867. He was the father of 'V. H. Nichols,
of Goshen; Theodore, of Indiannpolis; and a daughter,
who became the wife of William Haight., of Goshen.
About this time I%enezer Pruden became a citizen of
Goshen. He was the father of Judge Pruden, of Cincin­
nati. Jesse 'Vood nnd his brother, Elias, also became resi­
dents ncar this period. The former lived in the hollow
ncar the old Jackson tavern until his death, after 1832.
One of his daughters was married to H. P. Parker, the
pioneer merchant of the village. In 1826, John Oliver
caIlle to Goshen, and died near the vil1a~e in 1859. He
was a native of New Jersey, and was the fhther of Caleb
Oliver, of Goshen, and of two sons, who removed to Cali­
fornia.

The same year Daniel Holmes became a citizen of Clermont
County, and was known as one of Goshen's most successful
business men. His sons, John and George 'V., arc yet
active citizens of the village. On the turnpike, ncar the
'Vurren County line, Samuel Renner was il pioneer, and his
son, Gilman S., of whom a sketch appears' in this book, is
yet a resident of that locality. Farther cast., the township
was not settled so early. Samuel Leonard was one of the
first there. lIe became very aged, dying at the age of
ninety-three years. In the full of 18~~, S. B. 'V. Felter
began to hew out a home on a dense piece of woodland of
52 acres. By hard work he has increased his possessions
until his acres number 800, on which arc settled his sons,
-Samuel, Daniel, Isaac, Andrew, and Levi. Next after
Felter came Philip Schuyler, who died in that locality, and
Joseph Hall, who yet lives on the place he settled.

In Goshen died, in 1874, Peter Ringer, the fhther of
John Ringer, in the ninety-fifth year of his age. He was
the son of a wine-grower of Strasburg, Germany, and at the
age of fifteen years was draftcd int.o the French army. He
servcd under Napoleon seven years, being with him in his
campaigns to Holland and Spain. In the latter country he
witnessed fearful carnage, and once had to subsist on human
blood. He was also with· Napoleon in his famous retreat
from Moscow, and endured intense suffering. At Gibraltar
he was taken prisoner, and for a time confined in a dungeon,
but managed to escape, when the British forced him into
their own ranks and sent him with their forces to Quebec.
Here he gained his freedom, and fleeing to New York be­
came a citizen of this country in 1814. In 1822 he came
to Goshen, and passed the remainder of his life there, ~ing
at the home of his son, John.

Among the earliest improvcments was a hewed-log house,
built by John Irwin in 1808, which is yet standing j also
a frume house, built by Elijah Applegate for Jesse Wood
in 1816; and n brick house, built in 1824, by Samuel Mals­
berry, one of the early settlers of the township. 1'ho fine
briek house occupied by Richard Roudebush, west of the
village, was built in 18~1 by David Roudebush. On that
farm is ulso one of the carliest orchards.

To the nmnes of the pioncers llbo\'c givcn might be
added many more did our space allow. A general view of

Applcgate, Elijlth, No. 2:{76j Jo­
scph Gerard, orig. prop.

Anderson, John.
Anderson, Samuel, No. 3623; Jo­

seph Lindsey, orig. prop.
*Ather8tone, .JoIllLUmn, No. 2377;

Willialll Lytle, orig. prop.
!~Avery, John L., & Co., No. ~377;

William Lytle, orig. prop.
Banghart, l\IiclllLel, No. 3ri6;

John Higgins, orig. prop.
Binkle)', Sarnh, No. 2385 j H. C.

AOllorson, orig. prop.
Dobs, AdaJU.
llUZIIU, Sarnh.
IJuzatt, Timothy, No. 519 j .J. 'r.

Griffin, orig. prop.
!ilDarrett, William, No. 710; Wil·

Iiam Bnrrett, urig. prop.
*Dl\rrOWS, C)'rus, No. 2:n7; Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
llIllrun~on, John It., No. 2377;

William Lytle, orig. prop.
Brunson, James, No. 2:177 j Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
*Dudd, .John, No. 3801; Henry

Yowles, orig. prop.
Custer, l~manllel, No. 3775;

Jamcs Morrison, orig. prop.
Clough, John P., No. 2:J77 j Wil­

liam L)·tle, orig. prop.
Chaney, TholllILS.
Chaney, Lewis, Ne. 2385; R. C.

Anderson, orig. prop.
Colhtrd, James.
Cox, Joshua, No. 2190; William

Lytle, orig. prop.
!~Cable, Samuel, No. 12,070 j

Samuel Cable, orig. prop.
*ClllLplDllll, Zaclmrilth, No. 5!160;

James Taylor, orig. prop.
-Cook, Mathias S., No. 12,677;

MILthhLS Cook, orig. prop.
Doughman, l~rederiek, No. 2376;

Joseph Gerard, orig. prop.
Dunlap, John.
Dunning, I~estus, No. 3801;

Henry Vowlell, orig. prop.
Duncans, .James.
Dunnell, WilliAm, No. 21!ll; Wil­

liam NILII, orig. prop.
*DoughmlLn, John, No. 2376;

James Gerard, orig. prop.
llIDodge, ltobert, No. 5!160; James

1'aylor, orig. prop.
*Drake, Aaron, No. 3801; Henry

Vowles, orig. prop.
fIIDunham, James, No. 3800;

Henry Vowlcs, orig. prop.
lltDiILI, John C., No. 10,851; llieh-

ILrd Starle, orig. prop.
Ellis, John.
Eberhart, David.
Etherton, Samuel.
:FI'ybarger, Andrew, No. 2753;

RielllLrd SlILrk, orig. prop.
Frazee, Benjltmin.

Frybarger, Peter, No. 273~;

Rielulrll Stal'k, orig. prop.
Fisher, SILmucl.
Farr,8huhle.
Fnrquar, 1tobert.
FiRher, John.
FiMher, DIWid.
Fisher, ROSAnna, No. 21.93; W·iI.

IiILIIl Broughton, orig. prop.
~1Fleglll, V,L]entine, No. a776;

.James Smith, orig. prop.
*Flcteher, Jcssc, No. 3777; Hum­

phries llnd Bowmnn, orig.
props.

Goodwin, Ebenezer.
Griswold, Oliver.
Green, .Jacoh.

. Howltrd, WiIIilUII.
Hill, ROllson.
IIandley, Will. B., No. 9SI; J. D.

Johnson, orig. proprictor.
Hamilton, Alex., No. lJ81 ; .r. n.

Johnson, orig. proprietor.
Hooker, GamuHcl.
Haywllrd, Nathan.
Haines, Abrlthum, No. 3776;

John IIiggins, orig. prop.
-Ihwley, John, No. 3810; Henry

Yowles, original J)roprietor.
.HiII, Notley, No. 5!15!1; James

1'aylor, originlll}lroprietor.
Irwin, John, No. 3684; Francis

Graham, orig. proprietor.
Irwin, lIarvey.
Johnston, Edw. C., No. 3623;

Joseph Lindsey, orig. prop.
*Jobnston, ~ohn W., No. 2384;

Jobn W. Johnston, original
proprietor.

lltJaekson, Jonathan, No. 2:J77;
WilliulIl Lytle, orig. prop.

Karn, David.
KiIig, George, No. 3684; Franeis

Graham, orig. proprietor.
King, John P.
King, lIllnnah.
King, Gabriel.
-Kerns, Gubriel, No. 2:J77; WiI-­

Ham Lytle, orig. proprietor.
ilImrby, Timothy, No. 3777 ;

Humphries and Bowman,
original proprietors.

Leeper, Charles, No. 2196; Rob­
ert Campbell, orig. prop.

Leever, Lewis, No. 2753; Rieh-
urd Stark, orig. proprietor.

Leonard, Samuel.
Leppoe, Philip.
Little, John.
Leever, George, No. 3804; James

Taylor, original proprietor.
Leever, Benjamin, No. 380·j;

JILmes Taylor, orig. prop.
Leever, Allnm, No. 2193 j Wil­

liam Broughton,orig. prop.
Lee\'or, Peter, No. 2.jOll; A.

Vnnee, original proprietor.



DR. JOHN E. ~YERS.
Among tho oarliost of tho stllrdy plo­

noers, who sottlod In tho northorn part
of C1ormont lJoforo It \VIIS organized liS 11.
COllnty, n.nd whon It WIIS alln.rt of 1IILUlII­
ton County, and four yelLrs lJoforo Ohio WILS
alimitlollinto tho Union, WIISJlIcolJ 1\[yers,
of German descent (formorly culled Moyor,
lJllt c1mngClIlJy tlmo Into 1\lyers). 110 wn.s
horn In ]'onn's Vllllo~', ]'0." In 177(), lind
In1j05, with his wife and sevomlllcqlllllnt­
IIncolI, ellligruted to I,oxington, ]~y. In
li!!7 ho clime to Ohlo,lItoppln~lItCulllmhilL,
then II noll'll I'olnt jllllt IIho\'o Cillclnnllti,
IInlll ho conld tll\lllllndll in tho NOrUI\\'('lIt
'1"'ITltor~' that sllited him, In thl' fullowlng
y('lLr, 17!l8, ho romovClI to WhlLt Is now
Goshen townllhlll of this cOllnty, thon a
part of Andorson township of lIamllton
COllntY,and Illtor II part of Vool'fiohl town­
ship in Sluno county, and lLftorwanlll com­
prillod, until Its orgllnl7.ntion n.s 0. separllto
townllhlll, in OhlLllnon,lIulJlleqnently ClLlICll
1\lIl1ml townllhlp of Clormont County. In
hill lLvoclLtion liS II fllrmor, lJy the exorcillo
of IIhrowdl1l!SSlUlll forosight, he lJecllmo tho
ownor of lLlJout llftllCn hnndr('11 IIcres of
IlInd In Ohio lind Indlllnll, IIml Illod In goud
finllnchLl clrcnmlltn.nces In 18-11. ](e WIL8
married to I~vo ]t'rylmrger lLlJout the limo
of hill olllignLting to the then torrltory of
the nurthwI'st,and she having died In1831,
ho WIlS tho second timo married,-to }~li7.n­

I.eth ROClIl'r, who dll'd in IO\\"lL,
Goorgo 1\[yors, the yonng('st son of JacolJ

lLnd I~vo Wrylmrgor) 1\lyorll, Willi lJorn 1\Ial'
17, 1804, n.ml IIIl1rriClI, Doc. 2!l, 1825, 1\tllry
I':mory, daughtor of Judgo John Emory,
lJy which union tho following childron
woro Lorn: VI'. John Eml'ry 1\IY01"8; Wil·
Iiam JI.1\lyors, marriod to Anwlin. Dunning,
I!:mmldn.ughtor of Hon. Festus Dnnnlng,

1L representlLtive In the Thlrty·second Gen­
l'rul AssemlJly of Ohio In 183:1-34 j Mn.rtin
V. n. 1\I~'ers, IIlllrrled to 1\llIrUm PlLtlon, of
Drown Co., Ohio; 1\lartha A. 1\Iyors, IIln.r­
riell to David 1\lcNelLl: l\[n.rlonlllyl'rs, mill"
rlml to Elizn. J. Dennis, of WlllhunslJurgh j

Jo:lIzlL J. 1IIyers, who diod In intimcy j 1\llIry J. Ml'ors, married to John l'axton, II. son
of SlLmnol, ILml gmndson of Cui. 'I'homlls PlIxtOn, tho first uctlllLlsoltl('r iu ClernlUnt j

and Prudence 1\[yers, l1\lLrrlod to Oscar Wood. Georgo 1\lyors 'lie,l .Tune 17, 181i6, ILIHI
his wifc, 1\IILry (Emery), Aug. G, 1&10, 'fhel' rOHldeu contlnuonsly 011 lhelr line hOlllo
hLrm In Goshen townHhll1 froll1 tho lil1le of their lIl11rrhLgo lInlil their delLthH, unll hy
inuuslry, econol1lY, und elLreful II1IL11agement lJecRII10 tho ownors of somo six hnnul'Cll
acres of hmu.

.Tohn };lIlery, the futher of lilt'll. IIll'ers, luLd emlgmtoll III 1811 frUln Now.II'I""'y
when she \VlL-~ th \"l'0 yell1"8 olu, ILIld settled nelLr the proson t town of I,,,,·eluncl. 11 i~

chunLcter for slorn intol!:rlty, together with his Htrong nutive in!L'lIocl, I1Ilule bllll a
prominent actor In the political movemollts of thut d~y, filling the olllc('s of justlco
of the pellce In IIl1aml township IL numhor of torms, rOllresontutive In tho I,ogislature
In 1828-29, wlIen Judgo Jucob Dnruot wn.s electeu United Stutes Sl'nlltor, onn of the
throe IIssoclllte judges of t!w Clorlllont Common I'lell.8 Court from 18:12 10 18:17, 1mII
helng defeuted when II. candlthLto for Sh\te SeOlLtol'ln tbe Clorll1ont UllI' Ilrowll I>Istricl
lJy u slllall lI1ujorlty onlL 10culiRsne, When JUdge Emery WlLa in tho I.egisillture tho
Goshen, 'VillI1ll1gton IIl1tl Woostor turnJ!i1to froll1 Cincinnati to ClevehLllI1 vi<t Colull1­
bus WILS clllLrtored throllgh his inflllonce, ILlded lJy Judgo J, II. Lllrwell, thenlL S('nILt01'
from 'Vayno COllnty.

Dr. John 1':lIIery Myel'll, son of George anu 1\Iary (I~lI1ory) 1I1yol's, WILH hoi'll Apl'l\
22,1827, and waH mlsed on his flLther's farm, following tho occupation of liu'l1Ilug
nntll twonty yelll'll of ul!:e. At twol\'o yours of IIge he wus uttacked with Inng diselLse,
snperlnllncedlJy being run ovor lJy II.belLvlly loaded WlIgolI, II.lId lJelng in too delicato
Iwalth for severe II1UIIIIlLI lulJot', bo chose modlcine n.s his pl'ofosslon, ILlIlI heglLn his
lI1edlclLlstudles with ])1'. A. D. Emery In 1827, lind on 1IIs (1~lIIery's) rOll1ovlLI In tho
full of thut year went Into the ofllco of Dr. 1I11nor T. Ross, of Goshon, ILIlIL studont.
Ho atteIHled loctures III 1848 lind '411ut tho Ohio 1\IClllcILI ColI('ge, CllI(-lnnatl, ulHlol'
such \Iotod men n.s D,'s. Dell, of !'hlludeillbla, BlI.xloy, of llalthuoro, 1LI1111.oclw,
1\lussey, l~dwlI.rds,and I.uwson, of C1nclnnlltl, lLH professors. In tho 8nll11110r, fnll, 111111
wintor of 184\1 he J!I1Lcticed ut 1lI00111 !toso, In nrown County, uml In 181il, huvlng
II1ILtrlculutOlI uncler Dr.•r. 1'. 1~lIIery, gmdl1l\ted ut the Ohio 1\todlcul Collogo, unllset.·
tied In Goshen, where ho blL8 since reshlod, enguged In ILII extonsive n.nd lucmti\'o
llnLctlce, savo III 187a when for u fow 1II0nthsiL sevoro uttaolt of rhoulIIlItlslII cOlllpellml
him to desist for II. whllo from active IILlJor.

The doctor stlLndsut tho beud of his profl'sslon In tho county IL8 IL III'nctitiuner, ILII,I
hilS kept \Vellinforllled In tho JIIedlcal pulJlicnUons of the age, and at the SILI1IO lIl1Io
thoronghly posted In tho cnrrent lIteruturo of tho dllY. lIIs prnctlco and excollent

business qUllllties bllve brought blm II. com.
fortable fortune.

no wn.s ~lIrrled, FelJ. 6, 1850, by Rev. L.
A. Spofford, to 1IIIss nannab Barr Walker,
daughter of Hillery Walker, on(\ of tho
early settle1"8 of WlIlill.JIIsburgb. She wn.s
lJorn }'elJ. 21, 1831, In Stirling townsblp,
Drown Co., Ohio, lind lJocnme acquainted
with the doctor wblle be wn.s practicing
ILt moolll Rose the l'ear Ilrevlous to tholr
II1l1rrlllge. The doctor nnd his wlfo hllvo
hiLt! two chlhlrell,-n son,George Duxley,
lJorn Dec, 8, 18uO, wbo dlml in InfancY,lIml
EIIIL Josephine, lJorn lItay 13, 1853, lUlll
11111.1'1"011, Jun, 7, lR70, to John D. Kerr, pulJ­
lishcr of 0","0 Stille U'yister, lit 'VIL8hillltton
COIII't-HolIse, l"R)'('llo Co. His 1IIIIIghlor
(now lilt'll. I~cl'\') Is IL I"d)' of 1'111'0 IIl11slelll
111\(1 lItomry accolllillishments. Sho WIIS
edllcaledlLt tho Goshon ACl\(leml', tho G1on­
111\11.' ]t'cnmlo College, lind tho Cincinnati
Conservatorl' oflllll~lc. At tho hLttcr hlstl.
tnlion for foul' yenrs she studied "oenl and
Instrnmontal IIIl1slc; IIl1der alJlo tel\chers
tminCll ill the eelelJnLtcl1 schools of Paris
and Stultglu'dt. lIIiss BlLur, dlrcctrCBII of
tho COnS('I'\'lItory, was her Instrllctor In
voclLl, nmll'rofessor A\111 1'1.' in Instrumental
mllslc, atllLlnlng to II. Illgh degrco of excel.
10llco In both lJmuchl's.

Dr.l\lyol'B hn.s nhvays lJeen engaged 1Il0re
or lesflillpolltlcs,and hn.s acquired celelJrlty
lJy his contrilJutions to the press nnd his
oloquent speechell on tho stllmp. A DOlllo­
crnt ill his polltlcnl doctrines, ho hn.s fol.
10wI'd tho flag of his pllrly in good an
0\"11 fortllllos, and novel' lOSes faith ill the
ultlnmto trllllllph of its principles. In
1850, upon tho wlthdmwal of JIon. John
Johnston, ho wn.s nominated lJy IIcclama­
tlull us represon tatlve hy the Coullty DOlllo­
emtle Oonvontlon, al\(laftor the 1II0St hotly
contested election over known In Clermont
WlLB vleturious over 11011. Philip D. Swing,
now judgo of the United States District
Court for SOli thorn District of Ohio. JIe
carrlm\ his OWII township (Goshell) lJy fifty­

four mlLjorils, bdure th"t tilllo tho voto IISIIILl1y resuHinl; Ina tlo hetwooll tho two
grClLt plLl'lies,lulll toolt his sellt III tho It'ift)".follrth Gellcml AssemlJly Oil .Tan. 2,
1110U. He sOI'vt'd on stlllHling and specilLl cOlIIllllUues,llmung which wcro thoso of
"lIeno\'olellt Instltutiolls," "l':nrullmt'nt,"anu the cunllllilteo appointed tu Illvestigate
tho cUllllition of l~allslLH, thell exciting IL IIlltional Illturest. 111 till' I.egislatllro he
took a prominent Ilosltlon, 1111,1 WIIS highly cOlllplimonted hy tho f'Lmous 1Lllthor lLnd
poot, W. C. 1I0wells, fur his stirring IIpeech hI reply to 1LI. attaclt npoll 111m lJy his
collellgllo fl'olll I,lclllng COllllty, 11011. WlI1lalll n, Woolls, sJ!l'alwr of the previous
Houso. 'I'he ],ogislaturo of which htl WILSIL memhcr WIIS mill of the ablest that ever
cOII\'I'II01I ut tho Stnte cupltlLl, ILlld wltn08sod tho olll'lling of tho !tebel1lon j -al\(I In
its seconll aud closing Se8111011 of tho spring ILnd SllmnHll' of l8ln wus occupied ill
ml~IL8Il1'eSIUlIl laws prcplLring tho Stnto to furnish ils 'luOllL of lIIell alld lIIelLIIS for the
sllppression of the ltobellloll.

DI·.l\ll'ors WIIS tho author of tho fi.ll1owing resolutioll, olTored III julnt con\'olltlon
of thl' two houscs hy Judgo G('orge W. Amll'ews, lIIelllhor ft'um AlIglaize, who took
it fl'um thc doclor'slllLlHls alld lriml tu g(lt tho crlllllt of ils authorship:

"Resolved, 'flllLlllI thejudgmollt of this joillt commlttc(' tho olectlOIl of nllY lIIan
to Iho Sonato of tho UnUml Statos, Who, lJl'illg a 1II0mlll!r of COllgress aud olle of 1L
cOlllmittlle to cOllsldcr rellledics for trw exlslillg lIalionlll lllmoultle", opposed to all
olTers of comprollllse, wouhllJo doing vlolellco to tho foelings of tho pooplo, 1LI1l1 tellli
to compllclLlo IIlLtlonll1 troubles ILnd hllStoll IL (lIssohlt.lOIl of tho Vlllon."

This WIIS to hOlld oil' Johll Shel'lIl1ll1, tho ltoplIlJliolln elLllllilllLtl' for sonlltol', hnt by
lL stI-lct plLrty voto of SOVtlllt)'-slx to fifty-thl'oc It WIlS llLblo.I, 'l'he docto,' Ilttlllllied
tho reCl'plloll givon hy Go\'el'lIor Donllisou to l'resi,lont Lincoln during his stay In
C01lllnbll8 whllo on l'uUtO to \Vllshiul;tun, and on being hlt"mltleo(l tho doclor salll,
"Yull look flltlglW.I, lUlll I wll1 1I0t detulll you, lilt·, I,illcoln;" \\holl tho l'r('shlellt
elect replied tlmt ho was liLlignOll, " Hut you know ono can SllllHIlL /1:rolLt delll wll(>l1
well 1l1Lltorllll," tlllls showing tho hcari of the patriot l'resloh'"I, who IUlow tho hollow
convontlonalltles of puhlic lind fllshionablo (ltlqllotto, Il11t whoso IwlJlo so1l1 heat III
WIIl'II111nisOIl with thu C0ll1111011 peoplo allli with hllll1lLnll.)' ho\\,u\,(\1' poor UI' (lish'essul\'
'1'he lloclor IlIn,ll'lLn hUllumh(o roeorlllLH a logishLtor, nlHl III all his caruOl', pnhllc !Lnd
pl'iVlLtO, hus ILII untal'nished reputation. 110 hllslJeell for IIIILny yl'nl'll ILn nctl\'o ILnd
~ealons lIIelll1Jel' of Iho I,"lt'pulIllt'lIt Ordol" 01' O'ltl-Follo\\'s, and helongH to Shllo
I.ollgo, No, 2:12, in which hu hilS jllLBSud ILII tho chairs. lIu Is connected wit.h tho
I'r('s1lytol'illll Chnrch, anll III tho CILIISO of Sunllny·schools IUIII educutiollalllllltters
hilS ('\,cr tal,en tho IIvelicst Intorest. IIis resillenco Is In the tOWII of Goshen, lind
Is unl\ of till' flllllst, in tho cOUllty,
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Jacob Myers.
Samucl Malsberry.
Samucl Nichols.
Ebenezel' Pruden.
Jllcob Stroup.
William D. Tripp.
George, Elias, anll Jesse Wood.

Legg, Arthur. Stroup, Jacob, .Jr.
*~Layman, William, No. 3801; Stroup, Jacob, No. 7093; Abra-

Henry Vowle!l, orig. prop. ham Bowman, original prop.
Morris, Jacob. Snider, Abraham.
l\Ialsberry, Samuel, No. 2374; Smith, Jesse, No. 8776; John

Henry Yoden, orig. prop. Higgins, original prop.
Ml1-yers, John. Smith, Josiah.
1\Ialsberry, Isaac. Smith, Elias.
Mayerl.l, Jacob, Jr. Smith, John. No. 3776; John
Mayers, Jacob. Higgins, original prop.
Morgan, Joseph, No. 3804; James Shetterly, George, No. 3777;

Taylor, original proprietor. Alexander Humphries,orig.
Meek, Snmuel G. proprietor.
.l\leeker, Enoch. Shetterly, Philip, No. 2753;
Murphy, James. Richard Stark,original prop.
Morgan, Abraham, No. 3790; Stephens, William.

James Taylor, orig. "rop. Sec, Elias.
Morgan, Joseph, No. 2753; Rich- Stouder, William, No. 2385; R.

ard St.'uk, orig. proprietor. C. Anderson, orig. prop.
McDonough, Samuel, No. 3804; Simpson, Jnmes.

James Taylor, orig. prop. Shetterly, David, No. 2953;
Miller, Abraham. Richard Stnrk, orig. prop.
*Myers, Jacob, No. 3777; Alex. Shriner, Christopher, No. 519;

Humphries, orig. prop. J. T. Griffin, orig. prop.
*.l\Iathews, George, No. 524; Smith, Hannah.

mahard Call, orig. prop. Shaw, Thomas, No. 3776; John
Mitchell, Jame[l,' No. 2374; Higgins, original prop.

Henry Voden, orig. prop. *Sawyer, Nathaniel, No. 12,714;
Nichols, Samuel. Nathaniel Sawyer, original
Newton, Elijah. proprietor.
*Nifong, Andrew, No. 3776; Thacker, Townsend, No. 2406;

John Iliggin!!, orig. prop. A. Vance, original prop.
Owen, Joseph. Tripp, Wm. D., No. 5959; James
Orn, Isaac. Taylor, original prop.
Oliver, John. Thacker, Benjamin, No. 2753;
Opdyke, Samuel. Hichard Stark, orig. prop.
Patton, Robert, No. 2377; WiI_ *Taylor, James, No. 5959; James

Ham Lytle, orig. proprietor. Taylor, original prop.
}lray, Stephen, No. 2377; WiI- *Taylor, Winston &; Berry, No.

liam Lytle, orig. proprietor. 519; J. T. Griffin, original
Pruden, Ebenezer, No. 2377; proprietor.

William Lytle, orig. prop. *Thompson, Elia!!, No. 3801;
Porter, William, No. 8288; WiI- Henry Vowles, orig. prop.

. Ham }lorter, orig. prop. *Tripp, Elizabeth, No. 2283; Jas.
Roudebush, Daniel, No. 2377; McCardle, original prop.

Willium Lytle, orig. prop. Vanbenthusen, James.
Roudebush, John, No. 2753; Willy, Ira.

Hiehard Stark, orig.}lrop. Willy, Elijah, Jr.
Reed, Conrad. Weaver, Frederick, No. 2377;
Roberts, Samuel. Wm. Lytle, original prop.
nenner, Samuel, No. 3801; Wea\'er, Jacob.

Henry Vowles, orig. prop. Willy, Elijah.
neath, Amos. Wood, Jesse, No. 2377; William
neader, George. Lytle, original proprietor.
Roudebush, Daniel. *Winston, Samuel, No. 2374;
"'Ramsey, William, No. 519; J. Henry Voden, original prop.

T. Griffin, orig. proprietor. *Wade, David, No. 3775; James
lIIRiggs, Beniah, No. 3776; John Morrison, original prop.

Higgins, orig. proprietor. *Wilcox, Joseph L., No. 12,232;
*Roudebush, David, No. 2753; Wilcox and Lytle, orig.

Richard Stark, orig. prop. props.
*Roudebush, Christiana, No. *Lytle, William, No. 12,232;

2753; Richard Stark, origi- Wilcox and Lytle, orig.
nalproprietor. props.

At this time, the owners of village lots at Goshen were as
follows:
J. & C. Binckley.
John P. Clough.
Lot Cooper.
Festus Dunning.
John lIi11.
Jonathan H. Jacl,son.

.. Hector Lynch.
Peter Lee.

The lots were valued at $1320, and the tax levied on
them was $9.24. The tax on real estate outside of the vil­
lage was $300.32 j and the tax on perso.nal property was
only $70.33. At that period the number of horses were
171, and of neat cattle, 351.

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

None of the records of Goshen from its organization in
1819 till 1867 have been ·preserved. That year the prin­
cipal officers were: Trustees, Jesse Smith, Daniel Bishop,
R. C. Williamson; Clerk, A. K. Smith; Treasurer, Joseph
Roudebush j Assessor, A. H. Beatty.

1868.-Tru!!tees. D!Joniel Shough, .:Marion Myer!l, Alex. C. Brown;
Clerk, A. n. Applegate; Treasurer, Daniel Holmes ; Assessor,
R. n. Irwin.

1869.-Trustees, A. C. Brown, Marion Myerl!, George Myers; Clerk,
Geo. S. Renner; Treasurer, Daniel Holmes; Assessor, Geo.
W.Fagin.

1870.-Truslees, Geo. W. Myers, Silns M. Hughes, IJ.A. E:rye; Clerk,
G. S. Renner; Treasurer, Daniel Holmes; Assessor, G. W.
Fagin.

1871.-Tru!!tees, Silas Hutchinson, n. F. Saxton, Edmund Schooley;
Clerk, G. S. Renner; Treasurer, Daniel Holmes; Assessor,
G. W. Fagin.

1872.-Truslees, Edmund Schooley, Marion Myer!!, Perine Apple­
gate; Clerk, W. B. Applegate; Treasnrer, John Berger;
Assessor, Geo. 'V. Fagin.

1873.-Trustees, Snmuel Eveland, Marion Myers, Geo. Fuller; Clerk,
C. S. Laycock; Treasurer, John Berge\'; Assessor, Geo. W.

Fagin. ,
18U.-Trustees, P. A. Hull, S. W. B. Felter, G. W. Fuller; Clerk,

C. S. Laycock; Treasurer, John Berger; Assessor, T. J.
Doughman.

1875.-Trustees, J. C. Bird. G. W. Smyser, Perine Applegate; Clerk,
C. S. Laycock; Treasurer, John Berger; Assessor, T. J.
Doughman.

1876.-Trustees, G. S. Renner, G. W. Smysor, P. A. Hn.ll; Clerk, C.
S. Laycock; Trea!!urer, John Berger; Assessor, G. W.
Fagin.

1877.-Trustees, G. S. Renner, P. H. Hall, Samuel B. Myers; Clerk,
C. S. Laycock; Treasurer, John Berger, Assessor, Geo. W.
Fagin.

lS78.-Trustecs, P. A. Hall, John Smysor, Samuel B. Myers; Clerk,
A. K. Smith; Treasurer, John Berger; Assessor, Geo. W.
Fagin.

1879.-Trustees, John Sm)'sor, Alfred Hnywood, L. G. Felter; Clerk,
A. K. Smith; Treasurer, John Berger; Assessor, Geo. W.
Fagin'; Justice of the Peace, Wm. Yost; Constables, S. J.
:Morgan and Moses Bowman.

The levy for township purposes was one mill on the dol­
lar j for roads, one mill j for cemetery purposes, one-fourth
of a mill. Severul cemeteries in the township have been
improved by appropriations voted at the annual meetings,
and have been placed in a fine tlondition.

Goshen has railway communication by means of the
Cincinnati and Marietta Hailroad, which passes through the
northwestern corner of the township, with a station at Hill's.
Entering from the west and passing towards the north­
eastern corner of Goshen is the Columbus and 'Wooster
turnpike, an improved road, whose superior is not found in
this part of the State. Other roads in Goshen have been
fairly improved, and usually the highways are in a good
condition.

.MANU.l!'ACTU lUNo. IN D US1'RIES.

On the Obannon Creek, near where it passes out of the
township, Peter Wilson, a millwright from Kentucky, put
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up small mills as early as 1798. Both were of meagre
capacity, yet proved a great accommodation to the people
of Southern Warren and Northern Clermont. In the
course of years a small distillery was also here carried on
by the subsequent owner, Joshua Cox.

Below the forks of the Obannon, Peter Frybarger got
in operation a saw-mill as early as 1808. The site was
kept up for milling purposes a number of years. Six or
seven years later David Ruudebush put up a grist-mill on
the South Branch, the work being done by John Sears as
millwright. He operated it a number of years, and for a
time also a small distillery. At a later day Wm. Martin
llad a saw-mill near by, and below this point were saw-mills
curried on by Elijah Applegate, Samuel Eveland, and Robert
McClave. About 1848, Dr. John 'V. Walker erected a
grist-mill on the Obannon, three miles from Goshen, which
was last operated by stcam-power, but was suffered to go
down after a dozen years.

On the North Brunch, on the place now owned by Nich­
olas Burkhart, Daniel Roudebush had an oil-mill and saw­
mill.• A grist-mill by Jacob Kars was got into operation
forty years ago, and later the same party had a saw-mill on
one of the branches of the Obannon.

On the South Bmnch the Irwin family had mills at an
early day, and afrer the failure ot' the water-power steam­
power was added by Yust & Wood. The mills were de­
stroyed by fire. At Shiloh is a steam saw-mill of small
capacity, which is at present the property of Geo. Scott.

Some time about 18liO, 'Vm. Yust built saw- and grist­
mills at Gushen village, which were operated by him and
Joseph Williams, but after some years were suffered to go
down. For a time the village was without a mill, but lately
a fiue one has been erected by G. 'V. Holmes and Geo. A.
Johnston. The building is a fuur-story frame, 40 by 42
feet, and is supplied with modern machinery. The motor
is steam, which is made to operate four runs of stones,
several ot' which are empluyed in the new milling process.
A large amount of custom and merchant work is done, and
the mill in its appointments and products has no superior
in the county.

In the eastern part of Goshen, :Meek & Teator had a
horse-mill, many years ago, in copnection with which were
operated carding-machines and an oil-mill j and, in addition
to the distillers already named, Joseph Morgan and Andrew
Frybarger had disti~leries in the township.

Mure than fifty years ago Daniel Uoudebush had a tan­
nery near his mills, which was afterwards carried on by
Joseph Roudebush.

At Goshen, Samuel Nichols had a tannery near the site
of the old hotel, and in the northern part of the village
Bartholomew Shannon and Arthur l\JcNeal, in former
days, carried on that busi~ess. Nearly all of these inter­
ests have declined, and Goshen is in the fullest sense an
agricultural township, and there are but few

IlA~ILETS AND VILLAGES.

At Hill's Station, on the Cincinnati and Marietta Rail.
road, a small store has been irregularly kept, and in 1871
a post-office was there established, with Barton K. Bris­
cow postmaster. In 1873 he was succeeded by; Bennett

Simonton, and four years later the present C. Schukraft was
appointed. The hamlet contains but a few houses. Two
miles south of Goshen is the hamlet of

CHARLESTON,

which contains a good school-house, a Methodist Episcopal
church, and ill the immediate locality are half a dozen.
houses. Forty years ago 'Villiam Vaughn opened a store
at this point, but in a few years he was succeeded by Charles
Thacker, who applied the name to the locality. In 1848,
George W. Boutell engaged here in trade, and has since
continued, keeping also a private post-office. Formerly the
ordinary mechanic trades were here curried on, but at present
there are only a few small cooperages. East from this ham­
let is the

SHILOH NEIGHBORHOOD,

co.ntaining a school-house, church, store, shops, and steam
saw-mill. Joseph Gaskell was the first in trade, about 1856,
and near the same time David Picklehiemer had another
store in this locality. Gaskell was succeeded by the Rev.
Alexander Jamieson, and since 1873 Pervise Randall has
kept the store. Near at hand Henry Mizener, Isaac 'Vat­
son, Samuel Reed, and others have had blacksmith-shops,
and south of this point Henry Jones has a woodwork-shop.
In this locality John D. Randall had a tile-factory a few
years from 1870. On the State road, east from Goshen,
is an old blacksmith stand, at present carried 'on by Arnold
Elstun, and farther east D. ~I. Mitchel has had a shoe-'
maker's-shop since 1861, in which from two to four hands
have been employed.

GOSHEN.

This pleasant village is near the south branch of the
Obannon, on the Cincinnati and Wooster turnpike, near
the centre of' the township. The location is particularly
favorable for a village, the site being elevated and having
easy drainage, which greatly promotes the healthfulness
and cleanliness of the place. :Few unincorporated villages
exhibit such well-kept streets, cosy residences, and attractive
surroundings as Goshen, while in business importance and
the enterprise and intelligence of its citizens no village in
Southern Ohio surpasses it. There are a seminary, three
good churches, two fine halls, used by the l\:lasons and the
Odd-Fellows, and the interests detailed in the following
pages.

Goshen derives its name from a place in New York which
bears a similar appellation, and was laid out by John Wi­
nans and Lot Cooper, Oct. 25, 1816. The original plat
embraced 86 lots, to which an addition was made March
16, 1818, by Jesse Wood, of 82 lots. Nov. 25, 1833, Dr.
Samuel G. Meek, Jesse Wood, John P. Clough, Abram
Teator, Lewis Chaney, Nathan Haywood, John Frybarger,
Cornelius Glass, Ebenezer Pruden, and B. M. Jackson
m~de an addition of 99 lots, which is sometimes called
East Goshen. Daniel Houdebush made another addition
of 27 lots, Feb. 16,1836 j and on the ~4th of April, 1849,
all the lots laid out up to that period were renumbered by
John Ferguson and L. B. Leeds from 1 to 212 inclusive.
The last addition was made Feb. 28, 1874, by William
Haight, and consisted of 11 lots ncar the seminary.

Cooper and Winans resided in Cincinnati, and laid out
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Goshen as a speculative measure; and it does not appear
that any building was put up until the following year, when
they erected a log house on the present George Holmes'
lot, and opened there the first store. After a short time
Robert McMullen used it for a public-house. The first
br~ck building was erected in the eastern part of Goshen by
Dr. S. G. Meek, and is at present the residence of William
Yost, Esq. The first store building was built on the lot
where is now the residence of Dr. Thacker, a part of the
building having entered into its construction. When the
store was raised Henry Shetterly mounted the building and
stood on his head un the ridge-pole, receiving as a reward
for his daring a gallon of wine. As the rich surrounding
country was settled up and improved the village grew apace,
and in 1837 the owners of houses were Jesse Adams,
Thomas Brunson, Benjamin Chaney, J. P. Chapman, Lewis
Cha.ney, James B. Dickey, Festus Dunning, Tubal JiJarly,
Moses Frybarger, Absalom Fisher, John. Frybarger, Gest
& Rockey, Abraham Gibl:ion, William D. Tripp, Abram
1'eator, Beujamin Thacker, Ji~zekiel Vaughn, H. Vaughn,
Andrew Morrow, and R. R. McKinnie. The fuur stores
were kept by Albert Da1't, George King, Samuel G. Meek,
and C. H. Vaughn.

In the fall of 1817, Paddleford & Parker opened the
first regular store in Goshen, occupying the building before
mentioned. The old account-book the firm used has been
preserved, and is now in Dr. Thacker's possession. From
its pages it appears that the market ruled as follows:
" Wheat, 75 cents per bushel; corn, 12 cents; oats, 3U
cents; salt, $2; cigars, 31 t cents per hundred; butter,
12~ cents per pound; powder, 75 cents; tea, $2; nails,
25 cents; muslin, $1 per yard; calico, 62~ cents."

In October, 1817, appear 220 charges of whisky, 201
quarts, at ~5 cents per quart, showing that it was one of the
staple articles of merchandise. Nearly every patron of the
store had one or more whisky debits on his account current.

Paddleford & Parker were in trade about two years, and
were succeeded by Shubal Farr. The latter had in subse­
quent years as associates James C. Hanley and George
King. In 1830, Dr. S. G. Meek engaged in trade in the
Yost building, and subsequently erected the Dr. Anshutz
house, where he also traded. Then came Albert Dart, C.
H. Vllughn, Samuel Nichols, l'Ioscs Frybarger, Arthur
McNeal, Job and William Randall, Simeon Salesman,
Samuel Trimmer, John Burkett, and others.

The first drug-store in Hoshen was opened by Dr. Thacker
in 1866, and three years ago the stock was sold to David
Roudebush, who enlarged the trade and occupies a well­
appointed building. In· addition to these firms, James
Maloy has a grocery-store at Goshen.

Festus Dunning was one of the early wheelwrights in
Goshen, having shops in the hollow, east of the main vil­
lage. In 1836 he began pork-packing, having a large
building devoted to this purpose near the present residence
of John Bird. He came to Goshen from the State of New
York in 1816, and removed to Iowa about 1840. In his
day he was one of the most active business men, and was
at one time a member of the Legislature.

In 1840, Daniel Holmes began merchandising, locating
his store near the centre of the village in 1849, where he

was successfully in trade until 1865. He was succeeded by
his sons, John and George W., who were in business uot.il
1878, when John Holmes alone continue~ the trade. Hi~

store is t11e largest and best appointed in the county; It
embraces a two-story building, 20 feet wide· by 170 feet
long, with a grocery-room attached, 12 by 40 feet, well
stocked with all lines of goods. He has a patronage from
many miles around. The dry-goods store of Holmes &
Burger is also on a large scale, embracing one story of a
building 130 feet long. '.

The public-house at present kept by Milton Cook was
opened as the first house of entertainment, before 1820, by
James Adams. !tis the oldest frame building in the vil.
lage, but has been changed somewhat. Among the land­
lords there were Jesse Wood, John Oliver, Reason Ifill,
Samuel Nichols, William Haight, Mahlon Anderson, Ben­
jamin Smith, and G. Conover. The" Toman House" was
opened to the public in 1854 by John Simpkins, and has
been kept by the present William Toman since 1863.
Here is the office of the Milford stage (daily), and the
stages to make connectio'ns with the trains at Hill's Sta­
tion call several times per day, 'bringing the village in easy
communication with Cincinnati. In the hollow east of
the main village, Jonathan H. Jackson had a tavern before
the turnpike was built; and opposite the "Cook House"
Preston Bishop ar~d Bartholomew Shannon entertained the
public in former days. For a short period a hotel was also
kept in the buildiug which now forms the residence of
William Haight, by Daniel Houdebush and others.

The mechanic trades have had many representatives.
. James Morrow and Richard Belt were old-time shoemakers.

In 1836, Samuel C. Smith engaged in that trade here, and
carried on the manufhcture of shoes until 1859, when he
was succeeded by.the present shoe dealer, A. K.' Smith.
As a wagon-maker, Festus ·Dunuing employed half a dozen
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hands; and afterwards Hector Seeley had a good shop in
the western part of the village. The present wheelwrights
are P~er Conner and Ellison Kemp.

Among the time-honored blacksmiths were Hector Lynch,
who had a shop in the lower part of the village, and
Ephraim Smith, who has here followed that trade for the
past fifty-two years. For many years this trade claimed
Ezekiel Vaughn and Abraham Fuller, the latter a good
plow-maker. In addition to the shop carried on by Smith,
John Bird and D. Day each had shops.

John P. Clough was the pioneer cabinet-maker, followed
by Ephraim Teator; and the last in that trade was Isaac
Leonard. Nathan Haywood and Elijah Applegate were
early carpenters. Anderson & Derrah had the first and
only pottery, about 1849.

John, Morgan and Henry Hanis were the first and only
saddle-tree-ruakers, at one ,time employing eight persons at
that trade, in the building at present occupied by J. B.
Robbins & Sons as an agricultural warehouse.

It B. McKinnie, about 183~, cugagcu at (;o:.hclI iu the
saddlery busincss, :lud coutinued uutil not lUauy Jeal's ugo.
At present J. C. Chntteton is cngaged in that trade.

Cornelius Glass was the first gunsmith, and was fullowed
by John Frybarger, who yet lives near GUlShen.

Irwin & Dickey had the first hat-fhctory, occupying the
small frame buildiug which yet stands neal' the post-office.
David Jones wa:; the last hatter.

Silas H. Heaton was the first tailor. J. and J. C. Felter
followed that trade about 1836, ~nd the present tuilor is
Robert Hunt.

The G~shen post-office was established March 11, 1823,
with Dr. Josiah Lyman, postmaster. There was a weekly
mail, and the rates of postage for a letter were twenty-one
cents. The subsequent postmasters have been: 1827, Sam­
uel G. Meek; 1841, A. Teator; 1845, Moses Frybarger;
185:{, Samuel C. Smith; 1855, Daniel Smith; 1859, Dan­
iel Holmes; 1860, J. Randall; 1863, I. N. \Vesterfield;
1878, Caleb S. Laycock. The office is supplied with two
}~astern and a like number of Western mail:; per day. Since
July 1, 1875, Goshen has been a postal money-ordel· office.

The first l,hysician at Goshen to locate in the practice of
his profession was Dr. Josiah Lyman, the father of the
present Dr. Daniel S. Lyman. He came from the East
in 1816, lived at Goshen until 1824, when he removed to
Batavia, but died at Greensburg, Ind. The successive
practitioners at Goshen have been very numerous, em­
bracing Drs. S. G. Meek, John Thacker, A. B. Noble"
A. Dart, John P. Emery, Hiram Cox, Andrew Robb,
Isaac Thacker, John Walker,' A. Frybarger, Isaac Wester­
field, Uichard Westerfield, and a few others. The present
physicians are all graduates of the Ohio Medical College,
and have been located at Goshen, Dr. John E. Myers, for
the past thirty-one Jears; Dr. Daniel S. Lyman, for the

. past twent.y-eight years; Dr. Townsend Thacker, for the
past twenty-five years; and Dr. Aaron Morris, for the past
twelve yeats. Dr. A. B. Anshutz is a dentist at Goshen.

Joseph Frybarger was the first regular attorney at Goshen,
buvillg an office from 1836 till 1843. He was a young
man of great promise and strong legal acumen. James
Dunlap was one of his students, and followed him in the

profession, being here from 1843 till 1878. The present
attorney, William Yost, has been in practice at Goshen
since his admission to the bar.

SECRET ORDERS.

Under this. head one of the first permanent societies in­
stituted ill the township was

SilILOII LODGE, No. 232, 1. O. O. F.

It was organized at the village of Goshen, March 27,
1854, with the following charter members: John Holmes,
John Ringer, Job Randall, J. Trump, John Randall, W.
Benton, J. N. Jones, M. Anderson, and Lewis Galvin.
Among the early initiates were P. Milner, John Applegate,
W. J. Caudle, James Stouder, \V. S. Anderson, John 'V.
Lancaster, Lewis Salesman, and J. E. Myers.

. John H.andall was elected the first Noble Grand ; Joseph
Trump, Vice-Gmnd; J. N. Jones, Per. Sec.; John Ringer,
Rec. Sec.; and Lewis Galvin, Treas.

The Noble Grands since the institution of the lodge have
been the following:

1854, John Randall, J. Trump; 1855, J. Ringer, J.
Holmes; 1856, M. Anderson, L. Terwilliger; 1857: J.
Trump, James Adams; 1858, L. Terwilliger, J os. Williams;
1859, Eli Williams, William Haight; 1860, P. A. Hall, J.
E. :l\fyers; 1861, J. "'V. Ross, James Hitch; 1862, J. Han­
dall, Noah Terwilliger; 1863, William Toman, J. Applegate;
1864, J. Ringer, William Toman; 1865, John Applegate,
Jos. Williams; 1866, William B. Applegate, John H.inger;
1867, L. Terwilliger, John Frybarger; 1868, A. B. Apple­
gate, D. M. Mitchell; 1869, B. S. Saxton, George Trump j

1870, H. R. Hill, James Pray; 1871, Jonas l~llsworth,

Michael Roat; 1872, William F. Ellsworth, Moses Bow­
man; 1878, J. H. Stump, John Ringer; 1874, Robert
Gibbs, Moses Bowman; 1875, C. Smith, T. J. Chaney;
1876, J. C. Bird, David Gibbs; 1877, J. Ringer, John
Yakey; 1878; R. Dunlap, H. Gibbs, Jr.; 1879, Silas
Hughes, D. Day.

For the first term in 1880 the officers were George
Smysor, Noble Grand; John Smysor, Vice-Grand j J. C.
Bird, Rec. Sec.; C. Smith, Per. Sec. ; John Holmes,
Treas.

Shiloh Lodge has contributed members to form Odd­
Fellows' lodges at Pleasant Plain, Edenton, and other
points, and its membership, although large in the aggre­
gate, numbers at present but 65. These assemble in an
attractive hall, which was erected on the principal street in
Goshen village, in 1873, at a cost of $3000.

LIVE OAK ENCAMPMENT, I. O. O. F.,

dates its institution from June 22, 1874, and its charter
contains the name~ of John Ringer, William Toman, R. A.
Gibbs, P. A. Hall, J. Fl'ybarger, John Holmes, J. C. Mc­
C~rd, and J. Debolt. At the beginning of 1880 it had 30
members und the following officers: L. T. Felter, P.; G.
W. Smitb, H. P.; Henry Gibbs, S. W.; D. Day, J. W.;
J. C. Bird, S.; aud John Holmes, T.

Since 1874 the two principal officers have been the
following:

Patriarclts.-1874, John Ringer; 1875, P. A. Hall,
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William Toman j 1876, John Bird, David Gibbs j 1877,
T. J. Cheney, D. M. :l\'Iitchell; 1878, John Hohnes, It.
Dunlap; 1879, S. 1\1. Hughes, C. Smith.

High Priests.-1874, P. A. Hall j 1875, D. 1\1. Mitchell;
]876, George Gibbs, M.l\IcClave; 1877, William Gibbs,
S. M. Hughes j 1878, George Smith, G. \V. ~mith; 1879,
G...w. Smith.

GOSHEN LODGE, No. 119, F. AND A. 1\1.,

was instituted Oct 25, 1844, with charter members as fol­
lows: ~rhomas H. Folds, Edward C. Johnson, John 'Emery,"
Nathan Haywood, Arthur McNeal, Preston ~,isllOP, Richard
P. McKinnie, David Simpkins, Ezra Williams, Abraham
B. McNeal, George Gaff, and A. F. McAdams. Among
the first initiates were N. \V. Bishop, Jacob \Vainwright,
Emley Barber, and Alfred Noble.

N. \Y. Bishop was chosen the first ,rorshipful Master;
Ezra 'WilIiams, Senior Warden j and A. B.l\IcNeal, Junior
'Varden. The lodge has had a good membership, and at
present reports 37 as belonging. The hall in which these hold
their communications is a fine two-story building, erected
by the lodge in 18i8. It is a frame 26 by 56 feet, costing
$1900, alid was dedicated Oct. 10, 1878, by Kelly O. Neal,
of Lebanon, Ohio.

The officers of the lodge in 1880 were Charles \Y. Hob­
bins, Vf. 1\1.; Isaac N. Anderson, S. \V.; Philip A. Hall,
J. \Y.; 'William Haight, Trens.; Daniel L. Bishop, Sec.;
Jacob \Yainwright, S. D. j John Holmes, J. D.; and
Joseph Daniels, Tyler.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

One of the first schools in the township was taught in
the Myers neighborhood by John Hill. The house stood
on the lot at present occupied by the cemetery, and was
but.a little better than a hut of round logs. There was a
puncheon floor, slab seats, and the windows were of sized
paper greased to more readily admi~ the light. What heat
was required was given out by a huge fire at. one end of the
room, the smoke being carried off by a stick chimney on
the outside of the house. A better building afterwards
occupied the same site, and schools were there taught many
years, among the teachers being Samuel Anderson, Joshua
Simpson, Sarah Roudebush, Absalom Fisher, .. Alvah Whit­
ney, and Mary Blackstone.

About 1805· a school was taught in the western part of
the township, on the present Porter farm, the teacher being
a muscular Irishman named Mitchel. It was continued
but a short time, and was probably the first in the township.
In 1807 a school was taught in a log cabin, a mile south of
Goshen, by Samuel Malsbury. In the village John Beatty
(afterwards a judge) taught the first school. Charles
Vaughn, James Simpson, and William Roudebush were
also early teachers here.

The records of the township do not afford us an insight
of the schools farther back than 1870, the earlier records
having been destroyed.

In 1879 the board of education was composed of Marion
Myers, President j A: K. Smith, Clerk; G. W. Cox, S. M.
Hughes, L. Sebert, J. C. Bird, G. S. Renner, D. Ferree,
F. Wolf, E. Schooley, John Conley, and Alfred Haywood.

63

There were 11 school buildings, whose average value was
reported at $1000. The schools were maintained thirty­
seven weeks pet· year, and were attended by 478 p.upils,
whose instruction cost $3365. .

A large degree of interest in higher education was early
manifested among the people of Goshen, and on the 7th of
December, 1835, the Hev. L. G. Gaines, the Presbyterian
mini~ter, opened a select school or academy in a log build­
ing about a mile and a half' southwest from Goshen. The
school was well attended, and under Mr. Gaines' instruction
the different studies were successfully pursued, the pupils
making rapid strides in knowledge. Mr. Gaines was a
thorough teacher, a rigid disdplinarian, and labored until'­
ingly to promote the welfare of his school. For a time he
was assisted by Dr. Colin Spence, of Perin's Mills, and it
is a somewhat singular fact that of the young men who
attended a large proportion of them became physicians,
many of them attaining eminence in the practice of medi­
cine. Among the pupils of 1\11'. Gaines' " Quail Academy,"
as it was locally called (probably from a fancied resem­
blance to a quail-trap), were Dr. Townsend Thacker and Dr.
John E. Myers, of Goshen; Dr. John S. Combs, of Bos­
ton; Dr. Philip B. Gatch, of Milford; Dr. Alexander
Johnston, Dr. Hamilton Cox, Judge Joseph Cox, and Law­
yer John Johnston, of Cincinnati j Rev. Ralph Naylor and
Dr. Preston Bishop, of 'Varren County;- Dr. Whittaker
Bishop, of Loveland; Dr. L. W. Bishop, of Batavia; Dr.
Reuben Bishop and Drs. John 'and William Gaines. Mr.
Gaines kept up his school about ten years, and after his
removal to Williamsburgh he had a select school at that
place a few years, which was also promotive of much good.

THE GOSHEN SEMINARY.

This institution of learning owes its existence to an or­
ganized effort on the part of the citizens of the village,
April 12,1860, to form a stock company for the purpose of"
erecting a bl:lilding to be used to promote higher education.
The capital stock was fixed at $2000, in shares of $25, to
be paid in three installments, all the money to be applied in
erecting the house and furnishing the same. Seven trus­
tees were to be elected annually, who were to choose from
their number a chail'Dlan, secretary, and treasurer. On the
21st of April the first board of trustees was selected, as fol­
lows: Caleb Oliver, President jAbram Teator, Secretary j
Richard Roudebush, Treasurer; Samuel Nichols, Harvey
Irwin, John Applegate, and Thomas Dewey. In due time
the association became an illcorpprated body, in complia~ce

with the laws of the Sta~e, and has since so continued.
The trustees in 1879 were Caleb Oliver, President j Wil­
liam Haight, Secretary j Richard Roudebush, Treasurer j
G. W. Myers, G. S. Renner, E. P. Yoeman, and V. F.
Leever.

In the' summer of 1860 the seminary building, a two­
story brick edifice, 30 by 50 feet, was erected at a cost ~f

nearly $5000. It is located on a little knoll, which gives it
a commanding appearance, and it has an attractive campus.
The house was first occupied for school purposes in the
spring of 1861, but the school thus begun failed to realize
the expectations of the founders of the seminary.

The first successful school ~~s taught in ~862 by Prof.
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the house was burned down, but was speedily rebuilt.
Again it suffered disaster,-a tornado, in May, 1859, in­
juring the edifice so much that it had to be rebuilt. Since
that time it has been thoroughly repaired, and is now quite
a respectable place of worship.

In 1879 the trustees were B. R. Hill, Handolph Leming,
Daniel Bish~p, Perine Applegate, and George 'N. Myers.
In connection with the church is a respectable parsonage.

Until 1847 the church belonged to Milford Circuit, but
in 1860 Goshen became a station, and Charleston was

.taken in as a preaching-place; also Shiloh, in 186S-69.
Since being set off from Milford Circuit the ministry of

the church has been as follows:

George H. Hill, and for nine years he presided over the
seminary, conducting it on Ilis own responsibility, and
Ilaving absolute control of everything except the building.
This line of poliey has since been adhered to by the trus­
tees.

In 1872, W. O. Hopkins took charge of the seminary
and taught several years, being followed by L. 1\1. Nevius,
who also carried on the school several years.

Since September, 1879, Professor C. 1\'1. Riggs has been
principal of the seminary, and under his administl'lltion it
has again taken a firm hold upon the confidence of the
citizens of Goshen, who award it a liberal patronage. It is
conducted in a practieal manner upon liberal principles,
having a comprehensive course of study, which students
muy pursue as they elect, under the guidance of the prin­
cipal. The scholastic year consists of four terms of eleven
weeks each, and at appropriate periods lectures upon rele­
vant subjects are delivered. It is aimed to have the semi­
nary sustain the same relation to Northern Clermont that
the Clermont Academy, near New Richmond, bears to
Southern Clermont.

Cunference District~.

] 8~ 7-~O Eust Ci~~innl\£i,
18;)1-;)4 .
1855-58 Hillsboro',
] 859-62 Ellst Cincinnati,
186a Ripley,
] 864-IHl Ell.st Cincinnllti,
]867...... "
]808-70 .
1871-74 .
1875-78.................. "
1879 .

Elders.
J. 1\1. Fowble.
J. F. Wright.
G. W. Walker.
W. Young.
J. W. Fowble.

"
J. M. Willden.
L. F. Van Cle\"e.
J nmes F. Chalfant.
W. L. Hypes.
A. B. Leollurll.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

The" Methodists early oceupied the country which is now
embraced within the bounds of Goshen, awl the labors of
the Hevs. Philip Gatch and Francis McCormick resulted
in the formation of a class in 1803, whidl had muong its
members John Irwin and wife and part of his family;
Samuel 1\1alsberryand wife; .Jacob Stroup and wife; D.
Roudebu::;h and wife; Mrs. Andre~ Shetterly; Adam
Hoy, and possibly a few others. Some of these had pre­
viously attended meetings at Hamsey's, in the northern part
of Miami, and may have been connected with the class
there. For some time the preaching-place in Uoshen was
at Adam Hoy's, near what was known as Sugar Grove.
'rhen the place of meeting was at John Irwin's, a mile and
a half south of Goshen village, where in 1811 was erected
the first meeting-house in the township. It was a plain
log structure, and had for its trustees Banmel Westerfield,
Samuel Malsberry, David Uoudebush, Jacob Frybarger,
Peter Leever, John Prickett, Thomas ~huward, Calvin
Riggs, and Restore Morton. Here George King organized
the first Sunday-school in the township, and preaching was
here maintained until about 18:35. About 1807 Adam
Leever came to Goshen, and soon after another class of
Methodists was formed at his house, he being the leader. In
the school-house near his home preaching was also held
until the period above named. Meantime a class had been
formed at Goshen village, which had, in 1822, G~orge

King as leader, followed in time by Shubal Farr, Wash­
ington Dudley, and Moses Frybarger. These classes con-

. tributcd to ·the formation of the present

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH AT GOSHEN,

but who composed the original members it is impossible to
determine from the meagre records at hand. In 1832,
Adam Leever, John Beatty, and Elijah Applegate were ap­
pointed to make arrangements to erect a meeting-house at
the village, !lond consummated that object in a short time,
b~ildiQ~ OQ a ~Qt ~iveQ by George King. In March, 1846,

PREACHERS IN CHARGE.

1847-48, Thomas W. Chnndler, James A. Taylor; 1849, J. n. Ells­
worth, J. C. Hll.l·ding; 1850, J. B. Ellsworth, E. G. West; 1851,
Nathnniel Westermnn, H. T. Mngill; 1852, Nathaniel Wester­
man. A. U. Beall; 1853, 1\1. G. l'urkiser, J. C. Maddy; 1854,
1\1. G. Purkiser, Isaac Neff; 1855, Jesse Rankin, Isaue Neff;
1856, D. Kemper, J. M. Robinson; 1857, D. Kemper, W. J.
Thurber; 1858••J. B. Ellsworth, W. J. Thurber; 1859, J. M.
Gatch, J. 1\1. Sullivan; 1860-61, J. C. BOlltecou; 1862, E. :i\Ic­
Hugh; 1863, Thomlls Lee; 1864-66, J.:\1. Sullivan; 1867-68,
William RunYllD; 1869-70, James S. Perregrinc; 1871-72, Wil­
liam D. Shannon; 1873-75, John F. Loyd; 1876-78, H. C. Mid­
dleton; 1879, C. 1I. Lawton.

THE CIIARLESTON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCII.

The Methodists in this part of the township held their
meetings in the old Irwin meeting-house until that place
was abandoned as a regular appointment. Preaching was
then had at the school-house, in the Charleston neighbor­
hood, until about twenty-five years ago, when the present
meeting-house was erected. It is a small frame, but appears
respectable and well accommodates the people ot' this part
of Goshen. It stands on a lot of ground donated oy John
Hill, who largely contributed to its erection, and was one
of the early members here. Others associated with him
were George Scott, Sr., Judge John Beatty; Harvey Irwin,'
Abram Beatty, Wm. Beatty, Noah Cook, and their families.
The present memberBhip is composed of about 50 persons,
and the church forms a part of' the Newtonville Circuit,
the minister in charge being the Rev. W. N. Williams. A
good Sunday-school is maintained under the superintend­
ence of John Hill, assisted by Mrs. G. W. Boutell.

THE SHILOH l\1ETHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

This is a brick house of shapely proportions, about two
miles east of the above church. It was built in 1847, on
a part of the John Handall farm, of brick, which were
made on the farm of' Daniel Phelps. l'hese gentlemen,
Abiel Losey, Jonathan Gillespie, Benjamin Leever, Jona­
than Schooley, and their families constituted the early mem
bel'S. At the house of the latter the first meetings were held.
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The church has sustained various relations for its ministry,
belonging last to Newtonville Circuit, but is at present sup­
plied by a local minister from Warren County. In this
house the United Brethren occasionally preached, and lately
a 'society of Quakers has here been formed. The trustees
of the building are John 'V. Pray, Abiel J.Josey, and Jona­
than Giliespie.

Ncar the church is a neat cemetery belonging to the
township, and in the rear of it the well-known "Shiloh
Camp-Meeting Grounds," consisting of a few acres of fine
woodland, containing the necessary buildings and appoint­
ments. They are controlled by the different Methodist
Churches of' this Conference district. The meetings held
here are usually largely attended and promotive of much
interest, and this is one of the few places in the county
where old-fashioned camp-meetings are maintained.

THE McKENDREE :METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH,

on the State road, three miles east from Goshen, is a good
brick edifice sixty feet long, surmounted with a small belfry,
and is plainly but substantially finished. It was built about
twenty years ago at a cost of $2000 by Joseph Hall, Lem­
uel Jackson, Stephen Jackson, Adam Hoffman, and others.
Prior to this a small frame meeting-house occupiedthe site,
having been built in 1838. The church was served with
Goshen until that appointment was made a station, and at
present belon@' to Butlerville Circuit, the Rev. A. Hamil­
ton being tIle preacher in charge.

THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH OF GOSHEN.

In the spring of 1829 the Presbyterians living at Goshen,
who held their membership with the Bethel Church, in
Warren County, inaugurated a movement to build a house
of worship at Goshen; and as many citizens co-operated,
the h~use, which was built the following year, was called
the" Union Church," and was the first building consecrated
t') divine worship in the village. It was occupied by va-"
rious persuasions, and in it was organized, Sept. 11, 1838,
the Presbyterian congregation of Goshen. Among the
constituent members were persons belonging to the Barber,
Lafferty, Owens, Paxton, Eveland, Biggs, Frybarger, Oli­
ver,. Garrettson, Hindman, Spence, Thacker, Anderson,
Rapp, 'Vesterfield, McKinnie, Cooper, Whittaker, Barr,
H~ywood, Dunlap, Gaines, Brunson, Vaughn, Wood, Wal­
ker' Felter, Bishop, Williamson, Scott, Leever, Cochrane,
and Elstun families, to the number of more than 6(}
persons.

The Rev. L. G. Gaines was the first minister of the
church, which. belonged to a parish which embraced Boston,
Perin's Mills, and the old Bethel Church; but in time the
former were dropped, and latterly Goshen alone was served
with Bethel. Mr. Gaines severed his connection with the
church Feb. 21, 1846, and 011 the 14th of ,April of the
following year Rev. James S. Kemper was ordained and
installed as ~the pastor, maintaining that relation about a

. year. From that period until 1875 the congregation was
supplied with preaching; but in the year last named the
Rey. A. M. Carson begun his pastoral labors, which were
continued about two years. Since that time the congrega-

tion has llad but little preaching, and although the meID-'
bership is moderately large, the church is not in a very
flourishing condition.

The original session of ruling elders was composed of
John Oliver, Joseph Owens, Isaac Westerfield, WID.
Thacker, John W. Spence, and R. B. McKinnie, church
clerk. The latter served until he was succeeded by 'the
present clerk, 'Nm. Haight. The present elders are Mathew
Cushing,· ordained Sept. 23, 1871; George W. Holmes and
William Hajpht, ordained Feb. 23, 187? j and the deacons
are 'V. H. Nichols, A. B. Anshutz, and Samuel W. Shane.
Other ruling elders have been Stephen Whittaker, Moses
Elstun, Caleb Oliver, James G. Turner, and Jacob French.

In the course of years the title to the ownersl1ip of the
Union church vested in the Presbyterians, who have re­
paired the house, and it is now a comfortable place of wor­
ship.

THE UNIVERSALIST CHU-RCH OF GOSHEN.

The Goshen Universalist society was organized Feb. 1,
18!6, by the Rev. D. R. Biddlecome, w,ith officers and
members as follows: Trustees, Seth Gordon, Samuel Eve­
land, and Robert McClave; Treasurer, A. B. Noble j Clerk,
G. S. Renner; William Terwilliger, Lewis Terwilliger,
David McClave, Mercy Renner, Peter Yost, Felix Morgan,
Joseph Morgan, David Fisher, Ebenezer .pruden, W. G.
Renner, Thomas Dewey, and O. B. Fisher.

In Au~'Ust, 1846, the society appointed Seth Gordon,
Wm. Terwilliger, and G. S. Renner delegates "to the
Ballou Association, with instructions to ask the fellowship
of' that body and an admission to represent this church in
the counciL"

The clergy who have ministered for the society have
been, in addition to the Rev. D. R. Biddlecome, the Revs.
W. Y. Emmett, R. Brear, W. S. Bacon, R:T. Polk, J. W•.
Henby, J. D. H. Corwin, and J. S. Cantwell. One min­
ister originated from the society, Jabez Npwton Emery, son
of Elisha J. Emery.

The meeting-house was built in 1848, in the eastern
part of the village. It is of brick, 32 by 40 feet, and is
very attractive in its appearance. The trustees at that
time w-ere Samuel Eveland, Thomas Dewey, and William
Terwilliger, with G. S. Renner as clerk. In 1869, Samuel
C. McCord, E. J. Emery, and C. S. Laycock were elected
trustees, and have continued to act as such up to the pres-,
ent time.

The Sunday-school, conducted in the church, was or­
ganized in 1859, and had Lewis Terwilliger as superin­
tendent and C. S. J.Jaycock secretary and treasurer. For
tpe past ten years Miss Affabell McCord has superintended
this school, which is well attended and maintained with
much interest.

Near Charleston was formerly a Free-Will Baptist Church,
but after the Hebellion what interests remained were trans­
ferred to Pleasant Plains, in )Varren County, the meeting­
house heing now used as a residence. The house was first
erected north of Shiloh, but in 1850 it was taken down
and rebuilt near Charleston. Among the members were
the D!1dley, Ross, Boutell, and Myers families.
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BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HE~.

DR. D. S. LYMAN.

The Lyman filmily in medical and legal jurisprudence is
one of the most distinguished in America; and is not only
110110rably associated with the annals of New England, go­
ing back to its very first settlement, but its lineage is traced
to a time prior to the Norman conquest of England. Its
original name, Leoman (J.Jion-man ?), rolling ~wifLly from
the tongue in familiar conversation, passed into authentic
history as Leman. Like most of the English surnames,
this has passed through many changes in settling down to
its present orthography, and in the first fifty years of the
Puritan records it was generally written Liman, but early
in the last century it took the fixed and settled form of its
present appropriate orthography, Lyman. The Lyman
fimlily have at different times borne five separate armorial
bearings or emblems, but the coat-of-arms most frequently
adopted by them is that of Sir John Lyman, Lord :Mayor
of London a few years before the first immigration to this
country. The significance of these emblems and the origin
of these armorial bearings is given by Burke: that in the
twelfth year of the reign of King James the Fir~t a coat­
of-arms was granted to Sir .John Lyman, viz., "Azure, a
chevron embowed, three dolphins naient, argent." These
dolphins are said to be "symbols of social love." The
coat-of-arms is surmounted by a pelican with a bloody crest
feeding her offspring,-also an emblem. The earliest coat­
of-arms had for its motto "Quod Verum Tutum." Our
first knowledge of this family name is obtained from the
register or survey of the lunds of England, and known as
Doomsday Book. This record of over eight hundred years
ago says that Osbert Leman had in Hampshire two and a

.half hides in Hayling Island, and held them in parcenary
of King Edward; but Harold deprived him of them when
he nsurped the kingdom, and converted them into royal
manor. This measure was equivalent to one hundred
acres.

Richard Lyman, the patriarch of all the Lymans in
America, was born in High Ongar, Essex County, in .Eng­
land, twenty-five miles south from London, and was.· bap­
tized when an infant, Oct. 30, 1580. He married Sarah
Osborne, of Halstead, in Kent. They emigrated to Amer­
ica. in 1631, and settled in Charlestown, :Mass. Their son,
Richard (2d), married Hephzibah, daughter of Thomas
Ford, of Windsor, Conn. Their eldest son was Richard
(3d), born in Winds~r, Conn., in 1647, and he married,
lUay, 1675, }~lizabeth, .daughter of John Coles, of Hatfield,
lUass., and in 1696 removed to Lebanon, Conn. Their
second son, Uichard (4th), born in 1678, married, April 7,

. 1700, lUary 'Voodward. Their sixth child, J'ohn Lyman,
born Jan. 10, 1711, married for his first wife Hannah

. Birchard, Feb. 25, 1730, and for his second wife Mary
Strong, Sept. 3, 1747. John was u. farmer in Lebanon,
Conn., a deacon in the Congregationalist Church, an inti­
mate fi'iend of Governor Jonathan Trumbull, an. ardent
patriot and strong Whig. He was ~oo old to engage in the
Revolutionai'y war, but sent several of his sons. His
I:!e\'enth and ~'oungest child-and by his second wifc:--was

Josiah Lyman, born in Lebanon, Conn., Aug. 11, 1760.
He served bravely in the Revolutionary war. He married
Eunice Tiffany, Sept. 22, 1782, and in 1785 moved to
Williamstown, Vt., then in 1803 to Brookfield, and finally
to Randolph in same State, where he dicd in 1831. He
had four children,-three daughters-Apame, married to
Daniel Child; J...ois, married to Daniel Washburn; Eunice­
and one son, Josiah.

Josiah Lyman was born in 'Williamstown, Vt., June
24, 1788, and studied medicine in that State, receiving his
diploma Dec. 13, 1815, from the Vermont lUedical Society,
and which is signed by E. Huntington, its president. In
1818 he emigrated to Clermont Co., Ohio, of which he was
one of the pioneer physicians. He settled in Goshen in
1818, removed to Batavia about 1826; in 1832 located

. in Cincinnati, in that noted cholera year, and afterwards
settled in Greensburg, Ind., where he died Jan. 2, 1842.
He was an excellent physician, and many of the older
people of Clermont remember with affection his professional
kindness and services. He married Eunice Dart, March 5,
181-1, by which union several children were born, of whom
four were named David It, Daniel Stone, Albert Dart, and
James D.

Dr. Daniel S. Lymmi was born in Goshen, of this county,
Nov.,14, 1820, and graduated at the Ohio Medical College
of Cincinnati in 1847. He then located at Boston for
seven years and practiced his profession, and then settled at
Goshen, whcre up to this date he has been in a large and
lucrative practice. He is very e1Dinent as a practitioner,
and has achieved marked financial success. He attributes
his success in life largely to the happy admonitions of his
distinguished father, Dr. Josiah Lyman, never to use to­
bacco or intoxicating stimulants, which advice he has
strictly followed; hence his mind and constitution have
never been impaired by these narcotics, and he has been
enabled to endure all the vicissitudes of a profession that
takes him out all hours of' the night, in all kinds of
weather, and over all manner of roads. He was one of
the projectors of the Clermont County :l\Iedical Association
in 1853, and has been its preside~t. He is also a member
of two other county ·medical societies and likewise of the
Ohio State Medical Association. The Oincinnati Lancet
and Observer of January, 1877, contained a very able and
elaborate paper, written by Dr. Lyman, on "Alcohol, its
Effects in Health j its Remedial Applications in Disease j

Where and When it should be used." This paper attracted
extraordinary attention in the medical profession, and won a
proud distinction for its learned author.

Dr. Lyman is universally esteemed for his ability as a
physician and surgeon, as well as for his many estimable
traits of character, which give him a. marked prominence
in Clermont as a. worthy successor to his illustrious father
in the medical science, and which stamp him as an honored
scion of a fa.mily celebrated in the brightest of American
annals. ..

GILMAN S. RENNER.

Gilman Sample Renner is of German extraction, and
was born Dec. 16, 1822, on the farm on which he now
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resides and owns. His father, Samuel Renner, was born
in the State of Maryland, near Baltimore City, and bein~

left an orphan, was at the tender age of nine years thrown
upon his own resources. When he arrived at his majority
he moved to Pennsylvania and settled in 'Washington
COUI1ty, and there was united in marriage to Miss ~:lercy

Gordon, daughter of 'William Gordon, and of Irish de­
scent. In the year 1819 he emigrated to Ohio, and located
in Goshen township, of this county, where he purchased
land. He was .a careful and Rystematic farmer, a useful
citizen, and died lamented by the community, Oot. 1, 1843,
aged fifty-eight years. Gilman S. Renner received in the
country district schools a good common education, and at­
tended for a time the noted select school or academy over
which the Rev. L. G. Gaines, then the most prominent ed­
ucator of the county, presided for a series of yeurs. His
motile!", Mercy (Gordon) Renner, died in :May, 1857. She
wus a woman of unusual good sense and domestic graces.
He taught school some four years continuously in the north
of the county, and had the deserved reputation of being
an excellent teacher. He was married on Jan. 20, 1858,
by Rev. Mr. Polly, to Miss Mahala Quin Browning, of
Fleming Co., Ky., daughter of Basil and 1\1ary (Bright)
Browning, by whom he has had the following children,­
Horace N., Edward Marshal, Cora ~I., Henry Clay, Nellie
Alice, and who died aged eighteen months; and Herbert
M., the youngest child. His wife, Mahala Quin Brown­
ing, was born June 15, 1834, in Fleming Co., Ky., and
was of a family of seven children, of whom the other~ were
Minerva, married to William Thomas; Lennie, married to
Lewis Bushman, of Monroe township, in this county;
Henry Clay; Seney P., married to Thomas Newdegate;
Sarah Ann, married to John Dickey; and J obn Edward.
She was the daughter of Basil Browning, who died in
1854, of' cholera, in his sixty-fourth year, having been
born in ·:Maryland in 1790, and whose father emigrated to
Kentucky about 1792, being one of the pioneers of Flem­
ing County. Her mother, Mary, was the daughter of Ed­
ward Bright, one of the early settlers .of Kentucky in
1787. Her filther, Basil Brownin~, in old times made
t,hirteen trips to New Orleans with boats of produce and
provisions, and every time walked back through the Indian
nution, suffering many privations and exposed to constant
dangers. Gilman S. Renner has served several years as
trustee of Goshen township and as township clerk, and in
1878 was the Democratic nominee for county infirmary
director, but, together with the nominees of his party for
auditor and clerk of the court, was defeated by a union of
the Republican and Greenback parties that carried the
county. He is an ardent Democrat in politics, and with
his w~fe is a member of the Goshen· Universalist Church,
of which Rev. Mr. Fitzgerald is the pastor. He has for
some eighteen years belonged to Goshen Lodge, No. 119,
ot' Free and Accepted Masons, and to this ancient and hon:­
orable order he is devotedly attached. He has served nearly
twenty years on the township school board, and in educa­
tional matters has ever been deeply interested. His fine
farm of'three hundred acres borders on the Warren County
line, and bis handsome residence lies on the Goshen and
Wilmington turnpike, about three miles northeast of the

former town. He is a general farmer, and one of the best
in the county, and besides a large hay crop in 1879, he
raised fifteen bundred bushels of potatoes ~nd eight hun­
dred of wheat. He is a self-made man, who by his own
exertions, careful management, and industry has accumu­
lated a large share of tMs world's goods, and lives with
most agreeable surroundings about him, as a reward for his
diligence and labors; and his success is largely attributable
to the aid of Ilis excellent wife, whose rare domestic excel­
lencies have been of timely assistance to him in the pil­
grimage of life.

MARION MYERS.

Jacob Myers, formerly called Moyer, was born 'in Penn­
sylvania in 1770 j emigrated in 1795 to Lexington, Ky. ;
in 1797 came to Columbia, Ohio j and in 1798 removed to
what is now Goshen township, of this (but then of Hamil­
ton) county. He was married to Eve Frybarger about the
time of his remo,al to Ohio, and she dying in 1831, he
subsequently married Elizabeth Reeder. Jacob Myers died
in 1841, leaving a large estate in Ohio and Indiana, and at
one time had owned over fifteen hundred acres of land.
George Myers was the youngest son of Jacob and Eve
(Frybarger) Myers, and was born May 17, 1804. He
married, Dec. 2!1, 1825, Mary Emery, dnughter of Judge
John Emery, who emigrated in 1811 from New Jersey
and became a prominent public man in Clermont's early
annals. From this union were born Dr. John K Myers,
William H. Myers; Martin V. B. Myers, Martha A., mar­
ried to David McNeal; Marion Myers, Eliza J., died in
infancy j Mary J., married to John Paxton; and Prudence,
married to Oscar Wood. Mrs. Mary (Emery) Myers died
Aug. 6, 1846, and her husband, George Myei's, deceased
June 17 ~ 1856. This worthy couple 'resided contin­
uously on their home-farm from their marriage until their­
deaths, and accumulated a landed ('state of six hundred
acres, and lived in comfort with all the conveniences of life.
They raised a family of children all noteu in the profes­
sional, agricultural, political, and social walks of this county.
The Myers families from the very earliest days of Clermont's
history have been noted in Goshen township for their thrift,
business standing, and high social position. Marion Myers,
the fifth child of' George and 1\Iary (Emery) Myers, was
born in Goshen township: Nov. 26, 1835. He was brought
up on a farm, and educated in the district schools, receiving
a good education in the English branches. About the year
1856 he purchased ninety-two and one-half acres of his
father's lands, and on May 9, 1860, was married by Rev.
T. F. Cortleyon to Miss Lide J. Dennis, of Williamsburgh,
daughter of Elijah and Susannah Dennis. In 1867, Mr.
Myers erected his beautiful residence, which, with its de­
lightful surroundings, is one of the pleasantest in Clermont.
This fiirm when purcha~ed by him in 1856 had no im­
provements on it, but to-day it is not excelled by any home­
stead-farm in the county. The fEll·tile soil has been im­
proved by him until in its bountiful cultivation it has no
superior j and its fine orchards and model fences, with hand­
some shrubbery near the dwelling, denote the good taste
and judgment of its owner and his estimable wife, and
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stamp him as one of our neatest and most successful farm­
ers. They are both exemplary members of the Methodist
Episcopal Church, and for many years he has been one of
the leading members of the Clermont County Sabbath­
School Union, in which he has often served as an official,
and is its secretary for the year 1880. Since 1869 he has
been one of the directors of the Clermont County Agricul­
tural Society, and for the past two years its vice-president,
and always one of the largest exhibitors at its annual fairs.
He 11as frequently served as township trustee and in the
township board of education, of which he is now president.
In all the positions he has held in public or church matters,
or in the fair boards, his critical judgment, good sense, and
affability of manner have secured him a large number of
friends and made him a valuable and popular official.
'Vhile he is a general farmer, and cultivatcs nearly all the
productions common to Clermont soil, he gives considerable
prominence to fruits and to hay, the latter being more ex­
tensh'ely grown in Goshen and Wayne than in any other
two townships of the county. He is greatly interested in
the schools of the land anu in all moral reforms for the ad­
vancement and amelioration of mankind. His residence is
about three miles from Goshen, nnd some four miles'from
Loveland, is located in one of the best ngricultuml regions
of Ohio, and the tra\'eler passing his beautiful hOUle is at­
tracted by the bcauty of its surroundings and t he cosy com­
fort of the placc, causing him to remark the content and
happiness that would naturally be the lot of its occupants
and owners. .

ROBERT l\IcCLAVE.

The l\IcClavp. family is of Scotch-Irish extraction, but
very early in the seventeenth century some of its members
emi~rated to Massachusetts. Thomas 1\1cClave served
seven years in the old Colonial" French and Indian war,"
from 1757 to 1764, in the Canadas and Northern fron­
tiers, and participated in many battles and sieges against
the allied enemies of the struggling colonies. His son,
John McClave, married Miss Hannah Patrick, by whom
he had the following children: Susan, married to Reuben
Chamberlain j Hannah, unmarried and deceased j Stephen­
son j Thomas, deceased j Mary, married to Andrew Spence
and deceased j Robert j Dolly j and Dr. David McClave,
deceased. John McClave, with his family, emigrated from
New Hampshire in, 1831 to Goshen township, of this
county, and his wife, Hannah Patrick, died in December of

that year, and after their arrival. He bought one hundred
and seventy-three acres of land on Obannon Creek, in
Goshen township, and this land was then all in woods.
He died in 1844, after he had cleared up his farm and his
children had all grown up and settled in life. Robert
!tfcClave was born in' Lyme, N. H., Dcc. 19, 1812, and
was the sixth in a family of eight children. He obtained,
a good common-school education in his native State, New
Hampshire, and after his removal to Ohio with his father,
in 1831, he taught school several winters in Miami and
Goshen townships. He was married Oct. 22, 1840, by
Rev. E. M. Pingree, to Miss Susan Taylor, daughtcr of
Jesse and Mary Taylor, of Cincinnati, who were emigrants
from Pennsylvania and of Quaker descent and religion.
By this union he has had four children, of whom Amos,
Mary, and Daniel died in infimcy, and Jesse Taylor Mc­
Clave, his only living' child, resides in Iroquois Co., Ill.,
where he is a wealthy farmer and unmarried. This son
served three years in the Union army, in 'the Eighty-ninth
Ohio Infantry Volunteers j was with Sherman in his memor­
able march to the sea, and at the tcrrible battle of Chicka­
mauga, in 1863, was se\'crely wounded in the shoulder,
from which he has never fully recovered. Hobert McClave
has over five hundred acres of splendid land on Obannon
Creek, including his father's purchase in 1831. These
lands the McClaves have reclaimed from the dense forests
and converted into cultivated fields and beautiful orchards.
Robert McClave is a general farmer, but has made a speci­
alty of fattening and feeding large numbers of hogs for the
market, in which he has had eminent financial success. His
residence is on the oldWilliamsburgh and Obannon road,
about four miles from Goshen and two and a half from
Loveland, and is pleasantly located in a beautiful country.
Mr. McClave, with his wife, are Universalists in their relig­
ious belief, and are most charitable and benevolent pcople,
and liberal and tolerant in sentiment. He is a Hepublican
in his political proclivities, but has never been an office­
seeker or office-holder save to be a member of the township
board of education. Having been an old teacher he con­
tinues to take a lively int~rest in everything pertaining to
education and.the advancement of'our schools. Under the
old militia system he was a captain, and served his time in
the trainings and musters that prevailed years a~o.

,During his residence of balf a century in Clermont he
has witnessed wonderful changes in the f.'lOe of the country
and a marked advancement and progress in the moral, social,
and material condition of the county, to which he and his
most estimable wife have contributed in no small degree.



JESSE T. McCLAVE.

ROBERT MeOLAVE. MRS. ROBERT MeOLAVE.



WAY N E.*
ut

'VAYNE township is situated in the northeastern corner
of Clermont County. On the north and the eust are 'War­
ren and Brown Counties, on the south is Jackson town­
ship, and on the southwest and the west are Stoneliek and
Goshen. townships. Its surface is generally level, but
sufficiently undulated in most localities to afford natural
drainage.

PIONEER SE'l'TLERS.

It is believed that William Sloane was the first settler in
Wayne township. He wus a native of Pennsylvania, and
in 1802 located on the farm now owned by John Graves.
He was u Hevolutionary soldier, and also served us a bugler
under Gen. 'Vuyne ill his expedition against the Indians
in 1794. About the same time his brother, George, set­
tled on the farm now owned by Edwurd Gregory. In the
war of 1812 he was a captain. Both lived to be old men,
and although they reared large funulies but little more cun
be said of them here. From 1802 till 1806 many families
from Pennsylvania, and Maryland settled on survey No.
3337, but 'in the course of twenty years most of them re­
moved to Indiana, and their history here is very meagre..

Of that number Robert Smith, a son-in-law of George
Sloane, was among the first. He was a native of Penn­
sylvania, and emigrated to Illinois at an early date.

Z. and Samuel Clevenger, natives of Maryland, emigrated
to 'Nan'en County in 1802, and came to Clermont in 1806,
settling near Edenton. They bot.h had larga families. In
1829 they emigrated to Indiana.

In the same year, Jacob Slye, a native of Virginia, set-.
tled near Edenton. He also had a large family, and went
to Indiana in 1829. ,He had a son, Joseph, who remained.
He died a few yeurs ago ncar Woodville. George Hunter
settled at the mouth of Hunter's Uun in 1806. He was
Ii'om Maryland. Had a very large family, and went to In­
diana in 1830. In 1791, Heese Carter, a native of' Mary­
land, emigrated to Ohio and located near Geraul's Station.
In 1806 he renioved to what is now Wayne township. He
had a large farm ncar where Edenton is now located. He
was the father of eight children,-three sons and five
daughters. There were several others of the same name
and closely related that came with him. In 1829 he sold
his farm and removed to Indiana.

John Little settled .near Edenton in 1806, He was a
native of Pennsylvania, and had emigrated to Ohio in 1791,

'settling near Geraul's Station. He had a large family of
children, nearly all of whom are now dead. In the same
year John Thomas settled north of Edenton. He had a
large family of daughters, all of whom are now dead. Jo­
seph Hendricks emigrated to Ohio in 1791, and to Wayne

lit Prepa.red by J. L. Roudebush.

township in 1806, settling on the farm now owned by C.
Jones. He removed to· Indiana in 1830.

John Copus, a native of Pennsylvania, and son-in-law of
John Little, settled on the farm now owned by John Lay­
mon in 1806.
-- McKinley settled near Edenton in 1807. He died

in 1814, and wus the first person buried in the Jordan
grave-yard. In this year Jacob and Joseph Laymon,
brothers, settled near Edenton. They were na..tives of
Maryland, and emigrated to Kentucky at an early date, and
from there to Ohio. Jaeob was the father of several chil­
dren, and was the first i'csident Baptist preacher in Cler­
mont County. lIe died about the year 1849, greatly be­
loved by his brethren and neigllbors for his piety and love
of good order. H is brother Joseph had quite a large
family,-Benjamin, the eldest, waS in the war of 1812, and
helped to cut out the "old Xenia road i" William, Eiijah,
John, Joseph, and Harrison were brothe~s. He ha,d several
sisters i Hester, Sarah, Elizabeth, and Mary are the only
ones now remembered. Abraham, a cousin of theirs, set­
tled on the farui now owned in part by 'Villiam Roudebush.
He removed to Indiana in 1831.

In 1808, Joseph Smith, a native of Pennsylvania, settled
on the farm now owned by Franklin Lyons, but nothing
further is known of him.

In 1801, Darlin Tuttle emigrated to Ohio. From what
State he came is not known. In 1808 he removed from
near where Red Lion, in Warren County, now is to the
vicinity of Edenton. He had a large family. About this
time James Irwin settled on the farm now owned by Jo­
seph Clayton, where he had the first tan-yard in 'Vayne
township. It was built in 1818, and went down in 1824
or 1825.'

In 1804, Jacob Jordan emigrated from Chowan Co., N.
C., to Miami township, settling near Loveland, and in
1808 to where Edenton is now situated. He was born in
1764. In 1785 he married Mary Valentine, by whom he
had eight children,-three sons and five daughters. He was
the youngest of a family of seven children,-five sons and
two daughters. His paternal great-grandfather was a na­
tive of England, and came to America about the year 1675,
and to Chowan Co" N. C., in 1710. Of the history of the
family previous to that time but little is known save that
they were Quakers. His paternal grandfather, Charles
Jordan, was married in 1722 to Abigail White, and he
was father of seven children. Bis father, Jacob Jordan,
Sr., was born in 173~, and was married in 1751.. OfJacob
Jordan, Jr.'s, family, Nathaniel and Silas V. are the only
ones that ever settled in Clermont County. Silas V., the
proprietor of Edenton, was born April 28, 1786. On' the
2d day of May, 1811, he married Elizabeth Harris, by
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whom he had ten children,-Louis, born in 1821, who died
in infancy; Nathaniel 'V., June 22, 1813; Amos, March
4, 1816; Maria, Jan. 9, 1818; Jane, March 26, 1821;
Caroline, May 4, 1824; lWzabeth, July 21, 1826; Harris,
June 27, 1829; Louisa, March 8, 1831. In 1836 he
married Mrs. Susan Cavolt, by whom he had one child,
Silas Maley, born May 9,1838. He was a soldier of1812,
and was at the siege of' Fort Mei~s. He died in 1870,
aged eighty-three years. Silas V. Jordan was a man of
more than ordinary ability. Humane, generous to a fault,
he was greatly beloved by those who knew him. The
Jordan family is one of the most prominent in Northern
ClerUlont at the present time.

Jacob Binkley, a native of Pennsylvania and of German
descent, settled on the fi\rm now owned by Abraham Fuller
in 1811. He was twice married. His first wife's maiden
name was Sarah Stouder, by whom he had seven children,
-Sarah, Christian, Samuel, John, Jacob, William, and
George, all of whom are now dead but Christian, Samuel,
and William. His second wife's nume was Mrs. Susan
Fuller, by whom he had three children,-Elizabeth, James,
and Daniel. He died in 18:~9, aged sixty-five. He was a
soldier of the war of 1812, and was stationed at Detroit
for several months. Christian Binkley, his oldest son, was
born Feb. 12, 1795, and in 1819 was married to Johanna
Caudle. He is the father of twelve childl'cn,-'V illiam,
Catharine, Joseph, Jacob, Sarah, L. C., Martha, ]i~liza,

Susan, Jesse, Lucinda, alld Jane, who was next to the oldest
of the children. Hc is the oldest person now living in
'Vayne township, and is the last one of the 47 who voted
in that township in 1819 that is noW' living, and is the last
of the oece numerous pioneer settlers of 'Vayne township.

It is thought that Frederic Whiting settled on the farm
now owned in part by William Roudebush in 1811. He
was a native of New Jersey, and had four sons and two
daughters. Joseph Hendricks and John Meek also settled
near Edenton about this time. In 1815, 'Villiam Han'is,
a native of New Jersey, settled on the present site (in part)
of Edenton. He had emigrated to Kentucky in 1788,
where he married Sarah Rich, by whom he had six chil­
dren,-John, Otho, 'Villiam, Elizabeth, Nancy, and Sarah,
-all of whom lived to raise families. He Was the' first
millwright ill Wayne township. Jacob Taylor, a native of
Tennessee, settled ill this year on the farm now owned by
Mrs. Chapman. He was a brother-ill-law to Jacob Lay­
mon. James, John, William, Ira, Elizabeth, Susan, Ann,
and Hester are the names of his ehildren. It is thought
that Richard Wood settled ahout this time a few miles
north of Edenton. Samuel Meek also settled near Eden­
ton about this time. His wife was Mary Jordan, who is
still living.

The condition of the settlements in the township in
1826 may be seen ill the appended

LIST OF PIWPER1.'Y-HOLDERS,

which has been carefully compiled from records iii the office
ot' the auditor of the county. Where no tax WIIS paid on
personal property, the owners were probably non-residents.
Tire names of the latter class are indicated by a prefixed
slur.

Ashton, Samuel, No. 120(); Wm.
Johnson, orig. prop.

Ashton, Wm. J., No. 120(); Wm.
Johnson, orig. prop.

Ashton, Thomas II., No. 120();
Wm. Johnson, orig. prop.

Allen, Ezrn.
Brunson, John II.
,1!Beatty, John.
Binkley, Jacob, No. 3776; J.

Higgins, orig. prop.
Binkley, Christian.
Brewcr, Joseph.
Bayn, William.
Burger, Henry.
Burrows, Joseph.
Brown, Caleb.
*Bowlllan, Abraham, No. 9386;

Abraham Bowman, original
proprietor.

*~eatty, John, No. 2406; An­
dn'w Vance, orig. prop.

*Breckenridge, Alexander, No.
10,6611; Alcxander Brecken­
ridg~, original proprietor.

*Brown, Samuel, No. 4440; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Cramer, Adam, No. 2406; An-
drew Yance, orig. prop.

Curlis, Wright S.
Cramer, Richard.
Clark, Wcston.
Clark, Eliza.
Chaplin, Jeremiah.
Cowan, Woo.
Carter, Heese, No. 3337; Harvie

and Fenn, orig. props.
Cu,rter, James, No. aa3/.
Caudle, Buckner.
Cle\'cnger, Zachariah, No. 3337.
Clevenger, Samuel, No. 3337.
Cramer, William, No. 3337.
l!!Cook, Mathias S., No. 12,678;

Mathias S. Cook, original
proprietor.

*Carter, Thomas, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

$Carter, Stephen, No. :,337; Har­
vie and .Fenn, orig. props.

*Curneal, Thomas, No. 3337;
Har\'ie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

*Cramer, Samuel, No. 2404; Wm.
Johnson, orig. prop.

i*Currie, J ames, No. 333!J ; James
Currie, original proprietor.

*Cle\'eland, Stephen .H., No.
12,080; Mathew Gregg,
original proprietor.

'-;;Dawson, John, No. 10,229;
John Dawson, orig. prop.

"'Dickinson, David, No. 10,202;
C. Wallace et at., original
proprietors.

Glenn, Alexander.
Garver, Jacob, No. 2377; Wm,

. Lytle, original proprietor.
Gindley, Neal.
Granger, Solomon.
i*Gmnt, Joel, No. 3337; Harvie

and l!'enn, orig. props.
*Graham, Felix Y., No. 9382;

Felix Y. Graham, orig. prop.
*Gregg, Mathtlw, No. 12,080;

Mathew Gregg. orig. prop..

*Gaston, David, No. 12,080;
Da\'id Gaston, orig. prop.

Harris, Abner, No. 2406; Andrew
Vance, original proprietor.

Harris, .Tohn, Sr., No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Harris, John, Jr.
Harris, Wm., No. 3:,37; Harvie

and Fenn, orig props.
Hendrick!:', Joseph, No. 33:37;

IIar\'ie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

Herrington, Joseph.
HILrri!:', Starks, No. 3337; Harvie

and Fenn, orig. prop~.
HlLight, Jacob.
Hadley, Ebenezer.
Hunter, George, No. 3337; Har­

vie and Fenn, orig. props.
Hendricks, John.
Haight, John, No. 3800; Henry

Vowles, original proprietor.
l!<Hight, Nicholns, No. 1209; Wm.

Johnson, original proprietor.
*lIill, Eleanor, No. 3337; Harvie

and FenD, orig. prop!:'.
*Harri!:', Jane, No. 3387 j Harvie

and ll'enn, orig. props.
*Heritage, Joseph, No. 3337;

Harvie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

Jordan, Silas V., No. 3337; Har­
vie nnd Fenn, orig. props.

Jordan, Jacob, No. 3337; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. !)ropi!.

Jordlln, Nathaniel, No. 33:17;
HUl'\'ie and l!'enn, orig. props.

Knott, William.
*Kyle, J osepli, No. 2571; :Mary

Britton, orig. prop.
*Kirby, Timothy, No. 7092;

Abraham Bowman, original
proprietor.

*Kirkpatrick, David, No,12,706;
David Kirkpatrick, original
proprietor.

Laymon, Joseph, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig, props.

Laymon, Benj., No. a3:i7; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Little, Joseph, No. 3337; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. props.

Little, Theodore, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Laymon, Abraham, No. 3:~37;

Harvie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

Leever, Samuel, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Leever, Joseph, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Laymon, Elijah, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

i;;Lytle, William, No. 93Sti; Abm­
hlLm Bowman, orig. prop.

*Leak, Robert, No. 3800; Henry
Vowels, orig, prop.

:Meeks, John, No. 3337; Harvie
nnd Fenn, orig. props.

Miller, Daniel, No. 7091; Abra­
ham Bowman, orig. prop.

Miller, Willilllll, No. 33:17; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Mc:\1ullen, John.
:Metzgar, Jacob.
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CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

. Wayne township was organized by the order of the
county commissioners, March 15, 1819, from parts of
Stonelick, Miami, and Williamsburgh townships, and re­
ceived its name in honor of Gen. Anthony Wayne, whose

64

The number of acres of land reported for assessment in
1826 was 17,657, and its valuation at $30,369. The total
tax paid was $178.42. The number of horses assessed was
129, valued at $5160 j of cattle there were 241 head,
worth $1928. The entire tax on personal property was
only $41.64.

In 1837, 20,614: acres were returned for assessment at a
valuation of $49,138, and were taxed $627.81. At this
time the village lots in Woodville were valued at $710, and
were owned by Adam Bobbs, John Chissman, Gest &
Rockey, Amos JUorrill, Enoch McMeans, Enoch Meek,
Jesse Nash, George Stockton, J. D. Sheldon, Robert
Smith, B. C. TyrrilI, James Taylor, and Jonathan Wood.

From this time on the population of the township in­
creased more rapidly, many new farms being opened in
localities which were before that period densely timbered.

McCullom, James.
McIntire, William.
McGinley, Nelli, No. 9386; Abra­

ham Bowman, orig. prop.
*McFarlancl, Stephen, No. 3341;

Thos. Fenn, orig. prop.
l*.McGiIl, Robert, No. ]209; Wm.

Johnston, orig. prop.
*Mathews, Thomas, 4444; J ona­

than Donnell, orig. prop.
l*:MiIler and Dcal, No. 10,661;

Miller and Beal, orig. props.
Noll, Elia~.

Osborne, John, No. 4444; Jona­
than Donnell, orig. prop.

"Osborne, Josiah, No. 3341;
Thos. Fenn, orig. prop.

Prickett, John, No. 3:{;)7; Han'ie
and Fen.n,orig. llrops.

Po\vers, Thomns, No. 2406; An-
drew Vance, orig. prop.

Pierce, 'Alpheus.
Prickett, Hiram.
Parker, Isaac.
Randall, John, No. 4244; James

Taylor, original proprietor.
Replogle, Daniel.
Roberts, William.
*Richards. John S., No. 3331;

Han'ie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

Smith, Joseph, No. 3337; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. props.

Smith, Solomon, No. 3337; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Smith, Robcrt, No. 3337; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. props.

Stouder, Christian, No. 3337;
Harvie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

Slonne, Wm., Sr., No. 3337; Har­
de and Fenn, orig. props.

Sloane, Wm., Jr., No. 3331 j Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. props.

Slye, Joseph, No. 3331; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. props.

Schooley, Jonathnn, No. 2406;
Andrew Vance, orig. prop.

South, Henry, No. 4445; John
Irwin, Jr., orig. prop.

Smith, Thomas.
Shoe, Abraham.
Smith, John.
l*8timu8, John, No. 4445; John

Irwin, Jr., orig. prop.
*8troup, Jacob, No. ;)337; Harvie

and Fenn, orig. props.
*Short, Willi~m, No. 3331; Har­

vie nnd Fenn, orig. props.
*Stark, Richard, No. 10,851;

Richard Stark, orig. prop.
*Sawyer, Nathaniel, No. 12,706 ;

Da\'id Kirkpatrick, original
proprietor.

Thacker, William, No. 25il;
Shackelford, et ai., origina.l
proprietors.

Taylor, Jacob, No. 3331; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. props.

Tuttle, Darlin, No. 3337; Harde
and Fenn, orig. props.

Thomas, John, No. 3337; Harvie
and Fenn, orig. props.

Thompson, Wm., No. 3:{;H ; Har­
vie and Fenn, orig. prop~.

*Taylor, James, No. 9532; Wil­
liam Pierce, orig. prop.

Van Kirk, Wm., No. 4780; Wil­
liam Lytle, orig. prop.

*Van Znndt, Geo. C., No. 9383;
Van Zllndt /lnd BiIlir:gs,
original proprietors.

Whiting, Frederick.
Winner, Benjamin.
Wilson, James.
Wood, Richard, No. 3337; nar­

vic and Fenn, orig. props.
Whiting, Frederick, No. 3337;

Harvie and Fenn, original
proprietors.

Wallllce,Cadwallader, No. 12,369 ;
Peter Mayo, orig. prop.

services in the Northwestern Territory caused him to be
held in grateful remembrance.

The first election was held April 5, 1819, at the house
of George Smith, with the following result;" John Beatty,
Joseph Laymon, and Robert· Smith, Trustees j Robert
Leak, Clerk j Joseph Smith, Treasurer j Abraham Lay­
mon and Christopher Binkley, Appraisers j Jacob Taylor
a.nd Louis Caudle, Overseers of the Poor j John Randall,
Silas V.. Jordan, and Joseph Hendl'ick, Supervisors of
Highways j John Haight and William Harris, Fence­
Viewers j Christopher Uinkley, Constable and Lister.

That year the trustees levied a tax of 25 cents per head
on horses, and six and one-fourth cents per head on neat
cattle, for township purposes, and three-fourths that amount
for the improvemeut of the roads. The number of cattle
was 127, and of horses 90.

Since the first election the principal officers of Wayne
have been the following:

TRUSTEES.

]820.-John Bcatty, Joseph Laymon, Robert Smith.
1821.-Jacoh Binklcy, Joseph Laymon, Robcrt Smith.
1822.-Jacob Binkley, Joseph Laymon, Wm. Harris.
1823.-Jacob Binkley, Joseph Laymon, Richard Wood.
1824.-Jacob Binkley, Joseph Laymon, W. 1. Ashton.
1825.-Jacob Binkley, Robert Smith, W. 1. Ashton.
1826.-.Joseph Laymon, Joseph Smith, John Beatty.
1827.-John Prickett, Robert Smith, John Beatty.,
1828.-John Prickett, Jacob Binkley, W. I. Ashton.
1829.-.John Prickett, Jacob Binkley, Joseph Laymon.
1830.-John Randall, Jacob Binkley, Joseph Laymon.
1831.-C. Binkley, Robert Smith, Joscph Laymon.
]832.-.John Prickett, Robert Smith, John Beatty.
1833-34.-'-Ehenezer Hadley, Robert Smith, John Beatty.
I835-36.-Wm. Sloan, Jr., Robert Smith, John Prickett.
]837.-Fred. Whiting, Peter South, Charles Muchmore.
1838.-Fred. Whiting, Silas Y. Jordan, Wm. Nott.
1839.-Jobn Wainwright, Silas V. Jordan, Daniel Cramer.
1840.-John Wainwright, Stephen Whittaker, Wm. Laymon.
1841.-John Wainwright, Stephen Whittaker, Robert S-mith.
I842.-Joseph Needham, Daniel Cramer, John B. Crossley.
1843.-Joseph Needham, Daniel Cramer, Charles Muchmore.
1844 -Joscph Needham, Frederick Whiting, Charles Muchmore.
1845-46.-Frederick Whiting, Charles Muchmore, Joseph Needham.
1847-4S.-Daniel Cramer, Charles Muchmore, Joseph Needham.
1849-50.-Daniel Cramer, Nicholas Scott, John Shriner.
1851.-Dllniel Cramer, N. W. Jordan, John Shriner.
1852.-T. D. Scott, B. Jones, B. Covalt.
1853.-Joseph Needham, Harrison Jordan, Theodore Little.
1854.-W. McKinnie, Harrison Jordan, .C. Binkley.
1855.-S. Shriner, T. Little, C. Binkley.
1856.-S. Shriner, T. Little, D. W. Thompson.
I857.-N. Hihbits, David Pringle, D. W. Thompson.
1858.-Z. Dickinson, N. M. Hibbits, W. McKinnie.
1859.-B. F. Clark, Andrew Jackson, D. Ingle.
1860.-B. F. Clark, Amos Jordan, D. Ingle.
1861.-A. Ferree, R. Fuller, John Shriner.
1862.---i>. W. Thompson, A. Whiting, John Shriner.
1863.-Abraham Whittaker, J. H. Dickbruder, Amos Jordan.
1864.-Silas Muchmore, Daniel Ingle, T. J. Williams.
1865.-C. Jones, Daniel Cramer, S. Shriner.
1866.-D. W. Thompson, Daniel Cramer, C. Jones.
1867.-D. W. Thompson, George Perrine, Q. Jones.
1868.-8. J. Scott, John Shriner, John Cramer.
1869.-Silas Muchmore, W. Clayton, Danicl Cramer.
1810.-SiI~s Muchmore, W. Clayton, Will. Martin.
]811.-Jllmes Cramer, N. Scott, W. B. Dimmitt•
1872.-Z. Dickinson, W. McKinnie, D. W. Thompson.
1873 -W. McKinnie, D. W. Thompson, John Shriner.
1874.-W. McKinnie, Francis Fuller, John Shriner.
1875.-D. W. Thompson, Cyrus Brown, Silas Muchmore.
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1876.-John Shrincr, Cyrus Brown, Silus Muchmorc.
1877.-Robert Hill, C.FuS Brown, Curtis Thompson.
1878.-Hobert Hill, Cyrus Brown, II. Whitenaok.
IS79.-A. Bolser, B. F. Clurk, II. Whitenack.

'fOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1820, Robert Leak; 1821, John Beatty; 1822, W. Thacker; 1823,
Frederick Whiting; 1824, Elijah Laymoll; 1825, John Ranuall;
1826-27, Jnmes C. HnDley; 1828, Robcrt McMullcn; 1829, Wil­
liam Nott; 1830, Weston Clnrk; 1831, John Bentty; 1832-33.,
A. F. Morrison; 1834, Jacob G. Dimmitt; 1835-41, A. F. 1\1or­
riEon; 1842-47, l\I. C1Il>·ton; 1848-·H), D.M. Barr; 1850-54, M.
Clayton; 1855-56, H.l\Iorgnn; 1857-60, L. C. Binklcy; 1861-62,
J. W. Thompson; 1863, L. C. Binkley; 1864, Stephcn Cramer;
1865, L. C. Binkley; 1866-67, S. J. Scott; 1868-6\1, J. H. Thomp­
SOD; 1870, II. Joruan; 1871, Byron Cramer; 1872-74, H. Jor.
d:m; 1875, C. Whitenacl,; 1876, L. C. Binkle>'; 1877, C. White­
nuek; 1878-7!J, J. C. Little.

TOWNSIIIP TREASURERS.

1820-22, Joseph Smith; 182:J-24, Darlin Tuttle; 1825, Silas V. Jor­
dnn; 1826, Jaeob Taylor; 1827-:~2, Silas Y. Jordan; 18:~:~, Wil­
liam Cramer; 1834-38, Silas V. Jordan; 1839-42, Frederick
Whiting i 1843-50, Christopher Binkley; 1851-53, D. 1\1. Earr;
1854, B. Jones; 1855-59, Charles Muchmore; ]1)60-63, H. Mor­
gan; 1864, Charles Muchmore; 1865-7!J, Louis Asher.

TOWNSHIP ASSESSORS.

1846, D. M. Barr; 1847, W. Sloane; 1848-4tJ, B. Jones; 1850, B. Jor­
dan; 1851-52, James Crosson; 1853-55, Joseph Cramer; 1856,
John Stouder; 1857-58, Daniel Cramer; 185!), Hiram Prickett;
1860, John Stouder; 1861, Charles Wood; 1862, U. Jonlnn;
1863, A. Lyon!!; 1864, Jaoob Jordan; 1865, J. Harris; 1866-68,
Silas Muchmore; 186!J, L. C. Binkley; 1870, John Harris; 1871,
L. C. Binkley; 1872, W. B. Rice; 1873, W. Murphy; 1874,
John Sutton; 1875, John Little; 1876, Josiah Little; 1877, S.
L. Hazelton; 1878-79, Lee Grimes.

MILLS AND DISTILLERIES ON STONELICK AND ITS
TRIBUTARIES.

In 1839, Orson Clark built a saw-mill on the north bank
of Stonclick Creek, a short distance above Cowen's bridge.
It is still in running order, and is the only one run by water­
power on that stream at the present time. Manton ·Whit­
aker built a saw-mill a mile above Clark's in 1858. It was
washed away in 1862.

. Harvey Whitaker's saw-mill, built in 1848 by Richard
Shumard, near Manton's, was run about twenty years.
" "Ward's" saw-mill, built in 1855 by Eleazur Campbell, was
run about fifteen years. It was about two miles beiow
Gaines', which was built at what date is not exactly known;
was in operation about ·twenty years. In 1825, William
Miller had a distillery on Stonelick Creek, on the farm now
owned by :Mrs. I. Caudle. It lasted about ten years. In
1830, Philip Hill built a saw-mill on the farm now owned
by 'V. Roudebush. It went down in 1840. William
Harris had a grist-mill on Stonelick, near where Edenbofo'
now is. It went down in 1832, after having been run
about eleven years. Cramer's saw-mill on Moore's Fork
was built in 1851, and was in operation about six years.
In 1851, Joseph Murphy and Richard Cramer built a saw­
mill on Smith's Run, on the farm now owned by Jackson
Cramer. It was in operation nine or ten years.

John Laymon had a grist.mill on Little's Run in 1820.
It lasted but a few years. In 1870, Thomas Sloan had a
portable steam saw-mill on the Newtonville and Brownsville
free turnpike, ncar Van Camp's blacksmith-shop, at the
crossing of the Xenia road. Its capacity was 5000 feet per

day. There are other mills in the township, but they are
situated in villages, and will be noted in that connection.
The leading occupation of 'Vayne township is the tilling
of the soil. Its manufacturing interests are not worthy of
great attention.

VILLAGES AND TOWNS.

WOODVILLE

is located on the Milford and Woodville free turnpike, in
the northeastern part of 'Vayne township, and contains
about 100 inhabitants.

It was laid out March 14, 1828, by Jesse 'Vood, as an
attorney for Gen. James Taylor, and consisted of fifty-two
lots in all, together with the public square, 100 by ] 80
feet. Main Street was 60 feet wide and 91 poles in length.
Th~ first house built on its site was by Adam Bob"s in 1828,
and is now the property of Moses Foster. The next one
was built by G. ,V. Stockton in Hl29, and the third was
built in the same year by Enoch Meeker, and is the prop­
erty of Thomas D. Scott at the present time. The first
store was kept by Adam Bobs, in a llOuse now owned by
Moses Foster. This was in 1829. The first hotel was
kept by G. ,Y. Stockton in 1833, and is now occupied by
J. O. Little. l~noch Meeker built the first blacksmith-shop
in 1832, on Main Street, where he worked for two years.
The fi,'st wagon-shop was on Main Street, and was built in
1833 by G. ,Y. Stockton, where he worked for seven years.
Samuel Cary built the first cooper shop in 1856. It was
run by him for two year8, and afterwards owned by John
Hawkins. In 1846, Henry Irtles built a shop for bending
all kinds of timber into various articles. He worked for
thirteen years, and gave employment to a great many hands.

A. Bobs built a pork-house on the west side of the road
(near the ravine) leading from Blanchester to Woodville,
in 1835, where he cut pork for several years.

Among those who have kept stores since A. Bobs might
be mentioned the names of ·WilliamAdams, Charles Sew­
ard, Thomas Hainey, John Swaggurt, William Reed, Thos.
Reed, N. Hibbitts, and John M. Foster, who has the only
one now in the village, which he has been keeping for the
past ten 'years.

Of the many blacksmiths who have worked, sinee 1835,
the most prominent are Watt C. Dudley, who succeeded
]jnoch Meeker, Thomas Kelsey, Robert McKinnie, Noah
Frybarger, C. Thompson, James Palmer, and William
Lever, who had shops on the south side of :l\iain Street.
On the north side, Henry Starkey, Harrison Starkey, E.
Stoten, and Isaac Long have worked, and owned the shop
now occupied by J. Bundy. Z. Dickinson succeeded G.
W. Stockton as a wagon-maker and left in 1870. At the
present time F. Scanlan has a shop on the south side of
Main Street.

Jrrederic Hoffman was the first shoemaker, and had a shop
on Main Street in 1835, where he worked for one year,
when he was succeeded by Moses Dudley, who has a shop
at the present time. l\1ichnel Divelves had a shop in 1845,
in which he worked until his death in 1864. Dudley &
Pepermint had one on the site of A. J. Hosse's present
residence. They were succeeded by G. W. Shelton, who·
worked for one year only.
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FACTORIEs.-In 1858, S. Gerry built a truss-hoop fac­
tory, in which he manufactured a great many, giving em·
ployment to several hands. After working two years he
sold it to the Carr Brothers, who ran it about one year.

In 1870, F. Scanlin built an axe-handle factory on the
• south side of Main Street. In connection with the axe­

handle factory he manufactured grain-cradles. He did
business for seven years, giving employment to a large
number of workmen. John Hull, in 1843, had a turning­
lathe for the manufacture of' ch3.ir-stuff. In 1842, Bobs &
Dudley built a steam saw-mill, which they ran three years.
In 1855, C. C. Taylor built a saw-mill, was succeeded by
Jared Adams, who put in a grist-mill; was owned and op­
erated by A. Cramer from 1857 to 1863, when it burned
down.

PHYSICIANS AND POST-OFFICE.-In 1832, Dr. E.
JUann had an office in the town for three years. His suc­
cessor~ have been Dr. G. 'Veston, Dr. T. T. Russell, Dr. A.
White, Dr. J. ·W. Bishop, Dr. Hopkins, Dr. Keys, Dr.
John Tedrow, and Dr. Bennett. At present there is no
physician residing at 'Voodville.

'Voodville post-office was established in 1836, with A.
Bobs as·postmaster. His successors have been James Red­
man, Silas Dudley, Samuel J. McClenen, Thomas Kilsey,
and J. 1\1. Foster, the present incumbent, who was ap­
pointed in 1870.

Woodville was once one of the best business towns in
Northern Clermont., but, owing to its present geographical
situation, is on the wane.

EDENTON.

Edenton is located on the Milford and Woodville free
turnpike, three miles southwest of 'Woodville, on the north
bank of Stonelick Creek, and has over 200 inhabitants.
It was laid out Aug. 12, 1837, by Silas V. Jordan, and
consisted of 16 lots on Main Street.

Additions were made by Amos Jordan, Aug. 22, 1870,
of 6 lots; and by Robert· Fuller, Sr., April 24, 1874, of
8 lots; and on the 27th of April, 1874, by James Cramer,
on the old pike, of 8 lots.

The first house built on its site was by James Dimmitt,
in 1837, and is now the property of John Prickett. The
next one was a frame, built by Robert B. Thompson, in
1838, for a hotel. It isnow gone, but the site is occupied
by Jackson Cramer. The next one was built by Matthew
l\IcNeal, on the present site of Isaiah Doughman's black­
smith-shop, in 1838, in which he kept the first store ever
in Edenton. In 18-10 he was succeeded by James Dim­
mitt. S. V. Jordan, Bethud Cavolt, Robert Jones, and
Henry Myers have also occupied the same store.

Before the town was laid out A. F. Morrison had a store
on the site of the town, about the )'ear 1834. The next
store was kept by John Thompson and Robert Fuller, in
1843. They were succeeded by .Jacob Swank, who did
business for several years. 'Villiam Evenson had a store
on a lot now the property of Jackson Cramer.

In 1855, Henry Morgan built a store-room opposite the
Independent Order of Odd-Fellows' Hall. He was suc­
ceeded by Jonathan Christie, Louis Asher, and J. F.
Pattison. At present it is not used.

The followin~ is a list of the stores at the present time:
J. Ii'. Pattison, 1. O. O. F. Hall, on north side of Main Street;
Cramer & Son, on south side of Main Street, where they
have been doing business since 1875; D. Noble, on north
side of Main Street, has been in business for four months;
A. H. Morrow has a drug-store on the north side of Main
Street, in which he has been selling drugs since 1875.
There have been several hotels kept by different persons.
J. H. Pl'ickett has the only one at present.

The first blacksmith was William Hunter, who built a
shop on the present siteof Jackson Cramer's store, in 1843.
It is claimed by some that this shop was built in 1838 by
Henry Misner. The next one was built by Charles Wat­
Ron, in 1847, and the next by Dale Weaver, on the oppo'­
site side of the street, now owned by Marcelus Brunk.
He was succeeded by Joseph Leever, and he by William
Palmer, and he by W. Hawkins. At present it is occupied
by M. Brunk, who has worked in it for nine years. This
and Doughman's are the only blacksmith-shops in 'Edenton
at present.

In connection with blacksmithing, Doughman & Son
do undertaking. The first wagon-shop was built by Daniel
Floer, on the lot now owned by Silas Jordan. S. J. Scott had
a carriage- and undertaking-shop a few years ago. At the
present time Abraham Whitaker has the only one in the
place.

T. Little has a shop on Main Street., where he has been
working for three years. H. Garrison i~ the only harness­
maker. He has worked in different parts of the village
since 1858. His shop at present is on the north side of
l\Iain Street. .

The first cooper-shop was built in 1845 by J aIm Thomp­
son, on the site of Frank Cremar's wagon-shop. He em­
ployed, on an average, 20 hands for twelve years.

There have been several small turning-lathes at various
dates in operation.

FACTORIES AND MILLs.-In 1850, Jasper Pierce had
a harne-factory and worked six hands. He quit in 1859.

In 1874, N. Kelsey built a hame-factory on the road
leading to Fuller's mill. He works 16 hands and manu­
factures 15,000 pairs annually.

Nicholas Corday has a large tin-shop on Main Street,
where he employs five hands in the manufacture oftinware.

Fuller's Steam Grist- and Saw-Mill was built in 1870
by George Greenwalt. Its capacity is 100 bushels of wheat
in twelve hours and the same amount of corn. In connee- .
tion with the grist- is a saw-mUI, turning-lathe, and saws
for sawing harnes and other purposes. The turning-lathe
manufactures 3000 pieces daily. This mill gives employ­
ment to seven hauds on an average.

PHYSICIANS AND TilE POST-OFFICE.-The first physi­
cian to locate at this place was Dr. J. Dimmitt, in what
year is not known. Since his departure Dr. 'V. Jackson,
Dr. C. Leever, Dr. 'V. Frazee, Dr. Boyer, Dr. Rufus 'White,
Dr. A. Bobs, Dr. W. Carmichael, Dr. Philip Cole, and Dr.
Jacob Hall. Dr. S. B. Judkins, who is located at this
place at present, was born in 1833; received a collegiate
education j studied medicine with his father, ·Dr. S. J ud­
kins; graduated from Jefferson l\'1edical College, Philadel­
phia, Pa., in ~851 ; l1as bee~ en~a~ed ill the practice of his
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profes~ion ever since, and .at this place for the past seven
Jears.

Dr. J. 1-1. Norman, who has had an office here since
1875, was born in 1851; received a collegiate education;
studied meuicine under Dr. H. C. 'Vatkins, of Blanchester,
Ohio; graduated from the Eclectic Medical College of
Cincinnati, Ohio, in the class of 1875, since which time he
has been engaged in the practice of his profession.

Edenton post-office was established in 1841. Hobert
James was the first postmaster. Since that time Henry
Morgan, Louis. Asher, Henry Guneson, Margaret Jones,
Jacob Swank, and Byron Cramer have acted in that
capacity,-the latter since] 875. It has a daily mail.

Edenton is one of the most enterprising villages in the
county. Its buildings of all kinds are neat and commodious.
Situated in the centre of a large and fertile farming COUl­

munity, it has the means of growing rapidly in wealth and
population.

NEWTO.:NVILLE.

Newtonville is situated on the Logtown and Newtonville
free turnpike, three miles southwest of the former place.
It is a thriving village of 150 inhabitants. It was laid out
March 30, 1838, by Stephen 'Vhitaker and Cornelius
'Vashburn, and contained 32 lots and four streets, viz.,
Main, Amity, Liberty, and Cross, each 66 feet wide. An
addition of 12 lots on the Logtown pike was made Jan.
21,1872, by C.McCollum. John Beltz built the first house
on lot No. 12, in September, 1838. It was a one-story log
building. The next one wus built by Benjamin Clemons,
on lot No.5, in 1839. Jonas Hill, Vandergrif Harris,
Thomas Foote, and Enoch Hunter each built houses about
that tim~. The first store was kept by Moses Pickelhiemer
on a lot now owned by Samuel ::McKinnie. The second
store was kept by Samuel Beltz, in the building now occu­
pied by S. Shriner, which was built in 1849, which he
occupied for five or six years.

In 1869, Zed. South built:. the store-room that he occu­
pies at the present:. time.

In 1870, Z. Dickinson had a store where G. E. Mat­
tox's drug-store now is. In 1876 a grange-store was
started in this place, of which J. H. Thompson was the
manager. In 1868 he was succeeded by George Sapp,and
he by G. E. Mattox, who is making drugs a specialty at
present. The first blacksmith.shop was built by John
Beltz in 1839, and stood on lot No. 19. His son Anderson
built the next, on present site of john Strowhover's. 'Vil­
Ham Binkley had a shop on the lot where Mary Shriner now
resides. John Strowhover is the only one working at pres­
ent, where he has been for seven Jears. Jefferson Hust
had the first:. shoe-shop. He left in 1863, since which time
'~I. M. Hill, Charles Schooley, and Victor N~chols have
built:. shops, where thcyare noW' working. In 18f>6, Francis
Kelsey had a harness-shop in a house now occupied by
"Elias Shumard. In 1873, Cornelius Needham had one also.
P. McFarland has one at present in V. Nichols' shoe-shop.

In 1870, Abraham Whitaker built a wagon-shop on Vine
Street, in which he has been working ever since.

In 1876, Samuel McKinnie built a carpenter-shop on lot
No.7. John 'York has a cabinet- and undertaking-shop,
where he has worked for some fifteen years.

FACTORIES, MILLS, ETc.-There ha,'e been several turn­
ing-lathes, owned by Benjamin Clemons, Vanuergl'if Harris,
Thomas Hair, and John Miller, all of whom did a good
business.. In 1859, Thomas Foster had a cooper-shop where
1\1. l\1. Hill now lives.

}{ewfo1lville Cltair-Facto1'!} was brought from Boston,_
in September, 1870, by 'V. Houdebush, David Jones, and
Sylvester Shriner. They remained in partnership until
1873, when 'V. Roudebush became sole owner.

Its cupacity is twenty dozen of chairs daily. It gives
employment to about fifteen hands.

'lYLe Newto1lville GJ'lst-Atilt was partially built IroID Gris­
wold's steam saw-mill, which was purchased in 1876 and
removed to this place by J. H. Orebaugh, who is the pres­
ent proprietor. Its capacity is 100 bushels of' wheat in
14 hourll.

.PUYSICIANS AND TIlE POST-OFFICE.-The first physi­
cian to locate in Newtonville wus Dr. A. :McNeal, who had
an office in the house now occupied by M. 1\1. Hill, in 18-18.
In 1849 he left. Dr. 'V. S. Anderson opened an office iu
1858. He was bom in 1828 j received an academic educa­
tion; studied medicine under Dr. H.. 'Vestcrfield at Goshen,
and finished under Dr. A. B. Emery; graduated from Star­
ling l\1edical College at Columbus, Ohio, in 1852; has been
located at Newtonville since 1858. In October, 1879, Dl..
'V. Barry opened an office at this place. He was born near
Blanchester, Ohio, in 1847; received a collegiate education j

studied medicine under Dr. J. ",Vatkins, of Blanchester j

graduated from the Eclectic l\ledieal College of Cincinnuti,
in the class of 1879.

Newtonville post-office was established in 1845 with
Jonas Hill as postmaster. His successors have been Abra­
ham l\1c~eal, 'V. Hooker, Nathan Hibbits, Louis Asher,
Z. Dickinson, Samuel Beltz, and Zed. South, the present
incumbent. The muil is daily.

SECRET ORDE RS•.

EDENTON LOGE, No. 308, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted June 26, 1856, by C. B. Stickney, G. 'V. 1\1.
of the State of Ohio. 1\1. S. Picklehiemer, Jasper Pierce,
D. M. Barr, Joseph Hayward, Benedict Jones, Mahlon
Pierce, D. 'V. Thompson, and Louis Asher were charter
members. The first officers were M. S. Picklehiemer, N. G. ;
Jasper Pierce, V. G.; Joseph HaywaI'd~ Rec. Sec. j Bene­
dict Jones, Treas. They were elected and installed June
26, 1856. Sinee that time the following have been the
Noble Grands:

1857, January, JasperPiercej July, D.1\l. Barr. 1858,
January, L. C. Binkley j July, Henry Morgan. 185!),
January, 'V. A. Carmichael j July, Harrison Jordan. 1860,
January, E. Gregory j July, Jasper Pierce. 1861, January,
Daniel 'Vcaverj July, John Cramer. 1862, January, John
Jqrdun; July, Amos Jordan. 1863, January, 'V. L.
Cramer j July, 'V. Palmer. 1864, January, oW. l\lcKin­
nie; July, "'V. 'Vene. 1865, January, J. H. Thompson j

July, "'V. H. Picklehiemcr. 1866, January, D. 'V. Thomp_­
son; July, Jus. Crumer. 1867, January, S. J. Scott j July,
J. D. Murphy. 1868, January, N. Yates; July, David
Ingle. 1869, January, Jo!m Schuyler j July, Duniel
Felter. 1870, January, George Pierce j July, J. T. Barr.
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1871, January, Thos. Kelsey; July, J. H. Thompson, Jr.
1872, January, Jacob Jordan; July, Louis Asher. 1873,
January, G. W. Sly; July, Henry Garrison. 1874, Jan­
uary, U. B. Malott; July, J. T. Jordan. 1875,-January,
Marcellus Brink; July, 'V. Martin. 1876, January, .Tohn
Schooley; July, S. L. Hazleton. 1877, January, J. E.
Hendry; July, A. J. Sly. 1878, January, J. H. Scott;
July, A. H. Norman. 1879, January, F. M. 'Vood; July,
Chas. Dunham. 1880, January, Martin Cramer; Silas
Oliver, V. G.; J. T. Barr, Rec. Sec.; J. H. Thompson,
Per. Sec.; Henry Garrison, Treas.

Aggregate membership is 191; present number, 68.
The time of meeting is Saturday evening in each week, at
seven o'clock P.M.

The lodge built its first hall before it had obtained a
charter. It was situated on the south side of Main Street;
was a frame buildin~ two stories in height, and cost $1200.
In 1878 it was removed to its present site. In 1878 the
lodge built a two-story brick building, 28 by 60 feet, the
upper story being a lodge hall, the lower for a store. It
cost ~HOOO, and was dedicated Aug. 17, 1878, by P. G. J.
T. De Mar, special deputy. In 1858 the lodge purchased
four acres of land from Robert :I!'uller, to be used for a
cemetery, which is being filled up rapidly. There are three
of the charter' members of Edenton Lodge who are still
members, viz.: D. \V. Thomp:son, Louis Asher, and Jasper
Pierce. This is among the wealthiest lodges of the State.

, NEWTONVILLE LODGE, No. 685, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted July 26, 1879, by the Most 'Worthy Grand
1\1aste1', E. K. Wilcox, with Z. South, 'V. Eo Montgomery,
J. C. Work, Charles Schooley, B. Shields, U. B. Malott,
'V. S. Anderson, M. M. Hill, F. l\I. Wood, John Schooley,
George 'Vood, M. Brunk, C. C. Brown, A. Shoe, A. Whit­
aker, 'V. G. Cramer, S. S. Woods, and George Pierce as
charter members.

Officers for 1879.-N. G., Z. South; V. G., J. P.
Work; Sec., C. Schooley; Per. Sec., W. E. Montgomery;
Treas., A. \Vhitaker; Warden, W. T. Cramer; Cond., \V.
S. Anderson; I. G., C. C. Brown; O. G., 1\1. Brunk; R.
S. N. G., 'V. B. Malott; L. S. V. G., 1\1. M. Hill; R. S.
S., F. M. \Vood; L. S. S., A. "Williams.

1880.-N. G., J. P. Work; V. G., 'V. S. Anderson;
Sec., A. Williams; Per. Sec., 1\1. Brunk; Treas., Z. South;
'Varden, M. 1\1. Hill; Cond., J. H. Orebaugh; I. G., S.
S. \Vood; O. G., \V. E. Montgomery; R. S. N. G., C.
Schooley; L. S. N. G., \V. B. Malott; L. S. V. G., F. C.
Manning; R. S. S., G. W. Sligh; loA. S. S., G. M. 'Wood.
At present the lodge meets in the 'school-house on every
Saturday evening at half-past seven o'clock.

In September, 1879, the lodge commenced to build a
hall, which is not completed at the present time. It is situ­
ated on Main Street, and will cost $2000.

In 1879 a lodge of Ma!!ons located at Newtonville,
working under a dispensation, which has since been taken
away from it.

EDENTON LODGE, No. 332, F. AND A. M.,

was organized March 5, 1857, under a dispensation from
the Grand Lodge of Ohio, with James brossen, Andl'ew

Jackson, Granville Jackson, J. S. Murphy, J. D. Murphy,
W. Murphy, N. W. Jordan, Harrison Jordan, J. J. Wain­
wright, Josiah Prickett, Cyrus Brown, J. H. Prickett, W.
A. Carmichael, Charles Wood, Franklin Lyons, James
Prickett, John McCollum, Silas Muchmore, A. F. Morrison,
and W. P. Jackson. The officers under the dispensation
were Andrew Jackson, W. M. j J. J. Wainwright, S. W.;
Joseph D. Murphy, J. W. j J. S. Murphy, S. D.; James
Crossen, Sec.; N. \V. Jordan, Treas.; and Harrison Jordan,
Tyler. After they had worked six months the Grand
Lodge of the State took the dispensation away from them;
but on the 5th of April, 1860, a second dispensation was
granted, and the following officers were elected: Andrew
Jackson, W. M. ; J. J. 'Vainwright, S. W. ; J. D. l\'lurphy,
J. W. ;J. S. Murphy, S. D.; Granville Jackson, J. D.;
James Crossen, Sec.; N. 'V. Jordan, Treas.; W. Murphy,
Tyler. On D~c. 20, 1860, the lodge was constituted by
'V. H. Cummings) proxy of the Grand \Yorthy Master of
the State of Ohio. Since that time the following have
served as Masters and Secretaries:

.1l1asters.-1861, Andrew Jackson; 1862-63, J. J. Wain­
wright; 1864, J. S. Murphy; 1865-66, J. J. Wainwright;
1867-69, J. S. Mur.phy; 18701 J. J. \Vainwright; 1871,
A. Jackson; 1872-75, J. S. Murphy; 1876, J. Schuyler;
1877, John Sutton; 1878, J. J. Wainwright; 1879, Lce
Grimes.

Secretarics.-1861, Jus. Crossen j 1862, Daniel Weaver;
1863, W. 'Palmer; 1864-65; ~I. S. Pickelhiemer; 1866, Z.
Dickenson; 1867, John Schuyler j 1868-69, J. J. Wain­
wright; 1870-71, J. S. Murphy; 1872-75, J. J. Wain­
wright; 1876, J. E. Hendry; 1877-78, Hiram Prickett;
1879, C. \Vhitcnack.

1880.-A. B. Friend, W. 1\1.; C. J. Spain, S. W.; J. S.
Murphy, J. 'V.; Byron Cremar, Treas.; Marion Chaney,
Sec.; John Sutton, S. D.; James McGraw., J. D.; J. H.
Prickett and J. J. 'Yainwright, Stewards j W. H. \Yain­
wright, Tyler. Aggregate membership, 80; present num­
bel', 50.

In 1860 a brick building, two stories in height, was
built. on Cross Street. The upper story is used for a place
of meeting for the lodge; the lower for a town-hall.

Edenton Lodge is one of the wealthiest in the county
for the time it has been established.

EDUCAnONAL INTERESTS.

The first school-house built in Wayne township was on
the farm now owned by Amos Jordan, in 1815. It was a
log building, and would seat about '25 pupils. Who the
first teacher was that kept school in it is not known. The
-next one was on or near the site of the school-house in dis­
trict No.2, and was built in 1817. It was also a log build­
ing.

A man by the name of Scanlin was among the first teach­
ers in the township. W. S. Morrison is also remembered
as another one of the early teachers. In 1826 the town­
ship was divided into six districts, and in 1831 another one
was added. After the organization of' Jackson township
the number was reduced, but for only one or two years. In
183D the number of'districts was increased'to eight, and in
1851 to nine, and 1867 to ten, which is the present num-
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ett, J. H. Prickett, 'William Hawkins, Hiram Prickett,
Abraham Whitenack, Jacob Jordan, Isaac Hawkins, Sarah
R. Jackson, Nancy 'Yainwright, Ann C. Barr, Susan
Hawkins, Martha Prickett, Jane Prickett, Susannah Prick­
ett, C. P. Hawkins, Sarah Picklehiemer, Elizabeth Pickle­
hiemer, David Picklehiemer, Starkey Harris, Nancy Harris,
John T. Caudle, Albert Yale, Thomas Little, A. P. Little,
Theodore Little, M. Little, Uzzie Clayton, Jane Clayton,
Jones Ragston, David Ingle, Sarah Ingle, William Prick­
ett, Ann Picklehiemer, and Mary Hawkins were members.

First church officers were: Trustees, 1\1. S. Picklehiemer,
A. \Yhitenuck, Jacob Jordon, J. H. Prickett, William
Ingle, David Ingle, D. Thompson, James Crosson, John
Cramet', Silas Muchmore, and 'V. McKinnie, who are the
present trustees with the exception of 'YiIliam Ingle, who
has been added since the organization. Elders, Hiram
Prickett, chief; 1\'l. S. Picklehiemer, recording; and J. H.
Prickett, financial. The elders at the present time are 'V.
D. Courts, A. P. Little, and J. H. Prickett. Aggregate
membership, 175; present, 125. P. P. 'Woolf, Josiah
Butler, and J. S. Hawkins have gone out from this church
as ministers.

The first pastor was Rev. P. P. 'Yoolf, who preached for
two years, Rev. R. A. M. Johnston for five years, Josiah
Butler two years, Rev. Uriah Milburn for three years, and
Rev. J. 'V. Klise for four years, who is the pastor at the
present time. It belongs to the Ohio Council and Fourth
District Circle. In 1864 the tl'Ustees of the church, acting
as a building committee in general, and Andrew Jackson,

. Moses Picklehiemer, and William Ingle as a special com­
mittee, built a frame church 50 by 60, and one story in
height, at a cost of $2800. The church is situated on
Cross Street, and is one of the largest frame churches in
the county. It was dedicated in September,' 1864, by the
Rev. H. T. Bowman. This was.the first Christian Union
church built in the State of Ohio. In 1865 the second
Grand Council of the church was held at this place. After
the chnrch was built a Sunday-school was organized, with
Hiram Prickett as superintendent. He has been succeeded
by Jacob Jordon, David Picklehiemer, Moses Picklehiemer,
J. H. Prickett, W. H. Clayton, C. P. Hawkins, 1\1. Clay­
ton; W. McKinnie, N. J. Prickett, 1\1. Little, Josiah Prick­
ett, and 'V. D. Courts.

WOODYILLE CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

In 1848, Rev. David Thompson here preached in the
school-house and at the Baptist church; and in 1849 he
organized a church at this place, of which Samuel Taylor,
I)atience Taylor, Amos Foote, Elizabeth Foote, Caleb tray­
lor, Catherine Taylor, Samuel Augustin, Mehitable Augus­
tin, John Foote, Mary Foote, Jacob Frybarger, and Eliza­
beth Frybarger were constituent members. First elder was
Jacob Frj"barger; since that time Samuel Taj"lor, Samuel
Augustin, and Amos Foote have filled that office. Deacons,
Samuel Taylor, W. Rice, Moses Dudley, Benjamin Olin.
Aggregate membership, 120; present number, 60. The
fiJ"8t pastor WUll Rev. David Thompson. Hev. John
Perigee, -- Davey, and, -- Trowbridge have also
preached for this church. There hodS been no preaching
in the church for over two years. In 1850 a frame c~urch

36 by 46 was built on Main Street at a cost of $750.
Present value of church property is $500. In 1852 a
Sunday-school was organized, which has been in operation
about one-third of the time since.

WOODVILLE CHRISTIAN UNION CHURCH

was organized March 18, 1866, by Rev. J. J. Woolf, with
a membership of 11. First officers were: Leading Elder,
George Jester; Recording, Z. Dickinson; Financial, J. D.
Hogan. Present officers are Elder J. M. Swigert, Lead.
ing; Ann Bradenburg, Recording; and Joseph Braden­
burg, Financial. Aggregate membership, 225; present,
40. The first pastor was Rev. Josiah Butler, who preached
for the church for seven years. Pastors at present time
are Rev. John Klise and Rev. A. Brook. Belongs to the
Ohio Council aud Fourth District.
. In 1867 the societ.y built a frame church on l\Iain Street,
at a cost of $1350. Vincent Brown, J. 1\1. Swigert, T. F.
Lyons, George Slusher, and A. J. Bradenburg, who are the
trustees at the present time, acted as building committee.

THE JORDAN CE~IETERY

is situated on the north side of the Milford and Woodville
free turnpike, west of Edenton, and near the present resi­
dence of Amos Jordan. It was set apart as a public cem­
etery by Jacob Jordan in 1813. Its area is about one
acre. The first person buried in it was a man by the name
of McKinley. ·At present it is not used, as there is no
room for any more graves. It is next to the most populous
city of the dead in Clermont County.

In connection with the various churches small cemeteries
are maintained, and in 1858 Edenton Lodge of Odd-Fellows
set aside two acres of ground for burial purposes. The first
person interred in it was Daniel Barr, Oct. 18, 1859.

BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HES.

WILLIA~l ROUDEBUSH.

No family in Clermont has' in a greater degree contributed
to the settlement, development, and progress of the county
in all its relations than that of Roudebush, which at this
day is one of the most extensive in its territory, and is es­
pecially noted for the rare business tact and high personal
standing that characterize its members and make them
marked personages in all the departments of life. In the
year 1650 two brothers and a e.ister of the Roudebush
family emigrated from Amsterdam, Holland, to America,
and located at New York City, then a quaint little Dutch
village. There they remained until 1666, when they re­
moved to Frederick Co., Md. In Holland they were mer­
chants and reputed to be wealthy. In America they fol­
lowed merchandising until their removal to the Maryland
colony, when they became farmers and the owners of several
large mills. In the New 'Vorld thi~ f."lmily thrived even
more than in the Old.

One of their members, Daniel Roudebush, was born in
1749, and in 1774 married Christina Snively, born in Penn-
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Bj'lvania in 1759. She was also of Dutch de&cent, and was
a niece of Dr. Snively, one of the most celebrated physi­
cians in the colonies at that. time. In 1796, Daniel Roude­
bush, with his family, emigrated to Bryant's Station, Ky.,
where he remained until 1799, when he purchased five
hundred acres of land from Gen. James Taylor, of New­
port, Ky., in Stark's survey, No. 2753, in Clermont Co.,
Ohio, at two dollars per acre, and immediately located on
it. He died Oct. 3, 1804, from the effects of exposure
while lost in the woods in the pr~vious December, and his
wife Christ.ina died June 10, 1833. Their son, Jacob
Roudebush, was born in Frederick Co., Md., in 1777. In
the month of October, 1806, he bought one hundl'ed and
fifty-nine acres of land from Gen. James Taylor, in· Tay­
lor's survey, No. 4237. On April 17, 1807, he married
JiJlizabeth Hartman, by which union were born six sons
and fouF daughters, viz., William, Francis J., Daniel, J a~es,
John, and Ambrose, the last four deceased; Mary Ann,
married to ex-sheriff Michael Cowen;' Rebecca, married to
John Rapp; Paulina, married to James Rapp; and Sarah,
never marri~d, the last two deceased. Jacob Roudebush
had one sister, who married Andrew Frybarger, of Goshen.
Jacob died May 25, 1835, of cholera, and his wife Eliza­
beth (Hartman) departed this life July 5, 1869. She was
a member of Baptist Church for sixty-eight years. He was
one of the best farmers of his day, and from being byavo­
cation in his youth a distiller, he turned his attention to
agriculture and became successful and noted as a tiller of
the soil. He was quiet and unassuming in his manners,
and died universally respected. l\1rs. Elizabeth (Hartman)
Roudebush's memory of places and things and power of
description of what she had seen or known was not equaled
by any person in the county. She was a 'woman of extra­
ordinary mental temperament, and on her maternal side was
related to the Hutchinsons of Massachusetts and New
York, and was descended from "William Hutchinson (her
grandfather of three generKlions preceding), who emigrated
to America in 1626, and settled in Massachusetts Bay.
Her great-grandiather, William Hutchinson, was born in
1695, and his wife, whose maiden name was Ann Von, Wll.'l
born March 6, 1700. She was a native of Amsterdam,
Holland, and at the age of six years was kidnapped and
brought to America. They were married in 1723, and
William Hutchinson, Jr., was born Dec. 13,1724, who in
1754 was married to his wife Catherine, born May 17,
1731. To Will iam Hutchinson, Jr., and his wife Cat.he­
rine was 'horn March 24, 1755, Mary, who married Chris­
topher Hartman. William Hutchinson, Jr., and his wife
Catherine had also four sons who were Methodist preachers,
to wit, Robert, Sylvester, Aaron, and Ezekiel. Ezekiel
came to Ohio in 1806, and was tho father of Aaron, now
living in Jackson township.

The father of Christopher Hartman (father of Elizabeth,
who was the mother of William Roudebush) was born in
Livintzburg, Prussia, May 6, 1750, and came to America
in 1753, accompanied by his father and four brothers. He
was a millwright by occupation, married Mary Hutchinson
in 1\1ercer Co., N. J., in August, 1776, by which union
were born three sons and five daughters; and of the latter,
}Jlizabeth, born May 22, 1783, in 1\1c1'cer Co., N. J" was

65

married to Jacob Roudebush, fitther of the subject of this
notice; and Rachel, married to John Page, is the only one
now living.

Christopher Hartman emigrated to KentU:cky in 1795,
coming by water from Wll."lhington, Pa., and settled at Lex­
ington. In 1801 he removed to Williamsburgh township,
in this county, and purchased of Gen. Lytle five hundred
acres of land in survey No.4780. It has been ascertained that
the great-great-grandmother of William Roudebush, Ann
Von, stolen and kidnapped from Holland, was of noble
blood, and belonged to one of the wealthiest Dutch families,
and was spirited away to the New World by designing per­
sons, in hopes of securing a large reward for her ransom
and return.

No county in the" Great Northwest Territory" excelled
Clermont in the charactcr of its early settlers,-men of
strong muscle and indomitable will, of deep religious devo­
tion, and rare intelligence for pioneers opening up the un­
broken forests to civilization, and forming a magtiificei:.t
fl'Ontier bulwa~k to the then young republic just launched
upon the sea of nations. Among the first to settle in North­
ern Clermont, in thc last year of the last century, wel13 two
men who became noted in the annals of the county as its
leading farmers and business men, Daniel and Jacob Roude­
bush, respectively the grandfather and father of Col. Wil­
liam Roudebush, the present largest land-owner of Clermont
soil. Col. Roudebush was born Feb. 2, ,1809, about two
miles northwest of the villagc of Boston, on the farm now
owned by Mr. L. Girard, the second year after the first log
cabin was erected on it, and when it wus all in woods. His
filther had no means of supporting his' family only by his
labor in clearing away the forest and raising what wheat
and corn he could on the land he cleared, cutting his wheat
with a sickle and threshing it with a flnil, .and blowing out
tIle chaff with a sheet by the aid of his wife. His father
had paid for his fhrm the year before William's birth, and
had a team of horses and a cow, and soon got a few sheep.
His wife spun, wove, and made all the clothing worn from
the flax raised on the place and from the sheep kept, whieh
for many years had to be penned up every night on account
of the wolves then infesting the county. When about five
years old William was sent to school to a widow lady, who
had settled half a mile from his father's dwelling, for there
was no school-house in that neighborhood, and when not at
school he was required to help his father pick and burn
brush when clearing up the woods. When nine years old
his father and other settlers built,a school-house of rough
logs, puncheon floor, stick-and-mud chimney, paper windows,
and benches split out of logs. To this William went a few
weeks in the winter, when there was a subscription school
of one quarter (three months), and the balance of the" time
he aided his father on the farm until his sixteenth year,
when he attended the school kept by Samuel McClellan, for
five months. The next winter he studied" Kirkham's
Grammar," walking three miles to school, and the following
season he took up geography in addition. The suc<;eeding
winter he'went to s~hool at Goshen, and made some progress
in algebra. The ensuing year he taught school at what was
called Hupp's school-house, working in the summer and
fall on the canal-lock near Chillicothe as a stone-cutter, and
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of nights kept the accounts of the workmen (for which he
got extra pay), on a contract of Gen. Thomas Worthington,
son of Governor Thomas 'Vorthington, of Chillicothe. He
returned from Chillicothe, and taught school in the winters
and worked on the farm in the summers-his father having
bought another one-until 1835, when his father died.
He, with his mother, settled his father's estate, and had the
management of the old farm, his brother Daniel having
married and moved upon the other. He still taught school
in the winters j was deputy assessor one spring and assessed
three townships. By this time he had saved some money,
and in December, 1835, purchased the farm on which he
now lives, composed of two hundred and twelve acres on
Moore's Fork of Stonelick Creek, for eight hundred and
fifty dollars, all of which was then in woods, and not a
stick of timber cut off save by hunters. In the follow­
ing spring he deadened forty acres of it, and in spring of
1837 began clearing up the first of the forest. In 1833
he' was elected clerk of Stonelick township, and re-elected
the four following years.

In :March, 1837, he was appointed count.y commissioner
by the Common Pleas Court to fill a vllcancy, and also was
ex-officio fund commissioner to loan out SOUle thirty thou­
sand dollars of the county's allotted share of the State
fund received fl'Om the government as proceeds of sales of
the public lands, and in October, 1837, was elected by the
people as commissioner for three years, and re-elected in
1840 for a like term. In the fall of 1843, William Rou­
debush, John D. White, of Brown County, and James F.
Sargent, of Washington township, were elected the three
representatives to the Forty-second General Assembly of
Ohio from the district composed of Clermont, Clinton, and
Brown Counties, and in 1844 William Roudebush was
again elected 3J3 the sole representative from Clermont.
In his two years in the Legislature he took high rank as a
debater, and stood. justly reputed as one of the Democratic
leaders in ability and influence. His speech in the House
on Feb. 11, 1845, on the final passage of the bill to incor­
porate the State Bank of Ohio and other banking compa­
nies, was published throughout the Democratic press of the
State, and received the marked encomiums of his party
editors for its ability and power, and nettled the Whigs as
much as it pleased the Democrats.

In 1845 or 1846 he was appointed land-appraiser for the
4istrict of Stonelick, Jackson, 'Vayne, and Goshen town­
ships, under the first law in Ohio placing all property at its
cash value. In 1839 he had been elected justice of the
peace of Stonelick, and served three years, and in 1851 was
elected magistrate of Wayne, serving a full term. In J.838
he was appointed on the board of county school examiners,
in which capacity he served for three years, and previous to
that, undet another law, he had been township examiner.
Col. Roudebush took an active interest in the old militia
for fifteen years, and participated in all the trainings, mus.,.
ters, and marches that distinguished the county forty years
ago in .their evolutions and parades. He was elected cap­
tain of the fifth rifle company in the First Rifle Regiment,
Third Brigade, Eighth Division of the Ollio militia, on Sept.
7, 1832, and thUR served until September, 1836, when he
was elected major of the same regiment, which rank he

held until September, 1841, when he was elected lieutenant­
colonel of the same regiment, serving in that capacity until
September, 1844, when he was elected colonel of the same
regiment, and so served until September, 1847, when he
resigned his commission. He was the most popular and
efficient officer of the county, and his command in appear­
ance and efficiency were not excelled by any soldiers of the.
State militia. All his time has been employed, when not
engaged in official duties, in agricultural pursuits. When
the war of the Rebellion began, in 1861, he had passed
the age subjecting him to a draft, and none of his family
was liable to it or old enough for military duty, yet he paid
out of his pocket over one thousand dollars to relieve his
township from draft and for bounties to soldiers enlisting in
the Union army. On Sept. 13, 1862, he was appointed
provost-marshal of Clermont County, and so served until the
r.epeal of that county system in 1863. A Democrat of the
Jackson stripe then, as now, he sustained the governm.ent
in the suppression of the Rebellion and in the raising of
all the quotas of volunteers for the war.

In 1870 he was elected a member of the State board of
equalization from the district composed of the counties of
Clermont and Brown, and took in its session of IS70 and
1871, at Columbus, a very active part, and was the choice
of a large number of the board for its president, but de­
clined in favor of his intimate friend, Hon. 'Villiam S.
Groesbeck, of Cincinnati, who was then elected to that po­
sition. Clermont County by its local board had returned
the total valuation of its taxable property at eleven million
six hundred and seventy-six thousand eight hundred and
fourteen dollars; but Col. Roudebush, by his untiring energy,
great ability, and commanding influence, succeeded in re­
ducing it in the board to ten million six hundred and fifty­
seven thousand four hundred and eighty.-eight dollars,-a
reduction of over a million of dollars,-and about 'the same
in Brown, which made the State tax about fifteen thousand
dollars less in each county than it had been before, and
would have continued to be under the valuations returned
to the board had not his keen intellect and untiring efforts
prevented it.

He has been administrator and executor of many estates.
He settled that of his grandmother, Christina (Snively)
Roudebush, nearly fifty years ago j next that of his father,
in 1835, and from that to the present time, he has ad­
ministered upon a very large number. He has acted also
as guardian for a great number of minors. While he has
been remarkably successful in the acquisition of wealth, he
has received but little in the way of official fees, while his
labors in the many public stations he has held have been
generally arduous and often irksome. Hence, in none of
.hispublic offices did he make any money, and when he was
county commissioner he received but two dollars per day,
~s fund commissioner the same, and a like amount in t.he
IJegislature. While serving as school examiner and mem­
ber of State board of equalization he received no compensa­
tion, asthe law authorized none. In all the military posi­
tions he held no fees or salary were paid to any officer or
private, yet all able-bodied men between the ages of eigh-:­
teen and forty.-fiveyears were required to drill at least two
days each year, and the Rifle Regiment, to which he be,:
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longed, was required to drill several days both in the fall
and spring, the privates having their rifles furnished, but
the officers had to supply their own swords, pistols, etc.

On Dec. 11, 1849, he married Elizabeth Clark, daughter
of Orson and NancY'(Corbly) Clark, by whom he has two
children, William Franklin Roudebush, ex-county treas­
urer and an attorney of the Clermont bar, and George Mil­
ton Roudebush. On Jan. 13, 1850, he removed from
Stonelick township, in which he was born, and where he
had lived up to that time, to the farm of two hundred and
twelve acres in Wayne township which he bought, being
occupied entirely by woods. He has made great improve­
ments on it, having built the fine residence in which he has
ever since resided. In April, 1847, he purchased six hun­
dred acres of land of Gen. Stirling H. R. Gresham, of
Georgia, of which he soon after sold four hundred acres,
but tl)e balance he cleared up, improved, and still owns.
In 1853 he bought of' John Manning one hundred and
forty-five acres in Gen. Lytle's survey, No. 4440, out of .
which he made an addition to the town of Newtonville and
sold many lots, and donated the one on which the Baptist
church is built, making the largest subscription for its erec­
tion. In 1870 he, with Sylvester Shriner and David
Jones, erected the chair-factory at Newtonville, both of
whose interests he soon bought. He sold the lot on which
the Newtonville school edifice was constructed, and in
1877 sold to John Orebaugh the lot on which he built the
grist-mill in that villa~e. In July, 18-18, he purchased of
Mary Pool, of Scotland, two hundred and twenty.four acres
adjoining his homestead, and of it sold one hundred and
twenty acres to William Dimmitt. In 1859 he bought of
Col. James Taylor, of Newport, Ky., two hundred and
sixty-three acres in Fox & Taylor's survey, in Stonelick, of
which he conveyed forty-five acres to Rebecca Williams,
twenty-six to J. R. Hill, tweuty-six to Alfred Shields, and
four to 1\1. Wood.

Since 1860 he has bought aud sold several farms, and
DOW owns' over eighteen hundred acres in Clermont County,
of which some eleven hundred are in Wayne township.
From 1850 to 1880 his time has been almost exclusively
engaged in farming, but during that period he served sev­
eral years as president of the Milford, Edenton and Wood­
ville Turnpike Company, and is now the acting president
of the Cincinnati, Fayetteville, Hillsboro' and Huntington
Railroad, to the building of which he has contributed four
thousand dollars in cash on the stock he has taken in it.
He is one of the largest stockholders in the First National
Bank of Batavia, and has been one of its directors since its
organization, holding the office of vice-president for over a
decade. In the past third of a century he has paid over
five thousand dollars security debts, yet he is the largest pro­
prietor in acres and value of Clermont lands in the county,
and probably its wealthiest citizeu. He has ever taken the
greatest interest in all educational matters, and frequently
served on the Wayne township board of education. In the
past thirty years he has raised and sold over thirty thou­
sand dollars' worth of hay, the same amount of cattle and
hogs, the same amount of corn, wheat, oats, and flax-seed;
three thousand dollars' worth of potatoes, same of butter,
eggs, poultry, etc., making in the neighborhood of one hun-

dred thousand dollars' worth of productions from his lands
sold direct. His productions up to 1840 were large, and
still larger in the decade following. Col. Roudebush,
although over thrcescore years and ten, is still as active as
ever, physically and mentally, and is a type of Ohio~s success­
ful farmers. His stern integrity, Ilis patriotism, his charit­
able disposition, and pure, unsullied character have never
been questioned, and his ability and energy are known and
recognized and esteemed throughout the county in which to­
day, as he ever has been, he is a favorite. He belongs. to that
old school of gentlemen who believed in honor, honesty,
and purity in official station, and aimed at success by labor
and pure methods instead of the miserable devices and
finesse that have too often characterized the lives of' later
public and business men of this progressive but fast age,
when riches are more speedily acquired, but by more ques­
tionable means, than a quarter of a century ago.

The present generation knows but little of and can hardly
appreciate what it cost their fathers and grandfathers in
suffering and labor to transmit to them the priceless heri­
tage of these delightful hills and valleys of Clermont, ever
beautiful, whether we visit them amid the budding flowers
of spring, or when 'clothed in the gorgeous beauty of sum­
mer, or in the regal robes of autumn, or ,et in the sublime
desolation of winter, when all nature seems left alone in
silent contemplation with its Maker. The sufferings and
trials of our pioneers are oft-told tales, ,household stories,
historical facts within the reach of all, yet how prone are
we to shut our eyes and ears to the lessons they teach and
the examples they point out for our imitation! The subject
of this sketch came from a heroic ancestry, among the very
first in this county to blaze the paths to civilization, and
his whole wonderful career of success, high public services,
and pure life should be an example to the young to follow
instead of the blazing meteors of modern days that rise in
splendor, but, devoid of industry and correct moral prin­
ciples, soon sink into obscurity and merited oblivion.

ELIZABETH (CLARK) ROUDEBUSH.

Elizabeth (Clark) Roudebush, wife of Col. William
Roudebush, of Wayne township, and a. most estimable
woman, is descended from ancestry on the paternal and
maternal side illustrious in the annals of Pennsylvania and
Virginia, and snbsequently honorably associated with the
pioneer history of the Northwest Territory, and later with
the important events attending and succeeding the admissio,n
of Ohio into the Union. She was the second in a family
of thirteen children, whose parents were Orson and Nancy
(Col'bly) Clark, and was born Oct. 26, 1818, near Plain­
ville, Hamilton Co., Ohio. When one year old she moved
with her parents to Miami County, in this State, on J.Jos t
Creek, near the present beautiful town of Cass, which wa.'i
then a new country, thinly settled, and almost an unbroken
forest. There they endured the hardships and privations in­
cident to the early pioneers of a new country. In the spri~g ,
ot' 1829 she, with her parents, moved to Warren Co., Ohio,
near Lebanon. In 1832 they moved to Clermont County,
and located near 'Yitha~sv~l\e, b~t i~ 1837 removed to
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Wayne township, on what is now known as the Clark home­
stead, purchased by her father in 1835. In 18-n she
united with the Stonelick Baptist Church, of which to this
day she has remained a zcalous, consistent, and exemplary
member. She was. married Dec. 11, 1849, by Rev. Wil­
liam Blair, to Col. William Roudebush, by whom she has
had two children, William Franklin and George Milton
Roudebush. Of these W. F. Roudebush, after a five years'
course at the L3banon (Ohio) Normal School, there gradu­
ated with high honors in the collegiate course in 1874,
attended and graduated at the Cincinnati Law College in
1876, and was thereupon admitted to the practice of law, in
which he.is now extensively engaged, his office being loca­
ted at Batavia. He married Ida, daughter of' Dr. W. S.
Anderson, of' Newtonville, and in the fall of 1877, at the
age of twenty-five years, was nppointed treasurer of Cler­
mont County to fill a vacancy, and for a year filled that
offic.e with unswerving fidelity and integrity to the public,'
and with honor to himself, being the youngest man who
ever held that or any other responsible county office in
Clermont. The second son, George l\'I. Roudebush, at­
tended the Lebanon (Ohio) Normal School, and graduated
in the scientitic course, and lives at home, assisting his
father in the care of his large landed possessions. Orson
Clark, the tilther of the subject of' this sketch, was born in
Southampton Co., Va., in February, 1792, and emigrated
with his father, Judge James Clark, to Ohio in 1797, and
on May 25, 1815, married Nancy, daughter of Rev. John
Corbly. :l\Ir. Clark was a hard.working man of excellent
business and personal traits, and by his industry, tact, and
successful management accumulated a considerable estate,
and died in 1864, respected by the community as an upright
citizen who had passcd an honorable life in developing his
adopted State, and greatly assistcd in its onward march to
moral and material prosperity. His wife, the mother of
Mrs. Elizabeth (Clark) Houdebush, was Nancy Corbly,
born Jan. 21, 1800, near the present site of Mount Wash­
ington, Hamilton Co., Ohio, and died near Newtonville,
Clermont Co., Ohio, June 30, 1877. For fifty-seven years
she was a faithful followcr of Christ and a consistent mem­
ber of·the Baptist Church, and for forty-one years was in­
timately and favorably known by the people among whom

.she died. She ctime of honored ancestry on both sides, and
it can be truthfully said sl~e was a faithful and devoted
mother, a kind and accommodating neighbor, a true and
loyal Christian, and her life was a long and usef'ul one, and
though void of aU ostentation and pride, yet rose to the
dignity of the highest excellence, viz., a conscientious per­
formance of what she believed to be her duty in life. ,

Judge James Clark, grandfather of Mrs. EIi24abeth
(Clark) Roudebush, was one of the most distinguished pio­
neers of the Northwest Territory, and became noted in the
State after its admission into the Union by his brIlliant and

, useful public life, and by his literary and scholastic attain­
ments. He descended from a family noted for its patriotic
p~rticipation and achievements in the Revolutionary era,
both in civil life and in the Continental army, as well as in
the French and Indian war, in the struggles of' the feeble
colonies against French aggressions and savage massacres.
.James Clark emigrated from Southampton Co., Va., to

Ohio in 1797, and settled in Hamilton Count.y. On his
first arrival and for a few subsequent years he taught school.
He was a celebrated mathematical scholar: and the author of
" CIurk 's,Arithmetic," so generally used over fourscore years
ago. An excellent penman, he was in his day unsurpassed
as an accountant. He was a representative from Hamilton
County in the Seventh and 'Eighth General Assemblies of ,
Ohio, that convened in the years 1808-9-10 in Chillicothe,
and arose to distinction as a legislator. He served for
seven years as associate judge. of the Court of Common
Pleas of Hamilton Co., Ohio, and was called in various
other positions to serve the public, all of which he filled
with rare ability and fidelity. Judge Clark was one of the
best types of the educated pioneers who came 'Vest in the
last century, and the impress of whose strong minds, in.
domitable wills, Spartan courage, and inflexible honesty has
been indelibly written in the legislation of Ohio, its mate­
rial development, and the character of its people. Rev.
John Corbly, Jr., the grandt'ather of Mrs. Elizabeth (Clark)
Roudebush on the maternal side, was born in Pennsylva.
nia, and, like his filther, was a Baptist preacher. He emi­
grated from Pennsylvania to Ohio about the year 1798,
settled in Hamilton County, founded, or early preached for,
the Clough Church, near Mount Washington, and was o~e

of the first ministel's of any denomination to preach in
Clermont County, and the very first of' the Baptist persua­
sion. He died in 1814, near Mount. \Vashington, and his
widow afterwards marl'ied Matthias Corwin, father of the
great lawyer, statesman, and orator, Governor Thomas Cor­
win. nev. ~Tohn Corbly, Jr., was the father of twelve
children, of' whom the fourth was Nancy, the mothm' of
1\:Irs. ]~Iizabeth (Clark) Roudebush, and he was an able
and eloquent expounder of the gospel, a pioneer in his
church, as his father had been before him in Pennsylvania j

and among the Baptists of Sou~hern Ohio the name of Rev.
John Corbly, Jr., is still held in the most sacred veneration
as associated with hallowed memol'ies of their pioneer his­
tory and the organization of their early churches. Rev.
John Corbly, Sr., filther of Rev. John Corbly, Jr., and
great-grandfather of' Elizabeth (Clark). Roudebush, and
the ancestor of all the well-known· Corbly families in Cler­
mont and Ham.ilton Counties, Ohio, was born in England
in 1733. At an early age he emigrated to Pennsylvania,
but being too poor to pay his passage across the ocean, he
was sold, according to a custom quite prevalent previous
to the American Revolution, for a period of four years.
Upon the expiration of his term of service he removed to
Culpepper Co., Va., where he was converted under the
ministry of a celebrated preacher, Rev. James Ireland.
He soon entered the ministry, and shared with his brethren
in the persecutions that grew out of their persistcnca in
preaching the gospel as they understood it.
,From June 4, 1768, until the exciting scenes of tho

Revolution diverted men's minds from religious questions,
many Baptist preachers were imprisoned, SOlDe of' them as
often as four times each. Among these was Rev. John
Corbly, Sr., who lay several weeks ill Culpepper jail on this
account. In the year 1768, probably because of' these
prosecutions, he moved into Pennsylvi.lnia, in what w~s

called tl}(~ Red Stone country, comprising the south \~estern
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counties. Here he actively engaged in the ministry, or­
ganizing a number of churches, which in 1776 formed
the Red Stone Association. Of one of these, the Goshen
Church, he was its beloved pastor for the last twenty-eight
years of his eventful life.

It was during his ministry in the Red Stone Association
that Rev. John Corbly, Sr., met with a most terrible afilic­
tion at the' hands of the Indians. On Sunday, May 10,
1772, he' had an appointment to preach at one of his meet­
ing-houses on Big Whiteley Creek, and about a mile from
his dwelling-house. He set out through the woods for the
Lord's house, with his wife and five children, to hold his
public worship, and not suspecting any danger, he walked
behind a few rods with his Bible in his hand, meditating
on his sermon about to be delivered. While thus engaged,
on a sudden he was alarmed by the frightful shrieks of his
dear family before him, and ran immediately to their relief
with ali po:ssible speed, vainly looking for a club as he
sped. 'Vhcn within a few yards of them his beloved wife
observing h'im cried out for him to escape from the seven
Indians. At this instant one of the savages coming up
behind him he had to run, and eluded him. The Indians
killed the infant in Mrs. Corbly's arms and struck her
several times, but not bringing her to the ground, the one
who had attempted to shoot 1\1r. Corbly approached and
shot her through the body and then scalped her. His
little son, aged six years, amI a daughter of four were dis­
patched by the bloodthirsty savages sinking their toma­
Imwks into their brains and,then scalping them. His eldest
daughter attempted to escape by concealing herself in a
hollow tree about six rods from the fatal scene of action.
Observing the Indians retirin~, as she supposed, she de­
liberately crept out from her place of concealment, when
one of the savages yet remaining on the' ground espied "her,
and running up knocked her down and scalped her. The
wife und children were all horribly mangled, and of them
only one little girl recovered from her wounds and survived,
-the fifth one, not mentioned above, who crawled into the
bushes, lived, and afterwards· emigrated to the valley of
the Great Miami, reared a large family in Ohio,.and had a
son named Corbly, who became an eminent preacher. The
father fled to a neighboring block-house and obtained as­
sistance, but when he and the aid came upon the scene, sad
and awful was the dismal sight that met their eyes,-his
wife shot, the brains of her infant (snatched from her
arms) dashed out against a tree, and the other four chil­
dren tomahawked and scalped, but one of whom, as above
stated, recovered. For a considerable time the bereaved
father was unable to preach, but he finally received strength
to renew his ministerial labors, which were very successful.
During the celebrated Whisky Insurrection, which Dccurred
in Western Pennsylvania in 1794, Rev. John Corbly, Sr.,
was unjustly suspected of aiding and abetting the insu~­

gents. With a large number of others he was arrested,
taken to Philadelphia, and after being paraded through the
streets was lodged in prison. Here his wants were minis­
tered to by his Baptist brethren of that city, prominent
among whom w~s Hev. 'Villiam Rogers, D.D., formerly"
pastor of the old First Church, but then a professor in tlie
University of PennsylV'lnia. Rev. 1\1r. Corbly was dis-

charged without trial by the government, which discovered
the fhlsity of the charges against him and his entire inno­
cence. Rev. Mr. Corbly was married three t~mes, and his
second wife, slain by the Indians, was a superior woman,
as was also his third. He died iIi 1803, and car­
ried to his death the scars on his ankles made by the fetters
he wore when in jail for preaching the Baptist doctrine not
according to tIle established church of Virginia. The
Corblys and Clarks were of an ancestry whose pioneer
deeds of valor in behalf of liberty of conscience and free­
dom from British rule, ,and of services against the red
men, are commemorated in the brightest annals of our
country, and from these the subject of this sketch is a
lineal descendant, and in her are blended the virtues and
noble qualities that di"stinguished them and mark her as the
loving mother and devoted wife, the model housekeeper
and zealous Christian.

JAMES CROSSO~.

William Crosson, of Scotch-Irish descent, was born in
Franklin Co., Pa., in 1795, and moved with his parents in

1806 to Ohio, settling ncar Marrow, Warren Co. He
served in the war of 1812, and participated in several bat­
tles against the Bl'itishand their Indian allies. He married
Miss Margaret ~imonton, whose father was one of the first
settlers about Loveland, before Clermont County was organ­
ized or Ohio admitted into the Union. He serv~d over
thirty years as justice of the peace of his township and until
his old age compelled him to decline any more re-elect ions.
He was a candidate for Presidential elector on the Demo­
,cratic ticket in 1856 (Buchanan and Breckenridge) in his
congressional district, and as executor and administrator
settled more estates in his time than any other man in
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Warren County. He raised a large TItmily, and died in
1879, in his eighty-fourth year, and was buried with Ma­
sonic honors by the order of' which for half a century he had
been a distinguished member. At his funeral rites Rev. A.
Hamilton preached the sermon to an immense attendance
of his order and of the pioneers assembled from far and
near, ana Gen. Durbin de.livered a most eloquent address
on the life and character of the deceased patriarch. His
wife and companion of fifty-four years died in 1874, loved
and revered by numerous and honorable descendants, and
by the community in which she was most highly respected
as " Aunt Margaret." Their eldest son, J.Jieut.-Col. John
Crosson, was killed at the battle of Jonesborough in the late
Rebellion, while gallantly commanding the Thirty-eighth
Ohio Regiment in that famous fight. Their second son,
James Crosson, the subject of this notice, was born on the
banks of the historical Little Miami River, in a log cabin,
June 12, 1823, in Salem township, Warren Co., Ohio. On
Dec. 2, 1847, he married Miss Michel" Butler, of' 'Yanen
County, but who was born in Belmont Co., Ohio, Sept.. ",
1828. By this happy union one child only was born,

. Franklin Crosson, Dec. 4, 1852, and who died March 26,
1874,-a ),oung man of fine physical proportions and rare
intellectual attainments, cut down in the dawn of a bright
manhood, when the futUl'e was opening up rich stores for
his brilliant mind and warm heart. Two years later (on
July 14,1876) Mrs. Crosson, the wife of James Crosson,
died, esteemed and loved by all who knew her for the many
excellencies of Christian character her life had shown.

In the spring of 1848, the year following his marriage,
James Crosson removed to Wayne township, Clermont
Co., wher~ he has ever since resided. In 1852 he was
elected township assessor, and re-elected the next spring.
In the fall of 1853 he was elected justice of the peace, and
re-elected in 1856, and after serving six years declined
another re-election as magistrate. In 1861 he was elected
sheriff of Clermont County, and re-elected in 1865, the

J , ill

last time by three majority over Capt. James W. Hill, the
then incumbent of that office,· and being one of the three
Democrats that year elected in the county carried by the

. Republicans on the State ticket. ·In 1877 he was elected
as the representative of Clermont County to the Sixty­
third General Assembly of Ohio, in which he made an
able member,-always in his seat, prompt to look after the
immediate interests of his constituents and the welfare of
the public genera]]y. He was one of the most genial,
frank, and open-hearted gentlemen on the fioor of the
HOUde, and was extremely popular with both political par­
ties. The county was never represented by a member
whose popularity, tact, and judgment enabled him to do
more for its interests than Col. Crosson, whose keen vision
closely scrutinized every measure of legislation proposed
for enactment. He was renominated by his party in 1879,

. but by a combination of Greenbackers and Republicans
was defeated by about forty votes only, at an election when
the Democrats were in a minority of the popu:lar total vote
of the county. Being a practicnl farmer, he has devoted
all his time, outside of the official positions he has held, to
tilling the soil. He resides on his farm near Edenton,
which when he took it, thirty-two years ago, was almost an
unbr~ken forest and in a state of nature, but by his suc­
cessful cultivation and improvement has become as good as
any in Clermont. Upon it is situated a fine dwelling with
beautiful surroundings, all indicating the taste and culture
of its owner.

Mr. Crosson is a most liberal and charitable man, and in
him the poor and distressed ever find relief and succor. He
has been for a third of a century a member of Edenton
Lodge, No. 332, of Free and Accepted :Masons, and belongs
to Batavia Chapter, No. 112, Royal Arch Masons, of
which he was one of its charter members at its institution
in 1868 j and in 1871 he received the degrees of Royal and
Select Master in Connell Council, No. 18, at Felicity, where
he yet retains his membership.

C D

S TON ELI a K.*
'1"

TlIIS township occupies an interior position north of the
centre of the county, and is bounded on the north by
Goshen and Wayne townships, on the east by Jackson,
on the south by Batavia and Union, and on the west by
Miami. The surface of' Stonelick is greatly varied, and in
some localities is much broken, but in the. northern part is
more level, and nearly the entire area there is tillable.

PIONEER SETTLERS.

An attempt at settlement was made within the bounds of
Stonelick as early as 1792, about a mile above the mouth
of 8tonelick Creek, on the farm now owned· by Mrs. Eliza-

iii Prepared by J, L. Roudebush.

beth Carpenter. Four or five acres of land were deadened
and a pole cabin built, but owing to the hostility of the
Indians the place was soon abandoned. It remained un­
occupied until 1798, when Henry Allison, a brother of
Dr. Richard Allison, came on and built a cabin on the
same site, and cleared off the land that had previously

. been deadened, and made the first permanent settle­
ment. In 1799, Dr. Richard Allison, who had received a
patent for survey No. 1773, containing 441 acres of land,
for services rendered to the United States during the Revo­
lution; built a double log cabin two stories in height on
the south side of the road leading from Stonclick to East
Liberty, opposite the present residence of T. C. Teal.
This house stood until 1862, whe!! it was torn down by E.



STONELICK TOWNSH,IP. 519

C. PatchelL In 1810 he removed to Cincinnati, where
he died in 1817. In the same year his brother Henry
sold his farm, and it is now owned by Mrs., Elizabeth Car­
penter.

Dr. Richard Allison was a native of Orange Co., N. Y.,
and ~as born about the year 1744. In 1776 he gradu­
ated from the Jefferson Medical College (as it is now called)
with high honors. In the following year he was commis­
sioned as a surgeon by the executive council of Pennsyl­
vania, and served as such during the rest of the war,
being assigned to the regulars under St. Ciair.

After the close of the war he returned to Philadelphia,
where he practiced his profession until 1787, when he was
commissioned a surgeon's mate by the executive council of
Pennsylvania to the forces to be raised for the defense of
the Northwest Territory, in which capacity he served until
1791, r~ceiving for his services, in addition to his pay,
300 acres of land situated on the west side of the Alle­
ghany River, in Westmoreland, Co., Pa.

After Harmar's defeat in 1790, Governor St. Clair
being Ql'dered to raise a body of regulars and volunteers for
the subjugation of the Indians, Col. D. E. A. Strong, ,com­
mander of the United States Legion, then stationed at
Pittsburgh, was ordered to Fort Washington in April of
that year, of which Dr. Richard Allison was surgeon. On
the arrival of St. Clair at Fort Washington, he was ap­
pointed surgeon-general of his army, also serving as com­
missary-~eneral from April, 1791, to March 1, 1793.
He was in St. Clair's defeat, and through his bravery and
coolness saved the lives of several officers and soldiers by
putting them on his famous charger, Jack, and taking
th~m to the rear. After the return of St. Clair's army to
;Fort Washington, he occupied a plain frame dwelling on
the east side of the fort, on Fourth Street, situated in the
centre of a large lot cultivated as a garden and fruitery
which was called Peach Grove, which he sold in 1801 to
John Cleves Symes, together with three or four acres on
the west side of Deer Creek, for $3000.

He was also surgeon-general of Gen. Anthony Wayne's
army, and was at the battle of Fallen Timbers.

After the treaty of Greenville, Wayne's army was dis­
banded and he resigned his commission, having been pre­
viously married to Rebecca Strong, daughter of Col. D.
E. A. Strong, of the United States Legion. For his meri­
torious conduct at St. Clair's defeat and the battle of
Fallen Timbers, he was given 3936 acres of land in Mus­
kingum County. In 1815 he laid out Allisonia on a grand
scale, donating several lots for a public square, Lancaster
school, hotel, and common prison. The site, though a
beautiful one, did not strike the eyes of the masses,' and
but few lots were ever sold, and they were finally taken
back by the proprietor.

Dr. Allisonheld several official positions both in this and
Hamilton County. As a surgeon he had no superior west
of the mountains. In person he was over six feet in height,
with a commanding look. ' He was kind-I1earted and gen­
erous to a fault, and died at the age of seventy-three, greatly
beloved by all who knew him.

His wife, w~ose maiden name was Rebecca Strong, was
the youngest daughter of Col. D. E. A. Strong, of the reg-
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ular army, and was born about t~e year 1778, at Pittsburgh,
Pa., where her father was stationed.

In April, 1794, she was married to Dr. Richard Allison,
at the early age of fourteen, as claimed by some, but most
probably at sixteen. He dying in 1817 and leaving no
issue, she became possessor of his estate. In 1818 she was
married to' the Rev. Samuel 'Vest. She was the mother of
two children, viz., S. R. S. Wesli and Rebecca Julia Evans
West, bo~h now deceased. She died June 1, 1827, aged
forty-nine years~ Mrs. West was one of the most brilliant
women of her time. A fine form and a face of' marvelous
beauty, together with a well-balanced and cultivated mind,
made her the centre of attraction wherever she went. Pious,
sympathetic, generous, and energetic, she ,!as' a po:wer in
the church of which she was a member, She was gifted as
a speaker, and had she lived when women w~re allowed the
privilege in the church and society that they now are, she
would have excelled, in some respects, Margaret Fuller or
Hannah 1\1ore.

The next settler after Dr. Richard Allison was John
Metcalfe, a native of Virginia. He also lived for several
years in Maryland prior to his emigration to Kentucky in
1792. In 1798' he immigrated to Ohio, stopping first
at Garrett's Station, near Newtown, where he remahled
until the spring of 1800, when he purchased 250 acres
of land on Stonelick Creek; now owned in part by Ira
Williams. In September of that year he built a log
cabin on the banks of the creek, about five hun'dred yards
sQuthwest of the present residence of Ira Williams, in which
~e lived until 18U8, when he built a hewed-log house, which
is still in a good state of preservation, being occupied by
Ira Williams. In 1819 he built an addition ·of stone to it,
which is also well preserved. His house was a preach ing­
place for many years. His family consisted of himself, wife,
and four daughters, vizo, Elizabeth, wife of Wm. Glancy;
Mary, wife of George McCOlomick; Milly, whose first hus-

, band was John Hair, who lived but a short time after their
marriage, and her second husband was Timothy Kirby, of
Cincinnati; and Nancy, wife 9f Jasper Whetston.
. Joh~Metcalfe died in 18-l7. He was a great hunter and
backwoodsman, and his cabin was the headquarters of Ken­
ton and Washburn for a number of years,

In September, 1800, Capt. Richard Hall settled on the
farm now owned by John Smith. He was a native of
Pennsylvania. In 1791 he emigrated to Ohio, locating at
Columbia. Soon after his arrival he was made commander
of Geraul's Station, which office 11e filled to the satisfaction
of his comrades until after the treaty of Greenville'.

While in command of the block·house or station a party
of five Indians were seen prowling around the block-house,
intent on surprising som~ of the settlers. He took his rifle
and stole out unperceived by, them, and afterwards shot one
of their number, a chief of more than local reputation.
Capt. Richard Hall was married to Theodosia Edwards, and
had children mimed Jackson, Richard, Lytle, Eleanor,
Ruth, and Isabel. It is ch~imed by some that he was a
soldier of tIle H.evolution, but this cannot now be positively
determined.

In 1800, Richard Taliaferro was employed by Gen.
James Taylor to sell lands for him in the neighborhood
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of Boston. In 1802 he brought his family from Kentucky
and settled on the farm now owned by Jacob Balshizer.
He was twic~ married j l~is first, wife was a Davis, by whom
he had five children,-Zack, Lucy, Jones, Matilda, and
Emily. His second wife was RJbecca Riddle, by whom he
llad six children,-Jefferson, S,lrah, Elizabeth, Kitty, Rid­
dle, and William. Richard Taliaferro was a native of Car­
oline Co., Va. He was under George Rogers Clark in
his memorable expedition against Vincennes and Kaskaskia
in 1778.

For services rendered in that expedition he received 200
acrcs of land in Indiana, opposite Louisville, Ky. After
Clark's campaign he returned to Virginia, where he re­
mained until 1792, when he came to Kentucky with Gen.
James Taylor, settling near Newport. Jones enlisted in
the 1Var Qf 1812, at the age of sixteen, and was in the bat­
tle of Brownstown, ncar Detroit, and was taken prisoner at
that place a short time afterwards. Zack was also in the
war of 1812, having enlisted in 1813. He was in the
battles of Lundy's Lane and Chippewa, and for bravery at
the former place was maue ensign on the field by Gen.
Winfield Scott. He waE a surveyor by profession and a
man of considerable ability, but 'owing to his intemperate
habits it did not a\'ail him much.

Richard Taliaferro dicd in 1835, while on u visit to
Ohio, and was buried on his son's farm, he having previ­
ously removed to Indiana. In person he was fine looking,
of medium height, and stoutly built. Thomas Rra~g, a
distant relative of Richard Taliaferro, set tied about the same
time on the farm now the property of Valentine Snider.
His family consisted of his wife and five children,-Rich­
ard, 1\Iary, Elizabeth, Nancy, and Rebecca. He enlisted as
a soldier in the war of 181~, and was killed at the'battle of
the River Raisin. About 1820 his family went back to
Kentucky, from which State he had emigrated to Ohio.
Since that time all trace of the family has been lost.

Josiah Prickett settled on the north side of StoneIick, on '
the filrm now owned by W. Roudebush, in the spring of
1801. He was a native of Virginia, nud came to Geraul's
Station in company with his parents in 1791. In 1792
his youngest brother, Richard, was stolen by the Indians
while he was hunting the cows a short distance from the
station. He never returned to the whites, having married
an Indian woman and raised a large family. In the war of
1812 he was an interpreter for the lV!landols, by which
tribe he had been adopted. He dicd at an advanced age,
in 1847, and was the wealthiest man in the reservation.
Josiah Prickett was a soldier of the Revolution and was in
several battles.

The Fletcher brothers, William, David, and Jesse, set­
tled in this township about the same time. They were
natives of· Pennsylvania, and came with Capt. Hull to
Geraul's Station in 1791, where they remained until 1801,
when they settled on farms now owned by Henry Balshi­
zer and J. W. Robinson. Of their history we have been
unable to obtain any definite information. They at differ­
ent periods owned anu operated several ui8tillerics, and were
counted good business men. None of their descendants
are now living in the township, all hllving died or emigrated
to parts unknown.

In 1802, Conrad Harsh settled on the farm now owned
by F. X. Iuen, north of the corporation of Boston. He
was born Dec. 17, 1757, and was a native of Pennsylvania.
He was twice married: first to Eva Hockensmith, Aug. 31,
1790. She was also a native of Pennsylvania, and was
born Aug. 6, 1771. She died in 1801. In June, 1802,
he married Nancy Hockensmith. 'l'hey had no children.
He died in 1846, and his wife in 1849. He was the first
blacksmith in Stonelick township, and made the first grain­
cradle that was ever made within its limits. In the same
year Benjamin Whitmore, a brother-in-law of Harsh, set­
tled on the farm now owned by Thomas Shumard. He was
a native of Pennsylvania j in what year he was born is not
known. About the year 1785 he emigrated to Kentucky,
settling at Lexington, having subsequently married Mary
Hockensmith, who was born May 7, 1765. He was the
father of four children, Conrad, Mary, Sarah, --. Mary
was the wife of John Patterson, Jr., and Sarah that of
Thomas Hills. She was a continuous re::.ident of Stonelick
township for seventy-five years. Benjamin 'Vhitmore was
killed in 1819, by fhlling from a house that he was helping
to raise. His widow married Lawrence Hensel. She died
in 1860, aged ninety-five years. Of these two families
there is not one of the name Iivir1g within the limits of
Clermont County.

In 1803, Christian Long, a native of Pennsylvania and
of German descent, bought the filrm now owned by Mrs.
Hannah Leming. From Pennsylvania he came to Ken­
tucky about the year 1790, settling in Bracken County.
He was married. to Nelly Pattison about the year 1790.
He was the father of seven children,-Mary, Philip, Eliza­
beth, Nelly, Christian, William, and Rebecca. Of his
:filmily little is known j suffice to say he was a good citizen.
He was a great hunter, and had many adventures with the
Indians, always coming out best. He was the fil'st tinner
in Stonelick township. The date of his death is not known.

In 1802, William Pattison settled on Harner's Run, in
Miami township jand in 1804, leaving there, he bought a
farm near Boston, now owned by A. Burkle, F. X.Iuen,
and others.

His father, John Pattison, Sr.; was a,native of Ireland,
and was born ne~r Dublin, in what year is not known. He
and his brother William emigrated to America about the
year 1765. Of the seven children, Thomas, Nelly, William,
John, JiJdward, James, and Mary, all were born in America
with the exceptions of Thomas arid Nelly. At what date he
settled in Pennsylvania is not known, but is supposed to be
about the year 1770. In 1793 he and his brother 'Villiam
emigrated to Kentucky, settling in Bracken County, five
miles from Augusta, where he and his brother William
died at the advanced ages of one hundred and three and
one hundred and three and one-half years. •

William, Jr., was born in 1768, and was manied to
Martha Bodine in 1790, by whom he had nine children,­
John, Katie, Ed.ward, Isaac, Rosa, Mary,WiIliam, Nancy,
and Thomas. His wife dying in 1810, he married Ann
Hamilton in 1812, by whom he had five children,-Eliza­
beth, Richard, Alexander, Benjamin, and 'l'homas,-all of
whom lived to be married except Thomas, who died in
childhood.
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William Pattison assisted Benjamin Whitmore and COIl­
rad Harsh in making five miles of the Anderson State road
in 1806. He was in the war of' UH2, but owing to his
age did not take part. in the act,ive service. He died in
March, 1849, aged eighty-one years.

John Pattison, Jr., was born near Augusta, Ky., ill 1792,
and came to Ohio with his father in 1802. In 1814 he
was married to :Mary Whitmore, daughter of Benjamin
·Whitmore. He was the fhthcr of eight children,-Benja­
min"born in 1815 j Martha in 181.7; William in 1819 j

Mary in 1820 j Nancy A. in 1822 j J. Nelson, 1824; J.
1\1., 1827; Sarah A., 1831. Benjamin died in 1836, and
Sarah A., 1831.

John Pattison was a soldier in the war of 1812, being a
member of Capt. Stephen Smith's company. He was 'one
of the number that took the prisoners captured at Fort
Stephenso~ to Newport Barracks. He was a member of
the Methodist Episcopal Church for a great many years,
and died, having been a continuous resident of Stonelick
for over seventy-three years. His brothers and sisters are
all dead but four. Of his children that are now living all
arc members or the Methodist Episcopal Church. William
is the father of Hon. J. 1\1. Pattison, a prominent attorney'
in Cincin.nati. The Pattisons have been long noted for
their industry and economy, and are among our best citi­
zens, being living examples of the benefits arising from
temperate habits. In the same year James Pattison, a
cousin of John, Jr., settled on the farm now owned by
Henry South. As the history of. his family belongs to
another township, we will not give it in this connection.

In September, 1805, Samuel Lattimer settled on the
farm now owned by Joseph Rhine. He was a native of
Virginia, and emigrated to Kentucky at an early date, and
from there to Harner's Run, in Miami township, in 1798.
He had two sons, John and Samuel, and several daughters,
of whom 'little is known. In 1813 he sold his property,
consisting of a grist- and saw-mill and five acres of land, to
William Glancy, and removed to Clinton County in 1830,
having previous to this lived at various places in the
county.

When Lattimer settled on 'Stonelick his father-in-law, a
man by the name of Tivay, also settled with him, and left
about the same time. Of the family nothing at present is
known. At the time of Lattimer's settlement William
Cowen bought the farm now owned by John 1\1oore. He
was a native of Pennsylvania, and of German descent. Sub­
sequent to his removal to Stonelick he had lived at Gar­
rett's Station, but how long is not known. He was in the
Uevolutionary war, serving under Wayne, Mercer, and
Lafayette. He was the father of Elijah Cowen, now de­
ceased. In person he was tall and commanding. Of a
vigorous and hardy constitution, he lived to a ripe old age.
He was the last survivor of the Revolutio~ary war that had
ever resided in this township.

Ephraim Simpkins settled on the farm now owned by his
son David in the year 1805. He was a native of Orange
Co., N. Y.; was born March 10, 1754:. In 1804 he was
married to !\lary Chandler, who was born Mal'eh 24, 1781.
Immediately after their marriage they emigratcd to Ohio,
stopping for a short. time at Garrett's Station. Among
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those that came with him was Samuel Perin. He was tIle
filther of four children,-three sons and one daughter,
-John, born Sept 27, 1806 j David, Dec. 14, ~809, who
still livcs on the homestead, and has been one of the great.est
business men in tIle township (besides carrying on various
trades he has built more miles of turnpike than any other
man in the county) j Arch. --; and Phoobe, present wife
of Ezra 'Villiams. Of the childl'en all are now living but
one, Arch, who died in early manhood. Ephraim Simpkins
was a Revolutionary soldier, and served under 'Vashington .
at the battles of lUonmouth and Brandywine and several
minor engagements. He took an active part against the
horse-thieves and counterfeiters that infested Stonelick
township in 1818. He was a great friend. to education,
and built the first school-house in that part of the township.
In person he was about the average height, well built, mus­
cular, active, and courageous; he had all the clements of a
good soldier. He died great.ly respected, by those who kQew
him, for his pcrsonal worth.

This year Dr. Samuel Glenn also settled on the farm now
owned by John Miller. His house stood near the bank of
Stonelick, a short distance below the iron bridge. He was
a native of Pennsylvania or Virginia, which is not known
to a certainty. He came to Ohio from Kentucky. He
had a large family, one of which, John Glenn, is a minister
of the United Brethren Church. D.r. Glenn had the first
tan-yard in Stonelick township. His house .was the place
of holding elections for a number of years. Of his family
all trace has been lost.

In January, 1806, Jesse Glancy, a native of York Co.,
Pa., purchased 1000 acres of land of Gen. Lytle in Mount­
joy's survey, No. 4447. In October, 1805, himself and
family, consisting of his wife, three sons, William, John,
and Joseph, and his nephew James, and his daughter
Elizabeth, and niece, left their native place for the" Miami
country." They experienced vcry cold weather in crossing
the Alleghany Mountains, arriving at Pittsburgh about the
1st of November, having been detained by sickness. From
Pittsburgh they followed Tane's trace to Chillicothe, and
from there to Williamsburgh by way of New Market.
After leaving Chillicothe the wcather, which had before
been quite pleasant, turned suddenly cold, accompanied by

, a terrific snow~storm.

In crossing'Yhite Oak the wagon, which was heavily
loaded, broke through the ice, compelling them to take
everything out of the wagon, and it also was taken to
picces before they could get it out, so deep was the mud
beneath the ice. After putting the wagon together they
took about half of their load and the greater. part of the
family, leaving 'Villiam and his cousin James to take care
of' the remainder of the load until his father could go to
Williamsburgh and return for the goods. The weather
now turned colder. The wind blew a perfect hurricane
through the dense forest that lined that stream, drifting the
snow to the depth of five and six feet in places. Had it
not been that they discovered an old Indian camp neal' by
that was in a tolerable state of preservation they must have
perished from the intense cold. In three or four days the
wagon returned and took them and the goods to'YiIliams­
burgh, where they remained until Ma.l'<?h, when they set-
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tIed on their new purchase. A short time after his settle­
ment Jesse Glancy came ncar being killed by an enormous
black bear. It seems that the bear had been in the habit
of prowling around his cabin for some time, and was gen­
erally chased off by his dogs before he could get a shot at
llim. So one evening, on hearing his dogs barking furi­
ously, he concluded that he would shut them up in the
house, and go to a tl'ee, sOllie two hundred yards'" from his
cabin, that the bear was in the habit of frequenting in
search of food. On arriving at the tree, sure enough there
was Bruin, who showed fight immediately. He fired, and
thought that he had killed the bear, but in a moment the
bear was on his feet hugtring aud biting him. Being a
powerful man, he seized the bear by the jaws and com­
menced rolling his lips in his mouth, so that instead of the
bear biting him he would bite himself. After they had
struggled together for some time, he calling for help, his
dog hearing him broke his rope and came to his assistance,
but not until the bear had bitten him so severely in the
thigh that it made him a cripple for life.* Jes~e Glancy
was a powerful llJan physically, :lIId was not deficient by
any means in mental power. He WaS in the war of' the
Re"olution, and sen'ed under 'Washington at Monmouth
and Brandywine.

He was at Yorktown, where he served under the im­
mediate command of J.Jafayette, and was one of the storm­
ing-party led by that officer in the attack on the British
redoubts two days before the surrender of Cornwallis. Of
llis children, William, the eldest, was born Aug. 12, 1784,
and was married to ~Jlizabeth Metcalfe in 1807, who was
born Nov. 14, 1792. By this union there were eleven chil­
dren,-John, born Aug. 24, 1809; Augustus C., Aug. 9,
1811; Susannah, Dec. 13, 1813; Clarissa, Nov. 13, 1815;
Rachel, l\IayI5, 1818; William S., Feb. ]8,1821; Nancy,
Nov. 17, 1823; Harvey M., June 6, 1826; Amelia, Oct.
13, 1831; Elizabeth, Sept. 10, 1833; Joseph, Feb. 8,
1837. Mrs. Glancy died March 11, 1849; her husband
in 1878. 'Villiam Glancy was the proprietor of Glancy's
mills, which forty years ago had a State reputation for
their fine flour. He was one of the delegates that organ­
ized East Fork Baptist Association, of which church he
was a member for over sixty-eight years. John Glancy
was born in 1786, and married Elizabeth Shields, by whom
he had eleven children, viz.: Rachel, Archie, Mary, Frank,
Nancy, Elizabeth, Adaline, Ruth, --, Lafayette, and
Warren. He was twice married: his second wife was
Elizabeth Fryburger, by whom he had three children, 'Vil­
lialn, --, and Helen. He died in 1877, his wife sur­
viving him. John Glancy was a man of strong wm and
native intellect. Joseph never married, and Elizabeth was
.Judge Pollock's wife. J allies Glancy and his sister both
married 'and raised large and respected families. Their
parents having died in PennsJlvania, they were brought to
Ohio by their uncle, where they both lived and died,
greatly respected by those who knew them. The Glancy
brothers took an active part against the gang of horse­
thieves that resided in Stonelick township in 1818.

".if Sincc writing the above the distancc is found to havc been fh'c
. hundrc<!- yard!!, ~o tha~ hi~ w~fe 4id ~ot ~ear his eall for help, but the
'40 g di4i

Joseph Smith, a nati,'e of Pennsylvania, settled on the
fimll now owned by David Meck in the year 1806. His
filther, Dennis Smith, Sr., was a captain in the war of the
Hcvolution, and for services rendered received a warrant
for 500 acres of land, which he located in Clermont County,
and on which his three sons-Joseph, Christopher, and
David-and son-in-law, James Seals, settled at various
dates. Joseph was tho fhthcr of seven children,-Dennis,
Annie, Elizabeth, Joseph, Martha, Amanda, and Harvey,
-all of whom are now living. Dennis is a promipent
lawyer of Carthage, Ill. Harvey has a wide reputation
as a physician. He resides at Blanchester. Joseph Smith
was onc of' the constituent members of the Stonelick Bap­
tist Church, and was a man of great piety. He built the
first" brick house that was built in the township, in 1818.
Christopher was bol'll Aug. 6, 1791. 'He was at the de-

·fense of Baltimore in 1814. In ]816 he was mUl'1'ied to
:Mary Britt, who is still living at the age of eighty-four.
Theyare the oldest married couple in Clermont County,
having lived togetllCr for almost sixtJ-four 'years. 'fhey
have rcareu a large family of children, a majority of whom
are dead. David was born July 1, 1793. 1n ]814 he
married, and han eleven ehildren,-Elizabeth, Dennis,
Phoobe, Lydia A., Peter, John, 'Villiam, Rachel, David,
Sarah, and Jane. He died in 1876, aged eighty-three.

In 1806, Jacob Roudebush bought 159 acres of land,
situated in survey No. 42a9, from Richard Taliaferro, then
acting as agent for Gen. James Taylor for the sale of land
in that survey. Jacob Roudebusht was bol'll near Hagers­
town, Md , Sept. 15, 1778. In 1796 his fat her emigrated
to Kentucky, settling in Bourbon County, near Lexington.
In 1800 his father bought 500 acres of land near Goshen,
and in September of that year settled on it. From 1802
to 1806, Jacob Roudebush was miller for Dr. Richard AI.
lison. In July, 1807, he built a large hewed-log house on
bis farm, now owned by J. L. Gerard and Valentine DellaI'.
On the 17th of April, 1808, he was married to Elizabeth
Hartman, a worna'n of great intellectual power. By this
union there were ten children, viz. : ":"illiam, Daniel, :l\Iary
Ann, Rebecca, John, Paulina, Sarah Jane, James 1\1., Am­
brose, and Francis J., all of whom, lived to be over twenty­
five years of age. On the 25th of May, 1835, Jacob
Houdebush died of cholera. He was a man of great per­
sonal worth, and was held in high esteem by his neighbors.
He was one of the best farmers of his time. Conscientious
in all his actions, quiet and unobtrusive in his manners, he
was greatly respected by those who knew him.

John, the third son, died in February, 1840, aged
twenty-five years. His disease was consumption, brought
on by over-work in the school-room and elsewhere. In
1834 he entered Hanover College, Indiana, graduating from
it in 1837 with high honors. The winter of 1837-38 he

. spent in teaching school in Mississippi, also that of 1838-39
in Illinois. In the springof 1839 he commenced the study
of medicine with Dr. Courtland 'Williams, and was ready
to commence the practice of it whcm disease overtook him.
His personal appearance was striking. Elegant in manners,
admirable in bearing, nearly six feet in height, with black

t History of Goshen township.
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curly hair and a brilliant eye,.he had the impress of genius
upon his brow. He was a ripe scholar, and could rcadily
speak in four different languages.

In 184:3, Sarah Jane, the fourth daught.er" died of
typhus fever, aged twenty-five years. She was one of those
who are a shining light in the home circle, leaving im­
pressiori on the hearts of associates never to be forgotten.
These are the only. two who died unmarried. Since that
time Paulina, James M., and Ambrose have died, leaving
behind them characters worthy of imitation.

)i~lizabeth Roudebush,* relict of Jacob Roudebush, died
July 5, 186D, aged eighty-five years. She was one of those
mothers in Israel who left her impress on the lives of her
children. She died as she had lived, an earnest and de­
voted Christian, having been a member of the Baptist Church
for over sixty-eight years. Of the ten childt·en five are
now Iiving,-William, Daniel, Francis J., ltebecca, wife of
John Rupp, and Mary Ann, relict of Michael Cowen and
mother of Judge A. T. Cowen. The Roudebu"h family
i8 one among the most prominent of the pioneer families
of the county. Intelligent, upright, industrious, and eco­
nomical, they have always exeited a good influence on
society in general. Without being brilliant and unprinci­
pled they have been less eminent and more virtuous.

John Robinson settled on the farm now owned by John
Culon,en in 1807. He was a son of Thomas H.obinson, of
whom we have been unable to obtain any information.Suf­
fice to say they were from Pennsylvania, near Pittsburgh.
John has seven brothers and sisters, viz., 'William, Thomas,
Jane, Elizabeth, Nancy, Barbara, and Peggy. He was the
founder of the" Old Robinson Church," and was a man
noted for his pietY' and zeal for the cause of the Christian
religion. He was a soldier of the war of 1812, but by
,some legal technicality never obtained a pension. His
family, though large, are nearly all dead. In this year it
is thought that Robert Dunn settled on' the farm now
owncd by David Simpkins. He was of Irish descent, and
came from Kentucky to Ohio. lIe was the fhther of a
large family: Benjamin, Mary, Joseph, Rebecca, and Ken­
nedyare all that are remembered at the present time. His
wife, Comfort, died in 1859, at the advanced age of ninety­
six years. Of the children, Benjamin is the only one that
is known to be now living.

Samuel Shaw located this year on the farm now the
property of John Miller. From whence he came or where
he went is not now known. Jonatlulll Smith se~tled on
the farm now owned by the heirs of Mrs. Catharine Kel­
ler in the spring of 1808. He was the father of Jackson,
Jerry, and George. He died soon after he settled there.
His wife,' familiarly known as the widow Smith, was one
of the first school-teachers in the township.

In 1808, Peter Willson settled .on the farm now owned
by Geniah Covalt. He was a native of Pennsylvania, and
emigrated to Kentucky about the year 1791, and from
there to Ohio in 1802, first set-tling at "Villiamsburgh.
He was the father of six children. He was a salt-maker
by occupation, and used to be gOlle for weeks and months
at a time from his home, engaged in its manufacture at
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various places. Of him 01' his family nothing at present
is known.

James Burns, a native of Blakely, Ireland, bought the
farm now owned by John Burns in 1808. He came to
America in 179:3, and stopped at 'Vashington, a town near
Brownsville, Pa., in September of that year. In 1799 he
was married'to Jane Hair. The result of this union was
ten childl'en,-Jane, Alexander, John, Nancy, Ja~es,
Amelia, Bli.zabeth, Joseph, Martha, and Sarah.

In the spring of 1807, in company with Michael Turner,
he descended the Ohio HiveI' on a flat-boat, landing at
Columbia. From there he went to the foot of Reese's
Hill, where he lived until the following spring. He died
in 1821, aged sixty-two. Of the children, John, James,
and Martha are the only Olles living. This family of
Burns were distant relations of Hobert Burns, the porit,
and James is the only one that ever came to America. The
rest of the family are still living on the old homestead in
opulent circumstances.

In 1809, John Ferree settled on a farm now owned by
A. 1\1. l\Iarl:ih. He was a native of Maryland, and was
born May 27, 17Gl. His father subsequently removed to
Pennsyh'ania about the year 1780, and shortly afterwards
to Bracken Co., Ky., six miles south of August-a. In Jan­
uary, 1792, he was married to Uebecca Marsh, who was born
Aug. 4, 1771, and was a native of Pennsylv!lDia. After
his marriage he bought a farm near Augusta, on which he
lived until his removal to Clermont County. He was the
father of twelve children,-David, born Jan. 12, 1793,j
William, April 2,1794 j Moses, May 14,1795 j John, Nov.
12, 1796 j Isaac, June 18, 1798 j Minerva, March 6, 1800 j
Thomas, Dec. 27, 1801; Snowden, July 1, 1804 j Sarah
Eo, Nov. 12, 1805 j Richard, Nov. 24, 1807; Mary Ann"
Jan. 4, 1811 j Philip G., May 18, 1.814 j all of whom ar~

now dead but Sarah E., wife of Shadrach Medaris. .
John Ferree was one of' the pioneer Methodists of Cler­

mont County. It was at his house that preaching was held
until the old brick church was built at Boston, in 1831.
He died at an advanced age, leaving to his posterity an un­
tarnished reputation for honesty, piety, and industry.

A short time after John Ferree had settled in Stonelick
Richard Marsh,his brother-in-law, settled on the farm now
~wned by D. D. Marsh, then the property of Gen. James
Taylor. His father, William Marsh, was born near Balti­
more in 17:36, and. was married to Patience Lemons about
the year 1762. In 1780 he emi~rated to Bracken Co.,
Ky., settling a few miles south 'of where Augusta now
stands. Kentucky then was the seat of war between the
whites and Indians, and the privations that he and his
family endured for several years after their removal from
l\iaryland would fill many pages. Of his children, Nancy,
William, Rebecca, and Thomas were born in Maryland j

the rest-Richard, John, Joseph, Patience, Temperance,
l\'1ary, and Elizabeth-were born in Kentucky. Though
never an actual resident of Clermont County, "Villiam
l\iarsh often visited his children, staying for several months
at a' time. In· 1801, Richard was mart·ied to May Patti­
son. In 1809" 1.'homas, John, and Richard removed to
Clermont County, John Bettling near Laurel, Thomas near
Nicholsville, and Richard near Boston.
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Of his children, Patience was born in 1803, John in
1805, \Villiam in 1806, James in 1808, Joseph in 1812,
Thomas in 181-1·, Bdward in 1816, l~lizabeth in 1818, and
A. M. in 18~1, all of whom are now living but Patience,
who died in 1825, and James, in 1827, the remaining seven
children's ages averaging over sixty-six years. ·William
l\1;lrsh, Sr., died in 1831, aged ninety-fh-e years, Hichard
in 1831, and his wife in 1855. The :Marshes are of Eng­
lish descent, and have long been noted for theil' industry,
piety, and love of good order. The seven children that
are still living are alllllembers of the :Methodist Episcopal
Church.

In 1810, Isaac Ferree, a brother of John, settled on the
fhrm now owned by Peter Felter. He was one of the fhst
teachers in Stonclick township. He was married to Fannie
Dawson about the year 1806, and was the father of seven
children, viz., Katie, Sarah, Rebecca, Isaac, MaI'y Ann, Amos,
and \Villiam. He died in 182"', respected by all for his
qualifications as a teacher and citizen. Most of his children
are now dead, or have removed from this county.

In -1809, Daniel South, a native of Maryland, settled on
the farm now owned by A. l\Iurphy, then the property of
Gen. James Taylor. In 1795 he emigrated from :Maryland
to Kentucky, and from there to Miami township in 1801.
Daniel South was the father of eight children ,-Mary,
Thomas, Archibald, Susannah, John, Benjamin C., Henry,
and James. He died at an advanced age.

About the same time his brother William purchased the
farm now owned by John Liller. His first wife's maiden
name was Hannah Malott, by whom he had five children,
viz., Peter, Benjamin, William, Mary, and James. The
descendants of these two brothers are very numerous, and
are among our best citizens. The Souths, like the Hills,
are natuml mechanics.

Of the many who settled in Stonelick township in 1809­
10 were John, Jacob, Thomas, and Samuel Hill, brothers,
and sons of John Hill, Sr. John was the eldest of the
family, and was born on Antietam Creek, Md., near the site
of the battle-field of Antietam, July 27, 1762 j Jacob, in
1766 j Thomas, in 1772 j and Samuel, in 1779. We have
not the dates of the births of the rest of the children,­
Joseph, Elizabeth, Sarah, Philip, and Benjamin,-as they
settled in \Varren County.

In 1780, John Hill, Sr., emigrated to North Carolina,
where John Hill, Jr., was married to. Rachel Rutnen, a
member of the :Moravian Church. In 1785 both families
removed to Rowan County, and lived a number of years in
the town of Salisbury, where John, Jr., was county jailer.
In 1790, John Hill, Sr., Qought a farm four miles fro,m the
town of Salisbury, on which he lived until 1797, when he
emigrated to Kentucky, stopping at Newport, where he re­
sided about one year and came to Ohio, buying a large tract
of land near the present site of J.Joveland, on which he lived
till his death, and which was afterwards divided between
his seven sons and two daughters.

On the 27th of January, 1799, Samuel was married to
Jane Easton, sister of Hev. Francis McCormick's wife.
She was a native of' Winchester, Va., and was born in
1783. Immediately after his marriage Samuel settled on
the Obannon, in Warren County, where he resided several

years. About the )'ear 1804 he bought the f.'urn now
owned by William \Veir, situated on smvey No. 681. He
was the father of ten children,-Thomas L., Elizabeth,
John B., ~rary C., Philip A., George C., Francis A., Amos,
Benjanlin, and Rebecca. Of the ten children five are now
living,-John E., Philip A., Francis A., Amos, and Re­
becca. Samuel Hill was a member of the Methodist Epis­
copal Church for a great many years j all of his children
were christened by Rev. Philip Gatch. He was justice of
the peace for twenty-four years, and associate judge for
se.en. He died at Olive Branch, June 10, 1856, aged
seventy-six years and eleven months. Judge Hill, as he
was familiarly called, was a man of good judgment, and was
held in high esteem by his neighbors and people in gen­
eral. Generous, kind, and gentle in his manner, fluent in
conversation and dignified in appearance, he was a good
.representative of the Cavaliers of Virginia and Maryland.

On the 31st of January, 1808, John Hill, Jr., after a
perilous journey of six weeks over the Cumberland Moun­
tains and the States of Tennessee and Kentucky, arrived at
what is now Covington, which at that time had but one
house in it, and that was the ferryman's. On the 1st day
of January, 1809, he crossed the Ohio River on a flat-boat,
arriving the next day on Stonelick, settling opposite the
mouth of \Vissel's Run in a cabin that Henry Allison had
built near his mill, which he shortly afterwards rented of
Allison and operated until October, during which time he did
a gooil business, as all the mills on the :Miami had been washed
out by an unprecedented freshet in that stream. Being a
wheelwright by trade, he soon found plenty of work to do
besides running the mill.

In October of the same year he bought 130 acres orland
in John Overton's survey (No. 987), which is now the
property of his son Samuel and Jacob Yeager. Here he
built a cabin. For the most time afterwards he followed
his trade and making plows. He died Dec. 12, 1847,
aged eighty-five years. His wife died in 1851, at the same
age.

John Hill, Jr., was the father of ten children,-eight sons
and two daughters,-all of whom lived to be married and
raise filmilies, with one exception. Of his children only
two are now living,-Samuel, who is eighty years old, and
Charles, seventy-two. Three of his sons were preachers
in the Methodist Episcopal Church, of which he was a
member for over sixty-nine years, being a class-leader in
North Carolina and Ohio for forty years. His house was
the place of organization of the l\lount Zion :Methodist
Episcopal Church. He took great pleasure in entertaining
the pioneer ministers of that denomination, and always con­
tributed freely for their support. He subscribed for the
Westem OlmOstian Advocate before its publication, and
continued to take it to his death. As early as 1812 he
was a subscriber to the old Liberty Hall, a Whig paper
·published at Cincinnati.

Thomas Hill emigrated to Ohio in 1808, settling on the
farm now owned by Adam Dillar. He was the father of
seven children,-\Villiam, Thomas, Samuel, Jacob, Nathan,
Elizabeth (wife of William Needham), and Sarah (wife of
Henry South). He died in 1815, highly respected for his
many virtues.
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Jacob Hill settled on the farm now owned by Alfred
Anderson in 1809. He was the father of seven children,'­
Philip, Rebecca, Elizabeth, Nancy, Mary, Anna, and Sarah.
He was a blacksmith by profession, and brought an anvil
from North Carolina which is now in the possession of
Samu~l Hill, his nepllew. His house, after the organiza­
tion of a church at Mount Zion, was a preach.ing-place for
years. He was a man universally liked, and a member of
the l\fethodist Episcopal Church for a great many years.

The descendants of the four brothers that settled in this
township are numerous. The Hills are, as a mass, natural
mechanics, and no families in the township were of more
utility in an early day. They have also been noted for
their honest.y and piety, having always been found on the
side of right and justice.

About the time the Hill brothers settled in Stonelick
township, David Hand bought the farm now owned by Mil.
ton Combs. He was born in Cape May Co., N. J., May
14, 1779, and Elizabeth, his wife, whose maiden name was
Rumpsom, in Bucks Co., Pa., Nov. 23, 1782. They were
married in 1802, and in 1805 emigrated to Ohio, landing
at Columbia. From there to l\1ilford in 1806, and to
Stonelick township in 1810. He was the father of three
children,-Rebecca, wife of Charles' Hill; Elizabeth (now
deceased), wife of Harvey Irvin; and Martha, wife of Achil­
les B. Shaw. David Hand was a soldier of 1812, and was in
several hard-fought battles. Among his comrades were Ben­
jamin Anderson and Joseph Harvey. He brought a pear
limb from Detroit in 1813, which he grafted on a black haw,
which is still living and bearing fruit. He and his wife
were constituent members of the Mount Zion :l\fethodist
Episcopal Church. At the advanced age of eighty-three he
made a chronological tree of his family, which for neatness
we have seldom seen equaled. He died as he had lived,
a good citizen and devoted Christian.

Jacob, Joseph, and David Rapp, brothers, settled in
Stonelick in 1811. Their father, Mathias Rapp, was a
native of Berlin, Prussia, and was born about the year
1748, and was brought to America in 1755 by relatives, he
being an orphan. His mother was a Lefevre,-a distant
relative of :Marshal Lefevre. His father was an uncle of
Gen. Rapp, governor of Dantzic under Napoleon. Jacob
was born near Hagerstown, Md., June 23, 1772; his wife,
:l\Iary Hiser, June 13, 1789, and was married in 1806. Of
their children, Mathias was born May 10, 1808; John,
Sept. 11, 1810; Elizabeth, March 5, 1812; Malinda, April
10, 1815 ; Margaret, Dec. 29, 1818; Sarah; May 29, 1821.
Of these John, Elizabeth, and Sarah are all that are now
living. Jacob Rapp died in 18-; his wife in 1872. Jo­
seph Rupp was born May 23, 1780 ; Charlotte, Shuey, Dec.
10, 1789. They were married in 1806. Margaret, the
oldest of the children, was born Sept. 30, 1807; Benjamin,
June 1, 1809; George, Sept. 3, 1812; Eliza, .July 16,
1815; Dellinda, March 3,'18] 7; Jacob, March 13, 1819;
William 'V., Oct. 25, 1821 ; D. H., Aug. 10, 1823; Mary,
Feb. 18, 1826; Ann, ---; Elvira, Nov. 20,1828; Jo­
seph 1\1., June 22, 1832. The children are nearly all dead.
Joseph died in June, 1844. Of David or his family we
have been unable to obtain any definite infiJrmation. There
were two other brothers, George, who was born July 4,

1778, and Henry, Dec. 12, 1796, who settled in Clermont
County. The other three brothers (tIlere being eight in
all) remained in Virginia, residing near Staunton.

The Rapps by profession were miHers, each one of the
eigllt sons owning a mill. The family at present is quite
numerous in this township, and are of our best citizens.
Conscientio'us, energetic, and industrious, they are noted
for their piety and public spirit.

Zebina Williams settled in Stonelick township, on the
farm now owned by George Turner, in 1812. His paternal
grandfather, Timothy Williams, was of Welsh descent.
He was born in 1725, and Hester, his wife, in 1726. His
father, Jonas, was the eldest of a large family, and was born
Dec. 20, 1751; his wife (Ellen Ward), Nov. 18, 1748.
She was a sister of Gen. Ward, of Revolutionary fame.
Zebina was also the eldest of' the family; was born May
23, 1776, and his wife (Mary Cooley), Jan. 18, 1778. She
w.as a sister of Col. Cooley, a noted officer of the Revolu­
tion. Zebina \Villiams was married Jan. 28, 1798, and
was the father of ten children,-John, born Aug. 24,
1800 j Ambrose, Oct. ] 5,' 1802; Ezra, Feb. 10, 1805;
Warren, July 4, 1807; Phoobe, Aug. 17, 1809; Charles,
Nov. 17, 1812; Ann, March 27, 1817; Ira, June 12,1819;
Vester, March 11, 1822; George, Feb. 20, 1824. Of the
children five are dead. Zebina Williams was a native of
Orange Co., N. Y. He was a carpenter by .trade, and one
of the best of his time in Clermont County. He built
the first barn which was built in Anderson township, Ham­
ilton Co., Ohio, that was laid off by the square rule.
Before that time it was unknown in the Miama country,
the try rule being the only one used or known. He, in
conjunction with Samuel Perin, built Armstrong's flouring­
mills. When the court-house was built at Batavia, he was
the only carpenter that would undertake to frame the
cupola, which at that time was considered -quite a feat in
mechanics. He held many positions of trust in his town­
ship and county. Of his children, John, now deceased,
was one of the most successful teachers of his generation
in Clermont County. Kind, energetic, and well informed,
he enjoyed the respect and confidence of his pupils and
patrons. Of the rest of the family, they have long been
noted for industry, honesty, and economy, and are good
examples for their posterity to imitate.

In 1812 the Moore brothers-Joseph, Anthony, Levi,
and .John-settled in Stonelick township. Joseph settled
on the farm now owned by the heirs of Elijah Cowen j

Anthony on the farm now owned by Alfred Shields j Levi
on the farm now the property of John Vorinkle; and John
at the mouth of Rocky Run. They were natives of Mor­
gantown, Va., and of Irish descent. Joseph and John
Moore were' constituent members of the Second Stonelick
Baptist Church, being its first deacons. J...evi Moore was
one of the first blacksmiths in the township. John, son
of Joseph, is the only one now living in the township.
The family, though ollce numerous in this township, have
either emigrated or died, leaving but a few of the name in
the eouuty. As a family they were noted for their fine
development physically. Perhaps no family in the county
could compete with them in strength and manly beauty.

In 1812, William Wood, a native of Virginia, settled in
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The names of many other pioneer settlers appear in the
following list of

PROPERTY-HOLDERS IN 1826.

This embraces, also, the names of some citizens of Jack­
son before that township was formed. Those who paid no
tax on personal property have a star prefixed to their names,
to indicate that they were probably non-residents at that
period.

Stonelick, and lived there until Ilis death in 1833. He
was a soldier in 1812, and was at the siege of Fort l\'Ieigs.
Of his ten children Sarah is the only one now living.

In 1815 several families settled on what is now called
the Jackson pike. Among them was John Needham. He
was born in London, Oct. 11, 1762. He had several
brothers and sisters, some of whom also emigrated to
America about the same time he did. In 1792 he married
Hester Smith, who was born in London, July 16, 1767.
He emigrated, to America in 1796, first settling in J1ary­
,land, where they remained but a few years, removing to
the Red Stone country about the year 1799. In 1814 he
emigrated to Ohio, first stopping at Cincinnati, where he
remained about one year. It was while there that William,
John, and Joseph went to school to Nicholas Longworth.
In 1815 he purchased 500 acres of land and built a house
on it near the present residence of J. M. Needham. His
family consisted of six children,-five sons and one daughter,
-viz.,WilIiam, John, Joseph, George, James, and Sarah,
who was Joseph Kidd's first wife.

'Villiam, the eldest, was born Feb. 13, 1795. In 1819
he married Elizabeth Hill, daughter of Thos. Hill, who
was born Feb. 16, 179~. He was the filther of eight
ehildren,-Rebecca, J. 1\1., Thomas, Hester, Sarah, Je-

. mirna, and two others who died in infancy.
John, Jr., was born ill 1797, antI was twice married:

first to Rosanna Pattison, by whom he harl nine children,
-Esther, Martha, Eliza, Mary, John B., Sarah, Maria,
Catherine, and ---, who died in infancy. His second
wif~ was Matilda Shumard, daughter of' Thos. Shumard.

The Needhams arc amon~ our best farmers. As. neigh­
bors they are kind, obliging, and honest. In the same
year Francis and Nathan Shumard settled on the Obannon,
in Goshen township, and in 1817 they bought Shumard's
mill, as it is now called (then Charles'). Nathan was the
father of ten childl'en,-Sarah, Rebecca, David, Rhoda,
Annie, William, Nathan, Richard, John, and Francis. Of
these William lives on the homestead; Richard also owns
part of it.; and Francis lives on the Xenia road, about
one and a half miles from Monterey. Nathan Shumard
was one of the most honest and conscientious men in his
neighborhood, and raised a large and intelligent family.
He was one of the five brothers who came to Ohio from
New Jersey at various dates.

Among the fil'stsettlel's at Columbia was James Mitchell.
lIe was a native of the north part of Ireland, and came to
America in 177U, at the age of seventeen (with his twin
brother John), antI settled in New Jersey. In 1789 he
started for the Miami country, arriving at Columbia in
November of that year. In 1791 he was married to R~th

Leming. Shortly after he was married he l'cmoved from
Columbia to Newton, where he remained for several years,
and fl'om there to Newberry, in l\Iiami township, and from

.there to the Obunllon, in Goshen township. About the year
1818 he removed to Stonelick and settled 011 the farm now
owned by Henry J.Jong. He \Vus the futher of eight chil­
drcn,-Elizabeth, Ann, John, Hannah, J~zekiel, Stephen,
J'ames, and David. He died in 1847, at an advanced age.
He was a soldier of the war of 1812, ~nd was greatly re­
~pected for his industry and love of' good order.

Allison, Mar~aret.

Allison, llltnnah.
*Allison, Riehltrll (heirs of), No.

1773; Rit.:hard Allison, origi­
nal proprietor.

''!rAlIison, Henry, No. 1773 j Rich­
ard Allison, orig. prop.

*A\-ery, Henry, No. U05; Fran­
cis Graha.m, orig. prop.

BnJdwin, Thomas, No. 1652;
Aaron Denny, orig. prop.

Burns, Elizabeth, No. H.J.L; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Brown, John.
Brown, George.
Brunk, Joseph, No. 4449; James

Taylor, orig. prop.
Burton, Elijah, No. 681; John

Linton, orig. prop •
Brunk, lJu\-id, No. 681; John

Linton, orig. prop.
Barr, J umes.
Bills, Presley D., No. 1652;

Aaron Denney, orig. prop.
*Bourne, Sylvanus, No. 10,639;

Sylvanus Bourne, original
proprietor.

*Brown, Joseph, No. 1675; Ed­
ward Stephens, orig. prop.

*Beeson, Isaac, No. 10,229; Il!a:tC
Bel'son, orig. prop.

*Boggish, John, No. 3803; Towls
and Taylor, orig. prop.

':'Baker, John, No. 1676; Edward
Stephens, orig. prop.

*Bills, John, No. 4237; Wm.
Taylor, orig. prop.

Cowen, WIlliam, No. 2055; Origi­
nal Young, orig. prop.

Clark, Arthur, No. 10,639; Syl­
vanus Bourne, orig. prop.

Cook, Thomas, No. 3825; Wm.
Nelson, orig. prop.

Campbell, Eleazer, No. 4236;
John Mountjoy, orig. prop.

Croan, George.
Charles, John, No. 2055 j Origi­

nal Young, orig. prop.
~1Chapman, Zachariah, N0.4236 ;

John Mountjoy, orig. prop.
'Durham, George, No. 4237; Wm.

Taylor, orig. prop.
Dumrord, John, No. 1676; Ed­

ward Steph('ns, orig: prop.
DURn, Robert, No. 1676; Edward

Stephens, orig. prop.
Dumford, Solomon, Jr.
Dumford, Solomon, No. 4236;

John Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Dumford, Stu·ah, No. 4236; John

l\Iountjoy, orig. prop.
l*Dickinson, Dltvid, No. 2405 j

Francis Grllham, orig. prop.

*Dunlap, Joseph, No. 4440; Wm.
Lytle, original proprietor.

Ewing, James.
llIEwing, SltlDUel, No. 4237; Wm.

TILylor, original proprietor.
i!fEferson, Benjamin,No. 4440;

WID. Lytle, orig. prop.
flEbersole, Christian, No. 4449;

James Taylor, orig. prop.
Flora, Thomas, No. 681; John

Linton, orig. prop.
Fletcher, Jesse, No. 3825; Wm.

Nelson, orig. prop.
Fletcher, David.
Feree, Isaac, Jr.
Feree, Isaac, Sr., No. 44·j.!); Ja.s.

Taylor, orig. prop.
Feree, John, No. 4237; Wm.

Taylor, original proprietor.
Foster, Francis, No. 4449; James

Taylor, orig. prop.
Filhour, Jacob.
Filhour, Philip.
Fletcher, Jacob.
Fletcher, Lazarus.
Frazee, John, No. 1089; John

Hackley, orig. prop.
Fletcher, Wm., Sr., No. 1676 j

Edward Stephens, original
proprietor.

Fletcher, Wm., Jr., No. 4440;
WID. Lytle, orig. prop.

*Fa.rro, Amos, No. 4453; John
Watts, orig. prop.

*Fox, Thomas, No. 4235; Fox
and Tltylor, orig. props.

*Foote, Thomas S., No. 2405 j

Francis Graham, orig. prop.
Glenn, Samuel, No. 4237; Wm.

Taylor, orig. prop.
Glancy, Jesse, No. 4236; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Glancy, Joseph, No. 4236 ; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Glancy, John, No. 4236; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Glancy, William, No. 987; John

Overton, orig. prop.
Hutchins, Dyer.
Hensel, Florence, No. 681; John

Linton, original proprietor.
HilI, William.
Hall, Jeremiah, No. 681; John

Linton, original proprietor.
H:tll, Richard, No. 2055; Origi­

nlLi Young, orig. prop.
Hill, Samuel, Sr., No. !J87; John

Overton, orig. proprietor.
Hill, Jacob, Jr.
Hill, Samuel, Jr., No. 681; John

Linton, original proprietor.
Hill, Thomas S.

. Honsell, John.
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The entire number of acres was reported as 24,115,
whose valuation, including houses, was set at $59,039.
On this was levied a tax of $324.72 for State and county
pur.poses.. In 1826 there were 239 horses owned in
Stonelick, valued at $9560; cattle, 362 head, worth $2896.
The entire tax on personal property was $68.51.

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

Stonelick township was established by order of the county
commissionerl:l, March 4, 1812, from parts of Williamsburgh
and Miami townships, with the following boundaries: Be­
ginning at the mouth of Dry Run', in Miami township, on
the East Fork; thence nort,herly so as to include Lewis
Coddle to the )Varren County line; thence east with said
line to the Highland County line; thence south with said
line to the State road known by t11e name of Anderson's
road; thence with said road to where it i::l crossed by the
Xenia road; thence a straight course to the mouth of°
Whetston's Run on the East Fork; thence down same to
place of beginning.' .

On the 13th of April its eastern boundary was changed
from where the Xenia road crosses the State road to the
East Fork. Instead of the east line striking East Fork at
the mouth of Whetston'~RUD, it was ch.anged to the mouth
of Backbone. There were no more changes in its boundary

Harsh, Conrad, No. 4783; Wm.
Lytle and J. Taylor, originn.l
proprietors.

Hill, Jacob H., No. 987; John
Overton, orig. proprietor.

Hair, Jona8, No. 1349; Lewis
Stark, original proprietor.

Holford, IS3nc, No. 1676; Ed­
ward Stephens, orig. prop.

Huston, Alexander.
Hill, Jesse, No. 987; John Over­

ton, origiDltl proprietor.
Hill, John, No. 987; John Over­

ton, original proprietor.
Hill, Samuel (3tl), No. 4449;

James Taylor, orig. prop.
Hill, Thomas, Sr., No. 987; John

Overton, orig. proprietor.
Hill, David.
Hill, Thomas, Jr.
Hill, Rebecca, No. 681; John

Linton; original proprietor.
Jones, Jasper, No. 4447; .John

Tltylor, original proprietor.
Johnson, JaDles V., No. 3825;

Wm. Nelson, odg. prop.
Jeffrey, Joseph, No. 4449; James

Taylor, original proprietor.
Johnston, James, No. 1652 j

Aarun Denny, orig. prop.
Knott, John, No. 3825; Wm.

Nelson, original proprietor.
Knott, Elizabeth.
Kerr, William, No. 1675-76; Ed­

ward Stephens, orig. prop.
*Knutt, Ignatius, No. 4236; Jno.

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Long, Samuel.
Long, Christian, Jr.
Long, Jacob, No. 4236; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Lawver, Michael, No. 4236; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
·Lee, Eli:;ha.
*Lytle, Wm., No. 7105; Hogg and

Da\'is, original proprietors.
Mulford, Jacob.
Moure, James.
Marsh, Richard, No. 4449; James

Tn.ylor, original proprietor.
McClelland, James, No. 526;

Samuel Finley, orig. Ilrop.
McFarland, Thomas, No. 1562;

Aaron DennJ', orig: prop.
McKinney, James, No. 4440;

Wm. Lytle, orig. proprietor.
.Moore, John, Sr.; No. 4450; Jas.

Taylor, original proprietor.
Martin, Thomas.
.McChesney, Wm., No. 1480; Jno.

McDowell, orig. prop.
Malott, Martha.
Moore, Levi.
Moore, John, Jr.
Metcalf, John, No. 2055; Origi­

nal Young, orig. proprietor.
Moore, Anthony, No. 3805; T.

Fox, original proprietor.
'Moore, Joseph, No. 681; John

Linton, original proprietor.
Miller, Henry.
*McCormick, Geo. W., No. 681;

John Linton, orig. prop.
'l!fMalott, Peter, No. 1675 j Ed­
, . .. ward Stephen!!, orig. prop.

McNeal, Arthur.
;;'McClelland, SRmuel, No. 526;

Samuel Finley, orig. prop.
*Morgan, Michael, No. 4237;

Wm. Taylor, orig. prop.
!:'McFarland, Stephen, No. 4442;

John Donnell, orig. prop.
;;'MeCormick, Geo. W., Itep., No.

10,584; G{'o. W.McCormick,
Rep., original proprietor.

*Massie, Henry, No. 10,712;
Henry .Ma8sie, orig. prop.

Nutt, Robert, No. 1675-76; Ed-
ward Stephens, orig. prop.

Neal, Thomas.
Noe, Catharine.
Noe, Andrew, No. 681; John

Linton, original proprietor.
Noe, Davitl.
*Noe, Jonathan, No. 681; John

Linton, original proprietor.
Osborne, Simeon, No. 10,639;

S,}'lvanus Bourne, orig. prop.
Osborne, Ebenezer.
Osborne, Josiah, No. 10,232; B.

and J. W. Ladd and others,
original proprieturs.

*Overton, John, No. 987; John
Overton, orig. proprietor.

*Osborne, Jesse, No. 2055; Orig­
inal Young, orig. prop.

Porter, Elias, No. 1562; John
Linton, original proprietor.

Porter, Elias, Jr.
Prickett, J osiah, ~o. 2055 ; Orig­

inal Young, orig. prop.
Prickett, Josiah, Jr.
Patterson, James, No. 4449 ; Jas.

Taylor, orig. proprietor.
Patterson, William, No. 4449;

James Taylor, odg. prop.
Patterson, John, No. 4783; Lytle

and Taylor, orig. props.
Prickett, John, No. 3825; Wil­

liam Nelson, orig. prop.
*Payne, John, No. 4446; John

Payne, original proprietor.
.aPhilhouer, Jacob, No. 11126 j M.

Dimmitt, original proprietor.
*Pollock, John, Nos. 1675-76;

Edward Stephens, orig. prop.
Robinson, John, No. 3825; Wil­

liam Nelson, orig. prop.
Roudebush, Jacob, No. 4237;

William Taylor, original
proprietor.

Robinson, ·WiIliam, No. 3825;
William Nelson, orig. prop.

Rapp, David, No. 681; John
Lint.on, orig. prop.

Happ, Jacob, No. 681; John Lin­
ton, original proprietor.

Rapp, Joseph, No.1; Johu Lin-'
ton, original proprietor.

Reeves, Stephen, No. 4236; John
Mountjoy, orig. prop.

Rust, Charles.
South, Benjamin (2u), No. 4449;

James ':Caylor, orig. prop.
Stimmets, John.
South, Benjamin, Jr., No. 44'19;

J ames Taylor, orig. prop.
Sou"th, Willinm.
Suuth, Peter, No.4783; Lytle and

Tuylor, original propl'ietors.

Seals, J am{'s, No. 4464; Lytle and
Whetstone, orig. props.

Smith, David, No. 4449; James
Taylor, original proprietor.

Smith, Hannah, No. 4449; James
TaJlor, original proprietor.

Shumard, Nathan, No. 2055;
Ori~inal· Young, original
proprietor.

Smith, Benjamin.
Shumard, Samuel, No. 3825;

William Nelson, original
proprietor.

South, John, No. 4449; James
TaJlor, original proprietor.

Slye, Jacob.
Simpkins, Isaac.
Stouder, Samuel, No. 4236; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Slye, George, No. 3825; William

Nelson, original proprietor.
Storer, Samuel.
Simpldns, Ephraim, No. 4236;

John Mountjoy, original
proprietor.

Sherman, Thomas.
Small, Daniel.
Smith, John, No.· li8I; John

Linton, origin:ll }>roprietor.
Soupinger, Alexander P.
Shaner, Levi.
Storer, Riehard.
*South, Thomas, No. 44-19 ; James

Taylor, original proprietor.
!l!Shields, John, No. 3825; Wil­

liam Nelson, orig. prop.
Taliaferro, Jonlls, No. 4237 j Wil­

liam Taylor, orig, prop.
Taliaferro, Richard, No. 4237;

William Taylor, orig. prop.
Taliaferro, Jefferson.
*Tnylor, James, sundry tracts,

20 in all.

Vandervoort, Peter, No. 47'83;
Wiliiam LyUe and J. Taylor,
original proprietors.

*Van Camp, David, No. 1562;'
Aaron Denny, orig. prop.

Williams, Thomas, No. 4440;
William Lytle, orig. prop.

Wood, Vincent, No. 1562 ; Aaron
Denny, o'riginal proprietor.

Williams, William, No. 1562;
Aaron Denny, orig. prop.

Wood, MOlles, Jr., No. 1562;
Aaron Denny, orig. prop.

Wood, James.
Whitmore, Conrad, No. 4237;

William Taylor, orig. prop.
Williams, Thomas, Sr., No. 4440 ;

William Lytle, orig. prop.
Wood, Nicholas,No.4449; James

Taylor, original proprietor•.
Willillms, Mathew, No. 1562;

Aaron Denny, orig. prop.
Willis, Iehabod, No. 4441; -Wil­

liam Lytle, orig. prop.
Westerfield, Carey A., No. 3825;

William Nelson, orig. prop.
Williams, Zebina, No. 2055;

Original Young, orig. prop.
Whetston, Tealer, No. 1773;

Richard Allison, orig. prop.
Wood, William,Sr.
Wood, William, J!., No. 4449;

James Taylor, orig. prop.
Woodworth, Asa.
Wood, George.
*\Villiams, James, No. 4783;

William Lytle and J. Tay10 r,
original proprietors.

*Wainwright, William, No. 1480;
John MeDowell, orig. prop.

*Whitmore, Mary, No. 4783;
Lytle and Taylor, original
propso
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miles south of Newtonville. In 18G!') it was sold by them.
Since that time it has been owned by different persons. In
1877 it was suld to the Orebaugh El'Os.· for a flouring-mill,
and in that year was torn down by them and removed to
Newtonville.

The first tannery in the township was built by Samuel
Glenn on Stonelick Creek, two hundred yards I'louthwest of
John Babler's residence. Its capacity was about 100 hides
per year. Went down about 1820. The othcr onc, Canain's
(now Snider's), is given in the history of Boston.

In 1830, B. C. South built a tUl'Ding-lathc on his farm,
to be worked by horse-powcr, for the manufacture of chair­
stuff. It was in operation about. fiftecn years. Before and
after this one was built there were several foot-power lathes
in the township for the manufacture of chairs, whecls, etc.,
ownEd and worked by different persons. Of the chair-fac­
torics and cooper-shops they have been and are numerous,
but belong to the towns and villages, where due notice of
them will be given.

From 1808 to 18 to the lcading manufhcturing interests
of Stonelick township were the distilling of whisky and
the manufitcturing of wheat into flour. From 1808 to
1825 thc formcr was thc leading one of the two, as corn
was the only product of the soil that could be converted so
easily into moncy in the shapc of whisky. Distilleries
being plentiful and at so short a distance from the pro­
duccr, it was not only convenient but profitable to have that
bulky product of the soil manufactured into something tha.t
could be readily sold for the cash. Of all the streams in
Clermont County no one furnishcd tlle amount of water­
power that Stonelick did from 1808 to 1840. Having its
source in the uncleared swamp-lands of Goshcn and Wayne
townships, in Clcrmont County, and also those of Southern
Warrcn, it constantly supplied all the water that was
needed during nine months out of the twelve for the mills
on it for tcn miles above its mouth. This is why no other
stream of its length in the county has had so many mills
of various kinds on them, and no stream in the county has
as much fall in the same distance.

The great number of distilleries and flouring-mills in t.his
and adjoining townships has caused a great demand for
whisky- and flour-barrels, which at the present time are
mostly taken to Cincinnati and sold, togcther with a great
number of pork-barrels and lard-kegs. Another cause has
bcen the unlimited supply of oak-timber for staves at a low
price. In 1872 over 30,000 barrels of various kinds were
made in the township. Of this number 27.000 alone were
made in Boston. Stonelick township has never had a
cheese-factory or dairy, though several familics manufac­
ture more or less cheese annually for their own use; yet it
is not behind its sister townships in the production of milk
and butter:

VILLAGES AND HA~ILETS.

BOSTON.

Boston is pleasantly located on both sides of Harsh's
Run, on the Milford and Chillicothe turnpike, twenty-two
mile'S northeast of Cincinnati, and contains about 500 in­
habitants. It was laid out March- 21, 1836, by James
McKinnie. In general its shape was that of a triangle.

Main Street was ordered to be sixty feet wide, and the lots
were numbcred from 1 to 70, and comprised tha.t part of
the village on the north side of thc Milford and Chillicothe
turnpike east of' Harsh's Run, and also the part on the
south side of said road, bounded on the east by the road
now leading to the Jackson pike, commonly called the
Johntown road; and that part east of Hursh's Run by
Market Street, and the purt west of said run by Short
Street, with the exception of the lots bordering on the Ba­
tavia road. The survey was made by 'Squire Frazee. Ad­
dition!'! werc made Sept. 15, 1851, by James l\IcKinnie,
southeast of the part already laid out; and by Peter An­
derson, Oct. 3, 1855, comprising all of the village west of
l-Iar8h's Run and north of the Milford and Chillicothe turn­
pike, numbcring 121 lots. The first house within the present
limits of the corporation was built in. 1824, by Cranston
Lcwin, on site of F. X. Iuen's hotel and dwelling-house.
It was a two-story log cabin, 18 by 24 feet, and was after-

• wards weatherboarded. It was torn down in 1877 and put
up again in another part of the village. The next house was
built by Wm. South a few months afterwards, on site of
the Independent Order of Odd-Fellows' Hall, and was
also a lo~ building. At this time ·William South owned
that part of the incorporation south of the t!lrnpike, and
Conrad Harsh all north of it. The next house was built
by James McKinnie, in 1827, on the site of Ulrey's store,
and was afterwards movcd and is now the property of
Charles Legrand. It was a one-and-a-half-story frame,
18 by 24 feet, and is in a good state of prcscrvation to
this day.

The first store was kept by W m. Owens in the house
built by \Vm. South, on the site of the-Independent Order
of Odd-Fellows' Hall. This was in 1827. In 1828 he
bought out Crauston Lewin, and kept a store on the site
of luen's hotel. In 1832, James McKinnie kcpt a store
at Ulrey's corner. In 1833,Owens left Boston, and Con­
rad Harsh and Elza Cook kept a store for two years. In
1835 they sold out to Christian Zugg, who kept it from
that time up to 1837. In 1834, D. K. Hardin had a
store on thc site of William Lattimer's present residencc,
where he did business for a year" or two. From there he
kept one on the site of Dimmitt's store till 1837. In
1838, Zach Robinson built the present store-room and
residence of Wm. Ulrey. which at that time was one of the
largest brick buildings in the county. In 1844, Robinson
sold the property to Wm. Ulrey, who has had a store evcr
since in the .same building. In 1847, K Dimmitt com·
menced keeping a store on the site of the present one,
which he built in 1854, in which he has done business
ever since.

About this time H. Gall kept a grocery in a house now
occupied by Frank Gall, where he did business for several
y.ears. In 1860, Joseph Foster built, in conjunction with
the Masons, a large brick building, thc lower story of which
was used by him up to 1874 for a store-room, and from
1876 to thc present. During the interval it was occupied
by Stephen Robinson. In 1851, William Pattison built a.
store-room, in which hc did business up to 1874, when his
son, L. A. Pattison, occupied it. At the present time
there is no store in it.
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In 1876, John Felter built a store-room opposite St.
I ..ouis' Catholic church, where he did business for two
yeurs, when he sold the property and bought J. G. Vonk's
tailor-shop on Main Street, where he has since been keep­
ing a large grocery. In 1837, Christian Zugg sold his
store to Peter Anderson, who kept it up to 1857, when he
sold it to F. X. Iuen, who also kept a store until 1877,
when the building was torn down. Since that time the
store-room in his new building has not been occupied for
that purpose. There are others who have had stores and
groceries for a short time that are not mentioned in the
above.

The first tavern kept in Boston was by Z. Robinson on
site of C. Legrand's, in 1855, though several had attempted
to keep one before, even as early as 1829.

In 1837, Peter Anderson kept. one and up to 1855. In
1844, William Ulrey, having purchased the Hobinson prop­
erty, kept tavern up to 1846.

In 1847, B. C. South kept the Texas House, which he
occupied until 1851. In 1857, F. X. Iuen started a hotel
which he has kept e\'er since. In 1865, B. Buckle started
a hotel where C. Legrand now keeps, and which he sold in
1872. Since that time he has kept one at the present place
of residence formerly owned by Albert Redding.

The first blacksmith-shop in Boston was built in 1829,
by a man by the name of Beard (though Conrad Harsh had
one about three hundred yards north of the incorporation
in 1816), on site of A. Tice's residence. In 1832 he left,
and a man by the name of Dryden occupied it for some
time. In 1835, Thomas Carty carried it on extensively on
same site on to 1844.

In 1840 to 1846, John Latsch had a shop on the site of
Henry Roselott's residence. In 1844, W. Lattimer built
his shop, where he has been working ever since. In 1847,
J. N. Pattison commenced working in his present shop.
About the same time A. Redding had a shop on present
site of Berger & Motsinger's, where he worked until 1873.
The same year Johnston & Manning occupied it until
1875, when it was occupied by Berger & McCollum, and at
the present time by Berger & Motsinger. Thomas Carty
had several shops, so had Wm. Lattimer and others, that
worked for a short time only. Prominent among them are
the names of Daniel Hilderbrand, Richard Stoten, and
John Cooper.

The first wagon-maker in Boston was Jacob Rell. It
was built in 1839, in which he worked until 1853. A few
years after Rell located at Boston Theodore Davis opened
a 'shop, where he worked for a few years. In 1857, James
Pattison built a shop on Main Street, where his son, R. G.
Pattison, is now working, in which he worked until 1871.

In 1864, D. H. Hill remov~d a shop that stood on
opposite side of street from the present place of business,
in which he has worked ever since.

The first cabinet-maker's shop in Boston was on the site
of the St. Louis' Catholic church, and was run by Conrad
Harsh and Elza Cook, from 1828 to 1831.

PI'ior to 1837 most of the undertaking was done by
neighboring carpenters and undertakers from Batavia,
Milford, Williamsburgh, and other points. In that year
Wm. Roudebush opened a shop on site ,of E. Dimmitt's

store, where he carried on cabinet-making and undertaking
together. After him came Francis Shumard in 1842, who
had his shop on lot No. 10, where he worked until 1856,
when Jaspel' Hensel opened a shop, where he worked until
1869. In that year James Pattison commenced undertak­
ing, and continue.d up to 1878. From 1845 to 1857, Peter
Gomieu, who lived on farm now owned by R. W. Ferree,
about one-fourth of a mile fl'om Boston, also had a shop,
and did cabinet-work and undertaking.

The first carpenter-shop was Jonathan Whittaker's, built
in 1847, and also occupied by O. H. Hill.

The first person who made grain-cradles was Conrad
Harsh, as early as 1820; though he did not live within the
present limits of the incorporation, yet it was so close that
it deserves a passing notice. A man by the name of :Mas­
ters made them also afterwards, but just where his shop
was we have not been able to ascertain. In 1866, Benja­
min Cline commenced making them in his carpenter-shop,
and enjoyed the reputation of being one of the most skillful
workmen in the county. 'tHe died in 1874.

Among the first, if not the first, shoemakers in Boston
was Brittain Canain, who had a shop near the foot-bridge
across Harsh's Run. It was built about the year 1835, and
occupied by Canain until he sold his tannery to John
Snider. In 1849, Jonathan Rust built a shop in front of
the present residence of :Miss Zubia Rust, on the opposite
side of the street. Here he worked until his death. In
1853, George Riggs had a shop adjoining his residence, now
the property of Mrs. :M. Apgar.

About this time B. C. South had a shop in the Texas
House, where he did quite a business. Robt. Davidson also
had a shop, where he still works, about that time.

From 1860 to 1870, A. Burkle, C. Legros, M. Meagley,
and H. Schon worked at different places. At the present
time H. H. Merse has a shop on Main Street, A, Burkle on
Main Street, and M. l\Ieagley on the road leading from'
Goshen to Batavia, on lot No. 62.

The fir"t tailor in Boston was Strange Hunt, who had
his shop on lot No. 19, where he worked from 1841 to
1845. After him came George Shanedoney, who had one
from 1844 to 1851. About the same time .Jacob Cover
did some work. In 1861, J. G. Vorek had a shop first in
brick house now owned by F. X. luen, then in a small build­
ing which he erected on property now owned by Rev. F.
Hypes, also in shop on property owned by A. Burkle, and
afterwards in house now used by John C. Felter for a store­
room. This was in 1871.

In connection with tailoring he sold dry goods from 1868
to 1871.

The first harness-maker was Walter McKinnie, who had
a shop on the site of the present residence of Henry Cole­
man in 1845. How long he -had it is not known. The
next one was Josiah Harvey's, where C. Legrand's hotel
now stands; then -- Apgar, who had a shop in 1855.
In 1859, A. V. Smith had a shop in the building now occu­
pied by Henry Coleman, where he worked for two or three
years. In 1863, .Tohn Rodecker had a shop in Philip
IIuddleston's barber-shop on Main St~eet. He left in 1865.

From that time up to 1870, Thomas Marsh worked at
various places at harness-making. In 1872, P. V. Petard
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BELFAST POST-OFFICE

is situated on the Milford, Edenton and Woodville turn­
pike, seven miles east of Milford, and two and one-half
miles west of Newtonville. The post-office was established
in 1850, James 1. Johnson being the first postmaster.
After Johnson came David Simpkins, then Rev. George
Sapp, James Clark, and Jordan Canter, who still holds the
office.

In conncction with the post.office there has been a store
kept by the following persons: James Johnston, from
1850 to 1853; James Clark, 1853 to 1863 j Rev. George
Sapp, 1863 to 1871 j Mrs. Jane McClain, 1871 to 1876 j

Jordan Canter, 1876 to 1880.
Previous to the establishment of a post-office at this

point the mail was received at Boston or Goshen, dis­
tant about three and five miles.

STONELICK.

This is a village of a few houses, situated on the Milford
nnd Chillicothe turnpike, on the north side of Stonelick
Creek. In 1842, Benjamin Dunn had a grocery in the
house now owned by T. J. Miller j also a shoemaker's shop
in the same building, in which F. Mann worked. Benja­
min Dunn also kept a hotel up to 1850. In that year his
son, Squire, kept the grocery, and up to 1857, when he
rented the property to Jacob Grieger, who had a grocery
and kept hotel until 1860, when they left, and Squire Dunn
again commenced keeping a grocery. In 1862 he built a
dwellin~-house and store-room together, now occupied by

. A. J. Jones, where he kept groceries and dry goods until
1867, when he sold it to James Stuart and 'V. A. Dallas,
who also kept a large stock of dry ~oods and groceries. In
1869, Dallal' left, and James Stuart continued to keep the
store until his death in 1877. In 1878, Joseph Titus had
a small grocery for five or six months. The property bein~

sold to J. W. Robinson in 1879, J. A. Jones in March
of that year put in a large stock of groceries.

In 1852, Benjamin Dunn built. a blacksmith-shop, in
which a man named Jones worked for years.

From 1855 until 1865 several different persons had the
shop rented. In 1866, Henry Whittaker rented the shop,
and worked in it for two or three years. In 1871, Robert
Kennedy had the shop, where he worked for two years.
~r. J. Miller in 1864 having bought the property, carricd
on the shop until 1879. February, 1880, he was succeeded
by Will Ditz.

At this place is a public watering-trough, which was put
up by the township trustees, in 1874, at a cost of $35. It
is one of the best in the county. '

ALLISONIA.

Allisonia was laid out by Dr. B.ichard Allison, of Cin­
cinnati, on both sides of' the road now leading from Stonelick
to East Libcrt.y, May 15, 1815. A most elaborate and beau­
tiful plan, comprehending a number of' circular, oblong,
crescent, and other arcas of' ground 10r the' purpose of 01'­

namcnt and recreation j also a mark!!t space 110 by 350
feet. Lots Nos. 28,. 30, 32, and 34 were given inperpe-

tuity as a site for a "common prison" and walks for the
prisoners of the same. Nos. 36, 38, and 40 were given in
the same manner for a court-house, provided the said Alli­
sonia should become the seat of justice of the new county,
if one should be erected. Lots were also set aside for a
place of worship, for a Lancaster school, for a circulating
library, for a spacious and well-appointed hotel, all under
proper restrictions, and also for cemetery purposes, it being
specially provided that no dead should be inhumed within the
limits of the village. Dr. Allison dying shortly after the
town was laid out, and the country being new and the site
unhealthy, though beautiful, was no doubt the cause of
there never being any lots sold, and the site is now a com­
mon farm.

Glancy's J1Iills were built on the south bank of Stonelick
Creek, and in connection with them William Glancy had
a grocery, blacksmith-, and carpenter-shop, where several
different parties worked.

In 1840 he having quit keeping a grocery, Frederic
Mossett built a store-room and dwelling, now the property
of J. P. Craver, on the road leading from Stonelick to
Mount Zion. In 1850 he sold it to John Borinkle, and
he in 1852 to Augustus Freshard, who had it up to 1867,
when he sold the property to J. P. Craver.

In 1826, Charles Hill built a blacksmith-shop near the
store, where he worked until 1857, when it passQd into the
hands of F. Dietz, who sold it in 1873. Since that time the
old shop has burned down, and at present Peter Alguier
has one a short distance west of it, where he has worked for
five years. In connection with Hill's blacksmith-shop was
a wagon-shop, where John Bower, Nicholas Wolfe, and
others worked until it burned down.

In 1875, Stephen Gall built a shop in the old church­
yard, where he has worked ever since.

COUNTRY STOHES AND SHOPS.

In 1818, George 'Vood had a store where W. Shumard's
barn now stands, where he did a thriving business for sev­
eral years. In 1848, William Hooker had a store in the
house now the property of Charles Williams, which was
well patronized for several years. In 1850, Frederic Mos­
sett built a store one mile west of Boston, on the Chilli­
cothe and Milford turnpike, where he remained in· business
until 1870, when he rented it to Stephen Robinson, who
kept it for eighteen months, after which Mossett sold the
property to Valentine Snider, who in connection with store­
keeping cuts large quantities of pork.

In 1850, Peter Bell built a shop on the property now
owned by Robert Magee, where he worked until 1854. In
1851, P. A. Hill built a large shop near his residence, which
i8 st.ill standing.

Of the shoemakers not mentioned above, James Tarr
coines first, he having a shop "near where John Babler now
lives as early as 1832. In 1852 he went to Indiana. In
that year Joseph Hill built a shop ncar the present residence
of' Powel Uybret, where he worked until his death in 1867.
William Tarr had a" shop in 1858 on the farm of' Peter
Gomien, which is now gone, having been torn down in
1869. Here "he worked until his death in 1867.
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SECRET ORDERS.

HAMAR LODGE, No. 228, F. AND A. M.,

was instituted April 26, 1852, with Edmund Hartman, B.
C. South,'James South, Sr., Henry South, George Shane­
doney, Nathan Anderson, Samuel Anderson, Harrison
McGee, W. C. South, John Guy, Josiah Anderson, and
James Smith us charter members.

Names of first officers, 1852: W. M., Edmund Hart­
man j S. )V., B. C. South j J. W., James South j Treas.,
Henry South; Sec., Geo. Shanedoney; S. D., N. Ander­
son j J. D., S. Anderson; Tyler, Harrison McGee.

The principal officers since the first election have been as
follows:

Wm'sldpful .lJfaste1·s.-1853, B.C. South; 1854-69,
Robert Davidson j 1870, J. F. South; 1871-78, Robert
Davidson; 1879, J. H. Hall.

Sec1'etad~s.-]853-56, George Sllanedoney; 1857, J.
B. Needham; 1858, A. Quitter; 1859, A. D. Daugherty;
1860, J. F. South; 1861, A. D. Daugherty; 1862, W.
'V. Robinson; 1863-64, A. D. Daugherty.; 1865, Thos.
Needham; ]866, A. D. Daughcrty; 1867, G. W. Ferree;
1868-79, A. D. Daugherty.

The officers for 1880 were: W. 1\1., Henry South; S.
W., William McMahon; J. W., J. L. Houdebush; Treas.,
John Vance; Sec., G. 'V. Hensel; S. D., A. Quitter; J.
D., Peter South; Stewards, Rufus Pattison and James
Smith; Tyler, Albert Daugherty.

The aggregate membership is 201 ; present number, 69.
From 1852 to 1880 the time of meeting was Saturday
evening on or after full moou; the place from 1852 to
1860 was Temperance Hall.

In 1860 the society united with Joseph Foster and built
a large brick building, two stories in height, on lot No. 33,
fronting Main Street. In 1861 the upper story was dedi­
cated as a Masonic hall. The lower story is used by Joseph
Foster for a store-room. In 1869 the society voted to give
$50 as a gift to the Boston Cornet Band as long as it had
an organization; but upon its disbandonment the instru­
ments were to revert to the society.

BOSTON LODGE, No. 189, 1. O. O. F.,

was instituted July 28, 1851, with the following persons
as charter members: Wm. Ulrey, Samuel Robinson, F. J.
Roudebush, James Mitchell, and Milton Cook. Names of
first officers, commencing July 1, 1851 : N. G., ·W. Ulrey;
V. G., Samuel Robinson; Sec., F. J. Roudebush; Per.
Sec., James Mitchell; Treas., J. N. Pattison.

The Noble Grands since the first meeting have been as
follows: January, 1852, Samuel Robinson; July, F. J.
Roudebush. JalJuary, 1853, Daniel Craig; July, J. N.
Pattison. January, 1854, J. S. Johnson; July, Samuel
Robinson. January, 1855, Richard Marsh; July, B.
Blythe. January, 1856, A. M. Marsh; July, Isaac Fer­
ree. January, 1857, George H. Mille~; July, G. H. Hill.
January, 1858, E. Mitchell; July, J. N. Pattison. Janu­
ary, 1859, L. H. Smith; July, A. Hopper. January, 1860,
J. C. Malone; July, W. A. Dallas. January, 1861, David
Mitchell; July,W. A. Dallus. January, 1862, J. N.
J:>attison; July, J. L. Mitchell. January, 1863, Darius
South; July, J. C. Malone. Janmiry, 1864, Daniel Craig;

July, 'N. Ulrey. January,1865, J. G. Oonk; July, A.
M. Marsh. January, 1866, Lorain Marsh; July, Darius
South. January, 1867, Thos. Needham; July, J. G.
Oonk. January, 1868, A. M. Marsh; July, B.' Blythe.
January, 1869, Lorain Marsh; July, J. G. Oonk. Janu­
ary, 1870, A. M. Marsh; July, B. Blythe. January, 1871,
B. Blythe; Juiy, Thos. Marsh. January, 1872, L. H.
Medaris; July, E. C. Patchell. January, i873, E. C.
Patchell; July, Lorain Marsh. January, 1874, J. N.
Pattison; July, A. E. Clark. January, 1875, A. J. Wil­
lis; July, D. D. Marsh. January, 1876, David Brunk;
July, Joshua Burnet. January, 1877, A. Tice; July,
David L. Mitchell. ;fanuary, 1878, J. L. McCollum; July,
A. M. Marsh. January, 1879, J. N. Pattison; July,
Mahlon l\'Iarsh.

The following are the officers for 1879: N. G., Mahlon
Marsh; Secretary, J. B. Rapp; V. G., David Brunk; Per.
Sec., J. N. Pattison; Treas., A. M. Marsh.

The time of meeting is Saturday evening at seven P.M.
in each week.

Previous to the erection of a hall the society met in Wil­
liam Ulrey's garret. In] 856 a stock company was organ­
ized for the pu'rpose of building an Odd.Fellows' hall and
school-room, the lower story being used for the latter and
the upper for the former purpose. In 1875 the lower story
was made into a store-room and also an addition built to it,
in which Robinson & Patterson have a dry-goods store,
etc. The socioty in 1865 purchased of Thomas Marsh 4t
acres of land fur a cemetery, situated on the Milford and
Chillicothe turnpike, for $500. This lodge is said to be
one of the wealthiest in the State. Besides owning their
hall and ccmetery, it has a large amount of money on
intercst.

BOSTON DIVISION, No. 280, SONS OF TEMPEltANCE,

was instituted at Boston July 14, 1847, with the following
members; J. G. Buchanan, Cyrus Noble, E. Dimmitt, E.
Fitzgerald, Albert Redding, William Buchanan, Samuel
South, William South, Iru Harrold, John Cozart, and
Richard South.

The division met at stated times until March, 1865,
when the meetings were su~p~nded and not resumed until
April 17, 1868, a new organization having been effected
meantime. .Under this charter the Sons met until some
time after 1872, when it was not deemed advisable to longer
continue the organization. In 1875 the hall where the
division held its meetings was donated to Boston special
school district, and no attempt has since been made to re­
vive the work. A lodge of Good Templars and other tem­
perance organizations have also had an existence in the
township, but their duration was not long continued, and
their history canDot be detailed in this connection.

BOSTON GRANGE, No. 127, PATRONS OF HUSBANDRY,

was instituted Sept. 4, 1873, with D. D. Marsh, A. M.
Marsh, F. J. Roudebush, A. Roudebush, J. L. Roudebush,
E. C. Patchell, J. B. Needham, Thomas Needham, James
Needham, John' Burns, David Meek, John Moore, T. C.
Teal, W. 1. Craig, A. Da\'idson, Ellen Roudebush, Sarah
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Roudebush, Adda :Marsh, Belle Marsh, S. Marsh, Elizabeth
Needham, and 1'1ary Needham.

For a time the grange kept up its orgauization in a vig­
orous manner, and on the 1st of January, 1876, had 69
members. But the interest was allowed to decline, and at
the end of the same year (1876) the meetings were discon­
tinued.

The Masters of the grange were J. B. Needham, F. J.
Roudebush, .J. L. Roudebush, and A. 1\1. Marsh.

EDUCATIONA.-L INTERESTS.

The first school-house ever built within the present
limits of the township was a log building near the cast
door of the floral hall of the Boston Agricultural Society.
It was built in 1805, and was 15 by 20. The fireplace
occupied the whole of the east end. The firewood was ob­
tained from the trees surrounding it. The windows ran
the whole length of the sides of the house, being nothing
but one log taken out and the space covered with greased
paper. It stood about ten years. The first school was
taught by-- Edmunds, who continued to teach at this and
other houses in the township until his death in 1817. He
was a native of Ireland and came to America in 1796, and
to Ohio in 1804. In person he was fine-looking and
stoutly built, being somewhat corpulent. Among his pupils
were Patience Marsh, Sarah 'Vhitmore, Conmd Whitmore,
Edward Pattison, Jones Taliaferro, Lucy Taliaferro, Matilda
Taliaferro, William Marsh, John Marsh, Isaac Ferree, and
Snowden Ferree.

Of the other teachers who taught there are recollected
Isaac Ferree, Julia Smith, and James Clark.

The next school-house built in the township was about
midway between the present residence of David Simpkins
and Jordan Canter's store. It, too, Hke all the first, was a
log building. The fil'st school was taught by Hannah
Hathaway. Among the other teachers were Robert Towns­
ley, Thomas Sherman, and Julia Smith. It burned down
in 1808. A new one was immediately built, and its first
teacher was J'olm Talbot, author of "Talbot's Arithmetic."

David Simpkins, John Simpkins, Arch. Simpkins, Ben­
jamin Dunn, Stanfield Moore, Davis Talbert, Nancy Met­
calfe, Elizabeth l'Ietcalfe, Nelly Hall are among those'who
attended school under the instruction of John Talbot. In
1809 a school-house was built on the farm now owned by
David Meek, near Brushy Fork, some three hundred yards
below Michael Yeager's residence. Robert Townsley was
the first teacher. It stood some fifteen years, Thomas
Sherman, -- Edmunds, Isaac Ferree having taught be­
fore it went down.

The next school that was kept in the township was at
the residence of the widow Smith, near where Mrs. Cathe­
rine Keller I? ow lives. This was in 1812, and was continued
up to 1815. Among her pupils were W. Roudebush, Wil­

.Ham Marsh, John Marsh, Patience Marsh, Snowden :Ferree,
'Villiam Ferree, Conrad Whitmore, Sarah 'Vhitmore, Ed­
ward Pattison. While attending school at this place Rid­
dle Taliaferro had a fit, and it being thought at that time
that the blood of a black hen would cure that disease, the
boys were ordered to kill one of Mrs. Smith's as soon as
possible. They were not long in finding one, which in spite

of their utmost efforts would run round and round the
house. They finally divided their forces, part going in one
direction and the rest in the opposite. The race had now
become exciting, and John °Marsh, who was on the opposite
side of the house from his brother 'Villiam and being left­
handed, threw a piece of a broken crock at the h('n as it
came around the corner closely pursued by 'Villiam, but
instead of hitting the hen he hit his brother in the shin, .
laying open the flesh some two inches in length by one in
depth. This put an end to the hen-catching, and William
had to be carried home. In 1816 a school-house was built
near the Odd-Fellows' cemetery. J oho Hawkins was the first
teacher. Isaac Ferree, -- Clarke also taught one if not
more years. In 1818 one was built north of J. M. Patti­
son's residence, ncar Snider's mill-yard. James 'Wallace
taught the first school that was kept in it. In 1819 or '20
one was built on the opposite side of the road from where
D"istrict No. 1 now stands. Isaac Ferree, James 'Vallace,
Thomas Sherman, and others taught in it. In 1823 a
school-house was built on Rocky Run. Peter Vandervort
was the first teacher. Of the others Thoma8 Sherman,
James 'Vallace, and Robert Townsley might be named.

Of those above mentioned all were built by neighbor­
hood subscriptions. The school fund at that time was in
an embryo state.

In 18~6 the township was divided into districts by the
township trustees. They numbered six, including about
one-third of Jackson. The first school-house built under
the new law was in the same year, on the farm now owned
by Henry South, William and Benjamin South being the
building committee.

The next one was the" Old Stone Pile," which was
built in 1830, on the present site of district No.4. It
was torn down in 1866. John Williams kept the first
school in it.

In 1831 a brick school-house was built near the site of
the present one of district No. 1. Wm. Roudebush taught
the first school. It burned down in 1857. From 1828
until 18:34 there were a great many changes in the dis­
tricts, but Jackson township being organized in that year,
it decreased the number of districts. In 1840 the number
was increased to eight. After the present school law went
into operation, two more were organized, Nos. 2 and 10
being consolidated and organized into Boston special school
district. In 1867 the number was reduced to eight.

In 1869 a joint sub·district was formed from parts of
Stonelick and Miami townships, called joint sub-district
No.2. So that at the present there are nine sub-districts
in the township, with an enumeration of 385 pupils in
1879, with nine teachers: costing $2460.

The value of school-houses and lots in the township will
reach $10,000.

The following persons were members of the board of
education in 1860: Augustus Freshard, Jack. Shields,
Elza Cook, A. Itoudebush, B. Blythe, Jesse Hill, W. A.
Dallas, John Burns, Wm. Darrah, and J. S. Combs.

1879: J. L. Roudebush, C. Craver, Geniah Covalt, 'V.
Hensel" T. 'V. Hill, J. M. Shaw, J. P. Craver, E. C.
Patchell, and William Rupp. President, E. C. Patchell.;
Clerk, P. V. Petard (ex-officio), who made the following
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levy for school purposes: 2~ mills for tuition and! mill
for contingent expenses.

In 1838 the following persons taught schools in Stone­
lick township: District No.1, Marcus L. Marsh; time,
8ix months; wages for whole time, $60. No.2, James
Savage, !.lix months, $66. No.3, Harvey A. Bigam, six
months, $'50. No.4, Joseph Dunlap, six months, $40. No.
5, John Simpkins, six months, $48. No.6, Andrew Long,
six months, $47. No.7, Amos Hill, six months, $58.
No.8, John 'Williams, six months, $60.. No.9, William
Rapp, six months, $40. Fraction No.1, of Stonelick and
Jackson townships, Peter W. Bachlenkicher, six months,
$50. Amount of school fund for 1839 was $592.26.

In 1879 the following persons taught in the various dis­
tricts : No.1, Mary' Magee; time, eight months; wages,
$1.37 per day. No.2 (joint), Charles Miller, six months,.
$2 per day. No.3, Louise Schulte, nine months, $1.37
per day. No.4, Minnie Hensel, nine months, $1.35 per
day. No.5, six months, 'V. R. Shrinneo, $1.75 per day.
No.6, Jordan Canter, $2 per day. No.7, W. Carr, six
months, $1.75 per day. No.8, :l\Iary E. Blythe" nine
months, $1.35 per day. No.9, A. T. Roudebush, six
months, $1.75 per d~y... Amount of school fund, 1879,
$5324.90; enrollment, 269.

BOSTON SPECIAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

wus organized Sept. 15, 1867, and was constituted by the
consolidation of districts Nos. 2 and 10, and the school was
opened with two grades.

The first board of education was composed of the local
directors of the above districts, who were W. Marsh, 'V.
J. Farewell, J. N. Pattison, J. G. Oonk, F. J. Roudebush,
and J. W. Robinson. Appropriate rules for the government
of the schools were adopted, which were rigidly enforced,
and the standard of the schools was soon raised to such an
extent that they enjoyed an excellent reputation for thorough
scholarship and discipline, justifying the measure of form­
ing a special district.

In 1875 the board secured Temperance Hall for school
purposes, and the building is now occupied by grades A
an'd B. Grade C occupies the school~house which formerly
belonged to district No. 10, and all are comfortable rooms.
In 1879, $735 was paid for tuition, or about $4.16 for every
pupil enrolled.

Since 1867 the officers of the board of education have
beem the following:

1867.-President, J. N. Pattison; Trell~urer,F •.J. Roudebush; Clerk,
J. G. Oonk.

lS68.-President, J. N. Pattison; Treasurer, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
J. G. Oonk.

1869.-President, J. N. Pattison; Treasurer, l!'. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
J. G. Oonk.

1870.-President, J. N. Pattison; Treasurer, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
Wm. Ulrey.

1871.-Pr~sid~nt,J. N. Pattison; Trellsurer,F. J. Ro~debush; Clerk,
Wm. Ulrey. .

1872.-President, J. S. Combs; Treasurer, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
Wm. Ulrey. ,

1873.-President, J. S. Combs; Trellsu~er, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
H. South.

1874.-President, J. S. Combs; Treasurer, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
, II. South.
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1875.-President, F. J. Roudebush; Treasurer, John Marsh; Clerk,
B. Blythe.

1876.-President, n. Blythe; Treasurer, John MlLl"sh; Clerk, F. J.
Roudebush. '

1877.-President, F. J. Roudebush; Treasurer, John Marsh; Clerk,
H. South.

1878.-Presidcnt, B. Blythe; Treasurer, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
H. South.

1879.-President,'J. N. Pattison; Treasurer, F. J. Roudebush; Clerk,
H. South.

The first principal of the Boston schools was Jacob V.
Rapp. Other principals have been C. J. Harrison, Adda
Combs, G. W. Wood, Mahlon Marsh, and So A. Much­
more, the latter since 1877, and his present assistants are
John and Belle Marsh.

Of the .early teachers of Stonelick township no one,
perhaps, was as efficient as Peter Vandervort. He was a
native of New Jersey, and was born in 1776. In April,
1794, his father emigrated t~ Virginia, settling near 1\'lor­
gantown. In 1799 he was married to Alice Morgan, a v,ery
intelligent and respectable woman. In 1809 he emigrated
from Virginia, and located on Stonelick Creek, where he
resided for many years. While a resident of Stonelick
township he was engaged most of the time in teaching
school at various places, and a list of his schools and pupils
would fill a respectable volume. As a teacher he had but
few if any superiors in his day. Kind, generous, intelli­
gent, and firm, he was a teacher greatly heloved' and appre~

ciated by his pupils and patrons. As a scribe he was per:­
fection, and his writing at the advanced age of "eighty-eight
was as smooth and legible as ever. He was honored with
many towm;hip offices, which he filled to the satisfaction
of all.

He was quite a poet and has left several poems or merit.
For many years he did all the writing of deeds, etc., in the
township. Up to his death, which took place i~ 1865, his
mind was unimpaired, and nothing seemed to delight him
more thun to write a letter to some relative or friend. Of
his family all but two are dead. He has a daughter resid­
ing in Allen County, where he died.

Of the very first teachers in the township, -- Ed,:"
munds was the most efficient. He was a native of Ireland,
and came to America in 1785, and to Ohio in 1803. He
was a fine reader and was a good mathematician, possessing
all the essential elements of a good teacher at that time.

He was in person heavy set, and very jovial in his ap,,:
pearance and actions. He died in 1817 from the effects of
a burn received at Huston & Fletcher's distillery.

James Wullace, a native of Ireland, also taught a great
many schools in .this and adjoining townships from 1815
until 1835. He was complete master of the science of cor­
poral punishment.

Thomas Sherman taught for several years in this town­
ship, commencing as early as. 1812. He was also a native
of Ireland, and came to America in 1792. He was one of
the best readers ever in Stonelick township.

Robert Townsley also taught for several ,years in the
early history of the township, and Was one of the best
teachers that ever taught within its limits.

Among the pioneer female teachers the names of Julia.
Smith and Ha~~~h ~~thawa! are bri~ht st~rs: The third,
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if not the second, school ever kept in the township was
taught by the lutter.

RELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

ST. PllILO~IENA CATHOLIC CHURCH.

In 1835 several Catholic families having settled in Stone­
lick and 1\1iami townships, preaching was had at private
houses by priests from Cincinnati and other points in the
diocese. Meetings were held at John Cline's, Joseph
Gomieu's, Francis Gerard's, Louis Bartell's, Frauds Drone's,
and John Rapp's ii'om 1835 to 1837, when the church
was organized, with the following persons as constituent
members : John Cline, Anthony Cline, Frank Cline, 1\1ag­
dalene Cline, and Margaret Cline, Lewis Bartell, Sr., Mrs.
Margaret Bartell, Catherine Bartell, Lewis Bartell, Jr.,
Mary Bartell, August Bartell, and Livonee Bartell, Peter
Morguntulor, Joseph l\lorgantulor, and their father and
mother, Francis Gerard, Elizabeth Gerard, John G. Gerard,
Louise Gerard, Margaret Gerard, J. h Gerard, and Joseph
Gerard, :Francis Drone, Joseph Drone, and Catherine Drone,
John Rapp, 1\1rs. Catherine Rapp, Peter Happ, Catherine
Happ, Mary Rapp, and John Happ, Michael Yeager, Sr.,
Jacob Yeager, Catherine Yeager, Magdalene Yeager,
l\Jichael Yeager, Jr., and George Yeager, J. Gros, Julia
Ann Gros, Benjamin GI'OS, Ammon Gros, Pauline Gros,
Margaret Gros, Theodore Gros, and Rachel Gros, Louis
Christman, 1\1rs. Mary Ann Christman, Julien Christman,
Frank Christman, Mary Frances Christman, and Joseph
Christman, Christian Iuen, F. X. Iuen, Joseph luen, and
John luen, Fraucis Roselott, Mrs. Francis Hoselott, Adol­
phus Roselott, Frank Uoselott, James Roselott, and
Theresia Roselott, Joseph Heno, Sr., Mrs. Joseph Reno,
Joseph Reno, Jr., John Reno, and Elizabeth Reno, John
Cline,* Mrs. John Cline, Catherine Cline, Magdalene Cline,
Seraphime Cline, and Arsene Cline, Ferdinand Odenville, S1·.,
Claudeline Odenville, Ferdinand Odenville, Jr., Idella Oden­
ville, Paulina Odenville, Eugene Odenville, Henry Oden­
ville, and Frank Odenville, Joseph Gomieu, Sr., Mrs. Mary
Gomieu, Joseph Gomieu, Jr., Michael Gowieu, Peter
Gomieu, Louis Gomieu, Mary Gomieu, August GOlllieu,
and Francis Gowieu, :Fidelia Good, Mrs. Barbara Good,
Edward Good, Barbara Good, Mary Good, and -Daniel
Good. Besides the above a man by the name of Snell
and his wife belonged at that time, also John Sehunter
and wife. The first trustees were John Cline, Francis
Drone, Lewis Bartell, and Louis Christman. Present trus­
tees are Christopher Craver, Clemens Grotte, and August
Gauche. 'l'he aggregat.e number of persons who have be­
longed is about 1500. Present number 200.

The first priest was Father Gascron j the next was
Father Schyomel j then Father Bumgardner j and the next,
commenc~ng in 1851, was Father Navarron, who has had
charge of the church ever since. 'l'he St. Philomena
Church belongs to the diocese of Cincinnati.

In 1837 a log church was built (afterwards weather­
boarded) on the south side of Stonelick Creek, about two
miles above its mouth, by the trustees of the church, they
being the building committee, at a cost of about $50.

ii! No rela.tive of t~e otner family.

It was not finished for several years, and a greater part
of the material and work were donated. It was con­
secrated by the bishop of New Orleans, who with the bishop
of Paris had contributed $50 towards its erection. There
being a dwelling-house on the five acres purchased by the
chUl'ch, it was used for a parsonage until it burned down in
1845, when a one-story frame was built for that purpose,
costing $250.

In 1868 the log church burned down, and in 1869 a
stone church, 56 by 33, waS built a short distance west
from the first one, at a cost of $2500, not including a
large amount of donations in the shape of material and
work. It is finely finished on the inside. Over the altar
is a beautiful painting of the patroness, St. Philomena. It
has 38 pews, besides the gallery, in which an organ is
placed. It was consecrated in 1869 by Archbishop Pur­
cell, of Cincinnati. The present value of the church
property is $4000. It is the oldest Catholic church in
Clermont County, and is situated in the centre of a largo ..
and increasing membership.

Louis Navarron, who has had charge of the church
since 1851, was born July 15, 1807, in tho town of Com­
picgne, arrondissement of Thiei's, department of Puy-de­
Dome. He received his education first in his native vil­
lage, then at the college of 'fhiers, and was also a few
months in the literary seminary of Clermont city. Studied
theology in Mont ]j'errand Seminary j ordained priest by
the bishop of Clermont, Monseigneur La Dampiere, in
1831 j was vicar in the parishes of Beaureguard, Yandon,
Voh"ic, and Aubiere for seventeen Jears. In 1848, in
company with Fathers Gascron and Schyomel and Arch­
bishop PUI'cell, he came to America and was sent as a mis­
sionary to the Frcmch settlements in Shelby County, where
he remained three or four years, coming to Stonelick in
1851. where he has since remained. In person he is of
medium height, with dark eJes and hair. In his inter­
course with those who are not members of his church he is
affable aud courteous, and has won the respect of all who
know him for his devotion to the church of his adoption.

ST. LOUIS CATHOLIC CHURCH OF BOSTON

was organized in 1857 by Rev. Joseph Staley, with a con­
stituent membership of 200, all of whom had previously
belonged to the St. Philomena Church at Stonelick. The
following is a partial list of the constituent members: John
Snider, Mrs. John Snidel', Christian Iuen, F. X. Iuen, Mrs.
F. X. Iuen, Joseph Iuen and wife, Michael Yeager, :Mrs.
Magdalene Yeager, N. J. Faverett, Mrs. N. J. F~verett,

Cloud Faverett, Mrs. Cloud Faverett, Joseph Powell, Mrs.
Joseph Powell, Joseph Widerholt, Mrs. Joseph Widerholt;
Nicholas Gall, Mrs. Nicholas Gull, Frank Gall, Mrs. Frank
Gall, Sebastian Hoagg, Mary Spetz, P.eter Felter, 1\1rs.
Ellen 11'elter, Peter Gomieu, Mrs. Margaret Gomieu, Alary

. Gomieu, Elizabeth Gomieu, John L. Gerard, 1\1rs. Eliz­
abeth Gerard, and Mrs. Frederic Mossett. Agg1'egate
membership, 1500 j .present number, 359. The first priest
was Rev. Joseph Staley j first trustees;, F. X. Iuen, John
Snider, and Peter Felter, who were also the building com­
mit·tee. The following persons have had charge of' the
church: Rev. Joseph Staley, Rev. Dr. Babish, Rev. --
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Smith, Rev. -- Deviles, Rev. Louis Navarron, Rev. -­
0' 1\1era, Hev. --O'Rourk, Rev. -- Cunningham, Rev.
-- Maler, Hev. Joseph Henry, Rev. -- Resner.

The church belongs to the diocese of Cincinmtti. The
trustees at the present time are Au~ustus Freshard, H. H.
Mers, John Felter, and Andrew Snider. The church is
situ~ted north and just outside of the incorporation, on the
road leading from Batavia to Goshen. It is a brick build­
ing, 40 by 75. and one story in height, surmounted by a
large cupola, and was built in 1857 by John Snider, If. X.
Iuen, and Peter Felter, building committee, at a cost of
$3000. It has 650 sittings, besides the gallery, and was
consecrated by Archbishop Purcell. In 1875 a two-story
frame house of five rooms was built south of the church, a
short distance from it, for a parsonage, costing $1500. The
work was done by Messrs. Gomieu and Faverett.

In 1879 the church was remodeled at a cost of $1500.
The present value of the church property is $7000. It is
the largest Catholic church in the county, and in its ap­
pointments the handsomest edifice in Clermont.

BOSTON METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Thid body was organized about 1811, at the house of
John Ferree, one mile west of Boston, on the farm now
owned by A. M. Marsh, and had among its constituent
members John Ferree, Rebecca Ferree, Richard Marsh,
Samuel Hill, Jane Hill, Thomas Hill, Jerry Hall" and his
wife, Christian Long, Nelly Long, ·William Pattison, Anna
Pattison, James Pattison and his wife.

The first class-leader was James Pattison. Samuel Hill,
Richard ~Iarsh, and Benjamin South were also pioneer
class-leaders.

Preaching was had from one to three tim~s per month,
according to circumstances, but more often but once a
month at the house above mentioned and at other places.
In 1825 the house of James Pattison became a preaching­
place for the society, which at that time numbered over 50.
'fhe present church officers are: Trustees, J. W. Robinson,
John Marsh, Joseph Marsh, A. M. Marsh, Mahlon Marsh,
A. Hulick, Dr. L. H. Medaris, J. N. Pattison, and Dr. J.
S. Combs j Recording Stewardr Mahlon Marsh j Stewards,
A. Hulick, Joseph Marsh, Dr. J. S. Combs, Mahlon" Marsh,
D. H. Hill, and J. W. S. Robinson j Class-Leaders, John
Vance, E. Dimmitt, A. M. Marsh, and Joseph Marsh.
Aggregate membership, 2000 j present, 215.

In 1875, Bostou, Maple Grove, and Shumard's were
taken from Batavia Circuit, to which they had belonged for
a great many years, and organized into Boston Circuit.
Rev. W. T. McMullen was the first pastor after the division.
He was succeeded in 1876 by Rev. Fletcher Hypes, and he
by Rev. William McMahan in 1878, who is pastor of the
charge at the present time. Boston charge belongs to the
Cincinnati Conference and Ripley District. The names of
the ministers who have preached at Boston can be seen in
the list of appointments for Milford and Batavia Circuits,
given in connection with sketches of those churches. The
society has had two church buildings. The first one was
of brick, situated on the road leading from Boston to
Batavia, and at the junction of the Jackson pike and the
Batavia road. It was built in 1831, was 30 by 50 feet,

one story in height, and cost $900. It was torn down and
one erected on the south side of Main Street, west of the
Odd-Fellows' Hall, in 1859. It is a brick building, two
stories in height, 75 feet long and 45 wide, and cost $8000.
The lower story is divided into three rooms, beside~ the
vestibule, which are now used for class·rooms and the one
adjoining the vestibule formerly-or pri~r to the completion
of the upper story in 1866-for the audience-room. The
upper story is reached by two flights of stairs leading from
the -lower to the upper vestibule. It is divided into the main
audience-room and gallery, and will comfortably sent 300
persons. It was dedicated on the 10th of March, 1863, by"
R~v. Mr. Kemble. The present value of the church prop­
erty is $10,000. The most prominent revival took place in
the winter of 1868-69, under the preaching of Rev. R. K.
Deem, when over 250 united with the church. In 1845 a
Sunday-school was organized, with A. Hulick as superin­
tendent. Since that time Abraham Hulick has been super­
intendent for the most of the time. The library ,contains
more than 200 volumes, and the membership of the school
is over 210.

MOUNT ZION METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

As early as 1809 preaching was held at John Hill's and
also at Jacob Hill's. "In 1812 a class was formed at John
Hill's, where regular preaching was had, and afterwards in
the school-house until it burned down in 1822, after which
Hill's house again became the preaching-place. The" mem­
bers of the first class were John Hill and wife, Jacob Hill
and three daughters, Jesse H~ll and wif~, John Davis and
wife, William Glancy, Elizabeth Glancy, David Hand and
wife,Charles McGlaughlin, Mrs. John Lattimer, Abraham
Conrad and wife. The first Trustees were John Hill, Jacob
Hill, and A. Conrad j Class-Leaders, John Hill, Abraham
Conrad, Samuel Hill, Charles Hill, H. JIill, and Amos
Hill j Stewards, Samuel Hill, W. Carr, and H. Hill.

Present church officers are: Trustees, Samuel Hill, Jo­
seph McGlaughlin, Alfred Anderson, John Hoffman, and
Charles Hill j Steward, Charles Hill j Class-Leaders, Charles
Hill and Amos Hill.

There have been over 500 persons who have been mem­
bers of this church j present membership, 62. The follow­
ing "ministers have originated from this church: Samuel
Hill, John Hill, and Hezekiah Hill. It belongs to the
Cincinnati Conference, and has belonged to the Miami,
Milford, Batavia, Miami, and Centenary Circuits, of which
it is now a part.. The society has had two church edifices.
The first one was situated on the road leading from Glancy's
Mills to Goshen, one mile north of Stonelick Creek, and
was a brick building 35 by 50 feet,· olie story in height,
and cost $900. It was built in 1831. The second one
was built in 1853, on site of first one, and was a frame 45
by 60 feet, and one story high. It cost $1800. It was
dedicated in that year by Rev. John Hill. Present value
of church property is $2200.

As early as 1815 a Sunday-school was organized at John
Hill's, and was kept up most of the time until the second
church was built, when it was reorganized with Jacob
Hill as superintendent. Since that time the following
persons have filled that position: Samuel Hill, Jesse Hill,
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Charles Hill, H. Hill, 'W. Carr, Amos Hill, and John
Hoffman.

Number of volumes in library, 150 j enrollment of offi­
ccrs, teachers, and scholars, 65. 'l'his is the oldest Sunday­
school in the township, and though conducted on a different
plan for many years from the manner in which it is at
present conducted, has always had a good effect on the
neighborhood.

ROBINSON'S OR SHUMARD'S METHODIST EPISCOPAL
CIIUHCH.

As early as 1810, John Robinson's was a preaching­
place, and continued sueh until a church Was built in 1817.
In 1815 a church was organized at John Robinson's, with
the following members: John Robinson and wife, Jacob
J...ong and wife, H. Campbell, Moses Wood, Sr., John Hen­
sel, George Slye,' Jacob Slye, John Prickett and wife, James
:l\Iitchell and wife, Nathan Shumard, John Charles, and
others, probably 50 in all. Class-Leaders, John Robinson,
George Slye, John Hensel, Elias nodgers, and R. Shumard.
Present officers: Trustees, Hichard Shumard, Joseph Bird·
sal; Class-J...eader, Joseph Birdsal; Steward, Richard Shu­
mard, who has been for twenty years. Aggregate member­
ship, 1500; present, 40. It belongs to the Cincinnati
Conference, Ripley District, and Boston Circuit.

In 1817 a log church was built on the road lending from
Boston to Belfast, near present residence of Joseph Birdsal.
It was 20 by 30', and the work was nearly all donated,
probably costing $50. It went down in 1845. Since that
time meetings have been held in school-house in district
No.4. "

It was one of the strongest churches in Clermont County
fifty years ago; but after the churchcs at Boston and Mount
Olive were built it began to decline in membership, as a
majority of the members of those churches were from it.

In 1825 a Sunday-school was organized in connection
with the church, with Elias Rodgers as the first superin­
tendent. Since that time a great many different persons
have filled that station. The present superintendent is
Joseph Birdsal. The school has an enrollment of 37, with
about 75 volumes in the library.

MOUNT OLIVE METHODIST EPISCOPAl, CHURCH.

About the year 18:-35 preaching was had at Eleazer
Campbell's house, where several united with the church,
which led to the organization of a society in 1842, which
was called Mount Olive. The members of this churc~ had
previously belonged to the Robinson Methodist Episcopal
Church. The constituent members were Eleazer, Camp­
bell, John Hensel and wife, Daniel Long, John Knott,
James Bickmore and wife, B. Uapp and wife, Addison
Rapp, Eliza Rapp, Mrs., Lucinda Simpkins, Mrs. Phoobe
Williams, John Simpkins, 1\1rs. John Sim[lkins, Andrew
Long, Mrs. Andrew Long, and a few others whose names
could not be recollected. First Trustees were Eleazer Camp­
bell, John Hensel, Jacob J...ong, B. Itapp, lWas Rodgers,
John Knott, and Andrew J.Jong j Class-Leaders, Elias
Rodgers, Jacob Long, John Hensel, Jesse Hill, Joseph
Rapp, F. A. McCormick, and Noah Booso; Steward, B.
Rapp, Jr. Trustees at present time are B. J. Itapp, Noah

Booso, F. L. McCormick, and B. Rupp, Jr. Aggregate
membership, 150; present number, 49.

The following ministers have originated from the society:
J. F. Uapp, 1\1. N. Kugler, and 'William Kugler. It has
always been connected with the Cincinnati Conference, and
belongs to J~ast Cincinnati District and Centenary Circuit.
It has had two church buildings. The first was built in
1842, by the trustees, they being the building eommittee,
on site of present one. It was a log building 25 by 35,
and one story high, and cost $350. In 1866 the build­
ing eommittee, consisting of Henry Long, J. B. Bickmore,
and Noah Rooso, built a one-story frame ehurch, 40 by 60,
on site of old one, which was situated' on the road leading'
from Boston to Goshen, one mile south of the Milford and
Edenton turnpike. It cost $1450. About the year 1857
a Sunday-school was organized, with Jesse Hill as superin­
tendent. Sinee that time the following persons have filled
that position: Henry Long, F. A.McCormick, Jacob Burn~, .
Joseph Uapp, William Kugler, and B. Rapp, Jr.

The present Superintendent is Whitcomb Long'; Assist~

ant, F. A. McCormick; Secretary, James Rapp; Treasurer,
James Rapp. Number of' volumes in library, 75. Num­
ber of officers, teacllers, and scholars enrolled, 69.

BELFAST METHODIST EPISCOPAL CIIUllClI

waS organized in 1870. The first, members were John R.
Hill and wife, G. \V. Hill and wife, J. H. Beckwith and
wife, George Smith and wife, A. J. McAdams and wife,
Charles Hill, Elizabeth Hill, Rebecca Hill, Mary Hill, 1\Irs.
Lucinda Simpkins, Hannah Brown, Susan Snider, John A.
Wiggins, Mrs. E. Wiggins, Henry Long, Marg'aret Long,
James Bickmore, l\1rs. J. Bickmore, and others, to the
number of 31. First Trustees were G. 'N. Hill, George
Smysor, J. \Viggins, Joseph Leever, Henry Long, A. J.
McAdams, and William Shumard, Jr.; Class-Leaders, A. J.
McAdams, G. VV. Hill, Jesse Collins, and Henry Long;
Steward, A. J. McAdams. Aggregate membership, 176;
present" 49.

The ch~lfch belongs to the Butlerville Circuit. The so­
ciety has had but one church building, which was built on
the Milford, Edenton and '\Voodville turnpike, one-fourth
mile below Relfast post-office, in 1870. It is a frame, 40
by 55, and one story high. The building committee con­
sisted of J. R. Hill, W. Shumard, and Henry J...ong.
Church cost $1375. It was dedicated in 1870. It will
scat 300. Value of church property is $1800. In 1870
a Sunday-school was organized, with J. R. Hill as superin­
tendent.

The present superintendent is G. 'V. Hill. There are
65 officers, teachers, and scholars enrolled as members of
the school.

SECOND STONELICK BAPTIST CHURCH.

About the year 1810, Rev. Jacob J...aymon, a Baptist
minister, commenced preaching at John Metcalfe's, and also
at William Glancy's in 1817. On the first day of May,
1819, a church was constituted at John Metcalfe's with the
following membership: John Metcalfe, Susannah l\Ietcalfe,
Joseph Moore, Nancy Moor~, John Moore, Jane 1\1oore,
William Glancy, Elizabeth Glancy, Anthony Moore, Thos.
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Martin, 1\1ary McCormick, Richard Han, Rachel Shields,
Solomon Dumford, Joseph Smith, Bbenezer Orsborne, Sr.,
Ebenezer Orsborne, Jr., Sarah Prickett, and Elizabeth Rou­
debush. The first church officers were:· Trustees, Joseph
1\1oore, Anthony Moore, and John Metcalfe; Clerk, William
Glancy; Treasurer, John Metcalfe. Deacons, 1819-33,
Joseph and Anthony Moore; 1833-34, Milton Allison;
1834-36, William Glancy and John Orsborne; 1836-37,
James 'Villiams and William Fletcher; 1837-38, James
'Williams and Samuel Davis; 1838-48, Anthony 1\'loo1'e;
1848-55, John Orsborne. Clerks,' 1819-24, William
Glancy; 1824-37, Peter Vandervort; 1837-38, Nicholas
Wood; 1838-55, Dennis Smith. Aggregate membership,
185.

Thomas Martin, Samuel Dennis, and Dennis Smith have
originated from this society as ministers. The first pastor
was Rev. Jacow.Lnymon, who preached almost continuously
for the'church from 1819 to 1848. Those who preached
besides him were Rev. James Buchanan, from 1819-23,
on alternate Sabbaths with Rev. Jacob Laymon; 1836,
Rev. James Lyons; 1844, Rev. William Brooks and Rev.
David Laymon; 1847-49, Rev. J. C. Beeman j 1849-52,
Rev. Jacob Laymon; 1852-55, Rev. Dennis Smith.

The church prior to 1838 belonged to the East Fork
Association. In 1822 the Baptists and Presbyterians
united and built a stone church near the mouth of Brushy
Fork. It was 30 by 40 anel one story in height, and cost
$327, of which one-sixteenth was paid in money, the bal­
ance in work and material. In 1846 the stone church was
abandoned by the Baptists, and one built near the present
residence of Z. Leever. It was a frame building 20 by 30,
and one story in height., and cost $~OO. It was dedicated
Sept. 13, 1847, by Rev. George Ambrose. In 1855, Den­
nis Smith sold the church to J. F. Rapp. Of the members
who belonged before 1838, Christopher Smith, Dennis
Smith, Sarah Smith: and Sarah Orsborne are the only ones
now living.

In 1838 there was a division in the church on account
of the missionary question, which caused nineteen of the
members to leave the parent stem and organize themselves
into the .

STONELICK REGULAR BAPTIST CHURCH.

The following names were the constituent members: Wil­
liam Glancy, Elizabeth Glancy, Peter Vandervort, Alice
Vandervort, Elizabeth Roudebush, Elizabeth Kerr, Eliza
Kerr, B. C. South, Abigail South, Rachel Shields, and
others whose names are not now known. This organization
took place Dec. 1, 1838, through the instrumentality of
William Glancy, Peter Vandervort, Elizabeth Roudebush,
and others.

The first church officers were. the following: Trustees,
John Frazee, John 'Villiams, and Michael J..,awer; Clerks',
Peter Vandervort, T. J. Williams, and Michael Lawer;
Deacons, 1839 to 1847, W. Glancy; 1847 to 1853, Samuel
E. Davis; 1854 to 185-, William Ware. Aggregate mem­
bership, 65. The first pastor was Rev. Isa.ac Ferris, and
the successive pastors were Rev. J. K. Morris, Rev. L.
French, Rev. W. Blair, and Rev. George Sapp. It be­
longed to the East Fork Association.

From 1838 till 1843 the church met in the" Old Stone
Church." In 1842 a brick building 35 by 50 feet, one
story in height, was built on the site of the present resi­
dence of Stephen Gall, on the road leading from Stonelick
to Glancy's mills. It cost $900, and was 'dedicated by
Rev. J. Bryant. In 1853 a large majority of the mem­
bership living ncar Newtonville, a church was organized
and built at that place.* In 1863 the church ceased to
be a preaching-place, and in 1867 it was 'sold to J. W.
Robinson in part payment for the building of the Stonelick
Valley Baptist Church.

STONELICK VALLEY BAPTIST CHURCH

was organized July 29, 1869. Subsequent to its organi­
zation meetings had been held in the school-house in dis­
trict No.8 by Rev. Joseph Hawkins, Rev. W. W. Sawyer,
Rev. T. J. Melish, and others for over two years. The
constituent members were James Moore, Elizabeth Moore;
John Moore, Anna Moore, John Dumford, Deborah Dum­
ford, A. J. Carpenter, Eliznbeth Carpenter, James Car­
penter, Ann Carpenter, Emma Turner, Jenriie Turner,
Michael Turner, Paulina Moore, George Dupes, Mary
Dupes, Elizabeth Pierce, Minuie Shore, Alvira Armstrong,
Louise Stuart, Josephine Stuart, Anna Dalias, Benjamin
Hill, Silas Pierce, 'Villiam Shore, Lytle Hill, Isaac Turner,
1\Inry Curry, Jnckson Fl'y, John Hughes, E. C. Patchell,
Susanna Patchell, Ellen Roudebush, Jane .·Walker. Eliza-

. beth Stouder, Hrastus "Williams, Mary; Stuart, Cynthia
Leming, Snmuel Perry, J. N. Lawson, and Clara BouseI'.
On the same. day E. C. Patchell was elec~ed clerk, and
A.J. Turner, John Moore, and B. C. Patchell trustees.
Jam~s Moore, John Moore, and William L. Snpp were
ordained as deacons on the 28th of 1\1ay, 1870. In 1875,
Richard qarpenter was elected deacon .to fill the vacancy
cnused by the death of James Moore. On the 3d of
April, 1877, J. L. Roudebush was elected clerk; but re­
signed on the Gth of November of that year, and E. C.
Patchell was elected in his place, and is serving at the
present time.

The present church and society officers are: Trustees,
John Moore, Richard Carpenter, and E~ C. Patchell;
Clerk, E. C. Patchell; Deacons, John Moore, W. J",. Sapp,
and Richard Carpenter. Aggregate membership, 210;
present, 80.

The first pastor was Rev. Joseph Hawkins, who cou­
tinued to February, 1877, and Rev. D. W. Spaldon from
1877 to 1878. 'fhe Stonclick Valley Baptist Church be­
longs to East Fork Association.- .

On the 28th of August, 1869, a co~mittee, consisting
of Rev. Joseph Hawkins, JiJ. C. Patchell, John Moore, A.
J. Carpenter, Ambrose Roudebush, James Moore, W. L.
Sapp, and James Clark, were appointed to procure a suit­
able site for a church, and also t.he building of a frame
church 30 by 50, and one story in height. On the 30th
of O~tober the committee selccted a site for the church,
and sold out the building of it to J. W. Uobinson. It
was dedicated on the 28th of May, 1870, by Rev. K It.
Hera. The present value of church property is $1800.

l~ See Wayne township.
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In January, 1870, 1871, and 1872 three revivals oc­
curred, in which over 100 united with the church. In
1867 a union Sunday-school was held at the school-house,
under the superintendency of A. J. Turner j 1868, G. S.
Swing; 1869, J. N. Law;mn. In 1870 the Sunday-school
became a Baptist Sunday-school, with A. J. Turner as
superintendent; 1871, A. J. J urner; 1872, G. S. Swing j

1873, E. C. Patchell; 1874, J. L. Roudebush;_ 1875,
Henry Baldwin; 1876-77, E. C. Patchell; 1878-79, J.
L. Uoudcbush. The present officers are the foHowing:
Superintendent, J. L. Roudebush; Assistant Superin­
tendent, E. C. Patchell j Secretary, Mrs. Belle Patchell j

Treasurer, J. A. Jones. Volumes in library, 150; number
of officers, teachers, and scholars, 75.

• I STONE LICK PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

In 1817, David and Joseph Rapp's was a preaching
place, and continued to be until the" Union" or" Old Stone
Church" was built in 1822, about which time the Presbyte­
rians per~ected an organization which for many years was
only a missionary station. The first pastor is thought to
have been the Rev. L. G. Gaines. At that time the fol­
lowing persons were mcmbers: David Rapp, Jesse Glancy,
Isaac McChesney, William Cowen, Joseph Rapp, Margaret
Rapp, George Rapp, Charlotte Happ, and others, to the
number of fifteen. The following persons preached there
regularly: Rev. George Beecher, Rev. Dr. Wilson (it is
claimed that Henry Ward Beecher preached also), Rev.
-- \Vilson, son of the above, and others whose names
are now forgotten. At this place the firdt Sunday-school
in the township was organized, about the year 1824, of
which there is, as of the chureh, no record.

After 1842 the stone church was not occupied by the Pres­
byterians, and in 1846 it was abandoned by the Baptists.
The end walls arc still standing, marking the spot where so
many have started on a new pilgrimage.

GERMAN UNITED DUETHREN CHURCH.

In 1874 meetings were occasionally held in school-house
district No. 10, by Rev. I. Moeller; and in 1875, through
the influence of 1\1. l\Iae~ley, F. Bayhu, and others, a
church was organized, of which the following persons were
the constituent members: J olm Liller, Barbara Liller, Kate
J~i1ler, Caroline Liller, Charles Plout, Sr., Mrs. C. Plout,
Frederick Plout, Charles Bielfield, Frederick Bayhu, Lena
Bayhu, Rosa Bayhu, Mrs. E. Bohn, Christopher Glasser,
Barbara Glasser, George Glasser, Mrs. C. Divine, Kate
Divine, John Gableman, Sr., LeQu Gableman, Myria Ga­
bleman, Nicholas Ruster, Mrs. N. Ruster, Peter Ruster,
Mrs. P. Ruster, Christopher Glltenkunst, Deborah 'Guten­
kunst, M. Maegley, l\Iagaritta l\Iaegley, and Mary Smith.
Aggregate membership, 47; prescnt number, 32. The first
church officers were: Trustees, F. Bayhu, C. Bielfield, and
1\1. 1\laegley, who have becn continued to the present time j

Treasurer, M. l\Iaeglcy. In 1877, M. l"Jacgley was licensed
as a local prcacher. _ The first pastor was Rev. I. Moeller;
in 1877-78, Rev. G. F. Albrecht j 1879, Hcv. A. Kopittke.
1'his church is connected with the Batavia chm·gc. In
1876, a largc frame church was built by Messrs. Gomieu &
~'averett, on a beautiful site near tlie corporation of Boston,

fronting on the road leading from Boston to Batavia, at a
cost of $1050. The church was dedicated Aug. 5, 1876,
by Bishop 'Veaver.

STONELICK CEMETERIES.

In March, 1822, Jacob Rapp, David Rapp, and Joseph
Rapp (in consideration of three cents) deeded to W. Glancy,
Peter Vandervort, and Joseph Smith, trustees of the Stone­
lick Baptist Church, and their successors forever, 132 poles
of land situated on the Deerfield road, to be used as a bury­
ing-ground.

The first person buried in it was Annie Cook, who died
in 1823.

On the 3d day of April, 1872, the trustees of Stonelick
township, in accordance with an act which had passed the
Legislature the previous year, located the township cemetery
on the site of the Baptist burying-ground,~nd on the 23d
of August the trustees of- the Stonelick Baptist Church.
deeded to the trustees of the township t}1e aforesaid 132
poles of land.

On the 5th day of April, 1872, the heirs of ,Jacob Rapp,
deceased, in consideration of $158.75, deeded to the town­
ship trustees 3-' acres of land, to be used for a township
cemetery.

In 1873 the cemetery was inclosed by a neat and sub­
stantial board fcnce, and the grounds were also graded
down in 1874, making it a very desirable and picturesque
site for a cemetery.

DOSTON CEMETERY (1. O. O. F.).

In October, 1864, Thomas Marsh, in consideration of
$500, deeded to J. N. Pattison, W. A. Dallas, and B.
Blythe, trustees of Boston Lodge, No. 18!:), I. O. O. F., 4t
acres of land, to be used as a burying-ground, situated on
the Milford and Chillicothe turnpike, ODe mile west of Bos­
ton. I n November the ground was laid out into lots. 00
the 18th day of December, 1864, the first person, James
Patchell, was buried in it. In April of the following year
it was inclosed by a substantial board fence. In 1876 the
drive-way was graded and macadamized. It is now ooe of
the most desirable cemeteries io tIle township.

PLAINVIEW CEMETERY.

In September, 1873, \ViIliam Roudebush sold to the
Plainview Cemetery Association 7 acres of land, to be used
as a cemetery, situated on the Newtonville and Logtown
free turnpike, one and a half miles west of Newtonville.
In 1873 it was surveyed into lots, part being reserved for a
Potter's Field.

Mrs. Dennis Foster was the first person buried in it.
The officers at the time it was laid out were: President,

William Roudebush; Secretary, Richard Shumard; Treas­
urer, Z. Dickenson. At present the officers are: President,
B. :F. Clark; Secretary, G. M. Roudebush; Treasurer;
Richard Shumard. The location- being good, it has fiIled
up rapidly, and can be extended, as the grounds adjoining
it arc suitable for cemetery purposes.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CEMETERY AT BOSTON.

'Vhen the church at the junction of the Jackson pike
with the Deerfield road was built,-a greater part of the yard
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was used as a burying-ground, and has been so used up to
the present time, though the church has been removed
since 1829.

THE OLD ROBINSON METHODIST EPISCOPAL BURYING·
GltOUND

was 'laid out about the same time the church was built. It
was situated near the residence of Joseph Birdsal. About
20 persons have been buried in it. It has been deserted
for thirty years.

ST. PHILOMENA (CATHOLIC) CEMETERY.

In 1887 the. St. Philomena Catholic Church laid out
about one-half acre into lots for a cemetery for its mem­
bership. It is one of the most populous cities of the dead
in Clermont County, as well as the oldest CatllOlic ceme­
tery. The firs~ person buried in it was Mrs. J....ouis Bartell,
in 1839.

ST. LOUIS (CATHOL£C) CEMETERY.

In 1874 the St. Louis Catholic Church laid out one and
a quarter acres into lots for burying purposes. In 1857
persons were buried in it, but who the first one was is not
known. It is situated cast of the church and north of
Boston village.

THE HILL FAMILY CEMETERY

is situated on the farm 'now owned by Adam Dellar. There
have been some 50 bodies buried in it. The first person
that was buried in it was Thom~s Hill, in 1815.

On the tarm now owned by Clemens Grotte there was
a lar~e burying-ground, which was mostly used by the
Fletchers, Halls, Hills, and ot11ers. It is now being plowed
over, having been deserted thirty years ago.

Numerous other family bursing-grounds are found in
various parts of the township, but for the most purt they
have been abandoned and their occupants removed to some
of the above cemeteries.

STONELICK DESPERADOES.

III 1809 several families, whose names are withheld, set­
tled ncar Simpkillsville, in Stonelick township. They
claimed to have come from Kentucky (from which State it
was afterwnrds ascertained they had to leave on account of
their depredations). The men were fine-looking, intelligent,
and accommodating, rode fine horses, dressed in the best
broadcloth, and their conduct and appearance for a short time
left the impression on the minds of their neighbors that they
were wealthy, cultivated, and honora.ble.

They could not have selected a better place to conceal
their business and plunder, and make s~ealing profitable.

The' hills of Stonelick Creek are rugged, and at that
time were covered with a dense undergrowth. The imme­
diate neighborhood was sparsely settled, but surrounded by
the more ,populous and wealthy settlements of Hamilton,
Winren, and Adams Counties, and the rich blue-grass re­
gions of Kentucky.

They had not resided in the neighborhood long before
their actions created suspicion in the minds of such men as
Archibald Simpkins, John Hill, Joseph Glancy, and Wm.
Glancy, who. watched them closely, and soon found that

they did not work, always had plenty of money, were absent
from home most of the time, and always brought home two
or three horses different from what they had rode off.
Strange men were seen in their company and in conversa­
tion with them in secret places, which led them to believe
that their suspicions were correct. They did not hesitate to
express their opinions, which were told to the gang by some
of their newly-made converts in the neighborhood. The
gang now disguised themselves and went to the cabin of
Jesse Glancy in the dusk of the evening, while his family
were all absent but one daughter, boldly walked in and
commenced beating him in abrutal manner, and had it not
been for the timely arrival of friends they would have
killed him.

This was their first overt act in_.the neighborhood, which
aroused the bestelement.'l of society to their duty.

For a time the gang cellsed, as it were, from active opera­
tions, went to farming, and made no long visits to unknown
parts. This lull was soon succeeded by intense activity on
the part of the gang. They commenced stealing hogs from
their nearest neighbors, selling the meat wherever they could.
They did not confine themselves to hogs, but stole a great
many cattle, which they had their confederates, in other
parts of the country, sell for them. From cattle they went
to horses. They would run them off in the niglit~time to
some of their confederates, who would conceal them during
the day, while they would return and be at home' before
daylight; and so on from station to station, until out of
danger of their being recognized. Not content with steal­
ing stock, they went to, robbing stores and private houses..
In 1814 they robbed a store at Lebanon, Ohio, getting a
small amount of money and some goods. Their trail being
found they were pursued by the sheriff and a posse, and
the house of one of the gang :mrrounded, and one o'f the
supposed inmates ordered to come out and ~ivc himself up. ,
But instead of doing that he fired at the sheriff and wounded
him, after which he beat a hasty retreat. From this time
until the gang was broken up in 1819 the community was
in an intense stat~ of excitement.

Strange men were seen in the vicinity. Secret ~eetings
(as they thought) were had by the gang, who' went well
armed all the time. Officers of the law were after them
constantly, and persons in the neighborhood were concealing
members of the gang from a distance and helping to throw
the officers off their trail.

As the gang became 'bolder and stronger, so did the op­
position, led by the. Glancys, Simpkins, Hills, Swings, and.
others, become more determined to drive the gang out of
the country. An opportunity WaS Boon presented for them
to show that they were men of nction. One Saturday night
in June, 1819, Isaac Conrad, then living alinost opposite
the present residence of Hon. J. l\L Pattison, in lUiam.i
townl;hip, on the Milford and Wooster pike, had a horse
stolen fi·om his stable.

On discovering the theft· he immediately notified some of
his neighbors, who started on the trail, which was easily
followed, owing to a peculiar mark made by the horse's shoes.
The thief hugged the fences as closely as he could, and rode
in the bed of all the streams. His pursuers having au idea
that the thief was one of the Stonclick gang, followed on
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rapidly without paying much attention to the trail, as it
was not discernible all the way. After the trail had been
followed to where John Moore now lives, in Stonelick town­
ship, it was lost; but the pursuers pushed on, and as they
struck the mouth of CraVf~n'sRun they discovJred it again
in the mud on the bank of that stream, as there had been
quite a rain on Saturday night. After following it some
distance up the stream the leader called a halt, and upon
consultation it was thought best to send out a party on foot
to see if the ho'rse was not concealed in the adjacent ravines,
while a second one with the dogs went to the house of
William Glancy ncar by, it being understood that if the
horse was found that they should all rendezvous at Glancy's.
The hunting-party soon returned, and reported that they had
found the horse tied to a bush in a ravine near by (about
one-half mile from the present residence of Samuel Hill).
About four o'clock the entire party, now numbering eigh­
teen, all well armed, took up their line of march fut· the
ravine.

Arriving there they concealed themselves and waited for
developments. They had not waited long before a strange
man came and rubbed the horse's neck, but went away. A
short time afterwards a man well known in the neighbor­
hood, as a member of the gang, came with a sack of oats,
giving some to the horse. After he hud eaten them he
proceeded to lead the horse away, when he was ordered to
halt. He was startled for a moment, and a moment only.
He bounded away with the velocity of the wind, but had
only got a few feet when two of the pursuers fired (though
some claim three). He ran about two hundred yards,
closely pursued by Joseph Glancy and ot:hers, cleuring a
poplar log six feet in diametet· at a single bound. He was
soon seen to be wounded, and was overtaken by Joseph
Glancy, when he dropped to the ground and expired almost
immediately without uttering a word. On examination it
was found that he had beeu shot in the fleshy part of the
thigh, the ball severing an artery, from which he bled to
death. It is thought that Defariah Jen~ins fired the fatal
/Shot. His body was taken to a neighbor's house, and a
coroner's inquest held, which returned the following ver­
dict:

lC We, the jury, find that the deceased came to his death for the w~nt
of breath.

"JAeOB ROUDEBUSH, FIJI"e1Ilall."

This had the desired effect. The gang soon showed signs
of dissolution, and a majority of them soon left for parts
unknown, though two of their number had been previously
hung for the murder of a peddler in Kentucky, one at
:l\Jount Sterling and the other at Lexington. Though this
virtually broke up the' gang, one of the worst ever in the
'Vest, whose history would fill a volume of theft, counter­
feiting, and hQrrible murders, the effects of it did not die
out until 18;;0, manifesting itself ion petty thefts and coun­
tt;lrfeiting. The counterfeiters were connected with a gang
on Bear and Indian Creeks in the southern part ot' the
county. On the farm now owned by. Geniah Covalt con­
siderable counterfeit money has been found. Some of the
plates already described, being a composition with copper
as 11 base, have also been fvund. A. f~w years ago $100
was found on the farm now owned by J oho Glancy under

the root of an oak stump. In another neighborhood an
old snag was set on fire, and when nearly burned down a
stream of metal poured out of it which weighed over two
hundred pounds. There is no doubt that at least $100;000
of counterfeit money was circulated by this gang, and worse
than that, not one of the Stonelick di vision was ever con­
victed, though one of their number turned State's evidence.

'1.

BlOG RAP HIe AL SKETC HES.

EDWARD PATCHEJJL.

Edward Patchell was born on Oil Creek, Venango Co.,
Pa., Feb. 19, 1801. His patemal ancestors were French
H~guenots,who emigrated to the northern part of Ireland in
1568, fuur years before the massacre of St. Bartholomew.
As early as 1515.1he principles of Luther and Zwinglius
had gained an entrance into France (especially that part
bordering on Switzerlund), also the doctrines of Calvin,
which were embraced by the Patchells, a very numerous
and influential family living near Vassey. In the struggle
between the Bourbons and the five princes of Guise they
espoused the cause of the former. But it was not until
1560 that there was anything like an armed opposition to
the tyranny of the latter. A plan was agreed upon by the
Huguenots to seize the Guises on a certain day, when a num­
ber of them were t6 present a petition to the king in person
(who then lived at Blois), asking him to grant them the
right of the free exercise of their worship. ' The plan was
betrayed, and twelve hundred Huguenots were executed. Of
that number seven were Patchells, where the name first
occurs in French history. Bloody scenes were the result,
and the mas~acre of Vassey in 1562 was the immediate
cause of a conti~ued civil war 'between the Catholics and
Protestants in that part of France for over a century. In'
leaving France and settling in Ireland the Patchells did
not better their condition, for the same bloody scenes were
there enact.ed, though of a local and not a national character.
His great-great-great-great-grandfather was one of the gallant
few who served under that famous Protestant clergyman,
George Walker, in the heroic defense of Derry against
King James. For bravery in the battle of Boyne he was
presented with a gold medal, now in the possession of J oho
Barr, of Monterey, Ohio. His grandfather, Edward Patch­
ell (after whom he was named); was keeper of the forest
under Lord Fitzgerald. This nobleman was killed by the
Catholic tenantry in the insurrection of 1788 in' Derry
County. He also owned a large farm five mile~ from
Londonderry, and would have shared the fate of his lord­
ship had he not been secretly released by a man by the name
of Dunbar, whom he had befriended in several ways.

In 1792 he emigrated to America, settling in Pennsyl­
vania. In 1800 he bought a farm on Oil Creek, on whieh
are some of the largest oil-wells in the United States. He.
died in 1814, aged ninety-seven years. His father, James
Patchell, was next to the youngest of a family of two sons'
and three daughters, and was born in the county of. Derry,
Ireland, in 1772, and married Elizabeth Cannon in 1800.
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She was also a native of Ireland, and was born in the county of
Tyrone in 1783. By this union there were eight children,
-Edward, "William, ~Iary A., Jane, Eliza, Jemima, James,
and Joseph,-all of whom are now dead but James, who
resides in Butler Co.,' Ohio. In the war of 1812 he was
a majo~ in the Pennsylvania militia, und during the winter
of 1814 was stationed at Erie. His brother Edward was a
brigadier-general in the Pennsylvania line during the war
of 1812, and was appointed by President Jackson as
issuing commissary-general of the Army of the Southwest,
with headquarters at New Orleans, which position he held
for three years, when he resigned on account of ill health.
At the time of hi~ death he was one of the wealthiest and
most prominent citizens of Pittsburgh. "

In the spring of 1816, James Patchell, in company with
several other fhmilies, dcscended the Alleghany and Ohio
Rivers to Neville, Clel'lnont Co., Ohio, in a keel boat. A
short time after he purchased a farm on Indian Creek, in
Monroe township, where he resided until 1832, when he
removed to Butler County, where he died in 1844 and his
wife in 1846. He was a man of great energy and strong
will-power. These, combined with a good judgment, made
him a man of more than ordinary ability. In the barrens
of Pennsylvania Edward almost arrived at manhood's years,
where the wildness of the scenery, the purity of the water,
and the salubrity of the climate. gave him a constitution
well fitted to stand the hardships of pioneer life. Imbued
with the spirit of his ancestors, he started out in life with
the dctermination of being honest, industrious, and to live
within his means, all of which he faithfully did during a
long and eventful life. Strong, active, energetic, and will.
ing, he soon acquired the reputation of being one of 'the
best men in the neighborhood in which lie lived. At that
time there was a great demand for wood at Cincinnati, and
hence for choppers, of which he was one of the best in his
day and generation. He would not unfrequently cut and
cord five to six cords in a day, and split from five to seven
hundred rails in the same length of time. He not only
chopped during the winter but also the heated term. On
the 2d of November, 1826, he married Sarah Ann Brown,
who was born ncar Nashville, Tenn., Feb. 7, 1803. The
following children were given them: William W., born
Nov. 7, 1827; Elizabeth J., born July 16, 1830; James
1\1., born July 11, 1832; Sarah Ellen, born Aug. 6, 1834;
Angeline, born May 15, 1837; Mary E., born 1\1areh 22,
1844; and Martha Eo, born Jan. 23, 1847; all of whom
lived to man and womanhood but Mary K, who died at
the age of four years. In 1832 he moved on the farm now
owned by P. F. Swing, and in 1836 he purchased the farm
now owned by the heirs of William Patchell, deceased,
and in 1855 he bought the farms now owned by E. C.
Patchell, T. C. Teal, and Mrs. Elizabeth Carpenter, then
one of the largest and richest in the county. In December,
1864, James M., who never married, died in Illinois of
typhoid i'ever. He was a pupil of Prof. Stevens, of Mil­
ford, for several years, and graduated from Nelson's Mer­
cantile College, at Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1854. In 1857 he
went to California, where he remained two years. In 1863
he was unanimously chosen captain of a comp~ny of home­
guards, and in September of that year was commissioned

69

mnjor by Governor Tod. Dignified in his bearing, gentle
in his manners, conscientious in the discharge of his duties,
both public and private, he was one of the most popular
and efficient young men in the community in which he
lived. In December, 1865, W. J. died. He was a man
of warm and generous impulses, of industrious and econom­
ical habits, and left to his widow and childl'en quite a com­
petency. Of the sons, :Edward C. is the only one now
living, who resides on the homestead at Stonelick, and is
one of the" largest farmers in Clermont County. Of the
da~ghters, Mrs. S. E. Roudebush resides near Boston, and
Mrs. T. C. Teal, Mrs. Angeline Haworth, and Mrs. Eliza­
beth Carpenter near Stonelick. Sarah Ann Patchell, wife
of Edward, died Jan. 17, 1866. She was one of those
wives and mothers who made home what it .shoulcl be,­
what it was intended to be,-the most attractive place 011

earth. Zealous in the cause of truth, faithful in the dis­
charge of duty, upright in ller conduct, an affectionate
wife and loving mother are but few of her noble traits and
clements of character. In 1866 he married Mrs. Anna J.
Mc'Donald, who survived him, and is the present wife of
Roland Boyd.

On the 11th of February, 1876, he died Euddenly of
lleart-disease, while visiting a neighbor. Commencing life
with nothing but his hands to earn his livelihood, he soon
rose to wealth and distinction. Austere in his manners,
with a well-balanced mind; temperate in his habits, with
an acute ob~ervation; close in 11is dealings, with a sympa­
thetic heart for suffering humanity; a patron of colleges, .
with little if any education; a quick temper, but not mali­
cious, are some of the characteristics of him, in whom the
fire of the French, t.he sympathy of the Irish, and the ex­
actness of the Scotch were all united in perfect harmony.•

AMBROSE ROUDEBUSH.

Ambrose Roudebush was born in Stonelick township,
Clermont Co., Ohio, April 7, 1823, and was next to the
youngest of a family of ten children,-six sons and four
daughters. His father, Jacob Roudebush, was one of the
pioneer settlers of Clermont County, and was noted for
being one of the best farmers in it at the time of his death.
Ambrose received an education such as the public and
private schools of the county at that time could give. Re­
ceiving a teacher's certificate at the age of eighteen, lle
taught school during the winter months for ten years in
succession. On the 27th of February, 1851, he married
Sarah Ellen Patchell, daughter of Edward Patchell. By
this union there were four children,-J. L., born March 6,
1852; Edward Milliard, Aug. 14, -1853, who died in in­
fancy; Clara Belle, Jan. 25, 1855; and Ambrose Patchell,
June 6, .1866. Ambrose Roudebush died Feb. 11, 1875.
He was in every sense one of nature's noblemen. He. was
a kind and affectionate husband, a loving father, a success­
ful teacher, a liberal citizen, and one who conscientiously
discharged his duty as a public officer, and ever labored to
make his children virtuous, honest, intelligent, and useful
members of society.
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JAMES 13. SHAW.

The pioneers of Clermont were nearly all farmers, as
were their immediate descendants, and did not consider it
beneath the dignity of honomble men to swing the axe, the
cradle, the scythc, or flail. They were proud of bcing
filrmers and of being engaged in agriculture,-the oldest
profession of man i und arising from thc commission of
Heaven" to dress and to keep" the Garden of Eden, and to
" till thc ground," its origin alone should instill within us
a respect for the tillers of thc soil. Among those who curly
endured the hardships und privations of the sparse settle~

U1ents in Clermont wCI'e Thomas Shaw and his wife Martha,
who in 1807 emigrated from Bucks Co., Pa., and settled
in Miami township, on a fann at Union Cross-Hoads. They
were of Quaker ancestry, and descended from the noble
stock that early in American history settled in PennsJlvania
and Maryland, and who left the old country to escape per­
secutions and find in the New "TOrId that peace of mind and
freedom of thought which religious intolerance and Jl~O­

narchical rule denied them in the Old. Like his ancestors,
Thomas Shaw was a quiet, honest, and law-abidin~ citizen,
industrious and intelligent. He first bought sixty-eight
acres of land of Col. Thomas Paxton, and in 1808 he pur­
chased sixt.y-three more of Gen. William LJtle, and began
opening up the wilderness into beautiful fields. He UnCl'­

wards added to his possessions, and died in good circum­
stances. His son, James Belford Shaw, born in 1798, was
nine years old when his parents removed to Ohio, was
brought up on the f:-trm, and received the usual but limited
education given to boys in those early timcs. In 1836 he
married Mary A. Banghart, by which union four children
were born, viz., William, married Oct. 30, 1860, by Hev.
George Gatch to Miss E. A. Smysor; Martha II., married
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Dec. 10, 1862, by U.C\'. George Snpp to Jerome Tice i
Sara J., marricd Oct. 20, 1870, by Hev. It. K Smith to
Zachariah ~r. ltobinson i and James 1\1., marricd to Miss
nosa Kearney, of Cincinnati. He was a sound business
man, of clear judgment and the sternest integrity, und pos­
sessed thc full and unquestioned confidence of the commu­
nity. He was a s,Ystematic filrmer and most careful in his
management of soils, and had that taste which led him to
have everything on his farm in a neat condition. He was
one of the projectors of the l\I ilford, ]~denton and 'Wood­
ville turnpike, and from its organization in 1851 to his
death was one of its directors. He was greatly interested
in public improvements for the benefit of the country, and
was ahvaj's ready to contribute his full quota ill their aid.
Being ot' Quaker descent, he was a member of no church,
but a man of' the highest morals and purity of character,
and was interested in all reforms for elevating mankind.
He ~vas of the Democratic school of politics up to the He­
bellion, when he espoused the Union cause, and was after­
wards identified with the Hepublican party. His lands,
including his homestead residence, were in ~IcDowell's sur­
vey, partly in :Miami and partly in Stonelick township, but
his house was in the lutter. He died Feb. 12, 1873, and
in his life of just threc-quarters of a celltury he demon­
strated to the world the virtues of an upright life. He came
when a small boy to Cleqnont, at a period when there were
but few improved farms or comfortable houses, but he lived
to see the forests converted into cultivated fields, to witness
the building up of pleasant villages, and behold the bnds
dotted over with f;pacious dwellings and the harvest-fields
buzz with improved machinery.

James B. Shaw died esteemed by the public, leaving the
heritage of a good name to his four children, who arc
worthy dcscendants of him.

J A 0 K S 0 N.*
....

JACKSON township is bounded on the north by Wayne,
east by Brown County, south by Williamsburgh, and west
by Stonelick.

The first settlers in what is now Jackson township were
Robcrt Dickey and William· Hunter. Thc former was a
native of Franklin Co., Pa., and was in Col. Bowman's ex:
pedition against Old Chillicothe, in June, 1779, where he
was wounded i!1 the shouldcr. After this expedition he
l'eturned to Kcntucky, went to Louisville, Ky., and while
there joined a company of volunteers for Harmar's expedi­
tion against the Indians in 1791, in which he was so suc­
cessful as to escape and rcturn to Chambersburg, his old
home.

In September, 1798, in company with his two brothers,

-
lit Prepared by J. L. Roudebul!b.

Hughey and Andrew, and William Hunter, a brother-in­
law, he started for the Miami country. On arriving at
Pittsburgh they built a boat, in which they put their goods,
leaving William Hunter to bring the wagon and horses by
land. William Hunter arrivcd at 'Villiamsburgh on Nov.
1, 1798, but the boat containing his family and the Dickey
brothcrs did not arrive at the mouth of Bullskin until the
latter part of that month, when their goods were brought by
lund to Williarusburgh, where they settled fOI' a short time.
In December, the same year, he purchased 300 acres froIll
Gen. William I.Jytle, now owned in part by Albert Hart­
man. Robert Dickey never married, and died in 1840,
aged eighty-five years.

William Hunter and his wife, as before stated, came at
the same tiJIlc with Robert Dickey, by way of the Ohio
River, and he bringing the teams by Lane's Trace to Wil-
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liamsburgh. He was a native of Donegal Co., Province of
Ulster, Ireland, and came to America in 1782, and settled
near Chambersburg', Pa. In 1787 he married Mary
Dickey, and in 1798 located at Williamsbul'gh, and on the
22d of February, 1799, settled on the farm now owned by
William Hunter. He was the fhther of seven children,­
John, Hobert, Mary, Peggy, David, William, and A. King,
who are all· dead except William and A. King. David
Hunter was born in 1801, and was the first white male
.child born in Jackson township. William Hunter died
July 22, 1834, aged seventy-three years. He was in the
Whisky Insurrection in Pennsylvania in 1794. He was
a justice of the peace before Ohio becamc a State, in which
capacity he actcd for twenty-four years. He was greatly
respected for his many virtues. His descendants are quite
numerous in this township, and are all first-class citizcns.

1'ho next settler after "William Hunter and Robert
Dickey was Christopher Hartman, who, in the year 1802,
settled on a farm now owned by J. K. Hartman. He was
a native of Germany, born in Swintzburg, Hesse Cassel, in
1750. In 1753 his Hither came to America, landing at
Philadelphia, bringing with him his four sons, John,
Joseph, George, and Christopher, the latter being the only
one that ever emigrated to Ohio. In 1776 he married
Mary Hutchinson, a native of Mercer Co., N. J., who was
born March 24, 1755. He was the father of eight cllil­
dren,-three sons and five daughters: William was born
Feb. 17, 1778; Isaac, Sept. 2, 1779; Rebecca, Jan. 13,
1781; Elizabeth, May 22, 1783; Catharine, Sept. 27,
1785; Samuel, March 19, 1790; Fannie, March 5, 1793 ;
Hachcl, Dcc. 29, 1796.

r~ .~eptemb~, 1795, he" emigrated to Lexington, "Ky.
..' Tli9i-.:ciiiDibyland as far as Washington, Pa., a small town

on the Monongahela River, where, in conjunction with
s(~Yeral other families, he built a boat, on which they de­
scended the Ohio River to I~imestone, Ky., after a perilous
voyage of three wceks. He lived in the neighborhood of
'Lexington until No\'ember,_1,.aAl,... ,when lie emigrated to
.Ohio, settling .~rs.t at Williamtiburgh. In December, 1801,
he purchased 500 "iicl'cs of land from Gen. William Lytle,
in Lytle's l!uJ.vey~ Nos. 3331 and 4780. In the spring of
1802 he built 's log _Ca~!~L l!pqut 200 yards south of the
prescnt residence of J. K. Hartman', where he kept the
first hotel in Jackson township. Christoph:er' Hartman
died March 16, 1833, aged eighty-three years. He was a
soldier of the Revolution, and belonged to Smallwood's
regiment. By profession he was a millwright, and ~_go of
the best of his time in Southern Ohio. His wife died
Aug. 6, 1839, aged eighty-four years. William, his eldest
son, also came with him, having been married to Nancy
Cullen in 1801. She was a daughter of John Cullen, and
was born in Caroline Co., Va., in 1781. In 178(i·'her
father emigrated to Kentucky, settling at Bryant's Station.
William Hartman was the father of thirteen ehildren,­
Fanny, born Jan. 15, 1802; :Mary, !i'eb. 17,1803; Nancy,
July 20, 1804 j Sarah, May 10, 1806; Hachel, June 22,
1808 j Elizabcth, Dec. lu, 1810; Lucy and Catharine,
Jan. 1, -1811· j Eliza, J·an. 10, 1813; William, April 22,
1815; Jane, Oct. 4, 1818 j Edmun..d J., Oct. 3, 1820;
a~d. ~Jri~es, l\'~ay 25, 1823. Of these children, Mary,

Nancy, Elizabeth, Jane, Sarah, and James are the only
ones now living. William Hartman dicd May 8, 1858 j

his wife Dec. 15, 1857. Isaac, the second son, married
Mary Daughters in 1807. She was a child of John
Daughters, and a native of Kentucky. Their children
consisted of nine sons and two daughters,-James C., born
Sept. 27, 1808; John K., Dec. 11, 1809; \Villiam T.,
May 24, 1811; Isaac ·W., Feb. 9, 1813; Sarah, Feb. 15,
1815; Thomas, 1816; Joseph, 1817 j Nancy, 1819; AJ~

bert, 1821; Turpin D., 1822; and Frank, 1824. or
these, all arc now .living except Isaac )V., Thomas, and

N~~ .
Isaac Hartman's wife died March 12, 1831, and he on

the 3d of January, 1837. He had by frugality and in­
dustry accumulated considerable property, nearly all of
which is owned by stl'llngers at the present time.

Samuel, the third son, in 1814, married Sarah Dunham,
daughter of G. Dunham, by whom he had eight children,
-George, born Sept. 9, 1815; Mary, Oct. 18,1817; C.
Dunham, Oct. 27, 1819; Elizabeth, July 6, 18- (of the
rest of the childrcn, Robert, 'William, Uebecca, and Samuel,
we have been unable to obtain the date of their birth).
His wife died Scpt~ 11, 1841. In 18- he married Mrs.
Elizabeth Browning, by· whom he had four children,­
Sarah, Adaline, Catharine, and Nancy.

Samuel Hartman died l\iay 13, 1862. His wife is still
living. Of Christopher Hartman's daughters, Uebecca mar­
ried Adam Brickcr, arid lived and died near Williamsburgh ;
Elizabeth married Jacob Roudebush, and lived. and died
near Boston; Catharine married I~phraim McAdams, and
died near Williamsburgh in 1839; Ruchel, the only one' of
the children that is yet living, married John Page; and
now Jives near Laurel,·in Monroe township. Fanny died
in infancy. The descendants of Christopher I:Iartman are
very numerous in Jackson township.

In the spring of 1806, Ichabod Willis settled on the farm
now owned by M. Eo Pattison. He was a native of Dela­
ware and emigratcd to Kentucky in 1798, settling at Lex­
ington. In 1801 he emigrated to Williamsbui'gh, and from
there to Jackson township. H~ was the father of ten
chi/dren,-Henry, Nancy, John, Julia, Elizabeth, William,
Rachel, Eliza, Edward, and Mary. William now lives on
part of the homestead.

In the same year Samuel Cox, a native of what is now
West Virginia, emigrated to Ohio, and settled on the fimn
DOW owned by Frank Glancy. He was the father of two
children, Noah and Rebecca. Of their history nothing
more is known.

John Workman settled OD the farm now owned by E.
C. Hartman in 1806. He shortly after his settlement sold
his farm and moved out of tlte township.

About this time it is thought that Andrew Dickey, a
brother of Robert, settled on the farm. now owned by A. E.
Clark, but owing to a defective title had to leave it. From
there he went to St. Clairsville, where he remained until
1812, when he came back. He was the father of nine chil­
dron,-William, Thomas, Andrew, John, Isaiah, Robert,
Martha, Isabel, and Margaret. By profession he was a
sickle-maker. His brother Hughey also emigrated to
Jackson township about the same time. He was the
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father of six children,- 'Villiam, Benjamin, Samuel,
Hughey, Blizabeth, and Jane,-all of whom have left the
county, and of their further history nothing is known.
IIughey Dickey was a Hevolutionury soldier, and in several
battles of prominence.

In 1806, Ezekiel Hutchinson, a native of McreeI' Co.,
N. J., settled on the farm now owned by Aaron Hutchin­
son. His father, William Hutchinson, was born Dec. 13,
1724, and his mother, Mary, May 17, 1731. Of their
children, Mary was born March 24, 1755; William, March
2,1757; Hannah, Aug. 9,1759; Robert, July 26,1763;
Sylvester, Aug. 20, 1765; Aaron, May 17,1767; Ezekiel,
Oct. 18, 1769; Ann, July 8,1772; Catharine, Jail. 13,
1775. Of these, Mary, Hannah, Hobert, and Ezekiel emi­
grated to Ohio and Kentucky. Ezekiel married Hachel
Hutchinson in 1794, by whom h~ had ten ehildren,-John
Merrick, born Oct. 11, 1795; Aaron, :l\Iarch 10, 1798;
Rachel, Aug. 6, 1800; Mary A., Nov. 4,1803; Elizabeth,
Nov. 14, 1805; Charles Wesley, Oct. 19, 1807; William,
1\larch 10, 1810; Eliza, Feb. 23, ] 813; Harriet, July 16,
1815; and Jonathan E., July 9, 1818. Of' the children,
Aaron and Harriet are the only ones now living. John
1\Ierrick died Dec. 6, 1877. The former married Diaduma
Smitl~ in 1831, by whom he had four chiidren,-B. F.,
John G., Ezekiel J., and Caroline, who are all living. His
wife died years ago. Harriet married T. ,Y. Abernathy,
and resides at J.\Iarathon. Ezekiel Hutchinson died in
July, 1844; his wife, June, 1843. He was one of four
brothers that were licensed ministers of the Methodist
Episcopal Church. In youth he was an associate of Lo­
renzo Dow, the great evangelist. In 1808, Robert, a
brother of Ezekiel, came to Ohio and purchased 200
acres of land of Gen. William Lytle in Lawson's sur­
vey, No. 957, on which his son Aaron settled in that
year. His wife was Elizabeth Ivins, a native of New Jer­
sey, by whom he had six children,-Robert, Azariuh, Mary,
Paulina, Rachel, and l\'Iaria. His wife dying in 1840, he
married Mary Ritchie. He died Sept. 21, 18i8, at an ad·
vanced age. The Hutchinsons came from Puritan stock,
and emigrated to America in 1627, settling in Massachu­
setts Bay. Of the family, one was a member of the Rump
Parliament, and another was an officer of prominence in the
army, and was at the battle of Long Marston, !tIass. They
are all noted for their industry, good judgment, sound
sense, and economy.

In 1809, \Yilliam Smith, a native of Monmouth Co.,
N. J., settled on a farm now owned by William Smith. He
was born Jan. 11, 1770, and was the father of eleven chil­
dren,-EphraiDl, EUen, Elizabeth, Thomas, Diadema, Han­
nah, \ViIIiam, Johnston, Mahala, Sarah, and Nancy. His
wife, whose maiden name was Lucretia Johnston, died in
1855, and her.husband in 186-.

In ]811, Charles McCoy settled on a farm now owned
by William Dunham. His wife's maiden name was Mary
Moorhead, by whom he had five children,--Joseph, Sarah,
Charles, John, and Mary. Hc left the township at an early
date.

At the saine time Samuel Moorhead settled on a farm
new owned by bis son Samuel. His wife's maiden name
was Eliiab6th Cunningham, by whom he -had nine children,

-Isaac, Fergus, John, James, Catharine, Thoma~, Samuel,
Joseph, and George. He died in 1823.

Samuel and Isaac McCune, two brothers, natives of Penn­
sylvania, emigrated to Ohio, Samuel settling on a farm now
owned by John Johuston, and Isaac on a farm now the
property of J. M. and Aaron Hutchinson. They both
had large fumilies. Samuel was the father of five children
who are now remembered,-Isaac, Maria, James, Harriet,
and Mary.

Isaac~s children were Ely, Samucl, Sarah, Isaac, --.
The McCoys, Moorheads, and McCunes were all related, but
few of their posterity are now living in this county.

In 1815, John White, a native of New York, settlcd on
a farm now owned by Aaron Hutchinson. His wifc's
maiden name was I ..am bkins. He was the father of ten
ehildren,-Ansol, J....yman, Harriet, John, Sarah, Malinda,
Mal?dy, Lucinda, B. C., and Clarissa. She died in 1826,
and her husband in 1827.

In the sume yeur John Rollins, a native oj Lincoln Co.,
Me., emigrated to Ohio, settling on a farm now owned
by B. C. White. Previous to his emigrating to Ohio, he
lmd lived a short time in New York. TIisfamily consisted
o( himself, wife, and six children, viz., Roxalana, Alpheus,
Emmeline, Amariah, Augul-tine, and Guffin. Most of the
family are uow dead or have moved out of the county.

Samuel Harlow, a native of Virginia, near Richmond,
settled in 1815 on farm now owned by Cornelius Harlow.
In 1778 he joined the American army, and took part in
the battlc of Cowpens. He was also at the siege of York­
town, serving under Gen. Lafayette. In 1790 he emigrated
to Maysville, Ky. (then called Limestone), and in 1805 to
Adams County, and from there to Clermont. His wife was
a sister of Cornelius Washburn, by whom he had eight
children,-John C., Jeremiah, Louis, Garret, Cornelius,
Hhoda, Mary, and Rebecca. Of these, Cornelius is the only
one now living, who was born in 1795.

In 1812 he joined Capt. Lockhart's company of infantry,
and was in the battle of Brownstown, and was tuken pris­
oner at the battle of Detroit. He also belonged to a com­
puny of rangers under Col. Wilcox, at St. Genevieve, Mo.
In 1814 he wus married to Rebecca \Vashburn, by whom
he had cight children,-Jeremiah, Jemima, Amanda,
Barsheba, Elizabeth, Samuel, Jackson, and John.

Arthur Clark settled on the farm now owned by John
Burns, in 1817, and in 1820 on one now the property of A.
E. Clark. He was a native of Washington Co., Pa., and was
born Aug. 12, 1790. On the 29th of December, 1811, he
was married to Amelia Hair, who was· born May 6, 1790.
He was the father of seven children,--':""Bethuel, born Oct.
4, 1812; Nancy H., born l\1ay 24,1814; Sarah, born May
3, 1816; Cynthia, born Aug. 25, 1818; John H., born
May·17, 1820; Amelia, born Jan. 2, 1822; Arthur, born
July 11, 1826. In 1813 he enlisted in Capt. Patterson's
company of volunteers. He was at the battle of Platts­
burgh, and several other important battles. In 1817 he
emigrated to Ohio. He died July 1, 1863, aged seventy­
two yeurs. His wife died May 22, 18.70, aged eighty
years.

A more extended view of the condition of the settle­
ments of Jackson, Boon after the township was formed, is
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given in the following list of persons who paid a personal
tax in 1837. Where real estate was also owned the number
of the original entry uppears opposite the name, togetller
witli the name of the original proprietor.

The entire number of acres reported for assessment ,was
17,644, which were valued at $53,995, and on which was
a total tax of. $155.82. At this period (1837) there were.
owned 216 horses, valued at $8640, nnd 230 head of cattle,
at $1840. The capital invested in merchandise was reported
at $120, which was controlled by Philip Stoner and C. J.
Hartman.

CIVIL ORGANIZATION.

Jackson township was orgunized by order of county com­
missioners, June 2, t834, from parts of Wayne, Williams­
burgh, and Stonelick townships. 'fhe first election was held
at the residence of William Hartman, Oct. 8, 1834, and
thereafter until the building of the school-house in District
No.3, where it has been held ever since. The records are
missing prior to 1862. The following is a list of the town­
ship officers elected froQl 1862 to 1880 :

1862.-Tru!!tees, D. R. Rowan, JOFeph Smith, and Luke Higgins;
Clerk, L. M. Bickmore; l'reasurer, l\Ioses Foster; Assessor,
A. C. Doyle.

1863.-Trustees, Benjamin Johnston, John McLefresh, and J. V.
Christie; Clerk, W. S. Abernathy; Treasurer, J. P. Christie;
Assessor, B. C. Snell.

1864.-Trustees, Benjamin Johnston, John MeLefresh, and Luke
Higgins; Clerk, W. S. Abernathy; l'rcasurcr, J. P. Chris­
tie; Assessor, H. A. Bigham.

1865.-Trustees, Benjalnin J ohnslon, Luke Higgins, and J osepb
Rosselott; Clerk, C. J. Works; Treasurer, J. P. Christie;
Assessor, T. W. Abernathy.

1866.-Trustees, Z. South, A. C. Doyle, nnd Louis Gris\vold; Clerk,
R. A. South; Treasurer, J. P. Christie; Assessor, W. Flet-
ehe~ .

1867.-Trustees, A. C. Doyle, Levi Griswold,'lJ,nd W. Hunter; Clerk,
R. A. South; Treasurer, J. B. Johnston; Assessor, John
Miller.

1868.-rrustees, William Hunter, Amos Collins, and William Hnight;
Clerk, P. V. Petard; Treasurer, J. P. Christie; Assessor, J.
H. Hall.

1869.-Trusteell, W. lIunter, R. Ireton, and Philip Davison; Clerk,
J. V. Rupp; l'rel1surer, J. P. Christie; Assessor, T. M.
Hartman.

1870.-Trustees, W. Huntel', John Clemons, and Frank GOIDien;
Clerk, P. V. Petard; Treosurer, J. P. Christie; Assessor,
J,evi Griswold.

1871.-1'rulltecs, W. Hunter, John Clemons, lind Frunk Gomien;
Clerk, P. V. Pctnrd; Treasurer, J. I'. Christie; A~sessor,

Eugene Gouehe.
1872.-Trustees, W. Hunter, John Clemons, and J. F. Smith; Clerk,

S. W. Predmore; Treasurer, J. P. Christie; Assessor, Levi
Griswold.

Snell, Adam R., No. 969; Am­
brose Gordon, orig. prop.

Schwab, Jacob.
Tedero, David, No. 969; Am­

brose Gordon,·orig. prop.
Willis, Iehabod, No. 4441; Wil­

liam Lytle, original prop.
Willis, William, No. 4448; John

Mountjoy, original prop.
Willis, John.
Washburn, Cornelius, No. 4448;

John Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Willis, Henry.
Work, William.
Whirl, James.
Waters, Riter.
Waters, Richard.
White, John.
White, Daniel.
Wood, George.

Stymerts, John, No. 12,306 ; Petcr
P. Mayo, original prop.

South, John, No. 4448; John
Mountjoy, orig. prop.

Smith,William T.
Smith, Jedediah, No. 949; Wil­

liam Mosely, original pro­
prietor.

Smith, Daniel.
Smitb, Benjamin.
Smitb, William; No. 957; William

La\vson, original proprietor.
Smith, Johnson.
Stockton, Richard.
Stull, Henry.
Soutb, Henry, No. 4455; John

Irwin, original proprietor.
South, James, No. 4455; John

Irwin, originall'roprietor.
Stoner, Philip.

Harlow, Corneliu!!, No. 949; W-m.
Mosely, original proprietor.

Hill, mehard.
lIiII, Amos.
Hutchinson, A. & M., No. 957;

Wm. Dawson, orig. prop.
lIutel>inson, Ezekiel, No. 4800;

James Morrison, orig. prop.
Hutchinson, Charles.
Hunter, Alexander, No. 4448;

John Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Hunter, Mary.
Hartman, C. J., No. 4780; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Hartml1n,Samuel, No.4780; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Hartml1n, Wm., No. 4780; Wm.

Lytle, original proprietor.
Hartmun, J. D.
Hobson, Josiah, No. 10,202;

Dunlap and others, orig­
inuJ proprietora.

Ireton, John, No. 949; William
Mosely, original proprietor.

Ireton, Hollin.
Johnson, Charle!!, No. 8171; Wal­

lace & Yaney, orig. props.
Jones, Josepb, No. 8171; Wallace

& Yancy, grig. props.
Johnson, Scarlet, No. 4448; Jobn

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Long, Christopher.
Leeds, Josiah.
Leeds, Solomon.
Long, Daniel, No. 13,197; Timo­

thy Kerby, original prop.
Malott, Daniel, No. 1149 ; William

Mosely, original proprietor.
Morris, Jane. .
Moyer, Michael.
McGinley, M., No. 4780; William

Lytle, original proprietor.
Moorhead, John, No. 5258; L.

Butler, original proprietor.
McHenry, William.
Mitchell, George, No. 12,369;

. Peter P; Mayo, orig. prop.
Mason, Samuel, No. 9611; Am­

brose Gordon, orig. prop.
McLain, Robert.
McGinley, Neal, No. 9386; Abra­

barn Bowman, orig. prop.
Newbraugh, Samuel, No. 969;

Ambrose Gordon, orig. prop.
Osborne, John, No. 5258; Lewis

Butler, original proprietor.
Putterson, William, No. 4448;

John Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Patterson, Isaac.
!'redmorl.', Ephraim, No. 969;

Ambrose Goruon, orig. prop.
Pool, Joscph.
Pondell, James.
Rollins, AlphcuB, No. 8171 ; Wal­

lnce & Yancy, orig. props.
Rollins, John, No. 8171; Wallace

& Yancy, original props.
Rollins, Augustus, No. 8171; Wal­

lace & Yancy, orig. props.
Schooley, Benjamin.

Abernathy, Samuel.
Applegate, Richard, No. 1209;

William .Johnson, orig. prop.
Aekelberger, .John.
Applegate, Adaline.
Abernathy, James.
Boyd, Hugh.
lloyd, Rolland, No. 955; Wm. B.

Wallnce, original proprietor.
Burhet, Joshua, No. 949; Wm.

Mosely, original proprietor.
Billy, Richard.
Brown, Wm., No. 4465; Walter

Gregory, original proprietor.
Bigam, Henry, No. 4440; Wm.

Lytle, o.riginal proprietor.
Burn!!, John, No. 448; John

Mountjoy, orig. prop.
Burns, Jamell, No. 4784; James

Kerr, original proprietor.
Berry, Isaac.
Bollman, John.
Brown, David.
Conover, Noah, No. 949; Wm.

Mosely, original proprietor.
Curlis, Joseph, No. 969; Arm­

strong Gordon, orig. prop.
Clark, Arthur, N.o. 10,639; Syl­

vanus Boum, orig. prop.
.cover, lIarmon, No. 4442; John

Donnell, orig. prop.
Christie, Robert., No. 969; Arm­

strong Gordon, orig. prop.
Cramer, Richard, No. 12011; Wm.

Johnson, orig. prop.
Dougbty, Joseph.
Dickey, John, No. 4448; John.

Mounljoy, orig. prop.
DIn-ill, Littleton.
Everhart, Francis, No. 4440;

Wm. L)'t1e, orig. prop.
Fryman, Elisha, No. 954; Timo­

thy Peyton, orig. prop.
Forbes, Anthony, No. 81n; Wal­

lace & Young, orig. prol's.
Ferguson, David.
Good, John, No. 3331; William

Lytle, originnl proprietor.
Gorman, James, No. 4780; Wm.

Lytle, original proprictor.
Glen, Alexander.
Gore, Alfred.
Granger, Isaiah.
Granger, Salmon, No. 1209 ; Wm.

Johnson, original proprictor.
Hamilton, James.
Hadley, Ebenezer, No. 10,202;

Dunlap and others, orig­
inal proprietors.

'Hadley, Wm.
lIadley, John.
Hndley, James, No. 1209; Wm.

Johnson, original proprietor.
lIunter, David, No. 4442; John

Donnell, original proprietor.
Hunter, Robert, No. 4448; John

Mouutjoy, orig. !)rop.
Hadley, Jonathan, No. 949; Wm.

Mosely, original proprietor.
Harborough, Reuben.
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lS73.-Trustee!1, .J. V. Christie, Frank Glancy, and W. D. Williams;
Clerk, II. Anllorsnn; Treasurer, J. B. Iuen ; Assessor, Levi
Griswold.

IS74.-Trustees, Enoch Shaue, Dennis Bigham, and John Johnston;
Clerk, II. Antlcrson; TrCltsurcr, W. T. Hartman; Assessor,
John Clemons.

1875.-Trustces, Enoch Shade, Dennis Bigham, and A. J. Willis;
Clerk, H. Anderson; Treasurer, Nathan Anderson; Assessor,
A. E. Clark.

1876.-Trustees, Enoeh Shade, W. S. Hunter, and A. J. Willis; Clerk,
H. Anderson; Treasurer, Nathan Anderson; Assessor, A.
E. Clark.

IS77.-Trustees, W. S. lIunter, J. II. Whitaker, and John Barr;
Clerk, II. Anderson; Treasurer, Nathan Anderson; Asses­
sor, T. M. Manning.

IS78.-Tru~tees, W. S. Hunter, J. II. Hunter, and John Gauche;
Clerk, H. Anderson; Treasurer, Nathan Anderson; Assessor,
T. M. Manning.

1879.-Trustees, W. S. Hunter, J. II. lIunter, and John Gauche;
Clerk, H. Anderson; Treasurer, Nathan Anderson; Asses­
8or, Leri Griswold; Supervisor8, Robert Hunter, Joseph
Felter, J. R. Johnston, Robert Rowan, A. W. Predmore, J.
Abernathy, N. Gennett, John Rupp, John Mangum, Rolland
Moore, Charles Coleman, D. T. Armstrong, Thos. Hartman,
Joab Moss, L. Gomieu, P. Vanhorn, and Mo~es Thompson.

In 1875 a vote was taken whether there should be a tax
of $700 levied for the purpose of improving the Hartman,
Hutchinson, and Clark cemeteries, which was carried by a
large majority.

There are three turnpikes in the township, two free and
one toll, aggregating sixteen miles. Also 16 county and
township roads, aggregating fifty-fou; wiles, for the keep­
ing in repair ot' which there was a tax of one mill on the
dollar levicd in 1879. There are 12 ditches, which are
under the supervision of the township trustees, which ag­
gregate sixty miles in lcngth.

CEMETERIES.

There are three township cemeteries in the township,
viz. : Hartman's, Hutchinson's, and Clark's.

The first one is situated on the :Milford and Chillicothe
turnpike, near the prcscnt residence of Caleb Hadley. Its
arca is about two acres. The first persons buried in it were
Lucy and Catherine Hartman, daughters of 'Villiam Hart­
man, in February, 1811. The next one was Jane Hart­
man, who was buried in 1817.

W. P. Lucas, one of the first teachers of Jackson town­
ship, is buried in it.

The site is a beautiful one, and it will become, in the
course of time, one of the most picturesque cemeteries in
the county.

Hutchinson's is situated on tIle road leading from 'Vil­
liamsburgh to Marathon, near Greenberry Methodist Episco­
pal church. The first person buried in it was .Mary An~
Hutchinson, in 1822.

The next wa~ Daniel Smith) and the third Noah Davis,
in 18~8.

Its area is about one acre nnd a half. Thc location is
vcrS good, and it is kept in a neat and tasteful manner.
... : 'Clark's is situated on the west side of the )'oad leading
from Monterey to Newtonville, one-half mile northwest
from the former place.

The first person buried in it was Mrs. Amelia Aber­
nathy, Jan. 2, 1847.

The next was Mrs. Joseph Dawson.
This cemetery was fOl'merly called "Sharon," and be­

longed to the Sharon Christian Church. Its area is two
acres, and has more persons buried in it than either of the
other two.

On the farm now owned by the heirs of John Orsborne,
deceased, is the Orsborne family burying-ground, in whic h
about twelve persons are buried. This is the only one in
the township.

INDUSTRIAL PURSUITS.

SAW- AND GRIST-MILLS ON EAST FORK AND ITS
TRIBUTARIES.

Williams' Mills.-In 1839, C. J. Hartman built a grist­
mill on the north side of East Fork) three miles above
\Villiamsburgh. In 1840 he sold it to 'V. B. 'Williams,
who in 1842 built a saw-mill in connection with it. To
the 'saw-mill he attached a turning-lathe in 1845. Both
of these mills are now in good condition.

Hmo/man's Saw-Mill was built in 1832 by Isaac Hart­
man, on the north side of East Fork, near Williamsburgh
camp-ground. Went down in 1840.

Harlow's Saw- and Grist-Millo-In 1836, Charlcs
Johnston built a saw-mill on tIle north bank of East Fork,
one and a half miles above Williams'. In 1848 he sold it
to Jerry Harlow, who in 1852 bnilt a grist-mill. This is
one of the best mill-sites on the East Fork above 'Villiams­
burgh. In 18!l5 both of them went down.

Hutcltinson's Saw-Mill.-In 1812) Ezekiel Hutchinson
built a saw-mill on Pleasant Run, which went down in
1822.

Burdsafs Saw-1JIillwas built in 1835 by Joshua Burnett
on Howard's Run. Went down in 1847.

Simillton's Saw-Mill was built in 1835 by T. Siminton
on Five-Mile. Lasted about tcn years.

Hadow's Saw-Mill was built by Cornelius Harlow on
Four-lUiIe in 1832. Went down in 1842.

,In 1821, Isaac Hartman built a grist-mill to run by
horse-power. It was in operation about ten years.

Rapp's Saw-1I1ill, one-half ,mile west of Monterey, was
built in 1851 by John Uapp, who has run it ever since.

In 1825 there was a small distillery built on the East
Fork, which was the only one that has ever been in the
township. I~ was in operation but a few years.

The first apple-orchard in the'township was on the farm
of Ezekiel Hutchinson, and was set out in 1807. The
trees were brought from New Jersey. The fitI'm is now
owned by Aaron Hutchinson. In 1810, Christopher and
William Hartman, William Hunter, and Robert Dickey each
set out an orchard. The largest orchards, in the township
at this time are owned by Aaron Hutchinson, Thomas
Goldtrap, B. C. White, John Rapp, Robert Ireton, and
Benjamin Johnston.

HAMLETS AND VILLAGES.

BROWNSVILLE,

a hamlet of a few houses, is situated on the Newtonville
and Brownsville free turnpike, two miles east of the former
place. It was laid out April 5, 1834, by Bernard Conn,
consisting of eighteen lots of irregular shape, lying in the
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form of a triangle. The first houses built in it were by
Joseph Brown and Thomas Downey, on the same day, the
date of which is not known. The next were built on the
same day by John Hedger and Isaac Goodpasture.

The first store was kept by Jacob Jordan, in 1855, at
what is cow called Smith's Corner. He was succeeded by
Joseph Rosselott, John McMains, Bernard McCaffery, and
Thomas Smith, who has kept it since October, 1877. In
connection with the store he keeps a hotel. John Gennett
has had a store on the opposite side of the street since 1866.
In 1856, A. J. Lenning had a blacksmith-shop on the south
side of the pike. A short time after, Prosper Le Roy built
one on the north side of the pike, where he worked for
several years. Thomas Smith has the only one in the vil­
lage at present. About the year 1856, Joseph Brown had
a turning-lathe, which he mn for a short time. Since that
time sever~l different persons have owned it. Brownsville
post-office was established in 1876. Bernard McCafferty
was the first postmaster. In 1877 he was succeeded by
Thomas Smith, who is still acting in that capacity.

Brownsville is situated in the midst of a rich farming
community, and in the course of time will become a village
of considerable population and business.

l\IARATIION,

formerly called Cynthiana, is pleasantly located on both
sides of the Milford and Chillicothe turnpike, a short dis­
tance west of the Brown County line, and three miles east
of Monterey. It contains about two hundred inhabitants,
and was laid out by John Ferguson and John Eckelberger,
in December, 1838, and consists of five streets and forty­
two lots. Additions were made June 16,1851, by Samuel
Monee, of twenty lots, and Sept. 10, 1870, by same, on land
conveyed by Samuel Guygan, of ten lots. The first house
was built by John Ferguson in 1832. The Dext one was
built by,samuel Ashton in 1833, part of which is now oc­
cupied by T. W. Abernathy as a residence. The first store
was kept by William Smith in 1835, in same building.
He was succeeded by John Wesler, arid he by T. W. Aber­
nathy, who kept it for nine years. The next store was
kept by Harry WI'ight in 1848, on site of Ireton's black­
smith-shop, where he had it two years. The next one was
kept by James Tate, on the site of Masonio Hall, in 1858.
He was succeeded by Louis Behymer, wllO kept it until 1864,
when he sold out to John lVliller, who kept it until 1867,
when it burned down. In 1868 it was rebuilt by J. F.
Hill, and is now occupied by E. G. Medaris. In 1860, J.
B. Iuen built a store-room on Main Street, now occupied
by W. T. Hartman, which he rented to Samuel Monce until
1870, when he kept a store in it until 1875, when he sold
it to its present occupants. In 1868, John and Harvey
Anderson built a store·room on the north side of, Main
Street, where they kept a store until the former's death, in
1869, since which time it has been kept by the latter. In
February, 1880, Dr. C. C. 'Valton built a drug. store on the
north side of Main Street. In connection with drugs he
keeps dry goods. The first and only hotel ever kept in
Marathon is on the south side of Muin Street, and was built
in 1846 by its present proprietor, T. W. Abernathy. An­
drew Black had the first blacksmith-shop. It was situated

on the north side of Main Street, where he worked for two
or three years. The next one was built by Dr. Collins on
site of F. Morris' shoe-shop in 1850. In the 'same year
W. F. McNutt built the shop now occupied by E. C. Ireton,
where he worked until 1860, being then succeeded by its
present proprietor. In 1879, W. P. Fowler built a shop
for general blacksmithing on the west side of the I'oad lead­
ing' from Marathon to the East ,Fork· bridge. The first
wagon-shop was built on the ~outh side of Main Street in
1850, by Allen Homes, in which he still works. Jacob
Orebaugh built the first shoe-shop on the south side of
Main Street, on lot now owned by E. C. Ireton, in 1845,
where he worked until 1855. In 1863, H. Orebaugh built
the shop he occupies at present, on the north side of Main
Street. In 1864, Samuel Predmore built one on the same
side of the street, in whieh he has worked ever since. In
1856, Charles Arndall built a shop on the south side of
Main Street, in which the post-office is now kept, where he
still works. The first harness-maker was--Sprong, who
had a shop in 1860 where the post-office now is kept. He
was succeeded by P. V. Petard in 1869, and by A. Essex
in 1873, and Richard Hopper in 1876. At present there
is no shop in town, Richard Hopper having left in 1879.
The first milliner was Mrs. Davis, who hud l,l shop near
where the post-office now is in 1860, where she ~ork('d for
several years. She was succeeded by Miss Grace Knowland,
who worked for five years. Miss Sallie. Hartman had. a
shop on Main Street in 1875, where she worked for several
years. :1\:[rs. Mary 'Valton and Mrs. Mary L. Orebaugh
h~ve shops on Main Street at present. There have been
several others who had shops for a season only. In 1850,
John Ross had the first tailor-shop, over A. Holmes'
wagon-shop, where he worked for several years. In 1870,
J. B. Iuen had a shop over his store where he had tailoring
done for a short time only.

In 1866, Edward and William McQuillun built a steam
grist-mill in Marathon. In '1868 they sold it to Nathan
Anderson. Since that time Frank and 'V. H. Hartman,
John ~IcConn, Shotwell & Irwin, Greenwalt & Shot­
well, J. F. Hill, Rubert Hodson, and James Burton have
owned it. Its present owner is George Orebaugh. In
1878 a steam saw-mill was attached to it by A. Orebaugh.
In 1845, Joseph Varney built a cooper-shop on site of
present scales, where he worked ten hands for several years.
The next one was built by Thomas W. Abernathy, who
worked ten hands for twelve years. It was built in 1846,
near his present residence. In 1858 he sold it to Joseph
Varney, who ran it for two years, after which Thomas 'V.
Abernathy again owned it and worked a few hands for a short
time. In 1849, John McMullen had a turning-lathe on
the site of Allen Holmes' present residence, where he man­
ufactured chair-stuff. The next one wus built and owned
by John Irwin in 1867. He was succeeded shortly after
by John Goldtrap, and he by W. Robinson, who manufac­
tUl'ed chairs. ":'\.t present it is not run by anybody. Though
Marathon is surrounded by a rich agricultural neighbor­
hood, it has never been on that account much of a manu­
facturing town.

Dr. Hollingsworth was the first physician. He came
from Hamilton County, and located at Marathon in 1837.
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He was succeeded by Dr. Collins in 1848, who remained
until 1853. In that year Dr. J. W. Mendinhall opened an
office, and has ever since remained at or near this place, of
whom a short sketch is given.

In 1861, Dr. L. 1\1. Bickmore had an office fora short
time, and was succeeded by Dr. Louis Behymer, and he by
Dr. J. B. C. 'Vharton. In 1872, Dr. C. C. 'Valton opened
an office on Main Street, where he has had one ever since.
He was born in 1845, received a collegiate education, studied
medicine under Dr. J. F. Mitchell, and graduated from the
Ohio Medical College in 1872, and immediately commenced
the practice of his profession at this place.

Marathon post-office was established in 1852. Previous
to that time Sampson Nebraughkept a post-office on the
farm now owned by George Hutchinson. After a few years
was removed to the farm now owned by J. K. Hartman,
and was kept by James Hartman, and from there to 1\lara­
thon, as stated above. The first postmaster was Dr. H. P.
Collins, who kept it for four years. It was situated where
Mrs. S. Anno now lives.

In 1856, T. 'V. Abernathy was appointed postmaster,
and kept. the office until 1862, when he was succeeded by
Dr. J...ouis Behymer, who had the office three years. In
1865, John Miller was appoint.ed, and was succeeded by J.
F. Hill in 1868. Charles Arandall was appointed in 1870,
who has the office at the present time. Themail is a
daily one, and is carried by a line of omnibusses running
between Perin's Mills and Fayetteville.

BLOW-VILLE.

,This is a hamlet of a few houses situated on the Jackson
free turnpike at the crossing of' the Williamsburgh and Hart­
man road. In 1872, Charles Smith had a store on the cor­
ner now occupied by D. K. Carpenter, where he sold drygoods
and groceries for two years. From 1874 until 1879 it was
not occupied. In the latter part of that year the property
was sold to D. K. Carpenter, who occupies it at present.
In 1870: W. 'V. Willey built a blacksmith-shop on the pike,
where he still works. W. C. Williams, "The American
Bee-Tumer," also resides at this place.

MONTEREY.

This is a straggling village of 150 inhabitants, located on
the Milford and ChilJicothe turnpike, three miles east from
Boston. It was laid out by Henry South, in the triangle
formed by the county roads and the Milford and Chillicothe
turnpike, Jan. 27, 1849, and consisted of 12 small and 10
large lots. West 1\1onterey was laid out as an addition by
Alexander Glenn, Jan. 2, 1852, and consisted of 22 lots.
and 4 streets, but ure not occupied, and have gone back to
their primal condition.

'fhe first hou~e in Monterey was built in 1833, by John
McFarland, on the site of Moses :Foster's store. The next
waEl built by Henry South, in 1839, on the site of Joshua
Burnett's present residence. The third was built in 1841,
by Daniel South, now occupied by Joseph 1\loore. The
first store was kept by Henry South, in 1839. The next
was kept by Abraham Snook, in 1840, on the site of R.
A. South's residence. He was succeeded _by :Moses Foster,
in 1853, who kept it until 1863. In 1853, Abraham

Snook had a grocery on the site of J. H. Hall's present resi­
dence. In 1857, Augustus Seward built a store-room, where
he sold goods up to 1863, when he sold it to Moses Foster,
who occupies it at the present.

In 1859, Miss Mary Lafferty built a store-room on Main
Street, where she has a store at the present time. In the
same year David Jones kept a store on l\'Iain Street for a
short time.

Zed South had a store where Harmon Cover now lives
in 1864, where he did a thriving business for a few years,
being succeeded by Harmon Cover, who kept it until 1879.
The first blacksmith-shop was built by J. H. 'Vhitaker in
1852, on the north side of 1\Iuin Street. He has been suc­
ceeded by William Binkley, Augustus Terry, and J. Schidy­
leI', its present occupant. There have been others who
havc worked, but for a short time only. The first wagon­
shop, was built in 1860, by E. J. Young. In 1870 he
built a new one, in which he now works. In 1865, R. A.
South had one on the site of J. Sohidyler's blacksmith­
shop, where he worked until 1868, when he built ,one in
which he now works, on the north side of 1\lain Street.

In 1840, Henry South hud a cooper-shop on the site of
Joshua Bennett's residence, where he worked several hands
for six years. In 1845, John Gutes built one on the site
of the Christian chUl'ch, in which he worked for several
years. Thomas Patterson also worked at the same pIuce for
a short time. J. H. 'Yhitaker built one on the site of E.
J. Young's residence in 1847, where he gave employment
to several hands. There was also at that time, in connection
with the cooper-shop; a small turning-lathe rnn by A. Slem.
In 1852, James Burns built a hotel a short distance cast of
the town, which was kept by John Dickey, familiarly known
as ., Dickey's Tavern," which is the only one ever kept in
the village or vicinity.

Monterey post-office was established in 1852, with Leon­
ard Beck as postmaster. In 1859 he was succ~edcd by
Miss Mary Lafferty, and she by Moses l!'oster in 1864, who
is the present· incumbent. Themail is a daily one, and is
carried by the Perin's Mills and Fayetteville Omnibus line,
Dennis Maker, proprietor.

In addition to the foregoing mercantile interests, Michael
Cowen opened a store, in 1843, on the farm now owned by
S. M. Smith, where he did a thriving business for two
years. In 1850, James Smith began merchandising at the
stand where is now Charles Nichols, who was his successor.

MASONIC.

FAYETTEVILLE LODGE, No. 172, F. AND A. M.,

was instituted July 28,1851, and on the 25th of January,
1856, was removed to Murathon and called Marathon Lodge,
No. 20il. The following persons were charter members:
D. G. Porter, J. G. Hilton, W. Boyle, E. C. Hartman, S.
J. Bivans, John Reeves, Leonidas Mitchell, and Peter
L,ane.' Officers for 1851 were: 'V. M., D. G. Porter; S. W.,
Leonidas Mitchell; J. W., J. G. Hilton; Treasurer, Peter
Lane; Secretary, VV. Boyle; S. D., E. C. Hartman; J. D.,
S. J. Bivans; Tyler, John Reeves.

Since that time the following have been the Worshipful
Masters and the Secretaries:

W01'shipful Muste1·s.-1852-53, D. G. Porter j 1854,
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J. G. Hilton; 1855, S. J. Bivans; 1856-57, J. M. Hob­
son; 1858, T. D. Hartman; 1859-61, H. S. Reynolds j
.1862, IN. P. Thompson j 1863-64, T. D. Hartman; 1865
-66, W. P. Thompson j 1867-70, T. D. Hartman; 1871,
George Palmer j 1872-73, T. D. Hartman j 1874, G. ,Y.
Palmer; ,1875, W. Brower j 1876, ,Y. H. Hartman; 1877,
J. F. Hill; 1878-7H, S. 1\1. Smith j 1880, \V. H. Hart­
man.

Sec1·efaries.-1852, 'William Boyle j 1853, W. H. Sly j
1854, ,Y. 'V. Dunham j 1855, W. A. Bivans j 1856, ·W.
J. Bivans j 1857, George ShanedoneYj 1858, H. S. Rey­
nolds j 1859-63, J. ,Y. Mcndinhall j 186-1-, L. H. Smith j

1865-66, J. ·W. Mendinhall j 1867, Hichard :Marsh; 1868,
S. M. Smith; 1869, G. M. Hensel j 1870-71, J. B. Iuen j

1872-73, W. H. Hartman; 1874-76, C. C. 'Yalton j 1877
-78, ,Y. H. Hartman j 1879, J. F. Hill j 1880, E. H.
McN~~ .

The pr~scnt membership is 31 j aggregate, 141. The
time of meeting is on Friday evening in each month, after
moon. In 186!:) membcrs of the lodge built a haH on
north side of Main Street, which was dedicated June 24,
1869. In 1872 the lodge bought the hall from J. F. Hill
for $925, in which it has met ever since.

EDUCATIONAL INTEHESTS.

The first school-house in the township was built in 1811,
on the farm now owned by Ezekiel Hutchinson. The next
in 1815, on the opposite side of the same farm. The first
teacher who kept school in this house was Thomas Sherman,
who taught in the township for a number of years, finally
going to Stonelick.

Of the early teachers, Solomon Claypole and 'V. P. Lucas
arc the most prominent. The latter was an Englishman by
birth, and came to America in 1810, and to Ohio in 1811.
His wife's maiden Dame was Mary Spartman. 1'hroe chil­
dren were born to them, James M., Rachel, and John.
"Master Lucas," as he was familiarly called, was a good
scholar and energetic in the school-room. -He died Sept.
12, 1826, and was buried in the Hartman Cemetery, sur­
rounded by the graves of many of his pupils.

In 1826, Stonclick, Wayne, and 'Williamsburgh town­
ships were divided into school districts, from which Jackson
was afterwards· organized. Cover's was the first public
school-house buil~ in the township, being built in 1833.
Its first teacher was Richard Stockton, a native of New
Jersey, and a very successful teacher. After the organiza­
tion of the township, in 1834, the school districts remained
unchanged until 1837, when the township was divided into
6. In 1845 the number was increased to 7, and in 1847
to 9. On the 25th of April, 1847, the site of the Mara­
thon school-hou.se was purchased of John Ferguson, and a
house erected immediately at a cost of $-1-57. The first
teacher was J. W. Chapman. In 1850 the number was in­
creased to 10. In 1863 there was a decrease of 2, and in
1878 1 more was added.

Members of the board of· education in 1862 were Isaac
Goldtrap, E. B. nisley, J. K. Hartman, D. R. Rowan,
l?rancis Shumard, John Rapp, and Luke Higgins. The
levy for tuition was $900 j contingent, $~OO.

Teachers in 1862 were, No.1, W. S. Abernathy, $1.50
70

per day j No.2, David Daily, $1.30 j No.3, J. L. Brown,
$1.50 j No.5, William Carr, $1.50 j No.6, J. F. Rapp,
$1.75, and Miss S. A. Rapp, assistant, 50 cents j No.7, C.
"'tV. Rodgers, $1.50 j No.8, S. K. Goldgrap, $1.50 j No.9,
P. H. Brun, $1.55.

:Members of the board of education in 1879 were 'Villiam
Apple~ate, J. ,Y. Burdsal, F. M. Glancey, J. R. Jol1nston,
Rolla Moore, R. A. South, Levi Griswold, J. B. Needham,
and Dennis Brigl)am. President, J. 'V. Burdsul; Secretary
ex-officio, H. Anderson.

Teachers in 1879 were, No.1, F. 1\1. Maxfield, $1.75
per day j No.2, 'V. Ireton, $1.75; No.3, Winlla Hill,
$1.25; No.4, C. J. 'York, $1.66! j No.5, A. Williams,
$2 j No.6, J. L. H. Barr, $2 j No.7, J. F. Rapp, $2 j No.
8, A. M. Strickland, $1.75 j No.9, John Hutchinson, $1.75.
Levy for school purposes in 1879 was $2386.14 j enumer­
ation,661. Value of'school property in 1879 approximated
$12,000.

There is no township in Clermont County that has pro­
gressed so rapidly, educationally, as Jackson.

RELIGIOUS.

WILLIAMSBURG II METHODIST EPISCOPAL CAMP-MEET­
ING GROUN DS.

In 1837 the Cincinnati Conference leased of W. T.
Hartman 125 acres of land, situated on .the south side of
the road leading from 'Yilliamsburgh to Marathon, in Vial.
lace survey, No. 995.

In Septemb~r of that year tents were built for the ae­
CODlwoaation of families who wished to attend the meetings
all the time, which generally was about two weeks. After
the first lease ran out, which was in 1847, the site became
the property of Dr. Pease, and from him to Newton Mc­
Adams, who owned it but a short time, when it pecame the
property of 1\1rs. Reed. The last lease having run out in
1872, it has never been occupied since.

It was one of the most important camp-grounds ever in
Southern Ohio, and was the last one of the old-fashioned
camp-meetings to l:urrender to the aristocratic fashion
parade-grounds of to-day. From its rude pulpit several of
the eminent divines of the Methodist Episcopal Church
held thcir audience spell-bound by their fervid eloquence
and sublime pathos.

MAPLE GROVE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

This church was organized in 1849 at what was then
known as "Cover's School-house," .through the instru­
mentality of Philip Davidson, Nathan Nichols, James
Davidson, and others. The constituent membership was
composed of the following persons: Nathan Nichols, Amelia
Nichols, John Brunaugh, Sarah Brunaugh, Philip David­
son, Roxana Davidson, John McCollum, Mary McCollum,
James Eo Pattis.on, Mary Pattison, Rev. James Davidson,
Ruth Davidson, Phoobe McLefresh, Hannah 'Valker, Catha­
rine Hunter, and others to the number of 17. From its
organization until 1870 preaching was had in Cover's school­
house. The first class-leader was Nathan Nichols, who
was also the first steward. After Nathan Nichols came
Philip Davidson, Jesse Hill, H. W. Davidson, John Clem­
ons, and Samuel Myers. The last three arc the leaders at
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the present time, each having an independent class. Nathan
Nichols was succeeded as steward by Philip Davidson, who,
with John Clemons, are the stewards at the present time.
Present membership, 84; aggregate, 200. James David­
son is the only one that has ever gone from the society as
a minister. Maple Grove belongs to Cincinnati Conference,
Hipley District, and Boston Charge since 1876.

In 1870 the society built a large Ii'ame church two miles
east fi'om Boston, on the Jackson free turnpike, at a cost of
1800. .J. 'V. Uobinson did the carpenter work.

In November, 1871, the church was dedicated by Rev.
A. N. Spahr. There is no parsonage connected with the
church. The value of the church property is $2500. In
1851 a Sunday-school was organized, with Solomon Hobin­
son as superintendent. Since that time, and up to 1871,
Nathan Nichols, Philip Davidson, and others fiIled that
position. After the completion of the church in 1871 a
Sunday-school was organized, of which Albert Nichols has
been superintendent most of the time. It is now main­
tained all the year. Number of volumes in the library,
150; number of officers, teachers, and scholars enrolled, 95.

l\IAUATIION l\IETTIODIST EPISCOPAL CHURClI.

Preaching was had at the residence of T. W. Abernathy
as early as 18-1:7, and also in the school-house.

In 1849 the church was organized, with T. W. Aber­
nathy, Harriet Abernathy, France:s Christie, Lydia Vhris­
tie, Daniel Long; Henry Long, Andrew Long and wife,
John Ferguson, Sarah Ferguson, Jane Ferguson, and others
as constituent members. First church officers were: Trus­
tees, 'V. F. McNutt, Wm. Runyan, T. W. Abernathy, W.
Hobson, and H. S. UeyuolJs; Leaders, Henry Long was the
first,-his successors have been 'Vm. Hobson, Dr. Wharton,
B. Bellymer; Steward, W. F. McNutt. Present officers
are: Trustees, W. F. McNutt, T. R. Sweet, J. F. Rapp,
J. Christie, Thomas Hensel, E. H. McNutt, and II. Ander­
son; Leader, "W. F. McNutt; Stewards, J. F. Rapp nnd
T. R. Sweet. Aggregate membership, 400; present num­
ber, 100. l'he first pastor was Rev. Levi P. Miller. Prior
to 1867 it belonged to Williamsburgh Circuit, but in that
year it was struck off and called Marathon Charge. It be­
longs to' Cincinnati Confercnee and Ripley Dist,rict.

In 1851 a frame church, 26 by 36, and one story lligh,
was built on the site of the present one by 'V. F. McNutt,
'V. Hobson, and T. 'V. Abernathy, as building committee,
at a cost of $600. In 1876 the old church was sold, and a
brick, 37 by 50, and one story in height, was built on same
site by 'V. Brower, T. R. Sweet, and J. F. Uapp as build­
ing committee, at a cost of $4000, J. F. Hanold being the
contractor. In 1871 a parsonage was purchased for $560.­
Present value of church property is $4000. A Sunday­
school was organized in connection with the church in 1856.

'First superintehdent, 'V. F. McNutt. He has been suc­
ceeded by WIll, Brower, Thomas Sweet,James Spence, J.lt.
Sweet, and H. E. :MeNuU, who is the present one. Present
officers are: Superintendent, H. E. McNutt; Assistant, H.
Henderson j Secretary, Truman Rapp.

GREENllERRY CHAPEL l\1E'l'IIODIST EPISCOPAL CHUItCII.

From 1807 to 1822 Ezekiel Hlltchins~n's was a preach­
ing-place, and at his house ~, church was organized about

1809. The first class-leaders were John Trout, Absalom
Day, and W. B. Christie. Fl'Om 1822 until 1842 meet­
ings were held at the school-house in that neighborhood.
In 183D, Rev. Greenberry Jones perfected tho organization.

Present officcrs are: Trustees, William Smith, FI:ancis
Hutchinson, Azariah IIutchinson, William IIuti tel', 'and
Benjamin Johnston; Stewards, Benjamin Johnston and
William Hunter; Class-Leader, Jesse Hill. A~gregate

membership, 400. Present, 40. Randolph E. Smith has
gone f.'om the church as a minister. It belongs to Cin­
cinnati Conference, Ripley District, and Marathon Charge.
In 1842 a ft'ame church 30 hy 40, and one stor)' in heig-ht,
was built on the west side of the road leading from Wil­
liamsburgh to Marathon, at a cost of' $500. Was dedicated
in 184:-l, by Rev. O. P. Williams. Present value of church
property is $1000.

1\ Sunday-school was organized in connection with the
church in 1847, with Henry Willis as supcrintendent. He
has been succeeded by Daniel Cover, Enoch Pattison, J ahn
Beckwith, K Caldwell, and Benjamin Johnston, who has
filled that office almost continuollsly for the past twenty-five
years.

Present superintendent is Benjamin Johnston; assist­
ant, J essc Hill.

GRASSY RUN PRESBYTERIAN cnURCH.

In 18:W a church was organized and a place of public
worship built on the hlrm now owned by H. V. Kerr. The
following persons are known to have been members at the
time of the organization: John Ferguson, Sarah Ferguson,
Jane Ferguson, Audrew Dickey, Roxalana Newbraugh, and
Sampson Newbraugh. Rev. A. Gazley was the first pastor.
nev. nankins also preached for the church.

In 1827 the church went down, having previously built
and partly furnished a church on the site of Marathon.

MONTEREY PRESBYTERIAN CIIURCTI.

Preaching was held at private residences for a year before
its or~anization by Rev. L. J. Gaines and T. F. Cortelyou,
May the 11th, 1859. John Dickey, Nancy Dickey, Robert
Hunter, Louisa Hunter, Maria Cover, Martha l\'Ioorhead,
Sarah Hartman, John Barr, 'V. S. Whit~ker, Hulda
Whitaker, Mary Lafferty, Josiah ,McKinnie, Lucinda Barr,
R. D. Hunter, Josephine 'Williams, Julia Dickey, Jane
Hewitt, and Jane 'Villiams were the constituent members.
First officcrs were: Elder, John Dickey; Trustees, Jolm
Burr, Stephen Whitaker, and R. D. Hewitt; Clerk, John
Dickey.

The present officers are as follows: Elders, John Burns,
E. J. Young, J. F. Burns, A. Willson, Harmon Cover,
and Milton Pattison; Clerk, E. J. Young. Present mem­
bership, 139; aggregate mcmbership, 181. First pastor,
Rev. T. F. Cortelyon. He has ·been succeeded by Rev.
Thom'as 1\1. Chestnutt, Rev. R. B. Herron, Rev. 'V. H.
Uodgcrs, Rev. John Mills, Rev. J. B. Smith, and Rev. S.
1\1. Christman, wllO is pastor at present.

In 1859 the trustees, acting as a building committee,
built a frame church on the south side of the Milford and
Chillicothe turnpike. It was 35 by 50 and one story in
height, and cost $900. Present value of church property
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is $1500. The most important revival the church has
ever enjoyed was in the winters of 1878, 1879, and 1880,
under the preaching of Rev. S. M. Christman, when 81 ad­
ditions were made. In connection with the church a
Sunday-school was organized in 1864. The first superin­
tendent was John Barr. His successors have been E. J.
Young, A. Willson, J. F. Burns, and James Turner, who
is superintendent at present. Present officers are: Superin­
tendent, James Turner; Secretary, John Cover; Treasurer,
A. L. Young; Libral~ian, E. Burnett.

In 1847 a frame church, 36 by 50 and one story in
height, was built on the west side of the road leading from
Monterey to Newtonville by Moses Foster as contractor,
and Arthur Clark, Geniah Covalt, and Moses Foster as
building c?mmittee, at a cost of $750.

In 1870 the church was moved to a lot in Monterey,
by Arthur. Clark, John Rnpp, R. A. South, and Moses
Foster as building committee, at a cost of $500. In
1852 a Sunday-school was organized in connection with the
church. The first superintendent was Arthur Clark. Since
that time a great many different persons have filled that
position. Present Superintendent, Arthur Clark; Assist­
ant, H. Free; Secretary, Emma Rapp; Treasurer, Olive
Rapp.

MONTEREY CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

Preaching was had as early as 18-1-2 at Peter South's
and other places in the neighb.orhood. In 1847 the church
was organized by Hev. David Thonlpson. Arthur Clark,
Amelia Clark, Geniah Covalt, Sarah Covalt, Jackson Smith,
Mrs. J. Smith, Moses Foster, Catharine J. Foster, Josiah
Prickett, Martha Prickett., Priscilla McNeal, John Hoff­
man and wife, Peter South and wife, Mrs. Joseph Dawson,
Nancy Glancy, Eliza Ghmcy, Elizabeth 1\Ioon, and others
were members at. the time of organization.

l!'irst church officers were: Elders, Arthur Clark, Geniah
Covalt, and John Smith; Deacon, Geniah Covalt.

Present church officers are: Ehlers, Al·thur Clark and
John Happ; Deacon, :Moses Foster. Ag~regate member­
ship, 400; prel:ient,74. The first pastor was Uev. Vande­
man. His successors have been Thomas Pinkerton, John
Easter, R. 'V. Pinkerton, Otho Pearre, G. J. 1\Iurdock,
Josephus Blair, D. J. Matthews, Thomas Pinkerton, J. C.
Irwin, and J. I. West, who is the pastor at the present
time.

WALNUT GROVE CHRISTIAN CIIURCII.

In 1873, April 2d, a church was organized by Rev. E.
N. Vermillion, of which E. 'W. Caldwell, Eliza Caldwell,
Richard Boyce, Elizabeth Boyce, L. H. Hodgers, Sarah
Rodgers, R. T. Boyce, S. 1. Boyce, 'N. 'Yo 'Villey, Re­
becca Willey, W. B. Williams, Cyrenius'Vifiiams, J~liza
Varney, Milicent 'Vrels, Courtland Williams, Elizabeth
Williams, J. C. Caldwell, and Margaret South were const,itu­
ent members. First church officers were: Trustecs, Hich­
ard Boyce, Cyrenius Williams, and 'V. W. 'Villey; Dea­
cons, :K W. Caldwell and R. T. Boyce; Secretary, 'V. B.
Williams; Treasurer, Hichard Boyce; these are also the
present officers. Aggregate membership, 31; present, 28.
l'he first pastor was Hev. K N. Vermillion. He has been
succeeded by Rev. Daughtery, Rev. William Varney,Rev.

G. C. Hill, Rev.•J. McKinnie, and Rev. Joseph Taylor,
who has charge of the church at present, which belongs to
Southern Ohio Christian Conference.

In 1875 the building committee, composed of Richard
Boyce, 'V. B. 'Villiams, E. W. Caldwell, L. H. Rodgers,
and A. C. Doyle, built a frame church 32 by 45, and one
story in height, on the Jackson pike, a short distance cast
of the crossing of the Williamsburgh and Marathon road,
at a cost of" $1425. It was dedicated Aug. 1, 1875, by
Rev. J. Daugherty. A Sunday-school was organized in
connection with the church in April, 1874, with R. T.
Boyce as superintendent. Present Superintendent is M.
Basher; Secretary, Frank Hutchinson; Treasurer, Belle
Polly.

BROWNSVILLE CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

Preaching was held at various places, especially at David
Thompson's and Luke Higgins'. 'Vas organized in 1849
by Hev. Dayid Thompson. The following persons were
constituent members: Joseph Brown, Mary Brown, Samuel
Stouder, Sibbia Stouder, Owen Hedger, Rachel Hedger,
Edith Hedger, Louisa Hedger, Samuel Abernathy, Mary
Abernathy, David Brown, Barbam Brown, Abner Brown,
Luke Higgins, Sarah Higgins, Gideon Van Zant, Mary
Van Zant, Isaac Van Za'nt, William Van Zant, Daniel
Grnnger, Ellen Granger, 1\Irs. Orebaugh, 1\Jary Ann
Orebaugh, Roxalana Orebaugh, Martha Brown, Samuel
Griswold, Elizabeth Griswold, Levi G."iswold, 'John Cooper,
Jacob Hoffman, Eliza Hoffman, Richard Predmore, John
Hadley, Lodiea Hadley, Eliza Hadley, Melissa Hadley,
Phebe Turner, Margaret Stouder, Sarah J. Stouder, and
others to the number of fifty. First church officers were:
Deacons, Luke Higgins and Jacob Hoffman; Elders, Joseph
Brown and Luke Biggins; Tl'Ustees, Samuel Stouder,
Joseph Brown, and.Luke Biggins. Aggregate membership,
175. Present number, 65. Joseph Brown tlnd Patton
Hadley huYC gone from the church as ministers. The first
pastor was David Thompson. He has been succeeded by
John Easter, John Pearre, David Matthew, Samuel John,
John W. Crippen, David Matthew, John "W. Crippen: and
William Thompson. In 1852 a log chur~h was built on
road leading from 1\1arathon to Brownsville, about one-half
mile south of the latter place, at a cost of $150. In 1867
it went down.

In 1854 a Sunday-school was organized in connection
with the church, with Luke Higgins as superintendent,
who held that office for fourteen years. Since that time
there has been a Sunday-school regularly kept up.

THE BIG SNAKE HOAX.

On the north side of East Fork, three miles northeast of
Williamsburgh, near the old camp-ground, is the site of
Hartman's mill-pond, made famous by the big snake claimed
to have been seen in it in 1849 by several different persons,
tIle affidavit of one of whom is given below:

"STATI~ m' 0., CLEmro~T Co., 88.

"Personnlly nppollrcd bofol'e me, JU!ltico of tho Pence in nnd for
snid county, John Waits, nnd, being duly sworn, dcpost!s !lnd Sltj"S

thut on the fi.·st dlly of August, 1849, between one nnd two o'clock
P.)[., I was walking down the bank of the race of Hartmnn's mill,
on tho Eust Fork of the Little Miami, ill sl\id county. l'he creek WitS

full and the water muddy, Itnd, as I nm informed by tho miller, was
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between five and six: feet in depth at the point where I wall. My
aUention was suddenly attracted by the appearance of some unusual
object in the water distant about eighty or one hundred yards from
me in the mill-race rapidly approaching me. At first sight I thought
it was a wild duck, but in 11. ,'cry short time it approached with great
rapidity; it came on until it was directly opposite to where I was,
when it suddenly dl~shed its head beneath the surface nnd disappenred.
I will sl~Y thnt I had no ideo. of its being the big snake so long said
to be lin occupant of the mill-dnm, lind I alwnys had been up to that
time an unbeliever in those reports. But now I nm as firmly con­
"ineed as I am of my own existence that some strange and monstrous
animal is there, such as I never ba\'o seen or heard of before, and I am
now nn old man of sixty-three years of age, nml an old pioneer of the
West, nnd have hunted through the West as far ns Missouri, nnd ha"e
resided in this part of Ohio for nearly fifty yellrs. As well as I could
see and obaervo I will now describe it as I expect to nnswer to God.
It was to the be!'t of my belief from thirty to thirty-livo feet in length.

. I j lIdge this from tho fuet that when it wen t down under the water its
head wns exactly opposite me, nnd at that mOlllent of tilDe its tail
directly opposito a sycamore-bush growing on the brink of the race,
and tho distance between the two points iI', I belie"e, about tho dis­
tnnce stnted. Its body appeared to be about as thick as that of amlin.
Its color ,vas a dark-brown or black, except a grnyish color under the
throllt nnd sOlDe white-like circles under the eJes. I could not sec if
there were nny scales on its body or not, nor could I distinguish nny­
thing liko flippers or fins. The Illotion in the water was not like that
of 11. snako; tho undulntions were not lip and umfn but hurizontal.
Its head did not resemble that of a snake or alligator or any uther
animal I ever saw. In shape, ,vithout reference to hldr or color, it
resembled a prairie wolf nearer thnn anJtliing else that. I can name.
There was no nppearanee of hair on its bo<,1y. Its head was short
and thick, unlike thnt of nny snake I e\'er SltW. Its eJes were cer­
tainl.v larger than those of a horse; they nppeareu to me to be about
the size of a teacup, but the white around the eyes may have deceiveu
me, anu induced lUe to think them h~rger than they were. I hll.\'e
communicated the foregoing facts to muny persllns; nmong others to
Col. Thomas Rain, tnvern-keeper, at the corner of Main nnd Sixth
Streets, Cincinnati; nnd to James Perrine, Esq., Bntuvia, both of
whom have been weJl acquainted with me for many yel~rs, and to
whom I refer nJl those who wish to inquire into this mntter. I also
refer those wishing to know my charncter for truth to W. II. Raper
(now of Duyton), formerl.v Presiding Eldel' in the Methodist Church,
who hilS known me all my life.

"Jon~ 'VAITS.

"Sworn to anu subscribed before IDe this 11 Ih dn,)' of August, ]849.
"JA3IES PJmUll'iE, J. Pe"

Another affidavit was made by John Scerbe, which was
publil'hed in the Batavia and Cincinnat.i papers previous to
'Vait's, and had awakened among the people a desire to

, ascertain, if possible, if the monster therein described did in
reality disport itself in the watel'S of that pond. Accordingly
a meeting of the citizens in the vicinity was called and the pro­
ceedings published in the county papers of Aug. 23, 1849.
At that meeting C. B. Huber was called to the chair, and

·Dr. 1\1. Smith was elected scc'retary, and S. Graves, J. B.
Stockton, and II. R. Perrine appointed a committee of cor­
respondence. A committee of five was also appointed to

. make all necessary arrangement to'and get theconsentofIsaac
Hartman and John Bools, the former being the owner of
the mill-pond und adjoining land, and, the latter lands on
the opposite side of East Fork, to ke~p the liquor traffic at
the distance of a mile. L. D. Salt, C. B. Huber, Robert
Bricker, J. S. B. Frazier, and James Stratton composed
that committee. CuI. Thomas Kain was added to the com­
mittee on behalf of the citizens of Cincinnati, and 'rues­
day, the 28th day of August, 1849, was appointed as the
day to commence the hunt, which was to continue until the
'snake was caught. When ~he time arrive_d thousands were
on the groun~ from ~II parts of the country. J. N. 1\1c-

Adams, who kept the boarding-house, fed tl1ree. thousand
for three days. It was soon found that in order to dl'ain
the mill-pond it. would be necessary to tear down part of
the dam. To this the owner objected, unless they would
make the break as good as it was before. Twenty-five dol·
lars were raised in a sllOrt time to repair the break, and the
dam immediately torn down and the pond drained, but no
snake, but an immense amount of the finny tribe of all
sizes and kinds, was found j thus ended one of the most
barefilCed frauds ever conceived and carried out in the
county.

It is stated on the authority of J. K. Hartman that the
fall of 1822 was remarkable for the number of squirrels
which infcstcd the county. They were so numerous and
bold that they not only ate up about all the corn, but act·
ually- climbed on to the roofs of the settlers' cabins and
calmly surveyed the scene of desolation which they had
wrought. Not less remarkable was the visitation by the
wild pigeons in the spring of 1825. They came no one
knew whcre from, and after remaining a pcriod disappeared
just ns mysteriously. They were so numerous that in
alighting on the trees they would snap off the limbs, which
would lct them to the ground ill immense heaps. J.Jarge
quantities were literally thrashed to death by t.he people,
who would strike them off the limbs with long poles.

..~

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

NATHAN ANDERSON.

The Anderson fhmily is of English extraction, and came
to America in the seventeenth century, and of the branch
that finally settled in New Jersey was Samuel Anderson,
born in that State in 1714. He was the father of Sumuel,
W110 had a son, Peter Anderson, born Oct. 10, 1792, in
H unterdon Co., N. J. Peter Anderson came to Ohio in
1814, and located in Clermont County, in Miami township.
In 1817 he was married to :Miss Elizabeth, daughter of
Nathan Hatfield, of Hamilton County, who in the war of
1812 commanded a rifle company and participated in the
siege of Fort :Meigs. Peter Anderson still Jives, at the ad­
vanced age of eighty-eight years, on his fitI'm in StoneJick
township. Nathan Anden;on, son of Peter and Elizubeth
(Hatfield) Ande~on, was born in l\liami township, of this
county, March 19, 1824. He received the usual district
l:Iehool education common to the youth of his day, and at
ten years of age went into his father's store at New Boston
as a clerk, and there rcmained until his twenty-fifth year.
In the year 1852 ])0 went to California by the way of New
O"leans and the Isthmus of Panama. He remained in ·the
Golden State four years, part of that time working in the
mines j but in the session of 1854-55 of the California.
Legislature he was clerk of the House of Representatives.
After his return to Ohio he located in Jackson township,
where he has since resided, engaged in agricultural pur­
suits. On June 16, 1862, he was married by Rev. Joseph
D. Hatfield to Permelia Eliza Abernethy, daughter of
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Thomas W. and Harriet (Hutchinson) Abernethy. Thomas
, W. Abernethy was born March 14, 1808, in Hampshire

Co., Va., and came to this county in 1829, and in the year
1832 (April1'2th) was married by Rev. Burroughs West­
lake to Harriet Hutchinson. She was born in this county
July 16, 1816, and was the daughter of Aaron Hutchin­
son, Sr., an early pioneer and emigrant from New Jersey.
Nathan Anderson joined the Masonic order in 1848, taking
the symbolical degrees in Clermont Socil;tl Lodge, No. 29,

. at Williamsburgh, and in 1852 he received the capitular de­
grees of Mark, Past, and l\'Iost Excellent Master and Royal
Arch Mason in Milford Chapter. He has served many
years as township treasurer, and being a Democrat in poli­
tics,.is very active in political campaigns and pi"ominent in
the counsels of his party, to which he a1ld his venerable

71

father have long been devotedly attached. His fine home­
stead adjoins the town of Marathon, lying on tohe Milford
and Chillicothe turnpike, and his farm. is situated in both·
Brown and Clermont Counties. Peter. Anderson served
with acceptance to the public for seven years as county
commissioner, and his son; Nathan Anderson, possesses in
an eminent degree the leading characteristics that distin­
guished his father. He is an honest, .prompt business
man of inflexible integrity, and his affable manners and
genial ways have made him popular and esteemed by the
whole community. Comfortably situated in their beautiful
home, Mr. and Mrs. Nathan Anderson-the latter an es­
timable lady, noted for her domestic. graces and hospitality
-take great interest in all public improvements and in all
movements for the benefit of society.




